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The compilation of this work was undertaken

at the request of the University of Calcutta, to assist

the studies of those who were desirous of competing
for its honours. The author has been encouraged
to publish an edition in this country on the kind

assurance of friends, that it may also be found useful

by those who are in search of a brief and compen-
dious narrative of the progress of the British empire
in India. So far as historical truth can be discovered

he is prepared to vouch for the accuracy of the facts

detailed in it, and he is not without a hope that

his efforts to present an impartial and trustworthy

opinion on the various transactions which have been

the subject and the sport of party-feeling, may be

found not altogether unsuccessful.

January 1st, 1867.



For the information of the English reader, it is

requisite to intimate that a crore of rupees is a million

sterling ; a lac of rupees, 10,000. ; a gold mohur, 32s. ;

a pagoda, 8s. ; and a rupee, 2s. ; also that a maun is

equivalent to 82 Ibs., and a seer to 2 Ibs.
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THE HISTORY OF INDIA.

CHAPTER I.

EARLY HISTORY TO THE GHUZNI INVASION.

INDIA is bounded on the north and the east by
Boundaries and

.

divisions of the Himalaya mountains, on the west by the

Indus, and on the south by the sea. Its length
from Cashmere to Cape Comorin is 1,900 miles ; its breadth from

Kurrachee to Sudiya, in Assam, 1,500 miles. The superficial

contents are 1,287,000 miles, and the population, under British

and native rule, is now estimated at 200,000,000. It is

crossed from east to west by a chain of mountains called the

Viiidya, at the base of which flows the Nerbudda. The

country to the north of this river is generally designated

Hindostan, and that to the south of it the Deccan. Hindostan

is composed of the basin of the Indus on one side, and of the

Ganges on the other, with the great sandy desert on the

west, and an elevated tract now called, from its position,

Central India. The Deccan has on its northern boundary a

chain of mountains running parallel with the Vindya, to the

south of which stretches a table land of triangular form, ter-

minating at Cape Comorin, with the western Ghauts, on the

western coast, and the eastern Ghauts, of minor altitude, on

the opposite coast. Between the Ghauts and the sea lies a

narrow belt of land which runs round the whole peninsula.

B
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Chronology of Of the ancient history or chronology of the
the Hindoos. Hindoos there are no credible memorials. The

history was compiled by poets, who drew on their imagination

for their facts, and the chronology was computed by astro*

nomers, who have made the successive ages of the world to cor-

respond with the conjunctions of the heavenly bodies. The

age of the world is thus divided into four periods : the sutyu

yogu, extending to 1,728,000, and the second, or treta yogu, to

1,296,000 years ;
the third, or the dwapur yogu, comprises

864,000 years ; and the fourth, or kulee yogu, is predicted to

last 432,000 years. A Jculpa, or a day of Brumlia, is com-

posed of a thousand such periods, or 4,320,000,000 years.

Extravagant as these calculations may appear, they are out-

done by the Burmese, who affirm that the lives of the ancient

inhabitants extended to a period equal to the sum of every

drop of rain which falls on the surface of the globe in three

years. The dates given for the first three ages must, there-

fore, be rejected as altogether imaginary, while the com-

mencement of the fourth, or present age, which corresponds,

to a certain degree, with the authentic eras of other nations,

may be received as generally correct.

Early history of India is designated by native writers Bharut-
the Hindoos,

yursu, from king Bharut, who is said to have

reigned over the whole country. That he did not enjoy
universal monarchy in India is certain, though he was doubt-

less one of the earliest and most renowned of its rulers ; but

this fact loses all historical value when we are told in the

shasters that he reigned ten thousand years, and, on his

death, was transformed into a deer. Thus do we plod our

way through darkness and mystery ; at every step fact is

ronfounded with fable, and all our researches end only in

conjecture. The original settlers are identified with the

various tribes of Bheels, Coles, Gonds, Meenas, and Chooars,

still living in a state almost of nature, in the forests of the

Soane, the Nerbudda, and the Muhanuddee, and in the hills

of Surgooja and Chota Nagpore. Their languages have no
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affinity with the Sanscrit, and their religion differs from Hin-

dooism. In those fastnesses, amidst all the revolutions which

have convulsed India, they have continued to maintain, un-

changed, their original simplicity of habits, creed, and speech.

They were apparently driven from the plains by fresh colonies

of emigrants ; and these were in their turn conquered by the

Hindoos, who brought their religion and language with them
from regions beyond the Indus, and, having reduced the inha-

bitants to a servile condition, branded them with the name of

soodras. Of the four Hindoo castes, three are designated the

twice born, which seems to indicate that they all belonged to

the conquering race, although the term is now applied exclu-

sively to brahmins. In the Institutes of Munoo reference is

also made to cities governed by soodras, which the twice born

were forbidden to enter, and the allusion evidently applies to
'

soodra chiefs, who continued to maintain their independence
after the Hindoo invasion.

The Hindoos who originally crossed the Indus took pos-

session of a small tract of land, 100 miles north-west of Delhi,

about 65 miles by 30, which was considered the residence of

gods and holy sages, while the brahmins appear to have sub-

sequently occupied the country north of the Jumna and the

Ganges, stretching to the confines of north Behar. The

India of the Vedus, of Munoo, and the earliest writers was

exclusively confined to the region north of the Nerbudda, and

comprised but a small portion even of that limited quarter.

It was in the north that the four places of greatest sanctity

were situated during the early ages, though the Deccan now
contains many places of distinguished merit. The north was

also the seat of the solar and lunar races, the scene of chival-

rous adventures, and the abode of all those who are celebrated

in the legends, the mythology, and the philosophy of the

Hindoos. Even in the polished age in which the Ramayun
and the Muhabharut were composed, the south was the land

of fable, the dwelling of bears and monkeys, and it was not

till a very late period that these apes and goblins and mon-

B 2
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stcrs were transformed into orthodox Hindoos. It must,

therefore, be distinctly borne in mind that the revolutions

described in the sacred books of the Hindoos belong to Hin-

dostan, and not to the Deccan.

Some of the Poorans describe India as having
The ten T -i i i i

divisions and been formerly divided into ten kingdoms ;
of

these five were situated in Hindostan, Surus-

wuttee, comprising the Punjab; Cunouj, embracing Delhi,

Agra, andOude; Tirhoot, from the Coosee to the Gunduk;

Gour, or Bengal, with a portion of Behar ; and Guzerat, which

evidently included Candesh, and part of Malwa. Five are

assigned to the Deccan, Muharastru, or the Mahratta coun-

try on the western coast, and Orissa on the eastern, coast ;

Telingana, lying between the Godavery and the Kistna;

Dravira, or the Tamul country, stretching down to Cape
Comorin ; and Carnata on the western face of the peninsula.

In correspondence with these divisions, which are compara-

tively modern, ten languages, of similar names, are enume-

rated as being current in them. Of these, the language of

the five divisions of Hindostan, as well as the Mahratta and

the Orissa are branches of the Sanscrit, modified by the mix-

ture of local and foreign words, and new inflections. The

Teloogoo spoken in Telingana as well as the Tamul and

the Carnata belong, however, to a distinct family, and the

only Sanscrit words found in them are those which have

reference to religious observances. The brahmins, crossing
the Indus, brought their own language from the west, where

it was in constant use as the ancient inscriptions in Persia

testify and diffused it through the north of India in connec-

tion with their religion. It thus became gradually mixed up
with the dialects of the different provinces, which at length
lost their original distinctions. The word Sanscrit signifies

refined, and that language bears every indication of having
received the improvements of the literati for many centuries,

till it became the most exquisite medium of communication in

the world.
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Tlle worsniP taught in the Vedus was the

earliest form of the Hindoo religion, and was in-

troduced into Hindostan by a body of priests, who crossed the

Indus either in the train of a conqueror or on a mission of

proselytism, possibly 1,400 years before our era. The Vedus are
a collection of hymns, prayers, and precepts, composed by
different authors, at different periods, and were delivered down

orally till the time of Vyasu, the bastard son of a fisher-

woman, though, on his father's side, of royal lineage, who

employed four brahmins to collect and arrange them. Their

leading doctrine is the unity of God, and the various divinities,

the personification of the elements, whom the devotee is re-

quired to invoke, are manifestations of the Supreme Being.

The gods are mentioned, it is true, but without any pre-

eminence, and never as objects of adoration ; and there is no

trace of the legends of Krishnu and Sivu to be found in

them. In that early age, indeed, there appears to have been

no images, and no visible types of worship. Though the

customs and habits of the Hindoos are said to be immutable,

yet, strange to say, in a country which still regards the Vedus

with profound veneration as the great fountain of religion,

the ritual they prescribe has become so obsolete that the man
who ventured to regulate his devotions by it would be con-

sidered in the light of an infidel.

Next in order comes the work called the
" Institutes of Munoo," a code of rules and pre-

cepts, religious and secular, collected together about 900

years before our area, and attributed to Munoo. It inculcates

the worship of the elements, of the heavenly bodies, and of in-

ferior deities ; but none of the objects of modern worship are

alluded to. Brumha is mentioned more than once, but the

names of Vishnoo and Sivu do not occur. Idols are noticed,

and one passage enjoins that they shall be respected, but the

adoration of them is discountenanced. The caste of brahmins is

in this code placed on an equality with the gods, and endowed

with extraordinary privileges ; but they were at the same time
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allowed to eat flesh, and even beef, when it had been offered

in sacrifice which was a daily practice and to intermarry

with soodras. The worship enjoined in Munoo appears to

have been succeeded by that of Brumha, which was almost,

if not altogether, spiritual. Then came the deification of

heroes, with which the popular system of idolatry may be said

to have commenced. Perhaps the creed of Boodh and of the

Jains may have been next in succession ;
and there is every

probability that it was not till the boodhists had been expelled

from the soil of India that the Hindoo pantheon was com-

pleted to its full complement of three hundred and thirty-three

millions of gods ;
and this was apparently effected under the

authority of the Poorans, of which the oldest is only a

thousand years old, and the latest about four hundred and

fifty.

The soiar and The Hindoo annals describe two races of kings
lunar race. as havmg reigned in India, that is, in Hindostan,
from the earliest age, the race of the sun and the race of the

moon. Ikswakoo, the progenitor of the former, founded the

kingdom of Oude, and Boodh, the ancestor of the latter, made

Priyag, the modern Allahabad, the seat of his government.
We are, moreover, told that there was constant war between

the brahmins, the champions of the solar race, and the military

tribe of the kshetriyus, the adherents of the lunar race, until

Purusramu, a great solar prince, arose and extinguished the

warriors. They are said to have recovered their strength,

and chased king Sagur up into the Himalayu. Sagur was

evidently the sea-king of the Bay of Bengal, who engaged

largely in maritime expeditions, and extended his power, and

with it probably his religion, to the islands of the eastern

archipelago, in one of which, Bali, he is Btill worshipped as

the god of the ocean.

The Hindoo writers assign fifty'Seven reigns to

the period between Ikswakoo and Ramu, the

great hero and ornament of the solar race, whose deeds have

been immortalized in the great epic of Valmeeki. He was
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married at an early age to Seeta, the daughter of the king
of Mithila, another branch of the solar line, whose capital lay

within a hundred miles of Oude. He passed many years with

her in religious retirement in the forest till she was carried off

by Ravunu, the king of Ceylon. Karnu assembled a large

army, and having in his progress secured the assistance of the

king of the monkeys, marched southward through the great

forest of Dunduku, which terminated on the banks of the

Cavery. That forest is described as the abode of holy sages
and devotees, and of apes and bears. Crossing the Cavery,

Kamu entered on Junustan, or the abode of men the con-

tinental territory of Ravunu. The expedition was crowned

with success, and Ramu recovered his wife ; but having in-

advertently caused the death of his brother, he cast himself

into a river, and as the Hindoo writers affirm, was reunited to

the deity. The expedition of Ramu was the most chivalrous

exploit of that age, more especially when we consider the

very limited resources of the kingdom of Oude, with two in-

dependent sovereigns one at Mithila, and the other at

Benares, within a hundred and fifty miles of his capital. He
is, perhaps, the earliest of deified heroes, as his age is

generally fixed at 1,200 years before our era, though on

calculations by no means satisfactory.

The The next great event in the heroic age of India
Muhabharut. was tlle g^^ war? ceiebrated in another Hindoo

epic, the Muhabharut. The main object of this poem is to

commemorate the exploits of Krishnu, another deified hero,
who took a prominent part in the contest between the Pandoos
and the Kooroos, two branches of the lunar line, for the

possession of Hustinapore, situated in the neighbourhood of

Delhi. Yoodistheer, the chief of the Pandoos, was resolved,
it is said, to celebrate the sacrifice of the horse, which implied
the possession of supreme dominion. The Kooroos burned
with indignation at this arrogant assumption ; and their chief,

unable to prevent it, had recourse to artifice. He engaged
Yoodistheer in deep play, and led him on to stake his wife and



8 BATTLE OF KOOROO-KSHETRU. [CHAP.

his kingdom, both of which were lost at one throw of the

dice, and he was obliged to go into exile for twelve years.

Krishnu, a scion of the royal family at Muttra, on the Ganges,

had already signalized himself in a conflict with the king of

Mugudu, in south Behar, and now, in conjunction with

Buluram, accompanied Yoodistheer and his four brothers in

their exile. The heroes wandered through the various provinces

of India, performing notable feats of valour, and leaving some

memorial of then: romantic adventures in every direction. At

the close of the period of exile Yoodistheer returned with his

companions to the banks of the Jumna, and demanded the

restoration of his kingdom. His opponent, Dooryudhun, re-

fused his claim, and declared that he should not have as much

land as could be covered by the point of a needle. There

remained, therefore, no alternative but to decide the question

by an appeal to arms.

The Battle of In this great battle fought on the plain, where,
Kooroo-kshetru. fa after tjmej ^e iast decisive battle between the

Hindoos and the Mahomedans took place, all the tribes in

northern India were ranged on one side or the other. Chiefs

from Culinga, the sea-coast of Orissa, and even the Yuvuns

the name generally given to the residents beyond the Indus

are said to have taken a share in it. It lasted eighteen days,

and the carnage on both sides was prodigious. Dooryudhun
was at length slain, and victory declared for the Pandoos ;

but when Yoodistheer beheld the field covered with the

bodies of friends and foes, all descended from a common

ancestor, he became disgusted with the world and determined

to withdraw from it. He entered Hustinapore and performed
the funeral obsequies of his rival ; after which he placed the

grandson of his brother Urjoon on the throne, and retired

to Dwarka, in Guzerat, in company with Krishnu, who had
founded a kingdom there. That hero was soon after slain

"at the fountain of the lotus," by one of the wild foresters

of the tribe of the Bheels. Yoodistheer proceeded through
Sinde towards the north, and is supposed to have perished in
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the snowy range. According to the popular notion, he

ascended to heaven, which was by no means incredible, as

the paradise of more than one of the Hindoo deities is placed
on the inaccessible peaks of the Himalaya.

influence of
These two events, the expedition of Ramu, and

these two the battle of Kooroo-kshetru, are the most impor-
tant in the annals of the lunar and tne solar race.

The genius of poetry has fixed the admiration of a hundred

generations on them, and supplied a rich mine of images from

age to age. The author of the Kamayun was Valmeeki, whom
the gratitude of his fellow countrymen has crowned with

the wreath of immortality, by ranking him among those who
never die. He is supposed to have flourished in the second

century before our era. The same period has also been

assigned to the composer of the Muhabharut. Indeed, from

the terms in which he describes the Yuvun Usoor, the

demon or giant who engaged in combat with Krishnu, it

has been conjectured that the poem must have been written

after the invasion of Alexander the Great. The author

was Vyasu, who has been confounded, through ignorance
or flattery, with the great man who collected the Vedus,

which is chronologically impossible. It is, moreover said, that

a Vyasu appears in every age, though it is certain that no

second Vyasu has since appeared among the poets of India.

Krishnu was deified after his death. His adventures, and

more particularly his flirtations with the milkmaidSj have ren-

dered him the most popular of gods among an amorous people ;

but the sects founded on the worship of Ramu, Krishnu, and

other deities, are among the more modern innovations of

Hindooism. Buluram, the brother of Krishnu, is said to

have founded a kingdom, of which Palibothra, the capital,

became the wonder of India, though even the site of it is

now matter of conjecture.

The Takshut The annals of Hindostan for several centuries

invasion. after foe asgume(j period of the great war, are

involved hi impenetrable obscurity, but it would appear that
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about six centuries before our era, a new swarm from the

teeming hive of Scythia poured across the Indus upon the

plains of India. Another swarm, is supposed to have moved

down at the same time on the north of Europe, and settled in

Scandinavia, the cradle of the English nation. This simul-

taneous emigration to the east and to the west, may assist in

explaining that similarity of manners and customs which has

been discovered on many points between the Scandinavians

and the natives of India. These invaders were denominated

the Takshuk, or serpent race, because the serpent was said to

be their national emblem. Under their chief, Suhesnag, they

probably overran the northern provinces of Hindostan, and

became gradually incorporated with the tribes which had

preceded them. They flourished for ten generations, and

appear to have professed the Boodhist creed. Of this

dynasty was Nundu, or Muhanundu, who was seated on the

throne when Alexander the Great appeared on the banks of

the Sutlege, and was denominated by the Grecian historians,

the king of the Prasii, or of the east.

me expedition The first expedition to India from the west of

which we have anything like an authentic record,

is that of Darius, the king of Persia, who ascended the throne

of Cyrus, in the year 518 before our era, and extended his

conquests from the sea of Greece to the confines of India.

His admiral, Scylax, was then directed to construct a flotilla

on the higher Indus, and proceed down that stream to the

ocean. The report which he ' made of the wealth and mag-
nifiVvace of the country through which he passed, determined

Darius to attempt the conquest of it. He crossed the Indus

with a large army, and succeeded in annexing the countries

bordering on that river to his great empire. The precise
extent of his conquest cannot be determined, but there is

every reason to conclude that his Indian province must have
been of no inconsiderable magnitude, since it was esteemed
more valuable than any other satrapy, and is said to have
furnished one-third the revenues of the Persian empire. This
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tribute, moieover, is said to have been paid in gold, while

that from the other divisions west of the Indus was delivered

in silver.

Religion of It was about the period of the Persian invasion,

, that Goutumu gave a fixed character to the insti-

stutions of Boodhism. It has been supposed that all the fifty-

six tribes of the lunar race professed that creed, and Goutumu
was reckoned the seventh Boodh. He was born at Kupilu,

but the seat of the religion was planted at Gya, in the

kingdom of Mugudu, or Behar, which the Chinese and Indo-

Chinese nations consider the most sacred spot in the world.

The Boodhists rejected the whole of the brahminical system
of gods and goddesses, repudiated the doctrine of caste, and

adhered exclusively to the spiritual worship of the Vedus.

The priesthood amongst them was not hereditary, but formed

a distinct community, recruited from the secular ranks, bound

to observe a vow of celibacy, and to renounce the pleasures

of sense. The hereditary priesthood of the brahmins, on the

contrary, admitted no accessions from the lay classes, and

considered marriage as indispensable as investiture with the

thread, in the hope of giving birth to a son who should perform
the funeral rites of his father, and secure him a seat in

paradise. The death of Goutumu, is fixed by the general

concurrence of authorities, in the year 550 before our era.

spread of The religion of Boodh made prodigious progress
Boodhism.

after ttie (jga^ of Goutumu, while the creed of the

brahmins was confined to the small kingdom of Cunouj. Two
centuries later, in the reign of Asoca, Boodhism was triumphant

through Hindostan. His edicts are still to be seen inscribed

on the celebrated column at Delhi, on a similar column in

Guzerat, and on a third in Cuttack, as well as in numerous

caves and rocks. Boodhism was introduced into Ceylon about

the end of the third century before our era. Shortly after, it

spread through Tibet and Tartary, and was carried into China

about the year 65. In Hindostan the brahmins exhibited the

most rancorous hostility to their powerful rivals ; and we
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learn from the report of a Chinese pilgrim to the shrine at

Gya, in the fifth century, that the strength of Boodhism had

materially declined. But it appears subsequently to have re-

covered some of its pristine vigour, and was not finally

expelled from India till the tenth century ; though we have

the assurance that it was the prevailing creed at Benares a

centuiy later, and was predominant in Guzerat as late as the

twelfth century. At the present time its votaries throughout
Asia are more numerous than those of any other religion.

Alexander the The empire of Persia was broken up by Alexander
Great. ^he Great, the Grecian king of Macedon, and the

greatest military genius of antiquity. After the defeat and death

of Darius, the last Persian monarch of his dynasty, the troops

of Alexander were engaged for three years in the most arduous

military enterprises, and suffered incredible hardships in their

winter campaigns, amidst mountains covered with snow. As
a recompense for these toils their commander held out to them

the spoils of India ; and, having subjugated Cabul, arrived on

the banks of the Indus, in the year 331 before our era, at the

age of thirty. Hindostan was ill-prepared to resist the legions

of this mighty conqueror. It was split up into a number of

independent states, oftener at war than at peace with each

other; and a Greek historian affirms that there were no

fewer than a hundred and eighteen different kingdoms in the

north. Alexander, after having sent envoys to demand the

submission of the princes in the Punjab, crossed the Indus, like

all previous invaders, at Attok, and entered India with 120,000

troops. Of the principal chiefs of the country, Abissares,

whose territory lay in the mountainous region, probably of

Cashmere, cent his brother with rich presents to conciliate the

invader. Taxiles, who ruled the country between the Indus

and the Hydaspes, or Jelum, entertained him with great hos-

pitality at his capital, Taxila, where Alexander left his

invalids. But Porus, whose dominions stretched eastward in

the direction of Hustinapore, or Delhi, resolved to offer the

most determined resistance to the progress of Alexander, and
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assembled his whole force on the banks of the Jelum. The

river, swelled by the periodical rams, and at the tune a mile

broad, rolled impetuously between the two camps. Porus

planted a long line of elephants on the margin of the stream,

and presented an impenetrable line of defence to his opponent.

But Alexander discovered an island in the river, about ten

miles above the camp, and took advantage of a dark and tem-

pestuous night to cross over to it with 11,000 men, who were

landed on the opposite bank before dawn. The main body of

the Grecian army was in the meantime drawn up as usual, facing

the Indian camp, and Porus was thus led to believe that the

iroops who had crossed consisted only of a small brigade.

But he was speedily undeceived by the rout of the force

which he had sent to meet it, and the death of his son who
was in command, and being now certain that it was Alexander

himself who had crossed the river, prepared to encounter him

with 4,000 horse and 30,000 foot, all of the kshetriyu tribe ;

warriors by birth and profession. Alexander's small army was

composed of veterans, strangers to defeat, and, under such

a leader, invincible. The field was obstinately contested,

but nothing could withstand the charge of Alexander's

cavalry. Porus continued to maintain the conflict long after

the great body of his troops had deserted him, but was at

length persuaded to yield Alexander, who always honoured

valour in an enemy, received him with distinguished courtesy;

and not only restored his kingdom, but made considerable

additions to it. Porus did not abuse this confidence, but re-

mained ever after faithful to his generous victor,

progress and After tne defeat of Porus, Alexander crossed the

mum of Chenab and the Ravee, and came in contact with

a body of Cathaians, probably Tartar immigrants,

who maintained an obstinate struggle, which is said to have

terminated only after the slaughter of 16,000, and the cap-

tivity of 70,000 of their number. On reaching the banks of

the Sutlege Alexander heard of the great Gangetic kingdom
of Mugudu, the king of which, it was reported, could bring
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30,000 cavalry, and 600,000 foot, and 9,000 elephants into the

field. He determined to march down and plant his standard

on the battlements of its magnificent capital, Palibothra, which

was nine miles in length ; and his troops received orders to

prepare for crossing the river. But they were worn out with

the fatigue and wounds of eight campaigns ; their spirits had

moreover been depressed by the deluge of rain to which they
had been exposed during the monsoon, and they refused to

accompany him any farther. He employed menace and flattery

by turns, but nothing could shake their resolution, and he was

reluctantly obliged to make the Sutlege the limit of his ex-

pedition, and return to the Indus, where he caused a large

flotilla to be constructed, and sailed down the stream with all

the pomp of a conqueror.

The views of Alexander were gigantic and

projects and beneficial beyond those of every other ruler

in ancient times. He had erected the port of

Alexandria on the Mediterranean shore of Egypt, and at the

end of twenty-two centuries it still continues to attest the

grandeur of his plans. He now resolved to establish a com-

mercial intercourse between the coast of India, the rivers of

Persia and the Red Sea. For this object he built a city and

harbour at the estuary of the Indus, and fitted out a large

fleet, which he entrusted to his admiral, Nearchus, with orders

to proceed to the mouth of the Euphrates. The voyage, though

tedious, proved successful, and was justly considered one of

the greatest naval achievements of the age. In the midst of

these great projects Alexander caught a jungle fever in the

marshes of Babylon, and died two years after his return from

India, at the early age of thirty-two. He was fully bent on

returning to it; and there can be little doubt that if he

had succeeded in crossing the Sutlege he would have made a

complete conquest of the country, and given it the benefit of

European civilization. His name does not appear in any
Hindoo work a proof of the lamentable imperfection of the

records which have come down to us; but his fame was widely
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diffused through India by the Mahomedan conquerors, among
whom he was esteemed a magnificent hero. It was carried

far and wide on the ocean with the stream of their conquests;
and the distant islander of Java and Sumatra may be found

singing the deeds of the mighty
" Iscander."

Nundu, At the period of Alexander's invasion, Nundu,
Chundra-goopta. a prince of the Takshuk race, was seated on tho

Mugudu throne at Palibothra. He was assasinated by his

prime minister, and is said to have been succeeded by eight

sons in succession. Their illegitimate brother, Chundra-goopta,
the offspring of a barber's wife, was expelled from the kingdom,
and wandered for some years through the various provinces

of Hindostan. He was at length placed upon the throne

through the efforts of the minister, Chanikya, who put all tho

members of the royal family to death, and afterwards endea-

voured to atone for the crime by penances so severe, that

after the lapse of 2,000 years, the " remorse of Chanikya," is

still the popular emblem of penitence. Chundra-goopta was

a prince of extraordinary energy and talent, and, though a

soodra, is stated in the hyperbolical language of the Poorans to

have "
brought the whole earth under one umbrella." The

empire of Alexander the Great was, on his death, divided

among his generals, of whom Seleucus, one of the ablest and

most enterprising, obtained the province of Babylon, which

comprised all the territory up to the Indus which had been

subjugated by his master. Having determined to carry out

his ambitious views on the east, he crossed the Indus with a

powerful army, and was opposed by Chundra-goopta and the

whole strength of the Mugudu empire. According to the Greek

historians, Seleucus was completely victorious, which it is

difficult to reconcile with the fact that in the treaty he made
with the Indian prince, he resigned all the territory which had

been acquired east of the Indus for an annual subsidy of fifty

elephants, and likewise bestowed his daughter in marriage on

him. Megasthenes was at the same time appointed his repre-

sentative at the court of Palibothra, and it is from his reports
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that the Greek writers chiefly derived their knowledge of

India.

TheMugudu After a reign of twenty-four years, Chundra-

kingdom. goopta was succeeded by his son, Mitra-goopta,

with whom Seleucus renewed the treaty. The great kingdom

of Mugudu maintained its pre-eminence in the valley of the

Ganges, under a succession of royal families who appear to

have been either soodras or boodhists, for a period of eight

centuries from the year 350 before our era to 450 after it.

Under their government the country is said to have attained

the highest prosperity. A royal road extended from Pali-

bothra to the Indus, with a small column at every stage.

Another road stretched across the country to Broach, at that

time the great emporium of commerce on the western

coast. They encouraged learning with great munificence,

and it is recorded that they endeavoured to diffuse it among
the common people by the cultivation of the vernacular

tongues ;
and this, as it would seem, at the period when the

Sanscrit had reached the summit of perfection in the two

epics of the Muhabharut and the Ramaj^un. They appear also

to have given every encouragement to trade, both domestic

and foreign. While the silent Indus, as at present, exhibited

no sign of commercial activity, the Ganges was covered with

sails, and the produce of its various provinces was brought
down to the sea-coast and conveyed across the ocean to the

east and the west. The kingdom of Mugudu embraced what

is designated in history the three Culingas ; that is, the

northern section of the Coromandel coast ; the sea face of

Bengal from Balasore to Chittagong, then the abode of men
and not of tigers, and the coast of Arracan. Its subjects

were thus stimulated to engage in maritime enterprise, and the

Mugudu fleet crossed the bay of Bengal to the island of Java,
and introduced the Hindoo religion to its inhabitants either in

the current of conquest or of commerce. The native histo-

rians of that island fix the year 75 before our era as the time

when they received Hindooism from India. Many mag/iifi-
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cent monuments attest the diffusion of this religion, besides

the fact that the language of literature and devotion in

Java is a form of the Sanscrit. In the fourth century a

Chinese pilgrim recorded that the island was peopled by
Hindoos ; that in its ports he found vessels manned by
Hindoo sailors which had sailed from the mouth of the

Ganges to Ceylon, and from thence to Java, and were pre-

paring to proceed on to China. A Hindoo government existed

in Java till within the last 400 years, when it was subverted

by the Mahomedans. Hindooism still continues to flourish in

the neighbouring island of Bali, where the fourfold division of

caste still survives, and widows are said still to ascend the

funeral pile. Yet so signal has been the mutation of habits

and opinions among the Hindoos of India, that any Hindoo

who might visit the country to which his ancestors carried

the institutes of his religion, and in which they exist in

greater integrity than in India itself, would not be permitted

to remain within the pale of the caste.

____-_. The Hindoo annalists affirm that about twc
The Ugnikools.

centuries before our era, the brahmins "
regene-

rated the Ugnikools," literally the fiery generation, to fight

their battles with the boodhists. The real origin of this race

is lost in hopeless obscurity, and we have only a poetical

version of their appearance, which may serve as an example
of the mode in which historical facts have been bequeathed
to posterity, and of the difficulty of separating them from

allegory. Ignorance and infidelity, we are told, had spread

over the land
; the sacred books were trampled under foot,

and mankind had no refuge from the monstrous brood of

boodhists. At the summit of Mount Aboo dwelt the holy

sages who had carried their complaints to the sea of curds,

on which the father of creation was floating on the back of a

hydra. He commanded them to return to Mount Aboo, and

recreate the race of the kshetriyas whom Purusramu, an

incarnation of the deity, had exterminated. They returned

accordingly with the four chief divinities, and a multitude of
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secondary gods. The fountain of fire was purified with water

brought from the sacred stream of the Ganges. After the

performance of expiatory rites, each of the four gods formed

an image and cast it into the fountain, and there sprung up
the four men who became the founders of Rajpoot greatness.

They were sent out to combat the monsters, who were

slaughtered in great numbers, but as their blood touched the

ground fresh demons arose ; upon which, the four gods stopped

the multiplication of the race, by drinking up their blood.

The infidels thus became extinct; shouts of joy rent the

skies ;
ambrosial showers descended from above, and the gods

drove about the firmament in their cars, exulting in the victory

they had gained.

Expulsion of This allegory of the regeneration of the Ugni-
the boodhists tools at the fire fountain, evidently points to some

religious conversion, or some political revolution. Of the

four divisions into which they branched, the Prumuras be-

came the most powerful. Their dominions extended beyond
the Nerbudda, and comprehended all central and western

India. The Indus formed their boundary on the west. They
carried their arms into the Deccan, and appear, in fact, to

have been the first to extend the Hindoo religion and power
to the south of the Nerbudda. As brahminism did not be-

come predominant till after many bloody conflicts with

boodhism, it is not improbable that it was the alliance with

the Ugnikools, which rendered the brahmins triumphant, and

enabled them to extend their religious power from the king-
dom of Cunouj to the southern extremities of the peninsula.

The boodhists retreated in great numbers to Ceylon, carrying

with them that passion for cave temples, for which they were

distinguished. In that island they raised one of the most

stupendous monuments of human labour in the world. Exca-

vated by their exertions from the solid rock, we discover a

series of temples, of which the largest is 140 feet long,

90 wide, and 45 in height, and which contains a recumbent

image of Boodh, 30 feet in length. The temples which the
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boodhists were constrained to relinquish were speedily occu-

pied by the brahmins, and Vishnoo and Sivu displaced Boodh.

Cave temples Under the brahmins, the construction of these

cave temples was extended and improved. Those

which they erected at Ellora, in the Deccan, exceed in magni-
ficence anything to be seen elsewhere. In a range of hills

which extend five miles in the form of a horse shoe, we
discover a range of grotto temples, two and often three

stories in height. The most remarkable of them is the

temple of Koilas, or the palace of Muhadevu. Here

is to be found whatever is splendid in architecture, or ex-

quisite in sculpture. The scene is crowded with staircases,

bridges, chapels, columns, porticoes, obelisks, and colossal

.statues, all chiselled out of the solid rock. The sides of

these wonderful chambers are covered with figures of the

Hindoo gods and goddesses, and representations from the

Kamayun and the Muhabharut. The pantheon of Ellora

seems to have been the citadel of Hindooism when it spread

into the Deccan. The precise age of these magnificent exca-

vations it is impossible to fix, but it must have been at some

period during the ten or twelve centuries which elapsed
between the subjugation of the boodhists, and the arrival of

the Mahomedans, in the high and palmy state of Hin-

dooism, when the brahmins swayed the ecclesiastical sceptre

of India without a rival or an enemy.

vikra ad
- "^6 &Se ^ Vikramadityu follows the supposed

subjection of the boodhists. He is said to have

been descended from one of the Ugnikool chieftains, the

Prumura, now contracted to Puar. His reign began fifty-six

years before our era, and the ancient city of Oojein was his

capital. He is described as the, greatest monarch of his age, of

which there is the most satisfactory proof in the fact that his

era is still current throughout Hindostan. He encouraged lite-

rature beyond all former example. He invited learned

brahmins from every part of India, and rewarded them with

magnificent presents, and they have repaid him by investing

c 2
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him -with immortality. They have exhausted the resources

of flattery in their attempt to describe the magnitude of his

power, and have assured us, that without his permission the

loadstone had no power over iron, or amber on the chaff of

the field. So exemplary was his temperance, that while in the

enjoyment of supreme power, he constantly slept on a mat,

which, with a waterpot replenished from the spring, formed

the whole furniture of his chamber. It is stated that while

he extended his patronage to the worship of the gods and

goddesses, then rising into popularity, he himself continued

to profess the old creed, and adored the one infinite and in-

visible God.

The birth of Fifty-six years after the accession of Vikruma-
jesus Christ,

dityu, Jesus Christ, the promised Messiah, be-

came incarnate in the land of Judea, and made an atonement

for the sins of men, by offering himself as a sacrifice. On the

third day he rose from the dead, and after giving his dis-

ciples a commission to proclaim to mankind the glad tidings

of salvation through his redemption, ascended to heaven. One

of his disciples, St. Thomas, is generally supposed to have

introduced Christianity into India, where he obtained many
converts. The Hindoo legends present so many points of

similarity with the facts of the New Testament, as to leave

little doubt that the events connected with the life and death

of the Saviour of mankind were widely disseminated through

India, and embodied, though in a distorted form, in the

writings of Hindoo poets and sages.

It is about this period that we find the Andras
The Andras. . _.

dynasty enjoying great power in the Gangetic

provinces, and their fame extending even to Eome. They
were probably one of the families which successively filled the

Mugudu throne. They appear to have gained it about twenty

years before our era, and to have held it on till the year 436.

The only notice of any of the monarchs of this line which has

survived their extinction refers to Kurnu, whose fame was

spread to the islands of the eastern archipelago, which were
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probably visited by his fleet. He still lives in the memory of

posterity, and a man of extraordinary liberality is always

compared to king Kurnu. The centuries which elapsed

between the decay of the Andras and the invasion of the

Mahomedans are filled up by the historians with barren lists of

dynasties and kings which can be turned to no account ; and

we turn therefore from the history of Hindostan to the annals

of the Deccan.

Early history of The early history of the Deccan is less obscure
the Deccan. an(j jcgs romantic than that of the northern division

of India. All the traditions and records recognise in every

province of it a period when the inhabitants did not profess

the Hindoo religion. The brahminical writers describe them

as mountaineers and foresters, goblins, and monsters ; but

there is every reason to conclude that they had reached a high

degf^e of civilization at a very early age. Ravunu, when
attacked by Ramu, was the sovereign of a powerful and

civilized state, which embraced not only the island of Ceylon,

but the whole of the southern division of the peninsula ; and

his subjects were, doubtless, far more advanced in the arts

and literature than the invaders. A Tamul literature existed

before the introduction of brahminism
;
and some of the best

authors in that language were of the tribe now stigmatised as

pariars, which incontestibly proves that the pariars were the

aborigines of the country, and a highly cultivated people, who
were reduced to subjection and degraded by the triumphant
brahmins. This remark applies to the group of tribes comprised
in the ancient Telingana, Draviru and Kerulu.

ThePandyas The most ancient kingdoms of the Deccan
andtheChoias.

appear to have been those of the Pandyas and the

Cholas, established in the extreme south, where the Tamul

language prevailed. Of the former, the seat of government,

after having been twice removed, was fixed at Madura, where

it was in existence in the time of Ptolemy, the great

geographer of antiquity. In the ninth century the reigning

family lost its consequence, but continued to linger in the
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scene of its eaily power till 1736, when the last of that royal
line was conquered by the nabob of Arcot. The kingdom of

Chola which some identify with Coromandel had Canchi,
or Conjeveram, for its capital, and retained its vigour for

many centuries, and, about the eighth century, appears to

have extended its authority over a considerable portion of

Carnata and Telingana. But its princes were driven back

and confined to their former limits about the tenth century,
and maintained a feeble existence, either as independent

sovereigns, or as tributaries to the great Hindoo monarchy of

Beejuynugur, till the province was subdued in the middle of

the seventeenth century by Shahjee, the father of Sevajee,
the founder of Mahratta greatness.

Kcruiu and The ancient division of Kerulu included Mala-

bar and Carnata, which are said to have been

miraculously peopled with brahmins by their champion

Purusramu, the renowned destroyer of the kshetriyus. Apart
from this legend, it would appear that about the second cen-

tury a colony of brahmins introduced themselves and their

religion into this province, which they divided into sixty-four

districts, and governed for a time by an ecclesiastical senate,

over which a brahmin was chosen to preside every three

years ; but they were subsequently subjected to the Pandya

kingdom. About the ninth century the country was broken

into various principalities; one of the most important of which,

Calicut, was under the government of the Hindoo Zamorin

when the Europeans first landed in India, under Vasco de

Gama, in 1498. Of the history of Telingana no authentic

records have been discovered, but it appears that about the

eleventh century the Belial dynasty attained paramount

power in this region. They dignified themselves with the

title of Rajpoots, of the Yadoo branch, and at one period ex-

tended their authority over the whole of Carnata, Malabar, and

Telingana ; but it was extinguished by the Mahomedans in

Onssaand 1310. The early annals- of Orissa are equally
Maharaslra-

indistinct. The authentic history of the province
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does not commence before the year 473, when the Kesari

family obtained the throne, and held it till 1131. They were

succeeded by the line of Gungu-bungsu, who maintained their

power till it was subverted by the Mahomedan in 1568. Of

the Mahratta province there are only two facts distinctly

visible in history ; the existence, more than twenty centuries

ago, of the great commercial mart of Tagara, so well known
to the Romans, which has been identified with Deogur, the

modern Dowlutabad, and was the capital of a long line of

monarchs. The other event is the reign of Salivahun. All

that is known of that prince, however, is that he was the son

of a potter, that he headed a successful insurrection, de-

throned the reigning family, and established a monarchy so

powerful and extensive that it gave rise to an era which has

survived him for eighteen centuries, and still continues cur-

rentfin the Deccan.

The Rajpoot
While the GTangetic empire of the Andras was

family of crumbling to pieces, the Rajpoot family of Chittore,

now settled at Oodypore, was rising into notice.

By the general suffrage of the Hindoos in the western pro-

vinces its descent is traced from Loh, the eldest son of Ramu,
the hero of the Rumayun, and it, therefore, claims pre-

eminence among the Hindoo princes of India. The family

originally migrated to the country of Surat, and fixed their

capital at Balabhipore, in the Gulf of Cambay. The town

was sacked about the year 524 by the son of Noshirvan the

just, king of Persia, but the Rajpoot queen escaped the general

destruction and took refuge in a cave, where she gave birth to

a son, G-oha. The youth subsequently established a king-

dom at Edur, and married the granddaughter of the Persian

king, and of his queen, the daughter of Maurice, the Christian

emperor of Constantinople. From Goha are lineally descended

the rajas of Oodypore.
"
Thus," remarks the historian of

Sajpootana,
" we are led to the singular conclusion that the

Hindoo sooruj, or sun, the descendant of a hundred kings, the

undisputed possessor of the honours of Ramu, the patriarch
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of the solar race, from whom other Hindoo princes, before

they can succeed to the throne of their fathers, must obtain

the teluk, or sign of royalty and investiture, is in fact the

offspring of a Christian princess." Eight princes succeeded

Goha on the throne of Edur, the last of whom was put to

death by his sons while hunting, but his infant son, Bappa,

was conveyed to the fortress of Bhandere, and brought up

among the shepherds. His mother aroused his ambition by

revealing to him the secret of his royal birth, and he im-

mediately proceeded to the court of Chittore, together with

the followers he had been able to collect, and was favourably

received by the king, but the nobles took umbrage at the

favour shown to an unknown youth. At this juncture a

formidable foe came down upon the country, and the chiefs

refused to furnish their feudal contingents, but Bappa offered

without any hesitation to lead the national troops into the

field. That enemy was the Mahomedans, who now for the

first time advanced into the heart of a country destined in

after times to form one of their most magnificent empires.

Else of Maho- Mahomed was born at Mecca, in Arabia, in the
inedan power. vear ggg^ an(j a^ ^e age of forty}

announced him-

self a prophet commissioned by God to convert the human
race to the "true faith," by the agency of the sword.

Having, by the force of his genius and eloquence, gained

many proselytes in his native land, he raised an army of

Arabs to subjugate the surrounding nations to his power and

his creed, and commenced that career of conquest which was

pursued by his successors with unexampled vigour and

rapidity. Province after province, and kingdom after king-
dom submitted to their arms, and in the brief period of half

a century, they had subverted or shaken the political institu-

tions of the west. From the birth of Mahoinedanism, its vota-

ries were animated with the resolution to establish, by force

of arms, a universal monarchy in which there should be but

one law civil and religious, one prophet and one creed. Every
Musulman who fell in this warfare, was promised a residence
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in paradise in the society of the black-eyed houris. It was

not to be expected, that when the "
Faithful," as they were

termed, had conquered Africa and Spain, subverted the

Persian empire, and looked on Europe as already their own,
the rich provinces of India, which had been for ages the prey
of every invader, should escape their notice.

First Mahome- Within a few years after the death of Mahomed,
dan invasion. |he Caliph Omar founded Bussorah, at the estuary
of the Tigris, and despatched an army into the province of

Sinde. The invasion was repeated under his successors, but

it was not till the days of Walid, that any successful effort

was made to obtain a footing in the country. Between the

years 705 and 715, he not only made an entire conquest of

the province, but carried his victorious army to the banks of

the^yffanges. It was the generals of this caliph who crossed

the Straits of Gibraltar, planted the standard of the crescent

on the soil of Europe, and subdued Spain in a single campaign.
So loftywas the ambition which animated the early successors

of Mahomed, that their arms were triumphant at the same

time on the banks of the Ebro and the Ganges, and they

aspired to the conquest both of Europe and India. Three

years after the invasion of Walid, his general Mahomed ben

Cossim overran the kingdom of Guzerat, and called on every

city either to embrace the creed of the prophet, or to pay
tribute. In case of refusal, the fighting men were put to the

sword, and the women and children reduced to slavery, but

the cultivators, artizans, and merchants are said to have suf-

fered little molestation. Cossim at length advanced to

Chittore, when the young Bappa placed himself at the head

of the Rajpoot army, and not only completely defeated him,

but expelled him from India. On his return to Chittore,

Bappa was hailed by the nobles and people as their deliverer,

and advanced to the throne, and from him are descended the

ranas who now reign at Oodypore. After having governed
the country for many years with great success, he abandoned

his kingdom and his religion, and marched with his troops
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across the Indus to Khorasan, where he married many Ma-
homedan wives, and left a numerous progeny.

Renewed attack It was about this period that the Prumura
onChittore.

family, which had ruled for many centuries at

Oojein, is supposed to have lost its authority in the north of

India, and other kingdoms rose on its ruins. The Tuars

occupied the districts around Delhi, and made that city their

capital. Guzerat became independent, and was governed at

first by the Chouras and then by the Solankis. The Rajpoot
annalists state, that in the days of Khoman, the great

grandson of Bappa, whose reign extended from 812 to 836,

Chittore was again invaded by the Mahomedans under

Mahmoon, the governor of Khorasan, probably the son of the

celebrated Caliph, Haioun-ul-Rashid, the contemporary and

friend of Charlemagne. The other princes in the north of

India hastened to the assistance of the Rajpoots against the

common enemy, and the national bard gives an animated

description of the different tribes who composed the chivalry

of the north on this occasion. With the aid of these allies,

Khoman defeated and expelled the Musulmans, with whom
he is said to have fought no fewer than twenty-four engage-
ments. For a century and a half after this period, we hear

of no further Mahomedan invasion, and it cannot but appear
a very notable circumstance, that while the followers of the

Prophet completely subjugated Persia and Spain in two or

three campaigns, the resistance which they met in their early

encounters with the Hindoos was so compact and resolute,

that nearly three centuries elapsed after the first invasion,

before they could make any permanent impression on India.

The only authentic event to be further noticed
rhe Cunouj

'

brahmins in previous to the irruption of Mahmood of Ghuzni,

relates to the kingdom of Bengal. Cunouj, the

cradle and the citadel of Hindooism, had recovered its impor-
tance under a new dynasty. Adisoor, of the Vidyu, or medical

race of kings then ruling Bengal, and holding its court at

Nuddea, became dissatisfied with the ignorance of his prieste,
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and applied to the king- of Cunouj for a supply of brahmins
well versed in the Hindoo shasters and observances. That
monarch, about nine centuries ago sent him five brahmins,
from whom all the brahminical families in Bengal trace their

descent; while the kayusts, the next in order, derive their

origin from the five servants who attended the priests.

CHAPTER II.

FROM THE DYNASTY OP GHTTZNI TO THAT OP TOGHLUK,

10091321.
*r

WE have now reached the period when the
Movements in

Khorasan and Mahomedan empire in India may be said to have

had a substantial beginning.
The opulent regions of Khorasan and Transoxiana had

been conquered by the Arabs in the first century of the hejira,

and continued under the government of the lieutenants of

the Caliphs, for more than 180 years. But after the death of

Haroun-ul-Rashid, the most illustrious of that line of princes,

their authority began to decline, and the different provinces

aspired to independence, till at length, little, if anything
remained of the once splendid empire of the Caliphs, except
the city of Bagdad and its immediate .dependencies. Among
the governors who thus assumed royalty, was Ismael Samani,
a Tartar and a Turk, who seized on Transoxiana and Kho-

rasan as well as Afghanistan, about the year 862, and fixed the

seat of his government at Bokhara. This dynasty, called that

of the Samanides flourished for about 120 years. The fifth

prince of the line had a Tartar slave of the name of Alup-

tugeen, a man of good sense and courage, who rose through
the gradations of office to the government of Candahar, or
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Gliuzni. On the death of his patron, a controversy arose

about the succession, and Aluptugeen voted against his son,

who was, however, raised to the throne by the other chiefs.

Aluptugeen having thus incurred his resentment, retreated to

Ins own government, and declared himself independent ; and

after defeating two armies sent against him, was allowed to

remain unmolested. He had purchased a slave of Turkistan,

of the name of Subuktugeen, who, though claiming descent

from the illustrious Persian dynasty of the Sassanides had

been reduced to the most abject poverty. His master, who
had discovered great powers of mind in him, gradually raised

him to such trust and power, that he became the first subject
in the kingdom, and in 976 succeeded to the throne.

Hindoos attack
^ne provinces in the extreme north of India, and

Subuktugeen, more particularly the Punjab, had for many cen-

turies been linked with the fortunes and policy of

Cabul and Candahar which lay to the west of the Indus. Hence,

the establishment of a powerful Mahomedan kingdom, under a

vigorous ruler, at no greater distance from the frontier of India

than Ghuzni, gave no little disquietude to Jeypal, the Hindoo

chief of Lahore. He determined to anticipate any designs which

Subuktugeen might form on India, and crossed the Indus

with a large army to Lughman, at the entrance of the valley

which extends from Peshawur to Cabul, where he was met by
that prince. While the two armies faced each other, a violent

tempest of wind, rain, and thunder arose, which is said to

have terrified the superstitious soldiers of Jeypal to such a

degree, as to constrain him to sue for an accommodation, that

he might escape to his own country. The Hindoo was the

aggressor, and the treaty was not granted except on the

surrender of fifty elephants, and the promise of a large sum
of money. The envoys of Subuktugeen followed Jeypal to

Lahore for payment, but on hearing that his opponent had

been obliged to march towards the west to repel an invasion,

he was disposed to withhold it. The brahmins, says the

native historian, stood on the right of the throne, and urged
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him to refuse the tribute, since there was nothing
1 to be any

longer apprehended from Ghuzni ; while his kshetriyu officers,

standing on the left, reminded him of the sufferings beyond
the Indus which had extorted the contribution, and, above

all, of his royal word which he had pledged to the Mahome-
dan prince. In an evil hour, Jeypal listened to the priests,

and imprisoned the envoys. Subuktugeen speedily disposed

of his enemies in the west, and marched with a large army
towards the Indus, breathing vengeance against the author

of the insult. Jeypal, notwithstanding his perfidy, succeeded

in enlisting the aid of the kings of Delhi, Ajmere, Calinjer,

and Cunouj, and advanced across the Indus, it is said, with

100,000 horse and countless infantry. The Hindoos were

utterly routed, and pursued to the banks of the river. Su-

buktugeen found a rich plunder in their camp, and obliged

ah
1

the tribes up to the Indus to submit to his authority.

Subuktugeen died in 997, and was succeeded, in
Mahmood's first

and second the first instance, by his son Ismael, but he was
teuption, 1001.

superse(jed in a few months by his brother, the

renowned Mahmood of Ghuzni, who inflicted the severest

blow on the Hindoo power which it had ever experienced

since its original establishment in India. From his early youth
Mahmood had accompanied his father in his numerous expedi-

tions, and thus acquired a passion and a talent for war. He
succeeded to the resources of the kingdom at the age of thirty,

burning with ambition to enlarge its boundaries. Having

spent the first four years of his reign in consolidating his

government west of the Indus, he cast his eye on the rich

plains of Hindostan filled with idolaters, and invested with a

romantic interest. In addition to the wealth he might acquire,

the glory of extending the triumphs of Mahomedanism through
new and unknown regions, possessed an irresistible charm

for his mind. He began his crusade against the Hindoos in

the year 1001, and conducted no fewer than twelve expedi-

tions against the northern provinces, which, being held by
various independent princes, fell an easy prey to his arms.
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He left Ghuzni in August with 10,000 chosen horse, and was

met at Peshawur by his father's old antagonist, Jeypal, who
was totally defeated and taken prisoner, but released on the

promise of paying tribute. According to the Persian histo-

rian, it was a custom or law of the Hindoos that a prince

who had been twice defeated by the Mahomedan arms was

considered unworthy to reign. Jeypal, therefore, resigned

the throne to his son Anungpal, and closed the misfortunes

of his reign by ascending the funeral pyre in regal state.

Some of the chiefs subordinate to Lahore, however, refused

to pay the contributions demanded of them, among whom
was the raja of Bhutnere, situated at the northern extremity

of the Bikaneer desert. The Sultan proceeded against him ;

tire fort was taken after a siege of three days, and the prince,

to avoid falling into the hands of the victor, fell upon his own

sword.

Mahmood's third expedition was undertaken to
His third and r

fourth expedi- subdue Daood, whom he had left governor of
dons, io< s.

i^ooltan, but who, under the encouragement of

Anungpal, had revolted against his master. Mooltan was
invested for seven days, but an irruption of the Tartars from

beyond the Oxus, constrained Mahmood to accept the sub-

missions of the governor. Having succeeded in driving the

Tartars back to their seats, he returned to India on his fourth

expedition to chastise Anungpal for the revolt he had insti-

gated, and for his repeated perfidies. That prince had sent

envoys to the Hindoo monarchs in the north of Hindostan to

the kings of Oojein, Calinjer, Gwalior, Cunouj, Delhi, and

Ajmere, who formed a confederation and assembled the

largest army which had as yet taken the field against the

Mahomedans. The Hindoo women are said to have melted

down their gold ornaments and sold their jewels to support
the war, which was considered holy. The Hindoo troops again
crossed the Indus and advanced to Peshawur, where the two
armies were encamped opposite to each other for forty days,
before joining issue. Mahmood at length commenced the
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engagement by a large body of archers, but they were driven

back with the loss of 5,000, by the impetuosity of the bare-

headed and bare-footed Gukkers, a tribe of savages, living

in the hills and fastnesses to the east of the Indus, the ances-

tors of the modern Jauts. The battle was long doubtful, but

was at length decided by the flight of the wounded elephant

of Anungpal, when the whole body of Hindoos, no longer

having their leader before their eyes, dispersed in utter dis-

order, leaving 20,000 dead on the field. Mahmood deter-

mined to allow them no time to rally, bui on reaching the

Punjab found their discomfiture so complete so as to afford

Capture of him leisure for a plundering expedition to the
Nagarcote, 1008.

temple of Nagarcote, north-west of Lahore, a

place of peculiar sanctity, built over a natural flame which

issued from the mountain, and was the origin of its religious

renown. It was so strongly fortified as to be deemed impreg-
nable ; it was therefore selected as the depository of the

wealth of the neighbourhood, and was said at this time to

contain a greater quantity of gold, silver, precious stones, and

pearls than was to be found in the treasury of any prince on

earth. It was, however, captured with ease, and Mahmood
is said to have carried away 700 mauns of gold and silver

plate, 200 mauns of pure gold in ingots, and 200 mauns of

jewels. His next expedition was directed against Thanesur,

about sixty miles from Delhi, one of the most ancient and

Capture of opulent shrines in the north of India. Anungpal
Thanesur, ion. gent njg brother to entreat the sultan to spare

the temple which was held in the same veneration by the

Hindoos as Mecca was by the Mahomedans. Mahmood

replied, that the religion of the prophet inculcated this pre-

cept that the reward of his followers in heaven would be in

proportion to the diffusion ,of its tenets and the extermination

of idolatry. His mission to India was to root out the idols
;

how then could he spare Thanesur? The Hindoo princes

were therefore summoned to its defence, but before their

arrival, the shrine was captured and all the costly images,

and shrines, and wealth, together with 200,000 captives were
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sent off to Ghuzni, which now began to wear the appearance

of a Hindoo city.

Capture of During the next three years Mahmood was en-

Cunouj, ion.
gaged in two expeditions to Cashmere, of minor

consequence reckoned the seventh and eighth ; after which

he subdued the whole of Transoxiana, and extended his

dominion to the Caspian sea. In the year 1017 he resolved to

penetrate to the heart of Hindostan, and assembled an army of

100,000 horse and 20,000 foot, drawn chiefly from the recently

conquered provinces, the inhabitants of which were allured

to his standard by the love of plunder and of adventure. He
set out from Peshawur, and passed three months in skirting

the hills, after which he marched southward, and presented
himself unexpectedly before the city of Cunouj, which had

been renowned in Hindoo history for twenty centuries. The

description given of its grandeur, both by Hindoo and

Mahomedan writers, staggers our belief, more especially when
we consider the limited extent of the kingdom, and the ease

with which it was subdued on this occasion. Its standing

army is said to have consisted of 80,000 men in armour, 30,000

horsemen, with quilted mail, and 500,000 well equipped in-

fantry. The city, moreover, is reported to have contained

60,000 families of musicians. The raja, taken unawares, was
constrained to submit, and to enter into an alliance with the

sultan, who remained in the city only three days and then

turned his steps towards Muttra. This ecclesiastical city, the

birth-place of the deified hero Krishnu, was filled with temples,
and the shrines blazed with jewels. But it fell an easy prey
to the Mahomedans, and was given up to plunder for twenty

days, during which the idols were melted down or demolished.

Some of the temples, however, were spared, on account either

of their matchless beauty, or their soh'dity. "Here are a

thousand edifices," writes the sultan,
'" as firm as the creed

of the faithful most of them of marble, besides innumerable

temples. Such another city could not be constructed under two
centuries." After capturing many other towns, and ravaging

many districts, Mahmood at length returned to Ghuzni, laden
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with plunder and captives ; and the latter became so common
as not to be worth more than two rupees a head.

Passing over two expeditions of less moment,
Somnath, 1024. fwe come to the last and most celebrated in which

Mahmood was engaged, and which is considered by the

Mahomedans as the model of a religious crusade the capture
and plunder of Somnath. This shrine was at the time one of

the most wealthy and celebrated in India. It is affirmed that

at the period of an eclipse it was crowded with 200,000 pilgrims,

that it was endowed with the rent of 2,000 villages, and that

the image was daily bathed with water, brought from the

sacred stream of the Ganges, a distance of 1,000 miles. Its

establishment consisted of 2,000 brahmins, 300 barbers to

shave the pilgrims when their vows were accomplished, 200

musicians, and 300 courtesans. To reach the temple Mah-

mood was obliged to cross the desert with his army, 350

miles in extent, by no means the least arduous of his exploits.

He appeared unexpectedly before the capital of the province,

and the raja, though considered one of the most powerful

princes in India, was constrained to abandon it and take to

flight. Pursuing his route to the temple the sultan found it

situated on a peninsula connected with the main land by a

fortified isthmus, which was manned at every point with

soldiers. As he approached it, a herald issued from the portal

and menaced the invader with destruction in the name of the

god. Mahmood ordered his archers to clear the fortifications;

the defenders retired to the temple, and prostrating them-

selves before the image supplicated with tears for help.

The next day there was a general charge by the Mahomedan

troops ; but the Hindoos were roused to the highest pitch of

enthusiasm, and vigorously repulsed the assailants. On the

third day the chiefs in the neighbourhood assembled their

troops for the defence of the shrine. The battle raged with

great fury, and was for a tune doubtful. The Mahomedans

began to waver, when the sultan prostrated himself to implore

the Divine assistance, as he was accustomed to do in every

P
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emergency ; and then leaping into the saddle cheered on his

troops. Ashamed to abandon a prince under whom they had

so often fought and bled, they rushed on their enemies with

an impetuosity which nothing could withstand. Five thousand

Hindoos fell under their sabres, and the remainder rushed to

their boats. On entering the temple Mahmood was struck

with its grandeur. The lofty roof was supported by fifty-

six pillars, curiously carved and richly studded with precious

Btones. The external light was excluded, and the shrine was

lighted by a single lamp, suspended by a golden chain, the

lustre of which was reflected from the numerous jewels with

which the walls were embossed. Facing the entrance stood

the lofty idol five yards in height, two of which were buried

in the ground. Mahmood ordered it to be broken up, when

the brahmins cast themselves at his feet and offered an

immense sum to ransom it. His courtiers besought him to

accept the offer, and he hesitated for a moment ; but he soon

recovered himself, and exclaimed that he would rather be

known as the destroyer than the seller of images. He then

struck the idol with his mace ; his soldiers followed the ex-

ample; and the figure, which was hollow, speedily burst under

their blows, and poured forth a quantity of jewels and

diamonds, greatly exceeding in value the sum which had been

pffered for its redemption. The wealth acquired in this ex-

pedition exceeded that of any which had preceded it ; and the

'mind is bewildered with the enumeration of treasures and

jewels estimated by the maun. The sandal-wood gates of

Somnath were sent as a trophy to Ghuzni, where they re-

mained for eight centuries, till they were brought back to

India in a triumphal procession by a Christian ruler.

-s
Mahmood was so charmed with the beauty and

projects and the fertility of the country around Somnath, that

he proposed at one time to make it the seat of his

empire, and likewise to construct a navy to be sent in search

of the pearls of Ceylon, and the gold of Pegu. But he had

the wisdom to relinquish these projects, and, having placed a
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prince of his own choice on the throne of Guzerat, returned

to Ghuzni, after a toilsome and perilous march through the

desert. Two years after, his power reached its culminating

point by the conquest of Persia, but his reputation was
tarnished by the slaughter of some thousands of the in-

habitants of Ispahan, who had obstinately resisted his arms.

This execution was the more remarkable, as in all his cam-

paigns in India, he never shed the blood of a Hindoo, except
in the heat of battle, or in a siege. Soon after his return

from this expedition, he expired at his capital in the year

1030, and in the sixtieth of his age. Two days before his

death, he caused all the gold and silver and jewels of which

he had despoiled India, to be spread out before him, that he

might feast his eyes for the last time with the sight, and

then burst into tears. The next day he commanded his army,

infantry, cavalry, and elephants, to be drawn up in review

before him, and wept at the prospect of leaving them.

Mahmood was the greatest prince of his time ; the Ma-

homedans, indeed, consider him the greatest prince of any

age. He had all the elements of greatness, exemplary pru-

dence, boundless activity, and great courage. His success in

war has given him the highest military reputation, while the

perfect order which prevailed throughout his vast dominions,

notwithstanding his frequent absence in the field, proves that

he likewise possessed the greatest talent for civil affairs.

His court was the most magnificent in Asia; his taste in

architecture was more particularly developed after his return

from Cunouj and Muttra, when he determined to make his

own capital worthy of his empire. He erected a mosque of

granite and marble, called the Celestial Bride, which filled

every beholder with astonishment, and became the wonder of

Central Asia. His nobility vied with him in the erection of

magnificent buildings, and in a short time the metropolis,

which had been a mere collection of hovels, was ornamented

with mosques, porches, fountains, reservoirs, acqueducts and

palaces, beyond any other city in the east. He has been.

D 2
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charged with avarice, but if he was rapacious in acquiring

wealth, he was noble and judicious in the employment of it.

Few Mahomedan princes have ever equalled him in the en-

couragement of learning. He founded a university at

Ghuzni, and furnished it with a large collection of valuable

manuscripts, and a museum of natural curiosities. He set

aside a lac of rupees a year for pensions to learned men, and

his munificence brought together a larger assembly of literary

genius than was to be found in any other Asiatic court. In

the space of thirty years, he extended his dominions from tha

Persian gulf to the sea of Aral, and from the mountains of

Curdestan to the banks of the Sutlege ; yet while in posses-

sion of this great empire, he considered it his highest glory

to be designated the "image-breaker."

Musaooa, Mahmood left two sons, twins; the eldest,
loselow. Mahomed, had recommended himself to his father

by his gentleness and docility, and was nominated his succes-

sor. The younger Musaood had become popular with the

nobles and the army, by his martial qualities, and within five

months of his father's decease, marched to Ghuzni, deprived
his brother of his throne and his sight, and made himself

king. In the year 1034 he conducted an expedition to Cash-

mere, which he subdued, but was recalled to the defence of

his dominions by the irruption of a horde of Turki-Tartars,
denominated Seljuks. His father had on one occasion de-

feated them, but he let them off on easy terms, and they
recrossed the Oxus in such numbers as to threaten the safety
of his empire. Among the generals now sent to oppose their

progress, was Jey-sen, the commander of Musaood's Indian

battalions, from which we infer, that even at that early period
the Mahomedan invaders found the Hindoos ready to enlist

under their banners, and even to cross the Indus and fight
their battles. The Seljuks offered their submission and were
admitted to terms, which only served to increase their am-
bition and cupidity; Musaood was impatient to renew his

Attacks on the Hindoos, but was opposed by advice of his
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.wisest councillors, who represented to him that the incessant

encroachments of the Seljuks required his exclusive attention.

He persisted, however, in marching to India, where he

captured the fortress of Hansi, but was recalled by a fresh

invasion of the ever-restless Seljuks. Musaood appointed his

son governor of the two provinces of Mooltan and Lahore,

which were now permanently annexed to Ghuzni, and marched

against the invaders in person, but after two years of inde-

cisive warfare, Togrul Beg, the great Seljuk chief, advanced

up to the gates of Ghuzni. At length, the two armies met on

equal terms, when Musaood was deserted hi the field by some

of his TurM followers, and totally and irretrievably defeated.

He then resolved to withdraw to India, in the hope of being
able quietly to retrieve his fortunes in that country. But his

army was totally disorganized, and, on crossing the Indus,

deposed him, and restored his brother Mahomed to the throne.

The blindness of that prince rendered him incapable of con-

ducting the government, and he transferred it to his son,

Ahmed, whose first act was to put the dethroned Musaood to

death in the tenth year of his reign.

_ . , Modood, the son of Musaood was at Balkh.
Succession of

'

watching the movements of the Seljuks, when
he heard of the assassination of his father, and

hastened to Ghuzni, where he was saluted king. He then

set out for Hindostan, and at Lughman encountered the forces

of Mahomed and Ahmed, who were defeated and slain. The

Seljuks took advantage of these troubles to push their con-

quests, and having assembled at Nishapore, placed the crown

upon the brows of their chief, Togrul Beg, and divided the

country they had conquered, and that which they intended to

occupy, into four parts ; but Modood was able not only to

maintain himself in Ghuzni, but to recover Transoxiana.

Meanwhile, the king of Delhi took advantage of his absence,

and, as the Mahomedan historian observes,
"
those, who like

foxes, dared not creep from their holes, now put on the aspect
of lions." A large army of Hindoos was assembled. Tha-
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nesur, Hansi, and the Mahomedan possessions south of the

Sutlege were recovered, and Nagarcote fell after a siege of

four months. The idol which Mahmood demolished had been

miraculously preserved so at least it was announced and

was now discovered by the brahmins, and installed; the

oracle was re-established, and the shrine was again enriched

by the gifts of princes and people. All the other temples
which had been subverted were restored, and recovered their

sanctity. The Hindoos, flushed with success, thought them-

selves strong enough to expel the followers of the Prophet
from the soil of India, and proceeded to lay seige to Lahore,

but after beseiging it seven months, were driven back by a

vigorous sally of the besieged. Modood expired at Ghuzni,
after a reign of nine years, in 1049, and was succeeded by
four monarchs in succession, whose insignificant reigns ex-

tended over nine years. Then came Ibrahim, in 1058, remark-

able for his mildness and devotion , whose first act was to make

peace with the Seljuks, and to confirm them in possession of all

the territories they had usurped. He extended the fast of the

Kamzan to three months ; he attended religious lectures, and

bore patiently with priestly rebukes ; he gave away large

sums in charity ; he presented two copies of the Koran of his

own beautiful penmanship to the Caliph, and then died, after

a reign of forty years, leaving thirty-six sons and forty

daughters. The reign of his son, Musaood the second, ex-

tended over sixteen years, and the throne descended on his

death to his son Arslan, who immediately imprisoned all his

brothers. One of their number, Byram, was, however, so

fortunate as to escape to his maternal uncle, the Seljuk

monarch, who marched against Arslan, and defeated him,

placing Byram on the throne. But on the retirement of the

Seljuk army, Arslan returned and expelled Byram, and was
in turn displaced a second time by Sanjar, the Seljuk general,

and soon after overtaken and put to death; Byrarn, finally

ascended the throne in 1118.

Bynun, the last Byram governed the kingdom with great wisdom



II.] THE DYNASTY OF GHORB, 39

and moderation, and like all the monarchs of
1118

his line, extended a liberal patronage to men
of learning. Towards the close of his reign, which reached

thirty-five years, he was involved in a feud with the ruler of

Ghore, which cost him his Me and his crown. His family was

expelled from Ghuzni, and the seat of his kingdom transferred

to Lahore, which his son, Khusro, governed for seven years,

and then bequeathed to his son, Khusro Malik, under whom
all the provinces which had ever been held by the Mahome-

dans, east of the Indus, were recovered. His reign extended

to twenty-seven years, when hewas overpowered by Mahomed,
of Ghore, in 1186, and with him the family of Subuktugeen
became extinct, at the close of the usual cycle of 200 years.

The dynasty The dynasty of Ghore, which superseded that of

Ghuzni, and rapidly extended its dominion from

the Caspian Sea to the Ganges, was flattered by Mahomedan

poets and historians with an ancient and honourable lineage,

but the founder of the family was Eiz-ood-deen Hussein, a

native of Afghanistan, of little note. He entered the service

of Musaood, the king of Ghuzni, and rose in his favour, until

he obtained the hand of his daughter, and with it the princi-

pality of Ghore. His son, Kootub-ood-deen, espoused the

daughter of Byram, who put him to death in consequence of

some family disputes. Seif-ood-deen, his brother, took up arms

to revenge the murder, and captured Ghuzni, from which Byram
retreated in haste. Seif-ood-deen, who had sent back the

greater part of his army, failed to conciliate his new subjects,

and Byram was encouraged to return. He succeeded in

defeating and capturing his opponent, whom he put to death

under every circumstance of ignominy. His brother, Alla-

ood-deen, on hearing of this tragic event, marched with a

numerous army to Ghuzni, thirsting to revenge the murder.

A long and bloody battle was fought under the walls of the

city, which ended in the utter rout of Byram's army, and

his retreat to India, during the progress of which, fatigue

and misfortune put an end to his life. Alla-ood-deen
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entered Ghuzni, and gave up this city, then the noblest in

Asia, to indiscriminate plunder for three, and, according to

Borne historians, for seven days. The superb monuments of

the kings of Ghuzni were destroyed, and the palaces of the

nobles sacked, while the most distinguished and venerable

men in the city were carried into captivity. Whatever pro-

vocation Alla-ood-deen may have received hi the murder of

his brother, the savage vengeance wreaked on this magnifi-

cent capital, has fixed an indelible stain on his memory, and

led the historians to stigmatize him as the "
incendiary of

the world."

Aiia-ood-deen Alla-ood-deen, after having satiated his fury
Ghory,ii62. at Ghuzni, returned to his capital at Feroze-

khoh, but was immediately summoned by Sultan Sanjar to

make good the tribute which had been usually paid by his

predecessor, Byram. The demand was refused, and the

Seljuk Sanjar immediately marched to Ghuzni, and defeated

and captured Alla-ood-deen. But on hearing that his own
lieutenant in Kharism had revolted, and invited the Khitans,

a Tartar horde, who had been driven from the north of China,

to assist him, Sanjar replaced Alla-ood-deen on the Ghuzni

throne, and marched against this new enemy, by whom he

was defeated. He was enabled, however, to recover his

strength, but was brought into collision with another tribe of

Tartars, generally called the Euz, and though he assembled

100,000 men in the field was totally routed, and made prisoner.

He died in the course of three years, in 1156, and with him

ended the power which the Seljuks had been a century in

building up. Alla-ood-deen died in the same year, and was

succeeded by his son, an amiable but inexperienced youth,
who was killed in the course of the year by one of his own

nobles, when his cousin, Gheias-ood-deen, mounted the

throne, and associated his own brother, Shahab-ood-deen,

shahab-ood- known in history as the renowned Mahomed
een, 1157.

Ghory, with him in the government. It is a most

singular circumstance that in that age of violence, when the
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love of power overcame all natural affections, and instigated

men to the murder of fathers, and brothers, and kindred,

Mahomed should have continued faithful in allegiance to his

feeble brother for twenty-nine years. It was he who estab-

lished the second Mahomedan dynasty at Delhi, generally
known as the house of Ghore.

state of the
Mahomed Ghory was the real founder of Maho-

Hindoo princes, medan power in India ; and it may therefore be of

service to glance at the condition of the Hindoo

thrones in the north, immediately on the eve of their ex-

tinction. The king of Cunouj, of the Korah family, had

been compelled to make his submission, as already stated,

to Mahmood of Ghuzni, which excited the indignation of the

neighbouring Hindoo princes, who expelled him from the

throne, and put him to death. The kingdom was then oc-

cupied by the Kathore tribe of the Rajpoots, and five princes

of that line had governed it, when it was finally absorbed by
the Mahomedans. The kings of Benares, who bore the

patronymic of Pal, and professed the Boodhist religion, attained

great power, and one of them is said to have extended his

conquests to Orissa. The family, however, became extinct

before the invasion of Mahomed Ghory, when the king of

Bengal seized Gour and Behar, and the king of Cunouj, the

western districts of Benares, which greatly increased his

power and his arrogance. In the west, the kingdom of

Guzerat was governed by the family of Bhagilas, who were

generally found in alliance with the kingdom of Cunouj.

Ajmere, then a powerful monarchy, was governed by the

Chohans, and always sided with the sovereigns of Delhi, of

the Tuar dynasty. The last king of this line having no son

adopted his grandson, Prithiraj, the offspring of his daughter,
who was married to the king of Ajmere. The king of Cunouj
refused to acknowledge the superiority which had been con-

ceded to the kings of Delhi ; and they were engaged in in-

cessant warfare. Thus, at the period when Mahomed Ghory
was preparing to extirpate the Hindoo power in the north of



42 BHOJE RAJA. [CHAP.

India, its princes, instead of combining against the common

foe, were engaged in mutual hostilities, or alienated from

each other by family jealousies. Hindostan was divided into

two irreconcilable parties the one comprising Guzerat and

Cunouj, the other Delhi, the Chohan of Ajmere, and the

Hindoo raja of Chittore. It is asserted by some native

authors that Jeychunder, the king of Cunouj, impelled by
hatred of the young king of Delhi, invited Mahomed Ghory to

invade India, but the evidence of this act of treason is doubt-

ful, and the Mahomedan prince required no prompting to an

enterprize of such large promise. But it is certain that the

king of Cunouj assumed the arrogant title of lord paramount
of India, and resolved to support his pretensions by celebrating

the magnificent sacrifice of the horse. The other princes of

the north hastened to pay their homage to him, but Prithiraj,

the king of Delhi, supported by the raja of Chittore, refused

to acknowledge the claim of superiority put forward by his

rival. In this gorgeous ceremony it is required that every

office, however menial, shall be performed by royal hands. As
the king of Delhi refused to appear, an effigy of gold was
made to supply his place, and planted at the entrance of the

hall, to represent him in the capacity of the porter. In such

acts of folly were the Hindoo princes in the north wasting
their time and their energies, while the Mahomedan was

thundering at their door.

On the threshhold of the great revolution pro-
BhojeBaja. , , , .,. . .

duced by this invasion, we pause for a moment to

record the civil virtues of Bhoje Raja, the last of the really

great Hindoo sovereigns of Hindostan. He was of the race

of the Prumuras, who still continued to reign, though with di-

minished splendour, at Oojein and at Dhar. Seated on tho

throne of Vikrumadityu, he determined to revive the literary

glory of his court, and to render his own reign illustrious by
the encouragement of literature. While the silly king of

Cunouj was engaged in celebrating the sacrifice of the horse,

and the princes of the north were hastening to that imperial
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pageant, the learned were crowding to the court of Bhoje, by
whom they were entertained with royal hospitality. His

memory is consecrated in the recollections of posterity, and

his reign has been immortalized by the genius of poetry. His

name is as familiar to men of the present age as that of Ramu
and Yoodistheer ; yet few recognise the fact that he reigned

only seven centuries ago, and that he was the last Hindoo

sovereign who had the wish as well as the power to patronise

letters.

Mahomea Mahomed now turned his attention to foreign
defeated, 1191. conquest with all the vigour of a new dynasty.

Having reduced the greater part of Khorasan to subjection, he

led several expeditions to India, and at length defeated Khusro

Malik, the Ghuzni prince of Lahore and Mooltan, and annexed

those provinces to the empire of Ghore, thus extinguishing
the Ghuznavede dynasty, and paving the way for the sub-

version of Hindoo power in Hindostan. At this period there

was little trace left of the early Mahomedan invasions. The

ravages committed by Mahmood had been repaired; population

was renewed, and prosperity revived ; the country was again
filled with wealth and idols, and the Hindoo princes were en-

gaged, as they had been from time immemorial, in fighting

with each other. But the year 1 193 brought with it a tempest
of desolation which swept away the Hindoo monarchies and

institutions, planted the standard of the crescent on the battle-

ments of Delhi, and extended its triumphs throughout Hin-

dostan. Prithiraj, the heroic but unthinking king of Delhi,

had wasted his strength in a vain struggle with the house of

Cunouj, and only 64 out of 108 of his military chiefs had sur-

vived it. But he still was able to bring 200,000 horse into the

field, and a battle was fought at Tirouri, fourteen miles from

Thanesur, on the great plain where most of the contests for

the possession of India were subsequently decided. After

performing prodigies of valour Mahomed found both the wings
of his army give way, and was obliged to fly. He was pur-

sued for forty miles by the victorious Hindoos, and was happy
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to escape across the Indus with the wreck of his army.

Though he appeared outwardly to forget his disgrace, it was

silently preying on his mind ; and he stated in one of his

letters that he " neither slumbered at ease, nor waked but in

sorrow and anxiety."

Defeat of the Having in the course of two years recruited his

king of Demi, army with Tartars, Turks, and Afghans, he

moved again over the Indus, and entered Hin-

dostan. A hundred and fifty chiefs rallied around the king of

Delhi, who was enabled, on the lowest calculation, to bring

300,000 horse, 3,000 elephants, and a vast body of infantry

into the field. The allied sovereigns, inflated with an idea of

their superiority, sent Mahomed a lofty message, granting

him their permission to retire without injury. He replied,

with great apparent humility, that he was merely his brother's

lieutenant, to whom he would refer their message. The

Hindoos misinterpreted this answer to denote weakness, and

spent the night in revelry. The Caggar flowed between the

armies. Mahomed crossed his army during the night, and

fell upon the Hindoos before they had recovered from their

debauch. But in spite of the confusion which ensued, so vast

was their host that they still had time to fall into their ranks;

and Mahomed, reduced again to difficulty, sounded a retreat.

The Hindoos were, as he expected, thrown into disorder in

the pursuit, when he charged them with his reserve ; and as

the historian observes,
" this prodigious army once shaken,

like a great building tottered to its fall, and was lost in its

own ruins." The gallant raja of Chittore, Somarsi, fell nobly

fighting at the head of his Rajpoots ; and the king of Delhi,

who was taken prisoner, was butchered in cold blood.

Mahomed then proceeded against Ajmere, and captured the

town, and put several thousands of the inhabitants to the

sword.

Progress of Mahomed returned to Ghuzni laden with plunder,
Kootub,ii94. an(i Kootub-ood-deen, a slave who had gained
his confidence by the display of great talents both as a
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general and as a statesmen, was left in charge of his con-

quests. He followed out his master's plans, by the capture

of Meerut and Coel, and eventually of Delhi which was now,
for the first time, made the seat of the Mahomedan govern-

ment of India. The kings of Cunouj and Guzerat, who had

looked on with malicious delight while the Mahomedan smote

down their Hindoo opponents, had no long respite themselves,

Mahomed returned the next year to India with a still larger

force, and a battle was fought at a place between Chundwar

and Etawah, in which Jey-chunder, the king of Cunouj, was

totally defeated, and perished, and the oldest Hindoo monarchy
in the north was finally subverted. This reverse induced the

whole tribe of the Eathores to emigrate in a body to Rajpoo-

tana, where they established the kingdom of Marwar or

Joudhpore, which still continues to exist. Mahomed then

advanced against Benares, which was captured with ease, and

demolished 1,000 temples. And thus, in the short space of

four years, was the Hindoo power in Hindostan completely

and irrevocably extinguished.
Kootub lost no time in despatching one of his

Conquest of

Behar and slaves, Bukhtiyar Ghiljie, who had risen to com-
Bengai,i203. man(j by his native genius, to conquer Behar.

The capital was sacked and the country subdued, and the

army returned within two years to Delhi, bending beneath the

weight of its plunder. An attempt was soon after made to

supplant Bukhtiyar in his master's favour, but it was defeated

by the prowess he exhibited in single combat with a lion,

which his enemies at court had forced on him. This event

established him still more firmly in the confidence of Kootub,

who sent him in 1203 to reduce Bengal. That kingdom had

for a long period been under the government of a dynasty of

Vidyus, of the medical caste, who established an era which

continued in vogue in the province till it was abolished by

Akbar, two centuries and a half ago. The throne was then

filled by Lucksmun Sen, who had been placed on it in his

infancy, and had now attained the age of eighty. His long
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reign was distinguished by his liberality, clemency and

justice. His court was usually held at Nuddea, though he

occasionally resided at Gour, or Lucknoutee. On the approach
of the Mahomedans, he was advised by his brahmins, in

accordance, as they said, with the instructions of their sacred

books, to retire to some remote province. He refused to

follow their advice, but he made no preparation for the emer-

gency, and allowed himself to be surprised at a ineal by

Bukhtiyar, who rushed into his palace with a handful of troops.

The king contrived to escape through a back gate to his

boats, and did not pause until he had reached Jugunnath, in

Orissa. It is worthy of remark, that while the king of Delhi

offered an honourable resistance to the Mahomedans, and the

king of Cunouj fell bravely defending his liberty, and

Chittore made the most heroic struggle, Bengal fell without

even an effort for its independence The whole kingdom was

conquered within a single year, and submitted patiently to

the rule of the Mahomedan for five centuries and a hah7
,
till

he was supplanted by the Christian. Bukhtiyar delivered up
the city of Nuddea to plunder, and then proceeded to Gour,

which offered no defence. The Hindoo temples were de-

molished, and Mahomedan mosques, palaces, and caravanseras

built with the materials. After the conquest of Bengal,

Bukhtiyar marched with a large army to Bootan and Assam,
but was signally defeated by those brave highlanders, and

driven back to Bengal, where he died of chagrin, three years
after he had entered the province.

Mahomed's During these transactions, Mahomed was en-

death, 1206. gaged in ambitious expeditions in the west. The

empire of the Seljuks having fallen to pieces, he was anxious

to come in for a share of it. Of the new kingdoms which

nad arisen upon its ruins, that of Kharism, on the eastern

shore of the Caspian Sea, had Attained great power under

Takash, against whom Mahomed now led his forces, but ex-

perienced a signal defeat, and was obliged to purchase a

retreat bv a heavy ransom. On his return to his own do-
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minions, he resolved to punish the Gukkers for their incessant

rebellions, and not only brought them under subjection,

but is said to have constrained them to embrace the creed

of the Prophet; but on his way back to Ghuzni, he was

assassinated by two of the tribe as he was reposing in his tent,

in the year 1206. He governed the kingdom in his brother's

name for forty-five years, and was king in his own right

for only three. In the course of ten years, he completely

demolished the Hindoo power from the banks of the Sutlege

to the bay of Bengal, and at the period of his death, the

whole of Hindostan, with the exception of Malwa, was under

a settled and permanent Mahomedan government. The

treasure he left, the fruit of nine expeditions to India, is

stated at a sum which appears incredible, particularly when
it is said to have included five mauns of diamonds.

Kootub-ood- Mahomed, who was childless, was in the habit

deen, 1206. Of training up the most promising of his slaves,

and raising them according to their merit, to posts of dignity

and power. His nephew, Mahmood, who was in possession

of Ghore, was indeed proclaimed king throughout all the

provinces on both sides the Indus, but the kingdom was soon

broken up into separate states. Of the slaves of the deceased

monarch, Eldoze, the governor of Ghuzni, seized on Cabul and

Candahar, while Kootub retained the sovereignty of Hindos-

tan. Eldoze, who affected still to consider India a dependency
of Ghuzni, marched against him, but was defeated at Lahore.

Kootub followed up the victory and recovered Ghuzni, where

he assumed the crown, but was soon after expelled by his

rival, and driven back to India, with which, after this reverse,

he determined to remain content. The establishment of the

Mahomedan empire in India is, therefore, considered to date

from this event, in the year, 1206. Kootub was the first of

those Turki slaves who rose to sovereignty, and furnished a

succession of rulers to India. Meanwhile, Takash, the great

monarch of Kharism, having overrun Persia, marched against

Eldoze and extinguished his brief reign, as well as that of
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Mahmood of Ghore, and annexed all tne provinces west of the

Indus to his possessions. Kootub did not enjoy his Indian

sovereignty more than four years, when he was succeeded by
his son, Aram, who was displaced within a twelvemonth by
Altumsh, the slave and the son-in-law of Kootub, in 1211.

He justified the preference of his master during a long reign
of twenty-five years.

It was in the tenth year of his reign that Jelal-

ood-deen, the king of Kharism, was driven to seek

shelter in India by the irruption of Jenghis Khan, the greatest

conqueror of that age, and the original founder of Mogul

greatness. The Moguls were a tribe of Tartars, who roamed

with their flocks and herds on the northern side of the great

wall of China, without any fixed abode. When their numbers

increased beyond the means of subsistence they poured down

on the fertile provinces of the south. The father of Jenghis

Khan presided over thirteen of these nomadic tribes, whose

number did not exceed 40,000. At the age of forty, Jenghis

Khan had established his power over all the Tartar tribes, and

at a general convention held about the year 1210, was ac-

knowleged the great Khan of the Moguls by the shepherd
hordes from the wall of China to the Volga. He had received

no education, aud was unable either to read or write ; but a

natural genius for conquest, and the fiery valour and insatiable

cupidity of his followers, raised him to the summit of human

power. The Moguls burst with impetuosity on China, over-

leaped the barriers which the Chinese monarchs had erected

to exclude them ; and after storming ninety cities compelled

the emperor to cede the northern provinces to them and retire

to the south of the Yellow river. In the west, the progress
of Jenghis Khan brought Mm into collision with Mahomed,
the great sultan of Kharism, who held in contempt the

shepherd soldiers of Tartary, with no wealth but their flocks

and then- swords and no cities but their tents. He put
three of Jenghis Khan's ambassadors to death, and refused

all redress, and the Mogul poured down on his dominions
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with an army of 700,000 men. Mahomed met him with

400,000 troops, but was defeated and obliged to fly, leaving,

it is said, 160,000 of them dead on the field. Mahomed then

distributed his soldiers among his various cities in the hope of

impeding the career of the enemy ; but the cities fell to him

rapidly, and the magnificent monarch of Kharism, recently

the most powerful in Asia, died without an attendant in a

barren island of the Caspian Sea. From that sea to the Indus,

more than 1,000 miles in extent, the whole country was laid

waste with fire and sword by these ruthless barbarians. It

was the greatest calamity which had befallen the human race

since the deluge, and five centuries have barely been sufficient

to repair that desolation. The son of Mahomed, the heroic

Jelal-ood-deen, continued to fight the Moguls at every stage,

but nothing could arrest their progress. He encountered them

for the last time on the banks of the Indus, when his whole

army perished, and he sprung with his horse into the stream,

attended by only a few followers, and sought an asylum from

Altumsh; but that prince was too prudent to provoke the

vengeance of the man who had made himself the scourge of

Asia, and Jelal-ood-deen was obliged to seek some other

refuge. After a variety cf adventures he was killed about

ten years after in Mesopotamia. The victorious and de-

structive career of the Moguls does not belong to the history

of India, the soil of which they did not then invade. But

Jenghis Khan effected a complete revolution in the policy and

destinies of Central Asia, and gave a predominant influence to

the Moguls, who, after the lapse of three centuries, were led

across the Indus, under the auspices of Baber, and eventually
established on the throne of India.

The emperor Altumsh was employed for several
Altumsh, 1236. .

r
', ,. , j.

years in subduing his own insubordinate viceroys,

and subjugating those provinces of Hindostan which still main-

tained some show of independence. He reduced the fortress of

Rmtambore in Rajpootana, captured Gwalior and Mandoo, and

then proceeded against Oojein, the capital of Malwa, one o
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the sacred cities of the Hindoos, where he destroyed the

magnificent temple of Muha Kal, erected 1,200 years before

by Vikrumadityu, sending the images to Deihi to be broken

up at the entrance of the great mosque. He died in 1,236,

and was succeeded by his son ; but he was deposed for his vices

within six months by the nobles, who raised his sister Sultana

Kezia to the throne. This celebrated princess, endowed, ac-

cording to the historian, with every royal virtue, governed

the empire for a time with the greatest ability and success.

She appeared daily on the throne in the habit of a sultan,

gave audience to all comers, and set herself vigorously to

the revision of the laws, and the reformation of abuses ;
but

she exalted to the highest dignity in the empire an Abys-
sinian slave to whom she had become partial, and her jealous

nobles took up arms against her. She fought them in two

severe battles, but was defeated, captured, and put to death,

after a brief reign of three years and a-half . The two suc-

ceeding reigns occupied only six years when Nazir-ood-deen.

Nazir-ood-deen,
a grandson of Altumsh mounted the throne.

i2.
Bulbun, a Turki slave, and the son-in-law of

Altumsh was appointed his chief minister, and proved to be

one of the ablest statesman of his time. Under his administra-

tion the government was strengthened by the more complete
reduction of the Hindoo chiefs ; and his nephew, Shere Khan,
who was charged with the defence of the Indus against the

Moguls, succeeded likewise in re-annexing the province of

Ghuzni to the throne of Delhi. Bulbun was for a time sup-

planted in his office of vizier by an unworthy favourite of the

emperor ; but the disasters which followed his dismissal, and
the remonstrances of the nobles, constrained his master to

reinstate him. In the tenth year of this reign an embassy
arrived from Hulakoo, the grandson of Jenghis Khan, before

whom Asia trembled; and it was resolved to make every
exertion to give his envoy the most honourable reception.
The vizier himself went out to meet him with 50,000 horse
and 200,000 infantry, 2,000 war elephants, and 3,000 car-



It.] feEIGN OP BULBUN. 51

riages of fireworks. By this noble escort he was conducted

to the durbar of the emperor, around whose throne stood

twenty-five of the princes who had been expelled from their

hereditary seats by the Moguls, and obtained an asylum at

Delhi. Nazir-ood-deen's private life was that of a hermit ;

his personal expenses were defrayed from the sale of the

books which he transcribed ; his fare, which was of the

simplest character, was prepared by his wife, who was his

Bole female companion. He died without leaving any son,
and was succeeded by his minister JBulbun.

This prince was equally renowned for his
Bulbun, 1266. ... r

, ..
l

, / ,, . ,.
justice and generosity and for the vigour of hia

administration, though his cruelty on certain occasions has in-

duced some of the historians to represent him as a monster.

He continued the hospitality which his predecessor had shown
to the dethroned princes of Tartary, Transoxiana, Khorasan,

Persia, Irak, and other provinces, placed the royal palaces at

then* disposal, and granted them the most liberal allowances.

These princes were accompanied by the accomplished scholars

who had been assembled around them, and the court of

Bulbun was thus considered the most polite and magnificent in

Asia. He banished all usurers, players, and buffoons from its

precincts, and set an example of the severest frugality and

temperance. At the same time he endeavoured to curb the

insolence of the royal slaves who had begun to arrogate

great power ; but he made it a rule to give no promotion to

any Hindoo. He was advised to reconquer Malwa and

Guzerat which had revolted, but wisely replied that the por-

tentous cloud of Moguls, ever hanging over his northern

frontier, demanded his undivided attention. He resolved,

however, to inflict a severe retribution on Togrul Khan, the

viceroy of the opulent province of Bengal, who had omitted

to remit the plunder recently acquired from a rebel chief, and on

hearing of his master's illnoss, had raised the red umbrella, and

assumed the title of king. Two armies were sent in succession

against him and defeated, and Bulbun took the field in person.

E 2
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The refractory governor fled to Orissa, and was pursued

by the imperial troops. Mullik, one of the emperor's gene-

rals, advanced to the camp of the enemy with only forty

followers, and rushing into Togrul Khan's tent shouted

"Victory to king Bulbun," cutting down all who opposed
him. The viceroy, imagining that the whole of the imperial

army was upon him, took to flight, and his army was entirely

dispersed. Bulbun made an ill use of his victory, by putting to

death every member of the rebel's family, even to the women
and children. During these transactions the Moguls again

burst on Hindostan ; and Mahomed, the accomplished son of

the emperor, who had collected around him the men most

celebrated in Asia for learning and genius, marched to oppose
them. The Moguls dispersed after a long and sanguinary
action. Mahomed pursued them with imprudent haste and,

on his return was unexpectedly enveloped by a body of their

cavalry, superior in number to his own followers, and fell in

the combat. With him perished the hopes of the dynasty.
The army and the empire was equally filled with lamentation,

for he was the idol of both; and his father, then in his eightieth

year, soon after died of a broken heart.

End of the The son of the deceased prince was appointed
dynasty, 1288.

|.Q succeeci him, but was speedily superseded by
Kei-kobad, another of Bulbun's grandchildren, and the son of

Kurrah, who had been appointed governor of Bengal after its

reconquest. He was a youth of eighteen, addicted only to

pleasure, and the slave of a profligate minister, who en-

deavoured to pave his own way to the throne by encouraging
him in eveiy vice. Kurrah, aware of the dangers which sur-

rounded his son, succeeded, after great difficulty, in extorting
his consent to an interview; but the minister imposed so many
humiliating ceremonies on him as he approached the royal

presence that he burst into tears. The son was overpowered

by this sight, and leaping from the throne threw himself at his

father's feet. Many happy meetings took place between them

during a period of twenty days, when Kurrah, after giving his
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son the most salutary advice, returned to his own government.
But the youth again abandoned himself to indulgence on his

return to the capital, and it terminated in palsy. Then came
a scramble for power between the Tartar mercenaries around

the throne, and the Afghan mountaineers of Ghuzni and

Ghore denominated the Ghiljies. The Tartars were cut to

pieces : Kei-kobad was killed hi his bed, and the Ghiljie chief,

Feroze mounted the throne at the age of seventy, taking the

title of Jelal-ood-deen. Thus closed the dynasty which has

been denominated that of the slaves, which commenced
with the slave Kootub, in 1206, and terminated in 1288,

within three years of the death of the slave Bulbun.

1288.
*^ke period of thirty-three years, during which

the Ghiljie family occupied the throne of Delhi,

was rendered memorable in the history of India, by the sub-

jugation of the Deccan to the Mahomedan arms. Feroze, on

mounting the throne, put to death the infant son of the late

king, whose cause had been espoused by the opposite faction;

but this was the only act of cruelty during his reign, which

was, on the contrary, marked by a very impolitic lenity, which

seemed to multiply crime, and to weaken the authority of

government. In the fifth year of his reign, in the year 1294,

Expedition to a century after the battle of Thanesur, which
the Dtccan 1294.

gave faQ finaj iDjow to Hindoo power in Hindos-

tan, his nephew, Alla-ood-deen, a man of great energy and

violent ambition, but without a conscience, carried his arms

across the Nerbudda, and paved the way for the conquest of

the Deccan. He had been appointed to the government of

Oude and Korah, and was successful in subduing some

refractory chieftains in Bundlecund and Malwa, which led

him to project a marauding expedition to the south. He
collected an army of 8,000 men, and swept across the Ner-

budda with a degree of rapidity, which confounded the native

princes, and suddenly presented himself before Deogur, the

Tagara of the Roman writers, the Dowlutabad of modern

history. The raja, living in the security of perfect peace,
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was ill prepared for resistance, but he contrived to assemble

a respectable force, which was, however, signally defeated.

The town was captured and given up to pillage, but the raja

shut himself up in the citadel, which was considered impreg
nable. Alla-ood-deen spread a report that his force was only

the advanced guard of a vast Mahomedan army advancing
from Delhi, and the raja, from whom all his Hindoo neighbours

held aloof, was so alarmed at the prospect before him, that

he sent proposals of peace, with the offer of a large ransom.

During the negotiation, his son advanced with an army to

his relief, but was defeated, and the terms of the ransom

were raised. Some idea of the immense wealth which Alla-

ood-deen obtained, may be formed from the assertion, that

the jewels were counted by mauns, even though the maun

may have been of a lower denomination. From this daring

exploit Alla-ood-deen returned on the twenty-fifth day, pass-

ing through various and hostile provinces without molestation,

from which we gather that the same fatal want of political

unity which had paved the way for the conquest of the north,

existed also in the Deccan. It was this expedition which

exposed the wealth and the weakness of the Hindoo princes

of the south to the Mahomedans, and opened the door of

plunder and conquest.

Accession of
Feroze was delighted to learn that his nephew,

AUa-ood-deen, who had suddenly disappeared, was returned

covered with glory, and laden with wealth. The
latter he already reckoned his own, but his wary courtiers

suspected that the victor had other views than those of sub-

mission, and advised the emperor to adopt measures for his

own security; but the generous prince resolved to repose
confidence in the fidelity of his nephew, and was insiduously

encouraged to advance and meet him. Alla-ood-deen fell at

his feet, and the affectionate old man was patting him on the

cheek, when the assassins, who had been posted in ambush,
rushed in and despatched him. His reign extended to seven

years. Alla-ood-deen hastened to Delhi and ascended tho
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throne, and endeavoured to divert the people from the odious

crime to which he owed his elevation, by the exhibition of

games and amusements. He was unable to read or write

when he became king, but applied to letters with such

assiduity, as to become a good Persian scholar ; after which,

he surrounded himself with learned men, and took great

pleasure in their society. His government was stern and

inflexible, but admirably suited to the exigencies of the time.

The insurrections which broke out hi various provinces

immediately on his accession, were quelled by his promptitude

and energy ;
and his reign, which was prolonged to twenty-

one years, was constantly occupied in efforts to repel the

Moguls in the north, and to subjugate the Hindoos in the

south.

Conquest of Two years after he had mounted the throne, he
Guzerat, 1297.

dispatched an army to Guzerat, where the raja

had resumed his independence. The country had recovered

from the effect of previous invasions, and was again smiling

with prosperity, but this new torrent of destruction swept

away every vestige of improvement, and the Hindoo power
sunk to rise no more. The magnificent city of Puttun, with

its marble edifices, built from the quarries of Ajmere, was

completely demolished. The images of its opulent shrines

were destroyed, and a Mahomedan mosque erected in front

of the principal temple. Among the prizes of this campaign
the historians particularly note Kowla Devee, the wife of

the king, a woman of unrivalled beauty, who was transferred

to AUa-ood-deen's seraglio, and Kafoor, a handsome slave,

who rose to distinction at Court, and eventually became the

scourge of the Deccan. The expedition to Guzorat was no

sooner completed, than the attention of the emperor was

Mogul invar distracted by another Mogul invasion. Two hun-

dred thousand horsemen, under Kutlugh Khan,
crossed the Indus, and marched down upon Delhi. The

wretched inhabitants were driven before them like sheep
into the city, and famine began to stare that yast multitude
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in the face. The emperor marched out at the head of his

troops, and the native historian affirms, that on no former

occasion had so great a multitude of human beings been

collected together in India in one place. The Indian troops

won the day, chiefly through the exertions of Zuffer Khan,

the most distinguished of the emperor's generals. But in the

pursuit of the enemy he was carried away by his impetuosity;

the emperor's brother who was jealous of his increasing

power withheld all succour from him, and he was cut to

pieces after having performed prodigies of valour. His

ungenerous master who dreaded his genius, did not hesitate

to say, that his death was as fortunate a circumstance as the

defeat of the Moguls.

capture of In the year 1303, Alla-ood-deen attacked the

cuittore, 1303. fortress of Chittore, the seat of the Rajpoot

family, which now reigns at Oodypore. The siege was pushed
with great vigour, and when all further defence appeared hope-

less, a large funeral pile was kindled in the fort, into which

the queen, Pudmanee, a woman of exquisite beauty, and the

females of the noblest families, threw themselves. After this

fearful sacrifice, the gates were thrown open, and the raja,

with his faithful followers, rushed on the weapons of the

enemy, and obtained the death they sought. The emperor

destroyed all the temples and palaces which had adorned the

city, but spared the residence of the king and queen. From
these transactions he was recalled by another invasion of the

Moguls, who extended their ravages up to the gates of Delhi,

and retired in consequence, it was said, of a panic created

among them by the prayers of a saint. These invasions were
renewed in 1305 and 1306, but the Moguls were defeated hi

both expeditions. To make an example of them, the emperor
ordered the heads of all the male prisoners to be struck off,

and a pillar to be constructed of them at Delhi, and the women
and children to be sold into slavery. After this event, there

was but one farther imiption of these tribes during the

reign.
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invasion of tho The first expedition to the Deccan in this reign
Deccan, 1306.

jn ^303 wag interrupted by the invasion of the

Moguls ; and the generals who were left to conduct it, when
the emperor was recalled, were unsuccessful. Another army
was assembled in 1306, under the command of Kafoor, once

the slave, but now the favourite general of his master, and

sent to chastise the raja of Deogur, who had neglected to

pay up his tribute. It was in this expedition that Kafoor

subdued the Mahrattas, whose name now appears for the

first time in history. Ram-deva, the king of Deogur, made
his submission, and proceeded to Delhi to wait on the

emperor, when he was restored to power. Kafoor, likewise,

recovered Dewal Devee, the daughter whom the empress had

borne to her former husband, and who had inherited all her

mother's beauty. After a long pursuit she was overtaken

near the caves of Ellpra and this is the earliest notice of

them and on her arrival at Delhi became the bride of the

emperor's son; at so early a period do we find intermarriages

between the Hindoos and the Mahomedans. An expedition sent

from Bengal along the coast to Warungole, which was for

nearly two centuries the capital of Telingana, having failed,

Kafoor was sent against it in 1309. He ravaged the northern

provinces, obtained a great victory, and took the fort after a

seige of some months. The raja was condemned to pay

tribute, and Kafoor returned to Delhi.

Farther Deccan Tne next year he Wa8 Sent with a lal"o6 ai
'mV

expedition, 1310.
to the Deccan to reduce the raja of the Carnatic,

of the Belial family. After a march of three months he reached

the capital of Dwar Sumooder literally the gate of the

ocean which has been identified with the modern town of

Hallabee, a hundred miles north west of Seringapatam.

Belial Deb fought a great battle, but was defeated and mado

prisoner, and with him terminated the Belial dynasty of the

Deccan. The capital was captured and neglected ; and,

ceasing to be the abode of royalty, dwindled down, like other

regal seats, into a hamlet. Kafoor does not appear to have
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proceeded farther down on the western or Malabar coast ; but

he overran the whole of the eastern provinces on the Coro-

mandel coast, to the extreme limit of the Peninsula ; and at

Ramisseram, opposite Ceylon, erected a mosque, as a memorial

of his victories. He returned to Delhi, in 1311, laden with

the plunder of the Deccan; the value of which has been

calculated by
" sober

"
historians at 100 crores of rupees.

The emperor made a liberal distribution of this wealth, but

his generosity was forgotten in the barbarous massacre of

15,000 of the converted Moguls who had manifested a dis-

position to revolt on being capriciously dismissed from his

service. In the year 1312, Kafoor was again sent into the

Deccan to coerce the son of Kam-deva, the raja of Deogur,
who had succeeded his father, and " withdrawn his neck from

the yoke of obedience." He put the raja to death, annexed

his kingdom to the throne of Delhi, and carried his arms over

the whole of the Carnata and Mahratta territories.

. . Towards the latter period of his reign Alla-ood-
Extinction of

the Ghiijie deen gave himself up to indulgence, which en-
aynasty, 1321.

feekie(j both j^s mind and his body; but the

vigour which he had infused into the government still con-

tinued to animate it. At length his infatuated attachment

to Kafoor, whose baseness was equal to his talents, created

general discontent. It was at the instigation of this wretch

that he imprisoned his queen, and his two elder sons. Rebel-

lions broke out in rapid succession in the countries he had

conquered. Hamir, the renowned Rajpoot chieftain, recovered

Chittore ; the son-in-law of Ram-deva raised a revolt in the

Deccan ; Guzerat was for a time in a state of insurrection,

and the emperor sunk into the grave amidst these dark clouds,

not without the suspicion of poison. It was during his reign
that the Mahomedan arms were first carried to Cape Comorin,
and the authority of the emperor for a tune predominated

through the length of India; but the more southern conquests
were transient. Though he was often capricious, and some-

times cruel, his rule was energetic and beneficial; the in-
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cessant wars of the Hindoo princes with each other were sup-

pressed by his sovereignty, and a general feeling of security

gave prosperity and wealth to the country, and magnificent

buildings rose in every direction. Alla-ood-deen had thoughts

at one time of setting up for a prophet ; but he gave up the

project, and contented himself with assuming the title of a

second Alexander on his coins. Kafoor produced a pretended
will of his patron, appointing his youngest son his successor,

and himself regent. Then began the usual destruction of

the royal family hi the struggle for power. Cafoor put out

the eyes of the two eldest sons. The officers of the court in

a few days caused Cafoor himself to be assassinated, and

placed the third son, Mobarik, on the throne, who immediately

put to death the instruments of his elevation, and extinguished
the sight of his youngest brother. On the other hand he re-

leased 17,000 prisoners, restored lands which had been unjustly

confiscated, and repealed oppressive taxes. He put himself

at the head of his army, and by an act of vigour reduced

Guzerat, and captured the insurgent son-in-law of Ram-deva,
whom he caused to be flayed alive. But on his return to the

capital he gave himself up to the most degrading debaucheries,

while his favourite Khusro, a converted Hindoo, was sent to

ravage the maritime province of Malabar which Kafoor had

left untouched, though by some the expedition is supposed to

have extended only to the province of Coorg. Khusro re-

turned to Delhi with abundance of treasure, assassinated his

master, and usurped the throne. To secure the possession

of it, he proceeded to put every surviving member of the

royal family to death ; but Ghazee Toghluk, the governor of

the Punjab, soon after marched on Delhi, with the veteran

troops of the frontier province, disciplined by constant con-

flicts with the Moguls, and put an end to the reign and life

of the monster.
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CHAPTER III.

4TBOM THE ACCESSION OF THE HOUSE OF TOGHLUK TO THE
ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MOGULS, 1321 1526.

GiiAZEE ToGHLUK, after this victory, was

anxious to place some scion of the royal line on

the throne, but it was found that the family of Alla-ood-deen

had been utterly exterminated during the recent convulsions,

and he was compelled to yield to the wishes of the nobles

and the people, and accept, the supreme dignity for himself.

His father was originally a slave of the emperor Bulbun,

who rose through various offices to the government of Mool-

tan, which devolved on his son at his death. The administra-

tion of the empire in his hands was as commendable as the

acquisition of it had been blameless. His son, Jonah Khan,
was sent against the king of Telingana, but was completely

baffled, and brought back only 3,000 of his troops to Delhi.

But a second expedition which he undertook in 1323 was

more successful, and resulted hi the capture of the capital,

Warungole, and the extinction of the Hindoo dynasty, which

had flourished for two centuries and a half. Complaints were

at this tune carried up to the throne of oppressions in Bengal.
That province had been under the government of the noble

Kurrah, the son of the emperor Bulbun, for forty years, during
which period he had witnessed the rise and fall of an entire

dynasty, consisting of four sovereigns. The charges against
him proved to be groundless ; the emperor confirmed him in

his government, and the native historian illustrates the muta-

tions of fortune by remarking, that it was the slave of the

father who accorded the use of the royal umbrella to the son.

On his return to the capital, the emperor was entertained at

Afghanpore by his son Jonah Khan, in a magnificent pavi-

lion which he had erected for the occasion ; but the son had
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no sooner retired from the edifice than it fell and crushed the

father to death.

Mahomed Jonah Khan ascended the throne in 1325, arid

Togwuk, 1325. assiimed the title of Mahomed Toghluk. This

prince, whose follies brought on the dismemberment of the

empire, was a compound of the most contradictory qualities.

He was the most accomplished prince of his day, skilled ia

every science, and learned even in the philosophy of the

Greek schools, a liberal patron of learning, temperate, and

even austere in his private life, and distinguished in the field

by his courage and military talents. But all these noble

qualities were neutralized by such perversity of disposition,

and such paroxysms of tyranny, as made him the object of

universal execration. It was the intoxication of absolute
i

power which incited him to acts Avhich none but a madman
would have thought of.

" So little," says the native histo-

rian,
" did he hesitate to shed the blood of God's creatures,

that when he took vengeance, it seemed as if he wished to

exterminate the human family." The veiy first act of his

reign was an enigma. The Moguls invaded the Punjab,
under one of their most celebrated generals, and the emperor

bought them off with a large subsidy, though he could not

fail to perceive that this display of weakness would inevitably

bring them back with a keener appetite for plunder. He
then assembled a large army for the conquest of Persia, but,

after consuming his resources, it was broken up for waat of

pay, and became the terror of his own subjects in every
direction. Finding his treasury exhausted by his extravagant

schemes, he determined to replenish it by levying contribu-

tions on the empire of China. A body of 100,000 men was

accordingly sent across the snowy range, but it was attacked

by a superior force on reaching the confines of that empire,

and obliged to retire. Harassed in their retreat by the

Chinese troops, and the exasperated mountaineers, and worn

out by fatigue and privation, few of the unfortunate troops

returned to tell the tale of their disgrace, and those who
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survived the sword and famine were butchered by their own
master. Having heard that the Chinese were in the habit of

using a paper currency, he determined to adopt this mode of

filling his coffers, only substituting copper tokens for paper.

The insolvency of the treasury depreciated the value of the

tokens, and foreign merchants refused to touch them. The

mercantile transactions of the empire were thrown into con-

fusion, and the universal misery and discontent which the

measure entailed, constrained him to withdraw the tokens,

but not before thousands had been ruined by them. So ex-

orbitant were his exactions, that the husbandmen sought

refuge in the woods, and wei<,' driven to robbery for a sub-

sistence. The towns were deserted, and the inhabitants

goaded into resistance by despair. The enraged emperor
ordered out his army as if for a royal hunt, surrounded a

large circle of territory, and drove the wretched people into

the centre, where they were slaughtered like wild beasts.

On a subsequent occasion, he ordered a general massacre of

the inhabitants of Cunouj.

^ . .,/ ,
In the year 1338 he took the field in personContinued fol-

. .

J -

iies of Mahomed, against his nephew, who had been driven to revolt

in the Deccan. The young prince was captured
and flayed alive. On reaching Deogur, Mahomed was so

charmed with the beauty of its situation, and the mildness of

the climate, that he resolved to make it the capital of his em-

pire, and at the same time changed its name to Dowlutabad.

With his usual fatuity, he ordered Delhi to be abandoned, and

its inhabitants, men, women, and children, to travel to the

new city, a distance of 800 miles, along a road which he

caused to be planted with full-grown trees. This wild at-

tempt to change the long established metropolis of the

empire was for a time suspended in consequence of the in-

tolerable misery it created. It was subsequently revived,
but though Delhi was deserted, Dowlutabad did not prosper,
and the project was eventually abandoned, after thousands

of families had been ruined by it. At the same tune, as if to
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mock the calamities of his subjects, he caused a decayed

tooth, which had been extracted, to be interred at Beer, and

erected a magnificent mausoleum over it. At length he con-

ceived the notion that the disasters of his reign arose from

the fact of his not having received investiture from the

Caliph, the successor of Mahomed. A splendid embassy was

accordingly sent to Bagdad, and on its return with the firman,

he ordered the names of all his predecessors who had not

received the same honour, to be struck out of the royal

calendar.

Eevoitofthc These caprices and oppressions produced the
provinces, 1340. natural harvest of insurrections. The province of

Bengal- revolted in 1340, and it continued to be independent
of the throne of Delhi for more than two centuries. Two
Hindoo fugitives from Telingana, under a divine impulse, as

the local historians affirm, and, under the guidance of a holy

sage, proceeded to the banks of the Toombudra, and esta-

blished a Hindoo kingdom, with Beejuynugur for its capital.

The site of this city is supposed to correspond with that of

the ancient capital of Hunooman and Soogrevu, who assisted

Eamu in his expedition against Kavunu with their half savage

subjects, and were described by the poet as the kings of the

monkeys, and elevated by the piety of the brahmins to the

rank of gods. About the same time a descendant of the

royal house of Telingana established an independent princi-

pality at Golconda, and for two centuries after this period,

we find these two Hindoo powers taking an active part in the

politics of the Deccan, and maintaining a vigorous struggle

with the power of the Mahomedans. A still more important

revolution wrested all the remaining provinces south of the
j

Nerbudda from the sceptre of Delhi. Of the foreign merce-

naries from Tartary, Afghanistan, and other countriea

beyond the Indus, with whom the imperial armies were con-

stantly recruited, a large body consisted of the Moguls, who
had embraced the creed of Mahomed. A large colony of them

was also settled in Guzerat, and they rose at this time to
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avenge the wanton slaughter of seventy of their nobles.

The emperor immediately proceeded against them, gave up
the cities of Surat and Cambay to plunder, and ravaged the

whole province as if it had been an enemy's country. The

Guzerat Moguls obtained an asylum hi the Deccan, where

they were joined by all whom the atrocities of Mahomed had

exasperated, and, having taken possession of Dowlutabad,

proclaimed Ismael Khan, an Afghan, king. The emperor
marched against them with great promptitude, inflicted a

signal defeat on them, and shut them in that fortress. But,

while engaged in besieging it, he was called away by a fresh

conspiracy in Guzerat. The Moguls defeated his son-in-law,

who had been left in command, and in conjunction with the

governor of Malwa, who had likewise revolted from his

master, succeeded in establishing a new monarchy in the

Deccan, which is known in history as the Bahminy kingdom.
In 1351, Mahomed proceeded against the prince of Tatta, in

Sinde, who had given an asylum to the Guzerat insurgents.

He halted within a few miles of that city to celebrate the

Mohurrum, and surfeited himself with fish, which brought on

Death of a fever, of which he died in 1351. At the time of

Mahomed, 1351. kjg death all the Mahomedan possessions in the

Deccan, as well as the province of Bengal, had been alienated

from the throne of Delhi.

Feroze TogWuk, Mahomed was succeeded by his nephew Feroze
13511388.

Toghluk, who endeavoured to recover Bengal,
but seeing no chance of success, acknowledged the indepen-
dence of Hajee, who had assumed the government, and wisely
fixed the boundaries of the kingdom. Soon after, he con-

sented to receive an envoy from the Bahminy king of the

Deccan, and thus admitted the fact of his sovereignty. The

reign of Feroze, though by no means brilliant, was marked

by a wise administration. He discouraged luxury by his

own example, repealed vexatious imposts, limited the number
of capital punishments, and abolished torture and mutilation.

But the erection of public works was his ruling passion,
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and the historians of his day enumerate with exultation

among the monuments which he left, fifty dams across rivers

to promote irrigation, forty mosques, thirty colleges, twenty
palaces, thirty reservoirs, five mausoleums, a hundred cara-

vanseras, a hundred hospitals, a hundred public baths, a

hundred and fifty bridges, and two hundred towns. The

greatest achievement of his reign, however, was the canal

from the source of the Ganges to the Sutlege, which still

bears his name, and places him among the most renowned

benefactors of mankind. After a reign of thirty-four years,

he resigned the throne to his son, usually called Mahomed

Toghluk the second, who gave himself up to indulgence, and

was deposed by the nobles, when Feroze was constrained to

resume the imperial power. But he was now in the ninetieth

year of his age", and in 1388 transferred the sceptre to his

grandson, Gheias. During the next ten years, the throne

was occupied by no fewer than four princes. The court was
filled with plots ; two kings resided within the circuit of the

capital, for three years, and waged incessant war with each

other. Hindostan was thrown into a state of complete

anarchy, and four independent kingdoms were carved out of

the dominions of Delhi, leaving nothing to that august throne

but the districts immediately around it.

The four independent kingdoms established

dent kingdoms, about the close of the fourteenth century, upon
13951400.

j-he rums of the imperial power, were those of

Malwa, Guzerat, Candesh, and Jounpore. Dilawur Khan, of

Ghore, the governor of Malwa, who raised the standard of

independence, fixed his capital at the time-honoured city

of Dhar, and subsequently removed it to Mandoo, fifteen

miles to the north of the Nerbudda, the ramparts of which

are said to have been thirty-seven miles in circumference.

Mozuffer Khan, a Rajpoot converted to Mahomedanism, and

like all converts, in India at least, a ruthless persecutor

of his former creed, had been sent to Guzerat by one of the

successors of Feroze to supersede the governor, who was

w
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suspected of treachery. His independence may be said to

date from the day of his accession to the government, as

there was no power at Delhi to enforce his obedience. It

was about the year 1398 that Nazir Khan, the viceroy of

Candesh, which consists of the lower valley of the Taptee,
threw off his allegiance, and espoused a daughter of the new

king of Guzerat, to which more powerful state his little prin-

cipality was generally considered subordinate. Still nearer

the capital, Khojah Jehan, the vizier of Mahomed Toghluk
the third, and likewise viceroy of Jounpore, availed himself

of the troubles of the times to assume the royal umbrella.

The empire of Delhi, thus despoiled of its fairest provinces,

fell an easy prey to the invader, who was now approaching

it, the most ferocious of any of those who have laid waste

the plains of Hindostan.

Timur 1398
T^e -^meer Timur

> or Tamerlane, was born

within forty miles of Samarcand, and came of a

Turki family, which had long been in the service of the de-

scendants of Jenghis Khan. His lot was cast at a period in

human affairs when the decay of vigour in the established

kingdoms presented the fairest opportunity for the foundation

of a new empire by any daring adventurer. Timur was pos-
sessed of the spirit suited to such an enterprise, and, having
been raised at the age of thirty-four, to the throne of

Samarcand by the general voice of his countrymen, in the

course of a few years prostrated every throne that stood in

the way of his progress, and became at once the scourge of

Asia, and the terror of Europe. Animated by a stupendous

ambition, he led the hordes of Tartary to the conquest
of Persia, Khorasan and Transoxiana, and subjugated the

whole of Mesopotamia and Georgia, and a portion of Russia

and Siberia. Having made himself master of the whole of

Central Asia, he despatched his grandson, Peer Mahomed,
with a powerful army to invade India. The youth, however,
encountered more opposition than was expected, and Timur

found it necessary to advance to bis support^ He arrived on
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the banks of the Indus on the 12th of September, 1398, with

ninety-two squadrons of horse, and crossed it at Attock,

where Alexander the Great had crossed it before him. Hia

grandson soon after joined his camp, and the two armies

marched to Bhutnere, but though the town was surrendered

on terms, it was burnt to the ground, and the inhabitants

were put to the sword. The villages and towns were de-

eerted as he advanced, but a considerable number of

prisoners necessarily remained in his hands, and as they were

found greatly to encumber his march, he ordered them

all to be massacred in cold blood, to the number of 100,000.

A battle was soon after fought under the walls of Delhi,

between the veterans of Timur and the effeminate soldiers of

the empire, with the result which might have been expected.

The emperor was defeated and fled to Guzerat, and Timur

entered the city, and caused himself to be proclaimed emperor.

His soldiers could not be restrained from their usual violence

which brought on resistance, and the whole of the Mogul

army was let loose on the devoted city. The scenes of horror

which ensued defy all description. The citizens sold then: lives

dear, but their valour was quenched in their blood, and many
streets were choked up with dead bodies. After Timur had

satiated his revenge and satisfied his cupidity, by the desola-

tion of the city,
" he offered up to the divine Majesty," as his

historian observes,
" the sincere and humble tribute of grateful

praise in the noble mosque of poh'shed marble," erected by
Feroze on the banks of the Jumna, and directed his army to

prepare for its return. On his way back he ordered a general

massacre in the city of Meerut, and then proceeding to

Hurdwar, skirted the hills, and recrossed the Indus in March,

1399. He contented himself with the mere title of emperor

of India, and left the country a prey to the distractions which

his invasion had intensely aggravated.
Mahomed Toghluk, the third, who had fled to

the syuds, Guzerat after his defeat, returned to Delhi on the
1412-1450.

departure of Timur, but his minister, Ekbal, monq-

f 2
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polized all the power of the state. Khizir, the governor of La-

hore and Mooltan, resenting this usurpation, attacked and

slew him, and thus restored to Mahomed some portion of his

authority which he exercised till 1412. On his death, Khizir

marched a second time to Delhi, and extinguished the Toghluk

dynasty. He was a descendant of the prophet, and hia

family, which filled the throne for thirty-six years, has from

that circumstance, been denominated that of the Syuds.

Khizir affected to decline the title of emperor, and styled

himself the viceroy of Timur, in whose name he struck the

coin, and caused the Khooiba to be read in the mosques. His

administration was beneficial, and prosperity began again to

dawn on the desolated provinces. He added his own princi-

pality of the Punjab to the dominions of the imperial crown,

but he made little progress in recovering the other districts

which had become independent. His son, Mobarik, suc-

ceeded him in 1421, but his reign of thirteen years was

marked by no event except an indecisive battle with the king
of Jounpore. The territories subject to Delhi were as limited

in extent at his death as they had been at his accession. He
was assassinated by some Hindoos at the instigation of his

vizier, who raised his son Syud Mahomed to the throne, but

was himself cut off by the exasperated nobles. The youth
was found to be totally unfit for the duties of government,
and the governors of the few districts still attached to the

throne, began to aspire to independence. Among these, was
Beloli Lodi, an Afghan, who made himself master of Mooltan,
and tfye greater part of the Punjab. Encouraged by the

weakness of the throne, the king of Malwa marched to the

capital, but was repulsed by Beloli, within two miles of its

gates. That chief subsequently laid siege to the city which

he had saved, but finding himself unable to capture it, with-

drew to his own province, to await the demise of the crown,
which occurred in 1445. Mahomed was succeeded by his son

Alla-ood-deen, during whose weak reign the domains belong-

ing to the throne were still farther reduced, till at length
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they extended only twelve miles from the city in one direc-

tion, and scarcely a mile in the other. Beloli Lodi, thinking
the pear was now ripe, marched down upon Delhi. The king

resigned the throne to him without a sigh, and retired on a

pension to Budaon, where he passed twenty-eight years of

his life in cultivating his gardens. With him, in 1450, ended
the house of the Syuds.

Beioii Lodi,
Beloli was an Afghan of the tribe of Lodi,

14501488. now known as the Lohanee, which is engaged

chiefly in the conveyance of merchandise between Hindostan

and Persia. His grandfather, a wealthy trader, repaired to

the court of Feroze Toghluk, the first great patron of the

Afghans, where he acquired sufficient interest to obtain the

government of Mooltan, to which was subsequently added

that of the Punjab. This rich inheritance eventually came to

Beloli, though not without great opposition on the part of his

relatives. His success was chiefly owing to the talents of

Humeed, the vizier of his predecessor, whom he subsequently
banished from his court, on the plea that he was becoming
too powerful for a subject. The ambitious Beloli was not

likely to remain content with the humble limits to which the

imperial territory had been reduced, and the great object of

his reign was to extend his authority, and more particularly

to' re-annex the kingdom of Jounpore to the crown, which,

since its establishment, had become, in every respect, the

rival of Delhi. Beloli had not been two years on the throne

before he made an inroad into it, but was vigorously repulsed.

The struggle between the two kingdoms was prolonged with

various successes for twenty-eight years, during which period

Delhi was twice besieged by the armies of Jounpore. Hos-

tilities were occasionally suspended by a truce, but it only

afforded the combatants the opportunity of recruiting their

strength for fresh conflicts. It is distressing to reflect on the

desolation entailed on these districts, which form the garden
of Hindostan, and the misery inflicted on the wretched in-

habitants, by the internecine wars of these two royal houses,
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in comparison with which even the oppression of the worst of

governments must appear light. Happily for the interests of

humanity, the conflict was brought to a close in 1476, when
the "

King of the East," as he was styled, fled to Bengal and

the kingdom of Jounpore was absorbed in the territory of

Delhi. The dynasty existed for eighty years, of which period

one-half was comprised hi the reign of Ibrahim, one of the

most illustrious princes in the history of Hindostan. Under

his beneficent administration, the prosperity of the country
reached its summit. Learned men from all parts of India

were invited to the court, which was universally acknow-

ledged to be the most polished and elegant in India. The city

of Jounpore was adorned with superb and massive structures,

the remains of which to this day testify the magnificence
of the dynasty. Beloli survived this protracted warfare ten

years, and died in 1488, after a reign of thirty-eight years,

during which he succeeded in extending the territory of the

crown from the Jumna to the Himalayu, and from the Indus

to Benares.

Seconder ana Beloli, as if he had determined to render family
Ibrahim Lodi, feuds inevitable, divided his territories among1 his
1133 1526

sons, but Secunder, to whom he had bequeathed
the largest share, together with the throne, lost no time in

dispossessing his brothers. His prosperous reign of twenty-

eight years was marked by the recovery of Behar. Though

just and equitable in his administration, he followed the rule

rather than the exception of the Mahomedan conquerors of

India with regard to the treatment of the Hindoos. He lost

no opportunity of manifesting his hatred of them, and in

every quarter demolished their temples and erected mosques
with the materials. In the holy city of Muttra he planted a

mosque in front of the stairs leading to the sacred stream,

and at length forbade the devotees to bathe in it, and the

barbers to shave the pilgrims. In the year 1517, he was suc-

ceeded by Ibrahim, the third and last of his line, who
alienated the nobles by his suspicious temper and his haughty
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demeanour. His reign was a constant struggle with rebel-

lion. Behar revolted under its governor, who is said to have

brought a body of 100,000 men into the field, and repeatedly

defeated the armies of the emperor. A prince of his own

family took possession of the eastern districts and endea-

voured to revive the kingdom of Jounpore. Dowlut Khan,
the governor of the Punjab, the viceroys of which had fre-

quently imposed their own orders on the emperor of Delhi,

and more than once usurped the throne itself, now entered

into negotiations with Sultan Baber for the invasion of Hin-

dostan. Even the emperor's own brother, Alla-ood-deen,

joined that prince at Cabul, and encouraged him in his designs

on Hindostan. The success which attended his invasion will

be the subject of a future chapter. Having thus reached the

period when the throne of Delhi was transferred to the fifth

and last Mahomedan dynasty, we turn to the progress of

events in the Deccan, in Malwa, and in Guzerat, from the

period when those provinces were separated from the empire.

Candesh, The principality of Candesh, the governor of

Maiwa, Gozerat, wnich had revoited from the throne of Delhi,and Mewar, to

1443. though abounding in population and wealth was

too limited and weak for independent action, and became sub-

servient to its more powerful neighbours. During the period

of more than a century and a half which elapsed between the

dismemberment of the empire under Mahomed Toghluk, and

the rise of the Mogul dynasty, the two Mahomedan kings of

Guzerat, and Malwa, and the Hindoo raja of Mewar, or

Oodipore, were engaged in perpetual hostilities with each

other, and their history may therefore be conveniently grouped

together. Sultan Dilawur, the first independent king of

Malwa, bequeathed the kingdom in 1405, to his son, Sultan

Hoshung, who was engaged for more than twenty-five years

in wars with his neighbours, in which he was seldom success-

ful. His name is perpetuated in the town of Hoshungabad,
which he founded. He was attacked and made prisoner by

Hozuffer, the king of Guzerat, but was released, upon a report
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that his subjects were about to elect another sovereign, and

take the field. Mozuffer was succeeded in 1412 by his grand'

eon, Ahmed Shah, whose long reign of thirty years, was

passed in constant hostilities either with Malwa or Mewar.

His name survives in the new capital, Ahmedabad, which he

erected on the banks of the Sabunnuttee, and adorned with

magnificent mosques, caravanseras and palaces, in such pro-

fusion, that the Mahomedan historians described it as the

handsomest city in the world. He was a zealous Mahomedan,
and a great destroyer of Hindoo temples and images. He was

succeeded in 1443 by his son, Mahomed Shah, surnamed by
his subjects, the "

merciful," and by his enemies, the " weak."

Sultan Hoshung, the turbulent king of Malwa, died in 1432,

and bequeathed the kingdom to his son, who was soon after

put to death by his minister, Mahmood Khan Ghiljie, the

Afghan, who mounted the throne, and proved to be the ablest

of the kings of Malwa, during a long reign of forty-seven

years, which extended from 1435 to 1482. Some years after

his accession, he invaded Guzerat with an army of 100,000

men, and pursued the feeble monarch to the promontory of

I)UL The Guzerattee nobles, anxious to retrieve the national

honour, persuaded the queen to administer poison to him, and

then raised his son, Kootub Shah, to the throne, and resolved

to make a vigorous effort for their independence. A pitched

battle was accordingly fought under the walls of Ahmedabad,
in which Mahmood was for the first and last time defeated ;

but seeing the day lost, he put himself at the head of some

troopers, and pushing through eveiy obstacle, bore off the

regalia in triumph from the tent of the king. Notwithstand-

ing this partial reverse, he seems to have had the unobstructed

range of northern India, as we find him the next year march-

ing to Biana, and establishing his son governor of Ajmere.
On his return to Malwa he proceeded first against the

Bahminy kingdom in the Deccan, then to Candesh, and finally

against the rajah of Chittore.

War with During the scenes of confusion at Delhi, which
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Chittore, 1554. have been previously described, one Hindoo king-
dom in the north recovered its independence, and succeeded

in maintaining it for two centuries the Eajpoot state of

Chittore, or Mewar. In the days of sultan Hoshung the

throne was filled by Koombhoo, one of the most illustrious

princes of that ancient line, who applied himself for fifty

years vigorously to the consolidation of Eajpoot power, and

founded the city of Koomulnere. In 1456, Kootub Shah of

Guzerat, formed an alliance with Mahmood of Malwa, for

the conquest and partition of Mewar, but the result of the

war is differently related. The Mahomedan historians affirm

that the Rajpoot prince acknowledged himself the vassal of

Mahmood, while Hindoo writers state that he was triumphant,
and erected a column to commemorate his victory on, the

brow of Chittore. In 1461, Mahmood, seeing the throne of

the Deccan filled by a child, and the country distracted by
factions, marched against the capital, Beder, under the walla

of which a battle was fought in which he proved victorious.

He renewed the invasion the next year, when the ministers,

unable to cope with his superior force, implored the aid of

the king of Guzerat, who readily granted it, and obliged the

invader to retire, by creating a diversion in his own territo-

ries of Malwa. A treaty appears to have been subsequently

concluded between him and the Bahminy cabinet, based upon
the cession of certain districts. The career of Mahmood, the

greatest of the kings of Malwa,
" whose tent was his house,

and the battle field his resting place," was at length brought

to a close in 1482, and the court of Mandoo exhibited a sudden

and ludicrous change.
His son and successor, Gheias-ood-deen, had no

Gheias-ood- ..-.
deen's seraglio, sooner ascended the throne, than he invited his

nobles and officers to a splendid entertainment,

and hi a set speech informed them, that he had passed thirty-

four-years in the field, fighting by the side of hie gallant

father, and was determined to spend the remainder of his life

in peace and enjoyment, that he intended to retain the royal
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dignity, but to transfer the management of affairs to his son.

The youth was accordingly proclaimed vizier, and the king
retired to his seraglio, which he had filled with 15,000 of the

most beautiful women he could procure. In this female court,

the pomp and distinctions of royalty were strictly maintained ;

the royal body guard consisted of 500 Turki maidens dressed

in male attire and armed with bows and quivers, and of 500

Abyssinian girls furnished with firearms. Strange as it may
appear, the king was allowed to enjoy this pageantry for

eighteen years, without a single attempt at rebellion. His

son, Nazir-ood-deen, succeeded him in 1500, and his reign of

twelve years was noted only by its cruelty and sensuality.

,. * >. During the listless reign of Gheias-ood-deen, of
Mahmood Shah,

'

of Guzerat, Malwa, and the dissolute reign of his son, the rival
H59-1511.

throne of Guzerat was filled by Mahmood Shah,

the brother of Kootub Shah, who ascended the throne in 1459,

and shed lustre on it for fifty years. Though crowned at the

early age of fourteen, his talents were soon matured, and it

was while yet a youth that he marched into Malwa, and

created the diversion which has been noticed. The European
travellers who visited his court, awed by the dignity of his

personal appearance, conceived the most extravagant opinion

of his power. They affirmed that a portion of his daily food

consisted of mortal poisons, with which his system be-

came so impregnated, that if a fly sat on him it dropped
down dead. He was the original of the picture drawn by
the British poet of the prince of Cambay,

" whose food was

asp, and basilisk and toad." But even without the power of

digesting poisons, he was a most puissant prince. In 1469,

he attacked Gernal, a Hindoo fortress, of boundless antiquity
and impregnable strength. It fell on the third assault, when
the king is said to have persuaded the raja and all his court

to embrace Mahomedanism. Three years after, he overrun

Cutch and defeated an army of Belochees, annexed Sinde

to his dominions, and extended his boundary to the Indus.

Soon after, a Mahomedan saint complained to him that on hia
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return from Ormuz in Persia, he had been ill-used and plun-

dered by the people of Jugut, the land's end of India on

the western coast. The king and his soldiers were equally

inflamed by the story of the holy man's wrongs, and they
marched with great zeal "

against the infernat-minded

brahmins," as the Mahomedan historian, Ferishta, calls them.

Jugut was reduced, but the pirates on the coast, who fled

to the island of Bete, in the gulf of Cambay, are said to have

fought twenty naval battles before they were finally subdued.

In 1482, Mahmood led an army against the Hindoo ruler of

the very ancient principality of Chumpanere. The place is

said to have been defended by 60,000 Rajpoots, of whom a

large number fell in the siege, and the prince and his minis-

ters were put to death, when it was found that they refused

to become Musulmans. The conflicts of the Guzerat navy'

with the Portuguese during this reign, will be narrated here-

after. On the death of this renowned prince in 1511, he was

succeeded by his son, Mozuffer the Second.

Mahmood the Second, the last king of Malwa,
Mahmood, the

second, of Mai- ascended the throne in 1512, when his nobles con-
wa, 1512.

spired to unseat him and to elevate his brother.

The confederacy was defeated through the exertions of Medni

Roy, the Rajpoot chief of Chunderee, who was thereupon ap-

poirited the chief minister as the reward of his services, and

proceeded forthwith to fill the court and the army with his

own countrymen. The Mahomedans, considering all the offices

of state as their own property, resented this intrusion, and

endeavoured to infuse suspicions into the mind of the king,

who is said to have dismissed 40,000 Rajpoots at once from

his service, and to have employed assassins to despatch the

minister himself. He escaped with a few wounds, and even-

tually succeeded in regaining his power at the Malwa court.

Mahmood, feeling himself little better than a prisoner in his

own capital, escaped to Guzerat, where he found the king,

equally with himself, alarmed at the growing power of the

Hindoos. The neighbouring kingdom of Chittore was go-
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verned at the time by Eana Sunga, who had raised it to the

summit of prosperity by his genius and valour. His army
consisted of 80,000 horse, supported by 500 war elephants.

Seven rajas of the highest rank, and a hundred and thirteen

of inferior note attended his stirrup to the field. The rajas

of Jeypore and Marwar served under his banner, and he was

the acknowledged head of all the Rajpoot tribes. The historian

of Rajpootana enumerates eighteen pitched battles which he

had fought with Malwa and Guzerat. Those two sovereigns

dreaded lest Medni Roy should obtain possession of the re-

sources of Malwa, and unite with the Rana in establishing

Hindoo sovereignty throughout central India. To meet this

danger, they marched against Mandoo, the capital of Malwa,
which was then held by the son of Mcclni Roy, and which did

not surrender until 19,000 Rajpoots had fallen in its defence.

Mahmood was restored to his kingdom, and in 1519 measured

his strength with Rana Sunga. In the battle which ensued,

the Malwa king was totally defeated and captured. The

generous Rajpoot prince personally attended to his wounds,

and, when they were healed, liberated him without a ransom.

Hostilities, however, continued between the king of Guzerat

and the Rana, which, after a succession of successes and

defeats, terminated in a solid peace.

Extinction of On the death of Mozuffer of Guzerat in 1526,
Midwa- the throne was successively occupied by two

princes, who speedily disappeared, when the wild and way-
ward Bahadoor Shah ascended it. A brother of his fled to

Malwa, and, in an evil hour, the king Mahmood granted him

an asylum, which so incensed Bahadoor, that he immediately

equipped a large army for the invasion of the country.

While this storm was gathering on one side, the ill-starred

king provoked the wrath of Rana Sunga, who lost no time in

forming an alliance with Bahadoor Shah, and their united

forces poured down like a torrent upon Malwa. Mahmood ia

some measure retrieved his reputation by his noble conduct

in the last scene of his life. Though his army was reduced
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to 3,000, he still continued to defend his capital with great

courage, but he was at length obliged to capitulate ; and on

the 26th of May, a month after Baber had established the

Mogul dynasty on the throne of Delhi, the standard of

Guzerat was planted on the battlements of Mandoo,
xand the

kingdom of Malwa, then in its hundred and twenty-fifth

year, was absorbed in the dominions of its rival. Mahmood
and his seven sons were sent prisoners to Chumpanere, but

were put to death on the road, hi consequence of an attack

by the Bheels.

_ . It has been stated that the oppressions of Ma-
The Bahminy
dynasty, homed Toghluk produced a revolt in the Deccan,

397' which issued in the establishment of an indepen-

dent kingdom. Ismael, the Afghan, who had been raised to

the throne, voluntarily ceded it soon after to the general

Hussun Gungu, who had been the chief instrument in acheiv-

ing the revolution. He was likewise an Afghan, but of

humble extraction, who leased a plot of ground from a Hindoo

astrologer hi the city of Delhi, and resigned to him of his

own accord some valuable treasure which he had discovered

in it. The astrologer was so highly pleased with his honesty
as to recommend him to the notice of the emperor, under

whose favour he rose to great distinction. Out of gratitude

to the astrologer Gungu, his early patron, he had assumed

his name, and on his elevation to the throne of the Deccan in

1347* took the additional title of Bahminy, by which the

dynasty is generally known in history. The kingdom com-

prised all the territories held by the emperor of Delhi south

of the Nerbudda, with the exception of the provinces of the

two Hindoo kingdoms of Telingana and Beejuynugur, the

establishment of which circumscribed the Bahminy dominions,

and led to incessant war. Hussun died in 1358, after a pros-

perous reign of eleven years, and was succeeded by his son

Mahomed, who commenced his reign by attacking the king
of Telingana, and obliging him to sue for peace, which was

granted on the cession of the hill of Golconda, and the eur-
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render of a throne of immense value, which was subsequently
enriched with additional jewels till it was estimated to be

worth four crores of rupees. Soon after Mahomed, in a

drunken revel, granted an order on the treasury of Beejuy-

nugur, and the raja immediately sent an army across the

Kistna to revenge the insult, when the town of Moodgul was

captured and its inhabitants put to the sword. Mahomed,
on hearing of the slaughter, swore "that food and sleep

should be unlawful to him till he had propitiated the martyrs
of Moodgul by the slaughter of a hundred thousand infidels."

He crossed the Toombudra and pursued the raja for three

months from district to district, putting to death every
Hindoo who fell into his hands. A pitched battle was at

length fought, in which the Bahminy monarch was victorious,

when having, as he hoped, completed his vow of revenge, he

granted his opponent honourable terms, and, on his return to

his own capital, devoted his time to the improvement of his

dominions. He died in 1375, after a reign of seventeen

years, and was succeeded by his son Mujahid Shah, who pos-

sessed the most majestic beauty of all the princes of his line,

and was exceeded by none in valour and fortitude. He began
his reign by demanding from the raja of Beejuynugur,

Kaichore, Moodgul, and other places lying in the dooab of the

Kistna and the Toombudra, the object of perpetual strife

between the rival Hindoo and Mahomedan powers. The
demand was refused, and a war commenced, during which

Mujahid chased the raja for six months through the whole

extent of the Carnatic, and at length accepted his submission.

The merit of the young king in this campaign was rendered

the more conspicuous by the disparity of his resources as

compared with those of the Hindoo raja, whose territories

stretched from sea to sea, and who reckoned the rulers of

Malabar and Ceylon among his tributaries. Mujahid was

assassinated by his own uncle, after a brief reign of four

years.

Ferozeana Fcroze, tho son of the assassin, mounted the
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Ahmed Shah, throne in 1397, and his reign and that of his

13971435.
brother, which occupied thirty- seven years, are

considered the most palmy days of the dynasty. Feroze

reigned twenty-five years, and made twenty-four campaigns.
He carried fire and sword through the whole extent of the

Carnatic, and constrained the raja of Beejuynugur to submit

to an annual tribute of a crore of rupees, and to give him his

daughter in marriage. He was a great patron of learning,

and erected an observatory. He established a mercantile

navy, and instructed his commanders to bring the most

learned men and the most handsome women from the ports

they visited. His seraglio is said to have contained beauties

from thirteen different nations ; and the historians affirm that

he was able to converse with each one in her own tongue.

He likewise made a point of copying sixteen pages of the

Koran every fourth day. The close of his reign was gloomy.
He wantonly engaged in hostilities with the raja of Beejuy-

nugur, and was totally defeated. The triumphant Hindoos

appeared anxious to bring up the arrears of vengeance due to

their relentless enemies. In the various towns which they

captured they razed the mosques to the ground, and erected

platforms of the heads of the slain. The end of Feroze

was hastened by these reverses, and he was succeeded by
his brother Ahmed Shah, denominated Wully, or the saint, for

the supposed efficacy of his prayers in procuring rain in a

season of drought. Anxious to recover the prestige of the

Mahomedan power he proceeded immediately to the invasion

of the Hindoo kingdom. He crossed the Toombudra in great

force, defeated the raja, and pursued the Hindoos in every
direction with unrelenting ferocity, halting only to celebrate a

feast whenever the number of the slain was computed to have

reached 20,000. He obliged the raja to pay up all arrears of

tribute, and then turned his arms against Teliugana, captured

and despoiled the capital, and, according to the usual

Mahomedan practice, pulled down the temples, and erected

mosques with the materials. He then marched to the north,
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where he was captivated with the situation of Beder to such

a degree that he caused a new city to be built on the site,

which he called after his own name, Ahmedabad Beder, and

adorned it with magnificent buildings. He was likewise

engaged in two wars with Malwa, and a third was averted

only by the cession of Berar. His generals were also sent to

seize the Concan, or strip of land lying between the ghauts

and the sea, from Mahim, or Bombay, to Goa. But this expe-

dition brought him in contact with the formidable naval power
of Guzerat, and he was constrained to relinquish it. His wild

career terminated in 1435.

Aiia-ooa-deen,
He was succeeded by his son Alla-ood-deen,

H35. w}10 immediately went to war with Beejuynugur,
and was successful. He then proceeded to invade Caudesh,

took the capital, Boorhanpore, and levelled the royal palaces

with the ground. The Hindoo rajas of Beejuynugur had

seldom been able to cope with their Mahomedan neighbour ;

but, though their dominions were superior in extent, popula-

tion and wealth, had been constantly subjected to the payment
of tribute. It was about this time that the raja, Deva Roy,
is said to have assembled his nobles to investigate the cause

of this disgrace. Some ascribed it to the decree of the gods;
others to fate, which is stronger than the gods; while a third

party traced it to the superior cavalry and archery of the

Mahomedans. The raja, therefore, enlisted 2,000 Mahomedan
archers in his service, and, in conjunction with 60,000 of his

own bowmen, took the field against Alla-ood-deen, and fought
two battles, but with doubtful success. Two Mahomedan
officers of rank, however, fell into his hands, and the Bahminy
monarch swore that if they were not instantly given up he

would sacrifice 100,000 infidels for each. Deva Eoy had not

forgotten the result of a similar vow on a former occasion,

and sued for peace, paying up all the tribute that had become

due. Alla-ood-deen died in 1457, and was succeeded by his

son a monster of cruelty who was assassinated by his own
servants as he lay on his couch helpless from intoxication.



HI.] MAHMOOD GAWAN, THE GREAT STATESMAN. 81

We pass on to the last substantive king of the Deccan,
Mahomed Shah, who was placed on the throne at the age
of nine, in 1463.

Mahomed shah, During his minority the administration was
lies-use. conducted by the queen mother and two ministers,

one of whom, the preceptor of the prince, was assassinated

by her orders, because he was supposed to have acquired too

great an influence over his pupil. The other, Mahmood

Gawan, was the greatest general and statesman of the age,
and one of the most distinguished characters hi the Mahomedan

history of India. He marched into the Concan, where two
former expeditions had failed, and not only reduced the pro-
vince and the ghauts above it to subjection, but wrested the

island of Goa from the raja of Beejuynugur, who had usurped
it. He then turned" his attention to the eastern coast, rein-

stated the Kay of Orissa, who had been expelled and sought

protection, and added Condapilly and Rajahmundry to the

Bahminy territories. But the Ray subsequently took ad-

vantage of a famine which was desolating the country to

make an attempt to regain the districts he had lost. Mahmood
Gawan marched down upon him with prompitude, and speedily

extinguished all opposition, and annexed Masulipatam to the

kingdom. The king, who had accompanied the expedition,

having- heard of the renowned temple of Canchi, or Con-

jeveram, near Madras, the walls and roof of which were

reported to be covered with plates of gold, rushed through the

intervening country, at the head of 6,000 chosen horse, with

such rapidity as to astound the various chiefs, took possession
of the temple, and despoiled it of its wealth before they could

come to its rescue.

,, . . Under the powerful genius of Mahmood the
Murder of r

.

Mahmood Bahminy kingdom reached its greatest limits.

It stretched from the Concan to Masulipatam,

and from the Nerbudda to the Kistna. The minister now
resolved to turn his attention to the improvement of the ad-

ministration. He divided the kingdom into eight provinces,

c
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and curtailed the power of the governors, thus diminishing the

chance of their revolt. He introduced vigorous reforms into

every branch of the government to the great disgust of all

whose private interests were affected by them. They deter-

mined, therefore, on his destruction ; and having ingratiated

themselves with the Abyssinian who had charge of his seal,

induced him, when half drunk, to affix it to a blank sheet of

paper, which they filled up with a treasonable letter to the

Kay of Orissa, inciting him to revolt, and offering him as-

sistance. The paper was artfully produced before the king,

as if it had been found by accident
;
and Hussun Bheiry, a

converted Hindoo, the mortal enemy of Mahmood, who had

been his benefactor, endeavoured to inflame his mind against

the minister. He was ordered into the royal presence and

upbraided with his treason. He exclaimed,
" This is a great

forgery ; the seal is mine, but of the letter itself I am totally

ignorant." The king, inflamed with wine and passion, ordered

one of his Abyssinian slaves to cut him down. Gawan calmly

replied that the fate of an old man could be of little con-

sequence, but that his death would seal the doom of the king-
dom. The king turned into his seraglio; the slave approached
the minister, then in his seventy-eighth year, and he knelt

down, with his face towards Mecca, and received the fatal

blow. He died in graceful poverty. Though he had served

five monarchs, his cabinet was found to contain only 10,000

rupees. The proceeds of the jaygeer allotted for the support
of his office, he had, in part, distributed among his officers,

and, in part, disbursed among the poor in his master's name.

The money which he had brought with him into the country
had been employed in commerce, the profits of which, after

providing for his kitchen on the moderate scale of two rupees
a day, were assigned to the poor in his own name. The king
died within a twelve month of his minister, a prey to remorse,

exclaiming, in the paroxysms of his agony, that Mahmood
Gawan was tearing him to pieces.

Dissolution of It is unnecessary farther to pursue the history
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the Bahmin
the Sim Of its pros-

kingdom,
'

perity set with the stroke which deprived the
512'

great minister of life. Mahmood Shah, the son of

the late king, ascended the throne in 1482, and lived on,

though he can scarcely be said to have reigned, for thirty-

seven years ; the kingdom crumbled away, as governor after

governor revolted, and it was at length resolved into five

independent states.

The fire king- 1. Eusof Adil Shah, the adopted son of Mah-
mood Gawan, a Turk, who claimed descent from

the conquerors of Constantinople, established the Adil Shahy

dynasty at Beejapore. 2. Hussun Bheiry, who had insti-

gated the murder of Mahmood, and was subsequently ex-

ecuted by order of his master, was a brahmin of Beejapore,

who was taken prisoner and sold to the Bahminy king, who
circumcised him and raised him to distinction. His son,

Ahmed Nizam, on hearing of his father's fate, raised the

standard of revolt at Ahmednugur, and established the

Nizam Shahy dynasty. 3. Imad-ool-moolk, on the general

dissolution of the monarchy, made himself independent in the

province of Berar, of which he was governor, and gave rise

to the Imad Shahy line of princes. 4. Koolee Kootub was a

Turkoman of Hamadan hi Persia, who came to India in

search of employment, and rose to the post of governor of

Golconda, where, on the decomposition of the Bahminy

kingdom, he established an independent dynasty, which is

known in history as the Kootub Shahy. 5. Ahmed Bereed

was appointed minister on the execution of Mahmood Gawan,
and gradually substituted his own influence for that of the

king at the capital and in the adjacent districts, and at

length established the Bereed Shahy dynasty at Beder. This

division of sovereign power among five independent states

who were incessantly at war with each other, was the

greatest calamity which could have befallen the country,

and subjected the wretched provinces for a century and a

half to merciless rapine.

a 2
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Rise of the For- While the Bahminy kingdom was thus crumb-
tuguese power.

jjng ^Q pjeceSj another race of adventurers ap-

peared on the western coast of India, and gave a new direc-

tion to its politics and commerce. A Portuguese expedition
landed in the harbour of Calicut, and paved the way for the

eventual transfer of power from the Mahomedans to the

Christians. For some time previous to this memorable event,

the general progress of improvement in Europe and the in-

crease of nautical skill and boldness, had inspired its mari-

time nations with a strong desire to discover the way to

India by sea, and to participate in its rich commerce, which

was then monopolised by the Venetians. The Portuguese
were at this time the foremost and most enterprising among
the navigators of Europe ; and John, king of Portugal,

anxious to make the circuit of the continent of Africa, had

sent his admiral, Bartholomew Bias, on this perilous under-

taking. It was he who first doubled the Cape of Good Hope,
which he named the Cape of Storms in reference to the tem-

pestuous weather which he encountered. But the king was
BO highly elated with the success of the expedition and the

prospects which it opened to him, that he changed the name
to that which it has ever since borne. Soon after, Christo-

pher Columbus, hoping to reach India by sailing westward,
obtained the patronage of the king of Spain, and, launching

boldly into the ocean, which had never been traversed before,

made the discovery of America. His successful return from

this voyage of unexampled peril filled all Europe with as-

tonishment.

The king
1 of Portugal was deeply chagrined to

Portuguese ex- ' r J

pedition to find that the neglect with which he had treated
India, 1497. ^e a(jvances of Columbus, had deprived him of

the opportunity of adding another continent to his dominions ;

but he resolved to seek compensation for this loss in an

attempt to reach India, by doubling the Cape, and stretching
to the eastward. An expedition was accordingly fitted out

for this purpose, consisting of three vessels, the command of
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which was entrusted to Vasco de Gama. The whole popula-

tion of Lisbon poured out to witness his departure on the 8th

of July, 1497, and the sailors went through various religious

ceremonies, as men who never expected to return. Vasco

was four months reaching the Cape, which, however, he

doubled with a fair and gentle breeze. He anchored at

Melinda, on the African coast, where he was supplied with a

pilot to conduct his vessels to India. On the 22nd of May,
1498, .he cast anchor on the Malabar coast, off Calicut, which

presented to his delighted eyes the appearance of a noble

town with a fertile plain rising up in the back ground, bounded

by a distant range of lofty mountains. Calicut, then a place

of extensive traffic, belonged to an independent Hindoo raja,

called the Zamorin, and lay considerably to the south of the

limit to which the Mahomedan conquests had extended. The

harbours on the coast immediately to the north of it, be-

longed to the Hindoo raja of Beejuynugur ; those higher up
to the Bahminy kingdom, while those in the extreme north

were within the limits of Guzerat. The Zamorin was greatly

struck with the appearance of strangers from a remote and

unknown region, differing so entirely in aspect, manners, and

arms from the foreigners who frequented the port. He re-

ceived them at first with cordiality, and manifested every

disposition to promote their views. But the Moors, as they
were called, or the Musulmans from Egypt and Arabia who
had engrossed the maritime traffic of that coast, and enjoyed
no small influence in its ports, viewed the arrival of the in-

terlopers with great jealousy, and determined to defeat their

object. They bribed the minister of the raja to insinuate to

him that the strangers were not the men they represented,

themselves to be, but pirates, who had plundered the coast cfi

Africa, and were now come to India on the same errand.

The Zamorin, swayed by these accusations, authorized the

Moors to adopt violent measures against them, and two of

Vasco's principal officers, who were on shore, were treache-

rously arrested. He immediately retaliated by seizing six of
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the respectable natives who happened to be on board his

vessel, and refused to release them till his own officers were

surrendered. The raja manifested some hesitation to comply
with this reasonable demand, and Vasco weighed anchor in

haste and began to sail out of the harbour with the hostages.

Presently, several boats were seen to pull off from the shore,

one of which contained his officers whom the Zamorin now
hastened to release. Vasco sent back some of the natives he

had detained, but resolved to take several of them with him

to Lisbon, to give them an opportunity of viewing the city

and reporting its grandeur on their return. Having now

completed his cargoes, he set sail for Europe, and, on the

29th of August, 1499, re-entered the Tagus, in regal pomp,
after an absence of twenty-six months. Men of all ranks

crowded to welcome him, and to admire the vessels which

had performed so marvellous a voyage ; the king showered

honours on him, and the nations of Europe were enraptured
with the discovery of a new and easier path to the land of

fabulous wealth.

_ , A second expedition was fitted out in the same
Second voyage r
under Cabrai, year, consisting of thirteen ships and 1,200 men,

the command of which was given to Cabrai. He
was accompanied by eight friars, who were sent to preach

Christianity to the natives, and he was directed to carry fire

and sword into every province that refused to listen to them.

In the course of the voyage he discovered Brazil, on the coast

of South America, and took possession of it in the name of

his sovereign, in the year 1500. In doubling thfe Cape he

encountered terrific gales, and lost four of his ships, in one

of which was the celebrated admiral Bias, who thus found a

grave in the seas which he had been the first to explore.

Cabrai, on reaching Calicut, restored the natives who had

been taken to Portugal, where they had been treated

with distinguished kindness. He was received with much

courtesy by the Zamorin, to whom he presented gifts of rare

beauty and value. But the Moorish merchants, annoyed at
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the return of the strangers whom they hoped to have finally

driven from the shores of India, effectually prevented them
from obtaining cargoes. Cabral presented a remonstrance to

the Zamorin, and received authority, as he supposed, to se-

quester vessels carrying the Mahomedan flag. A Moorish

ship with a rich cargo was accordingly seized ; the merchants

hastened to the raja with their complaints, and obtained

permission to expel the intruders. The factory which the

Portuguese had erected was forthwith attacked, and all the

foreigners in it were put to death. Cabral immediately
seized and burnt ten Moorish craft, after having transferred

their cargoes to his own ships. He then laid his vessels

abreast of the town, and having set it on fire with his

artillery, set sail for the neighbouring town of Cochin, where

he formed a treaty with the raja, and returned to Lisbon in

July, 1501.

Second voyage The report of these transactions inflamed the
of vasco, 1502. fagfrQ which the king of Portugal had been

cherishing to establish an empire in the east. He assumed the

title of Lord of the Navigation, Conquest, and Commerce of

Ethiopia, Persia, Arabia and India, and fitted out a more

formidable expedition than any that had as yet left the shores

of .Portugal. Vasco de Gama, who was placed in command
of it, reached the coast of India without any accident, and

anchoring off Calicut, demanded satisfaction for the insult

offered to Cabral, which was at once refused, and Vasco is

said to have put to death fifty of the natives who had repaired

to his vessels. At the same time he poured a destructive fire

into the town of Calicut, and then weighing anchor pro-

ceeded to the friendly port of Cochin, which now became the

mart of the Portuguese trade. Three expeditions of minor

importance were successively sent out, and cargoes obtained

partly by barter, and partly by terror. The Portuguese were

lulled into security by the success which attended them, and

Pacheco was left with a handful of men to protect their settle-

ment at Cochin. The Zamorin was thus encouraged to make
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an attempt to expel them, and at the same time to punish the

raja of Cochin for having fostered them. The troops of

Calicut exceeded those of Pacheco as fifty to one, but his

admirable strategy, and the valour of his soldiers, repulsed

every assault ;
and he was the first to exhibit that decisive

superiority of European over Asiatic troops, which three cen-

turies and a half have now abundantly confirmed.

In the year 1505, the king of Portugal sent out
Naval battle . .

with the Maho- Francis Almeyda, with the title of viceroy ot

medans, 1508,
India) though as yet he did not possess a foot of

land in it. The early success of the Portuguese in India is

to be attributed to the singular genius and audacity of the

men who conducted their expeditions, and Almeyda was infe-

rior to none of them. Soon after his arrival, the Hindoo raja

of Beejuynugur, who could not fail to perceive that the

power of the strangers would become paramount on the

western coast, sent an envoy with rich presents for the king
of Portugal, to whom he proposed a treaty of alliance, and

offered his own daughter in marriage. But the bright pros-

pects thus opened to the Portuguese were soon overclouded.

Before the discovery of the passage to India round the Cape,

the whole trade of the east, conveyed overland, had been

monopolised by the Venetians, and the "
Queen of the Adri-

atic," as Venice was called, became the envy of Europe.
The Venetians had reason now to apprehend that this mag-
nificent traffic would be diverted into a new channel, and pass

altogether out of their hands. They possessed great influence

in Egypt, which was one of their most important marts, and

they urged the Sultan to fit out a fleet in the Red Sea, to

sweep their rivals from the Indian Ocean, and assisted him

with timber from their own forests in Dalmatia. A powerful
fleet was speedily equipped and sent to India, under the com-

mand of Meer Hookum, the Egyptian admiral. The king of

Guzerat, who was equally alarmed at the progress of the

Portuguese, ordered his admiral to co-operate with the Egyp-
tians. Lorenzo, the son of Ahneyda, was cruising in the
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north with a division of the Portuguese fleet, when the com-

bined squadrons bore down upon him. The Portuguese

fought with the gallantry of European sailors, but the supe-

riority of the enemy in the number of their ships, and the

calibre of their guns, gave them the victory. The gallant

Lorenzo, whose vessel was entangled in some fishing stakes,

and thus exposed singly to the fire poured in upon him from

all sides, fell covered with wounds, after performing prodigies

of valour, which filled even the Mahomedans with admiration.

To avenge the death of his son, Almcyda reduced the flourish-

ing port of Dabul to ashes, and then proceeded in search of

the enemy, whom he found anchored in the harbour of Diu.

The conflict was long and doubtful, for the Egyptian and

Guzerattee admirals were men of great nautical experience

and valour, but all their larger vessels were at length either

burnt or captured, and the smaller craft escaped up the river.

Peace was subsequently concluded between the belligerents,

and all the European prisoners were restored.

Albuquerque, Almeyda soon after resigned his post to Albu-
16071510.

querque, the greatest of all the Portuguese com-

manders. It was his ambition to found an empire in the east,

and he succeeded in this bold enterprise. Abandoning the

system of predatory excursions along the coast which had

satisfied his predecessors, he resolved to establish and fortify

a port which should serve as the centre of his operations. He
fixed on the island of Goa, lying on the Malabar Coast, about

twenty-three miles in circumference, of which he took

possession, and though at one tune driven from it by the

native prince, recaptured it, and erected fortifications which

effectually baffled all the efforts of the country powers.
From that time Goa became the seat of the Portuguese power
in the east, and Albuquerque sent and received embassies

with all the magnificence of an eastern monarch. Having

placed the government of his new settlement on the wisest

foundation, he -turned his attention to more distant regions and

enterprizcs. He proceeded eastward, to the port of Ma-
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lacca, then the great emporium of trade in the eastern

archipelago, with an armament of 800 Portuguese soldiers

and 600 natives whom he had enlisted and trained. The
native prince is said to have assembled an army of 30,000

men to resist him, but the valour and discipline of his little

force soon placed the city in his hands. The possession of

this important position was immediately secured by the erec-

tion of a strong fort, and a new field of commercial enterprize

to Siam, Java, and Sumatra, was thus opened to his country-
men. His efforts were next directed to the west, and he

equipped a powerful squadron for the conquest of Ormuz, in

the Persian Gulph. The imposing force which accompanied
him effectually deterred the native prince from resistance,

and Albuquerque was permitted to take possession of the

island, and to raise a fortification in it. Ormuz rose rapidly
in importance, the town was filled with 40,000 inhabitants,

and became one of the most flourishing settlements in those

seas. Thus had the genius of Albuquerque, in the short

space of nine years, built up the Portuguese power in the

east, and given them the command of the sea, and the

control of the traffic throughout the eastern archipelago,

which they continued to enjoy for a hundred years without a

rival. Though he never obtained possession of a single pro-

vince on the continent of India, his authority was supreme

over 12,000 miles of coast, and it was sustained by an irre-

sistible fleet and thirty factories, of which many were

fortified. He was at length abruptly superseded in his com-

mand by the orders of his own sovereign, who did not con-

descend to soften the disgrace by any mark of distinction, or

even by the courtesy of a letter. The ingratitude of which

he was the victim, broke his heart ; he expired on the barque
which was conveying him to Goa, and was interred in the

settlement which he had created, amidst the lamentations and

tears of natives and Europeans, by whom he was equally

beloved.
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CHAPTER IV.

MOGUL DYXASTY. BABER TO AKBAR. 1526 1605-

The Mogul IJT the month -of April, 1526, Sultan Baber cap-

tured Delhi, and established the Mogul dynasty,
which continued to flourish for a hundred and eighty years,

under a succession, unprecedented in India, of six monarchs,

distinguished by their prowess in the field, and, with one

exception, by their ability in the cabinet.

Eater's early Baber, the sixth in descent from Timur, was
career. fae gon of Sheikh Mirza, to whom the fertile

province of Fergana, on the upper course of the Jaxartes,
had been allotted in the distribution of the family possessions.
His mother was a descendant of Jenghis Khan, and it has

been noted by historians as a remarkable fact, that the

empire founded by Baber should be known in history only
as the Mogul empire, while he himself execrated the name
of Mogul. Baber appears to have inherited that spirit of

enterprise which distinguished both his renowned ancestors,

and at the early age of fifteen, when he succeeded to the

throne, commenced that adventurous career, which he pursued
without interruption for thirty-five years. His first campaign
was against the city of Samarcand, the metropolis of Trans-

oxiana, wMch he captured with little difficulty, but he had

not held it a hundred days before he was recalled to the

defence of his paternal kingdom. He subsequently made

three successful efforts to obtain possession of that city,

which he coveted as the capital of Timur, and was thrice

expelled from it.

Bab r seizes
Baber was engaged for eight years in a series

Afghanistan, of the most perilous enterprises, and experienced

vicissitudes of fortune, which would have crushed

an ordinary mind, but they only served to give fresh vigour
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to his buoyant spirit. Seeing no hope of extending his con-

quests beyond the Oxus, he seized the city of Cabul in the

year 1504, and succeeded in maintaining possession of it for

twenty years. During this period he was incessantly em-

ployed in defending or enlarging his dominions, and never

enjoyed a year of repose. His greatest peril arose from the

progress of the Uzbeks, a tribe of ferocious Tartars, now

swarming from their native hive, and seeking new settlements

in the south. Their leader Shaibek had swept the posterity

of Timur from Transoxiana and Khorasan, and in his progress

towards the Indus had captured Candahar and threatened

Cabul. Had he been able to march at once on that capital,

he would probably have extinguished for ever the hopes of

Baber, but he was recalled from these conquests by the

hostility of Isrnael Shah, the powerful chief of the tribe which

had recently seized the throne of Persia, and established

the dynasty of the Sophis. The Uzbek chief was routed

and slain, and Baber seized the opportunity of again occu-

pying Samarcand, from which he wae again expelled in the

course of a few months.

Eater's five ex- To compensate for this disappointment, he

tadiaTiwa
turned his attention to India, where the imbeci-

1525.
lity of the emperor of Delhi presented a tempta-

tion too strong to be resisted by a descendant of Timur.

His first irruption was in the year 1519, and it was followed

by two others, in five years, though with partial success.

In 1524 he resumed this ambitious project, and overran the

Punjab, where he was joined by Alla-ood-deen, the brother

of the emperor, with Dbwlut Khan, and other officers, who
had been alienated from him by his constant oppressions. But

Baber, after having advanced as far as Sirhind, was obliged
to return across the Indus, to repel an invasion from the

north, and Dowlut Khan, on his departure, deserted his

standard and took possession of the Punjab. Alla-ood-deen,

who had been left in charge of the province, fled to Cabul, and

was immediately sent back to India by Baber, with a well-
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appointed army ; but was signally defeated by the emperor,

under the walls of Delhi. Baber now advanced on his fifth

and last expedition with an army not exceeding 12,000 men,
but they" were all experienced veterans. The emperor,

Ibrahim Lodi, advanced to meet him with an army generally

estimated at 100,000, and a thousand elephants. The destiny

of India was decided on the field of Paniput. The engage-
ment lasted from sunrise to sunset, and resulted in the total

defeat of the imperial army, and the death of the emperor, and

15,000 of his troops. Delhi opened her gates to the victor in

May, 1526, and Baber vaulted into the vacant throne, and, as

a token of his success, sent gifts from the treasury to the most

celebrated Mahomedan shrines in Asia.

But Delhi had long ceased to be the capital and
State of India r

onBaber'sac- the mistress of India. The great Mahomedan

empire had been broken up more than a century
and a half before, by the extravagances of Mahomed Toghluk,
and at the period of Baber's accession the various provinces
were in the possession of independent rulers. In the southern

extremity of Hindostan, the great Hindoo monarch of Bee-

juynugur claimed the allegiance of the various native chiefs

who had never submitted to the Mahomedan yoke. Farther

to the north lay the territories of the five kings of Beejapore,

Ahmednugur, Golconda, Beder, and Berar, who were esta-

blished on the dissolution of the Bahminy kingdom. The

province of Gujerat was governed by a wild youth, who was
ambitious of trying conclusions with the Mogul in the field.

Kana Sunga, the most powerful prince of his race, was para-

mount in Rajpootana. The opulent kingdom of Bengal,

including Behar, was ruled by an Afghan family, and the
" sacred soil," as it was called, of Orissa, was in the possession
of its ancient Hindoo dynasty. Still nearer Delhi, an hade-

pendent prince held his court at Jounpore, and supported it

from the revenues of Oude. The victory of Baber, therefore,

only gave him the command of the districts to the north-west

of Delhi, and a narrow tract of land, stretching along the
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Jumna to Agra. He had India yet to conquer, but his gene-
rals shrunk from the task, and entreated him to return to the

cooler and more genial climate of Afghanistan, where they

might enjoy the booty they had acquired at Delhi and Agra.
But Baber had crossed the Indus, not simply to plunder pro-

vinces, but to found an empire, and he announced his unalter-

able resolution to continue in India, and pursue his career;

at the same tune, however, he granted permission to all those

to return who preferred ease to glory. His ardour subdued

their reluctance, and only one of his generals availed himself

of this privilege, and he and his soldiers were dismissed with

honour, and laden with wealth, in the hope of inducing others

to resort to Baber's standard. In the course of four months

after the battle of Paniput, all the country held by Ibrahim

Lodi had been secured, and the revolted kingdom of Jounpore

brought under subjection.

Defeat of Kana But a more formidable enemy now appeared in

Sunga, 1527. the field. Rana Sunga, the Rajpoot prince of

Chittore, and at this time the most powerful of all the sove-

reigns north of the Nerbudda, elated by a recent triumph
over the king of Malwa, espoused the cause of the dethroned

dynasty of Delhi. All the princes of Rajpootana ranged
themselves under his banner, and he advanced with 100,000

men to drive Baber back across the Indus. The first conflict

took place at Futtehpore Sikri, where the advanced guard of

the Moguls was totally routed by the Rajpoots. Many of

Baber's troops on this deserted their colours, some even went

over to the enemy, and all were dispirited. Accustomed as

he had been to dangers for thirty years, this extraordinary

peril staggered him, but he never despaired. He states in

his memoirs that in this emergency he repented of his sins,

and determined to reform his life ; that he foreswore the use

of wine, and broke up his gold and silver cups, and distributed

their value among the poor. He resolved to allow his beard

to grow like a true Musulman, and promised, if God gave
him the victory, to remit the stamp tax to the faithful*
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Animated by his example, his generals took an oath on the

Koran to conquer or to die. In this fever of enthusiasm

Baber led them against the enemy, and by the aid of his

efficient artillery obtained a signal victory, which completely
broke the power of Chittore. He celebrated his success by
constructing a pyramid of the heads of the slain, and assuming
the title of Ghazee, or champion of the faith.

conquest of The next year Baber attacked Ghunderee, held

Ctad^and'' ky Medni Roy, whose history, in connection with

Behar, 1529. the kingdoms of Guzerat and Malwa has been

already related. Finding his position untenable, he and his

Rajpoots devoted themselves to death with the usual cere-

monies, and rushed with frenzy on the Mogul swords. Those

who survived the onset put themselves to death. In the

following year, Baber extended his authority over Oude and

south Behar. But his constitution, which had been gradually

impaired by long indulgence, was worn out by these severe

exertions in an uncongenial climate. So active had been his

life, that for thirty-eight years he had never kept the feast

of the Ramzan twice in the same place. He died
Death of r

Baber, 1530, at Agra in 1530, at the age of fifty, and his
his character. remains were conveyed to Cabul and interred in a

beautiful spot which he had himself selected for his tomb.

The simple and chaste monument raised over his grave con-

tinued to attract admiration three centuries after his death.

Among the Mahomedan princes of India, no monarch is held

in higher estimation than Baber. His career exhibited that

romantic spirit of adventure of which nations are always

proud. His personal courage bordered on rashness; his

activity was almost fabulous. While labouring under a

wasting disease he rode a hundred and sixty miles in two

days, and swam across the Ganges. He was, however,
rather a valiant soldier than a great general, and he lost

nearly as many battles as he won ; but he never lost heart,

and was as buoyant after a defeat as after a victory. Amidst

all the bustle of war, ho found time for the cultivation of
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literature, and his Persian poetry has been always admired

for its elegance. The little leisure he enjoyed from the

labours of the field, he devoted to the construction of aque-

ducts, reservoirs, and other works of public utility. There is

no Indian prince with whose individual character we are so

familiar, and this is owing to his own vivid delineation of it

in the volume of personal memoirs he compiled, in which he

records his transgressions with so much candour, and his

repentance with so much sincerity, and recounts his friend-

ships with so much cordiality, that in spite of all his failings

he becomes an object of personal esteem.

Humayoon succeeded his father at the close of
Humayoon *

succeeds to the 1530, but the first incident in his reign exhibited
throne, 1530.

tkat easmegs of disposition to which his subse-

quent misfortunes were chiefly to be attributed. His brother,

Kamran, the governor of Cabul and Candahar, hesitated to

acknowledge his authority, and Humayoon, not only con-

sented to resign these provinces to him, but added the Punjab
also. By this injudicious act he was deprived of the means

of recruiting his army from the countries beyond the Indus,

a loss which was severely felt in proportion as Baber's vete-

rans died out, and Humayoon was obliged to depend
on the troops he could enlist in Hindostan. In the third

year of his reign, Humayoon became involved in hostilities

with Bahadoor Shah. This impetuous prince who ascended

the throne at the age of twenty, was incessantly engaged
in aggressive wars during the eleven years

rat defeated, of his reign. He had subjugated the inde-

pendent kingdom of Malwa, and annexed it to

his own dominions. He had compelled the kings of Ahmed-

nugur and Beder to do him personal homage. He had added

the ancient and venerable city of Oojein to his conquests,
and sacked the city of Chittore, in the defence of which

32,000 Rajpoots are said to have fallen. Humayoon demanded

the surrender of a fugitive conspirator, which was haughtily

refused, on which he marched at once into the country.
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Bahadoor Shah had planted his army in an entrenched camp
at Mandishore, trusting to his fine artillery, manned by Por-

tuguese gunners and commanded by Roomy Khan, originally
a Turkish slave, but now the first engineer officer in India.

Humayoon besieged the camp for two months, cut off its

supplies, and reduced the king to such straits, that he was

obliged to fly, and eventually to take refuge in Diu, the most

remote harbour in the peninsula of Guzerat.

Humayoon's Humayoon immediately overran the province,

of chmiipMere,
an(^ Pr ceeded against the fortress of Chumpanerej

1535. in which the accumulated wealth of the dynasty
was deposited. With only three hundred select troops, he

climbed up the perpendicular rock on which it was built by
means of steel spikes, and mastered it by an exhibition of

heroism which rivalled the exploits of his father. The gal-

lantry of his officers and soldiers was rewarded with as much

gold and silver as they could heap on their shields. But his

further progress was arrested by the necessity of returning

to Agra, to arrest the progress of Shere Khan. On his

retirement, Bahadoor Shah again took the field and regained
his kingdom as rapidly as he had lost it ; but he did not long

enjoy it. While at Diu, he had negotiated with the Portu-

guese for three hundred Europeans to assist him in, recovering
his' kingdom, and in return granted them permission to<

establish a factory at that port. They began immediately to

surround it with a wall, the rudiments of a fortification, and:

brought up a fleet to protect the progress of the work.

Bahadoor Shah had all the native horror of European intrusion,

Tragic death of
an(^ was determined to prevent the completion of

Shah, the work. He proceeded on board the admiral's
1537

ship, and invited him and his officers to an enter-

tainment at which he had laid a plot to assassinate them. The

admiral, it appears, was equally anxious to obtain possession

of the king's person. An affray ensued in which the king
lost his life, by accident, according to the Portuguese his-

torians, by treachery, if we are to believe the Mahomedaus.



98 EARLY CAREER OF SHERE KHAN. [CHAP.

Shere Khan, wlio now appears on the scene, was
Origin and pro-

rc
.

gross of shere one of the most distinguished characters in the

annals of Mahomedan India. He was an Afghan
of noble birth, of the tribe of Soor, which claimed affinity

with the kings of Ghore. His father held the rank of a com-

mander of 500, and the jaygeer of Sasseram, in Behar, where

Shere Khan was born. At an early age he quitted his home

in disgust, and enlisted as a private soldier under the king of

Jounpore, but at the same time endeavoured to store his

mind with knowledge, and prepare himself by study for future

eminence. A long series of adventures in which he was

engaged on his own account for several years, ended in the

occupation of Behar and the siege of Gour, the capital of

Bengal. Humayoon was recalled from Guzerat by the tidings

of his alarming progress, and moved down to oppose him with

a large army, but was detained six months beseiging Chunar,

though it was assaulted by the floating batteries of Roomy
Khan, whom Humayoon had allured to his service after the

defeat of Bahadoor Shah. During this protracted siege Shere

Khan captured Gour, conquered Bengal, and sent the king

flying tor shelter to the imperial camp.

Humayoon As Humayoon entered Bengal, Shere Khan

store K-han at
retircd to tne ni% and inaccessible region of the

Buxar, 1539. south-west, and deposited his family and treasures

in the fortress of Rhotas. The emperor took up his residence

in Gour, then in the zenith of its grandeur, and on the eve of

its decay. When the rains set in, the delta of the Ganges
became a sheet of water, and the great army of Humayoon
was reduced by disease and desertions. He was constrained

to retreat with his dispirited troops towards the capital, where
his brothers were beginning to take advantage of his diffi-

culties and to intrigue for the throne. Shere Khan now
issued from his fastnesses, interrupted the progress of Hurua-

yoon's force, and after cutting up a detachment at Monghir,
came up with the main army at Buxar. At a time when

every moment was precious, Humayoon wasted two months
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in constructing a bridge across the Ganges. Before it wafl

completed, he was attacked and completely defeated by his

rival, who now assumed the title of Shere Shah, and openly

aspired to the empire.

Humayoon Humayoon at length reached Agra, and extin-

aJriflies^ross" gashed the hostile schemes of his brothers,

tue Indus, 1510.
Eight months were passed in assembling an army

for the great struggle with his formidable rival, who employed
this period in subjugating and organizing Bengal. The two

armies met in the neighbourhood of Cunouj, and Humayoon
experienced a second and more fatal defeat. He fled from

the field of battle to Agra, pursued by Shere Shah, and had

barely time to remove his family to Delhi. From thence he

Avas driven to Lahore, where his brother, instead of affording

him an asylum, hastened to make his peace with the victor,

and was allowed to retire to his territories beyond the Indus.

Thus fell the kingdom which Baber had established, and not

a vestige of Mogul sovereignty remained in India at the end

of fourteen years. The throne of Delhi was restored to the

Afghans. Humayoon made the best of his way with his

few remaining adherents to Sinde, where he spent eighteen

months in fruitless negotiations with its chiefs. He then

resolved to throw himself on the protection of Maldeo, the

powerful Rajpoot prince of Marwar, but on approaching the

capital, found the raja more disposed to betray than to succour

him. The wretched emperor endeavoured to cross the desert

to Amercote, and was subjected to incredible hardships during

the march. The son of Maldeo, eager to revenge the intru-

sion of the emperor and the slaughter of kine in his territories,

pursued him with the utmost rigour. At length Humayoon
reached Amercote with only seven mounted attendants, and

it was in these wretched circumstances that his queen, who
had nobly shared with him all the disasters of this journey,

Birth ofAkbar, gave birth to a son, afterwards the illustrious

1542. Akbar, destined to raise the Mogul empire to the

pinnacle of greatness. After another series of reverses,

E 2
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Humayoon was obliged to quit India, and seek an asylum
at Candahar.

Five years' Leaving Humayoon across the Indus, we turn
brilliant reign fo foe progress of Shere Shah, who now mounted
of Shere Shah,
15401545. the throne of Delhi, and established the Soor

dynasty. While he was combating the emperor, Bengal re-

volted, as a matter of course, but was speedily reduced to-

subjection. In 1542 he conquered the province of Malwa,
and in the succeeding year reduced the fortress of Raisin,

remarkable for its unfathomable antiquity, and for the honour

of having been erected, according to local tradition, by the

great national hero of the Ramayun. It was here that his

reputation was tarnished by the only stain ever attached to

it. The Hindoo garrison had surrendered on terms, but the

Mahomedan doctors assured him that, according to the pre-

cepts of the Koran, no faith was to be kept with infidels, and

the infidels were, therefore, slaughtered almost to a man. In

1544 Shere invaded Marwar with 80,000 men. It was de-

fended by a body of 50,000, and -by its own sterility. Through
the artifice of letters intended to be intercepted, he contrived

to raise suspicions regarding his chiefs in the mind of the

raja, and thus induced him to retire from the contest ; but

one chief, indignant at this distrust, fell on the emperor's

force with 12,000 men with such fury as to expose him to

the greatest peril; and the emperor, alluding to the barrenness

of the country, said that " he had nearly lost the empire for

a handful of millet." Soon after, the capture of Chittore

placed Rajpootana at his feet, and he proceeded to the attack

of Calinjer, one of the strongest fortresses in

1545, and Bundlecund, but was killed by the explosion of a
character. -, , j. ,, -, ,,

magazine as he was superintending the batteries.

Thus prematurely ended the career of Shere Shah. As

he inflicted the greatest humiliation on the Moguls, the his-

torians of their party have treated him as a usurper, and

loaded his memory with obloquy. But his right to the throne

was as valid as that of the Tartar adventurer Baber, and in
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both cases it was equally based on the decision of the sword.

But the kingdom which he gained by conquest, he governed
with the greatest beneficence, and the brief period of five

years in which he held supreme power, is the most brilliant in

the annals of India. He was a man of consummate ability,

distinguished not less by his military exploits than by the

triumphs of his civil administration. Though incessantly

engaged in the field, he found time for a complete reform of

every branch of the government, and his civil institutions

survived his dynasty and became the model of those of Akbar.

He constructed a grand trunk road from the banks of the

Indus to the bay of Bengal, through a distance of 2,000 miles,

and planted it with trees, and adorned it with wells and

caravanseras, at short distances, for the convenience of travel-

lers, and erected mosques for the benefit of the devout. He

appears to have been the first prince who established a

mounted post for the conveyance of the mails. At the end

of three centuries, his stately mausoleum at Sasseram, the

place of his birth and of his burial, continues to recall the

remembrance of his grandeur and his glory to the mind of the

traveller.

His eldest son was set aside by the nobles

for imbecility, and his second son, Jelal Khan,
nephew, 1554. wag raiged t() the throne un(Jer the tjtle of ge jim

Shah. After quelling a dangerous rebellion by his prompti-
tude and vigour, he was enabled to pass nine years in tran-

quillity, indulging his hereditary taste for public works ; and
if his reign had extended over a longer period, we should

probably have heard little or nothing of a Mogul dynasty.
It was the profligacy of his successor that brought the son

of Baber again to India. He was the brother of Selim, and

after having murdered his son, mounted the throne, and is

generally known in history simply by the name of Adili.

He was remarkable only for his ignorance and prodigality,

and exhibited all those purple-born vices which, in India,

presage the fall of a dynasty. But the ruin of this royal
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Hemn sustains house was retarded by the matchless talents of

the throne. Hemu, a Hindoo, originally a shopkeeper, whose

figure is said but only by Mogul historians to have been

as mean as his origin. Adili having exhausted his treasury

by profligate waste, began to resume the jaygeers of his

Patan nobles, and they went one by one into insurrection.

Five independent sovereignties were forthwith established

in the dominions under the crown, till nothing was left to

it, except some of the districts around the metropolis. Hemu

presented a bold front to these difficulties, and had suc-

ceeded in reducing two of the rebels, when the aspect of

affairs was at once changed by the appearance of Humayoon
on the banks of the Indus.

Process of We left this prince a refugee at Candahar in

SteM^g 1543 '
wuere Ilis adverse fortune still continued

India. to pursue him. The hostility of his brother

obliged him to retreat, and he sought shelter in Persia, the

throne of which was then filled by Shah Tamasp, the

second of the Sophi dynasty, who directed that he should be

received with royal hospitality in his progress, but did not

condescend to give him an interview for six months. The

fugitive prince was subjected to all the humiliating caprices of

a despot and a bigot, for Tamasp was an intolerant Shea,

and regarded the Soonecs with more than the usual measure

of polemical hate. His father had invented a peculiar cap
the kuzelbash as an emblem of religious distinction, and

Humayoon was required to place it on his head in the pre-

sence of the Persian monarch, though the courtly historians

of the Mogul dynasty speak with much reserve on this

subject. He was also required to sign' an engagement to

embrace and to enforce the Shea creed, and to cede the

frontier provinces of Afghanistan to the Persian crown.

The Persian monarch then furnished him with a body of

14,000 horse, with which he marched to Candahar, and cap-
tured it after a siege of five months, making it over, with

all the treasure found in it, to Morad Mirza, the Persian
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prince. On his death, which happened soon after, Humayoon
entered the city as a friend, but put the greater portion of

the Persian garrison to the sword, an act of perfidy which has

fixed an indelible stain on his memory. Having thus obtained

Conquest of possession of Candahar, he marched to Cabul and

b^H^a^on,
established his authority in that province, but

1545. had to maintain a protracted struggle with his

brothers, in which he was alternately victorious and defeated.

His brother Kamran at length fell into his hands, and to his

disgrace, he ordered the sight of the unfortunate prince to

be extinguished.

He crosses the After ten years of incessant warfare, the in-

renmurtifthe creasing confusion at the capital of India tempted
throne, 1555. Humayoon to make a bold stroke to regain the

throne. He crossed the Indus in 1555, and obtained a

complete victory over Secunder Soor, who had usurped the

imperial authority at the capital, and who was posted at

Sirhind with a body of 80,000 men. In this battle the young
Akbar gained his first laurels. Leaving the young prince in

the Punjab to watch the movements of the usurper, Humayoon
hastened to Delhi, and mounted the throne he had lost

fifteen years before. But before he could recover the do-

minions attached to it his career was brought to a close

by a fatal accident. Six months after he had entered Delhi,

while descending the steps of his library, he heard the

muezzin's call to prayer, and stopped to repeat the creed, and

sat down. As he endeavoured to rise, leaning on his staff,

. it slipped on the polished steps, and he fell over
llis death, 1556.

the parapet, and four days- after closed his

chequered life, at the age of forty-nine.

Accession of Akbar, the greatest prince of the dynasty of

Akbar, 1556.
Baber, whose genius raised the empire of the

Moguls to the summit of renown, was only thirteen years

and three months of age when the death of Humayoon
placed him upon the throne, which he continued to adorn for

fifty years. He was the contemporary of Queen Elizabeth,
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his reign having
1

begun two years before, and ended two years

after hers ; and thus, by a memorable coincidence, this period

of half a century has been rendered as illustrious in the

annals of England as of India. During the minority of Akbar,

the regency continued in the hands of Byram Khan, a Turko-

man, the companion of Humayoon in all his vicissitudes, and

the greatest captain and statesman, of the age, but a man of

austere manners and stern bigotry. Hemu, the Hindoo

general of Sultan Adili, was employed in quelling a rebellion

in Bengal when he heard of the death of Humayoon, and

conceiving fresh hopes from that event deposited the emperor
at Chunar, and moved up with an army of 30,000 men

Defeat of which was swelled to 100,000 as he advanced.
Hemu, 1556.

Agra and Delhi opened their gates to him, and so

completely were the commanders in Akbar's army confounded

by the rapidity of his successes, that they entreated their

master to abandon India and return to Afghanistan. Byram
alone advised an immediate and vigorous attack, and Akbar,

though only a stripling, seconded his ardour. The two
armies met at Paniput, and the destiny of India was a second

time decided on that field. Hemu, after prodigies of valour,

was completely defeated, and conducted, bleeding from his

wounds, to the tent of Akbar. Byram urged him to secure

for himself the religious merit of slaying an infidel, but the

generous youth refused to imbrue his hands in the blood of

a gallant and now helpless foe, and Byram struck off the

head of the captive with one stroke of his scymetar.

, It was the military talent of Byram, and the
Arrogance and * J

fail of Byram, vigour of his measures, which had seated Akbar on

the throne, but the minister had grown too big for

a subject. So great indeed was his power and influence that

for four years after his accession, Akbar felt himself a mere

cypher in his own dominions. Such thraldom was intolerable

to a high spirited prince, and when he had reached the age of

eighteen he resolved to throw off the yoke. On the plea of

the sudden illness of his mother, he repaired abruptly to Delhi,
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and immediately issued a proclamation announcing that he

had taken the government into his own hands, and that no

orders were to be obeyed but those which issued from himself.

Byram felt that his power was slipping away, and endeavoured

to regain it, but he had alienated all the public officers by his

haughty demeanour, and in the time of his adversity found

that he was without a friend. He retired to Nagore, giving
out that he was proceeding on pilgrimage, but he lingered

there in the hope of receiving some gracious message from his

master. Akbar, however, discharged him from all his offices,

und requested him to hasten his departure. Stung by this

indignity, he assembled an army, and marched against the

imperial troops. He was signally defeated, and constrained

to throw himself on the mercy of the emperor. As the fallen

minister entered the royal tent, with his turban humbly sus-

pended on his neck, and cast himself at the feet of the prince

whom he had cherished from his cradle, Akbar hastened to

raise him, and seated him on his right hand, investing him

with a robe of honour, and offering him the choice of any

post in the empire. The pride of Byram, who had been the

instrument of erecting the Mogul throne a second time in

India, led him to prefer a retreat to Mecca, and he accordingly

proceeded to the sea coast, but was assassinated on the route

by an Afghan, whose father he had put to death.

Akbar was now his own master, at the age of
Akbar his own

. ...
master at eighteen, but he was surrounded with difficulties

which would have broken a spirit of less energy.

For some time after its establishment, the dynasty of the

Moguls was weaker than any which had risen to power since

the Mahomedans first crossed the Indus. It was not con-

nected with any large and powerful tribes beyond that river,

ready to support the progress of their countrymen. It had no

resources in reserve. Akbar's army was simply an assembly
of mercenaries drawn together by the hope of plunder from

the various countries of Central Asia. His officers were only

a band of adventurers, bound to his family by no ties of here-
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ditary loyalty, and more disposed to carve out kingdoms for

themselves, as other adventurers had done for five centuries,

than to unite in building up a Mogul empire. Their ambition

had been effectually curbed by the iron despotism of Byram,
but blazed forth on his removal, the effect of which soon

became visible in the growth of disorders. In the fourth year
of his reign, Akbar extended his authority along the banks of

the Ganges to Jounpore ; the son of the last king,

bar's generals, Adili, advanced to recover his dominions, and was
567 '

defeated by Zeman Khan, but that general, despis-

ing the youth of his sovereign, withheld the royal share of

the booty, and manifested such a spirit of independence, that

Akbar was obliged to take the field, and reduce him to

obedience.

Adam Khan, another of Akbar's generals, was sent to expel

the Afghans from Malwa, but after defeating their general,

he determined to keep the fruits of his victory to himself.

Akbar marched against him in person, and accepted his sub-

mission, but he soon after requited this lenity by stabbing the

vizier when at prayers in a room adjoining that occupied by
the young king. For this atrocious deed Akbar ordered him

to be thrown headlong into the Jumna. Abdoolla Khan, a

haughty Uzbek, who had been received into the Mogul service,

with many of his countrymen, was then entrusted with the

government of Malwa, but within a twelvemonth raised " the

standard of revolt." Akbar came down upon him with promp-

titude, and drove him ignominiously to seek shelter in the

kingdom of Guzerat. This event created great discontent in

the minds of the Uzbek officers, who were reduced by the arts

of Abdoolla to believe that Akbar was animated with a here-

ditary hatred of their tribe and had formed a resolution to

disgrace them. The spirit of disaffection spread rapidly

through the Mogul army. Asof Jah, one of its generals, had

been sent to subjugate the little Hindoo principality of Gurra

on the Nerbudda. It was then under the regency of the

princess Doorgawuttee, renowned no less for her beauty than
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Heroism of a her valour. She led her army in person against
Hindoo princess, .

1564. the invader, and maintained the conflict with tne

greatest heroism till she received a wound in her eye. The

troops, missing her command, began to give way, when she, to

avoid falling into the hands of the enemy, seized the weapon
of the elephant driver and plunged it into her own bosom.

Her exploits are still a favourite theme with the Hindoo bards.

The booty obtained by this capture consisted of a hundred

jars of gold com, independently of jewels and gold and silver

images, and Asof Jah appropriated the largest portion of it to

his own use ajid then joined the hostile confederacy, which

now included the most eminent of Akbar's generals.

Eevoitof
^ke Danger f the emperor was extreme. It

Akbar's brother, was as much a struggle for the throne, as the

battle of Paniput, and the question at issue was,

whether the empire should be Mogul or Uzbek. Akbar's

detachments were repeatedly defeated, but he maintained the

conflict with unflinching resolution for two years. Just at

this critical juncture, his brother Hakim ungratefully took

advantage of his embarrassments, and endeavoured to wrest

the province of Lahore from the crown. Akbar was obliged to

quit the pursuit of the Uzbeks to meet this new revolt,

which, however, he succeeded in crushing at once. On his

return to the south, he found that the revolted generals had

obtained possession of the districts of Allahabad and Oude,

and were preparing to advance on the capital. The rains had

set in when all military operations are generally suspended j

but he did not hesitate to march against them, and by the

promptitude and vigour of his attack, completely broke the

strength of the confederacy, and, at the age of twenty-five,

had the happiness of seeing his authority firmly established

throughout his dominions. Nothing gives us a
Akbar's autho-

nty fully csta- higher idea of the real greatness or Akbar s

bushed, 1567.

character, than the conflict which, at so early an

age, he successfully maintained against his own mutinous

troops and officers.
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Baber, with a liberality of spirit foreign to every preceding

conqueror, had determined to strengthen his government by
Matrimonial matrimonial alliances with the Hindoos. He en-

the

!

E?
S

oot

th

couraged his son Humayoon to espouse a daughter
princes. of Bhugwan Dass, the raja of Jeypore. Akbar,

following his father's example, allied himself with the same

house, as well as with the ruling family of Marwar, or

Joudhpore. At the same time he conferred an office of high

dignity at his court on the raja of Jeypore. Thus the purest

Hindoo blood was mingled with that of the Mahomedan con-

querors, and the princes of Kajpootana gloried in these

imperial alliances as conferring additional dignity on their

families. But the orthodox house of Chittore, wrapped up
in its religious pride and exclusiveness, disdained any such

connection, arid even excommunicated the rajas of Jeypore and

Marwar; though Bappa, the founder of that family, con-

sidered by his countrymen as the " sun of Hindoo dignity,"

married Mahomedan wives without number, and left a hundred

and thirty circumcised children.

Akbar, having reduced his military aristocracy to sub-

mission, determined to chastise the raja of Chittore for having

Attack on th given encouragement to the king of Malwa. The

raja of ciiittore, throne was then filled by Oody Sing, the degene-
rate son of the renowned Rana Sunga. On the

approach of the Moguls, he fled to the hills, and left the

defence of his capital to Jeymul, the Rajpoot chief of Bednore,
esteemed by his countrymen the bravest of the brave. Akbar,
with a powerful artillery, made his approaches in the most

scientific mode, closely resembling the practice of modern

Europe. The siege of Chittore was protracted by the genius
and valour of Jeymul, but he was at length slain by a bolt

from the bow of Akbar, while inspecting the ramparts. His

death deprived the garrison of all confidence, and they deter-

mined to sell their lives as dear as possible. The women
threw themselves on the funeral pile of the raja, and the men
rushed frantically on the weapons of the Moguls, and perished
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to the number of 8,000. With that generosity of character

which distinguished Akbar, he erected a statue to the memory
of his heroic foe in the most conspicuous place of his palace

at Delhi. The fall of Chittore which from that
Capture and
abandonment of period was abandoned for the new capital, Oody-

-ore, 1568.

p0r6j caue(j by ^e founder after his own name
was considered the most fatal blow which had fallen for

ages on that royal house. The remembrance of this event

has been perpetuated throughout India by a most remarkable

practice. Akbar estimated the golden ornaments taken from

the Rajpoots at seventy-four maunds and a-half. The nu-

merals, 74|, were therefore deemed accursed. The Rajpoots,

and more particularly the Marwarees, are now the largest

and most enterprizing mercantile community in India, and

their commercial correspondence bears the impress of these

figures, signifying that " the sin of the slaughter of Chittore

is invoked on any one who violates the secrecy of the letter."

The practice has now become universal throughout India.

Conquest of Akbar's next enterprize was one of greater
Guzerat, 1572.

magnitude. The province of Guzerat, enlarged

by the conquests of Bahadoor Shah about forty years before

this period, and enriched by maritime commerce, was estimated

to yield a revenue of five crores of rupees, and to be equal
to the support of 200,000 troops ; but it had been a prey to

faction since his death. Four weak and profligate monarchy

had filled the throne in thirty-six years. The distraction of

the kingdom had been increased by the arrival of the Mirzas,

as they are styled by the native historians, a family connected

with Akbar by the ties of blood, who had revolted against his

authority, and, having been driven out of his dominions,

transferred their intrigues to Guzerat. Etimad Khan, origi-

nally a Hindoo slave, who now managed the government in

the name of Mozuffer the Third, seeing no other mode of

quelling the factions in the country, invited Akbar to take

possession of it. The emperor proceeded with a powerful

army to Puttun, where that feeble monarch advanced to meet
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him, and resigned his crown without an effort; and Guzerat,

after two centuries and a-half of independence, was again

annexed to the crown of Delhi As soon, however, as Akbar

returned to his capital with a large portion of his army, Mirza

Hussein, the most turbulent of the brothers, raised a new

revolt, and the imperial generals were reduced to great

straits, and obliged to act on the defensive. The rains had

set in, but Akbar was ready for action at all seasons. He

immediately dispatched a force of 2,000 choice cavalry from

Agra, and followed it with 300 of his own guards, marching,

in that season, no less than four hundred and fifty miles in

nine days. The rapidity and vigour of his movements con-

founded the rebels ; they suffered a signal defeat, and the

subjugation of the province was completed.
The attention of Akbar was next directed to the

Orissa con-

quered by the recovery of Bengal, but before narrating this

Afghans, 1550.
expe(jiti n, it is necessary to advert to the for-

tunes of the neighbouring kingdom of Orissa. That country
had been governed by the family of the Guju-putees, or lords

of the elephant, from a very remote period of Hindoo

history. About 400 years before the time under review, the

throne was occupied by the dynasty of the Gunga-bungsus.
The princes of this race expended the revenues of the country
in the erection of the most magnificent temples, and extended

their authority from the river Hooghly to the Godavery,
and on one occasion earned their arms as far south as Con-

jeveram, in the vicinity of Madras. A little before the period

of Akbar's accession, the king of Golconda, who was endea-

vouring to extend his power over the Hindoo tribes on the

sea coast, attacked the king of Orissa, Mookund Rao, the last

of his race ; at the same time, Soliman, the king of Bengal,

sent his general Kala-pahar with a large body of Afghan

cavalry, to invade it from the north. The valour of the raja

was of little avail; he was defeated and slain in 1558, and

this venerable Hindoo monarchy, which had never before felt

the shock of a Mahomedan invasion, was extinguished, and
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the Afghans parcelled the country out in jaygeers among
themselves. The native inhabitants, who had enjoyed the

undisturbed exercise of their religion from time immemorial,

were now to taste the bitterness of persecution. Kala-pahar

was a brahmin by birth, but had embraced the religion of the

Prophet to obtain the hand of a princess of Gour, and now

became a relentless oppressor of his former creed. So terrific

did he appear to the Hindoos, that it was popularly reported

that the legs and arms of the idols dropped off at the sound

of his awful kettle-drum. He made every effort to root out

Hindooism ; he persecuted the priests, and confiscated the reli-

gious endowments which had accumulated during twenty

generations of devout monarchs ; he pulled down the temples,

and erected mosques with the materials, and seized the imago
of Jugunnath, which he committed to the flames on the banks

of the Ganges.

Akbar invades The attention of Akbar was drawn to Bengal,
Bengal, 1576. even while he was engaged in the subjugation of

Guzerat. Under the successor of Shere Shah, the Afghan

governor had assumed independence, and four kings reigned

in Bengal during a period of thirty years, of whom the most

distinguished was Soliman, the conqueror of Orissa. In the

height of his prosperity, he had the wisdom to acknowledge
the supremacy of the emperor. But his successor, Daood

Khan, a debauchee and a coward, who ascended the throne

in 1573, finding himself at the head of an army which was

estimated, by oriental exaggeration, at 140,000 infantry,

40,000 cavalry, and 20,000 guns of all sizes, considered

himself a match for Akbar, and while he was engaged in

Guzerat attacked and captured a fort above Ghazeepore. Akbai

immediately ordered a large army to proceed to the con-

quest of Bengal. Ghazeepore, which was strongly garrisoned,

submitted after a brave resistance, and the king fled to Orissa,

where he made one bold stand for his throne. He was de-

feated, but allowed to retain Orissa, as a feudatory of Delhi.

The year after, on the withdrawal of a portion of the imperial
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troops, he invaded Bengal, but was defeated and slain, and

his head sent to the emperor. With Daood Khan, in 1576,

terminated the line of Afghan kings in Bengal, who had

reigned in succession over it for two hundred and thirty-six

years. During the sovereignty of these foreigners, not only

was every office of value bestowed on their countrymen, but

the whole of the land was parcelled out among them in

jaygeers, and the natives of the country were employed only

as managers, or cultivators, of the estates.

The iaygeers of the discomfited Afghans were
Revoltofthe .

" J&
. ~s

Mogul officers, seized by the victorious Mogul officers. Akbar

was resolved, however, to introduce the same

fiscal economy into Bengal which he had established in other

provinces. But when his revenue officers called on the Mogul
jaygeerdars to account for the revenues they collected, and

to furnish a muster of the troops they were bound to main-

tain, they rose in a body in Bengal and Behar, and 30,000 of

Akbar's finest cavalry appeared in arms against him. His

new conquest was for the time lost, and the spirit of dis-

affection spread to the neighbouring province of Oude.

Finding it difficult, in this emergency, to trust any of his

Mogul officers, he sent an army of Rajpoots, under the cele-

brated Hindoo raja Toder Mull, who succeeded in giving a

severe blow to the revolt; but the war languished for a

time, and was terminated by Azim Khan, whose success was

owing as much to the offer of a compromise, as to the vigour
of his arms. The Afghans in Orissa took advantage of this

confusion, and recovered their footing in the lower provinces
of Bengal. The great Kajpoot raja Man Sing, the near

relative of the emperor, was sent to quell this formidable

revolt, which was not effected without great difficulty ; and

it was not till the year 1592, after a dozen battles and seven-

teen years of conflict, that the authority of Akbar was con-

clusively established in a province which, a century and a

half later, was at once and finally conquered by Olive in one

decisive action.
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Destruction of It was a short time previous to the invasion

Gour, cii. 1560. Of Bengai by Akbar, that the ancient city of Gour
was depopulated and abandoned, after having existed more

than twenty centuries. It was admirably situated on the

confines of Bengal and Behar for the government of both

these provinces ; it had been the capital of a hundred kings,

by whom it was successively adorned with the most superb
edifices. It extended along the banks of the Ganges, and

was defended from the encroachments of the river by a stone

embankment, not less than fifteen miles in length. This

magnificent city, the seat of wealth and luxury, was suddenly
humbled to the dust by some pestilential disease, which has

never been satisfactorily explained. The establishments of

government were transferred, in the first instance, to Tondah,
and then to Eajmahal.

Conquest of The next important event in the reign of Akbar
Cashmere, 1587. was ^he conquest of Cashmere, by his brother-in-

law, the raja of Jeypore, when the Mahomedan king of that

province was enrolled among the nobles of the court, and this

lovely valley, the paradise of Asia, becam'e the summer retreat

of the emperors of Delhi. The attempt which Akbar was

required to make, soon after, to curb the highland tribes

around the plain of Peshawur, proved far more arduous.

These wild mountaineers, of whom the Eusufzies and the

Khyberees were the most considerable and most turbulent,

had been for ages the plague of every successive ruler of the

province. It was their hereditary belief that the fastnesses

of the mountains had been bestowed on them by the Creator,

to enable them to levy contributions on the industry of the

plains. Every form of conciliation and coercion had been

.^employed
in vain to restrain their- inroads. On this, occasion

Akbar sent an army against them, under the joint command

of his foster brother, and his great personal friend and

favourite, the Hindoo raja Beerbull. Their troops were

decoyed into the defiles and cut off, and, to the infinite regret

of the emperor, Beerbull was among the slain. So complete

i
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was the disgrace, that according to the historian of this reign,

of 40,000 horse and foot, who entered the hills, scarcely an

individual escaped. Such wholesale destruction would appear

incredible, if we had not witnessed an example of it in the

same scene in our own day. The task of subjugating them

was then committed to the rajas Toder Mull and Man Sing,

who established military posts in the hills, and cut off the

supplies of the mountaineers from the plains, and thus imposed
some restraint on then1 violence. They became, however, as

troublesome a century after, in the days of Aurungzebe, as

they had been in the time of Akbar, and it is only since the

establishment of British authority at Peshawur, that they
have felt themselves in the presence of a master.

Akbar, having no other war on his hands, pro-
Conquest of

sinde and can- cecded to annex the kingdom of Sinde to his
danar, 1591-94.

Dominions, an(j soon after reconquered the province
of Candahar. Thus, after a series of conflicts, which extended

over a period of twenty-five years, Akbar saw himself the

undisputed monarch of all his hereditary territories beyond
the Indus, and of all the principalities which had ever

belonged to the crown of Delhi, north of the Nerbudda, and

it only remained to extend his authority over the Deccan. A
brief notice of the events in that region, during the sixteenth

century, will form a suitable introduction to the Mogul expe-

dition, on which Akbar now entered.

It has been stated in a previous chapter that on
History of the

_

r
Deccan in the the decline of the Bahminy kingdom, the governors

tury'

of the different provinces threw off their allegi-

ance, and that at the period of Baber's invasion, five separate

kingdoms had been established in the Deccan, at Beejaporc,

Ahmednugur, Golconda, Beder, and Berar. Of these Beder,

the most insignificant, was gradually absorbed by its more

.. . powerful neighbours. Berar was scarcely of
The kingdoms e
of Beder and more weight in the politics of the Deccan, and was

extinguished about the year 1572 by the Nizam

Shahee ruler of Ahmednugur. The kingdom of Golconda,
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which was sometimes called Telingana, as comprising the

districts of that extinct Hindoo monarchy, was consolidated

Kingdom of ^J Koolee Eootub Shah, who claimed homage on
Goiconda. ^he ground of being lineally descended from

Japhet, the son of Noah. His reign extended over sixty

years, during which he was employed, as he delighted to say,

"in spreading the banners of the Faith, and reducing the

infidels from the borders of Telingana to Masulipatam and

Rajahmundry." Year after year he took the field against the

Hindoos, reducing their villages to ashes, and turning their

temples into mosques. Though the kings of Goiconda mixed

freely in the intrigues of the two other princes of the Deccan,

and were always ready to enter the lists against them when

plunder or territory was to be gained, their attention was more

particularly directed to the subjugation of the Hindoo districts

lying between the eastern border of their kingdom and the

Bay of Bengal.
The two states of Beeiapore and of Ahmed-

Kingdoms of
.

Eeejaporeand nugur, called the Adil Shahee, and the Nizam
inugur. gnahee? which bordered on each other, were inces-

santly engaged in mutual hostility. Within the circle of

those kingdoms was included the region inhabited by the

Mahrattas, the rise and importance of whose power is to be

attributed primarily to the perpetual warfare in which these

royal families were involved. As early as 1499, we find a

body of 5,000 Mahrattas enlisted in the service of one of

them, and throughout the sixteenth century, their armieb

were strengthened by Mahratta contingents, consisting of

five, ten, and sometimes even twenty thousand troops. Not
a few of the Mahratta families, which subsequently rose

to distinction, traced the origin of their dignity to these

appointments. There was as yet no bond of national unity

among them, and their mercenary weapons were sold to the

highest bidder, even though their own countrymen might bo

in the opposite ranks. As the object of the kings of the

Deccan was to inflict the greatest amount of havoc on their

I 2
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opponents, the aid of men who were bandits by birth and

profession, must have been invaluable.

To the south of the three Deccan kingdoms,
The Hindoo

kingdom of lay the territories of the great Hindoo monarch
Beejuynugur. o^ Beejuynugur, who exercised authority, more or

less complete, over all the Hindoo chiefs in the south.

The kings of this race had incessantly waged war with the

powerful Bahminy sovereigns, and on the extinction of their

power, were always engaged either in alliance or in war with

some one of the Deccan kings, the ally of one year being

frequently the foe of the next. The revenues of Beejuynugur,

which were said to have been enriched by the commerce of

sixty seaports, on both coasts, enabled the king to maintain a

force with which no other single state was able to cope.

Earn Raja, the reigning monarch in the middle of the sixteenth

century, had recently wrested several districts from Beejapore ;

he had also overrun Telingana, blockaded the capital, and

constrained the king to make large concessions. His growing

power gave just alarm to the Mahomedan kings of Beejapore,

Ahmednugur, Golconda, and Beder, and they resolved to

suspend their mutual jealousies and form a general con-

federacy to extinguish it. This was nothing less than a

conflict for supremacy between the Hindoo and the Mahome-
dan powers in the Deccan. Earn Eaja, then seventy years of

age, called up to his aid all his Hindoo feudatories as far as

Ceylon, and was enabled to assemble an army, consisting, on

the most moderate computation, of 70,000 horse. 90,000 foot,

2,000 elephants, and 1,000 pieces of cannon. The great and

Battle of Teiii-
decisive battle was fought on the 25th of January,

cotta, 25 Jan., 1565, at Tellicotta, about twenty miles north of

Beejuynugur, and terminated in the total defeat

and capture of the raja, and the slaughter, according to the

Mahomedan historian, of 100,000 infidels. The aged raja wan

put to death in cold blood, and his head was preserved as a,

trophy at Beejapore, and annually exhibited to the people for

two hundred years on the anniversary of his death. The
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capital was plundered of all its treasures, and gradually sunk

to insignificance. The power of the Hindoos in the Deccan

was irretrievably broken, but the confederate monarchs were

prevented from following up their victory by mutual dis-

sensions, and the brother of the raja was thus enabled to

save some portion of the territory, and to establish his court

at Penconda. The capital was subsequently transferred to

Chundergiree, which has been rendered memorable in the

history of British India as the town where, seventy-four years

after the battle of Tellicotta, the descendant of the raja

granted the English the first acre of land they ever possessed
in India, and on which they erected the town of Madras.

During the sixteenth century, the Portuguese
The Portuguese ,.,, .

during the leth made little effort to extend their conquests into

the interior of the country. They were content

with being masters of the sea, from which they swept all the

fleets of India and Arabia, and with the monopoly of the

commerce between Europe and India. There are, therefore,

few events of any consequence in their history. It was
about thirty years after they had landed at Calicut that they
determined to obtain possession of the harbour of Diu at all

hazards. A large expedition was fitted out, consisting of

400 vessels, with a force of 22,000 men, of whom 5,000 were

said to be European soldiers and sailors ; but it was defeated

by the artillery and the extraordinary talents of Koomy Khan,
the great engineer officer of the Guzerat army. Here it may
be useful to note, that the Portuguese, on their arrival in

India, found the native princes furnished with artillery fully

equal to their own,' and in some cases superior to it. The

engineers in the native armies, who came from Constantinople

and Asia Minor, and usually bore the title of Koomy, were

skilled in every branch of the science of artillery, and few

battles were fought without the aid of field guns. It was

Roomy Khan who, in 1549, cast, or constructed, the great gun
at Ahmednugur now called the Beejapore gun the calibre

of which was 28 inches and the weight 40 tons. In 1535,
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Bahadoor Shah, the king of Guzerat, was driven from his

throne by Humayoon, and took refuge at Diu, where the

Portuguese, after their repulse, had succeeded in forming an

establishment. There he entered into a treaty with them,

granting permission to erect a fortress in return for a con-

tingent of 50 European officers and 450 soldiers, with whose

aid he was enabled to reconquer his kingdom on the departure

of Humayoon. The disputes which arose regarding this

fortification, and the tragic event in which they ended, have

been already narrated. The fortress was completed in 1538,

and contributed to strengthen the power of the Portuguese,

who had now become the terror of the eastern seas through
the superiority of their naval equipments. It became, there-

fore, the interest of all the Mahomedan powers in Asia to

extirpate them, and the Grand Seigneur at Constantinople

entered into a combination with the king of Guzerat to

accomplish this object. The Turkish admiral sailed from

Suez to Diu, with a force of 7,000 men and a superb train of

artillery. A body of 20,000 men co-operated with them from

Guzerat. Sylveira, the Portuguese Commander, had only a

force of 600 men, but defended himself with such gallantly,

that the seige is one of the most remarkable transactions in

the history of the Portuguese. When, at length, forty alone of

the garrison remained fit for duty, and there was no prospect

before them but an unconditional surrender, the Mahomedans,
exhausted by this long and fruitless seige, drew off their

troops, and Diu was saved.

Combined
^ne greatest event of this century, however,

attack on Goa, was the seige of Goa, in 1570. The kings of

^esfs^fue-
11"

Beejapore and of Ahmednugur formed a coalition

inents, 1570. w^h the Zamorin of Calicut to expel the Portu-

guese from the coasts of India, each of the confederates

engaging to attack the settlements contiguous to his domi-

nions. Ali Adil came down upon Goa, with a force of 100,000

infantry, 35,000 cavalry, and 350 pieces of cannon ; Don Luis,

the governor, was able only to muster 1,600 men, including
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the monks ; but he obliged the king to raise the seige with

ignominy, after ten months had been wasted, and 12,000 of

Iris troops slain. Mortiza Nizam Shah of Ahmednugur,
descended the ghauts with an army scarcely less numerous,

composed of natives of Turkey, Persia, Khorasan, and Ethio-

pia, and attacked the port of Ghoul, in the neighbourhood of

Bombay, but he was repulsed at all points, and 3,000 of his

troops perished in the assault. The Zamorin, at the same

time, laid seige to the port of Chale, but it was rescued from

danger by the timely arrival of reinforcements from Goa.

The Portuguese, having thus repulsed the most formidable

attempt made on their settlements since they became a power
in India, constrained the discomfited princes to sue for peace,

and retained their supremacy in the Indian ocean, and on the

coasts of India to the close of the century, when they had

to encounter the rivalry of the new power introduced by the

Dutch, to which they were obliged eventually to succumb.

., , . Akbar, having consolidated his empire to the
Akbar s views r

on the Deccan, north of the Nerbudda, resolved to conquer the

Deccan. There can be little doubt that this

movement was dictated simply by the "lust of territorial

aggrandisement," and that it is open to ah
1

the censure which

English historians have bestowed on it. Yet aggression had

been the normal principle of every government, since the

Mahomedans " turned their face to India," in the year 1000 ;

perhaps even long before that period ; and if the enterprise of

Akbar had been crowned with success, it would doubtless

have been an incomparable benefit to India.

It is difficult to imagine a more deplorable condition than

that of the unhappy provinces of the Deccan during the

whole of the sixteenth century. The kings seem to have

had no occupation but war. Scarcely a year passed in which

the villages were not subjected to rapine, and the fair fruits

of industry blasted by their wanton irruptions. No govern-

ment, however tyrannical, could have inflicted anything like

tlic wretchedness occasioned by these unceasing devastations.
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So inestimable is the blessing conferred by a strong govern-
ment in India, in putting down intestine war, and giving

repose and confidence to the people, that it appears mere

affectation to inquire into the origin of its rights, which, in

nine cases out of ten, will be found to be as valid as those

of the power it subverts.

Akbar enters On the death of Boorhan Nizam Shah, the king
the Ahmed

Qf Ahmednugur, in 1595 four rival factions arose
nugur stdtG,

1595. in the state, the most powerful of which called in

the aid of the Moguls. Akbar, who had long been watching
an opportunity of interfering in the affairs of the Deccan,

readily accepted the overture, and lost no time in sending
forward two armies. But before they could reach the capital,

another revolution had placed the power of the state in the

hands of Chand Sultana. She was a princess of Ahmednugur,
who had been bestowed in marriage in 1564 on Ah' Adil Shah

of Beejapore, to bind him to the alliance then formed by the

Mahomedan kings against the raja of Beejuynugur. On his

death she returned to her native country, and now assumed

the regency on behalf of her nephew, Bahadoor Nizam Shah.

This celebrated woman, the favourite heroine
The celebrated

Chand Sultana, of the Deccan, the subject of a hundred ballads,

determined to defend the city to the last extremity,

and persuaded the rival factions to merge their differences iut

a combined effort against the common foe. The Moguls had

constructed three mines, two of which she countermined ; the

third blew up, carrying away a portion of the wall, and many
of her principal officers prepared to desert the defence. The

Sultana flew to the spot in full armour, with a veil over her

countenance, and a drawn sword in her hand, and recalled the

troops to a sense of their duty. Combustibles of every de-

scription were thrown into the breach, and so heavy a fire

was directed against it, that the besiegers were constrained

to retire. During the night she superintended in person the

repairs of the wall. It is a popular and favourite tradition,

that when the shot was. exhausted, she loaded the guns with
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copper, then with silver, and then with gold, and did not

pause till she had begun to fire away her jewels. The allies

whom she had importuned to aid her, were now approaching ;

the Mogul camp began to be straitened for provisions, and

prince Morad, the son of Akbar, who commanded the army,
offered to retire on obtaining the cession of the

She cedes Berar

to the Moguls, province of Berar. Chand, having little confi-

dence in the fidelity of her troops or of her allies,

was constrained to accede to these terms.

Battle of sone- Within a year of this convention, the kings of

put, Jan., 1597.
Beejapore, Ahmednugur, and Golconda formed

an alliance to drive the Moguls back across the Nerbudda,

and brought an army of 60,000 men into the field. An action

was fought at Soneput, which lasted two days, without any
decisive result, though both parties claimed the victory.

Dissensions at length broke out among the officers of the

Mogul army, and Akbar, who had resided for fourteen years
in the countries bordering on the Indus, felt the necessity of

proceeding in person to the Deccan. On reaching Boorhan-

pore he sent an army to lay seige again to Ahmednugur.
The government of the Sultana, which she had maintained

with great difficulty, was now distracted by factions, and

feeling the city to be incapable of defence, she endeavoured

to make the best terms in her power with the Moguls. The

populace, inflamed by her enemies, rushed into her chamber

and put her to death. But they soon had reason to deplore

their ingratitude. The Mogul army stormed and plundered

the city, giving no quarter to the defenders, and the young

king and his family were sent as state prisoners to Gwalior.

The fall of the capital did not, however, ensure
Capture of Ah- r

mednugur, the submission of the kingdom, and it was not
July, i6(

incorporated with the Mogul dominions till thirty-

seven years after this period. Soon after, Akbar deprived his

vassal, the king of Candesh, of all authority, and that kingdom
was re-annexed to the Mogul empire.
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This was the last event of importance in the
Last four years .

of Akbar-s reign, reign of Akbtff, who returned to the capital in
iGoi-1606.

by
the misconduct of his son Selirn, then thirty years of age, a

prince not altogether destitute of that talent, which for a

century and a half distinguished the family of Baber, both in

the cabinet and in the field, but violent and vindictive, and

the slave of wine. The emperor had declared him heir to the

throne, but he was so impatient to occupy it, as to take up
arms against his father, which, however, he was induced to

lay down by a fond and paternal letter, and a grant of the

provinces of Bengal and Orissa. He had contracted an in-

veterate hatred of Abul Fazil, one of the most illustrious

officers of Akbar's camp, and, after the death of raja Beerbull,

his most intimate friend. Prince Selim caused him to be

assassinated by a zemindar of Bundlecund. Abul Fazil was

equally eminent as a general, a statesman, and a historian ;

and Akbar is indebted for his renown in no small degree to

the pen of his noble historian.

Akbar's death, Iu September, 1605, Akbar began to feel the
isth oct, 1605.

approach of death. The profligacy of Selim had

induced an influential body of courtiers, among whom was raja

Man Sing, to contemplate the elevation of his son Khusro, a

minor, to the throne ; but Akbar nipped the project in the

bud. He summoned his courtiers and his son around his

couch, and ordered the prince to bind his favourite scymetar
to his side as a token that the empire had been bequeathed to

him, and recommended his personal friends and the ladies of

the harem to Ins protection. Then, addressing the omrahs

around him, he asked forgiveness for any offence he might
have given them; a priest was soon after introduced, and

Akbar repeated the confession of faith, and died in the odour

of Mahomedan sanctity, though he had lived the life of a

heretic.

Akbar was not only the ornament of the Mogul dynasty
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r-s charac- but incomparably the greatest of all the Malio-

institutions. medan rulers of India. Few princes ever exhibited

greater military genius or personal courage. He never fought
a battle which he did not win, or besieged a town which he did

not take ; yet he had no passion for war, and as soon as he

had turned the tide of victory by his skill and energy, he

was happy to leave his generals to complete the work, and to

hasten back to the more agreeable labours of the cabinet.

The glories of his reign rest not so much on the extent of his

conquests, though achieved by his personal talent, as on the

admirable institutions by which his empire was consolidated.

. The superiority of his civil administration was owing not to his

own genius alone, but also to the able statesmen whom, like

Queen Elizabeth, he had the wisdom to collect around him.

In the early period of his career he was a devout
ITis religious

' r

Tiews and his follower of the Prophet, and was at one time bent

on a pilgrimage to his tomb, the aspiration of every
Mahomedan

; but about the twenty-fifth year of his reign lie

began to entertain sentiments incompatible with fidelity to

the Koran. He professed to reject all prophets, priests, and

ceremonies, and to take simple reason as the guide of his

thoughts and the rule of his actions. The first article of his

creed was,
" There is no God but one, and Akbar is his pro-

phet." Whether he ever intended to become the founder of

a new creed may admit of controversy ; but ah1

his measures

tended to discourage the religion of the Prophet. He changed
the era of the Hejira ;

he restrained the study of Arabic and of

Mahomedan theology ; and he wounded the dearest prejudices

of the faithful by proscribing the beard. Nothing but the

ascendancy of his character, and -his dazzling success in war

and in peace, could have preserved the throne amidst the dis-

contents produced among his own chiefs by these heterodox

measures. Among a people with whom persecution was

considered the most sacred of duties, Akbar adopted the prin-

ciple not only of religious toleration, but, what has been found a

more difficult task even in the most enlightened Christian com-
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munities, of religious equality. He formed the magnanimous
resolution of resting the strength of his throne on the attach-

ment of all his subjects, whether they belonged to the esta-

blished religion of the state or not. He disarmed the hostility

and secured the loyalty of the Hindoos by allowing them to

share the highest civil offices and military commands with

the Mahomedans, and thus placed himself a century ahead of

the Stuarts in England. He abolished the odious jezzia, or

capitation tax ;
he issued an edict permitting Hindoo widows

to marry ;
he discouraged suttees to the full extent of his

power, and he abolished the practice of reducing captives to

slavery.

His revenue Under the supervision of the great financier

reforms. of fae age, the raja Toder Mull, Akbar radically

remodelled the revenue system of the empire He caused all

the lands to be measured according to a uniform standard, and

with the most perfect instruments procurable. He divided

them, according to their character and fertih'ty, into three

classes, and fixed the demand of the state generally at one-

third the annual produce, and then commuted it to a money

payment. He abolished all arbitrary cesses, and made the

settlement for ten years, and with the cultivators themselves,

to the exclusion of all middlemen. It is questionable there-

fore whether, during his reign, there were any zemindars in

India at all, and whether those who afterwards assumed their

prerogatives were, at this period, and for more than a century

after, anything beyond mere officials employed in collecting-

the public dues.

Division of the The whole empire was divided into fifteen pro-
empire,

vinces, or soubahs: Cabul, beyond the Indus;

Lahore, Mooltan, Delhi, Agra, Oude, Allahabad, Ajmere,

Guzerat, Malwa, Behar, and Bengal ; and south of the

Nerbudda, Candesh, Berar, and Ahmednugur. Each province

was placed under a soobadar, who was entrusted with full

powers, civil and military, and assisted by a dewan, or minis-

ter of finance, who, though nominated by the emperor, was
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accountable to the soobadar. The military duties of each

province were entrusted to a fouzdar, who also commanded
the police force, and was responsible for the peace of the

country. Civil law was administered by a Mahomedan chief

justice, assisted by local judges, and the decisions were inva-

riably in accordance with the precepts of Mahomedan law.

His military The military system of Akbar was the least

ecoiy^f ST Perfect of ali nis arrangements, and his extraordi-

court. nary success is to be attributed more to the weak-

ness of his opponents than to the superiority of his own

army. He perpetuated the great military error of paying the

commanders for their soldiers by the head, which created an

irresistible temptation to make false musters, and to fill the

ranks with ragamuffins. The same organization which per-

vaded, the various offices of state was carried into all the

establishments of his court, down to the department of the

fruits and the flowers, the perfumery, the kitchen, and the

kennel, which were regulated to the minutest details under

the personal directions of the emperor. Every establishment

was maintained upon a scale of imperial magnificence. He
never had fewer than 12,000 horses and 5,000 elephants in his

own stables, independently of those required for hawking, and

hunting, and war. During his progress through the provinces

his camp was a great moving city, and the eye was dazzled

by the sight of the royal tents surmounted with gilt cupolas,

and enriched with the most gorgeous ornaments.

CHAPTER V.

JEHANGEER AND SHAH JEHAN, 1605 1658.

ON the death of Akbar, Prince Selim quietly
Jchan^eer as-

cends the throne, stepped into the throne, at the age of thirty-

seven, and adopted the title of Jehangeer, the

conqueror of the world. The great empire to which he sue-
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ceeded was in a state of profound tranquillity, and there was

no spfrit of insubordination among the military or civil chiefs.

His proceedings on his accession served not only to calm the

fears which his previous misconduct had excited, but even io

win him the esteem of his subjects. He confirmed his father's

ministers in their posts, abolished some vexatious taxes, and,

though strongly addicted to wine himself, prohibited the use

of it, and endeavoured to control the indulgence in opium.

He replaced the Mahomedan creed on the coin, and mani-

fested a more superstitious attention to the precepts of the

Prophet than his father had done. At the same time he

courted popularity by affording easy access to the complaints

of his people. But a subject of disquietude soon arose.

His son Khusro had become the object of his
Rebellion of his

.

J

sonKhuuro, detestation by the effort made during the last

days of Akbar's life to place him on the throne by
some of the leading courtiers, and the youth now fled to the

Punjab, where he collected a body of 10,000 men. He was

promptly pursued and captured, and the emperor exhibited

the brutality of his nature by causing seven hundred of his

adherents to be impaled alive, while the wretched Khusro

was carried along the line to witness their agony.
The event which exercised the greatest influ-

Parentage and

marriage of encc on the conduct of Jehangecr for sixteen
twn"

years was his marriage with the celebrated Noor

Jehan. She was descended from a noble Persian family of

Teheran, but her father, having been reduced to poverty,

determined to follow the prevailing current of emigration, and

proceed to India to repair his fortunes. During the journey,
his wife gave birth to a daughter under the most calamitous

circumstances, though they were subsequently embellished

with all the romance of poetry when she became the Queen
of the East, and was in a position to reward the pens of poets.

A merchant who happened to be travelling on the same route

afforded assistance to the family in their exigency, and, on

reaching the capital, took the father into his own employ, and,
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perceiving his abilities, introduced him to the service of

Akbar, in which he gradually rose to eminence. His daughter,

Noor Jehan, received all the accomplishments of education

which the capital of India could afford, and grew up into a

woman of the most exquisite beauty. In the harem of Akbar>
which she occasionally visited with her mother, she attracted

the attention of the prince Selim, who became deeply ena-

moured of her. But she had been already betrothed to a

Turkoman of the noblest descent, who had acquired the title

of Shere Afgun, from having killed a lion singlehanded. He
had served with renown in the wars of Persia and India, and

was distinguished no less by his gigantic strength than by
his personal valour. Akbar refused to annul the nuptial

engagement, even in favour of his own son, and, in the hope
that absence would allay the passion of the prince, appointed

Shere to a jaygeer in the remote district of Burdwan.

But Jehangeer had no sooner mounted the
Noor Jehan
raised to the throne than he determined to remove every ob-

one, 1611.
gtacie to the gratification of his wishes, and Shere

perished in a scuffle, which was not believed to be accidental.

His lovely widow was conveyed to Delhi, when Jehangeer
offered to share his throne with her; but she rejected tho

offer with disdain, and was consigned to the neglect of the

harem, where she had leisure for reflection and repentance.

Anxious to regain Jehangeer's attachment, she contrived to

throw herself in his way, and her youth and beauty did not

fail to rekindle his former passion. Their marriage was cele-

brated with extraordinary pomp, and she was clothed with

honours greater than any Sultana had ever enjoyed before.

The emperor went so far as to associate her name with his

own on the coin,- in these graceful terms: "By order of the

emperor Jehangeer, gold acquired a hundred times additional

value by the name of the empress Noor Jehan" the light

of the world. Her talent for business was not less remark-

able than her personal charms, and her influence was beneficial

to the interests of the state. She softened the natural cruelty
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of the emperor's disposition, and constrained him to appear

sober at the durbar, however he might indemnify himself for

this restraint in the evening. Her taste imparted grace to the

splendour of the court, at the same time that she curtailed

its extravagance. Her brother, Asof Khan, was raised to a

post of high dignity, and her father, who was placed at the

head of affairs, proved to be one of the ablest of viziers.

Malik Amber
^^ c^v ^ Ahmednugur, as previously stated,was

ana the state of captured byAkbar, on the murder of Chand Sultana,

in 1600, and the royal family was consigned to the

fortress of Gwalior ; but the kingdom was not subdued, though
Akbar designated it as one of the soobahs of his empire.

Malik Amber, the chief of the Abyssinian nobles of the

court, assumed the control of public affairs, and placed a

kinsman of the late king on the throne. He attacked the

Mogul forces with vigour, and erected the national standard on

what had been regarded the impregnable rock of Dowlutabad;
he founded a new capital at the foot of it, at Kirkee, and

adorned it with many splendid buildings. Malik Amber stands

foremost in the history of the Deccan as a statesman of sur-

passing genius, who maintained the sinking fortunes of the

Ahmednugur dynasty for twenty years with the greatest

energy. Planting himself on the borders of the Deccan, he

continued to repel the encroachments of the Moguls, and

repeatedly drove their armies back to Boorhanpore. He
availed himself to so great an extent of the services of the

Mahratta chieftains, that he may be said to have cradled

their power ; more especially was it under his banner that

Shahjee, the father of Sevajee, laid the foundation of his

greatness. With a natural genius for war, he was still

more remarkable for the assiduity with which he cultivated

the arts of peace ; and it is the revenue settlement he brought
to perfection which has given lasting celebrity to his name.

He was the Toder Mull of the Deccan.

jciiangeerat- in the year 1612 Jehangeer resolved to re-
tacks Amber, .

*

K12. cover the footing which the Moguls had lost
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in the Deccan, and two armies, the first commanded by
Abdoolla Khan, were sent against Malik Amber. But he

avoided a general engagement, while his light Deccanee

horse hovered on the flanks and rear of his enemy, cut off

his communications and supplies, and harassed him by night
and by day so inexorably as to oblige him to sound a retreat,

which the Abyssinian soon converted into a disgraceful

flight. The second army met the Ahmednugur troops in the

flush of victory, and wisely retraced its steps across the

Nerbudda.

Subjugation of These disappointments were balanced by success

-oodypore, 1614-
against Oodypore. It has been already stated

that Oody Sing, the feeble rana of Chittore, the founder of

the town of Oodypore, wa,s obliged by the generals of Akbar

to seek refuge in the hills. He was succeeded by his son,

Pertap Sing, who is still idolized by his countrymen for the

heroism with which he repelled the attacks of the Moguls,
and preserved the germ of national independence in his wild

fastnesses. Although the Rajpoot rajas of Jeypore and

Marwar were ranged against him, he succeeded in recovering
the greater portion of his hereditary dominions before the

death of Akbar. His son Omrah, equally valiant, but less

fortunate, after having repeatedly defeated the Mogul troops,

was, in the year 1614, attacked by Shah Jehan, the gallant

and favourite son of the emperor, and compelled to acknowledge

fealty to the throne of Delhi. That generous prince, himself,

on the mother's side, of Rajpoot blood, restored the territories

of the fallen prince, but only as the vassal of the emperor, at

whose court, however, he was assigned the highest post of

honour. Thus was the independence of the family of the

great ranas of Chittore, which had been maintained for eight

hundred years, at once extinguished.

ofs
- The tenth year of the reign of Jehangeerwas ren-

Thomas BOB, dered memorable by the arrival of Sir Thomas Roe,

as ambassador from James, the king of England,
to solicit privileges for the East India Company, then recently

K
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established. He landed at Surat, and proceeded by slow

journeys to the court, then held at Ajmere, where he was
received with greater distinction than had been conferred on

any foreign envoy. Of the result of his embassy we shall

have occasion to speak hereafter ; here it may be sufficient

to state, that he was fascinated by the oriental magnificence
of the court, which so completely eclipsed the tinsel pomp of

that of his own master. He was dazzled with the profusion

of gold and jewels on every side, and, not least, with those

which adorned the foreheads of the royal elephants. But he

perceived little comfort among the subjects of the empire,

who were ground down by the extortions of the public ser-

vants of every grade. The emperor dispensed justice daily in

person ;
but he retired in the evening to his cups, which he

never left while there was any reason left in him. He was
maudlin and easy, and his courtiers were universally corrupt

and unprincipled. Military discipline had decayed after the

death of Akbar, and the only good soldiers in the army were

the Eajpoots and the Afghans. There was a large influx of

Europeans at the capital, and so greatly was Christianity

encouraged, that one of the emperor's nephews had embraced

it, and the Emperor himself had an image of Christ and the

Virgin in his rosary.

Second cam- The attention of Jehangeer was now called to

^
1

f
a

.

gai
.

nst
the state of affairs in the Deccan, and he marched

Malik Amber,
March, 1617. down to Mandoo to superintend the war, which

he entrusted to the command of Shah Jehan, at the same time

declaring him the heir of the throne. The prosperity of

Malik Amber had created a feeling of envy at the Ahmed-

nugur court, and alienated many of his confederates. On

the approach of Shah Jehan, he was still further weakened

by the defection of the king of Beejapore, and was obliged

to enter into negotiations, and cede the fortress of Ahmed-

nugur, together with all the conquests he had made from

the Moguls. But within four years he renewed the war, and

succeeded in driving the imperial forces across the Taptee.
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Shah Jehan was again selected by his father to command the

army ; but he accepted the charge only on condition that his

brother Khusro should accompany him. Before he reached

the province of Malwa, Malik Amber had crossed the Ner-

budda and burned down the suburbs of Maudoo. But success

still attended the arms of Shah Jehan. He contrived to cor-

rupt the principal Mahratta chiefs in the army of Malik

Amber some of them by the most extravagant offers and

that general, deserted by his own officers, suffered a defeat,

and was obliged to purchase peace in 1621, by a large sacri-

fice of treasure and territory.

Death ofKhusro, Just at this juncture Khusro died, and themis-

N
l

o

d

o?j!S
80f

fortunes of Shah Jehan began. Noor Jehan had
1621. bestowed her daughter by Shere Afgun on Shariar,

the youngest of the emperor's sons, and determined to raise

him to the throne, in the hope of perpetuating that unbounded

influence which she had enjoyed under Jehangeer. Her father,

the vizier, whose virtue and wisdom had maintained order in

the empire, notwithstanding the dissoluteness of the Court,

had recently died, and the salutary restraint of his authority

being removed, she was at liberty to indulge her passions

without control. The Persians had recently reconquered

Candahar, and, in the hope of removing Shah Jehan out of

her way, she persuaded Jehangeer to employ his great military

talents hi regaining it. Shah Jehan was alive to the danger
of quitting India, and began to stipulate for securities.

His demands were regarded as treasonable j all his jaygeers
and estates were sequestered, and he was driven into rebellion

by the force of circumstances.

Mohabet hunts To meet this difficulty, Mohabet, the ablest

torough^e general in the emperor's service, was drawn from

country, 1623. his government of Cabul, and directed to march

against Shah Jehan. A partial and indecisive action took

place in Rajpootana, and the prince unwisely determined to

retire to the Deccan. This retrograde movement was attended,

as might have been expected, with the most fatal couse-
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quences. Malik Amber and the kings of Beejapore and

Golconda refused him any assistance ; his own troops began
to desert, and he was obliged to retreat to Telingana. On

reaching Masulipatam he marched along the coast to Bengal,

took possession of that province and of Behar, and advanced

to Allahabad. Mohabet, who was lying at Boorhanpore, on

hearing of his sudden appearance on the Ganges, hastened to

encounter him
;
his raw levies were speedily dispersed, and

he fled a second time to the Deccan. Malik Amber was now
at issue with the emperor, and made common cause with his

fugitive son, and they advanced together to the siege of

that city. But Mohabet pursued the prince with such

energy that he was fam to seek reconciliation with his father,

which, however, was not granted but on the hard condition

of surrendering all his forts, and giving two of his sons as

hostages.

Jehan A new scene now opens in this eventful drama.
*

Mohabet, the greatest subject of the empire, and
1625. the prime favourite of the emperor, had acquired

additional importance by his brilliant success; but as he

manifested no disposition to second Noor Jehan's views re-

garding the succession of Shariar, her confidence was

capriciously converted into hatred, and she resolved on his

ruin. Jehangeer was at this tune on his way to Cabul. A
charge of embezzlement during his recent campaign was

trumped up against Mohabet, and he was summoned to the

court to answer it. He came, but with a body of 5,000 Rajpoots
who were devoted to his service. He had recently betrothed

his daughter to a young noble without obtaining the usual

consent of the emperor. Jehangeer, on hearing of the cir-

cumstance, ordered the youth into his presence, and hi a fit

of brutal rage directed him to be stripped naked and whipped
with thorns in the presence of the court, and confiscated all

his estates. When Mohabet approached the royal encamp-
ment he was refused admission. He could not fail to perceive
that his ruin was determined on, and he resolved to strike
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. v . . the first blow. The following
1

morning the armyMohabet seizes ;
the Emperor, crossed the Hydaspes, and Jehangeer, who had

not recovered from the debauch of the previous

night, remained behind with a slender guard. Mohabet pro-

ceeded to the emperor's tent and seized his person. Jehan-

.geer was frantic at this indignity, but seeing himself abso-

lutely in the power of his general, was persuaded to mount

an elephant, with his goblet and his cup-bearer, and proceed
to Mohabet's tent.

Noor Jehan crossed the bridge in disguise and
Noor Jehan

fights for his joined the imperial army, and the next morning
cue, 1626.

proceeded to the rescue of her husband. The

bridge having been destroyed during the night by the Raj-

poots, she advanced at the head of the troops to a ford which

had been discovered, mounted on a lofty elephant, with a bow
and two quivers. The struggle was long and deadly. She

endeavoured to animate the soldiers by her exertions, but

they were driven into the stream by the shower of balls,

rockets, and arrows which the Rajpoots poured into the files

massed on the narrow ford. Noor Jehan's elephant reached

the opposite bank, but was assailed with redoubled fury ; her

guards were cut down, and among the hundred missiles aimed

at her one struck the infant son of her daughter whom she

carried in her lap. The elephant driver was killed, the

animal was wounded, and carried down the stream in

endeavouring to recross it, and the life of the empress was
in imminent danger. When her female attendants came

shrieking to the spot, they found the howda, or seat, covered

with blood, and the empress employed in extracting the

arrow and binding up the wound of the infant.

Noor Jehan After this vain attempt at a rescue the empress
feigns recondii-

yielded to necessity, and joined Jehangeer, who
peror-'s release, continued a captive in the hands of his revolted

subject, but was treated with the greatest respect.

Mohabet, now in full command of the army, crossed the Indus,

and encamped at Cabul. There, her fertile genius, by a
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series of skilful manoeuvres, contrived gradually to turn the

tables on him; he saw that his positionwas becoming daily more

insecure, and made offers for a reconciliation. Noor Jehan

condoned his revolt on condition that he should proceed in

pursuit of her other enemy, Shah Jehan. That prince, after

making his submission to the emperor, had fled to Sinde,

intending to seek an asylum in Persia, but he was still a for-

midable obstacle to her views. But when his prospects were

at the lowest ebb they began to brighten. Mohabet, dreading
a reign of weakness and violence if Shariar succeeded to the

throne through the influence of Noor Jehan, resolved to assist

the efforts of Shah Jehan, and, instead of proceeding to attack

him, joined him with the troops yet remaining under his

standard,

The empress on hearing of this defection ordered him to

be hunted through the empire, and set a price on his head.

But her power was at once annihilated by the death of

Death and Jehangcer, whose constitution was completely

jehl^geerf
exhausted by a life of indulgence, and who ex-

1627. pired at Lahore on the 28th of October, 1627, in

the sixtieth year of his age. He was contemporary with

James the First of England. Not only was their reign of

the same duration, but there was a remarkable accordance in

their characters. They were both equally weak and con-

temptible, both the slaves of favourites and of drink, and, by
a singular coincidence, they both launched a royal decree

against the use of tobacco, then recently introduced into

England and India, and, in both cases, with the same degree
of success.

... On the death of Jehangeer, Asof Khan, the
Accession of

shah Jehan, brother of Noor Jehan, and one of the chief

ministers, determined to support the claims of

Shah Jehan on the same ground which had influenced the

decision of Mohabet. He despatched a messenger to summon
him from the Deccan, and at the same time placed the empress

dowager under restraint. Her influence expired with the



V.] StATE OF THE bECCAN. 135

death of her husband, and she retired from the world with an

annuity of twenty-five lacs of rupees a-year, and passed the

remaining years of her life in cherishing his memory. Shariar,

who was at Lahore, was attacked and defeated by Asof Khan,
and put to death by order of Shah Jehan. That prince lost no

,

time in coming up from the Deccan, in company with
'

passion for Mohabet Khan, on whom, as well as on Azof
magnificence, j^ ^ instruments of nis elevation, he be-

I

stowed the highest dignities. He was proclaimed emperor, at

Agra, early in 1628, and began his reign by indulging that pas-

sion for magnificence in which he eclipsed all his predecessors.

The anniversary of his accession was commemorated by a dis*

play of incredible extravagance. A suite of tents was manu-

factured of the finest Cashmere shawls, which, in the figu-

rative language of his biographer, it required two months to

pitch. In conformity with the usage of the ancient Hindoo

sovereigns he was weighed against silver, and gold, and

jewels, which were then lavished among the courtiers.

Vessels filled with gems were waved over his head and

emptied on the floor for a general scramble. The expense of

this festival was computed at a crore and a half of rupees.

Condition of The first eight years of the reign of Shah Jehan

dora^the^" were occupied with military operations hi the

Deccan. Deccan. Thirty years had now elapsed since

Akbar crossed the Nerbudda, and overran the kingdom of

Ahmednugur, on which occasion he added to his titles that of

king of the Deccan. The genius of Malik Amber had, however,
succeeded in restoring the independence of the kingdom, to-

gether with much of its ancient power; but he had recently died,

at the age of eighty. The king of Beejapore, Ibrahim Adil

Shah, renowned for the grandeur of his edifices, had died about

the same time, bequeathing a full treasury and an army of

200,000 men to his successor. The king of Golconda was

engaged in extending his authority over his Hindoo neigh-

bours to the east and south. Of all the acquisitions made by
Akbar south of the Nerbudda, there remained to the crown of



136 EEVOLT OF JEHAN LODI. [CHAP.

Delhi only the eastern half of Candesh, and the adjoining por-

tion of Berar.

The war in the Deccan on which Shah Jehan

Deccan occa- now entered, and which continued for eight years,

was occasioned by the revolt of Jehan Lodi. He
Lodi, was an Afghan of ignoble birth, but great ability

and arrogance, who had raised himself to eminence

in the Mogul army, and obtained the office of governor of

the Deccan, from which post he was removed to Malwa under

the new reign. He was invited to court, and treated appa-

rently with great distinction ; but, having imbibed a suspicion

that the emperor, to whom he was personally odious, had a

design on his life, he quitted the capital abruptly with the

troops which had accompanied him. He was immediately

pursued, and overtaken on the banks of the Chumbul ; and it

was only with extreme difficulty that he was able to elude

pursuit and reach the Deccan ; but, having once reached it, he

was joined by numerous adherents, and supported by the

king of Ahmednugur. The emperor considered the revolt so

serious as to order three armies, each consisting of 50,000

men, into the field, and even to proceed to the Deccan in person.

Jehan Lodi was driven out of Ahmednugur by the Mogul

force, and sought the aid of the king of Beejapore, which was

peremptorily refused him. His friend, Shahjee, the Mahratta

chieftain, considering his cause desperate, abandoned it, and

joined the Moguls ; for which act of treachery he was

rewarded with a title of nobility. Meanwhile his allies, the

Ahmednugur troops, were defeated by the Moguls at Dow-

lutabad; and Jehan. Lodi, overwhelmed by the defection of

his friends and the discomfiture of his allies, fled northward, in

the hope of reaching Afghanistan, and rousing his country-

men
; but he wap brought to bay on the borders of Bundle-

kund, and, after performing prodigies of valour with the small

body of 400 men who still adhered to his fallen fortunes,

was struck dead by a Rajpoot, and his head sent as aii accept-
able offering to Shah Jehan.
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The war with Ahmednugur did not, however.
Termination of . .

the war in the cease with the cause of it. The king, Mortiza
Deccan.

Nizam, had fallen out with his minister, Futeh

Khan, the son and successor of Malik Amber, and thrown

him into prison ; but, having experienced nothing but mortifi-

cation in his struggle with the Moguls, released him, and

restored him to power. The Abyssinian rewarded the kind-

ness of his master by causing him and his adherents to be

assassinated
; and, having placed an infanton the vacant throne,

offered his submission to the emperor. Meanwhile, the king

of Beejapore, alarmed at the progress of the Mogul arms, deter-

mined to make common cause with Ahmednugur, and thus

brought down the imperial armies on his own territories. It

would be wearisome to go into a detail of all the intrigues, the

treachery, and the vicissitudes which form the history of this

period of five years. Suffice it to record that the war with

Beejapore was conducted with varied fortunes ; that the king
baffled the Mogul generals by creating a desert for twenty
miles around his capital, and depriving their armies of food,

forage, and water ; and that both parties, becoming at length

weary of this war of fruitless desolation, listened to terms of

accommodation. The result of this conflict of eight years

may be thus summed up : the kingdom of Ahmednugur was

entirely extinguished, after it had flourished a century and a

half ; a portion of its territory was ceded to Beejapore for a

tribute of twenty lacs of rupees a year, and the remainder

absorbed in the Mogul dominions ; while the king of Golconda,

overawed by the neighbourhood of the Mogul army, consented

to pay an annual subsidy.

The Portuguese
We tum now to Ben al - At what period the

power in Bengal Portuguese formed their first establishment in that

province is not accurately known ;
but in the year

1537, the king, Mahmood, when pressed, as we have already

stated, by the famous Shere Shah, invoked the aid of the Portu-

guese governor on the Malabar coast, and Samprayo, his admiral,

entered the Ganges with nine vessels. Though they arrived
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too late to afford him assistance, it is supposed that they formed

a settlement in the neighbourhood of the great port of Satgong,
at a place called Golin, or Gola, the granary, afterwards cor-

rupted to Hooghly, where they continued to flourish for a hun-

dred years. Towards the close of the century they appear to

have formed another and larger settlement atChittagong, where

Gonzales is said to have held the district around it in subjec-

tion with the help of a thousand Europeans, two thousand

natives, and eighty ships. So formidable was his power, that

the Mogul viceroy made Dacca the seat of his government, in

order more effectually to check his progress. With the com-

mand of the only two ports of the Gangetic valley, the power
of the Portuguese in Bengal during the sixteenth century
must have been an object of no little alarm to the Mogul
authorities.

Hoogwy. At Hooghly they had fortified their factory, and

obtained the complete control of the commerce of the river,

and the prosperity of Satgong began to wane under this rivalry.

At the time when Shah Jehan, flying before Mohabet, in 1624,

advanced from Masulipatam to Bengal, he besought the

Portuguese chief at Hooghly, Michael Rodrigues, to assist

him with some guns and artillerymen, but, as the governor had

no confidence in the success of that rash enterprise, the

request was refused. Six years afterwards .when Shah

Jehan had become emperor, a representation was made by
the soobadar of Bengal that some European idolaters, who
had been allowed to establish a factory in Bengal, had erected

a fort and mounted it with cannon, and grown insolent and

oppressive. Shah Jehan had not forgotten the repulse he

received from Rodrigues at Hooghly in his adversity, and

curtly replied, "Let the idolaters be immediately expelled

from my dominions."

capture of The viceroy lost no time in investing Hooghly,
Hooghly, 1632. an<j

?
fin(jing ^^ jt coui(j not fa carried by storm,

undermined the defences. The great bastion was blown up ;

the Moguls rushed with fury into the breach, and slaughtered
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more than a thousand Portuguese, Of three hundred vessels

then in the river, it is stated that only three escaped. More

than four thousand were made prisoners ; the priests were

forwarded to Delhi, and the most beautiful of the women re-

served for the royal seraglio ; the churches and images were

demolished. By this blow, the power of the Portuguese in

Bengal was irretrievably broken ; and no vestige now remains

of their former influence, save thefew vocables theycontributed

to the language of the country, and the old church at Bandel,

within sight of Hooghly, erected two centuries and a half ago.

The Mogul viceroy directed that it should thenceforth be made
the royal port of Bengal j

all the public records and offices

were removed to it from Satgong, and that city, which may
be traced back to the days of the Caesars, sunk into a little

paper making hamlet.

Acquisition of In the year 1637 the emperor was gladdened

^fSSl by the unexpected recovery of Candahar, which

His canal. had been so often lost and gained by the family

of Baber Ali Merdan, the governor under the Persians, was

driven into rebellion by the tyrannical proceedings of his

sovereign, and made over the town and territory to the

Moguls; after which he sought a refuge at the court of

Delhi. He was received, as may well be supposed, with

great honour by Shah Jehan, and subsequently employed in

many military expeditions beyond the Indus. But his fame

has been perpetuated in India by the great public works

which he executed, and more especially by the canal, near

Delhi, distinguished by his name, which has proved an incal-

culable blessing to the country it irrigates.

Military opera-
^ notary operations which were undertaken

tiona beyond the beyond the Indus, can scarcely be said to belong
Indus 1644-47. , ,, , . , . T ,. m, P ,,

to the history of India. The emperors of the

house of Baber retained the same ardent interest in all the

political movements of the region from which they sprung, as

the first and second George took in the fortunes of Hanover.

India was, therefore, drained of men and money for the con-
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quest or defence of those distant, and, as compared with

India, unprofitable possessions The son of the Uzbek ruler

of Balkh had revolted against his father; the government
was thrown into confusion, and Shah Jehan, who had enjoyed
seven years of repose, could not resist the temptation of again

prosecuting the dormant rights of his family on that remote

province. Ali Merdan was sent across the Indus with a large

army, and ravaged Budukshan, but was constrained, by the

severity of the whiter, to retreat. Raja Jugut Sing was

then sent to conduct the war with 14,000 Rajpoots ; and

never did the chivalry of that race of warriors, and their sym-

pathy with a tolerant and just government, shine more conspi-

cuously than in this expedition. Regardless of Hindoo preju-

dices, they crossed the Indus, and surmounted the Hindoo

Kosh, and encountered the fiery valour of the Uzbeks in that

frozen region. To be near the scene of operations, Shah

Jehan took up his residence at Cabul. His third son, Aurung-
zebe was also employed in these operations, and at first gained
a great victory, but was soon after obliged to retire upon

Balkh, and then to make a most disastrous retreat to Cabul,

with the loss of a great portion of his army. The emperor
was at length induced calmly to weigh the policy of con-

tinuing an expensive war in that distant quarter ; and he had

the moral courage to relinquish the enterprize.

The Persians
^^e rePose gained by abandoning Balkh was,

retake candahar, however, of short duration. Shah Abbas, the
and three efforts ,. - T T_ ^ j i_ -^

made in vain to king oi Persia, having now attained his majority,
recover it, 1648. came down on Candahar and retook it, after a

siege of two months. Shah Jehan was resolved to recover it,

and the following yeai Aurungzebe invested it for foul

months, but without success. Two years after, the vizier

as well as the prince again invested the town with a larger

force, but the attempt was a second time unsuccessful, and

Aurungzebe was sent as viceroy to the Deccan. A third

army was despatched in 1653, under prince Dara, the eldest

eon of the emperor, who was impatient to achieve success in
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an expedition in which his ambitious brother had been twice

foiled ; but, though it set out at the precise moment which

the royal astrologer had pronounced to be most auspicious,

it was equally destined to disappointment. Thus termi-

nated the third and last attempt of the Moguls to recover

Candahar, of which they had held but a precarious posses-

sion since the days of Baber. The failure was followed by
two years of repose, when Shah Jehan completed the revenue

settlement in the Deccan, on which he had laboured for twenty

years, and introduced the financial system of Toder Mull.

The year 1655 marks the commencement of an
Eenewal of the

war in the important senes of events ; the renewal of the
>eccan, less. war jn ^g j)eccari} wnich continued for fifty years

to consume the resources of the Mogul empire, and served

to hasten its downfall. During the twenty years of peace
which followed the treaty with the king of Beejapore, in 1636,

'that prince had given his attention to the construction of

those splendid palaces, mausoleums, and mosques which dis-

tinguished his reign ; and to the conquest of the petty prin-

cipalities in the Carnatic which had sprung out of the ruins

of the Hindoo kingdom of Beejuyanugur. The tribute which

he exacted at the same time from the king of Golconda, had

been paid with punctuality, and that prince had manifested

every disposition to cultivate the friendship of the emperor.
There was no cause of difference with these rulers, and

Shah Jehan appeared to be completely satisfied with the rela-

tion they maintained with his throne. But in 1653, Aurungzebe,
after his second repulse from Candahar, was appointed to

the Deccan, and determined to obtain an indemnity for his

disappointment in the subjugation of the two kingdoms of

Beejapore and Golconda.

Meer joomia. An unexpected event gave him the pretext he

was seeking for an interference in their affairs. Mahomed,

generally known by his title of Meer Joomia, then the chief

minister of Abdoolla Kootub, king of Golconda,was born of indi-

gent parents at Ispahan, the capital of Persia, and was placed
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in the service of a diamond merchant, who look him to Gol-

conda, and bequeathed his business to him. The enterprizing

youth embarked in maritime trade, and amassed prodigious

wealth, and came to be held in high estimation for his talents

and probity in every Mahomedan court in Asia. He entered

the royal service of Golconda, and gradually rose to the

supreme direction of affairs. He led an army to the south,

and extended the authority of the king over the chiefs

who yet enjoyed independence ; and it was while absent on

this expedition that his son, Mahomed Amin, by some sup-

posed act of disrespect, incurred the displeasure of his sovereign.

Meer Joomla solicited that consideration for his
Meer Joomla
Attack of Qoi- son, which he considered his own services entitled
conrta. submis- , . , -, ,. ,-, ft j

sion of the icing,
him to, but meeting with a refusal, made an

1653-

appeal to Aurungzebe, which that prince was but

too happy to take up. Under his influence, Shah Jehan was

induced to send a haughty missive to Abdoolla to grant
redress to the youth, which the king answered by placing him

in confinement, and confiscating his father's estates. An order

was then sent to Aurungzebe from Delhi to enforce compliance

by the sword, and he entered upon the execution of it with

that craft which was the prominent feature of his character

through life. He assembled a large army, giving out that

he was about to proceed to Bengal to celebrate the marriage
of his son with the daughter of his brother, the viceroy of

that province. He advanced towards Hyderabad with the

most friendly professions, and the unsuspecting Abdoolla,

prepared to welcome him with a magnificent entertainment,

when he found himself treacherously assailed by the Mogul
army, and constrained to seek refuge in the fortress of Gol-

conda. A large portion of Hyderabad was burnt down, and

the city subjected to indiscriminate plunder, by which the

booty which Aurungzebe had destined to himself, fell to his

soldiers. The king of Golconda, reduced to extremity by
this sudden and unprovoked assault, was constrained to sub-

mit to the harsh terms imposed by Aurungzebe, that he
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should bestow his daughter on one of his sons, with a rich

dowry, and pay up a crore of rupees, as the first instalment

of an annual tribute. Shah Jehan, who had a conscience,

remitted one-fifth of this sum, and, inviting Meer Joomla to

Delhi, invested him with the office of vizier.

AsauitonBee- Having thus reduced Golconda to submission,
japore, 1657.

Aurungzebc resolved to attack Beejapore, and he

had not long to wait for a pretext. Mahomed Adil Shah

died in 1656, and bequeathed the kingdom to his son, a youth
of nineteen, who mounted the throne without paying that

homage which the emperor pretended to consider due to him.

It was, therefore, given out that the youth was illegitimate,

and that it belonged to the emperor to nominate a successor.

The war which arose on this unwarrantable claim was,

perhaps, a more wanton and heinous aggression than

any to be found in the darkest annals of India. Meer

Joomla, as commander-in-chief, and Aurungzebe, as his lieu-

tenant, suddenly invaded the territories of Beejapore. The
Mahratta chieftains in the service of that state, nobly rallied

round the throne, but the abruptness of the irruption, ren-

dered it impossible to collect a sufficient force a large portion

of the army being absent in the Carnatic or to resort to the

usual means of defence. The forts of Beder and Koolburga
were captured, the country was laid waste with fire and

sword, and the capital was invested. The king made the

most humble supplications, and offered to purchase peace

by the payment of a crore of rupees, or any sacrifice the

prince might demand ; but every offer was sternly rejected.

The extinction of the dynasty appeared inevitable, when an

event occurred in the north, which gave it a respite of thirty

years. News came posting down to the Deccan that the

emperor was at the point of death, and that the contest for

the empire had begun. Aurungzebe was obliged to hasten to

the capital to look after his own interests, and the siege of

Beejapore was raised.
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Shah Jehan had four sons; Dara, the eldest,The four sons of

ehan. had been declared his successor, and admitted to

va^eTt^Demi, a considerable share of the government. He had
1657.

great talents for command, and an air of regal

dignity; he was frank and brave, but haughty and rash.

Soojah, the second son, the viceroy of Bengal, had beea

accustomed to civil and military command from his youth, but

was greatly addicted to pleasure. The third, Aurungzebe,
was the most able and ambitious, as well as the most subtle

and astute member of the family ; while Morad, the youngest,

though bold and generous, was little more than a mere sot.

Dara was a free thinker of Akber's school ; Aurungzebe was a

bigoted Mahomedan, and contrived to rally the orthodox

around him by stigmatizing his brother as an infidel. The

claims of primogeniture had always been vague and feeble in

the Mogul dynasty, and the power of the sword generally

superseded every other right ; when, therefore, four princes,

each with an army at his command, equally aspired to the

throne, a contest became inevitable.

Soojah takes the
'

Soojah was the first in the field, and advanced
field, 1657. from Bengai towards the capital. Morad, the

viceroy of Guzerat, on hearing of his father's illness, seized

the public treasure, and assumed the title of emperor.

Aurungzebe, after having extracted a large supply of

money from the king of Beejapore, granted him a peace,

and advanced with his army to the northern boundary
of his province. His object was to cajole Morad, whom
he saluted as emperor, and congratulated on his new dignity,

declaring that as for himself his only desire was to renounce

the world and proceed on pilgrimage to Mecca, after he had

liberated his father from the thraldom of the irreligious

Dara. Morad was simple enough to believe these profes-

sions, and united his army to that of Aurungzebe on the banks

of the Nerbudda, when the two brothers advanced towards

the capital.
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Dam defeats
^ara PrePare(* to meet both these attacks. He

soojah. Aiming- despatched raja Jey Sing, of Jeypore, to oppose

Soojah, and raja Jesswunt Sing to encounter

poses shah Aurungzebe. The selection of two Hindoo gene-
Soojah.1658.

3

rals to command the armies which were to decide

the fortunes of the Mogul throne affords strong evidence of

the feelings of loyalty which the wise policy of Akbar had

inspired. Just at this juncture Shah Jehan was restored to

health and resumed the functions of government ; but it was
too late to quench the elements of strife. The imperial force

came up with Soojah at Benares, and he was defeated, and

obliged to fly to Bengal. The united armies of Aurungzebe
and Morad encountered Jesswunt Sing near Oojein, and

defeated him, and then advanced with 35,000 troops to

the neighbourhood of Agra. Dara came -out to meet them
with a superior force, estimated at 100,000 foot, 20,000 horse,

and 80 pieces of cannon. In the fierce and bloody battle

which ensued, Dara was completely overpowered and fled

from the field with a remnant of barely 2,000 men. The

victorious Aurungzebe entered the capital, deposed his father,

and assumed the whole power of the empire.

Character of The character of Shah Jehan is aptly described
shah Jehan.

by hjs native biographer.
" Akbar was pre-emi-

nent as a warrior and as a lawgiver. Shah Jehan for the

incomparable order, and arrangement of his finances, and the

internal administration of the empire." Though he drew a

revenue of thirty crores of rupees annually from his dominions.

which did not include the Deccan, it is generally asserted that

the country enjoyed greater prosperity during his reign than

tinder any of his predecessors ; it has therefore been charac-

terized as the golden age of the Mogul dynasty. This is a

significant fact, since this prosperity cannot be attributed to

any enlightened policy, or to any encouragement given by
the emperor to the pursuits of industry ; it was owing- simply

to that respite from the ravages of war, which afforded the

provinces within the Indus scope for the development of their
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resources. Shah Jehan was unquestionably the most magni-
ficent prince of the house of Baber, and perhaps of any other

Mahomedan dynasty. The pomp of his court, and the cost-

liness of all his establishments almost stagger our belief ; but

with a treasury which received 600 crores of rupees during

twenty years of peace, what might not a monarch do, who

had only his own will to consult ? In nothing was the splen-

dour of his taste more manifest than in his buildings. It was
he who founded the new city of Delhi, in which his castellated

palace, with its spacious courts, and marble halls, and gilded

domes, was the most attractive object. Of that palace the

noblest ornament was the far-famed peacock throne, blazing

with emeralds, rubies, diamonds, and the most costly stones,

the value of which was estimated by a European jeweller

and traveller at six crores of rupees. To him the country was

indebted for the immaculate Taj Mehal, the mausoleum of his

Queen, the pride of India, and the admiration of the world.

But all his establishments were managed with such circum-

epection, that after defraying the cost of his expeditions

beyond the Indus, and maintaining an army of 200,000 horse,

he 'left in his treasury, according to his native historian, a

sum not short of twenty-four crores of rupees,

CHAPTER VI.

AURUNGZEBE, 1658 1707.

Accession of AuRUNGZEBE having thus obtained possession

of the capital and the treasury, threw off the
his conduct to- ,_. .

. -n i p M
wards hi three mask. He no longer talked of a pilgrimage to

brothers, 1658.
| ecca? but at once assumed all the powers of

government, and took the title of Alumgeer, the Lord of the
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World. His father was placed in captivity in his own

palace, yet treated with the highest respect ; but though he

survived this event seven years, his reign ended with his

confinement. Aurungzebe did not, however, consider himself

secure while there was a single relative left, who might
disturb his tranquillity. As he had now no further use for

Morad, he invited him to an entertainment, and allowed him

to drink himself into a state of helplessness, when he was
taken up and conveyed to the fortress of Agra. Dara, after

his defeat near Agra, had escaped to the Punjab, where, with

the resources of that province and of Afghanistan, he might

possibly have made a stand had not Aurungzebe pursued him

with promptitude, and obliged him to retreat to Mooltan, and

thence to Guzerat. The emperor then quitted the pursuit, and

hastened to encounter his brother Soojah, who was advancing
a second time from Bengal to contest th,e throne. The battle

between the brothers was fought near Allahabad,whenAurung-
zebe was for a time placed in extreme peril, by the treachery

of raja Jesswunt Sing, who, in a fit of disappointment, had

come to an accommodation with Soojah, and suddenly fell on

the emperor's baggage. The constancy and valour of Aurung-

zebe, however, restored the day. At one period of the engage-
ment his elephant became unmanagable from its wounds, and

the emperor was on the point of descending from his seat,

when Meer Joomla, who was by his side, exclaimed, "you
descend from the throne," on which the legs of the animal

were bound, and Aurungzebe continued to animate his troops

by his presence. Soojah was completely defeated, and the

emperor returned to Delhi, leaving his own son Mahomed,
and Mecr Joomla, to follow up the victory. They pursued

the prince to Monghir, and from thence to Rajmahal, which he

had made his capital, and adorned with noble edifices ; but

his pursuers gave him no respite and hunted him down to

Dacca, and then out of Bengal. He took refuge, at length,

with the King of Arracan, by whom he and his whole family

were barbarously murdered.

L2
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Dara 'a cap- Meanwhile, Dara having obtained aid from the

deato^tohis* governor of Guzerat was enabled to assemble an

son, 1659. army and move up to join raja Jesswunt Sing,

who was prepared to make common cause with him against

the emperor. Aurungzebe, who dreaded this junction, em-

ployed all his devices to detach the raja from the alliance.

Dissembling the resentment which his recent treachery at

the battle of Allahabad had naturally excited, he wrote him a

complimentary letter with his own hand, and conceded all the

honours, the refusal of which had driven him into rebellion.

Under the influence of these flatteries Jesswunt Sing deserted

the cause of Dara, who was defeated, and driven to seek

refuge with the raja of Jun, whom he had formerly laid

under the greatest obligations. By that ungrateful chief

he was received with apparent cordiality, and then betrayed
into the hands of his vindictive brother, who ordered him to

be paraded, with every token of indignity, through the streets

of Delhi, where he had recently been beloved as a master. A
conclave of Mahomedan doctors was then convened, who

gratified the Emperor's wishes by condemning him to death

as an apostate from the creed of the Prophet. His son Soli-

man, who had taken shelter with the raja of Sreenugur, by
whom he was basely betrayed, was, like his father, exhibited

in the streets of the capital, but in fetters of gold, and his

noble bearing and deep calamity are said to have moved the

spectators to tears. He and his younger brother, together

with a son of Morad, were consigned to death in the dun-

geons of Gwalior.

It only remained now to dispose of Morad him-
Aurungzebes r

dangerous m- self, who had lain in confinement for three years,
less, 1662.

rpo ackj mgui i injury, he was subjected to a

mock trial for some execution which he had ordered while

viceroy of Guzerat, and condemned and executed. Thus, in

the course of three years, had Aurungzebe, by a series of

atrocious murders, secured, to all appearance, the stability of

his throne, when his own life was threatened by an alarming
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illness ; and the edifice of his greatness, reared by so many
crimes, was threatened with sudden destruction. While he lay

helpless on his couch the court began to be filled with intrigues.

One party espoused the cause of his son, Muazzim, another

that of Akbar. Jesswunt Sing was advancing from Joudh-

pore, and Mohabet from Cabul, to liberate and restore Shah

Jehan ; but Aurungzebe, having passed the crisis of his dis-

ease, caused himself to be propped up in his bed, and sum-

moned the officers of his court to renew their homage to him.

His recovery dissolved the various projects to which his

illness had given birth ; and Muazzim had to wait forty-five

years for the crown.

Meer joomia's A short time previous to the illness of the

Assamfand his emperor, Meer Joomla, who had been appointed
death, 1662. viceroy of Bengal, on the expulsion of Soojah,
entered upon his unfortunate expedition to Assam, in the hope
of adding that kingdom to the Mogul dominions. He assem-

bled a large army and conveyed it up the Berhampooter in

boats. The capital of the province having been mastered

without difficulty, he sent a pompous despatch to the emperor
with a report of his success, promising in the following year
to' plant the Mogul standard in the rich empire of China. The

emperor was delighted with the prospect of treading in the

footsteps of his renowned ancestor, Jenghis Khan, and ordered

large reinforcements to Bengal. But a sad reverse was

impending. The rains set in with extraordinary violence ; the

Berhampooter rose beyond its usual level, and the whole of

the country was flooded ; the supplies of the army were cut

off ; a pestilence, probably the Asiatic cholera, broke out in the

camp ; and Meer Joomla was obliged to retreat in haste and

disgrace from the country, pursued by the exasperated Assa-

mese. On his return to Bengal, he expired at Dacca, leaving
behind him the reputation of one of the ablest statesmen, and

of the greatest generals of that stirring period. Aurungzebe
conferred all his titles on his son, Mahomed Amin, the youth
who had been disgraced by the king of Golconda ; and in the
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letter of condolence sent to him, remarked " You have lost a

father, and I have lost the greatest and most dangerous of my
friends." Soon after the recovery of the emperor he was obliged

to send an army to check the devastations committed by the

Mahrattas in the Mogul provinces of the Deccan; and it

becomes necessary, therefore, to pause and trace the origin

and progress of this power, which rose to dominion on the

ruins of the Mogul empire, and for more than a century

governed the destinies of India.

The country inhabited by the Mahrattas, desig-
Eise and pro-

*

gressofthe nated Maharastra in the Hindoo shastrus, is con-

sidered to extend from the Wurda on the east to

the sea on the west ; from the Satpoora range on the north to

a line in the south drawn due east from Goa. The great fea-

ture of the country is the Syhadree mountains, more commonly
called the Ghauts, which traverse it from north to south at a

distance of from thirty to fifty miles from the sea, and rise

to the height of four or five thousand feet above its level.

The strip of land lying along the coast, at the foot of the

mountains, is called the Concan. The inhabitants are of

diminutive stature and vulgar in appearance, presenting a

strong contrast to the noble figure of the Rajpoot ; but they
are sturdy, laborious, and persevering, and distinguished for

cunning. This mountainous region was exceedingly difficult of

access, and the strongest points had been improved by forti-

fications. For centuries the Mahrattas had been known

chiefly as plodding accountants and village officers; and it

was not before the sixteenth century that they were deemed

worthy of notice by the Mahomedan historians. Then* coun-

try was comprised in the dominions of the kings of Beejapore
and Ahmednugur ; and the noblest Mahratta families trace

their distinction to the civil and military employments which

they held under these two dynasties.

The Mahrattas These sovereigns were incessantly at war with
trained to war. eack Otner, or with their neighbours ; and they
were

happy
to employ the Mahratta chieftains in raising
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levies among their own hardy countrymen, each one com-

manding his own muster of free lances. Jaygeers, or lands

given for maintaining a body of troops, were frequently

granted for their support. Titles were likewise conferred

upon many of the Mahratta chieftains, but they were gene-

rally ancient Hindoo appellations. Towards the close of

the sixteenth century, seven Mahratta chiefs are enumerated

as being ranged under the banner of Beejapore, and two

but of superior importance under that of Ahmednugur. It waa

the wars which raged for a century in the Deccan, between

the Kistna and the Taptee, that first taught the Mahrattas

their own importance, and paved the way for their future pre-

dominance ; but it was chiefly under Malik Amber that they
made the most rapid strides towards political influence. A
community of village clerks and husbandmen was thus trans-

formed into a nation of warriors, and only required the appear-
ance of some master spirit to raise it to empire. That spirit

appeared in Sevajee.

ori of shah ^allojee Bhonslay, an active captain of horse,

jee, the father of was employed about the year 1600 in the service

of the king of Ahmednugur. His wife, who had

long been childless, offered her prayers and vows at the

Mahomedan shrine of Shah Seffer ; and the child to whom she

gave birth was named Shahjee in gratitude to the saint. He
was born in 1594, and his father sought an alliance in the patri-

cian family of Jadow Kao. In after times, when the Mahrattas

had become the arbitrers of India, the national historians endea-

voured to trace the family of Mallojee from the rajas of Chittore,

who claimed to be the lineal descendants of the great denied

hero, Ramu ; but at this period Jadow Rao spurned the alliance

of so plebeian a family. Soon after Mallojee suddenly came

into possession of a large treasure, acquired, doubtless, in the

Mahratta mode; and he obtained from the venal court of

Ahmednugur the jaygeers of Poona, Sopa, and several other

places. No further objection was raised to the alliance, and

the nuptials are said to have been graced by the presence of the
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king of Ahmednugur. On the death of his father, in 1 620,

Shahjee succeeded to the jaygeer, and augmented his military

force and importance, and entered into a close connection with

Malik Amber. Nine years after, we find him espousing the

cause of Jehan Lodi ; but when the fortunes of that Afghan
chief appeared to be on the wane, he deserted his cause and

joined the Moguls, for which he was rewarded with the

nominal honour of a commander of 5,000, and the substantial

boon of a confirmation of his jaygeer. But Shahjee was

speedily disgusted with the shuffling policy of the Mogul com-

manders, and again changed sides.

Places a prince On the capture of the young prince of Ahmed-

ofltaSuJir, augur, in 1634, he considered himself strong
1634. enough to aspire to the regency, and raised

another prince to the throne as the lawful heir of Nizam

Shah. For three years he appears to have maintained a

desultory warfare with the imperial generals, but was at

length driven out of the country and obliged to seek refuge

in the court of Beejapore, where his ability was known and

appreciated ; and he was entrusted with the command of an

expedition to the Carnatic. His zeal and success were

rewarded with the grant of extensive jaygeers in Bangalore,

and the neighbouring districts where he conceived the design

of establishing an independent Hindoo sovereignty, and

resigned the petty jaygeer of Poona to his son Sevajee.

Sevaiee, the founder of the M'ahratta empire,
Birth and early

J

life of Sevajee, was born m 1627, and was sent, three years after,

to reside with his mother at Poona, under the

tutelage of Dadajee Punt his father having taken a second

wife. Dadajee managed the estate with the strictest eco-

nomy as well as fidelity, and remitted the revenue with punc-

tuality to Shahjee, but contrived to reserve a small sum

annually at Poona. He watched over his youthful charge
with assiduity, and is said to have given l.!m an education

suited to his station and prospects. Sevajee, however, was
never able to read or write j but he was skilled in the use of
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the bow and the sword, and the weapons employed in the

Hills; he was expert in all manly exercises, and, like his

countrymen, an accomplished horseman. His tutor did not

neglect his religious instruction, and Sevajee grew up a

devout and rigid Hindoo, with a profound veneration for

brahmins, and a hearty hatred of Mahomedans. His imagin-

ation was excited in youth by the perusal of the great epic

poems of India, and he longed to emulate the exploits which

are immortalized in them. At the "age of sixteen he formed

an association with youths of wild and lawless habits, and

engaged in hunting or marauding expeditions, which made

him familiar with all the paths and defiles of the tract which

became the cradle of his power. Having trained the inhabit-

ants of his native glens the Mawullees to arms and disci-

Sevajee begins pline, he began his career of ambition at the age

?urirg
r

To

r

r2,
CaP"of nineteen, by capturing Torna, a hill fort of

1646. very difficult access. In the succeeding year he

erected a new fortress, to which he gave the name of llai-

gur. These proceedings did not fail to excite observation

at Beejapore, and letters were sent to Shahjee in the Carnatic

calling him to account for the doings of his son, but he replied

tliat he had not been consulted by him, though he could not

doubt that they were intended to improve the jaygeer. At

the same time he remonstrated with Dadajee on the conduct

of Sevajee, and the tutor failed not to reprimand his pupil ;

but, finding that he was bent on pursuing a course which

appeared likely to injure the prospects of the family, fell a

prey to anxiety. As his end approached he is said to have

called Sevajee to his death bed, and urged him to continue

the career on which he had entered; to protect brahmins,

kine, and cultivators, and preserve the temples of the gods
from violation.

Sevajee immediately took possession of the

y&eer'
inhis father>s name but employed the

hostage, 1649. treasure which Dadajee had husbanded, as well

as the resources of the district in augmenting his little army,
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and in the course of two years extended his authority over

thirty miles of territory. He attacked a convoy of treasure

proceeding to Beejapore, and carried off three lacs of pagodas
to his eyry in the mountains. In quick succession it was
announced that he had captured seven other forts, and had,

moreover, surprised the governor of Callian, and extorted the

surrender of all his fortresses. The audacity of these pro-

ceedings raised the indignation of the Beejapore court and

Shahjee, who managed all their recent acquisitions in the

Carnatic, was held responsible for the proceedings of his son,

though he pleaded, and with truth, that he had long ceased

to possess any influence over his movements. Shahjee was

treacherously seized by the Mahratta chief of Ghorepuray,
and brought a prisoner to the capital, where he was threat-

ened with a cruel death. To procure his release, Sevajee,
then only twenty-two, memorialized the emperor, and offered

to enter the imperial service, and it is not improbable that

Shahjee owed his life to the representations made by the court

of Delhi. He was, however, detained for four years as a hostage,
until the increasing disorders in the Carnatic conquests con-

strained the king of Beejapore to restore the government of

them to hun. During his father's detention, Sevajee dis-

creetly suspended his incursions, but on hearing of his release

resumed his predatory and ambitious course, and, by an act

of base treachery murdered the brother chieftains of Jaolee,

and appropriated then: lands to himself.

_ .... While Aurungzebe was engaged in the war
Sevajee's inter-

course with AU- with Beejapore, in 1657, Sevajee entered into
ebe, 1657.

Corresp0ndence with him, and professed himself

a devoted servant of the throne of Delhi. He was thus

enabled to obtain a confirmation of the territory he had

wrested from Beejapore, and was encouraged to farther

encroachments. But no sooner had Aurungzebe marched

towards Delhi than Sevajee began to ravage the Mogul
territories, and carried off three lacs of pagodas from the

town of Joonere. For the more distant enterprizes to which
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he aspired, he felt the necessity of an efficient body of horse,

and he now began to make the most vigorous efforts to

organize that light cavalry, which subsequently became the

scourge of Hindostan. About the same time he enlisted his

first body of Mahomedan troops, taking into his pay 700

Patans who had been unwisely discharged from the service of

Beejapore ; but he took the precaution of placing them under

the command of a Mahratta officer. The success of Aurung-
zebe's efforts to obtain the throne gave just alarm to Sevajee,

who sent an envoy to Delhi to express his deep regret for

what had occurred, and his attachment to the throne ; and he

had the effrontery to offer to protect the imperial territories

during the emperor's absence, asking only for the transfer

of the Concan to himself. Aurungzebe, conceiving that the

security of the Mogul districts would be promoted by giving

The concan encouragement to Sevajee, consented to his

wsfireueveree Baking possession of the Concan. He lost no
1659. time in sending an army to occupy the province,

but his troops were defeated with great slaughter, and he

experienced the first reverse he had sustained since the

beginning of his career.

Afzui Khan is The court of Beejapore was at length roused

and'nfrcteredT
to a sense * tne danger arising from the inces-

1669. gant encroachments of this aspiring chief, and

Afzul Khan was sent against him with 12,000 horse and foot,

and a powerful artillery, consisting of swivels mounted on

camels, rockets, and other ordnance. He was a vain, con->

ceited noble, and manifested the greatest contempt for his

antagonist. Sevajee determined to defeat the object of the

expedition by treachery. He professed the humblest sub-

mission to the king of Beejapore, and offered to surrender

all his territories, if he might but be allowed^to hope for pardon
and acceptance. Afzul Khan was thrown off his guard by
these artifices, and agreed to meet the Mahratta chief with

only a single attendant. The Mahomedan army was stationed

at a distance ; but Sevajee, acquainted as he was with, the
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mountain defiles, placed a select body of Mahrattas in ambus-

cade. Having performed his religious devotions with great

fervour, he advanced to the interview with all humility, and

while in the act of embracing Afzul Khan, plunged a con-

cealed weapon in his bowels, and despatched him with his

dagger. The troops of the murdered general, thus taken by

surprise, were surrounded and defeated, and the whole of the

camp equipage, including 4,000 horses, fell to the victor.

The success of this stratagem, notwithstanding the atrocity

of the deed, served to exalt the character of Sevajee in the

opinion of his countrymen, and greatly improved his position.

He followed up this victory by the capture of numerous

forts, and plundered the country up to the very gates of

Beejapore.

Sevajee is re- The king now took the field in person, and suc-

king o^Beeja-

6
ceeded in regaining many of the forts and much

pore, 1662. of the territory he had lost. The war was pro-

tracted with various success for two years ; but the balance

of benefit remained with the Mahratta. A reconciliation was
soon after effected between the parties, chiefly, as historians

conjecture, through the mediation of Shahjee, who had paid his

son a visit. It will be remembered, that in 1649, Shahjee was

betrayed to the king of Beejapore by the Mahratta chief,"

Ghorepuray. On that occasion, he wrote to Sevajee :
" If

you are my son, you must punish Bajee Ghorepuray of Moo-
dhole." Thirteen years had elapsed since, that act of treachery,

but Sevajee had not forgotten his father's injunction. During
the war with Beejapore, he learned that his enemy had pro-

ceeded to Moodhole with a slender escort, and he resolved not

to lose this opportunity of avenging his family wrongs. He
appeared suddenly before the town, captured and burned it to

the ground, and with one exception, slaughtered the whole

of the family and adherents of Ghorepuray, even to the

infants in the womb. Shahjee was delighted on hearing of

this vindictive exploit, and resolved to visit his son, whom
he had not seen for twenty years. He was received with the
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highest distinction, and Sevajee attended him on foot for

twelve miles. Shahjee congratulated him on the progress he

had made towards the establishment of a Hindoo power, and

encouraged him to persevere. On his return, he was entrusted

with presents for the king of Beejapore, which served as

a peace offering and led to a treaty. At this period, Seva-

jee, hi his thirty-fifth year, was in possession of

jee's possessions the whole coast of the Concan, from Callian to
in 1662.

Goa, extending about four degrees of latitude ; and

of the ghauts, from the Beema to the Wurda, about 130 miles

in length, and 100 in breadth. His army, which consisted of

50,000 foot and 7,000 horse, was out of all proportion to the

territory under his authority ; but he was incessantly engaged
in war, and he made war support itself by exactions.

Sevajee being now at peace with Beeiapore, let
ShaistaKhan J

. f ,
sent to repress loose his plundering hordes on the Mogul ternto-
Sevajee, 1662. ^^ jn utter violation of his engagements with

Aurungzebe, and swept the country up to the suburbs of

Aurungabad. The emperor appointed Shaista Khan, his own
maternal uncle, and the nephew of Noor Jehan, viceroy of

the Deccan, with orders to chastise this aggression, and carry
the war into the Mahratta domains. Shaista captured Poona,
and took up his residence in the very house where Sevajee
had passed his childhood ; and Sevajee conceived the design
of assassinating him in his bed A Mahratta foot soldier in

the imperial service whom he had gained, got up a marriage

procession, which Sevajee joined in disguise, and was enabled

to enter the town with thirty of his followers in the suite.

After nightfall, when the town was dark and quiet, he pro-

ceeded unperceived to the palace, with every corner of which he

was familiar, and suddenly fell on its inmates. The viceroy,

awaking suddenly from sleep, escaped with the loss only of

a finger, but his son, and most of his guards were cut down.

Sevajee, foiled in his chief object, the destruction of the

viceroy, retired before the troops could be assembled, and was
seen returning to his encampment amidst a blaze of torches.
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This daring exploit, so congenial with the national character,

was regarded with greater exultation by his own countrymen
than his most splendid victories. Shaista Khan was 'soon

after recalled and sent to govern Bengal, and the Rajpoot

raja Jesswunt Sing, the governor of Guzerat, who was left

in command was little disposed to push matters to extremity

against men of his own faith.

sevajee attacks The operations of Sevajee, which had hitherto

Surat, 1664. been limited to the neighbourhood of the ghauts,
were now extended to a more remote and a bolder enterprize.
The city of Surat, a hundred and fifty miles distant from

Poona, was at that period the greatest emporium of the

western coast of India. The annual importation of gold and

silver from Arabia and Persia alone amounted to fifty lacs of

rupees, and two families in the town were accounted the

richest mercantile houses in the world. It was, moreover,
considered pre-eminently the port of the Mogul empire, where

all the devout Mahomedans, official and private, from the

various provinces which yielded a revenue of thirty millions

a year, embarked on pilgrimage for Mecca. Sevajee is said

to have visited the city in disguise, and during four days
marked the houses of the most opulent for plunder. Taking
with him 4,000 of his newly raised horse, he appeared sud-

denly before the town, which was ill fortified, and having

deliberately plundered it for six days, returned leisurely to his

capital at Raigun He met with no resistance except from

the European factories. Sir George Oxenden, the English
chief at Surat, defended the property of his masters, and also

that of the natives, with such valour and success as to obtain

the applause of Aurungzebe, as well as a perpetual exemption
from some of the duties exacted of other merchants. This was

the first occasion on which English and native troops came into

contact with each other, and the result filled both Mahomedans
and Hindoos with astonishment. On his return from this ex-

Death of shah- pedition, Sevajee heard of the death of his father,

jee, lee*. at the age of seventy, and immediately assumed the
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title of raja, and began to strike the coin in his own name.

At the period of his death Shahjee was in possession, not

only of the extensive jaygeers around Bangalore which he

had received from the raja of Beejapore, but of Arnee, Porto

Novo, and Tanjore, in the south of the peninsula, which he

had subjugated, and, in consideration of his fidelity to the

state, had been permitted to retain.

Sevaiee, finding that his power would not be
Sevajee plan-

J '

,
&

., , ,,

ders Barceiore, Complete unless he could command the sea as well
i664- as the land, had been engaged for some time in

creating a fleet. While his troops were employed in ravaging
the Mogul territories up to the walls of Ahmednugur, hia

ships were capturing Mogul vessels bound to Mecca, and

exacting heavy ransoms from the rich pilgrims embarked on

them. In February, 1665, he secretly drew a large fleet

together at Malwan, consisting of eighty-eight vessels, of

which three were large ships of three masts and the re-

mainder of from 30 to 150 tons burden. Having embarked

with 4,000 troops, he proceeded to Barceiore, a hundred and

thirty miles south of Goa, which had long been considered

one of the greatest marts of commerce on the western

coast, but has now disappeared even from the map. There he

obtained immense booty and returned to his capital before it

was known that he had embarked. This was the first expe-
dition at sea which he headed in person ; it was also his last,

for a violent gale drove his vessel down the bay ; he suffered

seriously from sea-sickness, and his spiritual guide assured

him that this was the mode in which his tutelar deity had

manifested his displeasure at such a heterodox enterprise.

Sevajee submits
On nis return from this voyage Sevajee found

to Aurungzebe, that a powerful Mogul army, commanded by the

renowned raja Jey Sing and Dilere Khan, the

Afghan general, had entered his territories. Aurungzebe, who
was an intense bigot, felt greater indignation at the interrup-

tion of the holy pilgrims proceeding to the Prophet's tomb
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than at the assumption of the title of raja, the plunder of Surat,

the coinage of money, or any other aggression of Sevajee. On
this occasion Sevajee was attacked with the greatest impetu-

osity by the imperial generals, and felt his inability to cope

with an army so greatly superior to his own. He was, there-

fore, induced to call a council of his officers, at which he

appeared the most irresolute of all
;

and it was resolved to

enter into negotiations with the enemy. They ended in

the Convention of Poorunder, by which he engaged to restore

all the forts and districts he had taken from the Moguls, with

the exception of twelve, which, with the territory around them,

yielding a revenue of a lac of pagodas a year, he was to hold

as a jaygeer dependent on the emperor. But he dexterously

inserted a clause which would have overbalanced all his losses.

In lieu of some pretended claims on the old Nizam Shahee

state, he asked for certain assignments which he termed the

chout, and the sur-desh-mookhee on some of the Beejapore dis-

tricts above the ghauts, the charge of collecting which he

offered to take on himself. This is the first mention in history

of the celebrated claim of the chout, or fourth of the revenue,

The origin of which the Mahrattas subsequently marched over
the chout. India to enforce. So anxious was Sevajee to get
the principle of these exactions admitted, that he offered a

peshcush or donative of forty lacs of pagodas nearly a million

sterling to be paid by aanual instalments, and engaged to

maintain an additional body of troops for the emperor's ser-

vice. In the letter which Aurungzebe wrote to him on this

occasion he confirmed all the stipulations of the convention,

but made no allusion to the chout or sur-desh-mookhee, probably
because he did not comprehend the insidious tendency or even

the import of these barbarous terms. But Sevajee chose to

consider the silence of the emperor as an acknowledgment of

these claims, which, from this time forward, it became the para-

mount object of Mahratta policy to extend to every province.

Sevajee, having now entered the emperor's service,
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Sevajee attacks joined the imperial army with 2,000 horsemen

^u*Dduli,

and
an(* 8,000 foot, and marched against Beejapore.

1666 - The Mahratta horse in the service of Beejapore, a

portion of which was commanded by "Vencajee, the half-

brother of Sevajee, greatly distinguished themselves in this

war
;
nor were the Mahrattas in the service of the emperor less

conspicuous for their valour. Aurungzebe wrote a compli-

mentary letter to Sevajee, inviting him to court, and he

proceeded to Delhi with an escort of 1,500 horse and foot.

The emperor had now an opportunity of converting a formi-

dable foe into a zealous adherent ; but, either he had not the

tact of conciliation, or his pride rendered him blind to his

interests. Sevajee found himself treated with wanton insult,

and presented at the durbar in company with nobles of the

third rank. He left the imperial presence burning with indig-

nation, and asked leave to return to his jaygeer. But the

object of the emperor was to detain him, and his residence was

beleaguered and all his movements watched; he contrived,

however, to elude the vigilance of the emperor's guards, and

escaped in a basket, and reached his own dominions in the

disguise of a pilgrim in December, 1666.

The raja Jesswunt Sing, and prince Muazzim

were sent to command in the Deccan, the Maho-
poiity, 1668-69. medan fond of pleasure, and the Hindoo of money.

Sevajee gratified the avarice of the raja with large gifts, and

through him was enabled to make his peace with the emperor,
who made an addition to his territories and conferred on him

the title of raja. The Mahratta manuscripts ascribe this un-

expected lenity on the part of the emperor to the design he

cherished of again decoying Sevajee into his power. About

the same time a treaty was concluded between the king of

Beejapore and Aurungzebe, by which the former ceded the

fort and territory of Solapore, yielding near two lacs of

pagodas a-year. Sevajee now prepared to enforce his claim

of chout on the districts of Beejapore, alluded to hi the Con-

vention of Poorunder, but the vizier of that state purchased
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exemption by agreeing to an annual payment of three lacs of

rupees. Some agreement of a similar character appears to

have been entered into by the minister of Golconda for a

sum of five lacs of rupees. Having now a season of greater

leisure than he had hitherto enjoyed, Sevajee employed the

years 1668 and 1669 in revising and completing the internal

arrangements of his government. There is nothing which

gives us so high an opinion of his genius as the spirit of wisdom

which pervades his civil polity. It is impossible to behold

without the greatest admiration, a rough soldier, who was

unable to read or write, and who had for twenty years been

simply a captain of banditti, establishing a system of adminis-

tration so admirably adapted to the consolidation of a great

kingdom. His military organization, which was distin-

guished for its vigorous discipline and its rigid economy, was

equally suited to the object of creating a new and predomi-

nant power in Hindostan.

prosperity of This was also the most prosperous period 'of

JKS**
1* Aurungzebe's long reign. The empire was at

166670. peace. His father Shah Jehan had recently sunk

into the grave, and there was no longer any dread of projects

for his restoration. The emperor was held in the highest

respect throughout the Mahomedan world, and received

tokens of deference from the most distant sovereigns. The
Scheriff of Mecca, the Khan of the Uzbeks, the king of Abys-
sinia, and even the sovereign of Persia, had sent complimen-

tary embassies to Delhi. But the restless ambition of Aurung-
zebe again kindled the flames of war, which continued to

rage without the intermission of a single year through the

period of thirty-seven years to which his reign was prolonged.

Finding it impossible to inveigle Sevajee into his power, and

knowing that his general Jesswunt Sing was inactive under

the influence of Mahratta gold, he issued the most peremptory
orders to seize him and some of his principal officers, threaten-

ing vengeance for neglect. Sevajee, seeing hostilities inevit-

able, prepared for the conflict with the most determined reso-
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lution. He opened the campaign by the capture of Singurh,
a fortress deemed inaccessible to an enemy, but which his

general Maloosray escaladed with his mountaineers, the Ma-

wullees, and fell in the moment of victory. Sevajee rewarded

every private soldier with a silver bangle. Poorunder, a

fortress of equal strength and importance, was also recovered.

With an army of 14,000 men he again plundered Surat, and

again the factors of the East India Company covered them-

selves with renown by the gallantry of their defence. One of

Sevajee's generals overran the province of Candesh, and for

the first time levied the chout from a Mogul district. The
most remarkable circumstance attending this distant invasion

was the exaction of a written document from the village

authorities, in which they engaged to pay one-fourth of the

government dues to Sevajee, or to his officers. Sevajee, on

his part, engaged to furnish them with regular receipts, which

would exempt them from future pillage and ensure them

protection.

T . . . The great naval arsenal of the Beeiapore state
Jinjeerah made J r
over to the was the port of Jinjeerah, and it was under the
Moguls, i67i command of an Abyssinian admiral. It had long
been" the earnest desire of Sevajee to obtain possession of

this important harbour, and he had besieged it annually for

nine years, but, owing to the inferiority of his artillery, had

invariably failed. In 1670 he again brought his whole force

against it, but was again baffled. He endeavoured to seduce

the admiral from his allegiance by large offers ; but three of

the subordinate, officers of the port, who were personally

obnoxious to Sevajee and detested the very name of Mah-

ratta, imprisoned the admiral, and placed both the arsenal

and the fleet under the protection of the Moguls. This waa

a severe blow to the projects of Sevajee, as it strengthened

his most formidable and inveterate foes, the Sedees of Jin-

jeerah, by enabling them to obtain reinforcements from Surat,

which rendered the port impregnable. Meanwhile, the em-

peror, dissatisfied with the inactivity of his son Muazzim, sent

M 2
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Mohabet Khan, with an army of 40,000 men to the Deccan.

Sevajee had always avoided a pitched battle with the superior

forces of the Moguls, but on this occasion he boldly resolved

to try conclusions with them in the open field. The result was

the most complete victory the Mahrattas had ever gained,

and no trifling increase of their confidence. The attention

of the emperor was soon after drawn to Afghanistan, and

the war with Sevajee languished.

Aumngzebe in The turbulent Khyberees and Eusufzies, the
the Khyter, 1673.

perpetual enemies of peace and order, had again

broken out in open revolt. They had defeated Mahomed Amin,

the son of Meer Joomla, and destroyed his army in the passes,

subsequently rendered memorable by the annihilation of a

British army, and obliged him to redeem his women and

children by a heavy ransom. The emperor determined at

first to undertake the subjugation of these incorrigible high-

landers in person, and marched with a large force as far as

Hussun Abdal, but soon after transferred the command of

the expedition, in which little glory was to be reaped, to his

eon. The war occupied two years, and the emperor was at

length happy to terminate it by accepting the nominal submis-

sion of the tribes. On his return to Delhi he found
Revolt of the

Sutnanuneea, himself suddenly involved in a most formidable

difficulty arising from a most insignificant cause.

A sect of Hindoo devotees, called Sutnaramees, living in the

town of Narnoul, agriculturalists by profession but always

bearing arms, were thrown into a state of extreme excitement

by the violence of a police soldier. The emeute gradually

grew into a revolt. The devotees assembled by thousands,

and being joined by some disaffected zemindars and men of

note, defeated a body of troops sent against them. The pro-

vinces of Agra and of Ajmere were thrown into commotion,

and the imperial army shrunk from collision with enthusiasts,

who were said to possess the magical power of resisting

bullets. The tact of Aurungzebe at length succeeded in

putting down a rebellion which threatened his empire. He
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caused texts of the Koran to be written on slips of paper and

attached to his standard, and his troops, now believing them-

selves protected from the spells of the enemy, obtained an

easy victory.

This event would scarcely be worthy of notice.
Aurungzebe per-

"

i

secutes the but for the disastrous results which sprung from
Hindoos, 1677.

j^ Akbar and his two successors had adopted
the liberal and sound policy of reconciling the Hindoos to

the Mogul power by granting them religious liberty and

equality. During a century of toleration the Eajpoot chiefs

became the firmest supporters of the Mogul throne. But the

bigotted Aurungzebe entertained a strong religious hatred of

all infidels, though from motives of policy, he still continued

to employ Rajpoot troops, as a counterpoise to his Mahomedan

soldiers, and had formed two family alliances with Eajpoot

princesses. Prom the beginning- of his reign, all his mea-

sures had breathed a spirit of intolerance, but it was not till

his feelings were embittered by the want of success in the

Khyber, and the revolt of the Hindoo devotees, that he entered

upon a systematic persecution of the Hindoos. He issued an

edict forbidding all governors any longer to receive Hindoos

into the public service, and ordered the jezzia, or poll tax, to be

imposed on all who were not Mahomedans. The tax was odious,

not so much from its pressure, being less than three quar-

ters per cent, on income, as from its being a " tax on infidels,"

and a token of religious degradation. On going to prayers

at the mosque after this edict, his way was blocked up by

suppliants whom his guards were ordered to disperse, and

many of whom were trampled to death by his horses and

elephants. After this example of severity, the tax was

sullenly submitted to. So severe was the persecution, that

not only were the pagodas destroyed throughout Bengal, but

in the holy city of Benares, the sanctuary of Hindooism, the

most sacred temples were demolished and mosques erected on

the ruins, while the images were used as steps for the faithful

to tread on.
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Revolt of the These violent proceedings produced great dis-

Eajpoots, 1678. affection in every province, but no open revolt,

except in Eajpootana, and for the Rajpoots the emperor had no

sympathy. His father and grandfather were, indeed, the off-

spring of Rajpoot princesses, but he himself was of unmixed

Tartar blood. It was not, however, till after the death of the

two celebrated Mahratta generals who had been the prop of the

throne, raja Jey Sing, of Jeypore, and raja Jesswunt Sing,

of Joudhpore, that Aurungzebe ordered the jezzia to be im-

posed on his Hindoo subjects. Jesswunt Sing had recently

died in the imperial service at Cabul, and his widow had re-

turned to Delhi with her two sons, on her way to their native

country. Aurungzebe, anxious to detain the children as

hostages, surrounded their encampment with his troops ; but

Doorga Bass, the faithful servant of the family, extricated

them by the most ingenious contrivances from the toils of

the emperor, and conveyed them in safety to their own capital.

The insult thus inflicted on this noble house served to rouse

the indignation of the Rajpoots, and, with the exception of

the raja of Jeypore, who was bound to the imperial family by

many intermarriages, the whole of Rajpootana was hi a blaze.

The emperor lost no time in marching into the country, and

constrained the rana of Oodypore to make his submission.

Favourable terms were granted to him, and a cession of terri-

tory was accepted in lieu of the poll tax. But soon after he

took up arms again, and Aurungzebe, exasperated by this re-

newed opposition to his wishes, summoned troops from every

part of India, even 'from the province of Bengal, and let them

loose on this unhappy country. The prince was again driven to

the mountains, the women and children were carried into cap-

tivity, and the country was consumed by fire and sword. The

alienation of the Rajpoots from the Moguls was now complete.

After this period theywere often at peace with Aurungzebe and

his successors, and furnished their contingents of troops, and

accepted the government of provinces ; but that cordial attach-

ment which had made them the bulwarks of the empire for



VT.] SEVAJEE ASSUMES ROYALTY. 167

more than a hundred years, was gone. During this war with

the Rajpoots, the embarrassments of the emperor were in-

creased by the defection of his son, prince Akbar, who went

over to the enemy and advanced suddenly upon the imperial

camp with an army of 70,000. Aurungzebe was in imminent

danger of being captured with his slender escort, but with

his accustomed craft he succeeded in sewing dissensions

among the adherents of the prince, who found himself

generally deserted, and sought refuge with the Mahrattas,

accompanied by the faithful Doorga Dass, and 500 Rajpoots.

Sevajee assumes To return now to the progress of Sevajee. In

royalty, 1674. iQf2 he appears to have proceeded on a secret

expedition to Golconda, and extracted nine lacs of pagodas
from the king. While Aurungzebe was employed in Afghan-

istan, he took advantage of the death of the king of Beeja-

pore and the weakness of a minority, to annex the whole of

the Concan and the adjoining ghauts, with the exception of

the ports held by the English, Portuguese, and Abyssinians.

He had long struck the coin hi his own name, and he now
determined to proclaim his independence and assume all the

ensigns of royalty. After many religious solemnities, on the

auspicious day fixed by the brahmins, the 6th of June, 1674,

he was enthroned at Raigur, and announced himself as the

"ornament of the Khsetriyu race, the lord of the royal

umbrella," the chutti*u putee of modern India, the satrap of

ancient Persia. In accordance with the custom of oriental

princes he was weighed against gold, and the money was
distributed amongst the brahmins to the amount of 16,000

pagodas, for, to their chagrin, he was found to weigh only
ten stone. The next year he sent an army for the first tune

across the Nerbudda, and ravaged the province of Guzerat.

In the year 1676 he undertook one of the
Scvajee's expe-

'

dition to the most extraordinary expeditions recorded in Indian
camatic, 1676.

j^jy^ whether we regard the boldness or the

success of the design. It was directed to the recovery of the

paternal jaygeer, held by his half-brother Vencajee, as a vassal
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of Beejapore, and the extension of his conquests in the south

of India. Having bribed the Mogul general Khan Jehan who
directed the operations against him, and obtained an armistice,

he made the most judicious provision for the protection of his

forts until his return. At the close of 1676 he marched

to Golconda with a force of 30,000 horse and 40,000 foot,

and, through the medium of the chief minister, a Mahratta,

entered into a compact with the sovereign, who engaged on

his part to cover Sevajee's territories during his absence,

while Sevajee agreed to grant him a moiety of all his con-

quests, with the exception of the paternal estates. After a

month of negotiation and the receipt of a large supply of

money and artillery, he sent forward his army and proceeded

himself to pay his devotions at the celebrated shrine of Pur-

wuttun. Naked and covered with ashes, he assumed the guise

of a Hindoo jogee or devotee, and having for nine days com-

mitted various acts of superstitious folly, which at one time

alarmed his attendants for his sanity, resumed the command
of the army, and marched by Madras in the beginning of May.
Fort after fort was surrendered to him ; but the most extra-

ordinary exploit of this expedition was the capture of Ginjee,

the inaccessible fortress of the south,
" tenable by ten men

against any force that could be brought against it." He had

now advanced six hundred miles from his own capital, and at

Trivadee had an interview with his brother, Vencajee, who
held Tanjore and the other territories bequeathed to him by

Shahjee. These domains he refused to share with Sevajee,

who thereupon took forcible possession of the whole of the

jaygeer ; while his horse ranged through the Carnatic and

subjected it to plunder wherever the exaction of the chout was

resisted, but no portion of either land or money did he allot,

according to his agreement, to the king of Golconda. Mean-

while the Moguls attacked that state, and Sevajee, having
come to an understanding with his Tanjore brother, returned

to his own dominions and reached Raigur in the middle of

1678, after an absence of eighteen months.
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Attack of Beeja- A formidable army had been sent by Aurung-
pore, 1679. Z^Q under Dilere Khan to besiege Beejapore ;

and the regent, during the king's minority, invoked the aid of

Sevajee, who stipulated as the price of his assistance, for the

cession of the Raichore dooab, or country lying between the

Toombudra and the Kistna, and the sovereignty of his father's

jaygeer and of the conquests he had made in the south. To

create a diversion in favour of Beejapore, he proceeded north-

ward, and laid waste all the country between the Beema and

the Godavery, and plundered the town of Aurungabad for

three days, though the Mogul viceroy was at that time resid-

ing in it. After his return from this expedition he captured

twenty-seven forts, and on the receipt of an express from the

regent of Beejapore hastened to the succour of the town. On
the line of march, his son, Sambajee, who had been placed in

confinement by his father for an attempt to violate the wife

of a brahmin, made his escape and went over to the Mogul

general. Sevajee retired to Panalla to devise means for the

recovery of the youth, and sent his army to Beejapore, which

was making a noble defence. The Mahratta generals cut off

all supplies from the enemy's camp, and eventually obliged

Dilere Khan to raise the siege. At the same time Sambajee
returned to his allegiance and was placed under restraint by

Death of seva-
bjs father. But in the midst of these events all

jee, 5th April, Sevajee's plans of ambition were cut short by his

death, which happened at Rairee on the 5th of

April, 1680, in the fifty-third year of his age.

His character. Aurungzebe could not conceal the satisfaction

he felt on the death of his most formidable enemy. During
the long struggle which he was constrained to maintain with

Sevajee, he affected to despise his power, and was accustomed

to deride him as the mountain rat ; but after his death he did

full justice to his character. " He was," he said,
" a great

captain, and the only one who has had the magnanimity to

raise a new kingdom, while I have been endeavouring to

destroy the ancient sovereignties of India
; my armies have
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been employed against him for nineteen years, and neverthe-

less his state has been always increasing." This state, at

his death, comprised a territory estimated at four hundred

miles in length, and a hundred and twenty in breadth, in the

north ; in the south he was in possession of half the Carnatic,

which alone was equal in extent to many kingdoms in India.

These large possessions were created by the efforts of his

own genius, and consolidated by a communion of habits, reli-

gion, and language, and a common hatred of the Mahomedans.

Sevajee is one of the greatest characters in the native history

of India, greater than Hyder Ali, greater even than Runjeet

Sing who, in after times followed his example, and beginning
life as adventurers closed it as mighty sovereigns. He did

more than found a kingdom ; he laid the foundation of a power,
which survived the decay of his own family. His son was a

dissolute tyrant, and his grandson a simpleton, from whose

hands the sceptre fell ; but the spirit of national enthusiasm

which he infused into the Mahrattas, in a few years made
them the arbiters of the fate of India.

Succession of Sambajee, the eldest son of Sevajee, was
Sambajee, 1680.

living in durance at the time of his father's death,

in the fortress of Panalla, and a party was formed among
the Mahratta chiefs to exclude him from the throne, on the

ground of his profligacy. But he succeeded in establishing

his authority, and was acknowledged the sovereign of the

Mahratta nation, after which he gave loose to the ferocity of

his disposition. He caused one of his father's widows as well

as those who had opposed his succession to be executed, not

sparing Anajee, a brahmin, to whom he was under the

greatest obligations. He had none of the virtues of his

father, except his courage. His cruelties soon alienated the

great generals and statesmen who had assisted in building

up the Mahratta throne
;
and he rendered himself an object

of general contempt by his slavish devotion to a favourite of

the name of Kaloosu, a Cunouj brahmin. His inglorious

reign of nine years was marked only by rash enterprizes, or
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voluptuous excesses. At the beginning of his reign he was
induced to renew the siege of the island of Jinjeerah, the

great naval arsenal of the Moguls, which his father had

attacked year after year in vain. He was obliged to relinquish

the enterprize with disgrace, and the Seedee or Abyssinian
admiral retaliated on him by ravaging the coast, and slaugh-

tering kine, and eventually by destroying the fleet which

Sevajee had been at the greatest pains to create. In the

year 1681, the emperor's son, Akbar, who had at first

joined the Rajpoots, sought refuge at the court of Sam-

bajee and received a cordial welcome ; but, becoming at

length disgusted with the follies of that prince, he retired to

Persia.

Aunmgzebe in Aurungzebe had never relinquished his designs
theDeccan, on the Deccan. Though he had not prosecuted

them with vigour, his generals had from tune to

time invaded Beejapore, and he himself had steadily fomented

all the internal discords in that state, as well as in Golconda,

and encouraged the Mahrattas to assail and plunder them

both. Having now, in a great measure, subdued the oppo-
sition of the Rajpoots, which had been excited solely through
his own bigotry, he resolved to bring the whole strength of

the empire to bear on the subjugation of the south. It was a

war of wanton aggression, and, by a righteous retribution, it

exhausted the resources and hastened the downfall of the

Mogul power. In the year 1683 he quitted Delhi, which he

was destined never again to enter, with an army magnificent

beyond all former example. The finest cavalry was assem-

bled from the provinces beyond the Indus, and within it, and

supported by a vast and well equipped infantry. The artillery

consisted of several hundred pieces, served by native gunners,

but directed by Europeans, as well as an efficient body of

sappers and miners. A long train of elephants, intended both

for war and equipage, and a superb stud of horses accompa-
nied the camp. There was, moreover, a large menagerie of

leopards and tigers, and hawks and hounds without number,
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and all the appliances of field sport. The camp, which re-

sembled a moving city, was supplied with every luxury the

age or country could furnish. The canvas walls which sur-

rounded the emperor's personal encampment were twelve

hundred yards in circumference, and the tents contained halls

of audience, courts, cabinets, mosques, oratories, and baths

adorned with the finest silks and velvets, and cloth of gold.

There is no record of such extravagant luxury in any modern

encampment, and it maybe questioned whether it was equalled

by the Persian splendour of the army of Xerxes. But there can

be no question that a thoroughly equipped and well commanded
force of 10,000 Europeans cavalry, infantry, and artillery

would have dispersed this host like chaff before the wind.

Yet, amidst all this grandeur, the personal habits and expenses
of the emperor were as frugal and austere as those of a

hermit.

invasion of the With this unwieldy army the emperor moved
Concan, 1684. down to Boorhanpore, and then to Aurungabad,

and, by a strange infatuation, commenced his operations by

directing the odious jezzia to be imposed on all the Hindoos

of the south. Contrary to all military principles he sent a

body of 40,000 horse, under his son, prince Muazzim, to tra-

verse the stupendous ghauts, and enter the maritime province

of Concan. The prince reached the Concan without opposition,

except from the natural obstacles presented by this region of

mountains, and he plundered and laid waste every village as

he proceeded. But the work of destruction recoiled on the

invaders. The resources of the province were destroyed, and

by the time the army reached the neighbourhood of Goa, it

was in a state of starvation. The Mahratta cruizers inter-

cepted the supplies sent from the Mogul ports, and their

cavalry blocked up the passes. The wreck of this fine army,

exhausted by hunger and pestilence, was at length happy to

find shelter under the walls of Ahmednugur, while Sam-

bajee, advancing to the north, insulted the emperor by plun-

dering and burning down the town of Boorhanpore.
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invasion of
l-n 1(>86 Aurungzebe moved his camp to Sola-

Beejapore, 1686.
pore, and sent his son, prince Azim, to attack

Beejapore. In this, the last year of its national existence, the

troops of that state exhibited the most devoted gallantry. They
cut off the supplies of the Moguls, intercepted all their com-

munications, and reduced the army to a state of extreme peril,

from which it was extricated only by the extraordinary exer-

tions of Ghajee ood deen, who, after a desperate engagement,
succeeded in bringing up a convoy of 20,000 brinjaree bul-

locks with grain; but the prince could effect nothing. In

the meantime, the king of Golconda, Aboo Hussein, formed

an alliance with Sambajee, who took advantage of the embar-

rassment of the Mogul troops before Beejapore to lay waste

the province of Guzerat, and sack the town of Broach. On
the failure of the Beejapore expedition the emperor sent his

general, Khan Jehan, to attack Golconda. Mudhoona Punt,

the Mahratta minister of that state, had equipped an army of

70,000 men to meet the invasion. It was commanded by
Ibrahim Khan, whose superiority in the field was so great

as to place the Mogul commander completely in his power ; but

instead of pressing his advantages, he treacherously went

over to the enemy with a large portion of his army. Mu-
dhoona was assassinated in a popular tumult excited by his

enemies, and the helpless king sought refuge in the fortress

of Golconda. For three days Hyderabad was subject to plunder,

which the Mogul commander could not restrain, and the

wealth which Aurungzebe had destined for his own coffers

was, to his infinite chagrin, shared among the soldiers. The

king at length sued for peace, and a treaty was concluded

with him, on condition of his paying a contribution of two

crores of rupees.

ConquestofBee- Aurungzebe was now at liberty to turn his

japore, 1686. whole strength against Beejapore. The walls were

of hewn stone, six miles in circumference, and the artillery

was as superior to that of the Moguls as it had ever been ;

Aurungzebe determined therefore to blockade the town. The
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garrison began to be straitened for provisions, and its brave

Patan defenders were at length, obliged to capitulate. The

emperor, seated on a portable throne, was carried in triumph

through a breach in the walls, and the young king was con-

signed to captivity, and died within three years, not without

suspicion of violence. On the 15th of October, 1686, Beejapore
was blotted out of the roll of Indian kingdoms, after having

enjoyed a career of independence for more than a hundred and

fifty years. The revenues of the country were estimated in

the imperial registry at seven crores of rupees a year, a sum
which appears incredible, notwithstanding the fertility of its

soil, and the wealth poured into it by maritime commerce.

Whatever may have been the resources of the kingdom, the

Adil Shahee dynasty employed them in works of utility or

magnificence which had no rival in India. No race of princes

ever adorned their capital in so brief a period with such magnifi-

cent mosques, palaces, and tombs. Even at the present day,

after nearly two centuries of decay in an Indian climate, the

majestic ruins of the city attract the admiration of the traveller,

more especially the mausoleum of Mahomed Adil Shah, with its

dome of simple grandeur, which, like the dome of St. Peter's,

fills the eye of the beholder from every quarter.

Conquest of Goi- ^ne ^a*e f Golconda was not long delayed,
condoles?. Aurungzebe was determined not to allow the

treaty which he had recently concluded with the king, to

impede the absorption of the kingdom. Though the Mogul

army was now sufficiently strong to overwhelm it, the emperor

again had recourse to his habitual craft. He advanced

into the territory with a large force, under pretence of a pil-

grimage to the tomb of a saint, and began to practise on the

fears of the bewildered monarch, from whom he gradually

extracted all his treasure and jewels. It is recorded, that

Aboo Hussein stripped the inmates of his seraglio of their

ornaments to propitiate the emperor. But Aurungzebe's cold

and selfish nature was never capable of a generous emotion.

The only return he made for these offerings was a declaration
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of war against the unhappy prince, charging
1

him, a follower

of the Prophet, with the crime of having employed a brahmin

for his minister, and formed an alliance with the infidel

Mahrattas. The king, though addicted to pleasure, was roused

to indignation hy the baseness of this treatment, and for

seven months defended himself with a heroism worthy his

ancestors. The fort of Golconda was at length captured, but

only by an act of treachery, and the royal house of Kootub

Shah became extinct, after a brilliant career of a hundred

and seventy years. Mogul generals were sent to take posses-

sion of the districts in the Carnatic and Telingana, which had

been held by the kings of Beejapore and Golconda, and the

Mahrattas, leaving nothing but the principality of Tanjore in

the possession of Vencajee, in whose line it continued till

it was absorbed in the British dominions.

confusion in
The ambition of Aurungzebe was now consum-

tneDeccan. mated. He had extended his authority in the

south over tracts which had never before acknowledged the

sovereignty of the Mahomedans, and for the first time in

seven hundred years the whole of India appeared to be

bound in allegiance to a single head. The year 1688 is the

culminating point of Mahomedan rule. The calamities of

Aurungzebe commenced as soon as he had reached the sum-

mit of success, and the decay of the Mogul empire may be

dated from the fall of Golconda. The governments which had

maintained order in the Deccan had disappeared ; no system
of equal vigour was established in their stead. The suspicious
nature of Aurungzebe prevented him from entrusting any
of his generals with a force which they might be tempted, by
its magnitude, to turn against him. The two states of Beeja-

pore and Golconda had maintained their authority by an army
of 200,000 men ; the Mogul army, after their subjugation, did

not exceed 34,000 men. The disbanded soldiery enlisted

under disaffected commanders, or joined the predatory bands

cf the Mahrattas, and each petty chief, in accordance with

the prescriptive habits of the country, "withdrew hia
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neck from the yoke of obedience," whenever it could be done

with the prospect of impunity. Aurungzebe was incessantly

employed in the siege of forts ; there was no energy at the

head-quarters of government; there was no redress for the

oppression of the governors, while the collectors of the jezzia

extorted millions from the wretched Hindoos, and exasperated

them against the Mogul conquerors. The Deccan became a

scene of boundless confusion, and the last twenty years of

the reign of Aurungzebe presented a constant succession of

conspiracies and revolts, which consumed the strength of his

army and of the empire.

Death of Sam- Sambajee, infatuated with his favourite and

bajee, 1689. immersed in low pleasures, viewed with indiffer-

ence the fall of Beejapore and Golconda, though it enabled the

Moguls to concentrate their efforts upon the Mahrattas.

Aurungzebe had taken possession of the open country, and

was engaged in besieging the forts, when Sambajee was sur-

prised during a drunken revel, and conveyed as a prisoner to

his presence. After the insult offered to the imperial power

by the plunder of Boorhanpore and Broach he had sworn that
" he would never return to Delhi till he had seen the head of

the Mahratta weltering at his feet." The life of Sambajee
was offered him on condition that he would turn Musulman.

The haughty son of Sevajee replied,
" Not if you would give

me your daughter in marriage," and at the same time poured
a torrent of abuse on the Prophet. Aurungzebe ordered his

tongue to be cut out for his blasphemy, and finally put him

to death with the most excruciating tortures. Though

Sambajee had lived nine years amidst the contempt of his

subjects, his tragic end created a strong feeling of pity among

them, and gave a keen edge to that spirit of hostility which

they cherished towards the Mahomedans The flagitious exe-

cution of Sambajee, which has left a stain of the deepest die

on the character of Aurungzebe, was not only a crime, but an

error. It was the sowing of the dragon's teeth, of which

the emperor reaped an abundant harvest before his death.
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The Mahrattas, unable any longer to look
Sahoo, king of

the Mahrattas, abroad for assistance, and pressed by the whole

power of the Mogul empire, were obliged to bend
to the storm. The cabinet of ministers elected Sahoo, the

infant eon of Sambajee, though then a captive in the

emperor's camp, to fill the throne, and appointed his uncle,

Earn raja, regent. Of the great kingdom founded by Sevajee
little remained in the north, and it was determined to make
suitable arrangements for preserving the remnant, and to

transfer the seat of Mahratta power to the south. Ram-

raja, with twenty-five chiefs, made his way in disguise through
the Carnatic amidst a variety of adventures, on which the

national historians delight to dwell, and established his

court at the fortress of Ginjee, which Sevajee conquered in

1676, little dreaming at the time that it was one day to be-

come the refuge of his family. Ram raja, on his arrival, laid

aside the character of regent and assumed the ensigns of sove-

reignty, arranging his court on the model of that of his father.

Mahratta depre-
In tne following year he sent two of his

dations, 1692.
generals, Suntajee and Dhunnajee, with a force

which increased on its progress, to plunder the Mogul terri-

tories and distract their attention. They extended their ravages
to the neighbourhood of Satara, where Ramchunder, who
had been entrusted with the Mahratta interests in the

north, devised a new plan for damaging the Moguls. He
conferred the right of levying the chout and sur desk mookee,

and of laying waste the districts which refused these exac-

tions, on every Mahratta chief who could bring his retainers

into the field. At the same time he created a new demand of

ghaus dana, or forage money, which was to be the individual

perquisite of each chieftain. Under this new impulse, every
mountain and valley poured forth its inhabitants to desolate

the plains, and the Mogul authorities instead of having one

great predatory army, directed by a single head, and amenable

to obligations on their hands, had a monster with a hundred

heads to deal with.
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The Mogul army was ill fitted to contend with
Comparison of .

the Mogul and this new swarm of warriors. Its commanders were
Mahrattaarmies.^^ generais compared with the iron chiefs of

Akbar's days. They vied with each other only in extrava-

gant display, while their persons were protected from danger

by wadding and chain armour. The spread of luxury had

eaten out the spirit of valour and discipline, and nothing was

so little desired by them as the sight of the enemy. The

number of men for whom the officers drew pay, was never

honestly maintained, and the ranks were filled with any cheap

and beggarly recruits they could pick up. A force thus con-

stituted was no match for the Mahratta troops, accustomed

to hard fare and harder work. "The horse without a saddle

was rode by a man without clothes, whose constant weapon
was a trusty sabre ; footmen inured to the same travel, and

bearing all kind of arms trooped with the horse ; spare horses

accompanied them to bring off the booty, and relieve the

wearied or wounded. All gathered their daily provisions as

they passed. No pursuit could reach their march ; in conflict

their onset fell wherever they chose, and was relinquished

even in the instant of charge. Whole districts were in flames

before their approach was known, as a terror to others to

redeem the ravage."

siege of Ginjee,
The rallying point of the Mahrattas was the

169098. fortress of Ginjee, the siege of which was as

protracted as . the siege of Troy. On hearing that Ram raja

had taken up his abode in that fortress, Zulfikar Khan was

in the first instance sent to capture it; but the suspicious

temper of the emperor led him repeatedly to change the com-

manders, and the operations necessarily languished. Zul-

fikar was often in collusion with the Mahrattas, and it was
even suspected that he contemplated the establishment of

an independent authority through their aid, on the death of

the aged emperor. It was during the languor of this siege

that Suntajee Ghorepuray, having defeated the Mogul

generals in the north, appeared before the place with a body
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of 20,000 horse. The besieging army was besieged in its

turn, and Cam buksh, the son of the emperor, and the nominal

commander-in-chief, was driven to a humiliating convention.

Aurungzebe disallowed it, recalled his son, and entrusted the

command for the third time toZulfikar. But as he was in

communication with the enemy, the siege was again prolonged,
till the emperor, indignant at his inactivity, gave him the

option of its immediate capture, or his own degradation.
Zulfikar now assaulted the fort in earnest, and it was reduced

in the year 1698.

Earn rafa makes
^am raJa'

Wn Da<^ ^een allowed, through the

Satara his capi- connivance of Zulfikar, to escape from Ginjee
before its capitulation, made his way back to

his native mountains and selected Satara as his capital.

He was soon enabled to assemble a larger army than Sevajee
had ever commanded, and proceeded to levy what he termed
" the Mahratta dues

"
through the provinces of Candesh and

Berar. The greater portion of the maritime forts of the

Mahrattas had been preserved or recovered ; and, with Colaba

for their arsenal, they were enabled to keep the sea against
the Moguls. On the other hand, the Mahratta cause suffered

the severest injury by the death of Suntajee Ghorepuray,
who had been the terror of the Mogul armies for seven years.

Dhunnajee, his former associate, became his mortal enemy ; he

was hunted by his own countrymen like a wild beast, through
the region which he had filled with his exploits, and was

at length brought to bay and his head cut off and sent as an

acceptable present to the emperor.

]ang
To meet the increasing audacity of the Mah-

Aurungzebe, rattas, Aurungzebe devised the plan of separating
his army into two divisions one to be employed

in protecting the open country from their depredations the

other in capturing their forts. The first duty was committed

to Zulfikar Khan, the ablest and the most energetic of the

Mogul generals, at a time when they were universally ener-

vated by indulgence and venality. He repeatedly defeated the
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Mahrattas in the field ; but he was unable to reduce their

strength, and they always appeared more fresh after a defeat

than his own troops after a victory. Aurungzebe reserved

the task of capturing the fortresses for himself; and, breaking

up his encampment on the banks of the Beema, to the deep

regret of his voluptuous officers, commenced operations by the

siege of Satara, which was surrendered to him in four months,
in April, 1700. A month before this period Earn raja expired
at Singur, and his son, a child of ten years of age, was
declared king under the regency of his mother, Tara Bye.

Hisincreasin During the succeeding five years Aurungzebe
difficulties, 1702 was incessantly engaged in reducing the Mah-

ratta forts ; but while thus employed he continued

to superintend the minutest details of business throughout the

empire, and not even a petty officer was admitted to the

service at Cabul without his concurrence. When we are

assured that the climate of India invariably relaxes the vigour
of the body and the energies of the mind, we turn with

astonishment to this octogenarian chief, engaged incessantly

with youthful vigour in the duties of the cabinet or in the

severer labours of the field, in a wild country and a vile

climate. But all the energy of Aurungzebe was unable to

cope with the disorders which multiplied around him. The

Eajpoots were again in open hostility ; other tribes in the

north, encouraged by his continued absence, and the conse-

quent weakness of the administration, began to exhibit a

refractory spirit. His treasury was exhausted by a wasting
war of twenty-five years. The Mahratta chiefs began to

recover their forts ; and in 1705 he received accounts at one

and the same time that they had crossed the Nerbudda in

great force, and extended their ravages to Malwa, and overrun

Berar and Candesh, and also despatched 15,000 troops to levy

contributions in Guzerat. In every direction around his camp,

north, south, east, and west nothing was seen but the

sack of villages, the slaughter of troops, and devastation of

the country.
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Overtures to the In these deplorable circumstances the emperor
Mahrattas, 1706. ma(je overtures to the Mahrattas, and offered

them a legal title to the fourth and the tenth of the revenues

of the six soohahs of the Deccan, on condition of their main-

taining order and repressingviolence. But theyimmediatelyrose

in their demands, and had the effrontery to require dresses of

honour for more than seventy of their marauding chiefs. The

negotiation was therefore broken off, and the imperial encamp-
ment began to retire to Ahmednugur, closely followed by
the Mahrattas, who plundered up to the verge of the camp,
and converted the retreat into an ignominious flight.

Twenty years before Aurungzebe had marched from this

capital in all the pride and pomp of war, to extend this

dominion to Cape Comorin ; he now returned to it with the

remnant of a discomfited army, and pursued by a victorious

. . , foe, and there he expired on the 22nd of February,
Aurungzebe s r J 7

death, 22nd 1707. By his will he directed that his funeral
iruary, n( r

expenseg should be limited to four rupees and-a,

half, to be defrayed from the sum he had received for tht

caps he had made and sold ; and that the sum of 805 rupees,

which he had acquired from the sale of the Korans he had

copied with his own hands, should be distributed among the

poor.

Aurungzebe has been considered by the native
Kemarkson historians the type of Mogul greatness, and his

name is invested with an indefinite idea of gran-

deur, even in the minds of Europeans. But this feeling is

corrected by a close inspection of the events of his reign, and

it is impossible to resist the conviction that few characters in

Indian history have ever been more overrated. His personal

bravery, his military talents, and his application to business,

are deserving of all praise ; but he persisted in a policy which

was inherently vicious, after he perceived the ruin it was

bringing on the empire. He was engaged for twenty-five

years in a war, first of intolerance, and then of aggression,
which exhausted the resources of the country, and hastened
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the downfall of the house of Baber. The great oriental des-

potism of the Moguls, like others which preceded it, had

nearly run out the usual period of two centuries, and

began to crumble to pieces, as soon as the genius or the

prestige of Aurungzebe ceased to sustain it.

CHAPTER VIL

ROM THE DEATH OF AURUNGZEBE TO THE INVASION OP

NADIR SHAH, 17071739.

ON the death of Aurungzebe, prince Azim, who

M been banished through his father's dread of

Bkm of Bahadoor being treated by his own sons when weakened

by disease, as he had treated Shah Jehan, im-

mediately returned to the encampment, caused himself to

be proclaimed emperor, and prepared to march to the capital;

but his elder brother, Muazzim, with better reason, assumed

the crown, and advanced from Cabul to meet his rival. His

son, who had governed Bengal for eleven years, materially

assisted his cause by opportunely bringing up eight crores of

rupees which he had amassed during that period. The two

armies met in the neighbourhood of Agra, when prince Azim

was defeated and fell, together with two of his sons. Zulfikar,

who had remained neuter during the engagement, at once

declared for the victor. It only remained to dispose of the

pretension of the youngest son of the late emperor, Cam buksh,

who was assembling troops in the Deccan. Zulfikar marched

against him with a contingent of Mahrattas, and defeated

him. He died shortly after of his wounds, and Muazzim, who
was left the undisputed master of the empire, assumed the

title of Bahadoor Shah.

^e Mahrattas, who had baffled the power of

Ta Aurungzebe for thirty years, were now weak-

ened by intestine discord. Tara Bye, the widow of
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Ram raja held the reins of government for seven years, in

the name of her son. Sahoo, the son of Sambajee, the legiti-

mate heir to the throne, had been for seventeen years a

captive in the Mogul camp, where he had been treated with

great kindness by the emperor, who married him to the

daughters of two of the principal Mahratta sirdars in his

service. Prince Azim, when setting out to seize the prize at

Delhi, adopted the sage advice of Zulfikar, and not only

granted Sahoo his liberty but furnished him with assistance

to assert his claim to the Mahratta throne, on condition that

he should hold it as a vassal of the empire. Tara Bye imme-

diately proclaimed him an impostor, and collected an army to

oppose him; but he succeeded in obtaining possession of

Satara, and in March, 1708, assumed the functions of royalty.

In this family contest, the great Mahratta chieftains embraced

opposite sides, and drew their swords against each other ; a

happy event for the neighbouring provinces. At the end of five

years, Sevajee, the son of Tara Bye, died, and her minister

seized the opportunity of superseding her authority, and

placing another of the sons of Earn raja, Sambajee, on the

throne at Kolapore, which, from that period became the seat of

the younger branch of the royal family, and the rival of Satara.

Zulfikar Khan was rewarded for his adherence

grants the to Bahadoor Shah with the vice-royalty of the
eAoitt, 1708.

Deccan, which he committed to the care of Daood

Khan, while he himself continued to reside at the capital.

Daood Khan was a Patan of noble birth, famous throughout
the Deccan for his matchless courage, and his love of strong

drink. He paid frequent visits to Madras, and did not hesitate

to partake of English hospitality. The Madras President

always
" took care to supply him with liquors, because he was

BO generous under their influence." It is recorded that in

1701, Mr. Pitt, the father of Lord Chatham, who then occupied

that post, gave him a grand entertainment in the Council

Chamber, when the Patan "
pledged the chief largely in cordial

waters and French brandy, amidst a discharge of cannon."
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Zulfikar, who was desirous of cultivating peace with the

Mahrattas, of whom he had been the most formidable foe in

the field for fifteen years, authorized his lieutenant to offer

Sahoo the chout which the Mahrattas had so long extorted

by violence. Though the concession came only from a local

officer, and was not therefore conclusive, it was not the less

prized by the Mahratta cabinet, as the first legitimate title

they had been able to acquire to their exactions. The tran-

quillity of Rajpootana was secured by the same spirit of

concession to its three principal rajas.

Origin of the These arrangement which clearly indicated the
Sikhs.

growing weakness of the empire, appear to have

been hastened by the inroads of the Sikhs in the north.

Nanuk, the founder of the Sikh community, who flourished

about the close of the fifteenth century, taught, that devotion

was due to God, but that forms were immaterial, and that the

worship of the Hindoos and the Mahomedans was equally

acceptable to the deity. The sect which he founded gradually

increased in numbers for a century, and became an object of

detestation to the bigotted Mahomedans, who massacred its

pontiff in 1606. In 1675, Gooroo Govind, the tenth spiritual

chief in succession from Nanuk, conceived the idea of forming
the Sikhs into a military, ae well as a religious, commonwealth.

He abolished all distinction of caste, and admitted all converts

to perfect equality; but every member of the body was

required to be a pledged soldier from his birth, or his initiation.

He inculcated reverence for the Hindoo gods and brahmins,

and prohibited the slaughter of kine. After a long struggle

with the Mahomedans, he saw his strongholds captured, his

mother and children destroyed, and his followers slaughtered,

mutilated, or dispersed. These severities exasperated the

fanaticism of the Sikhs, and planted an inextinguishable

hatred of the Mahomedans in their minds. Under a new

thief, of the name of Bandoo, they issued from their retreats,

overran the Punjab, and, if we are to believe the Mahomedan

historians, committed unheard of atrocities.
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Death of Baha- At the beginning of the eighteenth century,
door Shah, 1712.

they had extended their inroads, on the one side

to Lahore, and on the other to Delhi; and Bahadoor Shah

marched against them in person and drove them back to the

hills. He died on his return to Lahore, in February, 1712,

after a brief reign of five years, at the age of seventy-two.

Accession and
^s death was immediately followed by the usual

death of jehan- contest among his sons, which terminated in the de-

feat and death of three of them, when the survivor

mounted the throne, and assumed the title of Jehander Shah.

One of the earliest acts of his reign, was to put to death all

the princes of the blood royal within his reach. He appointed

Zulfikar Khan,who had supported him through the conflict to the

post of vizier, while he resigned himself to the most degrading

pleasures, and raised the relatives of a dancing girl who had be-

fcome his favourite mistress, to the highest honours in the

state. But his ignoble career was speedily cut short by his

nephew, Ferokshere, who had escaped the massacre of his

family, by his absence in Bengal, of which he was the vice-

roy. He advanced with an army of 70,000 men, and defeated

the emperor in the neighbourhood of Agra. The noble Zul-

fikar Khan, the last of the great captains of the Mogul

dynasty, whose ancestors had served it in the highest offices

for more than a century, was basely strangled by the orders

of Ferokshere, and the wretched Jehander Shah was put to

death after a reign of six months.

Ferokshere, HIS. Ferokshere, the most contemptible, as yet, of
The syuds. anv Of ^he princes of his line, ascended the throne

in 1713, and dishonoured it for six years by his vices and his

coward/ce. He owed his elevation to the exertions of two

brothers, Hussein Ali, the governor of Behar, and Abdoolla

Khan, the governor of Allahabad, generally denominated the

Syuds, to denote their descent from the Prophet, and his

reign was little else but a series of machinations to destroy
them. The one was advanced to the post of vizier, and Hussein
Ali was appointed commander-in-chief. They were both men
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of talent and valour, but, as they monopolised all power, they

incurred the jealousy of the emperor and the enmity of his

favourites. Immediately on his accession Ferokshere made a na-

tive of Mooltan, who had been a cazee at Dacca, his chief confi-

dant, and under his influence sent Hussein Ali against Ajeet

Sing, the raja of Joudhpore, in the hope that the expedition

might prove fatal to him. But he disappointed his enemies by

concluding an honourable peace with the raja, and inducing him

to give one of his daughters in marriage to the emperor. The

nuptials, which were celebrated at Delhi with extraordinary

splendour, have become memorable in the history of British

India by the patriotic conduct of a British surgeon, the par-

ticulars of which will be given in a future chapter.

Nizam-ooi- Daood Khan, who had governed the Deccan as

<f.
eroy the deputy of Zulfikar Khan, was removed after

of the Deccan, J

1713. the destruction of his patron, and sent as governor
to Guzerat. The agreement he had made with the Mahrattas

regarding the chout and other dues fell to the ground on his

removal and they began to collect them again by violence. The

office of soobadar of the Deccan was bestowed on the son of

Ghazee-ood-deen, who has been already mentioned in connec-

tion with the siege of Beejapore in 1686. The family had

emigrated from Turkey, or rather Tartary, to seek its fortunes

in India, and belonged to a clique of officials at the capital

who were commonly designated the Tooranee nobles. Chin

Kilich Khan, the new soobadar, rose to distinction in the court

of Aurungzebe, by whom he was decorated with the titles

of Asof-Jah and Nizam-ool-moolk. As it was on this occasion

that he laid the foundation of the kingdom of Hyderabad,
we shall anticipate the period of his independence by desig-

nating him henceforward as the Nizam. He was a statesman

of great experience and ability, but of still greater subtlety

During the seventeen months of his incumbency he fomented

the dissensions between the rival houses of Kolapore and

Satara, and thus established some check on the ravages of

the Mahrattas. Sahoo was induced to acknowledge himself
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a vassal of the emperor, and though in his own circle he as-

sumed the title of king of the Hindoos, in the court calendar

he was ranked as a Mogul commander of 10,000.
Balajee Vishwu-

nath.peshwa, The increasing contentions of these two branches

of the family of Sevajee had created such anarchy
as to bring the Mahratta state to the verge of ruin, when the

genius of Balajee Vishwunath placed the party of Sahoo in the

ascendant, and rekindled the smoulderingenergies of thenation.

Balajee was originally a simple karkoon, or village accountant,

but rose through various gradations of office till he reached the

dignity of Peshwa, or chief minister. It was to his energy
that the rapid expansion of the Mahratta power, when it had

reached the limit of depression, is to be attributed, and

he may justly be regarded as the second founder of its

greatness.

Hussein AH ^ne Nizam was discharged from the office of

Soobadarofthe
viceroy of the Deccan to make room for Hussein

Death of Daooa Ali, one of the Syuds, who was sent thither to
Khan. remove hmi from the court. Instructions were at

the same time given to Daood Khan to offer him the most

strenuous but covert opposition, and the reversion of the ap-

pointment was held out to him as the reward of success.

But Daood Khan was too daring and impetuous for any sub-

terfuge, and he determined to bring the dispute to an immediate

issue. He accordingly met Hussein Ali with his own
veteran force, and attacked him with such fuiy as to scatter

his forces like a flock of sheep. But in the moment of victory

a cannon-ball struck him dead, and the fortune of the day was

changed. His devoted wife, a Hindoo princess, on hearing of

his fate, stabbed herself to the heart. The memory of his

reckless courage and his chivalrous exploits is still preserved
in many a ballad and proverb in the Deccan. Hussein Ali,

flushed with this victory, took the field against the Mahrattas,

but was completely defeated, and they immediately extended

their encroachments and enlarged their claims. The emperor,
anxious only for the destruction of his own obnoxious general,
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gave them every encouragement to resist him, and promised
to reward them if they were successful.

Hussein Ali, distracted on the one hand by the
Convention with '

i
the Mahrattas, incessant plots hatched against him at Delhi, and

on the other by the depredations of the Mahrattas,

who were stimulated by the court, adopted the desperate

resolution of winning them over to his cause by concessions.

He entered into negotiations with the Mahratta cabinet, which

were conducted with consummate skill by Balajee Vishwunath,

and resulted in a convention as advantageous to the Mahrattas

as it was disgraceful to the Moguls. Sahoo was acknowledged
as the independent sovereign of the districts comprised in the

family jaygeer, and of subsequent conquests. The " fourth
"

and the " tenth
"

of the revenues of the six soubahs of the

Deccan, and of the tributary states of Tanjore, Mysore, and

Trichinopoly, were bestowed on him on condition that he

should, in addition to the usual fee on such grants, pay an

annual tribute of ten lacs of rupees, furnish a contingent of

15,000 troops, and become responsible for the peace of the

Deccan.

Remarks on this
This was the greatest stride to power the Mah-

Convenaon. rattas had yet made, and it fulfilled the fondest

wishes of the founder of this system of spoliation. It fur-

nished them with a large and permanent revenue, for though
the six soubahs had been exhausted by the incessant ravages
of war, the assignment granted to the Mahrattas was, at

their dictation, calculated on the sum of 18 crores, which

those provinces had yielded in the years of peace and pros-

perity. It would apparently have been more to the pecuniary

advantage of the Mahrattas to exchange assignments spread
over a country which extended from sea to sea, and from the

Nerbudda to Cape Comorin, for a compact territory. But the

great object of the Peshwa was to render the claims of the

Mahratta nation as complicated, as extensive, and as vague
as possible, and thus to acquire a right of constant inter-

ference in the revenue administration of the entire Deccan,
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well knowing that the interpretation of its demands would

rest with the strongest. This famous convention gave a

new impulse to the Mahratta policy, and at the same time

placed the government more exclusively in the hands of the

cabinet of brahmins at Satara, of whom the Peshwa was the

head. It likewise provided congenial employment for a host of

Mahratta officers, who were now planted in every district of

the south to collect the tribute, with every motive to multiply

their exactions.

Hussein Au This convention enabled Hussein Ali to with-
marches to Dei- draw his armies from the Deccan, and to march to
hi. Death of

Ferokshere, Delhi. The emperor was advised to disallow

the treaty, and the breach between him and the

Syuds became wider. Hussein Ali hastened to the capital to

restore the ascendancy of his family, accompanied by Balajee

Vishwunath, and 10,000 select Mahratta horse. A confede-

racy which included the chief ministers of state, was formed

by the emperor for the destruction of the brothers, but he

had not the courage necessary for such an enterprise, and

had, moreover, come under the influence of a new favourite.

Hussein Ali was therefore enabled to march into the city with

little opposition. Ferokshere made the most abject submis.

eions, but was dragged from the recesses of the seraglio

where he had taken refuge, and privately assassinated.

Two puppets were successively placed on the
Accession of rjr *

Mahomed shah, vacant throne by the tnumphant Syuds, but they

disappeared by poison or disease in a few months,

when Rustum Khan, a grandson of Aurungzebe, was made

emperor, and assumed the title of Mahomed Shah, the last who

deserved the name of emperor of India. Weak and despic-

able as Ferokshere had been on the throne, his tragic death

created great sympathy throughout the country, and the popu-

lar indignation against his assassins was manifested by

risings and rebellions in various districts ; but the greatest

subject of disquietude to the brothers arose from the conduct

of the Nizam. Though he had joined the Syuds against the
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late emperor, he was alienated from their interests by being
nominated to the inferior post of governor of Guzerat, when
he had every reason to expect the viceroyalty of the Deccan.

He began to collect troops, on the plea of restoring order in

the province assigned to him, but in reality to establish his

own power in the south, where he had many adherents, both

Revolt of the m- among the Mahrattas and the Mahomedans. He
zam, June, n20.marched southward with 12,000 men, and having

captured the important fortress of Asseergur, and overrun

Candesh, defeated two armies which were sent against him,

and thus became master of his position.

Hussein AH as- Meanwhile the young emperor was fretting
lassinated, 1720. un^er the yoke of the Syuds, and, under the dis-

creet guidance of his mother, formed a combination among
the nobles of his court to release himself from their power.

The plot, which embraced some of the most eminent of the

courtiers, could not be concealed from the brothers ; but they
were distracted by the difficulties which surrounded them on

every side. At length it was resolved that Hussein Ali

should march against the Nizam, taking the emperor with him,

and that Abdoolla should return to Delhi, the court being then

at Agra, to look after the family interests. Five days after

the army had commenced its march, a savage Calmuck, who
had been selected to strike the blow, approached the palan-

keen of Hussein Ali, on pretence of presenting a petition, and

stabbed him to the heart. In the conflict which necessarily

ensued, the partisans of the emperor were victorious, and the

army marched back to Delhi. Abdoolla, hearing of his bro-

ther's fate, set up a new emperor, and marched to encounter

Mahomed Shah, but he was entirely defeated, though his life

was spared in consideration of his august lineage.

Mahomed Shah, now a free monarch, entered
Mahomed Shah
enters the capi- his capital with great pomp a twelvemonth after
"^ 1720'

he had been elevated to the throne, and made a

liberal distribution of offices. The odious jezzia, the tax on

infidels, was abolished. The Rajpoot rajas of Joudhpore and
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Jeypore were promoted to governorships ; while the raja of

Oodypore, still isolated by his
.
orthodox dignity, refused all

intercourse with the court, and sunk into contempt. Sadut

Ali, a Khorasan merchant, who had raised himself
Origin of the

'

oude family, by his talents to the charge of Biana, was made

soobadar of Oude, where he founded the royal

dynasty which was extinguished in 1856. The office of vizier

was reserved for the Nizam, who came up from the Deccan

to assume the control of public affairs. But
The Nizam ap-

pointed Vizier, he found the new emperor utterly unworthy
of his station, immersed in pleasures, and so

besotted with a favourite mistress.as to have given her the

custody and use of the royal signet. He endeavoured to

rouse Mahomed Shah to a sense of his duties as the head of

a great empire which was exposed on every side to danger.

But his master turned a deaf ear to this sage counsel, and

listened with more delight to the advice of his dissolute com-

panions, who amused him by turning the antiquated habits

and solemn manner of the venerable statesman, then in his

seventy-fifth year, into ridicule.

He returns to the The courtiers, to rid themselves of the presence
Deccan, 1723. of the vizier, sent him against the refractory

governor of Guzerat, whom their own folly had driven into

rebellion. He quelled the revolt at once by his tact, and returned

to the capital, where, however, he did not long remain. Dis-

gusted with the weakness and profligacy of the court, and

despairing of any reform, he threw up his office, and proceeded

to the Deccan. The emperor loaded him with honours on his

departure, but at the same time instigated the local governor

of Hyderabad, Mobariz Khan, to resist his authority, and held

out the reversion of the viceroyalty as a bait. The Nizam

defeated Mobariz, and sent his head to Delhi, congratulating

the Court on the extinction of the revolt. He then fixed on

Hyderabad, the ancient capital of the Kootub-Shahee dynasty,

Founds
as ^e seat f his government, and from this period

Hyderabad, 1724. may be dated the rise of the Nizam's dominion.
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Balaiee Vishwunath, as already stated, had
Death of Balajee

J
. .

' *

accompanied Hussein All with a Mahratta con-
im

tingent to Delhi, and, on the accession of Maho-

med Shah, obtained the imperial confirmation of the grants

of the " fourth
" and the "

tenth," and returned in triumph
with the invaluable charters, fourteen in number, to Satara,

where he soon after died. Before his death he completed the

arrangements for the collection of the assignments he had

acquired, and established a system of the most intricate sub-

division of interests, by which ample provision was made for

a whole army of Mahratta officials. A preponderating power
was thus given to the cabinet of brahmins at Satara, which

eventually resulted in the transfer of all the authority of the

state to their chief, the Peshwa. He was succeeded in his

Bajee Eao,
office by h*8 son Bajee Kao, who exhibited in the

Peshwa, 1721
highest degree the enterprise of the Mahratta

character, and in talent and vigour proved to be second only
to Sevajee. The interest of the succeeding twenty years of

the history of India centres in the alliances, and disputes, and

strategy* of the young Mahratta statesman of Satara, and the

subtle old Turk at Hyderabad, who made peace and war with-

out any reference to the emperor at Delhi.

The impetuosity of Baiee Kao's character led
Bajee Bao's ad- J J

vice to sahoo, him to propose the boldest schemes of ambition

to his master Sahoo. He felt that unless em-

ployment could be found abroad for the large body of predatory
horse which formed the smews of the Mahratta power they
would be engaged in mischief at home. Fully aware of the

decay of the Mogul power, he urged the king
" to strike the

trunk of the withering tree, the branches must fall of them-

selves. Now is our time to drive strangers from the land of

the Hindoos, and to acquire immortal renown. By directing

our efforts to Hindostan the Mahratta flag in your reign

shall fly from the Kistna to the Attok." " You shall plant it

on the Himalayu," replied Sahoo. But he had been bred in

the luxury of a Mahomedan seraglio, and had lost the boldness
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and energy of the Mahratta character. Bajee Rao found

that his own ardour was ill seconded by his sovereign, and was

constrained to act under his own discretion; and thus the

house of Sevajee waxed weaker, and the house of the Peshwa

waxed stronger.

Affairs of The Nizam had appointed his uncle, Humeed
Guzemt.

Khan, his representative in Guzerat, in opposition
to the court at Delhi. The court appointed Sir-boolund Khan

governor of the province, with directions to extinguish this

revolt. With the aid of two Mahratta commanders, Kantajee
and Peelajee, Humeed Khan was enabled to defeat the Mogul
armies, and rewarded them with a grant of the " fourth

" and

the " tenth
"

of the revenues of Guzerat. Bajee Rao took

advantage of this discord, and renewed his excursions into

Malwa, granting Sindia, Holkar, and Powar of Dhar, commis-

sions to levy chout in that province, while he himself proceeded
to the south, and exacted contributions from the ruler at Se-

ringapatam. Alarmed by the increasing audacity of the

Peshwa's depredations, the Nizam endeavoured to revive the

dissensions of the rival houses of Kolapore and Satara. Sam-

bajee claimed his share of the assignments which had been

granted to the Peshwa, Balajee Vishwunath, on the six

soubahs of the Deccan, and the Nizam, as the official represen-
tative of the emperor, called on both parties to produce their

titles and substantiate their claims before him. Sahoo and his

cabinet were filled with indignation by what they deemed an

insolent attempt to interfere in their domestic quarrels. Bajee
Rao instantly assembled a large army, and marched against
the Nizarn, who was likewise supported by a large body of

Mahrattas, but he was driven into a position where the want
of provisions constrained him to enter into negotiations, which

terminated more favourably than could have been expected.

. ... The singular moderation of the Peshwa on this
Peshwa obtains

the ciumt of occasion, when the Nizam was at his mercy, was
!rat> 1 2 '

not without a cause. He was at the time nego-

tiating with Sir-boolundKhan, the imperial governor of Guzerat,
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who had succeeded in establishing- his authority, for the chout

and other assignments which had been granted to the two

Mahratta officers already mentioned, and, to expedite the bar-

gain, sent his brother to lay the country waste. Sir-boolund

at length found it expedient to purchase some measure of

peace by yielding to these demands The concession was,

however, more restricted than that . which had been granted

by Hussein Ali, and confirmed by Mahomed Shah. The

ohout was to be calculated on the actual amount of collections ;

only two or three officers were to be placed in each district to

collect the dues ; no other exactions were to be inflicted on the

ryots, and every assistance was to be given to the imperial

authority. From these limitations we are enabled to perceive

how greatly the Mahrattas had abused the power conferred on

them by the charters which they obtained eight years before.

Never was a more flagitious and intolerable system of extor-

tion invented by human ingenuity than that which the genius of

Sevajee had devised, and which the Mahrattas considered it

their mission to extend over the whole of India.

While Baiee Rao was employed in settling his
Kolapore and > *

Satora at peace, demands on Guzerat, Sambajee crossed the Wurna
' 30*

and plundered the territory of his rival, Sahoo

He was, however, subsequently defeated, and obliged to sign
an acknowledgment of his cousin's right to the entire Mah-
ratta territory, with the exception of a small tract around

Kolapore, to which his branch of the royal family was thence-

forward to be confined, and thus ended the dissensions of

twenty years. The Nizam, foiled in his attempt to weaken the

Mahrattas by internal discord, found a new instrument of

mischief in Dhabarry, the Mahratta commander-in-chief. He
had been intrusted with the Mahratta interests in Guzerat,

and was mortified to find that the chout and other dues in his

own province had been carried off by Bajee Rao. Under a

feeling of resentment and at the instigation of the Nizam, he

marched towards Satara with 35,000 men, with the avowed

object of releasing Sahoo from the tyranny of the Peohwa, but
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he was defeated by an inferior force, and fell in battle. The

influence of his rival was increased in no small degree by this

attempt to destroy it. But the Peshwa acted with generosity,

and conferred the office which had been held by Dhabarry on

his son, an infant, and entrusted the management of affairs to

origin of the Peelajee Guickwar, whose immediate ancestor
Guickwar. was a co\v-herd, and whose descendants now

occupy the throne of Baroda.

origin of noikar To this period also belongs the rise of the fami-
and Sindia. jj^ of Holkar and Sindia, destined to take a

prominent share in the politics of India. Mulhar Rao Holkar

was ihe son of a herdsman, but, being a youth of adventurous

disposition, exchanged the crook for the sword, and by his

daring courage recommended himself to Bajee Rao, who en-

trusted him with the charge of levying contributions in eighty-

four districts or villages in Malwa. Ranojee Sindia, th(,agh

said to be allied to the noblest families in Rajpootana, was of

the caste of cultivators, and entered the service of Balajee

Vishwunath as a menial servant. It is related that on one

occasion his master, returning from an interview with the raja

Sahoo, found his attendant asleep on his back with the slippers

firmly grasped in his hand. Struck with his fidelity in so

humble an occupation, the Peshwa introduced him into his

body-guard. He soon became one of the foremost of the

Mahratta chieftains, and, like Holkar, received assignments
on the districts of Malwa, which formed the nucleus of the

family domain.

After the defeat of Dhabarry, the Peshwa
Convention be- j .1 XT- j j-
tween Kajce Rao ano- *O6 .Nizam came to a mutual understanding
ami the Nizam, for ^he promotion of their respective interests,

and it was agreed that Bajee Rao should be at

liberty to plunder the Mogul territories in the north without

restraint, and that the Nizam's possessions in the south should

not be molested by the Mahrattas. In fact, the Nizam, the

representative of the emperor in the Deccan, purchased peace

by letting the Mahrattas loose on the dominions of his sove-

o 2
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reign beyond the Nerbudda. Bajee Rao crossed that river in

1732, and laid waste the devoted province of Malwa. The

Mogul governor, Mahomed Bungush, was engaged at the

time in besieging a refractory chief in Bundlecund, who in-

voked the aid of Bajee Rao. Bungush was soon, in his turn,

besieged, and was rescued only by the prompt arrival of his

countrymen from Rohilcund. The Bundlecund raja evinced his

gratitude to the Peshwa by bequeathing him a third of his

territory of Jhansi; and thus was the Mahratta standard

Maiwa ceded to planted for the first time on the banks of the

Bajee Kao, me jumna> The government of Malwa was soon

after conferred by the emperor on the Rajpoot prince, Jey

Sing, whose reign was rendered illustrious by the encourage-

ment of science and the erection of the beautiful city of Jey-

pore, with its palaces, halls, and temples, and, above all, its

noble observatory. The profession of a common creed had

promoted a friendly intercourse between the Mahratta and

the Rajpoot chiefs, and Jey Sing, who was more of a scholar

than a statesman, made over the whole province of Malwa to

Bajee Rao, though not without the supposed concurrence of

the feeble court of Delhi.

Bajee Rao's de- These concessions only served to inflame the
mands, 1736. ambition of Bajee Rao, and the necessities of his

position constrained him to extend his aggressions. Great

as were the resources of the Mahratta state, the greater por-
tion of the revenue was absorbed by the chiefs who collected

it, and only a fraction reached the national treasury. The

magnitude of Bajee Rao's operations had involved him in debt ;

the bankers were slow to make further advances ; his troops

were clamorous for their pay, and discipline was weakened by
his inability to meet their claims. He therefore demanded

of the imperial court a confirmation of the assignments
on Guzerat which had been granted by Sir-boolund Khan,
and of the recent cession of the province of Malwa, as his

personal jaygeer. The emperor, or rather his minister,

Khan Dowran, offered him an assignment of thirteen lacs of
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rupees on the districts south of the Chumbul, with permission

to levy tribute in Rajpootana, in the hope that this claim would

embroil him with the Rajpoot princes. But Bajee Rao,

having learnt from his agent at Delhi that all his demands

were likely to be conceded with a little more pressure, imme-

diately increased them, and did not scruple to claim the whole

territory south of the Chumbul, the surrender of the holy

cities of Benares, Gya, Muttra, and Allahabad, and the im-

mediate payment of fifty lacs of rupees. The court endea-

voured to appease him with smaller sacrifices, which he readily

accepted, but without abating the price of his forbearance, or

the progress of his army. Holkar crossed the Jumna, by his

orders, and plundered the Dooab, but was driven back by
Sadut Khan, the soobadar of Oude ; and this success was

magnified at Delhi into a grand victoiy, in which thousands of

infidels were said to have perished. It was even reported

that Bajee Rao had been obliged to retire. " I was compelled,"

he wrote,
" to tell the emperor the truth, and to prove to him

that I was still in Hindoostan; to show him flames and Mah-
rattas at the gates of his capital." He advanced towards

Delhi by forced marches of forty miles a day. The conster-

nation in the imperial city may well be conceived ; but his

object was not to sack the capital, but to intimidate the court

into concessions, and circumstances rendered it advisable for

him to withdraw. His moderation encouraged a party of

eight thousand horse under some of the nobles to attack his

carnp, but they were easily repelled by Holkar. Bajee Rao

now retired from the north, recrossed the Nerbudda, and pro-

ceeded to Satara.

The Mahrattas appeared now to be paramountThe Nizam do- . T ,. ,

feated by Bajee in India, and the Nizam was considered by the
uao, 1737.

emperor and his ministers, the only man who could

save the empire from extinction. He himself perceived, when
too late, the impolicy of his compact with Bajee Rao in 1732,

which had enabled the Mahrattas to plunder the northern

provinces without interruption, and augmented their power to
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an extent which now threatened his own safety and that of

every other Mahomedan potentate in India. He listened to

the overtures of the court, and repaired to Delhi, where the

government of Malwa and of Guzerat was conferred on him,

and all the power and resources of the empire were placed at

his disposal. But these resources Were now reduced to so low

an ebb that he could assemble an army of only 34,000

men, with which he moved down to Malwa, while the Peshwa

advanced to oppose him with 80,000. Owing, perhaps, to

his great age he was now ninety-three perhaps to an

over-confidence in his artillery, which was esteemed the best

in India, he intrenched himself near Bhopal, instead of boldly

encountering the enemy in the field. Bajee Rao adopted the

usual Mahratta system of warfare laying waste the country

around, intercepting all supplies, and harassing his opponent
with incessant attacks. At length, on the twenty-fourth

day from the commencement of the siege, the Nizam, receiving

no reinforcements, while his enemy called up every Mahratta

chief in the Deccan to his aid, was constrained to sign a humilia-

tingtreaty, granting to the victorious Mahratta the sovereignty

of Malwa, and of all the territory up to the banks of the

Chumbul, and engaging to use all his influence to obtain the

grant of fifty lacs of rupees from the treasury at Delhi. But

that treasure was to find a different destination,

invasion ofNadir ^ was m the midst of these distractions, which
Shah, 1738. exhausted the strength of the empire, that Nadir

Shah made his appearance on the banks of the Indus, and

India was visited with another of those desolating irruptions

to which it had been repeatedly subject during seven hundred

years.

Nadir's
^ne Pers ian dynasty of the Sofis, which had

antecedent lasted for two centuries, the usual term of Asiatic

monarchies, was subverted in 1722 by the Ghiljies,

the most powerful of the Afghan tribes. Shah Hussein,

the last of that royal line, was blockaded by them in his capi-

tal, Ispahan, which had then attained the summit of pros-
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perity, and contained a population of 600,000. After the

besieged had endured the greatest extremities of misery and

want, the king with his court went out attired in deep mourn-

ing and gave himself up to Mahmood, the victorious chief, and

placed the diadem on his brows. Mahmood, after a reign of

two years, rendered execrable by his cruelties, left all his con-

quests to his son Asruf. Nadir Shah, the greatest warrior

Persia has produced since the days of Darius, was the son of

a shepherd of Khorasan. His enterprising spirit led him to

collect a band of freebooters ; their number increased with

their success, and he soon found himself at the head of a

formidable force, with which he freed Khorasan from the

Abdalee Afghans who had overrun it. The Ghiljie king of

Persia was the next to feel his power, and was obliged to re-

sign all his father's conquests in Persia. Nadir, after his first

success, raised Thamasp, the son of the dethroned Sofi monarch

to the throne ; but when he had expelled the Turks and the

Russians from the provinces they had occupied, and restored

independence and dignity to his native land, he ascended the

throne himself, on the assumed imporl unity of a hundred

thousand of his subjects, nobles, soldiers, and peasants, as-

sembled together on a vast plain to offer him the crown.

To find employment for his troops, and to
He invades Af-

ghanistan and gratify the resentment of his countrymen, he
India, 1737-38

carrie(i his arms into the country of the Ghiljies,

by whom they had been oppressed ; but Candahar was be-

sieged for a twelvemonth before it surrendered. While en-

gaged in the siege, Nadir sent a messenger to Delhi to

demand the surrender of some of his fugitive subjects. The
court was at the time distracted by the claims of Bajee Rao,
and the demand was neglected. A second messenger was
assassinated at Jellalabad. The government of India had,

from time immemorial, been in the habit of paying an annual

subsidy to the highlanders who occupy the passes between

Cabul and Peshawur, and who were in a position to arrest the

progress of any invader. In the confusion of the times the
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payment of this black mail had been discontinued, and the

Highlanders now opened the gates of India to Nadir Shah,

who crossed the Indus, on a bridge of boats, with 65,000

hardy veterans, and overran the Punjab before the court of

Delhi was aware of his approach.

Massacre of The emperor marched to Curnal to repel the in-

Deihi, 1739.
vasion, biit experienced a fatal defeat, and, being

without the means of resistance, proceeded immediately to

the Persian camp, and threw himself on the mercy of the con-

queror. The object of Nadir was wealth, not conquest, and

it has been affirmed that he was prepared to retire on receiving

a contribution of two crores of rupees ;
but Sadut Ali, the

soobadar of Oude,who had been refused some favour by the em-

peror, sought revenge by representing to Nadir that this was

a very inadequate ransom for an opulent empire, adding, that

he was able to furnish such a sum from his own province alone.

On this Nadir determined to levy the exactions under his own

eye. He entered Delhi in March, 1739, in company with the

ompernr, and took up his residence in the palace. On the

succeeding day a report of his death was spread abroad, and

the citizens rose on the Persians, of whom a thousand perished

in the tumult, which continued throughout the night. The

next morning Nadir mounted his horse and went forth to

restore order, but the first sight which met his eye was the

mangled corpses of his soldiers ; at the same time he himself

was assailed with missiles from the windows, and a favourite

officer was struck dead at his side. Unable any longer to

restrain his fury, he issued orders for a general massacre of the

inhabitants. For several hours the metropolis of India pre-

sented a scene of violence, lust, and bloodshed, and 8,000 are

said to have fallen under the swords of the infuriated soldiery ;

yet so complete was Nadir's discipline, that every sword was

sheathed the moment he issued the order.

Plunder of Nadir Shah now entered deliberately on the

Delhi, 1739. W0rk of spoliation. He despoiled the emperor and

his nobles of all their treasures and jewels, caused every house
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to be searched and sacked, and spared no cruelty to extort

confessions of wealth. Of the infamous Sadut Ah' he de-

manded the whole of the sum which he had said his soubah was

able to furnish, and the traitor terminated his existence by

swallowing poison. The governors of the other provinces

were likewise laid under heavy contributions. Having thus

subjected Delhi to fifty-eight days of ruthless pillage, and ex-

hausted, as he supposed, the wealth of the country, he pre-

pared to take his departure with plunder estimated at thirty-

two crores of rupees. Before his departure he reseated

Mahomed Shah on the throne, but annexed all the countries

west of the Indus to the crown of Persia. He likewise sent

a circular to all the princes of India to acquaint them that he

was moving to the conquest of other regions, and had replaced

his dear brother Mahomed Shah on the throne of his extensive

empire, and that if any report of their rebellion reached his

ears, he would return and blot their names out of the book of

creation.

The Mogul empire, which had been in a state of
State of India

after Nadir's rapid decay for more than thirty years, since the
irruption in 1739. death of Aurungzebe ,

received its death-blow

from the irruption of Nadir Shah and the sack of the capital.

Its prestige was irrecoverably lost, and the various provinces

ceased to yield any but a nominal obedience to the throne of

Delhi. All its possessions beyond the Indus were alienated

to the crown of Persia. In the extreme south the Mogul

authority was extinct in the principalities of Tanjore, Madura,
and Mysore. The nabob of the Carnatic recognised no

superior. The government of the Deccan was shared between

the Nizam and the Mahrattas, and the Mahrattas had recently

extended their ravages to the gates of Delhi. In the pro-

vinces of Guzerat and Malwa the authority of the emperor
was trembling in the balance. The rajas of Rajpootana had

ceased to be the vassals of the throne. The soobadars of

Oude and Bengal acknowleged the emperor as the source of

authority, but yielded him no obedience. Even in the imme-
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diate vicinity of the metropolis new chiefs were, as the Maho-

medan historian remarks,
"
beating the drum of independence."

Towards the close of Aurungzebe's reign a tribe of sooders

called Jauts emigrated from the banks of the Indus to the

districts lying between Agra and Jeypore, and founded their

capital, Bhurtpore, out of the plunder of the emperor's camp

equipage ; and their leader, Chooramun, did not scruple to set

the imperial authority at defiance. To the north of Delhi, a

tribe of Rohilla Afghans, recently embodied under a circum-

cised Hindoo, were rapidly rising into importance. The house

of Baber had accomplished the cycle of its existence, and the

sceptre of India was about to pass into other hands. Having
thus reached the verge of a new era, we turn to the origin

and progress of the strangers to whose lot that sceptre was
to fall, though at this period they were engaged in the peace-

ful pursuits of commerce, and dreaming of nothing so little

as the establishment of an empire in India. The main stream

of this narrative will now follow the fortunes of the British

po\er, to which the history of the various kingdoms which

rose upon the decay of the Moguls will be subsidiary. But, it

may be useful to bear in mind, that, with the exception of the

liajpoot chiefs and the puppet emperor at Delhi, not one ol

the kingdoms which were subsequently absorbed in the British

empire had been in existence even a quarter of a century
when the English first took up arms in Hindostan.

CHAPTER VIII.

RISE AND PROGRESS OF THE ENGLISH, 1600 1756.

THE rich trade which the Portuguese had esta-
The English in

India before Wished in the East during the sixteenth century

served to quicken the spirit of enterprise which

Queen Elizabeth laboured to foster in England, and her sub-

jects were impatient to share in its profits. The splendid and
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successful voyages of Drake, Cavendish, and other English

navigators to the eastern hemisphere tended.to augment the

national ardour. In 1583, Fitch and three other adventurers

started on a commercial expedition to India, by way of Aleppo
and Bagdad. They carried letters of introduction from the

queen to the emperor Akbar, soliciting his kind offices to her

subjects who were proceeding from a far country to trade in

his dominions, and offering the same kindness in return to

any of his subjects who might visit England. Fitch travelled

through the length and breadth of Hindostan, and was struck

with the splendour of the court, the grandeur of the nobility,

and the magnitude and opulence of the cities. The informa-

tion which he collected regarding the commodities of the

country, and the industry and wealth of the people, opened up
visions of a lucrative commerce to his fellow-countrymen. A
petition was accordingly presented to the Queen for permis-
sion to send three vessels to India, but the political caution

of her ministers rendered it fruitless.

An association was at length formed in London,
m 1599, consisting of merchants, ironmongers,

clothiers, and other men of substance, who sub-

scribed the sum of 30, 133 J. for the purpose of opening a trade

with the East. In the following year they obtained a charter

of incorporation from Queen Elizabeth, which granted them

the exclusive privilege of this traffic for fifteen years, if it

proved advantageous to the nation ;
if otherwise, it was liable

to be annulled on two years' notice. Such was the origin of the

East India Company, which confined itself to commerce for a

hundred and fifty years, and then took up arms in defence

of its factories, and in less than a century established British

sovereignty from the Himalayu to Cape Coinorin, and from

Peshawur to the borders of Siam.

The first adventure of the Company was placed under the

command of Captain Lancaster, and consisted of five vessels

freighted with iron, tin, lead, cloth, cutlery, glass, quicksilver,

and Muscovy hides, of the value of 68,000 rupees, and 287,420
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rupees in bullion. It sailed from Torbay on the 2nd of May,
1601, with letters of introduction from the Queen to the

princes to whose kingdoms it might resort. The new Com-

pany had no distinct knowledge of any part of India, and the

fleet sailed to Acheen, in the island of Sumatra, where a cargo
of pepper was obtained, and a treaty concluded with the Malay
chiefs. In the Straits of Malacca, Captain Lancaster captured
a Portuguese vessel of 900 tons, richly laden with calicoes

and spices, and then steered for Bantam, the most flourishing-

port in the island of Java, where he erected a factory and

left agents. The expedition returned to England in September,

1603, with a satisfactory profit to the adventurers. During
the following ten years eight voyages were undertaken,

which gave a return of from one to two hundred per cent. lu

1608 the factors at Bantam represented that the calicoes of

India were in great request in the islands of the Archipelago,

and a fleet was therefore despatched, for the first time, to the

coast of India ; but the object was defeated by the jealousy
of the Portuguese.

The Portuguese The Portuguese at this period enjoyed a corn-

power, mercial supremacy in the eastern hemisphere, and

were anxious to prevent the intrusion of rivals. They held

little territory on the continent of India, but they completely

monopolised its foreign trade. By the possession of Aden
and Ormuz they entirely commanded the Ked Sea and the

Persian Gulf. They occupied the coasts of Ceylon, and had no

rival on the Malabar and Coromandel coasts. They were

paramount on the Malay seaboard, and held possession of

the Moluccas, or spice islands. They had erected a factoiy at

Macao, and enjoyed the exclusive trade of China. Their

well-fortified settlement at Hooghly, second only to that of

Goa, rendered them a most formidable power in Bengal. It

was \vith this great mercantile monopoly that the English
had now to enter into competition. In 1611 the East India

Company sent two vessels to Surat, and the Portuguese

prepared to resist their advance with four ships, the largest
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cf which carried thirty-eight gung. In the several encounters

which took place between them, the Portuguese were dis-

comfited and disgraced in the eyes of the natives. The Mogul

governor of Surat and his officers spent an evening on board

the vessel of the commander, and was the first native chief

who ever partook of the hospitality of the English. As the

Portuguese power was an object of dread along the Coast, the

reputation of the East India Company was relatively exalted,

and they obtained authority to establish factories at Surat,

Ahmedabad, and other towns. These privileges were con-

firmed by an imperial firman granted by Jehangeer on the

llth of January, 1613, and Surat became the chief seat of

English commerce on the western coast of India.

Embassy of si* To improve the footing which had been obtained
T. Eoe, 1615.

jn indja^ the Company prevailed on King James

to send an embassy to the great Mogul. Sir Thomas Roe was

appointed envoy, and proved to be admirably adapted for so

delicate and difficult a mission. He sailed from England in

January, 1615, and landed at Surat with great pomp, attended

by a brilliant suite and eighteen men-at-arms, and proceeded
to the imperial Court, where he was received with greater

distinction than had been accorded to any Persian or Turkish

ambassador. Having stated the chief object of his embassy,
he was assured that the grievances of which he complained
should be redressed. But he found himself thwarted by the

influence of the Portuguese, as well as by the vizier and

Shah Jehan, who subsequently succeeded to the empire. His

talent and address enabled him to overcome these obstacles,

and he obtained some valuable privileges for the Company, on

whom, after his return, he bestowed the salutary advice

which they did not forget for more than sixty years, "to

seek their profit at sea and in quiet trade, and not to affect

garrisons and land wars in India."

It does not lie within the scope of this work to dwell on

the long-continued struggle of the East India Company with
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the Dutch for a share in the spice trade of the eastern islands,

or on the massacre at. Amboyna, which continued for thirty

years to rankle in the minds of Englishmen, till Cromwell

compelled the Dutch, to make satisfaction for it. In like

manner we pass over the contests with the Portuguese for

the possession of Ormuz and the trade with Persia, which,

when obtained, was not found worth retaining. We move
on to the establishment of the Company in Bengal. In

1620 two of their factors visited Patna, but met with little

The Enpiisn in encouragement. In 1634 a firman appears to have
Bengal, 1620 se. j^^ obtained from the emperor, Shah Jehan, for

the establishment of a factory in Bengal ; but the resistance

of Rodrigues at Hooghly was yet fresh, and the residence

of their agents was restricted to the port of Pipley, near Bala-

sore. Two years after, the daughter of the emperor, who was
then encamped in the Deccan, having fallen ill, the vizier dis-

patched an express to the English factory at Surat to request
the services of a surgeon. Mr. Boughton, attached to one

of the ships, was accordingly sent to the imperial camp, and

having succeeded in restoring the princess to health, was

desired to name his own reward. In a spirit of the noblest

patriotism, he stated that the only remuneration he would

accept was an order granting his countrymen the privilege of

trading in Bengal free of duty, and planting factories in the

interior of the country. The request was at once granted,

and he proceeded across the Deccan to Bengal at the charge
of the emperor. Soon after his arrival at Pipley, the first

English vessel which had ever visited Bengal entered the

port, and he was enabled to negotiate the sale and purchase
of the investment without being subject to extortion. Two

years after, the emperor's second son, prince Soojah, who had

been appointed viceroy of Bengal, established his court at

Rajmahal. Mr. Boughton proceeded to pay his respects to the

prince, and was requested to prescribe for one of the ladies

of the seraglio. He was again successful, and enjoyed a
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second opportunity of promoting the interests of his country.

At his request the prince granted letters patent to the English

to establish factories at Balasore and Hooghly.

Establishment The first factory of the Company on the Coro-

of Madras, 1639. man(Jel coast was opened at Masulipatam, from

whence it was removed, in 1625, to Armegan. The trade was

not however found to be remunerative, and Mr. Day, the

superintendent, accepted the invitation of the raja of Chun-

dergiree, the last representative of the great Hindoo dynasty
of Beejuynugur, to remove the establishment to his territories.

In a small village on the coast a plot of ground was marked

out, on which, in 1639, he erected the factory which after-

wards expanded into the great city of Madras. To give

confidence to the native merchants, it was surrounded by a

fortification, with twelve guns, and in honour of the champion
of England was called Fort St. George.

For fifteen years after this period there is no event in the

transactions of the Company worthy of attention. The un-

settled state of England during the civil wars was not

favourable to the interests of commerce, and the trade of the

Company languished. The investments were small, and the

profits smaller; but as soon as domestic tranquillity was
restored under the Protector, an attempt was made by a body
of men, calling themselves the " Merchant Adventurers," to

break up the exclusive privileges of the East India Company.
The arguments they employed for free trade appear at the

present day to be unanswerable, but their validity was not

likely to be admitted by those who had devised the Navi-

gation Act. Cromwell referred the question to the Council of

State, who recommended him to confirm the privileges of the

Company, and a new charter was accordingly granted to that

body. There can be little doubt that, in the circumstances of the

times, the decision of Cromwell was sound, and that the power
of a corporation was essential to the maintenance of a trade

exposed to the caprice and the hostility of the native powers
of the East. The Merchant Adventurers were therefore incor-
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porated with the old Company, and the two bodies united

in soliciting a confirmation of their privileges from Charles

the Second at the Restoration. A charter was granted on the

3rd of April, 1661, which, in addition to the usual commercial

privileges, conferred the right to make peace and to wage war

with any people in India not Christians, to seize and deport

to England all unlicensed Englishmen, and to administer

justice. The Company, which existed only for trade, was thus

invested with the most essential attributes of government.

AC uisition of
^n *^e succeeding year Charles II. married the

Bombay, 1662. daughter of the king of Portugal, and received

the island and dependencies of Bombay as part of her dower.

A grand expedition was dispatched to India by the Crown,

under the Earl of Marlborough, to receive possession of the

settlements ; but after having held it for six years, the minis-

ters of the Crown found that it cost more than it yielded,

and ceded it to the Company, under whose fostering care the

population has increased from 10,000 to 500,000, and the trade

has risen from a few lacs of rupees to thirty crores.

First tea in
"^6 vear

'
*n which the Company acquired the

England, 1668. island of Bombay, is also memorable as that in

which the first order for the purchase of tea was sent out by
them to the East. Tea had been used at the period of the

civil war as a "regalia in high treatments and entertain-

ments, and presents to princes and grandees," and was sold

as high as 100 shillings the pound weight, or 100 rupees the

seer. But in 1657, Thomas Garraway, the founder of Garra-

way's coffee-house, which still exists in London, was the first

to sell it
" in drink made according to the directions of the

most knowing merchants and travellers into the eastern

countries, and many noblemen, merchants, and physicians
resorted to his house in Change Alley to drink the drink

thereof." He sold it at a rate varying from 16s. to 50s. the

pound. But it was not till ten years after that the Company
issued an order for "100 Ibs. weight of the best tey they
could gett to be sent home by their ships." The consumption
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in England has increased from one hundred pounds weight to

more than eighty millions of pounds.

Events in Ben- Turning now to the progress of events in Bengal.
cai, 16401680. With the exception of two biief intervals, the

administration of the province was, during thirty-two years,
in the hands of two princes of the imperial family, Soojah
Khan and Shaista Khan, under whose mild arid beneficent

rule it enjoyed repose and increased in prosperity. Shaista

Khan is charged by the factors of the Company with insatiable

rapacity; but they winced under every demand, however

petty, and they did not deny that he fostered their commerce

and obtained many favours for them from Delhi. In

1664, the French, under the auspices of the great minister

Colbert, established an East India Company, in the hope of

participating in the trade which had enriched England
and Holland. Soon after, a large French fleet sailed up
the Hooghly and formed a settlement at Chandernagore.
Three years after, the Dutch, whose trade had been confined

to Balasore, were permitted to establish a factory at Hooghly,
but eventually fixed on Chinsurah, two miles distant, as the

seat of their traffic, and erected a fortification capable of

resisting the native powers, which they named Fort Augustus.
About the same period the Danes entered the river, and

embarked in the trade of the country. Bengal, thus blessed

with tranquillity, and enriched by foreign commerce, became

the most flourishing province in the empire. The general

trade of the Company, which had been drooping for many
years, received a .new impulse from the rapid increase of pros-

perity in England after the Restoration, and their exports rose

from 10 lacs in 1666, to 100 lacs of rupees in 1682. The

ambitious fortunes to which this trade gave birth in England
created a brood of interlopers, and gave rise to disputes which at

one time threatened to embroil the two Houses of Parliament.

Disturbance of
Shaista Khan had been relieved from the govern-

the trade, 1682. mcnt of Bengal at his own request, and the Com-

pany's agents in Calcutta took advantage of his return to the
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court to solicit a perpetual firman to exonerate them from

the necessity of taking out a fresh firman on the arrival of

every new governor, for which they were required to pay most

heavily. It was granted through his intercession, and received

in Calcutta with a salute of 300 guns. The trade of Bengal
had moreover acquired such importance that the Court of

Directors who managed the affairs of the Company raised it

to the dignity of a separate and independent Presidency, and

Mr. Hedges, the first governor, entered Hooghly with a body-

guard of a corporal and twenty European soldiers. But these

prospects were soon to be darkened by the wild ambition of

the Court of Directors and the folly of their officers. Mr. Pea-

cock, the chief of the factory at Patna, had remained neutral

during a local emeute, and was charged by the Mogul governor
with complicity, and placed in confinement, from which he was

not released without much difficulty. The Company's lucra-

tive trade in saltpetre was stopped at the same time. A
rival East India Company had been formed in London under

high auspices, and great efforts were made to obtain a char-

ter for it ; but the old Company was still patronized by the

Court, and was endowed with the additional powers of

admiralty jurisdiction, which authorized them to seize and con-

fiscate the property of their rivals abroad. They now soli-

cited the permission of the viceroy to erect a fort at the

mouth of the Hooghly, or on its banks, that they might more

effectually intercept the vessels of interlopers. The repre-

sentative of the Mogul had a horror of European fortifications,

and, if he took any interest in the question of rival companies,

must naturally have desired that the number of investments

on which he could levy contributions, should be increased.

The request was therefore refused, and not without reason,

for such a fortification would have given the Company the

absolute control of the port and of the commerce of the pro-

vince. But the viceroy went further, and imposed a duty of

3^ per cent, on their goods, notwithstanding the exemption

acquired by the imperial firman.
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war with the
Such demands had been often made before, and

Moguls, less, as often eluded by a liberal donative ; but the

East India Company had become inflated with an idea of their

own power and importance, and determined to extort redress

by going to war with the Mogul empire. They applied to

James II. for permission to retaliate the injuries of which they

complained, and fitted out the largest armament which had

ever been dispatched from England to the East. Admiral

Nicholson was sent out with twelve ships of war, carrying 200

pieces of cannon and a body of 600 men, to be reinforced by
400 from Madras. His instructions were to seize and fortify

Ohittagong, for which purpose 200 additional guns were

placed on board, to demand the cession of the surrounding

territory, to conciliate the zemindars, to establish a mint,

and to enter into a treaty with the raja of Arracan in

short, to found a kingdom. But these ambitious projects

were destined to a severe disappointment. The fleet was

dispersed during the voyage, and several of the vessels,

instead of steering for Chittagong, entered the Hooghly, and

being joined by the Madras troops, anchored off the Company's

factory. The arrival of so formidable an expedition alarmed

th6 viceroy, and he offered to compromise his differences with

the English ; but an unforeseen event brought the negotia-

tion to an abrupt close. Three English soldiers, strolling

through the market-place of Hooghly, quarrelled with some

of the government policemen, and were severely beaten.

Both parties were reinforced, and a regular engagement
ensued, in which the natives were completely discomfited.

At the same time the admiral opened fire on the town and

burnt down 500 houses, as well as property belonging to the

Company to the extent of thirty lacs of rupees.

The Mogul commandant hastened to solicit a
The English
retire to ingeiee, suspension of arms, and assisted m conveying the

remainder of the saltpetre on board the ships.

Job Charnock, the English chief, considering Hooghly no

longer safe, retired on the 20th December, 1686, to the little

p 2
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hamlet of Chuttanutty, about twenty-six miles down the river,

on the site of which subsequently arose the magnificent capi-

tal of British India. There the viceroy renewed and spun out

the negotiations till his troops could be assembled, when he

marched down to attack the English encampment, and Job

Charnock retired with his soldiers and establishments to the

island of Ingelee, at the mouth of the river. It was a low

and deadly swamp, covered with long grass, and destitute of

any fresh water. It appears incredible that a man of Char-

nock's experience, who had been thirty years in India, and

who must have known the nature of that jungle, should have

selected the most unhealthy spot in Bengal for an entrenched

camp. The Mogul general allowed him to remain there

without molestation, well knowing that disease would spare

his soldiers the use of their swords. In three months one half

of the troops were dead, and the other half fit only for hospital.

Bengal atmn- At. this juncture, when the prospects of the
doned, 1688.

English were reduced to the lowest ebb, the viceroy
made unexpected overtures to Charnock. It appears that

simultaneously with the dispatch of Admiral Nicholson's

expedition from England, the Court of Directors instructed Sir

John Child to withdraw their establishments from Surat and

the neighbouring ports, and to commence hostilities on the

western coast. An English fleet was therefore employed in

blockading the Mogul harbours, and the pilgrim ships were

captured. The bigotted Aurungzebe hastened to seek a re-

conciliation with those who commanded the highway to Mecca,
and orders were issued to the governors of provinces to make
terms with them. Charnock returned to Chuttanutty, and

the pacification was on the point of being completed when the

appearance of Captain Heath rekindled the flame. The Court

of Directors, on hearing of the failure of Admiral Nicholson's

expedition, instead of folding up their ambitious project,

determined to prosecute it with increased vigour, and sent out

reinforcements under Captain Heath. Immediately on his

arrival he disallowed the treaty then pending, and having em-
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barked on board the ships under his command, lying off

Chuttanutty, the whole of the company's officers, civil and

military, proceeded to Balasore, which he bombarded and

burnt. He then sailed to Chittagong ; but finding the forti-

fications stronger than he had anticipated, crossed the bay,
and landed the whole of the company's establishments at

Madras ; and not a vestige was left of the commercial fabric

which had been reared in Bengal by fifty years of painful

exertion.

Reconciliation
"^s fresh insult exasperated the haughty spirit

with the of the emperor, and he issued orders for the

extirpation of the English, and the confiscation

of their property. His orders were literally obeyed, and the

English possessions were reduced to the fortified towns of

Madras and Bombay. Sir John Child sent two gentlemen
from Bombay to the emperor's encampment at Beejapore to

propose terms of accommodation. Aurungzebe never allowed

his passions to interfere with his interests. He was aware

that his dominions benefited greatly by the commerce of the

English, the value of which exceeded a crore of rupees a year ;

that their ships of war could sweep his coasts and extinguish his

navy ; and, above all, that itwas in their power to prevent the re-

sort of pilgrims to the tomb of the Prophet. He was there-

fore induced to accept the proposition of the commissioners,

and directed the viceroy of Bengal to invite Mr. Charnock

back to the province.

Shaista Khan, who had now governed Bengal for twenty

years, solicited permission to retire, and quitted Dacca in 1689.

On his departure he closed one of the gates of the city, and

placed an inscription over it to commemorate the fact that

the price of rice had been reduced during his administration

to 320 seers the rupee, and he interdicted any future governor

from opening it till rice was again sold at the same rate. It

consequently continued closed for thirty-six years.

jfchiMinhmentof Shaista Klian was succeeded by Ibrahim Khan,
Calcutta, lew. the sou of AH Mercian, whoso name is perpetuated
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by his canals. The new viceroy, who was partial to the

English, lost no time in inviting Charnock to re-establish the

Company's factories in Bengal. Charnock, however, resented

the humiliating as well as vague terms in which Aurungzebe
had conceded the restoration of the settlements of the English,

in consequence, so ran the proclamation, of thek having
" made a most humble and submissive petition that the crimes

they had committed should be forgiven." He replied that he

could not accept the proposal unless the emperor granted a

specific firman for Bengal, setting forth the precise terms on

which they were to cany on their trade in future. The

viceroy sent him a second communication, stating that several

months must elapse before the firman could be received from

the imperial Court, and importuned him to return without

delay, offering a compensation of 80,000 rupees for the goods
which had been plundered. Charnock could not resist this

friendly appeal, and embarked for Bengal with the commercial

establishments of the Company, and on the 24th of August,

1690, hoisted the standard of England on the banks of the

Hooghly, and laid the foundation of the city of CALCUTTA.

But he did not survive this memorable event more than two

years. His name is perpetuated at Barrackpore, which the

natives still continue to designate Achanuk, and a simple monu-

ment in the churchyard of St. John's, in Calcutta, marks the

grave of the man who founded the "
city of palaces." It was

not, however, till eight years after that the agent of the Com-

pany was enabled to obtain permission, by a present of 1 6,000

rupees to the viceroy, to purchase the three villages of Calcutta,

Chuttanutty, and Govindpore, on which the city stands;

though the Court of Directors did not fail to remark that

"
they considered the price very high."

Ambition of the The sudden spasm of ambition which seized the

courtquenched. CovLTt of Directors, in 1685, and induced them to

fit out
, this grand armament to establish a political power

in India, did not, however, last more than five years. The

dying indication of it appears in their despatch of 1689 :
" The
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increase of our revenue is the subject of our care as much as

our trade; 'tis that must maintain our force when twenty
accidents may interrupt our trade ; 'tis that must make us

a nation in India; without that we are but as a great

number of interlopers, united by his Majesty's charter,

fit only to trade where nobody of power thinks it their

interest to oppose us ; and upon this account it is that the

wise Dutch, in all their general advices that we have seen,

write ten paragraphs concerning their government, their

civil and military policy, warfare, and the increase of their

revenue, for one paragraph they write concerning their trade."

But adversity was not lost upon the Court of Directors ;
from

this time forward, and for more than fifty years, their views

were confined so exclusively to the pursuits of commerce that

in the year 1754, only three years before the battle of Plassy,

which laid the foundation of their magnificent empire, they con-

tinued to inculcate on their servants, the necessity of "avoid-

ing an expensive manner of living, and of considering them-

selves the representatives of a body of merchants, for which a

decent frugality would be much more in character."

Fortifications of After the establishment of the factory at Cal-

caicutta, J695. cu^ta, the Court of Directors were anxious to place

it in a state of defence. They felt that their existence in

India during the recent convulsion had been owing solely

to the fortresses of Madras and Bombay, which were impreg-

nable to the assaults of any native force. Those forts had

been erected before the Mogul authority was extended over

the territory in which they were situated ; but any increase

of such defences was prohibited by the policy of the empire.

Ibrahim Khan, the viceroy of Bengal, resisted all the impor-

tunities of the Company's chief to fortify Calcutta, though it

was backed by an offer of 40,000 rupees. But five years

after that settlement had been established an unexpected

event led to the gratification of this wish. Sobha Sing, a

landed proprietor of Burdwan, irritated by the proceedings of

his superior, created a rebellion, and invited Kuhim Khan, the
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leader of the remnant of the Orissa Afghans, who had not been

heard of for seventy years, to join his standard. Their united

force defeated the raja Krishnu Ram, plundered the town of

Hooghly, and took possession of the district. The English
at Calcutta, the French at Chandernagore, and the Dutch

at Chinsurah, with a ferocious enemy at their gate, asked

permission to put their settlements in a state of defence.

The pacific and irresolute viceroy, who was unequal to the

crisis of a rebellion, desired them in general terms to provide

for their own security. Immediately every hand was em-

ployed day and night in erecting fortifications. The fort,

built with lime brought up from Madras, was so substantial,

that the demolition of it a hundred and twenty years after

was supposed to have cost more labour than its erection.

In compliment to the reigning monarch, it was named Fort

William. Meanwhile the rebellion made head, and the Afghans
became masters of the whole country on the right bank of

the river, from Orissa to Rajmahal ; but they were at length

completely defeated and dispersed by Zuberdust Khan, the

valiant son of the feeble viceroy. But both father and son

were soon after superseded by the emperor, who dreaded the

juccess of his generals only less than that of his enemies, and

Bent his grandson, Azim, to take charge of the province. The

character of this prince encouraged the rebels to reassemble

their forces ; the royal encampment was furiously assaulted,

and the viceroy himself was saved from an ignominious defeat

only by the death of Ruhim Khan. He fell in single combat

with one of his officers, who announced himself to be the prince,

and thus saved his master's life. On the death of then: leader,

the Afghans made their submission to the government, the

revolt died out, and the Orissa Afghans disappear from the

page of history.

Rival Company, Scarcely had the Company surmounted their

1698. difficulties in India, than they were threatened

with a new and more appalling danger in England. The

dazzling profits of the Indian trade had drawn forth a multi-
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tude of competitors ; but the Company were enabled to obtain

a confirmation of their exclusive privileges from the Crown in

1693. A few months after this event the House of Commons

passed a resolution to the effect " that it is the right of all

Englishmen to trade to the East Indies, or any part of the

world, unless prohibited by Act of Parliament." This gave
fresh animation to the interlopers, and many of them turned

pirates, attacking the Mogul ships and plundering the Mecca

pilgrims. In revenge for these injuries, the Mogul governor
of Surat arrested fifty-three of the Company's servants, and

put them in irons, and they were not liberated without the

payment of heavy contributions. In 1698 the interlopers,

and others who were eager to participate in the trade of the

East, presented a petition to Parliament for a charter, and

accompanied it with the tempting offer of accommodating the

treasury with a loan of two millions sterling, at eight per
cent. Their exertions were successful, and the old Com-

pany, who had established British interests in India by a

century of labour and expense, being unable to offer more

than 700,000?., were ordered to wind-up their affairs and

expire in three years. But the rivalry of the two bodies was

found, even in the first year, to inflict the most serious injury

on the national interests in India. At Surat the gentlemen
on the staff of the old Company were seized by the agents of

the new body, and conveyed through the streets like male-

factors, with their hands bound behind them, and delivered as

prisoners into the custody of the Mogul governor. In every
market the competition of the two bodies created a scarcity,

and enhanced the price of goods. The officers of the native

government, courted by two parties, received bribes from

each, and oppressed both. "Two East India Companies,"
exclaimed the old Court of Directors,

" can no more subsist

without destroying each other than two kings regnant at the

same time hi the same kingdom ; that now a civil battle was

to be fought between them, and two or three years must end

this war, as the old or the new must give way."
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Embassy of sir On the establishment of the new Company,
w. Nonis, 1700. g;r -William Norris was sent at their expense as

ambassador from the court of England to the court of the

Mogul, to obtain firmans for the establishment of factories.

His difficulties began before he entered the port. The Mogul
governor of Surat exacted 15,000 gold mohurs for granting
him permission to make a public entry into the city. The
vizier at Boorhanpore refused him an audience unless he came

without drums and trumpets ; and he therefore turned off to

the imperial encampment at Panalla, which he reached in

April, 1701. Three weeks after, he proceeded to the durbar

with a splendid cortege, and preceded by magnificent pre-

sents. The aged emperor, then in his 88th year, but in the

fullest enjoyment of his faculties, received him with great

courtesy, and ordered the grants which he solicited to be pre-

pared. But the Armenian agents of the old Company were

present to thwart Sir William. Both parties were offering

bribes and lavishing money, and decrying each other as

impostors. With these conflicting claims before him, the

emperor ordered a reference to be made to one Syud Sedoolla,

a "
holy priest of Surat," who was to determine by examina-

tion which was " the real English Company." The holy priest

put his award up to sale, and knocked it down for 10,000

rupees ; but the governor of Surat refused to report it with-

out a donative of more than two lacs and a half of rupees.

Before the terms could be settled, it was reported at the

The English Court that three Mogul ships coming from Mocha
pirates, 1698. j^ ^een captured by English pirates. These

pirates, of whom Captain Kidd was now the chief, had long
been the terror of India. Their vessels were fitted out at

New York and in the West Indies, and they possessed several

fortified stations on the island of Madagascar. With a fleet of

ten ships, some carrying fifty guns, and divided into squadrons,

they kept possession of the Indian seas. Two of the Company's

vessels, which were sent against them, were seized by the

crews, after the massacre of the officers, and added to the pirate
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fleet. A squadron of four ships of war was sent against them

under Commodore Warren, but one of his vessels was wrecked,
and so lax was the naval discipline of the period, that the

other three, instead of going in pursuit of the pirates, returned

to England laden with cargoes of private merchandize. The

emperor, on hearing of these renewed piracies, ordered the

ambassador to furnish security for the restoration of the cap-
tured vessels, and to enter into an engagement to prevent all

piracies in future. With this unreasonable request he of

course, refused to comply, on which he was informed that he

knew his way back to England. He left the camp after seven

months of fruitless negotiation, with a letter and a sword from

Aurungzebe to the King of England ; and thus ended a mission

which had cost the new Company nearly seven lacs of rupees.

The embassy itself was a mistake. One of Cromwell's ambas-

sadors a sixty-four gun ship, which spoke all languages, and

never took a refusal would have been far more efficacious

with this unprincipled court. Sir John Gayer and the other

servants of the new Company at Surat would not then have

been consigned to a jail as a retaliation for piracies they had

no means of preventing.

union of the
^he King, the Parliament, and the nation be-

companies, 1702. came at length sensible of the fatal results of the

rivalry they had created, and the two Companies were amal-

gamated by universal consent, under the title of the " United

Company of Merchants trading to the East," the indenture of

which passed the Great Seal on the 22nd of July, 1702. On
the completion of this union the Court of Directors, formed by
the selection of an equal number from each Company, wrote to

their representative at Calcutta, that " now they were esta-

blished by a Parliamentary authority they deemed it a duty
incumbent on them to England and their posterity to propa-

gate the future interests of the nation in India with vigour."

They directed their attention to the building of the town of

Calcutta, and gave minute directions regarding its streets and

houses. They completed the fort, surrounded it with au
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entrenchment, and mounted it with cannon. The military

commandant of Hooghly was, on the occasion of a dispute

with the Company's chief, deterred by its strength from attack-

ing it, and the native merchants who resorted to it in large

numbers were inspired with increased confidence. The Court

of Directors then remodelled their Indian establishment, fixing

the salary of the President at 300Z., of the eight members of

council at 4QL, of the junior merchants at 30/., the factors at

15., and the writers at 51.', but these inadequate salaries

were eked out by the addition of commons, an annual supply
of madeira, and the privilege of private trade. The trade

proved so lucrative that we find the Directors soon after this

period, complain that even the junior servants sat down to

dinner with a band of music, and rode out in a coach and four.

From this time forward to the battle of Plassey
Contests with the . .

*

viceroy, 1700 the history of Calcutta is little else but a chronicle
1756'

of the exactions of the native government and

the resistance, alternately bold and feeble, of the Company's

agents. On one occasion the Directors complain that the

extortions by the Fouzdar of Hooghly, who " was merely the

jackal of the prince and the dewan to discover the prey, had

made a great hole in their cash." Then, again, they remon-

strate against the exorbitant demand of 30,000 rupees by the

nabob that is, the viceroy and recommend greater discre-

tion to their agents. Two years after, the nabob makes a

new demand of 60,000 rupees, but is pacified with half that

sum. The year after, the sum of 22,000 rupees is
"
squeezed

out of them by the Patna king." Again, in 1717, they com-

plain that " the horse-leeches of Moorshedabad had been prac-

tising on their servants." " It was actual war which made

Aurungzebe restore their privileges." Their servants are

therefore ordered to stop, but not to seize, the vessels of the

Mogul,
" for reprisals, like extreme unction, must never be

used except in the last extremity."
"
They never thought of

carrying their contests so far as an open rupture with the

viceroy of the whole country, though it might be expedient to
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speak and look big with the under-governors." But this

brought them no respite. Soon after, their native agent was

"chabooked," or flagellated at Moorshedabad to extort u

bond of 45,000 rupees from him, which was commuted to

20,000 rupees. Even so late as 1750, the President, having

seized arid confiscated the vessel of an Armenian interloper,

was fined a lac and a half of rupees to compensate the mer-

chant, of which, however, he never received more than 20,000

rupees. It was amidst the constant recurrence of these out-

rageous demands that the President and council in Calcutta

contrived to carry on the trade of the Company till the young
nabob of Moorshedabad filled up the measure of iniquity by
the sack of Calcutta and the atrocity of the Black Hole, and

Clive marched up to Moorshedabad and seated a nabob of his

own on the throne of the three provinces.

Moorshed Kooiee In the year 1702 Meer Jaffer was appointed
Khan, i.o2.

dewan of Bengal, and eventually viceroy of the

three soubahs of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. He was the

eon of a poor brahmin in the Deccan, and was purchased and

circumcised by a Persian merchant of Ispahan, on whose death

he was manumitted. He then entered the public service,

where his talents attracted the notice of Aurungzebe and led

eventually to his being intrusted with the finances of Bengal.

At the same time he was dignified with the title of Moorshed

Kooiee Khan, which was perpetuated in the new capital which

he founded, Moorshedabad.

Embassy to He manifested no little jealousy of the growing
eiiii, 1715.

pOwer Of the Company, and interfered to such an

extent with then- trade that the President was induced to

Rend an embassy to Delhi to seek a redress of grievances.

Two of the senior officers in the service were selected for this

office ; but their appeal was thwarted at every point by the

agents of the Bengal viceroy, and not less by the profligate

courtiers of Ferokshere. At length, however, their mission

was unexpectedly crowned with success when they were on

the eve of abandoning it. The emperor, as stated in a former
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chapter, was betrothed to the daughter of Ajeet Sing, the

raja of Joudhpore, whom Hussein All had brought with him

to the court. But the marriage was interrupted by a disease

from which the imperial physicians were unable to relieve

Ferokshere. The surgeon of the embassy, Mr. Hamilton, was

called in and effected a complete cure. He was desired to

name his own recompense, and, with the same feeling of

patriotism which had distinguished Mr. Boughton, he asked

only for the concessions which the British envoys had hitherto

solicited in vain. His request was granted, and thirty-four

patents embracing the different objects of the memorial were

issued in the Emperor's name and authenticated by the impe-
rial seal. The privileges now obtained were, that a dustucTc,

or pass, signed by the President should exempt the goods it

covered from examination by the native officers of government ;

that the mint at Moorshedabad should be employed three

days in the week in coining money for the Company ; that all

persons, European or native, indebted to the Company, should

be made over to the President ; and that the English should

be at liberty to purchase the lordship of thirty-eight towns in

the vicinity of Calcutta. The embassy returned in triumph
to Calcutta ; but the viceroy did not fail to perceive that this

accession of territory would give them the complete command
of the port and make their power formidable, and he deter-

mined to defeat the grant. He sternly prohibited the zemin-

dars to grant a foot of land to the Company on pain of his

severe displeasure. But though the hope of enlarging their

settlement was thus frustrated, the minor privileges they had

acquired gave a new impulse to the prosperity of Calcutta,

and the port was often crowded during the year with 10,000

tons of shipping.

system of the Moorshed Koolee Khan was the greatest and
viceroy. .^e mog energetic ruler Bengal had enjoyed since

the days of Shere Shah. A hundred and fifty years before

this period the great financier of Akbar, raja Toder Mull, had

formed a settlement of the land rent of Bengal and Behar
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with the ryots, to the exclusion of all middlemen. To facili-

tate the collection of the public revenue Moorshed Koolee

modified this system and divided the province into chuklas,

over each of which he appointed an officer to collect the rents

and remit them to the treasury at Moorshedabad. It was

these officers, who, in process of time, claimed zemindary

rights, imperceptibly enlarged their power, and having
assumed the title of raja, made their office hereditary. The

viceroy, who considered a Mahomedan a sieve, which retained

nothing, and a Hindoo a sponge, which might be squeezed at

pleasure, employed none but Hindoos in these financial duties.

This will account for the singular fact that, at the period of

the battle of Plassy, all the zemindary rajas of Bengal were

Hindoos, while the government itself was Mahomedan. The

viceroy was stern and oppressive in matters of revenue.

Defaulting zemindars were subject to torture, and some were

dragged through a pond filled with insufferable ordure, which

was called, hi derision, bykoont, or paradise. Before appoint-

ing these fiscal officers he caused the lands to be surveyed,

and fixed the assessment at 142,00,000 rupees, of which sum

109,00,000 rupees were punctually remitted to Delhi year by

year. The viceroy himself accompanied this convoy of treasure

the first stage out of Moorshedabad. The whole expenditure

of government was covered by the remaining 33,00,000 rupees ;

but so tranquil was the province that 2,000 cavalry and 4,000

infantry were found sufficient to maintain the public authority.

Soojah-ood- Moorshed Koolee died in 1725, and was succeeded
deen. 1725.

jjy n[g gon-in-law Soojah-ood-deen, a Turkoman,
who was confirmed by the emperor hi the government of

Bengal and Orissa, while that of Behar was conferred on

another. He administered the government for fourteen

years, and punctually remitted the annual tribute to Delhi.

During these two reigns the sum abstracted from the resources

of this flourishing province and squandered at the capital

exceeded thirty crores of rupees. Soojah augmented his

army to 25,000, and adopted a more magnificent style at bis

court than his frugal father-in-law. The only event of any
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note during
1

his reign was the destruction of the Ostcncl East

India Company established by the emperor of Germany at the

factory of Bauky-bazar, on the Hooghly, opposite Chander-

nagore. The settlement of these interlopers was regarded

with feelings of intense jealousy by the Dutch, and more par

ticularly by the English, who declared their intention to '' cut

up the Ostender's trade by the roots and not simply to lop off

the branches." One of their ships was captured by an English

vessel which blockaded the Hooghly. The emperor of Ger-

many was induced, by powerful remonstrances, to withdraw

the charter, and a bribe of 320,000 rupees from the English

and Dutch induced the viceroy to send a force against Banky-

bazar, which fell after a gallant defence, and the Ostenders

were chased out of Bengal.

Aii verdy Khan, Soojah-ood-deen died at the period of Nadir
174 - Shah's invasion, and his son Serferaj Khan took

possession of the government, and ordered the coin to be

struck and prayers to be read in the name of the Persian.

But on his departure, Ali verdy Khan, the governor of Behar,

who owed his fortunes entirely to the deceased viceroy, con-

spired against his son, and, by large douceurs and larger pro-

mises to the profligate ministers of Mohamed Shah, the empe-
ror of Delhi, obtained a sunnud appointing him soobadar of

the three provinces. With the army he had been for some

time engaged in training, he marched against Serferaj, who
was killed by a musket-ball in the battle which ensued, and

Ali verdy mounted the throne, for which, however, he was

eminently fitted by his great talents and experience. The

promises he had made were faithfully performed, and he

remitted to Delhi a crore of rupees in money and seventy lacs

in jewels, obtained from the estate of the deceased nabob a

most welcome supply after the imperial treasury had been

drained by Nadir Shah. The presence of the new viceroy

was required, soon after his accession, in Orissa, where the

brother-in-law of Serferaj refused obedience; but he was

speedily defeated and fled to Masulipatam, Having settled

the province, Ali verdy disbanded his new levies, and was
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marching back at his leisure to Moorshedabad with a small

body of troops, when he received intelligence that the Mah-

rattas were rapidly advancing with 12,000 predatory horse

to levy contributions in Bengal; and the difficulties of his

reign began.

Mahratta pro- We turn now to the proceedings of the Mah-
ceedings, 1739. rattag after the departure of Nadu- Shah, It was
a fortunate circumstance for India that Bajee Rao was pre-

vented from taking advantage of the confusion of the times

by the necessity of watching the movements of his formidable

rivals, the Guickwar of Guzerat and the Bhonslay of Berar.

Parsojee Bhonslay was originally a private horseman of

Satara, who raised himself to notice in that age of adventure,

and was entrusted with the charge of collecting the Mahratta

dues in the province of Berar, where he founded the Mahratta

state of Nagpore. At the period when Holkar and Sindia

were only commanders in the service of the Peshwa, Roghoojee

Bhonslay, who had succeeded his cousin Parsojee, was in com-

mand of a powerful force of his own, with large independent
resources for its support. While the Nizam was besieged, as

already stated, at Bhopal, he resisted the orders of the Peshwa

to join the Mahratta standard, and proceeded on a plundering

expedition to the province of Allahabad. Bajee Rao resented

this intrusion into his own exclusive quarry, and sent an army
to ravage Berar, but it was defeated by Roghoojee. That

leader was now sufficiently strong to entertain a jealousy of

the ascendancy which the Peshwa had acquired in the Mah-
ratta councils, and was intriguing to supplant him ; in which

design he was eagerly seconded by the Guickwar. The dif-

ficulties of Bajee Rao's position were relieved by his own
tact. Roghoojee was persuaded to take the command of an

expedition to the Carnatic, consisting of more than 50,000

troops. During his absence Bajee Rao attacked Nazir Jung
the second son of the Nizam, but was repulsed with great

vigour. The war was protracted for many months, chiefly to

the disadvantage of the Peshwa, and both parties, wearied1
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with a fruitless struggle, at length agreed to an accommoda-

tion. The Peshwa, dispirited by his ill-success and over-

Death of Bt,jee
whelmed by his debts, started for the north, but

Bao, 1740.
expired on the banks of the Nerbudda on the 28th

of April, 1740. During the twenty years in which he wielded

the power of the Mahratta confederacy he raised it to the

highest position in India, and his power was equally felt on

the banks of the Coleroon and of the Jumna. The impulse

and the confidence he gave to the ambition of his countrymen
continued to animate them after his decease to fresh conquests,

and hi the course of twenty years rendered them supreme

throughout India. He left three sons Balajee Rao, Roghoo-
nath Rao, afterwards the notorious Raghoba, and the illegiti-

mate Shumshere Bahadoor to whom he bequeathed his pos-

sessions in Bundlekund.

Succeeded by Balajee Rao was placed in his father's seat,

Baiajee Kao.
notwithstanding the strenuous opposition of the

Bhonslay, and obtained, from his feeble sovereign, a grant of

Salsette, Bassein, and the districts recently wrested from the

Portuguese in the Concan, as well as the exclusive right of

levying contributions to the north of the Nerbudda, with the

exception of Guzerat, and this brought him into direct collision

with Roghoojee. While that chieftain was engaged in the

Carnatic, Bhaskur pundit, who had been left to manage his

principality, entered Behar with a body of 12,000 horse, and,

emerging from the Ramghur lulls, spread desolation over the

western districts of Bengal. Ali verdy was returning from

Cuttack with a slender force when the Mahratta commander

encountered him, and demanded the immediate payment of ten

lacs of rupees ; and, on its being indignantly refused, enveloped
the Mogul army with his horse, capturing its tents, baggage,
and artillery, and reduced the viceroy to the humiliation of

offering
1 the payment he had previously refused.

TheMahrattas
-.r i

invade Bengal, But the Mahratta now raised his demand to a hun-

dred lacs, and Ali verdy resolved to run eveiy risk

rather than submit to the exaction. With great gallantry he
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fought his way to Cutwa, where he considered himself secure

from any farther attacks. The rains had by this time com-

menced in Bengal and the Mahratta army prepared to return

to Berar; but this resolution was opposed by Meer Hubeeb,
who represented the folly of throwing away so rich a prize as

Bengal without an effort. Hubeeb was a native of Sheraz,

in Persia, and had been a broker at Hooghly, though unable

to read and write. He entered the service of the viceroy,

and by his distinguished talents and spirit of enterprize rose

high in his estimation; but having been taken prisoner fey

Bhaskur pundit was induced to accept service with the

Mahrattas, and for eight years was the soul of their expeditions

and the cause of incalculable misery to Bengal. On the pre-

sent occasion he obtained a large force from Bhaskur and

advancing against Moorshedabad, before AH verdy could come

to the rescue, plundered the suburbs and despoiled the bank-

ing-house of Jugut Sett of two crores and a half of rupees.

On the appearance of Ah' verdy, Meer Hubeeb recrossed the

river, and laid waste the country from Balasore to Rajmahal.

He got possession of Hooghly by a stratagem. The wretched

inhabitants crowded into the foreign factories, and more

especially to Calcutta, for protection from this storm, and the

President sought permission of the nabob to surround the

The Mahratta Company's territory with an intrenchment. It

ditch, 1742. wag readilyconceded, and the work was commenced
and prosecuted with vigour, but suspended on the retirement

of the enemy. This was the celebrated Mahratta ditch, which,

though it has disappeared, like the old walls of London, still

continues to mark the municipal boundaries of the city, and

has fixed on its citizens the sobriquet of the Inhabitants of

the Ditch.

Continued Mah- Before the close of the rains, Ali verdy crossed
ratta invasions. ^ne river with the army he had recruited, and

the Mahratta general was eventually defeated, and obliged to

evacuate the province. Roghoojee, who had returned from

the Carnatic expedition, determined to support his pretensions
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in Bengal, and entered the province with a large army. OH
the first appearance of the Mahrattas, Ali verdy had applied

for aid to the court of Delhi, and the emperor invoked the

succour of the Peshwa, offering him an assignment on the

Bengal treasury, and a confirmation of the grant of Malwa.

Balajee Rao, with his old grudge against Roghoojee, readily

accepted the offer, and marched with a large force through
Allahabad and Behar to the gates of Moorshedabad, where he

is said to have exacted a crore of rupees from Ali verdy as the

price of his services, after which he marched against Roghoo-

jee, defeated his army, and despoiled him of the plunder he

had acquired. Soon after, the two Mahratta chiefs found that

their views would be most effectually promoted by coming
to an understanding. The Peshwa agreed to assign the

right to levy contributions from Oude, Behar, Bengal,

and Orissa, to Roghoojee, who agreed, on his part, not to

interfere with any of the plans or acquisitions of the Pesh-

wa. The next year, 1744, Roghoojee sent Bhaskur pundit

to renew his ravages in Bengal, when Ali verdy inveigled

him to an interview, and by an act of the basest treachery

caused him to be assassinated, upon which his army dispersed.

Eeheiuon of This crime did not long remain unavenged. The
Mustapha, 1745. next year witnessed the revolt of his great gene-

ral, Mustapha Khan, who had been employed to decoy the

Mahratta general to the fatal conference. Mustapha was the

head of the Afghan troops who formed the strength of the

Bengal army, and it was chiefly to his talents and valour that

Ali verdy was indebted for his elevation. The government
of Behar, which had been promised him, was refused by the

viceroy, and he marched into that province with an army
of 8,000 horse and a large body of infantry, and, at the same

time, invited the Mahrattas to invade Bengal anew. The

viceroy, menaced by this double attack, manifested the ut-

most vigour, though then verging on seventy, and took the

field with the Afghan generals who still remained faithful to

him. Mustapha was at length defeated near Jugudeshpore
and slam, and his body was quartered and exposed on the
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walls of Patna. The Mahrattas who were advancing to his

aid, retreated on hearing of his death, but they returned the

next year, and, for four successive seasons, ravaged all the

districts on the right bank of the river The recollection of

these devastations was not effaced for generations, and to

a late period in the present century the dread of the Burgees,

by which name the Mahrattas were designated, continued to

haunt the natives from Balasore to Rajmahal. The viceroy,

worn out by the inroads which had for ten years harassed

his wretched subjects and exhausted his own treasury, was

compelled, in 1751, to purchase peace by agreeing to an

Peace with the annual payment of twelve lacs of rupees as the

Mahrattas, 1751. C^OM; of Bengal, and the cession of the province

of Orissa. The chout ceased, as a matter of course, seven

years after, when British authority became paramount in

Bengal ;
but the province continued in the possession of the

Nagpore family for half a century.

The Garuatic was now to become the theatre of
Events in the

Camatic, 1701 great events, which exercised an important in-

fluence on the destinies of India. This extensive

province on the Coromandel coast, on the seaboard of which

lay the English and French settlements, extended about five

hundred miles from north to south, and about a hundred miles

inland. After the conquest of the southern provinces by the

Moguls under Aurungzebe, it was included in the soubah of

the Deccan. Zulfikar Khan, with whose name the reader is

familiar, when recalled from his government by the emperor,
transferred his authority to Daood Khan, who drank " cordial

waters and French brandy" with the governor of Madras,
and Daood Khan, when summoned to take a command in the

imperial army in 1710, appointed Sadutoolla to act as his

deputy, and he continued to administer the government of

the Carnatic for twenty-two years, to the great benefit of the

people. His nephew, Dost Ali, assumed the office on his

death in 1732, without seeking the sanction of his superior,

the Nizam, who was, however, too deeply embroiled in his

contest with Bajee Rao to resent this assumption. Dost All
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had two daughters ; one married to his nephew, Mortiz Ali,

the most truculent and unprincipled prince in the Deccan, the

other to Chunda Sahib, distinguished equally by his talents

and his liberality. In 1736 he obtained possession of the im-

pregnable fortress of Trichinopoly by treachery, siezed the

surrounding country, and extinguished the independence of

the reigning family. Soon after came the great Mahratta

invasion, under Roghoojee Bhonslay. Dost Ali advanced to

meet him, but was defeated and slain. The Mahrattas then

proceeded to levy contributions in every direction, until they

were bought off with the promise of a crore of rupees, to be

paid by instalments by Sufdur Ali, the son of Dost Ah, who
now assumed the title of nabob of the Carnatic. During this

irruption Chunda Sahib placed his family, for greater security,

under the protection of the French at Pondicherry, which led

to important results.

The popularity of Chunda Sahib had, however,
Chunda Sahib.

l J
. .

' '

excited apprehensions in the mind of Sufdur Ah,
and it was a part of his compact with the Mahrattas that

they should return the next year and extinguish his power ;

retaining the principality of Trichinopoly for themselves.

They came down, accordingly, in 1741 and laid siege to that

fort, which Chunda Sahib defended with great skill and valour

for three months, but was eventually constrained to capitulate ;

and as he was considered the ablest and most formidable

soldier in the south, he was conveyed to Satara and placed in

strict confinement. Morari Rao, the Mahratta chief of Gooty,
with 14,000 men, kept possession of the fort and territory

of Trichinopoly. A year after, Sufdur Ali was assassinated

by Mortiz Ah, who proclaimed himself nabob
; but the friends

and relatives of the murdered prince withdrew his infant son

from Madras, where he had obtained shelter, and raided liim

to the throne. Meanwhile the Nizam, who had returned from

Delhi to the Deccan, resolved to put an end to the anarchy of

the Carnatic, and moved down with an army little short of

t>0,000 horse and 200,000 foot. All parties hastened to make
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their submission to this overwhelming
1

force, and the Nizam

placed the administration of the province in the hands of one

of his old and faithful servants, Anwar-ood-deen, as the

guardian of the youthful son of Sufdur All, on whom he en-

gaged to confer the nabobship when he came of age. The

youth was soon afterwards assassinated, but

founds the family
Anwar-ood-deen is not chargeable with complicity

of nabobs of the in this crime, though he obtained the benefit of it.
Carnatic, 1740.

3

He was placed m the vacant post, and founded

the family of the nabobs of Arcot, or of the Carnatic, subse-

quently so notorious in the history of British India. Sadut-

oollah and his son, Dost Ali, had governed the Carnatic for

thirty years with great moderation and no little advantage
to the people. To them are apparently due the merit of con-

structing $iose works of irrigation which diffused fertility

through the district. During their reigns the country enjoyed
a respite from desolation, and begun to flourish. The people,

grateful for so unusual a blessing, had contracted a warm
attachment to the family, while the nabob of the Nizam was

considered an interloper and regarded with a proportionate

feeling of antipathy.

CHAPTER IX.

EFFORTS OF THE FRENCH TO ESTABLISH AN EMPIRE IN INDIA.

17461761.

War with WE are now entering on a series of events,

France, 1744. which, though of little significance at the time,

produced the most momentous results, and laid the founda-

tion of European supremacy in India. Up to this time the

French and English in India had been engaged only in the

pursuits of commerce, and though they were repeatedly at

war, during a period of seventy years, in Europe, there was
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peace between their factories, lying side by side on the same

coast and the same river. But in the war which broke out in

1744, the French ministry determined to extend the conflict

to the east, and fitted out an expedition for the destruction of

the English factories in India. So little apprehension was

entertained in those settlements, at the tune, of any hostilities

which might affect their security, that the whole amount of

the European force at all the Presidencies and forts did not

exceed six hundred, of whom more than one-half were un-

trained recruits. It was in this unexpected emergency,
that the English were obliged to take up arms in the defence

of their interests ; and we have now to trace the steps by
which they gradually became involved hi hostilities with the

native powers, by the irresistible current of circumstances

and contrary to their own wishes, till they found, themselves

in possession of the empire of India.

Labourdonnais, who was the first to break a

lance with the English in India, had embarked for

the east at the early age of fourteen, and in a long succession

of voyages, acquired a complete knowledge of its trade, navi-

gation, and resources. His application to business was

indefatigable, and his spirit of enterprize was only strength-

ened by difficulties. He was a man of large views, and yet

personally directed the minutest details. In 1734, he was

appointed governor of the Mauritius and Bourbon, which he

found a wilderness, and left flourishing colonies. On his

return to Europe, seeing the nation on the eve of a war with

the English, he persuaded the minister to strike a blow at

their commercial prosperity in India, and the command of the

armament was judiciously entrusted to him. At the same

time the British ministry despatched a squadron, consisting

of six men of war, to protect the settlements of the Company
on the Coromandel coast. On the morning of the 26th of

June, 1746, the French fleet of nine vessels under Labour-

donnais, appeared off the coast, and the British commodore

brought on an immediate action, which, however, terminated
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without any result. The French general, impatient to plant

the French flag on the ramparts of Madras, proceeded to Pon-

dicherry to obtain the co-operation of the governor, Dupleix.

Dupieix. He was the son of a farmer general, and was sent

in his youth to India, where he embarked in an extensive

trade with all the ports of the east, and acquired great wealth.

Having been appointed governor of Chandernagore, he en-

riched it by commerce till it became more than the rival of

Calcutta, and left two thousand brick buildings as a monument

of his enterprising spirit. He was a man of inordinate am-

bition and egregious vanity, but at the same time of vast

energy and resources. He had been employed for four years
in fortifying Pondicherry, when Labourdonnais arrived with

plenary powers, but instead of co-operating with him to pro-

mote the common interests of the nation, a jealousy of the

reputation he might acquire, induced Dupleix to thwart all his

projects. But the indomitable zeal of Labourdonnais over-

came every obstacle, and his fleet was rapidly equipped for a

descent on Madras. On the other hand, the English squadron,
sent out for the express purpose of protecting the settlements,

was unaccountably withdrawn at this critical juncture, and

the commodore abandoned them to their fate.

_
t , Labourdonnais, finding the coast clear, lost no

Capture of '

Madras time in steering for Madras. That settlement
ber,n46. j^ grown Up from an insignificant hamlet in 1640

to a town of 250,000 inhabitants in 1746. The territory

extended about five miles along the coast, and a little more
than a mile inland. After a century of peaceful commerce,
undisturbed by the appearance of any enemy by land or by
sea, it was ill prepared for the formidable attack now impend-

ing. The fortifications, which had never been strong, were
now dilapidated, and the store of ammunition was scanty. Of

the 300 Europeans in the town, 200 were soldiers, and few of

these had ever seen a shot fired in earnest. On the 15th of

September, 1746, Labourdonnais appeared off the town with

1,100 Europeans, 400 Malagasees, and 400 sepoys, or native
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soldiers, trained and disciplined by Eiiropeans, an expedient
which the French were the first in India to adopt. After a

bombardment of five days, during which the French did not

lose a man, and the English lost only five, and that by the

bursting of one of their own bombs, the town and fort were

surrendered. The French commander was interdicted by
his instructions from retaining any of the settlements he

might capture, and he, therefore, held the town to ransom, for

the sum of forty-four lacs of rupees, independently of the mer-

chandize, the military and naval stores, and the money belong-

ing to the Company. None of the residents were molested

in person or property; and it was agreed that the town should

be evacuated by the French troops in three months, and that

it should not be again attacked during the war. The success

and the moderation of Labourdonnais only served to inflame

the animosity of Dupleix, who protested against the ransom,

and declared that the town and factory ought to have been

razed to the ground.

Fate of Labourdonnais was reinforced in a few days by
Labourdonnais. fregh arrivals from France, which raised the number

of Europeans under his command to more than 3,000, a force

sufficient to have crushed every English settlement in India.

But they were happily saved from destruction by the spleen of

Dupleix, who obstructed all the projects of Labourdonnais, and

by the weather. The monsoon set in with extraordinary

violence ; and, though the ships freighted with the booty of

Madras escaped the typhoon, some of the largest vessels in

the squadron were stranded, and the whole of the fleet was

disabled. Labourdonnais was constrained to quit the coast

and return to the Mauritius, and eventually to Europe. On

the voyage home in a Dutch vessel he was forced iiito an

English harbour, and became a prisoner of war. But his great

abilities, and his generous conduct after the capture of Madras,

were so highly appreciated that he was immediately liberated

on his parole. Far different was his reception in his native

land. The representations of the envious Dupleix, and other
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enemies he had made in India by his energy and patriotism,

were favourably received; his great services were overlooked,

and he was thrown into the Bastile, where be lingered for

three years, and died of a broken heart on his liberation.

On the appearance of Labourdonnais' army
Defeat of native L *

troops; its before Madras, the Nabob of the Carnatic, An-
suit; 1749.

war-ood-deen, sent an agent to Pondicherry to

remonstrate on the presumption of the French in attacking a

settlement in his dominions which was tinder his protection.

Dupleix endeavoured to pacify him by the promise of deliver-

ing the town to him when captured, that he might enrich

himself by its ransom. But after its surrender, the Nabob

discovered that the promise had been made only to cozen

him, and he sent his son with a force of 10,000 men to drive

out the French. They advanced with confidence to attack

the handful of Europeans, not exceeding a thousand, whom
Labourdonnais had left to protect the town. But the field-

pieces of the French fired three or four tunes a minute, while

the native artillery thought they did wonders by firing once

in a quarter of an hour. This rapid and galling fire staggered
the Nabob's troops, and the resolute advance of the French

infantry took all conceit of fighting out of them. The

young Nabob, mounted on a lofty elephant which carried the

great standard of the Carnatic, was the first to make his

escape from the field, and he was followed by the whole

army. This dastardly flight of ten thousand Indians before a

ningle battalion of Europeans, is a memorable event hi the

history of India. It dissolved at once and for ever the spell

which had hitherto kept Europeans in dread of native armies.

It demonstrated their inherent weakness, however strong in

numbers, and it gave the English that confidence in their own
valour and strategy which contributed more than anything
else to the successive subversion of the native thrones.

On the departure of Labourdonnais, Dupleix
abandons the made no scruple to annul the treaty and confiscate

iisn,i<49. ^ ^ property, private and public, found, in
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Madras. The governor and the principal inhabitants were

declared prisoners of war and marched down to Pondicherry,

where, under pretence of doing them honour, they were

marched through the streets, amidst the jeers of fifty thousand

spectators. Dupleix followed up this act of bad faith by
laying siege to Fort St. David, another settlement of the

Company on the Coast, about a hundred miles south of

Madras, which was at the time defended only by 200

European troops. The English chief solicited the aid of the

Nabob of the Carnatic, who was smarting under the disgrace

inflicted on his son at Madras, and readily advanced with a

large force. A French detachment was unexpectedly attacked

by the Nabob's general, and seized with a panic, and retired

in disorder to Pondicherry with considerable loss. Dupleix
who had a thorough knowledge of the native character, now
set himself to detach the Nabob from the English alliance.

The singular departure of the English fleet in the preceding

year, and the arrival of four French vessels with reinforce-

ments, enabled him to decry the one, and to extol the resources

of the other. An Asiatic prince never considers himself

bound by any principle of honour, or even consistency ; his

own supposed advantage is the only rule of his conduct, and

he changes sides without the smallest scruple. Dupleix suc-

ceeded in persuading the Nabob that the English were the

weaker party, and the Nabob did not hesitate for a moment

to abandon them. His son was accordingly sent to Pondi-

cherry to form an alliance with Dupleix, by whom he was

received with the greatest ostentation, and loaded with

presents. The French now advanced against St. David a

second time with a greater force, but a large fleet was de-

scried in the offing, which proved to be an English armament,

and the besiegers retreated rapidly to Pondicherry.

This armament, which had been despatched from

of Poneucheriy, England for the defence of the Company's settle-

1748
ments, under the command of Admiral Boscawen,

arrived off Fort St. David on the 9th of August, and was
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immediately joined by the vessels of Admiral Griffin. The

junction of the two squadrons formed the largest maritime

force which had ever been seen in the eastern seas. It con-

sisted of more than thirty vessels, none of which were of less

than 500 tons, and thirteen of them men of war of the

line. The English troops now on the oast comprised in all

3,720 Europeans, 300 topasses, and 2,000 sepoys, equal to any

enterprise. The Nabob still changing sides as the power of

the English or the French appeared to predominate, promised
the aid of a body of his troops. Every bosom was beating
with the hope that the loss of Madras would be avenged by
the capture of Pondicherry ; but the English were subjected

to a bitter disappointment The army began its march to

that settlement on the 8th of August, and the siege was

prosecuted for fifty days, but, notwithstanding the valour of

the officers and men, it was at length disgracefully raised,

after more than a thousand European lives had been sacrificed.

Seldom, if ever, has any siege in India exhibited more egre-

gious blunders on the part of the commanders. Dupleix
announced the abandonment of the siege as a magnificent

triumph of the French arms, to all the various princes of India,

not forgetting even the great Mogul, and he received from all

quarters the most flattering compliments on his own ability,

and the valour of his nation. For the time, the French were

regarded as the greatest European power in the Deccan, and

the English, who had not only lost theu: own settlement,

but failed to capture that of their rivals, sunk into contempt.
Seven days after the retirement of the English force, informa-

tion was received of the suspension of hostilities in Europe,
which ended in the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle, and Madras was
restored to the East India Company.

Effects of this
^h*8 war

'
f k'ttle more than two years' duration,

two years- war opens a new era in the politics of India. In 1746,

neither the English nor the French were viewed by the native

rulers in any other light than as inoffensive traders. By the

end of 1748, they had come out as great military powers
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whose alliance or opposition was an object of importance to

the princes of the country It might have been expected
that on the return of peace both parties would lay aside their

armour, and return to the counting-house. But as the

eloquent historian of these transactions, who was at the time

at Madras, observes,
" The war had brought to Pondicherry

and Fort St. David, a number of troops greatly superior to

any which either of the two nations had assembled in India,

and as if it was impossible that a military force which feels

itself capable of enterprises should refrain from attempting

them, the two settlements, no longer authorised to fight with

each other, took the resolution of employing their arms in the

contests of the princes of the country ; the English with great

indiscretion, the French with the utmost ambition."

Expedition to The English were the first to take the field.

Devi-cotta, 1749. The little principality of Tanjore, seventy miles

long and sixty hi breadth, with the history of which the

reader is already acquainted, was at this time governed by

Pretap Sing, the fifth in succession from the Mahratta chief-

tain who had conquered it. His brother, Sahoojee, who
had been deposed for his imbecility, applied to the governor
of Madras to reseat him on the throne, engaging to defray

all the expenses of the expedition and to cede the town and

district of Devi-cotta, at the mouth of the Coleroon. The

English had no right to interfere in this foreign quarrel, but

their troops were unemployed, and the opportunity was very

tempting. Tnis forms, perhaps, the only instance during a

century of warfare of an expedition undertaken by them

without any plea of necessity The force which was sent to

conquer Tanjore consisted of 430 Europeans and 1,000 sepoys,

with eight field pieces and mortars, under the command of

Major Stringer Lawrence, the first of that long train of heroes

who have rendered the British name illustrious on the plains

of Hindostan. The commencement of the siege was inau-

spicious. The typhoon which ushered in the monsoon, sunk

some of the largest of the ships, and inflicted such destruction
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on the army as to oblige the Major to retire to Porto Novo to

refit. It would be tedious to follow the varied events of the

siege, which was our first and most clumsy attempt to take

an Indian fort, and which derives its chief interest from the

circumstance that it afforded the first opportunity for develop-

ing the genius of Clive. The fort was captured after two
unsuccessful attacks ; but it had now become manifest to the

Madras Presidency that the cause of our protegee was un-

popular and hopeless. The raja of Tanjore, menaced by Chunda

Sahib, offered to defray all the expenses incurred by the Com-

pany in war, to cede Devi-cotta with the district around it, and

to grant a pension of 50,000 rupees a year to his disinherited

brother. These terms were accepted, and the troops returned

to Madras.

Dupieix's amw- While the English army was thus wasting its

tious designs, strength on the walls of Devi-cotta, Dupleix was

playing a higher game. He had seen a thousand European

troops disperse an army of ten thousand native soldiers like a

flock of sheep, and he had received the congratulations of the

native princes on the success of his arms. He had at his

disposal an army capable of any enterprise, and, in Bussy, a

general fit to command it. He determined, therefore, to take

advantage of the confusion of the times, and the prestige he

had acquire*?, to set up a French empire in the Deccan.

Chunda Sahib was considered by the natives of the Carnatic,

the ablest soldier in the country, and the only man who could

deliver them from the yoke of the hated Anwar-ood-deen, and

Dupleix at once perceived how greatly his ambitious projects

would be forwarded if Chunda Sahib were placed on the throne

of the Carnatic by his instrumentality. He accordingly

opened a correspondence with that prince, who had been a

prisoner for eight years at Satara, through the medium of his

wife who was residing at Pondicherry under the protection

of the French government. After much negotiation Dupleix

succeeded in obtaining the liberation of Chunda Sahib by the

payment of seven lacs of rupees, and he appeared on the
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confines of the Carnatic with 6,000 troops whom he had en-

listed, when the death of the old Nizam, at Hyderabad, gave
a new turn to public affairs.

Death of the Towards the end of 1748 Nizam-ool-moolk, the
Nuam, 1748.

gOobadar of the Deccan, the great founder of the

kingdom of Hyderabad, closed his long and eventful career at

the age of a hundred and four. His eldest son, Ghazee-ood-

deen, was at the time high in office at Delhi. His second son,

Nazir Jung, who was with his father at the period of his de-

cease and in command of the army, immediately seized the

public treasure and the supreme authority, giving out that

his elder brother had resigned the office of soobadar to him.

But there was a grandson of the old Nizam whom he had

cherished with great affection, and who now aspired to this

honour. He affirmed that it had been conferred on him by the

emperor himself, with the title of Mozuffer Jung, and he as-

sembled an army of 25,000 men with which he hovered on

the west of Golconda, watching the opportunity of action.

Chunda Sahib, hearing of the position and designs of the

young prince, immediately offered him the service of his sword.

He was received in the camp with open arms, and his troops

were at once taken into the pay of Mozuffer, who was per-

suaded to appoint him Nabob of the Carnatic, and to march, in

the first instance, to the conquest of that province, on the

ground that its resources would be invaluable in the struggle

with Nazir Jung. A communication was at the same time

made to Dupleix, inviting him to join the confederacy, and

offering him great advantages for the French Company. The

proposal, if it did not originate with Dupleix, was most accep-

table to hun, and a contingent of 400 Europeans and 2,000

sepoys was immediately sent to join the confederates. Their

united force, swelled in its progress to 40,000 men, entered

the Carnatic and began to levy contributions. The Nabob,

Anwar-ood-deen, advanced to repel the invasion with a force

of only half that number, and a battle was fought in July, 1749,

at Amboor, fifty miles from Arcot, which decided the fate of
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the Carnatic. The army of the Nabob was completely routed,

chiefly through the valour of Bussy's troops ; the Nabob him-

self was shot dead in the action, and his son, Mahomed Ali,

fled to Trichinopoly, where the family and the treasures of

the deceased Nabob bad been deposited.

Mozuffer Jung marched the next day to Arcot.
The English aid J

Mahomed AH, and assumed the state and dignity of soobadar

of the Deccan, conferring the government of the

Carnatic on Chunda Sahib. From thence they proceeded

together to Pondicherry, where Dupleix received them with

all the oriental ceremonies due to the rank they had assumed,

and was rewarded by the grant of eighty-one villages.

Mahomed Ali, on his arrival at Trichinopoly, came to the

conclusion that it could not be successfully defended against
the victorious army of Chunda Sahib, backed by his French

allies, although it was one of the strongest and most import-

ant fortresses in the south. He sent, therefore, to implore the

assistance of the English governor of Madras, who was,

however, without any instructions for such an emergency.
The Madras Council had bitterly repented of their wild

expedition to Devi-cotta, and were anxious not to involve

their masters again in the risk of alliances and disputes with

the native powers. At the same time, they could not shut

their eyes to the danger arising from the ambitious schemes

of Dupleix, and the ascendancy he was acquiring in the

Carnatic But they were incapable of that resolution which

the crisis demanded, and they aided Mahomed Ali only with

the contemptible force of 120 men, while by an act of

incredible fatuity they sent back the fleet with the greater

part of the land forces to England. Dupleix urged Chunda

Sahib to lose no time in marching against Trichinopoly,

where the adherents of the deceased Nabob were maturing
their plans, and he placed 800 French troops at his disposal.

But Chunda Sahib had an old quarrel to settle with the raja

of Tan
j ore, and was resolved to exact a heavy contribution

from him. He immediately marched against that town, and.
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after two months had been wasted in the siege, the raja

engaged to pay down seventy lacs of rupees to the allies, and

to cede more than eighty villages to the French, around their

settlement at Carical, With the view of gaining time, he

doled out the money in driblets, but before the first instalment

had been counted down, Dupleix informed the allies that Nazir

Jung was approaching the Carnatic with an overwhelming
force ; upon which they broke up their encampment in dismay,

and retired to the vicinity of Pondicherry.

The army with which Nazir Jung entered the

Jung Carnatic to drive out the two adventurers did not
and Chunda fau gh^ Of 300,000 men, one-half of whom con-
Sahib, 1749.

sisted of cavalry, and a tenth of mercenary

Mahrattas, with 800 guns and 1,300 elephants. He sum-

moned to his standard all the tributaries of Hyderabad, and,

among others, the Patan nabobs of Cuddapah, Kurnool, and

Savanore. Their ancestors had held those districts under the

crowns of Beejapore and of Golconda, and they themselves

were at the head of the Patans, who were constantly

streaming down from Afghanistan to seek employment and

plunder in India. The encampment of Nazir Jung was esta-

blished at Valdore, about fifteen miles from Pondicherry, and

the Governor of Madras sent an English force of GOO

Europeans to join it under Major Lawrence. Dupleix, on hia

part, augmented the French contingent with Mozuffer Jung
and Chunda Sahib to 2,000 European bayonets. But on the

eve of the day fixed for battle, thirteen French officers, who
were dissatisfied with their share of the treasure obtained

from the raja of Tanjore, basely deserted their colours and

returned to Pondicherry. The soldiers were panic struck,

and followed their example. Chunda Sahib fought his way
back gallantly to the French settlement, but Mozuffer Jung
surrendered himself to his uncle, who took an oath to protect

him, and then placed him in captivity.

Dupieix's skilful The ambitious schemes of Dupleix were inter-
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movements, rupted by this reverse, but he showed himself as

1749.
great an adept in oriental intrigue as if he had

been bred a Mahomedan courtier. He immediately opened a

negotiation with Nazir Jung, and was allowed to send an

envoy to his camp, who had thus an opportunity of ascertain-

ing the precise position of affairs. Though the mission of his

emissary was not successful, he discovered that the three

Patan nabobs mentioned above were dissatisfied with the

proceedings of the Nizam, and ready to revolt. Dupleix

established a correspondence with them, and, with the view

of securing their confidence and intimidating the Nizam, sent

an expedition to Masulipatam, and captured the fort;

attacked the camp of Mahomed Ali, and, after a prodigous

slaughter, constrained him to fly with only one or two

attendants, and then seized on Ginjee, the stronghold of the

south, the siege of which had detained Zulfikar Khan nine

years. These daring exploits at length roused Nazir Jung
from the voluptuous sloth in which he was buried at Arcot,

and induced him to send two of his officers to renew the

negotiations with Dupleix. But Dupleix, seeing the game in

his own hands, rose in his demands, and required the

liberation of Mozuffer Jung and the restoration of his estates,

together with the acknowledgment of Chunda Sahib as Nabob

of the Camatic, and the cession of Masulipatam and its

dependencies to the French.

Nazir Jung, indignant at these audacious pro-Nazir Jung at-
r

tacked and posals, instantly ordered his army to march against
kmed, 1749.

the Frenc^ Though it had been reduced in num-

ber by the dismissal of many detachments, fifteen days were

occupied in marching a distance of only thirty miles. Scarcity

and disease began to thin its ranks, and the Nabob, weary of

a war in which he had wasted a twelvemonth to no purpose,

conceded all the demands of Dupleix, and they were embodied

in a treaty. But Dupleix had been for seven months in

correspondence with the discontented nabobs, and on the

R2
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maturity of the scheme, had ordered his commandant at

Ginjee to proceed against the camp of Nazir Jung, as soon as

he received a requisition from them. Their summons unfor-

tunately reached him before the ratification of the treaty, in

total ignorance of which, he marched on the 4th of December,

1749, towards the Nizam's camp, with 800 Europeans and

3,000 sepoys. After a long and fatiguing march of sixteen

miles, he came in sight of it as it stretched over an area of

eighteen miles, and immediately commenced the attack. His

small force was repeatedly charged by different divisions of

the enemy, but his field-pieces shattered their ranks, and by

mid-day half their army was in flight. Nazir Jung could not

credit the report, that the French with whom he had just

concluded a treaty were engaged in attacking his troops ;

but when he was assured of the fact, he rode up with indig-

nant haste to the three nabobs, who were marching to join

the French, and singling out the Nabob of Cuddapah, re-

proached him with his cowardice and treachery- The Nabob

lodged two balls in the heart of his unfortunate master, and

having caused his head to be struck off, hastened to present
it to Mozuffer Jung.

Mozuffer Jung was immediately released from
Mozuffer Jung
becomes Nizam, confinement, and saluted Soobadar of the Deccan.

"Never," remarks the great historian of this

period,
" since the days of Cortez and Pizarro, did so small a

force decide the fate of so large a sovereignty." The new
Nizam proceeded to Pondicherry, and was welcomed with a

grand display of eastern pomp. The day following his arrival

he was installed as Soobadar, and Dupleix, arrayed in the

gorgeous robes of a Mahomedan omra, appeared as the chief

actor in the pageant. Chunda Sahib was declared Nabob of

the Carnatic, and Dupleix was nominated governor on the

part of the Mogul, of all the country lying south of the

Kistna. Thus had this daring politician, in the brief space of

twenty months, outrun even his own large scheme of ambition.

He had not only created a Nabob of the Carnatic, but even a
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Viceroy of the Deccan, and had obtained the supreme control

of a kingdom larger than France.

Death of Mozuf- But Mozuffer Jung was not to enjoy this dig-
fer Jung, 1751. njty long. After having made a profuse distribu-

tion of the treasures of Nazir Jung, amounting to two crores

of rupees among his partisans, he left Pondicherry on his

return to Hyderabad on the 4th of January, 1751, accom-

panied by a French force of 300 Europeans and 2,000 sepoys,

under the command of Bussy. He had not proceeded more

than sixty leagues, when the three Patan nabobs, who were

dissatisfied with the rewards they had received on the occasion

of his elevation, broke into open rebellion. Bussy's force

was immediately called forth, and his artillery swept
down their battalions; the treacherous Nabob of Savanore

was hacked to pieces, and the revolt was quenched in the

blood of those who had excited it. But the irritated Nizam,

rejecting the sound advice of Bussy, insisted on the pursuit

of the fugitives, and was struck dead by the javelin of

the nabob of Kurnool, who was in his turn slam in the conflict.

The whole camp was thrown into the greatest confusion by
this unexpected event, but Bussy never lost his presence of

mind. He assembled the bewildered generals and ministers,

and, such was the influence he had acquired, that he induced

them to confer the vacant dignity on Salabut Jung, the third

son of the old Nizam, who was then a prisoner in the camp.

Tranquillity was immediately restored, and the army resumed

its progress. Leaving it now to pursue its march to the

north, we turn to the movements of Chtmda Sahib.

Chunda Sahib proceeded from Pondicherry with

i.
8

'
000 of ms own tr(> P8 and 80 French auxiliaries

to Arcot, in February, 1751, to receive homage as

Nabob of the Carnatic, and then advanced to the siege of

Trichinopoly. Mr. Saunders, now Governor of Madras, felt

that a great error had been committed in permitting Dupleix

to obtain such a footing in the south, and he resolved to

counteract his schemes by a more decisive support of the
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cause of Mahomed Ali. A large detachment was accordingly

sent to the relief of the small English garrison cooped up in

the fort of Trichinopoly, but the troops of our ally scarcely

exceeded a tenth of those assembled under the banner of

Chunda Sahib. Captain Clive, who accompanied the reinforce-

ment, returned to Madras and urged on the Governor the im-

portance of creating a diversion, and suggested an expedition

to Arcot, the capital of the Carnatic. Clive, the founder of

the British empire in India, had gone out to
Career of Clive.

. f .

'

Madras in the civil service of the East India Com-

pany in 1744, and was present at the surrender of that town

to Labourdonnais, two years after. Following the bent of

his genius, he exchanged the pen for the sword, and obtained

an ensign's commission. He distinguished himself in the

operations before Devi-cotta, where he attracted the ad-

miration of Major Lawrence. He was also at the abortive

and disastrous siege of Pondicherry under admiral Boscawen.

Mr. Saunders adopted his advice, and confided the Arcot ex-

pedition to his charge, though he was only twenty-six years

of age at the time. The only force that could be spared from

Madras consisted of 200 Europeans, and 300 sepoys, and eight

field pieces. Of the eight officers who accompanied it one-

half were civilians, attracted to the expedition by the example
of Clive, and six of them had never been in action. But Clive

had seen from the rnmparts of Madras a mere handful of

Europeans defeat aud disperse ten thousand native soldiers ;

and he had confidence in his own powers. During the march

of the troops they were overtaken by a violent storm of thun-

der, lightning, and rain ; but they continued their progress

with the utmost coolness, and this circumstance impressed the

superstitious garrison with so exalted an idea of their prowess,

that they were allowed to enter the fort without opposition.

The expedition produced the desired effect; Chunda Sahib

was obliged to detach a large force to Arcot, and the pres-

sure on the English garrison at Trichinopoly was alle-

viated.
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The fort of Arcot was more than a mile in cir-

by cuve, 1751. cumference, with a low and lightly-built parapet ;

several of the towers were decayed, and the ditch,

where not fordable, was dry and choked up. From the day
of its occupation, Olive had been incessantly employed in re-

pairing the defences, but the place seemed little capable of

standing a siege. Of his eight officers, one had been killed and

two wounded in successive encounters with the enemy, and

a fourth had returned to Madras. The troops fit for duty
had been reduced by casualties and disease to 120 Europeans
and 200 sepoys, and it was with this small body that Clive

sustained, for seven weeks, the incessant assaults of 10,000

native troops and 150 Europeans. On the last day of the

siege the enemy endeavoured to storm the fort, but, during
a conflict which lasted more than eighteen hours, they were

repulsed on every point, and the next morning were seen to

break up their encampment and retire. " Thus ended this

<nemorable siege," as Orme remarks,
" maintained fifty days,

under every disadvantage of situation and force, by a handful

of men, in their first campaign, with a spirit worthy of the

most veteran troops, and conducted by the young commander

with indefatigable activity, unshaken confidence, and un-

daunted courage ;
and notwithstanding he had at this time

neither read books or conversed with men capable of giving
him much instruction in the military art, all the resources

which he employed in the defence of Arcot were such as were

dictated by the best masters in the art of war." His charac-

ter was completely defined in a single expression of the great
minister of England, William Pitt, when he styled him the
" heaven-born general."

Chunda Sahib still continued to beleaguer Tri-

Frcnch, ^! chinopoly with a large force, and Mahomed All

was induced, by his terror, to invite the aid of the

regent of Mysore and Morari Rao, the Mahratta chief of

Gooty, as well as the general of the Tanjore troops. Clive,

on his return from Arcot, proceeded to Trichinopoly, and was
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employed in various enterprises of a minor character, which,

however, served to mature his military talents. The cam-

paign was brought to an early and successful issue by Major

Lawrence, who, in June, 1752, compelled the French comman-

der Law, to surrender at discretion, with all his troops, stores,

and artillery. Chunda Sahib, deserted by his own officers,

yielded himself up to the Tanjorine general, who appeared to

be the least inveterate of his enemies. The general took the

most solemn oath to conduct him in safety to a French settle-

ment, but immediately after caused him to be assassinated, at

the instigation of Mahomed Ali, who, after feasting his eyes
with the sight of his murdered rival, bound his head to the

neck of a camel, and paraded it five times round the walls of

the city.

t , The war with Chunda Sahib had no sooner
Discontent ofthe

Mysore Regent, terminated, than the English found themselves

involved in hostilities with the allies who had

co-operated with them in the cause of Mahomed Ali; so

utterly impossible did they find it to shake off their connection

with country politics, when once entangled in them. The

Mysore regent came forward and claimed possession of Tri-

chinopoly and its dependencies, and the Nabob was constrained

to confess that he had secretly contracted to transfer the city,

and the territory south of it, to the Mysore prince, as the

price of his alliance. It is easy to conceive the disgust of

Major Lawrence on finding that the fortress which his own

government had drained their treasury to secure for the Nabob,
was now to be made over to a native chief who had rendered

no assistance, and whose fidelity was exceedingly doubtful.

He retired in disgust to Madras taking care, however, to

leave Captain Dalton, with 200 Europeans and 1,500 sepoys,
to guard the citadel against the artifices of the regent. Mean-

while Dupleix, having received large reinforcements from

Europe, proclaimed the son of Chunda Sahib nabob of the

Battle of Bahoor, Carnatic, and sent a powerful force to renew the
Aug., not

giege of Trichinopoly. But Major Lawrence over-
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took the French at Bahoor, inflicted a signal defeat on them,
and a second time captured their guns and ammunition.

The Mysore regent, seeing it vain to expect the
The Mysoreans .... . m . ,. , ,. c ,-,

and Mahrattas acquisition of Tnchinopoly, or any portion or tlie

:om^the
French, gum Of eighty lacs of rupees, which he demanded

in lieu of it, transferred his alliance, in conjunc-

tion with Morari Rao, to the French. The town was regu-

larly besieged by the confederates, who experienced many
vicissitudes during the two years the investment lasted.

These various actions it is not necessary to detail, and it

may be sufficient to state that the French were three times

worsted by the superior strategy of Lawrence, and that, on

one occasion, the English sustained a memorable reverse. At

length Morari Rao, on the receipt of three lacs of rupees from

Mahomed Ali, consented to withdraw his force, and not to

appear again in the field against the English, the Nabob, or

the raja of Mysore. Before his departure, however, he con-

trived to extort a further sum from the Mysore regent, under

the threat of attacking him He was the ablest and the

boldest native general of his tune, and his little army, com-

posed of Mahrattas, Mahomedans, and Rajpoots, was the

mbst compact and formidable body of native troops hi the

south. They had stood the assault of European troops, and,

what was of more importance, the fire of field-pieces, which

were now, for the first time, introduced into Indian warfare,

and they had unshaken confidence in each other, and in their

chief.

The French and English had now been engaged
Termination of . , , , .-t-.- etc jt
the war. 1764. m mutual hostilities for nearly five years, madly

exhausting their resources in the cause of native

princes. The Court of Directors were anxious to put an end

to this anomalous and wasting warfare, and, in 1753, made an

earnest appeal to the ministers of the crown for aid, either to

prosecute, or to terminate it. The ministry ordered a squadron
and a military force to India, and theu remonstrated with the

French government on the proceedings of their functionaries
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in the East. Anxious to avoid a war between the two coun-

tries, the French cabinet despatched M. Godeheu, one of

the directors of their East India Company, to India, with

orders to supersede Dupleix, to assume the control of their

affairs, and bring these hostilities to an immediate close. He
landed at Pondicherry, on the 2nd of August, 1754, and all

the schemes of ambition in which Dupleix had been so long

engaged, were at once quenched. He immediately laid down

his office ;
but his vanity was soothed by being allowed to

retain the emblems of his " Moorish dignity his flags, and

ensigns, and instruments of music, and the dress of his nabob-

ship, in which he went, in great pomp, to dine with M.

Godeheu on the feast of St. Louis."

___^v_. The negotiators, M. Godeheu and Mr. Saunders,
Treaty between
the English and agreed upon a suspension of arms at their first

ncn, 1.54. meeting. A conditional treaty was soon after

signed, the salient points of which were, that both parties

should, for ever,
" renounce all Moorish government and dig-

nity," and never interfere in the differences of the native

princes ; that the possessions held by both nations should

eventually be of equal value, but that they should retain aU

their acquisitions till a final treaty was concluded in Europe.
Mahomed Ali was, likewise, to be confirmed as Nabob of the

Carnatic. The balance of advantage was on the side of the

French. Independently of the Northern Sircars, held by

Bussy, they remained in possession of a territory yielding

eighteen lacs of rupees a year, while that occupied by the

English was not of more value than ten lacs ; but, the East

India Company was rid of the restless ambition of Dupleix,

which outweighed every other consideration. The treaty wasr

however, little respected by those who made it. The ink

was scarcely dry before the Madras government sent an

auxiliary force with the army of their Nabob, to subjugate
the districts of Madura and Tinnevelly, and the French de-

spatched a body of troops to subdue Terriore. And as to any
definitive treaty in Europe, every prospect of it was extin-
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guished by the war, which soon after broke out between

England and France.

Dupleix embarked for Europe in September.
Fate of Dupleix.

r
^- 4.

17o4. He had expended a sum exceeding thirty

lacs of rupees in the public service, partly from his private

estate, and partly from funds raised on his own bonds. Gode-

heu refused to audit his accounts, and referred the adjust-

ment of them to the Directors of the French East India

Company, in Paris, who, to their disgrace, basely disallowed

the greater portion of the claim, under the pretence that these

expenses had been incurred without their sanction. Dupleix
was consigned to neglect and poverty the second instance

of national ingratitude towards Indian servants. He merited

a different return from his own nation ; for, whatever may
have been the defects of his character, the French never had

an officer more desirous, or more capable, of extending their

reputation and power. At a time when Europeans, without

exception, entertained a morbid dread of native armies, he

boldly encountered them in the field, and demonstrated their

weakness; and, if he had been adequately supported from

France, he would probably have succeeded in the great

object of his life the establishment of a French empire in

India.

Death of Sahoo
Before we follow the career of Bussy, in the

me Mahratta north, it is necessary to glance at the progress of

Mahratta affairs. Sahoo, the grandson of Sevajee,
who had been seated on the Mahratta throne for more than

fifty years, and had always been imbecile, now exhibited signs
of idiocy dressing up a favourite dog in gold-brocade and

jewels, and placing his own plumed turban on his head in open
durbar. All substantial power had long since passed into the

hands of the Peshwa ; but the wife of Sahoo was his mortal

foe, and, at this crisis, endeavoured to weaken him, by per-

suading her husband, now in his dotage, to adopt his kinsman

the raja of Kolapore. But Tara Bye, who had taken no share

in Mahratta politics for more than twenty years, since the
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death of her son, now came forward and conveyed informa-

tion to Sahoo, that her daughter-in-law had been delivered of

a posthumous child, whose life she had succeeded with great

difficulty in preserving, and who was now the nearest heir to

the throne. The Peshwa, whether he believed the story or

not, determined to support it, and advanced to Satara with a

powerful army. Eveiy avenue to the couch of the dying
monarch was strictly guarded by his wife ; but the Peshwa

found the means of access to him, and induced him to affix

his seal to a most extraordinary document, by which all the

authority in the state was transferred to the Peshwa, on con-

dition that he should maintain the royal title and dignity of

the house of Sevajee, in the person of Tara Bye's grandson.
Sahoo died two days after the execution of this document,

and the Peshwa dexterously constrained his widow to ascend

the funeral pile by giving out that she had announced her in-

tention to do so ; and from such an announcement she could

not recede without infamy.
Balaiee Rao, the Peshwa, immediately pro-

Supremacy of J r

the Peshwa, claimed the adopted prince sovereign of the Mah-

rattas, under the title of Ram raja. The Mahratta

feudatories who had been summoned to the Court, accom-

panied the Peshwa to Poona thenceforward the capital of

Mahratta power to confirm and complete the provisions of

Sahoo's testament. Rughoojee Bhonslay received new sun-

nuds for levying chout in Bengal and Behar; the province

of Malwa was divided between Holkar and Sindia, and the old

cabinet of Ministers was confirmed in office. These appoint-

ments were made in the name of Ram raja, but they served

to strengthen the authority of the Peshwa. The year 1750

may, therefore, be considered the period at which the power
of the Mahratta state was definitively transferred to his

family, and the descendant of Sevajee became a puppet at

Satara. But Tara Bye, though seventy years of age, was

mortified by this alienation of all power from the regal

sceptre, and called to her aid the troops of the Guickwar,
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now the substantive ruler of Guzerat. At the same time

she urged her grandson to strike for his independence, but he

had no spirit for such a task, and she reproached him bitterly

with his degeneracy, and then placed him in confinement. The

Peshwa, who was then on a distant expedition, hastened to

Satara, and, by an act of treachery which has sullied his

character, seized on the Guickwar, but left Tara Bye unmo-

lested. He felt that by consigning the legitimate monarch to

a prison she was in reality playing his game.

Progress of
^o return to the progress of Bussy, After the

Bussy, 1752. defeat of the three Patan nabobs and the eleva-

tion of Salabut Jung, he accompanied the army to Golconda,

where he and his officers received the most liberal donations.

In June the Nizam proceeded with great pomp to the city of

Aurungabad, then considered second in magnitude and

importance only to Delhi. But Ghazee-ood-deen, the elder

brother of Salabut Jung, who held one of the highest posts

at the court of Delhi, on hearing of the death of Nazir Jung,
obtained a patent of appointment as Soobadar of the Deccan,

and excited the Peshwa by the promise of large jaygeers

to come down and attack Salabut Jung. The Mahrattas

employed all the arts of their national warfare against Bussy,
to whom the Nizam had confided the management of the cam-

paign, but the superiority of European tactics and valour

baffled all their efforts. The French artillery mowed down
their ranks ; they were routed in every encounter, and chased

back to within thirty miles of their capital. The Peshwa now
hastened to offer terms of conciliation. Salabut Jung's army

was, moreover, on the verge of mutiny, for want of pay and

food, and he adopted the advice of Bussy and rid himself of

this troublesome foe, by a cession of territory equivalent to

that which Ghazee-ood-deen had promised him. Eoghoojee

Bhonslay, who had also been incited to attack Salabut Jung
and lay waste his territories, was bought off with similar

concessions. Meanwhile, Ghazee-ood-deen himself advanced

to Aurungabad with an army of 150,000 men, and immediately
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dispatched an envoy to Dupleix, offering him the most bril-

liant advantages if he would detach the corps of Bussy from

the interests of his rival and brother. To conciliate Dupleix,

he went so far as to send him a sheet of blank paper with the

broad seal of the Mogul empire affixed to it, for him to fill up
with his own terms. But Salabut Jung cut short all his

schemes by inducing his own mother to send him a poisoned

dish, which she knew he would partake of, when he found

that it had been prepared with her own hands.

The ascendancy which Bussy had acquired at

the Northern the court of Hyderabad raised him many enemies,
:ars

'
ni

and even the minister, who was under the

greatest obligations to him, became his determined foe, and

plotted his destruction. In January, 1753, Bussy was obliged

to visit the coast to recruit his health, and the minister during
his absence endeavoured to break up his force by withholding

the payment of their allowances, and subjecting them to a

variety of insults. Bussy was obliged to return before his

health was confirmed, and marched with a body of 4,500 men

to Aurungabad, where the court lay. The minister, dis-

tracted by the appearance of this force, determined to seek

a reconciliation, to which Bussy, who wished to avoid

extremities, was not less inclined. But to avoid all future

occasion of discord regarding the pay of his troops, which

amounted to forty lacs of rupees a year, he obtained the

cession of the four districts on the coast, generally known as

the Northern Sircars. By this bold stroke the French acquired

an \minterrupted line of coast, six hundred miles in extent,

yielding a revenue of fifty lacs of rupees a year, which

rendered them absolute masters of a greater dominion than

had been in the possession of any European power in India,

not excepting even the Portuguese. The districts were

admirably adapted by the bounty of Providence and the in-

dustry of the inhabitants for a large and lucrative commerce ;

they were protected on one side by a chain of mountains,

and 011 the other by the sea, and they afforded every fa-
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cility for the introduction of reinforcements and munitions

of war into the Deccan.

Proceedin of
^ne Pesnwa having completed his arrange-

the Mahrattas, ments in the territory ceded to him by Salabut

Jung and terminated his differences with Tara Bye,
sent an army to levy contributions in the Carnatic, and the

expedition was considered the most profitable he had ever

undertaken. Where the villages and towns refused immediate

compliance with the demands of the Mahrattas, the local

officers were seized, and compelled by threats and sometimes

by torture, to make a settlement. Where no ready money
could be obtained, bills were exacted from the bankers and

forcibly cashed in other parts of the country. When a

garrison presumed to offer resistance it was at once put to the

sword. On the cessation of the rains, Rogoonath Rao, his

lighting brother the Raghoba of British Indian history was

dispatched to plunder Guzerat. From thence he proceeded to

the north with a body of Sindia's and Holkar's troops, and

after ravaging the territories still belonging to Delhi, exacted

heavy payments from the Rajpoots and Jauts.

Attack on Bussy, on his return to Hyderabad at the

Mysore ana Sa- beginning of 1755, found Salabut Jung about to
vanore, 1755-56.

proceed to Mysore, to extort tribute. The Myso-
reans then before Trichinopoly were acting in alliance with

the French, but Bussy, as a feudatory, was obliged to

" attend the stirrup
"

of his suzerain, though much against

his will. The imbecile raja at Seringapatam directed his

brother, the Regent, to hurry back with his troops from the

Carnatic, and he was obliged to return without receiving the

smallest compensation for the heavy expense incurred in the

support of 20,000 troops for three years in that luckless

expedition. So completely had the treasury been drained by
this continued requirement that when the demand of the

Nizam had been compromised, through the mediation of

Bussy, for fifty-six lacs of rupees, it became necessary to

despoil not only the members of the court, female as well as
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male, of their jewels and plate, but also the temples of the

idols. The next year Salabut Jung marched against the

nabob of Savanore, who had refused to acknowledge his

authority. Morari Rao had equally resisted the authority of

the Peshwa, and the Peshwa and the Nizam marched against

their refractory vassals with a combined army of 100,000

men. It was in the presence of this force, the flower of the

Deccan soldiery, that Bussy opened fire on the fort of

Savanore from his splendid artillery, in such style as to

astound the allied princes, and constrain the enemy to

send immediate proposals for a surrender; and an accommoda-

tion was soon after effected through his good offices.

The superiority which Bussy had exhibited in
Intrigues ...
against Bussy, this expedition served only to inflame the ani-

mosity of the Nizam's minister, and increase his

anxiety to rid the Deccan of this foreign influence. It was

even determined, if necessary, to assassinate him. As soon,

therefore, as peace was concluded with Savanore, Bussy was

ordered to quit the territories of the Nizam, who was said to

have no farther occasion for his services . He received the

message without any feeling of resentment, and immediately

began his march back to Masulipatam, but at the same time

desired the government of Pondicherry to dispatch eveiy
soldier who could be spared to that port without any delay

On the departure of Bussy the minister of the Nizam applied

to Madras for a body of English troops to aid in completing
the expulsion of the French from the state. The two nations

were then at peace, and a convention had been entered into

which bound the two Companies to avoid all interference in

the quarrels of the native powers. But the bait was too

tempting to be resisted, and the government of Madras was
on the point of sending a large force to demolish the power
of Bussy in the Deccan, when intelligence arrived of the sack

of Calcutta, and another direction was given to the expedi-

tion. Bussy, while yet two hundred miles from the coast,

found his ammunition running short and his military chest
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exhausted, and turned aside to Hyderabad, where his influence

would more readily procure supplies of every kind. On the

14th of June, 1756, he took up a position at Charmaul, in the

neighbourhood of the city. Salabut Jung, whom he had

raised from a prison to the throne, summoned every tribu-

tary and dependent in the kingdom to his standard, and

brought its whole strength down to crush his benefactor.

Bussy defended himself with his usual skill and gallantry for

nearly two months, but his position was daily becoming more

critical, when Law, marching up from the coast with rein-

forcements through a wild and mountainous track, and

baffling a corps of 25,000 men sent to oppose him, succeeded

in forming a junction with his chief at Charmaul. Salabut

Jung, in a fever of alarm, sent proposals of peace, which

Bussy was not unwilling to accept, and his authority became

more firmly established in the Deccan than ever.

B at the
Towards the close of the year, Bussy proceeded

iummitofsuc- to the districts assigned to him on the coast, to

restore his authority, which had been impaired

during the recent conflict, and he devoted the next year to

the regulation of the government, in which he exhibited not

less- talent than he had shown in the field. Early in the year,

he received a pressing request from the young Nabob of

Moorshedabad, to march up and assist him in expelling Olive

from Bengal ; but, on hearing of the capture of Chanderna-

gore and the imbecility of the Nabob, he resolved not to move
out of his province. But, as war had now been declared

between France and England, he proceeded to capture Vizaga-

patam and the other English factories on the coast, but

he treated the officers with the utmost liberality. During his

absence from the court of Salabut Jung, that helpless prince

was threatened with destruction by the machinations of his

unprincipled minister, who had taken possession of the fort-

ress of Dowlutabad, and of his own ambitious brothers, one of

whom, Nizam Ali, had obtained possession of the royal seal,

and usurped the authority of the state. The Hahrattas did

s
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Bot, of course, fail to throw themselves into the arena, when

they saw the prospect of hooty. The crown was falling from

the head of Salabut-Jung, and the country was on the eve

of a convulsion, when Bussy started with his army from Raj-

mundry, and, traversing a country never seen by Europeans,

reached Aurungabad, a distance of 400 miles, in twenty-one

days. There he found four armies assembled by the different

parties to take a share in the struggle for power and plunder.

His sudden appearance, with a force which all were obliged

to respect, combined with the natural ascendancy of his cha-

racter, at once extinguished all intrigues. The authority of

Salabut Jung" was restored ; the venomous minister was killed

in a tumult provoked by his own devices; Nizam All was

constrained to fly to Boorhanpore ; and Bussy, by a coup

d'etat, secured the citadel of Dowlutabad, the strongest in the

Deccan.

Extinction of Bussy, who had for seven years exercised the

Bussy's power chief influence on the destinies of the Deccan, had
1758

now reached the summit of his grandeur. The

provinces on the coast, which were governed with great wis-

dom and moderation, furnished abundant resources for the

support of his troops, and he had secured an impregnable

stronghold in the heart of the country. He had placed the

interests of his nation on a foundation not to be shaken by

ordinary contingencies. With a genius which was in every

respect fully equal to that of Clive, he had succeeded in esta-

blishing the authority of France in the southern division of

India, to the same extent as the authority of England had been

established in the north ; and it appeared, at the time, by no

means improbable, that the empire of India would be divided

between the two nations. But the power of the one was

.destined to permanence and expansion, the prospects of the

other were swept away by the folly of one man. At the

commencement of the war in 1756, Lally was sent out as

Governor-General of the French possessions in India, and

immediately on his arrival, partly from caprice and partly
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i'rom envy, ordered Bussy to repair to Pondicherry, with all

the troops not absolutely required for the protection of the

maritime provinces. Bussy, who considered obedience the

first duty of a soldier, withdrew his garrison from Dowluta-

bad ; and, to the unutterable surprise of the native princes,

who trembled at the sound of his name, retired with all his

troops from the Deccan, just at the time when he had become

arbiter of its fate. He took leave of Salabut Jung on the

18th of June, 1758 ; and, with his departure, the sun of

French prosperity in India sunk, never to rise again.

War with France The command of the armament which the French
Laiiy, 1768.

government fitted out hi 1756, to extinguish the

British commerce in India, was committed to Count Lally.

He was descended from one of those Irish Roman Catholic

families who had emigrated to France after the expulsion
of James the Second. He inherited that implacable hatred

of England which the exiles carried with them, and was,

therefore, fitted, as much by his own animosities, as by
his military talents, for the mission on which he was sent.

He had been more than forty years in military service, and

had gained some distinction in the field; but, with all hia

bravery, he was headstrong, rash, and arrogant. He pro-

ceeded to India with a powerful fleet and army, and, after an

indecisive action with the English at sea, landed at Pondi-

eherry in April, 1758. Before twenty-four hours had elapsed
he was on his march to the English settlement of Fort St.

David. It was garrisoned by 870 Europeans and 1,600 sepoys,

and, but for the extraordinary incapacity of the commander,

might have made an honourable defence ; but it was scandal-

ously surrendered after a siege of only a month. The fortifi-

cations were immediately razed by Lally.

laiiy attacks The government of Madras naturally concluded

Tanjore, 1758. that Fort St. George would be the next object of

the victorious general, and they called in the garrisons

from the subordinate stations, and prepared for a vigorous
defence. Fortunately for them, Lally was as resolutely

8 2
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thwarted by the civil authorities at Pondicherry, as La-

bourdonnais had been in 1746, and his movements were, at

the same time, crippled for want of resources. To obtain a

supply of money he looked, in the first instance, to Tanjore.

Seven years before this time, the raja, pressed by the demands

of Mozuffer Jung and Chunda Sahib, had given them a bond

for fifty-six lacs of rupees, which, as being of little value, they
had made over to their French allies. This document Lally

determined now to turn to account, and proceeded with his

army to enforce payment. The town was besieged for more

than a fortnight, a practical breach had been made in the

walls, when an English fleet suddenly appeared on the coast,

off the factory of Carical, on which the French army depended
for its supplies. Lally, who had only twenty cartridges left

for each soldier, and but two days' provisions in the camp, was

obliged to raise the siege and return to Pondicherry, poorer
than he had left it. To his infinite chagrin, the French

admiral resisted his pressing importunities and sailed away,
with the whole fleet, to the Mauritius.

_ _, , Returning from Tanjore, Lally marched in the
Unsuccessful J

.'
J

siege of Madnw, first instance to Arcot, which the venal governor
~59'

surrendered without resistance. Bussy who had

now arrived in the French camp from Hyderabad, implored

Lally to employ the great resources at his command hi

strengthening the position which the French nation had ac-

quired in the Nizam's dominions. But Lally's head was

filled with the magnificent project of driving the English from

Madras, and then from Calcutta, and, finally, from the coasts

of India. The wise counsel of Bussy was treated with con-

tempt, and Lally scarcely condescended to read his letters.

Contrary to the remonstrances of the Council at Pondicherry,

he now determined to undertake the siege of Madras. The

English governor had taken advantage of the respite

gained while Lally was otherwise employed, to strengthen

the defences and to lay in a full supply of provisions. The

enemy brought up a force of 2,700 Europeans and 4,000
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sepoys, with 400 European cavalry, the first ever seen in

India. The garrison consisted of 1,750 Europeans and 2,200

sepoys ; but they were commanded by the veteran Lawrence,

supported by thirteen officers who had been trained under his

own eye, in the wars on this coast. Lally sat down before

the fort on the 12th of December, 1758, and the siege was

prosecuted for two months with the greatest vigour. There

was no lack of military skill or courage on either side. But

on the 16th of February, when a breach had been made which

the French were about to storm, an English fleet appeared in

the roads. The French army was seized with a sudden panic,

the trenches were abandoned without orders, and Lally was

obliged to retreat with precipitation, leaving fifty pieces of

cannon behind him.

coote baffles In the course of the year there was an indeed
Laiiy, 1759. gjve action at sea between the English and French

fleets, and a variety of movements and counter-movements

by land without any definite result. Towards the close of

the year the French troops, who were twelve months in

arrears, out of provisions, and in rags,unable any longer to bear

their privations, broke into open mutiny. Lally succeeded, at

length, in quelling the revolt, but was, at the same time,

constrained to take the fatal step of dividing his force, and

sending a large portion of it to the south in search of money
and food. This movement gave a great advantage to the

English ; but they derived still greater service from the arri-

val of Colonel Coote, a general second only to Clive, to take

the command of the army. He entered upon the campaign
with his accustomed energy, and recaptured Wandewash,
which the French had occupied in the previous year. In

January, 1760, Lally moved up to retrieve this loss, and

Coote compelled him to fight, to great disadvantage, in the

neighbourhood of the town, which has given its name to the

battle. Independently of sepoys, the French brought 2,250

and the English 1,900 Europeans into the field on this occasion.

Lally sustained a complete and disastrous defeat, and Bussy
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was taken prisoner ; but, in consideration of his high cha-

racter and his generous conduct to the English in the Northern

Sircars, was immediately allowed to return to Pondicheny.

Victory appeared now to desert the French standard. During
the year 1760, Coote succeeded in depriving Lally of all the

places he had taken, and Ginjee and Pondicherry were at

length the only possessions remaining to the French. Lally's

troops were not only without provisions, stores, or equipments,
but without hope of obtaining any. The supplies from Europe
had ceased. The settlements of the French, in Africa, in the

West Indies, and in Canada, were attacked with such vigour
as to leave them no leisure to attend to their affairs in the

east. The extinction of the hope they had cherished of es-

tablishing an empire in India may thus be traced, indirectly, to

those energetic measures by which William Pitt, the great
minister of England, defeated their attempts to establish an

empire in America.

Ca ture of
Coote now prepared for the siege of Pondicheny,

Pondicheny, when an event occurred which had well nigh
marred the prospects of the campaign. The fleet

from England brought a new commission to Col. Monson, the

second in command, which virtually superseded Coote.

Instructions were, it is true, given that the commission should

not be acted on during the continuance of the war, but Coote

at once yielded the command of the expedition to the man
whom the authorities at home had thought fit to put over his

head, and retired to Madras. The gallant Lawrence had, in

like manner, been superseded on a previous occasion, and this

is, unfortunately, not the only instance we shall have to

notice in the course of this narrative in which Government

has deposed a general from his command in the full tide of

victory. In the present case there was at least this excuse

for the conduct of the people at home, that they were at the

time ignoi-ant of the great merit and brilliant success of Coote.

Monson was baffled and wounded in his first independent

enterprise, and requested Coote to resume the command of
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operations, which he did not hesitate to do. Pondicherry
was now subject to a close blockade. The brave garrison

held out till, even at the scanty rations to which they had

been reduced, provisions were left only for two days. Lally,

worn out with fatigue, ill health, and vexation, capitulated on

the 14th of January. As the victors marched into the town,

their feelings were strongly affected by the skeleton figures

to which the noblest forms in the two French regiments had

been reduced by long and painful privation. Pondicherry was
levelled with the ground. The instructions sent to Lally by
his own government to annihilate the English settlements

which he might capture had fallen into the hands of the Court

of Directors, and they issued orders to retaliate, and in the

course of a few months not a roof was left of this once fair

and flourishing colony.

Thus ended a war between the English and
Fate of Lally.

French for the exclusive possession of commerce

and power in India, which, with the exception of less than a

twelvemonth, had lasted for fifteen years, and it terminated

by leaving the French without an ensign in the country.

Their settlements were restored at the Peace of Paris, two

years subsequently, but they have never again been able to

raise their heads in India. Lally returned to Paris, and was

thrown into the Bastile. The French ministry were happy to be

able to turn the popular indignation created by the loss of

India, from themselves on the unfortunate commander. A
charge of high treason was brought against him which de-

prived him of the benefit of counsel, and he was condemned

to death by the Parliament of Paris, drawn through the

streets on a dung-cart, and executed the same day :
" a murder

committed by the sword of justice." Thus had the French

government, in the course of fifteen years, destroyed three

of their most eminent citizens, who had laboured with un-

exampled zeal and the highest patriotism to promote the

national interests ; and the expulsion of the French Company
from the shores of India ceases to raise any emotion of regret
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when it is viewed as the just retribution of their iniquitous

proceedings.

CHAPTER X.

FROM THE CAPTURE OF CALCUTTA TO THE BATTLE OP PANNIPUT,

17561761.

DURING- these transactions on the coast, a revolution was

in progress in Bengal, which resulted hi transferring the

empire of India to a European power. But before entering

on the narrative of these events, it is necessary to glance at

the progress of affairs at Delhi, though they had long ceased

to exercise any influence on the destinies of Hindostan.

Ahmed Khan In the year 1747, a new and formidable enemy,
Abdaiee, 1747. from the region beyond the Indus, appeared on

the scene, in the person of Ahmed Khan, the chief of the

Abdaiee tribe of Afghans, and of the venerated family of

the Sudoozies, whose persons were held inviolate. He was

rescued from the Ghiljies, when Nadir Shah appeared before

Candahar, and at the early age of twenty-three, attracted

the notice of that conqueror. He was present with him at

the sack of Delhi, the horrors of which he was one day des-

tined to renew. In June, 1747, the atrocities of Nadir Shah,

which are without a parallel on the page of history, constrained

his subjects to rid the world
'

of him. Ahmed Khan imme-

diately after rose to distinction, and extended his influence

over the tribes around him, and so great was his success, that

he was crowned at Candahar before the close of the year.

From some motive of superstition, he was led to change the

name of his tribe to that of Dooranee ; but he will continue

to be designated in this work, by his original title of Abdaiee.
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His coronation was scarcely completed before he turned his

attention to India, as the region in which his soldiers would

most amply find both employment and plunder. Having
crossed the Indus with a force estimated at 15,000 men, he

overran the Punjab, and pushed on to Sirhind. An army was

despatched against him from Delhi without delay, under

Ahmed Shah, the eldest son of the emperor, who successfully

resisted all the assaults of the Abdalees for ten days, and on

the eleventh, completely discomfited them, and constrained

them to retreat towards their own 'country. The battle of

Sirhind was the last expiring effort of the dynasty of the

Moguls, and the last event in the life of Mahomed Shah, who
died a month after, in April, 1748, after an inglorious reign of

twenty-eight years.

His son, Ahjned Shah, was in pursuit of the
Anmeu Mian,

Emperor, 1748. Abdalees when he heard of the event, and returned
Thenohuias. ^ ^M ^ ascend the thrOne. Sufder Jung, the

viceroy of Oude, was appointed vizier, and devoted his first

attention to the subjugation of the Rohillas, who had been

expelled from the provinces to which they had given their

name, but had taken advantage of the invasion of the Ab-

dalees, to re-establish themselves in it. He marched against
them with a numerous but ill-disciplined army, and was de-

feated by a far inferior force. The Rohillas pursued him into

his own provinces, aud though beaten off from Lucknow,

penetrated to Allahabad, and set the Emperor and the vizier

alike at defiance. In this emergency the vizier called up the

Mahratta chieftains, Mulhar Rao Holkar and Jyapa Sindia, as

well as the Jaut chief, Sooruj mull, and with then* aid, com-

pletely defeated the Rohillas, and obliged them to seek refuge
in the hills. The Mahrattas were allowed to repay themselves

by the unrestricted plunder of the province, which did not

recover from the effect of these ravages for many years.

Before his retirement, Holkar, true to his Mahratta instincts,

exacted a bond of fifty lacs of rupees from the despoiled

Rohillas.
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The Abdalee availed himself of these commo-

of AhmlcTstah)
tionB to invade India a second time, and having

i75i. overrun Lahore and Mooltan, sent an envoy to

Delhi to demand the cession of those provinces. The vizier

was absent in pursuit of the Rohillas ; the emperor was under

the influence of a favourite eunuch, and the whole country was

under the dominion of terror. The provinces were formally

surrendered to the invader. The vizier arrived at the capital

too late to prevent this dastardly submission, but he mani-

fested his disapproval of it, by inviting the favourite to an

entertainment, and causing him to be assassinated. The

incensed emperor soon found a fit instrument to avenge the

insult, in the person of a youth destined to play an important

part in the closing scenes of the Mogul empire. This was the

grandson of the first Nizam, and the son of Ghazee-ood-deen,

who was poisoned by his stepmother. The youth, whose

original name was Shaha-boo-deen, but who is more gene-

rally known by his title of Ghazee-ood-deen, was courageous
and resolute, but at the same time, one of the most accom-

plished villains of the age. He had been raised to the post

of commander of the forces, through the favour of the vizier,

but did not hesitate to turn against him at the bidding of the

emperor. A civil war was carried on between the parties

for six months in the city of Delhi, the streets of which were

deluged with blood. Ghazee-ood-deen at length called Holkar's

mercenaries to his aid, and the vizier finding himself no longer

equal to the contest, consented to an accommodation, and

independence of
retired to his own government of Oude. That

oude, 1753.
province may be considered as finally alienated

from the crown of Delhi in the present year, 1753. But the

emperor was unable long to support the insolence of his

overbearing minister, and marched out of the capital to

oppose him, but was defeated and captured by Holkar. The

Ghazee-ood-deen infamous Ghazee-ood-deen repaired forthwith to

blinds the em-
m

fetor, 1754. tive, and put out his eyes, proclaiming one of the

princes of the blood emperor, under the title of Alumgeer.
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Thw Abdaiee During these events, the vizier, Sufder Jung,
invasion, n56. ^Q^ and Ghazee-ood-deen invested himself with

the office. His insufferable tyranny soon after drove his

soldiers to revolt, and he was dragged by them through the

streets, without his turban or slippers. He was eventually
rescued from their hands by his own officers, and glutted his

revenge by slaughtering the whole body of the insurgents.
In an evil hour his ambition led him to invade the Punjab, and

to expel the officers whom Ahmed Shah had left to govern it.

That prince immediately crossed the Indus, and advanced to

avenge the insult. Ghazee-ood-deen, unable to cope with

such an adversary, repaired to his camp, and made the most

humiliating submission. But though he obtained forgiveness,
the Abdaiee was resolved to obtain a pecuniary compensation
on this his third irruption. He accordingly marched on to

Delhi and gave it up to plunder for many days. All the

atrocities of Nadir Shah's invasion were repeated, and the

wretched inhabitants were subjected a second time, in less

than ten years, to the outrages of a brutal soldiery. Ghazee-

ood-deen was sent to plunder the province of Oude, and

Ahmed Shah himself undertook to pillage the territories of

the Jauts. In this expedition he inflicted an indelible stain on

his character, by the indiscriminate slaughter of thousands of

unoffending devotees who were assembled during a religious

festival at the shrines of Muttra. Agra was saved from de-

struction only by a great mortality which broke out in the

Abdaiee army, and constrained Ahmed Shah to hasten his re-

treat across the Indus. The wretched emperor entreated that

he might not be abandoned to the tender mercies of his ruthless

vizier, Ghazee-ood-deen, and Nujeeb-ood-dowlah, an able and

energetic Rohilla chief, was installed as commander-in-chief. '.

a^tenti n of the reader is now transferredme pirate* on
the Malabar to the Malabar coast, which had for centuries been

denominated, and not without reason, the pirate

coast of India. The western shore of the Peninsula is as

thickly studded with harbours as the eastern coast, from the
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mouths of the Hooghly to Ceylon, is destitute of them.

For fifty years the piratical princes on the coast had been

increasing in power and audacity. Among
1 the most for-

midable was Conajee Angria, who had raised himself from the

condition of a common sailor to the command of the Mahratta

fleet, and then declared his independence and set up a

terrific piratical power, boasting that he was as great a

freebooter at sea as the Peshwa was by land. He esta-

blished fortifications in every creek, bay, and harbour, for a

hundred and twenty miles on the Concan coast, but his most

important arsenal was in the noble port of Gheriah, about a

hundred and seventy miles south of Bombay. In 1752, an

expedition, consisting of three British ships of the line and

a Portuguese squadron attacked Colaba, another of his ports,

but without success. In 1754, his corsairs overpowered three

Dutch vessels, respectively of 50, 36, and 18 guns, the two

largest of which were burnt, and the third captured. The

following year the Peshwa and the Bombay government sent

a joint expedition against Angria, and Commodore James
attacked and carried the strong fortress of Severndroog, with-

out the loss of a single man. The fort was made over to the

Mahrattas, though their pigmy fleet of grabs had never come
within gunshot of the place.

ciive arrives at The Court of Directors viewed the progress of

Bombay, 1785. Busgy fa tne Deccan with great alarm, and

resolved to form an alliance with the Peshwa with the view

of arresting it, and to send a powerful force to Bombay to co-

operate in this design. Clive. on his return to England from

Madras, had been received with great distinction by the

Company and by the Ministers, and to him the Court of

Directors committed the command of the troops destined to

act against Bussy. On his arrival at Bombay, however, in

October, 1755, he found the government of the Presidency

firmly and conscientiously opposed to the enterprize. They
considered themselves precluded from entering upon it by the

Convention made in the preceding year between M. Godeheu
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and Mr. Saunders, of which their masters in England were

ignorant when this design was formed. Admiral Watson

happening to arrive with the fleet from Madras about the

same time, it was resolved to take advantage of the presenco
of this large armament to root out the piratical power on that

coast, which it was costing the Company five lacs of rupees a

year to oppose. An arrangement was accordingly made

with the Peshwa for a joint expedition against Gheriah. The
Mahrattas marched down by land, and Colonel Clive and

Admiral Watson proceeded by sea, with 14 vessels arid 800

Europeans and 1,000 sepoys. The fire from the ships set the

pirate fleet in a blaze within an hour. The next morning
Clive attacked the fort by laud, while the Admiral kept up so

vigorous a canonnade from the sea that the defenders were

obliged to capitulate in half an hour. In the arsenal were

found 200 pieces of cannon, together with large quantities of

ammunition and two large vessels on the stocks, as well as

twelve lacs of rupees. The money was immediately distributed

among the captors, without any reservation for the Mahrattas,

or the Company, and the port and arsenal were, eventually,

made over to the Peshwa. Admiral Watson and Colonel

Clive soon after sailed for Madras, and, on the 20th of June,

the latter took charge of the government of Su David, to

which he had been appointed in England,

serajadowiah
Tne brave old Tartar viceroy of Bengal, AH

viceroy of
verdy, expired at Moorshedabad at the age of

eighty, on the 9th of .April, 1756, bequeathing
the government to Seraja Dowlah, a grandson on whom he

had long doated. The youth, though only twenty years of

age, was already cruel and profligate beyond the usual run of

purple-born princes in India. The little understanding with

which nature had endowed him was obscured by intemperance;
he was the slave of parasites and buffoons

; he had carried

pollution into the families of the nobility, and had become the

object of general abhorrence before he ascended the throne.

His young cousin, Sokut Jung, with a character not less
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abandoned than his own, had recently succeeded to the

government of the district of Purnea, and sent large sums to

the court of Delhi to obtain his own nomination to the vice-

royalty of the three provinces. Seraja Dowlah resolved to

lose no time in extirpating him, and marched with a large

force to Purneah ; but on reaching Rajmahal he received a

a letter from Mr. Drake, the governor of Calcutta which gave
another direction to his purpose.

Raja raj bullub, one of the Hindoo officers whom
Pisputes with .

the governor of it was the policy of All verdy to place in public
Calcutta, 1756. empl ynients, had amassed great wealth hi the

service, and shortly before the death of the old viceroy had

been nominated governor of Dacca. His predecessor in that

office had been assassinated and plundered by order of Seraja

dowlah, and he was anxious to place his family and treasures

beyond the reach of the tyrant ; he, therefore, obtained a

letter of recommendation from Mr. Watts, the Company's
chief at Cossimbazar the factory adjoining Moorshedabad to

the governor of Calcutta ; and his son, Kissen-dass, embarked

at Dacca with a large retinue, under the pretence of going on

a pilgrimage to Jugunnuth, and landed at Calcutta, where he

received a cordial welcome. Seraja Dowlah, a day or two

after the death of his grandfather, for which he had been

waiting, despatched a letter to Mr. Drake, the governor,

demanding the immediate surrender of Kissen-dass and his

wealth. The messenger, though the brother of the raja of

Midnapore, the head of the spy department, came in a small

boat, and was expelled from the settlement as an impostor.

A second communication was soon after sent to Mr. Drake,

ordering him peremptorily to demolish all the fortifications

which the Nabob understood he had been erecting. The

governor replied that the Nabob had been misinformed, that

no new defences had been attempted, and that nothing in fact

had been done but to repair the ramparts facing the river, in

the prospect of another war with France. The Nabob was not

ill a humour to brook the slightest resistance of his will ; his
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indignation was kindled to a degree which astonished even

those who had been accustomed to the violence of his

passions, and he ordered the army to march down instantly

to Calcutta.

state of Fort
Calcutta was ill-prepared for such an assault,

wuiiam, 1756. During fifty years of peace, the fortifications had

been neglected, and warehouses built up to the ramparts. The

defenceless state of the fort at this juncture was owing to the

neglect of the Council, not to the inattention .of the Court of

Directors. After the capture of Madras by Labourdonnais in

1747, they were naturally anxious to protect their settlement

in Bengal from a similar fate, and sent orders to strengthen
the defences, however the viceroy might oppose them. Year

after year were these injunctions repeated, and on one

occasion no fewer than 250 recruits were sent out, and

the artillery establishment augmented to 114 gunners and four

officers. Colonel Scott arrived at Calcutta in 1754 as com-

mandant, with the most stringent orders to complete the

fortifications, and, if necessary, to conciliate the Nabob by an

offering of a lac of rupees. At the same time the Court

directed that none but Europeans should be received into their

military service, but Colonel Scott represented that there was
" a set of men called Rashpoots, natives, on the banks of the

Ganges near Patna, gentoos of the fighting caste, and he was

of opinion that when disciplined they would make excellent

soldiers." The Court thereupon permitted the garrison to be

recruited with Rajpoots, and the nucleus was thus formed of

that army of which a hundred thousand endeavoured a century

-afterwards to subvert the British Empire. In 1755 the Court

stated in their despatch that the death of the Nabob might be

daily expected ; that it would be attended with great confusion

and trouble ; that they trusted their officers had put Calcutta in

a state of defence ; and that they were to be on their guard to

protect the possessions, effects, and privileges of the Company.
But these warnings were lost on the authorities in Calcutta,

who were heedful only of their own pelf, and whose infatua-
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tion up the latest moment, was exceeded only by their

cowardice when the danger came. Colonel Scott died in 1755,

and all the works in pi-ogress for the defence of the settle-

ment were immediately suspended; the militia was not

embodied till it was too late; the gunpowder, made by a

fraudulent contractor, whom no one looked after, was deficient

both in quantity and quality, and there were only 174 men in

garrison, not ten of whom had ever seen a shot fired.

sieeofCai
^^ie armv ^ tne Nabob, 50,000 strong, ap-

cutu,June, preached the town on the 17th June. Under

every disadvantage, Clive would have made as

noble a defence of Calcutta as he had made of Arcot, but the

governor was Drake, and the commandant, Minchin. Instead

of clearing the space round the fort of houses and encum-

brances, batteries were injudiciously planted at a great distance

from it, which the enemy captured on the first day, and were

thus enabled to bring a galling fire to bear directly on the fort

itself. At two in the morning of the 19th a council of war was

held, when it was resolved to send the women and children

on board the vessels lying off the town. But as soon as
1

the

water gate was open there was a general rush to the boats,

many of which were capsized, and the rest pushed off without

order or discipline. After the fugitives had reached the ships,

a shower of "
fire-arrows," by no means dangerous, was dis-

charged on them, and the captains immediately weighed

anchor, and dropped down two miles out of their reach. At

ten in the morning only two boats remained at the wharf,

into one of which, the governor, Mr. Drake, quietly slipped,

without leaving any instructions for the conduct of the gar-

rison. The military commander, Minchin, followed his ex-

ample, and they rowed down to the ships hi all baste,

surrender of As soon as this base desertion was known,
Calcutta.

nothing was heard on all sides but imprecations.
*

When calmness had been in some measure restored, Mr. Hoi-

well was, by common consent, placed in command, and it waa

resolved to defend the fort to the last extremity. It held out
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for forty-eight hours, during which signals of distress were

made, day and night, to the vessels anchored below the town.

They might have come up with perfect safety, and rescued

the gallant garrison with ease ; but to crown this scene of

infamy, not a vessel was moved to its assistance. On the

21st, the enemy renewed the assault with increased vigour,
and more than half the remaining force was killed or wounded.

The European soldiers broke into the liquor stores and became
unfit for duty. A flag of truce was deceitfully sent by the

Nabob, and Mr. Holwell, seeing the utter helplessness of the

garrison, agreed to a parley, during which the enemy treach-

erously rushed into the fort, and the officers were obliged to

surrender their swords. The Nabob entered the fort about

five in the afternoon, and ordered Kissen-dass, the cause of

these calamities, to be brought before him, but received and

dismissed him with courtesy. Mr. Holwell was then ushered

into his presence, and he expressed his resentment that the

sum in the treasury was found not to exceed five lacs of

rupees, but gave him every assurance of protection, and

retired about dusk to his encampment.

The Black Hole, The European prisoners were collected together
175611 under an arched verandah, while the native officers

went in search of some building in which they might be

lodged for the night. They returned about eight in the

evening and reported that none could be found. The prin-

cipal officer then desired the prisoners to move into one of

the chambers behind the verandah, which had been used as

the prison of the garrison. Orme calls it a dungeon ; but the

room immediately adjoining it was used as the settlement

church for twenty-eight years after the recovery of the town.

It was not twenty feet square, and however suited for the

confinement of a few turbulent soldiers, was death to the

hundred and forty-six persons, now thrust into it at the

sword's point, in one of the hottest nights of the most sultry

season of the year. The wretched prisoners soon became

frantic with suffocating heat and insufferable thirst. The
T
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struggle to reach the window and catch a breath of air proved
fatal to many. At length they began to sink one by one into

the arms of death; and the few who survived that awful

iiight owed their lives to the more free ventilation obtained

by standing on the bodies of their deceased companions.

When the door was opened in the morning, only twenty-three

came out alive the most ghastly forms ever seen. This is

the tragedy of the Black Hole, which has rendered the name

of Seraja Dowlah the type of infamy among all the nations

of Christendom. Yet so little did it appear to be out of the

ordinary course of events in the East, that it was scarcely

marked by the native community, and was not considered of

sufficient importance to demand even a passing notice from

the Mahomedan historian of the time. The next morning the

Nabob came down to the fort, and inquired whether the

English chief still lived ; and when Mr. Holwell was borne

into his presence, he manifested no compassion for his suffer-

ings, nor the least remorse for the fate of the other prisoners,

but reproached him anew with the concealment of the public

treasure, and ordered him to be placed in confinement. The

Nabob returned to Moorshedabad, after having extorted large

sums from the French and the Dutch, and confiscated all the

property of the English throughout the country ; and thus

was the East India Company expelled a second time from

Bengal, as completely as they had been seventy years before,

in the days of Aurungzebe.
_ _. Information of this catastrophe was seven weeks
Expedition to *

recover Cai- in reaching Madras, where the military force con-
01110,1756.

eigted of 2j000 Europeans and 10,000 sepoys.

But, while the national honour required immediate vindication

in Bengal, there was a strong party in the council desirous

of employing the resources of the Presidency in assisting
Salabut Jung to expel Bussy from the Deccan, although the

Convention which they themselves had entered into with

M. Godeheu was still fresh and binding. Much time was
wasted in discussing whether the expedition should be sent
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to Hyderabad or Calcutta. When the council at length came

to the resolution to retrieve the affairs of the Company in

Bengal, in the first instance, further time was lost in disem-

barking the royal artillery and stores, which Col. Adlecron

would not allow to proceed when he found that the command
of the expedition was not to be given to him. Happily it was

entrusted to the genius of Clive, who was instructed, after

the recapture of Calcutta, to march up to Moorshedabad, if

the Nabob continued refractory, and to attack Chandernagore,
if the declaration of war with France, then hourly expected,

should arrive before the time fixed for the return of the troops.

Admiral Watson and Col. Clive sailed from Madras on the

1 Oth of October with five ships of war, and five of the Com-

pany's vessels, on which 900 Europeans and 1,500 sepoys
were embarked.

Recapture of
^n *ne l^th of December the expedition reached

Calcutta, 1757. Fulta, about forty miles below Calcutta, where

Mr. Drake and the other fugitives were lying in the vessels

on which they had taken refuge. A Mogul fortification on

the river at Budge-budge was soon after attacked. Manick-

chand, the Nabob's Hindoo general, who had been left in charge

of Calcutta, had arrived there two days before with a large

reinforcement of horse and foot; but a shot happening to

pass too near his turban, he gave the signal of retreat, and

the whole body of his troops marched back in disorder to

Calcutta. Not considering himself safe even there, he left

500 men to defend the fort, and fled with the remainder to

Moorshedabad. Colonel Clive entered the dismantled town

on the 2nd of January, and the fort surrendered at discretion.

To impress the Nabob with a conviction of the power and

resolution of the English who had come to avenge their

wrongs, an expedition was sent about a week after to the

important post of Hooghly, which submitted without resist-

ance.

Defeat of the
^ne Nabob had persuaded himself that the

Nabob, no?. English would never again venture to set foot iu

i 2
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his dominions, and the news of these transactions filled him

with indignation, and he lost no time in marching down to

Calcutta with an army of 40,000 men. Olive was anxious for

an accommodation, and offered him the most moderate and

reasonable terms. But while the negotiations were in pro-

gress, the army of the Nabob was in full march towards the

town, burning down the villages as it advanced. Two

envoys whom Olive had sent on the 4th of February to reqiiest

the Nabob to withdraw his army, if his intentions were pacific,

were treated with contumely. Finding a contest inevitable,

Olive determined to take the initiative; and, on the morning
of the 5th, marched with his whole force, augmented by 600

marines, to the assault of the enemy's entrenchment, which

lay to the north-east of the town. But a little before sunrise

he was confounded by one of those dense fogs which are

common at that season of the year, and although his troops

fought with the greatest gallantry, they became bewildered

and disheartened, and he withdrew his force with the loss of

more than 200 soldiers. But the Nabob was still more dis-

heartened. He had lost twenty-two officers of distinction ;

he had never been so much involved in the perils of a battle

before, and, passing at once from the extreme of arrogance to

the extreme of pusillanimity, hastened to make overtures of

peace ;
and on the 9th of February a treaty was concluded

by which all their former privileges were restored to the

English, and permission was given to fortify Calcutta and to

establish a mint, and a promise of compensation for their

losses was held out.

Capture of Clive was directed, and had engaged, to return

Chanaernagore, with the troops to Madras after the recovery of

Calcutta, and he has been censured for disregard-

ing his promise ; but in his determination to remain in Bengal
he exercised a wise discretion. Information had been received,

through Aleppo, of a declaration of war between France and

England on the 9th of May in the preceding year. Chander-

nagore was garrisoned with 700 Europeans. Bussy, with a
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victorious army, was encamped in the Northern Sircars, not

300 miles from Calcutta, and the Nabob, immediately on sign-

ing the treaty, had importuned him to march up and expel
Clive from Bengal. The junction of the two French armies

with that of the Nabob would have endangered the position of

the English, more especially as, on Olive's departure for the

coast, the management of affairs would have devolved on the

wretched Drake, who still held his commission as governor.
Calcutta would probably have been lost a second time. Clive

justly concluded that it was his duty to remain and dislodge

the French from Chandernagore. The Nabob was extremely
averse to this proceeding, but Admiral Watson terrified him

into a vague and reluctant consent, by threatening to " kindle

such a flame in his country, as all the waters in the Ganges
would be unable to extinguish." The Admiral proceeded up
the river, with his ships of the line, while Clive attacked the

town by land ;
and Chandernagore surrendered, chiefly through

the exertions of the fleet, after a noble defence of nine days.

As Clive was preparing for the attack he uttered these me-

morable words,
" If we take Chandernagore, we cannot stop

there;" and a century of progress has verified his prediction.

Confederacy
^e caP^ure f Chandernagore still farther in-

againstthe censed the Nabob, and he encamped his army at

Plassy, forty miles south of Moorshedabad, and

Clive kept the field in the neighbourhood of Hooghly, instead

of withdrawing his army to Calcutta. Meanwhile, the vio-

lence and atrocities of the Nabob continued to augment the

disgust of his ministers and officers, none of whom considered

themselves secure from the caprices of his passion. Every

day produced some new act of provocation ; and in the month

of May, Meer Jaffier, the paymaster and general of his forces,

Koy-doorlub, his finance minister, and the all-powerful bankers,

the Setts, entered into a combination to dethrone him. They
were constrained to admit into their councils one, Omichund,

the Shylock of this drama, who had settled in Calcutta forty

years before, and accumulated great wealth by his contracta
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with the Company, in which, however, they always com-

plained of having been overreached, and by his extensive

commercial dealings throughout the country. He maintained

the establishment of a prince in Calcutta, and rendered him-

self important at the Court of Moorshedabad. He accompa-

nied Seraja Dowlah on his return to the capital, and became

a great favourite with that weak prince. He daily attended

the durbar, thrust himself into every affair, and acquired such

influence in the public councils that the confederates were

constrained to take him into their confidence, as the least of

two evils.

ciive joins the As the plans of the party proceeded, Jugut
confederacy. ge^t. the banker, assured his friends that there

was little, if any, chance of success without the co-operation

of Clive, and they invited him to join them, holding out the

most magnificent offers for the Company. Clive felt
" that there

could be neither peace nor security while such a monster as

the Nabob reigned," and readily entered into their plans, not-

withstanding the reluctance of the timid Council in Calcutta.

A secret treaty was concluded between the confederates

and Clive, the chief stipulations of which were that he should

march with his army to Moorshedabad and place Meer Jaffier

on the throne, and that Meer Jaffier should make the amplest

reparation to the English for all losses, public and private.

The whole scheme, however, had well nigh miscarried, through
the rapacity of Omichund, who came forward in the last

stage, and demanded, by the threat of disclosure which

would have been certain death to all the confederates the

insertion of a specific article in the treaty, guaranteeing to him

thirty lacs of rupees, and a commission of five per cent, on

all payments. Clive, on hearing of this outrageous demand,
came to the conclusion " that art and policy were warrantable

to defeat the designs of such a villain ;" and he formed the

plan of deceiving the man by a fictitious treaty, written on

red paper, which provided for his demand, while the real

treaty, authenticated by the seals and signatures of the con-
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tracting parties, contained no such stipulation. This is the

only act in the bold and arduous career of Clive, which, hi

the opinion of posterity, does not admit of vindication. But

it is due to his memory to state that, to the end of his life,

he conscientiously asserted the integrity of his motives and

of his conduct on this occasion, and declared that he " would

do it a hundred times over." When the treaty was complete,
Meer Jaffier took an oath on the Koran to be faithful to his

engagements, and to withdraw with his troops from the

army of the Nabob, either before or on the day of the battle.

Battle of Clive, having concluded his arrangements, ad-

piassy, 1757. dressed a letter to the Nabob, recapitulating the

grievances of which the English had to complain, and stating

that he was coming to Moorshedabad to submit them to the

judgment of the durbar. He marched from Chandernagore, on

the 13th June, with 1,000 Europeans, 2,000 natives, and eight

pieces of cannon. On the 17th he reached Cutwa, and captured

the fort, but looked in vain for Meer Jaffier, who had, in the

meantime, taken another oath of fidelity to his master. On
the 19th the rains set in with extreme violence, and Clive

paused on the threshold of the campaign, doubting the pro-

priety of opening it at the beginning of the rainy season, and

on "their own bottom, without any assistance." But on

second thoughts he felt he had advanced too far to recede,

and that there would be more peril in returning than hi

advancing. The whole army crossed the river on the 22nd,

and encamped for the night in the grove of Plassy, in the

immediate neighbourhood of which the Nabob was posted

with an army of 15,000 horse and 35,000 foot, in an en-

trenched camp. The next morning, the memorable 23rd of

June, 1757, the Nabob's troops moved out and assaulted the

English force which was sheltered by a high bank, but with

little effect. About noon the enemy withdrew their artillery,

and Clive advanced vigorously to the attack of their lines.

Meer Mudun, the general-in-chief, was mortally wounded,

and expired in the presence of the Nabob, who was unable
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any longer to control his terror, but mounted a camel and

fled at the top of its speed, accompanied by about 2,000 horse.

His whole army immediately dispersed, and this battle, so

momentous in its eventual result on the destiny of India,

was gamed with the loss of only 72 killed and wounded on

the part of the English, while, even on the side of the enemy,

the casualties did not exceed 500. As soon as victory ap-

peared to declare in favour of the English, Meer Jaffier moved

off with his troops and joined their standard. Seraja Dowlah,

on his arrival at the capital, found himself deserted by his

court, and, after passing a day in gloomy reflections, disguised

himself in a mean dress and escaped out of a window in the

palace at ten at night, with a favourite concubine and a

eunuch, and embarked in a little boat which had been secured

for him.

Clive entered Moorshedabad on the 29th of

Meer Jaffier, June, and proceeding to the palace, where all the
1757.

great officers were assembled, conducted Meer

Jaffier to the throne, and saluted him Soobadar of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa. The change in the position and propects

of the English was so rapid and stupendous as almost to

exceed belief. In June, 1756, Calcutta had been plundered

and burnt, its European inhabitants murdered, and the Company
exterminated from Bengal. In June, 1757, they had recovered

their capital, extinguished their European rivals, defeated and

dethroned the Nabob, and disposed of the government of the

three provinces, with a population of twenty-five millions,

to their own partizan. In accordance with the terms of the

treaty, the sum of two crores and twenty lacs of rupees was

gradually paid out of the treasury at Moorshedabad, to make

good the losses of the Company and of individuals. The first

instalment of eighty lacs was conveyed to Calcutta in a tri-

umphant procession with bands playing and banners floating

a bright contrast to the spectacle of the previous year
when Seraja Dowlah marched back to his capital with the

plunder of Calcutta. While Clive was thus giving away a
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kingdom larger and more populous than England, he reserved

for his own masters only the fee simple of the land six

hundred yards around the Mahratta ditch, and the zemindary

rights of the country lying to the south of Calcutta. Nor
was his moderation as a private individual less conspicuous
than as the representative of a victorious nation. While the

opulent nobles of the court were anxious to conciliate his

favour by pouring uncounted wealth into his lap, he refused

every gift except that which the gratitude of Meer Jaffier

pressed on him, not exceeding sixteen lacs of rupees. When,
in aftertirnes, his great services had been forgotten and he

was upbraided with rapacity, he indignantly replied,
" When

I recollect entering the treasury at Moorshedabad, with

heaps of silver and gold to the right hand and to the left, and

these crowned with jewels, I stand astonished at my own
moderation."

Fate of Sera Seraja Dowlah proceeded up the river in his

Dowiah, 1757, boat in the hope of overtaking Mr. Law, the French

officer, whom he had been constrained to dismiss at the man-

date of Olive. Had Law, who had a large body of officers,

and about 200 soldiers with him, succeeded in joining the

Nabob, the history of Bengal, and perhaps of India, might
have borne a different stamp. But Law, who had retraced

his steps on hearing of the advance of Olive to Moorsheda-

bad, retired with rapidity to Oude, after receiving news of the

battle of Plassy. The fugitive prince landed at Rajmahal to

prepare a meal, and unfortunately proceeded to the hut of a

fakeer, whose ears he had ordered to be cut off in the

previous year. The man immediately gave information of his

arrival to those who were in pursuit of him, and he was

conveyed back as a prisoner to Moorshedabad, eight days
after he had quitted it. On the night of his arrival, Meerun,

the son of Meer Jaffier, a youth as heartless and abandoned

as Seraja Dowlah himself, caused him to be put out of the

way by assassination. The nxt day his mangled remains
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were paraded on an elephant through the streets, and then

buried in the tomb of his grandfather.

Intelligence of the destruction of Calcutta did
The Court of 3

Directors on not reach England for eleven months. On the
piassy, 1757.

grd QJf August? 1757> tne Court of Directors wrote

to the President in Calcutta :
" On the 4th of June, we heard

of the melancholy news of the loss of Fort William and the

rest of our settlements in Bengal. On the 22nd day of July,

Mr. Holwell arrived on the Siren, and gave a most agreeable
turn to our thoughts by bringing advice of the recapture of

Fort William." A few months after, they heard of the battle

of Piassy, and the great revolution which had been effected

by their troops. That victory more than realised the expec-
tations which the Court had entertained seventy years ago,
when they sent out Admiral Nicholson to make them "a
nation in India." It had laid the foundation of a great

empire. Yet so little conception had the Court of the high

destiny which was opening before them that their chief

source of gratification was derived from the hope that their

servants in Bengal would now be able to provide the invest-

ment for two years without drawing on them.

The first object of Meer Jaffier, after his eleva-
Clive quells

J

three reroitt, tion, was to plunder the Hindoo minister of

finance, Roy-doorlub, and the officers who had

amassed wealth in the governments conferred on them by
Ali verdy. These proceedings provoked no fewer than three

revolts within three months, in Behar, Purneah, and Midna-

pore. But they were quelled without bloodshed, by the mere

exercise of Clive's influence, to whom the whole country

looked up as to a demigod. The ascendancy which he' thus

acquired, though inseparable from his position and his genius,

could not fail to lessen the importance of the Nabob, and to

irritate his mind, while it gave umbrage to his family and his

officers. They could not forget that it was only two years

since the foreigners, who now bore the supremacy in Bengal,
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had approached them as suppliants, with gifts and flatteries ;

and it required the most delicate management on the part of

Clive to prevent the explosion of their discontent. A. few

months after the battle of Plassy, a Mahratta envoy arrived

at Moorshedabad to demand the arrears of ckout now due for

two years, but he soon found that the days of chout had

ceased with the advent of the English.

Expedition to
^ne Court ^ Directors, on hearing of the great

the coast, Sep- victory of Plassy, placed the government of Cal-
tember, 1758. . , ,

*
c m- j11.

cutta m the hands of Clive, and he was anxious to

afford substantial relief to Madras, now menaced by Lally ;

but the presence of a formidable French force on the confines

of Orissa, and of Law with 200 Europeans on the borders of

Behar, combined with the growing alienation of the Nabob,
made it impolitic to weaken Bengal. The number of European

troops at Madras was, moreover, twice as large as the number

at the disposal of Clive, and, above all, that settlement had

Lawrence for its military commander, which Clive considered

an ample guarantee of its safety. He, therefore, supplied it

most liberally with funds from his own full treasury, and took

steps to remove one cause of disquietude by an attack on the

French possessions in the Northern Sircars, now no longer

protected by the genius of Bussy. He entrusted the expe-
dition to Colonel Forde, one of the great soldiers created by
the long-continued wars on the Coast. Clive had begun to

enlist the Rajpoots, and was enabled to send 2,000 sepoys
with Forde, in addition to 500 Europeans and 14 guns.

That officer landed at Vizagapatam, and, after defeating

Bussy's feeble successor, the Marquis of Conflans, formed the

bold design of laying siege to Masulipatam, the great strong-

hold of the French on the coast, though it was garrisoned by
a larger force than that of the besiegers. Conflans solicited

the immediate aid of the Nizam, Salabut Jung, who marched

down to the coast with a large army in support of his friends.

Forde, however, pushed the siege with such skill and energy

as to oblige the French general to capitulate before the
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arrival of the auxiliary force. The Nizam was thunderstruck

at this early and unexpected surrender, and lost no time in

changing sides, and courting the victor. A treaty was

speedily concluded, by which Salabut Jung ceded Ma-

sulipatam and eight districts around it to the English, and

engaged to exclude the French from his dominions. This

brilliant exploit raised the reputation of the English as high in

the Deccan as it stood hi Bengal, and entirely deprived the

French of the resources of the Northern Sircars.

AH r,ohur
While the troops were thus employed on the

invades Behar, coast their presence was urgently required in

Bengal. The emperor at Delhi was a mere puppet
in the hands of his unprincipled vizier, from whose thraldrom

the heir apparent, Mahomed Ali Gohur, had contrived to make
his escape, not without his father's connivance. India, at

this time, abounded with military adventurers ready for any

service, and the name of the emperor was sufficient to attract

crowds to the standard of his son. The Soobadar of Oude

was likewise anxious to turn the unsettled state of Bengal to

his own profit, and joined the camp of the prince with a large

force, and induced him, in the first instance, to invade the

province of Behar. An army of 40,000 men now suddenly

appeared before Patna, the provincial capital, which Ram-

narayun, the Hindoo governor, defended with great valour for

twelve days. Meer Jaffier was thrown into a fever of anxiety

by this invasion, and importuned Olive to hasten to the rescue.

On his march towards Patna, Olive received repeated letters

from Ali Gohur, offering him province after province for his

assistance, but he handed them to the Nabob, who had like*-

wise received letters from the emperor, written under the

dictation of the vizier, and commanding him to seize his rebel-

lious son, and chastise his adherents. Olive's advanced guard

appeared in sight of the city on the 4th of April, and the

Prince instantly raised the siege and endeavoured to escape
from the province faster than he had entered it. As a matter

of course, the Nabob of Oude deserted him on the first
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appearance of adversity, and he was reduced to such straits

during his flight as to throw himself on the compassion of

Clive, who sent him 500 gold mohurs to relieve his necessities.

Conflict with Scarcely had this cloud blown over than another
the Dutch, 1789

gathered on the horizon. The Nabob, fretting

under the supremacy of Clive and the restraints it imposed
on him, cast about for some means of counterbalancing it,

and hit on the device of inviting the Dutch to introduce a

large European force into their settlement at Chinsurah. The

Dutch government at Batavia appear to have viewed the

prosperity of the English in India with no small feeling of

envy, and eagerly embraced the proposition, hoping to fish

up some prize in the troubled waters of Bengal. They accord-

ingly dispatched a fleet of seven vessels to the Hooghly,
with 700 Europeans and 800 well-trained Malay sepoys.

Clive would tolerate no European rival in Bengal ; and, on

hearing of the arrival of the expedition, blocked up the river

and took measures to prevent the junction of this force with

that already cantoned at Chinsurah. The two nations were

at peace in Europe ; but, according to the established practice,

this did not impede their waging war with each other in

India. Even if Clive had felt any delicacy on the subject it

was removed by the aggressive movement of the Dutch com-

mander, who seized upon some of the British vessels, hauled

down their colours, and transferred their guns and stores to his

own ships. Clive retaliated by sequestering the vessels which

had arrived from Batavia, and sending Colonel Porde, who
had returned from the coast, with all the troops available to

intercept the progress of the Batavian force. Forde, dread-

ing the responsibility of attacking the troops of a friendly

power, requested a written order from Clive. He was sitting

at cards when the letter was put into his hands, and without

rising, wrote on one of the cards with his pencil,
" Dear

Forde, fight them immediately, I will send you the Order in

Council to-morrow." That officer hesitated no longer, but

advanced to meet the Dutch army, which he came up with
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just as it arrived within sight of Chinsurah, and defeated in

half an hour. Immediately after the action, the Nabob's son,

Meerun, appeared with an army of 7,000 men, who were

destined to turn on the English if the fortune of the day had

been different. Clive restored the vessels he had taken to the

Butch authorities, on their engaging to make good all the

expense incurred in defeating their plans, and embarked fo-

England on the 25th of February, 1760.

Ahmed shah
^e now resume t^e thread of Mahratta and

and the Mahrat- Mogul affairs. Ahmed Shah Abdalee returned to

Persia hi June, 1757, leaving his son, Timur, in

charge of the Punjab, and Nujeeb-ood-dowlah in command at

Delhi, to protect the emperor from the designs of Ghazee-ood-

deen. That profligate minister called the Mahrattas to his

aid, and Raghoba, the fighting brother of the Peshwa,
marched up to Delhi, and captured it after a month's siege.

Nujeeb retreated to Rohilcund, and Ghazee-ood-deen was re-

instated in the office of vizier. Soon after the capture of the

capital by Raghoba, one Adina-beg, a veteran intriguer in the

Punjab, invited him to seize on that province, as well as Mool-

tan, and annex them to the Mahratta dominions. He marched

to Lahore, hi May, 1758; the Abdalees were totally routed;

Prince Timur retreated to Persia ; and the Mahratta standard

was planted, for the first time, on the banks of the Indus.

Raghoba then returned to the Deccan, but with more glory

than money ; and, instead of the loads of booty which usually

marked the return of the Mahratta expeditions, brought back

a load of obligations little short of a crore of rupees. This

disappointment gave rise to a serious altercation with Suda-

seeb Rao Bhao, the cousin and civil administrator of the

Peshwa. "Then take charge of the next expedition yourself,"

was the tart reply of Raghoba. The Peshwa took him at his

word, and compromised the differences between them by trans-

ferring the command of the army to Sudaseeb, generally

known as the Bhao, and placing his brother at the head of

the civil department.
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Territory wrest-
The Peshwa had been, for some time, engaged

ed from Saiabut in intrigues for the acquisition of Ahmednugur,
the most important city south of the Nerbudda,

and, at length, obtained possession of it by an act of base

treachery. This aggression brought on hostilities with Saiabut

Jung and his brother, Nizam Ali, who had been recently re-

conciled to him. The master-spirit of Bussy no longer ani-

mated the councils or the army of the Nizam. Ibrahim Khan

Gardee, one of the ablest native generals of the time, who
was in command of the sepoy battalions trained by Bussy,
and a powerful and well served artillery, had been dismissed

from the service. He immediately transferred his sword to

the Peshwa, and, in the conflict now raging, contributed, in

no small degree, to reduce Saiabut Jung and his brother to

such straits, that they were constrained to submit to the most

humiliating conditions as the price of safety. A treaty was

wrung from them, which conceded to the Mahrattas five of

the most important fortresses in the Deccan, and some of its

most flourishing districts, yielding a revenue of not less than

sixty lacs of rupees a year. The Mahrattas had now reached

Power of the the zenith of their power. Their authority was
Mahrattas, 1759.

equally acknowledged on the banks of the Cavery
and the Indus. All the territory within these limits, which

was not their own, paid them tribute. The vast resources

of the Mahratta community were guided by one head and

directed to one object the aggrandisement of the nation,

and they now talked proudly of establishing Hindoo sove-

reignty over the whole of Hindostan. The only hope of pre-

serving the countiy from subjection to this power, of which,

tyranny, rapine, and destruction were the constant attendants,

now rested on the arms of a foreign potentate Ahmed Shah
Abdalee.

Fourth invasion
^aghoba had left Mulhar Eao Holkar and Data-

of Ahmed Shah, jee Sindia to extort contributions from the Rajpoot

princes, and to maintain the conquests he had

made in the Punjab. At the instigation of Ghazee-ood-deen,
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Sindia sent his officers to invade Rohilcund, and in the

course of a month they laid waste thirteen hundred villages

in that flourishing province. The ulterior object of the vizier

and of the Mahrattas was the possession of Oude, and as the

Nabob dreaded them more than he hated the Rohillas, he

entered into a treaty with Hafiz Ruhmut, the bravest of their

chiefs, and, in conjunction with Nujeeb-ood-dowlah drove

Sindia across the Ganges with great slaughter. Just at this

juncture both parties were astounded by the intelligence that

Ahmed Shah was entering India with a grand army to recover

and extend his conquests. The remembrance of the sack of

Delhi by his troops gave a portentous character to this, his

fourth invasion ;
and the Nabob and the Mahratta were in-

duced, by a common alarm, to patch up an accommodation.

The Abdalee crossed the Indus in September, 1759, and

marched direct to Lahore. During his advance, the vizier,

who had deprived his former master of sight, dreading the

intercourse of the emperor with Ahmed Shah, on whom he

felt that he had inflicted inexpiable injury, gave
Murder of the

, ,

emperor, Alum- orders for his assassination, and placed some
geer, NOT., i<59.

un ]cnown youth on the throne, who was howevei

never acknowledged.
The two Mahratta chiefs, supported by their allies, the

Jauts, advanced to encounter Ahmed Shah, but they were in

two divisions, widely separated from each other,
Defeat of Sindia

' J

and Hoikar; and he resolved to attack them before they could

form a junction. The army of Sindia was sur-

prised, and two-thirds of the troops, including the general,

slaughtered. Hoikar made all haste to retreat, and might
have escaped, but he could not resist the temptation of turn-

ing out of his way to plunder a rich convoy, of which he had

received intimation. Ahmed Shah overtook him by forced

inarches of extraordinary length, and routed him with great

carnage. Of these reverses the Peshwa received information,

immediately after he and his cousin had succeeded in wresting

the forts and districts already mentioned from Salabut. The
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Bhao, flushed with his recent success, entreated the Peshwa
to allow him to proceed to Upper India, and restore the repu-
tation of the Mahratta arms, and expel the Abdalees from

the country. In an evil hour permission was granted, for

though personally brave and resolute, he was rash and

arrogant, and filled with an overweening conceit of his own

abilities, which were unequal to the great expedition on which

the fortunes of the Mahratta nation were about to be staked.

The Mahratta
"^ne arrnv which now proceeded against Ahmed

army. Shah was the largest and best equipped with

which the Mahrattas had ever taken the field. It resembled

rather the gorgeous array with which Aurungzebe had crossed

the Nerbudda eighty years before than that of the humble and

hardy mountaineers who had baffled him. The spacious

and lofty tents of the chiefs were lined with silk and bro-

cades, and surmounted with gilded ornaments. The finest

horses, richly caparisoned, together with a long train of

elephants, accompanied the army. The wealth which half a

century of plunder had accumulated was exhibited in all its

splendour. The officers, dressed in cloth of gold, vied with

each other in profuse and prodigal display. The military chest

was laden with two crores of rupees. Every commander

throughout the Mahratta commonwealth was required to join

the Bhao, and the whole of the Mahratta chivalry marched

under the national standard. The Rajpoot chiefs contributed

their cavalry brigades ; the Pindarrees, who now appear for

the first tune in history, swarmed to the conflict, and Sooruj

Mull, the Jaut chieftain, brought up a contingent of 30,000

men. The entire force did not fall short of 270,000. It was

the grand struggle of Hindoo and Mahomedan for the

sovereignty of India.

Arrogance of
^ne experienced old Jaut did not fail to perceive

the Bhao. that the unwieldy masses of the Bhao, encum-

bered with artillery and other accessories unsuited to their

national mode of warfare, were ill calculated for such a

campaign. He strongly advised that the guns and the

u
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infantry should be left in his forts, and that the army should

revert to the old system of warfare, and harass the enemy
with incessant attacks and cut off his supplies, till the hot

season obliged the Abdalee to withdraw his troops to a more

congenial climate beyond the Indus. But this sage advice,

though supported by the ablest of the Mahratta generals,

was rejected with scorn by the Bhao. The city of Delhi was

occupied almost without a straggle, and he was with difficulty

dissuaded from proclaiming Wiswas Eao, the eldest son of

the Peshwa, Emperor of India. But, in a spirit of wanton

barbarity, he destroyed the monuments of art which even

Nadir Shah had spared. Disgusted with these acts, and not

less with the overbearing conduct of the Bhao, the Rajpoots
and the Jauts withdrew from his army.

Ahmed Shah was cordially supported by the

the

V

Mahra.ttas Rohillas, and with less zeal by the Nabob of

is, Qude. His regular army consisted of 38,000

foot and 41,800 horse, with seventy pieces of

artillery. His irregular force was computed to be equally

strong. After a variety of manoeuvres the two armies con-

fronted each other on the field of Paniput, where for the

third time the fate of India was to be decided. The Bhao

entrenched himself behind a ditch, forty feet wide and twelve

feet deep. Ahmed Shah fortified his camp with felled trees.

Numerous encounters took place from time to time between

different detachments without any decisive result. The

Rohillas and the Nabob of Oude were impatient to be led at

once against the enemy, but the wary and experienced Ab-

dalee prudently determined to wait the certain progress of

famine in their encampment. The resources of the Mahrattas

were gradually exhausted ; their foraging parties were con-

stantly driven back, and starvation stared them in the face,

while the stench from the dead bodies of men and animals

within the narrow limits of the camp became at length

insupportable. Unable any longer to bear these privations

and evils, men and officers equally demanded, in a voice of
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thunder, to be led against the enemy instead of being cooped

up to die like dogs. The Bhao was obliged to yield ; with

the provisions which were left they partook together of one

full meal, and then prepared for the struggle of the morrow.

fp
An hour before daybreak on the 7th of January,

put, January 7, 1761, the Mahratta army issued from its en-

trenchments, not, as on many former occasions,

in the full confidence of victory, but with the recklessness of

despair. The engagement was opened by Ibrahim Khan
Gardee and his 10,000 sepoys, trained under Bussy, and his

splendid artillery, with which he swept down the ranks of

the Rohillas who were opposed to him. He then charged
them with the bayonet, but they did not retire till 8,000 of

their number lay dead or wounded on the field, while the loss

of half the corps of Ibrahim shewed the desperate character

of the conflict. The retirement of the Rohillas uncovered

the right of the centre division of the Abdalees, and the

Bhao and his cousin, with the flower of the Mahratta force,

charged them with such vigour, that the day at one time

seemed to belong to the Mahrattas, but at this critical juncture

Ahmed Shah brought up his reserve, and the conflict became

closer and more ferocious than ever. With the exception of

Mulhar Rao Holkar, all the chiefs maintained their reputa-

tion, but about two hours after noon, Wiswas Rao, the son

of the Peshwa, was mortally wounded, and the Bhao imme-

diately mounted his horse, and disappeared in the confusion

of the fight. Holkar likewise marched off, and was followed

by the Guickwar. As soon as the leaders were no longer

seen the army fell into disorder and fled. No quarter was

given, and the carnage was prodigious. Men, women, and

children crowded into the village of Paniput, where they
were surrounded for the night, but the men were drawn out

the next morning, and ranged in files, when, to the eternal

disgrace of Ahmed Shah, his soldiers were encouraged to

amuse themselves in cutting off their heads, and piling them

up as trophies in front of their tents. The body of Wiswas
u 2
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Rao was found, and the Abdalee was with reluctance prevailed

on to allow it to be burnt, instead of having it dried and

stuffed, to take back with him to Cabul. Junkajee Sindia

and the illustrious Ibrahim Khan Gardee, were taken prisoners

and put to death, the latter on the ground of having fought

on the side of the Hindoos against the true believers. Only
one-fourth of the troops escaped ; and the entire loss of the

Mahrattas, from the beginning of the campaign, was

computed at 200,000. Never was defeat more complete
or more fatal. There were few families which had not lost

some relative, and grief and despondency overspread the

community. The Peshwa died of grief, and with him

perished the prestige of his family. The formidable unity
of the Mahratta power was destroyed, and the hope which

the Mahrattas had cherished of becoming masters of all India,

was at once and for ever annihilated.

CHAPTER XI.

BENGAL, 1761 1772.

THE battle of Paniput forms an important epochCondition of . ,
r

India after the m the modern annals of India, and a brief notice

of the position and strength of the various

princes at that period will serve to elucidate its

subsequent history. The great empire of the Moguls was
dissolved, and the emperor was wandering about in Behar,

accompanied by a small band of mercenaries. In the districts

around Delhi, the Jauts on one side, and the Rohillas on the

other, were consolidating the power they had usurped. The

Rajpoot rajas had been humbled during the encroachments of

the Mahrattas, and manifested little of their former energy.
The Nabob vizier of Oude possessed a rich territory, and a

large undisciplined army, but was deficient in every military
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quality, except courage. The Mahratta dream of universal

empire in India, under a Hindoo sceptre, had been dissipated

by the recent defeat, and although the Peshwa was still the

head of the federation, its power was henceforth partitioned

among the Guickwar, the raja of Nagpore, and Holkar and

Sindia, who were seldom at peace with e:',ch other. The
Nizam at Hyderabad, had been crippled by the surrender of

some of his most valuable districts to the Mahrattas. The

power of the French was completely broken. In the south

of the peninsula, the Nabob of the Carnatic had been seated

on the throne by the English, and was maintained solely by
their arms, and Hyder All was on the point of grasping the

supreme control in Mysore. The power destined eventually

to bring these various principalities
" under one umbrella,"

had recently subdued its European rivals in the south, and

established its predominance in the valley of the Ganges, but

was contemplating nothing so little as the conquest of India.

Olive had become so completely identified with
Vansittart,

Governor of the existence of British power in Bengal, that his

Bengal, 1760-61.

Departure appeared to those who remained, as if

the
'

soul was departing from the government. He was

succeeded in the chair by Mr. Vansittart, a Madras civilian,

a man of the greatest probity, but utterly incompetent to

manage the complicated machinery of the government. The

appointment, though recommended by Clive, proved in every

respect disastrous. The members of the Bengal Council were

irritated by his intrusion into a seat which they considered to

belong to them of right, and set themselves to thwart his

measures, at a period when the exigencies of a novel and

foreign administration required the greatest unanimity. Soon

after Mr. Vansittart's appointment, moreover, an order from

the Court of Directors reached Calcutta, summarily dismissing
three of the ablest and most experienced members of Council,

on account of a contumacious letter which had been provoked

by their own arbitrary proceedings. The opponents of

Mr. Vansittart thus obtained a majority in the Council, and
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this circumstance, combined with his imbecility, rendered the

four years of his administration a period of extraordinary

criminality.

The Shah Zada, the son of the emperor, in-
Invasion 01 x

Behar by the vaded Behar a second time at the beginning of
Shah zada, 1760: ^^ ^.^ ^ ^^ Q ^^ ^^ collected

around him. As already stated, the intelligence of his

father's death reached him after he had crossed the Gurumnussa,

and he immediately assumed the imperial dignity with the

title of Shah Alum, which brought a large accession of troops

to his standard. The Nabob of Oude was appointed vizier of

this relic of an empire, and, in the hope of adding Behar to

his territories, joined the emperor with a considerable force.

Colonel Calliaud, one of the generals created by the wars on

the coast, the comrade of Lawrence and Olive, of Goote and

Forde, had been sent up from Madras to take the command of

the army in Bengal, and had proceeded to Moorshedabad,

where Clive, then on the eve of embarking for England, was

making the necessary dispositions for repelling the invasion.

Meer Jaffier contributed 15,000 horse to the expedition under

the command of his son, Meerun, whose oppressions had

made even Seraja Dowlah an object of regret. The united

forces of the emperor and the vizier advanced towards Patna

on one side, while Colonel Calliaud was moving up in an opposite

direction to its succour. Ramnarayun, the Hindoo governor,

had been strictly enjoined to await the arrival of these re-

inforcements, but he chose to march out and encounter the

enemy alone, and was totally defeated. The city must havre

surrendered at discretion, if it had been immediately invested,

but the emperor wasted the precious moments in plundering

the district. On the 20th of February, Colonel Calliaud came

up with the emperor, and, notwithstanding the misconduct of

Meerun's horse, completely routed his army.

The Emperor The emperor had received the promise of assist-

marches to ance from the Mahrattas, and made a sudden and

ueo.
'

rapid march through the hills on Moorshedabad
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to meet them. Calliaud lost no time in following his steps,

and the two armies confronted each other about thirty miles

from that city. But the emperor, hearing nothing of his

allies, abruptly broke up his camp and marched back to

Patna, to which he laid close siege for nine days. All hope of i

"

prolonging the defence was fading away, when Captain Knox,
|

who had advanced from Bengal by forced marches to its
\

rescue, at the hottest season of the year, was descried ap-

proaching it with a small force. The following day the two

armies met, and the emperor was defeated, and his force dis-

persed. The Nabob of Purneah, who had been for some

time intriguing with the emperor, now advanced to his

assistance with 30,000 men and thirty pieces of cannon.

Captain Knox, to the utter amazement of the natives of

Patna, immediately crossed the Ganges to oppose his pro-

gress, with a handful of men not exceeding a battalion of

sepoys and 200 Europeans, and a small squadron of cavalry.

The native historian of that period vividly describes the

breathless anxiety with which the inhabitants crowded on

the walls to watch the issue of this desperate encounter. It

was one of those battles in the early career of the English

which gave prestige to their arms, and bewildered the native

princes. It lasted six hours, and ended in tKe total defeat of

the enemy. The result of the conflict was rendered the more

grateful to the natives by the extraordinary valour displayed

by one of their own country, raja Shitabroy, and by the high
encomium bestowed on him by the English commander, as

they entered the city together covered with dust. Colonel

Calliaud and Meerun soon after arrived at Patna, and pro-

ceeded across the river to follow up the victory. But they
had not marched far when Meerun, as he lay on his couch

listening to a tale, was struck dead by a thunderbolt, and the

country was rid of a monster, in whose cabinet
Death of '

Meerun, July 2, was found a list of three hundred men of note

whom he had doomed to destruction on his

return.
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Meer Jaffier The vigour of Meerun, in spite of his profligacy,

deposed, 1760. had been the mainstay of the government of

Moorshedabad, and his death brought on an immediate

crisis. Meer Jaffier lost the little reason he ever possessed,

and the administration fell into a state of complete anarchy.

The troops surrounded the palace, and demanded the ar-

rears of their pay with loud menaces, when Meer Cassim,

the Nabob's son-in-law, came forward and offered to satisfy

their claims from his own funds, on condition of being ap-

pointed the successor of Meerun. The Nabob accepted his

terms and his services, but, in an evil hour, sent him to Cal-

cutta, to make pecuniary arrangements, in his name, with the

Council. They had an expensive war on their hands, without

a rupee in their exchequer. The treasure accumulated at

Moorshedabad had been exhausted, and, in the confusion and

scramble of the times, no thought had been bestowed on the

future. The imbecile Meer Jaffier was not the man to re-

move their embarrassments ; on the other hand, Meer Cassim

appeared to possess great talent and energy. Mr. Holwell,

who had taken the command of Fort William when it was

deserted by Mr. Drake, was the inveterate enemy of Meer

Jaffier, and urged his colleagues at once to determine on

deposing him, and elevating his son-in-law to the throne.

After a show of hesitation, the members of the Council

adopted his advice, and Mr. Vansittart was requested to pro-

ceed to Moorshedabad with 180 Europeans, 600 sepoys, and

four guns, to persuade Meer Jaffier to resign the government
of the three soobahs. The old man refused to abdicate, and

threatened to appeal to Clive, his friend and protector ; but

the arguments of Mr. Vansittart were irresistible, and he was

obliged to submit to his fate, only stipulating for a safe

asylum in Calcutta, well knowing that in India deposition meant

Meer Cassim death. Meer Cassim became soobadai1

, and, as

Kabob, 1760- the price of his elevation, ceded to the Company
the three districts of Midnapore, Chittagong, and

Burdwan, which were then estimated to furnish a third of the



XI.] ELEVATION OP MEER CASSIM HIS ENERGY. 297

revenue of Bengal. He agreed, moreover, to make good all

arrears, and, above all, to bestow a gratuity of twenty lacs of

rupees on his benefactors, of which Mr. Vansittart received

five, and Mr. Holwell three lacs. The disorders of the times

required a sharp remedy, but one might have been discovered

without resorting to this odious breach of faith. Avarice

was at the root of the transaction, and it ended in a fearful

tragedy.
Meer Cassim's Meer Oassim met the difficulties of his position

IdSntton,
with "* energy. He curtailed the extrava-

1701-63. gance of the court establishments. He abolished

"the ram office, the antelope office, and the nightingale

office/' and many other useless and costly appendages of the

menagerie department. He subjected the public accounts to a

severe scrutiny, and obliged the officers to disgorge the plun-
der they had acquired. He exacted all arrears of rent with

unexampled rigour, revised the assessment of the land, and

made an addition of a crore of rupees to the annual revenue of

the three provinces. These measures gave him the means of

discharging all the obligations he had contracted to the

English, after which he gave his entire attention to the great

object of emancipating himself from the pressure of their

authority, and restoring freedom to the soobah. He removed

the seat of government to Monghir, a distance of 320 miles

from Calcutta, where, free from observation, he prosecuted
his plans of independence with such earnestness, that in less

than three years, he considered himself in a position to set

their power at defiance. For this rapid progress, he was

mainly indebted to the exertions of an Armenian, born at

Ispahan, generally known by his orientalized name of

Gurghin Khan. He was originally a clothseller at Hooghly,
but when entrusted with the responsibilities of office, turned

out to be a man 'of original genius and vast resources. In

less than three years, he created a force of 15,000 cavalry,

and 25,000 infantry, disciplined on the model of the Com-

pany's army ; he manufactured firelocks which were superior
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to the Tower proof muskets ; he established a foundry for

casting cannon, and trained up a corps of artillerymen who
would have done credit to the Company's service. Nothing
was wanting to render Meer Cassim more powerful than

Aliverdy Khan had ever beep, but a few years of undisturbed

leisure.

Transactions
^e emPeror>

Shah Alum, unable to regain hia

with the capital, lingered within the limits of Behar with a

horde of troops, which wasted the districts like a

flight of locusts. As soon, therefore, as the rains of 1761

had subsided, Colonel Carnac marched to Gya with an English

force and dispersed them. Law, the French general, whose

little band of Europeans had been the chief support of the

prince, was taken prisoner on this occasion. The distin-

guished courtesy with which he was treated by the English

commander, confounded the ideas of the natives, who ex-

pected that he would have been led out to immediate execu-

tion, in accordance with the practice of oriental warfare.

"Nothing," exclaims the native historian in his remark on

this circumstance,
" can be more modest and becoming than

the behaviour of these strangers, whether in the heat of

action, or in the pride of success." After the action, Colonel

Carnac sent raja Shitabroy with a conciliatory message to the

emperor, which was cordially welcomed, and he was con-

ducted with suitable honours to Patna. Meer Cassim felt no

little alarm on hearing of this friendly intercourse between

the English commander and his own liege sovereign, and

hastened to the English camp, but sullenly refused to pay his

respects to the emperor. Colonel Carnac obviated his objec-

tions by bringing the parties together in his own tent, when

Shah Alum received the homage of the nabob, and conferred

on him the office of soobadar of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa,

and obtained in return the promise of an annual payment of

twenty-four lacs of rupees. The emperor then proceeded on

his route to Delhi, and, on taking leave of the colonel, made an

offer to the Company of the dewanny of the three provinces.
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spoliation of ne ^ tne earliest objects of Meer Cassim after

Bamnarayun, his elevation was the spoliation of the great pro-

vincial officers, who had amassed wealth in their re-

spective governments. Ramnarayun, the Governor of Patna,

was destined to be the first victim, but the Council in Calcutta

had pledged their honour to protect him from the designs of

his enemies, and the Nabob was for a time baffled. But

Mr. Vansittart yielded at length to his importunities; Colonels

Coote and Carnac, who insisted on keeping faith with Ram-

narayun, were removed from the province, and Meer Cassim

was left to wreak his vengeance on him. The unfortunate

governor was immediately seized and despoiled, while his

subordinate officers were pursued with all the ardour of

cupidity, and tortured to disclose their wealth. Of all the

proceedings of the feeble Vansittart, this was considered the

most baneful, inasmuch as it destroyed the confidence which

the natives had hitherto reposed in the protection of the

Company's officers, and strengthened the hands of the Nabob,

whose hostility to the English was daily becoming more

palpable.

The transit Meer Cassim had made great progress in con-

duties, 1762.
solidating his government, when a storm was

raised by the unprincipled conduct of the Council board in

Calcutta, which eventually swept him from the throne. From
the days of Munoo, the duties levied on the transit of mer-

chandise through the country had formed one of the principal

sources of the public revenue, and the highways of com-

merce, both by land and by water, were obstructed by
custom-houses. Under the old imperial firmans, the goods of

the Company intended for export by sea were allowed to pass

duty free, when protected by the dustuck, or permit of the

President. But the battle of Plassy transferred the power
of the state to the Company, that is, to their servants, and

they rushed eagerly into the inland trade of the country, and

claimed the same exemption from duty for their own goods,

which had been conceded to the merchandise of their masters.
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Their servants and dependants soon came to demand the same

privileges for their own adventures. The native merchants,

moreover, anxious to pass their goods duty free, were led to

purchase dustucks from some of the Company's servants, even

at a high premium, and the boys in the service, with less pay
than fifty rupees a month, were enabled to realise an income

of 15,000 or 20,000 rupees a year. To increase the confusion,

any native trader who wished to evade the duties, had only
to hoist the English niskan, or flag, on passing a custom-

house. In every instance in which this symbol of impunity
was not respected, sepoys were sent to drag the Nabob's

officers as culprits to the nearest factory, and they soon came

to understand the danger of offering the slightest resistance

to the most glaring frauds. The Nabob was deprived of his

revenues ; the entire trade of the country was disorganised,

and nothing appeared on every side but the most perilous

confusion.

These encroachments "were rare during Olive's
Mr. Vansittart's

convention, administration ; but when his strong arm ceased

to be felt, they increased to an indefinite degree.

To provide a remedy for the disorders which thus threatened

the peace of the country, Mr. Vansittart proceeded to

Monghir, and, after a long conference with the Nabob, made

an offer by way of compromise, which he at length accepted,

that the trade of the Company's servants should be subject

to a duty of only nine per cent., though that of his sub-

jects was, in many cases, saddled with twenty-five per

cent. This convention necessarily required the sanction

of the Council board, to whom Mr. Vansittart had intended

to break it with great caution, but the Nabob imprudently

directed his officers to carry it at once into execution,

and they entered upon the duty with little delicacy.

Numerous collisions ensued, and the breach was widened.

On his return to Calcutta, Mr. Vansittart encountered

the most ferocious opposition from his colleagues at the

board. To men with their lofty pretensions, who con-
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sidered themselves masters of the country, it appeared

intolerable that their commercial agents should be subjected

to the authority of one whom they had themselves raised to

the throne, and to the insolence, as they deemed it, of his

servants. All the members of Council at the out stations

were called down to Calcutta, to overawe the President, and

they declared that they would pay no higher duty than two-

and-a-half per cent., and that on the article of salt alone.

Th N bob
^e Nabob, incensed by this declaration, deter-

aboiishes aii mined to place his own subjects and the foreigners
duties, 1763.

up0n an equa]ity by abolishing all transit duties

throughout the country. The members of Council voted this

measure a crime, and demanded, as a matter of right, that

the native trade should be subject to the usual duties, while

their own was exempted from them. It Avas in vain that

Mr. Vansittart raised his voice against this iniquitous doctrine ;

he was supported only by Mr. Hastings. From words the

Council at length came to blows, and Stanlake Batson, one of its

most turbulent members, denounced Mr. Hastings as a partizan

of the Nabob, and struck him a blow which led to a hostile

challenge. After having passed this disgraceful resolution,

the majority deputed Mr. Hay and Mr. Amyatt to announce

it to the Nabob at Monghir.

During these transactions a boat proceeding to
Mr. Ellis's in-

temperate con- Patna with concealed arms, was searched and de-
duct, nes.

tained by the Nabob's officers. The affairs of the

Company in that city were unfortunately at this juncture

under the direction of Mr. Ellis, one of the most unscrupulous

and headstrong of all the public servants. He had violently

opposed the elevation of Meer Cassim, and seemed now to be

anxious to precipitate a rupture with him. The boat was

eventually released, but Mr. Ellis continued his hostile pre-

parations with so little disguise, that Meer Cassim thought

fit to detain Mr. Hay as a hostage for some of his own

servants who had been seized ; but Mr. Amyatt was allowed

to return to Calcutta. Mr. Ellis waited for the day which
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had been fixed for their departure, and when he calculated

that both of them were beyond the reach of the Nabob,
seized on the city of Patna. The native commandant was

obliged to retire, but on hearing that the European soldiers

were confused with liquor, returned suddenly and recaptured

the town. Mr. Ellis and the English gentlemen took refuge

in their boats and proceeded up the river, but were overtaken

and brought back prisoners to Patna. The Nabob, incensed

at this outrage, ordered every Englishman throughout his

dominions to be seized ;
and Mr. Amyatt, then on his way to

Calcutta, having refused to surrender, was slain in the scuffle.

The Setts, the great bankers of Moorshedabad, who were

possessed of incredible wealth, and had manifested a favour-

able disposition to the English, were at the same time seized

and conveyed to Monghir.

war with Meer Both parties now prepared for war. The Nabob
Cassim. Be- augmented his army, and applied for assistance to
Btoration of , ,

,
_ T , , . . -,_, n

Meer Jaffier,
the emperor and the Nabob vizier. The Governor

1763> and Council in Calcutta ordered their army into

the field, and, at the same time, determined to reseat Meer

Jaffier on the throne. The old man, seventy-two years of

age, and scarcely able to move for the leprosy, was withdrawn

from the obscurity to which he had retired, and required to

confirm the cession of the three districts which had been

made by his predecessor, to concede the flagrant exemption
from duty claimed by the majority of the Council, and likewise

to make large donations to them individually. The English

army consisted of 650 Europeans, 1,200 sepoys, and a troop

of native cavalry ; and although the rains had set in, opened

Actions of the tne campaign on the 2nd of July. On the 19th,
i9th and 24th the troops of the Nabob were defeated at Cutwa ;

July, and the t .

2nd August, and on the 24th, Moorshedabad was occupied and

Meer Jaffier, who had accompanied the army, was

placed a second time on the throne. The army reached Gheriah

on the 2nd of August, and found the Nabob's well disciplined

troops drawn up to dispute their advance. The battle lasted
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four hours, and, in the opinion of Clive, never did troops fight
better than those of the Nabob. At one period of the action,

indeed, they penetrated the English lines and captured two

guns, and victory appeared, for a tune, likely to incline to

them, but the gallantry of the Europeans, and the steadiness

of the sepoys bore down all opposition, and the Nabob's

troops were constrained to abandon all their guns and stores,

and retreat to Oodwanulla.

Massacre of the
^lis reverse threw Meer Cassim into a paroxysm

English pri- of rage, and he gave way to the ferocity of his
toasts. 1763. ,. ... T, ,111'

disposition. Ramnarayun, the deposed governor
of Patna, was cast into the river with weights attached to his

neck. Raja Rajbullub, the former governor of Dacca, was

put to death, with all his sons. The Moorshedabad bankers

were thrown into the Ganges from one of the bastions of the

fort of Monghir. One of their favourite servants, the faithful

Chunee, begged permission to share their fate, and when his

request was denied, plunged into the river, determined not to

survive them. Early in the month of November, the English

army carried the entrenched camp at Oodwanulla, and the

Nabob fled to Patna. But before his departure he ordered his

officers to proceed to the house where his European prisoners

were confined, and put them to death without distinction.

They nobly replied that they were soldiers and not execu-

tioners. " Turn them out," they said,
" with arms in their

hands, and we will fight them to the death." But there was

in the camp one Walter Raymond, who had been a sergeant

in the French service, and now, under the name of Sumroo,

held a commission in the Nabob's army, who came forward

and offered to do the bloody deed. The wretch proceeded to

the house with a file of soldiers, and poured in volley after

volley through the Venetian windows upon the defenceless vic-

tims, till forty-eight gentlemen among whom was Mr. Ellis

and 100 soldiers lay stretched on the floor. Patna was

captured on the 6th of November, and the campaign ended in

four months by the flight of Meer Cassim to the court of the
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Nabob vizier. The vizier had fought by the side
The Nabob *

vizier marches of Ahmed Shah Abdalee at Paniput, and, in the
tna, 1764.

janguage Of ^e native historian,
" considered

himself a second Rustum." He determined to take advantage
of the confusion of the times, and, six months after the ter-

mination of the war with Meer Cassim, marched down to

Patna with a large but ill-trained army. It was an act of

wanton aggression on his part, dictated by ambition and

avarice. The emperor and the disinherited Nabob of Bengal

joined his camp with a small body of followers. The English

army in the field was straitened for provisions, and retired to

the city of Patna, which was vigorously attacked on the 3rd

of May, 1764. The assailants were repulsed, but not without

great difficulty, and not before the close of the day. The

Nabob vizier, after hovering about Patna for four weeks, re-

tired to Buxar to encamp for the rains.

The first sepoy Major Munro, who now assumed the command
mutiny, 1764. of ^he Company's army, found the sepoys in a

state of open revolt. There is no instinct of obedience in

native armies in India, as in those of Europe, and their

normal condition under every dynasty, native or foreign,

Hindoo or Mahomedan, and in every province, has from time

immemorial been that of insubordination. The British army
of sepoys was no exception to the general rule. During the

seven years in which they had been embodied as mercenaries

under the colours of a foreign power, they had been instru-

mental in defeating and deposing two Nabobs of Bengal.

They became inflated with an idea of their own importance,
and they now manifested it by the demand of a large donation

and increased pay. Such a demand from men with arms in

their hands was necessarily refused, and a whole battalion

marched off to the enemy with their arms and accoutrements.

Major Munro, an officer of undaunted resolution, determined

to subdue this spirit at all hazards. The battalion was pur-
sued and brought back. Twenty-four of the most active of the

mutineers were selected, arraigned before a field court-martial,
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consisting of native officers, and found guilty. The Major
ordered four of them to be blown away from the guns, when
four noble looking grenadiers came forward, and demanded to

be the first to suffer, as they had always been the foremost in

danger. The European officers then reported that the sepoys
had announced their firm resolution not to allow any further

executions ; but the unflinching commander loaded his guns
with grape, placed his European soldiers in the intervals, and

commanded the native battalions to ground arms, threatening
to discharge the guns on them if a single man was seen to

move. The sepoys were awed by his resolution ; sixteen

more were blown away; the mutiny was quenched in their blood,

and discipline was restored. This was the first of that series of

mutinies which broke out from time to time among the native

sepoys chiefly after a successful campaign, when they are

least amenable to reason and terminated hi less than a

century in the dissolution of the whole Bengal army.

Major Munro shewed his masters how the insubordination

of sepoys was to be dealt with, and there can be no doubt

that if the same spirit and promptitude had been exhibited

on every future emergency, the result would have been

equally auspicious.

Battle of Buxar
^^s example of severity restored the discipline

October 23, of the army so effectually that within four months

of the mutiny, Major Munro did not hesitate to lead

his troops against the Nabob vizier, who had been encamped
for several months at Buxar with an army of 50,000 men. On
the 23rd of October he was attacked and completely routed,

and obliged to abandon his camp, with all its stores and 130

pieces of cannon. The victory of Buxar was scarely less

important to the interests of the Company than that of Plassy.

It demolished the power of the Vizier, Soojah-ood-dowlah, the

only chief of any importance in the north. It made the

English masters of the entire valley of the Ganges, from the

Himalayu to the sea, and placed Hindostan at their feet. The

Nabob sent off his women and his treasure to Bareilly, and

x
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opened negotiations with the victor, offering as the price of

his forbearance, fifty lacs of rupees for the Company and the

army, and eight lacs for himself. But the Council board de-

manded the surrender of Meer Cassim and Sumroo, as an in-

dispensable preliminary. The former, who had been stripped

of his wealth and imprisoned by his treacherous host, hastened

to seek refuge among the Rohillas. With regard to Sumroo,

the Vizier offered to invite him to an entertainment, and cause

him to be assassinated in the presence of any English gentle-

man who might be deputed to witness and certify his death.

The offer was indignantly rejected.

Amn ement Immediately after the battle of Buxar, the emperor
with Meer joined the English camp, and commenced negotia-

tions with the Council in Calcutta. They proposed

that the forfeited territories of the Vizier should be partitioned

between them, the Company receiving the zemindary of

Benares, and the emperor the remainder, on condition of de-

fraying all the expenses of the war. But the arrangement
fell to the ground. Meanwhile, the government in Calcutta

was on the verge of bankruptcy. The war was not only

expensive, as all wars must be, but it was conducted on a

system of profligate extravagance and peculation which com-

pletely exhausted the treasury. Meer Jaffier was, therefore,

brought down to Calcutta to concert some means of relieving

the pressing necessities of the Council. His position required

a passive acquiescence in whatever they might chose to dictate,

and they required him to contribute five lacs of rupees a

month towards the expenses of the war, as long as it might
last ; but they did not forget themselves. He was also

charged with the payment of what they had the impudence to

call "compensation for losses," that is, for losses, real or

fictitious, sustained by them and their friends in the illicit

monopoly of the necessaries of life. The demand was at first

stated at ten lacs of rupees, but they soon dismissed all

delicacy of feeling and raised it to thirty, and then to forty

lacs, and did not pause till it had reached fifty-three lacs. It



XI.] DEATH OF MEER JAFFIEB. 807

was, moreover, provided that this nefarious claim should be

satisfied before any payment was made to the Company's

treasury for the expenses of the war ;
which were met by the

ingenious device of lending to the Government at an exor-

bitant rate of interest, the sums paid to individuals by the

Nabob. The effrontery exhibited during these five years' of

crime makes one blush for the honour of England ; and the

only relief to the mind is to be found in the consideration

that it was an exceptional case.

These importunities, combined with the ageDeath of f
7

Meerjaffier, and infirmities of the Nabob, hastened his end,

and he expired in January, 1765. Then came

the question of appointing his successor. The making of

Nabobs had been, for seven years, one of the most lucrative

employments of the Council, and the fourth opportunity

which was now presented, was not to be neglected. Mr. Van-

sittart had retired from the chair, and was succeeded by
Mr. Spencer, a Bombay civilian, without either talent or

probity. The Court of Directors, exasperated by the iniquity

of their servants in Calcutta, had issued peremptory orders

for the suppression of the inland trade, and for the execution

of "
covenants," binding them not to receive presents from

native princes. These injunctions reached Calcutta before

the death of Meer Jaffier. Mr. Spencer and his colleagues,

were, moreover, aware that Lord Clive was on the eve of em-

barking for India to root out abuses ; no time was, therefore,

to be lost in the appointment of another Nabob. The cove-

nants were thrown aside, and Nujum-ood-dowlah, the son of

Meer Jaffier, was raised to the throne, and required to make

donations to the members of the Council to the extent of

twenty lacs of rupees, as well as to sanction the inland trade,

exempt from the payment of all duty.

_. , Clive, on his return to England in 1760, was
Clive s second

administration, received with great distinction by the king, the

minister, Mr. Pitt, and the nation, and honoured

with an Irish peerage. The India House, likewise, paid
v 9V w



308 LORD CLIVE RETURNS TO INDIA.

homage to his talents and his success; but the Court of

Directors was scarcely less demoralized by intrigue and

jobbery than the Council board in Calcutta by venality and

rapacity, and Clive was speedily brought into collision with

the leading faction, at the head of which was Mr. Sullivan.

In 1757, Meer Jaffier had ceded to the Company certain lands

lying to the south of Calcutta, of the annual value of ten lacs

of rupees, reserving to himself the quit-rent of three lacs a

year. Two years after, the Nabob manifested his gratitude

for the services of Clive by making him a donation of the

quit-rent, which he received for several years without inter-

ruption. But Mr. Sullivan and his party having gained the

ascendancy in the Court of Directors in 1763, sent out orders

to Calcutta, without any communication with Clive, to with-

hold the usual payment, assigning no other reason for this

act of injustice than the cessation of all cordiality between

him and the Court. Clive was, therefore, obliged to file a bill

in chancery for the recovery of his rights. But while this

contest was raging, intelligence was received in London of the

war with Meer Cassim, the massacre of the European pri-

soners, and the total disorganization of the government in

Calcutta. The proprietors of India stock saw with dismay
the golden dreams of prosperity in which they had indulged

vanishing away, and, in spite of the opposition of the Directors,

resolved to send out the man to whom they owed all their

greatness, to retrieve their affairs. They determined also to

entrust the powers of government, which had hitherto been

vested in a council of sixteen, to a select commitee of five.

Clive was surrounded by friends and admirers, and in the

enjoyment of an income of four lacs of rupees a year ; there

was therefore no inducement for him to return to India, but

he had been actuated throughout life by a high sense of duty,

dnd he did not hesitate to accept the charge of a government
which .was justly described as "

headstrong and corrupt, and

lost to every sense of honour."

Clive landed at Calcutta on the 3rd of May, and found
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Condition of that the political dangers had passed off. Meer
Bengal, 1765. cassmi had been expelled from Bengal, the Nabob

vizier had been vanquished, and the emperor was a suppliant.

Bat there were other and more alarming perils to be en-

countered. Vast fortunes had been amassed by
" the most

nefarious and oppressive conduct ever known in any age or

country." The power of the Company's servants had been

employed in levying contributions on every class, from the

Nabob down to the lowest zemindar. Even the exaction of

twenty lacs of rupees from the young Nabob on his elevation,

in defiance of the express orders of the Court of Directors,

was openly avowed without a blush. Luxury, corruption,

and debauchery pervaded every rank of the service, and

threatened the dissolution of all government. Clive found

Spencer, the governor,
" as deep in the mire as any other,"

and he felt himself justified in affirming that " there were not

five men of principle left at the Presidency." The massacre

of the English gentlemen by Sumroo had thinned the ranks

of the civil service; many of the seniors had returned to

England laden with plunder, and young men had thus been

pushed forward to posts of importance, with little judgment
or experience, but inflamed with the most extravagant ex-

pectations by the success of those who had preceded them.

Clive's first duty was to enforce the execution of the cove-

nants which abolished the receipt of presents, but he was
met on the threshold by an attempt to question the powers
of the Select Committee, and an effort was made to brow-

beat him, but he soon reduced the refractory to silence by
declaring that he would not allow his authority to be contro-

verted for a moment, and that he would peremptorily dismiss

from the service every officer who refused to sign the cove-

nants.

Arrangement
On the 25th of June, Clive left Calcutta for the

with the nabob, upper provinces, to dispose of the weighty ques-
the vizier, and . , . i .,,;,.. _,

*

the emperor, tions which awaited his decision. He attributed

the recent war with Meer Cassim to the impru-.
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dence of Mr. Vansittart, in advising him to form and discipline

an army, and to render it efficient by just and punctual pay-

ment. To prevent the recurrence of this cause of anxiety,

the Nabob of Moorshedabad was relieved of all responsibility

for the military defence of the country, and of the manage-
ment of the revenue. The sum of fifty-three lacs of rupees

a year was assigned him for the expenses of his court and

the administration of justice. He received the proposal with

ecstacy.
" Thank God," he exclaimed,

"
I shall now have as

many dancing-girls as I like." With regard to the Nabob

vizier, he had invaded Behar without the least provocation,

on the mere impulse of cupidity, but his power had been

irretrievably crushed by the battle of Buxar, the capture of

Lucknow, and a second defeat at Corah. Seeing his fortunes

desperate, he repaired to the camp of General Carnac, and

threw himself on the consideration of the English authorities.

His kingdom was forfeited by the laws of war and the usage
of the country, but Olive evinced his moderation by restoring

it to him, with the exception of the two districts of Corah and

Allahabad, which were reserved for the emperor. Such an

instance of generosity in a victorious enemy was unknown in

India, and excited emotions of the deepest gratitude. The

emperor, though he had appeared in arms against the English

at the battle of Buxar, was gratified with the revenues of the

two districts assigned to him, which, with the annual pay-
ment of twenty-six lacs of rupees from Bengal and Behar, for

which he was likewise indebted to the kindness of the English

chief, constituted his whole dependence.

TheDewanny, After the completion of these arrangements,
Aug. 12, 1765. ciive requested that the Dewanny of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa, which the emperor had repeatedly offered

to the Company, should be conferred on them by an imperial

firman. The act was completed on the 12th of August, 1765,

a memorable day in the political and constitutional history of

British India. As a substitute for a throne, two dining-tables

were joined together in Clive's tent, and covered with em-
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broidery. The emperor took his seat on a chair planted on

them, and transferred the government of twenty-five millions

of people, and an annual revenue of four crores of rupees to

Lord Olive, on behalf ot the Company. The Mahomedan his-

torian of the time, scandalized by the simplicity which marked

the completion of this grand transaction, exclaims with in-

dignation that " a business of so much importance, which, at

other times, would have required the sending of wise ministers

and able envoys, was done and finished in less time than

would have been taken up in the sale of a jackass." This

affair serves to exemplify that expansion of views which re-

sults from the progress of events in the East. On the eve of

his departure from England, in April, 1764, Clive assured the

Court of Directors that "
nothing but extreme necessity ought

to induce us to extend our ideas of territorial acquisitions be-

yond the three districts ceded by Meer Cassim, in his treaty

with Mr. Vansittart." Before sixteen months had elapsed,

he congratulated the Court on the acquisition of three pro-

vinces, and a clear revenue of two crores of rupees a year.

Yet with this pregnant proof of the fallacy of his judgment,
he thought fit again to fix the limits of the British empire in

India, and informed the Court that "
it was his resolution and

hope always to confine our possessions to these provinces,

and he declared that to go farther was a scheme so extrava-

gantly ambitious that no government in its senses would ever

dream of it." The Court of Directors, with all due modesty,
concurred in the necessity of accepting the provinces.

" When
we consider," they wrote,

" that the barrier of the country

government was entirely broken down, and every Englishman

throughout the country armed with an authority that owned
no superior, and exercising his power to the oppression of the

helpless natives, who knew not whom to obey ; at such a

crisis, we cannot hesitate to approve your obtaining the De<

wanny for the Company."
The mutiny of In announcing this acquisition to the India
(fed***

House) c]iye remarkedj we have established
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such a force that all the powers in Hindostan cannot de-

prive us of our possessions for many years," little dreaming
that within a few months, the existence of that power
would be endangered by that very force. The military

expenses had hitherto swallowed up the resources of the

Company. The army considered itself the most important

department of the state, and the commanders, in the pride of

their position, had endeavoured to imbue the native princes

with the conviction that the power of the British government
was lodged with them rather than with the civil authorities

in Calcutta. A few months more of Mr. Spencer's servile

administration would probably have rendered them masters of

the country. The officers had been in the habit of receiving

an allowance called batta when they took the field. Meer

Jaffier, out of gratitude for his elevation, had increased this

gratuity, and the army soon came to consider double batta as

their right. When the Court of Directors became responsible

for the finances of the country, they resolved to discontinue

this extravagant allowance ; but the officers resented any in-

terference with their interests, and the Council board was

deterred by their imperiousness from carrying the orders into

execution. The abolition of the double batta was enjoined on

Clive when he was leaving England, and he lost no time,

after his arrival, in announcing that it would cease after the

1st of January, 1766. The officers were little disposed to

submit to a measure which affected even a captain's allowance

to the extent of 1,000 rupees a month, and those in the higher

grades in a larger proportion. The announcement of the

order was the signal for mutiny, and a universal combination

was formed to compel Clive to retract it. A committee of

secrecy was organized in each of the three brigades, and a

fund created to reimburse officers for any loss they might
sustain

; and to this fund the discontented and factious

civilians in Calcutta contributed more than a lac and a half of

rupees. It was agreed that two hundred officers should

throw up their commissions on the same day; and, as an



XI.] QUELLED BY CLIVE. 313

army of 50.000 Mahrattas was advancing for the invasion of

Behar, it was calculated that the government would be undei

the necessity of giving way to retain their services.

Resolution of It was a crisis of singular peril, but exactly
cuve, nee. fitted to the daring genius of Clive. He felt that

to yield to the demands of men with arms in their hands was
to abandon the government to them, and he declared that he

must see the soldiers' bayonets levelled at his throat before

he could be induced to give way. He directed the command-

ants to accept every commission that was tendered, and to

send the offender under arrest to Calcutta ; at the same time,

he ordered up all the officers and cadets who could be spared

from Madras. Taking with him the officers who yet re-

mained faithful to their colours, he hastened to Monghir,
arrested the ringleaders, and ordered them to be tried by
court-martial. His undaunted resolution overawed the spirit

of insubordination, and many of the officers who had been

persuaded to join the malcontents, entreated permission to

recall their resignations, and were allowed to return to their

duty. He then proceeded to Benares, where the same energy

produced the same beneficial results. In two instances the

sepdys, who had themselves been in a state of mutiny two

years before, were actively employed in coercing their Euro-

pean officers, and exhibited such fidelity and steadiness, that

one battalion marched more than a hundred miles hi fifty-four

hours, and arrived at its destination in time to avert an out-

break. Thus was this formidable confederacy, which brought
the affairs of the Company to the brink of destruction, dis-

solved in the brief period of a fortnight, by an energy which

reflected not less credit on the name of Clive than the battle

of Plassy.

It remained for Clive to deal with the difficiilt
Society form
land trade. question of the trade of the public servants, to

which the Court of Directors attributed all the

anarchy and bloodshed of the preceding five years. From
tbe earliest period, the East India Company had followed the
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example of all other commercial companies, in restricting

their agents abroad to a mere pittance of salary, and allow-

ing them to eke it out by private trade, and thus were the

servants enriched at the expense of the masters. The same

system was continued when the factory had expanded into

a kingdom, and their servants entered on the government of

provinces with unchecked power. The consequence was that

from the governor to the youngest writer, from the general
to the ensign, not excepting even the chaplains, all classes

were busily engaged in commercial pursuits, which were ren-

dered lucrative
'

by the influence of their dominant position.

In April, 1764, the Court of Directors thought that the evil

might be remedied, simply by ordering that the trade should

cease, without proposing any compensation to their officers ;

but in a subsequent despatch they had the wisdom to modify
this order by directing Clive to devise some equitable plan

which should be satisfactory both to the government and the

service. Clive felt that it was indispensable to the peace and

prosperity of the country that the servants of the state

should not be allowed to compete with the native dealers in

every market, and equally indispensable to the integrity and

efficiency of the public service that the officers of the go-

vernment should not be left to starve in the midst of wealth

which their position enabled them to grasp. He, therefore,

established a Society for conducting a traffic in salt, on the

principle of a monopoly, -the profits of which, after a reserva-

tion of ten lacs of rupees a-year to the Company, should be

divided among .the servants of the Company according to

their rank ; the member of Council and the colonel receiving

70,000 rupees a-year, and the subordinate officers, civil and

military, in due proportion. The scheme continued in opera-

tion for two years, and was then abolished by orders from

home, which substituted in its stead a commission of two-

and-a-half per cent, on the gross revenue of the provinces.

After a residence of twenty-two months in
Clive's return to i i

'

-n i J v
England, 1767. India, Clive was driven back to England by a
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severe attack of disease. In the large transactions in

which he had been engaged, involving the fate of great

kingdoms, and the disposal of crores of rupees, he might

easily have added fifty lacs of rupees to his fortune, but

he returned to his native land poorer than he had left it.

It has fallen to the lot of few men to exercise so im-

portant and permanent an influence on the course of

human affairs. When he landed in Calcutta in 1757, he

found the Company's factory in ruins, and their servants in

exile. By 1767, he had made the Company the sovereigns of

twenty-five millions of people, and masters of a revenue,

little short of one-half that of England. He had laid the

foundation of a great empire containing an irrepressible

element of expansion. He had established the supremacy of

Europe in Asia. His reception in England corresponded at

first with his eminent merits, but it was not long before he

was made to taste the bitterness of ingratitude. His great-

ness excited envy and censure. The members of the civil

service, whose rapacity he had defeated abroad, made large

purchases of India stock on their return to England, and

became members of the corporation in Leadenhall-street, that

they might more effectually wreak their vengeance on him.

His rancorous enemy, Sullivan, endeavoured by garbled

statements to persuade Parliament that all the difficulties of

the Company were to be attributed to his measures. The
Court of Directors restored almost every civil and military

culprit whom he had cashiered for peculation or mutiny. The

Attorney-General proposed to confiscate all the donations he

had received from native princes in India, and the Prime

Minister joined the hue and cry against him. In Parlia-

ment his conduct was described by his opponents
" as a mass

of the most unheard-of villanics and corruption." But when
a vote of censure was pressed on the House, the members
shrunk from the scandal of fixing a brand of infamy on the

man who had given England a kingdom larger than itself,

and came to the resolution that he had rendered great and
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meritorious services to his country. But his lofty spirit could

ill-brook the persecution he had been subjected to, and under

Death of the pressure of bodily and mental suffering, he
ciive. 1774.

pu^ a per}0(j to his existence in November, 1774.

_ . . , Lord Olive was succeeded in the governmentWretched con-

dition of Ben- by Mr. Verelst, a man of strict integrity, but

without sufficient resolution to cope with the dis-

orders of the times. Olive, with all his genius, had com-

mitted the great error of establishing the system of double

government, which for five years proved to be the curse of

Bengal. The administration was nominally vested in the

Nabob, in whose name the revenue was collected and justice

administered, by native officers, but the irresistible power of

the rapacious servants of the Company paralysed the whole

system of government, and introduced endless intrigue and

oppression. Those whom Clive had constrained to sign the

covenants against presents, treated them as waste paper as

soon as his back was turned, and plunged with increased

ardour and perfect impunity into the trade of the country.

Every man who was permitted to make out a bill, made a

fortune ; and the nefarious charges of contractors, com-

missaries, engineers, and other officers drained the treasury.

The Council was without the power, even if they had

possessed the will, to check these abuses. The three natives

who managed the revenues enriched themselves, and left the

governor to borrow money for the public service. It was at

this period, and through their connivance, that the great

majority of rent-free tenures was created, and an annual

revenue little short of forty lacs of rupees was alienated

from the resources of the state. It was a period of transi-

tion between the dissolution of the old Mahomedan govern-

ment and the vigorous development of British sovereignty,

and it was, as usual, fruitful of anomalies, and not wanting
in guilt. These evils were aggravated to a fearful extent by
the great famine of 1770, which swept away one-third of the

population of the lower provinces.
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CHAPTER XII.

PROGRESS OF EVENTS AT MADRAS AND BOMBAY, 1761 1772.

state of affairs
now to the progress of events at the

at Madras. Madras Presidency. The extinction of the French

power in India by the capture of Pondicherry, had given
Mahomed Ali, the ally of the English, the undisputed title of

Nabob of the Carnatic, and, though he had afforded them no

assistance during the war, he regarded himself as the absolute

ruler of the country. But he was conspicuous even among
the princes of India for his imbecility ; and his army was a

mere rabble, which devoured the resources of a territory they
were unable to protect. The Company thus found themselves,

by the issue of the war, saddled with the defence of a

province comprising 50,000 square miles, without any re-

sources for the maintenance of a costly army, but the profits

of their trade, which belonged to their constituents in London.

They were constrained, therefore, to demand a contribution

of fifty lacs of rupees from Mahomed Ali, to discharge the

obligations they had contracted during the recent conflict.

But the Carnatic had been without any settled government
for twenty years ; every invader had desolated its districts,

and the polygars paid no revenue but at the sword's point.

The countiy was, moreover, now in the hands of a court at

once wasteful and neglectful, which had been subsisting for

many years on loans raised on exorbitant terms at Madras,
which impaired the strength of those who borrowed the

money, and the morals of those who lent it.

Affairs of Tan- To meet this demand, the Nabob proposed to

lore, 1763. ^he government of Madras to despoil the gover-
nors of Vellore and the Marawars, and more particularly the

rajah of Tanjore, whose principality had, to a certain extent,

escaped the ravages of war, and which he was anxious to

appropriate to himself Tanjore was an independent province,



318 PEACE OF PARIS. [CHAP.

which had never been incorporated with the Mogul empire,

though it had often yielded to the pressure of invasion, and

paid contributions when unable to evade them. The Presi-

dent at Madras, with an exhausted treasury, manifested the

greatest reluctance to go to war with this state, and effected

an amicable adjustment of the Nabob's demand for a payment
of twenty-two lacs of rupees in four instalments, and four

lacs of rupees a year as tribute. But the Nabob derived

little benefit from this arrangement, as the Court of Directors

ordered the sums as they arrived, to be taken to the treasury

at Madras, and placed to the credit of his account.

The peace of
^ke war between the French and the English

Paris, lotu \vas terminated by the peace of Paris, which

restored to the former all the factories they had

possessed in India. It likewise stipulated that in order to

preserve future peace on the coast of Coromandel and Orissa.

the English and the French should acknowledge Mahomed
Ali for lawful Nabob of the Carnatic, and Salabut Jung, for

lawful Soobadar of the Deccan. Olive was then hi England,

and endeavoured to convince the ministry, who knew nothing
about Indian politics, of the danger and embarrassment which

this clause would inevitably entail, but could only secure a

slight and unimportant modification of it. It involved the

double absurdity of disposing unceremoniously of territories

belonging to the crown of Delhi, and of acknowledging the

authority of Salabut Jung, eighteen months after he had

ceased to reign. He had been deposed and confined on the

10th of July, 1761, by his brother, Nizam Ali, who, on finding

that his rights were acknowledged by the two foreign Euro-

pean powers, so formidable to the princes of the Deccan, lost

no time in causing him to be assassinated, and the treaty

which was intended to secure to him the possession of the

the throne, became the cause of his death. Soon after,

Nizam Ali invaded the Carnatic with a large army, laying

waste the districts through which he passed, with the greatest

barbarity. The English troops came up to the rescue, and
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faced the Nizam at Tripety, but he had no mind to try con-

clusions with them, and instantly evacuated the country.

During these events, Clive happened to touch at Madras on

his way to Calcutta, and was requested by the Nabob to

obtain a firman from Delhi, releasing him from dependence on

the Nizam ; and on the 12th of August in the same year,

Mahomed AH was empowered by the emperor's sunnud to

hold his fief directly of the imperial crown.

To meet the expenses of their military estab-

th^Northern Hshment at Madras, the Court of Directors were

A
rCar

i765

th anxiousto obtain a permanentright to the Northern

sircars on the Coromandel coast, which had fur-

nished the sinews of war to Bussy, and which were embraced

in the districts ceded to Colonel Forde by Salabut Jung in

1758. The Madras President had, at one time, offered to

farm them of the Nizam at a high rent, but the proposal was

declined. Clive, however, during his second administration,

disposed of the question in a very summary manner. On the

memorable 12th of August, when he received the Dewanny
from the emperor, he likewise requested an imperial grant of

the Northern sircars for the Company, which was necessarily

granted. The Nizam, who had already lost his hold on the

Carnatic, was not disposed tamely to part with this province

likewise, and on hearing that an English force had been sent

to take possession of the districts, threatened to march down
and exterminate them, and also made preparations for the

invasion of the Carnatic. The timid Presidency of Madras,
alarmed at these menaces, directed their commander, General

Calliaud, to suspend all military operations, and proceed to

Hyderabad to enter into negotiations with the Nizam.

They resulted in the disastrous and humiliating
1

Treaty with tne

Nizam, i2th treaty of the 12th of November, 1766, by which

the Madras authorities agreed to hold the Northern

sircars, which had been conferred on them by the paramount

power in India, as a tributary tenure under the Nizam, at eight

lacs of rupees a year, and, in addition, to make an immediate



320 RISE OP HYDER ALL [CHAP.

donation of five lacs. But what was still more objectionable,

the President involved the Company in the intricate web of

Deccan politics, by engaging to furnish the Nizam with two
battalions of infantry and six pieces of cannon,

" to settle, in

everything right and proper, the affairs of his highness's

government," well knowing that the first requisition for the

troops would be to assist in attacking Hyder Ali, who had

recently usurped the Mysore throne, and against whom a

confederacy had been formed of the Mahrattas and the

Nizam.

Rise of We turn, therefore, to the rise and progress of

Hyder AIL this extraordinary chief, who proved, eventually,

to be the most formidable and inveterate foe the English
ever encountered in India. The principality of Mysore was
one of the provinces of the Hindoo kingdom of Beejuynugur,
which was extinguished on the field of Tellicotta in 1564.

In the confusion created by this event, it fell to the lot of a

Hindoo prince, whose descendants continued, for two cen-

turies, to maintain their independence and to encroach on

their neighbours. About the year 1750, the old dynasty

having become effete, the whole power of the state fell into

the hands of the minister, Nunjeraj. It was at this juncture

that Hyder appeared on the scene, and, in a few years, super-

seded both king and minister. His family came originally

from the Punjab, and his father, Putteh Mahomed, gradually

rose to be a sirdar of peons, or head constable, and then ob-

tained the command of a small body of troops. Hyder was

born about the year 1702, and, as he advanced in years, gave
himself up to the pleasures of the chase, and plunged into

voluptuous riot. Like Sevajee, he was never able to read or

write, but this deficiency was in some measure supplied by
an extraordinary memory. He remained in complete obscurity

during forty-seven years of his life, and first entered the

Mysore army as a volunteer at the siege of Deonhully, where

his energy and self-possession attracted the notice of Nun-

jeraj.
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The foundation
^ne Hester immediately promoted him 10 the

of his fortune, command of 50 horse and 200 infantry, with

instructions to augment their number, and it was
this commission which laid the foundation of his future fortune.

In 1755, the difficult task of providing for the safety of the

fortress of Dindigul, lying to the south of Trichinopoly, was
committed to him, and it was while in command of this post
that he appears first to have entertained those ambitious

views which he was enabled to bring to a consummation in

the brief space of six years. Dindigul became the cradle of

his power, and it was there that he increased his resources by
a system of plunder, of which there had been no example
since the days of Sevajee. His troops were let loose indis-

criminately on every one, friend or foe, who had anything to

lose, and their zeal was sharpened by permission to retain

half the booty for themselves. Hyder's progress to power
was aided in no small degree by his unrivalled power of dis-

simulation. Having on one occasion reported a great victory
to Nunjeraj, that minister sent his commissaiy to bestow

the usual pensions for wounds, when 700 men were exhi-

bited to him, wrapped in bandages which had been steeped
in turmeric, whereas only 67 had been wounded. By
similar acts of deceit, and by the repetition of false musters,

*

he was enabled to obtain large supplies of money, and to in-

crease his force to 7,000. At the same time, he procured

skilled artizans from the French settlements on the coast,

and established an arsenal and a laboratory, and brought his

artillery to a high degree of perfection.

In 1757, the Peshwa, Balaiee Rao, made one of
ThePeshwabe- ,.,., j -.1 ,-. -j
sieges seringa- his periodical raids into Mysore, and, with the aid

ityde^acqui-
of tne European engineers whom he had enlisted,

sitions. laid close siege to Seringapatam. The minister

was obliged to purchase a respite by the sacrifice of thirty-two

lacs of rupees, and to pledge a large territory for the' amount

he was umtble to furnish in money and jewels. The Mysore

treasury was exhausted by this heavy di^in, and the troops

T
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became mutinous for their arrears. Hyder hastened to the

capital, and engaged to satisfy their claims, on receiving the

assignment of fresh jaygeers. By this politic act he in-

creased his resources, and at the same time obtained an

influence over the troops, and all classes began to regard him

as the guardian of order. Soon after, he persuaded the

minister to expel the Mahratta officers from the districts

which had been pledged to the Peshwa, who immediately

entered the country with a large force. Hyder was appointed

to the command of the Mysore army, and harassed the

Mahrattas in their own style of warfare, with so much

effect that they offered to relinquish the mortgaged territory

for an immediate payment. Hyder raised the money from

the bankers of the city on his own personal security, and the

districts were transferred to him. Then came fresh mutinies,

and the raja and the minister were besieged in their palaces.

Hyder was at hand to satisfy the troops and received fresh

assignments, till he found himself hi possession of half the

domains of the state.

Hyder assists Lally was at this time besieged by Coote in

laiiy, neo.
Pondicherry, and solicited the aid of Hyder, who

engaged to furnish him with 8,000 horse and foot and a due

proportion of artillery, on being put in possession of the im-

portant fortress of Thiagur. His relative and general,

Mukdoom Ah, on his way to Pondicherry with the troops,

fell in with a small English detachment, and defeated it.

Hyder was so elated with this success, that he immediately
ordered the strength of his contingent to be doubled. If this

increased force had reached the French settlement while it

was besieged, the war between the English and the French

might have exhibited a very different result. But Hyder was

Suddenly obliged to recall the whole force for the protection of

his own interests. His usurpation of authority had created

great indignation at the court, and the queen-mother and the

raja, in conjunction with his bosom friend, Khundeh Rao,

determined to take advantage of the absence of these troops
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to crush his rising power. He was encamped under the fort

of Seringapatam with only 1,600 men, when the guns were

unexpectedly opened on him, and he was obliged to fly for his

life. He retreated to Bangalore, and recalled his troops from

Pondicherry, but was overtaken and signally defeated by
Khundeh Rao.

Hyder's fortunes now appeared desperate, but
covers his

they were restored by his matchless tact and

usurps the hypocrisy. Unarmed and alone, he suddenly pre-
throne, i76i.

sente(j himself before the minister, Nunjeraj,

acknowledged his ingratitude with an appearance of the

deepest penitence, and entreated that he might be forgiven,

and allowed to serve under him hi any capacity, however

mean. Nunjeraj was so simple as to give faith to these pro-

fessions and condone his offence, and Hyder was thus enabled

to assemble an army, but Khundeh Rao still followed him

with such vigour that his escape appeared impossible. In

this emergency, he contrived to throw in the way of his

pursuer letters addressed to his officers, with the seal of

Nunjeraj, in which allusion was made to certain treacherous

proposals. Khundeh Rao, considering himself betrayed by
his own officers, quitted his army, and fled with precipitation

to Seringapatam. Hyder was now enabled to assemble a

powerful army, with which he ascended the ghauts, and on

his arrival at the capital in May, sent a message to the raja

stating,
" that large sums were due to him from the state,

which must be liquidated, after which, if the raja thought fit

to continue his services, it was well ; otherwise he would de-

part and seek his fortune elsewhere." Such a message,

backed by an overwhelming force, could not be misunder-

stood. The raja yielded to necessity, and in June, 1761, re-

linquished the government to Hyder Ali, on receiving an

assignment of lands of the annual value of three lacs of

rupees for himself, and one lac for Nunjeraj.

Augmentation Hyder, now master of the kingdom of Mysore,
directed all his energies to its aggrandisement,

Y 2
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and in the course of two years extended his frontier to

the banks of the Kistna. In 1763, he invaded the terri-

tory of Bednore, on the summit of the ghauts, which over-

looked the maritime province of Canara. The capital was

eight miles in circumference, and the country had not been

exposed to the desolation of war. The queen set fire to her

palace, and fled with a large portion of the inhabitants into

the woods, and Bednore submitted without a struggle. It is

said to have been the most wealthy city in the Deccan, and

the plunder which Hyder acquired has been estimated at

twelve crores of rupees. This sum is a manifest exaggera-

tion, but he himself always attributed his subsequent pros-

perity to the treasure he acquired in this city. He had

previously changed his name from Hyder Naik to Hyder AH
Khan Bahadoor, and he now introduced greater etiquette and

splendour into the arrangements of his court, and moreover

took advantage of the access he had obtained to the sea

coast, to commence the construction of a navy.
To turn now to the progress of affairs among

Marthoo Eao, the Mahrattas. On the death of Balajee Rao, after

*m
wa> Sept' tne fatal Defeat at Paniput, his son, Madhoo Rao,

a youth of eighteen, proceeded to Satara, in com-

pany with his uncle, Roghoonath Rao, known in British annals

as Raghoba, and was invested with the office of Peshwa by
the descendant of Sevajee, who was still held in confinement

by his cruel grandmother, Tara-bye. Nizam Ali, the dewan, or

prime minister of his brother Salabut Jung, who had usurped
the whole power of the Hyderabad kingdom, resolved to

take advantage of the crippled state of the Mahrattas, and

the confusion of a new reign, to recover the district which

the deceased Peshwa had wrested from him in the preceding

year. He marched to Poona with a large army, but, on

arriving within fourteen miles of it, was induced to relax his

demands, and accept lands yielding twenty-seven lacs of

rupees a year. Six months after, he placed his brother

under restraint, and not long after, when intelligence
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arrived that he had been recognised soobadar of the Deccan,

by the peace of Paris, caused him to be put to death. Before

the cession of the districts was completed, the restless

Raghoba assembled his troops to oppose Nizam Ali, who

immediately formed an alliance with Bhonslay, the raja of

Berar, and marched again to Poona which, on this occasion, he

plundered and burnt. Raghoba retaliated on him by marching
to Hyderabad, and laying it under contributions. The two

armies met on the banks of the Godavery. The faithless

Nizam Ali de- Bhonslay was induced by the promise of lands,
feated by Ra- valued at thirty-two lacs of rupees a year, to
ghoba,1763. , ... *. , . . _ \

desert .Nizam Ali, and join Raghoba; and the

result of this treachery was the entire defeat of the Nizam

with immense slaughter. The raja of Berar, however, was
not long permitted to retain the fruits of his perfidy. He
had incensed the Peshwa by joining Nizam Ali, and Nizam Ali

by deserting to the Mahrattas on the eve of the battle, and in

1766, the united armies of these princes invaded Berar, and

constrained him to restore four-fifths of the territory he had

gained by his treachery.

Mahrattas at- Mysore had hitherto been considered by the

tack and defeat Mahrattas a submissive province, paying chout,

and affording a field for plunder when no other

expedition happened to be on hand. The sudden rise and

rapid encroachment of a new power roused the indignation of

the Peshwa ; and, having disposed of Nizam Ali, he deter-

mined to chastise the audacity of Hyder, who had already

increased his force to 20,000 horse and 40,000 foot, one-half

of which consisted of well-disciplined infantry battalions. It

was his first regular encounter with the Mahrattas, and he

was completely foiled hi all his movements. At the close of

the monsoon, the Mahrattas again took the field, and forced

Hyder to a general action in which he was again routed, with

the loss of 10,000 men. The Mahratta horse spread over

the country and plundered it without mercy, and Hyder con-

sidered himself fortunate in obtaining peace by the restora-
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tion of the greater portion of the districts he had usurped,

and the payment of thirty-two lacs of rupees. These disasters

shook his power in the other provinces he had recently con-

quered, and it required a full year to restore his authority.

Early in 1766, his ambition led him to invade the maritime

province of Malabar. The Nan's, or military chieftains,

anxious to maintain their hereditary renown, and to preserve

their independence, offered a noble resistance, but their

chivalrous valour could not avert their fate, and the whole pro-

vince was reduced to subjection. In his progress along the

coast, Hyder reached the town of Calicut, memorable as the

place where the Europeans first set foot on the soil of India.

The district had never been invaded by the Mahomedan arms,

and the Hindoo chief still bore the title of Zamorin, as in the

days of Albuquerque. He was awed into submission by the

overwhelming force of Hyder, but seeing his minister subjected

to torture, he set fire to his palace, and voluntarily perished hi

the flames to avoid a similar fate.

confederacy
From these schemes of conquest Hyder was

against Hyder, recalled to Seringapatam, to meet a confederacy
which had been formed towards the close of 1766

by the Nizam and the Mahrattas, for the entire conquest of

his country. Into this league the Madras Presidency was

unfortunately drawn by the treaty concluded with the Nizam

on the 12th of November in that year, which stipulated that

the English should assist him with an auxiliary force, of

undefined strength,
" to settle the affairs of his government

in everything that was right and proper," though it was

distinctly understood that the first service in which it was to

be employed was the conquest or plunder of Mysore. The

government of Madras was then under Mr. Palk, who had

gone out to India as a chaplain, but renounced his orders to

enter the more lucrative civil service of the Company, in

which he amassed a large fortune, and on his retxirn to

England was created a baronet. It was this unfortunate

treaty which involved the Presidency in a war with Hyder,
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and subjected them eventually to the greatest ignominy.
The Mahrattas determined to forestal the Nizam, and without

waiting for his co-operation, crossed the Kistna in January,

1767, and before the end of March had plundered the

northern districts to the extent of seventeen lacs of rupees.

Hyder discreetly bought them off by a payment of thirty

lacs more. Madhoo Rao, the Peshwa, on his return from this

successful expedition in May, met the Nizam's army at Colar,

and was requested to share the plunder with it, but he

treated the request with derision, and returned to his capital,

leaving him and his English ally to settle with Hyder as they

best could.

Colonel Smith who commanded the contingent
Nizam deserts . ,-, ... , , - , ... ,-, -WT. ,

tue English and of British troops, found, on joining the Nizam s

1767
Hyder> camP that this perfidious prince, had already

entered into negotiations with Hyder, and the

Colonel advised the Presidency to be prepared for the

invasion of the Carnatic by their ally, as well as by their

enemy. To remove suspicion the Nizam made the strongest

protestations of inviolable good faith ; but Colonel Smith, on

entering the Mysore territory in May, 1767, perceived such

unequivocal tokens of collusion, that he retired with the bulk

of his force towards his own frontier, leaving only three bat*

talions and some field pieces with the Nizam, at his special

request. While this negotiation was in progress, the Nizam

was intriguing with Nunjeraj, formerly minister of the old

raj of Mysore, for the subversion of Hyder's power. Hyder,
who had discovered the plot, invited Nunjeraj to Seringapatam,
after taking a solemn oath on the Koran to do him no harm,

and, on his arrival, showed him that the oath had been taken

on a book of blank leaves, and then stripped him of all hia

property, and consigned him to perpetual imprisonment. The

bargain being now completed, the Nizam engaged to join in

an attack on the Englbh, on receiving an immediate payment
of twenty lacs of rupees, and a promise of six lacs of tribute.

But this scene of treachery was relieved by one act of gene-
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rosity ; the English contingent of three battalions was allowed

to leave the Nizam's camp without being attacked. The com-

bined army of Hyder and the Nizam which now advanced

against the English, numbered 42,000 cavalry, 28,000 infantry,

and 100 guns, while Colonel Smith was only able to muster

1,030 sabres, and 5,800 bayonets, with 16 guns.

The first encounter with the English troops

changama, 3rd took place on the 25th of August, when a small
Sept., 1767.

detachment was surprised and discomfited. The

honour of the British flag was, however, retrieved at Chan-

gama, where Colonel Smith totally routed the allied force ;

but as the Madras Council had entrusted the charge of the com-

missariat to their Nabob, Mahomed Ah', and he had, as usual,

disappointed them, Colonel Smith found his army straitened

for provisions, and was obliged to fall back on Trino-

malee, where, after various manoeuvres, he was able to offer

battle to the allies. The engagement lasted two days, and

ended in their total defeat, with the loss of 4,000 men and 64

guns. Their discomfiture would have been more complete, if

the officer sent to improve the victory had not been led into a

swamp by his guide, who, like most of the guides attached

to this force, was one of Hyder's spies. Meanwhile his

eldest son, Tippoo, then seventeen years of age, was em-

ployed with a body of 5,000 horse, in plundering the country
houses of the Madras gentry in the vicinity of the town, and

the members of government escaped capture only by the

eagerness of the Mysore troops for booty ; but on hearing the

result of the action at Trinomalee, he hastily retired and

rejoined his father's camp. For the next three months both

paities were engaged in various operations, without interest

or result, and Hyder was soon after called to the western

coast, and deserted by the Nizam.

Expedition The government of Bengal had not only as-

Mdteat
gal> sisted Madras with money for the support of the

with the war, but sent an expedition under Colonel Peach

by sea into the Hyderabad territories to create
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a diversion. He landed in the Northern Sircars, and pene-

trated the country to Warungole, the ancient metropolis

of Telingana, only eighty-six miles from Hyderabad. Nizam

All began to repent of his alliance with Hyder, which had

brought him neither plunder nor territory, but abundant dis-

grace. He began, moreover, to tremble for his own capital,

on which Colonel Peach was steadily advancing, and he de-

termined at once to abandon his ally, and come to terms with

the English. After several weeks of negotiation with Colonel

Smith, the President at Madras concluded that memorable

Treaty of the 23rd of February, 1768, which was not less

ignominious than that which had been made two years before.

The Nizam had been twice defeated in the south ; his do-

minions had been successfully invaded in the north, and his

capital was threatened. The President was in a position to

dictate his own terms, but he abandoned every advantage and

voluntarily placed his government in the most humiliating

position. Instead of insisting on the right to hold the Nor-

thern Sircars on the strength of the imperial firman, he agreed
to pay tribute for them, and to postpone the possession of the

Guntoor Sircar, till the death of Basalut Jung, the brother of

the Nizam, to whom he had assigned it. Hyder Ah', more-

over, who had been absolute master of Mysore for seven

years, and was one of the greatest powers in the Deccan, was

contemptuously styled Hyder Naik, and treated as a rebel and

a usurper. It was also stipulated that the English should

conquer the Carnatic Balaghaut from him, and hold it of the

Nizam, subject to a tribute of seven lacs of rupees a-year,

and, to the payment of chout to the Mahrattas, though they
were no parties to the treaty. To crown their folly, the

Madras Council again involved their masters in the labyrinth

of Deccan politics, by agreeing to assist the Nizam with two

battalions of sepoys, and six pieces of artillery, commanded

by Europeans, whenever he should require them. The treaty

was reprobated by their masters in Leadenhall Street, who

indignantly remarked, "We cannot take a view of your con-
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duct from the commencement of your negotiations for the

sircars, without the strongest disapprobation, and when we
see the opulent fortunes acquired by our servants since that

period, it gives but too much weight to the public opinion,

that this rage for negotiations, treaties, and alliances has

private advantage for its object, more than the public good."

Hyder on the Hyder's presence was required on the western
western coast, coast, to make head against a formidable expedi-

tion fitted out from Bombay against his ports and

his naval power. Mangalore and Onore were captured, and

the Mysore fleet destroyed ;
but in the month of May Hyder

descended the ghauts with an imposing force, and completely

turned the scale. The British commander at Mangalore,
after a wretched defence, re-embarked his troops, 1,500 in

number, abandoning, not only all his stores, but 260 of his

wounded soldiers, among whom were 80 Europeans. Hyder,
after wreaking his vengeance on the districts which had

manifested a spirit of rebellion during the brief ascendancy
of the English power on the coast, returned, after the lapse

of seven months, to prosecute the war in the eastern districts.

But the great opportunity which his long absence afforded to

the British army in the Carnatic had been completely sacrificed

by the imbecility of the Madras authorities. As if the king-

dom of Mysore were already in their possession, they had

given it away to their Nabob, Mahomed Ah', and he accom-

panied the army to take charge of the districts as they were

occupied. The provision of the commissariat, on which the

movements of the army entirely depended, was, by a fatal error,

committed to him, and Colonel Smith, the commandant was

controlled and hampered by the deputation of two members

of Council to regulate its movements. In spite, however, of

these embarrassments, his exertions were attended with such

success, that nearly one-half the dominions of Hyder, to-

gether with eight of his principal forts, and the most impor-

tant mountain passes fell into his hands. Hyder, after a calm

consideration of the progress and prospects of the campaign,
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deemed it the part of prudence, in the month of September,
to make overtures to Colonel Smith, offering to cede the

Baramahal to the Company, and to pay down ten lacs of

rupees. But the President and Council, inflated with recent

success, made the most extravagant demands, and Hyder
broke off the negotiation, and prepared for a mortal conflict.

The tide tums ^he tide of success now turned against the

against the En- English. Colonel Smith was constrained by the
glish, 1768. , . .

'

skilful manoeuvres of Hyder to raise the siege of

Bangalore, and it was with great difficulty that he was able

to maintain his ground. The " field deputies
" and the Nabob

had remained at Colar, where a body of troops, equal to a

division, was idly detained for their protection. They had

managed between them to ruin the prospects of the campaign ;

the deputies, by their mischievous interference, the Nabob by
his neglect in regard to the supply of provisions. On the ap-

pearance of a detachment sent by Hyder to terrify them,

they hastened back to Madras, accompanied by Colonel Smith,

who had been invited to return to the Presidency to make room

for a more favourite commander, Colonel Wood. Thus ended

all the bright visions of conquest, in which the Madras Council

had been indulging during the year, and they were now

obliged to limit their efforts to the defence of the Company's
territories. On the 6th of December, Hyder descended into

the Baramahal, and in the course of six weeks recovered all

the districts which he had lost. It was now the turn of the

Council to solicit an accommodation with him, but the terms

they proposed did not suit him, and, after two months of

fruitless negotiations, he resumed his ravages, marking his

progress by the flames of villages, and the flight of the

wretched inhabitants. Colonel Smith was placed at the head

of the troops, and, by his rapid and skilful movements, so

effectually baffled the plans of Hyder, that he determined to

attempt, by one bold stroke, to bring the war to a termina-

Hyder dictates tion. Sending all his guns, heavy baggage, and
peace, 1769.

infantry back to Mysore by the pass of Ahtoor,
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he placed himself at the head of 6,000 chosen horse, unen-

cumbered by a single gun, and marched a hundred and thirty

miles in three days and a half. Early on the morning of the

29th of March, his advanced guard appeared at St. Thome,
five miles from Madras, and a messenger soon after an-

nounced to the bewildered Council that he had come to con-

duct the negotiations in person. Colonel Smith had been

rapidly following in his track, and would shortly have reached

Madras. Hyder therefore demanded that an order should be

immediately sent requiring him to halt, wherever he might

be, on the arrival of the communication, which was des-

patched by one of his own dromedaries, and the Colonel, to

his great chagrin, was obliged to remain inactive during
this disgraceful negotiation. Hyder likewise required that

Mr. Dupre, who had recently arrived at Madras, to succeed to

the office of President, should be sent to his camp to adjust the

conditions of peace. On the 4th of April a treaty was con-

cluded on the very moderate terms of a mutual restitution of

conquests. But it was at the same time stipulated that " in

case either of the contracting parties should be attacked, they
should from their respective countries mutually assist each

other to drive the enemy out." Thus ended this ill-managed
and unfortunate war by a treaty dictated by Hyder, under the

walls of Madras.

Hyder, having concluded peace with the En-

nd the glish, and obtained the promise of their support,
Mahrattas, began to set the Mahrattas at defiance, and not

only withheld the payments due to them, but

levied contributions on their districts. Madhoo Rao, the

Peshwa. therefore, assembled a large army for the entire and

final subjugation of Mysore. The forts in the eastern pro-

vinces were rapidly reduced, and the districts laid waste ;
and

Hyder, knowing that his infantry, even with their high disci-

pline, could ill stand the charge of the Mahratta horse,

retired westward, and made overtures of peace, offering to

pay chout, but refusing to surrender territory. Madhoo Rao
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demanded a crore of rupees, and the negotiation was broken

off. In the month of May, 1771, he was constrained, by the

state of his health, to relinquish the command of the Mahratta

army, which devolved on Trimbuck mama. Hyder, who
dreaded the abilities of the Peshwa, but held the new com-

mander in contempt, advanced with 35,000 men and forty

guns, to the pass of Milgota, where he found himself en-

trapped into a false position. After sustaining an incessant

cannonade for eight days, he was constrained, on the 5th of

March, to break up Ms encampment, and commence his re-

treat to Seringapatam, a distance of about twenty-two miles.

The army commenced its stealthy march by nigbt, but it was
revealed to the Mahrattas by accident or treachery, and they

instantly made a vigorous assault on the retiring force.

Hyder, who had been drinking to excess, and had not been

able to relieve the effects by his usual period of sleep, was in

a state of helpless inebriety. Tippoo was nowhere to be

found, and when he presented himself to his father, the next

morning, was overwhelmed with abuse,, and beaten without

mercy, on which he threw his turban on the ground, and

swore by the prophet that he would not draw sword any
more that day. The rout was complete, and the carnage

prodigious, and the army was saved from extermination only

by the avidity of the Mahrattas for plunder. Hyder, on re-

covering his senses in the morning, mounted a swift horse,

and did not draw rein till he reached his capital. The

Mahrattas laid close siege to it, but as they managed it with

more than usual absurdity, Hyder had leisure to collect his

scattered forces. During these troubles, he repeatedly im-

portuned the President of Madras for that succour which the

English government was bound, by the recent treaty, to

afford him. He offered to pay twenty. lacs of rupees for a

brigade of troops, and to cede the Baraniahal, Salem, and

Ahtoor, and threatened to throw himself into the arms of the

French if the assistance was withheld. The President con-

sidered it of vital importance to the honour and interests of
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the Company to support Hyder. But he was paralysed by
the presence and the interference of Sir John Lindsay, whom
the ministry of the day had, by an act of incredible folly, sent

out as the King's representative to the court of Mahomed Ali,

and that prince was thus relieved from the salutary control

of the Madras government. It was two years before thia

mischievous mission was recalled, during which time the

Nabob was enabled to indulge his extravagant propensities

with perfect impunity, to the great delight and benefit of his

European creditors. He insisted on an alliance with the

Mahrattas, which was supported by Sir John Lindsay, and

the Madras Council, not daring to act in opposition to one

who was clothed with the royal authority, were constrained to

abandon Hyder to his fate. The desolation of his districts, and

the exhaustion of his resources, at length compelled him to sue

for peace to the Mahrattas, which was not granted without the

immediate payment of thirty-six lacs of rupees, besides the sti-

pulation of fourteen lacs of rupees of annual tribute, and the

cession of territory, which reduced the kingdom of Mysore to

narrower limits than it comprised at the beginning of the cen-

tury. Nothing exhibits the incapacity of the Madras authori-

ties during the war with Hyder so conspicuously as the contrast

between the disgrace which he inflicted on them and the

humiliation he sustained from the Mahrattas two years later.

The breach of faith to which he attributed his misfortunes he

never forgot or forgave, and it resulted in establishing Mah-
ratta garrisons on the northern frontier of the Carnatic.

The incursions of the Mahrattas into Hindostan

expedition u> were for a time checked by the battle of Paniput,
Hmdostan, an(j ^Q <jiscor(i Of their chiefs ; but in 1769, the

Peshwa equipped a grand expedition to renew
their ravages, and recover their authority. It was accom-

panied by a large body of horse belonging to Mahdajee
Sindia, the illegitimate son of Ranojee, the founder of the

house ; and also by Tokajee Holkar, who, though he bore the

patronymic of the great chief by whom the dynasty was
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established, was not of his family, but was placed at the head

of the army by Aylah-bye, the princess who, for thirty

years, managed the state with consummate ability. The

army, consisting of 300,000 horse and foot, and commanded

by Visajee, the Peshwa's general, burst like a flood on Raj-

pootana, and levied contributions to the extent of ten lacs of

rupees. The Jauts, the next victims, were constrained to

make a composition for sixty-five lacs, of which ten were

paid down at once. During these transactions, the Mah-
ratta chiefs invited the emperor to return to Delhi under

their protection. That prince had continued to reside at

Allahabad, after the arrangement concluded by Olive in

1765, in the tranquil enjoyment of the stipend allotted to him.

The government of Delhi and of the districts still attached to

the crown, were administered for seven years with extra-

ordinary talent and success, by Nujeeb-ood-dowlah, the

Rohilla chief, whom Mr. Verelst, the governor of Bengal,

justly designated
" a great and good man," and on his death

in October, 1770, by his son Zabita Khan. The emperor was

naturally desirous of proceeding to Delhi, and mounting the

throne of his ancestors. The Mahrattas were equally desirous

of becoming the instrument of seating him on it, and turning
the influence of his name to account The Council in Cal-

cutta, however, strongly dissuaded him from this measure,

feeling confident that it would involve the affairs of Hin-

dostan in confusion, and eventually prove detrimental to his

own interests. But the emperor turned a deaf ear to their

remonstrances, and threw himself on the protection of the

Mahrattas, by whom he was conducted to Delhi, and installed

on the 25th of December, 1771.

Early in 1772, they entered Rohilcund, reduced the Dooab,

and laid waste the whole province. The family of Zabita

Khan was made prisoners, and the great wealth accumulated

by him and his father they appropriated to their own use.

The Rohilla chiefs, in their extremity, were driven to solicit

the aid of the Vizier, though they were fully aware that the
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possession of their territories was the object which lay

nearest to his heart. There are few transactions in the

history of the times more complicated and obscure than the

negotiations which ensued between the Rohillas, the Vizier,

and the Mahrattas. As some approach to the truth, it may
be stated that the Mahrattas agreed to retire for a sum of

forty lacs of rupees, but insisted on the guarantee of the

Vizier ;
that the Vizier required Hafiz Ruhmut, the chief of the

Rohillas, to become responsible for the amount, and Hafiz re-

quested the other chiefs to contribute their quota. These

engagements appear to have been completed in June, 1772,

and Hafiz paid the first instalment of five lacs to the Vizier,

who, however, never paid the Mahrattas a cowrie, while the

chiefs pleaded poverty for withholding their shares. As soon

as the rains set in, the Mahrattas recrossed the Ganges for

the season. Meanwhile, their arrogance and rapacity had

become intolerable to the poor emperor, who determined to

incur every risk to rid himself of them. His general, Nujeef

Khan, a man of superior talent, and descended from the

Sophi kings of Persia, led the imperial troops against them,
but was totally defeated. It was a twelvemonth to a day after

the emperor had entered his capital on the shoulders of the

Mahrattas, that he was constrained to open its gates to their

hostile battalions, and submit to all their demands. Among
other exactions, they required him to cede the two dis-

tricts of Corah and Allahabad, and they made preparations

to occupy them. But the government of Calcutta wisely
determined not to sanction the surrender of them to the

Mahrattas, and thus introduce these unscrupulous marauders

into the heart of the Gangetic provinces.

At the close of the monsoon of 1772, the

retire to their Mahrattas resolved on the plunder of Oude, and
own country, offere(j Hafiz Ruhmut and the other Rohilla chiefs
J. 1 7o

to make over to them the Vizier's bond for forty
lacs of rupees, and to share the territory which might be

conquered with them, if they would grant a passage through
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their country, and make common cause in the expedition.

The Vizier, in an agony of terror, offered, when the Mahrattas

retired, to restore the bond Hafiz had given him. But the

Rohilja chief needed no such inducement to refrain from an

alliance with those whom he regarded as " the savage and

infidel Mahrattas," and resolved to co-operate with the Vizier

in opposing them. That helpless prince, at the same time, im-

plored the aid of the Council in Calcutta, who directed a brigade
of troops to advance for the protection of the country. Several

detachments of Mahratta horse laid waste a portion of Rohil-

cund, but the main body was held in check by the combined

forces of the Rohillas, the Vizier, and Sir Richard Barker.

Meanwhile, the young Peshwa, having planned an expedition

to the south, required the presence of the troops employed in

Hindostan, and the Mahratta general suddenly broke up his en

campment in the month of May, and retired across the Ner-

budda, laden with the booty of three campaigns. But, even

before the disappearance of the Mahrattas, and while the Ro-

hilla chiefs were cordially engaged in supporting the cause of

the Vizier, that prince was plotting their expulsion from

Rohilcund, and the appropriation of their estates. The

sequel of these transactions, belongs to the history of

Hastings's administration, and we turn therefore to the

progress of Indian affairs in England.

The British Government in India, at this period

anom^onhe was a strange and unprecedented anomaly. The
Company's agents of a London trading Company had in a
government. .

few years acquired the sovereignty of provinces

twice the size of England, and were employed in ruling a

population twice as numerous as the subjects of their own

king. The directors of a counting-house in London were

making peace and war, setting up thrones and pulling them

down, and disposing of princely revenues. Their servants

abroad, with salaries of only three or four hundred pounds a

year, were moreover, coming home, year after year, with

colossal fortunes, made in four or five years, and setting up
z
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establishments which cast the ancient nobility of the country

into the shade. Lord Clive was spending 40,000 a-year,

and one retired member of Council was known t3 keep a

dozen chariots. The time had not arrived for millionaire

manufacturers and contractors, and the progress of national

industry had not as yet trebled the value of landed estates.

The servants of the Company presented to the envy of the

country the only instances of sudden and enormous wealth.

At the same time it was reported that the fortunes of the

Indian Nabobs, as they were styled, had been acquired by the

deposal of princes, the oppression of their subjects, and the

most nefarious peculation, and a general feeling of indignation

began to pervade the nation.

The machinery of the Home Government of

tutiou of the India had been constructed for the management
company, 1770.

of tradej and wag utteriv unsuited to the admi-

nistration of government. The Directors were elected for only

one year, and half their time was, therefore, devoted to the

arrangements necessary for their re-election. The grand prin-

ciple that the Directors should appoint men to the service, and

that the government in India should appoint them to office,

had not then been discovered. The offices in India, which

afforded the means of amassing invidious wealth, were con-

sidered to be at the disposal of the Directors in London, and

it was chiefly to the discreet use of this patronage, that they
looked for the support of the Proprietors, and the retention

of their office. The possession of 500 of stock gave one

vote, and there was no limitation to the number of votes

which might be held by a single individual. Stock was, there-

fore purchased not simply for investment, but for power and

pelf. Those who returned from India with fortunes, found it

useful to invest their property in India Stock, and thus acquire

influence at the India House. In 1771, the ship's husbands, a

wealthy and powerful body, bought 150,000 of stock, to create

300 votes. Lord Shelburne laid out 100,000 for 200 votes,

to secure the return of the factious Sulivan. The India House
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thus became a scene of jobbery and corruption, such as had

never, perhaps, been seen in England before, and was scarcely

paralleled by the depravity which prevailed among their ser-

vants abroad. The great marvel is, how the British power in

India survived the crime and confusion which, with some

brilliant exceptions, characterised the period of fifteen years,

between the battle of Plassy, and the new organisation of 1773.

-I In these circumstances there was a general de-
Parhamentary
interference, mand for Parliamentary enquiry. It was seventy

years since the House of Commons had interfered

in the affairs of the Company ; it was then only a commercial

interest ; it was now a political power. The first movement of

the Minister was to claim for the Crown the sovereignty of

the territories acquired by its subjects in India. The Com-

pany resisted -the demand, and maintained that the posses-

sions which had been obtained by their arms belonged

exclusively to them. The dispute was for a time compro-
mised by conceding the territorial revenues to them for five

years, on the payment of forty lacs a year to the nation. It

was likewise proposed to remedy the disorders in India by

sending out three of the most eminent of the retired servants

of the Company with unlimited powers, but the vessel in

which they embarked foundered at sea.

Financial aim- Meanwhile, the financial difficulties of the Com-

StSS Panv brought on a crisis - A11 the S lden dreams
1773. which the acquisition of the three soobahs had

created, were rudely dissipated. Fraudulent bills in India

for contracts, cantonments, and fortifications, and extravagant

charges for travelling, diet, and parade, had exhausted the

surplus revenue, and created a deficit. With a revenue of

two millions and a half a year, there was a debt of a

million and a quarter in London, and of more than a million in

Calcutta. The Court of Proprietors, as if they were anxious

to compete with the profligacy of their servants in India,

chose this period of impending bankruptcy, to vote themselves

a dividend of twelve and a half per cent. The Court of

z 2
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Directors borrowed repeatedly of the Bank of England, until

the Bank would lend no more. They then applied to the

minister, Lord North, for a loan of a million from the public,

to prevent closing the doors of the India House, and he coolly

referred them to Parliament, which was convened earlier

than usual, to take their affairs into consideration. A Select

Committee was appointed in 1772 to collect evidence, when
the whole system of violence and iniquity, by which the

British name had been tarnished in India, and individuals

enriched, was laid bare to the nation. Parliament determined

at once to take the regulation of Indian affairs into its own
hands. The Directors protested against this violation of their

chartered rights, as they termed the intervention of Par-

Lament ; but they had incurred universal odium and contempt,
and the Minister was enabled to carry his measures with a

high hand. The immediate necessities of the Company were

relieved by the loan of a million sterling from the exchequer.

The vicious constitution of the India House was corrected;

the qualification for a single vote was raised from 500 to

1,000, and twelve hundred proprietors were thus disfran-

chised at one stroke ; no individual was to enjoy more than

four votes, whatever amount of stock he might hold ; and six

Directors only were to go out annually, which extended the

tenure of office to four years. The Governor of Bengal was

appointed Governor-General, on a salary of 25,000 a year,

with four counsellors at 10,000, and they were in the first

instance nominated by Parliament. At the same time a

Crown Court was established in Calcutta, to administer

English law on the model of the Courts in Westminster, with

a Chief Justice at 8,000, and three Puisne Judges, at 6,000

a-year. The Act which embodied these provisions is known
as the Regulating Act. Its enactments regarding the home

government were highly judicious and beneficial ;
but those

which referred to the government in India, concocted without

knowledge or experience, only seemed to increase the com-

plication of affairs, and shook the power of Britain in the East

to its foundation.
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CHAPTER XIII.

HASTINGS'S ADMINISTRATION AND THE MAHBATTA WAR,
17721782.

WABBEN HASTINGS was appointed the first Governor-General

tinder the new Act, a man endowed by nature with the great-

est talent for government, and whose renown has not been

eclipsed by the most illustrious of his successors. He landed

in Calcutta in January, 1750, at the age of eighteen, and was

employed for six years in the duties of appraising silk and

muslins, and copying invoices. The political exigencies which

arose out of the battle of Plassy suddenly developed his ad-

ministrative abilities, which Clive was the first to discover

and foster. He was selected to represent the Company at

the Moorshedabad durbar, which, at the time, was one of

the most arduous and delicate posts in the service. Three

years after, he came by rotation to the Council board in Cal-

cutta, and strenuously supported Mr. Vaneittart in his oppo-
sition to those profligate measures which issued in the war
with Meer Cassim. In the most venal period of the Bengal

administration, he was distinguished by high principle and

unsullied probity, and returned to England on furlough in

graceful poverty, while his colleagues were retiring from the

service with ambitious fortunes. By this step he forfeited his

position in the service, according to the rules then in force,

and he long solicited to be restored to it, but without success.

By a happy accident, however, he was at length required to

give evidence before a committee of the House of Commons,
when the clearness of his statements, and the breadth of his

views, excited the admiration both of the Court of Directors

and the Ministry, and he was at once appointed second in

Council at Madras.

state of Bengal,
^he double government established by Clive

U65-1772. after the acquisition of the Dewanny, though re-
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garded at first as a master-piece of policy, soon proved to

be the curse of Bengal. It combined all the vices of a native

government with all the confusion and mischief inseparable

from foreign interference. The management of the revenue,

which included the entire administration, was in the hands of

native agents, who were subject to the supervision of the

British resident at Moorshedabad, but his control was merely

nominal. There was no European functionary in Bengal

conversant with revenue details, and the zemindars were at

liberty to make their own terms with the ryots on the one

hand, and with the treasury on the other ;
in every case it

was the interests of the state which suffered. Individuals

grew rich, while the government was sinking in debt. To
check these abuses, supervisors or collectors were appointed

in 1769 to look after the revenue ; but they were both ignorant

and rapacious, and became mere tools in the hands of their

banians, or native factors. The public money they collected

was employed, for the most part, in supporting the mono-

polies which they and their native banians had established in

the traffic of the district, and the value of their appointments

consequently ranged from one to three lacs of rupees a year.

The Court of Directors determined, therefore,
" to stand forth

as Duan, and to take on themselves the entire care and

management of the revenues through the agency of then:

own servants." This decision involved a complete revolution

in the whole system of administration, civil, criminal, and

fiscal, among twenty-five millions of people, and a more mo-

mentous change than any which had taken place since the

days of Akbar and Toder Mull. Hastings was considered the

only man in the Company's service capable of inaugurating

this new policy, and he was accordingly elevated to the chair

in Bengal, and took charge of the government on the 13th

April, 1772.

warren Hast- Upon this arduous task he entered with great
ings, President zeai an(j energy. It was resolved to farm out the
of Bengal, 1772. ,

J

Great change*, lands for five years, and the President and four
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members of the Council proceeded through the districts

to conduct the settlements. The offers made by the zemin-

dars were, however, deemed unsatisfactory, and it was deter-

mined to put the lands up to competition, after abolishing

some of the most oppressive of the imposts with which the

land had latterly been saddled. Where the old eemindars

were displaced by higher bidders, an allowance was granted
for their support out of the rents. The Khalsa, or exchequer,

was removed from Moorshedabad to Calcutta, to which the

entire administration of the country, in every branch, was

transferred, and which became, from this date, the capital of

Bengal. The charge of civil and criminal justice in each

district was entrusted to European officers, and two courts of

appeal were established at the seat of government. Without

the aid of an English lawyer, Hastings drew up a short and

simple code of regulations for the new courts, which exhibited

in a remarkable degree the versatility of his talents. All

these organic changes in the system of government were

completed in six months.

The first EO- The Mahrattas had no sooner crossed the
hiiia war, 1773. Qanges on their return home, than the "Vizier

began to importune Hastings to assist him in seizing the

province of Rohilcund, and offered a donation of forty lacs

of rupees, and the payment of two lacs a month for the ser-

vices of the English force. The Court of Directors, over-

whelmed with debt and disgrace, were imploring the Council

in Calcutta for remittances, and urging a reduction of the

military expenditure, which was devouring the resources of

the country. The treasury in Calcutta was empty, but the

offer of the Vizier seemed to be exactly adapted to meet the

exigency. Mr. Hastings was assured that the Rohillas had

offered to pay the Vizier the sum of forty lacs of rupees if he

would deliver them from the Mahrattas ; that they had been

saved from destruction by the presence of the Vizier's troops

and those of his English ally, and, that now the danger was

passed, they refused to pay anything. With this garbled
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statement of the case, Hastings satisfied his conscience, and

concluded that their ingratitude deserved punishment, and

that, on the plan suggested by the Vizier, an act of just

retribution might be made the means of replenishing the

Company's coffers. The Vizier wanted territory, and Hastings
wanted money.

"
Such," he wrote,

" was my idea of the

Company's distress in England and India, that I should have

been glad of any occasion of employing these forces, which

saves so much of their pay and expenses." Hastings

accordingly proceeded to Benares in August, 1773, and con-

cluded a treaty with the Vizier on the terms proposed by him.

The districts of Corah and Allahabad were considered to

have lapsed to the Company, when the emperor, to whom
Clive had given them, was compelled to make them over to

the Mahrattas. The defence of these districts such was

the extravagance and embezzlement in the military depart-

ment had cost the treasury two crores of rupees in five

years, and Hastings wisely determined to " free the Company
from this intolerable burden," and transferred them to the

Vizier who offered an additional payment of fifty lacs of

rupees for them. The subsidy of twenty-six lacs of rupees

a-year from the revenues of the three soobahs, which had

been settled on the emperor, was suspended during the

great famine which depopulated and pauperised Bengal, and,

as he had now ceased to be a free agent, it was finally

abolished.

The Vizier having secured the aid of an English
Destruction of

the Rohiiia*, force, demanded of Hafiz Ruhmut the payment of
23rd Apni, ^e Da]ance of h{g foo^ thirty-five lacs of rupees.

Hafiz offered to make good whatever sum the

Vizier had actually paid the Mahrattas for their forbearance,

but as he knew that he had never paid them anything, the

offer was treated with contempt. Hafiz, seeing the storm

ready to burst upon his head, proposed a compromise, but

the Vizier raised his demand to two hundred lacs of rupees,

and the Rohillas adopted the resolution of defending their

independence to the last extremity. Colonel Champion, the
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British commander, advanced into Kohilcund, accompanied by
the Vizier's army, and the campaign was decided in a single

engagement, on the 23rd of April, 1774. Hafiz brought

40,000 Robillas into action, and exhibited a degree of military

skill and courage, which excited the admiration of his Euro-

pean opponents. But nothing could withstand the steady

charge of British bayonets, and after two hours of severe

conflict, and the slaughter of more than 2,000 Rohillas

anjong whom was the brave Hafiz and his son they were

obliged to fly. The dastardly Vizier remained with his troops

beyond the reach of fire, till the Rohillas were defeated,

when he let them loose to plunder the camp.
" We have

the honour of the day," exclaimed the indignant Champion,
" and these banditti the profit."

Reflections on This transaction is one of the few stains on the
this transaction,

i^ght and honourable career of Hastings. It has

been urged in extenuation of it that the Rohillas were mere

usurpers, with no right to the province but that of the sword.

But so were nine-tenths of the princes of India at the time.

The usurpation of Holkar, and Sindia, and Hyder Ah', and

even of the Peshwa, and the Nizam, was quite as modern as

that of the Rohillas, and the Nabob vizier himself was only

the grandson of the Khorasan merchant, who had alienated

Oude from the crown of Delhi. That the Rohillas formed a

powerful confederacy on the borders of Oude, which, in the

unsettled state of India, might have joined the Mahrattas

and endangered the safety of a province which the Company
was bound, no less by policy than by treaty to defend, cannot

be controverted. The extinction of this dangerous power
was a wise and politic measure, so far as anything that is

intrinsically unjust can be wise and politic. Such transactions

were, moreover, of constant occurrence in India; no native

prince saw anything unusual or unjust in it, and even the

Rohillas themselves considered it only as one of the chances

of war to which they, in common with all states, were con-

stantly liable. But it was inconsistent with that higher
standard of morals by which Hastings's conduct was judged
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in England, and it has been invariably condemned, even by
those who admire his genius. The conduct of the Vizier

towards the conquered, in spite of Hastings's remonstrances
and threats, was infamous; but the assertion that 500,000
husbandmen were driven acros.8 the Ganges, and that the

country was reduced to a bare and uninhabitable waste, was
an Oriental exaggeration. The "

extermination," which was
so loudly denounced by the enemies of Hastings, had refe-

rence only to the power of the Afghans, who did not exceed

20,000 in number. The Hindoo natives of the soil, numbering
more than a million, experienced no other distress than that

which follows every change of masters in India.

Arrival of the Hastings had succeeded in reorganising the

membVre of administration, and extinguishing the Indian debt.

Council, 1774. He had overcome all the difficulties which beset

his position on his arrival
;
but he was now called to encounter

the more serious dangers which arose out of the provision

made by the wisdom of Parliament for the better government
of India. The judges of the Supreme Court and the new
members of Council arrived from England, and landed at

Chandpal ghaut on the 19th of October, 1774, with the firm

conviction that the government was a compound of tyranny
and corruption, which it was their mission to purify. As the

judges stepped on shore, one of them, observing the bare legs

and feet of the natives who crowded to the sight, said to his

colleague,
" Our court, brother, certainly was not established

before it was needed. I trust we shall not have been six

months in the country before these victims of oppression are

comfortably provided with shoes and stockings." Of the

counsellors, Colonel Monson had served on the coast, General

Clavering was the favourite of the King and the Ministry,

and Mr. Francis, the undoubted author of Junius's letters,

had been an assistant in the War Office, and was distinguished

for his talents and his malignity. They had all imbibed the

most violent prejudices against Mr. Hastings, and regarded
him as a monster of iniquity, whom it was the part of virtue
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to censure and oppose. The spirit in which they entered on

their duties may be inferred from the fact that their first com-

plaint was that he had received them with a salute of only

seventeen guns, when they expected nineteen. The old

government was abolished, and the new government in-

stalled by proclamation on the 20th of October. Mr. Francis

and his two colleagues, commenced their opposition on the first

meeting of Council, and, as they formed a majority, Hastings
found that the government of India had at once passed out

of his hands, and was transferred to men utterly ignorant

of the feelings, the habits, and the weaknesses of the natives,

and bent on thwarting and degrading him.

The affairs of The first exercise of their authority had
Oude, 1775. reference to the affairs of Oude. Nine months

previously, Hastings had placed Mr. Middleton as the re-

presentative of the Company at the court of the Vizier.

They demanded the production of every letter which had ever

passed between them, even in the confidence of private

friendship. Hastings refused this preposterous request,

but offered to furnish them with an extract of every para-

graph which had the smallest bearing on public business. The

triumvirate protested against this reservation, and immediately

superseded Mr. Middleton, and appointed Mr. Bristow, one of

their own friends to the durbar, and thus proclaimed the

extinction of Hastings's authority to all the princes of India.

They reprobated the treaty of Benares made with the Vizier,

as well as the Rohilla war, which was to be expected ; but

they went further, and issued orders to the officer command-

ing the brigade in Rohilcund to withdraw it immediately from

the province, and to demand payment, within fourteen days,
of all arrears due from the Vizier. Hastings warned them

of the danger of these precipitate measures, which com-

promised equally the safety of Oude and the honour of the

British name, but they turned a deaf ear to every re-

monstrance. During these transactions, the Vizier died, and

his successor was informed by Mr. Francis and his col-
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leagues that all the engagements between the two states were

cancelled by this event, except those which referred to the

payment of arrears ;
and that whatever assistance he might

receive from British troops must be based on a new arrange-
ment. A treaty was accordingly concluded under the

auspices of Mr. Francis, and although he had condemned

Hastings in no measured terms "for letting out British

troops for hire to the Vizier," the services of the brigade
were continued to him ; but the amount of the hire was

augmented by half a lac of rupees a month. The Vizier was
likewise peremptorily commanded to cede to the Company,
the zemindary of Benares, which yielded twenty-two lacs of

rupees a year, and this was the only addition made to

the British territory during the long period of Hastings's

administration.

deceased Vizier had amassed treasure toThe treasure

and the be- the extent of two crores of rupees, and deposited
gums, 1775. . _

it m vaults in the zenana. His widoAv and his

mother, known in history as "the begums," claimed the

whole of this property on his death, under a will which they
affirmed had been made in their favour. The will was never

produced, and probably never existed ; at all events it could

not supersede the right of the state to these public funds,

and, least of all, in favour of females. The late Vizier was

under heavy obligations to the Company at the time of his

death, and his troops, a hundred thousand in number, were

twelve months in arrear. The funds were therefore pri-

marily chargeable with these liabilities, but Mr. Bristow, the

resident, lent himself to the views of the begums, and con-

strained the Vizier to affix his seal to a deed, under the

guarantee of the government in Calcutta, which assigned

three-fourths of this state property to them. Mr. Francis

and his colleagues recorded their approval of this aliena-

tion, in spite of an earnest protest from Hastings and

Mr. Barwell, who invariably supported him. The Vizier thus

ascended the throne with an empty treasury; the troops
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mutinied for their pay, and according to the report of the

British resident, 20,000 of them were slaughtered, and nothing

but the presence of the English brigade saved the country

from a revolution.

Accusations
^ne discord in the Council soon began to tell

against upon the government. The triumvirate had

diligently studied the public records to discover

grounds for criminating Hastings. They raked up informa-

tion from the kennels of Calcutta, and offered every en-

couragement to the miscreants in the provinces to come

forward and defame him. As soon as it was known that his

authority was extinct, and that any accusation against him

would be welcome to those who now enjoyed the power of

the state, a host of informers hastened to Calcutta and

crowded their anti-chambers. Charges were manufactured

with great activity. The widow of Teluk Chand, the

zemindar of Burdwan a zemindary then scarcely a cen-

tury old brought a charge against Mr. Graham, whom

Hastings had appointed guardian of the person and property

of his minor son, of having embezzled more than three lacs of

rupees in five months, of which Hastings was accused of

having received fifteen thousand. The native fouzdar of

Hooghly had continued to receive an allowance of seventy-
two thousand rupees a year, after the administration of the

Company had commenced, and some native who coveted the

place, charged Hastings with having appropriated to his own
use one half this sum. No evidence was produced of the

charge, which was in itself preposterous, but Mr. Francis and

his two colleagues placed it on record " that there appeared
to be no species of peculation from which the Honourable

Governor-General has thought it reasonable to abstain, and

that they had now obtained a clear light on his conduct, and

the means by which he had amassed a fortune of forty lacs of

rupees in two years and a half."

charge of Nundu A more important charge was preferred by
r, me. .Nundu koomar. This man, who had been re-
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peatedly denounced by the Court of Directors for his perfidy,

and whose career had been marked by the most nefarious

intrigues and treachery, offered to impeach Hastings, and was

immediately taken into the alliance of the three counsellors.

Under their auspices, he held his durbar in state in Calcutta,

and issued his mandates to the zemindars throughout the

country. At length, he came forward with a charge against

Hastings of having received a bribe of three lacs and a half

of rupees on the appointment of Munee Begum, the widow of

Meer Jaffier, and his own son, Raja Gooroodass, to the

management of the Nabob's household at Moorshedabad, and

likewise of having connived at the embezzlements of Mahomed

Reza khan for a douceur of ten lacs. Mr. Francis and his col-

leagues proposed that Nundu koomar should be called before

the Council board to substantiate the charge. Hastings, as

might have been expected, opposed this proceeding with great

indignation.
" I know," he said,

" what belongs to the dignity

and character of the first member of this administration, and I

will not sit at this board in the character of a criminal." It

does not appear that on this or any other occasion, Hastings
endeavoured to stifle enquiry, or objected to his opponents

forming a committee of investigation, and reporting their

proceedings to then- masters at home, or referring the questions

at issue to the arbitriment of the Supreme Court; but he

felt that the government would be degraded in the eyes of

the native community, if the dregs of society were introduced

into the Council chamber to criminate the President at the

instigation of Nundu koomar, and he dissolved the meeting
and left the chamber. The majority immediately placed
General Clavering in the chair, and called in Nundu koomar
who dilated on the venality of Hastings, and moreover, pro-
duced a letter purporting to be written by Munee begum
herself, which admitted the payment of two lacs and a half

of rupees to the Governor-General, on which Mr. Francis

and his friends resolved with one consent, that Hastings had

clandestinely and illegally received three lacs and forty
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thousand rupees, and that measures should be taken to

compel him to repay it into the public treasury. The signa-

ture to the letter was pronounced on the most impartial

examination to be spurious, but the seal appeared to be

genuine. The begum herself denied all knowledge of the

letter, and the mystery of the seal was not discovered till

after the death of Nundu kooinar, when fac-similes of the

seals of all the most eminent personages in Bengal were

found in his cabinet.

Execution of Hastings, in self-defence, now brought an ac-

Nundu koomar, tion in the Supreme Court against Nundu
koomar and others for a conspiracy to induce

one Kumat-ood-deen, a large revenue farmer, to criminate

him. The judges admitted the charge and held Nundu
koomar to bail, and Mr. Francis and his two associates

immediately paid him a complimentary visit at his own
residence. Eight weeks after the commencement of this

action, one Mohun Prisad, a native merchant, renewed an

action for forgery against Nundu koomar, which had been

originally instituted in the local court, when Nundu koomar

was arrested, but released, through the intervention of

Hastings. On the establishment of the Supreme Court,

this suit, along with others, was transferred to its juris-

diction. The forgery was established on the clearest evi-

dence; the jury found him guilty, and the judges ordered

him to be hung. It was the first instance of the execution of

a brahmin, since the English became lords of the country,

and it created a profound sensation in the native community.
Thousands of Hindoos surrounded the scaffold, unwilling to

believe their own eyes, and when the deed was completed,

rushed down to the sacred stream to wash out the pollution.

Beflections on ^kis transaction was long considered the most
this tnmsac- atrocious crime of Hastings's administration. It

was asserted in high quarters that Nundu koomar

had been judicially murdered by nun through the agency of

Sir Elijah Impey, the chief justice. But tune has dispelled
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the clouds of prejudice. For this foul imputation there was
no other ground than the coincidence of this trial, in point of

time, with the accusations brought by Nundu koomar against

Hastings. There never was the slightest evidence that

Hastings had ever prompted, or even encouraged the action.

The capital sentence, however conformable to the barbarous

laws of England at the time, was, on every consideration,

most unjust. The offence was venial by the laws of the

country, and the English code, which made it capital, was not

introduced till several years after it had been committed.

Mr. Francis and his colleagues protested against the whole

proceeding, but the judges indignantly refused to submit to

any dictation in the exercise of their judicial functions. But

after the sentence had been passed, it was still within the

power of the majority of the Council who exercised the whole

authority of the government, to suspend the execution of it,

pending a reference to England; they did not, however,
choose to interfere, and the odium of this transaction must be

divided between them and the judges. Nundu koomar, who

began life a poor man, left a fortune of a crore of rupees.

The Court of Towards the close of 1775, the decision of the
Directors con- court Of Directors on the matters in dispute be-
demn Hastings,

1775. tween Mr. Francis and Hastings, was received in

Calcutta. They condemned the measures of the Governor-

General in strong language, but they neither ordered the resti-

tution of Rohilcund to the Rohillas, nor the return of the forty

lacs which had enriched their treasury, to the Vizier. But they

recommended concord and unanimity to the Council, and the

advice was received with a shout of derision by both parties.

The adverse resolutions of the Directors were, however, over-

ruled by the Proprietors, who held Hastings in the highest

estimation; and the dissensions abroad, aggravated by the

discord at home, brought the British interests in India to the

verge of destruction, from which they were rescued only by

the firmness and resolution of the Governor-General. In

September, 1776, his authority in the government was re-
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stored by the death of Colonel Monson, which gave him the

casting vote in an equally-balanced Council. But in the pre-

ceding year, worried by the opposition and insults of his

opponents, he had informed his agent in England, Colonel

Macleane, that it was his intention to resign his appointment,
if he found that his measures were not approved of at home.

But within two months of this communication, he recovered

his spirits, revoked his resignation, and, at the same time,

informed the Minister, Lord North, that he would remain at

his post till he was recalled by the same authority, that of

Parliament, which had placed him at the head of the govern-
ment. But Colonel Macleane, finding the current against

Hastings as strong in Leadenhall Street as it was in Down-

ing Street, took upon himself to announce to the Court of

Directors that he was authorised, on certain conditions, to

tender his patron's resignation. After several months of

violent intrigue, which it is not necessary to detail, the Di-

rectors came to the resolution that Mr. Hastings had positively

resigned his office, though his latest as well as his earliest

letters were before them, and appointed Mr. Wheler to the

vacant seat in Council.

When intelligence of this resolution" reached

errt proceed- Calcutta, General Clavering, whom Lord North
ings and death, j^ encouraged in his opposition to Hastings, by

the Order of the Bath, attempted to seize the

government, as being the senior member of Council, obtained

possession of the Council Chamber, and took the oaths as

Governor-General. He likewise demanded the keys of the

Treasury and of the fort from Hastings, and wrote to the

commandant to obey no orders but those which emanated

from him. Hastings, who did not admit the fact of his re-

signation, had anticipated Sir John Clavering by securing the

gates of Fort William, and his messengers found them closed

against him. The dispute was rapidly tending to a collision,

which must have proved in the highest degree disastrous to

the interests of the Company, when Hastings prudently
2 A
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averted it by referring the question to the Judges of the

Supreme Court. After a careful investigation of all the

documents connected with this transaction, they came to the

decision, that any assumption of authority by Sir John Cla-

vering would be illegal, and the storm blew over. He did not

survive the chagrin of this disappointment many months.

Mr. Wheler, who had taken his seat in Council, though pro-

fessing neutrality, generally sided with Francis, but the cast-

ing vote of the Governor-General overruled all opposition. At

the beginning of 1780, Mr. Barwell was anxious to return to

his native land with the colossal fortune he had accumulated,

but he hesitated to embark and leave his friend Hastings in a

minority. Mr. Francis, unwilling to stand in the way of

Mr. Barwell's retirement, came to an understanding with

Hastings not to take advantage of it, and Mr. Barwell em-

barked for England. But the discord was speedily renewed ;

the antagonists could not agree on the nature or extent of the

neutrality. Hastings charged Francis with having duped him,

and the dispute was settled, according to the barbarous custom

of the times, by a hostile meeting, in which Mr. Francis was

wounded. At the close of the year he returned to England.

Kew settlement
^ne settlement of the land revenue, which had

of the land been made for five years, expired in 1777, when it

was found that the country had been grievously

rack-rented. Many of the zemindars, ambitious of retaining

their position in the country, had made offers which they soon

found themselves unable to support. The speculators, who
had in many cases outbid and dislodged the old landholders,

had no object but to enrich themselves by oppressive exactions,

and throw up their engagements as soon as the ryots were

exhausted. The government, new to their duties, had com-

mitted serious errors. To the usual imperfection of all new

institutions, was in this instance added an entire ignorance of

the quality and value of the lands and even of the language

of those who held them. The whole system collapsed ;
the

country was impoverished, and, what with remissions and
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irrecoverable balances, the Company lost little short of two
crores and a half of rupees in five years. Before the expira-

tion of the old settlement, Hastings had wisely appointed a

commission of inquiry to travel through the country and col-

lect data for a new arrangement. The Court of Directors

denounced the commission as a flagrant job, and charged

Hastings with " the meanest and most corrupt motives in the

selection of the members." They expressed their surprise

that any such inquiiy should be found necessary, after they
had held the Dewanny for ten years. But they seemed to

forget that their own time had been occupied in cabal and

intrigue at home, to the neglect of the duties of administra-

tion, and that their ill-paid revenue officers in India had been,

too closely occupied in making fortunes by private trade to

have any leisure to attend to the interests of the state. By
order of the Directors, the settlement was therefore made for

one year only.

Death of To resume the thread of Mahratta affairs. The
Madhoo and

young Peshwa, Madhoo Rao, little inferior to any
Xarayun Kao J '

reshwai, of his race in the cabinet or in the field, died of

consumption, on the 18th of November, 1772.

At the period of his death, the nominal revenue of the Mah-
ratta empire in Hindostan and in the Deccan, was ten crorea

of rupees, but the amount actually realized did not greatly

exceed seven crores, of which the sum at the absolute dis-

posal of the Peshwa was only three crores, the remainder

of it belonged to the Guickwar, Bhonslay, Holkar, Sindia, and

minor chieftains. The Peshwa's own army consisted of

50,000 horse, besides infantry and artillery, but the entire

army he was able to assemble under the national standard

was not less than 100,000 splendid cavalry, and a propor-

tionate strength of foot and artillery, not including the

Pindarrees, or hereditary freebooters of the country. It was
a fortunate circumstance for India that this formidable force,

animated by the instinct of plunder, and stimulated by the

remembrance of past successes, was not under the control

2 A 2



.356 BAGTIOBA PESHWA. [CITAP,

of a single leader, but divided by allegiance to five princes,

each one of whom had his own individual interests to pro-

mote. Madhoo Eao was succeeded by his younger brother.

Narayun Rao, who immediately proceeded to Satara, an (I

was invested with the office of Peshwa. Though not,

twenty, he was ambitious of military glory, and determined

on an expedition to the Carnatic, which induced him to recal

the Mahratta army from Rohilcund. But, after a reign of

nine months, he was assassinated by the orders, or by the

connivance of his uncle, Eoghoonath Rao, or Raghoba.

Raghoba had long been distinguished as a brave soldier, and,

in 1759 had led a body of 50,000 Mahratta horse from the

banks of the Nerbudda to the banks of the Indus. But he

was an inveterate intriguer, and had been repeatedly confined

by Madhoo Rao for his turbulence and treason. He was,

moreover, always imprudent, and rarely fortunate.

Baghoba Raghoba took possession of the vacant office,

Peshwa, sue- and after having obtained investiture from Satara,

Madhoo Eao, plunged into hostilities with the Nizam, whom he
1773.

pursued with such vigour as to oblige him to

purchase peace by the sacrifice of territory valued at twenty
lacs a year. With his usual folly, Raghoba restored the

lands to the Nizam, instead of judiciously distributing them

among his military chiefs, and thus increasing the strength

of their loyalty. He then marched against Hyder, but his

pecuniary difficulties obliged him to be content with a promise

of six lacs of rupees, and the acknowledgment of his title as

Peshwa. From this southern expedition he was recalled by
a formidable confederacy of the ministers at Poona, who were

hostile to him, and had, moreover, received intimation that

the young widow of the late Peshwa was pregnant. They

conveyed her, on the 30th of January, to the fort of Poo-

runder, taking the precaution of sending with her a number

of females in the same condition, to provide against the

chance of her giving birth to a daughter. They then pro-

ceeded to form a Regency composed of Succaram Bappoo, an
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old and astute statesman, Nana Furnuvese, and the military

commandant, and at once assumed all the functions of

government. Raghoba, on the news of this revolution,

hastened to meet his opponents, accompanied by Morari

Eao, one of the greatest soldiers of the age, who had mea-

sured swords with Lawrence and Coote in the Carnatic, and

on the .4th of March inflicted a signal defeat on the army of

the Regency. This success replenished his military chest,

and brought crowds to his standard; fortune seemed to

declare in his favour, when, having conceived suspicions of

the fidelity of his own generals, he threw away his chance of

power by turning off to Boorhanpore, instead of marching at

once on Poona, which its terrified inhabitants had begun to

desert. The widow was delivered of a son on the 18th of

April, 1774, who was installed as Peshwa when only ten

days old, under the title of Madhoo Rao the Second.

Proceedings of After remaining a short time at Boorhanpore,
Kaghota, 1774. Raghoba crossed the Nerbudda to Indore, where

he was joined by Holkar and Sindia, who had returned from

Rohilcund with about 30,000 horse. He also indulged the

hope of receiving aid from the raja of Berar, and advanced

to the banks of the Taptee, to secure the co-operation of the

Guickwar army. In reference to the province of Guzerat,

then under the rule of this family, it is to be observed that

the authority of the Emperor was finally extinguished in it

during the year 1755, when the capital, Ahmedabad, was

captured by Damajee Guickwar, the Mahratta sirdar. At the

period of his death, in 1768, his son, Govind Rao, who hap-

pened to be at Poona, obtained his father's title and posses-

sions on the payment of various sums, which eventually

reached fifty lacs of rupees. In 1771, his brother, Futteh

Sing, proceeded to the Peshwa's court, and succeeded in

supplanting him
; but Govind Rao's cause was espoused by

Raghoba, on becoming Peshwa, and the province was dis-

tracted by these rival claims. Raghoba now advanced to

claim the support of his protegee.
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During the year 1772, the Court of Directors

ith resolved to place a representative at the Poona
the English, durbar, in the hope of promoting their commercial

interests, and, more especially, of obtaining pos-

session of the port of Bassein, and the island of Salsette,

which was separated from Bombay by a narrow channel, and

comprised an area of about 150 square miles. With these

acquisitions the Directors hoped to render Bombay the great

emporium of the trade of the western coast with Persia,

Arabia, the Red Sea, and China. These possessions fell into

the hands of the Portuguese in an early period of their career,

but were conquered by the Mahrattas in 1739, by whom they

were prized beyond their value, as having been wrested from

a European power. Raghoba, on his arrival at the Taptee>

sent an envoy to Bombay to solicit the aid of a sufficient

force to establish him in the government at Poona, and offered

to defray all the expenses of the troops, as well as to make

large grants of territoiy to the Company. The President and

Council eagerly grasped at the proposal, and on the 6th of

September, 1774, offered to assist him with 2,500 troops, on

condition of his advancing fifteen or twenty lacs of rupees,

and engaging to cede Salsette and Bassein in perpetuity to

the Company. But Raghoba, even in his extremity, refused

to alienate Salsette from the Mahratta dominions. While

these negotiations were pending, the Bombay authorities

received information that a large armament was fitted out at

Goa for the recovery of these possessions, and as it was felt

that the Portuguese would be more dangerous neighbours
than the Mahrattas, an expedition was sent to Salsette, and

the island occupied before the end of the year.

natrhoba-8 Meanwhile, the Regency at Poona having suc-

weatywith cecded by large offers in detaching Holkar and
nbay, 1775.

gjn(jja from he cause of Raghoba, moved against
him with a body of 30,000 men, and he narrowly escaped

being captured by his perfidious allies and delivered up to his

enemies. lie retreated hi all haste, leaving his beguin at
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Dhar, where she gave birth to a son, Bajee Rao, the last of

the Peshwas. On the 17th of February, the troops of the

Regency overtook him at Wassud, where his army was totally

routed and dispersed, and he fled from the field with only a

thousand horse. Ten days after this event, Colonel Keating
arrived at Surat with the force which had been despatched
from Bombay to his aid. Raghoba soon after joined his

camp, and, after some further negotiations, affixed his seal on

the 6th of March, 1775, to a treaty, known in history as the

Treaty of Surat, concluded by the Bombay President, without

the authority of the Calcutta Government, and which involved

the Company in the first Mahratta war. The President had

no evidence that Raghoba was chargable with the assassina-

tion of his nephew, but his guilt was universally believed by
the Mahrattas, and the alliance of the English with a man
branded with the crime of murder created a deep and lasting-

prejudice against them. By this treaty the Bombay Govern-

ment engaged to furnish Raghoba with 3,000 British troops,

and he pledged himself to the payment of eighteen lacs of

rupees a-year, made an assignment of lands of the annual

value of nineteen lacs, and such was the desperate state of

his affairs agreed to concede Salsette and Bassein. The

army of Colonel Keating, joined by the troops whom Ragho-
ba's officers had succeeded in collecting together after their

dispersion, manoeuvred for a month between the Sabermuttee

and the Myhee. It was during this period that Colonel

Keating indiscreetly attempted to detach Futteh Sing Guick-

war from the Poona regency ; but the English troops had as

yet achieved nothing, and the Colonel's envoy, a young lieu-

tenant, was treated with the most humiliating contempt,

jiattie of Arnw,
^ne Bombay Government having thus embarked

i;tu May, me. jn a war ^th the Mahratta Regency, ordered

Colonel Keating to quit Guzerat, and march upon Poona ; but,

as he moved down to the Myhee, he found the Mahratta

army posted at Arras to dispute his progress. It was on this

field that the English and Mahratta forces encountered each
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other, for the first time since the gentlemen of the factory

at Surat had so gallantly repulsed Sevajee in 1669. The

brunt of the action fell on Colonel Keating's brigade, which

was attacked by an army of ten tunes its number. The loss

of life was severe, but, though the English troops were for a

time staggered, their final triumph was complete, and the

Mahrattas retreated in haste and disorder to the Nerbudda.

Colonel Keating pursued them with vigour, and they con-

sidered themselves fortunate in effecting then- escape across

the river, after they had thrown all their heavy guns into it.

Futteh Sing now hastened to make his peace with the victors,

and engaged to furnish Raghoba with twenty-six lacs of

rupees in two months, together with a large body of troops,

and to secure to the Company a share of the Broach revenues

to the extent of two lacs a-year. The Mahratta navy, more-

over, which consisted of six vessels, carrying from 26 to 46

guns, was completely crippled by the English commodore.

The campaign had been prosperous by sea and land ; the

Company had obtained a territorial revenue of twenty-four
lacs a-year; the Mahrattas had been driven with disgrace

across the Nerbudda, and so effectually damaged was their

reputation, that the Nizam was emboldened to take advantage
of their distress, and, under the threat of joining Raghoba,
exacted a cession of lands valued at eleven lacs a-year. But

the brilliant prospects which this success opened up were

ruined by the proceedings of the Calcutta triumvirate.

The treaty with Raghoba, which appeared likely
Treaty with . ,

*
._,_, ,

'

/
oba disai- to involve a war with the Regency, was severely

lowed at CM- condemned by both parties in the Council in Cal-
cutta, 1776. rf r

cutta, as "impolitic, dangerous, unauthorised, and

unjust." When the war, however, had actually commenced,

Hastings considered it almost impossible to withdraw from it

with honour and safety, before the conclusion ; and he advised

that the Bombay Government should be vigorously supported
in conducting it, and instructed to bring it to a termination as

speedily as possible. But Mr. Francis and his colleagues
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resented the audacity of the Bombay Council in making war

without their consent, ordered the treaty with Raghoba to be

immediately annulled, and all the British troops to be with-

drawn from the field. At the same time, they announced their

intention to send an agent of their own to open an indepen-

dent negotiation with the ministers at Poona. In vain did

the Bombay Council remonstrate with them on the disgrace

of violating a solemn treaty. Colonel Upton was sent

to Poona to disavow their proceedings ; their authority was

paralysed, and their character wantonly disgraced in the eyes
of the princes of India.

The Treaty of
^ne as^ute ministers at Poona were not slow to

Poorumier, take advantage of these discords, and extolled to
March 1,1776. ,,,.,,. j c ,, ,, c

the skies the wisdom or " the great governor or

Calcutta, who had ordered peace tobe concluded." When, how-

ever, Colonel Upton came to propose that Salsette and Bassein

and the assigned revenues of Broach should be retained by
the Company, they assumed a lofty tone, and spurned the con-

ditions, demanding the immediate surrender of Raghoba and

of all the territory recently acquired by the English ; but they

offered, as a matter of favour, to contribute twelve lacs of

rupees towards the expenses which had been incurred in the

war. The majority of the Council had, in fact, cut the sinews

of the negotiation by the precipitate recal of the army from the

field, but the insolent reply of the Regency roused their in-

dignation, and they determined to support Raghoba, and to

prosecute the war with all vigour. Letters were at once

despatched to the various princes of India to secure then- al-

liance, or their neutrality ; a supply of treasure was despatched
to Bombay, and troops were ordered to be held in readiness

to take the field. But the Poona ministers, after this display

of arrogance, unexpectedly conceded the greater part of Colonel

Upton's demands, and the Treaty of Poorunder was signed on

the 1st of March, 1776, by Succaram Bappoo and Nana Fur-

nuvese. It annulled the engagements of the Bombay Govern-

ment with Raghoba, who was to disband his army and retire
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to the banks of the Godavery on a pension of three lacs of

rupees a-year. The British army was to quit the field. Sal-

sette was to be retained by the Company if the Governor-

General desired it, but ah
1

the other acquisitions were to be

relinquished ; the claim on the revenues of Broach was con-

ceded, together with twelve lacs of rupees, towards the ex-

penses of the war, "by way of favour." Considering that all

the advantages of the campaign had been on the side of the

English, the Bombay Presidency was fully justified in repro-

bating the treaty, as "
highly injurious to the reputation a5

the interests of the Company." It was a flagrant breach of

faith with Ragoba, and it served to impair the confidence of

the native powers in the engagements of the British Govern-

ment. It inspired the Poona Regency with an undue sense of

theirown importance, and rendered asecond warinevitable. The

Bombay Council did not conceal their anxiety to obstruct the

treaty. They gave an asylum to Raghoba at Surat, and throw

their field armies into Surat and Broach. The Poona ministers

raved at this infraction of the treaty, and threatened to carry

lire and sword into every part of the Company's dominions ;

but all then: menaces were treated with contempt at Bombay.
. . On the 20th of August, 1776, a despatch was

Decision

of the court, received from the Court of Directors, approving of

md!"
80 '

the treaty concluded with Raghoba at Surat, and

directing the other Presidencies to give him their support,

and to retain the territories which had been ceded by him.

The Bombay Council, smarting under the degradation inflicted

on them by the Supreme Government, lost no time in turning

this favourable decision to account. To the great annoyance

of the Poona Regency, they gave countenance to an impostor,

who claimed the office of Peshwa, as the identical Sudaseeb

Rao Bhao, who had disappeared at the battle of Paniput.

They invited Raghoba to Bombay, and settled 10,000 rupees

a month on him. The Mahratta cabinet remonstrated against

this fresh violation of the treaty of Poorunder, but it was

weakened by internal discords. Succararn Bappoo, the head
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of the ministry, was jealous of the growing power of his

younger associate, Nana Furnuvese, who had fled from the

field of Paniput, and who united the highest political talent

with a singular want of personal courage. His cousin, Maroba

Furnuvese, had been the minister of the deceased Madhoo Rao,
and took a prominent part in public affairs, but in the interests

of Succaram. Mahdajee Sindia was endeavouring to increase

his own consequence by acting as umpire between the two

factions. To increase the confusion at Poona, a French ad-

venturer, of the name of St. Lubin, arrived there in March,

1777, and announced himself as the envoy of the King of

France, who was on the eve of a war with the English. He
was authorised, as he said, to offer the Mahrattas the support
of 2,500 European troops, an abundant supply of stores and

munitions of war, and officers to discipline 10,000 sepoys.
He affected horror at the connection of the English with the

assassin Raghoba, and produced in the durbar, with a burst

of grief, a picture of the barbarous murder of Narayun Rao,

which had been painted under his direction at Paris. Nana
Furnuvese affected to credit his mission, and, with the view of

annoying the English government, afforded him eveiy en-

couragement, and made over to him the harbour of Choul,

only twenty-three miles from Bombay.

Revolution in Meanwhile, a despatch was received at Bom-
favour of bay and Calcutta from the Court of Directors,
Kaghoba, 1778. ... .- a i_ Ai.

regretting the sacrifices made by the treaty of

Poorunder, and stating that, although they considered them-

selves bound in honour to adhere to it, yet, if there was any

attempt on the part of the Poona Regency to evade its pro-

visions, the Bombay Presidency was at liberty to renew the

alliance with Raghoba. The President and Council found

little difficulty in discovering infractions of a treaty which

those who had dictated it never intended to respect but as it

suited their interests, and prepared to espouse the cause of

Raghoba. Their movements were hastened by the course of

events at the Mahratta capital. Moraba Furuuvese, assisted
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by Holkar, resolved to support Raghoba, and Succaram

Bappoo joined the confederacy, and despatched an envoy to

Bombay to request the government to conduct Raghoba to

Poona with a military escort. The proposal was eagerly

accepted, and preparations were immediately made for the

expedition. Hastings, who had now regained his ascendancy
in the Council, gave the project his approbation, partly be-

cause it was countenanced by Succaram Bappoo, one of the

parties to the treaty of Poorunder, but chiefly because Nana
Furnuvese was giving encouragement to the French, whose

influence in Indian politics he considered the greatest of

calamities. In a letter dated the 23rd of March, 1778, he

authorized the Bombay Government " to assist in tranquil-

lizing the Mahratta state," and engaged to send a large force

across the continent to resist the aggressions of- the French,

which, in his opinion, threatened the existence of the Com-

pany's possessions in the west of India.

Nana Furnuvese was obliged to bend to the
Counter revolu-

tion at Poona, storm, and retire to Poorunder. Hurry Punt, the
July' 1T 5

Mahratta general-in-chief, and one of his parti-

zans, was, at the time, on his way to Meritch, to join Sindia

in resisting the encroachments of Hyder, to which reference

will be made hereafter. They were hastily recalled from the

south, and reached Poorunder on the 8th of July, where they
united with the army of Holkar, who had been, in the mean-

time, detached from the opposite party by a bribe of nine lacs

of rupees, and restored Nana Furnuvese again to power.
Maroba and his colleagues were arrested on the llth, and

many of them put to death, but Succaram Bappoo, whose

name it was deemed important to associate with the pro-

ceedings of the state, was simply placed under restraint.

The party of Raghoba was thus extinguished at Poona.

But the Bombay President and Council were not disposed to

desert him. They addressed certain questions to the new

ministry at Poona ; the replies were considered a violation of

the treaty of Poorunder, and it was resolved to put to use the
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liberty granted to them in the despatch of the Court of Di-

rectors and in the letter of Hastings. Towards the end of

August, he informed them that he was endeavouring
1 to form

an alliance with the Rajah of Berar, which would embrace the

politics of Poona, and enjoined them to avoid any measure

hostile to the Poona Regency. But their passions were en-

listed in the cause of Raghoba, which, in effect, they made
their own; and without adequate preparation, without a

commander on whom they could depend, and without alli-

ances, they determined to send a handful of men against the

strength of the Mahratta empire. Nana Furnuvese perceived
the gathering storm, and prepared to meet it; he enlisted

recruits in every direction, repaired and provisioned his forte,

and refitted his vessels.

Expedition to
^ new *reaty was now made with Raghoba,

roona,jtfth which differed little from that of Surat. An
army of 4,000 men, of whom 600 were Europeans,

was equipped and entrusted to Colonel Egerton, who had

seen some service in Europe, but was little qualified for the

duty assigned him. Disregarding the experience so dearly

bought in the war with Hyder in 1768,
"
field deputies,*' under

the name of civil commissioners, were sent with the army to

control its movements, and to check peculation. Carnac,

who had won some credit in the field in Bengal, was ap-

pointed the senior commissioner, and he exhibited his fitness

for such a trust by a squabble, on the first day, with Colonel

Egerton about the military honours to be paid him. The

troops, encumbered with 19,000 bullocks besides other cattle,

embarked at Panwell on the 25th of November, and, as if it

had been designed to afford Nana and Sindia the most ample
leisure for preparation, moved at the rate of two miles a day.

It was the 23rd of December before the army ascended the

ghauts, when its disasters began by the loss of one of the

most energetic, bold, and judicious officers in its ranks,

Captain Stewart, whose name, after the lapse of half a

century, was still held in veneration by the inhabitants
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of those valleys as Stewart Phakray, or Stewart the gal-
lant.

Disastrous pro-
On the 6th of Jaimai75 Celonel Egerton re-

press oniw signed the command to Colonel Cockburn, but

though he acted as civil commissioner, the respon-

sibility of all subsequent movements rested with Carnac.

On the 9th, the army reached Tullygaum, and found it de-

stroyed. A report was spread that the enemy intended also

to burn Chinchore, and even the capital itself. Carnac was

panic-struck, and though within eighteen miles of Poona,
with eighteen days' provisions in the camp, ^ determined, in

the first instance, to open a negotiation with the enemy, and

then to retreat. Raghoba, who, with all his faults, was a

gallant soldier, protested against this cowardice, eo contrary
to the British character, 'but the commissioners were so com-

pletely under the control of their own terrors, that they
refused to wait even a single day for the result of their

negotiations, threw their heavy guns into a pond, and begun
their retreat that very night, hotly pursued by the enemy.
The rear-guard, upon which the enemy's assaults were chiefly

directed, was commanded by a young and gallant officer of

the name of Hartley, who had been in the service about

fourteen years, and gained the entire confidence of the

sepoys. He received every attack with the utmost steadi-

ness and animation, and drove back the enemy at every

point. The sepoys fought with perlect enthusiasm. Had
the command of the expedition been entrusted to him, ho

would, doubtless, have planted the British standard on the

battlements of Poona: but in this, as in many subsequent

campaigns, while the army contained men of the most heroic

mould, and of the highest talent, it was under the command

of wretched drivellers.

The British force encamped, on the night of the

contention of 12th, at Wurgaum, and was assailed in the morn-

j^lm ing ky the g 18 brought up by the enemy during

the darkness. The troops began to lose heart ;
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the commander was bewildered, and declared that even a

retreat had ceased to be possible. Captain Hartley in vain

pointed out the mode in which it might be effected with little

loss. Overtures were made to Nana Furnuvese, who de-

manded the surrender of Raghoba, before he would listen to

terms, and the commissioners would have complied with the

demand if that prince had not saved them from this infamy by

surrendering himself to Sindia. Nana Furnuvese, however,

appeared to be impracticable, and the commissioners turned to

rfindia to whom they sent Mr. Holmes with full powers to treat.

This separate negotiation flattered his vanity and increased his

importance, and a convention, known as that of Wurgaum, was
concluded under his auspices, which rescued the British army
from destruction by the sacrifice of all the acquisitions which

had been made since 1773. The advance of the army under

Colonel Goddard across the country was countermanded, and

for the first time in the history of British India, two hostages
were given for the performance of the treaty. The failure of

this expedition, which \\as owing to the interference of the

imbecile Cariiac, was a severe blow to the interests of the

Company, who lost no time in dismissing him, as well as

Colonels Egerton and Cockburn, from the service. The Bom-

bay Presidency lost its reputation and its strength, and its

only hope of safety now rested on the arrival of the Bengal

army.
This expedition was despatched from the banks

of tne jumna to Bombay through a thousand

miles of unknown country, occupied by chiefs who were more

likely to prove hostile than friendly. It was described by
Mr. Dundas, the Indian minister, as "one of the frantic

military exploits of Hastings," but he forgot that it was by u

succession of such " frantic exploits
"
that British power and

prestige had been established in India by a handful of

foreigners. The force consisted of between 4,000 and 5,000

men, under the command of Colonel Leslie, a fair soldier, but un-

equal to such an enterprise. He crossed the Jumna in May,
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1778, and was expected to reach the Nerbudda before it was

swelled by the rains, but he wasted his time in discussions

with petty chiefs, and in the course of five months had only

advanced 120 miles. He was accordingly displaced, but died

before the news of his supercession reached him, and the com-

mand of the army was entrusted by Hastings to Colonel

Goddard, one of the brightest names in the history of British

India. Through his energy, the expedition advanced at a

rapid pace, notwithstanding the opposition of many of the

chieftains. The raja of Bhopal, however, treated Goddard

with the greatest kindness and hospitality, and furnished his

troops with ample supplies, though at the risk of bringing
down on himself the vengeance of the Mahratta powers.

This generous conduct in a season of difficulty has not been

forgotten by the British government in the height of its pros-

perity. The house of Bhopal has been treated by successive

Governors-General with marked consideration ; it has always
been distinguished by its fidelity to the English crown, and

the present Muha-ranee is the only female decorated with the

most exalted Order of the Star of India.

war between During the progress of Colonel Goddard's ex-

Engand

ai

7th pedition, intelligence was received in Calcutta

July, nzs. of the declaration of war between France and

England, and the difficulties of Hastings's position were

greatly multiplied. The mission of St. Lubin who had not

then been detected as a charlatan and the countenance given

to him by Nana Furnuvese, created the apprehension that the

Mahrattas would be strengthened by a large French arma-

ment, and possibly tinder the command of the redoubted

Bussy, who had retired to France with a magnificent fortune,

and married the neice of the minister, but was thirsting for

service in the country where his exploits were still held in

honour. Hastings adopted the most vigorous measures to

meet this new crisis; he augmented the army; he embodied

the militia of Calcutta, to the number of a thousand ; and

Bent Mr. Elliott to the Rajah of Berar to secure his alliance by



Xin.] GODIVVRD REACHES SCRAT. 8fi9

the ofter of assisting him to obtain the office of Peshwa.

The negotiation, the success of which would have involved

the Company in endless complications, was happily nipped in

the bud when the raja heard that the Bombay government
were about to support the claims of Raghoba by force of

arms, but he liberally supplied Colonel Goddard with

money and provisions, and thus enabled him to reach Boor-

hanpore without difficulty on the 30th of January, J779. So

strict was the discipline which the Colonel maintained in his

army, and so punctual were his payments, that the chiefs and

people on the route hastened to furnish him with supplies.

At Boorhanpore, he heard of the disaster of the Bombay
force at Wurgaum, and immediately turned off to Surat, a

distance of 300 miles, which he traversed in twenty days,

though he was without any map of the country. By this

prompt movement he avoided a body of 20,000 Mahratta

horse sent from Poona to intercept him. His timely arrival

on the western coast proved the salvation of the Bombay
Presidency. The unexpected appearance of so large a force

from the banks of the Jumna, augmented the reputation of

the British power, and confirmed its influence at the native

courts, which the convention of Wurgaum had impaired.

Progress of This convention was repudiated equally by the
events, 1779.

Bombay Council and by Hastings, who directed

Colonel Goddard to open a fresh negotiation with Nana

Furnuvese, on the basis of the treaty of Poorunder, but with

an additional stipulation for the exclusion of the French from

the Mahratta dominions. In the meantime, Sindia had granted
a jaygeer of twelve lacs of rupees in Bundlecund to Ra-

ghoba, and sent him under a slender escort to take possession

of it. Raghoba, who was permitted to take his body guard
and his guns with him, attacked and overpowered the escort

on the route, and escaped to Surat, where he was honourably
entertained by Colonel Goddard, who settled an allowance of

half a lac of rupees a month on him. The whole scheme was

evidently a contrivance of Sindia, to procure the release of

2 B
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Kaghoba, and hold Nairn Furnuvese in check, by his habitual

fears. Towards the close of the year, Succaram Bappoo,

being no longer considered necessary, was confined by Nana
in the fortress of Pertabgur, 4,000 feet above the level of

the plain, from the windows of which he could discern the

spot, where, a hundred years before, his ancestor Puntajce
had basely betrayed his confiding master, Ufzul Khan, into

the hands of Sevajee. The venerable old man was soon

after removed to Raigur, where he closed a life which had

been marked by every vicissitude of privation and grandeur,

of toil and triumph.

Goddard's sue-
*^^e mmisters at Poona considered the conven-

cess in Guzerat, tion of Wurgaum as a final settlement of their
1779 QQ^

differences with the English, and invited them to

unite in an attack on Hyder, who had taken advantage of the

confusion of the times to overrun the Mahratta territories up
to the banks of the Kistna. But the reception accorded to

Eaghoba by Goddard on the 12th of June gave them mortal

offence, and they immediately turned round and proposed to

Hyder a union against the English, in pursuance of the con-

federacy which had been formed by the Nizam at the end of

the monsoon. When, therefore, Goddard, who had early in-

timation of this alliance, demanded a categorical reply to the

proposals he had made, Nana Furnuvese at once stated that

the restitution of Salsette, and the surrender of Raghoba
were necessary preliminaries to any treaty ; and Goddard im-

mediately dismissed the vakeels, and prepared for war. At

the same time he endeavoured to negotiate with Futteh Sing

Guickwar, whom Hastings had determined to acknowledge as

the ruler of Guzerat, biit that prince manifested a disposition

to procrastinate, and Goddard lost no time in laying seige to

Dubhoy, garrisoned by 2,000 of the Peshwa's troops, which

surrendered on the 20th of January, 1780. Futteh Sing now

began to negotiate in earnest, and a treaty offensive and de-

fensive was concluded six days after, in which it was agreed
that he should join the English camp with 3,000 horse, and
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receive possession of all the Peshwa's territories north or the

Myhee, and that certain districts to the south should be made

over to the Company. On the 10th of February, Goddard

captured the noble city of Ahrnedabad, the modern capital of

the province, surrounded by walls of immense extent, and

filled with a population of 100,000. The capital was scarcely

reduced, when Goddard heard that Sindia and Holkar had

forded the Nerbudda with 20,000 horse on the 29th of February,
and were advancing to encounter him. Sindia professed great

enmity of Nana Furnuvese, arid great friendship for the

English, and liberated the two hostages of Wurgaum, whom
he had treated with hospitality. He endeavoured to open

negotiations, but Goddard could not fail to perceive that his

chief object was to waste the season of operations. Seven

days were, therefore, allowed him for a definite reply, and as

it did not prove satisfactory, Goddard attacked and dispersed
his troops on the 2nd, and again on the 14th of April, and

cantoned his army for the season on the banks of the

^Xerbudda.

Capture of Gwa- On the side of Bengal, the war was conducted

iior, 3rd August, with brilliant success. Sixty miles south-east o/
1780

Agra lay the little independent principality of

Gohud, erected by a Jaut chieftain on the decay of the Mogd
empire. The rana was incessantly threatened by the encroach-

ments of Sindia, and solicited the protection of Hastings, who
determined to take advantage of the appeal, and despatch ail

expedition, chiefly however with the view of creating a salu-

tary diversion. It consisted of only 2,400 infantry, with a

small body of cavalry, and a detail of European artillery, but

it was commanded by Major Popham, one of the best soldiers

in the service. He proceeded on his march in February,

1780, and having expelled the Mahratta invaders from the

country, attacked the fortress of Lahar, without battering

cannon, and carried it by the gallantry of his men. Fifty

miles to the south of it lay the fort of Gwalior, on the summit

of a stupendous rock, scarped almost entirely round, and

2 B 2
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deemed throughout India impregnable. Sir Eyre Coote, the

veteran hero of the Carnatic, now general-in-chief in Bengal,

had declared that any attempt to capture it, more especially

without siege guns, would be an act of madness. But Pop-

ham had set this
"
glorious object," as he termed it, before

him, and determined to accomplish it. For two months he

lay about the fortress, maturing his plans with such secrecy

as to baffle all suspicion. On the night of the 3rd of August,

the troops selected for the assault proceeded under the guid-

ance of Captain Bruce to their destination. Two companies
of sepoys led by four European officers, and followed by

twenty English soldiers, applied the scaling ladders to the

base of the scarped rock, sixteen feet high, then to a steep

ascent of forty feet, and, lastly, to a wall of the height of

thirty feet. Captain Bruce with twenty sepoys climbed up
the battlements before their approach was suspected. The

bewildered garrison made but a feeble resistance, and, by
break of day, the British ensign was floating over the re-

nowned fortress of Gwalior, while the Mahratta troops fled to

carry the news to Sindia. The report of this brilliant

achievement resounded through India, and wiped out the

disgrace of the "infamous convention of Wurgaum," as

Hastings termed it, and which he considered "it worth

crores to obliterate." Popham was promoted to a majority,

and then superseded by Colonel Carnac, who brought au

additional force with him, and not only invaded Malwa, but

threatened Sindia's capital. That chief was obliged to quit

Poona in haste to attend to the defence of his own dominions,

and the object of Hastings in this expedition was fully ac-

complished. Carnac, however, proved unequal to the enter-

prise entrusted to him, and allowed his force to be surrounded

by the enemy, who obliged him to retreat, and harassed him

at every step. Having at length procured a small supply
of provisions for his starving troops, by forced contributions,

he called a council of war to determine his future course.

Captain Bruce, who was fortunately with the force, urged a
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vigorous attack on the enemy's camp during the night, as

affording the only chance of deliverance. His advice was

adopted, and the surprise and overthrow of Sindia on the

24th of March, 1781, was complete. He lost elephants, horses,

baggage, and a large number of troops, but, above all, his re-

putation, and that at a time when the credit of Holkar at the

capital was elevated by his successful attack on General

Goddard's force. Colonel Caruac soon after resigned the

command of the brigade to Colonel Muir.

Confederacy
Towards the close of 1779, intelligence reached

against the En- Hastings from various quarters of a general con-
plish, 1779. . , . . , , , . . j i ,1 XT-

federacy winch had been formed by the Nizam

and Hyder, and all the Mahratta ciiiefs, with the exception of

the Guickwar, for the expulsion of the English from India. A
simultaneous attack was to be made on the three Presiden-

cies; on Bombay, by Sindia, Holkar, and the army of the

Peshwa ; on Madras by Hyder ; and on Bengal by the Moda-

jee Bhonslay, raja of .Nagpore. At no former period had the

English power been menaced with greater peril, and it re-

quired all the fortitude, resources, and genius of Hastings to

meet the crisis. Hyder Ali was the first in the field, and

burst on the Carnatic in July, 1780, as will be hereafter nar-

rated. The safety of Madras demanded the immediate and

undivided attention of Hastings, and he was under the neces-

sity of informing Bombay that he could afford it no farther

assistance. Mr. Hornby, the President, feeling that he had

no resource but in his own efforts, exhibited the greatest

vigour and prudence. To. enable him to draw supplies from

the Concan, Colonel Hartley was sent to clear the province of

the Mahrattas, which he effected with little difficulty, after he

had inflicted a severe defeat on them in October, 1780. God-

dard marched down from Surat, and laid siege to Bassein on

the 13th of November. Nana Furnuvese advanced with a

powerful army to recover the Concan, and relieve that fortress.

Colonel Hartley had been engaged for upwards of a month in

daily skirmishes with the Mahratta force j his ammunition was
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nearly exhausted ; he was encumbered with 600 sick, and had

only 2,000 jaded troops fit for duty ; but he felt the import-

ance of maintaining his communications with Goddard, which

Nana was endeavouring to cut off, and he took up a strong po-

sition at Doogaur,wherehe sustained the assaultof 20,000 Mah-

ratta horse for two days. On the third, the 12th of December,

1780, their gallant and skilful general, Ramchunder Gunnesh,
was killed ; the army became dispirited and fled precipitately

with heavy loss. Bassein had surrendered on the previous day
to Goddard with the loss of only thirteen of his men, and he

immediately moved down to the support of Colonel Hartley,

and, on surveying the field of action, expressed his admiration

of the judicious position he had chosen, and the valour of his

troops. This was all the reward. that gallant soldier ever

received for his achievements in this war ; he was immediately

after superseded, and the public service deprived of his

talents at the time when they were most urgently needed.

Hastings, alarmed by Hyder's irruption into

-g ex-
*De Carnatic, considered it important to the

to safety of British interests in India to make peace
with the Mahrattas, and he proposed a treaty on

reasonable terms, through the raja of Nagpore, who, was
still friendly to the English though he had joined the con-

federacy. But on hearing of the destruction of Baillie's force

in the Carnatic, in September, 1780, he considered their

affairs desperate, and hesitated to become mediator, except

on conditions to which the Governor-General would not

accede. Goddard, conceiving that the desire for peace on

the part of the Poona durbar would be quickened by an ad-

vance towards Poona, ascended the ghauts with a large

force. This expedition, which proved to be a total failure,

was the only mistake of his career. After having inju-

diciously taken post at the Bhore ghaut, he was incessantly

harrassed by the Mahratta army, and obliged at length to

retreat, when he was vigorously attacked by Holkar with

25,000 horse, and did not reach Bombay without the loss of
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450, killed and wounded. The discomfiture of this renowned

general was considered by the Mahrattas one of their most

signal victories, and it was a fortunate circumstance that at

this critical period the troops of Sindia should have been en-

gaged in defending his own territories, many hundred miles

distant. This inauspicious expedition, which terminated on

the 23rd"0f April, 1781, was the last operation of the war,

although more than a twelvemonth elapsed before the

conclusion of peace.

Arrangement
^e raja of Berar, to support appearances with

with Bhonsiay, his confederates, sent an army of 30,000 horse in

October, 1779, under his son Chimnajee towards

Cuttack, for the ostensible purpose of invading Bengal, but

he endeavoured to convince Hastings that his intentions

were not hostile, by prolonging its march for seven months,

and then employing it in the reduction of a fort in Orissa.

To relieve Madras from the pressure of Hyder's army,

Hastings resolved to aid it by a force from Bengal. But a

body of Bengal sepoys, who had recently been ordered to

embark at Vizagapatam for Madras, objecting to a sea voyage
on account of their caste prejudices, had murdered their

officers, and committed great outrages. To avoid the recur-

rence of such a scene, Hastings determined to send the

Bengal detachment along the coast by land, though the

distance was seven hundred miles, and the route lay through
unknown and hostile provinces. This was another of those
" frantic military exploits

"
of Hastings, which served to

overawe the native princes, and to establish the ascendancy
of British power. Colonel Pearce started with the army on

the 9th of January, 1781, and it was on the line of march

in Orissa that one-half his force perished of cholera, and

this is apparently the first notice which we have of the exist-

ence of a disease which has proved the mysterious scourge of

the nineteenth century. Colonel Pearce experienced the

same friendly support from the raja of Nagpore, which that

prince had previously given to Goddard. Hastings, with the
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view of detaching the raja from the confederacy, and enlist-

ing him against Hyder, had made him a promise of sixteen

lacs of rupees, of which three had already been paid. Chim-

najee was, at this time, iu great distress for money, and

Hastings eagerly embraced the opportunity of offering the

remainder of the sum, on the condition of a treaty of alliance,

which was soon after concluded, with the proviso that 2,000

of the raja's horse should accompany the detachment, and

act against Hyder.
"
Thus," remarked Hastings, with exul-

tation,
" have we converted an ostensible enemy into a de-

clared friend, and transferred the most formidable member of

the confederacy, after Hyder, to our own party, saved Bengal
from a state of dangerous alarm, if not from actual invasion,

and all the horrors of a predatory war, and have completed
the strength of Colonel Pearce's detachment."

The signal defeat of Sindia by Colonel Camac
Treaty with '

sindia, ism convinced him that he had everything to lose by
Oct., i78i.

a contegt with the English in the heart of his

dominions, which might end in driving him across the Ner-

budda without land or friends, and extinguishing his influence

in the Mahratta commonwealth. He accordingly made over-

tures to Colonel Muir, which Hastings was but too happy to

entertain, and they terminated in a treaty which was con-

cluded on the 13th of October. The territory west of the

Jumna, from which he had been expelled by Major Popham,
was restored to him, with the exception of the fort of Gwalior,

which was reserved for the rana of Gohucl, and he engaged
to negotiate a treaty between the other belligerents and the

British government, but, at all events, to stand neutral.

The treaty gave great umbrage to Nana Furnuvese, partly

because it acknowledged Sindia as an independent power, but

chiefly because this assumption of the office of plenipotentiary

served to increase his power and his importance.

Treaty of Hastings's anxiety for peace with the Mahrattn
nth Regency was quickened by the arrival of a FrenchJ

May, ma. . . , . ,.

armament on the coast which, under existing cir-
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cumstances, might, he feared " result in the extirpation of our

nation from the Carmvtic." " It was not," he said,
"
peace

with conditions of advantage he wanted, but speedy peace,

for which he would sacrifice every foot of ground he had

acquired from the Mahrattas." After a variety of disappoint-

ments, the treaty of Salbye was at length completed on the

17th of May, 1782, and signed by Mr. Anderson on the part,

of the Company, and by Sindia on behalf of the Feshwa and the

Mahratta chiefs, he becoming at the same time the mutual

guarantee of both parties for the performance of its conditions.

All the territory acquired by the British arms since the treaty

of Poorunder was restored. Futteh Sing Guickwar was re-

placed in his original position in Gnzerat. Raghoba was to

be allowed three lacs of rupees a year, with liberty to choose

his own place of residence. Hyder was to be required to re-

linquish all his conquests in the Carnatic, and to release all his

prisoners within six months, and, in case of refusal, was to be

attacked by the forces of the Peshwa. But Nana Fumuvese,
after having accepted the treaty, hesitated to ratify it, in the

hope of making better terms with Hyder. After many
months of anxiety, Hastings became impatient of further

delay, and on the 4th of December instructed Mr. Anderson

to demand the fulfilment of Sindia's promises, and the imme-

diate ratification of the treaty, stating that he should other-

wise be under the necessty of making a separate peace with

Hyder, which would leave him at liberty to carry all his forces

towards the Kistna, and not only secure the possessions he had

conquered from the Mahrattas, but augment them. On the

5th of December, Hastings received a copy of the resolution

of the House of Commons, that it was the duty of the Court

of Directors to remove him from the head of affairs inasmuch

as he had acted in a manner repugnant to the honour and policy

of the British nation, and he began to tremble for the ratifica-

tion of the treaty, when this resolution should be known in

every durbar in India. On the 7th all anxiety was removed

by the death of Hyder, of which Nana Furiiuvese was no
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sooner informed than he affixed the Peshwa's seal to the

treaty, without any farther hesitation.

CHAPTER XIV.

HASTINGS'S ADMINISTRATION AFFAIRS OF MADRAS, TKK

SECOND MYSORE WAR, 1771 1784.

Affairs of kingdom of Tanjore had been in a great

Ta^ore,
1771 measure exempt from the ravages of war during

hostilities with Hyder, but had contributed little

to the defence of the country. Mahomed AH, from the period

of his accession to the throne of the Carnatic had never ceased

to covet the possession of it. He now asserted that former

Nabobs had obtained contributions from it of sixty, eighty.

and even a hundred lacs of rupees, and he importuned the

Madras Council to aid him in fleecing the raja. The Court of

Directors, impoverished by the expenses of the late war,

looked to the resources of Tanjore with a wishful eye, and

had instructed their servants at Madras to support the views

of the Nabob, if the raja refused to submit to reasonable

terms. The demands which the Nabob made, however, were

beyond all reason ; the raja refused to submit to them, and

the Council for some time manifested a virtuous reluctance to

enforce them, but were at length induced to send forward

an army. The Taujorines made a very spirited defence, but

a breach was at length effected in the fortifications, and the

town was on the point of surrendering, when, on the 27th of

October, 1771, the Nabob's second son, who had accompanied
the expedition, without consulting his English supporters,

signed a treaty with the raja, extorting from him fifty lacs as

the compensation for peace. With the aid of the British de-

tachments he then proceeded to plunder the polygars, or

zemindars of the two Marawars, and subjected the wretched
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inhabitants to the most revolting cmelties, leaving nothing in

the track of his soldiers but burnt and desolated villages.

second attack
*u J 6

) 1773, the Nabob again demanded the

onTanjore, aid of the Madras government to crush the raja;

he had not, he said, fulfilled his engagements;
ten lacs of rupees were still due from him; and he had,

moreover, made application to Hyder and to the Mahrattas for

support. The Council ridiculed the preposterous idea of going
to war with him for arrears. They knew that he had exhausted

his treasury to make good the extortionate fine imposed on him,

of which he had been enabled to pay five-sixths by mortgag-

ing his districts and his jewels to the Danes at Tranquebar,
and the Dutch at Negapatam. As to the overtures he had

made to Hyder and the Mahrattas, they remarked that the

treaty of 1769 had placed him under the protection of Hyder,

and, that, when he found himself abandoned to the tender

mercies of the Nabob, who had resolved on his destruction, it

was natural that he should seek to strengthen himself by
alliances with the other powers of the Deccan. Nevertheless,

the President and his Council argued that the existence of

such a power as that of the raja in the heart of the country,

who would join Hyder and the French in the event of a war,

unless the Company supported him in his just rights, was a

source of danger ; and that it was therefore proper and ex-

pedient to embrace this opportunity of reducing him entirely,

before the occurrence of such an event. It is difficult to

believe that Englishmen and Christians, even in that period of

profligacy, could have adopted such a train of reasoning to

justify the ruin of an innocent prince. The opponents of the

President and Council, however, gave a different account of

the origin of this war of extermination, and affirmed that it

arose from the resentment of the gentlemen at Madras,

when they found that the raja had resorted for loans to the

Dutch and the Danes, instead of giving them the benefit of

these lucrative transactions. Whatever may have been the

motive, an English army marched into Tanjore in September,
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1773, deposed the raja and made over his country to the

Nabob. The Court of Directors, astounded by the report of

this infamous proceeding, lost no time in expelling the Presi-

dent, Mr. Wynch, from the service, and ordering the raja to

be restored, placing him for the future under the safeguard of

British honour.

Lord Pigot, The vacant chair at Madras was bestowed on

BfotoTnai
Lord Pisot who had ne out to Madras fortv

Dec., 1775. years before, and, after having risen to the post

of President, returned to England with a fortune of forty lacs

of rupees, and was honoured with an Irish peerage. The old

man was now seized with the mania of going back to Madras

as governor. He found, on his arrival, that the system of

peculation and extortion had intermediately attained great

maturity ; and he set himself to the task of cleansing the

Augean stable, which set the whole settlement in a blaze.

To prevent the restoration of Tanjore to the raja, the Nabob

spared no art or intrigue ; he went so far as to offer a bribe

of sixty lacs of rupees to the governor himself, if he would

only postpone the transfer, but the orders of the Court of

Directors were peremptory, and Lord Pigot proceeded in person
to Tanjore, and seated the raja on the throne on the llth of

April, 1776, leaving an English garrison for the defence of the

country. But the restoration was no sooner proclaimed that

Mr. Paul Benfield came forward and asserted that he had an

assignment on the revenues of Tanjore from the Nabob of six-

teen lacs of rupees, and a claim on the standing crop of seven

lacs for sums lent to the husbandmen. Nothing can more clearly

demonstrate the total demoralization of the public service at

the Madras Presidency than the fact that this Benfield, occupy-

ing an inferior post, not worth more than 200 or 300 rupees a

month, and keeping the grandest equipages at Madras, should

not consider it by any means preposterous to assert that he

had advanced twenty-three lacs of rupees on the revenues of

the province. The Council called for vouchers, which he was
unable to produce, but he assured them that the Nabob was
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prepared to admit the obligation, of which there could be no

doubt, as the claim had evidently been concocted between

them to defraud the Company and the raja. After long'

deliberation the Council, on the 29th of May, 1776, rejected

the claim.

But the Council soon repented of this act of
Deposition and
death of Pigot virtue. They and the other members of the civil
177677.

service were creditors of the Nabob to the extent

of a crore and a-half of rupees, and they discovered that by

rejecting the claim of Benfield, they had impaired their hold

on the revenues of Tanjore. The vote was reconsidered ; Lord

Pigot and his friends strenuously resisted the proceedings,

but a majority of seven to five resolved that the assignments
made to Paul Benfield were valid. The dispute was widened

by other questions, and both parties became inflamed. Lord

Pigot unconstitutionally suspended two of the members of

Council and ordered the commandant, Sir Eobert Fletcher, to

be placed under arrest. Fletcher was the officer whom Clivo

had dismissed ten years before, during the mutiny of the

officers in Bengal which he had fomented, but whom the Court

of Directors had, out of opposition to Clive, restored to the

service. The majority of the Council then assumed the

government, and placed Lord Pigot in confinement, The

order was executed by Colonel Stuart, who passed the

day with him at his country seat, in the most friendly

intercourse, and drove out with him in the carriage, when,
on a given signal, it was surrounded by troopers, and

the governor was hurried off to a place of imprisonment.
The Court of Directors, after receiving the report of these

violent proceedings, ordered that Lord Pigot should be re-

stored to the office of President, and then resign it. Seven

members of Council were dismissed from the service, and

the military officers placed on their trial. But before these

orders could reach Madras, Lord Pigot was beyond the reach of

praise or blame. He sunk under his misfortunes in April, 1777,

after a confinement, by no means rigorous, of eight mouths.
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go- The state of affairs at Madras was not at all

MadnL,8th improved by the appointment of Sir Thomas
Feb. 1778. Rumboid, who had been trained up in the Bengal
school of corruption, as his successor. The Northern Sircars

formed the only territory from which the Madras Presidency
derived any revenue, but the malversations of the collectors

left but a small portion of it to the state. The Court of Di-

rectora had, therefore, been induced to order five of the

members of Council to proceed to the province, and after

diligent investigation, to place the settlement on a satisfactory

basis. Sir Thomas Rumboid, immediately on his arrival at

Madras, cancelled the commission, and ordered the zemindars

to repair in person to the Presidency, a distance of 600 miles,

through a country without a road. The zemindars who were

able to afford the cost, were required, on reaching the Presi-

dency, to transact business with the governor alone, to the

exclusion of the members of Council. The principal zemindar,

Viziram raj, who was, in fact, a local prince, pleaded the

injury which his affairs must suffer during his absence, as an

excuse for not leaving his estates. But his brother hastened

to the Presidency, and having given a bribe of a lac of rupees

to the governor's secretary, was appointed dewan, in spite of

all his brother's remonstrances, and thus obtained the entire

control and management of the zemindary. Sir Thomas

Rumboid himself was found to have remitted four lacs and

a-half of rupees to England after he had been six months at

Madras, and the suspicions to which so large a remittance

gave rise, were never satifactorily removed.

Thec-unroor The treaty with the Nizam in 1768, had given
sircar, 1778. ^ne reversion of the Guntoor Sircar to the Company,
after the death of his brother, Basalut Jung. That prince,

with Adoni for the capital of his little principality, was am-

bitious of increasing his power and territory, and had gra-

dually formed a French corps under M. Lally, which received

recruits and supplies through the little seaport of Mootapilly.

The Madras government repeatedly remonstrated against the
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presence of this corps, to Basalut Jung, and also to his feudal

superior, the Nizam, who promised that every article of the

treaty should be fulfilled to a hair's breadth, but the troops

were not disbanded. Basalut Jung was at length threatened

by the encroachments of Hyder, and opened a communication

with Sir Thomas Rumbold, and a treaty was concluded in

April, 1779, by which he bound himself to dismiss the French

corps, and to entrust the defence of his dominions to an

English force, and assign the Guntoor Sircar for its support.

Scarcely was the treaty dry, when the Sircar was transferred

on a ten years' lease to Mahomed Ali, that is, to his English

creditors, and we are thus furnished with a key to the whole

transaction. An English force immediately set out to take

possession of the district, and Mr. Holland was deputed to

Hyderabad, to expound the transaction to the Nizam. The

Nizam expressed the highest resentment at this intrusion into

the affairs of his family, and more especially at the military

support offered to his brother, who might thus become a for-

midable rival. But his indignation knew no bounds when
Mr. Holland farther requested a remission of the peshcush or

tribute payable for the Northern Sircars, which had already

been withheld for two years. He called for the treaty and

read it over, item by item, before Mr. Holland, and charged
the English with violating its provisions, and seeking a quarrel

with him. It was under these feelings of irritation that he

get himself to organize the grand confederacy for the exter-

mination of the English to which reference has been already
made.

Dismissal of Hastings, from whom these transactions had
itumboid, 1781.

foeen carefully concealed, no sooner heard of them,
than he superseded the authority of the Madras Council at

the court of Hyderabad, and assured the Nizam that the in-

tentions of the British government were honourable and

pacific, that Guntoor should not be occupied, and that the

arrears of peshcush should be discharged as speedily as pos-

sible. By these assurances, Hastings was enabled to appease
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the Nizam, and to neutralize his hostility as a member of the

grand confederacy. This friendly disposition was likewise

improved by the discovery he had recently made, that Hyder
Air's ambition had led him to send a mission to Delhi, and to

obtain a sunnud from the phantom of an emperor, conferring

on him the whole of the Hyderabad territories. The French

troops, which Basalut Juug was constrained to dismiss, were

immediately taken into the service of the Nizam, and the

anxiety which their presence in the Deccan inspired was greatly

augmented. Sir Thomas Kumbold remonstrated, with great

vehemence against this interference of the Governor-General,

in the political movements of the Madras Presidency ; but the

measure of his transgressions was now full, and in January,

1781, the Court of Directors after passing the severest

censure on his conduct, expelled him from the situation

which he had filled and disgraced for more than two years.

But he anticipated their decision by deserting his post, and

returning to England, as soon as the war with Hyder, which

his follies had provoked, was on the eve of breaking out.*

Before entering on the narrative of the second
Progress of

iiy<ier. Mysore war in 1780, a brief review of Hyder's

progress, after he had been constrained to make

peace with the Mahrattas in 1772, appears desirable. The

confusion created in the Mahratta counsels by the murder of

the young Peshwa, Narayun Rao, afforded Hyder an oppor-

tunity of enlarging his territories, which he was not slow to

improve. In November of that year he subjugated the prin-

cipality of Coorg, which offered the noblest resistance, and

was, therefore, treated with more than ordinary barbarity.

The sum of five rupees was offered for the head of each male,

and Hyder took his seat in state to distribute the rewards.

After 700 heads had thus been paid for, two of surpassing

beauty were laid at his feet, and he was so startled by their

comeliness as to order the execution to cease. The circum-

stance is remarkable, as this is said to have been the only
instance in which he ever exhibited any emotion of pity. He

* See Appendix.
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pursued this career of conquest with uninterrupted success,

and in one short campaign, extending from September, 1773,

to February, 1774, recovered all the districts of which he had

been dispossessed by the Mahrattas, and strengthened his

power in Malabar. In 1775, he reduced the fortress of

Bellary, belonging to Basalut Jung, whom he constrained to

purchase peace by the sacrifice of a lac of pagodas. He then

proceeded to extinguish the power which Morari Rao, the

renowned chieftain of Gooty, had been employed for thirty

years in building up, and before the end of 1776, had extin-

guished the independence of Savanoor.

Raghoba, during his vicissitudes, had been in

peshTraattack constant communication with Hyder Ali, who had
Hyder, acknowledged his title, and furnished him, from

time to time, with funds to the extent of sixteen

lacs of rupees, receiving in return a confirmation of all the

territories he had recently conquered. The cabinet at Foona,

alarmed at his encroachments, formed an alliance with the

Nizam, hoping, at the same time, to demolish all the hopes of

Raghoba. A Mahratta army of 30,000, and a Hyderabad

army of 40,000, accordingly took the field in 1776, but were

unable to achieve any success. The invasion was renewed

the next year, but the general of the Nizam was rendered

inactive by the gold of Hyder, and the Mahratta commander-

in-chief was obliged to retreat in consequence of the deser^

tion of one of his generals, whom Hyder had corrupted with

six lacs of rupees. The year 1778 was marked by the most

active and successful exertions on the part of Hyder, and at,

the close of it he was enabled to contemplate the fertile

banks of the Kistna as the northern boundaiy of his domi-

nions. In May, 1779, he attacked the Nabob of Kurpa, who

had sided with his opponents in the recent war, and annexed

all his territories.

The resentment which Hyder manifested at
Hyder t ne- *

gotiations with the refusal of the government of Madras to afford

him any assistance, in 1772, when pressed to

2 c
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extremity by the Mahrattas, did not prevent his making
overtures to them, in 1773, but all his efforts to esta-

blish a friendly intercourse were defeated by the machi-

nations of the Nabob, Mahomed Ali. Hyder then turned to

the French at Pondicherry, where his envoys were received

with great eagerness by the governor, M. Bellecombe. The

inveterate hostility and incessant invasions of the Mahrattas,

however, induced him again to court the alliance of the

English, and he offered his assistance towards the establish-

ment of Raghoba at Poona, asking, in return, only for a

supply of stores and arms, and a small body of troops, for

which he was willing to make a suitable payment. The

proposal, though acceptable both at Calcutta and Madras,
was not entertained with any degree of cordiality.

In the month in which this negotiation was in
Capture of

Pondicheny, progress, information was received of the com-

mencement of hostilities between France and

England, and a force was soon after sent against Pondi

cherry, the fortifications of which had been completely re-

stored. The place was defended by the gallant Bellecombe

for ten weeks with great constancy, but capitulated at length
in the month of October, 1778, when the garrison was

permitted to march out with all the honours of war. The

governor of Madras, in announcing this success to Hyder,
offered to renew the negotiations, and to place a resident at

his court, but intimated, at the same time, his intention to

send an expedition to capture Mahe. This was a small French

settlement on the Malabar coast, through which Hyder had,

for three years, been in the habit of receiving recruits and

supplies of every description from Europe, and the continued

occupation of which by his French allies was to him a matter

of great importance. He replied that he considered all the

foreign settlements, English, French and Dutch, equally

under his protection ; that he should support the French

garrison with all his strength, and retaliate any attack by an

invasion of the Carnatic. Hyder's troops accordingly as-
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sisted in the defence of the fort, and his colours were hoisted,

side by side with those of the French
;
but the place sur-

rendered in March, 1779. Hyder did not disguise his resent-

ment from the governor of Madras, and the tone of his

communications created so much alarm as to induce Sir

Thomas Rumbold to send the celebrated missionary, Swartz,

to allay his feelings, and to sound his disposition. Hyder
received the missionary with great respect, but nothing was

gained by the mission except the most unequivocal evidence

of his hostility.

H der joins
While Hyder's feelings were thus exasperated

tue confederacy, against the Madras authorities, he received in-
1779

telligence that Colonel Harper, who had been

sent to take possession of Guntoor, was marching through the

province of Kurpa, which he had recently conquered, with-

out even asking his permission. His indignation was roused

to the highest pitch, and he declared that he would neither

allow an English force to occupy Guntoor, or to proceed to

Adoni, and his officers were ordered to resist the progress

of Colonel Harper by an armed force. Basalut Jung was

likewise obliged, by the menaces of Hyder and of the Nizam,

to request that the march of the English troops might be

countermanded, and the sircar restored ; but with this re-

quest the Madras Government did not see fit to comply.

Meanwhile, an envoy arrived at Seringapatam from Poona,

to represent that Hyder, equally with the' Mahrattas, had

reason to complain of the breach of their engagements by the

English Government, and to request him to join the con-

federacy which had been formed to expel them from India.

The Mahratta ministers offered to adjust all their differences

with him; to relinquish all claims for arrears of chout, to

limit his future payments to eleven lacs of rupees a year,

and to confirm the grants of territory up to the Kistna, made

by Raghoba. Hyder accepted these proposals with avidity,

and agreed to put forth his whole strength for the exter-

mination of the British power. A few months after, Sir

2 c 2
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Thomas Rumbold sent Mr. Grey to Seringapatam to offer an

alliance with the Mysore state; but he was treated with

studied indignity, and informed that the offer of friendship

came too late. Osman, Hyder's minister, in the course of

the discussions, took occasion to remark that he had been at

Madras, and had seen how the English treated their allies.

" Mahomed Ali," he said,
" shewed me several letters he had

received from the King of England, but he complained of tBe

lacs of pagodas which each one had cost him."

For many months Hyder had been making pre-
Hyder's pre-

*

parations for parations for war on the largest scale, super-
war, 1780.

intending every arrangement in person, though
then in his seventy-eighth year, and by the end of June, had

equipped the most efficient force ever collected under the

standard of a natives prince. It consisted of 90,000 horse and

foot, a large proportion of which had been trained and was

commanded by European officers. It was supported by a

powerful artillery, directed by European science and skill,

and his commissariat was admirably organized by a brahmin

of the name of Poornea. At Madras no preparation was

made to meet the coming storm. In a spirit of infatuation

which has no parallel in our Indian history, the members of

government refused even to acknowledge the danger, and

the idea of an invasion became the topic of ridicule. The

President informed the Court of Directors with peculiar satis-

faction that the country was in perfect tranquillity, and that

there was "the greatest prospect that this part of India

would remain quiet." Even so late as the 17th of July
while Hyder was advancing through the passes, the com-

mander-in-chief declared that all apprehensions were ground-
less.

These illusions were speedily dispelled. Hyder,
on theCamatic, having completed the equipment of his army, and

July, uso.
or(jered prayer8 for its success to be put up in the

mosques, and offerings to be made in the Hindoo temples,

burst on the Carnatic, through the Changama pass, on the
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20th of July, 1780, and his progress was marked by the

blaze of towns and villages. He appeared anxious, on this

occasion, to exhaust all the resources of cruelty which a

mind never sensible to pity could suggest. The wretched

inhabitants were required to emigrate to Mysore with their

flocks and herds, and those who lingered about their home-

steads, were mutilated without discrimination. With the

exception of four forts held by four English lieutenants every

fort, as far as the Coleroon, was surrendered by the com-

mandants of Mahomed Ali, whom Hyder AH had corrupted.

The incredulity of the Council was at length dispelled by the

announcement that his troops had surrounded Conjeveram,

only fifty miles from Madras. But it was not till black

clouds of smoke were seen in every quarter from St. Thomas's

Mount, distant only nine miles from Madras, that any order

was issued for the movement of troops to repel the enemy.
The main body of the British army encamped at the Mount
was about 5,200 strong, and the force sent to occupy Gun-

toor, now commanded by Colonel Baillie, amounted to about

2,800 men. It was of the last importance that a junction

should be at once effected of these two bodies, but Hyder
had laid siege to Arcot, which contained the few military

stores which the Nabob possessed, and, after a succession of

distracted councils at Madras, it was determined to make an

effort to relieve it. Sir Hector Munro, the general-in-chief,

therefore, proceeded to Conjeveram, and Colonel Baillie, who
had arrived within twenty-five miles of Madras, was ordered

to make a circuitous march of fifty miles to join him.

Colonel Baillie had reached the banks of the
Colonel Baillie'g

movements, Cortella, then nearly dry, but liable to be swollen

by mountain torrents, on the 25th of August, and

imprudently encamped on the northern bank. On that night

the stream became impassable, and he was unable to cross it

before the 4th of September. Hyder immediately despatched
his son, Tippoo, with the flower of his army and eighteen

guns, to arrest the progress of this brigade. Tippoo
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attacked Baillie on the 6th, at a place distant only fourteen

miles from Sir Hector's encampment at Conjeveram. The

contest was severe, and the loss on both sides so heavy, that

Tippoo informed his father that he could make no impression

on the English without reinforcements, while Baillie informed

the General that it was no longer in his power to reach Conje-

veram ; and therefore hoped, that he would unite with him at

the spot where the engagement had taken place. Sir Hector

Munro had acquired a brilliant reputation in Bengal sixteen

years before, by quelling the first sepoy mutiny, and defeat-

ing the Nabob Vizier at Buxar; but on this occasion he

exhibited nothing but the most scandalous incapacity. Instead

of forming a junction with the other detachment, he allowed

Ilyder to interpose between the two bodies with the greater

part of his army, and then detached Colonel Fletcher with

1,100 men to the support of Baillie. The English force was

thus broken up into three divisions, in the vicinity of a pow-
erful and spirited enemy. But so great was the dread which

Hyder entertained of British prowess, that he had determined,

in case the whole force was united, to raise the siege of Arcot,

and retrace his steps. Even Lally, his French general, con-

sidered it incredible that Munro would remain inactive, and

counselled a retreat, lest the Mysore army should be attacked

at the same time in front and rear. Colonel Fletcher, know-

ing that his guides were in Hyder's pay, prudently adopted

a different route from that which they advised, and was

enabled to join Baillie in safety.

Total destruc- The two brigades advanced till the evening of

tion of Bairns ^g 9^ September, and a short march would have
force, 10th

Sept., 1780. completed their junction with the main body ; but

by an act of incredible fatuity, Baillie ordered his men to lio

on their arms for the night. Meanwhile, Hyder having ascer-

tained through his spies that Munro was making no prepara-

tion for moving, despatched the remainder of his army

against Baillie, who had no sooner commenced his march

in the morning, than he found himself enveloped by the
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whole of the Mysore army. It was in vain that his men

performed prodigies of valour, and repeatedly stormed the

batteries. The enemy had chosen their positions with great

skill, and poured in a destructive fire. The European soldiers,

though they had sustained thirteen attacks, and were reduced

to 300, still called out to be led against their assailants ; but

Baillie refused to sacrifice the lives of these brave men, and

held out a flag of truce. They had no sooner laid down their

arms, however, than Hyder's men rushed upon them, and

would have butchered the whole body, if the French officers

had not interposed to save them. Of 86 officers, 70 were

killed or wounded, and the whole army, with all its stores,

baggage and equipments was totally and irretrievably lost.

Sir Hector Munro's force was only two miles distant at the

time, and if he had came up during the engagement, the

defeat would have been turned into a victory, and the for-

tunes of the war completely changed. On the following day
he threw his heavy guns into the great tank, or pond, at

Conjeveram, and retreated in haste and disorder to Madras,

hotly pursued by the enemy, and losing baggage at every

turn^ And thus terminated in disaster and disgrace, this brief

campaign of twenty-one days, in which the heroism of the

rnen formed a melancholy contrast to the utter incompetence
of their generals.

A vessel was immediately dispatched to Calcutta
Hastines's ener-

gutic measures, with information of the disaster. To the embar-

rassment of a war with the Mahrattas, was now
added a war with Hyder, which had commenced with the

greatest reverse the English arms had hitherto sustained in

I ndia. But never did the genius of Hastings appear to more

advantage than in this emergency. "All my hopes," he

wrote,
" of aggrandizing the British name and enlarging the

interests of the Company, have given instant place to the

more urgent call to support the existence of both in the Car.

natic, nor did I hesitate a moment to abandon my own views

i'or such an object." Mr. Whitehill, the governor of Madras,
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who had persisted in retaining Guntoor, after he had received

orders from Calcutta to restore it, was suspended from his

office, to the great satisfaction of the settlement, though, as

Hastings remarked,
" the creature made some show of resist-

ance." All the troops which could be spared were immediately

despatched, together with fifteen lacs of rupees, for the sole

use of the army, and not as a civil supply ; and such was the

energy displayed on this occasion, that the whole embarkation,

and all the measures projected for so great an occasion, were

completed within three weeks. The veteran, Sir Eyre Coote,

had succeeded Sir John Clavering, as commander-in-chief in

Bengal, and was solicited to proceed to Madras, and restore

the honour of the British name. He was now advanced in

years, and feeble in health, but he would not decline this hon-

ourable summons to the scene of his early triumphs. But

the boldest measure which Hastings adopted at this crisis,

was to stop the Company's investment, and apply the funds

to the expedition. Even this provision, however, was found

to be insufficient. It was a subject of exultation, that during
the eight years of his administration, he had not only dis-

charged debts to the extent of a crore and a half of rupees,

but replenished the treasury with double that sum ; it was,

therefore, with no ordinary chagrin that he was now obliged to

have recourse to a loan.

Defence of
Sir Eyre Coote reached Madras on the 5th of

wandewash, November, and found the equipment of the army
so wretched, and the difficulty of obtaining draft

and carriage cattle hi a country swept by hostile cavalry so

great, that it was the 17th of January before he was able to

move his army. Hyder had resumed the siege of Arcot, and

its small European garrison, after holding out for six weeks,
was obliged to retire to the citadel which Clive had defended

for fifty days. But the Nabob's brahmin commandant,
under Hyder's influence, spread a spirit of disaffection

among the native troops to such an extent that the European
officers had no alternative but to capitulate. Hyder was at
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the same time engaged in besieging five other forts, one of

which, Wandewash, was defended by Lieutenant Flint and a

brother officer, with such romantic valour and such military skill

that the siege became one of the most honourable events of the

war. This distinguished officer, however, received no other

reward for his eminent services but the applause of Sir Eyro
Coote, whose admiration of the resources which had been em-

ployed knew no bounds. The Court of Directors refused even

to promote him to the command of a company. Soon after,

Sir Eyre Coote revived the drooping spirits of the army by
the capture of Carangolly, which Hyder had fortified with

great care.

Battle of Porto ^n ^e 8th of February, the general *marched

NOVO, ist July, southwards to Cuddalore, where he was subjected

to the most mortifying embarrassment for supplies,

which he could receive only by sea. The hostile armies re-

mained inactive for four months, Coote unable to move for

want of provisions, and Hyder dreading an encounter with

him. On the 18th of June, Coote attacked the fortified and

well-provisioned temple of Chillumbrum, but met with a

repulse. Hyder was elated by this his first success against

the renowned English commander, and resolved to risk a

general engagement. Though on the verge of eighty, he

marched up to Cuddalore, a hundred miles in two days and a

half, and took up a strong position in its neighbourhood,
which he began to fortify. Coote, ignorant of the nature or

strength of the enemy's works, resolved, as his last resource,

to sally forth and attack them. His battering guns were sent

on board the vessels lying off the town, together with every
other impediment, and the troops marched to the assault

with the remaining provisions, enough only for four days, on

their backs. After advancing a little distance, Coote per-

ceived a road which Hyder had been cutting through the

sand hills the previous night, and immediately pushed his

detachments through the gap in the teeth of a heavy cannon-

ade. After a long and arduous engagement, of six hours'
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duration, the val<sur of the British troops was rewarded by a

complete victory, with the loss of only 300 men. The result

of the action was most decisive. Hyder, who had lost

10,000 soldiers, abandoned his designs on Trichinopoly, and

Tippoo raised the sieg'e of Wandewash, which the gallant

Flint still continued to defend.

rattle of
^e Bengal brigade sent down the coast under

Poiuiore, 2/th Colonel Pcarce, had been recruited after the havoc

of the cholera, and reached Pulicat, forty miles

north of Madras, in July, 1781. Hyder detached Tippoo with

a large force to intercept it, and Coote marched 150 miles from

Porto Novo to form a junction with it, which he effected on

the 2nd of August. A similar movement, even with less

foresight and vigour on the part of Sir Hector Munro in

the preceding year, would have saved Baillie's army from

destruction. Hyder had unaccountably allowed Coote to

march through the country without that obstruction which he

could have offered at every step, but he determined to make

up for his neglect by opposing his return with great vigour,

and advanced with the whole of the Mysore army to the spot

where a twelvemonth before he had exterminated Baillie's

force. He considered this a most fortunate spot for another

battle, and his astrologers predicted a certain victory, if it

took place on the same lucky day of the same lunar month,

the llth Ramzan, or the 27th of August. The engagement,
called after the neighbouring village, Pollilore, lasted through-

out the day, but the result was doubtful, both parties firing

a salute for victory. The action cost Hyder 2,000 men,

while the loss on the side of the English was about 400.
r

j he next day, Coote's army was employed in the melancholy

duty of interring the remains of Colonel Baillie's detachment

in the same graves with their own dead. Vellore, one of

the few fortresses left to the English, was at this time

straitened for provisions, and the commandant represented
the impossibility of holding out unless he was relieved.

Coote advanced to raise the seige, and Hyder marched to
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Battle of prevent the attempt. The armies met again "Tor

soiingur, 27th the third time during the year at Solingur, on the

27th of September, 1781 Hyder having come

to the conclusion that Coote could not, or would not, attack

him on that day, had allowed his cattle and the drivers and

followers to disperse, and the rapid movement of the British

columns took him by surprise. Coote obtained a complete

victory, which, owing to his admirable dispositions, involved

the loss of only 100 men, while that of the Mysore army
exceeded 5,000. Within a few days, however, Vellore was

again reduced to extremity for supplies, and though the mon-
soon had set in, Coote made three forced marches, and prov-
visioned it for three months. Hyder did not venture again
to attack him, and the British army soon after retired into

cantonments at Madras, after a campaign in which all the

plans of Hyder were baffled by the consummate strategy of

Coote, and Coote's expectations were defeated by the wretched

state of his equipments and the total absence of a commissariat,

urd Macarteny,
The question of filling up the vacant chair at

governor of Madras now came up before the Court of Directors.
Madras, 1781. . , cIn the brief period of seven years, two governors

had been dismissed by them, and one suspended by Hastings,

for gross misconduct, and a fourth had been deposed by his

own Council, and died in confinement. The service was

thoroughly demoralised ; and it was, therefore, determined to

try the experiment of placing the government in the hands

of a new man, uncontaminated with the general corruption,

and a stranger to all local associations, who might be expected

to bring dignity to the office, and restore vigour to the ad-

ministration. The choice fell on Lord Macarteny, a nobleman

of much political experience, and imbued with a high sense

of honour. He reached Madras on the 22nd of June, and

brought the first intelligence of the declaration of war with

the Dutch. Then1

principal settlement on the coast, at Nega-

patam, 160 miles south of Madras, was at the time garrisoned

by a body of 6,500 troops, and Hyder Ali lost no time in
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opening- negotiations with the chief, which resulted in a

treaty on the basis of mutual co-operation against the English.
Lord Macarteny was anxious to prevent this formidable

accession to the resources of Hyder, and resolved to attack the

town, while he was able to reckon upon the assistance of the

fleet, before the approaching change of the monsoon. Without

abstracting a single soldier from the army of Sir Eyre Coote,

who discountenanced the expedition, he drew together a force

from Tanjore and Madras, and placed it under the command
of Sir Hector Munro. The fleet contributed a large body of

capture of
marines and seamen, to whose steadiness and

Nesapatam, gallantry the early surrender of the place was

Trincouiaiee, chiefly owing. It fell on the 12th of November,
1782- and was found to contain, in addition to a large

quantity of military stores, two annual investments of great
value. In the following January, Trincomalee, the noblest

harbour in the island of Ceylon, was also wrested from the

Dutch.

Arrangement The pressure of events on the coast forced the

Ail^nd'cec*
1

Question of the Carnatic revenues on the considcra-

J781 - tion of the government at Madras and Calcutta.

The heavy expenses of the war fell exclusively on the Com-

pany's treasury ; the province itself contributed nothing to its

own defence, as the Nabob and his creditors absorbed the

little revenue which was raised. While the troops of Coote

were on half rations, the officers of the Nabob were selling

the provisions collected for their support, and remitting the

proceeds to his private purse. All his efforts were directed to

impede, and often to counteract, the movements of the British

troops. Not a single soldier in his pay was sent to Coote's

camp, while his officers betrayed every fort to the enemy ;

and his own brother made over the fortress of Chundergiree to

Ifyder, with all the grain stored in it for a consideration.

The venality and political profligacy of the Nabob's court,

unmatched in India, was the constant theme of Coote's in-

dignant remonstrance. The nuisance became at length in-
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supportable, and the Nabob, after repeated evasions, was
constrained to resign the revenues of the Carnatic for a

period of five years, at the least, with a reservation of ofle-

sixth for his personal expenditure and for his creditors.

Defeat of Colonel Brathwaite, who had assisted at the

^cewatTem- capture of Negapatam, was subsequently em-

cherry, 1782. ployed in establishing the Nabob's authority in

Tanjore, which Tippoo had been sent to ravage. The

Colonel was encamped on the banks of the Coleroon, when,

owing to the treachery of his guides who were all in the pay
of the enemy, he was surprised by Tippoo, with 20,000 horse

and foot, and 20 guns. The valour and constancy of British

troops have seldom been more conspicuous than on this

trying occasion. During twenty-six hours of unremitted

conflict they sustained without flinching the repeated charges
of the Mysore horse, and the fire of their cannon, but sunk

at length from wounds and exhaustion, and would have been

annihilated by the troops of Tippoo, but for the generous
exertions of the French officers, who appreciated their heroism.

This disaster was counterbalanced by a victory on the opposite

coast. Tellicherry, a fortified factory, and the only English

possession in Malabar, had sustained a siege of eighteen
months by a Mysore force. Early in February, the garrison,

which had been reinforced, made a sortie, and captured 1,200

of the enemy, together with all their baggage, equipments,
and 60 pieces of cannon. The reverse thus inflicted on

Hyder emboldened the conquered Nairs to rise throughout
the province, and created a violent reaction in Goovg.

Hyders de- Hyder began to give way to despondency. He
pendency, had been foiled in every engagement with Sir

Eyre Coote in which he was not signally defeated.

He was deceived, as he supposed, by his French allies, who
had engaged to come to his assistance, but had failed him for

twenty months. The revolt, kindled on the western coast,

might extend to his capital. The Governor-General had suc-

ceeded in detaching Sindia, and the Nizam and Bhonslay from
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the confederacy, and the Poona durbar now threatened to

unite with the English, and compel him to accede to a peace
which would deprive him of all the advantages of the war,

unless he consented to resign to them the territories he had

acquired between the Toombudra and the Kistna, and abandon

all claims on the poligars south of that river. He dis-

burdened his feelings to hi& minister, Poornea. He lamented

his folly in having provoked a war with the English. There

were, he admitted, mutual grounds of dissatisfaction, but still

he might have made them his friends notwithstanding the

intrigues of the wretched Nabob. "The defeat of many
Brathwaites and many Baillies," he said,

" will not crush

them. I may ruin their resources by land, but I cannot dry

up the sea, and I must be exhausted by a war in which I

can gain nothing by fighting." He resolved, therefore, to

abandon all operations in the Carnatic, and to concentrate his

efforts on the western coast. He had issued instructions for

the entire destruction of tho districts on the Coromaridel

coast, that he might leave no vestige of human habitation

behind him, and had ordered the defences of Arcot to be

undermined, when all these gloomy forebodings were at once

dissipated by the appearance of the long expected French

armament on the coast.

French expedi- Early in 1781, the French government made
turn, 1781-82.

preparations for tbe despatch of a powerful fleet

and army to India, under the command of the veteran Bussy,

but the capture of two successive convoys by English cruizers

retarded the execution of the plan. The first division at

length reached the Mauritius, and was at once sent forward

to the Coromandel coast. The death of the admiral during

the voyage gave the command of the fleet to Suffrein, an

officer of extraordinary enterprise and resources. He made

the coast off Pulicat with twelve sail of the line and eighteen

transports, as Admiral Hughes was returning in January,

1782, from the capture of Trincomalee. Hughes, who had

only six vessels with him, was fortunately reinforced by three
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others which had arrived from England, and bore down on the

French squadron, and succeeded in cutting off six of the

transports. The action was indecisive, and Suffrein proceeded
to Porto Novo, where he landed 2,000 Frencli soldiers and

1,000 Africans. Soon after, Hyder had an interview with the

French commanders, when it was determined to attempt tho

reduction of Cuddalore, and await the arrival of Bussy for

larger operations. The extensive fortifications of that place
had been incautiously left in charge of only 400 sepoys ana

five artillerymen, and it surrendered without any show of

resistance. A few weeks after, the important post of

Permacoil was captured by Hyder. On the 12th of April,

there was a second action between the fleets, but without

any decisive result, and both the admirals were obliged to

retire and refit their disabled vessels.

Action before
Coote began now in his turn to despond ; he

2nd considered the aspect of affairs, not only embar-

rassing, but even desperate. In the hope of bring-

ing on a general action, he marched to Wandewash, which

was besieged by the united armies of the French and of

Hyder, but they refused the challenge, and retired to Pondi-

cherry. With the view of drawing them from the position

which they had strongly fortified, Coote determined to at-

tempt the capture of Aruee, the chief depot of Hyder in the

southern provinces. Tippoo was sent to protect it, and aa

engagement ensued on the 2nd of June, the only result of

which was the capture of one gun and eleven tumbrils, while

Hyder was enabled to accomplish his object of rescuing his

treasure and stores from danger. Six weeks after, he drew

a young officer, who had been entrusted with a large detach

ment, into an ambuscade, enveloped it with his cavalry, and

inflicted on it the loss of two guns and 166 men.

Ca tureofTrin-
Suffreiri now appeared before Negapatam, which

comaiee, sist he was desirous of obtaining as a depot for tho
August, 1782.

French army> nugnes followed him, and a third

naval engagement was fought on the Gth of July, with no
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other result than to defeat the views of the French on that

town. Suffrein retired to Cuddalore where he repaired the

damage his fleet had sustained with incredible speed and

energy, and then sailed southwards. Lord Macartney had

received intelligence that a second French force had arrived

at Point de Galle, and that Bussy himself was immediately

expected on the coast. He began to tremble for the safety

both of Negapatam and Trincomalee, and urged Admiral

Hughes to follow the French fleet with all expedition. But

the energy of that officer by no means corresponded with his

skill and courage, and he was, moreover, jealous of any in-

terference with his command, and in this instance did not

hesitate to sacrifice the interests of his country to his own

caprice. Suffrein hastened to Galle, embarked the force of

2,400, which had recently arrived, and landed them at Trin-

comalee. The siege was pushed with extraordinary vigour,

and the garrison was obliged to capitulate on the 31st of

August, though on the most honourable terms. Four days later

the dilatory Hughes looked into the harbour, and saw the

French colours flying on the ramparts. The next day wit-

nessed the fourth action between the two fleets, but though
it lasted throughout the day, it terminated like all which had

preceded it, without any result. The approach of darkness

separated the combatants. This was the last and the se-

verest naval engagement of the year, which was marked as

much by the exertions of the fleets, as by the inactivity of the

armies.

Admiral Hughes returned to Madras, and an-
Haghes sails for

.

'

Bombay, isth nounced the necessity or proceeding forthwith to

October, 1782. Bomi,ay to refit his vessels, which had kept the

sea during the monsoon of 1781, and had sustained serious

damage in four successive general actions. The governor

represented to him the desperate condition to which the

interests of the Company would be reduced by his departure,

and earnestly pressed him to remain. Hyder, he said, was

master of the Carnatic; the possession of Trincomalee would
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give the French the undisputed command of the sea, and

enable them to intercept the supplies of grain, on which

.Madras depended for its existence. Bussy, moreover, was

hourly expected with large reinforcements. But the admiral

turned a deaf ear to every remonstrance, and, looking only to

the safety of the fleet for which he was responsible, set sail

for Bombay on the 15th of October. That same night the mon-

soon set in with a terrific gale ; the shore was strewed for

miles with wrecks ; the largest vessels went down at their

anchors, and a hundred coasting craft, laden with 30,000 bags
of rice, were irretrievably lost. Four days after Admiral

Bickerton anchored in the roads, and, after landing 4,000

troops which he had brought out from England, put to sea

again to join his own commander. Madras was now sub-

jected to all the horrors of famine. The ravages of Hyder
had driven the wretched inhabitants of the surrounding dis-

trict for shelter and subsistence into the town, and for some

time the number of deaths amounted to 1,500 a week. Sir

Eyre Coote's shattered constitution obliged him to return to

Bengal, and the monsoon suspended all military operations.

After the relief of Tellicherry, on the Malabar
Events <on the "
Malabar Coast, coast, and the defeat of the Mysore army in

February, 1782, Colonel Humberstone, who had

succeeded to the command of the force, marched southward

and entirely routed Mukdoom AH, Hyder's general and rela-

tive, whose loss exceeded 2,000 men. To create a diversion

and relieve the pressure on the Company's arm}
1 on the Coro-

rnandel coast, the colonel marched into the heart of the

country to lay siege to Palghaut, one of the strongest of the

fortresses which Hyder had erected in the south, but, on a

close reconnoitre, found it less assailable than he had ex-

pected. Hyder lost no time in despatching Tippoo with a

large force and a French contingent to drive back this inva-

sion. But the Bombay government was no sooner informed

of the colonel's hazardous advance into the interior, than

they sent him peremptory orders to return to the coast. This

2 u
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retrograde movement he considered a great misfortune, but

It proved the salvation of his army. On the 19th of No-

vember Tippoo overtook the retiring force, which was con-

strained to fight every step of its march, and arrived at dusk

on the banks of the Paniani ; but, regarding them as a sure

and easy prey, he neglected to watch their movements, and

the colonel, having discovered a ford, passed his whole army
over under cover of the night, and reached the town of

Paniani the next day. On the 29th of November Tippoo

made an assault in four columns on the British army, but was

driven back with great loss. He then determined to blockade

the force, and wait the arrival of his heavy equipments,

when, on the 12th of December, his whole army was seen to

strike its tents and march off to the eastward. A dromedary

express had arrived the preceding evening with
Death of Hyder, .

r

7r.h December, intelligence of the death of Hyder Ah. His

health had been declining during the year, and his

end was hastened by the fatigues of the field. He died at

the advanced age of eighty, leaving behind him the reputa-

tion of one of the ablest, most enterprising, and most suc-

cessful adventurers in the modern history of India.

Hyder's death Poornea, a Mahratta brahmin, the ablest of

concealed, 1782.
Jjyder's ministers, in conjunction with his distin-

guished colleague, Kishen Rao, a Canarese brahmin, assumed

the management of affairs, and acted with consummate pru-

dence. Tippoo, the son and successor of Hyder, was four

hundred miles distant, and an Asiatic army, deprived of its

head, always becomes a scene of intrigue and confusion.

Ryder's death was therefore carefully concealed in the carnp.

The body was embalmed and sent under an escort to the capi-

tal, as it had been usual to despatch chests of valuable plunder.

All answers to letters were issued, and all orders published in

his name, and his closed palanquin, with the accustomed

retinue, moved out at the usual hour from the canvas inclo-

sure of his tent. Tippoo, on receiving intelligence of his

father's death, immediately abandoned the western campaign,
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and hastened to join the army on the Coramaudel coast, which

he reached on the 2nd of January. The troops were gratified

by the payment of arrears, and a liberal donative ; the minis-

ters who had maintained the royal authority at this difficult

crisis were confirmed in office ; and Tippoo at once succeeded

to the command of a splendid army of 100,000 men, and to a

treasury filled with three crores of rupees, besides an accu-

mulation of jewels and valuables, which Poornea declared to

be of countless value.

Far different was the course of events at
Tippoo returns

to Malabar, ist Madras. The same fatality which had marked
March, n83.

the procee(jings of the Presidency for the last

fifteen years, seemed still to influence its councils. There

was a vigorous governor, but an imbecile general. Sir

Eyre Coote's departure for Bengal had placed the army
under the charge of General Stuart, and Lord Macarteny
entreated him to take advantage of the consternation occa-

sioned by the death of Hyder, to attack the Mysore army
before the arrival of Tippoo. The general had never ceased

to obstruct every movement since he succeeded to the com-

mand, of the army, and he now affected to disbelieve the

report of Hyder's death, and when it could no longer be a

matter of dispute, refused to move until the "
proper time,"

of which ho considered himself the sole judge. The golden

opportunity of striking a decisive blow was thus lost, and

the war prolonged for fifteen months. General Stuart had

the entire conduct of the war in his hands, with an increased

army and liberal supplies ; but sixty days were suffered to

elapse after the death of Hyder, before he could be persuaded
to move, and even then, he did nothing but demolish the for-

tifications of three forts which Sir Eyre Coote had been

anxious to preserve. The anxiety which his incapacity

created, was, however, happily relieved by the abrupt depar-
ture of Tippoo. The alarming intelligence which he received

of the progress of a British force on the western coast, in-

duced him to proceed in person to meet the danger, with tlie
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flower of his army, after having destroyed the works at

Arcot, and, indeed, every remaining post except Arnee. Bussy
was hourly expected with large reinforcements, and if the

entire Mysore army had been strengthened by a European

force, directed by the genius of that commander, Madras,

entrusted to the wretched Stuart, would have been in imminent

peril. From this danger the Presidency was rescued by the

injudicious movement of Tippoo. Leaving him to pursue his

course to the western coast, we continue the narrative of

events around Madras.

The plans of Bussy had been impeded by a
Hussy's arrival. . . , ,

coote-s death, succession or untoward events ; but although, on
im

landing at Cuddalore on the 10th of April, 1783,

he found himself at the head of 2,300 Europeans and 5,000

French sepoys, he had also the mortification to find that

Hyder was dead, and that Tippoo had gone to the opposite

coast, leaving a force of only 3,500 men to co-operate with

him. Admiral Hughes had also returned with his fleet to the

coast, and General Stuart, having no longer any excuse for

delay, marched towards Cuddalore, with a fine park of artil-

lery, and 14,500 men, of whom 3,000 were Europeans.

Nothing was wanting to the efficiency of this splendid force,

except a commander ; and the troops were, therefore, looking

with the greatest eagerness for their venerable and beloved

general, Sir Eyre Coote, again to lead them on to victory ;

but the veteran died two days after his arrival at Madras, on

the 26th of April. The expedition moved towards Cuddalore

under the command of General Stuart, but only at the rate

of three miles a day. He sat down before that fortified town

on the 7th of June, and on the 13th, attacked a formidable

position of the French, who were obliged to retire to the

citadel, with the loss of thirteen guns. The honour of the

day was due to the extraordinary gallantry of the subor-

dinate officers and men ; but it was dearly purchased by the

loss of 62 officers and 920 Europeans, killed or mortally

wounded.. On the same day, Suffrein appeared in the offing-.
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with sixteen vessels, and Admiral Hughes, who was anchored

off Porto Novo, came up to meet him with eighteen ships.

Notwithstanding this apparent superiority over the French,

he was essentially weaker, as no fewer than 2,700 of his

sailors were disabled by scurvy. Suffrein had borrowed 1,200

soldiers from Bussy, and the two fleets met on the 20th of

June, but the severe action which ensued, like the four which

had preceded it, was without any decisive result. Night

again parted the combatants, and Hughes finding his vessels

crippled, his crews dying of scurvy, and his supply of water

running short, bore up for Madras to refit ; while Suffrein,

not only restored the 1,200 men lent him by Bussy, but rein-

forced the French army with 2,400 marines and sailors from his

fleet. With this addition to his force, Bussy made a sortie in

the dark on the 25th of June, but was repulsed with the loss

of 450 men. It was on this occasion that the young and

gallant French serjeant, Bernadotte, who subsequently became

one of Napoleon's marshals, and king of Sweden, fell into

the hands of the English. General Stuart had been bustling

about Cuddalore for three weeks, and yet the siege could

scarcely be said to have commenced. His force was daily

wasting away from sickness, fatigue and wounds; while

Bussy, strengthened by the reinforcement from the fleet, and

having free communication with the country around, was

waiting for the maturity of his errors to strike some decisive

blow. Considering the great talents of Bussy, and the in-

competency of Stuart, there is every reason to apprehend
that it would have resulted in the discomfiture and retreat of

the English army, the loss of its battering train and baggage,

perhaps also, in the siege of Madras. From this danger, the

Company was happily relieved by the arrival of intelligence

that peace had been concluded in Europe between the belli-

gerents, and all military operations immediately ceased.

General Stuart returned to Madras, and was placed under

arrest by Lord Macartney, and sent to England. He was the

officer who had been employed eight years before in the clan-
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destine arrest of Lord Pigot, and among the epigrams to

which his own arrest gave rise, that of the Nabob's second

son was by no means the least racy :
" General Stuart catch

one lord, one lord catch General Stuart."

E. aition
^ne aDruP* departure of Tippoo to the western

from Bombay, coast was occasioned by the success of an expe-
dition sent from Bombay against his possessions

in that quarter. General Matthews had been despatched to

the succour of Colonel Humberstone at Paniani, but, on

hearing of the withdrawal of Tippoo's army, proceeded along
the coast, and took possession of the towns of Mirjee and

Onore. During this expedition, five of the Mysore ships of

war, carrying from fifty to sixty-four guns, fell into the

hands of the British admiral. The Bombay President, having
received intelligence of the death of Hyder, directed General

Matthews to march at once against Bednore. The general

disapproved of the movement, which he considered injudicious

and dangerous, but instead of entering into explanations with

his superiors, proceeded doggedly to execute it, simply dis-

claiming all responsibility. The ascent of the ghauts, which

had been fortified at every point, presented the most for-

midable obstacles to an invading force, but the gallantry of

the 42nd Highlanders, led by Colonel Macleod, carried all

the lower defences, and the army arrived in front of Bednore,

when, to the utter astonishment of the general, the place

was unconditionally surrendered to him. It afterwards tran-

spired that Hyat Sahib, as he was called by the English, the

Mysore commander, who had been a favourite of Hyder, and

was consequently regarded with feelings of hatred by Tippoo,

had obtained the sight of a letter directed by him to one of

the officers in Bednore, ordering him to deprive Hyat of the

command, and, if necessary, to put him to death ;
and Hyat

immediately made arrangements for delivering up the fortress

and the district to the English.

Piece of Man- It was the tidings of this transaction which in-

taiore, naa. duced Tippoo to quit the Carnatic, and bend his at-
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tention to the expulsion of the English force from the western

provinces, justly fearing lest they should be transferred to

the Mahrattas, whom Hastings was urging to attack him.

General Matthews, instead of concentrating his force, which

did not exceed 1,600, at the most defensible point, frittered it

away in small detachments, and the troops were allowed to

disperse over the country in search of plunder. Bednore

was, however, defended with great valour, and it was not

surrendered till it had become a heap of ruins, and further

resistance was hopeless. The capitulation was violated as

usual, and the men and officers were marched off in irons,

and consigned to dungeons. Tippoo fired a salute for this

Ids first victoiy over the English troops, and then descended

to the coast and invested Mangalore, the siege of which is

one of the most memorable events of the war. The strength

of the garrison, at the commencement of it was only 1,850,

while the investing force under Tippoo amounted to 100,000

with 100 guns. The command of the fort had devolved on

Colonel Campbell, of the 42nd Highlanders, arid a brighter

name is not to be found in the annals of British India. It

would exceed the limits which can be assigned to this me-

morable conflict in this brief epitome, to enter into any detail

of the siege, or to describe how General Macleod, who was

twice sent to relieve it, was, on each occasion, cajoled by

Tippoo and left his task incomplete, and how an intermediate

convention was disgracefully violated and the privations of

the brave garrison augmented. It may be sufficient to state

that the colonel and his troops defended the place for nine

months with unsurpassed resolution against the whole army
of Tippoo, and did not capitulate until their number was re-

duced to 850, and those mere skeletons.

Whilst Tippoo was thus wasting his strength
Progress of

coionei Fuiiar- and his reputation in a siege which cost him half

ton, 1783.
kis armV) ^ absence of a Mysore army from the

southern provinces, and the peace with France, enabled the

Madras government to send a powerful force across the Pe-
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ninsula into the heart of Mysore. This able plan was

devised and executed by Colonel Fullarton, who had em-

braced the military profession late in life, but exhibited

talents of. a very high order, and would have brought the

war with Tippoo to an honourable termination, if he had not

been thwarted by the folly of the Madras authorities. His

force consisted of 13,600 men, but the native portion of it was

twelve months in arrears. On the 15th of November, he

captured the renowned fortress of Palghaut, and on the 26th

occupied Coimbatoor ; on the 28th, he had made every pre-

paration for an immediate advance on Seringapatam, while

the Mysore army was detained before Mangalore. The

capital was within his' grasp, but before night he received

orders not only to suspend operations, but to relinquish all

the districts he had occupied. To explain this singular re-

quisition, it is to be remarked that while Hastings was

engaged in urging the Mahrattas, in accordance with the

treaty of Salbye, to compel Tippoo to make peace on pain

of hostilities, Lord Maearteny, in defiance of the prohibition

of the Supreme Government, to which, on such questions, he

was entirely subordinate, opened negotiations with Tippoo,
and by a singular infatuation, voluntarily agreed to a sus-

pension of arms till a reply was received. So ignorant was

the Governor of Madras of native habits, as not to know that

any direct offer of peace to a native prince, rendered peace
on honourable terms impossible. Tippoo took no notice of

the proposals for three months, and then sent one of the

most astute of his officers to cozen the President and Council

at Madras. After a month passed in Jesuitical diplomacy,

the envoy proposed that two gentlemen should be deputed to

Tippoo to expedite the negotiations. The silly Council

swallowed the bait, and even affirmed that this was a proposal

which exactly met their wishes. The object of Tippoo was

gained, and he was thus enabled to represent at every durbar

in India that the English government had sent commissioners

all the way from Madras to Mangalore to sue for peace. It
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was at this period and under the influence of this agent, that

the commissioners instructed C.olonel Fullarton to suspend

hostilities, and evacuate Lis conquests ; but he had just

heard of the perfidious violation of the convention of Man-

galore, and though he ceased to prosecute the war, determined

to retain the districts he had conquered. Discussions soon after

arose between the envoy of Tippoo and the commissioners,

regarding the release of the prisoners and the surrender of

Mangalore, which were referred to Lord Macartney. On the

8th of December the Council met and reviewed their position ;

their finances were ruined, their credit was broken, and the

confidence of the Supreme Government was gone. But,

instead of ordering Colonel Fullarton with his powerful army
to push on to Tippoo's capital, while he was occupied at Man-

galore, and end the war by one bold stroke, they directed him

to relinquish all his conquests, and retire within the limits

which they prescribed, although Tippoo's officers had violated

their engagements, and retained all the districts they had

overrun in the Carnatic, which they were equally bound to

evacuate. The missionary Swartz met Colonel Fullarton at

the -foot of the ghauts as he was marching back, and ex-

claimed with astonishment,
" Is the peace so certain that you

quit all before the negotiation is ended. The possession of

these two countries would have kept Tippoo in awe, and in-

clined him to reasonable terms. But you quit the reins, and

how will you manage the beast ?
" The Colonel replied, I

cannot help it. Hastings, with his profound knowledge of

the native character, reprobated the negotiation, and con-

sidered that it should have been entrusted to Colonel Fullerton,

cvnd conducted at the head of his army, at the capital. But

Hastings was now comparatively powerless. The Court of

Directors, a prey to intrigue, had recently renewed their con-

demnation of his conduct, his own Council deserted, him,

Lord Macartney set him at defiance, and the negotiations

with Tippoo were left to the mismanagement of Madras. The

commissioners were marched leisurely through the country,
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subjected to every indignity and detained at every stage, till

Mangalore had surrendered, when they were allowed to ap-

proach the Mysore camp. And there, after having been again

insulted by the erection of three gibbets in front of then* tents,

they at length signed the treaty, on the basis of a mutual re-

stitution of conquests. Of the prisoners who had fallen into

the hands of Ilyder and Tippoo, the most distinguished had

been taken off by poison, or hacked to pieces in the woods;

but 190 officers and 900 European soldiers still survived the

barbarous treatment to which they had been subjected for

several years, and were now liberated. Of the treaty, it

may be sufficient to say that it was not more disgraceful than

those which the Governors and Council of Madras had been

in the habit of making for the last fifteen years. It was in-

jurious not only to the character of the British government,
but also to the interests of peace, inasmuch as it entailed the

necessity of another war to correct the arrogance with

which it inspired Tippoo, and to which he gave expression
iu the following terms :

" On the occasion of the signature of

the treaty, the English commissioners stood with their heads

uncovered, and the treaty in their hands, for two hours,

using every form of flattery and supplication to induce com-

pliance. The vakeels of Poona and Hyderabad united in the

most abject entreaties, and his Majesty, the shadow of God,

was at length soiieued into assent."

CHAPTER XV.

HASIINGS'S ADMINISTRATION THE SUPREME COURT
PROCEEDINGS IN ENGLAND, 1774 1784.

To resume the thread of events in Bengal. The
pupremo court Supreme Court, established by the wisdom of
n'l the zi-tnm-

*

oars, 1775- 1 i&o. Parliament in Calcutta, in 1774, was intended to



XV.] ENCROACHMENTS OF THE SUPREME COURT. 411

protect the natives from the oppression of Europeans, and to

give the English^ community the blessing of their own laws.

The judges were invested with the attributes of the twelve

judges in Westminster, and empowered to administer English
law in all its branches. Parliament had thus, without any
correct knowledge of the circumstances or wants of the new

conquest, established two independent powers, but had ne-

glected to define the sphere of their authority, and a collision

between the government of the Company and the judicial

officers of the Crown, became inevitable. One of the earliest

acts of the Court was to hang Nundu koomar for an offence

which had not been capital since the days of Munoo. The

next blow fell on the zemindars. The country was slowly

recovering from the confusion incident to the introduction of

a novel and foreign administration, and the zemindars were

but partially reconciled to the new economy. The Supreme

Court, as soon as it was established, began to issue writi?

against them, at the suit of any one who could fee an attor-

ney, on the strength of which they were immediately seized

in their own cutcheries, or rent-courts, and dragged down to

Calcutta from a distance, sometimes, of several hundred

miles, and consigned to jail if they were unwilling, or unable,

to furnish bail. No indemnification was given to them for

the expense or disgrace they had incurred, even when their

arrest was cancelled for illegality. Of English law, then the

most complicated system of jurisprudence in the world, they
were profoundly ignorant, and they felt that no innocence

and no ingenuity was able to protect them from the new

dangers which menaced them. A dark cloud hung over the

country, as portentous as a Mahratta invasion.

The Court1
*

These proceedings necessarily affected the col-

interference lection of the revenue, and endangered the re-
withthe *

Government, sources of government. The disposition to

withhold every payment, however just, is in-

herent in the native character, and the slightest pretext is

sufficient to dcvelope it. The arrest and humiliation of tho
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zemindars destroyed their credit and authority, and gave
their unscrupulous ryots an advantage they were not slow to

improve. It had, moreover, been the immemorial custom in

India to subject defaulters to coercion, without which they

rarely paid their rents; but the attorneys of the Supremo

Court, who had spread themselves over the country, advised

the ryots and renters when arrested, to sue out a writ of

habeas corpus, when they were brought down to Calcutta and

discharged, leaving -the landlord without rent or remedy.
The criminal judicature of the country, which embraced the

police of thirty millions of people, had been left in the hands

of the Nabob of Moorshedabad and his judicial and executive

officers. But the authority of their courts was at once anni-

hilated by the judges of the Supreme Court, who declared

that the person called Mobarik-ood-dowlah, that is, the

Nabob of Moorshedabad, was a phantom, a mere man of

straw, without any legal right to the exercise of any power
whatsoever. In one instance, indeed, the Court proceeded
so far as to issue a process of contempt against his Highness.
The next blow was aimed at the government itself, though
it had been established under the authority of Parliament.

The judges refused to acknowledge the East India Company
except as a trading body, with no other power or position

than an ordinary commercial association. They interpreted

the Act to signify that the government of the country by the

Governor-General in Council was subject to the jurisdiction

of the Supreme Court, and that it would be penal fer the

Company, or any of its servants, to disobey any order or

process emanating from it. There was no department of the

state with which they did not see fit to interfere ; the whole

fabric of the administration was shaken to its base, and the

country was threatened with universal anarchy, simply to

enlarge the jurisdiction of the Crown court, and to exalt the

authority of its judges.

The cossijurah
To enumerate the various instances of injustice

cast, 1779. an(j oppression to which the enforcement of these
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claims gave rise would exceed the limits of this epitome, and

one must suffice as a sample. A baboo named Cossinath was

instigated to bring an action in the Supreme Court in August,

1779, against his master, the raja of Cossijurah, lying to the

south of Calcutta. A writ was issued on the strength of his

affidavit, and the raja was required to find bail to the extent

of three lacs and a half of rupees. He concealed himself to

avoid the process, upon which the Court immediately des-

patched two sheriff's officers, with a body of eighty-six men,
of whom thirteen were European sailors, and the rest natives

habited as sepoys, and all armed with muskets or swords.

On their arrival at Cossijurah, they forced their way into the

palace of the raja, maltreated his servants, violated the

sanctity of the zenana, and desecrated his family temple,

packing up the idol with other lumber in a basket, and affix-

ing the seal of the Court to it. Hastings considered that the

time had at length arrived when he could no longer delay to

vindicate the authority of the government, and afford pro-

tection to the natives, whatever might be the hazard attend-

ing it. He instructed the military officer at Midnapore to

intercept the whole party on their return, and march them to

Calcutta, where they were immediately liberated. To prevent
similar outrages which were then meditated, he likewise

issued a proclamation, directing all landholders of every

degree to consider themselves exempt from the jurisdiction of

the Supreme Court, except in the two cases of their having
bound themselves by agreement to submit to it, or being British

subjects. The Supreme Court then proceeded to issue a sum-

mons against the Governor-General himself and the members
of the Supreme Council, but they peremptorily refused to

obey it.

s> E im
Petitions were now addressed to Parliament by

nnd the sudder both Europeans and natives, praying for a redress
lurt, 1780.

Qf these intolerable grievances. But as tho

remedy might be long in coming, the sagacity of Hastings
discovered a more immediate antidote, The Provincial Coun-
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oils established in 1773, held both revenue and civil courts ;

and an appeal from their decisions lay to the Sudder Dewannj'-

Adawlut, or chief court of appeal in Calcutta, in which the

Governor-General and the Council were appointed to presidfc,

which, however, their political and administrative duties

seldom allowed them to do. In April, 1780, Hastings re-

modelled the whole system, separated the fiscal from the civil

jurisdiction, leaving the former with the Provincial courts,

and entrusting the latter to the civil courts which he estab-

lished in each district, "with an appeal to the Sudder Dewanriy.

He then offered the post of chief judge of this court to

Sir Elijah Impey, upon a salary of 7,000 rupees a month,

which was accepted without any hesitation. This appoint-

ment, together with that of another of the Crown judges as

Commissioner of the Dutch settlement of Chinsurah, which

had been recently captured, at once quieted the Supreme

Court, and released the Government from its embarrassments.

The position in which this arrangement placedRemarks on this r

arrangement, the Chief Justice, proved highly advantageous to

the interests of the country. The judges of the

new civil courts who were young and inexperienced, were

placed under his supervision and guidance, and he was thus

enabled to give form and consistency to the system of civil

judicature. Though bred in all the technicalities of English

law, he drew up a code of regulations for the administration

of justice in the interior, comprised in ninety-five sections,

brief and clear, and exactly adapted to the simplicity of native

habits ;
and it has formed the basis of all subsequent legisla-

lation at the Bengal Presidency. But this arrangement was

assailed with great animosity, both in the Court of Directors

and in the House of Commons. Sir Elijah was recalled for

having accepted the office, and Hastings was eventually

impeached, in addition to the other crimes charged against

him, for having conferred it. But, after the lapse of eighty

years, the wisdom of this proceeding has been triumphantly

vindicated by the Parliamentary enactment of 1860, which
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placed the Chief justice of the Supreme Court at the head

of the Company's Court of Appeal, and by amalgamating the

two Courts, committed to him the duty of supervising the

judicial system of the Presidency. On the receipt of trio

petitions from Calcutta before alluded to, Parliament passed
an Act in which the functions of the Supreme Court were

more distinctly defined, and it continued from that period to

the hour of its extinction, to enjoy the confidence and admira-

tion of the entire community, European and native, for the

equity and impartiality of its decisions.

Cheyt sinfa
^ne pecuniary difficulties of the government of

delinquency, Bengal were at tliis time most critical. There was

war with Ilyder, who was triumphant in the

Carnatic ; war with the French, with the Dutch, and with the

Mahrattas. The entire expense of all these wars fell upon the

treasury in Bengal; a debt of a crore of rupees had been

incurred, and the credit of Government was at the lowest ebb.

Hastings was under the necessity of looking to other sources

than the ordinary revenues of the country for supplies, and

he was induced to make an additional demand on Cheyt Sing,

the raja of Benares. The grandfather of the raja had begun
life with the rent of half a village, but amidst the distraction

of the times, had succeeded in acquiring a territory, which

yielded 50 lacs of rupees a year. The district was transferred

by the Nabob Vizier to the British government in 1775, and

the rajah received a sunnud from the Governor-General,
which stipulated that his annual tribute should be limited to

twenty- two lacs and a-half a year- Hastings's demand was
therefore stigmatised by his opponents as a breach of faith.

But the tenure of Benares was more that of a feudatory than

of a mere zemindar, which appears evident from the fact, that

Hastings, when irritated by his opposition, threatened to

reduce him to the condition of a simple zemindar, like the raja

of Burdwan. By the law and constitution of India, he was

liable, in cases of emergency, to be called on for extraordinary

aids by his superior lord. Such payments had formerly been
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made to his liege, the Nabob of Ouole, and he was equally
bound to meet the requisition made upon him on the present

emergency by Hastings, of 2,000 horse and five lacs of

rupees. The rajah pleaded poverty, and endeavoured t>

evade the payment of the full amount, but Hastings had

received intimation from various quarters that his hoards

exceeded two crores of rupees, and he persuaded himself that

the rajah's reluctance to comply with his demands, was a

crime. He determined, therefore, "to make him pay largely

for his pardon, to exact a severe vengeance for his delinquency,
and to draw from his guilt the means of relief to the Com-

pany's distresses."

c gin
,
g Hastings was about to proceed to Benares to

excessive fine, meet the vakeel of the raja of Berar, and nego-
tiate a peace with the Regency at Poona. Cheyt

Sing was fully apprised of his resentment, and hastened to

avert it by waiting on him as he entered the province, and

humbly beseeching him to accept twenty lacs of rupees.

The offer was rejected with scorn, and the sum of fifty lacs

peremptorily demanded. On his arrival at Benares on the

15th of August, 1781, Hastings sent the raja a statement of

his complaints, and placed him under arrest, by sending four

companies of sepoys to take the place of his own guards.

The city of Benares, the citadel of Hindooism, and the great

focus of political intrigue, had always been notorious for its

turbulence. On the present occasion, the populace, roused by
the indignity inflicted on the raja, rose upon the sepoys.

who had brought no ammunition with them, and slaughtered

both them and their officers. During this emeute, the raja

himself escaped across the river to his fortified palace at

Kamnugur. The situation of Hastings was perilous in the

extreme ; the native force on which he depended for protec-

tion was annihilated, and he, and the thirty gentlemen with

him, had only their own weapons to trust to. Happily the

infuriated retainers of the raja crowded tumultuously after

him, and quitted the city, instead of attacking Hastings in his
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defenceless state. The whole province was speedily in a

blaze of revolt, and the zemindars of Behar, who had ever

been disaffected towards the English, were ripe for insurrec-

tion. It was at this critical period, while beleaguered in

Benares, that Hastings exhibited his rare strength of nerve,

by continuing and completing his negotiations with Sindia,

as if he had been tranquilly residing in Calcutta. Equally
remarkable was the confidence that Sindia manifested in the

destinies of the English, by affixing his seal to the treaty,

while he knew that the life of the Governor-General was in

jeopardy. His situation at Benares, notwithstanding the

rapid arrival of troops from different quarters, was not, how-

ever, considered defensible, and he made his escape during
the night, by a window, and rowed down to Chunar.

Capture of
"^ne raja collected a force of 20,000 men, but did

, 9th not cease to importune Hastings for a reconcilia-

tion, which was wisely rejected, lest it should bo

attributed to fear. The raja's troops were successively de-

feated, and he took refuge in Bidgegur, but not deeming
himself safe there, fled to Bundlecund with as much treasure

as his elephants and camels could carry. The begums, who
were left behind, surrendered the fortress on the 9th of

November. In a private letter to the commander of the

troops, in reference to the treasure which was supposed to

be deposited in Bidgegur, Hastings had incautiously remarked,
" With regard to the booty, that is rather your consideration

than mine. I should be sorry that any of your officers and

soldiers lost any part of the reward to which they are so well

entitled." On the strength of this communication, the

officers proceeded at once to divide the booty, amounting to

forty lacs of rupees, among themselves and the troops.

Hastings was especially mortified at the loss of the treasure

with which he had hoped to replenish the empty treasury of

the Company. The officers were invited to return it, and to

Leave their claims to the equitable decision of the Supreme
Council, but they manifested their discretion by refusing to

2 E
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trust their interests to the arbitrament of a pauper govern-
ment. In extenuation of the odious proceedings of Hastings
towards Cheyt Sing, it was asserted that he was disaffected

to the British Government ; but, in this case, Hastings would

not have ventured to enter the capital with so slender an

escort. Cheyt Sing was culpable in having hesitated to

afford immediate aid to his liege sovereign in a great public

exigency, but the imposition of a fine of fifty lacs of rupees

for withholding payment of one-tenth of the sum, had an

aspect of vindictiveness which it is impossible to palliate ;

and although Hastings was so blinded by his own judgment
as to claim merit for the transaction, it has always been

considered a dark 'spot in his administration, and. it will

hereafter appear that it was on this point that the question

of his impeachment eventually turned. Cheyt Sing en-

joyed an asylum at Grwalior for twenty-nine years. His

nephew was raised to the throne, and the tribute augmented
from twenty-two and a half to forty lacs a year.

The begums of The disappointment which Hastings had x-

Oude, 1782.
perienced regarding these treasures increased his

embarrassment. The treasury in Calcutta was drained for

the support of more than sixty thousand troops required for

the war at Bombay and Madras, and money was indispensable.

It was in these 'circumstances that the Nabob vizier waited

on him at Chunar, and represented the impossibility of making-

good from his exhausted country ihe arrears of a crore and

a half of rupees due to the Company, and of continuing to

maintain the English troops stationed in his dominions. But

these troops were indispensably necessary to their defence,

and the withdrawal of them would have been immediately

followed by a Mahratta invasion. He entreated Hastings to

relieve him from the charge of at least one brigade, and to

allow him to take possession of the wealth and the jaygeers

of the begums, to enable him to discharge his obligations to

the Company. Hastings subsequently affirmed that if the

Vizier had not made this proposal, he himself would never
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have suggested it. At the same time, it was represented to

him that the begums had abetted the rebellion, as he called

it, of Cheyt Sing, and supplied him with troops and money.
The charge rested chiefly on the assertion of one Colonel

Hannay, who had obtained service with the Nabob vizier,

and fleeced him to the extent of thirty lacs of rupees in three

years. It was supported by affidavits taken before Sir Elijah

Irnpey, the chief judge of the Supreme Court, who pro-

ceeded to Lucknow for the purpose ;
a most extraordinary

pilgrimage, as was justly said, for a most extraordinary pur-

pose yet it was utterly without foundation. But under the

pressure of circumstances, Hastings brought himself round to

the belief that " the begums had made war on the Company ;"

he yielded to the solicitation of the Vizier, and his con-

sent to the spoliation of the princesses was duly embodied in a

treaty. The Nabob returned to Lucknow, and after some little

hesitation, to save appearances and to throw the odium of the

transaction on the Governor-General, surrounded the palace

of the begums with guards, seized and fettered the two

eunuchs who were their confidential ministers, sequestered

their .estates, and extorted, at several times, sums to the

amount of seventy-six lacs of rupees, which .were paid over

to the Company. To these treasures and jaygeers the

begums had originally no legitimate title, ,as we have ex-

plained in a preceding chapter; they were state property,

liable for the obligations of the state; but six years had

elapsed since the Nabob however reluctantly it matters not

had assigned them to the begums, under the official

guarantee of the representative of the Governor-General.

The coercive measure now adopted admits therefore of no

moral extenuation. Yet so little was Hastings alive to the

objectionable character of this transaction, that he ridiculed

the censure which " men of virtue
"
might cast upon it. But

the men of virtue and of political integrity in his own land

have regarded it as a stain on his administration, however

consonant it may have been with the Mahomedan law of

2 E2
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euccession, or the practice of Oriental courts. As to the

barbarities practised on the begums and their servants by the

Nabob, Hastings cannot be held personally answerable for

them ; the odium which they have fixed on his administration,

was the revenge of civilization for an alliance with barbarism,

for a most objectionable object.

Fyzooiia Khan, Fyzoolla Khan, the Eohilla chieftain, was, in

1780.
1774, left in possession of Rampoora and several

other jaygeers, of the annual value of fifteen lacs of rupees.

He devoted his attention with great zeal to the encourage-
ment of agriculture and the improvement of the country,

and with such success as to double his rent-roll in seven

years, without overtaxing his subjects. He was bound by

treaty not to increase his military force beyond 5,000 men,
of whom 3,000 were to be at the disposal of the Nabob vizier,

when he happened to be engaged in war. In November,

1780, Hastings, distracted by the intelligence of Colonel

Baillie's defeat, instructed the Vizier to demand the aid of

5,000 troops for the defence of Behar, to liberate the English

regiments for service at Madras. Fyzoolla Khan, with all

humility, made an offer of 2,000 horse and 1,000 foot.

Hastings, who always expected prompt obedience to his

requisitions, was exasperated at this hesitation, and under

the alarm created by Cheyt Sing's proceedings, assented,

without adequate consideration, to the request made by the

Vizier to dispossess Fyzcolla Khan of the whole of his

zemindary and annex it to his own dominions: but he soon

after discovered and acknowledged the error he had com-

mitted in this interpretation of the treaty, revoked the per-

mission he had given to the Vizier, and released Fyzoolla Khan

from the obligation of furnishing any quota of troops in

future, on the payment of fifteen lacs of rupees.

Censure of the These proceedings were severely condemned by

HMttafjTre-
tne Court f Directors who pronounced the de-

signs, i783-. mand on Cheyt Sing, a breach of faith, and

ordered him to be restored to his estates. Under the in-
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fluence of this vote of censure Hastings's colleagues in

Council not only withdrew their support from him, but

became united in their opposition to him, and he complained,

with great reason that while he was still held responsible

for the safety of India, his degradation had been proclaimed

at every court in India. "
If," he said,

" I am to be

threatened with dismission, my acts reprobated, the whole

responsibility of the government thrown on me, with only
an equal voice in Council, I cannot discharge my trust with

credit or effect." In a letter to the Court of Directors of

the 20th of March, 1783, after appealing to them to attest

the patience and temper with which he had submitted to all

the indignities heaped upon him during his long service, he

announced his determination to quit their service, and re-

quested that a successor might be immediately nominated.

During the year 1784 he proceeded to Lucknow, and in

compliance with the requisition of the Court of Directors,

restored the jaygeers to the begums, through the agency
of the Nabob vizier. He adjusted all accounts between Oude

and the Company, made every arrangement for the payment
of the English troops employed in its defence, and then with-

drew the Residency, which had become odious to the Vizier by
its interference with his government, not less than by its

depredations. On his return to Calcutta, Hastings addressed

valedictory letters to all the princes and chiefs of India, and

having laid the keys of the treasury on the table of the

Council Board, and delivered the keys of the fort to his

successor, Mr. Macpherson, embarked for England in Febru-

ary, 1785, after a most eventful administration of thirteen

years.

TT t . , Hastings reached England on the 13th of June,
Hastings s recep-

tion in England, and experienced the most gracious reception from

the King and Queen; and even the Court of Direc-

tors greeted him with a courteous address. By one of the most

influential members of the House of Lords, he was described

as the Company's great minister the powerful Chatham of
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the east. The Ministry, with one exception, evinced the

most friendly disposition towards him, and the preeminent
services he had rendered to his country in the East fully justi-

fied his expectations of a peerage. But that exception was

fatal to all his hopes. Mr. Pitt, the prime minister, had

imbibed a vehement prejudice against him. He admitted

that he was a great and wonderful man, and that the charges

against him were ridiculous and absurd; but, he had committed

four transgressions he had attempted to extend the British

dominions in India, which the minister highly disapproved of ;

he had forfeited the confidence of the native princes ; he had

disobeyed the orders of the Court of Directors ; and he had

fixed enormous salaries to offices in India. There was, more-

over, an adverse resolution on the records of the House of

Commons, and until it was done away with by a vote of

thanks for his great services, Mr. Pitt affirmed that he could

not advise his Majesty to confer any honour on him ; yet the

minister's favourite colleague, Mr. Dundas, with whom that

damnatory vote originated, had subsequently .declared, that

Hastings's conduct was worthy of every praise he could

bestow, and of every support his Majesty's ministers could

afford him ; and he went so far as expressly to pronounce him

the saviour of India. As to the vote of thanks, Mr. Pitt had

only to propose it to the House, and it would have been

carried by acclamation.

Seven days after Hastings landed in England,

^r- Burke, one of the most distinguished leaders

ment, 2oth of the Whigs, gave notice in the House of Corn-
June, 1785.

mons that he would on a future day, make

a motion regarding the conduct of a gentleman recently re-

turned from India. But a meeting of the party was held

soon after, and it was resolved, with great unanimity, to be

unadvisable to embark in a crusade against him. There was

therefore every reason to conclude that the menace of a pro-

secution would have blown over, but for the imprudence and

arrogance of Major John Scott, the confidential agent and
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evil genius of Hastings. Like other retired Indians of ample
fortune he had purchased a borough and entered Parliament.

On the first day of the ensuing session of 1786, he rose and

defied Burke to make good his threat. After this challenge,

Burke had no option but to pursue his intention, and he

entered upon the impeachment with all the ardour of his

enthusiastic nature. His political associates, who had been

lukewarm on the subject, felt themselves bound in honour to

rally round and support him ; and this celebrated trial is thus

traced up to the mistaken zeal of Hastings's own friend,

Major Scott, who emphatically
" bullied

" Burke into the pro-

secution. His first motion was for the production of papers,

but the House resolved, that he should state his case before

he applied for documents to support it.

On the 4th of April, Burke brought forward
Charges against

r

Hastings, 4th eleven charges, to which eleven others were sub-

sequently added. For many years he had made

the politics and the people of India and their ancient history

his particular study, and no man in the House has ever been

more familiar with all questions relating to that country. He
was a worshipper of ancient institutions and dynasties, and

having followed the career of Hastings step by step, gradually

contracted a feeling of personal animosity towards him, for

his attempts to subvert them in the East. But all the mate-

rials of the charges were supplied by Mr. Francis, Hastings's

rancorous opponent in India, who had obtained a seat in Par-

liament, and determined to hunt him down with all the

rancour which might have been expected from the writer of

Junius's letters. After the charges had been introduced,

Hastings obtained permission to be heard in reply, and on the

1st of May appeared at the bar, bending beneath the weight
of a document more prolix than even a Bengal dispatch.

He read on till he was exhausted, when the clerks of

the House came to his aid, and mumbled through its inter-

minable pages, the reading of which required a second day.
The only impression produced on the House was one of weari-
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ness and impatience ; yet so ignorant was Hastings of English
sensibilities as to persuade himself that the idea of the reply
was conceived in a happy hour, and by a blessed inspiration,

and that "it instantly turned all minds to his own way."
Of the twenty-two charges, only three were of

The three prm- * ' J

cipai charges, any serious importance, and they referred to the
1 7ftfi

first Rohilla war, toCheyt Sing, and to the begums
of Oude. The rest such as that of having in six revolu-

tions, brought the fertile and beautiful provinces of Furruck-

abad to a state of the most deplorable ruin, and of having

impoverished and depopulated Oude, and rendered the country,

which was once a garden, an uninhabited desert, were the

mere litter of Mr. Francis's malignity. The first charge
accused him of having

" hired British soldiers for the purpose

of extirpating the innocent and helpless people inhabiting the

Rohillas." But the first Rohilla war had received the appro-

bation of the Court of Directors ; it had taken place fourteen

years before, and whatever might have been its criminality,

Parliament had condoned it by subsequently reappointing

Hastings Governor-General. Mr. Dundas explained that when
he proposed a vote of censure to the House on this transac-

tion, he considered it sufficient for the recall of Hastings ; but

he had never supposed that it involved the necessity of a

prosecution. Both he and Mr. Pitt voted against the charge,
and it was consequently negatived by 119 to 67. The charge
of wanton cruelty and extortion against the raja of Benares,

was brought forward by Fox, in a speech of surpassing ability,

but he rested his argument solely on the principle that Cheyt

Sing was an independent prince, no way liable to be called on

for succour by the Bengal Government. Mr. Pitt, who was

expected to support Hastings in this case also, resisted this

opinion, and asserted that Cheyt Sing was a vassal cf the

Bengal empire, and owed allegiance to it, and was subject to

extraordinary demands on extraordinary emergencies. But,

he added, the whole of Hastings's conduct showed that he

intended to punish the raja with too much severity, inflicting
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a fine of fifty lacs for a default of only five lacs. He voted,

therefore, for the motion, which was carried by 119 to 79.

The adoption of this charge by the Ministry, was the turning

point of the impeachment, which, after this decision, became

inevitable. The third important charge, which referred to the

confiscation of the treasures and estates of the begums of

Oude, was entrusted to Mr. Sheridan, and the speech of six

hours' duration with which he introduced it, has been justly

considered the greatest effort of oratory in ancient and

modern times. Mr. Pitt, himself, described it as possessing

everything that genius or art could furnish, to agitate and

control the human mind. The House was enraptured by his

eloquence, and gave an unusual sign of applause by clapping
of hands, in which even the strangers were allowed to join

without rebuke. The debate was adjourned to the next

day, on the extraordinary plea that, under spell of the orator,

the members had lost their self-possession. When the House

resumed, Mr. Pitt came forward and asserted, that Hastings's

conduct regarding the treasures of the begxuns bore the

strongest marks of criminality, though he did not impute to

him. the cruelties said to have been practised. After this decla-

ration, the charge was supported by a majority of three to

one. It was therefore resolved that Warren Hastings should be

impeached before the Lords of high crimes and misdemeanours

during the period of his Indian government ;
and as the Lords

refused the use of their own chamber, Westminster Hall was
ordered to be fitted up for the occasion.

Tnai of
"^he trial wnica commenced on the 13th of

Hastings. Has February, 1788, presented the most august

spectacle which had been witnessed in England
for more than a century the impeachment by the Commons
of England, before the highest tribunal in the land, of the

man who had consolidated the power of Great Britain in the

East. The scene was one of unexampled dignity and gran-
deur. The Queen and the Princesses, the Prince of Wales,
and his royal brothers, with their trains, led the procession.
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The peers in their ermine, were marshalled two and two

according to their rank from their own chamber to the hall.

But the most interesting spectacle was the galaxy of genius

grouped together in the seats appropriated to the managers
of the trial Fox, and Burke, and Sheridan, and Grey, and

Windham, men of imperishable renown in the annals of their

country. In the presence of this illustrious assembly,
Warren Hastings, who had given law to the princes and

people of India for thirteen years, appeared in the position
of a culprit, and was required to go down upon his knees.

He was immediately commanded to rise, and accommodated
with a seat; but of all the indignities which had been

heaped on him hi England or in India, this ignominious cere-

monial was that which most acutely wounded his feelings.

The Lord Chancellor, who presided in the Court, and who
had been his own school-fellow at Westminster, concluded

his address with much solemnity,
" Conduct your defence in a

hanner that may befit your station and the magnitude of the

charges against you, and estimate rightly the high character

of those you have to answer the Commons of Great Britain."

To which Hastings replied with great dignity,
" I am come

to this high tribunal, equally impressed with a confidence in

my own integrity, and in the justice of the Court before

which I stand." The pleadings were opened by Burke in a

speech of such transcendent power, that Hastings himself

was carried away by the torrent of eloquence, and remarked

that for half an hour he really considered himself the greatest

miscreant in England. The management of the impeachment,
for any detail of which, however, it is not possible to find

space hi this brief sketch, was left by Mr. Pitt in the hands

of his opponents, the Whigs, and it was conducted in a spirit

of rancour, which in this age of moderation, is regarded with

amazement. The whole proceeding is inseparably connected

with the traditions and the credit of that party, and, hence,

after the lapse of three-quarters of a century, its political chief

Still considers that the ''whole of Basting-s's policy was
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conceived in an Indian spirit of trick, perfidy, cruelty and

falsehood." To acquit Hastings of criminality would ne-

cessarily imply the severest reflection on the conduct of

those who applied to him the epithets of "
thief,"

"
tyrant,"

"
robber,"

"
cheat,"

"
swindler,"

"
sharper,"

"
captain-general

of iniquity," and "
spider of hell," and then expressed their

regret that the English language did not afford terms more

adequate to the enormity of his offences. The trial dragged
on for seven years, and terminated on the 23rd of April,

1795, in his complete and honourable acquittal. It cost him

ten lacs of rupeesr and reduced him to poverty, but it has

conferred immortality on his name.

Character and No man acting on so great a theatre, and in

administration circumstances of such extreme difficulty has ever
of Hastings, , . .

*

had his public conduct, and his private corres-

pondence subjected to an ordeal like that to which Hastings
was exposed, and there are few who could have come out of

it with such credit. In the opinion of the ablest, though most

censorious of the historians of British India, "He was beyond
all question the most eminent of the chief rulers whom the

Company has ever employed, nor is there any one of them

who would not have succumbed under the difficulties he had

to encounter." The impartial verdict of posterity has long-

since acquitted him of the crimes charged on him. That ne

was not free from blame, the preceding narrative has abund-

antly shown, but his offences are cast into the shade when
we contemplate the grandeur of his whole career, and we

may adopt the opinion of one of the most eminent statesmen

of the day,
"
Though he was not blameless, if there was

a bald place on his head it ought to be covered with

laurels." His presidency was a great epoch in the history

of our Indian empire. On his arrival in Bengal, as governor,

he found the Company in possession of a large and fertile

territory, but without any rule of government except that

which had descended to it from its commercial institutions,

and no ruin of policy but that which the accident of the
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day supplied. It was he who organised the administration

and consolidated the political power of the British empire in

the East. While he was anxious to avoid territorical acquisi-

tions, he set his heart on extending oar political influence to

every court, and making the Company the leading power in

India, and the arbitrer of its destinies. This task he accom-

plished while opposed and thwarted by his colleagues, counter-

acted and reviled by his superiors, and enjoying but accidental

and temporary authority. While the king of England and

his ministers were losing an empire in the west, he was

building upon an empire in the east. To the natives of India

his impeachment was an incomprehensible enigma. They had

followed him to his embarkation with their regrets, and when
he had been deprived of all power, and had become the butt

of persecution, the princes of India, whose confidence he was
said to have forfeited, hastened to offer him the spontaneous

homage of their admiration. Nor to this day is he regarded in

India in any other light than as one of the most moderate and

most honourable, as well as the ablest of British rulers.

Select ana The exclusive privileges granted to the East

mitteei78i In(^a Company were to expire upon three years'
82-

notice, after the 25th of March, 1780, and negotia-

tions were therefore opened between the India-house and the

Treasury, towards the close of that year, which turned chiefly

on two points, the right of the Crown to all territories ac-

quired by its subjects, and the share due to the public of the

advantages which the Company enjoyed. On the 9th of

April, 1781, Lord North brought forward eight propositions

in the House of Commons relative to the government of

India, so unpalatable that the Court of Directors refused to

apply for the renewal of the Charter on such terms. But the

Company was strong in the House and in the country, while

the Ministry was tottering. A compromise was, therefore,

effected between the parties. The question of right to the

territories acquired in India was left in abeyance, and the

existing privileges were extended with scarcely any modifica-
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tion to a period of three years, after notice had been given
on the 1st of March, 1791. The Company was likewise

required to pay to the Treasury the sum of forty lacs of

rupees in lieu of all arrears due to the nation, and three-

fourths of their surplus profits, after the payment of a divi-

dend of eight per cent., were to go to the state. In February
of the year 1781, the petitions, formerly mentioned, from

the inhabitants of Calcutta against the encroachments of the

Supreme Court were presented to the House, and it was agreed
to refer them to a Select Committee, of which Mr. Burke

was the life and soul, and which is remembered by the twelve

able reports drawn up by his pen and submitted to Parlia-

ment. It was these reports which for the first time diffused

through the community in England a distinct view of the

origin and progress of our rule in India, and of the im-

portance of the national interests which had grown up. On
the receipt of the intelligence of Hyder Ali's irruption into

the Carnatic, the Minister moved for the appointment of a

Secret Committee to inquire into the cause of the war, and

the state of the British possessions on that coast. Six reports

were presented by this Committee, through its chairman,

Mr. Dundas.

Motion for the
On the 9th of April, 1782, Mr. Dundas moved

recall of that the reports be referred to a Committee of the

whole House, and in a speech of three houi's'

duration, denounced the conduct of the Presidencies in India,

whom he charged with having plunged the nation into wars

for the sake of conquest, violated the engagement of treaties,

and plundered and oppressed the natives. He censured the

Court of Directors for reprobating the conduct of their

servants abroad only when it was not attended with profit.

The House at once adopted the charges brought against Sir

Thomas Rumbold, the late governor of Madras, and a bill of

pains and penalties was introduced, but in consequence of the

unsettled state of parties, it dropped through, leaving the

black stain of his iniquities still attached to his character.
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On the 30th of May, 1782, Mr. Dundas moved for the recall

of Mr. Hastings from Bengal, and Mr. Hornby from Bombay,
for having in sundry instances acted in a manner repugnant to

the honour and policy of the nation, and thereby brought great

calamities on India, and enormous expenses on the Company.
The House voted Hastings's recall; the Court of Directors

followed the example, but the Court of Proprietors, which at

this time comprised men of high standing and great eminence

in the country, resolved that the Court of Directors was not

bound to pay any attention to the suggestions of only one

branch of the legislature, and passed a vote of thanks to

Hastings. This act of independence, which was resented by
both parties in the House, sealed the doom of that Court.

Mr. Dundas declared it to be dangerous in principle and

insulting to the authority of Parliament, and when he came

into power two years subsequently, assisted in giving a death

blow to its power.

FOX'S India The pecuniary embarrassments in which the

BUI, 1783. Company was involved by the bills drawn for the

expenses of the war in the Carnatic, damaged their position

in no small degree. On the 5th of March they presented
a petition to the House stating that of the sum exacted

of them for the benefit of the nation, they had paid thirty

lacs, but were unable to find the remainder, though it was

only ten lacs, and, moreover, that they could not carry on

the government of India for another twelvemonth, without

the loan of a crore of rupees. Two Acts were passed for

their relief ; but this application, combined -with the reports

of the two Committees, and the damaging debates in the

House, produced a deep impression on the public mind, and

there was a general demand for some measure commensurate

with the importance and exigency of the case. Mr. Fox, then

at the head of the Coalition Ministry, -was urged by the

national voice to legislate for India, and he consequently

brought forward his celebrated India Bill. Both Clive and

Hastings had recommended to the Prime Ministers of the day,
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to Lord Chatham and Lord North, that the government of

India should be conducted in the name and under the autho-

rity of the king. But Mr. Fox's Bill went much further

He proposed that all the powers of government should be

transferred, for a period of four years, from the Company to

a Board consisting of seven Commissioners, to be nominated in

the first instance by Parliament, and afterwards by the

Crown. The trade of the Company was to be managed by
nine assistant-directors, to be eventually chosen by the pro-

prietors of India Stock. Another Bill was likewise introduced

-for the reform of abuses in India, but its provisions were

without vigour or soundness. A hobby of Mr. Francis was

also adopted, and the zemindars were declared to be the

hereditary proprietors of the lands of which they collected

the revenue. As regarded making war or alliances with the

native powers, the supreme authority in India was to be

placed under more severe restrictions, and rendered more

subordinate than before to the Board -of Commissioners,

fourteen thousand miles off, in England.
The motives of Mr. Fox, in the introduction of

Defeat of toss
India BUI, this bill, were pure and benevolent. He really

believed that it was his mission " to rescue the

greatest number of the human race that ever were so grie-

viously oppressed, from the greatest tyranny that ever was
exercised." But the bill was considered dangerous to the

liberties of the nation. The patronage of India was estimated

to be worth two crores of rupees a year, arid, as the principle

of competitive appointments had not then been discovered,

it was believed that the transfer of it to the Crown, or to the

minister would destroy the balance of the constitution. It

was, therefore, opposed by many from the most patriotic

motives. The Court of Directors, threatened with extinction,

filled the country with their complaints, and asserted that

after such a violation of chartered rights, no institution in

England was secure. The cry was echoed in Parliament by
thirty or forty of those whom the spoils of the east, or the
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jobs of the India-house, had lifted into the senate, and who

presented a firm phalanx of opposition to a bill which cut

off their children and connections from the prospect of similar

fortunes. Every engine was set in motion to defeat this

measure, yet it passed the lower House by a triumphant

majority of 208 to 102. But the king had been alarmed by
the assurance, that it would take the diadem from his head,

and place it on the brows of Mr. Fox. He, therefore, adopted
the unconstitutional course of authorizing Earl Temple to

inform the peers, that he should consider any one who voted

for it as no friend of his. The House of Lords therefore

threw out the bill, and at midnight the king sent a messenger
to the ministers, whom he cordially hated, to announce their

dismissal.

Mr Pitt's India Mr. William Pitt, then twenty-four years of age,
BUI 1784. wag piace(j at the head of the new ministry, and,

after struggling for several months with an adverse House
of Commons, at length appealed to the country, and obtained

a majority of 160. The East India Company, then the most

powerful corporation in England, had assisted him with their

influence at the elections, and their interests were not for-

gotten when he was in power. Their chief revenue was
derived from the monopoly of the tea trade. They were in

arrears for duty to the extent of a crore of rupees, which they
asked him to remit. The duty of 50 per cent, then levied on

the importation of the article, gave encouragement to

smuggling, and thereby diminished the resources of the Com-

pany. Mr. Pitt reduced it to 12^ per cent., and endeavoured

to make up the loss of sixty lacs of rupees which it entailed,

by an increase of the very objectionable tax on windows and

light. On the 13th of August, he introduced his India Bill,

in a speech in which he denounced, in no equivocal terms,

the misconduct of the governors in India. He had before

him the three plans for the improvement of the government,
which had been drawn up during the previous three years by
Lord North, Mr. Dundas and Mr. Fox, from each of which he
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borrowed some of the materials of his own bill. lie proposed
the appointment of a Board of Commissioners, consisting of

six members of the Privy Council, with power to check,

superintend and control, all the acts, operations and concerns,

connected with the civil and military government, and the

revenues of India. The Court of Directors were to submit to the

Commissioners, not only the letters received from India, as

before, but all those which were transmitted by them. All

despatches and orders dictated by the Board were to be im-

plicitly obeyed. At the same time a committee of secrecy was

constituted, consisting' of three Directors, through whom all

important communications from the Board were to be sent ; an

interior cabinet was thus established at the India House, which

excluded twenty-one of the Directors from all share of political

power. The Court of Proprietors, which had recently set the

House of Commons at defiance, was restricted from interfering
with any of the decisions of the Board, and was thus reduced

to utter insignificance. Two other provisions were inserted,

the one to compel every officer returning from India to deliver

a schedule of the property he had acquirrd ; the other to

establish a separate and august tribunal in England, for the

trial of great delinquents. But these anomalous enactments

were speedily abrogated. It was also declared in this bill

that the pursuit of schemes of conquest was repugnant to the

wish, to the honour and the policy of the British nation, and it

was therefore enacted,
" that it should not be lawful for the

Governor-General, without the express authority and concord

of the Court of Directors, or of the Secret Committee, either to

declare or commence hostilities, or to enter into any treaty

for making war against any of the native princes or states iu

India, or any treaty guaranteeing the dominions of such

princes or states, except when hostilities should have been

commenced, or preparations actually made for the attack of

the British nation in India, or of some of the states and

princes whose dominions it shall be engaged by subsisting

treaties to defend." How far this attempt to stop the growth
2 s-
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of the British empire by Act of Parliament was successful,

will be seen in the course of this history.

Comparison of It is difficult to account satisfactorily for the
the Bms, 1784.

reprobation of Mr. Pox's bill, and the commenda-

tion bestowed on that of Mr. Pitt. In both the monopoly of

the trade to India and China was left .to the Company, and

the Directors were to be chosen by the Proprietors. The

object of both was the same, to deprive the Court of Directors

of all power in the government of India, and transfer it to the

Ministry of the day, by whom, in both cases, the Commis-

sioners were to be appointed, for the Crown meant its respon-

sible Ministers. But, then, Mr. Pitt left to the Company the

semblance of power, while he imperceptibly took away the

reality. He left the Court of Directors all the trappings of

greatness, their grand house, their magnificent banquets, and

their vast patronage ; they were still the grandest corporation

in the grandest city of the world ; but, there was the check-

string behind the machinery, which controlled all its move-

ments. From the passing of this bill in 1784, to the period

when, in 1858, Mr. Fox's plan was consummated, and the

government of India distinctly transferred to the Crown, the

administration of India was conducted under the absolute

control of the President of the Board, though in the name of

the Company. The government of India was a despotism at

home, and a despotism abroad. The Indian Minister was, it is

true, responsible to Parliament, but the responsibility became

a farce, when the members rushed out of the house at the

name of India. Mr. Dundas was appointed the first President

of the Board, and continued for sixteen years to manage the

affairs of India with ability which has never been surpassed.

The office has since been considered one of inferior importance
and dignity, and, with occasional exceptions, has been left to

second, and even third-rate men. Indeed, there are few cir-

cumstances more striking in the history of our Indian empire,

than the contrast presented by the brilliant genius of its

successive Governors-General, and the dull mediocrity of

those who have presided over the government at home.
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of AT-
1 on which the absolute power

cot's debts, of the Indian minister was displayed, referred to

the Nabob of Arcot's debts, which had been for

many years the great source of demoralization at the Madras

Presidency. That prince had long been in the habit of borrow-

ing" money at an exorbitant premium and a ruinous interest,

and giving assignments, called tunkaws, on the revenue of

different districts. When he removed his court to Madras,
the town immediately became a scene of the most scandalous

intrigue and fraud, into which men of all classes, in and out of

the service, plunged with reckless avidity. The traffic in

loans to the Nabob was openly prosecuted without disguise

or shame, and became the shortest and surest road to fortune.

Civilians with ^00 rupees a month rose to sudden opulence,

and even the members of Council, who ought to have been

the foremost to check these nefarious practises, were them-

selves most deeply implicated in them. Government became

a mockery, when its highest dignitaries were employed in

endeavouring to obtain the control of districts for their private

advantage. Hastings, when he took over the revenues of

the Carnatic for the prosecution of the war with Hyder, deter-

mined to deal summarily with this incubus on its resources.

He proposed to deduct one-fourth from the principal, to con-

solidate principal and interest to a fixed date, after which all

interest was to cease, and to pay off the amalgamated sum

by instalments. So thoroughly aware were many of the

bondholders that these transactions would not bear the light,

that they came readily into the compromise, but the majority,

consisting chiefly of the public servants, did not consider it

their interest to cut down the great pagoda tree, and destroy
all hope of future produce, and the plan fell to the ground.

The settlement of these interminable claims

product regard-
was considered a matter of the first importance

ing the loans, ^y a]j ^he public men who had taken an active

part in Indian affairs. The bills of Mr. Dundas and

Mr. Fox made provision for investigating their origin aucl

2 F 2
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justice, and establishing a fund for their liquidation. Mr. Pitt's

India Bill contained the same enactment, and the Court of

Directors entered upon the duty with great zeal
;
but before

the close of 1784, Mr. Dundas took the affair out of their

hands, and determined to pay off the demands without any

investigation whatever. To determine the order of payment
he divided them into three classes, and directed that the sum
of twelve lacs of pagodas should be annually appropriated to

this object, giving the precedence, however, to the private

debts, over the debt due to the Company. The Court of

Directors remonstrated against this preposterous arrange-

ment, and justly pleaded their prior right to the repayment
of the expenses they had incurred, almost to their own bank-

ruptcy, in defending the Carnatic from Hyder's invasion, and

for which the Nabob had already made an assignment of

seven lacs of pagodas a year. They reprobated the proposal
to divert any portion of this sum to satisfy the demands of

his fraudulent creditors. But the powers of government had

passed out of their hands. The President of the Board of

Control refused to reconsider his decision, and the subject
was brought before the House in February, 1785. It was on

this occasion that Mr. Burke delivered his celebrated speech
on the Nabob's debts, and consigned the Benfields, and the

Atkinsons, and the whole crew of Madras extortioners, to

everlasting infamy. He ascribed the singular course pursued

by Mr. Dundas to the exercise of Parliamentary influence. It

appeared that Paul Benfield had been enabled to make no

fewer than eight members at the recent election, from funds

supplied by the Nabob of Arcot, and their votes were placed

at the disposal of the Ministry.
"
This," exclaimed Mr. Burke,

" was the golden cup of abominations ; this the chalice of the

fornications of rapine, usury, and oppression, which was held

out by the gorgeous eastern harlot, which so many of the

people so many of the nobles had drained to the very dregs."

But so powerfulwas theMinistryin the House, that they did not

condescend even to notice this brilliant speech. Mr. Dundas's
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scheme of liquidation was adopted, the result of which was,

to secure to Benfield the undisturbed enjoyment of a sum little

short of sixty lacs of rupees, of which he had plundered the

Carnatic.

Of the three classes into which Mr. Dundas had
Sequel of tho

Arcot debts, divided the claims, the largest was the consoli-

dated loan, as it was called, of 1777, of which the

Court of Directors heard, for the first time, in the preceding

year, and the amount of which was fixed, with interest, at

two crores and twenty lacs of rupees. But it cost the

country five crores before the last pagoda was paid off,

twenty years later, whereas Hastings's compromise, in 1781,

would have discharged the whole debt for a crore and a half.

To pursue this stupendous system of fraud to its closing

scene, we must anticipate the events of fifty years. To

prevent the recurrence of such claims, Mr. Fox's bill made it

unlawful for any servant of the Company, civil or military, to

be engaged in any money transaction whatever with any

protected or other native prince. Mr. Pitt did not think fit

to incorporate this wise prohibition in his bill, and the con-

sequence was, that while the liquidation of the old debt was
in progress, the Nabob and his friends were engaged in fabri-

cating fresh loans, and on the payment of the last claim in

1805, new demands to the incredible amount of thirty crores

of rupees were presented. But Parliament had learnt wisdom

by experience, and instead of again admitting them without

inquiry, determined to subject them to the severest scrutiny.

A Board of Commissioners, consisting of Bengal civilians,

was appointed at Madras to investigate their validity, and

another Board in London to receive appeals. The labours of

these bodies were prolonged over half a century, when the

genuine claims were reduced to about two crores and a half,

while a sum little short of a crore had been expended in the

investigation. The conduct of the Madras Presidency in the

matter of these Carnatic debts, and of the Bengal Presidency
in the case of Meer Cassim, and the transit duties, are the
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two dark spots in our Indian administrations, and they appear
all the more scandalous when contrasted with the general

integrity and justice of our proceedings.

In the next question which Mr. Dundas took in
The revenues of

the Carnatic, hand the revenues of the Carnatic his decision

was equally unfortunate. The irruption of Hyder
Ah' into the province had constrained Hastings to demand an

assignment of all the revenues of the Carnatic to provide for

its defence, with the reservation of one-sixth for the expenses
of the Nabob. The Nabob was obliged to submit, but. under

the influence of his creditors, who refused to advance money
without fresh tunkaws, he spared no exertion or artifice to

defeat the arrangement, and at length sent an agent to

Hastings to appeal against the measures of Lord Macartney.

Hastings imprudently listened to his tale of wrong, and

issued an order for the restitution of the assignment. The

districts had been placed under the able management of a

board of honest men, and had yielded a larger revenue than

they had ever produced before ; to surrender them to the

Nabob would have reduced the Presidency to destitution at a

time when the army was seven months in arrears. An angry
discussion arose between Madras and Calcutta, but Lord

Macarteny at length succeeded in retaining the revenues, and

his conduct received the approbation of the Court of Directors.

But Mr. Dundas had not been many months at the head of

the Board of. Control before he ordered them to be peremp-

torily given back, on the ground that the war had ceased,

and that "it was necessary to give to all the powers of

India a strong proof of the national faith." The Nabob had

received a much larger amount of ready money from the

punctual payment of his share of the revenues, than he had

ever received before from the districts, and he could therefore

have no interest in resuming the management of them. But

it was of the highest importance to his creditors, of whom
Benfield was the representative, and, at the same time, the

Nabob's chief adviser hi all such matters, to regain their hold
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on the lands. Lord Macarteny was resolved, if possible, not

to witness the misery which the surrender of the assignment
would inevitably inflict on the interests of the Madras Presi-

dency, and he proceeded to Bengal in the hope of persuading
the officiating Governor-General to suspend the execution of

the order, pending a reference to England. But he found him

unwilling to take on himself the responsibility of interfering

with the orders of the Ministry ;
and the lands passed into

the hands of the Nabob and of his creditors.





APPENDIX.

PROCEEDINGS OF SIR THOMAS RUMBOLD, GOVERNOR OF

MADRAS IN 1778, 1779, AND 1780.

SINCE this volume was sent to press, the author has been favoured
with a large and valuable collection of papers, compiled from original

correspondence, and from printed records long since forgotten, rela-

tive to the administration of Sir Thomas Rumbold, at Madras, and
intended to relieve his memory from the obloquy which has rested

on it for nearly half a century. A careful perusal of this compilation
forces the conclusion that the charges brought against him by
Colonel Wilks and Mr. Mill were based on erroneous information,
and partial investigation. The statements regarding his proceedings,
which are now received as historical facts, and the authenticity of

which the author of this volume never suspected, are not, as it would

appear, to be relied on, and this chapter of Indian history requires
to be written afresh. The interests of historical truth demand this

candid admission, and render it necessary to plice before the reader
the clear explanations which these documents afford, of various points
on which his conduct has been impeached.

The large sums remitted to England by Sir Thomas Rumbold,
soon after his arrival at Madras, have been considered a decisive

proof of the corrupt character of his proceedings. But these papers
explain that he was for twelve years a civilian on the Bengal establish-

ment, and chief of the factory of Patna, and moreover, engaged,
like all the civilians of the time, in mercantile transactions ;

that

the remittances consisted of the property he had left in Bengal in

the public securities, as proved by the clearest evidence, and which,
combined with his salary as Governor, fully accounted for the fortune

he had accumulated, of which he was obliged on his return to deliver

a schedule on oath, under the penalty of the confiscation of his entire

property, if he erred to the extent of 500.

The Court of Directors had directed five of the members of

Council at Madras to proceed to the northern sircars, to complete a
settlement with the zemindars, and Sir Thomas Rumbold has been
censured for cancelling the commission, and directing the zemindars
to repair to Madras, where they were required to transact business

with him alone. But it is now shown that for this procedure he sub-

I. '2 G
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mitted his reasons to the Court of Directors, the chief of which was
that these landholders were endeavouring to baffle the Commissioners,
and that the Court declared themselves perfectly satisfied with the

course he had adopted. When the matter came under Parliamentary
investigation, it was attested by four witnesses that at the Madras

Presidency transactions of this nature had always been conducted

by the President himself, and subsequently communicated to the

Board.

Regarding the bribe of a lac of rupees to his secretary, Mr. Red-

head, by Seetaram raj, it is shown that Mr. Redhead never enjoyed
the confidence of Sir Thomas, and was dismissed within a few months
of his arrival at Madras, and died soon after. A paper was discovered

among his effects, which purported to be a translation from the ori-

ginal, in the Gentoo language, containing a promise on the part
of Seetaram raj to pay him a lac of rupees on the performance of cer-

tain services. It was not attested by Seetaram, or by Mr. Redhead.
His executors, however, sued the native for the amount in the

Mayor's Court, and obtained a decree, which was reversed on appeal

by the President in Council. An attempt was made to implicate
Sir Thomas in the odium of this transaction, but the counsel for the
bill found that it could not be sustained, and abandoned the charge.

It is stated in the histories of India, that when Sir" Thomas sum-
moned the zemindars of the northern sircars to Madras, Viziram

raj, the zemindar of Vizazapatam, declined to obey the injunction,

pleading the injury which his estates wo.uld suffer from his absence,
but that his brother Seetaram raj hastened thither, and succeeded
in obtaining from Sir Thomas Rumbold the entire command of the

zemindary, in spite of his brother's remonstrances. The version of

this affair given in these papers, and substantiated by documentary
evidence, presents it in a totally different aspect. Seetaram was the

eldest son, and the lawful heir of the principality, but, under the

pressure of palace intrigues, was induced to relinquish his right to

his brother, and to consent to act as his dewan, or steward, in which

capacity he managed the estates with such fidelity and benefit as in

a few years to double the rent-roll. A competitor at length succeeded
in poisoning the mind of Viziram raj against his brother, and sup-

planted him in his office. Seetaram was at Madras, seeking the

intervention of the public authorities before the arrival of Sir Thomas,
who determined, if possible, to reconcile the brothers. The new
dewan, who was a defaulter to the extent of 90,000, was directed

to proceed to the zemindary, and bring up his accounts. Sir Thomas
embraced the opportunity of his absence, which relieved Viziram
from the spell of his influence, to make up the family/quarrel. Seetaram
was re appointed dewan, and continued to live in harmony with his

brother, and secured the punctual payment of the public revenue,
and promoted the improvement of the family property.
The most important series of events elucidated by these documents

is that which refers to the transfer of the Guntoor sircar, which has been

assumed, without question, as the cause of the confederacy formed to
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exterminate the Company, and ofthe war with Hyder Ali, which spread
desolation through the Oarnatic. The statement, which has hitherto

beendeemed authentic, runs thus : By the treaty made with the Nizam
in 1768, a tribute of seven lacs of rupees a-year was to be paid to him for

the four sircars, and he was bound to consider the enemies of the Com-

pany his enemies. The Guntoor sircar, however, was to remain in the

possession of his brother, Basalut Jung, during his life, and then to

revert to the Company ; but if he gave protection or assistance to their

enemies they were at liberty to take possession of the province and re-

tain it. Basalut Jung employed Monsieur Lally to organize an army,
commanded by French officers, which was gradually increased to 5UO

Europeans and 3,000 sepoys, and was constantly supplied with recruits

and stores through the port of Motapilly. In 1779, Basalut Jung,
alarmed by the encroachment of Hyder, voluntarily proposed to Sir

Thomas Rumbold to lease his territoryfor its full value to the Company,
to dismiss the French force, and to receive a British contingent in its

stead. A British force was accordingly sent to take possession of the

province,' and Mr. Holland was deputed to Hyderabad to explain this

transaction to the Nizam, and to demand the remission of the tribute,
which had been withheld for some time The Nizam was exasperated
at a proceeding which he considered a breach of the treaty, and im-

mediately formed a confederacy with the Mahrattas and Hyder for

the extermination of English power in the Deccan. These measures
were concealed from Mr. Hastings, who, on becoming cognizant of

them, superseded the authority of the Madras Government at the

court of the Nizam, ordered the province to be restored, and engaged
to make good the tribute ; and by this prompt and conciliatory pro-
cedure detached him from the great confederacy.
The documents now collected give a totally different aspect to these

transactions. The collection of a French force in Guntoor had been
an object of alarm equally at Calcutta and at Madras for years before

the confederacy was formed. In July, 1775, the Governor- General
stated that no time should be lost in removing it, and authorized the

Government of Madras to march a body of troops to the frontier, to

demand the immediate dismissal of the French force, and, if it was
not complied with, to take possession of the country and retain it.

The Government of Madras, instead of adopting this extreme measure,
sent a remonstrance to the Nizam as Soobudar of the Decoan, and

urged the removal of the French corps. He promised to respect the

treaty
" to a hair's breadth," but constantly evaded compliance with

the demand, which was often repeated. The capture of Pondicherry,
in 1778, gave a new turn to affairs in the Deccan. and, combined
with the recent encroachments of Hyder, who threatened to absorb

the Guntoor sircar likewise, induced Basalut Jung to send a vakeel to

Madras and offer to make over the province to the Company on the

payment of the same sum which he had hitherto derived from it, to

dismiss the French, and receive an F.nglish force. A treaty, embody-
ing these arrangements, was accordingly drawn up by Sir Thomas

Ilumbold, with the full concurrence of bir Eyre Coote, then a member
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of the Madras Council, and submitted to Mr. Hastings, who made
divers alterations, and then returned it to be carried into effect, with
his full concurrence. A detachment of British troops was then sent

to occupy the province, who were obliged to cross a corner of a dis-

trict which Hvder had recently added to his dominions. The Court
of Directors likewise commended the meritorious conduct of Sir

Thomas in concluding the treaty.
The Nizam and Hyder resented this proceeding, but their indigna-

tion only served to demonstrate the wisdom and policy of it. The
Nizam reproached his brother for having rented the sircar to the

English, when he should have made it over to Hyder Ali. Hyder had
resolved to oust Hasalut Jung and take possession of the province,
which would give him a position on the flank of the Carnatic, and a

port on the Coromandel coast He was irritated by the promptness
with which this design was frustrated, and vowed that he would not

allow the sircar to pass into the hands of " his old and bitter enemies."

By a singular error, accidental or otherwise, the word "
enemy

" was
substituted for "enemies," and the declaration was thus made to ap-

ply to Mahomed Ali, the nabob of the Carnatic, and not to the Com-

pany, whom Hyder always regarded with a feeling of rancorous
hatred.

With regard to the tribute of seven lacs of rupees a-year, the papers
state that it had fallen into arrears before the arrival of Sir Thomas
Kumbold. The Nizam was pressing for payment, and the Madras
Government had earnestly entreated the Governor -General to assist

them with funds to discharge it. The Madras Presidency was reduced
to such a state of poverty, that when the troops had been paid for one
month they knew not where to look for the next supply. Mr. Holland
was sent to Hyderabad, not to make a positive demand of remission,
to be eventually supported by violence, but to solicit a reduction of

the sum, on tlie plea of poverty, and if the Nizam appeared to be

propitious, to propose the entire relinquishment of it, coupled with
certain propositions which it was thought would appear an equivalent
for the sacrifice. If they were rejected, he was instructed to assure

the Nizam that the current tribute, as well as the arrears, would be

paid
" as soon as they were in cash." Mr. Holland found, on his ar-

rival, that the Nizam had taken the French force dismissed by Basalut

Jung into his own service, which, considering that the English were
then at war with the French, was a gross breach of the treaty, 'and the

Governor of Madras strenuously remonstrated with the Nizam for

openly protecting and encouraging the enemies of the Company.
Mr. Holland therefore informed him that the payment of the tribute

would be made on his giving full satisfaction regarding the French

troops.
The hostile confederacy formed by the Nizam is attributed, by

the historians, to the irritation produced in the mind of the Nizam

by the Guntoor transactions and the tribute negotiations. But the

documents show that it was formed before they had occurred, and
that this fact was admitted by the Governor-General himself. The
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animosity of the Nizam, which led to the confederacy, was created

by the support given by the British Government to Raghoba, whom
he considered his most inveterate enemy. He had earnestly remon-
strated with the Bengal Government on this subject, and announced
his determination to attack the Company's dominions if the alliance

was not relinquished. Another cause of annoyance was the intercep-
tion of a letter addressed by the Governor-General to Mr. Elliott, the

envoy sent to Nagpore, authorizing him to conclude an alliance with
the raja, and to assist him in recovering certain territories from the
Nizam. It is shown in the papers that it was thesa two transactions

alone which induced the Nizam to form a combination against the

Company. It has likewise been believed that the Nizam was detached
from the confederacy by the assurance of the Bengal Government
that the tribute should be paid, and the Guntoor sircar restored ; but
a far more probable cause of this change of policy is to be found
so the papers say. in the fact that while the Nizam was inciting

Hyder to attack the English, he discovered that Hyder had sent

a vakeel to Delhi to obtain from the puppet of an Emperor an

imperial grant of the whole of the Nizam's dominions !

These documents deal also with the assertion that the Madras

Government, after having given every provocation to Hyder, were
taken by surprise when he burst on the Carnatic. But it is stated

t'oat every effort was made to conciliate him. The expedition to

Mahe was undertaken by orders from home, but when it was found
to be obnoxious to Hyder, Sir Thomas proposed that it should be

suspended, but was overruled by Sir Eyre Coote. Hyder declared
that he would be revenged for Mahe in the Carnatic. The Madras
Council were fully aware of his hostility, and repeatedly pointed
out the danger to which the Carnatic would be exposed from his

assaults, and their inability to defend it. They recommended a

union of all the Presidencies to reduce his power. In announcing
Hyder 's preparations to Calcutta in November, 1779, Sir Thomas
Jlurnbold stated that if he should enter the Carnatic it was beyond
their power to prevent the ravages of his horse

; but so late as

January, 1780, Mr. Hastings wrote :

"
I am convinced from Hyder's

conduct and disposition that he will never molest us while we pre-
serve a good understanding with him."

In reference to the desertion of his post on the eve of the war,
and the resentment of the Court of Directors, the papers show
that the measures of Sir Thomas Rumbold had been uniformly
commended by them, and that the first censure of his conduct,
which was also accompanied by a sentence of deposition, was written
three months after they had received his resignation and appointed
his successor, and that his retirement from India was rendered

imperative by the advice of the first physicians in Madras. After
his return, Mr. Dundus introduced a bill of pains and penalties

charging him with high crimes and misdemeanours, and more par-

ticularly stigmatising the transaction regarding the Guntoor sircar

as having been doiie in a clandestine, treacherous, irregular, and
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unjustifiable manner. The law officers of the Crown condemned
these proceedings as unjust. Some of the more important allega-
tions iu the bill were abandoned, and others broke down when
brought to the test of evidence, and the bill itself was withdrawn

twenty months after it had been presented, by a motion that it be
read that day six months.

It is to be hoped that this valuable collection of documeiits will

at no distant period be given to the public, for the information of

those who take an interest in the history of British India, and the

guidance of those who may hereafter treat of this subject.
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THE HISTORY OP INDIA.

CHAPTER XVI.

LORD CORNWALLIS'S ADMINISTRATION THE THIRD MYSORE
WAR 1786 1793.

sir John HASTINGS left the government in the hands of Mr.,

afterwards Sir John, Macpherson, who presided

over it for twenty months. He came out to

Madras at the age of twenty-two, as purser in one of the

Company's ships, but soon after his arrival quitted the sea

for more lucrative employment at the court of the Nabob of

the Carnatic, where he obtained great consideration. Under

his influence the Nabob was induced to make a direct appeal

to the Minister in England, as the most effectual means of

regaining his political independence, and throwing off the

restraints of the Madras government. Mr. Macpherson
was charged with this mission, and accredited by a letter

to the Duke of Grafton, which gained little for his patron,

but a Madras writership for his young agent. Soon after his

arrival at the Presidency he obtained one of the most

lucrative appointments in the service, that of military pay-

master, but was expelled ffom it by Lord Pigot, in 1776, on

the ground that he was still a partisan of the Nabob. With

his usual sagacity, he persuaded the Nabob to make his will,

and appoint the king of England his executor and the
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guardian of his children an office which was most in-

judiciously accepted. Mr. Macpherson, who returned to

England as the representative of the Nabob, with a full

purse, was not long in obtaining a seat in Parliament, and

made himself so useful to the Minister by his eloquent pen
and his servile vote, as to obtain the appointment of second

member of Council at Calcutta. The war with the Mahrattas

and Hyder had produced the same effect on the finances of

India as the war which England had been waging with the

North American colonies produced on her finances. Troops

to the number of 70,000 had been maintained for several

years in provinces the most remote from each other, and a

debt had been accumulated to the extent of six crores of

rupees. The army and civil establishments were fifty lacs of

rupees in arrears, and the whole machinery of government
was in a state of disorder. Mr. Macpherson applied himself

with great energy to financial reform, and effected reductions

exceeding a crore of rupees. He received thanks from the

Court of Directors, and a baronetcy from the Crown ; but it

is not to be concealed that his two successors, Lord Cornwallis

and Sir John Shore, considered his pretensions to economy,

except with regard to the reduction of salaries, a mere

delusion, and his whole administration a failure.

"wars between
The treatJ of Mangalore left Tippoo with

o, the unimpaired resources, and augmented his ar-
Mahrattas, and m, . ,

i j i i

the Nizam, rogance. The ink was scarcely dry, when he
1786. wrote to his French allies at Pondicherry that

he was only waiting for an opportunity of crushing the

Nizam and the Mahrattas, and exterminating the English.

His first act after the pacification was to seize 30,000 native

Christians on the Malabar coast, and cause them to be circum-

cised. The Hindoos south of the Kistna were treated with

the same violence, and 2,000 brahmins destroyed themselves

to avoid the indignity. Of the population of Coorg, 70,000

of all ages and both sexes were ruthlessly driven off to

Seringapatam. Tippoo then proceeded to demand the cession
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of Beejapore from the Nizam, on some frivolous pretext, and

attacked the Mahratta garrison of Nurgoond, of which he

obtained possession by an act of perfidy. Nana Furnuvese,

finding Tippoo a more dangerous neighbour than his father

had been, proceeded to form an alliance with the Nizam early

in 1786, for the conquest and partition of his whole territory.

The allied army opened the campaign on the 1st of May, by
the siege of Badamee, which surrendered before the end of

the month. After various assaults and repulses, which

generally terminated to the advantage of Tippoo, he brought
this campaign of nine months to an unexpected termination

by a voluntary offer of peace. A treaty was accordingly con-

cluded between the belligerents in April, 1787, by which

Tippoo engaged to pay forty-five lacs of rupees of tribute,

and to surrender many of the places he had captured. This

sudden change of policy was subsequently explained by the

great efficiency given to the military establishments of the

Company by the new Governor-General, Lord Cornwallie, and

which led Tippoo to suppose that the English were about to

take part in the war against him.

Lord Macarteny
Lord Macartney, who had taken Calcutta on

offered the h}s way to England, was detained there by severe
Governor-

.

Generalship, illness, and was agreeably surprised on his re-

covery to receive the unsolicited offer of the

Governor-Generalship, as a token of the estimation in which

his services were held by Mr. Pitt and Mr. Dundas. Instead,

however, of accepting the appointment, and taking the oaths

and his seat in Council, he postponed the acceptance of it

till he had an opportunity of conferring with the Ministry on

the additional powers which he deemed necessary to impart

dignity and efficiency to the office. He embarked therefore

for England, and on his arrival submitted his views, which

were in every respect judicious, to the Court of Directors

and to the Prime Minister, by whom they were entertained

with great complacency. But all his prospects were at once

blighted when he proceeded farther to solicit such token of
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the royal favour as should demonstrate that he entered upon
this responsible office with the entire confidence of the

Ministers of the Crown, as well as of the Court of Directors.

The request was not only in itself reasonable, but essential

to the efficiency and vigour of the government. It was the ab-

sence of this support which had subjected the administration

of Hastings to the greatest embarrassment. But Mr. Dundas,

who had sustained the nomination of Lord Macarteny against

a violent opposition in the Cabinet, took umbrage that " he

did not rather repose his future fortunes in our hands than

make it the subject of a sine qua non preliminary." Within

three days of the receipt of this request, Lord Cornwallis

was gazetted Governor-General of India.

The government of the Company's affairs in
Change in the J

system of India had hitherto been entrusted to one of their
government. ,-, -, ,-, , -,

,

own servants, on the ground that local experience

was the most important qualification for the office. But this

principle of selection, though well suited to the requirements

of a factory, was ill adapted to the government of an empire.

The advantage arising from this knowledge of the country

and the people, however great, was found to be over-balanced

by the trammels of local associations, and the difficulty of

exercising due control over those who had previously been

in the position of equals. The transcendant ability of

Hastings himself had been too often neutralized by these

connections, and he had been obliged to meet the cabals and

intrigues which beset him in the Council chamber by com-

promises, which weakened the authority of government, and

strengthened abuses. These considerations induced the

Ministry to place the government in the hands of a noble-

man of elevated rank and high character, and unfettered by

any local ties. The choice fell on Lord Cornwallis, who had

filled several posts of importance, both military and diplomatic,

and who stood so high in the estimation of the country that

even the surrender of a British army to Washington at York-

town, which decided the question of American independence,
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had not shaken his credit. It was within eight months of

that disaster, that his name was mentioned by Mr. Dundas,
in reference to the future government of India, and was

received with great satisfaction by both parties in the House

of Commons, who united in paying homage to his talents.

He was appointed Governor-General in February, 1786, and

reached Calcutta in the month of September. Thus, by the

singular caprice of circumstances, the man who had lost

America was sent out to govern India, and the man who had

saved India was subjected to a prosecution for high crimes

and misdemeanours. Lord Cornwallis's government com-

menced under the happiest auspices. He enjoyed the entire

confidence of Mr. Pitt, and, more especially, of Mr. Dundas,

the Indian Minister, who remarked in one of his letters, that

they
" never before had a government in India and in

England acting in perfect harmony, on principles of perfect

purity and independence." The spirit of insubordination and

faction which had deranged Hastings's administration was

at once subdued by the dignity and firmness of Lord Corn-

wallis's character, and the current of public business began
to run smoothly, as soon as he assumed the charge of it.

_ . . The first three years of his administration were
Correction of *

abuses, devoted to the correction of abuses, to which it is

necessary to advert more particularly, to indicate

the progress of integrity in the public service. The Court of

of Directors still continued to act on the old and vicious prin-

ciple of " small salaries and large perquisites." The salaries

came from their own treasury, which they guarded with the

parsimony of a miser, the perquisites came from the people,

and excited little observation, though they served to vitiate

the whole system of government. Every man who returned

to England rich was considered a rogue, and every man who
came home poor was set down as a fool. Hastings made
some effort to correct these abuses, but he had not sufficient

official strength to stem the tide, and he was often obliged to

allay opposition by the bribe of places and emoluments. The
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Court of Directors nominated their friends and relatives to

the most lucrative appointments in India, and the connection

thus established between the patrons in Leadenhall-street,

and the nominees in India, was too often fatal to the

authority of the Governor-General. Lord Cornwallis was

determined to put an end to this practice, but his .efforts were

not successful until he threatened, if it was persisted in, to

resign the government, "that he might preserve his own

character, and avoid witnessing the ruin of the national

interests."

instances of Lord Cornwallis found the system of official

abuse, 1786.
depredation in full bloom. The sub-treasurer was,

as he remarked, playing with the deposits ; that is, lending
out lacs upon lacs of the public money, at twelve per cent,

interest. The Commander-in-Chief had given two of his

favourites the profitable privilege of raising two regiments,

which Lord Cornwallis ordered to be disbanded soon after his

arrival. The two commandants immediately demanded com-

pensation, but after the most diligent inquiry, it could not

be discovered that either of the regiments had ever existed,

except on the paymaster's books. The collectors of the

revenue were still engaged in trade, in the name of some

friend or relative, and as they were also judges and magis-

trates, and possessed of irresistible influence in their districts,

they were enabled to amass enormous fortunes ; and one of

them did not hesitate to admit, that his emoluments exceeded

his salary more than twenty fold. The raja of Benares is

described by Lord Cornwallis as a fool, and his servants as

knaves, and the Resident, supreme in power, monopolized the

commerce of the province, and realized four lacs a year,

though his regular allowance did not exceed 1,000 rupees

a month. It was the old process, so well understood in the

east, of turning power into money, which now gave fortunes

to a new race of conquerors, as it had enriched the Afghan,
the Tartar, the Mogul, and the Abysinian conquerors, who

preceded them. There was, however, this material difference



XVI.] AUGMENTATION OF SALARIES. 7

in the two cases ; the Asiatic invader settled in the country,

and his acquisitions were expended in it, while the European

transported his gains to his own country, and was seen no

more. The fortunes thus imported into England will not, it

is true, bear any comparison with those which have been

subsequently realized in manufactures and railroads. With

one exception, there were not a dozen of the Company's ser-

vants, from first to last, who took home so large a sum as

forty lacs of rupees, but, for the time, their wealth was con-

sidered prodigious; and serious apprehensionswere entertained

by many in England, that eastern gold would undermine its

constitution. But it is the peculiar merit of the British ad-

ministration in India, that it has succeeded in surmounting
these abuses, under which previous dynasties had perished,

and that, instead of becoming more corrupt with the progress

of time, it has worked itself pure, and now presents a model

of official integrity, which has, perhaps, no parallel in the

world.

The salaries of To ^e *as^ ^ re^orm Lord Cornwallis applied
the public himself with the greatest assiduity. He hunted

augmented, out frauds in every department, and abolished

jobbing agencies, and contracts and sinecures.

His greatest difficulty arose from the importunity of men of

power and influence in England who had been in the habit of

quartering their friends and kindred, and even their victims

at the gambling-table, on the revenues of India. But the

Governor-General was inexorable, and he had the courage
to decline the recommendations of the Prince of Wales him-

self, afterwards George the Fourth, who, as he remarked,
" was always pressing some infamous and unjustifiable job
on him." These reforms, however, were not consummated

till he had convinced the Court of Directors of the truth,

which Clive and Hastings had in vain pressed on them, that
"

it was not good economy to put men into places of the

greatest confidence, where they have it in their power to

make their fortunes in a few months, without giving them
II. C
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adequate salaries." The Court parted with the traditionary

policy of two centuries with great reluctance ; but Lord Corn-

wallis at length succeeded in "
annexing liberal salaries to

these offices, and in giving gentlemen a prospect of acquiring,

by economy, a moderate fortune from the savings of their

allowances."

On the arrival of Lord Cornwallis, the Vizier
Arrangement
with oude. hastened to send his minister to Calcutta, to

renew the request to be relieved from the expense

of the British troops stationed in his dominions. But the

rapid encroachments of Sindia in Hindostan, and the growing

power of the Sikhs, convinced the Governor-General that the

brigade could not be withdrawn from Futtygur without great

risk. He consented, however, to reduce the demand on the

treasury of Lucknow for their support, from seventy-four

to fifty lacs of rupees a year, provided it was paid with punc-

tuality. The higher sum had never been realised, and the

Company lost nothing by the arrangement, while the defence

of Oude from foreign invasion, was provided for at a charge
of less than a fourth of its entire revenue. The Vizier was,

at the same time, relieved from the pressure of the European

harpies who had long been preying on him, and of the mono-

polies they had inflicted on his country, under the influence

of British supremacy. He was likewise exonerated from the

payment of ten lacs of rupees a year, which had been allotted

by Hastings for the office of the private agent of the Gover-

nor-General at the durbar, Major Palmer, of which his own
share amounted to two lacs. Lord Cornwallis also conferred

an inestimable boon on Oude by peremptorily refusing to

recognize the claims of any of the private creditors of the

Vizier, and thus rescued that kingdom from the fate of the

Carnatic. But he could not fail to perceive the glaring abuses

of the government, in which the Vizier took no further

interest than to give the sanction of his authority to the

acts of his servants, when they could prevail on him which

was rarely the case to look into the affairs of the kingdom.
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The Vizier'sonly care was to obtain money for boundless dissi-

pation ; and so the zemindars were allowed to squeeze the

ryots, the ministers squeezed the zemindars, and the Vizier

extorted every rupee he could obtain from his ministers, and

squandered it in cock-fighting and debaucheries, in maintain-

ing a thousand horses in his private stables, which he never

used, and a whole brigade of elephants.

Demand of the
Lord Cornwallis, on leaving England, was espe-

Guntoor sirkar, cially enjoined to amalgamate the King's and the

Company's troops, and to secure the possession of

the Guntoor Sirkar. The project of amalgamation was warmly

espoused by the king and supported by his Ministers ; no

efforts, however, were made during the administration of Lord

Cornwallis to carry it into effect, but on his return to England,
after seven years of experience, he earnestly recommended

the adoption of it to Mr. Dundas and the Court of Directors.

The reversion of the Guntoor Sirkar, it will be remembered,
was assigned by the Nizam to the Company by the treaty of

1768, after the death of his brother, Basalut Jung. He died

in 1782, but the Nizam constantly evaded the surrender.

Lord Cornwallis found him in 1786 involved in a war with

Tippoo, and considered it inopportune to press the cession at

the time. But in 1788, the prospect of continued peace with

France, which removed all fear of European interference, and

the aspect of politics in the Deccan, seemed to present a

suitable occasion for making the demand. To obviate every

difficulty, troops were drawn to the frontier, and Captain

Kennaway, the Governor-General's aide-de-camp, was des-

patched to Hyderabad,
" to demand the full execution of the

treaty of 1768," with the intimation, that a British force was

prepared to enter Guntoor in a fortnight. To the surprise of

Lord Cornwallis, the Nizam ordered the immediate surrender

of the district without any hesitation, as well as the adjust-

ment of all accounts ; but at the same time he expressed his

confidence that the Company's government would be prepared,

with equal aiacrity, to fulfil the obligations to which they
c 2
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were bound by it ; namely, to send two battalions of sepoys

and six pieces of artillery, manned by Europeans, whenever

the Nizam should require them, and to reduce and transfer to

him the province of the Carnatic Balaghaut,
" then usurped

by Ilyder Naik." With his usual duplicity, the Nizam sent

an envoy at the same time to Tippoo, to propose an alliance

for the extirpation of the English. Tippoo readily assented

to the proposal, on condition of receiving a daughter of

the Nizam in marriage ; but the Tartar blood of the son of

Chin Kilich Khan boiled at the idea of a matrimonial alliance

with the son of a naik, or head constable, and the negotiation

fell to the ground.

perplexity of
Lord Cornwallis was not a little perplexed by

Lord Cornwall!*, this manoeuvre on the part of the Nizam. Since
1789

the treaty of 1768, the British Government had

in two successive treaties acknowledged Hyder and Tippoo

as the lawful sovereigns of the Carnatic Balaghaut. The

Act of 1784 had, moreover, strictly prohibited the formation

of alliances with native princes without sanction from home.

But Lord Cornwallis deemed it important to British interests

to secure the co-operation both of the Nizam and the Peshwa

against the hostile designs of Tippoo, which were daily becom-

ing more palpable. To meet the difficulties of the case, he

addressed a letter to the Nizam, which was avowed to have

the full force of a treaty, though it professed to be simply a

clearer definition of the old compact. In this letter he stated

that if the province in question should at any time come into

the possession of the Company, with the assistance of his

Highness, the stipulation of the treaty would be faithfully

observed. The brigade of British troops, he said, should be

furnished whenever the Nizam applied for its services, but

with the understanding that it was not to be employed

against any power in alliance with the English. A list of

these powers was added to the document, but the name of

Tippoo was omitted. This memorable letter, dated the 7th

of July, 1789, has been considered by some writers of con-
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Biderable note, as the cause of the war which broke out with

Tippoo six months after. That an engagement which con-

templated the partition of his dominions, and placed an

English force at the disposal of the Nizam, with liberty to

employ it against him, while he himself was excluded from

the register of British allies, must have given him great

annoyance, will not be denied. But, before the treaty of

Mangalore was a day old, he had assured the French

governor of Pondicherry that he would renew the war with

the English on the first occasion. He had fitted out an

expedition to attack the king of Travancore, an ally of the

English, long before he heard of the letter. It was certain

that whenever he was ready for the struggle, he would neither

want a pretext, nor wait for one. As to the Act of Parliament

intended to isolate us from all the other powers of India,

even the author of it, Mr. Dundas, had begun to consider it

a mistake, and had recently written to Lord Cornwallis that

"an alliance with the Mahrattas of the closest kind was

all that was requisite to keep the whole world in awe

respecting India."

Proceedings of
^he little principality of Travancore, at the

the Madras go- southern extremity of the Malabar coast, had
vernment, 1789.

,

been placed under British protection by the treaty

of Mangalore. Tippoo, who had long coveted the possession

of it, had been for some time assembling a large force in the

vicinity, and the raja, anxious to strengthen the defences of

his kingdom, had recently purchased the towns of Cranganore
and Ayacottah of the Dutch. Tippoo immediately demanded

the surrender of them on the plea that that they belonged to

his vassal, the chief of Cochin. The raja refused to resign

them, and applied to the British authorities for support.

Lord Cornwallis directed the President at Madras to inform

both Tippoo and the raja that if the Dutch had held in-

dependent and unreserved possession of them, he was in-

structed to assist the raja in maintaining and defending them.

Unfortunate as Madras had been in its Presidents for a long
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series of years, Mr. Holland, who now occupied the chair, ap-

pears to have been the very worst of the lot. He not only with-

held this communication from Tippoo, but sent a disheartening

letter to the raja, and, at the same time, demanded a lac of

pagodas for himself, as the condition of aiding him with a

British detachment. To promote this profligate negotiation,

he kept the army in such a state of inefficiency as to encourage

Tippoo's aggression. Holland was deeply implicated in all

the criminality of the Nabob's loans, and, although he had

been ordered to suspend all payments to the creditors as

soon as there was any probability of a war with Tippoo, he

chose to continue these disbursements, allowed the pay of the

troops to fall into arrears, and neglected to make any

preparation for the impending war.

Tippoo attacks Emboldened by this negligence, Tippoo suddenly

28tli December
Stacked the " lines of Travancore," consisting of

1789. the defensive wall which the raja had erected ;

but after a severe action was repulsed with disgrace, and

with the loss of 2,000 men. He immediately ordered down
a battering train from Seringapatam, and reinforcements

from every quarter. Even the detachments employed in

dragooning
" the infidels of Malabar," who refused circum-

cision, were recalled from their mission, and the next three

months and a half were wasted in preparation for the attack

of this miserable wall. Holland, after he had received infor-

mation of this attack, which was equivalent to a declaration

of war, actually proposed to appoint commissioners for the

pacific adjustment of all differences with Tippoo, and per-

sisted in declining to provide cattle for the army which was
to take field. Soon after, he fled from his post and em-

barked for England.
Treaties formed During the three years of Lord Cornwallis's

Cornwaiiis,
administration he had been eminently successful in

lino. his financial reforms. The income of Bengal now
exceeded its expenditure by two crores of rupees, and he

was enabled not only to supply the wants of the other Presi-
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dencies, but to send home an investment from territorial

revenue, of a crore and thirty lacs, which was calculated to

realise two crores in the London market. But however much

he regretted that the fruit of three years of economy should

be swept away at a stroke, he determined to lose no time in

bringing all the resources of the country to the prosecution

of the war which Tippoo had wantonly provoked. It was

not a time for pottering over Acts of Parliament, and he pro-

ceeded at once to form alliances, offensive and defensive,

with the two other powers of the Deccan. Although Nana

Furnuvese had hitherto treated the friendly advances of

Lord Cornwallis with coldness, so great was the animosity of

the Mahrattas against Tippoo, that they now agreed to

co-operate heartily with the British Government in reducing

his power. The hatred and dread of Tippoo also quickened

the zeal of the Nizam, and a tripartite treaty was concluded

between the parties, which provided that the Nizam and the

Mahrattas should attack Tippoo's dominions both during and

after the rains, and prosecute the war with all vigour ; that

they should join the British army if required, with 10,000

horse, for which they were to be fully reimbursed ; that a

British contingent should accompany their troops, and that

the territories and forts conquered by their united arms should

be equally divided among them. Of the three powers in the

Deccan, the Nizam was the most feeble, and he knew but too

well that as soon as the strength of Tippoo was broken, and

the balance of power destroyed, he would be exposed to the

encroachments of the Mahrattas, who kept open a long account

against him of arrears due for chout and tribute. He, there-

fore, delayed the ratification of the treaty while he endeavoured

to obtain from Lord Cornwallis, not only the guarantee of his

own dominions during the war, but the promise of full protec-

tion from the claims of the Poona durbar after its termination.

Lord Cornwallis could not, however, consent to this proposal

without giving umbrage to his Mahratta allies, and the

Nizam was obliged to rest satisfied with the general assurance
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of friendly support, as far as might be compatible with the

engagements of the Company.

Campaign of Lord Cornwallis was desirous of taking the field

179 - in person, but, finding that General Medows, an

officer of acknowledged ability, in whom he placed great confi-

dence, had been appointed Governor and General-in-Chief at

Madras, he determined to leave the campaign to his manage-
ment. The General reached Madras late in February, and

prepared to commence operations with a body of 15,000

troops,
" the finest and best English army," in the opinion of

Lord Cornwallis,
" which had ever been assembled in India.""

The plan of the campaign was similar to that framed by Colonel

Fullarton, in 1783, of proceeding southward to Coimbetore, and

after reducing the forts and occupying that rich district, of

ascending the ghauts to Seringapatam. Another division,

when reinforced from Bengal, was to march on the capital

through the Baramahal. So great, however, was the de-

ficiency of supplies, owing to the criminal neglect of Holland,

that General Medows was unable to move from Trichinopoly

before the 26th of May, and was nearly three weeks in

reaching Caroor, the frontier station, only fifty miles distant.

The army arrived at Coimbetore on the 23rd of July ; Dindi-

gul was captured on the 21st of August, and Palghaut,
deemed by the natives impregnable, surrendered on the 21st

of September, with sixty guns of various calibre. But here

the success of the campaign terminated. General Medows in-

judiciously separated his force into three divisions, and placed
them at too great a distance from each other for mutual

support. Tippoo took advantage of this error, and, by a

masterly movement, descended the Gujelhutty pass, attacked

the foremost division under Colonel Floyd, and obliged him

to fall back with the loss of some of his guns.
" We lost

time," said Lord Cornwallis, "in 1790, and Tippoo gained

reputation." Several forts stored with provisions likewise

fell into his hands ; but the subsequent junction of the three
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divisions baffled his plans, and he moved northward to

oppose the army advancing from Bengal.

On the breaking out of the war, Lord Corn-

division wallis adopted the bold plan of Hastings, and
Hartley's ex-

despatched a large expedition from the Bengal

Presidency along the coast down to Madras.

It reached Conjeveram on the 1st of August without accident,

under the command of Colonel Maxwell, and there it was
reinforced by several regiments from Madras, which raised

its strength to 9,500 men. The object of General Medows
was to form a junction with this force, and that of Tippoo
was to prevent it. But, notwithstanding the rapid march

and able dispositions of the Mysore army, a union was
effected of the two bodies of English troops on the 17th of

November. Tippoo then marched south to attack Trichi-

nopoly, and the chain of English posts and depots in that

quarter, and General Medows closely followed his track. In

these desultory movements the troops were subjected to un-

profitable fatigue, and began to lose confidence in their com-

mander, who was evidently unequal to the direction of

operations on a large scale. The character of the campaign

was, however, redeemed by the brilliant exploit of Colonel

Hartley, who will be remembered as having earned the

highest distinction twelve years before, in the war with the

Mahrattas. In the present year, he was stationed on the

Malabar coast, with a body of 1,500 men and a few guns, to

watch the movements of Hussein Ali, the Mysore general,

who guarded the province with a force of 7,000 or 8,000 men,
and a large body of fanatic Moplas. On the 8th of December

he ventured to attack Colonel Hartley's little band under the

walls of Calicut, but was signally defeated, with the loss of

more than 1,000 men, and obliged soon after to surrender, to-

gether with 2,500 of his force. The loss, on the side of the

English, did not exceed fifty-two. General Medows, who
was totally devoid of any feeling of professional jealousy, in
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announcing this success to Lord Cornwallis, exclaimed,
"
Oh,

to eclipse the brilliant action of Colonel Hartley."

Lord Cornwallis, mortified by the futility of the
Lord Cornwallis J J

takes the flew campaign, resolved to resume his original design
in person, 1791.

Qf taking the command of the war in person, and

arrived at Madras on the 12th of December, 1790. General

Medows returned to the Presidency with his army, without

expressing a murmur on the trying occasion of being super-

seded in the command. Tippoo quitted the neighbourhood
of Trichinopoly, and proceeded northward into the heart of

the Carnatic, marking his progress by the desolation of the

province. He then advanced to Pondicherry, where he wasted

several weeks in negotiations with the French governor,

throughwhom he sent a mission to Louis the Sixteenth, then in

the vortex of the French revolution. Though the French and

English were at the time at peace, he requested that a body
of 6,000 troops should be sent to his assistance, for whose

conveyance and support he offered to make suitable provision,

and with whose aid he engaged to capture the English settle-

ments and transfer them to the French. The unhappy king
revolted from the proposal, and remarked :

" This resembles

the affair of America, of which I never think without regret,

my youth was taken advantage of at that time, and we suffer

for it now; the lesson is too severe to be forgotten." Mean-

while, Lord Cornwallis was making the greatest efforts to

resume operations in the field. It was the first time the

British armies in India had been led by a Governor-General

in person, who enjoyed the undivided exercise of all the civil

and military powers of the state, and commanded the re-

sources of all the Presidencies. His presence was considered

by the allies the strongest pledge of sincerity, and gave them

every confidence of success.

ca ture of Ban-
^e British army was concentrated at Vellore

galore, 2ist on the llth of February, and Lord Cornwallis
jcn,i79i. ma(je a demonstration of advancing to Seringa-

patain through the Amboor pass, while his force, with its



XVI.] ARRIVAL OF THE NIZAM'S CONTINGENT, 17

convoys, passed undiscovered and unopposed through the

more easy pass of Mooglee, and on the 17th of February,

stood on the table land of Mysore, only ninety miles from

Bangalore, without having fired a shot. Tippoo, who had

manifested unaccountable indecision while Lord Cornwallis

was organizing his plans, hastened, by forced marches to

rescue his seraglio and treasures which had been deposited in

that fortress, and was only just in time to save them from

capture. Bangalore capitulated on the 21st of March, but

the pleasure of success was damped by the loss, during the

siege, of Colonel Moorhouse, who, though he had risen from

the ranks, exhibited all the characteristics of a gallant and

most accomplished soldier.

Arrival of the
"^he Nizam's contingent of 10,000 horse as-

Nizam'scon- sembled in the neighbourhood of Hyderabad, in

May, 1790, in accordance with the conditions of

the treaty of alliance ; but they never moved beyond their

own frontier, till they heard, in September, that Tippoo had

gone southward to Coimbetore. When there was no longer

any risk of encountering his army, the Nizam's troops entered

the Mysore territory, spreading desolation and ruin in their

course. But, instead of marching on to join the English army,

they sat down before Copaul, a tremendous rock a few miles

north of the Toombudra, and twenty miles west of the

ancient ruins of Vijuynugur, which detained them nearly six

mouths. As soon, however, as intelligence of the capture of

Bangalore reached their camp, they hastened forward, and

joined Lord Cornwallis's army on the 13th of April, 1791.

They are described as mounted on horses in excellent con-

dition, and clothed in armour of every conceivable variety,

including the Parthian bow and arrow, the iron club of

Scythia, sabres of every age and nation, lances of every

length and description, and matchlocks of every form. But

there was neither order, nor discipline, nor valour among them ;

and the gay cavaliers were so utterly unsuited for field work

that they were unable to protect their own foragers, and soon

ceased to move beyond the English pickets.
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Comwallis was now in full march on theBattle ofArikera,
and retreat of capital ; and Tippoo. yielding to the representa-
Cornwallis,1791.,.

V
- v- c ,.

tions of his officers, and the remonstrances of his

women, resolved not to allow it to be invested without a

struggle. His father had always advised him to avoid a regular

engagement with the English, but he determined on this occa-

sion to disregard this salutary injunction. He drew up his

whole army at a short distance from Seringapatam, with the

Cavery on his right and a ridge of hills on his left; and there, on

the 13th of May, was fought the battle of Arikera. Although

Tippoo executed his movements with great promptitude and

military judgment, he was entirely discomfited. On the sum-

mit of the hill, where the last shot was fired, the island of

Seringapatam and the eastern face of the fortress became

visible to the victors ; but here terminated the triumph of the

campaign. For many weeks the British army had been suffer-

ing the extremity of want. The scanty stores which accom-

panied it had been exhausted, and Tippoo's light horse cut off

all supplies of provision or forage, and created a desert around

it. After the engagement of the 13th, Lord Cornwallis felt, as

Sir Eyre Coote had felt ten years before, that he would gladly

exchange the trophies of victory for a few days' rice. The

Nizam's horse, which was unable to make any effort for its

own subsistence, increased the calamity by consuming forage
and grain. General Abercromby, with the Bombay army
sent to co-operate with Lord Cornwallis, had proceeded down
the Malabar coast, and, passing through the friendly country
of Coorg, had arrived at Periapatam, forty miles distant from

Seringapatam ; and Lord Cornwallis, after the engagement,
advanced to Caniambady, with the view of forming a junction

with him. But, on the 20th of May, his commissariat officers

reported that it was utterly impossible to move his heavy

guns a step farther with bullocks reduced to the condition of

skeletons. The whole camp was falling a prey to want and

disease ; and Lord Cornwallis was constrained to accept the

conclusion that the object of the campaign was no longer
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practicable, and that the salvation of the army depended on

an immediate retreat. On the 21st of May instructions were

sent to General Abercromby to retrace his steps to the coast,

which he reached in safety, after having destroyed a portion

of his siege guns, and buried the remainder at the head of the

pass. The next day Lord Cornwallis issued a general order,

explaining to the soldiers, European and native, the true

motives of this measure, in order to avoid misapprehensions,
and then destroyed his own battering train and heavy equip-
ments. On the 26th the army began its melancholy march

back to Madras.

Pro ess of the
^"^e dispirited force had scarcely accomplished

Mahratta con- half a short march, when a body of about 2,000

horse made its appearance on the left flank. It

was supposed at first to be a portion of the enemy's troops

advancing to make an attempt on the stores and baggage on

the line of retreat, and prompt dispositions were made to

frustrate it, but a single horseman soon after galloped up
and announced that it was the advanced guard of their Mah-
ratta allies. By the coalition treaty the Mahratta cabinet

had engaged to furnish a body 10,000 horse for the prosecu-

tion of the war with Tippoo, and the Governor-General had

engaged to strengthen their main army with a British detach-

ment. Captain Little accordingly embarked at Bombay, with

two battalions of sepoys and one company of European and

two of native artillery, with which he reached the rendezvous

at Coompta on the 18th of June, but found that not more

than 2,000 Mahratta horse had been assembled. This was

explained by the fact that, although the treaty, offensive and

defensive, had been actually signed by Nana Furnuvese on

the 1st of June, the envois of Tippoo were still entertained

at Poona, in the hope, which the ministers did not attempt to

conceal, that he might be induced even at the eleventh hour

to purchase their neutrality by a concession of territory. This

hope was at length dispelled ; the vakeels were dismissed on

the 5th of August, and Pureshram Bhao, the Mahratta com-
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mandant, crossed the Kistea six days after and joined the

army. But it soon became evident that his intention was not

so much to promote the general object of the confederacy in

the humiliation of Tippoo, as to take advantage of the co-

operation of the British artillery to recover the fortresses

and territories which Tippoo had wrested from the Mahrattas.

On the 18th of September, he sat down before Dharwar, a mud

fort, but well fortified, and garrisoned by 10,000 Mysore

troops, under the command of one of Tippoo's ablest generals.

The fort held out till the 30th of March, when the garrison

capitulated, on hearing of the fall of Bangalore. On the 1st

of January, 1791, a second Mahratta army, consisting of

25,000 horse and 5,000 foot, marched from Poona, under

Hurry Punt, the commander-in-chief of the armies of the

state, and advanced into Mysore by a more easterly route,

capturing a number of forts in its progress,

junction of the These two bodies were united on the 24th of

E^gushannies, ^Wi 1791, and marched towards Milgota, where
i79i. two days later they came up with the English

army on the first day of its retreat. Great was the astonish-

ment of Lord Cornwallis to find the Mahratta forces, which

he supposed to be a hundred and fifty miles distant, in his

immediate vicinity. But, his intelligence department, to which

only 2,000 rupees a month had been allotted, was wretched

beyond example, while the admirable organization of Tippoo's

troop of spies intercepted all communication, and kept the

allies mutually ignorant of each others movements. Had the

approach of the Mahratta armies been announced a week

earlier, the campaign would have presented a very different

prospect. The provisions which they brought with them,

though sold at an exorbitant rate, proved a seasonable relief

to Lord Cornwallis's famished soldiers. The bazaar of the

Mahratta camp presented the greatest variety of articles;

English broadcloths and Birmingham penknives, the richest

Cashmere shawls, and the most rare and costly jewellery, to-

gether with oxen, and sheep, and poultry, and all that the best
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bazaars of the most flourishing towns could furnish, the result

of long and unscrupulous plunder; while the carpets of the

money-changers in the public street of the encampment,

spread with the coins of every kingdom and province in the

east, indicated the systematic rapine of these incomparable
freebooters. But, though the Mahratta sirdars had been enrich-

ing themselves with plunder from the day on which they took

the field, they set up a plea of poverty, and demanded a loan

of fourteen lacs of rupees. Lord Cornwallis had no time to

examine the morality of this request ; he had only to con-

sider the consequence of refusing it the transfer of their

alliance to Tippoo, who was ready to purchase it at any price.

He, therefore, sent an express to Madras, and took out of the

hold of the ships then about to sail for China, the specie

intended for the annual investment.

operations of Hurry Punt, the Mahratta general-in-chief,
the Mahratta, accompanied the English army on its retirement,
the Nizam's and ,., ....,,. , ,

the English but lost no opportunity of indulging in plunder,
forces, i79i. r^^Q mam |j0(jy of the Mahratta army, under

Pureshram Bhao, moved to the north west, subjecting the

Mysore districts to indiscriminate spoliation. The siege of

Simoga, hi which he engaged, was rendered memorable by
the skill and heroism of Capt. Little's detachment which ac-

companied his force, who, after thirty-six hours of hard fight-

ing, without food or rest, placed the fortress in his hands. The

Bhao had left Lord Cornwallis in July, under a solemn pro-

mise to return to the army whenever required ; but nothing
was farther from his intentions ; his object was to avail him-

self of the aid of the English force to recover the territory

which the Mahrattas had lost ; and he was importuning

Captain Little to attack Bednore, when another and more

peremptory requisition obliged him to return to the south ;

but he did not join the English camp till a fortnight after the

termination of the war. The army of the Nizam, on the

retreat of Lord Cornwallis, proceeded to the north-east, and

laid siege to Goommconda, where it was detained many
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months. The fort was at length captured by the English

auxiliary force, and Hafiz-jee, who had been the bearer of

Tippoo's offer of an alliance with the Nizam's family four

years before, which was rejected with indignation, was made

prisoner and cut to pieces by the Nizam's commander, to

revenge that deep felt indignity. Soon after, the Hyderabad
army was summoned to join Lord Cornwallis, then advancing
a second tune against Seringapatam. After his retirement

from the capital in May, 1791, he employed the remainder of

the year in the conquest of the Baramahal, and the reduction

of the fortresses with which the country was studded, and

the fortifications of which had been improved by Tippoo with

so much skill and assiduity as to excite Lord Cornwallis's

warm admiration. Nothing, indeed, filled the princes of the

country with such awe of the British power as the ease and

rapidity with which fortresses, absolutely impregnable to the

assaults of any native force, were mastered, and which they
attributed to the power of magic. While the Mahrattas had

been six months and a half besieging Dharwar, and the

Nizam's army had been detained five months before Copaul,

such fortresses as Kistnagherry, Nundidroog, Severndroog,
and others, which seemed to defy all human approach on their

inaccessible peaks, were captured in a few days.

The grand con-
^^e arrangements of Lord Cornwallis for the

voy, January, campaign of 1792 were completed early in

January, and he took the field with a convoy
which surpassed in magnitude anything which had ever

accompanied a British force in India, and struck the Deccan

with amazement. First and foremost, marched a hundred

elephants laden with treasure, followed by a hundred carts

supplied with liquor, and 60,000 bullocks laden with provisions

belonging to the brinjarees, the professional and hereditary

carriers of India, more than one-fourth of which number had

been serving in Tippoo's army the preceding year. Then in

three parallel columns came the battering train and heavy

carriages, the infantry and the field-pieces, the baggage and
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the camp followers. The appearance of these vast supplies,

partly received from England, and partly drawn from the other

Presidencies, within six months after Lord Cornwallis had

been obliged to retreat for want of provisions, might well

justify the exclamation of Tippoo,
" It is not what I see of

the resources of the English that I dread, but what I do

not see."

On the 25th of January, the Nizam's army,
Siege of Serin- * *'

gapatam, eth consistuig of about 8,000 men, under the com-
uary, 1792.

man(j Qf j^g gon
^
j.^ more gaudy than serviceable,

together with a small body of Hurry Punt's Mahrattasy

joined the camp of Lord Cornwallis, when he moved forward

with a force, consisting exclusive of allies, of 22,000 men, 44

field-pieces, and 42 siege guns. On the 5th of February the

whole force reached an elevated ground which commanded a

view of Seriugapatam, standing on an island formed by two

branches of the Cavery. The defences, which had been

greatly improved by Tippoo, consisted of three lines pro-

tected by 800 pieces of cannon, the earthwork being covered

by a bound hedge of thorny plants, absolutely impenetrable

to man or beast. Tippoo's force was encamped on the

northern face of the stream, and his position was so ad-

mirably fortified that it appeared an act of rashness to attack

it. Lord Cornwallis reconnoitred the works on the 6th, and

determined to storm them that same night. The generals of

the allies were astounded when they heard that the English
commander had gone out in person, like an ordinary captain,

in a dark night, without guns, to assail these formidable lines.

But the attack was planned with the greatest skill, and re-

warded with complete success. The contest raged through-
out the night, and by the morning Lord Cornwallis had ob-

tained possession of the whole of the enemy's redoubts, and

established himself in the island, with the loss of 530 killed

and wounded, of whom 36 were officers. The casualties in

Tippoo's army were estimated at 4,000, but as the conscripts

whom he had pressed into his service took advantage of
II. D
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this reverse to desert it, his total loss did not fall short

of 20,000.

Treaty of Tippoo now began to tremble for his capital
peace, 1792. an(j jjjg kingdom, and hastened to release

Lt. Chambers, whom he had detained, contrary to the

capitulation of Coimbetore, which that officer had defended

to the last extremity, and sent him with overtures to Lord

Cornwallis. On the 16th of February, General Abercromby

joined the camp with a reinforcement of 6,000 men from the

Malabar coast. The operations of the siege were prosecuted
with unabated vigour during the negotiations, and on the

23rd the works were so far completed that fifty pieces of

cannon were brought to bear on the fortifications. Tippoo
assembled his principal officers, and adjured them on the

Koran to advise him in all sincerity and good faith, and

to inform him whether, in their opinion, he ought to accede

to the demands of the confederates. They replied that no

reliance could any longer be placed on his soldiers, and that

submission was inevitable. Tippoo felt that he had to choose

between the loss of his throne, and submission to the severe

terms dictated by Lord Cornwallis; which were, that he

should cede half his territories, pay three crores of rupees
towards the expenses of the war, and give up two of his

sons as hostages. The confederates left Sir John Kennaway,
the British plenipotentiary, to settle the conditions of the

treaty, but when it was completed, Hurry Punt, the Mahratta

general-in-chief added a supplemental demand of sixty lacs

of rupees for himself and the Nizam's general, as a reasonable

fee for their labours in the negotiation. This sum was subse-

quently reduced to one-half that amount. From documents

found on the capture of Seringapatam, in 1799, it was dis-

covered that both the Mahrattas and the Nizam were all this

time engaged in a clandestine correspondence with Tippoo,

the object of which was unconsciously but effectually defeated

by the signature of the preliminaries by Lord Cornwall's on

the 23rd, and the arrival of the hostages on the 25th of
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February. The youths were conveyed with much ceremony
to the Governor-General's tent, and received with distinguished

courtesy. A crore of rupees had also been sent in, when

Tippoo, finding that the little principality of Coorg which he

had destined to destruction for the assistance afforded to the

English was to be included in the territory he was required

to cede, not only remonstrated against the demand of what

he termed one of the gates of Seringapatam, but manifested

a disposition to renew hostilities. Lord Cornwallis, however,
made preparations for pressing the siege with such prompti-

tude, that Tippoo was speedily brought to reason. The

tripartite treaty had provided that the territories conquered by
the joint exertions of the allies should be equally divided among
them. The Mahrattas, as the preceding narrative will show,
had given no assistance in the war, and the Nizam's force

had done nothing but consume provisions and forage, but

Lord Cornwallis was determined to adhere to the original

compact with the most scrupulous fidelity, and made over a

third of the indemnity, as well as of the territory, to each of

the confederates, annexing another third, of the value of forty

lacs of rupees a year, to the dominions of the Company. It

comprised the district of Dindigul in the south, and of the

Baramahal in the east, including several important passes

into Mysore, and a large strip of fertile territory with great

commercial resources on the western coast, which was
annexed to Bombay, and formed the first real domain of

that Presidency.

Proposals to This was the first acquisition of territory since

relinquish terri-
jt ha(j been resoive(i to control the growth of the

1780-1793. British empire in India by Acts of Parliament.

Mr. Pitt, on the introduction of his India Bill, in 1784, stated that

his first and principal object would be to prevent the Governor

of Bengal from being ambitious, and bent on conquest ; and

his chief objection to Hastings was, that he had endeavoured

to extend the British dominions in India. The dread of ter-

ritorial expansion was, in fact, the prevailing bugbear of the

D 2
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day. But neither Hastings, nor any other statesman ia

England or in India, had ever entertained any such design.

On the contrary, Hastings was at one time prepared to relin-

quish all the Northern Sircars. Clive had given back the

entire kingdom of Oude, when it had been forfeited by the

result of the war which the Nabob vizier had wantonly waged

against the Company, and he denounced any attempt to

extend the British territories beyond the Curumnussa. Lord

Cornwallis, soon after he assumed office, expressed his wish

to withdraw from the Malabar coast, and to reduce Bombay
to a mere factory, subordinate to Calcutta or Madras ;

and

Lord Shelburne, when Prime Minister of England in 1782, pro-

posed to give up everything except Bombay and Bengal ; and,

had Lord Cornwallis accepted the office of Governor-General

when it was first proposed to him, he would probably
have taken out orders to abandon the Madras Presidency.

If the extent of the British dominions in India had depended,

therefore, on the wishes, or the policy of its rulers, so far from

being ambitiously expanded, it would apparently have been

reduced within very narrow limits.

Those who took the lead in the government of
Encroachments ._ -,,*
of native India at this period, had evidently out a partial
princes, 1793. knowie(jge of jts earjy history and polity, of the

character of its princes, or of the position in which England
was placed. From time immemorial, aggression had been

the life-blood of all Indian monarchies. Twenty-five centuries

before Mr. Pitt's time, the father of Hindoo legislation had

placed conquest among the foremost of regal virtues. " What

the king," says Munoo,
" has not gained, let him strive to

gain by military strength ;" and this is, perhaps, the only in-

junction of the Hindoo shastras, which Hindoo printes have

never forgotten. The same aggressive principle was adopted

by the Mahomedan conquerors, not only in reference to infidel

princes, but to those of the "true faith." Every new dynasty,

as it arose with the elastic vigour of youth, continued to

attack and appropriate the territories of its neighbours, till
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it became itself effete, and was in its turn absorbed by new
adventurers. For more than ten centuries there had been no

settled kingdom, guarded by a respect for prescriptive rights,

anxious to maintain peace with its neighbours, and content

with its ancient boundaries. In every direction, the continent

had presented an unbroken series of intrigue, violence and

aggression.

The position of
^ *ne Perid which this narrative has reached,

the English, the political cauldron in India was seething with

more than ordinary violence. The four chief powers,

the Peshwa, the Nizam, Tippoo, and Sindia, had been esta-

blished within the brief period of sixty years by usurpa-

tion, and were kept alive by the impulse of aggression.

Every year had witnessed some invasion of the right of some

prince in Hindostan or the Deccan. It was at this juncture

that the English appeared on the scene, and took up arms to

defend their factories. By the superiority of their valour

and discipline, they became a first-rate military power, and,

consequently, an object of jealousy to all the belligerent

princes of India. It was the restlessness and encroachment

of those princes, and not the ambition of English go-

vernors which gave rise to nearly all the wars in which

they were engaged. Admitting that they had any right to

be in India at all, the increase of their power and possessions

was the inevitable effect of that law of progression to which

all new dynasties were subject. From the very first they
were placed in a state of antagonism to all those who
dreaded their power, and coveted their possessions. The

slightest appearance of weakness, and, too often, even the

exhibition of moderation a virtue unknown in India became

the signal of aggressive assaults. When the aggressor was

conquered, it appeared to be the dictate of prudence to pre-

vent the renewal of hostilities by reducing his resources, and

appropriating a part of his territories. And thus was the

British empire in India gradually extended by a mysterious

but inexorable necessity, which overpowered, not only the
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reluctance of English governors, and the denunciations of

patriots, but even the omnipotence of Parliament.

Censure of Lord The conduct of Lord Coniwallis was not allowed

fh^Ho'^
m

to pass without censure in the House of Commons,
1793. more especially from Mr. Francis, who had been

the instrument of annexing the province of Benares to the

Company's territories. The war which Lord Cornwallis

'considered "an absolute and cruel necessity," forced on him

by the ungovernable ambition and violence of Tippoo, was

stigmatised as unjust and ambitious, and the treaties of

alliance he had formed with the Nizam and the Poona durbar

were affirmed to be infamous. Lord Porchester went so far

as to assert that the war was founded on avarice, but the

charge was triumphantly refuted by the fact that Lord

Cornwallis had not only been subject to a loss of nearly

three lacs of rupees by it, but had relinquished his share of

the prize-money, which came to four lacs and a half more a

generous act which was nobly emulated by General Medows.

The House ratified all the measures of the Governor-General,

including the large acquisition of territory which he had

made, and the king conferred on him the dignity of Marquis.
The precedent has been scrupulously maintained since that

time, and every Governor-General who has enlarged the

British empire in India, has received the thanks of Par-

liament, and has been decorated with honours by the

Crown.

Beduction of
The progress of the war demonstrated beyond

nppoo's power, question, that of the three native powers in the

Deccan, Tippoo was by far the strongest. Both

the Nizam and the Mahrattas were found to entertain the most

lively dread of his power and his ambition, and they were

brought to feel that they could not have defended themselves

effectually from his encroachments, without the aid of an

English army. The power of Tippoo was effectually reduced

by the alienation of one-half his territorial resources, which,

before the peace, were reckoned at about two crorcs and a
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half of rupees. The Nizam and the Poona durbar had ex-

hibited such inefficiency during the campaigns, as to reduce

themselves to a very subordinate political position, and the

prestige of British power had been in a corresponding degree

augmented. The deference paid to the Governor-General

both by friends and enemies placed the British name and

consequence in a light never known before in India. After

this period, for half a century, there were no more treaties of

Mangalore, or conventions of Wurgaum, but the British

authorities dictated their own terms in every negotiation.

CHAPTER XVII.

LORD CORNWALLIS'S ADMINISTRATION REVENUE AND JUDICIAL

REFORMS-POWER OF SINDIA.

Lora Corn-
Brilliant success of the Mysore war reflected

waiiis's revenue the highest credit on Lord Comwallis, but the
reforms, 1793. .. , . , . . ^.

permanent renown of his administration rests

upon his revenue and judicial institutions, which form one

of the most important epochs in the history of British

India.

Kse of the The resources of government in India had been
zemindars. derived from time immemorial, almost exclusively

from the land, a certain proportion of the produce of which

was considered the inalienable right of the sovereign. The

settlement of the land revenue was, therefore, a question of

the greatest magnitude, and embraced, not only the financial

strength of the state, but the prosperity of its subjects. Two
centuries before the period of which we treat, Toder Mull,

the great financier of Akbar, had made a settlement of the

lower provinces, directly with the cultivators, after an accurate

survey and valuation of the lands. To collect the rents from

the ryots, and transmit them of the treasury, agents were-
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placed in various revenue circles, and remunerated for their

labour by a per centage on the collections. The office of

collector speedily became hereditary, from the constant ten-

dency of every office in India to become so, and, also from

the obvious convenience of continuing the agency in the

family which was in possession of the local 1'ecords, and

acquainted with the position of the ryots, and the nature of

the lands. The collector thus became responsible for the

government rent, and was entrusted with all the powers

necessary for realising it. He was permitted to entertain a

military force, which it was his constant aim to augment, to

increase his own consequence. His functions were gradually

enlarged, and came eventually to embrace the control of the

police and the adjudication of rights. The collector was

thus transformed into a zemindar, and assumed the title and

dignity of raja, and became, in effect, the master of the

district.

Evils of the
^he English government had from the first

revenue system, treated the zemindars as simple collectors, and

ousted them without hesitation when otjiers

offered more for the lands than they were prepared to pay.

But this uncertainty of tenure, and this repeated change of

agency was found to be equally detrimental to the improve-
ment of the lands, the welfare of the ryots, and the interests

of the state. Under such a system there could be no appli-

cation of capital to the operations of agriculture ; the estates

became deteriorated, while the remissions which Government

was obliged to make from time to time, overbalanced any

profits arising from competition. The Court of Directors

complained that the revenue was steadily diminishing, and

that the country itself was becoming impoverished and ex-

hausted. Lord Cornwallis, soon after his arrival, declared

that agriculture and internal commerce were in a state of

rapid decay, that no class of society appeared to be flourish-

ing, except the money-lenders, and that both cultivators and

landlords were sinking into poverty and wretchedness. The
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evils under which the people groaned, he affirmed to be

enormous.

Remedy pro- The Court of Directors felt the necessity of

court of oi- adopting some bold and decisive measure to arrest

rectors, 1786. ^he progress of ruin, and, under this impression,

framed their memorable letter of the 12th of April, 1786,

which became the basis of the important revenue settlement,

begun and completed by Lord Cornwallis. They condemned

the employment of farmers of the revenue and temporary

renters, who had no interest hi the land, and defrauded the

state, while they oppressed the ryots. They directed that

the engagements should be made with the old zemindars, not,

however, as a matter of right, but of fiscal policy. On the pre-

sumption, moreover, that sufficient information must have

been acquired regarding the estates, they desired that the

settlement should be made for a period of ten years, and

eventually declared permanent, if it appeared to be satis-

factory. But Lord Cornwallis found that the Court had been

essentially mistaken in this conclusion. Twenty years had

been employed in efforts to procure information regarding
the land, and five schemes had been devised for the purpose,

but the Government was still as ignorant as ever on the sub-

ject. The Collectors had no knowledge of the value of the

lands, of the nature of tenures, or of the rights of landlord

and tenant. They had no intercourse with the people, and

were ignorant of their language. They saw only through the

eyes of their omlas, or native officers, whose sole object

was to mystify them, in order the more effectually to plunder
the country. Lord Cornwallis, therefore, suspended the exe-

cution of the orders of the Court, and circulated interrogatories

with the view of obtaining the necessary information, and, in

the mean time, made the settlements annual.

Proprietary
The proprietary right in the land had been con-

right in the sidered, from time immemorial, to be vested in the
lands, 1793. . , ... , ,.-

'

sovereign ; and although Mr. Francis and some

others had thought fit to adopt a different opinion, the great
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majority of the public servants adhered to the ancient

doctrine. But, after the investigations were completed, the

Governmemt, acting upon a generous and enlightened policy,

determined to confer on the zemindars the unexpected boon of

a permanent interest in the soil. Before this concession, the ze-

mindars, from the highest to the lowest, had been mere tenants

at will, liable at any time to be deprived by the state landlord

of the estates they occupied. But the regulations of 1793,

in which the new fiscal policy was embodied, converted the

soil into a property, and bestowed it upon them. A large
and opulent class of landholders was thus created, in the

hope that they would seek the welfare of the ryot, stimu-

late cultivation, and augment the general wealth of the

country. It was found, however, to be much more easy to

determine the relation between the government and the land-

lord, than between the landlord and his tenant. The rights

of the cultivators were more ancient and absolute than those

of the zemindar; but the zemindar had always practised

every species of oppression on them, extorting every cowrie

which could be squeezed from them by violence, and leaving

them little beyond a rag and a hoveL Mr. Shore, who super-

intended the settlement, maintained that some interference

on the part of government was indispensably necessary to

effect an adjustment of the demands of the zemindar on the

ryot. Lord Cornwallis affirmed that whoever cultivated the

land, the zemindar could receive no more than the established

rate, which in most cases was equal to what the cultivator

could pay. The difficulty was compromised rather than

adjusted by declaring that the zemindar should not be at

Restrictions liberty to enhance the rents of the "
independent

on the land- talookdars
" and two other classes of renters who

holders, 1793. . , . _ n , ,, . , .

paid the fixed sums due to the state through him,

simply for the convenience of government. The zemindar

was also restricted from enhancing the rent of the class of

tenants called khoodkast, who cultivated the lands of the

village in which they resided, except when their rents were
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below the current rates, or when their tenures had been im-

properly obtained. The remaining lands of the estate he

was at liberty to let in any manner and at any rate he pleased.

For the protection of the resident cultivators it was enacted

that the zemindar should keep a register of their tenures,

and grant then) pottahs, or leases, specifying the rent they

were to pay, and that for any infringment of these rules the

ryot was to seek a remedy in an action against him in the

civil courts, But the registers were not kept, and pottahs

were rarely given ; and, as to the remedy, a poor man has

little chance against his wealthy oppressor in courts where

the native officers are universally venal, and their influence is

paramount. By the unremitted contrivances of the zemindar,

and changes of residence on the part of the ryot, which

extinguished all his rights, the class of resident cultivators

has been gradually diminished; and the ryots have been placed
at the mercy of the zemindar. The absence of any clear and

defined rules for the protection of the cultivator in his ancient

right not to pay more than a limited and moderate rent, and to

be kept in possession of .his fields as long as he did so, is an

unquestionable blot on a system which in other respects was

highly beneficial.

Settlement After the settlement had been completed, the
made perma- great and all important question came on whether

it should be decennial or permanent. Mr. Shore,

the highest authority in all revenue questions in India at the

time, strenuously opposed every proposal to make it irrevo-

cable. He argued that government did not yet possess suffi-

cient knowledge of the capabilities of the land, and of the

collections, to make an equitable distribution of the assess-

ment. But Lord Cornwallis replied, with great force, that if

we had not acquired this knowledge after twenty years of

research, and after the collectors had been employed espe-

cially for three years in seeking for it, we could never expect

to obtain it, and the settlement must be indefinitely postponed.

He considered that the boon which it was proposed to confer
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on the zemindars would give them an irresistible inducement

to promote cultivation, and to render their ryots comfortable.

Mr. Shore, with a more correct appreciation of the character

of the zemindars, affirmed that they had never been alive to

their true interests ; that they were utterly ignorant of the

rudiments of agricultural science ; that the whole zemindary

system was a mere conflict of extortion on their part and

resistance on the part of the ryot, the zemindar exacting

whatever he had any chance of wringing from him, and the

ryot refusing every cowrie he could withhold ; and he argued
that the zemindar would not assume new principles of action

because his tenure was made permanent. But Lord Corn-

wallis was resolute in his opinion that a fixed and unalterable

assessment was the only panacea for the evils which afflicted

the country, and he strongly urged it upon Mr. Dundas.

Some of the leading members of the Court of Directors,

partly influenced by the weighty opinion of Mr. Shore, and

partly by then: own convictions, adopted a contrary opinion ;

but, as a body, they could not be persuaded to give their at-

tention to the measure. Mr. Dundas resolved, therefore, that

it should originate- with the Board of Control. Mr. Pitt,

who had for many years studied every Indian question with

great assiduity, shut himself up with Mr. Dundas at his

country seat at Wimbledon, determined to master the subject

in all its bearings and results. Mr. Charles Grant, who had

passed many years of his life in India, and combined the

largest experience with the most enlightened views, though
lie had not been considered worthy a place among the Direc-

tors, was invited to assist Mr. Pitt and Mr. Dundas in these

deliberations, and he gave his suffrage for the perpetuity of

the settlement. Mr. Pitt at length declared his conviction

of the wisdom of this measure, and a despatch was accord-

ingly drawn up by Mr. Dundas and sent to the Court of

Directors. The subject was too large for their consideration

in general, and the few who understood it, finding that the

Ministers of the Crown had made up their minds on the point,
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thought it best to acquiesce, and the dispatch was sent out to

India.

Eesuit of the The permanent settlement of Bengal and Behar
settlement. was promulgated in Calcutta on the 22nd of March,
1793. It was the broadest and most important administrative

act which the British government had adopted since its esta-

blishment in India. At a period when the revenue derived

from the land formed the bone and muscle of the public re-

sources, and while one-third of the country was a jungle, the

assessment was fixed for ever. No margin was allowed for

the inevitable increase of expenditure in the defence of the

country, and in the development of civilised institutions ; and

there was moreover the unquestionable conviction that where

the rent happened to be excessive, it must be reduced ; where

it was inadequate, it could not be increased. With the expe-

rience of seventy years before us, we are enabled to discover

many defects and inequalities in the settlement, and it would be

a miracle if this were not the case ; but we must not forget

the impending ruin of the country which it was intended to

avert. It was a bold, brave, and wise measure. Under the

genial influence of this territorial charter, which for the first

time created indefeasable rights and interests in the soil, popu-
lation has increased, cultivation has been extended, and a

gradual improvement has become visible in the habits and

comfort of the people ; and the revenue of the provinces of

Bengal and Behar have increased to fourteen crores of rupees

a-year, of which only four crores are derived from the lands.

Before dismissing the subject it may be worthy of remark,

that with all his benevolent and generous sympathies for the

natives, Lord Cornwallis was not able to advance beyond the

traditional creed of England, that ah
1

her colonial and foreign

possessions were to be administered primarily and emphati-

cally for her benefit. No effort was to be spared to secure the

protection, the improvement, and the happiness of the people;

but it was with an eye exclusively to the credit and the in-

terests of the governing power. He closes his great minute
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on the permanent settlement with this characteristic remark :

" The real value of Bengal and Behar to Britain depends on

the continuance of its ability to furnish a large annual invest-

ment to Europe, to assist in providing an investment for

China, and to supply the pressing wants of the other presi-

dencies."

administration of Lord Cornwallis was alsoReform of the

civil courts, rendered memorable by the great changes intro-

duced into the judicial institutions of the Presi-

dency. The collector of the revenue had hitherto acted also

as judge and magistrate. Lord Cornwallis separated the

financial from the judicial functions, and confined the collector

to his fiscal duties, placing him under a Board of Revenue at

the Presidency. A civil court was established in each district

and in the principal cities, with a judge, a register to deter-

mine cases of inferior value, and one or more covenanted as-

sistants. Every person in the country was placed under the

jurisdiction of these courts, with the exception of British

subjects, who were, by Act of Parliament, amenable to the

Supreme Court. To receive appeals from the zillah and city

courts, four Courts of Appeal were constituted at Calcutta,

Dacca, Moorshedabad, and Patna, and from then* decisions

an appeal lay to the Sudder Court at the Presidency, nominally

composed of the Governor-General and the members of

Council. All fees of every description were abolished, and

the expenses of a suit restricted to the remuneration of

pleaders and the expense of witnesses.

Criminal courts,
For the administration of criminal law, it was

1793. ordained that the judges of the four Courts of

Appeal should proceed on circuit, from zillah to zillah, within

their respective circles, and hold jail deliveries twice in the

year. The Mahomedan law, divested of some of its most

revolting precepts, was the criminal code of the courts, and

the Mahomedan law officer, on the completion of the trial at

which he had been present, was required to declare the sen-

tence prescribed by that code; which was carried into execu-
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tion if the judge concurred in it, and if he did not, it was
referred to the Sudder Court, which was also constituted a

Court of Appeal in criminal cases. The zillah judges were

likewise invested with the powers of a magistrate, and au-

thorized to pass and execute sentences in trivial offences,

and, in other cases, to apprehend the delinquent and commit

him for trial before the judges of circuit. Each zillah was

divided into districts of about twenty miles square, to each of

which an officer called a daroga was appointed, with authority

to arrest offenders on a written charge, and when the offence

was bailable, to take security for appearance before the

magistrate. Of all the provisions of the new system this

proved to be the most baneful. The daroga, who was often

fifty miles from the seat of control, enjoyed almost unlimited

power of extortion, and became the scourge of the country.

The code of For more than ten years, the clear and simple
1793. rules for the administration of justice, drawn up

by Sir Elijah Tmpey, in 1781, had been the guide of the

Courts. Lord Cornwallis considered it important that his

new institutions should have all the certainty of fixed rules.

" It was essential," he said,
" to the future prosperity of the

British in Bengal that all regulations affecting the rights,

persons, and property of their subjects, should be formed into

a code, and printed, with translations, in the country lan-

guages." Mr. George Barlow, a civil servant of mark at the

tune, and subsequently Governor-General, ad interim, and

Governor of Madras, had the chief hand in manipulating the

code of 1793, more especially in the police and judicial de-

partment. He was ignorant of the principles or practice of

law, except as he might have picked up some notion of them
in the country courts. He expanded the ordinances of Sir Eli-

jah into an elaborate volume of regulations, altering the

original rules, without improving them. This code, however
valuable as a monument of British benevolence, was alto-

gether unsuited to a people who had been accustomed to have

justice distributed by simple and rational enquiry. The
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course of procedure was loaded with formalities, and the

multiplication of puzzling and pedantic rules only served to

bewilder the mind, and to defeat the object in view. There

was, in fact, too much law for there to be much justice.

Every suit became a game of chess, and afforded the amplest

scope for oriental ingenuity and chicanery.
" Justice was

thus made sour" by delay, and equity was smothered by

legal processes. To add to the impediments thrown in the

course of justice, it was administered in a language equally

foreign to the judge and the suitors.

Notwithstanding the wisdom exhibited in Lord
Exclusion of .,...
natives from Cornwallis s institutions, they were deformed by
power, 1793.

Qne gj.ea^ an(j ra(jicai error. He considered it

necessary that the whole administration of the country should

be placed exclusively in the hands of covenanted servants of

the Company, to the entire exclusion of all native agency.
In the criminal department, the only native officer entrusted

with any power was the Daroga, upon an allowance of

twenty-five rupees a month. In the administration of civil

justice, cases of only the most trivial amount were made over

to a native judge, under the title of Moonsiff ; but while the

salary of the European judge was raised to 2,500 rupees a

month, the Moonsiff was deprived of all pay, and left to find

a subsistence by a small commission on the value of suits ; in

other words, by the encouragement of litigation. Under all

former conquerors, civil and military offices, with few excep-

tions, were open to the natives of the country, who might

aspire, with confidence, to the post of minister, and to the

command of armies. But under the impolitic system estab-

lished in 1793, the prospects of legitimate and honourable

ambition were altogether closed against the natives of the

country. If the peculiar nature of British rule rendered it

necessary to retain all political and military power in the

hands of Europeans, this was no reason for denying the

natives eveiy opportunity of rising to distinction in the judi-

cial departments, for which they were eminently qualified by
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their industrious habits, and their natural sagacity, not less

than by the knowledge they possessed of the language and

character of their fellow-countrymen. The fatal effects of

this exclusion were speedily visible in the disrepute and in-

efficiency of the whole administration. With only three or

four European functionaries in a district, which often contained

a million .of inhabitants, the machine of government must

have stood still without the services of natives. But this

power and influence from which it was impossible to exclude

them, being exercised without responsibility, was used for the

purposes of oppression, and the courts of every description

became the hot-bed of corruption and venality,

ca tureof
^e remammg events of 1793 are few and un-

Pondicheny, important. Information having been received that

France had declared war against England, Lord

Cornwallis issued orders for the assemblage of a large force

at Madras, intending to take the command of it in person, and

march against Pondicherry. He embarked at Calcutta on the

25th of August, but was twenty-five days in reaching Madras.

On his arrival there, he found that Colonel Brathwaite had

proceeded to invest Pondicherry, and that, in consequence of

the insubordination of the French troops, the governor had

been obliged to capitulate a few days before. Lord Corn-

wallis embarked for England in October, after a memorable

reign of seven years, during which period he had given

strength and stability to the power established by the daring

of Clive, and consolidated by the genius of Hastings. The

dignity and firmness which he exhibited in his intercourse

with the princes of India conciliated and overawed them,

while the supreme authority which he exercised over all the

Presidencies, convinced them that a new element of vigour
had been introduced into the British government in India,

which rendered it more formidable than ever.

Progress of The treaty of Salbye, which Sindia had con-
sindia-s en- cluded with Hastings, on the part of the Mah-
croachmenu,

7

1784. ratta powers in 1782, raised him to a commanding
II. K
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position in the politics of India. He was no longer a mere

feudatory of the Peshwa, but an independent chief, the ally

of the British Government, who had honoured his capital with

the presence of their representative. He determined to lose

no time in improving these advantages, and of pushing his

schemes of ambition in Hindostan. The state of affairs at

Delhi was eminently favourable to these views. The imbecile

emperor was a puppet in the hands of Afrasiab Khan, who
invoked the aid of Sindia, in his master's name, to demolish

the power of his rival, Mahomed Beg. Sindia accepted the in-

vitation with alacrity, and advanced with a large force to Agra,
where he had a meeting with the emperor in October, 1784.

Afrasiab was soon after assassinated, and the authority of

the imperial court, and the influence connected with it, were at

once transferred to Sindia. He refused the title of Ameer-ool-

omrah, but accepted that of Vakeel-ool-mutluk, or Regent of

the empire, for the Peshwa, and the post of deputy for himself,

and was thus nominally invested with the executive authority

of the Mogul throne. The emperor likewise conferred on him

the command of the imperial forces, and assigned to him the

provinces of Agra and Delhi, out of which he agreed to pay

65,000 rupees monthly, for the expenditure of the emperor's

household. His ambitious views were thus gratified sooner

than he had expected, and in the elation of success, and

encouraged likewise by the departure of Hastings, he de-

manded the arrears of chout for Bengal and Behar, but

Mr. Macpherson not only rejected the claim with indignation,

but constrained him to offer a humble apology for having
made it.

attars The resources of the provinces of Agra and Delhi,
the Kajpoou, which had been exhausted by constant hostilities,
and is defeated, .

J '

1787 were found inadequate to the maintenance of the

large force which Sindia entertained, and he sequestered the

jaygeers of the Mahomedan nobles of the court. A powerful

party was thus raised against him, which received secret

encouragement from the emperor himself. Sindia then pro-
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ceeded to despoil the Eajpoots, and at the gates of Je}*pore

made a demand of sixty lacs of rupees, as tribute due to the

imperial treasury. The greater portion of this sum was paid,

but when his general appeared to claim the remainder, the

Kajpoot tribes made common cause, and attacked and routed

him. Sindia advanced with all his troops to encounter them,'

but Mahomed Beg, who joined his standard after the murder

of Afrasiab, fearing that the confiscation of his estates would

not be long delayed, if Sindia were victorious, chose the eve

of the battle for going over to the Rajpoots. He was killed

in the engagement which followed, but his gallant nephew,
Ismael Beg, one of the best native soldiers of the age, rallied

the troops, and Sindia was obliged to retire. He was pre-

paring to renew the conflict, on the third day, when the

whole of the emperor's troops went over in a body to Ismael

Beg, with eighty pieces of cannon. Sindia had not been

reduced to such straits since he fled from the field of Paniput,

but in no emergency did he evince greater fortitude and con-

duct. Fortunately for him, the Eajpoots, satisfied with their

success, retired to their respective homes, instead of following

up the victory. They left Ismael Beg to conduct the war

alone, and he laid siege to Agra, the fortifications of which had

been greatly strengthened by Sindia. In this extremity, he

addressed Nana Furnuvese, and importuned him to aid him in

maintaining the Mahratta ascendancy hi Hindostan. But

Nana was jealous of the growing power of Sindia, who he

knew was aiming at the supreme control of the Mahratta

commonwealth, and although he did not fail to send for-

ward troops under Holkar and AH Bahadoor, they were

intended rather to watch and check his movements than to

assist them.

ohoiam Kadir, In this position of affairs, the infamous Gholam
I788>

Kadir, a turbulent soldier of fortune, the son of

the Rohilla chief, Zabita Khan, who had died in June, 1785,

appeared on the scene. Ismael Beg was still engaged in

the siege of Agra : Gholam Kadir, with his body of free

E 2
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lances joined him there, and Sindia advanced to attack them

both. On the 24th of April, tney raised the siege and ad-

vanced sixteen miles to meet him ; Siridia was completely

overpowered, and obliged to retreat to Bhurtpore, the capital

of the friendly Jauts. Gholam Kadir was soon after called

off to defend his own jaygeer from the encroachments of the

Sikhs, by whom it was invaded at the instigation of Sindia,

who took advantage of the circumstance to attack Ismael

Beg, under the walls of Agra. The battle was fought on the

18th day of June, 1788, and terminated in the complete dis-

persion of Ismael's troops. He immediately joined the camp
of Gholam Kadir, and they advanced together towards Delhi,

but the emperor refused to admit either of them into it.

Gholam Kadir, however, succeeded in corrupting one of the

emperor's confidential officers, seized the gates of the city,

and occupied the palace and the citadel. He then let loose

his licentious soldiers on the city, which was for two months

subjected to a degree of violence, rapine and barbarity, un-

exampled even in the gloomy annals of that imperial metro-

polis, which had been so repeatedly devoted to spoliation.

The wives and daughters, and female relatives of the emperor
were exposed and dishonoured, while some were, more mer-

cifully, put to death. To crown his infamy, the
Gholam Kadir

blinds the em- ruffian put out the eyes of the wretched monarch
peror, 1788.

jn ^heir gocketg with his dagger. Ismael Beg
turned with horror from the sight of these atrocities, and on

receiving the promise of a jaygeer, entered the service of

Sindia, who advanced to Delhi, reseated the emperor on the

throne, and did everything that humanity could suggest, to

alleviate the sorrows of the old man, then in his sixty-fifth

year. A force was sent after Gholam Kadir who took shelter

in Meerut, where he defended himself with vigour, but seeing
his case desperate, mounted a swift horse and fled across the

country, but was captured and brought into the presence of

Sindia, who subjected him to the most barbarous mutilations,

under which he expired.
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The success which had attended the exertions
Sindia's Euro-

.

pean force, of Sindia was owing, in a great measure, to the
T91 '

force which he had organised under European
officers. He could not fail to perceive that the native

Mahratta soldier, though admirably adapted for marauding
1

expeditions, was ill suited for regular warfare, or for the

maintenance of such a power as he was endeavouring to

establish ; and he resolved to create a Sepoy army on the

model of the English battalions. The Count de Boigne, a

native of Savoy, had come to India in quest of service, and

circumstances brought him to the camp of Sindia, by whom
he was immediately entertained. He was an officer of dis-

tinguished talents and great military experience, having
served both in Europe and in India, and a large force was

gradually formed under his direction, consisting chiefly of

Eajpoots and Mahomedans, commanded and disciplined by
European officers, many of whom were English adventurers.

The force was eventually raised to 18,000 regular infantry,

6,000 irregular and 2,000 regular cavalry, and 600 Persian

horse. With the aid of these regiments Sindia was enabled

to fight pitched battles, and to capture towns and forts, as no

Mahratta chief had ever done before. A foundry was like-

wise established, and 200 cannon cast. The equipment of this

formidable force completely established Sindia's authority in

Hindostan, and made him the most powerful member of the

Mahratta confederation.

Battle of Pattm,
The turbulent Ismael Beg did not long remain

June n, 1790. faithful to Sindia, and he was joined by the

Rajpoot rajas of Jeypore and Joudhpore. Sindia attacked

the allies at Patun, on the 20th of June, 1790. Ismael fought
with his usual bravery, and thrice charged through Sindia's

regular infantry, cutting down the artillerymen at their guns.

Holkar's force stood aloof during the engagement, and the

issue of the battle was for a time doubtful, but the personal

gallantry of De Boigne and his European officers, and the

firmness of his disciplined troops, secured the day to his
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master, though not, as it was affirmed, without the loss of

11,000 men. Ismael Beg fled with a small retinue to Jey-

pore, all his guns were captured, and ten of his battalions

grounded their arms and surrendered. The Eajpoots, how-

Battie of Maiita, ever, still continued to maintain the war, and in
i Sept., 1791. ^g guccee(}ing year a second battle was fought,

at Mairta, in which De Boigne achieved another victory. The

Rajpoot tribes were now apparently at Sindia's mercy, but

the equivocal conduct of Holkar induced him to grant them

peace on the payment of a moderate tribute. The raja of

Joudhpore, however, who had assassinated Sindia's brother,

Jayapa, thirty-two years before, was now required to sur-

render Ajmere to atone for the deed.

Sin.iia marches Sindia had offered to join the alliance against
to Poona, 1792.

Tippoo, in 1790, on the condition that two bat-

talions of English troops should accompany him to Poona,

tliat his own conquests in Hindostan should be guaranteed,
and that he should be assisted to effect the complete subjuga-
tion of the Rajpoot states. Lord Cornwallis necessarily

rejected these terms, upon which he entered into correspon-

dence with Tippoo all the while, however, professsing the

warmest attachment for the Company and assumed a

threatening attitude towards the Peshwa; and, if the arms

of the allies had met with any serious reverse in the war with

Tippoo, would doubtless have made common cause with that

prince against them. That he might be in a position to take

advantage of circumstances, and establish his authority at the

Mahratta capital, he resolved to proceed thither, much against
the wishes of Nana Furnuvese, who was justly apprehensive
of his designs. After the battle of Patun, he had obtained

from the emperor, for the third time, patents constituting the

Peshwa Vakeel-ool-mootluk, or regent of the empire, and

Sindia and his descendants, hereditary deputies. It may
serve to give some idea of the prestige which still lingered

about the Mogul throne, that, at a time when the emperor
was dependant on Sindia for the daily expenses of his house-
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hold, such a sunnud as this was considered an important

acquisition in the Deccan. As a pretext for appearing at

Poona, he gave out that he was proceeding to invest the

Peshwa with the robes of his new office. He arrived at the

capital on the llth of June, 1792, and in order to exhibit his

influence over the imperial house, as well as to gratify the

feelings of the Hindoos, he published an edict he had extorted

from the emperor, forbidding the slaughter of bullocks and

cows throughout the Mogul dominions. Nana Furnuvese

used every effort to prevent the Peshwa's accepting the title

conferred on him, but Sindia had brought a large variety of

rarities with him from Hindostan which delighted the fancy
of the young prince, and, by making constant arrangements
for his amusement, obtained a complete ascendancy over him.

A day was accordingly fixed for the investiture.

Sindia spared no pains to render the ceremony
vestiture,Juiy, imposing. A grand suite of tents was pitched in

the vicinity of the town, and the Peshwa pro-

ceeded to them with the greatest pomp. At the farthest end

of the great tent of state a throne was erected to represent

that of the Great Mogul, on which the imperial sunnud and

the insignia were placed. The Peshwa approached it and

placed on it the usual offering of a hundred and one gold

mohurs, and took his seat on the right, when Sindia's secre-

tary read out the patent, as well as the edict abolishing the

slaughter of kine. The Peshwa was then invested with the

gorgeous robes and splendid jewels of the office, and returned

to Poona amidst the acclamations of thousands, and salvos

of artillery. The grandeur of the scene exceeded everything

which had ever been seen in the Mahratta capital before. It

was on this occasion that Sindia exhibited one of the most

extraordinary specimens of mock humility recorded in Indian

history. It must be borne in mind that three months before

this time, Tippoo had been stripped of half his dominions,

and that Sindia was now the most powerful native prince in

India, and master of an army composed of sixteen battalions
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of regular infantry, five hundred pieces of cannon, and a

hundred thousand horse. But he dismounted from his elephant
at the gates of Poona, and in the great hall of audience

placed himself below all the hereditary nobles of the state.

The Peshwa entered the room, and desired him to take his seat

among the highest dignitaries, when he replied that he was

unworthy of that honour, and untying a bundle which he

carried under his arm, produced a pah" of slippers, which he

put before the Peshwa, saying,
" This is my occupation ; it

was that of my father," and it was with great apparent re-

luctance that he allowed himself to be conducted to the

honourable seat prepared for him.

Battle with Sindia and Nana Furnuvese, after this trans-

Hoikar, 1792. action, maintained an outward appearance of

respect and civility, though plotting each other's destruction ;

but their respective forces in Hindostan could not be restrained

from open hostility. They had been engaged together in

levying tribute from the Rajpoots, and had captured two forts,

but quarrelled about the division of the spoil. De Boigne,

with 20,000 horse and 9,000 regular infantry, fell on Holkar's

army of 30,000 horse, and four battalions disciplined by Euro-

peans. The conflict was desperate, and the four battalions

were completely annihilated, only one European officer escap-

ing the carnage. Holkar retreated with the wreck of his

army, and on his route sacked and burnt Sindia's capital,

Oojein. This battle rendered Sindia absolute in Hindostan,

and served to aggravate the intrigues at Poona, and to deepen
the alarm of Nana Furnuvese. But he was unexpectedly re-

Death of
lieved from all anxiety by the death of Sindia, on

the 12th of February, 1794. Had he lived a few

months longer, a contest for the office of chief

minister of the Peshwa, and the supreme command of tho

Mahratta power would have been inevitable. For thirty-

five years he may be said to have passed his life in the camp,

devoting himself to the improvement of his army, and the

increase of his resources. His character has been aptly
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summed up in a few words, by the great historian of the Mah-

rattas,
" he was a man of great political sagacity, and con-

siderable genius, of deep artifice, restless ambition and im-

placable revenge." He received from his father a small

principality ; he bequeathed to his successor, a lad of thirteen,

a kingdom comprising all the territory from the Sutlege to

Allahabad, two-thirds of Malwa, and the fairest provinces in

the Deccan, as well as the finest native army in India.

Enlargement
^ne proceedings in England in connection with

of the powers the government of India, subsequent to Mr. Pitt's
of the Gover-

nor-Generai, Bill in 1784, will now claim attention. The

Kegulating Act of 1773, which created the office

of Governor-General, made him responsible for the safety of

India, but gave him only a single vote in Council, and ren-

dered him liable, on every occasion, to be overruled by his

colleagues. The distractions of Hastings's administration

are to be attributed, in a great measure, to this anomalous

clause, which frequently brought the Government to a dead

lock. Lord Cornwallis therefore refused to accept the office,

subject to this encumbrance, and a Bill was introduced and

passed La 1786 to enable the Governor-General and the Go-

vernors of the minor Presidencies to act in opposition to the

opinion of the Council, when they deemed it necessary for

the welfare of the country, the counsellors being at liberty

to record the reasons of their dissent. Of the wisdom of

this measure no better proof can be offered than the fact

that it has worked beneficially for nearly eighty years.

The Deciara- The gravest movement of this period, however,
tory Act, 1788. wag ^ne consummation of Mr. Pitt's plan of trans-

ferring the powers of government from the Company to the

Crown. In the year 1787, a conflict of parties arose in the

republic of Holland ; the French and the English Governments

espoused opposite sides, and there was every prospect of a

rupture between them. The interference of France in the

politics of India, had been for half a century the great object

of dread to the Court of Directors, and under the apprehen-
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sion that they might have again to encounter it, they now
solicited the Ministry to augment the European force in India,

and four regiments were immediately raised for their service.

Happily, the peace with France was not interrupted, but, as

soon as the storm had blown over, the Court of Directors,

anxious to save the cost of the regiments, declared that they
were no longer necessary. Lord Cornwallis had earnestly

recommended the augmentation of the European force in

India, to give greater security to our position, and the Board of

Control therefore determined that the regiments should be sent

out. The Court of Directors, however, refused to allow

them to embark in their ships, and as the contest, which

thus arose between the India House and the Ministry, in-

volved the great question of the substantial powers of go-

vernment, Mr. Pitt referred the question to the decision of

Parliament.

Discussions in
On the 25th of February, 1788, Mr. Pitt intro-

pariiament, duced a Bill to declare the meaning of the Act of

1784, and affirmed that " there was no step which

could have been taken by the Court of Directors before the

passing of that Bill, touching the military and political concerns

of India, and the collection, management, and application of

the revenues, which the Board of Control had not a right to

take by the provisions of that Bill." He stated, moreover,

that in proposing his Bill of 1784 it was his intention thus to

transfer the whole powers of government to the Crown.

The organs of the Court of Directors in the House stated

that they never would have supported that measure, if they
had supposed such to have been its intent ; and they dis-

covered, when too late, that in voting for Mr. Pitt's Bill they
had committed an act of suicide. An objection was raised to

the despatch of the regiments on the constitutional doctrine

that no troops could belong to the King for which Parlia-

ment had not voted the money. Mr. Pitt thereupon stated

his conviction that the army in India ought to be on one

establishment, and to belong to the King, and that it was not
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without an eye to such an arrangement that he had brought
forward the present motion. But, notwithstanding the

boundless influence which he enjoyed in the House, the

members were alarmed at the immense power which he

attempted to grasp. Many of his stanch supporters deserted

him, and the Opposition were very sanguine in their hopes of

being able to overthrow the Ministry on this occasion. There

were four tempestuous debates on the question, one of which

was prolonged to eight o'clock in the morning. Mr. Pitt

had encountered no such opposition in the present Parlia-

ment, and to prevent being beaten in the successive stages

of the Bill, was under the necessity of making great con-

cessions, and adding several conciliatory clauses to it. The

Declaratory Act of 1788 rivetted on the East India Company
the fetters which had been forged by the Act of 1784.

The charter The period for which the exclusive privileges
of 1793. had been granted to the East India Company ex-

pired in 1793, and on the 23rd of April, the Court of Directors

presented a petition to Parliament for the renewal of them.

But new commercial and manufacturing interests had been

springing up in England with great vigour since the last con-

cession, and petitions poured into the House from Liverpool,

Glasgow, Manchester, Bristol, and other seats of industry

and enterprize, protesting against the continuance of a

monopoly in so large a trade, and the exclusion of the country

in general from any share in it. The Court of Directors

appointed a Committee to draw up a reply to the petitioners,

and to demonstrate that it was essential to the national in-

terests that the East India Company should continue to be

the sole agent for managing the commerce and government
of India. The Ministry found the existing state of things,

more especially since the Declaratory Act, exceedingly con-

venient to themselves, and resolved to oppose all innovation.

Fortunately for the Company, Lord Corwallis, notwithstand-

ing the Mysore war, had placed the finances of India in a

more flourishing condition than they had ever been in before ;
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and, it may be said, than they have ever been in since.

Mr. Dundas was thus enabled to ask the House, with an air

of triumph, whether they were prepared to stop the tide of

this prosperity, for a mere theory.

Arguments for
^G arguments which he adduced for con-

renewing the turning- the power and privileges of the East
Charter, ] 793. T ,. .,

r
. ,. ,

India Company were, that to throw the trade

open to all England would retard the payment of the Com-

pany's debts ; that it would check the growing commerce of

India, and that it would inevitably lead to colonization and

ensure the loss of the country to England. He objected to

the dissolution of the Company, because the patronage of

India, added to the other sources of influence in the Crown,

would destroy the balance of the Constitution. These argu-

ments, solemnly propounded by the Ministers, at a period

when free trade was considered the direct road to ruin, were

received with blind confidence by the House, and the privileges

of the Company were renewed, with little modification, for a

period of twenty years. To meet the clamours of the mer-

chants and manufacturers of England, the Company was
directed to allot 3,000 tons a year for private trade, but as the

privilege was hampered with the heavy charges and delays
of their commercial system, it was little prized, and seldom

used. An effort was made by Mr. Wilberforce, one of the

ablest and most enlightened members of the House, to obtain

permission for missionaries and schoolmasters to proceed to

India, and give voluntary instruction to the people, but he

was vehemently opposed by the old Indians in the Court of

Directors, who had imbibed the fantastic notion that the

diffusion of knowledge would be fatal to British rule in India,

and that the presence of missionaries would be followed by
rebellion ; and the House was persuaded by Mr. Dundas to

reject the proposal.

Eemarksonthe The Charter, as it is called, of 1793, maybe
Charter, 1793.

regarded as a faithful reflection of the narrow

views of the age, which, considered that the introduction of
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free trade and Europeans, of missionaries and schoolmasters,

into India, would sap the foundation of British authority.

The experience of nearly three-quarters of a century has

dispelled this hallucination. Since the extinction of the

Company's monopoly, the trade, instead of being diminished,

has increased twenty fold. The free admission of Europeans
into India has not endangered the dominion of England ; on

the contrary, during the great mutiny of 1857, India was

nearly lost for want of Europeans. The patronage of India

has been trebled in value, and the Company has been

abolished, yet, owing to the happy discovery of the principle

of competitive appointments, the power of the Crown has not

been increased, and the independence of Parliament has not

diminished. Christian missionaries have been admitted into

India and placed on the same footing as the Hindoo priest

and the Mahomedan mollah, and allowed to offer instruction to

the natives ; and, the education of the people is now considered

as much a duty of the state as the maintenance of the police ;

yet the feeling of allegiance to the Crown of England has.

not been impaired.

CHAPTER XVIII.

ADMINISTRATION OF SIR JOHN SHORE, 1793 1798.

sir John shore
SIR John Shore, a distinguished member of the

Governor-Gene- Company's civil service, and the author of the

revenue settlement of 1793, succeeded to the go-

vernment, on the departure of Lord Cornwallis, \vho, in a

letter to Mr. Dundas on the choice of his successor, had given
it as his opinion, that "

nobody but a person who had never

been in the service, and who was essentially unconnected

with its members, who was of a rank far surpassing his asso-

ciates in the government, and who had the full support of

the Ministry at home, was competent for the office of Gover-
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nor-General." Subsequently to the date of this letter, Sir

John, then Mr. Shore, had visited England, and on his return,

Lord Cornwallis wrote again to Mr. Dundas, that "
seeing

how greatly Mr. Shore's mind had been enlarged and improved

by the visit, he desired to make an exception in his favour."

Mr. Pitt, who had taken great interest in the question of the

revenue settlement, had been much struck with the industry,

candour and talent exhibited by Sir John Shore, and, believ-

ing him to be well suited to cany out the views of Lord

Cornwallis, mentioned his name to the King as his successor.

The King replied, that " No one could have been so properly

thought of as Mr. Shore, unless a very proper man of dis-

tinction could be found to be Governor General at Bengal."
Sir John Shore, therefore, received the appointment, and en-

tered on the duties of his office on the 28th of October, 1793.

The first question of importance which came up

treaty^arceptea
to test his powers, was connected with the politics

by the Nizam, of ^he Deccan. The treaty of alliance concluded
1792-93.

J

with the Nizam and the Mahrattas by Lord Corn-

wallis in 1790, stipulated, that "if after the conclusion of the.

peace with Tippoo, he should attack or molest either of the

contracting parties, the others shall join to punish him, the

mode or conditions of effecting which shall be hereafter settled

by the contracting parties." To avoid future complications,

Lord Cornwallis was anxious, after the termination of the

war, that the grounds on which the allied powers could demand

mutual support, should be distinctly defined. He accordingly

sent the draft of a "
treaty of guarantee," to Poona and

Hyderabad, in which he proposed that if any difference should

arise between any of the confederates and Tippoo, the nature

and circumstances should be communicated to the others,

and that they should not be bound to take up arms till they

were convinced that he had justice on his side, and that every

effort for conciliation had been exhausted. The proposal was

highly acceptable to the Nizam. The Mahrattas had a long

account against him, and their envoys were pressing the
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settlement of it at Hyderabad, at the time when his army was

employed conjointly with theirs against Tippoo. The Nizam

brought forward a counter-claim of larger amount, under

thirty-four heads, for contributions unjustly exacted, and

revenue unjustly withheld. But he proposed to postpone
the adjustment of these accounts till the war had terminated,

hoping thereby to obtain the friendly interposition of the

English government. He therefore welcomed the treaty of

guaranteewith much avidity, under the impression that itwould

serve to strengthen his influence with Lord Cornwallis, and

counteract the hostility of the Poona durbar, who were already

preparing to invade his territories.

Rejected by the The Mahrattas, on the other hand, declined any
Mahrattas, 1793.

engagements which might in any measure inter-

fere with their designs on the Nizam. Mahdajee Sindia was

then at Poona, exercising a powerful influence in the councils

of the state, and he did not conceal his opinion that the Com-

panyhad become too powerful, and that Tippoo ought to be sup-

ported as a counterpoise to them. He denounced the proposed

treaty as an arrogant assumption of authority. Nana Furrni-

vcse, however, was anxious to cultivate a good understanding
with the English government, as a check on the ambitious

projects of Sindia, and prolonged the negotiations for several

months. He then drew up the outline of another treaty,

including in it the demand of arrears of chout from Tippoo,
which he was well aware Lord Cornwallis would never sanc-

tion. After a twelvemonth vainly spent in these wearisome

discussions, the Governor-General was obliged to abandon all

hope of obtaining the concurrence of the Mahrattas in any

arrangement, and to remain content with a vague and verbal

assurance, that they would abide by their engagements.

Sir John
^* ^e Beginning f 1794, the death of Mah-

Shore's nen- dajee Sindia, the chief opponent of the Guarantee
t
~9S'

treaty, and the succession of his grand-nephew
Dowlut Rao, a youth of thirteen, to his power and resources,

appeared to present a favourable opportunity for the energetic
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interposition of British influence to preserve the peace of

India. But Sir John Shore determined to remain quiescent.

The Mahrattas, who expected some decisive movement on this

occasion, were not slow to perceive that the sceptre of the

British power had fallen into feeble hands ; and as soon as

they discovered that Lord Cornwallis's successor was resolved

to limit his interference to "
good offices," they hastened their

preparations for war with the Nizam. Tippoo likewise an-

nounced his intention of joining them to crush the Nizam,

who immediately claimed from the Government of Calcutta

the fulfilment of the 10th article of the treaty of 1790, which

bound the contracting parties to unite in repelling his aggres-

sions. There can be little doubt that if Lord Cornwallis had

been in India at this time, his manly representations, backed

by the assembly of an army on the frontier, would have been

sufficient to maintain peace between the parties. But Sir John

Shore lacked his spirit and resolution ; he had a morbid dread

of giving offence to the Mahrattas, which might end in a war,

and drain the treasury, then full to the brim ; and he was above

all anxious to exhibit a most exemplary obedience to the Act

of Parliament which discountenanced native alliances. The

question which he put to himself was " whether we were bound

by treaty to defend the Nizam, if Tippoo should attack him

while engaged in hostilities with the Mahrattas, either as their

ally or independently of them." Strange to say, his opinion

was in the negative. The Nizam pleaded that in becoming
a party to the treaty of 1790, he had trusted to the good faith

of the English Government, not to the treachery of the

Mahrattas. But Sir John Shore persuaded himself that the

defection of one of the parties from a tripartite alliance, offen-

sive and defensive, and his union with the power against

whom the treaty was made, cancelled the obligation of the

remaining party. It is, however due to his memory to state

that his judgment was evidently influenced, to a considerable

extent, by the incompetence of his Commander-in-chief to take

charge of a war with Tippoo and the Mahrattas. He resolved,
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therefore, to remain neuter, and leave the Nizam to his fate.

And thus the high reputation which the British Government
had acquired throughout India by the prompt succour of the

raja of Travancore when attacked by the armies of Tippoo,
was sacrificed by his successor, from motives of expedience
and economy, and too obsequious a submission to an Act of

Parliament through which Lord Cornwallis had boldly dnven

his coach, and had, nevertheless, received the thanks of both

Houses.

EX dition
^~ assem^e a Mahratta army when there was

against the 'a prospect of plunder had never presented any

difficulty. On the present occasion the young
Peshwa resolved to accompany the expedition, and summoned
all the feudatories into the field; and it proved to be the last

time they were mustered under the national standard. Dowlut
Kao Sindia brought up a force of 25,000, of whom 10,000 con-

sisted of De Boigne's regular infantry. The Raja of Berar

contributed 15,000 horse and foot. Holkar's contingent was

only 10,000, but of these 2,000 were disciplined by European

officers, and he had, moreover, a following of 10,000 Pindarrees.

Govind Rao Guickwar likewise sent a detachment of troops,

and all the southern Jaygeerdars furnished their quota/ The
whole army mustered 130,000 horse and foot, and 150 pieces

of cannon. The Nizam, abandoned by his English allies,

threw himself into the hands of their European rivals, with

whom they were then at war. A French officer of the name
of Raymond, who had come out to India with Lally, twenty-
five years before, and fully shared his animosity towards the

English, had entered the service of the Nizam, and organised
two battalions, which did good service in the Mysore war.

When the struggle with the Mahrattas appeared inevitable,

he was directed to increase his force to the fullest possible

extent. The procrastination of the Mahrattas, arising from

the dissensions created by the death of Mahdajee Sindia,

enabled Raymond to raise this body of troops to 18,000, all

of whom were trained and commanded by European officers.

II. F
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The war with the Mahrattas, while at a distance, was popular

with the Hyderabad army. The disorderly soldiers indulged
in the wildest gasconade, threatening to plunder and burn

Poona ; the dancing girls moved through the camp chaunting

the triumphs the army was about to achieve, and even the

chief minister, forgetting his own dignity, boasted that the

Peshwa should be banished to Benares, with a cloth about his

loins and a water-pot in his hand, to mutter incantations on

the banks of the sacred stream.

Defeat of the The Nizam was the first in the field, and ad-
Nizam at Kurdia, vance(j from Beder, where he had established his
llth March,
1795. camp, towards the Mahratta frontier. The Peshwa

quitted Poona in January, and the two armies approached
each other on the 10th of March. On that evening the Nizam

sat in durbar, and received congratulations for the victory of

the morrow. The forces joined issue on the llth, a little in

advance of the village of Kurdla, which has given its name
to the battle. The Nizam's Patan cavalry drove the centre

division of the Mahratta army, commanded by Pureshram Bhao,
from the field, and a large portion of his army was seized with

a panic and fled. By this time the regular battalions on both

sides approached within musket shot of each other, and the

Nizam's cavalry were advancing steadily to the support of

their infantry, when Rughoojee Bhonslay assailed them with

a shower of rockets, and Perron, who commanded Sindia's

disciplined troops, poured in a destructive fire from thirty-five

pieces of cannon he had judiciously planted on an eminence.

The cavalry was put to the route, but Raymond's infantry stood

their ground, and had even obtained some advantage over

Perron's battalions, when he was obliged, in consequence of

repeated and pressing orders, to follow the Nizam, who had

retraced his steps, to Kurdla. The Nizam was accompanied
on this expedition by his zenana, and the favourite Sultana,

terrified by the roar of the artillery, insisted on his retiring

beyond the reach of it, and threatened, if he refused, to dis-

grace him by exposing herself to public gaze. The dotard
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yielded to her importunities, and the whole army retreated in

wild confusion. The greater portion of the troops fled from

the field, after having plundered the baggage of their own

army, but the Pindarrees pursued them, and stripped them of

everything they possessed. The next morning the Mahrattas

advanced over the field, and found it strewed with guns,

stores, baggage, and all the equipments of the army. Only a

tenth of the Nizam's force remained about Kurdla, in which he

had taken refuge, and where, after sustaining the cannonade

of the Mahrattas for two days, he solicited a cessation of

arms. The Mahrattas demanded territorial cessions of the

value of thirty-five lacs of rupees a-year, together with an

indemnity of three crores of rupees, one-third to be paid down

immediately, as well as the surrender of Musheer-ool-moolk,

his chief minister, and the ablest man at his court, on the

pretext that amends must be made for some insulting language
he was reported to have used hi reference to Nana Furnuvese.

With these hard conditions the Nizam was constrained to

comply, and he affixed his signature to the humiliating treaty

on the 13th of March, 1795.

The xizam in- During these transactions the British ministers

French force,
a^ *ne court f the Nizam and the Peshwa re-

1795. moved from their camps, and remained in the

neighbourhood, mere spectators of the event. Neither were

the two English battalions in the pay of the Nizam allowed

to take any part in the war, notwithstanding his earnest

entreaty. He returned to his capital highly incensed at this

neutrality, and immediately dismissed the battalions, while

Raymond was directed to increase his force with all diligence.

He and his officers lost no opportunity of manifesting their

hatred of the English ; they carried the colours of the French

republic, then at war with England, and wore the cap of

liberty on their buttons. Raymond made the greatest and

most successful exertions to improve the discipline and effi-

ciency of his corps, and the power and resouices of the

Hyderabad state, which Lord Cornwallis had endeavoured to

F 2
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secure for the interests of the British nation, were thus

transferred to its enemies. The Nizam, following the example
of Sindia, determined to assign districts for the support of

this, foreign force, and Raymond made his selection of Kurpa,
because it lay on the confines of the Company's territories,

and was comparatively adjacent to the coast, from which he

would be enabled to receive recruits, and possibly co-operate

with a regiment then expected from France. But even the

pacific Shore could not brook the presumption of the Nizam
in planting a hostile force in the immediate neighbourhood of

the British territories. He peremptorily insisted on their re-

moval, and threatened to enforce the demand by a military-

demonstration. Just at this juncture an unexpected event-

the rebellion of the Nizam's son, Ali Jah served in some

measure to restore a good understanding between him and

the government of Calcutta. On the night of the 28th of

June that prince abruptly quitted Hyderabad, and proceeded
to Beder, where he raised the standard of revolt. The

Nizam was thrown into a fever of alarm, and recalled the

English battalions in all haste, and offered immediately to

remove the French force from the frontier. The battalions

were directed to march against the prince with the utmost

expedition ; but before they could reach Beder, Raymond's

corps had extinguished the revolt.

Death of the
"^e battle of Kurdla completely prostrated the

Peshwa relieves Nizam, and left him at the mercy of the Mah-
'

rattas, who would doubtless have returned to

complete his humiliation after the division of the spoil, had

not the sudden death of the Peshwa given a new direction to

the current of events, and restored to him much of his pre-

vious consequence. By the success of the recent campaign
Nana Furnuvese had gained the summit of his wishes. He
had restored the Mahratta supremacy in the Deccan, and

gratified the Mahratta chiefs with plunder. Dowlut Rao

Sindia manifested the greatest deference to him ; the raja

oi Berar and the great brahmin feudatories were entirely
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subservient to him. He was without a rival in the Mahratta

commonwealth ; but his love of power, and his anxiety to

monopolise it, produced an event which brought him to the

grave in misery and disgrace. During the minority of the

Pcshwa, Madhoo Rao, the second, Nana had for twenty years

enjoyed, with occasional interruptions, the chief control of

Mahratta affairs at the capital. But though the Peshwa was
now of age he was still kept by the minister in a state of the

most stringent and galling tutelage, and in a fit of impatience
threw himself from a terrace of the palace on the 22nd of

October, 1795. He died two days after, bequeathing his

throne to his cousin Bajee Rao, the son of the luckless

Raghoba, and the last of the Peshwas. Bajee Rao was a

prince of many accomplishments, mental and bodily, graceful
in person, mild in his demeanour, and of the most insinuating

address, but distinguished above every prince of the age by
his profound dissimulation, and his utter unscrupulousness.
As he grew up Nana Furnuvese had watched his movements

with great jealousy, and had for some tune detained him a

close prisoner. The unexpected death of the Peshwa con-

founded all the plans of Nana, and gave rise to a series of

complications unmatched even in Mahratta history, of which,

however, we can find room for only a brief outline,

chimnajee, Immediately after the catastrophe Nana as-

Peshwa, 1796. sembled the Mahratta chiefs, carefully suppressed
the dying bequest of the late Peshwa in favour of Bajee Rao,

and proposed that his widow should be required to adopt

Chimnajee, the younger brother of Bajee Rao, in whose name
he himself intended to continue to administer the government.

Bajee Rao, on receiving intimation of this plot, which, if suc-

cessful, would have deprived him of all his rights, opened a

secret correspondence with young Sindia and his minister,

Balloba Tantia, and offered them jaygeers of the value of

four lacs of rupees a year if they would support his claim to

the succession. Nana Furnuvese discovered this negotiation,

and resolved to circumvent Sindia by releasing Bajee Rao of
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his own accord, and placing him on the vacant throne. That

prince was accordingly conducted to Poona, and reconciled to

Nana, whom he engaged to maintain as his minister. Mean-

while Balloba, Sindia's chief adviser, who resented this pro-

ceeding, resolved to counteract the designs of Nana, and

directed the army, then encamped on the banks of the

Godavery, to march up to Poona. Nana, who was as re-

markable for political talent as for personal cowardice, im-

mediately fled to Poorunder. Balloba, now master of the

situation, proposed to Pureshram Bhao, the commander-in-

chief, that Bajee Rao should be set aside, and placed in con-

finement, that the widow of the late Peshwa should adopt

Chimnajee, and that Pureshram himself should be the chief

minister. He sought advice of Nana in his retreat, and that

wily statesman not only gave his approval of the adoption, but

proceeded in person to Satara to procure the investiture from

the descendant of Sevajee. Bajee Rao, ignorant of these

machinations, repaired to Sindia's camp, where he was de-

tained as a prisoner, while Chimnajee, greatly against his own

will, was installed as Peshwa on the 26th of May, 1796.

Pureshram Bhao, now at the head of the

teethe throne,*

6

government, immediately released the minister
4th December, of ^he Nizam, who had been held as a hostage

for fourteen months since the battle of Kurdla.

The great object of all the parties in power at Poona

at this time was to obtain possession of the person of

Nana, who was obliged to fly for security to the fortress

of Mhar. His fortunes now seemed to be at the lowest ebb,

but they were restored by his extraordinary tact.
" The

vigour of his judgment," as the historian of the Mahrattaa

observes, "the fertility of his resources, the extent of his

influence, and the combination of instruments he called into

action, surprised all India." He renewed his communications

with Bajee Rao. He entered into an engagement with the

Nizam, which is generally known as the treaty of Mhar, and

was dated the 8th of October, 1796, in which it was provided
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that a body of 15,000 Hyderabad troops and a train of artil-

lery should be sent to assist in establishing Bajee Rao as

Peshwa, and Nana as minister, and that, in return for this

assistance, the territory the Nizam had been constrained to

cede to the Mahrattas should be restored, and the balance of

the indemnity remitted. Balloba, the inveterate foe of Nana,

having
1 received some intimation of these schemes, determined

to frustrate them by sending Bajee Rao as a prisoner into

Hindostan. He was sent under the charge of Sirjee Rao

Ghatkay, and on the route succeeded in corrupting him, by

promising his master, Sindia, a donative of two crores if he ob-

tained his liberty and his crown ; he was liberated accordingly.

The schemes of Nana were now matured. He had secured

the co-operation of Roghoojee Bhonslay, and Holkar. He had

gained over Sindia by the promise of Pureshram's jaygeers,

worth ten lacs of rupees a year, and on the 27th of October,

1796, that chief commenced the revolution by seizing his own
minister Balloba. Pureshram took to flight ; Nana marched

in triumph to Poona, and on the 4th of December placed Bajee
Rao on the throne of his ancestors, and cancelled the adoption
of Chimnajee.

Nana seized and Bajee ^a )
whose nature was to trust no one

confined, Decem- and t' Jeceive all, was no sooner in possession of
ber 1797

power than he began to plot the destruction of

the two men who had been the chief instruments of his

elevation. The agency of Sindia was employed against

Nana, who was induced by the representations of the in-

famous Sirjee Rao to pay his master a visit of ceremony,
when he was seized and confined in the fort of Ahmednugur.
His escort, consisting of a thousand persons, was stripped,

maimed, killed, or dispersed. Troops were sent to pillage his

adherents, and the capital presented a scene of confusion and

bloodshed. Having thus disposed, as he thought, of Nana,

Bajee Rao began to devise means of ridding himself of Sindia.

who had recently espoused the beautiful daughter of Sirjee

Rao Ghatkay. The wedding was celebrated with extra-
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ordinary display and expense. The monthly cost of his army
at Poona, moreover, did not fall short of twenty lacs of

rupees. He began to be straitened for money, and was coii-

strained to press Bajee Rao for the two crores which had been

agreed on as the price of his release and elevation. Bajee

Rao pleaded the emptiness of his treasury, but advised him

to constitute Ghatkay his chief minister, and instruct him to

levy this sum from the wealthy inhabitants of Poona. The

advice was taken ; the ruffian was let loose on the capital,

and, as long as it exists, his name will be remembered with

horror and execration. He proceeded in the first instance to

the Peshwa's palace, where he seized the ex-ministers of the

party of Nana, and scourged them until they gave up their

property. The rich bankers and merchants, and all who
were suspected of the possession of wealth, were tortured till

it was surrendered. For many days the city of Poona was

given up to plunder and violence. Amrit Rao, the illegitimate

son of Raghoba, who had been placed in the office of minister

on the imprisonment of Nana, not knowing that the infamous

Ghatkay had been set on these atrocious proceedings by the

advice of his own brother, Bajee Rao, attributed them to the

malevolence of Sindia, and proposed to assassinate him.

Bajee Rao readily entered into a project so entirely in ac-

cordance with his own wishes, and one Abba Kally was
selected to despatch him, at a public interview, in the

Peshwa's palace. Sindia was summoned to the audience

chamber, and Bajee Rao upbraided him with the arrogance and

cruelty which he and his servants exhibited, and declared that

he would no longer endure the contempt shown to his authority,

ordering him at the same time peremptorily to depart from the

capital. Sindia replied, with the greatest modesty, that he

was anxious to obey, but could not remove his camp for want
of funds, and solicited payment of the large sum which had
been expended in seating Bajee Rao on the throne. At this

moment Amrit Rao inquired whether he should give the signal
to the executioner, but Bajee Rao's courage failed him, and
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Sindia was allowed to depart in peace. This was the first

occasion on which the Peshwa manifested that irresolution of

purpose which marked his character through life, and ren-

dered him an object of general contempt. It was in the

midst of this scene of intrigue and confusion that Lord

Wellesley assumed the office of Governor - General, and

speedily convinced the native princes of India that the energy
of Hastings and Cornwallis was restored to the

'

British

Government.

. . . . One of the two points on which Lord Cornwallis
Amalgamation

~

of the army, had received specific instructions before he em-

barked for India, had reference to the amalgamation
of the King's and the Company's army. Mr. Dundas considered

that India could be retained only by a large European force ;

and as the number of European soldiers in India, in 1788,

was only 12,000, to about 58,000 native sepoys, he deemed it

necessary, in order to create a feeling of perfect security, to

augment it to about 17,000, so as to establish the proportion
of one to three. He considered it important that the whole

of this force should be under the Crown, and " act in concert

with the general strength of the empire." Lord Cornwallis,

during his residence in India, collected a mass of information

on the subject, which he embodied in an elaborate minute on

his return to England. He proposed that the whole army,

European and native, should be transferred to the Crown;
but he considered it indispensable that the European officers

of the native army should remain an essentially distinct body;
that they should go out to India early in life, and devote

themselves entirely to the Indian service, in which a perfect

knowledge of the language, and attention to the customs

and religious prejudices of the sepoys, was absolutely neces-

sary. This plan of amalgamation, which appears to have

been drawn up in November, 1794, was rejected by the Court

of Directors, who were not disposed to transfer their entire

military establishment to the Crown ; and it did not receive

the full concurrence of the Board of Control.
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Before this plan was ready for consideration,
Mutiny of the

, .

'

Benjrai officers, the omccrs of the Bengal army were in a state of

open mutiny. Lord Cornwallis had been employed

during his administration in abolishing sinecure offices, and

lessening the sources of illegitimate gain, both in the civil

and military branches of the service. The civilians had been

compensated for these reductions by increased salaries, but

it was impossible to adopt the same rule with regard to a

body of officers counted by thousands. The command of a

regiment was still worth 80,000 rupees a year, but the

general disproportion in the remuneration of the two services,

was a source of constant envy and discontent to the military

branch. This feeling was inflamed by the superior advan-

tages of rank enjoyed by the King's officers. Sir John Shore,

on assuming the government, found that he had to deal, not

with the discontent, but with the actual insubordination of

the Bengal army, and, in a country in which he felt that " the

civil authority was at the mercy of the military." This spirit

of mutiny continued to increase throughout the year 1794 ; but

the officers refrained from any overt act of rebellion, while

they waited to ascertain how far the new regulations which

Mr. Dundas was drawing up in lieu of Lord Cornwallis's amal-

gamation scheme, proved agreeable to their wishes. The regu-

lations, however, were delayed so long, that the patience of

the officers was exhausted, and on Christmas-day, 1795, Sir

John Shore convened the Council, and laid before them the

alarming intelligence he had just received. Delegates had
been elected from each regiment to form an executive board,
and the whole army was bound by the 'most solemn obliga-
tions to protect their persons, and make good their losses by
a general subscription. This board was authorized to treat

with government on these terms : that the Company's regi-
ments should not be reduced

; that the King's troops should

be limited by law to a small number ; that promotion should

invariably go by seniority ; and that all allowances which had
at any time been granted to the army, including double batta,
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should be restored. If these conditions were not accepted,

they were prepared to seize the Governor-General and
the Commander-in-chief, and take possession of the govern-
ment.

Conciliatory The Council was thunderstruck at this state of

Goveient, affairs. It was a crisis of the same magnitude as

I795- that which Olive had quelled thirty years before

by his undaunted bearing ;
but there was no Clive at Calcutta.

The Governor-General instantly dispatched orders for troops

to the Cape and Madras, and directed the Admiral to bring

up his whole squadron to Calcutta without delay ; he likewise

accepted an offer from De Boigne, of the services of a corps

of Sindia's cavalry, commanded by European officers. The

Commander-in-chief, Sir Robert Abercromby, proceeeded to

Cawnpore. Though he was not the man for the emergency, his

official character and his courteous manner effected some good;
but it was the firmness of the artillery in Calcutta, and the

manly resistance of several officers at Cawnpore, that stemmed

the tide of mutiny for the time. The long-expected regula-

tions arrived at length, in May, 1796, and disgusted all

parties. Sir John Shore described them as a mass of confusion,

calculated neither to gratify the officers, nor to improve the dis-

cipline of the army. The spirit of revolt blazed forth afresh.

Remonstrances poured in upon the bewildered government
from every quarter, and on the 30th of June, Sir John Shore

wrote to his superiors at home stating, that the pressure on

him had been so great, as to oblige him to give way, partly,

and to modify the regulations. In a minute which he pro-

mulgated in India, he expressed a hope that the general code

which he had drawn up would be acceptable to the officers.

The regulations were so modified,that there was little of them

left. The concessions went even beyond the expectations of

the army. Arrears of batta to the extent of seven lacs of

rupees, were granted unasked ; the arrears of brevet rank were

gratuitouslybestowed, and such an addition made to the allow-

ances of the officers of all grades, as to entail a permanent



6 SUPERSESSION OP SIR JOHN SHORE. [CHAP.

addition of seven lacs of annual expenditure. The weakness

of government had, in fact, surrendered everything up to a

factious army. In a letter to Lord Cornwallis, immediately
after this transaction, Sir John Shore admitted that he was

little qualified by habit or experience, to contend with a dis-

contented army, and the responsibility of these wretched

measures, must, therefore, rest chiefly with the Commander-

in-chief.

The intelligence of these concessions, which
Alarm of the -

Ministry in reached England in December, 1796, filled the
md, i/96.

Minify with alarm, and they determined imme-

diately to supersede Sir John Shore. Lord Cornwallis was

importuned to proceed forthwith to India, and he was
assured by Mr. Dundas, that if he could bring himself to

forego his comforts at home for only a twelvemonth, and

spend three months at Calcutta, and three months at Madras,
he would do the greatest service to his country that ever any
man had it in his power to do. So urgent did the necessity of

the case appear, that Mr. Dundas offered his own services, in

case of Lord Cornwallis's refusal, and stated his readiness to go
out to Bengal as Governor-General; but Mr. Pitt refused to part

with his colleague, and Lord Cornwallis determined " to sacri-

fice all personal consideration of comfort and happiness, to the

service of the public." He was sworn in as Governor-General

on the 1st of February, 1797, and the appointment was imme-

diately announced to all the Presidencies in India. On the first

intelligence of this spirit of insubordination, Mr. Dundas de-

clared himself averse to all concessions, and resolved to put it

down with a high hand. But he met with serious obstructions

in various quarters, and was obliged, at length, to succumb

to circumstances. There was a regularly organised committee

of Bengal officers then sitting in London, as the representa-

tives of the mutineers in India, and the Court of Directors

and Mr. Dundas, strange to say, entered into negotiations

with them, and passed, what Lord Cornwallis designated,

a "milk-and-water order," with which
Lthey desired him to
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embark for India and assume the government, -which he

refused to do. They proceeded further to make concession

after concession to the London committee, and even promoted
one of the ringleaders to a confidential post at the India

House. Lord Cornwallis therefore resigned the office of

Governor-General in disgust, on the 2nd of August.

Affairs of oude;
The most memorable event of Sir John Shore's

death of the administration was the change which he made in

the Oude succession. Hyder Beg Khan, the chief

minister, was a native statesman of vast energy and singular

ability, and sustained the sinking fortunes of the state with

great vigour. His death in 1795, and the appointment of a

successor totally devoid of principle, put an end to all hope of

reform in the government. By nature, the Vizier was a

man of good disposition, but spoiled by the enjoyment of

absolute power, and by the fools, knaves, and sycophants,

who composed his court. During the seventeen years of his

reign he had lived only for one object the gratification of

his personal appetites. Some English adventurer who visited

his court introduced to his notice the diversion of a race by
old women in sacks. The Vizier was enchanted with this

new pleasure, and exclaimed, that though he had expended a

crore of rupees in procuring amusement, he had never found

anything so much to his taste. The government was" com-

pletely effete, and, but for the protection of the English

battalions, the country would long since have been absorbed

by Sindia. Sir John Shore, before he resigned the govern-

ment, paid a visit to the Nabob at Lucknow, and prevailed

on him to appoint Tufuzzil Hussein, his minister. He had

been his master's representative in Calcutta, and had obtained

the entire confidence of Sir John Shore by the simplicity of

his character, his unblemished integrity, and his great abilities.

In his various interviews with the Vizier, Sir John endeavoured

to inculcate on him the necessity of endeavouring to promote
the prosperity of the country and the happiness of his people;

but he found that such questions had never come within the
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scope of his imagination. Whatever favourable impression

the Governor-General might produce in the morning, was

completely effaced in the evening, when the Vizier was again
closeted with his buffoons and parasites, or stupified with opium.

After a residence of six weeks at Lucknow, Sir John returned

to Calcutta, and the Nabob, worn out with excesses, died in

the course of the year.

vizier AH, The succession of his reputed son, Vizier Ali,
Nabob, 1797. was ratified by Sir John Shore on the ground that

the old Nabob had acknowledged his title, that the Nabob's

mother had given it her sanction, and that it was generally ac-

quiesced in by the people. But he subsequently received

information of his spurious birth and violent character, and,

from that feeling of conscientiousness which had always guided

his conduct, proceeded to Lucknow to investigate the case.

Before he reached it, he was met by the minister, Tufuzzil

Hussein, who assured him that Vizier Ali was not even the il-

legitimate son of the late Vizier, but the offspring of a man of

the lowest caste ; that his elevation had created astonishment

and disgust, and that the succession belonged of right to

Sadut Ali, the. brother of the late prince. The province of

Oude was considered by the people of Hindostan to stand in

a position altogether different from that of any other princi-

pality in India. In 1764 it had been conquered by the

British arms, and forfeited by the laws of eastern warfare.

It was1 afterwards voluntarily restored to the family of the

Vizier by Lord Olive, and was ever after considered a de-

pendency of the British Government, and the appointment of

its Nabobs was held to rest on the will of the Governor-

General. Sir John felt the full responsibility of his situation,

and was most anxious to do justice. He consulted all those

who were likely to give impartial testimony, and he found

the statement of the minister regarding the ignoble birth of

Vizier Ali fully confirmed. He learned, likewise, that since

his elevation he had exhibited great violence and unsteadiness

of character, and the most hostile designs towards the English
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Government. Sir John, therefore, came to the conclusion

that it would be injurious to the country, and disgraceful to

the British name to support him, and that, as all the children

of the late Nabob were illegitimate, the throne ought to

descend to his brother.

Arrangement
^hat prince was at the time residing at Benares,

and Sir John Shore deputed Mr. Cherry, the
All 1798

Resident, to announce the intentions of the British

Government to him. He was likewise presented with the

draft of a treaty, which, with some subsequent modifications,

embraced the following provisions : that the defence of the

Oude dominions should remain exclusively with the British

Government ; that the number of British troops stationed in

Oude should consist of 10,000 ; and that the annual payment
for them should be seventy-six lacs of rupees, which was to

vary according to the increase or diminution of the force;

that the fortress of Allahabad, the key of the province which

the English were to defend, should be made over to them ,

that the Nabob should not maintain more than 35,000 troops,

and should enter into no negotiation with any foreign power,
without the consent of the British Government. The treaty

made such arrangements as a superior would dictate to a sub-

ordinate, and fully bore out the impression that Oude was

subject to the Company. During this negotiation, Sir John

was encamped in the immediate neighbourhood of Lucknow,
and exposed to no little peril from Vizier Ali, who was sur-

rounded by bands of desperate men, who openly talked of

his assassination. The city was then supposed to contain

800,000 inhabitants ; the streets were narrow lanes and

intricate passages, capable of being strongly defended, and

every house was filled with armed men. Ibrahim Beg, a

bold and reckless adventurer, commanded the troops of Vizier

Ali, and had 300 pieces of ordnance, of which 30 were so

posted that they could not be seized without great danger.
Sir John Shore was strongly advised by the minister and

the nobles to anticipate the designs of Vizier Ah', and seize
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him in the city, but he felt that the firing- of a single shot

might lead to the massacre of thousands. In the midst

of these dangers, his escape from which was pronounced

by his successor in the government to be miraculous, he

maintained the utmost calmness and composure, and his con-

duct throughout this transaction exhibited a pattern of courage
and resolution.

SadutAUin- Sadut Ali at length reached Cawnpore, and

stalled, 1798. was escorted from thence to Lucknow, a distance

of 50 miles, by a large British force, and all the embarrass-

ments of Sir John Shore at once terminated. Vizier Ali was

deserted by his servants and followers as Sadut Ali ap-

proached the city, in which he was proclaimed Nabob Vizier

on the 21st of January, 1798. Vizier Ali was removed to

Benares, where he resided some time on his pension of a lac

and a half of rupees a year, cherishing the most inveterate

feelings towards the English Government. The revolution

was hailed by Europeans and natives as an act of justice, and

the general feeling in Oude was that " the right had come to

the rightful." The Court of Directors recorded that "in

circumstances of great delicacy and embarrassment, Sir John

Shore had conducted himself with great temper, ability, and

firmness." Dr. Lawrence, a friend of Mr. Burke's and one of

the managers of the impeachment of Hastings, threatened

Sir John with an indictment for his proceedings in Oude, but

it was never carried into execution; and the impartial voice of

posterity has paid homage to the honesty, the wisdom, and the

vigour manifested by him on this occasion. Immediately

after Saadut Ali had been placed on the throne, Sir John

Shore, who had been created Lord Teignmouth, returned to

Calcutta, and embarked for England on the 25th of March,

1798.
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CHAPTER XIX.

LORD WELLESLEY'S ADMINISTRATION FOURTH AND LAST
MYSORE WAR, 1798, 1799.

Lord weUesiey, g1R JOHN SHORE was succeeded in the govern-

Generai, 1798, ment of India by Lord Mornington, subsequently
created Marquess of Wellesley, then in his thirty-

eighth year. He was born in Ireland in 1760, and placed at an

early age at Eton, where he became one of its most distin-

guished scholars. On coming of age he took his seat in the Irish

House of Peers, and engaged in the most important debates

of the time. Soon after, he was elected a member of the British

House of Commons, and was brought into communion with the

great men of genius who then adorned the senate, and who
have shed an imperishable lustre on that period of English

history. At the age of twenty-six he was nominated one of

the Lords of the Treasury. In January, 1794, he delivered a

brilliant speech against French jacobinism, which stamped him

as one of the rising men of the day, and was supposed to have

mainly conduced to his Indian appointment. He had likewise

enjoyed the advantage of a seat at the Board of Control for

four years, which gave him a comprehensive knowledge of the

politics of India. He was, moreover, the intimate friend of

Mr. Pitt, the prime minister, and possessed the confidence of

Mr. Dundas, the President of the Board of Control, an asso-

ciation of inestimable value to a Governor-General. He em-

barked for India in November, 1797, and landed at the Cape
in February, 1798, where he found Lord Macartney, who had

been Governor of Madras during the second Mysore War, as

well as Lord Hobart, who had recently been recalled from that

post, and was thus put in possession of their views regarding
British interests in the Deccan. At the Cape he also met with

Major Kirkpatrick, formerly minister at Sindia's court, and

latterly the Resident at Hyderabad, and obtained from him the

II. G
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most important information respecting the strength of the

various native powers, and the objects of their policy. While

Lord Wellesley we anticipate his superior title was de-

tained at the Cape, a vessel from Calcutta touched there, with

the despatches of the Government to the Court of Directors,

which he did not hesitate to open, that he might obtain the

latest intelligence of the actual position of affairs in the em-

pire hewas going out to govern. With the information derived

from these various sources, he composed his first despatch

to Mr. Dundas, embodying his own views of the course of

policy which it was advisable to pursue. This letter afforded

the clearest evidence of his extraordinary genius for govern-

ment.

After the humiliation of Tippoo, in 1792, the
Extinction of

. . ,

the balance of Indian authorities in London had been encouraged
power, 1798.

by Lord comwallis to believe that the security of

the Company's interests depended on that balance of power
which he had established among the princes of the Deccan,
and which he considered both stable and permanent. But the

first survey which Lord Wellesley was enabled to take of the

country powers convinced him that a greater fallacy had never

been harboured in Leadenhall-street. There never had, in fact,

been, and, considering the policy of the native courts, there

never could be, anything like a real balance of power in India.

With the princes of India, rapine and conquest had been from

time immemorial the only avowed principle ol action. War
was considered the chief source of glory ; it was sanctioned

by the ordinances of religion, both Hindoo and Mahomedan ;

it was prosecuted without any pretext or semblance of justice,

and restrained only by the power of resistance. The Court of

Directors, trusting to this imaginary safeguard, had prohibited

all alliances with the native princes, and all interference in

their affairs. Sir John Shore was determined to carry out

their system with conscientious fidelity ; but, before he had

been eighteen months in office, he saw the whole fabric of the

balance of power crumble to pieces before his eyes. At the
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battle of Kurdla, the Peshwa and the other Mahratta princes

completely demolished the power of the Nizam, while Sir John

Shore looked on, and refused him the aid even of the British

battalion which was in his pay. Soon after, the Peshwa was,
in his turn, reduced to extremity by the encroachments of

Sindia, and implored the protection of the Governor-General.

It was refused from a servile deference to the orders of the

Court of Directors, and the power of the Peshwa was reduced

to the same state of prostration as that of the Nizam. The
balance of power in the Deccan was thus irretrievably des-

stroyed. The British Government became the object of de-

rision to the princes of India, who were fain to conclude that

it contained the same elements of decay as all Asiatic so-

vereignties, and that the energy which had raised it to the

summit of power was now exhausted. " Its moon," they said,

"was already in the wane ;" and a brief prolongation of Sir

John Shore's feeble administration would have brought the

British empire in India to the brink of destruction.

state of India, To estimate the
;
difficulties of Lord Wellesley's

position on assuming the government, it is only

necessary to glance at the state of the chief native powers.
In the south, Tippoo was brooding over his misfortunes and

thirsting for an opportunity of gratifying his hostility to the

English, the ruling passion of his life. The five years of peace
he had enjoyed were assiduously devoted to the improvement
of his resources. Though deprived by Lord Cornwallis of

half his dominions, he was still able to maintain a formidable

army in a state of the highest efficiency. He had entertained

a body of French officers, and, as the anxiety of Francs to re-

gain her former power in India had revived with the ambition

of the Revolution, he expected material assistance from a

French alliance. The Nizam, finding the assistance of the

British regiment he subsidised denied him by Sir John Shore

in the hour of his utmost need, had increased the strength of

his French battalions, under Raymond, to 14,OuO men and 36

field pieces, and assigned districts yielding eighteen lacs of

G 2
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rupees for their support. They constituted the only military

force of any importance in his dominions, and were gradually

assuming
1 the authority and tone natural to such a position.

They carried the colours of the French republic, then at war

with England, and wore the cap of liberty on their buttons.

Sindia, who was supreme at Poona, had likewise obtained pos-

session of the person of the emperor at Delhi, and was

strengthened by all the influence still connected with the

Mogul throne. His territory in the Deccan extended to the

banks of the Toombudra, and skirted the frontiers of the

Nizam and the Peshwa, while in the north his possessions

abutted on those of the Company and the Nabob of Oude.

The French battalions raised by De Boigne, he had augmented
to 40,000 men, with 464 guns, and assigned an entire province

for their maintenance. The organization of this force included

all the requirements of war, fortresses, arsenals, founderies,

and depots, and it was in no respects inferior to the British

army in Hindostan. To add to Lord Wellesley's embarrass-

ments, the European officers of the Company were in a state

of complete insubordination, the spirit of the community was

depressed by the visible weakness of the Government, and

public credit was at so low an ebb that it was not possible to

obtain money under twelve per cent. Lord Cornwallis had

bequeathed a surplus revenue of a hundred and eighty-five

lacs of rupees a-year to his successor, but under Sir John

Shore's administration it had dwindled down, year after year,

without any war expenditure, and for the first time in the

history of British India peace had created a deficit.

_
.. ... Lord Wellesley landed in Calcutta on the 17th

The Mauritius
_ _

>

proclamation, May, and within three weeks was startled by the

appearance in one of the Calcutta journals of a

proclamation issued by General Malartic, the Governor of the

Mauritius. It stated that two envoys had arrived in the

island from Tippoo Sultan with despatches for the Government

in Paris, proposing an alliance offensive and defensive, and re-

questing a body of troops without delay to assist him in ex-
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pelling the English from India, and it invited volunteers to

enrol themselves under the Sultan's colours. The document

was at first deemed spurious, as it was difficult to suppose

that Tippoo would thus publicly proclaim his hostile inten-

tions, and prepare the British Government to defeat them ;

but the receipt of a second copy of it from the Cape dispelled

every doubt. Soon after, it was announced that a French

frigate at the Mauritius had taken on board about a hundred

men, including civil and military officers, and landed them at

Mangalore, on the Malabar coast, after capturing two East-

Indiamen on the route. On reaching the capital, the French

officers organised a Jacobin club under the auspices of the

Sultan, whom they dignified with the title of Citizen Tippoo.
The tree of liberty was planted with due ceremonials, and

surmounted with the cap of equality ;
the emblems of royalty

were burned, and the French republic, one and indivisible, was

consecrated on the public parade.

The Coast army
Lord Wellesley determined to anticipate the

ordered to
^ designs of Tippoo, and directed General Hams,

'

the officiating Governor of Madras, to assemble

the Coast army to march directly on Seringapatam. At the

same time, he called on the Nizam and the Peshwa, the

signataries of the treaty of Seringapatam, to furnish their

quota of troops in accordance with the 12th article. The

Presidency of Madras was thunderstruck at this daring pro-

ject. General Harris trembled to commit the Government in

so hazardous a conflict, and cautioned the Governor-General

against the error of putting any trust in these dilatory and

timid native allies, the only advantage of enlisting whose

services was to prevent their being transferred to the enemy.
Even the governing spirit of Madras, Mr. Webbe, a young
civilian of thirty-one, of whom the Duke of Wellington, then

General Wellesley, affirmed that he was one of the ablest men
lie ever knew, and, withal, the most honest, was appalled at

such an enterprize. He had a lively dread of the Mysore

power, which had, within memory, annihilated JBaillie's detach-
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ment, devastated the Carnatic, and burned the suburbs of

Madras. In a very elaborate state paper, he enumerated all

the dangers and disasters which had attended our former wars

with Hyder and Tippoo. In 1791, Lord Cornwallis, he said,

took the field with an army completely equipped, but had failed

to reach Seringapatam. At present, the entire disposable

force of the Presidency did not exceed 8,000 men, and they
were without draft cattle, supplies, or commissariat. Thi&

army, far from being in a condition to march upon the enemy's

capital, was unequal even to the defence of the Company's

territories, if Tippoo should think fit to invade them, which he

would not fail to do when he heard of our preparations. The

treasury, moreover, was bankrupt ; the public debt had in-

creased in eight years from seventeen to fifty lacs of pagodas,

and the twelve per cent, paper was at a discount of five per
cent. On the other hand, Tippoo numbered 60,000 troops, a

large portion of whom consisted of the celebrated Mysore
horse. His infantry was, in part, disciplined by French

officers. He possessed 144 field-pieces, a rocket brigade, a

long train of elephants, and a superb muster of carriage and

draft cattle. Any movement of troops which might give um-

brage to Tippoo could only end in fearful disasters, and in

the impeachment of Lord Wellesley. These representations,

however, instead of deterring him from his purpose, only
served to demonstrate more clearly the imperative necessity

of extricating the affairs of the Company from this perilous

position. If, he^argued, we were not strong enough to repel

the assaults of Tippoo, he was virtually master of the Deccan,
and there could be no real security as long as it depended

simply on the moderation of an inveterate foe. Though con-

strained, therefore, from the weakness of the Madras Presi-

dency, to fold up the idea of striking an immediate blow at

Tippoo's power, he issued peremptory orders for the equipment
of the army, and threatened with his severest displeasure, and

in his most imperious style, those who "presumed to thwart

him, and arrogated to themselves the power of governing the
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empire committed to his charge." Meanwhile, he called on

Tippoo to disavow his embassy to the Mauritius.

The state of affairs at Hyderabad demanded the
Lord Wellesley's

vigorous policy, immediate attention of the Governor-General.

Raymond, who organized the French force of the

Nizam, had died in the spring of the year. His successor,

Piron, who was considered an abler soldier, was animated by
a stronger feeling of Jacobinical hatred to England. Lord

Wellesley felt that in the approaching conflict with Tippoo,

he could not take this body of troops into the field as a part

of the Nizam's contingent, without the hazard of their joining

the Sultan, with whose French officers they were in constant

communication. To leave them behind without a large force

to watch their movements, appeared equally dangerous. The

French force at Hyderabad was, moreover, the nucleus of the

power which France was endeavouring to establish in the

Deccan. The junction of this body with the French troops hi

Mysore, and those in the service of Sindia, might at any time

extinguish the power of the Nizam and the Peshwa, and

enable the French to bring the resources of the Deccan and

of Hindostan to bear on the dominions of the Company. The

extinction of the French army at Hyderabad was, therefore,

an object of the first importance. At this critical juncture,

Lord Wellesley received a letter from Zemaun Shah, announc-

ing his intention to cross the Indus and invade Hindostan,

and demanding the assistance of the English Government to

drive the Mahrattas back into the Deccan. Zemaun Shah

was the grandson of the renowned Ahmed Shah Abdalee,

whose victory at Paniput, forty years before, was still

remembered with a feeling of terror throughout India. The

intrinsic weakness of his power had not then been discovered,

and another Abdalee invasion could not be contemplated

without alarm. Lord Wellesley was thus menaced with

dangers in every direction, but he never feared the bugbear of

responsibility, and he determined to carry out the plans he

had formed for the protection of the empire, without waiting



78 PROPOSED ALLIANCE WITH THE NIZAM [CHAP.

for the sanction of the Court of Directors or the Board of

Control. He found that the Company had not augmented their

security, by curtailing- their influence, but had drifted into a

position where it was less perilous to advance than to stand

still or to recede. He resolved at once to terminate that policy

of isolation which had been erroneously considered the safe-

guard of British power, and to abandon the system of non-

interference which was held sacred in Leadenhall-street.

"Within three months after he had taken his seat at the

Council board, active negotiations were commenced through
the country ; every durbar from Cape Comorin to the banks

of the Jumna was electrified by the revival of that energy
which was supposed to be extinct, and the princes of India

soon felt that the spirit of Clive and of Hastings again

animated the Government of Calcutta.

Lord Wellesley's first negotiation was with the
Proposed alii- *

ance with the court of Hyderabad. The minister, Musheer-ool-
Nizam, i/98.

jnyoii^ more commonly designated Meer Allum,

fell into the hands of the Mahrattas at the battle of Kurdla,

and was kept in confinement, in order to deprive his master of

the benefit of his great abilities. He had recently obtained his

liberty, and resumed the management of the Nizam's affairs.

Alarmed at the ascendency which the French officers had

acquired during his captivity, and disgusted at their arrogance,

he had resumed the lands allotted for their maintenance, and

had repeatedly proposed to the Company's Resident that an

English subsidiary force should be substituted for the French

battalions. The proposal was refused by Sir John Shore, but

Lord Wellesley now eagerly embraced it, and offered to

augment the corps of British troops in the Nizam's pay to

6,000, with a proper complement of artillery, on condition that

a provision of twenty-four lacs of rupees a-year should be

made for their support, and that the French force should be

promptly disbanded. He likewise offered his mediation on all

matters in dispute with the Peshwa, and engaged to protect

the state from his unjust claims. The Nizam, then in his
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sixty-fifth year, more feeble in body and in mind than his

illustrious father at the age of a hundred, manifested consider-

able repugnance to so close an alliance with a power which,

since he ascended the throne, had risen to be the most formid-

able in India. The minister himself was not insensible of the

danger which might be incurred by this connection ; but he

argued that the Hyderabad state was utterly defenceless, and

that it was more advisable to be dependent on a power dis-

tinguished by good faith than to remain exposed to the

ambitious views of Tippoo on the one hand, and the insatiable

rapacity of the Mahrattas on the other. The influence of the

minister was paramount, and the reluctant consent of the

Nizam was at length obtained to the treaty.

Proposal to the The proposal of a similar alliance was likewise

Peshwa, 1798. ma(je to the Peshwa, Bajee Rao. In the preced-

ing year, he had solicited the aid of a British force to protect
him from the designs of Sindia, who had fixed his head-

quarters near Poona, but Sir John Shore, in deference to the

policy then in the ascendant at the India House, had refused

to comply with his wishes, and the opportunity of establishing
an influence at the Mahratta court was lost. Bajee Eao
then entered into negotiations with the Nizam, and con-

cluded an alliance with him, ceding territory valued at

eight lacs of rupees a-year, as the price of his assistance

against Sindia. Sindia avenged himself by despatching

envoys to Tippoo, to invite him to attack the Nizam, and

by releasing the great minister, Nana Furnuvese, whom the

Peshwa feared as much as he detested. On the Nana's

arrival at Poona, a strong feeling of mistrust of the Peshwa
led him to decline all connection with public affairs. The

Peshwa, therefore, repaired to his residence ia the dead of

night, with only a single domestic, and employed all those

insinuating arts of which he was so perfect a master, laid his

head at the feet of the Nana, swore to consider him in future

as his father and his counsellor, and, in a flood of teara, con-

jured him not to abandon the brahmin sovereignty, but to
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assume the office of minister. The appeal was successful;

but the Nana had no sooner entered on his duties, than the

Peshwa began to plot his destruction, and urged Sindia to

place him again in confinement. The minister discovered the

intrigue, and repairing to the palace, upbraided Bajee Rao

with his unparalleled treachery, and begged him to cease

plotting against the liberty and life of an old man, but to

allow him to retire into obscurity. The Peshwa protested his

innocence, threw the blame on his officers, and persuaded the

Nana to resume his post. It was at this period that the

Resident brought forward the proposition which he was

instructed by Lord Wellesley to make, of a subsidiary alliance

to liberate the Peshwa from the thraldom of Sindia. It pro-

vided that a large British force should be received into the

s'ervice of the Peshwa, and due arrangements made for their

support ; that the French should be for ever excluded from

his dominions ;
and that all differences with the Nizam and

Sindia should be submitted to the arbitration of the British

Government. It has been supposed that the eagerness mani-

fested on this occasion by the Governor-General tended to

defeat his object. But Bajee Rao had no desire for the final

settlement of such claims, which had been the source of

Mahratta greatness, and which it was the national policy

never to close. The alliance proposed by Lord Wellesley was

designated by him >a restoration of the Peshwa to his due

authority and power, but he and the other princes to whom
the offer was made were too astute not to perceive that it

involved the complete extinction of their political independence
and of their military power. The Peshwa would, it is true, have

been relieved from the domination of Sindia, but it would only

have been a change of collars, the substitution of one which

he could never shake off, for another which, however galling,

might yet be temporary. It is not surprising that princes

with whom independence had a charm, the value of which was

often enhanced by its risks, should have been loth to part

with it. The Peshwa, therefore, acting upon the advice of
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Nana Furnuvese, evaded the proposal of an alliance, but

assured the Eesident that he would faithfully observe the

engagements of the triple alliance. A large Mahratta force

was ostensibly ordered to assemble and join the expedition

which the Governor-General was fitting out against Tippoo,

but it was never intended to act, and the Mahrattas took no

part in the campaign.
-T .. .. While these negotiations were in progress at
Negotiations *

with smdia and Poona, Colonel Collins, the Resident at the court

of Sindia, was instructed to lay before him the

letter of Zemaun Shah, requesting the co-operation of the

British Government in driving the Mahrattas from Hindo-

stan, liberating the emperor from bondage, and restoring him

to the throne. The Resident was instructed to assure Sindia

that the Governor-General was determined to resist this

attempt to disturb the established states of India in their

actual possessions, and to invite him to unite in a defensive

league against the Abdalee. Sindia was also urged to quit

Poona and return to Hindostan, where he would find an

English army ready to join him. He declined the alliance, but

promised to proceed to his own provinces in the north, a

promise he did not intend to fulfil. The raja of Nagpore had

maintained a friendly disposition towards the Company, and

Mr. Colebrooke, the most eminent Oriental scholar of the day,

was sent to his court to improve it, but the raja refused to

entangle himself with an alliance.

Extinction of To give effect to the subsidiary treaty with the
the French Nizam, four Madras regiments, with proportionateforce at Hydera-

' f f

bad, 1798. artillery, were ordered to march to Hyderabad, but

the Madras treasury was so empty, that the Governor was

obliged to raise funds for their equipment on his own

personal responsibility. They reached Hyderabad on the 10th

October, but the difficulties of the transaction were not past.

Every artifice and intrigue was employed for nine days to evade

the performance of the treaty and the dismissal of the French

corps. The vacillation of the Nizam and his minister arose,
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not only from the dread of a collision between the two forces,

English ^and French, but also from a feeling of reluctance at

the last moment to descend to a state of helpless and irre-

trievable dependence on a superior power. The Nizam, under

the influence of personal terror, took refuge in the neigh-

bouring fortress of Golconda. The British Resident, Captain

Kirkpatrick, was obliged to assume a high tone, and to assure

the minister that it was now too late to recede, and that the

Nizam would be held responsible for the consequences of this

breach of faith. Colonel Roberts, who commanded the British

force, was anxious to bring the question to an issue before the

arrival of the Nizam's household cavalry, who were known

to be friendly to the French interests, and had been ordered up
from the country. The minister was at length convinced that

there was more danger in evading than in performing the

engagement his master had entered into, and a proclamation
was issued dismissing the French officers from the service,

and releasing the sepoys from the obligation of obedience to

them. Both officers and men were thrown into a state of

confusion and dismay by this unexpected announcement. The

British force was moved into a position which completely com-

manded the French encampment, and from which, if necessary,

the French storehouses and magazines could be set on fire by red

hot shot. The French commandant, Mons. Piron, on receiving

his dismissal from the Nizam, sent a messenger to inform Captain

Kirkpatrick that he and his officers were ready to place them-

selves under British protection, and expected to be treated

according to the usages of civilised nations. But the men, to

whom considerable arrears were due, rose in a body on their

officers and placed them in confinement, and it was not with-

out great difficulty they succeeded in escaping during the night

to the English camp. Captain Malcolm, a young officer of

great spirit and ambition, then rising to notice, was sent to

quell the excitement of the native troops, and to offer them

the payment of their arrears. By his great tact in the manage-
ment of natives, he prevailed on them to accept these terms,
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and before the evening this large body of 14,000 disciplined

troops, possessed of a powerful train of artillery and well-

stored arsenals, was disarmed without the loss of a single life.

This great achievement, the foremost of the new administra-

tion, filled the native princes,who were calculating on the down-

fall of the Company's power, with amazement, while it gave
fresh confidence to their native subjects. The abilitywith which

it was planned, and the promptitude with which it was executed,

removed all cause of anxiety from the minds of the European
functionaries of government at all the Presidencies, and

created a spirit of confidence and devotion, which contributed

essentially to the success of the Governor-General's plans.

While Lord Wellesley was engaged in pre-
Mysore War .

J

sanctioned in parations for war, he was so happy as to receive
England, 1798.

a degpatcn from the Court of j)irectors, written on

the receipt of the Mauritius proclamation. The dread of the

Mysore power, which they had thrice encountered in thirty

years, still haunted their imaginations, and they began to

tremble anew for the security of their possessions in the

Deccan. They stated that if Tippoo had actually entered

into a league with France, it would be neither politic nor

prudent to wait till he commenced hostilities, but they also-

enjoined the utmost discretion in resorting to arms. Mr.

Dundas considered that this breach of faith fully warranted a

declaration of war, and Lord Wellesley was thus enabled to

commence the campaign with the full concurrence of the

authorities in England. On the 18th October he received

intelligence that Bonaparte had landed in Egypt with the

object of establishing a French empire in the East, and two-

days after issued orders to Madras to press forward the

organisation of the army in every department, and to send

the battering train and heavy stores to the frontier without

delay. He likewise announced his intention to strengthen
the Coast army with 3,000 volunteer sepoys, and, above all,

with His Majesty's 33rd Regiment, commanded by Colonel

Wellesley, afterwards the Duke of Wellington, in himself a
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host. On the 8th of November, intelligence of
First letter to

Tippoo, Novem- the complete success ot the movement tor the
t>er 8, 1798.

suppression of the French force at Hyderabad,

reached Calcutta, and Lord Wellesley despatched his first

communication to Tippoo Sultan. The British Government,

he said, could not be ignorant of the intercourse he had

formed with the French, the inveterate enemies of the Com-

pany, and then actually at war with England ;
and he was

cautioned against a connection which "must subvert the

foundations of friendship between him and the Company, and

introduce into the heart of his kingdom the principles of

anarchy and confusion." The Governor-General had, con-

sequently, been obliged to adopt measures of precaution and

defence, though he was anxious to live in peace and amity

with all his neighbours. He was, however, desirous of pro-

pounding a plan which would remove all distrust and suspicion,

and establish a good understanding between the Company
and the Sultan, on the most stable foundations ; and he pro-

posed to depute Major Doveton for this purpose to his durbar.

Lord Wellesley likewise resolved to proceed to Madras in

person to obviate the delay inseparable from a distant corre-

spondence, and to bring the authority of the Supreme Govern-

ment to bear upon the military preparations. Sir Alured

Clarke, the Commander-in-chief, was to be left in Bengal to

watch the movements of Zemaun Shah, who had already

crossed the Indus and reached Lahore. The Calcutta militia,

an old institution which had fallen into disuse, was embodied

to the number of 1,500. Lord Wellesley then embarked for

Madras, which he reached on the last day of the year, and

assumed the control of all the political and military arrange-

ments, leaving the local administration undisturbed in the

hands of the Governor.

Lord Wellesley found Tippoo's reply to his letter

at Madras. With regard to the embassy, the

ley and Tippoo, guitan observed that the agents of a mercantile
1799.

tribe, who had purchased a two-masted vessel,
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happened to go with a cargo to the Mauritius, and forty per-

sons, French, and of a dark colour, ten or twelve of whom
were artificers and the rest servants, had embarked in her for

Mysore in searcli of employment. Some of these had entered

his service, and the others had left the country. The French,
" who were full of vice and deceit, had perhaps taken advan-

tage of the departure of the ship to put about reports, with

the view to ruffle the minds of both Sircars." The proposed

conference with Major Doveton he evaded, under the pretence

that " the treaties and engagements entered into among the

four Sircars
"

the English, the Nizam, the Peshwa, and him-

self
" were so firmly established and confirmed, as ever to

remain fixed and durable, and be an example to the rulers of

the age. No means more effectual than these could be adopted
to give stability to the foundations of friendship and harmony."
To this letter Lord Wellesley replied on the 9th of January,

giving a full detail of all the transactions by which Tippoo
had violated the treaties subsisting between him and the

Company, and manifested the hostility of his designs. He
stated that the new engagements which the Sultan had

entered into with the common enemy, necessarily demanded

new arrangements on the part of the allies. He solemnly
admonished him to assent to the conciliatory mission of

Major Doveton, and warned him of the dangerous conse-

quences of delay in arduous affairs, entreating him not to post-

pone his reply for more than one day after the letter should

reach his presence. Before the arrival of this communication,

Tippoo had again written to the Governor-General to lull him

into security, assuring him that " the sincerity of his friend-

ship and regard, together with proofs of his solicitude for

tranquillity and peace (his friendly heart being bent on their

increase) had been made apparent." At the time when this

letter was written, he was despatching Dubuc, one of his

French officers, through the Danish settlement of Tranquebar,
to the Executive Directoiy at Paris, to solicit the aid of 10,000

or 15,000 troops, who were to be maintained at his expense,
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and employed in expelling the English from India. He was

likewise inviting Zemaun Shah to cross the Indus, and join him

in prosecuting
" a holy war against the infidels, polytheists,

and heretics." " Please God," he said,
" the English shall

become food for the unrelenting sword of the pious warriors."

Lord Wellesley's letter of the 9th January appears to have

given him the first clear monition of the danger which he had

incurred by his negotiations with the French, and his first

impulse was to receive the mission of Major Dovetou, and

throw himself on the consideration of the Governor-General.

The letter addressed to him by Bonaparte, from Egypt, stating
" that he had arrived on the borders of the Red Sea, with an

innumerable and invincible army, full of the desire of delivering
him from the iron yoke of England," had not as yet reached

him ; but his French officers assured him that the army of

Bonaparte must already have embarked for India, and might
be daily expected. After many days of alternate hope and

fear, he forwarded his reply with this significant expression :

"
Being frequently disposed to make excursions and hunt, I

am, accordingly, proceeding on a hunting excursion. You
will be pleased to despatch Major Doveton, slightly attended

(or unattended)."

strength and But Tippoo had miscalculated the character of

Britisher the man he had now to deal with, and the length
1799. to which he might venture to procrastinate.
Lord Wellesley had determined to bring the war to a close

in a single campaign, by one vigorous and decisive blow
at the capital. Seringapatam was the great object of Tippoo's

pride, the centre of his power, his principal granary, and his

only arsenal, on the preservation of which he considered the

fate of Ms kingdom to depend. Unlike any other fort in

India, it was impregnable from June to November, owing
to the rise of the Cavery around the island on which it was
erected. Unless, therefore, it could be reduced before the

rains set in, the campaign must prove abortive, and the intol-

erable expense of a second season of military operations must
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be incurred. As the year advanced, every moment became

increasingly important, and Lord Wellesley, after waiting in

vain for the early reply he had solicited from Tippoo, on the

3rd February ordered the army to break ground. In reply to

the cold and ungracious letter of the Sultan, when it arrived,

lie expressed regret that his earnest representations of the

dangers of delay had not been heeded. The mission of Major

Doveton, he said, was no longer expedient ; but General Harris,

who was advancing at the head of an army into Mysore, would

be prepared to receive any embassy Tippoo might think fit to

send. The army which was now about to take the field was

considered the best appointed, and the most perfect in point

of equipment and discipline which had ever been collected in

India under the British standard. Only six months before,

the Madras functionaries had declared that it would be im-

possible to assemble a force of more than 8,000 men, which

would be scarcely equal to the defence of the Carnatic, if it were

invaded by the Sultan. But the commanding energy of Lord

Wellesley,- seconded by the indefatigable exertions of his

brother, Colonel Wellesley, and of the son of the great Clive,

now Governor of Madras, had called into existence an army of

20,802 men, of whom 6,000 were Europeans, with a battering

train of 40 guns and 64 field-pieces and howitzers. To this

number was added 10,000 of the Nizam's cavalry and the

Hyderabad subsidiary force, which included 3,600 of Raymond's

disciplined sepoys, and made up another body of 10,000 foot,

under the direction of European officers, and commanded by
Colonel Wellesley and Captain Malcolm. It thus became an

efficient auxiliary, instead of the dead weight it had proved

during the campaign of Lord Cornwallis. The army was for-

tunate in its superior officers, all of whom, with one exception,

enjoyed the advantage of the experience acquired in the pre-

vious Mysore war ; while General Han-is, the General-in-chief,

was personally acquainted with all the localities on the route.

Lord Wellcsley possessed in an eminent degree two of the

greatest qualifications for command, great discernment in the

n. H
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selection of his instruments, and the wisdom of reposing un-

reserved confidence in them ; and never were these talents

more distinctly exhibited than on the present occasion, by
the accordance of unfettered authority to General Harris, and

the able officers associated with him. The Bombay division of

6,420 troops was assembled under General Stuart at Canna-

nore, on the Malabar coast, to advance simultaneously on the

capital.

Tippoo marches Tippoo, who had made several marches to the

to the western eastward to meet Major Doveton, at length assem-

bled his chief officers, and expressed his vexation

that while the English were closing on him from the east and

the west he was losing invaluable time, and pointed out the

necessity of "
marching, and striking some decisive blow."

He determined, therefore, to leave Poornea and Syud Sahib

with a sufficient force to watch the movements of General

Harris, and to march in person with the flower of his army
across the peninsula and engage the army of General Stuart,

whose advanced post was then at Seedasere. It was diligently

propagated throughout the country that Tippoo was proceed-

ing against General Harris, and nothing was so little expected

by the Bombay army as his appearance in its neighbourhood.
On the morning of the 5th March, however, the raja of

Coorg, a gallant prince, the grateful ally of the Company, and

the mortal enemy of the family of Hyder, who had always

oppressed him, ascended the hill of Seedasere, and to his

amazement beheld the plain below covered with Tippoo's en-

campment. Preparations were immediately made to meet

the attack of the enemy by General Hartley, the second in

command, a name of ancient and high renown on that coast.

On the morning of the 6th the advanced brigade was vigor-

ously assailed by the Sultan's entire force, and three battalions

under the gallant Colonel Montresor sustained the assault for

six hours with such cool and determined bravery, that the

utmost efforts of Tippoo's best officers and troops could make

no impression on their ranks. General Stuart, who was ten
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miles in the rear, hastened to their assistance, and found them

exhausted with fatigue and reduced to their last cartridge.

His timely arrival decided the fortune of the day. Within

half an hour Tippoo's army retreated through the wood with

the loss of 2,000 men. He continued for six days to linger in

the vicinity in a state of great perplexity, and on the llth

March turned his back on the Bombay force, and marched to

oppose the advance of General Harris.

Pro ess of
General Harris reached Bangalore on the 15th

General Harris, March, with the heavy charge of conveying the

vast and cumbrous equipage for the siege in

safety to its destination. Of the three routes which led

from Bangalore to Seringapatam he had chosen the most

southern. It presented many points where a bold and

skilful enemy might have seriously obstructed his progress,

more especially on the banks of the Madoor, which

afforded an excellent position for opposing the passage of an

army. But, throughout the campaign, the Sultan appeared to

be bewildered, if not infatuated ; and, in direct opposition to

the advice of his own most experienced officers, and of his

French commandant, he fixed upon Malavelly as the field for

encountering the English force. The battle, in which Colonel

W'ellesley particularly distinguished himself, terminated in

the complete discomfiture of Tippoo, with the loss of 1,000

men. After the defeat he moved his encampment in a north-

ern direction, not doubting that General Harris would adopt
the route to Seringapatam which had been taken in the pre-

vious war by Lord Cornwallis. It had therefore been laid

waste under his own inspection, and not a particle of dry

forage or a pile of grass was left unconsumed. But the

chief of the guide corps, Major Allen, whose exertions con-

tributed pre-eminently to the success of the campaign, and

Captain Macaulay, were sent southward to examine the road

which led to the Cavery, twelve miles distant; and they
returned at midnight with the report that it presented a fine

and open tract of country, and that the ford at Sosilla afforded

H 2
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every facility for the passage of an army. The next morning
1

the whole force marched down with all promptitude, and before

nightfall one wing was across the river, while Tippoo was

twenty miles distant, in an opposite direction, waiting to

oppose General Harris's progress towards the capital. The

happy choice of this route gave the famished cattle an abund-

ance of rich pasturage ; it facilitated the junction of the Bom-

bay army, and it rendered abortive the dispositions which

Tippoo had made for defending the northern face of Serin-

gapatam. Nothing could exceed his dismay and rage when
he found all his plans frustrated by this admirable strategy.

He summoned his principal officers, and said,
" We have now

arrived at our last stage ; what is your determination?"
" To die with you," was their unanimous reply. Every one

present was deeply affected at the distress of his sovereign,

who was bathed in tears, and the meeting broke up with the

firm resolution to make one last and desperate effort for the

defence of the capital and the kingdom, with no alternative

but victory or death.

No farther opposition was made to the progressThe Army before
r

Seringapatam, of the British army, the advanced post of which
April eth, 1799. wag established within 1,600 yards of the fort OH

the 6th April. This direct march on the capital with a heavy
siege train, through a hundred and fifty miles of the enemy's

territory, without establishing a single intermediate post, was
in accordance with that daring spirit which had won our

dominion in India, and which, when conducted by such men as

Harris, and Baird, and Wellesley, and Malcolm, could scarcely
be considered rash ; but it was not effected without the greatest
risks. If Tippoo's resources had been directed with any
degree of ability, this attempt to reach the capital, with an

unwieldy convoy, might have ended in disaster. Though
extraordinary efforts had been made to perfect the equipment
of the force, and the number of cattle provided for its use

exceeded 60,000, not including a countless multitude of

brinjarees and provision dealers, the army had no sooner begun
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to move than it experienced the same kind of embarrassments

which had defeated Lord Cornwallis's first expedition in 1791.

On the third day of the march, every store which could possibly

be dispensed with was destroyed to increase the available

carriage. As the army advanced, the loss of powder and shot

and other military stores, from the failure of the cattle, created

very serious alarm. This was attributed to the climate and

water of Mysore, which were said to be unfavourable to the

cattle of the Carnatic. It was owing to these impediments
that the army was only able to advance at the rate of five

miles a-day, when every hour was of increasing importance.
Two days after the Bombay division had effected a junction

with General Harris, it was found, on weighing the rice bags,
that the stock was mysteriously diminished such mysteries
are by no means uncommon in the commissariat department
and there remained only eighteen days' consumption, even for

the combatants. It was evident that unless the supplies which

Colonel Read was then employed in collecting in the southern

districts could reach the camp before the 6th of May, it

would be reduced to a state of starvation. General Floyd
was therefore despatched with a large force to convoy them.

Progress of the For any details of the siege, which may be

!
ie
^.

1

wthApril considered as having commenced on the 17th of
to 4th May,
1799. April, we cannot find room. It was pushed on with

such vigour that the Sultan was induced, within three days,

to make proposals for a conference. General Harris, in his

reply, dwelt on the repeated efforts made by Lord Wellesley
to avert the war by negotiations, and informed him that the

only conditions on which he was now authorised to treat,

were, the cession of half his dominions, the payment of two

crores of rupees in two instalments, and the delivery of four

of his sons, and four of his chief officers, as hostages. The

Sultan, who still appeared to have no just conception of his

danger, raved at what he termed the arrogance and tyranny
of the proposition, and did not deign to return any reply to

it.
"
Better," he exclaimed,

" to die like a soldier, than to
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live a miserable dependant on the infidels, and to be placed

in the roll of their pensioned rajas and nabobs." Yet,

throughout the siege, he exhibited none of that mental or

physical energy which was to have been expected of him,

and, instead of making due preparations for the impending

assault, busied himself in consultation with his astrologers.

On the 3rd of May it was reported that there were provisions

only for two days left in the English camp : but it was like-

wise reported that the breach was practicable, and it was

determined at once to bring the contest to an issue. The

troops destined for the storm, 4,376 in number, took up their

appointed stations in the trenches the next morning. General

Baird, a gallant and distinguished officer, who had been for

four years confined in irons in a dungeon in Seringapatam, was

very appropriately selected to lead the assault. Tippoo, who
directed all the operations of the defence himself, had discarded

the advice of his most experienced officers, and surrounded

himself with boys and parasites, who flattered his vanity.

They assured him that the attack would not be made before the

evening, and he had just sat down to his mid-day meal, when

intelligence was brought him that it had already begun. After

a few moments of silent and awful expectation in the trenches,

General Baird ascended the parapet at one o'clock, and exhibited

his noble military figure to the view of both forces, and then,

drawing his sword, desired his men " to follow him, and show

themselves worthy of the name of British soldiers." A small

and resolute band of Tippoo's troops met the forlorn hope on the

slope of the breach, and the greater portion on either side fell

in the desperate struggle, but within seven minutes after the

soldiers emerged from the trenches, the British ensign was

floating over the breach. The works, however, were defended

with great valour, and the carnage was terrific at the rampart
where the Sultan had taken his station, and was animating

his troops. The two columns of assailants, which after

storming the breach, had wheeled to the right and left, were

gradually gaining ground ; the Mysore sepoys borne down by
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them, at length lost confidence, and everyavenue was choked up
with fugitives.

Death and in- The column commanded by General Baird at

Tippocf^sth
length made its way to the front of the palace,

May, 1798. and Major Allen climbed over an unfinished wall

with a flag- of trace, and was conducted to an apartment
where two of Tippoo's sons were surrounded by officers and

attendants in a state of the deepest consternation. The

Major gave them and their adherents the assurance of com-

plete safety, and endeavoured to convince then! that the only

chance of saving the life of their father was his immediate

surrender
; but they declared most solemnly that he was not

in the palace. He then requested that the outer gate should

be opened to prevent its being forced by the victorious soldiers,

to which they at length consented, but not without great

hesitation. In front of it Major Allen found General Baird

with a large body of European troops, who had just learned

that on the preceding night Tippoo caused twelve of their

comrades who had fallen into his hands to be murdered in

<;old blood, and they were frantic to avenge them. The

General, however, succeeded in preventing their entrance

into the palace, where no life would have been sacred, and

he requested that the young princes should be brought out to

him. They were received with great humanity and kindness,

and conveyed with suitable honours to the presence of the

General-in-chief . General Baird now proceeded to search the

palace for the Sultan, when the commandant offered to point

out the place where he was said to be lying, though, as he

had heard, only wounded. He accompanied the General to

the gateway which had been the great scene of conflict and

carnage, and which presented a ghastly spectacle. It was

already night, and the bodies lay heaped in masses on each

other ; they were separately drawn out and examined by the

light of torches. One man alone, the personal attendant of

the Sultan, was found alive, and he pointed out the spot

where the body of his master lay. It was immediately recog-
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nised by the native commandant, and conveyed to the palace.

It appeared, on enquiry, that Tippoo had received three

wounds in succession, and was then placed by his faithful

attendants in his palankeen, but the spot soon became so

blocked up with dead and dying combatants that it was found

impossible to remove it. Tippoo then appears to have crept

out, when a European soldier, entering the gateway", endea-

voured to snatch his brilliant sword-belt. Though fainting

from loss of blood, the Sultan grasped a sword which lay near

him, and aimed a blow at the soldier, who immediately lodged
a ball in his temples, and deprived him of life. His remains

were conveyed through the city, and the inhabitants crowded

the streets and prostrated themselves before the bier of their

late sovereign. He was interred in the superb mausoleum of

the family, by the side of his father, with all the imposing-

rites of Mahomedan sepulture, and the honours of an European,

military funeral.

Character of Thus, in the space of a few hours, fell the

Tippoo, 1799.
capital of Mysore, though garrisoned by 20,000

troops, defended by 287 pieces of ordnance, and provided with

well-stored arsenals and every munition of war. It was the

opinion of Lord Wellesley and of the best military authorities

around him, that with a thousand French troops well com-

manded, Seringapatain, through the strength of its fortifica-

tions and the difficulties of approach, would have been im-

pregnable. With the capital fell the dynasty of Hyder, after

a career of thirty-eight years. Tippoo, who was forty-six at

the time of his death, possessed none of his father's abilities,

either for war or for peace ; he exhibited neither the same

moderation in prosperity, nor the same equanimity in adversity.

In the opinion of the Mysoreans, the one was born to create

an empire, and the other to lose it. Tippoo died bravely in

the defence of his throne, but it was the death of a soldier, not

of a general or a sovereign. He was distinguished by bigotry

and intolerance, and was the only Mahomedan sovereign since

Aurungzebe who determined to propagate his creed by perse-
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cution. Both father and son exhibited for thirty years the

same rancorous hatred of the English, and it was a dread of

their projects throughout this period which mainly influenced

the policy of the Company's Government. The animosity of

Hyder was occasioned by the follies of the Madras council ;

that of Tippoo sprung from his natural malevolence. The

expulsion of the English from India was the ruling passion of

his life, and to accomplish this object he intrigued in every
durbar in India, and sent his emissaries to Cabul and Paris.

Remarks on the
^or na^ a century the Deccan had been the

transactions of source of constant anxiety to the Court of Direc-

tors, and the theatre of perpetual warfare. The

safety of the British possessions had always been precarious,

even in the intervals of peace. Lord Wellesley terminated this

state of insecurity. Within a twelvemonth after landing in

Calcutta he extinguished the French party and influence at

Hyderabad, and made all the Nizam's resources subservient to

British interests ; he annihilated the kingdom of Mysore, and

he established the Company's authority from Cape Comorin

to the Kistna on so solid a basis that it has never since been

interrupted. The capture of Seringapatam, an event second

in importance only to the battle of Plassy, resounded through
the whole continent, and the sudden and complete extinction

of one of the substantive powers of India, struck terror into

the hearts of its princes, and exalted the prestige of the British

Government. But these advantages were not obtained with

out the violation of those solemn injunctions which the wisdom
or the fears of Parliament, the Ministry, and the East India

Company, had issued to restrain the growth of the British

empire in India. " I suppose," said Lord Wellesley, in writing
to Mr. Pitt on the subject of these transactions,

" You will

either hang me or magnificently honour me for my deeds. In

either case I shall be gratified ; for an English gallows is better

than an Indian throne." He was magnificently honoured, by
the King with a step in the peerage, by the Parliament with

its thanks.
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Creation of a
Lord Wellesley entertained no views of territorial

new Mysore aggrandisement when he entered upon the war

with Tippoo, but the issue of it had placed the

whole of his dominions at the absolute disposal of the Company,
and the right of conquest was exercised with great wisdom

and moderation. Lord Wellesley, who acted in this matter

exclusively on his own judgment, without consulting his ally

the Nizam, felt that the appropriation of the whole territory to

the Company would have raised a flame of discontent at Hy-
derabad and Poona, which it might have cost another war to

quench. To have divided it equally between the Nizam and

the Company would have inflamed the jealousy of the

Mahrattas, and enlarged the territories of a prince who was

incompetent for the management of those he already possessed.

To have given the Peshwa a proportionate share of the con-

quered districts when he had not participated either in the

expense or the risk of the war, would have been an act of

inconsistency, and it would, moreover, have imprudently

strengthened a power of very doubtful fidelity. Lord Welles-

ley, therefore, determined to make over a portion of the terri-

tory to the ancient dynasty of Mysore, whom Tippoo had

reduced to a state of abject poverty and humiliation. The

family had passed out of all recollection in the country, which

rendered the act the more generous. A child of five years of

age the present rajah was drawn from obscurity and placed

upon the throne, to which districts yielding fourteen lacs of

pagodas a-year were attached. It was intended that the new
state should be essentially native in its character and admini-

stration, and the brahmin Poornea, who, although a Hindoo,

had been for a quarter of a century the most efficient of the

ministers of Hyder and Tippoo, and was the model of an Indian

statesman, was appointed to the chief control of affairs, while

Colonel Close acted as the representative of the British Go-

vernment. The military force, for the maintenance of which

the sum of seven lacs of pagodas were appropriated, was to be

disciplined and commanded by British officers. The Company
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was, moreover, at liberty to take over the entire management
of the state, or of any portion of it, if the mal-administration

of the raja should endanger the subsidy. Though Lord Wel-

lesley deemed it expedient to associate the Nizam with the

Company in the preliminary convention for the disposal of the

conquered territory, the treaty with the Mysore raja was con-

cluded in the name of the British Government alone, from

whom he received the kingdom as a free gift, bestowed on

him personally, without any mention of heirs. The whole

arrangement was merely a screen to cloak the appropriation

of the resources of the kingdom to the objects of the British

Government
;
and Lord Wellesley did not hesitate to affirm

that the territories thus placed under the nominal sovereignty
of the raja of Mysore constituted substantially an integral

portion of our own dominions. But he did not fail to do justice

to the interests of the country in the selection of the members

of the commission appointed to complete the organization and

settlement of it. It included Colonel Barry Close, the prince

of the Indian diplomatists of the tune ; Captain Malcolm, after-

wards Governor of Bombay; Captain Munro, subsequently
Governor of Madras ; Henry Wellesley, eventually Lord

Cowley, ambassador in Paris ; and the Duke of Wellington ;

the largest number of men of genius ever assembled at the

same board in India, either before or since.

The remaining
1

districts of Mysore were thus
Allotment of

the remaining partitioned. Territory of the annual value of

777,000 star-pagodas was allotted to the Com-

pany, but charged with the payment of 240,000 pagodas to

the families of Hyder and Tippoo, with the proviso that the

British Government should be at liberty to make such deduc-

tions from time to time from the sums allotted for their main-

tenance as might appear proper on the decease of any member

of the various branches of the family, and to limit, and if ad-

visable, to suspend entirely the payment of the whole or any

part of the stipend, in the event of any hostile attempt on the

part of the family, or any member of it, against the peace of
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the territories of the Company, or its allies. The provision

thus made for the royal family of Mysore gave them a more

liberal allowance than they had ever enjoyed before. Districts

yielding 600,000 star-pagodasj^a-year were transferred to the

Nizam, charged, however, with the payment of 70,000 pagodas

annually to Kuniur-ood-deen, one of the most eminent of

Tippoo's generals, who had thrown himself unconditionally on

the generosity of the British Government. A tract of country,

yielding 263,000 star-pagodas a-year, was reserved for the

acceptance of the Peshwa, on conditions which will be pre-

sently noticed. The additions thus made to the Company's
dominions consisted of districts which gave them the absolute

command of the Malabar coast, and the exclusive possession

of the southern division of the Peninsula from coast to coast.

It included also the capital, on which both Tippoo and Lord

Wellesley set a high value, but which has been subsequently
abandoned as a military station, from its unhealthiness. The

population has dwindled down from 150,000, when it was the

seat of Tippoo's government, to about 12,000.

Prize money, The property captured at Seringapatam was at

1799. grs^ estimated at ten crores of rupees. The

assignment of so prodigious a sum as prize money could not

have failed to demoralize the army, but it was fortunately

found not to exceed a tenth of this amount. In 1758, when

intelligence of the battle of Plassy reached England, the

Crown made a grant to the Company of all booty captured by
their own soldiers, with a reservation of the royal prerogative
when the Bang's troops happened to be associated with them.

Lord Wellesley, thinking the army might become impatient

if the distribution of the Seringapatam prize money had to

await the receipt of instructions from England, which in such

cases are scandalously delayed, took upon himself the respon-

sibility of "
anticipating" the royal assent and the sanction of

Leadenhall-street, and directed the immediate division of it.

This procedure received the sanction both of the Crown and

the Company. The Court of Directors, moreover, anxious to
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manifest their sense of the merits of Lord Wellesley, offered

him a donation of ten lacs of rupees from the proceeds of the

captured grain, which appertained to the state, but his high
sense of honour induced him to decline the gift, on which

they settled an annuity of 5,000 a-year on him for twenty

years. But the Commander-in-chief, General Harris, far

from exhibiting the same magnanimity allotted to his own use

double the usual share of his rank, or thirteen lacs of rupees.

The general officers followed his example. The injustice of

depriving the rest of the army of their legitimate dues by
this unfair appropriation was so palpable, that the law officers

of the Crown to whom the case was referred the Attorney-

General, subsequently Prune Minister of England, and the

Solicitor-General, afterwards Speaker of the House of Com-
mons advised the parties to refund the excess, of their own

accord, but they refused to relinquish a cowrie. A suit was
therefore commenced against them in Chancery, which, how-

ever, was not successful ; but the stigma of this rapacity

tarnished the laurels of Seringapatam.
On the eve of the war with Tippoo, Lord

Peshwa refuses

the offered tr- Wellesley demanded of the Peshwa the aid of the
ntory, 1799.

contingent which he was bound by the treaty of

1792 to furnish, and he ostensibly ordered Pureshram Bhao,
one of the great feudatory chiefs of the Mahratta empire, to

join the British army with his force. At the same time,

however, Bajee Rao, with his usual duplicity, received two
vakeels at his court from Tippoo, [and accepted a douceur of

thirteen lacs of rupees, unknown to his minister, Nana Fui*-

nuvese. The Mahratta contingent consequently took no

part in the campaign. On the contrary, the Peshwa and
Sindia concerted a plan for attacking the dominions of the

Nizam, while his army and that of his British ally were occu-

pied with the siege of Seringapatam ; and on the 26th April,

1799, Lord Wellesley, who was fully apprized of their

machinations, considered a rupture with them imminent. But
before their plans could be matured they were astounded by
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the intelligence that Tippoo was slain and his power extin-

guished. Bajee Rao affected great delight at this intelli-

gence, and Sindia offered his congratulations to the Governor-

General, but took care to dispatch his emissaries into Mysore
to encourage the partizans of the late government to resist

the British authorities. Notwithstanding the hypocrisy of

Peshwa, however, Colonel Palmer, the Resident at his court,

was instructed to inform him, that although he had forfeited

all claim to a share of the conquered territory, the Governor-

General was prepared to assign him districts valued at

263,000 pagodas a-year, on his consenting to admit the media-

tion of the British government on every question in dispute

between him and the Nizam, and to exclude the French from

his dominions. He replied, that he should be happy to

accept the territory, as a commutation of the chout, to

which the Mahrattas were entitled from the whole kingdom
of Mysore, but the two conditions he positively rejected.

After a protracted discussion which led to no result, the

reserved territory was divided between the Company and the

Nizam, and Lord Wellesley, disgusted with what he con-

sidered the "
systematic jealousy, suspicion and insincerity"

of the Peshwa, took leave of Mahratta politics, till a more

favourable opportunity should turn up in the course of events

for his intervention.

DhoondiaWaug, It only remains to be noticed that the settle-

ment of Mysore was accomplished without any of

those embarrassments which usually attend the introduction

of a new government. The only opposition was offered by
one Dhoondia Waug, who had been confined in irons in

Seringapatam for various depredations in Mysore, and was

inconsiderately released on the capture of the town. He
was a daring adventurer, and having collected together.some

of Tippoo's disbanded cavalry, and a body of men of despe-

rate fortunes, proceeded northward, plundering the towns

and villages in his progress. Success brought crowds to his

standard, and he was enabled to obtain possession of the
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rich district of Bednore with its important fortresses. Two
British armies were sent against him, who succeeded in

recovering the district, and driving him to the frontier of the

Peshwa's dominions, where the pursuit necessarily ended.

The distractions which prevailed among the Mahratta chiefs

enabled him to collect another and a larger body, and the

revolt began to assume formidable dimensions. It was mani-

fest that there could be no tranquillity in the Deccan while

this bold chieftain was roaming through it, at the head of an

increasing force of marauders. Colonel Wellesley was,

therefore, directed to take the field against him, and with his

usual energy and promptitude, pursued him without the re-

laxation of a day for four months, from district to district, and
at length brought him to bay on the 10th September, 1800.

With four regiments of cavalry, European and Native, he

completely defeated and dispersed 5,000 of Dhoondia's horse.

The freebooter fell in the action, and the insurrection, which ,

without this vigorous effort, might have ended in the esta-

blishment of a hostile power, was completely suppressed.

Cession of Tem- By the treaty concluded with the Nizam, on the

torybythe 1st September, 1798, the new subsidiary force,

which took the place of the disbanded French

battalions, was placed on the same footing with the regiments

previously in his service, and restricted from acting against

the Mahrattas. The minister was no stranger to their in-

satiable rapacity, and the recent refusal of the Peshwa to

admit the arbitration of the British Government for the settle-

ment of his demands on the Nizam, plainly indicated the

treatment which he had to expect from the Mahratta powers.
He therefore proposed to the Resident that the subsidiary

force should be augmented, more especially in the cavalry arm,

and that territory should be substituted for the subsidy in

money which was then paid for its maintenance. The pro-

posal was most welcome to Lord Wellesley. He felt that the

cash payments might be precarious, and that the conveyance
of so large a sum month by month from the treasury to the
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residency would be a source of constant irritation, which

might ripen into political embarrassments. The negotiation

occupied little time, and it was speedily arranged that in lieu

of the payment of forty lacs of rupees a-year, districts yield-

ing sixty-three lacs of annual revenue should be ceded in per-

petual sovereignty to the Company, and that the remaining
territories of the Nizam should be unreservedly guaranteed

by the British Government against the encroachment of every

enemy. The territory thus transferred by him consisted of

the districts he had obtained from Mysore by his alliance

with the British in the wars of 1792 and 1799. The ex-

change was beneficial to both parties. The dominions of the

Company were extended on the north to the Toombudra and

the Kistna, and being surrounded on three sides by the sea,

included every harbour in the peninsula. The Nizam was

relieved from all further anxiety regarding the interminable

demands of the Mahrattas, without the alienation of any

portion of his patrimonial possessions ;
and although, by relin-

quishing the military defence of his kingdom, and the right

of foreign negotiations, he ceased to be one of the substantial

powers of India, the transaction proved the salvation of his

throne. Every other native power throughout the Deccan,

from the Nerbudda to Cape Comorin, has been blotted out of

existence, while the descendant of the Tartar Chin Kilich

Khan still continues to occupy the musnud of Hyderabad,

though with diminished splendour.

CHAPTER XX.

LORD WELLESLEY'S ADMINISTRATION CONTINUED, 1799
1802.

.
THE remaining transactions in the Deccan are

lanjorGj louu.

few. Tuljajee, the raja of Tanjore, adopted

Serfojee, and died in 1786 ; but the validity of the adoption was
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controverted, on the ground that the raja himself was in a

state of mental incapacity at the time, that Serfojee was an

only son, and that he was beyond the age of ten. Ameer Sing,

the half-brother of the deceased prince, was accordingly

placed on the throne, with the full concurrence of the Court

of Directors. Serfojee, who had been educated by the

missionary Swartz, and was a youth of many accomplish-

ments, did not cease to press his claims on the British Govern-

ment, and they were indirectly strengthened by the gross

misconduct of Ameer Sing, who was a mere Asiatic volup-

tuary and tyrant. Sir John Shore was at length induced to

submit the case anew to the most renowned pundits in Hin-

doostan, as well as in the Deccan, and they concurred in pro-

nouncing the adoption of Serfojee unexceptional, according

to the precepts of Hindoo law. The Court of Directors,

persuaded that they had given their sanction to an act of

injustice by his exclusion, instructed Lord Wellesley to place

him on the throne, on condition that he should accept any

arrangement the Government might think fit to dictate regard-

ing the more punctual payment of the debts due to the

Company, and the better management of the country.

Commissioners were appointed to examine the condition and

the resources of Tanjore, and on their report, Lord Wellesley
assumed the entire administration of the country, and settled

on the raja an annual allowance of one lac of pagodas, together

with a fifth of its net revenue. Thus expired this little inde-

pendent principality, a hundred and fifty years after it had

been founded by Shahjee, the father of Sevajee.

The state of the In the treaty made by Lord Cornwallis, in 1792,
camatic, 1799. W jtj1 fae Nabob of the Carnatic, it was provided

that an annual subsidy should be paid for the support of the

British troops to whom the defence of the country was com-

mitted, and that certain districts should be pledged to the

Company, on which no assignments should be given. Maho-

med Ali, the reigning prince, whom the Company had set up
as " their own nabob of the Carnatic" in the days of Clive and

n. i
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Coote, in opposition to the nominee of the French, occupied
the throne for nearly half a century, and died in 1795. His

son and successor, Omdut-ool-omrah, was surrounded, as his

father had been, by a swarm of unscrupulous and rapacious

Europeans, who fed his extravagance by loans at exorbitant

interest, and received by way of security, assignments on the

revenue of districts, which were rack-rented by their profligate

agents. The Company's servants at the Madras Presidency
were very inadequately paid, and the traffic in loans to the

Nabob presented the shortest and surest road to fortune. The

moral atmosphere of the Presidency had been polluted for

forty years with the corruption of these nefarious transactions,

and it was believed that some of the public servants still con-

tinued to participate in them. The European creditors of the

Nabob had instilled into his mind the idea that a distinction

both of interest and of powers existed between the Crown and

the Company, and that the one might be advantageously

played off against the other ; the Company's Government was,

therefore, treated by him with habitual contumely. Their

representations were strengthened by the letters addressed to

him, from time to time, as to an equal, by the King of England

and, more particularly, by the Prince of Wales, which were

treasured up in the palace as the most precious gems. This

royal correspondence, which was not vouchsafed to any other

native prince, tended to lower the character and weaken the

authority of the local Government to such an extent that

Lord Wellesley ventured to remonstrate with his royal high-
ness on the injurious effect of his letters on the public interests.

The advances with which the Nabob was liberally supplied by
the European and native money-lenders who haunted his

court, enabled him to pay the subsidy with punctuality. But

this aid only served to postpone the crisis of his embarrass-

ments, and was sure to aggravate it when it came. The

wretched cultivators were ground down by the local agents of

the creditors; the prosperity of the country was rapidly

declining, and the resources of Government were tlireatened
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with extinction. In 1795, Lord Hobart, the Governor of

Madras, endeavoured, at the particular request of the Court of

Directors, to obtain a modification of the treaty of 1792, and

proposed that the mortgaged districts, on which the Nabob

continued to grant assignments contrary to his engagement,
should be transferred to the Company in lieu of the subsidy.

To secure the concurrence of the Nabob, he offered to relinquish

debts due to the Company to the extent of a crore of rupees,

but his creditors constrained him to reject the proposal,

because, though highly advantageous to his interests, it

would have extinguished their own flagitious profits. Lord

Hobart then proposed to resort to coercion, on the ground
that the treaty of 1792 had been violated by the Nabob, and

ceased to be binding on the Company, but Sir John Shore,

peremptorily refused his concurrence; and the acrimonious

correspondence which grew out of the proposition, induced the

Court of Directors to recall Lord Hobart.

They had, however, set their heart on this

le/s proposals measure, and they requested Lord Wellesley to
to the Nabob, can at Madras on his way to Calcutta, and make

a second effort to procure the Nabob's consent to

it. But under the interested counsel of the harpies around

him, he not only spurned the proposals, but went so far as to

raise the question whether the Company had any claim

whatever upon the revenues of the Carnatic. The negotiation

consequently fell to the ground ;
but the treaty of 1792, had,

likewise, given the Governor-General authority, in the event

of a war on the Coast, to assume the entire government and

resources of the Carnatic, with the reservation of a fifth for the

support of the Nabob's dignity. In the prospect of a war

with Tippoo, the Court of Directors had, moreover, directed

the Government of India to take possession of the Carnatic,

and not to relinquish it without special instructions from them.

But Lord Wellesley was unwilling to adopt so extreme a

measure, and made the milder request of a contribution of

three lacs of pagodas for the use of the army then about to

i 2
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take the field. The Nabob made a solemn promise to furnish

this supply, but violated it
" with every circumstance of

infamy." [n reliance on his pledge, the scanty funds in the

Madras treasury had been fully appropriated to the equipment
of the army, and his failure might have proved most disastrous

to the military operations of the campaign, if a supply of

treasure had not opportunely arrived from Bengal. Lord

Wellesley next proposed to the Nabob to renounce for ever

the right of the Company to assume the management of the

Carnatic, on the occurrence of war, if he would consent to

transfer in perpetuity territory yielding an annual revenue

equal to the subsidy he was bound to contribute for the

military defence of the country, he receiving the benefit of

whatever additional rents the districts might yield under

improved management. Lord Wellesley likewise offered a

liberal and generous arrangement respecting the debts due by
the Nabob to the Company, which fell little short of two crores

of rupees. But this proposal was likewise rejected, and the

Governor-General was rebuked for having ventured to make it,

at a time when the instalments were punctually paid, although
with money raised at usurious interest.

By the treaty of 1792, the Nabob was bound
Discovery of . .

the Nabob's
" not to enter into any negotiation or political

intrigues, 1 1 99.
correSpOn(jence with any European or native

power, without the consent of the Company." But, on the

fall of Seringapatam, papers were discovered which showed

that both the late and the present Nabob had been engaged in

a clandestine correspondence with Tippoo, by means of a

cypher which was found and had conveyed secret intelli-

gence, and friendly admonition, and important advice to him.

The fact of this intrigue was established by the clearest oral

and documentary evidence ; nor will it appear incredible except

to a European mind. Intrigue is the aliment of native courts,

and there was not a native prince in India who would have

considered such a plot dishonourable under any circumstances,

or felt any regret except on its failure. On examining the
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documents, Lord Wellesley came to the conclusion that the

Nabobs, father and son, had not only violated the treaty by
negotiating a separate connection with Tippoo, but had placed

themselves in the position of enemies of the Company by
endeavouring to establish a unity of interests with "their

most implacable foe." The obligations of the treaty, he said,

were thus extinguished, and the British Government was at
'

liberty to exercise its rights in whatever manner might be

most conducive to the general interests of the Company hi the

Carnatic. The " combination of fortunate circumstances
"

which had revealed the correspondence, removed every diffi-

culty from his mind, and satisfied him of the justice and equity

of depriving the Nabob of the civil and military government
of the Carnatic, reserving a suitable proportion of its revenues

for his support. But the negotiations then on foot with the

court of Hyderabad, regarding the commutation of territory for

the subsidy, were not, as yet, complete, and it appeared
advisable to postpone the assumption of the Carnatic. This

delay afforded time for receiving the direct sanction of the

Court of Directors and of the Board of Control for this bold

measure. But when the period for action arrived, the Nabob
Omdut-ool-omrah was on his death-bed, and it was deemed

indelicate to disturb his last moments with a painful discussion.

On his death, the Governor of Madras communicated to his

reputed son, whom he had nominated as his heir, the proofs of

his father's and grandfather's infidelity, by which all claim to

the consideration of the Company had been forfeited. He was

informed that the succession to the musnud was now a question
of favour and not of right, and that it could be conceded only

on condition that the entire civil and military power of the state

should be resigned to the British Government. Acting under

the advice of the guardians whom his father had appointed, he

refused to accept these conditions. They were then offered to

Azim-ool-omrah, the son of the deceased Nabob's brother,

who acceded to them without hesitation ; and, in the pompous

language of the proclamation,
" this prince, the immediate
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great grandson of the Nabob Anwur-ood-deen khan, of blessed

memory, had renewed the alliance between the Company and

his illustrious ancestors, and established an adequate security

for the British interests in the Carnatic; and the British

TheCamatic Government had resolved to exercise its rights
annexed, 1801.

an(j j^s pOwerg) under Providence, in supporting

and establishing the hereditary pretensions of the prince in

the Soobadaree of the territories of Arcot and the Carnatic

Payenghaut." In plain English, the Nabob was mediatized,

and the Carnatic became a British province. A fifth of its

revenues was allotted for his support ; but the arrangement
was distinctly and intentionally limited to him and to his own

family, instead of being extended, as in the case of former

treaties, to his heirs and successors. The annexation of the

Deccan to the dominions of the Company was thus con-

summated. Out of the territories acquired from Mysore, the

Nizam, the Nabob of the Carnatic, and the rajah of Tanjore,

Lord Wellesley created the Presidency of Madras. Of the

population, which, according to a late census amounted to more

than twenty-two millions, eighteen millions belong to Lord

Wellesley's annexations, and though they were made in direct

contravention of the resolutions of all the public authorities in

England, they were honoured with their hearty concurrence.

Native embassy While Zemaun Shah was advancing towards
to Persia, 1800.

Delhi, Lord Wellesley despatched a native envoy,

Mehndy Ali, to the court of Persia, to instigate the king to

threaten his hereditary dominions in Central Asia, and induce

him to recross the Indus for their defence. The unscrupulous

vakeel, who considered lying the first qualification of an

Oriental diplomatist, assured the king that the Governor-

General was not in the smallest degree annoyed at the inva-

sion of Zemaun Shah, but rather wished him to advance into

the country, and thus afford an opportunity of showing how

easily he could be expelled. But, he remarked, the Abdalee

was a Sconce, and had grievously oppressed the Sheahs, the

ruling sect in Persia, and constrained thousands of them to
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take refuge in the Company's territories. To arrest the

progress of so heterodox a prince would be an acceptable ser-

vice both to God and man. The pious monarch swallowed the

bait, and lost no tune in giving encouragement to Mahomed
Shah to invade the dominions of his brother, Zemaun Shall,

who was thus obliged to retreat in haste across the Indus, in

the course of the year 1799.

But Lord Wellesley considered it advisable to
Malcolms em-

bassy to Persia, send a more imposing embassy to Persia, with the

view of establishing a British influence in Central

Asia, and preventing the periodical alarm of an invasion by
Zemaun Shah, with his horde of Turks and Tartars, Oosbegs
and Ghiljies. The officer selected for this mission was

Captain Malcolm, then not more than thirty, who had

attracted the notice of Lord AVellesley by the talent he had

exhibited during the late critical transactions at Hyderabad,
and the ardour of his professional ambition. He was pecu-

liarly adapted for a mission to a court like that of Persia,

by his thorough knowledge of the oriental languages,

character, and weaknesses, his admirable tact, and his invari-

able good humour. No accredited agent had visited that

court since the days of Queen Elizabeth, when the name of

England was utterly unknown in Asia, and Lord Wellesley
was anxious to impress the Persians with a due sense of the

power and wealth of the British empire in the east. The

envoy's suite comprised more than five hundred persons,

European and native. The embassy was equipped in the most

magnificent style, and supplied with watches glittering with

jewels, caskets of gold beautifully enamelled, lustres of

variegated glass, richly chased pistols, and massive mirrors

in gorgeous frames, which twelve hundred men were daily im-

pressed to convey from the coast to the capital, and a hundred

and forty maunds of sugar and sugar-candy. Though im-

peded at every step by the frivolities of Persian etiquette.

Captain .Malcolm was treated with distinguished honour during

his progress through the country. On his arrival at Teheran,
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lie was received in full durbar by the king
1

,
decked with the

jewels of which his ancestor, Nadir Shah, had plundered

Delhi in 1739, and arrayed in a robe studded with precious

stones, the value of which was computed at a crore of

rupees. The ulterior purpose of the mission was to establish

a predominant influence at the Persian court, and this could

be accomplished only by a lavish expenditure ;
the envoy,

therefore, "bribed like a king, and not a pedlar," upon a

scale which made the Court of Directors wince. But, when

he came to open his commission, he found that his immediate

object had been already accomplished, by the humble native

vakeel who preceded him, and who had been instrumental

in compelling
1 Zemaun Shah to recross the Indus^ by foment-

ing the rebellion of his brothers, and suggesting an attack

on Balkh. A political treaty was nevertheless made, which

provided that the king of Persia should labour to counteract

any future attempt to invade Hindostan ; that if Zeinaun

Shah invaded Persia, the Company should aid the king with

stores, and that neither the French, nor any power in alliance

with them, should be allowed to erect a fort in any part of

the Persian dominions. It stipulated, moreover, that if any
of the French nation should endeavour to establish them-

selves in the country, the king's officers should disgrace,

expel and exterminate them. To extenuate this truculent

order, Captain Malcolm explained that it was a mere eastern

hyperbole, and, in reality, meant nothing. He likewise con-

cluded a commercial treaty, granting various privileges,

which were, however, of no value, as the trade of Persia,

in its most palmy days, had never been worth maintaining.

The result of the embassy fell miserably short of its cost.

Indeed, the political treaty, so far as it revealed our fears of

the invasion of India by a European power, through Persia,

may be considered positively mischievous. The Government

of India, however, experienced no further molestation from

Zemaun Shah, who perished in battle two years after..

Proposed expe- On the fall of Seringapatam, Lord Wellesley
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to the suggested to Mr. Dundas the propriety of sending
Mauritius, 1799.

ft for(,e fr()m judia t() co.operate jn any attempt

which the Ministry might make to expel the French from

Egypt. But the communication between England and India,

was at that period so dilatory and precarious, that he was for

seven months without any authentic information from home.

He limited his exertions, therefore, to the assemblage of a

large body of European troops at Trincomalee, the noblest

harbour in Ceylon, to be ready to proceed in any direction

which Mr. Dundas might indicate. In the reply which he

subsequently received from Downing Street, no notice was

taken of the proposed expedition to Egypt, and Lord Wel-

lesley resolved to employ the armament collected at Trin-

comalee in the capture of the Mauritius and Bourbon. The

possession of these islands, at an easy distance from the

continent of India, greatly facilitated the hostile projects of

the French, and exposed the political and commercial interests

of England in the east to no small risk. The privateers

fitted out in them preyed incessantly on British trade iu

every part of the eastern seas. The losses sustained by the

merchants of Calcutta alone, since the beginning of the war,

were moderately estimated at two crores of rupees.
'

The rate

of insurance had reached a point which almost suspended the

trade of the port. The Indian squadron, under Admiral

Rainier was unable to protect the Bay of Bengal, in which five

merchant vessels had recently been taken. On the 7th of

October, 1800, the Company's ship the "
Kent," armed with

eighteen guns, was captured by a French vessel of war, at

the mouth of the Hooghly, after an action of an hour and

three-quarters, in which fifty-five of her crew were killed or

wounded. Lord Wellesley could not brook this insult at the

very threshold of his capital, and determined at once to send

the Trincomalee fleet and army to the islands, and extinguish

this nest of corsairs. But, the design was unfortunately

frustrated by Admiral Rainier. lie thought fit to keep the

letter soliciting the co-operation of the fleet, for six weeks
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without acknowledgment, though the lateness of the monsoon

required the utmost despatch, and at length positively refused

to take part in the expedition, without the express commands

of his Majesty, signified through the usual channel of the

Admiralty. As the Ministry were not prepared to displace

him for this misconduct they gave him official credit for having

acted under a sense of public duty. To every one besides

it was palpable, that he was actuated only by that feeling of

contemptible jealousy which had so often led the officers of

the royal navy to treat the instructions received from a

Governor of the Company with contempt. The expedition

was necessarily abandoned when the aid of the navy was

denied. The islands remained in possession of the French

for eight years longer, and the priggish conceit of the Admiral

entailed on the commerce of India an additional loss of two

crores of rupees. The recurrence of such acts of folly was

subsequently prevented by an Act of Parliament which placed

the king's navy, equally with his army, at the disposal of his

representative in the east.

At length, Lord Wellesley received a despatch
Expedition to

the Bed Sea, from Downing-street, stating that Sir Ralph Aber-

cromby had been despatched with a force of

15,000 men, to co-operate with the Turkish army in expelling

the French from Egypt, and that it was deemed advisable to

support his operations with an Indian force. The armament

collected at Trincomalee was, therefore, ordered to the Red

Sea, together with a large addition of Bombay troops. The

army, consisting altogether of 4,000 Europeans and 5,000
volunteer sepoys, was entrusted to General Baird, with the

animating remark of Lord Wellesley, that a " more worthy

sequel to the storm of Seringapatam could not be presented to

his genius and valour." The expedition touched at Mocha,
and proceeded up the Red Sea to Cosseir, where the troops

performed one of the most extraordinary feats ever achieved

by an army, that of traversing a hundred and twenty miles of

the arid and pathless desert to Ghennah, on the Nile. General
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Eaird reached Cairo on the 10th August, and on the 27th

encamped on the shores of the Mediterranean. The history
of British India teems with romance, but there is no incident

more romantic than the appearance of sepoys from the banks

of the Ganges, in the land of the Pharaohs, marching in the

footsteps of Alexander and Caesar, under an English commander,
to encounter the veterans of the army of Italy. Before the

Indian contingent, however, could be brought into action, the

report of its approach, combined with the energy of Sir John

Ilutchinson, who had succeeded to the command on the death

of Sir Ralph Abercromby, induced the French general to

capitulate. But the power and the resources of the British

empire were most conspicuously exhibited to the world by this

concentration of troops from Europe and Asia on the banks of

the Nile.

The Peace of Within a month of the surrender of the French
Amiens, 1802. army in Egypt, the preliminaries of peace
between England and France were signed at Amiens. All the

foreign settlements which had been captured in India, Ceylon

excepted, were restored, as well as the Cape of Good Hope,
then considered, and with reason, the maritime gate of India.

The Court of Directors, under the influence of a short-sighted

economy, immediately ordered their military establishments in

India to be reduced, but Lord Wellesley, not considering the

British dominions sufficiently secure to justify such a measure,
hesitated to comply with their order, and the course of events

fully vindicated his sagacity. The treaty of Amiens was no

sooner ratified than Bonaparte despatched a large armament to

Pondicherry, with the determination of re-establishing the

power and influence of France in India. It consisted of two

ships of the line, two frigates, and two corvettes, with a

military staff of several general officers, and a due proportion
of subordinate officers, with 1,400 European troops, and ten

lacs of treasure, under the direction of Mons. Leger, who
was designated Captain-General of the French establishments

to the east of the Cape. It was to be followed by a second
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squadron of three ships of the line and two frigates. Lord

Wellesley had brought with him to India the intense anti-

gallican feeling of the day. It had been his constant aim for

three years to exclude French influence from every native

durbar. He had completely succeeded in closing the Deccau

against it, and the feelings with which he now witnessed the

arrival of a powerful French force on the Coromandel coast,

directed by the supreme genius of Bonaparte, may be readily

conceived. He felt that all our relations with the native

princes would be at once deranged, and the seeds of another

conflict for supremacy planted in the soil of India, ever fruitful

in revolutions. There was already a formidable French force

in Sindia's pay in Hindostan, equal in numbers and strength
to the Biitish anny in that quarter, and he could not contem-

plate the co-operation of the two bodies in the north and south

without a feeling of just alarm. He determined, therefore, by
an act of unexampled audacity, to disregard the royal warrant,

which preremptorily directed him to restore to the French

Republic
" all the countries, territories, and factories which had

belonged to it in India." On the arrival of Admiral Linois

with his squadron in the roadstead of Pondicherry, Lord Clive,

the Governor of Madras, was directed to inform him that the

Governor-General had resolved to postpone the restitution of

the French settlements till he could communicate with the

Ministry in England. The fleet returned to the Mauritius, and

before a reply could be received to the reference, hostilities had

recommenced in Europe, and the British interests in India were

thus saved from the dangers they must have been exposed to if

the continuance of peace had enabled Bonaparte to give full

scope to his ambitious schemes.

vizier AU as- We turn now to the affairs of Oude. One of

sassinates Mr. tne latest acts of Sir John Shore's administration
Cherry, 14th

January, 1799. was the elevation of Sadut Ali to the niusnud, in

the room of the profligate Vizier Ali, who was sent to Benares,

with an annual pension of a lac and a half of rupees. The

. turbulence of his disposition, however, rendered it imprudent
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to permit him to reside so near the frontier of Oude, and it was

resolved to remove him to Calcutta. He spared no effort to

procure a reversal of the order, but without success. A day
or two before the period fixed for his departure, he called on

Mr. Cherry, the British Resident, under whose superintendence

he had been placed, and complained in very intemperate lan-

guage of the harshness of this procedure. Mr. Cherry endea-

voured to calm his violence, and remarked that he was simply

carrying out the orders of his superiors, for which he was not

himself responsible. The youth started up in a rage from his

seat, and struck Mr. Cherry with his sword. His attendants,

who were waiting for the signal, rushed in and butchered him,

as well as several other gentlemen residing in the house.

From thence they hurried to the houses of other Europeans,

several of whom fell victims to their fury ;
but on the arrival

of a troop of horse, they took to flight, and eventually sought

refuge in the woody district of Bootwul. Vizier Ali was soon

after joined by several zemindars, and was enabled to take

possession of the eastern districts of Oude with a considerable

force. Sadut Ali had lost all popularity by his exactions, and

in the hour of need discovered that both his subjects and his

troops were disposed to desert him, and join the standard of

his rival. He was constrained, therefore, to apply for a

British detachment to protect his own person. Another de-

tachment was sent against Vizier Ali ; his followers rapidly

dispersed, and he fled for protection to the Rajpoot raja of

Jeypore, who delivered him up on the demand of Lord Welles-

ley. But even in that age of anarchy and treachery, the sur-

render of one to whom an asylum had once been granted, was

considered an act of unpardonable baseness, and the raja

became an object of contempt in every kingdom and province

of India.

Augmentation On the approach of Zemaun Shah to the Indus,
of British which has already been noticed, Lord Wellesley
troops in Oude, .

1800. requested Sir James Craig, the commandant m
Oude, to communicate his views on the defence of that king-
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dom, which was certain to be the first object of spoliation,

more especially as the discontented Rohillas in its northern

districts would not fail to join their fellow-countrymen in the

camp of the invader. Sir James replied that the rabble of

troops maintained by the Vizier was not merely useless, but

dangerous, and that if he were required to march against

Zemaun Shah, he should be as unwilling to leave them behind,

as to leave a fortress in the possession of an enemy. Sadut Ali

was bound by the treaty which seated him on the throne to

provide seventy-six lacs of rupees a-year for the subsistence

of British troops, 13,000 in number, employed in the defence

of his country. The home authorities had more than once

informed the Governor-General that they considered this force

too small for the protection of the kingdom, and that it could

be rendered secure only by the substitution of a well organised

force commanded by their own officers, for the disorderly

regiments of the Vizier. Lord Wellesley, who fully concurred

in these views, had frequently brought the subject before the

Nabob. On his return to Calcutta, in November, 1799, he

renewed his representations iu greater detail. The British

Government, he said, was bound to defend the Nabob Vizier's

territories against all enemies ; the present British force was

insufficient for this purpose, and required a large augmentation.

The treaty had provided for this contingency, out of the

revenues of the country. The cost of additional troops would

amount to fifty lacs of rupees a-year, and the proper course

for the Nabob to adopt was to discharge his own disorderly

troops, arid thus effect a saving equivalent to the new
demand.

The proposed reform would have transferred
The Nabob pro-

r
y _

poses to abdi- the entire military power of Oude to the Company,
ate' 18 '

which was precisely the object which Lord Welles-

ley had in his eye, but which the Nabob was most anxious to

prevent. To evade the question, he proposed to retire from

the Government. The refractory and perverse disposition of

the people, he said, combined with the want of zeal and fidelity
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in his servants, had filled him with disgust. Neither was he

pleased with his subjects, nor they with him. From the first

he had been indisposed to the cares of government, and he

was not reconciled to them by experience. He expected that

one of his sons would be placed on the throne, as a matter of

course, to perpetuate his name, and that suitable allowances

would be granted to the other members of the family. As for

himself, the treasure which he had accumulated estimated at

a crore of rupees would procure him all the gratification he

could desire in a private station. Lord Wellesley eagerly

caught at the proposal of the Nabob Vizier, and hastened to

inform the Court of Directors that he intended to turn it to

account, and establish the Company's exclusive authority in

Oude. He informed the Nabob that he was fully prepared to

sanction the proposed abdication, provided he took up his

residence in the British dominions, and vested the government
of Oude absolutely and permanently in the Company, but he

could not permit the public treasure, which belonged to the

state and was liable for its obligations, to be removed.

He withdraws
^ut tne ^ a^ob Vizier had never seriously con-

his abdication, templated the resignation of his kingdom to his

son, and still less to the Company. His ruling

passion was avarice, and nowhere could it be more amply

gratified than on an Asiatic throne. On the receipt of Lord

Wellesley's proposal, he assured the Resident that he would

not bring on himself the odium and disgrace of having sold his

country for money, and had therefore abandoned all thought of

retirement. Lord Wellesley expressed great indignation at the

insincerity and duplicity, as he termed it, of the Vizier, and

charged him with having made a proposal which was from the

first illusory, and designed only to defeat the reform of his

military establishment by artificial delays. The Governor-

General resolved to proceed at once to action. Several regi-

ments were ordered to move to different stations in the Oude

territories, and the Nabob was called on to make provision for

their maintenance, according to the terms of the treaty. He



118 NABOB'S SUBMISSION. [CHAP.

immediately addressed a memorial to the Governor-General,

acknowledging that he was the creature and dependent of the

Company, but remonstrating against a measure to which he

had never given his consent. The seventh article of the treaty,

he said, provided that no augmentation of the British force

should be made without necessity, yet a large increase was

now needlessly forced upon him. By the seventeenth article

he was to enjoy full authority over his household affairs, his

subjects, and his troops ; whereas he was now required to re-

linquish the control of the military force in his dominions,

which would not fail to annihilate his authority, and expose

him to the contempt of his people. This remonstrance excited

the highest displeasure of Lord Wellesley, who ordered it to

be returned to the Nabob, as being deficient in that respect

which was due to. the first British authority in India, and he

was informed that "
if he should think proper again to impeach

the honour and justice of the British Government in such terms,

the Governor-General would consider how such unfounded

calumnies and gross misrepresentations, both of facts and

arguments, ought to be noticed."

Submission of The Nabob Vizier yielded to necessity, and began
the Nabob

j.Q ^isj)an(j a part of hjs own troops, in order to ob-
Secoml demand,
1800. tain funds for the payment of the British regiments.

But, in November, 1800, he was required to make provision

for a second body of troops,
" to complete the augmentation."

He pleaded the extreme difficulty with which the collections

were realized, and refused to become responsible for any
further payments till he was assured that his, resources were

sufficient to meet them, lest he should be chargeable with a

breach of faith. At the same time, he ordered a schedule of

his revenues to be drawn up by his treasurer, and submitted

through the Resident to Lord Wellesley, who, on receiving the

statement, replied that
"

if the alarming crisis be now approach-

ing in which his Excellency can no longer fulfil his public en-

gagements to the Company ... it became the duty of the

British Government to interpose effectually for the protection
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of his interests, as well as those of the Company, which were

menaced with common and speedy destruction by the rapid

decline of the general resources of his Excellency's dominions."

The Resident was then instructed to propose either that he

should resign the entire management of the civil and military

government to the Company, a suitable provision being made
for his own maintenance and that of his family, or that he

should cede to the Company in perpetual sovereignty a section

of his territories sufficient to cover the expense of the entire

British force. The Nabob manifested the strongest repugnance
to both proposals., and a tedious correspondence ensued, which

was marked, on the part of Lord Wellesley, by that imperious
tone which had characterized the transaction throughout. The

Nabob, unable to obtain any relaxation of the demand, entreated

Lord Wellesley to allow him to go on pilgrimage, the pretext

by which Hindoos and Mahomedans -endeavour to escape from

an embarrassing position. The whole of his territories and

treasure, he said, was at the disposal of the Company, and he

had neither inclination nor strength to resist them, but he could

not yield his consent to a proposal so injurious to his royal

character. Lord Wellesley was desirous, if possible, to avoid

the appearance of a compulsory cession of territory, and de-

spatched his brother and private secretary, Mr. Henry Wel-

Tesley, to Lucknow, in the hope that the presence of a member

of his own family would overcome the repugnance of the

Nabob. Every form of ingenuity was exhausted to obtain the

voluntary surrender of the districts, but the Nabob still per-

sisted in asserting that it would inflict an indelible stain on his

reputation throughout India to deprive one of its royal houses of

such a dominion. The Resident at length brought the discussion

to an issue by ordering the intendants of the districts which had

been selected to hold themselves in readiness to transfer their

collections and their allegiance to the Company.
The Vizier deemed it vain any longer to contend

Annexation of

the Oude terri- with negotiators who could bring such arguments
to bear on him, and on the 10th November, after

n. K
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two years of weary discussion, simply, as he said,
" to gratify

the wishes of Lord Wellesley, and in submission to the earnest

solicitations of his brother," signed the treaty which transferred

to the Company for ever districts yielding a hundred and

thirty-five lacs of rupees a-year, leaving him a territory, guar-

anteed against all invaders, valued at a little over a crore of

rupees.

The security which this transfer of military
Remarks on this

*

transaction, power in Oude gave to the possessions both of the

Nabob and the Company will admit of no question.

A British force, fully adequate to the defence of the frontier

was substituted for the miserable legions of the Nabob, always
an object of more dread to their masters than to their enemies.

An important addition was made to the resources of the Com-

pany, and a large population was rescued from the oppression
of native officers, whose only remuneration consisted of the

sums they could extort from the people. But of all the trans-

actions of Lord Wellesley's administration, this acquisition of

territory from the Nabob by the process of coercion has been

considered most open to censure, as an arbitrary, if not unjust

proceeding. For any justification of it we must look to the

peculiar position of the country and the political obligations

which it created. The throne of the Nabob was upheld only

by British bayonets, and if at any period during the previous

fifteen years they had been withdrawn, the dynasty of Oude

would have ceased to exist. The safety of Oude was menaced

not only by Zemaun Shah, and the hordes of Central Asia ready
to follow his stirrup, but also by Sindia, who had planted a

formidable force of 30 or 40,000 disciplined troops, commanded

by European officers on its frontier, and only waited for an op-

portunity to spring on its inviting districts. It was necessary,

therefore, to maintain a powerful force, permanently, against

the probabilities of a Mahratta invasion. For the Company to

continue responsible for the defence of the whole kingdom of

Oude, with only a third of its revenues, the realization of which

Avas subject to all the corruption and abuses of the system of
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misrule, dignified with the name of government at Lucknow,
was not only unreasonable, but financially impracticable. The

fidelity of the troops depended on punctual pay, and this

punctuality required the solid basis of territorial revenues,

honestly administered by British officers. This is the sinew of

the argument by which this high-handed or as the natives

would call it, zuburdust proceeding has been vindicated, and

it will be readily conceded that it is by no means deficient in

strength. Nor should it be forgotten that the kingdom of Oude

fell to the Company by right of conquest in 1763, and was

restored to the reigning family as a matter of grace ; and that

according to the prescriptive maxims of eastern policy, it was

considered ever after subject to the control, if not even at the

disposal, of the British Government, who had accordingly made

and unmade Nabobs at its own pleasure. It was doubtless on

this principle that Lord Wellesley told the Nabob on one occa-

sion during these negotiations, that he had a right to take over,

not a part only, but the whole of his country.

Appointment The settlement of the districts ceded by the
ami dismissal Nat>ob Vizier was entrusted to a commission con-
of Mr. Henry
weiiesley, sisting of the Company's civil servants, of which

Mr. Henry Wellesley, the brother of the Governor-

General, who combined great administrative talent with much

firmness and discretion, was made President. In announcing
this arrangement to the Court of Directors, Lord Wellesley

stated that the labours of the commission would probably be

completed within a twelvemonth, perhaps in a shorter period,

and that his brother would receive no allowance beyond the

salary of his post as private secretary. The Directors expressed
their cordial approbation of the terms of the treaty, which

was calculated to promote their interests, and which created

thirty new appointments for their civil service, but they de-

nounced even the temporary appointment of Mr. Wellesley as
" a virtual supersession of the just rights

"
of that favourite

service, and they hastened to give vent to their jealous feeling

in a despatch, which peremotorily ordered his dismissal. The

K 2
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President of the Board of Control, Lord Wellesley's personal

friend, Lord Castlereagh, drew his pen across the despatch and

returned it to the India House, with the remark that the ap-

pointment was not in the fixed and ordinary line of the Com-

pany's service ; that it was only decent to await an explanation

from the Governor-General, and that Mr. Wellesley would

probably have relinquished the office before the despatch could

reach India. The labours of the commission were in fact com-

pleted, and Mr. Wellesley had resigned the office, even before

the despatch was drafted.

The sadder On Lord Wellesley's return from the Coast, he
Court, isoo. devoted his attention to various measures of in-

ternal administration with his accustomed ardour. Of these,

one of the most important was the reconstruction of the

Sudder Court at Calcutta. This was not only the highest local

court of appeal, but was charged with the duty of superin-

tending the administration of justice, and the operations of the

police throughout the whole of the Presidency. Under the

native governments, the prince had always united the legis-

lative, executive, and judicial powers of the state in his own

person. The Company acted on the principle of introducing

as few changes as possible in the existing system of adminis-

tration, and it was accordingly provided that the Governor-

General in Council should, in like manner, exercise the highest

judicial functions, in addition to those of the executive

government and of legislation. The Sudder Court was

accordingly held in the Council Chamber, with closed doors,

and without the presence either of the suitors or of their

pleaders. The proceedings of the lower courts were trans-

lated into English and read to the members of Council, and

the decisions they passed in each case, were recorded and pro-

mulgated by the register. To this system of procedure,

Lord Wellesley saw many grave objections. The translation

of the papers occasioned a vexatious delay, and the union of the

judicial and the legislative functions in the same body was

repugnant to sound principle ;
a conscientious jdischarge of
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the duties of the Sudder Court would absorb all the time of

the Governor-General, while the administration of justice with

closed doors deprived it of one of its most important safe-

guards, and impaired the confidence of the countiy. On the

other hand, to throw open the Council Chamber while suits

were under examination, would not be without its disadvan-

tages. The presence of the Governor-General on the bench

would necessarily interfere with the freedom of advocacy ;

few native pleaders would be found to contest his opinions,

and his will, rather than the law, would too often be the rule

of decision. It was resolved, therefore, to divest the

Governor-General and Council of then* judicial functions, and

to select the ablest judicial officers in the service to preside

in the Court. Lord Wellesley was anxious that the chief

judge should be invested with the same emblem of dignity

which the chief justice of the Crown Court enjoyed, but he

was unable to procure the distinction of knighthood for him.

The Sudder Court, however, was rendered illustrious by the

appointment of Mr. Henry Thomas Colebrooke, the most

profound Oriental scholar of the day, and one of the most

distinguished of the public servants, to preside over its pro-

ceedings.

It became evident, moreover, to Lord Welles-
The College of '

Fort wiiiiam, ley's mind, that there could be no substantive

improvement in the administration of the country,

without providing a succession of men, sufficiently qualified

to conduct it. The civil service had produced not a few men of

first-rate ability, but it was in its_ origin only a mercantile

staff, and it had not been deemed necessary to accommo-

date the training of the civilians, as a body, to the more

important duties which now devolved upon them. India was

still considered rather in the light of a commercial factory,

than an imperial domain. For men who were to act as

magistrates, collectors, judges, political agents, and ambas-

sadors, it was still deemed sufficient if they were well versed

in the mysteries of the counting-house, understood book-
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keeping by double entry, and wrote a hand which the

Directors could read. The system which Burke had repro-

bated fifteen years before was still unchanged, and lads of

fifteen were sent out to the Indian service before their educa-

tion was finished, with no opportunity or inducement after

their arrival, to complete it. Of the languages of the people,

whose affairs they were to administer, they were not required

to know even the rudiments. To supply these palpable

deficiencies in the system of government, Lord WeUesley was

determined to found a College hi Calcutta, and assemble in it

the young writers, as the embryo civilians were designated,

from the three Presidencies, and set them to continue and

complete then* European education, and to study the laws,

literature, and languages of the people they were to govern.

The institution was projected on that scale of magnificence
which marked all Lord Wellesley's plans, and in the medal

which was struck on the occasion, the date of its establish-

ment was thrown back a twelvemonth, to associate it with

the memorable event of the capture of Seringapatam. A
provost and vice-provost were appointed, with salaries of

Indian magnitude, and the sum of 5,000 rupees a-month was

allotted for the public table of the collegians. Learned men
were invited to join it from ah1

parts of India, and in the

minds of the natives the halcyon days of the great Mahome-
dan and Hindoo princes, who had sought to render their

courts illustrious by the assemblage of the literati, appeared
now to be revived in the metropolis of British India. Four

disputations were to be held annually in the grand edifice

which Lord WeUesley had erected,
" in an august assembly,"

composed of the natives of rank and learning, pundits and

moonshees, rajas and foreign ambassadors. Such an institu-

tion was at the time essentially necessaiy to give the stamp
of efficiency to the institutions of the British Government ;

but it was very costly, and, it was erected without the sanc-

tion, or even the cognizance, of the Court of Directors.

Accordingly, on the 21>th January, 1802, they passed a
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peremptory order for its immediate abolition. Lord Wellesley
was mortified to an extreme degree by this subversion of one

of his most cherished schemes, which exposed him to the

contempt of India, and he gave vent to his feelings in a

passionate appeal to his friends in the Ministry. He likewise

placed on the records of the Council an elaborate minute, in

which he combated the arguments of the India House, and

maintained the necessity of such an institution with irresistible

force. The objection which the Court of Directors had raised,

on the ground of expense, had been obviated, he said, by
the imposition of a new tax, Avhich would produce a sum

equal to the charge of the College establishment. This was

no other than the renewal of the transit duty on the convey-

ance of produce from district to district, which Hindoo and

Mahomedan Governments had been in the habit of imposing.

At the present day it appears incredible, that one of the most

liberal and enlightened statesmen of that period, should have

taken credit to himself for the establishment of one of the

most barbarous and mischievous taxes ever devised, and

sought to make provision for his noble college by the inter-

ruption of inland commerce. He proceeded to pass an order

for the abolition of the College,
" as an act of necessary sub-

mission to the controlling authority of the Court," but immedi-

ately after, issued a second order directing that the abolition

should be gradually effected, in the next eighteen months.

At the same time, he entreated Lord Castlereagh to use his

utmost endeavours to save from destruction the institution

which he regarded with feelings of greater exultation, than

even the kingdom he had built up in the Deccan, and to the

consolidation of which he vowed to devote his poh'tical life.

Under the pressure of the Board of Control, the Court of

Directors were induced to qualify their orders, and permit the

continuance of the College, but on a reduced scale, limiting its

agency to the students of the Bengal Presidency, and to the

cultivation of the native languages. To complete the

European education of the students, and impart to them the
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rudiments of the eastern tongues, they set up an expensive

College of their own at Haileybury.

Private Trade,
At the renewal of the charter in 1793, Parlia-

17931801. ment endeavoured to silence the clamours of the

merchants and manufacturers of England for a participation in

the Indian trade, by obliging the Court of Directors to allot

them 3,000 tons of freight annually. Though this concession

was saddled with extravagant charges and vexatious restric-

tions, the private trade soon increased, under its operation, to

5,000 tons a-year. The commerce of India was, in fact,

bursting the bonds of the monopoly, which, however valuable

during the period of its infancy, was totally unsuited to an age
of development and maturity. The subject was forced on the

attention of Lord Wellesley as soon as he landed in Calcutta,

and on the 5th October, 1798, he issued his first notification

for the encouragement of free trade between India and the

port of London, to which, at that time, all imports were re-

stricted. Ship-building had recently attained great perfection

on the banks of the Hooghly, and a vessel of 1,400 tons, a vast

size for a merchantman of that period, was then on the stocks.

Lord Wellesley, on the part of Government, chartered a

number of country-built vessels, and relet them to the private

merchants, with liberty to make arrangements with the pro-

prietors to suit their own convenience, and secure those advan-

tages which could not be enjoyed in the privileged tonnage of

the Company. This indulgence was discontinued in 1799, but

it was found necessary to renew it in the succeeding year.

The evils of the monopoly were daily becoming more palpable.

The trade of Calcutta was increasing beyond all example,
and forcing a passage in foreign vessels which were freighted

by English capital, the funds of the merchants, and the savings

of the services. In the previous year, the imports and exports

of American, Portuguese, and Danish vessels had exceeded a

crore and a half of rupees, and in September, 1800, there were

8,500 tons of shipping, under foreign colours, lying in the

Hooghly. By these ships the produce of India was conveyed
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to Europe with great expedition and economy, and the East

India Company was thus beaten out of the markets on the con-

tinent. Lord Wellesley considered it important to secure this

valuable commerce to British interests. There were 10,000
tons of India-built shipping then anchored in Calcutta, and he

determined, as in 1798, to engage a large portion of this

tonnage to convey the produce of the country, belonging to

private merchants, to the port of London.

In his despatch to the Court of Directors on the

Court'on'the

*

subject, he stated that "
it would be equally

Private Trade,
unjust and impolitic to extend any facility to the

trade of the British merchants in India by sacri-

ficing or hazarding the Company's rights or privileges, by

injuring its commercial interests, or by departing from any of

the fundamental principles of policy which now govern the

British establishments in India
;
but the increasing commercial

resources of Great Britain claimed for her subjects the largest

attainable share of the valuable and extensive commerce of

such articles of Indian produce and manufacture as were

necessarily excluded from the Company's investments." He
recorded his decided opinion that a well-organised system of

intercourse between the ports of India and London was indis-

pensable to the interests both of the Company and of the nation.

These liberal views met with the entire concurrence of

Mr. Dundas, who said "
it was notorious that at no period had

the capital or commercial powers of the East India Company
been able to embrace the whole, or near the whole, of the

wealth of India, exported thence by trade to England, and he

was anxious to authorise the Government of India to licence

the appropriation of India-built shipping for the purpose of

bringing home that India trade which the means and capital of

the East India Company was unable to embrace." Far different,

however, was the feeling at the India House. The great dread

of interlopers, which had haunted it for two centuries, was
still in full vigour. Though the cream of the India trade was
still to be assured to the Company, the Directors could not
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brook that others should be permitted to taste eveii the lees,
.

The proceedings of Lord Wellesley were arraigned with the

greatest virulence. That " our Governor-General," as he was

usually addressed in the public despatches, should give the

slightest countenance to free trade, was not to be endured. He
lost caste at once and irretrievably in Leadenhall-street. Every
effort was made to thwart his administration and weaken

his authority, and, during the last three years of his Indian

career, the treatment he experienced from the India House was

scarcely less rancorous than that which had embittered the life

of his illustrious predecessor, Warren Hastings. The Court of

Directors passed a vote, in the teeth of the Prime Minister,

Mr. Addiiigton, condemning the liberal commercial policy of

Lord Wellesley, and the Court of Proprietors cordially adopted
it. A farther period of ten years was required to break up the

monopoly of two centuries, and open the gates of India to

British enterprize and capital.

Ecsignation of As soon as the arrangements in Oude were corn-

Lord weuesiey. pleted, Lord Wellesley sent in his resignation to

the Court of Directors, assigning no other reason for this step

but the completion of the plans he had devised for the security

of the empire, and the general prosperity of the country. To
Mr. Addington, however, he unburdened his mind, and explained
the real motives of his retirement the hostile disposition of

the Court, and the withdrawal of their confidence. They had

peremptorily ordered him to reduce the military establishments

in the Peninsula, leaving him no option between an act of direct

disobedience and the execution of measures which he considered

fatal to the vital interests of the Government. The total dis-

regard of the strong opinion he had expressed on the sub-

ject appeared clearly to intimate that they considered him no

longer competent to govern the empire which he endeavoured to

consolidate. They had issued the most positive injunctions to

reduce many of the stipends which he had considered advisable

at the close of the war. They had selected for especial censure

the additional allowances granted by the Madras Government,
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with his concurrence, to his brother, General Wellesley, to de-

fray the charges of his important and expensive command in

Mysore. He considered this reduction as " the most direct,

marked, and disgusting indignity which could be devised."

The Act of 1793 had invested the Governor-General in Council

with the power of enforcing his orders on the minor Presiden-

cies, though they might happen to supersede the injunctions

of the Court of Directors. But the Court had now thought fit

to issue orders to those Presidencies to carry certain measures

into effect, notwithstanding any directions they might have re-

ceived to the contrary from Calcutta. The authority of the

Supreme Government over the subordinate Presidencies was
thus neutralized.

The Court had not only taken upon themselves

ference in ap- to displace officers who enjoyed the full confidence

pomtments, of t}ie Governor-General, but to nominate others in

opposition to his judgment. For example, he had

placed Colonel Kirkpatrick, one of the ablest and most experi-

enced officers in the service, in the important post of political

secretary. The Court cancelled the appointment, to the great
detriment of the public interests, and the injury of the Governor-

General's character and influence. They had likewise forced

on him the nomination of Mr. Speke, an ex-member of Council,

as officiating president of the Board of Trade, though he

had no higher recommendation than the favour of the Prince of

Wales. At Madras, the Court had removed from the office of

chief secretary Mr. Webbe, the most eminent statesman of that

Presidency, and the unflinching enemy of that system of in-

trigue and conniption which had for more than thirty years

disgraced the public service. This removal was the more
offensive as it was to be traced to the base insinuation of

some informer that Mr. Webbe exercised a strong influence on
the mind of Lord Clive, which, if true, was equally honourable

to both. Mr. Cockburn, the ablest financial officer at the

Madras Presidency, was likewise displaced to make room for

some nominee of Leadenhall-street. Lord Wellesley was well
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known to have approved of both these appointments, and indeed

of all the proceedings of Lord Clive, and he considered the

conduct of the Court of Directors in these instances as a reflec-

tion also on himself. This nomination to offices in India of

those who could secure the smiles of the Directors had been

checked by Lord Cornwallis, who threatened to throw up his

office if it were persisted in,
" that he might preserve his own

character, and avoid witnessing the ruin of the national inte-

rests." By the subsequent Act of 1793, the power of appoint-

ing to official situations in India was vested in the local

Governments, subject only to the general control of the home

authorities. The interference with this patronage by the India

House was therefore not only highly injurious to the public

interests, but altogether unconstitutional. Lord Wellesley

justly remarked that if the Government of India was thus to

be thwarted in every subordinate department, deprived of all

local influence, and counteracted in every local detail by a

remote authority, interfering in the nomination of every public

servant, it would be impossible to conduct the government
under such disgraceful chains. It was a singular anomaly that

the Court of Directors should thus have grasped at appoint-

ments in India at the time when they themselves were de-

nouncing the appointment of Mr. Henry Wellesley, even for a

twelvemonth, as an invasion of their own rights. Lord Castle-

reagh, the President of the Board of Control, was anxious that

Lord AVellesley should remain another year in the government,
and he placed this letter to Mr. Addington, confidentially, in

the hands of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Court.

They did not disguise from him that great dissatisfaction and

jealousy was felt by the Company with regard to certain mea-

sures of Lord Wellesley's government, which had been in-

creased by the employment of Mr. Henry Wellesley. Lord

Wellesley had, in fact, touched the two privileges on which

the India House was most sensitive, its commercial monopoly
in the matter of the private trade, and its patronage in the ap-

pointment given to his brother, and the indignation of the
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Directors rose to fever heat. But the Chairs assured Lord

Castlereagh that they were not unmindful of his eminent ser-

vices, and were alive to the importance of retaining them for

Lord weiiesie
an thev year. A despatch was sent out, officially

asked to remain commending his zeal and ability, and requesting
12 months. 1803. -, . \ -i T i n/-\ <mm to postpone his departure to January, 1804.

Little did they dream of the momentous results of this request,

and of the great revolution to which it would lead, in the irre-

trievable prostration of the Mahratta powers, to whose history

we now return.

CHAPTER XXI.

LORD WELLESLEY'S ADMINISTRATION MAHRATTA AFFAIRS,

18001803.

Death of Nana ^he destruction of Tippoo's power, and the com-

Fumuvese, plete ascendency established at Hyderabad, left the

Company with no antagonist but the Mahrattas,
and the two rival powers now stood front to front. It was
the firm conviction of Lord Wellesley that the peace and tran-

quillity of India could be secured only by the extension of British

supremacy over all its princes, by means of defensive and sub-

sidiary alliances, which recognized the British Government as

the arbiter in every dispute. But nothing could be more un-

palatable to the Mahrattas chiefs than this policy. The peace
and tranquillity of India implied the termination of that system
of plunder and aggression which was the foundation and

element of their power. They believed, and not without reason,

that these subsidiary alliances would extinguish their inde-

pendence, and deprive them of the respect of their subjects.

The offer of such an alliance, which was made in the first

instance to the Peshwa, in July, 1799, was therefore declined,
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under the prudent advice of Nana Furnuvese. In March,

1800, that great statesman closed his long and chequered
career. For more than a quarter of a century he had been the

mainspring of every movement in the Mahratta empire. By
the vigour of his character and the wisdom of his councils, he

had controlled the disorders of the times, and he wanted only the

addition of personal courage to render him supreme. He was

distinguished by the rare, and among the Mahrattas of that

age, the incredible qualities of humanity, veracity, and honesty
of purpose. While he admired the English for their sincerity

and their energy, he had a patriotic jealousy of the increase of

their power, which it was his constant endeavour to restrain.

*' With him," wrote Colonel Palmer, the Resident,
" has de-

parted all the wisdom and moderation of the Mahratta govern-

ment." He had been the only check on the growing ascen-

dency of Sindia at Poona, who was left by his death without

a rival and without control, and now ventured so far to indulge

his spirit of domination, as on one occasion, when he feared

that Bajee Rao meditated an escape, to surround his palace

and place him temporarily under restraint. It was not, there-

fore, without secret delight that the Peshwa contemplated the

rising power of Jeswunt Rao Holkar, by whose assistance he

hoped to free himself from the tyranny of Sindia. In propor-

tion as this hope increased, his inclination towards the alterna-

tive of a British alliance, which Lord Wellesley continued to

press on him with great importunity, was slackened.

The Holkar To elucidate the rise of this celebrated chief, who
family. played an important part in the transactions of the

next five years, it is necessary to bring up the history of the

Holkar family. Mulhar Rao Holkar, who raised himself from

the condition of a shepherd to the dignity of a prince, died at

the age of seventy-six, after a brilliant career of forty years.

His only son died soon after the battle of Paniput, leaving his

widow Aylah-bye, with a son and a daughter. The son died in

1766, and his widow, a woman of extraordinary powers,

steadfastly resisted all the entreaties of the chiefs to adopt a
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son and retire into obscurity, and resolved to undertake the

government of the state herself, in the capacity of regent.

With singular discernment she selected Tokajee Holkar, a

chief of the same tribe as Mulhar Rao, though not of his

kindred, to take the command of the army. It was scarcely

to be expected that in a country like India, and in a period of

unexampled turmoil, an arrangement which placed the military

power in the hands of a great soldier, while the civil govern-
ment was administered by a female, would be of long con-

tinuance. But the gratitude and moderation of Tokajee, and"

the commanding genius of the Bye combined to perpetuate it

for thirty years. He never failed in the homage due to her

position, and was never known to encroach on her authority.

She sat daily in open durbar, and gave public audiences without

a veil, and dispensed justice in person to all suitors. She laid

herself out to promote the prosperity of the country by the

encouragement of trade and agriculture. She acquired the

respect of foreign princes by the weight of her character, and

in an age of extreme violence succeeded in maintaining the

security of her own dominions. She raised Indore from a

mere village to the rank of a noble capital. Like all wealthy
Hindoo females, she fell under the dominion of the priesthood,

and expended large sums on religious edifices and establish-

ments in every part of India, from Ramisseram to Hurdwar.

Relays of porters were daily employed at her expense in con-

veying the water of the Ganges to the sacred shrines in the

Deccan, however remote, and she was rewarded by the

brahmins with the title of an avatar, or incarnation of the deity.

Whatever opinion may be formed of these acts of superstitious

devotion, she was in other respects the purest and most exem-

plary of rulers, and added one more name to the roll of those

illustrious females who have adorned the native history of

India with their genius and virtues.

Death of Ayiah- Aylah-bye died in 1795, and Tokajee in 1797,
bye and an(} the reign of anarchy began, not to close but
Tokajee,

~ *

1795-97. in the entire submission of the state to British
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authority, twenty years later. Tokajee left two sons by
his wife, Kashee Rao and Mulhar Rao, and two by a con-

cubine, Jeswunt Rao and Wittoojee. Kashee Rao was
weak hi mind and deformed in body, and his brother Mulhar

Rao assumed the command of the army, and the government
of the state. Kashee Rao repaired to Sindia at Poona, and

he espoused his cause, and made a treacherous attack on the

army of Mulhar Eao, who fell in the engagement. The house

of Holkar, which had long been the rival of Sindia, was thus

enfeebled and brought into complete subordination to his

power, and another step was gained in his ambitious endea-

vours to obtain the universal control of the Mahratta common-

wealth. Jeswunt Rao, who had taken part with Mulhar

Rao, fled from the field of battle to Nagpore, but the raja,

anxious to conciliate Sindia, placed him in confinement. He
c jntrived. however, to make his escape, and sought refuge at

the court of Anund Rao, the chief of the ancient principality

of Dhar, to whom he was enabled to afford material assistance

in coercing some of his refractory subjects. The enmity of

Sindia still pursued him, and the raja was constrained to dis-

card him, but, to compensate for this breach of Rajpoot hos-

pitality, bestowed on him a parting gift of 10,000 rupees. He

quitted Dhar with seven mounted followers, and about a hun-

dred and twenty ragged, half-armed infantry, with the resolu-

tion to trust his future fortunes to his sword. Fully aware of

the strong prejudice which existed against him on account of

his illegitimacy, he announced himself as the champion and

minister of his nephew, Khundeh Rao, the youth-

ful son of Mulhar Rao, and called upon all the
Hottar, 1796.

adherents of the house of Holkar to rally round

him, and resist the encroachments of Sindia. The freebooters,

who swarmed in Central India, Bheels and Pindarees, Af-

ghans and Mahrattas, hastened to join his standard, and thus

commenced the career of this predatory chieftain. Soon after,

he was joined by Ameer Khan, a Rohilla adventurer, then

about thirty-two years of age, who had just taken service
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with the Chief of Bhopal, but quitted it in 1798 with a body
of free lances to traverse the country, and levy contributions

on his own account. For eighteen months the combined forces

of the two chiefs spread desolation through the districts on

the Nerbudda, but were obliged to separate when they were

completely exhausted. Ameer Khan proceeded eastward to

the opulent city of Sagor, belonging to the Peshwa, where he

subjected the inhabitants to every species of outrage, and

acquired incredible booty. Jeswunt Rao entered the pro-

vince of Malwa, which had enjoyed repose and prosperity for

thirty years, and dispersed his predatory bands in every direc-

tion, and the country was half ruined before Sindia could take

measures to protect it. That chief was now obliged to quit

Poona, where he had continued to reside for eight years, ever

since his accession to the throne of his uncle, domineering

over the unfortunate Peshwa, from whom he extorted the sum
of forty-seven lacs of rupees on taking his departure. The

notorious Sirjee Rao Ghatkay was left as his representative

to maintain his authority with five battalions of foot, and

10,000 horse.

Nothing can give the mind a clearer idea of the
Holkar defeats

Sindia's army, anarchy and misery which prevailed in Hindostan

at this period than the ease with which Jeswunt

Rao was able, by the allurement of plunder, to organise an

army of 70,000 men within two years. With this force he laid

waste the districts of Malwa, and then advanced against the

capital, Oojein. To this city the widows of the deceased

Mahdajee Sindia had fled with a large military force and their

treasures, to avoid the violence of Dowlut Rao. Under the

pretence of espousing their cause, Holkar contrived to lull

them into security, and in the dead of night opened his guns
on their encampment, and constrained them to fly for their

lives, while he took possession of all their property, and of

their valuable park of artillery. Two bodies of Sindia's troops

were immediately pushed forward from the south to avenge
this insult, and expel Jeswunt Rao. One of these armies

n. L
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though commanded by European officers, was constrained to

lay down its arms, and the other, under Colonel Hessing, was

attacked with such vigour as to lose a fourth of its number.

Of eleven European officers attached to it, seven fell in action,

and three were made prisoners. The city of Oojein was thus

placed at the mercy of Holkar, but so absolute was the control

which he had acquired over his troops that he was enabled to

restrain them from plundering it, even in the excitement of

victory ; but he exacted the heavy ransom of fifteen lacs of

rupees, which he transferred to his own military chest. Mean-

while the Peshwa, liberated for the first time from the des-

potism of Sindia by his departure from the capital, gave full

scope to his natural disposition, and, instead of strengthening
his throne by conciliating his feudatories, subjected them to

the most wanton insult and plunder. His oppressive govern-
ment became the object of universal hatred. Bands of

brigands sprung up in eveiy direction, and laid the villages

under contribution. Wittoojee, the brother of Jeswurit Rao,

was driven by necessity to join one of these bodies, and was

taken prisoner. Bajee Rao sentenced him to be trampled to

death by an infuriated elephant, and seated himself in the

verandah of his palace to enjoy the revolting spectacle, and

the yells of the unfortunate youth. A universal feeling of

execration rose throughout the country at this atrocious

murder of a son of Tokajee, who had for thirty years

zealously maintained the interests of the Mahratta power.
Jeswunt Rao, who, with all his ferocity, was really attached to

his brother, vowed vengeance on his murderer, and it was not

not long before he had an opportunity of wreaking it.

Sindia, alarmed by the defeat of his armies,Sindia defeats '

. .

Hoikar, 14 Octo- and the increasing power of Holkar, summoned
ber, 1801.

Sirjee Rao Ghatkay to join him with the troops
under his command. That miscreant, after the departure of

his master from Pooua, proceeded to the Peshwa's southern

provinces, which he ravaged without mercy, and, when thus

called away, was encamped on his return within a mile of
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the capital which he was on the point of giving up to plunder.

Sindia's army thus reinforced, and comprising fourteen of

De Boigne's battalions, met Holkar on the 14th October, 1801,

and totally routed him, capturing ninety-eight guns. This de-

feat was generally ascribed to the absence of Holkar's European
officers whom he had injudiciously left behind. Sirjee Kao

entered Indore in triumph, and gave it up to spoliation, to

avenge the plunder of Sindia's capital. His ruthless troops

were let loose on the city which Aylah Bye had spent a life in

embellishing, and the noblest edifices were sacked and reduced

to ashes. Those who were supposed to possess property were

tortured to disclose it, and the wells were choked up with

the bodies of females who destroyed themselves to escape

dishonour. If Sindia had followed up his victory with vigour,

the career of Jeswunt Rao would probably have been

brought to a close ; but, after expelling him from Malwa, he

thought fit to enter into negotiations with him, under the

impression that he was crushed beyond redemption. Holkar,

however, either from mistrust of Sindia, or under encourage-

ment from the Peshwa, or perhaps from an overweening con-

fidence in his own fortune, advanced the most extravagant

demands, and the negotiation fell to the ground. He was

not long recovering from the blow. His wild and daring spirit

was precisely suited to the character of the times and of the

country. His standard again became the rallying point of

the unquiet spirits who were hanging loose on society in

Central India, and not a few even of Siudia's soldiers deserted to

it. With this force he proceeded northward, plundering every

village and town in his route, and, to the horror of his own

lawless but superstitious soldiery, not sparing the renowned

shrine of Nath-dowrah. He then crossed the Nerbudda, and

laid waste the province of Candesh, while one of his cojri-

manders was sent to ravage the Southern Mahratta pro-

vinces. General Wellesley soon after marched up through this

territory, and remarked that Holkar's troops had cut all the

forage, consumed the grain, and burnt the houses for fuel ;

L 2
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that the wretched villagers had taken to flight, with their

cattle ;
and that, except in one village, not a human being

was left between Meritch and Poona. Meanwhile, Jeswunt

Rao, who had been encamped at Chandore, moved down

upon Poona, with the object, as he asserted, of claiming the

protection of the Peshwa from the hostility of Sindia.

Battle of Poona, The object of Holkar's march could not, however,
1802. be mistaken. The consternation at Poona may be

readily conceived, and the Peshwa began to tremble for his own

safety. Lord Wellesley had never abandoned the belief,

that until we could obtain a footing and an influence at Poona,

the peace of the peninsula would be periodically disturbed by
Sindia and Holkar, and he had renewed his offer of an alliance

with the Peshwa, whenever there appeared any chance of

success. On the other hand, the vakeels of the raja of

Berar and Sindia, constantly and earnestly dissuaded him

from accepting it, and engaged to protect him from the

designs of Holkar. The British negotiation fluctuated with

the hopes and fears of Bajee Rao. Sindia sent his general,

Sudaseeb Rao, with ten battalions of infantry, and a large

body of cavalry to defend the capital from the threatened

attack of Holkar
; the Peshwa was thus encouraged to treat

the advances of the Governor-General with indifference, and

in the beginning of October, Colonel Close, the Resident,

declared the negotiation at an end. As Holkar approached

the neighbourhood of Poona, Bajee Rao made him the most

humiliating offers, which he haughtily rejected, demanding
the restoration of all the dominions belonging to his house,

and the release of his nephew, and bitterly reproaching him

with the murder of his brother, which he was now come to

avenge. The troops of Sindia and the Peshwa were united

under the walls of Poona on the 25th October. The combined

force numbered about 84,000 horse and foot ;
and of Sindia's

battalions ten were under the command of Colonel Dawes.

Holkar also had fourteen battalions disciplined by European

officers, together with 5,000 irregular infantry and 25,000
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cavalry, and thus was exhibited the anomalous spectacle of

British officers arrayed against each other under the hostile

standards of native princes. The battle was long and

obstinately contested. Success at first inclined to Sindia and

his ally; the slaughter of Holkar's troops was prodigious,

and they had begun to give way, when he advanced from the

rear, and vaulting into his saddle, called out to them " now
or never to follow Jeswunt Rao." He dealt about him like

a mad lion, and his foaming valour restored the fortune of

the day. The victory was complete, and placed in his hands

the whole of the baggage, stores, and ammunition of his

opponents. The Peshwa had come out to take part in the

engagement, but he was terrified by the first firing, and

hastened to place himself beyond the reach of it, on the hill

Parbutee, where he was surrounded by a considerable body
of his troops, who would have been more usefully employed

against Holkar. As he perceived the scale of the battle

turn against him, he sent a messenger in haste to Colonel

Close, who was encamped in the neighbourhood, to accede to

all the conditions of the alliance which he had previously

objected to. When he found the day lost he retired to Sun-

gumnere with about 7,000 men, and thence hastened to the

sea coast, and despatched letters to the Governor of Bombay,

requesting the accommodation of a vessel, in which he

embarked, and reached Bassein on the 6th December.

Jeswunt Rao, who entered the capital after the
Holkar places . , .

umritRaoin battle, was anxious, above all things, to obtain

power, 1802.
possession of the person of the Peshwa, and to

construct an administration in which he himself should possess

the same power and ascendency which Sindia had enjoyed for

eight years ;
but the Peshwa was too deeply incensed at his

conduct to listen to any overtures. Finding at length that he

had no intention to return to his capital, Holkar sent for his

brother, Umrit Rao, and placed him at the head of affairs, and

seated his son on the musnud, bargaining for himself an imme-

diate payment of two crores of rupees, and districts yielding
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another crore, together with the command of the army and

the substantial power of the state. For two months after his

victory, he exhibited a spirit of singular moderation, but in the

end threw off the mask and gave up the city of Poona to

indiscriminate plunder. Colonel Close was earnestly entreated

by Holkar to continue as the British Resident at Poona, but he

refused to countenance this usurpation by his presence, and

Treaty of retired to Bombay in the beginning of December.
Bassem, 1802.

jje wag imme(jiately placed in communication with

Bajee Rao, who was now eager for the alliance which was to

restore him to his throne. Accordingly, on the last day of

December, 1802, the memorable treaty of "defensive alliance

and reciprocal protection," was completed at Bassem. A
British force of 6,000 infantry, with a suitable complement of

artillery, was to be stationed within the Peshwa's dominions,

and districts in the Deccan yielding twenty-six lacs of rupees

a-year were to be assigned for their support. The Peshwa

agreed to entertain no European in his service belonging to

any nation at war with the English, to engage in no hostilities

or negotiations without their concurrence, and to refer all his

claims on the Nizam and the Guickwar to the arbitration of

the Governor-General. The treaty likewise guaranteed to the

southern jageerdars, the great feudatories of the Peshwa, the

full enjoyment of ah1

then* rights.

The treaty of Bassein forms one of the most

the Treaty, important epochs in the history of British India.

It completely paralysed the head of the Mahratta

commonwealth, and it inflicted a blow on the Mahratta power,

from which it never recovered. Although the Peshwa's authority

was often set at nought by the chiefs, they still continued to

regard it as the centre of national unity, and a most important

element in the existing struggle for the empire of India be-

tween the Malirattas and the English. There has been no

little diversity of opinion on the propriety of this treaty, but

we have happily the views of two of the greatest statesmen of

the age to assist us in judging of its merits. It was impugned
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by Lord Castlereagh, the President of the Board of Control,

in a very able state paper, entitled " Observations on Mahratta

affairs," and its policy was triumphantly vindicated in an

elaborate memorandum by the Duke of "Wellington, then

General Wellesley. From his own personal experience of six

years, which was superior to that of any one else in India,

the General drew a very vivid sketch of the position and the

policy of the various country powers, whose interests were

affected by the treaty. He demonstrated that it was the inevit-

able corollary of the engagements which had been entered

into with the Nizam. On that prince the Mahratta powers
had interminable claims the Asiatic claims of the strong on

the weak and they would have neglected no opportunity of

enforcing them, which must have compromised the tranquillity

of the Deccan. The subsidiary alliance which Lord Wellesley
had entered into with the Nizam, identified his interests with

those of the Company, and gave him the protection of the

British arms against the claims and the aggression of the

Mahrattas. The necessity which had thus arisen of support-

ing the Nizam against all his enemies must have involved

the Company, sooner or later, in a war with the whole of the

Mahratta nation, and this could be avoided only by forming

an alliance with its recognised chief, on the basis of consti-

tuting the British Government the arbiter of these demands.

Lord Wellesley considered the position of affairs at the end of

1802, as affording the best occasion for effecting this impor-

tant object. The Peshwa was a fugitive, and both Sindia and

Holkar, though with private and opposite intentions, had

repeatedly urged him to interpose in the settlement of affairs

at Poona. He had the wisdom to avail himself of this golden

opportunity, which might never return, and to form a treaty

with the Peshwa which placed the settlement of all claims on

the Nizam in the hands of the British Government, and at the

same time secured to it an absolute ascendency in the counsels

of Poona. The great Duke placed it on record that, "the

treaty of Bassein and the measures adopted in consequence of
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it, afforded the best prospect of preserving the peace of India,

and that to have adopted any other measures would have ren-

dered war with Holkar nearly certain, and war with the whole

of the'Mahratta nation more than probable," and his appro-

bation has been ratified by the judgment of posterity. The

war with Sindia and the raja of Nagpore in the following

year arose ostensibly from the conclusion of the treaty, but a

war with them was all but inevitable, and the only difference

made by the treaty was to hasten its occurrence, and to deprive

them of all the resources of the Peshwa.

Discontent of
^ne establishment of the Company's paramount

sindia and the authority at the capital of the Mahratta empire by
Bhonslay, 1803. , , c -n \. \,

the treaty ot Bassem gave great umbrage to the

Mahratta powers. It thwarted the ambition of some, and the

interests of all. Sindia had solicited the interposition of the

Governor-General for the restoration of the Peshwa, only in

the hope of regaining his power at Poona, and he was mortified

to find that all his ambitious prospects in the Deccan were at

once overturned. " The treaty," he said,
" takes the turban

from my head." Lord Wellesley had offered him the " benefit
"

of an arrangement similar to that which had been made with

the Peshwa, but he could not fail to perceive that this new

system of subsidiary alliances must sap the foundation of

Mahratta power, as effectually as the invention of the system
of the chout had enabled the Mahrattas to destroy the Mogul

empire. He lost no time in deputing his prime minister to

confer with the raja of Berar on the formation of a con-

federacy of Mahratta chiefs to oppose the common enemy.
The raja, a collateral branch of Sevajee's family, had always
cherished pretensions to the office of Peshwa, but the treaty of

Bassein, by reinstating Bajee Rao under British protection,

effectually destroyed all these expectations. He not only

entered cordially into the views of Sindia, but became the life

and soul of the hostile coalition. The Peshwa himself repented

of the treaty as soon as he had affixed his seal to it, and com-

menced a series of intrigues to render it ineffectual. He
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despatched a confidential agent to Sindia and the raja of

Nagpore, ostensibly to reconcile them to the alliance he had

formed with the British Government, but in reality to invite

them to Poona to assist him hi frustrating it. Holkar, finding

all his plans thwarted by the policy of Lord Wellesley, and by
the advance of a British force to support it, quitted Poona and

retired to the north. The raja of Nagpore made the most

strenuous efforts to induce him to join the league, and at

length succeeded in effecting a reconciliation between him and

Sindia, on the condition that all the dominions of the family

should be restored to him, and that his nephew, Khundeh

Rao, should be liberated. But although he signed the

engagement, and received possession of the family domains,

he evaded every solicitation to bring up his forces and join

the allies, alleging that he was unable to raise sufficient funds

for the payment of their arrears. But, no sooner did he find

Sindia actually involved in hostilities with the English, than

he let loose his famishing host on the possessions of that prince

in Malwa, while his confederate, Ameer Khan, proceeded to

pillage his territories in another direction.

Lord Weiiesiey's
Lord Wellesley had early intelligence of this

military move- confederation, but he was anxious to maintain

peace, and caused a communication to be made to

Sindia and the Berar raja, that he was desirous of continu-

ing his friendly relations with them unimpaired, but would

resist to the full extent of his power any attempt on then- part
to interfere with the treaty of Bassein. To be prepared for

every contingency, he ordered the whole of the Hyderabad

subsidiary force under Colonel Stephenson, together with

6,000 of the Nizam's own infantry, and 9,000 horse to advance

to the north-western frontier of his kingdom ;
and they reached

Purinda, 116 miles from Bombay, on the 25th March. Gene-

ral Wellesley was likewise directed to march up from Mysore
in the same direction, a distance of 600 miles, with about

8,000 infantry, 1,700 cavalry, and 2,000 of the celebrated

Mysore horse, under an able native commandant. It was
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important to the stability of the arrangements made with the

Peshwa that the great southern jageerdars, who, in con-

sequence of a long series of aggressions, mistrusted his inten-

tions, and detested his person, should be induced to rally

round his throne. For many years there had been constant

struggles for power and plunder among the chiefs themselves ;

but the energy displayed by General Wellesley in the pursuit

of Dhoondia Waug had spread his fame through the Deccan,
and the strength of his character had inspired such general
confidence that he was enabled to compose their mutual feuds,

and to bring up with him six of the chief feudatories, with

10,000 of then- troops. Holkar, on quitting Poona, had left it

in the hands of Umrit Rao, with 1,500 troops ;
but that prince,

on hearing of the advance of General Wellesley in the direction

of the capita^, resolved to give it up to the flames, and then

to withdraw from it. This nefarious design could not be kept

secret, and General Wellesley, on being apprized of it, made
a rapid march of sixty miles in thirty-two hours, and reached

Poona in time to save it from destruction. Soon after, the

Peshwa left Bassein, accompanied by Colonel Close, and on the

Restoration of
13th ^aJ' a ^J selected by his astrologers as

the Peshwa, peculiarly fortunate, entered his capital, surrounded

by British bayonets, and resumed his seat on the

rnusnud under a British salute.

Meanwhile, the hostile designs of the confede-

of the assigns
rates became daily more apparent. Sindia was at

of the coalition, Qoiem when he heard of the battle of Poona and
1803.

the defeat of his army by Holkar, and began to

move to the south in November. He halted for some time at

Boorhanpore on the Taptee, and despatched a letter to the

Governor-General, asserting the Mahratta claim to the chout

of the Nizam's dominions, and announcing his determination to

proceed and enforce it. He then continued his march south-

ward to form a junction with the raja of Nagpore, who

entered his tents in the vicinity of that city on the 17th April,

and advanced to meet Sindia with a large force. Both princes
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announced their intention to proceed to Poona,
" to adjust the

government of the Peshwa." The Resident informed Sindia

that the Governor-General would not fail to consider any such

movement on his part an act of hostility, involving the most

serious consequences. Sindia asserted that as he was the

guarantee of the treaty of Salbye, the Peshwa was not at

liberty to sign a new treaty without his concurrence, or to act

without consulting the great Mahratta princes. He stated,

moreover, that they were proceeding to Poona on the express
and repeated invitations of the Peshwa himself ; whereas the

Peshwa had invariably assured Colonel Close that he had

forbidden their approach. Lord Wellesley likewise obtained

possession of a letter addressed by the raja of Berar to the

Nizam, which stated that after an interview with Sindia, and a

satisfactoiy arrangement with Holkar, he should advance with

the allies to Poona "to settle affairs." A letter was also

intercepted from Sindia to the Peshwa's officers in Bundle-

kund, ordering them " to prepare for war." With these un-

equivocal tokens of hostility before him, the Governor-General

directed Colonel Collins to demand from Sindia a categorical

explanation of his intentions. The interview took place on the

28th May, when Sindia frankly admitted to the Resident that

the treaty of Bassein contained nothing repugnant to his just

rights. He disavowed any intention of invading the terri-

tories of the Company, or of their allies ; but, in reference to

the negotiations then on foot, he could give no decisive answer

till he had seen the raja of Nagpore, then about forty miles

distant; "when you shall be informed whether
Sindia s fatal

.

declaration, there is to be war or peace." These ominous words

proved to be the knell of Mahratta power. That

Sindia, encamped with a large army on the frontier of the

British ally, the Nizam, should rest the question of war or

peace simply upou a conference with an armed confederate,
was considered by Lord Wellesley a public insult to the

British Government, and so palpable a menace of hostility, that

a conflict was no longer to be avoided. The complication of
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affairs at this juncture was increased by the arrival of the

French squadron, already alluded to, at Pondicherry, which

Sindia did not fail to turn to account in his communications

with the other Mahratta powers, as well as by the daily expec-
tation of the death of the old Nizam, when the question of

the succession to the throne of Hyderabad would open a wide

door for the intrigues of the two Mahratta chiefs encamped
on its frontier. But Sindia and the raja of Nagpore endea-

voured to spin out the discussions with the Resident for two

months longer, while they continued to press Holkar to cross

the Taptee, and join then: forces. During this period of sus-

pense, the Peshwa was engaged in constant communications

with Sindia, urging him to make no concession, but to advance

at once to Poona. He was lavish in his promises to the

Resident, but he took care to perform nothing. The contingent

he was bound to furnish was withheld, supplies were prevented
from reaching the English camp, and no opportunity was lost

of embarrassing the operations of the British Government.

Full powers of Early in May, General Wellesley had represented

We'ifestey the
* ^e Governor-General that no reply to any

result, 1803. reference could be received from Calcutta under

six weeks, and that all the advantages of delay rested with

the Mahrattas ; he therefore suggested the propriety of de-

puting to some authority on the western coast the power of

summarily deciding upon every question as it arose. Feeling
the full force of this advice, at this critical juncture, the

Governor-General took on himself the responsibility for which

he was afterwards captiously censured of vesting the full

powers of government, civil, military, and political, in reference

to Mahratta affairs, in General Wellesley, and after a clear

arid ample exposition of his own views, authorised him to

commence hostilities, or to conclude treaties without any
further application to Calcutta. This communication reached

him on the 18th July, and he lost no time in announcing to

Sindia and to the raja of Berar the plenary powers with

which he had been invested, and called on them to demonstrate
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by their conduct the sincerity of the pacific declarations which

they continued to make. Their armies, he said, now occupied

positions not necessary for the security of their own territories,

but menacing both to the Company, the Nizam, and the

Peshwa. He proposed that they should withdraw their forces

respectively to Hindostan and to Nagpore, while he sent back

the British armies to their usual stations. Then ensued another

week of frivolous and fruitless discussion, in the course of

which Sindia, with that mixture of simplicity and perfidy which

is so often found together in the oriental character, said that he

and his confederate could determine upon no movement, because

the arrangements for Holkar's joining their camp were not as

yet completed. W earied with these studied delays, General

Wellesloy gave them twenty-four hours for then* ultimatum,

which they presented in this shape ; that he should dismiss his

troops to their respective cantonments, and that they should

fall back forty miles to Boorhanpore. To this the General

replied,
" You propose that I should withdraw to Seringapa-

tam, Madras and Bombay, the troops collected to defend these

territories against your designs, and that you and your con-

federate should be suffered to remain with your forces, to take

advantage of their absence. I offered you peace on terms of

equality, and honourable to all parties. You have chosen war,

and are answerable for all consequences." On the 3rd August
Colonel Collins quitted Sindia's camp, and this cir-

Colonel Collins

quits sindia's cumstance became the immediate precursor of

hostilities. Thus commenced the Mahratta war of

1803.

preparations for Lord Wellesley, when he found that a war with

Sindia and the raja of Nagpore was more than

probable, determined to strike a decisive blow simultaneously

at the possessions of both princes, in every quarter of India,

though the field of operations was 700 miles apart in one

direction, and 600 in another. In the grand combinations of

the campaign he was his own war minister, and never had the

resources of India been drawn forth on a scale of such mag-
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nitude, or applied with such efficiency. In the Deccan about

3,600 troops were left for the defence of Hyderabad and Poona,
while a covering army of about 8,000 men protected the districts

between the Kistna and the Toombudra. The advanced force

under the command of General Wellesley of about 9,000, and of

about 8,000 under Colonel Stephenson, was intended to

operate against the main armies of the two allies. In the north

of India, 10,500 troops were assembled under the Commander-

in-chief, General Lake, to attack Sindia's disciplined battalions,

and wrest from him his possessions in Hindostan. A force

of 3,500 men was allotted for the occupation of Bundelkund. On
the western coast of India an army of 7,300 men was or-

ganised to dispossess Sindia of his districts in Guzerat, and

5,200 men were prepared to take possession of the province

of Cuttack, in the bay of Bengal. The whole force, amounting
to about 55,000, was animated by that traditionary spirit of

enterprize and enthusiasm which had created the British empire

in the east, and which, on the present occasion, was heightened

by a feeling of unbounded confidence in the master mind of the

Governor-General. The armies of Sindia and the raja of Berar

were computed at 100,000, of whom 50,000 were cavalry and

30,000 infantry, trained and commanded by European officers,

together with a superb train of artillery of many hundred

pieces.

As soon as Colonel Collins had left Sindia's camp,

Ahmednugur, General Wellesley opened the campaign byan attack
Aug. 12. 1803.

on Ahmednugur, Sindia's great arsenal and depot

south of the Nerbudda. This important fortress, though it had

been considered impregnable since the memorable defence of it

by Chand Sultana in 1595, was surrendered after a brief resist-

ance on the 12th August. The general then proceeded to take

possession of all Sindia's territories south of the Godavery, and

crossed that river on the 29th August, in the hope of bringing

the contest to the issue of a general engagement. But the

confederates spent three weeks in marching and counter-

marching without skill, and without any apparent object except
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that of avoiding
1 the pursuit of the British armies. On the 21st

September General Wellesley found himself in the neighbour-
hood of Sindia's encampment, and, at a conference with Colonel

Stephenson, arranged that they should move on separate routes

to the attack of the enemy on the 24th. But the General was

misled by his scouts as to the actual position of the confederate

army, and after marching twenty-six miles on the 23rd, unex-

pectedly discovered that it was encamped at no greater dis-

tance than six miles, whereas he had been led to believe that it

was twice as remote from him. He was, likewise, assured

that the allied chiefs were on the point of retiring from their

present position, and under the apprehension that their infantry

might escape him, he resolved to bring on an action before the

close of the day, without waiting for the junction of Colonel

Stephenson. On ascending an eminence, he beheld the Mahratta

armies stretched out before him, consisting of 50,000 men, of

whom 10,000 were trained sepoys, and supported by a hundred

pieces of cannon.

Battle of Assye,
The handful of British troops which now moved

Sept. 23, 1803.
(Jown to attack this formidable host did not exceed

4,500. The Mahrattas had taken up a strong position, as they
were always famous for doing, with their left resting on the

village of Assye, and their infantry entrenched behind formi-

dable batteries. General Wellesley had given the most posi-

tive injunctions to the officer commanding the pickets to avoid

the cannon planted in the village, but he led his troops directly

up to the muzzle of the guns, which poured an incessant shower

on the assailants. The 74th, which supported them, was thus

exposed to a hotter fire than any troops had ever before en-

countered in India. To save that gallant regiment from utter

destruction, it was necessary to bring up additional corps ;
but

so tremendous was the cannonade, that General Wellesley was

at one time doubtful whether he could prevail on any regiment

to advance and face it. The indomitable courage and energy

of British troops, however, bore down all resistance, and

Sindia's splendid infantry, who stood to their guns to the last
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moment, were at length overpowered and dispersed. The vic-

tory was the most complete which had ever crowned British

valour in India, but it was dearly purchased by the loss of

one-third of the army. The slaughter would not have been

half so severe but for the blunder of the officer commanding
the pickets, for which the strategy of the General was not

responsible. The raja of Nagpore fled at the first shot, and

Sindia was not slow to follow his example. He lost all his

guns, ammunition, and camp equipage. His army was com-

pletely and irretrievably disorganized, and he retreated with a

small body of horse along the banks of the Taptee. He then

made a rapid movement southward, vigorously followed

Ca ture of
^v General Wellesley, while Colonel Stephenson

soorhanpore, successively besieged and captured the flourishing

seergnr! 218*1 town of Boorhanpore and the strong fortress of

Oct., 1803.
Asseergur. These were the last remaining pos-

sessions of Sindia in the Deccan, and General Wellesley was

now at liberty to direct his undivided attention to the raja of

Nagpore, who was the most determined enemy of the Com-

pany, and the prime mover in this war.

Capture of During the month of September, the army
Cuttack, 1803. under Colonel Harcourt advanced into the maritime

province of Cuttack, abutting on southern Bengal, of which the

Nagpore family had held possession for more than hah1

a century. It lay between the Bengal and the Madras Presi-

dencies, and the Court of Directors had always cast a longing

eye upon it, and pressed the acquisition of it, if necessary, by

purchase, on successive Governors-General for twenty years.

It was now to be added to their dominions by the fortune of

war. The whole country was occupied without even the

semblance of opposition. As the British army approached the

temple of Jugunnath, which is considered to sanctify the whole

province, and render it
" the land of merit," the brahmins has-

tened to the camp to inform the Colonel that on the preceding

night they had inquired of the god whether he would rather

live under the protection of the English than of the Mahrattas,
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and he had replied that he greatly preferred the English. This

very sagacious and prudent determination was considered of

such importance as to be communicated by express to

Calcutta.

Armistice with Sindia, stripped of the last of his possessions

smdia, 1803. in Candcsh, by the capture of Asseergur, made

overtures of peace to Genera] Wellesley, which, after a weari-

some negotiation, resulted in a provisional armistice on the

23rd November. It stipulated that he should keep his army
to a position forty miles east of Elichpore, and that his

camp should not approach within the same distance of either

of the British armies, then operating against the raja of Nag-

pore. Colonel Stephenson was marching to the siege of

Gawilgur, a strong and important fortress in the Nagpore

territories, in which the royal treasures were said to be depo-
sited. The raja and his troops who had been for some time

moving about in the southern districts, closely followed by
General Wellesley, now moved up to the defence of the fort.

The General, who had been separated from Colonel Stephenson
for two months, opportunely joined him in time to support and

cover the siege. On the 28th November, the British force,

after a long and fatiguing march, came up with the Nagpore

army, on the plain of Argaom. Siiidia, who was

Argaom, 28th waiting for the result of circumstances, had not
fov., i8i

ratified the armistice, or observed its conditions,

but was encamped within four miles of his confederate, and, in

the engagement which ensued, did not hesitate to send his

cavalry to aid him hi charging the British regiments. Though
it was late in the day, General Wellesley resolved to engage
the enemy, but his troops had no sooner come within range of

their guns than three entire battalions, who had behaved with

distinguished gallantry on the field of Assye, under a far hotter

fire, broke their ranks and fled. Fortunately, the General hap-

pened to be at no great distance, and succeeded in rallying them,

and re-establishing the battle, or it would have been inevit-

ably lost. The raja abandoned all his cannon and ammunition ;

II. M
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and few of his troops would have escaped if there had been

an hour of daylight left. On the 15th December the fortress

of Gawilgur surrendered to Colonel Stephenson, and General

Wellesley prepared to march on the city of Nagpore. The

raja, reduced to despair by these rapid reverses, and trembling
for his capital and his throne, hastened to sue for peace. The

of negotiation was entrusted to Mr. Mount Stuart

aom, Dec. Elphinstone, a young civilian of great talent and
18th, 1803. , , , ,

promise, who subsequently rose to great eminence

in the public service, and had the honour of twice declining

the post of Governor-General, for which not even an English

statesman could have been better qualified. The treaty, known

as that of Deogaom, was completed in two days. The pro-

vince of Cuttack was ceded to the Company, and a letter-post

was established without a break between Calcutta and Madras.

The districts of Berar west of the Wurda, had belonged in

part to the Nizam, but the raja of Nagpore, who owned the

other portion, had collected the revenues of the whole, and

appropriated the lion's share to himself. This territory, which

includes the " cotton field of the Deccan," was now entirely

transferred to the Nizam. Half-a-century later he assigned

it to the Company for the pay of his contingent, and they

immediately endowed it with the inestimable blessing of a

railway. The raja likewise engaged to refer all his differences

with the Nizam and the Peshwa to the arbitration of the

British Government, and to exclude all Frenchmen and all

Europeans of any nation at war with England from his king-

dom. The large cessions of territory which the raja was thus

constrained to make comprised the most valuable of his pos-

sessions, and reduced him to a secondary rank among the

princes of India ; and the power of another member of the

Mahratta pentarchy was effectually crippled.

General Wellesley had deprived Sindia of all
Stadia i posses-

sions in Hin- his possessions in the Deccan. Colonel Murray
dostan, 1803. ^^ game fime

^
capture(j Broach, his only sea-

port, and occupied all his districts on the western coast in
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Guzerat ; but it was in Hindostan that he experienced the

most overwhelming disasters. The valuable possessions of

his crown in that quarter, which formed, in fact, an opulent

kingdom, had been gradually enlarged and consolidated by the

incessant labours of the late Mahdajee Sindia, and chiefly

through the army raised and disciplined by De Boigne, on

whose retirement to his native town in France, in 1796, the com-

mand devolved on General Perron. Dowlut Rao Sindia, from

the period of his accession in 1792, had been continually

encamped in the neighbourhood of Poona, coercing and

fleecing the unfortunate Peshwa, and had never so much as

visited his northern dominions. The governor of Delhi, em-

boldened by his master's absence, had the temerity to set his

authority at defiance. General Perron was directed to invest

the city, and it was surrendered under the threat of a bom-

bardment. The aged and blind emperor, who had been treated

by the native warden of the palace with great severity, and

often left without the common necessaries of life, was now

transferred, after ten years of suffering, to the charge of

Perron, and as every effort was made to alleviate his wretched

condition, he had good reason to congratulate himself on the

change of masters. The continued absence of Sindia had

thrown the whole administration of his dominions in Hirido-

stan, both civil and fiscal, as well as the command
General

Pen-on's power, of the army, into the hands of General Perron,

who exercised this extensive power with great

ability and moderation. He had succeeded in establishing the

complete authority of Sindia throughout Rajpootana, and was

gradually extending it over the Sikh states between the Jumna
and the Sutlege. His advanced posts approached the Indus in

one direction, and Allahabad in another, and throughout this

wide expanse of country his power was paramount. The terri-

tory under his management yielded a revenue of two crores

of rupees. The troops under his command consisted of

28,000 foot, not inferior in discipline or valour to the Company's

Sepoy army, and 5,000 horse, with 140 pieces of artillery.

H 2
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The jeopardy in which the Company's interests were placed

by the establishment of this powerful force essentially French

in its tendencies along the whole line of their western fron-

tier, was self-evident, and Lord Wellesley naturally considered

the extinction of this danger an object of the highest import-

ance. Happily for the accomplishment of his wishes, Sindia's

native officers entertained great jealousy of General Perron's

power, and Sirjee Rao represented to his master the indignation

felt by his great sirdars at the confidence which he thought fit to

repose in this foreigner. So strong was the adverse current

that in April, 1802, the General repaired to Sindia's camp,
and endeavoured to avert danger and to strengthen his

position by a nuzur of fifteen lacs of rupees. But the inces-

sant murmurs of his ministers at length induced Sindia to

divest Perron of the management of all the districts under

his charge, with the exception of those allotted for the main-

tenance of his troops. He was therefore contemplating a

retirement from Sindia's service at the time when General Lake

was preparing to take the field against him. The Governor-

General, anxious to take advantage of this feeling of disaffec-

tion, directed the Commander-in-chief to offer him a reasonable

consideration, if he would transfer his military power and

resources, together with the person of the emperor, to the

British Government. But, though he had received the greatest

provocations from Sindia, he honourably rejected every induce-

ment to betray his trust.

General Lake was invested with the same
Capture of Ally- .

gur, 29th civil, military, and political powers in Hindostan.
August, isos.

which had been conferred on General Wellesley
in the Deccan, and he took the field as soon as it was known
that Colonel Collins had quitted Sindia's camp. He advanced

towards General Perron's encampment on the 29th August,
but the enemy, though 15,000 strong, retreated without

firing a shot. The French General retired with his body

guard towards Agra, leaving Colonel Pedron in charge of

the important fortress of Allygur, the great military arsenal
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and depot of the array in Hindostan, with orders to defend

it as long as one stone remained upon another. Every appli-

ance which science could suggest had been adopted in

strengthening the fort ; it was protected by ten bastions and

a ditch, a hundred feet wide, and thirty deep, containing

ten feet of water. Throughout Hindostan it was deemed

impregnable, and it was considered questionable whether any
amount of military strategy would have been sufficient to

secure its surrender. But it was captured at once by the

irresistible gallantry of the 76th Highlanders, commanded by

Major Macleod, who blew open the gate, and forced their way
in through the most intricate and loop-holed passages, raked

by a destructive fire of grape, wall-pieces, and matchlocks.

The number of guns captured amounted to 281. Our loss in

killed and wounded was 217, of whom 17 were officers. This

was one of those master strokes which served to confound

the native mind, and which essentially promoted the submission

of the native powers. General Wellesley, on hearing of it,

remarked, that he had often attempted to blow open a gate,

but had never succeeded, and that he considered the capture

of Allygur one of the most extraordinary feats he had ever

heard of. Yet, it was aUowed to pass without any recogni-

tion for forty-eight years, and it was only in the reign of

Queen Victoria that a medal was struck to commemorate the

achievement, and presented to the few heroes who still sur-

vived. A week after, General Perron, having heard that his

enemies in Sindia's court had at length succeeded in pro-

curing an order for his dismissal, informed General Lake

that he had resigned the Maharaja's service, and requested

permission to retire with his family, his suite, and his pro-

perty, through the British territories, to Lucknow. He was

received in the British camp with the distinction due to his

talents and position.

Battle of Deiw
After the capture of Allygur, General Lake

iitn September' advanced toward Delhi, and Bourquin, who had

succeeded to the command of Perron's army,
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crossed the Jumna to oppose his progress. The British

force, 4,500 strong, after a fatiguing march of eighteen miles,

reached its encamping ground, within sight of the minarets

of Delhi, and found the enemy posted in such force that the

General, after a reconnaissance, deemed it advisable to begin

the attack without delay. Bourquiri's army, consisting of

sixteen battalions of regular infantry and 6,000 cavalry, in all

about 19,000 men, with a large train of artillery, was drawn

up with its rear resting on the Jumna. The position appeared

impregnable and General Lake ordered his cavalry, which

was advancing in front, to feign a retreat; the enemy,
deceived by the movement, immediately abandoned all the

advantages of their position, and rushed forward with their

guns, shouting and yelling after the peculiar fashion of native

troops. The British infantry, led by the ever ready 76th

Highlanders and by the Commander-in-chief in person,

advanced steadily, amidst a storm of grape and chain shot,

and after delivering one round charged with cold steel. The

shock was irresistible, the ranks of the enemy reeled and

then broke up in disorder, flying down to the river in which

great numbers perished. The British loss was comparatively

small, only 409, but one-third of the casualties fell on the

noble Highlanders. Three days after, Bourquin and three of

his officers surrendered to General Lake.

The city of Delhi was immediately evacuated

the emperor, by the troops of Sindia, and the British standard

leos.

8*1^ ber' was hoisted on its battlements, forty-seven years

after the sack of Calcutta by Seraja Dowlah had

extinguished the British power and name in Hindostan.

The emperor, in a previous communication with General Lake,

had expressed a strong desire to obtain the protection of the

British Government ; Lord Wellesley was no less desirous of

granting it, and thus securing to the Company the advantage
which was connected with the possession of his person. The

Mogul throne had not lost all its prestige. The emperor,

though a prisoner and sightless, was still considered the
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fountain of honour throughout India, equally by the Hindoos

and Mahomedans, and a patent of nobility under his seal was

as highly prized in the remotest provinces of the Deccan, as

it had been in the days of Aurungzebe. Tippoo was the only

Mahomedan prince who had ventured to discontinue the

homage due to the royal house, and the day after his fall, the

Nizam's general solicited General Harris's permission to pro-

ceed in state to the great mosque, and resume the reading of

the khootba in the emperor's name. It was, therefore, con-

sidered important to the interests of the Company to be

identified with the house of Timur. It was arranged that

the heir apparent should arrive with his suite at the General's

tent at midday, but natives, and more especially native

princes, consider that punctuality lessens their dignity. The

General was kept waiting more than three hours, and it was

nearly sunset before the cavalcade reached the city, where, to

borrow the magniloquent diction of the Governor-General,
" in the magnificent palace built by Shah Jehan, the Com-

mander-in-chief was ushered iuto the royal presence, and

found the unfortunate and venerable emperor, oppressed by
the accumulated calamities of old age, and degraded authority,

extreme poverty, and loss of sight, seated under a small

tattered canopy, the remnant of his royal state, with every

external appearance of the misery of his condition." The in-

habitants of the city manifested great enthusiasm at the change
of masters, and the courtly news writers affirmed, that the

emperor not only shed tears, but had actually regained his

sight, in the excess of his joy. Lord Wellesley formed the

judicious resolution of removing him and the royal family

from the dangerous associations of Delhi, and proposed

Monghir for their future residence, but the emperor clung

with such tenacity to the spot which had been for six cen-

turies the capital of Mahomedan greatness, that Lord Wel-

lesley was reluctantly compelled to abandon this design.

But the wisdom of it was abundantly vindicated half a

century later, when the residence of the royal family at
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Delhi, entailed a bloody tragedy, which terminated in

sweeping every vestige of the Mogul dynasty from the

soil of India.

Leaving Colonel Ochterlouy in command at Delhi,

Agra, Oct. 17, General Lake marched down to Agra, which was

still held by Sindia's troops. In the exercise of

the political powers with which he was invested, he concluded

a treaty with the raja of Bhurtpore, who sent a body of 5,000

horse to co-operate with his army. He was the first to seek

an alliance with the'British Government in the flood tide of its

success, and the first to repudiate it when the tide appeared to

be ebbing. Agra capitulated, after a protracted siege, on the

17th October, and the treasure found in it, twenty-eight lacs of

rupees, was promptly and wisely distributed among the officers

and men, in "
anticipation of the approval of the home autho-

rities."

On the outbreak of the war- Sindia sent fifteen of
Battle of Las-

waree, ist NOV., his disciplined battalions across the Nerbudda to

protect his possessions in Hindostan. They were

considered the flower of his army, and usually designated
" the

Deccan Invincibles." But before their arrival the battle of Delhi

had extinguished Sindia's army in the north, with the exception

of two battalions which joined the southern force, and raised

its strength to 9,000 foot, 4.000 cavalry, and 72 pieces of

artilleiy. No attempt was made to relieve Agra, but it hung
on the skirts of the British army. General Lake did not fail

to perceive that while so formidable a fort;e continued unbroken

it would be impossible to obtain the general confidence of the

province, and he determined to attack it without delay. He
had received an unfounded report that the Mahratta army was

endeavouring to avoid him, and, with his usual impetuosity,

started at midnight in search of it with his cavalry alone,

leaving orders for the infantry to follow. He came up with the

encampment of the enemy at daybreak on the 1st November, at

the village of Laswaree, and found them, as usual, entrenched

in a formidable position, with their guns drawn up in the
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front. The General led his cavalry up in person to the attack ;

a fearful discharge of grape and double-headed shot mo\ved

down column after column, and rendered the fiery valour of the

troops useless. To prevent their utter extinction, the General

was obliged to withdraw them from the conflict, to await the

arrival of the infantry, who had marched sixty-five miles in

the preceding forty-eight hours, and twenty-five miles since

midnight. After a brief rest and a hasty meal, they were

launched on the enemy's guns and battalions. The engage-
ment was the severest in which the Company's troops had ever

been engaged, not excepting that oif Assye. Sindia's sepoys

fought as natives had never fought before. They defended

their position to the last extremity, contesting every point inch

by inch, and refusing to give way while a single gun remained

in their possession. But they were at length overpowered, and

lost their ammunition and camp equipage, together with 71

pieces of cannon. It was even reported that one-half their

number was left on the field, killed or wounded. On the

British side the casualties amounted to 824, one-fourth of

which belonged to the 76th Highlanders, who bore the brunt

of the action. The General himself conducted every operation

throughout the day, with more credit to his personal gallantry

than to his military talent. Though a dashing soldier, and

adored by his men, he was only a second-rate general ;
but

the flagrant defects of his arrangements were covered, as has

frequently been the case in India, by the undaunted valour of

his men, at the sacrifice of their own lives. The battle of

Laswaree served to exhibit the high state of efficiency to which

the French generals in the Mahratta service had brought their

native troops. It does not appear that there was a single

European officer with them during the engagement, yet so

complete had been their training, that when left to themselves

they exhibited a degree of skill and intrepidity which stag-

gered General Lake himself, and constrained him to remark

that if they had been led by their French officers the result of

the day would have been exceedingly doubtful.
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This defeat completed the humiliation of Sindia.
Treaty of Sirjee

Anjengaom, In the course of twelve weeks the French batta-
Dec. 4, 1803.

jjonSj ^he bulwark of his power, had been anni-

hilated, and all his territories in the Deccan, in Guzerat, and in

Hindostan, the rich patrimony bequeathed to him by his

uncle, had been wrested from him. Seeing no alternative

between the entire annihilation of his power and submission to

the severe terms dictated by Lord Wellesley, he yielded to

necessity, and within a fortnight after the raja of Nagpore had

made his peace with the British Government, signed the treaty

of Sirjee Anjengaom. It was negotiated on the one part by
General Wellesley, on the other by Wittul Punt, Sindia's chief

minister, who, though advanced in years, was still considered

the first native diplomatist of the age, and was designated by
General Wellesley the Talleyrand of the east. By this treaty

Sindia ceded all his territories in Hindostan, lying in the

Dooab between the Ganges and the Jumna, as well as those

north of the Rajpoot principalities of Jeypore and Joudhpore ;

the fortress and territory of Ahmednugur in the Deccan, and

Broach with its dependencies in Guzerat. He relinquished

all claims on the Peshwa, the Nizam, the Guickwar, and the

British Government, and agreed to recognize the independence

of the rajas and feudatories in Hindostan with whom treaties

had been concluded by General Lake, and a list of whom was

to be delivered to him when the treaty was ratified by the

Governor-General. Two districts to the north of the pre-

scribed limits were, however, restored to him, and pensions

granted to some of his officers and the members of his own

family.

. . , The engagement made with the Nizam at the
Distribution of

the conquered commencement of hostilities stated that he should
territory, 1803.

ghare equa]iv ^^ fae Company the conquests

made by their joint efforts, if he honourably fulfilled the condi-

tions of the alliance. That aged prince, the son of the re-

nowned Nizam-ool-moolk,who had been decorated with honours

by Aurungzebe more than a century before, was at the time
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on his deathbed, and expired four days after the war began.
His son, Secunder Jah, was placed on the musnud by the

decision of Lord Wellesley. But though the Hyderabad forces

were sent to co-operate with Colonel Stephenson, the stipula-

tions of the treaty were scandalously violated by the Nizam's

civil and military officers, whose sympathies were entirely with

the confederates. Every obstacle was thrown in the way of

military operations. The provision of grain for the army was

purposely neglected, and permission was refused to purchase it

in the Nizam's dominions. The officers and men wounded at

Assye were denied an asylum in the fort of Dowlutabad, and

one of the Hyderabad commanders had the audacity to fire on

the British troops from the guns of his fort. The Nizam had

thus forfeited all claim to share in the spoils of war, but Lord

Wellesley generously bestowed on him the rich province of

Berar, lying to the west of the Wurda. The fortress and the

district of the Ahmednugur, acquired from Sindia, were trans-

ferred to thePeshwa, notwithstanding the perfidy of his conduct.

The province of Cuttack, the conquests in Guzerat, and the

valuable districts in Hindostan were incorporated with the

Company's dominions. These last, together with the province

ceded by the Nabob Vizier, were formed into the separate go-
vernment of the north-west provinces, and now constitute the

Agra Presidency. The territory which Lord Wellesley had

annexed two years before to the Madras Presidency, and that

which he now added to Bengal, was estimated at the annual

value of six crores of rupees, an amusing comment on the

Parliamentary denunciation of territorial aggrandisement.

Having thus reduced the power of the Mahrattas,
Treaties of

alliance in the Lord Wellesley was anxious to prevent the revival

north, 1803.
of ^^ [^UGriCQ fa Hindostan by establishing a

barrier between their possessions and those of the Company.
With this view, General Lake concluded treaties of alliance

and mutual defence with the Jaut prince of Bhurtpore, and

with the Rajpoot princes of Jeypore, Joudhpore, Machery
and Boondee, who were thereby absolved from all allegiance to
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the Mahratta powers. Sindia had entrusted the fortress of

Gwalior and some df his districts in that quarter to Ambajee

Inglia, who, after the battle of Laswaree, in which he took an

active part, offered to desert his master, and transfer the fort

and half the territory to the British Government, on condition

of being acknowledged the independent ruler of the remainder.

A treaty was accordingly drawn up and signed, to which, how-

ever, he did not long adhere. His commandant refused to sur-

render Gwalior, which was besieged and captured by an Eng-
lish force. Ambajee returned soon after to Sindia's court, and

was restored to favour. The rana of Gohud, whose dominions

Sindia had appropriated to himself twenty years before, was

reputed to possess great influence among the Jauts, and Lord

Wellesley resolved to grant him the territory of which he had

been dispossessed, together with the fort of Gwalior, on his

engaging to subsidize three English battalions. The compli-

cations which arose out of this anomalous transaction we shall

have occasion to notice hereafter. By the treaty of Bassein,

the Peshwa had assigned for the maintenance of the subsidiary

force districts in the Deccan yielding twenty-six lacs of rupees,

but this arrangement was found inconvenient to both parties,

and, upon the advice of General Wellesley, he was permitted

to exchange them for territories in Bundelkund of the value of

thirty-six lacs a-year ; but as his authority in that province
was merely nominal, the transaction was more advantageous
to him than to the British Government, upon whom it entailed

a long and harassing conflict. Lord Wellesley was, moreover,

bent on establishing a subsidiary treaty with Sindia, and Major
Malcolm was engaged for many months in a tedious negotia-

tion, which, though eventually successful, produced no result,

inasmuch as the quota of troops, 6,000 in number, was not to

be stationed within his dominions, and their support was to be

derived from the territories which he had already ceded uncon-

ditionally to the Company.

The Guickwar,
It on^y remains to notice the progress of events

18001803. m Guzerat, the greater portion of which was in-
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eluded in the dominions of the Guickwar. It has already been

told how the Mogul authority in this province ceased in 1755,

when the capital Ahmedabad was captured by Damajee
Guickwar. He died in 1768, and was succeeded after a long

series of intrigues, by his son, Futteh Sing. On his death,

in 1792, his brother mounted the throne, and died in 1800,

leaving eleven children, and the country was immediately

distracted by their struggles for the supreme power. Anund

Rao, the eldest, though imbecile, was acknowledged as the

legitimate successor to the musnud, and, having taken an able

minister into his counsels, applied to the Bombay government
for aid against his brothers and rivals, and offered to enter into

a subsidiary alliance. This occurred at the time when Lord

Wellesley was intent on extending these political arrange-

ments throughout India, as the most effectual mode of estab-

lishing British supremacy, and the offer was cordially accepted.

The subsidized force consisted of five battalions, and districts

yielding between eleven and twelve lacs of rupees a-year

were assigned for their support. The appearance of a British

army in the field extinguished all opposition, the authority of

Anund Rao was fully acknowledged, and Major Walker was

appointed Resident at the court, which was now transferred to

the new capital, Baroda. But the treasury was insolvent, and

the finances were in a state of apparently hopeless confusion.

The revenues amounted to fifty lacs of rupees a-year, and the

expenditure to eighty-two. The deficiency had been made up,

year after year, according to the fatal practice of native princes,

by loans at extravagant interest, and mortgages and assign-

ments, which devoured the resources of the state, and

threatened the dissolution of all government. Major Walker

was one of those great men to whom the Company has been

indebted for the extension and the popularity of their rule. He
had acquired the confidence of the natives of Guzerat even to

a greater degree than that of his own Government, and with

the universal consent of nobles arid people, assumed the entire

control of the administration. It was necessary in the first
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instance to relieve the country from the native army, which

ceased to be necessary after the establishment of the sub-

sidiary force, but it could not be disbanded without the payment
of arrears, which amounted to forty-one lacs of rupees. Major
Walker prevailed on the Governor-General to advance the

sum of twenty lacs, and by the extraordinary influence he had

acquired among the native bankers, obtained a loan of the

remainder from them, though not without a British guarantee.

The troops were at length paid up in full, and the country was

freed from the insolence of these Arab mercenaries. The mari-

time district of Kattiwar took advantage of the dissensions

of the time to refuse the payment of the tribute due to the

parent state, but Major Walker marched into the country and

constrained the insurgents to enter into an engagement for the

payment of nine lacs of tribute a-year. His expedition into

that province was rendered ever memorable by the moral results

Abolition of in-
wnic^ & produced. The custom of infanticide

fanticide, 1804. Was universally prevalent among its Rajpoot in-

habitants, who preferred the death of their daughters to the

disgrace of an inferior alliance. By the influence of his official

position, but more particularly by the weight of his personal

character, Major Walker was enabled to obtain from all the

principal chiefs a pledge, both on then- own part and that of

then: fraternities, to abstain from the practice, to expel from the

community all who were found guilty of it, and to submit to

any penalty he might think fit to impose. The success of these

efforts in the cause of humanity has shed a brighter lustre on

his memory than all his political achievements, great as they
were. It was through his exertions that peace and tranquillity

were restored to the country, and the government of the

Guickwar consolidated. The connection of the state with the

British Government was closely cemented, and the resources

of another Mahratta prince were detached from the Mahratta

cause, and placed under the control of the Company.
The transcendent genius and energy of Lord

Ejections.
Wellesley had thus, in the course of five years,
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completely remodelled the whole policy of India, and placed

the Company on the pinnacle of power. They had now become

the masters of a great part of the continent, the protector

of all the principal powers, and the acknowledged mediator in

the disputes of all. Their sovereignty was greater, and then-

authority fixed on a firmer and more solid basis than that of

Akbar or Aurungzebe. The administration of Lord Wellesley
had reached its culminating point. The disasters which clouded

the remaining period of his Indian career arose from the blunders

of the Commander-in-chief, and not from any imperfection in his

Government, though it was necessarily saddled with the obloquy

they entailed.

CHAPTER XXII.

LORD WELLESLEY'S ADMINISTRATION CONTINUED, 1804-5.

ove- WHILE Sindia and the raja of Nagpore were in-

menta, 1804. volved in hostilities with the Company, Holkar was

employed in predatory expeditions in Hindostan, and on the

conclusion of peace marched down to Muhesur, on the Ner-

budda, a great emporium of commerce, and plundered it of

wealth estimated at a crore of rupees. With this treasure he
was enabled not only to satisfy his own troops for the time,
but to take into his pay those whom Sindia and the raja had

discharged on the peace. His army was thus augmented to

60,000 horse and 15,000 foot, a force far exceeding his require-
ments or his resources, and which could be subsisted only by
pillage. The Governor-General had sedulously avoided any
collision with him during the five months of the war with the

confederates ;
and General Wellesley had repeatedly assured

him that as long as he refrained from attacking the dominions

of the Company and its allies, the government would abstain

from all interference with him. This assurance was also com-
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municated to him by Lord Wellesley on the 10th February.

But repose was incompatible with his plans of ambition and

plunder. His fortune was in his saddle, and eighty thousand

of the lawless soldiery of Central India followed his stirrup.

By the humiliation of Sindia and Nagpore, he was the only

Mahratta chief left with an unbroken army ; but, heedless of

the warning conveyed by their fate, he was impelled by his

own reckless disposition to hazard a conflict with the British

Government. He desired Ameer Khan to join him without

delay,
" as he had made up his mind to meet General Lake in

the field." He sought an alliance with the brother of Zeinaun

Shah, who had seized Cabul, and on a new seal which he had

engraved, styled himself,
" the slave of Mahomed Shah, king

of kings." Letters were intercepted from him to the British

allies, exciting them to revolt. In the month of March he de-

manded of General Wellesley, then in the Deccan, the cession

of certain districts which he said had once belonged to his

farnity, adding that "
if they were not restored, countries many

hundred miles in extent should be plundered and burnt, and the

English general should not have tune to breathe, and calamities

should fall on lacs of human beings, by a continued war, in

which his armies would overwhelm them like waves of the

sea." He likewise despatched two envoys to General Lake,

with claims of a similar character. During their communica-

tions with the General some allusion happened to be made to

the friendly disposition now manifested by Sindia, when they
affirmed that Sindia had within a few days requested the co-

operation of their master in a war with the English, as a large

French force had arrived on the Coromandel coast, and was

about to come to his assistance. The envoys demanded with

studied arrogance the restoration of the chout, as the inalienable

right of the Mahrattas, and the restoration of twelve of the

finest districts in the Dooab, which they affirmed were part of

Holkar's family possessions. These insolent demands were

followed up by an inroad into the territories of our ally, the raja

of Jeypore. General Lake, in his embarrassment, wrote to
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Lord Wellesley,
" If Holkar should break into Hindostan, he

will be joined by the Rohillas. I never was so plagued as I

am with this devil. We are obliged to remain in the field at

an enormous cost. If we retire, he will come down upon Jey-

pore, and exact a crore from the raja, and thus pay his own

army and render it more formidable than ever. If I advance

and leave'an opening, he will give me the slip, and get into

our territories with his horse, and burn and destroy."

Lord Wellesley felt that there could be neither
War with

J
.

Hoikar, April, peace nor prospenty while this vast predatory

horde continued to roam through Central India,

and that an army of observation was more expensive than an,

army of action. On the 16th April, therefore, he directed Gene-

rals Wellesley and Lake to take the field against Holkar, whom
he regarded as a mere chief of freebooters. General Wellesley,

who commanded in the south, ordered Colonel Murray to advance

with a force of about 5,800 men from Guzerat into Malwa, and

take possession of Holkar's capital. General Lake moved with

his army into the Jeypore territory, which Holkar was em-

ployed in plundering, on which he immediately withdrew his

troops. Colonel Don was then sent with a large detachment

against Rampoora, his stronghold in the north, and it fell on.

the 16th May. Holkar thus lost his footing in the country

north of the Chumbul, and retreated in haste and confusion

across that river. General Wellesley's clear military percep-

tions led him to urge General Lake to continue the pursuit with

rapidity, even though there might be little hope of bringing

Holkar to action. If, he remarked, he is pushed with vigour,

the war will not last a fortnight ; if not, God knows when i$

will be over. But, by an act of unaccountable imprudence,

General Lake, instead of continuing the pursuit, broke up his

encampment, and withdrew his army into cantonments in Hin-

dostan, sending Colonel Monson with a single brigade to

follow the steps of Holkar. This was the fatal blunder of tiie

campaign, and it entailed a tremendous catastrophe. Lord

Wellesley, it is true, approved the retirement of General Lake a

II. N
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army, but it must not be forgotten that he also advised him,

either to withdraw the force under Colonel Monson, or to

strengthen it with a regiment of Europeans and two or three

of cavalry. General Lake did neither. He had detached

Colonel Monson, who was as remarkable for professional in-

competence as for personal gallantry, into the heart of Holkar's

territoreis, on the eve of the rains, with a small force, unac-

companied by a single European soldier, or any cavalry except

2,000 or 3,000 irregular horse recently raised, and utterly ineffi-

cient, to encounter a force ten times its number, and commanded

by the most daring soldier of the day. As if in emulation of

this error, Colonel Monson made no arrangements on his march

for supplies, and no provision for crossing the various streams

in his rear, which cease to be fordable after the rains commence.

He still farther augmented the perils of his expedition by ad-

vancing through the Mokundra pass, and even fifty miles

beyond it, for the idle object of capturing an unimportant fort,

and thus put 200 miles between his force and its nearest

support.

Colonel
^n ^ne ^n Jutyi Colonel Monson received the

Monson's alarming intelligence that Holkar had called up all

retreat'juiy,
his battalions from the south, and was advancing

1804.
against him with his entire force. It was likewise

reported that the provisions in the camp were only equal to

two day's consumption, and his troubles reached their climax

by the intelligence that Colonel Murray, who was advancing
from Guzerat to his aid, had retired with all his troops. The

bewildered commander took council of Bappoo Sindia, the com-

mandant of Sindia's contingent which accompanied the British

force, but he was in league with Holkar, and advised Colonel

Monson to fall back with his infantry and leave his irregular

horse to follow. Acting upon this treacherous advice, he

commenced his disastrous retreat. Holkar, who had the

fullest intelligence of every movement in the British camp,

immediately attacked the irregular horse and put it to flight.

Bappoo Sindia fled on the first appearance of his troops, and
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after announcing the rout of the cavalry to Colonel Monson,
went over with all his troops to the enemy, not without his

master's concurrence. On the 10th July, Colonel Monson
reached the Mokundra pass, where he was attacked vigo-

rously by the whole of Holkar's army, but obtained a signal

victory. The success of this conflict establishes the fact, con-

firmed by every succeeding encounter, that the disasters of the

army arose from no want of mettle in the troops, but from the

incapacity of their leader, and that under an abler commander
this little sepoy army would have baffled all the efforts of

Holkar. The next morning, Colonel Monson continued his

retreat, but on reaching Kotah, the regent, Zalim Sing, who
had assisted him on his advance for which Holkar subse-

quently exacted a fine of ten lacs of rupees refused admis-

sion to his troops on his retreat. His difficulties increased at

every step ; all the rivulets were swollen, and it rained so in-

cessantly that the guns sunk in the mud beyond recovery, and

were spiked and abandoned. The army was seventeen days

reaching Rampoora, though the distance from Kotah was only

sixty miles. There Colonel Monson was reinforced by two

battalions of sepoys and a corps of irregular cavalry, and sup-

plied with provisions, sent to his aid by General Lake, on

hearing of the commencement of his retreat. At Eampoora
he remained twenty-four days, during the whole of which

period Holkar, with all his superiority of force, never ventured

to attack him. On the twenty-fifth day he most unaccountably
determined to fall back on Kooshalgur, where he expected to be

joined by Sudasheo Bhao, one of Sindia's generals, with six

battalions and twenty-one guns ; but the Mahratta, seeing the

helplessness of the commander, and the miserable plight of

his army, not only went over to Holkar, but turned his guns

upon the British troops. The game was now up ; and on the

26th August, the Colonel spiked his last gun ; the enemy al-

lowed him no rest
;

all order and all discipline was lost ; the

retreat became a disorderly rout, and the last sepoy straggled

into Agra on the last day of August, fifty days after the

N 2
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retreat had commenced. Colonel Monson attributed his disaster

to the failure of Colonel Murray to join him from Guzerat.

Colonel Murray attributed it to Colonel Monson himself. Both

of them, as General Wellesley observed, were apparently

afraid of Holkar, and fled from him in different directions.

Colonel Monson advanced without reason and he retreated

without cause. Twenty-three years before Colonel Camac

had, with equal indiscretion, marched from the Jumna to

Sercnge in pursuit of Mahdajee Sindia, and found himself in

the same predicament as Colonel Monson, ha the heart of the

enemy's country, destitute of supplies, harassed by an active

foe, and abandonad by native allies in the hour of need. Yet,

by the unfailing expedient of a bold and aggressive movement,

suggested and earned out by Captain Bruce, he turned the

tables on Sindia, captured his guns, ammunition, and camp,
reduced him to extremit}7,

and obliged him to sue for peace.

But for the imbecility of the commander, the same triumph
would doubtless have crowned the valour of the band of heroes

cnder Colonel Monson, and Lord Wellesley would not have

hs,d to lament the annihilation of five battalions of infantry

and six companies of artillery. This was the most signal

disgrace inflicted on the British arms since the destruction of

Colonel Baillie's force by Hyder, in 1780, and its effect on the

prestiga and influence of the Company was felt throughout
Indie.. The defeat was celebrated in ribald songs in every

bazaar, and one couplet, describing the utter confusion of the

rout has survived the lapse of more than half a century,
"
Placing the houda of the elephant on the horse, and the

saddle of the horse on the elephant, did Colonel Monson fly

away in haste." The raja of Bhurtpore, who had never been

very steady in his fidelity, lost no time after this event in

opening negotiations with Holkar.

Hcikar besieges
Flushed with success, Holkar advanced to

Delhi, 1804. Muttra with an army, estimated at 90,000 men.

The British detachment stationed there retired upon Agra, and

General Lake, with his accustomed energy, established his
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head-quarters at that station, and lost no time in summoning
the various corps from their cantonments to repel this new and

unexpected eruption. Meanwhile, Holkar planned the daring

project of seizing the city of Delhi, and obtaining possession

of the person of the emperor. Leaving the greater portion of

his cavalry to engage the attention of General Lake, he started

in great secrecy, with his infantry and guns, and suddenly

appeared before the gates of the city on the 7th October. It

was ten miles in circumference, defended only by dilapidated

walls and ruined ramparts, and filled with a mixed population,

not as yet accustomed to British rule. The garrison was so

small as not to admit of reliefs, and provisions and sweetmeats

were therefore served to them on the battlements, but the

British Resident, Colonel Ochterlony, animated by the spirit of

Clive, and nobly seconded by the commandant, Colonel Burn,

defended the city for nine days, against the utmost efforts of

the enemy, 20,000 strong, with 100 pieces of cannon. At

length Holkar, despairing of success, drew off his army, and

sending back his infantry and guns into the territory of his

new ally, the raja of Bhurtpore, set out with his cavalry to lay

waste the British territories in the Dooab, in the ancient style

of Mahratta marauding. General Lake also divided his force ;

the main body was left under General Fraser to watch Holkar's

battalions of infantry, while he placed himself at the head of

six regiments of cavalry, European and Native, and his mounted

artillery, and started in pursuit of him. In this expedition

Holkar contrived invariably to keep twenty or thirty miles

a-liead, ravaging and burning the defenceless villages 'as he

swept along. After a very harassing march of three hundred

pursued b
an(^ ^v nû es ^n fourteen days, the General was

Gen, Lake, so fortunate as to come up with his encamp-
ment at Futtygur, on the 17th November, having

marched no less than fifty-six miles in the preceding twenty-
four hours. Holkar had been led to believe from the report of

his spies, that the British cavalry was a day's march behind him,

and had retired to rest. The horses were at picket, and the men
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lay asleep by their side, wrapped in their blankets, when

several rounds of grape gave them the first intimation of the

arrival of their pursuers. Holkar mounted his horse and

galloped off with the few troopers around him, leaving the

rest of his troops to shift for themselves, and they were either

cut up or dispersed in all directions. He hastened back to

rejoin his infantry, but found on re-crossing the Jumna, that

Battle of Deeg, they had been subject during his absence to an
isth NOV. 1804.

irreparable defeat. Four days before the action at

Futtygur, General Fraser had encountered Holkar's army, con-

sisting of fourteen battalions of infantry, a large body of horse,

and a hundred and sixty guns, in the vicinity of Deeg. The

English force did not exceed 6,000, but contained in its ranks

the 76th Highlanders, the foremost in the path of honour and

danger, and they again bore the brunt of the battle. The

enemy was completely routed, and left eighty-seven pieces of

cannon on the field. But the victory was dearly purchased by
the loss of 643 killed and wounded, and more especially of

the noble general, who died three days after of his wounds.

On his removal from the field during the action, the command
devolved on Colonel Monson, who maintained the conflict with

the utmost gallantry, and had the satisfaction of recover-

ing fourteen of the guns he had lost in his retreat. During the

engagement a destructive fire was opened on the British troops
from the fort of Deeg, which belonged to the raja of Bhurt-

pore. A battering train was immediately ordered up from

Agra^and the fortress was captured on the 23rd December.

siege of Bhurt- The fortunes of Holkar were now at the lowest

pore, 1805. e^. jje ha(j \os^ a]j njs for^s jn |ne Deccan.

General Jones, who, under the advice of General Wellesley,

had been appointed in the room of the incompetent Colonel

Murray to the Guzerat command, had taken all his fortresses

in Malwa, and marched up through the heart of the Mahratta

dominions, unmolested, and joined General Lake's camp. The

vast army with which Holkar had proudly crossed the Jumna

four months before, had dwindled awayunder repeated reverses,
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and the entire destruction of his power appeared inevitable,

when every advantage which had been gamed in the campaign
was thrown away by the fatal resolution of General Lake to

invest Bhurtpore. It was a town and fortress eight miles in cir-

cumference, surrounded by the invulnerable bulwark of a lofty

mud wall of great thickness, and protected by numerous

bastions, and a deep ditch, filled with water. It was garrisoned

by about 8,000 of the raja's troops, and the remnant of

Holkar's infantry. General Lake refused to listen to any

argument, and without a sufficient siege train, without an

engineer officer of any experience, without even a recon-

naissance, resolved, with breathless impetuosity, at once to

besiege the town. This memorable siege commenced on the 4th

January, 1805, and the army did not break up before the 21st

April. Four unsuccessful attacks were made which entailed

the unprecedented loss of 3,200 men in killed and wounded,
of whom 103 were officers. The raja was joined at his own

request during the siege by Ameer Khan, but the exorbitant

demands of that chief speedily dissolved the union, on which

he proceeded with his predatory horse into his native province

of Rohilcund, in the hope of raising it against the English.

General Smith was detached in pursuit of him, and after per-

forming the extraordinary march of seven hundred miles in

forty-three days, overtook him at the foot of the Himalayu,
and chased him back across the Jumna. Though the siege of

Bhurtpore had not been successful, the raja severely felt the

loss of all his territorial revenues, and the exactions of Holkar,

and became anxious to bring the war to a close. He therefore

sent a vakeel to General Lake, ostensibly to congratulate him

on his advance to the peerage, of which intelligence had just

been received, but, in reality, to open negotiations ; and a

treaty was speedily concluded on condition that he
Treaty with *

Bhurtpore, should pay twenty lacs of rupees towards the
Apni, 1805.

expenses of the war, in four instalments. But the

submission of the raja, under such circumstances, could not

repair the loss of reputation which the British Government
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sustained by the notorious failure of the siege. Nothing had

filled the princes of India with greater dismay than the easy

ind rapid reduction of their strongest fortresses in positions

which appeared to be absolutely impregnable. But in the

present case, a British army, under the Commander-in-chief

in person, had been foiled for several months in every attempt
to capture a mud fort, situated in a plain, and the Native

chiefs began to flatter themselves that our skill and our prowess
were on the wane. The remembrance of our disgrace was per-

petuated even in remote districts by rude delineations on the

walls of British soldiers hurled from the battlements of Bhurt-

pore, nor was the impression created by this failure completely

removed till the capture of the fort by Lord Combermere,

twenty-one years afterwards.

This accommodation with Bhurtpore was has-
Attitude of Sin- r
dia; Gohud, and tened by the menacing attitude of Sindia, to
Gwalior, 1805. ... -p, ,-. ,

whose proceedings we now return. By the treaty

of Sirjee Angengaom, he had engaged in general terms to

relinquish all claim on the rajas and feudatories in the north,

with whom the Governor-General had concluded defensive

alliances. When the list of these chiefs was for the first time

presented to him, in April, 1804, with the ratified treaty, he

was mortified to find the name of the rana of Gohud, together

with the fort of Gwalior, included in it, and he urged the most

vehement objection to these alienations. Gwalior, on which he

set a high value, was, he said, the personal gift of the emperor
to him ; and his servant, Ambajee Inglia, to whom it had been

entrusted, had no right whatever to dispose of it, when he

treacherously joined the English. As to the rana of Gohud,

he scouted the idea of acknowledging the existence of such a

being, whose power he had extinguished, and whose terri-

tories he had annexed to his own twenty years before. It

was an unfortunate circumstance that General Lake in the

north and General Wellesley in the south should have been

making arrangements and alliances affecting the interest

of Sindia, in total ignorance of the proceedings of each other.
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When General Wellesley negotiated the treaty with Sindia

he was not aware that Lord Wellesley had determined to re-

establish the principality of Gohud, and to make the rana

independent. Sindia deprecated the revival of these ancient

and extinct claims, and justly observed that " it could not

fail to weaken the fundamental rights of actual possession, as

the greater portion of the Company's territories as well as his

own had no other foundation." General Wellesley affirmed

that Sindia had agreed to the treaty in the fullest confidence

that Gwalior was to remain with him, and that, for his part,
" he would sacrifice it and every other frontier town ten times

over to preserve our credit for scrupulous good faith, and that

the advantages and honour we had gained in the last war

and peace must not be frittered away in arguments drawn

from the overstrained principles of the law of nations, which

was not understood in India." Major Malcolm, the envoy at

the court of Sindia, entertained the same views, and anxiously

laboured for the restoration of these possessions to Sindia.

Lord Wellesley resented this opposition to his wishes, and

when the Major pleaded, in extenuation of his conduct, that

his sole object was to promote the public interests, remarked,
*'

Major Malcolm's business is to obey my orders and enforce

my instructions ; I will look after the public interests." The

Governor-General was all the more pertinacious on this occa-

sion from being entirely in the wrong, and his conduct cannot

be more accurately described than by the expressive Indian

word, zid. Sindia was obliged to yield to his imperious de-

mand, and submit to the alienation of Gohud and Gwalior, but

it continued to rankle in his bosom.

Hostility of The disastrous retreat of Colonel Monson pro-
Sindia, 1804-5.

(Juce(j a profound sensation throughout Ilindo-

stan
; it created an impression that fortune was at length

deserting the standard of the Company, and it strengthened the

hope that the Mahrattas might yet regain their former ascen-

dency. Wittul Punt, Sindia's great minister, died in October,

1804, and was succeeded by Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, the invete-
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rate enemy of the British power. Under his sinister advice,

Sindia addressed a defiant letter to the Governor-General, im-

pugning the good faith of the British Government in numerous

instances. The letter, instead of being sent direct, was trans-

mitted to his vakeel at Benares, who journeyed with it by
slow stages to Calcutta, watching the progress of events,

and it would never have been delivered at all but for our dis-

comfiture before Bhurtpore. It reached the Governor-General

four months after it was penned. Meanwhile, a secret alliance

was formed against the Company, which included Sindia and

Holkar, Ameer Khan, and the raja of Bhurtpore ;
and Sindia,

emboldened by our reverses, ventured to attack the territories

of our allies, and to invade Sagur. At the beginning of 1805,

the encampment of Mr. Richard Jenkins, the British represen-

tative at his court, was assailed and plundered at the instiga-

tion of Sirjee Rao, in the hope of irretrievably compromising
his master with the British Government. Sindia likewise put

his army in motion, and announced his intention to march to

Bhurtpore, and negotiate a peace between the raja and the

Company, an insult which the Governor-General could not but

feel acutely. But both he and General Wellesley were equally

anxious to avoid a rupture with Sindia at this critical juncture.

The army before Bhurtpore was disheartened by repeated

failures ; the British frontier, for several hundred miles, from

Calpee to Midnapore was defenceless, and a combined attack

of the allies might have been followed by disastrous results.

Sindia continued to advance with 40,000 men, including Pin-

darees, and encamped eighteen miles beyond Subulgur, where

he was joined by Ambajee Inglia. The Resident remonstrated

against his crossing the Chumbul, as it would in all pro-

bability lead to a war, and urged him to return to his own

capital. Sindia made the most amicable professions, but as-

sured him that the embarrassment of his finances was so great

as to prevent his retracing his steps ; but if some arrangement

could be made for relieving his pressing necessities, he would

act in accordance with the Governor-General's desire. General
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Wellesley, who was satisfied of the truth of this assertion, and

who believed that Sindia was really impoverished, advised his

brother to grant him some pecuniary aid, and he immediately
made a retrograde movement of a few miles.

Progress of the
^ve ^ajs after this retirement, Sirjee Rao, ap-

settiemcnt with
parently without Sindia's concurrence, marched up
to Bhurtpore with a part of his master's cavalry,

and all his Pindarees ; but before his arrival the treaty with

Lord Lake had been completed, though without the knowledge
of the Mahrattas, and the raja refused to meet him. After

the preliminaries of peace had been signed, a division of

British troops attacked Holkar, who had been hovering about

the fort during the siege, and completely defeated him, leaving
under his standard only 3,000 or 4,000 exhausted cavalry. Sirjee

Rao returned with Holkar to Sindia's encampment at Subulgur,
where all the confederates, except the raja of Bhurtpore, were

now assembled. Holkar and Ameer Khan soon intimated to

Sindia that it would be impossible to keep their forces together

without funds, and that all their projects against the Company
must therefore be abandoned. He replied that his treasury

was empty, and that although he had jewels enough, no

money could be raised on them, but his general, Ambajee, was

possessed of boundless wealth, yet would not part with a

rupee. Ambajee had been Sindia's lieutenant in Rajpootana and

Hindostan for many years, and had amassed two crores of

rupees, which he had deposited for safety in Kotah. With the

full concurrence of Sindia, he was seized and confined, and

Ameer Khan subjected him to the most exquisite tortures, till

he consented to part with fifty-five lacs from his hoards, of

which Sindia appropriated one-half to his own use. As Sindia

and his confederates continued to encamp at Subulgur, General

Lake moved down upon them as soon as the Bhurtpore treaty

was signed, and the whole body retreated in haste and consterna-

tion towards Kotah. At the beginning of June the atrocities

of Sirjee Rao constrained Sindia to displace him, and Ambajee
was raised to the post of minister. With a lively recollection
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of the injuries he had received from Holkar, he endeavoured

to sow dissension between him and Sindia, and at length suc-

ceeded in breaking up the alliance, which paved the way for an

amicable adjustment of all differences with the British Govern-

ment. Soon after, Lord Lake addressed a letter to Sindia,

stating that if the Resident, who was still detained by him,

though treated with great respect, was not dismissed within ten

days, the relations subsisting between the two states would be

no longer considered binding. The day before the expiration

of this period, one of Sindia's principal ministers waited on the

Resident, and entreated him to waive the demand for his dis-

mission,
" because it would give an appearance of enmity to

the relations of the two states." Sindia had nothing to gain

but everything to risk by a war, and he was sincerely desirous

of establishing a good understanding with the Company. He
had not forgotten how, in August, 1803, the departure of

Colonel Collins from his camp had been the signal of hostilities,

and he feared lest the retirement of Mr. Jenkins should pro-

duce the same disastrous result. On his part, Lord Wellesley
was equally desirous of peace. He had made up his mind to

restore Gohud and Gwalior, as a matter of policy, and was

ready to discuss any other concessions which might enable

him to place the army on a peace establishment and reduce the

burdens of the state. Another month or two would have

brought about an amicable adjustment of all dif-

weiiesiey's ad- ferences, and placed the tranquillity of India upon
ministration, & goM ^^ ^ ^ ^ g^ j^ Lord QQm_

wallis landed in Calcutta, and assumed charge of

the Government and Lord Wellesley's whole scheme of policy

was at once subverted.

Bemarks on The administration of Lord Wellesley is the
Lord Welles- most memorable in the annals of Brilish India.
leys admims-

,

tration, 1805. He found the empire beset with the most immi-

nent perils in every quarter, and he bequeathed it to his

successor in a state of complete security. He found a feeling

of contempt for our power gradually increasing at every court,
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and threatening its existence, and he set himself with un-

exampled energy to restore our prestige. In rapid succession

he annihilated the French force at Hyderabad, and converted

all the resources of the Nizam to the use of the Company.
He extinguished the Mysore power and became master of the

Deccan. He extirpated the French battalions of Sindia, and

turned his possessions in Hindostan into a British province.

He paralysed the power of the great Mahratta princes so

effectually that, notwithstanding the timid and retrograde policy

of the next twelve years, they were never able to recover it.

He remodelled the map of India and introduced greater and

more important changes in all its political relations than had

been effected by any single prince, Hindoo or Mahomedan.

He doubled the territories and the resources of the Company.
He had a peculiar genius for creating and consolidating an

empire. Ha was the Akbar of the Company's dynasty. His

individual character was impressed on every branch of the

administration, and his inspiration animated every member of

the service in every department, and in every province. To

those around him, who were under his immediate influence, he

was the object of " hero worship," and the designation usually

applied to him was " the glorious little man." But his atten-

tion was chiefly directed to those great measures of state

which were required to secure and strengthen the Government.

The time had not arrived when the moral and intellectual im-

provement of the people was considered within the province

of the ruler. Lord Wellesley made no effort to promote the

education of the natives, and the erroneous policy initiated by
Lord Comwallis of excluding them from all share in any
branch of the Government, and working it exclusively by

European agency, was approved and perpetuated. But he

constrained the civilians to acquire the language of the

people they were appointed to govern, which the Court of

Directors had neglected for thirty-five years ; and to his

administration belongs the distinguished honour of having,

under the influence of Mr. Udny and Dr. Carey, passed
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the humane regulation prohibiting the sacrifice of children at

Sagur.

Lord Wellesley's great predecessor, Warren

* Hastings, was the first ruler who contemplated the

of Directors, necessity imposed by our position of extending

British influence over every court, and making the

Company the leading power in India. For the, attempt to carry

out this great conception, he was subjected to an impeachment
and reduced to poverty. Twelve years after he had. left India,

Lord Wellesley felt the pressure of the same
. necessity, and

resolved to pursue the same object, not by the simple exertion

of influence, but by the exercise of authority. He was

anxious to extinguish those internecine contests among the

princes of India which for more than
:
a century had turned

its fairest provinces into a desert, encouraged a predatory and

military spirit among the inhabitants, and formed an inex-

haustible source for the supply of military adventurers, pre-

pared to join the standard of. any turbulent chieftain, for the

purposes of ambition, plunder, and rebellion. He felt, as

General Wellesley described it, that "no permanent system
of policy could be adopted to preserve the,weak against the

strong, and to keep the princes for any length of time in their

relative situations, and the whole body in peace, without the

establishment of one power, which by the superiority of its

strength, and its military system and resources, should obtain a

preponderating influence for the protection of all." The Com-

pany was to be this preponderant power, but the Company
was still a commercial body, and had an instinctive dread of

all military operations which interrupted its investments and

disturbed its balance-sheet. In the conflict between the

merchant and the sovereign in Leadenhall-street, the influence

and interest of the merchant prevailed, although Lord Wellesley
maintained that "as long as the Company represented the

sovereign executive authority in this vast empire, its duties of

sovereignty must be paramount to mercantile interests." This

irreconcileable difference of views created a strong feeling of
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antipathy towards him at the India House, which, though

mitigated for a time by the influence of Lord Castlereagh,

broke out at length with irrepressible violence. His policy

was denounced, his measures were thwarted, and his govern-

ment was humiliated and weakened. For a time he manifested,

as he said,
" an invariable respect even for the errors of every

branch of their authority," but this respect was at length

extinguished by xthe virulence of their opposition, and in a

moment of exasperation, he designated them the "cheese-

mongers of Leadenhall- street," an expression never forgiven.

The India House accused him of "
illegal appointments," of

"evasions of the law," of "contempt of Parliament," and

above all, of "a disdain of constituted authority," meaning
the Court of Directors. He charged them with "vindictive

profligacy," and "^ignominious tyranny," and in writing to a

ministerial friend said that " no additional outrage, injury, or

insult which could issue from the most loathsome den in

the India House would accelerate his departure from India,

while the public interests seemed to require the aid of his

services,"

The impartiality of history requires that great

effect ofaiarm allowance should be made for the feelings of the
at the India Court of Directors and the Court of Proprietors.

Parliament had thought fit to interdict all increase

of territory, and even to forbid all alliances with the native

princes, and the Directors fondly believed that under the

shadow of this wise and prudent injunction, as they deemed

it, they would be enabled to continue at peace with the native

powers, and to pursue their mercantile enterprises, which

they prized above all things, without interruption. But the

present Governor-General, in utter defiance of the authority of

Parliament, had been engaged in wars from Cape Comorin to

the Sutlege, had broken the power of prince after prince,

completed a gigantic revolution, and seated the Company on

the throne of the Great Mogul, and invested it with the

responsibility of governing one half and controlling the other



182 APPOINTMENT OF LORD CORNWALLIS. [CHAP.

half of India. It was impossible that a body constituted like

the East India Company should not take alarm at the audacity

of his aspirations, and the vastness of his schemes, and forbode

the certain loss of the country, through the resentment excited

against British ambition in every province. Even Lord

Wellesley's friend, Lord Castlereagh, questioned whether an

empire founded on so broad a basis could be fed with its due

proportion of British troops from England. He feared that

the frame of the government had become too complicated and

unwieldly for any other hands than those of Lord Wellesley,

and, like the Directors, regarded with a feeling of consterna-

tion the vast extent of our dominions in India, and the

ruinous consequences which seemed to be the inevitable

result of it. The announcement of the war with Holkar filled

up the measure of Lord Wellesley's delinquencies, and of the

terror of the public authorities in England. Even before the

news of Colonel Monson's retreat arrived, Mr. Charles Grant,

the Corypheus of the Court of Directors, declared that he had
" not only wantonly but criminally involved the Government in

all the difficulties of another war with an able and powerful

chieftain." Lord Castlereagh thought there could be no

safety but in bringing back things to the state the Legislature

had prescribed in 1793, in other words, in putting the clock

back a dozen years. Sir George Barlow had been nominated

provisional Governor-General at the special recommendation

of Lord Wellesley, but at such a crisis it was deemed unsafe

to entrust the destinies of the empire to one of his disciples.

Lord Cornwallis was known to disapprove of Lord Wellesley's

system of policy, and he was entreated to proceed to India

and deliver the Company from its fatal effects, as he had been

sent out twenty years before to rescue the British interests in

India from the mischievous consequences of Hastings's plans.

But before entering on his proceedings it is necessary to

wind up the history of Lord Wellesley's career by a brief

notice of the treatment he experienced on his return to

England.
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The mode in which the great services of Lord
Prosecution of

Mr. Faun, Clive and Warren Hastings had been requited in

England forbade the hope that the brilliant admi-

nistration of Lord Wellesley would escape the homage of

censure. A Mr. Paull, who, on the testimony of General

Wellesley, was originally a tailor, had gone out as an adven-

turer to India, and taken an investment of goods to Lucknow,
where he was so fortunate as to obtain the countenance of the

Nabob Vizier, and amassed a large fortune. On his return to

India, after a short visit to England, the Nabob refused to

admit him into the city, and it was only through the interces-

sion of Lord Wellesley that the interdict was removed.

Mr. Paull expressed unbounded gratitude to his benefactor,

and professed the highest respect for his character. This feel-

ing was not, however, of long duration. On his final return to

England, in 1805, he bought a seat in Parliament, and on the

22nd May, 1806, brought forward " articles of charge of high
crimes and misdemeanours committed by the Marquis of Welles-

ley in his transactions with respect to the Nabob of Oude." In

the course of his speech he assured the House that,
" from the

accursed day when Lord Wellesley set foot in India till the

day of his departure, he had exhibited a constant scene of rapa-

city, oppression, cruelty, and fraud, which goaded the whole

country into a state of revolt." Mr. Paull then moved for

papers relative to the transactions in Oude, in Furruckabad,

and in Surat. The members of the Court of Directors who had

seats in the House, while they disapproved of many of Lord

Wellesley's measures, refused their support to so preposterous

a charge; and Mr. Fox, then prime minister, declared that,

since the trial of Mr. Hastings, he had shrunk from all Indian

impeachments. The House, however, did not see fit to resist

the production of evidence
; but, after it had been taken on the

first charge, a dissolution terminated all proceedings. At the

ensuing election Mr. Paull stood for Westminster, and failed,

and then put a period to his existence. Twenty months after,

Lord Folkstone took up the thread of the prosecution, and

n. o
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moved' twelve resolutions, which charged Lord Wellesley with

having,
" under the impulse of unjustifiable ambition and love

of power, formed schemes of aggrandisement and acquisition

of territory, contravened two Acts of Parliament, violated every

principle of good faith, equity and justice, and the sacred obli-

gations of a solemn treaty, and affixed a lasting stigma and

reproach on the British name." The resolutions were negatived

by 182 to 31, after which Sir John Anstruther, who had been

chief justice of Calcutta, moved a resolution to the effect that

Lord Wellesley, in the late arrangements in Oude, had been

actuated by an ardent zeal for the public service, and it was

carried by a triumphant majority. Two months later, Sir

Thomas Turton brought the Carnatic question before the House,
and accused Lord Wellesley of atrocious delinquencies, and

went so far as to hint that he was accessory to the death of

the late Nabob. The resolution was indignantly rejected by
the House, and a vote approving of Lord Wellesley's proceed-

ings was carried, with only nineteen dissentient voices.

Far different was the conduct of the Directors
Conduct of the

-, -.-,
. , , i_ p T f

Directors and and Proprietors, among whom the feeling of am-

mosity towards Lord Wellesley was still unabated.

Towards the close of his administration, the Court

of Directors compiled a despatch, in which all the charges which

could be raked up were elaborately set forth. It was the con-

centrated essence of the spirit of malignity which had been

fermenting in Leadenhall-street for several years. The Board

of Control judiciously substituted for it a brief letter asking for

explanations in a tone of great moderation, and to it the Court

of Directors were obliged to affix their signature. The Pro-

prietors, however, ordered the original despatch to be printed,

and a motion was brought forward in their Court impugning
Lord Wellesley's policy, and applauding the Directors for

having
" restrained a lavish expenditure of public money, and

opposed all schemes of conquest and extension of empire." After

a long and acrimonious debate, 928 voted the condemnation of

Lord Wellesley, and only 195 his acquittal But, after the
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lapse of thirty years, when passion and prejudice had given

way to the voice of reason, the Court of Directors availed them-

selves of the publication of his dispatches, in five volumes, to

assure him that in their judgment he had been animated

throughout his administration "
by an ardent zeal to promote

the well-being of India, and to uphold the interest and honour

of the British empire," and that they looked back to the eventful

and brilliant period of his government with feelings common to

their countrymen. They voted him a grant of 20,000, and

ordered his statue to be placed in the India House, as a recog-

nition of the great services he had rendered to the Company.

CHAPTER XXIII.

ADMINISTRATION OF LORD CORNWALLIS AND SIR GEORGE

.BARLOW, 1805 7.

Lord Corn- LORD Cornwallis landed in Calcutta on the 30th

warns, soth
July, 1805, and within twenty-four hours Lord

Weflesley had the mortification to learn that the

system of policy which he had pursued for five years with in-

defatigable zeal, was to be immediately and entirely subverted.

The ihcessant labours in which Lord Cornwallis had been

engaged for thirty years in America, in India, and in Ireland,

had exhausted his constitution, and those who had seen him

embark hi the vigour of health twelve years before, could not

help remarking, with sorrow, that he now returned with

the hand of death upon him. It would have been well if,

at his advanced age, he had remained in England ; but when
he was importuned by the Court of Directors and the Board of

Control to proceed to India and save the empire, he considered it

an imperative duty to obey the call, at the sacrifice of his ease

and comfort, and, probably, of his life. He came out to India,

therefore, pledged to the public authorities in England to over-

o 2
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turn the existing policy of Government, as far as related to

the princes of India, and he affirmed that he could not con-

sider himself at liberty to pursue any other course. It was

his primary object, he said, to remove the impression universally

entertained of a systematic design to establish British control

over every power in India. He was anxious to restore the

native Governments which had been subverted by the pro-

gress of our arms, and the ascendency of our influence, to a

condition of "
vigour, efficiency, and independent interest."

He was desirous of abandoning the position in upper India

which had been secured by Lord Wellesley's successes, and

to be quit of all our alliances and territories west
His view of the *

state of affairs, of the Jumna. He lamented the almost universal

phrenzy for victory and conquest which had, he

said, seized even some of the heads which he thought the

soundest, as repugnant to the interests as it was to the laws of

their country, yet Lord Wellesley and the public functionaries

were equally ardent for an honourable peace. On the 1st August
Lord Cornwallis wrote to the Court of Directors that finding

we were still at war with Holkar, and could hardly be said to

be at peace with Sindia, he had determined to proceed to the

upper provinces, and avail himself of the interval of the rains,

when military operations were suspended, "to endeavour, if

it could be effected without a sacrifice of our honour, to termi-

nate by negotiation a contest in which the most brilliant suc-

cess could afford no solid benefit, and which, if it continued,

would entail pecuniary difficulties we should hardly be able to

surmount." He described the state of the finances as most

deplorable, a fact which admitted of no denial. Two years of

war had exhausted the treasury, and increased the public

debt. Lord Lake's army was five months in arrears. The

large body of "
irregulars

" who had been induced to forsake the

native princes, and to take service with the Company, and who

had thus contributed in no small degree to our successes, were

no longer required, and the six lacs of rupees a-month they
cost was felt to be a dead weight. Lord Wellesley had
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already made some progress in disbanding
1

them, but Lord

Cornwallis declared that he would rather fight them than pay
them. They could not, however, be discharged without their

arrears, and he adopted a second time the expedient, the most

unpalatable to the Company, of robbing their investments to

supply the wants of the state. A sum of twenty-five lacs of

rupees was, accordingly, taken out of the hold of the China

ships at Madras, and sent on to Calcutta,
" to give him the

chance of getting rid of this force."

During his progress to the north-west pro-

waiiis-s policy, vinces Lord Cornwallis defined the line of policy

he intended to pursue in a despatch to Lord Lake,

dated on the 19th of September. He proposed to restore to

Holkar all the dominions of the family as soon as he should

manifest a disposition to accede to reasonable terms of accom-

modation. He was prepared to conciliate Sindia by resigning

Gohud and Gwalior, after a suitable provision had been made

for the rana, as well as Dholpore and two other districts,

accounting to him likewise for the revenues which had been

collected during their occupancy by the Company's officers.

If the demand for the release of the Resident was likely to

prove any obstacle to a reconciliation, he was prepared, as a

mere point of honotir, to waive it. He was disposed to abro-

gate the treaty with Jeypore, and leave Sindia at liberty to

exact whatever contributions he chose from the raja. He
considered the possession of the city of Delhi and the person
of the emperor a very unfortunate circumstance, as we
could only secure him from the danger of being carried off by
the maintenance of a large and expensive army. He pro-

posed, therefore, to remove him, if practicable, to some town

nearer Calcutta, and to restore the old capital of India to

Sindia, with liberty again to establish the power of the

Mahrattas in Hindostan. Lord Wellesley had fixed the

Chumbul as their future boundary ; and to guard against their

encroachments had entered into defensive alliances with the

princes to the north of that river. Lord Comwallis resolved to
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dissolve these alliances, and to compensate the princes for

the loss of our protection by distributing among them the

lands we had obtained to the west of the Jumna, which he

considered a useless acquisition. He likewise addressed a

letter to Sindia, with a sketch of the proposed arrangements,

including a demand for the liberation of the Resident, and

enclosed it to Lord Lake to be forwarded to his camp.
Lord Lake iustly dreaded the effect of mani-

Lord Lake's J J

remonstrance, festing so eager a desire for peace, and took upon
himself the responsibility of withholding the letter

to Sindia, more especially as the Resident had in the mean-

time been unconditionally released. In his reply to the com-

munication of the Governor-General he advanced the most

cogent arguments against this new course of policy. It

would, he argued, be highly detrimental to the interests of

the Company to allow the influence and the armies of the

Mahrattas to be again introduced into Hindostan. If the

princes to whom we had promised our protection were aban-

doned, they would fall a prey to Sindia, Holkar, and Ameer

Khan, and large bodies of irregular troops thirsting for

plunder would be planted on the frontier of our most fertile

and opulent districts. Neither could we withdraw our pro-

tection from these princes, except on their own requisition,

without a breach of public faith, and no offer of territory

would induce them to relinquish this blessing, least of all, at

a time when we were about to let loose the elements of

anarchy and destruction in Central India. He observed that

the Jumna, which the Governor-General proposed to make

the boundary of the British dominions, was not a barrier of

any importance, as, above its junction with the Chumbul,
it was fordable in a variety of places except during a few

weeks in the year, and would afford little protection from the

incursions of an enemy.

__. _. Before this letter could reach its destination
Death of Lord

Comwaiiis, Lord Cornwallis was in his grave. As he pro-
Oct. 6, 1805.

ceeded Up tne river his strength rapidly declined,
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and in the last month of his existence he lay in a state of

weakness approaching insensibility during the day, but rallied

towards the evening, when he listened to the despatches and

dictated replies. It was in this state of mental and physical

debility that the memorable despatch of the 19th September,

ordering a sudden revolution of policy in the Government of a

great empire, was composed and signed. It may reasonably
be doubted whether Lord Cornwallis was in a condition to

comprehend the scope and consequences of the measures to

which he gave the stamp of his authority. A week after, he

was unconscious of what was passing around him. He was

landed at Ghazeepore, where he expired on the 5th October.

His merits as a Governor-General have, doubtless, been over-

rated, but it would be difficult to name a public character who
more richly earned the esteem and confidence of society by
his sterling integrity, his straightforward and manly character,

and the spirit of justice and moderation which regulated all his

actions. If he had been in the full vigour of his faculties, and

had enjoyed an opportunity of intercourse with Lord Lake,

he would have been able to form an estimate of the change
which had taken place since he left the Government, and would

have perceived the impossibility of steering the vessel of the

state in 1805 by the almanack of 1793; and there is every
reason to believe that he would have modified the measures he

was now imprudently urging forward, under the impulse of the

alarm which brought him to India. As the public authorities

in England had sent out an old man of sixty-seven to govern
India without making any provision for the contingency of his

death, Sir George Barlow, of whom Mr. Pitt, Mr. Dundas

now Lord Melville and Lord Castlereagh, had said a few

months before that he was altogether
" out of the question,"

succeeded to the office of Governor-General, and proceeded to

the upper provinces.

Sir George Barlow was a civil servant on the

riow, Gover- Bengal establishment, who had risen through the

gradations of office by a meritorious service of
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twenty-eight years, to a seat in Council. For many years

he had been at the head of some of the most important

departments of state and had acquired a fund of know-

ledge and experience superior to that of any other officer. He
had been extolled for his official aptitude and industiy by three

successive Governors-General, and although the Ministry
in England had wisely resolved never again to place any local

official at the head of the Government, Lord Wellesley, with

all his discernment, had actually obtained the reversion of the

Governor-Generalship for him. But Sir George was simply a

respectable, plodding, first-rate civilian, whose natural abilities

eminently qualified him for a subordinate situation, but who

possessed none of that patrician elevation of mind which was

needed for the management of an empire. While he con-

tinued under the influence of Lord Wellesley's genius he cor-

dially adopted and assisted in carrying out his comprehensive

views, and became so closely identified with his policy that he

lost the prospect of succeeding him when that policy was con-

demned. This significant fact was communicated to him by his

earliest patron, Lord Cornwallis, and it may possibly have

exercised some influence on his opinions, and led him, on the

arrival of that nobleman, to become the unflinching advocate

of the new and opposite policy which was now in the as-

cendant at the India House.

On the death of Lord Cornwallis it devolved on

poUcy.Tso^
Sir George Barlow to reply to the letter of Lord

Lake, and to notify the course which the Govern-

ment, now in his hands, intended to adopt. He announced his

resolution to follow the footsteps of his deceased predecessor,
and to dissolve the alliances with the native princes, which

he had assisted Lord Wellesley in establishing. His policy,

as he described it, was
" directed to the divesting ourselves of

all right to the exercise of interference in the affairs of the

native princes where we possessed it almost to an unlimited

extent by treaty, and to the withdrawing from all concern

whatever in the affairs of every state beyond the Jurnna."
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This course, he remarked, was
" in conformity with the princi-

ples laid down by Parliament, with the orders of their honour-

able masters, and with his own convictions of expediency."

As to the security of our territories, which Lord Wellesley

intended to rest on the establishment of general tranquillity,

under British supremacy, Sir George considered that it would

be as effectually promoted by the prevalence of general

anarchy beyond our frontier ; and the revival of the mutual

conflicts of the native princes, which had desolated the country
for thirty years, but were now happily brought tinder control,

was thus regarded as an object of complacency. It is difficult

to believe that the British Government in India, even under

the most timid administration, did ever deliberately contem-

plate the idea of allowing the native chiefs to tear one another

to pieces that theymight find no leisure to invade our territories ;

but the voice of honour and humanity is never heard in the

delirium of a panic. This despicable policy was aptly described

by Mr. Metcalfe, subsequently Governor-General himself, as

"disgrace without compensation, treaties without security,

and peace without tranquillity."

In the month of July, Lord Lake, with the full
Negotiations

'

with Sindia, concurrence of Lord Wellesley, had addressed a

letter to Sindia demanding the release of the

Resident by a fixed day, on pain of hostilities. The requisi-

tion came at a very favourable season. The atrocities of

Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, the inveterate enemy of the English, had

constrained Sindia to discard him from the post of minister,

and it was bestowed on Ambajee Inglia. He was favourable

to a British alliance, and incensed against Holkar and Ameer

Khan, who had recently tortured and plundered him, and he

endeavoured, and not without success, to sow dissensions

between them and Sindia. Sindia himself saw no farther

benefit to be derived from any connection with these ex-

tortionate and predatoiy chiefs. He had a painful recollection

of the field of Assye, and was anxious to avoid a second war

with the Company ; and to Lord Lake's requisition he replied
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that the rooksut, or friendly departure of the Kesident was

only delayed, according to usage, till the arrival of his suc-

cessor. A fair opening was thus presented for negotiations ;

but the question of taking the initiative, on which, more

especially in India, their success mainly depends, was the

point of difficulty. Happily, it was discovered that the moon-

shee Kavil-nyne, an old and favourite servant of Sindia, who
had assisted in concluding the treaty of Sirjee Angengaom,
but had been obliged to fly from the oppressions of Sirjee Rao,

was at this time residing at Delhi. Colonel Malcolm invited

him to the English camp, and it was concerted between them

that one of his relatives who happened to be in the service of

Sindia, should intimate to him the ease with which a negotia-

tion could be opened with the General through Kavil-nyne.

Sindia eagerly embraced the proposal, and was the first to

make advances. Lord Lake thus occupied the vantage ground
of receiving an overture, and replied that no proposal could

be entertained while the Resident continued under restraint.

He was accordingly permitted at once to take his departure,

with suitable honours.

E ui ment of
The negotiations werecommenced without delay,

the army, Oct. but it was felt that any adverse turn of circum-

stances might interrupt their progress, and possibly

throw Sindia back into opposition. Colonel Malcolm judged

rightly that nothing would tend so much to facilitate such

transactions as a display of military enterprize. Lord Lake

had a noble army under his command, but his military chest

was empty, and the financiers in Calcutta were very lukewarm

about supplying it with funds. Colonel Malcolm was mortified

to find " that they could not send Holkar to the devil for want

of seven or eight lacs of rupees," and he set himself to raise

the sum with all his natural ardour. He plied the native

bankers, but we had lost ground in the money-market, and he

could only raise a lac of rupees from them. He besieged the

collectors' treasuries for bills on Calcutta. He prevailed on

Government to sell the fortress of Deeg to the raja of Bhurt-
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pore, from whom it was temporarily withheld, for the immediate

payment of three lacs of rupees. By the beginning of October,

the requisite sum was raised, and Lord Lake was enabled to

take the field
" in grand style," and to start in pursuit of

Holkar. Colonel Malcolm felt that no place could be more

advantageous for the discussion of a treaty than the encamp-
ment of a pursuing and successful general. The moonshee was,

therefore, hurried along with the army, and resumed the thread

of the negotiation, day by day, when the tents were pitched.

The terms were at length adjusted, and sent to Sindia for his

ratification. All the provisions of the treaty of Sirjee Angen-

gaom, which were not modified by the new arrangement, were

to remain in force. Gohud and Gwalior were restored to him

as a matter of friendship, on his engaging to assign three lacs

of rupees from the revenues to the rana. Pensions, which had

been granted to different officers of his court, were relinquished,

and annuities were settled on himself, his wife, and his daughter.

The Chumbul was to form the boundary of the two states, but

the British Government engaged to enter into no treaties with

the rajas of Oodypore, Joudhpore, and other chiefs, the tribu-

taries of Sindia, in Malwa, Mewar, or Marwar, and Sindia

agreed never to admit Sirjee Rao into his counsels.

Holkar and Ameer Khan quitted the encamp-

Hoikar 1805
men^ ^ Sindia, when they perceived a change in

his policy favourable to the English alliance, and

proceeded to Ajmere. Holkar, notwithstanding his reverses,

still exhibited a vigorous and daring spirit. Northern India

swarmed with military adventurers, the fragments of the

armies which had been broken up. by our victories, and the

"
irregulars" whom the British Government was discharging.

Holkar was thus enabled to collect together a body of about

12,000 horse and 3,000 foot, with thirty not very serviceable

guns^ and he would speedily have become as formidable as at

any former period if time had been allowed him to complete

his levies. He solicited the raja of Jeypore to join his stand-

ard, but meeting with a stern refusal, pushed on to the north of
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Delhi, giving out that he had been invited into that region by
the Sikh chiefs of Sirhind. But the heavy contributions

which his necessities obliged him to levy on his route, and

the remonstrances of the Resident at Delhi deterred them from

joining him. Lord Lake now started in pursuit of him, at the

head of his cavalry, and a small body of light infantry ; and

a British army was for the first time conducted to the banks

of the Sutlege by the same general who had been the first to

cross the Jumna. But its progress was suddenly arrested by
the repugnance which the sepoys, from some superstitious

feeling, manifested to cross it. Colonel Malcolm, on hearing
of their hesitation, galloped into their ranks, and with that

singular tact which gave him the mastery of the native mind,

exclaimed " the city and the shrine of Umritsir, with the

water of immortality, is before you, and will you shrink from

such a pilgrimage ?" The words produced a magic effect, and

the sepoys hasted across the stream and entered the Punjab,

where Runjeet Sing, a young Sikh chieftain, of twenty-five,

was laying the foundation of a great kingdom. Holkar fled

as Lord Lake advanced, and had reached Umritsir, but Runjeet

Sing was evidently averse to the further progress of a British

army in his newly-conquered territories, and Lord Lake

encamped on the banks of the Beeas, the ancient Hyphasis, in

the neighbourhood of the spot where Alexander the Great had

erected altars to commemorate the extent of his conquests.

In that classical region the ratification of the treaty by Sindia

was received on the 25th December, and a double salute was

fired in honour of the day and of the peace. Runjeet Sing

is said to have visited the English camp in disguise, to examine

the military organisation of the foreigners who in the course

of fifty years had become masters of India. After a brief nego-

tiation, he concluded an agreement with Lord Lake, engaging

to hold no farther communication with Holkar, and to constrain

him to evacuate the Punjab. Holkar, now a helpless fugi-

tive, sent an envoy humbly to sue for peace, and Lord Lake

presented him with the draft of a treaty drawn up under the
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instructions of Sir George Barlow. All the family domains

south of the Chumbul were to be restored to him
; that river

was to be his fixed boundary, and the British Government

agreed not to interfere with any of the rajas or dependents

of the Holkar family south of it. He was required to relin-

quish all right to Rampoora, and all claims on the state of

Boondee ; to entertain no Europeans in his service without

the permission of Government, and to banish Sirjee Rao for

ever from his presence. He was likewise to return to Hin-

dostan by a prescribed route, and to abstain from injuring

the territories either of the Company or of their allies.

To Holkar, whose fortunes were now desperate,

Hoikar, Jan. and who had no alternative but to submit to any
terms Lord Lake might choose to dictate, these

proposals appeared a god-send. But the incredible lenity of

the conditions, which confounded the minds of the native

princes, only served to create a feeling of presumption in his

breast, and to inflate him with the notion that the British

Government could have been influenced only by a dread of his

military prowess. His vakeels returned with a demand for

eighteen districts in Hindostan, and additional jaygeers for his

family in the Deccan, and liberty to levy contributions on

Jeypore. But Colonel Malcolm replied that the British Go-

vernment had already pledged its faith to the protection of the

raja, and would not abandon him. " You have good reason

for supporting him," retorted the envoys,
" for he violated the

sacred laws of hospitality in surrendering Vizier Ali, on your
demand." Colonel Malcolm rejected all the demands and re-

buked the impertinent taunt, which, however, served to show
in what light that transaction was still viewed at the native

courts. New difficulties and delays were studiously inter-

posed, till Lord Lake's patience was exhausted, and he

threatened to break up his camp and commence the pursuit

of Holkar, when his vakeels at once produced the ratified

treaty, and confessed that they were only endeavouring to

gain credit with their master for their diplomatic tact.
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Sir George Barlow, however, was not satisfied

with the terms of either treaty. He considered

that to fix the Chumbul as the boundary of the

Mahratta dominions might be construed as a pledge to pro-

tect the native principalities lying to the north of it, and he

was resolved, in obedience to the authorities in England, to

dissolve all connection with them. While ratifying the treaties,

therefore, he added declaratory articles, the effect of which was

to withdraw our protection entirely from those states west of

the Jumna, with whom alliances had been formed two years

before. Rampoora, which Colonel Malcolm had positively

refused to relinquish, was restored to Holkar, and he fired a

royal salute on the occasion, declaring at the same time that

the English were, nevertheless,
"
great rascals, and never to

be trusted." The raja of Boondee was likewise left to his fate.

Lord Lake made the most strenuous efforts to save that un-

fortunate prince. He had the strongest claims on the con-

sideration, if not also on the gratitude of the Government.

He had never failed in his attachment to the Company;

regardless of the denunciations of Holkar, he had afforded

shelter and aid to Colonel Monson during his retreat. His

country, moreover, contained one of the most important

passes into our northern provinces. Sir George turned a

deaf ear to every remonstrance, and the raja was abandoned

to the revenge and rapacity of Holkar.

jeypore 1806
^e course pursued with regard to Jeypore was

yet more disgraceful. The raja was among the

foremost to enter the system of defensive alliances concluded

by Lord Wellesley. But his fidelity was shaken by the ap-

parent decay of our power, when Holkar was chasing Colonel

Monson before him, and Lord Wellesley informed Lord Corn-

wallis that his defection on that occasion had cancelled his

claims to our alliance. In the following year, Holkar entered

his territories and demanded his aid against the Company, but

Lord Lake informed him that he had now an opportunity of

making atonement for his former disloyalty, and that the
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boon of our protection would be restored to him if he resisted

the advances of the Mahratta chief. Upon the strength of

this promise, the raja not only obliged Holkar to quit his

dominions, but afforded cordial and important aid to our de-

tachments while passing through his districts in pursuit of him.

Lord Cornwallis, who was the soul of honour, assured Lord

Lake that any pledge which he had given to the raja should

be considered sacred. But Sir George Barlow refused to

recognise the obligation, and, at the time when Holkar was

returning from the Punjab and entering the Jeypore territory,

bent on plunder and revenge, caused it to be notified to the

raja, that the British protection was withdrawn from him, in

consequence of the breach of his engagements during Monson's

retreat. We thus incurred the odium of having availed our-

selves of the raja's services when they were of the highest

value to us, and of abandoning him to destruction when we
no longer needed them. It was in vain to attempt to reason

with Sir George, and Lord Lake was subjected to the reproaches

the keener for their truth of the raja's vakeels, who

upbraided the British Government with having made its good
faith subservient to its interests, and asserted that this was

the first time it had abandoned an ally to suit its convenience.

Indignant at the contempt with which his expostulations were

treated, and the degradation of the national honour, and con-

vinced, moreover, that he could not be a fit instrument for the

execution of measures which he entirely disapproved of,

Lord Lake, in the beginning of 1806, resigned the political

powers which had been entrusted to him, and resolved to con-

fine his attention to his military duties.

The treaty with Holkar had stipulated that he
Aggressions t j TT
of Holkar, should return to Hindostan by the route pre-

scribed for him, and abstain from all aggression
on the territories of the Company or its allies. But Lord

Lake was in haste to return, and save Government the field

expenses of his army, and, instead of directing Holkar to pre-

cede or accompany him, permitted him to remain behind. No
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sooner did he find that the British army was fairly across the

Sutlege, than he let loose his predatory bands on the Punjab
and plundered the country without mercy. He proved him-

self, as Rnnjeet Sing said indignantly to the British envoy
who visited his court four years later, a pucka huramzada

a determined rascal. Holkar was fully aware that he had no

longer Lord Wellesley to deal with, and there was no article

of the treaty which he did not violate with the greatest

effrontery. Passing through the province of Hurriana, which

had been granted to Abdul Sumud as a reward for the eminent

services he rendered to the Company, Holkar laid waste the

lands and levied heavy contributions on the people. Abdul

implored the interposition of the British Government, which

Sir George Barlow refused, but promised to make him a pecu-

niary compensation for his losses. Holkar then halted for a

month at Jeypore, and finding that the Governor-General had

withdrawn his protection from the raja, extorted eighteen

lacs of rupees from him. He then proceeded to wreak his

vengeance on the raja of Boondee for the assistance which he

had given Colonel Monson during his retreat.

This disastrous termination of the Mahratta
Remarks on

these transac- war planted the seeds of another and more
tions, 1806. momentous contest. The difference between the

policy of Lord Wellesley and of his two immediate successors,

was not the restoration of peace or the prosecution of war

and conquest. When the career of Lord Wellesley was ter-

minated by the arrival of Lord Cornwallis, nothing remained

to secure the pacification of India but to complete the accom-

modation with Sindia, which was in rapid progress, and to

extinguish the power of Holkar and Ameer Khan, who were

then reduced to extremity. If Lord Wellesley had continued

five months longer in power, India would have been blessed

with peace and tranquillity. The policy of the Court of Directors

brought peace to the Company, but distraction to India, and

the wisdom of Lord Wellesley's measures was lamentably

vindicated by the twelve years of anarchy which followed
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the rejection of it. By abandoning all the defensive alliances

which had been made, and enjoining a neutral and isolated

policy, the Directors endeavoured to check the advance

of the British Government to supreme authority in India.

But this attempt to control the inevitable progress of events

proved not only abortive, but disastrous. It afforded an oppor-

tunity for the growth and maturity of a new predatory power,

that of the Pindarees, who, after having exhausted the pro-

vinces of Central India, poured down on the British territories,

and rendered it necessary, in self-defence, to assemble an

army of more than 100,000 men to extirpate them. That

which it fell to the lot of Lord Hastings to accomplish for the

settlement of India in 1817, might have been effected with

greater ease, and at a less cost, by Lord Wellesley's plans in

1805.

Career of Hoi- To continue the brief career of Holkar to its

kar, 1806-u. Cl se. After his return to his own dominions he

addressed letters to the other Mahratta princes exhorting

them to form a national league against the common enemy,
but Lord Wellesley had so effectually paralyzed their power as

to leave them little inclination to respond to the call. Holkar

determined to reorganise his army, to reduce its numbers, and

improve its discipline. But the cavalry he had enlisted in the

south, whom he proposed in the first instance to discharge,

broke into open mutiny, and he was obliged to deliver his

nephew, Khundeh Rao, into their hands as a hostage for their

arrears. They immediately hoisted the standard of revolt,

threw off their allegiance to Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and pro-

claimed the lad their sovereign. To appease them, he delivered

up the sums he had extorted from Jeypore, on the receipt of

which they marched back to their homes. Within a week, the

unfortunate child, in whose name the government had hitherto

been carried on, was removed by poison, under the instigation

of Holkar's gooroo, or spiritual guide, the infamous Chimna

Bhao, who soon after became the instrument of murdering

Kashee Rao, the brother of his prince, and the only re-

n. f
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maining member of the royal house. The remorse of this

double murder preyed on the spirits of Holkar, and he began
to exhibit a degree of excitement in his conduct bordering on

insanity. He had determined to increase and improve his

artillery, and he laboured in person at the furnaces casting

cannon with a wild impetuosity. He gave himself up to un-

bounded indulgence. The shops at Bombay were ransacked

for cherry brandy, and intemperance began to undermine

his reason. His phrenzy rose eventually to such a pitch as

to endanger the lives of his attendants, and his own officers

seized him and confined him with ropes in a separate tent,

under a guard, where he uttered the loudest objurgations, and

tore his flesh with his nails. The most skilful doctors and the

most renowned magicians were called in, but their prescrip-

tions and incantations were equally without avail. After a

year of raging insanity he sunk into a state of

vuntRaoHoi- fatuity, and expired on the 20th October, 1811.
kar, i8ii.

During the period of his incapacity the govern-
ment of the state was carried on by his favourite concubine,

Toolsee bye, and his minister, Buluram Sett, whom we now
leave in charge of the administration.

_ .
,.

The withdrawal of British protection from the
Bajpootana
contest for a territory west of the Jumna, left the fertile pro-

:ess, 1806. vmces of Rajpootana at the mercy of the Mahrattas

and the Patans. The princes, instead of uniting their strength

against the enemies of their peace, wasted it for several years

against each other in a conflict, which, though tinged with a

ray of romance, entailed incalculable misery on their people.

The contest was for the hand of Krishnu Koomaree, the beau-

tiful daughter of the rana of Oodypore. An alliance with that

ancient and illustrious house " the sun of Hindoo glory"

was considered the highest honour to which a Kajpoot prince

could aspire, and the princess was considered the "flower"

of Rajpootana. She had been betrothed to Bheem Sing, the

raja of Joudhpore, but his death broke off the match, upon
which Juggut Sing, the raja of Jeypore, solicited her hand,
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and being accepted as her bridegroom sent a splendid escort

to conduct her to his capital. But Maun Sing, who had

succeeded Bheem Sing as the raja of Joudhpore, was ad-

vised to demand the princess, on the ground that the alliance

was contracted with the throne rather than with its occupant,

and attacked and routed the convoy. The raja of Jeypore was

incensed at the insult thus offered him, and collected an army
of more than 100,000 men to avenge it. It was a motley

assembly of Patans, Rajpoots, and Mahrattas. Ameer Khan,
whose fortunes were reduced to so low an ebb when the treaty

was made with Holkar in the Punjab that he was on the point

of flying to Afganistan, had returned to Hindostan, and

collected a large force, with which he joined the raja of Jey-

pore. Two of Sindia's commanders were likewise sent to

espouse his cause; and Sevae Sing, a powerful Joudhpore

noble, who had proclaimed a posthumous child of Bheem Sing
the rightful heir of the throne, in opposition to Maun Sing
whom he held in detestation, likewise joined his enemies.

There were few of the Rajpoot chiefs who were not ranged
under either flag. In the great battlewhich ensued, inFebruary,

1807, Maun Sing was deserted by his nobles and sustained a

total defeat. He fled from the field to the citadel of his

capital, which he defended with great gallantry for many
months, while his country was devastated by the enemy. To

relieve himself from this scourge, he made overtures to Ameer

Khan, who had no interest in reducing any of the Rajpoot
states to destruction, and thus depriving himself of the .prospect
of plundering them in succession. The Patan, therefore, on

the promise of fifty lacs of rupees a-year and a jaygeer of four

lacs for his kitchen expenses, deserted the cause of^ the Jey-

pore raja, and that prince, in addition to the loss of a hundred

arid twenty lacs of rupees, which the war and his allies had

cost him, now found his territories ravaged without mercy by
his own ally. The fortunes of Maun Sing were thus re-

trieved; but he could not consider himself secure while

Sevae Sing lived, and Ameer Khan agreed to effect hie de-

p 2
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struction for an additional sum of ten lacs. He paid him a

visit at Nagore, his chief town, pretending to have deserted

the cause ot Maun Sing, and took an oath on the Koran as a

pledge of his sincerity. Sevae Sing, suspecting no treachery,

accepted an invitation to an entertainment ; but while he was
amused with dancing girls, the ropes of the tent were cut, he

and his followers were entangled in its folds, and indiscrimi-

nately slaughtered by musketry and grape shot.

The raja of Oodypore had taken no part in the

British war f which his daughter was the innocent cause,
Gorernment, but he was, nevertheless, subjected to plunder by

Sindia and Ameer Khan, who were constrained to

resort to rapine to subsist the armies which they persisted in

maintaining on a scale beyond their resources. Wherever

the Mahratta or the Patan encamped, a single day was suffi-

cient to give the most flourishing spot the aspect of a desert,

and their march was traced by the blaze of villages and the

havoc of cultivation. In his extremity the rana applied to

the British Government for protection, offering to make over

one-half his territories for the defence of the other. Zalim

Sing, the renowned regent of Kotah, together with the rival

princes of Jeypore and Joudhpore, earnestly joined in this

solicitation. There had always, they said, been in India

some supreme power to which the weak looked for protec-

tion against the ambition and the rapacity of the strong.

The Company had now succeeded to this paramount sove-

reignty, and were bound to fulfil the duties attached to it.

The Mahrattas and the Patans, who were now spreading
desolation from the Sutlege to the Nerbudda, were utterly

unable to offer any opposition to the British arms, and the

Governor-General had only to speak the word and peace and

tranquillity would be restored. These facts could not be con-

troverted, but such interference was known to be foreign to

the existing policy of the India House. The Court of Directors,

however, when reviewing the conduct of Sir George Barlow

towards Jeypore, appeared to experience some slight touck
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of compunction for the desertion of the raja, but they satisfied

their consciences with an idle lecture on " the necessity of

taking care, in all the transactions of Government with the

native princes, to preserve its character for fidelity to its

allies from falling into disrepute, and to evince a strict regard
to the principles of justice and generosity." The sincerity of

these professions would have been less liable to mistrust if

they had been accompanied by a change of policy ; but the

Court distinctly repudiated the idea of taking the raja under

their protection at the risk of a war. From the British Go-

vernment there was, therefore, no prospect of relief for the

wretched states of Rajpootana, and the raja of Oodypore was

obliged to come to a compromise with Ameer Khan, and to as-

sign him one-fourth of his dominions to preserve the remainder

from rapine. He was likewise subjected to the indignity,

which no prince in India could feel so acutely as he did, of

exchanging turbans, as a token of friendship and equality,

with the Patan freebooter. That unscrupulous chief took

advantage of the ascendency he had thus acquired at Oody-

pore to perpetrate one of the foulest murders ever known,
even in that land of violence. He suggested to the raria that

the only means of quenching the feuds which distracted Raj-

pootana on account of his daughter, was to put her to death,

and he threatened to carry her off by force to Maun Sing if his

advice was not followed. Under the influence of an infamous

favourite, Ajit Sing, one of his nobles, the father consented

to become the executioner of his child. His own sister,

Chand bye, presented the poisoned bowl with her own hands

to the young and lovely princess, then in her sixteenth year,

and urged her in the name of her father to save the honour

of the house of Oodypore by the sacrifice of her life. She

meekly bowed her head, and exclaimed,
" This is

princess of the marriage to which I was foredoomed," and

drank off three successive doses, sending up a

prayer to heaven with her last breath for the life

and prosperity of her father. The news of this tragedy was
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no sooner spread through the capital than loud lamentations

burst from every quarter, mingled with execrations on the

wretched father and his atrocious adviser. One of the great

nobles, on hearing that the deed was in contemplation, galloped

to the capital in haste to prevent it, but finding that he was

too late, unbuckled his sword and shield, and placing them

at the feet of the. rana, said, "My ancestors have served

yours for thirty generations, but never more shall these arms

be used in your service."

Affairs of Hy-
This narrative has carried us beyond the period

deratad, 1806-7. of gir George Barlow's administration, to which

we now return. The greatest blot in his policy was the

abandonment of Malwa and Kajpootana to anarchy and

desolation. On the other hand, he deserves great credit

for the resolution with which he maintained the peace of the

Deccan, in opposition to the principle of non-intervention.

Meer Allum, the able minister of the Nizam, had become ob-

noxious to his weak master by his steady support of the

British alliance, and was threatened with assassination, and

obliged to take refuge in the British residency. The Nizam

then proceeded to open negotiations with Holkar and Sindia,

and to assemble troops on his frontier, and manifested every

disposition to dissolve his connection with the Company. Sir

George felt that" "there was no alternative but either to

abandon the alliance altogether, or to make an effort to replace

it on a just and proper foundation by a direct and decided in-

terposition . . . but, the dissolution of the alliance would

subvert the very foundations of British power and ascendency
in the political scale in India, and become the signal and the

instrument of the downfall of the remaining fabric of our poli-

tical relations." He felt that we could not abandon our influ-

ence or our power at Hyderabad without finding the ground

occupied by our enemies, the result of which would be univer-

sal "
agitation, and distrust, and turbulence and expense." He

did not therefore hesitate to discard the doctrine of neutrality.

The Nizam was ordered to restore Meer Allum to the office of
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minister, to banish from his counsels all who were hostile to

the British alliance, and to submit to the more direct interfer-

ence of the .Resident in the management of his affairs.

Affairs at The Court of Directors continued to view the

Poona, 1806.
treaty of Bassein on the same narrow grounds on

which they were at first led to object to it, as the source of

multiplied embarrassments. They considered that their go-

vernment might be relieved from these difficulties if they could

withdraw from all interference in Mahratta politics, and leave

the Peshwa to resume his position as the head of the Mahratta

commonwealth. Sir George Barlow resisted with equal steadi-

ness every proposal to modify the treaty, and had the courage
to state that, while he desired to manifest every attention to

their wishes, he felt that there was a higher obligation imposed
on him, that of maintaining the supremacy of the British rule,

which would be compromised by any alteration of the policy

established at Poona. It had been affirmed that such a course

would be most agreeable to the Mahratta powers, to which he

replied with truth that to withdraw from the position we occu-

pied there would be gratifying to the Mahrattas in exact pro-

portion as it afforded them the hope of subverting our authority

and supplied the means of prosecuting designs hostile to British

interests. The Peshwa advanced claims on the independent

chiefs of Bundlekund, from many of whom he claimed chout ;

as the head of the Mahratta empire, he insisted on his share of

the contributions which Holkar and Sindia were levying in

Rajpootana, and he requested permission to appoint a repre-

sentative in Hindostan ; in other words, to revive the influ-

ence and power of which he had been deprived by the treaty

of Bassein. But Sir George Barlow refused to admit any of

these pretensions, and determined to maintain, in undiminished

vigour, the ascendency which Lord Wellesley had established

in the counsels of Poona.

state of the The state of the finances called for Sir George
finances, i80. Barlow's early attention. From the first establish-

ment of the British Government in India, all its financial diffi-
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culties had arisen out of the wars in which it was involved.

There was no elasticity in a revenue derived almost exclusively

from the land, and it became necessary to have recourse to

loans whenever the expenditure was found to exceed the

income. On the return of peace and the removal of the mili-

tary pressure, the finances had always, with one exception,

resumed their spring. The extensive military operations of

Lord Wellesley's administration had necessarily augmented the

public debt, but this pecuniary strain, though manifestly of a

temporary character, brought on one of the intermittent fevers

of alarm at the India House, and large and comprehensive views

of policy were needlessly sacrificed to obtain immediate relief.

It appears to have been entirely overlooked that our wars in

India had always been marked by this peculiarity, that they
terminated in an accession of territory and revenue, which

served to balance whatever incumbrance they had entailed.

Thus, the increase to the debt during Lord Wellesley's admini-

stration was eight crores and a half of rupees, while the per-

manent increase of anuual revenue was not less than seven

crores. The Indian debt has seldom exceeded the income of

two years ;
and this rule of proportion appears indeed to be the

normal condition of Indian finance. In the year preceding the

arrival of Lcrd Wellesley the revenue was eight crores, the

debt seventeen. At the close of his administration the former

had increased to fifteen crores and a half, and the latter to

thirty-one. After the lapse of sixty years, the relative pro-

portion remains without alteration. In the present year the

revenues of the empire are forty-five crores, and the debt is

ninety-two crores. By the cessation of the war and the re-

duction of the military charges, Sir George was enabled to

reduce the annual expenditure, and within two years the deficit

was converted into a surplus, which remained steady, with

occasional variations, for twenty years, till the first Burmese

war again depressed the scale.

Supersession of The great zeal manifested by Sir George Barlow

Barfoisoe. in carrying out the views of the India House, re-
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commended him to the Directors as the fittest successor of Lord

Cornwallis, the news of whose death reached England at

the end of January, 1806. The death of Mr. Pitt, and the

dissolution of his ministry had just introduced the Whigs to

power, after an exclusion of more than twenty years. Within

twenty-four hours of their accession to office they were called

on to make provision for the exercise of the full powers of the

Governor-General, and Lord Minto, the President of the Board

of Control, agreed, as a temporary measure, to the nomination

of Sir George Barlow. His commission was accordingly made
out and signed in February, 1806, but only ten days after, the

Ministry informed the Court of Directors that they had selected

Lord Lauderdale for that office. They passed a high encomium

on Sir George Barlow, but his policy was not in accordance

with the views of some of the leading members of the new
Cabinet. Lord Grenville, more especially, considered the ad-

ministration of Lord Wellesley the most splendid and glorious

that India had ever seen, and he vigorously opposed the ap-

pointment, as his successor, of one whose chief merit, in the

opinion of the Court of Directors, consisted in a determination

to reverse his measures. The Directors strenuously resisted the

appointment of Lord Lauderdale, not only as an abrupt and

contemptuous rejection of their favourite, but also on personal

grounds. He had been a warm admirer of the French revolu-

tion, and during the height of its mania had dropped his

ancient and noble title, and assumed a costume symbolical of

Jacobinism. These follies had passed, but the Court did not

forget that he had also been a zealous advocate of Mr. Fox's

India Bill, and, more recently, of Lord Wellesley's doctrine of

free trade with India, which was considered a pestilent heresy
in Leadenhall-street. The Act of 1784 had vested in the

Crown the right of vacating any appointment in India under

the sign manual, and without the consent of the Court of

Directors. The Ministry now, for the first time, brought it

into exercise, and retaliated on them by a warrant cancelling

the commission of Sir George Barlow. The discussion between
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the Board of Control and the India House was carried on for

many weeks, with great warmth, inasmuch as it not only in-

volved the immediate question of Lord Lauderdale's appoint-

ment, but the more important point connected with the

interpretation of the Act of 1784, of the -general right of

nomination to the office of Governor-General. In such a contest

the ministers of the Crown, being the stronger party, could not

fail to triumph, and the difference was accommodated by the

appointment of Lord Minto.

TheVeiiore In *ne month of July, the Government was
Mutiny, 1806. astounded by a portentous event, unprecedented
in its annals the massacre of European officers and soldiers by
the sepoys at Vellore. This fortress, situated eighty-eight miles

west of Madras, and only forty miles from the frontier of

Mysore, had been selected, contrary to the wiser judgment of

the Court of Directors, for the residence of Tippoo's family,

and was speedily filled with eighteen hundred of their ad-

herents and three thousand Mysoreans. The princes were

treated with the usual liberality of the British Government,

and were subjected to little personal restraint. The European

troops in the garrison consisted of about 370, and the sepoys

amounted to 1,500. One of the native regiments was com-

posed of Mysore Mahomedans, many of whom had been in

the service of Tippoo. At three in the morning of the 10th

July, the sepoys rose in rebellion, and having secured the

main guard and the powder magazine, suddenly assaulted the

European barracks. They had not the courage to encounter

the bayonets of the soldiers, but poured in upon them volley

after volley through the Venetians, till eighty-two had been

killed and ninety-one wounded. Parties of sepoys then pro-

ceeded to the residences of the officers, of whom thirteen fell

victims to then* treachery. During the massacre, an active

communication was kept up between the mutineers and the

palace of the Mysore princes, many of whose followers were

conspicuous in the assault. Provisions were also sent out to

the sepoys, and the royal ensign of Mysore was hoisted on
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the flag-staff amidst the shouts of a large crowd. The re-

maining Europeans, though destitute of ammunition, maintained

their position under cover of a gateway and a bastion, till they
were rescued by Colonel Gellispie. He was in garrison at

Arcot, eight miles distant, and, on hearing of the outbreak,

started without a moment's delay with a portion of the 19th

Dragoons, and arrived in time to save the survivors. The gate
was blown open with his galloper guns, and his men rushed in

and obtained possession of the fort. Between three and four

hundred of the mutineers were put to death, many were taken

prisoners, and the remainder escaped by dropping from the walls.

Cause of the The searching investigation which was imme-
Mutiny, 1806.

<Jiately made, clearly revealed the cause of the

mutiny. The new Commander-in-chief, Sir John Cradock,

soon after his arrival, had obtained permission from the

Governor in Council, Lord "William Bentinck, to codify the

voluminous regulations of the military department, on the

condition that no rules should be added to those in force with-

out the express sanction of Government. The code on its

completion was submitted to the Governor, and received his

sanction, as a matter of form, but several innovations had

been introduced . by the Adjutant-General, of which no inti-

mation was given to him. The sepoys, for instance, were for-

bidden to appear on parade with earrings, or any distinctive

marks of caste, and they were required to shave the chin,

and to trim the moustache after a particular model. These

unnecessary orders were sufficiently vexatious, but it was the

new form prescribed for the turban, which gave the sepoys the

greatest offence, because it was said to bear a resemblance to

a European hat. Orientals consider the head dress an object

of particular importance, and cling to the national fashion

with great tenacity. The Turk, who does not object to a

European coat, trousers, and boots, will not relinquish the

cap of his nation. The Parsee readily adopts a European

costume, but retains his own distinguishing head-dress.

Even the Hindoo, who apes European fashions, shrinks from
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the use of the hat, which among Asiatics is an object of in-

stinctive abhorrence. In the present case, this feeling was

aggravated by a report industriously circulated in the native

army by the Mahomedans who led the movement, that it was

the precursor of an attempt to force Christianity on the sepoys.

Of all the Presidencies that of Madras had been the most

officious in patronising the religions of the country. Forgetting

the duty due to their own creed, and to the consistency of

their own characters, the Madras functionaries had been in the

habit of firing royal salutes on the birthdays of the gods, of

constraining their own Christian servants to make offerings at

different shrines in the name of the Company, and of employ-

ing the police to impress the poor ryots to drag the cars of

the idols. At the same time, the ministrations of Christianity

were so completely neglected, as to lead the natives to believe

that their European conquerors were without a religion. But

all these humiliating concessions to native prejudices did

not secure the Government from the suspicion of a design to

destroy the religion of the people, and to force a foreign

faith upon them. A spirit of deep disaffection was diffused

through the army, which was diligently fomented by the in-

trigues of the Tippoo family, who upbraided the sepoys with

the badge of the infidel creed, which they were already

obliged to wear. It was this family, to whom we had gene-

rously, but unwisely, given the large pecuniary resources now
turned against us, which applied the torch to the mine which

the Government had unconsciously laid. The exasperated

sepoys were thus led on to rebellion and massacre. The same

feeling of dissatisfaction was also manifested by the troops at

Hyderabad,but it was extinguished by the judicious proceedings
of the Resident and Colonel Montresor. The members of

Tippoo's family were removed without loss of time to Calcutta,

and their pensions were not curtailed, notwithstanding their

complicity in these treasons and murders.

The Court of Directors were overwhelmed by
the news of this mutinv and in that spirit of
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vindictiveness which the excess of terror inspires recalled

Lord William Bentinck and the Commander-in-chief within

a week after the intelligence reached them, before they
had received a single line of explanation from either of them.

On his return to England, Lord William presented a memorial

to the Honourable Court in vindication of his character and

proceedings.
" I have," he said,

" been removed from my
situation, and condemned as an accomplice in measures with

which I had no farther concern than to obviate their evil con-

sequences. My dismissal was effected in a manner harsh and

mortifying; and the form which custom has prescribed to

soften the severity of a misfortune, at all times sufficiently

severe, have in this single instance been violated as if for the

express purpose of deepening my disgrace .... I have

been severely injured in my character and my feelings. For

these injuries I ask reparation, if, indeed, any reparation can

atone for feelings so deeply aggrieved, and a character so

unjustly compromised in the eyes of the world." The Court

endeavoured to soothe his feelings while they attempted to

vindicate the propriety of his recal. They bore testimony to

" the uprightness, disinterestedness, zeal, respect for the

system of the Company, and, in many instances, success, with

which he had acted in the Government but, as the misfortunes

which happened under his administration placed his fate under

the government of public events and opinions which the Court

could not control, so it was not in their power to alter the

effect of them." The Court little dreamt that in this vain

attempt to apologize for their conduct towards him, they were

unwittingly shadowing forth their own doom, and the occa-

sion of it. Half a century later, another, and a far more

appalling, mutiny broke out in India, for which the East India

Company was no more to blame than Lord William Bentinck

was for the Vellore mutiny, but to use the language of the

Court,
" as the misfortune happened under their adminis-

tration, and placed their fate under the government of public

events and opinions which the Ministry could not control,"
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they were deposed from the Government of the great empire

they had built up, and of their magnificent house in Leaden-

hall-street not one stone was left upon another.

The province of Cuttack acquired in 1803, was
Temple of J

jugunnath, attached to the Presidency of Bengal, and the

question of dealing with the temple of Jugunnath
was forced upon the Supreme Council. Lord Wellesley

refused to connect it with his government, but Sir George
Barlow determined to assume the management of the establish-

ment to the minutest item, not excluding the three hundred

dancing girls, and an army of pilgrim hunters. The pilgrim,

tax was revived to cover these charges, and the balance was

carried to the credit of the Company, as Sir George deemed

such a tax a legitimate source of revenue. It is due to the

Court of Directors to state that they were opposed to this

anomalous and degrading job, but they were overruled by
the Board of Control. It was for many years the subject of

a bitter contention between the Government of India and

those who were anxious to maintain the consistency of our

religious character. Under the pressure of public opinion, the

tax was at length repealed ;
and some time after, Lord Dalhousie

had the courage to restore the management of the temple, and

of the lands which had once belonged te it, to its legitimate

guardians, the priesthood of Pooree.

Far different, however, was the course pursued
Propagation of

.

7

Christianity in by Sir George Barlow regarding the diffusion
India, 1806.

Qj Q^atian truth in India, to which we now turn.

The first Portuguese settlers had no sooner acquired a political

footing in India than they began, in the spirit of the sixteenth

century, to persecute the Pagans. They sent to India some

of the most able and zealous of their ecclesiastics, of whom
St. Francis Xavier was the most illustrious, under whose

instructions, though not without some degree of compulsion, a

large Roman Catholic community was formed on the Malabar

and Coromandel coasts. At the beginning of the eighteenth

century several German Protestant missionaries proceeded to
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the Danish settlement of Tranquebar, a hundred and sixty

miles south of Madras, under the patronage of the King of

Denmark. They were followed by a succession of earnest

men, and, among others, by the celebrated Swartz, who was

held in honour both by Christians and Hindoos. By then.' zealous

exertions a numerous body of converts was collected on the

Coromandel coast. In 1793 Mr. William Carey proceeded to

Bengal to establish a Christian mission, and laboured with

much devotedness, but little success, for seven years in the

district of Malda. In 1799 two other missionaries, Mr. Marsh-

man and Mr. Ward, went out to his assistance. As they were,

however, without a licence from the India House, they were

ordered to quit the country the day after then- arrival, but

obtained an asylum at the Danish settlement of
TheSerampore ,

*
.

Missionaries, Serampore, in the neighbourhood of Calcutta, and

were received under the protection of the Danish

crown. Mr. Carey then removed to Serampore, and he and his

colleagues established a fraternity which, under the title of

the Serampore Missionaries, has attained a historical im-

portance. They opened the first schools for the gratuitous

education of native children. They set up printing presses,

and prepared founts of types in various Indian languages.

They compiled grammars of the Bengalee, Sanscrit, and other

languages, into which they likewise translated the Sacred

Scriptures. They cultivated the Bengalee language with

great assiduity, and published the first works which had ever

appeared in it, and thus laid the foundation of a vernacular

literature. Their names will long continue to be held in

grateful remembrance as the pioneers of civilization in Hin-

dostan, to which they devoted their resources and their lives,

at a time when the moral and intellectual improvement of the

people was an object of profound indifference to the British

Government. They, and the converted natives who had joined

their establishment, itinerated through the districts of Bengal,

and met with no small measure of success in preaching the

doctrines of Christianity.
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Their missionary labours were, however, viewed
Opposition of *

Government, by the Company in England arid the Company's
servants in India with great mistrust and jealousy.

All previous conquerors, the Hindoos, the Boodhists, and the

Mahomedans, had identified their religion with their policy,

and supported it with the whole weight of their political and

military power, and subjected those who professed a different

creed to severe persecution. The English were the first con-

querors who left their native subjects the unrestricted exercise

of their own religion ; partly, from that principle of religious

toleration which had always distinguished the East India Com-

pany, but, chiefly, from the apprehension that an opposite course

might rouse a fanatic opposition to their rule, and expose it

to danger. It was under the impulse of this morbid feeling

of dread that the Court of Directors set their faces sternly

against all missionary efforts. They were thus placed in the

false position of hostility to their own creed, which, among a

people of strong religious sensibilities like the Hindoos, was

calculated to create a feeling of contempt, or, what was worse,

a dangerous suspicion that so unnatural a procedure must

be intended to conceal some sinister design. The mutiny at

Vellore was traced to an interference with the religious pre-

judices of the sepoys, and under the panic which it created,

Sir George Barlow considered it necessary for the security of

the Company's interests in Bengal, to put a stop to the labours

of the Serampore Missionaries, lest the natives should regard

them as an interference with their religion. He was not in a

mood to reflect that it is only when the agency of the state

is employed to enforce a change of religion that there is either

disaffection or danger ; that the natives of the country had

been accustomed for centuries to religious discussions and

conversions, and that during the seven years in which the

Serampore Missionaries had been labouring in Bengal, the

Hindoos who had become Musulmans greatly outnumbered

those who had embraced Christianity, and, without creating

any alarm. The missionaries themselves were convinced that
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the truths of the Gospel would only be embraced in sincerity

when they were placed before the country separate from all

political influences. They, therefore, repudiated all aid from

the state, and deprecated the intrusion of the public authori-

ties into their province. But their labours were at once and

peremptorily interdicted. They prudently bent to the storm,

the Vellore panic died out, and the restrictions laid on them

were quietly removed.

CHAPTER XXIV.

LORD MINTO'S ADMINISTRATION, 1807-1810.

LordMinto's
LORD Minto, who was appointed Governor-Ge-

administration, neral in 1806, was a well-trained politician, and
1807 .

had been engaged for many years in the manage-
ment of public affairs. He was one of the managers appointed

by the House of Commons to conduct the impeachment of

Warren Hastings ; and the prosecution of Sir Elijah Impey
was especially committed to his charge. The interest he had

taken in India pointed him out to his Whig colleagues when

they came into power, as the fittest member of their body for

the post of President of the Board of Control, and the twelve

months he passed at the head of that office gave him an

enlarged comprehension of Indian questions. He was an

accomplished scholar, distinguished above his predecessors by
his urbanity, a statesman of clear perceptions and sound judg-

ment, mild and moderate in his views, yet without any de-

ficiency of firmness. He was accepted by the Court of

Directors as their Governor-General on the understanding

that he should eschew the policy of Lord Wellesley, which

was still the great object of terror in Leadenhalt-street, and

tread in the footsteps of Lord Cornwallis. After his arrival

in Calcutta he facetiously observed that when taking leave of

ii. Q
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the Chairman and his deputy at the India House and asking

their final instructions, there seemed to be only two points on

which they felt any anxiety the importance of adhering most

scrupulously to the policy of non-interference, and of con-

trolling the consumption of penknives, which appeared by
the latest indent to be growing extravagant. On reaching

Madras he found himself called upon, as his first act of

government, to determine the fate of the Vellore mutineers.

Seventeen of the ringleaders had been executed by sentence

of court-martial, but six hundred yet awaited their doom.

Great difficulty had been felt in obtaining evidence of indi-

vidual guilt. The excitement and animosity created by the

mutiny had, moreover, subsided ; the confidence of the army
had been restored, and the officers ceased to sleep with pistols

under their pillows. Lord William Bentinck advised the

adoption of a mild course ;
the Commander-in-chief advocated

a severe example. The Supreme Government, to whom the

matter was referred, ordered the whole party to be trans-

ported beyond sea, which, to Hindoos, would have been a

penalty worse than death. Lord Minto adopted the more

generous and lenient counsel of Lord William Bentinck, and

ordered that they should be dismissed the service, and de-

clared incapable of ever re-entering it.

On his arrival in Calcutta, the early attention of
Bundlekund T , ,.,. .

., .-,
- ,

Anarchy of Lord Minto was drawn to the state of anarchy

z

106
' *nto wn*ck tne feeble policy of his predecessor

had plunged the province of Bundlekund. By the

treaty of Bassein the Peshwa had ceded to the Company for

the support of the subsidiary force districts in the southern

Mahratta country and near Surat, yielding twenty-six lacs of

rupees a-year. A twelvemonth after they were exchanged
for districts in Bundlekund, and the transfer was considered

mutually beneficial. The lands in the Deccan were isolated

from the Company's dominions, and the defence and manage-
ment of them would have proved both troublesome and expen-

sive, while they abutted on the Peshwa's territories. The
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districts in Bundlekund were more handy for the British

Government, while the Peshwa's authority in them was

nominal, and they yielded him no revenue. The exchange,

which received the high sanction of General Wellesley,

was effected in a supplementary treaty of December, 1803.

The province, however, was a prey to anarchy. It was over-

run with innumerable military adventurers, who gained a

subsistence by plunder, and who were necessarily opposed
to any form of settled government. A hundred and fifty

castles were held by as many chieftains, and they were in-

cessantly at feud with each other. The inhabitants, a bold

and independent race, were disgusted with the stringency of

our judicial and fiscal system, and deserted their villages, and

too often joined the banditti. Two forts, Calinger and Ajygur,

universally considered impregnable, were held by chiefs

who owed all their power to rapine and violence, and headed

the opposition to the British authorities. Lord Lake assured

the Government in Calcutta that the peace of the province

could never be maintained without obtaining possession of

these fortresses, which might be effected by a vigorous effort

in a single campaign ; but Sir George Barlow replied that " a

certain extent of dominion, local power, and revenue, would

be cheaply sacrificed for tranquillity and security within a

more contracted circle." The sacrifice was made, but the

tranquillity and security were more distant than ever. The

chiefs who had seized the forts were left in possession of

them, and sunnuds, or deeds, were granted to them and to

some of the most notorious leaders of the freebooters, recog-

nizing their right to the lands they had usurped, upon a

vague promise of allegiance. Due respect was likewise paid
to the principle of non-interference, oy allowing them to

decide their disputes by the sword, and this fair province, en-

dowed with the richest gifts of nature, was turned into a

desert.

Lord junto's Within five weeks after Lord Minto had as-
rigorous pohcy, gume^ fac Government, he adopted the resolution.

Q2
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that "it was essential, not only to the preservation of

political influence over the chiefs of Bundlekund, but to

the dignity and reputation of the British Government to

interfere for the suppression of intestine disorder." The

whole policy of the state was at once changed, and it was

announced throughout the province that Government was

determined to enforce obedience to its authority. The

numerous rajas, who had hitherto treated with contempt the

maudlin advice of the commissioner, hastened to make their

submission when they found the Governor-General in earnest,

and agreed at once to refer their disputes to the decision of

British officers. But it was found impossible to extirpate the

banditti which infested the country, while they could obtain

shelter in the great fortresses ; a military force was, therefore,

sent to reduce them, and Ajygur was surrendered after a

breach had been made in the walls. But one military adven-

turer, Gopal Sing, by his astonishing skill, activity, and resolu-

tion, aided by the natural advantages of a country filled with

fastnesses, contrived to evade the British troops in a series

of desultory and harassing movements, for a period of four

years. He offered his submission at length, on condition of

receiving a full pardon and a provision for his family, and the

Government, weary of a conflict which appeared to be inter-

minable, granted him a jaygeer of eighteen villages. The last

fortress to submit was the renowned Calinger, which had

baffled the efforts of Mahmood of Ghizni, eight centuries

before. It was likewise in the siege of this fort that Shore

Shah was killed, hi 1545, and the Peshwa's representative,

AJi Bahadoor, had recently besieged it in vain for two years.

It was surrendered after an arduous siege, in which the

British force was, on*one occasion, repulsed with the loss of

150 in killed and wounded. The peace and happiness of

Bundlekund were restored, to be soon, alas, destroyed again

by one of the Company's pucka, or unscrupulous collectors,

who rack-rented the province, and blighted its prosperity as

effectively as the freebooters had done before him.
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The difficulty of maintaining the practice of

Kunjeet sing, non-intervention was still more clearly demon-

strated before Lord Minto had been a twelve-

month in office, in reference to the proceedings of Runjeet

Sing, whose career now claims attention. On the retire-

ment of the Abdalee from India after the battle of Paniput,

the affairs of the Punjab fell into confusion, and the half

military half religious community of the Sikhs, who had been

oppressed by all the successive rulers of the country, had an

opportunity of gradually enlarging and consolidating their

power. This country, lying in the track of every invader,

from Alexander the Great to Ahmed Shah Abdalee, and which

had been subject to greater vicissitudes and a more frequent

change of masters than any other Indian province, was now
in the hands of the Sikhs. Their commonwealth was divided

into fraternities, termed misils, the chief of each of which was

the leader in war, and the arbiter in time of peace. Of these

clans, twelve were deemed the foremost in rank. Churut

Sing, the head of one of the least considerable, had com-

menced a course of encroachments on his neighbours, which

was carried on by his son, Maha Sing. He died in 1792,

leaving an only son, Runjeet Sing, who at the early age
of seventeen entered upon that career of ambition and aggran-

disement, which, by a rare combination of cunning and

audacity, resulted in the establishment of a power as great as

that of Sevajee or Hyder. He acquired great credit for his

prowess when, in 1799, Zemaun Shah entered the Punjab,
which was still considered as an appendage of the crown of

Cabul. Runjeet Sing had the discretion to aid him in moving
his guns across the Jhelum, and was rewarded by the im-

portant grant of the town of Lahore, which was the capital of

the country even before the Mahomedans crossed the Indus,

and had always been associated with the supreme authority

in the province. From 1803 to 1806, Runjeet Sing was dili-

gently employed in extending his authority over the dif-

ferent fraternities and chiefs in the Punjab, In 1806, the
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course of his conquests brought him down to the banks of the

Sutlege, and he cast a wishful eye on the plains beyond it.

Between the Sutlege and the Jumna lay the
The Sikh States

.

of sirhind, province of Sii'Iund, occupied by about twenty in-

dependent Sikh principalities, of greater or less

extent, the most considerable of which was Putteeala, with a

revenue of about twenty lacs of rupees a-year, and a popula-

tion of a million and a quarter. The chiefs had been obliged

to bend to the authority of Sindia, which General Perron had

extended to the vicinity of the Sutlege, but two of them,

Kythul and Jheend, had rendered important services to Lord

Lake in the campaigns of 1803 and 1805, and were recom-

pensed with large grants of land. As the British power had now

superseded that of the Mahrattas in this region, these petty

princes offered their submission and fealty to it, and, although

there were no mutual engagements in writing, considered

themselves under the suzerainty of the Company, and entitled

to their protection. The ambition of Runjeet Sing, which had

as yet received no check, led him to contemplate the annexa-

tion of these states, and the extension of his dominions to the

banks of the Jumna. He proceeded with his usual caution.

A sharp dispute had arisen between the chiefs of Putteeala and

Naba, and the raja of Naba invoked the interposition of Runjeet

Sing, who crossed the Sutlege with a large body of horse,

and dictated terms of reconciliation. No notice was taken of

this encroachment by the Resident at Delhi, and Runjeet Sing
flattered himself that ho had no opposition to apprehend from

the Company's officers. In 1807, the raja of Putteeala and

his wife were again at variance regarding a settlement for

her son ; Runjeet Sing was called in, and crossed the Sutlege
a second time. He decreed an allowance of 50,000 rupees a-

year to the boy, and received as a token of gratitude a valua-

ble diamond necklace, and, what he valued still more, a cele-

brated brass gun. On his way home, he levied contributions

on some of the petty chiefs, seized their forts and lands, and

carried off all their cannon to augment his own artillery, which



XXIV.] LORD MINTO RESOLVES TO PROTECT THEM. 221

was at this time the great object of his desire. These succes-

sive inroads filled the Sikh chiefs of Sirhind with alarm, and a

formal deputation proceeded to Delhi, in March, 1808, to im-

plore the protection of the British Government, whose vassals,

they said, they had always considered themselves since the

extinction of Sindia's power; but the encouragement they
received was not so decisive as they expected. JHunjeet Sing,

anxious to discover the views of the British Government in

reference to this appeal, addressed a letter to the Governor-

General, stating his wish to remain on friendly terms with the

Company, but adding, "the country on this side the Jumna,

excepting the stations occupied by the English, is subject to my
authority ; let it remain so." This bold demand of the province
of Sirhind by Runjeet Sing, as a matter of right, brought

directly before Lord Minto, the important question whether,
in obedience to the non-interference policy of the Court of

Directors, an energetic and aspiring chief, who had, in the

course of ten years, erected a large kingdom upon the ruin

of a dozen princes, should be allowed to plant his army, com-

posed of the finest soldiery in India, within a few miles of our

own frontier. The solution of this point could not brook

delay ; there was no time for consulting the Court, and Lord

Minto boldly determined to cake on himself the responsibility

of extending British protection to the Sikh chiefs, and shutting

up Runjeet Sing in the Punjab.

Foreign Aiii- It had been the policy of the Court of Directors

ances, 1808.
for many years to discourage all alliances with the

princes of India, but, at this juncture, they were driven by the

irresistible current of circumstances to seek alliances Jbeyond
its frontier, for the protection of their interests. The treaty

of Tilsit, concluded between the emperor of Russia and Napo-

leon, was supposed to include certain secret articles which had

reference to extensive schemes of conquest in the east. More

especially was it believed to provide facilities for the gratifi-

cation of Napoleon's views on the British power in India. To

anticipate these designs, it was resolved to block up his path
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to India by endeavouring
1 to contract defensive alliances with

the princes whose territories lay on the route, and to dispatch

missions to Persia, Afghanistan, and Lahore.
E mbassy to

7

_'
Bunjcetsing, Mr. Charles Metcalfe, a young

1

civilian, who had

been trained up in the school of Lord Wellcsley,

and, indeed, under his own eye, was selected for the Punjab

embassy. The task assigned him was one of no ordinary

difficulty : on the one hand, he was to frustrate Runjeet Sing's

favourite project of extending his dominion across the Sutlege,

on the other, to conciliate his co-operation in opposing the

approach of a French army from the west. Runjeet Sing
received the mission with coldness and suspicion. His per-

sonal bearing towards the envoy was discourteous, all inter-

course between the camps was interdicted, supplies were

refused, and the bankers were incited to refuse to cash his

bills, while his messengers were waylaid and his letters

opened. But he was resolved to allow no hostile conduct on

the part of Runjeet Sing to damp his ardour, or turn him

aside from his object. When at length he had obtained an

opportunity of explaining the object of his mission, the Sikh

cabinet intimated that the alliance appeared to be one in which

the British rather than the Punjab Government was inte-

rested, and that as it was intended to benefit the Company, it

ought also to include some advantage for the Punjab. They
did not object to the proposed treaty, but it must recognise

the sovereignty of Runjeet Sing over all the Sikh states on both

sides the Sutlege. Mr. Metcalfe replied that he had no instruc-

tions to make this concession ; but, while the negotiation was

in progress, Runjeet Sing broke up his encampment at Kusoor,

and crossed the Sutlege a third time, and for three months

swept through the districts of Sirhind, plundering the chiefs,

and compelling them, with the exception only of Putteeala and

Thanesur, to acknowledge his authority. The British mission

was dragged in his train, but Mr. Metcalfe felt that his pre-

sence seemed to give countenance to these aggressions, as

Runjeet Sing intended it should, and after proceeding several
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stages, refused to advance farther, and eventually encamped
at Umritsir, to await the return of the Lahore ruler.

Eunjeet ordered Lord Minto, finding Runjeet Sing still bent on
to retire, 1808. the subjugation of Sirhind, determined to lose no

further time in arresting his progress, if necessary, by force

of arms. By this time, moreover, Napoleon was entangled in

the affairs of Spain, and the idea of an invasion of India, if it

had ever ripened into a design, was abandoned. All anxiety

for these foreign alliances was removed, and Lord Minto,

having no longer anything to ask of Runjeet Sing, was

enabled to assume a higher and more authoritative tone. The

Commander-in-chief, then in the north-west, was directed to

hold an army in readiness to march down to the Sutlege, and

a letter was addressed to Runjeet Sing, telling him in firm

and dignified language that by the issue of the war with the

Mahrattas, the Company had succeeded to the power and the

rights they had exercised in the north of Hindostan. The

Sikh states of Sirhind were now, therefore, under the protec-

tion of the British Government, and would be maintained in

all their integrity ; the Maharaja must consequently restore all

the districts of which he had taken possession during his

late incursion, and confine his military operations in future to

the right bank of the Sutlege. Runjeet Sing, on the ter-

mination of his expedition to Sirhind, hastened back to Um-
ritsir to exchange the toils of the camp for the enjoyments
of the harem. Like Hyder Ali, he was the slave of sensual

indulgence when his mind was not absorbed in the excitement

of war. On the evening of his arrival, Mr. Metcalfe waited

on him to present the letter of the Governor-General, but he

exclaimed that " the evening was to be devoted to mirth and

pleasure," and called for the dancing girls, and then for the

strong potations to which he was accustomed, and before

midnight was totally incapacitated for business. The com-

munication from Calcutta remained for several days without

acknowledgment, and, as it afterwards appeared, even with-

out perusal. On the 12th December, Mr. Metcalfe transmitted
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him a note, repeating the statements contained in the Governor-

General's letter, pressing the demands of Government on his

attention, and pointing out the danger of refusing to accede to

them, stating, however, that the British Government was

anxious to maintain the most amicable relations with him.

This letter, which seems to have given him the first monition

of the hazard he was incurring of a serious collision with

British power, staggered his mind, and brought him to re-

flection. Other perils had also beset him. At Umritsir, his

favourite Mahomedan mistress had caused a Hindoo to be

circumcised. That holy city, the Benares of the Punjab, was
thrown into a state of religious frenzy ; all the shops were

closed, and the priests threatened to excommunicate any who
should venture to open them. Runjeet Sing, terrified by this

storm of fanaticism, escaped to Lahore, but was pursued by
the devotees and brahmins, who sat dhurna at his palace gate.

This practice consisted in sitting night and day, fasting and

praying, at the gate of the victim, till the demand was granted.

If persisted in, it might involve the death of a brahmin, and it

was therefore generally successful. So effective is this mode

of intimidation, that it has been found necessary to prohibit it,

under severe penalties by a special Regulation.

Mr. Metcaife's Eunjeet Sing contrived to pacify the priesthood
firmness, 1809. an(j IQ^J of Umritsir, but continued from day to day
to evade any explanation with Mr. Metcalfe, who peremptorily
demanded an audience on the 22nd December, and announced

to him that a British, force was on the point of advancing to

the Sutlege, which would sweep his garrisons from Sirhind.

He bore the communication for some moments with apparent

composure, but unable, at length, to control his feelings

any longer, rushed out of the room, mounted his horse, and

galloped about the courtyard for some time with frantic vehe-

mence, followed by his body guard, while his ministers con-

tinued the conference with Mr. Metcalfe. It would be tedious

to detail the various interviews which took place between

them and Mr. Metcalfe for two months, or the constant
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attempts which were made to overbear or to overreach him, or

the endless postponements and delays of this oriental
. court.

Mr. Metcalfe was proof against all cajolery, and continued with

invincible firmnessto insist on the restoration of ah
1

the conquests

which Kunjeet Sing had made on his late incursion. It was a

bitter pill for him to swallow, but he was constrained in the

end to submit. In all the range of British Indian history

there are few incidents to be found more remarkable than the

arrest of this young and haughty prince, in the full career of

ambition and victory, by the mandate of a youth of twenty-
four. Runjeet's lingering reluctance to relinquish his con-

quests was effectually removed by the arrival of Colonel

Ochterlony with a British army on the banks of the Sutlege,

and the issue of a proclamation declaring the states lying

between that river and the Jumna under British protection.

Treaty with On the 25th April, 1809, a treaty was concluded

Eunjeet, 1809. a^ Umritsir to " establish perpetual amity between

the British Government and the State of Lahore." It provided
that the British Government should have no concern with the

territories and subjects of the raja north of the Sutlege ;
and

that the raja should not commit any encroachments, or suffer

any to be committed on the possessions or rights of the chiefs

under British protection south of it. The treaty, which con-

sists of only fifteen lines, is one of the shortest on our records, and

is, perhaps, the only one which was never infringed. Runjeet

Sing subsequently became the most formidable native power
in India, and organised an army under European officers,

which, after his decease, shook the British empire to its

foundation, but for thirty years, up to the period of his death,

he maintained the "
perpetual amity

"
with scrupulous fidelity.

Colonel Ochterlony, on withdrawing the army from the pro-

vince left a garrison in Loodiana, and that fort became our

frontier station in the north-west; and thus the British

standard, which Lord Wellesley had planted on the Jumna,
was six years after erected by Lord Minto on the banks of

the Sutlege.
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Embassy to The embassy sent to Cabul to form a defensive

Cabui, 1808. alliance against a French invasion, was fitted out

on a scale of magnificence intended to impress the Afghans
with an idea of the power and majesty of the Company, and

it was entrusted to Mr. Mount Stuart Elphinstone, one of the

Wellesley school of Indian statesmen. The ruler of Afghan-

istan, Shah Soojah, the brother of Zemaun Shah, held his court

at Peshawur, which the envoy reached on the 5th March, 1809.

His reception was marked with the greatest courtesy, but the

ministers did not fail to observe that the object of the mission

was to promote the interests of the Company rather than those

of Afghanistan. They had nothing to dread from the arrival

of the French, and desired to know what benefit the Governor-

General intended to bestow on them for preventing the passage
of a French army through their passes ; theywere anxious, more-

over, to ascertain what arguments or allurements the French

had to offer, before they committed themselves. It appears
unaccountable that the members of the Supreme Council in

Calcutta, thoroughly acquainted as they were with the oriental

character, should have fitted out a costly and pompous embassy
to a native court to solicit an alliance, without proposing any

reciprocal benefit. But, while the negociations were pending,
the expedition which Shah Soojah had imprudently sent to

Cashmere to regain possession of that province, was entirety

defeated. His brother Mahmood took advantage of this

disaster to seize Cabul and Caudahar, and to threaten Pesh-

awur. Shah Soojah, whose army was annihilated, and whose

treasury was empty, earnestly solicited pecuniary aid from the

British Government, and Mr. Elphinstone strongly recom-

mended a grant of ten lacs of rupees. As all Afghan soldiers

are mercenaries, this sum would have brought a sufficient

number of adherents to his standard to restore and consolidate

his power. But the dread of a French invasion had died out,

and it was no longer deemed important to conciliate the ruler

who held the "
gate of India," as Cabul was then deemed.

The request was refused, and the embassy recalled. It is no
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improbable conclusion that if this aid of ten lacs of rupees had

been granted to Shah Soojah in this emergency, and he had

thereby been enabled to maintain himself in Afghanistan, the

Company would have been spared the fifteen hundred lacs

of rupees which were wasted, thirty years after, in the

abortive attempt to restore him permanently to his throne, and

enable him to keep the "
gate

"
shut against the Russians,

who were supposed to be knocking at it. Shah Soojah, how-

ever, gave his consent to a treaty stipulating that any attempt

of the French to advance through Afghanistan should be

opposed, at the cost of the Company's treasury ; but when it

arrived with the ratification of the Governor-General on the

9th June, 1810, there was neither king nor ambassador to

receive it. Shah Soojah was totally defeated by his rival, and

fled across the Indus, and Mr. Elphinstone was returning to

Hindostan ; and of this expensive embassy there remained no

other result but the noble history of it compiled by the

envoy, which gave Europe the first authentic description of the

region rendered memorable by the achievements of Alexander

the Great.

Affairs of The third embassy to counteract the supposed
Persia, 1808.

projects of Napoleon was sent to the court of

Persia. At the commencement of 1806, the king of Persia

wantonly involved himself in a war with Russia, which proved

highly disastrous, and ended in depriving him of several of

his valuable provinces. In his exigency he applied to the go-
vernment of Calcutta, and, on the strength of the treaty con-

cluded by Colonel Malcolm in 1800, demanded aid against the

encroachments of Russia. But England was in alliance with

the emperor, and the assistance was necessarily refused, on
which the king made application to Napoleon, who eagerly em-
braced the proposal, and sent General Gardanne as his envoy
French em- to Teheran, which he reached in December, 1807,
bassy, 1807. wjth a large military suite. He was also accom-

panied by a body of engineer and artillery officers, some of

whom were dispersed over the country, to investigate its re-
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sources and to make professional surve3
r

s, while others were

employed in drilling the Persian levies, and introducing the

system of European tactics and discipline. A treaty was

speedily concluded, which provided thatj the Emperor should

regain from Russia, and restore to Persia, Georgia and other

frontier provinces which had been alienated ; that any French

armymarching through Persia towards India should be supplied

with provisions and joined by a Persian force ; that the island

of Karrack should be ceded to France ; and that, if the em-

peror desired it, all Englishmen should be excluded from the

king's dominions. The English Ministry, who considered the

French embassy the advanced guard of a French army, deter-

mined to counteract these hostile designs, and to plant an

ambassador at Teheran as the representative of the Crown,
the Company, however, bearing all the expense of the mission.

Sir Arthur Wellesley and Lord Minto, before he left England,

earnestly recommended Colonel Malcolm for this duty, for

which he was preeminently qualified by his skill in oriental

diplomacy, his knowledge of the Asiatic character, and, more

especially, by the popularity he had formerly acquired at the

Persian court. But the Court of Directors could not forget

the lavish expenditure of his mission in 1800, amounting to

seventeen lacs of rupees, and there were little minds among
them who could not forgive his being a disciple of Lord Wel-

lesley. Mr. Harford Jones, who had resided forty
SirHarford J J

Jones's mission years at Busmre, first as a merchant, and then as
to Persia, iso;.

tlie -Qntish consul, was selected for the post,

created a baronet, and directed to proceed to Persia by way
of Petersburg, where he was to concert measures of co-opera-

tion with the emperor of Kussia. Meanwhile, came the defeat

of the Eussians at Friedland, the peace of Tilsit, and the alli-

ance of the two emperors. Sir Harford was therefore directed

to proceed direct to Bombay, where he arrived in April,

1808.

Coi. Malcolm's This appointment was made by the Ministiy of
""

of wticn Lord ^nto was a member, and while he
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himself presided at the Board of Control. He was not

ignorant that after the despatch of a French minister by the

emperor Napoleon, the Cabinet considered it necessary, that

the British minister should appear at the Persian court as the

representative of the Crown, and not of the Cumpany. But,

on his arrival in Calcutta, Lord Minto considered that " the

separation which there was reason to apprehend between

Great Britain and Russia" released him from the restrictions

thus imposed on him by the policy which the Cabinet had

adopted regarding
1 the Persian mission. He resolved therefore

to despatch Colonel Malcolm to the court of Persia to repre-

sent the Indian Government, and directed Sir Harford Jones

to remain at Bombay till the result of the new mission could

be known. On landing in Persia, Colonel Malcolm determined

to approach the throne " with the language, not of supplication,

but of temperate remonstrance and offended friendship." For-

getting that the influence of the French at Teheran was

supreme, and that they were feeding the king with hopes of

deliverance from the grasp of Russia, presuming, also, on the

ascendency he had acquired in his former mission, Colonel

Malcolm assumed a dictatorial tone in his communications with

the court. He despatched one of his assistants to the capital,

but on his arrival at Shiraz he was forbidden to advance farther,

and Colonel Malcolm was directed to place himself in commu-

nication with the viceroy of the province, the king's son.

Considering the authority then exercised by the French

embassy at the Persian court, the king might have been

expected to order the English minister peremptorily to quit his

dominions, rather than permit him to enter into negotiations

with his son. But Colonel Malcolm, instead of making any
allowance for the king's position, or waiting for a turn in the

tide of events, took umbrage at this message, precipitately

abandoned the mission, and embarked with his suite for Cal-

cutta. The intelligence of this disappointment reached Lord

Minto on the 12th August, and he immediately wrote to Sir

Harford Jones, removing the interdict on his movements, and
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leaving him at liberty to prosecute the mission which the Crown
had entrusted to him.

Miiifi ex edi-
^en ^a^s a^er tne despatch f this letter,

on to Persia, Colonel Malcolm landed in Calcutta, breathing

vengeance against the Persian court for the

fancied indignity inflicted on him. He readily persuaded
Lord Minto and the Council that the only effectual mode of

defeating the influence, or, as he called it, the intrigue, of the

French at Teheran, was to make a military demonstration.

Arrangements were immediately made for the despatch of a

large force under the direction of Colonel Malcolm, to the

Persian coast to occupy Karrack, an island in the Persian

Gulf, thirty-three miles from the port of Bushire, which, in

the glowing anticipations of Colonel Malcolm, was to become

the emporium of commerce though it contained no port

the seat of political negotiations, and the pivot from which

we were to overawe Persia, Arabia, and Turkey. At the

same time, a second letter was sent to Sir Harford Jones,

dated seventeen days after the first, forbidding him to quit

Bombay, but he had embarked for Persia two days before it

arrived. Lord Minto then despatched a third letter to him in

Persia, announcing the military expedition, and commanding
him to return forthwith to India. This communication did

not, however, reach him before he had commenced negotiations

with the Persian ministers at Shiraz, and their minds were

filled with such indignation and alarm, on learning its con-

tents, that Sir Harford deemed it necessary to appease them

by assuming, as the representative of the Crown, an authority

independent of the Governor-General, and giving them the

solemn pledge that no aggression whatever should be com-

mitted on the Persian territories, as long as the king mani-

fested a disposition to cultivate friendby relations with

England. He then prosecuted his journey to the capital

which he reached in February, 1809. As soon as the report

of these transactions reached Calcutta, Lord Minto addressed

a letter to the king of Persia, disavowing the authority and
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the proceedings of Sir Harford : and he likewise directed the

envoy peremptorily to leave the country, threatening to dis-

honour his bills if he disobeyed the order. But in the mean-

time the object of the mission had been successfully accom-

plished. The union of interests which had been established

between Russia and France deprived the Persian monarch of

all hope of any aid from Napoleon for the recovery of the pro-

_. TI , . vinces he had lost. The proposals of the British
Sir Harford r r

Jones's treaty, minister were readily accepted ; the French em-

bassy was dismissed, the Persian envoy at Paris

was recalled, and a Persian ambassador was sent to London
in company with Mr. Morier. A preliminary treaty was con-

cluded, the salient points of which were that any treaty made
with other European powers should be considered as void,

that no force commanded by Europeans should be permitted
to march through Persia towards India, and that if any

European army invaded the Persian territory, the British

Government should afford the aid of a military force, or, in

lieu of it, a subsidy, which, after long discussions, was

eventually fixed at twelve lacs of rupees a-year. Lord Minto

felt that Sir Harford had authentic credentials for his mission,

and that the national faith was pledged by his engagements ;

the treaty was accordingly ratified by the Government of

India. The unwise project of a military expedition adopted
under the influence of Colonel Malcolm's irritated feelings,

and which, if it had been carried out, would have entailed an

intolerable expenditure, and wounded the pride of the king
and his people, was discreetly abandoned. The Persian mis-

sion was thus brought to a conclusion, and Colonel Malcolm

returned to Madras.

. ... Lord Minto, however, felt that the rank and
Second mission '

of Colonel estimation of the Government of India had been
Malcolm,

^1809.
compromise(j j within the sphere of its influence,

by the mission of Sir Harford Jones from the Crown, and

that it was necessary to restore it to the eminence it had

previously enjoyed. He considered it among the first of

n.
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his duties "to transmit to his successor the powers, pre-

rogatives, and dignities of the Indian empire, in its relations

with surrounding nations, as entire and unsullied as they were

confided to his hands." Under this impression he entreated

Colonel Malcolm "to go and lift the Company's Government

once more to its own height, and to the station that belonged

to it." Another embassy was fitted out in the most costly

style to eclipse that of the Crown, with no other object than

to establish the prestige of the East India Company in Asia,

which the Crown was deemed to have impaired by taking the

conduct of Persian diplomacy into its own hands. It was a

most extraordinary mission for a most extraordinary purpose.

Colonel Malcolm, whose genial humour and princely presents

had made a very agreeable impression on the court eight

years before, was welcomed with enthusiasm as he passed

through the country to the royal presence. But in that pre-

sence was the ambassador of the Crown, whom the Govern-

ment of India had thought fit to treat with the greatest con-

tumely, disavowing his authority, dishonouring his bills, and

sparing no pains to " blacken his face in the eyes of the Persian

court." If he manifested any personal feeling at the un-

worthy treatment he had received, there are few who will not

be prepared to condone it ; and no one with a touch of loyal

sentiment will censure him for the effort he made, at this difficult

crisis, to uphold the dignity of the sovereign he was deputed

to represent, against the pretensions of one who was only the

delegate of an inferior authority, and who had no business at

all at Teheran. There was every prospect of an unseemly
and dangerous collision. The Persian courtiers were by no

means distressed to find two rival ambassadors of the same

nation contending for their favours, and they were preparing

to play off the one against the other, in the hope of a golden

shower of presents. But the good sense of Sir Harford and

Colonel Malcolm gradually smoothed down all asperities, and

it was not long before they agreed to unite their efforts to

baffle the intrigues and the cupidity of the court. Colonel
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Malcolm was received with open arms by the king
1

, who con-

sidered him the first of Englishmen.
" What induced you,"

said he at the first interview,
" to hasten away from Sliiraz,

without seeing my son?" "How eould I," replied
v
the

Colonel, with his ever ready tact,
" after having been warmed

with the sunshine of your majesty's favour, be satisfied with

the mere reflection of that refulgence in the person of your
son ?

" " Mahsalla !

"
exclaimed the monarch,

" Malcolm sahib

is himself again." But this agreeable communion was speedily

interrupted by despatches from England, announcing the

determination of the Ministry to supersede both Sir Harford

Jones and Colonel Malcolm by an ambassador from England-
Sir Gore Ouseley had acquired the confidence of Lord Wel-

lesley by the great talents he exhibited when in a private

station at the court of Lucknow, and upon his recommendation

was appointed to Teheran as the representative of the king of

England. The relations with the Persian court have from

that period been retained by the ministers of the Crown in

their own hands a measure, which if judged by its general

results, has not been successful, except, perhaps, when they
have selected officers from the Indian service for the post.

To manifest his esteem for Colonel Malcolm, the king insti-

tuted a new order of knighthood, that of the Lion and the

Sun, and bestowed the first decoration on him. His mission,

which cost twenty-two lacs of rupees, was beneficial only in

developing the talents of the able assistants who accompanied

him, Pottinger, Ellis, Briggs, Lindsay, and Macdonald, all of

whom rose to distinction. The expenses of Sir Harford Jones

were also imposed on the Company's treasury, and the two

embassies did not cost them less than thirty-eight lacs.

To return to events in India. It has been alreadyAmeer Khan a

attack on Nag- noted that Lord Minto had felt it necessary to
pore, 1809.

repudiate the policy of non-interference in the

case of the Sikh chiefs of Sirhind, and to take them under

the protection of the British Government against the encroach-

ments of Runjeet Sing. Within four months of the signature

R 2
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of the treaty with that prince, another occasion arose to test

the propriety of maintaining this principle. In 1809, the

adventurer Ameer Khan had reached the zenith of his power.

In the course of ten years he had gradually created a princi-

pality, which yielded a revenue of about fifteen lacs of rupees

a-year. He was the recognised chief of the Patans, who had

for several centuries played an important part in the revolu-

tions of Hindostan, and his adherents were anxiously looking

forward to the fulfilment of the prediction of a holy mendi-

cant that he was destined to found a new Patan dynasty at

Delhi. But he had not the genius of Sevajee, or Hyder, or

Runjeet Sing, or indeed any aspirations beyond those of a

predatory chief. His army was too great for his resources,

and, having drained the chiefs of Rajpootana, he was obliged

to seek for plunder in more remote provinces. He determined

to select the raja of Nagpore for his victim, and a pretext was

not long to seek. Holkar, for whom he professed to act during

his insanity, had been despoiled, as he stated, of some valuable

jewels twelve years before, when, on seeking refuge with the

raja, he was thrown into confinement at the instigation of

Sindia. These jewels were now claimed, but the raja treated

the demand with the contempt it deserved. Ameer Khan was,

however, resolved to enforce it, and poured down across the

Nerbudda with an army of 40,000 horse and 24,000 Pin-

darees, and on his march to Nagpore sacked the town of Jub-

bulpore. The raja was only an ally of the Company, and not

entitled to claim its protection, but Lord Minto did not hesi-

tate to affirm that "there could be but one solution of the ques-

tion, whether an interfering and ambitious Mussulman chief, at

the head of a numerous army, irresistible by any power except

that of the Company, should be permitted to establish his autho-

rity on the ruins of the raja's dominions, over territories contigu-

ous to those of the Nizam likewise a IVfahomedan with whom

projects might be formed . . . inimical to our interests." The

raja had not so much as solicited our aid, though he was happy
to welcome it when he found that he was not expected to pay
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for it, but two armies were ordered into the field for the defence

of his territories, from which Ameer Khan was required to

withdraw. In the name of Holkar he protested against the

injustice of this interference, and appealed to the treaty con-

cluded by Sir George Barlow, which bound the British

Government not to interfere in his affairs. The argument

might be unanswerable, but it no longer carried any weight.
But while the British troops were on their march.

Defeat of r
Ameer Khan, Sadik Ali, the commander of the Nagpore army,

repulsed Ameer Khan and obliged him to retreat

to Bhopal. There he recruited his force, and re-assembled the

Pindarees, whom he had been obliged to dismiss during the

rains, and advanced into the Nagpore territories, but was a

second time defeated by the troops of the raja, a considerable

body of whom is said to have consisted of Sikhs. He returned

a third time to the conflict, and blockaded the Nagpore army
in Chouragur, while his Pindarees spread desolation through
the surrounding districts. But the British divisions were now

closing upon him, and, under the pretence of an earnest request

for his services by Toolsee-bye, the regent of the Holkar state,

he withdrew with his army to Indore. Colonel Close took

possession of his capital and his territories, and the extinction

of his power appeared inevitable, when the British troops were

unexpectedly recalled. He was allowed to recover his strength,

and Central India was left for seven years longer at his mercy,
because Lord Minto was apprehensive that the further prosecu-

tion of hostilities, after Nagpore had been effectually protected

from his aggressions, might lead to complications displeasing

to the Court of Directors. But the tide was beginning to turn

at the India House against this neutral policy. In reviewing
these transactions, the Court of Directors expressedNew policy at

the India their approbation of the conduct of Lord Minto, but
House, 1811. veiie(i ft under the sophism that " as it was a

measure of defensive policy, it could not be deemed a violation

of the law, or a disobedience of the orders prohibiting interfer-

ence in the disputes of foreign states ;" as if interference for
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the protection of Jeypore and Boondee did not equally come

within the category of a " defensive policy." The Court went

further, and questioned the propriety of the moderation which

Lord Minto had exhibited towards Ameer Khan. " We are

not satisfied," they said,
" with the expediency of abstaining

from disabling any power against whom we may have been

compelled to take up arms from renewing his aggressions ;"

at the same time, they strongly advised the conclusion of a

subsidiary treaty with the raja of Nagpore, though it would

have involved the necessity of protecting him against all op-

ponents, and extended the circle of those defensive alliances

which had been reprobated six years before. But when this

despatch reached Calcutta Lord Minto was in Java, and when

he returned he found himself superseded in the Government.

Sir George Barlow, who had been appointed to

Bariow at Ma- succeed Lord William Bentinck in the Government
jas, i -10.

Qj jfa^g^ proceeded to that Presidency on the

arrival of Lord Minto. During the twenty months in which he

filled the office of Governor-General he had disgusted society

by his cold and repulsive manners, and the absence of all

genial and generous feeling in the intercourse of life. He was
never able to obtain that deference and respect, or to exercise

that personal influence which is so important to the efficient

administration of public affairs. The duties of retrenchment,

at all times invidious, which devolved on him, were performed
in the most ungracious manner. He manifested on all occasions

a lofty sense of his official dignity, and exacted a stern and

implicit obedience to his will. But that which was regarded in

the case of Lord Wellesley as the natural absolutism of a great

mind, was in Sir George Barlow resented as the vulgar despo-

tism of power. The feeling of personal aversion which per-

vaded the community was heightened by a contempt of his

abilities. At Madras, he became unpopular by isolating himself

in a small circle of officials and confidants, and his adminis-

tration has been described, and not unjustly, as a " season of

unprecedented private misery, and unexampled peril and alarm."
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case of
^ne ^rs* occasi n f offence arose from his mi-

Mr, sherson, just proceedings against Mr. Sherson, a civil ser-

vant deservedly held in high estimation. He was

superintendent of the stores of rice laid in by the Government of

Madras against the periodical famines on that coast. A charge of

fraud had been brought against him, which was under investi-

gation when Sir George Barlow entered on the Government.

His accounts were submitted to the scrutiny of the civil auditor

and pronounced correct, but as they did not happen to tally

with the native accounts kept in the office, the new Governor

removed both the auditor and Mr. Sherson from their situations.

A prosecution was likewise commenced against Mr. Sherson in

the Supreme Court, which ended in his honourable acquittal.

The Court of Directors condemned these proceedings without

reserve, restored Mr. Sherson to the service, and compensated
him for his loss by a donation of 70,000 rupees.

Sir George Barlow incurred still greater obloquy

Commission, by his proceedings in reference to the Carnatic
1808

Commission, appointed by Act of Parliament to

investigate the debts of the nabob, for which the Company
became responsible when they took over the Carnatic. The

claims on the nabob amounted to the gigantic sum of thirty

crores of rupees, of which the validity of less than a tenth

was eventually substantiated. But the bonds were considered

negotiable securities, and many of them, though originally

fraudulent, had been honestly purchased, and the whole com-

munity of Madras, not excepting the officers of Government,
was deeply interested in the enquiry. To secure impartiality,

the Commissioners were selected from the Bengal Civil Service,

and they had just opened their court when Sir George Barlow

took his seat at the Council board. They appointed one

Reddy Rao, who had been an accountant in the finance office

of the late nabob, as their confidential adviser. A bond which

he held came up for examination
;

its validity was impeached

by a native, named Papia, but the Commissioners pronounced

it genuine, and resolved to prosecute Papia's witnesses for
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perjury. He anticipated this movement by charging Reddy
Rao before a magistrate with forgery, and he was committed

for trial. The Commissioners appealed to the Governor for

support, and he ordered the Advocate-General to defend the

case. The legitimacy of such a proceeding cannot be con-

troverted ; but the mere appearance of a public officer, in his

official capacity, in connection with the investigation of claims

which Government was interested in disallowing, created a

feeling of indignation and dismay among the creditors,

European and native, inasmuch as it could scarcely fail to

deter timid natives from coming forward to give evidence. This

feeling was intensely aggravated when the Governor, in a

spirit which was considered vindictive, dismissed the magis-
trate who had committed Reddy Rao, expelled from the country
Mr. Parry, a merchant, who had manifested opposition to the

Commissioners, and banished Mr. Roebuck, a civilian of long

standing, for his share in the proceedings, to a remote post of

inferior rank and emolument, where he died soon after. Three

actions were brought in the Supreme Court in reference to this

transaction; and Reddy Rao was convicted by the jury of

forgery, but recommended to the favourable notice of the

Crown by the judge of the Supreme Court, on the ground of

his innocence. He received a pardon, as a matter of course, but

before it could reach India he had terminated his existence by

swallowing poison ; and it was discovered after his death that

the bond was spurious, and that he was deeply implicated in

all the villanies of the Carnatic bonds.

The Madras These undignified proceedings affected the re-

Mutiny, isos.
putation and the strength of the Madras Govern-

ment, but the mutiny of the European officers of the army which

was to be attributed in a great measure to the same violent

and arbitrary spirit, threatened its very existence. Thrice

in the course of less than half a century had the Company's
Government been shaken to its foundation by the sedition of

its European officers. The mutiny of 1765 was overcome by
the undaunted firmness of Lord Clive. That of 1796 and
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'97 was fostered by the feebleness of Sir John Shore, and ex-

tinguished by the simple mandate of Lord Wellesley, who,

seeing a number of malcontent commanders congregated at his

first levee, peremptorily ordered them to rejoin their regiments

within twenty-four hours. The glance of his very remarkable

eye had, it was said, quenched the mutiny. In the present

instance a feeling of dissatisfaction had been for some time

fermenting in the Madras army, and not without cause. There

was an invidious distinction between the pay of the European
officers in Bengal and Madras, and all posts of command and

dignity were monopolised by the officers of the royal army.

This spirit of discontent was unhappily promoted rather than

repressed by the demeanour of the Commander-in-chief. A
seat in council, with an additional allowance, had always been

attached to the office, but on the dismissal of Sir John Cradock

after the Vellore mutiny, the Court of Directors had refused

it to his successor, on some technical ground, and filled up
the vacancy with a civilian. The General considered this a

personal grievance and affront, and he did not care to conceal

the exasperation of his feelings from the officers of the army,
who were the more disposed to sympathise with him as they
were thereby deprived of a representative of their interests at

the Council board. Since the close of the Mahratta war the

^ ,. . . Court of Directors had been fierce for retrenchment,
Abolition of '

the tent con- and had threatened " to take the pruning-knife

into their own hands," if they found any hesitation

on the part of the Madras Government to use it. Among the

plans suggested for reducing the military charges was the

abolition of the tent contract, which furnished the officers in

command of regiments with a fixed monthly allowance to pro-

vide the men with camp equipage, whether they were in the

field or in cantonments. The system was essentially vicious,

but not more so than all the other devices in the King's and

Company's army for eking out the allowances of commanding
officers by anomalous perquisites. The Quartermaster-general,

Colonel John Munro, had been requested to draw up a report
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on the subject, and both Sir John Cradock and Lord William

Bentinck had come to the determination to abolish the contract,

when they were suddenly recalled. It fell to the unhappy lot

of Sir George Barlow, already sufficiently unpopular, to carry
this resolution into effect.

Charges against
^n*8 retrenchment increased the resentment

coi. Munro, of the officers, and they determined to wreak
1809

their vengeance on the Quartermaster-general,
who had stated in his report that the result of granting the

same allowance in peace and in war for the tentage of the

native regiments, while the expenses incidental to it varied

with circumstances, had been found, by experience, to place
the interest and the duty of commanding officers in opposition

to each other. This was a harmless truism, but when the

body is in a state of inflammation, the least puncture will

fester. The officers called on the Commander-in-chief, to

bring Colonel Munro to a court-martial, for aspersions on their

character as officers and gentlemen. The Judge Advocate-

general, to whom the question was officially referred, con-

sidered that the officers had neither right nor reason on their

side ; but General Macdowall, then on the eve of retiring from

the service, yielded to their wishes, and at once placed him

under arrest. He appealed to the Governor in Council, under

whose authority he had acted, and the Commander-in-chief

was ordered to release him. With this mandate he was

constrained to comply, but he gave vent to his feelings in a

general order of extraordinary violence, in which he protested

against the interference of the Government, and stated that

nothing but his approaching departure for Europe prevented
his bringing Colonel Munro to trial for disrespect to the Com-

mander-in-chief, and contempt of military authority, in having
resorted to the power of the civil government in defiance of

the judgment of the officer at the head of the army. Colonel

Munro's conduct was likewise stigmatised as destructive of

military subordination, a violation of the sacred rights of the

Commander-in-chief, and a dangerous example to the service.
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Sir George Barlow had up to this point acted with great for-

bearance and dignity, but he now lost his balance, and, instead

of treating the order with contempt as an ebullition of passion

from an intemperate officer, who was already on board the

vessel which was to convey him to Europe, or directing it to

be erased from the order-book of each regiment, issued a

counter order, couched in language equally tempestuous and

objectionable, charging him with violent and inflammatory

proceedings and acts of outrage. The resignation of the

service in India is always sent in by the last boat which leaves

the ship, and the officer thus enjoys the benefit of his pay and

allowances to the latest moment. Sir George took advan-

tage of the circumstance that the Commander-in-chief's

resignation had not been received, to inflict on him the indig-

nity of deposition from his office. He proceeded still further

to commit his Government by suspending Major Boles, the

deputy adjutant-general, who had signed the order. The

Major pleaded, that by the rules of the service he was bound

to obey the orders of his superior officer, and that he had acted

in a ministerial capacity. He had as unquestionable a right

to the same protection in this case as Sir George had con-

sidered Colonel Munro entitled to, when he was arraigned for

obeying the orders of the Governor in council, in reference to

the report on the tent contract. The consequence of
t
this

rash act was .precisely what might have been expected in the

excited state of the army. Major Boles was regarded as a

martyr, and addresses poured in upon him from every divi-

sion and every station, commending his conduct, reprobating
the proceedings against him, and proposing to raise subscrip-

tions to compensate the loss of his salary.

_. _ Three months passed on after the departure of
Sir George sus-

pends the General Macdowall, who was not destined to
*rs, 1809.

ygach home as the vessel foundered at sea, and

the ferment created by these proceedings had begun to subside,

when Sir George blew the dying embers into a flame. In the

height of the excitement a memorial had been drawn up to
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the Governor-General, reciting the grievances of the Madras

army, but all idea of transmitting it was dropped, as the agi-

tation moderated. The reports which Sir George received

from the officers commanding stations, relative to the feeling

of their subordinates, was, as he acknowledged, very satis-

factory ; but, on the 1st of May, in a spirit of infatuation, he

issued an order suspending four officers of rank and distin-

guished reputation, and removing eight others from their

commands, on the ground of their having promoted the memo-

rial, which had been clandestinely communicated to the

Government. The whole army was immediately in a blaze of

mutiny. The officers at Hyderabad were found to have taken

no part in the memorial, and Sir George had the imprudence
to compliment them officially for their fidelity, but they indig-

nantly repudiated the distinction, and announced to the rest

of the army their entire disapproval of the order of the 1st

of May, and their resolution to make common cause in con-

tributing to the support of the suspended officers. A hundred

and fifty-eight officers of the Jaulna and Hyderabad divi-

outburstofthe sions, signed a flagitious address to Government,
Mutiny, J809.

demanding the repeal of the obnoxious order, and

the restoration of the officers, in order " to prevent the horrors

of civil war, and the ultimate loss of a large portion of the

British possessions in India, and the dreadful blow it would

inflict on the mother country." The Company's European

regiment at Mausulipatam broke out into open mutiny, placed
the commanding officer under arrest, and concerted a plan for

joining the Jaulna and Hyderabad divisions and marching to

Madras to seize on the Government.

Frmn of
^r George Barlow had thus, by his want of tem-

sir George per and discretion, goaded the Madras army into
low' 18

revolt, and brought on a portentous crisis. Colonel

Malcolm, Colonel Montresor, and other officers of high stand-

ing and great experience, advised him to bend to the storm,

and recal the obnoxious order of the 1st May. But while

secretary to Government in Calcutta, he had seen the disastrous
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effects of Sir John Shore's timidity hi similar circumstances,

and in the true spirit of Clive, he exhibited undaunted reso-

lution in dealing- with the mutiny, such as almost to make

amends for the folly which had caused it. He resolved to

vindicate the authority of Government at all hazards. He
could command the resources of Bengal, Bombay, and Ceylon.

The new Commander-in-chief, as well as the officers of high

position and rank, were ready to support him. The King's

regiments adhered firmly to their duty, and he determined, if

necessary, to march the loyal portion of the army against the

disaffected. To test the feelings of the officers, he demanded

the signature of all, without distinction, to a pledge to obey
the orders, and support the authority of the Governor in

council at Fort St. George, on pain of removal from their regi-

ments to stations on the coast, though without the forfeiture

of either rank or pay ;
but the majority of the officers, even

among the faithful, declined to affix their signatures to the

pledge, and it is said to have been signed by less than a tenth

of the whole body. The commanders of native regiments were

likewise directed to assemble the sepoys and assure them that

the discontent of the European officers was a personal affair,

and that the Government had no intention to dimmish the

advantages which they enjoyed, but were rather anxious to

improve them. This appeal to the native soldiery against their

European officers was a hazardous policy, calculated to sap the

foundations of military discipline. But the sepoys and their

native officers resolved to remain faithful to their salt, and

there was no collision except at the single station of Seringapa-

tam, where the native regiments commanded by disaffected

officers refused to submit, and were fired upon by the King's

troops, and a hundred arid fifty killed and wounded.

The energetic proceedings of Sir George Barlow

staggered the officers, and induced them to pause
on the verge of a rebellion against the constituted

authorities of their King and country, which must for ever have

blasted their reputation and their prospects. Lord Minto had,
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moreover, announced his intention of repairing forthwith to

Madras, and the general confidence which was felt in his

justice and moderation contributed to bring the officers round

to a sense of duty, The Hyderabad brigade, which had been

the foremost in the mutiny, was also the foremost in repent-

ance. On the llth August, the officers addressed a penitent

letter to Lord Minto not to Sir George Barlow signed the

pledge, and advised their brother officers to follow their

example. The defection of the Hyderabad force from the

common cause broke the strength of the combination. The

Jaulna brigade, which had made two marches towards Hydera-

bad, returned to its cantonments and submitted to Government.

On the 16th, the European regiment at Mausulipatam sent in

its adhesion to the test ; the seditious garrison of Seringapatam
surrendered that fortress, and a profound calm succeeded the

storm which had so lately threatened to uproot the Government.

On reaching Madras, Lord Minto issued a general order repro-

bating the conduct of the mutineers, and announcing his deter-

mination to inflict punishment where it was due. But he also

expressed his anxiety for the character and welfare of the

Coast army, in kind and conciliatory language, which produced

the happiest impression on the minds of men who had been

accustomed only to the harsh and haughty communications of

Sir George Barlow. All the Hyderabad officers were pardoned
in consideration of the valuable example they had set to the

army. A general amnesty was granted to all but twenty-one

officers, of whom four were cashiered and one acquitted ;
the

others accepted the alternative of dismissal
; but all who had

been cashiered or dismissed were subsequently restored to the

service. The mutiny was the subject of long and acrimonious

debates at the India House, which terminated, after many

protests,
in the recal of Sir George Barlow, and he, whose

nomination to the office of Governor-General had been twice

cancelled, and who had enjoyed that honour provisionally for

a period of twenty months, was deposed from the inferior post

which had been conferred on him, and consigned to oblivion. It
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EecaiofSir
was *** connection with the administration of Sir

George Barlow, George Barlow and of Lord Minto, respectively, as

Governors-General, that Mr. Edmonstone, who had

served under both as public secretary, and who was one of the

most eminent and sagacious of the Company's servants in India,

and subsequently the Nestor of Leadenhall-street, affirmed that
" he was averse to selecting Governors from among those who
had belonged to the service . . . and that a person
of eminence and distinction proceeding from England to fill that

office, if duly qualified by talent and character, carried with him

a greater degree of influence, and inspired more respect than an

individual who had been known in a subordinate capacity."

The suppression of piracy is the especial vocation

oJ.

'
of the British nation in the east

>
and the attention

of Lord Minto was at this time imperatively called

to the performance of this duty. On the Malabar coast, at no

great distance from Bombay, the chiefs of Kolapore and

Sawuntwaree were required to surrender their piratical ports,

and to enter into an engagement to renounce and to punish

piracy, to which they had been addicted from time immemorial.

A more important enterprize was the suppression of this crime

on the coast of Arabia, known from the most ancient times as

the pirate coast, where it was practised chiefly by the Joasmis.

The Arabs were the bravest soldiers and the boldest seamen

in the east. The Joasmis had recently embraced the tenets of

the Mahomedan reformer Wahab, and thus added the ferocity

of fanaticism to the courage of the national character. The

only alternative which they offered to their captives was the

profession of the faith of the prophet, or instant death. Their

single-masted vessels, called dows or bugalas, ranging from

150 to 350 tons, and manned with 150 or 200 men, according

to the size, carried only a few guns, but they sailed in com-

pany, and it was rarely that any native craft was able to

escape then- pursuit. They had long been the terror of native

merchant sloops, but had wisely avoided molesting English

vessels. At length they became emboldened by the inactivity
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of the English cruisers, which were not authorized to interfere

with them, and in 1808 attacked and captured the u
Sylph,"

with Sir Harford Jones's native secretary on board. The next

year the "
Minerva," a large English merchantman, fell in with

the pirate squadron, and after a running fight of two days was

carried by boarding. The pirates brought all the Europeans,

one by one, to the gangway, and cut then: throats, with the

pious ejaculation, Alia Akbar ! Great is God ! Lord Minto was

resolved to exterminate the whole litter of pirates, and a large

armament was sent against their chief stronghold, Ras-al-kaima,

on the coast of Arabia. It was defended with Arab obstinacy

and carried by British valour. The whole town, with all the

valuable merchandize which had been accumulated in many
piratical expeditions, and an entire fleet of bugalas was
delivered to the flames. Several other towns of inferior note

on the coast were attacked and captured, and in one of them

four hundred Arabs perished before it was surrendered. The
blow was effectual, and for the time piracy was suspended in

these waters, but the inveterate habits, the boldness, and the

fanaticism of these Arab corsairs, led at length to the revival

of it with greater audacity, and to a more signal chastise-

ment.

CHAPTEK XXV.

ADMINISTRATION OP LORD MINTO, CONTINUED, 1809 1813.

occupation of IN the year 1809, an expedition upon a small

Macao, 1809. scale was sent to the coast of China. The occu-

pation of Portugal by Napoleon, and the flight of the Prince

Eegent to Brazil, induced the British Ministry to determine

on taking possession of the Portuguese settlements in the east.

Goa was occupied by a British detachment, and an armament

was scut to Macao, in the vicinity of Canton, on the coast of
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China, which the Portuguese had held for more than two

hundred years. The governor had no means of resistance, and

the settlement was at once occupied by the expeditionary force.

But the imperial viceroy at Canton announced that the un-

licensed entry of foreign soldiers into the Chinese territory

was a violation of the laws of the empire, and ordered them

to be immediately withdrawn. The admiral alleged that

Macao had been long since absolutely ceded to the Portuguese

by the Chinese Government, and that he had come as their

ally, simply to defend the settlement against the French. The

viceroy replied that Macao was in every respect an integral

portion of the empire, and that it was disrespectful as well as

absurd to imagine that the aid of the English was required to

defend any portion of the dominions of the celestial dynasty from

foreign aggression. Finding that the troops still continued at

Macao after his remonstrance, he put a stop to the trade of the

Company, and prohibited all supplies of provisions, while he

made a reference on the subject to Pekin. Expel the barba-

rians, was the short and simple reply of the emperor. Chinese

troops were accordingly collected, and preparations made for

an assault, when the naval and military commanders wisely

judged that their instructions would not justify them in vio-

lating the orders of the emperor in his own dominions, at the

risk of involving their country in a war with the Chinese.

The troops were therefore withdrawn, and the Chinese Go-

vernment exhibited no less moderation after the evacuation

than firmness before it, and allowed the trade to be resumed

without requiring any indemnity.

f ,
The injury inflicted on British commerce in the

Depredations
J *

from the Mauri- eastern seas by pnvateers fitted out at the French
tius,i8c 809 -

islands has .been noticed in a previous chapter.-

Lord Wellesley, who was checked in his design to conquer

them, was obliged to content himself with pressing the great

importance of this object on the public authorities in England.

But, by an act of unaccountable folly, the Ministry not only

neglected to send an expedition against the Mauritius and-

n. s
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Bourbon, although they considered it important to subjugate

every French island in the West Indies, but positively inter-

dicted any attempt on the part of the Indian Government to re-

duce them, though an adequate force might at any time have

been fitted out in India without any expense to the English trea-

sury. The French cruizers and privateers accordingly continued

to prey on British trade, and to sweep the sea from Madagascar
to Java. The naval squadron on the Indian station, consisting

of six ships of the line, sixteen frigates, and six sloops, was
unable to protect the national interests, and six vessels from

Calcutta, valued at thirty lacs of rupees, had been captured by
the French in the course of as many weeks. The losses which

the merchants of Calcutta had sustained since the recommence-

ment of the war were moderately estimated at two crores of

rupees, a sum far in excess of any expenditure which the re-

duction of the islands could possibly have entailed. A memo-
rial was at length transmitted by the merchants to the Ministry,

complaining of the insecurity of commerce and the supineness of

the royal navy. It produced a salutary effect, and the Governor-

General and the naval Commander-in-chief received authority

to adopt the most decisive measures for the protection of trade.

It was determined at first to seek the accomplishment of this

object by a blockade of the Mauritius, but it proved utterly

inefficient. Six of the' Company's magnificent Indiamen, valued

at more than half- a crore of rupees, were captured by French

frigates, who sailed out of the port with perfect impunity, and

returned in triumph with their prizes in the teeth of the block-

ading squadron.

Navai disasters, TJpon the failure of this plan, the Government

resolved, in the first instance, to take possession of

the lesser island of Bourbon, and it was captured with little loss

in 1810. But this gallant achievement was counterbalanced by
a series of naval disasters, which could be attributed only to

ignorance and mismanagement. Three French frigates, return-

ing from a successful cruize, found their way, in spite of the

blockade, into the Grand port, on the south-eastern side of the
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Mauritius. Four English frigates were sent to cut them out,

but the French vessels, reinforced by seamen and sailors from

the town, and supported by powerful batteries on shore, baffled

every effort. Two of the English frigates, after a gallant but

unavailing defence, were set on fire, and the third struck her

flag when not a man was left unwounded. A fourth was sur-

rounded by a superior force, and obliged to surrender when all

her provisions were exhausted. Soon after, a fifth frigate was

captured by the French fleet, which thus maintained the

national honour in these seas as nobly as Suffrein had done

_ . twenty-eight years before. Meanwhile, LordMinto
Capture of the J J

Mauritius, was assembling at the three Presidencies an arma-

ment of overwhelming strength for the conquest of

the island. The naval expedition consisted of one seventy-four
and thirteen frigates, besides sloops and gunboats. The land

force contained no fewer than nine European regiments, num-

bering 6,300 bayonets, and 2,000 seamen and marines, together
with four volunteer regiments of sepoys and Madras pioneers :

in ah
1

,
about 11,300 men. To meet this force, the French

general could only muster 2,000 Europeans and a body of un-

disciplined African slaves. The English army disembarked at

Grand Baye on the 29th November, and the next day marched

towards Port Louis, the capital of the island. The French

could expect to offer only a partial resistance to this over-

whelming force, and the general, unwilling to sacrifice the lives

of brave men in a hopeless contest, surrendered the island on

fair and honourable terms.

Expedition to The subjugation of Holland by Napoleon placed
Java, 1811. fae Dut;Ch settlements in the east under his control,

and it was deemed important to the interests of British com-

merce to occupy them. An expedition was accordingly sent

to the spice islands, in 1809, and the chief of the group,

Amboyna, rendered memorable in the annals of the Company

by the massacre of their agents in 1612, was occupied after a

feeble resistance. Banda and Ternate were surrendered soon

after, and of the great colonial empire which the Dutch had

s 2
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been two centuries in erecting, nothing remained to them but

the island of Java. Lord Minto had received the sanction of

the Court of Directors to proceed against it, and had summoned

to his counsels Mr., afterwards Sir Stamford, Baffles, a member

of the Government of Penang, who had acquired a knowledge
of the languages, the condition and the interests of the various

tribes in the Eastern archipelago superior to that of any other

European. No time was lost, after the reduction of the

Mauritius, in fitting out an expedition for the conquest of the

island, and Lord Minto determined to accompany it, though in

the capacity of a volunteer. It consisted of ninety sail, on which

were embarked about 6,000 European troops, and the same

number of sepoys. It was the largest European armament

which had ever traversed the eastern seas. Its departure was

delayed by various causes, and it did not reach the rendezvous

at Malacca before the 1st June, 1811. The monsoon had

already set in, and both the usual routes to Java were deemed

inexpedient, if not impracticable. Captain Greigh, the com-

mander of a brig, strongly recommended the passage along

the south-west coast of Borneo, which he had recently sur-

veyed, in which the fleet would be sheltered from the fury of

the monsoon, and assisted by the breezes from the land. This

opinion was strongly supported by Mr. Raffles, and as

strenuously opposed by the naval commanders. The question

was referred to Lord Minto, who decided on adopting Captain

Greigh's suggestion, instead of yielding to advice which

would have obliged him to defer the attempt to the next year,

and entailed boundless confusion, and a prodigious expendi-

ture. He led the way in the "Modeste" frigate, commanded

by his son ;
the whole fleet cleared the intricate channels with-

out a single accident, and anchored in the bay of Batavia, on

the 4th August.

strength of the Since the occupation of the island by the French,
enemy, 1811.

Napoleon had been indefatigable in his efforts to

complete its defences. He sent out large reinforcements, and

munitions of war, and, above all, an officer in whom he had
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confidence, General Daendels, who levied heavy contributions,

and paid little attention to the convenience of the colonists,

in his anxiety to construct new and formidable works in the

vicinity of the capital. The entire body of troops under his

command was reckoned at 17,000, of whom 13,000 were concen-

trated for the defence of Fort Cornells, eight miles inland from

Batavia. The capital of the island was occupied without

resistance, and the military post at Weltevreden, with its

stores and ammunition, and three hundred pieces of cannon,

was surrendered, after a sharp action, and the English force

advanced against Cornelis. For some unexplained cause,

General Daendels had been recalled, and his post given to

General Jaensens, the officer who had surrendered the Caps
of Good Hope to the English squadron four years before. The

emperor, at his final audience, reminded him of this disaster,

and said "
Sir, remember that a French general does not allow

himself to be captured a second time." Jaensens, after

assuming the command, made the most strenuous efforts to

render the position of Cornelis, which was strong by nature,

impregnable by art, well knowing that as soon as the rains set

in, the malaria of the Batavian marshes would constrain the

English to raise the siege and retire. Cornelis was an en-

trenched camp between two rivers, one of which was not

fordable, and the other was defended by formidable redoubts

and batteries. The entire circumference of the camp was five

miles, and it was protected by 300 pieces of cannon.

The British Commander-in-chief, Sir Samuel
The attack and ^
capture of Cor- Ahmuty, decided at first to assail it by regular
eh8' 18

approaches, but the attempt was soon found to

demand such laborious exertions as the men were unequal to

under a tropical sun. It was resolved, therefore, to carry it by
a coup de main, and this brought into play the daring spirit of

Colonel Gellespie, of Vellore renown, to whom the enterprise

was committed. His column marched soon after midnight on

the 26th August, and came upon the redoubt as the day began

to dawn. His rear division had not come up, but he felt that
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the smallest delay would prove fatal to his plans, and he was
confident that the missing troops would be made aware of his

position and hasten to join him, by the report of the firing.

The redoubt was immediately attacked, and carried at the

point of the bayonet. Colonel Gellespie then took possession

of the frail bridge, which the enemy had unaccountably left

standing, and the demolition of which would have been a

serious, if not fatal, impediment, and, with the aid of the rear

division, which had by this time joined him, carried a second

redoubt. The overwhelming impetuosity of his troops cap-

tured all the others in succession, till he found himself in the

foreground of the enemy's reserve, and of a large body of

cavalry, posted with powerful artillery in front of the barracks

and lesser fort. They were vigorously attacked, chiefly by the

59th, and driven from their position, when the Colonel, placing

himself at the head of the dragoons and horse artillery, pur-

sued the fugitives for ten miles, and completed the defeat and

disorganisation of the whole French army. Thus was Java

won in a single morning, and by the efforts of a single officer.

The loss of the French was severe, and 6,000 of their troops,

chiefly Europeans, were made prisoners, but the victory cost

the British 900 in killed and wounded, of whom 85 were

officers. General Jaensens retired to Samarang, with about

8,000 native soldiers, but after several skirmishes with the

detachments sent in pursuit of him, he found that no depen-
dence was to be placed on his Javanese and Malay sepoys,

and, notwithstanding the warning of his master, . was con-

strained to give himself up a second time, and surrender Java

and all its dependencies.

Bevoitof
Some of the native chiefs of the island mani-

Native Chiefs, fested a disposition to take advantage of the con-

fusion of the times to throw off the European yoke ;

and the Sultan of Djojekarta declared war against the English

and called upon the Javanese to rise and recover their inde-

pendence. Colonel Gellespie conducted a force against his

capital, which was protected by a high rampart and batteries,
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mounted with a hundred pieces of cannon, and manned by
17,000 troops, independently of an armed population calculated

at 100,000. It was carried by storm, and another wreath was
added to the laurels of that gallant officer. The Court of

Directors had granted their sanction to the expedition with no

other object than to extinguish the power of the French, and

to obtain security for then: own ships and commerce in the

eastern seas. Hence, they gave instructions that if it proved

successful, the fortifications should be levelled with the ground,
the arms and ammunition distributed among the natives, and

the island evacuated. It is difficult to conceive that so bar-

barous a policy, which must inevitably have consigned every

European on the island to destruction, could ever have been

seriously entertained by an association of civilised men in the

nineteenth century. But Lord Minto was not disposed to put

weapons into the hands of the natives, and abandon the Dutch

colonists, without arms or fortresses, to their vindictive

passions, to undo the work of two centuries, and resign that

noble island to the reign of barbarism. He determined to

retain it, and committed the command of the army to Colonel

Gellespie, and the government to Mr. Raffles, under whose

wise and liberal administration it continued to flourish for

several years.

_ . Having thus established the power of Britain in
Supersession
of Lord Minto, the eastern archipelago, and given security to her

commerce by expelling the French from every

harbour in the east, Lord Minto returned to Calcutta early in

1812, and soon after learned that he had been superseded in

the Government. The usual term of office was considered to

extend to seven years, and Lord Minto had intimated to the

Directors his wish to be relieved from the Government early in

1814. But the Prince Regent was impatient to bestow this

lucrative appointment on the favourite of the day, the Earl of

Moira, who had recently been employed, though without

success, in attempting to form a new ministry. Under the

dictation of the Board of Control, the chairman of the Court
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of Directors was reluctantly obliged to move a resolution for

the immediate rccal of Lord Minto. Circumstances detained

Lord Moira in England longer than he expected ; he did not

reach Calcutta before October, 1813, and Lord Minto, who had

been intermediately honoured with a step in the peerage, did

not embark till within a few months of the period which he

had himself fixed for his departure, but the determination to

inflict on him the indignity of removal, in the midst of an

administration in which there had been no failure and no cause

of dissatisfaction, was dishonourable equally to the Ministry
and to their royal master.

On the return of Lord Minto from Java, it
The Pmdarees

>

'

their origin, became necessary, for the first time, to order
80 '

troops into the field to repel the Pindarees, who

had burst into the province of Bundlekund, and threatened

the great commercial mart of Mirzapore. The earliest trace

of the Pindarees, as a body of mounted freebooters, is found

in the struggles of the Mahrattas with Aurungzebe towards

the close of the seventeenth century ; but they come more

distinctly into notice under the Peshwa, the first Bajee Rao.

A large detachment of them accompanied the Mahratta expe-

dition againt Ahmed Shah Abdalee, and shared in the

disaster of Paniput. After the Peshwa had delegated the

charge of maintaining the Mahratta power in Hindostan to

his lieutenants, Sindia and Holkar, the Pindarees were ranged
nnder their standards and designated, respectively, the Sindia

Shahee and the Holkar Shahee Pindarees ; but they were not

allowed to pitch their tents within the encampment of the

Mahratta princes, nor were their leaders at first permitted to

sit in their presence. A body of these freebooters accom-

panied Tokajee Holkar into Hindostan in 1769, and he

bestowed on the leader the zuree putun, or golden flag of dis-

tinction, which served to keep his band generally faithful to

the house of Holkar. Two other hordes followed the fortunes

of Mahdajee and Dowlut Rao Sindia in their expeditions to the

Deccan and Hindostan. But the connection of the Pindaree
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leaders with the Mahratta princes was ahvays loose and uncer-

tain, and regulated more by the principle of convenience than

of fealty. The princes found it useful to attach to their camp
a large body of freebooters, who received no pay, and were

content with an unlimited licence to plunder, and were always

ready to complete the work of destruction in the districts

which the Mahrattas invaded. The Pindaree leaders, on their

part, found it advantageous to enjoy a connection, however

indirect, with established governments, to whom they might
look for protection in case of emergency. But this relation-

ship did not restrain the Pindarees from plundering the districts

of their patrons when it suited their interests, nor did it

prevent the Mahratta princes from seizing the leaders after

any of their successful expeditions, and obliging them to

surrender the best part of their plunder.

Two of the leaders, Heerun and Burrun, in the

i7ad

d

ers

ee

i808
8uite of Sindia, 'offered their services, soon after

the death of Mahdajee, to the raja of Bhopal to

plunder the territories of the raja of Nagpore, with whom he

was at war. Their offer was prudently declined, on which

they proceeded to Nagpore in quest of professional employ-

ment, and were readily engaged by the raja to lay waste the

lands of Bhopal, which they accomplished so effectively that it

was a quarter of a century before the country recovered from

the effect of their ravages. On their return to Nagpore, the

raja did not scruple to attack their encampment and completely

despoil them of the rich booty they had collected in this expedi-

tion. Burrun was thrown into confinement, which he did not

survive. Heerun took refuge with Sindia, and died soon after,

when his two sons, Dost Mahomed and Wassil Mahomed,
collected his scattered followers and reorganized the band.

The leadership of Burrun's Piudarees devolved on Cheetoo, by
birth a Jaut, who was purchased when a child, during a famine,

by a Pindaree, and trained up to the profession. His superior

abilities and his daring spirit of enterprize gave him the fore-

most rank in the troop, and recommended him to the notice of
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Dowlut Rao Sindia, who took a large body of his followers

with him in the expedition to Hindostan in 1805, which has

been already alluded to. He was rewarded with a jageer, and

the title of nabob, which he engraved on his seal, in the pomp-
ous style of an oriental prince. He fixed his head-quarters
at Nimar, amidst the rugged hills and wild fastnesses which

lie between the Nerbudda and the Vindya range. From this

point, his Pindarees were dispatched in every direction on

plundering expeditions, from which even the territories of

Sindia were not always exempted. His armies were con-

sequently sent in succession to reduce the Pindaree bands,
but were as constantly baffled as the Mogul armies had been

by the Mahrattas, at the beginning of their career. Sindia,

at length deemed it convenient to patch up a peace with

Cheetoo, and to cede five districts to him to preserve the rest

of his dominions from plunder.

Kureem Khan, another Pindaree leader of note,
Kureem Khan, wag a j^u^ or patan, who entered the service

of Sindia at an early age, and at the battle of

Kurdla acquired a rich harvest of plunder in the Nizam's

camp, which enabled him to increase the strength of his pre-

datory band. In the course of time, he obtained an assign-

ment of lands from Sindia, together with a title, and married

into the noble family of Bhopal. He was bold, active, and

ambitious, and by the gradual encroachments which the distrac-

tion of the times enabled him to make on the dominions both

of Sindia and Holkar, he had, by 1806, acquired possession of

a little principality, yielding sixteen lacs of rupees a-year. He
enlisted infantry, cast cannon, formed a body of household

troops, and increased his Pindarees to 10,000 and for the first

time a Pindaree chief appeared likely to become a territorial

prince. But Sindia had no idea of permitting this develop-

ment, and resolved to crush his rising- power. He accordingly

proceeded to his capital on the pretence of a friendly visit, and

Kureem Khan advanced to meet him with a state little inferior

to his own, and presented him with a throne composed of a lac
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and a quarter of rupees. Sihdia treated him with the utmost

condescension and engaged to grant all his requests. The

Pindaree was completely' thrown off his guard, and was

persuaded to pay his parting visit to Sindia for the confirma-

tion of these promises with a very slender retinue. He was

received with distinction, but after the first compliments had

passed, Sindia withdrew from the tent, under some excuse,

when a body of armed men rushed in and secured Kureem

Khan, who was hurried off to Gwalior, where he was detained

in confinement for four years. Meanwhile, Sindia's territories

were devastated without mercy by his Pindaree adherents,

under the command of his nephew. An offer of six lacs of

rupees was at length
1 made for the release of Kureem Khan,

which was, after much discussion, accepted, and the freebooter

obtained his liberty. But it was not long before Sindia had

cause to repent of an act dictated only by avarice. The

Pindarees flocked to Kureem Khan's standard in such num-

bers that he speedily acquired more extensive territories and

power than he had enjoyed before his captivity. Cheetoo was

induced to join him with the whole of his force, and an alli-

ance was likewise formed with Ameer Khan, then in the

Bpring-tide of his career. Their united force did not fall short

of 60,000 horse, and from the palace to the cottage, every one

in Central India was filled with consternation at this portentous

association of men whose only vocation was plunder. Happily,

the union was short lived. Cheetoo, who had always cherished

the hostility of a rival towards Kureem Khan, was prevailed

on to desert him, and Sindia, whose territories he was laying

waste with fire and sword, sent one of his ablest generals

against him. His camp was assaulted and broken up, and he

sought an asylum with Ameer Khan, who made him over to

his nephew, Guffoor Khan, and Toolsee-bye, at Indore, by whom
he was detained three years.

These were the acknowledged leaders of the Pin-
Their system
of plunder, darce association, to whose encampment the minor

chiefs flocked with their adherents when the season
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arrived for their annual forays. The ranks of the Pindarees

were constantly replenished by horsemen discharged from the

service of regular Governments, or in want of employment and

subsistence ; by miscreants expelled from the community for

their crimes, or men pursued by the importunity of their credi-

tors, or who were weary of a peaceable life and of regular

occupation. The Pindaree system thus afforded to every crimi-

nal not only a safe asylum, but active employment of the most

exciting character, to the utter destruction of all the wholesome

restraints of society. The predatory standard was generally

raised at the Dussera festival, towards the end of October,

when the rains ceased and the rivers became fordable. A
leader of experience and acknowledged courage was selected,

tinder whom a body of four or five thousand was ranged for

the expedition. They were all mounted, two-fifths of them on

good horses, armed with a spear from twelve to eighteen feet

in length, and the remainder with a variety of weapons of in-

ferior quality. Each horseman was provided with a few cakes

for himself and a bag of grain for his horse, and these supplies

were replenished as they proceeded, plundering from village to

village. They were not encumbered with tents or baggage,

and moved often at a speed of forty or fifty miles a-day, and

even of sixty in case of emergency, and were thus enabled to

baffle all pursuit. Neither were they fettered by any preju-

dices of caste, or any compunctions of tenderness, or any

scruples of conscience. Their vocation was to plunder, and not

to fight, and they fled whenever they encountered any resist-

ance. They were the most dastardly brigands on record, and

the history of their career is not relieved by a single humane, or

even romantic action. The atrocities they committed on man

and woman almost exceed belief. Unable to remain long in

any one spot, the greatest despatch was required to complete

the plunder of the village, and the most horrible tortures were

inflicted to hasten the discovery of property. On their arrival

in any locality terror and dismay at once seized upon the help-

less inhabitants ; villages were to be seen in a blaze, wounded
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and houseless peasants flying
1 in every direction, fortified places

shutting their gates, and keeping up a perpetual fire from their

walls. Their progress through the country was a stream of

desolation, for what they could not carry off they invariably

destroyed. Their numbers, moreover, were swelled by the

very miseries they inflicted, inasmuch as those who were thus

reduced to destitution by their extortion were in too many
cases obliged to join their ranks for a mere subsistence.

Theu1

depredations were for several years con-

British teni- fined to the neighbourhood of the Nerbudda and
ory, 1812. ^e frontjers Of ^he peghwa, the Nizam and the

raja of Nagpore. As these districts became exhausted they
were obliged to enlarge the sphere of their expeditions, and, in

one instance, swept through four hundred miles of country
south of the Nerbudda, to the extremity of the Peshwa's and

Nizam's territories, and returned laden with booty, which

served to attract additional numbers to their body. In 1811,

the Dussera was celebrated by an assemblage of 25,000

Pindaree horse, besides some battalions of foot ; and a detach-

ment of 5,000 plundered up to the gates of Nagpore, and burnt

down one of the suburbs of the city. The next year, a large

body under Dost Mahomed penetrated through the native prin-

cipality of Rewah, and plundered the Company's district of

Mirzapore. They then proceeded towards Gya, within seventy
miles of Patna, and having realized an extraordinary amount

of spoil in this new and untrodden field, disappeared up the

sources of the Soane before a British soldier could overtake

them. This was their first aggression on British territory,

and, coupled with the periodical devastation of the countries

north and south of the Nerbudda, constrained Lord Minto to

bring the subject before the Court of Directors, and entreat

them to consider whether it was expedient
" to observe a strict

neutrality amidst these scenes of disorder and
Lord Minto s

representations, outrage, or to listen to the calls of suffering

humanity, and interfere for the protection of the

weak and defenceless states who implored our assistance
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against the ravages of the Pindarees and the Patans." Before

he quitted the Government he again addressed the Court,

pointing out that the augmented numbers, the improved or-

ganization, and
,
the increased boldness of the Pindarees,

arising from the success of their inroads, rendered the adop-

tion of an extensive system of measures for their suppression

a matter of pressing importance. If Lord Wellesley's purpose
of establishing the paramount influence of the British Govern-

ment throughout India had not been thwarted in England, the

growth of this predatory confederacy would have been effec-

tually checked, but the fatal policy adopted by the Court of

Directors fostered it into a formidable power, the suppression

of which, after eight years of impunity, as Lord Minto ob-

served, would require much "laborious arrangement and com-

bination, both political and military." It was the misfortune

of his administration to be cast between the vigorous adminis-

trations of Lord Wellesley and Lord Hastings, one of whom

organized, and the other consummated, the system of main-

taining the tranquillity of India through British supremacy.
It fell unhappily to his lot to act upon the neutral policy of the

home authorities, of which he entirely disapproved, though he

had to bear the odium of it. The boldness with which he re-

pressed the ambition of Kunjeet Sing, and the irruption of

Ameer Khan into Nagpore, when he had an opportunity of

acting on his own impulse, shows that, notwithstanding his

constitutional caution, he would have dealt vigorously with

the Pindarees if he had not been restrained by the India

House. But his Government was, nevertheless, of essential

service to the interests of India by demonstrating to the autho-

rities in England the impracticability of their system of non-

interference, and by preparing them to abandon it under his

successor.

Minto's administration
Beviewofthe
Permanent Set- twenty years had elapsed since the introduction of

eat, 1813.
Lord Cornwallis's permanent settlement and judi-

cial institutions, which formed an important era in the history
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of India, and it becomes necessary to review the effect they

produced on the welfare of the country. After twenty-five

years of unsatisfactory experiments in revenue settlements,

the Government in England, and Lord Cornwallis in India, by
a generous and noble inspiration, resolved at once to constitute

the zemindars who had to this time been the simple collectors

of the revenue, or rather the "
hereditary administrators of

the revenue, with a beneficial interest in the land," the actual

proprietors of every estate in Bengal and Behar, and to make

a permanent and irrevocable settlement with them, when only

two-thirds of the land were under culture. But the great boon

thus conferred was saddled with one condition, which proved
fatal to the great majority of them. Under the Mahomedan

government the zemindar, when he fell into arrears, was
summoned either to Dacca, or Moorshedabad, and subjected
to great indignities, and sometimes even to torture, till he

made provision for paying them up ; but he was rarely de-

prived of his zemindaree. This system of coercion was

repugnant to the British character, and the penalty of eviction

was adopted in its stead. The zemindar was required to

discharge every instalment of revenue on the day on which it

fell due, and, on the first failure, his estate was put up to sale

by auction, and knocked down to the highest bidder; but

punctuality is not, in1 any circumstances, an oriental virtue,

least of all in pecuniary matters. The zemindars had been

brought up in prodigality and improvidence ; they fell rapidly

into arrears, and were inexorably sold up. In the course of

seven years, dating from 1793, most of the great zemindars

who had survived the commotions of more than a century,

were ejected from the estates of which they had been recently

declared the sole proprietors. It was a great social revolution,

affecting more than a third of the tenures of land in a country
the- size of England. In some respects this eviction was inju-

rious to the people, for the old zemindars had lived in the

bosom of their tenantry for generations, and being almost exclu-

sively Hindoos, had laid themselves out to promote their social
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and religious festivities. They maintained large households, and

expended with a lavish hand, in their circle, the sums which

had been drawn, probably by extortion, from the ryots. The

estates thus brought to the hammer were bought by the new

aristocracy of wealth, which had grown up in the political, the

commercial, and the judicial service of the Company, and with

the growth of trade and the security of property. They were

often absentees, and in every case strangers to the ryots, and

all the beneficial ties which had associated the agricultural

population with the old zemindars were thus dissolved. But

the breaking up of these unwieldy zemindarees, equal in some

cases to entire districts, was by no means unfavourable to the

extension of cultivation, and the general improvement of the

country.

condition of the
^e settlement of 1793, however, made no

ryots, 1793 adequate provision for protecting the rights and

interests of the ryot. After a century of dis-

cussion, it is now admitted that the ryot was the ancient and

hereditary proprietor of the soil, possessing all the privileges

of ownership, but bound to pay a certain proportion of the

produce of every field, generally three-fifths, to the Govern-

ment. This principle is enshrined in the ancient Hindoo maxim,
" whose is the sweat, his is the land." In some parts of India

the right of the ryot to his land is designated by a word
which signifies indestructible. Tenant right, indeed, appears
to have been from time immemorial the basis of all revenue

systems. The Mogul settlement of Akbar, in 1582, was made
with the ryots. After a minute survey and a careful valuation

of the lands, field by field, his great financial minister, Toder

Mull, fixed the proportion of the produce calculated in money,
which was to be paid by each cultivator to the state ; and
this scale remained without alteration till the days of Lord

Cornwallis, who acknowledged it to be the asul, or funda-

mental rent. The Mogul government appointed revenue

officers, subsequently called zemindars, to collect the public

dues from each village, granting them a commission of about
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ten per cent., or its equivalent in land. The office was neces-

sarily invested with large powers, and gradually became here-

ditary, and the zemindar came to occupy the position of the

fiscal representative of government within his circle. When-
ever the nabob was anxious to augment his revenues, he

levied an additional impost on the gross payments of the

zemindars, and they distributed the assessment on the ryots,

generally in proportion to their rents, which thus became the

standard of supplementary taxation. These cesses were

usually legalised by the nabob's Government, but the zemindar

often abused his power and levied arbitrary and unauthorized

benevolences on the helpless ryot for his own exclusive

benefit, the jumma, or rent all the while remaining the same.

The settlement of Lord Cornwallis provided that all these

cesses should be consolidated with the rent, and embodied

in a pottah, or written lease ;
and it peremptorily prohibited the

exaction of any additional imposts. For the protection of the

ryot it was ordained that the ancient and hereditary khoodcast

ryot, who had been in possession of his fields twelve years

before the settlement, should be liable to no enhancement of

his rent, and that from ryots with the right of occupancy of a

later date, the demand should not exceed the pergunna or cus-

tomary rate, as recorded in the register of the village account-

ant. The zemindar did not therefore, at the period of the

settlement, receive an absolute estate, with all the English

adjuncts of ownership, nor was he at liberty to let the lands

by competition. The ancient and still recognised rights of the

ryots imposed an effectual limitation on his movements, and he

was amenable to the civil courts if he infringed those rights.

A large field was still left for improving his income ; first, by

planting new men on his waste lands, which he was at liberty

to let for whatever sum he could obtain ; and, secondly, by in-

ducing the old ryots to cultivate the more valuable articles of

produce, inasmuch as he was entitled, according to the custom

of the country, to demand higher rents from the fields on which

they were raised. The rule of proportion is the ancient and

II. T
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prescriptive standard of assessment in the land of Munoo. It

is the Indian solution of one of the most intricate and im-

portant of social questions. It is equally applicable to every

stage of improvement, and it gives the zemindar, since he has

been endowed with the rights of the Government, an equitable

share of the increased value of his estate, while it prevents
his grasping the whole of it, and crushing the ryot. These

restrictions on the zemindar at the time when he received the

boon of proprietorship were in accordance with the usages of

the country, and were intended, as the Court of Directors said,
" to protect the ryot from being improperly disturbed in his pos-

sessions, or subjected to unwarrantable exactions." The Go-

vernment likewise reserved the power of enacting regulations

at any future time for the welfare and protection of the ryots.

But this protection, instead of being steadily and honourably

maintained, has been gradually weakened. By the 5th Regu-
lation of 1812, the zemindars were allowed, except in the case

of hereditary khoodcast ryots, to form engagements on any
conditions which suited them, and they immediately inter-

preted it to signify that they had authority to dispossess even

ryots with a right of occupancy if they refused to submit to

their demands. From that time the course of legislation

has invariably been adverse to the interests and rights of the

ryots, till, in 1859, an Act was passed to "
prevent illegal exac-

tions and extortions in connection with demands for rent," and

to restore the ryot to the condition in which the Government

pledged itself to sustain him by the sacred compact of 1793.

Distraint and
^G condition of the ryot was further deteriorated

sub-letting, by the power of summary and unlimited distraint

with which the landlord was armed by Regulation

7 of 1799. It afforded him the most ample means of oppression,

and was regarded throughout the country with feelings of

intense horror. The wretchedness of the ryot was consummated

by the system of sub-letting which came in with the permanent
settlement. The zemindar, having now obtained a distinct pro-

perty in bis estate, parcelled it out at enhanced rates, on leases
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of two or three years to farmers, who in their turn sub-let it to

others at a still higher rate. The sub-letting often descended

to the fourth grade. The accumulated demand was extorted

from the cultivator by every ingenuity of oppression, and by

threatening him with the awful penalties of the law of distraint.

The rapid succession of these hungry adventurers was fatal to

the interests of the ryot, who lamented his unhappy fate, in his

own homely language, in having
" three bellies to fill

"
in addi-

tion to those of his own family. He paid the extortionate

demand while there was anything left in his hut, or as long as

his mukajun, or money-lender, would supply him with money or

grain, and then deserted his village, and too often joined the

dacoits. The country thus became impoverished and de-

populated ; and five years of sub-letting was found sufficient

to reduce the number of houses in a village from a hundred to

forty, and the cultivation in the same proportion. As the

peasant moved off the land, the wild hogs took possession of

it, and the increase of the one was an unerring index of the

decay of the other. Under the operation of this system of

sub-letting, and the exactions to which it gave rise, the district

of Nuddea, within forty miles of Calcutta, was pronounced in

1810 to be the finest hog-hunting field in Bengal.

On the acquisition of the ceded and conquered
Ceded and con-

quered pro- provinces, which now constitute the Agra Presi-

dency, Lord Wellesley, who considered a permanent

settlement indispensable to agricultural improvement, engaged,
in 1803, to bestow it on them after the expiration of the

decennial leases. The promise was confirmed in 1805. But

Sir George Barlow and Lord Minto were so anxious to confer

this blessing, as they deemed it, on the provinces, that com-

missioners were appointed to carry the new system into effect

before the termination of the old arrangements. But they
found the revenue department a mass of confusion

; they could

obtain no reliable information regarding the tenures of land, or

the rights of property, or the resources of the districts, or the

means and prospects of improving them. There were exten-

T 2
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sive waste lands without a proprietor, and a fourth of the

arable land was untilled. Mr. Tucker, a member of the coin-

mission, and the highest financial authority in India, stated,

in spite of his attachment to the principles of a permanent settle-

ment, that he did not consider these provinces prepared for it,

and that it would entail a heavy and irretrievable sacrifice of

revenue, without any corresponding benefit to those connected

with the land. Lord Minto and his colleagues, however, con-

troverted Mr. Tucker's opinions and conclusions, and continued

to maintain the necessity of an immediate and permanent settle-

ment. But the Court of Directors, whose sanction was neces-

sary to confirm the arrangement, suddenly changed their

opinions in 1813, and prohibited the formation of any such

settlement at any future time. This repudiation had all the

appearance of a breach of faith with the zemindars of the north-

west ;
but under the periodical settlements which were made,

the revenues were increased fifty per cent., by a crore and a

quarter of rupees a-year, leaving the ryot a rag and a hovel.

The Madras Presidency consisted of the five

thflaadras northern sircars acquired by Lord Olive in 1765,
Presidency, fae conquests made by Lord Cornwallis in 1793,
18031813. *

and the acquisitions of Lord Wellesley seven years

later. The Supreme Government, enamoured of the zemindaree

system, determined to extend it to the Madras territories. No

zemindars, however, were to be found, but, under orders from

Calcutta, some who appeared to answer the description were

at length discovered, or created, in the older provinces, and a

settlement was commenced with them. Soon after an attempt
to make village settlements was advocated by the Board of

Revenue, and sanctioned by the Court of Directors. But, after

repeated vacillations, it was resolved to abandon both plans,

and to adopt the ryotwary system, which was created and

matured by a little band of soldiers, of whom Sir Thomas

Munro, with whose name it is identified, was the most eminent.

He assumed that the Government was the absolute proprietor

of the land, to the entire exclusion of all individual rights.
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The settlement was to be made from year to year with each

ryot, and the assessment was to be equal to one-third of the

produce. After the lands had been surveyed and classified and

assessed, the potail, or head man of the village, when the

ploughing season began, distributed the fields among the

villagers, who were not permitted to select their own lands,

but constrained to take the good and the inferior in due pro-

portion. When the season was so far advanced that a judg
ment could be formed of the crop, the rent of the year was

fixed, nominally, by the European officer, but, in practice, by a

native, called a tehsildar, who was generally imported from

another village to prevent loss to the revenue from local influ-

ences. If the crop of particular fields failed, the deficiency

was assessed on the whole village to the extent of ten per

cent., which was often as much as the ryot himself received

for the labour of the year. But the cultivator, though debarred

from choosing his fields, was responsible for the rent of those

arbitrarily allotted to him, and the collector had power to con-

fine, punish, and flog him if he obstinately refused to cultivate

them. If these oppressions drove him from his village, the

collector followed him wherever he might go, and caused him

to make good the assessment. The system was aptly de-

scribed by the Board of Revenue as one which " bound the

ryot by force to the plough, compelled him to till land acknow-

ledged to be over-assessed, dragged him back if he absconded,

deferred the demand upon him till the crop came to maturity
and then took from him all that could be obtained, and left

him nothing but his bullocks and his seed grain," and even

these he was often obliged to dispose of. Successful efforts

have been made during the last sixty years to mitigate the

more flagrant evils of this system, but it is inherently and in-

curably vicious. It operates as a check on industry; it per-

petuates a state of poverty throughout the country ;
it pre-

vents the growth of capital and the accumulation of landed

property, and it deprives the Government of the powerful

support of a landed aristocracy.
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A brief review of the working of the Cornwallis
Civil jurispru-

dence 1793 institutions of civil and criminal jurisprudence and

police during this period of twenty years will be

found interesting. Under the native Governments, all the func-

tions connected with revenue, justice, and police were concen-

trated in the same individual, nabob, zemindar, or village

agent. Even where the Government did little to give justice

to the people, it left them at liberty to procure it for them-

selves. For some time before the introduction of British rule,

the judicial machinery appears to have become deranged ;
but

those who administered the rough forms of justice then in use

had still the advantage of belonging to the country, of being
assimilated to the people in language and religion, conversant

with their usages, and not altogether indifferent to their good

opinion. Their proceedings were simple and their decisions

summary and final, and generally conformable to equity and

good sense. The British Government, as a foreign power

legislating for a conquered people, might have been expected
to adopt a simple and intelligible system of jurisprudence,

which could be easily worked. But Lord Gornwallis lived in

an age when English law was considered the perfection of

reason, and he took it for his model. His code was an intri-

cate and perplexing network of law, and the machinery he con-

structed for administering it was clogged with technical rules

and complicated forms. The business of the court was con-

ducted in a language foreign to the judge, the suitors, and the

witnesses. The judges who presided in it, and who regulated
all its proceedings, were imperfectly acquainted with the lan-

guage, feeh'ngs, opinions, prejudices, and moral habits of the

people, and some of them were pronounced by their own
brethren to be unfit for any branch of the service. The novelty
of a court established for the exclusive cognisance of civil

suits, attracted crowds of suitors. Every man who had a claim,

or could manufacture one, hastened to the new court, and un-

bounded scope was given to the national passion for litigation.

The demand for justice, or law, soon began to exceed the
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means of supply. In the year 1797, the number of suits insti-

tuted amounted to 330,000, and such was the pressure of

business that some of the judges were known to conduct two

or three cases at the same time. To secure perfect justice,

appeal was allowed on appeal, but as the privilege was resorted

to only to gam time, or to evade immediate payment, or to

harass an opponent, it only served to impede the course of

justice, and to defeat its own object. The judicial system

speedily became so cumbrous and unwieldy, that serious appre-

hensions were entertained of its breaking down altogether. To

reduce the files, legal fees were multiplied, in the hope of dis-

couraging litigation. During Lord Minto's administration,

various expedients were adopted in the courts in which the

European judges presided, to expedite the progress of justice,

but with only partial success. Some additional courts were

established, but the cost of the judicial establishments which

had risen in fifteen years, from thirty to eighty lacs of rupees

a-year, began to excite alarm. The only real improvement of

the time, consisted in increasing the number and the pay of

the moonsiffs, who decided half the cases in the country. Their

allowances were actually raised to fifty rupees a-month, but

the most violent prejudices against the employment of native

agency in the department of civil justice still continued to

reign among the civilian judges, who considered that the want

of integrity rendered it impossible for them to decide justly.

Yet the existing system combined both the evils of European

inefficiency and native venality. The helpless and bewildered

European who sat on the bench, and whom it was the object

of all parties to mystify, in most cases placed confidence in his

able and astute shristadar, or head ministerial officer, who thus

acquired such influence hi the court, as to be able to boast, and

with perfect truth, that it was " he who decreed, and he who
dismissed." Hence the object of the suitor was, using the

homely phrase of the day,
" to make the crooked mouth of

the shristadar straight." His evening levee was crowded ;

justice was sold to the highest bidder, and that office became
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one of greater power and emolument than that of the judge
himself.

The provisions for criminal jurisprudence and

pra^encl^mT
*^e P^ce resulted in the same disappointment,

police, 1793- The zemindars were formerly entrusted with the
181 3

responsibility of the police, but as they had in

some cases abused the power in India all power is in all

places abused they were divested of it in 1793 ;
and the

duty was committed to an officer styled a daroga. The districts

were unwieldy ;
that of Midnapore was fifty miles in breadth,

and a hundred and thirty in length ;
and some of them

contained a million of inhabitants. It was impossible for the

magistrate, weighed down as he was with duties at the station,

to visit his jurisdiction and check abuses. The daroga became a

prince in his own circle. He was usually selected from the

servants and dependants of the magistrate ;
he was inadequately

paid by the state, but indemnified himself by extortion, and

reaped a harvest from every crime. He inflicted unheard-of

tortures on the people, beating and binding and starving them

at his pleasure, and often scorching them with torches. It

was this officer who apprehended accused or suspected persons,

and sent them in to the magistrate with a train of witnesses.

The magistrate, who was also loaded with the charge of civil

justice, was often unable for months to take up the case, and

to decide whether the party should be released or committed

for trial to the court of circuit when it arrived. During this

period the accused or suspected person was kept in confine-

ment, at his own expense, amidst the contamination of the

gaol, and in one district there were at one time no fewer than

fifteen hundred individuals awaiting the leisure of the magis-
trate to investigate the charges against them.

The period under review was marked by a great
Dacoity, 1813. . .

, ,

increase in the crime of dacoity, or gang robbery.

It had been the curse of Bengal throughout British rule, and

probably, long before ; but it received a fresh stimulus from

the oppression of the sub-letting system and the vices of the
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police arrangements. The great body of the dacoits followed

their occupation of agriculturists and mechanics by day, and the

vocation of dacoity by night, under the guidance of profes-

sional leaders. They were generally assembled in gangs of

forty or fifty by one of the acknowledged chiefs, who organised

the expedition against some wealthy shopkeeper or money-

lender, or some one who had given information against them. On

reaching the rendezvous, a priest performed a religious service

to propitiate Doorga, the goddess of thieves, to whom a portion

of their spoil was devoted. They then lighted their torches

and proceeded to the village, often letting off a gun to warn

the villagers to remain within doors. The house marked for

plunder was surrounded, and the inmates tortured to reveal

their property. The gang then departed with their plunder,

and resumed their usual occupations the next morning. The

great object of the villagers was to conceal the robbery, in

order to avoid a visit from the daroga, whom they dreaded

more than the dacoits. When he was able to obtain information

of such an occurrence, he came down on the village, seized the

most respectable householders, and exacted all they would pay
to escape being sent up, either as suspected accomplices or as

witnesses, to the magistrate's court, forty or fifty miles distant,

to be indefinitely detained, or fleeced by his native officers. The

dread of being obliged to give evidence also operated power-

fully in keeping the crime concealed. Under the established

judicial system, the chances of the dacoit's escape greatly

exceeded those of his conviction, and, if liberated, he never

failed to wreak his vengeance on the witnesses, sometimes to

the extent to putting them and their families to death. Hence,
when a requisition for evidence reached a village, it was no

uncommon thing to find it at once emptied of all its inhabitants.

To remedy this " monstrous and disorganised state of society,"

as it was aptly described in a minute of Lord Minto, the

zemindar was invested with the office of commissioner of police^

but as he was expected to bear all the expenses connected with

it, and was to act in subordination to the detested daroga, the
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scheme fell to the ground. Special magistrates were then

appointed to repress dacoity, one of whom was the farfamed

linguist and poet, John Leyden ;
but they acted with a vigour

beyond the laws, and apprehended men by thousands, of whom
not one in forty was convicted. Their agency was speedily

dispensed with, but the rigour of their proceedings served for

a time to diminish the crime.

It is a painful task to record the defects of the
Bemarksonthe .

Comwaiiis Comwallis system, whichwas once pronounced "the
system, 1813.

nobiest mOnument of a just and liberal policy that

was ever erected in a conquered country." It was, undoubtedly,

distinguished by a complete absence of selfishness and an

earnest feeling of benevolence, and the sterling purity of motive

which dictated it was a legitimate object of national pride.

But it aimed at too much, and established judicial institutions

tmsuited to the native character and habits. The permanent
settlement was a generous and self-denying act, and it

developed the resources of Bengal and Behar, beyond all ex-

pectation ;
but it inflicted poverty and wretchedness on the

great body of the cultivators. A singular fatality, indeed,

seems to have attended all our revenue settlements in every

province throughout an entire century, as we shall repeatedly

have* occasion to remark hereafter, and though devised with

the best intentions, they have never been successful in pro-

moting the welfare of the agricultural community. The failure

of Lord Cornwallis's institutions was for the first time disclosed

in the celebrated Fifth Report of the House of Commons,
drawn up by Mr. Gumming, one of the ablest officers of the

Board of Control. It took the public, who reposed entire con-

fidence in the perfection of the system, completely by surprise ;

but it produced a salutary effect. It dissolved the dream of

optimism in which the public authorities had indulged, and

directed then- attention to those reforms which have now been

zealously and successfully prosecuted for half a century.
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CHAPTER XXVI.

CHARTER OF 1813 LORD HASTINGS's ADMINISTRATION NEPAL

WAR, 1814-1816.

. . THE period was now approaching when the
Negotiations for r
the charter, question of the exclusive privileges of the East

India Company, which had been extended for

twenty years in 1793, was to be submitted to Parliament,

and the President of the Board of Control placed himself in

communication with the India House several years before the

expiration of the Act. The Chairman assumed a lofty tone,

and had the presumption to assert the right of the Company
to all the territories acquired in India by their armies, but was

ready to pay due attention to any modifications of the existing

system which were not incompatible with the principle of

leaving the commerce and the government of India in their

hands. He proposed, moreover, that the Proprietors of India

stock should receive enhanced dividends in proportion to the

improvement of the revenues of India
;
that the British public

should contribute towards the liquidation of their debt, and

that their privileges should be renewed for a further period of

twenty years. The President of the Board replied that the

Ministry were not prepared to encourage any arrangement
which should preclude the merchants of England from em-

barking in the trade of India, from their own ports, and in

their own ships. The negotiation then came to a pause, and

before it was renewed the finances of the Company had

become totally deranged. Drafts had been drawn from Cal-

cutta to the extent of five crores of rupees towards the dis-

charge of the debt in India. A crore of rupees had been

lost by vessels which had perished at sea, or had been cap-

tured by French privateers. The Directors were, therefore,

obliged to resort to Parliament for relief, and in June, 1810,
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a loan of a crore and a half of rupees was granted to them.

In the following year they obtained permission to raise two

crores on their own bonds, and in 1812 a further loan of two

crores and a half of rupees was sanctioned by the House of

Commons. These embarrassments did not, however, abate the

resolution of the Directors to insist on what they represented as

their right a renewal of the charter on its existing basis ;

and they refused to recommend to their constituents to accept

it on any conditions which would despoil them of their "most

valuable privileges." Lord Melville, the President of the Board

of Control, proposed, by way of compromise, to restrict the

import trade of private merchants to London, and to subject it

to the system of the Company's sales and management, on

condition that the Directors should throw open the export

trade to the nation. The Court refused to accede to this

arrangement, and time was thus afforded to the out-ports to

survey their interests and to urge their claim to a participa-

tion in the entire trade with increased energy.

Opening of the The questions at issue between the Ministry

imSrtSSe,
and tlie India House were af; length reduced to

1813. the single point of opening the out-ports to the

admission of cargoes from India, but upon this both the Direc-

tors and the Proprietors determined to make a peremptory
stand. On the 5th May, 1812, a series of resolutions was

passed at the India House, which asserted that the removal

of this trade from the port of London to the out-ports would

break up large and important establishments, and throw thou-

sands out of bread ; that it would increase smuggling beyond
the possibility of control, and entail the ruin of the China trade ;

that it would reduce the Company's dividends, depreciate
their stock, and paralyze their power to govern India ; that

the tranquillity and happiness of the people of India would

thus be compromised ; that the interests of Great Britain in

Asia would be impaired, and even the British constitution

itself imperilled. The Ministry were not, however, appalled

by this phantom of calamities which the genius of monopoly
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had conjured up, and informed the Court that if they still

thought the extension of commercial privileges to the nation

incompatible with the government of India in their hands,

some other agency might be provided for administering it upon

principles consistent with the interests of the public, and the

integrity of the British constitution ; but the Court of Direc-

tors refused to give way, and they were vigorously supported

by the great body of the Proprietors, who regarded the admis-

sion of the out -ports to a share in the import trade a vital

question, on which there could be no concession. They ex-

pressed their confidence that the wisdom of Parliament would

never consent to gratify a few interested speculators by
abolishing a commercial system which had existed for two cen-

turies, and was fortified by a dozen Acts. In conformity with

this resolution, a petition was presented to Parliament on the

22nd Februarjr, 1813, praying for a renewal of the privi-

leges granted to the Company in 1793, and deprecating any
interference with the China trade, or any extension of the

import trade to the out-ports. Another petition was at the

same time, unseasonably, submitted to the House soliciting

the payment of a bill of two crores and thirty lacs of rupees,
which the Company asserted was still due to them from the

nation.

orowth of The claim advanced by the Company to a re-

^"comm^e,
newal of their exclusive privileges for another

1793-1813. generation encountered a very strenuous opposi-
tion throughout the country. During the twenty years which
had elapsed since 1793, the commercial and manufacturing

industry of England had been developed beyond all former

example, and new interests of extraordinary magnitude and

power had grown up. The cotton manufacturers of Man-

chester, in the infancy of their enterprize, had solicited the

Government to foster their exertions by imposing a protecting

duty on the importation of piece goods from India. In the

intermediate period, however, their textile fabrics had been

brought to such a state both of perfection and cheapness as
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in a great measure to supersede the Indian manufacture, the

imports of which had fallen from three crores and a half of

rupees a-year to half a crore. They had, moreover, invaded

the Indian market, where the import of Manchester cottons had

increased from about seven thousand rupees a-year to ten

lacs. The mill-owners now came forward and claimed the

right of an unrestricted traffic with India, both export and

import, from their respective ports, and in their own vessels.

They maintained that however important the monopoly might
have been in the early stages of our connection with India, it

had now ceased to be either necessary or profitable, and only

served to cramp the spirit of national enterprize. Indeed,

the Company had themselves furnished the strongest argu-
ment for its cessation by the confession that their trade to

India had for many years been carried on at a loss. The

Ministers, on their part, had long since made up then* minds

to emancipate this trade from the fetters of the monopoly.
The Emperor Napoleon, by his Berlin and Milan decrees, had

closed all the ports of the continent against English com-

merce, and the public interests required that other channels of

trade should, if possible, be opened out. The nation was

passing through the most gigantic struggle in which it had

ever been involved ; the national resources were strained to

an unprecedented degree, and it was necessary to spare no

effort to sustain the energies of the country.

On the 22nd of March the ministerial plan for
India BUI, 1813.

conducting the trade and administration of India

was introduced by Lord Castlereagh into the House of Com-

mons. He proposed to continue the government of the country

in the hands of the Company for a further period of twenty

years with liberty to pursue their trade, but, at the same

time, to admit the whole nation both to the import and export

trade, without any other restriction than that no private

vessel should be of larger dimensions than four hundred tons.

The exclusive trade to China, which alone yielded any profit,

was to be confirmed to them. The restriction on the resort of
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Europeans to India was to be virtually removed, though they
were still required to take out a licence from the Court of

Directors, or, if refused by them, from the Board of Control,

but the local authorities were at liberty at any time to cancel

it at their own discretion.

These propositions were vigorously opposed by
Opposition of

i -T TT
the India the Court of Directors, who petitioned the House

for leave to be heard by counsel, and to bring for-

ward witnesses to substantiate their claims. The first witness

introduced was the venerable Warren Hastings, then in his

eightieth year. Twenty-six years before he had been arraigned

by the House of Commons at the bar of the Lords for high
crimes and misdemeanours. He had outlived the prejudices

and the passions of that age, and the whole House rose as he

entered, and paid a spontaneous homage to his exalted cha-

racter and his pre-eminent services. But his views of Indian

policy belonged, for the most part, to that remote and normal

period when he was employed in giving form and consistency

to our rising power. He was opposed to all innovations,,

however necessary they had become by the progress of

time and circumstances. When reminded that as Governor-

General he had denounced the " contracted views of monopo-

lists," and insisted upon it
" as a fixed and incontrovertible

principle that commerce could only flourish when free and

equal," he had the moral courage to say that he had altered

his opinions, and did not come there to defend his own incon-

sistencies. The evidence of Lord Teignmouth, of Mr. Charles

Grant, of Colonel Malcolm, of Colonel Munro, and, indeed of

all the witnesses, more than fifty in number, marshalled by
the India House on this occasion, ran in the same groove.

They affirmed that the climate of India and the habits and

prejudices of the natives presented an insuperable barrier to

the increased consumption of British manufactures. The trade

of India had already reached its utmost limit, and it could be

conducted with advantage only through the agency of the

Company. The free admission of Europeans would lead to
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colonization ; the weak and timid natives would become the

victims of European oppression, and India would eventually

be lost to England. These opinions were advocated, gene-

rally, in the spirit of a sincere conviction, and not of mere

partizanship ;
and although, with our larger experience, we

cannot fail to regret that so many great and eminent men
should have clung to an erroneous creed, we are constrained

to respect the benevolence of their motives when we find

that they deprecated the proposed changes chiefly because they

dreaded their injurious consequences on the well-being of

the natives. But all the authorities and all the evidence the

Court of Directors could muster proved unavailing. The

House yielded to the voice of the nation, which had been

unequivocally expressed in the petitions with which it was

overwhelmed, and opened the gates of Indian commerce to the

capital and enterprise of England.

speeches of The charter discussions in the House of Lords

andLord Gren-
were rendered memorable by the speeches of Lord

vine, 1813. Wellesley and Lord Grenville. Lord Wellesley,

when Governor-General, had incurred the wrath of the India

House by advocating and encouraging the enlargement of the

private trade, and asserting that it was not likely to lead to a

large influx of Europeans, and that if it did, they could be kept
under due control by the local authorities. On the present

occasion, however, he abandoned his former opinions, and ad-

vocated with equal vigour the claims of the Company to the ex-

clusive trade, not only of China, but also of India. He resisted

the proposal to allow Europeans to settle in India, because they
would outrage the prejudices of the natives, and endanger the

security of the Government. He likewise passed a high enco-

mium on the East India Company, affirming that no Government

had ever fulfilled its duties with more exemplary fidelity and

success. The sentiments expressed by Lord Grenville were the

boldest and the most enlightened which had ever been heard

within the walls of Parliament on the subject of Indian policy.

He considered that twenty years was too long a period for farm-
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ing out the commerce of half the globe and the government of

sixty millions of people. The sovereignty of India belonged to

the Crown and not to its subjects. The blended character of

merchant and sovereign was an anomaly. No ruler had ever

traded to advantage; no trading company had ever adminis-

tered government for the happiness of its subjects. The

Company had lost four crores of rupees by their trade to

India in nineteen years, notwithstanding their monopoly ;
and

they had traded with profit only to China, where they had

neither sovereignty nor monopoly. The Government of India

ought to be vested in the Crown. If, as he admitted, the

transfer of the patronage to the Ministry would weigh down
the balance of the constitution, appointments to the civil

service should be given by competition, and cadetships dis-

tributed among the families of those who had fallen in the

service of their country. That the trade of India was suscep-

tible of no extension was a mere idle assumption ; commerce

increased by commerce, and trade begat trade in all countries,

and India would furnish no exception to this universal law.

These sound opinions, which were far in advance of the spirit

and the courage of the age, carried no weight at the time, and

the Bill passed as it came up from the Commons, without any
modification. But the seeds of truth once planted in the fertile

soil of England never fail to germinate and bring forth fruit in

due season. It was a great stride for one age to break up
the monopoly. It devolved on a succeeding age to make
fresh advances in the career of progress. We find, accordingly,

that at the next renewal of the Charter in 1833 the Company
were entirely divested of their mercantile character, and con-

fined to the duties of government, while the Charter of

1853 threw open the civil service to competition, and the

government itself was transferred from the Company to the

Crown five years later.

me missionary
Reference has been made in a previous chapter to

question, 1813. ^he restrictions which were imposed on the Seram-

pore Missionaries by SirGeorge Barlow, in 180 6, during the panic

n. u
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created by the Vellore mutiny. Lord Minto, immediately on his

arrival, when new to the country, was led by their adversaries

to interfere with their proceedings ; but their satisfactory ex-

planations, and the discreet course they pursued, induced him

to desist from all opposition, and they were enabled for five

years to prosecute their labours without molestation. But in

the year 1812 Lord Minto's Government, without any apparent

motive, thought fit to adopt the most truculent measures

against the missionary enterprize, and to order eight mission-

aries, the majority of whom had recently arrived in the country,

to quit it. The alleged ground of this arbitrary proceeding

was, that they were without a licence from the Court of Di-

rectors; but as hundreds of Europeans, equally unlicensed,

had been allowed freely to enter and settle in the country, it

was felt to be a mere pretext for the indulgence of that feeling

of hostility to the cause, which was equally strong at that period
in the Council chamber in Calcutta and at the India House.

The feelings ofthe Court of Directors on this subject had all the

strength of traditional prejudices. They had violently opposed
and ultimately defeated the proposal made during the charter

discussions of 1793, to permit missionaries and schoolmasters

to resort to India, and their aversion to the introduction of

secular or religious knowledge had experienced no abatement.

It became necessary for the friends of missions to take advan-

tage of the present opportunity, and appeal to Parliament for

its interposition. The question was entrusted to Mr. Wilber-

force, who, in a speech distinguished for its eloquence, pointed
out the injustice and impolicy of the impediments imposed on

the resort of missionaries to India, and entreated the House to

remove them. He repudiated the remotest intention of forcing

Christianity on the country, and only sought permission to

place the truths of the Bible before the native mind for its

voluntary acceptance. But the India House and its witnesses,

with a few honourable exceptions, were as rigidly opposed to

this concession as to that of free trade, and reprobated the ad-

mission of missionary and mercantile agents with equal vehe-
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mence. Of this powerful phalanx, Mr. Marsh, who had

amassed a fortune at the Madras bar, and obtained a seat in

Parliament, became the champion, and delivered a speech of

extraordinary power and virulence against the missionary
clause. Mr. Wilberforce had supported his argument by a

reference to the proceedings and the success of the mission-

aries at Serainpore ; but Mr. Marsh assailed their characters

with inordinate bitterness, denounced them as fanatics and

incendiaries, and applied to them such gross epithets as the

House had not been accustomed to tolerate. He asserted,

moreover, that the safety of the British empire in India de-

pended on the exclusion of all missionaries. But the voice of

the country, which the House implicitly obeys, was raised

with more than ordinary unanimity against the monstrous doc-

trine that the only religion to be proscribed in India should be

that of its Christian rulers. The clause was passed by a large

majority, and the same liberty was given to the introduction

of Christianity which had been enjoyed by the Mahomedans and

by the various Hindoo sectaries for the propagation of their

respective tenets. At the same time a Bishop was appointed

to Calcutta and an Archdeacon to Madras and Bombay, to

superintend the chaplains ; and a clause was added to the Bill

at the last moment, and on the motion of a private member,
to appropriate the sum of one lac of rupees a-year, out of a

revenue of seventeen hundred lacs, to the object of public

instruction.

Eemarks on the The Charter Act of 1813 inflicted the first blow
charter, 1813. on ^e monopoly of the East India Company. For

more than a hundred and fifty years that monopoly had been

not only beneficial, but essential to the interests of British

commerce in India. It gave a character of energy and perse-

verance to the national enterprize which enabled it to en-

counter opposition with success, and to survive reverses.

"Without it neither the commerce nor the dominion of England
would have been established in India. The venality and op-

pression of the officers of the native powers, which a powerful
TT 2
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corporation was able to withstand, would have been fatal to

the private adventurer. But the monopoly became a positive

evil after the Company had become sovereigns. As rulers of

the country they owed it to the interests of their subjects to

grant the fullest scope for the expansion of their commerce,

instead of fettering it by the bonds of a state monopoly. The

extinction of the exclusive privileges of the Company was,

therefore, not less beneficial to India than to England. The

reasons advanced against it showed little judgment and still

less foresight ;
and it may serve to rebuke the dogmatism

with which official men are prone to enforce their opinions, to

note that all the gloomy predictions of the Court of Directors,

and even of the most renowned of their servants, who were re-

garded as the great authorities of the time on Indian ques-

tions, have turned out to be utterly fallacious, without a

single exception. The trade, which they assured the House

of Commons admitted of no expansion, has risen from thirteen

millions to one hundred millions in 1865, and still presents the

prospect of an indefinite increase. In 1813 India was reckoned

among the smallest of the customers of England, but fifty

years later she had attained the highest rank. The export of

British cotton manufactures to India at the renewal of the

charter in 1813 was only ten lacs, but in spite of the invete-

rate habits and prejudices of the natives, it has increased fifty

fold. The Europeans who have been admitted into India

have contributed in the highest degree to its improvement and

prosperity by their capital and enterprize, and so far from

being a source of danger to Government, it is certain that if

there had been a body of only five thousand European settlers

in the North West provinces during the last mutiny in 1857, it

would have been nipped in the bud. If the hand-looms of

India have been in many cases silenced by the power-looms of

Lancashire, the loss has been more than compensated by the

hundred crores of silver and gold which free trade has poured
into her bosom during the last fifteen years.

Lord Hasting?, The Earl of Moira, subsequently created Marquis
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Governor- of Hastings by which title we shall begin to de-
Generai, 1813.

sjgnate j^ was appointed Governor-General in

succession to Lord Minto, and took the oaths and his seat in

Council on the 4th October, 1813. He was of the mature age
of fifty-nine, a nobleman of Norman lineage, with a tall and

commanding figure, and distinguished above all his predeces-

sors by his chivalrous bearing. He had entered the army at

seventeen, served for seven years in the war of American in-

dependence, and was rewarded for his services with an Eng
lish peerage. His life was subsequently passed in connection

with great public and political affairs, and he brought with

him to his high office a large fund of experience, a clear and

sound judgment, and great decision of character, together

with the equivocal merit of being the personal friend of the

Prince Regent. It is worthy of note that the responsibilities

of the Government of India produced the same change of

views in him as in his illustrious predecessor. Lord Wellesley

was so thoroughly convinced of the criminality of Warren

Hastings that he had offered to assist in conducting the prose-

cution, and he came to Calcutta, as he admitted, with the

strongest prejudices against him. But as he grew familiar,

on the spot, with the policy and character of his administration,

he expressed his unqualified admiration of it; and in 1802,

when the Nabob of Oude, hearing that Mr. Hastings had been

impoverished by his trial, offered to settle an annuity of twenty
thousand rupees on him, the information was conveyed by Lord

Wellesley in one of the most nattering letters the impeached
Governor-General had ever received. In like manner Lord

Hastings, in his place in Parliament, had denounced the spirit

of Lord Wellesley's administration, and his ambitious policy of

establishing British supremacy throughout India. He had now
an opportunity of testing the value of that opinion, and he

speedily saw cause to recant it. He had no sooner completed
his survey of the position and prospects of the empire than he

recorded his impression "that our object in India ought to

be to render the British Government paramount in effect, _if
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not declaredly so, to hold the other states as vassals, though
not in name, and to oblige them, in return for our guarantee

and protection, to perform the two great feudatory duties of

supporting our rule with all their forces, and submitting their

mutual differences to our arbitration." Before he quitted

India he had waged war on a more gigantic scale than even

Lord Wellesley ; he had made the Company supreme through-

out India, and declared that the Indus was, to all intents and

purposes, the boundary of our empire.

state of India,
I11 tne autumn of 1813, Lord Minto quitted

IBIS. India with the firm belief that, with the exception

of the Pindaree cloud, it was in a state of the most perfect

security. "On iny taking the reins of Government," wrote

Lord Hastings,
" seven different quarrels, likely to demand

the decision of arms, were transferred to me." In fact, the

non-intervention policy, which, during the preceding eightyears-

the home authorities had considered the perfection of political

wisdom, and the native princes the result of sheer pusillani-

mity, had produced the same result of fermentation and even

anarchy, as the faint-hearted policy of Sir John Shore's days.

The total withdrawal of our influence from Central India had

brought on a contempt of our power, and sown the seeds of a

more general war than we had as yet been exposed to. The

government of Holkar was virtually dissolved when he

became insane, and there ceased to be any authority to control

the excesses of the soldiery, while Ameer Khan, with his free

lances, was at once the prop and the burden of the throne.

The troops of Sindia had been incessantly employed in opera-
tions tending to promote the aggrandisement of his power by
usurpations. The Peshwa, who had recovered his throne in

1802 by the aid of the Company, had been husbanding his

resources for the first opportunity of shaking off the yoke of

this connection. Rajpootana was a prey to the rapacity of

Ameer Khan, and the insatiable battalions of Sindia and

Holkar. The Pindaree freebooters were spreading desolation

through a region five hundred miles in length, and four him-
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dred in breadth, and a new power on the northern frontier of

the Bengal Presidency had matured its strength, invaded the

border districts, and bid defiance to the British Government.

The Company's army, which had been subjected to large

reductions, in a spirit of unwise economy, was found to be

inadequate to the defence of our extensive frontier. The

treasury was empty. The island of Java was an expensive

acquisition. The Mauritius and Ceylon had been permitted to

draw on Calcutta, and had not allowed the privilege to remain

idle. The supercargoes at Canton were pouring their bills for

the Company's China investment on the Indian treasury, and

the Court of Directors were importunate for cash remittances.

Lord Hastings, at length, succeeded in overcoming the reluct-

ance of his colleagues in Council to the transmission of thirty

lacs in gold, which, at the premium of the day, gave relief to

the India House to the extent of forty-five lacs, but it left the

cash balances in India so low as to be barely sufficient for the

current expenditure.

Description of The first and immediate difficulty of Lord
Nepal, 1813.

Hastings arose out of the encroachments of the

Nepalese, or Goorkhas. The war into which he was forced

with them was bequeathed to him by his predecessor, who left

him no option but to draw the sword, or compromise the cha-

racter of the Government by abandoning the interests of its

subjects. The valley of Nepal is embosomed in the Himalaya

mountains, and bounded on the north by some of its loftiest

and most majestic elevations, and on the south by the first and

lowest range. That range is skirted by a magnificent forest,

from eight to ten miles in depth, which presents an unvaried

aspect of gigantic trees ; no breath of wind reaches the inte-

rior, which is littered with rank and decayed vegetation ; no

animals inhabit it, and no sound of a bird is heard in its

recesses. An open plain, called the teraee, stretches to the

south of the forest, five hundred miles in length, and about

twenty in breath. The soil is watered by the various streams

which descend from the mountains, and, when cultivated, pro-
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duces the most luxuriant crops, but during the greater portion
of the year it is as pestilential as the Pontine marshes. It is

dotted at considerable intervals with little hamlets, but the

population, which is chiefly migratory, is composed of herds-

men, who annually bring their flocks and herds, in some cases

from the distance of many hundred miles, to graze on its rich

pasturage.

Rise and progress
About the middle of the fourteenth century,

of Goorkha various colonists of Rajpoots entered the country
power, 1813.

.

JS
and subdued the aborigines, the Newars, a Mon-

golian race, professing the creed of Boodh. The princi-

palities which the Rajpoots established in these hills generally

included a strip of the adjacent forest and of the low lands.

In the course of time, the weaker chiefs were absorbed by the

stronger, and the country came to be partitioned among three

families. In the middle of the last century, Prithee-Narayun,

the chief of the mountain tribe of Goorkha, gradually raised

himself to power, and having subdued the other rajas, founded

a new dynasty, about ten years after the battle of Plassy.

He was succeeded by his sou in 1771, and his grandson, an

odious tyrant, was put to death in open durbar by his half

brother, in 1805. His infant son was proclaimed raja by

Bheem-sen, who assumed the office of chief minister, and

formed a council of regency of the principal military officers.

The strength of the Goorkha dynasty consisted in its militaiy

organization, and the impulse of conquest which the founder

communicated to it, was maintained with increasing vigour

after his death. An expedition was sent across the northern

mountains to Llassa, and the living type of Boodh was sub-

jected to the humiliation of paying tribute to his Hindoo

conqueror. But the Emperor of China, the secular head of

Boodhism, resolved to avenge the insult, and invaded Nepal
with a large army. The Goorkhas were signally defeated,

and obliged to acknowledge the supremacy of China by sub-

mitting to the deputation of a mission to Pekin, with tribute,

once every three years. Foiled in their projects in the north,
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they pushed their conquests four hundred miles, on the east,

to Sikkim, and on the Avest to the Kalee river. Their most
renowned general Umur Sing, who acted to a great extent

independent of the regency, carried his arms beyond that river,

which brought him in contact with the rising power of Runjeet

Sing, and the two ambitious chiefs confronted each other in

the mountainous region of the higher Sutlege. Umur Sing
entered the Punjab, and invested Kote Kangra, a fortress in

a position so strong by nature, that in the opinion of the ablest

French engineers, it might be rendered impregnable by science

and art. After an unsuccessful siege of four years, he was

obliged, in 1813, to retire, with no little damage to his military

reputation. He made several attempts to engage the British

Government in- a crusade against Runjeet Sing, but was, soon

after, obliged to look to the defence of his own country

against an invasion from Hindostan.

Goorkha en- The Goorkhas, not content with the possessions

SS"t, they had Acquired in the hills, pushed their

1809-1813. encroachments into the low lands, and during the

twenty-five years preceding the war we are about to describe,

had usurped more than two hundred British villages. The

subjects of the Company were thus exposed to perpetual

aggression along the whole line of frontier, and there ceased to

be any security for life or property. At length, the Goorkhas

had the presumption to lay claim to the two districts of Boot-

wul and Seoraj which they had seized in Goruckpore, though

they had been ceded to Lord Wellesley by the Nabob Vizier

in 1801. Lord Minto was anxious to avoid a war with the

Nepalese, and suggested that delegates should be sent from

the capital, Catmandoo, to meet the British representative,

and investigate the merits of the question. The inquiry occu-

pied more than a twelvemonth; the Goorkha envoys were

unable to establish their claim, and Lord Minto forwarded a

demand to the Nepal regency in June, 1813, for the immediate

restitution of the districts, and intimated that in case of

refusal they would be occupied by force. The Government
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in Calcutta was thus bound to support the demand, even at the

hazard of hostilities. The Goorkha cabinet distinctly refused

to resign the districts, and again asserted their right to them.

Their reply did not, however, reach Calcutta till after Lord

Hastings had assumed the government, when, on a careful

examination of all the documents, he deemed it indispensable

categorically to demand their surrender within twenty-five

days. The period expired without any comnmnication from

the regent, and the magistrate of Goruckpore was directed to

expel the Goorkha officers, and establish police stations in the

two districts.

The Goorkhas
Lord Hastings's letter created a profound sen-

determine on sation at Catmandoo, and convinced the regent that

the local dispute regarding these border lands was

rapidly merging into a question of peace or war with the

British power. A national council, composed of twenty-two

chiefs, was held at the capital, in which the subject of their

future policy was discussed with great animation. Umur

Sing said his life had been passed amid the hardships of war,

and he was not ignorant of its risks. He deprecated a collision

with the British power, and maintained that the lands in

dispute were not worth the hazard. " We have hitherto," he

said,
" been hunting deer, but, if we engage in this war, we

must be prepared to fight tigers." Several other chiefs offered

similar advice ;
but the regent and his party, filled with an

overweening conceit of their national prowess, treated it with

scorn. "Hitherto," they said, "no power has been able to

cope with us. The small fort of Bhurtpore was the work of

man, yet the English were worsted before it, and desisted

from the attempt ; our hills and fastnesses are the work of

the Deity, and are impregnable. Even the mighty Secunder,

Alexander the Great, who overthrew many empires, failed to

establish his authority in these mountains." They talked

of the futility of debating about a few square miles, since

there could be no real peace between the two states until the

Company resigned the provinces north of the Ganges, and



XXVI.] THE GOOKKHA ARMY. 289

made that river their boundary. The council resolved on war,

and, as if to render it inevitable, sent down a large force to

Bootwul
;
the police officer was murdered in cold blood on the

29th May, and eighteen of his men were put to death. The
Goorkhas had thrown down the gauntlet, and no course was left

to the Government but to take it up promptly, without waiting
a twelvemonth by a reference to the Court in Leadenhall-street.

The whole Goorkha army did not exceed 12,000 men, and

it was scattered over an extensive frontier
;
their largest gun

was only a four-pounder, and it appeared an act of infatuation

in the Nepal regency to defy the British power, but the unin-

terrupted successes of a quarter of a century had turned the

hardy little mountaineers into an army of skilful and coura-

geous veterans, confident in their own strength, and animated

with a strong feeling of national pride. Their troops were

equipped and disciplined like the Company's sepoys, and their

officers adopted the English military titles. They moved about

without the encumbrance of tents. They had no sooner taken

up a position than they set to work to fortify it ; every soldier

worked at the entrenchment, and a strong stockade of double

palisades, filled up with earth or stones, was completed in

almost as little time as the English soldier required to erect

his tent. But the chief strength of the Nepalese consisted in

the impracticable nature of their country, and our entire igno-

rance of its localities.

Loan from Lord Hastings found himself dragged into a
Lucknow, 1814. difficult war with an empty exchequer. On pre-

vious occasions the usual resource was to open a loan, but this

was now out of the question, the Government notes being at

a discount of nine or ten per cent., and the merchants in Cal-

cutta paying twelve per cent, for money. In this dilemma he

cast his eyes on the hoards of the Nabob Vizier, who had

amassed a private fund of eight crores of rupees. The treaty

of 1801 contained a loose engagement on the part of the

Vizier to attend to the advice of the Resident regarding the

amelioration of his system of government, which was vicious
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in the extreme. Various remonstrances had been made to

him during Lord Minto's administration, but he had no mind

for reforms which would embarrass his arrangements, and

curtail his savings. These representations were rendered

still more unpalatable by the bearing of the Resident, who

assumed a dictatorial tone, which lowered the Nabob in the

eyes of his Court and his subjects, and broke in upon him at

all hours when he had anything to prescribe. He interfered

in the private, and even personal, arrangements of the Nabob,
and went so far as to raise objections "to the beating of the

nobut, the great drum, the exclusive and most cherished

privilege of royalty, because it disturbed his morning
slumbers. Lord Hastings, who had resolved to treat the

native princes with every consideration, ordered these irri-

tating demands for reform to be discontinued, and the Vizier,

who had. been informed of the embarrassment of the treasury
in Calcutta, offered the Company a gift of a crore of rupees,
*' to mark his gratitude," as Lord Hastings said,

" for my
having treated him as a gentleman." Lord Hastings left

Calcutta early in 1814, on a tour through the provinces, and

a visit to Lucknow. The Nabob died during the journey, but

his son renewed the offer, not without a latent hope that it

might conduce to the appointment of another Resident, which

was the supreme wish of his heart. Lord Hastings was

unable to receive the money as a gratuity, but agreed to

accept it as a loan. He was now furnished with the sinews

of war, but he was destined to a severe disappointment. Of

the old eight per cent, loan which the Government in Calcutta

had been endeavouring to convert into six per cents., a sum
of fifty-four lacs was still unredeemed, and the members of

Council, without giving a hint of their design to Lord

Hastings, took upon themselves to advertise the payment of

this sum, which absorbed more than half the Lucknow
loan. This was regarded in Calcutta as a clever stroke of

economy, but it was an act of supreme political folly. It

completely deranged the plans of the Governor-General, and
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would have produced the most disastrous effect on the cam-

paign if he had not submitted to the humiliation of soliciting

a second crore, which was granted with no little reluctance.

With regard to the plan of the campaign,
Plan of the f . . .f .

Goorkhacam. Lord Hastings considered it highly impolitic to

paign, 18H.
conf}ne our operations to the defence of an im-

mense length of frontier, which it would be found impossible

to guard effectually against the inroads of a hostile, vigorous,

and rapacious neighbour. He felt confident that our military

character could be sustained only by a bold and successful

assault on the strongest of the enemy's positions in the hills.

With a view to distract the attention of the regency, he

planned four simultaneous attacks on four points the western

on the Sutlege, the eastern on the capital, and two others on

intermediate positions. Of the Goorkha army, one-third, under

TJmur Sing, guarded the fortresses on the Sutlege ; two thou-

sand were distributed between the Jumna and the Kalee

rivers, and the remainder protected the capital and its neigh-

bourhood. Four British armies were accordingly assembled

in the field, comprising in all about thirty thousand men with

sixty guns.

The division under General Gillespie, who had
General Gil-

'

lespie's division, acquired a brilliant reputation in quelling the

mutiny at Vellore and in Java, was the first in the

field. He advanced at the head of 3,500 men into the Dhoon

valley to lay siege to the fortress of Nahun. On the route he

came upon the fortified position of Kalunga, defended by six

hundred Goorkhas, under the command of Captain Bulbuddur

Sing. On receiving the summons to surrender late in the day,

the Goorkha chief coolly replied that it was not customary to

carry on a correspondence at such an hour, but he would pay
his respects to the General the next morning. Lord Hastings
had repeatedly enjoined General Gillespie to avoid storming

works which required to be reduced by artillery, but this order

was totally disregarded, and in the impetuosity of his reckless

courage, he determined to carry the fort by assault. His
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men were staggered by the murderous fire which the Goorkhas

skilfully directed against them as they advanced up to the

wicket, when the General, irritated by the repulse, placed

himself at the head of three companies of Europeans and

rushed up to the gate, but was shot through the heart as he

waved his hat to his men to follow him. A retreat was im-

mediately sounded, but not before twenty officers

lespie killed, and two hundred and forty men lay killed and

wounded. A month was lost in waiting for heavy
ordnance from Delhi. On the 27th November a breach was

reported practicable, and a second attempt was made to storm

the fort, but after two hours' exposure to a galling fire the

troops were withdrawn, with a loss of six hundred and eighty
in killed and wounded. The sacrifice of men in these two

futile assaults exceeded the whole number of the garrison,

and it was at length resolved to bring the mortars into play.

The place was little more than an open space surrounded by a

stone wall. Three days of incessant shelling rendered it un-

tenable, and reduced the garrison from six hundred to seventy,

when the brave Goorkha commander sallied forth at the head

of the survivors and escaped. If the positive orders of Lord

Hastings had been obeyed in the first instance, the Govern-

ment would have been spared a lamentable loss of life and

the disgrace of two failures, which, at the opening of the cam-

paign, disheartened their own troops as much as it em-

boldened the enemy. The reputation of this division was
not retrieved by General Martmdell, who succeeded to the

command, and laid siege to Jytuk at the end of December.

It was situated on a lofty and almost inaccessible mountain,

and strengthened by extensive and substantial stockades and

breastworks. The whole district was under the command of

Colonel Runjoor Sing, the son of Umur Sing. Two powerful
detachments were sent to occupy two important positions,

but owing to the blunders of the General, they were both

overpowered and cut up. With a force of 1,000 Europeans
and 5,000 natives he allowed himself to be held at bay
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by 2,300 natives. Then, despairing of success he turned the

siege into a blockade, in which the rest of the campaign
was entirely wasted.

The division under General J. S. Wood was
Division of

General j. s. appointed to re-take Bootwul, and penetrate

Nepal through Palpa, but its efforts were para-

lyzed by similar imbecility. After much unnecessary delay

the General took the field in the middle of December, and,

without making any reconnoissance, allowed himself to be

brought unexpectedly on the stockade of Jeetpore by the

treachery of a brahmin guide, on the 14th January, 1814.

It might have been expected, however, that a British army of

4,500 men, fully equipped, would have been a match for 1,200

Goorkhas, but the General, after fighting his way to a posi-

tion which commanded the entrenchment, and placed it within

his grasp, sounded a retreat just as the enemy had begun
to abandon it. The opposition he had encountered, although

insignificant, made so deep an impression on his feeble mind

that he retired within the British frontier, and confined his

exertions to an attempt to defend it ; but the Goorkhas, em-

boldened by his pusillanimity, penetrated it in every quarter,

and scarcely a day passed in which some village was not

pillaged and burnt. Eeinforcements were sent to him

without delay, but he had neither the spirit nor the skill to

eriiploy them, and his division was rendered worse than use-

less throughout the season. The chief reliance of Lord

Hastings for the successful issue of the campaign was placed

,
on the army entrusted to General Marley, 8,000General Mar- '

ley's division, strong, which was destined to march directly on

the capital, only a hundred miles from our frontier,

but he proved to be more incompetent than even Wood and

Martindell. After reaching Puchroutee on the 20th December,
he lost a month in devising the best mode of advancing to

Catmandoo. Two detachments were sent to two points, east

and west, twenty miles distant from head-quarters, without

any support. No military precautions were adopted in these



294 GEN. MARLEY'S PUSILLANIMITY AND FLIGHT. [CHAP.

isolated positions, and the Goorkhas simultaneously surprised

both corps on the 1st January. The officers were deserted by
the sepoys, but fell fighting with their usual valour, and all

the guns, stores, and magazines fell into the hands of the

enemy. The skill and audacity manifested by the Goorkhas in

these encounters confounded the wretched General, and he

made a retrograde movement to guard the frontier against an

enemy, magnified by his fears to 12,000 men, but who never

exceeded even a tenth of that number. As he declared that

his army was inadequate to the object assigned to it, Lord

Hastings strained every nerve to reinforce him, and, including-

two European regiments, raised its strength to 13,000 a

force sufficient to have disposed completely of the whole army
of Nepal. But General Marley could not be persuaded to

enter the forest, and on the 10th February mounted his horse

before day light, and rode back to the cantonment of Dina-

pore, without delegating the command to any other officer,

or giving any intimation of his intentions. General George
Wood was then sent to assume the command. An en-

counter was accidentally brought on with the Goorkhas, in

which four hundred of their number perished, and their com-

rades, dismayed by this reverse, abandoned all their positions

in the neighbourhood, and left the road to the capital open ;

but General Wood had as little spirit as his predecessor, and

this division was likewise lost to the object of the war.

This was the first campaign since the Corn-
Effect of these r

reverses in pany took up arms in India in which their own

troops outnumbered those of the enemy, and in

the proportion of three to one. The plan of operations appears
to have been skilfully and judiciously adapted to the novel

character of this mountain warfare. It was the unexampled

incompetence of four out of five of the generals which

rendered it abortive, and enabled the enemy to hold our

armies in check outside the forest from the frontier of Oude to

the frontier of Bengal.
" We have met," wrote Mr. Met-

calfe, the Resident at Delhi,
" with an enemy who decidedly
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shows greater bravery and steadiness than our own troops.
In some instances Europeans and natives have been repulsed
with sticks and stones, and driven for miles like a flock of

sheep."
" The successes of the Goorkhas," wrote Lord

Hastings,
" have intimidated our officers and troops, and

with a deeply anxious heart I am keeping up an air of indif-

ference and confidence ; but were we to be foiled in this

struggle, it would be the first step to the subversion of our

power." The reverses which our arms had sustained were

published throughout India, and served to revive the dormant

hopes of the native princes. For several months the country
was filled with rumours of a general confederacy against us.

Mahrattas, Pindarees, and Patans appeared for a time to

suspend their mutual animosities, under the impression that

the time had come for a united effort to extinguish our supre-

macy. The Peshwa took the lead in these machinations, and

sent envoys to all the Mahratta courts, not overlooking the

Pindaree chiefs. A secret treaty of mutual support was con-

cluded, the first article of which bound the princes to obey
and serve him in this crusade. The army of Sindia was

organized on our frontier to take advantage of our difficulties.

Ameer Khan, with a body of 25,000 horse and foot, thoroughly

organized and equipped, and one hundred and twenty-five

guns, took up a position within twelve marches of our own

districts, and insulted our distress by offering to march to

Agra, and assist us in combating the Goorkhas. Runjeet Sing
marched an army of 20,000 men to the fords of the Sutlege,

and 20,000 Pindarees stood prepared for any opportunity of

mischief. To meet the emergency Lord Hastings ordered

the whole of the disposable force of the Madras Presidency

up to the frontier of the Deccan, and despatched a Bombay
force to Guzerat. The Court of Directors were importunate
for retrenchment and reductions, but he considered the public

safety paramount to obedience, and raised three additional

regiments of infantry, enlisted bodies of irregular horse,

remodelled the whole of the Bengal army, and by these and

n. x



296 OPERATIONS OP GEN. OCHTERLONY. [CHAP.

other arrangements increased its strength to 80,000 soldiers.

But, as the natives observed, the Company's ikbal good
fortune was still in the ascendant. The clouds began to

break. Runjeet Sing was recalled to his capital by a threat-

ened irruption of Afghans ; Sindia's two principal commanders,
after long discord, attacked each other ; Ameer Khan found

more immediate employment for his bands in the plunder of

Joudhpore, and the Pindaree leaders quarrelled among them-

selves. The cloud was completely dispersed by the brilliant

success of General Ochterlony, to which we now turn.

The division of General Ochterlony was destined
Operations of

General Ochter- to dislodge the Goorkhas from the territories they
lony, is. us.

ka(j acquit on ^e higher Sutlege, the defence

of which was entrusted to the gallant Umur Sing, and the

ablest of the Goorkha commanders was thus pitted against
the ablest of the English generals. The scene of operations

was a wild and rugged region, presenting successive lines of

mountains, rising like steps one above another, to the loftiest

peaks of the Himalaya. It was broken up by deep glens,

and covered with thick forests, and still further protected

by six forts on points almost inaccessible, and by numerous

stockades. It would not have been easy to imagine a more

difficult field for military operations. The General had formed
a correct estimate of the bold character of his opponent, and
the advantages which he enjoyed in his positions, and in a

spirit of high enterprize, tempered with sound judgment, he

proceeded towards his object by cautious, yet sure, steps. He
did not disdain to copy the tactics of the Goorkhas, and erect

stockades to protect isolated detachments, which saved many
of them from being overpowered, though other generals were

disposed to condemn the device as a confession of weakness.

Having crossed the plain from Loodiana, he entered the hills

and encamped on the 1st November before the fort of Nala-

gur, where he received intelligence of the disaster at Kalunga
and. the death of General Gillespie. But he had wisely

brought on the whole of bis battering train, which, he caused
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to play on the fort for thirty hours, when the commander

surrendered it, and the campaign opened auspiciously by the

capture of an important fortress, with the loss of only one

European soldier. It would be wearisome to enter into any
detail of the operations of the next five months, during which

the gallantry of the British troops was matched by the heroic

valour of the Goorkhas, and the strategy of British engineers

was repeatedly foiled by the tact and resolution of Umur

Sing. The service was the most arduous in which the Com-

pany's army had ever been engaged in India. At the eleva-

tion of more than five thousand feet above the level of the

sea, at the most inclement season of the year, amidst falls of

snow, sometimes of two days' continuance, the pioneers were

employed in blasting rocks and opening roads for the eighteen-

pounders, and men and elephants were employed day after

day in dragging them up those Alpine heights. The energy of

the General, and the sublime character of the warfare, kindled

the enthusiasm of the army. By a series of bold and skilful

manceuvres every height was at length surmounted, and

every fortress save one captured, and on the 15th April Uniur

Sing found himself confined to the fort of Malown, situated

on a mountain ridge, with a steep declivity of two thousand

feet on two sides. The next day Umur Sing assaulted the

British works with his whole force, under the direct command
of his ablest general, who, on leaving the Goorkha camp
directed both his wives to prepare for suttee, as he had

determined to conquer or fall. He fell covered with wounds,

and General Ochterlony ordered his body to be wrapped in

shawls and delivered to his master. His wives sacrificed

themselves on the funeral pile the next day. The Goorkha

army was obliged to retire, with the loss of five hundred men.

But the feeling of exultation occasioned by this victory was

damped by the loss which the army soon after sustained in

the death of Lieutenant Lawtie, of the engineers, a young
officer of the highest professional zeal, penetration, and

promise, to whom, as field engineer, the General had been
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more indebted for the success of his operations than to any
other officer. The whole army went into mourning for him.

Information reached the General's camp soon
Fall of Almora .

surrender of after of the occupation of Almora. 1 his province
Maiown, 1815.

formed tke centre of the Nepal conquests west-

ward, and Lord Hastings considered that the reduction of it

would greatly facilitate the operations against Umur Sing, by

cutting off his communications with the capital. As no re-

gular troops could be spared for this service, Colonel Gardner,

an officer of great merit, who had been in the Mahratta ser-

vice, was directed to raise some irregular corps in Bundle-

kund. These raw levies, under their enterprizing commander,

entered the province, and speedily clearedit of the Goorkhas.

The capital fell on the 27th April to Colonel Nicolls, an officer

of the regular service, who was sent with a large force to

complete the work which Colonel Gardner had begun. The

Goorkha force at Malown was thus isolated, and deprived of all

hope of reinforcement, which led the Goorkha officers to intreat

Umur Sing to make terms with General Ochterlony, but the

stern old chief spurned their advice, and the great body of his

troops passed over to the English. He himself retired into the

fort with about two hundred men, who still clung to his for-

tunes, but when the English batteries were about to open, he

felt unwilling to sacrifice in a forlorn conflict the lives of the

brave men who had generously adhered to him to the last, and

accepted the terms offered to him, thus ceding the whole of

the conquests which the Nepalese had made west of the

Kalee. General Ochterlony allowed him to march out with

his arms and accoutrements, his colours, two guns, and all his

personal property,
" in consideration of the skill, bravery, and

fidelity with which he had defended the country committed to

his charge." The same honourable terms were likewise

granted by General Ochterlony to his son, who had defended

Jytuk for four months against General Martindell. The
Goorkha soldiers did not hesitate to take service under the

Company's colours. They were formed into three regi-
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ments, and no sepoys have ever manifested greater loyalty or

valour.

The discomfiture of their ablest general and the
Second Goorkha

campai&n, and loss of their most valuable conquests took away
peace, 1816.

from the Council of regency at Catmandoo all con-

fidence in their mountain fastnesses, and induced them to sue

for peace. The conditions proposed by Lord Hastings were,

that they should resign all claims on the hill rajas west of

the Kalee, cede the belt of low lands denominated the teraee,

restore the territory of Sikkim north of Bengal, and receive a

British Resident. To the relinquishment of the teraee the

Goorkhas manifested greater repugnance than even to the resi-

dence of a British representative at the court. The revenue

derived from these lands, though small, was important to a

poor state ;
some of the most valuable jageers in them were

held by the members of the regency, and Lord Hastings
therefore reduced his demand to a portion of this territory.

The negotiations were at length brought to a close, and the

Goorkha commissioners came down to Segowlee and signed the

treaty on the 2nd December, under an engagement that the

ratification of it by the regency should be delivered within

fifteen days. The treaty was duly signed by the Governor-

General in Calcutta, and a royal salute was fired in honour of

the peace ; but it was premature. TJmur Sing and his sons

had arrived at Catmandoo, and urged the chiefs still to confide

their fortunes to their swords, to dispute every inch of mountain

territory, and, if driven from it, to retire to the borders of

China. Acting under this advice, the council determined to

reject the treaty, and sent an envoy to announce their resolu-

tion to continue the war. At the same time they made every

effort to collect their military resources, and to fortify the

passes. Lord Hastings, on his part, spared no pains to strike a

decisive blow at the capital before the rains commenced. An
effective force of 20,000 men was rapidly assembled, and en-

trusted to the command of Sir David Ochterlony, who had inter-

mediately been created a baronet. On emerging from the forest,
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and approaching the first pass, on the 10th February, 1816, he

found that the works of the Goorkhas were altogether unassail-

able. But Captain Pickersgill, of the quartermaster-general's

department, had discovered a route to the left which, though

incomparably difficult, would enable the general to turn the

flank of the enemy. The enterprize was the boldest effort in

the whole course of this mountain warfare, but it proved

completely successful, and at once decided the issue of the

campaign. During the night of the 14th February General

Ochterlony marched in dead silence through a narrow ravine,

where twenty men might have arrested a whole army. By
seven in the morning the Choorea heights, to the west of the

enemy's position, were gained without any resistance. There

the force bivouacked for two days without food or shelter,

while the other detachments were brought up. The General

then advanced to Mukwanpore, within fifty miles of Catman-

doo, where the Goorkhas made a stand, but were completely
defeated. This blow took away from the regency all conceit

of fighting ; the treaty was sent down in hot haste with the

red seal attached to it, and peace was finally concluded on the

2nd March, 1816.

Bemarks on the The Nepal war, though waged in a difficult

war, 1816.
region, and prolonged for eighteen months, was

managed with such singular economy as to add only fifty-four
lacs of rupees to the public debt. The Goorkhas were not only
the most valiant, but the most humane foes we had ever en-

countered in India, and they also proved to be the most faith-

ful to their engagements. Unlike other Indian treaties, that

which was made hi 1816 has never been violated, and the

Goorkhas, instead of taking advantage of our exigencies in the

mutiny of 1857, sent a large force to assist in quelling it. The
barren region which was the scene of this deadly conflict

of 1815 has proved an invaluable acquisition to the empire.
It has furnished sites for sanataria at Simla and Mussooree,
at Landour and Nynee-thal, where the rulers of British India

are enabled to recruit their strength during the heat of sum-
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met, as the Mogul emperors were wont periodically to ex-

change the feverish temperature of Agra and Delhi for the

delicious climate of Cashmere. The distance between Cal-

cutta and Simla is abridged by a rail, and a thousand miles are

now traversed with greater speed than a hundred in the days

of Akbar and Jehangeer ; while the electric telegraph, which

conveys messages to the extremities of the empire in a few

minutes, gives a character of ubiquity to the Government while

sojourning in the hills.

insurrection at The Nepal war closed on the 5th March, 1816,
Bareiiiy, 1816. an(j ^e Pindaree war commenced on the 16th

October in the following year. The intermediate period was

not, however, a season of tranquillity. Two military operations

were forced on Government in the north-west provinces,

which, though of comparatively minor importance, enabled

Lord Hastings to assure the Court of Directors, who were

importunate for the reduction of the army, that " our own

possessions were not precisely as secure as an estate in York-

shire." To relieve the pressure on the finances, it was resolved

to impose a house-tax for the support of the municipal police

on certain of the great towns, and, among others, on Bareilly,

the capital of Rohilcund. The rate was to be assessed by
each ward, and the expenditure controlled by the towns-

men. It was by no means oppressive in amount, the highest

sum being only four rupees a-year, and the lowest class being

altogether exempted from it. But a house-tax was an inno-

vation not sanctioned by custom or tradition, and a spirit of

opposition was roused against it among those who willingly

submitted to the anomalous but ancient system of town

duties. The Eohillas, the most turbulent of the Afghan
colonists in India, determined to resist it. The magistrate, on

entering Bareilly to arrange the details of the assessment with

the principal inhabitants, was assailed by a mob excited by
the moofty, or chief priest, and obliged to order Ids guard to

clear the way, when three of their number, together with six

or seven of the inhabitants, were killed and wounded. They
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were regarded as martyrs by the populace, and the exaspera-

tion became intense. Messengers were despatched to the

neighbouring town of Rampoora, which was the general resort

of large bodies of Afghan adventurers, who streamed down

annually from their own barren mountains to seek military

service among the various princes of India. From Rampoora
and other towns reinforcements were drawn to Bareilly during

the night, and in the morning five or six thousand fanatics

were found to be assembled under the green flag of the pro-

phet. Happily the military force of Government had also

been augmented at the same time, and in the severe conflict

which ensued no fewer than four hundred of the insurgents

were killed and a greater number wounded, but the whole body
was dispersed. Had the result been different the whole pro-

vince of Rohilcund would have immediately risen in rebellion,

and Ameer Khan, a Rohilla by birth, who was encamped at

the time within a few marches of Agra with 12,000 Rohillas

under his standard, would not have allowed the opportunity

Hatras, 1817. to slip. This event evinced the impolicy of al-

lowing the great landholders in the adjacent Dooab, or country

lying between the Jumna and the Ganges, to continue to

garrison their castles with a large body of military retainers,

as they had done when the province belonged to Sindia. One
of these zemindars, Dyaram, a Jaut, and a relative of the raja
of Bhurtpore, had been permitted to retain his estates and his

fortress of Hatras, on the borders of Rohilcund. He had

already presumed to levy contributions on the country, and
to give shelter to thieves and robbers ; and he now proceeded to

exclude every servant of the Government from his town, and
to interrupt the process of the courts. His fort, which was
considered one of the strongest in the country, was surrounded

by a ditch a hundred and twenty-five feet broad and eighty-
five feet deep. It had been placed in a state of complete

repair, and strengthened by the adoption of all the improve-
ments made by the Government engineers in the adjacent
fort of Allyghur. He and a neighbouring zemindar, equally
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refractory, were able at anytime to assemble a force of 10,000

men. Lord Hastings deemed it important that this baronial

castle should no longer bid us defiance, and ordered up an

overwhelming force, together with such an array of mortars

his favourite weapon as nothing could possibly withstand.

On the 1st March, 1817, forty-five mortars and three breach-

ing batteries began to play on the fort, but the garrison gal-

lantly stood this storm of shot and shell for fifteen hours. At

length, however, the great magazine blew up with a concus-

sion which was felt at Agra, thirty miles distant, and which

destroyed half the garrison and nearly all the buildings.

Dyaram made his escape with a few horsemen. The com-

plete reduction of one of the strongest fortresses in Hin-

dostan in a few hours, not only 'secured the ready submission

of the contumacious zemindars in the Dooab, but created a

salutary impression throughout India, and doubtless contri-

buted to the success of the ensuing campaign. Ilatras is

now a peaceful railway station.

CHAPTER XXVII.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NATIVE PRINCES, 1814 1817. PINDAREE

AND MAHRATTA WAR, 1817.

THE policy of Lord Wellesley had been stead-
Patans and Pin- f "

darees, 1814 fastly repudiated by the Court of Directors, but

the wisdom of it was amply vindicated by the-

desolation which followed its abandonment. It was under

the operation of their principle of non-intervention that the

power of the Patans and the Pindarees grew up to maturity,

and became the scourge of Central India. Ameer Khan, the

Patan freebooter, had gradually established a substantive

power, but the predatory element was always predominant
in it. His army was more efficient than that of any native



304 CORRESPONDENCE WITH THE DIRECTORS. [CHAP.

prince of the time, and received a fixed rate of pay, which,

however, was seldom disbursed with regularity. It was esti-

mated at not less than 10,000 foot and 15,000 horse, with a

powerful artillery. It was his game to levy contributions

from princes and states, and he moved about with all the

appliances for the siege of the towns which resisted his

demands. The object of the Pindarees was universal and

indiscriminate plunder, and they swept through the country
with such rapidity as to make it impossible to calculate their

movements, or to overtake their detachments. While a force,

for example, was assembled in haste to protect Mirzapore
and the towns on the Ganges from their approach, they had

already effected then- object, and turned off to Guzerat, and

were ravaging the western coast. While preparations were

made to expel them from Guzerat, they had crossed the pen-
insula and were laying waste the opposite coast. The selfish

argument employed by Sir George Barlow in defence of his

neutral policy, that the disorders it might engender would

prove a safeguard for the Company's dominions, had proved

utterly fallacious. It was found that when the cauldron,

seething with the elements of anarchy, was ready to boil

over, it was those who had the greatest stake in India who
were exposed to the greatest risk.

Representations One of the latest acts of Lord Minto's admini-

DirectorTma stration, as already stated, was to impress on the

IBIS. Court of Directors the necessity of adopting an

extensive and vigorous system of measures for the suppres-
sion of the Pindaree hordes. Lord Hastings, on his arrival

in India, found 50,000 Pindarees and Patans in the heart of

India, subsisting entirely by plunder, and extending their

ravages over an area as large as England, and one of his

earliest acts was to point out to the Court, in language

stronger than that of his predecessor, the increasing danger
of this predatory power. He even went so far as to advance

the opinion that the affairs of the Company could not prosper

until their Government became the head of a league embracing
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every power in India, and was placed in a position to direct its

entire strength against the disturbers of the public peace. But

such a course of policy was systematically opposed by the two

members of his Council. The senior, Mr. Edmonstone, was one

of the most eminent of the Company's servants, and combined

talent of a very high order with an affluence of official experi-

ence, but he lacked the higher endowments of the statesman.

He had filled the office of political secretary during the admini-

stration of Lord Wellesley with great distinction, and was

generally understood to have given a cordial support to his

comprehensive views. During the government of Lord Minto

he was the oracle of the Council chamber ; but, having now
taken his seat at the Board, and become responsible for the

measures of Government, his habitual caution induced him to

incline to the policy of Sir George Barlow, when he perceived

the intention of Lord Hastings to subvert it, and he repro-

bated the extension of our political alliances and relations.

His colleague, Mr. Dowdeswell, had all the narrow-minded

prejudices of Sir George Barlow, without a tithe of his abili-

ties. The Court of Directors still clung to their cherished

policy of non-intervention, and in reply to the despatch of

Lord Hastings of the 29th September, prohibited him " from

engaging in plans of general confederacy, and of offensive

operations against the Pindarees, either with a view to their

utter extirpation, or in anticipation of expected danger."

They enjoined him to undertake nothing which might em-

broil them with Sindia ; they forbade any change in the exist-

ing system of political relations, and directed him to maintain,

with as little deviation as possible, the course of policy

prescribed at the close of the Mahratta war. They directed

him, moreover, to reduce the strength of the army, and make

every measure conducive to the promotion of economy. This

communication was more than six months on the way, and did

not reach India before April, 1816.

To prevent the irruption of the Pindarees into
Proposed alii- ,-T. TJTT
ance with the Deccan, Lord Hastings endeavoured to form a
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ana
subsidiary alliance with the raja of Nagpore, and

thereby to establish a British force on theNerbudda.

To such an alliance the Court of Directors had given their sanc-

tion several years before, but the raja set his face sedulously

against it, well knowing how irretrievably it would compro-
mise his independence. Lord Hastings then contemplated a

similar connection with Bhopal, and also with Saugor, in the

hope of being able to hold the Pindarees in check by establish-

ing a chain of posts from Bundlecnnd to the Nerbudda ; but

he considered it advisable to await the reply of the Court of

Directors to his proposal of a general league. Bhopal was a

small principality in Malwa, in the valley of the Nerbudda,

lying between the British territories and the head-quarters of

the Pindarees. It was founded by an Afghan favourite of

Aurungzebe, who assumed independence soon after the death

of his master. In 1778 the reigning prince was the only chief

in Central India who afforded any support to General Goddard

in his adventurous march across the peninsula. His kindness

on that occasion exposed him to the vengeance of the Mah-

rattas, but it has never been forgotten by the British Govern-

ment. The testimonials granted by the General of the impor-
tant services rendered to him are carefully preserved as heir-

looms in the royal archives of Bhopal. The state had been

governed for many years by the celebrated Vizier Mahomed, a

man of rare talent and resolution. In 1813 Sindia and the

raja of Nagpore, impelled by the simple lust of acquisition,

entered into an alliance for the partition of the territory, and

a body of 60,000 troops laid siege to the capital. The noble

defence of it for nine months by the Vizier has always been

the subject of special admiration among the Mahomedan

princes of India. But the garrison was at length reduced by
casualties and desertions to about two hundred men ;

the stock

of provisions was exhausted, and the destruction of the little

state appeared inevitable, when it was arrested by the deser-

tion of the Nagpore general. He pretended that he had been

warned in a dream to relinquish the enterprize ; but he was
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himself a Mahomedan, and both he and the Afghans in the

Nagpore army had a strong feeling of sympathy for their

fellow-countrymen in Bhopal, and were unwilling to reduce

them to extremities. Sindia was happy of an excuse to retire

from an inglorious siege ; but the confederates renewed it in

1814, and Vizier Mahomed applied with increased importunity

for the interference of the British Government. Lord Hastings
felt that it was important to preserve a principality situated

like that of Bhopal from subjugation, and scarcely less so to

prevent the growth of Sindia's influence at the court of Nag-

pore, and he directed the Resident at Delhi to grant the Nabob

the alliance he solicited without waiting for instructions from

Leadenhall-street. The two Mahratta princes were there-

fore informed that Bhopal was now under British protection,

and that their forces must be withdrawn forthwith. The raja

of Nagpore, after some hesitation, recalled his army, but

Sindia assumed a lofty bearing it was at the time of our

disasters in Nepal and declared that Bhopal was one of his

dependencies, with which the British Government was de-

barred from interfering by the treaty of 1805. Bhopal, it was

well known, though sometimes invaded, had continued to main-

tain its independence amidst the anarchy of the times ; but the

Mahratta powers considered every province which they had

once laid under contribution as a perpetual dependency.
Sindia's claim was successfully met by a reference to docu-

ments; but the vigorous preparations which Lord Hastings
was making to enforce his demand, combined with the suc-

cesses of General Ochterlony, proved a stronger argument, and

induced him to lower his tone. His two commanders, more-

over, who had long been at variance, attacked each other

under the walls of Bhopal, and his army was soon after

recalled. But the projected alliance fell to the ground. Vizier

Mahomed never had any serious intention of encumbering
himself with it, and with genuine Afghan duplicity was treat-

ing with Sindia at the same time that he was negotiating with

the British Resident, in the hope of playing off one party
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against the other. Lord Hastings, disgusted with this perfi-

dious conduct, ordered that his envoy should be dismissed

without an audience when he next made his appearance at

Delhi. The miscarriage of this project, however vexatious at

the time, saved the honour of the Company's Government, as

a despatch was soon after received from the India House

positively forbidding the Governor-General to contract the alli-

ance, or indeed to adopt any measure which might give

umbrage to Sindia.

Affaire of Poona, To turn to the progress of events at Poona.
18031814.

Bajee Rao, the last of the Peshwas, though not

deficient in a certain kind of ability, had none of the talents

for government which had more or less distinguished his an-

cestors. For the success of his schemes he always depended

on the spirit of intrigue, which was his ruling passion through

life, and no dependence could ever be placed on his most solemn

assurances. He was the slave of avarice and of superstition.

In the course of ten years he had succeeded, by incessant extor-

tion and extreme parsimony, in amassing treasure to the extent

of five crores of rupees, but he wa's lavish to extravagance in

the support of brahmins and temples, and his time was spent
in constant pilgrimages. In these tours he was always accom-

panied by a golden image of Vishnoo in a state palankeen,

surrounded by a numerous and expensive staff of priests,

and escorted by a guard of his choicest troops, The violent

death of the Peshwa, Narayun Rao, a brahmin, was univer-

sally attributed to his father Raghoba; and to absolve his

family from the guilt of this impious deed, he fed a hundred

thousand brahmins, and planted a hundred thousand mango-
trees around Poona. After having absorbed the estates of

many minor chiefs, he turned his attention in 1812 to the

great feudatories of the Mahratta empire, denominated the

southern jageerdars, most of them of greater antiquity than

his own house, whom he had long regarded with a rapacious

eye. When united they were able to bring 20,000 men into

the field, and might at any time have created a revolution at
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Poona, but for the presence of the subsidiary force. The
eminent services which they rendered to General Wellesley in

1803 had given them a strong claim on the British Government,
on which they presumed so far as to relax in their allegiance

to the Peshwa, and refuse him their stipulated contingents
when required to repel the Pindarees. The Resident was
therefore obliged to interfere, but the settlement which he

dictated was unsatisfactory to both parties, inasmuch as it

bound the jageerdars to do homage to their liege lord, and

guaranteed their possessions against his cupidity.

About the year 1813, one, Trimbukjee, who

eventually became the cause of the Peshwa's

ruin, began to rise to notice at his court. He was originally a

spy, but by his intelligence and energy, and not less by pan-

dering to his master's vices, gained a complete ascendency
over his mind. Trimbukjee, on his part, manifested such

servile devotion to the Peshwa, as to assure Mr. Elphinstone,
the Resident at Poona, that he was ready even to kill a cow at

his bidding. He entertained an inveterate animosity towards

the British, and was incessantly urging Bajee Rao to shake off

their alliance, and re-assert the ancient power, and revive the

policy, of the Mahratta empire. It was under his influence

that the general confederacy against the Company's Govern-

ment was organised in 1815. His next device was to esta-

blish the ascendency of his master at the Guzerat court. The
Peshwa had claims on that state, extending back for half a

century, which, with the accumulation of interest, amounted

to three crores of rupees. The lease of the district of

Ahmedabad, which the Peshwa had given to the Guickwar

for ten years, was about to expire, and he was anxious to

renew it. The Guickwar, therefore, deputed his chief minister,

Gungadhur Shastree, to Poona, to settle these perplexing

questions, but such was the universal dread of Trimbukjee's

violence, that the Shastree would not venture on the journey
without a safe conduct from the Resident. His reception at

Poona was ungracious, and he was baffled by perpetual
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evasions and obstructions. The renewal of the 'lease of

Ahmedabad was peremptorily refused, and it was bestowed

on Trimbukjee, who was also introduced to Mr. Elphinstone

as the Peshwa's chief minister. The Shastree, seeing no

prospect of the success of his mission, determined, _with the

concurrence of Mr. Elphinstone, to return to Baroda. The

Peshwa and his favourite, on hearing of this intention, imme-

diately changed their tactics, and spared no pains to win him

over to their interests. Trimbukjee flattered him with the

assurance that Bajee Rao had conceived so high an opinion

of his talents, that he was about to confer on him an office of

great dignity at Poona, and as a proof of his sincerity, to offer

his own sister-in-law in marriage to the Shastree's son. The

Shastree was induced by this cozenage to agree to a compro-

mise of all his master's claims for lands yielding seven lacs of

rupees a-year. This bargain might have been advantageous,

considering that the Peshwa, in addition to the arrear of

three crores, claimed an annual tribute of twenty-five lacs of

rupees, but it was made without the consent of Mr. Elphin-

stone or the Guickwar, both of whom at once repudiated it.

Murder of the An auspicious day had been selected by the

Shastree, 1815.
astrologers, and the most splendid preparations had

been made for the nuptials, but the Shastree, on hearing that

his royal master rejected the settlement, requested that

they might be at once suspended. He had already given

great offence to the Peshwa by refusing to allow his wife

to visit the palace, where she must have been witness to

scenes of revolting debauchery, but the interruption of the

wedding, which humiliated the Peshwa in the eyes of his

subjects, was considered an unpardonable insult, which nothing

but the blood of the Shastree could expiate. The Peshwa

proceeded on pilgrimage to Punderpore, and the Shastree,

though warned of his danger, was so infatuated as to accom-

pany him. To throw him off his guard, the most cordial

communications were maintained with him, and he was induced,

by the repeated importunity of Trimbukjee, to pay his devo-
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tions after dusk at the shrine. On his return, he was over-

taken at a distance of three hundred yards from the temple,

by the assassins of the Minister and cut to pieces. The murder

of a brahmin of the highest caste, and, moreover, a Shastree,

renowned for his sacred learning, in a holy city, at the period

of a pilgrimage, and in the immediate precincts of the temple,

filled the Mahratta community with horror and dismay. But

the victim was also the minister of a British ally, and had

proceeded to the court of Poona, under the guarantee of the

British Resident, who determined to lose no time in vindicating

the honour of his Government. Mr. Elphinstone returned in

haste from the caves of Ellora, which he was at the time

employed in exploring, to Poona, and instituted a rigid

enquiry into all the circumstances connected with the assassi-

nation. The guilt of Trimbukjee was established beyond all

question, and Mr. Elphinstone called on the Peshwa to place him

under arrest, and eventually to give him up. The demand

was strenously resisted by Bajee Rao, who began to levy

troops, and to sound the other Mahratta powers to ascertain

how far he could depend on their aid, if he broke with the

British Government. Sindia's reply was disguised under the

form of a banker's letter :
" This banking house is the Naek's

(the Peshwa's), while your house is in want of cash (troops),

you must submit to the importunity of creditors (the Company).

The Naek ought to go about some time on pilgrimage, but let

him write a bill in his own hand, and whatever money is

required shall be sent." The Peshwa was half inclined to

make common cause with his favourite and minister, whom he

could not surrender without incurring obloquy, and to raise

the standard of the Mahratta empire. But Mr. Elphinstone

had taken the precaution of calling up troops to the capital ;

the Peshwa's natural cowardice overcame every other feel-

ing, and Trimbukjee was made over to him on the 25th

September, 1815, on condition that his life should be spared.

He was conveyed to the fort of Tannah, where he freely

admitted the murder of the Shastree to the British officers,

n. *
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but assured them that he had n,ot acted without his master's

orders.

Lord Hastings'a Lord Hastings returned to Calcutta from the

!entet

d

io

r

n
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to
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the
N rth West towards tne close of 1815 and on

Court, 1815. the 1st December placed on record an elaborate

minute, drawn up from the notes of Mr. Metcalfe, in which he

pointed out in stronger language than he had before employed,

the increasing dangers arising from the growth of the Pindaree

power, and the urgent necessity of active measures to suppress

it. To effect this object he proposed a general system of

alliances, under the guarantee of the British Government,

a complete revision of our relations with the native powers,

and a new settlement of the Mahratta dominions. The chief

objection of the Court of Directors to any vigorous effort to root

out the Pindarees, was the dread of irritating the Mahrattas

generally, and Sindia in particular. But Lord Hastings did

not hesitate to assure them that "
if there was no choice left,

he should prefer an immediate war with the Mahrattas, for

which we should be fully prepared, to an expensive system of

defence, against a consuming predatory warfare, carried on

clandestinelybythe Mahratta powers, wasting our resources, till

they might see a practicable opportunity of coming to an open

rupture." Mr. Edmonstone and Mr. Dowdeswell questioned
the existence of any such hostile feeling among the Mahratta

princes, and opposed the formation of any new alliances ;
the

plan was therefore submitted to the home authorities, without

Pindaree irrup- their concurrence. While this minute was on its

tion, is. >-i6. wav IQ England, the necessity of some immediate

effort to curb the Pindarees was rendered the more imperative

by their increasing audacity, The dussera festival, when the

plan of the campaign was usually organised, was celebrated in

1815 at Nimaur, the head-quarters of the great Pindaree leader

Cheetoo, by a larger assemblage than had ever been collected

before. The Company's territories had hitherto been unmo-

lested, owing to the constant, vigorous, and active preparations

of Government, but at the suggestion of the Mahratta princes,
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the depredations of the Pindarees were now to be especially

directed against them, and the dominions of the Nizam. On
the 14th October, a body of 8,000 predatory horse crossed the

Nerbudda, and swept through the Nizam's territories as far

south as the Kistna, and returned to Nimaur so richly laden

with booty, that it was found necessary to invite merchants

from all quarters to purchase it. This extraordinary success

brought additional crowds to their standard, and a second

and larger expedition, consisting of 23,000 Pindarees, crossed

the Nerbudda in February. One large division poured down
on the Northern Sircars, sacked the civil station of Guntoor

on the Coromandel coast, and for ten days plundered the

villages around with perfect impunity. Troops and arms were

despatched from Calcutta to Masulipatam by sea, in all haste,

but the Pindarees had disappeared before their arrival ; indeed,

they moved with such rapidity, that it would have been as

impossible to overtake them as a flight of locusts. Officers

were subsequently appointed by Government to ascertain the

injury they had inflicted on the country, and it was found that

in the Company's territories alone three hundred and thirty-

nine villages had been plundered, and many of them burnt, one

hundred and eighty-two persons put to death, five hundred

wounded, and three thousand six hundred subjected to torture,

while the loss of property exceeded twenty-five lacs of rupees.

The inhabitants had not seen the smoke of an enemy's camp
for fifty years. Ever since Clive had annexed the Northern

Sircars to the Company's territories in 1765, the people had

felt that they were living under the protection of a power
whose name was a sufficient guarantee of safety; but all

confidence was now extinguished, and they began to desert

their villages. The atrocities committed by these marauders,

and the refinement of cruelty they practised on their victims,

were thus vividly described by Mr. Canning :
"

Rapine,

murder in all its shapes, torture, rape, and conflagration, were

not rare and accidental occurrences in their progress, but the

uniform object 'of every enterprize. There were instances

Y 2
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where the whole female population of a village precipitated

themselves into the Avells as the only refuge from these brutal

and barbarous spoilers ; where, at their approach, fathers of

families surrounded their own dwellings with fuel, and perished

with their children in the flames kindled by their own hands."

No previous invasion of the Pindarees had been so syste-

matically directed against the Company's dominions, or per-

petrated with so much audacity.

The success of this expedition manifested the
Subsidiary . .

L
. .

alliance with great importance of obtaining the co-operation of

Vayfisie?
the raja of Nagpore, through whose territories

the Pindarees passed on crossing the Nerbudda.

The raja had steadily resisted every proposal of a subsidiary

alliance, but his death on the 22nd March, 1816, opened a

favourable opportunity of obtaining it. He was succeeded by
his son Persajee, nearly forty years of age, blind, palsied, and

sunk into a state of complete idiotcy. His nephew, known in

the history of India as Appa Sahib, was recognised as regent,

but was opposed by a powerful faction, both in the court and

iu the zenana. He found it impossible, therefore, to maintain

his position without foreign assistance, but, instead of invoking

the aid of Sindia or Holkar, or one of the Piudaree leaders,

any of whom would have been happy to hasten to his relief,

and thus to obtain a substantial footing at Nagpore, he applied

to Mr. Jenkins, the Resident, and offered to conclude the sub-

sidiary alliance his uncle had rejected, on condition of receiving

the support of the British authorities. Lord Hastings eagerly
embraced a proposal which would place the resources of Nag-

pore at his disposal, and enable him to plant a British force on

the Nerbudda. A treaty was accordingly concluded on the

27th May, which provided that a force of 6,000 infantry, and a

regiment of cavalry, together with a due proportion of artillery,

should be subsidised by the Nagpore state, at an expense of

seven lacs and a-half of rupees a-year. It was likewise stipu-

lated that the raja should engage in no foreign negotiation

without the concurrence of tlie British Government, to whom
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likewise all differences with foreign princes were to be sub-

mitted. The Nagpore ministers earnestly pleaded for the

insertion of a clause prohibiting the slaughter of kine in the

Nagpore territories, but it was distinctly rejected, as a similar

request had been refused to Sindia's envoys twelve years
before. " Thus have I been enabled," wrote Lord Hastings,
"to effect what has been fruitlessly laboured at for twelve

years. Sindia's designs on Nagpore, as well as the Peshwa's,
are defeated, and the interception of the Pindarees is rendered

certain." Soon after, orders arrived from England, revoking
the permission which had been formerly given to conclude this

alliance ; but it arrived too late to do any mischief.

, 4 .,
In a former chapter it has been stated that in

Attempted
alliance with 1805 Sir George Barlow repudiated the engage-
Jeypore, 1816. ment of Lord jjake ^ affor(j protection to Jeypore,
and abandoned it to spoliation. The Court of Directors ap-

proved of this decision, biit they appear subsequently to have

felt some degree of compunction at this sacrifice of British

honour and of the welfare of Jeypore, and in December, 1813,

gave their sanction to the renewal of the alliance with that

state. The Nepal war, which occurred soon after, rendered

it advisable to postpone the execution of these instructions.

Meanwhile, Ameer Khan and his freebooters, having drained

Joudhpore, entered Jeypore, and laid siege to the capital,

with the intention of completing the reduction of the state.

The raja despatched a vakeel to Mr. Metcalfe, at Delhi, to

implore his interposition, arid Lord Hastings, availing himself

of the warrant of the Court of Directors, determined to con-

clude the alliance, and receive Jeypore under British protec-

tion. Mr. Edmonstone and Mr. Dowdeswell strenuously

opposed this measure, but Mr. Seton, the third member of

Council, concurred with Lord Hastings, and enabled him to

carry out his plans by his own casting vote. Mr. Metcalfe was

then instructed to entertain the raja's application. Two

armies, each 9,000 strong, were ordered to assemble in the

neighbourhood of Muttra to support this resolution, and to
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expel the Patans from Jeypore. To be prepared for any

opposition which might be offered by Sindia or Ilolkar, who,

having repeatedly plundered Jeypore, had the usual Mahratta

claims upon it, the four subsidiary armies of the Nizam, the

Peshwa, the Guickwar, and the Bhonslay, were ordered to

take up strategic positions in the south. The force thus

assembled fell little short of 40,000 infantry and 12,000

cavalry, and was sufficient to crush whatever antagonism

might arise, but the raja of Jeypore dreaded the alliance with

the Company almost, if not altogether, as much as he dreaded

the exactions of Ameer Khan, and in the true spirit of Oriental

policy carried on negotiations simultaneously with both parties,

menacing the Patan with the weight of a British force, which,

he said, he had only to sign the treaty to bring down upon
him. The threat was effectual, and Ameer Khan, anxious

to avoid a collision with British troops, raised the siege.

As soon as his retirement had relieved the raja from his

terrors, he endeavoured to evade the alliance by advancing
new and preposterous terms. The negotiation was, there-

fore, broken off, and all the military movements counter-

manded.

_ , u Mr. George Canning, one of the most brilliant
Despatches
from the India of English statesmen, accepted the office of Presi-
HOU8C.1816. dent of the Boar(j of Control m June> 1816> and

was immediately required to investigate and decide on the

largest and the most momentous question which had ever

been submitted to the Board. This was the adoption or rejec-

tion of the plans proposed by Lord Hastings in the previous
month of December for a general system of alliances with the

native powers, under the guarantee of the Company, in order

to extinguish the Pindaree confederacy, to restore tranquillity

to Central India, and give security to the British possessions.
It was a bolder scheme of policy even than that of Lord

Wellesley which had been for ten years under the ban of the

Court of Directors ; it was nothing less than the establish-

ment of the universal supremacy of the Company throughout
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the continent of India. Mr. Canning was new to the Govern-

ment, and it is, therefore, no matter of surprise that he should

have been unwilling to assume the responsibility of intro-

ducing so fundamental a change in the policy of the empire,
and have resolved rather to adhere to the existing system,
which was pronounced the safest, not only by the sage coun-

sellors in Calcutta, but by those who might be considered his

constitutional advisers in Leadenhall-street. He accordingly
drew up a very elaborate and interesting minute, which re-

viewed the political condition of India, and laid down rules

for the guidance of the local authorities. It exhibited the

clearest tokens of his great talent and of his inexperience.
The Secret Committee, who signed it officially, said they were

unwilling to incur the risk of a general war for the uncertain

purpose of extirpating the Pindarees. They would not

sanction any extended political and military combinations for

this object. It was probable that we might calculate on

the aid of Sindia to protect the Company's dominions from

their aggressions. Any attempt at this time to establish a

new system of policy tending to an undue diffusion of our

power must necessarily interfere with those economical con-

siderations which it was more than ever incumbent to recom-

mend. They even suggested the expediency of improving

any opportunity which might be presented of treating with

any of the Pindaree chiefs, or with the men for delivering up
their leaders. Such advice kindled the indignation of Lord

Hastings.
" When the Honourable Committee," he replied,

"
suggest the expediency of engaging one portion of the

Pindaree association to destroy another, I am roused by the

fear that we have been culpably deficient in pointing out to

the authorities at home the brutal and atrocious qualities of

these wretches . . . and I am confident that nothing would

have been more repugnant to the feelings of the Honourable

Committee than the notion that the Government should be

soiled by a procedure which was to bear the colour of a con-

fidential intercourse in a common cause with any of these
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._ , ffaners." But immediately after the transmission
Despatch of

^

26th September, of this despatch of the 5th September, Mr. Can-

ning received intelligence of the irruption of the

Pindarees on the Coromaiidel coast, and the desolation they

had spread for ten days through the Company's districts, and

his views underwent an immediate and auspicious change.

Within three weeks another communication was sent out

nnder his directions, which said :
" The previous instructions

discouraging plans of general confederacy and of offensive

operations were not intended to restrain the exercise of your

judgment and discretion upon any occasion when actual war

on our territories might be commenced by any body of

marauders. We think it due to your lordship not to lose an

instant in conveying to you an explicit assurance of our

approbation of any measures which you may have authorized

or undertaken, not only for repelling invasion, but for pur-

suing and chastising the invaders. We can no longer abstain

from a vigorous exertion of military power in vindication of

the British name and in defence of subjects who look to us

for protection." The enormities of the Pindarees had over-

come even the dread of irritating Sindia, the great bugbear of

the India House :
"
Any connection of Sindia and Holkar with

the Pindarees against us or our allies, known, though not

avowed, would place them in a state of direct hostility

to us."

Pindaree cam- The Pmdaree expedition of 1815-16 was suffi-

paign, isie-17. cient to convince Mr. Canning of the necessity of

adopting energetic measures to eradicate this plague, but it

required another season of desolation to convince Mr. Edmon-
stone and Mr. Dowdeswell of the same truth. Lord Hastings
was confident that the establishment of the Nagpore sub-

sidiary force at the fords of the Nerbudda would be sufficient

to intercept the Pindarees. As the period of their annual

swarming approached, Colonel Walker moved up to the ferries

with a body of G,000 horse and foot; but this force was
soon found to be utterly unequal to the protection of a line a
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hundred and fifty miles in extent. The Pindarees pushed
across in detachments between his posts, one of which was

ninety miles from its nearest support. A party of 5,000 men

suddenly crossed the river on his extreme right, within sight

of his infantry, while his cavalry was posted on the opposite

flank, and rushed forward with such speed as to baffle all

pursuit. They fell on the Company's district of Kimedy, and

burnt a portion of the town of Ganjam, and, but for the

presence of a large force which happened to be assembled

in order to quell a local insurrection, would have laid Juggun-
nath and the district of Orissa under contribution. Another

body laid waste the territories of Nagpore and Hyderabad.
Such was the audacity which success had created in the

minds of these freebooters that one of the leaders, with a

band of only five hundred horse, swept through the Peshwa's

dominions, and after having plundered two hundred miles of

the Malabar coast, returned leisurely up the valley of the

Taptee. Though attacked with some success during their

progress homewards, the men brought back so rich a booty in

their saddles as to give fresh vigour to the predatory spirit.

The expedition of the season of 1816-17 was the boldest the

Pindarees had ever undertaken, and it gave rise to the

gravest considerations. With the Nagpore subsidiary force

guarding the passages of the Nerbudda, 23,000 Pindarees

had succeeded in crossing it with ease. Independently
of the .Nizam's reformed contingent and of the Poona brigade,

no fewer than 32,000 men belonging to the Company's and

King's force had been stationed to guard the country between

the Kistna and the Toombuddra, but the Pindarees had

nevertheless dashed through the Peninsula and across it, and

plundered both coasts. It was true that they suffered severely

on two occasions, when Major McDowell and Major Lush-

ington succeeded in overtaking them, but the eminent success

of these officers was a happy contingency, and not owing to

the efficiency of the defensive measures which had been

adopted, which, while they proved totally abortive, occa-
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sioned an amount of expenditure exceeding the largest calcu-

lations of the cost of a more energetic policy. These reflec-

Detennination tions brought the Council round to the views of

"et'h December,
Lord Hastings; and on the 16th December, while

isle. the permissive despatch of the Court of Directors

was coming round the Cape, it was unanimously resolved that

"the resolution adopted of refraining from any system of

offensive operations against the Pindarees till the sanction of

the Court could be received should be abandoned, and that

vigorous measures for the suppression of the Piudarees had

become an indispensable object of public duty."

The season was too far advanced for any such
Sindia'a

*

determination, operations, but preparations were silently com-

menced on a large scale to take the field in the

cold season of 1817. Intimation was immediately conveyed
to Sindia of the resolution which had been adopted to extirpate

the Pindarees, and he was required to co-operate in carrying it

out ; but they had agents in his camp, and warm partizans

among his ministers, who laboured to persuade him that with

their powerful aid he might hope to bid defiance to the Com-

pany, and that his own security would be weakened if he

allowed these bands, who were almost an integral part of

his army, and ready at any tune to flock to his standard, to be

extinguished. The Pindaree vakeels boasted that they would

out-do the exploits of Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and that fifty

thousand of their body were ready to carry fire and sword to

Calcutta ; but Sindia was not to be misled by this gasconade.

Assye was yet fresh in his memory. More recently he had

seen the Company triumphant in Nepal ; they had secured the

resources of Nagpore; they had evidently abandoned their

neutral policy, and the spirit of Lord Wellesley again animated

their counsels. He was, therefore, induced to promise his

co-operation, though not without great reluctance, and only on

condition that the lands recovered from the Pindarees should

be transferred to him. This perfunctory aid was not likely to

be of much practical use, but it was important to deprive the
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cause of the Pindarees, if but ostensibly, of one of their most

staunch supporters.

During these negotiations at Gwalior events of
Hostility of

.

&
.

BajeeEao, deep importance were in progress at roona.

Trimbukjee had been confined in the fort of

Tannah, in the island of Salsette, which, for greater security,

was garrisoned only by European troops ; but a plan was laid

for his deliverance, and it was communicated to him in

Mahratta songs, chaunted by a fellow-countryman who had

taken service as a groom with one of the officers, while he

walked his master's horse too and fro under Trimbukjee's

window. He effected his escape in September, 1816. For several

months after this event Bajee Rao manifested a spirit of

unusual cordiality towards the Resident, Mr. Elphinstone, but

Lord Hastings had incontrovertible proof that he was all the

while engaged in active and hostile negotiations with Sindia,

Holkar, Ameer Khan, and the Pindarees. He received the inti-

mation of the resolution to eradicate the Pindarees with every

demonstration of delight, but Mr. Elphinstone heard at the same

tune of the assembly of seditious troops within fifty miles of

the capital. At his earnest request a detachment was sent to

disperse them, but the commandant, after having held several

conferences with them, reported that no insurgents were

to be found. Early in March, 1817, it was discovered that

these movements were directed by Trimbukjee himself, who
was actively employed in raising new levies, while the

Peshwa was importuning Mr. Elphinstone to condone his

offence and allow him to return to Poona, which was neces-

sarily refused. M.eanwhile, another and a more serious

revolt broke out in Candesh, and a fortress was occupied by
the insurgents. The attitude of the Peshwa became gradually
more hostile. He hastened the enlisting of troops, collected

guns and bullocks, provisioned his forts, and sent away his

wardrobe, jewels, and treasures to his strongest fortress. To

counteract these movements Mr. Elphinstone ordered a large

British force to Poona, and sent several detachments against
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the insurrectionary bands, who were in every case signally

routed. On the 1st April he presented a note to the

Peshwa reproaching him with the hostile movements he was

abetting, and declared that the good understanding between

the two Governments was now at an end. Several weeks of

fruitless discussion ensued, during which Bajee Rao repeatedly

made preparations to quit the capital, which would have been

the signal of a general insurrection, but was restrained by his

fears. On the 6th May, Mr. Elphinstone brought the contro-

versy to an issue by peremptorily demanding the surrender of

Trimbukjee within a month, and the delivery of three of the

Peshwa's fortresses to be held as security. To this request

he refused to accede with unusual coolness of determination, and

declined to make any effort to apprehend his favourite. Troops
were ordered up to Poona, and twenty-four hours allowed the

Peshwa for his decision. The brave Gokla and the com-

mandant of artillery urged a bold appeal to arms, but he had not

the spirit to adopt their advice. The fortresses were made

over, and a proclamation issued offering two lacs and a half of

rupees for the apprehension of Trimbukjee.

Treaty of June Lord Hastings, however, deemed it necessary,
6th, 1817. on the eve Of jjjg great operations against the Pin-

darees, to exact greater securities from this faithless prince,

and Mr. Elphinstone was instructed to submit to him the

draft of a new treaty, binding him to renounce Trimbukjee for

ever, to relinquish formally and substantially the character of

supreme head of the Mahratta empire, to dismiss the agents of

the foreign princes from his court, and to abstain from all

further communication with them, referring all matters in dis-

pute to the Company's Government. He was likewise required
to resign all his rights feudal, pecuniary, and territorial, in

Saugor and Bundlekund, and in lieu of the contingent of 5,000

horse and 3,000 foot, which he was under obligation

by the treaty of Bassein to maintain as an auxiliary force,

to cede territory yielding twenty-four lacs of rupees a-year.

His ministers endeavoured to mitigate the severity of these de-
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mands, which their master's offences, whatever they might be,

did not, in their opinion, merit, and which were peculiarly

grating to his feelings ;
and they stated that we seemed to

exact a greater degree of fidelity to engagements than any
native prince was able from his habits to observe. But Mr. El-

phinstone was inflexible, and the treatywas signed without any
modification on the 13th June. The heavypenaltythus inflicted

on the Peshwa for his delinquencies was doubtless the most

rigorous, perhaps also the most questionable measure of Lord

Hastings's administration, and could be justified only on the

ground of inexorable necessity. It is necessary, therefore, to

refer to Lord Hastings' own vindication of his proceedings.
" I exacted," he said, "cessions from him as the penalty of

his base and profligate attempt to excite a general conspiracy

against us. These terms were in themselves severe. When,
however, they are measured by the magnitude of the injury
aimed at us, they will not appear harsh, nor will the necessity

of them be doubted, when it is considered that our experience
has shown the impossibility of relying on his most solemn

professions. We had no choice, consistently with our security,

but to cripple him, if we left him on the throne." When the

intelligence of these proceedings, as well as of the large
additions which had thus been made to the Company's posses-

sions, reached England, Mr. Canning bowed gracefully to the

irresistible spirit of progress which, in spite of every effort to

repress it, was inherent in the constitution of the Company's
Government. His despatch to Calcutta stated : "We feel all

the objections which lie against measures tending to reduce or

humiliate those native states which, from the extent of their

dominions, and from their military talents, were formerly
ranked as substantive states. The course of these proceedings,

however, sufficiently proves the almost irrepressible tendency
of our Indian power to enlarge its bounds and to augment its

preponderance, in spite oi the most peremptory injunctions of

forbearance from home, and the most scrupulous obedience of

them in India ; but, while expressing our approbation of these
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measures, political and military, we consider it particularly

important to declare that we consider any such case as forming

an unwelcome though justifiable exception to the general rule

of our policy. The occurrence of such exceptions has been

unfortunately much too frequent." Yet, so vain are human

wishes, that even before this dispatch had left the India

House, the whole of the Peshwa's kingdom had been incorpo-

rated with the dominions of the Company, with the exception

of the small section given to the raja of Satara.

Hoikar's Court,
To revert to the progress o.f events at the

1811-17; Court of Holkar. On the death of Jeswunt Rao

in 1811, Toolsee bye, the favourite of his harem, adopted a

son of his by another concubine, and determined to conduct the

government herself in the character of regent. The virtues

of Aylah bye, during her successful administration of thirty

years, had created a predilection for a female reign, which

was of no little service to the plans of Toolsee bye. She was

in the bloom of youth and beauty, and with the most fasci-

nating address combined great intelligence and invincible

resolution ; but her spirit was vindictive, and her morals were

dissolute, and she speedily exhausted every feeling of respect.

Ameer Khan, who held large jageers from the state, and

exercised a preponderating influence in its councils, quitted

Indore soon after the death of Jeswunt Rao to pursue his

schemes of avarice and ambition in Rajpootana, leaving a

relative, Guffoor Khan, with a large body of troops, to main-

tain the Patan ascendency ; but there was no regularity or

solidity in the government. The income of the state, under

the most economical management, was insufficient to main-

tain its overgrown army. When the troops became mutinous

for pay, districts were assigned for their support to the com-

manders, who used their power only to fleece the people.

Open villages were sacked, and walled towns cannonaded.

The inhabitants took to flight, the lands remained without

tillage, and the country presented a scene of desolation and
woe. The lawless soldiery did not spare the possessions of
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Sindia, and at length threatened the Bye herself with their

violence. She sought refuge for a time with Zalim Sing, the

regent of Kotah, the only court in Central India which in

that period of confusion afforded an asylum for the unfortu-

nate, but she was nevertheless constrained to part with her

jewels to appease their rapacity. Soon after, she became

enamoured of Gunput Rao, the hereditary dewan of the state.

The minister, Buluram sett, ventured to remonstrate with her

on the scandal which her amours created, and she caused him

to be cut down in her presence. To avenge this foul murder,

Guffoor Khan laid siege to the town to which she had retired.

She placed herself at the head of her Mahratta horse, and

with undaunted courage led the assault till the elephant on

which she was seated with the young prince was struck by a

cannon ball and became unmanageable, when she mounted a

horse, and placing the lad in her lap, fled from the field.

Tantia Joge, a brahmin and a merchant, who had risen to

distinction by his administrative talents, then accepted the

post of minister, and was considered the head of the Mahratta

party, while Guffoor Khan, with nine battalions of infantry,

headed the Patans. Between these factions the government

fell into a state of complete anarchy, and it was at this

period,
in the autumn of 1817, that the agents of Bajee Rao

arrived in the camp to promote the confederacy he was

forming against the British Government.

Distracted state The disorganisation of Central India had now
of India, isn. reached its climax. The commanders in Sindia's

and Holkar's army were beyond the control of the Government,
and employed their troops wherever there was any prospect of

plunder. The smaller states were subject to constant spolia-

tion. The Rajpoot principalities were prostrated by internal

discord, and the periodical pillage to which they were

subject. The soldiers in Central India who depended in a great

measure on violence for their means of subsistence, and

whom there was no native power with the disposition or the

strength to control, fell little short of 100,000. The history of
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the previous eight centuries presents no period of such intense

and general suffering, and there was every appearance of the

approaching dissolution of the bonds of
society^.

On the 8th

July, Lord Hastings left Calcutta, and proceededLord Hastings
' *

proceeds up the to the upper provinces to reduce this chaos to

order. The plan of operations which he laid down

was comprehensive, bold, and decisive. He was convinced

that if the Pindarees were simply dispersed, they would speedily

assemble again, and that the only mode of dealing effectually

with them was to assault them in their haunts, and hunt them

through the country, till their organisation was irretrievably

annihilated. He felt, moreover, that to prevent the renewal

of such confederacies, it was necessary to resettle Central India,

which now exhibited only a general scramble for power and

plunder, to define the boundaries of each prince, and prevent

mutual encroachments by the ascendency of one paramount

authority. Mr. Canning had sanctioned the adoption of vigor-

ous measures, not only to resist the inroads of the Pindarees,

but also to chastise them, but in the same despatch he alluded,

without qualification, to the instructions of the previous year,

which interdicted plans of general federation ; and the standing
orders to form no new treaties without the warrant of the

India House, had never been revoked. Lord Hastings was

however, convinced, that without a general combination of all

the princes north of the Nerbudda, under the supremacy of the

Company, there was no hope of permanent tranquillity ; but

this policy found little favour with the members of Council. On
his progress to the north-west, therefore, he communicated to

them his reasons for deviating from the views of the home

authorities, and took on himself the sole responsibility of the

general system of alliances he had determined to form. To the

Court of Directors he wrote that unexpected events had pre-

sented a juncture which required to be dealt with according to

its own peculiar features, and that he had construed their

instructions as not applicable to circumstances so little analo-

gous to what had been contemplated by them.
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Extent of miii-
tions on which Lord Hastings

tary operations, \vas now about to enter were on a grander scale

than any in which the Company had as yet been

engaged. They embraced the whole extent of country from

the Kistna in the south, to the Ganges in the north
;
and from

Cawnpore in the east, to Guzerat on the western coast, six

hundred miles in one direction, and seven hundred in another.

The army was, moreover, the largest which had ever taken

the field in India under British colours. The battle of Plassy,

which laid the foundation of British power, was won with

2,100 men. The army with which Lord Cornwallis struck

down the power of Tippoo in 1793 did not exceed 31,000.

The troops assembled by Lord Wellesley during the Mahratta

war, independent pf the irregular horse of the allies, amounted

to 55,000. On the present occasion Lord Hastings called out

the armies of the three Presidencies, and, including irregulars

and the contingents of native princes, was enabled to assemble

a force of 116,000 infantry and cavalry, with three hundred

guns. The magnitude of this force was out of proportion to

the simple object of extinguishing bands of marauders, who
never stood an attack. But Lord Hastings knew that the

Mahratta powers had an interest in common with the Pindarees,

and were opposed to the extinction of an association which

might be turned to account in any struggle with the British

Government. He had every reason to believe that a general

confederacy had been formed of the native powers against the

interests of the Company. Sindia was known to have received

twenty-five lacs of rupees from the Peshwa, as the price of his

assistance, and to have given a direct assurance of support to

the Pindarees and to Ameer Khan, in case they were attacked.

Lord Hastings had determined that in this crusade against the

Pindarees, no native prince should be allowed to remain neuter,

and his preparations were intended to provide against every

adverse contingency which might arise. Happily, the powers
of Governor-General and Commander-in-chief were combined

in his hands, and all arrangements, both military and political,

II. Z
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were directed by the same mind, and regulated by the same

undivided authority. A complete harmony of operations was

thus secured, which eminently contributed to the success of

the war. The veteran soldier of sixty-three took the field in

person, and gave promptitude and energy to every movement.

The plan which he drew out of the campaign, with its manifold

combinations from points widely separated from each other,

exhibited military talent of no ordinary standard. Four armies

advanced from the Deccan under the direction of the Madras

Commander-in-chief, Sir Thomas Hislop, and four from the

north-west provinces, to converge on the haunts of the Pinda-

rees, and prevent the possibility of their escape. The only

event which was likely to disturb these well-devised plans was

the support which they might obtain from the Mahratta powers,
but Lord Hastings considered that after the treaties he had

concluded with the Nagpore raja and the Peshwa, he was safe

from any interference on their part, and the regent of Holkar's

cabinet was negotiating for British protection.

Treaty with In the north, however, it was necessary to place
Smdia, 1817. an effectuaj curb on the hostile tendencies of Sindia

and Ameer Khan. Sindia's army was at this period hi a state of

more than ordinary insubordination, and one division had

placed its commander under arrest. But rumours had been

spread through the camp that Bajee Rao was about to erect the

national standard and attack the Company, and Sindia's troops

became eager to join him in this warfare, while Sindia himself

as it afterwards appeared, had pledged his faith to that prince.

There could be little doubt that the whole of Sindia's military-

resources would be engaged against Government in the

coming struggle, and it was necessary to meet this emergency
with promptitude. A note was accordingly delivered to him

by the Resident, on the 10th October, stating that the Governor-

General considered the treaty of 1805 abrogated by his having
excited the Pindarees against the British Government, and

repeatedly granted them an asylum after they had been openly

engaged hi plundering the territories of the Company.
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Government was therefore no longer fettered by that clause of

the treaty which placed restrictions on the formation of any
connection with the chiefs of Malwa and Rajpootana, with

whom Lord Hastings had now determined to contract alliances

for the security of the Company's territories. It stated that the

British Government was not seeking any private advantage,

and that the sole object of the armaments then assembled

was to extinguish all predatory associations and restore tran-

quillity. Sindia was therefore requested to give his co-opera-

tion, and to place his troops at the disposal of the Governor-

General, to be stationed according to his judgment, with a

British officer attached to each division. As a proof of his

sincerity he was moreover required to admit a British garrison,

temporarily, into the fortress of Hindia on the Nerbudda, and

into Asseergur, reputed the strongest fort in India, and the

key of the Deccan. During these negotiations Sindia was

detected in a correspondence with the raja of Nepal, whom
he prompted to a simultaneous attack on the Company's
dominions. The letters were found on his messenger, inserted

between the leaves of a Sanscrit manuscript of the Vedas, and,

to his great confusion, were returned to him in open durbar.

To hasten his determination and fix his wavering mind, Lord

Hastings took the field on the 16th October, crossed the Jumna
on a bridge of boats, and marched directly upon Gwalior, while

General Donkin, with the left division, moved down at the same

time towards the same point. Sindia was confounded by the

rapidity of these movements, which not only cut him off at

once from all communication with the Peshwa and the Pinda-

rees, but also with the bulk of his own army then encamped
in his southern provinces, and left him isolated at Gwalior, with

not more than 8,000 troops. On the 5th November, the two
British divisions were within two marches of his capital,

when he signed the treaty, and thus saved his kingdom from

the fate which overtook the other Mahratta powers.
The Cholera, While Lord Hastings lay in the vicinity of

Gwalior, his camp was desolated by a visitation of

z 2
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the cholera. This disease had made its appearance at intervals

during the previous forty years in different parts of India, but

never with such alarming- violence as on the present occasion,

and the year 1817 is marked as the period when this myste-
rious scourge of the nineteenth century became permanently
established as an epidemic in India. It broke out in the first

instance in the district of Jessore, within fifty miles of Cal-

cutta, and depopulated entire villages. It baffled the skill both

of the European faculty and the native doctors, none of whom
were able to discover the. cause or the cure of the malady.
The superstitious natives resorted to the expedient of making
one more addition to the three hundred and thirty millions of

their deities, and established rites to propitiate the malevolent

goddess of the cholera. It gradually crept up the banks of

the river, and about the 13th November entered Lord Hastings'

camp, and for a time paralysed the army in mind as well as

body. It was calculated that the strength of the force, includ-

ing its camp followers, was diminished by deaths and deser-

tions to the extent of nearly twenty thousand. Lord Hastings
was apprehensive lest an exaggerated report of the prostra-

tion of the army might induce Sindia to violate the arrange-

ments he had so recently made, and he called his staff together,

and directed them, in case he should fall a victim to the

disease, to bury him in his tent under the table, and to conceal

his death till Sindia had fulfilled his engagements. Under

the advice of the medical officers, the position of the camp
was shifted to the banks of the Betwa, and the virulence of

the disease subsided.

Ameer Khan, Ameer Khan, at this conjuncture, was scarcely

a less important chief than Sindia. The little band

of freebooters with whom he begun his course, had grown up
into an army of fifty-two battalions of well-trained infant^,

and a powerful cavalry, and a hundred and fifty pieces of

cannon. It was as essential to the peace of India to break

up the Patan, as the Pindaree force. Lord Hastings did not

therefore hesitate to offer to guarantee to him the territories
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he held in jageer from Holkar, if he engaged to disband his

army and surrender his guns, for a valuation. A month was
allowed him for the acceptance of the proposed treaty, and

though he wavered at first, the defeat of Bajee Rao and of the

raja of Nagpore, and the extinction of their power, to which

we shall presently allude, convinced him that the star of the

Company was still in the ascendant, and he at once accepted
the alternative of the treaty, and became an independent

feudatory prince, with an income of fifteen lacs of rupees a-

year, a dignity to which a career of eleven years of violence

and crime gave him little claim.

The intimation given to Sindia of the nullifica-

th
tio11 of tliat clause of Sir George Barlow's treaty,

the native which barred all interference with the states of
princes, 1817-18. , r , i -r> c n j -^iMalwa and Kajpootana, was followed up with

vigour. The chiefs were informed that the neutral policy had

ceased to exist, and that the British Government was pre-

pared to admit them to alliances which would protect them

from the oppressions to which they had been subjected. The

intelligence diffused joy through the provinces, and the princes

became eager to embrace the offer. There was at least this

advantage connected with ilie reversal of Lord Wellesley's

policy by the Court, that the incalculable misery thereby in-

flicted on the country prepared the princes to appreciate the

restoration of it more highly than they might otherwise have

done. The chief management of this series of alliances was

entrusted to Mr. Metcalfe, and the residency at Delhi was

speedily crowded with the agents of nineteen princes of Central

India. The first to enter into the arrangement was the vene-

rable Zalim Sing, who had for half a century managed the

affairs of the Afghan principality of Kotah with extraordinary

ability. So great was the reputation of his virtues that in

that age of violence he became the general umpire in the

disputes of the surrounding princes, and their treasures were

deposited in his fort as in the safest of sanctuaries. He pro-

moted the operations against the Pindarees with great zeal,
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and was subsequently rewarded with the grant of four dis-

tricts taken from Holkar's possessions. The raja was an

imbecile cypher, unknown beyond the precincts of the palace,

and Lord Hastings offered to conclude the treaty with Zalim

Sing himself, but his own feeling of moderation, and a respect

for public opinion, which would have condemned this assump-
tion of royalty, induced him to decline the honour, and content

himself with the office of hereditary minister. Then came the

nabob of Bhopal, the virtuous and accomplished Nusser

Mahomed, who cheerfully accepted the alliance which his

father had rejected. The assistance he afforded in the Pin-

daree campaign, and the kindness of his ancestors to General

Goddard, were acknowledged by the grant of five valuable

districts taken from the Peshwa. Under the auspices of the

British Government his revenues, which had been reduced by

usurpation to little more than a lac of rupees a-year, were

improved to the extent of ten lacs. The raja of Boondee had

braved the threats of Holkar in 1805, and afforded succour to

General Monson. He had been ungenerously abandoned by
Sir George Barlow to the vengeance of that chief, and to the

spoliation of Sindia, but was now taken under British protec-

tion, and his devotion requited by an accession of territory,

and an entire exemption from the heavy tribute imposed on his

state by Holkar. No events connected with this great settle-

ment of Central India produced a more favourable impression
on the native mind than this grateful recognition of ancient

services in the hour of triumph. The raja of Joudhpore had

been brought to the brink of ruin by the Mahrattas and the

Patans, and he eagerly accepted the offer of an alliance which

relieved him from all further dread of their exactions. No

Kajpoot state had suffered so severely from rapine as Oody-

pore. To the rana who had lost the greater portion of his

territories, and whose revenues had been reduced to two lacs

of rupees a-year, the arrangement now proposed by Lord

Hastings, which cleared his country at once of the swarm of

plunderers which had fastened on it, was a godsend. It was-
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the proud boast of the house of Oodypore, with its claim of

unfathomable antiquity, that it had never given a daughter hi

marriage to the throne of Delhi, in the height of its grandeur,
and had never acknowledged the sovereignty of Mogul or

Mahratta, though repeatedly overwhelmed by both ; but the

sovereign now cheerfully submitted to the supremacy of the

foreigner, who, as he said,
" had come in ships from a country

before unknown." The last of the principal Rajpoot states to

accept the alliance was Jeypore, and it was not till the raja

saw every power prostrate before the British arms, and the

settlement of Central India on the eve of being completed with-

out including him, that he consented to come into the system.
Treaties were also concluded in succession with the secondary
and minor principalities, upon the same basis of " subordinate

co-operation and acknowledged supremacy," and of the

reference of all international disputes to the arbitration of

the Company. All these treaties, with the exception of two,
were negotiated and signed within the short period of four

months.

CHAPTER XXVIIL

THE PINDAREE AND MAHRATTA WAR MISCELLANEOUS

NOTICES, 18171822.

Outbreak of the THE head-quarters of
'

the three Pindaree chiefs
shwa, Ian. were centrically situated in the south of Malwa,

and it was towards this position that the left division of the

Bengal force and two divisions of the Deccan army began to

advance about the middle of October. This movement was

immediately followed by the explosion of the plot which the

Peshwa had been organising amongst the Mahratta powers
for the overthrow of the Company's power. He himself

broke out on the 5th November
; the raja of Nagpore on the

26th of that month, and Holkar on the 16th December. The
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Peshwa had left his capital immediately after signing the

Treaty of the 13th June, and proceeded first on a pilgrimage

to Punderpore, and then to the palace he had recently erected

at Maholy, seventy miles from Poona. There he was visited,

at his own request, by Sir John Malcolm who had been

appointed to the command of a division of the Madras army,
and was making the tour of the native courts as political

agent in the Deccan. The Peshwa, who affected to consider

him an ancient friend, complained with great animosity of the

humiliation the treaty had inflicted on him
; but he mani-

fested, notwithstanding, a feeling of so much cordiality

towards the British Government, and so great an anxiety to

assist in putting down the Pindarees that the kind and

credulous general was thrown off his guard, and encouraged
him to increase the strength and efficiency of his army.

Mr. Elphinstone, with a better knowledge of the duplicity of

the Peshwa, predicted a different destination for this force,

but was unwilling to check the generous sympathies of Sir

John. General Smith's division was, therefore, allowed to

quit Poona, and proceed to join the expedition against the

Pindarees, and the cautionary fortresses were restored.

Bajee Rao now redoubled his efforts to augment his army,
and advanced a crore of rupees from his private hoard to

Gokla, to whom he committed the entire management of his

political and military affairs. No pains were spared to con-

ciliate the southern jageerdars, whom hitherto the Peshwa
had always regarded with the strongest aversion, and they
were ordered to attend his stirrup at the earliest moment
with their full contingent of troops. His forts were repaired,

stored and garrisoned, and orders were issued to equip the

Mahratta fleet. Special envoys were sent to the Mahratta

princes to enlist them in the confederacy. A plan was laid

for the assassination of Mr. Elphinstone, whom he feared and

hated, but the noble-minded Gokla refused to lend himself to

so base a scheme, and it was dropped. Great exertions were

made, under the immediate direction of the Peshwa, to
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whose feelings such an effort was particularly congenial, to

seduce the sepoys from their loyalty, but though a large

number of them had been enlisted within his own provinces,

and their families were completely within his power, they
exhibited a noble example of fidelity to the Company, and

brought the sums which had been left with them by the

Bajee Rao's emissaries to their own officers. The Peshwa
returned to Poona at the beginning of October. At the last

interview with Mr. Elphinstone, he deplored the loss which

he had sustained of territory, revenue, and dignity, but

repeated the assurance that the troops he had assembled

were intended to co-operate against the Pindarees. Towards

the close of the month, however, his cavalry gave unequi-
vocal tokens of the hostile disposition of their master by

caracoling round the British encampment and insulting the

officers and men. Mr. Elphinstone, seeing a conflict inevit-

able, called up a European regiment from Bombay, and

thus imparted to his little native force that confidence which

the presence of European soldiers always inspires. The

camp was at the same time removed from Poona to a more

defensible position at Kirkee, about two miles distant, but

the whole British force did not exceed 3,000 while the

Mahratta army mustered 18,000 horse and 8,000 foot.

Battle of Kirkee, The preparations of the Peshwa were now
5tu xov., 1817. mat;ure? and, in the full assurance that Sindia and

Ameer Khan were already in the field, and that their example
would soon be followed by the raja of Berar and Holkar, he

precipitately plunged into hostilities on the 5th November

the very day on which Sindia signed the treaty which

detached him from the confederacy. Towards noon he sent

one of his ministers to Mr. Elphinstone to propound the

terms on which he would consent to continue on terms of

friendship with the British Government. They were suffi-

ciently arrogant, and were rejected, as a matter of course.

While his messenger was on his way back, the plain

was covered with masses of cavalry, and an endless
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stream of soldiers issued from every avenue of the city.

Mr. Elphinstone lost no time in joining the camp, but he

had no sooner quitted the Residency than the Mahrattas

rushed in and burnt it to the ground, together with all his

valuable papers. Considering the great disparity of force,

he believed it would be most judicious boldly to take the

offensive, and he advised Colonel Burr, the commander, to

assail the Mahrattas instead of awaiting their attack. The

superstitious minds of the Peshwa's soldiers had been

depressed by the accidental fracture of the staff of the

national standard as they were leaving the city ;
but their

confidence was destroyed by the fearless advance of the British

troops, who they had been assured would take to flight on

the first appearance of the Mahratta army. The Peshwa

proceeded to the neighbouring hill Parbutee, to observe the

conflict which he had not the courage to engage in, while

Gokla, in the true spirit of a soldier, rode about from rank to

rank animating the troops. He opened the engagement from

a battery of nine guns and enveloped the British force with

his cavalry. The infantry was left in the rear with the

exception of one battalion, raised and commanded by a

Portuguese officer, de Pinto, which boldly advanced against a

regiment of sepoys. It was repulsed, but pursued with such

ardour, that a gap was created between it and the rest of the

British line. Gokla seized the opportunity, and launched a

select body of 6,000 cavalry against the regiment while in a

state of confusion. The veteran Colonel Burr, though

labouring under a violent and incurable disease, took his post

by the colours of the corps, which he himself had formed and

led for many years, and aided by the nature of the ground
succeeded in breaking the force of the charge. The

Mahrattas were disconcerted, and began to retire, and on

being charged by the British troops completely deserted the

field, which was won with ease, with the loss of only eighty-

six killed and wounded. General Smith, on hearing of these

transactions, hastened back to Poona, which he reached on
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the 13th of the month. The Peshwa had received a large

accession of strength from the southern jageerdars who

brought up their troops with alacrity, but he declined another

engagement and, leaving his camp standing, fled southward

on the 17th, when the city of Poona surrendered to General

Smith ; and thus ingloriously fell the power of the Peehwa,
one hundred years after it had been established through the

concessions obtained from the Emperor of Delhi in 1717 by
his great grandfather, Ballajee Vishwunath.

Events at Nag- Appa Sahib, the regent of Nagpore, continued
pore 18161817.

^.Q maintain the most friendly relations with the

Resident for several months after the conclusion of the sub-

sidiary treaty in June, 1816. But on the 1st February, 1817,

the imbecile raja Persajee was found dead in his bed, and

subsequent inquiries established the fact that he had been

strangled by order of Appa Sahib, who immediately mounted

the throne and assumed the title of Mahdajee Bhonslay.

From that time there was a marked change in his conduct.

Having attained the supreme power in the state, he became

anxious to be relieved from that state of dependence in which

the alliance had placed him, and he entered cordially into the

views of the Peshwa to whom he gave the strongest assur-

ances of support. Early in September, an agent of the

Pindaree Cheetoo was presented at his durbar, and received

a dress of honour. An active correspondence was also carried

on with Poona, and troops were enlisted in large numbers.

The Resident demanded an explanation of these strange pro-

ceedings, but the raja continued to profess an inviolable

attachment to the Company, and on hearing of the attack

made on Mr. Elphinstone by Bajee Rao on the 5th November,

enveighed against such perfidy in very strong terms
; while,

at the same time, he was collecting his resources for a trea-

cherous assault on Mr. Jenkins. All his preparations ap-

peared to him to be complete, and on the evening of the 24th

November, he sent to inform the Resident that an agent had

arrived from the Peshwa to invest him with a dress of honour.
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and with the ancient title of senaputtee, or commander- in-

chief of the Mahratta empire, and that he intended to proceed

to his camp the next day to assume these honours. Mr. Jenkins

was impudently invited to be present on the occasion, but he

remonstrated on the danger of these proceedings, and cautioned

the raja against identifying himself with a prince who was

then in arms against the Company. Appa Sahib, however,

persisted in going to the camp, and assumed these decorations

with every demonstration of military pomp.
This ceremony was the signal for an attack on

Battle of J

seetabuidee, the Residency. It lay to the west of the city

from which it was separated by a small ridge

running north and south, with two hills at the extremity
called the Seetabuidee hills, a name which has become as

celebrated in the annals of British India, as ever Thermopylae
was in the annals of Greece. The raja's force amounted to

about 18,000 men, of whom 4,000 were Arabs, the bravest

soldiers in the Deccan, and at this time the sinews of the

Mahratta armies ; he had likewise thirty-six guns. The

force at the Residency consisted of two battalions of Madras

infantry, considerably weakened by disease ; two companies
of the Resident's escort, three troops of Bengal cavalry and

a detachment of Madras artillery, with four six-pounders.

Towards the evening the Nagpore guns were brought to bear

upon the British position, and a vigorous assault was made

on the lower hill, which, though slackened during the night,

was impetuously renewed in the morning, but repelled with

great gallantry. At length a tumbril exploded, and in the

confusion of the moment, the Arabs charged directly up the

hill and captured it, and immediately turned the gun they
found there, together with two of their own, on the larger

hill. Emboldened by this success, the enemy began to close

in upon the Residency in every direction, and to prepare for a

general assault. The Arabs likewise rushed into the huts of

the sepoys who became dispirited by the shrieks of their

women and children; the ammunition and supplies were
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running short
;
one-fourth, the little force, including- fourteen

officers, was either killed or wounded ; the latter were tended

throughout the engagement by the ladies. It was a most

appalling crisis, and there was every reason to conclude that

the impending assault would result in the entire annihilation of

the force, when the fortunes of the day were at once changed

by the gallantry of Captain Fitzgerald, who commanded the

Bengal cavalry. He had repeatedly entreated permission to

charge the enemy, but had been refused. Seeing the destruc-

tion of the whole force inevitable, he made a last attempt, and

with increased importunity, to be allowed to advance. " Tell

him," replied Colonel Scott, "to charge at his peril." "At
my peril be it," replied Fitzgerald, and rushed upon the main

body of the enemy's horse with irresistible fury, cut up the

infantry, and captured two guns. This noble exploit was
witnessed from the hill with ecstacy, and a spirit of the

highest enthusiasm was kindled in the breasts of the troops.

At this juncture one of the enemy's tumbrils exploded, the

Arabs were seen to be disorganised, and officers and men

plunged down the hill and chased the enemy before them like a

flock of sheep. By noon, the conflict which had lasted eigh-

teen hours terminated in the complete triumph of the British

arms. It was, perhaps, the severest trial to which native troops
had ever been exposed, and the result reflected the highest

honour on their courage and constancy. But there can be

little doubt that the great perils of the day might have been

avoided if Colonel Scott had followed the example of Colonel

Burr, and boldly charged the enemy at the outset. Lord

Hastings bestowed the highest encomium on all who were

engaged in this brilliant action, but it was not till the com-

mencement of Queen Victoria's reign, twenty years later,

that any mark of distinction was bestowed on the heroes of

Seetabuldee. The order of the Bath was conferred on the

survivors, Mr. Jenkins and Captain Lloyd. The 24th Madras

Infantry occupied the place of the 1st Eegiment which was

struck off the roll for its share in the Vellore mutiny. The
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sepoys now prayed that in lieu of any other recognition of

their services they might be permitted to resume the former

number and facings of the regiment, a request which was

most cordially acceded to.

Reinforcements poured into Nagpore from all
Deposition

r

of Appa saMb, quarters, and on the 15th December, Mr. Jenkins

was in a position to dictate terms to the raja.

He was required to dismiss his troops, to deliver up his guns,

to repair to the Residency and to admit that by this unprovoked
attack his kingdom was placed at the disposal of the British

Government. He was, however, given to understand that on

his acceptance of these terms, his throne would be restored

to him with no other reservation of territory than was suffi-

cient for the support of the subsidiary force. These condi-

tions were accepted, but on the morning of the 16th December

he sent to inform the Resident that his Arab troops would not

allow him to quit the camp. General Doveton, therefore,

moved up against it, when the raja, yielding to his fears,

mounted his horse and accompanied by two of his minister.?

and a few attendants rode into the Residency. A portion of

his guns, thirty-six in number, was likewise surrendered, but

the remainder were not obtained till after a severe engage-
ment which cost the British force a hundred and forty in

killed and wounded. After the Nagpore army was dispersed,

a body of about 5,000 Arabs and Hindostanees threw them-

selves into the fortified palace of the raja, and defended it

with great resolution for a week. It became necessary to

order up a battering train, but the Arabs, believing that they
had done enough to save their honour, evacuated the place
on the easy terms offered them. Lord Hastings had resolved

to punish the wanton attack on the Residency by the deposi-
tion of Appa Sahib, but was unwilling to weaken the authority

of the Resident by refusing his assent to the more lenient

arrangement he had made, and the raja resumed his dignities

on the 8th January, 1818. His incurable spirit of intrigue,

however, hurried him to his destruction. He incited the forest
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and mountain chiefs to resist the British troops : he impeded
the surrender of his forts, arid went so far as to invite the

Peshwa, while pursued by the British divisions, to move into

his territories, and prepared to join his standard. The timely

discovery of this clandestine correspondence defeated his

schemes. Lord Hastings ordered him to be sent to honourable

confinement at Allahabad, and Persajee, the next heir, to be

raised to the throne. Appa Sahib set forward on his journey
on the 2nd May, 1818, but on the way succeeded in corrupt-

ing
1 the fidelity of the guard, and made his escape from the

camp. After wandering about the country for several years

he proceeded to Joudhpore, but the raja refused to follow the

example of Jeypore in the case of Vizier Ali, and to sully

his character by violating the laws of Rajpoot hospitality,

and surrendering him to the demand of Government. Appa
Sahib subsequently obtained shelter at Lahore, and died a

pensioner on the bounty of Runjeet Sing.

Lord Hastings had made the offer of a treaty

eventein * Toolsee bye, and she sent a secret commu-
Hoikar's camp, nication to the Resident of Delhi proposing to

place the young prince and the Holkar state under

British protection. The administration was vested in her as

regent, but all real power was in the hands of the military

chiefs, Ramdeen, a Hindostanee brahmin, Roshun beg, who
commanded the cavalry, and more particularly, Guffoor Khan,
the head of the Patan faction. As soon as it became known
that the Peshwa had risen in arms, the various detached 'corps

of Holkar's army were recalled to head-quarters, and the re-

solution was unanimously adopted to march forward and sup-

port him. A large sum was distributed by his agent among
the troops, and a larger donation was promised when they
reached the Nerbudda. The army, consisting of 20,000 men,
and comprising a body of cavalry esteemed the finest in India,

marched from the cantonments at Rampoora towards the Dec-

can in a spirit of great enthusiasm. On approaching Mehidpore,

the commanders found that the British force under Sir Thomas
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Hislop and Sir John Malcolm, had advanced to Augur, fifteen

miles distant, in pursuit of the Pindaree Cheetoo, who had

joined their encampment. Sir John opened a correspondence

with the commanders, and offered them the very liberal terms

proposed by Lord Hastings ; but they felt that any connec-

tion with the Company would extinguish their power and im-

portance, and the troops dreaded the loss of all future pros-

pects of plunder. The chiefs merged all their differences in

the presence of a common danger, and in their anxiety to

maintain the independence and the honour of the Holkar state,

took an oath of mutual fidelity. The regency was suspected

of a leaning towards the British alliance ; Tantia Joge was,

therefore, placed under restraint; Gunput Rao was seized

amidst the execrations of the troops, and on the evening of

the 20th December, Toolsee bye was conducted to the banks of

the Sipree, and her beautiful head struck off, and her mangled
remains cast into the stream.

Battle of Sir Thomas Hislop moved up to Mahidpore on
Mehidpore, 1817. the 21st December, to bring on the issue of

a battle. Holkar's army was admirably posted on the op-

posite bank of the Sipree, its left flank defended by an angle
of that stream, its right resting on a deep morass, and its

front lined with a formidable battery of seventy guns. The

main feature of the engagement was the bold, if not rash,

device of crossing a difficult river by a single ferry in the face

of an enemy strongly entrenched, and then rushing forward

to seize his guns, which had rapidly silenced the light field

pieces of the British army. The sepoys were mowed down

by the enemy's artillery, but continued to advance with ex-

traordinary steadiness. Holkar's artillerymen stood to their

guns till they were bayonetted beside them. The batteries

were at length stormed
; the infantry fled

;
and the cavalry,

which, with all its vaunting before the action, had kept aloof

and given no assistance to the foot, galloped off the field when

the fortune of the day seemed to be adverse. The victory

was decisive, but it was not won without the sacrifice of 778
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in killed and wounded. The movements of the day were

directed by Sir John Malcolm, who had never commanded in

a general action, and was less notable as a general than as a

diplomatist. The same result might have been secured with

less slaughter by better strategy, if he had eschewed the

favourite but insane practice of hurling the men on the enemy's

batteries and endeavouring to carry them by cold steel. The

young Holkar, with the hereditary gallantry of his race, was

actively engaged throughout the battle, and shed tears as he

saw his troops retreating from the field. His sister Beema

bye, a young widow of twenty, manifested equal spirit

during this campaign, and rode at the head of 2,500 horse, on

a fine charger, with a sword by her side and a lance in her

hand, but was closely pursued, and seeing no chance of

escape, surrendered to the British officer, and was conducted

to her brother's court. Holkar's entire camp, with sixty-three

guns, and a large magazine of military stores, fell to the

victors, and the power of the state was irretrievably broken.

Tantia Joge was immediately released and sent to the British

camp with the most humble submissions. A treaty was soon

after concluded at Mundesur, by which cessions of territory

were made to the Company, to Zalim Sing, to Ameer Khan,
and to Guffoor Khan, both of whom acquired independence at

the expense of this kingdom, which was thus reduced to two-

thirds of its former dimensions, and entirely lost its indepen-

dence, after twenty-five years of anarchy.

It remains to narrate the operations against

against the the Pindarees, who were encamped during the

^?-
da

,

r
Q
ccs' rams f 1817 in three divisions, to the number of

lolZ-lo-

about 23,000 horse, under Cheetoo, Kureem Khan,
and Wassil Mahomed. They were not ignorant of the mea-

sures which were in progress to extirpate them, and they im-

plored the aid of the Mahratta powers, but, under the dread

inspired by Lord Hastings' preparations, none of them had the

courage to stand up in their defence, or even to grant them a

fortress of refuge for their families. As the British divisions

II. 2 A
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closed upon their haunts in Malwa, from the north and the

south, they were dispersed in every direction. Letters from

Sindia inviting Kureem Khan and Wassil Mahomed to Gwa-

lior, fell into the hands of Lord Hastings, and he immediately

marched his division to a position within thirty miles of

Sindia's camp, which effectually precluded all access to it by
the Pindarees. They were obliged, therefore, to fly westward,

but were intercepted by General Donkin, who captured Ku-

reem Khan's elephants, kettle-drums, and standards, as well as

his wife and family. The two chiefs burnt their tents, and,

abandoning their baggage, fled with about 4,000 of their best

horse to the south. The rest of their followers were cut up,

partly by the British troops and partly by the villagers, whom

they had exasperated by their former depredations. They
were not without hope of sharing the protection which

Jeswunt Rao Bhao had offered to the Pindarees, and par-

ticularly to Cheetoo at Jawud. He was one of Sindia's com-

mandants in charge of a third of his army, but had virtually

thrown off his allegiance, and despoiled the rana of Oodypore-

of many districts and forts, of which he gave no account to-

his master. He had the temerity to fire on the troops of

General Brown as he passed under the ramparts of Jawud,
and refused to surrender the Pindarees whom he harboured.

Lord Hastings,, without any reference to his connection with

Sindia, ordered him to be treated as a public enemy, and the

general attacked his camp and carried his fort by assault.

The two Pindaree chiefs, deprived of all hope from Jawud r

hastened down to the Nerbudda, but were so hotly pursued by
the detachments which tracked them, that they were unable

any longer to keep their men together. Their minds were

now reduced to such a state of depression as to welcome the

terms which Colonel Adams offered them through the media-

tion of the nabob of Bhopal. Kureem Khan was settled on a

small estate beyond the Ganges, in the district of Goruckpore.

Namdar Khan, his lieutenant, came in with no other stipula-

tion than that he should not be sent to Europe or to Calcutta.
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Wassil Mahomed was placed under supervision at Ghazeepore,
but being detected in an attempt to escape, put a period to

his existence by poison. Cheetoo, the most renowned of the

Pindaree leaders, was pursued by Sir John Malcolm with his

heavy guns, and easily managed to keep fifty miles a-head of

him. His bivouac was, however, beaten up by Colonel

Heath, on the night of the 25th January, after which he

wandered through Malwa for more than a twelvemonth with

about two hundred followers, but he was hunted out of all his

old familiar haunts, and, being driven at length by hunger to

separate from his son and his last companion, plunged into a

jungle infested with tigers. After a diligent search, his horse

was discovered grazing, saddled and bridled, and not far off

the mangled remains of this renowned freebooter, who had

recently ridden forth at the head of 20,000 men.

Besuit of the The political and military operations thus
ampaign, 1818.

j.jrougn^ fa a happy issue, were undertaken without

the Supreme Council, and in excess of the instructions received

from England, on the sole responsibility of Lord Hastings.

The success of the campaign was remarkable, not less for its

rapidity than for its completeness. In the middle of October,

1817, the Mahrattas, the Pindarees, and the Patans, presented

an array of more than 150,000 horse and foot, with 500 pieces

of cannon, prepared to offer a very strenuous resistance to the

designs of the Governor-General. By an admirable combina-

tion of movements, and extraordinary promptitude of action,

this formidable armament was scattered to the winds in the

brief space of four months. The power of Sindia was

paralysed ; the power of Holkar irretrievably broken
;

the

Patan armies of Ameer Khan and Guffoor Khan had ceased

to exist ; the raja of Nagpore was a captive in the English

camp ;
the Peshwa was a fugitive, and the Pindarees, who had

inspired terror] in the minds of Mr. Canning and the Direc-

tors, had disappeared. The campaign finally extinguished the

Mahratta empire, on which Lord Wellesley had struck the first

blow. It broke up every military organisation within the

2 A 2
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Sutlege, with the exception of that of Sindia. It subdued not

only the native armies, but the native mind, and taught the

princes and people of India to regard the supreme command

in India as indisputably transferred to a foreign power. It

placed the Company on the Mogul throne with a more abso-

lute authority than Akbar or Aurungzebe had ever enjoyed.

The great revolution which was thus consummated, just sixty

years after it began at the battle of Plassy, was effected, not

only without the concurrence but in opposition to the constant

injunctions of the East India Company, and the Board of

Control. Every fresh addition of influence or territory was

reprobated by them as the offspring of a spirit of encroach-

ment and ambition, and fresh injunctions of moderation were

poured on the local Government. But, from the first appear-

ance of the Company as a military and political power in

India, it became the constant aim of its princes to expel the

intruder, and one confederacy after another was formed to

accomplish this object. The general progress of our Indian

empire was thus epitomized by Lord Hastings :
" We have

been wantonly assailed we have conquered the unprovoked

enemy we have retained the possessions wrested from him,

not only as a legitimate compensation for the peril and expense
forced on us, but also on considerations of self-defence." The

last and most extensive confederacy was swept away by Lord

Hastings himself. India was prostrate before the power of

Britain, and the drama of society under native sovereignty
was closed.

Remarks on
their independence, and

these events, with it all that feeling of dignity, which was
sometimes the parent of royal virtues, the change

was doubtless a great calamity, but to the community at large
it was an unequivocal blessing. For twelve years the whole

of Central India had been left to the uncontrolled dominion of

native princes, and the universal wretchedness and wild

anarchy which ensued showed how utterly unfit they were,

under the existing circumstances of the country, to maintain
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peace, order, or security. The extension of British authority

was, therefore, a matter of necessity, and although a foreign rule

was more galling to the national pride than even the excesses

of a native prince, it brought the most substantial advantages
to the country. A solid tranquillity was substituted for general

violence, under the guarantee of a power both able and willing

to restrain the passions of princes and states. A feeling of

universal security was diffused through the country, and the

people were led to seek wealth and distinction, not through
wars and convulsion, but by cultivating the arts of peace.

The settlement of India by Lord Hastings in 1818 was, more-

over, erected on so sound and stable a basis that, after the

lapse of half a century, it is found to have required fewer

renovations than so great a political edifice might be expected
to need. Having thus extinguished all opposition, and con-

solidated the rule of the Company, Lord Hastings proclaimed

the universal sovereignty of Great Britain throughout the con-

tinent of India. The fortunes of the surrounding countries

have always been affected more or less by the revolutions of

India, and the establishment of a British empire in this central

position could not fail to tell upon the Mahomedan principalities

on the west, and the various Boodhist kingdoms on the east.

It was, in fact, the establishment of European supremacy in

Asia, and, considering how effete these Asiatic monarchies have

been growing, while the power, the resources, and the con-

fidence of the European family have been constantly on the

increase, this supremacy becomes progressively firmer and

more permanent, and none of the revolts which may be ex-

pected from time to time, will be of any avail to subvert

it. Strange to say, this stupendous revolution in the destinies

of Asia has been accomplished by the audacity of the servants

of a peaceful and unambitious company of merchants in London.

Battle of Kory- To bring the narrative of this war to a close, it

gaum, 1818.
only remains to notice the pursuit and surrender of

the Peshwa, and the capture of the Mahratta forts. Bajee
Rao began his retreat southward on the 28th November, 1817,
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and on his route caused the raja of Satara and his family to be

brought from the old capital into his camp. Finding that he

was closely pursued by General Smith, he turned northward

and marched up the Beema to Joonere, sixty miles north of

Poona, and then doubled down to the south, giving out that he

intended to attack Poona. Colonel Burr, the commandant,

therefore, deemed it advisable to call down to his support the

detachment left at Seroor, under Captain Stanton, consisting

of one battalion of infantry, three hundred irregular horse, and

two six-pounders, manned by twenty-four European artillery-

men. He commenced his march at eight in the evening, and

at ten the next morning reached the high ground on the

Beema, near the village of Korygaum, about sixteen miles

from Poona, which was found to have no other defence than

a dilapidated mud wall. To his surprise he perceived the

whole of the Peshwa's army, 25,000 strong, encamped on

the opposite bank of the river. The Mahratta troops were

immediately sent across against this handful of soldiers, jaded
with a fatiguing march through the night, and destitute of

either provisions or water. The contest which ensued was

one of the most arduous and brilliant in the history of British

India. The Peshwa sat on a rising ground watching the

attack, which was directed by Gokla and Trimbukjee. Every
inch of ground in the village was disputed with desperate

valour, and the streets were repeatedly taken and retaken.

The sepoys were sinking from exhaustion, and frantic with

thirst, but Captain Stanton refused to surrender on any terms.

At length the officer commanding the artillery fell, and in the

momentary confusion which ensued, the Peshwa's Arabs

rushed forward and captured one of the guns, but Lieutenant

Pattinson, the adjutant of the battalion, though lying on the

ground mortally wounded, raised himself up, and led on the

grenadiers, till a second ball prostrated him. Animated by his

example, the sepoys repulsed the Arabs, and regained the gun.

Throughout the day officers and men exhibited a spirit of

inflexible resolution, and kept the whole Mahratta force at
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bay. If the contest had been renewed the next morning, it must

have proved fatal to this little band of heroes, but happily the

Peshwa heard of the approach of his enemy, General Smith,

who had never relaxed the pursuit of him, and he retreated in

haste southward, which enabled Captain Stanton to fall back

on Seroor. The distinguishing character of this action, which

rivalled that of Seetabuldee, was the extraordinary fortitude

displayed by the sepoys when they were without any European

support, save the twenty-four artillerymen, of whom twenty
were killed and wounded. Of eight officers engaged, three

were wounded, and two killed, and the total loss amounted to

a hundred and eighty-seven ; but Captain Stanton was only a

Compan3
T
's officer ; his services were performed in India, and

they received no recognition whatever from his country. The

Peshwa, on leaving Korygaum, fled towards the Carnatic,

but his progress was arrested by General, afterwards Sir

Thomas, Munro, who had been appointed to the superintend-

ence of the southern districts. His force was small and

inadequate to its duties, but every deficiency was supplied by
Ms talent and energy, which made him the complete master of

whatever position he occupied. He organised a body of local

horse to whom he entrusted the protection of the districts,

while he himself advanced northward with his regular troops,

arrested the progress of the Peshwa, and captured the strong

fortresses of Badamee, Belgaum, and Solapore. The profes-

sional resources, vigour, and strategy which he exhibited in

this short campaign served to augment in no ordinary degree
the reno\vn he had already acquired by his civil adminis-

tration.

On the 10th February, General Smith took pos-Bestoration of ' r
the Satara session of Satara, the capital of Sevajee, and

hoisted the ancient standard upon its ramparts.

Experience had proved that no engagement, however solemn,

would prevent a Peshwa from claiming the allegiance of the

other Mahratta powers, or restrain them from acknowledging
It. The treaty of Bassein in 1803 bound the Peshwa " neither



350 BATTLE OP ASHTEE. [CHAP.

to commence nor to pursue any negotiations with any other

power whatever, without giving previous notice, and entering

into mutual consultation with the East India Company's
Government ;" but this did not impair his influence over the

other chiefs, or prevent his combining them in a confederacy

against the Company. By the treaty of the 5th June, 1817,

he renounced all claim as the executive head of the Mahratta

empire, to their fealty, and all their vakeels were dismissed

from his court ; but within a few weeks he organised another

conspiracy, and brought the forces of Holkar and the raja of

Nagpore into the field against the Company. Lord Hastings

determined, therefore, that there should no longer be a Peshwa,

and, in accordance with the example set by Lord Wellesley in

the case of Mysore, he made over a portion of the Mahratta

dominions to the family of Sevajee. A manifesto was

issued, on hoisting the old Mahratta standard, in which

Mr. Elphinstone, after dwelling on the misconduct of the

Peshwa, announced that he and his family were for ever

excluded from the public affairs of the Deccan. A small por-

tion of his territories, yielding fifteen lacs of rupees a-year,

was erected into a principality for the raja of Satara, and the

rest incorporated with the Company's dominions. General

Battle of
Smith then resumed the wearisome pursuit of the

Ashtee, IBIS. Peshwa, and on the morning of the 19th February
had the satisfaction of hearing his kettle-drums beating for

the march at the village of Ashtee, on the opposite side of a

hill which separated them, and immediately prepared for the

attack. Bajee Rao sharply upbraided Gokla for this surprise,

and quitting his palankeen, mounted a horse and fled, leaving
his general to cover his retreat. Gokla, stung with the unjust

reproach of his dastardly master, determined not to survive

the day, and placing himself at the head of three hundred

horse, rushed on the sabres of the British cavalry. He received

three pistol shots and three sabre cuts, and covering himself

gracefully with his shawl, expired on the field of honour. He
was the last, and one of the noblest, of the great Mahratta-
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commanders. He had fought bravely by the side of General

Wellesley in 1803, and had received many tokens of distinction

from the British Government, but he sighed for the independ-
ence of his country, and on being appointed minister by the

Peshwa, manifested an inveterate hostility to the subsidiary

alliance. He was usually called " the sword of the empire,"
and his death hastened the destruction of his master, in whose

camp there ceased to be any order or confidence. The raja of

Satara was rescued at the battle of Ashtee, and conducted to

the palace of his ancestors, and installed on the throne of

Sevajee, amidst the acclamations of the Mahrattas.

.
,

The discomfiture of the Peshwa's army at
Surrender of J

Bajee Eao, Ashtee satisfied many of the Mahratta chiefs of

the hopelessness of his cause, and his army was

daily dwindling away by desertions. But the raja of Nagpore,

notwithstanding his engagements with the Resident, deter-

mined to make common cause with him, and Bajee Rao
advanced to Chanda, expecting to be joined by him there, but

the clandestine correspondence was discovered in time, and the

design was frustrated. It would be tedious to detail the move-

ments of the Peshwa after this, to the north, to the south, and

to the east ; they were regulated by the sole object of evading
his pursuers, from whom, however, he seldom obtained more

than a brief and accidental respite. Hunted out of the Deccan,
he made a final move to the north, crossed the Taptee on the

5th May, and advanced to the Nerbudda, in the hope of

reaching Hindostan, and benefiting from the power, or the

mediation, of Sindia. But all the fords were guarded ; the

British armies were closing on him, and, seeing no chance of

escape, he sent an agent on the 16th May to Sir John

Malcolm at Mhow, with a letter, in which he appealed to the

generosity of the British Government, arid lavished his flat-

teries on "his oldest and best friend." Sir John was so

greatly moved by this appeal that he deputed two of his

assistants to the Mahratta camp to open a negotiation with

the Peshwa. Lord Hastings condemned this imprudent step,
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because it fostered the impression that he was hi a condition

to treat, whereas, according to his own confession, his fortunes

were desperate, and his first encounter with any British division

must have annihilated his force. Sir John even went so far as

to admit the Peshwa to a personal conference, in which the

wily Mahratta brought all his eloquence and blandishments

into full play. The British General's sympathy with fallen

greatness overcame his political prudence, and he made con-

cessions far beyond the necessity of the case. He promised

him a personal allowance of eight lacs of rupees a-year, as

well as a provision for the jageerdars in his camp, and gave a

most improvident guarantee of the vast endowments of temples

and brahmins, on which this superstitious prince had for

fourteen years squandered the resources of the state, and which

a native successor would at once have resumed. Lord Hastings,

who had destined the Peshwa an allowance of two lacs of

rupees a-year, was mortified at the prodigality of these terms,

and in his letter tojthe Court of Directors justly observed " that

in the hopeless circumstances in which the Peshwa was placed

any terms granted to him were purely gratuitous, and only
referrible to that humanity which it was felt your honourable

Court would be desirous should be granted to an exhausted

foe." The policy of Sir John's arrangements with the Peshwa
has been the subject of much discussion, and some censure,

but it is due to his memory to state that it received the appro-
bation of Sir David Ochterlony^ Sir Thomas Munro, Mr. El-

phinstone, and Mr. Jenkins. They considered that the

Peshwa might have indefinitely prolonged the contest if he had

thrown himself, with the body of eight thousand men who
still adhered to his fortunes, into Asseergur, the commandant
of which had received the most positive injunctions from

Sindia to succour him, and that his surrender, which at once

terminated the war, was cheaply purchased even by this large

annuity. He was conducted to Bithoor, a place of religious

sanctity, sixteen miles from Cawnpore, and lived long enough
to receive an amount of two crores and fifty lacs of rupees,
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the major part of which he bequeathed to his adopted son,

Nana Sahib, who, finding the British Government unwilling- to

continue the pension, became the great demon of the mutiny
of 1857. The Peshwa's brother, Umrit Rao, had received a

pension of seven lacs of rupees a-year from Lord Wellesley,
under circumstances altogether exceptional, and removed to

Benares where he enjoyed the allowance for twenty-one

years. It is worthy of remark that the sum total received by
the two brothers amounted to more than four crores of rupees,

and it may fairly be questioned whether any instance of

similar fidelity to engagements is to be found in the native

history of India.

Capture of The country which had been the scene of war-
forts, IBIS. fare wag studded with forts, which continued to

hold out after the submission of the princes. Many of them
were of great strength, in positions almost impregnable, and

would have baffled all the engineering skill of native generals,

but they were reduced in a few months. The circumstances

connected with the capture of two of them deserve individual

record. The forts were garrisoned in many cases by Arab

mercenaries. While the native armies in Hindostan had been

supplied for several centuries by a constant stream of Afghans,
the armies of the native princes in the Deccan were constantly
recruited from Arabia and Abyssinia, through the various ports

on the Malabar coast. In both cases the recruits equally ex-

changed a condition of poverty for prospects of wealth and dis-

tinction. The Arabs were held in high estimation by the princes
for their resolution, courage, and fidelity, and received double

the pay of Hindostanee sepoys. They served also as a coun-

terpoise to the native soldiery, and assisted to check that

spirit of mutiny which is indigenous in all Indian armies. The
fort of Talneir was garrisoned by Arabs. The commandant
was a member of a very distinguished Mahratta family, and

not only gave up the fort, but surrendered himself to the

General. The Arabs continued to hold the citadel, and a parley
was held with them by the English officers, but as they were
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mutually ignorant of each other's language, a misunderstand-

ing arose which led to fatal consequences. The wicket was

opened, and two officers of high rank entered, but the Arabs,

who did not understand the movement, assailed them, and

they lost their lives. The British troops without, exasperated

at what they considered an act of treachery, rushed in and

put the garrison, three hundred in number, to the sword, and

the next morning Sir Thomas Hislop hung the unoffending

commandant. The execution doubtless struck terror into the

minds of the natives, and facilitated the surrender of other

forts, but it was an act of unrighteous severity, and roused a

feeling of just indignation in England. It was unworthy the

British character, and has always been considered to tarnish

the laurels of the General. The capture of Maligaum, on

the other hand, exhibited an example of scrupulous good faith

which served to elevate the British name. It was the chief

fortress of the unfortunate province of Candesh, once filled

with thriving towns and a flourishing population, but reduced

to unexampled wretchedness by Holkar's rapacious soldiery,

and the exactions of Bajee Rao's officers and his Arabs.

The only terms offered in every case to these mercenary

troops were the payment of their arrears and a free passage
back to their native land ; but they had little disposition to

relinquish the enjoyments of India for the barren wastes of

Arabia. They concentrated their strength at Maligaum,
which they defended with the obstinacy of despair. After

three weeks had been lost before it, a sufficiently powerful

battery train was brought up ; the chief magazine exploded ;

and the Arabs, seeing their position hopeless, made an offer

to capitulate, but with the example of Talneir before them,

required a written assurance of safety. The Mahratta moon-

shee, who drew up the document, exceeded his orders, and

stipulated to do whatever might be beneficial to their interests,

to pay all their arrears, and to conduct them to any destina-

tion they might select. The General, on discovering the mis-

take, was anxious to limit the execution of the promise to his
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own instructions, but Mi*. Elphinstone determined to give the

most generous interpretation to the engagement, and treated

them with exemplary kindness. At length, the only fort re-

maining to be occupied was Asseergur. Sindia had furnished

Lord Hastings with an order on the commandant to surrender

it, but sent him private instructions to retain it and to afford

every assistance to the Mahratta cause. He therefore har-

boured the raja of Nagpore, took charge of Bajee Rao's

most valuable property, and offered him an asylum. He dis-

tinctly refused to surrender the fort, and it became necessary

to invest it. The eyes of India were fixed on the siege as

the expiring struggle of the Mahratta empire. A battery of

thirty-four mortars and howitzers, and twenty-eight heavy

guns, played on it incessantly for a fortnight with little hope
of success ; but the powder in the fort was at length reduced to

three maunds, or two hundred weight, and the commandant

felt himself obliged to capitulate. When he was told that

his master would be not a little displeased by the neglect of

his orders, he produced a letter from Sindia, ordering him to

hold the fort, and give every assistance to Bajee Rao, with

the significant remark,
" Should you not do so I shall be

perjured." The only retribution inflicted on Sindia for this

act of treachery was the retention of the fort. This was the

last shot fired in the war, though it had virtually terminated

within four months of its commencement.

Mr. Canning moved the usual vote of thanks

the Home
gS

to Lord Hastings and the army in the House of
8
' Commons, in April, 1819, in a speech which

doubled the value of this national recognition of

their services ; but he did not attempt to conceal his objec-

tions to the policy of Lord Hastings. He stated that the

House and the country were in the habit of appreciating the

triumphs of our armies in India with great jealousy ; that,

almost uniformly successful as our military operations had

been in that part of the world, they had almost as uniformly

been considered questionable in point of justice; that the
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termination of a war in India, however glorious, was seldom

contemplated with unmixed satisfaction, and that the increase

of our territories was ascribed, by sober reflection and im-

partial philosophy, to a spirit of systematic encroachment and

ambition. These considerations, he said, were not neces-

sarily applicable to the Pindaree and Mahratta war
; but the

House was to understand that the vote was intended merely
as a tribute to the military conduct of the campaign, and not

in anywise as a sanction of the policy of the war. The

Court of Directors, while "
duly appreciating the foresight,

promptitude, and vigour with which Lord Hastings had dis-

persed the gathering elements of a hostile conspiracy," re-

corded their deep regret that any circumstance should have

led to an extension of territory. Their official communications

still more decidedly indicated their hostility to the Governor-

General and his policy. The despatch written on receiving

information of the brilliant success of the campaign was
loaded with petulant and frivolous animadversions, and " not

mitigated by the slightest indication of satisfaction at the

fortunate issue of the military exertions." They censured

him for having disobeyed their orders regarding the reduction

of the army, though they had incontestible evidence that,

under existing circumstances, a compliance with these orders

would have been fatal to the interests of the empire. In

anticipation of the great struggle with the Mahratta power,
Lord Hastings had remodelled the Quartermaster-general's

department, in order to increase its efficiency. The Court

reprobated this measure because it had not previously received

their sanction. At the same time, they pressed on him the

appointment of one of their own nominees to the post of

Quartermaster-general, whereas Parliament had placed the

nomination to offices exclusively in the hands of the local

authorities, leaving with the Court of Directors the gift of

appointments to the service. A Government like that of

India, which is obliged to do almost everything itself, cannot

hope for success except by employing the ablest men in the
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service. Hence, the most responsible offices in India are

given, as a rule, to merit, and only exceptionally by favour.

The interference of the India House in these appointments

always proceeded on the opposite principle ; and, in the pre-

sent instance, Lord Hastings affirmed that it would " have

been difficult to find in the whole army a field officer more

signally unfit for the post."

The tranquillization and settlement of India
Encouragement

l

of education, would have been a sufficient distinction for any

administration, but Lord Hastings established

still higher claims to public gratitude. He was the first

Governor-General to encourage the moral and intellectual

improvement of the natives. The India House had hitherto

assumed that any attempt to enlighten the people would create

political aspirations, which must endanger the power of the

Company, and might lead to its subversion. This illiberal

sentiment was not confined to Leadenhall-street ; it was the

feeling of the age. In 1811 Sir John Anstruther, who had

for many years enjoyed the dignity of chief justice in Calcutta,,

and obtained a seat in Parliament on his return, when the

question of native education was incidentally introduced in

it, inquired, with a feeling of surprise,
" whether it was really

intended to illuminate the people of India, and whether it was

exactly desirable to do so." The same views were prevalent

in India, and no effort had been made, or even contemplated,
to impart to the natives that knowledge to which Europe
owed its distinction. Lord Hastings utterly repudiated this

policy, and embraced the earliest opportunity after the Nepal
war of proclaiming that " this Government never will be

influenced by the erroneous position that to spread informa-

tion among men is to render them less tractable and less

submissive to authority. ... It would be treason against
British sentiment to imagine that it ever could be the principle

of this Government to perpetuate ignorance in order to secure

paltry and dishonest advantages over the blindness of the

multitude." The instruction of the people, which had hitherto
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been avoided, as an element of danger, was thus, for the first

time, recognised as a sacred duty, and a powerful impulse was

given to the cause of education. Lady Hastings established

a school in Barrackpore Park, and compiled treatises for the

use of the scholars. Numerous vernacular schools were

opened in the neighbourhood of Calcutta by Mr. May, the

missionary, and by Dr. Carey and his colleagues, which re-

ceived liberal encouragement from the Government and the

public. Early in 1816 some of the most wealthy and influen-

tial native gentlemen in Calcutta formed an association for

the establishment of a college to impart a liberal education to

their children and relatives, by the cultivation of the English

language and European science, and Lord Hastings accepted

the office of patron. Emboldened by the liberal policy which

was now in the ascendant, the Serampore Missionaries, on the

31st May, 1818, issued the first newspaper ever printed in a

native language in India. It was styled the " Sumachar

Durpun," or mirror of news, and Dwarkenath Tagore, a name

respected equally in England and in India, was the first to

patronise it. This attempt to rouse the native mind from the

torpidity of centuries by the stimulus of a public journal

created great alarm among the leading men in the Govern-

ment, but Lord Hastings determined to encourage the under-

taking by allowing the numbers to be circulated through the

country at one-fourth the ordinary rate of postage. He
manifested the same spirit of liberality towards the English

press, and notwithstanding the strenuous opposition of the

members of his Council, removed the censorship which

Lord Wellesley had imposed upon it seventeen years before,

amidst the anxieties of war. In deference, however, to the

despotic feeling which pervaded the governing class of Cal-

cutta, he laid severe restrictions on the editors regarding the

subjects or personages they were allowed to touch, any infrac-

tion of which was to be visited by an indictment in the

Supreme Court, or by the penalty of deportation. But the

Supreme Court, on the occasion of the first application, re-
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fused to grant a criminal information, and Lord Hastings was

unwilling to inflict the odium of banishing an editor on his

administration. The restrictions, therefore, fell into abeyance,
and the press became practically free. In replying to an

address from Madras, Lord Hastings embraced the oppor-

tunity of vindicating his policy by stating that he was " in

the habit of regarding the freedom of publication as the

natural right of his fellow-subjects, to be narrowed only by

special and urgent cause assigned." ..." Further," he

said,
"

it is salutary for supreme authority, even when it^

intentions are most pure, to look to the control of public

opinion." The announcement of this heterodox doctrine gave

great offence at the India House, and a despatch was imme-

diately drafted reprobating the abolition of the censorship, and

directing it to be re-imposed. But Mr. Canning treated the

proposal with silent contempt, and it has been said that the

draft was never returned to the Directors,

settlement of The final adjustment of the land revenue at

LnSs
nUe Madras belongs to this period. The great advo-

1818. cate of the ryotwary system, General Muuro,

visited England in 1818, when he was invested with the ribbon

of the Bath, and it was doubtless under the influence of his

counsel that the Court of Directors issued orders to establish

it generally throughout the Presidency. An annual settle-

ment was accordingly completed, in 1820, for each field and

with each renter. The more grievous evils of the system, as

described in a previous chapter, were corrected, and, instead

of justice being subordinate to revenue, revenue was made

secondary to justice. The outrageous practice of forcing

lands on the ryot against his interest, and holding him re-

sponsible for the rent, whether he cultivated them or not, and

of subjecting him to corporal punishment, and sometimes to tor-

ture, when he was unable to make it good, was abrogated.

Sir Thomas was anxious also to abolish altogether the absurd

rule of consigning the defaulting ryot to gaol, where he

lingered for years, without any benefit to the revenue, and

II. 2 B
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often died
;
but he could only prevail on the Kevenue Board

to mitigate it. It was the special order of the Court of

Directors that the rent should be fixed on so moderate a scale

as to afford encouragement to agricultural industry, but the

peculiar circumstances of the Madras Presidency were un-

favourable to such lenity. In Bengal the Company came at

once into possession of rich and fertile provinces, yielding a

revenue beyond the wants of the state, and could afford to

indulge the luxury of moderation in assessing the zemindars.

The Madras Presidency grew up gradually amidst struggles

and embarrassments, and was never able to meet its expenses
without drawing on Bengal. Hence it was obliged to scruti-

nise the sources of revenue with great rigour, and to put

a heavy pressure on those who contributed it. The land was

found to have been over-assessed under the native princes,

but the exigencies of the British Government precluded much

relaxation. The litigation introduced by the Supreme Court,

which picked the suitors to the bone, speedily dispersed the

old accumulations of wealth, and the whole Presidency pre-

sented an aspect of pauperism and wretchedness. The ryot-

wary system perpetuated this state of things; however

plausible and even benevolent in theory, it has practically

failed to promote either the welfare of the ryot or the pros-

perity of the state, and while under the zemindary and

permanent settlement of Bengal, the area of cultivation has

been rapidly extended, that of Madras has been always

stationary. The number of renters paying revenue direct to

Government in 1823 was under a million; it stands now con-

siderably above two millions ; there can, therefore, be no

application of capital to the improvement of the soil, and the

Presidency remains in a state of stagnant inferiority.

This question of the tenure of land has been in
Fraudulent , ,

sales of land in almost every province and at all periods the stum-

bling-stone of British rule in India. The same

fatality as elsewhere, attended the settlement

of the ceded and conquered provinces obtained from Sindia and
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the Nabob of Oude at the begining of the century. A folio

volume of a thousand pages of civil, criminal, and fiscal

regulations was immediately inflicted on them, with the

most benevolent intentions but the most disastrous result.

The astute natives of Bengal did not fail to follow the

collector into those provinces. They monopolised every post

of power and influence, and by their superior acquaintance
with the mysteries of the new system of civil and fiscal law,

were enabled to turn the inexperience of the Hindostanees

to their own benefit. The zemindars who were now, for the

first time, obliged to pay their rents with rigid punctuality,

fell into arrears, and were ousted from their lands. The

Bengalee officials devised manifold expedients, and often

resorted to fraud, to embarrass and confound the simple land-

holder and bring his estate to the hammer, when it was

bought, at first, in some fictitious name, and eventually trans-

ferred to the real purchaser. Many of the zemindars, more-

over, had been arbitrarily entered as mere farmers in the first

rent-roll, which was prepared in haste, and when it came to

be subsequently revised found themselves deprived of their

estates through the chicanery of the Bengalee officers, who
contrived to secure the proprietorship of the lands to their

creatures and eventually to themselves. This system of

plunder was systematically carried on for many years, and

inflicted greater misery on the landed proprietors than the

occasional whirlwind of Mahratta desolation. The ease with

which the natives of Bengal had acquired possession of

property, in one case, of ninety villages, and in another, of

even a whole pergunna, attracted others to the quarry, and

the raja of Benares, and a wealthy banker of that city obtained

property yielding eight lacs of rupees a-year. The estates

of the country were gradually passing out of the hands of

the ancient aristocracy who had survived many political revo-

lutions, but were completely prostrated by this process of

legal jugglery which was reducing them to the condition of

paupers.
"
Yours," said a high spirited Rajpoot,

"
is a strange

2 r. 2
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rule ; you flog a man for stealing a brass ewer, while you
reward him for stealing a whole pergnnna." Mr. Campbell
Robertson had endeavoured to protect the rights of the

oppressed zemindars, but he was defeated by the stolid judges
of the Court of Appeal, and he boldly determined to bring

the subject to the notice of the Supreme Government. Lord

Plastiugs and the Council listened to his representations,

and a regulation was passed the preamble of which frankly

acknowledged the injustice, and a special commission was

appointed to enquire into the transfers of property which

had been made during the prevkms eight years. Some few

of the more egregious acts of iniquity were redressed, but

iu the majority of cases there was no relief.

In the province of Cuttack, which was ceded
Disturbances

in Cuttack, by the raja of Nagpore in 1803, the same cause

led to an open insurrection. The natives of

Orissa are proverbial for mental dulness, and the province
has always been considered the Boeotia of India. During the

native dvnasties, the chief offices of the state were generally

occupied by natives from Telingana in the south, or Bengal
in the north. - On the acquisition of the province by the

Company a swarm of Bengalee baboos flocked into it,

obtained possession of nearly every post of influence or

profit, and took an unfair advantage of the simplicity of the

x people, and their ignorance of our institutions. The assess-

ment of the lands, made at random, was thirty per cent,

above that of the Mahrattas. It was rigidly enforced, and,

combined with the improvidence of the zemindars, brought
half the estates in the province to the hammer in a dozen years,

when they were bought up by the Bengalee officials, often

at a nominal value. The raja of Khporda, the descendant of

an ancient dynasty, who enjoyed the hereditary privilege of

sweeping the temple of Jugunnath, had paid the Mahrattas,

when they were able to squeeze anything out of him. about

15,000 rupees a-year. He was assessed by the collector at

eight times the sum, and dispossessed of his patrimonial
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estates for default. To add to the wretchedness of the

inhabitants, the Company's salt monopoly was introduced and

the cost of that necessary of life was raised six-fold to the

peasant, in a province where the sea furnished it spon-

taneously. Under this accumulation of misery the people sold

all they possessed, and then their wives and children, and

eventually took to the jungle. The country being thus ripe

for revolt, one Jugbuudoo, the hereditary commander of the

old Hindoo rajas, who had been dispossessed of his property,

raised the standard of rebellion to which 3,000 of the dis-

affected immediately flocked. He plundered and burnt the

civil station of Khoorda and repulsed two detachments of

sepoys which were sent against him. This success served

to increase his force, and he proceeded to take possession of

the town of Jugunnath ; the fort, buildings, and bungalows
were set on fire, and the collector retreated with the treasure

to Cuttack. No injury was inflicted on any but the tyrannical

and odious native functionaries. But the triumph of the

insurgents was short
; reinforcements poured into the province

and dispersed them. The people were assured that their

grievances would be redressed if they were peaceably

represented, and they at once submitted to the authority of

Government. A special commissioner was appointed to the

charge of the province ; some who had been taken in arms

were executed ; the most notorious of the oppressive officials

were punished, and the assessment was reduced forty per

cent. The province has since enjoyed the services of a

succession of able Bengal civilians, Wilkinson, Sterling,

Packenham, and others, and its tranquillity has never been

disturbed. Another proof has thus been afforded of the fact

that with a mild assessment, congenial institutions, and an

equitable administration, there is perhaps no country more

easy to govern than India, even under foreigners.

In reviewing the pecuniary results of Lord
Financial and

.

" J
/

territorial Hastings' administration, it is pleasing to observe
ase, 1822. ^^ notwithstanding the expensive war which
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lasted eighteen months in the mountains of Nepal, and the

assembly of eight armies in the field during the Mahratta and

Pindaree campaign, the finances of the Company were at no

former period in so flourishing a condition as at the close of

his administration. The Government bonds which at his

arrival were at twelve per cent, discount, were at a premium
of fourteen per cent, at his departure. The debt had indeed

increased by four crores and a half during his administration ;

on the other hand, the cash balances in the various

treasuries exceeded the sum in hand when he landed by five

crores of rupees, but on grounds which every real Indian

statesman will admit, he forebore to reduce those balances for

the mere ostentation of paying off debt. The increase of

annual receipts was equivalent to six crores of rupees, with-

out the imposition of a single new tax ; and the increase of

expenditure about four crores, leaving a clear surplus revenue

of two crores of rupees a-year; the year 1822 may, there-

fore, be considered as the brightest period of the finances of

the Indian empire, when they exhibited such prosperity as

they had never reached before, and have never reached since.

If the military operations of this period resulted in an

increase of territory, it will not be deemed matter of surprise

or regret. Lord Hastings commenced the Pindaree war with

the confident hope that the pacification of India would be

accomplished without any defalcation from any native state,

and without adding a rood to the Company's territories.

But "the irrepressible tendency of our Indian power to

enlarge its bounds," which Mr. Canning deplored, was fatal

to this resolution. The unprovoked aggression and the com-

plete overthrow of the Mahratta powers placed then- terri-

tories at the absolute disposal of the Company. The larger

portion of the dominions of Holkar and of the raja of

Nagpore was restored to them, but Lord Hastings considered

that the entire annexation of Bajee Rao's kingdom, the

principality of Satara excepted, was forced on him by
" the

imperious necessity of guarding against the speedy renewal
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of a treachery so rooted in its nature as to admit of no other

prevention." These provinces were, therefore, annexed to

Bombay which had previously drained the Bengal treasury
to the extent of a crore of rupees a-year, but was now
enabled in some measure to support its own establishments.

By the peace of Paris in 1815 the settlements of
Miscellaneous f

r

notices, 1814.22 the French, the Danes, and the Dutch were restored
igapore. ^ ^em

^
.^h ^e exception of Ceylon ; but during

the war, trade had been diverted into new channels, and these

settlements never recovered their former importance. The

island of Java, to the mortification of those who understood

its great value, was inconsiderately restored to the Dutch, and

it is at present the only Asiatic dependency which contributes

an annual revenue to its European master. The influence of

the Dutch was thus restored throughout the eastern archi-

pelago, and their ancient spirit of monopoly and hostility to

foreign intruders was developed to such an extent as to

threaten the entire exclusion of British commerce from those

seas. Lord Hastings was fully alive to the importance of

this commerce, and, under the advice of Sir Stamford Raffles,

who had governed Java while it was in our possession with

great ability and success, authorized him to establish a new
settlement hi the centre of the Malay states. By an unper-
ceived and prompt movement, he obtained the cession of the

island of Singapore from the raja of Johore, and hoisted the*

British colours on the 5th September, 1819. It was, from its

commanding position, the key of the gulf of Siam, if not also

of the China seas. Such an acquisition did not fail to excite

the indignation of the Dutch authorities in Java, who imme-

diately laid claim to it as one of their own possessions. The

most strenuous remonstrances were addressed to the English

Ministry, and so little were British interests in the east under-

stood in Downing Street, that it was, for a time, seriously con-

templated to submit to the demands of the Dutch, to abandon

the island, and to recall Sir Stamford for his temerity. After

a long period of vacillation, however, the sanction of the
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public authorities in England was fortunately obtained to the

retention of this possession, which has grown from a fishing

village to an entrepot of trade amounting to five crores a-year.

Singapore is a noble monument of Sir Stamford Raffles' states-

manship, and will perpetuate the grateful remembrance of it in

the sphere in which his talents were so beneficially exhibited.

The Company's Lord Hastings' administration may be consi-

dered as the palmy period of the Company's com-

mercial navy, then the largest" in the world. Though, under

the influence of a sharp competition, the trade to India brought
no gain to Leadenhall-street, the captains suffered no abate-

ment of their profits. The command of one of the Company's
vessels was always reckoned worth a lac of rupees a voyage,

chiefly from the high charge for passage-money. The cus-

toms of the period when the Company were simple traders

still continued in vogue. A special court was held when the

captains took their official leave of the Directors. On reaching

the Presidencies in India they were received with great dis-

tinction at Government House, and took rank with the

first class of the civil service. An officer of high standing

was always sent in a Government vessel down to the new

anchorage, a hundred miles below Calcutta, to dispatch the

fleet. The uniform of the commanders and of the various

grades of officers vied in splendour with that of the royal

navy, and both were exhibited, side by side, in the shop
windows of the London tailors, and the captains endeavoured,

likewise, to maintain on their own quarter-decks the same

etiquette which was observed in the king's ships. The China

trade, of which the Company still enjoyed the monopoly, was

managed by officers denominated supercargoes, who lived

like princes at Canton, and amassed ambitious fortunes in a

few years. The patronage of the China service was deemed

the most valuable in the gift of the Directors, and was gene-

rally reserved for their immediate relatives. Their vessels

were manned and armed on the most liberal scale, after the

model of the royal navy, and such was the excellence of their
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equipment that on one occasion the fleet under the command
of Captain Dance succeeded in beating off the French squadron
of Admiral Linois, who attacked them with one ship of eighty

guns, two heavy frigates, a corvette, and a brig. The Direc-

tors received no higher salary than two hundred and fifty

rupees a-month, but their individual patronage was calculated,

on an average, to be equivalent to two lacs and a half of

rupees a-year. The sale of appointments was strictly for-

bidden by Act of Parliament, and with some exceptions the

rule was honourably observed by them ; but as they formed the

most important and powerful commercial body in the first

commercial city in the world, they experienced little diffi-

culty in obtaining seats in Parliament, and one-fourth their

number was generally found in the House of Commons,
civil Service. At no previous period had the character of the

civil service for talent and efficiency stood so high as during
the administration of Lord Hastings, which might in most

cases be traced to the training it had enjoyed in the school of

Lord Wellesley. Many of the civilians, moreover, were con-

nected with some of the best families in England, and served

to give a high tone of character to the service, while their

refinement of feeling and dignity of demeanour, combined

with that elevation of mind which the management of great
affairs has a tendency to create, fitted them to maintain the

honour of their country in negotiations witli the princes and

nobles of the country. Their intercourse with the people
was uniformly marked by such kindness and consideration as

few, if any, conquerors have ever exhibited towards the con-

quered. The highest ambition of the civil and military officers

of Government, and of those who had amassed wealth at the

bar or in commerce, was to obtain a seat in Parliament. In

the year 1819, the number of members connected with India

amounted to forty-two, independent of the four commissioners

of the Board of Control. They entered the house chiefly

through the medium of the nomination boroughs, of which

the majority were swept away by the Reform Bill of 1832.
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But Parliament had already become weary of Indian ques-

tions, which, thirty years before, attracted crowded houses.

The Secretary of the Board of Control stated in Parliament

that " the India budget was always considered a dull and dis-

agreeable subject by the House ; the practice of making

budget speeches had therefore been discontinued. The time

and attention of the House was quite enough occupied with-

out throwing away a day in the discussion of a topic which

would be sure to drive gentlemen away from it." During the

five years of Mr. Canning's tenure of the office of Minister for

India, the only occasion on which he touched on the subject

of India in the House except when moving thanks to Lord

Hastings was in reference to a bill for licensing Scotch

marriages there. British interests in India did not, however,
suffer from the indifference of Parliament, where every sub-

ject becomes the sport of party contention. It was during

this period of neglect that the great revolution of Lord

Hastings' administration was consummated, and twenty-eight
actions were fought in the field, and a hundred and twenty
forts captured, many scarcely accessible, and some deemed

impregnable, and nineteen treaties made with native princes,

and the sovereignty of Great Britain proclaimed throughout
the continent.

In the year 1819, Warren Hastings died at the
Death of Warren J '

Hastings and age of eighty-eight, thirty-four years after his

Francis, 1819.
return fr()m jn(jja> Within four months also, his

great opponent, Sir Philip Francis, paid the debt of nature.

It was immediately proposed to place Hastings' statue at the

India House, among those statesmen and heroes who had

contributed to the creation and stability of the British

empire in India, and it was carried with only four dissenting

votes.

Hyderabad
One of the last acts of Lord Hastings' admini-

affairs-Chun- stration had reference to the affairs of Hyderabad,
doo Lall, the . .

contingent, and it is necessary therefore to bring up the arrears

1809.1818.
of itg nistory < ]yfeer Alum, who had managed the
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Nizam's government with consummate ability for thirty years,

died in 1808. The Nizam, who was devoted only to his

pleasures, and eschewed all serious business, was anxious to

appoint a Mahomedan noble, Moneer-ool-moolk,' to the

vacant office, but the Resident described him as both a coward

and a fool, and the Government in Calcutta refused to sanc-

tion the nomination. After an irritating discussion of six

months, a compromise was at length effected by giving him

the ostensible post of minister, with the splendid emoluments

attached to it, and entrusting Chundoo Lall, a Hindoo, with

the power and the responsibilities of the office. He had been

an efficient assistant to the late minister, and was better fitted

for its duties than any other man at Hyderabad, by his

talent, experience, and activity ; but he was utterly unscrupu-
lous in his dealings with the court or with the people. The

Nizam, chagrined by the defeat of his wishes, abandoned all

interest in public affairs, and retired to the privacy of the

harem. The Court of Directors had interdicted all interference

in the internal affairs of the state, and directed the Resident

to confine his attention to the reform of the Hyderabad contin-

gent. This was a body distinct from the subsidiary force

of 6,000 foot and 9,000 horse, which the Nizam was bound

by the treaty made with him in 1800 to keep up in time of

war. By the strenuous efforts of the Resident, these cowardly
levies of the Nizam, who had always avoided an enemy, were

converted into a strong and valuable force of 10,000 men,

horse, foot, and artillery. It was disciplined and commanded

by European officers, drawn chiefly from the Company's army,
with which it was soon enabled to vie in military spirit and

efficiency. It was supported by the Nizam's treasury, at a

cost of thirty lacs of rupees a-year. It was at the entire

disposal of Chundoo Lall, and ministered to his power and

dignity, and likewise afforded him material assistance in the

collection of the revenue and the coercion of refractory

zemindars ; he was, therefore, unwilling to check its profuse

expenditure. It was not only over-officered, but the officers
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were overpaid. The appointments were eagerly coveted, and

became a source of valuable patronage to the Resident, the

Contingent being generally designated his plaything. As one

extravagant allowance was heaped on another, the officers

exclaimed " Poor Nizzj
r
"

the nickname of the Nizam "
pays

for all." The contingent was doubtless an effective force, but

for a time of peace, and in a country which the British Go-

vernment was engaged to defend, it was little better than a

magnificent job.

The administration of Chundoo Lall was, with
Administration

of Chundoo some intervals of relief, the scourge of the
tail, isos-ao.

countrv for thirty-five years. It was supported

by British influence, but not controlled by British honesty.

Nothing flourished but corruption. Every public office was

put up to sale, and the purchaser reimbursed himself by ex-

tortion. Justice, or rather judicial decrees, could be obtained

only for money. The land revenue was farmed out to those

who made the largest advances to the minister in anticipation

of their collections. The tenure was therefore insecure, and

it was a common remark that the farmers proceeded to their

districts looking over their shoulders all the way, to see

whether some other contractor, who had made a higher bid,

was not following to supplant them. The farmers, moreover,

had the power of life and death, and the under farmers,

through their local agents, wrung the last farthing from the

wretched peasantry. A peaceful and industrious population

was converted into bands of rebels and banditti. Life and

property were everywhere insecure. Hundreds of villages

were deserted, cultivation ceased, and provisions rose to

famine prices. The sums thus obtained by insatiable rapacity

were expended by Chundoo Lall in making his position secure.

He erected a noble palace for the Resident, and stocked it

with the most costly chandeliers and furniture from Bond

Street. He bribed with a lavish hand all who had any interest

at the court; he subsidized the zenana, and conciliated the

Nizam by indulging his passion for hoarding. The Resident
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at length obtained the permission of the Governor-General to

make some effort, by his advice and influence, to arrest the

progress of desolation. His exertions had begun to produce
some beneficial result, when he was succeeded in November,

1820, by Mr. Metcalfe, who, after a tour through the country,

deemed it necessary to adopt more stringent measures of

reform. Some of his political assistants and of the European
officers of the contingent were placed in charge of districts to

superintend a new settlement, to check oppression, and to

control the police. The system which he introduced, and

which remained in force for several years, was equally un-

palatable to Chundoo Lall, whose exactions it restrained, and

to the native authorities, whose dignity it lowered. It was
also censured by Lord Hastings, as greatly in excess of his

instructions, and as being tantamount to taking the govern-
ment of the Nizam's dominions out of his hands ; but it was

highly beneficial to the community. Security was at once re-

established. Three hundred villages were repeopled in a

short time, and cultivation was resumed and extended. No
revenue had previously been obtained but at the point of the

sword ; under this new policy, not a trooper marched nor was
a musket shouldered to enforce the public demand. No

country is more blessed with the gifts of nature than the

territory of Hyderabad. Under Chundoo Lall it was fast

relapsing into jungle ; under Mr. Metcalfe's management it was

becoming a garden.

Messrs. Palmer Mr. Metcalfe had not, however, been long at

and Co., 1816-20. Hyderabad without perceiving that every prospect

of prosperity was impeded by the dealings of Palmer and

Co. with the state. Mr. William Palmer had established a

banking-house at Hyderabad in 1814, with the full concurrence

of the Resident, and soon after became connected with

Chundoo Lall, and began to make advances to the Nizam's

Government. An Act of Parliament had prohibited all such

transactions with native princes without the express sanction

of the Governor-General, and for this an application was made
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in June, 1816. It was acceded to with the full consent of the

Supreme Council, and in accordance with the legal opinion of

the Advocate-General, who drew up the deed. In April,

1818, when the Peshwa was in arms, and it became necessaiy
to pay up the arrears of the contingent to prevent the troops

from going over to the enemy, Palmer and Company came

forward and agreed to furnish the minister with two lacs and

a half of rupees a month, at twenty-five per cent, interest, on

the security of assignments on the land revenues, to the

extent of thirty lacs a-year. This proceeding received the

unanimous approval of the Governor-General in Council. But,

about this period, the firm was joined by Sir William Rum-

bold, a connection of the Governor of Madras, whom the

Court of Directors had removed from that appointment in

1782. He came out to India in 1813, and, as testified by
Mr. Metcalfe, visited the various native courts where British

influence was predominant, in the hope of making a rapid

fortune as in the olden time, and at length fixed on Hyderabad,
and was admitted into partnership with Palmer and Co.

He had married a ward of Lord Hastings, who regarded her

with parental kindness, and, in an evil hour, wrote to

Sir William,
" The partners speculate that your being one of

the firm will interest me in the welfare of the house. It is a

fair and honest conclusion. The amount of advantage which

the countenance of Government may bestow must be uncer-

tain, as I apprehend it would flow principally from the opinion

the natives would entertain of the respect likely to be paid by
their own Government to an establishment known to stand

well with the Supreme Government." To this letter Sir

William gave the widest publicity, and it came to be currently

reported and believed that he
(

was the son-in-law of the

Governor-General, and that the rents coEected by Palmer and

Co. were, in fact, payments to the British Government.

Proceedings and
The house had now obtained a firm footing at

fail of Palmer Hyderabad, and there was a constant stream of
and Co.,

1820-22. loans from the bank to the Nizam's treasury.
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Funds were received in abundance from depositors at twelve

per cent., and lent to the Nizam at twenty-four per cent.,

on the security of fresh assignments. Notwithstanding

frequent repayments, the debt was continually on the increase

by the process of compound interest. In 1820 Chundoo

Lall was put up to solicit the sanction of Government to a

new loan of sixty lacs for the professed design of paying up
the public establishments, with a view to their reduction, of

clearing off debts due to native bankers, and of making-

advances to the ryots. Lord Hastings considered that these

were legitimate objects, of sufficient importance to justify the

casting vote which he gave in favour of the proposal, but

with the distinct understanding that it was not to be regarded

as giving even an implied guarantee of the loan on the part of

Government. But Mr. Metcalfe discovered, on his arrival,

that only a portion of the sixty lacs had been actually paid

into the Nizam's treasury, that eight lacs formed a bonus to the

members of the firm, and that the remainder consisted of

other sums lent, or said to have been lent, to the Nizam,

without the knowledge of the Government of Calcutta, and

consolidated in the new loan to which its sanction was thus

surreptitiously obtained. But Mr. Metcalfe likewise felt

that the house was gradually becoming a great political

power in the state, chiefly through the influence which one

of its members was said to possess with Lord Hastings. The

authority of the Resident was thus superseded, and Chundoo

Lall, believing that he held his place by the protection of the

members of the firm, deemed it more for his interest to com-

municate with the' Governor-General through them, than

through his representative. The Government of the Nizam
was prostrate before Palmer and Co., as that of the nabob of

Arcot had been before his creditors, and the revenues of the

country were gradually passing into the hands of the firm.

Sir Charles Metcalfe he had recently succeeded to the

baronetcy at length ventured to communicate his observa-

tions and views on the subject to Lord Hastings without
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reserve, but he found that his mind had been prepossessed,

and his feelings worked upon by the correspondence of the

Rumbold family. Lord Hastings went so far as to exhibit

a feeling of resentment at the opposition which Mr. Metcalfe

had manifested to the proceedings of the firm. But the tran-

saction of the sixty lac loan, to which the sanction of Govern-

ment had been obtained by false representations, was too

gross to admit of any palliation. It was also discovered

that other advances had been made without sanction, and

that, as Chundoo Lall observed, "the exorbitant rates of

interest charged by the house, and the overwhelming amount

of their interest ou interest, had raised their claim to more

than a crore of rupees." Lord Hastings and his Council

passed a severe condemnation on these transactions, and

resolved to make arrangements for relieving the Nizam from

the grasp of his inexorable creditors. Fifty years before,

Lord Clive had obtained the Northern Sircars as a gift from

the Emperor of Delhi, but had agreed to pay the Nizam, in

consideration of their having formed a part of his province, a

peshcusk, or annual acknowledgment, of seven lacs of rupees.

This payment was arranged when the Company was an in-

significant power ;
to the astonishment of the native princes,

it was religiously continued after the Company had become

supreme hi India. It was now capitalised, and a crore of

rupees was remitted from Calcutta, soon after Lord Hastings

quitted India. The debt due to Palmer and Co., deducting

the clandestine bonus, was paid off, and within a twelve-

month they were insolvent.

Thanks of the
^ne antipathy of the Court of Directors to

Directors and Lord Hastings had been repeatedly manifested in

L<

r

>rd

r

Ha8tTngs, captious criticisms, and in the reluctant praise and
1822.

eager censure they bestowed on him. This feeling

became more intense after Sir William Rumbold had joined

the banking-house at Hyderabad, when they issued orders in

the most peremptory and offensive terms to revoke the licence

which had been granted to it by the Government of India,
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though it had been unnoticed in Leadenhall-street for three

years. Their despatch implied a mistrust of Lord Hastings's

motives, and shewed a disposition to identify him with

whatever appeared objectionable in the transactions of Palmer

and Co. Indignant at these insinuations, and at the tone of

their communication, he sent home his resignation, on the

ground that he had lost their confidence. The Court assured

him that he was entirely mistaken, and, in May, 1822, voted

the thanks they had hitherto steadily withheld from him, as

Governor-General, "for the unremitting zeal and eminent

ability with which, during a period of nine years, he had

administered the Government of British India with such high
credit to himself and advantage to the interests of the East

India Company." The Proprietors concurred in this resolu-

tion, and requested the Directors to "
convey to his Lordship

the expression of their admiration, gratitude, arid applause."

He embarked for Europe on the 1st January, 1823.

In political genius, Lord Hastings can scarcelyRemarks on
.

his administra- be said to rank with Warren Hastings or Lord

Wellesley, though in completing the work they
had begun and consolidating the British empire in India, he

exhibited talent of the highest order. His administration

was rendered memorable by the benefits he conferred on the

old capital of the Moguls and the new capital of the Com-

pany. AH Merdun, as stated in a preceding chapter, had

executed the grand design of conveying a large portion of

the water of the Jumna, where it issues pure from the moun-

tains, by means of a canal, to the city of Delhi. It had,

however, been devoid of water for sixty years, and its bank**

were everywhere prostrated. Lord Hastings caused it to

be completely restored, and bestowed on the inhabitants the

inestimable boon of fresh and wholesome water without the

imposition of a water-rate. The improvement of Calcutta

had been totally suspended since the departure of Lord

Wellesley. Under the direction of Lord Hastings, the

ventilation of the town was promoted by piercing it in the

ii. 2 c
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centre with a street sixty feet wide. Squares were laid out

with tanks, or reservoirs of water, in the centre, surrounded

by planted walks ; and the foreshore of the river which was

lined with wretched huts and rendered impassable by mire

and filth, was adorned with a noble strand road worthy of

the city of palaces, as Calcutta was justly designated. No
Governor-General has ever laboured with greater assiduity

in the performance of his duties. Between the age of sixty

and seventy he was at his desk at four in the morning- and

always in full military uniform examining the boxes of papers

from different departments which had been piled up in his

. room over night. He made an effort to acquire some know-

ledge of the language of the country, but he was obliged to

relinquish it when he found that his moonshee was making a

fortune by the opportunity afforded him of private intercourse

with the Governor-General, when he attended him in his

study. In the fevered climate of India, which, since the

facilities for visiting England have been multiplied, is con-

sidered insupportable, he laboured for nine years at the

rate of seven and eight hours a-day, without a hill sanata-

rium to resort to, or the convenience of a sea-going steamer.

The only speck on his administration was the interest he

manifested in the Eumbolds. As the head of the state it

became him at once to withdraw his confidence from them

when he discovered the mischievous use to which they were

turning it, but the kindliness of his nature betrayed him into

political weakness, and led him to take too lenient a view of

the conduct of those who were bringing odium on his govern-

ment, for which he suffered severely during the remaining

years of his life.

Within two years after his return from India,Debate at the rf

India House, his friend, Mr. Douglas Kinnaird, brought forward

a proposal in the Court of Proprietors for a

pecuniary grant befitting the greatness of his services and

the gratitude of the Company. If there had been any sin-

cerity in the tribute of "
admiration, gratitude, and applause"
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which had been recently paid him by that body, it would

have been cordially welcomed, but it only served to disclose

the strong current of rancour which underlay the crust of

official compliment. The motion was met by an amendment,

calling, in the first instance, for all the papers connected with

the Hyderabad transactions, and, eventually, with the whole

of Lord Hastings's administration. A twelvemonth was

employed in compiling and printing this mass of documents,
of which a folio volume of a thousand pages was devoted to

the Hyderabad loans. It was to this single point and not to

the general merits of Lord Hastings's administration that the

attention of the Court of Proprietors was especially directed.

If the question under discussion had referred to some grand
measure of imperial policy, involving the welfare of millions,

it would probably have been disposed of in a few hours
; but

it turned upon Lord Hastings's alleged delinquency in the

matter of Palmer and Co. ; it had all the zest of personality,
and the debate was prolonged for six days. Towards the

close of it Mr. Kinnaird submitted a resolution that "nothing
contained in the papers tended to affect in the slightest

degree the personal character or integrity of the late

Governor-General." But the Chairman, Mr. Astell, opposed
the motion by an amendment, stating that,

" while admitting
that there was no ground for imputing corrupt motives to the

late Governor-General, the Court records its approbation of

all the despatches sent out by the Court of Directors."

These despatches, four in number, charged Lord Hastings

among other misdemeanors with "
having lent the Company's

credit to the transactions at Hyderabad, not for the benefit

of the Nizam, but for the sole benefit of Palmer and Co..

with having studiously suppressed important information,

with proceedings which were without parallel in the records

of the East India Company, and with assuming to elude all

check and control." The approbation of these despatches
was the severest condemnation which could be inflicted on

Lord Hastings ; but Mr. AstelPs motion was adopted by a

2 c 2
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majority of two hundred and twelve. Thus did the East

India Company, with all the documents connected with his

brilliant administration before them, dismiss him from their

Court with the verdict that he was simply not guilty of

having acted from corrupt motives. It was an ungrateful

return to the man who had raised them to the pinnacle of

political power and invested their rule with a moral grandeur.

The happy remark made in the case of Warren Hastings,

that if there was a bald place on his head, it ought to be

covered with laurel, was peculiarly applicable to him. But the

East India Company, princely beyond all other rulers in their

munificence, have not been able to rise above the influence of

vulgar and invidious prejudices in dealing with the merits of

their most illustrious men Clive, Warren Hastings, Lord

Wellesley, and Lord Hastings. Lord Hastings did not long
survive the indignity thus cast on him. He died at Malta

on the 24th August, 1827, and, in the succeeding year, the

India House endeavoured to make some atonement for their

vote of censure by placing the sum of two lacs of rupees in

the hands of trustees for the benefit of his son.

CHAPTER XXIX.

ADMINISTRATION OF JIR. ADAM AND LORD AMHERST.

ON the receipt of Lord Hastings's resignation,

^LtTaovlr- the Coul>t of Directors, with the ready concur-

nor-Gencrai, rence of the Ministry, nominated Mr. Canning, the

late President of the Board of Control, Governor-

General. A better appointment it would have been difficult

to conceive, but India was not destined to enjoy the benefit of

his transcendant talents. When on the point of embarking,

the sudden death of the Marquis of Londonderry with whose
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name as Lord Castlereagh during Lord Wellesley's adminis-

tration the reader is already familiar led to his joining the

Cabinet at home. Two candidates then appeared for this

splendid office, Lord William Bentinck and Lord Amherst.

Lord William had the strongest claims on the Court of Di-

rectors ; they had hastily removed him from the Government

of Madras, hi the height of the panic created by the Veilore

mutiny, but on a calm review of the case, had acknowledged
" the uprightness, zeal, and success of his services." He was

eminently qualified for the Governor-Generalship by his great
administrative ability, his intimate knowledge of the native

character and habits, and of the system of the Indian Govern-

ments, and not less by his intense fondness for the work.

Lord Amherst's claim rested on his embassy to China, and the

exemplary patience and fortitude with which he had main-

tained the dignity of the British crown against the arrogance
of the Pekin court. He had also suffered shipwreck on his

return. The preference was given to him, and he landed in

Calcutta on the 1st August, 1823.

During the interregnum, the government de-

Governo' volved on Mr. Adam, the senior member of

General, ad Council, an officer of ability and resolution, and
interim, 1823. .

'

great political experience, but totally disqualified

for the highest post in the empire by the strength of his local

partialities and prejudices. Lord Hastings had left ten crores

of rupees in the treasuries, in addition to a surplus revenue of

two crores a-year, and the Government was bewildered with

this unexampled exuberance of wealth. Lord Hastings thought

that one-half the excess might be very appropriately allotted

to the Proprietors of India stock, and the other half to the

nation. But the Act of 1813 had ordained that, with the

exception of the lac of rupees to be applied to public instruc-

tion, all surplus revenue should be assigned to the reduction

of the debt. A portion of it was therefore employed in con-

verting the Company's six per cent, paper into five per cents.,

which produced a saving of thirty lacs of rupees a-year. With
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a portion of the accumulation in the treasuries, it was at one

time proposed to pay off the debts of the civilians. The pro-

posal was by no means so preposterous as it may at first sight

appear. They formed the official aristocracy of the British

dynasty, and supported the honour of their position by a liberal

expenditure, which was often, however, beyond their means.

There was no lack of wealthy natives ready to furnish the

means of extravagance to youths to whom the administration

of large districts would be eventually committed. They were

seldom importunate for a settlement ; the bond was readily

renewed from time to time, with the addition of interest, but

when the victim had risen to power, his native creditor

demanded either the discharge of his debt, now swelled to a

prodigious amount, or some influential appointment in his

court, where he would of course exemplify the oriental rule of

turning power into money. The office was often indignantly

refused, but the knowledge of the civilian's indebtedness to

the native, which could not be concealed, deprived him of

the reputation of independence, which in popular estimation

was essential to the impartial distribution of justice. To libe-

rate the judge or collector from the thraldom of the native

money-lender, and to make him the creditor of the state, was

therefore as much a benefit to the district as to the individual

himself. But the debts of the civilians were found to be so

formidable, that the project was never carried out, and within

a twelvemonth the Burmese war came and cleared out the

treasury, and converted the surplus into a deficit,

persecution of Mr. Adams's brief administration of seven months
the Press, 1823. was marked by great energy, and not a- few good
measures ;

but it is now remembered only by his illiberal pro-

ceedings against the press, and his vindictive persecution of

Mr. Buckingham, who had come out to Calcutta in 1818, and

established the " Calcutta Journal." It was the ablest news-

paper which had ever appeared in India, and gave a higher

tone and a deeper interest to journalism. A knot of young
men in the public service, of brilliant talents, headed by
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Mr. Henry Meredith Parker, ranged themselves around the

paper, and contributed by their poignant articles to its extra-

ordinary success and popularity. The editor, availing himself

of the liberty granted to the press by Lord Hastings, com-

mented on public measures with great boldness, and some

times with a degree of severity which was considered danger-
ous. But the great offence of the Journal consisted in the

freedom of its remarks on some of the leading members of

Government. They had been nursed in the lap of despotism,
and their feelings of official complacency were rudely disturbed

by the sarcasms inflicted on them. Madras, as a rule, has

been unfortunate in its governors ; no fewer than six have

been recalled one of them unjustly and, with the excep-

tion of three or four, the rest have been very second-rate

men. One of these, Mr. Hugh Elliott, then filled the chair,

to the regret of the public, and the Journal affirmed that

he had obtained an extension of his term of office, which was

announced to the community in a circular with a black border.

This innocent pleasantry was registered among the offences of

the paper. The Calcutta secretaries had about this time taken

to wear a green coat, and the Journal styled them the "
gan-

grene of the state." Mr. Adam had systematically opposed
the liberality shown towards the press by Lord Hastings, and

only waited for his departure to impose fetters on it, and to

make an example of the obnoxious Journal. A regulation

was accordingly passed in April, 1823, which completely

extinguished the " freedom of unlicensed printing," but the

Calcutta Journal continued to write with the same spirit as

before. The senior Presbyterian minister, a zealous partizan

of Government, had set up a rival Tory paper, and indulged

in invectives against Mr. Buckingham, which, when indicted

in the Supreme Court, were pronounced to be libellous. Not

only was no check imposed on him by the Government, but he

was nominated to the well-paid office of clerk to the Stationery

Office. The appointment, when announced at home, was con-

demned by his own church, and revoked by the Court of
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Directors. The Calcutta Journal ridiculed the incongruity of

this union of offices, which obliged the reverend gentleman
to employ himself in counting bundles of tape and sticks of

sealing wax, when he ought to be composing his sermons.

For this venial offence, Mr. Adam came down at once on

Mr. Buckingham, revoked his licence, banished him from

India, and ruined his prospects. He appealed for compensa-
tion to the India House, but an overwhelming majority of

Proprietors passed a resolution approving of the proceedings

of the Governor-General. A petition to disallow the press

regulation was presented to the Privy Council, and rejected

without any hesitation. Mr. Adam died at sea on his way to

England, after an honourable service of thirty years, leaving

behind him, as the Directors justly remarked,
" the reputation

of exemplary integrity, distinguished ability, and indefatigable

zeal."

Rise and pro-
Lord Amherst had no sooner assumed the

grass of the
government, than he found himself involved in

Burmese

power, hostile discussions with the Burmese, which ter-
815 '

minated within five months in a declaration of

war. The kingdom of Burmah lies to the east of Bengal,
from which it is separated by hills and forests, inhabited by
various tribes of barbarians. Alompra, a man of obscure

birth, but cast in the same mould as Hyder Ali and Ruujeet

Sing, began his career with a hundred followers, and after

liberating his country from the yoke of Pegu, succeeded, about

the year 1753, four years before the battle of Plassy, in

establishing a new dynasty at Ava. Conquest was, as usual,

the vital principle of this new government, and the Burmese

soon became a great aggressive power. They successively

repelled four invasions of the Chinese, and in 1766 compelled
the king of Siam to cede the Tenasserim provinces to them.

The province of Aracan, which had long been an independent,
and at one period a powerful kingdom as repeated invasions

of Bengal testify was annexed to the Burmese dominions in

1787. This province stretched along the eastern shore of the
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Bay of Bengal, and was separated by the river Naaf from

the Company's territories, in which several Aracan chiefs took

refuge six years after, and were pursued across the frontier.

Sir John Shore, then Governor-General, surrendered the fugi-

tives on condition that the Burmese should retire to their own
side of the river. This concession, which he considered the

dictate of justice as well as of prudence, was attributed by
the Burmese to pusillanimity, and the deputation of Colonel

Symes, soon after, on a mission to Ava, confirmed this im-

pression. He was received with scanty honour, and much

gasconade, and the Burmese monarch, on learning from him

that the English were at war with Bonaparte, inquired why
the Governor-General had not applied to him for 40,000 troops,

who would have swept the French from the face of the earth.

In 1798, the oppressions of the Burmese forced a body of more

than 30,000 Aracanese to seek a refuge in the British district

of Chittagong. In their flight through the wilds and forests,

without food or shelter, they experienced the extremity of

distress, and the paths were strewed with the bodies of the

aged and the helpless, and of mothers with infants at the

breast. To refuse them an asylum would have been an act of

barbarity, and they were settled hi the waste lands of the

district. The Burmese governor of Aracan demanded the

surrender of the whole body, under the threat of an invasion.

A large force of sepoys was dispatched to protect the

frontier, whilo Colonel Symes was sent on a second mission to

Ava, where he was treated with more than the usual arro-

gance of the Burmese court. A third embassy was unwisely
sent in 1809, and Lieutenant Canning, the envoy, was sub-

jected to increased indignity. The Aracan refugees were

animated with inextinguishable hatred of their Burmese op-

pressors, and made repeated inroads into Aracan. Every
effort was made by the British Government to restrain them,
but nothing could convhice the Burmese that they were not

acting under the instigation of the public authorities in

Calcutta. The repeated refusal of he Governor-General to
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deliver up these helpless creatures to the Burmese executioner

exasperated the Government of Ava, and in July, 1818, Lord

Hastings received a rescript from the king demanding the

surrender of eastern Bengal, including Moorshedabad. " The
countries of Chittagong and Dacca, of Moorshedabad and

Cossimbazar," he said,
" do not belong to India. They are

ours
;

if you continue to retain them, we will come and

destroy your country." Lord Hastings treated the letter as

a forgery, and returned it to the king.

Further For several years before the war we are about

the Burmese,
to describe, the Burmese had been engaged hi

181523.
extending their conquests to the north-west of

Ava. The kingdom of Assam, abutting on the Company's
district of Rungpore, stretches eastward through the valley

of the Berhampooter to the mountains which separate it from

China. It had maintained its independence against the re-

peated assaults of the Mogul emperors, and had defeated the

most celebrated of Aurungzebe's generals. But disputes had

now arisen in the royal family which gave the Burmese an

opportunity of interfering, and they established a paramount
influence in it in 1815. In 1822 Muha Bundoola, the great

national hero, completed the reduction of it, and annexed it

to the Burmese crown. Munipore, a valley lying to the east

of Bengal and encircled with mountains, had once planted

its standard on the walls of Ava, but the dissensions of the

palace introduced Burmese influence, and it was absorbed in

the kingdom of Ava. The Burmese also entered the little

principality of Cachar, on the north-east corner of Bengal,

but were checked by the Supreme Government, who con-

sidered it impolitic to allow them to plant their camps and

stockades so near the border. The dynasty of Alompra had

thus, in the course of seventy years, succeeded in establishing

its authority over territories eight hundred miles in length,

stretching from the confines of Bengal to those of China.

The uniform success of every enterprize had filled the Bur-

mese with an overweening conceit of their strength, and the
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evident indisposition of the Company's Government to go to

war, combined with repeated embassies to Ava, and a profound

ignorance of the resources of British power, inspired them

with an irrepressible desire to try conclusions with the English

in the field. " From the king to the beggar," as stated by
Mr. Laird, an Englishman residing in the country, "the

whole community was hot for war." Muha Bundoola, on his

return from Assam, offered to drive the English from Bengal
with no other troops than the strangers dependent on Ava.
" The English

"
such was the language of the royal council

" have conquered the black foreigners, the people of castes,

who have puny frames, and no courage. They have never

fought with so strong and brave a people as the Burmese,

skilled in the use of the spear and the sword."

Origin of the
^e Burmese lost no time in giving effect to

Burmese war, this determination. At the southern boundary of
| QQQ

the Chittagong district, at the estuary of the

Naaf, lies the little island of Shahpooree, which had always
been considered a part of the Company's territories. To
defend it against the hostile disposition manifested by the Bur-

mese, a small guard was posted on it in 1823. The Governor

of Aracan claimed the island as Burmese territory, and insisted

on the removal of the troops. The Governor-General pro-

posed to appoint a joint commission to investigate the question
of right, and the Burmese authorities answered the overture

by sending over a thousand men, who hoisted the Burmese

flag, put a part of the feeble detachment to death, and drove

off the remainder. Lord Amherst immediately sent a force

which dislodged the Burmese, and addressed a letter to the

king, attributing the aggression to the presumption of the

Governor of Aracan, and stating that his Government, how-
ever anxious to remain at peace, must resort to retaliation if

such insults were repeated. The Court of Ava was thus con-

firmed in the conviction that the English dreaded an encounter

with its troops, and Muha Bundoola was sent with a large

army to Aracan with orders to expel the English from Bengal,
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and to send the Governor-General to Ava, bound in the golden

fetters which he took with him. To the official letter no

direct reply was vouchsafed from Ava, but the Governor of

Pegu was directed to signify the "
pleasure of the king of the

white elephant, the lord of the seas and of the land, that no

further communication should be sent to the golden feet, but

that the Governor-General should state his case in a petition

to Muha Bundoola, who was proceeding to Aracan with an

army to settle every question." Lord Amherst, finding that

every effort to maintain peace only rendered war more immi-

nent, and that the Burmese were preparing to invade Bengal

simultaneously on the north-east and the south-east, issued a

declaration of war on the 24th February, 1824 ; and thus

began the first Burmese war. At a subsequent period, when

the Court of Directors became impatient under the boundless

cost and dilatory prosecution of the war, they condemned the

origin of it, as a dispute about a contemptible and uninhabited

island, a mere gand-bank ; and Lord Amherst deemed it neces-

sary to draw up an elaborate defence of his proceedings ; but

the labour was altogether redundant. The war was univer-

sally acknowledged in India by the most experienced states-

men to be " not only just and necessary, but absolutely and

positively unavoidable." " The clearest case," said Sir Charles

Metcalfe,
" of self-defence and violated territory." If it had

been conducted with the energy and promptitude of the

Mahratta war in the days of Lord Wellesley, or the more

recent Mahratta and Pindaree war, both of which were

brought to a successful issue, before the news of the first

shot reached Leadenhall-street, there would have been little

discussion as to its origin.

The Burmese were the most despicable enemy
Arrangements . ,

of the cam- the British arms had ever encountered in the east.

Their army was a miserable half-armed rabble,

without discipline or courage. They had few muskets, and

their swords and pikes were of a very inferior description.

Their chief defence lay in the admirable skill and rapidity
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with which they constructed stockades, and which our com-

manders, with rare exceptions, committed the folly of en-

deavouring to carry by storm, instead of expelling the enemy

by shells and rockets. A hoe and a spade was a more essen-

tial part of the equipment of a Burmese soldier than a musket

or a sword. Each man as he advanced dug a hole in the

ground deep enough to afford him shelter, from which he fired

in security until he was unearthed by the impetuosity of the

British troops. This information was acquired during the

course of the war, but at the commencement of it the Go-

vernment in Calcutta was profoundly ignorant of the national

mode of warfare, of the military force and resources, the popu-
lation and the geography of the country, or of the approaches
to it from our own provinces. The Commander-in-chief, Sir

Edward Paget, then in the north-west, asserted that any

attempt to enter Burmah either through Cachar or Aracan,
would end in disaster, inasmuch as the troops, instead of

finding armies, fortresses, and cities, would meet with nothing
but jungle, pestilence, and famine. The plan of the campaign
was drawn up by Captain John Canning, who had traversed

the country and visited the capital; and it was unhappily on his

knowledge that the Government placed its sole dependence.
He represented that the occupation of Rangoon, the great

port of the Irawaddy, would paralyse the Burmese Govern-

ment, and that the means of constructing a flotilla for navi-

gating the river, as well as provisions and draught cattle,

might be procured hi and around that town in abundance.

Though the river, like the Ganges, was an impetuous torrent

during the rains, the south-west monsoon which prevailed at

that season of the year, would, he affirmed, enable the expe-
dition to stem the current and sail up to the capital. It was

resolved, therefore, to land the expedition at Rangoon as the

rains commenced. The plan was visionary and preposterous,
as the military authorities in Calcutta, with their knowledge
of the rivers of India, ought to have foreseen ; and the adop-
tion of it was the first and most fatal error of the campaign.
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The expedition was collected in the spacious harbour of Port

Cornwallis, in the largest of the Andaman islands, lying hi

the Bay of Bengal, about three hundred miles south of Ran-

goon. It consisted of about 11,000 European and native

troops, the latter drawn exclusively from the Madras Presi-

dency, and it was placed under the command of Sir Archibald

Campbell, who had served with distinction under the Duke in

Spain. The fleet of transports was convoyed by three vessels

of war, and by the "
Diana," a little steamer recently built in

Calcutta, and the first which ever floated in the waters of the

east. The appearance of this vessel confounded the minds of

the Burmese, among whom there was an ancient prediction

current, that the kingdom would be invincible till a vessel

moved up the Irawaddy without sails or oars. .

While the expedition was in course of equip-
Disasterat -n -, , i < , . .

Bamoo, May 17, ment, Bundoola entered Aracan for the invasion

of Bengal with an army variously estimated at

ten and twenty thousand men. The defence of the frontier

had been left to a small and inadequate force stationed at

Chittagong ;
and a weak detachment of about three hundred

native infantry, with several hundred of the local levies and

two guns, had been imprudently pushed forward under Captain

Noton to hold a post on our extreme boundaiy, a hundred

miles from the nearest support. The approach of Bundoola

was well known in Calcutta, and the public authorities were

repeatedly urged to reinforce the small body of troops which

was to sustain the first shock of the Burmese, but the request

was treated with indifference. The consequence was deplor-

able. The Burmese force advanced on the 17th May to

Captain Noton's pickets, and the untrained men of the local

corps fled. The little band of sepoys was completely sur-

rounded, but they maintained the struggle gallantly for three

days with little food or rest, and were then constrained to

retreat, when they fell into irretrievable confusion. Captain

Noton and five officers were killed, and three wounded. The

detachment was annihilated, and the eastern districts of
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Bengal were seized with a panic, which extended even to

Calcutta. But a large force was sent in haste to the frontier,

which effectually checked the advance of the enemy, and

Bundoola was soon after recalled to oppose the British force

at Rangoon.
The expedition arrived off that town on the

Arrival of the .

expedition at llth May, to the inexpressible surprise of the
Eangoon, 1824,

Burmese, who had never dreamt that the English,

whom they were about to expel from Bengal, would venture

to attack them in their own territory. No preparations had

been made to repel them, and the only defence of the town

consisted in a quadrangular teak stockade, about twelve feet

high, with a battery of indifferent guns, which were silenced

by the first broadside from the "
Liffey." Happily, the dis-

charge was so opportune as also to rescue from destruction

the Europeans resident in Rangoon, eleven in number, who
had been seized and condemned to death on the approach of

the fleet. Their arms had been bound behind as they were

made to squat on the ground, and the executioner stood before

them sharpening his weapon, when the shot from the frigate

battered the building, which the Burmese officers abandoned

in great trepidation, and thus afforded the prisoners the means

of escape. The troops landed without any opposition, but

they found the town deserted. It appeared that the governor,

seeing all resistance hopeless, had ordered the whole popula-

tion, men, women, and children, to quit it, and retire to the

jungles with all their provisions and flocks and herds. The

mandate was implicitly obeyed, partly from a dread of the

strangers, but more especially from the terror which the

ferocity of their own government inspired in all breasts. By
this unexpected stroke of policy the whole plan of the cam-

paign was defeated. Every hope of obtaining the means of

advancing to the capital by water or by land was extin-

guished, and Sir Archibald was obliged to confine his efforts

to the shelter of his troops during the six months of inaction

to which they were doomed. One entire regiment was quar-
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tcred in the Dagon Pagoda, the pride of Rangoon, a magnifi-
cent edifice, which is justly admired for the lightness of its

contour, the happy combination of its parts, and the vastness

of its dimensions, and which serves to give us a veiy high

opinion of the splendid Bouddist architecture with which India

was once filled. The object of the Burmese commander was

to isolate the British encampment and intercept all supplies,

in which he completely succeeded, as well as to destroy the fleet

with the fire rafts which the Burmese constructed with singular

skill, but which was prevented by the vigilance of the British

officers.

Within a week after the occupation of Rangoon,

mortality^
*ne ra ius s t in with great violence ; the country

the troops, around became a swamp, and the miasma, combined
1824.

with the sultry heat, brought fever and dysentery

and death into the camp. The condition of this noble army
was rendered the more deplorable by the want of wholesome

food. There was no lack of cattle in the neighbourhood

which would have amply supplied all its necessities,

but the Government in Calcutta, by a stretch of folly un-

known in India, had forbidden the commander to touch them

lest he should wound the prejudices of the natives, and the

European soldiers were allowed to perish that the cows might
live. The troops were thus left to depend on the supplies

brought from Calcutta, which was proverbial for the dis-

honesty of its cured provisions ; the meat was found to be

putrescent, and the maggoty biscuits crumbled under the

touch. Owing to the culpable neglect of the public autho-

rities in Calcutta, and more especially of the commissariat, the

army at Rangoon was left for five months in this state of

destitution after its exigences had been completely revealed.

It was only through the prompt and indefatigable exertions

6f Sir Thomas Munro, the governor of Madras, in forward-

ing supplies that the army was not altogether annihilated.

The unhealthiness of the season, and the unwholesomeness

of the food soon filled the hospitals, and of the whole force
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scarcely three thousand men remained fit for duty. In the

month of August an expedition was sent to the Tenasserim

provinces, which stretched four hundred miles along the coast.

The chief towns were occupied, and in the capital, Martaban,

was found an immense arsenal filled with the munitions of

war. These districts, remote from the stern influence of

the Governor of Rangoon, furnished the troops to some

extent with the supplies of vegetables and meat which were

so greatly needed. In the beginning of October a large

force was sent against Kaik-loo, fourteen miles from Rangoon,
where the Burmese had erected a strong stockade. The

troops who attempted to storm it were repulsed with con-

siderable loss ; but, on the appearance of a larger force, the

Burmese were found to have evacuated it.

The King of Ava at length resolved to collect
Actions of the

.

7th and isth all his strength for one vigorous effort to expel
:>ec., 1824. ^e mva(jers from the country. The renowned

Bundoola was sent down to Rangoon with an army of sixty

thousand men, and arrived in front of the British encamp-
ment on the 1st December. The rapidity and precision with

which corps after corps took up its station, and immediately
threw up entrenchments, reflected great credit on Burmese

skill and discipline. Within a few hours the British camp
was completely surrounded with stockades, and the busy line

of soldiers suddenly disappeared behind them, the men

sinking in couples into the burrows they had dug, which were

stocked with a sufficient supply of rice, water, and fuel. The

works, which were watched with intense interest from the

British encampment, appeared to rise by the wand of a

magician. The first attack on them was made on the 6th

December, when two columns supported by gunboats broke

through the right of the Burmese entrenchments and

dispersed the defenders. Instead, however, of quitting the

field, Bundoola pushed his troops the next day up to the

great pagoda, but the twenty guns which had been mounted

on it, opened a brisk cannonade, and four British columns

II. 2 D
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simultaneously attacked his force and routed it. But his

spirit of perseverance was not exhausted. He sent incen-

diaries into the town who burnt down one-half of it, and

he erected another series of stockades more formidable than

any the British army had yet encountered, but on the 15th

December, all his hopes were blasted by a total defeat, and

he withdrew the whole of his force to Donabew, forty miles

up the river.

Conquest of Leaving Sir Archibald at Rangoon without an
Assam, 1825, enemy, we turn to the operations of the war in

other quarters. At the beginning of 1825, the province of

Assam was wrested from the Burmese by Colonel Richards,

who met with no resistance in occupying the capital,

Rungpore, though it was mounted with two hundred pieces

of ordnance. The Commander-in-chief, as already stated,

Campaign in had dissuaded Government from any attempt to

cachar, 1824. invade Biirmah through Cachar or .Aracan, but

when it became evident that the Rangoon expedition had failed

to achieve anything, he changed his opinion and encouraged
Lord Amherst to organise one army to advance through
Cachar and Munipore southward upon Ava, and another to

penetrate Aracan, cross the Yomadown hills, and debouch

in the valley of the Irawaddy and then turn up north to the

capital. Both expeditions proved abortive. The Cachar

force consisting of 7,000 men was entrusted to the command

of Colonel Shouldham. The Burmese had evacuated the

province, but a more formidable enemy was found in the

unexampled difficulties of the route. The army was enabled

to advance along a road which the pioneers had opened with

immense labour and perseverance to a point within ninety

miles of Munipore, but the country beyond it was found to

consist of an unbroken succession of abrupt hills and dales,

the hills clothed to the summit with impenetrable forests,

and the dells rendered impassable by deep quagmires. The

rains commenced in February, and continued without abate-

ment throughout March. The troops were harassed beyond
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endurance. Hundreds of bullocks and camels, and a large

proportion of the elephants, sunk under fatigue, or were

imbedded in the mire. To transport the stores, the artillery,

the heavy baggage, and all the impedimenta of a civilised

army through such a region and under such circumstances

was impossible, and the Colonel prudently relinquished the

conquest of attempt and returned to Bengal. The expedition
Aracan, 1825. ^o Aracan was still more unfortunate. It consisted

of about 10,000 men, and proceeded on its march from Chitta-

gong on the 1st January. The commander was General

Morrison, a King's officer of good repute, but he imprudently

rejected the advice of the experienced Company's officers on

his staff, who were acquainted with the face and character

of the country. There was a constant succession of blunders,

and the army was three months marching down the coast, a

distance of only two hundred and fifty miles, and did not

reach the capital of the province, which was occupied with

little resistance, till it was too late in the season to make any
farther progress. The monsoon commenced early in May, the

country was flooded and became a pestilential marsh. One-

fourth of the troops perished by disease, and two-thirds of

the remainder were in hospital. Few ever recovered their

former health and vigour, and the Aracan fever was long
remembered with feelings of horror. The army, as an

organised body, had ceased to exist, and on one occasion,

when a wing of a European regiment was mustered OH

parade, only one soldier, it was said, appeared to answer to his

name. But it was not till the end of the year that the new

Commander-in-chief, Lord Combermere, consented to with-

draw the remains of the army from this lazaretto,

second cam- Sir Archibald Campbell, after having been

paign, 1825. encamped nine months at Rangoon, and lost two

months of the season for operations, at length moved up
towards the capital, on the 13th February. The army was

divided into three columns, one of which, by an unaccountable

fancy, was sent down under Colonel Sale, to occupy the town

2 i> 2
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and district of Bassein, on the southern coast, where there

was no reason to apprehend any kind of danger. The small

Burmese force fled at his approach, and he returned to Kan-

goon without any loss, save that of invaluable time. Another

column moved up by land, under the personal command of

Sir Archibald, without seeing the face of an enemy. The

third proceeded by water up the Irawaddy, under Brigadier

Cotton, and came abreast of Donabew on the 28th February.

All the resources of Burmese engineering science had been

employed by Bundoola in strengthening the fortifications of

this post. The stockade extended a mile along a sloping

bank of the river, and was composed of solid teak beams,

fifteen feet in length, firmly driven into the earth. Behind

this wooden wall the old brick ramparts afforded a firm footing

for the defenders. Upwards of a hundred and fifty guns and

swivels were mounted on the works, which were, moreover,

protected by a wide and deep ditch, rendered formidable by

spikes, nails, and holes. The garrison consisted of twelve

thousand men, and was commanded by Bundoola himself, who
maintained so stern a discipline that on one occasion when

some of his artillery-men shrunk from their post on seeing

their commander shot down, he descended to the spot, and

ordered the heads of two of the recreants to be struck off

and fixed to a pole, by way of example. The Brigadier suc-

ceeded in carrying the smaller works, but met with a signal

defeat in his attempt to storm the larger entrenchment ; and

having indiscreetly left one of his regiments behind him on

the route, pronounced his force unequal to the capture of the

place. Sir Archibald had scarcely three months left for the

campaign when he left Rangoon, and the capital was five

hundred miles distant. But it was indispensable to retrieve the

honour of the British arms, and to keep open his communica-

tions with the sea. Preferring, as he remarked, the sacrifice

of time to the loss of men, he marched back to the succour

of Brigadier Cotton with his whole force, and thus incurred

the loss of an entire month. The attack began on the 1st
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April, when a shower of shells and rockets was poured down
on the Burmese encampment. The next morning, the heavy

guns and mortars began to play on it, but no answer was

returned, and soon after the whole of the Burmese army was
observed to be in full retreat. Bundoola had, in fact, been

killed by the bursting of a shell the preceding night, and

with him expired all the courage and spirit of his troops. No
farther obstacle was offered to the advance of the General,

and Prome was occupied without firing a shot. But the rains

were approaching, and the second campaign was brought to

a close within ten weeks, during which the army had advanced

a hundred and fifty miles.

Negotiations for The war was found to be more expensive than

Peace, 1825. anv^ which the Company had ever been engaged.

The mere field expenses, together with the cost of the addi-

tional troops who had been enlisted without necessity at

the Bengal Presidency to fill up the gap temporarily created

by the Burmese expedition, were estimated at a lac of rupees

a-day. It was proposed to halt at Prome, and act on the

defensive, but Lord Amherst wisely rejected this advice, under

the conviction that the most effectual mode of bringing the

war to a termination was to push on rapidly towards the capi-

tal. At the same time he urged the General to welcome any

disposition on the part of the Burmese for peace, and that no

opportunity of negotiation might be lost, associated in a

commission with him, the naval Commander-in-chief, and

Mr. Thomas Campbell Robertson, a civilian of experience and

judgment, who had been the political agent at Chittagong.

Mr. Ross Mangles, a young civilian of great promise, was

appointed to act as secretary. Before the arrival of the

Commissioners, the General had intimated to the Burmese

Court that he was authorized to negotiate a peace. The over-

ture was readily accepted ; an armistice was concluded for a

month, and envoys were sent down from Ava to the British

encampment. They were informed that the King would be

required to at stain from all interference in Cachar and Assam,
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to recognise the independence of Munipore, to cede the pro-

vinces of Aracau and Tenasserim, and pay two crores of rupees
towards the expenses of the war. They stated that it was

beyond their power to accede to these severe terms, and the

armistice was prolonged to enable them to make a reference

to Ava. The reply of the King was brief and simple :
" The

English must empty their hands of what they hold, and then

send a petition for the release of the European captives ;
but

if they hint at the cession of territory or the payment of

money there must be an end of all friendship." In that spirit

of indomitable perseverance which the Burmese had mani-

fested throughout the war, and which in some measure atoned

for the want of courage, another army of forty thousand men
was collected and sent to Prome, with orders to expel the

English. With this body there was an engagement at Watti-

gaum in which the British troops were repulsed from the

stockades with the loss of two hundred men, of whom ten

were officers. Emboldened by this success, the Burmese com-

mander advanced against the British lines, but was signally

defeated and very closely pursued. On the 26th December

a boat with a flag of truce made its appearance with fresh

envoys from Ava to renew the negotiations. It was anchored

in the middle of the stream, and the plenipotentiaries entered

it from opposite directions, with a retinue of fifty men on each

side. The Burmese ministers waived every objection to the

territorial cessions, but withstood the pecuniary payment, on

the score of poverty, with so much earnestness that the

English Commissioners were induced to reduce it by one-half.

A treaty was accordingly signed on the 3rd January, and the

royal ratification was promised on the 18th of the month. A
little incident which occurred during the conference serves to

illustrate the character of Burmese officials. One of their

attendants, in lighting a cigar on the roof of the boat, hap-

pened to drop a spark on some loose gunpowder, which caused

a slight explosion, and startled the principal envoy. When
the offender was named to him, he exclaimed, "cut off his
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hand," and a moment after added, "off with his head," and

the sentence would have been executed at once, but for the

earnest entreaty of Sir Archibald. But the ratification never

arrived ; the time was employed, as the Burmese had intended

it should be, in strengthening the fortifications of Mellown,
which lay opposite the British encampment on the Irawaddy.
The British force attacked it with great vigour on the 19th

January, captured all the guns, stores, and ammunition, and

after delivering the encampment to the flames, pursued its

march towards the capital.

The king began now to tremble for his throne,
Final engage-
ment and peace, and released Dr. Price, one of the American mis-

sionaries whom he had placed in confinement,

and sent him down with another of the European captives to

renew the negotiations. They were informed that no severer

terms would be exacted in consequence of the victory at Mel-

lown, but that one-fourth of the indemnity must be paid down
within twenty days. The two European gentlemen returned

to Ava, with the promise of appearing in the English camp
on the 12th February, if the proposal was accepted by the

king. But before that day he was induced to make one final

effort to avert this humiliation. One of his military chiefs, in

a burst of patriotism, engaged to expel the invaders if he

were entrusted with an army. All the troops the Burmese

were now able to muster did not exceed the number of 16,000,

and with these the general marched down towards the Eng-
lish encampment, resolved to abandon the national mode of

warfare, and, instead of digging holes and erecting stockades,

to assail the British army boldly in the open field. Sir Archi-

bald had only 1,300 men left out of his whole army to meet

this force, but 900 of them were European veterans. The

result of the engagement, which took place at Paghan-mew,

may be easily imagined. The Burmese force was totally

routed, and fled back to the capital in wild disorder, and the

Burmese general expiated his patriotism by being trampled to

death under the feet of an elephant. Sir Archibald advanced
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to Yandaboo, within forty miles of the capital. The last

Burmese army had been extinguished, the strength of the

monarchy was completely exhausted, and the king hastened to

send Dr. Price, in company with Mr. Judson, the head of the

American mission, who had suffered a cruel captivity in Ava
for two years, and with two of his own ministers, to accept

whatever terms the English general might dictate. They

brought with them the first instalment of the money, and all

the European prisoners save one, who was detained for a

time, because the king had been informed that the Company
had married one of his relatives ! The treaty of Tandaboo was

signed on the 24th February. The king ceded Assam, Aracan,

and Tenasserim to the Company, agreed to pay a crore of

rupees towards the expenses of the war, and to submit to the

admission of a British minister at Ava, although there is

nothing to which Eastern princes feel so bitter an aversion as

the residence of a European representative a barbarian eye,

as they term it at their courts.

Bemarks on This was the first occasion on which the British

the war, 1826. arms were carried beyond the confines of India,

and great fears were entertained lest the Company should

thus be drawn into collision with the various Indo-Chinese

nations ; but the apprehension has proved groundless. The

Burmese war was also more expensive and less recuperative

than any which had preceded it. The great Mahratta and

Pindaree war cost the Government only a crore of rupees,

which was more than covered by a year's revenue of the

provinces acquired by it. The Burmese war cost thirteen

crores, and the return consisted in three impoverished and

thinly inhabited provinces. A fatality seemed, moreover, to

mark every arrangement in this war, and in the presence of a

contemptible enemy, it was remarkable only for want of

judgment and perpetual delay. Its character was not re-

deemed by a single stroke of generalship. A great outcry

was consequently raised against Lord Amherst in England ;

he was denounced in the Court of Proprietors as in every way
unfit, by education, habits, and character, for the Government
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of India, and repeated attempts were made to procure his

recall. But Sir Thomas Munro, whose opinion was entitled to

more confidence than that of any other statesman of the day,

considered that there was great injustice in the idle clamour

raised against the Governor-General. The Court of Directors,

he said, were unreasonable in expecting to find every day for the

Supreme Government such men as Cornwallis, and Wellesley,

and Hastings, who appeared only once or twice in an age.

Lord Amherst was as good a Governor-General as they were

likely to send out. His situation was an arduous one ; he

was necessarily influenced by Captain Canning and the mili-

tary authorities around him ; he was new to India, and the

Burmese were entirely unknown to us. But we lose sight of

the mismanagement of the war when we view the prosperous
condition which the provinces it gave us presents after the

lapse of forty years. The energy and enterprize of the inter-

lopers whom the Court of Directors endeavoured to exclude

from India in 1813, have contributed in no small degree
to augment the resources and the strength of the empire.

They have covered Assam with tea gardens. The desolate and

pestilental swamp of Aracan has become the granary of the

Bay of Bengal, and hundreds of vessels are annually employed
in conveying its produce from the port of Akyab to India,

China, and Europe. Moulmein, the capital of the Tenasserim

provinces, which contained only half a dozen fishermen's huts

when it was first occupied, has become a flourishing port, with

a population of fifty thousand, and a trade of half a million a-

year.

Mutiny at
^e progress of the Burmese war gave rise to

Ban-ackpore, "another sepoy mutiny. The Aracan expedition

was composed of two regiments of Europeans and

of several native corps from Madras and Bengal. The

Madras troops embarked with extraordinary alacrity ;
those

from Bengal, owing to their religious aversion to the sea,

were directed to march down the coast. The disaster at

Ramoo had diffused throughout the army a great dread of the

Burmese soldiers who were represented as magicians, and
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created a passionate repugnance to the service. The Bengal

sepoys had been accustomed to provide for the transport of

their own baggage out of their pay, but the public demand

for cattle had not only doubled the price, but exhausted the

local supplies. Towards the end of October, the 47th Native

Infantry at Barrackpore, one of the regiments warned for

service, presented a respectful memorial setting forth the

extreme difficulty of procuring the means of conveyance.
The representation was just and reasonable, and might have

been investigated without any peril, but the military chiefs,

accustomed to the stringent discipline and implicit obedience of

European regiments, resented the slightest appearance of back-

wardness in the native army, and the sepoys were informed

that they would receive no assistance from Government, and

must procure their own cattle at their own expense, without

delay. Discontent was thus ripened into insubordination ;

excited meetings were held in the cantonments ; the sepoys
rose in their demands, and solemnly pledged themselves not

to march without a supply of cattle, and also an increase of

pay. To augment the embarrassment of the crisis, the whole

army had been recently remodelled, and officers transferred

from one regiment to another. Those of the 47th had been

only three months with the corps, and had not acquired any
influence over the men. On the 1st November, the 47th was

paraded in marching order, but scarcely a third of the regi-

ment fell in ; the rest assembled tumultuously in the adjacent

lines. The commandant of the station and other officers of

rank attempted to reason with them, but were repulsed with

vehement gestures and vociferations. The Commander-in-

chief then resolved to crush the mutiny by force of arms.

Two regiments of Europeans, a detachment of horse artillery?

and the Governor-General's body-guard, were marched over

night to Barrackpore and drawn up, unperceived, in the vicinity

of the parade ground. In the morning, the Commander-in-

chief came on the ground with his staff. The regiment was

paraded, and officers, whom the men were accustomed to
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respect, were sent to remonstrate with them, but without

success. The sepoys were ordered to march forthwith, or to

ground arms. They stood still in a state of stupid despera-

tion, resolved not to yield, but making no effort at resistance.

A volley was discharged by the artillery, when they cast

away their arms with a loud shriek, and fled in dismay. The

European troops then fired on them, and the body-guard
sabred the fugitives. The slaughter on the ground and on

the line of pursuit was very severe, and some were drowned

in attempting to swim across the river. The ringleaders were

subsequently tried by court-martial, and executed ;
and others

were sentenced to hard labour in irons. A Court of Inquiry
was held, which came to the decision that the "

mutiny was

an ebullition of despair at being compelled to march without

the means of doing so." There was no intention of resistance

on the part of the sepoys, as scarcely one of the muskets left

on the ground was found to be loaded, though each man had

forty rounds of ammunition. When the corps had reached a

state of actual mutiny, armed coercion was the only course

which could be adopted, but the military authorities incurred

a heavy responsibility by treating their legitimate representa-

tions with scorn. The Bengal sepoys are, after all, but a

mercenary militia, bound to serve their foreign rulers within

the limits of their own country. A little consideration for

men required to march into an unknown region, peopled by
the terrors of their imagination with goblins who had des-

troyed their fellow-soldiers, would have averted the catas-

trophe; but the sharpness of the remedy served to secure

the subordination of the native army for sixteen years. In

the following year Lord Amherst availed himself of the con-

quest of Aracan, to grant a free pardon to all the prisoners,

but so little did they appreciate this act of kindness, that they

asked, as they left the jail, what compensation they were to

receive for the brass lotas, or water-pots, they had lost on the

morning of the mutiny.

General spirit of The condition of India at the beginning of the
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disaffection, Burmese war was such as to create much dis-
1824.

quietude, though no alarm. Nothing is so soon

forgotten in India as our successes, and nothing so long and

so heartily remembered as our reverses. The recollection of

the splendid triumphs of the Mahratta and Pindaree war had

begun to fade, and some of the princes whom we had rescued

from oppression were impatient under the restraints imposed
on them, and the punctual demand of the tributes they had

agreed to pay. There were few districts in Hindostan in

which disaffection was not, more or less, manifested ; the

Mahratta states were not free from disorders, and one of the

old Pindaree chiefs emerged from obscurity and collected a

small band of followers. This fermentation in various and

widely separated provinces was important chiefly from its

common origin in the contempt which was growing up for

British power. The withdrawal of troops for the Burmese war,

and the reports, which were diligently circulated of our non-

success, as well as of the talismanic prowess of the Burmese,

produced no small agitation among the natives. They had

been accustomed to see a campaign begun and ended in a few

months; but in the second year of the Burmese war, the

army had scarcely advanced a third of the way to the capital.

The hopes of our downfall, always fondly cherished by the

princes of India, were again revived. But in no instance was

the defiance of our power so bold and significant
Bhurtpore, 1825.

J, .

as at Bhurtpore. Kunjeet oing, the Jaut chief,

who had baffled Lord Lake in 1805, bequeathed the kingdom
to his son in 1823, on whose death, without issue, it devolved

on his brother. He was infirm in health, and applied to Sir

David Ochterlony, the British representative in Malwa and

Kajpootana, to recognize his son, a child of six years, as his

successor. The question was referred to Calcutta, and, in

obedience to the express orders of the Governor-General in

Council, the investiture was performed by one of the political

officers of the Residency. A twelvemonth after he ascended

the throne, on the death of his father, under the guardianship
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of his maternal uncle. But before a month had elapsed,

Doorjun Saul, the nephew of the deceased raja, an ambitious

and impetuous youth, having succeeded in corrupting the

troops, put the guardian to death, and placed his cousin in

confinement. Sir David, acting on his own responsibility, and

with his usual energy, zeal, and promptitude, lost no time in

issuing a proclamation to the Jauts to rally round their lawful

sovereign, and in ordering a force of 16,000 men with a hun-

dred guns into the field to support his rights, and vindicate

the authority of the British Government. But the Governor-

General disapproved of this proceeding. He denied that we
were bound to uphold the young raja by force of arms. He
considered it imprudent to embark the small disposable force

in the north-west in a new war during the hot weather, while

we were engaged in a conflict in Burmah, the extent, or dura-

tion, or demands of which could not be foreseen. Consider-

ing all the circumstances of the time, the Government was

prudent in hesitating to incur the risk of a second siege of

Bhurtpore.
" A failure there," wrote Sir Charles Metcalfe,

" would have given a shock to our power in every part of

India, shaken the confidence of our army, and confirmed the

fatal belief that we could be successfully resisted."

communication
The opinion of Government might, however,

to and from have been communicated to Sir David Ochterlony
Sir David . , e , -, i

Ochterlony, in a manner worthy ot his long and eminent ser-

vices, but for some time past there had been a

strong desire in Calcutta to remove him from his post, and he

had been repeatedly thwarted in his proceedings. He had

latterly exhibited some of the infirmities of age, though it

could not be denied that in the present instance he had mani-

fested all the vigour of youth. Accustomed, moreover, as he

had long been, to the exercise of great authority, and feeling

a just confidence in his own experience, he was, perhaps, dis-

posed to stretch the exercise of his power beyond the limits of

his subordinate position. The unauthorized assemblage of a

field force presented the occasion which had long been desired,
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of getting rid of him. He was informed that he had acted

on imperfect and unsatisfactory information, and that his

measures were precipitate and unjustifiable ; he was ordered

to countermand the march of the troops arid to recall his pro-

clamation. The letter was intended to provoke him to a

resignation, and Sir Charles Metcalfe was summoned from

Hyderabad to supersede him before he could receive it. He

replied to this communication with much, and perhaps with

undue, warmth. He said the usurpation would never have

been attempted but under the strong impression then preva-

lent that the Government was no longer in a position to

punish insolence and to support right, and he affirmed that

his military preparations fully justified the expectation that

the fort would fall in a fortnight. As to the hot winds which

had been adduced as an argument against the expedition, the

old soldier remarked that the hour of necessity and the call

of honour fixed the time for military operations. It was on

this principle that, in his youth, the army had kept the field

three years against Hyder, knowing no repose but during the

rains, when the country was equally impassable for both

parties. On this principle also, Lord Lake began the campaign
of 1803, in the height of the rains, and remained under canvas

during the hot winds of 1804, in the hottest province in Hiii-

dostan. He considered every moment of delay a submission

to disgrace. But, in obedience to the orders he had received,

he suspended the progress of the army, and issued another

proclamation to the effect that the Government proposed, in the

first instance, to investigate the merits of the question of the

succession. He then tendered his resignation, stating that
" as he had erred so egregiously in what he considered the

proper and dignified course to pursue, he could no longer
conceal from himself his unfitness for the situation he held."

The ungenerous treatment to which he had been subjected,
broke his heart, and he retired to Meerut, where he died

within two months, as he said, with a bitter feeling,
" dis-

gTaced," after an illustrious career of half a century, during
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which there were few military operations in which he had

not taken an active part. In the camp which he formed for

the reduction of Bhurtpore in 1826, he discoursed with great

zest of his early campaigns in the Carnatic in the days of

Hastings and Coote. He was one of the brightest ornaments

of the Company's service, equally eminent in the cabinet and

in the field, a man born for high command and fitted to

strengthen the power and to sustain the dignity of Great

Britain in India. As the British representative in Malwa and

Rajpootana, he commanded universal deference, as well by
the equity of his decisions as by the magnificence of his

retinue, which from tune immemorial has always been an

element of power in eastern countries. He was not, how-

ever, without his weak side. The blind confidence which he

reposed in the natives around him was employed, as usual,

for the purpose of extortion, the odium of which fell on his

reputation. His moonshee had the presumption to place his

name on the pension list of the King of Delhi for a thousand

rupees a-month, where it remained till it was accidentally

discovered by his master ; but he was happily the last of the

moonshees of European officers who created a princely for-

tune out of his position. Sir David's memory was more

especially cherished by the Indian army from the fact that he

was the first Company's officer who received the highest
honours of the Bath, which, down to the period of the Nepal

war, had been invidiously confined to the officers of the

Crown.

Proceedings of While Sir David was assembling the army,

She
8*"11

Doorjun Saul manifested a spirit of entire sub-

councii, 1825. mission to the British Government, and professed
to be satisfied with the regency, but when he found that the

troops were remanded, he assumed a higher tone, claimed

the throne itself, and prevailed on the chiefs of his tribe to

rally round him. His cause became popular, as soon as it

was understood that he intended to hold Bhurtpore against

the will of the Governor-General. Rajpoots, Jauts, Mahrat-
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tas, Afghans, and not a few of the Company's own subjects,

flocked to his standard, and a body of 25,000 men was

speedily collected for the defence of the place. From the

neighbouring Mahratta and Rajpoot chiefs he received every

token of encouragement, and it was firmly believed that they

were fully prepared to take part in the quarrel. The Supreme
Council met to deliberate on this perilous state of affairs soon

after the death of Sir David. The two civilian members of

Council, and the Commander-in-chief maintained, that as the

young raja had been invested with the insignia of royalty

under the authority of the Governor-General, they were

bound to support him against a usurper, at any hazard, more

especially as the increasing disorders in the north-west

threatened a general convulsion. Lord Amherst alone strenu-

ously resisted all active measures from an overwhelming dread

of a second failure at Bhurtpore. Happily Sir Charles Met-

calfe arrived in Calcutta in August on his way to Delhi, and,

after a careful examination of all the documents on the ques-

tion, drew up a clear, bold, and masterly minute, which at

once decided the policy of the Government. " We have, by

degrees," he said,
" become the paramount state in India. In

1817, it became the established principle of our policy to

maintain tranquillity among the states of India

and we cannot be indifferent spectators of anarchy therein

without ultimately giving up India again to the pillage

and confusion from which we then rescued her. ....
We are bound, not by any positive engagement to the Bhurt-

pore state, nor by any claim on her part, but by our duty
as supreme guardians of general tranquillity, law, and right,

to maintain the legal succession of Bulwunt Sing. . . Our

supremacy has been violated, or slighted, under the impression
that we were prevented by entanglements elsewhere from

sufficiently resenting the indignity. ... A display and

vigorous exercise of our power, if rendered necessary, would

be likely to bring back men's minds in that quarter to a

proper tone, and the capture of Bhurtpore, if effected in a
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glorious manner, would do us more honour throughout India,

by the removal of the hitherto uufaded impressions caused by
our former failure, than any other event that can be con-

ceived." Lord Amherst surrendered his opinion to Sir Charles

Metcalfe, and had the candour and grace to place the fact on

record. The Council was now unanimous, and on the 18th

September, at a time when the Court of Directors maintained

that " the settlement of 1818 had in no degree extended our

right of interference in the internal concerns of other states,

except as it had been provided by treaty," passed the follow-

ing manly resolution :
"
Impressed with a full conviction that

the existing disturbances at Bhurtpore, if not speedily quieted,

will produce general commotion and interruption of the public

tranquillity in Upper India, and feeling convinced that it is our

solemn duty, no less than our right, as the paramount power
and conservators of the general peace, to interfere for the

prevention of these evils, the Governor-General in Council

resolves that authority be conveyed to Sir Charles Metcalfe to

accomplish the above object, and to maintain the succession

of the rightful heir to the raj of Bhurtpore, if practicable, by

expostulation and remonstrance ; and should these fail, by a

resort to measures of force."

Sir Charles's expostulations and remonstrances,
Capture of

.

A

Bhurtpore, as might have been expected, were lost upon

Doorjun Saul, who determined to hold the for-

tress to the last extremity, and it became necessary to resort

to arms. To the astonishment of the princes of Upper India,

who believed that the war in which the Company were

engaged in Burmah had absorbed all their military resources,

a British army of 20,000 men, together with a hundred mor-

tars and heavy ordnance, suddenly sprung up in the midst of

them. Bhurtpore was considered an insuperable check to

British power, and the last bulwark of national independence,
and the eyes of all India were fixed upon the siege, not

without a general wish for its failure. The head-quarters of

the Commander-in-chief, now Lord Combermere, were estab-

II. 2 E
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lished before it on the 10th December, and Sir Charles Met-

calfe soon after joined the camp. At a short distance from

the town there was a lake, separated from it by an embank-

ment, which the defenders had cut in the former siege, and

thus filled the ditch with water. On the present occasion

they had commenced the same operation, but by the timely

arrival of a British detachment, and the energetic exertions of

Captain Irvine, the flow of water was checked, and the breach

repaired. A delay of a few moments would have altered the

result of the siege. The defences of this celebrated fort con-

sisted of lofty and thick walls of clay, five miles in circum-

ference, hardened in the sun, supported and bound by beams

and logs, rising from the edge of a ditch, fifty-five feet in

depth, and a hundred and fifty feet broad. It was strengthened

by the outworks of nine gateways, and flanked by thirty-five

lofty mud bastions, one of which, called the "bastion of vic-

tory," was built to commemorate the defeat of Lord Lake, and,

as they vauntingly said, with the skulls and bones of those who
had fallen in the first siege. For the level country in which it

was situated, the fortification was the strongest, and, so to

speak, the most impregnable which could be devised. Thirty-

six mortars and forty-eight pieces of heavy ordnance played on

the ramparts for many days without making any impression on

the walls, or creating a practicable breach. The heaviest shot

only caused the defences to crumble into rugged masses

falling down on each side of the conical wall, but leaving the

ascent scarcely less steep and inaccessible than before. At
the commencement of operations Colonel Galloway, who had

been present at the former siege, and had written a valuable

treatise on Indian fortifications, and Lieutenant afterwards

General Forbes, had, unknown to each other, urged on Lord

Combermere the necessity of endeavouring to create a breach

by mining, but the proposal was treated with contempt. It

was only when every effort to breach the wall by batteries

had hopelessly failed, that the chief engineer consented to

adopt this advice and to have recourse to mines, several of
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which were completed and fired, but without any adequate
result. A great mine was at length completed, and charged
with ten thousand pounds of powder. The explosion, which

took place on the 18th January, seemed to shake the founda-

tions of the earth ; enormous masses of hardened earth, and

blocks of timber, mingled with heads, legs, and arms, were

sent flying into the air, and the sky was darkened with

volumes of smoke and dust. The column destined for the

assault, under General Keynell, rushed up the breach and

bayonetted the defenders, who fought to the last with the

greatest resolution. Six thousand according to other

accounts double that number were said to have fallen in the

siege, while the loss in the Company's army did not exceed a

thousand. Doorjun Saul was captured as he endeavoured

to make his escape, and sent first to Allahabad and then to

Benares, where he passed twenty-five years of his life, in

that asylum of disinherited princes, upon a pittance of five

hundred rupees a-month. The boy raja was conducted to

the throne by Sir Charles Metcalfe and Lord Combermere,
but the laurels of Bhurtpore were dishonoured by rapacity.

The siege was undertaken to expel a usurper and to restore

the throne to the rightful prince, yet all the state treasures

and jewels found in the citadel, to the extent of forty-eight

lacs of rupees, were unscrupulously pronounced by the military

authorities to be lawful prize, and at once distributed among
the officers and men. Six lacs fell to the share of the

Commander-in-chief. This procedure was defended by the

sophism that " as Doorjun Saul had been in quiet possession of

the throne, and acknowledged by all parties as the Maharaja,
no individual either openly or secretly supporting the claims

of Bulwunt Sing, naturally gave the former the full right to

all the property in the fort, and deprived the latter of any
claim which he might be supposed to have to it." This

spoliation was denounced by Sir Charles Metcalfe, in terms

of indignation :
" Our plundering here," he wrote,

" has been

very disgraceful, and has tarnished our well-earned honours.
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Until I can get rid of the prize agents, I cannot establish

the sovereignty of the young raja, whom we came professedly
to protect, but have been plundering to the last lotah water-

pot since he fell into our hands."

Effect of the The capture of Bhurtpore is a salient point in

capture, 1826. ^e history of British progress in India. Though
absolute masters of the whole continent, our prestige still

seemed to be suspended upon the issue of the siege, which

was watched with extraordinary interest throughout the

country, and more particularly in the metropolis. Government

had been constrained to open a loan in the month of August,
but the moneyed classes hung back from it till the result of the

siege was known. The privilege of private posts had not

then been abolished, and the Calcutta bankers received daily

intelligence of the progress of operations before Bhurtpore

more speedily than the Governor-General obtained it through
the public mail, and the first intimation which the Govern-

ment received of the capture of the town was from the sudden

influx, of subscriptions to the loan, to the extent of thirty

lacs of rupees, as soon as the treasury opened for the

day. Bhurtpore was dismantled, and the proud walls which

had baffled the hero of Laswaree and Delhi were levelled with

the ground. The capture of the town and fort by the skill

of British engineers diffused a salutary feeling of awe

throughout India, and, combined with the simultaneous sub-

mission of the Burmese, dissolved the hopes of the dis-

affected, and strengthened the power of Government.

The gross mismanagement of the Burmese war
Honours con- .

ferred on Lord had created great discontent in England, but the
Amnerst, 1826, g^^ssfui termination of it brought the Governor-

General a step in the peerage as Earl Amherst of Aracan

though the most disastrous of his expeditions and a vote of

thanks from the Court of Directors for " his active, strenuous,

and persevering efforts in conducting to a successful issue

the late war with the King of Ava." On the return of peace

he made a progress through the north-west, and held stately
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durbars, and the native princes who had recently been medi-

tating the downfall of British power, hastened to offer their

homage to it. In the summer of 1827 he proceeded to Simlah,

the delightful climate and majestic scenery of which was then

for the first time selected as a summer retreat by the head of

the Government. His example has been followed by his suc-

cessors, and this sanatarium has now become the annual resort

of European officers and residents in the north-west from the

heat of the plains to such an extent as to support a banking

Financial results,
establishment. The financial result of Lord

1828 - Amherst's administration was calamitous. The

wealth left in the treasury by Lord Hastings was dissipated ;

the surplus of revenue was converted into a deficit, and an

addition of ten crores was made to the public debt. Of this

sum about one-fourth was obtained from the hoards of the

King of Oude, the perennial reservoir of the Calcutta treasury.

Large sums were likewise subscribed by native chiefs and

bankers after the capture of Bhurtpore, and Bajee Rao him-

self was induced to invest in "
Company's paper" some portion

of the accumulations of his annuity. Lord Amherst, imme-

diately after his arrival, and while new to the
Lord Amherst
and the Press, country and to the community, was led by the

Tory members of the Government to continue

those truculent proceedings against the press which they
had originated. But it was not long before he adopted a more

generous policy, and on his departure was complimented by
the journals in Calcutta " on the liberality and even magna-

nimity with which he had tolerated the free expression of

public opinion on his own individual measures, when he had

the power to silence them with a stroke of his pen." It was

during his absence at Simlah, and without his concurrence,

that the Vice-President in Council revoked the licence of one

of the Calcutta papers, and ruined the proprietor, for a racy

but innocent squib on the higher members of the service,

similar to those which form the weekly attraction of the

London " Punch." This was happily the last interference on
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the part of the public authorities with the local press. Within

thirteen months of this vindictive act Lord William Bentinck

practically restored its freedom, and on his departure, Sir

Charles Metcalfe placed that freedom on a legal basis,

sir Thomas Sir Thomas Muuro, the Governor of Madras,
Munro, 1827. wag anxious to resign his post in 1824, but was

solicited to assist in fitting out the Burmese expedition, and

in supplying its wants. His advanced age and the state

of his health required repose, but he resolved to obey the call of

duty. So energetic were his exertions as to draw from Lord

Amherst and his Council the graceful acknowledgment, that,

but for his aid,
"

it would have been impossible to undertake

the vigorous measures which were adopted." The year after

the conclusion of the war, while preparing to return to his

native land, he was smitten down by an attack of cholera.

He ranks among the greatest of the Company's servants. He
was a man of strong mind and original thought, and united a

solid and practical judgment with broad views of policy.

Mr. Canning was proud of having selected him for the

government of Madras, and stated in Parliament that
"
Europe never produced a more accomplished statesman, nor

India, fertile as it was in heroes, *a more skilful soldier." He
was one of the very rare instances of a good Governor of

Madras, and presented a very marked contrast to his pre-

decessor, Mr. Hugh Elliott, and to Mr. Lushington, who suc-

ceeded him. Mr. Canning took equal credit to himself for the

appointment of Mr. Elphinstone to the government of Bom-

bay. He was second to none of the great men who have

contributed to render the Company's rule successful and illus-

trious. It was he who organised the institutions of the

Bombay Presidency after it had been enlarged to its present
size by the territories acquired from the Peshwa, and one of

his last acts was the completion of the Bombay code, which

bears his name, and has served in no small degree to enhance

his reputation. Mr. Jenkins had been charged with the

management of the Nagpore territories after the deposition of
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Appa Sahib, during the minority of his successor, and resigned

it into his hands in 1826, when he came of age. His adminis-

tration was the most honest and beneficial the Bhoonslay

kingdom had ever been blessed with, and was rendered the

more memorable by the condition to which it relapsed when

again subjected to native rule. The same lamentable result

followed the removal of Sir Charles Metcalfe to Delhi, and

the consequent abandonment of the administrative system he

had introduced into the domains of the Nizam. By a singular

coincidence, each of these statesmen, though civilians, had

enjoyed an opportunity of acquiring laurels in the field, Sir

Charles Metcalfe at Deeg, Mr. Elphinstone at Kirkee, and

Mr. Jenkins at Seetabuldee ; but it was the revenue settle-

ment and civil administration of the large kingdoms confided to

them at Hyderabad, Bombay, and Nagpore, which formed the

chief distinction of their career. They may be considered, in

conjunction with Sir John Malcolm, Sir Thomas Munro, and

Sir David Ochterlony, as forming that galaxy of talent which

gave solidity and splendour to the Company's government

during the first quarter of the present century.

Lord Amherst's Lord Amherst was constrained to leave Cal-

departure, 1828. cufta earlier than he had expected through the

illness of his son, and embarked for England in February,
1828. Mr. Bayley, the senior member of Council, a dis-

ciple of Lord Wellesley's school, succeeded temporarily to the

office of Governor-General, and was for four months employed
in discussing and maturing some of those great measures of

reform which rendered the next administration memorable iu

the history of British India.
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NOTICE.

The small proportion of the present work which has been

allotted to the Hindoo and Mahomedan period of Indian

history has been the subject of remark by those who have

honoured the previous volumes with their notice. The author

would therefore embrace the present opportunity of explaining

that it was intimated to him by the Syndicate of the University

of Calcutta that they had adopted Mr. Elphinstone's standard

work in reference to that early period, and desired the present

work to commence where he had left off, with the history of

the British Empire in India. He was happy to be relieved

from the necessity of going over ground which had been so

fully occupied by that eminent writer, and cheerfully reduced

the volume he had already compiled to the dimensions of a

simple introduction.

1st November, 1867.
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CHAPTER XXX.

LORD WILLIAM BENTINCk's ADMINISTRATION, 1828—1835.

Lord William The claims of Lord William Bentinck were at

SSration,
leng"th recognized by the Court of Directors, and

1828. the stigma which had been unjustly cast on his

character by his abrupt and harsh removal from Madras in

1806, was effaced by the gift of the Governor-Generalship.
He was sworn in at the India House in July, 1827, while his

relative, Mr. Canning, who had promoted his nomination,
was Prime Minister ; but the lamented decease of that states-

man a few days after brought into power those members of

his party who had been opposed to his elevation, and Lord

William suspended his departure till he was satisfied that they
were not disposed to object to his appointment. He sailed in

February, and reached Calcutta on the 4th July, 1828. His

administration of seven years, which forms one of the brightest

periods in the history of British India, commenced under the

most unfavourable circumstances. The Burmese war had

not only saddled the treasury with a loan to the extent of ten

crores of rupees, but created an annual deficit of a crore ; and

the new Government was constrained at once to enter upon
the unpopular duty of retrenchment.

in. B
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Redaction of Immediately on his arrival two committees were

Allowances, appointed to investigate the increase of expendi-

ture in the civil and military establishments, and

to suggest the means of bringing it back to the standard of

1822. The sweeping reductions which the Court of Directors

had already made in the strength of the army left little for the

military committee to do except to curtail individual allowances,

though they were in no case excessive, and in many cases in-

adequate. In the civil departments the allowances of the civi-

lians presented a more legitimate field for revision. During

the previous thirty-five years the only two items which had

never experienced any diminution, but on the contrary exhibited

a constant tendency to increase, were the public debt and the

pay of the civil service. To select one example by way of

illustration : the remuneration of an opium agent, for duties

which required no mind and little labour, had been gradually

augmented to 75,000 rupees a-year. Lord William Bentinck

cut it down to a level with the salary of the Chancellor of the

Exchequer in England. Some offices were abolished, a few

were doubled up, and the income of others was reduced, but

the retrenchments did not affect the aggregate allowances

of the service to a greater extent than six per cent. It was
still the best paid service in the world, enjoying an annual

income of ninety lacs of rupees, which, divided among four

hundred and sixteen officers, gave each civilian, from the mem-
ber of Council to the writer, an average allowance of more than

20,000 rupees a-year. But the reductions effected by Lord
William Bentinck, combined with his stern resolution to con-

strain every man to do his duty, punctually and efficiently,

created a feeling of irritation in the ranks of the service beyond
all former example, and subjected him to insults which severely
taxed his habitual equanimity.

The Half Batta Of the measures of reduction which Lord Wil-
order, 1828. iiam Bentinck was constrained to carry out, none
was found to create so much animosity as the half batta order.

Soon, after the beginning of the century an arrangement had
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been proposed which assured the officers of the army full

batta in cantonments in the lower provinces. It bore the

character of a compromise, and was considered by them in the

light of a sacred compact. It did not, however, meet with the

approval of the India House, and directions were issued succes-

sively to Lord Hastings and to Lord Amherst, to reduce the batta

allowance by one half. Both the Governors-General deemed

it their duty to suspend the execution of the order pend-

ing a reference to the Court of Directors, but they simply

repeated then injunctions in more peremptory language. Their

last despatch on the subject reached Calcutta soon after the

arrival of Lord William Bentinck, who was then for the first

time put in possession of their wishes, and issued an order in

November, 1828, to curtail the batta allowance at all stations

within four hundred miles of Calcutta. This measure kindled

a flame throughout the army, which at one time threatened to

consume the bonds of obedience. A word from the officers at

that moment, and the whole Bengal army would, it was firmly

believed, have risen to a man. One officer went so far as to

declare on his honour that if an enemy were to appear in the

field, he did not believe there was a single officer who would

give, or a regiment which would obey the order to march. The

statement was doubtless exaggerated, but it will serve to show

the irritation which then pervaded the army, and which sub-

jected Lord William Bentinck to such gross personal insults

from the officers as no Governor-General had ever before expe-
rienced. An attempt was made to form representative com-

mittees in the army, on the principle which had been adopted

by the mutineers in 1796, but it was peremptorily forbidden by
the Commander-in-chief, Lord Combermere, though he did not

hesitate to declare that he considered the order itself unjust,

and inconsistent with the implied conditions of the service.

The Court of Directors were exasperated by this expression
of his opinion to such an extent as to intimate that he would

have been immediately superseded, if he had not already re-

signed their service. Lord William Bentinck felt that it was
b 2
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beyond his power to suspend the execution of the order, though
he considered it unnecessary, impolitic, and unjust, but he

transmitted all the memorials of the army to the Court of

Directors, stating that "
if it had been a new case, he would

have assumed the utmost latitude of discretion
; but, after the

Court had for the third time reiterated their orders, no alterna-

tive was left to him but to obey them." Sir Charles Metcalfe,

who was emphatically the friend of the army, had recently

been raised to Council, and fully concurred with Lord William

Bentinck that the order was one which could not have been

disobeyed, under existing circumstances, without assuming that

the executive Government in Calcutta was the supreme power
in the empire. The Court of Directors denounced the tone and

spirit of the memorials as subversive of every principle of

military obedience. They asserted their right, in common with

all Governments, to regulate the allowances of the public ser-

vants, and they signified their determination to enforce the

order they had issued. This resolution met with the full con-

currence of the Duke of Wellington. Considering the pass to

which matters had arrived, it was necessary for the mainten-

ance of discipline, to enforce the order, although it was an

egregious blunder. At the period when it was first issued,

the Indian treasurywas full to repletion, and the saving en

by these cheese parings would not have increased the surplus

revenue by more than one per cent. The reduction was, under

every aspect, impolitic ; it affected the most expensive stations,

and created an invidious distinction between the officers of

different arms in the same service. Dumdum, the head-quar-

ters of the artillery, was within the fatal circle of four hundred

miles, and the officers who had won their commissions after a

severe scientific competition, and who formed the elite of the

army, were condemned to reduced allowances; but those of the

cavalry, filled with the relatives and connections of the Direc-

tors, which was never cantoned in the lower provinces, were

exempted. The irritation, moreover, was annually revived, as

each regiment was required in succession to take its turn.
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matter of equity, at the penal stations. It appears strange

thai so astute a body as the Court of Directors should have

risked the attachment and confidence of a noble army for a

saving of less than two lacs of rupees a-year, but they were

net exempt from the infirmity of occasional spasms of zid. It

appears still more astonishing that during the thirty succeeding
- in which they retained the government of India, they

had not the magnanimity, if only as a graceful acknowledg-
ment of the services of the army in twent}' hard-earned

victories, to rescind an order which created perpetual irritation.

It was only after the government had passed into the hands

of the Crown that this act of injustice and impolicy was

redressed.

opium, 1830. In the attempt to adjust the finances of India,

the decrease of allowances afforded a larger scope for exertion

thau the increase of revenue; but it was not overlooked.

Opium has always presented a very elastic source of wealth

to the Government of India. The scheme of raising a revenue

from the manufacture of it originated with Warren Hastings,

and was matured by Sir John Shore, through whose diligent

efforts the purity of the drug was improved to such a degree
that a chest with the Company's trade mark and seal passed
like a bank note, without question, in China and throughout
the Eastern Archipelago. In the Gangetic provinces it was

grown in Behar and Benares, under the restrictions of a close

monopoly. It wTas also indigenous in Malwa, and, on the

restoration of tranquillity to that rich and distracted province

by the victories of Lord Hastings, the native capitalists eagerly

embarked in the cultivation of an article which yielded colossal

returns. The importation of Malwa opium into Bombay was

strictly prohibited, but the interdict was evaded by conveying
it across the desert to Kurrachee, in Sinde, and thence

to the Portuguese ports of Diu and Daman on the western

coasts, and, eventually, in vessels under Portuguese colours

to China and the east. The profits of the Company's monopoly
were seriously affected by this competition, and various plans

)
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were devised to check it, but they were chiefly remarkable for

the absence of either wisdom or equity. The purchase of the

whole crop in Malwa, which was adopted in one season, entailed

a loss to the extent of more than half-a-crore of rupees. The

restrictions, moreover, which it was sought to impose on the

native states in Central India, regarding the culture of the poppy,

were found to interfere unjustly with their independent action,

and often to occasion serious conflicts. Lord William Bentinck

put an end to the difficulty by establishing a system of licences

for the direct conveyance of the opium from the provinces in

Central India in which it was raised, to the port of Bombay,
and a progressive revenue has thus been established, without

annoyance either to prince or people.

Bent-free The final and successful effort which was made
Tenures, 1828. ^o reC0Ver the land revenue which had been aliena-

ted from the state by fraudulent deeds, belongs to Lord

William Bentinck's administration, though the regulation itself

was passed immediately before his arrival. The native go-

vernments had been in the habit of making grants of land to

individuals and to establishments, lay or ecclesiastical, free from

the payment of rent ; in other words, to bestow on them the

public share of the produce of the lands. Some of these grants

to charities and religious endowments were consecrated by
time, but, generally, rent free tenures in the Beccan were

resumed on every succession to the throne, and frequently

more than once during the same reign. The same practice

was common in Hindostan. Thus, the Nabob of Oude when

constrained by Lord Wellesley in 1801 to commute his annual

subsidy for a territorial cession, sought to compensate himself

by resuming the grants which had thus been made by his

predecessors. In the confusion occasioned by the disso-

lution of the Mogul empire this royal prerogative was

usurped by the governors of provinces, and sometimes by
their subordinate officers. On assuming the management of

the revenue the Council in Calcutta announced that all grants

made previous to the acquisition of the Dewanee in 1765, should
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be deemed valid ;
but as there existed no register of these

titles, the zemindars, farmers, and revenue officers set to work

unscrupulously to fabricate and to antedate them. A tenth

of the public revenue appears thus to have been alienated from

the support of the state during the infancy and inexperience

of the Company's administration. A vigorous native Govern-

ment would have summarily resumed all such grants, but the

Regulations of 1793 simply reserved the right of imposing the

public assessment on them after their illegality had been

established in a court of law. The laborious duty of conduct-

ing these investigations was imposed on the Collector, and

neglected. A more stringent Regulation was passed in 1819,

which empowered him to call for written documents, to exa-

mine witnesses, and to decide the validity of the title, with

the approbation of the Board of Revenue, leaving the proprietor

to make his appeal to the civil courts. But the Collector found

himself thwarted at every step in the performance of this

invidious task, by the mercenary officers of his own court,

who were bribed by the holders of the lands, and he became

lukewarm in the performance of it. Few cases were taken

up, and the decisions of the courts on appeal were so dilatory

and withal so contradictory, as to be equally unsatisfactory to

the appellant and to Government. It became necessary, there-

fore, either to relinquish altogether the pursuit of this lost

revenue, or to adopt a more vigorous course to recover it.

Accordingly, three weeks before the arrival of Lord William

Bentinck, a Regulation, long remembered as III of 1828, was

passed, by which special Commissioners, selected from the

ablest and most experienced officers in the judicial service,

were appointed to hear and determine appeals from the

decisions of the Collectors, who were stimulated to greater

activity under the influence of the new system. These ener-

getic proceedings produced great dissatisfaction among those

who were affected by the resumptions. They pleaded that

the difficulty of adducing evidence to establish the validity of

their titles had increased with the lapse of time ; that many
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documents had disappeared through the humidity of the cli-

mate and the ravages of the white ants, and that in the course of

several generations, lands, though originally obtained by fraud,

had been purchased, bond fide, and at an enhanced value, by
their present proprietors. There can be no doubt that the

resumption of these lands, or rather of the rent of them,—as

the parties were hi no cases dispossessed, inflicted great

unpopularity on the Government at the time, though by no

means to the extent winch has been assumed, but to affirm,

as some have done, that it was one of the leading causes of

the great mutiny of the sepoys thirty years after, is one of

the most gratuitous of assertions. The natives of the country,

though they had been accustomed to submit meekly to the

wholesale and indiscriminate resumption of such lands by the

arbitrary will of their native princes, resented the resumptions
when made by a foreign Government which had never been

popular, and they arraigned its justice and moderation ; but the

irritation did not outlive the generation affected by them, and

had passed out of memory long before the crisis of the mutiny
arose. The addition made to the rent-roll of the state by
this procedure, amounted to about thirty lacs of rupees a year,

while the machinery of investigation cost eighty lacs.

The political and military events of Lord William
The Cole

.

r
. ,

"*

.

insurrection, Bentinck s administration were of minor importance
1832 '

compared with those of a previous or a succeeding

period, when thrones and dynasties were overthrown, and the

map of India was reconstructed. There was the usual amount

of chronic turbulence among the border tribes on the various

points of our extensive territory, but it did not affect the

stability of the empire. The Cole insurrection, however, in-

volved operations of some magnitude. The Coles, the Dangars,
the Santals, and other cognate tribes, the aborigines of the

country are believed to have receded before the conquering
Hindoos into the hills and fastnesses south-west of Bengal ;

and in that wild region they have continued for ages to main-

tain their primitive language, habits, and superstitions, as well
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as their physical appearance and, in some cases, their wild

independence. Their condition had been little affected by the

political or religious revolutions in Hindostan. Of these forest

tribes, some were under the loose authority of the Rajpoot

zemindars who had gradually succeeded in obtaining a footing

in their country. Some of them lived by the chase, but

others obtained a subsistence by the rude cultivation of the

open and fertile tracts embosomed in their hills. The zemin-

dars endeavoured to improve their revenues by settling a more

industrious class'of farmers from Bengal and Behar on the

lands, but the interlopers became an object of intense hatred

to the aborigines. The cumbrous Regulations of the Bengal

Presidency had unhappily been introduced into the province,

to the great annoyance both of the zemindars and the ryots.

The general feeling of discontent occasioned by these proceed-

ings was exasperated by the insolence and rapacity of the

Bengalee underlings who had nocked in with the establishment

of our institutions, and monopolized every office. In 1832, the

whole country was in a state of insurrection. The vengeance

of the Coles was directed against the zemindars who oppressed

them, and more especially against the foreign settlers. Their

fields were laid waste, their villages given up to the flames, and

more than a thousand were put to death before it was possible

to assemble troops. A considerable force of horse, foot, and

artillery was sent into the province. The insurgents assembled

in thousands, but were armed only with bows, arrows, and

axes, and the military operations were confined to scouring

the country, burning down the hamlets, and endeavouring to

apprehend the leaders. There was no real opposition, but

great slaughter ; and as none of the Company's officers were

acquainted with the language of the Coles, not a few of them

were cut down as they were thronging to the camp to implore

mercy. All the tribes at length threw themselves on the con-

sideration of the Government, and the troops were withdrawn.

A chief of the Choars, a kindred race in the neighbouring

province of Manbhoom, rose in revolt immediately after, but
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an overwhelming force, consisting of no fewer than four

regiments of infantry, besides irregular horse, and some guns,
was poured into the country and speedily extinguished the

rebellion. It was not, however, without its countervailing ad-

vantages. Lord William Bentinck was induced, in compassion
to the people, to relieve them from the incubus of a code alto-

gether unsuited to the simplicity of their habits, and he
formed the districts into a non-regulation province, and placed
it under the control of a Commissioner.

insurrection of
Another insurrection attracted notice about the

Teetoo Meer, same time from the singular circumstances of its
1831 •

occurrence within fifteen miles of Government

House in Calcutta. Syud Ahmed, a Mahomedan reformer and

fanatic, of whom further particulars will be given hereafter,

had collected numerous disciples in Bengal, and more particu-

larly in the district of Baraset. The superior sanctity they

assumed, the intolerance they manifested towards the Ma-

homedans who refused to join their sect, and their hostility to

the Hindoos rendered them an object of general aversion, and

some of their Hindoo zemindars had inflicted fines upon them.

They made their appeal to the Magistrate, but the dilatory

proceedings of his court exhausted their patience, and, under

the direction of one Teetoo Meer, a Mahomedan mendicant,

they took the law into their own hands. They proclaimed a

religious war against the Hindoos, by the usual process of

defiling a temple with the blood of a cow, and forcing its flesh

down the throats of the brahmins, and constraining them to

pronounce the formula of the Prophet's creed. They then pro-

ceeded to plunder and burn down villages and factories, and

to put to death all who ventured to oppose them. The emeute

gained strength from two ineffectual efforts on the part of the

Magistrate to quell it, and in the peaceful province of Bengal,

which had not seen the smoke of an enemy's camp for more

then seventy years, two regiments of infantry with a body of

horse and some guns were summoned to the field. They came

up with the insurgents near Hooghly ; a few rounds of giape
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drove them into a stockade they had erected, where, contrary

to all expectation, they defended themselves with great reso-

lution for an hour, and put to death sixteen of their assailants.

Many of the fanatics were slain, and the remainder made

prisoners, and the insurrection subsided as rapidly as it had

arisen.

Annexation of
Lord William Bentinck's administration was

cacnar, 1832. marked by the addition of two principalities to the

Company's dominions, but of such insignificant extent as to

escape observation and censure. The raja of the little pro-

vince of Cachar in the hills on the north-east frontier of Bengal,

had been rescued from the grasp of the Burmese in 1825, and

restored to power. He was murdered in 1832, and, as he left

no legitimate successor, Lord William Bentinck yielded to

the general wish of the people, and gave them the benefit

of the Company's government. This unnoticed nook of the

great empire has since acquired a commercial importance by
the application of British capital and enterprise to its im-

provement. The forests have been cleared, and the hills

covered with tea plantations, on which large sums have been

expended.
The conquest and annexation of Coorg was the

annexation of deliberate act of the most pacific of Governors-
coorg, 1834. General. This province lies on the Malabar coast,

between Mysore and the sea, and comprises an area of about

fifteen hundred square miles, no portion of which is less than

three thousand feet above the level of the sea. The population
is scanty, and the country itself had never been deemed of any

importance ; but circumstances have invested it with a peculiar

interest. At the close of the last century, the raja was the

most chivalrous character of his age in India, and defended his

domains with such perseverance and gallantry against the

overwhelming force of the Mysore rulers, as to obtain the

hearty commendations of Lord Cornwallis and Lord Wellesley.
From the latter he received the gift of a splendid sword, which

was long preserved with pride among the family heir-looms.
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His descendant, the princess Gourumna, came to England in

company with her father, and embraced the Christian religion,

the Queen standing her sponsor at the baptismal font. At

the commencement of the war with Tippoo in 1791, it was

deemed important by the British authorities to obtain a military

position in Coorg, and a treaty was concluded with the raja,

Vira Raja, which secured his assistance and the resources of

his country, and granted him the guarantee of his independence
on the part of the British Government. The arrangement was

concluded by Mr. Taylor, the Company's agent at Tellicherry ;

and such were the lax notions of religion which prevailed at

the Madras Presidency in those days, that he took God, the sun,

the moon, and the earth to witness the execution of the deed.

The raja died in 1809 and was succeeded by his brother,

who bequeathed the throne to his son Vira raja in 1820. Few

princes, even in India, have ever exhibited a more atrocious

example of cruelty and ferocity. His first act was to put to

death all those who had thwarted his views before he came to

the throne. To prevent the possibility of being superseded,

he directed all his royal kinsmen, twelve in number, to be taken

into the jungle and decapitated. He never scrupled to take

the life of any one who was obnoxious to him, and he became

the object of universal dread to his courtiers and his subjects.

He manifested a peculiar hatred of the British Government, and

prohibited all intercourse between his people and Englishmen,
which had the effect of concealing his conduct from observation.

In 1832, his sister and her husband fled for their lives, and re-

vealed the tale of his barbarities to the British Resident at

Mysore, who proceeded in person to the capital, and endea-

voured, but without success, to bring the raja to reason. A
native envoy was then sent to remonstrate with him, but he was

seized and. placed in confinement. The raja, at the same time,

addressed letters to the Governor of Madras, and even to the

Governor-General, couched in terms of extraordinary insolence,

and organized his little force for a conflict with British power.

Lord William Bentinck, finding him deaf to all admonition,
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resolved to treat him as a public enemy, and issued a proclama-

tion, recounting his cruelties and oppressions, and announcing
that he had ceased to reign. A force of about 6,000 men was

directed to enter the country simultaneously from the east,

west, north, and south, under the general command of Colonel

Lindsay. Advancing from the eastward, he succeeded in pene-

trating the intricate and perilous denies leading to the capital,

where the mere interjection of felled trees from the neighbour-

ing forest might have completely blocked up his path. He
entered the capital and planted the British standard on its

ramparts on the 6th April, 1834. But the Coorg troops

resisted the divisions which were advancing into their country
from other directions with the same energy and courage
which had been exhibited in the defence of their independence

against the veterans of Hyder and Tippoo. Two of the British

columns were repeatedly repulsed by these gallant highlanders,

and many officers and more than two hundred of the men fell

beneath their weapons. If the generalship of the Coorg com-

mander had corresponded with the valour of his men, the

campaign might with ease have been protracted till the rains

set in, in which case the British army would have been obliged

to withdraw from a scene where disease would have annihilated

their strength. But the raja was as cowardly as he was cruel,

and surrendered to General Fraser, the political agent, who
issued a proclamation, under the orders of the Governor-

General, annexing the territory of Coorg to the Company's
dominions "in consideration of the unanimous wish of the

people." The General was an officer on the Madras establish-

ment, and he took on himself to humour the religious notions of

the Hindoos by prohibiting the slaughter of kine throughout

Coorg, though he was not ignorant that the British Govern-

ment—except in the fatal instance of Rangoon—had invariably

refused to sanction so preposterous a concession to native pre-

judices. The country of Coorg was overlooked for more than

twenty years, when it was discovered to be one of those

mountain tracts suitable for the residence of Europeans and
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the cultivation of coffee, and it has now become one of the

most valuable and prosperous sections of the great national

estate in India.

Non-interference
^ne Poucy °f ^ord William Bentinck in reference

Policy, to the native states was regulated at first by the

principle of non-interference, which was still in the

ascendant in Leadenhall-street, and on which some brief re-

marks may uot be redundant. For centuries, the idea of a

paramount power in India had been so familiar to the native

mind, that its existence came to be considered a matter of

necessity. In his minute on the Bhurtpore crisis, Sir Charles

Metcalfe had stated that the obligation to maintain the legal

succession of the heir in that principality devolved on us

as the supreme guardians of general tranquillity, law, and

right in India. But the Court of Directors lost no time in repu-

diating this doctrine, and laid positive and repeated injunctions

on the Government of India to abstain from all interference

with the native princes, beyond what was indispensable to

secure the punctual payment of their respective tributes. The

British Government in India was thus placed in the unseemly

position of a powerful and importunate creditor, instead of that

of a beneficent guardian ; and its interference with the princes

had all the appearance of being regulated by its own pecuniary

interests, and not by any regard for the welfare of the country.

During the early period of LordWilliam Bentinck's government,

his proceedings were shaped by the policy of the India House,

of which he did not disapprove, and they form the least satis-

factory portion of his administration. That policy was not,

however, without an apparent justification, as a glance at the

progress of events will show.

To retain our standing in India, it was neces-

our position sary to secure a position which should enable us
in India, 1834.

^Q controi the inherent elements of anarchy. There

was no alternative between the decay and the aggrandizement

of our power. If we had refused te advance we must have

submitted to recede. This fact is clearly demonstrated in the
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memorable remarks of Lord William Bentinck : "To the policy

of Lord Wellesley succeeded other policy and other measures ;

the renunciation of conquests, the abandonment of influence

and power, the maintenance of a system strictly neutral, de-

fensive, not interfering, pacific, according to the full spirit of

that enactment declaring that ' to pursue schemes of conquest

and extension of dominion in India, are measures repugnant

to the wish, the honour, and the policy of the nation. The

impossibility of adhering to this beautiful theory was soon

manifested, and subsequent events have all shown that,

however moderate our views, however determined we may
be not to extend our limits, it has been utterly out of our

power to stand still. Such have been the restless, plundering

habits which belong to this great Indian society, such its very

natural jealousy and apprehension of our power, that, after a

series of unprovoked aggressions, Lord Hastings at last, in

1817, brought to a completion that system of policy which the

great genius and foresight of Lord Wellesley had originally

planned, and would have probably accomplished twenty-five

years before, had he remained in India." But it was found that

the system of subsidiaryand tributary alliances, while it secured

our supremacy, had an inevitable tendency to render the

native Governments weak and oppressive. The native prince

became indolent by trusting to strangers for security, and

cruel and avaricious from the assurance that he had nothing to

dread from the hatred of his subjects as long as his protection

was guaranteed by our irresistible power. From time imme-

morial the remedy for an oppressive government in India, when

it had reached a point beyond the power of endurance, was a

popular rebellion, the result of which was the subversion of

the dynasty and the establishment of a new family on the

throne. Any such remedy, however, was rendered absolutely

impracticable by the presence of a British force, which supported

the throne against every opponent, domestic as well as foreign.

The dignity, the energy, and the capacity of the Dative princes

withered under this parasitical connection with a paramount
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power. The Court of Directors deemed it wise, if not also

benevolent, to preserve these attributes of power, and to

render the princes efficient instruments of Government.

They considered that this object could be attained by a

rigid system of non-interference in their affairs. But this

theory was found as impracticable as the " beautiful theory
"

of Mr. Dundas, in 1783, which denounced all extension of the

British dominions. During half-a-century, there was scarcely

an instance of a prince, living under the safeguard of

British protection, who rose above the debasing influences

of the zenana, and showed any talent for governing. It

was only when a native state happened to be blessed with

the services of statesmen like Salar Jung, or Dinkur Rao,

that the interference of the paramount power became re-

dundant, except to defeat the intrigues for his dismissal.

Circumstances were constantly arising to baffle this principle

of non-interference. We found it often necessary to inter-

pose our authority in a contest for the throne, or to prevent

a course of action tending to produce a conflict of which we
should have to bear the brunt. We were bound to correct

a system of misrule which might lead to a failure of resources,

and entail heavy responsibilities on us. Nor could we always

forget that our protection of the prince from the indignation of

his subjects, implied the obligation of protecting the subjects

from the oppressions of the ruler. The rule of non-intervention

was therefore, from the inexorable necessity of circumstances,

almost as often in abeyance as in operation, and it was this

vacillating policy during Lord William Bentinck's administra-

tion, which lowered the character, and diminished the useful-

ness of the British Government. In some cases he refused to

interfere where he might have prevented disorder and misery ;

in others, he has been deemed to have interfered too far.

At Gwalior, he declined to use his influence, and the state

was brought to the verge of revolution and civil war. In

Coorg, he extinguished the dynasty ; in the case of Mysore,
he assumed the government of the country.
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Affairs of The kingdom of Mysore, it will be remembered,
Mysore, 1799- wag created out of the spoils of Tippoo by Lord

Wellesley in 1799, and conferred on one of the

descendants of the old royal family. This measure was stren-

uously opposed at the time by Sir Thomas Munro, one of

the most profound statesmen the Company's service has

ever produced. He advised the partition of the whole of the

conquered country between the Nizam and the Company He

urged that the inhabitants had long been accustomed to the

government of strangers ; that they had no national spirit or

antipathies to stir them up to resistance, and that they beheld

a change of rulers with perfect indifference. He argued that

no political advantage could be gained by dragging the de-

scendant of the raja of Mysore from obscurity.
"
If," he said,

" we had found a prince in captivity who had once enjoyed

power, a proper regard for humanity, and the supposed pre-

judices of the nation in favour of one who had once been their

sovereign, would no doubt have pleaded strongly for his resto-

ration ; but no such motive now calls upon us to invest the

present raja, a boy of six years old, with royalty ; for neither

he nor his father, nor his grandfather, ever exercised or

knew what it was; and long before the usurpation of Hyder,
the rajas had been held as state prisoners by their delways
or ministers. No attachment remains towards the family

among the natives, for it has long been despised and for-

gotten." This communication did not reach Lord Wellesley
till after he had made his arrangements for the elevation of

the boy; but he did not hesitate to declare that "the territories

thus placed under the nominal sovereignty of the raja of

Mysore constituted substantially an integral portion of our

own dominions." The treaty of cession was, therefore, made

by the British Government alone, to the exclusion of the

Nizam. It was, moreover, concluded with the raja personally,
without that allusion to heirs and successors, which had been

inserted in the treaties formed by Lord Wellesley with the

Peshwa, the raja of Nagpore, the Nizam, and Sindia. This

m. c
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significant omission in the case of Mysore was supplied, it has

been said, by the clause which makes the treaty binding "as

long as the sun and moon shall endure." This expression is

employed in cases where treaties were made expressly to include

heirs and successors. That portion of the conquered territory

which was assigned to the Nizam and the Company was to "be

held in full right and sovereignty for ever," whereas the raja

of Mysore was simply
" to possess the territory described."

It was clearly intended by Lord Wellesley to be a personal

and not an hereditary fief. The power of resuming the grant
of the kingdom was reserved in the 4th article of the treaty:
" Whenever the Governor-General in Council shall have reason

to apprehend a failure in the funds destined for the maintenance

of the military force—seven lacs of pagodas a-year
—he shall

have full power and right either to introduce regulations and

ordinances as he shall deem expedient for the internal manage-
ment and the collection of the revenues of the country, or to

assume and bring under the direct management of the servants

of the Company such part or parts of the territory as shall

appear to him necessary to render such funds efficient and

available either in peace or war." The object of this assump-
tion was defined in the next article to be, not only "to secure

the efficiency of the said military funds, but also to provide

for the effective protection of the country, and the welfare of

the people." In his memorandum explanatory of these two

articles, Lord Wellesley said, "recollecting the inconvenience

and embarrassment which have arisen to all parties concerned

under the double Government and conflicting authorities in

Oude, Tanjore, and the Carnatic, I resolved to restore to the

Company the most extensive and indisputable powers of inter-

position in the internal affairs of Mysore, as well as an

unlimited right of assuming the direct management of the

country." The government of Mysore was placed under the

management of the renowned brahmin, Poornea, the minister

of Hyder and Tippoo, and he was supported by the able and

active superintendence of Sir Barry Close, Mr. Webbe, and
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Colonel Wilks. Under these favourable auspices the country
nourished and a surplus of two crores of rupees was accumu-

lated in the treasury.

„ . In 1811, the raja having attained his sixteenth
Kaja assumes ' ° °
the government, year, proclaimed his own majority, and, under the

influence of his minions and flatterers, dismissed the

faithful Poornea and assumed the charge of the government
himself. The Resident reported that he was utterly unfit

for the management of the country by the instability and the

infirmities of his character, his utter disregard of truth, and

his entire subservience to the influence of favourites. The

government steadily deteriorated during the twenty years in

which he held the reins. The accumulations of Poornea were

dissipated, and all the establishments of the state fell into

arrears. The administration became venal and corrupt ; the

highest offices were put up to sale; valuable crown lands were

alienated, and new and grievous taxes were imposed. There

was no security for property, and nothing worthy the name of a

court of justice. This system of misrule was continued in spite

of the admonitions of the Madras Government. Sir Thomas

Munro, the Governor, paid a visit to Mysore in 1825, and, in

a personal interview with the raja, gave him a deliberate

warning that if the reform of the administration was not com-

menced forthwith, the direct interference of the British Go-

vernment would be unavoidable. This remonstrance produced
a partial improvement, but the raja soon relapsed into his old

habits of prodigality and extortion. The Resident at his

court subsequently renewed these expostulations, but finding

them altogether unavailing, ceased to press them. Unable

any longer to support the oppressions of the raja's administra-

tion, the people broke into open revolt, and in 1830 one half

the kingdom was in a state of insurrection. Adventurers from

the southern Mahratta country, and not a few of the Mysore

constabulary, joined the standard of the insurgents and the

peace and security of the Company's territories and of the

Deccan were placed in jeopardy. It became necessary to send

c 2
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a large British force into the field to quell the rebellion. A
proclamation was issued inviting the cultivators to come into

the British camp and peacefully state their grievances, with the

promise that they should be redressed. The natives reposed

entire confidence in the British officers, but none in those of

the raja, and the insurrection at length died out.

Management of Lord William Bentinck then informed the raja

^Government
tnat though tranquillitywasforthepresentrestored,

1832. the British Government could not permit its name
or its power to be identified with these acts of misrule, and

was imperiously called on to supply an immediate and complete

remedy. It became indispensable, therefore, with reference

to the stipulations of the treaty, to interfere for the preserva-

tion of the state of Mysore, and to save the various interests

at stake from further ruin. To accomplish this object he

deemed it necessary to transfer the entire administration of

the country to the hands of British officers, paying over to the

raja the sum stipulated in the treaty, a lac of star pagodas,
and a fifth of the net revenue. Under the able and honest

management of those functionaries the revenues have been

improved to such an extent as to give the raja, from both

sources, an income of about fourteen lacs of rupees a-year.

This decisive measure of Lord William Bentinck received the

entire approbation of the Court of Directors. The raja

entreated that the administration might still be carried on in

his name, but the Court directed that it should be conducted

in the name and by the sole authority of the Company. Soon

after, Lord William Bentinck appointed a commission, com-

posed of officers of high standing in the service, to investigate

the causes of the outbreak which had been quelled by the

British army, and he gathered from their report that the

representations of oppression had been overstated. From this,

among other considerations, he was led to express a doubt

whether the entire assumption of the country was in strict

accordance with the terms of the treaty, and he proposed to
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the Court to take over in perpetuity a portion of the country
sufficient for the payment of the subsidy, and to restore the

remainder to the raja, subject however, to the condition that

if he neglected the Government, and suffered any gross and

general oppression to be practised, the Company should be at

liberty to resume this portion also. But the Court of Directors

refused to sanction the proposal, and decided that the assump-
tion of the whole country was justified by the provisions of

the treaty, and essential to the security of the people. The

Ministry soon after confirmed and completed the arrangements

by directing that the produce of Mysore should thenceforward

be treated both in England and in India, as that of a British

possession, and be relieved from the payment of differential

duties.

Bhopai, 1833-35. In the principality of Bhopal the policy of non-

intervention led to anarchy and bloodshed, which a word from

the paramount authority would at any moment have prevented.

About eighteen months after the alliance with this state was

concluded in 1818, the amiable and accomplished nabob was

accidentally killed by a pistol shot, and his widow, Secunder

Begum, a woman of high spirit and great ability, assumed the

responsibilities of the government, with a Christian for her

prime minister, and a Mahomedan and a Hindoo as his

assistants. She affianced her daughter to her nephew and

adopted him as the heir to the throne ; but she was unwilling

to part with any portion of her power, and not only delayed
the celebration of the nuptials, but refused him any share in

the government after he had attained his majority. He ap-

pealed to Lord William Bentinck, who declined to interfere

further than by insisting on the completion of the marriage.
In the hope of strengthening her position she laid aside the

restraints imposed on females by Asiatic custom, and held

durbars without a screen, and appeared on horseback with-

out a veil, to the great scandal of her people. The young
nabob, finding himself still denied all authority, made his
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escape from the capital and began to collect partisans. The two

parties appealed to arms, and an action was fought in which

the young nabob was defeated and the leaders on both sides

were killed. Lord William Bentinck had by this time quitted

India, and his successor, Sir Charles Metcalfe, considering that

the principle of non-interference had been carried to an ex-

treme, offered the mediation of the Government ; tranquillity

was immediately restored. The Begum retired to a jageer,

and the youth ascended the throne. His reign however was

brief, and the succession devolved on his daughter, then six

years of age, who was invested with the supreme authority at

the usual age, and has continued to govern the principality

to the present time with extraordinary talent and success. She

took great delight in manly sports, and speared and shot with

all the ardour of the keenest sportsman. She was in the habit

of working ten and often twelve hours a-day ; she visited every

district and attended minutely to the drill and discipline of her

soldiers. She reformed her civil establishments, paid off the

state debts, resettled her revenue, set up a new police, and

organized a judicial system. Her energy is still the admiration

of the country, and her administrative ability has seldom been

surpassed in India. During the Mahratta and Pindaree war,

her grandfather sold his jewels to maintain the contingent of

troops with which he joined the British army. During the sepoy

mutiny, the present Begum exhibited the ancient fidelity of her

house to the British Crown, and she is the only Indian princess

decorated with the Grand Cross of the " Illustrious Starof India."

joudhpore, 1834. The same vacillating policy was exhibited in

regard to the various principalities of Rajpootana, although
the turbulent habits of the feudal nobles, and the vicious con-

stitution of the government, rendered the interposition of the

paramount power indispensable to their tranquillity. This will

be illustrated by a reference to the transactions in Joudhpore
and Jeypore. Maun Sing, the raja of Joudhpore, had been

deposed by his "
thakoors," or feudatory chiefs, before the

Pindaree war, on account of his insanity, real or feigned ; but
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lie recovered his power, if not his reason, in 1821, and imme-

diately began to wreak his vengeance on them. A reconcilia-

tion was effected by the Resident in 1824, bnt it was of brief

luration. The raja determined to retain the lands he had

agreed to restore to them, and commenced a new course of

spoliation. The chiefs again appealed to the British Govern-

ment, but the non-interference policy was now predominant,

and they were driven to seek redress by their own efforts.

They raised an army of 7,000 men, and advanced to the capita?

vith the determination to depose Maun Sing. He appealed in

great alarm to Lord William Bentinck, who felt the necessity

)f interposition, and was disposed, for various reasons, to con-

sider the case exceptional. The Resident was empowered
to restore peace, which was effected with a stroke of the pen.

But the insane violence of the raja's character broke forth

afresh, and he had the temerity to insult the Governor-General

by refusing, on a frivolous pretext, to attend the great durbar

of all the Rajpoot chieftains, which was held at Ajmere in

1831. He allowed his tribute to fall into arrears; he gave

encouragement to the robber tribes of the desert, and refused to

apprehend the thugs, or to surrender the malefactors, who

sought refuge in his country. A large army was, therefore,

ordered to march into Marwar to bring the raja to reason, but

the mere demonstration of force was found to be sufficient, and

he hastened to send a deputation with his humble submission.

The Rathores—the designation of this tribe—w^ere accustomed

to boast of the " hundred thousand swords "
with which they

had supported the throne of Akbar, and of the resistance they
had offered for three years to Aurungzebe. But they quailed

before the majesty of British power, and the raja's envoys

meekly enquired what occasion there could be for an army
when a single constable would have been sufficient to convey
the commands of the Governor-General. Every demand was

at once conceded.

Jeypore, 1835. During the minority of the raja of Jeypore, his

mother acted as regent, and resigned herself to the counsels of
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Jotaram, a banker of the Jain sect. The haughty nobles ex-

pelled the money changer from the post of minister, and installed

one of their own number, Bhyree Saul, a connection of the royal

family. The regent mother embraced every opportunity of

thwarting his measures and throwing the government into

confusion, in the hope of embroiling him with the British

authorities, and at length obtained the permission of Sir David

Ochterlony to recall Jotaram. The nobles resented the indig-

nity of having their renowned state subjected to the control of

bankers and women, and a civil war appeared inevitable, when
Sir Charles Metcalfe, who had succeeded Sir David, proceeded
in person to Jeypore, and convened a meeting of the chiefs.

The majority of them were found to favour the views of the

regent ranee, and her authority was accordingly guaranteed
with liberty to choose her own minister. A grand durbar

was held, and the young raja, seated on the lap of Sir Charles,

received the homage of the Jeypore nobility. Jotaram became

the head of the administration, but it speedily fell into confu-

sion. The revenues were misappropriated, the troops remained

unpaid and became insubordinate, and the tribute to the Com-

pany was allowed to run into arrears. The Jain pursued the

nobles who had opposed him with great vindictiveness, and a

general spirit of disaffection pervaded the country. An appeal
was made to Lord William Bentinck, to terminate the disorders

of the state by the supreme authority of the British Govern-

ment, but he refused to interfere. Emboldened by this reply,

Jotaram attempted to confiscate the estates of Bhyree Saul.

The regent ranee died soon after, having held the reins of

power for ten years. Her death was followed, in 1835, by that

of the raja, but not without such strong suspicions of poison

that the minds of men became inflamed against Jotaram, and

he was obliged to tender his resignation. The British Govern-

ment accepted the guardianship of the infant heir, and the

political agent who was sent to the capital was just in time to

prevent a conflict between the party of the exasperated nobles

and of Jotaram. The banker was directed to remove to a
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distance from the capital, and as he attributed his disgrace to

the Resident, he, or his partisans, hired men to assassinate him.

He was assailed and wounded as he was leaving the durbar,

and barely escaped with his life, but his assistant, Mr. Blake,

was barbarously murdered in the streets. This attempt to

apply the principle of non-interference to Jeypore kept the

country in commotion for a long period, and eventually resulted

in the appointment of a British agent to reside at the court, and

in the establishment of a stringent control over the affairs of

the state.

Oude, 1831-34. The most strenuous efforts had been made by
successive Governors-General, Lord Wellesley, Lord Minto,

and Lord William Bentinck, to prevail on the king of Oude to

reform the administration of his country, but with little appear-

ance of success. The king who was seated on the throne

during Lord William Bentinck's government, had been brought

up in the zenana, and possessed no aptitude for business ;
his

ideas were altogether effeminate and puerile, and his life was

devoted to indulgence. He entertained the deepest aversion

to his father's able minister, and would have taken his life but

for the protection of the Resident, Mr.—afterwards Sir

Herbert—Maddock. In an able and exhaustive reportupon the

state of the country, Mr. Maddock represented it as in a state

of decay. There was no security either for life or property,

and the administration presented a constant scene of violence

and oppression ; scarcely a day passed in which he did not

hear from his own residence in Lucknow the booming of ar-

tillery employed in the siege of forts, or in the coercion of

zemindars, who never paid their rents without compulsion.
The character of the native Government of Oude had, how-

ever, become the subject of party feelings, and there were

not wanting men who maintained that it was cultivated like

a garden, and presented a flourishing appearance. But Lord

William Bentinck in his despatch to the India House, assured

the Court that the representations of Mr. Maddock were cor-

roborated by the testimony of all the officers civil or military
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who had traversed the province, and that during his own

journey from Lucknow to Rohilcund the whole country ex-

hibited a melancholy picture of desolation and misery. Some
of his predecessors had questioned the right of the British

Government to interfere with the administration of the country,

but he considered it the bounden duty of the Company to

interpose for the protection of the wretched inhabitants, and

constrain the king to put a stop to the arbitrary and tyrannical

proceedings of his officers. He accordingly proceeded to

Lucknow in 1831 and transmitted a written communication to

the king, in which he insisted on the adoption of reforms, and

distinctly announced that if he continued to withhold them,

the entire management of the country would be taken over by
the British Government, as in the cases of Tanjore and the

Carnatic, and an annuity assigned for the support of the royal

family.

Hakim Before this remonstrance was delivered, the

Mehdi, 1834. ^ng had reappointed Hakim Mehdi to the post

of minister. This extraordinary man was the son of a Persian

gentleman of Sheraz, who emigrated to India in search of

political employment, and entered the service of Oude, in whi<5h

he rapidly rose to distinction. He was one of the ministers who

in 1801 vigorously but ineffectually opposed the cession of terri-

tory demanded by Lord Wellesley. He identified the prosperity

of his adopted country with his own happiness, and devoted

his splendid talents to the improvement of the administration,

though thwarted at every step by his sovereign. During

successive reigns he had amassed a princely fortune, which he

expended with unbounded generosity in the town of Rampoora
in the British territories, to which he had retired. It was

gracefully remarked of him that the poorest man never entered

his house without a welcome, or departed without relief. His

liberality was not confined to his own neighbourhood. In the

remote region of Cashmere, he contributed bountifully to rebuild

a town, on hearing that it had been overthrown by an earth-

quake. There was no ostentation in his charity and no bigotry
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in his creed. Lord William Bentinck pronounced him one of

the ablest men in India, and as a revenue administrator un-

surpassed by any officer, European or native. Having resumed

charge of the government of Oude, he introduced important
reforms with a vigorous hand ; he reduced the amount of the

assessments, organized a police, and established courts of

justice. He retrenched the profligate expenditure of the zenana,

curtailed the allowances of the parasites who thronged the

court, and had the courage to reduce the lavish stipends of the

king's uncles. But he was too radical a reformer for the

meridian of Oude. The ear of the king was filled with com-

plaints and calumnies, and he began to withdraw his confidence

from his able and virtuous minister. Hakim Mehdi im-

plored the support of the British Government, pleading the

terms of the treaty of 1801, which bound the Nabob Vizier
" to advise with and act in conformity to the counsel of the

Company's officers," and he maintained that they were under

a solemn obligation to afford it. But Lord William Bentinck,

acting upon the principle of non-intervention, refused to make
use of his authority, and the king soon after dismissed the

minister, on the frivolous pretence that he had used disrespect-
ful language towards his mother, and had insulted the portrait

of his father. In a despatch which the Court of Directors sent

to Calcutta in the early period of Lord William Bentinck's ad-

ministration on the subject of Oude, they remarked that " had

it not been for their connection with the country, although
misrule might have attained as great a height, it would not

have been of equal duration. It was the British Government

which, by a systematic suppression of all attempts at resist-

ance, had prolonged this disorganization, which became

permanent when the shortsightedness and rapacity of a semi-
1

barbarous government was armed with the military strength
of a civilized one." In reply to Lord William Bentinck's

minute representing the deplorable condition to which the

country had been reduced, and the heavy responsibility which

was thus entailed on the Company, they authorized him at



28 DEATH OF DOWLUT RAO SINDIA. [CHAP.

once to assume the government of Oude, if circumstances

should appear to him to render it necessary. But, under the

menace which Lord William Bentinck had formally adminis-

tered to the king-, and under the influence of some of Hakim
Mehdi's reforms, the country began to present an improved

appearance. The Governor-General, moreover, when he re-

ceived the order of the Court to take over the administration

of the country, was on the eve of quitting India, and he con-

tented himself with communicating the substance of their

instructions to the king, and with intimating to him that the

execution of this order would be suspended in the hope that a

spontaneous adoption of improvements would render it alto-

gether unnecessary.

sindia, 1833. No event of any moment occurred at the court

of Sindia after the conclusion of the Mahratta war in 1818, in

which he alone escaped the fate of the other princes, and

retained his possessions and his power. He expired in peace
and honour at Gwalior on the 21st March, 1827, at the age of

forty-seven, having reigned thirty-four years. During this

long and eventful period, he had witnessed a stupendous
revolution of political power in India. At his accession,

the Mahratta empire had reached the zenith of its glory,

and he was the most powerful member of that great common-

wealth, as well as the most influential and important chief in

India,—second in military strength and resources only to the

Company. At the time of his death, the Mahratta empire
was extinct ; the Peshwa, a captive, though treated with all

the honours of royalty, and his kingdom, a British province.

The Guickwar, the Nizam, Holkar, and the raja of Nagpore
were divested of all political power, and controlled by subsidiary

armies, and he himself was entirely subordinate to British

authority. On his death-bed, he sent for Major Stewart, the

Resident, and in reference to the future government of his

kingdom, said " I wish you to do whatever you think proper."

He left no son, and had invariably refused to adopt one. His

widow, Baeza-bye, without whose advice he is said never to
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have formed any determination, was the daughter of the famed

Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, the most accomplished villain of his age.

She was a woman of imperious disposition, masculine character,

and inordinate ambition. She inherited all the violence of her

father's temper, but was not like him either cruel or vindictive.

She was constrained by the voice of the chiefs to adopt a son,

and her choice fell on Junkojee, a near relative of her

deceased husband, but, in the hope of prolonging her own

authority, she neglected his education, and studiously withheld

from him all those advantages which might prepare him for

his important station. To every remonstrance on this viola-

tion of her duty she replied,
" no one ever wished to qualify

another for the exercise of that power which he himself wished

to retain." Fretting under the restraints which she continued

to impose upon him after • he had attained his majority, he

appealed to Lord William Bentinck, who relaxed the principle

of non-interference to the extent of insisting on his being

furnished with a separate seal, with which every public com-

munication addressed to the British Government was to be

authenticated. But he was still kept under the most galling

control within the precincts of the palace, from which he at

length succeeded in making his escape. He took refuge with

the Resident, through whose mediation a reconciliation was

effected, though not without great difficulty. Soon after this

event, Lord William Bentinck visited Gwalior, when both

parties pressed their claims on his attention, but he declined

to afford any authoritative expression of his wishes, and

advised the raja to be content with his present position,

and await the course of events. The belligerents were, in

fact, left by the Governor-General to their own exertions;

the bye to retain her power as long as she was able, and

the raja to wrest it from her whenever he could. The

breach was thus widened, and the raja, having at length

gained over some of the disciplined battalions, beleaguered

the palace on the 10th July, 1833. The bye, alarmed

for her personal safety, fled to her brother, Hindoo Rao, and
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summoned the Resident to her assistance, but he declined to

attend her. She then called up one of the brigades and was pro-

ceeding towards the Residency, when she was met by a body
of the young raja's troops, and a deadly conflict would have

ensued if the Resident had not hastened to the spot and inter-

posed to prevent it. The interference of the supreme Govern-

ment now became imperative, and the Resident received

instructions to exercise his power and influence to compose these

differences, and to prevent a civil war. He endeavoured to

ascertain the state of public feeling, and finding the chiefs and

other influential men of the durbar anxious to support the cause

of the raja, threw the weight of his authority into that scale,

and Junkojee received a letter from the Governor-General

congratulating him on his accession to the throne. The bye
was permitted to retire with the wealth she had accumulated to

Agra, only sixty-five miles from Gwalior, but as she continued

to disturb the peace of the countiy by her incessant intrigues,

she was required to remove to Furruckabad, where she en-

camped with an army of followers. At the instance of the

Governor-General, the Government of Gwalior agreed to allot

her a large annuity, on condition of her retiring to her jageer in

the Deccan, and the rapid desertion of her retainers constrained

her, however reluctantly, to accede to these terms.

While the Government of India thus adopted
First symptoms ,..,-._- .

ofRussophobia, the principle of non-interference in reference to the

states of India which were dependent on it for

support and guidance, attempts were made to establish a con-

nection with the independent states beyond the Company's
territories. The cycle of alarm had come round again. In

1808, Napoleon had obtained a paramount influence at the court

of Persia, andwas supposed to entertain designs on India, which

the Government in London sought to counteract by forming
alliances with Persia, Cabul, and Lahore. Russia had now
secured the same ascendency in Persia which the French had

formerly enjoyed, and was believed to cast a hostile glance at

the Company's dominions in India. The Government therefore
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deemed it advisable to open up the navigation of the Indus,

and obtain a commanding influence on that river, by forming
defensive alliances with the independent princes on its banks,

the Ameers of Sinde, the Khan of Bhawulpore, and Runjeet

Sing.

To elucidate the intercourse now established with
Progress of

.

Runjeet sing, Runjeet Sing, it is necessary to resume the nar-
1809—1822.

rative of his progress since the mission of Mr.

Metcalfe in 1809. His government was founded on the prin-

ciple of conquest, which became the vital element of its growth.

Ambition is inherent in all Asiatic powers, but with Runjeet

Sing the increase of territory was the one object of his life,

and the improvement of his army, and the acquisition of

the sinews of war, absorbed his attention to the neglect of

every other branch of government. To restrain his army from

turning upon himself and creating internal disturbances, it

was kept in constant employ. Scarcely a year passed without

some military expedition, and his troops were assembled for

action at the close of the rains with the regularity of the

season.

The wealth and energies of the Punjab were
Reform of his ...

J

Army. concentrated on military objects. This system was

exactly suited to the martial character of the Sikh population,
whom it furnished with congenial occupation, and likewise

gratified with the submission of province after province to the

supremacy of the Khalsa, as well as with the means of acquir-

ing wealth. Glory and plunder thus became the chief sources of

their fidelity to the crown. Runjeet Sing had been struck with

the discipline and efficiency of the small escort of sepoys which

accompanied Mr. Metcalfe in 1809, when they successfully

repelled an assault of the Sikh fanatics, of whom he himself

stood in awe, and he immediately commenced the formation

of regular battalions on the model of the Company's army,

by means of deserters whom he allured from its ranks. His
soldiers at first manifested great reluctance to abandon their

old national mode of fighting on horseback with matchlocks,
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for which they had .long been renowned through India
; but

Runjeet Sing succeeded in overcoming it by the encouragement
of higher pay, by incessant attention to their drill and equip-

ment, and by going through the military exercises in person.

Through these unremitting exertions the Sikhs were at length
converted into regular infantry soldiers, and admirable artillery-

men, and contracted the Indian feeling of adoration of their guns,
conquests of Runjeet Sing, having completed the subjugation
RunjeetSing,

J & '

.

& L J6
1810—22. of all the Sikh chieftains who were once his equals,

and brought the whole of the Punjab under one dominion, led

his army in 1810 against Mooltan, which was still bound by
allegiance to the throne of Cabul, but he was obliged to content

himself with the exaction of two lacs of rupees. Three years
later he entered into a convention with Futteh Khan, the vizier

of Cabul, for a joint expedition to Cashmere, but the vizier

outstripped his army, and having obtained possession of the

principality, refused to share it with his ally. While the

Afghan troops were thus employed in Cashmere, Runjeet Sing

surreptitiously obtained possession of the district and fort of

Attock on the Indus, esteemed the eastern key of Afghanistan.
A battle ensued, in which Futteh Khan was completely over-

powered, and the authority of Runjeet Sing was permanently
extended up to that river. Soon after, Shah Soojah, the exiled

monarch of Cabul, who had been for some time a captive in

Cashmere, was persuaded to seek refuge with Runjeet Sing.
He brought with him the far-famed diamond, the Koh-i-noor,
or mountain of light, which, according to the Hindoo legends,

originally belonged to the Pandoos, the mythological heroes of

the Muhabharut. In the last century it was the chief orna-

ment of the celebrated peacock throne of Delhi, which was
carried away with other trophies by Nadir Shah, in 1739. On
the murder of that prince and the plunder of his tents, Ahmed
Shah Abdalee obtained possession of it, and it descended with

his throne to his grandson, Shah Soojah. He was now within

the power of Runjeet Sing, who was equally avaricious of

jewels and of horses, and who subjected the Shah and his
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family for several days to the torture of hunger, till he sur-

rendered the gem. Runjeet Sing was anxious to avail himself of

the name of the Shah for his own designs, and not only detained

him in close custody but treated him with the greatest indignity.

lie succeeded at length in eluding the vigilance of his guards,
and made his escape in disguise to Loodiana, where the British

Government generously allowed him a pension of 50,000 rupees

a-year. In 1818, Runjeet Sing led his army a second time

against Mooltan, and, after a futile siege of four months,

obtained possession of the citadel by a happy accident, through
the temerity of one of his fanatic soldiers. It was in this year
that Futteh Khan, the vizier of Mahomed Shah, the ruler of

Cabul, whose energy and talent alone had kept the Afghan

monarchy from dissolution, was first blinded and then barbar-

ously murdered by the execrable Kamran, the heir apparent of

the throne. Mahomed Azim, the governor of Cashmere, and

one of the twenty brothers of Futteh Khan, hastened to Cabul

with a large army to avenge his death. The king was obliged

to fly to Herat, the only province which now remained to him of

all the vast possessions of the Abdalee dynasty, and the Baruk-

zyes, Futteh Khan's tribe, became supreme in Afghanistan.

Runjeet Sing took advantage of the confusion of the times

to obtain possession of Peshawur, the capital of the Afghan

province lying between the Khyber pass and the Indus, but

it was speedily recovered by the Afghans. The loss, how-

ever, was more than compensated by the conquest of Cashmere

in the following year, with which he was so elated, as to

celebrate it by illuminating Lahore and Umritsir for three

successive nights. During the next two years his army was

employed in wresting from the throne of Cabul the Derajat, or

strip of territory, about 300 miles in length, lying between the

right bank of the Indus and the Soliman range, and stretching

down southwards to the borders of Sinde.

...... In March, 1822, two of the French officers of
Arrival of the ' '

French officers, Napoleon's army, Colonel Allard and Colonel Ven-

tura, who had left Europe on the restoration or

HI. D
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the Bourbons, and had subsequently obtained employment
under the king of Persia, made their way through Candahar

and Cabul to Lahore, and after some hesitation, were received

into the service of Runjeet Sing. The Sikh soldiery were

distinguished by their indomitable courage, their alert obedience,

and then- endurance of fatigue. They were animated by a

strong feeling of national enthusiasm, strengthened by a high

religious fervour, every regiment having its own grvnthee, or

expounder of the sacred book, a copy of which was usually

deposited near the regimental colours. Runjeet Sing had

already succeeded in bringing his army up to a high standard

of efficiency by his personal exertions, and by constant em-

ployment in expeditious in which they were accustomed to

victory. From these French officers, and from Generals

Court and Avitabile who followed them, that army now
received the further improvement of European discipline and

tactics, though not without exciting murmurs of discontent

among the old Sikh officers, who resisted all innovations

under the plea that they had conquered Cashmere, Peshawur

and Mooltan without any of these new fangled manoeuvres.

Under the instruction of these officers the Sikh army became

more effective and powerful than even the battalions which

De Boigne had created for Sindia, and Raymond for the Nizam.

Thus, the important design, which was sedulously pursued

by Lord Wellesley, of breaking up the armies of native

princes disciplined by European officers, and of providing in

treaties against the renewal of the system, was completely

frustrated. In a kingdom which could scarcely be said to have

an existence during his administration, an army trained and

commanded by European skill, more formidable than any of

those which had created anxiety in his mind, arose on our

northern frontier, within two hundred miles of Delhi.

Battle ofNouBhem, In March, 1823, Runjeet Sing advanced against
4th March, 1823. Peshawur with an army of 24,000 men, and was

met at Noushera by a body of Eusufzye highlanders not exceed-

ing 5,000, who had raised the cry of a religious war against the
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infidel Sikhs. The Sikh fanatics—the Akalees, or immortals—
were thus brought into conflict with the Mahomedan fanatics,

and the Sikhs were completely defeated with the loss of their

leader. Fresh troops were brought up, and two charges of

cavalry were made, but repulsed by the Mahomedans, who
were not dislodged from their position before night-fall, not-

withstanding the utmost efforts of Runjeet Sing. This battle

became memorable from the fact that a body of mountaineers

and villagers, without any support from regular troops, but

frantic with religious fanaticism, succeeded in baffling the

exertions of more than four times their own number of the

well-trained and disciplined Sikh troops. Runjeet Sing was

ultimately left master of the field, and sacked Peshawur and

plundered the country up to the mouth of the Khyber. His

troops, however, had a superstitious aversion to any expedition

beyond the Indus, and he did not consider it prudent, at the

time, to occupy a province which would entail harassing duties

on his soldiers, without contributing anything to his treasury.

It was accordingly left in the hands of Yar Mahomed, the

brother of Dost Mahomed, on the simple condition of his pay-

ing tribute to Lahore. In 1827, the tranquillity of the province

was disturbed by Syud Ahmed, a Mahomedan fanatic, who was

a petty officer of horse ten years before, in the service of Ameer

Khan, the Patan freebooter, and on receiving his discharge

when the army was broken up, turned reformer and pretended

to have special revelations from heaven. By denouncing the

irregularities which had crept into the Mahomedan ritual, and

professing to restore the creed to its original simplicity and

purity, he kindled into a flame that feeling of fanaticism

which is always inherent in a Mussulman population. During

a visit to Calcutta in 1822, he made many disciples, and then

proceeded on a pilgrimage to Mecca, the centre of Mahomedan

unity, and the perennial fountain of Mahomedan enthusiasm.

He returned from the tomb of the prophet withfeelings still more

excited, and proceeding to Afghanistan proclaimed a religious

war against the Sikhs. In 1827, he raised the green standard

d 2
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of Islam in the Eusufzye mountains, and came down on

Peshawur, but was defeated with ease by the disciplined

battalions of Runjeet Sing. Two years after he repeated the

invasion, when Yar Mahomed, who held the province under

Runjeet Sing, was overcome and slain, but the opportune
arrival of General Ventura dispersed the fanatics and

saved Peshawur. In 1830, Syud Ahmed attacked Sultan

Mahomed, to whom Peshawur had been granted as a fief

by Runjeet Sing, and drove him out of the province, which

was occupied by his followers. Elated with his success he

proclaimed himself Caliph, and struck coin in the name of

"Ahmed the Just, the Defender of the Faith," and not only
demanded a tithe of all their property from the Eusufzyes, but

began to interfere in their matrimonial arrangements. The

rude inhabitants of the mountains resisted this assumption of

authority, and expelled him from the country, when he retreated

to Cashmere, where he was overtaken by the troops of Runjeet

Sing and killed in May, 1831,
—six months before his followers

rose in insurrection, at a distance of fifteen hundred miles, in

the neighbourhood of Calcutta.

Lord Amherst In 1827, Lord Amherst took up his residence at
and Runjeet Simla which has now become a great and popular

horses, 1827— sanitarium. It lies within a hundred and fifty miles

of Lahore, and Runjeet Sing embraced this oppor-

tunity of sending a complimentary mission, together with a

magnificent tent of shawls for the King of England, which

was duly presented to His Majesty by the Governor-General

on his return to England. Runjeet Sing had a strong passion
for horses, and thought little of despatching a military expedi-

tion to secure any of extraordinary beauty of which he might

happen to receive information. Lord Ellenborough, who was

then President of the Board of Control, resolved to present him

in return with a team of stalwart English dray horses, and

to make the conveyance of them the ostensible motive of

exploring the Indus. That river was then not more known
than in the days of Alexander the Great, and all our
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knowledge of it was derived from the authors of antiquity.

Instead, therefore, of despatching the horses by the more

obvious route of the Ganges, it was determined to send them

up the Indus, and to make an attempt at the same time to

establish friendly relations with the chiefs on its banks. On
the arrival of the horses at Bombay, Sir John Malcolm selected

Lieutenant—afterwards Sir Alexander—Burnes to take charge
of the mission, a duty for which he was peculiarly fitted by
his knowledge of the native languages and character, his

intelligence, and his ambition. Sir John also furbished up
one of his old state carriages, to be presented, along with the

sinde, 1830. horses to the ruler of the Punjab. At the mouth
of the Indus Lieutenant Burnes entered the territory of

Sinde which had become tributary to Cabul, on the decay of

the Mogul empire, but was subjugated in 1786 by the

Talpooras, a tribe from Belochistan, beyond the Indus. The

conquering chiefs, who were designated the Ameers of Sinde,

partitioned the country among themselves, and an indepen-
dent prince presided over each of its three divisions. Like all

new dynasties in India they had been incessantly engaged
in encroaching on the territories of their neighbours, the

Afghans and the Rajpoots, and had at length succeeded in

extending their sovereignty over a hundred thousand square
miles. From their first establishment in the government of

the country they had manifested an inveterate jealousy of

the English, and rigidly prohibited all intercourse with them,
as the most effectual means of securing their own inde-

pendence. They had broken up the Company's factory which

they found established at the ancient emporium of Tatta, and

treated with invariable insolence every envoy sent to them

from Bombay. The arrival of Lieutenant Burnes with the

avowed design of traversing the length of the country was

considered an event of evil omen, and one Belochee chief, as

the mission advanced up the river, exclaimed " The mischief

is done
;
the English have seen our country." The Ameer

of Hyderabad, the capital of lower Sinde, exhibited great
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hostility to Lieutenant Burnes, who was subjected to gross

indignity, and twice constrained to retire from the country.

The energetic remonstrance of Colonel Pottinger, the Resident

in the neighbouring British province of Cutch, at length pro-

cured him a suitable reception at that court, and the means of

transporting his convoy up the Indus.

_ '

t „ On quitting Sinde he entered the territories of
Lieut. Burnes ^ °
at Lahore, the khan of Bhawulpore, who welcomed him with

much cordiality, and exhibited with a feeling of

pride the testimonials which Mr. Elphinstone had given his

grandfather, on his way to Cabul in 1809. The principality

of Bhawulpore was limited in extent and far from fertile.

Runjeet Sing had despoiled the prince of all his territory

north of the Sutlege and would long since have absorbed the

remainder, but for the restrictions of the Metcalfe treaty

of 1809. On entering the Punjab, Lieutenant Burnes was

met by the officers deputed to wait on him and escorted

through the country with great pomp, and received at the

court with ostentatious courtesy. Runjeet Sing gave him

a warm embrace as he entered the durbar, and on the produc-
tion of the letter with which he said he had been entrusted

by the minister of the King, his master, touched the seal

with his forehead, while the whole court rose to honour it.

In this communication Lord Ellenborough stated that the

King of England, knowing that his highness was in possession

of the most beautiful horses of the most celebrated breeds in

Asia, had thought that it might be agreeable to him also to

possess horses of the most remarkable breed of Europe, and that

his Majesty witnessed with sincere satisfaction the good under-

standing which had for so many years subsisted, and which

God ever preserve, between the British Government and his

highness. While the letter was read a salute of twenty-one

guns was fired from each of sixty pieces of cannon drawn up
for the occasion. During his residence at Lahore, Lieutenant

Burnes was treated not only with distinguished honour in

public, but with great personal kindness both by the genial
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chief himself, and by all his officers, European and native.

He then proceeded to Simla, where Lord William Bentinck

was residing, and submitted the information he had collected

respecting the commerce, the politics, and the military

strength and organization of the provinces he had traversed.

The Governor-General was highly gratified with the talent,

seal, and enterprize which he had exhibited in his arduous

task, and directed him to return to Bombay through

Afghanistan, Balkh, and Bokhara, and to explore the routes

and resources of these unknown regions.

• The greatness of Runjeet Sing had been steadily

sing, i83i.

'

on the increase for twenty years, and the power
he had now attained exceeded that of any of the native princes

who had successively succumbed to the strength of our arms.

The small body of cavalry, armed only with matchlocks, which

was bequeathed to him by his father, had been gradually im-

proved and expanded into a grand army, which, including the

contingents of his jageerdars, consisted of no less than 82,000

men, animated by the successes of a dozen campaigns, and

in part, disciplined and commanded by European officers. His

artillery consisted of 376 guns, and an equal number of swivels.

nis annual revenue was estimated at two crores and a half of

rupees, and he had accumulated ten crores in the vaults of the

fortress of Govindgur, which he had erected in the neighbour-

hood of Umritsir, to curb the Akalees, the armed and fanatic

guardians of that national shrine. Though unable to read or

write, the habit of listening to papers in Persian, Punjabee,

and Ilindee, had given him great facility in comprehending
whatever was brought before him by the able secretaries

whom he had selected with great judgment, and who were

obliged to be in attendance, by night as well as by day. He
was the most extraordinary man of the age between Constan-

tinople and Pekin, and with the command of such an armb-

and such resources as he had created, and with the animation

of a lofty spirit of ambition, would doubtless have founded

another empire in Hindostan, but for the treaty dictated by
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Mr. Metcalfe in 1809, which confined him to the right bank of the

Sutlege. It was this restriction which constrained him to direct

his views of aggrandizement to other quarters. He had accord-

ingly conquered Cashmere and the territories to the north of

it up to the confines of Tartary ;
he had rendered Peshawur

tributary, and extended his power up to the Khyber pass.

Across the Indus he had taken possession of the Derajat,

which brought him to the borders of Sinde, on which he cast

The Khai
a l011^1^ eye « But though he had reached the

i83i. summit of power, and was absolute throughout

the Punjab, he never arrogated the invidious distinction of an

independent sovereign, but both in speech and writing repre-

sented himself as the head of the Sikh Khalsa, or common-

wealth, which was regarded with a feeling of superstitious

devotion by the chiefs, the people, and the soldiery of the

Punjab. His noble army was the army of the Khalsa ; and

the shout of triumph was "Victory to the Khalsa," not to

Runjeet Sing. All the grand achievements of his reign were

performed for the sake of Gooroo Govind, the founder of the

community, in the name of God, and for the glorification of the

Khalsa. There was no apprehension of any revolt against his

authority during his lifetime, but it was doubtful whether the

same allegiance would be paid by the Sikh barons and their

followers to his son, who was utterly deficient in talent and

energy, a mere purple-born prince. In these circumstances,

he considered it important to secure for his throne and his

dynasty all the strength and prestige which a close alliance

with the British Government, and his own recognition by the

Governor-General as the chief of the Khalsa, were calcu-

lated to impart. On the other hand, Lord William Bentinck

deemed it politic to manifest to the princes of India, who

regarded the progress of Runjeet Sing's power with exulta-

tion and hope, that a feeling of cordiality existed between

the two Governments; and it was arranged that a meet-

ing should be held at Roopur, on the banks of the

Sutlege.
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This assembly was the most brilliant in which
Assembly at ^

Roopur. 1831. the representative of the Company had partici-

pated since the first establishment of their power in India.

Lord William was distinguished by the simplicity of his

habits, and his sincere aversion to the pageantry of power ;

but he considered it important on this occasion to give eclat

to the meeting in the eyes of all India by a grand military

display, which should likewise enable Eunjeet Sing's generals

to appreciate the efficiency of the various arms of our force,

and gratify his own curiosity regarding their organization and

equipment. He accordingly ordered up two squadrons of

European lancers with their mounted band, two battalions of

native infantry, two squadrons of irregular horse, and eight

horse artillery guns. He descended from Simla to the en-

campment at Roopur on the 22nd October, and Runjeet Sing,

accompanied by his brilliant court, arrived at the opposite
bank of the Sutlege three days later with 10,000 of his best

horse and 6,000 selected infantry. But as the time for the

meeting approached, his habitual mistrust led him to enter-

tain suspicions of treachery, and he sent for General Allard

late overnight, and informed him that he could not venture to

proceed across the Sutlege on the morrow. The general
endeavoured to remove his apprehensions, and offered to stake

his own head that there would be nothing disagreeable. The

Maharaja was not satisfied with this assurance, and directed

the astrologers to consult the Grunth, or sacred volume. They
reported that the result of the meeting would be auspicious ;

but they advised him to take two apples, and present one to the

Governor-General and the other to his secretary : if they were

received without any hesitation it might be considered a favour-

able omen. Runjeet crossed the Sutlege on a bridge of boats,

and in the middle of the street formed by British troops was
met by Lord William Bentinck, to whom he presented the

apple, which was cheerfully accepted, and all his fears were
at once dissipated. He occupied the centre of the cavalcade ;

his nobles mounted on elephants, and decked in gorgeous



42 MEETING OF LORD W. BENTINCK AND RUNJEET SING. [CHAP

apparel, preceded and followed him, while a body of 4,000

horsemen, uniformly dressed in yellow, whom the Maharaja
had cautiously brought over with him, formed the wings of

the procession. lie directed every movement himself with the

eye and confidence of a soldier, and even in this holiday cere-

monial exhibited the activity of his mind, and his wonderful

talent for command. Presents of every variety, and of the

most costly description, had been collected by the order of

Lord William Bentinck from various parts of India, sufficient in

value to efface the remembrance of Lord Ellenborough's cart

horses, and Sir John Malcolm's old state carriage. Bunjeet
examined every article minutely with the curiosity of a child,

and saw it carefully packed up under his own eye, by his

master of the jewel office. The following day the Governor-

General returned the visit. The spectacle was one of extra-

ordinary splendour. Seventy elephants, richly caparisoned,

advanced with the principal Sikh chieftains to meet him.

The royal tents exhibited a scene of magnificence which

had not been witnessed in India since the days of Aurung-

zebe, and which was little to have been expected among the

rough soldiers of the Punjab. After passing through two

triumphal arches Lord William Bentinck was conducted to a

splendid pavilion, where the courtiers, resplendent with silk

and jewels, were individually introduced to him. The court

was shaded by a lofty arcade of yellow silk, and the floor was

covered with the richest shawls and carpets which Cashmere

could produce. The spacious tent behind, in which the

Governor-General was received, composed of crimson velvet,

yellow French satin, a sheet of inlaid pearls, and jewels of

immense value, realized the highest visions of oriental grandeur.

The frank manners, the free enquiries, and the lively conver-

sation of Runjeet Sing gave an air of ease and cheerfulness to

ceremonials which were usually stately and stiff. He called

up and paraded before the Governor-General his favourite

horses, announcing their names and their virtues with great

animation. One of the dray horses was likewise brought
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forward, but his huge and shaggy legs and coarse appearance

formed a strong contrast with the glittering gold and crimson

velvet with which his back was ornamented. A week was

passed in reviews, entertainments, and displays, recalling to

mind the days of Mogul magnificence, and the parties sepa-

rated with an increased appreciation of each other's power.

Before the encampment was broken up Runjeet Sing prevailed

on Lord William Bentinck to affix his signature to a pledge of

perpetual friendship, which, "like the sun, was to shine

glorious in history."

Tr at wi h Runjeet Sing had long been eager to add Sinde

Bnde, i83i. to his dominions, and more especially to obtain

possession of Shikarpore, a commercial mart on the right bank

of the Indus, of such magnitude and importance that the bills

of its bankers pass current from Astracan to Calcutta. But

he began to suspect that the British Government entertained

designs regarding that province in opposition to his wishes,

and that the transmission of the horses up the Indus, when

they might have been sent with greater ease up the Ganges,
was not without some political object. In a private interview

with the secretaries before the Governor-General's departure,

he endeavoured to sound them on the subject, and hinted at

a joint expedition against the Ameers, and a partition of their

dominions. Sinde, he remarked, was a rich country; the

wealth accumulated in it for a century was immense ; and the

treasury at the capital, as Lieutenant Burnes told him, con-

tained twenty crores of rupees ; on the other hand, there was no

standing army, or indeed any troops at all beside the Beloche

militia. But no intimation could be extracted from their official

lips of the intentions of the Governor-General, although on the

very day of his arrival at Roopur he had instructed Colonel

Pottinger to proceed on a mission to Sinde, for the double

object of concluding a commercial treaty with the Ameers, and

of watching the movements of a Persian envoy who was at the

capital negotiating a matrimonial alliance with the Talpoora

family, as the extension of Persian influence to the banks of the
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Indus was already beginning to be identified with the progress
of Russian power in the east. Colonel Pottinger reached Hydera-
bad in February, 1832, and found that the Ameers recoiled

from the idea of a connection of any description with the

Company's Government. The opening of the Indus to British

trade and enterprise appeared to them fraught with indefinite

danger to their independence, and they apprehended that it

would not be long before the factory, as in other cases, was
transformed into a cantonment. They yielded at length to

the pressure of the envoy, and a treaty of commerce was con-

cluded, the most memorable article of which was that " the

contracting parties bound themselves never to look with the

eye of covetousness on the possessions of each other." Within

eleven years Sinde was a British province. A request was at

the same time made to Runjeet Sing to co-operate in opening
the Sutlege to trade, which he was assured would afford him

the gratification of seeing a steamboat. To this proposal he

consented with great reluctance, remarking that these com-

mercial projects of the British Government on the Indus had

snatched Shikarpore from his grasp, and defeated all his views

on the kingdom of Sinde.

CHAPTER XXXI.

LORD WILLIAM SENTENCE'S ADMINISTRATIVE REFORMS

MATERIAL PROGRESS.

Administrative The government of Lord William Bentinck
Reforms,
1828—34. stands forth in high relief in the history of British

India as the era of progression. It derives its lustre from his

enlightened views of domestic policy, his vigorous administra-

tive reforms, his intrepid philanthropy, and his spirited efforts

to promote the material interests of the empire. Lord Corn-

wallis had given form and consistence to our institutions in

1 793, but there had been little attention to their improvement
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since the days of Lord Wellesley, and they were daily becoming
more and more effete. Great changes had taken place in the

European service, and in the native community, and the whole

system of judicial administration required to be recast and

adapted to the progress of circumstances. For this task Lord

William Bentinck was particularly adapted by the clearness of

his perceptions, his freedom from traditional prejudices, and

his inflexible resolution
;
and he was happily aided by the

counsels and co-operation of three of the ablest men whose

services the Company had ever enjoyed, Mr. Butterworth

Bayley, Sir Charles Metcalfe, and Mr. Holt Mackenzie. He
found the course of civil justice blocked up by the lumbering

waggon of the provincial courts, which he justly characterized

as "resting places for those members of the service who were

deemed unfit for higher responsibilities." The judicial character

of the judges was, with some exceptions, the object of general

contempt, and their decisions in appeal, only served to bewilder

the judges of the courts subordinate to them, and to disgust
the community. In regard to criminal justice their agency
was simply a national grievance. They proceeded on circuit to

hold the sessions twice in the year, and prisoners were kept
in confinement for months before they were brought to trial.

The prosecutors and witnesses were detained all this time at

their own expense, and subjected to such intolerable incon-

venience, while awaiting the arrival of the judges, that the

concealment of crime became an object of universal solicitude

throughout the country. Lord William Bentinck earned the

gratitude of the public by sweeping away a class of tribunals,

which combined the three great evils of delay, expense, and

uncertainty. The duties of the session were, at first, entrusted

to the officers he appointed Commissioners of Revenue, but

finding the functions of tax-gatherer incompatible with

those of a criminal judge, he transferred the duty to the judge
of the district, with instructions to hold a monthly jail delivery.

He entirely remodelled the system of civil judicature. A
separate sudder or chief court was likewise established in
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the north-west provinces, and the natives of Delhi were no

longer constrained to travel a thousand miles to Calcutta to

prosecute an appeal. A similar boon was likewise conferred

on those provinces by the erection of a separate Board of

Revenue at Allahabad, and the control of the fiscal interests of

twenty-five millions of people was established in the most

central position. The value of these and all the other judicial

reforms of Lord William Bentinck was indefinitely enhanced

by restoring to the people the inestimable boon of the use of

their own vernacular language in all the courts, civil, criminal,

and fiscal, to which they were amenable. The Mahome-
dans had. imposed their own court language, the Persian, on

the conquered people of India in every transaction with the

state. The Company's functionaries, who had from the first

manifested a strong predilection for everything that was

Mussulman, retained this language in the courts, although the

anomaly and the incongruity was thereby increased, inasmuch

as justice was now dispensed in a language foreign not only

to the parties and the witnesses, but also to the judge himself.

Lord William Bentinck substituted the vernacular for the

Persian in all tribunals, though not without a strenuous

opposition from the conservatism of the civilians.

The merit of the settlement in the north-west
Revenue settle-

ment, N. w. provinces belongs to Lord William Bentinck's ad-
Provmces, 1833. min istration. Onthe acquisition of those provinces,

consisting of the districts in Oude ceded by the Nabob Vizier,

and the districts in the Dooab conquered from Sindia, Lord

Wellesley pledged himself to grant them a permanent settle-

ment of the land revenue, but it was repudiated by the Court

of Directors, who ordered it to be limited to five years. This

was a death blow to all agricultural improvement. Any
attempt by the landlord to improve his estates only exposed

him to the risk of an increased assessment, and as the period

of revision approached he felt it to be his interest to fill up

wells, and to neglect cultivation. An effort was at length

made by Mr. Holt Mackenzie, the secretary to the Government
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in the territorial department, a man of broad and liberal views

and great earnestness, to grapple with this large question, and

he produced the celebrated Regulation VII, of 1822, a monu-

ment of skill and industry, of which any statesman might

justly be proud. It was based on mature knowledge and

sound and equitable principles, but it was unfortunately too

complicated in its details to work well, and it imposed unlimited

duties on a limited agency. The collectors disrelished the labo-

rious task imposed on them, and performed it in a perfunctory
manner. Some of them affirmed that a period of twenty years,

and others that a whole century would be necessary to complete
the settlement in the mode required. The Board of Revenue
when asked what progress had been made in it, replied that

they knew nothing about the matter. At the end of ten years it

was found that the work chalked out by the Regulation was

scarcely begun. Lord William Bentinck was resolved to remove

the opprobrium of this neglect from our administration, and

after a residence of two years in Calcutta, made a tour of the

north-west provinces, and during his progress invited the

revenue officers of the various districts to his tents to discuss

the question of the settlement. After obtaining all the informa-

tion within his reach, he examined the subject in all its bearings

during his residence at Simla, and on his return to Calcutta

held a meeting at Allahabad of the Revenue Board and the

most eminent officers in the department, when the question was

fully discussed and finally settled, and the Regulation which

resulted from these consultations was passed in Council, after

his arrival in Calcutta, in March, 1833.

Plan of settle
^e new settlement possessed the great merit

ment—Robert of simplicity. It dispensed with many of the
,ird, 1833.

elaborate enquiries of the former Regulation,

which, however useful, were not deemed essential to a fair

adjustment of the claims of the state. The area of each

village was to be surveyed by European officers and recorded

in a map, while each individual field was measured by native

officers and entered in the village register. Without a minute
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classification of soils, the proportion of cultivated, culturable,

and waste lands, together with every circumstance which

could affect the cultivation, was duly recorded. The Collector

was required to decide all questions of disputed boundaries on

the spot, with the aid of native assessors, and the most pro-

lific source of litigation and misery in India was thus dammed

up. All judicial questions which might arise in the course of

his proceedings were determined with the aid of the punchayet,
the ancient and time-honoured jury of five, in which the

natives reposed such unbounded confidence as to believe that
" where the punj is, there is God." The assessment was fixed

by the Collector, after an impartial investigation, and a free

and friendly communication with the people, and the settle-

ment was then made for a period of thirty years, either with

the ryots individually, or with the landholder, or with the village

community, as the case might be. The Collector was assisted

by a body of uncovenanted deputies with liberal allowances,

and their office was thrown open to the natives of the country,

without reference to caste or creed. The general control of

these operations was committed to Mr. Robert Bird, the ablest

financial officer in the service since the days of Sir John Shore.

He possessed a large grasp of mind, and combined an intimate

knowledge of the system of land tenures in the north-west,

with indomitable energy, and that sternness of purpose whicn

is indispensable in any great and difficult undertaking. He
was allowed to select his own subordinates, and the zeal and

ability they displayed did no little credit to his discernment,

while the honour of having served under him was considered

a distinction for life. Under such auspices, and with such

instruments, the settlement was brought to a termination

within ten years. It embraced an area of 72,000 square miles,

and a population of 23,000,000. It was the greatest fiscal

achievement of the Company's Government. The first settle-

ment had ruined those for whose benefit it was devised, the

last saved millions of much enduring men from misery and

ruin. The labours of the renowned Toder Mull, under the
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illustrious Akbar, iu the department of revenue settlements

which historians have never ceased to applaud, were rivalled,

if not eclipsed by those of Robert Bird ;
but there was no

public recognition of the services of one who had conferred

such inestimable blessings on a country as large and populous

as Great Britain. He was only a Company's servant, and the

scene of his duties lay in India, and he was allowed to pass

into obscurity on his return to his native land, and sink into

the grave without the slightest mark of distinction.

Employment of But the measure which above all others has

Natives, 1831. endeare(l the memory of Lord William Bentinck to

the natives of India, is that which he inaugurated of introducing

them to honourable employment in the public service. Allusion

has been made in a former chapter to the cardinal error of

Lord Cornwallis's policy, that of excluding them from every

office except the lowest and the worst paid. This exclusion was

fortified by the peculiar constitution of the Company, which

remunerated the Court of Directors for their labours in the

government of India by patronage, and not by money, and thus

created a strong tendency to secure the monopoly of offices

to their nominees. It would be difficult to discover in history

another instance of this ostracism of a whole people. The

grandsons of the Gauls who resisted Caesar became Roman
senators. The grandsons of the Rajpoots who opposed Baber

in his attempt to establish the Mogul power, and at the battle

of Biana all but nipped his enterprise in the bud, were em-

ployed by his grandson Akbar in the government of provinces
and the command of armies, and they fought valiantly for him

on the shores of the bay of Bengal and on the banks of the

Oxus. They rewarded his confidence by unshaken loyalty to

his throne, even when it was endangered by the conspiracies

of his own Mahomedan satraps. But wherever our sovereignty
was established in India, the path of honourable ambition and

every prospect of fame, wealth, and power was at once closed

on the natives of the country. This proscription was rendernd '

the more galling by comparison with the practice of the native

in. e
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courts around, where the highest prizes of power were open
to universal competition. The contrast was, moreover, aggra-
vated by the fact that the native princes themselves, the

Nizam and Tippoo, Sindia and Holkar, and Runjeet Sing,

adopted a more liberal policy, and freely entrusted offices of the

highest responsibility, both military and political, to European

foreigners. No benefit which we might confer on the country
could be deemed an adequate compensation for the loss of all

share in the government, one of the highest and most honour-

able aspirations of humanity. It was vain to expect any
attachment to our rule when even the best affected of our

native subjects could see no remedy for this degradation but

in the subversion of our government. The enlargement of the

native mind by education only served to augment the evil, by

sharpening expectations which could not be gratified. The

argument for this polic}- was based on a notion of the adminis-

trative superiority of Englishmen, and a persuasion of the utter

unfitness of the natives for any of the functions of government,

mingled with a dread that their venality would be injurious to

the administration. It seemed to be forgotten that it was

idle to hope for any improvement in the character of the

natives while they were excluded from all places of trust and

influence, and left without any object of pursuit but the grati-

fication of their own passions. Some feeble attempts had

been made in preceding administrations to modify the system,

but they were not based on any broad and generous principle,

and were intended simply to relieve the labours of the Com-

pany's favourite officers of the civil service. Lord William

Bentinck brought with him to India a deep conviction of the

viciousness of this policy, and a determination "to throw

open the doors of distinction to the natives, and grant them a

full participation in all the honours and emoluments of the

state." As far back as 1824, the Court of Directors had ex-

pressed their conviction that to secure promptitude in the

administration of justice, native functionaries must be employed

to dispose of all suits, of whatever description and amount.
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The leading members of Government were fully prepared to

abandon the Cornwal lis doctrine, and to give the natives an

interest in the stability of our government by giving them

a share in the management of it. But it required an intrepid

reformer like Lord William Bentinck at the head of the

government, to carry out these large views. This liberal

policy was inaugurated by the Regulations of 1831, which

completely reconstructed the legal establishments of the

Bengal Presidency, and entrusted the primary jurisdiction of

all suits, of whatever character or amount, not excluding those

instituted against Government, to native agency. The new

system provided for three grades of native judges, the highest

that of Principal Sudder Ameen, on 500 rupees a-month, sub-

sequently raised to 750, which is still egregiously inadequate

to the position and responsibilities of the office. The principle

of employing natives in important offices was gradually ex-

tended to other departments, and it has resulted in imparting
a degree of vigour and popularity to the British administration

which it never enjoyed before. So greatly indeed has this

privilege been appreciated by the natives, that there is some

risk of their losing the manly feeling of independence in their

great eagerness for public employ. The policy introduced by
Lord William Bentinck has been zealously and nobly followed

up by his successors. New paths of distinction have been

opened to native ambition, and a native judge now sits on the

bench of the highest court in Calcutta, and natives of rank and

influence occupy seats in the Legislative Cquncil.

The most benignant and memorable act of Lord
Suttees, 1830.

&
William Bentinck's administration was the abolition

of Suttees. Some have questioned whether this atrocious rite

could be traced to a religious origin, but it was always conse-

crated by the solemnities of religion, and it has been practised

for twenty centuries, in a greater or less degree, wherever Hin

dooism has been professed. Even in Bali, one of the remote

islands of the Eastern Archipelago, where the Hindoo faith

still lingers, no fewer than seventy widows were burnt alive

e 2
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towards the close of the last century, with the body of one of

the rajas. It was discouraged and sometimes prohibited by
the Mahomedans, and Akbar himself on one occasion, issued

from his palace on horseback and rescued a victim from the

pile. The first effort to interfere with it under the Company's
Government was made by Mr. George Udny, the friend and

associate of Sir John Shore, and by Dr. Carey. Lord Wel-

lesley to whom they presented an address, was then on the

eve of quitting the Government, but he recorded a minute in

favour of abolishing the rite, stating
" that it was one of the

fundamental maxims of the British Government to consult the

opinions, customs*, and prejudices of the natives, but only when

they were consistent with the principles of humanity, morality

and reason." The Sudder Court, however, put back the cause

of abolition in 1810, by issuing a Circular Order setting forth

the circumstances in which the act was to be considered

illegal, on which Mr. Courtenay Smith, one of the greatest men
who ever adorned the bench of that court, asserted that

"these orders had only served to spread and confirm this

execrable usage." On this and every subsequent attempt to

lessen the evil by regulating it, the Court of Directors justly

remarked that such measures tended rather to increase than

to diminish the practice, and that, by prohibiting it in certain

cases, the Government appeared to sanction it in all others,

and was thus made an ostensible party to the sacrifice. The

Bombay Government committed a still more fatal error in

employing one of its European officers to construct the pile in

order to give the unhappy victim an opportunity of escape, if

she was unable to sustain the torture of the flames. Subsequent

to 1820 the question was discussed with increasing earnestness

in England and in India, but some of the most distinguished

of the public officers, Mr. Colebrooke, Mr. Mountstewart Elphin-

stone, and Colonel Sutherland, shrunk from the bold proposal

of a direct prohibition, and some went so far as to assert

that it would violate the rule of toleration to which our Govern-

ment owed its stability. In 1823, the Court of Directors sent a
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despatch to India, in which all the arguments which had been

adduced against the abolition were earnestly and sincerely

combated, and the question was referred to the consideration

of the local Government, with an implied expression of the

gratification it would afford them to learn that the rite could

be safely abolished. Lord Amherst consulted the most eminent

of the Government servants, but the diversity of the opinions

they expressed only served to increase his embarrassment.

Mr. Courtenay Smith and Mr. Alexander Ross boldly urged

the immediate and peremptory prohibition of the rite.

Mr. Harington, who had been for a quarter of a century a

great authority on all local questions, and who was withal a

man of strong religious feelings, considered that the rite could

be extinguished only by a gradual improvement among the

people through the dissemination of moral instruction. Lord

Amherst was obliged to inform the Court that he could not, in

such circumstances, recommend the absolute interdiction of it

under legal penalties, but he trusted to the diffusion of know-

ledge then in progress for the eventual suppression of " this

detestable superstition." In July, 1827, the Court placed the

question in the hands of the Governor-General, requesting him,

after serious deliberation, to determine in what degree the

ordinary course of civilization could be accelerated by a judi-

cious and seasonable interposition of authority.

Such was the position of this question when
Lord William r ^

Bentinck's Lord William Bentinck landed in Calcutta, feeling,
enquiries, 1829.

ag he saidj the ^g^f^ responsibility hanging
over his head, in this world and the next, if, as the Governor-

General of India, he was to consent to the continuation of this

practice one moment longer, not than our security, but than

the real happiness and permanent welfare of the native popu-

lation rendered indispensable. He resolved to take up the

question without any delay, and " come to as early a deter-

mination as a mature consideration would allow," and "
having

made that determination, to stand by it, yea or no, and set

his conscience at rest." Immediately after his arrival, he
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circulated a confidential communication among fifty or sixty

of the chief military and civil officers of Government, re-

quiring their opinion as to the effect which the abolition of

" this impious and inhuman sacrifice not of one but of thou-

sands of victims," was likely to produce in the native com-

munity generally, and on the minds of the sepoys in particular.

The majority of the officers in the army asserted that the

immediate and peremptory abolition of the practice would

create no alarm among the native troops. Of the civil func-

tionaries, three fourths advocated its positive prohibition. The

most strenuous advocate for non-interference was the eminent

orientalist, Dr. Horace Wilson, whose literary pursuits had

imparted a strong oriental bias to his sympathies, and who
was the great patron, and the idol, of pundits and brahmins.

He affirmed that the practice could not be abolished without

doing violence to the conscientious belief of every order of

Hindoos ; that it would be a direct interference with their reli-

gion, and an infringement of the pledge we had given them to

support it ; that it would diffuse a detestation of British autho-

rity, create extensive dissatisfaction and distrust, and alienate

the affections of the people. The warmest advocate of abolition

was Mr.—afterwards Sir William—Macnaghten, second, as an

orientalist, only to Dr. Wilson. He admitted that, according

to the notions of the Hindoos, the sacrifice of suttee was a

religious act of the highest merit, and that it was unjust as

well as unwise to interfere with religious creeds, however

absurd. "Let the Hindoo," he said, "believe in his three

hundred and thirty millions of gods until it may please the

Almighty to reclaim him from his idolatry ; but let him not

immolate thousands of helpless females on the altar of fana-

ticism, in defiance of the eternal laws of nature and the

immutable principles of justice." He ridiculed the phantom
of danger :

" Under the Mahomedans, the Hindoos tamely
endured all sorts of insults to their religion and violation of

their prejudices. Their temples were polluted and destroyed,

and many were constrained to become Mussulmans, yet there
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was no general organized disaffection. The rite was not

respected by the hardy and warlike Hindoos of the north-west,

but by the sleek and timid inhabitants of Bengal, the fat and

greasy citizens of Calcutta, whose very existence depended on

the prosperity of the British Government."

Abolition of
Fortified by the opinion of the most experienced

suttee, 1830. and the most liberal minded men in the service, and

confident of the support of the Court of Directors, Lord William

Bentinck and his two counsellors, Mr. Butterworth Bayley
and Sir Charles Metcalfe, on the 14th of December, 1829, passed

that celebrated Regulation which "declared the practice of

Suttee illegal and punishable by the criminal courts as cul-

pable homicide." Thus by one bold and resolute effort, a

practice which had polluted India from the remotest antiquity,

was extinguished under the flag of England, and for the first

time since the introduction of Hindooism, "the Ganges flowed

unblooded to the sea." Twenty-five attempts at suttee were

made after the passing of the Regulation, but they were pre-

vented by the simple interposition of the police. Not the

slightest feeling of alarm, still less of resentment, was exhi-

bited in the army, or in the country. In the course of a few

years, the practice became a matter of history like the sacri-

fice of children at Saugor, and the enlightened Hindoo of the

present day looks back on this barbarous custom with the

same feelings with which Englishmen look back on the

human sacrifices of the Druids. Lord William Bentinck was
enabled within a twelvemonth to assure the Directors that

there never was a greater bugbear than the fear of revolt.

The only circle in which the abolition created any sensation

was that of the rich and orthodox baboos of Calcutta, who
resented the decision of Government, and more especially the

promptitude with which it had been carried into execution, as

it deprived them of the gratification of obstructing it. They
drew up a petition to the Government in which the fine Roman
hand of their European counsellor was distinctly visible,

demanding the restoration of the rite as part and parcel
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of Hindooism, with which Parliament had pledged itself not to

interfere. The native organ of the party in his weekly jour-
nal affirmed that the signataries to the petition for restoring
the "sacred rite of Suttee" included "the learned, the

wealthy, the virtuous, the noble, the polite, and the mild."

But Lord William Bentinck turned a deaf ear to every remon-

strance, and refused to suspend the Regulation for a moment.
A memorial was then drawn up to the Privy Council in Eng-
land, appealing against the proceedings of the Government

of India, because they contravened the Act of Parliament

which ordained that "
nothing done in consequence of the rule

of the caste should be held to be a crime though not justifiable

by the laws of England." The appeal was taken into consi-

deration in June 1832, and the venerable Lord Wellesley, the

first Governor-General who had recorded his condemnation of

the rite, had the high gratification of assisting in dismissing
the petition, and in giving to this sublime act of humanity the

sanction of the highest tribunal in the British empire.

„. . T . To Lord William Bentinck is also due the merit of
Hindoo Law of

inheritance, having established the rights of conscience in India.
1832

To prevent defections from Hindooism, the Hindoo

legislators had enacted that ancestral property should descend

only to those who performed the funeral obsequies of a de-

ceased parent or relative, according to the rule of the shasters,

and the man who renounced the Hindoo creed, was thus con-

signed to poverty. The Mahomedans, who were enjoined to

propagate their religion by the sword, treated this injunction

with profound contempt. No Hindoo was ever permitted to

occupy a seat on the bench during their supremacy, and the

Mahomedan judges, who rejected Hindoo law, were not likely

to deprive a proselyte to their, own creed of his patrimony.
Mr. Hastings, in a spirit of liberality, guaranteed to the Hindoos

and Mussulmans the enjoyment of their own laws of inheri-

tance in his first code of 1772. This equitable rule was sub-

sequently re-enacted both in England and in India, by those

who were as ignorant as Mr. Hastings was of the intolerant



XXXI.] NATIVE CHRISTIANS ADMITTED TO OFFICE. 57

character of the Hindoo law of property to which they were

giving a British sanction. Lord William Bentinck resolved

to relieve the Government from the odium of countenancing
this illiberal law and, to avoid a fanatical opposition, took

advantage of the occasion of remodelling and re-enacting

several existing regulations, quietly to introduce a clause which

provided that " the Hindoo and Mahomedan law of inheritance

should apply only to those who were bond fide professors of

those religions at the time of its application." The law was

passed without observation, and the tendency of it to restore

liberty of conscience was not discovered by the bigoted
Hindoos till it came into operation, when it was found to

be too late to demand its repeal. In the same spirit of liber-

ality he abrogated another rule, equally unjust, but of our own
. creation. The Mahomedans had encouraged prose-

native christians lytism by the bestowal of honours and estates
ce, i83i.

an(j ^Yes, and some of the most eminent of their

provincial governors—among others the great Moorshed-kooly-

khan, the founder of Moorshedabad—were converts from

Hindooism. The Company and their servants in India, from

that dread of offending native prejudices, which, though in

some cases judicious and prudent, too often led to the

toleration of evil, had run into the opposite extreme, and

expressly debarred native converts to Christianity from holding

any post, however humble, under their government. Lord

William Bentinck was determined to extinguish this disre-

putable anomaly, and in the same Regulation which threw open
the public service to the natives of the country, ordained that

there should be no exclusion from office on account of caste,

creed, or nation. The publication of this enactment demon-

strated the egregious error into which the Government had

fallen by supposing that the unnatural stigma they had cast

on their own creed, would tend to conciliate and gratify the

Hindoos. Those who had been most clamorous for the

restoration of suttee were the first to come forward and

applaud this act of liberality and justice.
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Suppression of It was during the administration of Lord William

Thuggee, 1830. Bentinck that the first energetic measures were

adopted to extirpate the Thugs, a fraternity of hereditary

assassins, who subsisted on the plunder of the victims they

strangled. Few districts were without resident Thugs, but

they generally adopted the occupation of agriculturists to con-

ceal their nefarious profession, and no district was free from

their depredations. They were in the habit of quitting their

homes in a body, leaving their wives and their children in the

village. They generally attached themselves, as if by acci-

dent, to the travellers they met, from whom they obtained

such information as they required, by a free and cheerful in-

tercourse. On reaching some spot suited to their purpose, a

strip of cloth, or an unfolded turban, was suddenly thrown

around the neck of the victim, the ends of which were crossed

and drawn tight till he ceased to breathe. His body was then

rifled and thrown into a pit hastily dug with a pickaxe which

had been consecrated by religious ceremonies. The Thugs
were bound to secrecy by solemn oaths, and recognized each

other by peculiar signs and a slang vocabulary. They con-

sidered themselves as acting under the immediate auspices of

the deity, and had a special veneration for Doorga, the tute-

lary goddess of vagabonds, thieves, and murderers. They
observed her festivals with superstitious punctuality, and pre-

sented offerings at her most celebrated shrines in various parts

of the country. They had a firm confidence in signs and

omens, and endeavoured through them to ascertain her pleasure

regarding their expeditions, and considered themselves as acting

under a divine commission when they were favourable. The

gangs were recruited with juvenile apprentices, who were

gradually and cautiously initiated into the mysteries of the

profession by one of the elders, who was ever after regarded

in the light of a spiritual guide. The number of their victims

in the year was counted by thousands. The subordinate native

chiefs and officers in Central India, as well as the zemindars

and policemen in our own provinces, to whom they were well
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known, connived at their practices on the condition of sharing

their plunder. The establishment of British functionaries in the

native states first brought this atrocious system to light, and

some feeble and ineffectual efforts were made to eradicate it.

Lord William Bentinck was resolved to spare no exertion to

deliver India from this scourge. With this view, he created

a special department for the suppression of Thuggee, and

placed it under the direction of Major—afterwards Sir William

—Sleeman, whose name is inseparably associated in the

annals of British India with this mission of humanity. He
threw his whole soul into the work, and organized a compre-
hensive system of operations, which embraced every province ;

by means of approvers who turned king's evidence, he ob-

tained a complete clue to the proceedings and movements of

the whole fraternity, as well as the means of identifying its

members, and was thus enabled, with the efficient staff of

officers whom he had the discernment to select, to take the field

simultaneously against the various gangs in every direction.

It was not among the least important results of the establish-

ment of one paramount authority throughout the continent of

India, that the officers in this department were enabled to hunt

the Thugs without impediment from province to province,

whether under British or native rule, and to leave them no

prospect of shelter in any district. In the course of six

years, two thousand of these miscreants were arrested and

tried, and three fourths of them sentenced to imprisonment,

transportation, or death. The confederacy was effectually

broken up, and travelling in India ceased to be dangerous.

These efforts were crowned by the establishment of a school

of industry at Jubbulpore, for the Thugs who had turned

approvers, and for the children of convicted offenders. The

men were ignorant of any trade save robbery and murder, but

in the factory they were instructed in every branch of manu-

facture, and became skilled artisans, capable of earning an

honest livelihood by their labour. The children, instead of

being trained to crime, were taught the rudiments of learning
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and trade, and fitted to become useful members of society.

The scene of cheerful and industrious activity which the insti-

tution exhibited, viewed in contrast with the former occupa-
tion of its inmates, was calculated to afford the most grateful

reflections to the mind of the philanthropist,

steam communi- The attention of Lord William Bentinck imme-
cation, 1830-34.

diately after his arrival was devoted to the estab-

lishment of steam communication on the Ganges, and between

India and England. Under his directions two vessels were

built in Calcutta and fitted up with engines imported from

England, and they performed in the brief period of three weeks

the distance of eight hundred miles between Calcutta and

Allahabad, which had ordinarily occupied three months. The

success of this experiment induced him to press the completion

of a steam fleet on the Court of Directors, and they responded

to his wishes with a laudable alacrity. The system of steam

navigation on the rivers in Hindostan was thus fully estab-

lished under the auspices of Government, and eventually

transferred to private enterprise. A still more important

object with the Governor-General was the abridgment of the

voyage between England and India, which he endeavoured to

promote with untiring ardour. A considerable fund had been

raised for this object in Calcutta as early as 1823, and a pre-

mium was offered for any steamer which should perform the

voyage between the two countries within seventy days. The

"Enterprise," commanded by Captain' Johnson, was the first

to compete for the premium, but she was a hundred and

thirteen days in reaching Calcutta from Falmouth. The route

by the Cape was consequently considered unsuited to the

object. An attempt was then made by the King's Govern-

ment, under the direction of Colonel Chesney, to open a

communication by way of the Euphrates and the Per-

sian Gulf, but the obstacles were found to be insuperable.

It remained therefore to make an experiment by the Red Sea,

and Lord William Bentinck directed the " Hugh Lindsay," a

small steamer of four hundred tons, built for Government at
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Bombay, to be despatched from that port on the 20th March,
. to Suez which she reached in a month. Three other

voyages were subsequently performed by that vessel, and it

was clearly demonstrated that, with suitable arrangements in

the Mediterranean, the voyage from Bombay to England

might be accomplished with ease in fifty-five days. But the

Court of Directors raised an objection to these experiments
on the score of the great expense they entailed. Lord William

Bentinck replied that the revenues of India could not, in his

estimation, be appropriated to any object more conducive to

the good of both countries than that of bringing them into close

communication with each other. The Chairman of the Court,

however, questioned whether the end in view would be worth

the probable expenditure, and the India House at length

positively prohibited any further employment of the "Hugh
Lindsay

"
for the conveyance of mails. The subject was soon

after brought before the House of Commons, and the committee

appointed to investigate it reported that a regular and expedi-
tious communication by steam between England and India was
an object of national importance, and that measures ought to be

immediately adopted to establish it by way of the Red Sea,

at the joint expense of the Company and the Crown. The
indifference of the India House was overruled by the higher

authority of Parliament, and the " Hugh Lindsay
" was again

put in requisition and despatched with the mails to Suez, but

the Court of Directors were lukewarm on the subject, and the

enterprise, conducted without spirit, fell again into abeyance.
A subscription was likewise raised at the three Presidencies

to the extent of three lacs of rupees for the promotion of this

object, but the plans which were devised proved abortive.

__ _ .
,

It was reserved for the Peninsular and Oriental
The Peninsular

and oriental Company to carry to a successful issue the com-
'

prehensive views to which Lord William Bentinck

had devoted his attention, both in India and after his return

to England. This Company, which was originally established

for service to the ports in the Peninsula, was encouraged by a
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Royal charter to extend its labours to India. Commencing with

a small capital and a limited object, it has gradually grown

up, by a rare combination of enterprise, prudence, and perse-

verance, into a great national undertaking. During the quarter
of a century which has elapsed since its first vessel was

despatched to Calcutta in 1843, the sphere of its operations

has been expanded till it embraces the whole of the eastern

hemisphere. Its fleet, second only to the navies of England,

France, and America, now comprises more than sixty steamers,

aggregating 100,000 tons, with 20,000 horse-power. By these

powerful vessels passengers, letters, books, and merchandise are

conveyed, week after week, over 11,000 miles of sea to the ex-

treme points of Sydney in Australia, and Yokohama in Japan ;

and the voyages are performed with a degree of speed and punc-

tuality which would have appeared fabulous half a century ago.

Mails starting from different and distant extremities have

traversed half the globe and reached their destination in

England, simultaneously, within an hour and a half of their

appointed time. The importance of this enterprise of a

private company to the interests of the mother country, and

her eastern dependencies, it would be difficult to overrate. It

has given a character of solidity and compactness to the British

empire in the Eastern world, which enables us to contemplate
its expansion without any feeling of apprehension. It has

linked the most distant countries of the east with the European

world, and for the first time after the lapse of more than

twenty centuries, given full effect to the views of Alexander

the Great when he founded Alexandria, and destined it to be

the highway between Europe and Asia. It has covered the

Red Sea with steamers, and converted it into an English lake.

It has given a political importance to the land of the Pharoahs,

which constrains England to consider the maintenance of its

independence, even at the hazard of war, an indispensable

article of national policy. The empire of India belongs to the

nearest European power, and it is the enterprise of this Com-

pany which has conferred the advantage of this position on
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England. Our base of operations in Asia is the sea, but while

transports were four or five months going round the Cape, our

interests were always exposed to adverse contingencies. It

is the spirited exertions of this Company which have brought

the ports of India within four weeks' reach of the resources

of England, and completed our ascendency in the east.

The cause of education received a fresh impulse
Education; «• • « ». • i T
orientalism, as well as a beneficial direction during Lord
1813-33.

William Bentinck's administration. The earliest

movement of Government towards the intellectual improve-

ment of India dates from the year 1813, when on the motion

of Mr. Robert Percy Smith, who had been Advocate-General

in Calcutta, and, as usual, obtained a seat in Parliament on his

return, a rider was added to the India Bill, directing that a

lac of rupees should be appropriated "to the revival and pro-

motion of literature, and the encouragement of the learned

natives of India, and for the introduction and promotion of a

knowledge of the sciences among the inhabitants of the British

territories out of any surplus which might remain of the rents,

revenues, and profits of our territorial acquisitions." This

vote was interpreted both in Leadenhall Street and in Calcutta

to apply chiefly to the revival and encouragement of Hindoo

and Mahomedan literature ; and, considering the brahminised

feelings of the period of Mr. Smith's residence in Calcutta,

there can be little doubt that the grant was intended primarily,

though not exclusively, for that object. During Lord Minto's

administration, the only public money expended in education

was devoted to the establishment of Hindoo colleges, with

the view, as the Government stated, of giving the people the

benefit of the beautiful morality embodied in the shasters.

Mr. Dowdeswell, the superintendent of police in the lower

provinces, had stated in his report, that he could not expect

to obtain credit for his narrative of a thousandth part of the

atrocities of the dacoits, but the only remedy he could propose

was that the institutions of Mahomedanism and Hindooism

should be revived, and gradually moulded into a system of
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instruction for these banditti. The fund voted by Parliament

was allowed to accumulate for ten years, when Mr. Adam

distinguished his brief tenure of office in 1823 by appointing

a Committee of public instruction to suggest measures for the

better education of the people in useful knowledge, and the

arts and sciences of Europe, and for the improvement of

public morals. This enlightened movement was soon after

strengthened by the receipt of an unexpected despatch from

Leadenhall Street. Seven years before this period, Lord

Hastings had suggested to Mr. Charles Grant the propriety

of appropriating the Parliamentary grant to the support of

schools rather than of Hindoo colleges. Mr. Grant replied

that there had always been in the Direction men of influence

opposed to the intellectual improvement of the natives ; they
were gradually dying out, but it would still be premature to

urge the course which the Governor-General proposed. But

Mr. James Mill, the historian, the advocate of all liberal prin-

ciples, now occupied an important position in the India office,

where he had acquired that influence which is naturally exer-

cised by a great mind. A proposal had been received from the

Government of India to improve the Hindoo college at Benares,

and the Mahomedan college in Calcutta, and to add to them

a Hindoo college in the metropolis. It fell to Mr. Mill to

draft the reply to this despatch, and he stated that "in

professing to establish seminaries for the purpose of teaching
mere Hindoo or mere Mahomedan literature, the Government

bound itself to teach a great deal of what was frivolous, not

a little of what was purely mischievous, and a small remainder

ndeed in which utility was in any way concerned. The great

end of Government should be, not to teach Hindoo or Maho-
medan learning, but useful learning." But Orientalism was

still supreme in Calcutta. High attainments in Sanscrit and

Arabic formed the surest road to promotion and honour in the

public service, and the leading members of Government were

naturally partial to the cultivation of those studies which had

raised them to distinction. The education department, more-
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over, was under the absolute control of Dr. Horace Wilson,

the great champion of native literature and institutions. The

Parliamentary grant was accordingly
— with some trifling

exceptions to save appearances
—devoted for ten years longer

to the promotion of studies, of which the mode, the medium,

and the scope were altogether oriental in their character, and

designed to conciliate old prejudices, and to perpetuate old

ideas.

New policy of Meanwhile, a predilection for English was
education ; intro- rapidly spreading among the natives in and
duction of

, , ,. , , , ,. . A

English, 1833. around the metropolis, and a demand for instruc-

tion in that language, and the acquisition of European science,

was pressed with increased earnestuess on the attention of

the Board of Education. The Board itself was divided into

two hostile parties ;
the Orientalists, headed by Dr. Wilson,

who deprecated any interference with the patronage of Hindoc

literature, and the Anglicists, as they were termed, the advo-

cates of a European education through the medium of English,

who were animated by the energy and the counsels of Mr.—
now Sir Charles—Trevelyan, to whom the country is under

lasting obligations for his untiring zeal at this critical period

in the cause of sound and liberal education. The division in

the Board brought its operations to a dead lock, and an appeal

was made to Government. Mr. Macaulay, the greatest English

classic of the age, was now a member of the Supreme Council,

as well as President of the Board of Education, and he

denounced with irresistible force the continued promotion of

Orientalism, as tending, not to support the progress of truth

but to delay the death of expiring error. "We are at pre-

sent," he said,
" a Board for printing books which are of less

value than the paper on which they are printed was when

it was blank, and for giving artificial encouragement to absurd

history, absurd metaphysics, absurd physics, and absurd

theology." The question was brought to an issue on the

7th March, 1835, by the resolution of the Governor-General

in Council, that " the great object of the British Government

III. F
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ought to be the promotion of European literature and science

among the natives of I'idia, and that the funds appropriated

to education would be best employed on English education

alone." No college or school of oriental learning was, how-

ever, to be abolished, while tne natives were inclined to avail

themselves of it ;
the stipends to the teachers and students

were to be continued, but not renewed ; and the publication

of oriental works and of translations of medical and mathe-

matical works into Arabic, which neither the teachers nor

pupils could comprehend, was at once discontinued.

Remarks on this This resolution encountered a stern opposition,
measure, 1834. an(j the Asiatic Societies in Calcutta and in London,
as well as on the Continent, came forward to deprecate it as a

severe discouragement of the cultivation of oriental literature.

The design of these associations was to prosecute researches

into the history, antiquities, and literature of the east, and

to unfold the ancient records of Asia to the European world.

It was the unquestionable duty of a liberal Government to

patronize such labours, and to make suitable provision from

the public funds for the preservation of the ancient monuments

of Indian civilization, whether in stone or manuscript; but it

was a dereliction of duty to divert to the promotion of this

object the scanty funds allotted to the education and improve-
ment of the people. Nor was the patronage of the state

necessary to the maintenance of Hindoo learning. It had

continued to flourish for centuries without any succour from

the Mahomedan princes, and there were ample funds in the

country for its support, apart from those of the Treasury. To

prevent the settlement of the interlopers whom the Directors

could not entirely exclude from the country, they had adopted
and rigidly enforced the principle, altogether novel in the

history of conquest, of prohibiting their own countrymen
from acquiring an interest of any description in tne soil.

With the exception of the estates held by Mahomedans, which

were comparatively few, the whole rental of the Gangetic

valley was in the hands of Hindoos, and available for the
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encouragement of their institutions. The celebrity of all

religious, social, and family festivals, in popular estimation,

depended on the entertainment of brahmins, and the gifts

bestowed on them were proportioned to their literary repu-

tation. Hence it was impossible to discover how the with-

drawal of Government aid from the two or three colleges it had

established could affect in any perceptible degree the cultiva-

t ion of the sacred language of the Vedas. The encouragement
of English was, on the other hand, one of the highest blessings

which could be conferred on the country. It unlocked to the

natives all the stores of European knowledge and science, and

brought them into association with the highest civilization in

the world. It shook the fabric of error and the empire of super-

stition which had survived the lapse of twenty-five centuries.

It introduced a flood of light into the minds of the natives

upon every object of human enquiry, and communicated to

them the secret of our own greatness. The judicious resolution

of Lord William Bentinck has been followed by a degree of

success which exceeds the most sanguine expectations, and the

language and literature of England have now become as

familiar to the upper ten thousand, as ever the language of

Rome was within the sphere of her conquests. The only

drawback connected with it has been the neglect of vernacular

education, through which alone the ^great body of the people

can receive the elements of mental improvement. But public

measures in every department in India depend so greatly

on the idiosyncracies of those who happen, for the time, to

be in power, that there is no reason to despair of seeing this

error remedied at some future time, and the million rescued

from the barbarism of ignorance.

The cause of sound and enlightened education
General Assem-

.

°
.

biy's institution, was materially promoted during this period by
1833,

the efforts of the General Assembly, under the

superintendence of the Rev. Dr. Duff. He proceeded to India

in 1830, with the view of establishing an institution which

should combine secular instruction of the highest order, through
f 2
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the medium of English, with an unreserved communication

of the doctrines and morals of Christianity, which were alto-

gether excluded from the Government colleges. The tuition

imparted in the institution he founded embraced every branch

of a liberal education, and was in no respect inferior to that

which the colleges supported by the state professed to bestow.

He and his colleagues made no secret of the fact that their

system of education was inseparably associated with Christian

instruction, but their rooms were soon crowded with twelve

hundred scholars, and the teachers were regarded with feelings

of distinguished confidence. The eminent success of this insti-

tution is to be traced to the sturdy energy, and the classical

endowments of its conductors, who are entitled to public

gratitude for their exertions to elevate the native character,

and to give the country the benefit of a complete education, in

every department of human pursuit.

The Medical No attempt worthy of the Government had been

college, 1835. made before the time of Lord William Bentinck

to supersede native quackery by the cultivation of medical

science. In the Sanscrit and Arabic colleges the systems of

Galen and Hippocrates were taught in combination with a

smattering of European ideas; and a public institution existed,

though of a very inferior description, for training native doctors,

as they were called, but they never rose above the dignity of

apothecaries. As the crowning act of his administration, the

Governor-General founded a medical college in Calcutta in

the month of March, 1835, to afford, through the medium of

English treatises and English lectures, a professional educa-

tion to the natives in every branch of the science, as cultivated

in Europe. The most eminent medical officers in the service

were placed in the professors' chairs ; a library and a museum
were established, and every appliance necessary to place it

on the same footing of efficiency as European colleges was
furnished with a bountiful hand. Sage men of long experience

and reputed wisdom confidently predicted the failure of the ex-

periment. Contact with a dead body had for twenty centuries
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been considered a mortal pollution by the Hindoos, and it

-was traditionally affirmed that native prejudices were invin-

cible. But these anticipations, when brought to the test of

actual practice, proved, as usual, to be the phantoms of a mor-

bid imagination. Natives of high caste were found to resort

freely to the dissecting room, and to handle the scalpel with

as much indifference as European students. In the first year

they assisted in dissecting sixty subjects, and the feeling of /

ardour with which they entered on these studies, and the /

aptitude for acquiring knowledge which they exhibited 1

created a universal feeling of surprise. The downfall of one

prejudice paved the way for the removal of others. In 1844,

Dwarkenath Tagore, one of the most liberal and enlightened
native gentlemen of the time, offered to take two of the

students with him to England, and complete their professional

education at his own expense. His views were cordially

seconded by Dr. Mouat, the secretary of the college, to whose

ability and energy the infant institution was indebted in no

small measure for its efficiency, and he persuaded two of the

most advanced pupils to accept the offer and cross the "black

water," though at the risk of forfeiting the privileges of

their caste. They entered the medical schools in London,
and successfully competed with the best scientific students

in England.

_. T . „ , ,
The eminent services of Sir John Malcolm during

SirJohn Malcolm °
Governor of a career of forty years in India, were tardily
ombay, 182 .

rewar(je(} }n the year 1827 with the Government

of Bombay. His political opinions carry little weight in com-

parison with those of Munro, Elphinstone, Metcalfe, and

• others, but no officer of the Company ever possessed in a

higher degree the happy art of conciliating the attachment of

the people. He did not, like too many of his countrymen, keep

himself aloof from the natives, but associated with them with

all that freedom and ease, and that genial humour for which

the French in India have always been more distinguished

than the English. In the provinces of Central India he was
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remembered with the same feelings of affectionate veneration

which Bussy had excited in the Deccan, of whom it was

remarked, that fifty years after he had left Hyderabad, the

highest honour which the common people could pay to a

European was to address him as Mods. Bussy. In the

peaceful condition of Western India at the period of Sir John's

appointment there was little scope for the exercise of his

political or diplomatic talents, and his administration might
have passed almost without observation, but for the collision

which took place between the Supreme Court and his Govern-

ment.

_ „. . _ For a quarter of a century Bombay had been
Collision of the ^

-r»

supreme court content with the court of a Recorder for the
ov., 8 .

acjm inistration of English law, and the bench had

been adorned with the genius of Sir James Mackintosh. In

1823, the growing importance of the town and port rendered

it advisable to establish a Supreme Court of Judicature, with

three judges, as at Calcutta and Madras. The recollection of

the unseemly and perilous struggle between the Court in

Calcutta and the Government, in the days of Hastings and

Impey, might have suggested the necessity of preventing a

similar conflict by a clear definition of the powers and jurisdic-

tion of the new court. But the same error was repeated, and

with the same mischievous results. The new judges gave the

utmost latitude of construction to the indefinite powers con-

ferred on them by their charter, and manifested the same

disposition to treat the Government of the Company with

contempt, and to encroach on its authority, which had been

exhibited in Calcutta fifty years before. In their " thirst for

jurisdiction," as the great historian of India remarked of the

Supreme Court of Bengal,
"
they availed themselves of the

hooks and handles which the ensnaring system of law adminis-

tered by them afforded in abundance, to draw within their pale

the whole transactions of the country." It was in reference

to these remarks of Mr. Mill, that the Bombay Chief Justice

went out of his way to assert that "if the whole of what
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Mr. Mill had said about judges and law had been inserted in

the 4

Bombay Courier,' he knew where the editor of that papei
would be now, or in a day or two." The conflict between the

two powers was brought to an issue in 1829. A Mahratta

youth of fourteen, Moro Roghoonath, was left at the decease

of his parents under the guardianship of his uncle, Pandoorang,
a man of the highest family connections, and a kinsman of the

late Peshwa. A near relative of the girl to whom Moro had

affianced, was anxious to obtain the wardship of the

Ihy minor, and was advised by the lawyers to prefer his

suit to the Supreme Court. He accordingly proceeded to

Bombay, and under their directions made affidavit that the

youtti was compulsorily detained by Pandoorang at the risk

of tis life, and a writ of habeas corpus was immediately

granted to bring him up to the Presidency. Under the

instructions of Government, the Magistrate resisted the

execution of the writ, alleging that neither the uncle nor the

nephew had ever resided, or been possessed of property,

within the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, and were not

therefore amenable to its process. The judges maintained

ol the contrary, that their Court had been invested with all

tie powers of the Court of King's Bench, and was bound to

vatch over the liberty of the King's subjects to the farthest

limits of the Presidency. Sir John Malcolm addressed a

temperate and conciliatory letter to them, pointing out the

injurious consequences of a contest between the Royal Court

and the Company's Government, and proposing the suspension
of all proceedings pending a reference to England- This

communication was treated as an unconstitutional and a

criminal proceeding, and denounced as an insult to the majesty
of British law. During these discussions two of the judges

died, but Sir John Grant, who was left alone on the bench,

continued .to multiply the issue of writs. A criminal, who
had been sentenced to imprisonment for two years by the

Sessions .Judge of one of the districts in the interior, was
uaed by order of the Supreme Court. The Guickwar
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refused the payment of a loan due to the Company, under the

impression that the Supreme Court had power to release him

from the obligation. The authority of Government was
shaken to its foundation, and it became necessary to vindicate

it in the eyes of the natives. Sir John Malcolm deemed it his

duty to resist the encroachments of the Court with the same

vigour which Warren Hastings had exhibited under similar

circumstances in Calcutta. He placed a guard at the door of

Pandoorang's residence to prevent the entrance of the con-

stable, and he issued a circular to all the Company's Judges
and Magistrates directing them to make no return to any of

the writs of the Court. Sir John Grant, finding the Govern-

ment immoveable, closed the doors of the Court, and they
remained shut for two months. The question was referred to

the Privy Council in England, and his proceedings were pro-

nounced to be utterly repugnant to law. Lord Ellenborough,

the President of the Board of Control, in his private lettei to

Sir John Malcolm, also expressed his strong disapprobation

of the measures of the Court, and informed him that he had

appointed two other judges, one of whom was the Advocate-

General at Bombay, and that no further mischief was to be

apprehended, as " Sir John Grant would be like a wild elepham
led away between two tame ones." Elated with this commu-

nication, Sir John Malcolm read it aloud at his own breakfast

table, amidst the acclamation of thirty or forty guests. A
copy of it found its way—it was said mysteriously

—into the

Calcutta newspapers, and created a profound sensation

throughout the country. The Governor was chagrined at the

position in which he was placed by this disclosure of a private

communication, but instead of ascribing his mortification to

his own indiscretion, attributed it to the liberty which Lord

William Bentinck had given to the press, which was to him

an object of abhorrence. Sir John Grant immediately retired

from the Bombay bench.

Conflict of The current of Indian affairs in England at this

the court of
period, presented some singular exhibitions, both
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IS »nd at the Board of Control and in Parliament. It has

last. been already noticed that the debt due by the

Nizam to the banking house of Palmer & Co. was liquidated

in 1823, and that they became insolvent within a twelve-

month, when their affairs were placed in the hands of trustees.

During the discussions on this subject at the India House, the

Court of Directors had solicited the opinion of three of the most

eminent counsel in England whether British subjects in India

were not debarred by Act of Parliament from enforcing claims

for interest beyond twelve per cent., and they affirmed that

such claims could not be sustained. Soon after, Lord Hastings

brought the question forward in the House of Lords and it was

referred to the decision of the twelve judges, who decided that

the limitation of the rate of interest by Parliament did not

apply to loans made to the subjects of independent princes by
British subjects residing in their dominions. The opinion of

counsel was sent out, forthwith, to India from the India House
with alacrity, and the Resident at Hyderabad was directed to

give it all due publicity. This notification ought, in all fairness,

to have been withdrawn as soon as the judges had pronounced
that opinion illegal, but it was allowed to continue in force,

and the trustees of Palmer & Co. complained, not without

reason, that under these circumstances they found it impossible
to realize the debts due to the estate. The chief debtor was

Moneer-ool-moolk a near relative of the Nizam, and the osten-

sible prime minister. He had made over some of his jageers
to Palmer & Co., and the rents had been duly collected and

regularly applied to the liquidation of his debts, which had

been fully effected, together with interest, at the rate of twelve

per cent. The remainder of their demand consisted simply of

a balance of interest beyond that rate. Decrees had been

obtained for this claim in the local courts, but it was diffi-

cult to execute them against one who occupied so high a

position in the state without strong external pressure. Ap-

plication was accordingly made on the subject to the Court

of Directors, who drafted a reply in July, 1830, in which the
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Resident was forbidden to interfere in the matter. But the

President of the Board of Control took a different view of the

case, and returned the draft with this material modification,

that the Resident was directed not only to ihform the Nizam
that the Government would hear with much satisfaction that

the house had recovered their just claims from their private

debtors, but also to adopt measures to promote this object.

The Court remonstrated against these alterations, which re-

versed the policy they had resolutely maintained for ten years,

of refusing the influence of their Government in reference to

the private debts of the firm. They justly argued that the exor-

bitant interest which constituted the present claim arose from

the risk with which the transaction was originally attended,

and from the uncertainty of payment, both of which ceased to

exist with the interposition of Government. The remonstrance

was not without effect, and the despatch was withheld,

writ of Man- The question slumbered till the beginning of

damus, 1832.
ig32, when the Whigs being in office, the Court

of Directors were desired by the Board to prepare a despatch
in the room of that to which they had formerly raised objec-

tions. But when it arrived in Cannon Row, the President of

the Board drew his fatal pen across thirty-three out of its thirty-

seven paragraphs, and substituted ten of his own. In this

amended despatch the Court were required to declare their

conviction that the joint interposition of our Government and

that of the Nizam would be requisite to bring the matter in

dispute to a final settlement. The Nizam was to be allowed

the alternative of an arbitration, with an umpire nominated by
Government, or a commission appointed by the Governor-

General. The Court declined to sanction the authoritative

interference of their Government in the adjustment of a

debt which they considered unjust, and they refused to

adopt the amendments. The President disclaimed any idea

of bringing the authority of Government to bear on the case,

and made some trivial alterations in the despatch ; but the

Court justly remarked that in the relative position of the
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parties at Hyderabad, no interference of the head of the

Government of India could be divested of the character of

authority ;
and they proceeded to cancel both the amended

and the original despatch. The correspondence on this

subject was extended over eight months, but nothing could

shake the resolution of the Directors. They persisted in

refusing to sign and transmit the despatch, and at length

informed the President that "
they had nothing to do but to

leave the law to take its course." lie immediately applied

to the Court of King's Bench for a writ of mandamus to

compel the Directors to adopt the despatch as dictated by the

Board, and they were constrained to yield to this irresistible

argument ; but at the same time they recorded their solemn

protest against the orders which they had been compelled to

sign as their own act and deed. The debt of the minister

was settled by Mr. Macleod, the umpire appointed by Govern-

ment, but upon the preposterous principle of allowing interest

against the debtor to the utmost farthing, and refusing
interest on the payments which had been successively made

by him ;
and the transaction ended with the same disregard

of justice with which it had been commenced and carried on.

TheLucknow During these transactions, a still more objec-
Bankers, 1832. tionable case was brought under discussion in

England. Between the 3~ears 1792 and 1797 the Nabob of

Oude had borrowed large sums of money from Europeans and

natives for his voluptuous pleasures. The chances of repay-
ment were very remote, and altogether uncertain

;
and the

charge for interest was proportionately high. He was at

length awakened to a sense of his increasing embarrass-

ments by the representations of the Resident, and began in

earnest to compound with his creditors. The Europeans were

offered better terms than the natives ; but all parties were

prevailed on to accept the composition, with the exception of

the eminent banking firm of Monohur Doss, from whom he

had borrowed about eleven lacs of rupees for the support of

his wild beasts, and for the " cattle department." Soon after
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the king died, and his successor repudiated the debt. The

bankers eventually engaged the services of a Mr. Prendergast

who had amassed a fortune as a trader at Lucknow, and, like

Mr. Paull, obtained a seat in Parliament on his return to

England. He brought the claims of his clients before the

House for the first time in 1811, but though he met with no

success, he continued for twenty years to make the most

strenuous efforts in a spirit of indomitable perseverance to

promote their suit, both in Parliament and in the courts of

law. But the Court of Directors invariably refused to enforce

an unacknowledged and unproved claim against one who had

not contracted the debt, and whom they recognized and treated

as a sovereign prince. In this equitable decision they were

fully supported by Lord Hastings, who, though he had on one

occasion directed the Resident to mention the claim to the

Nabob, yet, finding him determined to resist it, at once decided

that it was not a case in which the British Government would

be warranted in affording any official support. Mr. Canning
went still further, and directed the Court to inform the Governor-

General that they were so clearly aware of the difficulty of

divesting a friendly communication to a weaker power of the

character of authority, that they positively forbade the subject

to be brought again before the Nabob by any of the officers

of Government. But in 1830 the President of the Board of

Control was persuaded to lend a favourable ear to the demands

of Mr. Prenderg-ast's clients, now swelled, by the accumulation

of interest, to a crore of rupees. He affirmed, that while he

duly honoured the principle of non-interference, he considered

the present an exceptional case, and that it was his determina-

tion to make our representations to the king of Oude,
" direct

and formal." It was the day after the Court had refused to

adopt the obnoxious despatch to Hyderabad, regarding the

claims of Palmer and Co., that they were desired by the Board

to prepare a despatch to the Governor-General directing him to

use his utmost efforts to procure the payment of the alleged

debt from the king of Oude. The Court felt that any expression
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of the wishes of Government could only signify compulsion,

either by intimidation or by force, and, instead of drawing up
a despatch, prepared a vigorous remonstrance, in which they

pointed out the impolicy and the injustice of a course which

would open the door to endless claims, not only at Lucknow,
but at every durbar in India, and beggar half its princes. A
despatch was then drawn up in the office of the Board of

Control, and transmitted for the acceptance of the Directors,

but they passed a resolution, without a single dissenting voice,

that this interference with the king of Oude was unjust,

inconsistent, and mischievous, and they refused to act, though

only ministerially, on the orders of the Board, until com-

pelled to do so by process of law. Mr. Tucker, the deputy

chairman, and five of his colleagues, went so far as to declare

that even under the pressure of a mandamus they would

not consent to affix their signature to an order which was

nothing less than " an act of spoliation towards an ancient

and prostrate ally." "They felt that in India, where the intri-

cate machinery of the home Government was not understood,

the act would be regarded as emanating from them, and that

the odium of it would be attached to their administration. The

steady resistance of the India House produced the happy effect

of inducing the President to pause on the threshold of a conflict,

which must have been damaging alike to the Ministry and to

the Government in India, and the questionwas allowed to die out.

The Nozeed The anomalous proceedings of the two Houses at
affair. this period in what was termed the "Nozeed affair,"

exhibited a very disreputable abuse of Parliamentary influence.

In 1776, Mr. Hodges, a member of the council at Masuli-

patam, lent money to the zemindar of Nozeed without the

knowledge of the government of Madras, and in direct con-

dition of the orders of the Court of Directors. In June,

1777, in a communication to Madras, the Court renewed in

more peremptory language their former injunction that none

of their servants should advance loans on mortgage of lands.

Two years after, Mr. Hodges presumed to take a mortgage
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of a portion of the zemindar's estate for his debt, and the

transaction received the support of the Governor and Council

of Madras. The whole zemindaree was soon after taken

over by Government for arrears of revenue, and an appli-

cation was made in 1784 to Lord Macartney, then Governor of

the Presidency, on the subject of these loans. He considered

that the whole transaction was in every respect unwarranted

in principle and pernicious in its tendency ; but out of delicacy

to the preceding Government, which had sanctioned this infrac-

tion of the Company's rules, recorded his opinion that the

creditors were entitled to some consideration on resigning the

district they had so long and so irregularly held 0.1 pledge.

The Court of Directors, however, resisted every solicitation to

entertain the claim. A permanent settlement of the estate was

made in 1803, when it was restored to the zemindaree family,

leaving them to make any settlement they could effect with the

creditors. Nothing further was heard of the claim for nearly

thirty years, tilt the grandson of Mr. Hodges, having some

influential friends in Parliament, induced them to bring in a

bill to compel the Company to make good the whole demand,
which was stated to amount to two lacs of rupees It will

be remembered that when the claims of the nabob of Arcot

were introduced to the House, fifty years before, a commis-

sion was appointed to investigate their validity, and that

ninety per cent, of the amount turned out to be fictitious ; but

in the present instance, the House passed the bill enjoining
the Court of Directors to pay the full amount of this private

and illegal claim, without enquiry, from the revenues of India.

In the House of Lords it encountered the most strenuous op-

position from Lord Ellenborough, and from the Lord Chancellor,

Lord Brougham, who deprecated the interference of the

Legislature to enforce a claim,
" contaminated in its origin,

and illegal in its prosecution ;

"
but it passed with a majority

of two to one.

Financial Kesuits With the exception of the Coorg campaign, which

BenuL^sad^ was concluded in ten days, the administration of
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n inOration, Lord William Bentinck was a reign of peace, and
i828-i8a5. -

t pr0(]Uced the usual result on the finances of

India. The reductions which he effected in the various de-

partments of expenditure, combined with an improvement ol

the sources of revenue, extinguished the deficit of a crore oi

rupees which he found on his arrival, and enabled him to

a surplus of a crore and a half on his departure in 1835.

The magnificent expectations with which the trade of India had

been thrown open to the nation in 1813, were but partially-

realized in the following twenty years, and the returns during
Lord William Bentinck's administration exhibited a decrease

Fan of the great
both of exports and imports. This was to be

Houses in
attributed, in a large measure, to the great crisis

Calcutta, 1833. ° ' °
of 1833, which brought down the whole commer-

cial fabric of Calcutta. During the administration of Warren

Hastings some free mariners, as the licensed interlopers

were designated, opened houses of business in Calcutta on a

humble scale, and gathered up the fragments of the trade to

England, which dropped from the great monopoly of Leadenhall

street. They embarked, moreover, in the couutry trade, as it

was called, from one Indian port to another, and from Calcutta

to the eastward, as well as in the internal traffic cf the country.

The famine on the Coast occasioned by Hyder Ali's irruption

into the Carnatic in 1780, created a large demand for freight

and the new houses commenced shipbuilding, first at Sylhet
and Chittagong, and eventually in Calcutta. They established

indigo factories in the interior of the country and drove the

drug which had hitherto been furnished from other countries

out of the European markets. Their transactions expanded
and their prosperity increased with the growth of British

power. They acquired the confidence of the native and

the European community, and became the bankers of the

civil, military, and medical services, whose savings were trans-

ferred, month by month, to their coffers, and whose balances

were annually augmented, through the process of compound
'nterest. A desk at one of those firms was considered more



80 FALL OF THE GREAT HOUSES. [CHAP.

valuable than a seat in Council, and the retiring partners drew

out colossal fortunes, with which, on their return to England,

they bought boroughs, and seated themselves in Parliament

The opening of the trade in 1813, brought out to Calcutta a

bevy of new adventurers, who were regarded at first with a

feeling of contemptuous indifference by the stately old houses.

But they were animated with the vigour of youthfid enterprise,

and gradually undermined the established firms, drawing away
the most profitable branches of then business, and leaving them

saddled with their old factories and ships which were not worth

a fourth of their original cost. The confidence of the public,

which had continued unshaken for half a century, received a

rude shock in 1830 by the unexpected collapse of the great

firm of John Palmer & Co., usually styled the prince of mer-

chants. The other houses, five in number, continued to struggle

with increasing embarrassments, and were enabled to remain

afloat as long as the credulity of their constituents provided

them with deposits sufficient to meet the withdrawal of funds.

But the candle at length burnt down into the socket, and they
went one by one into the Insolvent Court, which engulfed

sixteen crores of rupees. A large portion of this sum consisted

of the savings of the services, and the extent of the calamity

may be estimated from the remark of Lord William Bentinck,

who had heard, he said, to his utter surprise, that a civilian,

when pressed to make a purchase after the failures, had ac-

tually replied that he could not afford it.

Remarks on Lord William Bentinck was residing at the
Lord w..Ben- sanitarium of Ootacaniund, in the Neel^eree hills,
tinck s Admin- ' o j

istration, 1835. when the new charter reached India, but his

health had been so seriously impaired by a constitutional

malady, that his physicians considered it unsafe for him to

descend into the plains till the cold weather had set in. Sir

Frederick Adam, the governor of Madras, and Mr. Macaulay
and Colonel Morrison, who had been appointed members of

the Supreme Council, were accordingly summoned to join him

in the hills, where the first Council under the new Act was
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held, and the new Government constituted. These proceedings
were unavoidably deficient in legal form, but the defect was

covered the next year by an Act of indemnity. Lord William

Bentinck returned to Calcutta in November, and embarked

for his native land in March, 1835, after having held the

reins of Government for nearly eight years. His administra-

tion marks the most memorable period of improvement between

the days of Lord Cornwallis and Lord Dalhousie, and forms a

salient point in the histoiy of Indian reform. He repudiated

the stationary policy of the Government, and introduced a

more liberal and progressive spirit into every department of

the state. With the intuition of a great mind, he discovered

the weak points of our system of administration, which was

becoming effete under the withering influence of routine, and

the remedies he applied went to the root of the disease. He
infused new blood into our institutions, and started them upon
a new career of vigour and efficiency. The marked difference

which they presented in the thirty years succeeding his Govern-

ment, as compared with the thirty years which preceded it,

was due entirely to the impulse of his genius, which became

the main spring of a long succession of improvements, ne was

not less bold in the conception of his plans than resolute in

the execution of them, to which he was sometimes obliged to

sacrifice the amenities of life. He earned the gratitude of the

natives by opening an honourable career to them in the govern-
ment of their own country, and he was rewarded with the

gratitude of Christendom for the moral courage he evinced in

putting down Suttees. He has been charged with a love of

innovation
; but, even if the imputation be correct, such an error

is far less injurious to the interests of society than the dull

stagnation into which the Government was sinking, and

which was an unerring symptom of decay. The great defect

of his administration was the fluctuation of his political policy ;

but, the renewal of the non-intercourse system was ordered

from England, and though at first supported by his own

views, it was gradually modified, as the exigency of circum-

iii. G
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stances appeared to demand the adoption of another course

for the protection of the people, as in the cases of Coorg
and Mysore. The natives vied with the European commu-

nity in commemorating the blessings of his administration,

and united in raising a subscription for the erection of his

statue in Calcutta. The pedestal was enriched with groups

representing the great and good features of his government, and

bore an inscription from the classic pen of Mr. Macaulay :
—

u This statue is erected to William Cavendish Bentinck, who

during seven years ruled India with eminent prudence, in-

tegrity, and benevolence ; who, placed at the head of a great

empire, never laid aside the simplicity and moderation of a

private citizen ;
who infused into Oriental despotism the spirit

of British freedom ; who never forgot that the end of govern-

ment is the welfare of the governed; who abolished cruel

rites ;
who effaced humiliating distinctions ; who allowed

liberty to the expression of public opinion ; whose constant

study it was to elevate the moral and intellectual character of

the Government committed to his charge ;
—this monument

was erected by men who, differing from each other in race,

in manners, in language, and in religion, cherish, with equal

veneration and gratitude, the memory of his wise, upright,

and paternal administration."

CHAPTER XXXII.

THE CHARTER OF 1833—SIR CHARLES METCALFE'S ADMINIS-

TRATION BENEVOLENT EXERTIONS OF THE COMPANY'S

GOVERNMENT, 1833-1836,

The New char- The period of twenty years for which the com-

of'the cwna°
n

niercial and political privileges of the Company had
Trade, 1833. Deen renewed in 1813, being about to expire, Lord
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Kllrnborough, the President of the Board of Control, moved for

a Select Committee in 1830, to collect information regarding the

finances, trade, and revenue, and the judicial administration of

tin- Indian empire. The report was presented in August, 1832,

and. including the oral and documentary evidence, filled nine

closely printed quarto volumes. The Tory Ministry having
been displaced by their rivals, it fell to the lot of Mr. Charles

Grant, the new President of the Board, to introduce to the

notice of the House the question of the new Charter, as it

was inappropriately designated. With more than the talent

of his father, who was for twenty years the presiding genius

of Leadenhall Street, though with less than his industry, he

inherited all his zeal for the moral and intellectual improvement
of India.

The two principal questions which demanded the attention

of the House were the continuance of the China monopoly, and

of the Government of India, in the hands of the Company. The

merchants and manufacturers of England demanded with an

irresistible voice that the trade to China should be thrown open
to the enterprise of the nation, and the first line of " hints

"
for

the new Charter drawn up by the Board of Control contained

the ominous words k ' the China monopoly to cease." The Com-

pany strenuously resisted the extinction of their only surviving
commercial privilege, and endeavoured to show that without this

monopoly they would be unable to carry on the government of

India, inasmuch as it was the profits of their trade which

had supplied the deficiency of their territorial revenues. On
the other hand, it was as resolutely affirmed that the trade

had resulted in a loss, and had been sustained by territorial

funds. It was, however, beyond the power of any Ministry,

Whig or Tory, to prolong the monopoly in the face of univer-

sal opposition, and the Court of Directors were obliged to sub-

mit to the extinction of it.. The Company was thus finally

divested of its commercial character, and the iast remaining

monopoly of the reign of Queen Elizabeth was extinguished,

after a duration of nearly two centuries and a half. The

G 2
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Company was required to dispose of its magnificent fleet, to the

great chagrin of the old civilians, one of whom was heard to

enquire
- of what use it was for their honourable masters to

send them out to India to make fortunes, if they did not send

ships to take them home when the fortunes were made?"

The assets of the Company after a faithful scrutiny were esti-

mated at twelve crores of rupees; they realized within a

tenth of that sum, and were applied to the objects of the

Government in India, with the exception of two crores appro-

priated to the formation of a guarantee fund. The capital stock

of the Company amounted to six crores, and the new Charter

Act ordained that interest at the rate of ten and a half per cent,

on this sum should be provided from the revenues of India for

a period of forty years. The intrinsic value of the stock in the

market was consequently doubled. The guarantee fund was
to be invested in Government securities, to accumulate at com-

pound interest, till it amounted at the end of that period to

twelve crores, with which the proprietors were to be

paid off.

The India Bill proposed that the government
of the Govern- should be entrusted for twenty years longer to the

with^he'com- Company, and it was passed without any difficulty,

pany, 1833. The nation, having secured, its own pecuniary

interests in regard to the China trade, treated this imperial

question, though it involved the interests of a hundred millions

of the subjects of the Crown, with profound indifference. The

House of Commons exhibited unequivocal signs of impatience

and disgust whenever it was brought forward. During the dis-

cussions the benches were never as full as during a turnpike

debate, and Mr. jMacaulay truly observed that a broken head

in Coldbath Fields excited greater interest in the House than

three pitched battles in India. The Court of Directors made
a strong effort to obtain the privilege of an appeal to some

higher authority in cases of a difference of opinion with the

Board of Control, but the attempt was successfully opposed,

and the writ of mandamus was still suspended over their heads.
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On the other hand, the Ministers endeavoured to obtain a

veto on the power vested in the Court by former Acts of

recalling- the Governor-General, the Governors, and the Com-

mander-in-chief, but the India House resisted the proposal

with such pertinacity that it was at length abandoned.

Several important changes were likewise made in the constitu-

tion and policy of the Government in India. A fourth Presi-

dency was constituted to embrace the north west provinces.

A commission was also appointed to consist of men of

experience in the administration of justice in India, and one

or two English barristers, to report on the practicability of

establishing a uniform system of law and judicature through-
out the Indian empire. The power of legislation was now
for the first time conferred on the Government of India,

and the enactments which, under the advice of Sir William

Jones in 1790, had been modestly designated Regulations,

were now, under the advice of Mr. Macaulay, dignified with

the name of Acts. At the same time the privilege of en-

acting laws was withdrawn from the subordinate Presi-

dencies, and the Governor-General in Council was invested

with power to legislate for the whole empire, including all

persons, British, foreign, or native, all places, and all things, as

well as all courts, whether created by the local Government

or established by Royal charter, but with certain necessary

reseivations touching the prerogatives of the Crown and the

authority of Parliament. A fourth member was added to the

Council, who was to be an English jurist of reputation, and

the office was rendered illustrious by the genius and labours of

Mr. Macaulay. Two of the provisions of the Bill afforded an

index of the growth of liberal principles in England,
—the ad-

mission of natives to all offices, and the permission granted to

Europeans to hold lands. Forty years before this period,

Lord Cornwallis had pronounced the natives unfit to take any
share in the government of their own country, and resolved

to work the machinery by European agency alone. The Charter

of 1833 enacted that no native of India, nor any natural bora
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subject of His Majesty, should be disabled from holding any-

place, office, or employment by reason of his religion, place of

birth, descent or colour. To this liberal measure the Court of

Directors gave their unqualified consent, but the clause which

sanctioned the purchase of land by Europeans and which con-

tained the germ of colonization was introduced and passed in.

direct opposition to their wishes. The power to exclude inter-

lopers from the sphere of their operations was among the

earliest privileges conferred on them by Queen Elizabeth, and it

was confirmed to them by various statutes for two centuries.

It was designed at first only to protect their commercial enter-

prises, but was made applicable to their territorial possessions

when they had become sovereigns. It was the most cherished

privilege of Leadenhall Street, and the Directors clung to it

with ucabated tenacity, even after they had consented to

relinquish their trade. The Charter of 1813 had permitted the

free resort of Europeans to India, but excluded them from

forming any settlement in it, by the purchase or lease of lands.

Meanwhile, the cultivation of indigo by European capitalists,

under cover of fictitious leases which were winked at by the

local authorities, had increased to such an extent as to enrich

the maritime trade with an additional article of export of the

value of a crore and a half of rupees a-year. Lord William

Bentinck was anxious to relieve this enterprise from the re-

straints imposed upon it by the prejudices of the India House,
and to legalize these leases for the culture of indigo, as well as

for other staple products, but this slight relaxation of the old

system of restriction was peremptorily negatived by the Court

of Directors. The arguments of Lord William Bentinck, how-

ever, and of his liberal colleague, Sir Charles Metcalfe, carried

moreweight with the Ministry, and a clause was introduced into

the bill which granted permission to Europeans to settle in the

country and acquire unrestricted rights and interests in the land,

character of The separation now effected of the functions of
1

ovemmentf
8

s^e ^rom a^ commercial speculations served to

1833. give a more elevated tone to the views and policy
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of the Court of Directors, and to impart a more efficient

character to their administration. The feelings with which

they entered on the imperial duties to which their attention

was now to be exclusively devoted were eloquently expressed

in a despatch to the Government of India, which was drawn

up by Mr. MjII :

" In contemplating the extent of legislative

power thus conferred on our supreme Government, and in the

second instance, on ourselves, in reflecting how many millions

of men may, by the manner in which it shall be exercised, be

rendered happy or miserable, in adverting to the countless

variety of interests to be studied, and of difficulties to be

overcome in the execution of this mighty trust, we feel the

weight of responsibility under which we have been conjointly

laid. . . We feel confident that to this undertaking your
best thoughts and care will be immediately and perseveringly

applied, and we invite the full, the constant, and the early

communication of your sentiments in relation to it. On our

part we can venture to affirm that no endeavour shall be

wanting in promoting your views and perfecting your plans.

. . . And we trust that by the blessing of God on our

united labours the just and beneficent intentions of this

country in delegating to our hands the legislative as well as

executive administration of the weightiest, the most impor-

tant and the most interesting of its transmarine possessions

will be happily accomplished." These enlightened sentiments

were faithfully reflected in the correspondence and the pro-

ceedings of the Court of Directors during the twenty-five

years they continued to administer the government of India.

Relieved from the management of a large mercantile esta-

blishment and the influences inseparable from it, their minds

rose to a level with the great political trust confided to them

by their country, and it may be affirmed without the risk of

contradiction that, notwithstanding an occasional outburst of

traditional and narrow-minded prejudices, the principles and

the measures they inculcated on their servants in India were

marked by a degree of moderation, wisdom, and beneficenc9
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of which it would not be easy to find another example in the

history of conquered dependencies.

c . ;_•__. M The Act of 1833 erected a fourth PresidencySir C. Metcalfe, ,

J

Governor- in the north-west provinces, and the distinguished
General, 1835.

gervjceg f gjr cnar]es Metcalfe were rewarded

by his appointment to the governorship of Agra, and likewise

to the still more dignified position of provisional Governor-

General. He proceeded to the upper provinces in December,

1834, but he had no sooner held his first levee than he was

required, in consequence of the premature departure of Lord

William Bentinck, to return to Calcutta and assume the

charge of the Government of India, which he continued to hold

for a twelvemonth. When a youth of sixteen in the college

of Fort William he had avowed to one of the professors that

he would be satisfied with nothing short of the Governor-

Generalship, and he had now reached the summit of his

ambition, after a career of thirty-four years. With the ex-

ception of Warren Hastings, no member of the Indian civil

service had ever been more eminently qualified for this imperial

trust, by his natural genius for administration, his sound

judgment and large views, as well as by his long and uni-

versal experience. He began his political career in Lord

Wellesley's office, and received the first rudiments of states-

manship under his tuition. He was entrusted with the ma-

nagement of important diplomacy before he was twenty-five,

and he had subsequently taken a prominent part in the

political movements of every court, from Hyderabad to

Lahore. There were few important movements of his time

which had not enjoyed the benefit of his co-operation, or

advice. His experience had not been limited to a single

province, but embraced the entire range of the empire, and

he was thus enabled to take the same interest in the develop-

ment of every division of it. The new character which the

growth of British ascendency had gradually imparted to the

policy of the various native- courts had been moulded, for the

most part, under his eye, and there was no other officer in
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India who possessed the same extensive knowledge of the

antecedent as well as the existing feelings and aspirations,

the fears, and cabals of the native courts, or who enjoyed in

the same degree the respect and confidence of the native

princes.

Lord
^n receivm& the resignation of Lord William

and Lord Bentinck, the Court of Directors requested
Auckland, 1835. Mr Mountstewart Elphinstone to allow himself

to be put in nomination for the Governor-Generalship, but he

declined the honour on the ground of his feeble health.

They then proceeded to pass a resolution, by a majority of

fifteen to two, to the effect "that adverting to the public

character and services of Sir Charles Metcalfe, it would be

inexpedient at present to make any other arrangement for

supplying the place of Governor-General." But the Whigs
who were then in power, were little disposed to confirm this

choice. Mr. Canning, when President of the Board of

Control, had recorded his opinion in December 1820 that "the

case could hardly be conceived in which it would be expe-
dient that the highest office of the government of India

should be filled otherwise than from England, and that one

main link at least between the system of the Indian and the

British Government ought for the advantage of both to be

invariably maintained." Mr. Charles Grant, the President of

the Board at this period, informed the Court that His Majesty's
Ministers saw much to enjoin the continuance of this general

practice, and nothing to recommend a departure from it. The
Court of Directors remonstrated with great warmth against
the adoption of a principle which involved the wholesale ex-

clusion of their servants from the highest prize in their

service, and there was every prospect that the unseemly
contest between the Court and the Ministry in 1806 would be

renewed, when the Whigs were obliged to give place to a

Tory cabinet. Lord Ellenborough who succeeded Mr. Grant

lost no time in offering the post to Mr. Mountstewart Elphin-

stone, and laid claim to the merit of having exhibited a more
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liberal spirit than the preceding administration. The flourish

would have been more legitimate if the offer had been made
to Sir Charles Metcalfe who would have welcomed it, and not

to Mr. Elphinstone who it was well known would decline it.

The vacant office was conferred on Lord Heytesbury, a diplo-

matist of European reputation. He was sworn in at the India

House, received the prescribed allowance for his outfit, and

the usual farewell entertainment at the London Tavern,

but on the eve of his embarkation, Sir Robert Peel's Ministry
was subverted, and the Whigs again came into power, with

Sir John Hobhouse as President of the Board. The Tory
Government which succeeded to power in 1807 had refrained

from interfering with the appointment of Lord Minto by their

Whig predecessors, though he had not left the shores of

England when they came into office. In like manner, the Duke

of Wellington had not thought fit to disturb the appointment
which Lord William Bentinck had received from his political

opponent, Mr. Canning, when it was in his power to cancel it.

But one of the first acts of the Whigs when they returned to

Downing Street was to revoke the appointment of Lord

Heytesbury, and the exercise of his power was limited to the

bestowal of the writership, which was courteously placed at

the disposal of each newly appointed Governor-General, on

his nephew, Mr.—now Sir Cecil—Beadon. The Court pro-

tested with great vehemence against a proceeding which

made the vital interests of the British empire in India sub-

ordinate to the interests of political partizanship in England ;

but Sir John Hobhouse replied that what he had to consider

was merely whether the Ministry would become responsible

for Lord Heytesbury's administration of the government in

India, and, not wishing to assume this responsibility on them-

selves, theyhad taken the simple and obvious mode of cancelling

his appointment. The explanation was more plausible than

satisfactory, inasmuch as it has always been considered a

principle of vital importance to protect the government of

India from the disturbing influences of party politics in
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England. Lord Auckland, who had been the Whig first Lord

of the Admiralty, was nominated Governor-General.

The great measure which has rendered the ad-
I.iheratton of °

Dm pr.ss, iss& ministration of Sir Charles Metcalfe memorable in

the history of British India was the liberation of the press

the position of which at this period was altogether anomalous.

At Madras, there was no legal restriction on it. At Bombay
it was free at the Presidency, and fettered in the provinces.

In Bengal the illiberal and stringent law passed by Mr. Adam
was still on the statute book

;
but after two or three journals

had been suppressed, and two refractory editors had been

expelled the country, it was found impossible to enforce it

Without inflicting great embarrassment and odium on the

Government. During the last five years of Lord Amherst's

administration, and the whole period of Lord William Ben-

tinck's government, the law remained a dead letter, and the

press was practically as free as in England. The Charter Act of

1833 had conferred the power of legislating for all India on the

Supreme Council, and a law on the subject of the press which

should embrace every portion of the empire, and establish uni-

formity of practice at all the Presidencies, became a manifest ne-

cessity. The power of deportation had been withdrawn from the

Government. Europeans were, moreover, privileged to settle as

colonists in India, and they naturally expected to enjoy the

same liberty of giving expression to their opinions which their

fellow countrymen possessed in other dependencies of the

Crown. Lord William Bentinck had acknowledged that it

would be impossible to leave the question of the press as it

stood. A few weeks before his departure, the inhabitants of

Calcutta had petitioned for a repeal of Mr. Adam's Regulation,

and he assured them that the unsatisfactory state of the laws

relating to the press had not escaped his notice, and that he

trusted a system would be established at no distant period,

which, while it gave security to every person engaged in the

fair discussion of public measures, would effectually secure

the Government against sedition, and individuals against
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calumny. Sir Charles Metcalfe had always been an ardent

advocate of the liberty of the press, and had declared five

years before his elevation " that if he were sovereign lord and

master he would give it full swing." He remarked that it

was clear the liberty of the press would come, that Govern-

ment could not prevent it without a despotism and an oppres-
sion contrary to its own disposition, and totally opposed to

British institutions, and that it would be better to give it with

a good grace than to wait till it was extorted. It was with

these sentiments he entered on the duties of Governor-General,

and he lost no time in bringing in a Bill for carrying these

liberal views into effect. The Supreme Council had recently
been strengthened by the accession of Mr. Macaulay, who

gave his cordial support to the measure, and recorded his

opinion in a masterly minute worthy of the author of the

Essay on Milton. An Act was accordingly passed in Septem-

ber, 1835, which repealed all the Regulations by which the

press had been muzzled, and established its freedom upon the

solid foundation of law.

Resui*ofthe
^ne Act was received with feelings of enthu-

liberty of the siasm by the European community in India, and
press, is . ^e pp^}^ inhabitants of Calcutta, including the

native gentry most eminent in rank and accomplishments, met

and voted an address of thanks to Sir Charles Metcalfe for

the boon he had conferred on the country, and raised sub-

scriptions to commemorate it by the erection of a noble hall,

which bears his name. In his reply to the address he said

that " the Act evinced to the world that the government of

the Company desired no concealment, that it was happy to

have the most minute particulars of its Indian administration

scrutinized, and displayed to the gaze of the universe, that it

sought information and instruction wherever they could be

found, and did not wish to rule India as a conquered, ignorant,

and enslaved, but as a cherished, enlightened, and free

country." The experience of thirty years has proved that

the apprehensions of those who objected to it on the ground of
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public safety were without any foundation. At the India Ilouse,

however, the highest authority in the Court, Mr. Edmonstone,
maintained that " the unrestricted discussion of public subjects

and public measures, and the latitude of observation on the Di-

rectors and persons high in office, must necessarily diminish

that deference and respect in which it is of so much import-

ance that the Government should be held." But no one will

question the fact that Lord Dalhousie obtained as much " de-

ference and respect
" when the press was free, as Lord Wel-

lesley received when its voice was stifled. The press has, in

fact, been found to be rather the handmaid than the antagonist

of Government, and the efficiency of the public administration

has been indefinitely promoted by the freedom and indepen-
dence of its remarks. It has placed the salutary check of ex-

posure on the subordinate functionaries of the state, and

given the Government the eyes of Argus to watch the work-

ing, and to detect the deficiencies of its vast and complicated

machinery. By permitting a more unrestricted publication

of opinions in a conquered country than is enjoyed in many
of the European states, the ruling power has afforded an

unequivocal proof of the benevolent spirit of its intentions

and measures. No occasion has since arisen to call for the

interference of the public authorities except during the great
crisis of the mutiny of the sepoys in 1857, when the liberty of

the press was suspended, just as the Habeas Corpus Act would

have been suspended in England on a similar emergency.

Reduction of
While Sir Charles Metcalfe was officiating in

the Government Calcutta as Governor-General, an important change
'

was made in England in the character and position
of the Government of Agra which had been conferred on him.

The Court of Directors had always been opposed to the esta-

blishment of a fourth Presidency upon the model of those already

existing at Madras, Bombay, and Calcutta. They considered

that the exigencies of the public service might be fully pro-
vided for by the more modest and less costly machinery of a

Lieutenant-Governorship. The Board of Control, who had
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taken a different view of the subject, were at length brought
to concur with the India House, and an Act was accordingly

passed in Parliament, in 1835, empowering the Court to cut

down the scheme to a subordinate lieutenancy. Sir Charles

Metcalfe felt a natural repugnance to descend to the inferior

position of a lieutenant of the Governor-General, after having
himself occupied that supreme post, and he formed the deter-

mination to retire from the service ; but the chairman of the

Court intimated to him that it was their unanimous wish and

hope, that, acting on those high and patriotic principles

which it was well known had always governed his conduct,

he would be disposed to retain the office on the reduced scale,

and thus enable them to secure his highly valuable services at

Agra, and, should the contingency happen, at the head of

the Supreme Government. In the hope of inducing him to

accede to their wishes, he was named a third time provisional

Governor- General, and decorated with the Grand Cross of the

Bath. Lord Auckland, who had assumed charge of the

Government, joined his own solicitations to those of the

Court, and Sir Charles Metcalfe yielded to the kindness of

this importunity, and took his departure for Agra, after a

continued residence of eight years in Calcutta, during which

he toiled seven and eight hours daily, without any interval

of relaxation.

;
, , But he was not destined to remain there loner.

Displeasure of *=

the Court, 1836. Soon after his arrival, he learned that the press

law had exasperated the India House and produced a complete

revulsion of feeling regarding him and his merits. For two

centuries the Company had been nurtured amidst the sensi-

bilities which the despotism of a monopoly always begets.

During the past ten years in which the press had been prac-

tically without restraint in India, its remarks on the Court of

Directors had not been sufficiently deferential, and its tone

was not likely to improve after it had become legally free.

The East India Company now governed an empire as large as

that of the Caesars, but it was not easy for them entirely to
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shako off the old associations of the counting-house. They
looked upon the freedom of the press with the same aversion

which they had formerly felt regarding the freedom of trade,

and tin' free admission of Europeans into India; and it was

not long before an opportunity occurred of giving the author

of this measure an indubitable token of their displeasure.

The Government of Madras had unexpectedly become vacant,

and Sir Charles Metcalfe reasonably expected that it would

have been conferred on him, more especially as he had con-

sented to sacrifice his own feelings, and accept an inferior

appointment at Agra, out of deference to the wishes of the

Court. But although they had been ready a twelvemonth

before to do battle with the Ministers of the Crown to secure

him the Governor-Generalship, they would not now condescend

to mention his name in connection with the Government of

that Presidency. Lord William Bentinck generously came

forward, and urged his claims with great zeal on the India

House, but found, to his mortification, that while there was a

ready and universal acknowledgment of his great services

and his pre-eminent qualifications, there was also a general
avowal that his late proceedings regarding the press had
cancelled all claim to their consideration. Lord William then

appealed to the justice of Lord Melbourne, the Prime Minister :

" Let the worst possible construction," he said,
" be put on this

act and the motives of it, it surely ought not to have cast into

the shade the thirty-six years of uninterrupted service in the

highest appointments in which no man ever bore a higher
character for high mindedness, usefulness, and ability. . . .

Pray excuse this long appeal. We served together for seven

years. His behaviour to me was of the noblest kind. He
never cavilled on a trifle, and never yielded to me on a point
of importance." But this appeal was equally unavailing.

Sir Charles Metcalfe had always manifested the utmost loyalty
and devotion to " his Honourable Masters

"
in Leadenhall

Street, and he looked for their approbation and confidence in

return. He therefore lost no time in writing to Mr. Melvill.
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the Secretary of the India House, stating that reports had
been for some time in circulation that he had fallen under the

displeasure of the Court, and had lost the Government of

Madras in consequence of the law he had passed as Governor-

General in Council legalizing the liberty of the press. If this

misfortune had befallen him, he had no wish to retain by for-

bearance an office conferred on him when he was honoured

with their confidence ;
if that confidence was gone, it was his

earnest entreaty that they would withdraw from him the pro-

visional appointment of Governor-General, or otherwise inti-

mate their pleasure that he might retire from their service, as

he could not reconcile it to himself to hold his office on mere

sufferance, or to serve in any capacity under the stigma of

displeasure and distrust. The Court kept the letter four

months without acknowledgment, and then sent him a curt

and contemptuous reply. Mr. Melvill was "commanded to

express the Court's regret that he should have made a com-

munication which appeared to them to have been altogether

unnecessary, as the continuance in him, provisionally, of the

highest office which it was in the power of the Court to confer,

might have satisfied him that their confidence had not been

withdrawn." The day after the re^ipt of this letter, he

tendered his resignation to Lord Auckland, and his connection

with the Government of India was brought to an abrupt ter-

mination by treatment similar to that which had been inflicted

on his great predecessors who had been instrumental in

building up the empire, but had incurred the displeasure of

the Court of Directors. The services which the Company

thought fit to discard were fully appreciated by the Crown,
and Sir Charles Metcalfe was entrusted, successively, with

the government of two of the most important of the Crown

colonies, and raised to the peerage.

Remarks of sir Since the departure of Warren Hastings, no
c. Metcalfe's Indian ruler has been overwhelmed with such a
administration, p , p

1836. profusion of honorable testimonials from all classes,

European and native, as Sir Charles Metcalfe. He was the
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pride and ornament of the service; his hospitality was princely,

and his generosity almost without bounds, while his genial

temper created a perpetual sunshine around him. But it is to

be regretted that with all his high qualifications, he took little,

if any, interest in the establishment of steam communication, or

the opening of the Indus to commerce, or, indeed, in any of the

plana for the promotion of material improvements in India which

distinguished Lord William Bentinck's administration. This

was the natural result of his long residence in India. An
ardent zeal for such improvements is scarcely to be expected
from those whose habits have become reconciled to the

stationary associations to which they have been accustomed.

With an occasional and rare exception, the government of any
local functionary who has been raised to supreme power, how-

ever beneficial in the various departments of administrative

reform, has been marked by the dulness of material pro-

gress. It is to a European mind like that of Lord William

Bentinck or Lord Dalhousie, fresh from scenes of activity in

Europe, and imbued with the animation they inspire, that we
must look for a spirit of enterprise in this important department
of government. On the other hand, a Governor-General coming
direct from England, is generally apt to be more sensitive to

the political dangers of the empire, than an Indian Governor-

General who has been accustomed to contemplate them as

the normal condition of our rule, and to hold himself ever

ready to encounter them. Lord Wellesley and Lord Minto

were more vividly impressed with a sense of these perils than

Sir John Shore or Sir George Barlow. But in the case of Sir

Charles Metcalfe and Lord William Bentinck, this feeling was

reversed. Lord William Bentinck always expressed the

stn ingest confidence in the security of the empire, while Sir

Charles Metcalfe asserted that our government, which was

; conquerors and foreigners, was always precarious, and

that as it arose, so to say, in a day, it would disappear in a

night. "My notions," he said, "of Indian policy begin and

end in a powerful and efficient army ; our real strength
m. H
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consists in the few European regiments, scattered singly over

a vast space of subjugated territory. My general creed is con-

fined to two grand specifics
—army and colonization."

Benevolent The suppression of barbarous rites, and the

Brit^Go^ introduction of the blessings of civilization and

Temment. knowledge, are among the most important func-

tions of European power in Asia ; and as this narrative draws

to the close of a period of peace which lasted twelve years,

and approaches a period of war, of nearly equal duration, a

fitting opportunity is presented of adverting to the efforts

made by the Government of the East India Company to fulfil

these noble obligations. The early proceedings of British

agents in India, however, were not, it must be admitted,

marked by that spirit of humanity which has since pervaded
them. The first rough code of Kegulations promulgated by
Mr. Hastings in 1772, embodied the recommendation of the

Committee of Circuit, and ordained that every convicted dacoit

should be executed in his own village, and that his entire

family should be sold as slaves. For twenty-five years,

moreover, after the establishment of the Company's autho-

rity in Bengal, the barbarous practice which had previously

prevailed of punishing criminals by mutilation was per-

petuated in the courts over which European and Christian

gentlemen presided, and it was distinctly authorized by the

Kegulations of 1787. It was not till 1791 that Lord Corn-

wallis suppressed this revolting custom, and enacted that the

offender should be subjected to fourteen years' imprisonment,
where he had formerly been deprived of two limbs, and to

seven years with hard labour where the loss of a single

limb had been usually inflicted. But the growth of bene-

volent principles in the administration of India steadily kept

pace with their development in the government of England,
and rendered the supremacy of the Company a blessing
to tribes which had been for ages immersed in barbarism.

The prohibition of human sacrifices at Saugor, the abolition

of Suttees, and the extinction of Thuggee have been
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nbeady noticed, and we now proceed to narrate the labours

of the public servants of the Company in other spheres of

philanthropy.

Augustus
*n tne van °^ tnose wno nave sne<i a ^stre on

Cleveland, 1784. ^e British administration by their earnest efforts

to civilize barbarous and predatory tribes stands Augustus

Cleveland of the Bengal Civil Service. The hills and forests

of the Rajmahal district were inhabited by a race of men of

wild habits and savage disposition, who had been accustomed

from time immemorial to make raids on the lowlands lying

between their hills and the Ganges. Soon after the establish-

ment of the Company's government their feelings appear to

have been exasperated by the treacherous slaughter of some

of their chiefs by the neighbouring zemindars, and they

avenged themselves by depopulating the villages and render-

ing all travelling by land or by water impossible. To check

their inroads a corps of light infantry was stationed at

the foot of the hills under Captain Brooke, who pursued

them into their fastnesses, and created a salutary dread of

British power. He was succeeded by Captain Brown who

endeavoured to reclaim the savages by kindness and laid the

foundation of that system of conciliation which was sub-

sequently completed by Mr. Cleveland, when placed in charge

of the district. His benevolent labours were gracefully

commemorated by the elegant pen of Warren Hastings in

the inscription on the monument erected by Government,

"in honour of his character and for an example to others"

—"To the memory of Augustus Cleveland, Esquire, who

without bloodshed or the terror of authority, employing

only the means of conciliation, confidence, and benevolence,

attempted and accomplished the entire subjugation of the

lawless and savage inhabitants of the jungleterry of Rajmahal,

inspired them with a taste for the arts of civilized life and

attached them to the British Government by a conquest over

their minds, the most permanent as the most rational mode of

dominion." Mr. Cleveland died in 1784 at the early age of

h 2
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twenty-nine, and the zemindars erected a monument to his

memory, which is still held in the highest veneration by the

inhabitants both of the hills and the plains.

The Bheeis, 1790. Candesh, in Western India, watered by the

Taptee, was a great and flourishing province under the Moguls,
covered with . rich cultivation, and studded with prosperous

towns. But the tide of Mahratta desolation passed over it,

and the extortions of the Peshwa's officers, more especially

of his Arab mercenaries, combined with the ravages of the

Pindarees completed its ruin, and left it almost without inha-

bitants. On the downfall of the Peshwa it was brought under

British rule, and one of its districts, inhabited chiefly by

Bheeis, was formed into a separate collectorate. They are

usually considered one of the aboriginal tribes, driven to

seek refuge in the hills by the progress of Hindoo invasion.

It was at a fountain in this wild region that Kishnu, the

deified hero of the great Sanscrit epic, was slain. The Bheeis

were a race of unmitigated savages, without any sense of

natural religion, violating all law, defying all authority, and

habitually indulging in drink, licentiousness, and murder.

They eschewed all honest labour, and lived by the chase or

by plunder. From their mountain fastnesses they poured
down on the plains, sacked the villages, drove off the cattle,

and carried away the chief men whom they held to ransom.

By the former rulers of the country they had been hunted

like wild beasts, and as every man's hand was against them,
their hand was against every man. The measures which

were at first adopted by the British functionaries to reclaim

them were marked by an excess of severity which defeated

its own object, and demonstrated that the gibbet was not

the fittest instrument of civilization. The task was at length

confided to the late Sir James Outram, then a lieutenant of

Native Infantry, a man of benevolent sympathies, sound

judgment, and unflinching perseverance. The lawlessness of

the barbarians when he took charge of the agency had risen

to a pitch which was found to be unsupportable and he
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considered it necessary to teach them the power of Government

as a preliminary step towards enabling them to appreciate

its kindness. He pursued them into their rugged hills with

the greatest vigour, and defeated a large body which had

assembled for a foray. The captives he made were treated

with kindness, and sent back with conciliatory messages and

offers of employment to the chiefs. It was the first act of

kindness the wild men had ever experienced from the rulers

of the country, and they responded to it with cheerfulness.

A friendly intercourse was gradually established with the

chiefs ; Lieutenant Outram listened to their tales, joined in

their pastimes, feasted them when well, and prescribed for

them when ill. Having succeeded in gaining their confidence,

he proceeded to organize a Bheel corps, which was filled up

by degrees and served to diffuse a principle of order and

obedience throughout the tribe, and enabled him in the course

of a twelvemonth to report that not a single case of robbery
had occurred within a circle of thirty miles. To carry for-

ward the work of civilization, special European officers were

appointed as Bheel agents, with instructions to mix with the

people and settle their disputes, to encourage industrial

pursuits and to reward the deserving with a grant of land

rent free for a season, as well as to supply them with a

plough and bullocks and a small advance of money. By these

efforts, the object of converting them into agriculturists was

accomplished, and little colonies of husbandmen sprung up
in every direction in these primeval forests. A Bheel police

was established to maintain the peace of the country, and a

province which had hitherto been desolated by gangs of

marauders, was in 1829 pronounced by the Collector to be in

a state of profound repose. The Court of Directors expressed
their cordial commendation of this happy conversion of a pre-

datory tribe into useful and obedient subjects of the state,

and a prosperous agricultural community :
" This signal

instance," they wrote, "of what we have so often impressed
on you—the superior efficacy of conciliatory means in
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reducing uncivilized and predatory tribes to order and

obedience—is one of the most gratifying events in the recent

history of British India."

Mairwarra, 1832. In the year 1818 Sindia ceded to the Company
the province of Ajmere in Rajpootana which included the

hill tract of Mairwarra, about ninety miles in length, and

from six to twenty in breadth. It was inhabited by the

Mairs, an aboriginal race, living in their native hills almost in

a state of nature, the boys tending their flocks of goats, and

the men, mounted on their diminutive ponies, passing their

time in plunder. They murdered their female offspring, and

committed every kind of atrocity without remorse. Captain

Hall, who was placed in charge of the country, found it

swarming with banditti who set the public authority at com-

plete defiance. He put down all opposition by the strong

hand of power, and then determined to make the Mairs the

instruments of their own civilization. A Mair battalion was

formed, by which suitable employment was provided for the

highland chiefs, who proved to be good and loyal soldiers,

and contributed essentially to the suppression of crime and

the maintenance of the public peace throughout the hills.

Courts were established for the adjudication of rights, and

the punchayet, or Indian jury, superseded the barbarous ordeal

which had hitherto been practised of grasping red-hot shot,

or dipping the hand in boiling oil. The Mairs were also in

the course of time prevailed on to relinquish the two bar-

barous customs of female infanticide and the sale of women.

The failure of his health obliged Captain Hall to quit his

post after he had been emplo3
7ed for fourteen years without

intermission in endeavouring to introduce the arts of civili-

zation into this wild region, but happily his mantle fell on

Captain Dixon, an officer animated with the same benevolence

of heart, who entered upon the duties of his office with a feel-

ing of enthusiasm. He felt that to render his labours suc-

cessful he must be continually out in camp, in fervid heat or

drenching rain, and that he must become a slave to his task
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until it was fully accomplished. To this honourable bondage
he consecrated his official life. He lived among the people,

and made himself acquainted with the condition of every

village) and often of every household in it. He was without

any European assistance, but under his training and discipline

his native establishment became thoroughly efficient. To

accustom the wild Highlanders to habits of agricultural in-

dustry, it was above all things necessary to secure a supply
of water for their fields. But the fall of rain in that hilly

region was very capricious, and when it came could with

difficulty be retained for continuous use. He accordingly

prevailed on Government to make advances for works of irri-

gation, and dug reservoirs and wells, and formed embank-

ments to husband and distribute the water. He covered the

slopes of the hills with terraces, and by these appliances

gave the waste jungle an aspect of luxuriant cultivation.

The financial result of this improvement was encouraging in

no ordinary degree. The sum advanced by the state for these

waterworks—and in India they always return cent, per cent.

—was a little above two lacs, while the augmentation of the

revenue through the increase of the assessment, exceeded

four lacs. The moral result of these labours was seen in t ;e

transformation of a wild and predatory tribe into an orderly,

docile, and industrious population, with unbounded confidence

in their European benefactors. To encourage the resort of

traders, Captain Dixon erected a town in the district, and

surrounded it with a wall, to give a feeling of security to the

immigrants. It appeared to rise in the wilderness with the

wand of a magician, and in a short time was filled with two

thousand families engaged in mercantile and manufacturing

pursuits. In all the annals of the India House there is no

record more grateful than that of the energetic and successful

labours of these two officers in the civilization of Mairwarra.

Female In the year 1789, Mr. Jonathan Duncan, the
infanticide, 1833.

Resident at Benares, discovered for the first time

that the custom of destroying then female offspring was



104 FEMALE INFANTICIDE. [CHAP.

prevalent among the Rajpoots. After his appointment to the

government of Bombay, in 1800, he found that the same

barbarous custom existed also to a great extent in the west of

India among the Rajpoot tribes, and especially in the

Jharijah families of Cutch and Kattiwar. The lowest estimate

of victims in these two provinces reached 3,000 a-year ;
and

in the household of the raja not a single female infant had

been spared. It was subsequently ascertained to prevail also

among the Rajpoots of Joudhpore and Jeypore, and, indeed,

throughout the whole extent of Malwa and Rajpootana. The

number of victims was computed without exaggeration at

20,000 annually. Throughout a territory 700 miles in extent,

stretching from Cutch to Benares, two thirds of the female

offspring of the tribes were systematically put to death. These

murders were committed generally under the directions of the

father, either by starvation or by the administration of drugs ;

in some cases the mother became the murderer of her own

offspring by rubbing her nipples with opium, which speedily

extinguished infant life. There was no evidence to show that

the custom had a religious origin ;
it was traced exclusively

to the pride of caste. To maintain the honour of his family

connections was the one paramount object of the haughty

Rajpoot, but owing to the manifold and complicated gradations
of rank within the tribe, and the limited number of families

with whom a matrimonial alliance could be contracted without

dishonour, it was difficult to obtain suitable matches, and

for a girl to remain unmarried after she had reached the

age of maturity, was regarded as an indelible disgrace. It was

likewise considered indispensable that weddings should be

celebrated on a scale of magnificence fixed by prescriptive

and inexorable usage, and any attempt to abridge it was sup-

posed to indicate the declension of the family. The expense
of weddings arose chiefly from the exorbitant demands of

the bhats and churruns, the bards and genealogists of the

Rajpoot races, who exercised a more tyrannical influence in

the tribe, than the priesthood. They employed themselves in
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composing ballads which celebrated the antiquity and renown

of the family, and its fame throughout the tribe was dependent
on their eulogy. They kept the pedigrees and recorded the

alliances of the family, which regulated its social position.

Their presence was considered indispensable at every marriage

festivity, and on some occasions they had been known to

flock to a wedding to the number of two or three thousand.

To conciliate their good-will, it was necessary to regale
them with profusion, and to load them with gifts. If they
were satisfied, their ballads traced the family up to the race

of the sun or the moon ;
if otherwise, they revenged them-

selves by holding it up to the contempt of the country in

ribald songs. To avert the disgrace to which the Rajpoot
was exposed from these causes, he was prepared to submit to

any sacrifice, and to incur any amount of debt, though
it might inflict a permanent incumbrance on his property.
But every difficulty arising from the risk of mesalliances,

and from the extortion of the bards and genealogists was
at once removed by extinguishing the life of his female

offspring.

Efforts to
^e 0n̂ cers °f the Company resolved to make a

eradicate the vigorous effort to eradicate this infamous custom.

Mr. Duncan took the lead in this benevolent cru-

sade, and exacted a solemn pledge from the Rajpoots, who
were British subjects, to relinquish it for ever, and it was
soon after prohibited under severe legal penalties. Colonel

Walker, the Resident in Cutch, spared no labour to eradicate

it by personal importunity and by a judicious exercise of

authority, and at length prevailed on the Jharijah chiefs to

bind themselves by a written engagement to renounce it, and

to expel from the caste any who should be found to practise

it. On the strength of these documents it was believed that

this inhuman practice had become extinct, and Colonel Walker

and the Court of Directors received the hearty congratulations
of the benevolent in England and in Europe on the result of

their labours. But in the course of time this conclusion was
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found to be premature ; the success which had attended these

labours was partial and transient, and in all the provinces in

which the practice was supposed to be extinguished, it was

discovered to be almost as prevalent as ever. Renewed efforts

were made to suppress it, but it was painfully felt that so

long as the feelings and the interests of the people indisposed

them to aid in the detection of delinquents, our exertions must

be impotent ;
and the public officers appear at length to have

resigned themselves to despondency. But in 1834 Mr. Wil-

kinson, one of the ablest and i most philanthropic servants of

the Company, and Mr.—the late Sir John—Willoughby, de-

termined to adopt the most vigorous measures to root out the

crime. Mr. Wilkinson assembled the chiefs of Central India,

who were our allies and not our subjects, and through his

personal influence prevailed on them to affix their seals to

deeds abandoning the practice, and then issued a notification

denouncing it. Lord William Bentinck addressed letters of

congratulation, written, as well as signed, by himself, to the

Rana of Oodipore and the other chiefs who had thus pledged

themselves to the abolition of the practice, and the Court of

Directors ordered special messages of commendation to be

conveyed to them. But the chiefs signed the agreement only

to deprecate the displeasure and to court the favour of the

paramount authority, not from any motives of humanity,

and Mr. Wilkinson had the mortification to learn that one of

the number had put his own female children to death within

two months of signing the deed. A general census of the

province of Kattywar was likewise obtained, which revealed

the melancholy fact that although the practice had unques-

tionably diminished, only one girl was to be found to three

boys even in the most favourable places, and that in others

five-sixths of the female infants had perished by the hands of

their own unnatural parents. This discovery only led him

to redouble his exertions. He insisted on a periodical census

of the inhabitants. He issued fresh proclamations announcing
the unshaken determination of Government to exterminate the
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custom. He offered rewards to informers, and bestowed gifts

on those who preserved their offspring. One chief was fined

12,000 rupees, and another sentenced to twelve months'

imprisonment for having practised infanticide; but this

procedure was openly resented as arbitrary and unjust by
the other chiefs who still clung to the practice. In these

benevolent labours Captain
—now Sir Philip

—Melvil took a

prominent and active part, but he was likewise doomed to dis-

appointment. The nobles of Cutch were successful in resisting

the order for a census of the population, which they con-

sidered derogatory to the honour of their families. The

benevolent efforts of Willoughby, Wilkinson, Melvil, and

others were followed by only partial success, because they

were not backed, as might have been hoped, by the natural

feelings of the people. Humanity has been a plant of slow

growth even in England, but in India it can scarcely be said to

exist, either among the high caste Rajpoot or the savage

Khond. Tribes which professed to be so tender of life as to call

on their chiefs to prohibit the slaughter of sheep, were reso-

lutely opposed to the preservation of their own female offspring.

This humane work has proved to be the most difficult task

we have ever undertaken in India. It was easier to subdue

the country than to conquer the blood-thirsty prejudices of its

inhabitants. The efforts which have thus been made by a

succession of philanthropists for more than half a century to

preserve life, and to make the triumphs of humanity co-exten-

sive with the triumph of British arms, have secured to them

the gratitude of their own country, though India be not able

to appreciate their value. These benevolent labours, notwith-

standing every disappointment, must be pursued without relax-

ation, and they will eventually be crowned with complete suc-

cess ; but this happy consummation is necessarily dependent
on the continuance of British power in India, the extinction of

which would be followed by the revival of those atrocities

which the Company has been employed in putting down.

Human sacrifices The tract of country in the province of Orissa
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among the lying south of the Mahanuddee in the belt of hills

Khonds.
facing the bay of Bengal, is inhabited by the

Khonds, an original race which from time immemorial has

maintained its primitive language, habits, and superstitions.

Some of the tribes have successfully resisted every effort to

reduce them to subjection, while others have paid a nominal

allegiance to the neighbouring rajas. The revolt of the raja

of Goomsur in 1835 determined Government to incorporate

his territory with the Company's dominions, and their officers

were then for the first time made acquainted with the existence

of this singular people, though they dwelt within a few miles

of one of the oldest British stations. Their fields were found

to be in a high state of cultivation, and their villages swarmed

with bullocks, goats, swine, and poultry. The normal

pursuit of agriculture was diversified by the chase and by
incessant conflicts among the tribes. To such an extent did

they pride themselves on the virtue of hospitality that any
man who could once make his way to the hearth of his deadly

foe, considered himself in perfect safety. The government
was patriarchal, hereditary in the family, and elective in the

individual. Each tribe possessed a distinct portion of territory

which was parcelled out among the different families, and the

descent or sale of which was regulated by prescriptive

custom. The women were held in high esteem, and no

measure was completed without their advice. The men were

brave and resolute, but revengeful and the slaves of drink.

Of the different tribes in +he hills, some abhorred human

sacrifices, but practised female infanticide; others were the

votaries of the " earth goddess," and firmly believed that the

fertility of their fields depended on her favour, which could be

secured only by the sacrifice of human life. The victims were

called meriahs and, though generally obtained by purchase,

were often acquired by violence, through the agency of two
of the hill tribes, who gained their livelihood by procuring
them from the low countries. When it was intended to

perform a general sacrifice the villagers within the circuit
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assembled in the first instance for the performance of religious

rites. The three days preceding- the sacrifice were spent in

frantic dances and drunken revelry. On the last day the

associated tribes proceeded with loud huzzas and barbaric

music to consummate the act. The meriah was in most cases

bound to a stake, and the priest inflicted a slight wound with

his axe, when the excited crowd rushed forward and cut off

slices of flesh from the writhing victim. The villagers then

hastened home with the share of flesh they had been so

fortunate as to obtain, carefully wrapt up in leaves. The

village priest divided it into as many particles as there were

heads of families, and the flesh was then buried in the

favourite field with the firm conviction that it would ensure a

good crop.

Efforts to On the discovery of this infamous custom
eradicate the

fae Government of Madras resolved to adopt
practice,

r
1829-34. immediate measures to suppress it, and com-

mitted the duty to Captain Campbell, who proceeded to summon

the chiefs and their followers to his encampment. After

dwelling on the atrocity of the practice, he exacted an

oath from them to abandon it, the immediate effect of which

was the surrender of two hundred victims who had been

procured for sacrifice. For four years he continued thus to

labour in the cause of humanity till he was obliged to quit

the country from the failure of his health ; but the good he

effected was found to be transient. His course of action was

described by the Governor of Madras to consist in entering

the hills with an armed force, calling together the influential

men of each tribe, denouncing the practice, and demanding

delivery of the victims which had been collected. The elders

and priests who had taken an oath to abstain from the prac-

tice, relapsed into it as soon as they were relieved from this

pressure, and for every victim they gave up, another was pro-

cured from the plains. It was felt that the partial success of

Captain Campbell was delusive, and that no permanent benefit

was to be expected from compulsory measures. This was
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evidenced by the fact that on a subsequent festival no fewer

than two hundred and forty victims were collected for sacri-

fice in one small portion of Khond land. The Marquis of

Tweeddale, the Governor of Madras, deemed it indispensable

to permanent success to obtain an influence over the hill chiefs,

and while they were impressed with a just but favourable

opinion of our power, to prevail on them by moral suasion to

renounce the rite. Major Macpherson, who had previously

been employed in surveying the country, and had accumulated

much knowledge of the people, and of their character and cir-

cumstances, was intrusted with this duty, and likewise in-

vested with the office of Judge, Magistrate and Collector.

His first object was to establish the supremacy of Govern-

ment throughout the country. He then visited tribe after tribe,

entered iuto free and friendly communications with the people,

and by the employment of reason more than of authority,

induced a determination to abandon the practice. In return

for this concession he offered them the inestimable boon

of an authoritative settlement of their mutual disputes, which

had never before been decided without bloodshed. With one

hand he distributed justice and established tranquillity, with

the other he rescued the victims and exacted pledges of dis-

continuing the rite. The result of these efforts was the ex-

tinction of the practice throughout the whole province of

Goomsur. These labours were followed up by the establish-

ment of schools, for which he caused suitable books to be com-

piled in the Orissa character. It was the firm belief of the

Khonds that their priests alone could cure their diseases, and

the priests had but one prescription
—a human sacrifice—for all

complaints and wounds. Send us, said the barbarians to the

Major, a doctor, and we will make him a god ; the request was

complied with, and a new and powerful influence was estab-

lished over them. In the course of time they found that their

fields yielded an abundant harvest without human blood, and

they concluded that the " earth goddess
" had lost her power,

and they ceased to pay her homage. Dr. Cadenhead, the
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energetic assistant of Major Macpherson, was likewise sent

into the adjacent district of Boad to put down the rite. The

Khonds delivered up more than a hundred victims at his

requisition, but not before they had put to death a hundred

and twenty as the last act of sacrifice. The uncle of the raja,

instigated by one Sam Bisoye, who, while eating the salt of

Government, was secretly counteracting all its benevolent

efforts, raised an opposition to the British authorities, which

was joined by the raja of Ungool, and ripened into an insur-

rection. The camp of the agent was attacked, and it became

necessary to call out a military force. Violent prejudices were

excited against Major Macpherson, and the Vice-President in

Council allowed himself to be persuaded that the rebellion was
directed against him, and not against the authority of Govern-

ment. The Khond agency became, in fact, a party question,

and truth and justice disappeared. While Major Macpher-
son was engaged with great success in quelling the revolt, he

and his assistants were summarily dismissed from their ap-

pointments. Mr.—now Sir John—Grant was sent to inves-

tigate the charges which had been brought against him, and,
on receiving his report, Lord Dalhousie assured Major Mac-

pherson that nothing could in his opinion compensate for the

treatment he had received, but that he still enjoyed the undi-

minished confidence of every member of Government. The Court

of Directors pronounced the most favourable judgment on his

proceedings and ascribed the extinction of this crime to the

judicious and conciliatory measures he had adopted, and to

the admirable power of his individual character. After his

removal, Colonel Campbell was reappointed to the charge of the

district, and completed the work which had been so happily

begun. The entire number of victims rescued from death
- ded fifteen hundred ; and this atrocious rite, which had

probably been practised by the Khonds for as many centuries

as the immolation of widows had been practised by the

Hindoos, was finally extinguished under the auspices of

British humanity.
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CHAPTER XXXIII.

lord Auckland's administration—the Afghan

expedition, 1836—1842.

Lord Auckland
-^ord Auckland was sworn in as Governor-

Governor- General on the 20th March, 1836. He entered

upon his duties with the most pacific and benevo-

lent intentions. At the farewell entertainment of the Court

of Directors at the London tavern he assured them that " he

looked with exultation to the new prospects before him as

affording him an opportunity of doing good to his fellow

creatures, of promoting education and knowledge, and of

extending the blessings of good government and happiness to

millions in India." For such labours he was eminently quali-

fied by his clear and enlightened views of domestic policy,

as well as by his amiable disposition and his active habits.

But before he had been six months in Calcutta he perceived

a storm gathering in the north-west, and expressed his

apprehensions that we might at no very distant period be in-

volved in political, and possibly in military, operations on our

western frontier. The complications which arose brought on a

great political crisis with which he was not qualified to deal,

either by his previous experience, or his mental calibre.

He had little reliance on his own judgment, and acted for

the most part, under the influence of those who surrounded

him, and so the vessel of the state rapidly drifted among the

breakers. His administration is almost exclusively comprised
in the fatal expedition to Afghanistan, the inception of which

may be dated in July, 1837, while the catastrophe occurred in

January, 1842, a few weeks before his return to England. To

form a correct idea of this momentous transaction which has

exercised a powerful influence on the interests and progress

of the British empire in the east, it is necessary to trace the

convergence of events in Afghanistan and the Punjab, in
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Persia and in Russia to the point at which it was deter-

mined to despatch that ill-starred expedition,

shah soojah's Shah Soojah, the exiled monarch of Cabul and
attempt, 1833. ^e British pensioner at Loodiana, was encouraged

by the treachery of Dost Mahomed's brothers to make a

second effort in 1833 to recover the throne of Afghanistan.

He endeavoured to raise funds by pawning his jewels, but

the bankers demanded extravagant security for a very incon-

siderable advance. He then applied for aid to Lord William

Bentinck, who replied,
" My friend, the British Government

religiously abstains from intermeddling with the affairs of its

neighbours when it can be avoided ; to afford you assistance

for the purpose you have contemplated would not consist

with that neutrality which on such occasions regulates our

conduct." The only aid he was enabled to obtain was the

payment of his pension four months in advance, to the extent

of 16,000 rupees. He invoked the assistance of Runjeet

Sing, who proposed various conditions which appeared prepos-

terous and impracticable ; and among others the restitution

of the sandal-wood gates of the ancient temple of Somnath,
winch were attached to the tomb of Mahmood at Ghuzni.

The Shah replied that the removal of them would cover him

with eternal disgrace in the eyes of the faithful, and he re-

ferred, likewise, to a current prophecy that whenever the Sikhs

obtained possession of them, their government would imme-

diately be overthrown. The surrender of them was not pressed.

The ruler of the Punjab was at length induced to countenance

the undertaking on condition that the Shah would guarantee
to him all the possessions he had acquired in the provinces

beyond the Indus. He started on the expedition in February
1833, crossed the Indus without opposition, and reached

Shikarpore, where, in the following January, he defeated the

Ameers of Sinde, and constrained them to make an imme-
diate payment of five lacs of rupees, and to enter into an

engagement to pay an annual tribute for that town. He
then pursued his route without interruption to Candahar, and

HI. !
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maintained his position before that fortress for a few months,

till Dost Mahomed marched down from Cabul, and crushed

his army and his hopes. In July, 1834, he fled from Afghan-
istan to Belochistan, and, in the extremity of his distress,

received a generous hospitality from the ruler, Mehrab Khan.

He then retraced his steps to his old asylum and his pen-

sionary position at Loodiaua in March, 1835. While the

Afghans were occupied in repelling the invasion of Shah

Soojah at Candahar, Runjeet Sing availed himself of the

opportunity to send a large army across the Indus, and defi-

nitively incorporated the province of Peshawur with the Sikh

dominions, placing it in charge of General Avitabile.

Eunjeefs views It nas been stated in a former chapter that the

on sinde, 1835.
design on Sinde which Runjeet Sing had long

cherished was thwarted by the resolution of Lord William

Bentinck to open the navigation of the Indus to commerce,

which required the establishment of a preponderating British

influence on its banks. At this juncture, a wild and predatory

tribe on the right bank of the river made repeated inroads

into the Huzara districts which Runjeet Sing had conquered,

and his son, Khurruck Sing, and his gallant grandson, Nao

Nihal, were sent with a large force to chastise them. But as

these attacks were traced to the instigation of the Ameers of

Sinde, two of their forts were occupied by the Sikh army,
which had

.
been largely reinforced with a view to the con-

quest of Shikarpore, and the entire subjugation of the province.

The Ameers organized their forces for the conflict, and it

required all the tact and energy of Colonel Pottinger at

Hyderabad, and a strong pressure on the part of Captain

Wade at Lahore, to prevent a collision between the two

powers which must have resulted in the discomfiture of

the Ameers, and the extension of Runjeet Sing's authority

throughout the country down to the sea. Captain Wade was

obliged to enforce his representations by a prominent allusion

to the risk which Runjeet Sing would incur if he pursued

these designs in opposition to the wishes of the British
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Government. On the other hand, his own gallant officers

importuned him to resist, at all hazards, the restrictions

which were thus imperiously placed on the extension of

his territories by the British authorities, but he shook

his venerable head and asked them where were now the

two hundred thousand Mahratta spears which had once bid

defiance to the Company. The feeling of awe which he

entertained of the strength and resources of the British

Government had recently been heightened by a circum-

stance which enabled him more fully to appreciate them.

Lord AVilliam had determined to adopt the policy of sub-

stituting English for Persian as the language of diplomatic

correspondence with the various native courts in India.

Runjeet sent the son of one of his chiefs to Loodiana to

master the English language, and on his return to the court

caused the map of India one day to be spread out before him,

and required the lad to point out the position and boundaries of

the Lahore dominions. But what, he asked, are all these red

circles which I see spread over the map from the Himalaya
to Cape Comorin. They mark the British possessions, replied

the youth. In a fit of vexation Rnnjeet kicked the map
away, exclaiming, "it will all become red." On the present

occasion, he bowed to the majesty of British power, and re-

linquished his designs on Sinde ;
and had the magnanimity

to invite the Governor-General and the highest British func-

tionaries to Lahore to the nuptials of his grandson whom he

had destined as the conqueror and the ruler of that province.

The loss of Peshawur rankled in the bosom of
Dost Mahomed
at Poshuwur, Dost Mahomed, and he determined to make an

extraordinary effort to recover it. For this pur-

pose he assumed the character of a ghazee, or champion of

the faith, and proclaimed a religious war against the infidel

Sikhs. The Mahomedan world in Central Asia was imme-

diately in commotion, and from the regions of the Hindoo

Koosh, from the wilds of Toorkistan, from the orchards of

Kohistan, and from the remote recesses of the mountains

i 2
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thousands poured down on the plain of Peshawur to join the

standard of the Prophet, some on horseback, others on foot,

promiscuously armed with sword and shield, with bows and

aiTows, with matchlocks and with spears. The spirit of

Runjeet Sing appeared to quail before this host of infuriated

fanatics, and, while he advanced to the defence of the pro-

vince with a large army, he determined also to try the effect of

intrigue, and despatched one Harlan, an American adventurer,

ostensibly on a mission to Dost Mahomed, but in reality to

sow dissensions in his camp.
" I divided the brothers," said

the unscrupulous envoy, "against the Dost, excited their

jealousy of his growing power, and induced one of them,

Sultan Mahomed, to withdraw himself suddenly from the

encampment with 10,000 of his soldiers. . . This unexpected

desertion threw the Afghan camp into a state of inextricable

confusion and dismay, and resulted in the total defection of the

Dost Mahomed's army, which melted away in the stillness of

night. At daybreak not a vestige of the Afghan camp was to

be seen where six hours before 50,000 men and 10,000 horse

were rife with the tumult of wild emotion." Dost Mahomed

returned with deep chagrin to Cabul. On hearing of the arrival

of Lord Auckland in the spring of 1836, he addressed a letter of

congratulation to him, and in allusion to the unhappy state of

his relations with Runjeet Sing, begged him "to communi-

cate whatever might suggest itself to his mind for the settle-

ment of the affairs of the country." Lord Auckland returned

a friendly reply, and announced his intention shortly to depute

a gentleman to the Ameer's court to discuss questions of com-

merce, but in reference to the Sikh quarrel remarked,
" My

friend, you are aware that it is not the practice of the British

Government to interfere with the affairs of other independent

states." The truthfulness of this declaration was singularly

exemplified two years later by the expedition which Lord Auck-

land sent to Cabul, in conjunction with Runjeet Sing, to de-

throne Dost Mahomed. Despairing of any aid from the British

Government, the Dost applied at the beginning of 1837 to the



XXXni.] THE BATTLE OF JUMROOD. 11 7

Shall of Persia as the "King- of Islam," or head of Mahomed-
unism. In the language of oriental compliment he stated that
" his country belonged to the kingdom of Persia, yet disturb-

ance and misery were caused throughout it by the detestable

tribe of Sikhs ;
the misery or welfare of these countries cannot

be separated from the interests of the Persian Government.

If I am unable to resist that diabolical tribe I have no choice

but to connect myself with the English, who will thus obtain

complete control over the whole of Afghanistan." Impatient
to wipe out the disgrace inflicted on him by the cowardice of

his troops at Peshawur, the Dost soon after sent his son,

Akbar Khan, with a large army through the Khyber to Jum-

rood, where a battle was fought on the 30th of April, 1837, in

which the Sikhs were completely defeated, and their ablest

general, Huree Sing, was killed. Runjeet Sing was at the

time engaged at Lahore in celebrating the nuptials of his

grandson, and in instituting an order of knighthood, which he

styled the order of the Auspicious Star of the Punjab, and of

which the first decoration was conferred on Sir Henry Fane,
the Commander-in-chief, who had accepted the invitation to

be present at these magnificent festivities. They were rudely

interrupted by the disaster at Jumrood, but Runjeet Sing made

every effort to retrieve his loss. Reinforcements were pushed
forward with a degree of promptitude and speed which had

never been witnessed before. Colonel Steinbach, one of his

European officers, marched with a large body of troops three

hundred miles in twelve days, and it is affirmed that field guns
were actually dragged from Ramnugur on the Chenab to Pesh-

awur, a distance of two hundred miles, in twelve days. The Af-

ghans gained little by their victory ; they were unable to master

either Jumrood or Peshawur, and after ravaging the country
an .iind returned to Cabul on the approach of the Sikh force. It

w.is at this critical juncture that Lord Auckland's envoy, Captain

Burnes, made his appearance at the capital to discourse about

trade and manufactures, but the fermentation in Central Asia

soon gave a character of political importance to his mission.
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Pro ress of
^ue Russians, like the Romans, have systemati-

Russia. cally devoted themselves to the extension of their

dominion and power, and for more than a century have pro-

secuted schemes of aggrandizement in Europe and in Asia,

without any relaxation, and without a single failure. " In the

course of sixty-four years, dating from 1772," as Mr. McNeill

remarked, in the memorable pamphlet he published at

this time,
" she has advanced her frontier in the west eight

hundred and fifty miles towards Vienna, Berlin, Dresden,

Munich, and Paris ; she has approached four hundred and

fifty miles nearer to Constantinople ;
she has possessed her-

self of the capital of Poland, and has advanced to within a few

miles of the capital of Sweden ; and the territories she has

acquired during this period are greater in extent and import-

ance than the whole empire she had in Europe before that

time." Peter the Great, the founder of Russian greatness,

was the first to contemplate the establishment of a great em-

pire in the east. During his reign the old Russian boundary
eastward was defined by the celebrated line, called the Oren-

burg and Siberia line, stretching from Orenburg on the Ural

river up to the borders of China, a distance of 2,200 miles.

South of this range down to the Jaxartes, or Syr, the steppes
of the nomad race of Kirghis Cossacks extended 2,000 miles

m length and 1,000 in breadth, through a region impass-
able except to well-appointed caravans, and at particular

seasons of the year. It required a hundred years to bring
these hordes in some measure into subordination to the imperial

authority, and it was not till the year 1830 that the Russians

in their progress southward took up their position on the Syr.

On that river they have gradually established a chain of forts,

extending from the estuary of the river in the lake Ural, to

Fort Vernoe eastward along seven hundred miles. The truth

of the assertion made by Sir Robert Peel in 1844,
u that when

civilization and barbarism come in contact the latter must in-

evitably give way," has been fully verified in the progress of

Russian power in Asia. The same irresistible impulse which
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has carried the English standard, in the course of a century,

from the Bay of Bengal, over subverted thrones, through
lift ecu hundred miles of territory, up to Peshawur, has brought

the Russians down from Orenburg to the Jaxartes and the

Oxus, both of which must at no distant period become Rus-

sian rivers, navigated by Russian steamers, and subservient

to Russian interests. Already are the resources of Khiva,

Bokhara, and Kokan, the three kingdoms of Toorkistan, within

the grasp of Russia, and her influence must inevitably be

extended to the Hindoo Koosh, which is evidently destined

to be the snow-clad boundary of the two great European

empires in Asia.

Before the development of Russian power in the
Influence of r r

Russia in north along the line of the Jaxartes had been

completed, an attempt was made by the ambition

of her diplomatic agents to take advantage of the ascendency

she had acquired at the court of Persia and push her influence

in another direction, up to the banks of the Indus. At the

beginning of the century the Russians wrested the province

of Georgia from the crown of Persia, and although the political

relations of the two powers were for many years as pacific as

could be expected where the one was domineering, and the

other impatient of control, there was a latent feeling of irrita-

tion among the Persians which only required a spark to kindle

the flames of war. It was reported that the Russians had

done violence to the religious feelings of the Georgian Ma-

homedans. The Persian mollahs, or priests, raised the cry of

a religious war, and the Russians in the garrisons and outposts

were indiscriminately massacred. Under the threat of forfeit-

ing his seat in paradise, the king was constrained by the

fanaticism of the priesthood to send his son Abbas Mirza with

40,000 men into the field to combat the Russians. The fourth

article of the treaty of Teheran, concluded in 1814, pledged

the British Government in case of a war between Persia and

any European power to aid the Shah with a force, or to grant

him an annual subsidy during its continuance. It was mainly
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in reliance on this engagement that the Persians embarked with

eagerness in this war with a superior power. But a strong pres-

sure of male, and more especially of female, diplomacy in London
was brought to bear on the British Ministry, and hints were con-

vej^ed that any attempt to carry out this article of the treaty

would lead to a rupture with Russia. All assistance was

therefore refused under the convenient pretext that Persia was

the aggressor, though she had been goaded into the war by
the constant encroachments of her imperious neighbour. Tiie

Persian army, though a portion of it had been disciplined by

English officers, was completely routed, and the Shah was

obliged to submit to the humiliation of ceding two of his finest

provinces to Russia, and indemnifying her for the expenses of

the war. The Persian court was driven to extremity by this

pecuniary mulct when the English Ministry came to its relief

with a large ready money payment on condition that the incon-

venient article in. the treaty of 1814 should be abrogated.

L. „. The Persians sought to indemnify themselves
Persian expedi-

° ^

tion to Khorasan for these losses by the conquest of the province
and Herat, 1834. ^ £horagail) lying to the east of their dominions,

which they were enabled to accomplish in 1832 by the aid of

English and Russian officers. The next year Mahomed Shah,

the grandson of the reigning prince, proceeded on an expedi-

tion to Herat ;
but he had made little progress in the siege

before he was obliged, to his great chagrin, to return to

Teheran, in consequence of the death of his father. Futteh Ali,

the old king who had welcomed Captain Malcolm in 1802,

and had always been favourable to an alliance with England,

died in the following year. Mahomed Shah, who now ascended

the throne, evinced a strong disposition to fraternize with

Russia, more especially as the result of the late war had in-

spired him with a lively dread of her power. Since the first

mission of Captain Malcolm, the British Government had

expended a sum of no less than ninety-three lacs of rupees in

embassies and subsidies to Persia. British officers had been

sent to discipline her armies, and her arsenals had been iiiled
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with the munitions of war by British treasure, with the object
of establishing a preponderant sway at the court which might
serve as a bulwark of the British empire in India. The

Ministry had now the mortification of seeing this expenditure
and labour neutralized, and British influence completely over-

powered by that of Russia. The expedition to Herat, which

was the favourite project of the young and impetuous monarch,
became the test of the strength of these rival influences at

Teheran.

Ne options Kamran, the ruler of Herat, had openly violated

regarding the treaties subsisting between him and Persia,

and had, likewise, made repeated inroads into the

territories of the Shah, and kidnapped his subjects to the

number, as the Persians affirmed, of 12,000, and sold them

into slavery. In the opinion of the British Minister, Mr.—
now Sir John—McNeill, these atrocities fully justified the

Persians in resorting to hostilities ; but he did not fail to re-

present to the Ministry that, in the present state of the

relations between Russia and Persia, the advance of the latter

into Afghanistan, of which Herat was considered the gate,

was tantamount to the progress of the former towards the

Indus, and ought to be counteracted by the British Govern-

ment to the fullest extent which the obligations of public faith

would permit. He affirmed that the influence and intrigues

of Russia would thus be extended, through the conquests of

Persia, up to the threshold of India, the public mind in the

north-west provinces unsettled, and the tranquillity of the

British empire disturbed. Mr. McNeill used every argument to

dissuade the Shah from the prosecution of the enterprise, which

he affirmed would compromise him with the British Govern-

ment, and advised him to seek a redress of grievances by an

amicable arrangement with Herat. At the same time, he

recommended Kamran to avoid the risks of a second invasion

by making suitable concessions to the Persian monarch. A
conference was accordingly held, but the Persian representa-

tive made the most arrogant demands, claiming the whole of
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Afghanistan up to Ghuzni as Persian territory, and Herat as

a Persian province. The attempt to reconcile differences proved

abortive, but Mr. McNeill did not the less endeavour to dis-

suade the Shah from the expedition, while, on the other hand,

the Russian minister, Count Simonich, encouraged him to per-

severe, and offered him every assistance. The question was

then referred to the Ministry in London, and a remonstrance

was addressed to the Russian authorities at St. Petersburg, who

replied that the Count had exceeded his instructions, and that

the Emperor entirely disapproved of the expedition. The

Count was not recalled, and his proceedings at Teheran were

so completely in unison with the national feeling in Russia, if

not likewise with that of the public functionaries, that the

Moscow Gazette threatened to dictate the next treaty with

England in Calcutta.

The Shah set out for Herat in the month of July,

Stfon,

e
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dwelling with delight on the facility with which

his disciplined infantry and artillery would overturn the Sikhs,

and pursue the course of Nadir Shah to Delhi. The expedi-

tion was regarded as the triumph of Russian over British

influence, and created an extraordinary impression in Central

Asia. Throughout India the sensation was greater than had

been felt since the invasion of Zemaun Shah at the beginning
of the century. The native princes again began to speculate

on the downfall of the Company's supremacy. Threats of

invasion were muttered in Nepal and in Burmah. The native

journals fanned the excitement to such a degree as to bring in

question the wisdom of having bestowed freedom on the press,

but happily no attempt was made to bridle it. Inflammatory

papers which were traced to Persian agency were diligently

scattered through the country. The Mahomedans looked for

the advent of a countless host of the faithful, backed, it was

believed, by two hundred thousand Russians, to wrest the

country from the hands of the Company. The country was

agitated with the report of great movements in Central Asia,
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the cradle of revolutions for eight centuries, and men in the

remote districts of the Deccan began to bury their money and

jewels in the earth. The fall of Herat under these circum-

stances would, in the opinion of Mr. McNeill, have inflicted a

blow on the prestige of the Indian Government which would

be felt throughout the east.

Lord Auckland's
At this juncture Lord Auckland left Calcutta and

advisers. 1837.
proceeded towards the sanitarium of Simla, with

Mr. Macnaghten, as the public secretary in attendance on him,

and Mr. John Colvin as his private secretary. The north-west

provinces were at the time visited with a more severe famine

than had been known since they came under British authority,

and which was calculated to have swept away half a million

of the inhabitants. The Governor-General's camp consisted, as

usual, of more than 20,000 men, and its progress tended to

aggTavate the general distress. On reaching Cawnpore,
Mr. Macnaghten advised Lord Auckland to return to Cal-

cutta, and if the advice had been followed, the Government

would probably have been spared the disasters of the Afghan

war, but it was determined to push on to Simla. Mr. Wil-

liam Hay Macnaghten had been for several years a cavalry

officer in the Madras army before he entered the Bengal civil

service. In the college of Fort William he had carried away
the highest prizes, and he was one of the most profound

oriental scholars in India. After having risen to great dis-

tinction in the judicial branch of the service, he entered the

political department daring the administration of Lord W. Ben-

tinck, who formed a high estimate of the soundness of his

judgment and the sobriety of his opinions. Mr. Colvin, the

private secretary, was a man of considerable abilities, and lofty

bearing, with a spirit of greater resolution than his master,

over whom he exerted a paramount influence. On these two

officers, but more especially on Mr. Colvin, devolved the duty
of giving advice to the Governor-General at this momentous

crisis, when he was separated from the constitutional advice

of his Council. The under-secretary, Mr. Henry Torrens, whose
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influence in the Simla cabinet, was altogether secondary, was
an accomplished scholar, a man of great parts and versatile

genius, but too volatile to be a safe political guide. The home

Government, seeing in every direction the indication of a

restless and aggressive spirit, directed on the part of Russia

and her political agents, against the security of the British

empire in India, had instructed the Governor-General to adopt

vigorous measures for its protection. Mr. McNeill, who had

already sounded the note of alarm in his pamphlet on the

progress of Russia in the east, which produced a profound
sensation in England, advised Lord Auckland to meet the

crisis by raising up the barrier of a friendly power in Af-

ghanistan, and recommended that Dost Mahomed should be

subsidized and strengthened.

Captain Bumes It was at this period of fermentation that Cap-
at cabui, 1837. ^am Bumeg nmde his appearance at the court of

Cabul, to work out the policy of opening the Indus to com-

merce, but he found himself at once in the very vortex of poli-

tical complications, and his character of mercantile agent was

speedily merged into that of diplomatist. Native courts are

accustomed to measure the esteem and respect in which they
are held, and the importance of a political mission, by the cha-

racter of the presents which accompany it, and the Afghans
had a vivid remembrance of the magnificent gifts brought by
Mr. Mountstewart Elphinstone thirty years before. Captain
Burnes was escorted to the durbar by Akbar Khan, at the

head of a fine body of Afghan cavalry, on the 20th September,
and honoured with a splendid reception, but when he came to

exhibit the presents with which he was charged, a pistol and

a telescope for the Dost, and some pins and needles for the

ladies of the zenana, he and his embassy sunk at once into

contempt in the eyes of the court. The first glance at the

state of affairs convinced him that Afghanistan was ready to

throw herself into the arms of Persia, and he considered it

fortunate that he should have arrived at the nick of time to

counteract the hostile projects of the Persian court. The
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brothers of Dost Mahomed at Candahar, partly from hatred of

Kamran, the ruler of Herat, with whom they had a blood feud

far the murder of their father, and partly from a dread of his

agapressioBS, had made proposals for an alliance, offensive and

defensive, with the Shah of Persia. These overtures were

heartily encouraged by the Russian minister, who did not

fail to perceive that the extension of Persian influence in

Afghanistan would essentially promote the views and interests

of Russia. The Persian envoy who was sent to complete the

negotiations arrived at Candahar as Captain Burnes entered

Cabul, where he learnt that the Shah had readily responded

to the advances made by Dost Mahomed after he had met

with a repulse from Lord Auckland, and that an ambassador

with robes and presents had arrived at Candahar.

In his intercourse with Captain Burnes, the Dost

with Dost dwelt exclusively on the subject which had led him
Mahomed, 1837. ^ pen communications with the courts of Persia

and Russia, the loss of Peshawur and the encroachments of the

Sikhs. He was ready, he said, to break off all connection with

Persia, and to dismiss the envoy with his presents from Candahar,
if he were permitted to entertain any hope of assistance for the

recovery of the province from the British Government. But Lord

Auckland entertained a morbid dread of giving offence to Runjeet

Sing, whom he termed our ancient and faithful ally, and was

loth to entertain any proposal regarding Peshawur. Yet that

province had always been a source of anxiety to him, and not

only a burden on his treasury, but an object of insuperable aver-

sion to his troops. Before Captain Burnes's mission to Cabul, he

had offered to restore it to the Afghans, on condition of their

paying tribute ; but Dost Mahomed disdained the idea of a

Mahomedan becoming tributary to an infidel. This feeling was,

however, eventually overcome by his passionate desire to

recover the province, and he at length assured Captain Burnes

that if Runjeet Sing would restore it, he was ready to hold

it as a fief of the Punjab, and to transmit the customary

presents. There can be little doubt that if Lord Auckland had
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boldly faced the question, and entrusted the solution of this

difficulty to Captain Burnes at Cabul, and to Captain Wade at

Loodiana, it would have been brought to an early and satis-

factory issue. The overtures of Persia and Russia would in

that case have been definitely rejected, and Dost Mahomed,
secured as an ally, would have become an effectual barrier

against any encroachments from the west. But, from first to

last, there appears to have been a fatal infatuation in our

Afghan policy, and the whole transaction stands forth in the

annals of British India, as that in which it is difficult to discover

a single step that was not marked by folly. Soon after his arrival

at Cabul, Captain Burnes endeavoured to dissuade the Candahar

chiefs from the Persian alliance, and threatened them with the

severe displeasure of the British Government if they persisted

in it. This communication produced a salutary result, and

induced them to dismiss the Persian envoy without the usual

ceremonies. But on farther reflection, they began to entertain

an apprehension that the Shah would take vengeance on

them for the rejection of the alliance, and endeavour to annex

Candahar to his dominions, which, indeed, he had from the

first fully intended to do. Captain Burnes therefore despatched
an officer to Candahar in December, to assure them that if the

province should be invaded by the king of Persia, he would

proceed thither himself, and support them by every means in

his power, even to the extent of paying their troops. Lord

Auckland severely reprimanded Captain Burnes for having
thus exceeded his instructions; and directed him to inform the

chiefs of Candahar that he had held out expectations which

his Government was not prepared to sanction. Yet the measure

which Lord Auckland now reprobated was pronounced by the

Ministry in England to be the wisest which could have been

adopted. The Candahar rulers, finding that the engagements
of the British envoy at Cabul were not to be depended on,

immediately entered into a treaty with Persia, which was

guaranteed by Count Simonich, who engaged to defend Can-

dahar against an attack from whatever quarter it might come.
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The Russian After the receipt of Lord Auckland's unfavourable

Envoy, 1837.
reply in 1836, Dost Mahomed despatched an envoy

to St. Petersburg to solicit the interposition of the Emperor.

He alluded to Che dissensions between his own tribe and the

Suddozyes, and stated that the English were rather disposed

w their support to Shah Soojah. He expressed a hope
that his imperial majesty would permit him to be received,

like the Persians, under the protection of Russia, and would

condescend to arrange matters in Afghanistan, and protect

him from Sikh encroachment. Captain Vitkewich, an officer

on the staff of the Governor-General of Orenburg, was sent to

Cabul with presents of considerable value, and a reply from

the Czar, the authenticity of which has been questioned, but

never disproved. His credentials, like those of Captain Burnes,

were ostensibly of a commercial character, but in both cases

were doubtless intended to cover political negotiations. He ar-

rived at Cabul on the 19th December, and the Dost immediately

visited Captain Burnes, and assured him that he desired no con-

nection except with the British Government, and was prepared

to turn the Russian officer summarily out of Cabul ; but Cap-

tain Burnes succeeded in dissuading him from this imprudent

measure. In communicating to Lord Auckland the fact that

a Russian envoy had arrived at Cabul with the most tempting

offers to Dost Mahomed, Captain Burnes urged the necessity

of immediate and decisive action, in this neck to neck race

between Russia and England in Afghanistan. But Lord

Auckland persisted in refusing the Dost any hope of his good
offices with Runjeet Sing, and intimated that he must waive

all claim to Peshawur, and remain content with any arrange-

ment the Sikh ruler might think fit to make with Sultan

.Mahomed regarding it. The Dost replied that he bore no

enmity to his brother, notwithstanding his incessant treachery

and his rancorous hostility, but he could never consider himself

secure at Cabul, if Sultan Mahomed held Peshawur. In sub-

sequent interviews with Captain Burnes, he went so far as to

say that his fears would be allayed if Peshawur were made
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over conjointly to him and to his brother. Captain Burnes

importuned Lord Auckland to give a favourable ear to these

representations, stating, that while he himself had been in

constant and friendly communication with the Dost, the Russian

envoy had been kept aloof, and the Emperor's presents had

been contemptuously left at Candahar, and that he himself

entertained the fullest confidence in the sincerity of his decla-

ration of attachment to the British alliance, so long as there

remained any hope of securing it.

This hope was effectually quenched by the
Lord Auckland's *Z T , . , , , , . ,

haughty com- letter which Lord Auckland was advised to
munication

'
1838 - address personally to the Dost in the month of

February, in which the refusal of his request was wantonly
embittered by the supercilious tone in which it was con-

veyed. He was told that Runjeet Sing, whom the Afghans

regarded as the incarnation of evil, had from the generosity

of his nature acceded to the wish of the Governor-General for

the cessation of strife, if the Dost would engage to conduct

himself with propriety ; that it was British interference which

had hitherto protected the Afghans from the continuance of

the war which must have ended in their ruin
;
that the hopes

he cherished, which could never be realized, must be aban-

doned ; that he must seek a reconciliation with the Maharaja,
who was the firm and ancient ally of the English, and that

the establishment of peace would give him a degree of

security in the territory actually under his government to

which he had long been a stranger. The British Govern-

ment would labour to secure this object, but only on condi-

tion that he abstained from forming any connection with

other powers without their sanction. Every sentence in this

scornful communication was calculated to kindle a flame of

indignation in the Afghan nobles and chiefs, and Captain
Burnes's mission became hopeless from the day it was de-

livered. In the last resort, Dost Mahomed addressed a

friendly letter to the Governor-General imploring him in lan-

guage bordering on humility "to remedy the grievances of



XXXIII.] CAPTAIN BURNES LEAVES CABUL. 129

the Afghans and to give them a little encouragement and

power." Lord Auckland and his Simla cabinet of secretaries

were deaf to every representation. They demanded the

largest concessions from Dost Mahomed and required him to

reject the alluring offers which other powers were pressing on

him, while they themselves offered him nothing in return but

political sympathies, and their good offices to protect him from

the further encroachments of Runjeet Sing in Afghanistan,

when it was well known that the mere mention of the Khyber

pass, as General Avitabile affirmed, gave his soldiers the

cholic, and that Runjeet Sing had no more idea of marching
to Cabul than to Pekin. Lord Auckland required him to break

with Persia, with Russia, and with Turkistan, but would not

engage to protect him from the hostility which he must in-

evitably have incurred thereby. After the Government had

thus treated him with studied indignity, and addressed him as

though he had been some petty dependent Indian raja, and

extinguished every hope of a British alliance, it was no mattet

of surprise that he should have welcomed the Russian envoy,

who was accordingly conducted through the streets with great

parade, and received with distinction at the court. Captain
Burnes continued to linger at Cabul for another month, and

did not take his departure till the 26th of April. The Russian

envoy promised everything which the Dost was most anxious

to obtain, and immediately opened an official correspondence
with Runjeet Sing, but met with no encouragement to visit

Lahore. He then proceeded to Candahar and completed the

treaty with the chiefs, which was soon after ratified by the

Russian minister at the Persian court, though it contained

stipulations hostile to the British Government, with whom
Russia was at peace.

on of Lord The object of the public authorities both in

Auckland, 1838.
England and in India at this difficult conjuncture

the same as that which had led to the despatch of

Mr. Mountstuart Elphinstone's embassy in 1809,
" to interpose

a friendly power in Central Asia between us and any invading
m. bl
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power from the west." Mr. McNeill and Captain Wade, the

political agent at Loodiana, though they differed on several

points, concurred in recommending that this object should be

pursued by strengthening the actual rulers of Cabul and

Candahar, and binding them to British interests. Captain
Burnes on his return from Cabul enquired why we could not

act with Dost Mahomed. " He is
" he said " a man of un-

doubted ability, and has at heart a high opinion of the British

nation, and if half you would do for others were done for him,

he would abandon Persia and Russia to-morrow ;" but Lord

Auckland and his advisers appear from the first to have re-

garded the Dost with feelings of mistrust as well as aversion.

They were evidently chagrined that, instead of submitting
with grateful humility to whatever terms they might think

fit to dictate, he should be sitting at the gate of India, appa-

rently debating whether he would accept their offers, or those

of their opponents. They may also have considered it a

point of national honour to secure a footing in Afghanistan

by their own swords rather than by subsidizing the Dost, and

they determined, therefore, to depose him. On the 12th May,
1838, Lord Auckland drew up an elaborate Minute in which

he reviewed the whole question, and enumerated three courses

as being open to us. The first was to confine our defensive

operations to the line of the Indus and abandon Afghanistan
to its fate, but this, he remarked, would be absolute defeat,

and leave a free opening for Persian and Russian intrigue on

our frontier. The second was to secure Afghanistan by

granting succour to the Dost and to his brothers at Candahar,
but this would be giving power, as he thought, to those who
would probably employ the means placed at their disposal

against our allies the Sikhs. The third alternative and that

which Lord Auckland resolved to adopt was, to permit, or to

encourage, the advance of Runjeet Sing's armies on Cabul,

under control and restriction
; and, as subsidiary to this move-

ment, to organize an expedition, headed by Shah Soojah, to

enable him to establish his authority in eastern Afghanistan,
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and to aid him by contributions in money, and by the pre-

sence of an accredited agent, together with a sufficient body
of officers to discipline and command his troops.

Mr. Macnaghten was despatched to Lahore to

Mr. Macnagh- obtain the concurrence of Runjeet Sing in this

tTilhorTim project. His instructions, dated three days after

the Minute, were drawn by Mr. Torrens in a very

bombastic style ; and embraced a far more extended and a

more perilous scheme than that which was contemplated in

the Governor-General's Minute—that while the Sikhs ad-

vanced cautiously on Cabul, a division of the British army
should accompany Shah Soojah across the Indus, and occupy
the town of Shikarpore, for a time. Mr. Macnaghten entered

the Punjab on the 30th May, and was received with great

cordiality by Runjeet Sing, then in the last year of his

existence, who tottered through the whole length of the

audience chamber to embrace him, and then hastened to

inspect the trays of presents with a feeling of childish

delight. When they met to discuss the object of the mission,

Mr. Macnaghten asserted, with diplomatic assurance, that

the failure of Captain Burnes's mission to Cabul arose from

the unwillingness of the Ameer to break off negotiations with

other powers. He then launched out into a transcendental

panegyric of the resources of the British empire, and affirmed

that 200,000 soldiers could at any time be brought into the

field to resist an invasion from the east, west, north, and

south. There was nothing, he said, of a palpable character to

be apprehended from the movements of Persia and Russia,

or the hostility of the Sirdars at Cabul, or Candahar, but as

they must tend to unsettle the minds of men, it was desirable

to concert measures to suppress all disturbing influences. He
then alluded to the treaty which Runjeet Sing had entered into

with Shah Soojah in 1833, and enquired whether it would be

agreeable to his wishes that it should be revived, and that the

British Government should become a party to it, assisting

Shah Soojah with money and officers. "
That," replied Run-

k2
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jeet,
" would be adding sugar to milk." But he demanded that

Shah Soojah should confirm his right to the territories he held

beyond the Indus, and that, if he were required to renounce all

claim to Sinde, he should receive one-half the sum which the

Shah might succeed in extorting from the Ameers. He also

hinted a wish to be put in possession of Jellalabad, but as he

well knew that his own troops were not to be trusted in the

passes, the request was evidently advanced to cover a demand

for more money, and it was eventually arranged that the

Shah should pay him an annual subsidy of two lacs of rupees.

The treaty to which Runjeet Sing affixed his seal, was in fact

a simple revival of the compact concluded five years before

between him and Shah Soojah and to which the British

Government now became a party, with the addition of four

articles, none of which, however, created any obligation to

send a British force across the Indus. Mr. Macnaghten then

proceeded to Loodiana to obtain the concurrence of Shah

Soojah in these arrangements, and, as he had everything to

receive, every difficulty was speedily removed. It was clearly

understood by both parties in the conference at Loodiana that

the assistance to be given by the British Government was to

be limited to the appointment of a representative at Cabul,

and officers to discipline and command the Shah's army, and

an advance of money to pay it
;
and he repeatedly expressed

his fervent hope that the immediate operations for regaining

his kingdom should be conducted by his own troops.

The Grand Mr. Macnaghten returned with the tripartite

Expedition, 183S.
treatv to Simla on the 17th of July, and found

that during his absence there had been a further develop-

ment of the expeditionary project. It was argued—and

nothing could be more palpable
—that unless the British

Government engaged as principals in the expedition it must

end in a disgraceful failure. It was therefore resolved to

send a large British army across the Indus into the unex-

plored regions of Central Asia, and to plant it in the centre

of Afghanistan. To reach that isolated position all convoys



.XXX
III.]

GENERAL OPINION OF IT. 133

of provisions and munitions of war were required to traverse

the states of doubtful allies, and to thread long and dangerous

mountain defiles, beset with wild and plundering tribes. This

perilous expedition was undertaken by Lord Auckland without

the concurrence of the Supreme Council, then sitting in Cal-

cutta. The Whig Ministry did not, however, shrink from

sharing the responsibility of it with their colleague in

India. Sir John Hobhouse, the President of the Board of

Control, when interrogated on the subject by a Committee of

tlif House of Commons, said,
" Alone I did it," which simply

signified that he had authorized it without any reference to

the Court of Directors. He affirmed that Lord Auckland was

not to bear the blame of this measure
;

it was the policy of

the home Government, and he might mention that his despatch

stating his opinion of the course which ought to be taken to

meet the exigency which had arisen, and that written by
Lord Auckland informing him of the arrangements made for

the expedition, crossed each other on the road. Sir John

Hobhouse's communication has never been permitted to see

the light and appears still to be considered a state secret, and

it is therefore difficult to estimate its bearing on the movements

of the expedition. But beyond the ministeiial circle in Down-

ing Street, and the secretaries at Simla, this preposterous enter

prise was universally condemned as soon as it was announced.

Mr. Elphinstone stated that,
"

if 27,000 men were sent up the

Bolan pass to Candahar, and we could feed thnm, there was

no doubt that we might take Cabul, and set up Shah Soojah ;

but it was hopeless to maintain him in a poor, cold, strong, and

remote country, among a turbulent people like the Afghans."
Lord William Bentinck considered the project an act of in-

credible folly. Lord Wellesley regarded this wild expedition,

eight hundred miles from our frontier and our resources, into

one of the most difficult countries in the world, a land of rocks

and deserts, of sands and ice and snow, as an act of infa-

tuation. The Duke affirmed with prophetic sagacity that

the consequence of once crossing the Indus to settle a

i
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government in Afghanistan would be a perennial march into

that country.

Character of
With the exception of the brief campaign of a

the Afghan week in Coorg, the Company had enjoyed the
expedition, 1838. i j i i

• c c t

unexampled blessmg of repose for twelve years ;

but India now resounded with the din of preparation for a war

in Central Asia, hundreds of miles beyond the Indus, which

was not even yet our geographical boundary. The expedition

was not more remarkable for the region into which it was to

be launched, than for the people against whom it was to be

directed. For five centuries the barren mountains of Afghan-
istan had poured down a continued stream of needy adven-

turers on the rich plains of India, who had established powerful

principalities and kingdoms in every part of the continent from

Rohilcund at the foot of the Himalaya to the banks of the

Kistna in the Deccan. They had founded two imperial

dynasties at Delhi, and their aristocracy had taken root in

India, which was dotted with Afghan colonies in every direc-

tion. The tables were now to be turned upon them, and the

new masters of India were about to roll back the tide of

invasion, and assail them in their own mountain fastnesses.

The general feeling of the European community in India, both

lay and official, inclined rather to the able and gallant Dost

Mahomed, than to the imbecile Shah Soojab, who had twice

been ignominiously expelled from the country he was about

to enter for the third time with the aid of British troops.

There was also a strong English feeling against the deposi-

tion of the Dost, who was considered the victim of an un-

just policy ; but there was, on the other hand, the charm

of romance associated with an expedition to the scenes of

Mahomedan glory, renowned by the exploits of Mahmood and

Jenghis Khan, of Timur and Nadir Shah.

T « . ,, « On the 1st October Lord Auckland issued a de-
Lord Auckland s

manifesto, claration from Simla, setting forth the grounds
Oct. ist, 1838.

o£ ^e eXpecmion< It is one of the most remark-

able state papers in the records of British India, whether con-
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Bidered with reference to its glaring- misstatements, the sophistry

of its arguments, or the audacity of its assertions. It affirmed

that the army of Dost Mahomed had made a sudden and un-

provoked attack on our ancient ally, Runjeet Sing, whereas

it was Runjeet Sing who had made repeated and unprovoked
attacks on the Dost. It stated that he had urged the most

unreasonable pretensions with regard to his misunderstanding

with the Sikhs, whereas the only proposition he had made was

(me which Runjeet Sing himself would have been readily in-

clined to accept. It accused the Afghan ruler of having
avowed schemes of aggrandizement and ambition injurious to

the peace and security of the frontiers of India, and of having

openly threatened, in furtherance of those schemes, to call in

every foreign aid he could command, and ultimately given his

undisguised support to the designs of the King of Persia on

Afghanistan ; but it withheld the important fact that he had

accepted the Persian alliance only after the most strenuous

efforts had been made for five months without success to ob-

tain a British alliance, and that he was driven into the arms

of Persia, against his own will, solely by the perversity of the

Indian Government. It affirmed that the orders for the assem-

blage of a British force were issued in concurrence with the

Supreme Council, whereas the Council, when required to place

the manifesto on the public records, remonstrated against the

consummation of a policy of such grave importance without

their ever having had an opportunity of stating their opinions

regarding it. The general object of the expedition was de-

scribed to be to secure on our western frontier an ally who
was interested in resisting aggression, in the place of chiefs

ranging themselves in subservience to a hostile power; the

immediate object was "to succour the besieged garrison of

Ib i

rat, who had behaved with a gallantry and fortitude worthy
of the justice of their cause." To that memorable siege we
now turn.

sieKe of Herat The territory of Herat is the only route by
for five montb». whicn a large and fully equipped army can
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advance towards India from the north-west, and the city is

therefore considered the gate of Afghanistan. So exuberant

is the fertility of the plain in which it is situated that it is

usually styled the granary of Central Asia. All the materials

for the organization of an army and the formation of depots
are to be found in the neighbourhood in great abundance.

Its mines furnish lead, iron, and sulphur, the surface of the

country is covered with saltpetre, and the woods afford abund-

ance of charcoal. The population is hardy and docile. The

king, Shah Kamran, was one of the worst specimens of an

oriental voluptuary and despot. His minister, Yar Mahomed,

though not devoid of courage and abilities, was justly de-

scribed by Lieutenant Pottinger as " the greatest scoundrel

in Central Asia." The government was an execrable tyranny,

and derived its chief support from the sale of the wretched

beings who had been kidnapped and reduced to slavery. The

King of Persia sat down before the city on the 23rd November,
1837. The fortifications were crumbling to pieces, and it

might have been carried by a vigorous and scientific assault

on the first day. The practice of the Persian artillery which

had been trained by British officers was superb, but the igno-

rance of the Persian officers in charge of it completely neu-

tralized its value. A few days before the commencement of

the siege, Lieutenant Eldred Pottinger, a young officer of the

Bombay Artillery, who had been sent by his uncle, Colonel

Pottinger, the Resident in Cntch, to make researches in Central

Asia, entered the city in the garb of a syud
—a descendant of

the Prophet
—and took up his residence at the caravansary in

common with its other inmates. In the true spirit of English

adventure, he resolved to remain and take a share in the

approaching struggle, though not also without the hope of

promoting the interests of his country in the defence of the

city. His services were offered to the king and his minister

and readily accepted, and the natural ascendency of genius

speedily gave him the chief direction of operations. The

garrison was animated by a spirit of great resolution and
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perseverance, and under his guidance succeeded in baffling for

five months the repeated assaults of the Persians, though

aided by a regiment of Russians, who were styled deserters

to save appearances. Mr. McNeill, the British minister at the

Persian court, joined the royal encampment on the 6th April,

to the great annoyance of the Shah, who considered that his

presence would not fail to give encouragement to the Heratees.

He was received, however, with due ceremony, and lost no

time in making an effort to reconcile the belligerents. He
found both parties inclined to accept his mediation. The

Shah was disheartened by the protraction and the expense of

the siege, and authorized him to offer whatever terms he might

consider reasonable, and Kamran was equally prepared to

accede to any conditions he might recommend. He proceeded

to the city and opened negotiations with every prospect of a

favourable issue ; but the Russian minister at Teheran fol-

lowed him in all haste, and, having met with an accident,

drove in his carriage from Teheran to Herat and reached the

camp during Mr. McNeill's absence. His arrival completely

changed the aspect of affairs. He urged the continuance of

the siege, advanced funds for the Persian army, and engaged,
if Herat were captured, to remit the whole of the instalments

still due by Persia to Russia. Mr. McNeill met with a cold

reception on his return from the city, and the Shah not only

rejected the amicable arrangement he had made, but announced

his resolution to renew the assault. The redress Mr. McNeill

continued to demand for a wanton outrage committed on one

of his messengers some months before, who had been stripped

naked and scourged, was persistently refused, and he himself

was treated with great contumely. The influence of England
was completely prostrated, and he found it necessary to break

off all diplomatic relations with the Shah and retire to the

Turkish frontier.

Battle of the 24th The siege was prosecuted with new vigour,

raised, mT** The 24th June was fixed for a general assault, and

it afforded a fresh opportunity for the display of Lieutenant
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Pottinger's courage and genius. Count Simonich personally

undertook the direction of the attack, and Russian engineers

superintended the operations. The city was attacked at five

points, but the assailants were repulsed from four of them.

At the fifth, however, they succeeded in making a practicable

breach, but were thrice repelled by the gallantry of the Hera-

tees. Their courage began at length to droop, and they
recoiled from the onslaught of the enemy. Yar Mahomed,
with all his bravery, was paralyzed by the energy of the

Persians and seated himself in despair at a distance from the

scene of action. The fate of Herat trembled in the balance,

and the city was on the point of being lost, when it was saved

by the indomitable spirit of Lieutenant Pottinger He went

up to Yar Mahomed, conjured him, threatened him, reviled him,

and at length, seizing him by the arm, dragged him to the

breach, where he fell like a madman on his own troops as they
drew back from the weapons of the Persians. The effect was

magical ; they rushed forward with infuriated zeal
; the Per-

sians were seized with a panic, when on the point of gaining
their object, and fled in dismay to their camp, with the lo

more than 1,700 men, among whom was the Russian General

Berowski. Herat was saved and the siege was turned into a

blockade, during which the inhabitants suffered the extremity

of wretchedness from the scarcity of provisions, and the un-

abated extortions of Yar Mahomed. The Persian army was

likewise suffering from want of food. The Shah had lost

many thousand men in the various conflicts, and a still larger

number from desertion ; his communications with Persia, from

which he drew his supplies, were interrupted by the increasing

boldness of the marauding tribes on the route, and he only

wanted a decent pretext for raising the siege. Meanwhile,

two steamers were sent by the Government of India with 500

sepoys to occupy the island of Karrack in the Persian Gulf,

•ription of which has been given in a former chapter.

The force was too insignificant for any influential effort, but

its strength was magnified by rumour, and in the camp before
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it was confidently announced that a large British fleet

hadd tin' ports on the coast, and that a British army

marching on Shiraz. Mr. McNeill availed himself of the

consternation created by this expedition, and deputed Colonel

Stoddart to the Persian camp with a peremptory message to

the Shah. lie was instructed to state that the occupation of

Herat, or of any part of Afghanistan, would be considered an

act of hostility to England, that a British armament had

already arrived in the Persian gulf, and that if the Shah desired

vert the measures which the British Government would

adopt to vindicate its honour, he must immediately retire from

the city. The king received Colonel Stoddart with cordiality,

and at the first interview said,
" The fact is, if I do not leave

Herat, there will be war." " There is war," replied the Colonel,
"
everything depends on your Majesty's answer. God preserve

your Majesty." Two days after, he was again in the royal pre-

sence, when the king informed him that he had made up his

mind to consent to all the demands made by the British

Government, and that he gave up the siege simply from his

desire to maintain its friendship. He broke up his encamp-
ment on the 9th September and returned to Persia, having
lost no small portion of his army and a large amount of trea-

sure, besides incurring the disgrace of failure in an enterprise

which had been the talk of Central Asia for ten months. The

memorable defence of Herat against 40,000 Persian troops,

aided by the skill of Russian engineers, stands side by side

with the defence of Arcot by Clive, and reflects equal credit

on the Anglo-Saxon youth by whose sole energy and genius it

was rendered successful, though he had never seen service,

and had no knowledge of the art of war except that which

lie had derived from study.
Persistence in the The grand projects of Persia which had for two

cabui, 1838. years agitated the minds of men from the Caspian

i the banks of the Ganges were quenched in the trenches

I Herat. The dangers which were supposed to menace the

British empire in India from the ambition of Persia and the
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intrigues of Russian agents, were at once dispelled. The hos-

tility of the rulers of Cabul and Candahar had ceased to have

any political importance, and it was naturally expected
that under this new aspect of circumstances the expedition
would be relinquished. But, a large army had been assem-

bled, and all the preparations for a grand enterprise completed,
and it required more decision of character than the Governor-

General possessed to resist the importunities, and to disappoint

the expectations, of the ardent spirits around him. Accord-

ingly, on the 8th November he announced in Orders that

while the relinquishment of the siege of Herat was a just

cause of congratulation, he should "
still continue to prosecute

with vigour the measures which had been announced with a

view to the substitution of a friendly for a hostile power in the

eastern provinces of Afghanistan, and to the establishment of

a permanent barrier against schemes of aggression on our

north-west frontier." This resolution to persevere in the

expedition has justly been considered more obnoxious to cen-

sure than even the original design. The Governor-General

endeavoured to justify it by affirming that it was required of

us "alike in observation of the treaties entered into with

Runjeet Sing and ShahSoojah, as by paramount considerations

of defensive policy." But there was no allusion whatever in

the tripartite treaty to the despatch of a British army across

the Indus, and the Shah was particularly anxious to avoid

the appearance of being carried to Cabul on the shoulders of

infidels, which he considered would be detrimental in the high-

est degree to his popularity and his interests. He wanted

British gold, not British bayonets, and it is an open question

whether " the paramount considerations of defensive policy
"

would not have been more effectually promoted had he

advanced through the country with his own army, and with a

liberal supply of money, to buy up the mercenary chiefs.
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CHAPTER XXXIV.

lord Auckland's administration—the Afghan expe-

dition, 1838-1842.

Meeting
with^

The army of the Indus, as it was designated,
The march, 1838. assembled at Ferozepore on the banks of the Sut-

lege towards the end of November. Before it proceeded on

its route there was a grand meeting between Lord Auckland
and the lion of the Punjab, then tottering on the brink of the

grave ; but he still exhibited in his countenance his habitual

calmness of design, and his single eye was still lighted up
with the fire of enterprise. The assembly, which was second

in magnificence only to that of Roopur, was diversified by
showy pageants, gay doings, and feats of mimic war. As the

army was no longer bound for Herat its strength was reduced

by one half, and the Commander-in-chief, Sir Henry Fane,
who had consented to take the command in person when it

was destined to march into Central Asia and baffle the designs
of Russia, declined to head a diminished force simply to seat

Shah Soojah on the throne of a better man. The Bengal
column started from Ferozepore on the 10th of December,
under the command of Sir Willoughby Cotton, with about 9,500

men of all arms, 30,000 camels, and 38,000 camp followers.

The force raised for the immediate service of the Shah, which

was designated his army, though commanded by Company's

officers, and paid from the Company's treasury, consisted of

about 6,000 men. The Bombay troops under the command of

Sir John Keane amounted to 5,600, making a total of 21,000

soldiers. The political charge of the enterprise was entru

to Mr. Macnaghten, with whom it originated, and he was

officially styled the Envoy and Minister at the court of Shah

Soojah, the Shah being the puppet, and Mr. Macnaghten the
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king. The most direct route to Cabul from the banks of the Sut-

lege lay through the Punjab, a distance of about five hundred

miles, but "our ancient and faithful ally" refused to grant a

passage through his dominions to a body of 50,000 men, and

it became necessary to take a circuitous route of a thousand

miles down the Indus to Bukkur, and thence northward up
to Candahar and Cabul.

Treatment of There was likewise another reason for adopting
smde, 1839. ^g devioug course in the determination which was

formed to exact a heavy contribution from the Ameers of

Sinde. The conduct of the British Government on this occa-

sion has been the subject of much controversy. On the one

hand, it is asserted that the counsellors of Lord Auckland,

haunted by the Russophobia which had given birth to the

expedition
—though the Russians had retired with the Per-

sians from Herat, and were nowhere in Central Asia—seemed

to consider that in their efforts to provide for the safety of

the British empire in India, they were at liberty to suspend

every consideration of justice, and that they imposed an ini-

quitous treaty on the Ameers. On the other hand, Captain

Eastwick, who assisted in negotiating the treaty, considered

it an indispensable measure of self-defence, forced on us by
the machinations of the Ameers. They had plundered our

stores of grain and taken every step, short of open hostilities,

to obstruct the operations of the British Government. They
had treated the British representative with gross indignity,

and even menaced him with assassination ; and, with a

full knowledge of the hostile attitude the King of Persia had

assumed towards us, threatened to form an alliance with him,

and received an envoy from his court in their capital. In the

treaty concluded with them in 1832 it was stipulated that no

military stores should be transported through the province by
land or by water, but the Bengal column marched through
northern Sinde, and Sir John Keare, who had landed with the

Bombay force at Kurrachee, was moving up from the south.

Colonel Pottinger was instructed by the Governor-General to
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inform thorn that "the article of the treaty which pro) iil.it.s

the using of the Indus for the conveyance of military stores

must necessarily be suspended during the course of these

operations ;
and that at this important crisis not only those

who have shown a disposition to favour our adversaries, but

those who display an unwillingness to help us, in the just

and necessary undertaking in which we are engaged, must be

displaced, and give way to others on whose friendship and

co-operation we may be able implicitly to rely.'* The pro-

vince of Sinde was formerly a dependency of the Dooranee

empire, and had paid tribute whenever the rulers of Cabul

were strong enough to enforce it. No tribute had been trans-

mitted for forty years, and the Ameers were virtually inde-

pendent. They were now required to pay up the arrears of

revenue which was assumed at twenty-five lacs of rupees to a

ruler who had been an exile from the throne of Cabul for

thirty years. But when Colonel Pottinger presented this

demand, he was confounded by the production of two releases

from all further claims of every description which the Shah

had written in two Korans, and signed and sealed, when he

had prevailed on them to pay him three lacs of rupees in 1833.

The Ameers said they were confident the Governor-General

did not intend to make them pay over again for what they

had already bought, but he was of opinion that it was not

incumbent on him to enter into any formal investigation of

this plea, and Mr. Macnaghten remarked that rather than

allow the grand enterprise of restoring Shah Soojah to be

postponed by any opposition from the Ameers, it would be

better to let loose 20,000 of Runjeet Sing's troops upon their

capital. It was likewise determined to impose a subsidiary

force on them for which they were to provide three lacs of

rupees a-year. The Ameers naturally demurred to these

exactions, but Colonel Pottinger was desired to inform them

that " neither the ready power to crush and annihilate them,

nor the will to call it into action, were wanting, if it appeared

requisite, however remotely, for the safety or the integrity of
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the Anglo-Indian empire or frontier." To coerce them .into

submission, Sir John Keane marched with the Bombay army

up to the neighbourhood of the capital, and it was resolved

to strengthen the arguments of the negotiators by sending

down the Bengal column to join him. The order to march was

received with enthusiasm, for the expedition held out the pros-

pect of military distinction and still more of a rich haul of

prize money in a city which was reputed to contain eight

crores of rupees. Awed by the presence of a British force, the

Ameers yielded to necessity, signed the subsidiary treaty and

paid up the first instalment of the demand. The Beng-al troops

retraced their steps with a feeling of bitter disappointment

to Bukkur ;
and the sepoys, notwithstanding their superstitious

objection to crossing the Indus, passed over without any hesi-

tation, and for the first time erected the flag of England on

the opposite bank.

Advance of the The disasters of the force began as soon as it

Army, 1839. was acr0ss the Indus. The mortality among the

draft cattle, on which the subsistence of the army depended,
became portentous, and it was deemed advisable for Sir Wil-

loughby Cotton to push on at once with the Bengal column

through the sandy desert of Cutch Gundava, a hundred and

forty miles in extent. Lord Auckland's secretaries had assured

the officers of the army that the march to Cabul would be a

military promenade, and the assertion was now to be exem-

plified. As this arid waste furnished little water and no pas-

turage, the camels died by hundreds, and the Belochee free-

booters, who were in fact the only produce of the soil, hovered

round the camp and never lost an opportunity of pillaging it.

After a march of sixteen days the army reached Dadur at the

mouth of the Bolan pass, the southern entrance into Afghanis-

tan, with provisions on the beasts of burden that had survived

sufficient only for a single month. The troops were six days

defiling through this terrific gorge. There was no opposition

from the mountaineers, but the flint stones lamed the camels,

and the want of pasture and fatigue disabled the artillery
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horses; the mountain paths were strewed with ftbtnd

tents, equipage and stores, and the little stream which flowed

at the bottom of the ravine, was tainted with the carcases of

animals. Emerging from this pass the troops entered the

beautiful valley of Shawl, but though it was covered with vine-

yards and orchards, it could only furnish food for the army for

a few days. No small portion of the stock of provisions had been

lost with the cattle in the Bolan pass, and starvation stared the

army in the face. Captain Burnes was sent back to Khelat to

endeavour to conclude a treaty with Mehrab Khan, the indepen-
dent ruler of Belcchistan, with the object of providing for the

immediate wants of the force, and securing the passage of

future supplies through the pass. For this service the chief

was offered a subsidy of a lac and a half of rupees a-year ;

but it was beyond his power to afford the relief which the

pressing necessities of the army required. His territory was

by no means fertile; the harvest of the preceding year had

been deficient ; the British troops and the swarm of camp
followers had given the growing crops to their cattle, and

wantonly wasted the water on which the fields depended for

irrigation, and the Belochees themselves were living on herbs

and grass. Mehrab Khan informed Captain Burnes that he had

received the most tempting overtures from the Persians and

Russians, but had determined faithfully to see the British

army through the pass. His conduct was deserving of all

praise ; and it was owing entirely to his active agency, that the

troops were enabled to traverse that fearful defile, when a word

from him might have brought the expedition to a dead lock,

and an unhappy termination.

Arrival at Can- On the 6th April, Shah Soojah's force, with the

dahar, 1839.
Envoy and the Bombay army reached Quettah, the

largest town in the district of Shawl, where Sir Willoughby
Cotton was already encamped, and Sir John Keane assumed

the command of the whole expedition. The troops were half

mutinous for want of food ; the loaf of the European soldier was

diminished in weight, the native troops were reduced to a

III. L
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pound of flour a-day, and the camp followers to half that quan-

tity. Move than twenty thousand camels had perished, and it

was necessary to push forward with all speed to Candahar. Id

the intervening space lay the Kojuck pass, scarcely less ter-

rific than the Bolan, though not of the same extent. The

batteries and the field pieces had to be dragged up and

lowered down its appalling precipices by the European soldiers,

pressed by hunger, parched with thirst, and consumed by in-

cessant fatigue. Such was the military promenade to Cabui.

As the Shah approached Candahar, the Barukzye princes, be-

trayed by their chiefs and followers, whom British gold had

been employed to corrupt, fled to the west, and he entered the

city without opposition on the 25th April. Some of the inha-

bitants shouted welcome, others strewed flowers in his path,

and the curiosity of the people gave such an appearance of

enthusiasm to his progress, that the sanguine Envoy assured

Lord Auckland that he had been received with feelings bor-

dering on adoration. But curiosity soon subsided, and when,
a fortnight after, a gorgeous ceremonial was got up in the

plain for his installation, which was celebrated by a salute of

a hundred and one guns, not a hundred of the citizens were

present, and the acclamations were confined to his own re-

tainers.

Ghuzni, 1839. The army, still on reduced rations, was obliged

to remain inactive in Candahar for ten weeks till the crops had

ripened, and it was unable to resume its march before the 27th

June. Two hundred and thirty miles distant from Candahar,

and ninety from Cabul, lay the great fortress of Ghuzni, from

which Mahmood had issued more than eight hundred years

before to plant the standard of the crescent on the plains of

India. It was deemed absolutely impregnable, and regarded

as the pride of Afghanistan. Hyder Khan had been sent by his

father, Dost Mahomed, to garrison it with 3,000 men, and he

had taken advantage of the detention of the army at Candahar

to strengthen the fortifications and to provision the fort for six

months. It was found to be strong both by nature and by
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art. The parapet which rose sixty or seventy feet abov

plain, and the wet ditch, presented insurmountable obsta< •',

an attack by mining or escalade. Sir John Keane had lis-

tened to the voice of those who asserted that it was a place

of no strength, and consequently left behind him the bati-

train which had been dragged with infinite labour tin

the Bolan and Kojuck passes. To attempt to breach the

walls with the puny six and nine pounders which accompanied
his force was idle, and there was every prospect of the total

collapse of the expedition. A nephew of Dost Mahomed, how-

ever, was induced by the offer of a large bribe to desert his

countrymen and turn traitor, and from him the engineers

obtained an accurate description of the condition and charac-

ter of the defences. All the gates had been built up with the

exception of one, and Captain Thomson, the chief engineer,

assured Sir John Keane that the only mode of attack which

presented any chance of success was that of blowing it up,

and then rushing into the fortress. Nine hundred pounds
of powder were accordingly packed in bags under his direction

and conveyed in silence and darkness to the gate. Fortunately,

the night was gloomyand tempestuous, and the attention of the

garrison was drawn off by a demonstration from the light bat-

teries in other directions. The powder exploded ; the massive

barricade was shivered to pieces, and heavy masses of masonry
and beams came toppling down in great confusion. Col. Dennie

of the 13th Light Infantry rushed in with the storming party

over the debris ; the enemy, on hearing the explosion, hastened

to the breach, and for some time there was a mortal struggle,

but three hearty cheers, while it was yet dark, announced to the

General, who was watching the result from a neighbouring

height with deep anxiety, that the fortress was in our hands.

At dawn of day, the British ensign was planted on the proud

citadel of Ghuzni by Ensign Frere. This exploit cost the

army a hundred and eighty in killed and wounded, of whom

eighteen were officers ;
and it was the only military operation

between Ferozepore and Cabul. A day or two after, a body
l2
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of ghazees, or Mahomedan fanatics, endeavoured to enter

Shah Soojah's encampment in the hope of assassinating him,

but were repulsed and pursued by Captain Outram, who cap-

tured their holy standard together with about fifty prisoners.

When conducted into the presence of the Shah, they gloried in

their attempt and reviled him to his face for having brought

the infidels into the country, while one more ferocious than

the rest stabbed one of his attendants. He immediately

ordered the whole number to be executed, and they were

deliberately hacked to pieces in cold blood outside his tents.

Arrival at The fate of Ghuzni opened up the road to Cabul,
Cabui, 1839. an(j filled Dost Mahomed with consternation.

While the army under Sir John Keane was advancing towards

the capital, another army under Prince Timur, the son of the

Shah, and Colonel Wade was approaching it from the eastward

by way of Jellalabad. Distracted by this double peril, the

Dost called his officers together, and with the Koran in his

hands implored them to make one bold stand like brave men
and true believers. " You have eaten my salt," he said,
" these thirteen years ; grant me but one request in return.

Stand by the brother of Futteh Khan while he executes one

last charge against these Feringee dogs : in that onset he

will fall
; then make your own terms with Shah Soojah." But

there was neither fidelity nor spirit left in them, and Dost

Mahomed, finding the struggle hopeless, parked his guns at

Urgundeh, in the vicinity of Cabul, and turned with a hand-

ful of followers to the regions of the Hindoo Koosh. As
soon as the intelligence of his flight reached the army, it was
resolved to follow him without a moment's delay. Captain
Outram and nine other officers, animated with a lofty spirit

of adventure, started in pursuit of him, with a small body of

cavalry and several hundred Afghan horse commanded by
Hajee Khan Kaukur. For six days they gave neither Dost

Mahomed nor themselves any rest, night or day, and would in

all probability have eventually overtaken him, but for the

treachery of the Afghan Hajee. He had deserted the Dost for
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the Candahar rulers, and then deserted them for Shah Soojah on
the receipt of a large bribe, and now determined to abandon
the cause of the Shah on the first opportunity. He con-

sented to accompany the expedition only that he might defeat

its object. He pretended illness, and always contrived to

remain a march or two behind ; he threw impediments in the

way of every movement, and so effectually delayed the pur-

suit, that on reaching Bameean the Dost was found to have

gained a start of thirty miles and passed beyond the confines

of Afghanistan. The old traitor was sent to Hindostan, and

passed many years in durance at Chunar. This enterprise

was in keeping with Captain Outram's character, but it was
more remarkable for its chivalry than its prudence. The

treachery of the Hajee, which prevented the encounter of the

parties, was, after all, a fortunate circumstance, since he and

his Afghan horse would not have failed to join the Dost in

attacking the feeble and jaded party of officers, in which case

not one of whom would have escaped to tell the tale. On
the 7th August, 1839, Shah Soojah, still resplendent with

jewels, though without the Koh-i-noor, was conducted with

martial pomp through the city of Cabul to the Bala Hissar,

but there was no popular enthusiasm, and the procession

resembled a funeral. The citizens came to their thresholds

to gaze, not so much on the exiled and restored king, as on

the cavalcade of infidels parading their streets, upon whom

they did not fail to pour the most hearty maledictions.

Three weeks later, the Shah was joined by his
Colonel Wade m, ,

'

_.
J

,. •;

and Timur, son Timur, who advanced on the direct line from
1838 ' Peshawur to Cabul in company with a Sikh con-

tingent. He was totally destitute of character or spirit, and

the entire responsibility of the expedition devolved on Colonel

Wade, the able and experienced political agent at Loodiana.

The prince's army, composed of a very miscellaneous assort-

ment of about 4,000 recruits, but paid by the Company,
reached Peshawur on the 20th March. A month after, the

Raja Golab Sing, and Runjeet Sing's grandson, Nao Nihal
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Sing, joined the camp with about 6,000 Sikh soldiers. A
march through the Khyber pass to unknown dangers was

equally unpalatable to both men and commanders, and it

was not difficult to discover pretexts for delay. Insubordina-

tion is the normal condition of all Indian armies, even under

their own princes, and the Sikh army at Peshawur was no

exception to the general rule. Soon after its arrival one regi-

ment turned out the colonel and the officers, shotted the guns
and calmly awaited the progress of events- This mutiny was

no sooner hushed up, than another broke out in the Goorkha

corps, which struck its tents, and marched out of the camp with

drums beating and colours flying to Peshawur. There the

men took up a position a little distance from the fort, and

were permitted to remain in a state of open revolt while

a report of their conduct was sent on to Lahore. After

four months had been wasted at Peshawur through these

and other impediments, the expedition entered the Khyber
on the 20th July. The Afredies were prepared to resist its

progress with vigour, but Colonel Wade defeated their pro-

ject by crowning the heights and turning their flank, a ma-

noeuvre by which these defiles were probably for the first

time opened by the use of steel and not of gold. Dost

Mahomed had sent the ablest of his sons, Akbar Khan, to

oppose the progress of this force, but he was recalled to the

defence of the capital as Sir John Keane advanced from the

south, and Colonel Wade, after having mastered the Khyber,
reached Cabul without difficulty.

Retention of The object of the expedition had now been

Mhandstan
attained by the substitution of a friendly for a

1839. hostile power in Afghanistan, and the period had

arrived, in accordance with Lord Auckland's manifesto, for the

withdrawal of the British troops. It was evident, however, that

there was no national feeling of attachment to the throne of

the Shah, and that without the continued support of British

bayonets it must eventually totter and fall. This truth had

dawned on Mr. Maenaghten on his reaching Candahar, when
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lie wrote to the Governor-General that we must be prepared
to look on Afghanistan for some years as an out-post yield-

ing nothing, but requiring much expenditure to keep it in

repair. Lord Auckland was equally convinced of the fact,

and on the 20th August recorded his opinion that to leave

the Shah without the support of a British army would be

followed by his expulsion, and ensure a palpable failure of

our plans, which would reflect disgrace on Government and

become a source of danger. Our difficulties, as the Duke of

Wellington had predicted, began as soon as our military

success was complete. They commenced with the occupation

of Cabul on the 2nd August, 1839, and they culminated on

the 2nd November, 1841, in the insurrection which annihilated

the army. To support the authority of the Shah it was

determined to leave a body of about 10,000 troops to gar-

rison Cabul, Jellalabad, Ghuzni, Candahar, and other places.

General Wiltshire who commanded the Bombay force was

directed on his way back to inflict a signal retribution on

Mehrab Khan, the ruler of Belochistan, for having withheld

supplies from the army on its march, and neglected to restrain

the Belochee freebooters, in violation of the treaty which

Captain Burnes had forced on him. In both cases he set up
a valid plea of inability, and it is impossible to exonerate

the proceedings which were pursued against him from the

charge of vindictiveness and injustice. Khelat was found to

be a very strong fortification, and the Belochees
Capture of

J °

Kheiat, Oct. 15, fought valiantly for their chief and their country.

After the gates had been demolished by cannon,

they continued to dispute every inch of ground, and Melnab

Khan fell with eight of his principal officers gallantly fighting

in its defence. A relation was placed on the vacant throne ami

three of the most productive districts were annexed to the

dominions of Shah Soojah, a most ungrateful return for the

hospitable reception which Mehrab Khan had givi-n to

that monarch when he was obliged to fly from Afghanistan in

1833.
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„« The expedition was as fertile in honours as it
Honours, 1840. r

was barren in military achievements. It was a

measure of ministerial policy, condemned by the general voice

of society, in England and in India, and it was considered

politic to make the most of the success which at first attended

it. Lord Auckland was created an earl, and Sir John Keane,
who had done nothing but leave his battering train behind him

when he ought to have brought it on to Ghuzni, a baron with

a pension of £2,000 a-year for two lives. Mr. Macnaghten,
Colonel Pottinger, and General Willshire were made baronets,

and Colonel Wade a knight ; but Captain Thomson, whose ex-

ertions at Ghuzni saved the campaign from an ignominious
failure received only a brevet-majority and the lowest order of

the Bath, and at once retired from the service. The Shah was,

moreover, advised to solicit permission of " his sister the

Queen of England," to institute an order of knighthood, and

the officers who had borne him on their shoulders to the throne

were decorated with the evanescent " order of the Dooranee

empire."

Death of Runjeet Runjeet Sing died as the expedition was leav-

ing, 1839.
ing Candahar, on the 27th June, 1839, at the

age of fifty-seven, the victim of the excesses in which he had

long been accustomed to indulge. The last attack before that

which terminated his life deprived him of the use of speech,

but his active mind was as eager as ever in public affairs.

lie pointed with his finger to the quarter from which he desired

information, heard the reports read, and dictated his orders by

signs to his faithful secretary. He possessed the same grand
creative genius as Sevajee and Hyder Ali, though like them

he was unable either to read or write. It was his extraor-

dinary talent alone which reared the edifice of Sikh greatness,

and if he had not been hemmed in by the irresistible power
of the Company, he would undoubtedly have established a new

and magnificent empire in Hindostan. He succeeded to the

leadership of his tribe at the early age of seventeen, when the

Punjab was distracted by the conflicts of its various indepen-
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dent chieftains. He left it a compact and powerful kingdom,

strengthened by the annexation of some of the richest pro-
vinces of the Dooranee empire. The military array of the

country at the beginning of his career consisted only of a body
of matchlock horsemen, who, though as renowned in India as

the Mahratta or Mysore horse, were not adapted for any

regular and extensive system of warfare. By indefatigable

exertions, by the adoption of every improvement he could heai

of, and by incessant and successful expeditions, he succeeded in

creating an army 80,000 strong, with 300 pieces of cannoD,

superior in discipline, valour, and equipment to any force

which had ever been seen in India under native colours. His

annual revenue was gradually augmented till it reached two

crores of rupees. He exhibited to an extraordinary degree
the oriental passion for hoarding, and considered it a sacred

duty to allow no day to pass without adding a sum, greater or

less, to his accumulations. It is related that when he some-

vimes sat silent and moody at his evening durbar, and the

courtiers enquired the cause of his depression, he replied,
"

it

is near sunset and not a rupee has been sent to the mootee mun-

deer, or the treasury, to-day." Twenty voices exclaimed with

joined hands,
"
Maharaj, my money is yours," and he imme-

diately required them to verify the assertion by affixing their

signature to a note of hand, which they were punctually

obliged to honour the next day. The sum which he was

enabled to amass exceeded twelve crores of rupees, of which

he is said to have directed that forty lacs should be dis-

tributed in charity after his death. He bequeathed the cele-

brated Koh-i-noor which now adonis the diadem of England
to the shrine of Juggunnath, and he left the crown to his im-

becile son, Kurruck Sing, but the real power of the state

shared between his grandson, Nao Nihal Sing, an impetuous

youth of eighteen, and Dh}*an Sing, one of the crafty and

ambitious Jummoo brothers, who contrived to appropriate the

office of minister to himself. Runjeet Sing was the only man
in his court friendly to the British alliance. During the expe-
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dition to Afghanistan, he placed the resources of the Punjab

unreservedly at the disposal of the Governor-General, and it

was not till after his death that the hostility of the Lahore

cabinet was openly developed. It was then that the Sikh

officers on the frontier entered into a hostile correspondence
with the disaffected in Afghanistan, and intrigued against the

British Government with the tribes who held the com-

mand of the passes. The ministers at Lahore remonstrated in

a lofty tone against the constant movement of British arma-

ments and convoys through the Punjab, asserting that there

was nothing in the treaties between the two states to sanc-

tion the conversion of their country into a highway for British

troops ; and it required the extraordinary tact of our represen-

tative, Mr. George Clerk, to prevent a direct collision. This

opposition indefinitely augmented the perils of our position in

Afghanistan, and exasperated Sir William Macnaghten to such

a degree that throughout the ensuing year, he never ceased to

press on Lord Auckland the necessity of "curbing the Sings,"

as the Sikhs were termed,
" and macadamizing the Punjab, and

annexing Peshawur to the dominions of Shah Soojah."
Russian com- Soon after the occupation of Cabul, the Russo-

Khiva, 1840. phobia which incessantly oppressed the minds of

Sir William Macnaghten, Sir Alexander Burnes, and many
others, was raised to fever heat by the report that a great

Russian expedition was marching on Khiva, which they consi-

dered the immediate precursor of a movement towards the

Indus, though the intervening country of more than a thou-

sand miles consists of deserts without water, and mountains

covered with perpetual snow. Khiva, the celebrated Kharism

of early Mahomedan history, lies to the south of the sea of

Aral, on the banks of the Oxus, towards its estuary. With

the exception of the land on the banks of that river and the

oasis of Merv, the country presents the aspect of a continu-

ous waste, unrelieved by mountains, rivers, lakes, or forests.

The population does not greatly exceed a million, and consists

chiefly of Oosbegs. For half a century, the Khan, or ruler,
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had been in the habit of committing depredations on Russian

caravans, attacking Russian out stations on the sea of Aral,

and kidnapping Russian subjects whom he sold into slavery.
After repeated remonstrances from Orenberg, a Russian envoy
was sent to demand the release of the slaves, but the barbarian

chief placed him in confinement. The Emperor then tried the

experiment of retaliation, and in 1836 laid an embargo on

all the property and the subjects of the Khan within his

dominions ; but scarcely a hundred of the captives were

liberated in the course of two years. The Emperor at length
resolved to despatch a military expedition against Khiva, to

fulfil the imperative obligation of protecting the lives and

liberty of his own subjects.
British dipio- This expedition had a twofold motive. In his

Asia, 1839-40. Simla manifesto, Lord Auckland stated that the

object of the expedition across the Indus was "to give the

name and just influence of the British Government its proper

footing among the nations of Central Asia." The ambitious

spirit of Sir William Macnaghten was prepared to carry out this

novel and adventurous policy to an extent which alarmed even

his own Government. Soon after the occupation of Cabul, he

sent a regiment of infantry and a troop of horse artillery to

Bameean in the Hindoo Koosh, under the direction of Dr. Lord,

the political agent, who pushed forward the force still farther

into the Oosbeg district of Syghan, and installed a chief of

his own selection in the government of it. This aggressive

movement, for which there was no occasion and no excuse,

appeared to indicate a settled design to establish British

influence and power in Turkistan, and spread alarm among
its different rulers. Major Todd, who had been sent as the

British representative to Herat, was diligently employed in

improving its fortifications, and had, moreover, sent a commu-

nication to the Khan of Khiva, offering him British friendship

and alliance. The Khan, threatened with a Russian invasion,

had also sent an envoy to Herat to make proposals for a

treaty. Major Todd then deputed Captain Abbot, one of his



156 RUSSIAN EXPEDITION TO KHIVA. [CHAP.

assistants, to Khiva to persuade the Khan to propitiate the

Government of Russia by liberating the captives ; but he

exceeded his instructions and proposed a British alliance offen-

sive and defensive. The proposal was immediately disavowed

by the Government of India, and he was recalled, but the

repudiation was not generally known, and the influence of

this rash procedure remained without correction. Colonel

Stoddart had also been sent on a mission to Bokhara by
Mr. McNeill. These simultaneous movements, military and

diplomatic, at Syghan, and at Khiva, at the source and the

mouth of the Oxus, at Herat, and at Bokhara, raised a sus-

picion at St. Petersburg that the object of England was not

simply to prevent the advance of Russian influence to India,

but to introduce British influence into Central Asia, and

the Emperor took his measures accordingly. The Russian

expedition to Khiva had been timed to leave Orenberg in

April, 1840, but the Emperor was induced to hasten its depar-

ture by the rapid establishment of British power in Afghanis-

tan, and the activity of British diplomacy beyond its limits, and

it was ordered to proceed at the beginning of winter in Novem-

ber, 1839. The manifesto which announced it, not only enumer-

ated the grievances which the Russians had suffered from the

Khivans, but adopting the language of Lord Auckland's procla-

mation, stated that the expedition
" was intended to strengthen

in that part of Asia the lawful influence to which Russia has

a right, and which alone can ensure the maintenance of peace."

In the Russian account of it, the object was affirmed without

disguise to be " to establish the strong influence of Russia in

the Khanats "—as the principalities of Khiva, Bokhara, and

Kokan are styled—" and to prevent the influence of the East

India Company from taking root in Central Asia." The two

European powers, destined eventually to divide political influ-

ence in Asia between them, were in fact, at this period,

jealous of each other's progress, and resorted to the fatal expe-

dient of fitting out armaments to counteract it.
" If we go on

at this rate," said Baron Brunow, the Russian Minister in
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London to Lord Palmerston, "the Cossack and the sepoy will

soon cross bayonets on the Oxus." The Russian expedition
proved a total failure. The army consisting of 3,000 foot,

2,000 horse, and twenty-two field guns, with 10,000 camels,
Started from Oivnberg in November on a march of a thousand
miles to Khiva; but the attempt to traverse the desert between
the Caspian sea and the sea of Aral in the depth of winter,
when the ground was covered with snow to the depth of many
feet, and not a blade of grass was to be found for several

hundred miles, was an act of infatuation. After advancing to

the centre of this scene of desolation, the expedition com-

pletely broke down, and the General prudently retraced his

steps to Orenberg, with the loss of the greater portion of his

materiel and his men. Major Todd, after the recal of Captain
Abbot, deputed Captain Richmond Shakespeare on the same

errand to Khiva. He reached it at the critical period when the

Khan was overwhelmed with a dread of Russian vengeance,
which served to strengthen our representations, and induced

him to liberate four hundred Russian captives, whom Captain

Shakespeare had the pleasure of conveying to Orenberg.

The Russian Government felt the same irritation at the intru-

sion of British agency and influence into any of the provinces

of Turkistan, as the British Government had felt at the inter-

ference of Russia at Cabul and Candahar. The liberation of the

captives was attributed by the Russians to the terror of their

power, and every idea of obligation to the British officer for his

officious services was distinctly repudiated.

To return to Cabul. The first and most im-
The Bala Hissar

and the canton- portant question which arose upon the determi-

menu., 1839.
nation to hold Afghanistan with a British force,

was the housing of the troops, more especially during the ap-

proaching winter. The Bala Hissar, or citadel of Cabul, stood

on a hill, and completely commanded the city. It afforded

accommodation for 5,000 men, and if well provisioned ami

fortified could be held by a thousand men against any I

or skill which Afghanistan could bring against it. Captain
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Havelock had remarked soon after the occupation of Cabul,

"Here then all depends in a military point of view on a firm

hold of the Bala Hissar. It is the key of Cabul. The troops

that hold it ought not to allow themselves to be dislodged

but by a siege, and they must awe its population by their

mortars and their howitzers." Lieut. — now Sir Henry—
Durand, the engineer of the force, strongly urged the occu-

pation of the upper portion of it by the troops. They were

accordingly cantoned there, and preparations were made to

provide cover for the military stores and ammunition, and to

improve the fortifications, which would soon have become

impregnable ;
but Shah Soojah maintained that it was his

palace, and that the privacy of his zenana would be disturbed

if any portion of it were occupied as a barrack. Some of the

native chiefs likewise raised objections to the establishment

of a British garrison within its walls, and for the very reason

which rendered such a measure indispensable to the safety of

the army. The works were therefore discontinued, and the

troops lodged in temporary houses at the base of the citadel.

The Shah and the envoy took up their residence for the winter

in the milder climate of Jellalabad. On their return to the

capital in the spring, the Shah demanded the whole of the

Bala Hissar for his seraglio, consisting of a hundred and sixty

females, and Sir W. Macnaghten yielded to his importunity,

contrary to his own better judgment, but not without the con-

currence of the Commander of the forces, Sir Willoughby
Cotton. The British troops were therefore turned out into can-

tonments erected in the plain in the most exposed position

which could have been selected. This fatal weakness on the

pail of the Envoy eventually entailed the loss of his own life,

and the annihilation of the army. The whole of the Afghan

policy from first to last was a succession of unexampled

blunders, but the crowning act of folly was the evacuation of

the Bala Hissar to make room for the women of the king.

Herat, 1840. On the arrival of the army at Candahar the

Envoy despatched Major Todd as political agent to Herat to
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conclude a treaty with Shah Kamran, to conciliate his vizier,

Yar Mahomed, and to improve the fortifications of the

To maintain British influence at that court, money was sent in

profusion from Cabul ; but Yar Mahomed took great offence at

the earnest efforts of Major Todd to put down the execrable

traffic in slaves in which he was largely engaged, and

he likewise professed to be alarmed at the political move-

ments of British agents in Central Asia. While receiving

constant supplies of money from the British Government he

opened a correspondence with the nearest Persian governor,
and offered to place the whole country at the disposal of the

king. Incensed at these acts of perfidy, Sir William Mac-

naghten urged the annexation of Herat to the territories of

Shah Soojah, but Lord Auckland, believing that Yar Mahomed

might have been induced to apply to Persia, in consequence of

the diplomatic movements of our officers in the neighbouring

countries, determined to overlook his past delinquencies, and

make another experiment on his gratitude. The supply of

guns and muskets, of ammunition and money, was conse-

quently renewed, and with such prodigality as to terrify the

financial authorities in Calcutta. This lavish expenditure re-

sulted only in more audacious intrigues with Persia. Kamran

addressed a letter to the king, in which he styled himself the

faithful servant of the Persian crown, and proposed a united

effort to expel the infidels, whom he said he tolerated only

for their money. Under this fresh provocation, Lord

Auckland's mind began to waver regarding the expedition to

Herat, which Sir William continued to press with unabated

earnestness ; but he was now in Calcutta at his own Council

board, and the Commander-in-chief demonstrated to him that

the present strength of the Indian army was altogether inade-

quate for any new undertaking. The expedition was there-

fore definitively negatived, notwithstanding the unabated

importunity of the Envoy, who pronounced the conduct of

the Governor-General to be "
drivelling beneath contempt,"

and "
sighed for a Wellesley or a Hastings."
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state of the The conviction daily became more confirmed

o^rfihStan,
that Shah S°°Jah n0t 0nly had n0 h0ld 0n tll(3

1840. affections of his subjects, but that he was an

object of intense aversion to them. The Afghans whom he

had appointed to the administration of districts were venal and

oppressive, but the main cause of his unpopularity was the

infidel aid on which he rested for support. It could not be

concealed from the Afghans that while he was the nominal

sovereign, the country was in truth ruled by the Envoy, and

that all real power was in the hands of the foreign unbelievers,

whose presence in the country was felt to be a visitation like

the plague. Nor had the Shah the means of satisfying the

expectations of his needy aristocracy, even if they had been

moderate. The most productive provinces which once be-

longed to the crown of Cabul had been annexed to the

Punjab by Runjeet Sing, and the remaining districts yielded

only fifteen lacs of rupees a-year, which were scarcely suffi-

cient to pay the priesthood, and to meet the expenses of the

Shah's soldiers and his own household. Among the British

officers entrusted with the management of districts, were the

honorable names of Pottinger, Rawlinson, Todd, Leech,

and Mackeson, but there were others who brought odium on

the Government by their haughty bearing and their wanton

and arbitrary proceedings. The first mission to Cabul had

not inspired the Afghans with a very exalted idea of English

morals, and, after the occupation of the country, the undis-

guised licentiousness of some of the officers, and more

especially of several of those who, for obvious reasons, took

up their residence in the city, the invasion of the harems of

the chiefs, and the dishonour inflicted on their families,

brought down curses on the " infidel dogs." Everything con-

curred to render our presence hateful and our position pre-

carious. During the twenty-seven months of our occupation,

the Government was a government of sentry boxes, and it

was sustained only by the gleam of British bayonets. The

country was garrisoned, not governed, and we were reposing
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on a smothered volcano. Yet so confident did Sir William

Macnaghten feel of the security of our situation that he sent foi

Lady Macnaghten to Cabul. His example was followed by
other officers, and the guardianship of ladies in an enemy's

country, hundreds of miles from our own frontier, was added

to the other embarrassments of our position.

__ . The first disturbance broke out in the Khvber
Movements of J

Dost Mahomed, pass where, within a few weeks of the occupation
of Cabul, the mountaineers massacred a large de-

tachment of troops and carried off their baggage in triumph.

Through the length and breadth of the land, from the neighbour-
hood of Jellalabad to Khelat, violence was the rule, and repose
the exception. One- of the most serious revolts occurred in Belo-

chistan, in the middle of 1840, when the whole province was

wrested from us, the chief whom General Willshire had chosen

was deposed, and the son of Mehrab Khan seated on the throne.

General Nott was obliged to march down from Candahar to re-

store our authority in this important principality, which though
wild and thinly populated extends from the banks of the Indus

to the confines of Persia. The capital was recaptured and our

power re-established. But the great source of anxiety through-

out the year 1840, was connected with the movements of Dost

Mahomed. After his flight from Cabul in August, 1839, he

was hospitably entertaiued by the chief of Khooloom beyond
Bameean. He was then induced to accept the invitation of

Nusser-oolla, the Ameer of Bokhara the " commander of the

faithful," as he was styled, but who was for more than thirty

years the most brutal tyrant in all Transoxiana. Dost

Mahomed and his sons were treated at first with some show

of kindness, but it was not long before they were subjected to

a rigorous and painful captivity, which was subsequently

relaxed on the intercession of the King of Persia, and on the

appearance of British troops at Syghan. Meanwhile, Jubbur

Khan, after wandering from place to place with the females

ot Die Dost's family, was persuaded to entrust them to the

ptotection of the British Government. The confidence thus

iii. m
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reposed in our good faith by a people proverbial for perfidy,

was no ordinary tribute of honour to our national character.

The ladies and children were conveyed to Hindostan and

treated with every consideration. The Dost at length suc-

ceeded in making his escape from Bokhara, and returned to

Khooloom, where he was received with open arms by the

chief, who placed the resources of the province at his disposal.

The Oosbegs crowded to his standard, and in a short time he

found himself at the head of a force of 6,000 or 8,000 men, with

which he resolved to cross the Hindoo Koosh, raise the war cry
of the Prophet, and, gathering strength from the unpopularity
of the Shah and his infidel supporters, march in triumph to

Cabul. An entire company of Captain Hopkins's Afghan

regiment deserted to him with their arms and accoutrements,

under the guidance of their native commandant, Saleh Maho-

med. The British outposts which had been rashly planted in

these mountain stations without any support were withdrawn

in haste. Cabul was thrown into a state of commotion, and the

inhabitants commenced closing their shops and removing their

families. The representative of the Lahore Government began

openly to intrigue against the Shah. The region north of

Cabul was ripe for insurrection. " The Afghans," wrote Sir

William,
" are powder, and the Dost is a lighted match ;" but

the alarm subsided as speedily as it arose. Brigadier Dennie,
who had been sent to reinforce Bameean, came up with the

Dost on the 18th September, and with a mere handful of

troops obtained a decisive victory over the whole host of

Oosbegs.
. , The Dost, after this defeat, moved into the

Surrender of ' '

Post Mahomed, Kohistan, or highlands north of the capital. The

chiefs had recently returned from the presence of

the Shah, to whom they had taken an oath of fidelity on the

Koran, but they received their former master with cordiality,

and prepared heartily to espouse his cause. Sir Robert Sale

was sent into the hills to attack them and had signal success

at Tootundurra, but was soon after defeated in an injudicious
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attempt to capture a fort. Dost Mahomed, after flitting :tf .out

the country for two or three weeks, came down into the

Nijrow district, a few miles from the capital, which again pre-

Bented a scene of fermentation. The British officials were

tilled with consternation ; guns were mounted on the citadel

to <>vi t;iwe the town, and the Envoy talked of " the disgrace

of being locked up in Cabul for some time." Sir Robert Sale,

who had been incessantly tra }king the Dost, came upon him

on the 2nd November in the valley of Purwandurra. The

heights around were bristling with an armed population, but

he had only about two hundred ill-mounted, though strong
and sturdy Afghans with him. He had no intention to attack

his pursuers, but the 2nd Native Cavalry galloped down upon
him and he resolved boldly to meet the chargei Raising him-

self in his stirrup, and uncovering his head, he called upon his

soldiers, in the name of G-od and the Prophet, to aid him in

driving the accursed infidels from the land of the faithful.

The cavalry troopers fled from the field like a flock of sheep,

while their European officers fought on with the courage of

heroes, till three of them were killed and two wounded. Sir

Alexander Burnes, who had accompanied the force, sent a

hasty note to Sir William Macnaghten to announce the disas-

ter and to assure him there was now no course left but to fall

back on Cabul, and concentrate all the troops there. The

communication did not, however, reach him before the follow-

ing afternoon, when he was taking a ride ; but before he

had recovered from the surprise it occasioned, a horseman

rode up and accosted him with the words,
" the Ameer is at

hand." " What Ameer ?" asked the Envoy.
" Dost Mahomed

Khan," was the reply, and immediately after, the Ameer pre-

sented himself, and having dismounted, placed his sword in

the hands of Sir William and claimed his protection.
" He

had felt," he said,
" even in the moment of victory, that it

would be impossible for him to continue the contest. He had

met his foes in an open field, and discomfited them, and the

time had arrived when he could claim their consideration with.

M 2
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dignity." Sir William returned his sword and begged him to

remount, and they rode together to the cantonments, where,
with that ease which is characteristic of the natives of

the East, he entered into free conversation, recounted his

wanderings and sufferings during the last fifteen months, and

made numerous enquiries regarding his family and relatives.

His frank and princely bearing in the hour of adversity

created a strong feeling of sympathy and admiration among
the officers who crowded to listen to him, which was in no

small degree heightened by the contempt they felt for the

wretched puppet in the Bala Hissar. Sir William Macnaghten,
when bewilderedwith the anxieties to which the approach of the

Dost to Oabul gave rise, had said in his letters to Calcutta that

no mercy should be shewn to the man who was the author of

these distractions, and he had hinted at the proposal of setting

a price on his head ;
but the magnanimous confidence of the

Dost called forth all the noble feelings of his nature. In

announcing his voluntary surrender to Lord Auckland, he said,
" I hope he will be treated with liberality. His case is not

parallel with that of the Shah. The Shah had no claim on us ;

we had no hand in depriving him of his kingdom, whereas, we

ejected the Dost, who never offended us, in support of our

policy, of which he is the victim." He was escorted to Cal-

cutta, and the liberal sum of two lacs of rupees a-year was

assigned for his support. He became the honoured guest of

the Governor-General at the festivities of Government House,
Where he amused himself with testing the skill of Miss Eden

at chess.
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CHAPTER XXXV.

lord Auckland's administration—the Afghan expe-

dition, 1841-42.

The lenity shewn by Lord Auckland to Yar

Mahomed in condoning his perfidy, and continuing

the supply of arms and money, elicited at first some appear-

ance of gratitude, but he speedily resumed his treacherous

communications with the court of Persia, and Major Todd had

the courage to refuse any payment beyond the monthly sub-

sidy of 25,000 rupees. Yar Mahomed immediately renewed

his intrigues with increased vigour, and despatched an agent to

the Persian governor of Meshid, inviting him to unite in an

attack on Candahar while the road to Cabul was blocked up
with snow, and also instigated the disaffected chiefs of Western

Afghanistan to revolt. This glaring act of perfidy exhausted

the patience of Major Todd, who took advantage of the

assemblage of a large British force in Upper Sinde, to suspend
even the monthly allowance, till the pleasure of his Govern-

ment was known. But this only served to kindle the wrath

of the minister, and to increase his demands. On the 8th

February, he required the payment of two lacs of rupees to

discharge his own debts, as well as a further advance of money
to improve the fortifications, and an increase of the regular

stipend. Major Todd made the injudicious request that he

would admit a contingent of British troops into Herat, and

depute his own son to meet and escort them, if the measure

were approved by his own Government. Yar Mahomed refused

the request and peremptorily insisted on the immediate pay-

ment of all his demands, or the instant departure of the mis-

sion, and Major Todd at once determined to withdraw from
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Herat. Lord Auckland was mortified with this precipitate

movement which aggravated the difficulties of our position in

Afghanistan, and cast an air of ridicule on the whole policy of

the Government. The Major was dismissed from his political

employment, and remanded to his regiment. This has been

considered a harsh if not an unjust measure, but it is impos-
sible to peruse the clear and able vindication of this proceeding
which Lord Auckland placed on record, without admitting the

great force of his justification. The abrupt termination

of the mission was in one respect inopportune, inasmuch

as all our differences with Persia had been accommodated

and the court of Persia was closed against the intrigues of

Kamran before it occurred, though the fact was not known at

the time to Major Todd
;

in other respects it cannot be con-

sidered unfortunate, as it withdrew our officers from the

dangers to which they would inevitably have been exposed
nine months later on our expulsion from Cabul.

General Nott and The political charge of the province of Canda-

ft
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har had been entrusted to Major—now Sir Henry
1840. —Rawlinson, who had served his apprentice-

ship to diplomacy in Persia, where he had acquired a complete

knowledge of the language and character of the people, and

a clear perception of the position and policy of the different

courts in Central Asia. He was second to none of the politi-

cal officers whose talents were developed, and whose reputa-

tion was nurtured, in the instructive school of Afghan politics,

and it was mainly owing to his foresight and management
that our authority was maintained in that seething cauldron of

rebellion. The military command was in the hands of General

Nott, who, with all his infirmities of temper, possessed a fund

of sound sense, a spirit of great decision, and no inconsider-

able store of professional knowledge. He was prompt and

energetic in dealing with the revolts which were continually

cropping up around him, but the freedom of his remarks was

displeasing to Sir W. Macnaghten and to Lord Auckland,

and he was consequently refused the promotion to which his
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rank and abilities entitled him. On the retirement ol

Willonghby Cotton from Cabul, that important command
should, in all fairness, have been entrusted to him; tut In;

was again passed over ; and it is melancholy to reflect how
different would have been the course of events, and the fate of

the army, if he had been at the side of Sir William Macnagh-
ten, on the memorable morning of the 2nd November. The

Dooranees who occupied the province of Zemindawer, lying

between Gandahar and Herat, were of Shah Soojah's own
tribe ; they had been subjected to great oppression during the

ascendency of the Barukzyes and hailed the return of their

prince as a deliverer with delight. If there was one province

in Afghanistan more than another in which the Shah had

reason to expect cordial loyalty and unflinching support, it

was in that occupied by the Dooranees ; but when their ex-

pectations of sharing the sweets of power under a ruler of

their own clan were disappointed, and they found that all

real power was monopolized by stra.igers and infidels, no tribe

eventually manifested a more rancorous hostility to the Shah.

In November, 1840, Aktar Khan, their chief, openly announced

his intention to march on Candahar, and General Nott sent a

force to beat up his quarters, which awed him into temporary
submission. He succeeded in reassembling his army, and in

July took up a position on the Helmund, with 6,000 men,
in six divisions, with a priest at the head of each, and a

banner inscribed " We have been trusting in God ; may he

guide and guard us." He was vigorously attacked by Colonel

Woodbnrn and defeated, but assembled his followers again in

the following month, when a more signal discomfiture broke

up the confederacy. These successive reverses dismayed the

Dooranee chiefs who came in and made their submission to

the representative of the Shah, with the exception of Akram

Khan, whose indomitable spirit resisted every overture and

defied every threat. His feelings were well expressed in the

common Afghan remark,
" We are content with blood, but

shall never be content with a master." In other countries, his
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conduct might have been deemed patriotic, but in Afghanistan
it was pronounced treasonable, and it was resolved that no

mercy should be shewn him. One of his own countrymen
was induced by a bribe to disclose his retreat ; he was seized

and brought into Candahar, and, under positive orders from

Cabul, barbarously blown from a gun.

Eastern Ghiizyes,
The Provmce V™g to the north-east of Canda-

1841. har was inhabited by the Ghiizyes, a fine muscu-

lar race, expert in the use of the musket, sword, and knife,

and characterized by an intense ferocity of disposition,

the result of centuries of rapine and petty warfare. They
were able to bring 40,000 men into the field, and were as

jealous of their own independence in their wild mountains, as

they were eager to destroy that of others. They had in time

past carried their victorious arms to the capital of Persia, and

recorded their prowess on many a battle field in India. They
had played an important part in the politics of Afghanistan,

where, within three generations, they had exercised supreme

authority. They had been the most resolute opponents of

every invader, and had never bowed the neck to the rulers of

Cabul or Candahar, but continued with perfect impunity their

hereditary profession of levying black mail on all who tra-

versed their mountains. Though Sir William Macnaghten had

prevailed on them for an annual subsidy of 30,000 rupees

to abstain from infesting the highways, their deep-rooted

hostility to the intrusive foreigners was becoming daily more

palpable, and it was resolved to strengthen the fortifications

of Khelat-i-ghilzye which lay in the heart of their country.

They were determined to oppose a measure which would re-

strain their freedom, and they boldly advanced to obstruct

the progress of Colonel Weymer, who was sent against them

with a body of 5,000 men. The combat, which took place on

the 22nd May, 1841, lasted five hours ; and it was not till ten

in the evening that they quitted the field, carrying their

wounded with them. The strength of the tribe was impaired

by this and a subsequent defeat, and Sir William Macnagh-
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ten began to congratulate himself on the cheering aspect of

affairs in Afghanistan, and to flatter himself that all difficulty
in managing the country was now removed. But Major Ro-

binson, with a clearer appreciation of the precariousness of

our position, did not fail to press on him the unpalatable truth

that the country was universally pervaded by an implacable

spirit of hostility, and that there would assuredly be a general

outburst, on the first favourable opportunity.

Resolution to
^nat °PPortunity was not far distant. The ex-

hoid Afghanis- pense of garrisoning Afghanistan began to tell

to an alarming extent on the finances of India.

The army of occupation fell little short of 25,000 men, and the

annual charge was moderately computed at a crore and a half

of rupees. All the treasure accumulated by Lord William

Bentinck's economical reforms had been exhausted, and the

treasury was empty. The Court of Directors were alarmed,

and at the close of 1840 communicated their apprehensions to

Lord Auckland. The restored monarchy, they said, would

evidently require a British force to maintain tranquillity within,

and prevent aggression from without
;
to attempt to accom-

plish this object by a small force would be unwise and dan-

gerous, and they should prefer the entire abandonment of the

country, with a frank avowal of the complete failure of our pro-

ject ;
but they left it to the Government of India to determine

the course to be adopted
—either a speedy withdrawal from

the country, or a large increase of the army. When the sur-

render of Dost Mahomed was announced at the India House,

the Directors stated that it had made no change in their views,

and they trusted that advantage would be taken of this aus-

picious circumstance to bring the question to an issue in

accordance with their wishes. Nothing could be more judi-

cious than this recommendation. Since our entry into Af-

ghanistan there had been no opportunity so favourable for

retiring from it. All apprehension of an invasion from the

west had disappeared. The Persian court was on the most

friendly terms with us. The expedition of the Russians to
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Khiva had failed, and they were no longer heard of in Central

Asia. Dost Mahomed and his family were in our hands.

Khelat had been recovered, and Belochistan reoccupied. "The
noses of the Dooranee chiefs," as Sir William Macnaghten

affirmed, "had been brought to the grindstone. Afghanistan
was as quiet as an Indian district, and its tranquillity was mi-

raculous." Lord Auckland could not, however, bring himself

to approve of a retrograde movement in Afghanistan, before

the authority of the Shah had been completely established,

though it was impossible not to perceive that our presence

was the chief cause of his unpopularity and insecurity. The

two civil members of the Council concurred with him in voting
for the maintenance of our position in Afghanistan. The two

military members who would undoubtedly have voted with the

Court of Directors for the withdrawal of our army, had no

opportunity, either by accident or by design, of recording their

opinions. Sir William Macnaghten, on hearing that the ques-

tion of withdrawing the British force had been the subject of

serious discussion, declared that to deprive the Shah of British

support would be an act of "unparalleled political atrocity, and

that he would pack up his all, and return to his asylum at

Loodiana as soon as the resolution was communicated to him."

We had, in fact, placed ourselves in a position from which it

was impossible to recede without the complete collapse of our

policy, which would have exposed us to the ridicule of Central

Asia, and of the princes of India. Neither could we hold it

without an enormous and apparently interminable expenditure,

which would cripple the resources of Government, and deprive
it of the power of doing justice to the interests of India.

Retrenchment
^e Governor-General, having resolved to remain

and revolt, in Afghanistan, opened a new loan, and inculcated

a system of rigid economy on the Envoy, which

was to be begun with curtailing the stipends of the chiefs.

By that fatality which seemed to cling to every measure con-

nected with this ill-starred expedition, the retrenchments

which should have been delayed to the last were the first
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Adopted. These stipends were considered by Sir William

Macnaghton as a compensation to the chiefs for relinquishing

file immemorial practice of levying contributions on the high-

ways in their respective districts. He had many misgivings

about the wisdom of this economy, which would affect every

tribe in the country, but the orders from Calcutta were per-

emptory, and the eastern Ghilzye chiefs were the first to be

summoned to Cabul and informed that the exigencies of the

Btate rendered it necessary to reduce their allowance. They
ved the announcement at the beginning of October, with-

out any apparent discontent, made their salaam to the Envoy,
and returning to their mountain fastnesses, plundered a cara-

van, and closed the road to India by blocking up the passes.

They had always regarded these exactions from travellers

in the light of an ancient inheritance, and an indefeasible

right. They were magnanimously indifferent to the politics

of Afghanistan, and cared not who ruled, so long as their

privileges were respected. The stipends now about to be

reduced had been guaranteed to them when we entered the

country, and they had performed their part of the contract

with exemplary fidelity. They had not allowed a finger to be

raised against our posts, or couriers, or weak detachments,
and convoys of every description had passed through their

terrific defiles, the strongest mountain barriers in the world,

without interruption. The Shah, on hearing of this hostile

movement, sent Humza Khan, the governor of the Ghilzyes,
whose allowance had also been retrenched, to bring them to

reason, but as he was himself at the root of the conspiracy,
his presence only served to fan the flame. The 35th Native

Infantry, commanded by Colonel Monteith, which was under

orders to return to the provinces, was directed by the Envoy
to "

proceed to the passes and chastise these rascals and open
the road to India," but he was treacherously attacked during
the night by the mountaineers, who were abetted by the

amen and officers the Shah had deputed to accompany
and assist him, and he lost much baggage. Sir Robert Sale,
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who had been appointed to command the brigade of troops

returning to India, was sent forward to the support of the

35th. He encountered no little opposition in the Khoord

Cabul, and on reaching Tezeen ordered a large detachment

to proceed against the fort of the leader of the Ghilzyes, the

capture of which would have inflicted a severe, and perhaps
a decisive blow on the insurrection. The wily chief sent his

envoys to cozen the political agent with the force, who allowed

himself to be drawn into a treaty which conceded nearly all

the claims of the insurgents. Their stipends were restored,

and a sum of 10,000 rupees was actually paid down to them,

though they were then in open hostility. Not only was the

opportunity of nipping the revolt in the bud thus sacrificed,

but it was indefinitely strengthened by this fatuous com-

pliance, which proclaimed the weakness of Government, and

enabled the chiefs to announce that Sir Robert Sale had been

obliged to purchase their forbearance. They gave hostages,

it is true, to accompany the force, well knowing that we
should not injure them, under any circumstances, but they

took care at the same time to send emissaries to raise the

tribes on the route, who attacked the brigade at every point

as it advanced towards Gundamuk. Sir Robert Sale reached

that station in the beginning of November, and found all com-

munication with Cabul cut off, and the intermediate country
in a blaze of rebellion.

security of the Sir William Macnaghten had been rewarded for

Envoy, 1841.
^-g services by the Governorship of Bombay, and

had made preparations for leaving Cabul in the beginning of

November. Throughout the previous month, while the sur-

face of society in Afghanistan presented the image of un-

ruffled calm, a general confederacy, which embraced almost

every influential chief of every tribe, was organized for the

expulsion of the infidels from the country. Intimation of

it poured in upon the British authorities from all quarters.

Major Pottinger, who, since his departure from Herat, had

taken charge of the political duties in the highlands north of
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Dabul ; Captain Colin Mackenzie, whose public occupation in

the city placed him in a position to feel the native pulse ; Lieu-

tenant Conolly, in attendance at the Shah's court; Mohun Lall,

a Cashmere youth who had received the benefit of an English

education, and acted as Sir Alexander Burnes's moonshee, to-

gether, with many others, warned the Envoy of the storm

which was gathering. But he had persuaded himself that

the country was in a state of unexampled repose, and that the

rising of the Ghilzyes was a mere local emeute which might

be easily suppressed, and not the token of a national revolt.

He was confirmed in this feeling of security by Sir Alexander,

who was to succeed to his political employment, and who was

supposed to enjoy the best opportunities of knowing the feel-

ings of the chiefs and the people. On the evening of the 1st

November he called on Sir William Macnaghten and con-

gratulated him on leaving the country in a state of profound

tranquillity. At the same hour, some of the conspirators were

insurrection at assembled in a house in the city to arrange the

of^A^BumeB P^an °^ tne insurrection. Among the foremost was
i84i. Abdoolla Khan, a proud and vindictive noble, who
had been deprived of the headship of his tribe, and now revenged
himself by fomenting the outbreak of the Ghilzyes. Aware of

his sinister designs, Sir Alexander Burnes had sent him an offen-

sive message, calling him a dog, and threatening to recommend

the Shah to deprive him of his ears. At this meeting he ad-

vised that the first attack on the morrow should be made on the

house of the man who had insulted him. Sir Alexander was

unfortunately more obnoxious to the Afghan chiefs, not ex-

cepting even the Shah himself, than any of the other British

officers, some of whom, by their genial disposition and their

high moral character, had acquired general esteem. He
received repeated premonitions of his danger, but he had an

overweening confidence in his personal influence over the

Afghans, and treated every suggestion with contempt. The

insurgents surrounded his house at dawn with loud yells, when
for the first time he became aware of the peril of his situation,
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and despatched a note to Sir William for succour. He likewise

sent two messengers to Abdoolla Khan offering to redress all

his grievances if he would restrain the fury of the people ; but

one of them was murdered, and the other covered with wounds.

He harangued the mob from his balcony, and offered large
sums for his own life and that of his brother, but the Afghans
were thirsting for his blood, and for the more tempting plunder
of the neighbouring treasury. Captain William Broadfoot

fell in defence of the house, but not before he had slain six of

his assailants. A Mahomedan Cashmerian then entered the

house, and approaching Sir Alexander solemnly swore on the

Koran to conduct him to a place of safety if he would direct

his guard to cease firing on the insurgents, but no sooner

had he and his brother entered the garden, than the miscreant

called out " This is Secunder—Sir Alexander—Burnes Sahib,"

and they were immediately hacked to pieces by the infuriated

crowd. The insurgents then attacked the adjoining house of

Captain Johnson, the paymaster of the Shah's force, and plun-

dered it of 170,000 rupees, which he had imprudently removed

from the Bala Hissar to suit his own convenience. The houses

of the officers were then set on fire, and all the records con-

sumed. The mob did not originally exceed a hundred, but

the number was rapidly augmented by the success of this ex-

ploit and the booty which had been acquired, and the whole

city was soon in a flame of hostile excitement. The confederate

chiefs who had stirred up the emeute, had so little expectation

of its success that they kept aloof from the assailants, and had

their horses ready for flight on the first appearance of British

troops ;
and it was not till the afternoon, when it appeared that

no efforts were to be made to avenge the outrage and to

vindicate our authority, that they ventured abroad. The

slightest exhibition of energy at the commencement would

have extinguished the insurrection. This assertion rests not

only on the authority of the officers who survived the catas-

trophe, but also on that of all the native chiefs to whose cus-

tody they were subsequently committed. It appears absolutely
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incredible that a British army of 5,000 men should have been
allowed to remain inactive within a mile and a quarter of the

spot where British officers of the highest rank had been

murdered, and a British treasury sacked by a handful of insur-

gents.
General Eiphin- The General-in-chief in Afghanistan was General
stone's infirmi- . „ _ _ J , „
ties, 1841. Elphinstone, a gallant old Queen s officer, but

utterly disqualified for this important and dangerous post by
his physical infirmities. These were fully known to Lord

Auckland when he importuned him to accept the post, contrary
to the advice of Sir Jasper Nicholls, the Commander-in-chief,
who earnestly recommended that it should be given to General

Nott ; but General Nott had incurred the displeasure of Lord

Auckland by the freedom of his remarks. It is impossible,

therefore, to exonerate the Governor-General from a large
share of the responsibility of the overwhelming calamity which

ensued, and which is to be attributed to the incompetency of

the officer entrusted with the supreme command in a country

ripe for revolt. General Elphinstone was equally unfitted for

this arduous duty by his mental weakness, and the total want
of all decision of character. It was at seven in the morning of

the 2nd November, that Sir William received information that

the city was in a ferment, and that Sir Alexander Burnes's

house was besieged, and he proceeded immediately to consult

the General. The Envoy made light of the emeute which he

said would speedily subside, and the General was too happy to

be spared the exertion of thought, not to acquiesce in this

opinion. It was decided, however, that Brigadier Shelton's

brigade, which was encamped on the neighbouring heights of

Fatal procras-
Sea Sung, should be ordered to proceed to the Bala

tination, 1841. Hissar to act as might appear expedient, that assis-

tance should be sent, if possible, to Sir Alexander Burnes, and

that the remainder of the troops should be concentrated in the

cantonments. At a period when moments were of inestimable

value, hours were wasted in communications with the Shah

regarding the admission of the Brigadier's force into the Bala
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Hissar, which was at first refused, and it was mid-day before

these orders and counter-orders terminated with permission

to march. On the arrival of the Brigadier, the Shah asked

who had sent him, and why he had come ? The Shah himself,

however, was the only man who acted with promptitude on that

memorable morning. On hearing of the outbreak he ordered

his own regiment of Hindostanees under the command of

Colonel Campbell to proceed at once to the spot and quell it.

If that officer had promptly marched along the skirt of the hill

without any incumbrance, he might have arrived in time to

save Sir Alexander Burnes and the treasure, but he proceeded

with his guns through the narrow and intricate streets of the

city, where his way was soon blocked up by the opposition of

the inhabitants. The insurgents, flushed with success, drove

his regiment back, and Brigadier Shelton did nothing more

than cover its retreat to the Bala Hissar. No effort was

made by the Envoy or the Commander-in-chief, to extricate Sir

Alexander, which might have been effected with perfect ease.

There was a short and direct route of only a mile and a quarter

from the cantonment to the scene of disturbance by the open
Kohistan road, and a body of a thousand men might have

been sent forward at once with their guns. Their approach
at an early hour would, at once, have restored order, more

especially as that quarter of the city was inhabited by the

tribe of Kuzzilbashes, who were friendly to us, and would

immediately have joined the force. Such a movement was the

more imperative, as the provisions for the Shah's army, to the

extent of 8,000 maunds, were stored in a wretched fort not 500

yards from Sir Alexander's residence. The mob, after plun-

dering and burning his house, and sacking Captain Johnson's

treasury, immediately attacked this fort. Captain
—now Sir

George—Lawrence, entreated permission to proceed to its re-

lief, but it was peremptorily refused him. Captain Colin Mac-

kenzie gallantly defended the post for two days without food

or rest, and at length, seeing no hope of succour, was obliged

to abandon it and cut his way to the cantonments.
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On the evening of this first day of disaster, the

Authorities, General, instead of forming a vigorous plan of
1841 '

operations for the morrow, contented himself with

writing to the Envoy: "We must see what the morning

brings, and then think what can be done." The morning

revealed the fact that nothing was wanting to quench the

rebellion but promptitude and resolution. The 37th Native

Infantry had been summoned back on the previous day from

the Khoord Cabul where it had been left by Sir Robert Sale,

and Major Griffiths, the commandant, though vigorously

opposed at every step by the insurgents, succeeded in con-

ducting the corps in safety to the cantonment, with all its

baggage and its sick and two guns. Nothing, however, was

done on the second day except a feeble effort to penetrate the

city with an inadequate force, but it was not despatched till

three hours afternoon, and it was driven back by the thousands

of armed men, whom the success of the rising had brought into

the city. Within thirty hours of the outbreak, with a body of

troops, sufficient, under a man of spirit, to maintain our position

against all attacks, the Envoy deemed it necessary to send

letters to General Nott at Candahar, and to Sir Robert Sale to

importune them to hasten with their regiments to the relief of

the garrison. It was then that the fatal error of relinquishing

the Bala Hissar and cantoning the troops in the plain was

revealed in all its intensity. These cantonments had been

planted in a piece of low ground, nearly a mile in extent, with

ramparts so contemptible, that a pony was backed by an

officer 'to scramble down the ditch and over the wall. They
wore so situated as to be commanded by the neighbouring

hills, and by intermediate forts which had not been occupied

or demolished, and the troops could neither enter nor leave

them without being exposed to a raking fire from these various

points of attack. Human folly seemed to have exhausted itself

in the construction of these works in the immediate neighbour-
hood of a populous, fanatic, and disaffected city. To crown

the blunders of the political and niilitary authorities, the com-

III. N
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missariat stores on which the existence of the force depended,
and which ought to have been lodged in the Bala Hissar, or at

least within the cantonments, had been deposited in a small

fort four hundred yards beyond them, the access to which was
commanded by an unoccupied fort and by the King's garden.
The commissariat fort, which was guarded by only eighty men,
was vigorously assailed by the insurgents, and the General

proposed to send out a detachment to enable Lieutenant

Warren, who was in command, to evacuate it. There was a

universal remonstrance against this act of insanity, and two

companies were therefore sent to strengthen the garrison,—while 4,000 men were lying idle in the cantonments—but

they were repulsed with the loss of two officers killed, and three

wounded. Thrice did the General yield so far to the importunity
of his staff as to promise to despatch sufficient reinforcements,
and thrice did he alter his mind. The enemy began at length
to undermine the walls of the fort, and Lieutenant Warren,

despairing of all succour, was obliged to abandon it; and

men and officers looked over the walls of the cantonment with

burning indignation, while a rabble of Afghans was diligently

employed, like a swarm of ants, in carrying off the provisions

on which their only hope of sustaining life was placed. The
loss of these stores completely paralyzed the garrison.

The urgent request sent by Sir William Mac-

dedfnes return- naghten to General Sale and General Nott to come
ins to cabui, to the relief of the cantonment without any delay,

produced no result. General Sale had reached

Gundamuk when he received this communication, which was

accompanied by one from General Elphinstone who desired

him to return, if he could place his sick and wounded in

safety with the Afghan irregulars at that station. A council

of war was held, and it was determined to push on to Jellala-

bad, instead of falling back on Cabul. General Sale has been

censured by high authority for this movement, but the reasons

which recommended it appear to be conclusive. The winter

had already set in with intense rigour. The brigade had lost
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at portion of its camp equipage ; the camel drivers had

Marly all deserted with their animals, and to transport the

ammunition and provisions it would be necessary to abandon

the remainder of the tents. The cartridges in store were not

sufficient for more than three actions, and the force would

probably be obliged to fight the enemy at each of the eight

marches to Cabul. The sick and the wounded had increased

to three hundred, and to leave them at Gundamuk, either with

or without the irregulars, would be to consign them to inevi-

table destruction. On the other hand the occupation of a

position like Jellalabad was recommended by the considera-

tion that it would keep open the communication with India,

and provide a defensible fortress and a safe retreat for the Cabul

force to fall back on, if circumstances should render it necessary.

The aspect of affairs at Candahar towards the

sendsa force to cl°se of 1841 was considered so tranquil that it

cabui, which was resolved to send back to India three of the
returns, 1841.

,

regiments then m the province. But they had not

accomplished more than two marches when unquestionable
tokens of the coming storm were afforded by the total

destruction of a detachment in the north, and by the altered

and offensive bearing of the people. On the 14th November,
General Nott received, in a quill, the letter sent by the Envoy
the day after the murder of Sir Alexander Burnes requiring
three regiments to be despatched to his relief with all speed.

He was exceedingly averse, however, to part with the brigade,

which he considered would be more useful at Candahar. The

troops could not, he argued, reach Cabul under five weeks, by
which time,

"
everything would be settled one way or another."

They would be required to fight every inch of the way beyond

Ghuzni, and to wade through the snow; and they would

eventually arrive in so crippled a state as to be wholly unfit

for service. In obedience, however, to the orders of the

Envoy the three regiments were despatched under Colonel

Maclaren, but the General did not conceal from him his own
conviction that they were marching to certain destruction,

N 2
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That they might have reached Cabul in safety, was however,

by no means improbable, but they commenced their march

with great reluctance, and returned to Candahar with great

alacrity on the first appearance of a few flakes of snow, and

the loss of some commissariat donkeys.

Th j
Extraordinary exertions were made by the

Assassination, Commissariat officers to obtain supplies from the

neighbouring villages, and within four days of the

outbreak the General was enabled to inform the Envoy that

they had temporarily, and he hoped permanently, got over

the difficulty of provisions.
" Our case," he said "

is not

yet desperate ;
I do not mean to impress that, but it must be

borne in mind that it goes very fast." The Envoy, seeing the

honour and safety of the force in such keeping, felt himself

constrained to open negotiations with the insurgent chiefs.

Through the moonshee Mohun Lall who continued to reside in

the city, he made them an offer of two, three, or even five

lacs of rupees, but, as might have been expected, this fresh

token of weakness only served to increase their arrogance.
At the same time Lieutenant John Conolly, the political

agent with the Shah in the Bala Hissar, authorized the

moonshee to offer 10,000 or even 15,000 rupees for the head

of each of the principal rebels. There is nothing to support
the attempt which has been made to connect the Envoy with

this atrocious proposal except the circumstance that Lieu-

tenant Conolly was in constant communication with him
; on

the other hand, there is irrefragable evidence of the detestation

in which he held the practice, in his letter to the moonshee in

which he regretted
" to find that it was ever considered his

object to encourage assassination." "The rebels," he said,
" are very wicked men, but we must not take unlawful means

to destroy them." On a subsequent occasion, when the

subject was brought up in the presence of Captain Skinner,

he assured him that his mind revolted from the very sugges-
tion of such a procedure.

Bng. sneiton The utter incompetence of the General was
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comes into can. hurrying the garrison to destruction, but there

tonnjent, 1841. appeared some faint hope of deliverance, if

Brigadier Shelton could be associated with him in the com-

mand, and he was accordingly recalled to the cantonment from

the Bala Ilissar where he had continued since the morning of

the 2nd of November. He was a younger and more vigorous

officer, distinguished for his dauntless courage and iron nerve,

and his arrival on the 9th November was hailed by the

desponding garrison with delight. But it was soon found

that the obliquities of his disposition completely neutralized

the value of his services. If he had chosen to control his petu-

lant humours, and had cordially sustained and strengthened the

General, he might have earned the gratitude of his country

by securing the salvation of the force, but the discord which

arose from his intractable disposition only served to -increase

the difficulties of the crisis. The Brigadier complained of the

officious interference of the General, or rather of the officers

who advised him, as he does not appear ever to have had an

opinion of his own. The General pronounced him insub-

ordinate and contumacious ;
and between them the national

honour was trampled in the dust, and 15,000 lives sacrificed.

In the desperate condition to which affairs had been reduced

there was still one course which would have extricated the

army from all its perils,
—an immediate retreat to the Bala

Hissar. From that impregnable position the troops could

have sallied forth on the city, and procured supplies from the

surrounding country. The Shah did not cease to urge this

movement, which was equally recommended by the Envoy
and the General. But the Brigadier pertinaciously resisted it

on grounds which were palpably frivolous, inasmuch as he

himself had recently brought a regiment and a gun from the

citadel into the cantonment without meeting with any impedi-

ment. His incredible obstinacy prevented the adoption of this

course and sealed the doom of the army.
Actional Hen- On the 13th the enemy planted two guns on the
maroo, i84i. Be]imaroo hins and began to cannonade the can-
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tonments. The General and the Brigadier resisted all the

entreaties of the Envoy to make an attempt to dislodge them,

but as ho continued to insist on the despatch of a strong force,

and took the entire responsibility of the movement upon him-

self, the Brigadier started before daybreak and was engaged

throughout the day in conflict with the enemy. The

success was not decisive, but it was the last which the

garrison was destined to achieve. There is little interest

in dwelling on the long and melancholy catalogue of errors

and disasters, faithfully and eloquently described by Lieu-

tenant—now Sir Vincent—Eyre who bore a large share in the

dangers of the siege, which followed closely upon each other,

disgusting the officers, disheartening the men, and finally

sinking the army in irretrievable ruin. On the 16th, Major

Pottinger and Lieutenant Haughton, the sole survivors of

the gallant body of men in the Kohistan, in the defeDce of

which a noble Goorkha corps fell to a man, reached the

cantonment exhausted with fatigue and wounds. The 23rd

November brought the climax of military disasters. The

enemy had again made their appearance on the Behmaroo

hills, and the Envoy urged the necessity of a vigorous effort

to dislodge them from a position which enabled them to

inflict the greatest injury on the cantonments. The Brigadier

protested against the movement; the troops, he said, were

dispirited and exhausted by living on half rations of parched

wheat, but his objections were over-ruled and a detach-

ment was sent out which, being weak, failed to accomplish

the object. A council of war was then held when, upon the

earnest entreaty of the Envoy, it was determined that a

stronger force should set out before daybreak, on the morning
of the 23rd. The hill was carried without diffi-

Action of the

23rd November, culty, but as day began to dawn, thousands of
184L

armed men streamed out of the city, and a general

action was brought on. By an act of incredible fatuity, Briga-

dier Shelton had taken out a single gun with him, which

was admirably worked and told with great effect on the
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enemy, till the vent became overheated and it was rendered

unserviceable. The Afghans with their long range matchlocks

poured a destructive fire upon our musketeers, and laughed at

their balls which fell short of the mark. The troops, pining

with cold and hunger, and utterly broken in spirit, refused to

follow their officers, and were soon in confused and disastrous

flight. The Brigadier with iron courage stood in the thickest

of the fire and called on his men to support the honour of their

flag. The flying regiments paused and reformed, and the

Mahomedan fanatics shrunk from the assault. At this

juncture, Abdoollah Khan, one of the insurgent chiefs whom
Mohun Lall had marked out for assassination and who com-

manded the Afghan cavalry, fell and they fled in a panic to

the city, followed by the infantry. Sir William was standing

on the ramparts with the General, eagerly watching these

movements, and urged him to send out a body of fresh troops

to improve the advantage and complete the victory, but he

replied that it was a wild scheme. The Brigadier might have

withdrawn his force in safety to the cantonments during the

confusion, but he chose to halt ; the enemy recovered from

the panic, and rushed back on him with redoubled fury,

when the whole body of English soldiers disgracefully aban-

doned the field and took to flight. The fugitives and the

pursuers were so mingled in this race, that the Afghans

might easily have captured the cantonments if they had known
how to improve the advantage they had gained ; but in the

moment of victory, the chiefs drew off their men, and, after

mutilating the bodies of the slain, returned to the city with

shouts of exultation. This defeat at Behmaroo, as Brigadier
Shelton truly observed,

" concluded all exterior operations."
A general gloom hung over the encampment ; the army was

thoroughly demoralized ; the disasters and the dishonour of

these three weeks, which were justly attributed to the imbe-

cility and the mismanagement of the commanders, destroyed
all confidence in them, and wore out the principle of military

discipline.
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Negotiations
^e ^ay a^er^s disaster, the Shah again en-

i84i. treated the Envoy to occupy the Bala Hissar, as

the only course left to secure the honour and safety of the

army, and Sir William pressed it on the military chiefs with

increasing importunity, but they pertinaciously resisted all

his entreaties, and General Elphinstone officially informed him

that it was no longer feasible to maintain our position in the

country, and advised him to have recourse to negotiation.

With such imbecility at the head of the force, Sir William was

obliged to submit to this humiliation and to solicit a conference

with the insurgent chiefs, whom he met in the guardroom of one

of the gateways. The debate, which was long and acrimonious,

was brought to a close by Sultan Mahomed, who asserted in

haughty and offensive language that, as the Afghans had

beaten the English, they had a right to dictate the terms of

capitulation, and he demanded that the whole army should

surrender at discretion with its arms, ammunition, and trea-

sure. The Envoy at once teiminated the interview by declar-

ing that he preferred death to dishonour. A week after, Akbar

» • , r » , a. Khan, one of the sons of Dost Mahomed, a young"Arrival of Akbar ' ' * °
Khan, 1841. soldier of great energy, but of a fiery and impe-

tuous temper, arrived at Cabul, and was at once accepted as the

leader of the national confederacy. He soon discovered that

to extinguish the British force it was only necessary to defeat

the efforts of the commissariat officers to obtain provisions.

He accordingly arrested the progress of supplies by threaten-

ing with death all who were detected in furnishing them.

Under the pressure of hunger, the troops daily became less

capable of exertion, and the Envoy, seeing the destruction of

the force inevitable, renewed his entreaty to withdraw it to the

Bala Hissar, while the sick and wounded were sent under cover

of the night, but the General raised a host of objections, and

refused his concurrence. Sir William then suggested that they
should endeavour to obtain provisions by their own good
swords from the surrounding villages, but the General assured

him that the only alternative left was to negotiate for a safe
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retreat from the country on the most favourable terms pos-
sible.

Starvation now stared the ill-fated garrison in
Treaty of the ,

°
nth ivc, 1841. the face; on the 11th December there was food

left only for the day's consumption of the lighting men, while

the camp followers, who had been living on the carcases of

camels, were completely famished. Supplies were not to be

obtained for money because the villagers could not venture to

sell them, nor by force because the commanders and the men
had not the heart to fight, and the Envoy was constrained

with infinite reluctance to make another offer of negotiation.

A conference was accordingly held with the chiefs, and, after

an angry discussion of two hours, the terms of a treaty were

arranged. The salient points in it were, that the British

troops at Candahar and Cabul, at Ghuzni and Jellalabad

should evacuate the country, receiving every possible assist-

ance in carriage and provisions, and that Dost Mahomed and

his family should be set at liberty. Shah Soojah was to be

allowed the option of remaining in Afghanistan with a pension
of a lac of rupees a-year, or of accompanying the British troops
to India. The army was to quit the cantonments within three

days, and in the mean time to receive ample supplies of provi-

sions, for which due payment was to be made, and four officers

were to be delivered up as hostages for the performance of the

stipulations. This is the most disgraceful transaction in the

records of British India, but to form an impartial opinion of it,

we must turn to the Envoy's own explanation. "The whole

country," he wrote,
" as far as we could learn, had risen in

rebellion
;
our communications on all sides were cut off

;
we had

been fighting forty days against superior numbers under most

disadvantageous circumstances with a deplorable loss of life,

and in a day or two must have perished of hunger. I had been

repeatedly apprized by the military authorities that nothing
could be done with our troops. The terms I secured were the

best obtainable, and the destruction of 15,000 human beings
would little have benefited our country, while the Govern-
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inent would have been almost compelled to avenge our fate at

whatever cost." The position of the Envoy has been vividly

described by the historian of the Afghan war,
" environed and

hemmed in by difficulties and dangers, overwhelmed with re-

sponsibility which there was none to share—the lives of 15,000

men resting on his decision—the honour of his country at stake

—with a perfidious enemy before him, a decrepit General at

his side, and a paralyzed army at his back, he was driven

to negotiate by the imbecility of his companions." The entire

responsibility of this humiliating convention rests upon the two

military commanders, than whom it would scarcely have been

possible to select officers more completely disqualified for their

post, the one by bodily infirmity and constitutional imbe-

cility ; the other by his perverse temper and his obstinacy.

The brilliant success of Sir Robert Sale at Jellalabad shews

how easily the position of the British army at Cabul might
have been rectified, with the superior means and appliances at

command, if the direction of affairs had devolved on Captain

Lawrence, or Captain Colin Mackenzie, or Captain Eyre, or

Major Pottinger, or any other of the noble spirits in the camp.

_, , . , tu But it never was the intention of the Afghan
Violation of the °

Treaty by the leaders to fulfil the terms of the treaty, or to per-
enemy, 1841. m^ any p0r j.jon f fae army to leave the country.

The Bala Hissar was evacuated by our troops on the 13th, but

they were assailed by the insurgents on their route, and no

small portion of the priceless provisions in their charge was

lost. Supplies were furnished so scantily as not to satisfy hun-

ger, and the Afghans were permitted to intercept them without

any interference on the part of the chiefs
;
sometimes they

were altogether withheld. The forts around the cantonment

were surrendered, and the Afghans were seen squatting on

the walls jeering at our misfortunes. The chiefs were allowed

to go into the magazines and carry away whatever stores they

liked, while the British officers and men watched the spolia-

tion with swelling indignation. To complete the disasters of

the force, snow began to fall on the 18th December, and was
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lying many inches deep on the ground by the evening. If the

troops had been enabled to move towards Jellalabad immedi-

ately on the signature of the treaty, they might have reached

it as a military body, though attacked at every step of the

way ;
but a new horror was now added to the difficulties of

their position. The conduct of Sir William Macnaghten at

this crisis, during the twelve days which elapsed between the

signature of the treaty and his assassination, has been charac-

terized by some, as not only dishonourable, but perfidious. It

is certainly to be regretted that in the remote hope of saving
the army from destruction, he should have allowed himself to be

drawn into the filthy meshes of Afghan intrigue ; but it must

not be overlooked, that if the treaty bound him to repair to

Peshawur with all practical expedition, it also bound the

Afghan chiefs to furnish him with all possible assistance in

carriage and provisions. The treaty was equally binding on

both parties ;
he had faithfully fulfilled his part, as far as prac-

ticable, by ordering the evacuation of Jellalabad, Ghuzni,

and Candahar, by surrendering the forts, and giving hostages,

while Akbar Khan and the Barukzyes not only continued to

withhold both carriage and provisions, but rose in their demands

and insisted on the delivery of all our military stores and am-

munition, and the surrender of the married families as addi-

tional hostages for the fulfilment of the treaty. In these cir-

cumstances, Sir William instructed the moonshee Mohun Lall

to open negotiations with other tribes and to inform them that

if any portion of the Afghans wished him to remain and would

make this declaration to the Shah and send in provisions,

he should feel himself at liberty to break with the faithless

Barukzyes. In this communication he made the characteristic

remark that "
though it would be very agreeable to stop at

Cabul a few months, he must not consider what was agree-

able but what was consistent with good faith." If he had hesi-

tated to depart after receiving sufficient supplies of cattle and

provisions, he would have been justly chargeable with a breach

of his engagement ; but it is the mere wantonness of detrac-
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tion to charge him with violating it when the other party in-

tentionally kept him without the means of fulfilling it. There

can, at the same time, however, be no doubt that while he

lingered at Cabul and endeavoured to play off one party

against another, he indulged a latent hope of some happy turn

in the current of events which might enable him to rescue the

garrison from perdition, and the British character from the

ignominy of the treaty j but what other British functionary,

with the same responsibilities, would have hesitated to adopt
the same course ?

. . It was at this critical juncture, while Sir William
Assassination J '

of sir William. Macnaghten was tossed upon a sea of difficulties,
"

and bewildered by the appalling crisis which was

approaching, that he was drawn into the net which Akbar

Khan spread for his destruction. On the evening of the 22nd

December, the wily Afghan sent two agents with Major Skinner,

who was his prisoner, to the Envoy, with a proposal, to be

considered at a conference the next day, that Akbar Khan and

the Ghilzyes should unite with the British troops outside the

cantonment and make a sudden attack on Mahomed Shah's

fort and seize the person of Ameenoolla, the most hostile and

ferocious of the insurgent chiefs, whose head was to be pre-

sented to the Envoy for a sum of money, but the offer was

indignantly rejected by him. It was further proposed that

the British force should remain till the spring, and then retire

of its own accord: that the Shah should retain the title of

king, and that Akbar Khan should be vizier, receiving from

the British Government an annuity of four lacs of rupees

a-year, and an immediate payment of thirty lacs. In an evil

hour for his reputation and his safety, the Envoy accepted
this treacherous proposal in a Persian paper drawn up with

his own hand. "When this wild overture was communicated

to General Elphinstone and Captain Mackenzie the next morn-

ing, they both pronounced it to be a plot, and endeavoured

to dissuade Sir William from going out to meet Akbar Khan.

He replied in a hurried manner,
" Let me alone for that, dan-
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gerous though it be ;
if it succeeds it is worth all risks

; the

rebels have not fulfilled one article of the treaty, and I have

no confidence in them, and if by it we can only save our

honour, all will be well. At any rate, 1 would rather suffer

a hundred deaths than live the last six weeks over again."

At noon he directed the General to have two regiments and

some guns ready for the attack of the fort, and then proceeded

with Captains Trevor, Mackenzie, and Lawrence, with the

slender protection of only sixteen of his body guard to the

fatal meeting. At the distance of six hundred yards from the

cantonment Akbar Khan had caused some horse cloths to be

spread on the slope of a hill, where the snow lay less deep.

The suspicions of the officers as they dismounted were roused by
the appearance of Ameenoolla's brother at the conference, and

the large number of armed followers who were present. Akbar

Khan addressed a haughty salutation to Sir William, and im-

mediately after, on a given signal, the officers were suddenly
seized from behind, and placed separately on the saddle of an

Afghan horseman, who galloped off to the city. Captain Trevor

fell off the horse, and was hacked to pieces. Akbar Khan
himself endeavoured to seize Sir William, who struggled

vigorously, exclaiming in Persian, "For God's sake." Ex-

asperated by this resistance, the fierce youth drew forth the

pistol which Sir William had presented to him the day before,

and shot him dead, when the ghazees rushed up, and mutilated

his body with their knives. If his own repeated declaration be

worthy of any credit, Akbar Khan had no intention of taking

away the fife of the Envoy, but was simply anxious to obtain

possession of his person as a hostage for the Dost. Thus

c « perished Sir William Macnaghten, the victim of
Character of Sir r ° '

w. Macnaghten, an unsound and unjust policy, but as noble and

brave a gentleman as ever fell in the service of

his country. If he was in a false position in Afghanistan, it

was because he had so completely identified himself with the

policy which carried us across the Indus, as to be unable to

perceive the magnitude of its errors and the certainty of its
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failure. If he misled others regarding that policy, it was

only after his own mind had been deceived. He attempted
the task of establishing the permanent authority of foreigners

and infidels in a wild and inaccessible country, inhabited by

sturdy, lawless, and fanatical Mahomedans, and he failed.

Whether there was any other officer in the service who would

have proved more successful may well be doubted ; but it

certainly could not have been accomplished without entailing

ruin on the finances of India. Throughout seven weeks of

unparalleled difficulties, Sir William exhibited a spirit of

courage and constancy of which there are few examples in the

history of the Company. He was the only civilian at Cabul,

and he was one of the truest-hearted soldiers in the garrison.

If he was at length drawn into a fatal negotiation with Akbar,
not altogether in accordance with the high standard of English

morals, let it not in all candour be forgotten that no public

officer since the establishment of British power in the east,

has ever been called to pass through so fiery an ordeal
;
that

the unexampled strain of the three preceding days had

evidently disturbed the balance of his mind, and that he

risked his own honour and life to save the fives of fifteen

thousand of his fellow creatures.

No effort was made from the cantonment to
Energetic advice

of Major Pottin- avenge the murder of the Envoy, or to recover his

mangled remains, which were paraded in triumph

through the city of Cabul. Major Pottinger had been un-

noticed since his arrival in a wounded state from Charekar, but

all eyes were now turned on him to fill the political post of the

late Envoy, and he summoned a council, at which were present

General Elphinstone, Brigadier Shelton, and two senior officers,

to discuss the terms on which the Afghan chiefs now offered

to grant the army a safe conduct to Peshawur. They differed

from those to which the late Envoy had given his consent only in

the demand of larger gratuities to themselves. Major Pottinger

recoiled from these humiliating conditions ; he asserted that the

former treaty had been cancelled by the foul murder of Sir
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William, and lie urged the officers to reject the terms with scorn

and defiance. His energy might yet have saved the garrison,

but the council of war refused to fight, and resolved to accept

the proposed treaty, at whatever sacrifice of honour or money.

Orders were therefore signed by Major Pottinger and General

ESlphinstone to the commanders at Jellalabad, Ghuzni and

Oandahar to surrender the forts to the Afghans who might be

deputed to demand them, and retire from the country. The

confederate chiefs, as might have been expected, immediately

rose in their demands, and required that all the coin and the

spare muskets and guns, save six, should be surrendered, and

that General Sale, his wife and his daughter, and all the other

officers of rank who were married and had families, should be

left in the country as hostages for Dost Mahomed. On the

26th, letters arrived from Jellalabad and Peshawur stating that

reinforcements were on the way from Hindostan, and implor-

ing the garrison to hold out. There were, moreover, intestine

feuds among the Afghan chiefs ; Shah Soojah appeared to be

regaining some portion of his influence, and Major Pottinger

seized the occasion of this gleam of sunshine to dissuade the

General and the Brigadier from treating with enemies who
would be sure to betray them, and he implored them to make
one bold and prompt effort either to occupy the Bala Hissar,

or to cut their way to Jellalabad. The General was almost

persuaded to adopt this advice, but Brigadier Shelton, the evil

genius of the cantonment, vehemently contended that both

courses were equally impracticable, and that it was more

advisable to pay any sum of money than to risk the safety of

the force in such attempts. The Major, mortified and humili-

ated, was constrained to proceed with the treaty ; but he in-

formed the chiefs that no pecuniary transactions could be

completed without the presence of Captain Lawrence, the

secretary of the late Envoy. He was accordingly released,

and returned to the cantonment, where he drew bills to the

extent of fourteen lacs of rupees on the Government of India,

but made them payable after the safe arrival of the force at
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Peshawur, which the Afghan chiefs professed to guarantee,
but had determined to prevent. By this stroke of policy, he
inflicted on them a just penalty for their treachery, and relieved

his own Government from the necessity of honouring the

bills. Guns, waggons, small arms, and ammunition were then

given up amidst the indignant exclamations of the garrison,
and four officers were surrendered as hostages. On the 4th

January, the ratified treaty with the seals of eighteen of the

Afghan chiefs was sent in. It was dictated in a spirit of

arrogance, and received with a spirit of humility which no

British officers had exhibited since the day of Plassy, and it

was violated without any scruple. With the treaty came also

intimations from the city of the preparations which were in

progress to assail the force as soon as it quitted the canton-

ments, and of the oath which Akbar Khan had taken to anni-

hilate every soldier but one, who was to be permitted to reach

Jellalabad to tell the tale.

Retreat of the
^n ^e 6th January the army, still 4,500 strong,

Army, 1842. with 11,000 camp followers, after having for sixty-

five days endured such indignities as no British soldiers had

ever before suffered in India, began its ominous march from the

cantonments, leaving all its trophies in the hands of an inso-

lent foe. The snow lay ankle deep on the ground, and the

salvation of the force depended on the rapidity of its move-

ments. If it had crossed the Cabul river before noon, and

pushed on with promptitude to the Khoord Cabul pass, it might
have escaped destruction ;

but owing to the indecision and

mismanagement of the General, the rear guard did not leave

the gate before the shades of night came on. The Afghan
fanatics then rushed in, and set the cantonments on fire, and

lighted up this first night of horrors with the blaze. In the

morning the spirit of discipline began to wane, and the force

was no longer a retreating army, but a panic stricken and dis-

organized rabble. The infuriated Ghilzyes pressed on the rear,

seizing the baggage and cutting down all who opposed them.

Safety was to be found only in speed, but, through the unac-
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countable folly of the military authorities, the troops were

halted on the second night at Bootkhak. The crowd of

liuMi. women, and children, horses and camels, lying in the

snow in wild confusion, without food, or fuel, or shelter, pre-

sented a scene of unexampled misery. Akbar Khan now
made his appearance and demanded fresh hostages for the safe

conduct of the force to Tezeen, and Captain Lawrence, Captain

Colin Mackenzie, and Major Pottinger were delivered up to

him. Between Bootkhak and Tezeen lay the terrific gorge of

the Khoord Cabul, five miles in length, so narrow that the rays

of the sun seldom penetrated its recesses. At the bottom of it

ran an impetuous torrent, which the road crossed and recrossed

twenty-eight times, and it was through this fearful defile that

the disordered mass of human beings pressed on with one mad-

dening desire of escaping destruction. But the Ghilzyes poured
an incessant fire from their unerring rifles upon the crowd

from every height, and three thousand perished under their

weapons, and through the intensity of the cold. It was in

this scene of indiscriminate carnage, that English ladies, some

with infants in their arms, had to run the gauntlet of Afglfan
bullets amidst a heavy fall of snow.

_ In the morning Akbar again made his appear-

ters, i84i. ance, and offered a supply of provisions and advised

the General to halt. The whole force exclaimed against this

insane delay, but he was deaf to all entreaties, and the perish-

ing troops were constrained to sit down idle for an entire day
in the snow, when another march would have cleared the

defile. Akbar offered likewise to take charge of the ladies and

children and convey them to Peshawur. They had scarcely

tasted food since leaving Cabul ; they were insufficiently clad

and without any shelter from the frost and snow. Major Pot-

tinger, now Akbar's prisoner, felt that it would be impossible

for them to survive such hardships, and was anxious that they
should be relieved from the horrors of their situation. In

accordance with his advice, Lady Macnaghten, Lady Sale, and

nine other ladies, with fifteen children, and eight officers were,

III. o
'
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sent to Akbar's camp, and thus rescued from destruction. On
the morning of the 10th, the remains of the army resumed th8

march, but before evening the greater number of the sepoys
had disappeared. Panic stricken and paralyzed with cold, they
were slaughtered like sheep by the remorseless Ghilzyes and a

narrow defile between two hills was choked up with the dying
and the dead. Four hundred and fifty Europeans, with a con-

siderable body of officers, yet remained, but the enemy took

post on every point, blocked up every ravine, and dealt death

among their ranks, while Akbar himself hovered over their

flank, and, when implored to put an end to the slaughter,

declared that it was beyond his power to restrain the fury of

these hill men. He proposed, however, that the remnant

of the troops should lay down their arms, and surrender, but

even General Elphinstone revolted from this indignity. The

march was therefore resumed, and Brigadier Shelton with his

accustomed gallantry repelled every attack. On approaching

Jugdulluk, a conference was held with Akbar Khan, who still

continued to hang upon the rear, and he promised to send in

water and provisions to the famished men, on condition that

General Elphinstone, Brigadier Shelton, and Captain Johnson

should be transferred to him as hostages for the evacuation of

Jellalabad. They were accordingly given up, but this conces-

sion brought no respite from the ferocity of the Ghilzyes, in

whom the thirst for blood had overcome even the love of

money. They resisted the most tempting offers, and openly

revelled in the prospect of cutting the throats of all the Ferin-

gees who were left. Akbar Khan, having obtained possession of

the ladies and the principal officers, abandoned the rest of the

army to their vengeance, and retired to Cabul. At the Jug-
dulluk pass twelve of the bravest of the officers met their

doom, and here the Cabul force may be said to have ceased to

exist. Twenty officers and forty-five European soldiers con-

trived to reach Gundamuk, but they gradually dropped down

under the weapons of their foes, with the exception of one

officer, Dr. Brydon, who was descried from the ramparts of
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Jellalabad on the 13th January, slowly wending his way to

_
, a the fort, wounded and exhausted, on his iadedTotal destruction ' '

••

of the force, pony, the sole survivor, with the exception of a

hundred and twenty in captivity, of a body of

15,000 men.

The entire annihilation of this lar^re army was
Character and ° J

effects of this the heaviest blow which had ever fallen upon
catastrophe, 1842.^ g^^ ^^ ^ j^^ ^ ^ did ^^
duce any such demonstrations of hostility at the native

courts, or any such fermentation in the community as might
have been expected, by comparison with the effect created by
the destruction of Monsou's army in 1804, or by our failures

in Nepaul in 1814, or our non-success in Burmah in 1824. The

sensation created in the native states and among our native

subjects, at each of the successive shocks which have affected

our prestige in India, appears to have gradually become more

and more moderate. This may be attributed not merely to the

extinction of the military power of the native rulers, but to

that feeling of acquiescence which time scarcely fails to produce
in an established Government which is felt to be equitable and

mild beyond all former example, and affords ample protection

to industry, and full scope for the general pursuit of happi-

ness, and to which there is no other objection than that it is a

Government of foreigners. This conclusion was still more

clearly exemplified during the great Sepoy mutiny of 1857,

which, if it had occurred forty years before, would unques-

tionably have been followed by the temporary loss of the

empire, but which produced no conspiracies at the native

courts of Hyderabad, Indore, Baroda, or Gwalior, and scarcely

any ebullitions of hostile feeling, except in the districts in

which our authority was entirely extinguished. In the case

of this Afghan disaster, moreover, the chiefs and people of

India awaited a demonstration of the efforts we should make
to vindicate our military character. Such adversity was
not new in the history of the country. Two centuries and

a-half before this period, a Mogul army of equal, if not greater

o 2
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magnitude, had been engulfed in these same defiles, and only-

two men survived to tell the tale, but the Emperor imme-

diately despatched a more powerful force under his ablest

generals to the scene of humiliation, and his reputation was
at once restored, and his authority re-established. Nor did

the native princes forget that in the British period of his-

tory, the sack of Calcutta in 1756 was avenged by the con-

quest of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, and that Colonel Monson's

disastrous retreat in 1804 was immediately followed by the

pursuit of Holkar, the victory of Deeg, and the extinction of

his battalions. The promptitude with which we had repaired

our misfortunes on those occasions had served to brighten our

reputation, and there could be no doubt that similar efforts

would produce similar results in 1842.

Unhappily, at this period therewas no Wellesley
Despondency and

** v ' * J

weakness of at the head of the state, and Lord Auckland was not

X.
Auckland

'

equal to the crisis. He was completely bewildered

and prostrated by the magnitude of the calamity,

and, instead of determining boldly to retrieve our honour by

putting forth the strength of the empire, he allowed its fortunes

to drift down the stream with the current of circumstances.

He knew that his proceedings in Afghanistan were unani-

mously reprobated by the India House, and by the Tory

Ministry which had recently returned to Downing Street. He
was on the eve of relinquishing the government, and the pro-

spect of handing it over to his successor, who had emphati-

cally denounced his Afghan policy, just at the period when
it had miserably collapsed, augmented his confusion. On hear-

ing of the siege and peril of the cantonment, he wrote to the

Commander-in-chief, Sir Jasper Nicholls, that it was not clear

to him how the march of a brigade, for which the officers on

the frontier were importunate, could produce any influence on

the events which were passing at Cabul, and that "if all

should be lost there, he would not encounter new hazards for

the purpose of re-conquest." This imbecile policy was fully

upheld by the Commander-in-chief, who had always expressed
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a strong disapprobation of the war. The news of the extinc-

tion of the force was received in Calcutta on the 30th January ;

it roused Lord Auckland from the state of morbid despon-

dency into which he had sunk, and he issued a declaration,

statin- that " The Governor-General in Council regarded the

partial reverse which had overtaken a body of British troops

in a country removed by distance and difficulties of season

from the possibility of succour, as a new occasion for dis-

playing the stability and vigour of the British power, and the

admirable spirit and valour of the British Indian Army." But

after this spasmodic flush of energy, he relapsed into an

unhealthy feeling of dejection, and wrote to the Commander-

in-chief, that, as the main inducement for maintaining the post

of Jellalabad, as a point of support for any troops escaping

from Cabul, had now passed away, his only object was to

withdraw General Sale to Peshawur. Instead of consider-

ing how to restore our military superiority, the sole basis on

which our position in India rests, he was prepared to leave it

without vindication, and considered only by what means he

might most speedily wash his hands of Afghanistan.

But there were two officers in the north-west
Mr. Robertson

. .<.,.. ,

and Mr. George as fully alive to the exigencies oi the crisis, as the
cierk, 1842.

Governor-General and the Commander-in-chief

were dead to them; Mr. Robertson, formerly the Com-

missioner in Burmah, and now the Lieutenant-Governor of

Agra, and Mr.—subsequently Sir George—Clerk, who exerted

themselves with extraordinary energy to push on reinforce-

ments and supplies. On Mr. Clerk devolved the duty of

forwarding through the Punjab the regiments which had

been appointed to relieve those returning from Afghanistan,
and his able assistant, Captain

—afterwards Sir Henry—
Lawrence, now urged them on with redoubled vigour. Their

exertions, however, were neutralized by the unhappy choice of

a commander, which did not rest with them, and the brigade,

instead of being placed under the orders of the most ener-

getic officer which the service could furnish, was sent for-
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colonel wild's
war(* un(^er Colonel Wild, into whom the Corn-

Brigade, 1842. mander-in-chief said he would endeavour to infuse

some degree of energy. By a fatality to which we had become
accustomed in everything connected with Afghanistan, the

brigade was despatched without cavalry or cannon, in the vague

hope that the Sikhs might be induced to accommodate it with

some ordnance. The Colonel crept through the Punjab at a

snail-like pace, and was thirty-fivedaysin reaching Peshawur,
whereas five years before, when Runjeet Sing had met with

reverses in Afghanistan, one of his European officers marched

over the same ground, short of fifty miles, In twelve days.

Colonel Wild had doubtless many difficulties to encounter, but

the most serious impediment to his progress was the lack of

that vigour with which other soldiers would have conquered
them. His sepoys, on their arrival at Peshawur, were eager
to advance, but he lingered at that station till they had become

thoroughly demoralized by the example of their Sikh auxiliaries.

Shere Sing, the successor of Runjeet Sing, had sent posi-

tive injunctions to General Avitabile who commanded at

Peshawur, and to his native generals to co-operate with the

British brigade, and to " earn a name by their zealous services

which should be known in London ;" but the Sikh soldiers, as

already stated, had an instinctive dread of the Afghan passes,

and although Major Mackeson had advanced a lac and a-half

of rupees for their services, they intercepted one of the guns
which had been sent over to Colonel Wild, and threatened to

put General Avitabile to death and return to Lahore. They
were induced, however, to advance to Jumrood at the entrance

of the pass, but they had no sooner looked in, than they turned

round to a man, and marched back to Peshawur, when General

Avitabile shut the gates upon them, and retired to the citadel.

Colonel Wild then ventured into the pass alone, but the

ricket}' guns the Sikhs had lent him, broke down on the first

discharge, and his sepoys lost heart, and allowed themselves

to be ignominiously chased back, leaving their cannon in the

possession of the Afreedis.
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General Poiiock* Meanwhile, Mr. Clerk was urging the Com-
Mfffe, iMfc

mander-in-chief, then in the north-west provinces,

and the Governor-General to despatch a second brigade to the

relief of the army, which was still supposed to be holding its

ground at Cabul. Lord Auckland was reluctant to allow it to

proceed, but the indomitable zeal of Mr. Clerk bore down every

obstacle, and a force of 3,000 men, including a European regi-

ment crossed the Sutlege on the 4th January. The selection

of the officer to command it was the solitary instance of

wisdom exhibited by the military authorities in this emergency.
It fell on General Pollock, an old artillery officer, who had

campaigned with Lord Lake, assisted in the first siege of

Bhurtpore, commanded the horse artillery in pursuit of Holkar,
taken an active share in the Nepaul war, and commanded the

Bengal artillery in Burmah in 1824. Forty years of service

had enlarged his experience, and matured his judgment without

impairing his energy. His sagacity, caution, and collected-

ness, combined with great decision of character, qualified him

in a pre-eminent degree for the arduous task which had now
to be performed. On the 22nd January, after the entire de-

struction of the Cabul force had been announced, Mr. Clerk

met Sir Jasper Nicholls at Thanesur to discuss the measures

which it was advisable to adopt at this crisis. The Com-
mander-in-chief considered that this catastrophe furnished no

reason for pushing forward further reinforcements, and that

as the retention of Jellalabad was no longer necessary for the

safety of the Cabul force, the withdrawal of Sir Robert Sale's

brigade was the only object which ought now to engage the

attention of Government. Mr. Clerk, in a spirit more worthy
of a Briton, maintained that the national reputation and the

safety of British interests in the east required that the garrison

of Jellalabad should be strengthened with fresh troops, to

enable it to march to Cabul simultaneously with the Candaliar

force from the westward, and inflict a signal retribution

upon the Afghans on the theatre of their recent successes,

and then withdraw from Afghanistan with dignity and
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undiminished renown. He could not brook the idea of

leaving them to revel in the annihilation of a British army,
and the humiliation of British honour. The energy of this

appeal was successful, and a third brigade was directed to be

held in readiness to advance into Afghanistan. But, in the

latest communication addressed by Lord Auckland to the

Secret Committee, he stated that his directions in regard to

the immediate withdrawal of the brigade from Jellalabad into

our own provinces, were clear and positive, and in his last

letter to General Pollock informed him that the paramount

object of his proceedings at Peshawur should be to " secure

the safe return of our people and troops, now detained beyond
the Indus."

The arrival of Lord Ellenborough at Calcutta
Close of Lord

,
. T

Auckland's Ad- on the 28th .February, brought Lord Auckland s

ministration, melancholy administration to a close. It comprised
a single series of events—the conquest, the occu-

pation, and the loss of Afghanistan. He likewise wrote a

benevolent minute on education ; he sanctioned the substitu-

tion of solemn declarations for judicial oaths, a measure of

doubtful expediency; and he endeavoured to promote the

interests of science, for which he had a natural turn, but for

administrative or material progress he had no leisure, and

they remained for six years in a state of comparative abey-
ance. His administration commenced with a surplus revenue

of a crore and a-half of rupees, and it closed with a deficit of

two millions, and a large addition to the debt. It was, however,
rendered memorable in the history of India, by the termination

of the connection Government had maintained for many years

idol Temples
w^h the establishments of idolatry, which was a

1842. scandal to the pious Christian, and offensive to the

religious Hindoo. The views of the Court of Directors on the

subject of religious observances after their functions had been

limited to the imperial duty of governing India in 1833, were

communicated to the local authorities in an able despatch
drawn up by Mr. Charles Grant, the President of the Board of
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Control. The natives of India were assured that the Govern-

ment would never fail to protect them in the exercise of their

privileges, and to manifest a liberal regard to their feelings,

in all eases in which their religious rites and offices were not

flagrantly opposed to the rules of common humanity and

decency. But the interference of British functionaries in the

interior management of native temples, in the customs, habits,

and religious proceedings of their priests, and in the arrange-
ment of their ceremonies and festivals, was to cease. The

pilgrim tax was everywhere to be abolished. Fines and offer-

ings were no longer to be considered sources of public revenue,

and no servant of the Company was to be engaged in the

collection, management, or custody of them. In all matters

relative to their temples, their worship, their festivals, their

religious practices and their ceremonial observances, the

natives were to be left entirely to themselves. These orders

were tardily obeyed in Bengal, and it was not till seven years
after they had been issued, that the management of the temple
of Juggunnath was restored to the raja of Khoorda, its here-

ditary custodian, and that the pilgrim tax at the various shrines

was relinquished, though not without an unbecoming reluct-

ance at the loss of the three lacs of rupees a-year it yielded to

the treasury. At Madras, which, from the obtuse feelings of its

public functionaries in long and unbroken succession had come
to be designated the "benighted Presidency," a morbid homage
had been paid for half a century to native superstitions, and

it required an objurgatory missive from the Court of Directors,

of which Mr. Butterworth Bayley was then Chairman, to

suppress the attendance of troops and military bands at idol-

atrous festivals, the firing of salutes on the birthdays of the

gods, and the decoration of images, and the presentation of

offerings, on the part of the East India Company.
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CHAPTER XXXVI.

LORD ELLENBOROUGh's ADMINISTRATION—CLOSE OP THE

AFGHAN WAR, 1842.

Lord Ellenborough who now assumed the reins

borough Gover- of Government was a statesman of high repute,

"^General,
and an eloquent speaker ; and his style was as

clear and vigorous, as that of his predecessor was,
for a Governor-General, exceptionally confused and feeble.

He had for some years taken a special interest in the affairs

of India, and a prominent part in Indian debates, more espe-

cially during the discussions of the last Charter. Like Lord

Wellesley and Lord Minto he had served his apprenticeship to

the government of India at the Board of Control, where he had

acquired an ample knowledge of the condition of the country,

and the principles and policy of the Company's administration.

He was reported to be a good man of business and a moderate

Tory, and his appointment was welcomed with delight in a

country where the animosities of political party are scarcely

heard of, and the public care about nothing but progress. He
was known to possess great energy and decision of character,

and the community augured a happy change from the weak

and vacillating policy of his predecessor. His address at the

entertainment given him by the Court of Directors at the

London tavern created great expectations of the beneficence

of his administration. He abjured all thoughts of warlike or

aggressive policy, and announced his determination to cultivate

the arts of peace, to emulate the magnificent benevolence of

Mahomedan conquerors, and to elevate and improve the con-

dition of the people.

General Pollock's General Pollock arrived at Peshawur on the

advance, 1842. 5^ February, and found the four regiments
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of infantry which had preceded him in a state of total

insubordination. This was the first mutiny which had

occurred in the native army since 1824, and it arose from the

seductions and the example of the Sikh troops, and the dread

of service in Afghanistan. Many of the sepoys had deserted

their colours, and nightly meetings had been held in the camp
at which the mutineers encouraged each other in the determi-

nation not to enter the Khyber. Efforts were likewise made

to debauch the newly arrived regiments, and brahmins were

sent round to bind them to the same resolution by an oath on

the water of the Ganges ; but the General ordered every

emissary found in the lines to be seized and expelled, and

acted with such promptitude and energy as to put a speedy
end to these machinations. Nor did the officers manifest much

less reluctance to encounter the difficulties of the march, and it

was openly declared at the mess table that it would be better

to sacrifice the whole of Sir Robert Sale's brigade than to

risk the safety of a fresh army. One officer went so far as

to affirm that he should consider it his duty strenuously to

dissuade the sepoys from moving into the pass. The diffi-

culties of General Pollock's course were indefinitely aggra-
vated b}' these demonstrations. Sir Robert Sale was impor-

tuning him to advance without delay to his relief, but the

General felt that, with a force so entirely demoralized, one

half in hospital and the other half in a state of mutiny, he

could not move without the risk of a second failure, which

would have been fatal to the hopes of the Jellalabad garrison.

Being obliged to wait for further reinforcements, he devoted

the months of February and March to the task of improving
the discipline, recovering the health, and reviving the con-

fidence of his troops, which was strengthened in no ordinary

degree by the arrival of a regiment of dragoons and some

troops of European horse artillery. Raja Golab Sing had
been sent with some of his own Jummoo battalions to assume
the command of the Sikh army, and to curb the insolence of

the Sikh troops, and Shere Sing, the successor of Runjeet



204 GENERAL POLLOCK FORCES THE KHYBER. [CHAP.

Sing had given him positive and unequivocal orders to afford

every possible assistance to General Pollock. But Golab Sing
had been withdrawn most reluctantly from the pursuit of his

own ambitious schemes in the regions lying beyond Cashmere,
and his feelings were so lukewarm and his efforts so perfunc-

tory as to lay him open to the suspicion of treachery. An
effort was therefore made by the British Agent to counteract

it by the offer of Jellalabad as an independent principality.
i At length the masterly arrangements and resolute bearing of

General Pollock completely overcame the dread with which the

Sikhs regarded the Khyber, and secured the active co-opera-

tion of the raja. Major Mackeson, the political agent, had

offered the Khyberrees the sum of 50,000 rupees for a passage

through their defiles, but they immediately rose in their de-

mands, which were flatly rejected. They then proceeded to

block up the entrance of the pass with huge stones and

branches of trees cemented together with clay, and covered

the mountains on either side with assailants whose matchlocks

carried death to the distance of eight hundred yards. But

the admirable plan which General Pollock devised for master-

ing the pass by sending two columns to crown the heights on

the right and the left, and clear them of the Afghans, baffled

all their efforts to guard this formidable barrier.

Entrance of the At three in the morning of the 5th April, the

Khyber, 1842.
troops moved out of the camp, without beat of

drum or sound of bugle, and clambered up the rugged and

precipitous crags with great enthusiasm, and the dawn of day
revealed their presence to the thunderstruck Afreedis on the

summit of their own mountains. A sharp conflict ensued, but

the British troops had the advantage of confidence as well as

valour, and the Afghans were soon perceived to fly precipitately

in every direction over their hills. Both the columns then

descended into the valley, and the defenders of the pass, find-

ing themselves attacked both in rear and in front, deserted their

position in haste and confusion, and the pass was opened to the

long string of baggage, which, including the munitions of war
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awl provisions for Sir Robert Sale's brigade, extended two

miles in Length. By the evening, the army and the convoy
reached the fort of Ali Musjid, five miles within the pass.

No further opposition was offered to the advance of General

Pollock, who reached Jellalabad on the 15th April and found

that the illustrious garrison had already achieved its own
relief.

sir Robert sale at Jellalabad was the capital of Western Afghan-
Jeiiaiabad, 1842.

jstari) selected for the mildness of its climate as

the winter residence of the rulers of Cabul, and not inferior in

importance to Candahar and Ghuzni. Sir Robert Sale entered

it on the 13th November with provisions for only two days.
He found that the fortifications were in a state of complete

dilapidation, and that rubbish had been allowed to accumulate

to such an extent around the ramparts that there were paths
over them in many places into the country. Immediately beyond
the walls, were ruined forts, walls, mosques, and gardens, which

afforded cover for assailants at the distance of only twenty or

thirty yards, and the inhabitants both in the town and the

country were as hostile as the Ghilzyes. The day after the occu-

pation of the town, the armed population of the neighbourhood,
to the number of 5,000, advanced towards the walls with yells

and imprecations on the infidels, when Sir Robert determined

to give them a sharp and decisive lesson. Colonel Monteith

issued from the gate at the head of about 1,100 men, of

all arms ; the artillery cannonaded the enemy ; the infantry
broke their ranks ; the cavalry completed their discomfiture,

and, in a short time not an Afghan was to be seen, with the

exception of those who lay dead on the field. Captain Broad-

foot, who had accompanied the brigade with his sappers and

miners, was an officer of indomitable energy, and extra-

ordinary resources, with a remarkable genius for war and

policy. He was immediately appointed garrison engineer,
and commenced the task of clearing and strengthening the

fortifications without delay. The whole of the 13th Foot

was turned into a working party ; a spirit of zeal and emula-
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tion was kindled throughout the garrison, and an indefensible

mass of ruins was in a short time converted into a fortress

proof against every thing but siege artillery. On the 9th

January a horseman rode up to the walls with the order

which Major Pottinger and General Elphinstone had written

at the dictation of the chiefs 'for the evacuation of Jellalabad.

The officers were unanimous in replying that as Akbar Khan

had sent a proclamation to the chiefs in the valley to raise

their followers and destroy the force, while the Cabul con-

vention provided for their safe escort through the country,

they considered it their duty to await further communication

from the political and military chief in Afghanistan.

Councils of war,
At the close of January a letter was received

1842. from Shah Soojah as the ostensible head of the

Government in Cabul, demanding the evacuation of Jellalabad,

in accordance with the terms of the treaty. It was written

in red official ink, but he stated in a private communication

that it had been signed under compulsion. A council of war

was held, when Sir Robert Sale and Captain Macgregor, the

political agent, who had doubtless been informed of the anxiety

of Lord Auckland to escape from the country at the earliest

moment, advised that the requisition to abandon Jellalabad

should be complied with under certain specified conditions.

This proposal was vigorously opposed by Captain Broadfoot,

who characterized it as detestable ;
but his opinion was

weakened by his impetuosity. The debate was so stormy
that the council wisely determined to adjourn to the following

day, when Captain Broadfoot produced a paper in support of

his views, drawn up by his friend, Captain Havelock, in his

usual calm, clear and decisive language. During the discus-

sion which ensued, the political agent endeavoured to support

his opinion by the remark, that the Government of India had

abandoned the garrison, that no attempt would be made to

relieve them after the failure of Colonel Wild, and that it was

impossible for them to hold their position much longer. To

this Captain Broadfoot replied, that if their own Government
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had thus deserted them, the covenant between the two parties

was cancelled, but they had a duty to perform to their country,

that of upholding its honour at the present crisis, from which

nothing- could absolve them. The majority of the council,

however, determined to adopt the advice of the political agent,

but resisted the indignity of giving hostages, which had

formed part of the proposal. A reply to this effect was

accordingly sent to Cabul, with the understanding that if the

communication from the Shah and the chiefs was a simple

acceptance of the terms, the garrison would be bound to

evacuate the town and the country, but if it were clogged
with any conditions, or appeared evasive, they should be at

liberty to adopt whatever course circumstances might dictate.

The answer from Cabul required the officers to testify their

6incerity by affixing their seals to the document. Another

council was held, and Sir Robert Sale and the political agent
called upon the officers to comply with this request. Captain
Broadfoot urged that the suspicion of their sincerity liberated

them from any obligation to confirm the treaty, and he pro-

posed that the whole question of capitulation should be

reopened. Some of the officers, under the influence of Broadfoot

and Havelock, had repented of their former pusillanimity. A
recent foray had been successful in supplying them with nearly
nine hundred head of cattle ; the officers were in fine feather,

and the majority voted against any renewal of the negotia-
tions. The next day letters were received from General

Pollock conveying the pleasing intelligence that reinforcements

were advancing from India, and all idea of abandoning their

post was at once and finally dismissed.

The great
^n tne ^tn February, a succession of earth-

earthquake, quakes destroyed in a few minutes the labour of

three months. The parapets were thrown down,
the bastions seriously injured, and one of the gates reduced to

a mass of ruins. The effects of this visitation were too

severely felt in the country around to allow the enemy to take

advantage of the defenceless state to which Jellalabad was
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reduced, and the damage was repaired with such promptitude
that the Afghans declared it was impossible the earthquake
could have been felt there. Akbar Khan now made his

appearance on the scene. If he had been able to advance at

once from Cabul with the guns he had obtained in the canton-

ments, while his troops were flushed with success, the peril of

the garrison would have been extreme ;
but he was happily-

detained at the capital by differences with the chiefs, and on

his arrival found that the defences had been restored, the fosse

completed, and a store of provisions laid in. He found also

that he had no longer to deal with men like General Elphin-

stone and Brigadier Shelton, or with a force sunk in despon-

dency, but with commanders and men full of animation and

confidence, and he prudently abstained from too near an

approach to the ramparts. On the 11th March, however, he

was emboldened to draw out his army, and advance to the

attack of the town, but the whole garrison sallied forth and

assaulted him with such impetuosity as to drive him igno-

miniously from the field. He resolved, therefore, to turn the

siege into a blockade, with the hope of starving the force into

submission. This strategy, which had been successful at

Cabul, rendered the situation of the garrison extremely critical ;

the cattle were perishing for want of fodder, the men were on

reduced rations of salt meat ; the officers were on short com-

mons, and the ammunition had begun to run low. On the

1st April, the troops sallied forth and swept into the town five

hundred sheep and goats they had seen from the bastions for

several days grazing in the plain, and thus supplied themselves

with food for ten days. Akbar Khan had been gradually

drawing his camp nearer to the town, in order to cut off forag-

ing parties, and at length pitched it with 6,000 troops, within

two miles of the ramparts. Captain Havelock had repeatedly
and strenuously urged on General Sale the necessity of a bold

attack on his encampment, as affording the only hope of

relieving the garrison from its perils, but he had resolutely

resisted the proposal.
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On the evening of the Gth, the General yielded

Ki, In, 7°m Apr" to the importunity of the officers who entertained

l31 --

the same opinion as Captain Havelock of the

necessity of an energetic assault on the enemy's encampment.

The plan of the engagement was laid down by the captain,

and provided that the force should move out in three columns,

and without noticing the little forts which studded the inter-

mediate space, make a sudden and vigorous attack on Akbar

Khan, and drive his army into the river, which was then a

rapid and unfordable torrent. The troops issued from the

gate at dawn on the 7th April, but at the distance of three

quarters of a mile from it, a flanking fire was opened from one

of the forts on the centre column, commanded by Sir Robert

Sale in person, and he ordered Colonel Dennie to stqrm it.

The Colonel rushed forward with his usual gallantry, but was

mortally wounded in endeavouring to penetrate the fort.

This false movement not only entailed the sacrifice of a valu-

able officer, but had well nigh marred the enterprise. The
advance column of 360 men led by Captain Havelock, moved
on towards the enemy's encampment, and was thus exposed,

without support, to the impetuous assault of Akbar's splendid

cavalry, 1,500 in number ;
but they repelled two charges, and

drove the assailants back to their camp. Repeated and earnest

messages were sent for the advance of the two other columns

which had been detained around the fort, and their timely
arrival completed the victory. The enemy were dislodged
from every point, and pursued to the river with the loss of their

guns, equipage and ammunition, and their camp was given up
to the flames. Akbar Khan disappeared, and the neighbour-

ing chiefs hastened to make their submission
; the villagers

poured in provisions, and General Pollock, on his arrival, a

week after, found the garrison in exuberant spirits and robust

health. One such day at Cabul would have saved the

army.
state of affairs Immediately after the outbreak at Cabul, the

iwi—lMi
1
"'

chiefs despatched Atta Mahomed to raise Western
iil r
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Afghanistan, and General Nott deemed it prudent to

withdraw his detachments from the outlying districts, and

concentrate his force in Candahar. Major Rawlinson endea-

voured to get up a movement among the Dooranees in favour

of Shah Soojah, the head of their own tribe, and bound the

chiefs by solemn oaths to remain faithful in their allegiance,

but their fidelity was shaken by the report industriously

spread that he himself was hostile to the continuance of

British authority in Afghanistan. The Shah's cavalry, the

Janbaz, who had in every instance proved insubordinate, went

into open revolt, murdered their officers, and joined the camp
of Atta Mahomed. Soon after, the Shah's own son, Sufder

Jung, decamped from Candahar, and placed himself at the head

of the insurgents, who, after having been engaged for some

weeks in making preparations, at length moved down to attack

the city and encamped within five miles of it. On the 12th

January, General Nott marched out with five regiments of

infantry and one of cavalry, and in an engagement which did

not last more than twenty minutes, inflicted a signal defeat

on them. The flame of rebellion however continued to spread

through the country, and all the Dooranee chiefs threw off the

mask, and openly joined the insurgents. Mirza Ahmed, the

ablest man in Western Afghanistan, who had hitherto enjoyed
the entire confidence of Major Rawlinson, and had been

entrusted by him with large sums, went over to the enemy
and assumed the direction of their movements ; but the hostile

camp was a prey to intestine dissensions. The Dooranee chiefs

had always been at feud with each other, and it required all

the extraordinary tact of the Mirza to keep these discordant

elements from explosion. The British troops, on the contrary,

were cheerful in the confidence of their strength, and sustained

their health and spirits by games and amusements, while at

the same time the General employed himself in improving the

fortifications, and laying in provisions for five months. The

insurgent chiefs and Sufder Jung at length sent to demand the

evacuation of Candahar in conformity with the order which



XXXVI.J ASSAULT ON CANDAHAIt. 211

Major Pottinger and General Elphinstone had signed two

months before, under compulsion. General Nott and Major
Rawlinson rejected the demand with scorn, and refused to

enter into any negotiations for the evacuation of the country
till they had received instructions from their own Government,
written after the murder of the Envoy was known. It was

deemed advisable to make a vigorous effort to break up the

Afghan camp which continued to hover round the city. To

prevent any insurrectionary movement within, a thousand

Afghan families were expelled, after which General Nott

marched out on the 10th March to encounter the enemy.
Under the subtle advice of Mirza Ahmed, the Afghan leaders

contrived to draw him to a distance from the city while they
doubled back in the hope of capturing it during his absence.

That chief and Sufder Jung arrived at sunset at the Herat

gate, where their emissaries had been employed for some hours

in heaping up brushwood saturated with oil. It blazed up as

soon as the torch was applied to it, and the ghazees, enfu-

riated with fanaticism and drugs, rushed forward with hideous

yells, and seemed to court death with the courage of martyrs.
The wild confusion of the scene was increased by the pitch

darkness of the night, and the post was defended for five hours

with great skill and energy by Major Lane and Major Rawlin-

Ron. Two guns were brought to bear on the enemy, and a

number of grain bags were piled up behind the gate, which
fell outwards about nine in the evening, when the ghazees
rushed forward and with frantic fury, climbed up the mound of

bags, but so vigorous was the defence that all their efforts

were rendered vain. Towards midnight their violence seemed
to be exhausted and they retired with their wounded, venting
curses on Mirza Ahmed and were with difficulty restrained

from laying violent hands on him, for having inveigled them
into an enterprise which had cost the lives of six hundred true

believers.

Fan of Ghuzni.
Soon after, intelligence was received that

JW2. Colonel Palmer, after holding Ghuzni for four

p 2
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months with a regiment of native infantry, had surrendered it

to the Afghans. There was a general impression that this

capitulation was even more disgraceful than that of Cabul, and

that under an officer of greater ability and decision, the post

might have been maintained with ease till it was relieved, and

this opinion was fully confirmed when General Nott subse-

quently had an opportunity of examining the defences. Great

Repulse of Gene- gloom was also diffused through the garrison of
rai England, 1842. Candahar by the repulse and retreat of General

England. He had reached Quettah with a convoy of provisions,

ammunition and money, and some additional troops for General

Nott, and was strongly advised to await the reinforcements

which were then on their way from below to join him. But he

persisted in advancing into the Pisheen valley, and on the 28th

March reached the village of Hykulzye, where he had been

warned to expect some opposition. A body of 500 of his sepoys

approached a slight elevation with a breastwork consisting of

a mound of earth thrown up from a ditch four feet deep, when
the enemy suddenly sprung up from behind it, and poured a

destructive fire on them, which brought down a hundred killed

and wounded. Their comrades recoiled from this unexpected

discharge, but rallied immediately after, and were eager to be

led on to the attack. Colonel Stacy thrice volunteered to

carry the sunga, or breastwork, with a hundred, or even with

eighty men, but the Brigadier would listen to no entreaty, and

hastened back to Quettah, where he actually began to throw up

entrenchments, as if he expected to be attacked. It was sub-

sequently ascertained that the entire number of the enemy at

Hykulzye, who had occasioned this disgraceful retreat did not

greatly exceed a thousand. From Quettah, he wrote to

General Nott ;
" Whenever it so happens that you retire

bodily in this direction, and that I am informed of it,
I feel

assured that I shall be able to make an advantageous diversion

in your favour." General Nott's temper was never remark-

able for its suavity at the best of times ; but it entirely broke

down under the provocation of this unmanly exhibition, and he
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ordered the Brigadier to advance without the least delay to

Candahar, where the supplies under his charge were impera-

tively needed. On reaching the scene of his former repulse,

the troops rushed forward impetuously to retrieve their honour,

and carried the breastworks with perfect ease. The Brigadier

soon after reached the defilewhich leads to the Kojuck pass, and

calling for a chair, coolly seated himself in it, and resisted

the entreaties of his officers who were impatient to secure the

honour of mastering it ;
nor would he allow his brigade to move

till he heard that it was in possession of Colonel Wymer,
whom General Nott had sent from Candahar to meet him.

Lord Ellenborough, on his arrival at Calcutta,

boroug"s

n

pro- found himself involved in a labyrinth of diffi-

tianuuion, 15th culties, but he entered on the arduous task be-
March, 1842.

'
. ,

queathed by his predecessor with becoming dig-

nity and confidence. On the 15th March, a notification signed

by himself and all the members of Council announced the

course which it was intended to pursue.
" The British Govern-

ment was no longer compelled to peril its armies, and with its

armies, the Indian empire, in support of the tripartite treaty.

Whatever course we may hereafter take must rest solely on mili-

tary considerations and regard to the safety of the detached

bodies of our troops, to the security of those now in the field

from all unnecessary risk, and finally to the establishment of our

military reputation by the infliction of some signal and decisive

blow upon the Afghans, which may make it appear to them,
and to our own subjects, and to our allies, that we have the

power of inflicting punishment upon those who commit atroci-

ties, and violate their faith, and that we withdraw ultimately
from Afghanistan, not from any deficiency of means to main-

tain our position, but because we are satisfied, that the king
we have set up, has not, as we were erroneously led to imagine,
the support of the nation over which he has been placed."

These noble sentiments were received with acclamation

throughout India
;
but after a very brief residence in Cal-

cutta, he left the Council board and proceeded to the north-
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west, to be near the Commander-in-chief. During the discus-

sions of the India Bill he had contended for placing some

restrictions on the powers of Indian Governors by subjecting
them to the wholesome restraint of Council, and he had dwelt

with much emphasis on " the peril of leaving too much to the

erratic caprice of a single man." He was now about to illus-

trate the truth of these remarks. As he proceeded on his

journey, he received intelligence of the success of General

Pollock in forcing his way through the Khyber, and of the

total defeat of Akbar Khan on the 7th April, which he an-

nounced to the public in a brilliant proclamation conferring

upon the garrison of Jellalabad, the title of " illustrious."

But he was likewise informed of the repulse which Brigadier

England had experienced at Hykulzye and of his retirement

to Quettah. This trumpery check unhappily made a more

powerful impression on his mind than the important successes

. .
of Sale and Pollock; and on the 19th April, he

Determination to
x

withdraw, 19th announced to the Commander-in-chief his deter-

Apni, 1842.
mination to withdraw the troops of General Nott

and General Pollock, at the earliest practicable period to posi-

tions where they might have certain and easy communication

with India. General Nott was therefore ordered to evacuate

Candahar and to retire to the Indus, after blowing up the gate-

ways and demolishing the fortifications. The Commander-

in-chief was instructed to direct the withdrawal of General

Pollock's army to Peshawur, but it was left to him " to consider

whether the troops, redeemed from the state of peril in which

they had been placed in Afghanistan, and it may still be hoped

not without the infliction of some severe blow on the Afghan

army, it would be justifiable again to put them forward for no

other object than that of avenging our losses, and re-establish-

ing our military character in all its original brilliancy." The

Commander-in-chief, who had always been opposed to the

Afghan expedition, lost no time in ordering General Pollock to

withdraw every British soldier to Peshawur, unless he should

have brought the negotiation for the release of the prisoners to
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such a point that its happy accomplishment might be risked by
withdrawal, or, had equipped a light force to rescue them, or,

was in expectation of an attack from Cabul. In other words,

if no negotiation was pending for the recovery of the brave

officers and tender women and children held in captivity, or,

if no effort had been made towards the accomplishment of this

object, they were to be abandoned to their fate. Lord Ellen-

borough would evidently have been more safe by the side of

his Council than by the side of the Commander-in-chief.

Effect of the
^° *ms commumcation General Pollock replied

order on General on the 13th of May, that the withdrawal of the

force at the present time, construed as it must

necessarily be into a defeat, would produce a most disastrous

effect, and compromise our character as a powerful nation

in that part of the world. The release of the prisoners, he

remarked, was also an object which could not be repudiated.

The want of cattle however, would effectually prevent his

immediate retirement from Jellalabad, and he ventured to

hint that he might possibly be detained there for several

months through the same difficulty. By this dexterous sug-

gestion, he was enabled to evade the injunction to retire at

once from his position, and he trusted to another change in

the versatile mind of Lord Ellenborough for more auspicious

orders. In reply to this communication he was authorized to

remain at Jellalabad till October. The order to evacuate

Candahar and Afghanistan fell like a thunderbolt on General

, Nott and Major Rawlinson. It was with no small
And on General J

Nott and Major difficulty that the admirable tact of the Major
wimson, 1842.

^a(j succeeded in maintaining anything like order

and government in the province amidst the reeking elements

of revolt and anarchy. He felt that any suspicion of our

intention to retire would raise the whole country in arms, and

render it impossible any longer to procure cattle without com-

pulsion, and that the perils of the force would be indefinitely

multiplied. The political and military chiefs determined to

keep the secret of these instructions to themselves ; but the
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orders they had received to withdraw the garrison from

Khelat-i-Ghilzye and to demolish the fortifications, could

scarcely fail to open the eyes of the Afghans to the design
of our Government. The ferocious Ghilzyes had determined

to dislodge the British force from that fortress, and 4,000 of

them had recently assailed it with unusual fury ;
thrice had

they clambered up the ramparts, and thrice had they been

hurled back by the gallantry of Captain Halkett Craigie and

his men, nor did they withdraw till 500 of their number lay

killed and wounded on the field. This triumph, which gave
additional strength to our authority, rendered the proposal
to abandon the fortress the more grievous. But General Nott

replied promptly to the requisition of the Governor-General

on the 19th May, though not without a heavy heart, that the

evacuation of the province should be effected in the best

manner circumstances would admit of. Arrangements were

immediately commenced for withdrawing the army, but

happily they were allowed to occupy two months, and

before they were completed, he received a communication

from Lord Ellenborough, dated the 4th July, which left him

free to march to Cabul.

Lord Eiien-
Lord Ellenborough had enjoined secrecy on the

boroughs change generals relative to the order of evacuation ;
but

it was not possible to conceal it from the public,

and it became known throughout the country before it reached

Jellalabad or Candahar. Never before had such a burst of

indignation been excited in India from the Himalayas to Cape
Comorin. It was universally felt that this dastardly retire-

ment would inflict a deeper and more galling stigma on the

national character than the humiliation at Cabul, which might

be considered one of the chances of war. With all the con-

tempt which Lord Ellenborough professed for public opinion,

it was scarcely possible that he could be indifferent to this

unanimity of reprobation. It is also known that the Court of

Directors and his own colleagues in the Ministry had in-

timated their expectation that an attempt should be made to
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vindicate the national honour and liberate the prisoners before

we retired from the country. For fifteen weeks he continued

to reiterate his determination to withdraw, but there were

indications in his official correspondence that his mind was

vacillating' between the opposite attractions of national honour

and personal consistency. At length he discovered an expe-

dient for reconciling them. On the 4th July, Mr. Maddock,

the secretary to Government, was instructed to convey to

General Nott the official assurance that the resolution of the

Governor-General to withdraw the troops at Candahar to

India remained without alteration. On the same day Lord

Ellenborough wrote himself to the General suggesting that it

might possibly be feasible for him to withdraw from Afghan-
istan by advancing to Ghuzni and Cabul, over the scenes of

our late disasters. " I know," he said,
"

all the effect it would

have on the minds of our soldiers, of our allies, of our enemies

in Asia, and of our own countrymen, and of all foreign nations

in Europe. It is an object of just ambition which no one

more than myself would rejoice to see effected ;
but I see that

failure in the attempt is certain and irretrievable ruin, and I

would inspire you with the necessary caution, and make you
feel that, great as are the objects to be obtained by success,

the risk is great." This mode of withdrawal, as every one,

not excepting even the Governor-General, could perceive was

nothing more or less than an advance on the capital with the

view of planting the British standard again on the battlements

of the Bala Ilissar, and retrieving our national honour. It

was unquestionably the duty of Lord Ellenborough, as the head

of the state, to have taken the responsibility of this risk on

himself, and to have furnished General Nott with distinct

instructions, instead of leaving him to encounter the risk and

the odium of failure. A copy of this communication was sent to

General Pollock, with the suggestion that he might possibly feel

disposed to advance to Cabul in order to co-operate with General

Nott. Both generals were too happy to obtain permission to

move up to the capital and restore our military character, and
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liberate the captives, to shrink from the responsibility with

which it was clogged.

^ r.c •* „.» Before following the march of the armies of
Shah Sooj ah, 1842. # #

°

retribution, it is necessary to allude to the for-

tunes of Shah Soojah, and of the hostages and captives. After

the retreat of the British army on the 6th January, the Shah con-

tinued to occupy the Bala Hissar. The insurgent chiefs acknow-

ledged him as king and paid him an empty homage, but they
themselves engrossed all the substantive power of the state,

and continued to coin money and to read prayers in the name

of Zemaun Khan, who had been elected the supreme ruler after

the 2nd November. The Shah sent repeated communications

to Jellalabad, declaring his unalterable attachment to the

British Government, and asking for nothing but money, though
he had contrived to save twenty lacs of rupees out of the

sums lavished on him since he left Loodiana. He endeavoured

at the same time to convince the chiefs of his unalterable

fidelity to the national cause, and he was consequently mis-

trusted by both parties. To test his sincerity, the chiefs desired

him to place himself at the head of the army they had assem-

bled to march, on Jellalabad and expel General Sale. It was

rumoured that he would be murdered or blinded by the

Barukzyes if he left the Bala Hissar, but Zemaun Khan
endeavoured to remove his suspicions by an oath on the

Koran. With this assurance he descended from the citadel

on th,e 5th April, decked out in all the insignia of royalty, of

which he was inordinately proud, but was shot dead on the

road by a body of matchlock men whom the son of Zemaun

Khan had placed in ambush, without his father's knowledge.
His body was rifled of the costly jewels which he always
carried about his person, and thrown into a ditch ; and thus

terminated his chequered career of five and thirty years. Great

doubts have been entertained of his fidelity to his English allies,

but the balance of evidence fixes on him the charge of having

given encouragement to those feelings of opposition which re-

sulted in the revolt at the beginning of November, inasmuch
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M on the departure of Sir William Macnaghten, who had always
been his friend, he was to be consigned to the control of Sir

Alexander Burnes, who was personally obnoxious to him, as

he was to every other Afghan chief. The assassin was con-

demned to be stoned to death by the doctors of Mahomedan

law, but his influence was too powerful to permit the execu-

tion of the sentence. The Shah's son Futteh Jung, a man of

weak intellect and dissolute manners, was proclaimed king

by one party, and he succeeded in rescuing the body of his

father, which, after lying in state for some days, was interred

with royal honours. Other parties were opposed to him ; a civil

war raged in the city, which was bombarded from the guns of

the Bala Hissar, and there was fighting from house to house.

Akbar Khan returned to the capital after his defeat at Jella-

labad, and laid close siege to the citadel, which surrendered

on the 7th June. The victorious Barukzyes then fell out

among themselves, a battle was fought between the factions,

and Akbar Khan's troops remained masters of the field. Futteh

Jung was replaced on the throne, stripped of all the wealth

Shah Soojah had accumulated, and reduced to the condition

of a puppet, while Akbar Khan became the head of the

government.

^ ^ ,• wu Of the British officers who were taken over as
The English hos-

tages and cap- hostages the greater number were entrusted to

Zemaun Khan, the only Afghan chief who never

wavered in his attachment to the English throughout these

scenes of treachery, and whom they were accustomed to de-

scribe as the good Nabob. He treated them with uniform

kindness, and not only refused every demand to surrender

them to the ferocity of the other chiefs, but raised a body of

3,000 troops at his own expense for their protection ; but on

the death of Shah Soojah he was constrained by the clamour

of the people to make them over to the high priest of Cabul,

under whose guardianship they remained till the beginning of

July, when Akbar Khan attained supreme power in the city.

Having formed the resolution of obtaining possession of the
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hostages, he at length prevailed upon the priest to sell them

for 4,000 rupees, after which they were lodged in the Bala

Hissar. The captives, consisting of nine ladies, twenty gen-

tlemen, and fourteen children, who had been made over to

him during the retreat, were conducted through the recent

scenes of slaughter, amidst the mangled corpses, which emit-

ted the sickening smell of death, to a fort at Tezeen. Soon

afterwards they were conveyed over mountain paths, all but

impassable, to Budeabad, forty miles distant from Jellalabad,

where they were lodged for three months in the apartments
built for the family of Mahomed Shah, the father-in-law of

Akbar Khan. No disposition was manifested to embitter their

captivity by harshness ; they were daily supplied with a suffi-

cient quantity of coarse food, and a sum of 1,000 rupees was dis-

tributed among them to purchase sugar and other luxuries.

The monotony of their prison life was relieved by correspon-

dence in cypher with their friends at Jellalabad, and by the

receipt of books and newspapers. During the absence of

Akbar Khan, however, Mahomed Shah did not scruple to

plunder them of the few articles of property they still pos-
sessed. On the approach of General Pollock's division to

Jellalabad, Akbar Khan deemed it advisable to remove them

for greater security to a more distant asylum. After a dif-

ficult march over barren hills and stony valleys, they were

again lodged in the fort of Tezeen, where General Elphinstone
sunk under the accumulation of bodily suffering and mental

distress
;
a noble and brave soldier, endeared to all around

him by his urbanity, and beloved by the men for his gallantry,

but without any qualification for the anxious post which Lord

Auckland had thrust upon him. His remains were conveyed to

Jellalabad by his faithful servant Moore, with the permission
of Akbar, and interred by the garrison with military honours.

On the 22nd May the captives were again removed, and con-

veyed to a fort three miles from Cabul, where they enjoyed
more liberty and comfort than they had yet experienced. They
had the free use of an orchard and its fruit; they were
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allowed the luxury of a bath in the river, and permitted to

interchange visits with their friends- in the Bala Hissar.

They received letters from Jellalabad, from India, and from

England, and there was abundant exercise for the body, and

healthy occupation for the mind during the three months of

their captivity in this fortress.

For more than three months the camp at Jella-
Advance of

,
_ , _

t;mo mi Pollock, labad had been kept in a state or feverish suspense

regarding the intentions of Government. There

was a general dread lest the armies should be ordered to retire

from the country leaving their cannon, standards, sick and

wounded, and their brave countrymen and helpless females

and children, in the hands of a barbarous and exulting foe,

and the order to advance to Cabul was received with a shout

of exultation. Meanwhile Akbar Khan deputed one of the

British officers whom he held in captivity, to negotiate with

General Pollock for the release of the prisoners, which he

agreed to grant on condition that the British force should

evacuate the country without marching on the capital ; and he

threatened if this were refused, to send them into Turkistan

and distribute them among the Oosbeg chiefs. The request,

as might have been expected, was peremptorily refused, and

though the negotiation was subsequently renewed, it never

came to any result. Lord Ellenborough had made energetic

and unceasing efforts to furnish General Pollock with cattle,

to enable him to retire to Peshawur, and his march to Cabul

was facilitated in no small degree by these abundant supplies,

but he could not venture to advance before he had the assur-

ance that the communication of the 4th July had reached

General Nott in time to prevent his marching southwards, in

accordance with previous orders. It was not before the

middle of August that General Pollock was informed that

the General had turned his face towards Cabul ; and on the

20th of that month an army of 8,000 men, animated with

feelings of the highest enthusiasm marched out of Jellalabad

to avenge the national honour. At Jugdulluk, where the
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Ghilzyes had eight months before slaughtered our troops

without mercy, they appeared again under the ablest of their

leaders, and with the flower of their tribes ; but they had no

longer a dispirited and fugitive soldiery to deal with. The
"

illustrious garrison" of Jellalabad took the lead in the assault,

and drove them from heights which appeared inaccessible,

uttering loud cheers as standard after standard fell into their

hands. The victory was in every respect complete, and it

proved that the triumph of the Afghans in January was the

result not of their own superior valour, but of the utter incom-

petence of the British officers. The rout of the Ghilzyes, and

the bold and confident movements of General Pollock, spread
consternation through all ranks at Cabul. Akbar Khan put
his threat in execution, and sent all the prisoners and hostages
to Turkistan, and then advanced with the chiefs of Cabul

and their forces, to make one last effort to protect it from an

avenging foe. The British soldiers as they moved forward

were roused to a state of frantic excitement by the sight of

the mangled remains of their comrades, with which the route

was strewed, and there could be little doubt of the result of

any conflict with the enemy.
Battle of Tezeen, The two forces met in the valley of Tezeen,
1842 *

which at the beginning of the year had been the

scene of a great massacre. It is surrounded on all sides by

lofty hills, and every available height bristled with matchlock

men who had poured down from Cabul. The Afghan horse,

intent on plunder, were the first to advance to the conflict, but

they were routed with great slaughter by the European

dragoons and the native cavalry. The artillery then engaged
in the assault, and did great execution both in the valley and

on the heights, while the infantry clambered up the hills, in

the face of a murderous fire from the jezails of the Afghans.

The sepoy emulated his European comrade ; and with a steady

pace and dauntless spirit they united in driving the enemy
from crag to crag, and dispersed them like chaff before the

wind, Akbar Khan fled from the field into the highlands
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Re-occurati„ n
nort{l of Cabul, leaving his followers to shift for

of cabui, 1842.
themselves, and the British army, after a triumphant

march through the scenes of their humiliation, encamped on the

Cabul race-course on the 15th September, and the British en-

sign again floated over the Bala Hissar.

Advance from Aktar Khan, the leader of the insurrection in
candaimr, 1842. "Western Afghanistan, who fled to Herat after his

defeat, had now returned and assumed the command of the

disaffected chiefs, and determined to take advantage of the

absence of Colonel Wymer at Khelat-i-Ghilzye. On the 29th

May, the whole body of the enemy appeared in the neighbour-
hood of Candahar ;

the hills were crowned with masses of

horsemen, and the rocky heights covered with their infantry,

thick as locusts. Conspicuous in the centre of the front ranks

appeared a female figure surrounded by the chieftains, and

animating the fanatic ghazees to the conflict. It was the

gallant widow of Akram Khan—the rebel, or the patriot—
whom the Cabul authorities had ordered to be blown from a

gun at the close of the previous year, and who had now aban-

doned the seclusion of the zenana to avenge his death, and

placed herself in the front of the battle mounted on his

charger, and unfolded his standard. Under cover of the guns,

General Nott's infantry stormed the heights, and drove the

Afghans successively from every position, and the cavalry was
then let loose to complete the victory. The next eight weeks

were passed in collecting cattle and provisions for the retrograde
march to the Indus through the Bolan pass, which Lord Ellen-

borough had ordered on the 18th April, but the arrangements
were scarcely completed when his auspicious despatch of the

4th July reached Candahar, and General Nott accepted with

alacrity the responsibility of retiring to India by way of Cabul,

as the Governor-General facetiously termed the march. A por-

tion of the force was sent back with the heavy guns, through
the Bolan pass under Brigadier England, and on the 7th

August, General Nott evacuated Candahar, leaving the province
in the hands of Sufder Jung, the son of Shah Soojah, who had
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intermediately abandoned the insurgents, and made his peace
with the British authorities. Owing to the admirable discipline

maintained by General Nott and Major Rawlinson, there had

been no licentiousness on the part of the soldiers to irritate

the inhabitants, who were seen to crowd around them and

embrace them as they bade farewell to the town. The

army reached Ghuzni without encountering any opposition

worthy of record, and found the citadel in good repair, but

the town in a state of dilapidation. The fortifications were

blown up ;
the wood work was set on fire ; and throughout

the night the sky was illuminated by the flames of this ancient

and renowned fortress, to which a new celebrity had been

given by the latest conquerors of India. The request made

by Runjeet Sing to Shah Soojah in 1833, to make over the

gates of Somnath, which he indignantly rejected, had taken

the fancy of Lord Ellenborough, and he determined to attach

to his administration the honour of restoring them to India.

In his letter of the 4th of July, he instructed General Nott, if

he should elect to retire by way of Ghuzni and Cabul,
" to

bring away from the tomb of Mahmood, his club which hangs
over it, and the gates of his tomb which are the gates of the

temple of Somnath, which will be the just trophies of your
successful march." Major Rawlinson, the highest authority on

questions of oriental archaeology, after a careful examination

of the inscription, came to the conclusion that they were only

a fac simile of the original gates ; but the priesthood main-

tained a different opinion, and bemoaned the loss of them, and

of the rich harvest they derived from the numerous pilgrims

who resorted to the shrine. The Hindoo sepoys, on the other

hand, exhibited no feeling of exultation, and were unable to

comprehend the object of this singular proceeding. Great

care was taken to avoid any desecration of the tomb

during the removal of the trophies. They were carefully

packed up, and accompanied the army to Cabul, which

General N ott reached the day after the arrival of the Bengal
division.
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Rescue of the
The ^rst ohject of General Pollock on reaching

Prisoners, 1842. Cabul was the recovery of the prisoners whom
Akbar Khan had suddenly removed from Cabul on the 25th

August, and sent forward day and night, without intermission

or rest, several thousand feet above the level of the sea, over

the barren wastes and steep ascents of the Hindoo Koosh, to

Bameean, where they arrived on the 3rd September. Sir

Richmond Shakespeare, the General's military secretary, was

immediately despatched in command of 600 horsemen, to make

every effort to overtake them. The day after, Sir Robert

Sale was likewise sent forward with a brigade to assist in this

noble enterprise. The commander of the Afghan escort with

the prisoners was Saleh Mahomed, a soldier of fortune, who
had been a native commandant in Captain Hopkins's local

regiment which had deserted to the Dost in the previous year.

On the hue of march to Bameean, this gossiping Afghan
established a friendly intercourse with Captain Johnson, one

of the prisoners, who possessed a perfect knowledge of the

native language and character, and who endeavoured to work

on his cupidity for the release of the captives, but at first

with little apparent success. On the 11th September, Saleh

Mahomed called Captain Johnson, Captain Lawrence, and

Major Pottinger aside, and produced a letter from Akbar Khan

directing him to convey the prisoners into the higher regions

of the Hindoo Koosh, and transfer them to the Oosbeg chief

of Khooloom. Their dismay may be readily conceived at the

prospect thus presented to them, of passing the remainder

of their lives in dismal and hopeless captivity among these

barbarians ; but it was speedily relieved when he proceeded
further to state, that he had likewise received a message from

the moonshee, Mohun Lall, at Cabul, promising him on the

part of General Pollock, a gratuity of 20,000 rupees and an

annuity of 12,000 rupees, if he would restore the captives to

liberty.
" I know nothing," he said,

" of General Pollock, but

if you three gentlemen will swear by your Saviour to make

good to me the offer I have received, 1 will deliver you over

III. Q
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to your own people." The proposal was accepted with rapture,

and the officers and the ladies hastened to bind themselves by
a deed to provide the requisite funds, according to their respec-

tive means. The hero of Herat was now in his element.

By common consent he assumed the direction of their move-

ments, deposed the governor of Bameean, and appointed a

more friendly chief in his stead, hoisted another flag, and

laid under contribution a tribe of Lohanee merchants who

happened to be passing through the country. He issued pro-

clamations calling upon all the neighbouring chiefs to come in

and make their obeisance ; and all the decent apparel left

with the prisoners was bestowed in dresses of honour on

those who obeyed the summons, to whom he likewise granted

remissions of revenue. The services of the Afghan escort,

consisting of about 250 men, were secured by a promise of

four months' pay on reaching Cabul. After this daring as-

sumption of authority, Major Pottinger deemed it necessary

to prepare for a siege, and lost no time in repairing the fortifica-

tions, digging wells, and laying in a supply of provisions. On
the 15th September, a horseman galloped in from Cabul with

the electrifying news that Akbar Khan had been completely
defeated by General Pollock at Tezeen, that the Afghan force

was annihilated, and the British army in full march on the

capital. Major Pottinger and his fellow prisoners determined

to return without any delay to Cabul. They quitted the fort

on the morning of the 16th, and slept that night on the bare

rocks, unconscious of fatigue or suffering. At midnight they
were aroused by a mounted messenger with a note from Sir

Richmond announcing his approach, and the next afternoon

he and his little squadron were in the midst of the band of

prisoners, and the sufferings of eight months were at an end.

On the 20th, the column sent under the command of Sir Robert

Sale joined the cavalcade, and the General was locked in the

embraces of his wife and daughter; two days after, the

cantonments at Cabul rang with acclamations as the captives

entered them. Never since the establishment of British rule in
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India had so intense a feeling of suspense and anxiety per-

vaded the length and breadth of the land as the fate of the

prisoners created, and the thrill of delight which vibrated

through the community on the report of their safety may
be more easily conceived than described.

Capture of ista- In the meanwhile, Ameenoolla Khan, one of
liff' ' '

the most ferocious opponents of British authority

in Afghanistan, was collecting the scattered remnants of

the Afghan army in the Kohistan, or highlands of Cabul, to

renew the struggle, and it was deemed important to break up
this hostile gathering. Istaliff, the chief town, was situated

on the margin of a valley, which for its genial climate, its

lovely aspect, and its luxuriant orchards, was considered the

garden of eastern Afghanistan. This fortified town was re-

garded as the virgin fortress of the province, and deemed so

secure against any attack that the Afghans had lodged their

treasure and their families in it, with perfect confidence. A
force was despatched against it under General M'Caskill, but

he left all the arrangements of the day to Captain Havelock,

through whose admirable strategy, the town was carried by
assault with trifling loss. Ameenoolla was among the first to fly,

and the whole population, men, women, and children, were soon

after seen to stream over the hills, in their white garments, in

eager flight. Chareekar, where the Goorkha regiment had

been slaughtered, as well as several other towns which had

taken a prominent part in the insurrection, were also destroyed.

The object of the expedition had now been
Destruction of ' \
the Great fully accomplished. Afghanistan had been re-

Bazaar, 1842.

(^quere^ ur prisoners recovered, and our

military reputation re-established in the eyes of India, and

throughout Central Asia. Among the ablest of our political

officers, there were some who considered that a precipitate

retirement might neutralize the effect of our success, and

they recommended the continued occupation of the country,

at least for twelvemonths. But although Afghanistan was

more completely at our feet than it had been at any period

Q2
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since we entered it, the increasing complication of Punjab

politics, and the growing power and insubordination of the

Khalsa soldiery rendered it impolitic to maintain a large army
of occupation at an inordinate cost, in a false and perilous

position beyond the Indus, and Lord Ellenborough wisely

determined to withdraw the whole force before the winter.

It was deemed advisable however, to leave some lasting mark

of retribution on the capital, and the great bazaar, where the

mutilated remains of Sir William Macnaghten had been

exposed to the insults of the mob, was selected for destruc-

tion. It was the noblest building of its kind in Central

Asia, and too substantial to yield to anything but gunpow-
der; two days were therefore employed in blowing it up.

A report was simultaneously spread that Cabul was to be

given up to plunder, and though the most strenuous efforts

were made to guard the gates, the soldiers rushed in from

both camps with an irresistible impetus. Houses and shops
were pillaged, the city was set on fire in several places, and

subjected for three days to the wild and licentious passions of

men maddened by a remembrance of the foul and treacherous

murder of their comrades, and by the tokens of our disgrace

which met the eye in every direction. The quarter of the

friendly tribe of the Kuz-zilbashes was with difficulty saved

from destruction, but the vengeance wreaked on the rest of

the city has no parallel in our Indian history.

The English colours were hauled down from
Return of the °

army, 1842. the ramparts of the Bala Hissar on the 12th

October, and the two armies turned their backs on Cabul. The

old blind king, Zemaun Shah, the brother of Shah Soojah,

whose expedition across the Indus and whose negotiations

with Tippoo and other native princes, had spread consternation

throughout India in the days of Lord Wellesley, returned with

the army to close a life of vicissitude under the shade of the

Company's protection. The family of Shah Soojah, and the

remnant of that royal family took advantage of the opportu-

nity to return to their former retreat on the banks of the
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Sutlege. The force halted at Jellalabad to enable General

Pollock to demolish the fortifications, and then pushed on

through the Khyber, which he traversed without molestation

by adopting the plan he had pursued when he entered it six

months before, of crowning and clearing the heights. General

.Miularen and General Nott, who commanded the centre and

rear divisions, did not deem it necessary to take the same pre-

caution, and they consequently suffered the disgrace of leaving
a considerable portion of their baggage in the hands of the

hereditary freebooters of the pass. At Peshawur the officers

were entertained with splendid hospitality by General Avita-

bile. The march of the army through the Punjab, owing
partly to the friendly disposition of the ruler Shere Sing, and

partly to the assemblage of a large force at Ferozepore, was
not interrupted by any adverse feeling.

Proclamation f
Lord Ellenborough received intelligence of the

Lord Eiienbo- re-occupation of Cabul whilst residing at Simla, in

the house in which Lord Auckland had, four years

before, penned the manifesto which ushered in the Afghan
war. It fell to the lot of Lord Ellenborough to issue a pro-

clamation announcing its termination, and he could not resist

the temptation of giving it dramatic effect, by affixing the

same date, the 1st October, to it, though it was not issued till

ten days after. The proclamation stated that the British

arms would now be withdrawn from Afghanistan, but as he

had not at the date of it received any intelligence of the pri-

soners, except that they had been sent into captivity in the wild

regions of the Hindoo Koosh, the public loudly denounced this

manifest indifference to their fate. No such document had

ever before issued from the Governor-General's bureau. The

policy of the state in times past had been subject to repeated

changes, but these changes had been carried into effect without

any ostentatious parade of superior wisdom, or any reflection on

previous transactions, and the Government of India at succes-

sive periods had always presented to its princes and people the

digniiied and imposing appearance of unanimity. But on this
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occasion, the policy of a preceding administration was for the

first time officially held up to public contempt.
" Disasters

unparalleled in their extent, except by the errors in which

they originated have in one short campaign been avenged upon

every scene of past misfortune. The enormous expenditure

required for the support ot a large force in a false position

will no longer arrest every measure for the improvement and

comfort of the people. The combined army of England and

India, superior in equipment, in discipline, in valour, and in the

officers by whom it is commanded to any force that can be

opposed to it in Asia, will stand in unassailable strength upon
its own soil, and, for ever, under the blessing of Providence,

preserve the glorious empire it has won in security and

honour." Lord Ellenborough had been in such a state of ex-

citement since he assumed the charge of the Government that

these inflated expressions excited little surprise, and the com-

munity only regretted that with all his fine talent he had so

little ballast. The proclamation of the Gates appeared next,

but it was at once seen to be a servile imitation of Bonaparte's

Egyptian proclamation. The Somnath gates were to be

restored to India with a grand flourish of trumpets.
" My

brethren and friends," said the Governor-General in his address

to the natives, "our victorious army bears the gates of the

temple of Somnath in triumph from Afghanistan, and the

despoiled tomb of Mahmood looks on the ruins of Ghuzni.

The insult of eight hundred years is avenged. To you princes

and chiefs of Sirhind, of Rajwarra, of Malwa, and Guzerat, I

shall commit this glorious trophy of successful warfare. You
will yourselves with all honour transmit the gates of sandal

wood to the restored temple of Somnath." This gasconade
was designated by the Duke of Wellington, "a song of

triumph ;" but the community in India, native as well as Euro-

pean, regarded it as the triumph of folly over common sense.

The gates, even if genuine, had been desecrated by their asso-

ciation with a Mahomedan mosque. The princes and chiefs to

whom the address was sent, were partly Hindoos and partly
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Mahomedans. To the latter it was an unequivocal insult; to

the Hindoos, not one in twenty of whom had ever heard of the

legend, the whole transaction appeared an absurdity. There

moreover, no temple of Somnath to receive them, and it

was preposterous to suppose that the Government of India

intended to erect and endow one. In the General Order which

Lord Ellenborough issued on the occasion, he directed that

these trophies of our arms should be transmitted from Feroze-

pore to Somnath, on the western coast, a distance of 600 miles,

with every demonstration of pomp, under the charge of an

officer on a salary of 1,000 rupees a month, with an escort of

three European officers and a hundred sepoys. They were to

receive double batta during the service, and, to give additional

importance to the procession, a detachment of his own body

guard was to accompany it, under charge of one of his aides-

de-camp. The gates were placed on a carriage covered

with costly trappings, and brought in the Governor-General's

train from Ferozepore to Agra. At the shrines of Muttra and

Brindabun, which he visited on his route, they were unveiled

for three days for the benefit of the brahmins and devotees.

As the encampment proceeded on its way to Agra hundreds

of Hindoos daily prostrated themselves before the car, and

made pooj
ah and offerings to it as to a deity. But the gates

were not destined to reach Somnath; they never travelled

beyond Agra, where they were soon after consigned to a

lumber room in the fort.

Meeting at Fe- At Ferozepore to which the divisions of General

roZepore, 1842. ^" tt and General Pollock were now tending,

Lord Ellenborough had assembled a large army, partly to

overawe the Sikhs, and partly to give a grand ovation to the

returning heroes " at the foot of the bridge of the Sutlege."

Two hundred and fifty elephants had been collected for the

occasion, and Lord Ellenborough superintended in person the

painting of their trunks, and the completion of their gaudy

caparisons. They were to be drawn up in two lines and to

salute the victorious battalions on then bended knees, but as
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the elephant crouches on his hind legs, half the effect of the

display was lost. The officers were feasted in magnificent

tents, decorated with flags bearing the names of their

victories, and the sepoys were regaled, as the Governor-

General's notification ran,
* with their favourite metoys

"
or

sweetmeats. Including the regiments from Afghanistan
more than 40,000 British troops were assembled on this

occasion at Ferozepore, and presented an imposing array

of power after our disasters beyond the Indus. An interview

between the Governor-General and Shere Sing, the ruler of the

Punjab, was prevented by some accidental misunderstanding,

but the heir apparent came down with a strong escort of

Sikh troops to compliment him. He reviewed the British

army and noticed with peculiar interest the veterans of

General Nott's and General Sale's brigades. The camp was

then broken up, to the great relief of Shere Sing, who was

haunted with the dread of a conflict with the British force,

and on its departure considered himself happy in having

escaped a great peril. A court-martial was convened, accord-

ing to professional usage, to investigate the conduct of the

officers who had " abandoned their posts and gone over to the

enemy," and they were honorably acquitted of all blame.

Major Pottinger's proceedings were submitted to a court of

enquiry, of which Mr. George Clerk was President, the

result of which added fresh lustre to the character of the

young soldier who had driven the Persian army from Herat, and

resisted the capitulation at Cabul, even in the last extremity.

The Afghan prisoners in our hands were likewise released.

Lord Ellenborough intended at first that they should present

themselves at the durbar at Ferozepore while he was

celebrating the triumph of the British arins in Afghanistan,
but the universal voice of society was raised against so

ungracious and so un-English a treatment of men whom we
had torn from their country, and on whom we had inflicted a

grievous injury. The more generous feelings of Lord Ellen-

borough's nature overcame his love of display, and Dost
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Mahomed was dismissed at a private interview. On taking

leave of him the Governor-General enquired his opinion of

the English after all he had seen of them in India. "
I have

been struck,*' he replied, "with the magnitude of your power,

and your resources, with your ships, your arsenals, and your

armies, but what I cannot understand, is, why the rulers of

so vast and nourishing an empire should have gone across the

Indus to deprive me of my poor and barren country."

Remarks on the The surprise expressed by the Dost was equally
expedition, 1842. shared by the English community both in India

and in England, with the exception of the cabinet of secreta-

ries at Simla and the Whig cabinet in Downing Street. After

twenty-five years of calm reflection, the expedition still ap-

pears an unparalleled instance of human rashness and folly.

The object of the war was to counteract the hostile designs

of Persia, by securing a friendly power in Afghanistan.

Mr. McNeill advised the Government of India to subsidize

and strengthen Dost Mahomed, who was eager for our

alliance ; but Lord Auckland and Mr. Macnaghten rejected

this counsel and resolved to place a puppet on the throne,

whom it became necessary to support by British bayonets and

British gold. They accordingly took possession of a country
of mountains and snow, filled with a turbulent and fanatic

population, and we planted our armies in positions separated

from all support by the Kojuk and the Bolan passes on one side,

and by the Khoord Cabul and the Khyber on the other. Our

most easterly post in Afghanistan was distant from the near-

est post in India by thirty-five marches, and the intervening

space was occupied by the cities, forts, and armies of a powerful

and doubtful ally, whose troops were organizing annual revolu-

tions, and whose Government was fast verging into a state of

servile subjection to them. The crisis of 1838 came round again
in 1856. The King of Persia invaded Herat and mastered the

city, and it was deemed important to the interests of the

Indian empire to check his career. Time had assuaged the

feelings of the Dost, and he had entered into a treaty with us
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engaging
" to be the friend of the friends and the enemy of

the enemies of the Company." He was liberally supplied with

arms and money to oppose the Persians ;
a military demonstra-

tion was likewise made by a British army in the maritime pro-
vinces of Persia, and under the influence of these combined

movements, the king was constrained to withdraw from

Herat and sue for peace. If the same politic course had been

adopted by Lord Auckland, we should have been saved the

greatest disgrace our arms had ever encountered in Asia,

and the loss of fifteen thousand lives, and fifteen crores of

rupees.

Colonel Stoddart
0ne °f the m0St m0Urnful episodes of the

and Captain Afghan war was the tragic end of Colonel Stod-
ono y'

"
'

dart and Captain Conolly. The Colonel had been

sent as envoy to Bokhara at the close of 1839 to promote the

liberation of the Russian slaves, and to enter into a friendly

treaty with the Ameer. The prince was of a haughty and re-

vengeful temper, and while he claimed the title of Commander

of the Faithful, was regarded throughout Central Asia as the

incarnation of perfidy and ferocity. He had addressed a letter

to the Queen of England, and being irritated by the contempt
with which it was treated at the Foreign Office, determined

to wreak his vengeance on the only Englishman in his

power, notwithstanding the fact of his being a diplomatic

agent. A complimentary reply under the royal sign manual

to the most powerful chief in Central Asia, with whom we
were seeking to establish an alliance, would not have lowered

the dignity of the Crown inasmuch as George the third,

and the Prince of Wales had corresponded directly with the

Nabob of the Carnatic. Colonel Stoddart was consigned to a

loathsome prison and repeatedly scourged, and required to

turn Mussulman, which he steadily refused. He was soon

after cast into a dark pit, the place of torment for the vilest

criminals, filled with decomposed animal matter and the bones

of the dead, and subsequently exposed at one of the gates of

the city to the jeers and the brutality of the faithful, but he
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Continued resolutely to adhere to his faith. The next day he

was again severely beaten, and his grave was dug before his

eyes.
" The grating of the spades," as he subsequently

recorded, "jarred on my shattered nerves beyond endurance,"

and it was in this state of mental and physical prostration that

he pronounced the formula of the Mahomedan creed. He was,

howei it. destined to two months of additional suffering, but

he endured it with a degree of constancy which excited the

admiration even of his persecutors. The continued success of

the British arms in Afghanistan induced the Ameer to treat

him with some degree of consideration, but the expedition
sent across the Hindoo Koosh by Sir William Macnaghten,
combined with the deputation of political missions to Khiva

and Kokan, raised a suspicion in his mind that the English
Government had a design on the independence of Turkistan.

He, therefore, adopted the precaution of despatching a mission

to St. Petersburg to solicit the aid of Russia. It appears that a

fair opportunity was at this time presented to Colonel Stod-

dart of escaping from the country, through the influence of

Russia, but from a high though mistaken sense of honour,

he refused to take advantage of it, lest he should appear to

owe his liberation to the good offices of a foreign Govern-

ment. Lord Palmerston solicited the friendly efforts of the

Russian Government on his behalf, and Colonel Bouteneff,

who was sent by the Emperor on a return embassy to Bo-

khara in May, 1841, was instructed to persist with greater

importunity in demanding his release. Letters from Lord

Clanricarde, the British Minister at St. Petersburg were trans-

mitted to him by that occasion, and the Russian Chancellor,

in his communication to the Governor-General of Orenberg,

expressed a hope that the Colonel would be induced " to

waive his feelings of misplaced vanity," and embrace the

present opportunity of obtaining his release. Colonel Bouteneff

readied Bokhara in August, 1841, and Colonel Stoddart was

permitted to take up his residence with the Russian mission.

In October, Captain Conolly, who had been sent on a mission
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by Sir William Macnaghten to Kokan, arrived at Bokhara,
but he was suspected of having encouraged the ruler of that

state in his hostility to the Ameer, and was immediately
arrested and his property confiscated. The Ameer had

addressed a second letter to the Queen of England, but was
referred for a reply to the Government of India. His commu-
nications with Russia had always been made directly to the

Emperor, who did not disdain to reply to his letters : and he

regarded the different treatment he had received from the

Foreign Office in England in the light not only of an insult, but

of a subterfuge, as the Government of India was universally

believed to be hostile to Bokhara. Then came the insurrection

at Cabul, and the murder of Sir Alexander Burnes. Colonel

Stoddart was immediately removed from the protection of the

Russian mission, and subjected, together with Captain Conolly,

to a rigid imprisonment. The entire destruction of the

British army produced a complete revolution in the feelings of

the Ameer regarding the value of any European connection.

He no longer considered the Russian alliance an object of any

importance, and the mission was treated with great contumely.
The envoy was abruptly summoned to his presence as he was

setting out on a fresh expedition to Kokan, and dismissed from

his court with contemptuous indifference. Colonel Bouteneff,

who had for some time been apprehensive of being sent to

keep company with the English prisoners, was happy to escape
from the hands of this capricious tyrant. On his departure, he

demanded the release of Colonel Stoddart and Captain Conolly,

in conformity with the promise of the Ameer, but was informed

that another letter had been addressed to the Queen of

England, and that they would be forwarded direct to England
on the receipt of her reply. On the 17th June, however, they
were both led out to the market-place of Bokhara and decapi-

tated.
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CHAPTER XXXVII.

lord ellenborougil's administration—sinde and gwalior

war, 1842—1844.

On the 1st October, 1842, Lord Ellenborough
announced in his Simla proclamation that the

" Government of India, content with the limits which nature

appears to have assigned to its empire, would devote all its

efforts to the establishment and maintenance of peace," and

he ordered a medal to be struck to inaugurate the reign of

peace with the motto,
" Pax Asiae restituta." Before six

months had elapsed, he issued another proclamation, annexing
the whole kingdom of Sinde to the Company's dominions.

That country was divided into three principalities, Upper
Sinde, ruled by the Ameers of Khyrpore, of whom Meer Roos-

tum was the chief ; Meerpoore, governed by Shere Mahomed,
and Lower Sinde held by the Ameers of Hyderabad. They
were independent of each other, almost to the same extent as

the princes of Rajpootana, and Lord Auckland had entered

into separate treaties with them in 1839 ; but in 1842 it was

resolved by the officers commanding in Sinde, to treat them

as one body, and to hold all the Ameers responsible for the

assumed default of any one of them. The humiliating treaties

dictated in 1839 had imposed on them a subsidiary force and a

tribute, but it had left them their estates and their regal dig-

nity, and they appear to have acquiesced meekly in the subor-

dinate condition to which they were reduced. During the three

subsequent years in which Afghanistan was occupied by our

troops, and Sinde had become the basis of our operations beyond
the Indus, their conduct was marked by good faith, if not by

cordiality. Under the personal influence of Major Outram, the

political Resident, they permitted a free passage to our troops

and stores through their country, and assisted the steamers
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with fuel. Any opposition on their part would have occasioned

the most serious inconvenience, but the garrisons of Candahar

and of the other posts in southern Afghanistan which were en-

tirely dependent on the supplies received from and through

Sinde, were never allowed to suffer want. This friendly aid was

gratefully acknowledged by Lord Auckland when on the eve

of quitting India. After the Cabul force had been annihilated,

and our military reputation had suffered a partial eclipse, the

Ameers still continued to furnish supplies and carriage, which

they might have withheld without any infraction of the treaties.

The force at Candahar could neither have retired to the Indus,

or advanced to Cabul without the assistance of Sinde, and it was

solely by means of the three thousand camels sent up from

that province that General Nott was enabled to march on the

capital. But two or three of the Ameers were emboldened by
our reverses to manifest a feeling of hostility, and Major
Outram brought it to the knowledge of Lord Ellenborough in the

form of distinct charges, which he represented to be of so

serious a nature as to justify a demand for a revision of the

treaties. Lord Ellenborough replied that he was resolved to

inflict signal chastisement, even to the confiscation of his

dominions, on any chief or Ameer who should have exhibited

hostile designs against us during the late events, founded on a

doubt of the existence of our power, but he added that there

must be clear proof of the faithlessness of the Ameers, and it

must not be "
provoked by the conduct of the British agents,

producing on the mind of any chief an apprehension that the

Government entertained designs inconsistent with his interests

or his honour."

Sir Charles
^ir Charles Napier arrived in Sinde on the 9th

Napier's proceed- September, invested with full diplomatic as well

as military power. He was a soldier of distin-

guished reputation, and of extraordinary resolution and

energy ; but he was new to India, and profoundly ignorant of

the language, habits, and character of its princes and people,

and of political life in it. He landed in Sinde with a violent
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prejudice against the Ameers, and in his first interview with

them at Hyderabad discarded all those amenities which had

always characterized the intercourse of the Company's func-

tionaries with the princes of India. Lord Ellenborough had par-

ticularly enjoined on the British agents in Sinde to consider

themselves the representatives of the friendship as much as of

the power of the British Government, and to be mindful that

all necessary acts of authority should be clothed with the

veil of courtesy and regard. This generous admonition was

entirely neglected by Sir Charles Napier. His menacing
address created lively apprehensions in the minds of the

Ameers, and all his subsequent proceedings only tended to

confirm them. The investigation of the charges of disloyalty

brought against the Ameers by Major Outram, was referred to

him by the Governor-General, but with the distinct injunction
that he should not proceed against any of them without the

most complete proof of their guilt. All the charges except
three were at once dismissed, and the question of their delin-

quency turned upon three points : whether a letter sent to a

petty Boogtie chief, and another sent to the ruler of the

Punjab were genuine, and whether the minister of Meer Roos-

tiun, of Upper Sinde, had favoured the escape of a malcontent.

The evidence of the authenticity of the letters was considered

by the best authorities in India extremely doubtful, and the

seals appeared to have been forged:
—in Sinde the fabrication

of seals was a profession. Upon every principle of equity and

fair dealing, the Ameers ought to have been heard in their

own defence before they were condemned ; but Sir Charles

Napier called upon them for no explanation, and, relying only
on his own sagacity, and on the opinion of one of his junior

assistants, as ignorant of the country as himself, informed

Lord Ellenborough that the letters were authentic, and the

charges substantiated; and that the treaty of 1839 had been

violated.

The new treaty, Major Outram had submitted, together with
1842 - the charges against the Ameers, the draft of the
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new treaty to be proposed for their acceptance. Its object
was to place the relationship of the two Governments on a

more satisfactory footing, to substitute a cession of territory

for the annual tribute, and to punish the hostile designs
which had been manifested by certain of the Ameers. They
were to be deprived of some of the districts they had for-

merly wrested from the Nabob of Bhawulpore, and he was
to be rewarded by the restoration 'of them for the exem-

plary fidelity he had manifested during the Afghan crisis.

The treaties reached Sir Charles Napier on the 12th Novem-

ber, when Major Outram found that they prescribed the se-

questration of lands to the value of nearly four lacs in excess

of those which he had proposed, and which it had been deter-

mined to take as a substitute for the tribute and as the penalty
of disloyalty. They likewise deprived the Ameers of the regal

prerogative of coining money. He attributed these additional

demands to inadvertence, and requested Sir Charles Napier
to bring the subject before Lord Ellenborough again, but ten

weeks were allowed to elapse before the reference was made.

The Governor-General admitted the error, and directed that it

should be rectified, but his despatch did not reach the camp
till after the battle of Meanee and the ruin of the Ameers.

With regard to the new treaties, he had expressly instructed

Sir Charles Napier to negotiate them with the Ameers, and

not to carry them into effect until they had been con-

cluded and ratified. Two days after they were received, Sir

Charles Napier invited Meer Roostum to discuss them at a

conference, but under the insidious advice of Ali Morad, he

failed to attend it. A fortnight passed without any further

communication regarding them with any of the Ameers, either

of Upper or Lower Sinde, but on the 1st December the General

informed Meer Roostum and his associates, that he had re-

ceived the draft of a treaty signed by the Governor-General,

which he now presented for their acceptance and guidance, and

that in obedience to his instructions, he should proceed at once

to occupy the territories indicated therein. The Ameers of
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Khy rpore sent their vakeels to protest against the charge of dis-

loyalty which had been brought against them, and to express,

generally, their willingness to agree to the treaty dictated by
the British Government, although they considered the terms

unjust and oppressive. Within three days, and before they had

signed the treaty, or had been allowed an opportunity of dis-

cussing its conditions, Sir Charles Napier sequestrated the

whole of the territory extending from Roree to the confines of

Bhawulpore, which embraced the lands Lord Ellenborough had

inadvertently included in the draft of the treaty. At the same

time, he issued a proclamation forbidding the ryots to pay any
rents to the Ameer after the 1st of January. These estates

belonged to the feudatories of the Ameers, the Belochee chiefs,

who were entirely dependent on them for their means of

subsistence. Meer Roostum remonstrated against this whole-

sale confiscation of his territories before he had signed any

treaty, and added with great simplicity that the English

possessions extended over thousands of miles, while the whole

of his territories would not be sufficient for the maintenance

of a single sahib. An idle rumour had reached the General

that the Ameers intended to make a night attack on his camp,
and he immediately threatened Meer Roostum to march on his

capital and destroy it and transplant the inhabitants. To this

menace the Ameer meekly replied,
" God knows we have no

intention of opposing the English, nor a thought of war or

fighting
—we have not the power. Ever since my possessions

were guaranteed to me and my posterity by the British

Government under a formal treaty, I have considered myself a

dependent of theirs, and thought myself secure."

rad &nd
These violent proceedings were evidently

the "Turban," prompted by the nefarious intrigues and the con-

summate villainy of Ali Morad. The office of Rais,

or lord paramount, was the highest dignity in Upper Sinde,

and had long been enjoyed by Meer Roostum, then in his

eighty-fifth year, who was venerated alike by the chiefs and-the

people, and held in high estimation by all the British officers

in. i:
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who had been connected with Sinde, for his invariable fidelity.

The succession to this office, of which the Turban was the

symbol, belonged by the usage of the country to his brother

Ali Morad, who was, with the exception of Shere Mahomed
of Meerpore, the ablest of the Ameers, but the personification

of subtlety and perfidy. He was anxious to make sure of this

honour, which Meer Roostuni was desirous of bestowing on

his own son, and our subsequent proceedings in Sinde may be

traced in a great measure to the infamous means which he

adopted to accomplish his object. On the 23rd November he

obtained an interview with Sir Charles Napier, and, with that

quick discernment of character for which the natives of India

are distinguished, ascertained that his temper combined the

elements of credulity and impulsiveness. He persuaded the

General that all the chiefs were hostile to British interests,

with the exception of himself and one of the Ameers of

Hyderabad, and he succeeded in obtaining the promise of

the Turban after the death of Meer Roostum. But he was

anxious to obtain possession of it at once, and this object

could be gained only by placing the old Ameer in a position

of hostility to the British Government. With ingenious ma-

lignity he laboured on the one hand to draw his brother into

some act of indiscretion which might compromise him, and on

the other hand endeavoured to inflame the mind of the British

General against him by constant misrepresentations. Through
his influence three haughty and menacing messages were sent

in succession to Meer Roostum by Sir Charles, and that vener-

able chief proposed to wait on him to offer a personal explana-

tion. Sir Charles was induced to refuse the interview, because
"

it would be embarrassing," but advised him to proceed to his

brother's residence, not without a hope that he might be pre-

vailed on to resign the Turban without delay.
" I send you this

letter," he wrote,
"
by your own brother ; listen to his advice ;

trust to his care. If you go to him, you may either remain, or I

will send an escort to conduct you to my camp." This advice had

all the force of a command, and Meer Roostum accordingly
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repaired to AB Mot-ad's fortress at Deejee, and on the 20th De-

ceinl.tr wrote to Sir Charles that of his own free will he had

aed the Turban, together with the control of his army, his

forts, and his country to Ali Morad. Sir Charles informed the

(lovernor-General, on the assurance of that intriguer, that this

lation had been written in the most formal manner in a

Koran before all the religious men collected to witness it;

but added that he was not without a suspicion that it had

been obtained by fraud and violence, and that he was resolved

on a personal interview with the old Ameer. This intention

he communicated to Ali Morad, who was anxious to prevent

the meeting, and rode over in haste to Deejee, roused his

brother at midnight, and urged him to take flight in order to

avoid Sir Charles Napier, who, he said, was coming the next

day to make him prisoner ;
the terrified old chief accordingly

escaped in haste to the camp of his relations twelve miles dis-

tant. Sir Charles immediately issued a proclamation to the

Ameers and people of Sinde, in which he charged Meer Roos-

tum with having iDsuited and defied the Governor-General

by departing from his brother's roof, and announced his de-

termination to maintain Ali Morad as the justly constituted

chieftain of the Talpoora family. Meer Roostum lost no time

in sending his minister to the General to put him in possession

of the truth, and to assure him that Ali Morad had placed him

in durance in his fort and had extorted the resignation of the

Turban, and had subsequently prompted him to escape by flight

the captivity with which he was menaced. To this message
Sir Charles sent an arrogant reply, charging the Ameer with

subterfuge and falsehood. " I do not," he said, "understand

such double conduct, and will not allow you to take shelter

under such misrepresentations. I no longer consider you the

chief of the Talpooras, nor will I treat with you as such, nor

with those who consider you the Rais." The resignation said

to have been written in the Koran was a forgery, and the as-

semblage of holy men to witness it an audacious fiction. Under
this deed Ah Morad claimed lands of the value of six hies of

R 2
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rupees a-year, as belonging to the Turban, and the abstraction

of this property, combined with the sequestrations of Sir Charles

Napier, left an income of only six lacs, out of twenty, for the

support of eighteen Ameers, and their thirty sons, and all

their feudatory chiefs.

To this wholesale spoliation the Ameers of
Emamgur, 1843. r

Upper Sinde could offer no resistance. Their

military force consisted of about two thousand men, under the

command of the son and nephew of Meer Roostum, and they
had never dreamed of offering any opposition to the British

General. But there was a fort in the desert, Emamgur, be-

longing to Meer Mahomed, who had not given any cause

of offence to the British authorities. Owing to its inaccessible

position, it does not appear ever to have been captured, and Sir

Charles considering it to be the Gibraltar of Upper Sinde, was

determined to show the chiefs, as he said, that "neither their

deserts nor their negotiations could intercept the progress of

the British army." On the 5th January he commenced his

march into the desert with fifty horsemen, two 24-pounders,

and three hundred and fifty Europeans, mounted on camels,

and after traversing the arid waste for four days without

seeing the face of an enemy, reached the fort on the 9th of

that month. It was abandoned on his approach, and the for-

tifications were blown up with the powder they contained.

The Duke of Wellington pronounced the expedition
" one of

the most curious military feats he had ever known to be per-

formed." It was unquestionably a gallant exploit, but as

there was no declaration of war, and as we had no differences

with the chief to whom the fort belonged, it was an act of

wanton aggression.

Sir Charles Napier had ordered the Ameers of
Conference with r

the Ameers, Upper and Lower Sinde to meet Major Outram at
1843.

Khyrpore to discuss and sign the treaties, and

invested him with full powers, but directed him to listen to no

remonstrance regarding the Turban, or the lands which Ali

Morad had seized. Major Outram pressed the omission of
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the clause regarding the coinage, because the right to coin

money was the most cherished prerogative of royalty in the

cast, and, likewise, because the image of the Queen was an

emblem forbidden by the Mahomedan creed ;
but Sir Charles

replied that the orders of Lord Ellenborough on this subject

were imperative and irreversible. By the contrivance of Ali

Morad, Meer Roostum and his brother Ameers were prevented

from attending the meeting, and only two of the agents of

the Ameers of Lower Sinde made their appearance ;
with the

concurrence of Sir Charles, Major Outram therefore transferred

the conference to Hyderabad, and fixed it for the 28th

January. Two days after, the vakeels of the Ameers of

Hyderabad arrived in the camp, bearing the seals of their

masters, with full authority to affix them to the treaties.

If they had been allowed to carry out their instructions

there would have been a peaceful solution of all differ-

ences, but Sir Charles Napier peremptorily refused them

permission to execute the deed, and directed them to return

to Hyderabad, in company with the Ameers of Upper Sinde,

who were informed that they would be treated as enemies if

they refused to proceed thither. This order was issued under

the crafty advice of Ali Morad, whose object was to create

embarrassments, well knowing that the Ameers of Lower

Sinde dreaded the appearance of the despoiled princes at their

capital, lest it should inflame the minds of the Belochee chiefs,

who were flocking to it with their followers.

„ r The conference was held on the arrival of Major
Conference at *

Hyderabad, Outram at Hyderabad. The Ameers denied that

they had infringed the treaties. They repudiated

the hostile correspondence, and maintained that they had

never affixed their seals to the letters said to have been

addressed to the Boogtie chief and to the ruler of the Punjab.

They demanded that these documents should be produced and

examined in their presence, but were informed that they were

with the Governor-General. Meer Roostum again asserted

that he had been placed under restraint by Ali Morad, and
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that his seal had been affixed to the deed of resignation by
force. Several conferences were subsequently held, at which

the Ameers assured the Major that the Belochee troops now
assembled at the capital were not under control, and that

the continued advance of Sir Charles Napier, who was march-

ing on Hyderabad, must inevitably lead to a collision. They
assented to the conditions of the treaties, although they were

deemed harsh
; they were ready even to relinquish the large

territory which Sir Charles had confiscated, but they re-

quired the assurance of Major Outram that the Turban and

the territory seized by Ali Morad should be restored to Meer

Roostum, if he could substantiate the allegation of violence.

If this concession w^re made, they thought that they might
succeed in restraining the passions of the troops. It was be-

yond the power of Major Outram to assent to this proposal. On
the 12th February, he attended a durbar in the fort, when all the

Ameers affixed their seals to the treaties. The city, however,
was in a state of commotion ; the sight of the fugitive and

disinherited princes of Upper Sinde, and, more especially, of

the venerable Meer Roostum, deposed from the chiefship and

stripped of his territory by his perfidious brother, exasperated

the inhabitants and the Belochee chiefs beyond endurance On

issuing from the fort after the treaties had been executed,

Major Outram and his officers were surrounded by a dense

crowd of citizens and soldiers pouring execrations on the

British name, and they would inevitably have fallen a sacrifice

to popular fury, if they had not been protected by a guard
under the command of the most influential chiefs, who refused

to leave them till they were safe within the gates of the Resi-

dency. The next day a deputation waited on Major Outram to

state that the Belochee troops were wrought up to such a state

of desperation that the Ameers were unable to restrain them, and

could no longer be answerable for their conduct. " We havo

given you," they said,
"

all that you wanted for yourselves and

for the Nabob of Bhawulpore without a murmur. Promise to

restore the lands which Ali Morad has seized, or permit us
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to recover them ourselves;" but Major Outram could only

them that the Ameers must be held responsible for

the conduct of their subjects. They entreated him to retire

from the Residency to a place of greater safety, but he

replied that he should neither move an inch, nor place an

additional sentry at his door. On the morning of the 15th

February, masses of infantry and cavalry came down upon

the Residency and assailed it with great resolution, but they

were effectually repulsed by a small body of native troops,

and a company of the 22nd Foot, which happened to be

present. After a gallant defence of three hours against over-

whelming numbers, Major Outram retired with the loss of

seventeen killed, wounded, and missing, to the armed steamer

anchored in the river about five hundred yards distant. It

is important to the interests of historical truth to correct the

groundless assertion made on the authority of Sir Charles

Napier in Lord Ellenborough's proclamation of the 5th March,
that " the Ameers signed the new treaty on the 14th February,
and treacherously attacked the residence of the British Com-

missioners with a large force on the following day." The

treaty was signed on the 12th, and for two days the Ameers

continued to importune Major Outram to retire from the

Residency, because they were unable to curb the indignation
of their feudatories, but, true to his chivalrous feeling, he

resolved to remain and brave the danger.

The battle of
^e attac^ on tne Residency closed all negotia-

Meanee, nth tion, and rendered an appeal to arms inevitable.
February, 1843. ^q ^^ wftg ^ ^ g^ Charleg Napier but to

march to Hyderabad, and to join issue with the national

force which had flocked thither in augmented numbers when it

was perceived that he continued to advance after the treaties

had been signed. On the morning of the 17th February he

came upon the Belochee army posted at Meanee, about six

miles from Hyderabad, numbering more than 20,000 men,
while his own force did not exceed 2,700. The Belochees took

up a strong position, with the dry bed of the Fullailee in
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front, and a wood on each flank defended by fifteen guns.

During three hours they maintained their ground with the

greatest courage and resolution, and being excellent swords-

men, repeatedly rushed down the bank on the British ranks,

after having discharged their matchlocks. The fortune of

the day was at length decided by a charge of cavalry on

the right of the enemy, while another body of horse fell

simultaneously on their camp, spreading dismay in the rear

of the masses opposed to the British infantry. The Belochees

disputed every inch of ground, and gradually retired from

the field, leaving their camp, their artillery, and all their

military stores in the hands of the victors. Braver men
never rushed on death, and never on any Indian battle-field

had the gallantry of British troops, or the generalship of a

British commander, been more conspicuously displayed. No

quarter was asked or given, and the loss of the Belochees in

killed and wounded was computed at 5,000, while that of the

British force, owing to the admirable tactics of Sir Charles

Napier, did not exceed 257, of whom nineteen were officers.

The victory was as complete as it was brilliant, but a fresh body
of 10,000 Belochees arrived the next day, and Shere Mahomed,
the Ameer of Meerpore, the ablest and most martial of the

princes, was in the neighbourhood with about the same

number of men, who had taken no part in the engagement.
Sir Charles was without the m^ans of laying siege to the fort

of Hyderabad, and would have been constrained to retire to

the banks of the Indus and throw up entrenchments, while

he awaited the arrival of a battering train. This appearance of

weakness might have marred the prospects of the campaign.
From these embarrassments he was happily relieved by the

voluntary submission of the Ameers, and the surrender of the

fortress. He entered Hyderabad on the 20th February, and

obtained possession of the accumulated treasures and jewels

of the Talpoora family, which were distributed as prize among
the captors. Major Outram refused to accept his share of the

plunder, acquired in what he considered an unjust war, and
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distributed it, to the extent of 30,000 rupees, among the

charitable institutions of India. Lord Ellenborough, soon after

receiving intelligence of the victory at Meanee, issued a pro-

clamation annexing the kingdom of Sinde,
"

fertile as Egypt,"
to the Company's territories, abolishing slavery, and opening
the Indus to the navigation and commerce of all nations.

The gallant Shere Mahomed, of Meerpore, who,
22nd March,

'

when Hyderabad was threatened by Sir John

Keane and General Cotton in 1839, had come to

the rescue with his coffin and his shroud, employed himself

in collecting together the scattered bands of Belochees, to

make another effort for the independence of his country. He
appeared in the neighbourhood of Hyderabad, near the village

of Dubba, on the 22nd March, and Sir Charles Napier, who

had, in the meantime, received reinforcements which raised his

force to 6,000, found the Ameer encamped with about 20,000
men in a strong position behind the dry bed of the Fullailee.

The British artillery played on the enemy's centre, till it began
to waver, the cavalry charged the left, and the 22nd Foot

rushed up the bank of the river, under a galling fire of match-

locks without returning a shot, till within forty paces of the

entrenchments, which they stormed with a noble devotion.

The field was gallantly contested on both sides
; the Belochees

fought with exemplary courage ; the British officers and men
emulated the example of their heroic commander, who moved
about with the utmost composure where the shots were flying
thickest. The victory was as complete as that of Meanee,
and Shere Mahomed fled with only a small body of followers.

A detachment was sent into the desert to take possession of

the fortress of Omercote, famed as the birthplace of the

Emperor Akbar. It was found deserted and Sir Charles Napier
soon after announced to the Governor-General the complete

subjugation of the country, which he made the subject of a

pun, and, in reference to the charge of injustice with which
the conquest was universally assailed, wrote pecccwi,

" I have
binned" (Sinde). During the year, there were some slight
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ebullitions of discontent, but they were subdued without diffi-

culty, and no conquered province in India has been found to

acquiesce more rapidly and more completely in the establish-

ment of British authority. Every effort to raise a local force in

Afghanistan to sustain our authority had been defeated by the

inveterate hostility and treachery of those who enlisted ; but

the Belochees entered cheerfully into the service of their con-

querors, exhibited a feeling of invariable loyalty, and did not

hesitate to embark on foreign service to garrison their trans-

marine settlements.

The achievements of the British army in Sinde,Remarks on the
.

conquest of which were naturally contrasted with the cowardice
m e, 1843.

au^ imbecility exhibited in Afghanistan, created a

feeling of just exultation in India; but it was clouded by
the conviction that the rupture with the Ameers was unjus-

tifiable, and the war unrighteous. Lord Ellenborough, at a

subsequent period, drew up an elaborate vindication of these

proceedings, but it only served to place the weakness of the

cause in a more prominent light. There is no doubt that he

was keenly sensible of the injury inflicted on British prestige

in India and in Asia by our disasters in Afghanistan, and was

quick to resent any manifestations of hostile or even equivocal

conduct in our allies, which could be traced to a suspicion of

the decay of our power. Such indications of disaffection had

been exhibited at the native Courts upon every former occasion

of our reverses, even far more palpably than in the present

instance in Sinde : but no Governor-General had deemed it

necessary to visit them with a heavy retribution. They had

always disappeared when victory was again associated with

our arms, and they would have died a natural death in Sinde if

the management of affairs had been in other hands than those

of Sir Charles Napier. Lord Ellenborough, unwisely, placed in-

discriminate confidence in his judgment, and regulated his

own proceedings by the information he communicated. Many
extenuating circumstances and many documents which could

not have failed to modify his opinions were withheld from him,
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and the fullest credit may be given to the assertion of Sir John

Hobhouse, the President of the Board of Control, that the con-

quest of Sinde would never have taken place if Lord Ellen-

borough had been in full possession of the real facts, and had

been cognisant of the misdeeds of Ali Morad. Sir Charles

entered upon his duties with a strong prejudice against the

Ameers, and he was the victim of a foregone conclusion. At the

beginning of his Sinde career, he remarked, "We only want

a pretext to coerce the Ameers," and after examining the letters

said to be treasonable, affirmed "they have given a pretext,

they have broken treaties. The more powerful Government

will at no distant period swallow up the weaker, and it would

be better to come to the result at once, if it can be done

with honesty." On a subsequent occasion he wrote, "We
have no right to seize Sinde, yet we shall do so, and a

very advantageous, useful, and humane piece of rascality it

will be." The rascality is more apparent than the advantage,

except to the captors, to whom it brought a rich draught of

prize money, of which seven lacs fell to the share of the

General- in-chief. On the finances of India it inflicted a loss of

two crores and a-half of rupees in the course of fifteen years.

The war was the result of Sir Charles's rash and impetuous

proceedings, but it must not be forgotten that he was sur-

rounded by the creatures, and stimulated by the villainous

intrigues, of Ali Morad. The conquest of Sinde admits of no

vindication. It is a blot on our national escutcheon, but it

stands alone among the transactions which have enlarged the

boundaries of the British empire in India, and it is unjust to

yield to an indolent dislike of investigation and pass a general
censure on our career for an exceptional transgression. The
treatment which the Ameers experienced forms one of the

darkest pages in the history of British India. State policy

might dictate their removal from a country where they had

once been masters, but it was nevertheless an act of cruelty to

inflict an indiscriminate banishment on these unhappy princes,

many of whom were innocent even of a hostile thought, and
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to consign them to a distant and dreary exile, separated from

all those associations which form the charm of existence.

The mutinies For tne nrs* ^me m the history of British India,
1844 - the expansion of the empire led to a mutiny of the

sepoys. Sinde became a British province, and they lost the

extra allowances which had been granted to them while on

active service in an enemy's country. The sepoy could not

comprehend why he should be deprived of any portion of his

pay because he had assisted in adding a new province to the

dominions of his masters, and he became insubordinate. In

February, 1844, the 34th Native Infantry, which had been

warned for service in Sinde, refused to march without the ad-

ditional allowances granted to troops proceeding be3
rond the

Indus. The 7th Bengal cavalry, and several companies of

Bengal artillery followed the example on the line of march, and

were ordered back to their former stations. The 69th and the

4th, which were ordered in their stead to the frontier, refused

to embark in the boats provided for them at Ferozepore. The

64th at Loodiana exhibited equal reluctance for the service,

and was countermarched to Benares. On reaching Umbala,
the native officers came forward and assured the General com-

manding the division that the regiment had thought better of it,

and was ready to proceed to Sinde. The Commander-in-chief,

elated with this return of loyalty, imprudently determined

to recompense it by a promise of higher pay and pension,

and greater indulgences of furlough ; but when the regi-

ment arrived at Moodkee, the men broke out in open mutiny,

and endeavoured to seize the colours, but were induced by the

flattery of the commandant to resume their march. Two

days after, the despatch of the Adjutant-General which an-

nounced the concessions made by the Commander-in-chief,

under the impression that the corps was animated with a

feeling of loyalty, was received in camp ; but though it was

then in a state of complete rebellion, the weak Colonel not only

translated the letter into Hindostanee and circulated it among
the sepoys, but aggravated the imprudence already com-
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mitted by promising the batta they had received under

General Pollock in Afghanistan. On the arrival of- the regi-

ment at Shikarpore, the extra allowances, to which the sanction

of the Government of India had never been obtained, were

withheld, and the men again broke out into mutiny. The
station was under the command of General Hunter, an

officer held in the highest estimation throughout the native

army, but he was unable to restore discipline and was openly
insulted and hustled on the parade. The sepoys affirmed that

they had been allured to Sinde by false pretences, that they
had been promised

" Pollock's batta
"

but had received

eight rupees instead of twelve. As there was unfortunately
too much reason for this complaint, he marched the regi-

ment back to the Indus, and agreed to condone the offence

of all but the ringleaders. The mutiny was hushed up, and

the Colonel cashiered. Finding it impracticable to garrison

Sinde with a Bengal force, the Government turned to the

Madras army which had never manifested any hesitation to

embark on foreign service. But the Madras army was not

free from the taint of insubordination
; and, during the pre-

vious six years, there had been repeated instances of mutiny
on various occasions, and at more than one station. The

47th was under orders for Moulmein, a station across the bay
on the Tenasserim coast, where the sepoys had always en-

joyed extra allowances. It was determined to change their

destination and embark them for Bombay on their way to

Sinde, with the promise of the same additional pay they had

enjoyed when crossing the sea. The assurance thus given

by the Governor in ignorance of the regulations of the

Bengal army, was of no validity, and the men, finding on

their arrival at Bombay that their expectations were dis-

appointed, broke out in open mutiny on parade. The

leaders were placed in confinement, and a small advance of

money was served out which kept down the spirit of re-

sistance, but it was deemed hazardous again to attempt
the experiment of despatching Madras regiments to Sinde.
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The province was made over to the Bombay army, and satis-

factory arrangements were made regarding the allowances of

the troops. These repeated explosions clearly demonstrated

that the feeling of subordination was gradually becoming
relaxed in the minds of the sepoys, and afforded a pre-

monition of that climax of mutiny which, thirteen years later,

swept away the whole of the Bengal army.
Lord Ellenborough's announcement of the victory

ProfTGSS 01

affairs at of Meanee, and the subjugation of Sinde, was dated
Gwalior, 1842.

frQm the palace Qjf Agfa Qn the^ MarcL Qn the

same day an order was issued to concentrate a large force on

the frontier of Sindia's territories, at a little distance from that

city, to support the authority of the regent, recently appointed

under the auspices of the Governor-General. Before the close

of the year two battles were fought which placed the whole of

the Gwalior kingdom at the disposal of the British Govern-

ment. Resuming the thread of events at that durbar, after the

death of Dowlut Rao Sindia, we remark that his widow, Baeza

Bye, adopted Junkojee Sindia in 1827, and that he died on the

7th February, 1843, without issue, and without having named a

successor. In 1838 he had taken for his second wife, Tara Bye,
now in her thirteenth year. Immediately upon his death she

adopted a boy of the age of eight, not without the full concur-

rence of the chiefs and of the Governor-General, and bestowed

on him the royal title of Gyajee. The durbar, comprising the

most influential men in the state, lay, military and ecclesiastical,

was anxious that the government of the country should con-

tinue to be administered by the existing council of ministers.

Lord Ellenborough, however, considering the geographical po-
sition of the kingdom, which consisted of many straggling dis-

tricts, impinging in every direction for many hundred miles on

the territories of the Company and its allies, and bearing in mind

also the extreme youth of the raja and his adoptive mother,

deemed it important that the management of the state should

rest upon the responsibility of a single individual as regent.

Two candidates appeared for this dignified office, the Mama
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Sahib, the uncle of the late raja, and Dada Khasjee, the here-

ditary chamberlain and keeper of the jewel office. The claims

of the Dada were strongly supported by the young- queen and

the ladies of the court, but Lord Ellenborough directed the

Resident to inform the durbar that he should prefer the ap-

pointment of the Mama Sahib, who was accordingly installed

on the 23rd February. This interference in the appointment
of the minister involved the necessity of giving him the sup-

port of the British Government, while it also rendered him an

object of increasing, aversion to an influential party in the

state, by whom his rival was preferred. The ranee and her

partizans, irritated at their disappointment, set every engine to

work to thwart and harass the regent, and to throw his ad-

ministration into confusion. It was in the prospect of being

obliged to afford him material support, that Lord Ellenborough
ordered the assembly of troops on the 5th March, but the re-

ceipt of more favourable intelligence from Gwalior induced

him to countermand it three days after,

state fth
^e &reat source of disquietude at Gwalior was

Gwaiior Army, the state of the army, consisting of about 30,000

infantry and 10,000 horse, with 200 pieces of can-

non, commanded for the most part by Christian officers of

European descent. It was not in any sense a Mahratta force

corresponding with that of the first Sindia and animated with

a strong feeling of national enthusiasm, but a mercenary body
recruited from the martial population of the provinces of Raj-

pootana, Oude, and the Company's territories. It was out of

all proportion, not only to the requirements of the kingdom,

which was protected from external invasion by its British

alliance, but also to its revenues, of which it absorbed more

than two-thirds. The Government of Gwalior had made re-

peated attempts to reduce its numbers with a view to the

tranquillity of the country and the relief of the treasury, but

the troops peremptorily refused to permit any of the corps to

be paid up and disbanded, or any vacancy in their ranks to

remain empty. They were, moreover, always in arrears, some-
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times to the extent of ten months' pay, which necessarily

served to increase the feeling of arrogance and insubordina-

tion. The army was in fact too large and too strong for the

state. One of the battalions of a brigade of infantry under a

native commandant, had recently committed great excesses in

Malwa, and in consequence of a strong remonstrance from the

Resident, he was ordered to repair alone to Gwalior to answer

for his conduct ; but he chose to march up contumaciously at

the head of his battalion, and the whole brigade was imme-

diately infected with a mutinous feeling. Lord Ellenborough

pressed on the regent the importance of dealing vigorously
with this spirit of rebellion, and offered him the assistance of

a British force, but he prudently declined the proposal, from

the conviction that the appearance of foreign soldiers in the

country would raise a flame in the army, and inevitably lead

to a collision.

Dismissal of the The opposition to the regent was organized in

Regent, 1843, ^Q Zenana, chiefly through the intrigues of a very
clever slave girl, who had acquired a complete ascendency over

the childish mind of the ranee. The slave was at length in-

duced by a large donation to withdraw from the palace, and

the Dada, who headed the adverse faction, was advised to

proceed to Benares with the bones of the deceased raja, as he

had conveyed the bones of Dowlut Rao Sindia sixteen years

before to the same holy city ; but he declined the insidious pro-

posal, well knowing that he would not be permitted to return

to Gwalior when he had once quitted it. To strengthen his

influence at the court, the Regent betrothed the young raja to

his own niece, but the palace confederacy assured the ranee

that this alliance would completely undermine her influence,

as indeed it was intended to do, and ten days after the cere-

mony had taken place, she sent abruptly to inform the Resi-

dent that, having various causes of complaint against the

regent, she had thought fit to dismiss him from his office.

The Resident energetically remonstrated with the self-willed

girl on the folly of this course, but she turned a deaf ear to
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all his representations. lie then requested permission to call

Dp ;i British detachment to support the cause of the regent,

but Lord Ellenborough refused to sanction this movement,

though he caused intimation to be given to the ranee, that

it was indispensable to establish a Government at Gwalior

capable of maintaining tranquillity along the extensive line of

its frontier, and that it was impossible for him to permit
" the growth of a lax system of rule generating habits of

plunder." Lord Ellenborough had lost all confidence in the

regent, who ought in his opinion to have been able, with the

aid of the army and the countenance of the British authori-

ties, to baffle the machinations of the palace.
" You have

proved yourself," he said,
"
unfit to manage men or women,

and a minister at Gwalior must manage both." The regent

was violently expelled the country, and the revengeful Dada

would have deprived him of his liberty, as well as of his pro-

perty, as he passed through the independent state of Seronge,

but for the interposition of the Governor-General. The degra-

dation of the minister who had been supported by the Govern-

ment of India was an insult which Lord Ellenborough was not

disposed to overlook, and the Resident was desired to with-

draw from the capital with all his establishment, and to retire

to Dholpore. The durbar had not forgotten that the retirement

of Colonel Collins in 1803 was immediately followed by the

battle of Assye and the dismemberment of the kingdom, and

every effort was made to induce the Resident to return to the

capital ; but the Governor-General steadily refused to give his

consent.

confusion at On the expulsion of the regent, the ranee as-

Gwaitor, 1843. gume(j the ostensible management of the state,

and held durbars daily, but all real power was in the hands of

the Dada, who had secured the females of the zenana by
lavish gifts of money and land. He manifested his hostility

to the Government of India by expelling from office those who
were favorable to it, and installing those who were known to

regard it with aversion. The most influential nobles held aloof

in. s
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from him, and he never moved out of the palace, where he con-

sidered himself secure, without the protection of a strong guard.
In this state of political confusion, the army, which was con-

centrated at the capital and courted by all parties, became more

arrogant and overbearing than ever, and the soldiers of the

artillery insulted their officers and expelled them from the camp.
The ranee continued to importune the Resident to return,

but he was instructed to inform her that until the Dada, the

author of all these complications, and the only obstacle to the

restoration of friendly relations between the two states, was
removed from her counsels, he was not at liberty to resume

his functions at the capital. This communication was deli-

vered, in common with all others, to the Dada, but he impro-

perly withheld it from the ranee. Considering, however, that

he was the chief minister of the state, and the sole medium

of communication with her, the transgression will appear very

venial, but the Governor-General thought fit to regard it as

an " offence of the most criminal character against the state of

Gwalior," and peremptorily demanded that he should be com-

mitted to the custody of the Resident. The ranee replied that

she was prepared to deprive him of his office and authority,

and to place him under restraint within the Gwalior territories,

but that it would be derogatory to the dignity of the crown

to surrender him at the dictation of a foreign power.
'

Three

of the ablest and most influential of the nobles, anxious to

preserve the alliance and friendship of the British Government,
formed a junction with one of the brigades hostile to the Dada,

and, after having besieged the palace for three days, obtained

possession of his person. The capital presented the appear-

ance of two hostile encampments. The rival parties were

equally balanced in numbers and strength, but the command

of the treasury gave the ranee a preponderating influence.

They came at length to an open rupture, which resulted in the

loss of fifty or sixty lives. Soon after, the Dada contrived to

effect his escape, and again assumed the management of

affairs, issued eight months' pay to the troops, and made pre-
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Ignitions to oppose any movement of British troops which

the Governor-General might order.

On the 1st November, Lord Ellenborough re-

EUraborough's
corded a Minute on the state of affairs at Gwalior,

Minute, which furnishes a key to his subsequent proceed-
Nov. 1st, 1843. . T , n - r ,

mgs. It was exceptionally free from paradox
and eccentricity, and, if viewed either with reference to the

soundness of its political views, or to the vigour of its style,

may be considered one of the ablest state papers on the records

of the Council. Whether forced on us, he said, by circum-

stances, or the settled object of our arms and policy, our position

in India is that of the paramount and controlling power, and

it is therefore impossible to take a partial and insulated view

of our relations with any one state within that limit. To

recede from that position would endanger our own existence,

and bring upon all the states now dependent on us the most

afflicting calamities. It would let loose all the elements of

confusion, and lead the several states to seek redress for daily

occurring grievances against each other, not from the super-

intending justice of the British Government, but from the

armed reprisals of the injured; and the countries which,
under our protection, have enjoyed many of the advantages
of peace would again be exposed to devastation. He then

passed in review the transactions of the year at Gwalior where

the expulsion of the regent, nominated with our concurrence,

and the elevation of his rival, was an affront of the gravest

character, and where, moreover, an army of 30,000 men,
with a very numerous artillery, under the direction of a

person who had obtained his post and could only retain it in

despite of the British Government, lay within a few marches

of the capital of the north-west provinces. "Still, under

ordinary circumstances, we might perhaps have waited upon

time, and trusted to the disunion manifest among the chiefs,

and the usual vicissitudes of an Indian court, to restore our

influence at Gwalior. But the events which have recently

occurred at Lahore will not permit the resort to a policy
8*
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suited only to a state of general tranquillity in India." In the

Punjab both the sovereign and his son had been murdered in

the month of September at the instigation of Dhyan Sing,

who was himself slain on the same day by the assassin he

had employed to destroy his master. Heera Sing, the son of

Dhyan Sing, revenged the death of his father, proclaimed

Duleep Sing sovereign, and endeavoured to gain over the

army by the addition of two rupees and a-half to the monthly

pay of each soldier. Amidst these convulsions and massacres

the army had become the dominant power in the state, and

Lord Ellenborough justly remarked that " with an army
of 70,000 men within three marches of the Sutlege, con-

fident in its own strength, proud of its various successes

against its neighbours, desirous of war and of plunder, and

under no discipline or control, it would be unpardonable were

we not to take every possible precaution against its hostility,

and no precaution appears to be more necessary than that

of rendering our rear and our communications secure, by the

re-establishment of a friendly Government at Gwalior." It

will admit of no controversy that while this large army, com-

posed of the bravest soldiers in India, and its three hundred

guns, complete masters of the Government, and eager to pour
down on our territories, lay across the Sutlege, and another

powerful army with two hundred guns, trained by European
officers and equally beyond the control of the state, lay within

sixty-five miles of Agra, the British empire was in a position

of extreme peril. The Governor-General would have incurred

a serious responsibility if he had been indifferent to the im-

portance of reducing the Gwalior army before the collision

with the Sikhs, which was evidently inevitable, came on.

Lord Ellenborough had continued for two months to press the

surrender of the Dada on the ranee, and the Resident had

assured her that nothing short of it would satisfy the British

Government. "
If," he said,

" the Governor-General, who is

now on his way to Agra, should not find the Dada there on

his arrival, God alone knows what orders may be issued."
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Lord Ellenborough arrived at Agra on the 11th
Proceedings of

° °

LordKiien- December, and finding that the Dada had not
borough, 1843.

quitted Gwalior, wrote the next day to inform

the ranee that it would have been gratifying to him if her

conduct had enabled him to look forward to a long con-

tinuance of friendship between the states, but her Highness
had unfortunately listened to other counsels and the British

authorities could neither permit the existence within the

territories of Sindia of an unfriendly Government, nor allow

those territories to remain without a Government willing and

able to maintain order, and to preserve the relations of amity
with its neighbours. Compelled by the conduct her High-
ness had been advised to adopt, he was obliged to look to

other means than those of friendly remonstrance to maintain

the relations of the two states in their integrity. He had

directed the British armies to advance, and would not arrest

their movements till he had full security for the future tran-

quillity of the common frontier. The Commander-in-chief,
Sir Hugh Gough, accordingly, commenced his march towards

Gwalior, and the Dada was immediately sent to Dholpore
with a letter from the ranee to request that as the wishes of

the Governor-General had been complied with, the progress
of the army might be arrested. On the 18th December, Lord

Ellenborough replied to her communication, repeating his

former remarks on the necessity of a strong Government able

to control its own subjects, and he required that the Gwalior

army, which was to all intents the master of the Govern-

ment it pretended to serve, should be reduced within reason-

able limits, and that the strength of the British contingent
should be increased. The completion of this measure in a

satisfactory manner by the Maharanee and the durbar, would

render the advance of the British armies no longer requisite,

but they would be at hand to give aid to her Highness, if

necessary, in effecting this purpose. Instead, however, of

resting the justification of these proceedings on the undeni-

able argument of an imperative necessity, Lord Ellenborough
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adopted the feeble plea of the duty he owed " the Maharaja,
whose person and whose rights as the successor of Dowlut

Rao Sindia were placed by treaty under the protection of

the British Government." The treaty thus unexpectedly

brought forward was that of Boorhanpore, forced on Sindia

by Lord Wellesley in 1804, and negotiated by Colonel

Malcolm. It provided that a subsidiary force of 6,000 men
should be organized on Sindia's behoof, and that "

it should

be ready at all times, on the requisition of the Maharaja, to

execute services of importance, such as the care of his person,

his heirs, and successors, and the overawing and chastisement

of rebels, or exciters of disturbance in his dominions." But

as this subsidiary force was not to be paid from his treasury,

or even stationed within his territories, it was never called into

existence. The treaty itself became a dead letter from the day
it was signed, and no reference was subsequently made to

it, either by the Mahratta court, or by the Government of

India. When a new treaty was formed with Sindia by Lord

Hastings, in 1817, although previous and succeeding treaties

were recapitulated and confirmed, that of Boorhanpore was un-

noticed. It was this obsolete treaty which Lord Ellenborough
now restored to life, after it had lain in the grave for forty

years, and on the strength of it ordered two armies into the

Gwalior territories, not only without the requisition of the

raja, but in spite of the remonstrances of his Government.

The ranee and raja, finding that the Governor-
Deputation from J ' °
Gwaiior—March General was moving down with a large force to
o the army, is 3. ^e Chumbul, the boundary of the two states,

determined to advance to the frontier town of Dholpore to meet

him ; and a deputation of three of the most influential chiefs of

the durbar, friendly to the Company's Government, was sent

forward to arrange the interview. They suggested that the

queen and the prince, who were then on the eve of leaving

the capital, should wait on Lord Ellenborough in his present

encampment, which was the spot where all former Governors-

General had awaited the visit of the Gwalior rajas. Lord
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Ellenborough replied that he could not wait their arrival, and

tint tlif army would advance as soon as -the whole of the

troops had joined it. The chiefs entreated him to reconsider

this determination. It was, they said, a question of vital

importance, affecting the honour of the house of Sindia, which

would be eternally disgraced if, contrary to all precedent, the

Governor-General should cross the frontier before the raja had

paid his respects to him on British territory. It was in his

hands to uphold or to destroy the dynasty of their master ;

the treaty which had been propounded would occasion no diffi-

culty ;
it was for him to dictate the terms, it was for them to

obey; but they implored him with joined hands to weigh the

serious consequences which might result from his crossing the

Chumbul with a large force before the interview with the raja.

The only reply vouchsafed to this entreaty by the Governor-

General was a repetition of the assertion that it was impos-
sible to suspend the progress of the army. The chiefs then

proposed that the queen and the prince should meet him at

Hingona, about twenty-three miles distant from Gwalior, and

sign the treaty, and Lord Ellenborough consented to fix the

26th for the meeting ; but the Gwalior troops did not fail to

perceive that the advance of the British army was a hostile

movement, and would result in depriving them of the power
and the position they had acquired, and in consigning them to

beggary. All party animosities were hushed before the

danger which equally menaced the independence of the state

and the existence of the army, and chiefs and soldiers made

common cause against the designs of the Governor-General.

The Gwalior battalions prevented the ranee and the prince

from keeping their appointment at Hingona, and marched out

of the capital with exultation, assuring the Resident as they

passed, that they were going to drive the English back across

the Chumbul.

^ ,_ , . The Governor-General waited in vain two daysThe battle of J

Maharajpore, at Hingona for the royal party, and on the 28th
>9th Dec., 1843.

j)ecemker directed the army to advance upon
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Gwaliort Sindia's troops had taken up a strong position at

Chounda, and the* arrangements of Sir Hugh Gough were di-

rected to this point, but, during the night seven battalions

of infantry, with twenty guns of heavy calibre, advanced to the

village of Maharajpore and entrenched themselves, with their

formidable batteries in itii front. The Commander-in-chief and

the officers of his staff h&d fallen into the usual error of despis-

ing the enemy, and considered them a contemptible rabble,

ready to take to flight on the first shot. General Churchill,

the Quartermaster-General, who fell gallantly in the action,

observed on the day preceding it that the only weapon he

should require was a good horsewhip. The progress of the

British army was regarded in the light of a military prome-
nade. The Governor-General and the ladies of the chief

officers accompanied it on elephants. There was no recon-

naissance in the morning, and the enemy's change of position

was unknown to Sir Hugh. The cavalcade advanced gaily to

Maharajpore where it was intended to breakfast, when a

sudden discharge from the masked batteries of the Mahrattas,

gave the first intimation of the proximity of Sindia's army.
One of the balls struck the ear of the elephant on which the

wife of a General was mounted. The Commander-in-chief was

required to alter his dispositions in haste, and the battle which

ensued was justly characterized as one in which everybody
and everything was out of place. The British force numbered

about 12,000; that of the enemy amounted to 14,000, but

there was no General-in-chief to direct their movements.

Each brigade marched out of Gwalior and took up its own

position, which it maintained with extraordinary courage and

resolution. After the surrender of the Dada, our siege train had

been sent back, the heavy guns which accompanied our force

were unaccountably left in the rear, and the light field pieces

were soon upset by the heavy ordnance of the enemy. Our

troops were therefore at once launched on their batteries, which

were served with a frantic desperation, us long as there was a

gunner left. Even after the capture of the guns the infantry
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continued to maintain its ground with great determination.

Victory was at length secured, not by any professional skill,

but simply by the irresistible gallantry of our soldiers, of

whom a thousand fell killed and wounded. Lord Ellenborough
won his spurs on the field, and was seen moving about with

the greatest intrepidity amidst a shower of bullets, distributing

money and oranges among the wounded. On the same day,

Battle of Pun-
anotner battle was fought with another portion

niar, December of the Gwalior force at Punniar, by the troops
under the command of General Grey, who had

been directed to advance against the capital from the south,

while Sir Hugh Gough advanced from the north. It ended

in a complete victory.

These victories placed the kingdom of Sindia at
.New tre&ty
and settlement, the feet of the Governor-General, but he left it

entire, and simply suppressed its independence.

Two days after the engagement, the young ranee and raja

proceeded to the British encampment together with the

principal chiefs and the officers of the court. The boy was in

a state of great perturbation throughout the interview. The

litter of the ranee, closely veiled, was conveyed to a private

tent, and Lord Ellenborough seated himself beside it, while the

two Mahratta ministers squatted on the carpet and explained

his address to her as it was interpreted by Colonel Sleeman,

the Resident. Considering that she was not thirteen, she be-

haved with remarkable self-possession. After alluding to

her extreme youth and inexperience, she said she had come

out with her adopted son to implore forgiveness for what had

occurred, which she attributed to the arrogance of her licen-

tious soldiery. The Governor-General replied that measures

must be taken to restore order, and to establish an efficient

Government, and he held out a hope of her being per-'

mitted to take a share in it ; but when the treaty came to

be settled she found herself deposed from the office of regent,

and consigned to oblivion on a pension of three lacs of rupees

a-year. The majority of the raja was fixed at eighteen, and the
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administration was in the meanwhile committed to a council

of regency, consisting of six sirdars, who were required to

act implicitly on the advice of the Resident whenever he

might think fit to offer it. The turbulent army of the state

was reduced to 9,000 men, with thirty-two guns, and so com-

pletely had the two battles broken its spirit that it was dis-

banded in ten days without any appearance of tumult. Many
of the soldiers enlisted in the British contingent, which was

increased to the number of 10,000, and became, in fact, a com-

pact little army of all arms, with an admirable artillery. In

the splendour of its uniform and the superiority of its disci-

pline and efficiency, it eclipsed every other corps, and was called

the model force of India. The sepoys were high caste brah-

mins and rajpoots from the Dooab and Oude, men of athletic

forms and lofty carriage, and boundless assumption, and the

European officers, selected for their merits, took a pride in

maintaining the high standard of their regiments. During
the mutiny of 1857, the men butchered their officers, crossed

the Jumna, and proceeded to join their rebellious relatives

of the Bengal army ;
and it was this body of troops

which boldly encountered General Windham at Cawnpore in

November, 1857, and inflicted a severe reverse on our arms ;

while Sindia and his illustrious minister, the raja Dinkur Rao,

remained faithful in their allegiance to the British Govern-

ment. The policy of breaking up this insubordinate force

at Gwalior was abundantly vindicated two years after, when

the 70,000 Sikh soldiers alluded to in the Minute of Lord

Ellenborough, poured down upon the British territories and

shook our power to its foundation. If at that crisis, when
our military resources were taxed to their utmost strength

to stem the tide of invasion on the Sutlege, the Gwalior army
had been in existence, both anxious and ready to co-operate

with the Sikhs, the empire of India could scarcely have been

saved without a miracle.

Recall of Lord Lord Ellenborough returned to Calcutta in

15th June 18M. March, and, on the 15th June, India was astounded
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by the intelligence that the Court of Directors had revoked his

Appointment. The causes of displeasure and anxiety he

had given them were not few. His correspondence with the

India House had been marked by the absence of that de-

ference which was due to the high position assigned to them

in the government of the empire, and his proceedings had

often exhibited a contumelious disdain of their authority,

lie had twice been their superior at the Board of Control in

En- land, and he scarcely realized the fact that in India he

was their subordinate, and that it was his duty to obey and

not to dictate. He had concentrated his sympathies on the

army and treated the civil service, the favourites of Leaden-

hall Street, with undisguised contempt. The vagary of the

Gate Proclamation had exposed the Government of India to

the derision of England and Europe, and destroyed all con-

fidence in the sobriety and soundness of Lord Ellenborough's

judgment. Since his arrival in India he had dismissed that

solicitude for the pursuits of peace in which he once took a

pride, and contracted an extreme fondness for warlike exploits

and military glory. His administration had presented only a

succession of wars and battles. He appeared to the Directors

to be without any fixity of purpose, or any definite principles

of action, and they were in constant dread of the new em-

barrassments in which his eccentricities might involve them.

They ceased to consider the empire safe in his hands, and, in

spite of the remonstrances of his friends in the Ministry, de-

termined to exercise the power they had refused to part with

during the recent Charter discussions, and to recall him. His

removal was regarded by the army he had caressed with

feelings of deep regret, amounting almost to indignation.

The community in general, while duly appreciating his many
noble qualities, the total absence of nepotism, the patriotic

distribution of his patronage, his indefatigable industry,

his indomitable resolution, and his great energy and talent,

still regarded his removal as an act of unquestionable wis-

dom. The feelings of the native princes were facetiously,
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but accurately, described by Sir Henry Lawrence, when he

remarked that after hearing of his recall, they ceased, on

waking in the morning, to feel their necks to be sure that

their heads were still on their shoulders. He embarked for

England on the 1st August, and the Sikh war was postponed
for a twelvemonth.

improvements in Lord Ellenborough's attention was so com-

boroughlTime, pletely absorbed in war and politics as to leave
1842-44. him ljttle leisure or inclination for the moral, in-

tellectual, or material improvement of the country. But there

is a vital principle of progression in the British Government

in India which the caprice or indifference of those in authority,

either there or in England, can interrupt only for a season. It

was during the Government of Lord Ellenborough that the

police of the lower provinces was rendered efficient, and two

important measures of social improvement, the extinction of

slavery, and the abolition of state lotteries, were achieved,

chiefly through the exertions of the Vice-President in Council,

Mr. Wilberforce Bird. The department of police had long been

the opprobrium of the administration. It was a just subject

of complaiut that while the collectorate, which guarded the

pecuniary interests of the state, received every attention from

Government, the magistracy and the police, which concerned

the interests of the people, were disgracefully neglected and

inadequately remunerated. One Magistrate was considered

sufficient for a population of a million, and the largest scope
was thus afforded for the venality and oppression of the native

police officers, whose allowances for half a century had been

barely sufficient to cover thek travelling expenses. Mr. Bird,

following up the liberal views of Lord William Bentinck,

established the office of Deputy Magistrate, to which men of

every class, caste, and creed were made eligible, and thus

indefinitely increased the strength and efficiency of the depart-

ment. He was likewise successful in his efforts to establish

four grades of police darogas, the highest of which was

endowed with 100 rupees a-month—a wretched pittance at
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the best—but it was all that could be obtained at the time.

State lotteries had been established in the Presidency towns

after the example of England, but they were continued long

after they had been abandoned at home. The proceeds were

Appropriated to the material improvement of the towns, though
at the expense of their morals. In Calcutta, the profits of the

lottery had been hypothecated for many years to the state in

payment of the very large advances made to the municipal body
for various improvements. Happily, the debt was liquidated,

and the money reverted to the treasury during Mr. Bird's

tenure of office. It was the province of the local government
of Bengal to sanction the half-yearly scheme of the lotteries

;

and in 1843 Mr. Bird availed himself of his position to sus-

pend the usual order, pending a reference to the Court of

Directors, well knowing that when a noxious system of this

character, long since condemned in England, had once been

intermitted in India, it would be impossible to revive it. He
also drafted an Act which, after describing lotteries as detri-

mental to the interests of society, abolished them throughout

India, except where they might be authorized by the Govern-

ment ;
but this condemnation rendered any state lottery im-

possible. Lord Ellenborough was busy with the Ferozepore

pageantry when the draft reached him, and, though the enact-

ment was not exactly in accordance with his own opinion, gave
his immediate consent to it, and the country was at once

relieved from this prolific source of evil. The question of

slavery had been referred to the Law Commission appointed by
the Charter Act of 1833, who drew up an elaborate report, to

which were attached the Minutes of the individual mem-

bers, all of whom were opposed to its immediate abolition.

When the question was brought before the Supreme Council,

Mr. Bird stood up for its entire and peremptory prohibition,

but was not supported by his colleagues. In the able Minute
which he drew up on the subject, he said,

" It is proposed to

postpone this grand measure to some future period, when it

can be carried into effect with greater safety. This is exactly
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the course which was pursued with regard to suttees
; certain

detailed rules and regulations were passed with a view to

restrict within the narrowest possible bounds the performance
of that rite, but which were found on trial to be attended

with the exact contrary effect ; and we were obliged to do

at last what might have been done twenty years sooner with

equal facility." Some time after, having been appointed
Vice-President in Council, and seeing the tide of official

opinion turning against the toleration of the evil, he ventured

to introduce the draft of an Act for the total and immediate

abolition of it throughout India, to which Lord Ellenborough,

then in the north-west, gave his hearty concurrence, and soon

after extended it to the province of Sinde upon its annexation.

CHAPTER XXXVIII.

lord hardinge's administration, 1844—1848.

Lord Hardinge
^N ^e recall of Lord Ellenborough, the Ministry

Governor- proposed his kinsman and friend, Sir Henry Har-

Antecedents, dinge as his successor, and the Court of Directors

1844.
heartily concurred in the nomination. Sir Henry

had entered the army at an early age, and went through the

campaigns in the Peninsula under the Duke of Wellington,

in which he received four wounds, had four horses shot under

him, and earned nine medals. His brightest wreath was won

at the battle of Albuera, the success of which was attributed

chiefly to his gallantry and skill, and he was described bj a

great historical authority
" as the young soldier of twenty-five

with the eye of a general and the soul of a hero." He was

present at the battle of Waterloo and was disabled by a severe

wound. On the return of peace he entered Parliament, and,
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baying joined the Tory Ministry, filled, on two occasions, the

of Secretary at War, and was twice, for brief periods,

aiv for Inland. In the management of these depart-
ments he exhibited a clear and sound judgment, great decision

of character, and a kind and generous disposition, while he ac-

quired a large store of official experience. These qualifications,

but more especially his high reputation as a soldier, recom-

mended him for the Government of India, at a time when the

right bank of the Sutlege was bristling with hostile bayonets,
and the army of the Punjab was beyond the control of the state.

He entered on the duties of his office at the same age
as Lord Hastings, in his sixtieth year. At the valedictory
dinner at the London Tavern, the Chairman expounded to him

the various duties of a Governor-General, among the most

important of which he pointed out the maintenance of respect
for the authority of the Court ;

" and we are persuaded," he

said, "that you will impress this feeling on our servants

abroad, not merely by precept, but by your example." With
this lecture over the body of his contumacious and immolated

predecessor, he was dismissed to his post. He went out with

the most pacific intentions, anxious to establish his fame in

connection with the Indian empire, not by means of conquest
or the exhibition of military skill, but as the friend of peace,

by efforts to promote the social interests and welfare of the

people. But, like his two predecessors, he was destined to an

early disappointment, and the most memorable events of his

administration are the four battles fought in fifty-four days,
which were more vigorously contested and more sanguinary
than any we had previously fought in India.

sir ii. iiardinge
^ir Henry Hardinge reached Calcutta on the

in Calcutta, 23rd July. Before leaving England he paid a visit

to Mr. Mountstuart Elphinstone to seek his advice.

The veteran statesman warned him against meddling with civil

details. On his arrival he took the earliest opportunity of

calling up and stating to the Secretaries to Government that

lie was not accustomed to civil affairs, and least of all to



272 EDUCATIONAL MOVEMENTS. [CHAP.

Indian questions, but as they were selected and paid for their

experience in such matters, he expected in every case that

they would suggest in writing what they considered best to

be done, and if he placed his initials under the suggestions

they were to be carried into effect. " I do not think," he said,
"
you will try to mislead me, but if you do, it will be the

worse for you sooner or later." Occasionally, he took steps to

assure himself that he was properly advised, and was jealous

and inquisitive if he suspected anything wrong in the opinions

offered to him. He never allowed the Secretaries to forget their

responsibility, and they felt that he was not to be trifled with.

Under this system, business is said to have been promptly
and satisfactorily performed. Within three months after his

arrival he passed the memorable resolution, which held out the

encouragement of office and promotion in the public service

to the successful students of the Government colleges, as well

as of private institutions ; and thus gave the state the benefit

of the talent which it had assisted to develope. For some

time, this liberal measure was but slenderly carried into effect ;

because in India, as in England, the cause of education has

been the sport of party prejudices and individual caprices.

It was not fully carried out till after the establishment of

the University of Calcutta, to which the various educational

institutions in the country were affiliated, and which was

impartial in the distribution of honours, but the merit of it

belongs to Sir Henry Hardinge's administration, and he was

recompensed by an address of thanks signed by five hundred

of the most influential native gentlemen in Calcutta. The

important and difficult question of corporal punishment in the

native army was forced upon his attention at an early period,

by a large body of experienced officers, who considered the

abolition of it by Lord William Bentinck a great error. To that

measure there had always been the cardinal objection that the

retention of flogging in the European army after it had been

abolished in the sepoy regiments created an invidious distinc-

tion, which lowered the character of the English soldier in the
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estimation, not only of his own native comrades, but also of

natives of all ranks. It was also asserted, by a reference to

the increase of acts of insubordination, that the abolition had

failed as an experiment of discipline. Under the old system, the

average number of cases of corporal punishment had not ex-

ceeded 700 in the year, while under the new rule, the number

sentenced for rebellious conduct to work on the roads with

thieves and felons— which inflicted indelible disgrace on their

families—amounted in the aggregate to 10,000. It was a ques-

tion beset with difficulties. More than one regiment was known
to be in a state of disaffection, and it was affirmed that only a

spark was required to kindle the flame of mutiny throughout the

army. Sir Henry listened calmly to all that was advanced on

both sides of the question, and after a most anxious and careful

deliberation, drew up a masterly Minute which embodied the

arguments on which he came to the conclusion of repealing

Lord William Bentinck's order. Greatly as it is to be desired

that the humiliating practice of corporal punishment, which

cannot fail to lower the morale of an army, should be extin-

guished under the flag of England in all parts of the world,

still, the re-establishment of it in the then existing condition of

the Bengal army, from a paramount consideration of duty, was

an act of moral courage which reflects the highest credit on

Sir Henry Hardinge. It is grateful to record that the punish-
ment was so rarely inflicted that the order became a dead

letter.

_:
, . During the years 1844 and 1845 the attention

Revolutions in ° ^

the Punjab, of Sir Henry Hardinge was anxiously fixed on the

storm gathering in the Punjab ; and we now turn

to the progress of events in that country, where the death of

Runjeet Sing was followed by six years of anarchy and blood-

shed. He was succeeded in July, 1839, by his imbecile son,

Khurruk Sing, but all real power was vested in Khurruk's son,

the young and gallant Nao Nihal, who, if he had not been pre-

maturely cut off, would probably have emulated the ambition of

his grandfather, whose talent and energy he inherited. This

III. T
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power, however, he was obliged to share with Dhyan Sing, the

minister, one of the three brothers of the Jummoo, or Dogra

family, which at this period played a most important part in

Punjab politics. Golab Sing, the head of the house, was

originally a running footman, who happened to attract the

attention of Runjeet Sing, and rapidly rose in favour; he

was promoted to high office, and enriched with the territory

of Jummoo, lying between Lahore and Cashmere. The
Jummoo rajas were Rajpoots and not Sikhs, and this circum-

stance, combined with the extraordinary power they had

attained, rendered them objects of envy and aversion. It was
the great object of Nao Nihal Sing to reduce the authority of

this family which overshadowed the throne, but his career was

too brief to accomplish it. Khurruk Sing died, prematurely,

on the 5th November, 1840, of the excesses in which he had

long indulged, and his son, after the performance of his

funeral obsequies, was passing under a covered gateway on his

return to the palace when a portion of the structure fell and

injured him so seriously that he expired in the course of the

evening.

_ _, Chand Kowur, the widow of Khurruk Sing",
ShereSing and J

& '

the British Go- seized the sovereignty, as regent, on behalf of the
yemment, 1842.

£fSprmg. ^o which the widow of Nao Nihal Sing was

expecting to give birth, and she was assisted in the manage-
ment of the state by Shere Sing, the reputed son of Runjeet

Sing, and by the minister, Dhyan Sing. Shere Sing, who

himself aspired to the sovereign power, and was supported

by British influence, as well as by the minister, succeeded in

gaining over some divisions of the army, and marched down

upon Lahore on the 14 th January, 1841. The chiefs interfered

and insisted on a compromise. Chand Kowur was induced to

retire from the court to a large jageer which was assigned to

her, and Shere Sing became the ruler of the Punjab. He was

shrewd, bold and frank, but the slave of sensuality, and the vas-

sal of the Jummoo rajas, whom he was unable either to shake

off, or to control. The soldiers had been the chief instruments
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of his elevation, and he rewarded them with an increase of pay
to the extent of a rupee a-month, which, as might have been

expected, only served to sharpen their avarice and to increase

their arrogance. They proceeded to wreak their vengeance
on the officers who were obnoxious to them. General Court

was obliged to fly for his life; General Avitabile was con-

strained to abandon Peshawur and seek shelter at Jellalabad,

and the governor of Cashmere was put to death. The mer-

chants of Umritsir began to tremble for their warehouses and

money bags, and became clamorous for British protection.

Shere Sing, unable to restrain his troops, made overtures to

Lord Auckland in the spring of 1841, for the assistance of a

British force. Sir William Macnaghten at Cabul was at the

same time urging him to " crush the Sings, macadamize the

Punjab, and annex the province of Peshawur to the dominions

of Shah Soojah." A force of 10,000 men was accordingly held

in readiness to enter the Punjab, and so little was the real

strength of the Khalsa army appreciated that the Resident at

Loodiana actually proposed to march with this force to Lahore

and disperse it. For this aid Shere Sing was to pay a subsidy
of four lacs of rupees and to cede the Cis-Sutlege province to

the Company. On receiving the mention of this proposal, he

is said to have replied to it by simply drawing his finger across

his throat, to signify the fate to which it would consign him.

There can be no doubt that if this insane project had been per-

sisted in, the whole Khalsa army would have risen to a man, and

hurled back the invasion. With the exception of some Mahom-
medan corps, that army consisted of a compact body of martial

Sikhs, united by strong national and religious sympathies, proud
of the victories they had gained and the conquests they had

achieved, and fully conscious of their strength. When the iron

sceptre of Runjeet Sing was removed, these Praetorian bands

became the masters of the Punjab. The soldiers in each regi-

ment were generally obedient to their own officers, but, as a

body, their policy was regulated b}
; the will, not of the sovereign

or his minister, but of the army committees called pmiches,

t 2
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the council or jury of five, who made every movement sub-

servient to the interests of the army, and not of the state.

The adherence of the troops was consequently given to those

who were most liberal in subsidising them.

Movement in While the capital was a prey to anarchy, Golab

Tibet, 1841.
Sing, the Jummoo raja was pushing his ambitious

projects in the north beyond the Himalaya range. His

Lieutenant, Zorawur Sing, marched up to the sources of the

Sutlege and the Indus, and established a military position in

Chinese Tibet. The Governor-General considered it impolitic

to allow Sikh influence to be extended to the confines of China,

with the Government of which we had been at war, and were

now negotiating a peace, and Shere Sing was required to recall

the lieutenant of his feudatory. A day was fixed for restoring

the town of Garo to the Grand Lama, and a British officer

was deputed to witness the surrender ;
but before the order

could reach Zorawur Sing, he was surrounded by the enemy
on the banks of the classic lake of Manosurowur, 15,000

feet above the level of the sea. The Sikh soldiers, unac-

customed to the severity of such a climate, were frozen

with the cold ; their leader was slain
; some of the principal

officers were retained as prisoners, and the men were then

left to perish of cold and starvation at a distance from their

homes, which it was impossible for them ever to regain. In

the spring of 1842, the victorious Chinese advanced along the

upper Indus and expelled the Sikhs from all the positions they
had occupied. Golab Sing poured fresh troops across the

Himalaya, but, at the request of the British Government., a
convention was at length concluded between the Government

of Lahore and that of Lassa which replaced matters on the

former basis.

Murder of Shere Dhyan Sing the minister, finding his influence in

sing, 1843. the durbar on the decline, induced Shere Sing, in

the year 1843, to recall Ajeet Sing, the head of one of the most

powerful clans in the Punjab, who had been banished from the

court. Ajeet Sing, who himself aspired to the office of minister,
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became the boon companion of the prince, but Dhyan Sing, with

profound craft, endeavoured to persuade him that he had been

inveigled to Lahore, only to ensure his destruction, and he re-

st >lvcd to put his sovereign to death to preserve his own life.

On the loth September, he invited Shere Sing to inspect some

new levies he had raised, and shot him dead on the parade ;

at the same hour his uncle despatched the raja's youthful son

Pertab Sing. The assassins then proceeded to the citadel to

proclaim a new king in company with Dhyan Sing, who was

insidiously separated from his escort and assassinated by

Ajeet Sing. The young son of the murdered minister, Heera

Sing, who had been the great favourite of Runjeet Sing, im-

mediately called upon the soldiers to avenge these foul mur-

ders, and stimulated them to action by the promise of large
rewards. They responded to his call, captured the citadel, and

put both Ajeet Sing and his uncle to death. Duleep Sing, then

five years of age, the son of Runjeet Sing by the ranee Jhindun,
was brought forth from the zenana, and proclaimed Maha-

raja, while Heera Sing appropriated to himself the perilous post
of minister. To strengthen his position he attached the troops
to his interest, by immediately adding two rupees and a-half to

the monthly pay of each soldier. From this time forward the

army may be considered the absolute masters of the state. It

was to these convulsions at Lahore that Lord Ellenborough
made allusion in his Minute of the 1st November, when he

dwelt on the necessity of making our rear secure by reducing
the strength of the equally insubordinate army of Gwalior.

„ M , _ The position of Heera Sing was both difficult
Murder of Heera ? o

sinpancithePun- and unstable. Two other sons of Runjeet Sing
started up and endeavoured to supplant Duleep

Sing, but, though they were joined by a portion of the troops,

their efforts proved abortive. In March, 1844, Soochet Sing,

one of the Jummoo rajas, anxious to supplant his nephew, and

secure the office of minister, appeared at Lahore with a large

body of followers and made an appeal to the army ;
but Heera

Sing had been lavish in his gifts and promises, and his rival
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was defeated and slain. The Khalsa army, which had now
assumed a position of entire independence, was the great object
of anxiety to Heera Sing, and he endeavoured to curtail its

power by dispersing the regiments, and by raising levies in

the highlands, but his purpose was effectually thwarted by the

punches, who would not permit a single regiment to leave the

capital without their concurrence. The success which had

hitherto attended his administration was due, not so much to

his own abilities, as to the genius of his tutor, the Pundit Julia,

the priest of the Jummoo family, who regulated all his move-

ments, and was considered a man of such transcendent talent,

that, if he had been able to control the army, he might have

succeeded in establishing a dynasty of Peshwas at Lahore.

But before his authority was consolidated, he imprudently
endeavoured to reduce the power of Golab Sing, who retaliated

on him by exciting revolts in various directions. He likewise

sequestered the estates of many of the chiefs and treated them

with disdain ; but, above all, he incurred the wrath of the vin-

dictive ranee and her brother, by his supercilious deportment.

They appealed to the army, and Heera Sing and the pundit

were obliged to fly, but, although they endeavoured to retard

the pursuers by dropping their costly jewels one by one in

their path, they were overtaken and put to death, and their

heads carried in triumph to Lahore. The death of Heera Sing
involved the immolation of twenty -four women, his wives and

slaves, on the funeral pile. The Sikhs, though reformed Hindoos,

retained with more than ordinary tenacity a passion for suttees,

and the veneration of the cow. Indeed, a woman who had de-

voted herself to death was considered in the light of a sacred

character, and men of the first distinction in the state pros-

trated themselves before her as before an incarnate deity.

On the dissolution of the government of Heera
Approach of the «• • <• -,

crisis in the Pun- Sing, the management of affairs fell into the
jab, 1845.

hands of Juwahir Sing, the brother of the ranee,

Jhindun, and of a handsome brahmin of the name of Lall

Sing, her favourite paramour. It was not without reason that
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Sir Henry Hardinge designated her the Messalina of the

north. The soldiers received another augmentation of pay,

and became so clamorous for fresh gratuities, and so insubor-

dinate, that it was deemed necessary to find some employment
for them, to prevent the overthrow of the Government. They
were accordingly instigated to march against Golab Sing, who

was odious to the Sikhs, and reputed to be very wealthj
T
. The

raja could not but feel that his highland regiments would be no

match for the well-disciplined Khalsa troops, and he brought

into practice all those arts of cozenage of which he was so

complete a master. He flattered the army committees ; he

made a liberal distribution of money among the men, and suc-

ceeded at length in prevailing upon them to let him off with a

mulct of thirty-five lacs of rupees, and the cession of a portion of

his territory. When, however, the money came to be removed,

a dispute arose between his own officers and those of the army
which led to a collision ; two chiefs were killed, and the pas-

sions of the soldiers were inflamed to such a degree that ho

was constrained to accompany them to Lahore to prevent the

plunder of his capital. At Lahore, the troops and the ministers

extorted no less than sixty-eight lacs of rupees from him, and

left him but a very slender portion of the family domains. He
returned to his own principality, after having assisted at the in-

stallation of Juwahir Sing as prime minister, and the betrothal

of Duleep Sing to the daughter of Chutter Sing. To keep the

troops in active employ, the durbar further determined to let

them loose on Moolraj, who had been permitted to succeed to the

office of dewan, or viceroy of Mooltan, on the assassination of his

father in 1844, but had refused to increase his annual remit-

tances, or to pay the fine of a crore of rupees which was de-

manded of him on his succession to the Government. Moolraj

felt, as Golab Sing had done, that it would be impossible for

him to cope with the Sikh army now marching against him,

and in September, 1845, rescued himself from danger by a com-

promise of eighteen lacs of rupees. Soon after, Peshora Sing,

another of the sons of Runjeet, raised the standard of revolt
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at Attock, but was defeated and ruthlessly put to death by
Juwahir Sing. That unfortunate prince had always enjoyed a

degree of popularity with the people and the army from his

relationship to Runjeet, and the contempt which had been

generally felt for the low debauchee who occupied the post of

minister, was turned into resentment by this atrocious murder.

Lall Sing, who aspired to the office of vizier, made every
effort to inflame this animosity. The punches met and deter-

mined that Juwahir Sing should die the death of a traitor, and
he was led out into the plain of Meean Meer, in the neighbour-
hood of Lahore, and deliberately executed. After the loss of

her brother, the ranee sat daily in durbar, transacting business,
and in the beginning of November, 1855, appointed Lall Sing

minister, and Tej Sing general-in-chief ; but the army which
had within the year humbled the two great feudatories of

Jummoo and Mooltan, exacted eighty-six lacs of rupees from

them, defeated Peshora Sing, and pronounced death on the

minister, was now the only real power in the state.

Preparations Nothing can more fully demonstrate the feeling
on the frontier, of mutual respect and confidence which subsisted

between the Government of India and Runjeet Sing
than the fact that for thirty years after the Metcalfe treaty,

the outpost at Loodiana, within a few marches of Lahore,
and a hundred and fifty miles from any support, was left with

a garrison of only two or three regiments. The anarchy
which supervened on the death of Runjeet constrained the

Government of India to make better provision for the pro-

tection of the frontier. Lord Auckland established a new
cantonment at Ferozepore, which, however, was inadequately

garrisoned. Lord Ellenborough, who considered a Sikh war

all but unavoidable, increased the force on the frontier to

17,600 men with sixty-six guns. Sir H. Hardinge, immediately
on his arrival, investigated the state of affairs on the Sutlege
with the eye of a soldier, and found that it was one of ex-

treme peril, and that the force collected there was not suffi-

cient for the purpose of defence, still less for extensive
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operations, if war should be forced upon us. His attention

was Bteadily given to the augmentation of the army on the

frontier, and he accomplished it so gradually and quietly, that

it attracted no notice even in our own provinces. By these

arrangements the number of troops massed on the Sutlege

and at the stations immediately below it, was increased to

40,500, with ninety-four guns. Sir Henry Hardinge likewise

brought up from Sinde to Ferozepore fifty- six large boats,

which Lord Ellenborough had, with great forethought, ordered

to be constructed there to serve as a pontoon. It has been sur-

mised that it was this large assemblage of troops in front of

the Punjab, wiiich raised the suspicions of the Khalsa army and

led to the invasion of our territories, in order to anticipate our

designs. But, considering the distracted condition of the

Punjab, a prey to political convulsions, the Government of

India would have been without excuse if the most ample pre-

parations had not been made to meet an impending crisis, wrhich

might arrive at any day. The Khalsa army was the most effi-

cient and the most formidable which had ever been assembled

under native banners. It possessed all the vigour of a young
creed, and of a recent organization. It was flushed with its past

successes, and panted for future triumphs. Unmindful of its

defeat at Jumrood, it considered itself more than a match for

the Afghans, and, consequently, superior to the British, whom
the Afghans had once defeated and chased from their territory.

In 1843, and again in 1844, a large Sikh force had marched

down towards the Sutlege with a view to the invasion of the

Company's territories. During the year 1845 the army had

completely overpowered the state, and the durbar at Lahore

felt that the only chance of maintaining its own existence

was to commit it to a conflict with the British power. No
effort was therefore spared by those in authority to inflame

the minds of the soldiers against our Government, and they
met at the tomb of Runjeet Sing to renew their vows of

fidelity to the Khalsa, and to devote themselves to the pro-
motion of its greatness. It was not the precautionary measures
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of the British Government, or the proceedings of its agents on

the frontier, which brought on the collision. It was the ranee

and Lall Sing and Tej Sing who launched the Sikh battalions on

our territories, from the selfish motive of providing for their

own security, and endeavoured to avert the plunder of Lahore

by sending them to sack Delhi and Benares. If any blame is

to be attached to Sir Henry Hardinge, it is that, in the pre-

sence of such imminent danger, he exceeded in moderation the

bounds of prudence, and that, from the laudable desire of

avoiding the charge of having provoked hostilities by the

extent of his military preparations, he delayed to move the

troops which he had collected, to the banks of the Sutlege, to

be on the spot for immediate action whenever the emergency
should arrive. On the other hand, it must be borne in mind

that the military virtues of the Sikh army had always been

underrated by the political officers connected with the Punjab,

and that even to the latest period it was designated by some in

high position
" a rabble demoralized by the absence of every

principle of subordination, and by its unchecked violence."

Neither the Government nor its officers had any adequate

conception of the profound feeling of national ambition and

arrogant confidence, and unexampled courage with which it

was animated. They thought it possible that British districts

might be insulted by the desultory inroads of marauding horse-

men, or by loose bands of fanatic Akalis, but they never

dreamt that 60,000 soldiers, with a large and admirably served

artillery, would cross the Sutlege and burst as suddenly on

our dominions as Hyder Ali had burst on the Carnatic sixty-

five years before.

The Sikh arm
^n *^e evening of the 17th November a general

cross the Sutlege, order was issued by the durbar for the invasion

of the British dominions, but the astrologers de-

clared that there would not be an auspicious day before the

28th. The troops were impatient to advance, and the ranee

endeavoured to hasten their departure; but her eagerness

tended to rouse their suspicions, and they remained in a state
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of hesitation for nearly three weeks. On the 23rd November

the Governor-General and the Commander-in-chief received

intimation of the marching orders the Sikh army had received,

and Major Broadfoot, the political agent on the frontier,

urged the most prompt and energetic measures of defence, but

Sir Henry Hardinge, still clinging to the hope of peace,

directed him to send another remonstrance to the Lahore

durbar, the only response vouchsafed to which, was an order

to the troops to commence their march without any further

delay. Animated by a feeling of national and religious en-

thusiasm, 60,000 Khalsa soldiers with 40,000 armed followers

and a hundred and fifty guns of large calibre crossed the Sutlege

in the brief space of four days, each soldier turning his hand

with great alacrity to the transport of the guns, the driving

of the bullocks, or to any other labour which offered itself ;

and by the 16th the whole force was encamped within a

short distance of Fcrozepore. That fort was held by Sir John

Littler, one of the oldest and best officers in the service, with

10,000 troops and thirty-one guns. Both he and his officers

considered this force sufficient to dispute the passage of the

river ; the reason why this was not attempted, is one of

the many enigmas of the two Sikh campaigns which are

bequeathed to the researches of the future historian. On the

11th December, preparations had been made for a grand ball

in the Commander-in-chief's state tents at Umbala, when in-

formation was unexpectedly received that the Sikh army had

marched down to the fords of the Sutlege, and was on the

eve of crossing it. The ball was abandoned by common con-

sent, and the night was spent in hasty preparations for the

march. The next day the Commander-in-chief started with

the troops assembled in haste, for the relief of Sir John

Littler, who was enveloped by an army six times the strength

of his own, accompanied with artillery greatly superior in

number and power. Hours were now invaluable. The troops,

heavily accoutred, performed a march which had never before j

been attempted in India, moving a hundred and fifty miles
|
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in six days, through heavy sand, with little time to prepare
their food, even when they were able to obtain any, and with

scarcely an hour for repose.

Confiscation of
^n ^e 13th, the Governor-General published a

the Cis-sutiege Declaration of War, and confiscated all the dis-
icts, i 5.

trjcts belonging to the Sikh crown south of the

Sutlege. Major Broadfoot had with incredible labour pro-
visioned the stations on the line of march, and collected large

stores at Bussean, which was within easy distance of the

ford at which the Sikhs had crossed, and open to their attacks.

Sir Henry, who had preceded the Commander-in-chief, on

reaching that depot, perceived the necessity of protecting it

from the assault of the Sikhs, and lost no time in ordering a

force of 5,000 men from Loodiana to render it secure. The

importance of this movement cannot be overrated, as the

capture of Bussean by the enemy, with all its stock of pro-

visions, would have delayed the operations of the army for

more than ten days, and indefinitely augmented the difficulties

of Sir John Littler's position. His duties were rendered the

more arduous from the charge of the women and children at

Ferozepore. It might have been expected that after the

warning received at Cabul, where the operations of the force

were fatally hampered by the presence of ladies, so egregious

a blunder would not have been repeated, and that those who
were residing at Ferozepore would have been placed beyond
the reach of danger, as soon as it was known that the Sikh

army had received orders to cross the river
; but they were

permitted to continue there as if no enemy were at hand, and

it was not till the place was actually invested that they were

sent even into the fort. On the arrival of the Sikh force before

Ferozepore, Sir John Littler marched out and offered the

enemy battle, but they declined it. The day after, a large

portion of the Khalsa army pushed forward ten miles to

Ferozeshuhur, and constructed entrenchments of the most

formidable character, leaving Tej Sing behind to watch the

movements of General Littler. It is still a mystery why the
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Sikh army, 00,000 strong, did not make a vigorous effort

to dispose of his force before he could receive any assistance.

It lias been said that they had no skill in sieges, and shrunk

from an assault on his fortifications. It has, again, been

aftirmed that if the Sikh generals had been as sincerely bent

on exterminating British power as their soldiers were, nothing
could have saved General Littler. But Tej Sing and Lall Sing
stood as much in awe of their own troops as of their enemies,
and dreaded the chance of their triumph more perhaps than

their defeat. To what extent the assertion which has been

made that both these generals had touched English gold is

to be believed, depends on documents not before the public.

Moodkee, 1845. Lall Sing's scouts had brought him information

that the Governor-General and the Commander-in-chief were

advanciug to the attack of the Sikh army with only a slender

force, and he pushed forward to the village of Moodkee with

about 20,000 men and twenty-two guns, where under cover of

the jungle he awaited the arrival of the British commander.
On the 18th December the army had made a fatiguing march
of twenty-one miles, over an arid plain, and at the sight of a

pool of water on its arrival at the encamping ground, men,

horses, and camels, rushed down impetuously, to appease a

thirst which appeared to be unquenchable. The troops had
not broken their fast since the preceding night, and were just

preparing to cook a meal when a cloud of dust rose up before

them. Major Broadfoot, who galloped off to reconnoitre, re-

turned in haste to announce that it was raised by the Sikh army,
and the thunder of its cannon soon corroborated his report.

In this, as in numerous other instances, the intelligence de-

partment of the army was deplorably inefficient, and Sir Hugh
Gough was as completely taken by surprise as he had been at

Maharajpore. It was nearly four in the afternoon and little

more than an hour of daylight remained. The enemy's horse

endeavoured to outflank our force, but were gallantly re-

pulsed. Then came the first conflict between the native

sq><>\- and the Khalsa battalions of Runjeet Sing, trained and



286 CHARACTER OF THE ACTION. [CHAP.

disciplined by Allard and Ventura, and the superiority of the

Sikhs became at once apparent. One native regiment turned

suddenly round and sought the rear, and it was with no

ordinary difficulty that the Commander-in-chief and his staff

succeeded in bringing it back to the struggle. Even a

European corps was for a few moments staggered by the ra-

pidity and precision of the Sikh practice, and in the confusion

of the hour one of our regiments fired into another. Lall Sing
was the first to fly from the field with his cavalry, and he

was at length followed by the infantry, who withdrew under

cover of the night, leaving seventeen guns in the hands of

the victors, the loss on whose part amounted to 872 in killed

and wounded. For sixty years it had been usual to unite

the office of Commander-in-chief with that of the Governor-

General when he happened, as in the case of Lord Cornwallis,

Lord Hastings, and Lord William Bentinck to be of the

military profession. This precedent was for the first time

neglected on the occasion of Sir Henry HardiDge's appoint-

ment, and he was understood to have brought out with him

only a dormant commission of Commander-in-chief, to be

acted upon if the occasion should arise. After the battle of

Moodkee, he placed his services at the disposal of the Com-

mander-in-chief, and magnanimously took the post of second

in command, an act well calculated to restore the confidence

of our army which had been rudely shaken by the skill and
valour displayed by the Sikhs, and the manifest deficiency of

our tactics.

Battle of The army halted for two days at Moodkee to
Ferozeshuhur, - . , . ..

Dec. 21, 1845. take repose and bury the dead, and was rein-

forced with two European and two native regiments, brought

up by forced marches through the untiring energy of the

Governor-General. He resolved that the army should advance

to the attack of the entrenched camp of the Sikhs without the

encumbrance of baggage, and it was left, together with the

sick and wounded and the camp equipage, in the fort of

Moodkee, guarded by a regiment and a-half. The force started
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on the morning of the 21st for Ferozeshuhur, without provi-

sions or tents. General Littler, who was duly advised of this

movement by Sir Henry, was directed to join the army at the

period of its arrival. He accordingly moved out early in the

morning, leaving his camp pitched, his bazaar flags flying,

his cavalry pickets standing, and a sufficient force to guard the

fort, the entrenchment, and his female charge. He eluded the

observation of Tej Sing, and reached the main force with 5,500

men and twenty-two guns a little before noon. The Sikh

entrenchment was in the form of a parrallelogram, around the

village of Ferozeshuhur, about a mile in length and half a mile

in breadth ; the shorter sides looking towards the Sutlege and

Moodkee
;
the longer towards Ferozepore and the plain on the

east. The number of Sikh troops in the camp under the com-

mand of Lall Sing was estimated at 35,000, with 100 guns and

250 camel swivels. The batteries were mounted, not with

ordinary field artillery, but with siege guns of heavy calibre,

placed in position. The day was the shortest in the year, and

with such a foe as the Sikhs had proved themselves to be,

every moment was of inestimable value; but, after the junc-

tion of Sir John Littler, more than three hours and a-half were

frittered away, and it was four in the afternoon before the first

shot was fired. This delay, which entailed the most disastrous

results, has never been accounted for, except by a reference to

the general muddle which was visible in almost all the Sikh

engagements. Sir Charles Napier, in his comments on the

strategy of the day, maintained that the attack should have

been made on the two sides which were not protected by the

tremendous guns immoveably planted in their position, but

Sir Hugh Gough resolved to follow his usual practice of

charging at once right up to the muzzle of the guns, and car-

rying the batteries by cold steel. He himself held the com-

mand on the right ; Sir Henry Hardinge in the centre, and Sir

John Tattler on the left. It fell to the lot of Sir John to attack

the strongest section of the enemy's positions, the western face,

where they had gathered the iron strength of their heaviest



288 BATTLE OF FEROZESHUHUR. [CHAP.

guns. He had brought twenty-two guns out of Ferozepore,

but he derived no aid, or next to none, from them, and his

troops advanced with the utmost gallantry up to the batteries,

where they were arrested by an overwhelming fire. The

62nd foot, mowed down by grape and round shot, was checked

and retired—beaten, but not in the eye of candour, disgraced,
—

leaving seventy-six of its brave men and seven of its gallant

officers within fifty paces of the entrenchments. The other

divisions encountered an equally terrific and unexpected resist-

ance. To borrow the language of the historian of the Sikhs :

" Guns were dismounted and the ammunition was blown into

the air
; squadrons were checked in mid career

; battalion after

battalion was hurled back with shattered ranks, and it was
not until after sunset that portions of the enemy's position

were finally carried. Darkness, and the obstinacy of the con-

test, threw the English into confusion ; men of all regiments

and arms were mixed together ; generals were doubtful of the

fact or of the extent of their own success, and colonels knew
not what had become of the regiments they commanded, or of

the army of which they formed part." General Littler's re-

pulsed division fell back to a village two miles to the west.

Sir Harry Smith's division penetrated to the heart of the camp
and occupied the village of Ferozeshuhur, but the enemy

brought so heavy a fire to bear on his battalions, that they were

obliged at two in the morning to withdraw to a village two

miles distant. The feat performed by the 3rd dragoons was
both the most daring and the most useless of the engage-
ment. Without any orders from the Commander-in-chief, they

charged across the ditch while the battery in front mowed
them down, till the yawning trench was choked up with their

numbers, and those who followed crossed on a bridge of their

own dead and dying comrades. This gallant band, after

having silenced the battery in its front, faced the Khalsa

army within the entrenchments, swept through the camp with

loud huzzas over tents, ropes, pegs, guns, fires and magazines,
and never paused till it emerged on the opposite side and
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lvjnined their companions. General Gilbert's division, which

was the strongest, after having captured the guns in position,

was met by a storm of musketry, and obliged to retire as dark-

ness set in, and bivouac on the edge of the Sikh encamp-
ment. With this division were the Governor-General and the

Commander-in-chief. During the night, which has justly been

styled the "night of horrors," the enemy's expense maga-
zines were ever and anon exploding ;

their camp was on fire

in several places, but they did not cease to keep up a continu-

ous discharge upon our soldiers. The Governor-General

passed the night in moving from regiment to regiment, en-

deavouring to sustain the spirits and revive the ardour of the

men
; but, within three hundred yards of his position the great

Sikh gun was dealing destruction on the recumbent and ex •

hausted ranks, and it became indispensable to silence it. Soon

after midnight he called up the 80th foot and the 1st Europeans

lying around him on the frozen ground, and placing himself at

their head, charged the gun and spiked it. It was with great
truth that Sir Henry Hardinge remarked that another such

engagement would shake the empire to its foundation.

Second en a e
** was sug&este(l tna* the army should retire

ment, Decem- to Ferozepore, but Sir Henry strenuously opposed
the movement. He felt that our political safety

required the utter overthrow of the Sikh army, and he deter-

mined to renew the engagement the next morning, although

there was but one weak division left for the work which had

baffled the whole army the previous day. But in the Sikh

encampment, though unknown to the English commanders,
there had been stormy counsels and bitter recrimination,

mutiny and desertion, and Lall Sing's military chest had been

plundered by his own troops. As day dawned, the Governor-

General and the Commander-in-chief collected the scattered

soldiers of General Gilbert's division, and advanced to assault

the entrenchments. The opposition was feeble ; the batteries

were attacked in reverse and captured, and our troops swept
down the whole length and rear of the enemy's position with

in. u
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little opposition. The legions which had defended this Roman

encampment with Roman courage, were in full flight to the

Sutlege through the cowardice, or the treachery, of Lall Sing.

The British line, as soon as it had cleared the works, halted on

the northern face, and the two commanders were received

with grateful acclamations as they rode along the ranks. The

cheers had scarcely subsided when a cloud of dust announced

the approach of a new enemy. This was Tej Sing, who, on

finding that Sir John Littler had eluded his vigilance, marched

down towards Ferozeshuhur, on the morning of the 22nd, with

20,000 infantry, 5,000 cavalry, and 70 guns. He found that

the entrenched camp at Ferozeshuhur had been lost, that its

powerful batteries, with all the munitions of war and the

standards, were in the hands of the British, and that the Sikh

army was in full retreat to the river. But he did not know
that the British troops were drooping from hunger, having
tasted no food for thirty-six hours, that their ammunition was

completely exhausted, and that if vigorously attacked by his

fresh battalions and his splendid artillery, no exhibition of

the most brilliant courage could have saved them from de-

struction. After a brief cannonade, which at once dismounted

our artillery, he withdrew with his whole force to the Sutlege ;

and the British empire in India was again saved by a miracle.

^ . The battle of Ferozeshuhur was the most severe
Remarks on

Ferozeshuhur, and critical we had ever fought in India. Never

before had we encountered so resolute or skilful an

enemy, and if our ranks had been composed only of sepoys,

the empire might have passed away. The casualties on our side

amounted to 2,415, including a hundred and three officers, and,

although an effort was made to extenuate this loss by a refe-

rence to engagements in Europe even more sanguinary, it was

impossible to evade the conclusion, that with more skilful

strategy, no small portion of it might have been avoided. It

was the defect of our tactics, and the deficiency of our ammu-

nition, quite as much as the military ardour and courage of the

Sikhs, which for a time gave a character of equality to the
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ftfcroggle. As second in command the Governor-General could

not, without going to extremities, issue or enforce orders, he

could only suggest his wishes. He had five aides-de-camp

killed and five wounded, and the only officer on his staff who

escaped was his youngest son, Arthur, who fought by his side

throughout the action. In this melancholy engagement fell

the noble Broadfoot, and the chivalrous Somerset, who had

been severely wounded at Maharajpore, and, after fighting at

Ferozeshuhur with the hereditary gallantry of his race, fell

covered with wounds. There, too, perished the amiable Major

IVAivy Todd, the former minister at Herat, who went into

action with a mournful presentiment that he should not survive

it, and Colonel Taylor, who had fought in America and Burmah,
had assisted in forcing the Khyber, and won fresh laurels at

Tstaliff. Prince Waldemar of Prussia, who had been making
the tour of the Himalayas, joined the Governor-General's camp
with his medical attendant, Dr. Hoffmeister, who was killed,

and Counts Greuber and Oriolo ; and the grandson of Frederick

the Second, at the distance of half the globe from his native

land, took an active share in a battle as fiercely contested as

that of Rosbach. The extraordinary carnage of the day has

led to the enquiry, why the action was not deferred till the

morrow, but it has been recorded by officers of the soundest

judgment, that, considering the plan of the campaign, it could

not have been safely postponed on military grounds. It was

of the first importance to bring on an engagement before the

junction of the two Sikh forces. The condition of the British

army, moreover, would not have been improved by a bivouac

during a night of bitter cold, without food, water, or shelter,

Besides, it is by no means certain that, even if the battle

had been delayed till the morrow, the same strategy would

not have been adopted of throwing the battalions on en-

trenchments bristling with cannon, and served by the best

native artillerymen in India, and the increase of the enemy's
force would, in that case, only have served to increase the

slaughter.

u 2
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The tide of invasion had thus been stemmed.

Sorcemente, Of the 60,000 Khalsa soldiers who had poured
1846. down on our territories twelve days before, not one

remained in arms on the left bank of the Sutlege ; but in the

battles of Moodkee and Ferozeshuhur, our army had lost a fifth

of its number, and exhaustxd its ammunition. Hence it be-

came necessary to order up a full supply of military stores of

every description, and a large armament of siege guns from

the nearest depot, which unfortunately happened to be more

than two hundred miles distant, at Delhi. While this heavy

convoy was slowly wending its way up to the banks of the

Sutlege, the British army was condemned to a period of inac-

tivity, between the fords of Ferozepore and Hurreekee. This

delay in following up the success of the army, was naturally

attributed by the Sikhs to fear. Towards the end of Jan-

uary Runjoor Sing crossed the river in force, and threatened

the station of Loodiana, from which Sir Henry Hardinge had

withdrawn the division for the protection of Bussean, and Sir

Harry Smith was sent with four regiments of infantry, three

of cavalry, and eighteen guns, to cover that station. On the

night of the 20th January, he received information that Run-

joor Sing had suddenly broken up his camp on the river, and

marched down to Buddowal, a village lying between Loodiana

and the force advancing to relieve it. Sir Harry made no

change in the order of his march, because he mistrusted the

intelligence, and also, because he expected the garrison of

Loodiana to advance and meet him on the route he had fixed

upon. If he had listened to the earnest advice of his experienced

officers, he would have avoided the disaster which befel him.

Runjoor Sing, though described bv the most shrewd observer

of the Lahore chiefs as "an ass of that order of mind which

experience could not improve," still contrived to envelope and

completely to outflank the whole British force by the numerical

superiority of his battalions and his artillery ; and it was only

through the admirable handling of the cavalry by Brigadier

Cureton, that the division was saved from a fatal reverse.
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The greater portion of the baggage, however, fell into the

hands of the Sikhs, and some prisoners, and artillery store

carls, were conveyed in triumph to Loodiana.

Battle of Aiiwaii,
This disaster gave fresh confidence to the

28th Jan., 1846.
enemV) anci it was deemed necessary to clear the

left bank of the Sutlege of their troops, and prevent an attack

by Runjoor Sing on the long convoy coming up from Delhi.

He was reinforced by 4,000 regular troops and twelve guns,

and fell back to a position at Aliwall on the Sutlege. General

Smith's force was likewise augmented to 11,000 men, and he

was urged by the Governor-General to lose no time in attack-

ing the enemy. The village was feebly defended by some

battalions of hill men, who took to flight, with Runjoor Sing
at their head, after firing a few rounds. But the British

troops met with a stern resistance from the Khalsa soldiers

posted on their right, men of true Sikh blood and metal, who
stood their ground with unflinching courage, and it was not

till their ranks had been thrice pierced by Cureton's cavalry
that they became disorganized, and retreated to the river, in

which no small number of them met a watery grave, leaving

sixty-seven guns as trophies in the hands of the victors. The
renown which Sir Harry Smith had lost at Buddowal was
recovered and heightened by this decisive victory at Aliwall.

This reverse disheartened the Sikh ministers and induced them

to commence negotiations. The utter incapacity of Lall Sing
had become obvious throughout the campaign, and Golab Sing
was invited from Jummoo, to take a share in the public councils,

and to accept the office of minister. He immediately opened
communications with the Governor-General, who informed him

that he was prepared to acknowledge a Sikh sovereignty at

Lahore, but not till the Khalsa army had been disbanded.

Golab Sing replied with great truth that it was beyond his

power to control the movements of the troops, who still con-

tinued to domineer over the public authorities of the state.

It has been asserted that these communications resulted in

an understanding that, for a suitable consideration, the Sikh
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army, when attacked by the English battalions, should be

deserted by its own chiefs, and that the way to the capital

should thus be left open. The truth of this assertion, which
was an article of faith in the camp, has never been dis-

tinctly substantiated, but it was strongly corroborated by
the conduct of the Sikh generals in the subsequent engage-

ment, and it was strengthened in no small degree by the

harsh measure of removing from his political employment
the accomplished historian of the Sikhs, who was the first to

announce it in print.

Sobraon, While the British army was awaiting the
ioth Feb. 1846. arrival of the train from Delhi, and watching the

operations of the Sikhs at the ford of Hureekee, they were

diligently employed in transporting their force across the

Sutlege at that point. With the natural ingenuity of a

military people, and, as it was affirmed, with the aid of

a Spanish and a French officer, they erected one of the

strongest works against which troops had ever been led in

India. It consisted of a series of semicircular entrenchments,
with the river for their base and the outer Hue of which,

two miles and a-half in circumference from the eastern to the

western point, was surrounded with a deep ditch. The ram-

parts were defended by sixty-seven pieces of heavy ordnance,

and 35,000 Khalsa soldiers. Abridge of boats united this en-

campment with another across the river, where heavy guns had

also been planted which completely swept the left bank. These

formidable bulwarks were erected in the presence of an in-

active British force, burning with impatience to be led against

the enemy, who continued from day to day to bid them de-

fiance, by appearing on the plain and exhibiting the evolutions

of their splendid horse artillery. At length, after a delay of

seven weeks, the long and imposing train of heavy ordnance

drawn by stately elephants, together with the munitions of

war, marched into the camp on the 8th February, and raised

the drooping spirits of the men, European and native. The

brigade which had been detached under General Smith to
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Loodiana rejoined the camp, and made up the British force

to 15,000 men, of whom 5,000 were Europeans. The follow-

day was employed in making arrangements for the

It. It was at once perceived that if an entrance

could be effected into either end of the entrenchment where

it rested on the river, the whole of the guns along the outer

line would be taken in reverse and rendered useless. It

was affirmed that Lall Sing treacherously informed the

Governor-General that the western corner was the weakest

of the Sikh entrenchments, and it was in consequence of this

disclosure that the main attack was directed to this point by
the division under General Dick. The centre division, under

General Gilbert, and the right division, under General Sir Harry

Smith, were directed to make feint attacks to divert the atten-

tion of the enemy from the real assault. Brigadier Cureton

with his cavalry was appointed to watch the Sikh horse under

Lall Sing. The whole of the heavy ordnance was planted

in masses on some of the more commanding points oppo-
site the Sikh entrenchments. A dense fog at dawn of the

10th enabled the Commander-in-chief to make his dispositions

unnoticed by the enemy. The fog rolled up like a curtain at

seven in the morning, and the great guns opened on the

encampment, which was under the command of Tej Sing.

The Sikhs, nothing daunted, answered flash for flash from

their powerful ordnance, and the rays of the sun scarcely

pierced the sulphurous smoke which filled the atmosphere.

At nine, before the cannonade had made any impression on

the enemy's position, the British ammunition began to run

short, and Sir Hugh Gough discovered that it was visionary

pect that his guns could, within any limited time, silence

the fire of seventy pieces, behind well-constructed batteries

of earth, planks, and fascines, or dislodge troops covered

1
»y redoubts, or epaulments, or within a treble line of trenches.

After having waited for these guns for seven weeks, it was

found that they were of little avail for the success of the day,

and it became evident that the issue of the struggle must be
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left to the arbitrament of musketry and the bayonet. Accord-

ingly Colonel Lane's horse artillery galloped up and delivered

their fire within 300 yards of the batteries, and Sir Robert

Dick's division moved up to the attack in admirable order,

charged home with the bayonet, leaped the ditch, and

mounted the rampart. The Sikhs instantly perceived that

this was to be the principal point of attack, and, slackening
the defence of the entrenchments opposed to the other

divisions, concentrated their attention on this contest. More

guns in the interior of the Sikh encampment were turned on

the assailants, who were also met by a hand to hand fight,

and repeatedly staggered. Fresh regiments were sent up

by the British commanders to their aid, but they recoiled

in confusion from the deadly fire of the Sikhs, and it became

necessary to order the two other divisions to make a simulta-

neous assault on the batteries before them. This Was no

sooner perceived by the enemy than they returned tumultu-

ously to the posts they had quitted, and from every foot of the

entrenchments poured on both divisions a withering fire of

grape, round shot, and musketry. The gallant charge made

by General Gilbert's division on the centre batteries was one

of the most memorable feats in the campaign. His men, of

whom 689 were killed and wounded in the course of half an

hour, were more than once driven back, but their indomitable

courage at length mastered the enemy's ramparts. Scarcely

less sanguinary were the charges repeatedly made by General

Smith's division. The Sikh entrenchment was at length

pierced in three directions, and the soldiers, when they could

no longer fire, drew their swords and were bayoneted by the

side of the guns they had so nobly served. Tej Sing, instead

of endeavouring to rally his troops, was among the first to

fly, and, either by accident or by design, broke the bridge ; but

the veteran chief Sham Sing had resolved not to survive a

defeat, and, clothing himself in the garments of martyrdom,

called on all around him to fight manfully for the Gooroo,

rallied his shattered ranks, and rushed on the British bayonets,
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where he found the death he sought, over a heap of his slain

count rynicn. The Sikh troops, pressed on three sides into a

confused mass, still continued to contest every inch of ground
till they were forced to the bridge, which they found broken,

and, preferring death to surrender, plunged into the stream.

Unfortunately for them it had risen during the night, and

flooded the ford, and they perished by hundreds in the attempt

to cross. By the forethought of the Governor-General the

horse artillery had been brought up during the action and

planted along the river, and its cannonade completed the des-

truction of the enemy. The confusion, dismay, and carnage were

such as had not been seen in India since the field of Paniput.

The loss on the side of the Sikhs was estimated at 8,000, and

the whole of their encampment, with all their artillery, their

standards, and vast munitions of war fell to the victors. The
loss on our side was 2,383, but the victory was complete. By
eleven in the morning not an unwounded Sikh was left on

the British bank of the Sutlege. The conquerors, as they
beheld the trenches filled with the bodies of their iron-hearted

defenders, and the fords of the Sutlege choked up with

thousands of corpses, and the river itself exhibiting in every
direction the wreck of a great army, did not fail to pay a

tribute of admiration to the gallantry and the devotedness

of the noble Khalsa army.

The Am enters
-^-a

J
or Abbott, a distinguished officer of engi-

the Punjab, neers, had been employed night and day in con-

structing a bridge with the boats which Lord

EUeTrborough had built in Sinde, and Sir Henry Hardinge
had brought up to Ferozepore, and it was completed the night
before the battle. Sir Henry Hardinge, though suffering from

a serious injury occasioned by a fall from his horse, had been

actively engaged on the field. He quitted it immediately
after the victory was complete, and rode twenty-six miles

to Ferozepore, to hasten the passage of the troops, and that

same night six regiments bivouacked in the Punjab. Three

days after the action, the whole army, which, including camp
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followers, counted 100,000 men and 68,000 animals and forty

pieces of artillery, was enabled, through the admirable arrange-

ments of Major Abbott, to cross the river without a single

casualty. Two days before the engagement several vakeels

arrived from Lahore, and solicited an audience of the Governor-

General, but were informed that they would not be received

till it had been fought. They made their appearance again on

the 11th, bringing with them as a peace offering the European

prisoners and a gig captured at Buddowal. They were dis-

missed with a friendly message to the durbar, which brought

raja Golab Sing and two of the ministers to the encampment
on the 15th, empowered on the part of the Maharaja Duleep

Sing to agree to any terms the Governor-General might think

fit to dictate. They were received as the representatives of

an offending Government, without the usual forms and cere-

monies, and their complimentary offerings were refused. On
the 17th, Duleep Sing himself came into the camp, and having
made his submission, was dismissed with honour. During
these negotiations, the army continued to advance to the

capital, and on the 20th was encamped on the plain of Meean

Meer. The conquerors were now in possession of the metro-

polis of those who had wantonly invaded their territories, but

Sir Henry Hardinge was determined to repress every outrage,

and issued an order strictly forbidding any soldier to enter the

city, even from motives of curiosity. The only humiliation to

which the Sikhs were subjected was the occupation of the

citadel of their pride by a garrison of British troops.

The future destiny of the Punjab then came up
Settlement of mi . r i i i i ,

the Punjab, for consideration. The issue of the war had placed
1846-

it unequivocally at the disposal of the British Gov-

ernment, and Sir Henry Hardinge might have incorporated it

with the Company's dominions upon every principle of justice

and equity, and with the full concurrence of all the princes of

India. But he had neither the means nor the desire of annex-

ation. Sir Charles Napier was, indeed, at the time prepared

to march up from Sinde with 16,000 men and fifty guns, but
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Sir Hugh Gough'fl army was essentially weak. Our strength
in India consists in the number and efficiency of the European

troops we are able to bring into the field, and the four battles

had reduced this European force to barely 3,000 men. The

morale of the army was low; the season of heat and prostra-

tion was approaching, and it was not easy to see how the

army with its endless followers could have been sheltered and

fed during the period when the climate reduced it to a state of

inaction. After the battle of Sobraon, the Sikh army still

mustered 14,000 strong, with forty pieces of cannon. Upon
a careful consideration of all circumstances, Sir Henry
Hardinge resolved, and not unwisely, to avoid encumbering
his administration with the government of the Punjab. He
considered it necessary to punish the Sikh nation for past

offences and to prevent the recurrence of aggression, but he

was anxious to perform these duties without suppressing its

political existence. Immediately after the Sikh army in-

vaded our territory he had issued a proclamation confiscating

the Cis-Sutlege possessions of the Lahore crown, and he

now annexed the Jullunder dooab, or district lying between

the Sutlege and the Beeas, to the Company's dominions, by
which he obtained security for our hill stations, and a position

which gave us the control of the Sikh capital. The expenses
of the campaign were computed at a crore and a-half of

rupees, which the Lahore state was required to make good,
but the profligacy of the ministers and the rapacity of the

soldiery had exhausted the treasury, and of the twelve crores

which Runjeet Sing left in it, there remained scarcely fifty lacs

of rupees to meet the demand. Sir Henry determined, therefore,

to take over the province of Cashmere and the highlands of

Jummoo in lieu of the remaining crore. Since the death of

Runjeet Sing, the powerful raja of Jummoo, Golab Sing, had

always cherished the hope of being able, by some happy turn

of circumstances, to convert his principality into an indepen-
dent sovereignty. During the recent contest he had played the

part of an interested neutral, watching the issue of the con-
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test and prepared to side with the strongest. When called

to assume the office of minister at Lahore he negotiated with

the Governor-General as much for his own interests, as for

those of the state. There conld be little doubt that a clear

understanding regarding his possessions existed between

him and the British Government, and hence it created no

surprise when he stepped forward and offered to pay down
the crore of rupees on condition of being constituted the inde-

pendent raja of Cashmere and Jummoo. The sovereignty of

those provinces was accordingly sold to him, but it must not

be forgotten that he received only an indefeasible title to that

which he actually possessed at the time. By this stroke

of policy, Sir Henry Hardinge obtained funds to cover the

expenses of the war, and planted on the northern division of

the Punjab an independent Rajpoot chief between whom and

the Sikhs there was a feeling of irreconcilable discord. Tej

Sing on hearing of the disposal of Cashmere, offered twenty-
five lacs of rupees for another province and princely crown, but

was sharply rebuked for his presumption.

Treaty of the 9th The treaty of the 9th March, in which the set-

March, 1846.
tlement of the Punjab was embodied, also pro-

vided that the troops of the Lahore state should be paid up and

disbanded, and that the regular Sikh army should be completely

reorganized, and limited in future to 20,000 infantry and 12,000

cavalry and that all the guns, thirty- six in number, which had

been pointed against the British force should be surrendered.

The troops who had so nobly confronted us in four actions

were drawn up and discharged, and their manly deportment

gave additional lustre to their valour. They alluded to their

discomfiture as the chance of war, and dwelt with unabated

confidence on the future destiny of the Khalsa. Within forty-

eight hours of the signature of the treaty, the durbar impor-

tuned the Governor-General to lend a British force for the

security of the Maharaja and his capital until the reconstruc-

tion of the Government was complete, and he consented, at

length, to leave a sufficient force until the close of the year, but
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with the positive assurance that it would not be permitted to

remain longer. The first Sikh war thus terminated in the dis-

solution of the Khalsa army and the dismemberment of the

Punjab; but India doubted our success. After the independ-
entv of every other kingdom had been successively extin-

guished, the natives still fixed their eyes with a feeling of hope
on the new and powerful state which Runjeet Sing had built

up in the Punjab, and cherished the belief that a native

monarchy had at length been erected on the banks of the Sut-

lege, the cradle of Hindoo power, destined to re-establish

Hindoo supremacy throughout India. The indecisive character

of the actions at Moodkee and Ferozeshuhur, combined with

the subsequent inactivity of the army, served to strengthen
this opinion, and the report of our decisive success at Aliwall

and Sobraon was received with feelings of mistrust. Sir Henry
Hardinge deemed it important to remove this impression from

the native mind, and to demonstrate that the power of Runjeet

Sing's kingdom was completely broken, and the last hope of

a Hindoo sovereignty dissipated.

Procession of tie
A £rand Procession was accordingly formed of

captured guns, two hundred and fifty of the cannon captured
from the Sikhs, which marched from Lahore to

Calcutta with every demonstration of military pomp. It was

received at every station and cantonment on the route with

great distinction by all the public functionaries. Its arrival in

Calcutta was celebrated by a magnificent ceremonial in which

the Deputy-Governor, Sir Herbert Maddock, and the whole

staff of Government, and all the battalions within reach, took

a part, and the report of it was transmitted to every durbar in

Hindostan and the Deccan. The announcement of four battles

fought in fifty-four days to repel an unprovoked assault on our

territories, produced an extraordinary sensation in England.

Even those who invariably professed a virtuous indignation on

every recurrence of war or conquest in India, and attributed it to

the ambition and rapacity of our countrymen, were constrained

to admit that on this occasion, the question of peace or war
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did not depend on the will of Government. The thanks of

Parliament were moved to Sir Henry Hardinge, to Sir Hugh
Gough, and to their brave companions, by Sir Robert Peel in

the Commons, and by the Duke of Wellington in the Lords,
in speeches which enhanced the value of the honour. The
Governor-General and the Commander-in-chief were elevated

to the peerage, and a baronetcy was conferred on the victor

of Aliwall. To all the troops engaged in the campaign, Sir

Henry Hardinge granted twelve months full batta, without

waiting for permission from home.

New arrange- Major Lawrence was selected by Lord Hardinge

Pun-abVec
6 as *^e British representative at Lahore, and raja

1846.

'

Lall Sing, the paramour of the ranee, the Orloff of

the Punjab, was appointed prime minister. He was a man of

low extraction, and handsome appearance, but without talent

either for civil or military affairs, and his administration, which

was very venal and oppressive, made him obnoxious to the

people, and more especially to the chiefs. Towards the British

Government he acted with singular treachery. Soon after the

raja Golab Sing had taken possession of his new kingdom of

Cashmere, a formidable opposition was organized against his

authority by Imam-ood-deen. Major Lawrence felt the im-

portance of extinguishing the first spark of resistance with the

utmost promptitude, before it burst into a flame, and he pro-

ceeded in haste towards Cashmere with a large force, notwith-

standing the risk of being blocked up by the snows of the

approaching winter. " It was an extraordinary spectacle," as

remarked at the time, "to witness half a dozen European

foreigners taking up a lately subdued mutinous soldiery,

through one of the most difficult countries in the world, to put
the chief, formerly their commander, now in their minds a

rebel, in possession of the brightest gem of their land." The

energy and promptitude of this movement ensured its success.

The refractory Imam-ood-deen made his submission, and then

produced the written orders of Lall Sing for his contumacious

proceedings. Lord Hardinge immediately directed a commis-
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sion of European officers to investigate the conduct of the

minister, in the presence of sixty-five Sikh chiefs. The

charge of treachery was fully substantiated; he was deposed

from hifl office, and in spite of the remonstrances and tears of

the ranee, conveyed to the British territories, and consigned to

oblivion on a pension of 2,000 rupees a-month. As the period

which Lord Hardinge had fixed for the retirement of the

British garrison from the Punjab approached, the durbar and

the most influential chiefs assured him that without this sup-

port, it would be impossible to carry on the government, or

prevent the restoration of Khalsa supremacy. Lord Hardinge

yielded with great reluctance to their importunity. Fifty-

two chiefs assembled at the durbar tent of the Resident and

discussed the articles of agreement which they themselves had

assisted in drawing up, in conjunction with Mr. Currie, and

on the 16th December, 1846, affixed their signatures and seals

to the new treaty. It provided that a council of regency, com-

posed of eight of the leading chiefs should be appointed to act

under the control and guidance of the British Resident, who
was to exercise unlimited influence in all matters of internal

administration and external policy. A British force was to

be stationed in the various forts and stations throughout the

country, for the maintenance of which the sum of twenty-two
lacs of rupees a-year was to be appropriated from the revenues

of the state. The arrangement was to continue for eight years,

till the Maharaja Duleep Sing attained his majority. By this

treaty a much larger share of authority was conferred on the

Resident than had been assumed in any of the states to

which the British Government had extended its protection, and

Major Lawrence, an officer of the Company's artillery, became,
in effect, the successor of Runjeet Sing.

Reduction of In ^e course of thirty-six months, the three

the Army, is46.
independent armies of Sinde, Gwalior and Lahore,

numbering 120,000 soldiers, had been extinguished, and all

their artillery, which formed their chief strength, captured.

The time appeared now to have arrived when the strength of
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our own army could be regulated without any reference to the

hostility of the native powers. For eight years we had been

incessantly engaged in war, or in preparations for it, and the

armies cf the three Presidencies had been augmented since

October, 1838, to the extent of 120,000 men. The pressure

on the finances of the empire had been proportionately severe,

and the expenditure at this time exceeded the income by a

crore and a-half of rupees a-year. Lord Hardinge had been

obliged to open a new loan in October, 1846, but, after the

satisfactory settlement of the Punjab in December, he con-

sidered himself justified in reducing the military force and,

with it, the public expenditure. Happily, his long military

experience, both in the field and as Secretary at War in the

cabinet, enabled him to carry out the principle of reduction

with great boldness, and at the same time with the least pos-

sible detriment to the efficiency of the public service. The

police battalions were, accordingly, disbanded, and the rank

and file of the army reduced to the extent of 50,000 men, leav-

ing the number of officers, European and native, undiminished.

In the recent actions on the Sutlege it was found that we had

not more than 4,500 sabres opposed to more than 20,000 of

the enemy, and Lord Hardinge rectified this deficiency by aug-

menting the irregular branch of the cavalry. These reductions

resulted in a saving of a crore and a hundred and fifty lacs of

rupees a-year. The revenue of the Sikh provinces on both sides

the Sutlege which he had annexed was calculated at some

forty lacs of rupees a-year, and, combined with the subsidy of

twenty-two lacs from the Lahore state, restored the equili-

brium of the finances. Nor should it be forgotten that in all

Lord Hardinge's efforts to bring the expenditure within the

income, there was no curtailment of individual salaries. Not-

withstanding these reductions, the security of the north-west

frontier was fully provided for by the allotment of 54,000

men and 120 guns to Meerut and the stations above it. The

precautionary measures adopted by Lord Hardinge for the

safety of the Punjab, manifested equal foresight and vigour.
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He did not expect that a country teeming with disbanded

soldiers, the bravest and most haughty in India, who had

been nurtured in victory and conquest, and pampered with

seven years of military licence, would be as free from disturb-

ance, as a district in Bengal. To provide for the prompt sup-
-ion of any insurrectionary movements which might arise,

he organized three moveable brigades, complete in carriage

and equipment, each of which consisted of one European

corps, three regiments of native infantry and one of cavalry,
with twelve guns, chiefly of European horse artillery. They
were held in readiness at Lahore, Jullunder and Ferozepore,
to take the field at the shortest notice.

Canals,
The magnificent canals constructed by the

1819-1847, Mogul emperors in the north-west provinces were

among the most important of their undertakings, but they
became practically extinct with the decay of the empire, and

by the middle of the last century had ceased to be of any

utility. The efforts made by the British Government to restore

these invaluable works originated with Lord Hastings, and the

zeal and earnestness with which they were carried on, formed

one of the most distinctive features of his administration.

Before he resigned his office he had the satisfaction of learn-

ing that, through the scientific exertions of Lieutenant Blane,

to whom he had entrusted the undertaking, one of the most

important of the canals had re-entered the city of Delhi, after

an intermission of more than half a century. These labours

were continued without relaxation under his successors, and

a sum exceeding half a crore of rupees was devoted to the

restoration and maintenance of the ancient canals. Such

works have always been found remunerative in India, and the

whole of this amount, with a trifling exception, was returned

to the treasury in the augmented revenue derived from the

irrigation of 300,000 acres, the annual produce of which was
estimated at two crores and a-half of rupees. The superin-
tendence of the canals at length devolved on Colonel Col \ in,

one of the most distinguished officers of one of the most

renowned corps of the Company's service, the Bengal engineers.
in. x
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Down to this period the labours of the British Government

has been directed to the restoration of the decayed canals of

the preceding dynasty ; but it was now determined to under-

take the construction of an original work, far exceeding in

magnitude and utility any enterprize of the kind which had

ever been contemplated in India. This was the Ganges canal,

designed to fertilize the fields of the Dooab lying between that

stream and the Jumna. Lord Auckland was traversing this

province in 1837, on his way to Simlah, when it was desolated

by the great famine, which was estimated to have swept away
a million of the inhabitants, and to have cost the state half a

million sterling. The smiling aspect, during this calamity, of

the districts which had enjoyed the benefit of irrigation from

the restored Mogul canals gave great weight to the proposal

of Captain Cautley, who had succeeded Colonel Colvin, to

construct a canal, and at an interview with Lord Auckland in

the following year he was authorized to undertake a thorough
examination of the low tract of country lying near the Ganges.
The duty was entrusted entirely to his agency. He com-

menced his labours in December, 1839, and completed the

whole of the survey, with the designs of the project, the

plans, the estimates, and calculations, with no other aid than

that of a young infantry officer, who joined him at the close

of the final survey in 1844. His first report was submitted in

May 1840, and transmitted to the Court of Directors, who, in

a spirit of liberality worthy the greatness of their trust,

adopted the plan, extended it beyond the limits which the

Indian authorities had ventured to propose, and on the recom-

mendation of Lord Auckland presented Captain Cautley with

the sum of 6000 rupees,
" in consideration of the great im-

portance of the work which he had projected, and the zeal and

ability displayed by him in his plans and report." With this

encouragement from home, Lord Auckland prosecuted the

work with the utmost vigour, but Lord Ellenborough on his

arrival suspended all operations, and one uncovenanted assist-

ant was alone left on the works. The original design was at

the same time materially modified, and it was proposed to make
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the canal primarily a channel of navigation
—though there

was a river on each side of it—and only, in the second in-

work of irrigation. A report was called for on the

subject; this preposterous plan was rejected, and the canal

was restored to its original object. The consideration of this

question fell to the lot of Lord Ilardinge, and in March, 1847,

he visited the head of the canal, and examined its most impor-
tant feature, the Solani aqueduct, after which he directed that

the work should be pushed forward with the utmost activity,
ami that funds should be supplied without reserve.

Close of Lord The attention of Lord Hardinge during his tenure

mL
r

utration,

Ad"

of office was chiefly occupied in the reduction of

184& the great Khalsa armament, in the construction

of a new system of government in the Punjab, in the reorgani-

zation of our own army, and the restoration of the finances.

These important duties were sufficient to absorb the time of

an administration which was limited to forty-two months;

but, like Lord Hastings, Lord Hardinge was accustomed to be

at his desk an hour or two before dawn, and he was enabled to

create leisure for other labours connected with the material

ami social improvement of the country. He gave a great im-

pulse at an important crisis to the project of Indian railways,

then in the struggles of infancy. In October, 1846, he pro-

hibited Sunday labour on all the Government establishments,

and gave our Hindoo and Mahomedan subjects a proof of our

respect for the principles of our creed. Lord William Bentinck

had abolished suttees throughout the British dominions, but

they were still perpetrated in the native states, and on the

death of the raja of Mundee, a petty independent chief in

the neighbourhood of the Governor-General's residence at

Simla, no fewer than twelve women were burnt alive on

his funeral pile. Lord Hardinge employed the influence of
-

our paramount authority, to induce the independent native

princes to abolish, not only female immolation, but female

infanticide, and slavery, within their territories, and, be-

fore his departure from India, he had the satisfaction of

x 2
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receiving written assurances from twenty-four of the princes

and princesses of India, including the raja Golab Sing, of

Cashmere, that they had made the most strenuous and suc-

cessful efforts to meet his wishes, and would not relax them ;

and a suttee in any native state is now considered as incredi-

ble as a duel in England. The distribution of his patronage

was regulated by an exclusive regard to the public interests,

and he was as free from the suspicion of nepotism as Lord

Ellenborough himself. The selection he made for important

offices did no little credit to his discernment. Among the most

eminent of the public servants whom he was instrumental in

bringing forward, may be mentioned Mr.—afterwards Sir

Henry—Elliott, a highly distinguished oriental scholar, and

an able secretary, who was cut off before he had reached

the maturity of his fame ; Colonel Grant, whom he selected for

the Adjutant-Generalship, and who has won his way to the

Governorship of Malta; and the present Governor-General,

whose merits he was the first to discover. Lord Hardinge
secured the confidence of society in India, as he had done in

England, by his sterling sense, and by the rare combination of

a kind and conciliatory disposition with decision of character

and vigour of discipline. It was felt on both sides the Cape,

that in his hands the empire was safe, and that a spirit of

improvement pervaded all his purposes. He left Calcutta on

the 15th March, 1848, with the conviction that it would not

be necessary to fire another shot in India for seven years.

The prospect of continued tranquillity appeared equally cer-

tain to all the public writers of the day ; yet, so impossible

is it to forecast the future in India, that before the end of a

twelvemonth, the Punjab had revolted and been reconquered,

and had become a British province.
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CHAPTER XXXIX.

LORD DALUOUSIE'S ADMINISTRATION SECOND SIKH WAR,
1848-49.

Loni Daihousie, On the 19th January, Lord Dalhousie landed at

Ohandpal ghaut, in Calcutta, and took the oaths

and his seat in Council, fifty years after Lord Wellesley, whose

magnificent reign he was destined to rival, landed at the same

stairs. He was in his thirty-sixth year, the youngest man
who had ever assumed the government of India. He may be

considered as the last of the proconsuls whom the Directors of

the East India Company had for eightj^-four years been accus-

tomed to address as " our Governor-General ;" his successor,

though for some time under their control, became !,he viceroy

of the Crown. Lord Dalhousie had sat in the House of Com-
mons for several years before he succeeded to the family title.

He had been President of the Board of Trade in Sir Robert

Peel's last cabinet, at a period when that department was in-

undated by a flood of railway projects, which taxed its ener-

gies beyond all former example ; and, it was the extraordinary

talent, industry, and aptitude for business which he exhibited

under that pressure which recommended him to the highest

post in the British empire
— except the premiership. He as-

sumed the management of India without any of that know-

ledge of the policy and the institutions of Government, the posi-

tion of the native princes, or the character of the people, which

Lord Wellesley, Lord Minto, Lord William Bentinck, and

Lord Ellenborough had brought out with them, but his natural

genius soon caught the spirit, and mastered the details of the

Indian administration. The period of his rule, which extended

t<> right years, was filled with transactions of the most momen-
tous character, which will long continue to affect the happiness
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of the vast population of India. To present a clear and com-

prehensive retrospect of his administration, it may be useful to

waive the chronological order of events, and to distribute them

under the three divisions of, the military operations which were

forced upon him, his procedure regarding the native princes,

and his various plans for the welfare of the people and the

prosperity of the country.

Mooiraj, 1844- Within four months of his arrival, all those
1848 -

sanguine expectations which Lord Hardinge had

bequeathed to him of a long reign of peace were rudely dissi-

pated, and the note of war was again sounded across the Sut-

lege. Major
—afterwards Sir Henry—Lawrence, a soldier and

a statesman, to whom the task of sustaining British authority in

the conquered, but unsubdued, kingdom of the Punjab had been

committed, was constrained to visit England for his health, and

he was succeeded, temporarily, by his brother, and then by Sir

Frederick Currie, a member of the Supreme Council. Those

who remembered the catastrophe of Cabul, saw, not without

some misgivings, a civilian again placed in a position which

required the experience and the influential counsels of a mili-

tary man. He found no velvet cushion at Lahore. Scarcely

had he entered upon his office than a small cloud no bigger

than a man's hand appeared on the horizon over Mooltan,

which, in the course of six months, overspread the Punjab and

brought on a conflict as arduous as that of 1845. Sawun Mull,

who had been appointed dewan, or governor of Mooltan, by

Runjeet Sing, was assassinated in 1844, after twenty years of

power, and the administration passed into the hands of his son,

Mooiraj, whose subordination to the central authority of La-

hore, was little more than nominal. But Lall Sing, the minis-

ter, knowing that a large treasure had been accumulated by
Sawun Mull, at Mooltan, demanded a crore of rupees as a nuzzur,

or succession fine, from his son, who was enabled eventually

to effect a compromise for eighteen lacs. He took advantage,

however, of the confusion which reigned in the Punjab, to

withhold payment; but, on the establishment of a strong
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nmont under British auspices, an army was sent to coerce

him, bat he contrived to baffle it. He then applied for the

interposition of Mr. Lawrence, and, under his safe conduct,

proceeded to Lahore. After adjusting the fine, he offered to

d the government, on the double ground of family dis-

sensions, and the new fiscal arrangements which were about

to be introduced into the province, and which he affirmed

would damage his income. On the arrival of Sir Frederick

Currie at Lahore, Moolraj renewed his offer of resignation,

without any other stipulation than that of saving his honour

in the eyes of his people. It is difficult to believe that a

native chieftain in the position of Moolraj, enjoying all but

independent authority, seriously contemplated the surrender

of his power, although he may have made the offer under a

feeling of temporary irritation ; and it would have been an act

of wisdom and prudence not to put his professions to the

proof. The durbar, however, chose to take him at his word,

and in March directed Khan Sing to proceed to Mooltan, on a

*alary of 30,000 rupees a-year, and take over the government.
Sir Frederick Currie selected Mr. Agnew, a civilian and a good
oriental scholar, to accompany him, nominally, as the political

agent, but in reality to assume the entire management of the

country, and to introduce a new system of finance and revenue.

For this proceeding he has been severely criticised, and it has

been justly remarked that if he was not prepared at the time

to support it by an overwhelming force against all the oppo-
sition it was certain to encounter, he should have postponed the

mission until the usual season of operations in the cold weather.

Mr. Agnew, in company with his assistant Lieutenant Ander-

son, and Khan Sing, with an escort of 350 Sikh troops and a

few guns, reached Mooltan on the 18th April, and encamped
at the Edgah, a fortified temple in the vicinity of the town.

Murder of the
^n *ne mornmo °f the 19th, Moolraj waited on

British officers, the British officers, to discuss the terms on which
1848

the fort and the government were to be given

up. He asked for a regular deed of acquittance on the pro-
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duction of the papers of the previous year, but Mr. Agnew in-

sisted on all the accounts of the previous six years. Moolraj.

naturally hesitated to produce documents which might com-

promise him by disclosing the secrets of his administration ;

and, though he yielded at length to the demand, he left the

encampment with a scowl on his brow which boded no good.

He felt that he had been injured and dishonoured before his

own people. On the morning of the 20th, Mr. Agnew and

Lieutenant Anderson proceeded with him to inspect the various

establishments which he was about to resign ; but, as they
entered the fort, he requested them to dismiss a portion of

their guard, to which they injudiciously acceded, although he

refused, on some frivolous pretence, to diminish his own
retinue. As they were returning from the fort and crossing

the drawbridge, Mr. Agnew received a spear thrust under his

arm, was thrown off his horse, and wounded in three places

with a sword as he lay struggling with his assailant. Lieu-

tenant Anderson was likewise suddenly surrounded and felled

to the ground by assassins. Moolraj, who was riding side by
side with Mr. Agnew at the time, immediately set spurs to his

horse and rode off at full speed to his country residence, while

the wounded officers were conveyed by their attendants to

the Edgah. On the morning of the 20th, a brisk fire was

opened upon it from the guns of the citadel, which was

maintained throughout the day, and answered by the guns
which had accompanied the party from Lahore. Mr. Agnew
then despatched a letter appealing to the compassion of

Moolraj, but he stated in reply that, although anxious to come

to his assistance, he was restrained by the violence of his

soldiery. He did not, however, refuse to allow them to fasten

a war bracelet on his arm, and there could be no doubt of his

complicity in this atrocious attempt to assassinate the British

officers. Mr. Agnew and his companion were in hopes of

being able to maintain their position until relief should arrive

from Bunnoo or Bhawulpore, but their Sikh escort, which

consisted of Goorkha soldiers,/proved treacherous, and went
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over in a body to the enemy, leaving them at the mercy of a

brew of howling savages, who entered the mosque and com-

1 the work of death. A misshapen monster of the name

of Goojur Sing, rushed upon Mr. Agnew, loaded him with the

foulest abuse, and severed his head from his body at the third

stroke, while the ruffians hacked Lieutenant Anderson to

pieces. Their bodies were dragged out amid brutish yells;

their heads were presented to Moolraj, and then tossed among
the mob, filled with gunpowder, and blown to atoms. The

morning after the assassination, Moolraj transferred his family

and his treasure to the fort, and, having placed himself at the

head of the insurrectionary movement, issued a proclamation

summoning all the inhabitants of the province, of every creed,

to rise and wage a religious war with the Feringees.

The emergency for which the foresight of Lord

at 'Lahore, Ilardinge had made provision by his moveable

brigades had now arisen ; but there was no longei

Sir Henry Lawrence at the head of affairs in the Punjab, or

Lord Ilardinge at the head of the Government. The Resident

at Lahore was an amiable and intelligent civilian, the Governor-

General was an able statesman, but young in years and new
in authority. He was as yet but partially acquainted with

those who held posts of importance in the Government, and

was, moreover, without any of that military experience which

enabled his predecessor to maintain, without presumption, a

powerful control of our military movements. Had Sir Henry
Lawrence been at Lahore, he would have moved the brigade

upon Mooltan, with the same promptitude which he had exhi-

bited in his march to Cashmere at the beginning of the winter,
to crush Imam-ood-deen, and doubtless with the same success.

Had Lord Ilardinge been at the head of the Government, he
would have taken upon himself to despatch the large force he

had massed on the north-west frontier and collected at Bukkur,
and invested Mooltan before Moolraj could make any adequate

preparations for resistance. A march through Sinde and from
Lahore in the month of May would doubtless have occasioned
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many casualties, but our empire in India had been acquired
and maintained, not by fair weather campaigns, but by taking
the field on every emergency, and at any season. On the first

news of the assault at Mooltan, Sir Frederick Currie ordered a

large force of horse, foot, and artillery to prepare for a march;
but on hearing, a day or two after, that the officers had been

murdered and that their escort had deserted to the enemy, he

countermanded the movement of the troops, and resolved to

await the decision of the Commander-in-chief, on whom he

pressed the necessity of prompt and energetic action. Lord

Gough, however, considered the season of the year unfavour-

able for military operations, and determined to postpone them

to the cold weather, when he should be prepared to take the

field in person. Lord Dalhousie gave his concurrence to this

decision. Sir Henry Lawrence aptly described this procrasti-

nation as "a resolution to have a grand shikar—hunt—in the

cold season under his own lead."

T . . The Resident and the Commander-in-chief had
Lieutenant

Edwardes, scarcely ceased to bandy arguments, when Lieu-

tenant—now Sir Herbert— Edwardes, a young
officer employed in the revenue settlement of Bunnoo across

the Indus, who was at the time known only by the produc-
tions of his pen which had recommended him to the notice

of his superiors, brought the question of a military movement

to an immediate issue. With the energy and military enter-

prise of Clive, but with greater moral courage, inasmuch as he

assumed a heavier responsibility, he determined to take the

initiative in crushing the revolt. Without waiting for orders

from Lahore, he crossed the Indus with 1,200 infantry, 350

horsemen, and two guns, and took up a position at the town

of Leiah ; but a letter which he intercepted informed him that

his men had agreed to sell his head for 12,000 rupees, and

their own services for a similar sum; no dependence could

therefore be placed on them. Moolraj was moving down to

attack him, and he found it necessary to recross the river. His

associate in this enterprise. Colonel Cortland, an officer in the
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Wrvice of the durbar, had under his command a regiment of

trustworthy Mahomedans and six guns, and the two officers

made the most strenuous exertions to raise troops free from

the infection of treachery
—" bold villains ready to risk their

OWn throats and to cut those of any one else." Colonel Cort-

land had been ordered by the Resident to move southward

to aid in the collection of revenue, and he quitted Lieutenant

Edwardes with 2,000 men. Moolraj immediately despatched
a force of 6,000 men to attack him, when Lieutenant Edwardes

moved down to his assistance, by land and by water, executing
a march of fifty miles in twenty-four hours. The combined

force was successful in repelling the assault, in occupying the

whole of the Trans-Indus district, and in obtaining possession
of all the boats on the river. Meanwhile, the Nabob of Bhawul-

poro, forty miles south of Mooltan, who had faithfully main-

tained his alliance with the Company since the visit of Captain
Burnes in 1832, was requested by the Resident, at the instance

of Lieutenant Edwardes, to advance with his army to the attack

of Moolraj. Lieutenant Edwardes formed a junction with his

troops on the 18th June at Kineyree, but found them in a state

of complete disorganization, their helpless commander sitting

under a tree counting his beads and muttering his prayers.
With great difficulty he established something like order in their

Battle of
ranks before they were attacked by Moolraj, who

Kineyree, isth came down upon them with a body of 8,000 Sikhs

and two guns. The action was fiercely contested

for many hours, and the result was for a time doubtful, but at

three in the afternoon the timely arrival of Colonel Cortland's

regiments with his guns decided the fortune of the day, and

the Mooltan army fled in confusion from the field. After the

victory, Lieutenant Edwardes importuned the Resident to

reinforce him, and preparations were made for the despatch of

an adequate force, but the Commander-in-chief again inter-

posed his authority, because the season was not yet favour-

able, and the siege train to be drawn by bullocks had not as

yet moved from Cawnpore. On the 28th June, Lieutenant
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Edwardes was strengthened by the accession of 4,000 men,

brought by Imam-ood-deen, who had returned to his allegiance,
which raised his force, including the Bhawulpore contingent,
to 18,000. Moolraj, alarmed at the growing power of his

opponents, advanced against them with his whole force, which
had been in the meantime augmented by deserters to 11,000,

Battle of supported by eleven guns, and met them at Su-

sudoosain, doosain, in the neighbourhood of his capital. After

a cannonade of several hours, a brilliant charge of

one of Colonel Cortland's regiments, led by an office clerk of

the name of Quin, decided the action. The Mooltan troops

recoiled from the assault, and fled. Moolraj was thrown from

his elephant by a cannon ball, and, mounting a horse, joined

the fugitives, and sought shelter within the walls of the city.

The spirited efforts of the young lieutenant had thus, in the

space of a few weeks, recovered the province and shut up the

rebel in his citadel. "Now," he wrote to the Resident,
"

is the

time to strike ;
it is painful to see that I have got to the end

of my tether." He represented in strong terms the impolicy
of condemning his raw levies to a state of inactivity for three

or four months, exposed to the intrigues and allurements of

Moolraj 's emissaries, while the fermentation in the Punjab
was daily becoming more intense.

, . , Sir Frederick Currie determined to lose no time
Despatch of

General whisn, in following up the successful exertions of Lieu-

tenant Edwardes, and took upon himself the re-

sponsibility of ordering General Whish to prepare the moveable

brigade for an immediate march to Mooltan. Lord Gough
refrained from offering any opposition to the movement of

this force, but wisely determined to double its strength and

raise it to 7,000 men, of whom a third were Europeans, and

to send thirty-four guns with it. Lord Dalhousie said that

although his opinion of the proper period for action had under-

gone no change, he was anxious to maintain the authority of

the Resident, and directed him, at all hazards, to cany out

the policy he hid resolved upon with vigour. Meanwhile,
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Lieutenant Edwardea was joined by a Sikh force which the

Lahore durbar had been permitted to despatch to Mooltan

under Shere Sing, one of the most influential chiefs in the

Punjab, ostensibly to co-operate against Moolraj, but in reality?

as it subsequently appeared, to embrace every opportunity of

supporting his rebellion. It was no secret at Lahore that

both he and his troops were thoroughly disaffected, and the

great object of the Resident, after they had proceeded on their

march, was to prevent their being brought in contact with

Moolraj and his bands. Shere Sing's army was accordingly

directed to halt within fifty miles of Mooltan, but, after the

victory of the 1st July, he was permitted to continue his

progress to that town. This was the cardinal error of the

first period of the campaign, and it entailed the most disastrous

results. Shere Sing did not hesitate to avow that his soldiers

were incessantly urging him to join the revolt, and that if

Lieutenant Edwardes had not been victorious at Sudoosain

they would have gone over to Moolraj to a man. During the

time they were encamped before Mooltan not a day passed

without some desertions to the enemy, and the peril of the

British commander was seriously augmented by the presence

of these worse than doubtful allies.

The intn es of
^ne events which transpired at Lahore during

the Maharanee, these proceedings exposed the mine upon which

we had been for some time sitting in the Punjab.
The Maharanee, a woman of insatiable ambition and inde-

fatigable intrigue, and animated with a spirit of bitter hostility

to British ascendency, had been placed under restraint at a

place called Shakoopoor, a few miles from Lahore, and her

annual allowance of a lac and a-half of rupees had been

reduced to 4,000. In May, 1848, a conspiracy to corrupt the

troops at Lahore was discovered and traced to her machina-

tions, and two of her agents were convicted and executed.

The investigation conducted on this occasion disclosed the

startling fact that she had been engaged for some time in a

conspiracy against us, and that all the chiefs of the Lahore
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durbar, with the exception of two, had agreed to co-operate

with her for our expulsion. It was likewise asserted that

Khan Sing, who accompanied Mr. Agnew to Mooltan, was
himself deeply implicated in the plot, and had engaged to

raise the province as soon as he had obtained possession of

the citadel. She had extended her intrigues to Cabul, to Can-

dahar, to Cashmere, to the Sikh protected states, and even to

the princes of Rajpootana ; and had endeavoured to organize

a confederacy 'against British authority as ramified as that

which Bajee Rao had projected thirty years before. The whole

body of Sikh troops in the durbar army was ripe for revolt.

There did not exist a chief or an officer who was not eager to

shake off the yoke of the foreigners, and again to enshrine the

national idol of Khalsa supremacy. There was not an inch of

firm ground under our feet throughout the country of the five

rivers. Sir Frederick considered that in these circumstances

there could be no peace or security while the Maharanee con-

tinued in the Punjab, fomenting disaffection ; and, by an

unexpected and adroit movement, which anticipated all oppo-

sition, he caused her to be conveyed across the Sutlege and

transferred to the care of the Resident at Benares, the warder

of the dethroned princes and princesses of India,

ctmtter Sing,
The spirit of revolt now began openly to de-

1848.
velope itself. Chutter Sing, the father of Shere

Sing, who had been intrusted with the government of the

province of Hazara, lying on the left bank of the Indus, ex-

hibited unequivocal signs of disaffection, and caused Colonel

Canora, one of Runjeet Sing's old officers, to be put to death,

because he refused to move his guns without the orders of the

political agent. The Resident was slow to credit his treachery,

and Jhunda Sing, who was supposed to possess more influence

over him than any other man, was sent to endeavour to keep
him to his allegiance. Jhunda, however, turned traitor himself,

and joined the standard of Chutter Sing, who threw off the

mask, and proceeded to attack Captain Nicholson, whom Major
Lawrence had promptly sent down to hold Attok, the key
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of the Indus. Throughout the month of August, Chutter Sing

adjured his son Shere Sing to join the national revolt, but he

Continued to assure Lieutenant Edwardes of his unalterable

fidelity, professed to show all the communications he had

received from liis father, and offered to take an oath of alle-

gianee on the holy book.

Gencniwhish's
General Whish's brigades, consisting of about

opt rations, 7,000 men, with a battering train, started for

Mooltan at the latter end of July, but, though the

distance was only two hundred and twenty miles, and he

enjoyed the unrivalled convenience of water carriage down the

stream, the force was thirty-nine days in reaching its destina-

tion. This procrastination, combined with the open defection of

Chutter Sing, enabled Moolraj to augment the strength of his

army, and to improve the defences of the town and the fort,

while it also inspired him with increased confidence. Strange
to say, it was found that General Whish's troops were more

healthy during their progress to Mooltan than they had been

in cantonments, and it was manifest that the unsuitableness

of the season, which was urged as the ground of objection to

an early and prompt movement, was a mere bugbear. The

battering train at length reached Mooltan on the 3rd Sep-

tember, and the garrison was summoned to an unconditional

surrender, not, however, in the name of the Maharajah, the

actual sovereign of the Punjab, but in that of Her Majesty
the Queen of England ; and the Sikhs were thus led to the

conclusion that we had already determined to confiscate the

country. Mooltan, from its position on the Chenab and on

the highway of commerce between Central Asia and Ilin-

dostan, was one of the most important towns in the Punjab.
The fort was one of the strongest in India, erected on elevated

ground, with walls substantially built of brick, about forty

feet high, strengthened by thirty towers, and protected by
a ditch twenty feet wide. It was garrisoned by about 2,000

men, and the town, which was likewise strongly fortified,

by some 10,000 more. Moolraj had fifty-two guns at his
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command. The first assault was made on the suburban out-

works, which were defended with great resolution, and were

not carried without the loss of 272 killed and wounded, of whom
seventeen were officers. A good position was thus obtained

for bombarding the town ; but within eight davs after the

batteries had opened, all operations were at once brought to

a close. Shere Sing yielded at length to the importunity of

his father and the eagerness of his troops, and on the 14th

September broke up his camp, ordered the " drum of religion"

to strike up, and passed over to the enemy with 5,000 troops,

two mortars and ten guns. After this defection, General

Whish found it impossible to continue the siege, and accord-

ingly abandoned the trenches the next day, and retired to a

position in the vicinity of the town, well adapted for the re-

ception of provisions by water. There he threw up entrench-

ments, waiting the arrival of reinforcements, and was, in fact?

besieged in his turn. Shere Sing immediately issued a pro-

clamation "by direction of the holy Gooroo," under the seals

of nine of the chiefs in his army, announcing a religious war

against the " cruel Feringees," and calling upon all who eat the

salt of the sovereign of the Khalsa, Duleep Sing, to join the

standard of the raja Shere Sing and the dewan Moolraj, to

cut off the posts, and to put every European to death.

General revolt in The whole of the Punjab was now in a state of
the Punjab, 184S.

revolt? with the exception of the two Sikh forces

at Peshawur and Bunnoo across the Indus, and they only
waited for a fit opportunity to join their fellow countrymen.
The chiefs who had received especial distinction and advan-

tage from the British authorities were among the leaders of the

rebellion. The veterans of Runjeet Sing's army, scattered through
the country, burned with impatience to meet the British bat-

talions in the field, recover their lost honour, and restore the

religious supremacy and the military glories of the Khalsa. The

paltry outbreak of Moolraj, fostered by the folly of delay, had

grown into a portentous war. Lord Dalhousie found that he had

a great crisis to face, and the bravest soldiers in India, animated
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patriotic enthusiasm, to encounter. The work which had

i the utmost powers of his experienced and military pre-

ssor was now to be done over again, and he showed him/-

self fully equal to the emergency. In writing to the Secret

Committee he stated that no other course was now open to

us but to prosecute a general Punjab war with vigour, and

ultimately to occupy the country with our troops. Prepara-

tions were accordingly made to take the field in earnest. An

army was called up from Bombay to reinforce General Whish,
and the Governor, Sir George Clerk, who had foreboded no good
from the premature deputation of Mr. Agnew and Lieutenant

Anderson to Mooltan, organized a force of 7,000 men to move

into the Punjab. An addition of 17,000 men was made to the

strength of the Bengal regiments, and the army destined for

operations in the Punjab was ordered to assemble at Feroze-

pore. On the 10th October Lord Dalhousie proceeded towards

the scene of operations ; and, at a farewell entertainment given

to him at Barrackpore, took occasion to say in the course of his

speech, "Unwarned by precedent, uninfluenced by example,

the Sikh nation has called for war, and on my word, Sirs, they

shall have it with a vengeance."

Movements of Shere Sing was received with great coldness

Shere sing, 1848. anci mistrust by Moolraj, who wished him to

desert the English, but not to encumber Mooltan with his

presence. His troops were not permitted to enter the town

till they had taken an oath of fidelity to the rebel cause on the

holy book, and even then were required to encamp under the

guns of the fort, the gates of which were closed against them.

Moolraj was especially apprehensive that Shere Sing would

make a large demand of money, and hit upon the expedient

of promising pay to his troops, on condition that he should

go forth and engage in one good fight with General Whish 5

but this he thought fit to decline. lie had objects of ambition

of his own. Ilis father had directed him to advance to Guze-

rat. which he selected as the rendezvous of the Sikh troops,

little dreaming that it was destined soon after to be the grave of

in. y



322 SHERE SING ADVANCES TO THE CAPITAL. [CHAP.

their independence. He accordingly quitted Mooltan twenty-
five days after his revolt, and on the 9th October marched

towards the Ravee with an army of 5,000 men, swelled at

every stage by the old soldiers of the Khalsa army, who daily

flocked to his standard. lie advanced up to Jung on the left

bank of the Chenab, laying waste the country as he proceeded,

and announcing his intention to attack the city of Lahore. He

pushed one of his divisions up to a position only twenty miles

distant from the capital, and had the audacity to burn a bridge
of boats on the Ravee, the flames of which were visible from

the battlements of the citadel. The spirit of enterprise which

these movements exhibited astounded the Resident, and he

became importunate with the Commander-in-chief for im-

mediate reinforcements. The capital, he said, was hemmed
in and menaced by the rebels, who were raising the country
within twelve miles of it, and if an attack were made on the

cantonments, it would be supported by a simultaneous rising

in the city, which contained 30,000 swordsmen, and a popula-

tion universally disaffected
; the Government would thus be

placed in a very critical and disgraceful position. Happily,

Shere Sing was ignorant of the defenceless situation in which

the capital had been unaccountably left for many weeks after

he and his father were known to be in open rebellion witii

15,000 gallant and enthusiastic Sikhs under their banners.

Two regiments of infantry, together with one of cavalry, and

some artillery were despatched from Ferozepore for the defence

of Lahore, but they marched leisurely at the rate of eight miles

a-day. Shere Sing, however, instead of attacking the city,

marched westward to meet the Bunnoo troops, consisting of

four regiments of infantry, one of cavalry, six troops of

horse artillery and four guns, who had at length mutinied

and murdered then* officers. The Resident was relieved from

his anxieties by the arrival of the Ferozepore brigade under

Colonel Cureton, to whom the Commander-in-chief issued a

positive and unqualified injunction to undertake no active

measure whatever till he himself came up with the main army.
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Chatter Sinn-, having raised the standard of
Allian.-o with

, ,
.

'

. ?. „ . . . . ,

i, rebellion, and. as he said, "devoted his head to

! and his amis to tlie Khalsa." opened nego-
tiations with Cabal, and made Host Mahomed the offer of the

province of Peshawar, on condition of his joining the crusade

-lish. The alliance, which was speedily com-

pleted, was one of the most singular compacts even in oriental

history. The Dost had always considered the Sikhs the most

inveterate enemies of his nation and his creed. Runjeet Sing
had for twenty years been engaged in dismembering the

Afghan monarchy, from which he had wrested the provinces of

Cashmere, Mooltan, andPeshawar, as well as other territories on

both sides the Indus. He had joined the British Government

in the expedition to Cabul, which resulted in sending the Dost

a houseless wanderer to Bokhara, and eventually a captive to

Calcutta. The Dost had seen the mosques at Peshawar dese-

crated by the infidel Sikhs, and the Mahomedan population of

the Punjab tram] »led under foot by religious intolerance. It

i strong indication of the hopes which our procrastina-

tion had excited, that he who had beheld with his own eyes the

ttude of our resources, and witnessed the extinction of

Runjeet Sing's power, should bury in oblivion his animosity to

the Sikhs, and join an incipient revolt directed against our

supremacy. So elated was he with the prospect of revenge,
that lie not only promised to join the insurgents with his con-

tingent, but addressed an impertinent letter to the British

authorities, exulting in the acquisition of Peshawar, and offer-

ing his good offices to mediate between them and the Sikhs.

__ .
_ The province of Peshawar which Chatter Sim?

Major T^awrence l °
•A-ur, sold to the Afghans, was under the political

charge of Sir George— then Major— Lawr
one of the Lawrence brothers, and was garrisoned by a body
of 8,000 Sikh troops, upon whose fidelity little reliance could

be placed, now that the whole atmosphere was charged with

>n. Chatter Sing never ceased to press them to join his

standard, and it required all the tact of the Major, and the

y a
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great influence which he had acquired over them, to maintain

his post in these desperate circumstances. He had repeat-

edly entreated that a brigade might be sent up to hold the

province, but though a column was at one time warned for

that service, it was speedily countermanded. The troops con-

tinued to resist the offers of Chutter Sing so steadily, that,

in despair of success, he was about to march from the Indus

to join his son, when his object was accomplished through the

agency of Sultan Mahomed, the brother of Dost Mahomed, and

the personification of Afghan perfidy. He was under peculiar

obligations to Sir Henry Lawrence, who found him a prisoner
at Lahore, and not only restored him to liberty, but reinstated

him in his jageers at Peshawur. His gratitude was manifested

by seducing the troops from their allegiance, and pressing
them to assault the brother of his benefactor. Under his insti-

gation they marched down to the Residency on the evening
of the 24th October and attacked it with shot, shrapnell and

grape. The Major and Lieutenant Bowie, with Mr. and Mrs.

Thompson, quitted it under the escort of fifty Afghan horse,

and the soldiers immediately rushed in and sacked it. On the

morning of the attack, Sultan Mahomed had given the most

solemn assurances of protection to the Major and his party,

and offered to lead them in safety to his own town of Kohat.

Soon after their arrival there, however, he sold them to Chutter

Sing, who conducted them back as prisoners to Peshawur,
where they were strictly guarded, but otherwise treated with

great respect.

The grand The grand army was at length assembled in

army, 1848. ^e month f October at Ferozepore. It was

weak in infantry, but strong in artillery. An entire divi-

sion was waiting at Mooltan for the junction of the Bombay
column to renew the siege ; Brigadier Wheler was engaged
in operations in the Jullunder; a considerable garrison was

required for Lahore, and there was a reserve force under Sir

Dudley Hill. Lord Gough had under his command four British

and eleven native infantiy regiments. Upwards of sixty field



XXXIX.] ADVANCE OF THE GRAND ARMf. 825

guns were attached to the divisions of cavalry and infantry, and

eight howitzers and ten eighteen pounders had been equipped

with good forethought to be drawn by elephants and bullocks,

and manoeuvred with the readiness of field artillery. The

cavalry consisted of three noble regiments of British horse,

backed by five regiments of light cavalry, and five complete

corps of irregular horse under the command of the veteran

Hearsey, the adjutant of Fitzgerald at the battle of Seeta-

buldee, thirty-one years before. Lord Gough took the com-

mand of the army early in November, and crossed the Ravee

on the morning of the 16th, when the actual operations of the

arm}- may be said to have commenced—seven months after the

murder of the two officers at Mooltan. Shere Sing, by moving
to the northward, had compelled the British to operate on two

lines. While they were combining their forces before Mooltan,

they had at the same time to confront the insurrection in the

superior delta of the five rivers, and for this double operation

the force of infantry was manifestly feeble. Shere Sing, with

about 15,000 Sikhs, had taken up a position at Ramnugur, on

the Chenab, of which he occupied both banks. His main force

was encamped on the right bank, protected by batteries

mounting twenty-eight guns, and sufficiently covered from

any fire that could be opened from the opposite bank. He
had boats on the river and the command of a ford, and had

ventured without much risk to push a detachment across.

Lord Gough opened the campaign on the morning of the 22nd

November by marching down to Ramnugur, while his heavy

guns, his pontoon, and his engineer establishment were far

in the rear. According to some of the best military authorities

his movements should have been confined to a reconnaissance

en force, and a feint attack, while his infantry and cavalry

advanced to Wuzeerabad, thirty miles higher up on the great

high road of the Punjab. There he might have established a

bridge and awaited the arrival of his guns, and encountered

Shere Sing to advantage, if, abandoning his entrenchments,

he advanced against him. He resolved, however, to attack
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at once the Sikh force on the left bank at Ramnugur, and

Action of
drive it across the river. After a slight skirmish,

Ramnugur, the fire of the light artillery, consisting of twelve

guns, drove back the Sikhs, when Shere Sing

opened an irresistible fire of shot and shell on the British force

from his batteries planted upon the high ground on the other

side of the river. The order was given to limber up and retire,

but one gun and two waggons could not be extricated from the

sand. Instead of spiking the gun and blowing up the waggons,
valuable time was lost in endeavouring to extricate them. A
formidable body of the enemy rushed over, but Captain Ouvry

gallantly charged among them to cover the retreat of the

artillery, though not without loss, as the broken ground had

by this time been occupied by the enemy's musketeers. The

infantry was then marched down to the ridge which marked

the height of the river during the rains, and from that eleva-

tion the strength of the Sikh position became fully visible.

As the British cavalry and infantry retired, several thousand

of the enemy's horse crossed the ford towards the deserted

gun, and their marksmen crowded over, while the battery of

twenty-eight guns played incessantly on our receding force.

Here the operations of the day should have terminated, as

any further movement against such fearful odds would have

been an act of infatuation; but it was committed. Colonel

William Havelock, in command of the 14th Dragoons, one of

the most gallant officers in the Queen's service, who had

earned laurels in the Peninsula and at Waterloo, rashly

solicited permission to charge the Sikhs, and in an evil hour

it would appear to have been granted by the Commander-in-

chief. Supported by the 5th cavalry, he rushed forward and

at once cleared the bank of the enemy, and then pursued them

down into the sands. The guns from the opposite bank, as well

as those which had been brought over in haste, to the number

of eight, opened on the dragoons; their horses became ex-

hausted and sunk deeper and deeper in the sand. Colonel

Havelock was surrounded by the enemy and killed, but not
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f coionci before lie had felled three or four of his assail -

Jjjjj^ nuts. In this attack the gallant and experienced
1848. Colonel Cureton, who had raised himself to dis-

tinction from the ranks in which he had enhsted as a runaway
lad, was lost to the army. The death of two such men would

have been sufficient to mar congratulations on a victory, but

thfct their lives should have been sacrificed in this idle and

bootless skirmish, served to deepen the regrets of the army.

The dry sandy bed of a large stream swept by the fire of

twenty-eight guns was not the field for a cavalry action. It

may here be incidentally noticed, that two days after the fight

at Ramnugur, a paper was transmitted to Lord Dalhousie from

Sl.ere Sing's camp, containing the Sikh justification of the

revolt, which they rested on the elevation of the raja Golab

Sing, a Rajpoot, the banishment of the Maharanee, the dis-

regard of Sikh prejudices, the advancement of Mahomedans,

aid, above all, the slaughter of the cow.

AtionofSa- Lord Gough, having withdrawn his troops after

dwiapore, i84s. the action on the 22nd beyond the reach of Shere

Sing's batteries, awaited for a week the arrival of his heavy

guns and his pontoon. Any attempt to assail the strong

position of the Sikhs on the Chenab in front could only be the

dictate of the wildest folly, and it was wisely determined to

throw a strong division across the river higher up, and move

down upon the left flank of their entrenchments, while the

Commander-in-chief occupied their attention by a cannonade

in front. Sir Joseph Thackwell, an officer who had acquired

celebrity in the Peninsula, was nominated to the command of

the turning force, which consisted of 8,000 horse, foot, and

artillery, with thirty field pieces and two heavy guns. He
marched an hour after midnight on the 1st December, and

reached Wuzeerabad, twenty-four miles up the river, where,
with the aid of boats collected by the activity of Captain

Nicholson, a distinguished political officer, he crossed the

Chenab by midday of the 2nd, and thus transferred the

mastery of the river from the Sikhs to the British. After a
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hasty meal his force marched down twelve miles towards the

enemy's position. At midnight he received instructions from

Lord Gough to make an attack on the flank of Shere Sing's

encampment in the morning, while the main army crossed over

at Ramnugur to cooperate with his movements
~,
but he had not

proceeded more than six miles when another communication

from head-quarters informed him that the army could not

cross for want of boats, but that General Godby had been

despatched with a brigade to cross the stream six miles higher

up and unite with him. He was instructed to aid the move-

ments of that brigade, but to suspend any attack on the Sikhs

till it had joined him ; and he accordingly despatched a native

regiment to secure the ford. At two in the afternoon lis

men, who had tasted little food for forty-eight hours, were

partaking of a light refreshment, when the rushing sound of

round shot made them start to their feet and take to their

arms. Shere Sing, on hearing of Sir Joseph's movement,
withdrew his army from its position at Ramnugur, and

marched down to meet him, leaving Lord Gough to expeni
his powder and shot upon an empty encampment. Sir Joseph,
who had proceeded to the ford in search of Brigadier Godby,
hastened back on hearing of the attack of the Sikhs, and

rectified his position by withdrawing his troops two hundred

yards from fields of lofty sugar cane into clear ground. The
Sikhs perceiving this movement, rushed forward with loud

shouts of " the Feringees are flying." The action took place
at the village of Sadoolapore, where for two hours the British

force sustained the incessant fire of the enemy without return-

ing a shot till they were fully within range, when the

artillery opened with deadly effect. During the engagement
Sir Joseph received orders from Lord Gough to act according
to his own discretion as to attacking the Sikhs without wait-

ing for General Godby ;
but there remained only one short

hour of daylight. By half past four the hostile cannon began
to slacken, and it was evident that the Sikhs had failed in

their attack, but Sir Joseph did not deem it prudent to
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advance upon them. His force consisted of only two brigades;

a regiment was at the ford, and General Godb}*'s brigade had

not joined him. The enemy wTere supposed to number 30,000,

with forty pieces of cannon ; they were strongly posted in a line

of three villages, and if driven from them, might have retired

on their camp, which could only have been stormed in dark-

ness. With the example of Moodkee and Ferozeshuhur before

him, Sir Joseph wisely determined not to precipitate his brave

troops, broken down and wearied as they were, into a laby-

rinth of tents, waggons, and tumbrils, among exploding mines

and expense magazines. At midnight the barking of dogs

betrayed the movement of the Sikh army, and when the

General put his army in motion to pursue them in the morning,

he found that they were already beyond his reach. Under

cover of the night, Shere Sing had removed all his guns and

ammunition towards the Jhelum,
"
leaving not a goat behind."

The advantage of the action doubtless rested with him, for he

had marched away at his own will and leisure to a better

position, but Lord Gough thought fit to claim the victory,

and in a magniloquent despatch announced that "it had

pleased Almighty God to vouchsafe to the British arms the

most successful issue to the extensive combinations rendered

necessary to effect the passage of the Chenab and the defeat

and dispersion of the Sikh force." The community in India,

spoiled by marvellously good fortune, impugned the military

strategy which enabled the Sikh general to escape with all

bis cannon and with his army unscathed ; men of sanguine

temperament denounced his over caution, but this crude con-

demnation has been rectified by the cool judgment of profes-

sional criticism, and Sir Joseph's merits have been fully

appreciated, not less for saving his troops on the night of the

3rd December from unprofitable loss, and the British arms

from the hazard of serious disaster, than for his successful

passage of the river.

Nobie efforts of While the elements of rebellion were reeking

Offlcei'Tsw. throughout the Punjab and the Commander-in-
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chief was waiting for the arrival of the cold weather, British

interests in the various districts of the Punjab were maintained

by the political officers with a degree of skill and energy
which reflected the highest credit on the Company's service.

Mr. John Lawrence had been entrusted with the charge of the

Jullunder dooab, the Sikh province beyond the Sutlege which

Lord Hardinge had annexed to the British territories. A
detachment of rebel Sikhs crossed the Ravee and laid siege to

an important fortress. One raja broke out in the upper range
of hills, and another followed his example in the lower range,

and the whole province was on the point of being enveloped in

the flames of revolt. Mr. Lawrence had now the first oppor-

tunity of exhibiting that spirit of enterprise, energy, and

resolution which was developed on a larger scale in the

Punjab nine years later during the Sepoy mutiny, and which

eventually led him up to the highest seat in the empire. By
the absence of the General, he and his assistants were left to

act on their own discretion. He collected a force of hill men
and of Sikhs, and boldly led them against their own country-

men, captured or dispersed the insurgents, and in the short

period of thirteen days extinguished all opposition, and

restored peace and order to the province. On the western

frontier, along the line of the Indus, Captain Abbott, of

Khiva celebrity, Captain Nicholson, Lieutenant Lumsden, and

Lieutenant Taylor continued for many months to maintain

their isolated and perilous positions with a chivalrous bearing

in the midst of universal treachery. On the first suspicion

of Chutter Sing's disloyalty, Major Lawrence had wisely

despatched Captain Nicholson to secure Attok
;

and that

important post was subsequently held by Captain Herbert

with a small body of Mahomedan troops. The fort was in

so dilapidated a state that it could not have withstood a

scientific and vigorous attack for six hours, but with a spirit

of heroism which carries the mind back to the defence of Arcot,

he maintained his post against the utmost efforts of the Sikhs

for six weeks. Dost Mahomed at length made his appearance
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on the Indus, and summoned aU true believers to join his stan-

dard and take the field against the infidels. To ascertain the

feelings of the garrison, Captain Herbert held a durbar, when

his native officers and men frankly avowed that their families

Merc in the power of the Dost, and that it would be dangerous

for them to resist his commands. He found it necessary

therefore to abandon the fort, and quitted it at midnight

on a raft, but was seized as he passed down the river, and

sent to join Major Lawrence in captivity at Peshawur. The

reward which Captain Herbert received for his gallantry was

what all officers most coveted, the commendation of Lord

Dalhousie, who announced to India that he had maintained

his position
" with a settled firmness and a high-minded con-

stancy."

Movements of The Sikhs retired from Sadoolapore on the night

Britfsh Forces,
of the 3rd December with their artillery, the chief

1848-49. ground of then- confidence, still entire, the spirit

of the troops still unbroken, and the audacity of the chieftains

still buoyant. With that skill which distinguished the general
officers among the Sikhs, Shere Sing took up a position of

great strength on the Jhelum, with his rear resting on that

river, his main body posted in ravines strengthened by field

works, and his front covered by a broad and dense belt of

jungle. Throughout the month of December and the first

half of January, the British army remained inactive between

the Jhelum and the Chenab. This policy, which has been the

subject of much censure, was in some measure owing to the

restrictions imposed on the movements of the force by Lord

Dalhousie, who had requested Lord Gough, after the battle of

Sadoolapore, "on no consideration to advance beyond the

Chenab except for the purpose of attacking Shere Sing in the

position he then held, without further communication with

him." He had, in fact, injudiciously interfered with the

military dispositions of the Commander-in-chief, on whom the

responsibility of the campaign rested. To what extent Lord

Hardinge had regulated and controlled the movements of the
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army in the first Sikh war was well known, but he was a

soldier, and a general of a far higher standard than the Com-

mander-in-chief, whereas Lord Dalhousie was a young civilian

with no military experience. It appears that he was not long

perceiving the false position in which he had thus placed him-

self, and before the 22nd December informed Lord Gough that

"if he could satisfy his own judgment regarding the state of

his supplies, his supports and communications, and that the

enemy might be attacked with such force as he may have

safely disposable, and without heavy loss, he should be happy
to see a blow struck that would destroy him, add honour to

the British arms, and avert the prospect of a protracted and

costly war." Whatever responsibility may be attached to the

inactivity of the force for three weeks after this date, rests

with the military authorities. But, however injudicious may
have been this act of interference on the part of the Governor-

General, subsequent events gave reason to regret that it was

not prolonged. Indeed, the whole plan of the campaign has

been condemned by the judgment of the highest military

authorities. In their opinion, Lord Gough would have exer-

cised a wise discretion if he had remained in observation, on

the left bank of the Chenab, regarding himself as covering

the siege of Mooltan on the one hand, and Lahore on the

other, holding Shere Sing in check, cutting off his supplies,

watching his movements northward and southward, and pre-

venting the despatch of a single soldier to the aid of Moolraj ;

and then,
—as was ultimately done,

—throwing the united

British force with irresistible power on the Sikh army. Thi3

plan would have involved the inactivity of three months, and

incurred the denunciations of the press, but it would have

saved us the disasters of Ramnug-ur and Chillianwalla.

The army was reviewed at Lassoorie by Lord
Advance to

^ J

chiiiianwaiia, Gough on the 11th January, and advanced the
1849- next day to Dingee, a distance of twelve miles.

The task before it was arduous. In conflicts with other races

in India it had been the boast of the British troops that they
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never cared to count their enemies, and were only anxious to

prevent their escape. Bur the Sikhs were the boldest and most

resolute foes who had ever tried the metal of the British soldier

in the east, and on this occasion two weak infantry divisions

were about to attack a Sikh force of 30,000 men, with a battery

of sixty guns, in one of the strongest positions they had ever

taken up, and on ground where our powerful cavalry had no

room for manceuvering. On the 13th, the army advanced with

the intention of turning the enemy's left at Russool, but a

nearer approach shewed it covered with so dense a jungle that

Lord Gough wisely resolved to take up a position for the day,

and reconnoitre it more perfectly on the morrow. In 1845, be-

fore a sword had been drawn, the British commanders had been

warned by those best acquainted with the tactics of the Sikhs,

that they were not to be dreaded as assailants, but that an

entrenched position was defended by them with a degree of

obstinacy hardly to be overcome by human efforts. The cor-

rectness of this observation was grievously exemplified at

Ferozeshuhur and Sobraon. Hence it was always desirable

so to manoeuvre as to oblige them to take the initiative, and

on the present occasion this advantage had been fortuitously

gained. On approaching Chillianwalla, it became evident that

they had quitted their strong entrenchments on the heights of

Russool, and marched down into the plain. A picket of Sikhs

was driven in from a low bare hill, and the staff, on ascending

it, obtained a distinct view of their line, covered indeed by a

thick jungle, but ready to combat without the usual support
of their bulwarks. Lord Gough had intended to defer the

attack till a more careful reconnaissance had been effected, and

had issued orders to mark out the ground for the encampment.
This duty had already commenced, when a few shots from

some field pieces the Sikhs had pushed forward, dropped near

him. The spirit of defiance and antagonism at once overcame

his better judgment, and, rejecting all advice and trampling
on every remonstrance, he gave orders to prepare for imme-
diate action. The Sikhs opened a continuous roar of fire from
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a jungle so thick that nothing was offered as a mark for the

British artillery but the flash and smoke of the hostile guns.

This cannonade lasted an hour, or an hour and a half, accord-

ing to different reports, and at three in the afternoon in the

month of January, with only an hour or two of daylight left,

undeterred by the example of Moodkee and Ferozeshuhur,

where success was lost in the darkness, the divisions were

ordered to advance.

The division of General Campbell, afterwards
Chilhanwalla— L '

the two infantry Lord Clyde, was the first to push forward. Of
Divisions, 1849.

itg twQ brigadeSj thafc commanded by Brigadier

Hoggan, under the General's personal superintendence, though

fiercely opposed by heavy odds, won the ground in its front ;

but the brigade of Brigadier Pennyouick was destined to a

fearful repulse. The 24th Foot, which formed a portion of it,

advanced with an ardour that seemed to promise victory, but

while yet at a distance from the enemy, broke into too rapid

a pace, outstripped the native regiments, and rushed breathless

and confused upon the enemy's guns. It received a deadly

shower of grape, and while shattered by its fatal effects, was

torn to pieces by a musketry fire from Sikh troops, masked

by a screen of jungle. The native regiments, when they came

up, were unable to restore the battle. The whole brigade was

thrown into confusion, and the most desperate efforts of the

officers were of no avail to establish order. Brigadier Penny-

cuick was slain in the fore front of the fight ; Colonel Brookes,

commanding the 24th, fell among the guns. The Sikhs rushed

forward with fury, sword in hand, and soon converted the rude

repulse into incurable rout. The colours of the regiment fell

into their hands, but not until twenty-three officers and 459

non-commissioned officers and men had been killed or wounded.

Lord Gough, on receiving a report of this sanguinary check,

ordered up the reserve under Brigadier Penny, but it took a

wrong direction and missed its way in the forest. General

Campbell, who had been victorious in his own front, observing

the disaster, spiked the guns he had captured, and advancing
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rapidly to the rescue, snatched the victory from the enemy,
and captured tire guns which had poured this deadly fire on

Ihe brigade. Sir Walter Gilbert's division on the right was
not checkered by disaster, but its advantages were not gained
without heroic efforts and serious loss. His left brigade, led

with rare gallantry, by Brigadier Mountain, carried the enemy's

position, and captured several pieces of ordnance. But the

56th Native Infantry lost its colours, and its gallant comman-

der, Major Bamfield, received a mortal wound, and lay dying,

side by side in the same hospital tent with his brave son,

who had also been struck down. The other brigade consisting

of the 2nd Europeans and two native regiments, and led by

Brigadier Godby, was severely tested. The Europeans, attacked

on numerous points, succeeded in putting the Sikhs to flight,

but pursuit in a forest where they could not see twenty yards
before them, was vain, and they halted to collect their wounded,
when a sudden fire was opened on them by a body of Sikhs

who had turned their flank unperceived, and they would have

been inevitably overwhelmed but for the field battery of

Major Dawes, of Jellalabad renown, who poured in a shower

of grape on the enemy, as coolly as if he had been on parade.

The struggle was terrific, and, to use the language of an eye-

witness, it seemed as if the very air teemed with balls and

bullets. The Sikhs fought like demons, but the Europeans
succeeded in sweeping them from the ground and remained

masters of the field.

Movements of
^ne ^ventures of the cavalry were painful and

thr cavalry, humiliating. The attack on the Sikh position,

which had never been reconnoitered, was in a

parallel line. The several brigades of foot opposed to the

enemy in front were outflanked by their more extended line.

To protect the extreme flanks of the infantry, Lord Gough

brought his cavalry into first line, and it was thus opposed

to an unapproachable artillery fire and to entanglement in the

recesses of the forest: but the actual mischief even exceeded

what might have been anticipated from such defective
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tactics. On the right flank, in prolongation of the infantry,

were posted the 14th Dragoons, the 9th Lancers, and two

native cavalry regiments. The troops of artillery attached

to the brigade were planted in the rear and could not there-

fore open fire from a single gun. This strong cavalry brigade

was entrusted to Brigadier Pope, who had been an active

officer in his youth, but was now unable to mount his

horse without assistance. He was, moreover, of a fanciful

and irritable temper, and obstinately wedded to his old

fashioned notions of cavalry manoeuvre. He advanced his

four regiments formed in a single line and though the forest

was dense, not a skirmisher was sent forward to explore the

way, and no reserve or supporting column was provided

against temporary reverse. As the line advanced, first at a

walk and then at a trot, it was broken up by trees and clumps
of brushwood into numerous series of small sections, doubled

behind each other. In this state of things a small body of

Sikh horse, intoxicated with drugs, rushed in a mass upon the

centre, wounded the brigadier, and caused a sensation of terror

among the native cavalry which it was found impossible to

counteract. Just at this crisis, some one in the ranks of the

14th Dragoons, whose name has never been ascertained, uttered

the words,
" threes about." The regiment at once turned to

the rear and moved off in confusion, and, as the Sikh horse

pressed on its track, galloped headlong in disgraceful panic

through the cannon and waggons posted in its rear, notwith-

standing the utmost efforts of its commander, Colonel King,

and of the chaplain of the force, the Rev. Mr. Whiting, to

-ally the fugitives. The Sikh horse entered the ranks of the

artillery along with the flying dragoons, and captured four

guns ; the disgrace of the brigade was irreparable. The suc-

cess of the cavalry division on the left, commanded by Sir

Joseph Thackwell, was marked by great gallantry. After a

cannonade, in which the eighteen guns under Colonel Brind

took an active share, a party of Sikh horse wound round its

left and menaced the rear. Sir Joseph directed three squadrons
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of the 5th native cavalry and a squadron of Greys under Cap-
tain Unett to charge the assailants, while he kept the rest of

his brigade in reserve. The Sikh horse opened a heavy match-

lock fire, and the native cavalry turned and fled
; but Captain

Unett with his dragoons forced his way through the Sikh

ranks, nor halted in his impetuous career till he had reached the

rear of the enemy, when, though severely wounded, he cut his

way back to the brigade, and rejoined his applauding comrades,
with the loss of forty-eight killed and wounded. The shades

of evening put an end to the conflict. It was desirable to keep
the ground which had been so hardly won, but it was hazardous

to hold a position of which nothing was known. It was im-

possible to post pickets and guards in the darkness of the

night. The troops were half dead with the fatigue of pre-
vious marching and manoeuvring, and an arduous combat.

They were parched with thirst and called loudly for water,
but none could be procured except from the distant wells of

Chillianwalla. A night of heavy rain was impending, which
would have inundated the field and completed the disorganiza-
tion of the force. With great reluctance, but with a sense of

imperious necessity, Lord Gough withdrew the force to Chillian-

walla, where the troops snatched a broken and fitful repose.

Meanwhile, parties of Sikh troops and of the armed peasantry
of the surrounding villages, traversed the forest in which the

combat had taken place, stripped, plundered, and mutilated

the slain, and with atrocious barbarity murdered the wounded.
On the following morning, when the cavalry moved over the

field, they found that every gun captured in the fight had been

carried off, with the exception of twelve, which had been

brought into camp the night before.

Results of the Such was the battle of Chillianwalla, the most
battle, 1849.

sanguinary, and the nearest approximation to a de-

feat, of any of the great conflicts of the British power in India.

The Sikhs were driven from their position, but their army was

not overthrown, and retired without interruption to another

position, three miles from the field. Twelve of their guns
in. z
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remained in our possession, but four guns of the Horse Artil-

lery were captured by them The colours of three regiments

were lost in the battle, and the price paid by us for our

doubtful victory was the loss of 2,357 fighting men and 89

officers killed and wounded. The moral results of the action

were dismal; the character of the Sikhs for prowess was

greatly elevated, the reputation of British cavalry was de-

plorably tarnished. The highest authority in India was con-

strained to pronounce it a victory, which was announced by
salutes from every battery throughout the three Presidencies.

But in this note of triumph we were anticipated by Shere Sing,

who fired a salute the same evening in honour of what he

considered his triumph, and another three days after to cele-

brate the arrival of his father with large reinforcements.

While Chillianwalla was officially registered as
Public opinion . . .

on the battle, a victory, it was regarded by the community m
3849 '

India of all ranks, from the highest to the lowest,

as a great calamity. The public did not cease to admire the

private virtues, the quick perception, the indomitable energy,

and the chivalrous valour of the Commander-in-chief, which

rendered him the idol of the soldiery ; but there was, never-

theless, a painful conviction that nature had not designed, or

education and experience fitted him, for extensive and indepen-

dent command. In England, the intelligence of this combat

excited feelings of alarm and indignation. British cannon

had been captured ;
British standards had been lost ; British

cavalry had fled before the enemy; a British regiment had

been nearly annihilated; and the confidence of the native

troops in our skill and good fortune had been rudely shaken.

These disasters were traced to the defect of our military

tactics. The India House was filled with alarms, which were

shared by the Duke of Wellington. It was well known that

while he had applauded the gallantly of the troops engaged at

Maharajpore, he had freely criticised the manoeuvres of the

General. The Court of Directors and the Ministry were now

of one mind as to the necessity of an immediate change in
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the command. Sir Charles Napier was accordingly solicited

by the Duke to proceed to India as Commander-in-chief, and

he left England within three days. The supercession which

Rceaii of Lord ua^ previously impended was now inflicted on Lord

Ooogh, 1349.
Gougli, and he was made to taste the bitterness of

recall ; but before the arrival of his successor, the brilliant

victory of Guzerat had turned the Punjab into a British pro-

vince.

CHAPTER XL.

LORD DALHOUSIE S ADMINISTRATION—THE SECOND SIKH WAR—
THE SECOND BURMESE WAR THE SANTAL OUTBREAK,

1849—1855.

_. . . The conflict at Chillianwalla had so seriouslyThe second siege
^

of Mooitan, crippled the British infantry as to constrain the

Commander-in-chief to wait for the capture of

Mooitan, and the accession of General Whish's force, and the

army was withdrawn to an entrenched camp at a little dis-

tance from the position of the enemy at Russool. It was by
no means a pleasing reflection that this course, if it had been

adopted at an early stage of the war, would have saved the

army the loss and the disgrace attending that engagement.
To the second siege of Mooitan we now turn. On the defec-

tion of Shere Sing on the loth September, General Whish
retired to a fortified position at Sooruj-koond, which possessed

the advantage of being safe from all the attempts of the Sikhs,

and open to the reception of supplies by water. By the unfor-

tunate turn affairs had taken, all the advantages gained by
the spirited exertions of Lieutenant Edwardes were lost, and

Moolraj regained possession of the province and its resources,

and laid in so abundant a store of provisions as to be under

no necessity during the siege of indenting on his original

stock for a single bag of rice. He was also enabled to

z 2
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strengthen the fortifications so effectually as to render the

second siege of the town and the citadel, notwithstanding the

unexampled appliances commanded by the besiegers, more

arduous than any in which a British army had ever been

engaged in the plains of India. General Whish was doomed

to more than three months of inaction, owing to the dilatoriness

of the Bombay authorities, which has never been explained.

Their troops did not reach Roree on the Indus before the 18th

December, but no time was lost in marching them up to

Mooltan, and it was accomplished within a week. The acces-

sion of the Bombay column, consisting of 9,000 men, raised

General Whish's force to 17,000, with sixty-four heavy guns.

The siege was reopened on the 27th December, and pushed
on from day to day with uninterrupted vigour. To obtain

a position for breaching the walls of the town, it was neces-

sary to clear the suburbs, which was not, however, effected

without the loss of 300 men and seventeen officers. The

British batteries were then advanced against the town, and the

discharge from cannon, howitzers, and mortars never ceased,

day or night, for five days. A bold sally of 2,000 of the

finest Sikh soldiers was driven back by Lieutenant Edwardes's

levies, after a long and arduous conflict, in which Sir Henry
Lawrence, who had just returned from England, bore a pro-

minent part. On the third day, after a fierce cannonade from

the batteries, to which Moolraj returned shot for shot, the

fury of the combatants was suddenly arrested by a terrific

convulsion. A shell from a mortar struck a mosque in the

city which had been turned into a magazine and stored with

400,000 lbs. of gunpowder. It blew up with a tremendous

explosion which shook the earth for many miles round, and

darkened the air with smoke and fragments. After a pause
of a minute or two, however, the firing recommenced with

redoubled earnestness, the Bombay and Bengal artillery

vieing with each other, and the enemy vieing with both.

The breach was at length pronounced practicable, and the

city, which had been defended with extraordinary resolution,
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was stormed on the 2nd January. It presented a melancholy

picture of desolation ;
the buildings had crumbled under the

storm of shot and shell which had never ceased for a hundred

and twenty hours. Of the wretched inhabitants, numbering

80,000 at the beginning of the siege, no small portion had

been swept away by our cannon, or cut down by the cavalry

as they endeavoured to esoape destruction, and the streets

were covered with dead and dying Sikhs. Notwithstanding
the strictest injunctions of the generals, the capture was
tarnished by the excesses of the troops, and by disgraceful

plunder. After the fall of the town, no time was lost in push-

ing on the siege of the citadel, which Moolraj continued to

defend with about 3,000 men. The howitzers played on it

for several days with such fearful effect, tearing up the earth

and brickwork of its massive walls, that on the 5th January

Moolraj endeavoured to open a negotiation with General

Whish, but was informed that no terms would be granted
short of unconditional surrender. He resolved, therefore, to

defend his stronghold to the last extremity, and for another

fortnight he and his brave soldiers sustained the most awful

fire of ordnance, direct and vertical, ever discharged in India

within the same narrow compass. At length, when not a

roof was left standing in the fort except in one bomb-proof

gateway, and the incessant vollies from our batteries became

insupportable to the troops, they demanded that he should

either put himself at their head and cut his way through the

ranks of the besiegers, or give up the fortress. The garrison

Capture of the surrendered at discretion on the 22nd January, and
fort, 1849.

Moolraj rode out into the English camp, his sol-

diers and chiefs prostrating themselves before him in pas-

sionate devotion as he passed along. Mooltan was placed in

charge of Lieutenant Edwardes, and the army moved up to

join the Commander-in-chief.

m vements of
^ne English an<^ Sikh forces lay encamped

the British and within a few miles of each other for twenty-five

days, the one at Chillianwalla and the other at
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Russool. On the 6th February it was reported in the British

camp that the whole of the Sikh army had marched unper-

ceived round the British entrenchments, and was moving down

upon Lahore. Lord Gough immediately despatched General

Gilbert to ascertain the truth of the rumour, and he found

the formidable encampment at Russool, the attempt to storm

which, it was evident to him, would have entailed no ordinary

sacrifice of human life, deserted by the enemy. This manoeuvre

of the Sikh generals has been variously attributed to the

increasing deficiency of their supplies, to the exhaustion of

their military chest, and to the eagerness of their troops for the

excitement of action. It may have been dictated by the hope
of fulfilling their boast of "cooking their food at Lahore,'*

and then crossing the Sutlege, and, in combination with the

protected Sikh states, rushing down on the British territories.

Lord Gough, finding that the Sikhs had completely circum-

vented him, marched back to Lassoorie, and sent peremptory
orders for the prompt advance of General Whish's force. Shere

Sing, having thus turned Lord Gough's right, established his

head-quarters at Guzerat on the 14th February, and the next

day despatched a portion of his troops across the Chenab at

Wuzeerabad. It was the opinion of a high military authority,

that if he had kept his forces well together, and advanced

rapidly across the Chenab, and fallen upon the troops

marching up from Mooltan, he might have gained such advan-

tages, in succession, over one or two of General Whish's

brigades, as altogether to change the fate of the campaign; but

he lacked the skill and energy for so masterly a strategy. To

counteract the movement of Shere Sing, a European and a

native regiment, with a corps of irregular cavalry and Colonel

Brind's battery were pushed forward towards Wuzeerabad, but

it was found that in consequence of some indication of danger,

he had recalled the troops sent across the Chenab. Colonel

Brind obtained the command of all the fords, and the advan-

tage Shere Sing had gained by turning the flank of the British

army was lost through hesitation and delay. On the appear-
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anco of the British column, he retired to Guzerat, which, in

the palmy days of the Khalsa, was considered a place of good

omen, and there awaited the attack of the Commander-in-chief.

The last brigade of General W hish's division joined the head-

quarters on the 20th February, and Lord Gough moved up to

the enemy's encampment with 20,000 men and a hundred

pieces of cannon.

Armngementof Brigadier Cheape, of the Bengal Engineers,
the Battle of who had conducted the siege of Mooltan with

that professional talent and personal energy which

ensured its success, joined the camp of Lord Gough a week

before the battle of Guzerat, and assumed charge of the

engineering department. With unwearied industry he applied

himself to the task of obtaining the most accurate informa-

tion of the position of the enemy, and the British army thus

enjoyed the inestimable advantage,—the want of which pro-

duced the most lamentable effects at Maharajpore, at Moodkee,
and at Chillianwalla,—of a thorough knowledge of the ground
on which it was to deliver battle. The araiy of Shere Sing,

estimated at 50,000 men with sixty pieces of cannon, was

planted in front of the walled town of Guzerat, in the form

of a crescent. The deep dry bed of the Dwara, which pro-

tected the right of the Sikh force, encircled the northern and

western faces of the town, and then, taking a southern direc-

tion, bisected the British camp. The left of the Sikh force was

supported on a streamlet, narrow and deep, flowing south-

ward into the Chenab. Between the dry water course and

the rivulet was a space of about three miles, with two villages,

near Guzerat, denominated the greater and the less Ilabra,

which were loopholed and filled with troops. On this ground
were ranged the Sikh regiments, the remnant of Runjeet's

disciplined battalions, now reorganized under the rebel leaders.

Major Lawrence, who had been brought down a prisoner from

Peshawur in the train of Chutter Sing, was treated with much

consideration, and enjoyed great freedom of intercourse with

the Sikh leaders. In the course of conversation they had
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repeatedly expressed their surprise that the British commander
should persist in neglecting to use his artillery, which the Sikhs

considered formidable, and in thrusting his infantry, of which

they made comparatively little account, up to the muzzle of

their guns. He was permitted to visit his brother, Sir Henry
Lawrence, on parole at Lahore, and communicated the remark

to him. It was immediately transmitted to Lord Dalhousie,

then encamped on the banks of the Sutlege, who is supposed
to have urged it on the attention of the Commander-in-chief.

The same valuable advice was earnestly and emphatically

pressed on him by the able engineer officers of the force, and,

under their guidance, it was laid down as the order of battle,

that the artillery, in which no British army in India had ever

been so strong, should be brought into full play, until the con-

sistency of the Sikh ranks had been broken, and that no attempt
should be made to charge with cold steel before this result had

been secured. It was the inexorable persistence in this novel

strategy to which the great victory is to be attributed.

The battle of
^ne i^^ry divisions and brigades advanced in

Guzerat, 22nd parallel lines, with the cavalry on the flank and
uary' '

the guns in front. Eighty-four cannon, of which

eighteen were of heavy calibre, were formed in two divisions

in the centre, and opposed to the cannonade of sixty Sikh

guns. The army, fresh from rest, and invigorated by food,

advanced to the combat in the most complete order, at half-

past seven. The morning was clear and cloudless, and the

sun shone brightly on the extended line of bayonets and

sabres. The Sikhs, ever ready with their batteries, opened
them at a long range. The British infantry was halted be-

yond their reach, and the artillery, protected by skirmishers,

pushed boldly to the front, and commenced a cannonade, of

which the oldest and most experienced soldiers in the army
had never witnessed a parallel for magnificence and effect,

and the results of which exceeded the most sanguine expecta-

tions of those who had advocated the movement. Notwith-

standing the rapidity with which the Sikhs fired, it was



XL.] PURSUIT OF THE ENEMY. 345

manifest that neither human fortitude, nor the best materials

could withstand the storm which for two hours and a half beat

on their devoted artillery. Many of their guns were dis-

mounted, and before a single musket had been discharged, the

fire of their formidable line had slackened. The British infantry

then deployed, and commenced a steady advance, supported

by their field batteries. Eight in the path of Sir "Walter

Gilbert's division lay the larger village, the key of the Sikh

position, flanked by two batteries, and crowded with Sikh

soldiers. The brigade, which under Brigadier Godby had

played so conspicuous a part at Chillianwalla, now under

General Penny, rushed among the houses with resistless

energy. The enemy fought with desperation, seizing the

soldiers' bayonets with the left hand, while they dealt sabre

cuts with the right ; but they were eventually overpowered.
The smaller village was carried chiefly through the gallantry

of Colonel Franks, and the ardent courage of his brave 10th.

When the villages were won, which was not effected without

serious loss to the assailants, the whole Sikh line gave way,
and was pursued round the town by the four divisions of

infantry. Later in the day a body of the splendid Sikh horse,

together with 1,500 Afghan cavalry under Akram Khan,
the son of Dost Mahomed, advanced against the flank and

rear of General Thackwell, in command of the cavalry, who

put in array against them that regiment of Sinde horse which

had been disciplined under the eye of Sir Charles Napier, and

had long and ably contributed to the defence of the pro-

vince. It was now under the command of Captain Malcolm,

and, with the aid of the 9th Lancers, bore back with a noble

ardour, the Afghan and Sikh horse. While the Sikh army was
thus pursued by the infantry battalions, the cavalry, which had

been restrained at first, was let loose. Onward they rushed,

dispersing, riding over, and trampling down in their resistless

career, the flying and scattered infantry of the Sikhs, cap-

turing guns and waggons, and converting the discomfited

enemy into a shapeless mass of fugitives. It was not till half-
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past four, when they had advanced fifteen miles beyond

Guzerat, that they drew rein, by which time the army of

Shere Sing' was a wreck, deprived of its camp, its standards,

and fifty-three pieces of cannon.

Remarks on the Among the noblest achievements of our Indian
battle, 1849.

generals, the battle of Guzerat stands out in

bold relief, not only in reference to the magnitude of the

forces engaged, and the confidence with which previous events

had inspired the enemy, but, also, to the importance of its

result, the utter extinction of the formidable power and spirit

of Runjeet Sing's great armament, terrific in the death throes

of its expiring wrath. Throughout this campaign the Sikhs

fought better than in the campaign of the Sutlege. Their

cavalry had greatly improved in daring and combination, and

an inferior artillery was as rapidly and effectually served. In

the former strug-gle, their leaders were intriguing with the

British authorities, and all but traitors to the national cause ;

in the second war, they were all in earnest in setting their

lives and fortunes on the cast of the die. The battle of

Guzerat, of which the occult history has not yet appeared
in print, was won by the judicious use of the arm in which

the British army had a preponderating power, and has justly

been described as the "battle of the guns." The stress of the

action fell on the two brigades which assaulted the villages ;

the other portion of the force had no struggle to maintain, and

one brigade neither fired a shot nor lost a man. The cavalry had

only one exploit to record, the daring charge of the Sinde horse.

Pursuit of the Sir Joseph Thackwell and his cavalry bivouacked

enemy, 1849.
for foe night on the ground he occupied, proposing

to renew the pursuit the next morning, but he was recalled to

the camp, and the enemy was thus enabled to escape across

the Jhelum with impunity. Lord Dalhousie had declared that

the war must be prosecuted to the entire defeat and dispersion

of all who were in arms against us. One column under Sir

Colin Campbell was, therefore, sent to sweep the districts in

the north, while Sir Walter Gilbert, the first rider in India,
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whom Sir Henry Lawrence had particularly recommended to

Lord Dalhoneie to lead the chase, left the camp the day after

the hat tic with infantry, cavalry, horse artillery, and light

field ^uns, in all about 12,000 men. He pursued the relic of

the Sikh army, now reduced to about 16,000, along the great

high road of the Indus with such rapidity as to give them no

breathing time, and to allow his own men little leisure for

cooking. Major Lawrence, who had been permitted to

proceed to Lahore on parole, before the battle of Guzerat,

returned to the Sikh camp after the victory, where he was
received with shouts of admiration of his good faith, and was

requested by Shere Sing to negotiate the best terms he could

obtain from the British commander. He passed repeatedly
between the two camps, but the pursuit was continued without

intermission. On the 6th March, the Sikh chiefs restored

all their prisoners, and two days after entered into terms with

General Gilbert. On the 12th, Shere Sing and Chutter Sing
delivered up their swords to him at the celebrated monument of

Manikylah, once considered a trophy of Alexander the Great.

Thirty-five subordinate chiefs laid down their swords at his feet,

and the Khalsa soldiers advanced one by one, and, after clasp-

ing their arms for the last time, cast them on the growing
pile, with a heavy sigh. Forty-one pieces of artillery were
also surrendered, which, with those captured at Mooltan and

Guzerat, raised the number to one hundred and sixty, the

greater portion of which had been buried after the battle of

Sobraon, to be disinterred for a future struggle. It remained

only to dispose of the Afghans, and the veteran Gilbert, with

the speed and buoyancy of youth, followed on their track,

crossed the Indus on a bridge of boats which he was just in

time to save, and pursued them in their ignominious flight up
to the portals of their barrier range ; and, as the natives of

India sarcastically remarked,
" those who rode down the hills

like lions, ran back into them like dogs."

Result of the war The battle of Guzerat decided the fate of the
-incorporation. Pun

jab) and finally quenched the hopes of the



348 lord dalhousie's proclamation. [chap.

Khalsa. It was no ordinary distinction for that noble army
to have met the conquerors of India at Moodkee, at Feroze-

shuhur, at Alliwal, at Sobraon, at Chillianwalla, and at

Guzerat, with indomitable courage, and on more than one

occasion to have shaken their throne. But, after six such

conflicts, they resigned themselves with a feeling of proud

humility to the supremacy of the power which had exhibited

military qualifications superior to their own. The Punjab
was now by the indefeasible right of conquest at the disposal

of the British Government. Such a consummation had not

been expected in England, and Lord Dalhousie was not in

possession of the views of the Court of Directors regarding the

disposal of it ; but he wisely adopted the vigorous policy of

annexing the dominions of Runjeet Sing, on both sides the

Indus, to the Company's territories. In communicating this

resolution to the India House, he alluded to the sanction which

had been given to the annexation of two districts after the

last unprovoked war, and he expressed his confidence that the

absorption of the remainder of the country, after the unpro-
voked aggression which had entailed a second war, would be

equally approved of. In a brief and forcible proclamation,

issued on the 29th March, 1849, he stated that after the

death of Runjeet Sing, the Sirdars and the Kbalsa army had,

without cause or provocation, suddenly invaded the British

territory ; that their troops liad been again and again defeated ;

that the Maharaja Duleep Sing had tendered his submission

to the Governor-General at the gates of Lahore, and solicited

his clemency ; that the Governor-General had generously

spared the kingdom which he had a just right to confiscate,

placed the Maharaja on the throne, and concluded a treaty of

friendship between the two states. The British Government

had scrupulously observed every stipulation contained in it,

while the Sikhs had grossly violated the promises by which

they were bound. The army of the Lahore state and the

whole Sikh people, joined by many of the Sirdars who had

signed the treaty, had risen against us and waged a fierce and
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bloody war foi the proclaimed purpose of destroying the British

and their power. The Government of India had no desire for

conquest, but was bound in duty to provide fully for its own

security and for the interests of those committed to its charge,

and, as the only sure mode of protecting itself from the per-

petual recurrence of unprovoked and wasting wars, was com-

pelled to resolve on the entire subjugation of a people whom
their own government had long been unable to control, whom
no punishment could deter from violence, and no acts of

friendship could conciliate to peace. He, therefore, proclaimed
that the kingdom of the Punjab was at an end, and that all the

territories of the Maharaja Duleep Sing should henceforth be

a portion of the British empire in India. To offer any vindica-

tion of a measure which even the most prejudiced of Lord

Dalhousie's opponents have not ventured to impugn, would

be altogether redundant. The Punjab was the last province
within the boundaries of India, which fell to us by the arbi-

trament of war, and our title to it stands upon the same basis

of right as our first acquisitions of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa,

by the same issue, a century before.

End of the Pun
^n ^ie ^^ March, the young Maharaja took

jab kingdom— his seat for the last time on the throne of Eunjeet

Sing, and in the presence of Sir Henry Lawrence,

the Resident, and Mr. Elliott, the foreign secretary, and the

nobles of his court, heard Lord Dalhousie's proclamation read

in English, Persian, and Hindostanee, and then affixed the

initials of his name in English characters to the document

which transferred the kingdom of the five rivers to the Com-

pany, and secured to him an annuity of five lacs of rupees

a-year. The British colours were then hoisted upon the ram-

parts, and a royal salute announced the fulfilment of Runjeet's

prediction that the Punjab also would "become red." The

Koh-i-noor, which he had destined to the great idol of

Orissa, was set apart for the crown of England. The jageers

of the leaders of the rebellion were confiscated, and they
retired to their native villages on small stipends. Moolraj
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was brought to trial before a special court, composed of three

European officers, as an accessory to the murder of Mr. Agnew
and Lieutenant Anderson, and found guilty, but recommended

to mercy in consideration of extenuating circumstances dis-

covered in the course of the inquiry; he was sentenced to

imprisonment for life, but died within a short time. Lord

Dalhousie was elevated to the dignity of a Marquis, the fourth

marquisate bestowed on the Governors-General, who had re-

pudiated the "beautiful theory" of Mr. Dundas, and added

provinces to the Company's dominions. The reproach of Ch.il-

lianwalla was forgotten in the triumph of Guzerat, and Lord

Gough also obtained a step in the peerage. Generals Gilbert

and Thackwell were rewarded with the Grand Cross of the

Bath, and Generals Campbell, Wheeler, and Cheape with

Knight-Commandersbips ; but Brigadier Tennant, who had

commanded and worked the artillery which won the field of

Guzerat, was passed over, and received only an inferior

reward, which reflected discredit on those alone who had with-

held the recommendation of his claims. Lieutenant Edwardes

obtained a brevet-majority, and Lieutenants Lake, Taylor,

and Herbert were duly rewarded for deeds of no ordinary

merit, but the gallant Abbott, who had defended the fortress

of Nara against fearful odds, down to the close of the cam-

paign, was invidiously refused the honour due to his dis-

tinguished efforts and success.

Close of the
^G battle °^ Ghizerat closed the period of war,

period of war, which began with the expedition to Afghanistan
in 1838, and continued with little intermission for

more than ten years. During this decade the three indepen-

dent armies of Sinde, Gwalior, and Lahore, numbering more

than 120,000 brave soldiers, were broken up, and their for-

midable artillery, consisting of more than 600 pieces of cannon,

the object of their adoration as the tutelary guardians of their

strength, was transferred to our own arsenals. The import-

ance of these events was not fully perceived till the arrival

of the time, a few years later, when the whole of the Bengal
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army rose in mutiny and wrested the north-west provinces

from our authority. If, at that critical period, these military

organization had existed in full vigour, ready to take advan-

of tin' shook our power had received, we should in all

probability, have had the whole continent to reconquer. By
the incorporation of the Punjab, the Company's dominions

were expanded from Cape Comorin to the Khyber, distant

from each other more than two thousand miles. Within this

range there still remained more than a hundred and fifty

native principalities, of greater or less extent, but they oc-

cupied only a subordinate position, and not a shot could be

fired on the continent of India without the permission of

the Governor-General. The establishment of our permanent

authority throughout India, which was affirmed at the begin-

ning of the century by Lord Wellesley and the Duke of

"Wellington
—then General Wellesley—to be the only means

by which the peace and tranquillity of the country could be

secured, was now consummated. The erection of this mag-
nificent empire, reckoning from the battle of Plassy to the

battle of Guzerat, was the work of little less than a cen-

tury. At every successive stage of its progress it was repro-

bated as an atrocious crime by one party in England, while

another party saw in it only the inevitable result of the con-

tact of civilization with comparative barbarism. To the hun-

dred and twenty millions of people whose interests were

affected by it, it was an inestimable blessing, and it was

dolorous only to the princes whom it deprived of the power
of oppressing their subjects. It was invariably honoured with

the thanks of Parliament, and it was rewarded by the Crown

with seven new peerages, and eight steps in the peerage.

The fortune of war had thus thrown upon the
Government of . .

*
,

the Punjab, Government of India the task of administering a
1849-54.

nt)w kingdom, comprising 50,000 square miles and

containing a population of four millions, of which oue million

consisted of Sikhs. It was a fortunate circumstance for the

Punjab that at this juncture the supreme power in India was
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lodged in the hands of one who combined great resolution and

untiring industry with an extraordinary governing faculty.

For the full exercise of that faculty the country of the five

rivers afforded an ample field. It was not encumbered with

any of the decrepit institutions of the older provinces. There

was nothing to demolish, and everything to create. A favour-

able opportunity was presented of constructing an adminis-

tration exempt from previous errors, and embodying the

experience of half a century. Contrary to his general principle,

Lord Dalhousie tried the experiment
—which soon failed—

of committing the management to a Board consisting of

three, who were entrusted with supreme authority in all

matters, civil, fiscal, and criminal, even to the power of life

and death, as well as with the superintendence of every moral

and material improvement. At the head of the Board was

Sir Henry Lawrence, one of the great men of the Company's

service, and a fit successor of Ochterlony,Munro, and Metcalfe.

His name was one of auspicious omen in the Punjab, where, in

popular opinion, the rebellion arose on his departure, and was

quelled on his return. His only failing, and in a conqueror it

was more than half a virtue, was an excess of sympathy with

the feelings and prejudices of the native aristocracy, which it

was not always easy to reconcile with the general interests

of the community. With him were associated his brother,

Mr. John Lawrence, now Governor-General of India, and

Mr. Mansel, who speedily gave place to Mr.—now Sir Robert—
Montgomery, A more efficient Board it would have been

impossible to construct, even in India. The subordinate ad-

ministration was entrusted to fifty-six covenanted officers,

one half of the civil and the other of the military branch, who
filled the offices of Commissioners, and Deputy and Assistant

Commissioners. They were the flower of the service ; men
of mature talent, or youths of noble aspirations for an honour-

able career, and there was no little truth in the remark that

the other provinces of India had been robbed of adminis-

trative skill to enrich the Punjab. The system of govern-
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ment was admirably adapted, by its simplicity and vigour, to

the wants of a country where, under the Sikh ruler, the only

officers of state had been soldiers or tax-gatherers, and the

only punishment, fine or mutilation, and where no civil court

existed but at the capital. For the voluminous regulations

which sat like an incubus on the older provinces, a clear and

concise manual suited to the habits of a people who respected

justice but dreaded law, was compiled by Mr. Montgomery
and comprised in a few sheets of foolscap.

The conquest of the Punjab removed the boun-

disarmlment
; dary °f tne empire from the Sutlege to the moun-

the Police. tain ranges beyond the Indus which formed a

radius of many hundred miles. They were inhabited

by various tribes of highlanders whose vocation, from time im-

memorial, had been war and plunder, and who had kept the

Mogul emperors in a fever of anxiety even after they were

masters of all India. The inhabitants were able to bring down

100,000 bold, brave, and lawless men at arms upon the plains,

and Lord Dalhousie considered it his primary duty to protect

the frontier from their inroads. A series of fortifications was

established along the whole line, provisioned and provided
with the munitions of war for three months, and connected

with each other by a line of roads. An especial force, con-

sisting of five regiments of infantry and four of cavalry,

and composed of all classes, was organized for the protection

of the marches. For the security of the Government and

the safety of the people, Lord Dalhousie resolved to disarm

the Punjab ;
within six months of its annexation an edict

was issued to every town and village between the Beeas and

the Indus to surrender all arms, and the manufacture, sale, or

possession of them in future was prohibited. The weapons
thus given up amounted to 120,000 and presented every

variety of form and character, many of them being of very

costly material and curious workmanship. Permission was

however, granted to the inhabitants of Peshawur and to the

districts bordering on the robber clans beyond the Indus, as

in. 2 A
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well as to the people of Hazara, living on the left bank of the

river among marauding tribes who had never been subdued

by Greek, Mahomedan, or Sikh, to carry arms for their own
defence. The effect of this disarmament was speedily visible

in the diminution of crimes of violence. The police force was

partly civil and partly military. The latter, which furnished

guards for treasuries and jails, and orderlies for the civil func-

tionaries, and patrolled the roads, consisted of six regiments
of foot, and twenty-seven troops of horse, in number about

7,000. A detective police was likewise introduced. The

ancient institution of the village watch was revived and

placed on an efficient footing. The watchmen were selected

from the community ; they were paid by the people, and acted

under the salutary influence of the village elders, and the

control of the native collectors, as well as of the European

magistrates. By these admirable arrangements the Board

were enabled within three years to report that no portion of

India enjoyed greater peace and security than the Punjab.

The Kevenue The vital question of the land assessment, on
1849—54. which the happiness, and, to a great extent, the

loyalty of the people in the East depends, was dealt with in a

spirit of great liberality, and the blunders which had marred

the system introduced into the older provinces, were carefully

avoided. The settlement was not formed till after a minute

and detailed investigation, corresponding with that which Mr.

Robert Bird had carried out in the north-west provinces. The

land tax which Runjeet Sing had fixed at about one-half the

produce, was reduced, on an average, by one -fourth, and leases

were granted, at first for short periods, but eventually for ten,

and in some cases, for thirty years. The security of the

tenure, and the moderation of the state demand, gave no small

encouragement to cultivation ; of the Khalsa soldiery, more

than 30,000 exchanged the sword for the plough, and these

circumstances, combined with favourable seasons, gave such

exuberant harvests as to reduce the price of grain. The

agriculturists, who were required to pay their rents in coin
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ar-d not in kind, began to exhibit feelings of discontent, and

the Chief Commissioner lost no time in proceeding through

every district with his financial assistants, minutely examining

every cause of complaint on the spot, after which a further

reduction of rent was made to the extent of ten per cent.

Lord Dalhousie was anxious to avoid the boundless irritation

which had arisen in the Gangetic provinces from dallying with

the subject of rent-free tenures, and, under his directions, the

Board took up the question with promptitude and earnestness.

Every case was assiduously examined with a sincere desire

to do justice to the interests, both of individuals and of the

state, and a satisfactory adjustment was speedily concluded.

The duties on the transit of goods and merchandize from dis-

trict to district and from town to town had been contrived

with great ingenuity by the financiers of Runjeet Sing, and

the country was covered with a network of custom houses

which stifled commercial enterprise. Within nine months of the

incorporation of the province they were entirely swept away,
and the trade of the Punjab and of Central Asia was allowed

to flow free and unfettered in every direction. The loss of

revenue which this liberal policy entailed was more than com-

pensated by the scientific imposition of new taxes, four of

which were found to yield as much as forty-eight of the

clumsy taxes of the Khalsa government, and with less vexa-

tion and inconvenience to the people.

The Board of Administration likewise directed
Slavery; dacoity;

thuggee, their attention with eminent success to the extinc-

tion of domestic slavery ; the sale of children,

which had been openly practised under the old Government,
was prohibited, and the market ceased to be supplied by

kidnappers. With equal vigour the Board assailed the sys-

tem of dacoity which was in full vigour,' notwithstanding
the summary proceedings of Sikh despotism. But the fact

was, that while Runjeet Sing seized upon entire provinces,

his chiefs, with whose proceedings he rarely interfered while

they paid then* revenue and maintained their contingents,

2 a 2
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were permitted to attack and plunder villages with perfect

impunit3
T
. Armed bodies of Sikh outlaws, moreover, rendered

the roads unsafe for travellers. With that energy for which

there is always a larger scope in the non-regulation than

in the regulation provinces, the Commissioners took the

field against these criminals, inflicted prompt and condign

punishment on all those who were captured, and hunted the

rest out of the country, with such earnestness that before the

Punjab had been five years in our possession, it was more

free from the crime of dacoity than Bengal, after it had been

eighty years under our management. It was likewise

found that the practice of thuggee, from which the efforts of

Colonel Sleeman had relieved Hindostan, had found its way
into the Punjab, and was still practised. Runjeet Sing
executed the man who introduced it, and Shere Sing hung or

mutilated every one convicted of it. The increasing disorders

of the state, however, and the weakness of the Government

gave fresh courage to the thugs, and murders were often per-

petrated without any effort to conceal them. The task of

eradicating the crime was committed to Mr. Brereton, of the

civil service, and he entered upon his duties with all that

animation which commonly distinguished the proceedings of

the Punjab officials. The cases of assassination which were

fully substantiated amounted to 1,300. A roll of the thugs,

whose names and residences had been furnished by approvers,

was sent to each station ; no less than 550 men arrested, the

greater number of whom were executed ; the gangs were

broken up and the practice disappeared.

infanticide,
Another crime with which it was the mission of

1849-54. ^he British Government in the Punjab to deal was

infanticide, and the vigour of Lord Dalhousie and of the Board

was rewarded with more decisive success than had attended

the efforts of Government for thirty years in Hindostan. It

was most prevalent among the proud and wealthy Bedees, the

descendants of the first Sikh prophet, Tsanuk. Occupying, as

they did, the highest rank in society, they disdained to bestow
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their daughters in an unequal alliance; to allow them to

remain unmarried was an indelible disgrace; the female infant
(

therefore consigned to death at the dawn of her exist-

ence. Other castes, not excepting even the Mahomedans, had

been led to adopt this inhuman custom, in consequence, chiefly,

of the insupportable expense of weddings. As soon as the

existence of the practice was ascertained, Lord Dalhousie

determined to bring the whole weight of Government, by
menaces and promises, to bear upon its suppression. He felt

that coercion would only tend to defeat its own object, and

that to ensure success, it was necessary to obtain the concur-

rence of the nation. The first step towards the eradication of

the crime was justly considered to be a reduction of the cost

of weddings. It was swelled, as in Rajpootana, by the clam-

orous demands of the bhats and minstrels, who flocked to them

like vultures attracted by the smell of carrion ; and it was at

once determined to deal with them as vagrants. A large

durbar was then convened at Umritsir, at the most popular
festival in the Sikh calendar. It was attended by all the

aristocracy and hierarchy of the Punjab, by the hill chiefs, by
the Mahomedan nobles, by wealthy merchants, and by learned

pundits. It was the most august conclave, and for the noblest

object, which had ever been held in that holy city, or indeed,

in any part of India. The British officers in the Punjab repaired
to it almost without exception, and met delegates from every
tribe and class. Under a spacious awning erected for the

occasion, the Chief Commissioner addressed this large assem-

bly, and entered upon a calm and temperate discussion of the

subject. He urged the enormity of the practice, which they

readily admitted ; he dwelt on the anxiety of the Governor-

General to suppress it, and he pointed out the means by which,
in the opinion of the British Government, that object could be

most effectually secured. All the assembled chiefs, Hindoo,

Mahomedan, Rajpoot, and Sikh, entered into a solemn cove-

nant to abide by the propositions of Lord Dalhousie and the

Chief Commissioner. Committees were appointed to establish
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a scale for the expense of weddings; the sumptuary rules

which they drew up were universally accepted and ratified,

and one of the principal motives for the murder of infants was

removed. Other meetings were held in the chief towns and

villages, with the same happy result. The most important aid

in this noble cause was rendered by Raja Golab Sing, the ruler

of Cashmere, who directed all his nobles and chiefs to meet the

.Commissioner, and to adopt his proposals regardingthe retrench-

ment of wedding expenses, and he set the example by remitting

the tax which native rulers had always levied on them.

The Romans considered the subjugation of no
Roads and J °

Canals, 1849— country complete until it was pierced with high-

ways. In like manner, Lord Dalhousie did not

consider the conquest of the Punjab fully accomplished till it

was intersected with military roads. Of these works, the most

important was that which united Peshawur with Lahore, and

which extended over 275 miles. It presented the most for-

midable difficulties to the engineer. It passed over more than

100 great bridges, and 450 of smaller dimensions ; it penetrated

six mountain chains, and was carried by means of embank-

ments over the marshes of two great rivers ; but every ob-

stacle was overcome by Colonel—now Sir Robert—Napier, to

whose skill and energy the Punjab was indebted for all those

great material improvements which gave it the appearance of

a Roman province. O^her military roads were constructed to

connect the most important towns and strategical positions

with each other, and to facilitate the transport of troops and

munitions of war. Roads were likewise laid down as high-

ways of commerce, both domestic and foreign. These great

works were happily placed under the direction and the respon-

sibility of a single energetic officer, and in the course of five

years the Board were able to report to the Governor-General

that the length of road completed, and under construction,

amounted to no less than 2,200 miles. The importance of

irrigation in developing the agricultural resources of the country
had not been overlooked by the former rulers of the Punjab.
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There were few districts which did not exhibit tokens of their

labours in the construction of canals and waterworks, some of

which were still in existence, while others were extinct. The

canals of Mooltan, which contributed to the fertility of the

province, had been greatly improved by Sawun Mull. The

Ilulsi canal, constructed under the orders of Shah Jehau, was

a work of imperial luxury, designed to convey the waters of

the Ravee over more than a hundred miles to the fountains

and conservatories of his palace at Lahore. Lord Dalhousie,

who considered that " of all works of public improvement
which could be applied to an Indian province, works of irriga-

tion were the happiest in their effects on the physical condi-

tion of the people," directed all these canals to be repaired.

No rate was levied for the water, as the state was considered

to be repaid by the increase of cultivation. In some cases, the

example of Runjeet Sing was followed, and advances were

made for repairing or improving them to the zemindars, who

regarded the debt as a debt of honour, and refunded it with

strict punctuality. The greatest work of irrigation constructed

under the auspices of Lord Dalhousie and the directions of

Colonel Napier, was the canal of the Baree dooab, the populous
district lying between the Ravee and the Chenab. It tapped
the Ravee as it issued from the mountains, and after a course

of 247 miles, delivered its waters again to that stream a little

above Mooltan. Three branches conveyed a supply of water

to Kussoor, Lahore, and Sobraon. This magnificent under-

taking, which, with its branches, extended to the length of

465 miles, was equal, if not superior to the noblest canals in

Europe, and formed the worthiest monument of British supre-

macy in the Punjab.

Result of these The Government established in the Punjab
Measures, 1854. was emphatically Lord Dalhousie's own creation.

Rarely has a greater amount of administrative and executive

talent been brought to bear upon the improvement of an Indian

province, but it was his genius which animated the whole sys-

tem, lie was in constant and direct communication with the
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chief authorities, and, by the aid of his counsel and the influ-

ence of his position, enabled them to prosecute their labours

without embarrassment or delay. Few Governors have ever

seen so much of their dominions as Lord Dalhousie saw of the

Punjab. From east to west, from north to south, he crossed

its rivers, rode over its plains, and threaded its defiles.

During this personal inspection, no evil remained without a

remedy, no want was unsupplied. Nothing was too minute

for his attention ; he did not overlook even the conservation

of the grass preserves for the cavalry, or the protection of the

remaining forests, or the planting of trees on every road and

watercourse, or the establishment of nurseries, or the introduc-

tion of ninety varieties of exotic plants. The Christian charac-

ter of the administration of the Lawrences was ever one of

its most distinguishing features. Innovations and improve-

ments foreign to the traditions and the prejudices of the

chieftains, the priesthood, and the people, were introduced

with a bolder hand than the public authorities had ventured

to use at the other Presidencies, and in the course of seven

years the Punjab presented a more Anglicized cast of govern-

ment than the north-west provinces. The administration

embodied the maturity of our experience in the science of

oriental government, and rendered the Punjab the model pro-

vince of India. It was the greatest triumph achieved under

the Company's rule, and did honour to European civilization.

By these wise and beneficent measures, the nation which had

recently been the great source of political anxiety, became one

of the chief elements of our imperial strength. The brave

soldiers who had shaken our power at Ferozeshuhur and Chil-

lianwalla, enlisted under our banners, assisted in reconquering

Delhi from the rebel sepoys and in restoring our sovereignty,

marched up the Irawaddy to fight the Burmese, and, to crown

the romance of their history, aided in planting the British

colours on the battlements of Pekin.

second Burmese There was peace for three years after the con-

war, 1852.
quest of the Punjab, and then came the unex-
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pected and unwelcome Burmese war. The treaty of Yandaboo,

concluded with the King of Burmah in 1826, stipulated for

tin- residence of a British representative at his court, and the

commercial treaty of Mr. Crawfurd at the close of that year,

provided that the Governments of both countries should give
14 the utmost protection and security to merchants." Colonel

Benson and Colonel Burney were sent in succession as Resi-

dents to Ava, but they were treated with great contempt.

One of them was denied the means of obtaining provisions,

and directed to take up his residence on an island in the

Iniwaddy, which was inundated on the rise of the river,

and he was constrained to retire from the country. The

British traders at Rangoon were subject to perpetual extor-

tion. In 1851, the master of a vessel was seized, on his arri-

val at Rangoon, and placed in confinement on the false accu-

sation of having murdered his pilot, who had run the ship

ashore, and then jumped overboard. The charge was dis-

missed as frivolous, but he was nevertheless subjected to a

fine. Another commander, thirty days after reaching the

port, was charged by a deserter with having put to death one

of the crew, who had died at sea. The case was investigated

by the Burmese authorities, and the captain acquitted on the

unanimous testimony of the ship's company, but he did not

escape without a fine, and the detention of his vessel. On the

27th September, the European merchants at Rangoon trans-

mitted a memorial to the Government of India, in which

various cases of oppression were enumerated. They asserted

that those who refused payment were subjected to torture,

that robberies and false charges were of daily occurrence,

and that unless protection could be obtained, they must quit

the country and sacrifice their property. On the receipt of

these representations, the Supreme Council came to the conclu-

sion that British subjects had a right to expect that they

should be protected by their own Government from such

injustice, oppression, and extortion.

Deputation of The absence of any accredited British agent at
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Commodore the court or in the territories of Ava, rendered

Lambert, 1851.
ft difficult to deal with the case ; but the difficulty

was diminished by the arrival of Commodore Lambert, in

H.M. ship "Fox," and it was resolved to send him to

Rangoon with a communication from the Government of

India. Lord Dalhousie has been censured for despatching a

naval officer on a mission of peace, but it was considered, and

with great reason, that in dealing with a Government like

that of Burmah, unrivalled in Asia for conceit and arrogance,

nothing was more likely to secure attention and to avoid an

eventual conflict, than the appearance in Burmese waters of an

envoy in command of a vessel of war,— " one of Cromwell's

ambassadors which spoke all languages, and never took a

refusal." The instructions of the Commodore were limited to

the investigation of the complaints of the merchants, and to

the demand of adequate pecuniary compensation, if they were

substantiated. If this reasonable request was refused, he was
directed to transmit the letter which the President of the Coun-

cil of India had addressed to the king and entrusted to him.

In that communication the two cases of "
gross and unjusti-

fiable ill-treatment of British subjects by his Majesty's ser-

vants
"

were enumerated,
" in the full conviction that he

would at once condemn their conduct, order compensation to

the parties aggrieved, and recognize the wisdom of removing
the Governor of Rangoon. If these just expectations should

be disappointed, the Government of India would feel itself

called on to take such immediate steps as should protect the

interests of its subjects and vindicate its own honour and

power." The Commodore anchored off Rangoon on the 26th

November, and the Governor immediately threatened with

death any who should venture to communicate with him.

Some of the Europeans at length succeeded in escaping to the

frigate, and submitted to the Commodore a long roll of injuries

they had sustained. On perusing it, he concluded that it would

be more proper to seek redress from the sovereign than from

his subordinate, and transmitted the President's letter to Ava,
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through the Deputy Governor, who had come on board. It

was accompanied with one from himself to the ministers, in

which he stated that he should await, a reply for five weeks.

It was delivered to him on the 1st January, 1852: "The

great ministers of state, bearing continually on their heads

the two golden feet, resembling the germs of the lotus, of his

most glorious and excellent Majesty," complained of the pur-

port and style of the letter, as " not being in accordance with

friendship." They promised, however, that the offending Go-

vernor should be displaced, and,
" in regard to the merchants

who have been unjustifiably insulted and ill-treated, that proper

and strict inquiry should be instituted, and in accordance with

custom it should be decided." The communication appeared to

be so friendly and pacific as to lead the Commodore to con-

gratulate the Government of India on the prospect of an

early and satisfactory settlement ;
but he was speedily unde-

ceived. The real intentions of an oriental court are to be

gathered, not from glozing despatches, but from the conduct

of its officers, and on this occasion they were altogether un-

friendly. The old Governor quitted Rangoon, not in disgrace,

but in triumph, and with ostentatious parade. His successor

did not condescend to notice the British representative, who
was obliged to open a communication, and request him to

appoint a day to receive a deputation. The Governor replied

that any day would suit his convenience. On the morning of

i Fish
tne 6t^ Januarv

5 Captain Latter, the interpreter of

bourne insulted, the mission, sent a messenger to him to announce

that the officers would arrive at noon, with an

official communication. At the appointed time, Captain Fish-

bourne and other officers, including Mr. Kincaid, proceeded on

the ponies they had been able to procure to Government

House, but found great difficulty in making their way through

the crowd to the courtyard. No officer came forward to re-

ceive them, nor were they permitted to enter the house, but

were detained in the sun by the menials, who affirmed that

the Governor was asleep and must not be disturbed, whereas
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he was all the while gazing at them from the window, and

enjoying their mortification, while exposed to the jeers and

insults of the mob. The patience of Captain Fishboume was

at length exhausted, and he returned to the frigate to report

the treatment he had received.

Proceedings of
Commodore Lambert had been instructed by the

commodore Government of India, in case the communication
m er

' '

from Ava was not satisfactory, to blockade the

ports. He considered that the deliberate insult inflicted on

the officers who were sent on a diplomatic commission to the

Governor expressly appointed by the Court to adjust all differ-

ences, was equivalent to an unfavourable reply from the king,

and, in conformity with the tenor of his instructions, declared

the Burmese ports in a state of blockade. He likewise took

possession of a ship lying in the river, which the king had

built for trade, and resolved to retain it till the claims of the

merchants were satisfied. The Governor of Dalla, who had

always been friendly to the British, visited the frigate the

day after, on a conciliatory mission, when the Commodore in-

formed him that in addition to the compensation to the mer-

chants, which had been fixed at 10,000 rupees, it was necessary

for the Governor of Rangoon to come on board the "
Fox,"

and express his regret for the indignity offered to the gentle-

men of the deputation, after which he would restore the king's

ship and honour the Burmese flag with a royal salute. The
Governor refused to comply with this requisition, but gave
the Commodore to understand that any attempt to remove the

royal vessel would be resisted. The Commodore then pro-

ceeded down the river to establish the blockade at the mouth
of it, with the Government vessel in tow, when a heavy fire

was opened from the stockades below Rangoon, on both sides

the river, which the guns of the " Fox" demolished in a few

moments. Instead of offering the apology which the Com-

modore required, the Governor of Rangoon addressed a letter

to the Government of India in reference to these transactions,

in which he stated that four subordinate officers, who had been
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drinking', came riding into his courtyard with the American

missionary Kincaid; that he himself was asleep at the time ;

and that the officers on their return made a false report to

the Commodore, who " unlike a man of the world, carried off

the great ship belonging to the all powerful lord of the

Universe and the master of all white elephants." In his reply

to this communication, the President in Council repeated the

demands which the Commodore had made, and engaged, after

they were complied with, to depute an officer of rank to con-

clude a final settlement. The Governor rejoined that the

officer of rank must be sent in the first instance, before he

would attend to any further communications.

T . _ „ . , During these transactions, Lord Dalhousie was
Lord Dalhousie s °

§

'

proceedings, in the north-west provinces, and, apprehending
from the aspect of circumstances, that the Govern-

ment was drifting into a war, hastened down in the most un-

comfortable of vehicles, with only a single servant, and reached

Calcutta on the 29th January, intent on preventing hostilities.

Those who were in communication with him at the time will

bear testimony to the fact, that, so far was the annexation of

Pegu from being a foregone conclusion before he reached Cal-

cutta, that no Governor-General ever manifested a greater or

more sincere repugnance to a war than Lord Dalhousie did on

this occasion. It has again been surmised that he took posses-

sion of that province to prevent its falling into the hands of the

French or the Americans, and it may be instructive to dispel

this misconception by tracing it to its source. The United

States frigate,
"
Susquehana," happened at this time to be in

the Ilougly, and it was reported that the Washington Govern-

ment contemplated the establishment of a consulate at Ran-

goon for the protection of American subjects, not excluding

missionaries, inasmuch as both the French and the American

Governments, unlike the English, consider their missionary

subjects as much entitled to protection as their commercial

agents. One of the leading journals in Bengal, thinking the

Government of India dilatory in attending to the memorial of
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grievances, remarked that "
if John Bull was so slow to re-

dress them, we must invoke the aid of brother Jonathan, and

send the '

Susquehana
'

to Rangoon." But it was not until

the third application for redress had been rejected by the Bur-

mese authorities, that Lord Dalhousie came to the conclusion

that no alternative was now left to the Government of India but

to seek reparation by force of arms. On the 12th February, he

recorded his views in a Minute, in which, after a summary
statement of previous transactions, he affirmed that to send an

envoy of rank, as the Governor requested, to supersede the

officers who had been employed in the negotiations, would be

to admit the offensive accusations made against them, and that

the British Government having thus relinquished the demands

it had peremptorily advanced, and abandoned the officers it

was bound to uphold, would unquestionably be regarded by the

Burmese nation, as well as by every eastern people, as having
submitted to humiliation and avowed defeat. " The Govern-

ment of India cannot," he said,
u
consistently with its own

safety, appear for one day in an attitude of inferiority, or hope
to maintain peace and submission among the numberless

princes and people embraced within the vast circuit of the

empire, if, for one day, it give countenance to a doubt of the

absolute superiority of its arms, and of its continued resolu-

tion to maintain it." At the same time, he addressed a letter

to the king reciting the oppression of British subjects, the

demand for compensation, the insult offered to the deputation,

and the refusal of any apology, and stating that large prepa-

rations were now in progress to enforce the rights and vindi-

cate the power of the British Government, but that the king

might yet avert hostilities by acceding to the former demands,
and paying down, by the 1st of April, ten lacs of rupees as a

compensation for the expenses incurred in preparations.

Efforts of Lord Finding a war all but inevitable, Lord Dal-

Daihousie, 1852. housie threw his whole soul into the work, and

never since the time, sixty years before, when Lord Wellesley

brought five armies into the field with matchless speed, and in
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four months crushed the power of Sindia, and of the raja of

Nagpore, had such a display of superb energy been witnessed

in India. The Commander-in-chief was in Sinde, Lord Dal-

houoie was obliged to become his own minister of war, and

he astonished India by the singular genius he exhibited for

military organization. The task before him was one of no

ordinary difficulty. It was the 10th February before the pre-

parations for the expedition commenced, and it was of the last

importance that Rangoon should be occupied before the end of

April, when the rains might be expected to set in, and mili-

tary operations would become perilous. It was necessary that

two expeditions should be despatched, one from Calcutta, and

the other from Madras, for the latter of which, steamers were

to be brought round from Bombay. Neither the telegraph nor

the rail, which annihilate time and distance, were then com-

pleted, and the orders were transmitted to both Presidencies

by the ordinary mail. At Bombay, the steam flotilla was ready
for sea within three days, but the expedition was delayed at

Madras. The Governor, Sir Henry Pottinger, who was far

more a fortunate than a great man, took offence that his super-
lative merits in China had been overlooked and that he had not

been consulted about the arrangements of the war, and refused

to allow a single soldier to embark except under the direct

responsibility of the Governor-General. The difficulty was
overcome by the resolution of Lord Dalhousie, but the expe-
dition was nevertheless retarded. The 38th Bengal Native

Infantry refused to proceed by sea to Burmah with the expedi-
tion from Calcutta, when he determined to try the experiment
of supplying its place by a regiment of Sikhs. They marched

down without hesitation to the port and embarked with their

accustomed hilarity. By this expedient, the perplexity which

the Government had felt for eighty years through the repug-
nance of the sepoys to the " black water " was at once and

finally removed. The forethought and vigour of Lord Dal-

housie left nothing to chance, or to dilatory subordinates. From
the day when the preparations for the campaign commenced,
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he superintended every arrangement himself, and his aides-de-

camp were incessantly employed in moving about from place to

place to ensure punctuality and efficiency in every department.

The Tenasserim provinces were drained of live stock and provi-

sions ; bakehouses were erected on the coast to ensure a con-

stant supply of bread, which was to be conveyed with the meat

by steamers to the camp. In the first war, the encampment at

Rangoon had become a charnel house after the rains had set

in ;
to prevent the recurrence of this mortality, the framework

of houses was constructed at Moulmein, under the eye of the

Commissioner, Colonel Bogle, and sent with the expedition, to

afford the soldiers shelter when the monsoon set in. A con-

valescent hospital was established at Amherst, on the sea

coast, thirty miles below Moulmein, and steamers appointed

to convey invalids thither.

organization of The land forces of the expedition amounted to

the Force, 1852. 5
?
800 men, and comprised three European regi-

ments. The command was entrusted to General Godwin, who
held a command in the former war, but had lost little of his

military ardour from age. Steam power had been so greatly

multiplied in India since the expedition of 1826, in which

only one small vessel of sixty horse power was available, that

the Government was enabled to employ nineteen steam- vessels

carrying 159 guns, and manned by 2,270 sailors and marines.

The Bengal column reached the Rangoon river on the 2nd

April, and a flag of truce was sent up by the "Proserpine"
steamer to receive the reply of the king to the letter of the

Governor-General. At the third stockade in the river a fire

was opened on her, and the last hope of a peaceful solution

of differences was extinguished. While awaiting the arrival

of the Madras column, the Commodore employed his vessels

in levelling the stockades on the river, and the General sent

an expedition against the town of Martaban, lying opposite the

British settlement of Moulmein, which was captured in an hour,

with the loss of only seventeen men killed and wounded. On
the arrival of the Madias force, the whole of this imposing
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beet proceeded up the river, and on the 11th April took up
a position in front of Rangoon. A brisk fire was opened

simultaneously from the great Pagoda, on one side, and from

Dalla on the opposite bank of the river. A party of seamen

and marines landed with the Royal Irish at Dalla, and carried

all the fortifications. Another detachment proceeded up the

river against Kemmendine, where the steamers set the stockade

on fire, but the Burmese extinguished the flames eight times,

and it was not surrendered without a resolute defence.

Capture of The troops landed on the morning of the 12th
Rangoon, 1852.

^ pr0ceed against the great Pagoda, which was
the citadel, as well as the pride of Rangoon, and which had

been fortified with such skill as to create the belief that the

Burmese must have obtained the services of a European engi-

neer. General Godwin's force had not proceeded above a

mile when a heavy fire was opened on it from a battery con-

cealed in the jungle, and it was found necessary to bring up
the twenty-four pound howitzers. The stockade was carried

by storm after a brisk cannonade, but not without serious loss

from the weapons of the enemy, and still more from the insup-

portable heat of the weather, which struck down the bravest.

The General now found that the Burmese had made no incon-

siderable progress in the art of war since the former campaign ;

they had become bolder in their operations, more skilful in

selecting their ground and covering their movements, and did

not hesitate to quit their stockades, and assail our flanks ; they
had moreover become good shots. His own troops were com-

pletely exhausted by fatigue and heat, and he resolved to halt

for the day. On the 13th, the troops did not alter their posi-

tion, but the steamers kept up such a continuous cannonade

on the town, that the governor was fain to abandon his palace

and cross the river, after which he was no more heard of. At

daybreak on the 14th, the whole force was under arms and

marched towards the Pagoda. The Burmese, expecting that

the General would attack the southern gate, had fortified it

with a hundred guns, and collected 10,000 men for its defence,

III. 2 B
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and were confounded when they discovered that he was pro-

ceeding to attack their weakest point on the eastern vestibule.

The heavy eight-inch howitzers were dragged with incredible

labour through the long grass and brushwood into a position

opposite the gateway, and opened a terrific fire upon it, to

which the Burmese replied with such effect that Captain

Latter observed to the General that we were losing ten men
for every one which an assault might cost. A storming party,

consisting of 800 men drawn from the 80th Foot, the Royal

Irish, and the 40th Native Infantry, was immediately formed,

and advanced to the attack under his guidance and under the

command of Colonel Coote. As they moved towards the gate

they were assailed from the three terraces which rose in

succession one above another in the Pagoda, by an incessant

discharge of missiles of every variety, links of chain, bags of

broken metal, bottles of nails, and boxes of hammered bullets.

It was defended with extraordinary gallantry by the elite of

the Burmese army, styled the "
immortals," but nothing could

arrest the fiery valour of the British soldiers, who rushed up
the broad stairs which led from one platform to another, and

planted the British ensign on the gilded dome of the noble

Pagoda.
The town of Rangoon was entirely deserted by

The co-opera- , ,

°
, f

J

tkmofthe the inhabitants on the arrival of the expedition
Peguers, 1852.

in lg24j and gir Archibald Campbell was totally

deprived of the resources of the country, and isolated from

communication with the inhabitants. On the present occasion,

however, no sooner was the Pagoda captured and the Burmese

army dispersed, than the people returned to their houses and

shops, and resumed their usual occupations. Provisions

poured into the town ; carpenters from Pegu hastened to offer

their services to erect the wooden houses for the troops which

the forethought of Lord Dalhousie had provided. The river

was crowded with boats and shipping, and Rangoon became

a busy mart of commerce. The municipal regulations laid

down and rigidly enforced by the General, established order
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fend security to such an extent that the women of the country

moved Freely through the encampment without fear of insult.

The natives of the province of Pegu, who had been severely

Oppressed by their Burmese conquerors, had flocked to the

Standard of Sir Archibald Campbell, whom they regarded as

a deliverer; but they were cruelly abandoned to their fate

at the close of the war, and their adherence to the fortunes of

the strangers was visited by their former masters with

tortures too revolting to be mentioned. With a lively recol-

lection of those barbarities, and a full appreciation of the

blessings which the provinces of Aracan and Tenasserim had

enjoyed under British rule, they welcomed the arrival of

General Godwin, and it was the one hope of their hearts that

they should not again be delivered up to the vengeance of

their oppressors, but obtain the inestimable blessing of British

protection.

close of tbe Compared with the great battles of the Sutlege
war, i8tv$.

an(j {ne Punjab, the incidents of the war in Bur-

mah appear tame and uninteresting. On the 17th May,
General Godwin and Commodore Lambert captured Bassein,

the western port of Burmah, with a trifling loss, though it

was garrisoned by 5,000 men. While the force lay at Ran-

goon the steamers scoured the Irawaddy, and the " Proser-

pine
"
proceeded up the river, levelled the various stockades,

and seized a large fleet of boats laden with grain. Captain
Tarleton soon after started with five steamers for Prome, which

was abandoned by the Burmese troops, and, with the aid of

the townsmen, he transferred some of the guns to his own

vessels, and pitched the remainder into the river. Four days
more of easy steaming would have taken him up to Ava, but

though the magnificent fleet of steamers had the complete
command of the river, General Godwin hesitated to advance

to Prome with his limited force, leaving Rangoon open to

attack from the Burmese army which wa3 said to be hovering
about it. This inactivity was attributed to senility rather than

to military discretion, and reprobated by the press. Lord

2 n 2



372 ANNEXATION OF PEGU. [CHAP.

Dalhousie proceeded to Rangoon in September to examine the

state of affairs with his own eyes, and to afford counsel and

confidence to the General. He fully concurred with him in

the conclusion that it would be injudicious to remove the

troops from quarters where they enjoyed comparatively good

tiealth, and to expose them to the severities of the climate,

without absolute necessity, but he advised the earliest prac-

ticable movement on Prome. It was captured on the 9th

October with the loss of only one man. Towards the end of

November a detachment was sent to the relief of Major Hill,

who had been left in charge of the town of Pegu on its first

capture in June, with 400 men, and was besieged by 6,000

Burmese. With the succour of this garrison all military

operations ceased. The object of the expedition was to

exact reparation for injuries inflicted on British subjects, not

to break up the kingdom. Lord Dalhousie was confident that

if the army were pushed on to the capital, the king would

abandon it on our approach and retire to the northern portion

of his dominions, where he would be inaccessible among the

wild tribes of mountaineers, and eight hundred miles of unpro-
fitable territory would thus be thrown on our hands ; he deter-

mined therefore to remain content with the occupation of Pegu.

Annexation of The Government had now to consider the course

Pegu, 1852. which was to be taken to " confirm the vindica-

tion of our power, to obtain reimbursement of the expenses of

the war, and to provide a security against its recurrence."

Lord Dalhousie recorded a Minute on the subject, in which he

stated :
" In the earliest stage of the present dispute I avowed

my opinion that conquest in Burmah would be a calamity

second only to the calamity of war. That opinion remains

unchanged. If any adequate alternative for the confiscation

of territory could have been found by me, or had been sug-

gested to me, my mind would most readily have adopted it.

If conquest is contemplated by me now, it is not as a positive

good, but as the least of those evils before me, from which we
must necessarily select one. But, after constant and anxious
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reflection through the months during which hostilities have

been in progress, I can discover no escape from the necessity.

1 have been driven most reluctantly to the conclusion that no

measure will adequately meet the object which in my judgment
it is absolutely necessaiy to secure,

—the establishment of our

superiority now, and its maintenance hereafter,
—

except the

seizure and occupation of a portion of the territories of the

Burmah kingdom. In like manner as in 1826 it was felt to be

necessary to deprive the Burmese of the provinces of Tenas-

serim, Aracan, and Assam, so now, for stronger reasons, and

with better effect, the occupation of the province of Pegu

appears to me to be unavoidably demanded by sound views of

general policy." He then proceeded to enumerate the political

and commercial advantages which might be expected from the

annexation. The Court of Directors concurred with him in

thinking that extension of territory was not in itself desirable,

and that the annexation even of a province possessing so many
advantages as Pegu, was to be looked upon rather in the light

of a choice of evils than a positive and unmixed good.
" We

entirely agree with the Governor-General in his estimate of

the important bearing which the occupation of this fine pro «

vince with reference to its position, its climate, and its adapta-
tion in a commercial and maritime point of view to the

interests of this country, may have upon the security and

advancement of our Indian empire. We therefore convey to

you our authority, under the sanction of the Queen's Govern-

ment, to consider the permanent occupation of Pegu, and its

final annexation to the dominions of Her Majesty as the just

and necessary result of those military operations which you
have been driven to direct against the Burmese empire." A
Proclamation was accordingly issued on the 20th December,

declaring that in compensation for the past, and better security
for the future, the Governor-General in Council had resolved,

and hereby proclaims, that the province of Pegu is now and
shall be henceforth a portion of the British territories in the

East. Lord Dalhousie likewise drafted a treaty of peace and
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cession, which was to be conveyed to Ava by General Godwin
and Captain Phayre ; but before they took their departure, a

revolution occurred at the capital, the king was dethroned, and
his brother reigned in his stead. By him commissioners were

despatched to treat with the British authorities, but they were
unable to come to terms. The army was therefore broken up
without the conclusion of any treaty, which Lord Dalhousie

ceased to regret after he had been assured " that all Burmah
would consider it an absurdity to observe a treaty, if it could

be disregarded with profit."

Result of the
^ nas ^een *mV 0Dserve(i that the inhabitants

conquest, 1852- of Pegu annexed themselves to the Company's
dominions before Lord Dalhousie determined to

incorporate the province. For three quarters of a century

they had suffered the extremity of oppression from their Bur-

mese conquerors, and they hailed with rapture the prospect of

passing under British rule. Their expectations have not been

disappointed. Since the first establishment of the Company's

authority in the East, no province has ever exhibited so rapid

and extraordinary a development of prosperity. The staple

produce of the country is rice, the exportation of which was

little known under the Burmese Government, but has been

steadily on the increase under our flag ; the total exports of

this article from British Burmah, including the Aracan and

Tenasserim provinces, has reached the sum of two crores

and a- half of rupees a-year, of which one half comes back in

treasure. Its export and import trade has risen from a very

insignificant sum, to the almost incredible amount of nine

crores of rupees, or nine millions sterling a-year. Rangoon,
the Calcutta of the Irawaddy, which contained only a few thou-

sand inhabitants when Lord Dalhousie visited it in 1852 now

numbers 66,000. The old town was the grave of the army in

1824 ; the new town, laid out by our engineer officers, is one

of the most healthful in our Asiatic dominions. The great

want of the valley of the Irawaddy was population, which

had crumbled away under Burmese oppression. It has been
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gradually increasing, and the province of Pegu now contains

iilatioD little short of a million and a-half, while the fer-

tility of tlu> Boil would support ten times that number. The

entire population of British Burmah, according to the last

census, amounted to two millions and a quarter; and it is a

notable fact, that the quantity of British manufactures an-

nually absorbed by it exceeds a crore and a quarter of rupees;
one Burmese customer would thus appear to be more valuable

to the looms of England than four Bengalees. The system
of civil and criminal judicature and of police introduced into

the province is exactly adapted to the wants of the people,

simple and inexpensive in its character, and prompt and vigor-
ous in its operations. All those improvements, which, though

totally unknown in native states, follow as a matter of course

on the establishment of British rule—facilities of intercourse

by land and water, postal and telegraphic communication,

plans of education, sanitary rules and appliances
—have been

bestowed on the province in proi'vision, and one-fifth of the

revenue is devoted to public works. The people are happy
and contented, and have not the least desire for any change
in the Government. Indeed, so firmly seated is the British

authority in Pegu, that in 1857 it was considered perfectly

safe to leave it without European troops, which were with-

drawn to quell the mutinies in the older provinces. The

revenue has steadily increased without any undue pressure on

the people. When Mr. Cobden, soon after the conquest, pub-
lished a pamphlet to denounce its iniquity, Lord Dalhousie

remarked to a friend,
" the British nation will one day find that

Pegu pays, and the crime of having placed it under British

protection will be condoned." Whether the crime has been

condoned or not, is a matter of indifference ; but Pegu pays,
not only the whole of its civil list, which has been fixed with

a view to efficiency rather than economy, but the entire ex-

pense of its military establishment. The revenues amount to

a crore of rupees, the expenditure to about five per cent less.

The happiness which the people enjoy under our institutions
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is paid for by themselves, and the province is no burden on

the finances of India. It has been singularly fortunate ill

having, almost from the commencement of our rule, enjoyed
the services of Colonel—now Sir Arthur—Phayre, one of the

Company's great administrators. It is to his talent and energy
that the province owes the system of administration which

forms the basis of its prosperity. Equally free from the hauteur

of our national character, and from the pride of place, his inter-

course with all classes has been unrestrained and genial. The

people have come to regard him with the affectionate reve-

rence which is paid to a parent, and long will his name con-

tinue fresh and fragrant in their recollections.

TheSantai During the last year of Lord Dalhousie's ad-

Aneute, 1855.
ministration, the peace of Bengal was disturbed

by an outbreak of the Santals, the tribes inhabiting the hill

ranges of Rajmahl. They were the descendants of those

among whom Mr. Cleveland had laboured to introduce the

blessings of civilization, seventy years before. At a later

period, Mr. Pontet, the magistrate, a man of kindred bene-

volence, endeavoured with indefatigable zeal to implant habits

of agricultural industry among them. These half civilized

mountaineers were harassed, like the Coles in 1833, by the

processes and the bailiffs of the courts, and by the enforced

demands of Bengalee money-lenders who had found their way
among the villagers. They suddenly rose in rebellion in the

month of July, and armed with pickaxes and poisoned arrows,

poured down by thousands on the peaceful plains, spread-

ing desolation in all directions. Every European dwelling

within their reach was sacked, and seven Europeans were put

to death. Their course was marked by the blaze of villages,

and the inhabitants fled before them, as they had done a

century earlier from the Mahrattas. Nothing was less to

have been expected than such an insurrection in a district

where for seventy years the presence of a soldier had been

unnecessary. The Government was taken completely by

surprise ; the rains had set in with their usual violence, and



XL.] THE SANTALS OVERPOWERED. 377

no troops were available except the corps of hill rangers, com-

posed of men of the same tribe. They were driven back by the

insurgents, who also derived fresh courage by the slaughter
of an officer and twenty sepoys. It was on this occasion that

the military utility of the rail was for the first time exhibited,

by the conveyance of a body of troops in a few hours, who
saved the important station of Raneegunge from pillage,

and the surrounding country from devastation. The Gover-

nor-General was at Ootacamund, and the Governor of Bengal,
Mr. Ilalliday, was urgent for the proclamation of martial law,
but the scruples of the legislative member of Council delayed
the passing of the Act till the beginning of November. As
the cold season advanced troops were brought up from various

directions
; the rebels were hemmed in on every side, and

hunted through the country with as little tenderness as they
had shown to their victims ;

the cholera likewise made great
havoc among them. The rebellion was at length extinguished,
and the field force broken up, on the last day of the year. The
insurrection was not however without some countervailing

advantage. The same boon was conferred on the Santals

which had been bestowed on the Coles ; the district was con-

verted into a non-regulation province and placed in charge of

a Commissioner.

„ . . . .. Under the military division of Lord Dalhousie's
Mutinies in the J

Punjab, 1849— administration, it only remains to notice the acts

of insubordination manifested in the Punjab, as in

Sinde, from the withdrawal of extra allowances to the native

troops, when it became a British province. In July, 1849, the

men of the 13th and 22nd Native Infantry refused their curtailed

pay at first, but subsequently consented to accept it. Courts-

martial were held, and one native officer, and four men of the

13th, and an officer and six men of the 22nd were dismissed

the service, while seventeen of the delinquents in both regi-

ments were imprisoned for life. The next case of insubordina-

tion occurred in the 41st at Delhi, where, after the order of

reduction had been read, the men returned to their lines and
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piled arms, but refused to take off their accoutrements. The
Commander-in-chief happened to he on the spot at the time,

and sent to announce to the regiment that insubordination

would be punished by dismissal, after which, it marched off to

Mooltan, upon the reduced scale of pay. At Wuzeerabad, in

the Punjab, the sepoys of the 32nd hesitated to receive their

pay ; the first four who declined it were seized, tried, sentenced

to imprisonment, and marched off in irons in the presence of

the brigade, and not a man refused to accept it afterwards.

A native officer of this regiment was subsequently brought
to a court-martial for having concealed this feeling of insubor-

dination from his superiors, and five men were sentenced to

fourteen years imprisonment for having- fomented it. Sir Charles

Napier ordered their sentence to be revised, when they were

condemned to death, but he commuted the punishment to

transportation for life. The 66th marched from Lucknow to

Govindgur, but the commanding officer, from a feeling of

timidity, culpably neglected to explain the retrenchment of

pay to the regiment before it started, and contented himself

with announcing it to some of the native officers. It was for

the first time made known to the men on their arrival at the

fort on the 1st February, 1850, when they exhibited symptoms
of mutiny. One sepoy endeavoured to close the gate, but he

was felled to the ground by a blow from the sword of Lieu-

tenant Macdonald, and a small squadron of cavalry under

Colonel Bradford marched in and restored discipline. The

men piled arms, and quietly marched out at the command of

their Colonel. Their correspondence was seized at the post

office, but not a single expression of disaffection could be dis-

covered in it. Sir Henry Lawrence, the Chief Commissioner

in the Punjab, denied that there was any attempt to seize the

fort, or that a spirit of mutiny pervaded the corps, or the army,

although, as he admitted, there was a general feeling of disap-

pointment at being deprived of a high rate of pay, and partial

and individual mutiny. Sir Charles Napier took upon himself

to disband the regiment and replace it by a Ghoorka corps.
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This was the assumption of an authority which belonged
only to the Government, but, in the absence of the Governor-

:al, it was overlooked by the Vice-President in Council,

and (ho order was confirmed. But the interference of the

Commander-in-chief with the allowances of the native army,
was too grave to be overlooked. On the 15th August, 1845,

Lord Ilardinge had established the rule that, whenever the

price of provisions forming the aggregate of the sepoy's diet

exceeded three rupees and a-half a-month, the difference should

be made up to him in money. Sir Charles Napier declared the

rule to be unjust and impolitic, and ordered a previous scale of

compensation, which had been superseded, to be revived. The

benefit it gave to the sepoy did not exceed an ana a-month,

but it was an infringement of the constitutional prerogative of

the Government. Sir Charles endeavoured to justify this act by
the assertion that he was surrounded by a hostile population,

that the whole army of the Punjab, numbering 40,000 men,
was infected with a spirit of mutiny, that the empire was in

great peril, and that he was constrained to act with promptitude
and decision. Lord Dalhousie maintained that although mutiny
did exist, it was partial, inconsiderable in degree, and com-

prised only a few. He denied the existence of a spirit of

mutiny among 40,000 native sepoys in the Punjab, and quoted
a letter written by Sir Charles only four days before he penned
this sweeping condemnation, in which he affirmed that he had

seen most armies in the world, but had never seen a more

obedient and orderly army than that of India ; and in reference

to the mutiny, stated that he " would not allow a few malig-

nant and discontented scoundrels to disgrace their colours and

their regiments by an insolent attempt to dictate to the Govern-

ment what pay that Government should give its soldiers."

Lord Dalhousie officially informed him that " the Governor-

General in Council would not again permit the Commander-in-

chief, under any circumstances, to issue orders which should

change the pay and allowances of the troops serving in

India." Sir Charles immediately placed his resignation in the
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hands of the Ministry. The question was referred by them to

the Duke of Wellington, who had selected Sir Charles for the

command in India, and he performed what he called "the

painful task of reviewing the whole transaction
" with a stern

impartiality. He came to the conclusion that although there

were murmurings and complaints at Wuzeerabad, there was no

mutiny. There was no evidence that a general spirit of mu-

tiny pervaded 40,000 troops in the Punjab. The 66th having
mutinied at Govindgur, piled its arms under the orders of its

officers, was marched out, disbanded, and sent into the Com-

pany's provinces in this very month of January, 1850, with the

knowledge of the whole army, and there had not been a sign

of any movement in favour of the mutinous regiment. There

was no sufficient reason for suspending the rule of compensa-
tion of the 15th August, 1845. The Governor-General was

right, and did no more than his duty in expressing his disap-

probation of the act of the Commander-in-chief, and could not

with propriety have acted otherwise. This decision of the

great Duke settles the historical merits of the question.

CHAPTER XLL

LORD DALHOUSIE's ADMINISTRATION—TRANSACTIONS WITH

NATIVE PRINCES, 1848 1854.

Lord Dalhousie had not been four months in India before the

question of the succession to the raj of Sattara, a small prin-

cipality under the Bombay Presidency, with a revenue of

about fifteen lacs of rupees a-year, was brought before him.

The eventual absorption of this unit in the great Indian

empire was not, in itself, a matter of any political significance,

but it has acquired a degree of importance from the use which

has been made of it to denounce Lord Dalhousie's administra-

tion, for what has been designated "his policy of annexa-
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tion," of which this was the first instance. It derives still

higher importance from the fact that it was on this occasion

that the Court of Directors and the Board of Control enun-

ciated, for the guidance of the Government of India, their

decision regarding the rights connected with adoption in the

families of native princes.

origin of On the deposition of the Bajee Rao in 1817,
Sattara, 1818. Lorcl Hastings resolved to make a suitable pro-

vision for the family of Sevajee, the founder of the Maha-

ratta greatness, which had been deprived by the Peshwa of all

power, and held in durance upon a small pittance. His chief

object was " to conciliate the Maharatta tribes to the new
order of things, and to establish among them a counterpoise

to the remaining influence of the former brahminical govern-
ment." In the following year a treaty was concluded with

the raja, which recited that, in consideration of the antiquity
of his house, the British Government had determined to invest

him with a sovereignty sufficient for the maintenance of his

family in comfort and dignity. The territory of Sattara was
therefore ceded to him, his heirs and successors, in perpetual

sovereignty, to be held in subordinate co-operation with the

British Government. The restrictions imposed on him were

of the most stringent character. He was not only denied all

political power, but forbidden to hold any intercourse with

foreign potentates, even for the purpose of forming matrimo-

nial alliances, otherwise than through the Resident. The his-

torian of the Mahratta and Pindaree war, who was also the

political secretary to Government during this transaction,

records that the authority of the raja could never be looked

on as independent, and that his court differed little from the

pageant courts of Delhi, Moorshedabad, or Arcot. The raja him-

self considered that he was little better than " the manager
and farmer of a district,

"
and, soon after his accession, made

efforts to throw off these restrictions, and gradually proceeded
from one intrigue and one act of contumacy to another till, in

1839, the Government of India deemed it necessary to depose
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him. His brother was raised to the throne and administered

the country with great vigour and beneficence for ten years ;

he died on the 5th of April, 1848. He had repeatedly applied

for permission to adopt a son, but the Resident was constrained

to reply that it was beyond his province to grant it. Two days
before his death he again expressed his fervent hope that the

lad he might adopt would be recognized as his heir and suc-

cessor to the throne. Two hours before he breathed his last,

a boy whom he had not previously thought of, was brought
to him at hap-hazard ; the ceremonies of adoption were per-

formed, and a royal salute was fired. The adoption was com-

plete according to the rules of the Hindoo shasters, and

secured to the soul of the deceased prince in the next world

all those benefits which it would not otherwise have enjoyed.

The adopted son succeeded to all the personal property of

the raja, but it rested with the British Government to de-

termine whether he should succeed also to the sovereignty

of Sattara. Within a week of the decease of the raja, Sir

Opinion of Sir George Clerk, the Governor of Bombay, recorded

George cierk, a Minute, recommending that he should be ac-

knowledged as the raja. Sir George had long
been distinguished in India as the foremost champion of the

native chiefs, and was regarded as the most influential member

of that school of Indian politics which holds their interests to

be of paramount importance ;
his opinion in the present case,

therefore, renders it redundant to notice the Minutes of any
inferior pen, either in India or in England. He stated that

the treaty was one of perpetual friendship and alliance be-

tween the English Government and his Highness, his heirs

and successors. Such expressions ordinarily meant a sove-

reignty which should not lapse for want of heirs so long as

there was any one who could succeed, according to the usages
of the people to whom the treaty referred. The lad now

adopted was such a successor. Sir George admitted that the

sanction of the paramount state was by custom required to

render an adoption to a principality valid, and that in the
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time of our predecessors, this was made a source of profit to

the treasury.
" Can we here," he enquired,

u without injustice,

exercise that right of sanction, to the extent of prohibiting

adoption I The raja engaged, it is true, to hold his territory,

in subordinate co-operation with the British Government, but

there are many instances of states held subordinate to another

in all external relations, the duration of whose sovereignty it

was never supposed could be justly terminated by the supe-

rior state in default of direct heirs If it be inconsistent

with justice to refuse confirmation to the act of adoption, it

was useless to enquire whether it was better for the interests

of the people or the empire."

opinion of Mr. Sir George Clerk was succeeded in a few weeks
wiiioughhy,i848. bv Lor(1 Falkland, who concurred with the other

members of Council in taking a directly opposite view of the

case. The most important Minute recorded on this occasion

was that of Mr. Willoughby, in which all the stores of know-

ledge he had accumulated during a long period of service in

high political appointments were brought to the discussion,

and the question of adoption by native princes was examined

with great skill and impartiality. Of such importance did

Lord Dalhousie consider this dissertation as to pronounce it

the text book on adoption. Mr. Willoughby 's opinion in this

case carries greater weight from the circumstance that, on a

subsequent occasion, his views regarding the rights of one of

the rative princes were diametrically opposed to the decision

of the Governor-General. The establishment of the raj of

Sattara, he observed, was an act of spontaneous liberality on

the part of the British Government, which, in 1818, had as

much right to retain the Sattara territory as any of the othei

districts which belonged to the Peshwa. Whatever right the

raja possessed must be looked for in the treaty of 1819, under

which the state was created. That treaty conferred the

sovereignty on the raja and on his heirs and successors
; but,

in his judgment, it did not confer the right to create an heir

by adoption, on failure of natural heirs. Admitting, however,
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the reverse, for the sake of argument, to render the adoption

valid for succession to the state in such cases as Sattara, the

confirmation of the paramount authority in India was essential,

according to immemorial and almost universally admitted cus-

tom. The custom was, in fact, so ancient and so universal,

as to have all the effect of law. Of this the late raja was fully

conscious, and he invariably acknowledged that the adoption

could have no political value unless the sanction of the British

Government could be obtained. Mr. Willoughby then pro-

ceeded to state that he was no advocate for the extinction of

the native states by violent or unjust means ; but when they

fairly lapsed to us, as they would have done to the Govern-

ment which preceded us, he would not allow them to be

perpetuated by adoption, except under special circumstances.

The question now before the Council was whether, after the

lapse of thirty years, we were likely to obtain the same advan-

tages which were anticipated by Mr. Elphinstone, and whether

they were of sufficient moment to render it expedient that the

Sattara state should be reconstituted for the benefit of a boy
hitherto brought up in poverty and obscurity. Those who

regarded the native states as safety-valves for the discon-

tented, and for particular classes, for whom it was difficult to

find employment under our rule, would probably decide on re-

creating the state. Those, on the other hand, who coincided with

him in opinion, that British rule should on every fair occasion

be extended, under the opinion expressed by Mr. Macaulay,
that " no Government exists of which the intentions are purer,

or which on the whole has done more to extend civilization

^
and promote the happiness of the human race than the Com-

pany," would take an opposite view of the case, and deter-

mine, in virtue of our prerogative as lords paramount, not to

confirm the adoption,

x * r, 1V, •
.

The Minutes of Sir George Clerk, in favour of
Lord Dalhousie's ° '

researches, adoption, and of Lord Falkland and the two mem-
bers of the Bombay Council in opposition to it,

were submitted to Lord Dalhousie. The question was alto-
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got her new to him, and to assist his judgment, he called for

all the information which could be obtained from the public

records of the opinions of official functionaries, the instructions

received from the Court of Directors, and the precedents which

had been established, on the subject of adoption. He found

that four years before, on nominating a successor to the vacant

throne of Ilolkar, Lord Hardinge had distinctly informed him

that the chiefship should descend to the heirs male of his body

lawfully begotten, in due succession, from generation to

generation, to the entire exclusion of heirs by adoption. He
found that Sir James Carnac, the Governor of Bombay, who

described himself as " a strong and earnest advocate for up-

holding the native states of India," when employed in placing

the late raja on the Sattara throne, had recorded that he was

childless and, at his advanced period of life, was not likely

to have any children, and that as there was no other party

who could claim the succession by hereditary right, the Sattara

state would lapse to the British Government, unless, indeed,

it should be judged expedient to allow this* line of princes to

be continued by the Hindoo custom of adoption. He found that

Sir John Malcolm had stood alone in advocating the expediency

of giving the sanction of Government to adoptions, and that,

on the ground of making them a source of profit to the state.

His successor in the chair at Bombay had, however, taken a

different view of the question, and it was referred to the Court

of Directors. They had previously reminded the Government of

India that their sanction was requisite, not indeed to the

validity of an adoption, or to the enjoyment of the private

rights it conferred, but to enable the adopted son to succeed

to the chiefship. In reply to the reference they stated :

" We are unable to frame any more precise directions for your

guidance in such cases than that whenever it is optional with

you to give or withhold your consent to adoptions, that indul-

gence should be the exception, and not the rule ; and should

never be granted but as a special mark of favour and appro-

bation." The principle thus laid down by the public autho-

ni. 2 c
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rities in England was subsequently exemplified by refusing
to allow the chiefs of Mandave and Colaba the privilege of

adoption on the failure of natural heirs, and annexing their

territories, while they rewarded the chief of Sanglee for

his loyalty and attachment to the British Government, by
permitting him to perpetuate his sovereignty by this pro-
cess.

T . _ _ . , After a careful examination of these documents
Lord Dalhousie s

conclusions, and precedents, Lord Dalhousie came to the con-

clusion that as a general rule, established beyond
cavil and doubt, and sanctioned by the supreme authority in

the empire, it rested with the sovereign power, on the death of

the holder of a fief without issue, to permit its continuance by

adoption, or to annex it to the state
;
that adoption by such a

prince of any individual was valid as regarded his private pro-

perty or possessions, but insufficient to constitute him heir to

the principality, until it had been confirmed by the sovereign

authority. In the case of Sattara, the British Government pos-

sessed this absolute power to grant or to refuse adoption as the

creator of the raj in 1819. If the late raja had left an heir of

his own body, no question could have been entertained of the

perfect right of such an heir to succeed tj the throne; but the

death of his Highness without heirs natural, having rendered

the throne vacant","the territory should be held, according to

law and practice, to have lapsed to the paramount state. He
agreed with Mr. Willoughby regarding the policy of taking

advantage of every just opportunity which presented itself of

consolidating the territories that already belonged to us, and of

getting rid of those petty intervening principalities, which

might be a means of annoyance, but could never be a source of

strength. He remarked, that by incorporating Sattara with

our own possessions, we should acquire continuity of military

communications, increase of the resources of the state, and

uniformity of administration in matters of justice and revenue

over a large additional tract. He added,
" In my conscience,

I believe we should ensure to the population of the state a per-
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pctuity of that just and mild Government they have lately en-

]< >yed, but which they will hold by a poor and uncertain tenure,

if we resolve to continue the raj and to deliver it over to the

Government of a boy, brought up in obscurity, selected for

adoption almost by chance, and of whose character and quali-

ties nothing whatever was known to the raja who adopted
him."

Seven years before the question of Sattara was
General pnnci-

^ TL

pies of Lord Dai- presented to the Government of India, the Gover-

nor-General and his Council in Calcutta recorded

their unanimous opinion that "our policy should be to per-

severe in the one clear and direct course of abandoning no

just or honourable accession of territory or revenue, while all

existing claims of right are scrupulously respected." Lord

Dalhousie embraced the opportunity of the Sattara Minute to

record his entire concurrence in the views of his predecessor.
" It was his strong and deliberate opinion that in the exercise

of a sound and wise policy, the British Government is bound

not to put aside or to neglect such rightful opportunities of

acquiring territory or revenue as may from time to time pre-

sent themselves, whether they arise from the lapse of subordi-

nate states by the failure of all heirs of every description what-

ever, or from the failure of heirs natural, when the succession

can be sustained only by the sanction of the Government being

given to the ceremony of adoption according to Hindoo law.

The Government is bound on such occasions to act with the

purest integrity and the most scrupulous good faith. Wherever
a shadow of doubt can be shown, the claim should be at once

abandoned. But when the right to territory by lapse is clear,

the Government is bound to take that which is justly and

legally its due, and to extend to that territory the benefit of

our sovereignty, present and prospective." The most liberal

provision was made for the Sattara family. The ranees and

the adopted son were allowed to retain property to the extent

of sixteen lacs of rupees, and valuable landed estates, and like-

wise received an annual pension of a lac of rupees.

2 c 2
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_ . . ... The whole question was referred to the Court
Decision of the ^
home authorities, of Directors, together with the Minutes which had
1849

been recorded in Calcutta and Bombay. Sir George
Clerk had stated in his Minute that it would be convenient to

the Governments in India, and acceptable to the people, if the

"determination of the present question should lead to the

declaration of fixed principles for the regulation, under the

authority of the British Government, of successions in default

of heirs." The Court, with the concurrence of the Board of

Control, accordingly communicated for the guidance of the

Government of India, the fixed principle upon which all such

questions were to be decided, in the following clear and expli-

cit terms :
"
By the general law and custom of India, a de-

pendent principality like that of Sattara, cannot pass to an

adopted heir without the consent of the paramount power ; we
are under no pledge, direct or constructive, to give such con-

sent ;
and the general interests committed to our charge are

best consulted by withholding it." This memorable despatch
was dated the 24th January, 1849.

Bemr ;
death of Nearly five years elapsed without any occasion

the raja, 1853.
for tne application of the law of succession thus

laid down by the supreme authority of the empire, when the

raja of Jhansi died on the 21st November, 1853, and the raja

of Nagpore three weeks after. It has been stated in a

former chapter that the treachery of the raja Appa Sahib,

in 1817, and in the succeeding year, placed the state of Nag-

pore at the mercy of the British Government. Lord Hastings

generously restored it to the royal family and seated a youth

on the throne, placing him during his minority under the

guardianship of his mother, Baka bye, a woman of great

spirit and intelligence, and entrusting the administration to

Mr. Jenkins, the Resident. The raja died twenty-seven years

after, without any heir or successor, lineal, collateral, or

adopted. Mr. Mansell, the Resident at Nagpore, at the time of

his decease, had repeatedly pressed the subject of adopting a

son on his attention for two years, but he always manifested
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thf greatest aversion to the subject. Neither had his widow,

who, according to the usage peculiar to this state, enjoyed
the privilege of adoption without the injunction of her dying

husband, expressed any desire to take advantage of it. Mr.

ManseD, who was one of the advocates of perpetuating native

dynasties, recommended that the British Government should

appropriate half the public revenue to its own use, and place

the management of the state in the hands of Baka bye, then in

her seventy-fifth year. In case the selection of this lady

should not be approved by the Governor-General, he men-

tioned the names of " two other pretenders to the throne,"

one of whom " had a delicate constitution, but had not suf-

fered from any serious illness for the last three years ;

"
the

other was " a violent and dissipated youth." Lord Dalhousie

recorded an elaborate Minute on the subject, in which he dis-

cussed it on the ground of right, and of expediency. He observed

that there existed no person whatever, who, either by virtue

of treaty, or by the custom of the Bhonslay family, or accord-

ing to Hindoo law, or the Mahratta interpretation of that

law. could claim to be the heir and successor of the deceased

raja.
" We have not now to decide any question which turns

upon the right of a paramount power to refuse confirmation

to an adoption by an inferior. We have before us no question

of an inchoate, or incomplete, or irregular adoption, for the

raja has died, and has deliberately abstained from adopting

an heir. The state of Nagpore, conferred on the raja and his

heirs in 1818 by the British Government has reverted to it on

the death of the raja without any heir. The case of Nagpore
stands wholly without example. Justice and custom and

precedent leave the Government wholly unfettered to decide

as it thinks best. Policy alone must determine the question

whether the sovereignty of the state which was conferred on

a Goojur in 1818 shall be conferred on somebody else as a gift

a second time." The conclusion to which he came was that

the gratuitous alienation of the state of Nagpore in favour of a

Mahratta youth, was called for by no obligation of justice or
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equity, and was forbidden by every consideration of sound

policy.

British and
^n *ne (lues^on °f expediency he contrasted the

native adminis- condition of the country for eight years under the
'

administration of Mr. Jenkins with its subsequent
condition under the raja. Colonel Sutherland, whose long

experience and connection with native states, made his

testimony of peculiar value, had left on record that the name
of Mr. Jenkins—Dunkin sahib—was never mentioned by the

people without affection, and would be handed down to pos-

terity as that of a great benefactor, and that under his ad-

ministration the country had become a garden. On the other

hand, Mr. Mansell described the late raja as "absorbed

in the society of low followers, in the sports of wrestling

and kite-flying, in cards, singing, and dancing, and in

the vulgar conversation and mean pursuits of his dancing

girls." Eight years before his death, one of his concubines

had brought him to a confirmed habit of drinking, and

this vice alone, against which the Resident had repeatedly

remonstrated, was sufficient to disqualify him for the govern-
ment. He manifested an invincible distaste for business, and

never left the zenana without reluctance. His chief object

was to fill the privy purse from bribes, fines, confiscations,

and compositions. He was completely in the hands of the

most unprincipled favourites, who put up justice to sale, and

plundered the country. He contented himself with signing

and sealing documents which awarded decisions to those who

payed best ; and "
all his thoughts and actions resembled

those of a village chandler."

Anxiety of the It was no matter of surprise that the people
people for the

ghoui
(j ion „. for the halcyon days of British rule.

British rule,
° J J

1837—1853. Mr. Cavendish, the Resident 'in 1837, had affirmed

that while any questioning of the right of adoption at

Gwalior, Hyderabad, and Lucknow, would be improper, be-

cause those territories were not bestowed on the present or

former rulers by the British Government, Nagpore, Sattara,
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and Mysore were created by the Tlon. Company, and none but

a descendant of the grantee could advance any claim to the

succession according to the law of the land. He asserted that

all the agriculturists, bankers, and shopkeepers would prefer

the British rule to that of any native government, and hail

with joy the return of their former masters; he therefore

recommended the annexation of the country. His successor,

Major Wilkinson, who had always upheld the cause of native

princes, asserted, on the contrary, that Nagpore stood pre-

cisely in the same position as Gwalior, and advised that per-

mission should be given to the raja to adopt a son ; but, with

an amiable candour, acknowledged that the course proposed

by Mr. Cavendish would be most beneficial and gratifying to

the mass of the population, who desired nothing so much as

to be placed under the British Government; and this, he

remarked, "was not a mere idle wish for change, inasmuch as

they had experienced the blessings of the rule of British officers.

The only people who would regret a change, were a few

favourites about the Court and iheir followers." Mr. Mansell,

who advocated the continuance of a native government, be-

cause, among other benefits, it would conciliate the prejudices

of the native aristocracy, stated that "
if the public voice were

polled, it would be greatly in favour of escaping from the

chance of a rule like that of the late chief in his latter years."

LordDHihousie's
0n a review of this body of evidence supplied

conclusions, 1858. through a period of twenty-five years, by a

succession of officers, who differed from each other in political

opinions, Lord Dalhousie came to the conclusion that the in-

terest and happiness of the people forbade the Biitish Govern-

ment to bestow the sovereignty of Nagpore afresh on a native

ruler. He then passed in review the repeated failures which
had attended the experiment of setting up native sovereigns
to govern territories we had acquired by the issue of Avar.
" We set up a raja at Mysore ; and we have long since been

obliged to assume the direct management of the country, and

to take out of the raja's hands the power which he was found
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unfit to wield. We set up a raja at Sattara, and twenty years
afterwards we were obliged to dethrone and exile him. We
set up a raja at Nagpore ; we afforded him every advantage
a native prince could command ; an able and experienced

princess was his guardian and the regent of the state. So

favoured, so aided, he has, nevertheless, lived and died a

seller of justice, a miser, a drunkard, and a debauchee." He
said he was well aware that the continuance of the raj of

Nagpore under some Mahratta rule, as an act of grace and

favour on the part of the British Government, would be highly

acceptable to native sovereigns and nobles in India; but
" I place the interests of the people of Nagpore foremost

among the considerations which induce me to advise that

the state should now pass under British Government, for I

conscientiously declare, that unless I believed that the pros-

perity and happiness of its inhabitants would be promoted by
their being placed permanently under British rule, no other

advantages which could arise out of the measure, would move

me to propose it." He then touched on the benefits which

might accrue from the annexation. The essential interests of

England would be promoted if the great cotton fields in the

valley of Berai were placed under British management, and

a railroad constructed to convey its produce to the port of

Bombay ; the dominions of the Nizam would be surrounded

by British territory ; a direct line of communication would be

established between Bombay and Calcutta, and the British

empire materially consolidated.

Minutes of Uf the three members of Council the proposal
colonel Low and f ij0rci Dalhousie was controverted by only one,
Mr. Halliday,

1853. Colonel—now Sir John—Low. He had been em-

ployed for thirty years in political posts of the highest import-
ance in various parts of India, and acquired a large fund of

experience, which gave no ordinary weight to his political

opinions. He was distinguished by the amiability of his dis-

position ;
and his long intercourse with the native princes and

chiefs had created a benevolent sympathy with their feelings
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and wishes, which it was impossible not to respect, even

when it appeared occasionally to be carried to excess. It was

his opinion that as there was no limitation in the treaty, the

late raja was placed in the same position as Appa Sahib before

he made war on the Government, and when he occupied the

tin. me by hereditary right; that the raja possessed the same

power and authority as any other independent prince; and

that the annexation of the territory would contravene the

spirit as well as the letter of the treaty. He admitted that

the great mass of the people ought to be grateful for the

system of government projected for them by the Governor-

General, and would certainly be better governed than under

the late raja, but the men of high rank and influence would be

less contented. He considered that we had no right to hinder

the widows and relatives from settling the succession to the

vacant throne according to their customs and wishes, and that

they and the principal men ought to be invited to state their

claims openly. He believed that the confidence of our native

allies in our good faith had been shaken by the conquest and

occupation of Sinde, by our attack on Gwalior, and by the

annexation of Sattara ; and that the incorporation of Nagpore
would fill them with a dread of what might happen on their

own death. Mr. Halliday, also a member of Council, affirmed

that on the question of right there could be no difference of

opinion, and he proceeded to say,
" Here is a territory actually

without a claimant, a territory full of available resources of

a kind important to the Government of India, and still more so

to the people of England; a territory whose teeming popu-
lation is avowedly hoping, praying, expecting to be taken

under our Government, as no imaginary blessing, but as a

boon of which, having full experience, they know and appre-

ciate the value ; and at such a juncture, we, forsooth, are to

be deaf to their call, and deaf also to the claims of our own

countrymen, and leave the widows and relatives and prin-

cipal men to settle this affair
; or, still more, to invite and

solicit them to take some spoilt boy from a nursery, or some
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obscure and uneducated youth from a village, and place again
in such hands the rod of iron with which the late raja had so

scourged the nationality out of his unfortunate subjects, that

they are now impatient for the rule of the stranger rather

than suffer such another tyranny. We are to give this right

of succession as a thing of little worth to some ' son of a

daughter of a sister of the adoptive father of the late raja,'

or to some * son of a son of a sister of the adoptive grand-
father of the late raja,' for such is the designation of the

relationship to the raja of the two youths suggested by the

Resident, of whom he says one is a dissipated and violent

youth, while the best he can say of the other is that he has

not suffered from any serious illness for the last three years."

The Court of Directors, on receiving infor-
Decision of the

Court of Direc- mation that the Government of India, acting on
tors, j 854. ^e mstructjons conveyed in their despatch of

the 24th January, 1849, had annexed the territory, expressed
their entire concurrence in its views and proceedings. They
remarked that Nagpore was a principality granted, after con-

quest, by the favour of the British Government to the late

raja, ou hereditary tenure. He had left no heir of his body ;

there was no male heir who, by family or hereditary right

could claim to succeed him
;
he adopted no son

;
there was not

in existence any person descended in the male line from the

founder of the dynasty ; and they had no doubt of their right

to resume the grant. As to the policy of resumption, they

agreed with the Governor-General that regard for the in-

terest of the people themselves who had suffered under

Mahratta rule, and prospered under British administration,

forbade the maintenance of the sovereignty of Nagpore, now
that it was at the free disposal of the British Government,

sale of Property,
With regard to tbe property of the late raja,

1854. Lord Dalhousie stated that although he con-

sidered it to be fairly at the disposal of Government, he

desiied that it should neither be alienated from the family,

nor given up to be squandered by the ranees. He directed
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thai jewels, furniture, and other personal property suitable to

their rank ha vino; been allotted to them, the value of the

remainder should be realized, and constitute a fund for "the

benefit of the Bhonslay family." The ranees resolutely re-

sisted the surrender of the gold mohurs which were deposited

in their private apartments, and the Governor-General con-

sidered it desirable rather to fail in obtaining them than to

force an entrance for that purpose. The live stock was at

once sold off at Nagpore, and the jewels and other articles

of value were sent round to Calcutta to be put up to auction.

There can be little doubt that this mode of disposing of the

jewels and gems which had been accumulated by that royal

house for more than a century, by the hammer of the auc-

tioneer, was revolting to the feelings of the native community,
and open to all the censure which has been passed on it

; but

the proceeds, amounting to twenty lacs of rupees, were consi-

dered a sacred deposit for the use of the family. According to

the most recent reports from the province, one-fourth of the

entire revenue of the country still continues to be devoted to

the support of the royal family and its retainers and depen-

dents, notwithstanding the death of some of the annuitants.

The raia of Jhansi died on the 11th November,
Jhansi, 1854.

~
. . ....

and the question of the succession to this princi-

pality was brought before the Government of India. To revert

to its former history : On the first connection of the Govern-

ment with Bundlecund, in 1804, a treaty was concluded with

Sheo Rao Bhao, a tributary of the Peshwa, who is described

in some documents as an aumil, or governor of this small ter-

ritory ;
in others, as simply the collector. All the rights of the

Peshwa in the province were ceded to the Company in 1817,

and the Governor-General, adverting to the fidelity and the

attachment of the family to British interests "resolved to de-

clare the territory to be hereditary in the family of the late

Sheo Rao Bhao." A treaty was concluded with his grand-

son, Rao Ramchunder, and his heirs and successors ;
and the

title of raja was conferred on him in 1832. He died in 1835,
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having adopted a son the daj
T before his death; but Sir

Charles Metcalfe, then Governor of Agra, refused to acknow-

ledge his right to bequeath the sovereignty by adoption, and

placed the lawful heir descended from Sheo Rao Bhao on the

throne, though a leper. He died in 1838, and was succeeded

by Gungadhur Rao, the only surviving son of Sheo Rao

Bhao, under whose mismanagement the revenues, which had

once amounted to eighteen lacs of rupees, dwindled down to

three. Gungadhur died in 1853, and in like manner adopted a

son on his death-bed, and thus secured all the spiritual benefits

which depended on that rite ; but his widow, a woman of no

ordinary talent and of high spirit, undeterred by the previous

refusal of the British Government to admit of succession to the

kingdom by adoption, demanded the sovereignty also for the

lad. Lord Dalhousie, before he formed any opinion on the sub-

ject, referred to the Minute recorded by Sir Charles Metcalfe,

as Governor of Agra, which was universally considered a con-

clusive authority on the law of succession in Bundlecund. Sir

Charles was known to be favourable to the maintenance of

native thrones and to the principle of adoption, but in reference

to that particular province stated, "With regard to chiefs who

merely hold lands, or enjoy public revenues under grants, such

as are issued by a sovereign to a subject, the power which

made the grant, or which by conquest or otherwise had suc-

ceeded to its rights, is certainly entitled to limit succession

according to the limitation of the grant, which in general con-

fines it to heirs male of the body, and consequently precludes

adoption. In such cases, therefore, the power which granted
or the power standing in its place, would have a right to

resume on failure of heirs male of the body." Jhansi was

one of these principalities. Gungadhur Rao had left no heir

of his body. There was no male heir of Rao Ramchunder, or

of Sheo Rao Bhao, or indeed of any raja or soobadar who had

ruled it since the first relations of the Company with the state.

Lord Dalhousie, therefore, came to the inevitable conclusion

that the right of the British Government to refuse to acknow-
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t6dge the present adoption, was placed beyond all doubt, by
the existence of precedents, by the general law of succession

est ablished by the home Government in their despatch of the

24th January, 1849, and by the lex loci of the province, as

expounded by Sir Charles Metcalfe. He added, that the

British Government would not derive any practical advantage
from the possession of this territory, as it was of no great

extent, and the revenue was inconsiderable ; but the posses-

sion of it as our own would tend to the improvement of the

general internal administration of Bundlecund. Colonel Low,
who had a fortnight before vigorously opposed the annexation

of Nagpore, recorded his entire concurrence in the opinion of

Lord Dalhousie, and added :
" The native rulers of Jhansi

were never sovereigns ; they were only subjects of a sovereign,

first of the Peshwa, and latterly of the Company. ... I con-

sider that the Government of India has now a full right, if it

chooses to exercise that right, to annex the lands of Jhansi to

the British dominions." The Court of Directors decided that,

as the state of Jhansi was a tributary and dependent province,

created by the British Government, the adoption should not

be recognized as conferring any right to succeed to the rule

of the principality ; and as the chief had left no descendants

and no descendants of any preceding chief were in existence,

the state had lapsed to the British Government. Three years

afterwards, on the outbreak of the mutiny and the extinction

of British authority in the north-west, the ranee took a fearful

revenge for her disappointment, and put to death every Euro-

pean man, woman, and child she could seize.

These are the three cases of absorption by lapseEnumeration * i

of annexations, which constitute the " annexation policy" of Lord

Dalhousie. In annexing the remainder of the

Punjab, he followed the example of Lord Hardinge, who

had previously annexed two of its provinces ;
in both cases it

was the necessary result of a war brought on by unprovoked

aggression. The retention of Pegu was only a continuation

of the policy of Lord Amherst, who had deprived the " Golden-
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foot" of three provinces, thirty-six years before. In each

case, the act was admitted to be a just and legitimate retribu-

tion for the arrogant encroachments of the court of Ava. The

sovereignty of Oude was extinguished under special orders

from home, contrary to the advice of Lord Dalhousie. He has

been censured for having coveted the annexation of Kerowlee,
which is said to have been rescued from his grasp by the

firmness of the Resident, Colonel Low, and of the Court of

Directors. A passing notice of the transaction may be useful

in the interests of truth. Kerowlee was a small Rajpoot

principality, the raja of which adopted a son just before his

death. Colonel Low, the Resident, recommended that the

adoption should be recognized. Sir Frederick Currie, one of

the members of Council, recorded the same opinion in a

Minute in which he pointed out the essential distinction be-

tween the ancient principalities of Rajpootana and a state

like that of Sattara,
" the offspring of our gratuitous benevo-

lence," where we resumed only what we had bestowed. Lord

Dalhousie drew up a fair and impartial statement of the argu-
ments on both sides the question, and concluded with the

remark that, taking into consideration that British supremacy
was established in Kerowlee in 1817, the arguments in favour

of causing it to lapse, appeared to him to preponderate ; but

he referred the question to the Court of Directors. They
decided that their despatch of the 24th January, 1849, had

reference only to a "dependent principality" like Sattara,

and not to the case of a "
protected ally

"
like the raja of

Kerowlee. Sumbulpore has also been inserted in the schedule

of annexations, but the raja was simply a zemindar, with

whom there never was any treaty at all, and who in February,

1827, signed a document in which he acknowledged that " he

had been vested with authority from the Government to ad-

minister justice, and to conduct the police duties within the

limits of his estate." On his death, the office was conferred

on a second raja, probably a member of his family, and

eventually reverted to Government. Sumbulpore was an
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extensive region in the centre of India, thinly inhabited by
wild tribes, scarcely less barbarous than they were when the

hero of the Ramayun marched through it on his expedition to

Ceylon, and recruited his army, according to the epic, with

monkeys. Brahmins and rajpoots had contrived to establish

their authority in it, but it was a land of forests and swamps,
and withal so pestiferous that an appointment to it was

dreaded by the European officers of Government like a sen-

tence of death. The revenue amounted to 6,000 rupees a

month, and there was little temptation to annex it. Minor

estates were also from time to time escheating to the state;

but the three acts on which the administration of Lord Dal-

housie has been assailed by his censors, are, the annexation of

Battara, Nagpore, and Jhansi, by the "dread and appalling

doctrine of lapse." His conduct has been described as resem-

bling
" the acts of brigands counting out their spoil in a wood,

rather than the acts of British statesmanship," and he has

been pronounced to be the " worst and basest of rulers."

i -tont of Lord
^° ^orm a correc* judgment on this subject, it

Duiiiousie's re- must be recalled to mind that this " annexation
Bponsibility,1S55-

policy," as it has been somewhat insidiously

termed, was neither created nor enlarged by Lord Dalhousie.

On the first occasion on which the question of lapse came

before him, h9 found the principle of annexation supported by
all the members of Council in Calcutta and Bombay, with the

exception of Sir George Clerk, and, on the ground that it was

in accordance with the immemorial law and usage of India. He
found also that it harmonized with the practice which had

received the sanction of the Court of Directors and the Board

of Control. That it was in unison also with his own views

of public policy he fully admitted ; but he refrained from

acting upon it till a reference had been made to England, and

until a declaration of the " fixed principle" which was in future

to guide the proceedings of the Government of I ia on this

important question, was received from the highest authority in

the empire. If any censure is to be attached to the adoption
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of this policy, a much larger share of it would, upon every

principle of justice, fall on the masters than on the servant.

It has been asserted that these annexations created alarm

among all the princes of India, and shook their feeling of

loyalty to the Company ; but it appears to be forgotten that

the application of this law of succession was confined to ex-

tremely narrow limits. It did not affect any of the Mahome-
dan princes of India; and the Court of Directors and Lord

Dalhousie explicitly declared that it was applicable exclusively

to those subordinate and dependent principalities which had

been created by the "
spontaneous generosity

"
of the British

Government, and not to any of the independent sovereigns.

It was, in fact, restricted to the states of Mysore, Sattara,

Nagpore, and Jhansi, and possibly to one or two others of

minor account. If any alarm had arisen in the minds of the

independent princes, a few words of explanation from the

Resident would have been sufficient to dispel it.

opposition to an- The principle of refusing to allow these depen-
nexation, 1855. aent states which had lapsed by the failure of

natural heirs to be continued by adoption, was vigorously com-

bated by a considerable body of the European functionaries of

Government. Ever since the days of Edmund Burke, who
has been justly described as a worshipper of ancient dynasties,

there has always been a succession of men in the Direction at

home, and in the public service abroad, prepared to advocate

the cause of native princes as princes, without any particular

reference to the merits or demerits of their government.

Among them may be enumerated some of the most eminent

men connected with the administration,
—Tucker, Malcolm,

Henry Lawrence, Clerk, Outram, Sleeman, Low,—all animated

with an honourable and chivalrous feeling of respect for the

royal families of India. Considering the inevitable tendency
of our progress to level them, it is an honour to our national

character that there should be men in authority eager to

defend their interests ;
and it is impossible not to admire the

feeling even when it may appear to interfere with interests
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of a higher character. On the other hand, there has alwaj's

ed a body of public men at home and in India, equally

eminent and high-minded, who consider British rule an in-

estimable blessing to the people, and are anxious to substitute

it for native administrations, wherever this can be effected with

a scrupulous regard to the claims of justice and equity. The

feelings of one party incline to the wishes and suscep-

tibilities of the princes of India ; those of the other to the

interests of the people. The opinions of both are equally

entitled to respect, and nothing can be more preposterous than

to introduce into the controversy a charge of indifference to

national faith. These antagonistic principles have been alter-

nately in the ascendant, and they will probably continue, in

turns, to sway our counsels, till the British empire in India

reaches the same point of consolidation as that of Rome under

the Caesars, and these independent principalities expire from

the extinction of every element of vitality, and the princes

themselves subside into the position of grandees.

Two arguments have been adduced for permit-
Arguments for

.

r

permitting ting these subordinate and dependent states to be
adoption, 1855.

perpetuated by adoption. A native administra-

tion is said to be- more beneficial to the people than any we
can construct, and more congenial with their wishes. Theru

are doubtless many provinces within the wide circuit of our

empire where it would be more adapted to the wishes of

certain classes than a government of foreigners. If, as has

been asserted, our Government is the purgatory of the upper
ten thousand, it is still the paradise of the million. But the

allegation that native rule is more advantageous to the general
interests of the country, or of the people, is contrary to all the

lessons of the past. Even when a minor prince has enjoyed
all the benefit of careful training under our own auspices,
for one instance in which he has proved a beneficent ruler,

• are half-a-dozen in which he has sunk into the sen-

sualities of the zenana, and abandoned all care of his people.
Well has it been observed that " the education which tells on

in. 2 d
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kings, like the education that tells on all public men, is the

education of the world," and not of the school room. If,

moreover, a government with the purest intentions, and acting

under a sense of severe responsibility, cannot promote the pros-

perity of a province more effectually than such rulers as the

rajas of Mysore or of Nagpore, or the king of Oude, we can

have no business in India. The other argument advanced for

the perpetuation of lapsed kingdoms, is the opportunity it affords

of employment for native talent, which does not exist under

our rule. It carries much weight ; it will be readily admitted

that this has been the opprobrium of our administration ever

since the days of Lord Cornwallis. Under the government of

his predecessor, Mr. Hastings, the native fouzdar or commis-

sioner of Hooghly received an allowance of 7,000 rupees

a-month. Lord Cornwallis declared the natives unfit for any
situations of trust, and reduced the salary of the best paid

among them to 50 rupees. The empire of Akbar rose as rapidly

as our own, but as he subjugated province after province, he

enlisted the nobles and the aristocracy in his own service, and

they became the firmest supporters of his throne. But with

the progress of our empire a blight comes over the prospects

of the higher and more influential classes of native society ;

there is no room for their aspirations in our system of Govern-

ment, and they sink down to one dead level of depression in

their own land. The remed}' for this error is to be found,

not in perpetuating the power, so constantly abused, of native

princes, simply on the ground of finding employment for

native intelligence and ambition, but in incorporating these

qualities in our own administration, with all necessary safe-

guards against the defects of the oriental character, and thus

to combine the gratification of the upper classes with the

welfare of the lower.

It was during the administration of Lord Dal-
Nabob of the hous ie> and with his concurrence, that the dignity
Carnatic; pre-

° ^

vious history, and privileges of the Nabobs of the Carnatic be-

came extinct. The proceedings of Lord Weliesley
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'ling the Carnatic have been circumstantially detailed in

a former chapter, and it is only necessary to recall to the

memory of the reader that in consequence of the treasonable

correspondence of the Nabob Mahomed Ali, and his son, with

Tippoo Sultan, which was discovered in 1801, the Governor-

ral declared all the treaties made with the Nabob by the

British Government null and void, and all the right and claim

of the family to the musnud of the Carnatic annihilated.

Lord Wellesley was disposed at first to abolish the nabobship

altogether, but he eventually resolved to place one of the

family on the throne with a liberal allowance. This arrange-

ment was reduced to the form of a treaty which, as originally

drawn up at Madras, contained expressions which implied

that the British Government was simply recognizing a right

already in existence, and not conferring a new right, but these

words were, at once, struck out by Lord Wellesley, who ex-

plicitly declared that the Nabob owed his elevation, not to any

existing right, for it had been entirely forfeited, but to the

generosity and liberality of the British Government. The

treaty stated that the allowance made to the Nabob of

213,421 pagodas a-year should be considered a permanent
deduction in all times to come from the revenues of the

Carnatic. But Lord Wellesley, expressly and intentionally

excluded from this document, as he had done from that which

related to Mysore, the words heirs and successors, which were

invariably inserted by him in the treaties made with the

independent princes of India. It was always understood at

Madras and Calcutta that Lord Wellesley did not, in this case,

contemplate a treaty such as is usually executed between parties

who are in a position of equality but simply a personal settle-

ment with one who was in a subordinate position. The Nabob

enjoyed a titular dignity, but was obliged to reside in Chepauk

Palace, under the guns of Fort St. George, and he was not

allowed to travel to any distance without permission. He
received royal salutes, and he was placed above law, but

being without duties or responsibilities, he passed his life in

2 d 2
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debauchery, and the palace became the pest of the Presidency.

The Nabob died in 1819, and the Government of Madras

placed his son on the throne. On his death in 1825, Sir

Thomas Munro continued his infant son in the nabobship, but

he died childless in 1853, when his uncle, Azim Jah, laid

claim to the prerogatives and the allowances of the post, as

his collateral heir.

Lord Harris, the Governor of Madras, recorded

opinion of the an eiaborate Minute on the subject, which became
Governor and J 7

council of the basis of subsequent arrangements. He did

not consider that the Company was bound by any
act or deed to maintain the hereditary succession of the Nabobs

of the Carnatic, as long as the family continued to exist. On
the death of the Nabob in 1819, the Government of Madras

had pointed out to the Governor-General that they were not

authorized by the terms of the treaty to acknowledge any suc-

cessor. Though the musnud had been allowed to descend in

two instances in regular succession from father to son, this

circumstance did not bind the Government to continue it when
that succession had failed, as in the present instance. He

objected, likewise, to the perpetuation of the nabobship, on

the ground of expediency. The semblance of royalty with-

out any of its power was a mockery of authority which must

necessarily be pernicious. It was not merely anomalous, but

prejudicial to the community that a separate authority, not

amenable to the laws, should be permitted to exist. This

pageant, though hitherto harmless, might at any time become
a nucleus of sedition and agitation. Moreover, the habits of

life, and the course of proceeding of the Nabobs had been

morally most injurious, and tended to bring high station into

disrepute, and favoured the accumulation of an idle and dissi-

pated population in the chief city of the Presidency. He
recommended that the royal privileges and immunities hitherto

conceded to the Arcot family should cease, that a handsome
allowance should be given to Azim Jah, that Government

should undertake to settle his debts, and that the salaries of
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the principal officers should be continued for their lives. Sir

II (Miry Montgomery, the member of Council at Madras,

seconded these views, and stated in his Minute that the

affairs of the Nabob were irretrievably embarrassed ; that his

palace was mortgaged, and that his debts were computed at

fifty lacs of rupees, for the payment of which the creditors

were importunate. Those who were responsible for the

peace and the welfare of Madras were unquestionably the best

judges of what was necessary to secure it, and the opinions

thus expressed by them of the importance of extinguish-

ing the noxious influence of Chepauk Palace, could not

fail to carry weight with the Government in Calcutta and in

England.

opinion of Lord ^ord Dalhousie, who happened at the time to

Painousie, 1853. fa a^ Madras on his way to Rangoon, recorded

his entire concurrence in the arguments and conclusions of the

Governor and Council. On his return to Calcutta he embodied

his views in a Minute, in which he stated that he agreed with

Lord Harris and the members of the Government of Madras

in holding that the treaty of 1801 was a purely personal

settlement concluded between the Company on the one part,

and the Nabob Azim-ood-dowlah on the other, without any
mention of heirs or successors. The strongest point in the

claim of Azim Jah, he said, was that the Court of Directors

had, in more than one despatch, alluded to him as the heir

of his ucp'iew, but no attempt need be made to evade these

allusions, or to weaken the full force of their meaning. They

may be readily admitted to indicate an expectation on the part

of the British Government that, if Mahomed Ghouse should

die without children, his uncle Azim Jah would be allowed

to succeed him
;
but to indicate an expectation, or even an

intention, was not to recognize or confer a right. These

words contained no pledge or promise of the succession
; and

there had subsequently been too much reason to forego any
such intention regardiug the claimant or his family. The

Decision of the Court of Directors with whom the settlement of
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Court, 1853. the question rested, deemed it expedient to notice

the expressions upon which Azim Jah had laid so much stress,

of his having been alluded to in a letter addressed to Madras,

thirty-six years before, as the " next heir." They observed

that the question then before them was not the succession to

the musnud, but the appointment of a physician to the young
Nabob. As nearest of kin they had spoken of him as heir to

whatever could be legally derived by inheritance. After " that

earnest deliberation which was due to all questions which

could be supposed to involve considerations of public faith," the

Court came to the conclusion that the rights of the family were

derived from the treaty of 1801, and necessarily limited by its

terms, which were exclusively personal to Azim-ood-dowlah ;

that there was no obligation on the British Government to

continue the provisions of the treaty in favour of any collateral

heirs, and that it would be highly inexpedient to do so. " The

title and dignity of Nabob and all the advantages annexed to

it by the treaty of 1801 are therefore at an end." A liberal

allowance was made to Azim Jah, besides a suitable provision

for the dependents of the family, and he was recognized as

the first nobleman in the Presidency of Madras, and allowed

to maintain a military guard.

The Nizam and The vexatious question of the Hyderabad Con-
Berar, 1853.

tingent was brought to a satisfactory conclusion

under Lord Dalhousie's administration, by the transfer of

Berar to the management of British officers. To trace this

transaction to its origin, it is necessary to observe that by
the treaty of 1801 the Nizam was bound to join the British

army, in time of war, with 6,000 infantry and 9,000 horse.

These troops, however, were found to be worse than useless

in the field, and the Resident, Mr. Russell, was urged by the

Court of Directors to obtain the consent of the Nizam and his

minister, Chundoo-lall, to substitute for them a British Contin-

gent of 5,000 infantry, 2,000 cavalry, and four field batteries.

In a former chapter, special reference has been made to this effi-

cient but expensive force, which was over-officered and over-
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paid, and severely taxed the resources of the Hyderabad state.

Its allowances had repeatedly falien into arrears, and the Govern-

ment of India, considering itself bound to ensure the payment
of a, force enlisted tinder its guarantee, directed the necessary

funds to be advanced from the Resident's chest, and they were

acknowledged by the Nizam as a debt due with interest to

the Company. In 1843, the Resident was again required to

make advances, when he was instructed by the Government

of India to inform the Nizam that, unless he observed greater

punctuality in future, he would be called on to transfer to the

G)vernment territory of sufficient value to meet these periodical

demands. Small sums were, from time to time, doled out in

cHblets, from the Nizam's treasury, but not sufficient to cover

tie pay of the Contingent, or to keep down the interest of

tie debt. The Resident had repeatedly remonstrated with

him on the deplorable state of his affairs. The territory of

Hyderabad was sufficiently productive to provide for all the

demands of the administration, and to maintain the court in

affluence and splendour ; but it was impossible to prevail on

the Nizam to attend to public business, and he had for a long
time left the Government without a responsible minister. The

hordes of foreign mercenaries he persisted in maintaining, to the

number of more than 40,000, devoured his revenues, oppressed

his people, and even held his own sovereign power in check.

Lord Dalhousie was determined that this unsatisfactory state

of things should not be allowed to continue, and he brought
his clear head, practical judgment, and resolute will to the

solution of the difficulty.

In August, 1849, he directed the Resident to
Lord Dalhousie'a ° 7

movements, intimate that arrangements must be made to
1849'

liquidate the debt by the 31st December, 1850.

This communication produced no result. At the appointed

peril )d, not only had no attempt been made to cope with the

debt, but it was augmented to seventy lacs by fresh advances

on account of the Contingent. Accordingly, in May, 1851,

Lord Dalhousie addressed a letter to the Nizam desiring him
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to make over certain districts, specified in a schedule, to cover

the past and the growing obligations. The Nizam, who had

been apprized of the transmission of the communication, anti-

cipated its official delivery by appointing Seraj-ool-moolk, the

grandson of the great Meer Alum, and the ablest man at

the court, to the office of minister, and likewise pledged his

royal word to discharge half the debt immediately, and the

remainder by the 31st October, as well as to appropriate the

revenue of certain districts to the payment of the Contin-

gent. The first instalment was paid by money raised at in

exorbitant premium ; the second was neglected ; the pay of

the Contingent again fell into arrears, and the officers and

men were driven to the bankers, who accommodated them it

the rate of twenty- four per cent. Again were advances mace

by the Resident, and the debt, notwithstanding the recent

payments, swelled to fifty lacs of rupees. Four years of

Lord Dalhousie's evasion on the part of the Nizam had worn out

Minute, 30th the patience of Lord Dalhousie. In one of those
March, 1853. . . F , . . .,. . _ . , .

lucid and exhaustive Minutes in which he was

accustomed to record the ground, and to furnish the justifica-

tion, of his decisions on public questions, he examined the

subject of the Contingent in a moral and practical point of view.

The sole cause, he observed, of all the discord which vexes the

two states is the Contingent, for which the Resident maintains

a constant wrestle with the Dewan, and which transforms the

representative of the British Government, by turns, into an

importunate creditor, and a bailiff iu execution. If the Nizam

had at any time refused, or should now refuse to maintain the

Contingent any longer, the Government of India could not

make good any right by treaty to enforce the continuance of

it. Our simple right was to require 15,000 infantry and

cavalry of the Nizam's army in time of war, and this provision

has been made to justify our requiring the Nizam to uphold a

force of 7,000 men and twenty-four guns, officered by British

officers, and controlled by the British Resident, in time of

peace. Neither the words nor the intention of the treaty can
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bo held to warrant such a construction of its obligations. But,

tin; rulers of Hyderabad, having for forty years consented to

maintain Ihis field force on certain terms, are bound faithfully

to fulfil those terms as long as the original consent to its

maintenance is not withdrawn. The present Nizam, though he

has enquired in moments of irritation why the Contingent was

kept up when there was no war, has steadily resisted every

attempt to reduce it by a single bayonet or sabre. It has

been upheld of his own free will. However anomalous in its

origin, it has become a practical necessity, and the Nizam has

repeatedly declared that his government cannot be carried on

without its assistance. It is required as a counterpoise to the

large and disorderly body of foreign mercenaries who con-

tinually threaten the peace of the country. Lord Dalhousie

proceeded to remark that the Government owed much con-

sideration to the Nizam, for having allowed the Contingent to

be maintained at a larger cost than was necessary to secure

him all the advantages of it, and that it would be worth the

while of Government and worthy of its dignity, to obtain an

adjustment of a question which disturbed the amity of the

two states, even at a considerable sacrifice. He therefore

proposed the draft of a treaty to be submitted to the Nizam,

which should place the Contingent on a definite and permanent

footing, determine its strength and its duties, provide for its

punctual payment, and effect an equitable settlement of the

interest and principal of the debt. Including the pay of

these troops, the interest of the debt, and certain annuities

to native chiefs guaranteed by the Government of India, the

annual payments of the Nizam amounted to between forty-two

and fort}'-three lacs of rupees, and Lord Dalhousie proposed
to require the transfer of territory yielding between thirty-six

and thirty-seven lacs. By this arrangement the Nizam would

benefit to the extent of six lacs of rupees a-year, besides being

exempted from the repayment of a debt of nearty half a crore

of rupees. If, remarked Lord Dalhousie, the Nizam should

determine not to continue the Contingent, and refuse to make
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assignments for its support, the whole force must be broken

up ; but the Government of India cannot consent at once to

let loose on the country a large body of trained troops, and

thus endanger its peace and security. The reduction must

necessarily be gradual, and the assignment of districts must
still be made to meet the expenses of the force while the dis-

bandment is in progress, and to secure the liquidation of the

debt, both principal and interest. When these objects are

accomplished, the districts will be restored to the Nizam.

Sir Frederick Currie and Mr. Lowis, the two members of

Council, fully acquiesced in the sentiments and the proposi-
tions of the Governor- General's Minute.

Conclusion of
^ne ^zam manifested the deepest reluctance

the Treaty and to the proposal. He said there were two royal
its results, 1853. • «. V *

'

"•« 11 j .

maxims which he held sacred,
—never to part

with territory, and never to dismiss soldiers who had been

useful to the state. When the Resident presented the draft

of the treaty, a long and acrimonious discussion ensued, in the

course of which he said that his Highness had only to declare

that he did not require the Contingent, and the Governor-

General would gradually reduce it, and then restore the dis-

tricts. The Nizam exclaimed,
"

I beg you to assure him that

I do not want the present strength of the Contingent reduced ;

I am able and willing to pay it month by month, and 1 under-

take to do so, independent of the minister ;

" but he had neither

the power nor the intention to fulfil these grand promises. The

debt of the state amounted to three crores of rupees, borrowed

at usurious interest, and its finances had not been in so hope-

less a condition for half a century. The minister and the prin-

cipal officers of the durbar considered the proposed arrange-

ment highly advantageous to the interests of the kingdom, but

for a fortnight the Nizam turned a deaf ear to all their repre-

sentations. Seraj-ool-moolk at length succeeded in purchasing

the goodwill of a favourite and confidential valet, who exercised

a paramount influence over the mind of his master. The treaty

was speedily accepted, but with modifications to suit the
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wishes of the Nizam. The sovereignty of the assigned dis-

tricts was still to remain with him, and they were to be made

over to the management, not of the Government of Madras or

Bombay, but of the Resident at his court, who was to render

a faithful account of receipts and disbursements, and to remit

the surplus revenue to his treasury. The question which was

thus solved by the talent of Lord Dalhousie, and by the skill,

firmness, and judgment of Colonel Low, the Resident, to

whom the entire management of the negotiations was com-

mit t ed, was one of the most perplexing which had ever been

brought before the Indian authorities, and the arrangement
was one of the masterstrokes of the Governor-General's policy.

It encountered the opposition of that section of the Court of

Directors which was given to fondling the sensibilities of native

princes, and who, on this occasion, seemed to forget that the

question was one for practical statesmanship and not for the

fancies of philanthropy. In passing their judgment upon it,

the Court of Directors said that they regarded with the

greatest satisfaction this mode of settling our pecuniary rela-

tions with the Nizam's government ; they sanctioned the treaty,

and conveyed their cordial thanks to the Governor-General and

the officers employed by him. They were fully justified in their

approval of it. Seldom has there been a settlement in India

from which all parties have derived such equal advantages.

It delivered both Governments from those derogatory disputes

about money which disturbed the harmony of their intercourse.

It relieved the British treasury from incessant but uncertain

demands; it absolved the Nizam from the obligations of a

debt of nearly half a crore of rupees, and reduced his annual

responsibilities in a very material degree, while it bestowed on

the people thus transferred to our charge the inestimable

benefit of those institutions which had been brought to ma-

turity in the Punjab. The territory thus placed under British

control, and brought within the circle of British enterprise,

included the great cotton field of Berar, and Lord Dalhousie im-

mediately laid the foundation of a railway for the conveyance
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of its produce to the port of Bombay. To the inhabitants of

that district the assignment brought the age of gold during
the civil war in America, while it furnished a grateful supply
of the raw material to the manufacturers of England. Two

years after the settlement, Lord Dalhousie, finding that the

revenues of the districts he had taken over exceeded the re-

quirements, restored territory yielding three lacs of rupees a-

year. The treaty was revised by his successor in 1860, when

the British Government gave back all the districts which had

been surrendered, with the exception of Berar, the revenues

of which were found to be sufficient to cover the sum to which

the expenses of the Contingent had been reduced, and the

whole amount of the debt, principal and interest, was wiped
out. The family of the Nizam of Hyderabad, which has

not produced a single ruler of even ordinary capacity, since

the death of its great founder, has been the most fortunate

of all the royal houses of India. At the close of the last

century, it was rescued by Lord Wellesley from the ambi-

tion and rapacity of the Mahrattas, through the guarantee

of British protection. Since that period there has been no

diminution of its territory. If Lord Wellesley took over large

districts for the payment of the subsidiary force in 1801, and

incorporated them with the Company's dominions, they con-

sisted of those which he and Lord Cornwallis had bestowed

on the Nizam from the spoils of Tippoo Sultan. If Lord Dal-

housie took over another province for the support of the Con-

tingent in 1853, it consisted of the territory with which Lord

Hastings had enriched the Nizam from the spoils of Nagpore
in 1819. While every other throne in the Deccan has become

extinct, the Tartar dynasty founded by Nizam-ool-moolk re-

tains in all its integrity the territory which the Mahrattas had

left it seventy years before.

Nana Sahib, Bajee Rao, the ex-Peshwa, died at Bithoor,
1853 jn January, 1853, at the age of seventy-seven

The circumstances connected with his surrender in 1818 have

been detailed in a former chapter, and it is only necessary to
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remark that he did not open a negotiation with Sir John Mal-

colm until the divisions of the British army were closing upon
him in every direction. lie was allowed an interview with

Sir John, who advised him either to throw himself on the con-

sideration of the British Government, or manfully to resolve

on further resistance. "
Resistance," exclaimed Bajee Rao,

u how can I resist; am I not surrounded ;
am I not enclosed?"

It was in these desperate circumstances that Sir John offered

him a pension for himself and his family of eight lacs of rupees

a-\ ear. Lord Hastings, who had destined him an annuity of

only two lac*, was mortified to find it quadrupled by the plia-

bility of his representative.
" I well knew," he wrote to him,

u that the vagabond would try every appeal to your kindness,

and I thought you might have a little too much sympathy
with fallen greatness. It is a condition which ordinarily chal-

lenges respect, but when it is the condition of so thorough and

incorrigible a scoundrel as Bajee Rao, one sees in it only

deserved punishment." Sir John stated in reply, that he was

convinced it would not have been possible to obtain his sub-

mission on other terms, that the provision made for him was

indeed most princely, and far beyond what he had, from his

treacherous conduct, any right to expect ; but then it was

only a life pension. Mr. Prinsep, the Secretary to Govern-

ment in attendance on the Governor- General, and the author

of the History of the Mahratta and Pindaree campaigns, which

is the highest authority on these transactions, says :
" The

principal objection to this arrangement was the extent of the

personal allowance provided to his Highness, amounting to no

I han £ 1 00,000 a-year for life." Mr. Kaye, in his excellent

life of Sir John Malcolm, also describes Bajee Rao as a simple

annuitant, who drew his pension for a quarter of a century,

li any further evidence be required to determine the char,

of this grant, it is furnished by Bajee Rao himself, who, after

having adopted Dhoondoo Punt—Nana Sahib—as his son, re-

peatedly appealed to the generosity of Government to provide

for his family after his death, which he would not have done if he
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had considered the pension hereditary. Bajee Rao died, at

length, after having received the sum of two crores and a-half

of rupees, with the reputation of being immensely rich— hoard-

ing was the passion of his life—but his adopted son did not

acknowledge an accumulation of more than twenty-eight lacs

of rupees. The Nana then petitioned the Lieutenant-Governor

of Agra to continue the pension, or some portion of it. for the

support of the family, but Mr. Thomason discouraged every

hope of further assistance, and advised that the retainers

should return to the Deccan, but he granted him the town

and jageer of Bithoor rent free for life. Lord Dalhousie, to

whom the matter was referred, considered that the grant was

for life only, and that the family had no further claim on the

Government ; that Bajee Rao had received the enormous sum of

two millions and a-half sterling, out of which he ought to have

made adequate provision for them. The Nana then despatched

an envoy to London to appeal to the Court of Directors,

claiming the continuance of the pension, as a matter of right,

grounded on the expression in the original settlement that it

was intended for " the Peshwa and his family," which he said

was designed to include heirs, both natural and adopted. But

this term was used by Sir John simply to distinguish the allow-

ance to Bajee Rao and his family from the separate provision

which he made for "his principal jagecrdars, for his old ad-

herents, for brahmins of respectable character, and for re-

ligious establishments founded or supported by his family."

The Nana had the effrontery to assert that this annuity was

granted in consideration of the territory, valued at thirty-four

lacs a-year, which Bajee Rao had ceded to the Company, and

that the enjoyment of the one was contingent on the payment
of the other. This demand, more especially on the part of an

adopted son, for the continuation of a pension which the

grantor declared to be for life only, after a sum of two crores

and a-half of rupees had been paid on the strength of it, was

universally regarded at the time by all who heard of it in

India, natives and Europeans, as the most preposterous and
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Impudent request which had ever been made to Government. It

was unceremoniously rejected by the Court of Directors and

the Board of Control. The enraged Nana took advantage of

(he mutiny to obtain his revenge by inflicting barbarities on all

the English who fell into his hands, which are not paralleled in

the history of crime. It has been whispered that some pallia-

tion may be discovered for the atrocities he committed in what
is called Lord Dalhousie's breach of national faith in the matter

of his pension. But neither in this case nor in that of the

ranee of Jhansi is it equitable to infer that the refusal of

their claims was unjustifiable simply because an opportunity
was subsequently presented to them of wreaking their

vengeance on innocent Europeans, men, women, and children.

The real character of the annexation of Jhansi and the discon-

tinuance of the pension to Nana Sahib are to be determined

upon their own intrinsic merits, and not by a reference to the

diabolical crimes of those whose expectations were disappointed.

M e
It has been stated in a former chapter that the

1799-1856. insufferable misrule of the raja of Mysore for

twenty years, which culminated in rebellion, constrained Lord

William Bentinck in 1831 to assume the entire management of

the country. The administration was placed in the hands of

General Cubbon, one of the great statesmen of the Company's

service, who conducted it for twenty-five years with such

efficiency and success, as to surprise even the Government of

India. The record of his administration was pronounced by
Lord Dalhousie to be honourable to the British name, and to

reflect the highest credit upon the exertions of the valuable

body of officers by whom these great results had been accom-

plished. Every department had felt the hand of reform. In

that of civil and criminal justice, regularity, order, and purity
had been introduced, where, under native rule, caprice, uncer-

tainty, and corruption prevailed. Works of public improve-
ment had been prosecuted with a liberal hand. Taxes bad

been reduced to the extent of eleven lacs of rupees a-year,

and the revenue had nevertheless increased from forty-four
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to eighty-two lacs. It was, as Lord Dalhousie remarked, to

the ability and judgment of General Cubbon, and to his long
continued and vigilant superintendence, that the British Go-

vernment owed, in a great measure, the successful issue of its

interposition in the affairs of Mysore. In 1847, the raja

requested Lord Hardinge to restore the government to him.

A reference was made to General Cubbon, who replied that

any improvement that had taken place in the condition and

resources of the country, had been effected in spite of the

opposition he had met with on the part of the Maharaja
and his partisans, and that the conduct of his Highness during
his suspension from power, afforded no security that the

crisis which induced his supersession, would not recur in the

event of his restoration. The request of the raja was, there-

fore, negatived. In 1856 he made a similar application to

Lord Dalhousie, who investigated the question with great

assiduity, and arrived at the conclusion that it was impossible

to reinstate the raja, pointing out at the same time, that the

treaty was personal and not dynastic. The accuracy of this

assertion had been impugned, but it has been placed beyond

original Treaty controversy by a reference to the original papers of

of 1799. Lord Wellesley, which show, moreover, by the

multiplicity of alterations, the care he bestowed on the word-

ing of the treaty. In the draft drawn up by Colonel Kirk-

patrick, the fifth article ran thus :
—" The contracting parties

mutually and severally agree, that the districts in Schedule C

shall be ceded to the Maharaja, and his heirs and successors,

for ever, and shall form the separate Government of Mysore."
Lord Wellesley struck out the words " heirs and successors,"

with both pencil and pen, noting in the margin, "this is

unnecessary and dangerous." In the fair copy of the treaty

he wrote in the margin,
" this clause is approved with the

omission of the words struck out with the pen," and he attested

the noto with his signature
"
Mornington." Colonel Kirk-

patrick pointed out to him, that if the guarantee clause of

the treaty were allowed to remain, the raja would be placed
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in the same position as regarded heirs and successors as the

Nizam ; to which Lord Wellesley replied,
"
strike it out." In

the original draft of the subsidiary treaty it was stated that

1
'it should be binding on the contracting parties, and their

heirs and successors, as long as the sun and moon should

endure." Lord Wellesley again struck out the words " heirs

and successors," but left in the oriental flourish about the

sun and the moon. These extracts prove to a demonstration

that the settlement made with the raja was intended by Lord

Wellesley to be strictly personal, and that he carefully excluded

every expression which might be supposed to imply a right of

hereditary succession.

subsequent
To bring the ^tory of the Mysore raj to a

history of close. The raja solicited Lord Canning to reinstate

him in the Government, but it was refused on the

ground that "
it was his conviction, founded on an experience

of the past, that if the authority of the British officers were

removed, or even hampered, the peace and prosperity of the

country would be at an end." In 1862, the raja renewed his

request to Lord Elgin, but with no better success. He then

appealed to the present Governor-General, Sir John Lawrence,

who upheld the decision of his four predecessors, which was

likewise sanctioned by Sir Charles Wood. The raja then pro-

ceeded to adopt a son, and required that he should be recog-

nized as his successor in the sovereignty, but, under the rule

laid down by the Court of Directors sixteen years before, it

was refused both in India and in England. Thus stood the

question when the Whigs retired from office in 1866. Even if

the treaty with the raja had included heirs and successors, it

would still have come within the category of those principali-

ties, like Saltara, the offspring of our "
gratuitous benevolence

"

which the Government had a right to resume on the failure of

natural heirs. But in this case, the words heirs and successor?

had been expressly excluded. This was fully admitted by
Lord Cranbourne, the Conservative Secretary of State for

India, who stated in the House,
" I must express most em-

ni. 2 is
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phatically the opinion of Her Majesty's Government that the

rights conferred on the Maharaja terminated with his life."

The treaty in fact became extinct on his death, and if he left

natural heirs, they had no right of succession ; the territory

reverted to those who had bestowed it. But the present

Secretary of State for India has overruled all the decisions

of the Government which preceded him, as well as of five

successive Governors-General, and has ordered the re-establish-

ment of a native sovereignty in Mysore, and the surrender of

the country to the child whom the raja has adopted, on his

coming of age. With all the lessons of experience before us,

it is difficult to conceive any adequate reason for this new

policy, by which the government of four millions of people,

after they have enjoyed for nearly fifty years the inestimable

benefit of a wise, liberal, and beneficent administration, is rele-

gated to the caprices and oppressions of a native prince.
'* To

supplant," says Sir John Grant, in his Oude Minute,
" the

British Government of any province by the best native govern-

ment that ever yet existed, is in one moment to abolish law, and

establish arbitrary power in its place." If it was deemed

necessary to make some concession to the spirit of agitation

which the raja has raised in this country, it might have been

sufficient, as an act of grace, to continue the titular sovereignty,

and the sixth of the revenues which the raja now enjoys,

to the boy when he comes of age, to furnish him with the

means of personal gratification. But to sacrifice to a new

theory the welfare of a whole people, whose interests we are

bound to hold sacred, and to demolish the fabric of prosperity

we have been building up for half a century, is so repugnant

to every feeling of humanity, that before the period for con-

summating this policy arrives, it is to be hoped that some

future Secretary of State will be found to annul it, as the

present Secretary has annulled the decision of his predecessor.
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CHAPTER XLII.

LORD DALHOUSIE's ADMINISTRATION OUDE— ADMINISTRATIVE

AND MATERIAL IMPROVEMENTS—CONCLUSION, 1848-1856.

Chronic misrule The history of our connection with Oude has been

i855

Ude
'
1801"

&iven m preceding chapters down to the time of

Lord William Bentinck. No province in India had

suffered the affliction of misgovernment for so long a period.

The people had scarcely known repose or happiness since the

first Nabob, the Khorasan merchant, acquired the princi-

pality by treachery. As early as 1779, VV
r
arren Hastings

remonstrated with the prince on the dissipation of his revenues

and the oppression of his subjects. The expostulation was

repeated by Lord Cornwallis and by Sir John Shore, but with-

out effect. At the beginning of this century, Lord Wellesley
found that " the inveterate abuses which pervaded every de-

partment of Government destroyed the foundations of public

prosperity and individual happiness," and he pronounced that

the only substantial remedy for these evils was to vest the ex-

clusive administration of the civil and military government in

the hands of the Company. In 1801 a large portion of the

territory was made over to them, and a treaty was concluded

with the Nabob, by which he, on his part, bound himself to

introduce into his reserved dominions a system of administra-

tion conducive to the prosperity of his subjects, and invariably

to act in conformity with the advice of the Resident, while

the British Government, on its part, engaged to defend his

dominions from all foreign and domestic enemies. So little,

however, was this pledge regarded by him, that in the course

of thirteen years, he amassed a sum of no less than thirteen

2 e 2
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crores of rupees, though the annual revenue of the country

was only a trifle in excess of a crore of rupees a-year. In

1831, Lord William Bentinck, who was distinguished by a

desire to maintain the independence of native princes, proceeded

to Lucknow, aud after describing the flagrant abuses of his

Government, assured the king
—he had been raised to royal

dignity by Lord Hastings
—that matters had come to such a

pass, that unless prompt measures were adopted to reform

them, and to govern the country for the benefit of the people,

in conformity with the treaty of 1801, the British Government

would assume the entire administration till order was restored,

and reduce him to the condition of a pensioner of the state,

like the raja of Tanjore and the Nabobs of the Carnatic and

Moorshedabad. To impress this warning more deeply on his

mind, it was likewise left with him in writing. The Court

of Directors, in their remarks on this proceeding, observed

that the Oude administration had become progressively more

inefficient and oppressive, till the country presented a scene of

anarchy and tyranny scarcely paralleled in any other part

of India; and they gave the Governor-General the fullest

authority to carry out his intentions, and assume the temporary
administration of the country. The reformation which this

menace produced was, however, very short-lived, and in 1837

Lord Auckland constrained the Nabob to enter into a new

treaty for the protection of his subjects, but it contained

stipulations which induced the Court of Directors to disallow

it, and it became void. In 1847, Lord Hardinge proceeded to

Lucknow to remonstrate in person with the king upon the

state of desolation to which the country was reduced, and

gave him a solemn warning that if at the end of two years

there should not be a complete reform in his administration, the

Government would assuredly carry into effect the orders

received from the Court of Directors in 1834, and deprive him

of the management of the country.

colonel sieeman, Soon afterwards, Colonel Sleeman was appointed
185L

Eesident, and made a tour through the country to
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ascertain from personal observation the condition of the people

and the character of the administration. The valuable journal

which he presented to Government on his return to Lucknow, i

presented a black record of crimes and misery. The king's

army of 70,000 men which, while British troops protected the

throne from all domestic and foreign foes, was altogether

redundant, received scanty and uncertain pay, and was employed

only in preying on the people. As soon as a regiment reached

its encamping ground, foraging parties were sent out to rob

the villagers of provisions, and to bring in the roofs, doors,

and windows of their houses for fuel. In the peaceable parts of

the country, the Colonel remarked, not a house was to be

seen with a thatched or tiled covering. It was impossible to

conceive a greater curse to a country than such a body of

licentious, predatory, and disorganized soldiery. The people
affirmed that rebels and robbers sometimes spared them, but

the king's troops never. There were 246 forts or strongholds
in the country, with 476 guns, held by first-class landholders,

chiefly Rajpoots. They had converted into jungle large tracts

of the most fertile land in Oude, extending many miles round

their castles, which became the dens of lawless menwho infested

all parts of the country, set the Government at defiance, and

levied intolerable imposts on all traders and travellers. Within

sixteen miles of the capital one landholder had converted thirty

miles of rich land into a dense jungle, and erected four fortifica-

tions within its circle. One rapacious and brutal revenue con-

tractor had driven off hundreds of the wives and children of

the cultivators from entire towns and villages, and had not

only sold the cattle and the implements of husbandry but the

men themselves, and thus reduced a smiling district to desola-

tion. The king, immured in his palace, was invisible except to

his women, singers, musicians, and buffoons, and the minister,
whom he sometimes saw, was obliged to succumb to them.
His favourite fiddler was appointed chief justice. The chief /

linger, was, de facto, king of Oude; justice was openly bought /
and sold, and nothing was seen but corruption, from the monarch
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on the throne to the lowest functionary. Every officer on his

appointment was obliged to pay heavy douceurs to the king, to

the heir apparent, to the minister, and to every one who was

supposed to have interest at court. He reimbursed himself by

extortions, all the more severe for being necessarily rapid, since

he was never certain of his post for a single day. The king
never read a report, and the great object of his ministers and

his favourites was to guard him from the cares of business.

This system of misrule was in some measure mitigated by the

privileges which the sepoys in the Company's service enjoyed
of transmitting their complaints through their own command-

ing officer to the Resident, who was required to take them up,

and use his influence, which was all powerful, to obtain re-

dress. With few exceptions, every agricultural family in

Oude planted one of its members in the Company's army, and

thus obtained the protection of British power. It will, there-

fore, be no matter of surprise that there should be 40,000

Qude sepoys in the ranks of the native army, when the enlist-

ment made them a privileged class in their own misgoverned

country. In presenting his report on the state of the admi-

nistration to Government, Colonel Sleeman stated that "his

friendly feelings towards native states, and his earnest desire

to do everything in hi3 power, and consistent with his duties,

to support them, were so generally known in India, that his

nomination to the Lucknow Residency was considered by all

native chiefs as the surest pledge the Governor-General could

give of his earnest desire, if possible, to maintain the native

sovereignty of Oude in all its integrity." But, he remarked,

fifty years of sad experience have shown that the hopes in

which the treaty of 1801 was founded, that while the British

Government defended the king from all enemies, foreign or

domestic, he should by means of his own officers carry out

a system of administration calculated to secure life and pro-

perty, and to promote the happiness of the people, were utterly

fallacious.
" He did not think that with a due regard to its

own character, as the paramount power in India, and to the



xui.] km. OUTBAm's report. 423

particular obligations by which it was bound by solemn treaties

to the Buffering people of this distracted country, the Govern-

ment could any longer forbear to take over the administra-

tion." JNo reigning family in India, he added, had a juster

claim for its loyalty to the protection and consideration of

Government ;
but this claim could not be expected to embrace

the privilege of rendering wretched in perpetuity, five millions

whoso welfare and happiness the British Government was

bound by solemn treaties to promote. He advised that on

assuming the Government of the country, such provision should

be made for the king as would enable him and his family and

dependents to live, in perpetuity, in suitable dignity and com-

fort.

General Outram was appointed Resident at

outram's report, Lucknow in 1854, and directed to institute a

minute and searching enquiry into the condition

of the people and the administration. He was required to

report whether the country was still in the same state which

Colonel Sleeman had described, and whether any progress had

been made in the correction of abuses which Lord William

Bentinck had peremptorily demanded thirteen years before,

and for which Lord Hardinge had given the king two years
of grace. He reported that there was not only no improve-
ment whatever, but no prospect of any. The vices of the

Government were inherent in its constitution, and absolutely

incurable. He had no hesitation, therefore, in affirming that

the duty imposed on the British Government by treaty could

no longer admit of its honestly indulging the reluctance it had

hitherto felt of having recourse to the decisive measure of

assuming the government. "In pronouncing," he said "an

opinion so unfavourable to the reigning family of Oude, I

have performed a painful duty. I have ever advocated the

maintenance of the few remaining states in India, so long as

we can, consistently with our duty as the paramount power
and the pledges of our treaties. It is distressing to me to

find that in upholding the sovereign power of this effete and



424 lord dalhousie's minute. [chap.

incapable dynasty, we do it at the cost of five millions of

people, for whom we are bound to secure good government."

Lord Dalhousie's General Outram's report was transmitted to

Minute, 1855. Lord Dain usie while residing for his health at

Ootacamund, and he drew up one of his great and comprehen-
sive Minutes upon it.

" For the convenience of those to whom
it would belong to decide the future fate of Oude," he made a

complete and masterly analysis of the evidence which had

been given during a long series of years of the gross and in-

veterate abuses of power in Oude. He collected together the

opinions which had been recorded of our solemn obligations to

the people, by those officers of Government who were dis-

tinguished by their anxiety to maintain the existing royal

families,
and then proceeded to state that, if it were not for the

presence of British troops, the people would long since have

worked their own deliverance. Our Government was, therefore,

heavily responsible for having so long tolerated this disregard

of the treaty of 1801, and for all the ills and human suffering

which had sprung therefrom. The time had now arrived

when inaction on our part could no longer be justified, and

was already converting responsibility into guilt.
"
But," he

added,
" the rulers of Oude, however unfaithful to the trust

conferred on them, have yet ever been faithful and true in

their allegiance to British power. No wavering friendship

has ever been laid to their charge, and they have aided us, as

best they could, in the hour of our utmost need. Although we
are bound by all the means in our power to amend the lot of a

people whom we have so long indirectly injured, justice and

gratitude nevertheless require that in so doing we should lower

the dignity and authority of the sovereign of Oude no farther

than is absolutely necessary for the accomplishment of our

righteous ends. The reform of the administration may be

wrought, and the prospects of the people secured, without

resorting to so extreme a measure as the annexation of the

territory and the abolition of the throne, and I, for my part,

do not advocate the advice that the province of Oude be declared
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British territory." lie proposed, therefore, that the king-

should retaiu the sovereignty of all the territory which he pos-

1, that he should vest the whole of the civil and military

administration in t lie hands of the Company; that an annual

Stipend should be allotted for the support of his honour and

dignity, and due provision be made for all the members of the

n >y al family, besides his own children. The scheme which Lord

Dalhousie thus proposed differed from that of Colonel Sleeman

only in regard to the surplus revenue, which he proposed to

expend entirely for the benefit of the royal family and the people

of Oude. Lord Dalhousie, on the other hand, remarked that the

revenue of the country might be expected largely to increase

under the judicious management of our own officers, and that

the British Government would not be justified in making over

so considerable a surplus to the reigning sovereign, to be

unprofitably squandered in the follies, vices, and excesses of

a native court. He considered that the British Government

ought to be at liberty to devote to the general advantage of

the Indian empire some portion of that surplus of which its

own exertions would have been the sole origin and creative

cause. He likewise urged, that the arrangement should be

perpetual and not transitory. He cited the cases of Hydera-
bad and Nagpore, where the country had flourished under

British management, and had been desolated when restored to

the native princes.

The members of Council unanimously concurred
Opinions of the . . . ^ %
Members of in the opinion that the Government of India could
council, 1855.

no jonger postpone the assumption of the entire

administration, but they were divided in their views regarding
the mode in which this was to be effected, two of them siding

with Lord Dalhousie, and two others voting for a more radical

measure. General Low, who had been Resident at Lucknow,
and was thoroughly acquainted with the condition of the

people and the Government, and who had, moreover, recently
resisted the annexation of Nagpore, declared it to be his deli-

berate opinion that " the disorders of Oude were of so long
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standing and so deeply rooted, and the corruption of the public

officers so general and so inveterate that there was now no other

remedy available for effecting and maintaining a just govern-
ment over the people of Oude than that of placing the whole

of its territory, exclusively and permanently, under the direct

management of the East India Company." In a subsequent
Minute he said "the scheme I advocate may be considered

harsh towards the king himself, individually, but I contend

that it would only be a fulfilment of our own obligations to the

people of Oude." He wished, however, to avoid the assertion

contained in Lord Dalhousie's Minute, that the king should

retain his sovereignty, and desired to substitute for it that he

should retain the rank and title, and all the honours heretofore

enjoyed by him as sovereign of Oude. He saw no objection to

the application of the surplus revenue to the general interests

of the empire, but proposed that " after a bond fide peaceful

and beneficial government to the inhabitants of the country
should be fully established in the Oude territory, the king
should receive an addition of three or four lacs a-year to his

income." The Minute of Mr.—now Sir Barnes—Peacock, the

legislative Member of Council, was replete with the refinements

of legal analysis, and concluded with advising that in confor-

mity with the proposal of the Governor-General, the province

of Oude should not be declared British territory, but that the

civil and military administration should be vested in the Com-

pany. Mr. Dorin earnestly seconded the recommendation of

Lord Dalhousie that the transfer of power should be perma-
nent. In support of this opinion he cited the recent case of the

raja of Sorapore, who had been carefully trained as a minor by
the Governor of Bombay, but when invested with the Govern-

ment of his principality on coming of age, so completely dis-

organized the administration in one short year, that no respec-

table adherent was safe under his auspices. This case of failure,

he remarked,
" teaches us the bitter lesson that, with all our

care, we may still be unable to impress on the minds of

the native princes of India, even with education, a proper
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of their responsibilities.'' But he recommended that the

king of Oude should be required to abdicate his sovereignty,
and that the province should be incorporated with the posses-

sions of the British Crown. Mr.—now Sir John—Grant,

rnor of Jamaica, took up the subject from a different point

of view, and brought his extraordinary powers of argumenta-
tion to bear on the discussion of it, but he coincided with

Mr. Darin, and came to the conclusion that "the incorporation

of Oude with the territories administered by the British Indian

Government was the best measure on the whole, which could

be adopted for the good government of the people, and that

the East India Company had a clear right to adopt it."

Decision of the
These Minutes were transmitted to England,

home authorities, It was a great and important question, and it

received earnest and conscientious deliberation for

two months, when the Court of Directors, the Board of Control,

and the Cabinet, came to the unanimous determination to over-

rule the advice of Lord Dalhousie, and to adopt what he had

endeavoured to dissuade them from, as an " extreme measure,"
-

the annexation of the territory and the abolition of the throne ;

—thus ended the sovereignty of Oude. In communicating
his Minute to the India House, Lord Dalhousie had stated,

that if they considered his experience of eight years likely to

arm him with greater authority for carrying their decision into

effect than a Governor-General just entering on the Govern-

ment, he was ready to undertake the duty, though it would

doubtless be assailed by those who were ever on the watch to

attack the policy of the Indian Government. On the arrival

of the orders from England, he prepared to carry them into

execution with promptitude, though so ill as scarcely to be able

to move. A body of troops was moved up to the frontier.

General Outrun was instructed to endeavour to persuade the

king to sign the treaty which transferred the government
to the Company. He received the communication with an

undignified burst of tears, said he was a miserable wretch,

and placed his turban in the lap of the Resident ; he positively
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refused to affix his signature to the treaty, and a Proclamation

was accordingly issued, declaring the province of Oude to be

a component part of the British empire in India. Not a blow

was struck in favour of the dynasty ; there were no popular

risings, and the whole body of the people went over peaceably

to their new rulers. An allowance of fifteen lacs of rupees

a-year
—more than a seventh of the revenues of the country

—
was allotted for the support of the king and his palace guards.

An elaborate scheme of administration, on the model of that

of the Punjab, was drawn up by Lord Dalhousie, which

embraced every possible contingency in every department.

Compared with the plan of government for Bengal drafted

eighty years before by the first Governor-General, Warren

Hastings—who was in no respect inferior to the last,
—it

exhibits a proof of the vast progress which had been inter-

mediately made in the science of oriental administration.

The assumption of the Government of Oude
Remarks, 1856. r

was the fulfilment of a sacred obligation to the

people, which had for half a century been acknowledged with-

out exception by all the public officers, not excepting even

those who advocated the continuance of native dynasties. The

condition of that province was forcibly delineated in an eloquent

article which appeared in the columns of the leading journal of

England several years before the annexation. " Rebellion and

deposition," the writer remarked,
" were the correctives of des-

potism, in India. This remedy we have taken away from the

inhabitants of the states still governed by native princes.

We give those princes power without responsibility. Our

hand of iron maintains them on the throne despite their

imbecility, then- vices, and their crimes. The result is in

most of these states a chronic anarchy, under which the reve-

nues of the state are dissipated between the mercenaries of

the camp and the minions of the court. The heavy and arbi-

trary taxes levied on the miserable ryots serve onty to feed

the meanest and the most degenerate of mankind. The theory
seems in fact admitted, that government is not for the people
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but for the king, and that so long" as we secure him his sine-

cure mvalty, we discharge all the duty that we, as sovereigns

of India. <>we to his subjects, who are virtually ours." It was

from this deplorable condition that Lord Dalhousie's measure

intended to relieve Oude. The abolition of the throne

aod of the king's sovereignty, were added to it by the home

authorities. The equity and justice of the measure were not

impaired by the revolt of the province in the succeeding year.

The large and powerful body of zemindars, from whose

tyranny we were anxious to deliver the people, were not

likely to neglect the opportunity of rising against us when

they saw our power in Hindostan shaken to its foundation,

and Oude left with only a mere handful of European troops,
—

not a tenth of the number left in the Punjab to maintain our

authority on its annexation. Neither was it to be expected

that when 40,000 Oude sepoys were in a state of mutiny,

their kinsmen and connections, forming, according to the

estimate of the Resident, one tenth of the population would

remain firm in their allegiance to a foreign power which

appeared to be tottering. The rescue of five millions of

people from a state of the deepest misery was, notwithstand-

ing- the mutiny, an act of benevolence which Lord Dalhousie

might justly congratulate himself on having had an opportu-

nity of performing.
The period of Lord Dalhousie's administration,

Administrative r

reforms, 1848- which extended to eight years, was rendered

memorable, not less by administrative reforms and

material progress, than by its political results. There was no

division of the public service in any portion of the empire,

which his keen eye did not penetrate, and into which his

strong hand did not introduce substantial reforms. He sim-

plified and lubricated the whole machinery of the Government.

He had an unconquerable aversion to what he considered the

cumbersome and obstructive agency of Boards, and he con-

si lered individual responsibility to be the secret of success

in public business. lie abolished the Board of Customs, Salt
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and Opium, and transferred its duties to the Board of Revenue

which he, unhappily, left standing, but which the depopulation

of Orissa by famine in the present year,
—

chiefly through its

supineness,
—will doubtless consign to the tomb. In no branch

of the service were his reforms more radical and more bene-

ficial than in the military department. He had not been many
months in India, before the approach of the second Punjab
war and its exigencies, convinced him of the necessity of a

complete reorganization of our whole system of military

economy, and he remarked that he would have demolished the

venerable and senile Military Board at once, if he did not

apprehend that the Court might exclaim, "What is the boy

The Military
about ?

" The Board was not only viciously con-

Board, 1850.
stituted, but loaded with duties, which could not

have been efficiently performed by it, even if its organization

had been perfect. After a complete investigation of the

subject, he withdrew from its control, in the first instance,

the Army Commissariat, one of the most important depart-

ments of the army, on the efficiency of which its movements

in the field depend. It was placed in the hands of a Commis-

sary-General ; and the practice of keeping accounts in Persian,

which had lingered for nearly a century was at the same time

abolished, and they were ordered to be rendered at once in

English. Next followed the Stud department, which, at the

suggestion of the Court of Directors, was invigorated by unity

of control and responsibility. In like manner, the Ordnance

Commissariat, with its powder manufactures, gun foundry and

gun carriage agency, was placed under a single officer. The

. T Board had likewise been laden with the superin-
Public Works r

Department, tendence of all public works, and in no department
of duty had our failure been more palpable and more

flagrant. Compared with our Mahomedan predecessors, we
had nothing to shew for our dynasty; and it was not in-

aptly remarked, that if we were obliged to quit the country
there would remain no token of our rule but empty soda water

bottles. The Court of Directors became at length fully alive
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to the scandal of this neglect, and ordered a Commission of

enquiry to be appointed at each Presidency. It was"on the

receipt of their report that Lord Dalhousie proceeded to reor-

ganize tin' system, root and branch. The charge of the works

was withdrawn from the Board—which was then abolished—
and a Public Works Department became one of the institutions

of Government, with a separate Secretary, not only to the

Government of India, but to that of each Presidency. The

responsibility of management was vested in a Chief Engineer,

assisted by executive officers and subordinates appointed from

England, and youths trained in the College of Roorkee, and at

the corresponding colleges founded in Calcutta, Madras, and

Bombay. This was, in fact, to supply the need which had

long been felt in India of a civil engineering establishment.

To secure the uninterrupted progress of these works, which

had previously been prosecuted by spasmodic efforts, it was
ordered that a schedule of all the undertakings which it was

proposed to commence, or to carry on during the year, at each

Presidency, and under each commissionership
—now designated

the budget—should be submitted at the beginning of the year
to the Government of India. Funds were supplied with a

lavish hand. The liberality with which Lord Dalhousie fed

this department, which had been famished for many years,

may be gathered from the fact, that while the entire sum

expended during the seventeen preceding years, including the

repairs of civil and military buildings, had not on an average
exceeded seventeen lacs of rupees a-year, the expenditure

in the last year of his administration fell little short of three

hundred lacs.

Education, 1848- The cause of education received special en-
1855 -

couragement from Lord Dalhousie. Mr. Thornason

the enlightened Governor of the north-west provinces, had esta

Wished a Government vernacular school in each revenue divi-

sion of certain districts under his charge. The-experiment was

attended with such signal success, that Lord Dalhousie resolved

to extend the system to the whole of the north-west provinces

;i
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as well as to Bengal and the Punjab
—but vernacular education

has never yet been duly appreciated by those who have hitherto

exercised power in Bengal. At the suggestion of Mr. Bethune,

the legislative Member of Council, who devoted his time and

his purse to the cause of female education, Lord Dalhousie

officially announced that the education of females was consi-

dered by the British Government an object of national import-

ance, and he was the first Governor-General who had the

courage to proclaim this doctrine in the teeth of native preju-

dices. On the death of Mr. Bethune, he took on himself the

support of the female school established by him. It was while

engaged in devising plans for the improvement of education

that he received the celebrated despatch of Sir Charles Wood,
of July, 1854, which has justly been denominated " the Intel-

lectual Charter of India," and which Lord Dalhousie described

as "
containing a scheme of education for all India, far wider

and more comprehensive than the local or the Supreme Govern-

ment could have ventured to suggest." It embraced vernacu-

lar schools throughout the districts ; Government colleges of

a higher character, a university at each Presidency, to which

all educational establishments, supported by the state, or by
societies, or by individuals, might be affiliated ;

and above all,

the glorious measure of grants in aid to all schools, without

reference to caste or creed. Lord Dalhousie took immediate

measures to carry out this large scheme ; organized a distinct

department of public instruction, and placed it under the re-

sponsibility of a Director-General, with a suitable staff of

assistants.

The revenue of India was advanced during Lord
Revenue, °.

finance, com- Dalhousie's administration from twenty-six to
merce, 1848-55.

^.^ iaeg of mpees> Yet, such is the elasticity

of the resources of India under our scientific management, that

even this large amount has since been augmented fifty per

cent., and the income now stands at forty-five crores of rupees.

The wars in which the Government of India had been engaged,

with little interruption for more than ten years, had absorbed
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thirty crores of rupees, and entailed an annual deficit; but for

some little time after they had ceased there was a trilling sur-

plus. The deficiency which appeared again during the last

two years of Lord Dalhousie's rule, was occasioned by the

copious expenditure which he authorized in the department of

public works for the improvement of the country. During the

period of eight years now under review, the commerce of

Bombay was developed to an extraordinary extent, and that

of Calcutta was doubled. The coasting trade was liberated

from every obstruction ; many improvements were sanctioned

in the various ports from Kerachee to Rangoon, and light-

houses erected in dangerous parts of the Indian and eastern

seas. Lord Dalhousie's attention was equally bestowed on

the improvement of internal navigation. Steamers were placed

on the " silent Indus," for periodical trips between Mooltan

and Kerachee, the port of Sinde, destined one day to be th*?

emporium of the trade of the Punjab and of Central Asia, but

neither has this undertaking nor that of the guaranteed Com-

pany, which has since continued to work it, been marked by
success. They have only served to demonstrate more clearly the

necessity of completing the Sinde railway to expand the com-

merce of the Punjab—and, not less, to bring its capital within

forty hours of the sea, which is the basis of our security. After

the conquest of Pegu, Lord Dalhousie transferred half the steam

flotilla of Government to the delta of the Irawaddy, a country

abounding in rivers, but destitute of roads. The apprehension
which was entertained of interruption to the commerce of Cal-

cutta from the silting up of the Ilooghly led him to contem-

plate the establishment of an auxiliary port, and after careful

surveys, he fixed upon the Mutlah, a chaimel in the Soonderbuns,

twenty-eight miles east of Calcutta, which presents every

facility of navigation for the largest vessels. Anticipating the

future importance of the settlement, whenever its advantages
should be fairly developed, he adopted the precaution of pur-

chasing on behalf of Government, and for an inconsiderable

sum, tlie large estate on which stood the site selected for the

in. 2 p
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new port. To the latest period of his administration he

laboured earnestly to promote the undertaking; but, by one of

the caprices of fortune, the port has been ungratefully named
after his successor, who treated the whole project with supreme

contempt. Lord Dalhousie likewise gave every encourage-
ment to the project of a bridge across the Hooghly, at Cal-

cutta, which, after the establishment of the railway, became an

indispensable necessity. Boring operations were commenced

under his auspices ; but twelve years have since been allowed

to elapse without any further progress in a work, which, if he

had been in power, would long have been completed.

Private posts had long been established in
Low and urn-

. .

form postage, India by the mercantile community, but Govern-

ment had thought fit to abolish them under heavy

penalties. The postage by the public mail was, for a poor popu-
lation like that of India, prohibitory, and it was felt to be a

severe tax even by the merchants. The importance of confer-

ring on India the boon of cheap and uniform postage which

had long been enjoyed in England, had frequently been sug-

gested and discussed, but without any practical result, as is

usually the case when there is not a resolute spirit of energy at

the source of power. Lord Dalhousie took up the subject with

his accustomed zeal, and appointed a commission, consisting of

an experienced civilian from each Presidency, to revise the postal

system of the empire, and to suggest improvements. Their

report was submitted to the authorities in England, and, with

their concurrence, Lord Dalhousie proceeded to remodel the

postal economy of India, which he placed under one Director-

General. He established a uniform rate of half an anna, or

three farthings, for letters of a given weight, irrespective of

distance, to be levied by means of stamps. He likewise pro-

cured a reduction of the rate of postage between England and

India, and took no little pride in an arrangement by which, as

he said,
" the Scotch recruit at Peshawur might write to his

mother at John O'Groat's house for sixpence." Of all the im-

provements of Lord Dalhousie's administration there was none
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which conferred on the population a blessing so univer-

sally fell as the privilege of sending letters through the

length and breadth of the land, if necessary, to a distance of

two thousand miles, at a cost wnich placed the means of cor-

reepondence within the reach of the poorest.

No Governor-General has ever traversed the
Lord Dalhousie's .

j.mm.ys, vast dominions committed to his care to the same

extent as Lord Dalhousie. He visited the Punjab,

Madras, Pegu, and Sinde, investigating the state of the coun-

try and of the administration with his own eyes, and imme-

diately turning his observations to practical account. Nor did

he overlook the Straits settlements of Penang, Malacca, and

Singapore which had been visited but once by the head of the

state. It was when inspecting the jail at Penang, that he

perceived something resembling a gibbet within the walls, and

found upon enquiry that it was the gallows on which criminals

were executed. He ordered it immediately to be placed with-

out, with the facetious remark that if its position came to be

known in England, he should be liable to an impeachment for

having permitted an infringement of the most ancient and

indefeasible right of an Englishman,
—to be hung in public.

In order to keep the Government of India constantly and fully

acquainted with the state of each division of the empire, he

established the rule that the Governor of each Presidency
and the chief of each province should annually transmit a

report of every event of importance, and of the progress which

had been made in the several departments. These reports

have proved of the highest value. They have enabled the

controlling authorities in England and in India to trace the

progress of improvement in each province, year by year, and

to compare the state of one province with that of another.

They also furnish materials from which the nations of Europe

may estimate the extent to which England is fulfilling her

mission of civilization in India.

Roa.isand The great importance which Lord Dalhousie
Canals, 1848-55. attached to the construction of roads and canals

2 f 2
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has been illustrated in a preceding chapter by a reference to

the great works with which he endowed the Punjab. Other

provinces and districts were likewise benefited by improved

means of communication, but two undertakings deserve to be

selected for particular notice. No sooner had Pegu become a

British province, than Lord Dalhousie perceived the necessity

of connecting it with Bengal by a military road, and thus

obviate the objections of the sepoys to the sea. A road was

constructed from Dacca to Aracan, but not without a great

sacrifice of fife and money. To pass from Aracan to Pegu, it

was necessary to cross the Yoma range through the Toungoo

pass, which presented such formidable obstacles to the engi-

neer that the construction of a road appeared at first an imprac-
ticable undertaking. The mountains were lofty ;

the forests

were dense ; water was scarce, and labour still more so, and

the climate was so pestiferous as to reduce the working season

to five months in the year. It was entrusted to Lieutenant For-

long, who succeeded in collecting, embodying, and training a

brigade of Burmese labourers, and by his untiring zeal and

energy completed the enterprise in two years. Another ardu-

ous and important work, executed under the orders of the

Governor-General, was the road intended to stretch from the

plains of Hindostan to the frontiers of Tibet. The first portion

of it extended from Kalka, where it left the plains, to Simla,

7,800 feet above the level of the sea, a distance of about fifty

miles, and it was accomplished with a gradient of not more

than three feet in a hundred. From Simla the road advanced to

Chini, through the valleys, forests, and cliffs of the mighty

range of the Himalayas ; but the skill and perseverance of the

engineer officers, and more especially of Lieutenant Briggs,

animated by the deep interest Lord Dalhousie took in the work,

surmounted every difficulty. The vale of Chini, the favourite

residence of Lord Dalhousie when in the hills, is surrounded by
the most sublime scenery in the world, and faces the magnificent

Koilas, 21,000 feet above the level of the sea, the fabled para-

dise of the god Shiva. It is one of the most salubrious and
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lovely spots yet discovered in India
; and produces the most

luxuriant grapes at an elevation of 8,700 feet. One object of

constructing the road was to establish a convalescent depot
for European soldiers. Nor was Lord Dalhousie without a

hope that when it was completed, it might attract the traffic

of Tibet, now transported in packs on the shoulders of goats.

The Ganges Canal was sanctioned and commenced before the

arrival of Lord Dalhousie ; but it was advancing at so sluggish
a pace, that the sum expended on it from the beginning had not

exceeded seventeen lacs of rupees. He considered it a work of

paramount importance, and pressed it forward with great ardour,

allowing no financial pressure and no exigencies of war to

interrupt its progress. The sum expended under his direction in

the course of six years exceeded a crore and a-half of rupees.

The main stream was for the first time opened by a grand

ceremonial, over which Mr. Colvin presided, on the 8th AprL
1854. The canal, in its class and character, stands among the

noblest efforts of civilized nations. It nearly equals the aggre-

gate length of all the lines of the four greatest canals in France,

and its length is five times greater than that of all the main

in Lombardy. This gigantic work was designed and

completed by Colonel Cautley, and seldom has the star of

the Bath, which adorns his breast been so richly earned by

pacific labours in the service of humanity.

Mr. Thomason. The Ganges Canal was pressed forward by the

Governor-General with a spirit of zeal proportioned to the

value he attached to it, but the immediate superintendence
of Colonel Cautley's labours devolved on Mr. Thomason, the

Lieutenant-Governor of the north-west provinces. He was

not permitted to see the completion of it ; before its waters

began to fertilize the country his eyes were closed in death,

just as he had been rewarded for his successful administration

of ten years by the governorship of Madras. In 1832, he re-

solved to quit the honourable post he held in Calcutta, in order to

make himself acquainted with the economy of our system of

government in the interior. He took charge of the large and
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populous district of Azimgur, on the borders of Oude, where

in five years he acquired that intimate knowledge of the

working of our institutions which was of the greatest ser-

vice when he came to rule the Presidency. He was sub-

sequently raised to the post of foreign secretary, and was in

attendance, during his tour in the north-west provinces, on

Lord Ellenborough, who, with his characteristic discernment

of talent, selected him for the Lieutenant-Governorship of the

north-west provinces. At the same time, Lord Ellenborough
exhibited a noble instance of disinterestedness by relinquishing

the patronage of that Presidency, which, as well as that of

Bengal, had hitherto been vested in the Governor-General, and

transferring it to the officers charged with the responsibility

of governing them. Mr. Thomason occupies a very high rank

among the great administrators of the Company, and his long,

beneficent, and vigorous administration reflected honour on

the British name in India. Every cold season, he was in the

habit of making a tour through the various districts in his

jurisdiction, which gave him a complete acquaintance with the

circumstances and wants of the people, and the qualifications

of his subordinate officers, and likewise afforded him an oppor-

tunity of conciliating the confidence of the most influential men
in each district by personal intercourse. He devoted great

attention in the revenue department to the establishment of

an equitable and moderate assessment, and the definition of

boundaries, the absence of which was one of the most fruitful

sources of litigation and crime, as well as to the completion

of proprietory records, which he laboured to render accessible

to the native public. But his warmest and most zealous efforts

were directed to the promotion of education, and more par-

ticularly of vernacular tuition
;
and well did he earn the eulogy

of Lord Dalhousie, when, in announcing the loss the country

had sustained by his death, he said, that "though Mr. Thomason

had left no other memorial of his public life behind him, his

system of general vernacular education, which is all his own,

would have sufficed to build up for him a noble and abiding

monument of his earthly career."
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Balhraj*, 18U The system of railways, which is working a

greater and more beneficial change in the social,

political, and commercial condition of India than has been

known al any former period of its history, is due to the indefa-

!« exertions of Lord Dalhousie. The question had been for

Borne time under discussion, when Mr.—now Sir Macdonald—
Stephenson proceeded to Calcutta in 1843, wTith the hope of

drawing the attention of Government and of the public to its

importance. Lord Ellenborough pronounced the whole project

to be moonshine
;
but his temporary successor, Mr. Wilberforce

Bird, announced, in an official communication, that the Govern-

ment was fully alive to the value of the proposal, and would

recommend it to the Court of Directors. About the same time,

Mr. Chapman endeavoured to secure the patronage of the

Bombay Government, and succeeded in laying the foundation

of the Great India Peninsular Rail
; and Mr. Andrew likewise

brought his local knowledge and zeal to the aid of the cause.

Mr. Stephenson returned to England and formed a Company
for the construction of a railway through the valley of the

Ganges, from Calcutta to Delhi. The commercial disasters of

1846 and 1847, which indisposed the public to all railway en-

terprises, gave his task for some time the appearance of a for-

lorn hope, but his indomitable energy and perseverance sur-

mounted every obstacle, and enabled him to give a fair start

to the East India Railway Company, the largest of these Indian

undertakings,
—which now works a capital of twenty-five

crores of rupees, and embraces 1,500 miles of line. It was

manifest that,. under the most favourable circumstances, a rail-

way project in so remote and unexplored a field of labour, could

not attract public confidence without the material support of

Government. But, for a long time, the public authorities hi

Leadenhall Street and in Calcutta, persisted in limiting the aid

of the state to the grant of the land, an insignificant item

of expense in India. The eventual assent of the Court of

Directors to the indispensable concession of a pecuniary guaran-
tee was secured by the enlightened views and earnestness of
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Sir James Hogg, to whom the cause of the railway is not

much less indebted in England, than to Lord Dalhousie in

India. In the year 1848, a guarantee of five per cent, was

granted on two short and experimental lines in the neighbour-
hood of Calcutta and Bombay. Every subsequent concession

was, however, preceded by a severe struggle at the India

House, and in 1852, the total number of miles sanctioned for

the whole continent of India did not exceed two hundred. But

the Court came gradually to appreciate the importance of the

undertaking, and, in referring the various applications which

had been made to them, to the consideration of Lord Dalhousie

in 1852, expressed their wish "that India should, without

unnecessary loss of time, possess the immense advantage of a

regular and well-devised system of railway communications. "

_ . _, .. . ,
The question could not have been placed in the

Lord Dalhousie s L x

Minute, April, hands of one better qualified to do justice to it.

1853 •

Lord Dalhousie had been at the head of the Board

of Trade during the most active period of railway enterprise in

England, and had become master of the principles and details

of the system. With this pre-eminent advantage he miited

large and comprehensive views of imperial policy. In the

memorable Minute which he transmitted to the Court of Direc-

tors on the 20th April, 1853, and which became the basis of

the railway system of India, he expressed his hope that the

limited section of experimental line heretofore sanctioned by
them would no longer form the standard for railway works in

India. A glance upon the map, he remarked, would recal to

mind the vast extent of the empire, the various classes and

interests it included, the wide distance which separated the

points at which hostile attacks might at any time be expected,

the expenditure of time, treasure, and life, involved in the

ordinary routine of military movements, and the comparative
handful of men scattered over its surface who have been the

conquerors of the country, and now hold it in subjection. This

glance would suffice to show how immeasurable would be the

political advantages of a system of internal communication by
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which intelligence of every event should be transmitted to tho

: anient at a speed, under all circumstances, exceeding live

fold its present rate, and Governmentwould be enabled to bring

tho main bulk of its military strength to bear upon any given

p lint in as many days as it now required months. The commer-

cial ami social ailvantageslndia would derive from the rail were

beyond all calculation. Great tracks were teeming with produce

we could not transport, and new markets were opening to us

under circumstances which defy the foresight of the wisest to

estimate their probable value, or calculate their future extent.

A system of railways judiciously selected and formed would

surely and rapidly give rise within this empire to the same en-

couragement of enterprise, the same multiplication of produce,

the same discovery of latent forces, the same increase of national

wealth that have marked the introduction of improved and ex-

tended communications in the various kingdoms of the western

world. With a railway, moreover, touching every important

military station from Calcutta to the Sutlege, native states

would be deterred from resorting to combined attacks ;
and the

army now maintained, might, it was probable, be numerically
reduced without diminishing our military strength. With the

aid of the rail carried up to the Indus, the risks involved in the

extension of our frontier to a distance of 1,500 miles from the

capital of the country would be infinitely diminished. Pesha-

wur would, in fact, be reached in less time and with greater

facility than Moorshedabad, though only seventy miles distant

from Calcutta, was reached in the days of Clive. He already

anticipated the great improvement in the conveyance of troops

from England, which, after the lapse of fourteen years, has

been at length consummated. "If," he said, "when the

Egyptian railway is completed, permission could be obtained

tc send troops through Egypt, a corps might leave England
after the heat of the summer was over, and be quartered be-

fore Christmas on the banks of the Sutlege, without any expo-
sure on its way, and with four months before it of the finest

climate under the sun, and, withal, in less time and with less
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trouble, than it could now march from Calcutta to Benares."

He then proceeded to lay down a system of railways for the

whole continent which should connect the Presidencies with

each other, and form the great trunk lines. He entered into

a minute analysis of the various lines which sought the

patronage of Government, and pointed out their respective

merits and demerits, aud his judgment in each case has been

abundantly confirmed by time and experience. He advocated

the construction of the lines by public companies sustained by
a Government guarantee, and "

directly, but not vexatiously

controlled by the Government of the country, acting for the

interests of the public on the principle for which I contended "

—when at the Board of Trade— " and I may venture, without

arrogance, to add, that if the principle had been then more

fully recognized, the proprietors of railway property in Eng-

land, and the suffering public would have been in a better

condition now than they appear to be." The bitter experience

of the fourteen years which have elapsed since these remarks

were recorded by him has served to give them additional

weight, and to render this melancholy truth more grievously

apparent. But, while England pays the penalty of a hundred

millions sterling for the rejection of Lord Dalhousie's advice,

India will always have reason to rejoice that the construc-

tion of her railway economy fell to the lot of one who com-

bined with a solid judgment and mature experience, the power
to turn them to account.

Result of the This communication reached England at an

MiDute, 1853.
auspicious juncture. The Court of Directors had

already indicated their desire to establish a system of railways

in India, but they might have been staggered by the boldness

and magnitude of Lord Dalhousie's scheme. Happily, the

question of the renewal of the Charter 'was at the time under

the consideration of Parliament. Night after night, were they

assailed for their shortcomings in the management -of the

national estate entrusted to them, arid Mr. Bright, in one of

his most fiery philippics, more particularly denounced their
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neglect to establish the means of communication in India. If

aii)
r hesitation was felt in Leadenhall Street to sanction the

grand proposals of the Governor-General, it soon ceased to

exist, and a guarantee upon a capital of twelve millions was

at once granted. Upon the broad foundation thus laid by the

Governor-General, the Indian authorities at home have raised

a noble superstructure. In the course of fourteen years they

have increased their guarantee from twelve crores to eighty,

for the construction of 4,200 miles of line, and, at the present
»f progression, they will not stop short at a hundred crores.

Of the sum expended on these Indian railways, only about three

per cent, has been contributed by native capitalists and Euro-

peans in India; the remainder has been supplied by the London

Stock Exchange. There are not wanting philosophers who

assert that England gains nothing by her connection with

India, and would lose nothing by cutting her adrift
;
but there

cannot be two opinions on the inestimable advantage which

India derives from her annexation to England, which not only

gives her a strong and beneficent government, the security of

life and property, and the unrestricted pursuit of wealth and

happiness, but enables her to draw from the inexhaustible

mine of British capital, whatever resources are necessary for

material improvements. It was at one time surmised that the

priesthood would take umbrage at this innovation, and that

the unchangeable habits and traditional prejudices of the

Hindoos would present a serious obstacle to the success of

the rail
; but these fancies were dispelled before the line had

been six months in operation. The brahmins, with all their

religious conservatism, hailed it with delight, folded up their

caste prejudices, and travelled thud class with those whose

touch was pollution. At a meeting, moreover, of the Dhurmu
Subha in Calcutta, the great sanhedrim of Hindoo orthodoxy,
which had petitioned the Privy Council for the restoration of

the " sacred rite
"

of suttee, it was unanimously determined

that pilgrims might freely avail themselves of the rail, winch,

considering that the merit of pilgrimage diminishes in propor-
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tion to the ease with which it can be performed, was a conces-

sion of no small merit. Travelling by rail became at once,
and still continues, a national passion, and the number of pas-

sengers conveyed during the last year of account, on the

2,500 miles open, exceeded twelve millions, of whom ninety-
five per cent, were of the third class.

The Electric Another benefit conferred on the commercial
Telegraph, 1852. and poiiticai interests of India by Lord Dalhousie,
was the Electric Telegraph. The system owes its existence

to the professional enterprise and the persevering industry of

Dr.—now Sir William—O'Shaughnessy. After a series of ex-

periments continued for many years in which every failure

became a new element of success, he succeeded in laying a

line from Calcutta to the sea at Kedgeree, which proved to be

of the highest value during the Burmese war. Lord Dalhousie

had watched these experiments with deep interest, and on

receiving from Dr. O'Shaughnessy in April, 1852, a report of

the successful working of the experimental line, lost no time

in transmitting his views on the subject to the Court of Direc-

tors. He said,
" the complete success of the experimental line

has added intensity to the ardent desire I have entertained

ever since the first report was submitted, to see the main line

of electric telegraph between Calcutta and Peshawur, Bombay
and Calcutta, and Madras and Calcutta, fairly commenced

before I quit India next year. Since then the early establish-

ment of the electric telegraph is all important, alike to the

Government and to the community in India
; since it has been

shown to be practicable, safe, cheap, and profitable, I make

my most earnest personal solicitation to the Honourable Court

of Directors, that they will authorize the immediate construc-

tion of a line or fines from Calcutta to Agra, to Bombay, to

Peshawur, and to Madras, either simultaneously, or as soon

as possible, in the order in which they are placed in my list.

Every thing, all the world over, moves faster now a days,

than it used to do, except the transaction of Indian business."

He then proceeded to remark, that, what with the number of
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functionaries, boards, references, correspondences, and the

several (Jovernments in India, what with the distances, the

consultation of the several authorities in England, the refe-

rence to India for further information, and the fresh corre-

spondence arising from it, the progress of any great public

rare, even when all were equally disposed to promote it,

was often diseouragingly slow. To obviate these obstructions,

he directed Dr. O'Shaughnessy to proceed to England simul-

'iisly with the despatch, and place himself in personal

communication with the Court of Directors, and afford them

every information on the subject. Happily, Sir James Hogg
was in the Chair at the India House, and he took the same
interest in promoting the project of the telegraph as he had
that of the railway. It was carried through the various

es with such cordiality and promptitude that, with-

in a week of the arrival of Lord Dalhousie's despatch, it had

received the sanction of the Court and of the Board of Con-

trol, and a despatch conveying this gratifying intelligence was
00 its way to India. There had been no parallel to the expe-
dition of these movements within the memory of the oldest

functionary at the India House. Dr. O'Shaughnessy returned

to India with all the necessary apparatus, and a large staff
;

the construction of the telegraph from Calcutta to Agra was

commenced at the end of 1853, and more than 3,000 miles

were covered with the wires in the course of fifteen

months. Considering the local difficulties presented by the

rivers and the swamps, the jungles and the mountains, Lord

Dalhousie was fully justified in affirming that the electric

telegraph in India might challenge comparison with any

public enterprise which had been carried into execution in

recent times, among the nations of Europe or America. The

establishment of these telegraph lines, which now extend over

not less than 12,000 miles, have fully answered the expecta-

tions of the Governor-General by increasing the security of the

empire, and multiplying the facilities of governing it. Even

his most ambitious anticipations have been realized by the



446 ADDITIONAL SECURITY TO THE EMPIRE. [CHAP.

progress of science and the energies of civilization.
" It may

yet be hoped," he wrote,
" that the system of electric tele-

graphs in India may one day be linked with those which

envelope Europe, and which already seek to stretch across the

Atlantic." The Governor-General is able now to hold communi-

cation with the Secretary of State in London between breakfast

and dinner, and a message from New York has been conveyed
to Calcutta in less than twenty-four hours. Since the days
of Lord Wellesley, who was at one time without intelligence

from England for seven months, the appliances for main-

taining our dominion in India have been augmented to an

indefinite degree. The reasonable apprehensions once enter-

tained that the extension of the boundaries of the empire would

increase its insecurity, have vanished before the miracles of

modern science. Steam and electricity have given an irresis-

tible strength to European power in Asia. The British Go-

vernment in India is now prepared for every emergency. If,

at the period of the Sepoy mutiny, when the British empire
was exposed to the greatest danger it had ever encountered,

the Government had possessed the advantages which have

since been created,
—

telegraphic wires pervading every district,

and stretching to London, magnificent steam transports on

both sides the Isthmus of Suez, with the Egyptian rail as the

connecting link, railways radiating from Bombay and extend-

ing throughout the country
—any number of European troops

might have reached the north-west provinces from England
within five weeks of the outbreak at Meerut, and the mutiny
would have been crushed in the bud.

Character of Lord Lord Dalhousie embarked at Calcutta on the
Daihousie's Ad-

6th Mardl 1856 for England. The whole popu-
ministration, ° re
1856. lation, moved by a feeling of admiration of the

great ruler who had enlarged and consolidated the empire, and

enriched it with solid and lasting improvements, crowded the

plain to testify their regret at his departure. Eight years of

incessant toil in the service of his country had completely

exhausted his constitution, and after a painful and lingering
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illness o( more than four yean, he sunk into the grave on tbe

19th December, I860, ffia administration marks a new

imporl I civilization in India. The principle of uninter-

rupted progression which has since characterized the move-

ments of Government is due to the impulse which he comrau-

Dicated to it. To his genius is to be ascribed the gTateful fact

that the India of 1867 presents so pre-eminent a contrast to

the India of 1847. He grasped the largest projects for the

improvement of the country, and his views of policy were of

imperial magnitude. In all his measures he exhibited a clear

intellect, a sound judgment, and deep sagacity, while his firm-

of purpose and resolution of character turned all these

qualifications to the highest account. He communicated vigour
to the administration by exacting a rigid performance of duty
from all under him, and he set them the example of his own

intense application to public business, to which, by a noble

devotion, he sacrificed leisure, ease, comfort, and even health.

He investigated every question that came before him with

great patience and diligence, and with a scrupulous desire to

be right. He marshalled all the arguments which could be

adduced on both sides of it, and always recorded weighty
ms for whatever decision he formed, the soundness of

which was seldom questioned either by his colleagues, or by
the public in India. If he had little imagination for the sensi-

tive feelings of princes who represented ancient and effete

dynasties, the absence of it was in some degree compensated

by his compassion for their misgoverned subjects; and his

administration was distinguished throughout by incessant

efforts to benefit the people, whether in our own territories

or independent states. The present age is inclined to form

its judgment of his administration from the narrow point of

his refusal to commit the government of Sattara, Jhansi. and

ore to three lads, when he was authorized by the ancient

; India, and the orders of his superiors in England, to

incorporate those states with the territories of the paramount

power—and thus bestow on them the blessing of a British
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administration. When this error has had its day, and his

administration comes to be surveyed in its broad dimensions,

it will be apparent that he exhibited perhaps the finest

example which ancient or modern history affords, of what

can be accomplished for the benefit of mankind by an en-

lightened despotism acting upon a large theatre.

Lord Daihousie's
^ord Dalhousie has been censured for not

not foreseeing having foreseen the mutiny, and provided against

it. It has been noted against him, that the only

allusion to the native army in the Minute in which he re-

viewed his administration was, that "the position of the

native soldier in India had long been such as to leave hardly

any circumstance of his condition in need of improvement,

while the condition of the European soldier, on the other hand,

was susceptible of great improvement, and had received it

liberally." This had reference to the condition in which the

sepoy had been placed by his indulgent masters, not to his

feeling towards them. The repeated acts of insubordination

exhibited by the sepoys convinced Lord Dalhousie that the

native army was no longer to be depended on ; but neither he

nor Sir Henry Lawrence, nor any other public functionary,

ever dreamt that a hundred thousand sepoys, after all the

attention which had been bestowed on their comforts, would

rise as one man, massacre their officers, and endeavour to sub-

vert the Government. Such an anticipation would have been

deemed as wild and improbable as that the United States of

xlmerica were likely to be plunged into a civil war, and to

prosecute it on the grandest scale the world had ever seen.

The constitution of the native army was vicious in the ex-

treme. Two fifths of the sepoys were drawn from a single

province, and the fraternity thus established in the various

regiments, caused every feeling of irritation to vibrate through
the whole body. It was impossible for Lord Dalhousie to

eradicate this fundamental defect, and the only practicable mode
of averting its consequence, was to re-establish the proportion
between European and native troops, which from the days of
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Lord Cornwallis had been considered essential to our safety.

He had fixed tho proportion at one to three, but not less than

one to four; it had now been reduced to the dangerous scale

of one to six. To this vital question Lord Dalhousie bent his

earnest attention. During the Crimean war the Ministry
announced their intention to withdraw two European regi-

ments from India, but Lord Dalhousie raised the strongest

objections to it. In his Minute on the subject he stated that
" the withdrawal of European troops from India to Europe
would weaken the essential element of our strength ;

if Euro-

pean troops were farther withdrawn for service in the Persian

gulf, he could no longer feel, or express, the same confidence

as before, that the security and stability of our position would

remain unassailed." He confidently submitted to the candour

of Her Majesty's Ministers, that "
placed as it is amidst dis-

tances so vast—amidst multitudes so innumerable—amidst

peoples and sects various in many things, but all alike in this,

that they are the lately conquered subjects of our race, alien

to them in religion, in language, in colour, in habits, in all

feelings and interests, the Government of India has had solid

ground for the declaration more than once made of late years,

that the European force at its command is not more than ade-

quate for preserving the empire in security and tranquillity

even in ordinary times," much less then, in circumstances of

political difficulty. The regimenis were, notwithstanding,
withdrawn both to the Crimea and to the Persian gulf, and

when the mutiny broke forth, the entire force of European

infantry at all the Presidencies had been reduced to thirty-

one battalions, and there were only two regiments between

Calcutta and Agra, a distance of 800 miles, amidst a popula-
tion of fifty millions. Treble that number, under a Gillespie

or a Havelock would have been sufficient to strike terror into

the mutineers, and to restore our authority. On the last day
Lord Dalhousie presided in Council, he laid on the table nine

Minutes in which he stated his mature and final views regard-

ing the condition of the army and the requirements of the

in. 2 o
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country. He considered it essential to increase the European

battalions to thirty-seven, and to reduce the sepoy army by

14,000 men, and thus to protect the Government from the

hazard to which it was exposed by the disproportion of the

sepoy force.

The annexation
-^ord Dalhousie has been charged not only with

policy and the having neglected to foresee the mutiny, but with
mutiny, 1857.

laying \)een himself the cause of it. When the

intelligence of this catastrophe reached England, the nation

became wild with excitement at the prospect of losing the

empire,
—in which it had manifested but little interest before,

—and swelled with indignation at the atrocities of the sepoys.

In this state of feeling, a national victim was required, and

it was found in the person of the late Governor-General. Those

who had always been opposed to annexation came to the con-

clusion that it had now produced the result they had long fore-

seen, of shaking our empire in India to its foundations. " Lord

Dalhousie's annexation policy has caused the mutiny," was

echoed through the land. A dictum thus pronounced by men
who were supposed to understand India relieved the mind

from the labour of thought, and became an article of faith.

All his services were forgotten in the tragedy which " his

lust of territorial aggrandisement
" had created ; and instead

of receiving the ovation due to a great statesman who had

enlarged the dominions of England, and planted the seeds of

a great civilization among a fifth of the human race, his name
became a scandal and a reproach. The investigations which

have since been made have tended to show the fallacy of this

hasty assumption. That the annexation by war or lapse did

not create the mutiny, appears evident from the fact that

except in the case of Oude, and the little principality of Jhansi

under the instigation of the enraged ranee, none of the annexed

provinces manifested the slightest disposition to turn against
us in the great crisis. Sattara and Nagpore were tranquil.

Burmah was so contented with its new masters that the

European corps stationed in it was withdrawn with safety,
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and the Punjab was mainly instrumental in putting down the

mutiny. If the annexations had created any of that alarm for

their own possessions in the minds of the independent princes

of India, Sindia, Holkar, the Guickwar, or the Nizam, which

was assumed, the fairest opportunity was now presented to

them for expelling us from India by the revolt of the whole

native army, and the extinction of our authority in Hindostan.

But so exemplary was their lo}
T

alty to the British Government
in the day of its extremity, that the advocates of native

dynasties have adduced it as one of the strongest arguments
for maintaining them. Neither did the sepoys manifest any

feeling of irritation at the annexation even of their own pro-
vince. They took up arms to avenge, not the deposition of

their sovereign, but the supposed attempt on their caste.

Their relatives and connections included a tenth of the whole

population, as well as the great bulk of the agricultural

yeomanry, and strange indeed would it have been if they had

remained inactive when the sepoy army was triumphant in its

rebellion, and the Resident was besieged in Lueknow. The
zemindars in Oude, whom it was the object of the incorpora-

tion to restrain from plundeT and oppression, did in many
cases join the malcontents ; but during the entire period of the

eclipse of our authority in that province, neither sepoy, nor

zemindar, nor peasant, appears to have manifested any desire

to restore the king to his throne.

_ It does not fall within the compass of this work
The assumed r

causes of the to embrace the period of the mutiny. We live, in
mutiny, 1857. ^^ too Qear ^g &tUpencjous event, and the feel-

ings it has excited are still too sensitive, to admit of a calm

and conclusive judgment of its origin and character. All that

can be expected of the present age is to contribute individual

opinions, more or less valuable, for the examination of the

future historian. Under this impression, a few brief remarks

on the mutiny suggested by this review of our progress in

India, are offered to the candour of the reader. It has been

surmised that the melancholy events of 1857 are to be attri-

2g2
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buted to a national revolt against our authority. But, inde-

pendently of the irresistible conclusion that, if this had been

the case, we could not have retained our footing on the con-

tinent, all the evidence which has since been collected runs

counter to this hypothesis. There was no insurrection in any
district of any class, however lawless, until after our authority

had been extinguished by the triumph of the sepoys, when
all the vagabonds were let loose upon the country, and petty

and obscure chiefs came forth to take advantage of the con-

fusion. In many districts, on the contrary, natives of influence

stepped forward and maintained order, till we should return.

Where there were no sepoys, there was no insurrection.

Wherever there was revolt, it was the consequence, and not

the cause of the mutiny. Neither does the resumption of

rent-free tenures, thirt}' years before, appear to have exercised

any influence, as has been asserted, upon the revolt. The

province of Behar, with seven millions of inhabitants, of a

martial character, had suffered more severely than any
other province from the operation of the resumption law;

but, with the exception of one district, there was no symp-
tom of disaffection till after the mutinous sepoys had been

allowed, by the weakness of the General commanding at

Dinapore, to overspread it. We refer to Shahabad, where

Koer Sing, the most influential of the zemindars, whose cir-

cumstances were irretrievably embarrassed, threw himself into

the cause of the mutineers and set the Government at de-

fiance, in the hope of obtaining relief from the process of the

courts and the pursuit of his creditors. In two of the most

flourishing districts of Behar, containing 10,000 square miles,

and filled with landholders whose fathers had felt the heavyhand

of resumption, not a finger was raised against our Government,

though there was not so much as a corporal's guard left to

maintain our power. The mutiny has likewise been attributed

to the virtues of our administration, the introduction of female

schools, the spread of English education, the railway, the

telegraph, and, indeed, to whatever contributed to lessen the
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importance and authority of the priesthood. But the sepoys
knew nothing of English instruction, and none of our improve-
ments had ever reached them. They had been scrupulously

guarded by our timidity from everything that could remotely
affect their religious prejudices. The railroad was then un-

known out of Bengal. It was in Bengal that the influence

of the priesthood had been most rudely shaken by a flood of

improvements ; but the thirty millions of Bengalees never

dreamt of rebellion. Moreover, in no province had those

measures and those innovations to which the mutiny has been

ascribed been introduced with more rapidity and vigour than

in the newly conquered province of the Punjab. In the

course of seven years, the Lawrences had abolished suttees

and infanticide, two practices ardently cherished by the

upper classes ; they had carried out an extensive plan of

resumptions ; they had humiliated Runjeet Sing's aristocracy ;

established English schools; fostered female education, and

even introduced the telegraph. But the Sikhs, instead of

making common cause with the sepoys, and seizing the oppor-

tunity to re-establish their beloved Khalsa, hastened to assist

in putting down the mutineers and restoring our authority.

Real cause of the
" The mutiny," says Sir John Lawrence,

" had
mutiny, 1857.

fts origin in the army itself ; it is not attributable

to'any external or antecedent conspiracy whatever, although it

was afterwards taken advantage of by disaffected persons to

compass their own ends; the approximate cause was the

cartridge affair, and nothing else." This assertion, made by
the highest authority on the subject, is corroborated by irre-

fragable evidence. Neither the old resumptions, nor the

spread of English, nor the attempt to teach females, nor the

diffusion of knowledge, nor the railway, nor the telegraph, nor all

other causes which have been conjectured, put together, were

sufficient to account for the savage mutiny of a hundred thou-

sand sepoys ;
while the delirious alarm created by the story of

the greased cartridges is fully adequate to the effect. The

sepoy rebels only for his pay or his caste. The various muti-
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nies which have been enumerated in this work, between 1763

and 1853, may all be traced to one or other of these causes.

The condition of the sepoy as regarded his pay left him nothing
to desire, but the most strenuous efforts had been made, after

the arrival of Lord Canning, to persuade him that his religion

was in danger. It was confidently affirmed that Lord Canning
had come out especially pledged to the Queen to make all the

army Christians, and had undertaken to have all the native

officers to dine at Government House. The King of Oude had

left Lucknow, and planted his residence in the suburbs of Cal-

cutta, and his emissaries were incessantly employed in inflam-

ing the minds of the sepoys, as the family of Tippoo had done

at Vellore. Then came the report which spread like wild-fire,

that the cartridges had been greased with the fat of cows and

pigs, with the object of destroying the caste of both Mahome-
dans and Hindoos. The preposterous tale was believed by

ninety-nine out of every hundred sepoys, and a feeling of un-

controllable alarm for their religion and their caste spread

through every regiment, from Calcutta to Peshawur, and the

whole army was extinguished in a blaze of mutiny.

The charter of
^ne Charter of 1833 expired in 1853, and a

1853; changes it strenuous effort was made in Parliament to wrest

the Government of India from the Company, but

the Whig Ministry resolved to continue it in their hands, until

Parliament should otherwise ordain. The India Bill was intro-

duced in the House of Commons by Sir Charles Wood, the

President of the Board of Control, in a lucid speech of five

hours, which, considering that he had been only a few months

in office, and was previously ignorant of India, exhibited great

power of analysis, and held out the prospect of an enlight-

ened and vigorous administration, which has since been fully

realized. The settlement did not last much beyond five years,

and it is only necessary to notice the three chief modifications

which it embodied. The number of the Court of Directors

was reduced from thirty to eighteen, and the elimination was

performed by a most ingenious process of balloting, devised
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for the occasion. Of the reduced number of Directors, a

certain proportion was to be nominated by the Crown. This

was no small improvement on the old constitution of the

Court, into which it was impossible to obtain admission,

except after a laborious and humiliating canvass, often pro-

longed for years. The most eminent statesmen of the Com-

pany's service, men like Malcolm, Elphinstone, and Metcalfe,

whose experience and influence would have been invaluable at

the India House, were thus excluded from all share in the home

Government, from their invincible repugnance to this weari-

some mode of election ;
and the vacancies were filled up with

bankers and brewers, and captains of ships, and other city

men, who coveted a seat in the Direction for its position and

its patronage. Under the new arrangement the Minister

was enabled to call to his aid the most eminent of the

Company's retired officers. A second improvement con-

sisted in entrusting the Government of Bengal and Behar

to a separate Lieutenant-Governor. These provinces con-

tained a thriving population of thirty-five millions, and con-

tributed one-third of the revenues of the whole empire, yet

the task of administering the Government was still imposed
on the Governor-General, when in Calcutta, even after his

imperial functions had been doubled. He was generally

absent more than half his time, and this duty devolved upon
the senior member of Council, who sometimes happened to

be a military officer, rewarded for services in the field, or for

reforming the Commissariat at Madras, by a seat at the Council

Board and £10,000 a-year. Under this anomalous system there

were no fewer than ten successive Governors and Deputy
Governors of Bengal in the course of eleven years. Happily
Mr.—now Sir Frederick—Halliday continued to hold the post
of Secretary throughout this period of permanent instability

and inevitable weakness, and it was owing entirely to his local

knowledge and experience, his sound judgment and great

diligence that the administration exhibited any degree of

Bpirit, or even consistency. His long and eminent services
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were rewarded by the first appointment to the Lieutenant-

Governorship. By a third provision in the Charter, the

patronage of the Civil Service was withdrawn from the Court

of Directors to make way for the principle of unreserved

competition. This system has entirely changed the character

of the service, but there has not as yet been sufficient ti, le

to estimate its full effect on the general interests of the

empire. It possesses many advantages, but is not, of course,

without its drawbacks. At all events, the new class of men
whom it introduces into the service have the advantage of a

high standard of excellence before them. The nomination

system, with all its tendency to jobbery, did produce a fine

body of public servants, who were invariably distinguished

by the honourable bearing and high principle of English

gentlemen, and who, with few exceptions, threw their whole

soul into their work and took a pride in the efficient perform-
ance of it. It is to be hoped that when the higher responsi-

bilities of office devolve on those who have entered the service

by competition, they will be found equally competent to repre-

sent the dignity of British power among the nobles and princes

of India, and equally anxious to conciliate the confidence of

the people by their consideration and kindness.

* ^ ^ The East India Company fell with the mutinyEnd of the East F J J

India Company, of 1857. That catastrophe would equally have

occurred, if the government had been in the hands

of the Crown. Indeed, the Board of Control had been for

more than seventy years the mainspring of authority, and the

Court was little more than the medium of making public its

decisions. If any portion of the responsibility of the mutiny
was attached to the authorities in England, it belonged to the

Prime Minister,, who, in utter disregard of the experience of

the past, and the deliberate opinion of successive Governors-

General, and the remonstrances of Lord Dalhousie, withdrew

the European regiments, which formed l< the essential element

of our strength." But when the appalling crisis came, the

national feeling sought relief and comfort, both with regard
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to the past and the future, in changing the organs of govern-

ment, and the East India Company was required to resign

its power. Its work was accomplished, and the cycle of its

existence completed. It was created by the Crown, two

hundred and fifty years before, for the purpose of extending

Britisd commerce to the East; and it transferred to the

Crown, on relinquishing its functions, an empire more magni-

ficent than that of Rome. Its political power began with the

battle of Plassy ; and in the course of a single century, its

servants abroad, contrary to every injunction from home, but

acting under the influence of an irresistible impulse, extended

its authority over the whole continent. A company of mer-

chants in London thus became the instrument, under the

mysterious, but wise and benignant agency of Divine Provi-

dence, of establishing the British empire in India, with all its

attendant blessings, and of leading the way to the extension

of European supremacy throughout Asia.

finis.
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a 188
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; ravages the Carnatic

;
Mahratta system of

plundering, a 255; sends a great army against theAbdalees, a 289; which
is defeated at Paniput, a 291

;
dies of a broken heart, a 292

Balance of power in India extinguished by the battle of Kurdla, b 73.
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; gains 60 lacs by the payment of the Nabob's debts

without enquiry, a 437.

Bengal, introduction of brahmins and kayusts, a 26; Hindoo power extin-

guished, a 45; revolts from the throne of Delhi, a 63; reconquered by
Akbar, a 112

;
establishment of Portuguese power in it, a 137

; its total

extinction, a 139
;
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b 403 ; collects a large army and defies the Government, 6 406 ; second

siege and capture, b 407
; disgraceful plunder, b 409

;
effects of the capture

in Tndia, b 410.

Bidges'ur, captured by the English ;
the troops divide 40 lacs of booty among

themselves, a 417.

Bird, Mr. Robert, his eminent services in the settlement of the north-west

provinces, c48.

Bird, Mr Wilberforce, Deputy-Governor of Bengal, improves the condition of

the magistracy, and raises the pay of the Darogas, c 268
; instrumental in

abolishing lotteries, c269; and slavery, c270.
Black Hole, the tragedy of, a 273.

Board of Control, established by Mr. Pitt, a 433; Board of Customs, Salt, and

Opium abolished in Calcutta, c 430 ; Board of Revenue left, c 430
; Military

Board abolished, c431.

Bombay, the port acquired from the King of Portugal, a 208; the Presiaency
enlarged by the territories taken from ihe Peshwa, b 365.

Bombay, President and Council; offer assistance to Raghoba; capture Sal-

6ette, a 358; conclude the treaty of Surat with Raghoba, a 359; which
is disallowed at Calcutta, a 360

; despatch an army to Poonah in the
cause of Raghoba, a 365

;
the disgraceful convention of Wurgaum, a 367

;

which the Council repudiate, a 369.

Boodh, his birth, religion and death, a 11.

Boodhism spreads through Ceylon, Tibet, Tartary, and China, a 1L
Boodhists expelled from India, a 18.

Boorhanpore captured, b 150.

Bourbon, Isle of, captured by an English force, h 248.

Broadfoot, Major, his eminent servics at Jellalabad, c205; political agent at
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Loodiana, c 283
; his efforts to collect supplies during the first Sikh war,

c 283
;
his death at Ferozeshuhur, c 291.

Brumha. his worship succeeds the Institutes of Munoo. a 6.

Buckingham, Mr. J. 8., banished from India by Mr. Adam, b 382.

Bulbun, emperor of Delhi, his exemplary reign, a 51.

Buonaparte sends a large armament to Pondicherry, after the peace of Amiens,
which Lord Wellesley does not allow to land, b 113.

Burmah
; rise and progress of Burmese power, b 382

; haughty treatment of

British envoys, b 383
; conquests of the Burmese, 1815-23, b 384 ; origin of

the first war, b 385 ; faulty arrangements of the campaign, b 387
;

dis-«

aster at Ramoo, 5 388; arrival of the expedition at Rangoon, 6 389; sick-

ness and mortality, Z»390; army advances to Prome, 6 395; negotiations
for peace, b 395; final engagement, b 397; treaty of Yandaboo, b 398;
remarks on the war, b 398

;
second Burmese war, c 360

; organization of

the force, c 368
; capture of Rangoon, c 369

;
war closed without a treaty

c371; annexation of Pegu, c372.

luirnes, Oapt., proceeds up the Indus with the dray horses for Runjeet Sing,
c37; honourably welcomed by him, c38; sent on a mission to Cabul,
cl24: his negotiations with the Dost, cl24; his false position, cl25;
failure of his mission, and his departure from Cabul, c 129 ; knighted,
c 152 ; murdered on the 2nd Nov. 1841, c 174.

Bussy, makes Salabut Jung sor badar, a 245
;
obtains large donations from

him, a 253
;
obtains the northern sircars, and establishes a great French

power in the Deccan, a 254
; captures the English factories on the ooast,

a 257
;
his character and progress ;

his power extinguished by Lally,
a 258

;
returns to India at the end of twenty-four years, and reaches the

coast, a 404
;
his operations at Cuddalore suspended by the news ol peace

between France and England a 405.

Buxar, the Nabob Vizier defeated at the battle of, a 305.

Byram of Ghuznee, the last of the dynasty, puts Seif-ood-deen to death;
defeated by Alla-ood-deen ;

his death, a 39.

Cabral, conducts the second Portuguese expedition to India, and discovers

Brazil, a 86 ; intrigues against him at Calicut
;
he seizes Moorish vessels

and burns the town, a 87.

Cabul, occupied by a British army, c 148
; troops turned out of the Bala Hissar,

c 157 ; insurrection of the 2nd Nov. 1841, c 173
; inactivity of the political

and military chiefs, c 175 ; the envoy calls up a reinforcement from Can-

dahar, which returns after a few marches, c 179 ;
he orders Gen. Sale to re-

tarn, but he proceeds on to Jellalabad, c 178
; spi'ead of the insurrection,

cl76 ;
fatal error in the construction ot the cantonments, c 177 ; Brigadier

Shelton made second in command, cl81; his impracticable temper, c 181
;

the last action, 23rd Nov., c 183; negotiations with the insurgent chiefs,

c 184 ; treaty of 11th Dec. violated by the chiefs, c 186
;
assassination of Sir

W. Macnaghten, c 189 ; renewed negotiations with Major Pottinger, c 190 ;

new treaty, cl92; retreat of the army, cl°2; its unexampled misery,
c 193

;
surrender of the ladies and officers, c 193 ; total extinction of the

foi-ce, cl95; character and effects of the catastrophe, cl95; second expe-
dition to Cabul, c217; the city reoccupied, c223; rescue of the British

prisoners and hostages, c 225
;

destruction of the great bazaar, c 227
;

departure of the British army, c 228.

Cachar, campaign in, b 392; annexed by Lord W. Bentinck, c 11.

Calcutta, foundation of, a 214; its fortification, a 216; the Mahratta ditch,

a I'll
;

its defenceless state in 1756, a 271
; besieged by Seraja Dowlah,

a 272
;
surrenders

; tragedy of the Black Hole, a 273
; recaptured by Clive,

a 275 becomes the capital of Bengal, a 343.

Calcutta Council, its atrocious conduct regarding the transit duties, a 301;
makes war on Meer Cassim, a 302

;
its rapacity on the elevation of Nujum-

ood-dowlah, a 307.

Calicut, becomes independent in the ninth century, a 22
;
the Zamorin receives
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the first Portuguese expedition, a 85
;
he attacks the Portuguese, and is

defeated, a 119.

Campbell, Capt., his efforts to eradicate human sacrifices in Goomsoor, c 109.

Canals of the Mogul dynasty, restored by Lord Hastings, c305; the great

Ganges Canal, designed by Col. Cautley, c. 305; begun by Lord Auckland,
c 306; works suspended by Lord Ellenborough, c 306; resumed and pushed
forward by Lord Hardinge, c 307 ; energetic efforts of Lord Dalhousie to

complete it, c 437 ;
constructed and finished by Col. Cautley, c 437

; Baree
Dooab Canal in the Punjab, projected by Lord Dalhousie and executed by
Col. Napier, c 359.

Candahar, betrayed by Ali Merdan to the Moguls, a 139
; reconquered by the

Persians
;
three unsuccessful efforts to retake it by the Moguls, a 140

;

captured by the expeditionary force, in 1839, c 145; disaffection of the

Dooranees, c 167; their total discomfiture, c 168
; progress of events

after the insurrection at Cabul, c 210 ; admirable arrangements of Gen. Nott
and Major Kawlinson, c 210 ; attacked by the insurgents 10th March, 1842,
defended by Major Lane and Major Kawlinson, c 211

; army quits it, and
marches to Cabul, c 223.

Candesh, becomes independent, a 65; is subordinate to the neighbouring
princes, a 71; annexed to the Mogul empire, a 121.

Carnac, Col., his incapacity and supersession, a 366, 367.

Carnatic, invaded by Sevajee, a 168; its extent; overrun by the Moguls; en-
trusted to Zulfikar Khan, Daood Khan, and Sadutoolla, a 229; Anwar-ood-
deen founds the family of the Nabobs of the Carnatic, a 231

;
its revenues

taken over for the expenses of the Mysore war, a 396 ; restored to the
Nabob by Mr. Dundas, a 438

; deplorable embarrassment of the Nabob
;

fleeced by his creditors, European and native, b 104
;
makes assignments

of land contrary to the treaty, 6105; Lord Wellesley offers a reasonable

settlement, which he refuses, b 106; discovery of his treasonable cor-

respondence with Tippoo, b 106
; Lord Wellesley annexes the Carnatic,

b 107 ;
new treaty with the Nabob in 1801 ; its personal character, a 108 ;

Nabob dies childless in 1853, c 404; Lord Harris proposes to extinguish
the Nabobship, c 404 ; Lord Dalhousie fully concurs with him, c 405

; Court
of Directors order the titular Nabobship to cease, c406.

Cashmere conquered by Akbar, a 113
;
and by Runjeet Sing, c 33

;
sold by the

British Government to Golab Sing, in 1846, c 299.

Ceded and conquered provinces receive the promise of a permanent settle-

ment, from Lord Wellesley, b 265
;
disallowed by the Court of Directors,

b 266 ; settlement made by Mr. Robert Bird, c 47.

Chandernagore, established by the French, a 209 ; captured by Clive, a 277.

Chand Sultana, her noble defence of Ahmednugur, a 120
;
her tragic death,

a 121.

Charnock, retires from Hooghly to Chuttanutty, a 211
; is taken away to Madras

by Captain Heath, a 213 ; returns and founds Calcutta
;

his death and
monument, a 214.

Charter of the East India Company of 1793, b 49
; of 1813, b 273 ; of 1833, c 82

of 1853, c454

Cheyt Sing, the raja of Benares ;
his family and position ; extraordinary aid

demanded of him, a 415
;
he hesitates, and Mr. Hastings imposes a fine of

50 lacs on him
;

is placed under restraint and escapes to Ramnugur, c 416
;

to Bidgegur, a 417
;
and to Bundlecund, a 418

;
remarks on this trans-

action, a 418.

Chillianwalla, battle of, c 333
; its results, c 337

; public opinion of it in

England and in India, c 338; leads to the recal of Lord Gough, c 339.

Chin Kilich Khan, the Tartar, as Nizam-ool-moolk, appointed subadar of the

Deccan, and founds a new dynasty, a 186.

Chinsurah, its foundation, a 209
; attacked by Clive, a 285.

Cbittore, illustrious ancestry of the raja, a 23 ;
invaded by Mahmoon, who is

defeated by Khoman, a 26
; captured by Akbar, q 109

; singular mode in

III. 2 H
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which the capture is commemorated to this day ; abandoned for Oodypore,
a 109.

Oholas in the Deccan, a 21.

Cholera, its first appearance in India in Col. Pearce's detachment proceeding to

Madras, a 375
;
breaks out in Lord Hastings's camp in 1817, 6 329.

Christianity introduced into India by St. Thomas, a 20
; propagation of it in

India, 6 213.

Christian natives first admitted to office by Lord W. Bentinck, c 57.

Chronology, ancient, of the Hindoos, a 2.

Chunda Sahib, his origin; allies himself with the French, a 230; a prisoner
in Satara

;
is liberated, a 239

; proclaimed Nabob of the Carnatic, a 241
;

marches against Tanjore and obliged to retire, a 242
; gives himself up to

Mahomed Ali, who orders him to be put to death, a 248.

Chundra-goopta, king of Mugudu, his connection with Seleucus, a 15.

Cbutter Sing goes into revolt, c 318; delivers up his sword to Gen. Gilbert,
c347.

Cis-Sutlege province confiscated by Lord Hardinge, c 284.

Civil Courts, new organization of, in 1793, 6 36.

Civil Service, its efficiency; its high and honourable character, b 367
;
thrown

open to competition in 1853
;
remarks on the change, c456.

Clerk, Mr. George, his energetic efforts to retrieve the disasters of Cabul, c 197 ;

Governor of Bombay, c 382
;
Sir George Clerk's Minute on the case of

adoption at Sattara, c 384.

Cleveland, Augustus, his efforts to civilize the Rajmahal hill tribes, c 99.

Clive, first development of his genius, a 239
; captures Arcot, a 246 ; memorable

siege of that place, a 247
; captures Gheriah ; Governor of Fort St. David,

a 269; tent to recover Calcutta, a 274
;
retakes it, and attacks Hooghly,

a 275
;
defeats the Nabob, a 276

; captures Chandernagore, a 211
; victory

at Plassy, a 279
;
sends an expedition under Col. Forde to the coast, a 283

,

conflict with the Dutch, a 285
;
returns to England, a 286

;
created a peer,

a 307
;
his unworthy treatment in England ;

Court of Directors constrained
to send him out a second time as Governor to Bengal, a 308

;
his arrange-

ment with the Nabob of Moorshedabad, the Emperor and the Vizier,
a 310; gives back Oude; obtains the Dewanny, «310; quells the mutiny
of the European officers; sets up the society of inland trade, a 313

; returns
to England; review of his career; bullied and badgered at home, a 315;
his tragic death, a 316.

Cole insurrection, c 8.

College of Fort William, established by Lord Wellesley, b 123
; abolished by

the orders of the Court, and revived in a modified form, b 125.

Colvin, Mr. John, private secretary to Lord Auckland; his great influence
over his mind

;
one of his counsellors, c 123 ; promotes the Afghan expe-

dition, c 123.

Combermere, Lord, captures Bhurtpore, b 409
;
obtains six lacs of rupees of

prize money, 6409.

Conolly, Capt. Arthur, his treatment at Bokhara, and his execution,
c236.

Coorg, character of the country, c 11
;
atrocities of the raja, c 12

; conquered
and annexed. cl3.

Coote, Col., defeats Lally at Wandewash, a 261
; captures Pondicherry, a 263

;

Sir Eyre appointed Commander-in-chief in Bengal ;
embarks for Madras,

a 392'; captures Carangolly ; gains the battle of Porto Novo, a 393
;
and

of Pollilore, a 394
;
and of Solingur, a 395

;
his death, a 404.

Cornwallis, Lord; his antecedents; his great reputation, 6 4; appointed
Governor-General

;
sets about the reform of abuses, 6 5 ; enumeration of

them, 6 6
;
demands the Guntoor Sircar, 6 9 ; the Nizam's demand of aid

perplexes him
;
his notable letter to the Nizam, 6 10 ; resolves on war with

Tippoo, 6 12; treaties of alliance with the Nizam and the Mahrattas, 6 13
;

leaves the campaign of 1790 to General Meadows, 6 14
;
sends a force by
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land to Madras, J 15; takes the field in person; arrives at Madras;
marches towards Seringapatam, b 16

; captures Bangalore, b 17
;
battle of

Arikera, h L8; obliged to retire through want of provisions, b 19; con-

quers the K;u;iin:ili il
; captures numerous forts; the grand convoy, b 22;

he marches into Mysore; captures the defences around Seringapatam,
b 23; Tippoo sues for peace, b 24; peace of Seringapatam, b 25; ita

tonus, b foj his proceedings arraigned in both Houses; ratified by Par-

liament; he is created a Marquis, b 28 ; his revenue reforms, b 29; his

code, h :>7
i
his oivil and criminal institutions, b 36; review of them at

the end of seventy years, b 268; he proposes the guarantee treaty, which
is accepted by the Nizam, b 52; and rejected by the Mahrattas, b 53; he
returns to England, b 53 ; accepts the office of Governor-General, but
throws it up in disgust, b 67 ; goes out to India a second time as

Governor-General in 1805, b 185; annuls Lord Wellesley's policy, 6 187
;

his death, 6 189.

Court of Directors, contend with the Board of Control, in the matter of Palmer
and Co., of Hyderabad, c 73 ; writ of mandamus issued against them, and

they sign the despatch under compulsion, c 74 ;
resist the orders of the

Board to compel the King of Oude to pay the demands of the bankers,
c 75 ; their enlightened despatch to India after the Charter of 1833, c 87

;

character of their government for twenty-five years after that date, to the

day of their extinction, c 87 ; number reduced from thirty to eighteen, c 454.

Cunouj ; its magnificence ;
the king submits to Mahmood of Ghuznee,

a 32 ; occupied by the Rathores, a 41
;
the king celebrates the sacrifice

of the horse, a 42; conquered by Mahomed Ghory, and the Kingdom
extinguished, a 45.

Currie, Sir F., resident at Lahore, c 310
;
his proceedings during the revolt of

the Sikhs, c 313-318.

Cuttack, made over to the Nagpore raja by Aliverdy Khan, a 229
; conquered

by the English in 18(>3, and annexed, ft 150; disturbances in 1817 and
1818 ; their cause, and their suppression, b 363.

Dacoity, its great prevalence in Bengal ; system of the dacoits, their

atrocities ; impunity with which they were committed, b 271
;
violent

attempts to extinguish them, b 272.

Dalhousie, Lord, Governor-General, c 309 ; forced into a second Punjab war,
c 321 ;

on its successful issue annexes the kingdom, c 349 ; created a Marquis,
c 350 ; his arrangements for the government of the Punjab, c 353 ; earnest

endeavours to put down infanticide, c 357 ; the great material improvements
he promotes in the Punjab, c 358 ; grand results of the system of adminis-
tration he introduced, c 360 ; forced into a second Burmese war, c361; his

energetic prosecution of it, c 367; confiscates Pegu, c 372; dispute with Sir

C. Napier, c 377 ; opinion of the Duke of Wellington upon the subject,
c 380; annexation of Sattara, c 381 ; his opinion of our policy regarding
native states, c 387

;
annexation of Berar, c 388 ; and of Jhansi, c 395 ;

enumeration and examination of his annexations, c 397; concurs with
Lord Harris in extinguishing the titular nabobship of the Carnatic, c 403;
obtains Berar from the Nizam in lieu of the debt, and the annual pay-
ment of the contingent, c 406

;
refuses to continue the pension to Nana

Sahib, c 412 ; refuses to restore the government of Mysore to the raja,
c 416; his advice regarding Oude. c 424; annexes it by orders from

England, c 427; his administrative reforms, c429; organizes Public
Works Department, and lavishes funds on it, c 431; promotes education,
c 432 ; revenue, finance, and commerce during his administration, c 432 ;

promotes steam communication on the Indus and the Irawaddy, c 433 ;

projects the port of the Mutlah, c 434; encourages the project of a bridge
over the Hooghly, c 434 ; establishes low and uniform postage, c 434 ;

his journeys, c 435; promotes the construction of roads and canals, c 436;
establishes the grand system of railways in India, c 439 ; and of the electric

telegraph, c 444
; embarks for England, c 446

; character of his adniu***-

2 ii 2
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tration, c 446; censured for not having foreseen the mutiny, c 448
;

censured for having caused it, c 450 ; the annexation policy attributed to
him not the cause of it, c 451

;
his death, c 447.

JDaood Khan, Governor of the Carnatic, entertained by Mr. Pitt, Lord
Chatham's father at Madras, a 183

;
offers the chout to the Mahrattas,

a 184
;
Governor of Guzerat, a 186

;
attacks and defeats Hussein Ali

Syud, but is killed by a cannon ball, a 187.

Dara, son of Shah Jehau, his character, a 144
; defeated by Aurungzebe's

force
;

is paraded through Delhi, and put to death, a 148.

Darius, his expedition to India
;
extent of his conquests, a 10.

Deccan, the southern division of India
;

its extent and boundaries, a 1
;
com-

prises five of the early divisions and languages, a 4
; its early history,

a 21; first irruption of the Mahomedans into it, a 53; revolts from
Mahomed Toghluk, and the Bahminy kingdom founded, a 64

;
its deplor-

able condition in the sixteenth century, a 119; first invasion by Akbar,
a 120; invaded by Aurungzebe, a 171; conquered by him; great con-
fusion in consequence, a 175.

Deeg, battle of, b 172.

Delhi, its last Hindoo king, Prithiraj, contests supremacy with the king of

Cunouj, a 41
;
defeats Mahomed Ghory, a 43

;
is totally defeated by him,

and the Hindoo dynasty ceases, a 44
; sacked by Timur, a 67

;
and by

Nadir Shah, a 200
;
and by Ahmed Shah Abdalee, a 267

;
and by Gholam

Kadir, b 42.

Deogaom, treaty of, b 152.

Dewanny of Bengal, Behar and Orissa bestowed on the Company by the

emperor, a 310.

Dhoondia Waug, pursued and crushed by General Wellesley, b 100.

Dias, Bartholomew, first doubles the Cape of Good Hope, a 84
; perishes in a

storm off the Cape, a 86.

Dixon, Capt., his great efforts to civilize the Mairs, c 102.

Doorgawuttee, the Hindoo queen of Gurra; her beauty, her valour, her

tragical end, a 107.

Dooryudhun defeated by Yoodistheer; his death, a 8.

Dost Mahomed, ruler of Cabul, c 113
; proclaims a religious war to recover

Peshawur from the Sikhs, c 115
;

its failure, c 116
; his application for

assistance to Lord Auckland, c 116
; to Persia, c 117

;
to Busbia, c 127

;
re-

ceives Capt. Burnes cordially, c 124
; determination of Lord Auckland to

dethrone him, c 128
;
receives the Kussian envoy, c 129

; dismisses Capt.
Burnes, c 129 ; flies from Cabul on the approach of the British army, c 148

;

pursued by Captain Outram and others, c 149 ; his movements after his

flight, c 16*1 ; collects a large force at Khooloom, and is defeated, c 162
;

advances into the Kohistan, cl63; defeats an English force, and sur-

renders, c 163 ; liberated on the return of the army, c 233
;
his last interview

with Lord Ellenborough, c 233
;
forms an alliance with the rebel Sikhs

in 1848, c 323 ;
the force he sent into the Punjab, flies back in disgrace,

c 347 ;
reconciled to the British Government, and concludes a treaty in

1856, c 234.

Drake, Mr., Governor of Calcutta in 1756 : his dastardly conduct, a 272.

Duff, Dr., his great and successful efforts in the cause of native educa-

tion, c 67.

Duncan, Mr. Jonathan, his efforts to eradicate infanticide at Benares, c 103
;

and on his appointment as Governor of Bombay, c 104.

Dundas, Mr., moves a vote of censure on Hastings, a 429
;
and for his

recal and that of Mr. Hornby, President at Bombay, a 430
;
refuses to

support the Eohilla charge against Hastings, a 424
;
first and ablest Pre-

sident of the Board of Control, a 434.

Dupleix, his antecedents; Governor of Chandernagore and of Pondicherry,
a 233

;
his opposition to Labourdonnais, a 234

; violates the capitulation
• of Madras

; besieges Fort St. David
; repulsed by the Nabob ; persuades
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the Nabob to join him, a 236
;
defends Pondicherry against the English,

and obtains great renown in India, a 237
; determines to establish a

French empire in the Deccan, a 239
; experiences a reverse, a 242

;
takes

Masulipatam, a 243; is appointed Viceroy of all the territories south
of the Kistna, and reaches the summit of his glory, a 244; superseded
by Godeheu, a 250

;
his fate

;
remarks on his career, a 251.

Dutch, their first establishment in Bengal, a 209
; they bring a force from Java

to Chinsurah, where it is defeated by Col. Forde, a 285.

East India Company ;
its origin ;

first adventure, a 203
; eight succeeding

adventures
;

first send vessels to India, a 204
; successful combat with

the Portuguese ;
firman from Jehangeer, a 205

;
and from Shah Jehan,

a 206
;
their privileges confirmed by Cromwell, a 207

;
and by Charles

the Second, a 208; their great prosperity, 1662—1682, a 209; obtain

Admiralty jurisdiction, a 210
;
determined to fight the Great Mogul ;

rival

Company established in London, a 210
;
send out Admiral Nicholson with

a large armament ;
his instructions

;
his fleet dispersed ;

he burns

Hooghly, a 211
;
attack of the pilgrim ships, which leads to an accom-

modation with the emperor, a 212
; ambition of the Company quenched

for half a century, a 214; union of the two Companies, a 219; embassy
to Delhi, a 221

;
noble conduct of Mr. Hamilton, the surgeon, and pri-

vileges obtained through him, a 222; strange anomaly of the Company's

Position

in 1772, a 337
;

its vicious constitution, a 338
;
interference of

arliament in its affairs, a 339
;
its financial difficulties

;
the Regulating

Act, a 340
;
close of the career of the East India Comoany, in 1858,

c457.

Education, great encouragement given to it by Lord Hastings, b 357
; Parlia-

mentary grant devoted to oriental studies, c 63
; the despatch of the Court

of Directors on the subject, c 64
; struggle between the Orientalists and

the Anglicists, c 65 ; decision of Lord W. Bentinck in favour of English
instruction, c 66; auspicious results of this decision, c 67; education fos-

tered by Lord Hardin ge, c 272
; encouraged by Lord Dalhousie, c 431 ; great

educational despatch of Sir Charles Wood, c 432; Director-General of

public instruction appointed by Lord Dalhousie, c 432
; great encourage-

ment given to vernacular education by Mr. Thomason, c 438.

Edwardes, Lieut., his great and successful efforts to put down the insurrection

in Mooltan, c 315 ; gains the battle of Kineyree, c 315
; and of Sudoosain,

c 316 ; his efforts neutralized by the defection of Shere Sing, c 320.

Electric Telegraph in India, c 444.

Ellenborough, Lord, Governor-General, c 202
;

his spirited notification, 15th

March, 1842, c 213 ; orders the armies to retire, 19th April, c 214 ; authorizes
the Generals to advance, 4th July, c 217

; orders the gates of Somnath and
the mace of Mahmood to be brought away from Ghuznee, c 224

; Procla-
mation of 1st Oct., c 229 ; Gates Proclamation, c 230; orders the Ameers
of Siude to sign new treaties, c 238 ; after the victory of Meanee annexes

Sinde, c 249
; complications at Gwalior, c 254

;
his Minute of 1st Nov. 1843,

c259; British armies advance, and gain two victories, c 262—265; he
concludes a new treaty with Sindia, which destroys the independence of

the state, c 265 ; recalled by the Court of Directors, c 267.

Ellora, the wonderful caves of, a 19.

Elphinstone, Gen., commanding in Afghanistan; his bodily infirmities, c 175;
is given up as a hostage during the retreat, c 194

;
his death, c 220.

Elphinstone, Mr. Mount Stuart, sent on a mission to Cabul, b 226; his judicious

pioeeedings with Bajee Rao, b 335; Governor of Bombay ;
his successful

administration, b 412; his code, b 412; twice refuses the Governor-

Generalship, c 89.

Emamgur, captured by Sir Charles Napier, c 244.

Emperor, Shah Allum, invades Behar, and is defeated by Col. Calliaud, o 294
;

defeated a second time by Captain Knox, a 295
;
invests Mecr Cassim with

the Soobadaree of the three provinces, and proceeds to Delhi, a 298
;
hi»
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arrangement with Clive
; grants the Dewanny to the Company, a 310 ;

seated by the Mahrattas on the throne of .Delhi, a 385
; quarrels with

them, and is reduced to submission, a 336
;
Gholam Kadir puts out his

eyes, b 42
; rescued from the Mahrattas and restored to his throne by

General Lake, b 156.

England, Brigadier, repulsed at Hykulzye, c 212
;
his singular conduct in the

Kojuck pass, c 213.

Europeans first allowed to settle in India in 1838, c 86.

Eusufzyes defeat Akbar's army in the Khyber, a 113
;
and baffle Aurungzebe,

a 164.

Expedition, from Bengal to Madras, along the coast under Col. Pearce, a 375
;

he reaches Pulicat, a 394.

Famine, the great, in Bengal, 1770, a 316
;
the famine at Madras, a 401.

Ferokshere, ascends the throne of Delhi, a 185; assassinated, a 189.

Feroze Bahminy, makes twenty-four campaigns ;
wars with Beejuynugur ;

patronizes learning ;
his seraglio, a 79.

Feroze Toghluk, the emperor, his magnificent public works, a 64.

Ferozepore, the army starts from, on the Afghan expedition, c 141
; reviewed

there by Lord Ellenborough on its return, c 231
;

Sir John Littler

beleaguered by the Sikhs at Ferozepore, c 283.

Ferozeshuhur, battle of, 21st Dec. 1845, c 287 ; second engagement, 22nd Dec,
c 289 ; remarks on them, c 290.

Fishbourne, Capt., insulted by the governor of Bangoon, which results in

war, c 360.

Fleet, the magnificent mercantile fleet of the Company, b 366.

Flint, Lt., his gallant defence of Wandewash
;
refused any promotion by the

Court of Directors, a 393.

Flogging in the native army, abolished by Lord W. Bentinck, revived by Lord

Hardinge, c 273.

Forde, Col., his expedition to the coast
;
defeats the Marquis Conflans, a 283

;

takes Masulipatam and obtains a cession of territory from Salahut Jung,
a 284

;
defeats the Dutch force at Chinsurah, a 286.

Fort William, its erection, a 216.

Fox's India Bill
;
its provisions, a 430

;
violent opposition to it, a 431

; passes
the Commons ; rejected in the House of Lords, a 432

; comparison of it

with Pitt's Bill, a 434.

Francis, Mr. Philip, arrives in Calcutta as member of Council
;
enters on a

violent and systematic opposion to Hastings, a 346
;
is wounded in a duel

with him, and returns to England, a 354.

Fraser, Gen., gains the battle of Deeg ; and is mortally wounded, b 172.

French East India Company, established, a 209.

Fullerton, Col., his expedition into Mysore, a 407
;
his success, a 408

;
his

progress arrested by the Madras Government ;
ordered to restore all his

conquests.
—and then to retain them, a 408, 409.

Futteh Khan, the great vizier at Cabul, blinded and murdered by Kamran, c 33.

Gates of Somnath, demanded by Eunjeet Sing, and refused by Shah Soojah,
c 113

; brought away by order of Lord Ellenborough, c 224 ; the mag-
niloquent Proclamation concerning them, c 230

; consigned to oblivion in

the fort of Agra, c 231.

General Assembly's institution in Calcutta, c 67.

Ghazee-ood-deen,"son of the Nizam, advances to seize the Deccan
;
is poisoned

by his own mother, a 254.

Ghazee-ood-deen, son of the former, generalissimo of the imperial army ;

deposes and blinds the emperor, 1754, a 266
;
invades the Punjab, and

provokes Ahmed Shah Abdalee, a 267
;
invites the Mahrattas, a 286

;

murders the emperor Alumgeer, a 288.

Ghazee Toghluk, first emperor of that family, a 60
;
his death, a 61.

Gheias-ood-deen mounts the throne and associates his brother, Mahomed
Ghory with him in the Government, a 40.
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Cbcriah, Angria's, captured by Clive and Watson, a 269.

(ihilzvo dynasty, succeeds to the throne of Delhi, a 53; extinguished by
rhluk, a -

r
''.».

Ghilzves, the eastern; th.-ir turbulent character, their disaffection; defeated

by Col. Wymer, C 168 ; break out into rebellion in October, 1841, c 171.

Cholani Ka.'.ir. sacks Delhi; puts out the eyes of the emperor, 1788; is muti-

lated by Sindia and dies in torture, b 42.

Chore, rise of the dynasty of, a 39
;

it ends with Mahomed, a 47.

(ihuznee, its fortifications, c 147 ; captured by the British army, c 147; sur-

to the Afghans by Col. Palmer, c 212
; recaptured and burnt,

e&4.
Gillespie, Gen., suppresses the mutiny at Vellore, b 209

; captures Fort Cornells

in Java, 6 2o2
;
subdues the native chiefs, b 253; is killed at Kalunga,

6 291.

Ginjee, the strong fortress of, occupied by the Mahrattas, and captured by
Zuliikar Khan, a 179.

Goddard, Gen., his successful expedition across the country from the Jumna
to Burat, a 368; takes Ahmedabad, and drives the Mahrattas back to the

Nerbudda, a 371
;
beats tbem at Doogaur, a 374

;
failure of his expedition

to I'oona, a 374.

Godeheu, supersedes Dupleix and terminates hostilities with the English ;

a 250.

Godwin, Gen., commands in the second Burmese war, c 368.

Gohud and Gwalior, complications arising out of their cession to the raja,
b 174 ; restored to Sindia, b 187.

Golab Sing, his origin and rise, c 274
;
coerced and plundered by the Khalsa

troops, c 279; negotiates for the durbar with Lord Hardinge, c 300;
obtains Cashmere for a crore of rupees, c 300.

Golconda, the Kootub Shahy dynasty establishes an independent kingdom at,

a 83
;
the king submits to Aurungzebe, and consents to pay down a

crore of rupees, a 143
;
he is attacked again by Aurungzebe, a 173

;
and

the kingdom is extinguished, a 174.

Goorkha, campaign planned by Lord Hastings, b 291 ; three out of four divi-

sions unsuccessful, b 291; effect of our discomfiture on the princes of

India, b 294
;
Lord Hastings's extraordinarj' efforts to retrieve our honour,

b 295 ;
successful exertions of Gen. Ochterlony, b 297 ; conquest of

Almora, b 298 ;
second campaign, b 299

; Gen. Ochterlony marches
towards the capital, 6 299 ; the durbar submits, and signs the treaty,
b 300 ; remarks on the war, 300.

Gooroo Govind, the Sikh prophet, a 184.

Gough, Sir Hugh, fights the battle of Maharajpore, c 264
; advances in haste to

the aid of Sir John Littler, c 284; battle of Moodkee, c 285; of Feroze-

shuhur, c 286 ;
and of Sobraon, c 294

;
created a Baron, c 302 ; takes the

command of the army for the reconquest of the Punjab, c 324; Ram-
nugur, c 326; Chillian walla, c 332; is recalled, c 339; fights the battle of

Guzerat, c 343 ; and is made a Viscount, c 350.

Gour, the ancient capital of Bengal, depopulated and deserted, a 113.

Governor-General ;
the office created in 1773, a 340

; enlargement of its

powers, 6 47.

Guickwar, the dynasty established in Guzerat by Peelajee, originally a cow-
herd, a 195 ; transactions at the court of the, b 163.

Gungadhur Shastree, murdered by Trimbukjee, b 310.

Guzerat, governed by the Bhagilas, a 41
;
the Hindoo power extinguished by

Alla-ood-deen, a 55; becomes independent of Delhi, a 65
; Mozuffer the

first king, a 71
;
his grandson Ahmed builds Ahmedabad, a 72

; Mahmood
governs it for fifty years ;

his illustrious reign, a 74
; Mozuffer the

second; the wild aud turbulent Bahadoor Shah, a 76
;

it is conquered by
Akbar, a 109; it passes over to the Guickwar, a 195; disputes between
Govind Eao and Futteh Sing Guickwar, a 357

;
Futteh Sing makes a
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treaty with Raghoba, and Col. Keating, a 360
; Guzerat, in the Punjab ;'

last and decisive battle, of 1849. c 344
;
remarks on it, c 346.

Gwalior, gallant capture of it by Major Popham, a 372; Junkojee Sindia
dies without issue, c 254

;
his widow of thirteen adopts a lad of eight,

c 254; appointment of the Mama as regent, c 255; he is dismissed, c 256;
insubordination of the army, c 255; confusion at the capital, c 257;
Lord Ellenborough's Minute of 1st Nov. 1843, c 259 ; his proceedings,
c 261

; orders the army to advance, c 263
;
battles of Maharajpore and

Punniar, c 264
;
new treaty and settlement, c 265 ;

the contingent aug-
mented, c 266; it revolts during the Sepoy mutiny and fights Gen.
Windham at Cawnpore, c 266.

Hakim Mehdi, the illustrious minister of an unworthy master in Oude,
c27.

Half batta order, enjoined by the Court of Directors, and carried into effect

by Lord W. Bentinck, c 2.

Hall, Capt., his efforts to civilize the Mairs, c 102.

Halliday, Mr., Secretary to the Government of Bengal for eleven years ;

appointed the first Lieutenant-Governor, c 455.

Hamilton, Mr., the surgeon ;
his noble conduct at the Court of Delhi ; he

obtains privileges from the Company, a 222.

Hardinge, Sir Henry, Governor-General, c 270
; his antecedents, c 271

;
revives

flogging in the native army, c 273
;
his preparations on the Punjab

frontier, c 281 ; the Sikhs invade our territory, c 283 ; he confiscates the

Cis-Sutlege districts, c 284
; engaged in the battle of Moodkee, c 285 ; takes

the second in command of the army, c 286 ; engaged at Ferozeshuhur,
c287

; calls up reinforcements, c 292
; engaged at Sobraon, c 294 ; pushes a

division across the Sutlege, c 297
;
determines to spare the throne of

the Punjab, but anuexes the Jullunder Dooab to the Company's terri-

tories, c 299 ; sells Cashmere to Golab Sing, c 300 ;
makes a settlement

of the Goveimment of the Punjab, 9th March, 1846, c 300 ; and a
second in December, c 302 ; created a Viscount, c 302

;
reduces the Com-

pany's army ;
and the public expenditure by a crore and a-half of rupees,

c 304
; puts down suttees in native states, c 307

;
retires from the Govern-"

ment, c 308.

Harris, General, commands the coast army, b 87
;
defeats Tippoo at Malavelly,

b 89
; captures Seringapatam, b 93

;
obtains a rich haul of prize money

beyond his share, b 99.

Hartley, Col., his extraordinary talent and success pass unrequited, a 366
;

his brilliant exploit in Malabar, b 15.

Hastings, Lord, Governor-General, b 283
;
forced into a war with Nepal,

b 285 ; arranges the campaign, b 291
;

dictates a treaty to the durbar
at Katmandoo, b 300

; addresses the Court on the growing power of

the Pindarees in 1813, b 304; and again in 1815, ft 312 ;
forbidden to

undertake any offensive operations, b 316
;
forms a subsidiary treaty with

Nagpore, c 314
;

receives permission to take the field against the Pin-

darees, b 318 ; his arrangement of the campaign, b 327 ; military pre-

parations on the grandest scale which had ever been seen, b 327; obliges
the Peshwa, as the penalty of his perfidy to sign a new treaty, and to

surrender large territory, b 322; takes the field in person, b 328;
advances to Gwalior, and obliges Sindia, who was wavering, to sign
a treaty, b 328

;
enters into treaties of alliance with the various native

princes, b 331 ; on the outbreak of the Peshwa, confiscates all his domi-

nions, b 350
; operations against the Pindarees, and the confederacy utterly

eradicated from the soil of India, b 345
; great results of the campaign ;

the

Pindaree, Patan, and Mahratta power, utterly broken up, b 345
;
the

Satara family endowed with a small principality, b 349
; general hostility

of the Court of Directors to him, b 356
;
the first Governor-General to

patronize education, b 357
;
leaves the finances in a state of prosperity

before unknown, b 363; his partiality to the unworthy Eumbolds of
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Hyderabad, injurious to his fame, b 872; vote of thanks from the
Directors and proprietors in 1822, b 375 ; vote of censure on his proceed-
ings in 1886, b 377; remarks on his administration, 6 375; his death,
6 378.

Hastings, Warren, his appointment to the service; returns to England;
appointed second in Council at Madras, a 341

; Governor of Bengal, a 342 ;

introduces great changes into the administration
; the first Rohilla war,

18; mDs dorah and Allahabad to the Vizier, a 344
; first Governor-

General, a 341; outvoted in Council and becomes powerless, a 347;
accusations concocted against him, a 349; charge brought by Nundu
kooniar

; Hastings refuses to sit in Council to be bullied by natives, a 350 ;

the execution of Nundu koomar, laid at his door; he is condemned by the
Court of Directors ; supported by the Court of Proprietors, a 352

; offers

to resign, and then recalls his resignation ;
Col. Monson's death restores

his authority ; Clavering's attempt to seize the fort baffled by Hastings,
a 353 ; dispute settled by the Supreme Court, a 354 ; his vigorous mea-
sures on the breaking out of the war with France, a 368

;
offers a treaty

to the raja of Berar, which is declined, a 374
;
comes to an understanding

with him
;
the land expedition to Madras, a 375; treaty with Sindia;

treaty of Salbye with the Mahrattas, a 376
;
restores the Guntoor Sircar

to the Nizam, a 384
; energetic measures on Baillie's defeat, a 391

; sends

money and troops, and Sir Eyre Coote to Madras, a 392 ; makes Sir

Elijah Impey chief judge of the Sudder, a 414
;
demands extraordinary

aid of Cheyt Sing, and fines him fifty lacs
;
on his hesitating to pay it,

proceeds to Benares, a 416 ; his extreme peril ; escapes to Chunar, a 417
;

consents to the spoliation of the Begums of Oude, a 418
;
Motion for his

recall passed by the House of Commons, a 429; supported by the Court
of Directors ; repudiated by the Court of Proprietors, a 430

; transactions

regarding Fyzoolla Khan, a 420 ; Hastings censured by the Court of

Directors, resigns the Government and returns to England, a 421
;
his

reception ; refused a peerage by Mr. Pitt ; attacked by Mr. Burke, a 422 ;

Burke goaded into the impeachment by Major Scott
; charges against

Hastings ; he reads a prolix reply, a 423
;
the Bohilla charge ; charge

regarding Cheyt Sing, a 424
;
the Begum charge, a 425; Hastings's trial

;

dignity of the scene
;
the impeachment conducted by the Whigs, a 426 ;

their unexampled violence ;
his acquittal ;

remarks on his character and
administration, a 427 ; his death, b 368.

Hatrass, fort ot, captured and demolished, b 303.

Havelock, Capt., dissuades from surrender at Jellalabad, c 206; arranges the

battle of the 7th April, 1842, which accomplishes the deliverance of the

garrison, c 2u9.

Heath, Capt., his expedition to Bengal, and its disastrous results, a 213.

Heera Sing assassinated at Lahore, c 277.

Hemu, the Hindoo minister of Adil Shah; his great talents, o 102; he is de-

feated by Akbar, a 104.

Herat, Persian expedition against, c 122
; character of the Government and

the people, c 136 ; besieged five months without result, c 137 ; battle of

the 24th June, 1838, c 137; the siege abandoned, c 139; Major Todd,
political agent, c 159

; unexampled perfidy of the king and his minister,
c 159 ; Major Todd obliged to withdraw the mission, c 166.

Heytesbury, Lord, appointed Governor-General by the Tories
;
the appointment

cancelled by the Whigs, c 90.

Hindoo Pantheon, fully developed after the expulsion of the Boodhists, a 6.

Hindooism introduced into Java, a 17.

Hindoo College established. 1818, b 358.

Hindostan, the northern division of India
; description of it ; its boundaries,

a 1
; early settlement of the Hindoos, a 3

; comprises five of the early
divisions and original languages, a 4; its condition when invaded by
Mahomed Gbory. a 41.
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Holkar, origin of the family, a 195; Tokajee, his marauding expedition into

Hindostan, a 334
; sent to Hindostan by Nana Furnuvese to watch Sindia,

b 41
;
last appearance of the Holkar troops under the national standard,

b 55
;
Jeswunt Rao, his descent ;

his wild character
; his rise to power,

b 134; defeats Sindia's army, b 135; is defeated in his turn, b 136 ; he re-

cruits his force, marches on Poona, and totally defeats the armies of the

Peshwa and Sindia, b 138; his rampant feeling, and his insolent demand
on General Lake, b 166

;
war declared against him ; he draws on and an-

nihilates Col Monson's force, b 168; he besieges Delhi, but is baffled by
Col. Ochterlony, b 171

; lays waste the Dooab, pursued and defeated by
Gen. Lake, b 171; his army defeated at Deeg, b 172; pursued into the

Punjab, by Gen. Lake, brought to bay, and let off by Sir George Barlow,
6 193; violates the treaty; plunders Jeypore, b 198; close of his wild
career in insanity, b 199

; anarchy on his death, b 324; the army omni-

potent; it resolves to oppose the British force advancing against the Pin

darees, b 341
;
is defeated at Mehidpore, b 342

;
new treaty and curtailment

of territory, b 343.

Holwell, Mr., Governor of Calcutta at the time of the tragedy of the Black

Hole, a 272.

Hooghly, early establishment of the Portuguese, a 138
;
destruction of the

Portuguese settlement, a 139
; first English factory ,

a 207
;
burnt by

Admiral Nicholson, a 211; captured by Olive, a 275.

Hughes, Admiral, captures Negapatam and Trincomalee, a 396
; fights four

naval actions with Suffrein, a 399 ; quits Madras Roads and proceeds to

Bombay, a 401.

Human sacrifices among the Khonds, c 1 08
;

efforts to eradicate them,
cl09.

Humayoon, emperor of Delhi, conquers Guzerat, a 96
;
thrice defeated by

Shere Khan ; his sufferings in the desert, a 99
;

flies to Persia; his treat-

ment there
; captures Candahar, a 102

;
establishes himself in Afghanistan ;

defeats Secunder Soor. and re-ascends the throne of Delhi, a 103
;
his

death, a 103.

Hussein Ali, assists Ferokshere to ascend the throne of Delhi, a 185
; viceroy

of the Deccan, a 187
;
the Mahrattas incited to oppose him, and he grants

them the chout, a 188
;
marches to Delhi, deposes Ferokshere, and puts

him to death, a 189
;
is stabbed to the heart, a 190.

Hussein Gungu, first Bahminy king of the Deccan
;
his origin and progress,

* a 77.

Hyderabad, made the seat of the Nizam's Government, a 191
;
French force

established by the Nizam, b 77
;
that force extinguished, b 82.

Hyderabad, in Sinde, battle of, c 249.

Hyder Ali, his parentage ; his early career, a 320
;
foundation of his fortune,

a 321
; agrees to aid Lally, a 322

;
reduced to extremities

;
recovers his

fortunes, and usurps the throne of Mysore, a 323
;
increases his power;

conquers Bednore; great wealth acquired there, a 324
; totally defeated by

the Mahrattas, a 325
; invades Malabar and conquers Calicut; confederacy

against him, a 326
; buys off the Mahrattas

;
bribes the Nizam to join him,

a 327
;
defeated at Changama, a 328

; proceeds to the western coast, defeats

the Bombay expedition ;
returns to the Coromandel coast, a :.30; his offer

of peace rejected by the Madras Government, a 331
;

dictates peace
under the walls of Madras

;
war with the Mahrattas, a 382

;
his disgrace-

ful defeat at Milgota, a 333
;
constrained to make peace, a 334

;
his en-

croachments on the Mahrattas, a 384
;
allies himself with Raghoba ; is

attacked by the Mahrattas and the Nizam; defeats their objects, a 385;

joins the confederacy against the English ; peace with the Mahrattas,
a 387

; preparations for war; supineness of the Madras Government,
a388

;
he bursts on the Carnatic

;
desolation of the province, a 389

;
anni-

hilates Col. Baillie's detachment, a 391
;
is defeated at Porto Novo, a 393

;

at Pollilore, a 394
;

at Solingur, a 395
;
his reverses in Malabar, a 397

;



INDEX. 475

his despondency ;
arrival of the French expedition revives him, a 398

; he
repulses Coote from Arnee, a 399

;
his death, a 402.

Ihrahim Lodi, the last of that dynasty, defeated by Baber, a 93.

Ibrahim, sou of Ali Mcrdan. governor of Bengal, invites Job Charnock from
Madras, a 214.

Idol temples oonneeted with the state in 1811, dissociated in 1833, c 201.

Impey. Sir Elijah, chief judge of the Supreme Court, a 346, and of the Sudder
Dewanny, a 414.

India, its boundaries, divisions, extent, and population, a 1; its ten divisions,
and ten languages, a 4; its condition on the accession of Baber, a 93

; and
after the invasion of Nadir Shah, a 201

;
and after the battle of Paniput,

a 292 ; its condition in 1798, b 73 ; in 1813, b 284
; at the close of 1817, 6 325

;

its altered aspect after the Pindarree and Mahratta war, b 345.

Indian empire, completed by the annexation of the Punjab, which extended it

from Cape Comorin to the Khyber Pass, c 351.

Infanticide, female, its prevalence, c 104; great efforts to eradicate it, c 105
;

successful operations in the Punjab, c 356.

Inheritance, Hindoo law of
;

its persecuting character modified by Lord
W. Bentinck, c 56.

Inland trade, Society for, established by Clive
;
abolished by the Court of

Directors, a 314.

Istaliff, the virgin fortress of Afghanistan, captured, c 227.

Jauts, emigrate from the banks of the Indus, a 202.

Java, passes under the dominion of Napoleon, b 249 ;
he strengthens the

army and the defences, b 251
; expedition fitted out from Calcutta to con-

quer it, b 250 : capture of fort Cornelius, b 251
;
and of the whole island,

b 252.

Jehander Shah, mounts the throne of Delhi, and is put to death, a 185.

Jehangeer, ascends the throne of Delhi, a 125
;
his early proceedings, a 126

;

marries Noor Jehan, a 127
;
attacks Malik Amber, and is foiled

; subdues

Oodypore, a 129
; operations in the Deccan, a 132

;
seized by Mohabet,

a 133
;

is released and dies, a 134.

Jellalaba', occupied by Sir Robert Sale, c205 ; the miserable defences restored

by Major Broadfoot, c 206; injured by earthquakes, but again completed,
b 207

;
battle of the 7th April, 1842, and total defeat of Akbar Khan,

c209.

Jenghis Khan, his antecedents, a 48
;

defeats Mahomed of Kharism
; lays

waste a thousand miles of country ;
revolution created by him in Central

Asia
;
founds the Mogul power, o 49.

Jesus Christ, his birth and divine mission, a 20.

Jeypal of Lahore, crosses the Indus, attacks Subuktugeen ;
submits to him

;

refuses the payment he had promised ;
is attacked, a 28

;
and totally

defeated, a 29, 30.

Jeypore, the Hindoo raja of, gives a daughter in marriage to Humayoon, and
also to Akbar, a 108

;
menaced by Ameer Khan, seeks a British alliance,

which he refuses as soon as it is promised, b 316 ; the last prince to

accept the alliance in 1817, b 333
;
renewed discord and anarchy, c 24

;
in-

terference of the British Government, c 24
;
murder of Mr. Blake, c 25.

Jezzia, an odious poll tax imposed by Aurungzebeon the Hindoos, a 165
;
and

removed by Mahomed Shah, a 190.

Jhansi, annexation of, c 395.

Jones, Sir Harford, embassy to Persia, b 228.

Joudhpore, the raja of, gives his daughter in marriage to Akbar, a 108
;
con-

test between the raja and his nobles; differences with the British

Government
; raja succumbs on the appearance of a British force, e 23.

Jounpoie, becomes an independent kingdom, a 65; it is extinguished eighty
years after

;
its splendid buildings, a 70.

Kerowlee, Minute of Lord Dalhousie on the death of the raja, c398
;
he refers

the question of succession to the Court
;
their decision, c 398.
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Kerulu, the ancient kingdom of, in the Deccan, included in Malabar and Car-

nata, a 22.

Khalsa
;
the Sikh commonwealth, its character, c 40

;
the Khalsa army pam-

pered by the rulers becomes insubordinate, c 277
; becomes master of the

state, c 278
;
its strength, efficiency, and spirit, c 281

; pours down on the
British territory, c 282

; finally and completely conquered and dissolved,
c347.

Kharism, the ancient kingdom of, rises upon the ruins of the Seljuks, a 46.

Khelat, treaty with Mehrab Khan, c 145
; capture of the fort and death of the

Khan, c 151.

Khiva, Russian expedition against it, c 155
;
and its entire failure, c 157.

Khonds, human sacrifices among them, and efforts to eradicate them, c 108.

Khyberees, defeat Akbars army, a 114; and baffle Aurungzebe, a 164.

Kidd, Capt., the notorious pirate, captures Mogul ships, a 218.

Kirkee, battle of, b 335.

Knox, Capt., defeats the Nabob of Purneah, a 295.

Kholapore, becomes the Seat of the younger branch of the Mahratta royal
family, a 183.

Kooroo-Kshetru, the great battle at, fought between the Kooroos and the

Pandoos, and celebrated in the great epic of the Muhabharut, a 8.

Kootub-ood-deen, his extensive conquests in Hindostan
;
makes Delhi the

capital of the Mahomedan power in India, a 47
;
his death, a 48.

Korygaum, battle of, b 348.

Krishnu, his legend, not to be found in the Vedus, a 5
; accompanies Yoodis-

thee. in his wanderings ;
his valour at Kooroo-Kshetru

;
retires to

Dwarka
;
is slain and deified, a 8.

Kurnu, king, his great liberality, a 21.

Kurruck Sing, succeeds Runjeet Sing, c 273.

Kutlugh Khan, the Mogul, the descendant of Jenghis Khan invades Hindo-

stan, and is defeated, a 56.

Labourdonnais ;
his antecedents, his abilities; comes out to India with a large

armament to expel the English, a 232
; captures Madras, a 233

;
returns to

Europe, a 234
;
thrown into the Bastile

;
his death, a 235.

Lake, Gen., takes the field in 1803, and captures Allygur, b 154; defeats Sin-

dia'sarmy at Delhi, b 156; enters Delhi, and delivers the blind emperor
from captivity, b 157

; captures Agra, b 158 ; and defeats Sindia's army at

Laswaree, b 158
; pursues Holkar into the Dooab, and defeats him, b 171

;

chases him into the Punjab, brings him to bay, and is obliged to conclude
a disgraceful treaty with him by order of Sir George Barlow, b 193

;

raised to the peerage, b 173 ; besieges Bhurtpore, and is four times repulsed,
b 173

; throws up his political appointment in disgust, b 197.

Lall Sing, the paramour of the ranee of Lahore appointed minister, c 280
;

commands at Moodkee and at Ferozeshuhur, c 285-286
;
tried for his

treachery to the British Government, and banished from the Punjab,
c 303.

Lally, appointed Governor of French India ; his antecedents
; captures fort St.

David; recalls Bussy, a 259; attacks Tanjore without success; unsuccess-

fully besieges Madras, a 260
;

defeated by Col. Coote at Wandewash,
a 261

; nobly defends Pondicherry ;
which is captured ;

his lamentable
fate on his return to Paris, a 263.

Lambert, Commodore, deputed to Rangoon, c 362
;
blockades the port, and

renders the war inevitable, c 364.

Laswaree, battle of, b 158.

Lauderdale, Lord, appointed by the Whig ministry Governor-General; the

appointment vigorously and successfully resisted by the Court of Direc-

tors, b 207.

Lawrence, Major Stringer, sent against Devi-cotta, a 238; defeats the French

atBahoor, a 249; baffles them for two years at Trichinopolly, a 249.

Lawrence, Mr. John, afterwards Sir John, in charge of the Jullunder dooab ;
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dears it of rebels in a fortnight, c 330
;
member of the Board of Adminis-

tration int he Punjab, e 862 ; subsequently Governor-General, c 352.

Lawrence, Major Henry, afterwards Sir Henry, Resident at Lahore, c 302
; puts

down revolt in Cashmere, c 302
;
head of the Boax-d of Administration,

Lawrence, Major George, afterwards Sir George, in command at Peshawur,
c 323 ; overpowered by his mutinous troops and made prisoner, c 324.

Legislative power withdrawn from the minor Presidencies, and concentrated
in the Supreme Council, c 85.

Littler, Sir John, besieged at Ferozepore, « 283 ; commands a division atFero-
/.e.-huhur, c287.

Lodi, the Afghan family of, acquires the throne of Delhi, a 69.

Lotteries, abolished, c 269.

Lunar race, a 6.

Macao, occupied by a British force, b 246.

Macartney, Lord, Governor of Madras, a 395
; opens negotiations with Tippoo,

a 108
;
sets Hastings at defiance, a 409 ; his commissioners sign the treaty

of Mangalore, a 410.

Macaulay, Mr., legislative member of the supreme council, c 85.

Macnaghten, Mr. W. H., his progress in the service, c 123
; one of Lord Auck-

land's counsellors, c 123
; his mission to Lahore, c 131 ; appointed envoy

at Cabul, c 141
;
created a Baronet, c 152 ; his security while the revolt

was spreading, c 172
;
his efforts during the siege, c 182

; forms a treaty
with Akbar Khan, c 185; negotiates with other chiefs, c 187; assassi-

nated by Akbar Khan, c 189
;
remarks on his character and proceedings,

c 189.

Macpherson, Sir John, Governor-General ad interim; his administration,
a 439.

Macpherson, Major, his successful efforts to suppress human sacrifice in

Goomsoor, c 110.

Ifadhoo Rao, becomes Peshwa at the age of eighteen, a324 ;
his death, a 355.

Madhoo Rao, the second, installed Peshwa when ten days old, a 357
; receives

the investiture of regent of the Mogul empire through Sindia, b 45
; as-

sembles the whole army of the Mahratta commonwealth, for the last time
at Kurdla, b 55 ; his tragic death, b 59.

Madras, first establishment of the Company's factory at, a 207
; captured by

Labourdonnais, a 233; restored to the English, 237; besieged by Lally
without success, a 260

;
state of affairs in 1761, a 317.

Madras Council, treaty with the Nizam in 1766, a 326, and in 1768, a 329
;

mismanage the war with Hyder, a 330
;
refuse his offers of peace, a 331

; sign
the treaty he dictates, a 332

;
refuse him the aid they were bound to give

by treaty, a 334
; they depose Lord Pigot ;

seven of the members expelled
by the Court of Directors, a 381

;
their incredible infatuation, a 388.

Maharajpore, battle of, c 263.

Muhe, captured by the English ; Hyder incensed by this act, goes to war,
a 386.

Mahmood Gawan, the able minister of the Bahminy state
; his talents

;
his

success, a 81 ; assassinated by order of his master, a 82.

Mahmood, succeeds to the throne of Ghuznee
;
his twelve expeditions to

India, a 29; defeats Jeypal, and the raja of Bhutnere, a 30; captures
Nagarcote, and Thanesur, a 31, and Cunoui, a 32

;
takes Somnath, and

obtains immense booty, a 34
;
his death and character, a 35.

Mahomed, his birth
;
his creed

;
its diffusion, a 24.

Mahomed Ali, son of Anwar-ood-deen, Nabob of the Carnatic, a 241
; be-

sieged in Trichinopolly bT- Chunda Sahib, a 246
;

is relieved by Major
Lawrence; puts Chunda' Sahib to death, a 248; becomes Nabob; his

character, a X17 ; made independent by the emperor in 1765, a 319
; obliged

to transfer the revenues of the Carnatic to the English Government
;

a 396
;
his debts, a 435. See Nabob of Akcot.
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Mahomed Ghory, the real founder of the Mahomedan power in India, a 41
;

defeated by the Hindoos, a 43
;
defeats the Hindoo princes in the north,

a 44
;
defeated by Takash, a 46

;
subdues the Gukkurs, and is killed by

two of them, a 47.

Mahomed Shah, emperor of Delhi, a 189; his death, a 265.

Mahomed Shah, the last substantive king of the Bahminy dynasty, plunders
Conjeveram, a 81

; puts his minister to death, a 82.

Mahomed Toghluk, extinguishes the Hindoo dynasty of Telingana, a 60
;
his

extravagant character; his expedition to China, which fails, a 61
;

his

atrocious cruelties
;
endeavours to remove the capital to Dowlutabad,

a 62
;
sends an embassy to the Caliph ; revolt of the provinces ;

universal

anarchy, a 63 ; his death, a 64.

Mahomedan invasion of India, the first, a 25.

Mahrattas, their rise and progress, a 150
;
their power founded by Sevajee,

a 152, seat of Government transferred to Ginjee ;
their extensive depreda-

tions, a 111
; comparison of their military force with that of the Moguls,

a 178
;
weakened by internal dissensions, a 183

; accession of power gained
by the Convention of 1717, a 188

; they invade Bengal, a 226
;
and the

Carnatic, a 230
;
their power at its summit, a 287

;
broken at Paniput,

a 291
;
their expedition to Hindostan, a 334; invade Eohilcuud, a 335 1

extract a bond from the Nabob Vizier
; enter Oude for plunder, a 336

;

retire to their own country, a 337
;
resources of the Mahratta empire in

1772, a 355
;
defeated at Arras, a 359

;
invade Mysore and make peace with

Tippoo, b 3
; co-operate with Lord Cornwallis in the Mysore Avar, b 13;

description of their encampment ; siege of Simoga ;
their main body

returns to the English camp when peace had been concluded, b 21
;
but

they receive their full share of territory and indemnity, b 25
; totally

defeat Nizam Ali at Kurdla, b 56.

Malavelly, battle of, b 89.

Malcolm, Capt. John, his services at Hyderabad, b 90
; envoy to Persia, b 109

;

second embassy to Persia, b 229; gains the battle of Mehidpore, b 342
;

concludes a personal settlement with the Peshwa, b 352
;
Sir John Mal-

colm, Governor of Bombay, c 69
;
collision with the Supreme Court,

c 70; decision of the home authorities, c 72.

Malik Amber, the Abyssinian ;
his great talent ; sustains for twenty years the

sinking state of Ahmednugur; engages the services of the Mehrattas,
a 128

;
his revenue settlement

;
burns Mandoo, a 131

; joins Shah Jehan,
a 132

;
his death, a 135.

Malwa, its independence established by Sultan Dilawur; Sultan Hoosung
builds Hoosungabad, a 71

;
Mahmood Ghilzye founds a new dynasty ; his

illustrious reign, a 72
;
his successor's singular seraglio ; Mahmood, the

last king, a 75-76
;
extinction of the kingdom, a 11.

Mangalore, siege and noble defence of
;
it capitulates, a 407; treaty of, a 410.

Massacre of the European prisoners at Patna, a 303.

Mauritius, hostile proclamation of the Governor, 6 74; proposed expedition
frustrated by Admiral Bainier, b 111

; depredations of French privateers,
b 248

; capture of the island, b 249.

Meanee, battle of, c 247.

Medical college established in Calcutta, c 68.

Medows, Gen., his inefficient campaign of 1790, b 14.

Meer Cassim Nabob, a 296
;
his vigorous administration

;
removes his govern-

ment to Monghir ; organizes a powerful army, a 297
;
receives investiture

from the emperor, a 298
; plunders Bamnarayun, a 299

;
his convention

with Mr. Vansittart regarding the transit duties, a 300 ; rejected by the
Council ; he abolishes all duties, a 301

;
the Calcutta Council declare war

against hi tn; he is defeated at Cutwa and at Gheriah, a 302; massacres
his English prisoners ; flies to the Nabob Vizier, a 303.

Meer Jaffier, joins the confederacy against Seraja Dowlah, «277
;
made Nabob,

a 280
;
his donations to the English, a 280

; deposed, a 296
;
made Nabob a
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second time, a 302 ; pecuniary engagements with the Calcutta Council,
a 306 ;

his death, a 307.

Meer Joonda ; his early career, a 141
; prime minister at Golconda

; joins

Anrungzebe, a 142 ; defeats Shah Soojah, a 147; governor of Bengal;
disastrous expedition to Assam ; his death, a 149.

Mehidpore, battle of, b 342.

Metcalfe, Mr., envoy to Lahore, checks the career of Eunjeet Sing, 6 222;

obliges him to sign a treaty, b 225 ;
concludes treaties with the native

princes, b ;J.'S1 ; succeeds to the baronetcy, b 373; successful opposition to

Palmer and Co., of Hyderabad, b 373 ; persuades Lord Amherst to take the

field against Bhurtpore, b 406
; appointed Governor of Agra, c 88

;
and

Governor-General, mi interim, c 88 ;
establishes the liberty of the press,

c 91
;

beneficial results of this measure, c 92 ; great displeasure of the

Court of Directors, c 94 ;
he throws up the service, c 96 ; remarks on his

administration, c 97 ; appointed Governor of Jamaica and of Canada, c 96;
raised to the peerage, c 96.

Mill, Mr. James, despatch on the subject of education, c 64; despatch, on the

principles of government after the Charter of 1833, c 87.

Minto, Lord. Governor-General, b 215
;
his vigorous efforts to restore security

in Bundlecund, b 216; sends embassies to Lahore, Cabul, and Persia,
6 221-230 ; checks Ameer Khan's designs on Nagpore, b 234 ; proceeds to

Madras to quell the mutiny, b 244; sends an expedition to Bourbon and
the Mauritius, b 249; proceeds on the expedition to Java, b 249; repre-
sentation to the Court regarding the Pindarees, b 259; superseded, b 253 ;

returns to England, Oct. 1813, b 254.

Mohabet, pursues Shah Jehan, a 131
;

is persecuted by Noor Jehan, a 132 ;

seizes the person of the emperor, a 133
;
releases him, a 134; raises Shah

Jehan to the throne, a 135.

Monson, Col., his disastrous retreat, b 168.

Montgomery, Mr. Robert, member of the Board of Administration in the Pun-
jab, c 352 ; draws up a simple code of jurisprudence, c 353.

Moodkee, battle of, c 285.

Moolraj succeeds his father in the government of Mooltan, c 310; coerced and
fleeced by the Khalsa, c 310 ; offers to resign his post, and the Regency
appoint a new governor, who proceeds with Mr. Agnewand Lieut. Ander-
son to Mooltan, c 311

; the officers murdered, c 312
; Moolraj raises the

standard of revolt, c 313
; besieged by a British force, c 319

; siege raised

by the defection of Shere Sing, c 320; siege renewed, c 339; town and
fort captured, c 341.

Moorshed Koolee Khan
;
his origin ; appointed dewan of Bengal, a 221

;
his

system of government ; his persecution of Hindoo zemindars
;
his remit-

tances to Delhi
;
his death, a 223.

Moorshedabad, its foundation, a 221.

Morari Rao of Gooty, his fine armj' ;
his activity and courage ; joins Mahomed

Ali, a 249
;
his power extinguished by Hyder, a 385.

Mozuffur Jung, aided by the French; defeats Anwar-ood-deen at Amboor,
a 240; assumes the dignity of Soobadar of the Deccan, a 241; falls into
the hands of Nazir Jung, a 242 ; is released on his death, and saluted Soo-
badar, a 244

; killed by the Patan Nabobs, a 245.

Mugudu, grandeur of the kingdom; its maritime trade, a 16.

Muhabharut, the great epic, a 7-9.

Munoo, the institutes of, a 5.

Munro, Major Hector, quells the mutiny of the Bengal Sepoys, a 304 ; defeats
the Vizier at Buxar, a 305 ; Sir Hector Munro ; his incapacity at Madras,
a 390

;
retreats before Hyder Ali to the Presidency, a 391.

Munro, Sir Thomas, his celebrated ryotwary system, b 359; his great states-

manship eulogized by Mr. Canning, b 412 ; appointed Governor of

Madras, b 412; his great services in the first Burmese war, b 412; his

death, b 412.
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Mustapha Khan revolts against Aliverdy, and is defeated, a 228.

Mutiny of the sepoys quelled by Major Munro, a 304 ; of the European officers

quelled by Clive, a 311
;
of the European officers in Bengal, in 1795-96 ;

weak concessions of Government, b 65
;
third mutiny of the European

officers, at Madras, b 238 ; of the sepoys at Barrackpore, b 399 ;
of the

regiments on being ordered to Sinde, c 252
;

of the Madras 47th and
other regiments, c 253 ; of the corps in the Punjab in 1848-49, c 377 ;

of the regiment ordered to Burmah, in 1852, c 367 ; the last and
greatest mutiny of the sepoys, 1857, not occasioned by annexations,
c 450

;
assumed causes of it, c 451

;
the real cause, c 453.

Muttra, its temples and shrines destroyed by Mahmood, a 32.

Mysore, Lord Wellesley creates a new principality, and puts a boy of six on the

throne, b 96
; opinion of Sir Thomas Munro on the subject, c 18

; treaty
made with the raja purely personal ; Lord Wellesley expressly excludes
the words "heirs and successors," c416

;
the raja assumes the government,

c 19 ; twenty years of misrule create a rebellion, which Lord W. Bentinck

puts down, and then takes the entire management of the country, consigning
the raja to an annuity, c 20 ; Court of Directors refuse to restore any portion
of it to him, c 21 ; admirable administration of General Cubbon, c 415

; raja

requests Lord Dalhousie to restore the government to him, which is

refused, c 416
;
three succeeding Governors-General refuse the same re-

quest, 417 ;
he adopts a son ; the Government of India refuse to acknow-

ledge his right to the sovereignty, and it is refused by Sir Charles

Wood, c 417 ; these decisions reversed by the Tory administration of 1867,
c 418.

Nabob of Arcot's debts ; nefarious proceedings of the Nabob Mahomed Ali and
his creditors

; proposed settlement by Warren Hastings, by Fox, by Dun-
das, a 435

;
and by Pitt ; Dundas pays them off without enquiry ; Burke's

celebrated speech, a 436 ; sequel of the debts, a 437.

Nadir Shah, his origin, a 198
;
invades Afghanistan and India, a 199; massa-

cre of Delhi, a 201
;
immense booty acquired by him

;
returns to Persia,

a 201.

Nagpore, kingdom of, called also the kingdom of Berar, founded byBhonslay,
a 225

; origin of that family; Kughoojee Bhonslay invades the Carnatic,
a 225

; Hastings endeavours to form an alliance with him, but without
success

;
he supplies Goddard with provisions, a 369

; joins the con-

federacy against the Company, a 373
;
makes an amicable settlement with

Hastings in 1780, a 375
;
the raja declines the alliance proposed by Lord

Wellesley, in 1798, b 81 ; allies himself with Sindia against the British

Government, b 142
; is defeated at Argaom, b 151 ; signs the ti-eaty of

Deogaom, b 152
;

threatened by Ameer Khan, b 233
;
offered assistance

by Lord Minto, b 235
; death of the raja, b 314

; subsidiary alliance with
his successor, b 314

;
the raja, Appa Sahib, breaks out into revolt,' b 337

;

is defeated at Seetabuldee, b 338
; deposed, b 340

;
administration of

Mr. Jenkins, during the minority of his successor, c 390
; misrule of the

raja when he assumes the government, c 390
; anxiety of the people for the

restoration of British rule, c 399
;
death of the raja without issue or adop-

tion, c 388; Lord Dalhousie's Minute on the succession, c 391
;
Minutes of

Col. Low and Mr. Halliday, c 393
;
annexation of the country, c 394

;
deci-

sion of the Court of Directors, c 394
; sale of jewels, c 395.

Nana Furnuvese, flies from Paniput ;
member of the regency in the durbar at

Poona, a 363
; overpowered by the partizans of Raghoba ;

restored to

power, a 364
;
conducts the war against the English, a 365

;
alliance with

Lord Cornwallis against Tippoo, b 13
; flies from Poona, b 60

; recovers
his power; deceived and confined, b 61; his death and character,
b 131. ;

Nana Sahib ; pension to his adoptive father purely personal, c 413
;
he demands

the continuation of it, which is refused, c 414
; becomes, in revenge, the

great fiend of the mutiny, c 415.
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Nanuk, the Sikh prophet, a 184.

Napier, Sir Charles, assumes the command in Sinde; his harsh treatment of

the Amtv 'ins the victories of Meanee and Hyderabad, c 248-
249

; appointed Commander-in-chief, c 339 ; his collision with Lord Dal-

housie, o 379 ;
decision of the Duke of Wellington on the subject, c 380 ;

he retires from the service, c 380.

Napoleon, his ambitious designs on India in 1807 lead the Government to

seek foreign alliances, in the Punjab, in Afghanistan, and in Persia,
b 221.

Narayun Rao, the Peshwa, assassinated, a 355.

Natives of India injudiciously excluded from office by Lord Comwallis, b 38
;

introduced to offices of respectability by Lord William Bentinck, c 49
;

Charter of 1833 removes all restriction on their employment, c 86.

Native princes, their incessant encroachments on each other, b 26.

Nazir Jung, soobadar of the Deccan, a 240
;
defeats Chunda Sahib and Mo-

zuffer Jung, a 242
; unexpectedly attacked and killed, a 244.

Nepal, description of it, b 285
; progress of Goorkha power, b 286

;
encroach-

ments on British territory, b 287
;
remonstrances of the Calcutta Govern-

ment, b 287
;
the durbar determines on war, b 288 ; and strikes the first

blow, b 289. For Nepal War, see Goorkha Campaign.

Newspaper, first native, published by the Missionaries at Serampore in 1818,
b 358.

Nizam Ali, puts his brother to death
; usurp3 the throne of Hyderabad, a 318;

plunders and burns Poona
; defeated by Raghoba, a 325

; English treaty
with him in 1767

;
forms a confederacy against Hyder ;

then joins him ;

and deserts the English, a 327
;
defeated at Changama ;

his territories in-

vaded from Bengal, a 328
; deserts Hyder and makes peace with the Eng-

lish ; treaty of 1768, a 329
;
forms a grand confederacy against the English,

a 383 ; surrenders the Guntoor sircar, b 9
;
his alliance with the English

against Tippoo, 6 13
; the contingent of troops supplied by him, b 17 ;

totally defeated by the Mahrattas at Kurdla, b 56
;
his French force under

Raymond, b 57
; disbanded, b 82

; revolt of his son, b 58
; treaty with Nana

Furnuvese, b 60 ; subsidiary treaty formed with him by Lord Wellesley,
b 78 ;

cedes territory to pay the subsidiary force, b 101
;
establishment of

the Contingent under his successor, b 369
;
Chundoo Lall's oppressive

administration, b 370
;
interference of Sir Charles Metcalfe, b 371

;
Palmer

and Co. make advances at a high rate of interest, and obtain assignments
on the land, b 371; they are opposed by Sir Charles Metcalfe, b 373;
they are paid off by the Government of India, and become bankrupt,
b 374 ; Lord Dalhousie determines to settle the vexatious question of the

Contingent, c 406
;
debt accruing from nonpayment of it, c 407 ; the

Nizam's utter inattention to business, c 407 ; Lord Dalhousie's Minute,
c 408 ;

new treaty forced on the Nizam, c 410
; Berar and other districts

taken over for the debt and the annual payments, c 411
; singular good

fortune of the Nizam family, c 412.

Nizam ; Chin Killich Khan, the Tartar favourite of Aurungzebe, the first

Soobadar of the Deccan, a 186
; appointed vizier of the empire, and retires

in disgust to the Deccan, and becomes independent, a 191 ; defeated by
BajeeRao, a 197

; appointed generalissimo of the imperial forces
;
defeated

at Bhopal. a 198
;
his death, at the age of 104, and the confusion which

ensued, a 240.

!Noor-jehan, her parentage and beauty, a 126
; becomes the queen of Jenhan-

r; her talents and influence, a 127; intrigues against Shah Jehan,
a 131

;
her hatred of Mohabet, a 132

;
is defeated by him and then reconciled

t<> him; again breaks with him, and retires into private life on the death
of the emperor, a 135.

Northern sircars, ceded to the French, a 254; apportioned to the English,
a 284; transferred to the Company by the emperor; misconduct of the
Madras Council regarding them, a 319.

in. 2 i
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North-West Provinces, law to redress fraudulent sales of land in them, b 361
;

revenue settlement, c 46.

Nott, Gen., his proceedings at Candahar, c 210
;
advances for the recovery of

Cabul, c 223.

Nozeed affair, anomalous interference of Parliament to compel payment of an
unjust claim, c 77.

Nundu, king of Mugudu, a 15.

Nundu koomar, charges brought by him against Hastings, a 350
; Hastings

charges him with conspiracy ;
a native charges him with forgery ;

he is

tried and executed, a 351
;
remarks on this transaction, a 352.

Ochterlony, Gen., his noble defence of Delhi b 171 ; his great skill and eminent
success in the Goorkha campaign of 1815, b 297

; commands in the second

campaign, marches towards Catmandoo, and dictates peace, b 300
; orders

a force against Bhurtpore, b 403
;
countermanded by Lord Amherst,

b 403 ; his spirited remonstrance, b 404; his resignation and death, b 405;
rnnarks on his character, b 405.

Omichund, lies vast wealth, and princely establishment
; joins Seraja Dowlah,

a 278 ;
and then joins the confederacy against him, a 278

;
is circumvented

by Clive
;
reflections on the transaction, a 279.

Oodypore, made the capital of Mewar, a 109
; captured by Shah Jehan, a 129

;

the country desolated by Aurungzebe, a 166..

Orissa, its early history, a 23
;
the Guzu-putee, and Gungu-bungsu dynasties ;

the Hindoo monarchy extinguished, a 110
;
ceded by Aliverdy to the

Mahrattas, a 229
;
ceded by the Mahrattas to the Company, b 152.

Ostend, E. I. Company establish a factory at Bankybazar; rooted out by the

English, a 224.

Oude, origin of the royal family, a 191
;
Sufder Jung defeated by the Eohillas,

•alls in the Mahrattas, a 265
;
establishes his independence in 1753, a 266

;

joins and deserts Ali Gohur, a 284; marches to Patna, a 304; battle of

Buxar, a 305 ; the kingdom restored by Clive, a 310
;
alliance with the

Eohillas against the Mahrattas, a 337
; plots the destruction of the Eohillas,

a 337
;
which is effected, a 344

;
interference of the Calcutta Council in his

affairs, a 347 ; his death ;
new treaty made by the Council with his successor,

a 348; he is impoverished by the begums, a 348
;
enters into an engagement

with Hastings to despoil them, a 418
;
his arrangement with Lord

Cornwallis, b 8
;
his boundless dissipation, b 9

;
his character and pur-

suits, b 67
; disorganization of his Government, b 67

;
his death, b 68 ;

Vizier Ali
;
his reputed son appointed his successor, b 68

;
he is set aside

by Sir John Shore, b 69
;
Saadut Ali made Nabob, b 70

;
he is requested by

Lord Wellesley to make provision for a larger British force, and offers

to resign, b 116 ; remonstrates against the demand, b 118
;
submits to it,

b 119'; makes a large cession of territory, b 120
;
remarks on the transac-

tion, b 120 ; raised to the dignity of roya Ity by Lord Hastings, c 420
;
Lord

W. Bentinck threatens to assume the Government, if he does not reform
the administration, c 26

;
Court of Directors sanction the assumption,

c 27 ;
Lord Hardin ge renews the remonstrance, and gives him two years

of grace, c 420 ;
no effort made at reform, c 421

;
Col. Sleeman's report,

c 421
;
Gen. Outram's report, c 423

;
Lord Dalhousie's proposal, c 425

;

Minutes of the members of Council, c 425
;
decision of the home authorities,

c 427 ;
the country annexed, c 428

; remarks, c 428.

Outram, Lieut., his successful efforts to civilize the Bheels, c 100
;
his proceed-

ings in Sinde, c 237 ,
Gen. Outram's report on Oude, recommending the

assumption of the administration, c 423.

Pacheco the Portuguese general with a handful of Europeans defeats a host of

natives, a 87.

Pandya kingdom in the Deccan, a 21.

Paniput, first gi-eat battle, a 93
;
the second, a 104 : the third, a 291.

Patan nabobs of the Deccan, join Nazir Jung; become disaffected, a 242;
attack Mozuffer Jung ; by one of whom he is killed, a 245.
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Patan power in TTindostan revived by Amoer Khan, b 304 ; crushed by Lord
Hastings. |

Pegu, incorporated with the Company's territories in 1852, c 372
;
benefits

resulting fn>m it, c 374.

Peninsular and Oriental Company, successful efforts to establish steam com-
munication between England and India; great national importance of
their labours, o 6L

Permanent settlement in Bengal, in 1793, b 34; the result of that measure,
635.

. native envov to the court, in 1799, b 108 ; he succeeds in withdrawing
Zemaun Shah from India, b 1 0S

; Oapt. Malcolm's costly and magnificent

embassy, b 109 ; French embassy, b 227; the Ministry send Sir H. Jones as

envoy from the Crown, b 228
;
Lord Minto sends Col. Malcolm as envoy

from the Government ot India, b 228; conflict between Persiaand Russia :

total discomfiture of the former, c 119; Persian expedition to Khorasan,
c 120

;
Mr. McNeill endeavours to prevent an expedition to Herat, c 121 ;

it is undertaken notwithstanding, C 122 ; siege of eight months raised,
c 189 : king returns to his capital disgraced, c 139; and undertakes
another expedition in 1856, c 233.

Peshwa, Bajee Rao, subsidiary treaty proposed by Lord Wellesley, and
declined, b 79 ; he refuses the share offered him of Tippoo's territories,
b 100; defeated by Holkar, and takes refuge in British territories, b 138;

signs the treaty of Bassein, b 140 ; restored to power by the British, b 144
;

important character of that treaty, b 141 ; it leads to a war with Sindia
and Nagpore, b 142 ; Peshwa's oppressions and superstitions, b 308

;
comes

under the sinister influence of Trimbukjee, b 309; sanctions the murder
of Gungadhur Shastree, b 311 ; his hostility to the British Government,
b 321 ; Lord Hastings deprives him of territory, b 322

; he breaks out in

open hostility, b 333
;
attacks the British force at Kirkee, and is defeated,

b .">:>.
r
» : flies from Poona and is pursued, b 347; defeated at Korygauir.,

b 348 : defeated at Ashtee, b 350 ; surrenders on receiving a pension for

life, b 351 ; sent to Bithoor, b 352.

Phayre. Sir A., his administration of Burmah, e 370.

Pigot, Lord, his antecedents; Governor of Madras; restores Tanjore to the

raja, a 380 ; deposed by the Council
;
restored by the Court of Directors ;

dies, a 381.

Pindarees, their origin, b 254; their connection with the native princes, b 255;
their leaders, b 256; their sj'stom of plunder, b 257; their atrocities,

6 258; attack British territories, 1812,6 259; Lord Minto's strong repre-
sentation to the Court, b 259; Lord Hastings' representation, b 304;
second and more urgent despatch, b 812; their bold expedition to the
south in 1815,6 313; Mr. Canning forbids active operations, b 317: but
on hearing of their atrocities authorizes them, b 31X ; their last expedi-
tion of 1816-17 ; its wide range, b 319 ; members of Council yield to Lord
Hastings' remonstrance, and agree to exterminate them, b 320; Lord

Hastings organizes the Pindaree campaign on a grand scale; strength of

the force brought into the field, b 327
; they are completely exterminated,

b 345.

Piracv on the coast of Arabia suppressed by Lord Minto, b 246,

Pitt's India Bill, a 432.

PI assy, the battle of, changes the fortunes of the Company, a 280.

Political officers in the Punjab; their noble conduct during the revolt,
c 329.

Pollock, General, sent with a brigade to relieve Cabul, c 199; reaches Pesh-
awur, finds Col. "Wild's force totally demoralized, c 203; spends Feb-

ruary and March in restoring discipline and confidence, <• 208; forces
the Khyber, r 204; reaches Jellalabad, 205; advances with the army
of retribution, c 221; defeats the Afghans at Jugdulluk and Tezeen,
c 222

;
and reoccupies Cabul, c 223;

2 i 2



484 INDEX.

Pondicherry, besieged -without success by Admiral Boscawen, a 237
; captured

by Col. Coote, a 263
; captured a second time in 1778, a 386 : and again in

1793, b 39.

Poona, plundered by Nizam Ali, a 325; and by Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, b 62.

Poornea, Hyder's able minister conceals his master's death
; his exemplary

conduct, a 402, the eminent minister of the new dynasty; but, after
eleven years of service, is dismissed by his master, c 19.

Poorunder, treaty of
,
its degrading provisions, a 361

; disapproved of by the
Court of Directors, a 363.

Popham, Major, captures Gwalior, a 372.

Porto Novo, battle of, gained by Gen. Coote, a 393.

Portuguese, the first to double the Cape of Good Hope, a 84
;
their first expedi-

tion to India, a 85
;
their trade, and their importance in the sixteenth

century, a 117
;

defeat the combined Mahomedan powers ; repel the
attack on Goa, in 1578, a 118 ; establish themselves in Bengal, a 137

;

they found and fox-tify Hooghly; their establishment at Chittagong,
a 138

; Hooghly captured and their power broken, a 139.

Postage, low and uniform rate established, c 434.

Pottinger, Lieut., his exertions at Herat, c 136
; Major Pottinger, political

officer at Chareekar, c 190
;

flies -wounded to the cantonment, c 190
;

assumes political charge in Afghanistan on the murder of Sir William

Macnaghten, c 190
;
his bold advice rejected, c 191

;
is taken as a hostage,

c 193 ; his energetic efforts to rescue the hostages and captives at

Bameean, c 225.

Press, persecuted by Mr. Adam, b 380 : treated with lenity by Lord Amherst,
b 411

; practically free under Lord William Bentinck, c 91; and rendered

legally free by Sir Charles Metcalfe, c 92
; high displeasure of the Court

of Directors, c 94.

Principal Sudder Ameen
;
the office established by Lord William Bentinck,

51.

Privateers, French, destroy British trade in the Indian seas, b 247.

Procession of the guns captured from the Sikhs, c 301.

Proprietary right in the lands of Bengal discussed
; generously given to the

zemindars by the Court of Directors, b 32.

Punjab, confusion on the death of Eunjeet Sing, c 273 ; constant revolutions,
end in making ihe army supreme, c 274-280; invasion of British terri-

tory, c 282; the Punjab placed at .the feet of the Governor-General by
the' four battles of the Sutlege, c 298

;
British army enter it, c 297

;

arrangement by Lord Hardinge of the government, 9th March, 1846,
c 300

;
the Jullunder annexed, and Cashmere sold, c 299

;
new arrange,

ment in December, c 302
; council of regency, c 303 ; general revolt,

c 320
;

the Maharanee intrigues, and is banished, b 317 ;
the revolt

quelled, c 345
;
the Punjab annexed, c 348

; system of government estab-

lished by Lord. Dalhousie, c 351
;
his particular attention to the adminis-

tration, c 359
; protective force on the border, c 353 ; disarmament of the

country, c 353 ;
the new police, c 354 ;

the revenues, c 354 ; abolition

of slavery, dacoity and thuggee, c 355
; suppression of infanticide, c 356

;

the great trunk-road, c 358 ;
the Baree dooab canal, c 359

; grand results

of these measures, c 359.

Public works, erected into a department and fully organized, and liberally sup-
plied by Lord Dalhousie, c 431.

Raffles, Sir Stamford, suggests the expedition to Java, and assists in the

organization of it, b 250; appointed Governor of it, b 253
;
founds Singa-

pore, b 365.

Raghoba plunders Guzerat ; ravages the domains of the emperor, a 255;

captures Delhi; marches to the Indus; he is deprived of the command
of the army, a 286

;
defeats Nizam Ali, a 325

;
assassinates Narayum

Rao, and becomes Peshwa
;
makes war on the Nizam, a 356 ; displaced

by the Poona regency ; prepares to resist them, a 357
; negotiates with
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Bombay, " 858 ; treaty disallowed in Calcutta, approved of in England,

62; revolution in 'his favour at Poona, a 363; counter-revolution,

164; n. \v treaty with Bombay; expedition to Poona on his behalf,

a 865; its disastrous result, a 3(36; he surrenders to Sindia, a 367;
at to Hindostan; escapes, a 869

; pensioned off,

a :;77.

Railways, mat Indian system of, established by Lord Dalhousie, c 439.

Bajpool princes claim British protection, without success, b 202
;
it is extended

to them by Lord Hastings, in 1817, b 331.

ts, revolt of; through the bigotry of Aurungzebe ;
their permanent

alienation from the throne of Delhi, a 166.

Kaniavun, tlie epic of Valmeeki, a 6-9.

Bammigur, engagement at, c 326 ; death of Cols. Havelockand Cureton, c 327.

Ram raja, retires to Ginjee, a 177
;
returns to the north

;
makes Sattara the

Mahratta capital, a 179.

Rama, his expedition against Ravunu, and his death, a 7.

Bana Bnnga, the Rajpoot, his power and magnificence, a 76
;
defeated by

Baber, a 94.

Panei! of Lahore, assumes power, c 280
;
her licentiousness, c 278

; designated

by Lord Hardinge the Messalina of the north, c 279; her intrigues,
c 317

;
banished to Benares, c 318.

Kangoon, capture of in 1824, b 389 ; and also by Gen. Godwin in 1852, c 369.

Pavunu, the ruler of Ceylon, defeated by Ramu, a 7.

i, expedition to, under Gen. Baird, b 112.

Regulating Act of 1773, a 340.

Rent-free tenures, freely resumed under native rulers, c 6; resumption of

them in 1828, c 7.

Revenue Board, established by Lord William Bentinck at Allahabad, c 46.

Revenue settlement in Bengal, in 1772, a 343 ; in 1777, a 354
;

it is ordered to

be concluded for ten years, and then made permanent in 1793, b 31.

Revenue settlement, North-West Provinces, c 46.

Revenues of India, their elastic character, c 432
;
increase from 30 crores in

1846, to 45 crores in 1856, c 482.

Roads constructed under Lord Dalhousie, c 435.

Robertson, Mr. T. C, Governor of Agra, his energetic efforts to send relief to

Cabul. c 197.

Roe, Sir Thomas, his embassy to Delhi, a 130.

Rohilla Afghans, their rise, a 202
; they defeat the Nabob of Oude, a 265.

Rohilla war, a 343
;
destruction of the Rohillas, a 344

; remarks, a 345.

Roopur, magnificent pageantry at the meeting, c 41.

Rum bold, Sir Thomas. Governor of Madras
;
his large remittances to England,

a 382
;
transactions concerning the Guntoor Sircar, a 383

;
his dismissal,

a 384
; defence of his conduct furnished by his own papers. Appendix,

vol. 1.

Runjeet Sing, his rise to power ;
subdues the various tribes in the Punjab, b 219

;

attempts to annex the Cis-Sutlege principalities, and extend his power to

Delhi, b 220
;
Lord Minto determines to oppose it, b 221

;
Mr. Metcalfe sent

as envoy to his Court, b 222; obliges him to sign a treaty, and confines

him to the right bank of the Sutlege, b 225; he reforms his army, c 31 ;

obtains the Koh-i-noor, c 33; conquers Mooltan, c 33; conquers Cash-
88: takes French officers into his service, c 34; conquers the

Derajat, c 40
; insurrection of Syud Ahmed, e 35

;
welcomes the mission

of Capt. Burnes, c 38; his great power, his army, his resources, his

ambition, c 39
; meets Lord W. Bentinck at Roopur, c 41

; obtains

possession of Peshawur, c 114; his views on Sinde restrained, c 115;
concludes the tripartite treaty, c 132

;
his death and character, c 152.

Russia, progress of her power and increase of her territory, c 118; acquires
a paramount influence at the court of Persia, c 119 ; sends an envoy to

Cabul, c 127
; assists the Persians in the siege of Herat, c 138.
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Eyotwarry system at Madras, b 267 ; fully established by Sir Thomas Mimro,
•under orders from the Court, b 359.

Sadoolapore, battle of, c 327.

Sadut Ali, a Khorason merchant founds the royal family of Oude, a 191
; his

treasonable advice to Nadir Shah, a 200
;
laid under contribution by him,

and swallows poison, a 201.

Sagur, the sea king of Bengal, a 6.

Sahoo, made king of the Mahrattas, while in Aurungzebe's hands, a 177
;
is

released, a 187
;
his weakness leads to the usurpation of the Peshwa,

a 193
; arrangement with the Kolapore branch of the family, a 194; his

follies and death, a 251.

Salabut Jung, Soobadar of the Deccan, a 245
;
invades Mysore, a 255

; attacks

Savanore, a 256
;
marches against Bussy, and is obliged to submit,

a '/57
;
cedes territory to the English, a 284

; acknowledged Soobadar
of the Deccan by the peace of Paris

; deposed and put to death by
his brother, a 318.

Salaries of civil servants increased by Lord Cornwallis, b 7.

Salbye, treaty of, a 376; ratified by the Mahrattas only on hearing: of

Hyder's death, a 377.

Salsette, occupied by the Bombay Government, a 358.

Sambajee, succeeds Sevajee ;
his vicious reign, a 170

; tortured to death
a 176.

Sanscrit language ;
its original seat and gradual mixture with the pro-

vincial languages of India, a 4.

Santal emeute, c 376.

Satara, principality of, established by Lord Hastings, b 349 ; death of the raja
in 1848

; question of perpetuating it by adoption, c 382
; Minutes of Sir

George Clerk, c 382; of Mr. Willoughby, c 383; researches of Lord
Dalhousie, c 384

;
his conclusion

;
his Minute, c 386

; orders of the
Home authorities on the subject of the annexation of this and kindred

dependent principalities, c 388
;

it is annexed, c 388.

Satgong, the ancient port of Bengal ;
its decay, a 138.

Seetabuldee, battle of, b 338.

Seleucus invades India, a 15.

Selim, ascends the throne of Delhi, under the title of Jehangeer, a 125.

Seljuks, their progress and proceedings, a 36, 37
;
extinction of their power, a 40.

Seraja dowlah, nabob of Bengal, his oppressions, a 269; he takes Calcutta,
a 273 ; returns to Moorshedabad, a 274

; marches again to Calcutta, a 275 ;

is defeated by Clive, and concludes a treaty, a 276
; confederacy against

him, a 277
;
he is defeated at Plassy, a 279

;
flies to Eajmahal, a 280

;
is

captured and assassinated by Meerun, a 281.

Serampore Missionaries, their labours, b 213
; opposed by Government ; ano-

malous conduct of the public authorities, b 214 ; violently assailed in the
Eouse of Commons by Mr. Marsh, and defended by Mr. Wilberforce, b 281.

Seringapatam, strength of the fortifications, b 86
;

it is invested, b 91
;
and

captured, b 92.

Setts, the bankers of Moorshedabad, join the confederacy against Seraja
Dowlah, a 277

;
advise Clive to join it, « 278

; put to death by Meer
Cassim, a 303.

Sevajee, his birth, a 152
;
education ; early talents

; captures Torna
;
builds

Raigur, a 153
;
his progress ; ravages the Mogul territory, a 154

; obtains

the Concan, a 155
;
attacks Shaista Khan at Poona, a 157

; plunders Surat,
a 158

;
assumes royalty ;

his depredations on the sea
; expedition to

Barcelore, a 159
;
submits to Aurungzebe; convention of Poorunder;

origin of the chout, a 160
; proceeds to Delhi

;
is insulted, placed under

restraint, and escapes, a 161
;

his civil and political institutions, a 162;

plunders Surat a second time, a 163
;
defeats the emperor's troops, a 164;

is crowned with great ceremony, a 167
;

his expedition to the Carnatic,
a 168

;
his death, a 169

;
and character, a 170.
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Shahjee, his birth, a 151 ;
succeeds to the jageer of Poona

;
creates a king of

Ahmednugur, and makes extensive conquests in the south, a 152
; revisits

his son, Sevajee, a 157; his death ;
his possessions, a 159.

Shah Jehan, driven to rebellion, attacked and pursued by Mohabet, a 131; flies

to Bengal, a 132
;
ascends the throne of Delhi, a 134

;
his extravagant

expenditure, a 135
;
subdues Ahmednugur, a 137

;
breaks the Portuguese

power in Bengal, a 138
;
his four sons, a 144

; deposed by Aurungzebe,
his character, his magnificence, a 145, 146

;
his death, a 162.

Shah Soojah receives the embassy of Mr. Elphinstone, in 1809, with whom he.

forms a treaty ;
is defeated by his brother and obliged to fly across the

Indus, b 226
; obliged to resign the Koh-i-noor to Kunjeet Sing, c 33 ;

becomes a pensioner of the British Government at Loodiana, c33
;
un-

successful attempt to recover his power in 1833, c 113
;
Lord Auckland

determines to seat him on the throne of Cabul, c 130; signs the tripartite

treaty, c 132; Shah Soojah proceeds with the expedition, c 140; enters
Cabul as king, c 149

;
his unpopularity, and its cause, c 160

;
his tragic

death, c218.

Shere Sing, son of Kunjeet Sing, becomes raja, c 274
;

is put to death, c 277.

Shere Sing, sent with an army to coerce Moolraj, c 317
; goes over to him,

c 320 ; marches towards Lahore, c 322
;

baffles Lord Gough at Ram-
nugur, c 325

;
takes up a strong position on the Ohenab at Bussool, c 33

;

fights the battle of Chillianwalla, c 333
;
defeated at Guzerat, c 345

;
sur-

renders to General Gilbert, c 347.

Shere Khan, the Afghan ;
his origin, occupies Behar; conquers Bengal ;

defeats

Humayoon, a 98
;
mounts the throne of Delhi

; conquers Malwa and
Marwar, a 100

;
his institutions, death, and character, a 101.

Shore, Sir John, his views on the permanent settlement, b 32
;
Governor-

General, b 51
;
remains neutral during the struggle between the Nizam

and the Mahrattas, b 54
;
British reputation compromised by it, b 55

;
makes

concessions to the mutinous officers, b 65
;

is superseded, b 66
; his scrupu-

lous justice regarding the succession of Oude, b 68
;
his danger at Lucknow,

b 69
;
his courage and composure ; resigns the Government, and returns to

England, b 70
;
created a peer, b 70.

Sikhs, their origin and progress ;
become a military community, a 184.

Sinde, establishment of the Talpoora Ameers, c 37 ; their hostile feelings
to the English, c 37

; treaty formed with them by Lord William Bentinck
in 1831, c 43

;
exactions from them in 1839, and new treaty forced on them,

c 144 ; their general fidelity during the troubles in Afghanistan, c 237
;

Lord Ellenborough dictates new treaties, c 239
;
violent proceedings of Sir

C. Napier, c 241
;
conference with Col. Outram, c 244; they sign the treaties,

c 244
;
the Belochee troops attacL the Kesidency, c 247 ; battle of Meanee,

c 247
;
battle of Hyderabad, c 249

;
Sinde annexed, c 249

;
remarks on these

transactions, c 250.

Sindia, the origin of his family, a 195
; ravages Eohilcund

;
driven back across

the Ganges ;
defeated by Ahmed Shah, a 288

;
killed at Paniput, a 292.

Sindia, Dowlut Bao, succeeds his great uncle, Mahdajee Sindia, at the age of

thirteen, b 53; refuses the alliance proposed by Lord Wellesley, b 81;
is defeated by Holkar in 1801, b 135; defeats Holkar, but neglects to crush

him, b 137
;

is totally defeated by Holkar at the battle of Poona, 1802,
b 138

;
takes umbrage at the treaty of Bassein, and forms an alliance

with Nagpore, b 142
; his memorable declaration, which leads to war,

b 145 ; defeated at Assye, b 149
;
concludes an armistice with Gen. Welles-

ley, b 151
;

attacks the British army at Argaom, b 151
; strength of his

French force in Hindostan, b 153
;
loses Allygur, b 154

;
his troops defeated

in the battle of Delhi, b 155
; signs the treaty of Sirjee Anjengaom, which

deprives him of half his territory, b 160
;

his hesitation regarding the

Pindarees, b 320
;
Lord Hastings advances to Gwalior, and obliges him

to sign a treaty, b 328
; his death, c 28

;
his widow, Baeza-bye, adopts a

son, c 29
•,
refuses him any share of power c 29

;
the Resident prevents a
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conflict, c 30
;
the Bye expelled the kingdom, c 30. For the war of

1843, see Gwalior Campaign.
Sindia Mahdajee, detached from Raghoba by the Poona regency, a 358

; nego-
tiates the convention of Wurgaum ; Raghoba surrenders to him, a 367 ;

connives at his escape ;
a 369

;
is defeated by Goddard, a 371

; completely
defeated by Col. Carnac, a 373

;
makes a treaty with Hastings, a 376

; con-
eludes the treaty of Salbye, on the part of the Mahratta confederacy,
a 377

;
his great success in Hindostan

;
demands chout for Bengal and

Behar, b 40
; plunders the Rajpoots ;

defeated by them, b 41
;

his sepoy
force organized by de Boigne ; gains the battle of Patun, b 43

; and of

Mairta, b 44
;
marches to Poona

;
invests the Peshwa with the title given

by the emperor, b 45
; his mock humility ;

his death
,
b 46.

Singapore, established by Sir Stamford Raffles, b 365.

Sirjee Anjengoum, treaty of, b 160.

Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, Sindia's father-in-law, his oppression and atrocities,
6137.

Slave dynasty on the throne of Delhi
;
its beginning and end, a 53.

Slavery, abolished in India, c 270.

Sleeman, Col., the chief instrument in abolishing thuggee, c 59
;
Resident at

Lucknow
;
makes the tour of the country; recommends Government to

take over the administration and subsidize the king, c 421.

Smith, Sir Harry, loses prestige at Buddowal, c 292
; regains it at Aliwall,

c293.
Solar race, a 6.

Solingur, battle of, gained by Coote, a 395.

Somnath, wealth and celebrity of the shrine, a 33
; gallantly defended by the

Hindoos
; captured by Mahmood of Ghuznee

;
vast treasure found in the

body of the idol ; its sandal wood gates conveyed to Ghuznee, a 34.

Soojah, son of Shah Jehan, his character, a 144
;
defeated by Dara, a 145

;
and

by Meer Joomlah
;

flies to Aracan and is assassinated, a 147.

Soor dynasty, established at Delhi by Shere Shah, a 100.

Sooruj Mull, the chief of the Jauts, joins Sudaseeb Rao Bhao
;
his advice

rejected ;
withdraws in disgust from the Mahratta camp before the battle

of Paniput, a 290.

Steam communication
;
continued and unsuccessful attempts to establish it,

between England and India, c 60 ; the work accomplished by the Penin-
sular and Oriental Company, c 61

; steam communication on the rivers

of India promoted by Lord Dalhousie, c433.

Stoddart, Col., his treatment at Bokhara, c 234
;
executed by orders of the

Ameer, c 236.

Stuart, Gen., his disgraceful neglect on Hyder's death, a 403
;
marches to

Cuddalore ; opposed to Bussy, and rescued from peril by the treaty of

peace concluded between France and England ; placed under arrest, and
sent to England, a 405.

Subuktugeen, succeeds to the throne of Candahar, a 28
;

routs Jeypal of

Lahore ;
his death, a 29.

Sudaseeb Rao Bhao, the Mahratta generalissimo, a 286
;
advances against the

Abdalee, a 289
;
takes Delhi and plunders it, a 290

;
defeated at Paniput,

a 291.

Sudder court in Calcutta, modified and improved by Lord Wellesley, b 122
;

established at Allahabad, by Lord William Bentinck, c 46.

Sufder Ali, succeeds Dost Ali as !Nabob of the Oarnatic
;

is assassinated,
a 230.

Suffrein, the French Admiral
;
his various naval engagements with Admiral

Hughes ; captures Trincomalee, a 400.

Sumbulpore, a zemindaree in Central India, escheats to Government on the
death of the raja, c 399.

Sultana Rezia, empress of Delhi, a 50.

Sumroo, a German adventurer, murders the Nabob's European prisoners, a 303.
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Supreme Council, installed in Calcutta, a 346
;

its opposition to Hastings,
a 347

;
disallows the treaty with Raghoba, and sends Col. Upton to Poona,

who concludes the treaty of Poorunder, a 361.

Supreme Court in Calcutta, established, a 340
;
arrival of the Judges, a 346

; its

undefined jurisdiction, hanr^s Nundu koomar
; interference with the zemin-

dars, a 411
; ignores the Nabob of Moorshedabad

; disorganizes the whole
system of Government, a 412

;
summons the Governor-General and

Council, a 413 ; Act of Parliament passed to define its jurisdiction, a 415.

Supreme Court of Bombay, its collision, in like manner, with the Government,
c70.

Surat
; Company's first establishment, a 204

;
its commercial importance ;

defended against Sevajee by the English servants of the Company, a 158.

Suttees, abolished in the Company's territories by Lord "William Bentinck,
c 51

;
and in the native states by Lord Hai'dinge, c 307.

Swartz, the missionary, his mission to Hyder, a 387
;
his sage remarks to

Col. Fullerton on his retreat, a 409.

Syuds, the imperial dynasty of the, a 69.

Syud Ahmed, a Mahomedan fanatic, stirs up a revolt in the Punjab, and is

put to death, c 36.

Tagara of the Romans, identified with Deogur and Dowlutabad, a 23.

Takshuk invasion of Hindostan ; the supposed origin of the race, a 9.

Talneir, capture of the fort, b 353.

Tamul literature before the introduction of brahminism, a 21.

Tan
j ore, a Mahratta principality established in the extreme south by Shahjee,
a 159 ; invaded by Sevajee, a 168

; disputed succession and interference of
the English, a 238

; besieged without success by Lally, a 260
; arrangement

of 1763 made with the raja by the Nabob, a 318
;
exorbitant demand of Maho-

med Ali
;
refused by the raja ;

who is attacked by an English army ;
con-

strained to conclude a treaty, a 378
;
fresh demands of the Nabob

;
Tan-

jore conquered by a Madras force and made over to him
;
restored to the

raja ; and the Governor of Madras dismissed, a 380
;
the raja mediatized by

Lord Wellesley, b 103.

Tara-bye, regent of the Mahratta state for seven yeai-s, a 183
; intrigues on the

eve of Saboo's death
;
her grandson raised to the throne, a 252.

Tea, first introduced by the Company into England, a 208.

Teetoo Meer, his insurrection, c 10.

Tej Sing, appointed Commander-in-chief of the Sikh army, c 280
; beleaguers

Sir John Littler, c 283 ; his misconduct at Sobraon, c 296.

Telingana, its early history, a 22
;
the Hindoo dynasty extinguished, a 60

;
a

new Hindoo dynasty established, a 63.

Tellicherry, gallant sortie, and defeat of the Mysore army, a 397
; Tellicotta,

decisive battles at, a 116.

Territorial acquisitions in India; various proposals to limit or relinquish
them by Clive. Hastings, Lord Cornwallis, and Lord Shelburne, b 26.

Thanesur, the most opulent Hindoo shrine, destroyed by Mahmood of Ghuz-
nee, a 31.

Thomason, Mr. James, his successful administration of the N. W. Provinces,
c437.

Thuggee, its character, prevalence, and atrocities, extinguished by Lord Wil-
liam Bentinck, through Col. Sleeman, c 58.

Tibet, movement of Golab Sing defeated, c 276.

Timur, his birth and early adventures
;
his conquests in Central India, a 66

;

enters India and puts 100,000 captives to death
; captures and plunders

Delhi ; recrosses the Indus, a 67.

Tippoo, plunders the country seats around Madras, a 328 ; ascends the
throne ; his resources

; returns to the western coast, a 403
; recaptures Bed-

nore
; siege of Mangalore which costs him half his army, a 407

;
treats the

Madras commissioners with indignity ; signs the treaty of Mangalore,
a 410; war with the Mahrattas

;
makes peace suddenly, 6 3

;
attacks the
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Travancore lines and is repulsed, b 12
; war -with the English, the Nizam

and the Peshwa
; campaign of 1790, b 14

;
he lays waste the Carnatic ; his

embassy to France, b 16 ; battle of Arikera, b 18
;
awaits the arrival of

.Lord Cornwallis at the capital, 1792; is attacked and defeated, b 23
; con-

strained to make peace, and cede half his territory, and pay three crores of

rupees, b 24 ; reduction of his power, b 28
;
he determines to expel the

English from the Deccan, b 73 ; forms an alliance with the French at the

Mauritius, b 74
;
receives the French officers, b 75 ; strength of his army,

b 76 ; first communication of Lord Wellesley to him, b 84
; continuation

of the correspondence, b 85
;

his duplicity, b 86
;
war with him sanc-

tioned in England, b 83
; General Harris marches against him, b 88

;

Tippoo marches against the Bombay army on the western coast and is

defeated, b 89
;
defeated by General Harris at Malavelly, and retires to

Seringapatam, b 89 ; is slain in the assault of his capital, b 93 : his charac-

ter, b 94
; allotment of his territory between the Nizam and the Eng-

lish, and the boy raja set up by Lord Wellesley, b 96.

Toder Mull, subdues the Moguls in Bengal, a 112
;
and the Khyberees, a 114

;

his settlement of the land revenue and the finances of Bengal, a 124.

Toghluk dynasty on the throne of Delhi, a 60
;

its termination, a 68.

Toolsee-bye, the regent of the Holkar state, her talents, her beauty, and her

licentiousness, b 324
;
her tragic death, b 342.

Trade, private, encouraged by Lord Wellesley, b 126
; reprobated by the

Court of Directors, b 127
;
trade of India "thrown open to private enter-

prise in 1813, b 278
;
trade of China thrown open to the nation in 1833,

c83.
Transit duties

;
their origin and nature ; occasion of disputes with Meer

Cassim which cost him his throne, a 299.

Travancore, threatened by Tippoo ;
the raja purchases Ayacotta, and Cran-

ganore from the Dutch, b 11
;
the raja repels Tippoo's attack, b 12.

Treaty, tripartite, between Shah Soojah, Bunjeet Sing, and the British

Government, c 132.

Treaties with the native princes in the north, concluded by Lord Wellesley,
b 161

;
revoked by Lord Cornwallis, and Sir George Barlow, b 187, 190

;

revived by Lord Hastings in 1817-18, b 331.

Trevelyan, Sir Charles, his eminent services in the cause of English educa-

tion, c 65.

Trimbukjee, his sinister influence over Bajee Bao, b 309 ; murders Gungad-
hur Shastree, and is surrendered to the British Government, b 312

; placed
in confinement and escapes, b 321.

Ugnikools, the ancestors of the four great tribes of Bajpootana ;
their

legendary origin, a 17.

Vasco de Gama conducts the first Portuguese expedition to India, a 85
;
lands

at Calicut ; opposition of the Moors, a 85 ; second voyage to India ; burns
Calicut ;

establishes a factory at Cochin, a 87.

Vedus, collected by Vyasu ;
their leading doctrines, a 5.

Vikramadityu, king of Oojein ; his era ;
his grandeur ; his encouragement of

learning, a 19
;
his fabulous power; his creed, a 20.

Vizier Ali, assassinates Mr. Cherry at Benares, b 114.

Wade, Col., and Prince Timur force the Khyber Pass and reach Cabul, c 149.

Waldemar, Prince, takes part in the engagements of Ferozeshuhur, c 291.

Walid, his extensive conquests in India ; his ambition, a 25.

Walker, Col., restores the Guickwar's finances, b 163 : his efforts to abolish

infanticide, c 105.

Watson, Admiral, his arrival at Bombay ;
assists in the capture of Gheriah,

a 269 ; and of Calcutta, a 275.

Wellesley, Lord, Governor-General, b 71; state in which he found India, b 73 :

adopts the most vigorous policy throughout India, b 78 ; proposes subsi-

diary alliances with the princes, b 78 ; extinguishes the French force at

.Hyderabad, b 81
;
declares war against Tippoo, b 87; proceeds to Madras
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to prosecute it with vigour, b 84 ; abolishes the kingdom of Mysore, and
divides the territory, b 97 ; creates a new dynasty, b 96 ; forms a new
treaty with the Nizam, 6 101 ; mediatizes the Nabob of the Carnatic,
b 107 ; sends an embassy to Persia, b 109

; his transactions with the
Nabob of Oude, b 115 ;

obtains a large cession of territory, b 116
;
esta-

blishes the College of Fort William, b 123; encourages private trade,
b 126; loses caste at the India House, b 128; offers to resign, b 128; en-
treated to remain, b 131 ; concludes the treaty of Bassein with the Peshwa,
b 140 ; which offends Sindia and Nagpore, b 142

; war with them on a

grand scale, b 147
; victory attends the British arms, and Sindia loses

half his territories, b 160
; treaties made with the princes in the north,

b 161 ; disallowed by his successor, b 187
; unfortunate siege of Bhurtpoi-e,

b 172 ; treaty with the raja, b 173
;
close of Lord Wellesley's adminis-

tration, b 178; remarks on it, b 178; prosecuted by Mr. Paull, b 183;
alarm at the India House, b 181

; hostility of the Court of Directors to

him, b 181.

Whish, Gen., sent with a brigade to Mooltan, c 316 ; his operations suspended
by the defection of Shere Sing, c 320

; siege renewed, c 339
; capture of

the town and fort, c 341.

Wilkinson, Mr. Launcelot, his efforts to eradicate infanticide, c 106.

Willoughby, Mr. J. P., his efforts to eradicate it, c 106
;
his Minute on the

Satara case, c 383.

Wilson, Dr. H., opposes the abolition of suttees, c 54
;
the great champion

of Orientalism, c 65.

Wurgaum, convention of, a 367.

Toodistheer, performs the sacrifice of the horse, a 7; goes into exile for
twelve years ; victorious in the battle of Kooroo Kshetru, and retires to

Dwarka with Krishnu, a 8
;
and disappears, a 9.

Zemindars, their rise, b 29
; settlement of the land made with them in 1793,

b 31 ; their constant extortions ;
the necessity of restricting their de-

mand on the ryots, b 32
;

the classes whose rents they were not at

liberty to enhance, b 33.

Zulfikar Khan, captures Ginjee, a 179
; supports Jehander Shah, and is

murdered by Ferokshere, a 185.
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M.A. M.D. P.R.S. Founded on the Dictionary of Dr. Samuel Johnson, as
edited by the Rev. H. J. Todd, with numerous Emendations and Additions.
In Pour Volumes, 4to. price £7.
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8vo. 5s.

CHARACTERISTICS of MEN, MANNERS, OPINIONS, TIMES.
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By M. F. Maurt, LL.D. Fcp. with 2 Charts," 2s. 6d.

M'CULLOCH'S DICTIONARY, Geographical, Statistical, and Historical,
of the various Countries, Places, and Principal Natural Objects in the World.
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Royal Institution of Great Britain in April-June 1869. By the same Author.
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(English) Edition. 8vo. with many Illustrations, 21s.

The TROPICAL WORLD. By Dr. Geo. Hartwig. With 8 Chromo-
xylographs and 172 "Woodcuts. 8vo. 21s.

The POLAR WORLD
;
a Popular Description ofMan and Nature in the

Arctic and Antarctic Regions of the Globe. By Dr. George Hartwig.
With 8 Chromoxylographs, 8 Maps, and 85 Woodcuts. 8vo. 21s.

KIRBY and SPENCE'S INTRODUCTION to ENTOMOLOGY, or
Elements of the Natural History of Insects. 7th Edition. Crown 8vo. 5s.

MAUNDER' S TREASURY of NATURAL HISTORY, or Popular
Dictionary of Zoology. Revised and corrected by T. S. Cobbold, M.D.
Ecp. with 900 AVoodcuts, 6s. cloth, or 9s. Qd. bound in calf.

The TREASURY of BOTANY, or Popular Dictionary of the Vegetable
Kingdom ; including a Glossary of Botanical Terms. Edited by J. Lindley,
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Miller, M.D. &c. Prof, of Chemistry, King's Coll. London. Fourth
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Charles West, M.D. &c. Fifth Edition, revised and enlarged. 8vo. 16s.

A SYSTEM of SURGERY, Theoretical and Practical. In Treatises

by Various Authors. Edited by T.Holmes, M.A. &c. Surgeon and Lecturer
on Surgery at St. George's Hospital, and Surgeon-in-Chief to the Metro-
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Geeenhow, M.D. F.R.C.P. &c. 8vo. 7s. Gd.

The CLIMATE of the SOUTH of FRANCE as SUITED to INVALIDS;
with Notices of Mediterranean and other Winter Stations. By C. T.
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Edited by Hora.ce Dobell, M.D. assisted by numerous and distinguished
Coadjutors. 8vo. 185.

PULMONARY CONSUMPTION ; its Nature, Treatment, and Duration
exemplified by an Analysis of One Thousand Cases selected from upwards of

Twenty Thousand. By C. J. B. Williams, M.D. F.R.S. Consulting Phy-
sician to the Hospital for Consumption at Brompton ;

and C. T. Williams,
M.A. M.D. Oxon. [Nearly ready.

CLINICAL LECTURES on DISEASES of the LIVER, JAUNDICE,
and ABDOMINAL DROPSY. By CHARLES Murchison, M.D. Post 8ro.
with 25 Woodcuts, 10s. Qd.

ANATOMY, DESCRIPTIVE and SURGICAL. By Henry Gray,
F.R.S. With about 400 Woodcuts from Dissections. Fifth Edition, by
T. Holmes, M.A. Cantab, with a new Introduction by the Editor. Royal
8vo. 2Ss.

CLINICAL NOTES on DISEASES of the LARYNX, investigated and
treated with the assistance of the Laryngoscope. By W. Marcet, M.D.
F.R.S. Assistant-Physician to the Hospital for Consumption and Diseases of

the Chest, Brompton. Crown 8vo. with 5 Lithographs, 6s.

The THEORY of OCULAR DEFECTS and of SPECTACLES. Trans-
lated from the German of Dr. H. Scheeeler by R. B. Carter, F.R.C.S.
With Prefatory Notes and a Chapter of Practical Instructions. Post 8vo.

price 7s. Qd.

OUTLINES of PHYSIOLOGY, Human and Comparative. By John
Marshall, F.R.C.S. Surgeon to the University College Hospital. 2 vols,
crown 8vo. with 122 Woodcuts, 32s.

ESSAYS on PHYSIOLOGICAL SUBJECTS. By Gilbert W. Child,
M.A. Second Edition, revised, with Woodcuts. Crown 8vo. 7s. Qd.

PHYSIOLOGICAL ANATOMY and PHYSIOLOGY of MAN. By the
late R. B. Todd, M,D. F.R.S. and W. Bowman, F.R.S. of King's College.
With numerous Illustrations. Vol. II. 8vo. 25s.

Vol. I. New Edition by Dr. Lionel S. Beale, F.R.S. in course of publi-
cation ; Part I. with 8 Plates, 7s. Qd.

COPLAND'S DICTIONARY of PRACTICAL MEDICINE, abridged
from the larger work and throughout brought down to the present State
of Medical Science. 8vo. 86s.

REIMANN'S HANDBOOK of ANILINE and its DERIVATIVES;
a Treatise on the Manufacture of Aniline and Aniline Colours. Edited by
William Crookes, F.R.S. With 5 Woodcuts. 8vo. 10s. Qd.

A MANUAL of MATERIA MEDICA and THERAPEUTICS, abridged
from Dr. Pereiea's Elements by F. J. Farre, M.D. assisted by R. Bentley,
M.R.C.S. and by R. Warington, F.R.S. 8vo. with 90 Woodcuts, 21s.

THOMSON'S CONSPECTUS of the BRITISH PHARMACOPOEIA.
25th Edition, corrected by E. Lloyd Birkett, M.D. 18mo. price 6s.

MANUAL of the DOMESTIC PRACTICE of MEDICINE. By W. B.
Kesteven, F.R.C.S.E. Third Edition, revised, with Additions. Fcp. 5s.

GYMNASTS and GYMNASTICS. By John H. Howard, late Pro-
fessor of Gymnastics, Comm. Coll. Ripponden. Second Edition, revised
and enlarged, with 135 Woodcuts. Crown 8vo. 10s. 6c?.
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The Fine Arts, and Illustrated Editions.

IN FAIRYLAND; Pictures from the Elf-World. By Richard
Doyle. With a Poem by W. Allingham. With Sixteen Plates, containing
Thirty-six Designs pi'iuted in Colours. Polio, 31s. 6d.

LIFE of JOHN GIBSON, R.A. SCULPTOR. Edited by Lady
EASTLAKE. 8vo. 10s. Gd.

The LORD'S PRAYER ILLUSTRATED by F. R. Pickersgill, R.A.
and Henry Aleord, D.D. Dean of Canterbury. Imp. 4to. price 21s. cloth.

MATERIALS for a HISTORY of OIL PAINTING. By Sir Charles
Locke Eastlake, sometime President of the Royal Academy. 2 vols.

8vo. price 30s.

HALF-HOUR LECTURES on the HISTORY and PRACTICE of the
Pine and Ornamental Arts. By William B. Scott. New Edition, revised

by the Author ; with 50 Woodcuts. Crown 8vo. 8s. (id.

ALBERT DURER, HIS LIFE and "WORKS; including Auto-
biographical Papers and Complete Catalogues. By William B. Scott.
With Six Etchings by the Author, and other Illustrations. 8vo. 16s.

SIX LECTURES on HARMONY, delivered at the Royal Institution
of Great Britain in the Year 1SG7. By G. A. Maceaeren. With nume-
rous engraved Musical Examples and Specimens. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

The CHORALE BOOK for ENGLAND: the Hymns translated by
Miss C. Winkworth ; the tunes arranged by Prof. W. S. Bennett and
Otto Goldschmidt. Pcp.4to.12s.6d.

The NEW TESTAMENT, illustrated with Wood Engravings after the

Early Masters, chiefly of the Italian School. Crown 4to. 63s. cloth, gilt top ;

or £5 5s. elegantly bound in morocco.

LYRA GERMANICA
; the Christian Year. Translated by Catherine

Winkworth ; with 125„ Illustrations on Wood drawn by J. Leighton,
P.S.A. 4to. 21s.

LYRA GERMANICA
; the Christian Life. Translated by Catherine

Winkworth ; with about 200 Woodcut Illustrations by J. Leighton, F.S.A.
and other Artists. 4to. 21s.

The LIFE of MAN SYMBOLISED by the MONTHS of the YEAR.
Text selected by R. Pigot ; Illustrations on Wood from Original Designs by
J. Leighton, P.S.A. 4to. 42s.

CATS' and FARLIE'S MORAL EMBLEMS
;
with Aphorisms, Adages,

and Proverbs of all Nations. 121 Illustrations on Wood by J. Leighton,
P.S.A. Text selected by R. Pigot. Imperial 8vo.31s. 6d.

SHAKSPEARE'S MIDSUMMER -NIGHT'S DREAM, illustrated

with 24 Silhouettes or Shadow-Pictures by P. Konewka, engraved on Wood
by A. Vogel. Polio, 31s. 6d.

SHAKSPEARE'S SENTIMENTS and SIMILES, printed in Black and
Gold, and Illuminated in the Missal Style by Henry Noel Humphreys.
Square post 8vo. 21s.
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SACRED and LEGENDARY ART. By Mrs. Jameson.

Legends of the Saints and Martyrs. Fifth Edition, with 19

Etchings and 187 Woodcuts. 2 vols, square crown 8vo. 31s. 6d.

Legends of the Monastic Orders. Third Edition, with 11 Etchings
and 88 Woodcuts. 1 vol. square crown 8vo. 21s.

Legends of the Madonna. Third Edition, with 27 Etchings and 165
Woodcuts. 1 vol. square crown 8vo. 21*.

The History of Our Lord, with that of his Types and Precursors.

Completed by Lady Eastlake. Revised Edition, with 31 Etchings and
281 Woodcuts. 2 vols, square crown 8vo. 42s.

The Useful Arts, Manufactures, &c.

HISTORY of the GOTHIC REVIVAL
; an Attempt to shew how far

the ta*te for Mediaeval Architecture was retained in England during the
last two centuries, and has been re-developed in the present. By Chaeles
L. Eastlake, Architect. With many Illustrations. [Nearly ready.

GWILT'S ENCYCLOPiEDIA of ARCHITECTURE, with above 1,100
Engravings on Wood. Fifth Edition, revised and enlarged by Wyatt
Papworth. Additionally illustrated with nearly 400 Wood Engravings by
O. Jewitt, and more than 100 other new Woodcuts. Svo. 52s. 6d.

ITALIAN SCULPTORS
; being a History of Sculpture in Northern,

Southern, and Eastern Italy. By C. C. Peekins. With SO Etchings and
13 Wood Engravings. Imperial Svo. 42s.

TUSCAN SCULPTORS, their Lives, Works, and Times. With 45
Etchings and 28 Woodcuts from Original Drawings and Photographs. By
the same Author. 2 vols, imperial 8vo. 63s.

HINTS on HOUSEHOLD TASTE in FURNITURE, UPHOLSTERY,
and other Details. By Chaeles L. Eastlake, Architect. Second Edition,
with about 90 Illustrations. Square crown 8vo. 18s.

The ENGINEER'S HANDBOOK; explaining the Principles which
should guide the Young Engineer in the Construction of Machinery. By
C. S. Lowndes. Post Svo. 5s.

PRINCIPLES of MECHANISM, designed for the Use of Students in
the Universities, and for Engineering Students generally. By R.
Willis, M.A. F.R.S. &c. Jacksonian Professor in the University of Cam-
bridge. A new and enlarged Edition. 8vo. [Nearly ready.

LATHES and TURNING, Simple, Mechanical, and ORNAMENTAL.
By W. Heney Noethcott. With about 240 Illustrations on Steel and
Wood. 8vo. 18s.

URE'S DICTIONARY of ARTS, MANUFACTURES, and MINES.
Sixth Edition, chiefly rewritten and greatly enlarged by Robeet Hunt,
F.R.S. assisted by numerous Contributors eminent in Science and the
Arta, and familiar with Manufactures. With above 2,000 Woodcuts. 3 vols,
ratdium 8vo. rrice £i lis. 6d.

HANDBOOK of PRACTICAL TELEGRAPHY, published with the
sanction of the Chairman and Directors of the Electric and International
Telegraph Company, and adopted by the Department of Telegraphs for
India. By R. S. Gullet. Third Edition. Svo. 1 -is. 6-\

c
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ENCYCLOPAEDIA of CIVIL ENGINEERING, Historical, Theoretical,
and Practical. By E. Crest, C.E. With above 3,000 Woodcuts. 8vo. 42s.

TREATISE on MILLS and MILLWORK. By Sir W. Fairbairn,
F.R.S. Second Edition, with 18 Plates and S22 Woodcuts. 2 vols. 8vo. 32s.

USEFUL INFORMATION for ENGINEERS. By the same Author.
Eirst, Second, and Third Series, with many Plates and Woodcuts.
3 vols, crown 8vo. 10s. Qd. each.

The APPLICATION of CAST and WROUGHT IRON to Building
Purposes. By the same Author. Fourth Edition, enlarged ;

with 6 Plates
and 118 Woodcuts. 8vo. price 16s.

IRON SHIP BUILDING, its History and Progress, as comprised in a
Series of Experimental Researches. By the same Author. With 4 Plates and
130 Woodcuts. Svo.lSs.

A TREATISE on the STEAM ENGINE, in its various Applications
to Mines, Mills, Steam Navigation, Railwavsand Agriculture. By J. Bourne,
C.E. Eighth Edition ; with Portrait, 37 Plates, and 546 Woodcuts. 4to. 42s.

CATECHISM of the STEAM ENGINE, in its various Applications to

Mines, Mills, Steam Navigation, Railways, and Agriculture. By the same
Author. With 89 Woodcuts. Ecp. 6s.

HANDBOOK of the STEAM ENGINE. By the same Author, forming a
Key to the Catechism of the Steam Engine, with 67 Woodcuts. Fcp. 9s.

BOURNE'S RECENT IMPROVEMENTS in the STEAM ENGINE in its

various applications to Mines, Mills, Steam Navigation, Railways, and Agri-
culture. Being a Supplement to the Author's

'

Catechism of the Steam
Engine.' By John Bourne, C.E. New Edition, including many New
Examples ; with 124 Woodcuts. Ecp. 8vo. 6s.

A TREATISE on the SCREW PROPELLER, SCREW VESSELS, and
Screw Engines, as adapted for purposes of Peace and War

;
with Notices

of other Methods of Propulsion, Tables of the Dimensions and Performance
of Screw Steamers, and detailed Specifications of Ships and Engines. By
J. Bourne, C.E. New Edition, with 54 Plates and 287 Woodcuts. 4to. 63s. .

EXAMPLES of MODERN STEAM, AIR, and GAS ENGINES of
the most Approved Types, as employed for Pumping, for Driving Machinery,
for Locomotion, and lor Agriculture, minutely and practically described.

By John Bourne, C.E. In course of publication in 24 Parts, price 2s. Gd.

each, forming One volume 4to. with about 50 Plates and 400 Woodcuts.;

A HISTORY of the MACHINE-WROUGHT HOSIERY and LACE
Manufactures. By William Eelkin, E.L.S. F.S.S. Royal 8vo. 21s.

PRACTICAL TREATISE on METALLURGY, adapted from the last

German Edition of Professor Kerl's Metallurgy by W. Ceookes, F.R.S. &c.
and E. Rohrig-, Ph.D. M.E. In Three Volumes, 8vo. with 625 Wood-
cuts. Vol. I. price 31s. 6d. Vol. II. price 36s. Vol. III. price 31s. Qd.

MITCHELL'S MANUAL of PRACTICAL ASSAYING. Third Edi-

tion, for the most part re-written, with all the recent Discoveries incor-

porated, by W. Crooees, E.R.S. With 188 Woodcuts. 8vo. 28s.

The ART of PERFUMERY ; the History and Theory of Odours, and
the Methods of Extracting the Aromas of Plants. By Dr. Piesse, F.CS.
Third Edition, with 53 Woodcuts. Crown 8vo. 10s. 6d.

Chemical, Natural, and Physical Magic, for Juveniles during the

Holidays. By the same Author. Third Edition, with 38 Woodcuts. Fcp. 6s.
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LOUDON'S ENCYCLOPEDIA of AGRICULTURE: comprising the

Laying-out, Improvement, and Management of Landed Property, and the
Cultivation and Economy of the Productions of Agriculture. With 1,100
Woodcuts. 8vo. 21s.

Loudon's Encyclopaedia of Gardening : comprising the Theory and
Practice of Horticulture, Floriculture, Arboriculture, and Landscape Gar-
dening. With 1,000 Woodcuts. 8vo. 21s.

BAYLDON'S ART of VALUING RENTS and TILLAGES, and Claims
of Tenants upon Quitting Farms, both at Michaelmas and Lady-Day.
Eighth Edition, revised by J. C. Mobton. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

Religious and Moral Works.

CONSIDERATIONS on the REVISION of the ENGLISH NEW
TESTAMENT. By C. J. Ellicoit, D.D. Lord Bishop of Gloucester and
Bristol. Post 8vo. price 5s. 6d.

An EXPOSITION of the 39 ARTICLES, Historical and Doctrinal.

By E. Haboxd Bbowne, D.D. Lord Bishop of Ely. Seventh Edit. 8vo. 16*.

BISHOP COTTON'S INSTRUCTIONS in the PRINCIPLES and
Practice of Christianity, intended chiefly as an introduction to Confirmation.
Sixth Edition, 18mo. 2s. Qd.

The ACTS of the APOSTLES
; with a Commentary, and Practical and

Devotional Suggestions for Readers and Students of the English Bible. By
the Rev. F. C. Cook, M.A. Canon of Exeter, &c. New Edition. 8vo. 12s. 6d.

The LIFE and EPISTLES of ST. PAUL. By the Kev. W. J.

Conybeare, M.A., and the Very Rev. J. S. Howson, D.D. Dean of Chester :—
Libeaet Edition, with all the Original Illustrations, Maps, Landscapes

on Steel, Woodcuts, &c. 2 vols. 4to. 48s.

Intermediate Editiou-

, with a Selection of Maps, Plates, and Woodcuts.
2 vols, square crown 8vo. 31s. &d.

Student's Edition, revised and condensed, with 46 Illustrations and
Maps. 1 vol. crown 8vo. price 9s.

The VOYAGE and SHIPWRECK of ST. PAUL; with Dissertations
on the Life and Writings of St. Luke and the Ships and Navigation of the
Ancients. By James Smith, F.R.S. Third Edition. Crown 8vo. 10s. Qd.

A CRITICAL and GRAMMATICAL COMMENTARY on ST. PAUL'S
Epistles. By C. J. Exlicott, D.D. Lord Bishop of Gloucester & Bristol. 8vo.

Galatians, Fourth Edition, 8s. 6d.

Ephesians, Fourth Edition, 8s. 6c?.

Pastoral Epistles, Fourth Edition, 10s. 6d.

Philippians, Colossians, and Philemon, Third Edition, 10s. 6c?.

Thessalonians, Third Edition, 7s. 6c?.

HISTORICAL LECTURES on the LIEE of OUR LORD JESUS
CHRIST : being the Hulsean Lectures for 1859. By C. J. Ellicott, D.D.
Lord Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol. Fifth Edition. Svo. price 12s.
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EVIDENCE of the TRUTH of the CHRISTIAN RELIGION derived
from the Literal Fulfilment of Prophecy. By Alexander Keith, D.D.
37th Edition, with numerous Plates, in square 8vo. 12s. 6tZ. ; also the 39th
Edition, in post 8vo. with 5 Plates, 6s.

History and Destiny of the World and Church, according to

Scripture. By the same Author. Square 8vo. with 40 Illustrations, 10*.

An INTRODUCTION to the STUDY of the NEW TESTAMENT,
Critical, Exegetical, and Theological. By the Rev. S. Davidson, D.D.
LL.D. 2 vols. 8vo. 30s.

Rev. T. H. HORNE'S INTRODUCTION to the CRITICAL STUDY
and Knowledge of the Holy Scriptures. Twelfth Edition, as last revised

throughout. With 4 Maps and 22 Woodcuts and Facsimiles. 4 vols. 8vo.42s.

Rev. T. H. Home's Compendious Introduction to the Study of the

Bible, being an Analysis of the larger work by the same Author. Re-edited

by the Rev. John Atre, M A. With Maps, &c. Post 8vo. 6s.

HISTORY of the KARAITE JEWS. By William Harris Rule,
D.D. Post 8vo. price 7s. &d.

EWALD'S HISTORY of ISRAEL to the DEATH of MOSES. Trans-
latedfrom theGerman. Edited, with a Preface and an Appendix, by Russell
Martineau, M.A. Second Edition. 2 vols. 8vo. 24s.

FIVE YEARS in a PROTESTANT SISTERHOOD and TEN YEARS
in a Catholic Convent ; an Autobiography. Post 8vo. 7s. 6eZ.

The LIFE of MARGARET MARY HALLAHAN, better known in

the religious world by the name of Mother Margaret. By her PvELIGIOUS
Children. Second Edition. 8vo. with Portrait, 10s.

The SEE of ROME in the MIDDLE AGES. By the Rev. Oswald
J. Reichel, B.C.L. and M.A. 8vo. price 18s.

The EVIDENCE for the PAPACY, as derived from the Holy Scrip-
tures and from Primitive Antiquity ;

with an Introductory Epistle. By the
Hon. Colin Lindsay. Svo. price 12s. Gd.

The TREASURY of BIBLE KNOWLEDGE
; being a Dictionary of the

Books, Persons, Places, Events, and other matters of which mention is made
in Holy Scripture. By Rev. J. Ayre, M.A. With Maps. 16 Flatos, and
numerous Woodcuts. Fcp. 8vo price 6s. cloth, or 9s. Gd. neatly bound in calf.

The GREEK TESTAMENT; with Notes, Grammatical and Exegetical.
By the Rev. W. Webster, M.A. and the Rev. W. F. Wilkinson, M.A.
2 vols. 8vo. £2 4s.

EVERY-DAY SCRIPTURE DIFFICULTIES explained and illustrated.

By J. E. Prescott, M.A. Vol. I. Matthew and Mark; Vol. II. Luke and
John. 2 vols. Svo. 9s. each.

The PENTATEUCH and BOOK of JOSHUA CRITICALLY EXAMINED.
By the Right Rev. J. W. Colenso, D.D. Lord Bishop of Natal. People's
Edition, in 1 vol. crown Svo. (is. or in 5 Parts, Is. each.

The CHURCH and the WORLD ; Three Series of Essays on Questions
of the Day. By Various Writers. Edited by the Rev. Oeby Shipley,
M.A. Three Volumes, Svo. price 15s. each.

The FORMATION of CHRISTENDOM. By T. W. Allies. Parts I.

and II. 8vo. price 12s. each Part.
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ENGLAND and CHRISTENDOM. By Archbishop Manning, D.D.
Post 8vo. price 10s. Qd.

CHRISTENDOM'S DIVISIONS, Part I., a Philosophical Sketch of
the Divisions of the Christian Family in East and West. By Edmund S.

Ffoulkes. Post 8vo. price 7s. Qd.

Christendom's Divisions, Part II. Greeks and Latins, being a His-

tory of their Dissensions and Overtures for Peace down to the Reformation.
By the same Author. Post 8vo. 15s.

The HIDDEN WISDOM of CHRIST and the KEY of KNOWLEDGE ;

or, History of the Apocrypha. By Ernest De Bunsen. 2 vols. 8vo. 28s.

The KEYS of ST. PETER
; or, the House of Rechab, connected with

the History of Symbolism and Idolatry. By the same Author. 8vo. 14s.

The TYPES of GENESIS, briefly considered as Revealing the

Development of Human Nature. By Andrew Jukes. Second Edition.
Crown 8vo. 7s. Qd.

The Second Death and the Restitution of All Things, with some
Preliminary Remarks on the Nature and Inspiration of Holy Scripture.
By the same Author. Second Edition. Crown 8vo. 3s. Qd.

A VIEW of the SCRIPTURE REVELATIONS CONCERNING a
FUTURE STATE. By Richard Whately, D.D. late Archbishop of
Dublin. Ninth Edition. Fcp. 8vo. 5s.

The POWER of the SOUL over the BODY. By George Moore,
M.D. M.R.C.P.L. &c. Sixth Edition. Crown 8vo. 8s. Qd.

THOUGHTS for the AGE. By Elizabeth M. Sewell, Author of

'Amy Herbert '

&c. Fcp. 8vo. price 5s.

Passing Thoughts on Religion. By the same Author. Fcp. 8vo. 5s.

Self-Examination before Confirmation. By the same Author. 32mo.
price Is. Qd.

Readings for a Month Preparatory to Confirmation, from Writers
of the Early and English Church. By the same Author. Fcp. 4s.

Readings for Every Day in Lent, compiled from the Writings of

Bishop Jeremy Taylor. By the same Author. Fcp. 5s.

Preparation for the Holy Communion; the Devotions chiefly from
the works of Jeremy Taylor. By the same Author. 32mo. Ss.

THOUGHTS for the HOLY WEEK for Young Persons. By the Author
of

' Amy Herbert.' New Edition. Fcp. 8vo. 2s.

PRINCIPLES of EDUCATION Drawn from Nature and Revelation,
and applied to Female Education in the Upper Classes. By the Author
of ' Amy Herbert.' 2 vols. fcp. 12s. Qd.

The WIFE'S MANUAL; or, Prayers, Thoughts, and Songs on Several
Occasions of a Matron's Life. By the Rev. W. Calvert, M.A. Crown 8vo.

price 10s. Qd.

SINGERS and SONGS of the CHURCH: being Biographical Sketches
of the Hymn-Writers in all the principal Collections; with Notes on their
Psalms and Hymns. By Josiah Miller, M.A. Second Edition, enlarged.
Post 8vo. price 10s. Qd.

LYRA GERMANICA, translated from the German by Miss C. Wink-
worth. First Series, Hymns for the Sundays and Chief Festivals
Second Series, the Christian Life. Fcp. 3s. Qd. each Series.
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• SPIRITUAL SONGS ' for the SUNDAYS and HOLIDAYS through-
out the Year. By J. S. B. Monsell, LL.D. Vicar of Egham and Rural Dean.
Fourth Edition, Sixth Thousand. Pep. 4s. Qd.

The BEATITUDES : Abasement before God ; Sorrow for Sin ; Meekness
of Spirit ; Desire for Holiness ;

Gentleness ; Purity of Heart ; the Peace-
makers ; Sufferings for Christ. By the same. Third Edition. Pep. 3s. Qd.

His PRESENCE—not his MEMORY, 1855. By the same Author,
in Memory of his Sox. Sixth Edition. 16mo. Is.

LYRA EUCHARISTICA
; Hymns and Verses on the Holy Communion,

Ancient and Modern : with other Poems. Edited by the Rev. Oeby Ship-
let, M.A. Second Edition. Pep. 5s. \

Lyra Messianica
; Hymns and Verses on the Life of Christ, Ancient

and Modern ; with other Poems. By the same Editor. Second Edition,
altered and enlarged. Fcp. 5s.

Lyra Mystica ; Hymns and Verses on Sacred Subjects, Ancient and
Modern. By the same Editor. Fcp. 5s.

ENDEAVOURS after the CHRISTIAN LIFE: Discourses. By
James Mabtineau. Pourth and cheaper Edition, carefully revised ; the
Two Series complete in One Volume. Post 8vo. 7s. Qd.

INVOCATION of SAINTS and ANGELS, for the use of Members of
the English Church. Edited by the Rev. Oebt Shipley. 24mo. 3s. Qd.

WHATELY'S INTRODUCTORY LESSONS on the CHRISTIAN
Evidences. 18mo. Qd.

WHATELY'S INTRODUCTORY LESSONS on the HISTORY of

Religious Worship. New Edition. 18mo. 2s. Qd.

BISHOP JEREMY TAYLOR'S ENTIRE WORKS. With Life by
Bishop Hebeb. Revised and corrected by the Rev. C. P.Edest, 10 vols.

price £5 5s.

Travels, Voyages, &c.

NARRATIVE of a SPRING TOUR in PORTUGAL. By A. C. Smith,
M.A. Ch. Ch. Oxon. Rector of Yatesbury. Post 8vo. price Qs. Qd.

ENGLAND to DELHI; a Narrative of Indian Travel. By John
Matheson", Glasgow. With Map and 82 Woodcut Illustrations. 4to. 31s. Qd.

CADORE
; or, TITIAN'S COUNTRY. By Josiah Gilbert, one of

the Authors of 'The Dolomite Mountains.' With Map, Pacsimile, and 40
Illustrations. Imperial Svo. 31s. Qd.

NARRATIVE of the EUPHRATES EXPEDITION carried on by
Order of the British Government during the years 1835-1837. By General
P. R. Chesnet, P.R.S. With Maps, Plates, and Woodcuts. 8vo. 24s.

TRAVELS in the CENTRAL CAUCASUS and BASHAN. Including
Visits to Ararat and Tabreez and Ascents of Kazbek and Elbruz. By
D. W. Peeshpield. Square crown 8vo. with Maps, &c. 18s.

PICTURES in TYROL and Elsewhere. From a Family Sketch-Book.
By the Authoress of • A Voyage en Zigzag,' &c. Second Edition. Small 4to.

with numerous Illustrations, 21s.

HOW WE SPENT the SUMMER ; or, a Voyage en Zigzag in Switzer-
land and Tyrol with some Members of the Alpine Club. Prom the Sketch-
Book of one of the Party. In oblong 4to. with 300 Illustrations, 15s. „
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BEATEN TRACKS
; or, Pen and Pencil Sketches in Italy. By the

Authoress of ' A Voyage en Ziczag.' With 42 Plates, containing about 200
Sketches from Drawings made on the Spot. 8vo. 16*.

MAP of the CHAIN of MONT BLANC, from an actual Survey in

1863—1864. By A. Adams-Reilly, F.R.G.S. M.A.C. Published under the
Authority of the Alpine Club. In Chromolithography on extra stout

drawing-paper 2Sin. x 17in. price 10s. or mounted on canvas in a folding
case, 12s. 6d.

WESTWARD by BAIL; the New Route to the East. By W. F. Rae.
With Map shewing the Lines of Bail between the Atlantic and the Pacific,
and Sections of the Railway. Post Svo. price 10s. 6(7.

The PARAGUAYAN WAR : with Sketches of the History of Paraguay,
and of the Manners and Customs of the People ; and Notes on the Military
Engineering of the War. By George Thompson, C.E. With 8 Maps and
Plans, and a Portrait of Lopez. Post 8vo. 12s. 6d.

HISTORY of DISCOVERY in our AUSTRALASIAN COLONIES,
Australia, Tasmania, and New Zealand, from the Earliest Date to the
Present Day. By William Howitt. 2 vols. Svo. with 3 Maps, 20s.

NOTES on BURGUNDY. By.CHARLES Richard Weld. Edited by
his Widow ;

with Portrait and Memoir. Post 8vo. 8s. &d.

The CAPITAL of the TYCOON
;

a Narrative of a Three Years' Resi-
dence in Japan. By Sir Rutherford Alcock, K.C.B. 2 vols. 8vo. with
numerous Illustrations, 42s.

The DOLOMITE MOUNTAINS
; Excursions through Tyrol, Carinthia,

Carniola, and Priuli, 1861-1863. By J. Gilbert and G. C. Churchill,
F.R.G.S. With numerous Illustrations. Square crown Svo. 21s.

GUIDE to the PYRENEES, for the use of Mountaineers. By
Charles Packe. 2nd Edition, with Map and Illustrations. Cr. 8vo. 7s. Qd.

The ALPINE GUIDE. By John Ball, M.R.I.A. late President of
the Alpine Club. Thoroughly Revised Editions, in Three Volumes, post
8vo. with Maps and other Illustrations:—

GUIDE to the WESTERN ALPS, including Mont Blanc, Monte Rosa,
Zermatt, &c. Price 6s. 6d.

GUIDE to the CENTRAL ALPS, including all the Oberland District.

7s. 6d.

GUIDE to the EASTERN ALPS, price 10s. 6d.

Introduction on Alpine Travelling in General, and on the Geology
of the Alps, price Is. Each of the Three Volumes or Parts of the Alpine
Guide may be had with this Introduction prefixed, price Is. extra.

The HIGH ALPS WITHOUT GUIDES. By the Rev. A. G. Girdle-
stone, M.A. late Demy in Natural Science, Magdalen College, Oxford.
With Frontispiece and 2 Maps. Square crown 8vo. price 7s. 6d.

MEMORIALS of LONDON and LONDON LIFE in the 13th, 14th,
and 15th Centuries ; being a Series of Extracts, Local, Social, and Political,
from the Archives of the City of London, a.d. 1276-1419. Selected,
translated, and edited by H. T. Riley, M.A. Royal 8vo. 21s.

COMMENTARIES on the HISTORY, CONSTITUTION, and CHAR-
TERED FRANCHISES of the CITT of LONDON. By George Norton,
formerly one.of the Common Pleaders of the City of London. Third Edition.
8vo. 14s.
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The NORTHERN HEIGHTS of LONDON
; or, Historical Associations

of Hampstead, Highgate, Muswell Hill, Hornsey, and Islington. By
William Howitt. With about 40 Woodcuts. Square crown 8vo. 21s.

VISITS to REMARKABLE PLACES: Old Halls, Battle-Fields, and
Stones Illustrative of Striking Passages in English History and Poetry.
By William: Howitt. 2 vols, square crown 8vo. with Woodcuts, 25s.

The RURAL LIFE of ENGLAND. By the same Author. With
Woodcuts by Bewick and Williams. Medium 8vo. 12s. Qd.

ROMA SOTTERRANEA ; or, an Account of the Roman Catacombs,
especially of the Cemetery of San Callisto. Compiled from the Works of
Commendatore G. B. De R^ssi by the Rev. J. S. Northcote, D.D. and the
Rev. W. B. Brownlow. With numerous Illustrations. 8vo. 31s. Qd.

PILGRIMAGES in the PYRENEES and LANDES. By DenysShyne
Lawloe. Crown 8vo. with Frontispiece and Vignette, price 15s.

The GERMAN WORKING MAN; being an Account of the Daily
Life. Amusements, and Unions for Culture and Material Progress of the
Artisans of North and Si>uth Germany and Switzerland. By James
Samuelson. Crown 8vo. with Frontispiece, 3s. Qd.

Works of Fiction.

LOTHAIR. By the Right Hon. B. Disraeli, M.P. Seventh Edition.
3 vols, post 8vo. price 31s. Qd.

Nc-sse omnia haec, salus est adolescentulis.—Terentius.

NO APPEAL
;
a Novel. By the Author of ' Cut down like Grass.'

3 vols, post 8vo. price 31s. Qd.

The MODERN NOVELIST'S LIBRARY. Each Work, in crown 8vo.
complete in a Single Volume :

—
Melville's Gladiators, 2s. boards j 2s. Qd. cloth.

Holmby House, 2s. boards ; 2s. Qd. cloth.

Interpreter, 2s. boards ; 2s. Qd. cloth.
Trollope's Warden, Is. Qd. boards ; 2s. cloth.

Barchester Towers, 2s. boards ; 2s. Qd. cloth.

Bramley-Moore's Six Sisters op thb Valleys, 2s. boards ; 2s. Qd. cloth.

THREE WEDDINGS. By the Author of '

Dorothy,'
« De Cressy,' &c.

Fcp. 8vo. price 5s.

STORIES and TALES by Elizabeth M. Sewell, Author of * Amy
Herbert,' uniform Edition, each Story or Tale complete in a single Volume:
Amy Herbert, 2s. Qd.

Gertrddb, 2s. Qd.
Earl's Daughter, 2s. Qd.
Experience of Life, 2s. Qd.

Cleve Hall, Ss. Qd.

Ivors, 3s. Qd.
Katharine Ashton, 3s. Qd.
Margaret Percival, 5s.

Laneton Parsonage, 4s. Qd.

Ursula, 4s. Qd.

A Glimpse of the World. By the Author of 'Amy Herbert.' Fcp. 7s. 6d.

The Journal of a Home Life. By the same Author. Post 8vo. 9s. 6d\

After Life
;
a Sequel to ' The Journal of a Home Life.' Price 10s. 6<£.

UNCLE PETER'S FAIRY TALE for the XIX CENTURY. Edited
by E. M. Sewell, Author of 'Amy Herbert,' &c. Fcp. 8vo. 7s. Qd.

VIKRAM and the VAMPIRE ; or, Tales of Hindu Devilry. Adapted
by Richard F. Burton, F.R.G.S. &c. With 33 Illustrations by Ernest
Griset. Crown 8vo. 9s.
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THROUGH the NIGHT ; a Tale of the Times. To which is added
'

Onward, or a Bummer Sketch.' By Walter Sweetman, B.A. 2 vols. pot»t
8vo. 21*.

BECKER'S GALLUS; or, Roman Scenes of the Time of Augustus:
with Notes and Excursuses. New Edition. Post 8vo. 7s. 6d.

BECKER'S CIIARICLES; a Tale illustrative of Private Life among the
Ancient Greeks : with Notes and Excursuses. New Edition. Post 8vo. Is. 6d.

NOVELS and TALES by G. J. Whyte Melville
Holmby House. 5s.

Good for Nothing, 6s.

The Queen's Maries, 6s.

The Interpreter, 5s.

The Gladiators, 5s.

Digby Grand, 5s.

Kate Coventry, 5?.

General Bounce, 5s.

TALES of ANCIENT GREECE. By George W. Cox, M.A. late

Scholar of Trin. Coll. Oxon. Being a Collective Edition of the Author's
Classical Stories and Tales, complete in One Volume. Crown 8vo. 6s. 6d.

A MANUAL of MYTHOLOGY, in the form of Question and Answer.
By the same Author. Fcp. 3s.

OUR CHILDREN'S STORY, by one of their Gossips. Bv the Author
of

'

Voyage en Zigzag,'
' Pictures in Tyrol,' &c. Small 4to. with.Sixty.Illus-

trations by the Author, price 10s, 6d.

Poetry and The Drama.

THOMAS MOORE'S POETICAL WORKS, the only Editions contain-

ing the Author's last Copyright Additions :
—

Cabinet Edition, 10 vols. fcp. 8vo. price 55s.

Shamrock Edition, crown 8vo. price 3s. 6d.
Ruby Edition, crown 8vo. with Portrait, price 6s.

Library Edition, medium 8vo. Portrait and Vignette, 14s.

People's Edition, square crown 8vo. with Portrait, &c. 10s. 6d.

MOORE'S IRISH MELODIES, Maclise's Edition, with 161 Steel Plates
from Original Drawings. Super-royal 8vo. 31s. 6d.

Miniature Edition of Moore's Irish Melodies with Maclise's De-
signs (as above) reduced in Lithography. Imp. 16mo. 10s. Qd.

MOORE'S LALLA ROOKH. Tenniel's Edition, with 68 Wood
Engravings from original Drawings and other Illustrations. Pep. 4to. 21s.

SOUTHEY'S POETICAL WORKS, with the Author's last Corrections
and copyright Additions. Library Edition, in 1 vol. medium 8vo. with
Portrait and Vignette, 14s.

LAYS of ANCIENT ROME
;

with Ivry and the Armada. By the

Right Hon. Lord Macaulay. 16mo. 4s. 6d.

Lord Macaulay' s Lays of Ancient Rome. With 90 Illustrations on
Wood, from the Antique, from Drawings by G. Scharf. Fcp. 4to. 21s.

Miniature Edition of Lord Macaulay's Lays of Ancient Rome,
with the Illustrations (as above) reduced in Lithography. Imp. lGmo.lOs.&i.

GOLDSMITH'S POETICAL WORKS, with Wood Engravings from
Designs by Members of the EicniNG Club. Imperial 16mo. Is. 6d.

POEMS. By Jean Ingelow. Fifteenth Edition. Fcp. 8vo. 5s.

POEMS by Jean Ingelow. With nearly 100 Illustrations by Eminent
Artists, engraved on Wood by the Brothers Dalziel. Fcp. 4to. 21 s.
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MOPSA the FAIRY. By Jean Ingelow. Pp. 256, with Eight
Illustrations engraved on Wood. Fcp. 8vo. 6s.

A STORY of DOOM, and other Poems. By Jean Ingelow. Third
Edition. Fcp. 5s.

POETICAL WORKS of LETITIA ELIZABETH LANDON (L.E.L.).
2 vols. 16mo. 10s.

GLAPHYRA, and OTHER POEMS By Francis Reynolds, Author
of

'

Alice Rushton, and other Poems.' 16mo. price 5s.

BOWDLER'S FAMILY SHAKSPEARE, cheaper Genuine Editions:
Medium 8vo. large type, with 36 Woodcuts, price 14s. Cabinet Edition,
with the same Illustrations, 6 vols. fcp. 3s. 6d. each.

HORATII OPERA, Pocket Edition, with carefully corrected Text,
Marginal References, and Introduction. Edited by the Rev. J. E.
Yonge, M.A. Square 18mo. 4s. Qd.

HORATII OPERA. Library Edition, with Marginal Eeferences and
English Notes. Edited by the Rev. J. E. Yonge. 8vo. 21s.

The JENEID of VIRGIL Translated into English Verse. By John
Conington, M.A. New Edition. Crown 8vo. 9s.

ARUNDINES CAMI, sive Musarum Cantabrigiensium Lnsus canori.

Collegit atque edidit H. Drury, M.A. Editio Sexta, curavit H. J. Hodgson,
M.A. Crown 8vo. 7s. 6d.

HUNTING SONGS and MISCELLANEOUS VERSES. By E. E.
Egeeton Waebueton. Second Edition. Ecp. 8vo. 5s.

The SILVER STORE collected from Mediaeval Christian and Jewish
Mines. By the Rev .Sabine Baring-Gould, M.A. Crown Svo. 3s. Gd.

Rural Sports, &c.

ENCYCLOPEDIA of RURAL SPORTS
;
a complete Account, Histo-

rical, Practical, and Descriptive, of Hunting, Shooting, Pishing, Racing,
and all other Rural and Athletic Sports and Pastimes. By D. P. Blaine.
With above 600 Woodcuts (20 from Designs by John Leech). 8vo. 21s.

Col. HAWKER'S INSTRUCTIONS to YOUNG SPORTSMEN in all

that relates to Guns and Shooting. Revised by the Author's Son. Square
crown 8vo. with Illustrations, 18s.

The DEAD SHOT, or Sportsman's Complete Guide ; a Treatise on
the Use of the Gun, Dog-breaking, Pigeon-shooting, &c. By Marksman.
Revised Edition. Fcp. 8vo. with Plates, 5s.

The FLY-FISHER'S ENTOMOLOGY. By Alfred Ronalds. With
coloured Representations of the Natural and Artificial Insect. Sixth
Edition ; with 20 coloured Plates. 8vo. 14s.

A BOOK on ANGLING
;
a complete Treatise on the Art of Angling

in every branch. By Francis Francis. Second Edition, with Portrait
and 15 other Plates, plain and coloured. Post 8vo. 15s.

The BOOK of the ROACH. By Greville Fennell, of « The Field.'

Fcp. 8vo. price 2s. 6<2.
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WILCOCKS'S SEA-FISHERMAN; comprising the Chief Methods of
Hook and Line Fishing in the British and other Seas, a Glance at Nets,
and Remarks on Boats and Boating. Second Edition, enlarged ; with 80
Woodcuts. Post 8vo. 12s. Qd.

HORSES and STABLES. By Colonel F. Fitzwygram, XV. the King's
Hussars. With Twenty-four Plates of Illustrations, containing very
numerous Figures engraved on Wood. 8vo. 15s.

The HORSE'S FOOT, and HOW to KEEP IT SOUND. By W.
Miles, Esq. Ninth Edition, with Illustrations. Imperial 8vo. 12s. Qd.

A PLAIN TREATISE on HORSE-SHOEING. By the same Author.
Sixth Edition. Post 8vo. with Illustrations, 2s. 6a*.

STABLES and STABLE-FITTINGS. By the same. Imp. 8vo. with
13 Plates, 15s.

REMARKS on HORSES' TEETH, addressed to Purchasers. By the
same. Post 8vo. Is. 6o*.

ROBBINS'S CAVALRY CATECHISM, or Instructions on Cavalry
Exercise and Field Movements, Brigade Movements, Out-post Duty, Cavalry
supporting Artillery, Artillery attached to Cavalry. 12mo. 5s.

BLAINE'S VETERINARY ART
; a Treatise on the Anatomy, Physi-

ology, and Curative Treatment of the Diseases of the Horse, Neat Cattle
and Sheep. Seventh Edition, revised and enlarged hy C. Steel, M.R.C.V.S.L.
8vo. with Plates and Woodcuts. ISs.

The HORSE: with a Treatise on Draught. By William Youatt.
New Edition, revised and enlarged. 8vo. with numerous Woodcuts, 12s. 6o*.

The Dog. By the same Author. 8vo. with numerous Woodcuts, 6*.

The DOG in HEALTH and DISEASE. By Stonehenge. With 70
Wood Engravings. Square crown 8vo. 10s. 6o*.

The GREYHOUND. By Stonehenge. Revised Edition, with 24
Portraits of Greyhounds. Square crown 8vo. 10s. Qd.

The OX
;
his Diseases and their Treatment : with an Essay on Parturi-

tion in the Cow. By J. R. Dobson. Crown 8vo. with Illustrations, 7s. Qd.

Commerce, Navigation, and Mercantile Affairs.

The ELEMENTS of BANKING. By Henry Dunning Macleod, M.A,
Barrister-at-Law. Post 8vo. [Nearly ready.

The THEORY and PRACTICE of BANKING. By the same Author.
Second Edition, entirely remodelled. 2 vols. 8vo. 30s.

PRACTICAL GUIDE for BRITISH SHIPMASTERS to UNITED
States Ports. By Pieeeepont Edwaeds. Post 8vo. 8s. Qd.

A DICTIONARY, Practical, Theoretical, and Historical, of Com-
merce and Commercial Navigation. By J. R. M'Culloch, Esq. New and
thoroughly revised Edition. 8vo. price 63s. cloth, or 70s. half-bd. in russia.

The LAW of NATIONS Considered as Independent Political Commu-
nities. By Sir Teaveks Twiss, D.C.L. 2 vols. Svo. 30s., or separately,
Paki I. Peace, 12s. Paei II. War, ISs.
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Works of Utility and General Information.

The CABINET LAWYER
;
a Popular Digest of the Laws of England,

Civil, Criminal, and Constitutional. Twenty-fifth Edition, brought down
to the close of the Parliamentary Session of 1869. Fcp. 10s. Qd.

PEWTNER'S COMPREHENSIVE SPECIFIER
;
A Guide to the

Practical Specification of every kind of Building-Artificers' Work; with
Forms of Building Conditions and Agreements, an Appendix, Foot-Notes,
and a copious Index. Edited by William Young, Architect. Crown 8vo.

price 6s.

The LAW RELATING to BENEFIT BUILDING SOCIETIES; with
Practical Observations on the Act and all the Cases decided thereon ;

also a
Form of Rules and Forms of Mortgages. By W. Tidd Peatt, Barrister.
Second Edition. Fcp. 3s. 6cZ.

COLLIERIES and COLLIERS: a Handbook of the Law ar,d Leading
Cases relating thereto. By J. C. Fowlee, of the Inner Temple, Barrister,

Stipendiary Magistrate for the District of Merthyr Tydfil and Aberdare.
Second Edition. Fcp. 8vo. 7s. 6d.

The MATERNAL MANAGEMENT of CHILDREN in HEALTH and
Disease. By Thomas Bull, M.D. Fcp. 5s.

HINTS to MOTHERS on the MANAGEMENT of their HEALTH
during the Period of Pregnancy and in the Lying-in Room. By the late
Thomas Bull, M.D. Fcp. 5s.

NOTES on HOSPITALS. By Florence Nightingale. Third Edi-
tion, enlarged ; with 13 Plans. Post 4to. 18s.

The PHILOSOPHY of HEALTH
; or, an Exposition of the Physio-

logical and Sanitary Conditions conducive to Human Longevity and
Happiness. By Southwood Smith, M.D. Eleventh Edition, revised and
enlarged ; with 113 Woodcuts. 8vo. 7s. Qd.

WHIST, WHAT TO LEAD. By Cam. Fourth Edition. 32mo. Is.

CHESS OPENINGS. By F. W. Longman, Balliol College, Oxford.
Fcp. 8vo. 2s. Qd.

A PRACTICAL TREATISE on BREWING
;
with Formula for Public

Brewers, and Instructions for Private Families. By W. Black. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

MODERN COOKERY for PRIVATE FAMILIES, reduced to a System
of Easy Practice in a Series of cnrefully-tested B/eceipts. By Eliza Acton.
Newly revised and enlarged Edition ; with 8 Plates of Figures and 150
Woodcuts. Fcp. 6s.

ON FOOD : its Varieties, Chemical Composition, Nutritive Value,
Comparative Digestibility, Physiological Functions and Uses, Preparatio r,
Culinary Treatment, Preservation, Adulteration, &c. By H. Letjiebi",
M.B. M.A. Ph.D. &c. Crown 8vo. price Gs.

COTJLTHART'S DECIMAL INTEREST TABLES at 24 Different R?t<M
not exceeding 5 per Cent. Calculated for the use of Bankers. To which are

added Commission Tables at One-Eighth and One-Fourth per Cent. 8vo.

price 15s.

MATJNDER'S TREASURY of KNOWLEDGE and LIBRARY of
Reference: comprising an English Dictionary and Grammar, Universal

Gazetteer, Classical Dictionary, Chronology, Law Dictionary, a Synopsis
of the Peerage, useful Tables, &c. Revised Edition. Fcp. 8vo. price 6s.
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Acton's Modern Cookery 28

Alcock's Residence in Japan 23

Allies on Formation of Christendom iv

Alpine Guide (The) 2
?

Althaus on Medical Electricity 14

Andrews's Life of Oliver Cromwell
Arnold's Manual of English Literature
Arnott's Elements of Physics
Arundines Cami
Autumn Holidays of a Country Parson . .

AYRE'S Treasury of Bible Knowledge

Bacon's Essays, by Whately
Life and Letters, by Spedding
Works, edited by Spedding ...

Bain's Logic, Deductive and Inductive .

. Mental and Moral Science
on the Emotions and Will
on the Senses and Intellect.

on the Study of Character .

Ball's Alpine Guide
Bayldon's Rents and Tillages .

Beaten Tracks
Becker's Charicles and Gallus .

Benfey's Sanskrit Dictionary
Bernard on British Neutrality
Black's Treatise on Brewing
Blackley's Word-Gossip

German-English Dictionary . .

Blaine's Rural Sports
Veterinary Art

Bourne on Screw Propeller
Bourne's Catechism of the Steam Engine .

Handbook of Steam Engine ....

Improvements in the Steam
Engine •

Treatise on the Steam Engine ..

Examples of Modern Engines ..

Bowdlkr's Family Siiakspeark
©RAHDB'8 Dictionary of Science, Litera-

ture, and Art •••••,:
Bray's (C.) Education of the Feelings ....

Philosophy of Necessity
on Force •••

Browne's Exposition of the 39 Articles....

Buckle's History of Civilization
BULL'sHints to Mothers

Maternal Management of Children
BUNSEN's (Baron) Ancient Egypt

God in History
Memoirs

BunSEN (E. De) on Apocrypha
\s Keys of St. Peter

Burke's Vicissitudes of Families
Burton's Christian Church

Vikram and the Vampire
Cabinet Lawyer

Calvert's Wife's Manual 21

Cates'S Biographical Dictionary 5

Cats' andFARLiE's Moral Emblems 16

Changed Aspects of Unchanged Truths .... 9

Chesney's Euphrates Expedition 22

Indian Polity 3
Waterloo Campaign 2

and Reeve's Military Resources
of Prussia and France, &c 2

Child's Physiological Essays 15

Chorale Book for England 16

Clough'S Lives from Plutarch 2

Cobbe'S Norman Kings of England 2

Colenso (Bishop) on Pentateuch and Book
ofJoshua • *°

Commonplace Philosopher in Town and
Country *

Conington's Chemical Analysis 14

Translation of Virgil's
JEntid 26

CONTANSEAU'sFrench-EnglishDicciouanes 8

Conybeare and Howson's Work on St.

Paul 19

Cook on the Acts 19

Cook's Voyages 5

Cooper's Surgical Dictionary 14

Copland's Dictionary of Practical Medicine 15

Cotton's Introduction to Confirmation 19

COULTHART's Decimal Interest Tables .... 28

Counsel and Comfort from a City Pulpit 9

Cox's Aryan Mythology 4

Mauunl of Mythology &

Tale of the Great Persian War .1

Tales of Ancient Greece 26

Cresy's Encyclopaedia of Ciril Engineering 18

Critical Essays of a Country Parson 9

Ckowic's History ofFrance 2

Culley's Handbook of Telegraphy 1/

C usack's History ofIreland 3

D'Aubigne's History of the Reformation
in the time of Calvin 2

Davidson's Introduction toNew Testament 20

Dead Shot (The), by Marksman 26

De la Rive's Treatise on Electricity 12

Denison's Vice-Regal Life :
• • 1

De Tocqueville's Democracy in America 2

Disraeli's Lothair iV»*ST 81

Dobell's Reports on the Progress of Medi-
cine

*|j
Dobson on the Ox 27

Dove on Storms 1 1

Doyle's Fairyland 16

Dyer's City ofRome 3

EASTLAKE's Hints on Household Taste .... 17

History of Oil Painting. 16
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Eastlake's Gothic Revival 17
Life of Gibson 16

Edmunds's Names of Places 9
Edwards's Shipmaster's Guide 27
Elements of Botany 13
ELLICOTT on the Revision of the English

New Testament 19
's Commentary on Ephesians 19

Commentary on Galatians .... 19
Pastoral Epist. 19

Philippians,&c. 19
Thessalonians 19

Lectures on the Life of Christ. . 19

Essays and Contributions of A.K. H. B 8

EWALD'S History of Israel 20

FAIRBAIRN on Iron Shipbuilding 18
'S Applications of Iron 18

Information for Engineers . . 18

Mills and Millwork 18
Faraday's Life and Letters 4

Farrar's Families of Speech 9

Chapters on Language
"

Felkin on Hosiery and Lace Manufactures IS

Fennell's Book of the Roach 26
Ffoulkes'S Christendom's Divisions 21

Fitzwygram on Horses and Stables 27
Five Years in a Protestant Sisterhood 20
Forbes'S Earls of Granard 5
FOWLER'S Collieries and Colliers 28
FRANCIS'S Fishing Book 26
Fresheield's Travels in the Caucasus 22
Froude'S History ofEngland 1

Short Studies on Great Subjects 9

GASTOT'S Elementary Physics 11

Gilbert's Cadore, or Titian's Country 22
Gilbert and Churchill's Dolomites 23
Girdlestone's High Alps without Guides 24
Goldsmith's Poems, Illustrated 25
Gould's Silver Store 26
Graham's Book about "Words 7
Grant's Home Politics 3

Ethics of Aristotle 6
Graver Thoughts of a Country Parson 9
Gray's Anatomy 15
Greenhow on Bronchitis 14
Grove on Correlation of Physical Forces . . 12
Gurxey's Chapters of French History 2
Gwilt's Encyclopaedia of Architecture .... 17

Hare on Election of Representatives 7

Hartwig's Harmonies of Nature 13

Polar World 13

Sea and its Living Wonders . . 13

Tropical World 13
Haughtox's Manual of Geology 12
Hawker's Instructions toYoung Sportsmen 26
Herschel's Outlines of Astronomy 11

Hewitt on Diseases ofWomen 14

Hodgson's Theory of Practice Id

Time and Space 10
Holmes's System of Surgery 14

Surgical Diseases of Infancy 14

Hooker and Walker-Arxott"s British
Flora 13

Horse's Introduction to the Scriptures 20

Compendium of ditto 20
How we Spent the Summer 22

Howard's Gymnastic Exercises 15
Howitt's Australian Discovery 23

Northern Heights of London 24

Rural Life of England 24

Visits to Remarkable Places.... 24

Hubxer's Memoir of Sixtus V 2

Hughes's (W.) Manual of Geography .... 11

HUME'sEssays K,
Treatise on Human Nature 1 1

Humphrey's Sentiments of Shakspeare .... 16

Ihne's Roman History 3
Ixgelow's Poems 25

Story of Doom 26

Mopsa 26

Jameson's Saints and Martyrs 17

Legendsofthe Madonna 17
Monastic Orders 17

Jameson and Eastlake's History of Our
Lord 17

Johnston's Geographical Dictionary 11
Jukes on Second Death 21

on Types of Genesis 21

Kalisch's Commentary on the Bible 7
Hebrew Grammar 8

Keith on Fulfilment of Prophecy 20
Destiny of the World 20

Kerl's Metallurgy by Crookes and
Rohrig 18

Kesteven's Domestic Medicine 15
Kirby and Spence's Entomology 13

Landon's(L.E. L/> Poetical Works 26
Latham's English Dictionary 7
-: RiverPlate 11
Lawlor's Pilgrimages in the Pyrenees 24
Lecky's History ofEuropean Morals 3

:
Rationalism 3

Leisure Hours in Town 9
Leslie on Land Systems 1
Lessons of Middle Age 9
Letheby on Food 28
Lewes' History of Philosophy 4
Lewis's Letters 5
Liddell and Scott's Greek-English Lexi-
con and Abridgment 8

Life ofMan Symbolised 16
Life of Margaret M. Hallahan 20
Lindley and Moore's Treasury of Botany 13
Lindsay's Evidence for tire Papacy 20
Longman's Edward the Third 2

Lectures on the History ofEng-
land 2

Chess Openings 28
Lord's Prayer Illustrated 16
Loudon's Agriculture 19

Gardening 19
Plants 19

Lowndes's Engineer's Handbook 13

Lubbock on Origin of Civilisation 12

Lyra Eucharistica 22
Germanica 16,21
Messianica 22

. Mystica 22

MACAULAY'S (Lord) Essays 3
History ofEngland .. 1

Lays of Ancient Rome 25
MiscellaneousWritings 9
Speeches 7

. Complete Works 1

Macfarren's Lectures on Harmony 16
Macleod's Elements of Political Economy 7

Dictionary of Political Eco-
nomy 7

Elements of BankiDg 27
Theory and Practice ofBanking 27

McCulloch's Dictionary of Commerce. ... 27
Geographical Dictionary .. II

Maguire's Life of Father Mathew 5
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'8 Overthrow of the Germanic Con-
federation by Prussia 2

Manning's England and Christendom .... 21

.a the Larynx 15

Marsh vi.i/s Physiology 15

MARSHMAX's Life of'Huvelock 5

History ot India 3

Martineau's Endeavours after the Chris-
tian Life 22

Massky'n History ofEngland 2

i'.i'.uu's History of the Reformation 4
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INTEODUCTION

I HAVE BEEN ADTiSED that an Abridgment of the

History of India which has been in use by the students

of the University of Calcutta for eight years would be

welcome to them, and I have endeavoured to compress

the substance of the three volumes into one, which,

although scanty in detail, will suffice to give them a

view of the salient events of the different periods.

The space allotted to the Mahomedan period has

been abbreviated to make room for a fuller narrative

of the progress of British power, in which the Queen's

Indian subjects are more particularly interested. This

will not be considered a matter of regret, as Elphin-

stone's classical and standard History of India, which

treats exclusively of the Musulman dynasties, is in-

cluded in the student's curriculum of study.

The present abridgment has been brought down to

the close of the administration of the East India

Company, and the annexation of the empire of India to

the crown of Grreat Britain, which forms one of the

most important epochs in Indian history. A brief

notice of events from that date to the death of Lord

Mayo has been added.

Since the publication of the original work a new

system of spelling Indian names, designated the trans-

literal, has been introduced in India, which in some



n INTRODUCTION

cases dififers so materially from that which has hitherto

been in vogue, that it is not easy to identify the places

or persons. I have adhered to the old form of ortho-

graphy, as the student may have occasion to refer to

the records and despatches of Government, to Parlia-

mentary papers, to previous histories, and to current

English journals, in which it has been, and continues

to be, used. There are some cases in which names

have been variously spelled by different writers, but the

diversities are neither important nor embarrassing.

On the principle of preferring general usage to philo-

logical nicety, I have in every such instance collated

diverse authors, and, to the best of my ability, made
choice of that mode which appeared to have the pre-

ponderance. For the convenience of the native student,

the two forms of spelling are placed in juxtaposition in

the following table.

John Clark Marshman.

London: October, 1873.

NOTE TO THE PRESENT EDITION.

The hand which wrote the above lines no longer holds the

pen : John Clark Marshman died in London on the 8th of July

1877, and India lost in him a zealous worker, and a most con-

scientious and faithful historian. During a long life, his efforts

were unceasingly directed to the study of her interests, and the

welfare of her people, and it was his highest arm and proudest

title to be considered " the Friend of India." In the present

edition, the summary of important events, from the death of

Lord Mayo in 1872 to the close of the year 1879, has been

briefly chronicled by a member of the author's family.

London, April 1880.
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ABEIDGMENT

HISTOET OF INDIA

CHAPTER I.

SECTION I.

EARLY HISTORICAL NOTICES.

India is bounded on the north and the east by the Himalaya
mountains, on the west by the Indus, and on the south by
the sea. Its length from Cashmere to Cape

g^^jj^
•

Comorin is 1900 miles ; its breadth from Kurra- and divisions

chee in Sinde to Sudiya in Assam, 1500 miles. °"'^'^''*-

The superficial area is 1,287,000 miles, and the popula-

tion under British and native rule is now estimated at

240,000,000. It is crossed from easb to west by the Vindhya
chain ofmountains, at the base of which flows the Nerbudda.
The country to the north of this river is generally desig-

nated Hindostan, and that to the south the Deccan.
Hindostan is composed of the basin of the Indus on one
side, and of the Ganges on the other, with the great sandy
desert on the west, and an elevated tract now called

Central India. The Deccan has on its northern boundary
a chain of mountains running parallel with the Vindhya,
to the south of which stretches a table-land of triangular

form, terminating at Cape Comorin, with the western
ghauts on the western coast, and the eastern ghauts, of

minor altitude, on the opposite coast. Between the ghauts
and the sea lies a narrow belt of land which runs round
the whole peninsula.

India has no authentic historical records before the era of

I
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the Mahomedans. The notices of the earliest period can
„ , ... only be gleaned from the two sfreat epics, which
and chrono- Were composed ten or twelve centuries atter the
logy. events which they celebrate, and are so ovei-laid

with the vagaries of an oriental imagination that it is diffi-

cnlt to extract a few gi-ains of truth from a vast mass of

fable. Between the era of the Muhabhamt and the
Ramayun and the arrival of the Musulmans, the rise and
fall of dynasties is to be traced exclusively from coins and
inscriptions, through the researches of antiquarians, whose
conjectures differ so widely from each other that their

theories cannot as yet be accepted with implicit confidence.

The chronology of the Hindoos consists of astronomical
periods, and the successive ages of the world are made to

con-espond with the conjunctions of the heavenly bodies,

and are divided into four periods. The first, or sutyujoog,

is therefore, said to have extended to 1,728,000 years ; the
second, or treta joog, to 1,296,000 ; the third, or dwapur
joog, to 864,000 ; and the fourth, or Jculeejoog, is predicted

to last 432,000 years ; of which 4500 have already expired.

The periods of the first three joogs may therefore be dis-

missed as altogether imaginary, while the commencement
of the fourth, or present age, corresponding, as it does to a
certain extent, with the authenticated eras of other nations,

is entitled to greater consideration.

Of the original inhabitants of India there is not the

faintest record. To distinguish them from their Aryan
Theabori- conquerors it is usual to designate them Tura-

the*A^fm ni^^ns, who Came from across the Indus. By
invasion. Hindoo writers they are described as rakshusus,

usoors, pisaches, hobgoblins and monsters, and it is there-

fore natural to suppose that they must have offered a stem
resistance to the invaders. Some of them doubtless made
their submission, and it is conjectured that they may have
formed the basis of the soodra, or servile caste, which was
probably recruited also from the issue of intercourse with
the victors. But the great body of them retreated to the

forests of the Sone, the Nerbudda, and the Muhanudee,
and to the hills of Sirgooja and Ghota Nagpore, and they

are identified with the Bheels, the Meenas, the Coles, the

Santals, the Gonds, and other tribes. In those inacces-

sible faistnesses they have continued to maintain their

primitive barbarism of habits, their language, and their

crude religious observances, with little change amidst the

revolutions which have convulsed India for thirty centuries.
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At the present time thev are supposed to number 12,000,000.

The ' fair complexioned Aryans,' the ancestors of the present

Hindoo communities, are believed to have emigrated in a

remote age from some undefined region in Central Asia,

from which other tribes swarmed westward, and spreading

over Europe, laid the foundation of its present nationalities.

The only notices we obtain of them are derived from the

Vedus, the most ancient and sacred of the Hindoo writings,

and more especially from the Rig Yedu, which, however,

consists chiefly of the hymns and invocations which were
traditionally handed down. From them we gather that

the original Aryans crossed the Hindoo Coosh and the

Indus in search of a settlement, bringing with them their

own language, the Sanscrit, and settled in the Punjab, the

cradle of Hindooism. They were devoted to pastoral and
agricultural pursuits, worshipped Indra, the god of the

firmament, as the sovereign of the gods, and inferior deities

as the personification of the powers of nature. They do
not appear to have had either idols or temples, and there

was no distinction of castes.

The age of the Vedus was succeeded by what has been
termed the heroic age, when the Aryans extended their

conquests beyond the narrow limits of the Punjab, Kiseof Brah-

and, expanding to the south and the east, estab- minism.

lished kingdoms at Hustinapore, at Oude, and at Mithila,

under two dynasties, which are distinguished as the solar

and lunar races. It is to this period that the memorable
events celebrated in the Muhabharut and the Ramayun
belong. The Aryan conquerors were of the military caste

of kshetriyus, and the brahmins served them as sacrificial

priests. It has been conjectured that this age of conquest
and progression was favourable to the growth of brahmin-
ism, and that to it belongs the large pantheon of gods
which came into vogue, the institution of caste, and the

introduction of animal sacrifices. The brahmins gradually
advanced their pretensions to a divine origin, and to divine

authority, and at length brought the kshetriyus under
their yoke, and assumed not only supremacy over rajas and
princes, like Pope Hildebrand, but represented even the
deities of the Vedic Aryans as subordinate to them.
Of the events of the heroic age, only two have been res-

cued from oblivion, in the immortal epics of the Muha-
bharut and the Ramayun. These are, the great xi^e Muha-
war of the two branches of the lunar race, and biiamt.

the expedition of Ramu, a sovereign of the solar race to

B 2
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the Deccan and Cejlon. The scene of warfare in the

Muhabharut lies in the neighbourhood of Delhi, while the

kingdom of Ramu lay farther sonth, and it is natural to

conclude that the one preceded the other in point of time.

B.C. The story of the Muhabharut runs thus : The city of

1400 Hustinapore, about sixty miles distant from Delhi, was
governed by the king Pandoo, who in a hunting excursion

wounded two deer with his arrows, on which they as-

sumed their natural shape, and sprang up as a brahmin
and his wife. The brahmin inflicted a curse on him, of

which he died soon after, leaving five sons, who were
designated the Pandoos. The bUnd brother of Pandoo,
Dhriturastu, was then placed on the throne, and his wife

gave birth to a progeny of sons, who are called the

Kooroos. The cousins were educated together in the

royal palace, but a feeling of jealousy arose between Yoo-
disteer, the eldest of the Pandoos, and Dooryudhun, the

eldest of the Kooroos, which resulted in the banish-

ment of the former to a city, usually identified with Alla-

habad. There the Kooroos still plotted the destruction of

their relatives, and they were fain to escape to the jungle.

At this period the raja of Pnnchalu, which cannot, however,

be identified, allowed his daughter Drupudee to perform
the swuyumhuru, that is, to make choice of a husband for

herself; and he proclaimed a great tournament, not differ-

ing greatly from the tournaments of the middle ages in

Europe. A pole was fixed in the ground, on the top of

which was placed a golden fish, and beneath it a revolving

wheel, and it was proclaimed that whoever succeeded in

directing the arrow through the wheel and piercing the

eye of the fish, should win the queen of beauty. The plain

was covered with the pavilions of noble and princely suitors

and their splendid equipages and retinue ; and, among
them appeared the five Pandoos, in the humble guise of

brahmins. One of them, Urjoon, with his bow of ' celestial

virtue,' pierced the eye of the fish, and Drupudee threw the

garland round his neck and led him away. Her father,

however, considered himself disgraced by an ignoble

alliance with a brahmin, but was overjoyed when he dis-

covered that the victor was of the noble race of the kshe-

triyus. In accordance with the practice of polyandry
which appears to have been prevalent at the time, she be-

came the wife at once of the five brothers.

The Pandoos returned to Hustinapore in triumph,

and the blind old king offered to divide his kingdom
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between them and his own family, and they proceeded to

the site of the present Delhi, and having over- The battle of

come the aboriginal inhabitants erected the Kooroo

city of Indruprustha. They were successfal in

extending their territory and popular in governing it, and
Yoodistheer, in the pride of his heart, determined to offer a

royal sacrifice, as an assertion of his supremacy. Dooryn-
dhun, the eldest son of the king, envious of the glory ac-

quired by his cousin, invited him to a gambling match,
the ruling passion and the vice of the kshetriyus. In an
evil hour Yoodistheer accepted the challenge, and staked in

succession, his kingdom, his brothers, himself, and his wife,

and lost them all. The condition of the game was that the

losing party should go into exile in the country for twelve
years and for one year in the city. The Pandoos submitted
to this injunction, and having wandered the prescribed

period in the forest, visiting the hermitages of the holy

sages, determined to demand the restoration of their share

of the kingdom. Dooryudhun haughtily refused their

request, and they resolved to assert their right by arms.
The contest was one between cousins for the possession of a

quantity of land, which, since their capitals lay within sixty

miles of each, must have been of very limited extent, but
the poet has given loose to his imagination, and princes from
the remotest parts of India, from regions then unknown to

the Aryans, ai-e brought upon the field, and the number
said to have been engaged exceeds in number all the
present inhabitants of the globe ; the chariots and ele-

phants are reckoned by millions ; the plain overflows with
rivers of blood, and whole armies are destroyed by a single

talismanic weapon. The battle doubtless formed one of

the most memorable events of that early period of society,

and it was preserved in tradition and commemorated in

ballads, and, a thousand years after, elaborated into an
epic poem of a hundred thousand couplets, by the illustrioas

Vyasu. The conflict, which is said to have raged for eigh-

teen days, ended in the triumph of the Pandoos. Yoodis-
theer was installed raja at Hustinapore, and celebrated his

victory by the proud sacrifice of the horse, the emblem of

universal sovereignty. He and his brothers and their

common wife eventually assumed the character of devotees,

and disappeared in the Himalaya. The real hero of the

Muhabharut was Krishnu, the son of a cowherd, who
established his kingdom at Dwarka, on the western coast,

married 16,000 wives, and was slain at the fountain of the
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Jotus by the irrepressible Bheels. He was deified after

Ms death, and placed second in the Hindoo triad of the

brahminical theogony, which was not completely organised
till centuries after the events of the Muhabharut. The
object of the epic was to identify him, when his worship
was introduced, with those transactions which were among
the most cherished recollections of the Aryan race, as an
incarnation of the deity.

Between the events com nemorated in the Muhabharut
and the Ramayun the Aryans would appear to have burst

The the boundary uf their original settlement and ex-
Hamayun. tended their conquests to the south and the east,

B.C. and to have established two kingdoms, the one at Uyodhyu,
1200 or Oude, and the other at Mithila, both designated by way

of distinction the solar race. The order of events in the

Ramayun may be thus epitomized :—Ramu, the hero of the

poem and an incarnation of the deity, was the eldest of

the four sons of Dushuruthu, the king of Oude. Junuka,
the sovereign of the neighbouring kingdom, of Mithila, had
a beautiful daughter, Seeta, whom he promised to bestow
on the prince who could bend the bow with which the god
Seeva had destroyed the other gods, and which was pre-

served as an heirloom in the royal armoury, Ramu broke
the bow in the midst and won the princess. The marriage
ceremony was performed by the raja himself, and not by
the priests. Ramu returned to Oude, and was ap-

pointed heir apparent ; but the raja's second wife, who had
gained his affection by her beauty, was anxious to obtain

the throne for her own son, Bharutu, and persuaded her

uxorious husband to consent to the banishment of Ramu.
On the morning fixed for his installation he was con-

strained to quit the royal palace with his wife and his

brother Lukshmunu, and he proceeded into the forest, from
hermitage to hermitage, and terminated his wanderings at

Nassik on the Godavery, where he erected a hut. The
sister of Ravunu, the king of Lunka, or Ceylon, called also

Taprobane, or the island of Ravunu, passing by the bower,

was struck with the beauty of Ramu, and endeavoured to

prevail on him to desert Seeta, and marry her. Her offers

were rejected with scorn, when she rushed upon Seeta and
threatened to devour her, on which Lukshmunu, at the

request of Ramu, cut off her ears and nose. She retui'ned

to Ceylon, and in revenge for the injury she had sustained,

persuaded her brother to carry off the lovely Seeta. Ra-
vunu, described as a monster with ten heads and twenty
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arms, assumed the form of a mendicant and appeared before

the hermitage, and having caused his brother to take the

foi*m of a deer, and decoy the two brothers after him, seized

upon Seeta and carried her off through the air in his

chariot to Ceylon. Ramu having discovered the place of

her concealment, assembled an army of the wild inhabitants

of the south, probably the aborigines, poetically described as

bears and monkeys, under their sovereign Soogreevu, and
his general Hunooman, subsequently deified as the great

baboon, and proceeded to the island. He spanned the

straits between it and the continent with a bridge, and
after many severe conflicts recovered Seeta and slew

Ravnnu. But as she had resided in the palace of

Ravunu she was required to submit to the ordeal of fire to

testify her purity, and the poet affirms that after she had
ascended the pile, the three hundred and thirty millions of

gods assembled in the heavens to behold the scene, and the

god of fire arose from the flames, and bearing Seeta on his

knees presented her to her husband. They returned in

triumph to Oude, and Ramu was installed raja. The epic

is so intermingled at every turn with the grotesque fancies

of mythology, and the agency is so constantly described as

supernatural, that it is difficult to extract from it the

germs of historical truth on which it was based. But it

appears clear that it indicates the first expedition of the

Aryans to the Deccan, that the southern division of it was
still peopled with the aborigines, and that the island of

Ceylon was the seat of a higher civilisation, probably
wafted from Egypt. It led to no permanent conquest, as

the army of monkeys and bears which aided Ramu, after

accompanying him in triumph to his capital, returned to

their forests, and we hear no more of them on the page
of history till they had been transformed into orthodox
Hindoos. It must not be forgotten that the poem was
composed ten centuries after the events it celebrates, when
brahminism was consolidated into a dominant system,

which it was intended to support.

Next to the Vedus, the Code of Munoo is the most im- n.c.

portant of the Hindoo shasters. It embodies the ancient ^00

religious traditions, to which additions were made ^
from century to century, and which were col-

lected, as it is said, by Vyasu. It gives us the constitution

of a Hindoo commonwealth when the brahmins had com-
pletely superseded the ancient authority of the kshetriyus
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and establislied religious depotism in tlie state such as no
priesthood has ever enjoyed. The ancient and simple worship
of the Vedus was supplanted by an elaborate system of

ceremonies and by animal sacrifices. Ramu, KJrishnu,

and other gods, who subsequently became popular, are not
mentioned with reverence or with disapprobation. There
is no intimation of regular orders, or of the immolation
of widows. Brahmins eat beef and flesh of all kinds,

and intermarry with women of inferior castes, and various

other practices are permitted which would at the present

day entail excommunication. The style is less rugged
than that of the Vedus, but not so polished as that of the

epics ; and the date of its compilation is generally fixed at

900 B.C.

SECTION II.

FROM THE AGE OF BOODDHU TO THE MAHOMEDAN INVASION.

The next event of importance in the ancient history of

India is the appearance of Booddhu, or Sakhya Moonee, as

B ddh
*^® great reformer of religion and morals. He
was bom of a princely Aryan family of kshetriyu

parents in the year 698 B.C. He resided with his own
family till his twenty-eighth year, when, disgusted with
the decay of religion and the spread of superstition, he
retired from society and passed many years in constructing

his system of religion and philosophy. He repudiated the

entire system of caste, and thus rendered his doctrines

acceptable to those who had sufiered from it, while it made
the brahmins his irreconcilable enemies. He rejected the

whole pantheon of the Hindoos, and endeavoured to bring

back his countrymen to the simplicity of the Vedus. The
priesthood, instead of being an hereditary caste, was re-

cruited from the various ranks of society, and bound by a
vow of celibacy, and required to relinquish the pleasures of

sense. He obtained many disciples before his death, which
is fixed at 543 B.C., but it was not till two centuries later

that booddhism became the religion of the state. The
preservation and worship of relics was one of the distin-

guishing features of his creed. Eight cities are said to

have contended for his remains, and the dispute was at

length settled by distributing them in various provinces.
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The most sacred of these relics was the tooth, which was
at length assigned to Orissa, and magnificently enshrined

on the spot where subsequently arose the Hindoo temple

of Jugernath, and it remained there, with some interrup-

tions, for nearly a thousand years.

The first authentic record we possess of any invasion of j, c.

India is that of Darius, king of Persia, who was seated on 521

the throne 521 B.C., and extended his conquests invasion of

from the Grrecian Sea to the Indus. Upon a re- Darius.

port of the wealth of the country from his admiral, Scylax,

who constructed a fleet on the higher portion of that river

and sailed down to the sea, he despatched an expedition to

India and annexed several of its provinces to his great

empire. The extent of his conquests it is impossible to

trace, but his Indian possessions must have been of no
small magnitude since they were considered more valuable

than any other satrapy, and are said to have furnished one-

third of the revenues of the empire, and were paid in gold.

Two centuries after, Alexander the Great, the greatest

military and political genius of antiquity, if not of any age,

subverted the Persian empire, and sweeping ^ • <

j-i, T, -i.
• • n j_ 1 A • i. 1

Invasion of
through its provinces m Uentral Asia, took pos- Alexander

session of Afghanistan. He advanced through the Great.

its terrific defiles, and encountered the same stem resist-

ance from its wild highlanders which, for more than
twenty centuries they have opposed to every intruder. 327

He crossed the Indus, as generally supposed, at Attock,

and entered the Punjab, where he received the submission
of one of its princes, and was hospitably entertained by
another. But Porus, whose dominions stretched east-

ward to the Jhelum, oifered a more determined resistance

to his arms than he had experienced since he left Macedonia
;

and, by a singular coincidence, it was in the same region
that the English, twenty-two centuries later, met with a
more formidable opposition than they had encountered
throughout the conquest of India for a century. The
chivalry of Porus fought with the same gallantry as the
troops of the Khalsa, but they could not withstand the

veterans of Alexander, and, after an engagement as obsti-

nate as Ferozeshuhur or Sobraon, that high-minded prince
gracefully submitted to the superiority of his conqueror,
and was treated by him with his habitual generosity.

Alexander now heard of the great Gangetic kingdom ot

Mugudu, the king of which, it was reported, could bring
30,000 cavalry, and 600,000 infantry, and 9,000 elephants
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into the field, and he became impatient to plant his ensigns
on the battlements of its splendid capital, Palibothra. But
on reaching the banks of the Beyas, his troops, worn out
with the fatigues and wounds of eight campaigns, refused

to advance any farther. He employed menace and flattery

by turns, but nothing could shake their resolution, and he
was obliged to make that river the term of his conquests.

He caused a flotilla to be constructed on the Indus, and
transported his army down to the sea-coast, not, however,
without serious opposition from the Malli, the inhabitants

of Mooltan. He had fully resolved to return to India with
a body of fresh troops, but he died of fever caught in the

B.C. marshes of Babylon at the early age of thirty-two. His
324 name does not appear in any Hindoo record, which only

shows their imperfect character, but it is a household word
in Central Asia, and his fame was widely diffused through
India by the Mahomedans, among whom he is esteemed one
of the first of heroes, and it was carried far and wide with
the stream of their conquests, and the distant islander of

Sumatra and Java may be found extolling the exploits of

the mighty Secunder.
The most important kingdom at this period in Hindostan

was that of Mugudu, designated by the Greek historians

The kin
i^^ii of the Prasii, the capital of which was PaH-

domof bothra, supposed to be the modem Patna. It
Mugudu.

^^j^g probably founded about the sixth century
before our era, by a colony of Tartars, or Scythians, de-

nominated the Takshuk or Nagas, the serpent dynasty, so

called from the worship of snakes which they introduced,

and which has never been eradicated. About the time of

the Macedonian invasion, the throne was occupied by
Nuudu. He was assassinated by his minister, Chundra-

""^ gooptu—called by the Greek historians, Sandracottus—

a

man of ignoble birth but of extraordinary genius, who had
measured swords with Alexander the Great under Porus,

and who now seized the throne and established the

Mauryan dynasty. The empire of Alexander after his

death was partitioned among his marshals, and the pro-

vince of Babylon, in which was included his eastern pos-

sessions, fell to the lot of Seleucus, one of the ablest and
most enterprising of them. He determined to carry out
the ambitious projects of his master, and advanced with a

large army into the Gangetic provinces, where he was
opposed by Chundra-gooptu with the whole strength of

Mugudu. According to the Greek historians he was vie-
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torious, but it is diflBcult to reconcile this assertion with

the fact recorded by themselves, that Seleucus concluded a

treaty with him and ceded all his conquests east of the

Indus for an annual tribute of fifty elephants. Mega-
sthenes, an eminent philosopher, was appointed his repre-

sentative at the court of Palibothra, and it is from the

fragments of his writings which have come down to us

that we gather any knowledge of the state of northern

India at that period. It is said to have been divided into

a hundred and twenty principalities. Chundra-gooptu was
succeeded by his son Mitra-gooptu, a man of the same large

and liberal views as his father, and it was under their

enlightened administration that the country attained its b.c.

highest prosperity. Highways were constructed from the 300

capital to the Indus, in one direction, and in the other to

Broach, then the great emporium on the western coast,

with caravanseras at convenient intervals. Their dominion
extended to the sea-coast at Ganjam on the west, around
the bay to Aracan on the east. They gave especial en-

couragement to commerce, and their subjects embarked in

maritime enterprises, crossed the bay of Bengal, and
founded colonies in Java and the other islands of the

Archipelago, into which they introduced the Hindoo religion

and the Pali language, the classical variety of the Sanscrit.

Asoka, the grandson of Chundra-gooptu, who ascended
the throne 260 B.C., stands forth as the most distinguished

prince of this period, the glory of the Mauryan
dynasty. His dominions extended from Orissa

to the Indus, and included provinces both in the Deccan 260

and in Afghanistan. The boundaries of this great kingdom
were marked by stone columns, many of which are still

extant. His edicts were engraved on the face of rocks,

and on lats, or pillars, in various localities from the bay of

Bengal to the Himalaya and Peshawur ; and a permanent
record has thus been preserved of the great events of his

reign. He established courts of justice, and abolished the

punishment of death. He promoted the progress of civili-

sation, and gave a new impulse to commerce. Breaking
through the isolation of the brahminical system—which
still continues after the lapse of more than twenty cen-

turies to fetter the native mind—he established a friendly

intercourse with Greece and Egypt, and it is to this

connection that we trace the introduction of stone

architecture and of sculpture into India, which was totally

unknown before his time. Some of the temples were
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excavated in the rock, and others erected on the plain.

Of these, the most magnificent is the shrine at Sanchi,

commenced in 225 B.C. Asoka embraced the booddhist

creed, and made it the religion of the state. A great

booddhist synod was held soon after, and religious mis-
sions were despatched to Tibet, China, Cambodia, Siam
and Ceylon, and the creed was extensively diflTused beyond
the limits of India. He died in 226 B.C., after a reign of

thirty-seven years, and with him sank the grandeur of the

dynasty, which has the peculiar merit of having produced
three illustrious princes in succession. It was succeeded
in 188 B.C. by the dynasty of the Sungas, which, though of

limited duration, was distinguished by the erection of

another series of booddhist temples and monasteries.

The establishment of booddhism as the religion of the

state, deprived the brahminical hierarchy of their ascend-

The TTgni ancy. The Hindoo annalists assert that ignorance
Koois. Qj^^ infidelity had overspread the land ; the

sacred books were trampled under foot, and mankind had
no refuge from the monstrous brood—of booddhists. The
holy sages, dwelling on Mount Aboo, carried their com-
plaints to the father of creation, who was floating on a
hydra in the sea of cui-ds. He commanded them to return

to the sacred mount and recreate the race of the kshetri-

yus, whom their own champion Pooroosram had formerly

annihilated. The fountain of fire was purified by water
from the Ganges, and each of the four gods who accom-
panied them formed an image, and cast it into the fire,

upon which there sprang up the four men who afterwards

became the founders of Rajpoot greatness. They, were
sent forth to combat the monsters, who were slain in great

numbers ; but as they fell on the ground, fresh demons
arose, when the gods stopped the renewal of the race by
drinking up the blood. This allegory, independent of the

flattery it is intended to convey to the royal houses of

Rajpootana, evidently points to some political revolution,

which checked the progress of booddhism and restored

to a certain degree the power of the brahmins. Butbooddh-
ism continued for more than ten centuries to divide the

allegiance of princes and people at difierent eras and in

different provinces, with the creed of Munoo, and from time

to time we have notices of booddhist sovereigns who
brought all the resources of the stat,e to the support of their

creed.

About the year 629 A.D.,Huen-tsang, a Chinese booddhist,
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travelled through the continent of India, in order to

visit its various shrines. In his travels, which have been

preserved in the Chinese language, he states that while he
found the creed in a state of decay in some provinces, he
found it flourishing and dominant in Cunouge, in

p^^^
Mugudu, in Malwa and in Surat. About the ofBooddh-

eighth century of our era, the booddhists appear ^®™*

to have been subjected to a more implacable proscription

than they had experienced for many centuries by Shunkur
Acharjyu, a brahmin reformer ; and from that time they
decayed rapidly, and they entirely disappear from India

soon after the invasion of the Mahomedans, while they
increased and multiplied in the Indo-Chinese nations and
in China, and the creed is at the present time professed by
a larger number than the votaries of Hindooism.
About the year 56 B.C. the Andhra dynasty obtained

possession of the throne of Mugudu, and flourished till 436
A.D. Their dominion extended into the Deccan, xhe Andra
with Warungul for their capital, and Oojein as dynasty.

the great metropolis of their power in the north. The
founder of the dynasty, Vikrum-aditya, was the most illus-

trious and powerful monarch of the age; his memory b.c.

continues to be cherished with profound veneration, and 67

the era he established is still current. He was a muni-
ficent patron of literature, and encouraged the resort of
the learned to his court from all parts of India by princely

donations. The classic writers of that Augustan age have
exhausted the resources of fl.attery in his praise ; indeed,

the extravagance of their panegyrics has induced some
Indian antiquarians to regard him as a myth. Some of
the most exquisite productions in the Sanscrit language
were compiled under his auspices. It was about this

period, a century or so before the Christian era,

that India appears to have attained its greatest
^ge^'f smis-

literary eminence, and the highest stage of civili- crit litera-

sation it has ever reached, A.t a time when the
*"^^"

western colony from the cradle of the Aryan race, which
is supposed to have migrated to Europe and formed the
aborigines of Great Britain and Gaul, of Germany and
Scandinavia, was sunk in barbarism, the eastern stream of
colonists, in India, had cultivated the science of law, of
grammar, of astronomy, and of algebra, and had dived into
the subtleties of philosophy and metaphysics. They had
made their classic language, the Sanscrit, the most perfect
and refined medium for the communication of thought, and
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enriched it with poetry, which has enchanted every succeed-

ing generation. But with all this high cultivation, they

neglected one of the most important branches of human
Kegiectof knowledge, that of history. The Pooranus, of
history. which the earliest is placed in 800 a.d., are the

only treatises which pretend to anything like an historical

character ; but they furnish us with little beyond a barren

record of royal races and rulers, none of which, however,
can be implicitly depended upon. The most laborious

researches of antiquarians have only resulted in deducing
from half-defaced coins and servile inscriptions a chrono-

logical series of dynasties and princes, with here and there

a fact, of little interest, and of no practical utility to the

student of history. It is idle for him to fancy that he has

gained much, if any, valuable knowledge when he has
simply loaded his memory with an empty catalogue of

genealogies. Yet the ten centuries preceding the arrival

of the Mahomedans present little else, and a cursory

glance at the date and locality of successive dynasties is

all that the student can desire.

Eastward of the Andhra dominions lay the great kingdom
of Bengal, containing the estuary of the Grangetic valley,

Ten cen- with the ancient and magnificent city of Gour,

annals— ^^ Lucknoutee for its capital. It was governed,
Bengal. first by the booddhist dynasty of Pal, and then

by the Hindoo dynasty of Sen. While booddhism was the

religion of the state, Hindooism fell into decay, and
Adisoor, the founder of the Sen family, sent to Cunouge, the

sanctuary of the Hindoo creed, for five sound and pure
brahmins, who became the ancestors of the present brah-

minical communities of Bengal. They were accompanied
by five attendants, from whom the kayusts, or writer

caste, the second in dignity, are descended. The Sen
dynasty was on the throne when the Mahomedans in 1192
A.D. conquered the country. Shortly before the Christian

Cashmere- ®^^ Cashmere was invaded by a tribe of Tartars,

the Gnn- which was displaced by a dynasty of Gundurvus.
urvus.

They were booddhists, and under a long suc-

cession of kings, contributed the most celebrated structures

to the architecture of India. They appear to have en-

joyed extensive dominion, as some of their grandest edi-

fices were erected on the Kistna in the Deccan. They are

said to have invaded Ceylon, but their succession cannot

be traced beyond 622 a.d.

In the first century before the Christian era, Nahapan
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established the dynasty of the Shahs in Surat, on the

western coast. They are supposed either to have The Shahs

been a Parthian tribe, who invaded India through °* Smat.

Sinde, or Persians of the Sassanian race. They adopted

the creed of Booddhu, and to the founder is attributed

the excavation and the construction of the wonderful cave

temple of Karlee between Bombay and Poona. They
were conquered about 318 by the Bullabhis, who are like-

wise designated the Gooptus, and who would appear to

have extended their power over a large portion of northern

India. The second monarch of the line is said to have

overrun Ceylon, but no traces of them are to be found

after 525.

During this period of ten centuries, northern India was
parcelled out among various dynasties, of whom Mr.

Elphinstone, in his valuable history, enumerates ^
no fewer than eleven : Mugudu, Cunouge, Mithila, kingdoms of

Benares, Delhi, Ajmere, Mewar, Jeypore,
j^^ja^"*

Jessulmere, Sinde and Cashmere. Of the

princes of these kingdoms some claimed the dignity of

Muharaj-adheeraj, or emperor of India; but however ex-

tensive may have been their conquests, it is much to be

doubted whether any of them ever succeeded in ' bringing

all India under one umbrella,' as the Moguls and the Eng-
lish have since done. Regal vanity doubtless induced some
of them to assume the appellation of 'Lords Paramount'
on their coins and inscriptions, but on examining the most
accurate list of the claimants to that lofty title, that of Mr.

Pergusson, we find that in the brief space of two hundred
and forty-three years no fewer than ten monarchs arro-

gated it to themselves in Malwa, in Cunouge, in Surat, and

even in the obscure state of Kulyan in the Deccan ; and in

some cases there is only a period of twenty years given for

the acquisition of this universal sovereignty.

The early history of the Deccan is involved in even

greater obscurity than that of Hindostan. At the period

of the expedition of Ramu the inhabitants in the The

lower Deccan are described as bears and Deccan.

monkeys ; but at the extreme south of the peninsula, as he
approached Ceylon, he entered the continental possessions

of its king, Ravunu, and came in contact with a higher

civilisation than that of the Aryans. At a subsequent

period—some suppose nine or ten centuries before the

Christian era—we find even the land of the bears and the

monkeys peopled with a civilised race, which is commonly
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supposed to have entered India through. Sinde and spread

over the Deccan. To distinguish them from, the Aryan colo-

nists of Hindostan they are generally designated Dravidian,

and their language, the Tamul, attained a high state of cul-

its superior ture, and wasenrichedwitha noble literature—and
literature, that by some of the servile class—long before the

Sanscrit, with which it has no affinity, had attained perfec-

tion. Surrounded on all sides, except the north, by the

sea, a constant intercourse was maintained with Greece
and Egypt, and this may have contributed to the early

civilisation of the peninsula. The most ancient and au-

thentic history of the Deccan records the existence of two
dynasties, that of the Pandyas, which was first in point of

time, and that of the Cholas, which was the most power-

Pandyas and ful. The Capital of the Pandyas, after two re-
Choias. movals, was fixed at Madura, and its dominion
lay along the Malabar coast. The kingdom of the Cholas,

which some identify with Coromandel, was founded by an
emigrant from Hindostan who established his capital at

Canchi, or Conjeveram, and eventually removed it to

Teiingana Tanjore. Of the history of Telingana, no reliable

and records are extant, but about the eleventh
^^' century the Belial dynasty obtained paramount

power in this division of the country. Another dynasty

also rose to distinction in the north of the Deccan, deno-

minated the Chalukyas, and their capital was eventually

established at Kulyan, in the territory now belonging to

the Nizam. In their inscriptions they claim to have
brought under subjection the Cholas and Pandyas in the

south, and the Andhras of Warungul in the north, and
there is reason to believe that for some time they may have

been without a rival in the Deccan. The dynasty sub-

sisted till 1182 A.D., when it was subverted by the Jadows
of Deoghur, the modern Dowlutabad. Of the Mahrattas

.^ on the western coast only two facts can be

rattasand traced, the existence of Tagara, a great empo-
the oonyas. j-ium in the time of the Romans, and of Salivahun,

the king of some unknown province, who was a bitter

persecutor of the booddhists, and who is remembered only

by his era, which prevails throughout the Deccan. Of
Orissa nothing is known before the introduction of booddh-

ism, except that the country was a marsh, and the people
' barbarous and as black as crows.' The tooth of Booddhu,

the most sacred of his relics, was, in the distribution of his

remains, allotted to this kingdom, and his creed appears
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to have predominated in it for ten centuries, during which
the rocks were studded with shrines and monasteries. It

was subjected to various invasions by sea and land, and on
one occasion the precious tooth was conveyed for safety to

Ceylon, of which it has ever since been, in one sense, the

palladium. The Kesari dynasty superseded the booddhist
monarchs in 473, and established the supremacy of Hin- a.d.

dooism, of which they were the ardent devotees. They en- 473

joyed power for more than six centuries, which seem to

have been passed in little else but in building temples and
founding religious communities. The country was covered
with settlements of brahmins, of whom ten thousand were
introduced from Cunouge. Bhoobaneshur became the

ecclesiastical metropolis of Orissa, and was crowded with
seven thousand temples, in honour of Seeva, less than a
tenth of which remain, but they are sufficient to attest

the zeal and the taste of that religious dynasty.

I
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CHAPTEK n.

SECTION I.

INTRODUCTION OF MAHOMEDAKISM—THE GHUZNI DYNASTT.

A.D. Mahomed was bom at Mecca, in Arabia, a.d. 569, and at
^^^ the age of forty announced himself as a prophet commis-

.

J j^ sioned by the Almighty to convert the hnman race

homedan to the ' tme faith ' by the agency of the sword,
power.

jjg obtained many proselytes in his native land
by his genius and eloquence, and, having raised an army of

Arabs to subjugate the surrounding nations to his creed

and his power, commenced that career of conquest which
was pursued by his successors with unexampled vigour and
rapidity. Province after province and kingdom after king-

dom succumbed to them, and before the close of a century

they had conquered Egypt, Syria, Northern Africa, and a
part of Spain. Persia was prostrate before them, and they

were advancing towards Cabul. A few years after the

death of Mahomed, the Cahph Omar founded Bussora, at

yQ5 the estuary of the Tigris, and his generals were enabled

to to make descents upon Sinde and Beloochistan by sea.

715 Under the CaHph Walid, between 705 and 715 A.D., that

province was entirely subjugated, and the banner of the

crescent was planted on the turrets of Mooltan. About
the same period the Mahomedans advanced into Central

Asia, and overran the country north of the Oxus. The
general of the Caliph, Mahomed ben Cossim, likewise eon-

711 quered the kingdom of Guzerat, and eventually advanced
to Chittore, the capital of Rajpootana, when the gallant

young Bappa placed himself at the head of the Rajpoot
forces, and expelled the invader. On his return from the

field he was raised to the throne, and founded the present

royal family of Oodypore. The Rajpoot annals record

that in the days of Khoman, the grandson of Bappa,
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Chittore was again invaded by Mahomed, the governor of

Khorasan, when the other princes in the north hastened

to his assistance ; and a very patriotic description is

given of the different tribes which composed the northern

chivalry on this occasion. With their aid E^boman was
enabled to defeat the invader, with whom he is said to

have fought twenty-four battles. The Mahomedans were
thus expelled from all the territory they had been en-

deavouring to acquire for a century and a half, and it was
not till three centuries after their first invasion that they 750
succeeded in making a permanent lodgment in India.

The opulent regions of Khorasan and Transoxania, which
had been conquered by the Caliphs in the first century of

theHejira—the Mahomedan era, which dates from The dynasty

the flight of Mahomed from Mecca to Medina— of Ghuzni.

continued under their government for about a hundred and
eighty years ; but after the death of the renowned Haroun-
al-rashid, the contemporary and friend of Charlemagne,
the central authority began to decay, and the governors of

provinces to assume independence. Ismael Samani, a

Tartar, seized upon Khorasan, Transoxania, and Afghan-
istan, in 872, and fixed his capital at Bokhara, where his

dynasty—usually designated that of the Samanides

—

continued to reign for about a hundred and twenty years.

The fifth prince in descent had a Turkish slave, Aluptugeen,
a man of courage and good sense, who rose to be governor
of Khorasan. On the death of his patron he was consulted

about the choice of a successor, and having voted against

the son of the deceased king—who was, however, raised to

the throne by the other chiefs—he was deprived of his post
and retreated with a band of trusty followers to Ghuzni, in

the heart of the Soliman mountains, where he succeeded in

establishing his independence. He had purchased a slave

of the name of Subuktugeen in Tartary, in whom he dis-

covered great powers of mind, and whom he raised to the

highest offices. He stepped into the throne on the death
of his sovereign, a.d. 976.

The establishment of a powerful kingdom under a vigor-

ous monarch in the vicinity of the Indus created no little

alarm in the mind of Jeypal, the Hindoo sovereign
gjn^^os at-

of the Punjab, and he led a large army across the tack subuk-

river, and attacked Subuktugeen at Lughman in *"e^«°-

the Cabal passes. On the eve of the engagement a violent

storm of wind, rain, and thunder swept down the valley,

which alarmed the superstitious soldiers of Jeypal to such

c 2

976
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a degree that he was constrained to sue for an accommoda-
tion, which was not granted without the promise ofa heavy
payment ; but on hearing that his opponent had been obHged
to march to the westward to repel an invasion, he refused to

fulfil his engagement, and imprisoned the king's messengers.
Subuktugeen, having disposed of his enemies, marched
down to the Indus to avenge this perfidy. Jeypal succeeded
in enlisting the aid of the rajas of Delhi, Ajmere, Callinger,

and Cunouge, and advanced across the Indus with an im-
mense force, but was again defeated, and the authority of

Ghuzni was estabhshed up to the banks of the Indus.

A.D. Subuktugeen died in 997, and was succeeded at first by
997 his son Ismael, and a few months after by his second son,

the renowned Mahmood of Ghuzni. Prom his

Ghn^."^
°^ early youth he had accompanied his father on his

Hisexpedi- various expeditions, and acquired a passion for

war and great military experience. He ascended
the throne at the age of thirty, and became impatient to

enlarge his dominions, and contemplated with delight the

glory of extending the triumphs of his creed in the un-

trodden plains of India. He began his crusade against
1001 ^}^Q Hindoos in 1001, and conducted no fewer than twelve

expeditions, of more or less importance, against them. He
left Ghuzni in August. Jeypal crossed the Indus a third

time, and in the neighbourhood of Peshawur was again

defeated and captured. He was generously released, but
resigned the throne to his son Anungpal, and sought death

on a funeral pyre to which he had himself set fire. Pass-

ing over several minor expeditions, we come to the fourth,

which was directed against Anungpal, who had instigated

a revolt against Mahmood in Mooltan, in conjunction with
six of the most powerful rajas of the north. The Hindoos
again took the fatal resolution of crossing the Indus, and
were a fourth time defeated with the loss of 20,000 men.
The next expedition was a mere plundering excursion to

Nagarcote, a place of peculiar sanctity, and so strongly forti-

fied as to have been made the depository of the wealth of

the neighbouring princes. The stronghold was easily cap-

tured, and despoiled—according to the Mahomedan histo-

rians—of 700 maunds of gold and silver plate, 200 maunds
of pure gold ingots, 2,000 maunds of unwrought silver,

and twenty maunds of jewels. The sixth expedition was
directed against Thanesur, one of the most ancient and
wealthy shrines in India. Anungpal implored Mahmood
to spare it, but he made the characteristic reply that the
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extermination of idolatry was his mission, and that his re-

ward in paradise would be measured by his succe>s in

accomplishing it. All the costly images and shrines, the

accumulation of centuries, together with 200,000 ca])tives,

were transported to Ghuzni, which began to wear the ap-

pearance of a Hindoo colony.

After several minor expeditions Mahmood determined to a.d.

penetrate to the heart of Hindostan, and to plant his 1017

standard on the banks of the Ganges. With an
army, it is said, of 20,000 foot and 100,000 horse, to ciiuoiigo

attracted chiefly from Central Asia by the love ^""^ i^uitra.

of adventure and the lure of plunder, he burst suddenly
on the city of Cunouge, which had been for centuries the

citadel of Hindooisna. The descriptions given of the mag-
nificence of the city and the splendour of the court, both by
Hindoo and Mahomedan writers, stagger our belief, more
especially when we consider the limited extent of the king-
dom. The army of the state is said to have consisted of

80,000 men in armour, 30,000 horsemen, and 500,000
infantry

;
yet the raja made his submission after a short

and feeble resistance. Mahmood left it uninjured, and
turned his footsteps to the great ecclesiastical city of ]\[uttra,

the birthplace and sanctuary of the deified hero Krishnu,
filled with shrines, blazing with jewelry. For twenty days
the city and the temples were given up to plunder, and
the idols were melted down or demolished. Some of the
temples were spared for theii' great solidity or their surpass-
ing beauty. " Here are a thousand edifices," wrote the con-

queror, " as firm as the creed of the faithful, most of them
" of marble, besides innumerable temples. Such another
" city could not be constructed vindcr two centuries."

Passing over two expeditious of lesser moment, we come 1024

to the last and most celebrated, the capture of the shrine

of Somnath, the most wealthy and the most re- Expedition

nowned on the continent of India. At the period to Somnuth.

of an eclipse, it is said to have been resorted to by 200,000
pilgrims. The image was daily bathed with water brought
from the Ganges, 1,000 miles distant. The estal)Hshment
consisted of 2,000 brahmins, 300 barbers to shave the
devotees, 200 musicians, and 300 courtezans. To reach
the temple ^lahmood had a painful march of 350 miles
across the desert. The raja retreated to the fortified

temple, and the defenders on the first attack withdrew to
the inner sanctuary, and prosti*ated themselves before the
idol to implore its help. The neighbouring chiefs hastened
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with large forces to the defence of the shrine, and Mahmood
was so severely pressed by them that he, in his turn, pros-

trated himself on the ground to invoke divine assistance
;

and then, springing into the saddle, cheered on his troops

to victory. After 5,000 Hindoos had fallen under their

sabres, Mahmood entered the temple and was struck with
astonishment at its grandeur. The lofty roof was supported
by fifty-six columns, elaborately carved, and studded with
jewels. The shrine was illuminated by a single lamp, sus-

pended by a golden chain, the lustre of which was reflected

from the numerous precious stones embossed in the walls.

The image, five yards in height, one half of which was
buried in the earth, faced the entrance, and Mahmood
ordered it to be demolished, when the priests threw them-
selves at his feet and ofiered an immense ransom for it,

but he replied that he had rather be known as the de-

stroyer than the seller of idols. Then, lifting up his mace,
he aimed a blow at it, and the figure, which was hollow,

burst asunder, and poured a larger treasure at his feet

than the brahmins had ofiered for its ransom. The wealth
obtained on this occasion exceeded any he had acquired in

his previous expeditions, and the mind is bewildered with
the enumeration of the treasures and jewels which he
carried back. The sandal-wood gates were sent as a trophy
to his capital where they remained for eight centuries,

till they were brought back in a triumphal procession to

India by a Christian ruler.

He retired to Grhuzni after a toilsome and perilous march
through the desert, and died in the sixtieth year of his age.

Two days before his death he caused the most
103*0 character of costly of his treasures to be displayed before his

Mahmood. eycs, and is said to have shed tears at the

thought of leaving them. Mahmood was not only the

greatest conqueror, but the grandest sovereign of the age.

He extended his dominions from the sea of Aral to the

Persian Gulf, and from the mountains of Kurdestan to the

banks of the Sutlege, and the order which reigned through

these vast territories gave abundant proof of his genius

for civil administration. His court was the most mag-
nificent in Asia, and few princes have ever surpassed him
in the munificent encouragement of letters. He founded

and richly endowed a university at his capital, which

was adorned with a greater assemblage of Hteraiy genius

than any other monarch in Asia has ever been able to collect.

His taste for architecture was developed after he had seen
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the grand edifices of Cuuouge and of Muttra, of Thanesur
and Somnath, and his capital, which at the beginning of

his reign was a collection of hovels, was ornamented with

mosques, porches, fountains, aqueducts, and palaces.

The dynasty of Ghuzni maybe said to have reigned, though

it did not flourish, for a hundred and fifty-six years after the

death of Mahmood, inasmuch as it was not dispos-
pjogrggg and a t>

sessed of its last territories before 1186. During close of the j^'gg

this period, the attention of its princes was so in- dynasty.

cessantly distracted by the political and mili-

tary movements of Central Asia, and more especially by

the aggressions of the Seljuks, as to leave them little

leisure for the affairs of India. It would be idle to en-

cumber the attention of the reader with the revolutions

beyond the Indus, which have no bearing upon the

interests of India, or with the catalogue of the sovereigns

engaged in them. The provinces of Lahore and Mooltan
were permanently annexed to the throne of Ghuzni, though
more than one effort was made by the Hindoo princes to

drive the Mahomedans across the Indus.

SECTION" II.

FROM THE EXTINCTION OF THE HOUSE OF GHUZNI TO THE
ACCESSION OF THE HOUSE OF TOGHLUK.

The dynasty of Chore, which succeeded that of Ghuzni,
was founded by Eis-ood-deen, a native of Afghanistan,

who entered the service of Musaood, the king ^ . . . ,

of Ghuzni, and obtained the hand of his daughter House of

together with the principality of Chore. His ^^°'*-

son was married to Byram, the last sultan of Ghuzni, who
put him to death on the occasion of some family quarrel.

The brother of the deceased prince, Seif-ood-deen, took up
arms to revenge his death, and Byram was obliged to
fly, but he returned soon after with a larger force, and
conquered his opponent, whom he butchered with studied
ignominy. Alla-ood-deen, his brother, vowed a bitter

revenge, and a battle was fought under the walls of
Ghuzni, when Byram was defeated and fled to Lahore, but
perished on the route. Alla-ood-deen then proceeded to
wreak his vengeance on the city of Ghuzni, which had
become the grandest in Asia, and gave it up for three.
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and, according to some authors, for seven days, to indis-

criminate slaughter, flame, and devastation. The superb
monuments of the kings of Ghuzni were levelled vrith the

ground, and the palaces of the nobles sacked and demo-
lished. This savage vengeance has fixed an indelible

stigma on his memory, and he is branded by Mahomedan
historians as ' the incendiary of the world.' He was suc-

Gheias-ood- ceeded in 1156 by an amiable and imbecile

A.D.
^^^' youth, who was murdered within a twelve-

1156 month, when Gheias-ood-deen was raised to the throne,

and associated his brother Shahab-ood-deen, the renowned
Mahomed Ghory, with him in the government, the most
important functions of which were left in his hands. The
harmony which subsisted between the two brothers for

forty-five years, and the exemplary loyalty which Maho-
med, though in possession of the real power of the state,

continued to manifest towards his brother in an age of

universal violence, deserve especial commemoration.
Mahomed Ghory was the real founder of Mahomedan

power in India, and it may be serviceable to glance at the

Stat f th
condition of the Hindoo thrones north of the Ner-

Hindoo budda on the eve of their extinction. The king-
kingdoms.

^Jqjj^ q£ Cunouge had passed under the authority

of the Rathore tribe of Rajpoots. The kings of Benares
who professed the booddhist creed had become extinct,

and the principality had been divided between the rulers

of Cunouge and Bengal. Bengal was independent under the

dynasty of the Sens. Guzerat was governed by the

Bhagilas, and the powerful kingdom of Ajmere by the

Chohans. The last King of Delhi, Prithee raj, was of the

Tomara tribe, and he had adopted his grandson, the raja

of Ajmere, and bestowed his daughter on him. With
the chief of Guzerat for his ally, the king of Cunouge was
engaged in mortal conflict with the king of Delhi, with

whom were associated the rajas of Chittore and Ajmere.

The arrogant raja of Cunouge had, moreover, determined to

celebrate the sacrifice of the horse, the emblem of universal

sovereignty, and this vainglorious assumption was re-

sented by half the powers of Hindostan, which was thus

divided into two hostile camps, with its rulers engaged in

deadly hostilities, when the Mahomedan invader was thun-

dering at its gates. On the threshold of this great

revolution we pause for a moment to notice the virtues of

^ . Bhoje-raj, the last of the great Hindoo sove-

reierns of India. He was of the ancient and
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time-honoured tribe of the Prnmuras, who still contintied

to role, but with diminished splendour, the kingdom of

Oojein. Seated on the throne of Vikrum-aditya, he resolved

to emulate him in the encouragement of literature. His
memory is consecrated by the gratitude of posterity, and
his reign has been immortalised by the genius of poetry.

Mahomed Ghory turned his attention to India with all a.d.

the vigour of a young dynasty. In 1176 he took the 1176

province of Ooch, at the junction of the rivers of Mahomed
the Punjab and the Indus. Two years later he Ghory-

was defeated in his attempt on Guzerat. He subsequently

overran Sinde, and took possession of the two pro-

vinces of Mooltan and the Punjab, which alone had
remained to the house of Ghuzni, which thus became
extinct. Having no longer any Mahomedan rival within

the Indus, his entire force was brought to bear on the

great Hindoo monarchies. At this period there was little

trace of the invasion of Mahmood ; the prosperity of the

country was renewed, and it teemed with wealth and
abounded in temples; but the year 1193 brought a tem- 1193
pest of desolation which completely overwhelmed the
Hindoo power in the north. Prithee raj, the gallant but
thoughtless king of Delhi, though he had wasted his

strength in his struggle with the raja of Cunouge and his

associates, was still able to bring a force of 200,000 horse
into the field with a proportionate number of foot. The two
armies joined battle at Tirauri, not far from Thanesur,
the battle-field of Hindostan, when the king of Ghore was
completely defeated, and was happy to escape with the
wreck of his army across the Indus.
Having recruited his army with Turks, Tartars, and

Afghans, he recrossed the Indus to wipe out his disgrace.

The Hindoos met him on their old and, as they Defeatof the

considered it, fortunate ground, with an aug- Hindoos,

mented force of infantry and cavalry ; 150 chiefs rallied

round the standard of Delhi, and the king sent an
arrogant message to Mahomed, granting him permission to

retire without molestation. He replied, with apparent
humility, that he was merely his brother's lieutenant, to
whom he would refer their message, and the moderation of
this reply was interpreted as a symptom of weakness.
The Caggar flowed between the two armies, and Mahomed,
after having in vain endeavoured to surprise the Hindoos
by crossing it during the night, feigned a retreat, which
drew the enemy in confusion after him, when he charged
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them with 12,000 chosen horse, and, as the historian re-

lates, " this prodigious army, once shaken, like a great
" building, tottered to its fall, and was lost in its own ruins."

The raja of Chittore fell, gallantly fighting at the head of

his Rajpoot cavalry. The king of Delhi was taken
prisoner, and butchered in cold blood. Mahomed then
proceeded to Ajmere, where he stained his reputation hy
the massacre of several thousands of his captives. Ma-
homed returned to Grhuzni laden with plunder, leaving one
of his slaves, Kootub-ood-deen, who had risen to eminence

A.D. by his talent, to continue his conquests. He captured
1 193 Meerut and Coel, and eventually Delhi, which now became

the seat of Mahomedan power in India. The kings of

Cunouge and Guzerat, who had looked on with malicious

delight while the Mahomedans smote down their Hindoo
opponents, had no long respite themselves. Mahomed

1194 returned to India the next year with a powerful force, and
defeated Jey-chunder, the Rathore raja of Cunouge, on the

banks of the Jumna, and captured Benares, where he
demohshed a thousand temples. Upon this reverse, the

whole tribe of Rathores emigrated in a body to Rajpoo-
tana, and established the kingdom of Marwar, and the

ancient city of Cunouge, which had seen the days of

Ramu sank to insignificance. Kootub-ood-deen lost no

Bengal and time in despatching one of his slaves, Bukhtyar
Behar. Ghiljie, to conquer Behar, which ofiered no re-

sistance. That oflBcer then advanced to Bengal, which was
under the rule ofLukshmunu Sen, eighty years of age, who
usually held his court at Nuddea. He appears to have
made no preparations for the defence of the country, and
was surprised at a meal, and fled for refage to Jugernath.
It is particularly worthy of note, that while the heroic

Rajpoots, the kings of Delhi and Cunouge, and other princes

in the north-west, ofiered a noble resistance to the Ma-
homedans, Bengal fell, without the slightest efibrt for its

independence. It remained under Mahomedan rule for

five centuries and a half, till it was transferred to a
European government by the issue of a single battle, which
cost the conquerors only seventy men. Bukhtyar deli-

vered up Nuddea to plunder, and then seized on Gour, the

ancient capital. He subsequently invaded Bootan and
Assam, but was gallantly repulsed by the highlanders, and
died of chagrin on his return to Bengal.

During these transactions Mahomed marched against

the king of Kiarizm, the modern Khiva, and, though at
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first victorious, experienced so crushing a defeat that it was a.».

with difficulty he made his way back to Ghuzni, Death of 1203

the gates of which were shut against him by the Mahomed.

governor. Revolts at the same time broke out in India on

the news of his reverses. He succeeded eventually in

restoring his authority, and was returning to his capital,

when he was murdered on the banks of the Indus by a

band of Gukkers, who stole unperceived into his tent and 1206

revenged the loss of a relative in the late war. He
governed the kingdom forty-nine years, forty-five in con-

junction with his brother, and four after his death. His
military operations in India were on a larger scale, and
their result was more permanent than those of Mahmood
of Ghuzni, Mahmood attacked the most opulent towns
and temples and carried their wealth to Ghuzni, It was a

sudden tornado of spoliation, and when it had passed over,

the sovereigns recovered their power, and the country re-

sumed its prosperity. But Mahomed of Ghore in the

course of ten years completely demolished the Hindoo
power, and at the period of his death northern India, from
the Himalaya to the Nerbudda, with the exception ofMaiwa,
badcome under a pennanent Mahomedan government. The
treasure left by Mahomed is stated at a. sum which exceeds

belief, more particularly the five maunds of jewels. He had
no children, and his nephew was proclaimed throughout
his dominions, and ruled them for six years. On his death

there was a general scramble for power between the

governors of the different provinces, and in 1215 Ghuzni 1215

was taken by the king of Kharizm, and the dynasty of

Ghore disappears from the page of history.

Kootub-ood-deen, to whose management Mahomed had
confided his Indian conquests, was invested with the full

sovereignty of them by his successor, and as-
.j^ggj^^g

sumed the insignia of royalty at Lahore in dynasty.

1206, from which year the real foundation of
f^^*]'''-*^-

Mahomedan power in India is usually dated.

The dynasty which he founded is known in history as that 1206

of the slave kings. He made one expedition across the

Indus and overcame Eldoze, another of the slaves of

Mahomed, who had caused himself to be crowned at

Ghuzni, and claimed the submission of Kootub. Kootub
himseK was soon after defeated and returned to India, and
from that time forward contented himself with the do-

minions he possessed there. To commemorate the cap-

tui-e of Delhi, he commenced the magnificent Kootub-

I
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Minar in that city, which was completed by his successor.

A.D. He died in 1210, after an independent reign of five years.

1210 While Central Asia was the scene of convnlsion created

by the ambition of its different rulers, and more especially

Jenghiz by the violence of Mahomed the turbulent king
1219 Khan. of Kharizm, its polity was entirely subverted by

the memorable irruption of Jenghiz Khan. He was the

petty chief of the Moguls, a tribe of nomadic Tartars,

roaming with their flocks and herds on the north of the
great wall of China. By the age of forty he had es-

tablished his authority over all the tribes, and burst with
resistless force on China, and, after sacking ninety

cities, obliged the emperor to cede the provinces north of

the Yellow River. With an army of 700,000 men he then
poured down on the Mahomedan principalities of Central

Asia, and defeated Mahomed of Kharizm, who is said to

have left 160,000 dead on the field. From the Caspian
sea to the banks of the Indus, the whole region for more
than a thousand miles was laid waste with fire and
sword. This tide of desolation which swept over the

country was the greatest calamity which has ever be-

fallen the family of man. Although Jenghiz Khan did not
invade India, he gave a predominant influence to the
Moguls, who, after the lapse of three centuries, were led

across the Indus by Baber, and placed on the throne of

India.

Kootub was succeeded by his son Aram, who was de-

throned within a year, and Altumsh, his slave and son-in-

law, was raised to supreme authority, which he

duSJ toe"^ enjoyed for twenty-five years. He was occupied
Slave in reducing to subjection the few districts which
^^ ^' still remained in the hands of the Hindoos, in

1236 curbing his subordinate governors, and consolidating the
new empire. He reduced the strong fortresses ofRin-
thimbore in Rajpootana, of Gwalior, and of Mandoo. He
captured Oojein, the venerable capital of Vikrum-adityu,
and destroyed his magnificent temple of Muhakal, and
sent the images to Delhi to be mutilated and placed as

steps of his great mosque. He was succeeded by his son,

who was deposed within six months for his vices, and his

sister Rezia was raised to the throne. " She was," says the

historian, " endowed with every princely virtue, and those

1236 "who scrutinised her actions most severely could find in her

"no faultbut that she was a woman." Shemanagedthe affairs

of theempire with singular talent, revisedthelaws, appeared
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daily on tlie throne in the habit of a Sultan, and gave
audience to all comers. But an Abyssinian slave had
gained her favour and was appointed to the command of

the army ; the nobility were aggrieved, insurrections

broke out, and she took the field against the rebels, but
was taken prisoner and put to death after a reign of three

years and a half. The two succeeding reigns were without

events, and occupied only six years, when Nazir-ood-deen,

a grandson of Altumsh, mounted the throne. The reign of a.i).

this quiet and studious monarch extended to twenty years. 1246

He was remarkable for the simplicity of his habits, his

frugality, and continence, and for the royal Mahomedan
virtue of transcribing the Koran. The merit of all the im-
portant events of his reign belongs to his great minister,

Bulbun, the Turkish slave and son-in-law of Altumsh.
Throughout this reign the provinces contiguous to the

Indus were constantly subjected to the ravages of the

Moguls whom Jenghiz Khan had established in Central

Asia, and twenty-five of the princes whom they had ex-

pelled were hospitably entertained at the court of Delhi,

He died without issue, and was succeeded by his minister,

Bulbun, the greatest statesman in the annals of the slave

dynasty. He was a prince of great energy andabihty, but 1266

is represented by some historians as a monster of cruelty,

by others as a model of perfection. During an insurrection

in Merut he is said to have put 100,000 to death,

and the rebellion in Bengal was punished with such
extreme severity as to constrain the ministers of religion

to interpose their influence to stay the savage execution of

women and children. On the other hand, he set an
example of the most rigid abstemiousness, and punished
immorality with great rigour. His court was maintained
on a scale of great magnificence, and adorned with the
presence of men of literary genius, whom he attracted by
his munificence ; but he made it a rule to employ no
Hindoos in the public service. His accomplished son,

Prince Mahomed, the idol of the age, was sent to repel a
renewed invasion of the Moguls. They were defeated, 1279
but the illustrious youth fell in the field, and with him
perished the hopes of the dynasty. Bulbun was succeeded
by one of his grandsons, who was speedily superseded by
another, and on his falHng a victim to his debaucheries, a
struggle for power arose between the Tartar mercenaries
and the Afghan Ghiljies. The Tartars were cut to pieces,

and the dynasty, which began in 1205 with the slave
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Kutub, terminated in 1288, within three years of the death
of the slave Bulbun.
The victorious Ghiljie, Feroze, then in his seventieth

year, mounted the throne, and assumed the title of Jellal-

A-D. Dynasty of ood-deen. The dynasty, which lasted only thirty

1288 the Ghiijiea. years, was rendered memorable by the extension

of Mahomedan power over the Deccan. The reign of

Jellal-ood-deen was marked, except in one instance, by an
injudicious lenity, which relaxed the whole frame of go-

vernment; the governors withheld their tribute, and the

roads were infested with banditti. In the fifth year of his

reign, his nephew, Alla-ood-deen, a man of great energy,

violent ambition, and no scruples of conscience, projected

a marauding expedition to the south. Avoiding all com-
munication with his uncle, he swept down across the

Nerbudda with a body of 8,000 chosen horse, and suddenly
presented himself before the fortress of Dowlutabad.
Neither the king nor any of the neighbouring Hindoo
princes were prepared for resistance, and the town with all

1294 its treasures fell a prey to the invader. The audacity of

this adventure struck terror into the chiefs on the fine,

and before they were prepared to encounter him he was
enabled to return, on the twenty-fifth day, without any
interruption. This expedition revealed the wealth and
the weakness of the Deccan to the Mahomedans, and
paved the way for its subjugation. The aged emperor,

then in his seventy-seventh year, was delighted to find his

nephew return in safety, laden with plunder and covered
with glory. His ministers endeavoured to put him on his

1295 guard against the ambitious designs of his nephew, but
the over-confident monarch was induced to cross the
Ganges to welcome him, and at the first interview was
treacherously assassinated by men placed in ambush in the

tent.

Alla-ood-deen hastened to Delhi, and put the two sons

of his uncle to death and imprisoned their mother ; but he

AUa-ood- endeavoured to efiace the memory of these atro-
deen. cities by the just exercise of the power he had
so nefariously acquired, and by the exhibition of games and
festivities ; he was never able, however, to suppress his ar-

bitrary temper, and his reign, though long and glorious, was
always disturbed by conspiracies. He was ignorant of letters

when he ascended the throne, but he applied snccessfally

to study, and surrounded himself with learned men, in

whose society he took great pleasure. His government
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was stem and inflexible, but not unsuited to the exigencies

of the time. The military operations of his reign, which
extended to twenty-seven years, were divided between the

north and south of India. Early in his reign he finally ^.d.

conquered Guzerat, which had assumed independence, and 1297

two years after obtained possession of the fortress of

Rinthimbore and then of Chittore, which brought the

Rajpoots " under the yoke of obedience," His territories

to the north-west of Delhi were constantly disturbed by
the inroads of the Moguls from Central Asia, and in 1298
Kutlugh Khan marched down from the Indus with an
army of 200,000 men upon Delhi, which was crowded with
fugitives till famine began to stare them in the face, when 1298

Alla-ood-deen marched out and dispersed this vast host.

The invasion was twice repeated, and as often repelled,

and the emperor, to deter these inveterate enemies by a

severe example, caused the heads of all his male prisoners

to be struck off and erected into a pillar at Delhi.

His first expedition to the Deccan, when seated on the

throne, was directed against Warungul, the ancient

capital of Telingana, but it was not successful.
Exr^jyong

Three years later, a larger army was sent under to the

the command of Malik Kafoor, a eunuch, once ^®*=<^^-

the slave, but now the favourite general of the emperor,
and the object of envy to the nobles of the court. He
overran the Mahratta country and recovered Dowlutabad,
which had revolted. In the previous expedition against 1306
Guzerat, the wife of the raja had fallen into the hands of

the victors and was placed in the imperial harem, where her
singular beauty and her talents excited the admiration of

the emperor. She had borne a daughter to her former
husband, whose attractions were said to be equal to her own,
and the generals were ordered diligently to seek her out.

She was unexpectedly discovered and conveyed to Delhi,

where she made such an impression on the king's son that
he married her ;—at so early a period do we find int,er-

marriages between the Mahomedans and the Hindoos in 1309

vogue. In 1309, Kafoor ravaged the north of Telingana,
and conquered "Warungul. The next year he was sent
with a large army down to the Carnatic, and reached the
capital after a march of three months. The raja was
defeated and made prisoner, and with him ended the
Belial dynasty of the Deccan. Kafoor then ravaged the
eastern provinces along the Coromandel coast down to the
extreme limit of the peninsula, and, as a memorial of his 1310

I
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victories erected a mosque on the island of Ramisseram,
between the continent and the island of Ceylon, contiguous
to the magnificent temple erected ages before in honour of

Seeta, the wife of the hero of the Ramayun. The value of

the plunder he acquired in these expeditions was calculated

by lustorians deemed sober, at a hundred crores of rupees.

In the decline of life Alla-ood-deen exhibited an in-

1312 fatuated attachment to Kafoor, whose depravity equalled

Exti cti
^^^ talents, and a spirit of discontent spread

of the throughout the provinces. His strength, both

dyn^. °^ body and mind, was impaired by constant in-

dulgence, and the empire, which had been sus-

tained by his energy, fell into a state of anarchy. Guzerat,
Chittore, and Deoghur deserted their allegiance, and he sank

1316 into the grave under a cloud of misfortunes. His con-

quests were greater than had ever been achieved before in

India ; his internal administration was eminently successful,

and the wealth and prosperity of the country were in-

creased. His death became the signal for revolutions

The infamous Kafoor seized upon the regency and put out
the eyes of the two sons of his benefactor. The nobles of

the court, however, caused him to be put to death, and
placed the deceased emperor's third son upon the throne,

who lost no time in putting the instruments of his eleva-

tion to death, and extinguishing the sight of his youngest
brother. He reconquered some of the provinces which
had revolted, but on his return to the capital gave him-
self up to the most degrading vices, while his favourite,

Khosroo, a converted Hindoo, undertook an expedition to

the Deccan and ravaged the maritime province of Malabar,
which Kafoor had spared. Khosroo returned to Delhi

laden with booty, assassinated his master, and usurped the

throne, and then proceeded to massacre the royal family
;

but Ghazee Toghluk, the governor of the Punjab, marched
on Delhi with the veteran troops of the marches, disciplined

1321 by constant conflicts with the Moguls, and put an end to

the reign and life of the monster.
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SECTION m.
THE DYNASTY OF TOGHLUK TO THE MOGUL DYNASTY.

Ghazee Toghluk was desirous of placing some scion of the a-d.

royal house upon the throne, but the family had been ex- *^^^

terminated during the recent convulsions, and Ghazee

he yielded to the wishes of the nobles and Toghiuk.

people to accept it himself. His father was originally a

slave of the emperor Bulbun, but raised himself to high

honour by his abilities. His reign, which lasted only four

years, was as commendable as his accession had been
blameless. Bengal had prospered for forty years under
the viceroyalty of Kurrah, the son of the emperor Bulbun,
and as charges had been brought against him, Ghazee
Toghluk investigated them in person, and, finding them,

groundless, confirmed him in the government ; and the

native historian illustrates the mutations of fortune at this

period by the remark that it was the son of the father's

slave who granted the royal umbrella to his son. An ex-

pedition was sent into Telingana ; the capital, Warungul,
was captured, and the Hindoo dynasty which had flourished

there for two centuries and a half became extinct. Jona
Khan, the son of the emperor, on his return from this

campaign, gave an entertainment to his father in a magnifi-

cent pavilion which fell unexpectedly, but not accidentally,

and crushed him to death.

Jona Khan, who ascended the throne and assumed the 1325

title of Mahomed Toghluk, is one of the most extraordinary

characters in the Mahomedan history of India „ ^
1 J p -J.Ti- Mahomed—a singular compound oi opposite qualities. Toghink;

He was the most accomplished sovereign of ^^ caprices.

the age, skilled in every science, and versed even in Greek
philosophy; the liberal patron of learning, temperate to the
verge of asceticism, and distinguished in the field by his
gallantry and military skill. But all these virtues were
neutralised by such perversity of disposition and such
paroxysms of tyranny as to render him the object of general
execration. It was the intoxication of absolute power which
led him to acts bordering on insanity. He began his reign
by completing the reduction of the Deccan ; he extended
the limits of the empire beyond any of his predecessors, and
brought the remotest districts into as good order as those

I
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around Delhi
;

yet, before his death the whole of the

Expedition Deccan was lost to the crown by his follies. He
to Persia. assembled a large army for the conquest of

A.D. Persia, but, after exhausting his resources, the troops de-

1325 serted for want of pay, and became the terror of his own
subjects. To replenish his treasury he resolved to march
into China and levy contributions in that remote region,

but the army of 100,000 men which he sent across the

snowy range, after encountering incredible hardships, was
all but exterminated by the Chinese and the exasperated

highlanders, and the few who escaped to tell the tale were
butchered by his own orders. Hearing that the Chinese
had a paper currency in use, he determined to introduce it

into his dominions, to the ruin of thousands and the

general derangement of commerce. His exactions drove
the husbandmen into the woods, and filled the country with
banditti. By way of revenge he surrounded a large tract

of territory with his troops, and driving the wretched in-

habitants into the centre, slaughtered them with all the

1338 Change of brutality of a battue. In 1338 he took the field

capital. against his nephew, who had been driven into

revolt, and the young prince was captured and flayed alive.

On reaching Deoghur, he was so enchanted with the beauty
of the situation and the mildness of the climate, that he
resolved to make it the capital of the empire, and changed
its name to Dowlutabad. He then ordered the inhabitants

of Delhi to migrate to it, and thousands of men, women,
and children were constrained to travel a distance of eight

hundred miles ; but he planted the road with full-grown

trees. The project of transplanting the metropolis failed,

but not till it had inflicted incalculable misery on the

people. At the same time, as if to mock the calamities of

his subjects, he erected a splendid mausoleum over the

grave of a decayed tooth.

These caprices and oppressions produced the usual har-

vest of insurrections. The Afghans crossed the Indus and
^. , ravaered the Puniab, and when they retired the

mentofthe Gukkers completed the desolation of the pro-
13iO empire. vince. Bengal revolted, and remained independent

for two centuries. Two fugitives from Telingana esta-

blished a Hindoo kingdom near the Toombudra, with

Beejanuger for its capital. About the same time a de-

scendant of the royal house of Telingana founded an in-

dependent principality at Golconda ; and these two Hindoo

1344 powers maintained a vigorous struggle for many years

with the "^fahomedan kingdoms which arose in the Deccan.
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A still more important revolution wrested the remaining

provinces south of the Nerbudda from the sceptre of

Delhi. A large body of Moguls who had settled in Guzerat
raised the standard of revolt. The emperor proceeded

against them with his usual vigour, gave up the cities of

Surat and Cambay to plunder, and desolated the province

as if it had been the possession of an enemy. The Moguls
fled to the Deccan, and being joined by those whom the

emperor's oppressions had exasperated, took possession of

Dowlutabad, where they proclaimed Ishmael Khan, an
Afghan, king, and, after one reverse, established a new
monarchy, known in history as the Bahminee kingdom.
Mahomed Toghluk died in Sinde after a reign of twenty-one ^.d.

years, leaving the throne of Delhi dispossessed of the whole 1361

of the Deccan and of the province of Bengal.

Mahomed Toghluk was succeeded by his son Peroze,

whose reign extended to thirty-seven years, and though
mild and beneficent, was by no means brilhant.

-p^^^^ ,^^

He discouraged luxury by his own example, re- gWukandUs

pealed vexatious taxes, and abolished torture and successors.

mutilation. His ruling passion was architecture ; and the

Mahomedan historian records with pride the erection of

forty mosques, thirty colleges, twenty palaces, a hundred
hospitals, a hundred public baths, a hundred and fifty

bridges, and two hundred towns. But the noblest memorial
of his reign was the canal he constructed between the

source of the Ganges and the Sutlege, which bears his

name, and keeps it fragrant in the recollection of posterity.

After a reign of thirty-four years he abdicated the throne
in favour of his son Mahomed Toghluk the second ; who
gave himself up to indulgence, and constrained his father 1388

to resume his power, but at the age of ninety, he resigned
the sceptre to his grandson. During the next ten years

the throne was occupied by four princes, two of whom held

authority in the capital at the same time and for three

years waged incessant war with each other. Hindostan
fell a prey to anarchy ; four independent kingdoms were 1 394

carved out of the imperial dominions, and nothing remained
to the crown of Delhi but the districts immediately around
the capital.

These kingdoms were all founded by the Mahomedan
viceroys ; no effort was made by the Hindoos to take ad-

vantage of the confusion of the times, and re-
j,^^ ^.

gain their supremacy, and the ancient chiefs of pendent

Rajpootana were the only depository of Hindoo '^"S'^o'^-

D 2
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power in Hindostan. Of these kingdoms two, Malwa and
Guzerat, rose to great power and eminence ; while the two
others, Candesh and Jounpore, were of minor weight and
more limited duration. Dilawur Khan of Ghore, the

A.D. viceroy of Malwa, who assumed independence, established

1401 his capital at Mandoo, fifteen miles north of the Nerbudda.
Mozuffer Elhan, a Rajpoot converted to Mahomedanism,
and like all converts, more especially in India, a virulent

persecutor of his former creed, was sent by one of the

feeble successors of Feroze Toghluk to supersede the sus-

pected governor of Guzerat, and, seeing no power at Delhi
1396 to enforce obedience, threw off the yoke of allegiance. The

viceroy of Candesh, which consists of the lower valley of

the Taptee, followed his example, and formed a matri-

monial alliance with the new king of Guzerat. Still nearer

the capital, Khoja Jehan the vizier ofMahomed Toghlnk the

third, availed himself of the weakness of the throne, and
" assumed the royal umbrella," in Jounpore. The empire

1394 of Delhi, distracted by these revolts, and shorn of its fairest

provinces, fell an easy prey to the ruthless invader who
was now advancing to despoil it of its wealth.

The Ameer Timur, or Tamerlane, was bom in the

neighbourhood of Samarcand, of a Turki family which had
1398 been in the service of Jeng^hiz Khan. His lot was

cast at a period when the decay of vigour in the

governments in the east offered the fairest opportunity of

conquest to any daring adventurer. He was raised to the

throne of Samarcand at the age of thirty-four, and in a few
years prostrated every throne which stood in the way of

his ambition, and became at once the scourge of Asia and
the terror of Europe. He led the hordes of Tartary to the

conquest of Persia, Khorasan and Transoxiana, of Mesopo-
tamia and Georgia, and brought a portion of Russia and
Siberia under subjection. Having mastered the whole of

Central Asia, he sent his grandson to invade India, but as he
met with more opposition than was expected, Timur him-
self crossed the Indus at Attock, September 12, 1398, wi(h
ninety-two squadrons of horse, and advanced to Bhutnere,

which was surrendered by the inhabitants on terms ; but,

by one of those mistakes which seemed always to occur in

his capitulations, they were put to the sword and the town
burnt to the ground. Villages and towns were abandoned
as he advanced, but on his arrival at Delhi, he found
himself encumbered with prisoners, and, according to the

statement of the historians, which were doubtless ex-
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aggerated, he caused 100,000 men to be massacred in cold

blood. A battle was fought under the walls of the capital,

between the veterans of Timur and the effeminate soldiers

of the empire. The emperor Mahomed Toghluk the third

was defeated and fled to Guzerat, and Timur entered the

city and caused himself to be proclaimed emperor. Dis-

putes, as might have been expected, arose between the

citizens and his ferocious soldiers, and the whole of the

Mogul army was let loose on the devoted city. The inhabit-

ants sold their lives dearly, but their valour was quenched
in their blood. The scenes of horror defy all description

;

entire streets were choked up with the dying and the

dead. For five days Timur remained a tranquil spectator

of fhe plunder and conflagration of the city, while he cele-

brated his victory by a magnificent feast. Having glutted

his revenge and satiated his cupidity he proceeded " to offer

" up to the divine Majesty his humble tribute of grateful
" praise for his success, in the noble mosque of polished
" marble, erected by Feroze on the banks of the Jumna."
This whirlwind of desolation lasted six months, and Timur ^.d.

recrossed the Indus in March 1399. Mahomed Toghluk re- 1.399

turned to Delhi after the departure of Timur, and continued
to exercise a precarious authority for twelve years, when
Khizir Klian, the governor of the Punjab, marched to

Delhi, and extinguished the dynasty of the Toghluks, after

it had subsisted ninety-one years.

The dynasty established by Khizir Khan which lasted uh
only thirty-six years, is designated in Indian history the
dynasty of the Syuds, as they claimed descent Dynasty of

from the Prophet. The founder professed to be *^® Synda.

only the lieutenant of Timur, who had bestowed the

government of the Punjab on him, and caused money to be
coined and prayers to be read in his name. His adminis-
tration, which was extended to nine years, was beneficial

to the distracted provinces, but, with the exception of his

own province, he recovered none of the revolted districts. 1421

His son, Mobarik, was assassinated after a reign of
thirteen years, in which no event of importance requires
to be noted. Syud Mahomed who succeeded him left the
throne to his son Alla-ood-deen, during whose feeble reign
the territory annexed to the crown was still farther re-

duced till at length it extended twelve miles from Delhi on
one side and only one in another. In 14-50 Beloli Lodi 1450

marched down to Delhi, and the emperor resigned the
empty honours of royalty to him without a sigh, and re-

I
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tired on a pension to Budaon where he passed the re-

maining twenty-eight years of his life in cultivating his

garden.

The grandfather of Beloli Lodi, the founder of this

dynasty, was an Afghan, of the tribe of Lodi, or Lohance,

The dynasty engaged in the transport of merchandize, in
of Lodi. which he had amassed a fortune. He repaired to

the court of Feroze Toghluk, and gradually rose to the

government of Mooltan. Re was not content with the

A.D. narrow limits to which the imperial domains had been
1391 reduced, but his chief object was the conquest of Jounpore,

The king- which had become independent in 1394 by the
dom of revolt of Khoja Jehan. The Jounpore dynasty

flourished for eighty-two years, under six sove-

reigns, the most illustrious of whom, Ibrahim, occupied the
throne for one half that period. Under his beneficent rule

the country reached the summit of prosperity. Learned men
from all parts of Asia were invited to his court, which
was esteemed the most polished and illustrious in India.

His capital was adorned with superb and massive edifices,

the remains of which still excite our admiration. Not
merely was it the rival of Delhi in magnificence, but the

strength of the kingdom was so pre-eminent that the
struggle between the emperor and the king was prolonged
with varied success for twenty-eight years, during which
Delhi was twice besieged by the arms of Jounpore.
Hostilities were occasionally suspended by a hollow truce,

1478 but they came to a final issue in 1478, when the last of the
"kings of the east," as the dynasty was termed, fled to

Bengal, and the kingdom was reannexed to the dominions
of Delhi. Beloli Lodi succeeded in extending the terri-

tories of the crown from the Jumna to the Himalaya, and
from the Indus to Benares ; and after a reign of thirty-

^ eight years bequeathed the throne to his son Secunder,
^ ' who added Baber to his conquests. But his administra-

tion, though otherwise just and equitable, was marked by
the oppression of the Hindoos, whose pilgrimages he pro-

hibited, and whose temples he demohshed in every direc-

1617 tion, erecting mosques with the materials. In 1517,

Ibrahim, the third and the last of the line, succeeded to the

crown, and alienated his nobles by his arrogance and
hauteur to such a degree that his reign of nine years was a

constant succession of revolts, which broke out in Behar,

in Jounpore and in the Punjab, where the governor opened
negotiations with Behar for the invasion of India. The
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emperor's own brother joined him at Cabul. The success

which attended the expedition of the Mogul will be nar-

rated in a subsequent chapter. Having thus reached the

threshold of the period when the imperial throne was
transferred to the last Mahomedan dynasty, under which

it was gradually restored to its integrity, we turn back to

the progress of events in Hindostau and in the Deccan
when it was first dismembered.

Candesh became independent about the year 1300, and a.d.

was not reannexed to the empire till the reign of Akbar, 1399

two centuries after. It was a small principality,
^.^j^^gg,^

of no note in history, remarkable only for the

fertility of its soil, and the prosperity of its people ; it was,

moreover, always considered subordinate to its more
powerful neighbour Guzerat. The independence „^ ,^^

of Guzerat was established in 1306 by Mozuflfer 139 6

Shah, and a succession of thirteen princes governed it for

165 years, till it expired in 1561. At the period of the

revolt the province was of limited extent, consisting of the

land lying between the mountains and the sea, but it was
enlarged by successive acquisitions. The great figure it

makes in history is owing to the energy and ability of its

princes, the first of whom MozufFer, the son of a Rajpoot
convert, was constantly at war with the king of Malwa, or

with the raja of Edur, the most powerful Hindoo princi-

pality in the north. His son Ahmed Shah reigned thirty- Mil

eight years, and was likewise incessantly engaged in hosti-

lities with his neighbours, but he brought the country into

good order, and built the town of Ahmedabad, wliich he
made his capital, and adorned with such a profusion of

magnificent mosques, caravanseras, and palaces, as to load

the Mahomedan historians to pronounce it the handsomest
city in the world. The next two reigns, which extended to

sixteen years, were occupied chiefiy with struggles with
Koombho, who was then building up a great Hindoo
power in Rajpootana. Maliomed Sliah, who ascended the

throne at the age of fourteen, slied a lustre on it for a 1 l'^i>

period of more than half a century. The European
travellers who visited his court formed the most extrava-

gant conceptions of his power, and asserted that a portion

of his daily food consisted of mortal poisons with which
his system became so impregnated that if a fly sat on him
it fell down dead. He was the original of the ]»icturo

drawn by the British poet of the prince of Canibay, ' whoso
food was asp, and basilisk, and toad.' lint even without
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the power of digesting poisons he was a most puissant

prince. He captured Gemar, a Hindoo fortress renowned
for its antiquity and its strength. He overran Cutch, de-

feated an array of Belooches, and annexed Sinde to his

dominions. But the distinguishing feature of his reign

was the navy he constructed, and the numerous naval

expeditions which he undertook. He cleared the coast of

pirates, who are said to have fought twenty battles before

they were subdued. His memorable conflict with the

A.D. Portuguese will be narrated in a future chapter. He was
1511 succeeded by his son, Mozuffer the second, whose reign of

fourteen years consisted of constant campaigns against

Malwa, and the renowned Rana Sanga of Rajpootana.

The rapid disappearance of two of his sons, in a single

1526 year, opened the throne to his third son, Bahadoor Shah,

Bahadoor ""'lio Subdued the hereditary foe of his dynasty.
Shah. the Hindoo prince of Edur, and compelled the

kings ofBerar, Ahmednugur and Candesh to do him homage.
His next exploit led to a more splendid result. The king
of Malwa having provoked his hostility, he marched
against him in conjunction with his ally, Rana Sanga, cap-

tured both his capital and his person, and annexed the

15:]4 kingdom to his own territories. Soon after, the brother

of the last emperor of Delhi of the Lodi family, which had
been dispossessed by the Mogul Baber, sought an asylum
at the court of Guzerat, and Bahadoor Shah supplied him
with the means of raising an army, which was however
defeated. Humayoon, then emperor of Delhi, incensed at

this proceeding, marched down to Guzerat, expelled Baha-
door, and took possession of the kingdom. But he was
soon after recalled to defend his own throne against Shere
Khan ; dissensions broke out among his generals, and
Bahadoor was enabled to recover his throne. After a

reign of ten years he was drowned in the harbour of Din,

1635 as he left the vessel of the Portuguese admiral. The next

sovereign was distracted for sixteen years by the factions

of his chiefs. Two pageants were set up in succession by the

courtiers, but they eventually partitioned the kingdom
among themselves. At length, after nearly twenty years

of convulsions, Akbar put an end to this state of anarchy
by annexing the kingdom to the throne of Delhi, after it

1572 had been ahenated a hundred and seventy-six years

Malwa became independent in 1401, under Dilawur
Ghore, who bequeathed the throne four years

1401 *'^*' after to his son Hoosein Ghore. His reign of
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twenty-five years was passed in incessant wars witli his

neighbours. His son was assassinated by his minister, a.d.

Mahomed Khan Ghiljie, who mounted the throne, and 1435

during a period of forty-seven years proved himself the

ablest of the kings of Malwa. He appears to have had
the unobstructed range of northern India, as we find him
besieging Delhi, and establishing his son as governor of

Ajmere. It was recorded of him that ' the tent was his

house, and the battle-field his resting place.' His son,

Gheias-ood-deen, mounted the throne in 1482, and, having 14 82

invited his courtiers to a splendid entertainment, informed
them that he had passed thirty-four years of his life in the

field, fighting by the side of his gallant father, and that he
was resolved to spend the remainder of his days in peace

and enjoyment ; while therefore he retained the royal

dignity, he should leave the management of public afiairsto

his son. The youth was proclaimed vizier, and the king
retired to his seraglio, which he had stocked with 15,000
of the most beautiful women he could procure. In this

female court the pomp and parade of royalty was strictly

maintained. The royal body-guard consisted of 500 Turki
maidens, arrayed in male attire, and of 500 Abyssinian
maidens. Strange to say, he was allowed to retain this

pageantry for eighteen years, without any attempt at

rebellion. His son succeeded him in 1500 and his reign
of twelve years was marked only by cruelty and sensuality.

Mahmood, the last king, was assailed by the Rajpoots,
and rescued by Bahadoor Shah, king of Guzerat ; but he
was incapable of gratitude, and attacked his benefactor,

who marched down to his capital in conjunction with the 1531

Rajpoots, and extinguished the kingdom after a hundred
and thirty years of independence.
At the period of the first invasion of the Mahomedans in

1001 , the Rajpoots appear to have been in possession of all

the governments in northern India ; but, although j, .

they succumbed to the conquerors, they continued
to maintain a spirit of independence under their respective

chieftains in the table-land of Rajpootana, in the centre of

Hindostan. The most important of these chiefs was the
rana of Oodypore, in his capital of Chittore. At the
beginning of the sixteenth century the throne was filled

by Rana Sanga, whose genius and valour raised it to the
height of power. His army consisted of 80,000 horse and
500 war elephants ; and seven rajas of superior rank and
more than a hundred of inferior note attended his stirrup into

I
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the field. The chiefs next in importance, the rajas of Jey-
pore and Joudpore, or Marwar, served nnder his banner,

and he was the acknowledged head of the Rajpoot tribes.

The national historian dwells with pride on the eighteen

battles he fought with Gruzerat and Malwa. His genius

consolidated the power of that gallant and chivalrous race,

and prepared it for the resistance which it was soon to offer

to the Moguls, which, if it had been successful, would
doubtless have restored the sovereignty of Hindostan to the

Hindoos.
It has been stated that the oppressions of Mahomed

Toghluk led to the establishment of an independent Ma-
A.n. xh B h

homedan government in the Deccan, by Hussun
1347 minee Gunga, an Afghan, in 1347. Out of gratitude

dynasty. ^q jj^jg Hindoo patron, he took the additional

title of Bahminee, by which the dynasty is known in

history, and extended his authority over all the territories

belonging to the crown of Delhi south of the Nerbudda,
with the exception of those included in the two Hindoo
kingdoms of Beejanuger and Telingana. His son, who

1358 succeeded him in 1358, commenced his reign by attacking

the king of Telingana, from whom he obtained the sur-

render of a throne, which, with the jewels he added to it,

was valued at four crgres. In a drunken revel he offered

an insult to the king of Beejanuger, who attacked the

town of Moodgul, and put the inhabitants to the sword.

Mahomed, the king, swore that food and sleep should be

unlawful to him till he had propitiated the martyrs of

Moodgul by the slaughter of 100,000 infidels. He entered

the raja's territories, and ravaged them without mercy

;

and having, as he supposed, completed his vow, granted

him honourable terms, and on his return devoted his

attention to the improvement of his country. After a

reign of seventeen years he left the crown to his son, but

he was murdered by his uncle. Feroze, the son of the

1397 assassin, mounted the throne in 1397, and his reign,

together with that of his brother, which extended over

thirty-seven years, are considered the palmy days of the

dynasty. He made twenty-four campaigns, and carried

fire and sword through the length and breadth of the

Carnatic. At the same time, he was an eminent patron of

literature. He likewise established a mercantile marine,

and instructed his commanders to bring the most learned

men and the handsomest women from every port they

visited. His serasrlio is said to have contained beauties
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from thirteen different countries, and the historians aflBrm

that he was able to converse with each one in her own
tongue. He likewise made a point of copying sixteen

pages of the Koran daily. Towards, the close of his reign

he attacked the raja of Beejanuger, and was totally de-

feated, when the triumphant Hindoos retaliated on him
for the destruction of their temples, by the demolition of

his mosques. His brother, Ahmed Shah, in his turn

defeated the Hindoos, and pursued them with unrelenting

severity from day to day, not pausing till the number of

the slain was reported to have reached 20,000. We pass

on to the last monarch of the dynasty. Mahomed Shah,

who was placed on the throne at the age of nine, was
affectionately nurtured by his minister Mahomed Gawan, a.d.

the most eminent general and statesman of the age, through 1463

whose energetic efforts the kingdom reached its greatest

limits, and was extendedfrom the Malabar to the Coromandel
coast, and from the Nerbudda to the Kistna. His in-

ternal administration was equally successful, and the

prosperity of the country rose to its highest measure.

The envious courtiers succeeded, however, in alienating

the king from the man to whom he was under these obli-

gations, and in a fit of drunken revelry, he ordered him to

be put to death. Gawan was then in his seventy-eighth

year, and he knelt down with his face towards Mecca, and
received the fatal blow. Though he had held high office

under five kings, he died in graceful poverty. The king
himself became a prey to remorse, and died within a
twelve month. It is unnecessary to pursue the history of

this dynasty ; Mahomed Shah, his son, ascended the throne
in 1482, and lived on, though he cannot be said to have H82
reigned, for thirty-seven years. The kingdom crumbled
away as governor after governor revolted, and was at

length resolved into five independent sovereignties.

1. Adil Shah, the adopted son of Mahomed Gawan, 1489

founded the kingdom of Beejapore and the Adil Shahee
dynasty in 1489, which retained its independence

j,.^g j^^^

for one hundred and ninety-seven years, until it pendent

was absorbed by Aurungzebe in 1686.
kingdoms.

2. Hussun Bheiry, who instigated the murder of Ma- 1490

homed Gawan, was executed by order of his master, and
his son Ahmed Nizam raised the standard of revolt in

1487, at Ahmednugur, where he established the Nizam
Shahee dynasty, which continued for one hundred and fifty

years, till it was subverted by Shah Jehan in 1637.

i
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A.D. 3. Imad-ool-moolk made himself independent at Berar
1484 in 1484, and commenced the Imad Shahee dynasty, which

was extinguished at the end of ninety years by the king of

Ahmednugur in 1574.
4. Koolee Kootub, a Turkoman, who rose to be governor

1512 of Golconda, estabhshed his independence there in 1512,
under the name of the Kootub Shahee dynasty, which sub-

sisted for a hundred and seventy five years, and was ex

tinguished by Aurungzebe in 1687.
5. Ahmed Bereed, who was appointed minister on tho

U98 murder of Mahomed Grawan, gradually absorbed all the

power of the state, and erected what remained of its do-

mains into an independent state at Beder. It was of

Umited extent, and the period of its extinction is uncertain.

This partition of the Deccan among five independent
sovereigns who were constantly at war with each other, or

with the Hindoo monarchs, subjected the wretched country
to perpetual desolation ; but there can be little advantage
to the reader in wading through a long succession of sieges

and battles, and encumbering the memory with a string of

names and dates of no interest. The salient events of this

long period of anarchy will come up in the history of the

Mogul empire, in which they were eventually absorbed
after more than a century and a half of conflict.

SECTION IV.

THE MOGUL DYNASTY—BABEE—HUMAYOON—AKBAE.

1526 In the month of April 1526 Sultan Baber captured Delhi,

and established the Mogul dynasty, which continued to

The Mogul flourish with only one interruption, and with
dynasty. increasing lustre, for a hundred and eighty years,

tinder a succession, unprecedented in Indian history, of six

sovereigns, distinguished by their gallantry in the field,

and, with one exception, by their ability in the cabinet.

Baber, the sixth in descent from Timur, was the son

of Sheikh Mirza, the ruler of Ferghana on the upper

Baber's early Jaxartes. His mother was a descendant of Jen-
career, ghiz Khan, and he inherited the spirit of enter-

prize which distinguished both his renowned ancestors,

and at the early age of fifteen commenced that adventurous
career which he pursued without intermission for thirty-
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five yeaxs. His first campaign was directed against the

city of Samarcand, the capital of Timur and the metropolis

of Transoxiana, but though he captured it three times, he

was as often expelled from it. For eight years he was
engaged in a series of perilous and romantic enterprizes,

and experienced vicissitudes of fortune which would have
crushed an ordinary mortal, but which only seemed to give

fresh vigour to his buoyant spirit. In the year 1504, see-

ing little prospect of success in his native province, he
seized the city of Cabul, of which he retained posses-

sion for twenty-two years, incessantly employed in defend-

ing or enlarging his dominions. His greatest peril arose

from the progress of the Uzbeks, a tribe of ferocious Turks
and Tartars, then swarming from their native hive, whose
leader, Sharbek, had swept the posterity of Timur from
Khorasan and Transoxiana. In his march towards the

Indus the Uzbek captured Candahar, and threatened

Cabul, and would probably have extinguished the hopes
and the ambition of Baber had he not been recalled to

resist the hostility of Ishmael Shah, who had recently

founded the dynasty of the Sophis in Persia. The Uzbek
chief was routed and slain, but the footing which his tribe

obtained in Transoxiana they retain with vigour to this

day. Baber, who had again occupied Samarcand, and had
been again expelled from it, now turned his attention to

India, where the imbecility and the unpopularity of the

emperor, Ibrahim Lodi, offered an allurement too Baber in

strong for a descendant of Timur to resist. He i"'^'''-

was invited to invade it by men of influence who ha,d been
alienated from the emperor by his oppressions, and more
particularly by his own brother, who sought refuge at

Cabul. In the course of five years, commencing with 1519
he made five irruptions across the Indus, with alternate

success and disappointment. In 1526 he undertook his last

and crowning expedition, with an army not exceeding 12,000
men, but, though a heterogeneous mixture of mercenaries,
they were all veterans, disciplined in many fields. The des-

tiny of India was decided on the field of Paniput, where the
emperor Ibrahim encountered him with, it is said, 100,000 ]yi.,y

troops and 1000 elephants, and was totally discomfited and 1526

fell. Delhi opened her gates to the conqueror, and in May
1526 he vaulted into the vacant throne. But Delhi had
long ceased to be the capital and the mistress of state of

India. The great Mahomedan empire which, in iJi^ia.

the early days of Mahomed Toghluk, embraced the whole
continent, had been broken up a century and a half before
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by his extravagances, and the victory of Baber only gave
him possession of the districts to the north-west of the
capital, and a strip of territory extending along the banks
of the Jumna down to Agra. The various provinces were
in the hands of independent rulers. In the southern
extremity of India the great Hindoo monarchy of Beeja-

nuger was lord of the ascendant. Farther north lay

another Hindoo principality, and the territories of the
five kingdoms recently formed on the dissolution of the
Bahminee monarchy. Guzerat was governed by a wild
youth who had recently absorbed Malwa. Bengal, in-

cluding Behar, was ruled by an Afghan king. Orissa was
still in possession of its ancient Hindoo dynasty, and in

northern India Rana Sanga had consoUdated Hindoo
sovereignty in Rajpootana, and was at this time the most
powerful ruler north of the Nerbudda.
Rana Sanga, elated by the success he had recently ob-

tained over the king of Malwa in conjunction with the

_
,

. . king of Guzerat, espoused the cause of the
Baber s VIC- -, ,P i/> -i o -r t ah.i -n-
tory over the dethroned lamily oi Jjodi. All the Rajpoot
Rajpoots. princes ranged themselves under his banner,

and he advanced with 100,000 men, the flower of the

A.D. Rajpoot chivalry, to drive Baber back across the Indus. In
1527 the first engagement at Biana, Baber experienced a very

disastrous defeat : some of his officers and men deserted

their colours, others went over to the enemy, and all

were disheartened, but he did not allow himself to despair.

He states, in his interesting memoirs, that he repented of

his sins, and determined to reform his life, that he for-

swore the use of wine, melted down his silver and gold
goblets, and determined to live like a true Moosulman and
cultivate his beard. His enthusiasm reanimated his troops,

and in the engagement to which he led them, he obtained

a splendid victory which completely crippled and humbled
1528 the Rajpoot power. The next year he attacked and

mastered Chanderee, a Rajpoot fortress hitherto deemed
impregnable ; and in the succeeding year recovered Oude
and nortlicrn Behar, and chastised the king of Bengal.

But his constitution, which had been impaired by early

indulgences, was worn out by these exertions in an uncon-

1530 genial climate, and he died at Agra in 1530, at the age of

fifty, and was interred at Cabul, in a beautiful

and charac- spot he had Selected for his grave, the simple and
**''• chaste monument erected over which has con-

tinued to attract the admiration of three centuries. No
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Mahomedan prince in India is held in higher ostimation

than Baber. His career exhibited all that romantic spirit

of adventure of which nations are always proud. His
personal courage bordered on rashness ; his activity appears

fabulous ; for thirty-eight years, as he records, he had never
kept the feast of Ramzan twice in the same place. But he

was rather a valorous soldier than a great general, and
lost almost as many battles as he won, but he never lost

heart, and was as buoyant after a defeat as after a victory.

Amidst all the bustle of war he found leisure for the culti-

vation of literature, and his poetrj- has been not a little

admired. There is no Indian prince with whose individual

character and tastes and feelings we are so familiar ; aud
this is ow^ng to his interesting autobiography, in wliicli

he records his transgressions with so much candour, and
his repentance with so much sincerity, and his friendships

with such warmth, that the reader is led involuntarily to

regard him as a personal friend. ad.
Humayoon succeeded his father in 1530, at the age of l Joii

twenty-six, and the first act of his reign displayed the

weakness of his character. His brother Camran,
the governor of Cabul and Candahar, refused to " ^''

acknowledge his authority, but he resigned those provinces

to him—adding thereto the Punjab—and thus deprived

himself of the means of recruiting his army with the hardy
mountaineers of Afghanistan, and, as Baber's veterans

died out, was obliged to depend on those whom he could

enlist from his half-subdued subjects in India. In the

third year of his reign he was invoh'ed in hostilities witii

Bahadoor Shah, the wuld king of Guzerat, v/ho had fur-

nished the dethroned family of Lodi with the means of ^O^U

a.ssaiiing him. Bahadoor was defeated, and obliged to take

refuge at the land's-end of Diu, and the whole province
"was occupied by the Mogul troops. Humayoon then pro-

ceeded against Chumpanere, a fortress likewise considered
impregnable, but with 300 troops he climbed a perpen-
dicular rock by means of spikes driven into it, and cap-

tured it at once. He Avas immediately alter recalled to

Agra to arrest the progress of Shere Khan, but was defeated

and expelled from India after a reign of ten years, and a

new dynasty mounted the throne.

Shere Khan was an Afghan of noble parentage, born
at Sasserara, in Behar, where his father held a
jageer under the governor. He enlisted as a nyimsty of

private soldier under the revolted viceroy of ^^'"^^ '^^^^'
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Jounpore, but cultivated his mind with great assiduity

and educated himself for a future career of ambition. A
long series of adventures, ended in his obtaining posses-

A.D. sion of Behar, and invading Bengal, and it was to oppose
1536 his alarming progress that Humayoon was recalled from

Guzerat. He marched down upon him, but wasted six

months in the siege of Chunar, which was at length cap-

tured by the powerful artillery of Humayoon manned by
Portuguese gunners and directed by Roomy Khan, a Turk
of Constantinople, whom he had brought with him from
Guzerat. Meanwhile Shere Kian had defeated the king
of Bengal and captured Gour, but not deeming himself

sufficiently strong to resist the imperial troops he retired

to the mountain region of Behar and deposited his family

and his treasures in the stronger fortress of Rhotas.
1538 The emperor took possession of Gour, but when the rains

set in, the delta of the Ganges became a sheet of water,

and his army was isolated and decimated by sickness and
desertion. Shere Khan then issued from his fastnesses,

took possession of Behar and Benares, recovered Chunar,
and pushed his detachments up to Cunouge. Humayoon
was obliged to retreat towards his capital, but was inter-

cepted and defeated, and Shere Khan assumed the im-

Defeat of perial title. Humayoon at length reached Agra
Humayoon. after his defeat, and employed eight months in

recruiting his force, while his rival was employed in

organising the provinces he had conquered. The two
armies met at Cunouge, where the emperor experienced a
second and more fatal defeat, and fled first to Delhi, and

1540 then to Lahore ; thus at the end of fourteen years, the
power which the energy and perseverance of Baber had
established was subverted, and scarcely a vestige of Mogul
sovereignty remained in India, while the throne of Delhi

reverted to the Afghans. Humayoon fled to Sinde and
was engaged for eighteen months in fruitless negotiations

with its chiefs. He then threw himself on the kindness of

the Rajpoot prince of Marwar, but was nidely repulsed

. from his court and pursued with an armed force by his son.

The wretched emperor, after sufiering incredible hardships

in crossing the desert, at length succeeded in reaching

Amercote with only seven mounted attendants ; and there

his queen, who had nobly shared with him the torments of

the journey, gave birth to a son, afterwards the illustrious

1542 Akbar. After another series of reverses, he quitted India

and repaired to Candahar.
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Leaving Humayoon across the Indus, we turn to the a.d.

career of Shere Shah, who mounted the throne and esta- 1540

bHshed a new dynasty, which however did not g, ,

last more than sixteen years. In 1542 he con-

quered the province of Malwa, and reduced the great

fortress of Raiseen, of boundless antiquity. Here his repu-

tation was tarnished by the only stain ever attached to it.

The garrison capitulated on terms, but the Mahomedan
doctors assured him that, according to the doctrines of the

Koran, no faith was to be kept with unbelievers, and they

were slain to a man. In 1544 he invaded Marwar, which was 1544

defended by 50,000 Rajpoots, and he was exposed to such

peril, that, in allusion to the barrenness of the country, he
exclaimed that " he had nearly lost the empire for 'a

" handful of millet." Soon after, the capture of Chittore

placed Rajpootana at his feet, and he then proceeded to

attack Callinger, an ancient and strong fort in Bundlecund,
but was killed by the explosion of a magazine. The five

years of his reign form the most brilliant period in native 1545

history. He was equally qualified for the duties of war
and of peace—a consummate general, and a libei'al and
enlightened statesman. Though incessantly engaged in the

field, he reformed every branch of the civil administration
;

and of his institutions it is sufficient to say that they
became the model of those of Akbar. He constructed a
grand trunk road, lined with trees, from Bengal to the

banks of the Indus, erected caravanseries, and excavated
wells for the convenience of travellers ; he was, moreover,
the first prince to establish a mounted post. His second
son Selim, after quelling a dangerous rebellion, was enabled
to enjoy the throne in peace for nine years, indulging his

hereditary taste for architecture. It was the profligacy of
his brother and successor, known in history as Adili, which
at length extinguished this short-lived dynasty. Having
exhausted the treasury, he began to resume the estates of
his Patau nobles, who went one by one into rebellion, and
established five independent authorities, and nothing was 1544

at length left to the crown but the districts immediately
around Delhi.

To turn to the career of Humayoon. He proceeded from
India to Candahar, but was driven from it by the hostility of
his brother, and constrained to seek refuge at the Eestoration

court ofPersia, wherehe was subject to all the mor- ^^ Hmnu.

tifications a capricious despot could inflict. He was
^°°"*

even constrained to undergo the indignity ofputting on the

E

II
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A.n. Kuzzilbash, or red cap ofthe Persians, and it was " proclaimed
1544 " jjy a triumphal flourish from the king's band." After re-

peated importunity, he was furnished with 14,000 horse for

the conquest of Afghanistan, but only on condition of

ceding the frontier provinces to the king. Candahar was cap-

tured after a siege of five raonths, and made over to the

Persian prince who had accompanied him to receive posses-

sion of it. On his death Humayoon put a large portion

of the Persian garrison to the sword—an act of perfidy which
has left an indelible blot on his memory. He then marched
to Cabul, and after various severe struggles succeeded in

1553 wresting it from his brothers, one of whom he deprived of

sight, with excruciating torture. The increasing confusion

in" India led him to make a bold stroke to recover his

throne. He crossed the Indus and encountered the for-

midable army of Secunder Soor, who had seized the

Punjab on the dissolution of the imperial authority, and
gained a complete victory. It was in this battle that the

young Akbar earned his spurs. Humayoon hastened to

Delhi, and remounted the throne which he had lost fifteen

1555 years before, but was not destined to enjoy it long. Six

months afterwards, while descending the steps of his

library, he heard tlie muezzin's call to prayer, and, as

usual, stopped to repeat the creed, and then sat down ; but
on endeavouring to rise, the staff on which he leaned

slipped over the polished steps, and he fell headlong over

1556 the parapet, and expired within four days, in the forty-

ninth year of his age, and, including the period of his

exile, the twenty-sixth year of his reign.

Akbar, the pride and ornament of the Mogul dynasty,

was only thirteen years and three months of age when he

Akbar's '^^^ Called to the throne, which he adorned by his
early years, genius for fifty years. He was contemporary with
Queen Elizabeth, his reign having begun two years before,

and ended two years after hers. The administration was
managed during his minority by Byram Khan, a Turko-
man, the companion of Humayoon in .all the vicissitudes of

his career, and an eminent statesman and general, but
austere, arrogant, and exceptionally bigoted. Hemu, one of

the greatest commanders of the age, and, though a Hindoo,
most loyal to the deposed emperor Adih, on hearing
of the death of Humayoon, deposited his master at Chunar,
and moved up to the capital with 100,000 men. Agra and
Delhi opened their gates to him, and the ministers of

Akbar entreated him to abandon India, and retire to
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Afghanistan ; but Byram advised an immediate and vigo-

rous attack, and Akbar supported his opinion. The two
armies met at Paniput, and the destiny of India was again ^ ^
decided on that memorable field. Hemu was completely 1556

defeated, and conducted bleeding into the presence of the

young monarch. Byram urged him to secure the religious

merit of slaying an infidel, but he refused to imbrue his

hands in the blood of a gallant and now helpless foe,

and Byram struck ofi* the head of the captive with one stroke

of his scimitar. It was the miKtary talent and the energy
of Byram which had seated the Moguls again on the

,

throne, and maintained Akbar's power ; but the minister

had grown too big for a subject, and for four years after

his accession Akbar felt himself to be a cipher in his own
court. Such bondage was intolerable to a high-spirited

prince, and, at the age of eighteen, he resolved to emanci-

pate himself from it. While out, therefore, on a hunting
party, he suddenly returned to Delhi without his minister,

and issued a proclamation, announcing that he had taken
the government into his own hands, and that no orders

were to be obeyed which did not issue from himself.

Byram felt that his power was waning, and retired to

Nagore, giving out that he was going on pilgrimage to

Mecca, not without the hope of being reinstated, but
Akbar sent him a message dismissing him from all his

offices. He immediately went into revolt, and having raised

an army, attempted an invasion of the Punjab, but was
defeated and captured. As he entered the royal pre-

sence with his turban humbly cast around his neck, and
threw himself at the feet of the prince he had cherished

from the cradle, Akbar hastened to raise him, seated him
on his right hand, and, after investing him with a robe of

honour, ofiered him his choice of any post in the empire.

He preferred a retreat to Mecca, but was assassinated on
the route by an Afghan, whose father he had put to

death.

Akbar was now his.own master at the age of eighteen. 1560

Born amidst hardships, and trained up in adversity, he was
beset with difficulties which would have broken a Akbar-s

spirit of less energy. Of all the Mahomedan difficulties,

dynasties which had ruled India, that of the Moguls was
the weakest. It was not connected with any large and
powerful tribe beyond the Indus, ready to advance and
support the ascendency of its fellow-countrymen in India.

His army was a collection of mercenaries di-awn to his

B 2

ii
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A.D. standard from the various countries of Central Asia by the
1660 iiope of plunder. His officers were a band of adventurers

1567 ^^^"^'i ^ ^"^ ^y ^° *^®^ °^ hereditary loyalty, and more
disposed to carve out principalities for themselves than to

build up a Mogul empire. Before he could attempt to

recover the dominions of the crown, it was necessary for

him to establish his authority over his own chiefs, and for

seven years he was engaged in cmshing their revolts. In
the first year of his reign, his territories were confined to

the Punjab and the districts around Agra and Delhi, but he
gradually recovered Ajmere, Gwalior and Oude. The son of

the late emperorAdili made an attempt to recover his throne

;

he was defeated by Zeman Shah, but the genei-al, despising

the youth of his sovereign, withheld the royal share of

the booty, and Akbar was obhged to take the field against

him. Adam Khan, another general, was sent to expel the

Afghans from Malwa ; but, after defeating them, kept the

fruits of the victory to himself. Akbar marched against

him, but consented to accept his submission, and he re-

quited this lenity by stabbing the vizier while at prayer

in a chamber adjoining that occupied by the emperor, who
thereupon ordered him to be thrown headlong into the

Jumna. Soon after, Abdoolla Khan, a haughty Uzbek,
who had been received with a host of his countrymen into

the Mogul service, " withdrew his neck from the yoke of
" obedience," but Akbar came down upon him with prompti-

tude, and constrained him to fly to Guzerat. Great dis-

satisfaction was thereby created among the Uzbek officers,

and a treasonable confederacy was organised in the

army. One of their number, Asof Jah, was sent to sub-

jugate the httle Hindoo principaHty of Gurra, on the

Nerbudda, near Jubbulpore, then governed by the Princess

Doorgawutee, who was no less renowned for her valour

than for her beauty. She commanded her army in person,

and maintained the conflict with a noble heroism, till she

1564 received a wound in her eye. The troops, missing her

presence, began to give way, when, to avoid falUng into

the hands of the enemy, she seized the stiletto of the

elephant driver, and plunged it into her bosom. Her
martial exploits are still a favourite theme with the bards

of the Deccan. The principaHty was conquered by Asof
Jah, but he appropriated the largest share of the rich

booty to his owu use, and then joined the confederacy,

which now embraced the most considerable of Akbar's

generals. His danger was extreme ; it was no less than a

J
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struggle for the throne, and the question at issue was,

"whether the empire should be Uzbek or Mogul,
q^j^^^^^

His detachments were repeatedly defeated, but Uzbek con-

he maintained the conflict with unflinching reso- ^P^^^^y-

lution for two years. At this critical juncture he was
obliged to quit the pursuit of the Uzbeks, in consequence of

the revolt of his brother, to whom he had entrusted the

government of the Punjab. It was at once crushed, but
on his return to the south he found that the revolted

generals had taken possession of Allahabad and Oude, and
were preparing to march on the capital. Though the

rains had set in, when military operations are usually

suspended in India, he did not hesitate to take the field

against them, and, by his promptitude and vigour, suc-

ceeded at length in breaking up the confederacy. He had
now subdued all his adversaries by his valour, or his

clemency, and, at the age of twenty-five, he had the happi-

ness of seeing his authority completely established over all

the revolted provinces.

With a spirit ofliberality foreign to preceding conquerors,

Baber determined to strengtlien his throne by matrimonial
alliances with the Hindoos. Humayoon had Matrimonial

espoused the daughter of the raja of Jeypore.
^'jth'the

Akbar had likewise married two Rajpoot prin- Eajpoots.

cesses, and his son had followed his example. Ofiices of

great dignity and responsibility were conferred on these

Hindoo princes, and they took a pride in these imperial

alliances. But the orthodox house of Chittore, wrapped up
in its religious exclusiveness and hauteur, disdained every
such connection, and excommunicated those who had
adopted them. The raja had given encouragement to the
king of Malwa, and Akbar was determined to Attack of

chastise him. The throne was at the time CMttore.

occupied by Oody Sing, the degenerate son of the illus-

trious Rana Sunga. He took refuge in the hills on the

approach of the Mogul troops, and left the defence of his

capital to Jeymul, the Rajpoot chief of Bednore, esteemed a.d.

by his countrymen the bravest of the brave. The siege 1568

was protracted by his skill and valour, but he was killed

by a bolt from the bow of Akbar. His death deprived the
garrison of all confidence, and they devoted themselves to

death with the accustomed solemnities. The women threw
themselves on the funeral pyre of the chief, and the men
rushed recklessly on the weapons of the Moguls, and
perished to the number of 8,000.

II
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Akbar's next enterprise was of greater magnitude.
The kingdom of Guzerat, enlarged by the conquests of

Conquest of Bahadoor Shah, had been a prey to faction
Guzerat. since his death in 1637, and four weak and
profligate princes had occupied the throne in thirty-five

years. Etimad Khan, once a Hindoo slave, who managed
the government for Mozuffer the third, seeing no other
mode of terminating the distractions of the country, in-

vited Akbar to take possession of it, and he proceeded to

A.B. Patun, where that feeble monarch resigned the sceptre to
1572 him, and Guzerat was again annexed to the crown of Delhi,

after two centuries and a half of independence. But no
sooner had he returned to his capital with the bulk of his

army, than a turbulent chief of the name of Mirza raised a
new revolt, and the imperial general was reduced to

extremities. The rains had set in, but Akbar was ready
for action at all seasons. He immediately despatched 2,000
cavalry, and followed them with 300 of his own guards,

marching 450 miles in nine days. The promptitude of his

157.3 movements confounded the rebels, and the subjugation of

the province was rendered complete.

The attention of Akbar had been directed to Bengal
while he was engaged in Guzerat. Under the successor

invades
°^ Shere Shah, the Afghan governor of the pro-

Bengal, vinco assumed independence, and four kings of

his line reigned in Bengal during a period of thirty years.

The last was assassinated soon after he ascended the throne,

which was then seized by Soliman, an illustrious Afghan,
who determined on the conquest of Orissa, which was
efiected by his general, Kala-pahar. Soliman died in 1573,
and was succeeded by Daood Khan, a debauchee and a

coward, who, considering himself a match for Akbar, ven-

tured to attack a fort above Ghazeepore. Akbar ordered

an army down for the conquest of the kingdom, and the

king retired to Orissa, where he encountered the Mogul
army, and was defeated, but was allowed to retain the

kingdom as a feudatory. The next year, on the withdrawal
of the imperial troops, he revolted, and was defeated. He
fell in the action, and with him terminated the last line of

1576 the Afghan kings of Bengal, which they had held for a

period of two hundred and thirty-six years. The Mogul
ofiicers seized the jageers of the discomfited Afghans, but
on being summoned to account for the revenues, and to pro-

duce the roll of the troops they were bound to maintain,

they rose in a body, and 30,000 of Akbar's finest cavalry

d



Sect. IV.l CONQUEST OF BENGAL AND OraSSA 55

appeared in arms against him. The new conqnost was lost au.^

for a time, and the spirit of disaffection was spreading ^'^"

througli Oude. In this emergency tlie empei'or, finding

it impossible to trust the fidelity of his Mogul officers, sent

an army of Rajpoots under the celebrated raja, Toder Mull,

to reduce the province. He succeeded in giving a severe

blow to the insurgents, but the war was protracted and the

Afghans of Orissa took advantage of the confusion, and
recovered their footing in the southern districts of BengaL
The great Rajpoot, raja i\Ian Sing, was then despatched to

quell this formidal:)le insurrection, but it was not before

the year 1592, after a dozen engagements and sixteen years 15:)2

of conflict, that the authority of the emperor was fully

establislied in this province.

Two years after the conquest of Bengal, the kingdom of

Orissa was added to the Mogul empire. Orissa had for 1578

twenty centuries been considered the Holy Land conquest of

of India, and the region of pilgrimage under 0"^=*'^-

three successive creeds. I'or more than seven centuries it

was the depository of the sacred tooth of Booddha, until

that relic was removed to Ceylon. Then came the

Hindoo dynasty of the Kesains, who covered it Avith

thousands of temples in honour of Seeva. This was
succeeded by the dynasty of the Gunga-bungsas, who are

believed to have come from the Gangetic province, and who
as.sumed the title of Lords of the Elephant. Their do-

minions covenid 40,000 square miles, and extended from
the banks of the Hooghly to the banks of the Godavery.
They gave the ascendency to the Avorship of Vishnoo, and
although Jugernatli, a form of that god, makes his first

appearance in that land of religious merit early in the

fourth century, it was under the auspices of this dynasty
that the ' Lord of the World ' attained that supreme homage
throughout the continent which he still maintains. The
first sovereign of the line was fourteen years in erecting

the magnificent temple at Pooree, and the resoui'Ces of the

state were exhausted by a succession of princes, in ecclesi-

astical endowments and the support of brahmins. Inroads

"were occasionally made by the Mahomedan rulers of Bengal,
but the Hindoo princes of Oris.sa continued to maintain
their independence with great vigour till the death, in

1532, of the last able monarch of the Gangetic dynasty,

which was followed by a period of anarchy for twenty-four
years, when Soliman, the king of Bengal, sent his general,

Kala-pahar, to invade it. He was a brahmin by birth, but
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had embraced the religion of the Prophet to obtain the
hand of a princess of Gour, and became the unrelenting

oppressor of his former creed. He defeated the raja, and
with him ended the independence of this ancient and re-

nowned kingdom. Kala-pahar persecuted the brahmins
and confiscated the religious endowments which had accu-

mulated during twenty generations of devout monarchs.
He destroyed the idols and pulled down the temples to

erect mosques with the materials, and he dug up the image
of Jugemath from the Chilka lake, into which it had been
thrown for safety, and conveying it to the banks of the

Hooghly, committed it to the flames. According to popular
rumour, the arms and legs of the idols dropped ofi" at the
sound of his kettledrums. Upon the couquest of Bengal,

the king Daood took refuge in Orissa, and was pursued by
the generals of Akbar, and after more than one revolt, was
slain, and Orissa became a province of the Mogul empire,

A.D. A short time previous to this invasion of Bengal by
1560 Akbar, the ancient city of Gour, the metropolis of Bengal,

The city ^^^ depopulated and abandoned. It was admir-
of Gour. ably situated on the confines of Bengal and Behar
for the government of both provinces. It had been the

capital of a hundred kings, who adorned it, more especially

those of the Mahomedan creed, with massive and superb
edifices. It extended along the banks of the river, and
was defended from its encroachments by a stone embank-
ment, said to have been fifteen miles in length. This
magnificent city, the abode of wealth and luxury, was
suddenly prostrated by some pestilence which has never
been explained, and has since been the abode of wild hogs
and tigers.

The next event of importance in the reign of Akbar was
1586 the conquest of Cashmere, by his brother-in-law, the raja

Conquest of of Jeypore. The king, on his submission, was
Cashmere, enrolled among the nobles of the court, and this

noble valley, considered the paradise of Asia, which enjoys

"a delicious chmate, and exhibits in the midst of snowy
"summits a scene of continual verdure," became the summer
residence of Akbar and his successors. The effort to curb the

highlanders between the Indus and the passes into Afghan-
istan, which was next undertaken, proved a more arduous

task. These wild mountaineers had been for ages the

plague of every ruler of the province. They regarded it

as their hereditary vocation to plunder travellers passing

through the defiles, and to levy black mail on the industry of
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the valleys. Akbar sent a strong army under the raja of Jey-

pore to subjugate them, but it was assailed in the passes and
annihilated ; and the Mahomedan historian records The

that of 40,000 horse and foot, scarcely a man re- Ktyberees. ^^
turned. Such wholesale destruction would appear incredible, ^^^^

if we had not witnessed a repetition of it, in the same scenes,

under the British. Government in 1841. The rajas Toder
Mull and Man-sing imposed some restraint on their vio-

lence by the establishment of military posts which cut off

their supplies from the plains ; but th.ey were as trouble-

some as ever a century after in the reign of Aurungzebe. 1591

Soon after, Akbar proceeded to the conquest of Sinde, and
reannexed Candahar to the crown; and thus, sindeand

after a series of conflicts which extended over Candahar.

twenty-five years, he found himself at length undisputed 1 594

master of his hereditary dominions across the Indus, and
of all the territories north of the Nerbudda which had
ever belonged to the imperial throne, and it only remained
for him to extend his authority over the Deccan. A
brief notice of the progress of events in that division of

India during the sixteenth century will be a suitable

introduction to the expedition which the emperor now
undertook.

SECTION V.

AKBAR. INVASION OF THE DECCAN. HIS DEATH.

It has been stated in a previous chapter that five inde-

pendent kingdoms—^Beejapore, Ahmednugur, Golconda,

Beder, and Berar—arose on the ruins of the Bah-
minee kingdom. Beder rarely appears on the ^the^*^'^'*

page of history, and Berar which was never of sixteenth

mnch weight in the politics of the Deccan, was '^^ ^^'

absorbed by Ahmednugur in 1572. The attention of the

kings of Golconda was chiefly directed to the subjugation

of the various Hindoo principalities which lay on its

eastern frontier, and stretched along the Coromandel coast

from Orissa southward. It appears also to have gradually

absorbed the Hindoo state of Telingana, with its capital

at Warungul, which had assumed independence on the fall

of the Bahminee kingdom, Beejapore and Ahmednugur,

I
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which bordered ou each other, were engaged in constant
hostiHty. Within the circle of their territories was in-

cluded the region inhabited by the Mahrattas, which had
formerly belonged to the Hindoo kingdom of Deoghur,
conquered by AUa-ood-deen in 1295 ; and the origin and
growth of their importance is to be attributed primarily to

the training they received in the constant warfare of these

princes. During the sixteenth century the armies of these

two Mahomedan states were constantly recruited by
Mahratta soldiers, sometimes to the extent of 20,000.
There was not as yet any bond of national unity among
them, and they sold their mercenary swords to the highest
bidder, without caring whether their own countrymen
might not be fighting in the opposite ranks.

But the great event of that century was the extinction of

Hindoo power in the Deccan. To the south of the Kistna
Beeja- lay the great Hindoo monarchy of Beejanuger,
nnger. established in 1336, which had maintained a per-

petual conflict with the Bahminee dynasty, and subsequent-
ly with the kingdoms which arose on its decay. In the

early period of the sixteenth century Beejanuger had
attained its greatest extent and power. It was enriched by
maritime commerce ; and all the Hindoo chiefs south of the

Kistna—below which the Mahomedans had no footing

—

were completely under its control, even where they were
not under its government. No single state was able to

cope with it. The reigning raja. Ram-raj, had recently

wrested several districts from Beejapore ; he had overrun
Golconda, laid siege to the capital, and exacted large

concessions from the king. The four Mahomedan kings

—

Beder still existed—felt the necessity of restraining the

growth of his power, and, suspending their mutual jealous-

ies, formed a quadruple alliance against him. It was
nothing less than a conflict between the Hindoos and the

Mahomedans for the supremacy of the Deccan. Although
Ram-raja called up all the strength of his Hindoo feuda-

tories from the south down to its extreme limits, the

eimmeration of his host by Ferishta appears fabulous.

His younger brother is said to have commanded a wing of

the army consisting of 20,000 cavalry, 100,000 foot, and 500
elephants. His second brother had another wing of equal

strength, while the raja himself led the flower of the army.
The confederate force was likewise prodigious, and included

20,000 elephants and 600 pieces of artillery of all calibre.

This important battle, known in history as that of Talli-
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kotta, which lies at a short distance from the Kistna, was a.d.

fought on the 25th January, 1565, and it resulted in the 1565

total defeat of the raja, and the slaughter, as the Mahom-
edan historians boast, of 100,000 infidels. The raja,

seventy years of age, was beheaded in cold blood, and his

head was preserved as a trophy at Beejapore, and annually

exhibited on the anniversary of his death. The Hindoo
power in the south was irretrievably broken, but dissensions

among the victors enabled the brother of the raja to retain

a fraction of his territory, and to establish his court event-

ually at Chundergiree, which has been rendered memorable
in the history of British India as the town, where, seventy

years after the battle of Tallikotta, the descendant of the
raja granted the East India Company the first foot of land

they ever possessed in India, and on which they erected

the factory of Madras.
At the period of Akbar's invasion of the Deccan, the

three Mahomedan princes were those of Beejapore, Gol-

conda, and Abmednugur. This expedition was, . ,

doubtless, dictated by the " lust of territorial views on
" aggrandisement ;" but, if it had been completely ^^^ Deccin.

successful, it would have been an unquestionable blessing

to the country, Nothing could be more deplorable than
the condition of the Deccan at this period. Its various

kings had no occupation but war, aggressive war without
even the excuse of provocation. Scarcely a year passed in

which villages were not desolated, and the fair fruits of

industry blasted by their mutual hostilities ; and the sub-

stitution of a single authority, even though despotic, was
a real godsend. On the death of Boorhan Nizam Shah,

the king of Ahmednugur, four factions arose in the state,

the most powerful of which sent an invitation to Akbar,
which he accepted at once ; but, before the force which he
despatched could reach the capital, another revolution

placed the government in the hands of Chand „ ^

Sultana, the aunt of the minor raja. This cele- smtana of

brated woman, the favourite heroine of the ^^' 1595

Deccan, and the subject of a hundred ballads,

determined to defend the city to the last extremity. The
Moguls had constructed three mines, two of which she

countermined ; the third blew up, leaving a large opening
in the wall, and her oflBcers prepared to desert the defence.

The sultana flew to the spot fully armed, with a drawn
sword in her hand, and a veil over her face. Combustibles
of every description were thrown into the breach, and so

I
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heavy a fire was directed npon it, ttat the assailants were
constrained to retire. It is a popular and cherished tra-

dition that, when the shot was exhausted, she charged the

guns with copper, then with silver, and lastly with gold.

Her allies were now approaching, and the Mogul camp was
The sultana Straitened for provisions. Morad, the son of

A.D.
*^^^* Berar.

_^]5;i3ar, offered to retire upon the cession of Berar,

1596 and the sultana, who placed little confidence in her own
troops, reluctantly accepted these terms. Within a year the

kings of Ahmednugur, Grolconda, and Beejapore formed a
league to drive the Moguls out of the Deccan, and brought

60,000 troops into the field. An action was fought at

Soniput, which lasted two days without any decisive result.

Discord broke out among the Mogul officers, and Akbar,
1599 who had resided for fourteen years near the Indus, felt the

necessity of proceeding to the Deccan in person. He
advanced to the Nerbudda, and sent his son Morad to lay

siege to Ahmednugur. The government of Chand Sultana

was in a more disturbed state than ever, and, seeing defence

hopeless, she felt the necessity of negotiating a peace with
the Moguls, when the soldiery, instigated by her enemies,

Hertri^o burst into her chamber, and put her to death,
death. ijij^g

^^^^ ^^^ stormed and plundered, and the

1600 young king and the royal family were sent prisoners to

Gwalior ; but the kingdom was not incorporated with the

Mogul territories till thirty-seven years later.

This was the last political event of any importance in the

IGOI reign of Akbar, who returned to the capital in 1601. The
Last four last four years of his life were embittered by the

Atba^s misconduct of his eldest son Selim, a violent and
life. vindictive prince, and the slave of wine. He took
up arms against his father, but was conciliated by a grant of

the provinces of Bengal and Oi-issa. He had contracted an
inveterate dislike of Abul Fazil, one of the most illustrious

and esteemed of the emperor's officers, equally eminent as

a general, a statesman, and a historian, to whose classic pen
his reign is indebted, in no small degree, for its lasting

renown. Selim caused him to be assassinated by a zemin-
dar of Bundlecund. In September 1605, Akbar began to

feel the approach of death. The profligacy of Selim had
induced an influential body of courtiers to contemplate the

elevation of a younger son to the throne, but Akbar
assembled them around his dying couch, and in their pre-

sence ordered Selim to gird his own scimitar to his side,

as a token of the bequest of the empire. Then, addressing
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the assembled omrahs, he asked forgiveness for whatever
offence he might have given them, and, after repeating tne

Moslem confession of faith, expired in the odour Death of

of sanctity, though lie had lived the life of a ^^^^-
^ j,

heretic. He died at the age of sixty-three, after a reign of 16C£

forty-nine years.

Akbar is described as " a strongly built and handsome
" man, with an agreeable expression of countenance, and
" very captivating manners." He was not only the character

pride of the Mogul dynasty, but incomparably the °^ -^bar.

greatest of all the Mahomedan rulers of India. Few of these

princes have ever exhibited greater military talent or per-

sonal courage. He never fought a battle which he did not

win, or besiege a town which he did not take. Yet he had
no passion for war ; and he had no sooner turned the tide

of victory by his skill and energy, than he left his com-
manders to complete the work, and hastened back to the

more congenial labours of the cabinet. The glory of his

reign rests not so much on the extent of his conquests, as

on the admirable institutions by which they were consoli-

dated and improved. In the early part of his career he
was a devout follower of the Prophet, and, at one time,

contemplated a pilgrimage to his tomb, the earnest longing

of every Mahomedan. But, about the twenty-fifth year of

his reign, he began to entertain latitudinarian views. Re-
jecting all prophets, priests, and ceremonies, he professed

to take simple reason as his guide. The formula of his

creed seems to have been :
" There is no god but God, and

" Akbar is his CaKph." Yet with all his scepticism, he was
not without a touch of superstition, of which he afforded

an instance by the awe and veneration with which he adored
the image of Jesus Christ and the Virgin, when shown to

him by the Roman Catholic missionaries. The tendency of

his measures was to discourage Mahomedanism. He changed
the era of the Hegira ; he restrained the study of Arabic,

and of Mahomedan theology, and wounded the dearest pre-

judices of the faithful by prohibiting the beard, though it

was enjoined by the Koran. Nothing but the ascendency
of his character, and his brilliant success in war and in

peace, could have preserved his throne amidst the discon-

tents occasioned by these heterodox proceedings. Amidst
a people with whom the persecution of infidels was regarded
as a sacred duty, he adopted the principle, not only of
religious toleration, but of religious equality, and deter-

mined to rest the strength of his throne upon the attach-

I
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ment of all his subjects. He secured the loyalty of the

Hindoos by inviting them to share the highest civil oflBces

and military commands with those of his own creed. He
abolished the jezzia, the odious capitation tax inflicted on
unbelievers, rescinded the pilgrim tax, sanctioned the

marriage of Hindoo widows, and positively prohibited

suttees.

Under the supervision of the Hindoo raja, Toder Mull,

the great financier of the age, he remodelled the whole

His revenue revenue system of the empire, and thus brought
settlement, ^q maturity the great plans which Shere Shah
in his brief reign of five years had inaugurated. The
lands were measured according to a uniform standard, and
divided into three classes according to their character and
fertility. The demand of the state was fixed, generally, at

one-third the produce, and then commuted into money.
The settlement was made with the ryots, to the exclusion

of all middle-men, and all arbitrary cesses were abolished.

The whole empire was divided into fifteen provinces or

soobahs, each of which was placed under the authority of a

soobadar. He was entrusted with fall powers, civil, military

and financial, and assisted by a military commander and
finance minister, who were accountable to him, though nomi-
nated by the crown. Akbar's military system was the least

perfect of the departments of the state, and was enfeebled by
paying the commanders for their men by the head, which
created an irresistible temptation to present false musters,

and to fill the ranks with vagabonds. The same organisa-

tion which pervaded the state establishments was intro-

duced into every division of the court, and the whole was
regulated, to the minutest detail, by the emperor himself.

Every department was maintained upon a scale of imperial

Splendour of magnificence, of which there had been no exam-
his court. pjg since the estabhshment of the Mahomedan
power in India. During his progress through the country
his camp was a moving city, and the eye was dazzled by
the splendid tents of his ministers and officers, and more
especially by the royal tents, blazing with ornaments and
surmounted with gilt cupolas. A taste for literature was
difiused through his court. Translations were made under
his directions from the Hindoo classics, and his accom-
plished courtier, Fiezi, was directed to make a correct

version of the Evangelists.
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CHAPTER III.

SECTION I.

REIGN OF JEHANGEER.

On the death of Akbar, Selim stepped into the throne and *•»

assumed the title of Jehangeer, the Conqueror of the World. ^^^5

The great empire to which he succeeded was in a Accession of

state of profound tranquillity, not disturbed by Jehangeer.

any insubordination among the public officers nor by foreign

aggression. His firstmeasures werejudiciousand benevolent.
He confirmed most of his father's ministers in their posts,

remitted some vexatious taxes which had survived his

father's reforms, and made arrangements for giving easy

access to the complaints of his subjects. He likewise re-

placed the Mahomedan creed on the coin, and manifested

a superstitious obedience to the precepts of the Koran.
But the quiet of the realm was speedily interrupted by the

rebellion of his son, Khosroo, to whom he had always ex- 16O6

hibited a feeling of strong antipathy. The unhappy youth
fled to the Punjab, and collected a force of 10,000 men,
but was pursued and captured, when the emperor exhibited

the brutahty of his disposition by causing 700 of his

adherents to be impaled alive, while Khosroo was de-

liberately carried along the line to witness their agonies.

The event which exercised the greatest influence on the

reign of Jehangeer was his marriage with Noor Jehan,

contracted in the sixth year of his reign. This
^^

celebrated princess was the daughter of a Persian
noble, who had been reduced to poverty, and, following the

current stream of emigration, proceeded to India to repair

his fortunes. During the journey his wife gave birth to a
daughter, under very distressing circumstances. A mer-
chant, who happened to be travelling on the same route,

ofi'ered them timely assistance, and conveyed them in his

own train to the capital. He took the father into his

service, and eventually introduced him to the Court of

I
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Akbar, where lie rose to considerable eminence. As the
daughter grew up, she received all the accomplishments
which the metropolis of the empire could provide, and
attracted admiration by her exquisite beauty and elegance.

In the harem of Akbar, which she visited with her mother,
she excited the passion of prince Selim ; but as she had
been already betrothed to a young and gallant Persian
noble, who had acquired the title of Shere Afghan, from
having killed a tiger in single combat, the marriage was
completed by the orders of the emperor, and a jageer in

the distant province of Bardwan was bestowed on him, to

withdraw his wife from the capital. But Jehangeer had no
sooner mounted the throne than he determined to remove
every obstacle to the gTatification of his wishes, and the

noble Persian perished in an affray which was not believed

to be accidental. His lovely widow was conveyed to the

capital, and the emperor offered to share his throne with
her ; but she rejected his advances with such disdain as to

disgust Jehangeer, and she was consigned to neglect in

the harem. Reflection served to convince her of her folly,

jj^ n and she contrived to ttrow herself in his way and to re-

1611 kindle his passion. The nuptials were celebrated with ex-

Hermar- traordinary pomp, and she was clothed with
riagewith honours such as no princess bad ever enjoyed

before in India. Her name was associated with
the emperor's on the coin, and announced in these gracefnl

terms :
" By order of Jehangeer, gold acquired a hundred-

" fold value by the name of Noor Jehan." Her talents for

business were not inferior to her personal charms, and her
influence was beneficial in softening the emperor's dispo-

sition, and producing that reformation in his habits which
marked the early years of his reign. Her taste imparted
grace to the splendour of the court, while, at the same
time, she curtailed its extravagance. Her brother was
raised to high office, and her father placed at the head of

the administration, which he managed with great ability.

The capture of Ahmednugur and the murder of Chand
Sultana did not ensure the conquest of the kingdom. A
kinsman of the late king was placed on the throne by
Malik Amber, the chief of the Abyssinian nobles of the

court. He holds the foremost rank in the history of the

1610 Deccan monarchies as a statesman and general of surpass-

ing ability. He took entire charge of the administration,

and maintained the sinking fortunes of the state for many
years with singular energy. Planting himself on the
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borders of the Deccan, he repeatedly drove the Moguls
across the Nerbudda. Two powerful armies were sent by
Jehangeer into the Deccan ; one was completely baffled by
MaKk's peculiar mode of warfare, and obliged to retreat,

and the other was too disheartened by this event to advance ^d,
far. His artillery, which was obtained from the Portuguese 1612

in his ports, was greatly superior to that of the imperial

army. He availed himself, moreover, of the contingents of

the Mahratta chieftains, which served to foster and to ma-
ture their military power, and it was under his banner that

Shahjee, the father of Sevajee, laid the foundation of the

greatness of his family. Malik Amber had no natural

passion for miUtary enterprises, though his success in the

field has seldom been surpassed. It was his attention to

the duties of peace on which his renown rests, and his

revenue settlements rival those of the raja Toder Mull.

Jehangeer's failure in the Deccan was counter- subjugation

balanced by his success in Rajpootana. Pertab °^ Oodypore.

Sing, the rana of Oodypore, who is still idolized by his

countrj-men for the heroism with which he repelled the

Moguls and eventually regained the provinces they had
conquered, was succeeded by his son Omrah, who, though
equally valliant, was not equally fortunate. He was attack-

ed by Shah Jehan, the favourite and the gallant son of

Jehangeer, and obliged to acknowledge his fealty to the

empire. The independence of Oodypore, which had been
maintained for eight centuries, was virtually extinguished, 1614

for although Shah Jehan, himself of Rajpoot blood on the

mother's side, generously restored the territories he had
conquered to the fallen rana, it was only as the vassal of

the emperor of Delhi.

The tenth year of the reign of Jehangeer was rendered
memorable by the arrival of Sir Thomas Roe, as the

ambassador of James I., to solicit privileges sir Thomas 161&
for the East India Company. The result of his ^**®*

embassy will be stated in its place hereafter. Here it may
be sufficient to remark that he was fascinated with the
oriental magnificence of the court, which completely eclipsed

the tinsel pomp of his own master ; but he saw little

comfort among the people, who were ground down by
extortion. The emperor dispensed justice daily in person,

but retired in the evening to his cups, which he seldom
quitted before his reason was obscured. The different

governments were farmed out ; the courtiers were uni-

versally corrupt, and militaiy discipline was relaxed. There

I
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was a large influx of Europeans at the court ; one of the

<?mperor's nephews had embraced Christianity, and the

emperor himself had an image of Christ in his rosary.

j^D. Shah Jehan, the emperor's gallant son, who was married

1615 to the niece of Noor Jehan was now declared heir apparent,

Shah Jehan ^^^ Sent in the following year to invade the
hfcir Deccan. The prosperity of Malik Amber had
apparen

.

cpea^^ejj ^ feeling of envy at the court, and he

was still farther weakened by the desertion of the king
of Beejapore. He was constrained, therefore, to cede to

Shah Jehan the fortress of Ahmednugur, as well as all

the conquests he had made from the Moguls. Within four

years he renewed the war, and drove the imperial troops

across the Taptee. Shah Jehan was again selected to

1620 command the army, and the usual success attended his

arms. Malik Amber was deserted by his own officers,

and obliged to purchase peace by a large sacrifice of territory

and treasure.

Just at this juncture Khosroo, the brother of Shah Jehan,

1621 died, and his own misfortunes began. Noor Jehan had be-

intrigues of stowed herdaughter by ShereAfghan on Shahriar,
Noor Jehan.

^^^q youngest SOU of the emperor, and, in the

hope ofretaining her power under his weak administration,

determined to secure the reversion of the throne for him
To remove Shah Jehan out of the way, she persuaded
Jehangeer to employ his great military talents in recovering

Candahar from the Persians, who had recently conquered
it. Shah Jehan was fully aware of the danger of quitting

India, and began to stipulate for securities. His request

was pronounced treasonable; all his jageers were confiscated,

1622 and he was driven into revolt, and Mohabet, the most
eminent of the imperial commanders, was directed to pro-

ceed against him. After a partial and indecisive action

in Rajpootana, Shah Jehan injudiciously retreated to the

Deccan, where he arrived with the loss of his prestige.

Malik Amber and the kings of Beejapore and Golconda
refused him any assistance ; his own troops began to desert

his standard, and he retired to Telingana. On reaching

1624 Masulipatam, he marched along the coast up to Bengal,

and, having taken possession of that province as well as of

Behar, advanced towards Allahabad. Mohabet, who had
lost sight of him, on hearing of his progress, hastened from
the south to the banks of the Ganges, and Shah Jehan was
obliged a second time to fly to the Deccan, but was pursued
with such vigour that, seeing his fortunes desperate, he
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sought reconciliation with his father, for which he was
obliged to give his two sons as hostages.

A new scene now opens in this drama. Mohabet, the
j^ ^

greatest subject in the empire, and the prime favourite 162.'»

of the emperor, manifested no disposition to j. j^^^ ,

second the wishes of Noor Jehan, and raise her persecution

son-in-law, a prince devoid of energy or ability, °^ Mohabet.

to the throne, and she resolved on his destruction, A charge

of embezzlement during his last expedition was trumped
up against him, and he was summoned to the court to

answer it. He came, but with a body of 5,000 Rajpoots.

He had recently betrothed his daughter to a young noble-

man, without having first obtained the usual consent of the

emperor. Jehangeer summoned the youth into his pre-

sence, and, in a fit of brutal rage, ordered him to be stripped

naked and scourged with thorns before the courtiers. Moha-
bet perceived that his ruin was determined on, and resolved

to strike the first blow. The emperor was then on his way
to Cabul, and was encamped on the Hydaspes, which the
army crossed in the morning on a bridge. The emperor
had not recovered from the debauch of the previous night,

and remained behind with a slender guard, when Mohabet
proceeded to his tent, and seized his person,

-j^ -u h9t
Seeing himself helpless, he submitted to mount seizes the

an elephant, together with his cupbearer and his ^^'P^ror.

goblet, and to proceed to Mohabet's tent.

Noor Jehan crossed the river in disguise the next morn-
ing, and joined the army which she led to the rescue of the

emperor; but the Rajpoots had broken down the Noor Jehan

bridge, and she advanced at the head of her troops rescues him.

to a ford which had been discovered, mounted on a large

elephant, and fully armed. The struggle was long and
deadly. In spite of all her efforts, her troops were precipi-

tated into the stream by the shower of balls, rockets, and
arrows which Mohabet's Rajpoots discharged from their

vantage ground. Her elephant was assailed with particular

violence, and of the numerous missiles aimed at her, one at

length struck the infant son of her daughter, whom she

carried in her lap. The ford became a scene of universal

confusion. The elephant driver was killed, and the elephant

was wounded and borne down the stream back to the

opposite bank. Her female attendants hastened to the spot,

and found the howda, or seat, covered with blood, and the

empress employed in binding up the wound of the infant.

Noor Jehan yielded to necessity, and joined the emperor
f2

II
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in his captivity, and affected to be reconciled to Mohabet,
who had assumed the command of the army, and marched
on to Cabul. There the fertile genius of the empress was
employed in cajoling Mohabet and throwing him off his

A.D. guard, while, by a series of skilful manoeuvres, she gradually,

1626 and without observation, assembled a body of troops. See-

ing his position becoming daily less secure, Mohabet was
led to make her offers of submission. She agreed to con-

done his revolt on condition that he should proceed in

pursuit of Shah Jehan, who had fled to Sinde. Mohabet
dreaded a reign of weakness under Shahriar, and resolved

to join Shah Jehan ; and I^oor Jehan, on hearing of this

defection, ordered him to be hunted through the empire,

and set a price on his head. But all her plans of ambition
were at once extinguished by the death of the emperor.
After his liberation, he proceeded from Cabul to Cashmere,
but his constitution was exhausted by a life of indulgence

;

Death of he was seized with a violent fit ofasthma, and died
jehangeer. ^^ j^jg ^^y ^o Lahore, ou the 28th October, 1627,

1627 in the sixtieth year of his age, and the twenty-second
of his reign. He was contemporary with James the First of

England. Not only were their reigns of the same duration,

but there was a remarkable similarity in their characters.

They were both equally weak and contemptible, both the

slaves of favourites and drink ; and by a singular coinci-

dence, they both launched a royal decree against the use of

tobacco, then recently introduced into England and India,

and in both cases with equal success.

SECTION" II.

SHAH JEHAN AND AUEUNGZEBB.

1627 On the death of Jehangeer, Asof Khan, one of the chief

ministers of the cabinet, the brother of Noor Jehan, though

Accession of ^^ owed his position to her influence, determined,
Shah Jehan. from a patriotic motive, to support Shah Jehan,

and invited him to the capital, while at the same time he
placed the empress under restraint. Her power expired

with the death of her husband, and she retired from the

world upon an annuity of twenty lacs a year, and passed

the remaining twenty years of her life in cherishing his
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memory. SLah Jehan was proclaimed emperor at Agra,

and rewarded the instruments of his elevation—Asof Khan
and Mohabet—with oflBces of the highest dignity. His

reign was distinguished by a passion for magnificence, ^.d.

which was developed on the very first anniversary of his 1627

accession, when he was weighed against silver and gold

and precious substances ; vessels filled with jewels were

waved over his head—^from the superstitious notion of

averting misfortune—and then scattered on the floor for a

general scramble. The expense of this festival was com-

puted at a crore and a half of rupees.

The first ten years of his reign were occupied with

military operations in the Deccan. The genius of Malik

Amber had restored much of its former splendour -y^ars in the

to the kingdom of Ahmednugur, but he had Deccan.

recently died at the age of eighty, and the country was
distracted by factions. The king of Beejapore, Ibrahim

Adil Shah, renowned for the grandeur of his buildings,

had died alDout the same time, bequeathing to his successor

a flourishing country and an army, reported, not without

exaggeration, at 80,000 horse and upwards of 200,000

infantry, sufficiently powerful to cope for years with the

whole strength of the Mogul empire. The king of Gol-

conda was employed in extending his authority over his

Hindoo neighbours to the east and the south. These three

Deccan monarchies had recovered their former limits, and
of all the conquests made by Akbar nothing remained
to the crown of Delhi but the eastern portion of Candesh
and Berar. The war in the Deccan on which Shah Jehan
entered in the second year of his reign, was occasioned by
the revolt of Jehan Lodi, an Afghan adventurer of low birth, 1628

but great courage and enterprise, who had commanded the

imperial troops in the Deccan, iDut was disliked and mis-

trusted by the emperor. Suspecting some sinister designs

on his part, he marched out of his palace at Agra at the

head of 2,000 of his veteran Afghans, with his kettledrums
beating a note of defiance, and fought his way to the
Deccan, where he was joined by many adherents, and
supported by the king of Ahmednugur. The revolt

became so serious that Shah Jehan ordered three armies
into the field and proceeded in person to the Deccan. The
king of Ahmednugur was defeated. Jehan Lodi sought
aid of the king of Beejapore and was refused, and he then
endeavoured to make his way to Afghanistan, but was
brought to bay in Bundleeund, where he fell pierced with

I
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wounds, after having performed prodigies of valour at

the head of 400 men who adhered to his fortunes to the

last,

Moorteza Nizam, of Ahmednugur, after his defeat, had
fallen out with his minister Futteh Kian, the son and

Extincti
successor of Malik Amher, and imprisoned him,

of Ahmed- but, when threatened with disorder and ruin on
nngur.

^y[ sides, restored him to power. The ungratelnl

A.D. Abyssinian rewarded his kindness by putting him and his

1630 chief adherents to death, and then, after placing an infant

on the throne, offered his submission to the emperor. But
Shahjee, the Mahratta chief, who had risen to great import-
ance under Malik Amber, found himself strong enough to

set up a new pretender to the throne, and obtained posses-

sion of the greater portion of the country. The Deccan
Avas thus as far from being subjugated as ever, and Shah
Jehan deemed it necessary to undertake another expedition

1637 in person. Shahjee was driven from Ahmednugur, and
the whole force of the empire was brought to bear on
Beejapore, the king of wluch had made common cause

with Ahmednugur, and now maintained a struggle of five

years with the imperial ganerals. To baffle their efforts, he
created a desert for more than twenty miles round his capi-

tal, destroying every particle of food and every vestige of

forage. Both parties became at length weary of this war,

and listened to terms of accommodation. The result of

this conflict of eight years may be thus briefly summed up :

the kingdom of Ahmednugur was extinguished, after a
century and a half of independence ; a portion of it was
ceded to Beejapore for a tribute of twenty lacs a year,

and the remainder absorbed in the Mogul dominions,

while the king of Golconda consented to pay an annual

subsidy.

1637 Shah Jehan was soon after gladdened by the recovery

of Candahar, Ali Merdan, the governor under the Persians,

„ , ^ was driven into revolt by the tyranny of his
Candahar . , , jix j ^
andAU Sovereign, and made over the t,own ana terri-
Merdan. ^qj^ j-q ^|jg Moguls. He was taken into the ser-

vice of Shah Jehan, and employed in many military

expeditions beyond the Indus, but his fame rests on the

pubHc works he constructed iu India, and more especially,

on the noble canal near Delhi, which still preserves the

grateful remembrance of his name. After several years of

repose, the emperor determined to prosecute the dormant
claims of his family on the distant regions of Balkh and
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Budukshan, and he proceeded to Cabul. AH Merdan and
Morad, the emperor's son, reduced Balkh, but it was im-

mediately after overrun by the Uzbeks. Raja Juggut Sing

was then sent with 14,000 B-ajpoots, andthey manifested their

loyalty to a just and tolerant government by crossing the

Indus, in spite of their Hindoo prejudices, traversing the

lofty passes of the Hindoo Coosh, constructing redoubts by
their own labour—the raja himself taking an axe like the

rest—and encountering the fiery valour of the Uzbeks in

that snowy region. Aurungzebe, the emperor's third son,

was subsequently sent there, but, after gaining a great victory

was obliged to retreat in the depth of winter, and with the

loss of the greater part of his army ; after which the em-
peror had the moral courage to relinquish this ill-advised

enterprise.

Two years after, the king of Persia, marched down on a.d.

Candahar, and recaptured it, and Aurungzebe was directed 1647

to recover it, but was obliged to retire after having in vain
besieged it four months ; a second expedition led by him,
and a third by his brother Dara, were equally unsuccessful.

These failures were followed by two years of tranquillity, 1653

during which Shah Jehan completed the revenue settle- ^"

ment of the possessions he had acquired in the Deccan. ^ ^^5

The year 1655 marks an important era in the history of
Mahomedan India ;—the renewal of the war in the Deccan,
which continued for fifty years to exhaust the „ , ^

resources of the Mogul empire, and hastened its the war in

downfall. During the eighteen years of peace tiie Deccan.

which followed the treaty made with Ibrahim Adil Shah,
the king of Beejapore, he had devoted his attention to the

construction of those splendid palaces, mausoleums, and
mosques by which his reign was distinguished, and to the

conquest of the petty Hindoo chiefs in the south. The
king of Golconda had punctually paid his subsidy, and
manifested every disposition to cultivate the favour of the

emperor. The Deccan was tranquil, but in an evil hour
Aurungzebe was appointed viceroy, and resolved to efface

the disgrace of his repulse from Candahar by the subjuga-
tion of its two remaining kingdoms. An unexpected event
gave him the desired pretext. Meer Joomla, born of indi-

gent parents at Ispahan, had repaired to Golconda, and
amassed prodigious wealth in commerce and maritime
enterprises. He was taken into the service of the king,

and, having risen to the office of vizier by his extraordinary
talents, led the armies to the southern provinces of the
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Deccan, and established the royal authority over many of

the Hindoo chieftains. While absent on one of these ex-

peditions his son incurred the displeasure of the king, and
Meer Joomla, unable to obtain any consideration from him,
determined to throw himself on the protection of the

Moguls.
Aurungzebe was but too happy to take up the quarrel

;

and, with the permission of his father, sent a haughty

Anranff-
mandate to the king to grant redress to the

zebe's pro- youth, to which the king replied by placing him

rtBD^:^. ^ confinement and confiscating all the estates

of the family. Shah Jehan ordered his son to

enforce compliance with his command by the sword,

and he advanced to Hyderabad, now become the capital of

the kingdom, with the most friendly assurances. The king
was preparing a magnificent entertainment for his recep-

tion, when he was treacherously attacked and obliged to

seek refuge in the hill fort of Golconda. Hyderabad was
plundered and half burnt, and the king was constrained to

submit to the humiliating terms imposed on him of bestow-

ing his daughter on one of Aurungzebe's sons with a rich

A.D. dowry, and paying a crore of rupees as the first instalment

1656 of an annual tribute; but the emperor, who had a con-

science, remitted a considerable portion of it. Aurungzebe
now prepared for a wanton attack on Beejapore. A pretext

was found in the assertion that the youth who had recently

succeeded to the throne wasnot the real issue of the late king,

and that to the emperor belonged the right of deciding the

succession. Aurungzebe suddenly burst upon the territory

His attack while the bulk of the army was absent in the
on Beeja- Carnatic ; two important forts were captured,
^^'

and the capital was invested. The king was
obliged to sue for peace on reasonable terms, which were
peremptorily refused, and the extinction of the dynasty
appeared inevitable, when an event occurred in the north

which gave it a respite of thirty years. News came posting

down to the Deccan that Shah Jehan was at the point of

death, and that the contest for the empire had begun ; and
1657 Aurungzebe was obliged to hasten to the capital to look

after his own interests.

Shah Jehan had four sons. Dara, the eldest, had been

declared his heir and entrusted vrith a share of the

ShahJehan's government. He possessed great talents for
sons. government, and an air of regal dignity ; he was
brave and frank, but haughty and rash. Soojah, the second,
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though addicted to pleasure, had been accustomed to civil

and military command from his youth, and was at this

time viceroy of Bengal, which he had governed with no little

ability and success for twenty years. Aurungzebe, the third,

was the ablest and most ambitious, as well as the most
subtle of the family. Morad, the youngest, though bold

and generous, was little better than a sot. Dara was a

freethinker of Akbar's school. Aurungzebe was a fierce

bigot, and courted the suffrage of the orthodox by repro-

bating the infidelity of Dara. The claims of primogeniture

had always been vague and feeble in the Mogul dynasty,

and were, moreover, always subordinate to the power of

the sword. When therefore four brothers, each with an
army at his command, aspired to the throne, a conflict was
inevitable.

Soojah was the first in the field, and advanced from a.d.

Bengal towards Delhi. Morad, the viceroy of Guzerat, seized 1 657

the public treasury and assumed the title of soojah takes

emperor. Aurungzebe extorted a large sum t*ie field.

from the king of Beejapore, and moved northward to unite

his fortunes with Morad, whom, with his usual craft, he
succeeded in cozening. He saluted him as emperor, and
congratulated him on his new dynasty, declaring that, as

for himself, he was anxious to renounce the vanities of the
world, and proceed on pilgrimage to Mecca, as soon as he
had succeeded in releasing his father from the thraldom of
the godless Dara. Morad was so simple as to give credit

to these professions, and their united armies advanced to

the capital. Dara prepared to meet both attacks, and sent

raja Jey Sing, of Jeypore, and his own son, to Dara de-

oppose Soojah, and raja Jeswunt Sing to encoun- *®**^ soojah.

ter Aurungzebe. The selection of two Hindoo generals to

command the armies which were to decide the fortunes of
the Mogul throne affords the strongest evidence of the
principle of fidehty which the generous policy of Akbar
and his two successors had inspired in the Hindoo mind.
At this juncture, Shah Jehan recovered his health, and
endeavoured to resume his authority ; but it was too late.

Soojah was defeated and obliged to fly to Bengal, shah jehan's

and, the year after, was pursued by Meer Joomla, recovery.

and obliged to seek refuge in Aracan, where he was basely
murdered, together with the whole of his family. Aurung-
zebe defeated the Rajpoot raja at Oojein, and then advanced
to Agra, where Dara met him with a superior army, but,
contrary to the wise advice of his father, hazarded an

I
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A.D, engagement in -vvliich he was completely overpowered, and
1658 fled. Three days after, Aurungzebe entered the capital in

Shab Jehan triumph, deposed his father, and mounted the
deposed. throne.

The character of Shah Jehan is thus described by his

native biographer :
—" Akbar was pre-eminent as a warrior

Character of "and a lawgiver ; ShahJehan for the incomparable
Shah Jehan. "order and arrangement of his finances, and the
" internal administration of the empire. But although the
" pomp of his court and his state establishments were such
" as had never been seen before in India, there was no in-
*' crease oftaxation, and no embarrassment to the treasury."

By the general consent of historians, the country enjoyed
greater prosperity during his reign than under any pre-

vious reign, and it has therefore been characterised

as the golden era of the Mogul dynasty. This is to be

attributed to that respite from the ravages of war which
afforded scope for the pursuits of industry ; for though en-

gaged in foreign wars, his own dominions enjoyed unin-

terrupted repose. He was the most magnificent prince of

the house of Baber ; but in nothing was the splendour of

his tastes more visible than in the buildings he erected.

He contributed to the grandeur of many of the cities of

India by the construction of noble palaces. It was he who
founded the new city of Delhi, in which his castellated

palace, with its spacious courts, and marble halls, and
gilded domes, was the object of universal eulogy. Of
that palace, the noblest ornament was the far-famed pea-

cock throne, blazing with emeralds, rubies, and diamonds,
the value of which was estimated by one of the European
jewellers of his court at six crores of rupees. To him also

the country was indebted for the immaculate Taj Mehal, the

mausoleum of his queen, the gem of India, and the admira-

tion of the world. But all his establishments were
managed with such vigilance and care, that after defraying

the cost of his numerous expeditions, he left in his treasury,

according to his native biographer, a sum not short of

twenty-four crores of rupees, though the annual income
of the empire did not exceed thirty.

Aurungzebe having thus obtained possession of the

capital and the treasury, threw ofi" the mask. He no

Aurungzebe longer talked of renouncing the world and
disixjses of becoming a pilgrim, but assumcsd all the powers

of government, and took the title of Alumgeer,
the Lord of the World. His father was placed in
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honourable captivity in his own palace, where he was
treated with the greatest respect, and survived his depo-
sition seven years ; but Aurungzebe did not consider his

throne secure while there remained any member of his a.d.

family to disturb it. Morad was invited to an entertain- 1658

ment, and allowed to drink himself into a state of helpless-

ness, when he was taken up and conveyed to the fort of

Agra. Soojah was chased by Meer Joomla out of India.

Dara fled to Lahore, but was driven from thence to

Guzerat, where he obtained aid from the governor, and was 1660

enabled to advance against the emperor, but was defeated,

and sought refuge with the raja of Jun, whom he had
formerly laid under great obligations. That ungrateful

chief, however, betrayed him to his vindictive brother, who
paraded him on a sorry elephant through the streets of

Delhi, where he had recently been beloved as a master.

A conclave of Mahomedan doctors was convened, who
gratified the emperor's wishes by condemning him to death
as an apostate from the creed of the Prophet. His body
was exhibited to the populace on an elephant, and his head
was cut off and carried to Aurungzebe. His son, Soliman,

was betrayed by the raja of Cashmere, and, lilie his

father, was paraded through the streets of the capital, but
with his hands bound in gilded fetters ; and his noble bearing

and his deep calamity are said to have moved the spectators

to tears. He and his younger brother, together with a son

of Morad, were consigned to death in the dungeons of

Gwalior. Morad himself, after a mock trial for some exe-

cution he was said to have ordered when viceroy of

Guzerat, was likewise put to death.

Aurungzebe had thus in the space of three years secured,

to all appearance, the stability of his power by the con-

finement of his father, and the destruction of his brothers

and their families, when his own life was threatened by a

dangerous attack of illness, and his court was filled with
intrigues while he lay helpless on his couch. One
party espoused the cause of his eldest son, Muazzim,
and another that of Akbar, his brother, while the rajah

Jeswunt Rao advanced from Rajpootana and Mohabet
from Cabul, to liberate and reinstate Shah Jehan. But
Aurungzebe, having passed the crisis of the disease,

summoned the officers of his court to renew their alle-

giance to him, and his recovery dissolved all these disloyal 1662

projects.

A short time previous to the illness of the emperor,

I
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Meer Joomla, wlio had been appointed governor of Bengal,

MeerJoomia assembled a large army and proceeded up the
in Assam. Bmmhapooter, for the conquest of Assam, and
eventually of China. The capital was reduced without diffi-

culty, but the rains set in with extraordinary violence ; the
river rose beyond its usual limits, and the whole country

A.D. was flooded. The supplies of the army were cut off, and a
1663 pestilence completed its disasters, while Meer Joomla was

obliged to retreat, and was pursued by the exasperated
Assamese. He returned to Dacca in disgrace, and died there

at a very advanced age, leaving behind him the reputation
of the ablest statesman and general of that age of action.

In the letter of condolence which the emperor sent to his

son, on whom he conferred all his father's honours, he said,

" You have lost a father, and I, the greatest and most dan-
" gerous ofmy friends." After the recovery ofAurungzebe,
it became necessary for him to send an army to check the

devastations of the Mahrattas ; and the reader's attention

must now be called to the origin and progress of this

nation, which rose to dominion on the ruins of the Mogul
empire, and for more than a century swayed the destinies

of India.

SECTION III.

RISE AND PROGRESS OF THE MAHRATTAS.

The country inhabited by the Mahrattas, designated in

the BKndoo shasters, Muharastra, is generally considered to

Rise of the extend from the Wurda on the east to the sea
Mahrattas, coast On the west, and from the Satpoora range
on the north down to a line drawn due east from Goa. The
salient feature of the country is the Syhadree mountains,
called the ghauts, which traverse it from north to south at

a distance of from thirty to fifty miles from the sea, and
which rise to the height of4,000 or 5,000 feet above its level.

The strip of land along the sea coast is called the Concan.
The inhabitants are of diminutive stature, and present a
strong contrast to the noble figure of the Kajpoot, but they
are sturdy, laborious, and persevering, and distinguished

for cunning. " The Rajpoot is the most worthy antagonist,
" theMahratta the most formidable enemy." This mountain
region was difficult of access, and its salient points were
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strengthened by fortifications. For centuries the Mahrattas
had been known as plodding accountants and managers of

villages and districts, and it was not till the sixteenth cen-

tury that they came to be noticed as soldiers. Their country

was comprised within the territories of Beejapore and
Ahmednugur, and the two kings, who were incessantly

at war with each other, or with their neighbours, were
happy to employ the Mahratta chiefs in raising levies of

their hardy countrymen, each one commanding his own
body of free lances. It was the wars which raged for a

century in the Deccan which cradled their military prowess,

and no small portion of the national aristocracy trace their

origin to the distinction gained in these conflicts and the

lands they acquired ; but it was chiefly under Malik Ana-

ber that they made the most rapid strides to military

and political importance. A community of village clerks

and husbandmen was transformed into a nation of warriors,

and it only required a master spirit to raise them to

empire. Such a spirit appeared in Sevajee.

Mallojee Bhonslay was a man of ignoble rank, but a
valiant captain of horse in the service of the king of

Ahmednugur at the beginning of the seventeenth origin of

century, and obtained from the venal court the Shahjee.

jageers of Poona, Sopa and some other districts. His son
Shahjee inherited the jageers on his death in 1620, and ^.d.

augmented his military force and his importance by a close 1620

alliance with Malik Amber. Nine years after he joined

the revolt of Jehan Lodi, already mentioned, but deserted

his cause when it began to wane, and went over to the

Moguls, by whom he was rewarded with the title of a com-
mander of 5,000, and the confirmation of his jageer. Soon
after he again changed sides, and on the capture of the

young king was suflBciently strong to set up a pretender and
obtain possession of all the districts of the kingdom, from
the sea to the capital. After a warfare of three years with
the imperial troops, he was driven out of the country, and
having obtained an asylum at the coui-t of Beejapore, was
entrusted with an expedition to the Camatic. His success

was rewarded with the extensive jageers in the vicinity of

Bangalore, which he had conquered, and he formed the
design of estabhshing an independent Hindoo kingdom in

the extreme south of the peninsula, resigning his Poona
jageer to his son Sevajee.

Sevajee, the founder of the Mahratta empire, was born 1627

in 1627, and—his father having taken a second wife—was

I
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placed under the tutelage of Dadajee Punt, a Brahmin,
who, in conformity with the national usage in a com-

Birtha d
EQunity in which all the chiefs were illiterate,

early ufe of managed the affairs of the estate. Sevajee, who
Sevajee. ^^^ nevcr able to read or write, became expert in

the use of the weapons required in the hills, and in all manly
exercises, and an accomplished horseman. He likewise

grew up a devout and rigid Hindoo, with a profound venera-
tion for brahmins and a cordial hatred of mahomedans.
His young imagination was kindled by the recital of the

Au national epics, and he longed to emulate the exploits cele-

I6i3 brated in them. At the age of sixteen, he formed an asso-

ciation of youths of wild and lawless habits, with whom he
engaged in hunting or marauding expeditions, and thus
became familiar with every path and detile in the hills.

Having trained the inhabitants of his native glens, the
Mawulees, to arms and discipline, he commenced his career

1646 of ambition at the age of nineteen by capturing the hill

Captures the fortress of Toma, and the next year erected the
fortof Toma fort of Rajgurh, which became his headquarters.

These proceedings roused the attention of the king of

Beejapore, and Shahjee, to whom the jageer belonged, was
called to account for them. He remonstrated with Dadajee
Punt, the guardian of his son, who entreated Sevajee to

desist from a course which must inevitably bring destruc-

tion on the family ; but the old man perceived that the pur-

pose of his pupil was not to be shaken, and, worn out with
age, disease, and anxiety, sunk into the grave ; but just

before his death is said to have sent to Sevajee, and advised

him to prosecute his schemes of independence, to protect

brahmins, kine, and husbandmen, and to preserve the

Hindoo temples from violation.

Sevajee immediately took possession of the jageer, and
1648 with the treasure which had been accumulated by his guar-

Sevaiee's ac- dian, augmented his force, and within two years
qnisiUons. extended his authority over thirty miles of terri-

tory, attacked a convoy of royal treasure and carried off

three lacs of pagodas to his eyrie in the mountains. The
audacity of these and similar proceedings roused the indig-

nation of the Beejapore monarch, who seized the father

Shahjee, and threatened him with death. Sevajee, then
twenty-two, entered into a negotiationwith the emperor Shah

1649 Jehan on his father's behalf, which is believed to have saved

him from a cruel death, though he was detained for four years

at Beejapore, till the increasing disorders in the Carnatic
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induced the king to release him and send him back to his

government. Daring the period of his father's detention,

Sevajee discreetly abstained from further encroachments,

but renewed them on his release, and by an act of base

treachery, which has inflicted a deep stain on his memory,
caused two chieftains of Jowlee to be assassinated.

While Aurungzebe was engaged in hostilities with

Beejapore, Sevajee professed himself a devoted servant of

the throne of Delhi, and obtained a confirmation ^jg {^4^^.

of his title to the lands he had wrested from the couKe -with

empire. But no sooner had the prince set his face

towards Delhi to secure the crown, than the Mahratta chief

began to ravage the Mogul territories. To extend Lis a.i>.

operations to a more distant sphere, he likewise organised l6o7

that corps of light horse which afterwards became the

scourge of India. At the same time, he took a body of

mahomedans into his service, but placed them under
Mahratta oflBcers. The success of Aurungzebe's efforts to

obtain the throne gave just alarm to Sevajee, and he sent

an envoy to Delhi to excuse his incursions and to conciliate

the emperor, and offered to protect the Mogul interests in

the Concan if they were intrusted to his charge. Aurung-
zebe considered that the security of these possessions in

the Deccan was likely to be promoted by encouraging the

Mahratta adventurer, and consented to his occupation of that

maritime province ; but in his attempt to take possession

of it, Sevajee experienced the first reverse he had ever

sustained.

The court of Beejapore was at length roused to the

danger of these incessant encroachments, which had been 1659

increasing in audacity for fourteen years, and sent Afzooi Khan
Afzool Khan with a body of 12,000 horse and assassinated.

foot and a powerful artillery to suppress them. He was a
vain and conceited nobleman, and Sevajee determined to

destroy him by treachery. He professed a humble sub-

mission to the king, and offered to surrender all the ter-

ritories he had usurped if he were allowed to hope for

forgiveness. Afzool Khan was thrown off his guard by
this flattery, and agreed to give a meeting to Sevajee with
only a single attendant. Sevajee performed his religious

devotions with great fervour, and advanced with all

humility to the interview, and while in the act of em-
bracing Afzool, plunged a concealed weapon into his bowels,
and despatched him with his dagger. The troops of the
murdered general were suddenly surrounded by a body of

I
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Mahrattas placed in ambusli, and ronted with the loss of

all their equipments. The success of this stratagem, not-

withstanding the atrocity of the deed, obtained the admira-
tion of his countrymen beyond many of his other exploits,

and the weapon Avas carefuily preserved as an heirloom in

the family. Sevajee followed up his victory by plundering
the country to the very gates of the capital. The king then
took the field in person, and recovered many of the forts

and much of the territory he had lost. The war was pro-

tracted for two years with varied success, but generally in

favour of the Mahrattas. A reconciliation was at length
effected, and a treaty concluded through the mediation of

Shahjee, who paid a visit to his son after an absence of

twenty years. He congratulated him on the progress he
had made towards the establishment of a Hindoo power,

AD. ^iid encouraged him to persevere in the course he had
1662 begun. At this period, Sevajee, then in his thirty-fifth

year, was in possession of the whole coast of the Concan,
extending four degrees of latitude, and of the ghauts from
the Beema to the Wurda. His army, consisting of 50,000

foot and 7,000 horse, was out of all proportion to his

territories and his resources, but he was incessantly en-

gaged in war, and made war support itself by his exactions.

Sevajee being now at peace with Beejapore, let loose his

1663 predatory bands on the Mogul possessions, and swept the

shaistaKhan country to the subui'bs of Aurungabad. The
attacks se- emperor appointed his own maternal uncle,
vajee.

Shaista Khan, to the viceroyalty of the Deccan,
with orders to reduce Sevajee to submission. He captured-

Poena, and took up his residence in the house in which
Sevajee had passed his childhood, and the Mahratta chief

conceived the design of assassiuating the Mogul general in

his bed. He got up a marriage procession, and entered the

town in disguise with thirty followers, and proceeding un-

perceived to the palace, suddenly attacked its inmates.

The viceroy escaped the assault with the loss of tAvo

fingers, but his guards were cut down. Sevajee, baffled in

his project, returned to his encampment amidst a blaze of

torches. This daring exploit was so completely in har-

mony with the national character as to be viewed with
greater exultation than some of his most famous victories.

1664 The operations of Sevajee were now extended to a bolder

enterprise. A hundred and fifty miles from Poona lay the

Attack of city of Surat, the greatest emporium of commerce
snrat. on the western coast, and two of the firms in the
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town were considered the most wealthy merchants in the

world at the time. It was, moreover, the chief port to

which devout Mahomedans resorted from all parts of India

to embark on pilgrimage to Mecca. Sevajee suddenly-

appeared before it with 4,000 of his newly raised cavalry,

and after plundering it leisurely for six days, returned to ^ i,_

his capital. He met with no resistance except from the 1664

European factories. Sir George Oxenden, the English

chief, defended the property of the East India Company,
and likewise of the natives under his protection, with such

valour and success as to extort the applause of Aurungzebe.
It is worthy of note that this was the first occasion on
which European soldiers came into collision with native

troops, and that the result filled both Hindoos and
Mahomedans with astonishment.

On his return from this expedition, Sevajee heard of the

death of his father at the age of seventy, and immediately

assumed the title of raja, and struck the coin in his own
name. Finding that his power would not be sevajee

complete unless he could obtain the command of creates a

the sea, he had been employed for some time in

constructing a navy, and while his troops were employed
in ravaging the Mogul territories on land, his fleet was
engaged in capturing the Mogul vessels bound to the Red
Sea and exacting heavy ransom from the opulent pilgrims.

In February, 1665, he secretly drew together a fleet con-

sisting of eighty-eight vessels and embarked with 4,000

troops to Barcelore, then a great trade mart on the Malabar
coast, where he obtained large booty, and returned to his capi-

tal before it was known that he had left it. On his return, he
found that a large Mogul army commanded by
the renowned Rajpoot raja Jeysing, and the ^ta'ckedby
general Dilere Khan, had entered his territories. Jeysing and

Aurungzebe, an intense bigot, had felt greater

indignation against Sevajee for obstructing the progress of

the devout pilgrims than for any of his audacious assump-
tions of power, and the largest force yet sent against him
now entered his territories, and reduced him to such straits

that he was constrained to have recourse to negotiations.

They resulted in the memorable "Convention ofPoorundur," 1665

in which it was stipulated that he should restore all the

forts and districts he had taken from the Moguls with the

exception of twelve, which he was to retain as a jageer, and
that his son Sambajee should hold rank as a noble in the

command of 6,000 men. But he dexterously inserted a

Q
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clause in the treaty granting him, in lieu of certain

pretended claims on the old Nizam Shahee state, assign-

ments of a fourth and a tenth of the revenue,—termed by

Origin of the 1^^™^ 'the Chmit and SurdeshmooJcee,—of certain
Chout. districts above the ghauts, the charge of collecting

which he took on himself. So eager was he to obtain the

imperial authority for this grant, that he offered a sum of

forty lacs of pagodas for it, and intimated his intention of

visiting the emperor at Delhi, and " his desire to kiss the
" royal threshold." This is the first mention ofthe celebrated

claim of chout, which the Mahrattas marched throughout
India to enforce. In the communication which Aurungzebe
addressed him on this occasion, no allusion was made to

this claim, the insidious tendency, or even the import, of

which the imperial cabinet could not comprehend, and
Sevajee assumed that the principle was tacitly conceded.

Sevajee had now entered the service of the Moguls and
lost no time in marching with 10,000 horse and foot against

*°-_ Sevajee at Bcejaporc, though his half-brother commanded
1 66o Delhi ^j^g Mahratta contingent in its services. Aurung-

zebe was gratified with his success and invited him to

court, to which he repaired with an escort of 1,500 troops.

But he found himself regarded by the emperor in the light

of a troublesome captain of banditti, whom it was politic to

humour, and he was presented at the durbar with nobles of

the third rank. He left the " presence " with ill-concealed

indignation, and is said to have wept and fainted away.
It became the object of the emperor to prevent his leaving

Delhi, and his residence was beleagured, but he contrived^

to elude the vigilance of his guards and made his escape

in a hamper, and reached Kajgurh in the disguise of a

1666 pilgrim, with his face smeared with ashes. The Rajpoot
commander in the Deccan was not insensible to the influ-

ence of money, and Sevajee was thus enabled thi'ough him
to make his peace with Aurungzebe, who acknowledged

his title of raja and even made some addition to his jageer.

Having now a season of greater leisure than he had yet

enjoyed, he spent the years 1668 and 1669 in revising and

Kevisionof completiug the internal arrangements of his

^
hisinstitu- government, and nothing gives us a higher idea

166|5 ons.
^£ j^.g ggjjj^g than to find a rough soldier, who

1669 ^^^ unable to read or write, and who had for twenty
years been employed in predatory warfare, establishing a

form of government and a system ^ of civil polity so well

suited to the consolidation of a great kingdom. His military
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organisation, which was equally distinguished for its rigid

disciphne and its strict economy, was admirably adapted to

the creation of a new and predominant power in India.

This was also the most pi osperous period of Aurungzebe's
^^ „_

long reign. The empire was at peace ; the emperor was 1666

held in the highest esteem throughout the Tranquiiuty ^°

Mahomedan world, and received complimentary of Hmdos- 1670

missions from the Scheriff of Mecca, the Khan
of the Uzbeks, the king of Abyssinia, and the Shah of

Persia. But his restless ambition again kindled the flames

of war, which continued to rage, without the intermission

of a single year, during the remaining thirty-seven years of

his reign, and consumed the vitals of the empire. Finding
it impossible to inveigle Sevajee into his power, war with

he issued the most peremptory orders to pursue SeTajee.

him to the death. Sevajee prepared for the conflict with
unflinching resolution. He opened the campaign by the

capture of two important fortresses, and, with an army of

14,000 men, again plundered Surat, where the Company's
factors once more covered themselves with renown by their

military energy. He overran the province of Candesh, and
for the first time levied the chout on a Mogul province : in

this instance it was simply black mail. Aurungzebe waa
dissatisfied with the inactivity of his general, and sent

Mohabet with an army of 40,000 against Sevajee, who met
his opponents for the first time in the open field and gained 1672

a complete victory, which elevated the crest of the Mahrat-
tas, and not a little disheartened the Mogul generals.

The turbulent Khyberees and Eusufzies in Afghanistan,

the hereditary enemies of order and peace, had again broken
out and defeated the Mogul general in the passes .

subsequently rendered memorable by the annihi- zebe's con-

lation of a British army. The emperor deter- ^e'^Khy-
mined to undertake the subjugation of these berecsand

incorrigible highlanders in person, and led his
"*^°*^^'"®^

army as far as Hussun Abdal, where he left the expedition 1673
to his son, who was obliged to content himself with the

nominal submission of the tribes, after a bootless warfare
of two years. On his return to Delhi Aurungzebe found
himself involved in an unexpected and formidable difficulty.

Such is the nature of the natives of India, that the peace

of the country is liable to be broken any day by the most
insignificant cause : the shape of a turban, or the make of

a cartridge. On this occasion it was the violence of a single

police officer, who insulted a sect of Hindoo fanatics called

o2

I
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A.D. Sutnaramees. Their excitement created an emeute, and the
1676 emeute grew into a revolt. The devotees assembled in

thousands, and being joined by some disaffected zemindars,

defeated the troops sent against them, and obtained posses-

sion of the two provinces of A.gra and Ajmere ; a general

revolt, therefore, appeared imminent. They gave out that

they possessed the magic power of resisting bullets, and
the imperial troops naturally shrank from an encounter
with them, till Aurungzebe wrote out texts of the Koran
with his own hand, and attached them to his standards,

when the confidence of his troops was revived and the

rebellion quelled.

Akbar and his two successors had adopted the wise and
generous policy of granting the Hindoos religious liberty

Revival of ^^^^ equality, and they served the state as zeal-

persecution, ously and faithfully as the Mahomedans, even
when employed against their own countrymen. The same
principle appears to have prevailed in some degree during
the early period of Aurungzebe's reign, and he had formed
two family alliances with Rajpoot princes ; but his defeat

in the Khyber, and the revolt of the fanatics, appear to

have embittered his temper, and roused a feeling of bigoted

animosity. No pains or penalties were inflicted on the

Hindoos for the profession of their creed, but they were
made to feel that they lay under the ban of the ruling

power of the empire. Aurungzebe ordered that no Hindoos
should in future be employed in the public service, and

1677 he reimposed the odious poll-tax, the jezzia, on infidels.

His measures, however disguised, breathed the spirit of

intolerance. The Hindoo temples in Bengal, and even in

the holy city of Benares, were demolished, and mosques
erected on the sites, and the images used as steps. These
bigoted proceedings produced a feehng of disaffection in

Revolt of the every province, but it was only in Rajpootana
Rajpoots. that they created political disturbance. Jeswunt
Sing, the faithful Rajpoot general of the emperor, had died

in Cabul, and as his widow and family passed through
1677 Delhi, Aurungzebe surrounded their encampment with

troops, intending to detain them as hostages. They were
rescued by the contrivance of Jeswunt Sing's minister,

and conveyed to Joudpore ; but this ungenerous treatment

of the family of a devoted servant roused the indignation

of the high-spirited Rajpoots, and the country was speedily

in a blaze. Aurungzebe lost no time in marching into it,

1C79 and obliged the rana of Oodypore to make his submission
;

J
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but on a second revolt, he summoned troops from every
direction, and let them loose on the unhappy country.

The Joudpore territory was laid waste, villages were de- a.d.

stroyed, families carried into slavery, and the inhabitants ^ 679

made to feel the extremities of war. The Rajpoots retaliated

byplundering the mosques and burning the Koran in Malwa.
The alienation of the various tribes was complete. After

this period they were often at peace with the empire, and
furnished their contingents of troops, whom Aurungzebe
was happy to employ as a counterpoise to his Mahomedan
soldiers ; but that cordial loyalty to the Mogul throne

which had for a century made them its most reliable

champions, was extinct. It was during these disturbances

that the emperor's son Akbar went over to the Rajpoots,

and was encouraged by them to assume the title and func-

tions of royalty, and to march with an army of 70,000 men
against his father ; but he was defeated, and fled to the

Mahrattas.

To return to Sevajee. He took advantage of the absence
of Aurungzebe in the Khyber, and the death of the king
of Beejapore, to annex the whole of the Concan, .

and likewise of a considerable tract above the assumes

ghauts. He had long struck the coin in his own ""oy^i'^y-

name, and he now determined to proclaim his independence,

and to assume all the ensigns of royalty and the pomp of a

Mahomedan potentate. After many religious solemnities, 1674

on the 6th June, 1674, he was enthroned at his capital,

Rajgurh, and announced himself as the " ornament of the
" Kshetriyu race, and lord of the royal umbrella." He was
weighed against gold, which was distributed amongst the

brahmins, who found to their chagrin that he only weighed
ten stone. Two years after he undertook one of

jjiggxpedi-

the most extraordinary expeditions on Mahratta tion to the

record, with the object of recovering his father's
^^'=*^'^"-

jageer in the distant south from bis brother. Having
concluded an armistice with the Mogul general who had
charge of the operations against him, by a large douceur,

he marched to Golconda with an army of 30,000 foot and 1676

40,000 horse, and extorted a large supply of money and
artillery from the king, together with an engagement to

cover his territories during his absence, on condition of

receiving half his acquisitions in land and money. He
then proceeded to pay his devotions at the shrine his

of Purwuttam. Naked, and covered with ashes, fanaticism.

he assumed the character of a devotee, and after having,
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for nine days, committed various acts of superstitions folly,

which at one time led his officers to doubt his sanity, he
resumed the command of his army, which he had sent for-

ward in advance. He swept past Madras, then an unnoticed

factory, and captured fort after fort, not excepting even the

redoubted fortress of Gingee (pronounced Jinjee) "tenable

"by ten men against an army," and at Trivadey, 600 miles

from his own territory, met his brother Vencajee. He held

possession of Tanjore, and the other jageers bequeathed to

him by his father, and relused to share them with his

brother, who thereupon occupied them by force, and sent

A.D. his horse to ravage the Cariiatic. The dispute between the
1678 brothers terminated in a compromise, by which Vencajee

was to retain the jagecr, paying half the revenues to Sevajee,

while he was to keep possession of all the conquests he had
made from Beejapore. He reached Rajgurh after an absence
of eighteen months, but no portion of his conquests or of

his plunder did he think of surrendering to the king of

Grolconda.

The next year Aurungzebc sent a formidable army to

1679 besiege Beejapore, and the regent, during the minority

Annul zebe
^^ ^^® ^^^Si invoked the aid of Sevajee, who laid

attacks waste the Mogul territories between the Beema
Beejapore.

^^^^ ^j^g Godavcry, and subjected the town of

Aurungabad to plunder for three days. Meanwhile, his son

Sambajee, who had been placed in durance by his father

for an attempt to violate the wife of a brahmin, made his

escape, and went over to the Mogul general, and was re-

ceived with open arms ; but Aurungzebe ordered him to be
sent as a prisoner to his father's camp. Sevajee renewed his

exertions for the relief of Beejapore upon a fresh concession

of territory ; bat in the midst of these events, all his plans

of ambition were demolished by his death, which happened

D ath and
atRajgurh, on the 5th April, 1680, in the fifty-third

character of year of his age. Aurungzebe did not conceal his

1680 Sevajee.
satisfaction at the death of his formidable oppo-

nent, but he did full justice to his genius. "He was,"

he said, " a great captain, and the only one who has had ,

" the magnanimity to raise a new kingdom, while I have
" been endeavouring to destroy the ancient sovereignties of
" India ; my armies have been employed against him for
" nineteen years, and, nevertheless, his state has been always
" increasing." That state, at his death, comprised a terri-

tory 400 miles in length and 120 in breadth. It was
created by his own genius, and consolidated by a com-
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munion of habits, language, and religion among his country-

men. He is one of the greatest characters in the native

history of India, greater even than Hyder Ali and Runjeet
Sing, who subsequently trod the same path of ambition

and conquest.. He did more than simply found a kingdom.;

he laid the foundation of a power which survived the decay
of his own family, and he kindled a national spirit of

enthusiasm which in a few years made the Mnhrattas the

arbiters of the destiny of India.

SECTION IV.

AUBUNGZEBE TO MAHOMED SHAH.

AuRUNGZEBE having now in a great measure subdued the

opposition of the Rajpoot tribes, determined to bring the

whole strength of the empire to bear on the sub-
^^rnngzebe

jugation of the Deccan. It was a wanton and proceeds to

iniquitous aggression, and, by a righteous retribu- ^^^ Deccan.

tion, recoiled on himself, and led to the downfall of his

dynasty. In the year 1683 he quitted Delhi, which he was a.d.

destined never to see again, with an army of unexampled 1683

magnitude. The finest cavalry was assembled from the

countries beyond and within the Indus, supported by a

large and well-equipped body of infantry, and several

hundred pieces of artillery, under European officers. A
long train of elephants, intended both for war and equipage,

and a superb stud of horses accompanied the camp. There
was, moreover, a large menagerie of tigers and leopards,

of hawks and hounds without number. The camp, which
resembled a large moving city, was supplied with every
luxury the age and country could provide. The canvas
walls which surrounded the emperor's personal tents were
twelve hundred yards in circumference, and they contained
halls of audience, courts, cabinets, mosques, oratories, and
baths, all adorned with the richest silks and velvet and
cloth of gold. There is no record of such extravagant

luxuriousness in any modern encampment. Yet, amidst all

this grandeur, the personal habits and expenditure of the

emperor exhibited the frugality of a hermit. With this

unwieldy army Aurungzebe advanced to Aurung- invasion of

abad, and, by a strange infatuation, signalised theConcan.

i
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his arrival in the Deccan by ordering the hateful jezzia to

A.D. be imposed on the whole Hindoo population. His first

1G84 expedition was disastrous. His son Muazzim was sent to

lay waste the Concan with 40,000 cavalry ; the little

forage that was to be found in the rocks and thickets of

that wild region was speedily destroyed ; the Mahratta
cruisers intercepted the supplies sent from the Mogul pori s ;

the Mahratta light horse blocked up the passes, and pre-

vented the approach of provisions ; and the wreck of this

noble army, exhausted by hunger and pestilence, was
happy to find shelter under the walls of Ahmednugur.
Aurungzebe then sent his son to attack Beejapore, and in

this the last year of its national existence, the king and
his troops defended their independence with

Beej^wre"^ exemplary courage. They cut off the supplies
1685 and Goi- of the Mogul army, intercepted its communi-

cations, and obliged it to retire. On the failure

of this expedition the emperor turned his force against

Golconda, the king of which had formed an alliance with
the Mahrattas. His chief minister was a Hindoo of singular

ability, and had equipped an army of 70,000 men for the

defence of the country ; but the employment of an infidel

gave offence to the bigoted Mahomedan courtiers. The
minister was murdered, and Ibrahim Khan, the general,

treacherously went over to the enemy with a large portion

of the army. The helpless king sought refuge in the fort

of Golconda; the capital, Hyderabad, was plundered for

three days by the Mogul soldiers, whom their commander
was unable to restrain, and the treasure which Aurungzebe
had destined for his own coffers was, to his great chagrin,

partitioned among them. The king was obliged to sue for

1686 peace, which was not granted him without the promise of

two crores of rupees.

Aurungzebe now brought his whole strength to bear upon
Beejapore. The lofty walls of the city were of hewn stone

six miles in circumference, with a deep moat and

S^re°* a double rampart. The artiUery was, as it had
and Goi- always been, superior to that of the Moguls, and

the emperor was constrained to turn the siege into

a blockade. The garrison was reduced to a state of starva-

tion and obliged to capitulate ; and on the 15th October

Beejapore was blotted out of the roll of Indian kingdoms,

after an independent career of a hundred and fifty years.

This Adil Shahee dynasty employed its resources in works
of utility or magnificence which were without a rival in



Sect. IV.] FALL OF BEEJAPORE AND GOLCONDA 89

India. The majestic rnins of the palaces in the citadel, and
of the mosques and tombs in the city, after two centuries of

decay in an Indian climate, still attract the admiration of

the traveller, " The chief feature in the scene is the
' mausoleum of Mahomed Adil Shah, the dome of which,
" like the dome of St. Peter's, fills the eye from every point
" of view, and though entirely devoid of ornament, its

" enormous dimensions and austere simplicity invest it with
" an air of melancholy grandeur, which harmonises with the
" wreck and desolation around it. One is at a loss in seeing
" these ruins, to conjecture how so small a state could have
" maintained such a capital." The fate of Golconda was not
long delayed. Aurungzebe, with his usual craft, advanced
into the country on pretence of a pilgrimage to the tomb of

a saint, and extracted from the fears of the monarch all his

treasure, even to the jewels of the seraglio, and then
charged him with the crime of having employed a

brahmin for his minister and formed an alliance with the

infidel Mahrattas. The prince, though addicted to pleasure,

defended his capital with a heroism worthy his ancestors,

but it was at length taken, though only by an act of trea-

chei-y, and the royal house of Kootub Shah became extinct, ^^^
after a brilliant career of a hundred and seventy years. 1687

The ambition of Aurungzebe was now consummated.
His power was extended over regions which had never
submitted to the sovereignty of the Mahomedans, confusion in

and after seven centuries, the whole of India did ^^'^ Deccan.

unequivocally acknowledge the supremacy of a Lord Para-

mount. The year 1688 was the culminating point of Moslem
grandeur, and likewise of its decay. The misfortunes of

Aurungzebe commenced with the fall of Golconda. The 1688

governments which had maintained public order in the

Deccan had disappeared, and no system of equal vigour was
established in their stead. The public authority had been
maintained in the extinct states by a force of 200,000 men;
the Mogul force on their subjugation did not exceed 34,000.

The disbanded soldiery either joined the predatory bands
of the Mahrattas, or enlisted under disaffected chiefs.

There was no vital energy at the head-quarters of the

emperor. Oppressions were multiplied, and no redress

could be obtained. The Deccan became a scene of general

confusion, and presented a constant succession of con-

spiracies and revolts which consumed the spirit of tho

Mogul army, and the strength of the empire.
Sevajee's son Sambajee, succeeded to the throne aftermuch 1680

I
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intrigue and opposition, and at first exhibited considerable

sambajee's vigouT and method, but it was not long before he

criS death
&^^® ''^^J^ ^^^ ferocity of his natural disposition.

He had none of his father's qualifications except
his ardent bravery. He put his widow to death, and im-

prisoned his brother Raja Ram ; he threw the ministers into

irons, and beheaded those who opposed his wishes, and
proceeded so far as to execute a brahmin. These atrocities

alienated the great men who had contributed to build up
A..1). the Mahratta power. Sambajee rendered himself still

1681 farther an object of general contempt by his infatuated

attachment to a favourite, Kuloosha, a Cunouge brahmin, a

man totally unfitted for the conduct of public affairs, which
was entrusted to him. In the early period of his reign he

1634 took an active share in driving Prince Muazzim out of the

Concan. He was engaged for several years in endeavouring
to reduce the power of the Portuguese, but without success,

and was incessantlyin conflict with the forces of Aurungzebe.
He formed an alliance with the king of Golconda, and, to

create a diversion in his favour, plundered the cities of

Boorhanpore and Broach, and likewise despatched bodies of

Mahratta horse to the relief of the capital, but they acted

without vigour. In fact, under his inefficient rule, the

discipline introduced by Sevajee had been relaxed and the

morale of the army deteriorated. On the extinction of the

two Mahomedan powers of Beejapore and Golconda,

Aurungzebe directed his whole attention to the reduction of

his remaining opponent, and fort after fort was captured,

Avhile Sambajee abandoned public business, and resigned

1688 himself to sloth and pleasure. One of the emperor's

generals, at length, succeeded in surprising him after a

night's revel, and he was conveyed on a camel to the

imperial presence. The emperor at first deemed it politic

to spare his life to secure the surrender of the Mahratta
1688 fortresses, and asked him to turn Mahomedan. " Not if

"you would give me your daughter in marriage," was his

reply, pouring at the same time a torrent of abuse on the

Prophet. Aurungzebe ordered his tongue to be cut out,

deprived him of his sight, and consigned him to death

with excruciating torture. He had occupied the throne

for nine years, amidst the contempt of his subjects, but

1689 his tragic death excited emotions of pity amongst them,

and gave a keener edge to their detestation of the Maho-
medans.
The Mahrattas were now exposed to the whole power of
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the Mogul empire under the immediate eye of the emperor,
whose personal reputation, together with the

grandeur of his establishments, and the prestige j^t^a CoOTt

of the imperial throne, filled them with a feeling retires to

of awe, and they bent to the storm. The cabinet '°^^^' a.d.

elected Shao, the infant son of Sambajee, to succeed him, ^^^^

and appointed his uncle, Raja Ram, regent. Of the great

kingdom founded by Sevajee, there was only a mere
vestige left in the north, and it was resolved to preserve

the embers of Mahratta power by emigrating to the south.

Raja Ram and twenty-five chiefs made their way in dis-

guise to the Mahratta jageers in Tanjore with niany ro-

mantic adventures carefully preserved in the ballads of the

nation, and established the Mahratta court at Gingee. ^^^^

The regent soon after despatched two of his ablest generals

with a large force, which was increased in its progress, to

desolate the Mogul territories in the north, and they ex-

tended their ravages up to Satara, where Ram-chundur was
left in charge of the Mahratta interests. He devised a new
plan for molesting the Moguls. Among the Mali- j^g^y gxac-

rattas the thirst for plunder was always the
if°'?f°L*^®

strongest national passion ; indeed, the only word
for "victory " was " the plunder of the enemy." To this

predatory spirit he gave an extraordinary impulse, as well

as a systematic direction, by confening the right to levy

the " chmd " and the " tenth " for the state treasury on any
Mahratta chieftain who could bring his followers into the

field, and allowing them to appropriate the new exaction he

invented of ghaus dana, or food and forage money, to their

own use. Under this new impetus, every mountain glen 1692

and valley poured forth its tenants, and Aurungzebe,
instead of having the army of a single responsible chief to

deal with, had a hundred-headed hydra on his hands.

The imperial army was ill-fitted to contend with this

new swarm of assailants. Its silken commanders were
not the iron generals of Akbar, and they vied with

^ ^ ^^^^^

each other only in the display of extravagance, of the Mogul

The spread of effeminate luxury had eaten up the rrttaSmies.
spirit of enterprise, and there was nothing they
desired so little as the sight of an enemy. There was a

total relaxation of discipline. The stipend of the com-
manders was regulated by the number of their men, and
not only was it never honestly maintained, but the ranks
were filled up with miserable recruits, totally unable to

cope with the Mahratta soldiers, accustomed to hai'd fare
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A.D. and harder work. "The horse withotit a saddle," asthearmy
1692 was aptly described, " was rode by a man without clothes

;

" footmen inured to the same travail, and bearing all kinds
" of arms, trooped with the horse ; spare horses accompanied
" them to bring off the booty and relieve the wounded or
" weary. All gathered their daily provision as they passed.
" No pursuit could reach their march. In conflict their
" onset fell wherever they chose, and was relinquished even
" in the instant of charge. "Whole districts were in flames
" before their approach was known, as a terror to others to
" redeem the ravage."

The rallying point of the Mahrattas at this time was
the fort of Gingee, the siege of which lasted as long as the

si^e of siege of Troy. Zoolfikar Khan, the ablest of the
Gingee. Mogul generals, was sent against it, but he was
too often in collusion with the Mahratta chiefs. It was
during the languor of the siege that Suntajee, the Mah-
ratta general, having defeated the imperial forces in the

1697 north, and augmented his army, appeared before it with

20,000 horse. The besieging army was besieged in its turn,

and Cam-buksh, the son of the emperor, the nominal
commander-in-chief at the time, was driven to conclude a

humiliating convention. It was disallowed by Aurungzebe,
who recalled his son and sent Zoolfikar Khan, a third time
to command the army, but as he was again in communica-
tion with the garrison, the siege was protracted till the

emperor threatened him with degradation if it was not
successful. The fort was then assailed in earnest, and fell,

but Zoolfikar connived at the escape of Raja Ram, who
1698 made his way to his native mountains, and selected Satara

as the capital of the Mahratta power. He was able in time
to collect a larger army than Sevajee had commanded, and
he proceeded to collect what he termed the " Mahratta
dues " with vigour, and the settlement of the Deccan was
as distant as ever.

To meet the increasing boldness of the Mahrattas,

1699 Aurungzebe separated his army into two divisions, one to

Plans oi ^0 employed in protecting the open country,
Aurungzebe. the other in capturing forts. The first he en-

trusted to Zoolfikar, who repeatedly defeated the Mahrat-
tas, but was unable to reduce their strength, and they
always appeared more buoyant after a defeat than his own
troops after a victory. Aurungzebe reserved to himself the

siege of the forts, in which he was incessantly employed
1701 for five years. It is impossible to withhold our admira-
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tion of the spirit of perseverance exhibited by this octo-

genarian prince during these campaigns in which he was
subjected to every variety of privations. Amidst all these

harassing operations his vigour was never impaired. All

the military movements in every part of the Deccan, in

Afghanistan, in Mooltan, and at Agra were directed by
the instructions he issued while in the field. With indefa-

tigable industry he superintended all the details of adminis-

tration throughout the empire, and not even a petty officer

was appointed at Cabul without his sanction. But all his

energy was unable to cope with the difficulties which were
accumulating around him. The Rajpoots were again in

open hostiHty, and other tribes, emboldened by his continued

absence, began to manifest a spirit of insubordination. The
treasury was exhausted by a war of twenty-five years' a.d.

duration, and the emperor was tormented with incessant 1705

demands for money, which he was unable to meet. The
Mahratfas became more aggressive than ever, and in every

direction around his camp, north and south, east and west,

nothing was seen but the devastation of the country and
the sack of villages. In these deplorable circumstances he

made overtures to the Mahrattas, and offered them „ , ,

.
'

n ^
He treats

a legal title to the chout and the tenth of the re- -nitu the

venues of the Deccan, but they rose in their de-
Mahrattas.

mands, as might have been expected, and the negotiations

were thus broken off. The imperial camp began to retii'e

to Ahmednugur closely followed by the Mahrattas, who ^706

plundered up to its very precincts, and converted the re-

treat into an ignominious flight. Twenty years before

Aurungzebe had marched from his capital in all the pride

and pomp of war ; he was now returning to it in a state of

humiliation, with the wreck of a broken army, pursued by
a victorious foe, and he expired at Ahmednu- ^^ ^^^^ 1707

gur on the 27th February, 1707.

Of all the princes of the house of Baber, Aurungzebe
is the greatest object of admiration to the native historians,

and his name is invested even among Europeans Eemarks on

with an indefinite idea of grandeur, but the illusion ^^ '^^•

vanishes on a close inspection of his biography. Few cha-

racters in Indian history, whether amongst its Mahomedan
or English rulers, have been more overrated. The merit of
his personal bravery, his civil administration, and of his

attention to business will be fully admitted, but for twenty-
five years he persisted in a war of intolerance and aggres-
sion, though he must have been aware that it was sapping

I
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the foundations of the empire. He had no heart and no
friend ; he was crafty and suspicious, and often cruel ; he
mistrusted all his officers, and they repaid him by pre-

carious loyalty. Notwithstanding his manifest abilities,

the rapid decay of the empire dates from his reign,

and may in some measure be traced to his personal

character.

On the death ofAurungzebe, his son, prince Azim, came in

to the encampment, caused himself to be proclaimed emperor,

Bahadoor and marched towards the capital. At the same
A.T).

^^^^ time, the eldest son, Prince Muazzim, who had
1707 been nominated heir to the empire, was hastening to Delhi.

The armies met in the neighbourhood of Agra, and Prince

Azim was defeated and fell in action. Prince Akbar was
a fugitive in Persia, and the remaining son of Aurungzebe,
Cam-buksh, who was assembling troops in the Deccan, was
defeated by Zoolfikar Khan, with the aid of a Mahratta
contingent, and there ceased to be any rival to the throne

which Prince Muazzim ascended at the age of sixty-seven,

with the title of Bahadoor Shah.

The Mahrattas were unable to take advantage of these

distractions by their internal dissensions. Raja Ram, the

1700 _., , regent, died soon after his return to Satara, and
among the the govcmment was administered for seven years
Maiuiittas.

|jy. j^jg v^rido\v Tara Bye, in the name of her own
son. The lineal heir, Shao, the son of Sambajee, was a
captive in the Mogul encampment, but treated with great
kindness. Prince Azim, when starting for the capital, had
released him, and afforded him the means of asserting

his rights, on condition of his doing homage to the Mogul
throne. Tara Bye proclaimed him an impostor, and
collected an army to resist his claims, but he obtained pos-

session of Satara and in 1708 assumed the functions of

royalty. In this family contest, the Mahratta sirdars

espoused opposite sides, and drew their swords on each
other. In the course of five years the son of Tara Bye
died ; her minister superseded her authority and placed
another son of Raja Ram on the throne of Kolapore, which
became the capital of the junior branch of Sevajee's family,

and the rival of Satara. Bahadoor conferred the viceroyalty

1708 Rival house of the Deccan on Zoolfikar, the chief instrument
of Kolapore. q£ j^jg elevation, and as his presence was required

at court, the administration was left in the hands of Daood
Khan, a noble Patan, famous throughout the Deccan for his

matchless daring and his love of strong drink, of whom
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it is recorded that when he visited Madras, Mr. Pitt, the

father of the first Lord Chatham, the governor, gave him a
grand entertainment in the council chamber, and that the a.u.

Patan " pledged the chief largely in cordial waters and ^708

" French brandy, amidst a discharge of cannon." By
the desire of his master, he granted to the Mahratta the

concession of the chont on the six soobahs of the Deccan,
which Aurnngzebe in his extremity had offered them, and
this arrangement, though made by a subordinate authority,

kept them quiet to the end of the reign. The tranquillity

of Rajpootana was secured by the same spirit of conciliation

and concession to its three principal chiefs of Oodypore,
Jeypore, and Joudpore.

The emperor was now called to encounter a new
enemy in the north—the Sikhs. About the end of the

fifteenth century, Nanuk, the founder of their „, „.,

,

TliG Siklis
religious community, taught that devotion was due
to God alone, that all forms were immaterial, and that

the worship of the Hindoo and the Moslem was equally

acceptable to the Deity. The sect increased in numbers,
but was fiercely persecuted by the bigoted Mahomedan
rulers, who massacred their pontiff" the year after the death

of Akbar. In 1675, Gooroo Govind, the tenth spiritual 1675

successor of N^anuk, conceived the idea of forming the Sikhs
into a military as well as a religious commonwealth. He
abohshed all distinction of caste, but required every member
of the society to be pledged as a soldier from his birth or

his initiation, and to wear a peculiar dress and to cultivate

his beard. He inculcated reverence for brahmins and
prohibited the slaughter of cows. This union of martial

and religious enthusiasm rendered the Sikhs a formidable

lx)dy, and they had to maintain an arduous struggle with
the Mahomedans, who captured the strongholds of the

Gooroo, murdered his mother and sisters, and mutilated,

slaughtered, or dispersed his followers. Still the sect grew
and multiplied, and towards the close of Aumngzebe's
reign, under a formidable chief of the name of Bandoo,
extended its depredations to the vicinity of Delhi. 1710

Bahadoor Shah took the field against them and drove them
back to the hills.

On his return from this expedition he died at Lahore,
after a brief reign of five years, at the age of , . ^ 1712

seventy-two. His death was followed by the usual badoor Shah

scramble for power among his four sons, three of
^ah.^***"^"

whom were defeated and killed. The survivor
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mounted the throne with the title of Jehander Shah, and
put all the members of the royal family within his reach to

death ; he resigned himself to the influence of a dancing
girl, and indulged in the most degrading vices. His career

A.D. was cut short by his nephew, Ferokshere, the viceroy of
1713 Bengal, who marched up to Delhi, and deposed and mur-

dered the wretched emperor, as well as the noble but crafty

Zoolfikar.

Ferokshere, the most contemptible, as yet, of the princes

of his line, mounted the throne, and for six years disgraced

it by his vices, his weakness, and his cowardice.

He owed his elevation to two brothers descended
from the Prophet, and thence denominated the Syuds.
Abdoolla, the eldest, was appointed vizier, and his brother,

Hoosen AH, commander-in-chief, but the emperor held

them in detestation, and his reign was little else than a

series of machinations to destroy them. Hoosen Ali was
sent against the Rajpoot raja of Joudpore in the hope
that the expedition would prove fatal to him ; but he
concluded an honourable peace with the prince and induced

him to give the hand of one of his daughters to the emperor.

The nuptials, which were celebrated with great splendour,

were rendered memorable by an incident which will be

noticed in a subsequent chapter.

The office of viceroy of the Deccan had been bestowed
1714 on Ghazee-ood-deen. The family had emigrated from Tar-

Nizam-ooi- tary to seek its fortunes in India, and he had risen
mooii. to distinction in the service of Aurungzebe, who
granted him the title of Cheen Killich Khan, to which was
now added that of Nizam-ool-moolk. He was a statesman

of great ability and experience, but of still greater subtilty.

Daring the seventeen months in which he held the office of

viceroy he fomented the dissensions between the houses of

Kolapore and Satara. Shao had been brought up in aU
the luxury of a Mahomedan seraglio, and was fonder

of hunting, hawking, and fishing than of the business of the

state. The Mahratta commonwealth was falling into a

BaUajee statc ofanarchy, when the genius of Ballajee Wish-
wishwanath. ^anath placed the party of Shao in the as-

cendant, and rekindled the smouldering energies of the

nation. Ballajee, a brahmin, was originally a simple vil-

lage accountant, but rose through various gradations of

office till he became a power in the state, and was ap-

pointed Peshwa, or prima minister. It was to his energy
that the rapid expansion of the Mahratta power is to be
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attributed, and he may justly be regarded as the second
founder of its greatness.

"With the view of separating the two brothers, the Syuds,

from each other, Ferokshere displaced Nizam-ool-moolk, and
appointed Hoosen AH viceroy of the Deccan. At

j^^^^ ^^
the same time he sent secret instructions to the re-

nowned Daood Khan to offer him the most strenuous oppo-

sition, and he rushed at once into the field, and attacked

him with such impetuosity as to disperse his army hke a
fiock of sheep ; but in the moment of victory he was killed *^-"-

by a cannon ball, and the fortune of the day w^as changed.

His devoted wife, a Hindoo princess, stabbed herself on
hearing of his death. Hoosen AH, flushed with his sue- .

cess, took the field against the Mahrattas, whose depreda-

tions had never ceased, but was completely defeated. In
these circumstances, distracted by Mahratta encroachments
on the one hand, and on the other by the hostility and in-

trigues of the emperor, he entered into negotiations with
Ballajee Wishwanath which resulted in a conven-

jjjg conces-

tion as disgraceful to the Mogul throne, as it was sions to the

fortunate for the Mahratta state. Shao was
acknowledged as an independent sovereign over all the

dominions which had belonged to Sevajee. The cJwut and '

the tenth of the revenues of the six soobahs in the Deccan,
which were valued at eighteen crores—their assumed pro-

duct in their most palmy state—were conferred on him,
together with the tributary provinces of Tanjore, Mysore,
and Trichinopoly, on condition that he should furnish a con-

tingent of 15,000 troops, andbe responsible forthe peace ofthe
Deccan. This was the largest stride to power the Mahrattas
had yet achieved. Theywere furnished with a large and per-

manent income by these assignments on districts stretching

from the Nerbudda to Cape Comorin, and from the Malabar
to the Coromandel coast, the coUection of which gave them
a right of constant and vexatious interference with the inter-

nal adminstration of every province. An army of Mahratta
officers, chiefly brahmins, was planted throughout the
country with indefinite powers of exaction for the state,

which they did not fail to turn also to their own profit.

Ferokshere was advised to disallow the convention, and
the breach between him and the Syuds became wider.

Abdoolla called up his brother, who hastened to Death of

the capital, accompanied by 10,000 Mahrattas rwokshere.

under Ballajee, and entered it without opposition. The
emperor made the most abject submission, but was dragged
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from tlie interior of the zenana, where he had taken refuge,

and assassinated. Two puppets were then placed on the

throne, hut they disappeared in a few months by disease or

poison, and a grandson of Bahadoor Shah was raised to

i*-?q Accession of ^he imperial dignity, and assumed the title of
Mahomed Mahomed Shah, the last who deserved the name

of emperor of India. Weak and despicable as

Ferokshere had been, his tragic death created a feeling ot

compassion throughout the country. The popular indigna-

tion against the Syuds was increased, and they found them-
selves the mark of universal execration ; but the gi-eat

object of their alarm was Nizam- ool-moolk, who, though he
. had been ujiited with them in opposition to Ferokshere, was
now alienated from their cause. He marched across the

Kerbudda with a large force into the Deccan, where he had
many adherents both among the Mahrattas and the

Mahomedans, defeated two armies sent against him, and re-

mained master of his position. Meanwhile, Mahomed Shah
was fretting under the yoke of the Synds, and, under the dis-

creet guidance of his mother, formed a confederacy among
his nobles to relieve himself from it. Distracted by the

difficulties which accumulated around them, they resolved

that Hoosen AK should march against Nizam-ool-moolk,
taking the emperor with him, while AbdooUa remained at

1720 Delhi to look after their common interests. Five days after

the march commenced, a savage Calmuk, instigated by the

HussTin AU confederacy, approached the palankeen ofHussun
assassinated. j^\{^ under the pretence of presenting a petition,

and stabbed him to the heart. In the conflict which en-

sued the partizans of the emperor were victorious, and he
returned to Delhi. Abdoolla, whose energy rose with his

danger, set up a new emperor and marched against Baha-
door Shah, but was defeated and captured, though his Hfe

was spared in consideration of his sacred lineage.

SECTION V.

MAHOMED SHAH TO NADLR SHAH's INVASION.

Mahomed Shah entered Delhi with great pomp, a free

1720 monarch a twelvemonth after he had ascended the

_. ,. throne ; but his reigTi, though lonor was marked
of Mahomed by the tokens of rapid decay. The canker worm
Shah. ^g^ ^^ ^Yie root of the august Mogul throne, and
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every year disclosed its ravages. He abolished the odiotis

jezzia, and bestowed high appointments on the rajas

of Jeypore and Joudpore ; but the rana of Oodypore,

wrapped up in his orthodox dignity, refused all intercourse

with the court and sank into obscurity. Saadut Ali, a
Khorasan merchant, who had taken an active ^ . . . ad.

share in the recent proceedings, was appointed SaadutAU, ^'-^

soobadar of Oude, and laid the foundation of the
g^a^e'!'^"

""*

royal dignity, which was extinguished in 1856.

The office of vizier was reserved for Nizam-ool-moolk, who
repaired to the capital, but found the emperor immersed
in pleasure, and so indifferent to the interests of the state

as to have given the custody of the imperial signet to a

favourite mistress. He endeavoured to rouse him Nizam-ooi-

to a sense of his responsibilities at a time when ^°°^-

the empire was crumbling around him, but the emperor
rejected all advice, and joined his dissolute companions in

turning to ridicule the antiquated habits and solemn de-

meanour of the venerable statesman, then in his seventy- 1723

fifth year. Disgusted with the profligacy of the court, and
despairing of any reform, he threw up his office and re-

turned to his government in the Deccan. The emperor
loaded him with honours on his departure, but instigated the

local governor at Hyderabad to resist his authority ; but he
was defeated and slain, and the Nizam fixed on that city,

the capital of the Kootub Sahee dynasty, as the seat of his 1724

government, and from this period may be dated the origin

of the kingdom of the Nizam.
Ballajee had accompanied Hoosen Ali with his troops

to Delhi, but made his submission to Mahomed Shah, and
obtained from him a confirmation of the grants

which had been made by the Syud Hoosen, and ^sw^ath's
returned to Satara with these precious muniments, acquisitions

fourteen in number, and died soon after. The ^'^ ^

political arrangements he made before his death established 1720

the predominant authority of the eight brahmins who
formed the cabinet, and it was likewise extended throughout
the interior, by means of the brahmin agents employed to

collect "Mahratta dues." He was succeeded by his son Bajee
Rao, who had been bred a soldier and a states- Bajee Rao
man, and " united the enterprise, vigour, and ^"^ ^^^

,'_ ..^ HIoycmcutis
" hardihood of a Mahratta chief with the polished
"manners and address of a Concan brahmin." The interest

of the succeeding twenty years in the history of India
centres in the intrigues, the alliances, and the conflicts of

h2
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tte Mahratta statesman at Satara, and the crafty old Tartar,

Nizam-ool-moolk, at Hyderabad, who made peace and war
without any reference to the authority of the emperor at

Delhi. Bajee Rao felt that unless employment could be
found abroad for the large body of predatory horse who
formed the sinews of the Mahratta power, they would be
employed in hatching mischief at home. Fully aware of

the weakness of the empire, he urged on his master, Shao,
" to strike the trunk of the withering tree ; the branches

A.D. " must fall off of themselves. Now is our time to drive
^^^* "strangers from the land of the Hindoos. By directing our

" efforts to Hindostan the Mahratta flag shall float, in
" your reign, from the Eastna to the Attock." But Shao
had been bred in the luxuriance of a Mogul seraglio, and
Bajee Rao, finding his ardour ill-seconded by his effeminate

sovereign, was constrained to act for himself ; and thus the

house of the Peshwa waxed stronger, and the house of

Sevajee weaker.

Nizam-ool moolk, while vizier, had appointed his uncle,

Hamed Khan, governor of Guzerat, in opposition to the

Affairs of court, and Sur-booland Khan was sent to expel
Guzerat. him. Hamed defeated him with the aid of two
Mahratta commanders, whom he had rewarded with a

grant of the chout and the tenth of the revenues of the

province. Bajee Rao took advantage of this discord to

send Sindia, Holkar, and Puar, of Dhar, to levy contribu-

tions in Malwa, while he himself proceeded on the same
errand to Seringapatam in the south. Alarmed

St^^n°"^ by the increasing audacity of the Mahrattas,
Koiaporeand Nizam-ool-moolk endeavoured to renew the dis-

sensions of the rival houses of Kolapore and
Satara. They were at issue for their respective shares of

the assignments granted to the Peshwa on the revenues of

the six soobahs of the Deccan ; and the Nizam, as the repre-

sentative of the emperor, called on them to substantiate

their claims before him. Bajee Rao, indignant at this

attempt to interfere in the domestic affairs of the Mahratta
commonwealth, assembled an army and marched against

him, and though the Nizam was supported by a large body of
1727 Mahrattas, he was driven into a position which constrained

him to enter upon negotiations. The Peshwa, having his

eye upon the course of proceedings in Guzerat, granted him
favourable terms. Sur-booland had succeeded in establish-

ing his authority in that pro^^nce, and the Peshwa was
negotiating with him to obtain for himself the grant of the
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chout and the tenth whicli Hamed Khan had granted to

the two Mahratta generals. To expedite the bargain he
sent his brother to -ravage the country, and the Mogul
governor was obliged to purchase peace by conceding his

demands. While Bajee Rao was thus engaged, Sambajee,

the ruler of Kolapore, crossed the Wurda and laid waste

the territories of Shao. He was defeated, and obliged to

sign an acknowledgment of his cousin's right to the whole
of the Mahratta dominions, with the exception of a small a.d.

tract of country around Kolapore, to which this branch of 1730

Sevajee's family was to be confined. The principality still

exists, while the kingdom of the elder branch has been
absorbed in the British Empire. The Mzam now found a

new instrument of mischief in Dhabaray, the Mahratta
commander-in-chief, who was mortified to find that the

prize of the chout and other dues he had obtained from
Hamed in Guzerat, had been carried off by the Peshwa.
Under the instigation of the Nizam, he proceeded with an
army of 33,000 men towards Satara, on the pretence of re-

leasing his master, Shao, from the tyranny of Bajee Rao, but 1731

he was defeated, and fell in action. The Mahratta interests

in Guzerat were then entrusted to Peelajee Gaikwar,
whose immediate ancestor was a cowherd, and whose
descendants still occupy the throne of Baroda.
To this period also belongs the rise of the families of

Holkar and Sindia, destined to play an important part in

the subsequent politics of India, and whose Else of

descendants continue to wear the crowns they sin(^aand

acquired. Mulhar Rao Holkar was the son of a
herdsman who exchanged the crook for the sword, and by
his daring courage recommended himself to Bajee Rao, by
whom he was entrusted with the very agreeable charge of
levying contributions in eighty-four villages in Malwa.
Ranojee Sindia was of the caste of husbandmen, and
entered the service of Ballajee as a menial, but was intro-

duced into his body-guard, and became one of the foremost
of the Mahratta chieftains in that age of enterprise. Like
Holkar, he was sent to establish the Mahratta authority in

Malwa, and these assignments became the nucleus of their

future dominions
After the defeat of Dhabaray, the Nizam was, to a certain

extent, at the mercy of Bajee Rao, but they both perceived
that it would be for their common interest to Bajee Hao's

come to an understanding, and they entered into ^^^"T*^^'"
a secret compact, which stipulated that the
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4^D, Nizam's territories sbould not be molested, while Bajee Rao
1731 should be at liberty to plunder the Mo^^ul territories in the

north. He accordingly crossed the jNerbudda, and laid

waste the province of Malwa. The imperial governor was at

the time employed in coercing a refractory chief in Bundle-
cund, who called in the aid of Bajee Rao, and rewarded
his services by the cession of a third of the province of

1732 Jhansi, and thus the Mahratta standard was for the first

time planted on the banks of the Jumna. The government
of Malwa was then bestowed on the Rajpoot raja Jeysing,

whose reign was rendered illustrious by the patronage of

science, the erection of the beautiful city of Jeypore, with

its palaces, halls, and temples, and its noble observatory.

The profession of a common faith promoted a friendly

1734 intercourse between him and Bajee Rao, the result of which
was the surrender of the province to the Mahratta, with
the tacit concurrence of the helpless emperor.

These multiplied concessions only served, as might have
been expected, to inflame the ambition and to increase the

His increased demands of the Peshwa. Great as were the
demands. resources of the Mahratta commonwealth, the

larger portion of the revenues was absorbed by the difier-

ent feudatories, and only a fraction reached the treasury at

Satara. The magnitude of Bajee Rao's operations had in-

volved him in debt ; his troops were clamorous for pay,

and the discipline of the army necessarily suffered by these

arrears. He demanded of the imperial court a confirma-

tion of the assignments granted by Sur-booland Khan on
the revenues of Guzerat, of the rights he had acquired

1736 in Bundlecund, and the absolute cession of the rich pro-

vince of Malwa. The feeble cabinet at Delhi endeavoured
to pacify him by minor grants, which only led him to in-

crease his claims, and he proceeded to demand the cession

of all the country south of the Chumbul, together with the

holy cities of Muttra, Benares, and Allahabad. To quicken
the apprehensions of the emperor, he sent Holkar to

plunder the Dooab, the province lying between the Jumna
and the Ganges, but he was driven back by Saadut Ali, the

soobadar of Oude. This was magnified into a great vic-

tory, and it was reported that the Mahrattas had been
obliged to retire. " I was compelled," said Bajee Rao, " to

1737 " tell the emperor the tnith, and to prove to him that T was
" still in Hindostan, and to show him flames and the Mah-
" rattas at the gates of his capital." He therefore took the

field in person, aod marching at the rate of forty miles a
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day, suddenly presented himself before the gates of Delhi.

The consternation in the capital may be readily conceived ; a.d.

but the object of Bajee Kao was not to sack the city, but 1737

to intimidate the emperor into concessions, and circum-

stances rendered it advisable for him to retreat to Satara.

The Mahrattas now appeared to be paramount in India,

and the Nizam was considered the only man who could

save the empire from extinction. He listened
jj-fg^toftj^

to the overtures of the emperor and proceeded to Nizam by

Delhi, where he was invested with full powers Bajee Roa.

to call out all the resources of the state ; but they were re-

duced to so low a point that the army under his personal

command could only be completed to 30,000 men, with

which he returned to the south, Bajee Rao crossed the

Nerbudda with 80,000 men. Owing, perhaps to his great

age—^ninety-three—perhaps to over confidence in the great

superiority of his artillery, the Nizam entrenched himself

near Bhopal. Bajee Eao adopted the national system of

warfare, laid waste the country, intercepted all supplies,

attacked every detachment which ventured beyond the

lines, and on the twenty-fifth day of the siege obliged the

Nizam to sign a humiliating treaty, granting him the sove- ^738

reignty of Malwa and the territories up to the Chumbul,
and engaging to use his influence to obtain from the im-

perial treasury the sum of half a crore of rupees, which he
had not ceased to demand ; but that treasure was to find a
very different destination.

It was in the midst of these distractions that Nadir Shah
appeared on the banks of the Indus, and India was visited

with another of those tempests of desolation to .

gj^^
which it had been repeatedly subject for some
centuries. The Persian dynasty of the Sofis, which had
occupied the throne for nearly two centuries, was sub-

verted in 1720 by the Ghiljies, the most powerful
tribe in Afghanistan. Shah Hossen, the last of that

royal line, was besieged by them in his capital, Ispahan,

then in the height of its prosperity, and after enduring

for six months the extremities of misery and starva-

tion, went out with his court in deep mourning to the

Afghan camp, and surrendered his crown to Mahmood,
the Afghan chief. He died at the end of two years, and
was succeeded by his son Asruf. Nadir Shah, the greatest

general Persia has produced, was the son of a shepherd of

Khorasan, and commenced his career by collecting a band
of freebooters. Finding himself, at length, at the head of a
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powerful army, he freed his native province from the

Afghans, and then constrained the Ghiljie monarch to

A.D. resign all his father's conquests in Persia. He raised
1729 Thamasp, the son of the dethroned Sofi king, to the throne

;

but after expelling the Turks and the Russians from the

provinces they had conquered, deposed Thamasp and be-
^731 stowed the nominal sovereignty on his infant son, while he

himself assumed the title of king, upon the importunity, as

it was affirmed, of 100,000 nobles, soldiers, and peasants
1736 whom he had assembled on a vast plain To find employ-

ment for his troops and to gratify his own ambition and
avarice, he carried his arms into Afghanistan, and resolved

to re-annex Candahar to the Persian throne. While engaged
in the siege of that town he sent a messenger to Delhi to

demand the surrender of some of his fugitive subjects,

but, owing to the distraction of the times, the claim was
1738 neglected. A second messenger was murdered at Jellala-

bad. The Government of India had from time immemorial
paid an annual subsidy to the wild highlanders who oc-

cupied the passes between Cabul and Peshawur, and the

imperial cabinet doubtless trusted to their power to arrest

the progress of Nadir, The payment of this black mail
had, however, been for some time withheld, and they
opened the gates of India to the Persian monarch, who
crossed the Indus wdth 65,000 of his veteran troops and
overran the Punjab before the court of Delhi was awai'e

of his approach.

The emperor Mahomed Shah marched to Kurnal to

meet this invasion, but experienced a fatal defeat, and pro-

_, ceeding to the Persian camp, threw himself on
Delhi, and the compassion of the conqueror. The object of
massacre. J^adir Shah was treasure and not conquest, and it is

affirmed that he was prepared to retire on the payment of

two crores of rupees ; but Saadut Ali, the soobadar of Oude,
having some cause of offence with the emperor, represented
to the Persian that this was a very inadequate ransom for

so rich an empire, and that his own province alone could
afford this sum. JSTadir resolved, therefore, to levy exactions
under his own eye. He entered Delhi in March, and on the

1739 succeeding day a thousand of his soldiers were massacred
upon a report of his death. He went out to restore order,

but was assailed with missiles, and one of his chiefs was
killed by his side, upon which he issued orders for a general

massacre. For many hours the metropolis presented a
scene of rapine, lust, and carnage, and 8,000 are said to
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have fallen victims to his infariated soldiery. Yet so com-
plete was the discipline he had established that every

sword was sheathed as soon as he issued the order. He
took possession of all the imperial treasures, including the

peacock throne
;
plundered the nobles, and caused every

house to be sacked, sparing no cruelty to extort confessions

of wealth. From the disloyal Saadut AH he exacted the

full tale of two crores, and the traitor terminated his exist-

ence by poison. The governors of other provinces were not a.b.

spared ; and Nadir Shah, after having thus subjected the 1739

capital and the country for fifty-eight days to spoliation,

and feeling satisfied that he had exhausted the wealth of

the empire, prepared to retire with an accumulation of

thirty-two crores of rupees. He restored Mahomed Shah
to the throne, but annexed all the provinces west of the

Indus to the crown of Persia. On his departure he issued

a proclamation to the princes of India, stating that he was
now proceeding to the conquest of other regions, but that

if any report of their having revolted from " his dear

"brother, Mahomed Shah," reached his ears, he would return

and blot their names out of the book of creation.

The Mogul power, which had been in a state of rapid

decay since the death of Aurungzebe, received its death
blow from the invasion of Nadir Shah, and the state of

sack of the capital. The empire was breaking up intiia.

into fragments, and the authority and the prestige of the

throne was irrecoverably gone. The various provinces

yielded only a nominal homage to the crown. All its

possessions beyond the Indus were permanently alienated.

In the extreme south of the peninsula the Mogul
sovereignty was a matter of history. The Nabob of the

Carnatic acknowledged no superior. The rest of the

Deccan was shared between the Nizam and the Mahrattas.

In the provinces of Guzerat and Malwa, the power of the

Peshwa was already predominant. The allegiance of the
princes of Rajpootana was very vacillating. The viceroys

of Oude and Bengal, the richest provinces of India,

acknowledged the emperor as their suzerain, but yielded

him no obedience. Even in the vicinity of the capital, new
chiefs were, as the native historian remarks, " beating the
" drum of independence." The house of Baber had accom-
plished the usual cycle of Indian dynasties, which seldom
exceeded two centuries, and its sceptre was now to pass
into the hands of a company of European merchants, with
the sea, and not Central Asia, for the base of its enterprise.
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Having thus reached the period when the Mogul throne
ceased to exercise any influence on the politics of India,

we turn to the progress of the European settlements on
the continent, and to the history of the East India
Company, which began its career with a factory, and
closed it by transferring the Empire of India to the Crown
of Eng^land.

CHAPTER IV.

SECTION I.

RISE AND PEOGRESS OF THE PORTUGUESE.

For five centuries the tide of Mahomedan invasion had
rolled across the Indus from Central Asia, and spread from
north to south, A new era now dawns upon us, ushered
in by the appearance of a European fleet, and the progress

is, henceforth, from south to north. The Mahomedans
entered India in the spirit of conquest ; the Europeans
came in search of trade. The productions of the East
had, from time immemorial, been a great object of desire

to the inhabitants of the West, who had been accus-

tomed to obtain them through many circuitous channels.

In the middle ages the trade had enriched the republics

of Venice and Genoa, and a general anxiety was created to

obtain direct access to India. During the fifteenth century

the spirit of maritime adventure was strongly developed in

Europe, and more especially in the small but spirited king-

dom of Portugal, in which great progress had been made
in the science of naval architecture. This spirit was warmly
encouraged by its sovereigns, who fitted out a succession of

expeditions, and gradually advanced along the coast of

Africa, making fresh discoveries in each voyage. At length,

John II. sent three vessels, under the command of Bartho-

lomew Dias, to discover the southern limit of the African

continent. He was the first navigator to double the Cape,

where the tempestuous weather he encountered led him to

U86 Discovery designate it " The Cape of Storms "
; but his

of the Cape, delighted sovereign, hoping to reach India by

A.D
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this route, more appropriately called it the Cape of Good
Hope. Soon after, Christopher Columbus, the enterprising

Genoese sailor, convinced that India was to be discovered

bj saihng west, offered his services to king John, but they

were not accepted, and he proceeded on his adventurous

expedition under the auspices of the king of Spain, and
the continent of America was discovered in 1492.

Eleven years elapsed after Dias had rounded the Cape
before any attempt was made to improve the discovery.

King John was succeeded by Emanuel, who entered on the

field of enterprise with great ardour, and in 1497 fitted

out three vessels in the hope of finding a way to India

from the Cape. The little fleet, consisting of vessels of

small tonnage, was entrusted to Vasco de Gama, who a.d.

quitted Lisbon, after the performance of religious solem- 1497

nities, on the 8th July, 1497, amidst the acclamations of

the king, the court, and the people. Having reached the

Cape in safety, he launched out boldly into the unexplored

Indian Ocean, where, while traversing three thousand miles,

nothing but the sea and the sky was visible for twenty-three

days. He sighted the Malabar coast in May, Discovery

1498, and brought his enterprise to a glorious °f ^'^*-

issue as he cast anchor off the town of Calicut. It lay 1^98

in that portion of the Deccan which the Mahomedan arms
had not reached, and belonged to a Hindoo prince styled

the Zamorin, who gave the Portuguese commander an
honourable reception, and at once granted him the privi-

lege of trade in his dominions. But the commerce of the
Malabar coast, with its fifty harbours, had hitherto been
monopolised by the traders from Egypt and Arabia, who
felt no little jealousy at the arrival of these interlopers,

and having gained over his minister, persuaded the
Zamorin that the Portuguese were not the merchants they
represented themselves to be, but pirates who had escaped
from their own country, and had now come to infest the
eastern seas. The feelings of the prince were at once
changed to hostility, and Vasco, after a residence of several

months on the coast, seeing little hope of an amicable
intercourse, set sail on his return. He entered the Tagus,
after an absence of twenty-six months, on the 29th of U99
August, 1499, in regal pomp, and received the homage of the
court and the people, who crowded to the beach to admire
the vessels which had performed this wonderful voyage.
It was six years and a half after Columbus had astounded
the nations of Europe by the discovery of the New World,
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that Vasco increased their amazement by announcing the
discovery by sea of the way to India, the region of fabu-
lous wealth.

The king of Portugal lost no time in following up the
enterprise, and immediately fitted out an expedition, which

Seconder- Consisted of thirteen ships and 1,200 men, the
pedition— command of which was given, not to Vasco, but

to Cabral, who was, however, well qualified for

the undertaking. He was accompanied by eight friars,

. and directed to carry fire and sword into every province

A.D. which would not receive their teaching. After launching
1500 into the Atlantic, his fleet was driven, in 1500, by the

violence of the wind, to the coast of South America, where
he discovered, and took possession of, Brazil, which has
ever since remained an appanage of Portugal. On the 1 3th
of September he anchored ofiF Calicut, and having restored

the hostages who had been taken away by Vasco, was
graciously received by the Zamorin, and obtained per-

mission to erect a factory. But the Mahomedan traders

effectually prevented his obtaining any cargoes, and he
seized one of their richest vessels, and having transferred

its contents to his own ships, set it on fire. An attack was
immediately made on his factory, and fifty men were
killed. Cabral resented it by capturing and burning ten

other vessels, after he had taken possession of their cargoes.

He then cannonaded the town from his fleet, and sailed to

the neighbouring port of Cochin, where he formed an
alliance with the chief, a dependent of the Zamorin, and
returned to Lisbon.

The disasters which Cabral had encountered induced the

officers of state to advise the abandonment of these enter-

Second prises, but the king was ambitious of founding an
voyage of oriental empire, and having obtained a bull

from the Pope conferring on him the sovereignty

of all the countries visited by his fleets in the East, heassumed
the title of" Lord of the navigation, conquest, and commerce
" of Ethiopia, Persia, Arabia, and India." A third expedi-

tion, consisting of fifteen vessels,was fitted out and entrusted

to Vasco de Gama, who, on his arrival at Calicut, de-

1502 manded reparation for the insult ofiered to Cabral, which
was peremptorily refused, and he set the town on fire. He
then proceeded to the friendly port of Cochin, where he
left Pacheco with a handftd of men to protect the Portu-

guese factory, and unaccountably set sail for Europe. The
Zamorin of Calicut marched to the attack of Cochin for
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having harboured the Portuguese, and invested the fac-

tory, but though his troops exceeded those of Pacheco
by fifty to one, they were ignominiously defeated, and the

superiority of European to Asiatic soldiers, which has ever

since been maintained, was now for the first time ex-

hibited, and the foundation was laid for European as-

cendancy in India. a.d.

In 1505, the king of Portugal sent out Almeyda with 1505

the grand title of viceroy of India, though he did not
possess a foot of land in it. Almeyda had to en-

counter a new and more formidable opponent. ^^^ "'

The Venetians, who had hitherto monopolised the lucrative

trade of India, regarded with a jealous eye the attempts of the

Portuguese to divert it into a new channel round the Cape.
The bulk of the commerce which had made their island the

queen of the Adriatic and the envy of Europe, was con-

veyed through Egypt, where they enjoyed a paramount
influence, and they prevailed on the Sultan to send a fleet

down the Red Sea to sweep the interlopers from the coast

of India, and assisted him with naval materials from their

forests in Dalmatia. The king of the maritime province
of Guzerat was equally alarmed at the growing power of

the Portuguese on the sea, aud sent his ships to co-operate
with the Egyptian fleet. They came up with a portion of
the Portuguese fleet in the harbour of Choul, and defeated
it. Young Almeyda was killed in the action ; his father

determined to avenge his death, and, finding that Dabul,
one of the greatest commercial marts on the coast, had
taken part with the Egyptian fleet, reduced it to ashes,

with great slaughter. He then proceeded in Naval

search of the combined fleets, and found them action's.

anchored in the harbour of Diu, and obtained a splendid 1508

victory over them ; but he stained his reputation by the
massacre of his prisoners to avenge the death of his son.

He had been previously superseded by Albuquerque, sent
out by the court of Lisbon to take charge of the Portu-
guese interests in India. He was a man of great ^ibu.
enterprise and boundless ambition. He attacked querque.

the town of Calicut, but lost a fourth of his force in the
assault. He came to the conclusion that, instead of these
desultory attacks in which the Portuguese had hitherto
been engaged, it would be more advisable to make a per-
manent establishment on that coast, in some port and town
which would afibrd a safe harbour for their ships, and
become the citadel of their power. He fixed on Goa, on



110 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IV.

the coast of Canara, situated on an island twenty-three

miles in circumference, and one of the most valuable ports

ou that coast. It thus became the metropolis of the Por-
tuguese dominions in India, and every effort made from time
to time to capture it by the native princes proved unavailing.

He now assumed the position of an eastern prince, and
received embassies with oriental pomp. He proceeded to

the remote provinces in the Malay archipelago, where he
established his authority, and carried his commercial enter-

prises to Siam, Java, and Sumatra. His efforts were next
directed to the west, and he obtained possession of Ormuz,
the great emporium of the Persian Gulf. The genius ofAlbu-
querque had thus in the course of nine years built up a great

European power in the East. He appeared rather to eschew
than to court territorial possessions, but hispowerthroughout
the eastern seas was irresistible, and his authority was su-

preme along 12,000 miles of coast, on which he had planted

thirty factories, many of which were fortified. But his last

days were clouded by the ingratitude of his country. In the

midst of his triumphs he was superseded by the intrigues

A.D. of the court ; the reverse broke his heart, and he died
1515 as he entered the hai'bour of Goa. He was interred in the

great settlement which he had established, amidst the re-

grets of Europeans and natives, by whom he was equally

beloved.

During the whole of the sixteenth century the maritime
power of the Portuguese continued to be the most formid-

able in the eastern hemisphere, and the terror of

guese six- every state on the sea-board. They took possession
1517 t^nth cen- ^f ^^^e Island of Ceylon, and in 1517 proceeded to

China, and established the first European factory,

1531 at Macao, in the Celestial Empire, In 1631 they equipped
an armament of400 vessels, with an army of 22,000 men, of

whom 3,600 were Europeans, and captured Diu, which,
1537 though lost for a time, was regained. In 1537 the king

of Guzerat implored the Grand Seigneur to assist him in

freeing India from the presence of the infidels, and a large

fleet, with 7,000 Turkish soldiers on board, was fitted out at

Suez, and being joined by the Guzerat army, 20,000 strong,

laid close siege to Diu. Sylviera, the commander, had only

600 men for its defence, but he sustained the siege, amidst
the deepest privations, with European gallantry, for eight

months. The assailants, driven to despair, were obliged

to withdraw, and the fame of the foreigners who had baffled

the united forces of the Sultan of Turkey and the king of
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Guzerat was diffused through India. The most memorable
event in the annals of Portuguese India was the combina-
tion formed for their expulsion by the kings of Ahmed- ^jj
nugur and Beejapore and the Zamorin of Calicut. The 1570

siege of Goa, which they undertook, lasted ten months, but
was at length abandoned after the confederates had lost

12,000 men. The king of Bengal, pressed by Shore Sing,

in 1538 sent an embassy to Goa to implore the aid of the 1538

Portuguese Governor- General, who despatched nine armed
vessels with troops to his assistance. This was the first

introduction of Europeans into the valley of the Ganges.
The Portuguese estabhshed a factory at a place called the

Gola, or granary,—subsequently designated Hooghly,—and
completely drew off the trade of the province from the

neighbouring town of Satgang, which had been the great

mercantile emporium of Bengal for fifteen centuries. The
factory grew to be a flourishing town, adorned with nu-
merous churches, and so strongly fortified, that when the
Moguls subsequently attacked it with three armies, they
were unable to carry it by storm, but were constrained to

have recourse to mines.

At the beginning of the seventeenth century, when the
greatness of the Portuguese had reached its zenith, they
were encountered, and eventually supplanted by a
European rival. The Dutch, having thrown off DuTch and*

the yoke of Spain, entered upon a career of mari- decay of the

timeenterprise with extraordinaryardour. In 1596
they sent an expedition round the Cape to the eastern islands, 1596

which returned laden with spices and other valuable com-
modities, and gave so great a stimulus to the spirit of com-
merce that, within five years, forty vessels, of from four to

six hundred tons burden, were embarked in the trade.

They gradually wrested the spice islands and Malacca and
the island of Ceylon from the Portuguese, but not without
many a sanguinary conflict. An expedition, undertaken
jointly by the king of Persia and the East India Company,
deprived the Portuguese of Ormuz, and within a century
and a half of the arrival of Vasco de Gama there remained
nothing to the crown of Portugal of its eastern possessions

but Goa, Mozambique, and Macao in China. The com-
merce of the Dutch lay chiefly with the eastern archipelago

;

on the continent of India they never possessed more than
a few factories.

I
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SECTIOIT II.

PROGEESS OF THE FKENCH TO THE PEACE OP AK-LA-CHAPELLE.

The great advantages which the trade of India had con-

ferred on the Portuguese and Dutch inspired the French

The French "with a dcsire to participate in it, and several
East India attempts Were made to acquire a commercial
ompaiiy.

fQQ^jj^g {jj ^j^g East during the first half of the

seventeenth century, but without success. At length, the

great minister, Colbert, who had created the Freuch navy
and harbours, took up the matter, and established the

French East India Company. Its first enterprise was
directed to the island of Madagascar, but it was abandoned,
owing to the unhealthiness of the climate and the hostility

of the natives, and the Company took possession of the

A.D. uninhabited island of Bourbon and of the larger island of

167-i the Mauritius in its vicinity. In April, 1674, Martin, the

earliest of the French colonists, and a man of remarkable
energy, having obtained a grant ofland on the Coromandel
coast from the native prince, laid the foundation of the

Erection of town of Pondicherry, which he was permitted to
Pondicherry. fortify. Three years later it was threatened by

1676 Sevajee in his southern expedition, which has been noticed

in a previous chapter, but was saved by the tact of Martin.

War broke out at length between Holland and France, and
the Dutch, envious of the prosperity of Pondicherry, sent

a fleet of nineteen vessels against it. Martin was obliged

to capitulate, and all hope of establishing French power on
that coast appeared to wither away. The Dutch improved
the fortifications and rendered it one of the strongest

fortresses in India, but four years after were obliged to

restore it by the treaty of Ryswick. Martin, with hia

usual energy, strengthened the works, and attracted native

settlers by his honest dealings and his conciliatory man-
ners ; and on the spot which he had occupied thirty-two

years before with six European settlers, there had grown
up at the period of his death a noble town with 40,000
inhabitants. The charter of the Company was cancelled

1719 in 1719, and it was absorbed in the schemes of Law, of

Mississippi notoriety. On the collapse of his project, the

Company was re-organised as a commercial association
;

the town gradually recovered its prosperity, which had
been affected by the extinction of the Company, and was
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embellished by the taste of its governors, who also rivalled

the native princes in the state they now assumed. a.d.

M. Dumas was appointed governor of Pondicherry in 1735

1735. He united great energy of character with, what is

so rarely found among Europeans in India, a Dumas, go-

genial disposition, which in an eminent degree vemorof

conciliated both the native princes and the people.
°°^ '^ *''^'

Rughoojee Bhonslay, the raja of Berar, poured down with

50,000 Mahratta troops, and Dost Ali, who had become
nabob of the Carnatic amidst the confusion of the times, en-

deavoured to arrest his progress, but was signally defeated

and fell in battle. His son, Sufder Jung, and his son-in-

law, Chunda Sahib, prevailed on M. Dumas to grant them
and their families and property an asylum at Pondicherry,

the strongest fortress on the coast. He received them in

princely state, surrounded by his horse and foot guards, and
they and their cortege entered the gates of the town
under a royal salute. Soon after Sufder Ali made his

peace with the Mahrattas, upon an engagement to pay a
crore of rupees, and was installed nabob of the Carnatic
without any reference to the emperor, or even to his repre-

sentative in the Deccan, Nizam-ool-moolk. His family was
withdrawn from Pondicherry, but the family and the
wealth of Chunda Sahib remained under the protection of

the French ramparts. Rughoojee Bhonslay, disappointed of

this treasure, sent a force of 16,000 men to demand the
payment of sixty lacs of rupees and the surrender of
Chunda Sahib's family. Dumas had organised a body of

1,200 Europeans and 4,000 or 5,000 native troops—the

germ of a sepoy army—and he received the envoy with
courtesy, and after showing him over his military stores

and equipments, and drawing up his force, desired him to

assure his master that so long as a single Frenchman was
left there would be no surrender. The resolute character
of Dumas, and the resources of the garrison, made a deep 1740

impression on the Mahratta prince, but it was French cor-

dials rather than French bayonets that carried the day. M.
Dumas sent by the envoy a present of French liqueurs to

Rughoojee, who gave them to bis wife, and she was so
delighted with them as to insist on a further supply. The
desire to gratify her, combined, doubtless, with a Rughoojee

reluctance to risk an assault on a fortress of Bhonslay.

European strength, led to a negotiation which ended in
the retreat of the Mahrattas. M. Dumas was congratulated
by the native princes of India on his successful resistanco

I
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of the redoubted Mahrattas, and the emperor conferred on
him and his successors the title of nabob, and the rank of

a commander of 4,500 horse.

Dumas was succeeded by Dapleix, a man of extraordinary

genius, and one of the most illustrious statesmen in the

Energy of annals of French India. He had acquired a
Dupieix. large fortune in trade before he was appointed
Intendant of Chandernagore, on the banks of the Hooghly,
where a French factory had been established in 1676. It

had never flourished, while the English factory at Calcutta

had been rising in wealth and importance, but the creative

genius of Dupieix in the course of ten years made it one of

the most opulent European factories in Bengal. At the

period of his assuming the charge of the town not more
than half-a-dozen small coasting craft were to be seen at the

landing-place ; before his departure seventy vessels were
engaged in trade to Yeddo, to Mocha, to Bussorah, and
to China. He estabhshed agencies in the great marts in

the interior, and his transactions were extended to Thibet.

He surrounded the towTi with fortifications, and assisted

A.D. in the erection of two thousand houses. He was appointed

1741 to the government of Pondicherry in October, 1741, and
well knowing that in the East the pomp of state is always
an element of political strength, made such a display of

magnificence, and exacted such deference as an oflBcer of

the Mogul Empire, as to dazzle the princes and people of

the Deccan, and to augment the reputation of French
power. His first attention was given to the improvement
of the fortifications, but before they were completed he

was informed by the Directors of his company that

war between France and England was imminent ; and,

moreover, that they would be unable to supply him with
1746 money, ships, or soldiers. At the same time he learned

that a large naval squadron was ready to sail from Eng-

War between land, while he could only muster 436 European
France and troops, and had Only a single vessel of war at his
ng an

. disposal. In this emergency he determined to

invoke the aid of the native princes whose friendship his

predecessors had assiduously cultivated, and to solicit

Anwar-ood-deen, who had been appointed nabob of the

Carnatic by Nizam-ool-moolk, to lay an injunction on the

1745 governor of Madras to abstain from any aggression on the

French settlement. The governor considered it prudent
to obey the order. The anxieties of Dupieix were likewise

relieved by the arrival of Labourdonnais with a powerful

I
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French fleet. This officer, a man of singular enterprise, •*•"•

had been for several years governor of the MauritiiLS and
Bourbon, and had raised the islands by his energy ard

ability to a state of the greatest prosperity. He found the

greater part of the Mauritius on his arrival covered with

an almost impenetrable jungle, and inhabited by a sparse

and indolent population. He created magazines and
arsenals, barracks and fortifications ; he erected mills, quays,

and aqueducts, and gave the settlement that importance in

the operations of his nation, which it maintained for nearly

seventy years ; but the value of all his noble qualities was
impaired by his pride and arrogance. The two fleets were
not long before they came to an engagement.
The conflict between the French and the English in

India, which began with this naval battle in 1746, forms an
important era in its modern history. Hitherto, Result of

the European settlements dotted around the the conflict.

Malabar and Coromandel coasts, content with the peaceful

pursuits of commerce, had taken no share and little interest

in the revolutions of power in the interior, and in the rise

and fall of states. Down to the present time, moreover,
while the French and EngHsh nations were often at war in

Europe, during seventy years their Indian settlements lay

peaceably side by side. But the scene was now changed.
The governors of the two Companies embarked in a struggle

for supremacy, embodied native troops and imported
regiments from Europe, directing their attention more
to the operations of war than of commerce, and, in more
than one instance, fighting to the death in India after

peace had been restored in Europe. They formed alliances

and were drawn into conflicts with the native princes, which
served to demonstrate the vast superiority of European
soldiers over native troops, and this led to the rapid acqui-

sition of political influence in the country, and, by an
inevitable consequence, to the possession of territory.

Within the brief period of eleven years after the two
European powers had fired the first shot at each other, the
French had acquired the undisputed authority of a territory

in the south, containing a population of thirty-five

millions, and in the north the Enghsh had the supreme
command of provinces exceeding in area and population
the whole of Great Britain.

The two fleets met in July, 1746. The action was inde- 1746

cisive, but the English admiral, on the plea that one of his

ships stood in need of repairs, sailed away to the south
I 2
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and left Madras, which he had been • sent out to protect,

Capture of at the mercy of the French. The Kttle hamlet
Madras.

^^^ which the British ensign was planted in 1639,
had in the course of a century expanded into a town with a
native population of between one and two hundred thousand.

The fortifications of Madras, which had never been very
substantial, were now dilapidated, and of the small garrison

of two hundred Europeans few had ever seen a shot fired.

Against this defenceless townLabourdonnais advanced with
a large fl.eet, 1,100 European troops, and 800 native sepoys

Skpt ^^^ Africans. The President, after a decent resistance,

2lsT, surrendered it, and Labourdonnais held it at ransom for a
1746 sumof about sixty lacsof rupees; but Dupleix asserted that as

long as the English held possession of the settlement, Pondi-
cherry could not be expected to flourish, and he was deter-

mined to extinguish all English interests on the coast.

The violent altercations which arose between these two able

but inflexible men may be readily imagined. Meanwhile,
the monsoon set in with exceptional violence, and the French
fleet suffered to such an extent as to oblige Labourdonnais
to return to the islands to refit. Dupleix immediately an-

nulled the convention he had made with the president of

Madras, and conveyed all the European officers prisoners to

Pondicherry. Labourdonnais retired to France, where he
was followed by the accusations of Dupleix and of the

enemies he had made, and was thrown into the Bastile, where
he lingered for three years, and, though released when the

1 753 charges against him were disproved, died of a broken heart.

On the approach of the French armament, the president of

Madras, in his turn, had appealed to the nabob of the Carna-

Battie of 'fcic, as Dupleix had done, and prevailed on him to
St. Thom6. prohibit any attack on the town. Dupleix, how-
ever, found little diflB.culty in persuading him to withdraw
the injunction by promising to make over the settlement

to him when it was captured, but after he had obtained pos-

session of it it appeared too valuable a prize to be relin-

quished. The nabob was irritated beyond measure, and
asked who were these foreigners that they should thus set

him at defiance, with a handful of European and native

troops not equal to a twentieth of his own army? His
son was sent with 10,000 men to drive the French from
Madras, but half a dozen rapid discharges of cannon
bewildered them, and they retired more quickly than tbey

had advanced. Dupleix, on hearing of the investment of the

town, despatched a reinforcement consisting of 230 Euro-
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peans and 700 sepoys. The son of the nabob marched to Nov.
meet the detachment, and came up with it at St. Thom6, 4th,

about four miles from Madras. The commander, Paradis, 17-16

though without guns, assaulted the enemy with such vigour

that the young nabob, who was mounted on a lofty elephant,

and carried the royal ensign, was the first to fly from the

field. He was followed precipitately by the whole body of

10,000 men, who never paused till they were almost in

sight of Arcot. This engagement, although small in com-
parison with others, may be considered one of the most
important and decisive battles in India. For the first time
it gave the European settlers confidence in their own
strength, and took all conceit of fighting out of the native

princes. It taught the Europeans to disregard the disparity

of numbers, however great, and dissolved the spell which
had hitherto held them in abject subjection to the

native powers.

The success of the French induced the nabob at once to

change sides. The only possession left to the English on
the coast was Fort St. David, and Dupleix sent an siegeofPon- 1746

expedition against it ; but it was defended by the dichenry.

earliest ofour Indian heroes, Major Stringer Lawrence, and
the French were obliged to retire, after four unsuccessful

assaults. Soon after, admiral Boscawen arrived off" the

coast with a large fleet and a large reinforcement of troops,

and it was determined to retaliate on the French by the cap-

ture of Pondicherry. The admiral unhappily determined to

take the conduct of the siege on himself, but being altogether

ignorant of military science and impatient of advice, he 1748

was subject to an ignominious failure. After having in-

vested it for fifty days with the largest European force, little

short of 4,000 men, which had ever yet been assembled in

India, he was obliged to raise the siege, but not before

he had lost one-fourth of his troops. Dupleix lost no time
in trumpeting his success throughout India, and he received 1748

congratulations from the nabob at Arcot, from the Nizam
at Hyderabad, and even from the emperor at Delhi. Imme-
diately after this event, the peace of Aix la Chapelle
restored Madras to the English, and Dupleix had the mor-
tification of seeing his hated rivals reinstated in all their 1749

possessions.



1 1 8 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IV.

SECTION III.

FROM THE PEACE OF AIX LA CHAPELT. E TO THE TEAR 1756.

It might have been expected that the English and the
French would now sheathe their swords and return to the

English in-
piifsuits of Commerce ; but, as the great historian,

yade Tan- Orme, remarks, " The two nations having a
" " large body of troops at their disposal, and being
" no longer authorised to fight with each other, took the
" resolution of employing their armies in the contests of
" native princes, the Eughsh with great indiscretion, the
" French with the utmost ambition." The English were
the first to set the example ; they were anxious to obtain

an accession of territory on the coast, and they accepted

the offer of Sahoojee, who had been deposed from the
government of Tanjore, to cede the town and district of

i.j) Devicotta, at the mouth of the Coleroon, if they would
1749 restore him to the throne. A force of about 1,500 men was

accordingly sent under Major Lawrence, who obtained pos-

session of the town, after a long and clumsy siege—the

first the English were engaged in. But he found the cause

of Sahoojee hopelessly unpopular, a.nd returned to Madras,
and persuaded the president to come to an accommodation
with Pertab Sing, the prince then on the throne.

Dupleix, however, aimed at a higher object than the ac-

quisition of an insignificant town and a few miles of terri-

Ambition of tory On the coast. He had seen a single battalion,
Dupleix. consisting only in part of Europeans, disperse a

native army, of ten times its number, like a flock of sheep.

The rise of this new military power filled the minds of the

native princes with awe ; and Dupleix determined to avail

himself of their rivalries, and the fermentation of the times,

to erect a French empire in India. Chunda Sahib, the

most enterprising prince in the Deccan, had been deprived

of the important town of Trichinopoly by the Mahrattas,

and carried away prisoner to Satara, where he languished

for seven years. He was exceedingly popular throughout

the Carnatic, and Dupleix conceived that his ambitious plans

would be promoted by making him the nabob, in the room
of Anwar-ood-deen, whose government was greatly dis-

liked. He therefore obtained his liberation by the payment
of a ransom of seven lacs of rupees ; and Chunda Sahib

speedily collected a body of 6,000 men, and advanced
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towards the borders of the Carnatic. Just at this period,

Nizam-ool-moolk, the soobadar of the Deccan,
pg^^jj^^f

and the founder of the kingdom of Hyderabad, Kizam-ooi-

died at a patriarchal age, and the affairs of the ^°°^-

Deccan were thrown into a state of confusion which greatly

facilitated the ambitious projects of the French governor.

Of the five sons of the Nizam, Nazir Jung, though often in

revolt against his father, happened to be with him at the

hour of death, and having obtained possession of the trea-

sury and bought over the chiefs in the army and the state,

proclaimed himself soobadar. But there was a grandson
of the Nizam, Mozufier Jung, the son of his daughter,

whom he had destined for the succession, and in whose
favour he had obtained a, firman from the emperor of Delhi.

He lost no time in collecting an army to assert his claim

to the throne, and was joined by Chunda Sahib, to whom he
promised the nabobship of the Carnatic. The French at

once embarked in the cause, and a force was despatched to

his aid under the command of Bussy, the ablest officer in

the French service. The confederates encountered the

army of Anwar-ood-deen at Amboor ; he was completely

defeated, and fell in action, and his son, Mahomed pgath of
"^^^

Ali, fled to Trichinopoly, where the treasures of Anwar-ood- '

the state were deposited. MozuiFer marched the
^^'

next day to Arcot, and assumed the state and title of soo-

badar of the Deccan, and conferred the government of the
Carnatic on Chunda Sahib. They then proceeded to Pon-
dicherry, where Dupleix received them with an ostentatious

display of oriental pomp, and was rewarded by the grant of

eighty-one villages.

Mahomed Ali, finding that he could not hold Trichinopoly
against the victors, sought the aid of the president of

Madras, who sent a small detachment of 120 men
^^ ,.

.

to support him. It was a feeble movement, but it Mahomed

had the important effect of engaging the English ^^•

in the cause of Mahomed Ali, which from that time forward
they considered themselves bound in honour to support,
under every vicissitude, as a counterpoise to French in-

fluence. Meanwhile, Nazir Jung assembled an array of
300,000 men, of whom one-half were cavalry, with 800 1750
pieces of cannon, and marched in search of the confede-
rates. At Valdaur, about fifteen miles from Pon- j^^zir Jung
dicherry, he was joined by Major Lawrence with in t^e Car-

600 Europeans, while Dupleix augmented the
contingent with Mozufier to 2,000 bayonets. But on the
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eve of the engagement, thirteen of tlie Frencli officers re-

fused to fight ; the force became demoralised, and nothing

could stop its precipitate flight to Pondicherry, Chunda
Sahib joined in the retreat, but Mozuffer determined to

throw himself on the mercy of his uncle, who took an oath

to protect him, and then loaded him with irons. Nazir

Jung, now undisputed master of the Deccan, appointed

Mahomed All nabob of the Carnatic. All Dupleix's plans

were apparently demolished by this blow, but never did

the fertility of his genius appear more conspicuous than on
this occasion. He sent envoys to treat with Nazir Jung,
and they discovered that his three Patau feudatories of

Kurnool, Cuddapa, and Savanoor, were displeased at his

proceeding, and prepared to revolt. Dupleix opened a cor-

respondence with them, and, at the same time, to intimidate

the soobadar into a compliance with his terms, sent an
expedition to Masulipatam, and occupied the toAvn and
district. He attacked and defeated the force of Mahomed
Ali, the remnant of which sought refuge in the renowned

Capture of ^^^ o^ Gingee. It was immediately besieged by
Gineeeby Bussy, and within twenty-four hours of his

^'
appearance before it, the French colours were

lygQ
flying on its ramparts, though the armies of Aurungzebe
had besieged it for nine years. It was the first instance in

which a European force had attacked a fortress considered

impregnable, and its success spread a feeling of dismay
through the Deccan, and created the conviction that

nothing could withstand European valour.

Nazir Jung, astounded by these proceedings, hastened to

concede all Dupleix's demands—that the town and district

of Masulipatam should be made over to him, Mozuffer Jung
released, and Chunda Sahib installed nabob of the Car-

natic. The soobadar concluded a treaty on these terms
with Dupleix, but Dupleix had previously come to an under-
standing with the three mutiiaous Patau nabobs, and had
directed Bussy to attack the army of the soobadar as soon

as he received a requisition from them. Bussy was igno-

rant of the settlement which Dupleix had made with Nazir
Jung when he was called upon to assail him by the Patan
chiefs. He accordingly marched with 800 Europeans and
8,000 sepoys, and ten guns, against the soobadar's army,
which he found stretched over eighteen miles of ground,

Bussy de- and obtained a complete victory. " Never," re-
feats Nazir marks the historian of these events, " since the
'^^* " days of Cortes and Pizarro did so small a force
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" decide the fate of so great a sovereignty." As the

nabobs were moving off to join the French, Nazir Jung
rode up to them with burning indignation, and engaged in a

hand to hand struggle with the nabob of Cuddapa,
whom he upbraided with his treachery. The nabob lodged

two balls in the heart of his unfortunate master, and
having cut off his head, presented it to Mozuffer Jung.

Mozuffer Jung, then confined in the camp, whom Nazir

Jung had ordered to be decapitated if the day went against

him, was proclaimed soobadar of the Deccan,
T^j^^iuffer

and proceeded in company with Chunda Sahib to Jung soo-

Pondicherry to express his obligations to Dupleix, ^^'i'^'"-

and to make a suitable return for his aid. Dupleix,

arrayed in the gorgeous robes of an imperial noble, received

him with oriental magnificence. A splendid tent was erected,

and in the presence of the native chivalry of the Deccan,
Dupleix invested him with the office of soobadar, and,

having paid homage to him, received the title of governor
of all the country lying between the Kistna and Cape
Comorin. Dupleix then presented Chunda Sahib to the

soobadar, and requested that the real sovereignty and
emoluments of the Carnatic might be granted to him. Mo-
zuffer Jung was extremely anxious to return to the capital,

and requested Dupleix to allow a French force to accompany
him, and Bussy was sent with 300 Europeans and 3,000
disciplined sepoys. The encampment broke up from Pon-
dicherry on the 7th of January, but within three weeks the

turbulent Patau nabobs who had conspired against Nazir
Jung, entered into a conspiracy against his successor. Their
troops were speedily dispersed by Bussy ; but Mozuffer Jung,
rejecting all advice, insisted on pursuing them and was
struck dead by the javelin' of the nabob of Kumool. The
camp was thrown into wild confusion, but Bussv's ^ , ^ ^„., „ ii-TT- Salabnt
presence oi mmd never torsook him. He imme- Jung sooba-

diately assembled the officers and ministers, and, ^^'

with the ascendancy he had gained, prevailed on them to

assent to his proposal of raising Salabut Jung, the brother of
Nazir Jung, to the vacant dignity, and he was drawn from
confinement to rule over thirty-five millions of subjects. The
camp then moved forward, and in due course reached Aurun-
gabad, then the capital of the Nizam. Dupleix had now
attained the summit of his ambition, and the power of the
French had reached its zenith. The soobadar reigned over
the northern division of the Deccan, but it was virtually

1751
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A.B. In the south, all the country south of the Kistna was under
^"^^^ the sway of Dupleix and all its resources were entirely sub-

servient to his interests.

We turn to the proceedings in the Carnatic, where the

French and English were employed for four years in

Career of attempts to obtain possession of Tricbinopoly,
cuve. which they both considered essential to the control

of the country. It was held by Mahomed Ali, with the

aid of a small body of English troops, and Dapleix, in

conjunction with Chunda Sahib, sent a strong detachment
under Law, the nephew of the famous South Sea financier,

to expel them. It was on this occasion that the military

genius of Clive, the founder of the British empire in India,

was first developed. The son of a private country gentle-
1744 man, he came out to India in 1744, in the civil service of the

East India Company. Two years after, he was in Madras
when it surrendered to Labourdonnais, and made his escape

to Fort St. David, where he exchanged the pen for the sword
and took part in the defence of the fort. He was present

at the abortive siege of Pondicherry by admiral Boscawen,
1748 and in the assault on Devicotta, where he attracted the

admiration of Major Lawrence. He was attached to the

force which the president of Madras, Mr. Saunders,
1749 despatched to the relief of the besieged garrison of

Tricbinopoly, and he perceived, by the instinct of his military

genius, that it m^ust fall unless some diversion could be

1751 created in its favour. He returned to Madras, and advised

Mr. Saunders to sanction an expedition against Arcot, the

capital of the Carnatic, which he was convinced would
have the effect of drawing off a considerable portion of

Chunda Sahib's army for its defence. The president,

who, happily, appreciated his merits, entrusted the enter-

prise to his direction, and he marched with 200 Europeans
and 300 sepoys, and eight ofl&cers, of whom one half were
in the mercantile service and six had never been in action.

They were allowed to enter the town, and, as Clive had
calculated, Chunda Sahib withdrew 10,000 men to recover

it. The fort was a mile in circumference, defended by a

low and lightly built parapet and by towers, of which
several were in a state of decay, and the ditch was dry
and choked up. From the day of its occupation, Clive had
been incessantly occupied in repairing the fortifications.

1751 , During the siege, one of his officers had been

defence of killed and two wounded, and another had
Arcot. returned to Madras. The troops fit for duty were
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reduced to 120 Europeans and 200 sepoys, but with this

handful of men he sustained for seven weeks the incessant

assault of Chunda Sahib's force, aided by 150 French
soldiers. The last assault lasted eighteen hours, after

which Clive had the unspeakable gratification of seeing the

enemy strike their tents and retire in despair. " Thus,"
says Orme, " ended this memorable siege, maintained for
" fifty days under every disadvantage of situation and force
" by a handful of men in their first campaign, with a spirit
" worthy of the most veteran troops, and conducted by the
" young commander with indefatigable activity, unshaken
" confidence, and undaunted courage, and notwithstanding
" he had at this time neither read books nor conversed
" with men capable of giving him much instruction in the
" military art, all the resources he employed in the defence
" of Arcot were such as were indicated by the greatest

"masters of the art." Truly did the great statesman,
William Pitt, designate him the heaven-born general.

On his return from Arcot, Clive was employed in a
variety of enterprises, in which he distinguished himself by
the same energy and talent. After the French had q^ ^
besieged Trichinopoly in vain for a twelvemonth, TricU-

theywere driven into a position which obliged the °°P°^y-
a.d.

commander. Law, to surrender at discretion with all his 1752

troops, stores, and ammunition. In the early part of the
siege, Mahomed Ali had called in the aid of the great
Mahratta general, Morari Rao, of the regent of Mysore,
and of the troops of the raja of Tanjore. Chunda Sahib,
reduced to Extremity by the surrender of his French allies,

sought an asylum with the Tanjore general, who caused
him to be assassinated at the instigation of Mahomed Ali

;

and that prince, as barbarous as he was cowardly and
perfidious, after feasting his eyes with the sight of his

murdered rival, caused his head to be cut ofi" and bound 1752

to the neck of a camel and paraded five times round the
walls of the city. Unknown to Major Lawrence, he had
promised to make over the fortress of Trichinopoly, which
it was important for the English to hold, to the Tanjore
general. Disgusted with this baseness. Major Lawrence
withdrew to Madras, leaving a body of European troops to
hold the citadel. Mahomed Ali refused to fulfil the bargain,
and the Tanjore troops joined the French in the siege,

which Dnpleix lost no time in renewing. The operations
in and around it continued with little interruption for two
years ; but even the fascinating pages of Orme are not

I
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sufficient to induce tbe reader to wade througti the

narrative of the marches and counter-marches, the suc-

cesses and the discomfiture, which marked these dreary
campaigns. Suffice it to state that the Erench were three

times worsted by the superior tactics of Major Lawrence,
and that on one occasion the English sustained a memor-
able defeat, and that their native allies consequently
deserted them. Dupleix at length, proposed the appoint-

ment of commissioners to treat of an accommodation, but
the English agents, Mr. Vansittart and Mr. Palk—who
had divested himself of his holy orders to enter the Civil

Service—defeated the object by insisting, as an indispensable

preliminary, that Mahomed Ali should be acknowledged
nabob of the Camatic. To these terms, Dupleix, to whom
the soobadar had granted the control of the Camatic
affairs, could not be expected to agree, and the operations

A.D. of war were resumed, and continued with varied success

1754: till the 1st of August, 1754, when Dupleix was suddenly
superseded by the amval of his successor, and all his

schemes of ambition were at once subverted.

The French and English had been tearing each other to

pieces in India, while the mother countries were at peace

FaU of ill Europe. The two Companies had been
Dupleix. straining their energies and wasting their re-

sources in the cause of native princes whose fidelity was
always doubtful. Their attention had been withdrawn from
the counting-house to the field. They were both anxious,

especially the English East India Company, to terminate

this anomalous state of things, which the president at

Madras attributed primarily, and not without justice, to the

ambition of Dupleix. There was an influential minority at

the French Board hostile to him, and they were strengthened

by the disasters of the campaign of 1753. The cabinet of

St. James, moreover, sent over a strong remonstrance to

the French ministry, and supported it by the despatch of

an entire regiment and four ships of war, under Admiral
Watson, and the Directory in Paris was thus induced to take

up the question in earnest, and they sent out Godeheu, a
member of their own body, with absolute authority over all

the French settlements in the East Indies. He had already

been in their service in India, and had always lived on the

most friendly terms with Dupleix, but being a man of base

and treacherous disposition, solicited permission to send him
home in irons at the time when he was making fulsome pro-

testations of cordiality. On his arrival at Pondicherry he
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spared bo pains to degrade and ruin liim. The public accounts

showed that twenty-five lacs of rupees were due to him for

sums he had advanced to carry on the Government, from
the fortune he had acquired before he assumed office, but

Godeheu refused to allow these accounts to be audited,

Dupleix had been in the habit of assisting the native allies

with advances from his own purse on the security of cer-

tain districts, but Godeheu seized the districts, and farmed
them out for the benefit of the Company. Dupleix, dis-

honoured and beggared, quitted the scene of his glory on
the 14th October, 1754. On his arrival in Paris he was 1754
at first received with some show of distinction, but as soon

as the Directors were assured that all differences had been
adjusted in India, they treated him with hostility, and for ten

years, to the day of his death, refused even to look into his

accounts. He was pursued by creditors who had advanced
money to Government on his security, and during the last

three months of his life his house was in the hands of bailiffs.

Three days before his death he wrote in his diary,—" I
" have sacrificed my youth and my fortune to enrich my
" country. I am treated as the vilest of mankind." Thus
perished the second victim of the ingratitude of the French
East India Company. Of those illustrious men who have 1764
established European supremacy in India, Dupleix stands

among the foremost. He was the pioneer of European
conquest. It was he who taught the way to govern native

states by a handful of civil functionaries and a small body
of European troops, and it was he who created a sepoy army.
No Indian statesman has ever exhibited a moi-e fertile

political genius, and it is not improbable that, if he had
remained in power in India for two or three years, with
the two thousand European troops bi"ought out by Godeheu,
he would, in conjunction with Bussy, have made the French
as complete masters of the Deccan as the English became
of Bengal and Behar two years after.

Godeheu and Mr. Saunders, the commissioner on the
part of the East India Company, agreed upon an immediate
suspension of arms, and concluded a convention
which provided that the territories of the two between

Companies should eventually be of equal value
l^g'Jand^'^ •

when the convention was ratified in Europe. Ma-
homed Ali was confirmed as nabob of the Carnatic. The
treaty was most disastrous to the French. It gave up all they
had been contending for ;—the- nabobship of the Carnatic,

the Northern Sircars, their allies, their influence, and their
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honour. Both parties bound themselves for ever "to
" renounce all Moorish government and dignity," and
never to interfere in the affairs of the native princes. The
ink, however, was scarcely dry before the treaty was
given to the winds. The English despatched a force to

subdue the districts of Madura and Tinnevelly for their

nabob, and the French sent a detachment to seize Terriore.

A.1). But the prospects of peace were at once dissipated by the

1756 proclamation of war between France and England in 1756,
and hostilities were prosecuted with greater fury than ever
for five years.

SECTION IV.

CAKEEE OF BUSST—WRECK OF THE FRENCH POWER—KATIVB

STATES, TO PANIPDT.

To turn to the brilliant career of Bussy in the north of the

Deccan : In miHtary genius he stands on a level with Clive,

Bussy at hut was greatly his superior in the art of political

the capital, organisation. For several years he had been in

association with natives of distinction, and had obtained

a thorough knowledge of the native character. He also

acquired the tact of managing them by the exercise of that

wise accommodation to their feelings and habits, in which
the French have always been more successful than the

English. Having elevated Salabut Jung to the throne, he
June conducted him in triumph to his capital ; but his elder
29th, brother, Ghazee-ood-deen, who held a high position in the
^^^^ court of Delhi, had obtained a patent of appointment to

the soobadaree of the Deccan, and, having gained over the

Mahrattas by the promise of a large section of territory,

commenced his march to the south. His ally, the Peshwa,
with 4,0,000 horse, advanced to encounter Salabut Jung,
laying the country waste on his march. Bussy, with his

handful of Europeans and 2,000 sepoys, and eight or ten

field pieces, received the shock of the Mahratta cavalry,

who came thundering down upon him in full speed with

shouts of triumph. Ho awaited their approach with per-

fect coolness, and then poured volleys of gi'ape with great

1761 rapidity into their ranks, and in a few moments they

He defeats turned round and fled in disorder. This was the
the Peshwa. first time the Mahratta horse, the terror of the

Deccan, had encountered a European force in the field, and
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the result of the conflict increased the power and influence

of Bussj in no ordinary degree. He followed up his suc-

cess with great spirit, and vigorously pursued the Peshwa
within twenty miles of Poona, and constrained him to a.d.

sue for an accommodation. Moanwhile, Ghazee-ood- 1752

deen was advancing from the north with 150,000 men.
The army of Salabut Jung was mutinous for want of pay,

and Bussy wisely advised him to conciliate the Peshwa by
ceding the territory west of Berar from the Taptee to

Godavery, which had been promised by Ghazee-ood-deen,
and which, being in a remote corner of his dominions, it

would not be easy to protect. There was living at the time
at Aurungabad, where Ghazee-ood-deen's army was en-

camped, one of the widows of Nizam-ool-moolk, to whom
she had borne one son, Nizam Ali, and it was her earnest

desire to seat him ou the throne of the Deccan. To
remove Ghazee-ood-deen out of the way, she invited him
to a feast and urged him to partake of a par- j^nrder of

ticular dish, which she had prepared, she said, Ghazee-ood-

with her own hands. It was poisoned, and he
died the same night, and his troops immediately dispersed.

The ascendancy which Bussy had acquired at the court

of the soobadar had raised him many enemies, and the

minister, though under great obligations to him, The North-

began to plot his destruction. At the beginning *™ Sircars.

of 1753 he was obliged to resort to the sea-coast for the 1753

restoration of his health, and the treacherous minister,

having dispersed his European forces in small bodies over
the country, and withheld their pay, entered into a hostile

correspondence with the president of Madras. One of his

letters fell into the hands of Bussy, who felt that his cause

was lost unless he could regain his influence, and though still

labouring under disease, determined to make an imme-
diate efibrt to baffle his enemies. He directed the detach-

ments which had been scattered to assemble near Hydera-
bad, and, marching 500 miles to Aurungabad, unexpectedly
presented himself at the court with 4,500 men,Europeans and
natives. Not only was his ascendancy restored, but he was
enabled to obtain from the fears of the soobadar and his

ministers a grant of the four Northern Sircars for the main-
tenance of his force. They lay on the Coromandel coast, pro-

tected by a chain of hills running parallel with the sea,

stretching about 450 miles along the coast, and from 30 to

100 miles inland. They contained many important towns,

admirably adapted by the bounty of Providence and tho

I
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industry of the inhabitants to sustain a lucrative com-
merce, and already yielded a revenue of half a crore of

rupees, " These temtoi-ies," remarked the great historian,
" rendered the French master of the greatest dominion,
" both in extent and value, that had ever been possessed in
" Hindostan by Europeans, not excepting the Portuguese
" when at the height of their prosperity."

On his return from the coast, Bussy found the soobadar

resolved on an expedition to Mysore, in conjunction with
*•"•

Bussy's the Mahrattas, to extort whatever sums, under
ivo trials. ^]jg pretence of tribute, could be obtained, and

Bussy was informed that he " must attend the stirrup of

"his sovereign." But the regent ofMysore was in alliance

with the French authorities at Pondicherry, and had sent

the flower of his army to co-operate with them in the siege of

Trichinopoly. Bussy was placed in a serious dilemma, from
which he was relieved only by his extraordinary tact. He ac-

companied the soobadar's army with 600 European troops,

and assumed the command of the expedition. He moved
forward with such rapidity as to astound the Mysore regent

and dispose him to agree to terms, and, assuming the cha-

racter of a mediator, prevailed on the soobadar to accept

of fifty-six lacs of rupees, to realise which he was obliged

to despoil the females of their jewels and the temples of

their wealth. Soon after, Bussy, joined by a Mahratta
1756 force and the army of the Nizam, was sent against the

rebellious nabob of Savanoor, and was enabled to bring him
to acknowledge the sovereignty of the Nizam ; but his

ever vigilant enemies misrepresented his proceedings to the

Nizam, and induced that silly prince to dismiss him
summarily, while he was yet in the south-west several hun-
dred miles distant from the capital, and from his own re-

sources. Bussy received the order of dismissal with his

Dismissal of usual imperturbability . After crossing the Kistna,
Bnssy. ' finding his ammunition running short, he tui'ned

out of his way to Hyderabad, and took up a position at

Charmal, which he fortified. His ungrateful master,

whom he had raised from a prison to a throne, summoned
every tributary and dependent to his standard, and for two
months assailed the encampment of his benefactor, who
defended himself with his usual skill—his sepoys had
deserted him—and was at length released from danger by
the fortunate arrival of reinforcements from the coast.

Salabut Jung was in a fever of alarm, and sued humbly for

a reconciliation, and within three months of his dismissal
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the authority of Bussy was more firmly established than ever.

The zemindars in the Northern Sircars took Bnssy's

advantage of this season of embarrassment to triumph. ^^^

revolt, and Bussy was obliged to give five months of un- 1756

remitting attention to the settlement of the province. The
incidental efiect of these events on the fortunes of the Eng-

glish in India deserves particular notice. It was during

this period that CKve re-captured Calcutta, as will be here-

after related, and defeated the nabob, who sent an

urgent request to Bussy to advance to his aid in Bengal.

But he was detained by the necessity of regaining his

power in his own province, and when the pacification of

the province was complete, and he was prepared to move
up through Orissa with a powerful body of troops, he heard

to his mortification that Chandemagore had already sur-

rendered. His presence in Bengal before that event might
have given a difi'erent turn to the battle of Plassy.

During the absence of Bussy on the coast, the impotent 1756

Salabut Jung was threatened with ruin by his profligate min-

ister, who had seized the fortress of Dowlutabad, ^^^ ^_
and placed the authority of the state in the hands Ueves Saia-

of one of the Nizam's brothers. The crown was ^"* *^"°^-

falling from his head, and the country was threatened with
convulsions, when Bussy started from the coast with his

army, and, traversing a region never yet trodden by
Europeans, reached Auruiigabad, a distance of four hundred
miles, in twenty-one days. His presence extinguished these

conspiracies as if by the wand of a magician. The minister

was killed in a tumult created by his own devices ; Nizam
Ali fled, and Dowlutabad was recovered by a coup de main,
and the French head-quarters were fixed in an impregnable
position. Bussy had now been for seven years the arbiter

of the Deccan. He had placed the interests of France on
-a, foundation not to be shaken by any ordinary contin-

gency, and they were as substantially established in the 1756

south of India as those of England were in the north
by the victory of Plassy ; and it seemed as if the empire of
India would be divided between these two European
nations. But it was otherwise ordained ; the power of the
one was destined to become permanent and expansive, that
of the other was extinguished by the folly of one man.
Lally arrived in India in 1758 as governor of the French 1768
possessions, and partly from caprice and partly Recall of

from envy, ordered Bussy to quit the scene of his ^"^s^y.

triumphs and return to Pondicherry with all his force.
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Bussy considered obedience the first duty of a soldier, and,

to the inconceivable surprise of the native princes, both
Hindoo and Mahomedan, who trembled at the sound of his

name, at once retired from the Deccan at the period of his

greatest strength, and the sun of French prosperity in

India set not to rise again.

Lally, a member of an Irish Roman Catholic family,

which retired to France on the flight of James II.,

J.J _ had from his early youth, and for forty years,

Siege of been trained in arms. His military reputation
^**'^'*^' stood so high that when war broke out between
France and England in 1756, he was considered the fittest

man to command the large armament the French ministry

was sending to India to establish French power. He was
A.D. accompanied by the scions of the most illustrious families

1758 in France. He landed at Pondicherry in April, 1758, and
marched at once against the EngHsh factory at St. David's,

which was surrendered within a month. The time was pecu-

liarly favourable for the expulsion of the English from the

Deccan. Madras was unfortified, its European force and
its fleet were in Bengal, and the French commanded the

sea and were paramount on land. Lally was bent on
attacking Madras without delay, but he was basely thwarted
by the admiral, who refused the aid of his ships, and by the

council of Pondicherry, who would not afford him an}-

pecuniary assistance. Seven years before this time the rajah

of Tanjore, pressed by the demands of Mozuffer Jung and
Chunda Sahib, had given them a bond for fifty-six lacs of

rupees, which was considered valueless, and made over to

Dupleix. As a last resource, Lally resolved to supply his

military chest by demanding payment of this bond. With
the largest European and native force which had ever till

then taken the field, he hurried on to Tanjore ; on his route

he levied forced contributions, and blew six brahmins from
the guns. The town was besieged for a fortnight, and a
practical breach had been made when an EngUsh fleet

appeared on the coast, and threatened Carical, the French
depot ; Lally, who had only twenty cartridges left for each
man and two days' provisions, raised the siege and retired.

On his return to Pondicherry, he prevailed on the council

to grant him some aid towards the siege of Madras, which
1758 -was the object nearest his heart, and in November advanced

to it with an army of 2,000 European foot and 300 Euro-

Si^e of pean cavalry, the first ever seen in India, besides
Madras. ^ large force of sepoys. The garrison of the fort



sbct.iv.j battle of wandewash 131

consisted of 1,758 Europeans and 2,200 natives, tut they

were under the command of the veteran Lawrence, who
was supported by thirteen officers trained under his own
eye. The siege was prosecuted for two months with great

vigour, and a breach was at length effected, but, at the last

moment, the refusal of his officers to second him defeated

Lally's plans, and the appearance of an English fleet in the ^ jj

roads obliged him to raise the siege and retire. ^ ^^^^ 1759

Misfortunes thickened upon him. The Northern
Sircars were occupied by a force despatched from Calcutta

by CHve, under the gallant Colonel Forde, and Salabut

Jung, having no longer anything to hope or fear from the

French, threw himself into the arms of the English, and
bound himself by treaty never to allow a French force to

enter his service.

Lally returned to Pondicherry, with his army, officers as

well as men, in a state of insubordination. But his

hopes were raised by the arrival of a powerful Naval

fleet consisting of eleven vessels, the smallest of engagement.

which carried fifty guns ; the English squadron was scarcely

less powerful. In the engagement which ensued both 1759
parties were crippled, but neither of them beaten. The
French admiral, however, disregarding the entreaties and
even the menaces of the authorities at Pondicherry, sailed

away with his whole fleet to the Isle of France, leaving the
command of the sea with the English. The French troops

mutinied for their pay, which was ten months in arrear,

and marched out of Pondicherry towards Madras, but were
induced to return by the discharge of a portion of it.

Lally, determined to bring on an engagement, marched on
Wandewash, and captured the town and laid siege to the
fort. The English force under Colonel Coote, an officer

second in ability only to Clive, came up for its

relief. The result was a pitched battle, known defeated at

as the battle of Wandewash, one of the most Wandewash.

severely contested and most decisive which had as yet been
fought in India, in which the French, after prodigies of

valour, sustained a signal defeat. It was the last struggle 1760
for empire between the French and English on the plains

of India, and it demolished the hopes of establishing a
French power. Lally fell back on Pondicherry, where he
encountered nothing but intrigue and sedition from those

who ought to have been unanimous in sustaining the

national honour at this crisis. " From this time," he said,

" without money, without ships, without even provisions,
k2

h
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" Pondicherry might be given up for lost." Coote, in the

i.D_ meantime, drove the French from all the towns and posi-

1760 tions they held in the Camatic, and prepared for the siege

Siege of of Pondicherry, when the folly of the Court of
Pondicherry. Directors had well-nigh marred it, by sending
out orders to supersede him by the Honourable Colonel
Alonson, the second in command. In the first independent
enterprise of Colonel Monson, his success was so equivocal

as to present an ill-omen of his efforts, but he was disabled

by a severe wound, and Colonel Coote was prevailed on by
the council of Madras to resume the command. The town
was subject to a strict blockade during the rains, and vigor-

ously besieged as soon as they ceased. Lally was thwarted
at every turn by the civil functionaries who detested

him, and in whom every spark of honesty and loyalty was
extinct ; but he maintained a long and energetic defence

with a spirit and courage which elicited the applause of his

English opponents, and he did not surrender the town until

he was reduced to two days' provisions. As the victors

1761 marched into it, their feelings were deeply excited by the

skeleton figures to which the noble forms of the two gallant

Captnre of regiments Lally had brought out with him were
Pondiciieny. reduced by months of fatigue and famine. The
French Court of Directors had sent instructions to Lally

to erase the English settlements from the land. The
despatch had fallen into the hands of the English Directors,

and, by their orders, Pondicherry was levelled with the

ground, and not a roof left of that noble colony. The war
which, with a brief interval, the two nations had waged
for fifteen years, termiuated in the extinction of the French
power. The ambitious hope of establishing a French
empire in India, which bad equally animated Laboiirdonnais

and Dupleix, Bussy and Lally, was extinguished. Their
settlements were, indeed, restored at the peace of Paris in

1763, but they never recovered their political position in

India. Lally returned to Paris and was thrown into the

Bastile, where he lingered for three years. He was then

Fate of brought to trial, denied the assistance of counsel,
Lally.

^jj(j condemned to death for having betrayed the

interests of the king and the company. He was drawn
on a dung cart to the scaffold and beheaded, the third

illustrious victim of the ingratitude of his country in

fifteen years.
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SECTION V.

NATIVE STATES, FEOM THE SACK OF DELHI, 1739, TO THE

BATTLE OF PANIPUT, 1761.

To return to the events in the native states, from the

invasion of Nadir Shah in 1739, to the battle of Panipnt
in 1761. The atrocities perpetrated by Nadir

^jj^^^
Shah on his return to Persia, for eight years, shah

were at length terminated by his assassination.
^^'^^^•

But a new and more formidable foe to India arose on his

death in the person of Ahmed Shah, the chief of the

tribe of Abdalee Afghans, who was proclaimed king at

Candahar before the close of the year, and became supreme
in the regions beyond the Indus. Encouraged by the

success of Nadir Shah, whom he had accompanied in his

expedition, he tunied his attention to India and occupied
the province of Lahore, and advanced to Sirhind, where he j^^*-

was defeated by prince Ahmed, the son of the emperor of

Delhi, who obliged him to recross the Indus. His first

Mahomed Shah, the emperor, after a reign of i^'^asion.

more than thirty years, during which the imperial throne
had been steadily becoming weaker, died in 1748, and was
succeeded by his son Ahmed, who appointed the nabob of

Oude his vizier. Alarmed by the growing power of the

Rohillas, who had taken advantage of the invasion and of the

confusion of the times to enlarge their power in Rohil-

cund, the Vizier attacked them and was defeated, and his

province overrun, when he had recourse to the humiliating

and dangerous expedient of calling in the Mahratta chiefs

Holkar and Sindia, by whose aid he chased the Rohillas

back to their hills. To gratify their avarice, he authorised

them to plunder the conquered territory, which did not
recover from the eflTect of their ravages for many years.

Ahmed Shah, having recruited his force, again occupied

the Punjab and Mooltan, and sent an envoy to Dellu to 1751

demand the formal cession of them. The emperor, ^.^ second
under the influence of a profligate eunuch, com- and third

plied with the request. The Vizier, then absent ^'^^^'°'^-

in the pursuit of the Rohillas, hastened to Delhi, but being
too late to prevent the surrender of the provinces, invited

the eunuch to a banquet and caused him to be assassinated.

The emperor was exasperated by this outrage, and enlisted

the services of Ghazee-ood-deen, the grandson of Nizam-

I
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.

ool-moolk and the son of the prince who was poisoned by
his mother-in-law. This brought on a civil war between the
emperor and the Vizier, and for six months the capital

was deluged with blood. Ghazee-ood-deen then called to

his assistance Holkar's mercenaries, and the Vizier, unable
to cope with them, consented to an accommodation, and
was allowed to retain possession of Oude and Allahabad,
which were now finally alienated from the empire. The
emperor, unable to bear the firrogance of Ghazee-ood-deen,
marched out of his capital to oppose him while he was
engaged in the siege of Bhurtpore, but was defeated and
made prisoner, when the monster deprived him and his

^ jj
mother of sight, and raised one of the princes of the blood

I75i to the throne, with the title of Alumgeer the second.

He then proceeded to the Punjab and expelled the

Alumgeer IT. lieutenants of Ahmed Shah, who no sooner
Emperor. heard of the insult than he hastened to avenge
it, and having recovered the Punjab, advanced to Delhi.

Ghazee-ood-deen made the most abject submissions, and
was forgiven, but the Abdalee was determined to obtain a

pecuniary indemnity, and gave the city up to plunder. For
many days the atrocities of Nadir Shah's time were
repeated, and the wretched inhabitants were a second time

1756 subject to the insolence and rapacity of a brutal soldiery.

Soon after, several thousand unofi'ending devotees were
sacrificed in the holy city of Muttra at the time of a

religions festival. A pestilence which presently broke out

in his camp obliged him to recross the Indus. He left

his son Timur in charge of the Punjab, and at the par-

ticular request of the emperor, placed the Rohilla chief

1757 N^ujeeb-ood-dowlah in command of the imperial army to

protect him from the designs of Ghazee-ood-deen.

That abandoned minister immediately called the Mah-
rattas to his aid, and Rughoonath Rao, more commonly
Mahratta known in history as Raghoba, advanced and cap-
grandeur, tured Delhi after a siege of a month, and then
proceeding to the Punjab, drove the force of Timur back

1758 into Afghanistan and planted the Mahratta standard for

the first time on the banks of the Indus. He returned to

Poona, after having conferred the government of the

province on a Mahratta officer. The Peshwa had, mean-
while, been intriguing for the possession of Ahmednugur,
the most important city south of the !N^erbudda, and at

length obtained it by treachery. This aggression brought

on hostilities with Salabut Jung and his brother Nazir
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Jung,who had been reconciled. They had no longer the sup-
port of Bussy 's genius or his troops, and even Ibrahim Khan,
the ablest of Bussy's native generals, had been dismissed,

and gone over with a powerful and well-served artillery to ^ j,

the Peshwa. The Nizam was reduced to such straits as to 1758
be obliged to agree to whatever terms the Peshwa might
dictate, and obliged to surrender four of the most important
fortresses in the Deccan, to confirm the possession of
Ahmednugur, and to make over districts yielding fifty-six

lacs of rupees, which reduced the Mogul possessions in the
Deccan to a very narrow circle. The power of the Mahrattas
was now at its zenith ; it was aclmowledged equally on
the banks of the Indus and of the Coleroon, and it was pre-
dominant both in Hindostan and in the Deccan. The vast
resources of the commonwealth were wielded by one chief ^^^^

and directed to one object, and they began to talk proudly
of establishing Hindoo sovereignty throughout the con-
tinent of India.

Raghoba had left Holkar and Sindia to support the
Mahratta interests in the north, and to despoil Rohilcund,
of which Sindia had laid waste thirteen hundred TheAbda-
villages in the course of a month, but he was |ce s fourth

soon after driven across the Jumna by the nabob
^

Vizier. Just at this juncture the north of India was 1759

astounded by the report that Ahmed Shah Abdalee had
crossed the Indus a fourth time in September, with a large
army, to recover and extend his possessions. During his

advance, Ghazee-ood-deen, dreading an interview between
the Abdalee and the emperor Ahmed Shah, whom he had
blinded, put him to death, and placed an unknown youth
on the throne, who was, however, never acknowledged.
Holkar and Sindia were in command of 30,000 horse, but
they were widely separated from each other, and the
Abdalee determined to attack them before they could form
a junction. Sindia was overpowered, and lost Defeat of

two-thirds of his army. Holkar was routed with Sindia and

great carnage. The news of these reverses only
served to inflame the ardour of the Peshwa and his cabinet, 1759

and it was resolved at Poona to make one grand and decisive

effort to complete the conquest of India. The command of

the force destined to this object was entrusted to Sudaseo
Rao Bhow, commonly known as the Bhow, the cousin of the

Peshwa, a general who had seen much service and was not
wanting in courage and energy, but rash and impetuous, and
filled with an overweening conceit of his own abilities.
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A.D, The army which now moved up to encounter Ahmed
1760 Shah was the largest with which the Mahrattas had ever

The battle taken the • field. Its gorgeous equipments
of Paniput. formed a strong contrast with that of the humble
and hardy mountaineers of Sevajee. The Mahrattas had
already begun to assume the pomp of Mahomedan princes

The spacious and lofty tents of the chiefs were lined with
silks and brocades, and surmounted with glittering orna-

ments. The finest horses richly caparisoned, and a train of

elephants with gaudy housings, accompanied the army. The
wealth which had been accumulated during half a century
of plunder was ostentatiously displayed ; and cloth of gold
was the dress of theofficers. The military chest was furnished

with two crores of rupees. Eveiy Mahratta commander
throughout the country was summoned to attend the
stirrup of the Bhow, and the whole of the Mahratta
cavalry marched under the national standard. It was
considered the cause of the Hindoos as opposed to that of

the Mahomedans, and the army was therefore joined in its

progress by numerous auxiliaries, more especially from
Rajpootana. Sooraj Mull, the Jaut chieftain, brought up a

contingent of 30,000 men. The army was, however, encum-
bered with two hundred pieces of cannon, and Sooruj Mull
wisely advised the Bhow to leave them at Gwalior or at

Jbansi, and resort to the national system of warfare,

cutting off the supplies, and harassing the detachments of

the enemy ; but this sage counsel was haughtily rejected,

and the Jaut withdrew from the camp in disgust, together

with some of the Ra,ipoot chieftains. The Bhow entered

Delhi and defaced the palaces, tombs, and shrines which
had been spared by the Persian and Afghan invader. The

1761 two armies met on the field of Paniput, where for the

third time the fate of India was to be decided. That of

the Mahrattas consisted of 55,000 cavalry in regular pay,

15,000 predatory horse, and 15,000 infantry, who had been
trained under Bussy, and were now commanded byhis ablest

native general. The Mahomedan force numbered about

80,000 chosen troops, besides irregulars almost as numerous,

with seventy pieces of cannon. After a succession of desultory

engagements, some of them, however, of considerable

magnitude, the Mahrattas formed an entrenched camp, in

which, including camp followers, a body little short of

300,000 was collected. Within a short time this vast

multitude began to be straitened for provisions. Cooped up
in a blockaded encampment, amidst dead and dying
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animals, and surrounded by famishing soldiers, the officers

demanded to be led out against the enemj. The battle

began before daybreak on the 7th of January, and the

Mahratta chiefs nobly sustained their national reputation

;

but about two hours after noon Wiswas Rao, the son of

the Peshwa, was mortally wounded, and Sudaseo Rao
Bhow fled from the field, and the army became irretrievably

disorganised. No quarter was asked or given, and the

slaughter was prodigious. Not one-fourth of the troops

escaped with their lives, and it was calculated that from
the opening of the ca.mpaign to its close the number of

casualties, including camp followers, fell little short of

200,000. Seldom has a defeat been more com- prodigious

plete or disastrous. There were few families slaughter.

throughout the Mahratta empire which had not to mourn
the loss of some relative. The Peshwa died of a broken
heart, and his government never recovered its vigour and
integrity. All the Mahratta conquests north of the
Nerbudda were lost, and though they were subsequently
recovered, it was under separate chieftains, with individual

interests, which weakened their allegiance to the central

authority. The Abdalee having thus shivered the Hindoo
power, turned his back on India, and never interfered

again in its afiairs. The Mogul throne may be Effect on
said to have expired with the battle of Paniput. ^^^ Mogul

Its territory was broken up into separate and
^^p"^®'

^.t,.

independent principalities ; the claimant to the throne 1761

was wandering about Behar with a band of mercenaries
;

and the nation which was destined to establish a new
empire, and, in oriental phrase, to " bring the various
" tribes of India under one umbrella," had already laid

the foundation of its power in the valley of the Granges.

To the rise and progress of the English Government we
now turn.

SECTION VI.

THE BAST INDIA COMPANY IN BENGAL.

The wealth which Portugal had acquired in the sixteenth

century by the trade to the east raised an earnest desire

in England to obtain a share of it ; and Drake, The East

Cavendish, and other navigators were impelled in''*"*

by the spirit of maritime enterprise, which Qneen °™

Elizabeth fostered, to undertake voyages of discovery in

I



138 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IV.

AD. the eastern seas. In 1583 Fitch and three other adven-
1583 turers traversed the length and breadth of the unknown

continent of India, and the accounts they brought home of

the opulence of its various kingdoms, and the grandeur of

the cities, opened up the vision of a lucrative commerce to

the English nation. The ardour of enterprise was, how-
ever, damped by the unsuccessful issue of a voyage of three

years undertaken by Captain Lancaster, but it was re-

vived by the report of the first mercantile expedition of

the Dutch, which had resulted in a rich return. An
association was accordingly formed in London, consisting

1600 of " merchants, ironmongers, clothiers, and other men of
" substance," who subscribed the sum of £30,133, for the

purpose of opening a trade to the East. The next year
Queen Elizabeth granted them a charter of incorporation,

nnder the title of the " East India Company," which for

a hundred and fifty years confined itself to commercial
pursuits, and then took up arms in defence of its factories,

and impelled by the normal law of progression, became
master of the continent of India.

The first attention of the Company was draivn to the

spice islands in the eastern archipelago, in which the

ita first Dutch were endeavouring to supersede the Portu-
enterprises. guese. The chief object of the India trade at

that period was to obtain spices, pepper, cloves, and nut-

megs, in return for the exports from England of iron, tin,

lead, cloth, cutlery, glass, quicksilver, and Muscovy hides.

1601 The first expedition sailed from Torbay in April, 1601.

Eight voyages were undertaken in the next ten years,

which yielded a profit of moye than a hundred and fifty

per cent. A portion of this return was obtained by piracy

on their European rivals, which all the maritime nations at

that period considered a legitimate source of gain. In
1611 the Company despatched vessels to Surat, then the

great emporium of trade on the western coast of India

;

but the Portuguese were determined to repel the interlopers,

and planted a squadron of armed vessels at the mouth of

the Taptee. In the several encounters which ensued, the

Portuguese were invariably discomfited, and as they were
universally dreaded by the natives for their oppressions,

the reputation of the English rose high, and they obtained
1613 permission to establish factories at Surat, Ahmedabad, and

other towns. These privileges were confirmed by the

emperor Jehangeer.

Soon after, the Company prevailed on James I. to send
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Sir Thomas Roe as his ambassador to the court of Delhi, a.i).

where he met with a distinguished reception sirT.Roe's
^^^^

and obtained further privileges for the Company, embassy.

The Company also succeeded in wresting Ormus from the

Portuguese, and obtained a commercial footing in the

Persian Gulf, but it never proved to be of any value. In

1620 the Company's agents for the first time visited the ^620

valley of the Ganges, and set up a factory at Patna ; but
it was through the patriotism of Mr. Boughton, -^^ Bongh-

one of their surgeons, that they obtained per- **"^'lf^"'"

mission to settle in Bengal. The emperor was
at the time in the Deccan, and his daughter being taken

seriously ill, he sent to the Company's factory at Surat to

request the services of an able physician. Mr. Boughton
was despatched to the camp, and effected a cure ; and being

requested to name his own reward, asked permission to

establish factories in Bengal, which was at once granted.

Two years after, the emperor's second son, who had been
appointed viceroy of Bengal, established his court at

Rajmahal. One of the ladies of the seraglio was attacked

with disease, and the services of Mr. Boughton were again

solicited, and he again declined any personal remunera-
tion, bat obtained permission for his masters to plant fac-

tories at Hooghly and Balasore.

The first factory of the Company on the Coromandel
coast was opened at Masulipatam and then transferred to

Armegaum ; but as the trade did not flourish, the

superintendent accepted the invitation of the raja

of Chundergiree, the last representative of the Hindoo
kingdom of Beejanuger, to .settle in his territories, and a

plot of ground was accepted at Madraspatam, one of the

most inconvenient places for trade on the Coromandel
coast, on which the Company erected a fort, called, after the 1639

patron saint of England, Fort St. George, around which
arose the city of Madras. Surat continued to be the port of

the Company on the western coast till 1662, when, on the

marriage of Charles II. to the Infanta Catherine,
B,,mi,„

the daughter of the king of Portugal, he
bestowed the port of Bombay as her dowry, and the 1662

Crown, finding it more expensive than profitable, made
it over to the Company, who removed their chief establish-

ments to it. The annals of the Company for a period of

forty years in Bengal are barren of events. They enjoyed
great prosperity, and their trade flourished to such an
extent that it was erected into a separate Presidency, but
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the simple men of the counter in Dowgate were at length
seized with a fit of political ambition, which brought
them to the verge of ruin.

The Court of Directors had obtained admiralty jurisdic-

tion from the Crown, with liberty to seize all interlopers.

The Com- The profits of the Company had, as usual, led to
pany's the establishment of a new and rival Company

in London, which it was deemed advisable to root

out. The agent of the old Company, with the view of ex-

cluding them from Bengal, had sought permission of the

Mogul viceroy to erect a fortification at the mouth of the

river, but he resented their application by increasing the
duty on their exports, in violation of the firman granted by
the emperor. Such impositions which had frequently been
made before, had been eluded by a discreet distribution

of presents, but on the present occasion the Company
assumed a high tone, and determined to seek redress by
engaging in hostilities with the Mogul empire, then in the

2g35 zenith of its power. With the permission of the Crown,
they sent out admiral Nicholson with twelve ships of war,
carrying 200 guns and 1,000 soldiers, to seize and fortify

Chittagong, to demand the cession of the neighbouring
territory, and to establish a mint. But these ambitious

prospects were destined to a severe disappointment. The
fleet was dispersed in a storm, and a portion of it sailed to

Hooghly where the advanced-guard of 400 men had
already arrived from Madras. The appearance of this

formidable armament induced the nabob to seek an
accommodation, when three intoxicated sailors reeled into

the bazaar, and fell out with the police. Both parties were

Battle at reinforced, and a regular engagement ensued,
Hooghly. which resulted in the defeat of the Moguls.
The admiral set the town on fire, and burnt down five

hundred houses. Job Chamock, the chief of the Com-
pany's factory, dreading an atta;ck from the nabob's troops,

moved down with all his establishment to the village of

Chuttanutty, and then to the island of Ingelee, a swamp
in the Soonderbun, where half his people perished of

jungle fever. He was relieved from this embarassing
position by the appearance of an envoy from the nabob
with proposals of peace. The Court of Directors, who
were determined to carry their views by force, had directed

their chief at Bombay to blockade Surat, which was the

pilgrim port on the western coast, and the departure of
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devout Mahomedans to the shrine of the Prophet was at

once stopped. Aurungzebe's fanaticism over- stoppage of

came his pride, and, in order to open the road to pilgrimage.

Mecca, he condescended to seek accommodation with the

infidels who had blocked it up. A treaty was accordingly

concluded, and Charnock returned to Chuttanutty, bat not

to remain there. The Court of Directors, hearing of the

proceedings at Hooghly, determined to prosecute the war a.d.

with increased vigour, and despatched Captain Heath with 1688

several vessels of war to Bengal. On his arrival, he dis-

allowed the treaty and commenced warhke operations,

and embarking the whole of the Company's property and
officers on fifteen vessels, proceeded to Balasore, which he
burnt, and then crossed over to Chittagong. Its fortifi-

cations were stronger than he had expected, and he sailed

to Madras, where he landed all the Company's establish-

ments. Aurungzebe, incensed at these renewed aggressions,

ordered all the English factories in every part Bengal

of India to be confiscated, and nothing remained of abandoned.

the Company's possessions except the fortified towns of

Madras and Bombay. Sir John Child, the governor of

Bombay, sent two gentlemen to the emperor's encamp,
ment at Beejapore to treat for a reconciliation. Aurungzebe
by the recent conquest of Beejapore had extended his

power over the whole of India ; but though it was
irresistible on the land, the English were masters of the sea,

and they blockaded the Mogul ports, and both obstructed the

pilgrimage, and destroyed the trade of the Moguls. Nor
was he insensible to the loss his subjects sustained by the

suspension of the English trade, which was calculated at a
crore of rupees a year, and he agreed " to overlook their
" ofiences," and restore their factories. The nabob of
Bengal, who was favourable to them, lost no time in

acquainting Mr. Charnock at Madras with the emperor's
wishes, and beseeching him to return to Bengal. He
landed at Chuttanutty on the 24th of August, 1690, and 1690

in the neighbouring village of Calcutta laid the Foundation

foundation of the future metropolis of British of Calcutta.

India. This spasm of ambition did not last more than
five years, and for half a century afterwards the servants

of the Company were instructed to consider themselves
" the representatives of a body of merchants, and to live
" and act accordingly."

The Company having now a settlement of their own in

I
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A.]). Bengal, were anxious to place it, like Madi'as and Bombay,
1695 in a state of defence ; but it was contrary to the policy

Erection of of the Mogul empire to permit the multiplica-
^rt tion of such fortifications. The forts at the two

other Presidencies had been erected before the

authority of the Moguls was extended over the territory

in which they were situated. The nabob of Bengal refused

the permission which the governor had sought, but in

1695 the zemindar of Burdwan revolted, and in conjunc-

tion with Rehim IGian, the chief of the Orissa Afghans,
plundered Hooghly, and threatened the foreign settlements.

The danger to which they were exposed was strongly re-

presented to the nabob, who was bewildered by the

rebellion, and he desired the agents of the Companies, in

general terms, to provide for their own security. Im-
mediately every hand was set to work, night and day, to

raise the fortifications, by the Dutch at Chinsurah, the

French at Chandernagore, and the English at Calcutta.

In compliment to the reigning monarch the fortress was
designated Fort William.

The Company was now threatened by a more formidable

opponent in London. The dazzling profits of the India

Rival com- trade had drawn forth a multitude of competi-
panies. toTS, but they succeeded in obtaining a renewal

1693 of their charter from the Crown in 1693. A few months
after, however, the House of Commons passed a resolution

to the efiect, " that it is the right of all Englishmen to trade
" to the East Indies unless prohibited by Act of Parlia-

" ment." This gave fresh animation to those who were

eager to share in the trade, and they petitioned Parlia-

ment for a charter, backed by the tempting ofier of a loan

of two millions to the treasury at eight per cent., and it

was accepted. The old Company had not been able to ofier

more than a third of the sum, and they were ordered to

wind up their afiairs in three years. But the rivalry of the

Disastrous two Companies was found, even in the first year,
results.

j^Q \yQ fatal to the public interests. Their compe-

tition enhanced the price of produce in every market in

India, and created a scarcity. The native ofiicers, courted

by two parties, fleeced them in turn, and oppressed both,

and the money which should have been laid out in invest-

ments was squandered in bribes, to the extent of seven lacs

of rupees. At Surat, the agents of the old Company were

seized by the agents of their rivals, dragged through the

streets and delivered to the Mogul authorities of the town
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as disturbers of the public peace. The nation became a.d.

at length sensible of the disastrous results of this conten- 1702

tion, and in 1702 the two Companies were amalgamated
under the title of the " United Company of Merchants
" trading to the East." Their former privileges

.

were granted by the Crown ; the new charter

was sanctioned likewise by Parliament, and the strength of

union inspired them with greater animation in the prosecu-

tion of their commerce. The fortifications of Calcutta

were silently but diligently improved, and gave confidence

to the native merchants, who came there in large numbers,
and it became one of the most flourishing settlements iu

the province. But the history of it from this time to the

battle of Plassy, for more than fifty years, and more espe-

cially during the viceroyalty of Moorshed Kooly Khan and
his successor, is only a register of the extortions of the

Mogul government, and the contrivances of the president

to evade them. It is an unvaried tale of insolence and
plunder on the one part, and humiliating submission on the

other, which was at length avenged by the battle of

Plassy. 1702

In the year in which the Companies were united, Moor-
shed Kooly Kian was appointed dewan, or financial

administrator, of Bengal. He was the son of a Moorshed-

poor brahmin in the Deccan, and was purchased K^ooiy-Khan.

and circumcised by an Ispahan merchant. On the death
of his master, he obtained service with the dewan of

Berar, and by his financial ability attracted the notice of

Aurungzebe, who appointed him dewan of Bengal in 1702.

He was soon after invested with the soobadaree, or vice-

royalty of the three provinces of Bengal, Behar, and
Orissa, and removed the capital to the new city of Moor-
shedabad, which he founded and called after his own name.
He was aware that the prosperity of Bengal was greatly

promoted by its maritime trade, and gave every encourage-
ment to the Mogul and Arab merchants, but regarded the
fortified factories of the foreign companies, and more
especially that of the English, with great jealousy, and
when firmly seated in power, trampled under foot the
privileges obtained from the emperor by the English Com-
pany. He imposed heavy taxes on the trade of the

Company, which they had no means of evading except by
the offer of exorbitant bribes.

The president in Calcutta determined, therefore, to 1715
appeal to the emperor, and despatched an embassy to

I
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DelM with presents so costly as to make the Court of

Embassy to Directors wince. Moorshed Kooly used all his in-
Deiw. fluence at court to defeat an application directed

against his own interest and authority, and would doubt-

less have succeeded in baffling it but for an unexpected

event. The emperor Ferokshere was betrothed to a

Rajpoot princess, but the nuptials were postponed in con-

sequence of a sharp attack of disease, which the royal

physicians were unable to subdue. On the advice of one

of the ministers, who was favourable to the English, Mr.
Hamilton, the surgeon of the mission, was called in, and
effected a cure. He was required by the grateful emperor to

name his own recompense, and, imitating the noble patriotism

of Mr. Boughton, only asked that the emperor would grant

the privileges the embassy had been sent to solicit, the

chief of which was permission to purchase thirty-eight

villages adjacent to Calcutta. Many objections were raised

to this concession by the representatives of the Bengal vice-

roy, but it was at length conceded. The possession of

these villages, extending ten miles on each side of the river,

would have given the Company the complete control of the

^j,^ maritime trade of the province, and Moorshed Kooly

1717 threatened the zemindars with his vengeance if they

parted with a single inch of land. The firman became a

mere piece of waste paper.

Moorshed Kooly Khan is one of the greatest names in

1702 the Mahomedan history of India. He was as eminent a

^^ Administra- financier as Toder Mull. He caused an accurate
1725 tion of survey to be made of the lands, and revised the as-

"^ sessment ; he divided the province into chuklas,

or districts, and appointed officers over each to collect the

rents, who became rich and powerful zemindars, and as

the office, as usual, became hereditary, assumed the title

and the state of rajas. Of these rajas, only one—in Burd-
wan—^retains his zemindaree unimpaired at the present

time. The Mahomedan officers were regarded as sieves,

which retained nothing ; the Hindoo officers as sponges,

which could be squeezed when saturated with plunder, and
they were accordingly employed in the collections, to the

entire exclusion, except in one instance, of the professors

of the creed of the Prophet. The revenues of Bengal
were a little in excess of a crore and a quarter of rupees, of

which one-third was reserved for the expenses of the

Government, and a crore regularly transmitted to the

imperial treasury, the viceroy invariably accompanying
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the procession which conveyed the tribute in person, the first

march out of Moorshedabad. Though severe in the exac-

tion of revenue, he was eminently just in his administra-

tion, constant to one wife, frugal in his domestic habits,

and exemplary in his charities. Under his administration

the prosperity of the country was abundantly increased, ^.n.

He died in 1725, and was succeeded by his son-in-law, 1725

Soojah-ood-deen, a Turkoman noble from Khorasan, who
retained his post in spite of the intrigues at the imperial

court, chiefly through the punctual transmission of the

tribute. He was succeeded in 1739 by his son, Serefraz 1739

Khan, at the time when Nadir Shah was plundering Delhi,

and as the dictate of prudence, the nabob ordered the coin

to be struck and prayers to be read in his name.

SECTION" VII.

SACK OF CALCUTTA AND CONQUEST OF BENGAL.

Within a twelvemonth Aliverdy Khan, a native of Tur-
kistan who had been entrusted with the government of

Behar, succeeded, by large bribes and larger AUverdy

promises to the venal ministers of the emperor ^^lan.

Mahomed Shah in obtaining the office of viceroy, and
marched against Serefraz, who was defeated and slain. 174]

Aliverdy had been employed for twenty years in public

affairs, and was eminently fitted by his talents to adorn the

position he had clandestinely obtained, and it was through
his energy that Bengal was saved from becoming a Mah-
i-atta province. White Rughoojee Bhonslay was employed
jin the Camatic, as narrated in the last chapter, one of his

[generals, Bhaskur Punt, entered Bengal and laid waste
'the whole country west of the Bhagruttee, from Hahratta

Cuttack to Rajmahal. A division of his army ii^'^asion. j^^g

suddenly appeared before Moorshedabad and plundered the

suburbs and extorted two crores and a half of rupees from
the Setts, the most opulent bankers in Hindostan. The
Mahratta commander then moved down upon Hooghly,
which he plundered, and the wretched inhabitants crowded
for shelter into the foreign settlements. The president at

Calcutta sought permission of the viceroy to surround the

settlement with an entrenchment, which was readily

granted, and the work was prosecuted with vigour, but bus-

h
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pended on the retirement of the enemy and never com-

i.n. Mahratta pleted. This was the celebrated Mahratta Ditch,

1742 ^'^^' which, though it has disappeared Hke the old

wall of London, long continued to mark the municipal

boundaries of the town, and to give its citizens the sou-

briquet of the " inhabitants of the Ditch."

The Mahrattas, though invariably defeated, renewed their

ravages from year to year. The recollection of these

devastations was not effaced for several genera-

ceded to the tions from the memory of the inhabitants in the
Mahrattas.

-^y^estem districts, and the invasion of the Bur-
gees—the name by which the Mahrattas were called

—

continued, even in the present century, to be an object

of horror. Wearied out with the conflict of ten years, which
ruined the country and exhausted the revenue, Aliverdy,

then in his seventy-fifth year, agreed to pay the raja of

Berar the chout on the revenues of Bengal, and to cede
the province of Orissa to him. The nabobs of Bengal con-

1751 tinned, however, to retain the name of Orissa as one of the

three soobahs under their rule, though nothing was left ot

it to them but a small territory north of the Subunreka.
Aliverdy devoted the remaining five years of his vice-

royalty to repairing the ravages of this harassing warfare,

1756 and died in April, 1756, at the age of eighty. The very next
year the sovereignty of the three provinces passed from
the Turkoman Mahomedans to the English, and became the

basis of the British empire in India.

Aliverdy Khan bequeathed the government to his favourite

grandson Suraj-ood-dowlah, a youth of twenty, who had
^756 suraj-ood- already become the object of universal dread and

dowiah. abhorrence for his caprices and cruelty. He had
long evinced particular animosity towards the English, and
the Court of Directors had specially enjoined the presi-

dent to place Calcutta in a state of defence. The factory

was reported to be very rich, and the young tyrant

had marked it out for early spoliation, but an unexpected
event hastened his movements. Before he came to

power he had despoiled the Hindoo governor of Dacca,

and placed him in confinement. His son Kissendas,

anxious to place his family and treasures in a state of

security, under pretence of a pilgrimage to Jugernath,

proceeded with a large retinue to Calcutta, where he
received a cordial welcome from the president, Mr. Drake.

Immediately on the death of the old nabob, Suraj-ood-

dowlah peremptorily demanded the surrender of Eassendas
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with all his wealth. It was followed by a second communi-
cation, ordering him to demolish the fortifications which it

was reported he had erected at Calcutta. Mr. Drake replied

that he had only put the ramparts facing the river in repair,

in the prospect of a war with France, but he refused to

give up the refugee to whom he had given protection. The
young soobadar was at this time marching into Pumeah to

coerce the refractory governor, his cousin ; but enraged at

this opposition to his wishes, he ordered his army to turn

back and march directly down to Calcutta.

The town was ill-prepared for such an assault. During ^.n.

fifty years of peace the defences had been neglected, and 1756

warehouses had been built up to the ramparts, capture of

The attention which the French had always Calcutta.

paid to the fortification of their settlements formed a
singular contrast to the indifiierence manifested by the

English ; and Chandernagore was at this time so thoroughly
defensible that it would have baffled all the attacks of any
native army. After the capture of Madras by Labour-
donnais, the Court of Directors had sent out orders to

strengthen the works, and these orders were repeated with
increased importunity as the health of the old viceroy

declined. But their servants in Calcutta were too busily

intent on amassing fortunes to heed these injunctions, and
their infatuation down to the latest moment was exceeded
only by their cowardice when the crisis came. The militia

was not embodied, and the powder furnished by a fraudulent
contractor was deficient both in quality and in quantity.

There were only 1 74 men in garrison, not ten of whom had
ever seen a shot fired, and the besiegers were 50,000 in

number. Yet, against these odds, Clive would have made
as noble and successful a defence as he did at Arcot; but
the governor was Drake, and the commandant Minchin.
The nabob's army sat down before it on the 17th June ; 1756

the town was occupied the next day, and the day after, it

was determined to send the women and children on board
the vessels anchored ofi'the fort. As soon, however, as the
Watergate was opened, there was an indiscriminate rush
to the boats, many of which were capsized. The enemy
sent some " fire arrows" at the ships, which did no damage
at all, but the commanders immediately weighed anchor
and dropped down the river two miles. Two boats alone
remained at the stairs, and Mr. Drake, without leaving
any instructions, quietly slipped into one of them ; he was

^m followed by the military commander, and they rowed down

I

I



148 ABEIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IV.

A.D. to the ships. As soon as this base desertion of their posts
l'^^^ became known, and calmness had been restored, Mr,

Holwell was unanimously placed in command, and it was
resolved to defend the fort to the last extremity. It held
out for forty-eight hours, during which signals were made
day and night to the vessels anchored below, and they
might have come up with perfect ease and safety and have
rescued the whole of the gallant garrison, but not a vessel

moved. On the 21st the enemy renewed the attack with
redoubled vigour : more than half the force was killed or

wounded, and the European soldiers broke into the liquor

stores and became unfit for duty. Mr. Holwell was obliged

to agree to a parley, during which the nabob's soldiers

treacherously rushed into the fort and obtained possession

of it. Search was immediately made for treasure, but
only five lacs of rupees were found in the vaults, and the

nabob's indignation knew no bounds.

The nabob retired about dusk to his encampment. The
European prisoners were collected together in a veranda,

The Black while the native ofl&cers went in search of some
Hole. building in which they might be lodged for the
night, but none could be found, and they were desired to

move into an adjoining chamber, which had been used as

the lock-up room of the garrison. It was not twenty feet

square, with only a single window, and, however suitable

for the confinement of a few refractory soldiers, was death
to the hundred and forty-six persons now thrust into it, in

one of the hottest months of the most sultry season of the

year. The wretched prisoners soon became frantic with
sufibcating heat and intolerable thirst, and called upon the
sentries to fire upon them and put them out of their misery.

They sank one by one in the arms of death, and when the

door was opened in the morning, only twenty-three were
dragged out alive, the most ghastly of forms. This is the

tragedy of the Black Hole, which has fixed an indelible

mark of infamy on the name of Suraj-ood-dowlah. Yet so

little did it appear an extraordinary occurrence that it

excited no attention in the native community, and is not
even mentioned by the great Mahomedan historian of the

period. The nabob returned to Moorshedabad and con-

fiscated all the property of the Company at the out
factories, and they were as completely expelled

of the from Bengal as they had been seventy years
Ccmpany. before in the reign of Aurungzebe.

1757 Bat the time ol retribution was not distant. The Court
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of Directors had regarded the progress of Bassj in the
Deccan with afeelingof great jealousy, and deter- ciive's

mined to contract an alliance with the Peshwa to movement«

arrest it. Clive, who had been received with dis-

tinguished honour by the Company and the ministry, was ^-^^

sent for this purpose to Bombay with a considerable force, '^*

but on his arrival found the president and his council

inflexibly averse to embark in so perilous an enterprise.

Admiral Watson happening to arrive at the same timo
with his fleet from Madras, it was determined to employ
the powerful armament thus assembled in rooting out the

piratical chief Angria on that coast. His power had become
so formidable, and his audacity had increased to such an ex-

tent, that in the previous year his corsairs had overpowered
three Dutch ships of war, respectively, of fifty, thirty-six, and
eighteen guns, the two largest of which they burnt. The
English fleet and army proceeded against Geriah, his

capital, and within an hour after the attack began, the
whole pirate fleet was in a blaze. In the arsenal were
found two hundred pieces of cannon, with a very large

store of ammunition, and twelve lacs of rupees, which the

captors, with verycommendable wisdom, distributed among
themselves without ceremony. The admiral and Clive then
returned to Madras, where information had just been re-

ceived of the sack of Calcutta ; and although a strong

party in the council was still bent on a conflict with Bussy,
the majority came to the conclusion that it was their first

duty to retrieve the afiairs of their masters in Bengal.
An expedition was accordingly fitted out and entrusted to

the genius of Clive, who sailed from Madras with admiral
Watson's fleet, on which were embarked 900 Europeans
and 1,500 sepoys.

They entered the Hooghly, and on the 15th December 1756

reached Fulta, where they found the dastardly Drake and
his fellow fugitives in the ships on which they had capture of

taken refuge in June. A little higher up the Calcutta,

river there was a small fortification at Budge Budge, held
by the Hindoo general of the nabob, who had been left in

charge of the army. It was attacked by Clive, and a ball

happening to pass too close to the commander's turban, he
hastened back to Calcutta. Not deeming himself, however,
safe there, he fled to Moorshedabad, leaving 500 men to

defend the fort, which was delivered up to Clive on the 2nd 1757

January, when the Company's standard was again hoisted on
its ramparts. The nabob had persuaded himself that the

I



150 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IV.

English would never again enter his dominions, and he was
filled with indignation when he heaa-d of their audacity.

He refused to listen to any overture from Chve, and thus

marched down in haste with an army of 40,000 men.
Finding a contest inevitable, Clive determined to take the

initiative, and long before dawn on the 5th February
marched out with his entire furce, augmented by 600
marines, and assaulted the nabob's encampment. Towards
sunrise a February fog bewildered the troops and
weakened the strength of the attack, but the Nabob, who
had never been under fire before, and had moreover seen

Battle at many of his officers fall around him, hastened
Dumdum. to make overtures of peace, and a treaty was con-

cluded on the 9th February. AH the former privileges of

the Company were restored, and permission was given

to estabhsh a mint and to fortify Calcutta. Information

had soon after been received of the declaration of war
between England and France. The French settlement of

Chandernagore, twenty mUes above Calcutta, was garri-

soned with 700 Europeans, besides a large body of native

troops, and Bussy was encamped with a victorious army at

a distance of only four hundred miles in the Northern
Sircars. The nabob had no sooner signed the treaty than

he importuned Bussy to march up to Bengal and expel the

English. Clive felt that the junction of the two French
forces would compromise the position of the Company, and
he determined to attack Chandernagore before it could be

efiected. He attacked it by land while admiral Watson bom-
barded it with his fleet, and the town was surrendered upon

Capture of honourable terms after a very gallant resistance
chandema- of nine days. When the capture had been
^ ' efiected, Clive remarked, "We cannot stop here,"

and his prediction has been verified by a century of pro-

gress which has carried us beyond the Indus.

Meanwhile, the violence and the atrocities of the nabob
1 757 continued to augment the disgust of his ministers and offi-

Confederacy ccrs. Every day produced some new act of
at the capital, oppression, and in May, Meer Jaffier, the military

paymaster and general, and the brother-in-law of Ali-

verdy Khan, entered into a combination with other officers

of state, and the all-powerful bankers, the Setts, to super-

sede him. There was at Moorshedabad at the time one

Omichund, who had settled ia Calcutta about forty years

before, and amassed immense wealth by contracts with the

Company, and who maintained the state of a prince. He ac-
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companied the nabob to the capital after the battle of the
9th February, constantly attended the durbar, and obtained

such influence in the public councils as to render it advis-

able for the confederates to take him into their confidence, a.^.

Clive was invited to join the league with magnificent ofiers 1767

for the Company ; and as he was convinced that "there could
" be neither peace nor security while such a monster as the
" nabob reigned," he entered readily into their plans. A
secret treaty was concluded, stipulating that the English
should instal Meer Jafiier, and that he should pay a crore

and three-quarters of rupees to make good their losses.

Omichund got scent of the treaty and threatened to dis-

close the transaction to the nabob—which would have led

to the immediate massacre of the whole party—^unless an
additional article was inserted guaranteeing to him a dona-
tion of thirty lacs, and a commission of five per cent, on
all the payments. Clive on hearing of this outrageous
demand came to the conclusion that " art and policy were
" warrantable to defeat the plans of such a villain," and he
drew up a fictitious treaty on red paper, in which his

demand was provided for, while the real treaty, authenti-

cated by the seals of the confederates, contained no such
stipulation. He is said to have died within a year raving
mad, but this statement is utterly unfounded. This is the

only act in the bold and arduous career of Clive which
does not admit of vindication, though he himself always
defended it, and declared that he was ready to do it a
hundred times over.

Clive marched from Chandemagore on the 13th June
with 900 Europeans, consisting partly of the 39th Regi-
ment of foot, who still carry on their colours Battle of
" Primus in Indis," 2,100 natives, and ten pieces Piassy.

of cannon. He marched up to Cutwa, where he called a

council ofwar, which voted against any farther advance ; but
immediately after he resolved to carry out the enterprise, and
on the night of the 22nd moved on to the grove of Plassy.

kThe

nabob's army, consisting of 50,000 horse and foot, was
encamped in its immediate vicinity. Meer Jaflfier had taken
an oath to join Clive before or during the engagement, but
he did not make his appearance, and was evidently waiting
the result of events. On the memorable 23rd of June the 1757

nabob's troops moved down on the small band of English
troops, and Clive advanced to the attack. The enemy with-

drew their artillery ; Meer Mudun, the general-in-chief, was
mortally wounded and expired in the presence of the nabob,
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who was unable to control his terror, but mounted a swift
camel and fled at the top of his speed with 2,000 horse, and
did not pause till he reached Moorshedabad. His army
immediately dispersed, and this battle, which decided the
fate of Bengal and Behar, and eventually of India, was
gained with the loss of only seventy-two killed and wounded.
As soon as the victory declared in favour of Clive, Meer
Jaffier advanced with his troops to congratulate him, and to
obtain the fruits of it. Suraj-ood-dowlah on reaching the
capital found himself deserted by all his courtiers, and
after a day of gloomy reflections, descended in disguise from
a window in the palace with a favourite eunuch and a con-
cubine, and embarked in a boat in the hope of overtaking
M. Law, a French officer, whom Bussy had sent up with
a small force. He proceeded up the river and landing at
Rajmahal to prepare a meal, entered the hut of a religious

mendicant, whose ears he had ordered to be cut off the
preceding year. He was recognised and made over to those
who were in pursuit of him, and conveyed back to Moor-
shedabad, eight days after he had quitted it. Meernn, the
son of Meer Jafiier, immediately caused him to be put to
death, and his mangled remains were paraded the next day
through the city and buried in the tomb of his grandfather.

A.D. Clive entered Moorshedabad on the 29th of June, and
1767 proceeded to the palace, where the great officers of state

Clive at Were assembled, and having conducted Meer

daSi^^
Jaffier to the throne, saluted him as soobadar of

Bengal, Behar, and Orissa. The change in the

position of the English in the course of a twelvemonth
appears more like a scene in a fairy tale than in sober his-

tory. In June, 1756, Calcutta had been sacked and burnt,

and the Company extirpated. In June, 1757, they had
not only recovered the seat of their commerce and ex-

tinguished their European rivals, but defeated and dethroned
the nabob, and disposed of the sovereignty of a country
larger and more populous than England. Of the treasures

at Moorshedabad more than two crores were made over to

the conquerors, and the first instalment of eighty lacs was
conveyed in a triumphant procession to Calcutta, along the

road where, a twelvemonth before, Suraj-ood-dowlah had
marched back to his capital with the plunder of Calcutta.

For the Company Clive reserved only the fee simple of 600
yards of land around the Mahratta Ditch, and the zemin-
dai'ee rights of the districts south of Calcutta. For himself,

he rejected the magnificent offers of the opulent nobles who
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were anxious to secure his favour, and contented himself

with a gift of sixteen lacs from Meer Jaffier. When his

services were afterwards forgotten, and he was upbraided

in the House of Commons with his rapacity, he replied

indignantly—" When I recollect entering the treasury of

' Moorshedabad, vsdth heaps of gold and silver to the right

' hand and to the left, and these crowned with jewels, I

' stand astonished at my own moderation." Intelligence

of the loss of Calcutta was eleven months in reaching Eng-

land, and seven weeks after the Directors heard of its re-

covery and of the brilliant results of the battle of Plassy,

Seventy years before they had sent admiral Nicholson

with a powerful armament to establish them as a political

power in Bengal, but so completely had they dismissed all

the dreams of ambition, that with the richest provinces of

India at their feet, the only satisfaction they expressed was

that their factors would now be able to provide investments

for two years without drawing upon them.

CHAPTER V.

SECTION I.

PROCEEDINGS IN BENGAL FROM THE BATTLE OF PLASST TO
HASTINGS' ADMINISTRATION.

A.D.

The emperor of Delhi was at this time a puppet in the hands 1757

of his unprincipled minister, Ghazee-ood-deen, and his eldest

son and heir, Ali Gohur, had succeeded in making invasion of

his escape from the capital, and raising the im- ^Ji Gohur.

perial standard. India was swarming with military adven-

turers ready to take service under any chief, and the prince

found no difficulty in collecting an army of 40,000 men,
and, being joined by the nabob Vizier of Oade, invaded
Behar, and appeared before the city of Patna. Clive lost

no time in advancing to its defence, and the prince retired

in all haste on his approach. During his flight he was
reduced to such distress as to throw himself on the con-

sideration of Clive, and the heir and descendant of Ak- 1758

bar and Aurungzebe was happy to receive a donation of

eight thousand rupees to relieve his necessities.

The influence which Clive necessarily exercised in the

I
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A.D. government of Bengal from his character and position

1759 Battle at tended to lessen the importance of Meer Jaffier,

Chmsurah. and his court and family could not fail to re-

member with chagrin that the foreigners who now over-

shadowed the throne had only three years before approached
it as suppliants. The nabob, looking about for the means
of counterbalancing Olive's ascendancy, began to intrigue

with the Dutch at Chinsurah. The governor of Java,

moreover, viewed with no friendly eye the superior ad-

vantages which the English had acquired in Bengal, and in

the hope of fishing up some prize in the troubled waters of

the province, fell in with the projects of the nabob, and
despatched a fleet of seven vessels with 700 Europeans and
800 well-trained Malay sepoys to Chinsurah. Clive was
resolved not to tolerate any rival European influence in

Bengal, and, although the two nations were at peace, seized

the vessels, and directed Colonel Forde to intercept the

progress of the troops. That officer shrank from the

responsibility of attacking the soldiers of a friendly power,

and requested a written authority from his chief. Clive

was sitting at cards when the Colonel's letter was placed

in his hands, and sent a reply in pencil on the back of one
of them—" Fight them immediately. I will send you the
" order in council to-morrow." The Dutch force was
attacked and defeated as it approached Chinsurah. Im-
mediately after the action, the nabob's son appeared in

sight with an army of 7,000 men who were to have joined

the Dutch if the fortune of the day had gone against the

English. Clive exacted from the Dutch the expense of the

expedition sent to defeat their plans, and having sent a
haughty and defiant despatch to the Court of Directors,

from whom he had long been estranged, embarked for

England on the 25th of February, 1760.

1760 At the period of Clive's departure, the prince Ali Gohur
was advancing a second time to the invasion of Behar.

g^ , On his route, he heard of the assassination of the

invasion of emperor, his father, by Grhazee-ood-deen, and
AU Gohur. assumed the imperial dignity under the title of

"Shah Alum. The nabob Vizier joined his force in the

hope of adding Behar to his possessions, and they moved
down upon Patna. Colonel Calhaud, one of the great

soldiers trained under Lawrence and CHve, marched up to

the defence of the town, together with 15,000 of the

nabob's troops under his son Meerun, and the imperial

force was completely routed. The emperor, having received
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a promise of assistance from the Malirattas, marched down
through the hills in the hope of surprising Moorshedabad. 176O

Colonel Calliaud followed him without loss of time, and the

two armies confronted each other about thirty miles from
the city; but the emperor hearing no tidings of his

Mahratta auxiliaries, broke up his encampment and
marched back to Fatna, to which he laid close siege for

nine days. All hope of prolonging the defence was fading

away when Captain Knox, who had been despatched in

haste by Colonel Calliaud, was seen approaching the walls

with a handful of troops. He had performed the march
from Moorshedabad to Patna, under the burning heat of

a Bengal sun, in the extraordinary space of thirteen days,

marching himself on foot to encourage his men. The next
day he attacked the emperor's camp, and completely de-

feated him and dispersed his entire force. The nabob of

Pumeah, who had been intriguing with him, now threw off

the mask and immediately advanced to his aid with 12,000
men and thirty pieces of cannon. To the utter amazement
of the natives. Captain Knox marched out with a battalion

of sepoys, 200 Europeans, a squadron of cavalry, and five

field pieces, and, after a conflict of six hours, completely
routed the nabob. The native historian dwells with ad-

miration upon the conflict, and describes the breathless

anxiety with which the inhabitants of Patna crowded on
the walls watching the exit of this gallant little band, and
the delight with which they were welcomed back, covered
with dust and sweat. This was another of those „ „ ^
, . , ., , . , . , Gallantry of
darmg exploits which m our early career Captain

established the prestige of our arms and con- ^^°^-

tributed to give us the empire of India. Colonel Calliaud

and Meerun arrived after the engagement ; Meerun was
struck dead by a thunderbolt as he lay in his tent, and the

country was rid of a monster, in whose cabinet was found
a list of three hundred men of note whom he had destined

to destruction.

CHve had become so completely identified with the ex-

istence of British power in Bengal that it seemed to tlje

pubhc officers as if the soul had departed from jjj. y^n.
the Government on his retirement. He was sue- sittart

ceeded by Mr. Vansittart, a man of great probity,
^°^^'^"

but without any strength of character. He belonged to the

Madras service, and the appointment was resented by the

members of the Bengal council, who set themselves to

thwart him on every occasion. To increase the confusion

I
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which bewildered his weak mind, three of the elder mem-
bers of council who had signed the contumacious letter of

Clive to the Court of Directors were peremptorily dis-

missed by them, and their places were filled, on the rule of

rotation, by men of violent passions, who regarded Mr.
Vansittart with a feeling of hatred, and he was constantly

outvoted in council. The death of Meerun increased the

complication. Notwithstanding his profligacy, his vigour

had been the main stay of his father's government, and on
his death the administration fell into a state of complete
anarchy. The troops besieged the palace for their arrears,

and Meer JaflB.er sent his son-in-law, Meer Cossim, to

Calcutta to obtain pecuniary assistance from the council,

but the treasure obtained at Moorshedabad had been dissi-

pated, and there was scarcely a rupee in the treasury. It

was vain to expect any further supplies from the nabob, and
the council determined to depose him and to elevate Meer
Cossim to the throne, on his promising to reward his

i.D. benefactors with twenty lacs of rupees, to make good all

1760 arrears, and to transfer three rich districts in lower Bengal

Meer Cossim to the Company. Mr. Yansittart proceeded to
nabob. Moorshedabad with a military force to persuade

the nabob to resign the Government, and the old man was
obliged, though not without the greatest reluctance, to

yield, and retire to Calcutta. Meer Cossim met the

difficulties of his position with great skill and energy. He
curta,iled the extravagance of the court establishments

;

he obliged the public officers to disgorge their plunder ; he
revised the land assessments, and added a crore of rupees

a year to his rent-roll. He faithfully discharged all his

obligations to the Company and to the members of the

council, but the great object he set before himself was to

emancipate himself from their control, and to become the

soobadar in reality, and not in name only. He removed
the seat of government from Moorshedabad to Monghyr,
three hundred miles from Calcutta, and strengthened the

works of that important fortress. In the course of three

years he created a force of 15,000 cavalry and 25,000

infantry ; he established a large arsenal, he manufactured
firelocks, and cast cannon, and had made great progress

in consolidating his power, when a storm was raised by
the unprincipled couduct of the council board in Calcutta,

which in a few months swept him from the throne.

From time immemorial a large proportion of the public

1762 revenue had been derived from the duties levied on the
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transport of goods through the country. Under the firman a.d.

of the emperor, the merchandise of the Company The transit 1762

intended for export by sea was allowed to pass '^''^®®-

free, under a dustuk, or pass, signed by the president. The
battle of Plassy transferred all power to the Company, and

their servants immediately embarked on the inland trade

of the country, aud claimed a similar exemption for their

private investments. The native merchants, in order to

pass their own cargoes duty free, adopted the plan of pur-

chasing passes from the civilians, and the boys in the

service were thus enabled to realise two or three thousand

rupees a month. The country traders, moreover, fre-

quently hoisted the English flag ; and as it was deemed in-

dispensable to maintain its immunity. Company's sepoys

were sent to release their boats whenever they were seized

by the nabob's officers. The trade of the country was para-

lysed, and its peace destroyed, and the two ruling powers

were brought into a state of perilous antagonism. These

encroachments, which were rare during Clive's administra-

tion, increased to an alarming extent on his departure. In

order to remedy these disorders Mr. Vansittart proceeded

to Monghyr, and concluded a convention with the nabob,

which provided that the trade of the Company's servants

should pay nine per cent., though that of his own subjects

was often weighted with twenty-five per cent. On his

return to Calcutta he found the members of council indig-

nant at this unauthorised concession, and resolved not to

pay more than two and a half per cent., and that only on
the article of salt. The nabob then determined to put all 1763

parties on an equality, and abolished all transit duties

throughout the provinces. The council voted this measure
a crime, and demanded, as a matter of right from one whom
they had raised to authority, that the native traders should
be subject to the usual duties, while their own flag was
exempt. This flagitious demand was indignantly resisted

by the only two honest men in the council, Mr. Vansittart

and Mr. Hastings.

The Company's factory at Patna was unfortunately at

this time under the charge of Mr. Ellis, the war with

most inveterate of Meer Cossim's opponents, and MeerCossim.

the most violent and unscrupulous of the civihans. He
was resolved to bring about a change in the government,
and, in a time of peace, suddenly seized on the city of
Patna with a handful of European troops. The native

commandant, on hearing that the soldiers were rendered
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incapable by drink, returned to the town and recaptured it,

and Mr. Ellis and his oflB.cers, who had proceeded up the

river, were overtaken and brought back prisoners. Meer
Cossim was no sooner informed of this wanton aofSTession

than he ordered every Englishman in the province to be
seized. Both parties now prepared for war. The nabob
augmented his army, and invited the fugitive emperor and
the Vizier of Oude, who was hankering after Berar, to join

his forces. The English army, consisting of 650 Europeans,

1,200 sepoys, and a troop of native cavalry, opened the
campaign on the 2nd July, although the rains, the season

^ jj
of mihtary inaction, had just set in. The nabob's advanced

1763 guard at Cutwa was defeated. With the army stationed

at Geriah to dispute the advance of the British force, there

was a long and arduous battle of four hours, and never had
native troops fought with greater resolution and valour

than the newly-raised battaUons of the nabob ; but nothing
could withstand the spirit of the English soldiers. The
nabob's army abandoned its guns and encampment and
fled. Early in November the English commandant carried

the fortified entrenchment at Oodwa-nulla, and the nabob
fled to Patna, after having ordered all his European
prisoners to be put to death. His own native oflBcers in-

dignantly refused to imbrue their hands in the blood of

bi-ave and unarmed men ; they were soldiers, they said, and
not executioners. But Raymond, subsequently known as

Sumroo, a name of infamy, who had been a sergeant in the

French army, and was now in the employ of the nabob,

offered his services, and, proceeding to the house where the

Massacre of prisoners were confined, poured in volley on
Europeans, volley through the Venetian windows, till forty-

eight English gentlemen, and a hundred English soldiers,

lay lifeless on the floor. The campaign was completed in

four months by the capture of Patna and the flight of Meer
Cossim to Oude, where the nabob Vizier did not scruple to

despoil him of his property.

On the breaking out of the war with Meer Cossim, the

, .» Council determined to place Meer Jaffier ae:ain on
MftGr J&ffiGr

again the throne, but the old man, seventy-two years
nabob. ^f g^gg^ g^^j scarcely able to move for the leprosy,

was previously required to confirm the grant of the three

districts already mentioned to the Company, to concede the

flagrant exemption from the transit duties in which the war
had originated, and to make further donations to the civil

and military officers. But in a few months, the govern-
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ment having a large army to maintain in the field, found

itself on the verge of bankruptcy, which was not to be won-

dered at, considering that peculation was universal, from

the highest to the lowest official. Meer Jaffier was therefore

brought down to Calcutta to concert the means of replen-

ishing the treasury. The members of council demanded a

payment of five lacs of rupees a month for the public

service as long as the war lasted, and they insisted on a

donation at first of ten lacs, and eventually of fifty lacs, for

themselves, for what they had the efirontery to term
" compensation for losses." These harassing importunities, ^ y_

combined with age and disease, served to hasten his end, 1766

and on his return to Moorshedabad he expired in Death of

January, 1765. ^^^ J'^*"^'"-

The making of nabobs had for the last eight years been

the most lucrative occupation of the senior civil and
military officers of the Company, and the fourth gig g^n

occasion which now arose was not to be neglected, nabob.

The Court of Directors, exasperated by the iniquities of

their servants, had peremptorily ordered them to execute

covenants to abstain from the receipt of presents from the

natives of the country. But these injunctions were given

to the winds, and, with the covenants on the council table,

the son of Meer Jaffier was obliged to become responsible

for the payment of twenty lacs of rupees to the members of

the council board before he was allowed to succeed him.

The conduct of these men for five years after the retirement

of Clive was marked by a degree of profligacy of which it

would not be easy to find a parallel in any age or country.

Fortunes of vast amount were acquired by the most
nefarious means in the shortest period ; every idea of

common morality was treated with sovereign contempt,

while luxury, corruption, and debauchery pervaded every
rank, and threatened the dissolution of government.

Six months after the close of the war with Meer Cossim,

the nabob Vizier determined to take advantage of the

confusion of the times to acquire possession of the province

of Behar, and marched down upon Patna with a large but
ill-trained force, accompanied by the fugitive emperor and .

the disinherited nabob of Bengal. The attack was unsuc-
cessful, and he withdrew his encampment to Buxar.
Meanwhile Major Munro, who had assumed the command of

the army, found the sepoys in a state of flagrant Mutiny of

mutiny, and demanding increased pay and large tiieSepoys. 1764

gratuities. With undaunted resolution the Major resolved



160 ABKIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. V.

to subdue this spirit of revolt at once, and twenty-four of

the ringleaders were arraigned before a court martial, con-

sisting of native officers, and condemned to death. Twenty
of them were blown away from the guns, and the discipline

of the army was restored. This was the first of that series

of mutinies which have broken out from time to time among
the sepoys, and which in less than a century culminated in

the dissolution of the whole army of the Bengal Presi-

dency. At the close of the rains, the Major did not
hesitate to lead this army, so recently in a state of in-

OcT, subordination, to Buxar, where the nabob Vizier had been
23kd, encamped for several months. His army, consisting of

'

Battle of 50,000 troops, was completely routed, with the
Buxar. Iqss of his entire camp and a hundred and thirty

guns. The victory of Buxar was an important supplement
to the victory of Plassy. It demolished the only indepen-

dent power in the north of India, and it left the Company
masters of the entire valley of the Ganges from the Hima-
laya to the sea. The Vizier fled to Bareilly, and offered to

redeem his forfeited kingdom by the payment of half a

crore of rupees to the Company and the army, and a large

douceur to the commandant, but the negotiation came
to nothing. Immediately after the victory, the emperor
joined the English camp, and began to negotiate for a share

of the territories of his late ally, the nabob Vizier, and the

council was contemplating a division of them between him
and the Company, when CKve made his appearance in

Bengal.

On his return to England in 1760, CHve was received

1760 with great distinction by the king and his great minister,

Mr. Pitt, who pronounced him " a heaven-

Becondap- " bom general," and he was honoured with an
pointment. j^^^ peerage. But the Court of Directors,

in which his enemies were predominant, treated him not
only with malevolence, but with injustice, and he was
obliged to file a bill in equity to recover an annuity which
Meer Jaffier had settled upon him, and which they had un-
gratefully sequestered. The war with Meer Cossim, the

massacre of the Europeans, and the total disorganisa-

tion of the government, had dissipated the golden dreams
of prosperity in which the Company had been indulging.

The Proprietors began to tremble for their dividends, and
they constrained the Directors, to their infinite reluctance,

1765 to send Clive out to retrieve their affairs. He landed at

Calcutta, on the 3rd of May, 1765, and found the whole
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service steeped in corruption, and felt himself justified in as-

serting that " there werenot five men ofprinciple to be found
" in it." His first duty was to enforce the signature of the

covenants the India House had prescribed to abolish the

receipt of presents. The corrupt officials questioned his

right to make such a demand, but he reduced them to

silence by declaring that he would dismiss every one who
refused to sign them, and send him back to England ; and
they found it prudent to submit to his iron will. Having
thus, in the course of seven weeks fully established his

authority in the Government, Clive proceeded to the upper
provinces to dispose of the imperial questions Arrange- ^^•

which awaited his decision. To prevent another ment with 1765

rising like that of Meer Cossim, he took away
the power of the sword from the nabob of Moorshedabad,
and assigned him out ofthe revenues of the province the sum
of fifty-three lacs for the expenses of his court and the ad-

ministration of justice. The young nabob exclaimed with
delight, " Thank God, I shall now have as many dancing-
" girls as 1 Hke." The Vizier of Oude had forfeited

his kingdom by the result of the war he had vizier 1765
wantonly waged against the Company ; but Clive, °^ '-*"'^®'

who was indisposed to the enlargement of the Company's
territories, determined to restore it to him, with the excep-

tion of the two districts of Corah and Allahabad, which he
reserved for the emperor, who was now a dependant on the

bounty of the English. CHve treated the vagrant with the

prince with much consideration, and assigned emperor.

him an annual payment of twenty-five lacs of rupees from
the revenues of the country, in addition to the product of

the districts. Looking back on the cession of Oude with the

light of a century of experience, we are enabled to per-

ceive that it was anything but judicious ; and that if Clive

had at that period annexed it, and given it the benefit

of a British administration, as in the case of Bengal and
Behar, he would have conferred a boon on the population,

and benefited the Company's government.
The emperor had repeatedly ofiered the Company the

Bewanee, that is, the revenues of the three provinces, and
Clive now took occasion to solicit the official The
grant of it, Orissa was still considered one of Dewanee.

them, although all but one district in the north belonged
to the Mahrattas. This act was completed on the 12th of
August, 1765, a memorable day in the political and con-
stitutional history of British India. As a substitute for a

1765

I
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throne two dining-tables were put together in Olive's tent,

with a chair on them, and covered with embroidery. The em-
peror took his seat, and transferred the government of

twenty-five millions ofpeople and a revenue of three crores

to Lord Clive, as the representative of the East India

Company. The Mahomedan historian of this period,

scandalized by the simplicity of this great transaction, ex-

claims with indignation that " a business of so much
" importance, which at other times would have required
" the sending of wise ministers and able envoys, was done
'' and finished in less time than would have been taken up
" in the sale ofa jackass." What will appear scarcely less re-

A D Fxt •

f
J^^^kable is the expansion of Olive's sentiments.

1765 Olive's On taking leave of the Oourt of Directors in
views. 1764, he assured them that nothing but extreme
necessity ought to induce them to extend their views of

territorial acquisition beyond the three districts ceded

to them by Meer Oossim. Before sixteen months had
elapsed, he congratulated them on having become the

sovereigns of three kingdoms
;
yet, with this demonstration

of the vanity of all such resolutions, he again ventured to

circumscribe the British empire in India, and after ac-

quiring the Dewanee, declared that "to extend onr
" possessions beyond the Ourumnassa,"—the north-west
boundary of the three soobahs,—" would be a scheme so
" extravagantly ambitious that no Government in its senses
" would dream of it." Not more than eighty-four years

after this solemn denunciation, our boundary had crossed

the Indus and was extended to the Khyber Pass.

This transaction was scarcely completed when the new
empire, which. Clive assured the Directors that " all the

Mutiny of " princes of Hindostan could not deprive us of

1766 the Euro- " for many years," was shaken to its foundation
by the mutiny of the European officers. They

had been accustomed to an extra allowance, called batta,

when in the field, which, the gratitude of Meer Jaffier had
doubled when he was first raised to the throne, and, as it

was not withdrawn when they were in cantonments, they
considered it a permanent right. When the Court of

Directors became responsible for the finances of the country,
they found that the military expenses swallowed up its

resources, and they ordered this extravagant allowance to

cease ; but the timid Council was deterred by the imperious-
ness of the officers from executing their orders. The duty
of reduction was imposed on Clive as he left England, and
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on his arrival he announced that the double batta was to

cease on the 1st of January, 1766. The ofl&cers im-
mediately formed a confederacy to resist the order, and it

was agreed that two hundred of them should resign their

commissions on the same day, and, as an army of 50,000
Mahrattas was advancing to invade Behar, they felt con-

fident that the Government would be obliged to retain their

services on their own terms.

But they had to deal with a man of inflexible resolution,

who declared that he must see the bayonets levelled at his

throat before he would yield to their demands, cuve's
*-°-

He directed the commandants to accept the resig- inflexibility. 1766

nation of every officer, and to send him under arrest to Cal-

cutta. He ordered up officers and cadets from Madras

;

he engaged the services of others in the settlement, and
proceeded with those who remained faithful, to the head-

quarters of the army, arrested the ringleaders, and ordered

them to be tried by court-martial. In the course of a
fortnight this formidable conspiracy was quashed by his

undaunted firmness. He was fully aware, however, that all

the officers of Government had a real grievance in the

preposterous policy of the Court of Directors, who
limited their allowances to a pittance on which it was not
possible to live, and forbad all engagement in trade, while

they were surrounded with wealth, which their official

position enabled them to grasp with ease. He therefore esta-

blished a Society for conducting a traffic in salt, on the

principle of a monopoly, the profits of which, after a large

reservation for their masters in Leadenhall Street, were lo

be proportionately divided among their servants, civil,

military, medical, and ecclesiastical. But it was speedily

suppressed by the Directors, who substituted for it a com-
mission of two and a half per cent, on the gross revenue
of the province.

After a residence of twenty-two months in India, Clive

was driven home by an acute attack of disease. It has
fallen to the lot of few men to exercise so im- cure in

portant and so permanent an influence on the ^^e'and.

course of human afiairs. He not only made the Company
sovereigns of a country larger than England, with a
revenue of imperial magnitude, but he laid the foundation
of an empire in the east with an irrepressible element of

expansion. StiU more, he established the supremacy of
Europe in Asia, which has ever since been growing more
complete, and is never likely to be shaken. His reception

h2

I
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in England corresponded, at first, with his eminent merits,

but the tables were soon turned against him. His great-

ness excited envy and censure. He had made many
enemies in India by his stern probity and resolution, and
they purchased India stock that they might wreak their

vengeance on him. One SulHvan, a Director, who possessed

great power at the India House, pursued him with inveterate

mahgnity, and the Court of Directors, who had always
been hostile to him, now manifested their feelings by re-

storing to the service those whom he had cashiered for

peculation or mutiny. The king's ministers joined the hue
and cry. The Attorney-General proposed to confiscate all

1773 the donations he had received from native princes. In
Parliament his conduct was stigmatised as a " mass of the
" most unheard of villanies and corruption." But the

feehng of the House revolted from the proposal which was
made to fix a brand of infamy on him, and substituted for

it a resolution that he had rendered great and meritorious

Death of Services to his country. But his lofty spirit

1774
^^^^' could ill brook the treatment to which he had
been subject, and, under the pressure of physical and
mental suffering, he put a period to his existence.

The next five years of administration were a disgrace to

1767 Five years the national character. No sooner was the strong
to of anarchy arm of CHve removed, than the whole system of

1772 ° ^ • Government was paralysed by the rapacity of the

Company's servants. The covenants they had signed were
treated as waste paper, and they plunged into the inland

trade of the country, and prosecuted it with the strength
of their official authority. The Council had not the power
and still less the inclination to restrain these abuses. The
nefarious charges of commissaries, contractors and engineers

drained the treasury. Every man who was permitted to

make out a bill against the state made a fortune. These
evils were indefinitely aggravated by the memorable famine
of 1770, which swept away one-third of the population of

the lower provinces.

SECTION" II.

PEOGEESS OF EVENTS AT MADEAS AND BOMBAY, 1761—1772,

Having thus narrated the progress of events in the Gangetic
valley, we turn to the transactions in the Deccan during

Affairs at ^^^^ period, and to the intrigues, perfidy, and
Madras. hostilities in which the Mahra,ttas, the Nizam,
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and Hyder AH, were incessaBtly involved. The extinction

of the' French power in 1761 placed the protege of the

English, Mahomed Ali, in the position of nabob of the

Carnatic. Among the native princes of the time he was dis-

tinguished by his imbecility and his unscrupulousness. His

army was a mere rabble, and the Company's Government

found itself encumbered with the expense of defending a

territory of 50,000 square miles without the command of

its revenues. The country had been without any settled

government for twenty years; it had been despoiled by
successive invasions, and it was now administered by a

court profligate and wasteful, supported by loans raised at

Madras on usurious interest, which impaired the conduct of ^ d.

strength of those who borrowed them, and the Mahomed ^^g.^

morals of those who provided them. The
governor of Madras was constrained to make a demand
of fifty lacs from the nabob to discharge the obligations

incurred in seating him on the throne ; but his treasury

was empty, and he proposed to him to obtain funds from the

spoliation of several chiefs, and more particularly spoliation of 1753
of the raja of Tanjore, from whom a contribution Tanjore.

of twenty-four lacs in four instalments was extorted. The
peace of PaHs restored to the French all the possessions

they had held in India, and provided, moreover, that

Mahomed Ali should be acknowledged by both parties

nabob of the Carnatic, and Salabut Jung Peace of

soobadar of the Deccan. He had been deposed ^^*- ^'^^

eighteen months before by his brother Nizam Ali, who, on
hearing that his right to the throne had been acknowledged
by these two great powers, caused him to be assassinated.

On the memorable 12th of August, 1765, Clive obtained'

from the emperor, at the same time with the Dewanee, a
firman releasing the nabob of the Carnatic from all

dependence on the Nizam, and a grant of the Northern 1765

northern Sircars to the Company. These districts Sircars.

on the Coromandel coast had famished Bussy with the
sinews of war, but, on his departure, had been wrested from
the French by Colonel Forde. Nizam Ali was not disposed
to submit to the alienation of this province, and on hearing
that an English force was marching down to occupy it,

threatened to send his army and exterminate it. The
government of Madras was at this time in the hands of
Mr. Palk, who had gone to India as one of the Company's
chaplains butrenouncedhis orders, went into the civil service,

in which he amassed a noble fortune, and on his return to

I
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England obtained a baronetcy. The feeble Council of the

Presidency directed the commander to suspend all military

operations and proceed to Hyderabad to negotiate a treaty
;

A.D. and on the 12th November, 1766, he concluded the humiii-

1766 ating convention which provided that the Company should

Disgraceful hold the northern Sircars, which had been con-
condnct of ferred on them by the supreme authority in India,

as vassals of the contemptible soobadar of the

Deccan, paying a tribute of seven lacs of rupees a year.

But the Madras Presidency went further, and involved the

Company in the intricate web of Deccan politics, by
agreeing tofarm'sh the Nizam with twobattalions of infantry

and six pieces of cannon, " to settle everything right and
" proper in the affairs of his highness' government," well

knowing that his immediate object was to employ them in

attacking Hyder AH.
The rise and progress of this extraordinary chief, one

of the three men who during the last two centuries have

Eise and risen from obscurity to be the founders of great
^gress of kingdoms in India, will now demand the reader's

attention. Mysore was one of the provinces of

the Hindoo empire of Beejanugcr, extinguished in 1564, and
fell to the lot of a family of Hindoo princes, who gradually

enlarged their territories, and, though repeatedly invaded
by the Mahrattas, maintained their independence for two
centuries, till they were dethronedby Hyder Ali. His family

emigrated from the Punjab, and his father raised himself to

the post of head-constable and obtained the command of a

1702 His birth
Small body of troops. Hyder was born about the

year 1702, and remained without distinction for

'forty-seven years. It was not before 1749, during the

struggles of the French and English for power in the

Deccan, that he attracted the attention of the regent of

His firat Mysore at the siege of DeonhuUy, and was pro-
1749 distinction, moted to an important command. This brief

epitome affords no space for narrating the progress of his

career ; and it is sufficient to notice that he augmented his

resources by false musters, and by his incomparable tact

and duplicity gradually absorbed the chief authority in the

state. Having at length acquired the absolute command of

the army, he constrained the feeble raja to resign the sceptre

to him and to retire into private Hfe on an annuity, which
1761 was soon after curtailed. He was a brave soldier, a bold and

skilful general, and a brilliant administrator. Like Sevajee

and Runjeet Sing, he was unable to read or write, and it may
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be questioned whether either of them could have passed the 7
modern test of talent in a competitive examination, but j

they could all three create empires and govern them.

Hyder became master of Mysore at the age of sixty, and
devoted himself for twenty years to the aggrandisement of

his power at the expense of his neighbours. Within two
years he extended his authority up to the Kistna, and

^ ^
overran the territory of Bednore on the summit Acquires 1763

of the western ghauts, which overlooks the bednore.

maritime province of Canara. The capital, then esteemed
the most wealthy city in the Deccan, fell without a struggle,

and Hyder always attributed his subsequent prosperity to

the treasure he obtained in it. He had previously cast off the

title of Hyder Naik, or constable, and assumed the dignity

of Hyder Ali Klian Bahadoor, and he now introduced

a style of greater splendour and etiquette into his court.

The Peshwa, Ballajee Rao, died of a broken heart on
hearing of the fatal battle of Paniput, and was succeeded

by his son Mahdoo Rao, then eighteen years of yf^r be-

age. The Nizam determined to take advantage ^'^"J^ 17g]
of the weakness of the Mahrattas, to recover the the Nizam

districts his predecessor had been obliged to cede ^^^ Hyder.

to them in their palmy days, and having formed an alliance

with Bhonslay, raja of Nagpore, marched upon Poena, which 1763

he plundered and partially burnt. Raghoba, the uncle of the

Peshwa, retaliated by laying Hyderabad under contribu-

tions, and the two armies met on the banks of the Godavery.
Before the battle, Raghoba had managed to buy off the raja

of Nagpore by the promise of lands valued at thirty-two lacs

a year, and on the eve of the battle he accordingly deserted

the Nizam, who was defeated with great slaughter. But
as the Mahrattas were incensed at the raja for joining the

Nizam, and the Nizam was annoyed by his desertion at a cri- 1766

tical moment, they united their forces, invaded his kingdom,
and stripped him of the greater portion of the territory he
had acquired by his perfidy.

Mysore had hitherto been regarded by the Mahrattas as

a reserve field for plunder when there happened to be no
other marauding expedition on hand, but the Mahrattas

rapid rise of a new power under Hyder Ali, with ?^*^'^^

an army of 20,000 horse and 40,000 foot, one half ^
^''

of which consisted of well-disciplined battaHons, aroused

the alarm and the indignation of the Poona cabinet, and it

was determined to chastise his audacity. An army was
accordingly despatched into the country, and Hyder was

I
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Ai>- brought for the first time into contact with the Mahrattas,
^'^^^ and. suffered a signal defeat. The next year the Peshwa

again took the field, and the Mysore army was a second
time defeated, with the loss of 10,000 men, and Hyder
considered himself fortunate in being reheved from the

Eepeated Mahrattas by restoring the greater portion of the
1765 ^f^t of districts he had usurped, and paying an indemnity

of thirty-two lacs of rupees. To compensate for

these losses he invaded the maritime province of Malabar,
which had never been subjugated by the Mahomedan arms.
The gallant Nairs, or military chieftains, offered a noble
resistance, but the whole province was nevertheless

occupied, and the Mysore flag was planted on the towers of

Calicut, the chief of which was still designated the Zamorin,
as in the days of Albuquerque, two centuries and a half

before. From these schemes of conquest Hyder was
recalled to defend his own dominions and to resist a
confederacy of the Mahrattas and the Nizam, into which

1766 the Company was unwillingly drawn by the fatal article in

the treaty of the 12th November, 1766, which bound the
Madras Government to assist the Nizam with an auxiliary

force. He now claimed the fulfilment of this engagement,
and, in an evil hour, Colonel Smith was sent with an army
to co-operate with him and the Mahrattas in coercing

1767 Hyder. The Mahrattas forestalled the Nizam, and crossing

the Kistna in January, let loose their predatory horse on
Hyder's northern dominions, and constrained him to

purchase their retreat by the payment of thirty lacs of

I rupees.

Colonel Smith, on his arrival in the Nizam's camp, found
that he was basely negotiating with Hyder for a joint attack

„ . on the EngUsh army, and he withdrew with the

of the bulk of his force to defend the frontier of the

^^ Camatic. The bargain with Hyder was completed

by an engagement on the part of the Nizam to fall

on the British force on receiving an immediate payment of

twenty lacs of rupees and a promise of six lacs of annual
tribute. The confederate armies numbered 42,000 cavalry

and 28,000 infantry, with a hundred guns, while the Bi-itish

force did not exceed 1,030 sabres and 5,800 bayonets, vsdth

CIS 'til
sixteen guns. With this disproportionate force

l-jQj defeats Colonel Smith twice defeated the alhes and

Routes. captured sixty-four pieces of cannon. During
these operations Hyder's eldest son Tippoo, then

seventeen years of age, suddenly advanced to Madras with
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a body of 5,000 horse, and plundered the country houses of

the Madras gentry, and the members of Government only es-

caped being captured by the eagerness of the Mysore troops

for plunder. In the meantime, the Government of Bengal
sent an expedition by sea under Colonel Peach, to create a

diversion in the Nizam's territories. He landed on the

coast, carried everything before him, and advanced
to Warungul, within eighty miles of Hyderabad, territories

and the Nizam deserted Hyder, and hastened to '»''**<''^^-

make his peace with the EngHsh.
The affairs of the Nizam were now in a desperate con-

dition. He had been defeated in two engagements ; his

northern territories were occupied and his capital Disgraceful

was threatened ; and the Madras President, Mr. treaty with

Palk, might have dictated his own terms. It

might have been expected that he would, at least, have
declared the former treaty annulled by the monstrous
perfidy ofthe Nizam ; but, after several weeks of negotiation,

he concluded another treaty, the most disgraceful which had
ever sullied the annals of the Company. It confirmed the j'^gg

dishonourable engagement to pay tribute for the northern

Sircars, "which had been granted by the imperial firman
" to the Company, their heirs and descendants for ever and
" ever, free, exempt and safe from all demands of the
" imperial dewanee office and the imperial court," and it

postponed the possession of the Guntoor Sircar till the death

of the Nizam's brother, Basalut Jung, to whom he had
illegally assigned it. Hyder Ali, who had been a sovereign

prince for seven years, was contemptuously described in

the treaty as Hyder Naik, or constable, a rebel and a

usurper, and it was stipulated that the English Government
should wrest the Carnatic Balaghaut, the table-land of

Mysore, from him, and hold it as a fief of the Nizam on the

payment of seven lacs a year, and likewise pay chout for it

to the Mahrattas, who were no parties to the treaty. To
crovni their folly the Madras Council again involved their

masters in all the intrigues and dangers of Deccan politics,

by engaging to assist the Nizam, the most treacherous

prince in that age of perfidy, with two battalions of sepoys
and six pieces of artillery whenever he should require

them. The treaty was reprobated by the Court of Directors,

who remarked, " We cannot take a view of your conduct
" from the commencement of your negotiations for the
" Sircars, without the strongest disapprobation, and when
" we see the opulent fortunes acquired by our servants since

I
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" that period, it gives but too much weight to the public
" opinion that this rage for negotiations, treaties and
" alliances, has private advantage for its object more than
" the public good." A truer verdict was never pronounced
in Leadenhall Street. During this disgraceful decade the

Madras Presidency was sunk in peculation and profligacy

as deeply as that of Bengal, with the additional vice of

official poltroonery.

Hyder, who was fally cognizant of this treaty which,

treated him as an usurper, and bound the English Govern-

1768 War with nient to dismember his dominions, saw that he
Hyder. ]ia(j now to maintain a struggle for his political

existence, and he prepared for the conflict. An expedition

from the Bombay Presidency had destroyed a portion of his

fleet and captured some of his towns on the Malabar coast

;

but he speedily recovered them, and returned to prosecute

the war in his eastern districts. In the management of the

war into which the Madras Council had so wantonly
plunged, they exhibited the same spirit of infatuation as in

their negotiations. Two " field deputies " were sent to

control the movements of the force, and tbe supply of the

commissariat was entrusted to the imbecile nabob of the

Carnatic, who disappointed the Government, as a matter of

course. But notwithstanding every disadvantage. Colonel

Smith overran half Hyder's territories and captured some
of his principal fortresses. Under the dread of a simul-

taneous invasion of the Mahrattas, Hyder deemed it prudent

to bend to circumstances, and offered to cede the Baramahal
and to pay down ten lacs of rupees ; but the President,

1 768 Col. Smith's inflated by recent successes, advanced the most
success. extravagant and inadmissible demands, and
Hyder prepared for a mortal struggle. Colonel Smith,

who had remonstrated with the Council on the folly of their

proposals, was recalled to Madras, and the tide now began

to turn against the Company. The siege of Bangalore was
raised, and Hyder, with, his usual energy and rapidity,

recovered all the forts he had lost ; descended into the Bara-

miihal, and turned south to Tanjore, and having exacted

four lacs of rupees from the raja, moved up northwards

towards Madras. The consternation of the community may
be readily conceived. It was now the turn of the bewildered

Hyder Council to sue for an accommodation, but after a
1769 dictates fruitless negotiation, they obtained an armistice of

^****'
only twelve days when they had asked for forty.

Hyder resumed his course of desolation. He drew Colonel
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Smith, who had been reinstated in his command, to a

distance of one hundred and forty miles from Madras, and
determined to bring the war to a termination by dictating

peace under its walls. Placing himself at the head of

6,000 of his best cavalry he marched a hundred and thirty

miles in three days and a half, and suddenly making his

appearance at St. Thome, about four miles from Madras,

demanded that an order should be sent to stop the pursuit of

Colonel Smith, who was following him with the greatest

rapidity, and that the President, Mr. Du Pre, who had
succeeded Mr. Palk, might be sent to his camp to treat

with him. Hyder was master of the situation and dictated a.d.

his own terms. A treaty was concluded on the 3rd April, 1769

the salient points of which were a mutual restitution of

conquests, and an alliance offensive and defensive. Hyder
was to be assisted by a British contingent if he was attacked

by any of the powers in the Deccan, and for the third

time did the Madras Council involve the Company in the

ever shifting and perilous politics of the Deccan. Thus
ended the second Mysore war, with the loss of all the

acquisitions which had been made and all the treasure

which had been expended, and above all, of the prestige of

the English arms.

Hyder Ali, having settled his dispute with the Madras 1770

Government, and obtained the promise of its support, with-

held the payments due to the Mahrattas and „ ^
invaded their territories. The Peshwa assembled and the

a large army with the determination to subjugate ^^^f^
Mysore. Hyder's forts were rapidly reduced and
his districts laid waste, and he was induced to make
overtures of peace ; but as the Peshwa demanded a crore of

rupees the negotiation was broken off. Hyder then
advanced with 35,000 men and forty guns to Milgota,

where he found himself entrapped into a false position.

After sustaining an incessant cannonade for eight days he 1771

commenced a stealthy retreat by night to Seringapatam,
twenty-two miles distant. It was, however, discovered,

and the Mahrattas assaulted the fugitive army with great

vigour, and it was saved from annihilation only by their

eagerness for plunder. Hyder's capital was besieged for

five weeks, and he importuned the President of Madras for

that assistance which he was bound to afford by the recent

treaty. The President and Council considered it of vital

consequence for the honour and the interests of the Com-
pany to support him, but they were overruled by the
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interference of Sir John Lindsay, whom the prime minister,

deluded by the representation of the nabob of the Carnatic,

had, by an act of incredible folly, sent out as the king's

representative to his court. The authority of the Company's
Government was at once superseded by that of the Crown,
and the profligate nabob not only set the Madras Council at

defiance, but induced Sir John to insist on an alhance with

the Mahrattas. Hyder Ali, deprived of British support, was
reduced to extremities, and obliged to purchase peace by
the payment of thirty-six lacs of rupees and submitting to an

^jj annual tribute of fourteen lacs, and making a

1772 S^toTitor^ cession of territory which reduced the kingdom
of Mysore to smaller limits than it comprised at

the beginning of the century. He never forgave or forgot

this desertion, and ten years later exacted a fearful penalty.

Eight years after the Mahrattas had been expelled from
Hindostan by the battle of Paniput, the Peshwa equipped

,, . ^^ an army of 50,000 horse and a large body of
Mahratta - n ,

'' -ii _,-ii a
*'

jjgg expedition mtantry, With a numerous artillery, to recover
to^Hindo-

their footing, and renew their spoliations. The
first operations of this force were directed against

the Rajpoots, from whom they exacted ten lacs of rupees

;

and then against the Jauts, who agreed to pay them sixty-

five lacs ; after which they overran the districts of the

1770 Rohillas, and ravaged the whole of the Dooab, or country
lying between the Jumna and the Ganges, and returned to

Delhi before the rains. The emperor, after the arrange-

ment made with Lord Clive in 17G5, had continued to

reside at Allahabad, in the tranquil enjoyment of the

annuity settled on him, and of the revenues of Corah and
Allahabad, while the districts around Delhi still attached to

the Crown were administered by Nujeeb-ood-dowlah, and,

on his death, by his son Zabita Khan. The emperor was
naturally desirous of mounting the throne of his ancestors

and estabhshing his court in the ancient capital. The
Mahrattas were equally desirous of seating him on it, and
obtaining the important influence of his name. In spite of

the advice of the Council in Calcutta, who warned him of

the danger of such a movement, he threw himself into

their arms, and was by them installed on the 25th

December.
The next year the Mahrattas again overran Rohilcund,

and the Rohilla chiefs were driven to solicit the aid of the

Vizier of Oude. There are few transactions involved in

greater obscurity than the negotiations between the Mah-
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rattas, the Rohillas, and the Vizier, on this memorable oc- a.d.

casion. It would appear that the Mahrattas offered to retire ^'^'^"

on receiving forty lacs of rupees, or a bond for Negotiations

that amount from the Rohilla chiefs, but guaran- ^ith the

teed by the Vizier himself. The Vizier endorsed

the bond, and received an instalment of five lacs from Hafiz

Kuhmut, the Rohilla chief, but neglected to pay any
portion of it to the Mahrattas. Meanwhile, the Mahrattas

offered to cancel the demand on the Rohillas if they would
join in an attack on Oude, receiving half the conquered

territories ; but they refused to listen to the proposal, and
cast in their lot with the nabob Vizier. Several detach-

ments of Mahrattas laid waste a portion of Rohilcund,

but they were held in check by the combined force of

the Rohillas, of the Vizier, and of the English brigade

sent to protect the country. The Peshwa Mahdoo Rao,

meanwhile, died at Poona, and his successor planned an
expedition to the Camatic, and recalled the whole of the

Mahratta force from Hindostan, and they quitted it laden 1773

with the booty of three campaigns. At the close of the

previous year the emperor, unable any longer to support

the arrogance and rapacity of the Mahrattas, met them in

the field, but his army was completely defeated, and he was
obliged to open the gates of Delhi to their hostile battalions,

and submit to all their demands.
The British Government in India at this period presented

a singular anomaly. The agents of a London trading

Company had acquired the sovereignty of pro- Reform of

vinces larger and more populous than England. ^^^ Govem-

They were making war and peace, putting up and
pulling down thrones, and disposing of princely revenues.

Their servants in India, with salaries of three and four

hundred rupees a month, were coming home, year after

year, with colossal fortunes, and setting up establishments

which cast the ancient aristocracy into the shade. The
Indian nabobs, as they were called, were exposed on the

stage and avoided in society, from the impression that their

sudden and enormous wealth had been acquired by injustice

and oppression. The machinery of the Government at

home had been constructed for the management of com-
merce, and was ill suited for the administration of an
empire. The posts in India which afforded the means of

amassing these ambitious fortunes were at the disposal of

the Directors, who were elected by the votes of the Pro-
prietors. A vote was consequently considered so valuable

I



174 ABEIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. v^.

that in 1771 the ship's husbands, then a wealthy and power-
ful body, bought fifteen lacs of rupees of stock to create

three hundred votes. The India House became a scene of

jobbery and corruption never seen in England before. The
A.D. Indian Government was equally fetid in London and in

1771 Calcutta. A general cry was raised for Parliamentary
investigation, which was redoubled by the financial em-
barrassments of the Company. The frauds of their servants

in India had exhausted their treasury. With an annual
revenue of two crores and a half of rupees, they owed more
than a crore and a quarter in England, and a crore in

Calcutta. It was in these circumstances of impending
bankruptcy that the Court of Proprietors voted themselves

a dividend at the rate of twelve and a half per cent. The
Court of Directors borrowed of the bank of England as

long as the bank would lend, and then solicited a loan of a
million from the English exchequer, to prevent the doors of

the India House from being closed. The ministers referred

them to Parliament, which was consequently convened
1772 earlier than usual. A select Committee was appointed to

collect evidence, when the scenes of violence and iniquity by
which the British name had been disgraced in India were,

for the first time, laid bare to the nation, and Parliament
determined at once to take the regulation of Indian affairs

into its own hands. The Company protested against this

invasion of their chartered rights, but the universal odium
they had incurred throughout the country placed them at

the mercy of the ministry. The vicious constitution of

their corporation was reformed. The Directors were to be
chosen for four years instead of one; the votes of the

Proprietors were to be limited to four, whatever amount of

jy^o Regulating stock they might hold ; and twelve hundred of the
Act proprietors were disfranchised at a stroke. The
governor of Bengal was appointed Governor-General upon
two lacs and a half a year, with a Council consisting of four,

on one lac each, and a Supreme Court was to be established

in Calcutta on the model of the courts of Westminster,
Avith a Chief Justice and three puisne judges. The Act,

which was designated the " Regulating Act," purified the
home administration, but it shook the British power in

India to its foundation.
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CHAPTEE VI.

SECTION I.

MB. Hastings's adjiinistration to the departure op

MR. FRANCIS.

Warren Hastings was appointed in the Act the first

G-ovemor-Greneral of India. He had landed in Calcutta as

a writer on the Company's establishment in 1750,

and was employed for the first seven years in Hastings's A'^A

appraising silks and muslins and copying invoices. ^'^^ career.

The great events which followed the battle of Plassy

afforded the first opportunity of developing his talents, and
he was selected by Colonel Clive to represent the Govern-

ment at the durbar of Moorshedabad, then the most jygQ
important of subordinate offices in the service. Three
years after he came by rotation into the Council board, and
offered a strenuous resistance to those profligate measures

of his colleagues which brought on the war with Meer
Cossim. He returned to England after fifteen years' 1765

service comparatively poor, while Mr. Vansittart, who
sailed in the same ship with him, -was reported to have
taken home little short of fifty lacs. After a residence of

several years in England the Court of Directors restored

him to their service, and appointed him second member of

Council at Madras, where he exhibited such zeal and ability

as to be selected to take charge of the Government of

Bengal. Hastings found the administration in a GoTemorof

state of complete anarchy. The double Govern- bengal. 1772

ment established by Clive, which was considered a master-

piece of policy, had turned out to be the curse of the

country. The management of the revenue, which embraced
the most important functions of Government, was in the

hands of natives, acting under the venal court of the

nabob, though nominally under the control of the English
Resident, and they were practically without any control

whatever. The people were oppressed by the native

functionaries and zemindars, who enriched themselves at

the expense of the state. Supervisors were appointed in

17G9 to check these abuses, but they knew nothing of the

language or of the people, or of the value of the lands, and
became mere tools in the hands of their rapacious banians,

or head officials. The Court of Directors determined ,

therefore " to stand forth as Duan," as they termed it, and
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to take on themselves the collection and management of the
revenues through the agency of their own European
servants. To Hastings was committed the arduous duty of
carrying out this difi&cult poHcy, and he entered upon it

with his accustomed resoljitiou, A. new revenue settlement

was formed under the immediate direction of members of

the Council. The charge of civil and criminal jurisprudence
was committed to the covenanted servants of the Company,

^°* His vigorous and the treasury was removed from Moorshedabad
1773 reforms. to Calcutta, which became from that time forward

the capital of Bengal. Without the aid of a lawyer, he
drew up a simple code of regulations for the courts he had
established, which exhibited in a remarkable degree the

versatility of his talents. All these organic changes were
completed in the brief space of six months.
The first military operations of Hastings's administration

exercised unhappily a very inauspicious influence on his

reputation. The Vizier had long eagerly coveted the

The Eohiiia possession of Rohilcund, and the Mahrattas had
**^* no sooner returned to their own country, as

already stated, than he importuned Hastings to assist him
in seizing it, with the offer of forty lacs of rupees, as well as

a subsidy of more than two lacs of rupees a month for the

pay of the troops employed in the service. He represented

that the Rohillas had ofiered to pay him forty lacs to

deliver them from the Mahrattas, that they had been
expelled by his army, aided by a brigade of Company's
troops, and that the Rohilla chiefs now repudiated the

obligation. The Vizier's tempting oSer was made at a time

when the Court of Directors, overwhelmed with debt and
disgrace, were importuning the Council by every vessel for

remittances. The treasury at Calcutta was not only empty,

but more than a crore of rupees in debt. The nabob wanted
territory and Hastings wanted money, and he persuaded

his conscience that the statements of the Vizier were true,

and that the ingratitude ofthe Rohillas merited punishment,

more especially as this act of retributive justice would like-

wise promote the interests of the Company.
Hastings proceeded to Benares and concluded a treaty

with the nabob to that efl'ect, and at the same time restored

1 770 Treaty with to him the two districts of Corah and Allahabad,
nabob. which Clive had taken from him and made over

to the emperor, and which the emperor had transferred under

compulsion to the Mahrattas. For this grant the treasury

was enriched by a further payment of fifty lacs. The nabob
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Vizier, having secured the aid ofan English force, demanded
of the RohiUa chief the balance of the bond, of which only five

lacs had been paid. Hafiz Ruhmut offered to make good
whatever the Vizier had actually paid to the Mahrattas,

though they had left the country by orders from Poona and
not through any exertions on his part ; but as nothing had
been paid them, the offer was treated with contempt. The
Rohilla chief, seeing the storm ready to burst, offered to

compromise the claim, but the perfidious Vizier raised his

demand to two crores. The Rohillas determined, therefore,

to defend themselves to the last extremity, and brought
40,000 troops into the field, but they were EohUias 1774
defeated and dispersed, and the brave Hafiz "defeated.

Ruhmut fell with three of his sons. The Vizier re-

mained beyond the reach of fire, but as soon as the battle was
decided let his troops loose to plunder, " We have the
" honour of the day," exclaimed the English commandant,
" and these banditti the profit of it." This transaction is

one of the few stains on the bright and honourable career

of Hastings. It is doubtless true that the Rohillas, who had
recently occupied the country, were, like all other Afghan
tribes in Hindostan and the Deccan, dangerous and formid-

able neighbours, and might at any time have joined the

Mahrattas and overrun Oude, which the Company's Govern-
ment was bound to defend, but the war unquestionably
originated in the rapacity of the Vizier and also in the
necessities of the treasury in Calcutta. The assertion that

half a million of people were driven across the Ganges, and
that " the country became a howling wilderness," was an
oriental figure of speech.

•Six months after the conquest of the Rohillas, the four

judges of the Supreme Court, and the three new councillors,

landed in Calcutta, and the new Government was ^ew
proclaimed on the 20th November. Of the Government 1774

councillors, Colonel Monson was a scion ofnobility

and had served on the Coast ; General Clavering was the

personal favourite of the king, and all powerful with the
prime minister ; and Mr. Francis, the reputed author of

Junius, was equally distinguished by his talents and his

malignity. They came out with the impression that the

Government was a compound of tyranny and cormption,
and that Hastings was a monster of iniquity whom it

was the duty of virtuous men to oppose in every mode. At
the first meeting of Council in which Hastings presided as

Governor- General, they outvoted him, and at once divested

I
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him of all power in the Government. They proceeded to

recall Mr. Middleton, whom Hastings had placed as the

Company's representative at Lncknow, and sent Mr.
Bristow one of their friends to occupy the post, thereby

proclaiming the extinction of Hastings's authority through-

out Hindostan. They ordered the ofl&cer in command in

Oude peremptorily to withdraw the brigade, and to demand
the payment of all arrears from the Vizier within a
fortnight, and thus compromised the safety of Oude, and the

faith of the British Government.
During these transactions the Yizier died, upon which

Mr. Francis declared that every engagement between the

Company's Government and that of Oude was

f;?'- TOnduct thereby cancelled, except that which referred to
towards the payment ofarrears. Mr, Francis accordingly

constrained his son to enter into a new treaty,

and though he had denounced Hastings for " letting out

"British troops for hire to the Vizier," not only repeated

the bargain, but increased the hire of the troops. He
likewise obliged the Vizier to cede to the Company the

province of Benares, valued at twenty-two lacs a year.

The deceased Vizier had accumulated two crores of

treasure, which were buried in the vaults of the zenana.

His widow and his mother, historically known as the
" begums," claimed the whole of this property under the

terms of a will, which, however, was never produced. The
Vizier was under heavy obligations to the Company, and the

troops, 100,000 in number, were twelve months in arrear.

The treasure was state property and answerable in the

first instance for its debts, but Mr. Bristow constrained the

Vizier to afl&x his seal to a deed assigning three-fourths of

it to the princesses, under the guarantee of the Govern-
ment in Calcutta, The troops mutinied for pay, and it

was reported that 20,000 were slaughtered, but the state

was preserved from a revolution by the presence of the

Company's brigade.

As soon as it became known that Hastings's authority

was extinct, and that the surest mode of obtaining the

favour of those who were now in the seat of power
1775 against was to bring accusations against him, a swarm of

Hastings. informers hastened to Calcutta and filled the

antechambers of his opponents. Charges of every variety

were rapidly manufactured and eagerly welcomed, and the

triumvirate placed it on the minutes of Council " that there
" appeared to be no species of peculation from which the
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" Honourable the Governor-General had thought it reason-
" able to abstain, and by which he had amassed a fortune
" of forty lacs of rupees in two years." The most important

and memorable of these charges was that brought forward
by Nunkoomar. He was by birth a brahmin, who had
taken an active part in public affairs at Moorshedabad and
Calcutta, and had accumulated a crore of rupees by intrigue

and treachery. He had been repeatedly denounced to

the Council by the Court of Directors for his knavery. On
this occasion he came forward and offered to impeach
Hastings of having received a bribe of three lacs and a half

from Munee begum, who had been appointed by him to

superintend the nabob's household.

The hostile councillors proposed to confront him with the
Governor-General in the Council chamber, but Hastings •

asserted that he knew what was due to the Hastings's a.d.

character and dignity of the head of the Govern- dignified 1775

ment, and would not preside at the board to be
criminated by the dregs of society. He dissolved the

sitting and retired, when his opponents placed General
Clavering in the chair, and called in Nunkoomar, who
descanted on the venality of Hastings, and produced a
letter from Munee begum, which testified to the payment
of the douceur. The Council immediately voted that the

Governor-General had clandestinely and illegally received

the sum of three lacs and a half, and should be called upon
to refund it to the treasury. The begum denied all know-
ledge of the letter ; the best Persian experts pronounced
the signature a forgery, but the seal appeared to be genuine,

and the mystery was not cleared up till, after Nunkoomar's
death, facsimiles of the seals of every eminent character in

the state were found in his cabinet. For the vindication of
his own character Hastings now brought an action for con-
spiracy in the Supreme Court against Nunkoomar and
several others. The judges admitted the charge, and held
him to bail.

Eight weeks after the commencement of this suit, a
native merchant in Calcutta brought an action for forgery
against Nunkoomar. It had been instituted

originally in the old mayor's court, and Nun- execution of 1773
koomar was committed to prison, but released Nunkoomar.

through the intervention of Hastings. On the establishment
of the Supreme Court this suit, together with all others

then pending, was transferred to its files. The forgery was
established by the clearest evidence, before a jury consisting

N 2

I
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of the most respectable European residents in Calcutta, and
lie was found guilty and hung in the most conspicuous
portion of the town. This transaction was long considered
the culminating crime of Hastings's administration. It was
asserted in high quarters that the brahmin was murdered
by Hastings through the forms of law, and that the execu-
tion was designed to stifle all farther accusations. But
time, the vindicator of truth, has dispelled the clouds of

prejudice. The coincidence of the charge of Hastings
against Nunkoomar and of the native against Nunkoomar
was purely accidental. There has never been a particle of

evidence to connect Hastings with the forgery suit, and his

own assertion that he had neither prompted nor encouraged
it must be considered conclusive. The sentence, however
conformable to the sanguinary laws of England at the time,

was essentially iniquitous. The crime was not capital by
the law of India, nor in the opinion of the native community,
and it was committed before the Supreme Court brought
the weight of English law to press on India. The odium
of the deed is divided between the judges of the Supreme
Court and the triumvirate who, possessed of supreme power,
declined to suspend the execution of the sentence pending
a reference to England, which they must have known
would have saved his Ufe.

The Court of Directors, to whom both parties had
appealed against each other, passed a vote of censure on
Hastings, but it was overruled by the Court of Proprietors,

who entertained an exalted opinion of his merits. During

Hastings ^he height of the conflict in Calcutta, Hastings,
A.D. tenders his worried by the opposition and insults of his oppo-
1776 *-* sua i"n-

jjgjj^g^ jja^(j instructed his agent inLondontotender

his resignation, but two or three months later, having re-

covered the tone of his mind, revoked the authority. The
agent, however, seeing the strength of the current against

Hastings both in Leadenhall Street and Downing Street,

took upon himself to intimate to the Court of Directors

that he was authorised to offer his patron's retirement from
office. Then ensued several months of violent disputes in

the Court between Hastings's friends and enemies, which
resulted in a resolution by the majority that he had
positively resigned his post, although his letters revoking

his first instructions were before them, and they proceeded

to fill up the vacancy. The intelligence of these transac-

tions created a serious convulsion in Calcutta. General

Clavering, the senior member of council, determined to
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take possession of the Government, and was sworn in by
his colleagues as Governor-General ; but Hastings, who
repudiated the fact of his resignation, refused to give up
the keys of the fort or of the treasury, and issued his com-

mands to all civil and military officers to obey no orders but

his own. The dispute was drifting into hostilities,
yj^jg^ge ^^

which must have been fatal to the public interests, death of j »»;

when Hastings brought it to a safe issue by g|n-Ciaver-

offering to refer the question to the arbitrament

of the judges of the Supreme Court, who, after long and
anxious deliberation, continued till four in the morning,

decided that any assumption of authority by Sir John
Clavering would be illegal. He died shortly after, and Hast-

iugs recovered his authority for a time by his own casting

vote ; but he was systematically opposed by Mr.
Francis upon every question, political, military, bJJteen

and administrative. The contest ended, ac- Hastings

cording to the barbarous practice of the period,

in a duel, in which Mr. Francis was wounded, and soon 1730
after returned to England.

SECTION 11.

WAR WITH THE MAHRATTAS.

To resume the thread of affairs in the Mahratta common-
wealth, the constitution of which was passing through
great and important changes. The four chiefs

—

Sindia and Holkar, the Gaikwar and the raja of Mahratta

Nagpore—originally the generals of the Peshwa, ^*"^'

were outgrowing his authority, and developing into inde-

pendent princes, and enjoyed two-thirds of the Mahratta
revenues. The military force of the state, consisting of

100,000 splendid cavalry, with a proportionate strength of

foot and artillery, was no longer under the single conti'ol of

the Peshwa ; a large portion of it acted under the command
of these princes, each one of whom had his own individual

interests to pursue. The young Peshwa, Mahdoo Rao,
little inferior to any of his race in the cabinet or in the

field, died in November, and was succeeded by his younger 1772

brother, Narrain Rao, who recalled the troops from the

banks of the Ganges, as already stated. After a brief

reign of nine months he was assassinated, as the Mahrattas
universally believed, by the orders of his uncle Raghoba, a
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bi'ave soldier, but an inveterate intriguer, always imprudent

A,u. Raghoba ^^^ never fortunate. He took possession of the
1773 assa^inates vacant throne, and at once plunged into hostili-

ties with the Nizam, and constrained him to

make a large cession of territory, which, however, by an
act of infatuation, he restored to him. He then proceeded
against Hyder, from whom he obtained nothing but empty
promises. From these southern expeditions he was recalled

to the seat of government by a formidable confederacy
raised against him by the leading ministers at Poona.
They had received intimation that the widow of the

deceased Peshwa was about to become a mother, and they
conveyed her for security to a hill fortress, taking the precau-

tion of sending with her a number of brahmin females in the

same condition, to meet the contingency of her giving birth

to a daughter. The widow was confined of a son, who was
1774 installed as the Peshwa Mahdoo Rao the second, and a

regency was formed to conduct the Government. Raghoba

Eaghoba's hastened towards Poona, and with the aid of
movements. Morari Rao of Gooty, the greatest Mahratta
general of the age, who had measured swords with Law-
rence and CHve, inflicted a crushing defeat on the army of

the regency ; but, instead of following up his victory by
advancing at once upon the capital, and taking advantage
of the consternation which prevailed, he turned off to

Boorhanpore, and moved across the Nerbudda. There he
was joined by Sindia and Holkar, as they returned from
Rohilcund, and advanced into Guzerat to secure the aid of

the Gaikwar's troops.

Raghoba now opened negotiations with the President of

Bombay, and made an offer of money and territory, in

return for military support, which was eagerly

Mg^^?ate3 embraced. The Company, whose possessions had
1775 with Bom- been confined for a century to Bombay, had

^^'
always coveted the acquisition of the harbour of

Bassein, and the island of Salsette, separated from it by a

narrow channel. The President offered to assist Raghoba
with a body of troops, on his providing fands for their

maintenance, and ceding these coveted possessions in per-

petuity to the Company; but he could not bring himself to

ahenate the island and the harbour, which the Mahrattas

prized the more highly as they had been wrested from a

1739 European power, the Portuguese, about thirty years before.

An engagement was nevertheless concluded with him, and
a British force of 1,500 men sent to his aid. While the
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negotiation was pending, the Bombay authorities received

information that a large armament was about to be sent

from Goa to recover Bassein and Salsette, and as they con-

sidered that the Portuguese were likely to be more trouble-

some neighbours than the Mahrattas, proceeded to take a.d.

summary possession of them. Meanwhile, the regency at 1774

Poena having succeeded, by large offers, in detaching

Sindia and Holkar from the cause of Raghoba, sent a large

force to attack him. He was routed at Wassud, and fled

with 1,000 horse to the encampment of Colonel Keating,

who had by this time reached Surat with the Bombay de-

tachment.

A treaty was then presented for his acceptance, which 1775

stipulated that the Bombay Government should furnish him
with a body of 3,000 troops to reinstate him as Peshwa, on
condition of his ceding territory of the annual value of

nineteen lacs of rupees, making an immediate payment of

eighteen lacs, and irrevocably ceding Salsette and Bassein

;

and he could no longer continue to refuse this demand. It

was this treaty, called the treaty of Surat, which Treaty of

involved the Company in the first Mahratta war, Surat.

and it was concluded without the knowledge of Hast-

ings and the Supreme Council. The Bombay authorities

having thus embarked in a war with the regency, Battle of 1775
ordered Colonel Keating to march down on Poena. Arras.

He found the Mahratta army strongly posted at Arras, and it

was on this field that the English and Mahratta forces met
for the first time since the gentlemen of the factory of

Surat had gallantly repulsed Sevajee in 1669. The dis-

proportion of the armies was as ten to one, but the

Mahratta generals sustained a signal defeat and fled pre-

cipitately across the Nerbudda, after having thrown their

guns into it. The Gaikwar, who had hitherto held aloof,

now hastened to join Raghoba, and promised to furnish

him with a large supply of money and to secure to the

Company a share ofthe revenues of Broach. The Mahratta
fleet was simultaneously crippled by the English commo-
dore. The campaign had been prosperous beyond the
highest expectation, and the insignificant Presidency of

Bombay had obtained territory of the value of twenty-four
lacs a year. The Poena regency was tottering, and the

Nizam had been emboldened by their weakness to exact a
considerable cession of territory.

These brilliant prospects were marred by the folly and
perversity of Mr. Francis and his associates. They

i
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pronounced the treaty impoKtic, dangerous, and unjust, and

A.D. Folly of the
^^°'^® ^^^ unauthorised by the Supreme Council,

1776 Supreme which had been invested with the control of the
ouncu. minor Presidencies, and they sent peremptory

orders to annul the treaty and recall the army from the field.

Hastings equally disapproved of the treaty, but took a
statesman's view of their position, and affirmed that as the
Company's Government was actually involved in war, it

should be prosecuted with vigour, and concluded as speedily
as possible. At the same time the majority in Council
deputed Colonel Upton to Poona to disavow the proceedings
of the Bombay Government, and to open negotiations
with the regency. It was in vain the Bombay autho-
rities remonstrated on the imprudence of destroying
their infl.uence, and withdrawing the victorious troops
from the field, and the disgrace of violating a solemn
engagement.

Colonel Upton, on his arrival at Poona, found the astute
ministers determined to take advantage of these divided

,--g Col. Upton councils. They extolled to the skies " the wisdom
at Poona. «' of the great governor of Calcutta, who had
"ordered peace to be concluded ;" but when the Colonel
proposed that Salsette and Bassein should be guaranteed to

the Company, they assumed an arrogant tone, and demanded
the immediate surrender of Raghoba, and the restoration of

all the territory the Company had recently acquired. The
insolent demands of the regency roused the indignation of

Mr. Francis and his colleagues, and they determined to

support Raghoba ; the troops were again ordered to take the
field, and a supplyof treasure was despatched to Bombay. But
the regency, after a little more bluster, came to terms with

Treaty of Colonel Upton, and the treaty of Poorundur was
1776 poorundnr. concluded, which stipulated that Raghoba should

disband his army, and retire to the banks of the Godavery,
that all the territorial acquisitions of the Company should

be relinquished with the exception of Salsette, which
" might be retained if the Governor-General desired it," and
that twelve lacs of rupees should be paid for the expenses

of the war " by way of favour." Considering that all the

advantages of the late campaign had been on the side of

the English, the Bombay President was justified in pro-

nouncing the treaty " highly injurious to the interests and
" reputation of the Company." It was a flagrant breach

of faith with Raghoba ; it shook the confidence of the native

princes in the engagements of our Government, and it
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inflated the regency with an undue sense of its power,
which led to future difficulties.

Four naonths after the signature of the treaty, a despatch
was received from the Court of Directors approving of the

treaty of Surat, directing that the territories Decision of a.d.

ceded by Raghoba should be retained, and that ttieCoiirtof 177^

the other Presidencies should assist in supporting
him. The Bombay Council, smarting under the indignity

which had been inflicted on them, gave the treaty of

Poorundur to the winds, invited Raghoba to Bombay, and
settled a monthly allowance on him. The Poona regency
raved at this violation of the treaty, but their strength was
weakened by discord between the aged premier Succaram
Bapoo and his younger associate Nana Pumavese. To
increase the complication of afiairs at Poona, a French
adventurer, of the name of St. Lubin, arrived j-»-

there in March, and announced himself as the
envoy of the king of France, then on the eve of a war with
England. He was authorised, he said, to ofier the regency
the support of 2,500 Europeans, and equipments for 10,000
sepoys, as well as officers to discipline and command them.
Nana Fumavese affected to believe in his mission, and made
over to him the harbour of Choul, only twenty-three miles

from Bombay, for the reception of the troops.

Soon after another despatch was received from the Court,

regretting the sacrifices made by the treaty of

Poorundur, and stating that while the Directors ^p^tch
were determined to adhere to it, if any attempt from

were made to evade any of its provisions, the "^®^ "•

Bombay Government should be at liberty to renew the

alliance with Raghoba. The President found little difficulty

in discovering infractions of a treaty which the Mahrattas
never intended to respect, and prepared to espouse the
cause of Raghoba. These movements were quickened by a
revolution in the cabinet at Poona which placed the 1778

partisans of Raghoba in the ascendant, and an envoy was
sent to Bombay to request the President to conduct him to

the capital with a military force. Within a few months a
counter-revolution placed Nana Fumavese in power, and
extinguished the party of Raghoba, but the Bombay Council
were determined not to abandon him. Their passions were
enlisted in his cause, which they identified with their own ho-
nour; and, without adequate preparation, without alliances,

without even a commander in whom they had any confi-

dence, they determined to launch a handfal of men against

I
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the whole strengtli of the Maliratta empire. Nana Furna-
vose prepared to meet the coming storm, increased his

army, provisioned his forts, and refitted his fleet.

A new treaty was now made with Raghoba, which
differed little from that of Surat. An army of 4,000 men,

A^D* Expedition of whom 600 were Europeans, was sent to capture
1778 toPoona. the Mahratta capital, under Colonel Egerton, an

officer utterly unfit for the charge. Encumbered with

19,000 bullocks, besides other cattle, the army moved at

the rate of two miles a day, while the forces of the enemy
were accumulating around it. Colonel Egerton resigned

the command to Colonel Cockburn, but the responsibility

of all movements lay with Colonel Carnac, who had been
sent as civil commissioner with the force. On reaching

TuUygaum, which had been burnt, a report was spread that

the Mahrattas intended also to burn Chinchore, and even the

capital itself. Colonel Carnac was seized with a panic, and
though only eighteen miles from Poena, with eighteen

days' provisions in the camp, determined, in the first

instance, to open a negotiation with the regency, and then

to retreat. Without waiting for the result of the negotia-

tion, he threw his heavy guns into a pond, and commenced
his retreat, hotly pursued by the enemy. On the evening

of the 12th January the army encamped at

1779ofWnr- "Wurgaum. The Mahrattas brought up their
gaum. guns during the night, and assailed the camp
with great vigour in the morning. The bewildered Carnac
declared that even a retreat was now impossible and made
overtures to Nana Furnavese, who demanded the surrender

of Raghoba before he would listen to terms. The commis-
sioner would have complied with the demand had he not

saved them from this infamy by delivering himself up to

Siudia, and, under the auspices of that chief, the British

army was rescued from destruction by a convention which
sacrificed all the acquisitions obtained since 1 7 73, and for the

first time obliged the British Grovernment to give hostages

to a victorious enemy. The Court of Directors lost no time

in dismissing Colonels Egerton, Cockburn, and Carnac
from their service. Bombay was now at the mercy of the

Mahrattas, and its preservation depended on the arrival of

General Goddard's expedition from Hindostan.

Hastings, who had recovered his ascendancy in Council,

gave his sanction to the proposal of the Bombay Council to

support Raghoba, and resolved likewise to send an expedi-

tion from Bengal across the continent, to frustrate the
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intrignes of the Frencli at Poona, and to strengthen the
^ ^

Bombay Presidency. The force consisted of
Qo^^a'l-^j.g 1773

between 4,000 and 6,000 men, and was destined expedition.

to march from the banks of the Jumna to Bombay, through

1,000 miles of unknown country occupied by chiefs who were
far more hkely to be hostile than friendly. It was pronounced
by Mr. Dundas, the India minister, one of " the frantic mili-

" tary exploits of Hastings," but it was through such fi-antic N

exploits that British power and prestige had been estab- 1

lished in India by a handful of foreigners. It was conducted

by General Groddard, one of the most illustrious names in

the history of British India. So strict was the discipline

which he maintained, so punctual his payments, and so con-

ciliatory his intercourse with the chiefs and people on the

route, that they cheerfully supplied him with all his

requisitions. The raja of Bhopal particularly distinguished

himself by his generous hospitality, though threatened with
the vengeance of the Mahratta regency. On reaching
Boorhanpore the general heard of the misfortunes of the

Bombay force, and turned out of his route to Surat, by
which he avoided an encounter with a body of 20,000
horse sent fi'om Poona to intercept him.

The timely arrival of General Goddard on the western

coast, and the eclat of this celebrated expedition, proved
the salvation of the Bombay Presidency, and re-

stored the reputation of the British arms. The toddw^'s 1779
convention of Wurgaum was equally repudiated continued

by the Bombay Government and by Hastings,
^'^'^*^*'

who directed General Goddard to open a fresh negotiation

with the regency on the basis of the treaty of Poorundur.
In the mean time Sindia connived at the escape of Raghoba,
who repaired to Surat, where he was honourably entertained

by General Goddard, and received an allowance of half a
lac of rupees a month. The reception granted to him gave
mortal offence to the regency, who determined to join the

confederacy which had just been formed against the Com-
pany, and in reply to the General's categorical demand
of a reply to his proposal, informed him that the sur-

render of Raghoba, and the restoration of Salsette, were
the indispensable preliminaries of any treaty ; he therefore

dismissed their vakeels and prepared for war. At the same
time he concluded a treaty, offensive and defensive, with
the Gaikwar, which provided that he should join the

H English camp with 3,000 horse, and receive possession of

I all the Peshwa's territories north of the Myhee, and make
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over certain districts south of it to the Company. On the

A.D. 10th February General Goddard captured the noble city of
1779 Ahmedabad, the modern capital of Guzerat, and, having

dispersed an army of 20,000 horse with which Sindia

and Holkar were advancing to attack him, encamped for the

season on the banks of the Nerbudda.
The success which meanwhile attended our arms in the

north-west of Hindostan was equally brilliant. Hastings

Capture of Sent a force of 2,400 infantry, with cavalry and
Gwaiior. artillery, under the command of Major Popham,
one of the most enterprising officers in the service, to

protect the little principality of Gohud, sixty miles south-

east of Agra, from the encroachments of Sindia. He
marched in February, and after having captured Lahar,

1780 without a battering-train, by the sheer gallantry of his

men, proceeded to the celebrated fortress of Gwaiior, on the

summit of a stupendous rock scarped almost entirely round,

and deemed throughout India impregnable. Sir Eyre Coote,

the veteran hero of the Carnatic, then General in chief in

Bengal, pronounced the attempt to capture it an act of

madness, but Popham had set his heart on the " glorious
" object," as he called it, and lay about the fort for two
months silently maturing his plans. On the night of the

3rd ofAugust, under the guidance of Captain Bruce, twenty
European soldiers, and two companies of sepoys, led by four

officers, applied their scaling ladders to the successive

stages of rock and batflements ; the bewildered garrison

made a feeble resistance ; and at daybreak, without the loss

of a single man, the British ensign was waving over the

ramparts. The report of this achievement resounded
through India, and served to wipe out the disgrace of the
" infamous convention " of Wurgaum, as Hastings always

designated it, and which he said it was worth milhons to

obliterate. Major Camac, who succeeded Major Popham,
brought up an additional force, and not only invaded

Sindia's possessions in Malwa, but threatened his capital,

Defeat of ^^^ he was obliged to quit Poena to attend to the
7° Sindia. defence of his own dominions. Major Camac,

who was no soldier, allowed himself to be surrounded by
the more numerous army of Sindia. His camp was reduced

to a state of starvation, and he would have been obliged to

surrender had not Captain Bruce, who had distinguished

himself at Gwaiior, made a vigorous attack on Sindia's

camp during the night. The surprise was complete, and
he lost elephants, horses, baggage, and men, but, above all,
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his reputation, while the crest of his rival, Holkar, was
elevated by a successful attack on General Goddard.

Towards the close of 1779 Hastings received intimation

of a general confederacy organised by the Nizam to ex-

tinguish the power of the Company, which
Confederacy * »•

embraced all the princes of India with the excep- against the 1779

tion of the Gaikwar. A simultaneous attack was ^eiish.

to be made on all the Presidencies. Hyder was to invade

Madras ; the attack of Bombay was assigned to Sindia,

Holkar, and the regency ; while the raja of Nagpore was to

enter Bengal through his province of Cuttack. England was
at the same time at war with the French, and they were
intriguing at Poona. Never had the Company been

menaced with such peril, and it required the extraordinary

genius of Hastings to avert it. Hyder was the first in the

field, and burst upon the Carnatic, as will be hereafter

narrated. Bombay was left to its own resources, and the

governor, Mr. Hornby, proved equal to the emergency.
The gallant Colonel Hartley had cleared the Concan of the

Mahrattas, but it was again invaded by Nana Fumavese,
and he had to sustain for two days the assault of 20,000
Mahratta horse with only 2,000 exhausted troops, and 600
sick in his camp. On the third day the Mahratta general

was killed, and the army became dispirited and retired.

General Goddard ascended the ghauts with a large force,

in the hope of capturing Poona, but he was incessantly

assailed by the Mahrattas, and, being vigorously attacked by
Holkar with 25,000 troops, was obliged to retreat to Bom- 1781

bay with the loss of 450 of his troops—the only reverse he
experienced in his victorious career.

The raja of Nagpore, in accordance with the compact, sent

his son Chimnajee with 30,000 troops to Cuttack, but he
was lukewarm in the cause of the allies, and Nagpore de-

loitered seven months on the road. On reaching tachwi from 1780

the province he found himself straitened for ^
'^*^'"^'

fands, and he accepted the offer of sixteen lacs of rupees
which Hastings made him on condition of his withdrawing
from the confederacy. Hastings was thus enabled to buy
off the most formidable member of the league, and to save
Bengal from the horrors of predatory warfare. To relievo

Madras from the pressure of Hyder's army, Hastings
resolved to send a detachment of Bengal troops ; but as the
sepoys had recently broken into revolt, and murdered their

officers, to avoid a sea voyage, he adopted the bold plan of
Bending them by land seven hundred miles along the coast,
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^ ^ through unknown and probably hostile provinces. This

1781 ^^.s another of the " frantic military exploits of Hastings,"
but it effectually overawed the native chiefs and augmented
our prestige. The raja of Nagpore, on the receipt of the
money, agreed to send 2,000 horse to co-operate with this

expedition, which Colonel Pearce conveyed to Madras in

safety.

After his defeat by Major Camac, Sindia perceived that

with a victorious enemy in the heart of his dominions he
had everything to lose by continuing a conflict

shvSa.^*^ which might end in driving him across the

Nerbudda and destroying his influence in the

Mahratta commonwealth. He accordingly made overtures

to the British commandant which Hastings was but too

1781 happy to accept. They resulted in a treaty, signed on the

13th October, by which all the territories of Sindia west of

the Jumna were restored to him, and he agreed to negotiate

a peace between the Company and the regency at Poona

;

and, at all events, to remain neuter. Hastings's anxiety for

peace with the Mahrattas was quickened by the arrival of a
French armament on the Coast, which he feared might
result in the extirpation of our nation from the Camatic.

To bring the war with the Mahrattas to a close, he was
ready to sacrifice every foot ofground which had been gained
from them, not excepting even the harbour of Bassein.

After a succession of disappointments the treaty ot

Salbye was at length completed on the 17th May through

Treaty of ^he mediation of Sindia, who undei*took to
1782 saibje. guarantee the settlement, and thus acquired

additional consequence among the Mahratta chiefs. All

the territory acquired by the Company since the treaty of

Poorundur was relinquished, and it was stipulated that

Hyder Ali should be required to restore all his conquests in

the Carnatic and to release his prisoners within three

months, on pain of being treated as an enemy by the

regency. Nana Fumavese, after having accepted the

treaty, delayed the ratification of it for six months, while he
endeavoured to make advantageous terms with Hyder for

repudiating it. Hastings's impatience for the completion

of this pacification was raised to fever heat by the receipt

on the 6th December of a copy of the resolution of the

House of Commons, to the effect that he had aeted contrary

to the honour and policy of the nation, and that it was the

duty of the Court of Directors to remove him from the

head of affairs. The promulgation of this vote throughout
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India would not only have prevented the ratification of the

treaty, but paralysed the authority of Government in a.d.

every court ; but on the 7th the death of Hyder dispersed 1782

the cloud of anxiety, and Nana Furnavese immediately

affixed the Peshwa's seal to the treaty. The peace thus

concluded with the Mahratta powers continued unbroken

for twenty years.

SECTION III.

PROCEEDINGS AT MADRAS, 1771—1780.

We revert now to the progress of events at the Madras
Presidency and in the south of India. The little Hindoo
kingdom of Tanjore had been in a great measure proceedings 1771

exempt from the ravages of war during the ^.t Tanjore.

hostilities with Hyder, which terminated in the peace

dictated by him under the walls of Madras. Mahomed Ali,

the nabob of the Carnatic, now came forward and im-

portuned the Madras Council to assist him in plundering

the raja, as former nabobs had done. The demands of the

nabob were exorbitant, but, after a little virtuous reluc-

tance, the President sent an army into the country. The
Tanjorines offered a spirited defence, but a breach was at

length effected in the fortifications, when the nabob's second
son, without consulting the English commander, who
had been dragged into this unholy crusade, signed a treaty

with the raja after having extorted an engagement to pay
fifty lacs of rupees. In less than two years he again

demanded the assistance of the Madras Council to extermi-

nate the raja, on the plea that a fifth of the payment was
still due, and that he had been in communication with
Hyder Ali and the Mahrattas. The President was fully

aware that to meet the extortion he had been under the
necessity of pledging his crown jewels and even his princi-

pality—to the Dutch at Negapatam, instead of to the

English at Madras—but was base enough to resolve on his

ruin. An army was despatched in September ; the raja was
deposed and the principality made over to the unprincipled
nabob. The Court of Directors, indignant at Directors 1774
this infamous proceeding, expelled the President, restore the

Mr. Wynch, from the service and peremptorily
™^^

ordered the country to be restored to the raja. Lord Pigot,

who had been in the Madras civil service forty years and
amassed a fortune of forty lacs of rupees, obtained an Irish

1773

I
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peerage on his return to England, and was now sent out as

governor of Madras ; and, though offered a bribe of sixty

lacs of rupees by the nabob to prevent the execution of the

Court's orders, proceeded in person to Tanjore and seated

the raja on his ancestral throne.

The restoration was no sooner proclaimed than Paul
Benfield, a Madras civilian, came forward and advanced a

^t'^' Paul claim on the revenues. Nothing can more clearly
Benfield. demonstrate the total demoralisation of the Com-
pany's service at Madras at that period than the fact that

this man, who came to India without a farthing, and whose
salary had never exceeded three hundred rupees a month,
should not consider it preposterous to assert that for money
lent to the nabob he had assignments on the revenues of

Tanjore of sixteen lacs, and for money lent to individuals he
had assignments on the present crop of more than seven
lacs. After long deUberation, the Council rejected his

claim ; but as they and other members of the civil service

were creditors, real or fictitious, of the nabob to the extent

of a crore and a half of rupees, they perceived that they
were thereby impairing their own claims and the question

was reconsidered. Lord Pigot and his friends strenuously

resisted these nefarious proceedings, but a majority of seven
to five voted that the assignments made to Benfield were
valid. The breach in the council became wider. Lord Pigot

Lord Pigot Suspended two of the members, and placed Sir

1776 confined. Robert Fletcher, the Commander-in-Chief, under
arrest, and the majority retaliated by placing the governor
himself in confinement and seizing the Government. The
Court of Directors ordered that he should be restored to his

position and then resign the service. Seven of the members
of Council were dismissed, and Sir Thomas Rumbold,
who had been in the public service in Bengal, was placed at

the head of the Government, but neither was his administra-

tion smooth, and it ended in his recall.

Basalut Jung, who held the Guntoor Sircar as a fief of

his brother the Nizam, had taken a small French force into

Guntoor his Service, but had acceded to the request of the
1779 Sircar. Madras Government to receive a British detach-

ment in its stead, and to make over the Sircar for its support.

The treaty was no sooner signed than it was leased for

ten years to the nabob Mahomed Ali, that is, to his

creditors, and a key was thus furnished to the transaction.

!Mr. Holland was deputed to Hyderabad to explain it to the

Nizam, who expressed no little resentment at this inde-
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pendent negotiation with one of his feudatories, and this

interference with the affairs of his family. But when
Mr. Holland proceeded farther to request, on the part of the

Madras Government, that the sum of seven lacs which was
paid as tribute for the Northern Sircars should be remitted,

his indignation knew no bounds, and he cliarged the

Madras authorities with a flagrant breach of faith. It was
under the influence of thin feeling of irritation that he set

^^ ,,

himself to organize the general league for the expulsion of 1779

the English previously alluded to. Hastings on hearing

of these proceedings immediately sujierseded the authority

of the Madras Government at the Xizam's Court, and
assured him that the intentions of the Britisli Government
were honourable and pacific ; that the Sii'car should not be

occupied, and that the annual tribute should be paid up as

soon as possible. By these assurances Hastings was cnable(l

to neutralize the Nizam in the contest for existence which
was now impending.

The second war with Hyder Ali comnienccd in 1780, but

before entering on the narrative of it, a review of his pre-

vious progress for eight years a])pears necessary, p,-,, -r,." of

It has been stated that tiie crushin<x defeat ho n>'iirAii,

experienced at Milgota I'educed his possessions

witliin a very narrow compass, but the coniusion created at

Poena by the nmrder of the Peshwa enabletl him to I'ceover

his yjosition. In November ho subjugated tlie piiiicipaliiy ij-_>

of Coorg, which ofl'ered a noble resistance and was subjected

to cxtraordinaiy barbarity. He promised the sum of live

rupees for each head, and distributed the reward in person,

and seven hundred heads were pik-d uj) before he ordered
the carnage to cease. Tlie next year he reconquered the

districts of which the ]\IahraCt'as had dispossessed him, and 1771

strengthened his authority in Malabar. Alarmed by tlu ^e

inces.sant encroachments, and by the suj)port he afforded to

Haghoba, the regency at Poena formed an alliance against
him with the Nizam, and the combined armies took tlie held

in 1770; but the geuerals were corrupted by the gold "f 177'i

Hyder, the expedition proved abortive, and his power was
extended uj> to the banks of the Kistna. Not withstanding
the refusal of the Madras Government to afford liim aid, in

accordance with the treaty, under the sinister iidlueuce of

Mahomed Ali and Sir John Lindsay, he renewed tlie appli-

cation, to enable him to meet the continued hostility of the
Mahrattas. He a.sked only for a supply of stores and arms,
and a small body of troops, for which he was piepared to
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make a suitable return in money, but the Madras Council,

who were still controlled by the nabob, resisted every over-

ture and turned him into an irreconcilable enemy.
Information was soon after received of the commencement

of war between France and England, and Pondicherry,

1779 War with wHch had been Completely rebuilt, was captured
France. after a gallant resistance of ten days. In an-

nouncing this success to Hyder, the governor of Madras
intimated that it was his intention to send an expedition

against the French settlement at Mahe, a small port on the

Capture of Malabar coast, through which Hyder had been
'*^^^- in the habit for three years of receiving supplies

and recruits from Europe. He replied that he should sup-

port the French garrison with all his strength, and retaliate

any attack by invading the Carnatic ; the place was never-

theless attacked and taken, though his colours were hoisted

side by side with those of his French allies. While Hyder's
feelings were in this state of irritation, an envoy arrived

from Poona to request that, as he had the same reason as

the regency to complain of the perfidy of the English, he
would join the general confederacy which had been formed to

expel them from India. The regency promised an amicable

adjustment of all differences, the relinquishment of the

chout, and a confirmation of his right to all the territories

he had acquired up to the Kistna. Their proposal wa,s

accepted with avidity.

Preparations were now made on the largest scale. Hyder,

in his seventy-eighth year, superintended every arrange-

gyjgj. ment in person, and by the end of June had
1780 bursts on the equipped the most efficient force ever collected

under the banner of a native prince. It con-

sisted of 90,000 horse and foot, a large proportion of which
had been trained under European officers. His artillery

consisted of a hundred guns, directed also by European
skiU and science, and his commissariat had been admirably
organised by the Hindoo Poornea, one of the ablest of his

officers. While this portentous cloud was advancing
towards Madras, the Grovemment was buried in a fatal

security, and the Commander-in-Chief declared that there

was not the slightest cause for apprehension, but this illusion

was speedily dispelled. Hyder, having completed his pre-

parations, and proclaimed a ;e^ac?, or holy crusade, in every

mosque and temple in Mysore, burst on the Carnatic on the

20th of July, and his progress was marked by the blaze of

villages and towns, and the desolation of the country. He
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appeared determmed to exhaust all the resources of cruelty

which his ferocious nature could suggest. The wretched
inhabitants were driven with their flocks and families to

Mysore, and those who lingered were mutilated. All the

forts, except four, held by English lieutenants, were sur-

rendered by the venal or dastardly officers of the nabob.

The Madras army did not exceed 8,000, of which number
2,500 were under Colonel Baillie in Guntoor, and it was
not till clouds of smoke were seen in every direc- March of a.d.

tion from St. Thomas's Mount, nine miles from Madras ^ygQ

Madras, that orders were issued to take the field.

Sir Hector Munro moved out to Conjeveram to relieve

Arcot, which contained the few military stores the nabob
possessed, and which Hyder had besieged. Colonel Baillie

was ordered to join Sir Hector with expedition, but he
halted on the banks of the Cortilla when it was fordable,

and the next day it was swelled by the rains, and continued

impassable for ten days. Hyder Ali sent Tippoo with the

flower of his army to prevent thejunction, and an action was
foughton the 6th September, inwhichTippoo was so severely

handled that he informed his father that no impression

could be made on the English force without reinforcements,

while Colonel BaiUie informed the general that it was no
longer in his power to join him at Conjeveram. Instead of

proceeding at once with his whole force. Sir Hector simply
detached Colonel Fletcher with 1,100 men to reinforce

Colonel Baillie. So great was the dread which Hyder
entertained of British prowess, that he had determined, in

case of a junction of the two forces, to raise the siege of

Arcot and retire. Colonel Fletcher and Colonel Baillie

loved forward till the evening of the 9th, and a short

larch would have completed their union with the main
)dy, but by an act of incredible fatuity Colonel Baillie

rdered his men to lie on their arms for the night. Hyder
li, seeing no preparation for any movement on the part of

Sir Hector, brought his whole force up against Colonel

3aillie. He planted his guns during the night with great

skill, and on the morning of the 10th September the 178O

Bncampment was enveloped by the whole Mysore army.
The troops fought like heroes, and the European defeat of

force, when reduced to 300, still demanded to be Baiiue.

fed against the enemy ; but Colonel Baillie refused to

icrifice the lives of these brave men, and held out a flag

»f truce, when Hyder's soldiers rushed on them and would
pve butchered the whole body but for the interference of

o 2
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the French officers. Of eighty-six officers, seventy were
killed or wounded, and the whole army, with all its stores,

baggage, and equipments, was irretrievably lost. Had the
Commander-in-Chief moved up when the cannonade was
first heard, Hyder, attacked on both sides, must have
suffered a severe defeat ; but the dastardly Munro threw his

heavy guns into the great tank or pond at Conjeveram,
destroyed his stores, and retreated in haste and disorder

to Madras, hotly pursued by the enemy.
A vessel was immediately despatched to Calcutta with

information of the disaster. To the embarrassment of a

Energy of war with the Mahrattas was now added that of a
Hastings. ^g^j. -^Yrith Hyder, which had opened with the

greatest disgrace the English arms had as yet suffered in

India ; but never did the genius and resolution of Hastings
appear more conspicuous than on this occasion. " All my
" hopes," he wrote, " of aggrandizing the British name and
" enlarging the interests of the Company have given instant
" place to the more urgent call to support the existence of
" both in the Carnatic ; nor did I hesitate one minute to
" abandon my own views for such an object," He sus-

pended Whitehill, the officiating governor of Madras who
had refused to restore the Guntoor Sircar ; he despatched

every soldier that could be spared, together with fifteen lacs

of rupees, for the exclusive use of the army, not to be

fingered by the civilians ; and the whole expedition was
equipped and embarked within three weeks. The veteran

Sir Eyre Coote, who had extinguished the French
proceeds to power on the Coast twenty years before, con-

l^SO
''^^'^^" sented to take the command, and retrieve the

honour of the Company amidst the scenes of his early

triumphs, Hastings also adopted the hazardous expedient

of stopping the Company's investment and devoting the

funds to the expedition ; but even this resource was found
insufficient, and he was obliged, for the first time in his

administration, to have recourse to a loan.
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SECTION IV.

PEOCEEDIKGS AT MADRAS, FROM THE DEFEAT OF COLONEL BAIL-

LIE TO THE PEACE WITH TIPPOO, 1780-1784.

Sir Eyre Coote arrived at Madras, eight weeks after the a.d.

disaster of Colonel Baillie, but found the equipment of the 1781

army so wretched, and the difficulty of obtaining Difficulties

supplies in a country swept by hostile cavalry °^ ^°°*^-

so great, that it was ten weeks before he could make any
movement. But his arrival raised the drooping spirits of

Madras, and checked the career of Hyder, who, instead of

driving the English, as he had hoped, into the sea, found
himself confronted by his old opponent. Hyder had ob-

tained possession of Arcot through the treachery of the

nabob's brahmin commandant, and was engaged in be-

sieging Wandewash, which was defendedbyLieutenantFlint
with the same gallantry which had been displayed by Clive

at Arcot. The hostile armies remained inactive for four

months ; the English for want of provisions, and Hyder
from a dread of encountering them. Coote then attacked

the fortified temple of Chillumbrum, but was repulsed,

and Hyder was emboldened to risk a general en- Battle of

gagement, and marching a hundred miles in two ^°'^ ^°^°-

days and a half, attacked the English on the 1st of July at 1781

Porto Novo ; but after an engagement of six hours' duration,

was totally defeated, with the loss of 10,000 men, while

the casualties on the side of Coote did not ex- ^ poimore
ceed 300. The Bengal brigade was conducted
along the coast by Colonel Pearce vdth admirable skill, and
without a single accident, and he reached Pulicat in July.

Hyder detached Tippoo to intercept it, and Coote marched
loO miles to form a junction with it, which he effected on
the 2nd of August. Hyder had brought up the whole of his

army to oppose his return, and taken up his position on the

field where, exactly a twelvemonth before. Colonel Baillie's

army had been exterminated, which the astrologers assured

him was a lucky spot and a lucky day. The result of the

battle was doubtful, and both parties claimed the vic-

tory by firing a salute. In the month of September there

Avas a third engagement at Solingur, in which
^^ soiingur

Hyder was completely defeated, with the loss of

5,000 men, while only 100 fell on the side of the English,

I
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Soon after the army retired into cantonments for the
season at Madras, after a campaign in which all Hyder's
plans were baffled by the superior strategy of Coote, and
Coote's movements were crippled for want of supplies and
equipments.

In the brief period of seven years, two governors of

Madras had been dismissed by the Court of Directors;

one had been suspended by Hastings, and a fourth deposed
by his own Council. The Presidency was demoraUzed to

the core by corrupt transactions with the nabob, and the
Court of Directors resolved to place the government in

the hands of one who was free from all local associations,

and untainted by the general corruption. Their choice

^ „ Lord fell on Lord Macartney, an Irish peer of great

1781 ^J^^or^ political experience and dignified character. He
of Madras, reached Madras in June, with the first intelli-

gence of the war between Holland and England. Hyder
lost no time in forming an alliance with the Dutch on the

basis of mutual co-operation against the English. Their
principal settlement on the Coromandel coast was Kegapa-
tam, 160 miles south of Madras, garrisoned by an army of

6,500 men. Contrary to the advice of Sir Eyre Coote,

Lord Macartney equipped an expedition from Tanjore and
Madras, which was confided to Sir Hector Munro, and

1-81 Captitreof greatly strengthened by the marines and seamen.
Negapatam. rjij^g

settlement was captured in November, and
found to contain a large quantity of military stores be-

sides two valuable investments. Two months after, Trin-

comalee, the noblest harbour in Ceylon, was also captured
from the Dutch. But, notwithstanding the successes of

the year, the pressure of the war was severely felt on the

finances of Madras. All the revenues of the Camatic,
which ought to have been available for its defence, were
absorbed by the nabob and his rapacious creditors, and
the Government was at length constrained to assume the

entire control of the province, reserving one-sixth for the

nabob.

Colonel Braithwaite had been despatched to protect Tan-
jore from the ravages of Tippoo, with a detachment of 2,000

.»„„ Colonel men, almost all sepoys. The treachery of his
' Braithwaite, gQi(Jes betrayed him into a position where he

came unexpectedly on Tippoo's army of 20,000 horse and
20,000 infantry and twenty guns ; for twenty-eight hours

his force maintained the unequal contest without flinching,

but was at length overpowered. "The annals of war,"
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says the historian Mill, "can seldom exhibit a parallel to
" the firmness and perseverance of this little army." This

disaster was counterbalanced on the opposite coast by a

sortie under Major Abingdon from Tellicherry, where he
had been besieged for eighteen months, and the capture

of 1,200 prisoners with sixty pieces of cannon. Hyder's de- a.d.

Hyder began now to give way to despondency ;
^pondency.

j 732

his French allies had not made their appearance; Hastings

had succeeded in detaching Sindia, the Nizam, and the

raja of Nagpore from the grand confederacy, and the Pesh-

wa now threatened to combine with the English, and
wrest from him all the territories he had gained between
the Kistna and the Toombudra. He lamented to his

minister his folly in having plunged into a war with the

Company. " The defeat of many Braithwaites and many
" Baillies," he said, " will not crush them. I may ruin
" their resources by land, but I cannot dry up the sea, and
" I must be exhausted by a war in which I gain nothing
" by fighting." The western coast he considered the

weakest part of his dominions, and he determined to con-

centrate his efforts in that direction. He had issued

orders to blow up the fortifications of Arcot, and to lay

waste the Carnatic, without leaving a vestige of human
habitation, when these gloomy forebodings were dissi-

pated by the arrival of the French armament.
The French fleet was commanded by Suffrein, one of the

greatest admirals France has produced. He met Admiral
Hughes returning from the capture of Trinco- Naval

malee, and an engagement ensued which proved actions, 1782

indecisive. Suffrein then proceeded to Porto Novo, and
landed 2,000 French soldiers and 1,000 discipHned Africans.

In June, Sir Eyre Coote attempted the capture of Amee,
Hyder's chief dep6t in the south, but after an indecisive

action under its walls, Hyder succeeded in rescuing his

treasure and his stores. Two other actions were in the

meantime fought between the fleets without any practical

result, and Suffrein having refitted his ships, sailed to the

south. Lord Macartney had received intelligence that

a second French force had arrived at Galle, and he began
to tremble for Trincomalee and Negapatam. He entreated

Admiral Hughes to hasten to the defence of Trincomalee
;

but he was jealous of interference, and sluggish in his

movements, and on entering the harbour found that the

place had capitulated four days before. The fleets now
came again in contact, but the result was again indecisive.
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A.D. This was the fourth naval action of the year, which was
1782 distinguished as much by the activity of the fleets as by

the inefficient operations of the army.
Admiral Hughes on his return to Madras announced his

intention of proceeding to Bombay to refit his vessels after

Admiral
fouT Severe actions. The governor represented the

Hnghesgoes desperate condition to which the atfairs of the
to Bombay. Company would be reduced on his departure, with
Hyder master of the Carnatic, Bussy daily expected with
large reinforcements, and the French masters of the sea and
intercepting the supplies ofgrain on which Madras depended

1 782 for its subsistence. But he was deaf to every remonstrance,
and set sail on the 15th of October. That same night the

monsoon set in with a terrific gale ; the shore was strewed
for miles with wrecks ; the largest vessels went down at

their anchors, and a hundred coasting craft laden with rice

were irrecoverably lost. Four days after Admiral Bickerton
arrived in the roads from England, with a considerable fleet

;

and having landed 4,000 troops, resisted all the importunity
of the Government to remain for the protection of the coast,

and insisted on putting to sea to join his commander.
Madras was now subject to all the horrors of famine. The
ravages of Hydcr had driven the wretched inhabitants into

the town for shelter and subsistence, and for some time the

deaths amounted to 1,500 a week. Sir Eyre Coote's shattered

constitution required him to retire to Bengal, and the mon-
soon suspended all military operations.

Soon after the defeat of the Mysore army at Tellicherry

inFebruary, Colonel Humberstone, who succeededto the com-

1782 Death of mand, marched into the heart of Mysore, and sat
Hyder. down before Palghaut, one of the strongest fort-

resses Hyder possessed, but the Bombay Council ordered him
peremptorily to retire. Hyder lost no time in sending

Tippoo with a contingent of French troops to repel this in-

vasion, which might have penetrated to his capital. He
came up with the retiring force at Pauiani, and assaulted it

in four columns, but was driven back with great loss, when
he determined to turn the attack into a blockade, while

waiting for his heavy guns. But on the 12th of December
the whole of his army was seen to strike its tents, and march
oS" to the eastern coast. A dromedary express had arrived

the preceding evening with despatches announcing that
" the ever-victorious spirit of Hyder," to use the language

of his native biographer, " had taken its flight to Paradise."

Worn out by the fatigues of war, and sufiering from a
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cancer in Ms back, he sunk on the 7th of December, at the a.d.

age of eighty, leaving behind him the reputation of one of 1782

the ablest, most enterprising, and most successful princes

in the modem history of India.

An Asiatic army deprived of its head always becomes a

scene of confusion and intrigue. On this occasion the

danger was increased by the absence of Hyder's concealment

successor, four hundred miles away ; but it was °f ^^ death.

averted by the consummate prudence of Poomea, the ablest

of his ministers. The death of Hyder was carefully con-

cealed ; his body was embalmed and sent to Seringapatam,

like a chest of valuable plunder. All orders continued to be

issued in his name, and his closed palankeen with the usual

retinue moved out at the usual hour from the canvas

enclosure of his tent. Tippoo, on his arrival in the camp,
gratified the troops by a liberal donation, and entered upon
the possession of a kingdom with a treasure of three crores

of rupees and jewels of countless value, and an army of

100,000 men in a high state of eflB.ciency. But the fatality

which had blighted the Madras Presidency for fiifteen years

still seemed to pursue it. The departure of Sir Eyre Coote
placed the army under the command of General Stuart,

who was perverse, insubordinate, and incapable. Lord
Macartney urged him to take advantage of the consterna-

tion in Hyder's camp when his death was known, but he
affected to disbelieve the report, and the golden opportunity

of striking a decisive blow was lost. With a nobler army
and a more ample commissariat than Sir Eyre Coote had
ever possessed, he allowed sixty days to pass without any
effort. The anxiety which this inactivity created was
happily relieved by the sudden departure of

Tippoo for the opposite coast. The alarming in- General 2733
telligence he received of the progress made by the staart.

British force there induced him, without waiting for the

arrival of Bussy, then hourly expected, to break up his en-

campment and proceed in person to avert the danger.

Bussy landed at Cuddalore on the 10th April, and found
himself at the head of 2,300 Europeans and 6,000 sepoys

;

but he found also to his mortification that Tippoo
g^^^g ^^^^

had left only 3,500 troops to co-operate with him. stuart at

General Stuart, having no longer any excuse for
Cuddaiore.

delay, began his march towards Cuddalore with a fine

park of artillery, and an ai*my of 14,500 men, of whom
3,000 were Europeans. Nothing was wanting to the

efficiency of this army—the largest ever yet assembled at

L
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the Madras Presidency—bat a commander ; and the troops

"were looking with intense eagerness for their beloved old

chief to lead them again to victory : but Sir Eyre Coote,

who had been persuaded by Hastings to return to Madras,
died three days after he had landed. The expedition now
moved on to Ouddalore at the rate of three miles a day,

*^-"- and the town was invested on the 7th June. On the 13th
I783g^ggy.

jj^a^^jg g^ sally, which resulted in a general action,

and he was defeated, with the loss of thirteen guns ; but
the victory was dearly purchased with the loss on the

side of the English of 68 officers and 920 European soldiers.

On the same day Suffrein made his appearance in the

offing, and the two fleets came to an engagement, which
was as indecisive as the former wliich had preceded it. Ad-
miral Hughes proceeded to Madras to refit, and SuflTrein

reinforced Bussy with 2,400 marines and soldiers. On
the 25th June, Bussy made a sortie, and was repulsed with
heavy loss. But General Stuart, who had been peddHng
about Ouddalore for three weeks, had made no progress

in the siege, while his force was daily wasting away from
sickness, fatigue, and wounds ; and Bussy was waiting

for the maturity of his errors to strike a decisive blow,

which would have resulted, there can be Kttle doubt, in the

disgrace and retreat of the English army, and possibly also

in the investment and capture of Madras. From this

danger the Company was happily saved by the arrival of

1783 intelligence that peace had been concluded between France
and England. Hostilities at once ceased, and Tippoo was
deprived of all the aid of the French troops. General
Stuart on his arrival at Madras was placed under arrest by
Lord Macartney and sent to England. It was he who had
arrested Lord Pigot with great treachery ; and the facetious

remark of the nabob's second son on this occasion is not

unworthy of record :
—" General Stnart catch one lord, and

" one lord catch General Stuart

!

The abrupt departure of Tippoo to the Western coast

was occasioned by the success of an expedition sent by the

editi
Bombay Government against his possessions in

from that quarter. On hearing of the death of Hyder,
Bombay, General Matthews was despatched, contrary to

his own better judgment, to seize Bednore on the table-

land of Mysore. The ascent of the ghauts, which had
been fortified at every point, presented the most formidable

obstacles, but they were surmounted by the gallantry of

the 42nd Highlanders. When, however, the army arrived
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in front of tlie fortress, it was unexpectedly and uncon-

ditionally surrendered. The Mysore commander, who was
a favourite with Hyder, bat hated by his son, had obtained ^ j,

the sightof a letterfrom him to one of the officers at Bednore, 1733

containing an order to deprive him of his command, and,

if necessary, to put him to death ; and he made over the

fortress to the general. After obtaining possession of it,

he relaxed his vigilance, and allowed his men to disperse

over the country in search of plunder. Tippoo hastened

to recover it, and it was surrendered only when it had be-

come a heap of ruins. Tippoo then descended to the siege

of Mangalore, which forms one of the most memorable
events of the war. The garrison, commanded by the

valorous Colonel Campbell of the 42nd Highlanders, con-

sisted of 700 Europeans and about 2,000 native sepoys,

while the investing force numbered 100,000 men with 100
guns. The privations sustained by the garrison have
seldom been exceeded. The place was defended for nine

months with unsurpassed fortitude, and did not Fail of

capitulate till the defenders were reduced to 850 bangalore.

mere skeletons.

While Tippoo was wasting his strength and his reputa-

tion on this siege, which cost him half his army, the

Madras Government sent a force of 13,500 men
p^jg^gj

across the Peninsula into the heart of the Mysore Fniiarton's 1783

territory, under the command of another of the ^"'^**^-

Company's great soldiers. Colonel Fullarton, who would in

all probability have brought the war to a speedy and success-

ful issue, if he had not been thwarted by the folly of
the Madras authorities. After having captured the re-

nowned fort of Palghaut and the important city of Coim-
batoor, he was on the point of marching on the capital,

while the Mysore army was employed at Mangalore, when
he received orders to suspend all operations, and to restore

the districts he had occupied. Lord Macartney, contrary
to the express orders of Hastings, had opened negotiations
with Tippoo, at the very time when the Peshwa, in ac-

cordance with the stipulations of the treaty of Salbye, was
threatening him with hostilities if he did not come to an
accommodation with the English. The governor of
Madras had even offered of his own accord a suspension
of arms till the reply was received, and the progress of
Colonel Fullarton was according arrested. Jjord Macartney
was so ignorant of the native character as not to be aware

I
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that a proposal of negotiation is more likely to render it

abortive than successful.

Tippoo treated the proposal with silent contempt for three

months, and then sent one of his most astute oflBcers to

Folly of the cozen the Madras authorities, and they were ac-

Go^rn- tually persuaded to despatch two commissioners
ment. to his Camp at Mangalore. Tippoo was thus

enabled to represent in every durbar that the British

Government had sent two oflScers of rank from Madras to

sue for peace. Disputes arose between the envoy of Tippoo
and the commissioners which were referred to Madras ; and

the Council, after reviewing their position, ordered Colonel

EuUarton to relinquish all his conquests and retire, instead

of directing him to push on to Seringapatam with his vic-

torious army, and bring the war to a successful issue.

Hastings, with his profound knowledge of the native charac-

ter, reprobated the negotiation through these commissioners,

and maintained that it ought to have been committed to

Colonel FuUarton, and dictated under the walls of the

capital ; but he was now powerless. The Conrt of Directors

had recently renewed the condemnation of his proceedings,

and the members of his Council had consequently deserted

him ; the conduct of the negotiations was therefore left

to the Madras authorities, who fully maintained on this

occasion their traditionary characteristic of imbeciKty.

The commissioners were marched leisurely through the

country, detained at every stage, and subjected to constant

„ indignity. On the fall of Mangalore they were
of the com- admitted into the Mysore camp and insulted by
missioners.

^^le erection of gibbets in front of their tents.

The treaty, based on a mutual restitution of conquests, was
at length signed. All that could be said of it was that it

A.D. Treaty of was not more disgraceful than those which the
1784 Mangalore. governor and Council of Madras had been in-

variably making for fifteen years. It was equally injurious

to the reputation of the Company and inimical to the in-

terests of peace, and it entailed the necessity of another
conflict to correct the arrogance with which it inspired

Tippoo, and to which he gave expression in the following

announcement:—"The English commissioners stood with
" their heads uncovered and the treaty in their hands for
" two hours, using every form of flattery and supplication
" to induce compliance. The vakeels of Poona and Hyder-
" abad united in the most abject entreaties, and his majesty,
" the shadow of God, was at length softened into assent."
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SECTION V.

THE SUPREME COURT—CHETT SING—THE BEGUMS—CLOSE OF

HASTINGS'S ADMINISTRATION—PROCEEDINGS IN ENGLAND,

To RESUME the thread of events in Bengal. The Supreme a.d.

Court, established in Calcutta in 1774, was intended to 1774

protect the natives from the oppression of
^^

Europeans, and to give the Europeans the supreme

blessing of their own laws. The judges were Court.

commissioned to administer every branch of English law,

and were invested with all the prerogatives of the King's

Bench. Parliament had thus, in its wisdom or ignorance,

established two independent powers in this new conquest,

without deeming it necessary to define the limits of their

respective authority, and a colHsion between them became
inevitable. The first stroke fell upon the zemindars.

They had been accustomed to use coercion in the collec-

tion of their rents from the ryots, who had seldom paid

them without it. The Supreme Court was no sooner

established than it began to issue writs against them at

the suit of any ryot who was persuaded to sue ^*^ ^^-

them under the instigation of the attorneys who ments

"

spread themselves over the country. They were dragged

down to the Court in Calcutta, and sent to gaol if they

were unwilling or unable to farnish bail. Even when the

arrest was pronounced to have been illegal, they received

no compensation for the expense and indignity to which
they had been subject.

A feeling of dismay spread over the country, such as had
not been felt for thirty years, since the invasion of the

Mahrattas. The arrest and humiliation of the in revenue

zemindars destroyed their credit and authority, matters,

and enabled the ryots to evade the payment of their rent

with impunity. If the defaulters were subjected to con-

finement, the attorneys advised them to apply to the court

for a writ of habeas corpus, when they were brought down
to Calcutta and discharged. The zemindars pleaded these

proceedings as an excuse for withholding payment of their

dues to government, and its resources, which were then

dependent solely on the land revenue, were placed in

extreme peril.

The criminal judicature of the country, which embraced

I
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A.D. the police of thirty millions of people, had been entrusted to
^7 "5 In criminal the nabob of Moorshedabad and to his judicial and

judicature, executive ofl&cers ; but the judges of the Supreme
Court declared that he was a phantom, a mere man of

straw, without any right to the exercise of any authority

whatever, and in one instance they issued a process of

contempt against his Highness. They affirmed that the

orders of the Provincial Courts established by Government,
were of no more value than if they had been issued by the

king of the fairies. They denied that the East India

Company itself had any authority in India, beyond that of

an ordinary commercial association, and affirmed that the

Governor-General in Council was subject to their jurisdic-

tion, and that it would be penal for him or any public

officer to disobey any process they might issue. The
judges doubtless acted conscientiously, but the whole
fabric of Government was, nevertheless, shaken to its

foundation, and the country was threatened with universal

anarchy.

1779 The aggression of the Court reached its climax in the

Cossijurah case. A native brought an action against the

The Cossi- ^aja, living at a distance from Calcutta, and not
jurahcase. subject to the Court, and two sheriff's officers

were sent with a body of eighty men armed with muskets
and swords to execute the writ of the Court, and bring him
up to Calcutta. They invaded his zenana and packed up
his idols, but he escaped their vigilance. Hastings con-

sidered that it was time to vindicate the authority of

Government, and afford protection to its subjects ; and
ordered the party to be intercepted on their return, and
liberated on their arrival in Calcutta. To prevent the
recurrence of such visitations, he issued a proclamation to

landholders of every degree to consider themselves exempt
from the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court unless they had
especially bound themselves to submit to it. The Court
then issued a process against the Governor-General and the
Council, which they treated with the contempt it deserved.

Petitions were addressed to Parliament both by the
native and the European community, praying for redress,

Appoint- ^^^ three years elapsed before it was granted. In
1780 mentofsir the meantime Hastings provided a more imme-

pey.
(jiate remedy by offering the post of chief judge

in the Sudder Court, the Company's court of final appeal,

to the Chief Justice, upon a salary of 7,000 rupees a month.
He accepted the office, but declined any remuneration. All
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the encroachments of the Crown Court ceased at once.

The appointment was severely censured in Leadenhall
Street and in Parliament, and Sir EHjah Impey was
recalled and impeached, but honourably acquitted. The
arrangement proved to be in a high degree beneficial to the
interests of the country. Hastings had recently remodelled
the judicial system, and though he placed over the civil

courts the best men the service could furnish, they were
necessarily without any judicial experience ; and the Chief
Justice, a lawyer of great eminence, was thus enabled to

give form and consistency to their proceedings. With
this object he drew up a code of regulations, clear and
concise, and adapted to the simplicity of native habits,

and it has formed the basis of subsequent legislation.

The pecuniary difficulties of this period were greater

than had been felt for seven years. There was war with
Hyder Ali then ravaging the Camatic, war with -^ ^ c-

the Mahrattas, and war with the French and ^^ ^^'

with the Dutch. The entire expense of all military opera-
tions fell on the treasury of Bengal—the only Presidency
which paid. Heavy loans had been contracted ; the credit

of Government was low, and Hastings was obliged to cast

about him for some exceptional source of relief. By the
political constitution of India, a feudatory was always liable

to a demand for extraordinary aid to meet the exigencies

of his superior lord. The grandfather of Cheyt Sing, tiie

raja of Benares, had, in the confusion of the times, suc-

ceeded in carving out a little principality for himself,

which he held of the Vizier of Oude, and which Mr, Francis
had constrained the Vizier to transfer to the Company,
giving the raja a sunnud, or deed, which fixed his annual
payment at twenty-two lacs of rupees. Hastings now made
a demand on Cheyt Sing of five lacs of rupees and a body
of 2,000 horse to assist in protecting Behar. The Hastings's

requisition was strictly constitutional, and the requisition.

raja paid it for some time, but at length endeavoured to

evade farther payment on the plea of poverty. Hastings
was assured that he had amassed a crore and a half, which
was to a great extent true, and he construed his reluc-

tance into a crime, and determined, as he said, " to make
" him pay largely for his pardon, to exact a severe vengeance
" for his delinquency, and to draw from his guilt the ^ j,

"means of relief to the Company's distresses." Hastings 178O
had occasion to visit Benares, and the raja, anxious to
avert his displeasure, met him on the way, and offered

I
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A.D. him twenty lacs, but lie raised his demand to fifty lacs. On
1781 reaching the city, Hastings transmitted him a statement

of his offences, and placed him under arrest by sending
the two companies of sepoys he had brought with him
to mount guard on his palace. The populace rose on
them, and, as they had brought no ammunition, massacred
them all, as well as their ofiicers.

During this emeute the raja escaped across the river,

but the situation of the Governor-General was perilous in

the extreme. His native force was annihilated. He was

Escape of ^ ^ city renowned for its turbulence, and in the
the raja. midst of an infuriated mob ; and he and the thirty

gentlemen with him had only their own swords to trust

to. Happily, the multitude, instead of attacking Hastings
in his defenceless state, hastened across the river to join

the raja. The whole province was soon in a state of revolt,

but Hastings never lost his self-possession ; and it was at

this critical period that he continued and completed the

negotiations with Sindia which issued in the treaty of

Salbye, with as much calmness as if he had been residing

in his own garden-house in Calcutta. Equally remarkable
was the confidence manifested by Sindia in the destinies of

the Company, by aflBxing his seal to it under such circum-

stances. Troops arrived rapidly from various quarters

;

but Hastings, not considering his position tenable, made
M' his escape by night through a window, and rowed down to

Chunar.
"~

The raja collected an army of 20,000 men, but it was
repeatedly defeated, and his last fortress, Bidgegurh, in

The raja which his treasure was deposited, was surrendered
subdued. \)j ]iig begums. Major Popham, the commander,

1781 took advantage of an incautious expression in one of Hast-

ings's letters, and divided the whole of the prize money,
forty lacs of rupees, at once, among the officers and men, to

the infinite annoyance of Hastings, who had been calculat-

ing on the receipt of it to relieve his pecuniary embarrass-

ments. This is one of those transactions in the career of

Hastings for which it would be difficult to offer any pallia-

tion. Cheyt Sing was contumacious in having hesitated to

afford the necessary aid to his suzerain in a great public

emergency ; but the imposition of a fine of fifty lacs for de-

murring to the payment of a tenth of that sum was a vin-

dictive proceeding, and has always been considered a blot

on his administration.

The loss of the raja's treasure was a source of deep
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anxiety to Hastings. There were 60,000 troops in the field,

and the treasury was empty. The arrears which pinnder of

were due from the Vizier, however, amounted to a ^^^ Begums,

crore and a half of rupees, and Hastings looked to this

source for relief, when the Vizier waited on him at Chunar,
and informed him that his own fands were exhausted, and
that it was no longer possible for him to maintain the English

troops employed in protecting his territories. He then
alluded to the treasures of the begums, and requested per-

mission of the Governor-General to take possession of them
and thus discharge his obligations to the Company. At the

same time it was asserted, but on the worthless testimony

of Colonel Hannay, that the begums had abetted the re-

bellion, as it was officially termed, of Cheyt Sing, and sup-

plied him with troops and money. Hastings, under the

severe pressure of circumstances, persuaded himself that

"the begums had made war on the Company," and he 1732
yielded to the earnest solicitations of the Vizier, and autho-
rised the spoliation of the princesses. Seventy-five lacs of

rupees were extracted from their vaults, and transmitted

to Calcutta, but not before the two eunuchs, their

ministers, had been subject to torture. For this act of

atrocity, Hastings is no farther responsible than as it might
be considered the result of his own injustice. To this

treasure the begums had no legitimate title ; it was the

property of the state and answerable for its obligations,

but six years before, their right to it had been acknowledged
under the seal of the Government in Calcutta, which ought
to have been considered sacred. Hastings was so little

conscious of the turpitude of this transaction that he
ridiculed the censure which " men of virtue " might cast on
it. But posterity has vindicated the principles of public
morality, and although Hastings had no personal interest

in the transaction, but was led into it by a mistaken loyalty

to the interests of the Company, it has been the subject of
general censure.

These proceedings were severelycondemned by the Court 1783.

of Directors, and the members of his Council thereupon
united in opposition to him, and he justly com-
plained that while he was held personally respon- Hastings'

sible for the safety of India, his degradation had ^^'*™'
been proclaimed in every native court, and in the
Council he had only a single vote. In a letter of the 20th
March to the Directors, after alluding to the patience and
temper with which hehad submittedto the indignities heaped
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A.D. on him during his long service, he announced his determina-

784 tion to retire from the G-overnment. He proceeded to Luck-
now, and in compliance with the injunctions of the Court of

Directors restored the jageers which had been sequestered

to the begums, adjusted all accounts with the Vizier, and
then withdrew the Resident. On his return to Calcutta

he addressed valedictory letters to the princes and chiefs of

India, by all of whom he was held in the highest esteem,

1785 and embarked for England in February.

From the king and queen Hastings met with a gracious

reception, and even the Court of Directors greeted him
with a courteous address. With one exception,

ment o£ the ministry likewise evinced a very friendly dis-
Hastings. position towards him, and Mr. Dundas, who had
moved the vote of censure upon him in the House of

Commons, in terms exceptionally virulent, now pronounced
him the " Saviour of India." But Mr. Pitt, the prime
m.inister, was strongly biassed against him, and while ap-

plauding his genius and his success refused to advise the

king to confer any mark of distinction upon him. Burke,
who had made Indian politics his especial study for many
years, had contracted a feehng akin to personal animosity

towards him, and aided by the local knowledge and the

unmatched rancour of Mr. Francis, who had obtained a

seat in Parliament, denounced his conduct in the House of

-1786 Commons. The House was induced to vote his impeach-
ment at the bar of the House of Lords on twenty-two
charges. Of these only three were of any serious import

;

the Rohilla war, the treatment of Cheyt Sing, and the
spoliation of the begums ; the rest were the mere litter

of Mr. Francis's malignity. The trial commenced on
1788 the 18th February, 1788, andpresented themost august spec-

tacle which had been witnessed in England since the trial

of the bishops, a century before. The queen, the prin-

cesses, the Prince of Wales and his royal brothers, and the

peers in their ermine proceeded in state to Westminster
Hall to witness the opening of the proceedings. But the
most memorable scene in this great drama was the galaxy
of genius in the seats appropriated to the managers of the

House, Fox and Burke, and Sheridan and Grey, and
Windham, names of imperishable renown in the annals of

the country. In the presence of this illustrious assembly
Warren Hastings, who had given law to the princes and
people throughout the continent of India, was arraigned
as a culprit. The management of the trial was left with
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the Whigs, who conducted it with abihty which has never

been surpassed, and in a spirit of animosity which has

seldom been equalled. They applied to him the epithets

of thief, tyrant, robber, cheat, swindler, sharper, captain

general of iniquity and spider of hell ; and then expressed

their regret that the English language did not afford terms

more adequate to the enormity of his offences. The trial

dragged on for seven years, and ended in his complete and
honourable acquittal, but it cost him ten lacs of rupees, a.d.

and reduced him to poverty. 1795

The most severe censor of his administration, the philo-

sophic historian Mill, admits that "he was beyond aU
" question the most eminent of the chief rulers ^^
" whom the Company ever employed, nor is of

" there any one of them who would not have sue- Hastings.

" cumbed under the difficulties he had to encounter." Cen-

surable as some of his acts undoubtedly were, the grandeur
of his career is by many considered as casting his offences

into the shade, and one of the most eminent statesman of

the day asserted that " though he was not blameless, if

" there was a bald place on his head, it ought to be covered
" with laurel." While the king and his ministers were
losing an empire in the west, he was building up another

in the east. The authority of the Company was limited

to the valley of the Ganges when he assumed the

government. He was anxious to avoid teiTitorial ac-

quisitions—and, indeed, he made none—but it was the

object of his ambition to extend the influence of the Com-
pany to every court in India, and to render it the paramount
power on the continent ; and this object he fully accom-
plished, in the midst of unexampled difficulties. At the

time of his retirement the Company was recognised as the
most substantial and important power in India, whose favour
was courted and whose hostility was dreaded equally by
Tippoo, the Nizam, and the five Mahratta princes. No
British ruler, moreover, has ever secured to an equal
extent, not merely the homage but the warm attachment
of the people under his government, by whom, after the
lapse of a century, the name of " Hustin Sahib" is still

pronounced with a feeling of veneration.

In February 1781, the petitions of the inhabitants
of Calcutta against the encroachments of the Supreme
Court were presented to the House and Reports of

referred to a select committee, of which Mr. committees,
^^g^

Burke was the life and soul, and which presented

p 2
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twelve able reports. On the receipt of intelligence of
A.D. Hyder Ali's irruption into the Carnatic, a secret com-
1782 mittee was appointed, of which Mr. Dundas was chairman.

On the presentation of the report, he denounced the conduct
of Hastings and the governors of Madras andBombay, and
moved the recall of Hastings from Bengal, and Hornby
from Bombay, for having acted in a manner repugnant to

the honour and policy of the nation, and brought calamities

on India, and enormous expenses on the Company. The
House voted the recall of Hastings, and the Court of

Directors responded to it ; but the Court of Proprietors,

which, at this time, comprised men of higher standing and
of greater eminence than the superior Court, passed a vote

of thanks to Hastings for his eminent services. The
pecuniary embarrassment occasioned by the expensive wars
waged in India constrained the Company to apply to

Parliament for the loan of a crore of rupees, which was
not refused, but it weakened still farther their position,

which had been seriously damaged by the unfavourable
reports of the two committees, and there was a general

outcry for remodelling the Government of India.

Mr. Fox, then at the head of the coalition ministry,

accordingly introduced his famous India bill, which had
1783 Fox's India been drafted by his colleague Mr. Burke. It

Bill. provided that all the powers of Government
should be transferred for four years from the Company to

a Board consisting of seven Commissioners, to be nomi-
nated in the first instance by Parliament, and subsequently

by the Crown, while the trade was to be managed by nine

assistant Directors. The patronage of the India House
was at the time estimated at two crores of rupees a year,

and it was maintained that the transfer of it to the minis-

try would be fatal to the constitution. The Court of

Directors, threatened with extinction, filled the town
with complaints of the violation of chartered rights, and
inflamed the public mind by a caricature representing

Mr. Fox as Carlo Khan, mounted on an elephant and
assailing the India House ; but the bill passed the House
of Commons by a majority of two to one. The king
had been persuaded that it would take the crown from
his head and place it on the brows of Mr. Fox, and by the

exercise of an unconstitutional influence, he induced the

House of Lords to throw it out, and he lost no time in

dismissing the ministry.

Mr. Pitt, then in his twenty-fourth year, was placed at

A
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the head of the new administration, and brought in a.i).

another India bill, which provided for the appoint- Pitfs India 1784

ment of a Board of Commissioners by the Crown, ^^'

with power "to check, superintend, and control all the

"acts, operations and concerns," connected with the civil

and military government and revenues of India. A secret

committee, consisting of the chairman, deputy chairman,

and the senior member of the Court of Directors was to

act in subordination to the Commissioners, and control all

correspondence of any importance ; and twenty-one of the

Directors were thus excluded from all influence in the
administration of India. Mr. Fox's bill annihilated the

Company, but, under Mr, Pitt's bill they retained their

golden patronage and their social position and the trap-

pings of dignity, but the substantial power of Government
was transferred to the Crown. The Proprietors, who had
recently set the House of Commons at defiance in the

matter of Hastings' recall, were restricted from interfering

with any of the decisions of the Board of Commissioners,
usually denominated the Board of Control, and, though
they retained the empty privilege of debate, were reduced
to a state of political insignificance. It was, moreover,
resolved that " to pursue schemes of conquest and acqui-
" sition of territory was contrary to the wish, the honour,
" and the policy of the British nation ;" but this renewed
attempt to stop the growth of the British empire in India
only afforded another exemplification of the vanity of
human wishes.

Mr. Dundas was appointed President of the Board of 1785

Control, and one of the first questions which came before

him related to the debts of the nabob of Arcot. •j'^^ Nabob
For many years he had been living on loans ob- ^^^''^°*'^

tained at an exorbitant premium and usurious
interest, for which he gave assignments on the districts of

the Carnatic. When his court was removed from Arcot
to Madras, the town became the focus of intrigue and
fraud. All classes, both in and out of the service, not ex-

cepting the members of Council, embarked in the traffic of

loans, which became the shortest road to fortune. Every-
one was eager to obta'n access to the pagoda-tree, as it

was called, then in full bloom. Hastings, on taking over
the revenues of the Carnatic to support the war with
Hyder, was anxious to deal summarily with this incubus
on its resources, and proposed to deduct a fourth from the

principal, to consolidate it with the interest to a fixed date,
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and pay ofiF the amount by instalments. But the creditors

would not listen to any proposal to cut the tree down.
Mr. Pitt's India bill made provision for the investiga-

tion of these claims preparatory to their liquidation, and
Mr.Dnndas's the Court of Directors entered on the duty with

A.D. nary*pr«-' great alacrity, but Mr. Duudas removed the case

1 784 coedings. out of their hands, and determined to pay off the

debts without enquiry. The princes of India had already

discovered that the most effectual mode of counteracting

the Government of India, both in England and abroad,

was to subsidize membors of Parliament. The nabob of

Arcot adopted this expedient on a magnificent scale. Paul
Benfield was sent to London with large funds, established

an office in Westminster for the purchase of boroughs, and
in the general election of 1783, made no fewer than eight

members of Parliament, whose votes were placed at the

disposal of the ministry. It was to this Parliamentary
influence that the anomalous proceedings of Mr. Dundaswere
generally attributed, by which Paul Benfield secured the

undisturbed enjoyment of a sum little short of sixty lacs

of rupees. The heaviest class of the loans was fixed, with
interest, at two crores and a quarter, but it cost the Com-
pany five crores before it was paid off.

Mr. Fox's Indian Bill made it penal for any servant of

the Company, civil or military, to engage in money transac-

Fabrication tions with any native prince, but no such clause
of new loans, -y^-as inserted in Mr. Pitt's bill, and the nabob
and his friends embarked in the fabrication of fresh loans

while the liquidation of the old loans was in progress, and
on the payment of the last pagoda brought forward new

1805 demands, to the incredible amount of thirty crores of

rupees. Parliament was now resolved that they should be
subject to a severe scrutiny, and a board of Commissioners
was appointed at Madras to investigate them, and another
board in London to receive appeals. Their labours

extended over fifty years, and cost India a crore of rupees,

but they reduced the claims from thirty-two crores of

rupees to about two and a half. Llr. Dundas's proceedings

Revenues of regarding the revenues of the Carnatic were
1785 theCarnatic. equally disastrous. The nabob had received a

larger income from them while they were under the

management of the Company than when administered

by his own officers, but those officers and his creditors

lost the opportunity of plunder, and induced him to

become importunate for the restoration of the country.
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Contrary to the advice of the Court of Directors, Mr.
Dundas ordered the districts to be given back to the nabob,

that is, to his creditors, who began again to reap a rich

harvest, -while the Madras Presidency, with an army seven

months in arrears, was reduced to a state bordering on
bankruptcy.

CHAPTEE Vn.

I

SECTION I.

ADMINISTRATION OF LORD CORNWALLIS—MYSORE WAR.

On the departure of Hastings, Mr. Macpherson, the senior a.d.

member of Council succeeded temporarily to the Govern- 1785

ment. He had originally gone out to India as jjr. Mao-
purser of one of the Company's vessels, but piierson

attached himself to the nabob of the Carnatic Governor-

and returned to England as his agent, and ^^nerai.

through the influence of the Duke of Grafton, who highly
appreciated his abilities, was appointed to the Madras
civil service, from which he was subsequently promoted
to the Bengal Council. The great merit of his brief

administration, which lasted only twenty-two months, lay

in his economical reforms which resulted in the laudable
reduction of a crore and a half of annual expenditure.
The Government of the Company's possessions since the

battle of Plassy had hitherto been given to one of the
officers on their own establishment in India, t ,

(,

but it was found that whatever advantage waiiis 1786
might be derived from his local knowledge and ^nerai?'
experience was counterbalanced by the trammels
of local associations, and the difficulty of exercising
a due control over those who had once been his equals.
The ministry determined, therefore, to select for the office

of Governor-General a nobleman of high character, un-
fettered by any Indian ties of friendship or relationship. Lord
Macartney, the governor of Madras, was chosen for the ap-
pointment, but he disgusted Mr. Dundas by endeavouring
to make terms with the ministry, and Lord Cornwallis was

L
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A.D. nominated in his stead, and he assumed charge of the
•1786 Government in September, 1786. And thus, by the

singular caprice of events, the man who had surrendered a
British army to Washington at York Town, which entailed

the loss of America, was appointed to govern India, while
the man who had saved India under the most arduous
circumstances was subjected to a prosecution for high
crimes and misdemeanours.
The Government of Lord Comwallis commenced under

the most auspicious circumstances. Hastings's adminis-

tration had been crippled by the chronic oppo-

^"^Corn^"^ sition of the home authorities at the India House
waiUs's and Downing Street. Lord Comwallis enjoyed

the entire confidence of Mr. Pitt, and of the

Board of Control, to which the Directors were subordinate,

and of which his friend Mr. Dundas was President. The
office of Commander-in-Chief was likewise united with that

of Governor-General, and Lord Comwallis was thus enabled
to control all the military arrangements and expenditure.

Hastings had only a single voice in the Council, while his

successor was invested with the power of overruling the

votes of his colleagues whenever he deemed it necessary.

The Court of Directors had been in the habit of nominating
their friends and relatives to the most lucrative appoint-

ments in India, and the influence of this independent
connection greatly fettered the authority of government,
and fostered and protected abuses. Hastings had protested

against it, but he had not sufficient official strength to secure

success ; Lord Comwallis, on the other hand, was strong

in the support of Mr. Pitt and Mr. Dundas, and threatened

to resign the Government unless it was discontinued

;

It is not, therefore, a matter of surprise that the arrival of

Lord Comwallis should have quenched the spirit of faction

and intrigue, and given a higher tone to the Government.
The first three years of his administration were occupied

1786 in the reform of abuses, which were to be traced mainly to

i^'-sQ L rd c 1
^^® vicious and traditional policy of the Court of

' waiiis's Directors of giving small salaries, and allowing

reforms'.*'^^
indefinite perquisites. The salaries came from
their own treasury, but the perquisites from

the pockets of the people. Every man, as Lord Com-
wallis remarked, who returned to England rich was deemed a

rogue, and every man who went home poor a fool.

He found the system of peculation in full vigour. The
treasurer was lending the public funds at twelve per cent.
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The Commander-in-Chief had given two of his favourites

the lucrative commission of raising two regiments, but
while they drew full allowances for the men, the regiments
existed only on paper. The collectors of the land revenue,

who were also armed with the power of magistrates,

monopolised the trade of the district under fictitious names,
and amassed fortunes. The post of political Resident at the

court of the raja of Benares was considered worth four lacs

of rupees a year, while the salary attached to it did not
exceed a thousand rupees a month.
Lord Cornwallis set himself to the task of reforming a.d.

these abuses with unflinching vigour. He hunted out 1786

frauds in every corner, put a period to jobbing Lord Corn- jigg
agencies, and exorbitant contracts. He refused waiiis'sstem

to allow men of power and influence at home to
^

quarter their friends and kindred, and sometimes their

victims at the gambling-table, on Indian appointments, and
he had the courage to decline the recommendations of the

Prince of Wales, " who," he wrote, '' was always pressing
" some infamous and unjustifiable job upon him ;

" but it

was not till he had convinced the Court of Directors of the

truth which CHve and Hastings had in vain pressed on
them, that " it was not good economy to put men into
" places of the greatest confidence, where they have it in
" their power to make fortunes in a few months, without
" giving them adequate salaries," that the purification of

the public service became practicable. It has continued to

improve ever since, notwithstanding the growth of the

empire, and the Indian service now presents an example
of administrative integrity which has seldom, if ever, been
equalled.

The Vizier lost no time in renewing the request he 1786

had not ceased for years to make, to be relieved from
the expense of the Company's troops stationed The affairs

in his dominions for their protection, but the °^ °"'^®'

rapid increase of Sindia's encroachments in Hindostan,
and the growing power of the Sikhs, convinced Lord Corn-
wallis that the troops could not be withdrawn without
great risk, but he reduced the charge by one third. The
Vizier was likewise delivered from the pressure of the

European harpies, who, under the predominance of British

influence, had long been preying on him, one of whom.
Colonel Hannay, had amassed a fortune of thirty lacs in

a few years. He likewise conferred an inestimable boon
ion him by peremptorily refusing to recognise the claims of



218 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTOEY OF INDIA [Chap. VII.

any of his private creditors, whether European or native,

and thus saved him from the fate of the nabob of Arcot.
But he did not fail to remonstrate with him, though in

vain, on the abuses of his administration. The only con-

cern of the Vizier was to obtain the means of personal

gratification, and hence the zemindar was allowed to

squeeze the ryot and the ministers to squeeze the zemin-
dar, and he squeezed the ministers and pubhc officers when
they were sufficiently gorged with plunder, and squan-
dered the money in boundless dissipation.

By the treaty with the Nizam, the Ghintoor Sircar was
assigned to the Companyafterthedeath ofhis brother Basalut

TheGnntoor Jung. He died in 1782, but the Nizam steadily
Sircar. evaded the surrender of it, and Lord Comwallis,

A.o. whentaking leaveof the Directors, was directed peremptorily
•788 to demand it. In 1788, he drew a body of troops to the

frontier, and instructed the Resident to claim the full

execution of the treaty. To his great surprise, the Nizam
at once acceded to his wishes, but he also expressed his

confidence that the Company's Government would with
equal alacrity fulfil the obligations to which they were
bound by the other articles of the treaty ; which were, to

assist him with two battalions of troops, and six pieces of

artillery whenever he should require their services, and
to reduce and transfer to him the province of the Camatio
Balaghaut, then usurped by Hyder Naik. With his usual

duplicity he despatched an envoy simultaneously to Tippoo
to propose an alliance for the extirpation of the English.

Tippoo readily embraced the proposal, and demanded the

hand of one of the Hyderabad princesses, but the Tartar
blood of the son of Cheen Killich boiled at the idea of a
matrimonial alliance with the son of a naik, or head con-

stable, and the negotiation was broken off.

Lord Comwallis was disconcerted by this manceuvre.
Since the unfortunate treaty of 1768, the Company's
Lord Com- Government had twice acknowledged Hyder and

prudent™' Tippoo as the lawful sovereigns of this pro-
letter, vince, and to furnish the Nizam with the English

brigade he desired would lead to dangerous complications

;

on the other hand, it was important to prevent his throw-
ing himself into the arms of Tippoo. To meet the diffi-

1789 culty. Lord Comwallis addressed an official letter to him,

engaging to transfer the province if it should come into

the possession of the Company with the aid of his troops,

and likewise to furnish him with the brigrade on condition
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that it should not be employed against any of the allies of the

Company, a list of whom, which did not include the name a.d.

of Tippoo, was subjoined. Tippoo was naturally irritated 1789

to find that the dismemberment of his dominions was
within the contemplation of the Governor-General, and that

he was prepared to place a British force at the disposal of

the Nizam, with hberty to employ it against him. That
this communication was highly injudicious will not be
questioned ; but it is idle to attribute the war with Tippoo
six months after to its influence, inasmuch as he had fitted

out an expedition against the raja of Travancore six

months before the date of it.

The Kttle principality of Travancore, at the southern ex-

tremity of the Malabar coast, had been placed under British

protection by the treaty of Mangalore. Tippoo,

who had long coveted the possession of it, had been andlhe*'*''^

for some time assembling an army to invade it, and Madras

the raja, to strengthen his defences, had purchased
°™™°^®'^ •

two towns in the neighbourhood of the Dutch. Tippoo
demanded the surrender of them on the plea that they
belonged to his vassal, the raja of Cochin. The raja

appealed to Lord Cornwallis, who directed the authorities

at Madras to inform both him and Tippoo that if the Dutch
had really held independent and unreserved possession of

these places, the raja was to be supported in retaining

them. Mr. Holland, the governor of Madras, more unprin-

cipled than any of his predecessors, not only withheld this

communication from Tippoo, but endeavoured to extort a
lac of pagodas for himself from the raja as the condition

of supporting him. The army on the Coast was likewise

kept in an inefficient state, and the pay of the troops was
allowed to fall into airears, while, in direct violation of the
orders of Lord Cornwallis, the public revenues were appro-

priated to the payment of the creditors of the nabob, of
whom he was one of the principal. Tippoo suddenly
attacked the "lines of Travancore," as they were termed, 1789

—the defensive wall the raja had erected—and was re-

pulsed with the loss of 2,000 men, upon which he ordered
up a battering train from Seringapatam, and reinforcements
from every quarter. This wanton attack of an ally was an
unequivocal declaration of war against the Company, but
Holland proposed a pacific adjustment of the question to

Tippoo, and soon after deserted his post and embarked
for England.
Lord Cornwallis considered it essential to our honour to
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defend an ally, and to take up the gauntlet -which Tippoo

Lord Corn- ^^ thrown down. It was not a time for potter-
waiiis's ing over Acts of Parliament, and he proceeded at

once to offer alliances, offensive and defensive, to

^D. the two native powers in the Deccan, the Nizam and the

1790 Peshwa, which their hatred and dread of Tippoo led them to

accept with great alacrity. A tripartite treaty was concluded
which provided that they should simultaneously attack

Tippoo's dominions, and join the British army with 10,000
horse, if required, for whose services they were to be reim-

bursed, and that the Mysore territories and forts conquered
by their united arms should be equally divided among them.

General Medows, an officer of acknowledged ability, had
arrived at Madras as governor and Commander in Chief,

and Lord Cornwallis entrusted the conduct of the

^edo™s'8 campaign to him. The deficiency of the com-
abortiye missariat, owing to the profligate neglect of
campaign.

jJoHamj^ retarded the departure of the army for

several months, but the General was enabled to march from
Trichinopoly on the 26th of May, at the head of a force of

15,000 men. Coimbatoor was captured in July, and Palghat
1790 andDindigul, both deemed impregnable, in September, but

the force was injudiciously separated, and Tippoo, by a
masterly movement, interposed between the divisions, one
of which suffered heavy loss both in men and guns. When
the war became inevitable Lord Cornwallis adopted the

bold plan of Hastings, and despatched a large expedition to

Madras along the coast where we had no allies ; and, not-

withstanding the able dispositions of Tippoo to prevent its

junction with the Madras army, it was effected without a
conflict. Tippoo then proceeded southward, closely fol-

lowed by General Medows, but these marches and counter-

marches, which were without result, subjected the troops

to severe fatigue, and weakened their confidence in the

General. The campaign proved abortive, and Lord Corn-
wallis determined to take the command of the army into

his own hands.

He an'ived at Madras on the 12th December and made
the most vigorous preparations to take the field. Meanwhile,

Second Tippoo proceeded to the north, and having ravaged
campaign.

^\^q Camatic, marched south to Pondicherry, and
despatched a mission to Paris, to Louis XVI., soliciting the

aid of 6,000 troops, for whom he would make suitable pro-

vision. The unhappy king was then in the vortex of the

Revolution, and replied : " This resembles the affair of
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" America, of which I never think without regret. My
" youth was taken advantage of at that time, and we are
" suffering for it now ; the lesson is too severe to be for-

" gotten." The army was assembled at Vellore, on the

11th February, and marched without any opposition to A.n.

Bangalore, which capitulated on the 21st, but not before 1791

Tippoo had succeeded, by forced marches, in removing his

seraglio and his treasure. The Nizam's contingent of

10,000 horse was assembled at Hyderabad in the preceding

year, but did not enter Tippoo 's dominions till it was
certain that he had marched southward, and that there

was no risk of encountering him. In 1791, they hastened

to join Lord Cornwallis's camp as soon as they heard
that Bangalore had capitulated ; but there was neither

discipline nor valour in their ranks, and the flaunting

cavaliers were unable to protect their own foraging parties,

and soon ceased to move beyond the English pickets.

Lord Comwallis was now in full march on Seringapatam,

and Tippoo determined to try the result of a battle. It

was fought at Arikera, and he sustained a total Battle of

defeat. From the summit of the hill, where the Arikera.

last shot was fired, the eastern face of the capital greeted

the eyes of the victors ; but here, to their deep chagrin,

the campaign terminated. For several weeks the army
had been suffering the extremity of want. The stores,

scanty when the army began its march, were rapidly ex-

hausted ; Tippoo's light horse intercepted all supplies, and
created a desert round the camp. On the 20th May the

artillery ofiicers reported that the bullocks were reduced
to such a state that they could no longer dr-ag the heavy
guns, and Lord Comwallis was convinced that the safety

of the army depended on an immediate retreat. General
Abercromby, who had been sent with a force from Bombay
to cooperate with Lord Comwallis from the western coast,

had arrived within forty miles of the capital, but was
directed on the 21st May to destroy a portion of his siege

guns and bury the rest and retire to the coast. The next
day Lord Comwallis destroyed his own battering train and
began his melancholy return to Madras.
By the coalition treaty, signed on the 1st June, theregency

at Poena engaged to furnish 10,000 troops to operate against

Tippoo, but the minister. Nana Fumavese, still TheMah.
allowed his envoys to remain at the court, in the ****** ^^my-

hope—which he did not conceal—that, at the eleventh

hour, Tippoo might be induced to purchase his neutrality by
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a concession of territory. When this expectation vanished,

and the Mahratta force took the field, it became evident

that the primary object of the Nana was to use the British

artillery in recovering the fortresses which Tippoo had
wrested from the Mahrattas, and six months were occupied

in the siege of Dharwar. Hence, in the first campaign
of 1790, the Peshwa's force rendered no assistance what-
ever. In the campaign of 1791 it joined the army of

Lord Cornwallis only on the first day of the retreat. If

he had received any intimation of its approach, the result

of the campaign might have been difierent ; but his intelli-

gence department was deplorable, while Tippoo's admirable

establishment of scouts intercepted all communication. The
bazaar of the Mahratta army, rich with the spoils of India,

presented a singular contrast to the poverty of the English
camp, and the provisions they brought, though sold at an
exorbitant price, proved a seasonable relief to the famishing

English soldiers. The Mahratta sirdars, who had been
enriching themselves by pillage from the day they took
the field, set up a plea of poverty, and demanded an
advance of fourteen lacs of rupees, which Lord Cornwallis

was constrained to make to prevent the transfer of their

alliance to Tippoo. It was on this occasion that he followed

the example of Hastings, and took the funds provided for

the Company's investment out of the holds of their ships.

On his return to Madras Lord Cornwallis employed the

A.D. army in the conquest of the Baramahal and the capture of
1791

py yjjtions
^^® fortresses with which the country was

for the third studded. Nothing filled the native princes with
campaign,

g^.^^ g^^g ^f ^j^g military power of the Company,
as the ease and rapidity with which such forts as Kist-

naghery, Nundidroog, Savandroog, and others that were
deemed impregnable, were captured, while they considered

themselves fortunate if forts of inferior strength were
1792 taken after a siege of six months. Early in January Lord

Cornwallis took the field with a convoy surpassing in

magnitude anything which had been seen before, and which
led Tippoo to exclaim :

" It is not what I see of the
*' resources of the English that I dread, as what I do not
" see." The army consisted of 22,000 men and eighty-six

field pieces and siege guns. It was augmented, but by no
means strengthened, by about 8,000 of the Nizam's troops,

more showy than serviceable, and a small contingent of

Mahrattahorse. On the 5thFebruary the whole force reached

a position which commanded a view of Seringapatam,
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situated on an island of the Cauvery, protected by three 1792

lines of defence mounting three hundred guns, and sur-

rounded by a hedge of thorny plants absolutely impervious

to man or beast. Tippoo's army was encamped on the

northern bank of the stream, in a strongly fortified position,

which Lord Cornwallis reconnoitred on the 6th, and
determined to storm the same night. The generals of the

allies were lost in astonishment when they heard that the

English commander had gone out " like an ordinary
" captain," in a dark night without guns, to assail these

formidable lines. The conflict, which was carried on
throughout the night, terminated in the capture of all

Tippoo's redoubts, and the establishment of the British

force in the island itself. Soon after Lord Cornwallis was
strengthened by the junction of General Abercromby's
force of 6,000 men from Bombay, and the operations were
pushed on with such vigour that Tippoo was assured by
his principal officers that no dependence could any longer

be placed on his troops, and that he had nothing left but
submission. Threatened as he was with the loss of his

kingdom he accepted the severe terms dictated by Lord
Cornwallis :—that he should surrender half his dominions,

pay a war indemnity of three crores, and give up two of

his sons as hostages. The generals of the Peshwa and the

Nizam left the negotiations entirely with the English
plenipotentiary ; but after they had been completed, the

Mahratta commander put in a demand of sixty lacs for

himself and the Nizam's general, as a "reasonable remuner-
" ation for their labours in the negotiations," but consented
to its reduction by one half. From documents found at

Seringapatamwhenit wascaptured six years later, it appears
that the generals of both the allies were all the time engaged
in a clandestine correspondence with Tippoo, the perfidious

object of which was happily defeated by the prompt move-
ments of Lord Cornwallis and the early completion of the
treaty. The coalition treaty provided that the territories

and fortresses conquered by their united exertions should
be equally divided among the three signataries. The
Mahrattas had given no assistance in the war ; indeed,
their main body did not join the English camp until a
fortnight after the treaty had been signed. The Nizam's
force had done nothing but consume food and forage ; but
Lord Cornwallis determined to adhere with scrupulous
fidelity to the original compact, and made over a third of
the indemnity, as well as of the territory, to each of his



224 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. YII.

A.n. confederates, annexing only one third, of the annual value
1792 of forty lacs of rupees, to the Company's territories.

This was the first acquisition of territory after it had
been resolved to prevent it by Act of Parliament. Mr.

Pitt, when introducing his Bill in 1784, stated

^'^owth" tl^^^^ first and principal object was to prevent
of the em- the govemor of Bengal from being ambitious,
^"*"

and bent on conquest ; but, though the dread of

territorial expansion was the bugbear of the day, and
continued to haunt the India House and Downing Street

till we had absorbed all India, the tendency of our policy

for twenty years had lain in an opposite direction. Clive

had given back the kingdom of Oude in 1765, when it was
forfeited by the issue of the war, and he denounced
any attempt to extend our dominions beyond the Curum-
nussa. Hastings was at one time prepared to relin-

quish the Northern Sircars ; Lord Cornwallis, soon after he
assumed the Government expressed his wish to withdraw
from the Malabar coast, and reduce Bombay to the posi-

tion of a factory ; and Lord Shelburn, when prime
minister in 1782. proposed to abandon Madras, and give

up everything but Bengal and Bombay. If the size of the

Indian empire had depended on the wishes or the policy

of the public authorities of the day, it would have been
comprised within very narrow limits.

. The increase of the Company's dominions in India, which

/ was reprobated by the Court of Directors, by Parliament

Cause of the ^^^ ^J ^^^ ministry, arose from the progress of
growth. circumstances over which none of those authori-

ties had any control. From time immemorial, aggression

had been the vital principle of all native states. Twenty-
five centuries before, the father of Hindoo legislation had
placed conquest among the foremost of royal virtues.
" What the king has not got," said Munoo, " let him
" strive to gain by military strength ;" and it was a precept

never disregarded. The Mahomedans adopted this stand-

ing rule, not only in reference to infidel princes, but to

those of their own creed. Every new dynasty proceeded
to attack and appropriate the dominions of its neighbours.

Daring the eighteenth century, the political cauldron in

India had been seething with more than ordinary violence.

The four chief powers of the period, Tippoo, the Nizam,
the Peshwa and Sindia, who, had been established within

the previous sixty years, were maintained in vigour by
the impulse of aggressiveness. Scarcely a year had passed
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without an invasion of the rights of some prince in Hindo- ^q^
stan or the Deccan. It "was in this state of things that the 1792

Company appeared on the scene, and took up arms for the

defence of their factories, and by the superior discipHne and
valour of their troops became a first-rate miHtary power, and
consequently an object of jealousy and dread to the belli-

gerent princes of India. It was the restlessness and en-

croachment of the native princes, and not the ambition of

English rulers, that gave rise to nearly all the wars in

which they were engaged. The slightest symptom of

weakness, and too frequently the appearance of moderation,

became the signal for hostility ; and when the aggression

was subdued it appeared the dictate of prudence to prevent
the repetition of it by reducing the resources of the ag-

gressor, and depriving him of some portion of his territory.

And thus has the British empire in India been gradually

extended by a mysterious and inexorable necessity, which
has overpowered not only the opposition of the India

House and the ministry, and the denunciations of English
patriots, but the omnipotence of Parliament. The House
of Commons ratified all the proceedings of Lord Com-
wallis, not excepting even the acquisition of territory,

and the king conferred on him the dignity of a marquis.
The precedent has been scrupulously followed ever since,

and every Governor-General who has enlarged the British

dominions in India has received the thanks of Parliament
and been decorated with honours by the Crown.

SECTION II.

L

LOEB COENWALLIS'S ADMINISTEATION—REVENUE AND JUDICIAL

EEFORMS—PROGRESS OF SINDIA.

The brilliant success of the Mysore war reflected great
credit on Lord Cornwallis ; but the permanent reputation
of his administration rests on his revenue and Eevenue
judicial reforms. The changes which had been reforms.

so repeatedly made in the revenue arrangements during the
thirty years of our rule were found to have been equally
detrimental to the welfare of the ryots and the interests

of the state, and Lord CornwalHs, soon after his arrival,

affirmed that agriculture and internal commerce were in a
state of rapid decay, and that no class appeared to flourish
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but the money-lenders. The Court of Directors felt the

necessity of adopting some decisive policy to arrest the pro-

gress of ruin, and accordingly framed their memorable letter

A.D. of the 12th April , the salient points of which were, that the
1786 settlement should be made with the old zemindars, and not

with farmers or with temporary renters,—on the ground of

fiscal expediency, and not as a matter of right,—and for a
period of ten years, and eventually, if it was found to work
well, in perpetuity. Lord Cornwallis employed three years

in endeavouring to acquire information on the subject to

serve as the basis of a settlement. The fee simple of the

land had always been considered as belonging to the

sovereign, but the Court of Directors, acting on a generous-

and enlightened policy, determined to confer it on the

zemindars, and thus give them a permanent interest in the

soil. The land thus became real property, and a large and
opulent class of landholders was thereby created. The
relationship between the zemindar and the ryot was an
important question, and involved in great perplexity, which
has not yet been removed. The zemindar had always
squeezed out of the ryot every farthing that could be
realised, leaving him little beyond a rag and a hovel.

Mr. Shore, who superintended the settlement, the ablest

revenue oflB.cer in India, was of opinion that some decisive

provision should be made to ensure an equitable adjust-

ment of the demands of the zemindar, but, unfortunately,

the regulations passed to protect the ryot from extortion

were indefinite and inadequate. He was, indeed, permitted
to resort to law, but to expect that a poor cultivator could

appeal to the courts against a rich and powerful landlord

was an absurdity. This defect was unquestionably a blot

in the settlement, which, in other respects, was benevolent,

if not beneficent.

After the settlement had been completed, the important
question arose whether it should be decennial or permanent.

1792 ™, Lord Cornwallis maintained that a fixed and un-
nent settle- alterable settlement was the only panacea for the
ment.

evils which afflicted the country, and the only

protection from the still greater ruin which threatened it,

and that the grant of this boon would give the zemindars
an irresistible inducement to promote the cultivation of the

land and the welfare of the ryots. On the other hand,

]yir. Shore, who was far better acquainted with the subject

than the Governor-General, opposed with equal tenacity the

proposal to make the settlement irrevocable. He argued
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that the Government had only the roughest estimate of

the capabilities of the land and of the collections, that the

land revenue formed the bone and muscle of the public

resources, and that it was preposterous to fix the revenue

for ever without any definition of the boundaries of estates,

and when a third of Bengal was a jungle. As to the

public spirit of the zemindars which a permanent settle-

ment was expected to foster, he justly remarked that the

whole zemindary system was a mere conflict of extortion

on the one part and resistance on the other, and that it

was vain to hope for any improvement. The question was
referred to Leadenhall Street, and some of the Directors,

influenced partly by their own local experience in India

and partly by Mr. Shore's opinion, proposed to make it

decennial. It was then placed before the Board of Control,

and Mr. Pitt, who had studied Indian subjects as no prime
minister has ever studied them since, closely investigated

it for a week in conjunction with Mr. Dundas and Mr.
Charles Grant, and came to the determination to make the

settlement permanent, and it was promulgated at Calcutta a.d.

on the 22nd March, 1 793. It was the boldest and most impor- ^ ^^^

tant administi^tive measure the Companyhad ever ventured
upon. Under its operation cultivation has been extended,

and the opulence of the provinces has been augmented ; the

zemindars, and those who have acquired interests in the

land under them, have grown wealthy, and the comfort
of the cultivators has, perhaps, been promoted. But it is

now universally felt that the permanent character given to 1

it was an egregious blunder, and that a term of fifty years, /

if not of a shorter period, would have equally promoted the

object in view. No margin was allowed to meet the in-

evitable increase of expenditure which would be required
for the defence of the country, or for the improvement of

it by the institutions of civilisation. The Government has,

however, continued for a period of eighty years to maintain
the settlement to the very letter with scrupulous fidelity

under every emergency, and has thus exhibited an example
of good faith heretofore unknown in India.

The administration of Lord Coruwallis was likewise
distinguished by a radical change in the fiscal and judicial

branches. The control of the revenue was con- _. . ,

centrated in a board in Calcutta. A civil court criminal

was established in each district and in the prin- <=o"^-

cipal cities, presided over by a covenanted servant of the
Company. Four courts of appeal were erected at Calcutta,

42



228 ABKIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. Vll.

^.D. Dacca, Moorshedabad, and Patna, from whose decisions an
1793 appeal lay to the sudder or chief court at the Presidency,

composed of the Governor-General and the members of

Council. The judges of the four courts of appeal were to

proceed on circuit twice a year to administer criminal

justice and to hold jail deliveries. The district judges
were likewise invested with magisterial powers, and
authorised to pass sentence in trivial matters, and to

commit delinquents for trial before the judges of circuit.

Within circles of about twenty miles a native officer, called a

daroga, was appointed to arrest offenders on written charges,

and to take security, not only for his appearance, but also

for that of the witnesses, before the magistrate. For more
than ten years the simple rules for the adminis-

tration of justice drawn up by Sir Elijah Impey
had been the manual of the courts. Lord Cornwallis

determined that all the regulations affecting the rights,

the property, and the persons of the subjects of Govern-
ment should be embodied in a code, and translated into

Bengalee and Persian. Mr. George Barlow, a civilian of

mark, but without any legal education, was entrusted with
the charge of drawing up the new code, and he expanded
the ordinances of Sir Ehjah into a bulky folio of regula-

tions, but without improving them. This volume of laws,

however valuable as a monument of British philanthropy,

was Httle suited to the habits or wants of a people accus-

tomed to prompt and simple justice. The course of pro-

cedure was loaded with formalities, and, combined with the

multiplication of technical rules, tended to defeat the object

in view. Every suit became a game of chess ; "justice,"

as the natives observed, " was made sour by delay," and
equity was smothered by legal processes. To crown the

grievance, the business of the courts was transacted in a

language—the Persian—equally foreign to the judges, the

suitors, and the witnesses.

The wisdom and judgment manifested in Lord Corn-

walHs's various institutions have always been freely ac-

1793 knowledged, but they were deformed by one great and

Exclusion of radical blemish. From the days of Akbar all

natives. (>[y{i ^nd military offices, even those of the highest

grade, had, with occasional exceptions, been open to all

the natives of the country ; and, in the early days of

Hastings, some of the most important offices in the state

had been enjoyed by natives of merit or influence. Lord
Cornwallis pronounced the natives unworthy of trust, and

considered that the administration in every department

I
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ought to be conducted by the Company's covenanted ser-

vants, some three hundred in number, to the entire exclusion

of native agency, with the exception of the daroga on twenty-

five rupees a month, and a moonsiff to try petty civil suits,

to be paid by a commission on them ; in other words, by the

encouragement of litigation. Every prospect of honourable
|

ambition was thus closed at once against the natives of the

country, and the fatal effects of this ostracism were speedily

visible in the inefficiency of the whole system of govern-

ment.
The only other event of any note in the year 1 793 was

the capture of Pondicherry on the declaration of war
between France and England at the outbreak of

c^p^^j^ ^j
the Revolution. Lord Comwallis embarked for Pondi- j.,'gg

England in October, after a memorable reign of
'^^^^y-

seven years, during which period he had contributed to

the purity and vigour of the power created by the daring
of Clive, and consolidated by the genius of Hastings. The
dignity of his character, and his firmness and integrity, com-
bined with his calmness and moderation, conciliated and
swayed the native princes, and commanded the cheerful

obedience of the European servants.

The treaty of Salbye, which Sindia had concluded with
Hastings in 1782 on the part of the Peshwa, gave him an
elevated position in the Mahratta commonwealth, progress of

He was no longer the mere feudatory of Poena, sindia.

but an independent chief, and an ally of the British Go-
vernment, and he determined to push his schemes of

ambition in Hindostan, for which circumstances were
peculiarly favourable. The imbecile emperor was a mere
puppet in the hands of his minister, Afrasiab Khan, who
invited Sindia, in his master's name, to assist in demolish-
ing the power of his rival, Mahomed Beg, and he accord- 1734
ingly advanced with a large army to Agra, where he had
an interview with the emperor. Soon after Afrasiab was
assassinated, and Sindia became master of the situation,

and was appointed the executive minister of the empire,
with the command of the imperial troops. The districts

of Agra and Delhi were assigned for their support, and he
was thus put in possession of the Doab, the province
lying between the Jumna and the Ganges, and its great
resources. Intoxicated with this success, he preferred a
demand for the choid of Bengal, which was indignantly
rejected by Mr. Macpherson, the officiating Governor- 1780
General. He then proceeded to demand the arrears of
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tribute, which he stated at sixty lacs of rupees, from the

Rajpoots at the gates of Jeypore. The greater portion of

the amount was paid, but, on his demanding the balance,

the Rajpoots made common cause to resist him. In the

battle which ensued, he was deserted by Mahomed Beg,
and by the whole of the imperial troops, who took over

A.D. eighty pieces of cannon to the enemy. He was discomfited

1787 and fled from the field, and in his extremity entreated

Nana Furnavese, the head of the regency at Poona, to aid

him in supporting the !Mahratta authority in Hindostan.

The Nana was jealous of his growing power, but despatched

troops under Holkar, although rather with the object of

watching his movements than of supporting them.

Mahomed Beg fell in the battle, but his place
^' was supplied by his nephew, Ishmael Beg, who

laid siege to Agra, on the part of the Rajpoots, and was
joined by Gholam Khadir, a Rohilcund jageerdar, and his

free lances. Sindia advanced to raise the siege, but was again

completely defeated in a battle fought on the 24th April.

Gholam Khadir was recalled to defend his own jageer from
the encroachments of the Sikhs, now rising into power, and
Sindia took advantage of his absence to attack Ishmael Beg,

1788 who was defeated, and escaped from the field by the swift-

ness of his horse. He joined Gholam, and the united

chiefs advanced to Delhi, of which Gholam obtained pos-

session, and his licentious soldiery were let loose on the

imperial city, which was subjected for two months to such
scenes of violence, rapine and barbarity, as were said to be
" almost without example in the annals of the world."

The ladies of the seraglio were exposed and dishonoured,
1788 and some of them starved to death, and the unhappy

monarch, plundered and dethroned, was deprived of sight

by this monster of cruelty. Ishmael Beg turned with
horror from these atrocities, and accepted service with
Sindia, who proceeded to Delhi, reseated the emperor with
great pomp on his throne, and made every efibrt to alle-

viate his sorrows. Gholam Khadir fled on his approach,

but was captured, and deliberately hacked to pieces. The
turbulent Ishmael Beg did not long remain faithful to

Sindia, but again joined the Rajpoots, whom Sindia de-

1790 feated at Patun in 1790, and the next year at Mairta.

The success of both these engagements was due chiefly to

1791 the disciplined battalions of the Count de Boigne, a native

of Savoy, an officer of distinguished ability and great

military experience, who had come out to India in search of

J
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employment, and entered the service of Sindia, and in-

duced him to create a sepoy corps on the model of the

Company's army. De Boigne raised and organised a large

force, disciplined by European officers, the majority of

whom were natives of France. It was eventually aug-

mented to 18,000 regular infantry, 6,000 irregulars, 2,000

irregular horse and 600 Persian cavalry, with 200 pieces

of artillery. This formidable force rendered Sindia the

paramount native power in Hindostan, and the most im-

portant member of the Mahratta body.

Sindia offered to join the alliance against Tippoo,

promoted by Lord Comwallis, on condition that the Com-
pany's Government should guarantee all the pos- sindia at

sessions he had acquired in Hindostan, and Poona-

furnish him with two battalions of troops, similar to those

granted to the Nizam. These proposals were considered

inadmissible, and he declined to become a party to the

treaty of Poena. That he might, however, be in a position

to take advantage of circumstances in the war in which the

princes of the Deccan were about to be engaged with Tippoo,

he proceeded with an army to the Mahratta capital, greatly

to the annoyance of Nana Furnavese, who dreaded his a.d.

ambitious designs. He had obtained from the impotent 1792

emperor the title of Vakeel-i-Mootluk, or regent of the

Mogul empire, for the Peshwa, and for himself the office of

hereditary deputy, and he gave out as the pretext for the

journey that he was proceeding to the Mahratta capital

to invest the Peshwa with this dignity. The Nana and
the ministers could not view without disgust the acceptance

of honours by the head of the Mahratta power from the

puppet of an emperor, but their opposition was unavailing.

Sindia had gained a complete ascendency over the young
Peshwa by his cheerful and genial demeanour, which
formed a strong contrast to the stem and morose bearing
of the prime minister, Nana Furnavese. Sindia had, more-
over, brought a variety of rarities for him from Hindostan,
and studied to make arrangements for his amusement. The
ceremony was imposing beyond anything which had been
seen at Poona. A grand suite of tents was pitched

j ^estituro
in the vicinity of the city, a throne was placed of the 1792
to represent that of the Great Mogul, on which ^««''^»-

the patent and the insignia were deposited. The Peshwa,
surrounded by his whole court and the representatives of
foreign) powers, approached the throne and made his

obeisance, and then retiring to another tent was invested
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with the gorgeous rohes of the oflBce, and returned to

Poena with such pomp and grandeur as the inhabitants

had never before witnessed. Sindia and Nana Fumavese,
though plotting each others' destruction, maintained an
outward appearance of civiUty, but their armies could not
be resti"ained from hostiHty in Hindostan. The forces of

Holkar and Sindia were jointly engaged in levying tribute

from the Rajpoots, but they quarrelled about the division

of the spoil. Sindia's commander, De Boigne, with 20,000
horse and 9,000 infantry, attacked Holkar' s army, con-

sisting of 30,000 men, including four battalions disci-

plined by his French general. Holkar was completely
A.D. defeated, and the four regiments were all but annihilated,
1 792 only one European officer escaping the carnage. This victory

rendered Sindia the first power among the Mahrattas,
and deepened the apprehensions of his rival Nana Fuma-

Death of
vese, but he was relieved from all anxiety by the

Mahdajee Unexpected death of Sindia, on the li!th February.
Smdia. -p^j. thirty-five years he may be said to have
passed his life in his camp, devoting his time and energies

to the improvement of his army and the increase of his pos-

sessions. From his father he received a small principality,

and he bequeathed to his son a kingdom, extending from
the Sutlege to Allahabad, and including two-thirds of

Malwa, and some of the fairest provinces in the Deccan,
and the most efficient military force in India.

The period for which their exclusive privileges had been
granted to the Company expired in 1793, and the Court of

1793 The new Directors applied to Parliament for the renewal
Charter. of them. But new commercial and manufacturing
interests had been springing up in England with great

vigour, and petitions poured into the House from Liverpool,

Glasgow, Bristol, Manchester, and other seats of industry

and enterprise, protesting against the exclusion of the

country from any share in the trade of India. The India

House met these representations by the bold assertion that

it was essential to the national interests that the Company
should be the sole agents for conducting the commerce
and the government of India. The ministry found the

existing state of things exceedingly comfortable, inasmuch
as Indian affairs were, on all essential questions, under
their control. Lord Comwallis had placed the finances of

India in a flourishing condition, and Mr. Dundas, the

India minister, asked the House with an air of triumph,

whether they were prepared to interrupt this tide of

I
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prosperity and the growing commerce of India for a mere
theory. His arguments were received with blind con-

fidence in a House in which free trade was considered the

inevitable road to ruin ; and the monopoly of the Company
was renewed for twenty years, although, to meet the

clamours of the merchants, the Company were directed to

allot 3,000 tons a year for their private trade. An effort

was made by Mr. Wilberforce to obtain permission for

missionaries and schoolmasters to proceed to India and
give instruction, religious and secular, to the natives who
might desire it, but it was resisted by the ministry, the Court
of Directors, and the old Indians. The charter of 1793 was a

faithful mirror of the views of an age in which it was con-

sidered that the introduction of free trade and European
settlers, of schoolmasters and missionaries, would be fatal

to the British power in India.

SECTION III.

SIR JOHN shore's ADMINISTRATION.

Lord Cornwallis was succeeded by Sir John Shore, one of

the ablest of the Company's servants, and the author of

the permanent settlement. In a letter to Mr.
gj^j^ij^

Dundas on the subject of appointing his successor. Shore's ad.

Lord Cornwallis had said that " nobody but a ^^^t^^edents. I793

" person who had never been in the service, and who was
" essentially unconnected with its members, who was of a
" rank far surpassing his associates in the government,
" and who had the full support of the ministry at home,
" was competent for the ofl&ce of Governor-General." This
letter, however, did not reach England till after the

selection of Sir John Shore had been made, at the instance

of Mr. Pitt, who was favourably impressed with the in-

dustry, the candour, and the ability exhibited by him in

reference to the revenue settlement. He entered on his

duties on the 28th October, 1793.
The first question which arose to try the mettle of the

new Governor-General was connected with the politics of
the Deccan. After the termination of the war The gnaran- ,-qo
with Tippoo, Lord Cornwallis, anxious to secure tee treaty.

permanent peace to the Deccan, submitted to the two
native princes who were parties to the tripartite treaty of



234 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. VII.

1790 the draft of a "treaty of mutual guarantee," which
would have established a balance of power in the Deccan,

and guarded the rights of the princes from mutual aggres-

sion. The Nizam, as being the weakest, agreed to it with

alacrity ; but the Mahrattas had a long account against

him which it was not their policy to close, and which they

intended to settle by the sword, and they therefore, declined

Ee'ected b ^^^ engagement which would interfere with the

AJ>- the Mah- designs they formed against him. After twelve
1793 rattas. months of fruitless discussion. Lord Cornwallis

was obliged to abandon all hope of securing the concurrence

of the Poona regency. Sindia had been the most strenuous

opponent of the guarantee treaty, and his death seemed to

present a favourable opportunity for renewing the negotia-

tion, and making a vigorous effort to preserve the tran-

quillity of the Deccan, then menaced by the Mahrattas,

They fully anticipated some decisive interference on the

part of the Company's Government, such as they knew
Lord Cornwallis would have undertaken. But they soon

perceived that the sceptre was now in feeble hands, and
1794 they hastened their preparations when they found that Sir

John Shore had resolved to limit his intervention to " good
" offices." The Nizam, who advanced counter claims of

even greater amount than those of the Mahrattas, imme-
diately claimed the fulfilment of the treaty of 1790 ; but
Sir John lacked the spirit of his predecessor. He had a

morbid dread of offending the Mahratta powers, and he
paid a servile homage to the Act of Parliament which dis-

countenanced native alliances, though Lord Cornwallis

had driven his coach through it, and he resolved to remain
neuter in the impending struggle. It is, however, due to

his memory to state that this decision was evidently in-

fluenced, to a considerable extent, by the incompetency of the

Commanders-in-Chief at all the Presidencies, with none of

whom could he venture to undertake hostilities.

To assemble a Mahratta army when there was any hope
of plunder had never presented any difficulty. On this

„ ,...„„ occasion the youn? Peshwa, havinof detennined
''^^ against the to take the field m person, summoned his feuda-

Nizam.
tories of every degree, and it proved to be the last

time they were ever assembled together under the national

standard. Sindia, Holkar, the raja of Nagpore, the Gaikwar,
and the southern jageerdars, each famished a quota, and
the whole force numbered 130,000 horse and foot, with

150 guns, while the army of the Nizam amounted to about
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110,000. The Nizam had engaged a French officer of the

name of Raymond to discipline two battalions, which
were increased to twenty-three when the struggle with

the Mahrattas appeared inevitable. In the ranks of

Sindia were likewise 10,000 men commanded by Perron,

and 2,000 with Holkar, under Dudrenec ; and the most
efficient soldiers on each side were under the command of

natives of France.

The two armies met on the 12th March, a Httle in advance
of the village of Kurdla, which has given its name to this

decisive battle. The advanced guard of the Nizam Battle of a.d.

put to flight one large division of the Mahratta kurdla. ijg^

infantiy, but the whole of the Nizam's cavalry broke and
fled when it was assailed by the French force. Raymond's
infantry had, however, obtained considerable advantage over
Perron's, and there was some prospect of his ultimate

success, when he was peremptorily ordered by his master
to withdraw from the field. The Nizam had taken his

zenana with him, and his favourite sultana, terrified by the

roar of the cannon, insisted upon his retiring beyond its

reach. The dotard yielded to her importunities, and the

whole army retreated in wild confusion, although scarcely

two hundred men had fallen in both armies. The Nizam
took refuge in Kurdla, and within two days was obliged

to sign a humiliating treaty, making cessions of tenitory
of the value of thirty-five lacs a year, paying the sum of

three crores of rupees, and delivering up his minister, the
only able man at his court, to the Peshwa. The two
battalions of Company's troops in his service were not
permitted by Sir John Shore to assist him during the

battle ; and on his return to Hyderabad he dismissed them
in disgust, and ordered Raymond to use every exertion to

I augment and discipline his sepoys, and assigned districts for

Itheir support. The power and influence in the Nizam's
councils which Lord Comwallis had secured for the

Company, were thus transferred to the French.

The battle of Kurdla completely prostrated the Nizam,
and the Mahrattas would doubtless have returned to com-
plete his humiliation, but for the unexpected Death of the

death of the Peshwa, and the confusion which it Peshwa.

occasioned. Nana Furnavese had, with occasional inter-

missions, enjoyed the chief control in Mahratta affairs during
his minority ; but though the Peshwa was now of age,

he was still kept in a state of galling tutelage, which at

length became insupportable, and on the 25th October he 1795
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threw himself from a terrace in his palace, and expired
two days after, bequeathing the crown to his cousin Bajee
Rao, the son of the once famous Eaghoba, who was then
held in dvirance by Nana Furnavese. Then ensued a scone
of intrigue and anarchy, which lasted more than three years,

and which has scarcely a parallel in the native history of
India. After a variety of convulsions, the fortunes of the

Nana were reduced to the lowest ebb, but retrieved by his

extraordinary genius. " The vigour of his judgment,"
observes the historian of the Mahrattas, " the fertility of
" his resources, the extent of his infltience, and the com-
" bination of instruments he called into action, surprised
" all India, and from his European contemporaries pro-
" cared him the title of the Mahratta Machiavelli." He
proposed to restore to the Nizam, the territory which had
been wrested from him, and to remit the balance remaining
due, and having thus gained his assistance, as well as that

AD. of Sindia and Holkar, marched in triumph to Poona,
1796 where he seated Bajee Rao on the throne, and regained

his own power as prime minister. But Bajee Rao, the
most perfidious of native princes, incited Sindia to destroy

him, and he was treacherously seized at a banquet and

1797 sent prisoner to Ahmednugur. The Peshwa then made
arrangements for the assassination of Sindia, but his

courage failed him at the last moment, and he exhibited

for the first time that indecision of character which marked
all his future career.

Mr. Dundas had announced his opinion that India could
only be retained by a large European army, that the pro-

Mutiny of
portion of European to native troops should be as

Ein-opean one to three, and that the whole force should be
cers.

placed under the Crown, and "act in concert
" with the general strength of the empire." The scheme
of amalgamation which Lord Comwallis had drawn up

[794 was not altogether approved by the Board of Control, or the
Court of Directors, and Mr. Dundas undertook to draw up
a second. Bat the European officers of the Company, who
were opposed to any amalgamation, were already in a state

of mutiny, and Sir John Shore found, on assuming the
Government, that he had to deal with the insubordination

of a whole army. The officers repressed their resentment
while they awaited the arrival of ISlr. Dandas's regulations,

bat their patience was exhausted by delay. On Christ-

1795 mas day Sir John convened the Council, and informed
them that delegates had been elected from each regiment

I
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to form an executive board, and that every regiment Lad
bound itself to protect their persons and make good their

losses. The terms which this board was to demand from
the Government were, that the native regiments should

not be reduced, or the European regiments increased,

beyond a certain limit, and that all allowances which had
been granted to the army at any time should be restored.

If these conditions were not accepted, they were prepared

to seize the Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief,
and to take possession of the Government.
The Council was' thunderstruck by this announcement.

It was a crisis similar to that which the undaunted spirit

of Clive had quelled in two months, thirty years submission
before ; but there was no Clive at Calcutta, of the

Orders were sent to Madras and the Cape for
^"^emment.

troops, and the admiral was desired to bring up his fleet,

and even De Boigne was asked for a regiment of Sindia's

cavalry. The Commander-in-Chief went to Cawnpore, and
by his courteous manners soothed the feelings of the

officers, but it was the firmness of the artillery that

stemmed the tide of mutiny. The long-expected regula- a.d.

tions of Mr. Dundas arrived in May 1796, and disgusted 1796

all parties. The Governor-General himself described them
as a mass of confusion. The flame of revolt blazed forth

afresh in the ai*my, and remonstrances poured in upon the

bewildered Government. Sir John Shore, in writing to

the Court of Directors, stated that the pressure was so

severe that he had been obliged to give way. The regula-

tions were modified and concessions made which exceeded
even the expectations of the army. The intelligence of this

submission filled the ministry with such alarm that it was
resolved to supersede Sir John Shore forthwith, and Lord
Comwallis was importuned to proceed to India, if only for

twelve months, and restore order. He was accordingly jygj
sworn in as Governor-General on the 1st February, and the
appointment was duly notified at all the Presidencies. But
the mutineers had a representative body of officers sitting

in London, and, incredible as it may appear, the Court of

Directors and the Board of Control, after having recalled

Sir John Shore for his weakness, entered into negotiations

with them and made concession after concession, and silenced

one of the ringleaders by a lucrative post at the India
House. An order was passed in reference to the mutiny
which Lord Comwallis described as " milk and water,"
and he threw up the appointment in disgust.

I
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The last act of Sir John Shore's administration was
.•marked by as much vigour as those preceding it had been

Oide
signalised by feebleness. The Vizier of Oude
was a man of good disposition, but spoiled by

the enjoyment of absolute power, and vitiated by the
fools, knaves and sycophants who composed his court.

The Government was completely effete, and but for the
protection of British bayonets, the country would have
been absorbed by the Mahrattas or the Sikhs. Before his

departure from India, Sir John Shore visited Lucknow
and endeavoured to impress on the Vizier the necessity of

reforming the abuses of the administration ; but what-
ever favourable impression he might have produced in

the morning was effaced in the evening when the prince

was surrounded by buffoons and parasites, or stupefied

Death of the with opium. Six weeks after Sir John's return
nabob. to Calcutta, he sank into the grave, exhausted
by indulgence, and the succession of Vizier Ali, whom
he had acknowledged as his son, was sanctioned by the

Government of India.

Information was received soon after that his birth was
spurious and his character atrocious, and Sir John returned

A.D. . . . to Lucknow to ascertain the truth, when he ob-

1797 *^^ tained evidence that he was not even the illegiti-

mate son of the late Vizier, but the offspring of a man of

the lowest caste, and likewise that his profligacy had created

a feeling of universal disgust. Sir John was convinced

that he had been accessory to an act of injustice, and as

the late ruler had left no legitimate issue, he conferred the

throne on his brother, then residing at Benares. He was
required on being installed, to sign a new treaty, by which
the defence of the country was entrusted to a body of

10,000 British troops, for whom an annual subsidy of

seventy-five lacs of rupees was allotted, that the native

army of the state should not exceed 35,000 troops, that the

SaadntAii fortress of Allahabad, the key of the north-west
1798 Nabob. provinces, should be made over to the Company,

and the Vizier eschew all foreign negotiations. During
these arrangements, Sir John Shore was encamped with

a small force near the town of Lucknow, and exposed to

eminent danger from the violence of Vizier Ali,and the bands

of desperate men in his pay, under the command of a reck-

less adventurer, who had 300 pieces of cannon, and openly

talked of assassinating the Governor-General. The fear-

lessness which he exhibited in this perilous position, as
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well as the resolution aaid justice of his proceedings,

created general admiration in India, and the Court of Direc-

tors applauded the " great temper, ability and firmness he
" had displayed on this occasion." The arrival of the Vizier

with a large force from Benares rescued him from danger,

and on his return to Calcutta he embarked for England, a.d.

and was raised to the peerage as Lord Teignmouth. 1798

CHAPTEE Vni.

• SECTION I.

LORD WELLESLET— LAST MYSORE WAR.

Sir John Shore was succeeded by Lord Mornington, sub- 1793

sequently created Marquis Wellesley, then in his thirty-

eighth year, under whose vigorous rule the power Lo^d

of the Companywas rendered paramount through- Weiiesiey.

out India. At the Board of Control, where he had occupied

a seat for four years, he had acquired a comprehensive
knowledge of Indian afiairs, and he moreover enjoyed the

advantage of ISlr. Pitt's personal friendship and the confi-

dence of Mr. Dundas. He called at the Cape on his way
to India, and had the good fortune to meet there Lord
Macartney and Lord Hobart, both of whom had been
governors ofMadras, as well as Major Kirkpatrick, formerly

resident at Sindia's court, and more recently at Hyderabad,
and obtained from their communications the most important
information regarding the views and the position of the

various princes in India.

At the commencement of this important epoch, it may
be useful to glance at the state of India. After the

humiliation ofTippoo Sultan, Lord Cornwallis en- state of

deavoured to establish a balance of power in the India.

Deccan. But there never had been any real balance of

power in India, and aggression and rapine had been the only
principle of action among its princes. Wars were com-
menced and prosecuted without any semblance of justice,

and restrained only by the power of resistance. Eighteen
months after the departure of Lord ComwaUis, the battle

L
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of Kurdla prostrated the power of the Nizam ; the Peshwa
was reduced to extremity by the encroachments of Sindia

;

and even the appearance of a balance of power in the

Deccan was irretrievably lost. The Government of Calcutta

had become an object of derision in all the native courts,

and a prolongation of Sir John Shore's nerveless adminis-

tration would have entailed very serious calamities. In
the south, Tippoo was brooding over his misfortunes, and
husbanding his resources to retrieve them. Though de-

prived of half his dominions, "he was still able to maintain

a powerful army in full efficiency. The Nizam had aug-

mented the battalions under Raymond to 14,000, men and
the French, who were animated by the national hatred of

England which then prevailed in France, exercised a

paramount authority in the state. Sindia was supreme at

Poona and at Delhi, and enjoyed all the influence and
authority still attached to the imperial throne. His terri-

tories in the Deccan extended to the Toombudra, and
skirted the frontiers of the Nizam and the Peshwa, while in

Hindostan it extended to the Sutlege, and abutted on the

dominions of the Vizier and of the Company. The French
battalions, raised and disciplined by De Boigne, had been
augmented to 40,000 men, in no way inferior to the Com-
pany's sepoy army, with 450 guns, and fortresses, arsenals,

foundries, depots, and all the appliances of war. Lord
Cornvvallis had bequeathed to his successor a surplus

revenue of a crore and eighty lacs of rupees a year, but
it had dwindled into a deficit, and the Company's credit

was so low that the treasury could not raise a loan under
12 per cent.

Lord Wellesley landed in Calcutta on the 17th May, and
within three weeks was startled by the receipt of a pro-

The Manri-
clamation issued by the governor of the Mauritius,

^^^^ tins pro- stating that envoys had arrived from Tippoo
ciamation.

g^ij^a^ ^^j^ despatches for the Government in

Paris, proposing an alliance offensive and defensive, and
requesting the aid of a body of troops to assist him in

expelling the English from India. Soon after it was
announced that a French frigate had landed 150 men,
including officers, from the Mauritius at Mangalore, on
the Malabar coast, who had proceeded to Seringapatam
and entered the Mysore service. Lord Wellesley de-

termined to anticipate the hostile movements of Tippoo,

and directed General Harris, the officiating governor of

Madras, to assemble the Coast army for an immediate

A.D.
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inarch on Seringapatam, and called on the Nizam and
the Peshwa, the signataries of the treaty of 1790, to

famish their quota of troops in accordance with its twelfth

article.

The Presidency of Madras was thunderstruck with this

venturous project. They had a morbid dread of the

Mysore power, which had dictated peace under Dismay at

the walls of Madras, and annihilated Baillie's Madras.

force, and ravaged the Camatic ; and they conjured up
the memory of all the disasters which had for twenty
years attended their wars with Hyder and Tippoo. The
entire disposable force of the Presidency did not exceed

8,000 men, and they were destitute both of draft cattle

and commissariat stores ; and far, they said, from being in

a condition to march on Tippoo's capital, the force was
not equal to the defence of the Company '"s territories, if he
should invade them. On the other hand, the Mysore ruler ad.

could muster 60,000 troops, a large portion of whom con- ^798

sisted of the celebrated Mysore horse ; his infantry was in

part disciplined by French officers; he possessed a hundred
and forty-four field-pieces, a rocket brigade, a long train of

elephants, an ample supply of draft and carriage cattle,

and a splendid commissariat. In these circumstances
Lord Wellesley found it impossible to strike an immediate
blow, but he issued peremptory orders for the speedy
equipment of the army, and he met the remonstrances
addressed to him in his own imperious style, by threatening

with his severest displeasure " those who presumed to
" thwart him, and arrogated to themselves the power of
" governing the empire committed to his charge."

The state of affairs at Hyderabad demanded Lord
Wellesley's earliest attention. The troops, to the number
of 14,000, disciplined and commanded by French ^^ weiies-
officers, presented a serious difficulty. They ley's embar.

could not be taken into the field as a portion of
''^™^'^*-''-

the Nizam's contingent, without the risk of their joining

the Sultan, with whose French officers they were in con-

stant correspondence ; while to leave them behind without
an adequate force to watch them, was equally perilous.

At this critical juncture, moreover. Lord Wellesley received

a communication from Zeman Shah, announcing his

intention to cross the Indus and enter Hindostan, and
asking the Biitish Government to assist him in driving the
Mahrattas back into the Deccan. He was the grandson
of Ahmed Shah Abdalee, who had astounded India by his
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victory at Paniput forty years before ; and the prospect of

another Abdalee invasion created a universal feeling of

excitement, if not of alarm. Thus beset with embarrass-

ments in the north and in the south, Lord Wellesley

resolved boldly to carry out his policy of alliances with the

native princes on his own responsibility, without waiting

for the sanction of the Court of Directors or the ministry.

He found that the Company had not augmented their

security by curtailing their influence, but had drifted into

a position in which it was less perilous to advance than to

stand still. He determined to break up that policy of

isolation which had been erroneously considered the safe-

guard of British power, and within three months after he
had taken the chair at the Council board, negotiations

were opened throughout the continent, and every durbar
was electrified by the revival of that energy which recalled

the days of Hastings and Cornwallis.

A.D. Lord Wellesley found it necessary to dispose of the
1798 French force at Hyderabad before betook the field against

Ne tiati n
Tippoo. The great minister of the Nizam, Meer

atHyder- Alum— otherwise called Musheei-ool-Moolk

—

abad.
^j^ being released from Poona and resuming his

office, was alarmed at the power which the French officers

had obtained in the state, and was disgusted with their arro-

gance. He lost no time in proposing to Sir John Shore to

substitute an English subsidiary force for the French
battalions ; but Sir John had not the nerve for so bold a

proceeding. Lord Wellesley eagerly embraced the proposal,

and made an offer to protect the state from all unjust

claims in every quarter with a body of 6,000 troops, to be

subsidised by the Nizam, on condition that the French
corps should be dismissed, and the settlement of all disputes

with the Mahrattas referred to the British Government.
The Nizam manifested great reluctance to contract an
alliance which he could never shake off", with so irresistible

a power as the Company, but his minister persuaded him.

that it was better to repose under the protection of a

power governed by the principles of honour, than to be
perpetually exposed to the avarice of the Mahrattas and
the ambition of Tippoo.

In the preceding year the Peshwa soKcited the aid of a

British force to protect him from the encroachments of

Sindia, but it was declined by Sir John Shore.

alliance He then Concluded an alliance with the Nizam,

Pesh\v^^
and ceded territory of the annual value of eight

lacs of rupees as the price of his assistance.



I

Sect. I.] NIZAM'S FKENCH FORCE DISBANDED 24-3

Sindia revenged himself by releasing Nana Fumavese,
whom he held in confinement, and inviting Tippoo to join

him in an attack on the Nizam. These manoeuvres led to

a temporary reconciliation between Sindia and the Peshwa,
and it was at this juncture that the proposal of a subsidiary

alliance, which included the reference of all claims on the

Nizam to the arbitrament of the British Government, was
renewed. The Peshwa was too astute not to perceive that

such an alliance involved the extinction of his political

importance, and it is not to be wondered at that he, in

common with the other princes of India, with whom
independence had a charm, the value of which was en-

hanced by its risks, should have been indisposed to resign it.

But the Peshwa assured the Resident that he would faith-

fully observe the conditions of the tripartite treaty in the
approaching war with Tippoo, and a large Mahratta force

was ostensibly ordered into the field.

To give efiect to the treaty with the Nizam, troops were a.d.

despatched to Hyderabad ; but at the last moment he ^^^^

evinced an invincible reluctance to place himself
Extinction

in a state of helpless and irretrievable dependence of theFrench

on a superior power, and he fled to the fortress
**'**

of Golconda. The Resident was obliged to assume a high
tone and to assure the minister that his master would be
held responsible for this breach of faith. He was at length

convinced that there was more danger in endeavouring to

evade the engagement than in fulfilling it, and a proclama-
tion was issued dismissing the French officers, and releasing

the sepoys from the obligation of obedience to them.
Officers and men were thrown into a state of confusion

and dismay by this unexpected order—Raymond was no
longer at Hyderabad—but the British force was moved
into a position which completely commanded the French
encampment and placed their magazines at its mercy. In
this helpless state, the officers sent to inform the Resident
that they were ready to place themselves under his pro-

tection ; but the men, to whom large arrears were due,

rose in a body and placed the officers in confinement, and
it was not without great difficulty they found refuge in the
EngUsh camp. Captain Malcolm, a young and ambitious
officer, then rising into notice, succeeded in quelling the

excitement by the payment of their arrears ; and before the
evening this large body of disciplined troops, possessed of
a powerful train of artillery and well-stored arsenals, was
disarmed without the loss of a single life. This great

B 2

I
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achievement, the first act of the new Government, filled

the native princes, who were calculating on the decay of
the Company's power, with amazement, while the ability

with which it was planned, and the promptitude with
which it was executed, diffused a spirit of confidence

throughout the civil and military services which con-

tributed in no small degree to the success of Lord Welles-
ley's plans.

A.D. On the 8th October, Lord WeUesley received information
1798 that Bonaparte had landed in Egypt, on his way to the East

and he reiterated his orders to press forward the organisa-

tion of the Madras army, which he promised to strengthen

by the addition of 3,000 volunteer sepoys from Bengal,

and with the 33rd Foot, under the command of Colonel

Wellesley, afterwards the Duke of Wellington. On hear-

ing that the disbandment of the French force at Hyderabad
_ ^.^ had been completed, he addressed his first letter

tion w-ith to Tippoo, upbraiding him with his embassy to
Tippoo.

^jjg Mauritius,- and the connection he had formed
with the inveterate enemies of the British nation, " which
" must subvert the foundations of friendship subsisting
" between him and the Company." He proposed to de-

pute Major Doveton to his court, to propound a plan calcu-

lated to remove all doubt and suspicion. To infuse vigour

into these arrangements he resolved to proceed in person

to Madras, where he landed on the last day of the year,

and assumed the control of all poKtical and military move-
ments, leaving the local administration in the hands of the

governor,

Tippoo's reply was altogether evasive. He asserted

1799 Tippoo's tli3,t the vessel which had gone to the Mauritius
replies. was scnt by a mercantile tribe, and that " the
" French, who were foil of vice and deceit, had put about
" sinister reports to ruffle the minds of the two Sircars,"

He declined the proposed conference with Major Doveton
as superfluous, " inasmuch as his friendship and regard
" for the English were perfectly apparent." At this very

time, however, he was despatching one of his French
officers to the Directoiy in Paris, to solicit 10,000 troops,

to be employed at his expense in expelling the English

;

and he was likewise inviting Zeman Shah to join him in

prosecuting a holy war against the infidels and polytheists.

" Please God," he wrote, " the English shall become
" food for the unrelenting sword of the pious warriors,"

Lord Wellesley addressed another letter to him on the 9th
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January, demanding a reply in twenty-four hours, to which
Tippoo, after a considerable delay, replied that he was going

on a hunting excursion, as was his wont, and that Major
Doveton might be despatched after him.

Every moment now became precious. The capital, *"•

Seringapatam, was the heart of Tippoo's power, his principal '

granary, and his only arsenal. Owing to the rise progress of

of the Cauvery around the island on which it the army.

was built, it was impregnable from June to November, and
it was necessary to reduce it before the rains set in. After

waiting in vain for a definite reply. Lord Wellesley ordered

the army to take the field. It was the largest and the

most complete in point of equipment and discipline which
had ever yet assembled under the Company's colours. It

consisted of 20,802 men, of whom 6,000 were Europeans,

with a battering train of forty guns, and sixty-four field-

pieces and howitzers, and 10,000 of the Nizam's cavalry, as

well as the Hyderabad subsidiary force, which, under
the command of Colonel Wellesley and Captain Malcolm,
had become a most eflBcient auxiliary. The entire army was
commanded by Greneral Harris, whose personal knowledge
of the route was of great value. Tippoo, leaving his

generals to watch the movements of the general at Madras,
proceeded with the flower of his army to the ^.

Malabar Coast to oppose the Bombay force march- the Malabar

ing on his capital.
*^°^^*'

On the 5th March, Tippoo unexpectedly appeared before its

advanced guard. General Stuart, the commandant, with
the main body, was ten miles in the rear, and it fell to

the gallant General Hartley—a name of high renown on
that coast—to meet the shock. His little force, and more
especially the battalions under Colonel Montresor, bore the

assault of the whole of Tippoo's force for six hours with
the most determined resolution, but as they were reduced
to their last cartridge the general happily came up and
decided the fate of the day. Tippoo retreated through the

wood with the loss of 2,000 men, and six days after

marched off in an opposite direction to resist the advance
of General Harris, whose army stood on the table land of

Bangalore on the 15th March. Contrary to the advice of
his most experienced officers and his French commander,
Tippoo fixed on Malavelly as the field for disputing the

progress of the British army, and the battle ended Battle of

in his complete discomfiture on the 27th March. Maiaveiiy.

He felt certain that General Harris would pursue the

I
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northern route to the capital as Lord Comwallis had done,

and he had taken the precaution to lay it waste, not leav-

ing a particle of food or forage. But the general moved
down in an opposite direction, and crossed the Cauvery
at the hitherto unknown ford of Sosilla, without any
interruption. Nothing could exceed the rage and dismay
of Tippoo when he discovered that all his plans were frus-

trated by this strategy, and he called a meeting of his

officers, and asked their advice with tears in his eyes ; they

declared that they would make one last and desperate

effort for the defence of the capital and the kingdom, and,

if unsuccessful, die with him.

Seringapatam was invested on the 6th April, and the siege

was pushed on with such vigour that Tippoo was induced

_^ . to propose a conference. General Harris informed
him that the only terms on which he was autho-

rised to treat were the cession of half his territories, the

payment of a war indemnity of two crorea, and the delivery

of four of his sons and four of his chief officers as hostages.

These terms were rejected by the Sultan. On the 4th May
k.-D. the breach was reported practicable, and the troops were led

'799 to the storm by General Baird, a distinguished officer,

who had been immured in the dungeons of the fort for four

years, in irons, by Hyder and Tippoo. He ascended the

parapet at one in the afternoon, and exhibited his noble

figure in the view of both forces, and then, drawing his

sword, desired his men to follow him, and show themselves

worthy the name of British soldiers. A small and select

band of Tippoo's soldiers met the forlorn hope in the

breach, the greater portion of whom on either side fell in

the desperate struggle. The works were defended with

great valour, more especially in the gateway where Tippoo
had taken his station, and where he fell covered with
wounds. The fortress was captured, and, as his remains
were conveyed through the city, the inhabitants prostrated

themselves before his bier, and accompanied it to the

superb monument of Hyder, where he was interred with
the imposing rites of Mahomedan burial, and the honours
of a European military funeral.

Thus fell the capital of Mysore, though garrisoned by
20,000 troops, and defended by 287 pieces of cannon, and

abundantly supplied with provisions and military

stores. It was the opinion of Lord Wellesley,

and of the best military authorities in the camp, that,

considering the strength of its fortifications, and the diffi-

i
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cultj of approaching it, a thousand French troops under

an able commander might have rendered it impregnable.

But throughout the siege, and indeed throughout the

campaign, Tippoo had failed to exhibit either wisdom or

energy. He rejected the advice of his most experienced

officers, and listened only to the flatteries of youths and
parasites, and the predictions of astrologers. During the

line of march General Harris was so heavily encumbered
with hia ponderous siege train and endless impediments,

that his progress w^as restricted to five miles a day, and it was
a miracle that he was not constrained, like Lord Comwallis,

to turn back for want of provisions. There were numerous
occasions on which an active and skilful enemy might have
impeded his march till the rains set in, and rendered the

campaign abortive ; but all these opportunities were
neglected by Tippoo in a spirit of infatuation. The success

of the army was owing to a combination of boldness and
courage, and good fortune. Tippoo was forty-six years of

age at the time of his death. He possessed none of his

father's abiHties for peace or war. He was a compound
of tyranny and caprice, of superstition and bigotry, and
likewise an atrocious persecutor. In the opinion of his

own subjects, Hyder was born to create an empire, and
Tippoo to lose it.

For half a century the Deccan had been the scene of
convulsions, and the great source of anxiety and expense
to the Court of Directors, whose possessions, security of

even in the intervals of peace, had always been the Deccan.

insecure. Lord Weilesley terminated this state of jeopardy.

Within a twelvemonth after he landed in Calcutta, he had
extinguished the French force and influence at Hyderabad,
and obtained the command of all the resources of the
Nizam. He had subverted the kingdom of Mysore, and
established the authority of the Company, without a rival,

in the Deccan, on so solid a basis that it has never since

been menaced. The capture of Seringapatam in less than
a month resounded through the continent of India, and
the extinction of one of its substantial powers struck terror

into the hearts of its princes, and exalted the prestige of
the Company's Government. These advantages were not,

however, obtained without a violation of those solemn
injunctions which the wisdom of Parliament, of the minis-

try, and of the India Bouse had periodically repeated to

restrain the growth of British power in India, and hence,
in writing to Mr. Pitt, Lord Wellesley said, "I suppose

1799
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A.D. « you will either hang me, or magnificently honour me for
' " my deeds. In either case, I shall be gratified, for an

" English gallows is better than an Indian throne." He was
magnificently honoured—^by the king with a step in the

peerage, and by Parliament with its thanks.

The issue of the war had placed the whole of the Mysore
dominions at the disposal of the Governor-General, and he

New Mysore ©xercised the rights of conquest with great wis-
kingdom. (jom and moderation. He resolved to make over
a portion of it to the family of its ancient and disinherited

princes, though they had passed out of all recollection, and
were living in abject poverty and humiliation. A child

five years of age was drawn from a cottage and seated on
a throne, with a revenue of fifty lacs of rupees a year.

The kingdom was bestowed on him as a free gift, and it

was emphatically declared to be personal and not dynastic.

Every allusion to heirs and successors was therefore

distinctly eliminated. Indeed, Lord Wellesley did not hesi-

tate to affirm that the territories placed under the nominal
sovereignty of the raja whom he created, constituted an
integral portion of our own dominions, and they were
treated in this Hght for more than sixty years.

The remaining territories were thus partitioned. Dis-

tricts of the annual value of about thirty lacs, were allotted

The remain-
^° ^^® Company, but charged with the payment of

ing terri- about eight lacs a year to the families of Hyder
tones. ^^^ Tippoo, and territory valued at about twenty-

four lacs was transferred to the Nizam. The Peshwa
was not overlooked. He had not only violated his engage-
ment by taking no part in the campaign, but, with his

usual duplicity, had received envoys from Tippoo, and
accepted a gratuity of thirteen lacs of rupees from him,
and concerted a scheme for attacking the dominions of the

Nizam while his army was employed in the siege of

Seringapatam. But Lord Wellesley overlooked this dupli-

city, and offered him out of the spoils of Mysore districts

yielding ten lacs of rupees, on condition of his excluding the

French from his dominions, and admitting the mediation
of the British Government in the questions still in dispute

with the Nizam. The offer was rejected, and the reserved

territory was divided between the Company and the Nizam.
The personal property captured at Seringapatam rather

exceeded a crore of rupees and Lord Wellesley took on

Prize himself the responsibility of anticipating, as ho
money. said, Ihe assent of the Crown, and the sanction
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of the Directors, and directed the immediate distribution

of it among the troops—the third instance in which prize

money had been, not unwisely, divided in India, without
waiting for dilatory orders from England. The Court of

Directors manifested their sense of Lord Wellesley's merits

"by offering him ten lacs from the proceeds of the captured

stores ; but his high sense of honour induced him to

decline it, upon which they settled an annuity of half a lac

of rupees a year on him. To complete this narrative of

the last Mysore war, it only remains to be stated that a
daring adventurer, Dhondia Waug, collected together a

body of Tippoo's disbanded cavalry and proceeded north-

ward, plundering towns and villages. Success brought a.d.

crowds to his standard, and the peace of the Deccan was 1800

seriously menaced. At length. Colonel Wellesley set out in

pursuit of him with four regiments of cavalry, and after

chasing him for four months without any relaxation, at

length brought him to bay, and he was killed, and his army
broken up.

SECTION II.

LORD WELLESLEY—THE CAENATIC—OUDE—FORT WILLIAM
COLLEGE—WAR WITH SINDIA AND NAGPORE.

?HE refusal of the Peshwa to refer the settlement of his

lemands on the Nizam to the arbitration of the British

rovemment, pointed out to his able minister
cession of

fche treatment he might expect from Mahratta territc y by

rapacity, and he was anxious to secure his master ' ®
^''^'^^'

against it. He proposed, therefore, to Lord Wellesley that
the subsidiary force should be augmented and territory

allotted for its support in lieu of the monthly payment
then made in money. The proposition was, on a variety of
considerations, welcome to the Governor- General, and the
arrangement was speedily completed. The force was
increased to eight battalions, and districts yielding sixty-

three lacs a year were made over in perpetual sovereignty
to the Company, under the stipulation that the British 1^00

Government should guarantee all the remaining territories

of the Nizam from every attack. The districts thus trans-
ferred consisted simply of those which had been assigned to
him from the Mysore territory in the wars of 1792 and
]798. The transaction was mutually advantageous. It

I
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extended the Company's teiritories to the Kistna, and it

relieved the Nizam of all further apprehension from his

hereditary and insatiable enemies—and that without the

alienation of any portion of his patrimonial kingdom. It

is true, that by resigning the defence of his dominions and
the royal prerogative of conducting negotiations with
foreign princes, he lost his political independence ; but, on
the other hand, he secured the continuance of his royal

dynasty. Every other throne in the Deccan has been swept
away, while the descendant of the Tartar, Cheen Kilhch
Khan, still continues to hold his regal court at Hyderabad.
About the same time the raja of the little principality of

Tanjore Taujore was mediatised. His debts to the Com-

A.D.
™^a*»sed. pany were cancelled on the resignation of his

1800 territory, out of the revenues of which he received four lacs

a year, and a fifth of its improved resources.

By the treaty concluded with the nabob, Mahomed AH,
by Lord Comwallis in 1792, certain districts were hypothe-

state of the cated for the support ofthe Company's troops who
Camatic. defended the country. That prince, who had been
placed on the throne by the Madras Government in the days
of Clive and Coote and had occupied it for fifty years, died

1795 in 1795. His son Oomdut-ool-omrah was surrounded, as

his father had been, by a legion of rapacious Europeans,
many of them in the public service, who fed his extrava-

gance by advances at exorbitant interest, and, contrary to

the stipulations of the treaty, received assignments on the

districts pledged for the support of the troops. The loans

thus furnished the nabob with the means of paying his

instalments to the Government of Madras with punctuality,

but they served also to increase his embarrassments,

though the crisis was for a time postponed. At the par-

ticular request of the Court of Directors, Lord Hobart,

the governor of Madras, proposed to the nabob to transfer

the districts to the Company in lieu of the pecuniary pay-

ment, and offered him as an inducement, to reHnqnish debts

due to the Government, to the extent of a crore of rupees.

But though the arrangement would have been highly

beneficial to the nabob, it was not to the interest of his

creditors, who held him at their mercy, to resign the lands

which they subjected to rack rent, and the proposal was
rejected. Lord Hobart then proposed to resort to force,

on the ground that as the nabob had violated the treaty of

1792 by granting these assignments, it was no longer

binding on the Company ; but Sir John Shore peremptorily
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rcfdsed his concurrence. The correspondence thereupon
became acrimonious, and the matter was referred to Leaden

-

hall Street, and Lord Hobart was recalled. The
^ ^

Court, however, requested Lord Wellesley to Hobart's a.d.

call at Madras on his way to Calcutta, and ^^*"-
1798

make another effort to obtain the sanction of the nabob to

the surrender of the districts, which were in a state of rapid

decay, as a substitute for the payment he was bound to

make ; but, under the sinister influence of the harpies

around him, the proposal was again spurned.
The nabob was bound by treaty " not to enter into any

" negotiation or political correspondence with any Euro-
" pean or native power without the consent of

Clandestine
" the Company." But on the capture of Seringa- corres-

patam, it was discovered that both the late and p°°^^''**-

the present nabob had been engaged in a clandestine cor- jygg
respondence with Tippoo by means of a cypher, which was
found ; and that they had made important communications
to him, inimical to the interests of the Company. The
feet of this intrigue was established by the clearest

oral and documental evidence, to the satisfaction of the

Governor-General, the governor of Madras, the Court of

Directors, and the Board of Control ; and Lord "Wellesley

came to the conclusion that " they had not only violated

"the treaty, but placed themselves in the position of
" enemies of the Company, by endeavouring to establish a
" unity of interests with their most inveterate foe." The
obligations of the treaty were considered to be extinct, and
it was resolved to deprive the family of the government of
the Camatic, reserving a suitable portion of the revenue
for its support. But when the period for action arrived,

I

the nabob was on his death-bed. On his death his reputed
son, whom he had nominated his successor, was made
acquainted with the evidence ofhis father's and his grand-
father's treacherous correspondence with Tippoo, and in-

formed that all claim on the consideration of Government
was forfeited. His succession to the throne was no longer
a matter of right, but of favour, and would be conceded
only on condition of his making over the Camatic to the
Company, with the reservation of a suitable provision for

the maintenance of his court and family. He refused to
accept the title on these terms, and it was granted The nabob jgoi
to a cousin, of whose legitimate birth there was mediatised.

no question. The nabob was mediatised, and the Carnatic
became a British province. The territories obtained from

I
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Mj'sore and the Nizam, from the nabobs of the Carnatic
and Tanjore, may be said to have created the Madras
Presidency. Of the population, which, according to the
latest census, amounted to twenty-two millions, eighteen

are inhabiting the districts which Lord Wellesley annexed
to it.

While Zeman Shah was advancing into Hindostan,
Lord Wellesley despatched a native envoy to the king of

A.D. Embassy to Persia to induce hira to threaten his hereditary

1800 ^^^^- dominions in Central Asia, and constrain him to

retire from India. The agent urged that the Shah was a
Soonee, and had grievously oppressed the Sheahs, the

ruling sect in Persia, and that it would be an acceptable

service to God and man to arrest the progress of so

heterodox a prince. The pious monarch swallowed the

bait, and instigated Mahomed Shah to invade the territories

of his brother Zeman Shah, who was obliged to recross

the Indus in haste. But Lord Wellesley farther deemed it

advisable to send a more imposing embassy to the court ot

Ispahan " to establish British influence in Central Asia,
" and prevent the periodical disquietude of an invasion by
" Zeman Shah, with his horde of Turks and Tartars,
" Usbecks and Afghans." The oflBcer selected for this

duty was Captain Malcolm, who was eminently qualified

for it by his thorough knowledge of the oriental character

and weaknesses, and his acquaintance with eastern lan-

guages, as well as his admirable tact and invariable good
humour. The embassy was equipped in a style of mag-
nificence intended to dazzle the oriental imagination, and
to inspire the Persian court with a due sense of the power
and majesty of the British empire in the east. The result,

which had been in a great measure anticipated by the

native agent, was not commensurate with its cost, which
made the Court of Directors wince ; but it secured the

object of establishing British influence in Persia, at least

for a time.

Lord Wellesley could not consider India safe while a

French army held possession of Egypt ; and he proposed

Erpedition
^ ^^® ministry to send a force from India to

to the Red support the army which he felt confident they
^^' would despatch, to co-operate with the Turkish

1800 Government in expelling it. After long delay the necessary

orders were received from Downing Street, and an army
consisting of 4,000 European troops and 5,000 volunteer

sepoys, was sent up the Red Sea under General Baird,
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with the animating remark of the Governor- General, " that
" a more worthy sequel to the storm of Seringapatam
" could not be presented to his genius and valour." The
troops landed at Cosseir, in the Red Sea, and after traversing

120 miles of arid and pathless desert to the Nile, en-

camped, on the 27th August, on the shores of the Mediter-

ranean; but the report of its approach, combined with the

energy of the commander from England, had induced the

French general to capitulate before General Baird's arrival.

The history of India abounds with romantic achievements,

but no incident can be more impressive than the appearance
of sepoys from the banks of the Ganges, in the land of the

Pharaohs, marching in the footsteps of Csesar to encounter

the veterans of his modern prototype.

Within a month of the surrender of the French army in

Egypt, the preliminaries of peace between France and
England were signed by the former Governor- peaceof

General, Lord Cornwallis, at Amiens. The Court Amiens. i802

of Directors immediately issued orders for their military

establishments to be reduced, but Lord Wellesley, with
great forethought, wisely suspended the execution of them.
The treaty of Amiens was no sooner ratified than Bonaparte
despatched a large armament to Pondicherry, which the

treaty had restored, consisting of six vessels of war, a large

military stafi", and 1,400 European troops, under the

command of M. Leger, who was designated, in his patent,
" Captain-General of the French establishments east of
" the Cape." It was to be followed by a second squadron of

equal magnitude. For three years it had been the great

aim of Lord Wellesley to eradicate French influence from
India, and as he had now succeeded in excluding it from, the

Deccan, he could not regard the re-establishment of a
powerful French settlement on the Coromandel coast with-

out a feeling of anxiety. He felt that all the relations of

Government with the native states would be at once
deranged, and the seeds of a more arduous conflict than
the last planted in the soil of India, ever fruitful in

revolutions. The order to restore Pondicherry wsls re-

iterated from Downing Street, but, by an act of unexampled
audacity, Lord Wellesley directed Lord Clive, the governor
of Madras, to inform the French admiral on his arrival

that he had resolved to postpone the restitution of the
French settlements till he could communicate with the

ministry in England. The French fleet returned to the
Mauritius, and the recommencement of hostilities in

I
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Europe saved India from the danger to which it would
have been exposed if the continuance of peace had enabled

Bonaparte to give full scope to his designs.

On the approach of Zeman Shah to the Indus, Lord
Wellesley, well-knowing that the kingdom of Oude would

Demand on
^® ^^^ °^ ^^® early objects of spoliation, requested

the nabob Sir James Craig, the commandant, to communi-
of Onde. ^^^ j^^g views on the defence of it. He replied

that the rabble of troops maintained by the Vizier was not

simply useless, but actually dangerous ; and that if he
were required to take the field against the Shah, he could

not leave them behind with safety. The Court of Directors

had stated that the British force, 13,000 in number, was too

weak for the protection of the country, more especially since

Sindia had planted an army of more than 30,000 disciplined

troops, commanded by European ofl&cers, on its frontier,

watching an opportunity of springing on its opulent

districts. The existing treaty had allotted a subsidy of

seventy-six lacs of rupees a year for the payment of this

force, and also provided for its augmentation, if necessary.

A.D. Lord Wellesley now pressed on the Vizier the absolute
1800 necessity of disbanding his disorderly soldiers, and devoting

the fifty lacs of rupees thereby saved to the support of a
larger British force.

This reform would have placed the military power of

the kingdom absolutely in the hands of the Company; to

Discussions ^^^^ ^^^ nabob manifested an invincible repug-
withthe nance, and he proposed to abdicate in favour
"* of his son, and to retire into private life with the

treasure he had accumulated. Lord Wellesley stated that he
was prepared to sanction his retirement provided he took
up his residence in the British dominions, and vested the

government of the kingdom permanently in the hands of

the Company, but could not permit him to withdraw the

tieasure which belonged to the state. The nabob imme-
diately withdrew his abdication, and Lord Wellesley ex-

pressed great indignation at his insincerity and duplicity,

as he termed it, and charged him with having made a
proposal, which was from the first illusory, in order to

defeat the reform of his military establishment, which was
imperatively required. Several regiments were ordered to

march into the Oude territory, and the nabob was directed

to provide for their maintenance. He remonstrated in

earnest language, but Lord Wellesley returned his com-
munication, which he said was deficient in the respect due to
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tJie first British authority in India. The proceedings began
to assume a very vexatious appearance. The

Deputation tm
Vizier continued to exhibit a spirit of passive of Mr. H.

resistance, and Lord Wellesley's correspondence ^^"^^^y-

was marked by increasing hauteur ; but he was desirous, if

possible, to avoid the appearance of a compulsory cession

of the districts, and despatched his own brother and private

secretary, Mr. Ilenry Wellesley, afterwards Lord Cowley,

to overcome his repugnance ; but the nabob continued in-

flexible, and persisted in asserting that it would inflict an
indeHble stain on his reputation throughout India to

deprive one of its royal houses of such a dominion.

The Resident at length brought the discussion to an issue

by ordering the intendants of the districts selected for the

support of the British force to transfer their col- xt 4. 4.

• 1 .-I • n • n /~i
JNew treaty

lections and their allegiance to the Company, with the

The nabob deemed it vain any longer to contend ^^^^'

with such negotiators, and on the 12th November, signed a l^Ol

treaty which made over to the Company in perpetual sove-

reignty districts yielding one crore and thirty-five lacs of

rupees. The security which this transfer of military power
gave to the possessions of the nabob as well as of the

Company will admit of no question. A British army, fully

adequate to the defence of the country, was substituted for

the wretched troops of the nabob, always an object of more
dread to their masters than to their enemies ; a valuable

addition was made to the strength and resources of the

Company, and a large population was rescued from oppres-

sion. But of all the transactions of Lord Wellesley's ad-

ministration, this acquisition of territory by the process of

compulsion has been the most censured. For any justifica-

tion of it we must look to the position of the country. The
throne of Oude was upheld by British bayonets alone, and
the dynasty would have ceased to exist in a twelvemonth,
if they had been withdrawn. Under the perpetual menace
of a Mahratta invasion, it was necessary that a large and
efficient force should be maintained there ; but it was not
possible for the Company to support such a force with only
one-third of the revenues. The settlement of the provinces
thus ceded by the Vizier was entrusted to a commission,
consisting of members of the civil service, with Mr. Henry
Wellesley as president, but he received no additional allow-

ance. Their labours were completed within a year; the
Court of Directors, however, lost no time in denouncing
this appointment, though temporary, as "a virtual super-

I
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" cession of the just rights of the civil service," and draffcea

a despatch, peremptorily ordering Mr. Welleslej to be dis-

missed ; but the President of the Board of Control drew his

fatal pen across ifc. At the same time they expressed their

cordial approbation of the terms of the treaty, which,
among other merits, created thirty new appointments for

their favourite service.

Lord Wellesley unhappily approved and maintained the

erroneous policy initiated by Lord Comwallis of excluding

The College
^^^^^^^^ from any share in the government of

of Fort the country, and working it exclusively by the
\v iiiiam. European agency of the covenanted servants ; but
he determined to qualify them for their important duties

1800 ^y ^ suitable education. The civil service was originally a
mercantile stafi", and India continued to be treated more in

the light of a factory than of an empire. The public ser-

vants rose, as they had done a century before, through the

grades of writer, factor, and junior and senior merchants,

and though they were required to perform the functions of

magistrates and judges, of secretaries of state and ambas-
sadors, it was deemed sufficient, if, before they left England,
they were initiated into the mysteries of the counting-

house, and understood book-keeping by double-entry. Of the
laws and institutions, and even the language of the people,

they were not required to know anything. Lord Wellesley

was resolved to remove this glaring anomaly by founding

a college in Calcutta, in which their European education

should be completed, and they should acquire a knowledge
of the laws, literature, and language of the natives.

Like all Lord Wellesley' s plans, the institution was pro-

jected upon a scale of imperial magnificence ; and it was,

moreover, erected without so much as consulting
gran eta.

^^^ Court of Directors, and they passed a peremp-

1802 tory order for its immediate abolition. Lord Wellesley was
mortified beyond measure by this subversion of one of his

most cherished schemes, which exposed him to the contempt

of India, and he gave vent to his feehngs in a passionate

appeal to his friends in the ministry, and entreated them to

save from extinction an institution he deemed invaluable

—which indeed, he regarded with greater pride than the

conquest of Mysore. On receiving the orders from Leaden-

hall Street, he passed a resolution abolishing the college,

with the sullen remark that it was done "as an act of
" necessary submission to the controlling authority of the
*' Court; " but in a second resolution he allowed eighteen
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months for the gradual abolition of it ; and in the meantime
the Court of Directors, under the pressure of the andreduc-

Board of Control, consented to the continuance *^'"^-

of it on a reduced scale.

At the renewal of the charter in 1793 the ministry en- a.d.

deavoured to silence the clamours of the merchants and 1793

manufacturers of England, as already stated, by private

obliging the Court of Directors to allot them 3,000 *ra<ie.

tons of freight annually, but this concession was found in-

adequate to the demand. The commerce of India was, in

fact, bursting the bonds of the monopoly, which, however
serviceable it might have been during the infancy of our
connection with India, was altogether unsuited to an age
of development. The trade of Calcutta had been rapi<fly

expanding, and was forcing itself into the continental

markets, in foreign vessels provided with cargoes by English

capital. In 1798 the exports in vessels under the flags of

America, of Portugal, and of Denmark, had exceeded a
crore and a half of rupees.

Shipbuilding had likewise made great progress in 1799

Calcutta during the previous ten years, and Lord Wellesley, to

finding 10,000 tons of India-built shipping in the port on ^^^^

his ari'ival, chartered a large portion of it for the use of

the private merchants. In his letter to the Court of
Directors on the subject, he said that it would be

equally unjust and impolitic to extend any facili- of LOTd°^*^

ties to British merchants which would sacrifice weiiesiey's

or hazard the Company's rights and privileges,

and that the commercial indulgence he had granted extended
mly to such articles of Indian produce and manufacture as

were necessarily excluded from the Company's investments.

Dundas, who entertained the same liberal views as

Lord Wellesley, was anxious to authorise the Government
of India to license India-built shipping " to bring hom^
" that which the means and capital of the Company were
" unable to embrace." But at the India House the dread of
interlopers was still in undiminished vigour. Though the

cream of the India trade was still to be assured to the
Company, the Directors would not permit others to obtain
the dregs. The proceedings of Lord Wellesley were em-
phatically reprobated ; he lost caste irretrievably in Leaden-
nall Street, and the treatment he experienced from the
Directors during the last three years of his Indian career

was scarcely less rancorous than that which had embittered
the life of Warren Hastings, Notwithstanding the remon-

onl
^Bwei

I



258 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. Vin.

strance of the minister, they passed a direct vote of censure
on the commercial policy he had patronised.

K.-D. As soon as the arrangements in Oade were completed,
1802 Lord Wellesley tendered his resignation, assigning to "his

Resi ati
" Hoiioiirable Masters," as he termed them, no

of Lord other reason than the fall accomplishment of his
WeUesiey. plans for the security and prosperity of the

empire. To the prime minister, however, he unburdened
his mind, and informed him that the real cause of his retire-

ment was the invariable hostility of the Court and the

withdrawal of their confidence. They had peremptorily

ordered the reduction of the military establishments, while

he considered it, in the existing circumstances of the

empire, essential to its security to maintain them in full

vigour. They had cut down the stipends he considered

advisable at the close of the war, and had selected for

especial censure and retrenchment, the allowances g^nted
by the Madras Government to his brother General
Wellesley to meet the cost of his important and expensive

command in Mysore ; this he considered "the most direct,

" marked, and disgusting indignity which could be devised."

They had abrogated the power vested in the Governor-
General in Council by Parliament of enforcing his orders

on the minor Presidencies, though they might happen to

supersede the injunctions of the Court, and they had de-

stroyed the authority ofthe Supreme Government over them
by reversing this regulation. They had wantonly dis-

placed officers of the highest ability and experience who
enjoyed the fcdl confidence of the Governor-General, and,

conlrary to law, had forced their own nominees into offices

of emolument, for which, moreover, they were totally unfit.

Lord Wellesley vigorously remonstrated against this

practice. " If the Government of Lidia," he said, " was thus

The causes
" to be thwarted in every subordinate depart-

of it. " ment, deprived of all local influence, and
" couJiteracted in every local detail by a remote authority
" interfering in the nomination of every public servant, it

" would be impossible to conduct the government under
'* such disgraceful chains." Lord Castlereagh, the President

of the Board of Control, was anxious to retain the services

of Lord Wellesley, and placed his letter to the premier in

the hands of the chairman at the India House. He did

not disguise from him the great dissatisfaction and jealousy

felt by the Company with regard to certain of Lord Welles-

ley's measures, and, more especially to the employment of

i
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Mr. Henry Wellesley. He had, in fact, wounded them on a.d.

the two points on which they were most sensitive—their 1802

monopoly and their patronage. But Lord Castlereagh was
assured that the Court were not unmindful of his eminent
services, and would request him to postpone his departure

to the 1st January 1804 ; little dreaming of the momentous
consequences of this resolution. Before that date, the

Mahratta power was prostrate, and the map of India recon-

structed.

SECTION IIL

LORD WELLESLEY—MAHRATTA AFFAIRS TREATY OP BASSEIN

—

WAR WITH SINDIA AND NAGPORE.

The extinction of the kingdom of Mysore, and the complete

control established over the Nizam, left the British Govern-
ment without any antagonist but the Mahrattas,

-j^^^^^ ^

and the two rival powers now confronted each Nana Fur-

other. The offer of a subsidiary alliance to the '^*^^«-

Peshwa, made by Lord Wellesley in 1799, which would have
introduced the thin end of the wedge of British ascendancy
was rejected under the advice of Nana Furnavese. That
great statesman closed his chequered career in March, 1800. 1800

For more than a quarter of a centuiy he had been the
mainspring of every movement in the Mahratta common-
wealth, which he had regulated by the strength of his cha-

racter and the wisdom of his measures, not less than by
his humanity, veracity and honesty of purpose, virtues

which were not usually found among his own countrymen.
* With him," wrote the Resident at Poona, " departed all
' the wisdom and moderation of the Mahratta Government."
is death left Sindia without a competitor at Poona, where
e exercised supreme authority, and it was not without

delight that the Peshwa contemplated the rising power of
his rival, Jeswunt Rao Holkar.

Mulhar Rao Holkar, who raised himself from the con-

dition of a shepherd to the dignity of a prince, and esta-

blished one of the five Mahratta powers, died at The Holkar

the age of seventy-six, after a brilliant career of '^^^y-

forty years. His only son died soon after, leaving a widow,
Aylah bye, and a son and daughter. The son died in 1766, 1766

and his mother, a woman of extraordinary talent and
energy, resisted the importunity of the chieftains to adopt

82
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a son and retire into private life. She resolved to undertake
the government of the state herself, and selected Tokajee
Holkar, one of the same tribe, though not of her kindred,

to command the army. Through his singular moderation
and the commanding genius of the bye, this perilous ar-

rangement, which placed the military power in the hands
of a distinguished soldier, while the civil government was
administered by a female, was perpetuated without jealousy

for thirty years. She sat daily in durbar and gave audi-

ences without a veil, and dispensed justice in person. She
laid herself out to promote the welfare of the country by
the encouragement of trade and agriculture, and raised

Indore from the obscurity of a village to the rank of a

capital. She acquired the respect of foreign princes by the

weight and dignity of her character, and in an age of

universal violence was enabled to maintain the security of

her dominions. She was the purest and most exemplary
of rulers, and she added one more name to the roll of those

illustrious females who have adorned the native history of

India by their talents and virtues.

A.D. She died in 1795, and Tokajee two years later, and the
1795 reign of anarchy began, and continued without abatement,

for twenty years. MulharKao, the son of Tokajee,

mentsof assumed the command of the army and the go-
^^fnnt vemment of the state, but he was attacked and

killed by Sindia, who was thus enabled to reduce

the rival house of Holkar to a state of complete subordina-

tion. Jeswunt Rao, the illegitimate son of Tokajee, fled

from the field to Nagpore, but the raja, anxious to con-

ciliate Sindia, placed him in confinement, but he contrived

at length to make his escape, and took refuge at Dhar,

which, under the same hostile influence, he was obliged to

quit, with seven mounted followers and about a hundred
and twenty ragged half-armed infantry. He determined
now to trust his fortunes to his sword, and giving himself

out as the champion of his nephew, the young son of his

brother Mulhar, called upon all the adherents of the house

of Holkar to rally round him and resist the encroachments

of Sindia; and the freebooters who swarmed in Central

India flocked to his standard.

Jeswunt Kao was soon after joined by Ameer Khan, a

RohUla adventurer, about twenty-five years of age, together

Ameer with a large body of free lances, and for eighteen
Khftn. months they spread desolation through the

districts lying on the Nerbudda, but were at length
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obliged to separate when the field of plunder was ex- a.i).
•

hausted. Ameer KJian proceeded eastward to the opulent 1800

town of Saugor, where he subjected the inhabitants to

every species of outrage, and acquired immense booty.

Nothing gives us a clearer view of the anarchy and
wretchedness of Hindostan at this period than the ease

with which Jeswunt Rao was able, in the space of two
years, to collect under his standard, by the hope of
plunder, a force of 70,000 Pindarees and Bheels, Afghans
and Mahrattas. With this force Holkar entered Malwa,
and the country was half ruined before Sindia could come
to its rescue from Poona. To expel Holkar he despatched
two bodies of his troops, one of which, though commanded
by Europeans, was obliged to lay down its arms, and the ^.d.

other was attacked with such vigour that of its eleven 1801

European officers seven fell in action and three were
wounded. The city of Oojein, Sindia's capital, was saved
from indiscriminate plunder, by submitting to a contribution
of fifteen lacs. At Poona, Bajee Rao, relieved from the

presence of Sindia, subjected his feudatories to extortion

and his people to oppression, which led to the appearance
of numerous bodies of brigands, one of which, Wittojee,
the brother of Jeswunt Rao, was constrained to join.

He was captured and sentenced to be trampled to death
by an infuriated elephant, while Bajee Rao sat in the bal-

cony of the palace to enjoy the yells of the expiring youth.
Jeswunt vowed sharp vengeance, and it was not long
before he found an opportunity of executing it.

Sindia, having ordered Shirjee Rao, his father-in-law, 180]

and the greatest miscreant of Central India, to join his

camp, proceeded in pursuit of Holkar, who was sindia de-

totally defeated on the 14th October. The wretch feats Hoikar.

entered the capital, Indore, and gave it up to plunder.
The noblest edifices in the city, which had been erected
and adorned by Aylah bye, were reduced to ashes. Those
who were possessed of property were tortured to reveal it,

and the wells were choked up with the bodies of females
who destroyed themselves to escape dishonour. Holkar
was not long in recovering the blow. His daring spirit

was exactly suited to the temper of the age, and his stan-

dard was speedily crowded with recruits, with whom he
proceeded to the north, plundering every town and village

in his progress, and to the horror of his lawless, but
superstitious soldiery, not sparing even the shrines of the
gods. He then laid waste the province of Candesh, and

I
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moved down on Poona, and the Peshwa began to tremble
for his safety. Lord Wellesley had not ceased to renew
the offer of the subsidiary alKance when there appeared any
prospect of success. The negotiation fluctuated with the

Peshwa's hopes and fears, and when Sindia, who had
earnestly dissuaded him from accepting it, sent ten batta-

lions of infantry and a large body of cavalry to protect

him from the assault of Holkar, it came to an abrupt ter-

mination.

Holkar continued to advance to Poona, and the dismayed
Peshwa made him the most abject offers, but they were

Battle of haughtily rejected. The combined army of
Poona. Sindia and the Peshwa encamped in the vicinity

of the capital, consisted of 84,000 horse and foot. Sindia'

s

force comprised ten battalions under the command of Col.

Dawes, while Holkar had fourteen battalions, disciplined

and commanded by European officers. The battle of Poona,
A.D. which was long and obstinately contested, ended in the
1802 complete victory of Holkar, who captured the whole of

the baggage, stores and encampment of the allies. The
Peshwa, who had kept out of the reach of fire, fled precipi-

tately to the sea coast, where he obtained the accommoda-
tion of a British vessel from the governor of Bombay and
embarked for Bassein, which he reached on the 6th December.
Holkar entered the capital and placed the Peshwa's ille-

gitimate brother, Amrut Rao, on the throne, after exacting

the promise of an immediate payment of two crores, and
territory yielding another crore, as well as the command of

the army and the control of the state. After two months
of singular moderation he gave up the capital to pillage.

Bajee Rao, now became eager for the alhance as affording

him the only chance of regaining his crown, and on the last

The treaty of day of December, he signed the memorable treaty
Bassein. of Bassein, by which he agreed to entertain a

1802 }jody of 6,000 English troops, and a suitable complement
of artillery, and to assign districts yielding twenty-six lacs

for their support, to entertain no Europeans in his service,

and to refer all his claims upon the Nizam and the Gaik-

war to the arbitration of the Governor-General. The
treaty likewise guaranteed the southern jageerdars in the

enjoyment of their ancient rights.

The treaty of Bassein, viewed in connection with its

consequences, forms one of the most important events in

Remarks on ^^^ history of British India. Although the
the treaty, authority of the Peshwa had long ceased to

\
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possess its former importance in the Mahratta counsels,

he was still regarded, by the other chiefs as the centre of

their national unity, and the recognised chief of the

Mahratta commonwealth, and the extinction of his inde-

pendence essentially weakened its power. It has been

the subject of warm controversy, but the sound judg-

ment of the Duke of WeUiugton, then General Wellesley,

based upon his extensive Indian experience, may be con-

sidered conclusive. " The treaty of Bassein," he asserted,

" and the measures adopted in consequence of it, afforded
" the best prospect of preserving the peace of India, and
" to have adopted any other measure would have rendered
" war with Holkar nearly certain, and war with the whole
" Mahratta nation more than probable." This opinion has

been fully confirmed by posterity. War with the Mahratta
powers was inevitable ; the treaty may have hastened it,

but it must not be forgotten that it likewise deprived them
of all the resources of the Peshwa's Government,
The establishment of the Company's paramount *^-d-

authority at the Mahratta capital gave great umbrage to

Sindia and to the raja of Nagpore. The former
^j^brage of

found all his ambitious projects in the Deccan sindia and

defeated, and exclaimed :
" The treaty takes the ^J^-J^*^'*

" turban from my head." The Nagpore rajawas at

once deprived of the hopes he and his ancestors had
cherished of some day obtaining the office of Peshwa.
The two chiefs immediately entered into a confederacy to

obstruct the objects of the treaty, and Bajee Rao him self

had no sooner signed it, than he despatched an envoy to

solicit their aid to frustrate it. Holkar, whose plans were
thwarted by this masterly stroke of policy, agreed to join

the coalition on condition that the domains of his family

should be restored to him ; but, although he was reinstated

in them, he no sooner perceived Sindia involved in hos-

tihties with the British Government, than he let loose his

own famishing hordes on his possessions in Malwa.
Lord Wellesley, who had early information of this coali-

tion, informed Sindia and the raja of Nagpore that he was
desirous of maintaining friendly relations with

j^or^ -weUes-
them unimpaired, but would resist to the full ley's military

extent of his power any attempt to interfere
i»o^«°'e'i*^-

with the treaty. To be prepared for every contingency,

he ordered the whole of the Hyderabad subsidiary force,

and 6,000 of the Nizam's own infantry, and 9,000 horse,

under Colonel Stephenson, up to the frontier. General

I
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Wellesley likewise marclied up 600 miles in the same
direction with the Mysore contingent, 8,000 infantry,

1,700 cavalry, and 2,000 of the celebrated Mysore horse,

tinder an able native commander. The southern jageerdars
were induced by the influence which General Wellesley
had obtained over them, to join him with 10,000 troops.

Anirut Rao, whom Holkar had left in command at Poona,
had declared his determination to redace it to ashes when
he could no longer hold it ; but the city was saved by the

energy of General Wellesley, who made a forced march of

sixty miles in thirty-two hours to rescue it. Soon after

1^03 ^^j^e Rao quitted Bassein, and on the 13th May, the day
which had been selected by his astrologers, entered Poona,
accompanied by British bayonets, and ascended the throne
under a British salute.

The designs of Sindia became daily more evident. He
marched down with a large force from Oojein to form a

Deveio
junction with the raja of Nagpore, who moved up

ment of to meet him with a large force on the 17th April.

desfgns. Both princes informed the Resident that it was
their intention to proceed to Poona " to adjust the

" government of the Peshwa." He assured them that any
such movement would be considered an act of hostility,

and involve the most serious consequences. Various com-
munications were intercepted in different directions, which
placed their warlike designs beyond doubt ; and, on the

23rd May, therefore. Colonel Close, the Resident at Sindia's

court, was instructed to demand a categorical explanation

of his intentions, when he replied that, vnth regard to the

negotiations on foot, he could give no decisive answer till

he had seen the raja of Nagpore, then encamped about
forty miles distant, " when you shall be informed whether
" there is to be war or peace." Lord Wellesley considered

this announcement not merely an insult to the British

Government, but an unequivocal menace of hostility on the

part of both princes, who had planted their armies on the

frontiers of the two allies, the Nizam and the Peshwa,
whom the Government were bound to defend. The com-
plication of affairs at this juncture was increased by the

arrival of the French armament, already mentioned, at

Pondicherry, which Sindia announced to all the Mahratta
princes as the reinforcement of an ally. The confederates

continued to prolong the discussions for two months, while

they were employed in pressing Holkar to join them.

During this period of suspense, the perfidious Peshwa con-

1
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tinned to importnne Sindia to avoid any concession, but
advance at once to Poona " to settle affairs." He obstructed

the progress of supplies, and lost no opportunity of embar-
rassing the Government.
Time was now invaluable, but no reply could be received

to any reference to Calcutta under six weeks, and Lord
Wellesley, therefore, ventured to take upon him-

^^^^ ^^^^
self the responsibility, for which he was after- of powers to

wards captiously censured, of vesting full powers, ^"^^e^y.
civil, military, and diplomatic, in reference to

the conduct of Mahratta affairs in the Deccan, in General
Wellesley, and at the same time furnished him with a
clear exposition of his views of policy. The general re-

ceived this commissionon the 18th July, andlost no time in a.d.

calling on the allied chiefs to demonstrate the sincerity ^^^^

of the pacific declarations they were making, by with-

drawing their forces from a position, not necessary for the

security of their own territories, but menacing equally to the

Nizam, the Company, and the Peshwa. A week of

frivolous and fruitless discussion then ensued, during
which Sindia had the simplicity to say that they were not
prepared to determine on any movement, as the negotiation

with Holkar was not yet complete. Wearied with these

studied delays. General Wellesley gave them twenty-four
hours for their ultimatum, when they proposed that the

British armies should retire to their cantonments at Bom-
bay, Madras, and Seringapatam, while their forces fell back
forty miles to Boorhanpore. To this General Wellesley
replied : "I offered you peace on terms of equality, and
" honourable to all parties : you have chosen war, and are
" answerable for all consequences." On the 3rd August the
British Resident withdrew from Sindia's camp, and the
Mahratta war of 1803 commenced.

SECTION IV.

LORD WELLESLEY—WAR WITH SINDU AND NAGPOEB.

Lord Wellesley, finding a war with Sindia and the raja

of Nagpore inevitable, determined to strike a decisive blow
at their power, simultaneously, in every quarter preparations

of India. In the grand combinations of this for war.

campaign he was his own war minister, and never under

I
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the Company's rule had the resources of Government been
drawn forth upon a scale of such magnitude and applied
with such promptitude and effect. In the Deccan the ad-

vanced force under General Wellesley of about 9,000 men,
and of Colonel Stephenson, consisting of about 8,000, was
appointed to operate against the main armies of the con-

federates. In the north 10,500 troops were assembled
under General Lake, to attack Sindia's possessions in Bin-
dostan, which were defended by his French battalions ; and a
force of 3,500 was allotted for the invasion of Bundlecund.
On the western coast an army of 7,300 men was organised
to dispossess Sindia of his possessions in Guzerat, while
5,200 men were to occupy the province of Cuttack, be-

longing to the raja of Nagpore, on the eastern coast. The
whole force ofabout 43,500 men was animated by that tradi-

tionary spirit ofenterprise and enthusiasm which had created

the British empire in India, and which, on this occasion, was
heightened by unbounded confidence in the statesman at

the head of the Government. The armies of the con-

federates were computed at 100,000, of whom one half

consisted of cavalry, with a superb train of artillery of

many hundred pieces.

As soon as the Resident had quitted Sindia's camp.
General Wellesley opened the campaign by the capture of

Capture *^® strong fortress ofAhmednugur, Sindia's great

A.D. of Ahmed- arsenal and depot in the Deccan, and by taking
1803 n«gir.

possession of all his districts south of the Goda-
very. Meanwhile the confederates spent three weeks in

marching and countermarching, apparently without any
definite object. General Wellesley, misled by his guides,

was unexpectedly brought, after a march of twenty-six

miles, to a position from which he could behold Sindia's

encampment, consisting of 50,000 men and 100 guns,

stretched out before him, and he resolved to bring on an
immediate action without waiting for the junction of

Battle of Colonel Stephenson's force. The handful of
Assye. British troops which had to encounter this for-

midable array at Assye, did not exceed 4,500. The Mah-
ratta infantry was entrenched behind formidable batteries,

which the General had particularly enjoined the officer

commanding the advance not to assail in front, but he
charged up to the muzzle of the guns ; the carnage was
appalhng, but the indomitable courage and energy of the

troops, more especially the 74th, bore down all opposition,

and Sindia's splendid infantry, standing by the guns to
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the last, was at length overpowered and dispersed. The a.d.

victory was the most complete which had ever crowned the 1803

Company's arms in India, but it was dearly purchased by
the loss of one-third of its numbers. Sindia lost 12,000
men and all his guns, ammunition, and camp equipage.

His army was a complete wreck, and he retreated with a
small body of horse to the Taptee. Colonel Stephenson
was sent in pursuit of him, and captured the flourishing

town of Boorhanpore and the strong fortress of Aseergurh.

Meanwhile all Sindia's districts in Guzerat were occupied,

and nothing remained to him but his possessions in

Hindostan.
This valuable territory had been enlarged and con-

BoHdated by the indefatigable exertions of the late Mah-
dajee Sindia, and chiefly through the army raised

gin^ia's pos-

and disciplined by the Count de Boigne, on sessions in

whose retirement to France the command de- ^ °^

volved on General Perron. Dowlut Rao, since his acces-

sion to his uncle's throne in 1794, had continued to reside

at Poona that he might maintain a paramount influence in

the Mahratta councils, and the administration of these

provinces in the north devolved on the general, who con-

ducted it with great ability and moderation. He had
succeeded in extending the control of Sindia over the

Rajpoots, and was rapidly stretching it over the Sikhs up
to the banks of the Sutlej. His advanced posts approached
the Indus in one direction and Allahabad in the other, and
the territory under his control yielded a revenue of two
crores of nipees. His army consisted of 28,000 foot, not

inferior in any respect to the Company's sepoy army, with

5,000 cavalry and 140 guns. The jeopardy to which the

interests of the Company were continually exposed by the

presence of this powerful force, entirely under French
influence, along the whole of the north-west frontier was
but too apparent, and Lord Wellesley considered it an
object of the highest importance to extinguish it. Happily
for the accomplishment of his wishes Sindia's Mahratta
officers entertained such jealousy of the extraordinary

power granted to a foreigner that he considered his position

no longer tenable, and was contemplating his retirement

when the war broke out.

General Lake had been entmsted with the same plenary

powers in Hindostan which had been confided to General
Wellesley in the Deccan. He opened the cam- captnre of

paign by advancing against General Perron's AUygurh.

I
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encampment, but he withdrew his army 15,000 strong with-

out firing a shot, upon which General Lake laid siege to

Allygurh, the great arsenal and depot of Sindia in Hin-
dostan. It had been fortified with extraordinary skill by

A.D. French officers, but it was captured by a coup de main,
1803 through the irresistible gallantry of the 76th Highlanders.

The number of guns captured amounted to 281. Shortly

after, Perron having learnt that his enemies at Sindia's

court had procured an order for his dismissal, obtained

permission to pass through the British camp on his way to

Lucknow, and was received with the distinction due to his

rank and his talents. General Lake then advanced from
Allygurh towards Delhi, and within sight of its minarets

encountered the French force under General Bourquin,
19,000 in number. The battle was severely contested, but
the British infantry, led again by the 76th Highlanders,
and by the Commander-in-Chief in person, advanced calmly
amidst a storm of grape and chain shot, and charged with
the bayonet ; the ranks of the enemy reeled, and then
broke up in confusion.

Three days after the engagement. General Bourquin
and three of his officers delivered up their swords to

The troops General Lake. The city of Delhi was imme-
enter Delhi, diately evacuated by Sindia's troops, and the

British standard was hoisted upon its battlements. The
emperor, though a prisoner and sightless, was still con-

sidered the fountain of honour by Hindoos and Mahomed-
ans, and a patent of nobility under the imperial seal waa
as highly prized in the remotest provinces of the Deccan
as it had been in the days of Aurungzebe. " General

1803 " Lake," in the magniloquent proclamation of Lord
15th Wellesley, "was ushered into the royal presence, and
Sept. " found the unfortunate and venerable emperor, oppressed

" by the accumulated calamities of old age and degraded
" authority, extreme poverty and loss of sight, seated
" under a small tattered cauopy, the remnant of his royal
" state, with every external appearance of the misery of

" his condition." Lord Wellesley made a noble provision

for his support, and then formed the judicious resolution

of removing him and the royal family from the dangerous

associations of Delhi, and proposed Monghyr for his

future residence ; but the emperor clung with such tenacity

to the spot which had been for six centuries the capital of

Mahomedan power that the Governor-General was reluct-

antly constrained to relinquish the design. For this
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generous but imprudent act the Government was required a.d.

to pay a fearful penalty half a century later, 1803

Leaving Colonel Ochterlony in command at Delhi,

General Lake marched down to Agra, which capitulated

after a protracted siege, when the treasure found Battle of

in it, about twenty-eight lacs of rupees, was Laswaree.

promptly and prudently distributed among the oJBB.cers and
men, " in anticipation of the approval of the home autho-
" rities." On the outbreak of the war Sindia had sent

fifteen of his French battalions across the Nerbudda to

protect his possessions in Hindostan, They were con-

sidered the flower of his army, and were usually called the
" Deccan Invincibles," and nobly did they sustain the

reputation they had gained. Including the fugitives from
Delhi they formed a body of 13,000 horse and foot, with
72 pieces of cannon, under native commanders. General

Lake came up with their encampment at Laswaree on the

1st November, and they fought as native soldiers had
never fought before when they had no European officers to

animate them. They were at length overpowered, but not
till one-half of their number, as reported, lay on the field

killed or wounded. The general himself conducted all the

movements, and impetuously led the charge in person, more
to the credit of his gallantry than of his military talent.

Though a dashing soldier and adored by his men, he was
a very indifierent general, but the flagrant errors of the

day were covered—as they have since been on more than
one occasion—by the chivalrous valour of the men at the

sacrifice of their lives.

Alarmed by the reverses he had sustained, Sindia made
overtures which resulted in an armistice, and General
Wellesley was now enabled to turn his whole
attention to the raja of Nagpore, whom he had ^|^u^'
been closely following. On the 28th November he submission

^g^^j

came up with his whole army at Argaum, and ° ^sp""^®-

obtained a complete victory. The fortress of G^wilgurh
surrendered in the middle of December, and General
Wellesley prepared to march upon Nagpore, which must
have at once capitulated. The province of Cuttack had
also been occupied by a British army without a single

casualty. The raja, reduced to extremities by these rapid
reverses, and trembling for his capital and his throne,
hastened to sue for peace, and the treaty of Deogaum was
negotiated and concluded in two days by Mr. Mount-
Stuart Elphinstone on the 18th December, Cuttack was

I
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A.D. annexed to the Company's territories, and the uninterrupted
1803 communication between Calcutta and Madras, which the

Court of Directors had coveted for many years, and for

which they were at one time prepared to pay a large

sum, was established. The opulent province of Berar was
made over to our ally the Nizam, though during the
campaign his officers had behaved with more than ordinary
perfidy. The raja likewise engaged to refer aU his differ-

ences with the Nizam and the Peshwa to the arbitrament

of the British Government. These cessions of territory,

which comprised some of his most valuable districts, re-

duced him to the position of a secondary power in India.

Sindia could no longer hesitate to accept the severe

terms dictated by the Governor-General. His French

Submission battalions, the bulwark of his power, were anni-
of Sindia. hilatcd. His territories in the Deccan, in Guzerat
and in Hindostan, the rich patrimony bequeathed to him
by his uncle, had been wrested from him, and nothing lay

before him but the extinction of his power. He yielded to

necessity within a fortnight after the raja of Nagpore had
agreed to the treaty of Deogaum, and signed the treaty of

Sirjee Anjengaum. He was obliged to cede all his terri-

tories lying between the Ganges and the Dooab, and those

north of the principalities of Jeypore and Joudpore, the

fortress and territory of Ahmednugur in the Deccan, and
Broach and its dependencies in Guzerat. He reHnquished
all claims on the Peshwa, the Nizam, and the Gaikwar,
and acknowledged the independence of the rajas and feu-

datories in Hindostan with whom Lord Wellesley had
recently concluded treaties. The war which produced
these great results was scarcely of five months duration,

and it was concluded before it was known in Leadenhall

Street that it had commenced. Ahmednugur with its

territory was made over to the Peshwa, and the wealthy
districts in Hindostan were united with those which had
been acquired from the Vizier of Oude, to form a separate

,^^ . , province now known as the North West Presi-

aiiiancein deucy. Having thus reduced the Mahratta
the north, power in Hindostan, Lord Wellesley was anxious

to prevent the renewal of it by establishing a barrier

between the possessions of Sindia, north of the Nerbudda
and those of the Company, and General Lake was in-

structed to conclude treaties of alliance with the Jaut

prince of Bhurtpore, and the princes of Jeypore, Joudpore,

Machery, Boondee and Gohud, who were thereby absolved
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from all allegiance to the Mahratta powers, and relieved a.d.

from all dread of their encroachments. 1803

The genius of Lord Wellesley had thus, in the course of

five years, reorganized the political condition of India, and
placed his masters on the pinnacle of power. The Com-
pany had now become the absolute sovereigns of the most
valuable portion of the continent, the protector of the

states not included within its possessions, and the umpire
in the disputes of all. Its authority was established on a
more solid basis than that of Akbar or Aurungzebe. The
reputation and splendour of Lord Wellesley's administration

had now reached its culmination, and the disasters which
clouded the remainder of his Indian career were owing en-

tirely to the blunders of the Commander-in-Chief, though
his Grovemment was necessarily saddled with the obloquy of

them.

SECTION V.

LORD WELLESLEY—WAR WITH HOLKAR—COLONEL MONSON'S
RETREAT.

During the war with Sindia and the raja of Nagpore, Hoi- 1804

kar, instead of uniting his forces with theirs, sought more
profitable employment for them in predatory ex- Hoikar's

cursions into Hindostan. On the conclusion of proceedings.

the peace he marched upon the wealthy town of Muhesur,
where he was reported to have obtained a crore of rupees,

by which he was enabled to take into his pay the soldiers

whom Sindia and the raja of Nagpore had disbanded.
His army was thus augmented to 60,000 horse, and 15,000
foot, a force far exceeding his requirements or his resources,

and which could only be maintained by plunder. He was
assured by the Governor-General and General Wellesley
that, as long as he abstained from invading the dominions
of the Company or of their allies, no attempt should be
made to interfere with his movements. But repose was in-

compatible with his condition ; his fortnne was in his

saddle, and his reckless disposition led him to throw
himself on the British buckler. In March he demanded
of General Wellesley the cession of certain districts in the
Deccan which he affirmed had once belonged to his family,

and he sent to General Lake to demand the chout as the
inalienable right of the Mahrattas, and threatened " if his
" demands were not complied with, that countries many

I
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A.D. •' hundred miles in extent should be plundered, and oalami-
180-t «' ties fall on many hundred thousand human beings by a

" continued war, in which his armies would overwhelm
" them like waves of the sea." These insolent menaces
were followed up by an inroad into the territories of the

British ally, the raja of Jeypore.

Lord Wellesley felt that there could be no prosperity or

even peace in Central India while this large predatory

War with horde continued to roam through it under this
Hoikar. rampant chief, and that an army of observation

would be found to be far more costly than an army of action

;

and on the 16th April directed Generals Wellesley and Lake
to take the field against him. General Lake moved into the

Jeypore territory, and chased him out of it. General Wel-
lesley then in the Deccan urged him to continue the pursuit

without pause, and assured him that if it was prosecuted
with vigour, the war would be over in a fortnight. By an
act of incomprehensive fatuity. General Lake rejected this

advice, withdrew his army into cantonments, and sent

Colonel Monson with a weak force to follow Hoikar.

Lord Wellesley strenuously urged him either to recall the

brigade or to strengthen it, but General Lake did neither.

Colonel Monson was as remarkable for his personal bravery
as for his professional incompetence. With a detachment
feeble in numbers, and not supported by a single Euro-
pean soldier, with only about 2,500 worthless irregular

horse, he advanced into the heart of Holkar's territory

to encounter a force ten times its number, and commanded
by the most daring soldier of the day ; and he neglected to

make any provision for supplies, or for crossing the

various streams which would become unfordable in two or

three weeks.

1 804 On the 7th July Colonel Monson received the alarming in-

telligence that Hoikar had called up his whole force and
was marching upon him, and that Colonel

Monson's Murray, whom General Wellesley had ordered
retreat. ^p fpQj^ Guzerat to Support him, had fallen back.

The provisions in his camp were only equal to two days'

consumption, and he deemed it necessary to make an
immediate retreat. Whenever the troops stood at bay,

Hoikar, notwithstanding the immense superiority of his

force, sustained a repulse. At Rampoora Colonel Monson
was reinforced by two battalions sent to his aid by
General Lake, and was well supplied with provisions

;

but he unaccountably lingered there twenty-four days,



I

Sect. V.] COLONEL MONSON'S RETREAT 273

during which time Holkar never once ventured to attack a.d.

him. He then recommenced his retreat, which soon 1804

became a disgraceful rout, and the last sepoy straggled

into Agra fifty days after he had begun to retire. Twenty-
three years before Colonel Camac had, with equal indiscre-

tion, marched into the heart of Sindia's territories, and
found himself in the same predicament as Colonel Monson;
yet, by the unfailing expedient of a bold and aggressive

movement, Sindia was completely defeated, and lost guns,

ammunition, encampment, and reputation. But for the

imbecility of the commander, the same triumph would
have crowned the valour of the troops under Colonel

Monson, and Lord Wellesley would not have had to lament
the loss of five battalions of infantry and six companies of

artillery. This was the most signal disgrace the Com-
pany's arms had sustained since the destruction of Colonel

Baillie's detachment by Hyder, and it was commemorated
in ribald songs in the bazaars throughout the continent.

The raja of Bhurtpore, who was the first to seek the

alliance of the Government in the flood-tide of success in

1803, was the first to desert them when the tide appeared
to be ebbing.

Flushed with success, Holkar advanced to Muttra with
an army estimated at 90,000 men, and General Lake, with
his usual energy, rapidly assembled his regiments Hoiiar be-

to meet this unexpected inroad. Meanwhile, sieges DeUu.

Holkar planned the daring project of seizing the city of

Delhi and obtaining possession of the person of the

emperor, and of the iiifluence still attached to his name.
Leaving his cavalry to engage the attention of General
Lake, he suddenly appeared before the gates of the city

on the 7th October. It was ten miles in circumference, 1804

defended only by dilapidated walls and ruined ramparts,
and tilled with a mixed and unruly population. The
garrison was too weak to admit of reliefs, and provisions

were served to the troops on the battlements ; but Colonel
Ochterlony, with a spirit worthy of Clive, defended it for

nine days against the utmost efforts of the enemy, 20,000
strong, with 100 pieces of artillery. Holkar at length
drew off his force in despair, and sending back his infantry

and guns into the territory of his new ally, the raja of Bhurt-
pore, set out with his cavalry to lay waste the Company's
districts in the Doab.

General Lake left his infantry under General Fraser, to

X



274 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. VIII.

watch Holkar's battalions, and started in pursuit of him
Pursuit of with six regiments of cavalry, European and
Hoikar. native, and his horse artillery, giving him no
rest night or day. Hoikar generally contrived to keep
twenty or thirty miles ahead of him, ravaging the defence-

less villages as he swept along ; but, after a forced march
of fifty miles in twenty-four hours, the general succeeded

A.u. in overtaking him at dawn, at Futtygurh, on the 17th
1804 November. The enemy's horses were at picket, and the

men asleep beside them in apparent security, when several

rounds of grape announced the arrival of their pursuers.

Hoikar sprang on his horse, and galloped off with a few
troopers, leaving the rest of the troops to shift for

themselves, and they were dispersed and cut up in all

directions. He hastened back to rejoin his infantry, but
found on recrossing the Jumna, that they had suffered an
irreparable defeat. General Frazer with a force of 6,000
men had attacked his army consisting of fourteen battalions

Battle of of foot, a large body of horse and 160 guns,
Deeg. and obtained a decisive victory, capturing more
than half his artillery ; but the victory was dearly pur-

chased by the loss of the general. Daring the engage-

ment, a destructive fire was opened on the British force

from the fortress of Deeg, belonging to the raja of Bhurt-
pore, which was immediately invested and captured.

The fortunes of Hoikar were now at the lowest ebb.

General Jones, who had succeeded the incompetent Colonel

Siege of Murray, had captured all his forts in Malwa, and
Bhurtpore. marched up, unmolested, to General Lake's

encampment. The large host with which he had
proudly appeared on the banks of the Jumna only four

months before had disappeared, and the annihilation of his

power appeared inevitable, when every advantage was
thrown away by the fatal resolution of General Lake to

invest Bhurtpore. The town was eight miles in circum-

ference, surrounded by the invulnerable bulwark of a mud
wall of great height and thickness, protected by numerous
bastions and by a broad and deep ditch, filled with water,

and defended by 8,000 of the raja's troops and the rem-

nant of Holkar's infantry. General Lake turned a deaf

ear to all advice, and without a sufficient siege train, or an

engineer officer of any experience, without even making a

reconnaissance, commenced the siege with breathless im-

petuosity. Four consecutive attacks were made upon it

during fifteen weeks, which entailed the unprecedented
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loss of 3,200 in killed and wounded, of whom 103 were a.d.

ofl&cers. The siege was abandoned on the 21st April ; 1805

but the raja, who had severely felt the loss of all the

revenues of his districts and the exactions of Holkar,

sought an accommodation with the Government, and a
treaty was soon after concluded on condition of his con-

tributing twenty lacs of rupees in four instalments towards
the expenses of the war. But this issue of the campaign
did not cover the disgrace of our failure, the remembrance
of which was perpetuated even in the remote districts of

the Deccan by rude delineations of British soldiers hurled

from the battlements of Bhurtpore.

This pacification was hastened by the hostile attitude of

Sindia. By the treaty of Sirjee Anjengaum, he had agreed
to relinquish all claim on the rajas with whom
Lord Wellesley had concluded treaties. But, tudeof

when the list was presented to him four months ^^"<^'*'

after, he was exasperated to find the name of the rana of

Gohud included in it, and also the fort of Gwalior. He scouted

the idea of considering the rana, whose territories he had
absorbed twenty years before, as an independent prince, or

of making over to him the fortress of Gwalior, which he
valued not merely for its strength, but as a personal gift

from the emperor. General Wellesley affirmed that Sindia

had subscribed the treaty with the distinct understanding
that the fort and territory should remain with him, and it

was in ignorance of this agreement that Lord Wellesley

had resolved to consider Gohud as an independent princi-

pality. General Wellesley said, " that he would sacrifice

" it, and every other frontier town ten times over, to
" preserve our credit for good faith." Major Malcolm, the

envoy at Sindia' s court, was equally urgent, but Lord
Wellesley, who was entirely in the wrong, imperiously

persisted in his resolution, and Sindia was obliged to

submit, but the loss continued to rankle in his bosom.
The disastrous retreat of Colonel Monson and the

failure of the siege of Bhurtpore, produced a profound
sensation throughout Hindostan. The victors of confederacy
Assye had been chased by Holkar up to the against Go-

walls of Agra. The captors of Gwalior had ^«™'"^"^'-

been baffled before a mud fort in the plains, and an im-
pression was created that the Company's good fortune was
on the wane. A hostile confederacy was secretly formed,

which included Sindia, Holkar, Ameer Khan, and the

raja of Bhurtpore; and Sindia ventured to attack our allies

T 2
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A.D. and to invade Sangor. At the instance of his minister,
1305 Sirjee Rao, the encampment of Mr, Jenkins, the Resident,

was plundered, and he was placed under restraint. Sindia

moreover assembled an army of 40,000 men, and moved
on towards Bhurtpore, with the intention, he said, of

negotiating a peace between the raja and the British

Government. Lord Wellesley could not fail to feel acutely

the insult which such a proposal implied, but he and his

brother were anxious to avoid a rupture with Sindia at

this time. The morale of the army was low, and the

north-west frontier was defenceless. The Resident dis-

suaded Sindia from crossing the Chumbul towards Bhurt-

pore, assuring him that it would inevitably result in a war,

and advised him to return to his own capital ; but he said

his funds were exhausted, and General Wellesley assured

Lord Wellesley that he was really impo-rerished by his late

losses, and under the advice of the General an advance of

money was made to him from the treasury, on which he
retraced his steps to Subulgurh.

He was joined soon after by Ameer Khan and Holkar,

with about 3,000 of the cavalry which yet adhered to his

Movements standard. The confederates pressed Sindia for

of the con- money, but his exchequer was exhausted, and he
e eratis.

g^ye them permission to despoil his general,

Ambajee Anglia, who had amassed two crores in his

service, and Shirjee Rao, Sindia's father-in-law, extorted

fifty lacs of rupees from him by torture. The atrocities of

this miscreant constrained Sindia to discard him, and
Ambajee having been appointed in his stead, broke up the

alliance between his master and Holkar and Ameer Khan,
and the path was thus opened for an accommodation
with the British Government. Sindia had nothing to

expect, but everything to lose, by a struggle with the

Company, and he was sincerely desirous of the restoration

of concord. Lord Wellesley was equally anxious for the

re-establishment of a good understanding, that he might
reduce the burdens of the state. He had determined to

restore Gohud and Gwalior, as a matter of policy, and
another month or six weeks would have brought about an

Supersedure
amicable adjustment of all differences, and placed

of Lord the tranquillity of India on a solid basis ; but,
1805 Wellesley. ^^ ^^^ gQ^^ j^j^ ^^ ^^^ Superseded by the

arrival of Lord Comwallis, and his whole scheme of policy

was at once subverted.

The administration of Lord Wellesley is the most
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memorable in the annals of the Company. He found the a.d.

empire beset with perils in every quarter; he Bemnrkson ^^^^

bequeathed it to his successor in a state of com- his Edminis-

plete security, with the prestige of our power
*'"''*'°"-

higher than it had ever stood. He annihilated the French
force at Hyderabad, demolished the kingdom of Mysore,
and became master of the Deccan. He extinguished the

more formidable battalions of French troops in the employ
of Sindia, and turned his possessions in Hindostan into a
British province. He paralysed beyond redemption the

great Mahratta sovereigns ; he doubled the territories and
resources of the Company ; he exhibited a special genius
for creating and consolidating an empire, and he would
rank as the greatest of the Grovemors-General if he had not
been preceded by Warren Hastings aud followed by Lord
Dalhousie. He was resolved to quench those internecine

contests among the princes of India which, for a century
since the death of Aurungzebe, had turned its fairest pro-

vinces into a desert. He felt as his brother the Duke of

"Wellington, then General Wellesley, happily expressed it,

" that no permanent system of policy could be adopted to
'• protect the weak against the strong, and to keep the
" princes for any length of time in their relative positions,
" and the whole body in peace, without the establishment
" of one power which, by the superiority of its strength
" and its military system and resources, should obtain a
" preponderating influence for the protection of all." The
Company was to be this preponderating power, but the

Compa,ny was still a commercial body, with an instinctive

dread of military operations, which interrupted its invest-

ments and disturbed its balance-sheet. The mercantile

spirit was still in the ascendant in Leadenhall-street,

whereas Lord Wellesley maintained that " as long as the
" Company represented the sovereign executive authority
" in this vast empire, its duties of sovereignty must be
" paramount to mercantile interests." These antagonistic

views created a strong feeling of antipathy towards him at

the India House. Parliament, moreover, had thought fit

to interdict all increase of territory and all alliances with
native princes without the sanction of the Court of Directors,

and they hoped under the shadow of this injunction to

continue at peace with the native princes, and to pursue

their mercantile enterprises without any impediment. But,

in defiance of this rule, Lord Wellesley had been engaged in

wars from Cape Comorin to the Sutlej, had broken the power

I
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A.D. of prince after prince, and loaded the Company with the
1805 responsibility of governing one half and controlling the

other half of India. The vastness of his schemes, and the

audacity of his aspirations, confounded them ; and even
his friend Lord Castlereagh, the President of the Board of

Control, regarded with a feeling of anxiety the vast extent

of our dominion and our responsibilities. The announce-
ment of the war with Holkar, however inevitable, filled

up the measure of his delinquencies, and completed the

dismay of the India authorities in Leadenhall-street and
at the Board of Control ; and it was resolved to supersede

him, and " to bring back things to the state the legislature
" had prescribed in 1792;" in other words, to put the

political clock back a dozen years.

On the return of Lord Wellesley to England, an attempt
was made to subject him to an impeachment. A Mr.

Attempt at
P^^^l^ Originally a tailor, had gone out to India

impeach- as an adventurer, and having amassed a for-
™^" tune in the hot-house of corruption at Lucknow,
obtained a seat in Parliament, and brought articles of

charge against Lord Wellesley of high crimes and mis-

demeanours which were dropped on the dissolution ; and
Paull having failed to obtain a seat at the election, put a

period to his life. Lord Folkstone subsequently renewed
the charge, but the resolution of censure which he pro-

posed was negatived by 182 to 31. On the other hand,

the vindictive Court of Proprietors passed a vote of con-

demnation by 928 to 195. But thirty years later, when
truth had triumphed over passion and prejudice, the Court
of Directors took occasion, on the publication of his

despatches, to assure him by a unanimous resolution, " that
" in their judgment he had been animated throughout his
" administration by an ardent zeal to promote the well-

Appiause of
" ^^ing of India, and to uphold the interest and

the Court of " honour of the British empire ; and that they
irec rs. „ looked back to the eventful and brilliant period

" of his administration with feelings common to their
" countrymen." They voted him a grant of 20,000Z. and
ordered his statue to be placed in the India House as a

lecognition of his services.

1
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CHAPTER IX.

SECTION I.

LORD CORNWALLIS AND SIE G. BARLOW.

Lord Coenwallis was Mr. Pitt's invariable refuge in every
Indian difficulty. When the Company's possessions were
considered to be in danger from the proceedings t ^ ^
of Warren Hastings, Lord Cornwallis was sent wauis's brief

out to restore their security. When again, in
Jeath!'^*

1797, Sir John Shore's weakness had brought on
the mutiny of the officers which threatened the dissolution

of Government, he was entreated to go out, if only for a
year ; and now he was importuned a third time in 1805
to undertake the office of Governor-General, and save the

empire from the ruin with which it was supposed to be
threatened through Lord Wellesley's ambition. His con-

stitution was exhausted by thirty years of labour in

America, in India and in Ireland, but he would not refuse

what he considered the call of duty, and he landed at Cal-

cutta on the 30th June, with the finger of death visibly a.d.^

upon him. Within twenty-four hours Lord Wellesley had ^^^

the mortification to learn that his whole system of policy

was to be immediately demolished. Lord ComwalKs lost

no time in announcing that it was his object to restore the
native princes to a condition of " vigour, efficiency, and
" independent interest," and to remove the impression of

our design to establish British control over every Indian
power. He was resolved, in fact, to steer the vessel of the
state in 1805 by the ephemeris of 1793.

He immediately proceeded up the country by water, and
on the 19th September sent a despatch to Lord Lake de-

fining the policy he intended to pursue. He
^o ^ no

proposed to restore all Holkar's family domains waiiis's

when he manifested a reasonable disposition; Po"<^i'-

to give up Gohud and Gwalior to Sindia, and even to

waive the demand which had been made by Lord Wellesley

I



280 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. IX.

of the release of the Resident, Mr. Jenkins, whom
Sindia detained in honourable bondage, if it -was found to

be an obstacle to a reconciliation with that chief ; to abro-

gate the treaty with Jeypore ; to remove the emperor and
his family to some town near Calcutta, and to restore

Delhi to the Mahrattas ; to dissolve all the alliances con-

cluded with the princes north of the Chumbnl, and to

compensate them for the loss of our protection from the

territories we had acquired beyond the Jumna, which was
to be our future boundary. Before this letter could reach
Lord Lake, Lord Comwallis was in his grave. It was
dictated to his secretary at a time when he was in such
a state of mental and physical debiHty, that it may be
questioned whether he fully comprehended the scope and

His death
consequences of this abrupt and fundamental
change of policy. He was put on shore at Gha-

AD- zeepore, where he expired on the 5th October. He had
1805 jjQ^ ^jjQ genius of Hastings or of Lord Wellesley, and his

merits as a Governor-General have been over-rated, but
none of the rulers of British India have ever more richly

earned the esteem and confidence of Europeans and natives

by his sterling integrity, his straightforward and manly
character, and the spirit of justice and moderation which
regulated all his actions.

Sir George Barlow, the senior member of Council, suc-

ceeded temporarily to the oflBce of Governor-General. He
g. Q g had presided for many years over some of the

low and his most important offices in the state, in which he
v°^°y- had acquired a rich fund of experience. He had
been extolled for his official aptitude and ability by three

successive Governors-General, and though the ministry had
wisely resolved never again to place any local officer at

the head of the Government, they had yielded to the

recommendation of Lord Wellesley, and given him the

reversion of the highest office. But Sir George was simply

a first-rate civilian, eminently qualified for every subor-

dinate department, but destitute of that patrician dignity

and that elevation of mind which the management of the

empire required. While he continued under the influence

of Lord Wellesley's master spirit, he cordially adopted his

large and comprehensive policy, and became so closely

identified with it that he lost the prospect of succeeding

him when that policy was discarded at the India House.

This fact was communicated to him by Lord Cornwallis,

and may not have been without its influence in converting

him to the opposite line of policy, of which he now became
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the unflincliing advocate. He hastened to inform Lord a.d.

Lake that it was his intention to dissolve all our alliances 1 805

with the native princes, to relinquish all right to interfere

in their affairs, and to withdraw from all connection with
any state beyond the Jumna. Lord Wellesley proposed

to rest the security of our dominion on the establishment

of general tranquillity under our supremacy. Sir George
considered that our position would be equally secure if

the native states were allowed to tear one another to pieces,

and were thus deprived of all leisure to attack us. This

despicable policy was aptly described by Mr. Metcalfe, sub-

sequently Governor-General ad interivi, as " disgrace with-
" out compensation, treaties without security, and peace
" without tranquillity."

Sindia was as anxious to avoid a second collision with
the Government of Calcutta as the Governor-General him-
self, and an envoy was sent to the head-quarters peace with

of Lord Lake, then about to start in pursuit of sindia.

Holkar. A treaty was concluded on the 25th December, i805
by which Gohud and Gwalior were restored to him, and it

was stipulated that the Chumbul should be the boundary
of the two states, and that the British Government should

enter into no treaties with the rajas of Oodypore, Joudpore,
and other chiefs whom he claimed as his feudatories.

Northern India swarmed with military adventurers, con-

sisting of the fragments of the armies disbanded by Sindia

and the raja of Nagpore, and of the irregulars whom our
Government had dismissed ; hence Holkar, notwithstanding
his reverses, was able to collect a body of 12,000 horse and
3,000 foot, whom it was important to disperse. Lord Lake
set off in pursuit of him at the head of his cavalry and
light infantry, and a British army was, for the first time,

conducted to the banks of the Sutlej by the general who
had been the first to camp on the Jumna. On crossing

the Sutlej Lord Lake was brought into communication
with Runjeet Sing, the young chieftain of twenty-four, then
employed in laying the foundation of a new kingdom in

the Punjab ; and on the banks of the Beyas (the ancient

Hydaspes) concluded a treaty with him by which he en-

gaged to afford no further assistance to Holkar, and to

oblige him to evacuate the Punjab forthwith. Holkar,
now a helpless fugitive, was pursued to the holy city of

Umritsir, and sent an envoy humbly to sue for peace,

which he was ready to accept on any terms.

Under the positive instructions of Sir George Barlow,

I
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A.D. the draft of a treaty was presented to him which provided
^^^^

Dissracefni
^^^ ^^^ Complete reinstatement in power, the

treaty with restoration of all the territories which had be-
Hoikar. longed to his family, and the relinquishment of

all interference with the chiefs whom he claimed as his

dependents. He was required to relinquish all right to

Rampoora, and all claim on Boondee, to entertain no
Europeans in his service, to return to Hindostan by a
prescribed route, and to abstain from injuring the terri-

tories of the Company or their allies. To Holkar, whose
fortunes were now desperate, these proposals appeared like

a godsend, but their incredible leniency convinced him
that they could only be dictated by fear, and his envoy
returned with a demand for eighteen additional districts in

Hindostan, and liberty to levy contributions on Jeypore,

both of which were peremptorily refused. Fresh difficul-

ties were started by his envoys, till Lord Lake threatened
to recommence the pursuit, when the ratified treaty was
at once produced. But Sir George Barlow was displeased

with the terms of the treaty both with Sindia and Holkar.
He considered that to fix the Mahratta boundary on the
banks of the Chumbul, might imply a pledge to protect

the princes beyond it from their rapacity ; and he there-

fore added declaratory articles withdrawing British pro-

tection from every state to the west of the Jumna. Ram-
poora was voluntarily surrendered to him, and he fired a
royal salute on the occasion, declaring at the same time
that " the English were great rascals, and never to be
" trusted." The raja of Boondee had the strongest claims

on the gratitude of the Company as a constant and faithful

ally, and as having two years before affi)rded shelter and
aid to Colonel Monson in his retreat, in spite of the

menaces of Holkar. Lord Lake made a strenuous effort to

save him, but Sir George was deaf to every remonstrance,

and cancelled the article in the treaty which protected

him from the rapacity and revenge of Holkar.

The course pursued toward Jeypore was yet more dis-

graceful. The raja was the first to accede to Lord

The raja of Wellesley's system of subsidiary alliances, but he
Jeypore. wavered in his fidelity when Colonel Monson was
flying before Holkar, and Lord Wellesley informed Lord
Comwallis that this defection had cancelled his claim to

our alliance. In the following year Holkar entered his

territories and claimed his assistance against the Company,
but Lord Lake assured him that the boon of our protection
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would be restored to him if he resisted the advances of a.d.

that chief, and in this hope he afforded cordial and eflBcient 1806

aid to our detachments proceeding in pursuit of him.

Lord Com-wallis, who was the soul of honour, said that

any promise Lord Lake had given to the raja should be

held sacred. Sir George Barlow, however, refused to ac-

knowledge any such obligation, and as Holkar entered the

Jeypore territory, bent on plunder and revenge, informed

him that the protection of Government was withdrawn for

the breach of his engagement during Colonel Monson's
retreat. Lord Lake, indignant at the contempt with which
his expostulations were treated and the degradation of the

national character, threw up all his political functions.

Holkar was bound by the treaty to return to Hindostan
by a prescribed route, and to abstain from all aggression

on the territories of the Company or their allies. Aggression

But to save the field allowances Sir George of Holkar.

Barlow directed Lord Lake to hasten out of the Punjab
;

and Holkar no sooner found him across the Sutlej than
he let loose his predatory bands on the districts of the

Punjab ; nor was there any article of the treaty which he
did not violate with audacity. He halted for a month in

the Jeypore territory, and, seeing the British support with-

drawn from the raja, extorted eighteen lacs of rupees from
him, and then marched down to wreak his vengeance on
Boondee. This disastrous termination of the Mahratta
war sowed the seeds of a more momentous contest. The
wisdom of Lord Wellesley's policy was amply vindicated

by the twelve years of anarchy which followed the sub-

version of it ; while the adoption of a neutral policy and ot

a system of isolation fostered the growth of a new pre-

datoiy power, which it eventually required an army of

100,000 men to extinguish.

It was not long before the evils of this policy of non-
interference became visible. The rana of Oodypore was
regarded as the "sun of Hindoo glory," and an Desolation of

alliance with his family as the sunamit of social Kajpootana.

distinction. The beautiful daughter of the reigning prince

had been betrothed to the raja of Joudpore, and on his

premature death was claimed by his successor ; but her
hand was given to the raja of Jeypore. The rivals

appealed to arms, and 100,000 men, consisting not only of

Rajpoots, but of Sindia's Mahrattas and Ameer Khan's
Patau s, were brought into the field. In February 1807
the raja of Joudpore sustained a crushing defeat, but soon

I
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A.D. after succeeded in detaching Ameer Khan from his ally,

1807 the raja of Jeypore, by the promise of half a crore of

rupees, and the plains of Jeypore were laid waste by him.
The rana of Oodypore, who had taken no part in the war
of which his daughter was the innocent cause, was not-

withstanding subjected to plunder by Sindia and Ameer
Khan, and in his extremity supplicated the Governor-
General for protection, offering to make over half his terri-

tories for the defence of the remainder. Eajpootana was
bleeding at every pore, and its princes, the rajas of Joudpore
and Jeypore, the rana of Oodypore as well as Zalim Sing,

the renowned regent of Kotah, invoked the aid of British

authority, and represented that there had always been in

1807 India some supreme power to which the weak looked for

protection from the ambition and rapacity of the powerful.

The Company, they said, had now succeeded to this

position, and were bound to fulfil the responsibilities

attached to it. The Mahrattas and the Patans, who were
now spreading desolation through the country, could offer

no resistance to the British arms, and the Governor-General
had only to speak the word, and peace and tranquilhty

would be restored. But any such interference was contrary

to the prevailing policy of the India House ; the request of

the rana of Oodypore was refused, and he was obliged to

come to a compromise with Ameer Khan and assign him a
fourth of his dominions to preserve the rest from rapine,

and likewise to submit to the indignity of exchanging
turbans with the Patan freebooter.

The great blot in Sir George Barlow's administration

was the abandonment of Rajpootana, but he earned no

H d bad
'^^^^^ Credit for the resolution with which he
maintained the peace of the Deccan. Meer Alum,

the able minister of the Nizam, had become obnoxious to

his master by his steady support of the British alliance,

and was obliged to take refuge at the Residency to escape

assassination. The Nizam then proceeded to open nego-

tiations with Sindia and Ameer Khan, and to assemble

troops with the undisguised intention of dissolving all

connection with the Company's Government. Sir George
1806 Barlow "felt that the dissolution of the alliance would

" subvert the very foundation of British power and ascend-
" ency in the political scale in India. The position we
" abandoned at Hyderabad would be immediately occupied
" by our enemies, and the result would be universal
" turbulence and distrust." On this occasion therefore he
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did not hesitate to discard the principle of neutrality, a.d.

and to order the Nizam to restore Meer Alum to his post, 1806

and submit to a more direct interference of the Resident
in the management of his affairs. Equally meritorious

were his proceedings at Poona. The Court of
^j^ p .

Directors considered the treaty of Bassein the

source of multiplied embarrassments, and were desirous of

withdrawing from Mahratta politics, and allowing the

Peshwa to resume his position as the head of the Mahratta
commonwealth. Sir George resisted with energy every

effort to modify the treaty, and had the courage to state to

his masters that, while he desired to manifest every attention

to their wishes, there was a higher obligation imposed on
him, that of maintaining the supremacy of British rule,

which would be compromised by any deviation from the

poHcy established by Lord Wellesley at Poona.
The state of the finances demanded the early attention

of Sir George. The pecuniary difficulties of the Company
had always arisen from the wars in which they
had been involved. There was no elasticity in a
revenue derived almost exclusively from the land, and any
extraordinary demand on the treasury could only be met
by having recourse to loans. With the return of peace
and the alleviation of the military pressure, the finances,

with one exception, had recovered their spring. The
extensive military operations of Lord Wellesley had aug-
mented the public debt and brought on one of the inter-

mittent fevers of alarm at the India House. It was over-

looked that our wars in India had generally terminated in

an accession of territory and revenue which speedily over-

balanced the encumbrance they had entailed. Thus, in

Lord Wellesley 's administration the increase of the debt
amounted to about eight crores and a half of rupees, and
the permanent increase of revenue to about seven crores.

By the cessation of war and the reduction of the regiments
of irregulars, the deficit which had appalled Leadenhall-
street was converted into a surplus, which, with little

fluctuation, remained steady for twenty years.

In the month of July the Government was astounded 1806

by the massacre of European officers and soldiers by the
native sepoys in the fort of Vellore. It was situ- The veiiore

ated eighty-eight miles west of Madras, and only mutiny.

forty from the frontier of Mysore, had been selected, con-
trary to the wise judgment of the Court of Directors, for

the residence of Tippoo's family, and it was speedily filled

I
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A.D. with 1,800 of their adherents and 3,000 emigrants from
1806 Mysore. The European troops in the garrison consisted of

about 370 men, and the sepoys numbered about 1,500,
many of whom were Mahomedans who had been in the
service of Tippoo. At 3 o'clock in the morning of the 10th
July the sepoys suddenly assaulted the European barracks,

and poured in volley after volley through the Venetian blinds,

till eighty of the soldiers had been killed and ninety-one

wounded. They then proceeded to the residence of the

officers, of whom thirteen fell victims to their treachery.

During the massacre an active communication was kept
up between the mutineers and the palace of the Mysore
princes, many of whose followers were conspicuous in the

scene. Provisions were also sent out to the sepoys, and
the royal ensign of Mysore was hoisted amidst the shouts

of the crowd. The remaining Europeans held their posi-

tion till they were rescued by the gallantry of Colonel

Gillespie, who was in garrison at Arcot, eight miles distant,

and who, on hearing of the outbreak, started without a mo-
ment's delay with a portion of the 19th Dragoons and
his galloper guns, and arrived in time to rescue the

survivors.

The searching investigation which was made revealed

the cause of the mutiny. The new Commander-in-Chief,

Cause of the Sir John Cradock, soon after his arrival ob-
mutiny. tained permission of the governor, Lord William
Bentinck, to codify the military regulations, bat upon the

express condition that no rules should be added without
the permission of Grovernment. Unknown to the governor,

the adjutant-general took on himself to introduce several

innovations which interfered with the religious prejudices of

the sepoys. But that which gave them peculiar offence

was the new form prescribed for the turban, which bore
some resemblance to a European hat, an object of general

antipathy to the natives. A report was industriously

spread through their ranks by the Mahomedans, who led

the hostile movement, that the new turban was the pre-

cursor of an attempt to force them to become Christians

;

and the panic-stricken and exasperated sepoys were thus

stirred up to mutiny and massacre. The Court of Directors

were overwhelmed by the news of this catastrophe, and
in that wild and vindictive spirit which terror inspires,

instantly recalled the governor and the Commander-in-
Chief before a single line of explanation had been received

from either. Lord William Bentinck remonstrated against
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the gross injustice of punishing him as an accomplice in a.d.

measures with which he had no farther connection than to 1806

obviate their evil consequences. The Court, in their reply,

bore testimony to his uprightness, disinterestedness, zeal

and respect for the system of the Company, but also

remarked that, " as the misfortune which happened under
" his administration placed his fate under the government
" of public events and opinions which the Court could not
" control, so it was not in their power to alter the effect of
" them."
Of the panic created by the mutiny at the Council board

in Calcutta, the unoffending missionaries were made the

victims. In 1793, Mr. Carey had proceeded to
^^^

Bengal to establish a Christian Mission, and gation of

laboured with much zeal but little success for c^^ris^^nity-

seven years in the Malda district. In 1799, Mr. Marshman
and Mr. Ward proceeded to join him, and, being without a
licence, were ordered to quit the country the day after

their arrival, but obtained an asylum at the Danish settle-

ment of Serampore and were taken under the protection

of the Danish crown. There they were ioined by Mr. a.d.

Carey, and established a fraternity which, under the ^''""

designation of the " Serampore Missionaries," has attained ,gQg
historical distinction as that of the pioneers of Christian

civilisation in Hindostan. They opened the first schools

for the gratuitous instruction of native children ; they set

up printing-presses and prepared founts of type in the

various Indian characters ; they compiled grammars of

the Bengalee, Sanscrit and other languages, into which
they translated the Sacred Scriptures. They gave their

chief attention to the cultivation and improvement of the
Bengalee language, and published the first prose works
which had appeared in it, and laid the foundation of that

vernacular literature which has since obtained a large

development. They, and the converts who had joined
them, were tacitly permitted to itinerate in the districts of
Bengal, and met with considerable success in the propaga-
tion of Christianity. But missionary efforts had always
been viewed with mistrust by the Court of Directors and
by their servants in India, on the ground that they might
disturb the prejudices of the natives and create disaffection.

The mutiny at Vellore was hastily ascribed to an inter-

ference with the religious prejudices of the Madras sepoys,

and Sir George Barlow, under the influence of alarm,
considered it necessary peremptorily to interdict the
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A.D. labours of the Serampore Missionaries, The Vellore panic
1806 gradually died out, and the restrictions imposed on them

were allowed to fall into abeyance.

The Court of Du-ectors had always been anxious to have
the highest office in India left open to their own servants,

„ . and the great zeal which Sir George Barlow
8111)6X86851011 ^

.
^

of Sir George had manifested in carrying out their non-inter-
Bariow. vcntiou policy recommended him to them as the

permanent successor of Lord ComwalHs. The death of

Mr. Pitt and the dissolution of his ministry introduced the

Whigs to Downing-street, and within twenty-four hours of

their accession to power they were called upon to make pro-

vision for the Governor-Generalship. The President of the

Board of Control, new to office, agreed as a temporary
measure to the nomination of the Court, and Sir George
Barlow's commission was made out and signed ; but ten

days after the ministry announced that they had selected

Lord Lauderdale for the office. The Court of Directors

strenuously resisted the appointment, not only as an
abrupt and contemptuous rejection of their nominee, but
likewise on personal grounds. His ostentatious admira-
tion of the French revolution, which led him to drop his

aristocratic title, might have been forgiven; bat he had
rendered himself obnoxious to them by his advocacy of

Fox's India Bill, and, more recently, by his support of

Lord Wellesley's free-trade policy. The Directors refused

to sanction the appointment, and the ministry retaliated

by cancelling the nomination of Sir George Barlow. The
controversy between them was carried on for many weeks
with great acrimony, but was at length terminated by the

nomination of Lord Minto, the President of the Board of

ControL

SECTION IL

LOED MINTO'S ADMINISTRATION—FOREIGN EMBASSIES.

A.D. Lord Minto had been engaged for many years in the
1807 administration of public affiiirs. As Sir Gilbert Elliot he

was one of the managers nominated by the

governor- House of Commons to conduct the impeachment
general. ^f Warren Hastings, and the prosecution of Sir

Elijah Impey was committed to his especial charge. He
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was subsequently minister plenipotentiary at Vienna, and a.d.

had been for twelve months President of the Board of ^^^^

Control, where he obtained an insight into the machinery
and character of the Indian Government. He was an
accomplished scholar, a statesman of clear perceptions and
sound judgment ; mild and moderate in his views, yet

without any deficiency of firmness, and distinguished

above his predecessors for his singular urbanity. He was
accepted by the Directors with the understanding that he
should eschew the policy of Lord Wellesley, and tread in

the footsteps of Lord Cornwallis and Sir George Barlow.

His first act in India was an act of clemency. On his

arrival at Madras he found 600 of the Vellore mutineers
awaiting their sentence. The Supreme Government had
sentenced them to transportation beyond sea, a punishment
equivalent to death, but Lord Minto adopted the more
lenient course of expelling them from the service, and
declaring them incapable of re-enlistment.

On reaching Calcutta, his attention was immediately
called to the state of anarchy into which the feeble policy

of his predecessor had plunged the province of Anarchy in

Bundlecund. The country was overrun by Bundiecund.

military adventurers who lived only by plunder, and 150
castles were held by as many chieftains who were per-

petually at feud with each other. The inhabitants, a bold

and independent race, were, moreover, disgusted with the

stringency of the judicial and revenue systems we had
introduced, and deserted their villages, and too often

joined the banditti with which the country swarmed. The
two strongest forts in the province, Callinger and Ajygurh,
were held by chiefs who bid defiance to the British Go-
vernment. Lord Lake considered the possession of these

fortresses essential to the tranquillity of the country, and
urged Sir George Barlow to reduce them, but he con-

sidered that " a certain extent of dominion, power and
" revenue would be cheaply sacrificed for security and
" tranquillity in a more contracted circle." The sacrifice

was made, but the security was farther ofi* than ever.

The two chiefs who had seized the forts, together with
some of the most notorious leaders of banditti, received a
legal title to the lands they had usurped, with permission
to settle their quarrels among themselves by the sword.

Within five weeks after Lord Minto had assumed the
Government he recorded his opinion that " it was essential
" not only to the preservation of political influence over
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A-B. " the chiefs of Bundlecund, but to the dignity and repu-
^^^' _. " tation of the British Government, to interfere

viGTorous
policy of "for the suppression of intestine disorder."
LordMinto. rp|^g simple announcement that the British

Government was determined to enforce its full authority

through the province was found sufficient to induce the

numerous chiefs to make their submission, and to engage
to refer every dispute to its decision. The renowned
fortress of Callinger, which had baffled aU the efforts of

Mahmood of Ghuzni eight centuries before, and which the

Peshwa's general had recently besieged two years without

success, was surrendered after an arduous struggle. The
fortress of Ajygurh was likewise mastered, and peace and
prosperity were restored to Bundlecund.
The difficulty of maintaining the principle of non-

interference was again demonstrated before Lord Minto

Career of
^^^ been a year in India, in reference to the

Ennjeet proceedings of Runjeet Sing, whose career now
^' claims attention. On the retirement of the

Abdalee after the battle of Paniput, the Punjab became the

scene of confusion, and the semi-military, semi-religious

community of the Sikhs was enabled to enlarge and con-

solidate its power. It was divided into fraternities or

misils, the chief of each of which was the leader in the

field and the umpire in time of peace. Churrut Sing, the

head of one of them, commenced a series of encroachments
on his neighbours, and his son Maha Sing pursued the

1792 same course of ambition. He died in 1792, leaving an
only son, Runjeet Sing, who at the early age of seventeen

commenced that career of conquest which resulted even-

tually in the establishment of a power as great as that of

Sevajee or Hyder AH.
Runjeet obtained possession of the city of Lahore, the

ancient seat of authority in the Punjab, and succeeded in

His en-
absorbing the various Sikh misils. By the year

1806 croachments 1806 his dominions were extended to the banks
va sirhind.

^^ ^^^ Sutlej, and he cast a wishful eye on the

province of Sirhind, lying beyond that river, and occupied
by about twenty independent Sikh chieftains. They had
been obliged to bend to the authority of Sindia when
General Perron established his power over the province,

and on the extinction of Mahratta rule in that region

transferred their allegiance to the British Government,
and considered themselves subject to the sovereignty of

the Company, and entitled to its protection. Runjeet
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Sing proceeded with his nsual caution, and by inducing a.d.

one or two of the chiefs to invite his intervention for the 1807

settlement of their differences, obtained a pretext for enter-

ing Sirhind with an army. On his return from one of

these expeditions in 1807, he levied contributions indis-

criminately in every direction, seized upon forts and lands

and carried off all the cannon which he could lay his

hands upon.

These repeated inroads filled the Sikh chieftains with 1808

alarm, and in March, 1808, a deputation proceeded to

Delhi to implore the protection of the British » ^^j^^

Government, whose vassals the envoys stated theSikh

they had always considered themselves since the v^ment?"
downfall of Sindia's power, Runjeet was anxious

to discover the views of the Governor-General in reference

to this appeal, and addressed a letter to him expressing his

wish to cultivate friendly relations with the Company, and
adding, " the country on this side the Jumna—except the
" stations occupied by you—is mine ; let it remain so."

This bold demand of the province of Sirhind brought up
the important question whether an energetic and ambitious

chieftain, who had in ten years erected a large kingdom
upon the ruin of a dozen princes, should be allowed to

plant his army, composed of the finest soldiers in India,

within a few miles of our frontier, and Lord Minto boldly

assumed the responsibility of taking the Sikh states of

Sirhind under British protection, and shutting up Runjeet
Sing in the Punjab.

The treaty of Tilsit, concluded in 1807 between the

emperor of Russia and Napoleon, was supposed to include

certain secret articles intended to afford facilities Mission to

for the invasion of India by the French. It was Lahore.

determined, therefore, by the ministry to anticipate the

designs of the French emperor, and to block up his path
by forming defensive alliances with the rulers of the inter-

mediate kingdoms of Persia, Afghanistan, and the Punjab.
The most difficult of these negotiations, that with Runjeet
Sing, was entrusted by Lord Minto to Mr. Metcalfe, a
young civilian of high promise, who had been trained up
in the school, and, indeed, under the eye of Lord Wellesley.

He was sent to Lahore to accomplish two objects which
appeared mutually irreconcilable—to frustrate Runjeet
Sing's passionate desire of annexing the province of

Sirhind, and to obtain his co-operation to prevent the
entrance of a French army into our territories. Mr.

t;2
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A.D. Metcalfe was treated with feelings of suspicion and hostility,

and when he was at length permitted to propound the

object of his mission was given to understand that, although
Runjeet Sing did not object to the proposed treaty, in

which, however, he had less interest than the Company,
it must recognise his sovereignty over all the Sikh states

beyond the Sutlej. Mr. Metcalfe replied that he had no
instructions to make this concession ; but while the nego-
tiation was in progress, Runjeet Sing broke up his camp
at Kussoor, crossed the Sutlej a third time, and for three

months swept through the province, plundering the various

chiefs, and compelling them to acknowledge his authority.

Lord Minto resolved to lose no time in arresting his

Eunjeet progress, and, if necessaiy, to have recourse to

ordered to arms. Napoleon, moreover, had begun to be en-
^^ "^^'

tangled in the affairs of Spain, and all idea of

invading India, even if it had ever been seriously enter-

tained, was abandoned. Having, therefore, no longer any-
thing to ask of Runjeet Sing, Lord Minto was enabled to

assume a bolder tone, and to resolve on making a military

demonstration. The Commander-in-Chief was directed

to hold a force in readiness to advance to the banks of the

Sutlej, and a letter was addressed to the Sikh ruler

informing him that by the issue of the war with the

Mahrattas the Company had succeeded to the power and
the rights they had exercised in the north of Hindostan.

The Sikh states in Sirhind were now under British pro-

tection, and the Maharaja must withdraw from the districts

of which he had taken possession in his late raid, and con-

fine his future operations to the right bank of the Sutlej.

Runjeet Sing, on his return from the expedition across the

river, hastened to Umritsur to exchange the toils of the

field for the enjoyments of the harem. Like Hyder AH, he

was the slave of sensual indulgence when not absorbed in

the excitement of war. On the evening of his arrival Mr.
Metcalfe waited on him to present the Governor- General's
letter, but he exclaimed that the evening was to be devoted

to mirth and pleasure, and called for the dancing-girls, and
then for the strong potations to which he was accustomed,

and before midnight was reduced to a state of unconscious-

ness.

1808 The letter delivered by Mr. Metcalfe remained for several

weeks unnoticed, and on the 22nd December he demanded
an audience of Runjeet Sing, and announced that a British

army was about to take the field, and would sweep his
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garrisons from Sirhind. He bore the communication for

some time with composure, but unable at length to control

his feelings, rushed out of the room, vaulted into the

saddle, and galloped about the courtyard with frantic

vehemence, while his ministers continued the discussion

with Mr. Metcalfe. Two months were again wasted in

studied delays and constant postponement, but Rnnjeet

Mr. Metcalfe continued with unflinching firmness Pipe's snb-

to insist on the complete evacuation of Sirhind.
""'^^^ ^'

Rnnjeet Sing was constrained to submit, and on the 25th a.t>.

April afiixed his seal to a treaty which provided that the ^^^^

British Government should not interfere with his territory

or subjects, and that he should abstain from any con-

nection with the states under British protection. The
treaty consisted of fifteen lines, and is one of the shortest

on record. In the range of our Indian history there are

few incidents of more romantic interest than the arrest of

this haughty prince in the full career of success by a youth
of twenty-four. On the retirement of the British army a
garrison was left at Loodiana, which became our frontier

station in the north-west, and the British ensign which
Lord Wellesley had planted on the Jumna was six years

after erected on the Sutlej by Lord Minto.

The embassy to Cabul was fitted out on a scale of mag- 1808

nificence intended to impress the Afghan court with an
idea of the power and grandeur of the present Embassy to

rulers of India, and was entrusted to Mr. Mount Cabui.

Stuart Elphinstone, one of Lord Wellesley's school of

statesmen. The sovereign of Afghanistan, Shah Soojah,

the brother of Zeman Shah who invaded India in the days
of Lord Wellesley, gave the mission a cordial reception,

but his cabinet did not fail to remark that its object

appeared to be more in the interests of the Company than
of Afghanistan. They said they had nothing to apprehend
from the French, and were desirous of ascerta,ining what
offers they were prepared to make before a definite reply
was given. While the negotiation was in progress, the

expedition which Shah Soojah had imprudently sent to

subjugate Cashmere was completely defeated. His rival

brother had obtained possession of Cabul and Candahar,
and was advancing on Peshawur. Shah Soojah, whose army
was annihilated and whose treasury was empty, earnestly

solicited pecuniary aid from the Government of India, and
Mr. Elphinstone advised a grant of ten lacs of rupees, which
would have enabled him to recruit his force and regain hia
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power ; and it might possibly have saved the Government
the many crores of rupees spent thirty years after to reseat

him on the throne. But the dread of a French invasion

had died out, and it v?as no longer considered necessary to

conciliate the ruler who held the gate of India, as Cabul

was then deemed. The request Avas refused; Shah Soojah

A.D. was defeated by his brother and fled to India and became
1810 a pensioner on the Company's bounty.

The third mission to counteract the designs of the French
was sent to Persia. The king had wantonly involved

Affairs of himself in a war with Russia and lost some of his
Persia. most valuable provinces. He applied for aid to

the emperor Napoleon, who sent General Gardanne as his

representative to Teheran, with a large military staflF and a

body of engineers to make surveys, and military officers to

discipline the Persian troops. A treaty was concluded

which provided that a French army marching through
Persia should be furnished with supplies and joined by a

Persian force ; that the island of Karrack, in the Persian

gulf, thirty-three miles from Bushire, should be ceded to

France, and that all Englishmen should be excluded from
the country, if the emperor desired it. The British ministry,

who considered the French embassy the precursor of a

French army, were determined to counteract these hostile

movements by sending an ambassador to the Court, and
Lord Minto and General Wellesley united in recommending

English ^^^^ Colonel Malcolm, who was eminently quali-

embassy to fied for the duty by his skill in oriental diplomacy
^ "'*°* and languages, and by the popularity he had

acquired in his first embassy, should be again sent from
Calcutta ; but the ministry considered that a representative

of the Crown would be likely to carry more weight than an
envoy from the Company, and they selected Sir Harford
Jones, who had been consul at Bushire, for the office, and

1808 he landed at Bombay in April. But Lord Minto, on his

arrival in Calcutta, was resolved to despatch Colonel

Malcolm as the representative of the Government of India,

and Sir Harford Jones was desired to tarry at Bombay till

the result of his mission was known. On reaching Persia

Colonel Malcolm, overlooking the paramount influence the

French minister had acquired at the Court, assumed a
dictatorial tone, and was forbidden to advance farther than
Sheraz, where he was desired to place himself in commu-
nication with the king's son. Colonel Malcolm took

umbrage at this proceeding, abandoned the mission, and,



Sect. II.] EMBASSY TO PERSIA 295

returning to the coast, embarked with his suite for Calcutta.

Sir Harford Jones was then directed by Lord Minto to

proceed with his mission.

Ten days after this order had been despatched, Colonel

Malcolm arrived in Calcutta, breathing vengeance against

the Persian court, and persuaded Lord Minto
g„cces3of

that the only effectual mode of counteracting the sir Harford
jg^g

influence of the French was to make a military
"^^^^^^

demonstration, and arrangements were made forthwith to

despatch an armament to occupy the island of Karrack.

Repeated and peremptory orders were likewise sent to Sir

Harford Jones to quit Persia, under the threat of disavow,

ing his mission and dishonouring his bills ; but before they
could reach him he had accomplished his object and
concluded a treaty with the king. The French embassy
was dismissed, and the Persian envoy at Paris recalled.

Lord Minto felt that Sir Harford had been fully accre-

dited by the Crown, and that the national faith was
pledged to his engagements, and he accordingly ratified

the treaty. He felt, however, that the rank and estima-

tion of the Government of India had been compromised in

the eyes of Asia by the mission from the Crown, and he
considered it among the first of his duties "to transmit to
" his successor unimpaired the powers, prerogatives and
" dignities of the Indian empire in its relations to sur-
" rounding nations as entire and unsullied as they were
" committed to his hands."
Another embassy was imprudently fitted out in the most

costly style, to eclipse the mission of the Crown, and en-

trusted to Colonel Malcolm, in order that " he „
j j, j, ,

" might lift the Company's Government to its coim'sse-

" own height and to the station which belonged b^^yf™"
" to ifc." He was welcomed by the king and
courtiers with great cordiality, but in the royal presence 1809

stood the ambassador of the Crown, " whose face the
" Indian Government had spared no pains to blacken in
" the eyes of the Persian court." There was every pros-

pect of an unseemly and dangerous collision. The Persian
courtiers, finding two rival envoys contending for their

favours, were preparing to play ofi" the one against the other,

in the hope of a golden shower of presents. But the good
sense of Sir Harford and of the colonel smoothed down
asperities and defeated the intrigues and cupidity of the

court, and the English ministry soon after recalled both
envoys, and appointed Sir Gore Ouseley minister from
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the King of England to the Shah of Persia. The cost of

Colonel Malcolm's mission was twenty-two lacs, and that

of Sir Harford Jones, which was also saddled on the Com-
pany, did not fall short of sixteen lacs.

SECTION III.

LORD MINTO'S ADMINISTRATION—AMEER KHAN—MUTINY
OF THE MADRAS OFFICERS.

A.D. Within four months of the signature of the treaty with
1809 Runjeet Sing another occasion arose to test the possibility

Am Khan
°^ maintaining the policy of neutrality. The free-

andNag- booter Ameer Klhan, having within ten years
P**""®* created a principality which yielded a revenue
of fifteen lacs of rupees a year, was recognised as the

head of the Patans in Central India, and aspired to the

rank of a prince. His army, however, was too large for

his resources, and, after having drained Rajpootana, he
was obliged to seek for plunder in a more distant sphere,

and selected Nagpore for his next operations. Under
pretence of asserting certain fictitious claims of Holkar on
the raja, he poured down across the Nerbudda with 40,000
horse and 24,000 Pindarees. The raja was simply an ally

of the Company, and had no claim to their protection ; but

Lord Minto did not hesitate to affirm that " an interfering
" and ambitious Mussulman chief at the head of a numerous
" army should not be allowed to establish his authority on
" the ruins of the raja's dominions over territories con-
" tiguous to those of the Nizam—likewise a Mahomedan

—

" with whom projects might be formed inimical to our
" interests."

The raja had not solicited our assistance, but two armies

were ordered into the field to protect his territories. The

^^, Nagpore general, however, twice succeeded in

repulsed repulsing Ameer Klian, but he returned a third

c^hed. time and blockaded the raja's army in Chaura-
gurh, while his Pindarees desolated the country.

The British divisions were now closing upon him, and
Colonel Close took possession of his capital and his terri-

tories, and the extinction of his power appeared inevitable,

when the troops were unexpectedly recalled, from the

apprehension felt by Lord Minto that the further prosecu-

tion of hostilities might lead to complications displeasing
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to the Court of Directors. He was allowed to recruit his *-^'-

strength, and Central India was left for seven years more at

his mercy. But the tide appeared to be turning at tjie India

House against this neutral policy, and the Directors not only

questioned the wisdom of the moderation Lord Minto had
exercised towards him, but went so far as to advise the con-

clusion of a subsidiary alliance with the raja of Ifagpore.

Sir George Barlow was appointed to succeed LordWilliam
Bentinck at Madras. During the twenty months he had
filled the office of Governor-G-eneral he had

gj o j.

alienated society by his cold and repulsive Bariowat

manners, and the absence of all genial feeling in ^'^'^^'^s.

the intercourse of life. He was never able to obtain that

personal influence which is essential to the successful

administration of public affairs, more particularly in India.

The submission he exacted to his will, which in Lord
Wellesley was regarded as the natural absolutism of a

great mind, was in him resented as the vulgar despotism

of power. At Madras he became unpopular by his arbi-

trary and unjust proceedings, as well as by the lofty

assumption of official dignity, and by isolating himself in

a small coterie of officials and confidants. But it was the

mutiny of the army which fixed a lasting stain on his

administration.

This was the third time in the course of half a century
that the Company's Government had been shaken to its

foundation by the insubordination of their Euro- -,
.^^ ^

pean officers. The invidious distinction between European

the pay of officers in Bengal and Madras, and °^°^^^-

the monopoly of all posts of command by the officers

of the royal army, had created a feeling of discontent
among the officers of the Madras army, which was un-
happily fomented by the bearing of the Commander-in-
Chief, Major-General Macdowall. The Court of Directors
had refused him the seat in Council, which, with its liberal

allowances, had always been attached to his office, and he
did not care to conceal the exasperation of his feelings from
the officers under him.

Since the conclusion of the war in 1805, the Court of
Directors had been importunate for retrenchments, and
had threatened " to take the pruning knife into
" their own hands " if they found any hesitation the tent

on the part of the Madras Government. Among co'itract.

the plans of economy which had been contemplated by
Lord William Bentinck and Sir John Cradock was the

1

L
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*D- abolition of the tent contract, which had sfiven the officers
^°"^ commanding regiments a fixed monthly allowance to

provide the men with tent equipage, whether in the field

or in cantonments. The Quartermaster-General was
ordered by the governor in Council to report on the

question, and he stated that the nature of the contract was
found by experience to place the interests of the com-
manding officers in opposition to their duty. They took

fire at this remark, and called on the Commander-in-Chief
to bring him to a court>martial for having aspersed their

characters as officers and gentlemen. The Quai-termaster-

General was placed under arrest, and appealed to the

governor, and the Commander-in-Chief was directed to

release him. Bat, while yielding to this authority, he
issued a general order of extraordinary virulence, protest-

ing against the interference of Government and denoun-
cing the conduct of the Quartermaster in having resorted

to the civil power in defiance of the officer at the head of

the army. Sir George Barlow, instead of treating the

order with contempt as an ebullition of passion on the

part of the general, who was on the eve of quitting the

service, issued a counter order equally intemperate, charg-

ing him with inflammatory language. Major Bowles, the

Deputy Adjutant-General, who had signed the order

officially, was suspended ; his cause was immediately taken

up as that of a martyr ; addresses commending his conduct
poured in upon him, and subscriptions were raised to com-
pensate the loss of his allowances.

Three months passed after the departure of the Com-
mander-in-Chief, who was lost at sea, and the ferment had

General begun to Subside, when Sir George Barlow blew
mutiny. the dying embers into a flame. In the height of

the excitement a memorial of grievances had been drawn
up to the Governor-General, though not transmitted ; but on
the 1st May Sir George Barlow issued an order suspend-

ing four officers of rank and distinguished reputation, and
1 809 removing eight others from their commands, on the ground

of their having signed the memorial, which had been
surreptitiously communicated to him. The whole army
was immediately in a blaze. A hundred and fifty-eight

officers of the Jaulna and Hydei-abad divisions signed a

flagitious address to Government, demanding the restomtion

of the officers, in order " to prevent the horrors of civil war
" and the ultimate loss of a large portion of the Company's
" possessions in India." The Company's European regi-



Sect. III.] THE MUTINY EEPEESSED 299

ment at Masuliputam placed tte commanding officer in a.d.

arrest, and concerted a plan for joining the Jaulnah and 1809

Hyderabad divisions, and marching to Madras and seizing

the Government.
Sir George Barlow had thus by his intemperance and

indiscretion goaded the army into revolt, and brought on a

portentous crisis; but in dealing with the mutiny p-innnessof

he exhibited such undaunted resolution as almost sir George

to make amends for having caused it. Colonel

Llalcolm and other officers of high standing and great

experience, advised him to bend to necessity and recall

the obnoxious order of the 1st May ; but he resolved to

vindicate the public authority at all hazards. He called 1810

upon all the officers in the army to sign a pledge to obey
the orders of Government on pain of removal from their

regiments. The sepoys and their native officers generally

remained faithful to their salt, and there was no collision

except at Seringapatam, where the native regiments under
disaffected officers refused to submit, and were fired upon
by the royal troops, and a hundred and fifty killed and
wounded. The vigorous proceedings of Sir George con-

founded the officers, and induced them to pause on the

brink of a rebellion against their king and their country.

Lord Minto, moreover, had announced his intention to

proceed at once to Madras, and the general confidence

reposed in his justice and moderation promoted the return

of the officers to a sense of duty.

The Hyderabad brigade, which had been the first to

mutiny, was the foremost to repent. Its example was
followed by the other brigades and regiments ; ,j^^ mutiny
the seditious garrison of Seringapatam sur- extin-

rendered that fortress, and a profound calm ^"^ '

succeeded the storm which had threatened to overturn
the Government. On his arrival at Madras Lord Minto
issued a general order reprobating the conduct of the
officers, but likewise expressing his anxiety for the wel-
fare and the reputation of the army in kind and concili-

atory language. He granted a general amnesty to all but
twenty-one officers, who were either cashiered or dismissed;
but they were all eventually restored to the service, and in

the great Mahratta and Pindaree war, seven years later,

had an opportunity of effacing the stain on their character

by their gallantry and devotion. The mutiny was the

fiubject of long and acrimonious debates at the India

House, which terminated in Sir George Barlow's recall.
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It was in connection with his administration that Mr.
Edmonstone, who had served under two civilian and three

,. _, noble Governors-General, and who, after fillino^
Mr. Eamon- , , . , , -,. ~ .-,,• i
stone on the the highest Subordinate oince m India, became

Gen™hip. *^® Nestor of Leadenhall-street, said, that " he
" was averse to selecting Governors from among

" those who had belonged to the service, and that a person
" of eminence and distinction proceeding from England to
" fill that office, if duly qualified by talent and character,
" carried with him a greater degree of influence, and
" inspired more respect than an individual who had been
" known in a subordinate capacity."

A.D. The suppression of piracy in the eastern hemisphere
1809 ig the especial vocation of the English nation ; and the

Suppression attention of Lord Minto was imperatively called,
of piracy. ^t this time, to this duty. The Arabs, who were
the bravest soldiers and the most hardy seamen in the

east, were also the most notorious pirates. The chief

tribe on the sea coast, the Joasmis, had recently embraced
Wahabee tenets, and added the fierceness of fanaticism to

their national valour ; and the only alternative they offered

to their captives was the profession of Mahomedanism or

death. Their single-masted vessels, manned with about
150 men, sailed in squadrons, and it was rarely that any
native craft was able to escape their pursuit. Hitherto
they had prudently abstained from molesting English
vessels, but they became emboldened by the inactivity of

the Company's cruisers, which were forbidden to interfere

with them, and they had recently captured a large

merchantman, and cut the throats of all the Europeans on
board and thrown them into the sea with the pious

ejaculation, "Alia Akbar! great is God!" Lord Minto was
determined to root out these buccaneers, and sent a power-
ful armament against their chief stronghold, Ras-al-Kaima.
It was defended with Arab obstinacy and carried by
British gallantry. The port, with all the valuable mer-
chandise in it—-the accumulation of numerous piratical

expeditions—together with a large fleet of pirate vessels,

was delivered to the flames, and piracy was for a time

suppressed in these waters.

The possession of the Mauritius and of Bourbon by the

French in the bay of Bengal exposed British commerce in

Depredations *^® eastern seas to the constant depredation of the
from the privateers fitted out in them. The losses sus-
Mauntius.

ta^^g^j })y ^he merchants of Calcutta from the
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commencement of the war with France in 1703 to the year a.d.

1808 were calculated at between three and four crores of 1810

rupees. By an act of incomprehensible folly, the ministry

in England had not only neglected to send an expedition

against them, while they were capturing every island in

the West Indies, but had positively interdicted any effort on
the part of the Indian Government to reduce them. The
French cruisers consequently continued to prey on British

trade, and to sweep the seas from Madagascar to Java.

With six ships of the line and sixteen frigates on the

Indian station, six vessels sailing from Calcutta, valued at

thirty lacs of rupees, had been captured by French cruisers

in as many weeks. A memorial was at length transmitted

by the mercantile community to the ministry, complaining
of the insecurity of commerce and the supineness of the

navy, and the Governor-General and the Admiral were
instructed to take decisive measures for the protection of

trade. That object, it was supposed, would be attained

by blockading the Mauritius ; but six of the Company's
magnificent Indiamen, valued at more than half a crore of

rupees, were captured by French frigates which sailed out
of the port, and returned to it in triumph with their prizes,

in the teeth of the blockade. An expedition was then sent,

in the fii*st instance, to the island of Bourbon, which was
captured with a slender effort ; but this achievement was
overbalanced by a series of unexampled disasters at sea,

which were justly attributed to the ignorance and mis-

management of the naval department. Three English
frigates were captured, and three set on fire by the French
squadron, which maintained its national honour in these

seas as nobly as Suffrein in the days of Warren Hastings.
Meanwhile, Lord Minto was assembling an armament of

overwhelming force, consisting of one 74 gun ship

and thirteen frigates, besides sloops and gunboats, and a
land force of 11,000 men, which comprised 6,300 European
bayonets, and 2,000 seamen and marines, and four volunteer
regiments. To oppose this force the French general could
only muster 2,000 European soldiers, and a body of half-

disciplined African slaves, and, unwilling to sacrifice the
lives of brave men in a hopeless contest, he surrendered 1810

the island on fair and equitable terms.
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SECTION IV.

LORD MlirrO'S ADMINISTRATION—EXPEDITION TO JAVA

—

THE PINDAREES—THE NEW CHARTER.

AD- The subjugation of Holland by the emperor Napoleon
'^'^ placed the Dutch settlements in the east at his command,

Expedition ^^^ ^^ Spared no pains to complete the defences
to Java. of the most important of them, the island of

Java. He despatched large reinforcements under an officer

in whom he had confidence, General Daendels, who
repaired the old fortifications and erected new and more
formidable works in the vicinity of the capita,l, Batavia.

From some unexplained cause he was superseded by
General Jaensens, who had surrendered the Cape to the

English squadron four years before. The emperor at his

final audience reminded him of this disaster, and said :

" Sir, remember that a French general does not allow
" himself to be captured a second time." Lord Minto,

having obtained the permission of the Court of Directors

to proceed against the island, summoned to his counsels

Mr.—afterwards Sir Stamford—Raffles, a member of the

government of Penang, who had acquired a knowledge of

the condition, the policy, and the language of the various

tribes in the eastern archipelago superior to that of every

other European at the time. The expedition consisted of

90 sail, on which were embarked 6,000 European troops,

and about the same number of sepoys, and was the largest

European armament which had ever traversed the eastern

seas. Lord Minto determined to accompany it as a

volunteer, leading the way in the "Modeste" frigate,

commanded by his son, and the whole fleet anchored in

the bay of Batavia without a single accident on the 4th
August. The entire body of troops under the command of

General Jaensens amounted to 17,000, of whom 13,000
were concentrated for the defence of Fort Cornelis, which
was strong from its natural position, and had been rendered,

as was supposed, impregnable by science. It was an
entrenched camp between two streams, one of which was
not fordable, and the other was defended by strong

bastions and ramparts. The entire circumference of the

encampment was five miles, and it was protected by 300

pieces of cannon.
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Sir Samuel Ahmuty, the General-in-Chief, determined a.d.

at first to assail it by regular approaches, but the attempt 1811

was found to be all but impracticable under a
^^ ^^^^

tropical sun, and must have been abandoned Fortcor-

when, on the setting in of the rains, the malaria '^®"*"

of the Batavian marshes prostrated the army. It was
resolved, therefore, to carry it by a coup de main, which
brought into play the daring spirit of Colonel Gillespie, of

Vellore renown, to whom the enterprise was committed.

His column marched soon after midnight on the 26th

August, and came upon the first redoubt as the day
dawned, and carried it at the point of the bayonet. The
impetuous valour of his troops mastered the other redoubts

in succession, till he found himself in front of the enemy's
reserve and of a large body of cavalry posted with power-
ful artillery in front of the barracks. Having driven them
from this position, the Colonel placed himself at the head
of the dragoons and horse artillery, and pursued them for

ten miles till he had completed the disorganisation of the

whole army. Java was won in a single morning, and by
the efforts of a single officer. The loss of the French in

the field was severe, and 6,000 of their troops, chiefly

Europeans, were made prisoners ; but the victory cost

the invaders 900 in killed and wounded, of whom eighty-

five were officers. The Court of Directors had given
instructions that on the capture of the island the fortifica-

tions should be demolished, and the arms and ammunition
disfributed among the natives, and the island evacuated.

But Lord Minto was not disposed to put weapons into the
hands of the natives, and abandon the colonists without
arms or fortresses to their vindictive passions, and consign
this noble island to the reign of barbarism. He deter-

mined to retain it, and committed the government of it to
Mr. Raffles, under whose wise and liberal administration it

continued to flourish for several years.

Lord Minto returned to Calcutta in 1812, and imme- 1812

dlately after learned that he had been superseded in the
Government. The usual term of office was con- supersession

sidered to extend to seven years, and Lord Minto of Lord

had intimated to the Court of Directors his wish *°'

to be relieved early in 1814 ; but the Prince Regent was
anxious to bestow this lucrative post on the favourite of
the day, the Earl of Moira, who had recently failed in his

attempt to form a ministry. Under the dictation of the
Board of Control, the Court of Directors were obliged to
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pass a resolution for the immediate tennination of Lord
Minto's administration. Circumstances detained Lord
Moira in England longer than he expected, and Lord
Minto did not quit India till within three or four months
of the time he had fixed for his departure ; but the in-

fliction of this indignity on a Governor-General whose
government had been without a failure, and who had given

A.D. universal satisfaction, reflected equal discredit on the
1812 servile ministry and on their royal master.

On the return of Lord Minto from Java, it became
necessary for the first time to order troops into the field

Thepinda- ^o repel the inroads of the Pindarees. The
rees. earliest trace of these freebooters is to be found
in the struggles between Aurungzebe and the Mahrattas,
whose armies they accompanied into the field. After the

Peshwa had delegated the charge of maintaining the

Mahratta power in Hindostan to his lieutenants, Sindia and
flolkar, the Pindarees nominally ranged themselves under
their standards, and were designated Sindia Shahee and
Holkar Shahee Pindarees, but they were not allowed to

pitch their tents within the Mahratta encampment. Those
chiefs found it useful to attach to their armies a body of

freebooters who required no pay, and were content with
an unlimited Ucense of plunder, and were always ready to

complete the work of destruction. The Pindarees found
their account in establishing a connection, although in-

direct, with established governments, to whom they might
look for protection in case of emergency. But this re-

lationship did not restrain the Pindarees from plundering the

districts of their patrons when it suited their interests, nor
did it prevent the Mahratta princes from seizing the Pinda-

ree leaders after their return from a successful foray,

and obliging them to give up a portion of their plunder.

The withdrawal of British protection from Central India

opened a wide field for plnnder, and increased the strength

Pindaree ^^^ audacity of the Pindarees. Two of the
leaders. chiefs in the suite of Sindia offered their services

to the nabob of Bhopal to plunder the territories of Nag-
pore ; and, when their offer was declined, proceeded to

Nagpore, and were readily engaged by the raja to ravage
the dominions of Bhopal. On their return the raja did

not scruple to break up their encampment and despoil

them of the rich booty they had acquired. Of the two
leaders, one took refuge with Sindia, and his two sons

Dost Mahomed and WassU Mahomed collected and or-
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ganised his scattered followers. The other died in con- ad.

finement, when the leadership devolved on Cheetoo, who 1812

had been purchased when a child, during a famine, and
regularly trained to the Pindaree profession. His superior

abilities and daring spirit raised him to the head of the

troop, and he was rewarded for his services to Sindia by
the title of nabob and a jageer. He fixed his head-quarters

at Nimar, amidst the wild fastnesses of the region lying

between the Nerbudda and the Yindya range. Kureem
Khan another Pindaree leader of note was a Rohilla, who
in the progress of events obtained a title and an assign-

ment of lands from Sindia ; but, as he continued to en-

croach upon the Mahratta territories, Sindia determined to

crush his rising power, and treacherously seized him at a

friendly entertainment. He was placed in confinement for

four years, and not liberated without the payment of six

lacs of rupees. On obtaining his liberty the Pindarees

flocked to his standard in greater numbers than ever.

Cheetoo, also was induced to join him, and an alliance was
formed with Ameer Khan, then in the spring tide of his

career. Their united bands did not fall short of 60,000
horse, and from the palace to the cottage every mind was
filled with consternation by this portentous assemblage of

banditti in Central Asia. Happily the union was short-

lived. Cheetoo, who had always felt the hostility of a rival

to Kureem Khan, was prevailed upon to desert him, when
his camp was assailed and broken up by Sindia.

These were the acknowledged leaders of the Pindarees,

to whose encampment the minor chiefs repaired when the

season arrived for their annual expeditions. Their system of

ranks were recruited by miscreants expelled from plunder.

society, and men pursued by their creditors, as well as by
men weary of peaceful occupation, and eager for excite-

ment. The Pindaree standard was generally raised at the

Dussera, or autumnal festival, towards the end of October,
when the rains had subsided, and the rivers became ford-

able. Leaders of experience and acknoAvledged courage
were selected, who took the command of bodies of 4,000 or

5,000 men, all mounted, and armed with spears of from
four to six yards in length. They were not encumbered
with either tents or baggage, and they obtained supplies

for themselves and their horses from the villages they
plundered on the line of march. Neither were they em-
barrassed with any prejudices of caste, or compunctions of

conscience, and the history of their career is not relieved

X
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by a single generous or chivalrous act. They frequently

moved at the rate of forty or fifty miles a day, and as they
were unable to remain long in one spot, the greatest de-

spatch was used to complete the plunder of the village ; and
tortures which almost exceed belief were inflicted on men
and women to hasten the discovery of property. Their
progress throughout the country was indicated by a stream
of desolation, for what they could not carry off they de-

stroyed.

For several years their depredations had been confined

to the neighbourhood of the Nerbudda and the frontiers of

Attack on
^^® Peshwa, the Nizam and the raja of Nagpore

;

British but, as these districts became exhausted, they
temtones.

-wrere obliged to enlarge the sphere of their expe-

ditions, and on one occasion swept through 400 miles of

country south of the Nerbudda, and returned without
molestation, laden with plunder. The Dussera of 1811
was celebrated by a congregation of 25,000 Pindaree horse,

and a detachment of 6,000 plundered up to the gates of

Nagpore, and burnt down one of its suburbs. The next
A.D. year a large body under Dost Mahomed plundered the
1812 British district of Mirzapore, and boldly proceeded down

towards Gya, within seventy miles of Patna, levying

heavy contributions in this new and untrodden field, and
then disappeared up the source of the Soane, before a
British soldier could overtake them. This was their first

invasion of British territory, and, coupled with the period-

ical devastation of the native states, induced Lord Minto
to entreat the Directors to consider whether " it was
" expedient to observe a strict neutrality amidst these scenes
" of disorder and outrage, or to listen to the voice of
" suffering humanity and interfere for the protection of
" the weak and defenceless states who implored our assist-

" ance against the ravages of the Pindarees and the
" Patans." Before he quitted the Grovemment he ad-

dressed a second letter to the Directors, pointing out that

the augmented numbers, the improved organisation, and
the increasing audacity of the Pindarees, rendered the

adoption of an extensive system of measures for their

suppression, a matter of pressing importance.

Lord Minto' s administration has never been sufficiently

appreciated, perhaps from the circumstance of its inter-

vening between the more active and brilliant

Character of careers of Lord Wellesley and Lord Hastings.

Uon.
"^'^"^ But it should not be forgotten that his hands

were tied by the ruling policy of the India House,

I
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which he altogether reprobated. He assured the Court of a.d.

Directors that " no extent of concession or territorial res- 1812

" titution on our part would have the effect of establishing
' any real and effective balance of power or forbearance on
" the part of other states, when the means of aggrandise-
" ment should be placed in their hands ;

" and that " the
" expectation of augmenting our security by diminishing
" our power and political ascendancy on the continent of
" India was utterly vain." He remarked, " that with the
" native princes, war, rapine, and conquest constituted an
" avowed principle of action, a just and legitimate pursuit,
" and the chief source of public glory ; sanctioned and even
" recommended by the ordinances of religion, and prose-
" cuted without the semblance or pretext of justice, and
" with a savage disregard of every obligation of humanity
" and public faith, and restrained only by the power of
" resistance." By these and similar representations he
prepared the Court of Directors to abandon the absurd
policy of non-intervention, and to assume that supremacy
on the continent which was irrevocably established by his

successor ; but he did not hesitate to vindicate the para-

mount authority of the British Government on many
occasions, in Travancore, in Nagpore, in Bundlecund, and
in Sirhind ; and to his administration belongs the merit

of having swept every hostile and piratical flag from the

Indian seas, and established the predominance of British

power on the ocean, though he was forbidden to do so on
land.

The period was now approaching when the question of 1809

renewing the Company's commercial monopoly was to to

come before Parliament. In the preliminary ^^^^

discussions between the ministry and Leadenhall for a new

Street, the Court of Directors assumed a lofty charter.

tone, and made extravagant demands, which they were
obliged gradually to withdraw ; but they continued to

insist on the renewal of the charter in all its integrity.

The President of the Board of Control, however, informed
them that the ministry had made up their minds no longer
to exclude the merchants of England from the trade of
India. The points at issue between the Company and
the Cabinet appeared at length to be reduced to the
question of opening the outports of England to the enter-

prise of private merchants, and on this point the Court of

Directors determined to take their stand. They aifirmed 1812

that any diversion of the trade from London to the out-
% 2
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ports would break up large and important establishments,

and throw thousands out of bread ; would increase smug-
gling beyond the possibility of control ; would entail the

ruin of the China trade, and reduce the value of the

Company's stock ; would paralyse their power in India,

and compromise the happiness of its inhabitants ; and not

only impair the interests of Great Britain in Asia^ but
imperil the British constitution.

The ministry, however, were not appalled by these

terrific spectres, which the genius of monopoly had con-

iured up, but informed the Directors that if the
Ot)T)OSitlOTl

of the Court extension of commercial privileges to the rest of
of Directors. ^^^ nation would render it impossible for them
to continue the government of India, some other agency
might be provided for that object, consistent with the

interests of the public and the integrity of the constitution.

But the Directors and the Proprietors refused any con-

cession, and expressed their confidence that Parhament
would not consent to gratify a few interested speculators

by abolishing a commercial system which had existed for

two centuries, and was fortified by a score of Acts of Parlia-

ment. On the other hand, the claim of the Company to a

continuance of their monopoly encountered a strenuous

opposition throughout the country. In the twenty years

which had elapsed since the previous charter, manufactures
and commerce had been developed beyond all former
example, and the merchants and millowners demanded
the right of an unrestricted trade with India, from their

respective ports, and in their own vessels, with such
unanimity and vigour, that the ministry felt it impossible

to resist the national voice. On the 22nd March the

1813 President of the Board of Control brought forward the

ministerial propositions, that the Government of India

should be continued for twenty years longer in the hands
of the Company, with liberty to continue to prosecute

their trade, but that the whole nation should be allowed

to participate in it ; that the Company should enjoy the

exclusive trade to China, and that the restrictions on the

resort of Europeans to the country should be relaxed so as

to amount to a virtual abolition.

These propositions were violently opposed by the

Directors and Proprietors, and they petitioned Parliament

Witnesses of
^'^^ leave to bring forward witnesses to support

theDireo- their claims. The first witness was the venerable
'^" \Yarren Hastings, then in his eightieth year.

A.D.
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Twenty-six years before he had been arraigned by the a.d.

House of Commons at the bar of the House of Lords for 1813

high crimes and misdemeanours. He had outlived the

passions and prejudices of that age, and the whole House
rose as he entered and paid a spontaneous homage to his

exalted character and his eminent services. But his views
of Indian policy belonged to that remote period when he
was laying the foundation of the empire ; he could not
realise the change of circumstances in England and in

India, and was opposed to all innovations. The evidence

of Lord Teignmouth, of Mr. Charles Grant, of Colonel

Malcolm and Colonel Munro, and indeed of all the witnesses

marshalled by the India House, ran in the same groove.

They maintained that the climate of India and the habits

and prejudices of the natives precluded the hope of any
increased consumption of British manufactures ; that the
trade of India had reached its utmost limit, and that it

could be conducted to advantage only through the agency
of the Company ; that the free admission of Europeans
would lead to colonisation, and to the oppression of the
natives, and the loss of India. But all the authorities and
all the evidence the Court of Directors could muster,
proved of no avail. The House yielded to the voice of the

nation, and opened India to the commercial enterprise of
all England.

Keference has been made in a previous chapter to the
restrictions imposed on the Serampore missionaries by Sir

George Barlow during the panic created by the The mission-

Vellore mutiny, which were removed on his arjquestion.

arrival by Lord Minto. But on his return from Java,
without the remotest appearance of any political necessity,

he was induced to adopt stringent measures against the
missionary enterprise, and to order eight missionaries, the
majority of whom had recently arrived, peremptorily to

quit the country. The hostility of the Court of Directors
to missions and to education had all the inveteracy of

traditional prejudice, and it became necessary to take
advantage of the Charter discussions to apply for the

interposition of Parliament. The question was entrusted
to Mr. Wilberforce, who, in a speech distinguished for its

eloquence, entreated the House to grant permission to

place the truths of Christianity before the natives of India
for their voluntary acceptance. But the India House and
its witnesses, with some exceptions, were as virulently

opposed to this concession as to that of free trade, and
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reprobated the admission of missionary and mercantile
agents "with equal vehemence. But the voice of the
country was raised with more than ordinary unanimity
against the monstrous proposition that the only religion

to be proscribed in India should be that of its rulers. The
House was inundated with petitions from every corner, and
from all classes and denominations, and the clause giving
missionaries the same access to India as merchants was
passed by large majorities.

CHAPTEE X.

SECTION I.

LORD Hastings's administration—the nepaul war.

*•''• The Earl of Moira, subsequently created Marquis of

Hastings, took the oaths and his seat in Council on the

4th October. He was of the mature age of fifty-

Ha^btiuga nine, a nobleman of Norman lineage, with a tall

Governor- and Commanding figure, and distinguished by
his patrician bearing. He entered the army at

the age of seventeen, and served seven years in the war of

independence in America. His life had been subsequently

passed in connection with important public affairs, and he

brought to his high ofl&ce a large fund of experience, a

clear and sound judgment, and great decision of character,

together with the equivocal honour of being the personal

friend of the Prince Regent. In his place in Parliament

he had denounced Lord Wellesley's wars and his ambitious

policy of establishing British supremacy throughout India
;

but this opinion was reversed as soon as he had taken a

survey of the position and prospects of the Indian empire
;

and before he had been many months in India he recorded

his impression that " our object in India ought to be to
" render the British Government paramount in effect, if

*' not declaredly so . . . and to oblige the other states to

" perform the two great feudatory duties of supporting
" our rule with all their forces, and submitting their
" mutual differences to our arbitration."
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Lord Hastings found his eastern throne no bed of roses, a.d.

The non-intervention policy—which the authorities in 1813

Leadenhall street considered the perfection of state of

political wisdom, and the native princes an India-

obvious token of pusillanimity—had brought on a contempt
of our power, and sown the seeds of new wars. The
violence of Holkar hadended in insanity ; his government lost

its strength, and Ameer Khan stepped in and became at

once the prop of the throne and the curse of the country.

The troops of Sindia had been incessantly employed in

aggrandising his power by encroachments on his neigh-

bours. The Peshwa had been husbanding his resources

for the first opportunity of shaking ofi" British control.

The Pindaree freebooters were spreading desolation through
a region 500 miles in length and 400 in breadth ; and on
the northern frontier of Bengal and Behar a new power
had arisen and invaded our districts, and hung like a dark
cloud on the mountains of Nepaul, The Company's army,
which had been subject to large reductions in a spirit of

unwise economy, was found to be inadequate to the defence

of our frontier, and the treasury was empty.
The first and immediate difficulty of Lord Hastings arose

out ofthe encroachments of the Nepaulese or Goorkhas. The
valley of Nepaul is embosomed in the Himalaya, Description

and bounded on the north by some of its loftiest of Nepaul.

and most majestic peaks, and on the south by its first and
lowest range. That range is skirted by a magnificent
forest, from eight to ten miles in depth, which presents an
unbroken series of gigantic trees ; no breath of wind
reaches the interior, which is littered with rank and
decayed vegetation ; no animal ventures into it, and no
sound of a bird is heard in its recesses. An open plain,

called the teraee, stretches along the south of the forest,

about 600 miles in length and 20 in breadth. The soil if»

watered by the streams which descend from the mountains,
and, when cultivated, produces the most luxuriant crops,

but during the greater part of the year is as pestilential as

the Pontine marshes.
About the middle of the fourteenth century, various

colonists of Rajpoots entered the country and subdued the

aboriginal Newars, and in the course of time
jij^^„^

were ranged under three tribes. About ten progresisot

years after the battle of Plassy, Prithee Narrain, ^®^°°'^"

the chief of the tribe of Goorkhas, having sub-

dued all the other chiefs, established a new dynasty, with
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A,.D. Katmandhoo for its capital. His descendant, an infant,

1805 was placed on the throne in 1805, and Bheem Sen formed
a council of regency under his own presidency. The
impulse of conquest which the founder had given to the

nation continued in undiminished vigour. An expedition

was sent to Lassa, and the living type of Booddha was
subject to the humiliation of paying tribute to his Hindoo
conqueror. Bat the emperor of China, the secular head
of Booddhism, avenged the insult by invading Nepaul and
obliging the Nepaulese to send an embassy with tribute to

Pekin every three years. The cabinet of Katmandhoo then

pushed their conquests eastward to Sikkim, and westward
to the mountainous region of the higher Sutlej, where Umur
Sing, their renowned general, came in contact with the

rising power of Runjeet Sing, but was recalled from the

siege of Kote Kangra to the defence of his own country

from the assaults of the British Government.
During the twenty-five years preceding the war we treat

of, the Goorkhas had come down into the plains and

Th ir n
usurped morc than 200 British villages, and

croaohmente the Subjects of the Company were exposed to

territoiy^
continual aggression along the whole line of their

frontier. At length they had the presumption to

seize upon the districts of Bootwul and Seoraj in Goruck-
pore, which the Vizier of Oude had transferred to Lord
Wellesley in 1802. Lord Minto was anxious, if possible,

to avoid a resort to arms, and proposed a conference with

the Nepaul ministry, which resulted in demonstrating that

they had not the shadow of a right to them. Accordingly,

18] 3 in June, he demanded the immediate restitution of them, and
intimated that, in case of refusal, the Government would
be obliged to have recourse to force ; but the l^epaul

cabinet distinctly refused to evacuate them. Their reply

did not reach Calcutta till after the arrival of Lord
Hastings, and, upon a careful examination of all the docu-

ments, he deemed it indispensable to make a categorical

demand that they should be surrendered within twenty-

five days. The period expired without any communication
from Katmandhoo, and he ordered the magistrate of Goruck-
pore to expel the Goorkha oflB.cers.

1814 Lord Hastings's letter created a profound sensation at

Katmandhoo, and convinced the regent that the dispute

about these border lands was rapidly merging
resolve on into a question of peace or war with the British
^^^' power. A national council was convened to
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discuss the question, when Umnr Sing said that his life a.d.

had been passed amidst the hardships of war, and he was 1811

not ignorant of its risks, but he deprecated a war with the

British Government, and affirmed that the lands were not

worth the hazard. " We have hitherto," he said, " been
" hunting deer, but if we engage in this war we shall have
" to hunt tigers." Bat the regent and his party were bent

on war, and determined to demand the surrender of the

whole of the country north of the Ganges, and, as if to

render hostilities inevitable, sent a detachment down to

Bootwul, and put the police officer and eighteen of his men
to death. The Goorkhas had thrown down the gauntlet,

and Lord Hastings had no alternative but to take it up,

promptly, without waiting for the result of a reference to

Leadenhall Street. This defiance of the British power
seemed an act of incredible temerity on the part of the

Goorkhas. Their whole army did not exceed 12,000, and
it was scattered over a long line of frontier, and their

largest gun was only a four-pounder ; but uninterrupted
success for many years had infused a feeling of confidence
into their minds. Their real strength consisted in the

impracticable nature of their country, and in our entire igno-

rance of its localities.

Lord Hastings found himself dragged into an arduous
conflict with an empty exchequer. On all former occasions

the Government had resorted to a loan, but this Lucknow
was difficult, if not altogether impracticable, at a lo^"-

time when their promissory notes were at a discount of nine
and ten per cent., and money was worth twelve per
cent, in the market. In this dilemma he cast his eye
on the hoards of the Vizier, amounting to seven crores

of rupees. That prince was anxious to be relieved

from the imperious interference of the Resident in the
affairs of his government and of his court, and Lord
Hastings had expressed a wish to afford him relief

from this annoyance; on hearing, therefore, of the em-
barrassment of the Government, he resolved to evince his

gratitude by offering a donation of a crore of rupees. He
died while Lord Hastings was on his way to Lucknow,
where the offer was renewed by his son and successor.

Lord Hastings agreed to accept it as a loan to the Com-
pany, bearing interest, though he could not receive it as a
gratuity ; but he gained little by the aid thus afforded him.
Of the old loan at eight per cent., which the Government
was endeavouring to convert into a six per cent, stock,

about half a crore of rupees was still unredeemed ; and
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tlie Vice-President in Council, without any intimation to
the Governor- General, employed half the sum obtained at

Lucknow in paying it off. This act of folly deprived Lord
Hastings of the sinews of war, and would have produced a
disastrous effect on the campaign if he had not submitted
to the humiliation of soliciting a second crore, which was
not, however, given without much reluctance.

A.D. "With regard to the plan of the campaign, Lord Hastings
1814 considered it impolitic to confine his operations to the

Plan of the simple defence of a line of frontier several
campaign, hundred miles in extent, which it would be found
impracticable to guard effectually against an energetic

and rapacious enemy. He felt that our military reputation

could be sustained only by a bold and successful assault

on the strongest of the Goorkha positions. He accordingly

planned four expeditions on four points : the western on
the Sutlej, the eastern on the capital, and two others on
intermediate points. The division under General Gillespie,

who had gained a high reputation at Vellore and in Java,

was the first in the field, 3,500 strong, and advanced
toward the Dhoon valley ; during his progress he came
upon a small fort at Kalunga, held by 600 Goorkhas.
Lord Hastings had warned him against any attempt to

storm works which should be reduced by artillery, but,

with the reckless daring of his character, he determined to

carry it by assault, and as he rushed up to the gate to

encourage his men who were staggered by the murderous
fire of the Goorkhas, he was shot through the heart. A
retreat was immediately sounded, but not before twenty
officers and 240 rank and file lay killed or wounded.

1814 A month was lost in waiting for heavy ordnance from
Delhi ; but after the breach was reported practicable, the

, assault was repulsed, with another loss of 680
three of the men. Three days ofincessant shelling rendered the
divisions.

p^g^ untenable, and the brave Goorkha comman-
der made his escape with only seventy survivors. The
reputation of the division was not restored by General

Martindell, on whom the command devolved, who allowed

himself, with an army of 5,000 sepoys and 1,000 Europeans,

to be held at bay by 2,300 Goorkhas. The division under
General J. S. Wood, which was appointed to penetrate

Nepaul through Palpa, was paralysed by similar incapacity,

and an army of 4,500 British soldiers, European and native,

was not found to be a match for 1,200 of the Nepaul force.

The chief reliance of Lord Hastings was placed on the
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division of General Marley, 8,000 strong, destined to march a.d.

directly on the capital, only 100 miles from our frontier ; 1815

but he surpassed the others in imbecility. Two detach-

ments were sent east and west without any precautions,

and were fiercely assailed by the enemy. The sepoys fled,

but the ofl&cers fell fighting with their usual valour, and
guns, stores, and ammunition were captured by the enemy.
The wretched general made a retrograde movement, and,

though reinforced by two European regiments, could not
be persuaded to enter the forest ; and one morning, at early

dawn, mounted his horse, and, without even delegating

the command to any officer, galloped back to the canton-

ments at Dinapore. General George Wood, who succeeded
him, was equally devoid of spirit, and the services of the

division were lost.

This was the first campaign, since the Company took up
arms in India, in which their troops outnumbered those of
the enemy. Our non-success was owing entirely Effect of

to the exceptional incompetence of the generals. ^^^^ ^'^

Lord Hastings regarded his position with ex-

treme anxiety, and, in his diary, stated that if we were to

be foiled in this struggle, it would be the first step to the

subversion of our power. These reverses were diligently

promulgated throughout India, and revived the dormant
hopes of the native princes, who began to make military

demonstrations. Under the auspices of the Peshwa, who
sent envoys to all the courts in India, not omitting even
the Pindarees, a secret treaty of mutual support was con-

cluded against the British Government. The army of

Sindia was organised on our frontier. Ameer Klhan, with
25,000 horse and foot, took up a position within twelve
marches of our territories. Runjeet Sing marched 20,000
men to the fords of the Sutlej, and 20,000 Pindarees stood
ready for any opportunity of mischief. To meet this

emergency, Lord Hastings ordered up the whole of the
disposable force of the J^ladras army to the frontier of the
Deccan, and raised additional regiments of infantry, en-

listed irregular horse, and increased the strength of the
army to 80,000. But the Company's iJchal, or good fortune,

as the natives observed, was still in the ascendant. Run-
jeet Sing was recalled by a threatened inroad of the
Afghans. Sindia's two commanders, after long discord,

attacked each other; the Pindaree leaders quarrelled

among themselves ; Ameer Khan found more immediate
employment in the plunder of Joudpore, and the cloud
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was completely dispelled by the brilliant success of General
Ochterlony.

A.T). The division of this general was appointed to dislodge

1815 the Goorkhas from the territories they had acquired on

Operations *^® higher Sutlej, where Umur Sing was in

of General command, and the ablest of the Goorkha generals
c ter ony,

^^^ pitted against the ablest of the English com-
manders. The scene of operation was a wild and rugged
region, presenting successive ranges of mountains rising

one above another to the lofty peaks of the Himalaya,
broken by deep glens and covered with thick forests. The
general had formed a correct estimate of the bold character

of his opponent and of the advantage he enjoyed in his

position, and pursued his object by cautious but steady

advances. He opened the campaign by the capture of the

important fortress of Nalagurh, after a bombardment of

thirty hours, with the loss of only one European soldier.

During the next five months the valour of the British

troops was matched by the gallantry of the Goorkhas, and
the skill of British engineers was repeatedly foiled by the

tact and resolution of their opponents. The service was
the most arduous in which the Company's army had ever

been engaged. At an elevation of more than 5,000 feet

above the level of the sea, at the most inclement season of

the year, amidst falls of snow often of two days continuance,

the pioneers were employed in blasting rocks and opening

roads for the eighteen-pounders, and day after day the

men and the elephants were employed in dragging tbem
up those alpine heights ; but the energy of the general, and
the exhilarating character of the warfare, diffused a feeling

of enthusiasm throughout the army. By a series of bold

and skilfal manoeuvres every height was at length sur-

mounted and every fortress captured but that of Malown.
Before General Ochterlony reached it, Lord Hastings had
despatched some irregular corps raised by Colonel Gardner,

an officer of great merit who had been in the Mahratta
service, to occupy the province of Almora. That gallant

officer and his new levies speedily cleared it of the

Goorkhas, and effectually cut off Umur Sing's communica-
tion with the capital, and deprived him of all hope of

reinforcements. The Goorkha officers entreated him
to make conditions with the general, but the stern old

chief spumed their advice, and they passed over to the

English camp. He retired into the citadel with 200 men,
but when the batteries were about to open upon it he
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hesitated to sacrifice in a foriom conflict the lives of the

brave men who had nobly adhered to him to the last, and
accepted the terms offered by his generous foe, who, in

consideration of the skill, bravery, and fidelity with which
he had defended the country, allowed him to march out

with his arms and colours and personal property.

The discomfiture of their ablest general, and the loss of

their most valuable acquisition, took away from the

regency all confidence in their fastnesses, and second
induced them to sue for peace. Commissioners ooorkha

came down to Segowlee and signed a treaty
*=^™p^^'

on the 2nd December, under an engagement to deliver the *•"•

ratification of it within fifteen days, and a royal salute was
fired in Calcutta in honour of the peace. But the ratifica-

tion was never sent. TJraur Sing and his son had in the

meantime arrived at Katmandhoo, and successfully urged
the regency to continue the war and to dispute every inch

of ground. Another campaign became inevitable, and
Lord Hastings had to assemble an army with all speed to

strike a blow at the capital before the rains commenced.
A force of 20,000 men was collected on the frontier, and
placed under the command of General Ochterlony, who
advanced with his usual caution and promptitude. Finding
the Goorkha works in the first pass unassailable, he deter-

mined to turn the flank of the enemy, and on the night of

the 14th February marched in dead silence through a 1816

narrow ravine, where twenty men might have arrested a
whole army. The force bivouacked for two days and
nights without food or shelter, awaiting the arrival of the
second detachment, and then advanced to Muckwanpore,
within fifty miles of Elatmandhoo, where the Goorkha army
sustained a signal defeat. The regency lost all conceit of
fighting ; the treaty duly ratified, was sent down in hot
haste, and peace was concluded on the 2nd March on
terms singularly moderate. The Goorkhas were not only
the most valiant but the most humane foes we had ever
encountered in India, and they also proved to be the most
faithful to their engagements. Unlike other treaties with
Indian princes, this of 1816 has never been infringed ; and
instead of taking advantage of our embarrassments during
the mutiny of 1857, they sent a large force to assist in
quelling it.

I
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SECTION II.

LORD Hastings's administration—transactions with nativb

PRINCES

—

MAHRATTA AND PINDAREE WAR.

The policy of Lord Wellesley had been steadily repudiated

by the Court of Directors, but its wisdom was amply

Patansand vindicated by the misery which followed its

Pindarees. abandonment, and by the desolation of Central

India for ten years by the Patans and the Pindarees.

Ameer Khan, the Patau, had established a regular govern-

ment, but the predatory element was always predominant
in it. His army was estimated at 10,000 foot and 15,000
horse, with a powerful artillery, and as it was his plan to

levy contributions from princes and states, he marched
about with all the appliances for the siege of towns. The
object of the Pindarees was universal and indiscriminate

plunder, and they swept through the country with a
degree of rapidity which rendered it impossible to calculate

their movements, and baffled all pursuit. On his arrival,

Lord Hastings found 50,000 Patans and Pindarees in the

heart of India subsisting by plunder, and extending their

ravages over an area as large as England.

A.D. One of his earliest acts was to point out to the Court of

1814 Directors, in language more emphatic than that of Lord
Minto, the increasing danger of this predatory

tion'toThe powcr. He asscrted that India could not prosper
Court of until the Government "became the head of a
Directors. ,, i

• • • t j- ileague embracing every power m India, and
" was placed in a position to direct its entire strength
" against the disturbers of the public peace." But this

course of policy was systematically opposed by the two
members of his Council. Mr. Edmonstone combined
official talent of a high order with long experience, bat
lacked the endowments of a statesman, and clung to the

retrograde policy of Sir George Barlow. Mr. Dowdeswell
had all the narrowmindedness of Sir George without a
tithe of his abiHty. In reply to Lord Hastings's represen-

J325 tation, the Court, still clinging to the non-intervention

policy, forbad him to engage " in plans of general con-
" federacy or of offensive operations against the Pindarees,
" either with a view to their utter extirpation, or in
" anticipation of expected danger." They enjoined him to
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undertake nothing that could embroil them with Sindia,

and to make no change in the existing system of political

relations ; to maintain the course of policy pursued by Sir

George Barlow, to reduce the strength of the army, and
practise a rigid economy.

Before this communication reached Calcutta, Lord Hast- a.d.

ings, in the hope of preventing the Pindarees from crossing 1814

the Nerbudda, had entered into negotiations for
p^.^ ,

a subsidiary alliance with the raja of Nagpore, native

which the Court had sanctioned five or six years *^^^*»<=«s.

before, but the raja persisted in resisting the proposal.

Lord Hastings then proposed a similar alliance with

Bhopal, with the view of holding the Pindarees in check.

Bhopal was a small principality in Malwa, in the valley of

the Nerbudda, lying between the British territories and
the head-quarters of the Pindarees. The prince was the

only chief in Central India who gave any support to the

expedition of General Goddard in 1778, and the testi-

monials granted by him on that occasion are still carefully

preserved in the archives of that noble house. In 1813,

Sindia and the raja of Nagpore formed a confederacy to

absorb its territories, and brought a force of 60,000 men
against its renowned minister. Vizier Mahomed, which
besieged the capital successively for two years. He
implored the interference of the British Government, and
Lord Hastings considered that in the existing circum-

stances of Central India, it was of no little importance to

protect a state situated like Bhopal from extinction, and
the two Mahratta powers were informed that it was under 1813

the protection of the Company. The raja of Nagpore,
after some hesitation, withdrew his army, but Sindia

assumed a lofty tone—it was at the time of the three

failures in the Nepaul war—and declared that Bhopal was
one of his dependencies, with which the Government was
debarred from interfering by Sir George Barlow's treaty of

1805. But the vigorous preparations made by Lord
Hastings to enforce his requisition, and more especially

the success of General Ochterlony, staggered him ; his two
generals attacked each other under the walls of Bhopal,
and the siege was raised. But the projected alliance with
Bhopal fell to the ground.

Bajee Rao, the Peshwa, was about this time brought
into conflict with the Government, which eventually ended
in his ruin. He had none of the talents for Affairs at

government which had distinguished his pre- i'oon».

I



320 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTOEY OF INDIA [Chap. X.

decessors, and rested the success of his schemes on in-

trigne and perfidy. He was the slave of avarice and
superstition ; he had accumulated five crores of rupees in

ten years, but he was lavish in his gifts to temples and
brahmins, and his time was passed in constant pilgrimages
from shrine to shrine. His efibrts to seize on the estates

of the great feudatories of the Mahratta empire, denomi-
nated the " southern jageerdars," many of them of greater

antiquity than his own house, had been defeated by the
interposition of the Resident, and increased his disaffection,

igj^j
About the year 1813, one Trimbukjee Danglia, who was
originally in the spy department, entered his service, and
by his intelligence and energy, and not less by pandering
to his vices, obtained a complete ascendancy over his mind.
So great was the servile devotion he manifested to his

master that he assured Mr. Elphinstone, the Resident, that

he was ready to kill a cow at his bidding. Towards the

Enghsh Grovernment he always manifested an implacable

hostility, and was incessantly urging the Peshwa to shake
off their alliance and assert his position as the head of the

Mahratta power.

The Peshwa had claims on the Gaikwar extending back
for half a century, which, with interest, amounted to little

Claims on short of three crores. The Gaikwar advanced
the Gaikwar. counter claims of scarcely less amount, and he

1814 deputed his chief minister, Gungadhur Shastree, to Poona,

to adjust them ; but he would not venture into the city

without the guarantee of the Resident. His reception was
ungracious, and he was so completely baffled by evasions,

that he determined to return to Baroda, upon which Trim-
bukjee changed his tactics, and spared no pains to gain

him over to the interests of his master, who promised to

bestow the hand of his sister-in-law on his son. The
Shastree was thus induced to compromise the Gaikwar

,, . claims, without his concurrence or that of the Resident, for

^ *'
land yielding about seven lacs of rupees a year. An aus-

picious day was selected by the astrologers for the nuptials,

and splendid preparations made for it; but the Shastree,

hearing that his master repudiated the treaty, requested

that the marriage might be suspended. The Peshwa
considered this an unpardonable insult, which could be

expiated only with his blood.

The Shastree was accordingly induced to accompany the

1815 Peshwa on his pilgrimage to Punderpore, though warned

of his danger, and, soon after his arrival there, yielded

I

I
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to the importunities of Trimbukjee to pay his devotions

at the shrine after dusk. On his return he
^^^^gj^^. ,t'?;

was waylaid and assassinated. The murder of tionofthe

a brahmin of the highest rank and learned in siiastree.

the shasters, in a holy city, at a period of pilgrimage,

and in the immediate precincts of the temple, filled the

Mahratta community with horror. But the victim was
also the minister of an ally of the Company, and had
proceeded to the court at Poona under a safe conduct. The
Resident took up the case with promptitude and vigour, and
having traced the murder to the agency of Trumbukjee,
calJed on the Peshwa to deliver him up. The demand was
resolutely resisted, and the Peshwa began to levy troops

and determined to raise his standard, although unable to

obtain the promise of assistance he solicited from the other

Mahratta powers ; but Mr. Elphinstone had taken the

precaution of calling up troops to the capital. Bajee
Rao's constitutional cowardice mastered every other feel-

ing, and he surrendered his favourite on condition that his

life should be spared. He was placed in confinement in

the fort of Tanna, when he fully confessed the assassina-

tion, but declared that he had not acted without his master's
orders.

Lord Hastings returned to Calcutta at the close of 1815,
and placed on the records of Council an elaborate minute
pointing out in stronger language than he had t ^ tt

^

yet used the increasing danger arising from the ings* second

growth of the Pindarete power, and, in order to ^^^q^^^"*"^'

suppress it, proposing a general system ofalliances

under the guarantee of the Company, a revision of our
relations with the native powers, and a new settlement of
the Mahratta dominions. His two colleagues opposed the
proposal and it was sent on to the India House with their

dissent. While it was on its way to England, the necessity
of some immediate effort was rendered more imperative
by their increasing audacity. The dussera festival, when
the plan of the winter campaign was usually organized, 1815

was celebrated in the autumn of 1815 at Nimar, the head-
quarters of Cheetoo, the chief leader, by a larger collection

of Pindarees than had been assembled on any previous
occasion, and their operations were especially directed
against the territories of the Company and of the Nizam.
A body of 8,000 crossed the Nerbudda in October, and
swept through his provinces as far south as the Kistna,
and returned so richly laden with booty that merchants
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were invited from all quarters to purchase it. This extra-

ordinary success attracted fresh crowds to their standard,

and a body of 23,000 crossed the Nerbudda in February.

One large division poured down on the northern Sircars,
*D' sacked the civil station of Guntoor on the Coromandel

coast, and for ten days plundered the adjacent villages

with perfect impunity. Troops were immediately des-

patched from Calcutta by sea, but the Pindarees had
disappeared before their arrival, and it would have been as

vain to follow them as to pursue a flight of locusts. It was
found on investigation that during this raid 330 villages

had been plundered, and many of them burnt ; 500 persons

had been wounded ; 182 put to death, and 3,600 sub-

jected to torture, while the loss of property was estimated

at twenty-five lacs of rupees.

This expedition demonstrated the importance of obtain-

ing the co-operation of the raja of Nagpore, through whose

1816 Subsidiary
territories the Pindarees had passed, but the raja

auiance with still Continued to resist every proposal of a sub-
^^^^^- sidiary alliance. He died on the 22nd March,
and was succeeded by his son Persajee, who was blind,

palsied, and a confirmed idiot. His nephew, subsequently

known as Appa Sahib, was acknowledged as regent, but
was vigorously opposed by the intrigues of the court and
the zenana, and thi*ew himself upon the British Government,
and ofiered at once to conclude the proposed alliance. A
treaty was accordingly signed on the 29th May, which
provided that a body of 6,000 infantry, a regiment of

cavalry, and a suitable proportion of artillery, should be
subsidized by the !N^agpore state, and that the raja should

not contract any foreign alHances, and refer all differences

with other powers to the arbitration of the Governor-
General. Lord Hastings was thus enabled to place on
record that in two months he had been able to effect

what had been fruitlessly laboured at for twelve years, and
he now considered it certain that the Pindarees would
not be able again to cross the Nerbudda. A despatch was
soon after received from the India House revoking the

permission formerly given to contract such an alliance,

but it arrived too late to do any mischief.

The Court of Directors had in 1813 sanctioned the

renewal of the protective treaty with Jeypore which Sir

Prcposed
George Barlow had torn up. Ameer Khan and

alliance with his frecbooters having drained Joudpore, fell
Jeypore. upon this state, and laid siege to the capital.

I
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The raja dcspatclied an envoy to Mr. Metcalfe, tlie Resident * "•

at Dellii, to implore the protection of the Government,
and Lord Hasting.s, havini^ regained his authority in

Council by the accession of Mr. Seton who voted with

him, resolved to avail himself of the warrant of the Court,

and to conclude the alliance. Two divisions of troops,

each 9,000 strong, Avere ordered into the field to expel the

Patans from Jeypore, and to meet the hostility of Sindia

or Ilolkar, who, having once subjected the coimtry to

plunder, considered that they had established aright over it.

The four subsidiary armies of the Peshwa, the Nizam, the

Gaikwar, and the raja of Nagpore were ordered forward,

but the raja of Jeypore had no intention to fetter himself

with any such connection, and, in the true spirit of oriental

policy, was negotiating Avith Ameer Klian, whom he
induced eventually to raise the siege by threatening to sign

the treaty, and thus bring down the weight of the British

armies upon him.

Mr. George Canning, one of the most brilliant of Englisli

statesmen, who was appointed President of the Board ISNJ

of Control in June 1^10, Avas immediately
i,,,,,,tf.i„,

called upon to take into consideration Lord fmrn Kul'-

Hastings's proposal to form a general system of

alliances Avith a view to the extirpation of the Pindarce

power. NcAV as he Avas to the Government, it is no
matter of stirprise that he .should haA'e been tiuAvilling to

assume the responsibiHty of so fundamental a change in

the policy of tlie empire, more especially when it Avas

opposed l)y the councillors in Calcutta, and by those Avho

might be considered his constitutional advisers in Leaden-
hall Street. Lord Hastings Avas, therefcjre, informed that

the Cotirt of Directors Avere unAvilling to incur the risk of

a general Avar for the uncertain purpose of rooting out the

Pindarees, and that they Avould not sanction any extended
military and political combinations for that purpose. They
suggested that the GoA'crnment might possibly enter into

negotiations with some of the Pindarce leaders, or treat

Avith the men to deliver up their chiefs. This advice

kindled the indignation of Lord Hastin'js. The sngy-estion

of the Court to engage on(! ])ortion of tlu^ Piti(hu(H' eon-

federation to destroy another, he attril)uted to the c-ulpablc

negligence of the Government of Lidia to point out tin;

brutal and atrocious character of these AVi-etches. ]}ut

immediately after the transmission of this (lespatc^ii from
the India House, ^L". Canning received information of the
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A.D. irruption of the Pindarees into the Northern Sircars, and
1816 the atrocities they had committed. His views were at

once changed, and another despatch was sent under his

directions, which stated :
" We think it due to your Lord-

" ship not to lose an instant in conveying to you an explicit
" assurance of our approval of any measures you may have
" authorised or undertaken, not only for repelling invasion
" but for pursuing and chastising the invaders. We can
" no longer abstain from a vigorous exertion of military
" power in viadication of the British name and in defence
" of subjects who look to us for protection. . . . Any
" connection of Sindia or Holkar with the Pindarees
" against us or our allies, known, though not avowed,
" would place them in a state of direct hostility to us."

Lord Hastings was confident that the Nagpore subsi-

jgjg diary force planted on the banks of the Nerbudda would

-17 p- d
effectually prevent the Pindarees from crossing it,

campaign but he was painfully disappointed. As the period
of 1816-17. q£ ^jjg annual swarming approached, Colonel

Walker moved up to the Nerbudda with the whole body,

numbering 6,000 men, but they were found unequal to the

protection of a line a hundred and fifty miles in extent.

The Pindaree detachments pushed across between his

posts, and a large body dashed down on the British district

of Kimedy, and burnt a portion of the town of Ganjam,
and but for the accidental arrival of Company's troops to

quell an insurrection in Orissa, would have laid the whole
province under contribution. Other bodies plundered the

territories of Nagpore and Hyderabad. The expeditions of

1816-17 were the boldest they had undertaken, and the

success which attended them gave rise to serious considera-

tions. With the Nagpore subsidiary force guarding the

Werbudda, 23,000 Pindarees had crossed it. With 32,000
British troops, besides the Poona brigade and the Nizam's
contingent distributed over the country, they had rushed
through the peninsula and ravaged both coasts. It was
felt that the cost of these defensive measures exceeded tlie

largest calculation of the cost of a campaign to exterminate

the freebooters. It was therefore unanimously resolved in

Council to abandon the resolution which had been adopted

to abstain from any system of ofiensive operations till the

sanction of the home authorities could be received, and to

adopt vigorous measures against them without delay.

Intimation of this determination to extinguish the
' Pindarees was immediately conveyed to Sindia, and he was
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requested to cooperate in carrying it into execution, but
they had agents at his court, and warm parti-

gjj^^j^.g

zans amongst his ministers, who endeavoured detenmna-

to persuade him that his own security would be *"°"

impaired if he sanctioned the extirpation of these valuable

auxiliaries, who wex'e ready at any time to flock to his

standard, and who required no pay. The agents of the

Pindarees boasted that they would outdo the exploits of

Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and that 50,000 of their body would
carry fire and sword to Calcutta. But Sindia was not to

be misled by this gasconade ; he had ijot forgotten Assye,

the Company had recently triumphed in Nepal, they had
secured the resources of Nagpore, and the Government in

Calcutta was again animated with the spirit of Lord
Wellesley, and he promised his co-operation.

During these negotiations at Grwalior events of great a.d.

importance transpired at Poona. Trimbukjee effected his ^^^^

escape from Taima, and though the Peshwa mani- Hostility of

fested unusual cordiality towards the Resident for Bajee Bao.

some time, there was the clearest evidence that he was en-

gaged in correspondence with Holkar, and Sindia, and Ameer
Khan, and the Pindarees, for a simultaneous rising against

the Government. Under the direction of Trimbukjee, he
hastened the enlistment of troops, collected draft cattle,

augmented his artillery, provisioned his forts, and deposited

his jewels and treasure in the strongest of them. In 1817

April, Mr. Elphinstone presented a note to him upbraiding
him with the hostile movements he was abetting, and
declaring that the good understanding between the Govern-
ment and him was at an end. At the same time, he pe-

remptorily demanded the surrender of Trimbukjee, and the

delivery of three forts as security, and he supported these

representations by ordering up troops to Poona. The
Peshwa's brave general Gokla urged a bold appeal to arms,
but he had not the spirit to adopt this advice. The forts

were surrendered, and a reward offered for the apprehension
of Trimbukjee.
On the eve of his comprehensive operations against the

Pindarees, Lord Hastings deemed it necessary to exact
greater securities from this perfidious prince. ^^
Mr. Elphinstone was desired to present him with penalty in-

the draft of a treaty which required him to dismiss ^^ °°

the agents of foreign princes accredited to his

court, to refer all matters in dispute with them to the

arbitrament of the British Government, to renounce all his
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A.n. rights in Saugor and Bundlecund, and, in lieu of the con-
1817 tingent of 5,000 horse and 3,000 foot he was bound to

furnish, to cede territory yielding twenty-four lacs a year.

His ministers endeavoured to mitigate the severity of these

penalties, and they affirmed that we appeared to exact a
greater degree of fidelity to engagements than any native

prince was able to observe. The treaty was nevertheless

signed on the 13th June. "When the intelligence of these

arrangements and of this large addition to the Company's
territories reached England, Mr. Canning remarked that

this transaction sufficiently proved " the irrepressible
" tendency of our Indian power to enlarge its bounds, and
" to augment its preponderance, in spite of the most pe-
" remptory injunctions of forbearance from home, and the
" most scrupulous obedience of them in India. These
" measures were considered an unwelcome though justifiable
" exception to the general rule of our policy ; only the oc-
" currence of these exceptions had been unfortunately too
" frequent." Before this despatch had left the India House,
the Peshwa was a fugitive, and his kingdom a British pro-

vince.

On the death ofHolkar in 1811, Toolsee bye, the favourite

of his harem—young, beautiful, and fascinating in her

Hoikar's address, with great talent for business, but violent

^ Court. and vindictive, resolved to conduct the govern-

1817 ment as regent. Ameer Khan exercised a preponderating

influence in the state, by means of his lieutenant and his

battalions when he was absent plundering Rajpootana. He
was considered the head of the Patau faction. Tantia joge, a

brahmin and a merchant, accepted the office of prime
minister, and was the leader of the Mahratta party. The
troops of the state were frequently mutinous for pay, when
districts were assigned to the commandant, who fleeced the

people without mercy, and sacked open villages, and
cannonaded walled towns. There was no power in the

state stronger than that of the mihtary, and the govern-

ment was in a state of anarchy. It was at this period, in

the autumn of 1817, that the agents of Bajee Rao arrived

in the camp to promote the confederacy he was forming

against the Government of India.
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SECTION III.

LORD Hastings's administkation—war with the peshwa—
WITH NAGPORE—WITH HOLKAB—THE PINDAREES.

The disorganisation of Central India had now reached its a.d.

climax. The number of armed men who lived by violence ^^^"^

fell little short of 100,000, and there was no
Lo^dHast-

native potentate with the power, or even the dis- ingss new

position, to restore peace and security. On the ^^°^'

8th July, Lord Hastings proceeded to the upper provinces

to reduce this chaos to order. He felt that the only mode
of dealing effectually with the Pindarees was to assail them
in their haunts, and hunt them through the country till

their organisation was completely broken up. He felt,

likewise, that, to prevent the revival of such a confederacy,

it was necessary to resettle Central India, to define the

boundaries of each principality, and to prevent mutual
encroachments by the establishment of our paramount
power ; in short, to restore and complete the system ofpolicy
devised by Lord Wellesley twelve years before. But the

President of the Board of Control, the Court of Directors,

and his own Council, were equally opposed to any such
general federation under our supremacy. In his progress

up the country, he therefore communicated to the Council
his intention to take upon himself the sole responsibility of

deviating from the views of the home authorities, and
carrying out the general system of alliances he had deter-

mined to form.

The resolution was executed with promptitude and
vigour. The chiefs of Malwa and Rajpootana were in-

formed that the neutral policy had ceased, and
rprg^tiesof

that the Government was prepared to admit alliance with

them to protective alliances. The intelHgence p^^,
was received with exultation throughout those
provinces, and the Residency of Delhi was speedily crowded
with the agents of nineteen of the princes of Central
India. The first to enter into the circle of alliances was
the venerable and virtuous Zalim Sing, the regent of
Kotah. Then came the youthful and accomplished nabob
of Bhopal, who eagerly embraced the alliance his father

had refused. The raja of Boondee, ungenerously aban-
doned to the mercies of Holkar by Sir George Barlow,
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was now taken again under British protection. The raja

of Joudpore, brought to the brink of ruin by the rapacity of
the Mahrattas and Patans, eagerly accepted an offer which
released him from all further anxiety. Even the proud
house of Oodypore, which had never acknowledged the

supremacy of Mogul or Mahratta, now submitted to the
supremacy ofthe Company; and lastly, the raja of Jeypore,
seeing every other prince bending the knee to the ruling

power in India, came into the system of alliances. Within
four months, Mr. Metcalfe, the Resident at Delhi, to whom
the management of these negotiations was committed,
concluded the treaties of alliance with all these prince3

upon the principle of " subordinate co-operation and ac-
" knowledged supremacy."
The military operations on which Lord Hastings entered

r8l7 ^^^^ upon a larger scale even than those of Lord Welles-

Extent of
^^y^' ^^^ embraced the whole extent of country

military pre- from the Kistna to the Ganges, and from Cawn-
parations.

p^^.^ ^^ Quzerat. The armies of the three Presi-

dencies were called out, and, including irregulars and the

contingents of native princes, the entire force amounted to

116,000 infantry and cavalry, and 300 guns. The magni-
tude of this array was out of all proportion to the simple

object of exterminating bands of marauders who never
stood an attack ; but Lord Hastings was not ignorant that

the extinction of the Pindarees was opposed to the wishes
and the interests of the chief native powers, and that the

ever perfidious Peshwa was endeavouring to unite them in

a confederacy against the Government ; his preparations

were, therefore, intended to provide for any adverse move-
ments on their part. Happily, the powers of Governor-
General and Commander-in-Chief were united in his

person, and all the arrangements, political and military,

were regulated by the same undivided authority. The
veteran soldier of sixty-five took the field in person. The
plan of the campaign provided that four divisions should

advance from the Deccan, under the orders of Sir Thomas
Hyslop, the Madras Commander-in-Chief, and four from
the north-west, and converge on the camps of the Pinda-

rees.

In the north it was necessary to place a check on the

dubious intentions of Sindia and Ameer Khan. Sindia

Treaty with had at once agreed to the proposal to co-operate
Sindia. jn attacking the Pindarees, but rumours had
been diffused through his army that Bajee Rao was about
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to raise the national standard and assail the Company, and
his troops were eager to join in the warfare ; he himself

also had accepted twenty-five lacs of rupees from the a.d.

Peshwa. On the 10th October, a note was delivered to ^^^^

him, stating that as he had excited the Pindarees r^ie^ttack

the Company's territories, and had subsequently afforded

them an asylum on their return, the Governor-General

considered the treaty of 1805 abrogated, and was about to

enter into alliances with the chiefs of Malwa and Rajpoo-

tana, which that treaty had interdicted. He was now
required to manifest his sincerity by placing his troops at

the disposal of the British Government, and admitting a

garrison into the fortresses of Hindia and Aseergarh. To
quicken his decision, Lord Hastings took the field on the

16th October, and having crossed the Jumna marched
directly towards Gwalior. By this manoeuvre Sindia's

communications with the Peshwa and the Pindarees, and
even with the bulk of his own army then encamped in his

southern districts, was cut off, and he was isolated in his

capital with only 8,000 troops. He signed the treaty on
the approach of Lord Hastings, and saved his kingdom
from the fate which overtook the other Mahratta powers.

While the camp lay in the vicinity of Gwalior it was
desolated by a visitation of cholera, little, if at all, known
pi'eviously in India, which reduced the strength of the

force, including camp followers, to the extent of nearly

20,000 men. At the height of the disease. Lord Hastings
gave instructions to his staff that if he himself should fall a
victim to it, his body was to be silently buried in his tent,

lest his death should discourage the troops, and em-
bolden Sindia to attack the encampment in its prostrate

condition.

Ameer Khan was at this juncture scarcely less important 1817
a chieftain than Sindia. His army consisted of fifty-two

battalions with an efficient cavalry, and a hundred Ameer
and fifty guns. It was as necessary to break up Khan.

the Patan as the Pindaree force, and Lord Hastings did

not hesitate to compass that object by offering to confirm
him in the sovereignty of the districts he held belonging
to the Holkar state, on the condition of his disbanding his

force, and surrendering his guns at a valuation. He
wavered at first, but on hearing of the extinction of the
power of Bajee Rao and Appa Sahib, he accepted the
proposal and became an acknowledged feudatory prince,

with a territorial revenue of fifteen lacs a year.
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The advance of one division from Hindostan and two
from tlie Deccan towards the head-quarters of the Pinda-

*^-"- Outbreak of rees, became the signal for the explosion of the
1817 thePeshwa. plot which the Peshwa had organized among the

* Mahratta powers against the Company. He himself broke
out on the 5th November, the raja of Nagpore on the 26th,

and Holkar's army on the 16th December. After the

signature of the treaty of the 5th June, he went on pil-

grimage to Pundurpore, and soon after received a visit

from Sir John Malcolm. The credulous general allowed
himself to be so completely cajoled by the craft of the
Peshwa. into the belief of his cordial attachment to the
British Government, that he advised him to increase the

strength of his army. Under his advice, moreover.
General Smith's army was allowed to quit Poena, and the
cautionary fortresses were restored. Bajee Rao now
redoubled his preparations for war. From his private

hoards he advanced a crore to Gokla his commander, to

increase his levies and to provision his forts. He likewise

spared no pains to conciliate the southern jageerdars with
whom he had always been at issue, and endeavoured to

seduce the sepoys from their allegiance by large bribes,

but without success. He even laid a plan to assassinate

Mr. Elphinstone, but it was discountenanced by Gokla.

He returned to Poona in the beginning of October, and
it became daily more and more evident throughout the

month that a conflict was inevitable. Mr. Elphinstone,

therefore, fell back two miles to a more defensible position

at Kirkee, and called up a European regiment from
Bombay, but, even with this addition, the British force

collected for his protection did not exceed 3,000, while the

Mahratta army numbered 18,000.

The Peshwa was confident that Sindia and Ameer Khan
had already taken the field in accordance with their en-

Battieof gagements, and that their example would be
Kirkee. immediately followed by Holkar and the raja of

Nagpore ; and on the 5th November he plunged into hosti-

lities, but it was on this very day that Sindia signed the

treaty which neutralized his power. Towards noon he

sent an arrogant message to Mr. Elphinstone, propounding
the terms on which he would consent to remain on terms

of friendship with the Government. While his messenger

was on the way back, the plain was covered with masses

of cavalry, and a stream of soldiers issued from every

avenue of the city. Mr. Elphinstone wisely advised the

J
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commanding officer, Colonel Burr, to take the offejosive
;

and that veteran, though labouring under a disease which
soon after proved mortal, boldly charged into that vast

host, and obtained a signal victory with the loss of only

eighty-six men in killed and wounded. The battle of

Kirkee was one of the most biilliant in the annals of

British India, and inasmuch as it annihilated the kingdom
of the Peshwas was also one of the most decisive. General

Smith, hastened back to Poona ; but, although the Peshwa
had been reinforced by the troops of the southern jageer-

dars, he declined another engagement; and on the 17th

November, leaving his camp standing, decamped south-

ward with his army. Poona surrendered to the General,

and thus ingloriously fell the power of the Peshwa one
hundred years after it had been established by his great

grandfather, Ballajee Wishwanath,
Appa Sahib, the regent of Nagpore, continued on friendly

terms with the Resident for several months after the

conclusion of the subsidiary alliance, but on the Affairs at

1st February the imbecile raja Persajee was Nagpore.

found strangled in his bed, and subsequent enquiries fixed

the guilt on Appa Sahib, who immediately mounted the

throne. From that time forward there was a marked
change in his conduct, and he exhibited an anxiety to

relieve himself from the state of dependence in which the

alliance had placed him. He entered cordially into the

hostile views of the Peshwa, and bestowed a dress of

honour on the Pindaree leader, Cheetoo, who visited his

court to claim his aid. The Peshwa, then flying before

the British troops, conferred on him the title of Commander-
in-Chief of the Mahratta empire, and on the 24th November,
notwithstanding the remonstrance of the Resident, he pro-

ceeded to his camp to be invested with the insignia, and
this was immediately followed by an attack on the Resi-

dency. It was situated on two hills called the Seetabuldee,

the one lower than the other, in the immediate vicinity oi

the city. The force consisted of about 1,500 men, with
four six-pounders. The raja's army mustered 18,000, of

whom 4,000 were Arabs, the bravest soldiers in the Deccan,
and thirty-six guns. Throughout the night the Mahratta
artillery played on the hills, till at length a tumbril exploded,

and in the confusion of the moment the Arabs charged up
the smaller hill and captured the guns, and turned them
upon the larger hill. The whole of the raja's army now began
to close upon the encampment in all directions, and to

A.D.

1817
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A.D. prepare for a general assault. The ammunition at the
1817 Residency was running short; one-fourth of the little

force, which included fourteen officers, was either killed

or wounded, and its total annihilation appeared inevit-

able, when the fortune of the day was changed by the
gallantry of Captain Fitzgerald, commanding the three

troops of Bengal cavalry. Contrary to the impassioned
protest of his faint-hearted commander, he rushed upon the
main body of the enemy's horse with irresistible fury, and
captured two guns, which he turned upon them. The sight

of this gallant exploit roused the enthusiasm of the jaded
troops on the upper hill, who had been eighteen hours in-

cessantly fighting, and officers and men plunged down the

hill, fell upon the infantry, and chased it Kke a flock of sheep.

Reinforcements poured into Nagpore from all quarters,

and Mr. Jenkins, the Resident, dictated his own terms to

Deposition of the raja. He was required to disband his troops,
Appa Sahib, surrender his guns, and repair to the Residency,
and acknowledge the forfeiture of his kingdom ; these

terms were accepted. Lord Hastings had determined to

punish the atrocious perfidy of Appa Sahib by depriving

him of the throne ; but finding that Mr. Jenkins had
engaged to restore his royal dignity, he agreed to uphold
the engagement, and the raja resumed his authority on the

1818 8th January. But within a short time he offered the

Peshwa, then flying before his pursuers, an asylum in his

dominions, and prepared to join his camp himself. He
was also detected in exciting the forest tribes to insurrection

and impeding the surrender of his torts ; and Lord
Hastings ordered him to be deposed and sent to the holy

city of Benares, with an allowance of two lacs a year

;

but he saved the Company's exchequer this burden by
corrupting his guards on the line of march, and effecting

his escape. The next of kin was placed on the throne, and
the administration during his minority was placed in the

hands of Mr. Jenkins, under whom the country enjoyed

twelve years of unexampled prosperity.

Lord Hastings had made the offer of a treaty to Tool-

see bye, the regent of the Holkar state, and she had re-

Conflictwith spondedto it by sending a private communication
Holkar. to the Resident at Delhi, offering to place the

young prince and the state under British protection. All

the substantial power of the state was, however, in the

hands of the military chiefs, and as soon as it was known
that the Peshwa had risen in arms they resolved to march

i
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down and join his standard. The regent and the ministers

were suspected of a leaning to a British aUiance, and the

officers placed the chief minister under restraint, and, on
the evening of the 20th December, conveyed the bye to

the banks of the Sipree and struck off her head, and threw
her body into the stream. The army, 20,000 strong, then

marched down to join the Peshwa, and in their progress

found the British force, which was in pursuit of the

Pindaree leader Cheetoo, encamped at Mehidpore, where a
decisive engagement was fought on the 21st December. ^A^L

The Mahratta army was posted with great skill on the

banks of the Sipree, its left defended by an angle of the

stream, and its right by a deep morass, and the front pro-

tected by a formidable battery of seventy guns. The main
feature of the action was the rash step of crossing a difficult

river by a single ferry in the face of strong entrenchments,
and rushing forward to seize the guns which had silenced

the light field pieces of the English army. The sepoys

were mowed down by the enemy's cannon, but continued

to advance with unshaken steadiness, and at length suc-

ceeded in capturing the batteries, though not without the

loss of 778 in killed and wounded. The movements of the

day were directed by Sir John Malcolm, who was less of a
general than of a diplomatist; with better strategy the

same result might have been obtained with less slaughter.

Holkar's entire camp, with all his guns and military stores,

fell to the victors, and the power of the state was irre-

coverably broken. A treaty was soon after concluded, and
cessions of territory were made to the Company, to Zalim
Sing of Kotah, to Ameer Khan, and to his lieutenant,

which reduced the kingdom to two-thirds of its former
dimensions.

During the rainy season of 1817 the Pindarees were
encamped to the number of 23,000 under the three leaders

Cheetoo, Kureem Khan, and Wassil Mahomed,
oiierations

They were not ignorant of the measures in pro- against the

gress to extirpate them, and they implored aid "^ ^^^^' '

of the Mahratta princes, but they had enough to do to

protect themselves, and the different bodies of the Pindarees
were obliged to disperse as the British detachments advanced
upon them. Sindia, indeed, invited Kureem Khan and
Wassil Mahomed to Gwalior, but Lord Hastings imme-
diately took up a position which prevented their advance.

They then turned off to the west, where they were inter-

cepted by General Donkin, who captured Kureem Khan's
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elephants, kefctle-drums, standards, and family. The two
leaders burnt their tents and fled southward with about
4,000 of their best horsemen, and their followers were cut
up by the British troops and the exasperated villagers

whom they had subjected to plunder. The chiefs were so
hotly pursued that they were constrained at length to
surrender at discretion, and one of them was settled on a
small estate in the province of Ghazepore ; the other was
placed under surveillance, and put a period to his life by
poison. The most renowned of the leaders, Cheetoo, was
pursued by Sir John Malcolm ; his bivouac was repeatedly
beaten up, and he wandered about for a twelvemonth with
a handful of followers who gradually deserted him, and
being at last separated by hunger from his son and his last

companion, plunged into a jungle infested with tigers.

After a diligent search his horse was discovered grazing
saddled and bridled, and not far off the mangled remains
of this renowned freebooter who had recently ridden forth

at the head of 20,000 men.
These military and political operations are equally

remarkable for the rapidity with which they were executed .

Result of the ^^^ f^)^ ^^^ Completeness of their result. In the
campaign, middle of Octobcr 181 7, the Mahrattas, Pindarees,

A.D. and Patans, presented an array of more than 150,000 horse

1817 and foot, and 500 cannon, prepared to try conclusions with
the British Government. In the course of four months
this formidable armament was utterly broken up. The
power of Sindia was paralysed ; the army of Holkar
existed only in name ; the Peshwa was a fugitive ; the

Patan force of Ameer Khan was disbanded, and the Pin-

darees had disappeared ; the Mahratta commonwealth was
irretrievably dissolved, and every military organisation

within the Sutlej was extinguished, with the exception of that

of Sindia which ceased to be formidable. The effect of the

campaign, moreover, was to subjugate not only the native

armies but the native mind, and to convince both princes

and people that the sceptre of India was now definitely

transfeiTcd to a foreign power. To the chiefs who lost

their independence, and with it that feeling of dig^ty
which was sometimes the parent of royal virtues, the

change was a calamity, but to the community at large it

was an unquestionable blessing. General tranquillity took

the place of universal violence under the guarantee of a

power willing and able to maintain it. A feeling of sub-

stantial security was diffused through Central India, and its
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inhabitants sought the means of subsistence and distinction

by cultivating the arts of peace and not by war and rapine.

The settlement of India in 1818 was, moreover, built on so

sound and solid a foundation that it has required fewer

modifications than so great a political structure might
have been expected to need. Having thus extinguished

all opposition, Lord Hastings proclaimed the universal

sovereignty of the Company throughout the continent, and
declared that the Indus was to all intents and purposes the

boundary of their dominion.

Bajee Rao began his retreat southward on the 28th a.d.

November, and on passing Satara caused the raja and his ^'^^^

family, the descendants of Sevajee, to be brought Battle of

into his camp. Finding himself closely pursued Korygaum.
^

by General Smith, he turned northward towards Poona.
Colonel Burr, the commandant, immediately called down
to his support the detachment left at Seroor, under
Captain Stanton, consisting of one battalion of infantry

and 300 irregular horse. He commenced his march at

eight in the evening, and reached the village of Korygaura,
. sixteen miles from Poona, at ten the next morning, when,
to his surprise, he perceived the whole army of the Peshwa,
25,000 strong, encamped on the opposite bank of the river.

The Mahratta troops were immediately sent across

against this handful of soldiers exhausted by a fatiguing

march through the night, and destitute both of provisions

and water, but the officers and men met the shock with
invincible resolution. The engagement was kept up
throughout the day, and every inch of ground in the Jan. 1

village was disputed with desperate valour, but it ended ^^^^

in the discomfiture and retreat of the Mahrattas. The
most remarkable feature of this brilliant engagement lay

in the fact that the sepoys were without any European
support except twenty-four artillery men, of whom twenty
were killed and wounded. Of eight officers engaged, three

were wounded and two killed ; the total loss amounted to

187.

On leaving Korygaum the Peshwa again marched south-

ward, always keeping ahead of his pursuers, but he was
suddenly overtaken at Ashtee, and, after re- p •. ^
preaching his general Gokla for allowing him to surrender of

be surprised, quitted his palankeen and mounted ti^e Peshwa.

his horse and fled, leaving the general to cover his retreat.

Stung with the reproaches of his master, and determined
not to survive the day, he placed himself at the head of
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300 horse and rushed on the British cavalry, and, after

receiving three pistol shots and three sabre cuts, expired
on the field of honour, the last and one of the noblest of

the great Mahratta commanders. The raja of Satara vras

rescued at Ashtee. The Peshwa, hunted out of the
Deccan, moved again to the north, crossed the Taptee, and
advanced to the Nerbudda, but the fords were guarded
and the different divisions of the army were closing upon
him, when, seeing no chance of escape, he appealed to the

weakness of Sir John Malcolm, calling him " his oldest

J3jg
" and best friend." Strange to say, he was admitted to an
interview, when he so thoroughly cajoled him by his

flatteries, that at a time when his fortunes were desperate

.and he must have surrendered at discretion, the imprudent
general engaged to allow him eight lacs a year, and made
other concessions equally unwise and preposterous. Lord
Hastings, who had destined him an allowance of only two
lacs, was not a little mortified at the prodigality of these

terms, but felt himself bound in honour to ratify them.
A proclamation had been previously issued announcing
that the Peshwa and his family were for ever excluded
from the throne. A small portion of the territory, yielding

about fifteen lacs of rupees a year, was then erected into

a separate principality and bestowed on the descendant of

Sevajee, and the remainder was incorporated in the Com-
pany's territories. The Peshwa was conducted to Bithoor,

near Cawnpore, where he lived long enough to receive two
crores and a half of rupees from the treasury in Calcutta.

1818 The country which had been the scene of warfare, was
studded with forts which held out for some time after the

Captweof submission of the princes. They were garri-
lorts. soned in general by Arab mercenaries, whose
services were valued not only for their courage and fidelity,

but as a counterpoise to the native soldiery, among whom
a spirit of insubordination was traditionary. The capture

of the fort of Talneir was marked by the untoward
circumstance of the massacre of 300 of the garrison in hot

blood, owing to a misunderstanding, and by the unjust

execution of the commandant, which tarnished the laurels

of Sir Thomas BUslop. At length the only fort which had

1819 not submitted was Aseergurh, for the surrender of which
Sindia had given an official order on the commandant, but

he had private orders not to deliver it, and it was not

captured till a batteiy of more than sixty guns had played

on it for a fortnight.
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SECTION IV.

LORD Hastings's administration—home proceedings—
EDUCATION—THE PRESS—PALMER AND CO.

Mr. Canningmoved the usual vote of thanks to Lord Hastings a.d.

and to the army in the House of Commons ; but he qualified ^^^^

his eulogy by stating that the House and the Home pro-

country were in the habit of appreciating the feedings.

triumphs of our armies in India with great jealousy ; that,

almost uniformly successfal as our military operations had
been in that part ofthe world, they had almost as uniformly

been considered questionable in point of justice ; that the

termination of a war in India, however glorious, was
seldom contemplated with unmixed satisfaction, and that

the increase of our territories was ascribed by sober reflec-

tion and impartial philosophy to a spirit of systematic

encroachment and ambition. These considerations, he said,

were not necessarily applicable to the Mahratta and Pin-

daree war, but the House was to understand that the

vote was intended merely as a tribute to the military

conduct of the campaign, and not in any sense as a

sanction of the policy of the war. In the same captious

spirit the Court of Directors, while duly appreciating " the
" foresight, promptitude, and vigour with which Lord
" Hastings had dispersed the gathering elements of a
" hostile conspiracy," recorded their deep regret that any
circumstances should have led to an increase of territory.

Lord Hastings had lost caste at the India House, and it's

official communications to him were scarcely less acrimo-

nious than those which had been addressed to Clive, to

Warren Hastings, and to Lord Wellesley. The despatch
written on receiving information of the brilliant termina-
tion of the campaign was loaded with petulant and
frivolous animadversions, and " not mitigated," as Lord
Hastings observed, "by the slightest indication of satis-

" faction at the fortunate issue of the military exertions."

They censured him for disregarding their orders regarding
the reduction of the army, though they had undoubted
evidence that, under existing circumstances, on the eve
of a great and inevitable conflict, to have carried them
out would have been fatal to the interests of the empire.

In anticipation of extensive military operations he had

L



338 ABEIDGMENT OF THE HISTOEY OF INDIA [Chap. X.

remodelled the Quarter-master-General's department, and
he was censured by the Court for not having previously

obtained their sanction, while they pressed on him the

appointment of one of their own nominees to the post,

of whom Lord Hastings remarked in his correspondence,

that it would be difficult to find in the whole army a

field officer more signally unfit for the post. In the same
spirit of antagonism, the honours so richly earned by the

heroes of Kirkee, and Seetabuldee, and Korygaum, were
withheld from them.
The pacification and final settlement of India would

have been a sufficient distinction for any administration,

Encourage- ^^^ Lord Hastings established a higher claim to

mentof public gratitude, by the encouragement which
uca ion.

j^^ ^^g ^^^ ^Tst to give to the intellectual im-

provement of the natives. The India House had hitherto

acted upon the principle that any attempt to enlighten the

A.D. people would create political aspirations which might
1818 endanger their power, and lead to its subversion. Lord

Hastings repudiated this policy, and in one of his public

addresses stated that " it would be treason against British
" sentiment to imagine that it ever could be the principle
" of this Government to perpetuate ignorance in order to
" secure paltry and dishonest advantages over the blindness

"of the multitude." These enlightened views gave an
immediate and powerful impulse to the cause of education.

Lady Hastings had already set an example by establishing

a school at Barrackpore Park, and compiling treatises for

the scholars. Schools also sprang up in the districts

around Calcutta through the agency of the missionaries,

and were fostered by a liberal donation from Government.
Some of the most wealthy and influential native gentlemen
in the metropolis raised large subscriptions, and esta-

blished the Hindoo College for the education of their

children and relatives in the English language and Euro-
pean science. All the efforts which have since been made
with constantly increasing vigour, to impart knowledge to

the native community, date from this period.

Emboldened by this liberal policy and the success of Lord
Hastings, the Serampore Missionaries, on the 31stMay 1818,

issued the first native newspaper, entitled the

ings and " Sumachar Durpun," or Mirror of Intelligence.
the Press. ijij^-g attempt to rouse the native mind from its

torpidity, by the stimulus of a public journal, created great

alarm among the leading men in the Government, but Lord
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Hastings afforded every encouragement to it ; he manifested

the same spirit of liberality towards the English Press, and,
notwithstanding the violent opposition of the members of

his Council, removed the censorship which had been im-
posed by Lord Wellesley during the anarchy of war. In
deference, however, to the despotic sensibilities of the

governing class, he imposed severe restrictions on the

editors regarding the subjects and the personages which
were to be exempted from remark, but the exceptions

soon fell into abeyance. In vindication of his policy, he a.d.

stated, in reply to an address from Madras, " that he was 1818
" in the habit of considering the freedom of publication
" as the natural right of his fellow subjects, to be narrowed
" only by special and urgent cause assigned ;" and, further,

that " it was salutary for supreme authority, even when its

"intentions were most pure, to look to the control of
" public opinion." This heterodox doctrine gave mortal
offence at the India House, and a despatch was immediately
drafted, reprobating the abolition of the censorship, and
directing that it should be immediately reimposed, but
the despatch was suppressed by Mr. Canning.

In the year 1816 the peaceful province of Orissa became 1816

the scene of disturbances. On the acquisition cf the
country in 1803, a swarm of Bengalee baboos ^.

flocked into it, and obtained possession of every ances at

official post of influence, and by their knowledge Cuttack.

of the mysteries of civil and fiscal legislation were enabled
to take advantage of the simplicity of the people, and to

deprive them of their lands. The province was also over-

assessed, the zemindars were improvident, and half the

estates were brought to the hammer, and bought up by the

Bengalee oflicials in the courts, often at a nominal price.

To add to the wretchedness of the province, the salt

monopoly was introduced, and the cost of this necessary of
life was increased sixfold in a country where the sea

furnished it spontaneously. Under this accumulation of
misery, the people sold all they possessed, and then their

wives and children, and finally took to the jungle. The
country being thus ripe for revolt, one Jugbundoo, the
hereditary commander of the old Hindoo dynasty, raised

the standard of rebellion and collected about 3,000 men,
with whom he plundered the civil station of Khoorda, and
repulsed two detachments of sepoys. This success aug-
mented his force, and he took possession of the town of

Pooree, and burnt down the European residences, but the
z2
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Collector escaped witli his treasury to Cuttack. The
triumph of the insurgents was, however, short, and they
were dispersed by the troops which poured into the pro-

vince. The people were assured that their grievances

would be redressed if they were peaceably represented to

Government, and they at once submitted to its authority,

A special Commissioner was appointed to the charge of the

province, the most notorious of the rapacious oflB.cials were
punished, and the assessment was reduced by 40 per cent.

Its tranquillity has never since been interrupted, and
another proof has been afforded that, with a moderate
assessment and congenial institutions, and an equitable

apd speedy administration of justice, few countries are

more easy to govern than India, even under the sceptre of

foreigners.

The financial results of Lord Hastings's administration

were auspicious. Notwithstanding the war of eighteen

months' duration in the mountains of Nepaul, and

1822 aS^tert- ^^^ employment in the field of eight armies dur-
toriaiin- ing the Pindarec and Mahratta campaign, the

treasury was at no period m so prosperous a con-

dition as at the close of his government. The state bonds,

which were at a discount of 12 per cent, on his arrival,

were at 14 per cent, premium at his departure. The debt

had indeed increased four crores and a half, but the cash

balances in the various treasuries exceeded by five crores

the amount when he landed. The permanent revenue had
increased by six crores, and the permanent expenditure

by four, leaving a clear surplus of two crores of rupees
;

the year 1822 may therefore be considered the palmy
period of Indian finance. Lord Hastings entered upon the

Pindaree campaign with the confident expectation that the

pacification of the continent would be effected without
adding a foot to the Company's territories, but " the irre-

" pressible tendency of our Indian power to enlarge its

" boundary," which Mr. Canning had lamented, was fatal

to this hope. The unprovoked aggression and complete

overthrow of the Mahratta powers placed their territories

at his disposal. He restored the larger portion of their

dominions to Holkar and to the raja of Nagpore, but he
considered that the annexation of the whole of Bajee Rao's

kingdom—the territory of Satara excepted—was forced on
him " by the imperious necessity of guarding against the
" speedy renewal of a treachery so rooted in its nature as

"to admit of no other prevention." It was annexed to
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the Bombay Presidency, and the management of it en-

trusted to one of the ablest of the Company's statesmen,

Mr. Mount Stuart Elphinstone. The utter indifference

manifested by Parliament to Indian affairs throughout
Lord Hastings's administration afforded a singular contrast

to the active and energetic movements of the Government
in India. Mr. Dundas had introduced the practice of an

annual budget, tliat Parliament might be reminded, at least

once a year, of the existence of the Indian empire. But
so utterly lukewarm had Parliament become to its affairs, a.d.

that Mr. Canning, the President of the Board, stated to the 1816

House that " the Indian budget was always considered a dull ^°

" and disagreeable subject, and the practice of making
" budget speeches had therefore been discontinued. The
" time and attention of the House was quite as much occu-

"pied without throwing away a day in the discussion of a
" subject which was sure to drive gentlemen away from it."

During the five years of his tenure of office, the only occa-

sion on which he touched on the subject of India in the

House, except when moving thanks to Lord Hastings, was
in reference to a bill for legalizing Scotch marriages there.

Yet it was in this period of neglect that the great revolu-

tion in Lord Hastings's administi*ation was consummated,
that twenty-eight actions were fought, and a hundred nd
twenty forts captured, and the sovereignty of Great Britain

proclaimed throughout the continent of India.

One of the last acts of Lord Hastings had reference to

Hyderabad. Meer Alum, who had managed the affairs of
the state with consummate talent for thirty years, Hyderabad
died in 1808, when, after an irritating discussion and Chun-

with Lord Minto, Moneer-ool-moolk, whom the
"^

Resident described as both a coward and a fool, was
appointed minister, while all the substantial power in the

state was given to Chundoo Lall, a Hindoo of great ability,

experience and energy. The Court of Directors interdicted

all interference with the internal administration of Hydera-
bad, and directed the Resident to confine his attention to

the reform of the contingent of 6,000 foot and 9,000 horse,

which the Nizam was obliged by the treaty of 1800 to

furnish in time of war. These levies, which were a mere
rabble, were converted by the strenuous exertions of the
Resident into an efficient force, disciplined and commanded
by officers drawn from the Company's army, with which it

was soon able to vie in military spirit and qualifications.

As the force was entirely at the disposal of Chundoo Lall,
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he was not disposed to check its profuse expenditure. It

was not only over-officered, but the officers were overpaid.

It became a source of valuable patronage to the Resident,

and, however beneficial in time of war, was, in a season of

peace, Little more than a magnificent job.

A.D. The administration of Chundoo Lall was, with some
1809 intervals of repose, the scourge of the country for thirty-

oo''^ Administra- ^^6 years. It was upheld by British power,
tionofchun- but not controlled by British honesty ; nothing
'^ *

flourished but corruption
;
judicial decrees could

be obtained only for money ; the land was farmed out to

the highest bidder, and the farmer had the power of life

and death ; the utmost farthing was wrung from the

wretched peasant, hundreds of villages were deserted, and,

in the absence of cultivation, food rose to famine prices.

The wealth thus obtained was expended by Chundoo Lall in

fortifying his position. He erected a noble palace for the

Resident and fitted it up with the most costly furniture

from Bond street ; he bribed the courtiers, and subsidized

the zenana, and secured the favour of the Nizam by
indulging his royal passion for hoarding. Mr. Metcalfe

was appointed Resident in November 1820, and, on sur-

veying the state of the country, resolved on a vigorous
reform. Some of his political assistants, and some of the

officers of the contingent were placed in charge of districts

;

a lenient assessment was made, and the current of oppression

checked. Security was at once established ; villages were
repeopled, cultivation was resumed, and rents were col-

lected without a military force.

Mr, Metcalfe had not, however, been long at Hyderabad
without perceiving that every prospect of improvement was

Palmer endangered by the transactions of Palmer and
and Co. Qq. with the state, Mr. WilHam Palmer had
established a banking-house at Hyderabad in 1814, and
soon after became connected with Chundoo Lall, and began
to make advances to the Nizam's treasury. The express

sanction of the Government of India to such transactions

was required by Act of Parliament ; and, with the con-

sent of the Council, and in accordance with the opinion

of the Advocate-General, Lord Hastings gave his assent to

them, and loans were accordingly made from time to time,

but at twenty-five per cent, interest. In 1820, the firm was
joined by Sir W. Rumbold, who had married a ward of

Lord Hastings, whom he regarded with paternal fondness.

In an evil hour, he wrote to Sir William, " The partners
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" speculate that your being one of the firm will interest me
" in the welfare of the house. It is a fair and honest con-
" elusion. The amount of advantage which the countenance i^^i)
" of Government may bestow must be uncertain, as I

" apprehend it would flow principally from the opinion the
" natives would entertain of the respect likely to be paid
" by their own Government to an establishment known to
" stand well with the supreme Government." This com-
munication was widely circulated by Sir William, and
placed the house on a firm footing at Hyderabad, and there

was a constant stream of loans, at exorbitant interest, to the

Nizam, and fresh assignments of territory as security for

them.
Mr. Metcalfe could not fail to observe that Palmer and

Co. were becoming a dangerous power in the state, that

the public revenues were passing into their hands, jjj. ^j-^,^

and that the government of the Nizam was caife's repre-

prostrate before them. He ventured at length
^®°*^'^''"^

to communicate his views on the subject to Lord Hastings,

but found that his mind had been prepossessed, and his

feelings worked on by the correspondence of the Rumbold
family; and his representations were resented. Chundoo Lall

had been put up by the firm to solicit the sanction of the

Governor-General in Council to a loan of sixty lacs, for the

professed object of paying up the public establishments, of

repaying debts due to native brokers, and making advances
to the ryots. Lord Hastings considered these to be legiti-

mate objects, and gave his casting vote to the proposal.

But Mr. Metcalfe learnt on his arrival that only a fraction

of this loan had found its way to the Nizam's treasury
;

that the sum of eight lacs was a. bonus to the members of the

firm, and that the remainder consisted of sums advanced,

or said to have been advanced, to the Nizam's minister

without the consent of the Government in Calcutta, whose
sanction was thus surreptitiously obtained to these loans.

This transaction was too gross to admit of any palliation,

and it was severely censured both by Lord Hastings and
the members of Council. By compound interest at twenty-
five per cent.. Palmer and Co. swelled their demand on the

Nizam to a crore of rupees, and the Government, anxious

to put a peremptory stop to these transactions, determined
that the whole debt should be at once discharged—with
the exception of the clandestine bonus. By the dis-

graceful treaty of 1768, the Madras Government had
engaged to pay the Nizam an annual tribute of seven lacs
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for the Northern Sircars, and the payment had been

1822 pimctually made for half a century. It was now capitalized,

and the Nizam was released from the grasp of the firm,

which became insolvent within twelve months.
The antipathy of the Court of Directors which was

repeatedly manifested towards Lord Hastings by their

Thanks of captious criticisms, their reluctant praise, and
the India their eager censure, became more violent after

he had given freedom to the press, and par-

ticularly so after Sir W. Rumbold had joined the Hyder-
abad firm, and they issued peremptory orders to revoke
the licence which Government had given to the firm.

Their despatch implied a mistrust of his motives in that

transaction, and exhibited a determination to identify him
with all their obnoxious proceedings. Indignant at these

insinuations, and at the offensive tone of their despatches

he sent in his resignation, on the ground that he had lost

their confidence. They assured him that he was entirely

mistaken, and voted him their thanks for " the unremitting
" zeal and eminent ability with which, during a period of
" nine years, he had administered the government ofBritish
" India with such high credit to himself and advantage to
" the interests of the Company." The Proprietors eagerly

concurred in this opinion, and desired the Directors to convey
to him " the expression of their admiration, gratitude, and
" applause." He embarked for England on the 1st of

January, 1823.

In the grand work which Lord Hastings accomplished of

consolidating the British empire, and, as the natives

E tim te f
^^P^'^ssed it, " bringing all India under one

his adminis- " Umbrella," he exhibited talent of the highest
tration. order, though he may not stand on the same
level of political genius with Warren Hastings or Lord
Wellesley. His administration was made grateful to the

inhabitants of the Mahomedan capital of India by restoring

the canal which had been dry for sixty years, and giving

them the blessing of pure water without a water cess. The
improvement of Calcutta, devised by Lord Wellesley but

which he was unable to complete in the last year of his

government, was accomplished by Lord Hastings. The
ventilation and the health of the town were promoted by
opening a street through the centre sixty feet wide, and lay-

ing out squares with reservoirs of water ; while the foreshore

of the river, which was a disgraceful cesspool, was adorned

with a noble embankment worthy of the " city of palaces."



Sbct. IW] debate at THE INDIA HOUSE 345

No Governor-General ever laboured more assiduously

in the performance of his duty. Though approaching the

age of seventy, he was at his desk at four in the morning
;

and in the fervid climate of Bengal, which is now con-

sidered insupportable since the means of escaping from it

have been multiplied, he worked for seven years at the

rate of seven and eight hours a day without a hill station

to resort to, or even a sea-going steamer at his command.
Within two years of his return to Europe, Mr. Douglas *•"•

Kinnaird brought forward a proposal in the Court of
**

Proprietors to make him a pecuniary grant be-
pgjj^^^ ^(.

fitting the greatness of his services. It served the India'

to disclose the strong current of rancour which House.

underlay the crust of official compliment embodied in the

tribute of " admiration, gratitude, and applause," which
that Court had recently voted. The motion was met by an
amendment, calling for all the papers connected with the

transactions at Hyderabad. They occupied a thousand
foolscap pages, and gave rise to a debate which, having all

the reHsh of personality, was prolonged for six days, at the

end of which time, Mr. Astell, the chairman of the Court
of Directors, moved as an amendment to the original

motion that, " while admitting that there was no ground
" for imputing corrupt motives to the late Goveraor-
" General, the Court of Proprietors records its approbation
" of all the despatches sent out by the Court of Directors."

These despatches, four in number, charged Lord Hastings,

among other misdemeanours, with having lent the Com-
pany's credit to the transactions at Hyderabad for the

sole benefit of Messrs. Palmer and Co., with proceedings
which were without a parallel in the history of the East
India Company, and with assuming to elude all check and
control. The approbation of these despatches was, neces-

sarily, the severest condemnation which could be passed
on him, but the vote was carried by a majority of 212.

Thus did the East India Company dismiss the man who
had raised them to the pinnacle of greatness with the
verdict that he was simply " not guilty of having acted
" from corrupt motives." But the Company, princely

beyond all other rulers in their munificence, were not
superior to the influence of vulgar prejudices, and they
now added another name to the roll of illustrious men—

•

Clive, and Warren Hastings, and Lord Wellesley—whom
they rewarded with ingratitude. Lord Hastings died at

Malta on the 24th August, 1827, and in the succeeding
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year the India House endeavoured to make some atone-

ment for the vote of censure, and placed 20,000Z. at the

disposal of his family.

CHAPTEE XI.

SECTION I.

LORD AMHERST—BURMESE ^VAR—BHURTPORE—BARRACEPORE
MUTINY.

On the receipt of Lord Hastings's resignation, the post of

Governor-General was accepted by Mr. Canning, the late

. President of the Board of Control, but, on the

Governor- evc of embarkation, the death of Lord London-
General, derry led to his appointment as foreign Secretary

of State. Two candidates then appeared for this splendid

office; Lord William Bentinck, who had been unjustly

removed from Madras by the Court of Directors in the

height of the Vellore panic, and who was pre-eminently
qualified for it ; and Lord Amherst, whose claim rested on
his embassy to Pekin, and the exemplary fortitude with

j^^^
which he had borne the arrogance of the Court.

JO 23 Amherst The preference was given to him, and he landed

GelZir at Calcutta on the 1st August. During the

interregnum, the government devolved on Mr.
John Adam, the senior member of Council, a meritorious

jj . , officer of considerable ability and experience, but
totally disqualified for the highest post in the

empire by the strength of his local partialities and preju-

dices. His brief administration of seven months is now
remembered only by his persecution of the press. Mr.
Buckingham had come out to Calcutta in 1818, and
established the " Calcutta Journal," the ablest newspaper
which had till then appeared in India. He availed himself

of the freedom granted to the press by Lord Hastings, and
commented on public measures with a degree of freedom
which was considered politically dangerous. But the great

offence of the journal consisted in the poignancy with which
a little knot of wits in the service ridiculed the weaknesses
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and follies of some of the leading members of the Govern- ^.n.

ment. They had been nursed in the lap of despotism, and 1823

resented the sarcasms of the press. Mr. Adam had sys-

tematically opposed Lord Hastings's liberality to the press,

and only waited for his departure to reverse it. Soon
after taking office, therefore, he passed a stringent regu-

lation which completely extinguished all freedom; and
as Mr. Buckingham, instead of bending to the storm,

which was too violent to last, continued to write with

unmitigated severity, he was banished from the country

and ruined.

Lord Amherst had no sooner assumed the government
than he found himself involved in hostile discussions

with the Burmese, which, in the course of five Eiseof the

months, resulted in a declaration of war. The Burmese.

ultra-Gangetic kingdom of Burmah lies to the east of

Bengal, from which it is separated by hills and forests,

inhabited by various tribes of barbarians. Four years 1761

after the battle of Plassy, Alompra, a man of obscure birth,

but cast in the same mould as Hyder AH and Runjeet

Sing, who had began his cai'eer with a hundred followers,

established a new dynasty at Ava. Aggression and con-

quest became as usual the element of this new power.

The province of Tenasserim was wrested from the Siamese,

and the principality of Arracan, which was separated from
the Company's territories only by the Teek Naaf, was
annexed. More than 30,000 of its inhabitants were driven

by the oppression of the Burmese officials to take refuge

in the neighbouring districts of Chittagong, where they

were settled on waste lands. The Burmese authorities

repeatedly demanded their extradition, but the Governor-
General steadily refused to deliver them up to a Govern-
ment proverbial for its cruelty. The king of Ava,
exasperated by our firmness, at length sent a rescript to

Lord Hastings, demanding the surrender of the whole of

eastern Bengal. "Those districts," he said, "do not belong
" to India—they are ours ; if you continue to retain them,
" we will come and destroy your country." Lord Hastings
treated the letter as a forgery, and enclosed it to the king.

The course of aggression was continued without cessation,

and in 1822, Maha Bundoola, the national hero, reduced 1822

the kingdom of Assam, which abutted on the Company's
district of Rungpore, and then the principality of Munee-
pore, at no great distance from our eastern frontier. The
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its authority over territories 800 miles in extent, stretching
from the confines of Bengal to those of China. The uni-

form success of every enterprise had filled the Burmese
court with an overweening conceit of its strength, and the
evident indisposition of the English Government to engage
in war with them inspired the whole nation with a desire

to try conclusions with it in the field.

A.D. The immediate cause of the war was an arrogant demand
1823 made by the Burmese governor of Arracan for the sur-

Originof render of the little island of Shahpooree, lying
the war.

g^|. ^j^g estuary of the Teek Naaf, on which a
small guard had been posted. The Governor-General
proposed a joint commission to investigate the question of

right, to which the Burmese replied by sending 1,000 men
who put a portion of the feeble detachment to the sword,
and hoisted the Burmese flag. Lord Amherst immediately
sent a force to dislodge them, and addressed a letter to

the king stating that, however desirous he might be of

remaining at peace, he must resort to force if such insults

were repeated. The court of Ava was now confirmed in

the conviction that the English dreaded an encounter v>ath

their troops, and Maha Bundoola was despatched with a
large army to Arracan, with orders to expel them from
Bengal, and to send the Governor-General to Ava bound
in the golden fetters which he took with him. Lord
Amherst, finding that every efibrt to maintain peace only
served to increase the arrogance of the Burmese, issued a
declaration of war in February.
The Burmese were the most contemptible enemy with

1824 -vpliom the British arms had come in contact. Their array

Arrange- was a WTctched half-armed rabble, without either
ments of valour Or discipline. Their weapons were simply
campaign, swords and pikes of an inferior description, with

a few muskets, and their chief defence lay in the admirable

skill and rapidity with which they were able to construct

stockades. At the commencement of the war the

Government in Calcutta was profotmdly ignorant of the

resources, the military force, or even the topography of

Burmah, and for the planning of the campaign depended on
the advice of Captain Canning, who had acquired some
knowledge of the country. He represented that the

occupation of Rangoon, the great port of the Irrawaddy,

would paralyze the Burmese authorities, and that pro-

visions and draft cattle, as well as the means of building a

flotilla to navigate the rivers, might be obtained in abun-
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dance. The expedition was assembled in tte spacious

harbour of Port Comwallis, in the largest of the Andaman
islands, and consisted of about 11,000 troops, European and
native, under the command of Sir Archibald Campbell,

who had served with distinction under the Duke in Spain.

The fleet of transports was convoyed by three vessels of

war, and by the Diana, a little steamer recently built in

Calcutta, the first ever floated in eastern waters. The
campaign opened inauspiciously. The defence of the

frontier at Chittagong had been left to a small and inade-

quate force, and a weak detachment of 300 native infantry,

under Captain Noton, with some local levies, held a post

on the extreme boundary, a hundred miles from the

nearest support. Maha Bundoola came down upon this

little band with an army estimated at more than 10,000
men. The levies fled at the first onset, the sepoys main-
tained the conflict gallantly for three days with little food

or rest, and were then constrained to retreat, and of the

officers five were killed and three wounded.
The expedition arrived ofi" Rangoon on the 12th of May, a.d.

to the inexpressible surprise of the Burmese, who had never 1824

dreamt that the English, whom Bundoola had Tie army at

been sent to expel from Bengal, would venture Rangoon.

to attack them in their own territories. The only defence

of the town consisted of a teak stockade, with a battery of

indifierent guns, which was silenced by the first broadside

from the Ldffey. The troops landed without opposition,

but found the town deserted. The Governor had ordered
the whole population, men, women, and children, to retire

into the jungles with their provisions and cattle, and the

order was implicitly obeyed. The British encampment was
isolated ; all local supplies were cut ofi", all hope of advanc-
ing to the capital, either by land or water, was extinguished,

and Sir Archibald was obliged to confine his attention to

the shelter of the troops during the rains. Within a week
after the occupation of the town, they set in with extreme
violence, the country around became a swamp, and malaria
brought disease and death into the camp. The want of

wholesome food rendered the condition of the troops still

more deplorable. There was no lack of cattle around the
town, which would have amply supplied their wants, but
the Government in Calcutta had forbidden the commander
{o touch them, in deference to the Boodhist prejudices of the

Burmese, and the European soldiers were condemned to

starvation, that the cows might hve. The army became
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dependent on supplies from Calcutta, then proverbial for

the dishonesty of its contractors ; the meat was putrescent,

and the maggoty biscuits crumbled, under the touch.

The troops were left in this state of destitution for five

months, owing to the culpable neglect of the commissariat

department ; and it was only through the prompt and inde-

fatigable exertions of Sir Thomas Munro, the governor of

Madras, that the army was preserved from annihilation

;

but the unhealthiness of the climate and the want of whole-

some nourishment filled the hospitals, and of a body of

11,000 scarcely 3,000 remained fit for duty.

A.D. At the beginning of 1825, General Richards occupied the
1825 province of Assam without resistance. Under the advice

of the Commander-in-Chief, two expeditions were
Assam and also Organized to enter Burmah by land, the one
Aracan. from the north through Cachar and Muneepore

;

the other, through Ai-racan, but both of them proved abor-

tive. The Cachar force under Colonel Shuldham, 7,000
strong, was enabled to advance by the road which the

pioneers had opened with infinite labour to a position

within ninety miles of Muneepore, but the country beyond
it consisted of an unbroken succession of abrupt hills

clothed to the summit with impenetrable forests, and dales

rendered impassable by quagmires. The rains set in early,

and as it was deemed impossible to transport the stores and
artillery, and the appliances of civilized warfare through
these impediments, the expedition was given up. The
Arracan force was still more unfortunate. The commander,
Colonel Morrison, was a king's officer of good repute, but
he had a contempt for the officers of the Company's service

who were acquainted with the nature of the country, and
the peculiarities of Indian warfare, and rejected their advice.

The army was three months marching 250 miles along the

coast, and did not reach the capital of Arracan till it was
too late to make any further advance. One-fourth of the

force likewise fell victims to the climate, and two-thirds of

the remainder were in hospitals. As an organized body,

indeed, the army had ceased to exist ; and on one occasion,

when a wing of a regiment was ordered on parade, only

one soldier appeared to answer to his name.
The king of Ava at length determined to collect the

strength of his kingdom for one vigorous effiart to expel

Second the invaders, and Maha Bundoola was sent down
1824 campaign, "vvrith 60,000 men to Rangoon, and arrived in front

of the British encampment on the 1st December. Within



Sect. I.J SECOND BUEMESE CAMPAIGN 351

a few hours, it was enveloped by stockades, which appeared

to spring up one after another in rapid succession as if by
the wand of an enchanter. But the Burmese, though skilful

in fortifying their position, were unable to stand the shock of

the British battaHons, and, after sustaining two defeats, re-

tired to Donabew, forty miles higher up the river. Sir

Archibald Campbell, after having been idly encamped for

nine months at Rangoon, and lost two months of the

second season of operations, at length moved up towards
^^^

the capital on the 13th February, in two columns, the one 1825
by land under his personal command ; the other by the

river under Brigadier Cotton. On coming abreast of

Donabew, the Brigadier found that all the resources of

the Burmese engineers had been employed in strengthening

the fortifications, which stretched a mile along the bank, and
were garrisoned by 12,000 men and 150 guns, such as they
were. In his assault on the place, he was vigorously re-

pulsed, and, as he had unwisely left one of his regiments in

the rear, pronounced his force unequal to the capture of the

place. Sir Archibald, who was considerably in advance, felt

it necessary to retrace his steps to reinforce Brigadier

Cotton, and another month was thus sacrificed. On the

1st April, a shower of shells and rockets was poured down
on the fortified town of Donabew, and the next morning 1825

the whole of the Burmese army was observed to be in full

retreat. On the preceding night Bandoola had been killed

by the bursting of a shell, and with him expired the courage
and spirit of the troops. No further resistance was offered to

the expedition, and Prome was occupied without firing a
shot; but as the rains were approaching, the campaign, which
had lasted only ten weeks, during which the army had
advanced 150 miles, was brought to a termination.

The general proposed to stop at Prome and act on the
defensive, though the extraordinary expenses of the war
amounted to a lac of rupees a day ; but Lord Negotiations

Amherst insisted on an immediate march to the ^°^ pe^**-

capital as soon as the season permitted. At the same time,

he urged the general to welcome any disposition the
Burmese might evince for peace, and, the more effectually

to secure it, associated the naval commander and Mr.
Robertson, a Bengal civilian, in a commission with him,
with Mr. Ross Mangles as secretary. The king, on being
informed that the general was authorised to treat, sent

envoys to ascertain the terms, who were informed that

their master would be required to abstain from aU inter-
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4.D. ference with Cachar or Assam, to recognise the indepen-

1825 dence of Munipore, to cede the provinces of Arracan and
Tenasserim, to Hberate all his prisoners, and pay two crores

as a war indemnity. These terms the king rejected with
great indignation, and a Burmese army of 40,000 men was
sent down to Prome, but it was signally defeated and
closely pursued. The negotiations were then resumed by
the Burmese envoys, who waived every objection to the

cession of territory, but withstood the pecuniary payment,

on the score of poverty, with such importunity that the

Commissioners were induced to curtail it by one half, and
the treaty was signed on this basis on the 3rd January,

and the ratification of it promised on the 18th, but it never

came. The intermediate period had been employed in the

fortification of Melown, opposite the British encampment.
It was attacked on the 19th ; all the guns, stores, and
ammunition were captured, the camp was delivered to the

flames, and the army resumed its march to the capital.

The king began now to tremble for his throne, and
released two of his European prisoners, whom he sent to

Final en-
rcopen the negotiations. They were informed

gagement that no severer terms would be exacted in con-
an peace,

sequence of their perfidious conduct at Melown,
but that a fourth of the indemnity must be paid down at

once. While the envoys were, however, on their return to

Ava, the king determined to make one last efibrt to avert

this humiliation, though he could not muster more than

16,000 troops. Sir Archibald had only 1,300 left under
his command, but of these 900 were Europeans. The
Burmese force was completely routed, and fled in disorder

to the capital with the news of its own disgrace, and the

English army advanced to Yandaboo, within forty miles of

Ava. The king lost no time in sending the two American
missionaries whom he had held for two years in cruel

captivity, together with two of his own ministers, to accept

whatever terms the Commissioners might dictate. They
brought with them the first instalment of the indemnity,

as well as the European captives, and the treaty was signed

1826 on the 24th February on the terms which had been pre-

viously proposed, with the addition that a British repre-

sentative should reside at the court. Thus ended the first

war the Company had waged beyond the limits of India,

and it was also the most expensive in which they had as

yet been engaged, and the least recuperative. It absorbed

thirteen crores of rupees, and the return consisted of three

thinly inhabited and impoverished provinces.
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The Barmese war gave rise to another sepoy mutiny, a.d.

The native regiments from Bengal, owing to religious ob- 1824

jections to a voyage by sea were directed to march .^

down to Aracan along the coast. The disaster

at Ramoo had diffused through the army a dread of the

Burmese soldiers, who were represented as magicians, and
the service was regarded with great antipathy. The
Bengal sepoys had been accustomed to provide from
their own pay for the transport of their baggage, but the

public demand for draught cattle had exhausted the

supply and doubled the price. The 47th regiment at

Barrackpore, one of those warned for service, presented a
respectful memorial setting forth the extreme difficulty of

procuring the means of conveyance. The military chiefs,

instead of investigating this just and reasonable represen-

tation, treated it as a token of contumacy, and the men
were told that they were to expect no assistance from
Government. Discontent ripened into insubordination;

excited meetings were held in the cantonments ; the

sepoys rose in their demands and pledged one another not

to march without a supply of cattle, and also an increase

of pay. The Commander-in-Chief resolved to crush the

spirit of mutiny by force, and two regiments of Europeans,

the Governor-General's body guard, and a detachment of

horse artillery were marched to Barrackpore and drawn
up unperceived in the vicinity of the parade ground. The
47th was paraded and ordered to march forthwith, or to

ground arms. The men stood still in a state of mute be-

wilderment, resolved not to yield, but making no attempt
at resistance. A volley was discharged on them by the

horse artillery, when they flung down their arms with a
piercing shriek, and fled in dismay. The European troops

then fired on them, and the body-guard sabred the fugi-

tives. The slaughter on the ground and in the line of

pursuit was very severe. The ringleaders were tried by
court-martial and executed, and others were sent to work
on the roads in irons. A court of enquiry was held which
came to the decision that " the mutiny was an ebullitiou
" of despair at being compelled to march without the means
" of doing so." When the corps had reached a state of
positive mutiny, there was no alternative but military

execution, but the Commander-in-Chief incurred a heavy
responsibility by treating their legitimate representations
with scorn.

Runjeet Sing, the Jaut chief of Bhurtpore, who had
A A
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baffled Lord Lake in 1805, was succeeded by his son in

Bhurt
1823 on whose death without issue the princi-

pality devolved on his brother. He applied to

Sir David Ochterlony, the Resident at Delhi to recognise

his son, a child of six years, as his successor, and he received

investiture under the express orders of the Government.
About a twelvemonth after, on the death of his father, he
was placed on the throne under the guardianship of his ma-
ternal uncle. Before a month had elapsed Doorjun Sal, the

nephew of the deceased raja, a wild and impetuous youth,

put the regent to death, placed his cousin in confinement,

and seized on the Government. Sir David, acting on his

own responsibility, issued a proclamation calling upon all

the Jauts to rally round their lawful sovereign, and
ordered a force of 16,000 men and 100 guns into the field

to support his rights and vindicate the authority of the
Company's Government. Lord Amherst disapproved of

this proceeding and considered it imprudent while engaged
in a conflict with the Burmese to embark in a new war,

and to incur the risk of a second failure before Bhurtpore.

A.n. A disposition had for some time existed in high quarters in

1825 Calcutta to remove the veteran Resident from his post, and
in the hope of provoking his voluntary resignation the

views of Government commanding him to recall his pro-

clamation and to countermand the troops were communi-
cated to him in a very imperious tone. He replied with

great, and perhaps undue, warmth, and having given effect

to the orders of Government, tendered his resignation.

This ungenerous treatment broke his heart. He felt him-

self disgraced in the eyes of the native princes and of the

public service, and retiring to Meerut died within two
months, after an illustrious career of half a century. He
was one of the brightest ornaments of the Company's
service, equally eminent in the cabinet and in the field, a

man born for high command and fitted to strengthen the

power and sustain the dignity of Great Britain in India.

While the army was assembling, Doorjun Sal mani-

fested a spirit of humble submission and professed to be

Proceedingu Satisfied with the regency, but as soon as the
in Council, troops were countermanded, he assumed a

higher tone and claimed the throne for himself, and pre-

vailed on the chiefs of his tribe to support his pretensions.

The little success we had obtained in the Burmese war,

had, as on all similar occasions, affected our prestige, and

the latent feeling of disaffection to the rule of foreigners



Sect. I.] BARKACKPORE MUTINY 355

began again to manifest itself in the native community, a.d.

The cause of Doorjun Sal became popular when it was ^^25

known that he intended to enter the lists with the

Company's Government. Rajpoots, Jauts, Mahrattas,

Afghans, and not a few of our native subjects crowded to

his standard, and an army of 25,000 men was speedily

collected for the defence of the place. All the members of

Council concurred in opinion that in these circumstances

we were bound in honour and policy to support the cause

of the youth we had invested with the purple against the

usurper, but Lord Amherst still continued to hesitate.

Happily Sir Charles Metcalfe arrived at Calcutta at this

juncture on his way to Delhi as the successor of Sir

Dayid, and in a masterly minute pointed out that as the

paramount state in India, we could not be indifferent

spectators of anarchy therein without ultimately giving

up the country again to the pillage and confusion from
which we had rescued it ; that a vigorous exercise of our
power would be likely to bi-ing back the minds of men to

a proper tone, and that the capture of Bhurtpore, if effected

in a glorious manner, would do us more honour by re-

moving the hitherto unfaded impression created by our
former failure than any other event that could be con-

ceived. Lord Amherst gracefully surrendered his opinion

to that of Sir Charles, and it was resolved, if remonstrance
with Doorjun failed, to resort to arms.

To the astonishment of the princes of India who believed

that the Burmese war had absorbed all the resources of

Government, an army of 20,000 men with 100 capture of

heavy ordnance and mortars suddenly sprang Bhurtpore.

up in the midst of them. Throughout India it was re-

membered that Bhurtpore was the only fortress which the

British Government had besieged and failed to capture, and
the eyes of all India were fixed upon the second siege, not

perhaps, without a latent hope that it might be as unsuccess-

ful as the first. The head-quarters of Lor4 Combermere,
the Commander-in-Chief, were established liefore it on the

10th December. Thirty-six mortars and forty-eight pieces

of heavy ordnance played upon the mud walls for many
days without making any impression or creating a prac-

ticable breach. A great mine was at length completed,
and charged with 10,000 pounds of powder. The ex-

plosion took place on the 18th January, and seemed to J 826

shake the foundations of the earth, while enormous masses
of hardened earth and blocks of timber, mingled with

A A 2
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i^i). teads, legs and arms, were sent flying into the air, and
1826 the sky was darkened with volumes of smoke and dust.

Of the usurper's army, 6,000 were said to have fallen

during the siege and the casualties on the side of the English

were about 1,000. Doorjun Sal endeavoured to make
his escape, but was captured and sent to join the assem-

blage of disinherited princes at Benares, where he passed

twenty-five years on an allowance of 500 rupees a month.
The boy raja was then placed on the throne by Sir Charles

Metcalfe and Lord Combermere, but the laurels of Bhurt-
pore were tarnished by the rapacity of the military autho-

rities. The siege was undertaken to expel a usurper, and
restore the lawful prince to his rights, but the whole of

the state jewels and treasure was seized by the victors to

the extent of forty-eight lacs of rupees, and divided among
themselves as prize-money, Lord Combermere appropriat-

ing six lacs to himself. The proud walls which had bid

defiance to the hero of Delhi and Laswaree were levelled

with the ground. The capture of the fort produced a

profound sensation, as Sir Charles Metcalfe had predicted,

throughout India ; and, combined with the submission oi

Burmah, dissolved the sanguine hopes of the disaffected,

and restored the prestige of the Company. Lord Amherst
was advanced to the dignity of an earl, not of Bhurtpore,

his brightest achievement, but of Aracan, the most disas-

trous of his expeditions.

1823 The financial result of his administration was calamitous,
to The wealth left in the treasury by Lord Hastings was

^^^^ „ dissipated, the annual surplus turned into a
Finances. , . .

^
deficit, and an addition of ten crores made to

the public debt. On his anival, and while new to the
country and the community, he was led by the superior

officers of Government to continue those truculent pro-

ceedings against the press which they had origi-

nated ; but it was not long before he adopted a

more generous pohcy, and on his departure was compli-

mented by the journals in Calcutta " on the liberality and
" even magnanimity with which he had tolerated the free
" expression of public opinion on his own individual
" measures, when he had the power to silence them with a
" stroke of his pen." He embarked for England in Feb-

ruary, and Mr. Butterworth Bayley, the senior member of

Council, assumed charge of the Government.

1828
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SECTION II.

LORD WILLIAM BENTINCK'S ADMINISTRATION—MILITARY

OPERATIONS—NATIVE STATES—RUNJEET SING.

The stigma nnjustly inflicted on Lord William Bentinck's

character by his abrupt removal from the Government of

Madras in 1806, was at length effaced by his
j^^.^^

appointment to the office of Governor-General. Wiuiam

He was sworn in at the India House in July ^'^ ^"'' '

1827, while his relative, Mr. Canning, who had promoted
his nomination, was prime minister; but his lamented '

death soon after brought into power those who had opposed
his elevation, and Lord William Bentinck suspended his

departure till he was assured that the new ministry did

not object to his appointment ; hence he did not reach

Calcutta before the 4th July, 1828. With his advent
commenced a new and beneficent era in the history of the

Company, marked by a bold and energetic improvement
in the institutions of the state, although his administration

did not open under favourable circumstances. Eeductionof

The Burmese war had not only saddled the allowances.

treasury with an additional debt of ten crores, but created

an annual deficit of a crore of rupees, and Lord William 1828

Bentinck was constrained to enter upon the unpopular
duty of retrenchment. Two committees were appointed to

investigate the increase of expenditure, and to suggest the

means of curtailing it. The sweeping reductions which
the Court of Directors had already made in the strength of

the army, left little for the military committee to suggest,

except the diminution of individual allowances, though
they were in no case excessive, and, in many cases, in-

adequate. The civil department afibrded a more legitimate

field for revision ; some offices were abolished, a few were
doubled up, and the income of others was curtailed ; but the

total reductions did not afiect the aggregate allowances of

the service to a greater extent than six per cent. It was
still the best paid service in the world, in the enjoyment of

an annual income of ninety lacs, which divided, as it was,

among 416 officers, gave each of the raembers an average
allowance of 20,000 rupees a year ; but even the moderate
contraction of allowances suggested by the committee and
adopted by Lord William Bentinck, subjected him to

indignities which severely taxed his habitual equanimity.
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Of these economical measures, none excited so much
bitterness of feeling as the half batta order. Soon after

The half the beginning of the century the supplementary
batta order, allowance of full batta was granted to the officers

when in cantonments in the lower provinces. The Court
of Directors objected to the arrangement, and directed

Lord Hastings, and subsequently Lord Amherst, to reduce
the amount by one half, but they referred the order back
to England for reconsideration, when it was repeated in a

more peremptory tone. The latest despatch reached Calcutta

soon after the arrival of Lord William, and in obedience to

A.n. the Court's orders, he issued a notification in November,
1828 reducing the allowance one half at all stations within 400

miles of Calcutta. The order raised a flame in the army
which at one time created the apprehension of a fourth

European mutiny. One officer went so far as to assert

that if an enemy were to make his appearance in the field,

he did not believe there was a single officer who would
give the order to march, or a single regiment which would
obey it. The insults inflicted on the Governor-Greneral by
the officers of the army rivalled those of the civil service,

and were more severe than any of his predecessors had
ever experienced. Lord Combermere, the Commander-in-
Chief, prevented the organisation of representative com-
mittees, as in the nmtiny of 1796, but he did not hesitate

to pronounce the order unjust ; and the Court of Directors

declared that they would have superseded him if he had
not resigned the service. Lord William Bentinck also

considered the order unnecessary, unjust, and impolitic,

but he felt that it was beyond his power to suspend the

execution of it after the Court of Directors had, for the

third time, insisted upon its being carried into effect, with-

out assuming that the Government in Calcutta was the

supreme power in the empire. The Court of Directors

denounced the tone of the memorials presented to them by
the officers as subversive of all military discipline, and,

with the full concurrence of the Duke of Wellington,

signified their determination to enforce the order at all

hazards ; indeed, considering the pass at which matters

had arrived, they had no other alternative. But the

reduction was an egregious blunder; and it appears strange

that so astute a body as the Directors should have risked

the attachment and confidence of their army for a paltry

saving of less than two lacs a year; and it is still moie
surprising that for the thirty years in which they continued
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to administer the Government, they had not the magna-
nimity to rescind the order, even as a gracefal acknowledg-

ment of the services subsequently performed by the army
in twenty hard-fought battles.

The native princes had always been in the habit of

making grants of land to individuals and to ecclesiastical

establishments free from the payment of rent. Rent free

Some of these religious endowments and grants tenures,

to charities were held sacred by superstitious chiefs, but in

numerous instances they were resumed, both in the Deccan
and in Hindostan, on each succession to the throne, and
sometimes during the same reign. In the confusion created

by the dissolution of the Mogul power, this royal pre-

rogative was usurped by the governors of provinces. On
assuming the management of the revenue the Government
in Calcutta announced that all grants made previous to

1765 should be deemed valid; but, as there was no register

of them, the rajas, zemindars, farmers, and revenue officers,

set to work to fabricate and antedate new deeds, and it was
subsequently asserted that a tenth of the land revenues had
thus been alienated from the state during the infancy of

our Government. The revenue settlement of Lord Com-
wallis reserved the right of resuming these tenures when
their validity had been investigated and disallowed. The
overworked collector to whom the duty of the investigation

was committed, found himself thwarted at every step by
his own mercenary officers, who were in the pay of the

occupants ; he became lukewarm in the work, and it was
necessary either to abandon the pursuit of this lost revenue,

or to adopt more effectual measures to recover it. Three
weeks before the arrival of Lord William Bentinck, a
regulation was passed, appointing commissioners selected

from the ablest men in the service, to hear and finally to

determine appeals regarding these tenures from the

decisions of the collectors, who were thus stimulated into

greater activity. These energetic proceedings gave great

oSence to those affected by them, who pleaded, and not
without reason, that the difficulty of substantiating their

claims had increased with the lapse of time, that many
documents had disappeared by the effects of the climate

and the ravages of white ants, and that lands which might
have been fraudulently obtained several generations back,

had since been bought bond fide at high prices. Though
the holders were in no cases dispossessed, but simply
required to pay rent to the state, the assessment of their

A.D.

1828
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lands brought great unpopularity on the Government.
The legal machinery of investigation cost about eighty lacs

of rupees, and the increase of revenue amounted to about
thirty lacs a year.

The political and military events of Lord William
Bentinck's administration were of minor importance com-

TheCoie
pared w^ith those of previous and subsequent

insurrec- periods, vsrhen thrones and dynasties v?ere over-
**°°* thrown, and the map of India was reconstructed.

The Cole insurrection however, involved operations of

some magnitude. The Coles, Dangars, Santals, and other

tribes in the south-west of Bengal who are believed to have
been the aborigines of the country, generally retained

their independence, except where it had been encroached
upon by Rajpoot zemindars, who endeavoured to improve
their receipts by substituting a more industrious class of

cultivators for these lazy barbarians. The introduction of

these men created a strong feeling of discontent, which was
A.D. augmented by the insolence and rapacity of the Bengal
1832 officials who flocked into the province. In 1832, the Coles

rose in large numbers, laid waste the fields of the zemin-

dars, burnt down their villages, and put more than a
thousand of their men to death, before it was possible to

assemble troops. Armed as they were only with bows
and arrows and axes, they were easily overcome, and there

was much unnecessary slaughter. In the neighbouring
district it became necessary to send four regiments into the

field before the insurrection was trodden out. The rising

was not however without benefit to the people. It induced

Lord "William Bentinck to relieve them from the incubus of

the Company's code and judicial institutions, and to turn

the district into a non-regulation province, and place it

under the especial control of a commissioner.

J33J Another insurrection occurred within fifteen miles of

Government House in Calcutta. Syud Ahmed, a Mahome-
dan reformer and fanatic, whose name will come

of Teetoo up again hereafter, collected numerous followers
Meer. '^ lower Bengal, and more particularly in the

suburban district of Baraset. Their bigoted intolerance to

those of their own creed, whom they deemed heterodox, and
their hostility to Hindoo heretics created a feeling of

general animosity, and some of the Hindoo zemindars

inflicted heavy penalties on them. They appealed to the

magistrates, but the dilatoriness of judicial forms exhausted

their patience ; and, under the guidance of one Teetoo



Sect. II.] CACHAR AND COORG 361

Meer, a Mahomedan mendicant, they proclaimed a jehad,

or religious war. They defiled a temple with the blood of

a cow, and forced its flesh down the throats of the brah-

mins, and then proceeded to burn down villages and facto-

ries, and to erect stockades. In the peaceful province of

Bengal, which had not seen the smoke of an enemy's
camp for more than seventy years, it was found necessary

to call out two regiments of infantry and a body of horse,

and some guns. Their stockade, in which they defended

themselves for an hour, was captured, and the insurrection

was quenched in their blood.

The administration of the most pacific of Governors-
Greneral could not escape the " inevitable tendency " of the

empire to enlarge its boundary, but the addition .

to the Company's dominions during the adminis- of Cachar

tration of Lord WilKam Bentinck was so andCoorg.

insignificant as to escape observation and censure. The aj,.

chief of the little principahty of Cachar in the hills to the 1832

north-east of Bengal was murdered in 1832, and amidst
the anarchy which ensued the people implored the pro-

tectorate of the British Government which Lord William
Bentinck did not hesitate to extend to them. This un-
noticed nook in the great empire has since acquired a
pommercial value by the expenditure of a crore of rupees
of private capital in tea plantations, for which its position

and soil are highly favourable. The principality of Coorg
lies on the Malabar coast between Mysore and the sea,

and comprises an area of about 1,500 square miles, no
portion of which is less than 3,000 feet above the level of

the sea. Its chivalrous raja had defended it with so

much gallantry against the overwhelming force of Tippoo
as to gain the applause of Lord Comwallis, and also of Lord
Wellesley, from whom he received a splendid sword,
which was preserved with pride among the heir-looms of
the familj'. But his successor in 1820 exhibited an
example of tyranny and cruelty rarely exceeded by the
most atrocious of native princes. On coming to the throne
he put to death all who had thwarted his views, and to

prevent the possibility of being superseded directed all his

kinsmen to be taken into the jungles and decapitated. He
never scrupled to take the life of any who became ob-
noxious to him. He likewise manifested a peculiar hatred of
the British Government, and as he strictly interdicted the
entry of any Englishmen into the province, his atrocities

were concealed from observation. In 1832, however, his
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sister and her husband escaped for their lives, and revealed
his barbarities to the Resident in Mysore, who proceeded
to his capital and endeavoured, but in vain, to bring him
to reason. He addressed letters of extraordinary insolence

to the governor of Madras, and even to the Governor-
General, while he organized his little force to resist the

British authorities. Lord William Bentinek, finding him
deaf to every remonstrance, resolved to treat him as a

public enemy, and issued a proclamation recounting his

A.D. cruelties, and announcing that he had ceased to reign.

1834 A force of 6,000 men entered the country in four divisions,

in different directions, and after penetrating its intricate

and perilous defiles, planted the British standard ou
the ramparts of the capital, Mercara, in April 1832. The
country was at once annexed to the Company's territories,

and has now been covered with coffee plantations by British

enterprise.

The political policy of Lord "William Bentinek was at

first regulated by that principle of non-intervention in the

Non-inter- internal affairs of native states which was still in
vention favour in Leadenhall Street. In his minute on

the Bhurtpore crisis, in 1826, Sir Charles Metcalfe

had placed on record that " having become the paramount
" power in India we were the supreme guardians of general
" law, tranquillity and right." The Court of Directors

lost no time in repudiating this doctrine, and laid positive

and repeated injunctions on the Government of India to

abstain from all interference with the native princes

bjyond what was necessary to secure the punctual pay-

ment of their respective tributes. The Government was
thus placed in the invidious position of a strong and in-

exorable creditor instead of a beneficent guardian of peace.

Lord William, however, frequently found it impossible to

avoid interposing his imperial authority to frustrate the

projects of usurpation, to repress internal anarchy, and to

promote harmony between prince and people. His poHtical

policy, therefore, presents the appearance of vacillation,

and is certainly the least satisfactory portion of his ad-

ministration.

On the construction of the kingdom of Mysore, the

administration was placed in the hands of the renowned
. ,, brahmin Poomea, the great minister of Hyder

misgovern- All and Tippoo, and his authority was supported
ment.

j^y. ^^g invaluable assistance of some of the most
experienced of the Company's oflBcers, The country
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fleiirished, and, in the coui*se of ten years, a surplus of two
crores was accumulated in the treasury ; but the raja,

under the influence of his minions and his flatterers pro-

claimed his majority, when he attained his sixteenth year,

dismissed Poornea, and took the administration into his own
hands. The Resident reported that he was utterly unfitted

for the government by the weakness of his character and
his entire subservience to the influence of favourites. The
administration steadily deteriorated for twenty years ; all

the accumulations of Poornea were dissipated ; the go-

vernment became venal and corrupt ; the highest offices

were put up to sale ; crown lands were alienated, and the

subjects were crushed by new and grievous taxation. The a.d.

people at length took up arms, and in 1830 one half the ^^^O

kingdom was in a state of insurrection. Adventurers from
all parts joined the insurgents, and the peace of the Deccan,

not excepting the Company's territories, was placed in

extreme jeopardy. It became necessary to send a large

force into the field ; but at the same time a friendly pro-

clamation was issued, inviting the people to come in peace-

ably and represent their grievances to the British officers,

with the assurance that they would be redressed if they

were found to be real. The natives had full confidence

in them, and the insurrection died out.

The Governor-General then informed the raja that, i832
though tranquillity was for the present restored, he could
not allow the name and the influence of the

^^^^ ement
British Government to be identified with these ofMjsore

acts of misrule ; and that, in order to prevent ^^^^'^ °^^*

their recurrence, and to save the Mysore state from ruin,

he deemed it necessary to place the entire administration

of the country in the hands of British officers, paying over
to the raja, in accordance with the terms of the treaty,

about four lacs a year and a fifth of the net revenue, which,
under more honest management, would be equal to about
a lac and a half more. Lord William Bentinck was soon
after led to believe from the report of the court of enquiry
he had appointed, that the grievances had been somewhat
overstated, and he proposed to retain in perpetuity only a
sufficient portion of the territory to meet the subsidy, and
to restore the remainder to the raja, on the simple condi-

tion that the Government should be at liberty to resume
this portion if it appeared necessary for the public benefit.

The Court of Directors, however, who had entirely ap-

proved of all his proceedings, , refused to sanction this
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proposal, and asserted that the assumption of the whole
country was justified by the treaty, and essential to the
welfare of the people.

The non-intervention policy was peculiarly unfortunate
for the two Rajpoot states of Joudpore and Jeypore,

Joud
where the turbulent habits of the feudal nobility

rendered the interposition of a paramount power
indispensable to the public tranquillity. Man Sing, the
raja of Joudpore, had been deposed by his chiefs before

the Pindaree war on the ground of his insanity, real or
feigned, but had recovered his power if not his reason in

1821, and began to wreak his vengeance on them. They
appealed to the Government in Calcutta, but without
success, and then brought an army of 7,000 men against
the capital. The raja appealed in his turn to Lord William
Bentinck, who felt the necessity of interposing his autho-
rity to prevent the kindling of war in Rajpootana, and the
Resident was ordered to restore concord between the
parties, which he effected with a stroke of his pen.

But the insane violence of the raja broke out again ; he

^ j,_
not only oppressed his subjects, but gave encouragement

1834 to the robber tribes of the desert, and refused to apprehend
Thugs, or to surrender malefactors. A large army was or-

dered to Joudpore to bring him to reason. The Rahtores,
the designation of the tribe, were accustomed to boast in

their ballads of " the hundred thousand swords " with
which they had supported the throne of Akbar ; but the
Joudpore envoy now enquired what occasion there could
be for an army when a single messenger would have been
sufficient to convey the commands of the Governor-General.
Every demand was at once conceded.

During the minority of the raja of Jeypore, his mother
acted as regent, and resigned herself to the counsels of one

Jotaram, a banker. The haughty barons ex-

pelled him from the post of minister, and installed

one of their own body, Byree Sal ; but the regent ranee
obtained the permission of Sir David Ochterlony to recall

him. The nobles resented this proceeding, and a civil

war appeared inevitable, when Sir C. Metcalfe, who had
succeeded Sir David, proceeded to Jeypore, and convened
a general meeting of the chiefs, and gathered from their

discussions that the majority of them were favourable to

the queen mother, when he confirmed her authority, with
leave to choose her own minister. Jotaram became again

the head of the administration, but the revenues were
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misappropriated, the troops unpaid, and the nobles pur-

sued with vindictiveness. An appeal was made to Lord
William Bentinck to terminate the disorders of the state

by the supreme authority of the Company's Government,
but he declined to interfere. Soon after the ranee died,

and her death was speedily followed by that of her son,

not without suspicion of poison, and the general indigna-

tion against Jotaram became so intense that he retired

from the capital, and levied an army. Lord William Ben-
tinck had by this time quitted the Government, and his

successor accepted the guardianship of the infant heir, ^.j,.

and despatched a political agent to the capital, who was 1835

just in time to prevent a battle between the party of the

exasperated nobles and of the banker. An attempt was
made to massacre the agent ; he was attacked and wounded
as he left the durbar and barely escaped with his life, but
his assistant fell under the swords of the assassins. To
prevent the recurrence of this anarchy, a more stringent

control was estabUshed over the affairs of the court.

In 1818 Lord Hastings assumed the prerogative of con-

ferring the title of an independent king upon the nabob
Vizier of Oude, which released him from the Affairs of

necessity of doing homage to any member of the Oade.

imperial family who happened to reside at Lucknow, even
in the most indigent circumstances. The king who was
seated on the throne during Lord WilUam Bentinck's

administration, had been brought up in the zenana, and his

ideas were puerile and effeminate, and his life was devoted
to indulgence. The resident, Sir Herbert Maddock, repre-

sented the country to be in a state of abject wretchedness
;

there was no security for life and property, and scarcely a
day passed in which an attack was not made on the forts

of the zemindars, who seldom paid their rents without
compulsion. Lord William himself travelled through the
country, and saw nothing but desolation and decay. He
considered that, as we protected the king from the indig-

nation of his oppressed people, it was our bounden duty to

protect the inhabitants from the abuses of the Government. 1831

In a communication to the king in 1831, he insisted on the

adoption of reforms, and distinctly assured him that if he
continued to withhold them the entire management of the

country would be taken out of his hands, and a sufficient

annuity assigned to him for the support of his royal family

and court.

In anticipation of this remonstrance, the king recalled
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Hakim Menhdy, whom he had dismissed, and reappointed

Hakim tim prime minister. This extraordinary man,
Menhdy. the son of a Persian gentleman at Shiraj, had
emigrated to India in search of political employment and
entered the service of Oude, in which he rapidly rose to

distinction. He identified the prosperity of his adopted
country with his own happiness, and devoted his splendid

talents to the improvement of the administration, though
thwarted at every step by the vices of his sovereign. Lord
William Bentinck pronounced him one of the ablest men
in India, and as a revenue administrator unsurpassed
by any officer, European or native. He had gradually

amassed a princely fortune, which he expended with more
than princely liberality ; and there was no portion of

Hindostan which had not experienced his generosity.

On assuming the Government he introduced important
reforms, and had the courage to retrench the profligate

expenditure of the zenana, and to curtail the allowances

of the parasites of the court. But he was too radical a
reformer for the meridian of Oude, and as Lord William
Bentinck hesitated to support his authority against the

wishes of the king, who was offended, he said, because he
had not spoken with sufficient respect of his mother, and

A.D. had insulted the portrait of his father, he resigned his

1832 post and retired into the British territories. In refer-

ence to the condition of Oude, the Court of Directors had
justly remarked that, "it was the British Government
" which, by a systematic suppression of all attempts at
" resistance, had prolonged the misrule which became
" permanent when the short-sightedness and rapacity of a
" semi-barbarous Government was armed with the military
" strength of a civilised one." In reply to Lord William's

representation of the miserable condition of the country,

the Court of Directors authorized him at once to assume
the government, if circumstances should appear to render
it necessary. Lord William, who was on the eve of leav-

ing India, communicated the substance of these instruc-

1834 tions to the king, intimating that the execution of them
would be suspended in the hope of his adopting the

necessary reforms. But the reforms never came, and the

orders were carried into execution twenty years after.

The interview of Lord William Bentinck with Runjeet
Sing is one of the most remarkable events in his adminis-
Progress of tration ; but, before alluding to it, it is necessary

sing.^ to continue the narrative of his progress after
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the check he received from Mr. Metcalfe in 1809. Con-
quest was the one object of his life, and his attention

was directed solely to the improvement of his army and the

accumulation of treasure, to the comparative neglect of

the civil administration. At the close of the rains his

army was assembled for some expedition with the regu-

larity of the seasons. This incessant warfare was exactly

suited to the martial character of the Sikh population,

whom it furnished with congenial occupation and with the

means of acquiring distinction and wealth. The prospect

of glory and plunder were the two chief elements of their

fidelity to their chief. He commenced the formation of

battalions on the model of the Company's army, and by
incessant attention to their drill, which he superintended

in person, converted his raw troops into an efficient force,

which he provided with an admirable artillery.

After the subjugation of all the independent Sikh chief-

tains in the Punjab, he entered into a convention with
Putteh Khan, the vizier of Cabul, for a joint His con-

expedition to Cashmere ; but the vizier antici- quests.

pated his movements, and, having obtained possession of j^ ^
the province by his own unaided efforts, refused to resign 1817

any portion of it to Runjeet, who requited him by the

surreptitious seizure of Attock on the Indus, during his

absence. This led to a battle, in which Futteh Khan was
defeated, and the Sikh authority was permanently extended
to the banks of the river. In 1818 Runjeet Sing obtained pos-

session of the province of Mooltan, and taking advantage
of the murder of Futteh Khan, the vizier, whose talents i8i8

and energy had alone kept the Afghan monarchy from
dissolution, seized upon Peshawur, the capital of eastern

Afghanistan, but was speedily driven from it. This dis-

appointment was, however, compensated soon after by the

acquisition of Cashmere, and two years later of the Derajat, 1819

a strip of territory about 300 miles in length, lying on the

right bank ofthe Indus, and stretching down to the confines

of Sinde.

In March 1822, Colonels Allard and Ventura, two 1822

of the French officers of the army of Napoleon who had
left Europe on the restoration of the Bourbons ^^.^ . .

and obtained employment in Persia, made their French

way to Lahore and, after some hesitation, were °^''°^'

received into the service of Runjeet Sing. The Sikh
soldiery, previously distinguished by their courage, their

national enthusiasm, and their religious animation, received
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from these officers and from Generals Court and Avitabile,

who followed them, the benefit of European tactics and
discipline, and became more effective and formidable than
the battalions which De Boigne had raised for Sindia, and
Raymond for the Nizam.

In March 1823 Ruujeet Sing proceeded with an army of

23,000 men to establish his authority in Peshawur, but

A D Battle of the Eusufzie highlanders proclaimed a religious

1823
N°"shera. -^rar against the infidel Sikhs, and 5,000 of

them rushed down from their mountains and completely
defeated them. Fresh troops were brought up, and Run-
jeet eventually remained master of the field, and sacked
Peshawur. This battle is memorable from the fact that a
body of mountaineers, wild with religious enthusiasm,
succeeded in baffling the efforts of four times their number
of well trained and disciplined troops. The province was
left in the hands of Yar Mahomed, the hostile brother of

the ruler of Cabul, on condition of his paying tribute.

Four years after, the peace of the country was disturbed by
Syud Ahmed, a Mahoinedan fanatic, who had been a petty

cavalry officer in the service of Ameer Khan, the Patau
freebooter, and on the dissolution of his army, turned
religious reformer, pretended to have visions from heaven,

and succeeded in raising a flame of fanaticism among his

co-religionists. Reference has already been made to his

visit to Calcutta, from whence he proceeded to Mecca, the

fountain of Mahomedan enthusiasm, and returning to India

with more excited feelings, entered Afghanistan, where he
proclaimed a holy war against the infidels, and raised the

green flag of Islam, but was defeated by Runjeet Sing's
1830 disciplined troops, and obliged to fly. He returned in

1880, and obtained possession of the province of Peshawur.
Elated with his success, he proclaimed himself Caliph, and
struck coin in the name of " Ahmed the first, the Defender
" of the Faith," but his assumption and his arbitrary pro-

ceedings disgusted his followers, who expelled him from
the province, and he was overtaken by the Sikh troops and
put to death in May 1831.

In 1827 Lord Amherst took up his residence at the

sanitarium of Simla, which lies within 150 miles of Lahore,

^ ^ . and Runieet Sing embraced the opportunity of
Lord Am- ,. ^ . ° ,. . ^F . j'

berstand Sending him a complimentary mission, with a
Eunjeet. magnificent tent of shawls for the king of Eng-
land which he presented on his return. Runjeet Sing had
an extraordinaiy passion for horses, and Lord EUen-
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borough, then President of the Board of Control, determined

to present him in return for the shawl tent with, a team
of English di-ay-horses. The Indus was at the time not

much, better known than in the days of Alexander the

Great ; and instead of despatching the cattle by the ordi-

nary route through Bengal and Hindostan, Lord Ellen-

borough resolved that they should be sent up the Indus,

with the view of exploring the river, and, if possible,

forming friendly relations with the chiefs on its banks.

On the arrival of the horses at Bombay, Sir John Malcolm,

the governor, selected Lieutenant—afterwards Sir Alex-

ander—Bumes to conduct the mission. At the mouth of

the Indus he entered the territory of Sinde, the Ameers of

which had always treated the English agents with hostility
;

and, as they considered his arrival an event of evil omen,

subjected him to great indignity, and twice constrained him
to retire from the country. They were induced at length to

grant him the means of transport, and he reached the

confines of the Punjab, through which he was escorted

with great pomp, and at the court was received with great

courtesy. When the letter from Lord EUenborough was
presented to Runjeet Sing, a royal salute was fired from each
of sixty pieces of cannon, and Lieutenant Burnes was treated

with distinguished honour as long as he remained at the iggj

court. He then proceeded to Simla where Lord William
Bentinck was residing, and submitted to him the result

of his researches regarding the commerce, politics, and
military resources of Sinde and the other states on the

Indus. He was directed to return to Bombay through
Afghanistan, Balkh, and Bokhara.
The power of Runjeet Sing had been steadily increasing

for twenty years. Including the contingents of his jageer-

dars, his army consisted of 80,000 men, animated .„
• xv6son]*c63 Or

with the success of a dozen campaigns, and in Runjeet

part disciplined and commanded by European ^^^•

'officers. His artillery consisted of 376 guns and an equal

number of swivels. His annual revenue was estimated

at two crores and a half, and the vaults of his treasury

contained ten crores. Though unable to read or write, he
fully comprehended the papers in Persian, Punjabee, and
Pushtoo, read to him by his able secretaries, who were in

attendance upon him day and night, and to whom he
dictated replies. But, though he had reached the summit
of power he never arrogated the title of an independent

sovereign, but was content to be considered simply as the
B B
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head of the Khalsa or Sikh commonwealth, a name
regarded with a feehng of supersiitious devotion by the

chiefs and soldiers. He considered it a matter of import-

ance to secure for his throne and dynasty the strength

which a close alliance with the Britisla Government could

not fail to impart ; and Lord William Bentinck, on his side,

deemed it politic to demonstrate to the princes of India,

who began to regard the progress of a native power under
Runjeet Sing with hope, that a feeling of cordiality

existed between the two states ; and a meeting was ac-

cordingly arranged to be held at Roopur, on the banks of

the Sutlej.

This assembly was the most brilliant in which the repre-

sentative of the Company had ever taken a part. Lord

Meeting at William Bentinck, like Lord Cornwallis, was dis-

Raopur. tinguished for the simplicity of his habits, and
his dislike of the pageantry of power ; but he considered it

important to give eclat to this political meeting in the eyes

of India by the grandeur of its display, fie descended

1831 from Simlah to Roopur on the 22nd October, and Runjeet
Sing arrived at the opposite bank of the river three days
after with a magnificent court., and 10,000 of his best hoi-se

and 6,000 select infantry. The next day he crossed the

river on a bridge of boats, preceded and followed by his

chiefs mounted on elephants decked in gorgeous housings,

while a body of 4,000 horse whom he had brought with
him by way of caution, formed the wings of the procession.

Presents of every variety and of the most costly description

had been collected by the Governor-General from all parts

of India, sufl&cient to efface the memory of the dray-horses.

Runjeet Sing scrutinized every article with the curiosity

of a child, and saw it carefully packed up and delivered to

his master of the jewel office. The following day the
Governor-General returned the visit ; the scene was one ot

extraordinary splendour ; the Sikh encampment exceeded
in magnificence anything which had been seen in India

since the days of Aurungzebe, and realised the highest

conceptions of oriental grandeur.

The frank manners of Runjeet Sing, his free enquiries and
lively conversation, gave an air of ease to ceremonials

which were usually stately and stiff. He called up and
paraded his favourite horses before Lord William Bentinck,

and recounted their names and virtues with much anima-

tion. In their company was also brought up one of the

dray-horses, as if to contrast his huge and shaggy legs

with their elegant limbs. A week was passed in displays,

J
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entertainments, and reviews, recalling to mind the days of

Mogul magnificence, and the parties separated with a
mutual appreciation of each other's power.

Runjeet Sing had long been eager to add Sinde to his

dominions, and to obtain possession of Shikarpore, a com-
mercial mart on the right bank of the Indus, of Treaty with

such magnitude and importance that the bills of Sinde.

its bankers passed current from Calcutta to Astrakhan, ^ „,

During the meeting he sounded the secretaries on the 1832

subject of a joint expedition, hinting that, according to

Lieutenant Bumes, the treasury contained twenty crores,

and that the army was very feeble. But Lord William
Bentinck had already deputed Colonel Pottinger to en-

deavour to conclude a commercial treaty with the Ameers.
They were exceedingly reluctant to form any connection at

all with the Company, lest the factory should, as elsewhere,

grow into a fortress. They yielded at length to the

importunity of the Colonel, but in the treaty of commerce
they signed caused it to be stipulated " that the contract-
" ing parties should never look with an eye of covetousness
" on the possessions of each other." Within eleven years

Sinde was a British province.

SECTION in.

LORD W. BENTINCK S ADMINISTRATION—ADMINISTRATIVE

REFORMS—CHARTER OF 1833— SIR C. METCALF.

The lustre of Lord William Bentinck's administration is

derived from his bold and enlightened reforms, his

intrepid philanthropy, and his efforts to pro- Administra-

mote material progress, in which he far sur- Wvc reforms.

passed all his predecessors. For thirty years the local

government had been engaged, with no encouragement
from England, in establishing British supremacy and con-
solidating the empire, and it remained to endow it with
improved and beneficial institutions. No substantial effort

had been made since the days of Lord Cornwallis to improve
them, and they had become in a great measure effete. For
the work of reformation Lord William Bentinck was
particularly qualified, by the clearness of his views, his

freedom from traditional prejudices, and his inflexible

resolution. His administration therefore forms one of the
& great landmarks in the history of British India.

B B B '2
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The current of civil justice was blocked up by the

provincial courts, which Lord William Bentinck described

A.n. The pro- as "resting places for those members of the service

1831 vinciai " ^lio were deemed fit for no higher responsi-
" bilities." With some exceptions, the judicial

character of the judges was contemptible, while their dis-

cordant judgments in appeal only served to bewilder the

judges of the courts subordinate to them. With regard to

criminal justice, their agency was a national grievance.

The judges went on circuit to hold sessions and gaol

delivery twice a year, and the accused were kept in con-

finement for months before they were brought to trial,

while the prosecutors and witnesses were detained through-

out this period at their own expense. Under such circum-

stances, it is of course no matter of surprise that the daroga
who came down to institute enquiries was considered by the

natives " the messenger of death," and that the conceal-

ment of crime became the one object of solicitude through-

out the country.

Lord William earned the gratitude of the country by
abolishing a class of tribunals which combined three of

the worst vices of law—delay, expense, and uncertainty.

The duties of the session were transferred to the judge of

the district, who was to hold a gaol delivery every month.
A separate Sudder, or chief court, was also established in

the North-West provinces, and the natives of Delhi were no
longer obliged to travel a thousand miles to Calcutta to pro-

secute an appeal. A corresponding boon was also conferred

on these provinces by the erection of a board of revenue at

Allahabad, which placed the control ofthe revenue of twenty-

three millions of people in the midst of them. The value

of these improvements was incalculably enhanced by con-

ferring on the natives the great blessing of the use of their

own vernacular tongue in all the courts, civil, fiscal, and
criminal, to which they were amenable, in lieu of the

Persian, which had been adopted from the Mahomedans to

whom it was familiar, whereas in the British courts it was
foreign equally to the parties, the witnesses, and the

judge.

One of the greatest transactions of Lord William
Bentinck's administration was the revenue settlement of

the North-West provinces. On the acquisition of

settlement the latest of these provinces by Lord Wellesley,

^ _*^ p in 1 804, he promised them a permanent settlement

at the end of ten years, if it was approved of by
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the Court of Directors. The Court repudiated the engage-
ment, and ordered it to be limited to five years ; but so brief

a term was ^ fatal to all agricultural improvement. A
landholder considered it an act of folly to lay out money
in the improvement of his land when he knew that this would
only serve to increase his assessment in two or three years

;

and as the period ofrevision approached, wellswere filled up,

and cultivation was neglected. An effort was made to

grapple with this large question in 1822, but the celebrated

regulation of that year was too complicated in its details to

be worked by the limited agency at the disposal of

Government, and at the end of ten years the settlement

had scarcely begun. Lord William Bentinck was resolved

to remove the opprobrium of this neglect from the

administration, and made a tour through the provinces,

discussing the question in all its bearings with the revenue
officers in each district, and with the revenue board at ^ j,^

Allahabad ; and on his return to the Presidency issued the i833
regulation for the new settlement in 1833. It possessed

the great merit of simplicity, and dispensed with many of

the elaborate enquiries required by the former regulation.

The lands were minutely surveyed and classified accord-

ing to their quality, and an accurate measurement of
them was placed on record, by which a prolific source of

discord and litigation was cut off", and the assessment was
then fixed for thirty years by the collector, after a free and
friendly communication with the people on the spot. The
general management of these large operationswas entrusted

to Mr. Robert Bird, the ablest financial officer since the
days of Sir John Shore. His knowledge of the intricacies

of land tenure in the North-West provinces was greater than
that of any other man in the service, and he was moreover
endowed with that indomitable energy and that sternness

of purpose which enabledhim to complete the settlement of

72,000 square miles, afiecting the vital interests of twenty-
three millions of people, in the course of ten years. He was
allowed to select his own assistants, and the honour of
having served under him was considered as conferring a
distinction for life.

The measure which above all others has endeared the
memory of Lord William Bentinck to the natives of India,

was the access he gave them to the public service. Employment
Their exclusion from every office except the lowest "^ natives.

and worst paid was the cardinal error of Lord Comwallis's
administration. Such ostracism of a whole people, who
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A.D, had from time immemorial been accustomed to the manage-
1831 ment of public affairs in every department, was without a

parallel in history. The grandsons of the Gauls who
resisted Caesar became Roman senators ; the grandsons of

the Rajpoots who opposed Baber, and well-nigh nipped his

enterprise in the bud at Biana, were employed by his

illustrious grandson in the government of provinces and
the command of armies, and shed their blood for him on
the shores of the Bay of Bengal and the banks of the Oxus,
and rewarded his confidence with unshaken loyalty to his

throne, even when it was shaken by the treachery of his

Mahomedan satraps. But wherever the Company's sove-

reignty was extended, every office of the least value was
bestowed exclusively on their own European and covenanted
servants ; and the natives of the country, however capable,

were at once excluded from all share in the government of

their own country, one of the most honourable aspirations

of humanity. Lord William Bentinck was deeply impressed
with the viciousness of this policy, and determined " to
" throw open the door of distinction to the natives, and to
'' grant them a full participation in all the honours and
" emoluments of the state." This liberal policy was
ushered in by the regulations of 1831, which completely

reconstructed the legal establishments of the Bengal
Presidency, and entrusted the primary jurisdiction of all

suits, of whatever character or amount, not excluding those

instituted against Government, to native agency. They
were subsequently introduced into all other departments,

and have manifested such eagerness for state employ as, in

some measure, to impair the feeling of personal indepen-

dence. Another anomaly was likewise removed on this

occasion. The Company and their servants, from a morbid
dread of offending Hindoo prejudices, had debarred native

converts from holding any office, even that of a constable.

Lord William Bentinck ordained that in admitting natives

to the public service, there should be no distinction of caste,

creed, or nation.

The most benignant and memorable act of Lord William
Bentinck's administration was the abolition of suttee.

Abolition of "which had been practised for twenty centuries
snttee. wherever Hindooism obtained a footing. The

1805 first effi:)rt to interfere with it was made by Mr. George
Udny, the member of Council, and Dr. Carey, who pre-

sented an address on the subject to Lord Wellesley. He
was then on the eve of leaving India, but recorded his
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opinion in favour of the abolition of it. Some attempts
were subsequently made to diminish the number of victims

by regulating the procedure, but the Court of Directors

justly observed that the practice was thereby rendered

more popular, inasmuch as, by prohibiting it in some cases,

the Government appeared to sanction it in all others. The
question was earnestly discussed for many years by some
of the most distinguislied servants of the state, but they

all shrunk from the proposal of interdicting the practice.

In 1823 the Court of Directors sent a despatch to the

Government of India, in which all the arguments against

alx)lition were earnestly and honestly combated, and the

question was referred to the decision of the local autho-

rities ; but Lord Auckland found the opinions of the public

officers so discordant, as to be obliged to inform the

Court that he was not prepared to recommend the positive

prohibition of it; and they placed the question detinitivel}'

in the hands of Lord William Bentinck on his appointment.
Lord William Bentinck landed in Calcutta, feeling', as he

said, " the dreadful responsibility hanging over his head in

" this world and the next, if, as the Governor- lordWiiiiam
" General of India, he was to consent to the Bentincks

" continuance of this practice one moment longer,
^''^"''^'^•

" not than our security, but than the real happiness and
" permanent welfare of the native population rendered
"indispensable." He resolved "to come to as early a
" determination as a mature consideration would allow

;

" and having made that determination, to stand by it, yea
" or no, and set his conscience at rest." He immediately
circulated a confidential communication among more than
fifty of the civil and military officers of Government, asking
their opinion as to the effect which the abolition would be
likely to produce in the country generally, and on the

minds of the sepoys in particular. Tlie great majority of

the military officers asserted that the immediate and
peremptory abolition of the practice would create no alarm
among the native troops. Of the civil functionaries three-

fourths advocated its positive prohibition. Fortified by
these opinions, and secure of the support of the Court of

^^

Directors, Lord William Bentinck, on the 4th December,
i^.^'j

1829, promulgated that celebrated regulation which declared
" the ])ractice of suttee illegal and punishable by the
" criminal courts as culpable homicide." Not the slightest

feeling of alarm or resentment was exhibited, except by a
few baboos in Calcutta, encouraged by Dr. Horace Haymau
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"Wilson, the great orientalist, the idol of pundits and
brahmins. Within a twelvemonth Lord "William Bentinck
was enabled to assure the Court of Directors that there
never was a greater bugbear than the fear of revolt on this

ground. The enlightened natives of the present day
regard it in the light of an extinct barbarism, just as we do
the human sacrifices of the Druids.

It was during Lord William Bentinck's administration
that the first energetic measures were adopted to extirpate

AD. Suppression the Thugs, a fraternity of hereditary assassins,

1830 of Thuggee,
-^y^i^o subsisted by the plunder of the victims they

strangled. There were few districts without some resident

thugs, but they generally quitted their homes in small
bodies with the appearance of cultivators, leaving their

families in the village. As they roamed through the
country they attached themselves, as if by accident, to the
travellers they met, and entered into free and cheerful

conversation with them to obtain the information they
required ; and, on reaching some sequestered spot, suddenly
threw round the neck of the victim a strip of cloth or an
unfolded turban, the ends of which were drawn tight till

he ceased to breathe. His body was then rifled and
thrown into a pit hastily dug with pickaxes which had
been consecrated with religious ceremonials. Thethugs were
bound to secrecy by solemn oaths, and recognised each
other by a slang vocabulary. They maintained a special

veneration for Doorga, the tutelary goddess of vagabonds,
thieves, and murderers, observed her festivals with super-

stitious punctuality, and presented a portion of their plunder
at her most celebrated shrines. They endeavoured to

ascertain her wishes by signs and omens, and considered

themselves acting under divine authority when they were
favourable. They traversed the length and breadth of the

country, and their victims were counted by thousands.

Lord William Bentinck determined to spare no pains or

expense to deliver India from this scourge, and created a

special department for its suppression, which he placed

under the direction of Major—afterwards Sir William

—

Sleeman, whose name is inseparably connected in the

annals of India with this mission ofhumanity. He organised

a comprehensive scheme of operations which embraced
every province, not exempting the native states, and by
means of approvers who turned king's evidence, obtained

a complete clue to the movements and operations of the

gangs. With the aid of an efi&cient staff of officers whom
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he had himself selected, he took the field against them in*

every direction, and within six years 2,000 of these garotters

were apprehended and convicted, and sentenced to death
or imprisonment, and the fraternity was broken np.

The attention of Lord William Bentinck was directed ^.n.

immediately after his arrival to the establishment of steam 1830

communication on the Ganges. Under his direc- steam com-
^°

tion, two vessels were built in Calcutta and fitted munication. 1834

up with engines from England, and they performed the

voyage from Calcutta to Allahabad, which had usually

employed three months by water, in as many weeks. The
enterprise was subsequently transferred to private com-
panies. A still more important object with him was the

abridgment of the voyage between India and England.
A considerable fund had been raised in Calcutta in 1823
to promote this object, and a premium was offered for any
steamer which should perform the voyage in seventy days.

The attempt was made in the Eyiterprise by Captain
Johnson,, round the Cape, but he was 113 days accom-
plishing it. Lord William determined to try the experi-

ment through the Red Sea, and directed the Htigli Lindsay,

a small steamer of 400 tons, built at Bombay, to be sent

from that port to Suez, which she reached in a month.
Three other voyages were performed in succession, and it

was demonstrated that, with corresponding arrangements
in the Mediterranean, the voyage from Bombay to England
might be completed in fifty-five days. The Court of

Directors, however, raised an objection to these experi-

ments, and questioned whether the end in view would be
worth the expenditure, and at length prohibited any farther

employment of the Hugh Lindsay in the conveyance of the

mails. The subject was then brought before the House of

Commons, who passed a resolution that "a regular and
" expeditious communication by steam between England
" and India was an object of national importance." The
Hugh Lindsay was again put in requisition, but the Court
of Directors were lukewarm, and the enterprise was
performed in a perfunctory manner, and fell into abeyance.

It was reserved for the Peninsular and Oriental Company
to carry to a successful issue the large views of Lord
William Bentinck, and, with the aid of the Suez Canal,

to bring India within three weeks' distance of England.
The course of education received a fresh impulse, as

well as a more useful direction, from the efibrts Education—

of Lord William Bentinck. The Parliamentary orientalism.
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• vote of ten lacs of rupees for "the revival and promo-
" tion of literature, and the encouragement of learned
" natives," was interpreted in Leadenhall Street and in

Calcutta to apply to the revival of native literature, to

vrhich it was exclusively applied. Mr. Adam distinguished

his brief tenure of office by appointing a Comraittee of
A»- public instruction to suggest measures for the better
mid education of the people in useful knowledge, and the arts

and sciences of the West. This movement was strength-

ened by a despatch from the Court of Directors, drawn up
by Mr. James Mill, the historian of India, who had ob-

tained an important position at the India House, and
exercised a beneficial influence on its counsels. The edu-

cation department in Calcutta was under the control of Dr.

Horace Wilson, the great champion of Oriental literature

and institutions, and the Court was requested to sanction

the appropriation of funds from the Parliamentary grant

to improve the Hindoo college at Benares and the Maho-
medan college in Calcutta, and also to establish a Hindoo
college at the Presidency. In reply to this request, the

Court, at the suggestion of Mr. Mill, stated that, " in pro-
" posing to establish seminaries for the purpose of teaching
" mere Hindoo and mere Mahomedan literature, the
" Government bound itself to teach a great deal of what
" was fidvolous, not a little of what was purely mischiev-
" ous, and a small remainder indeed in which utility was
" in any way concerned. The great end of Government
" should be, not to teach Hindoo or Mahomedan learning,
" but useful learning." But Orientalism was still in the

ascendent in Calcutta, and with some trifling exceptions to

save appearances, the funds continued to be appropriated

to the studies which the Court had condemned.
1833 Meanwhile a predilection for an English education was

gaining ground in and around the metropolis, and the

Predomi- demand for it was pressed with increased earnest-
nance of ness on the education board. The board was
"^ *^ divided intotwo hostile and irreconcilable parties

—

the Orientalists and the Anglicists—the one anxious to devote
the education funds to the study of the Shastres and
the Koran, the other, to the object of unfolding the stores

of European science to the natives through the English
language ; and it became necessary to appeal to the

Government. It happened that Mr. Macaulay was not only a

member of the Supreme Council, but also president of the

board, and he denounced with irresistible force the con-



SBCT.in.] THE MEDICAL COLLEGE 379

tinued promotion of Orientalism as tending, not to support

the cause of truth, but to delay the death of error. " We
" are at present," he said, " a board for printing books
" which give artificial encouragement to absurd history,

" absurd metaphysics, absurd physics, and absurd theo-
" logy." The question was brought to an issue on the

7th March, 1835, by the resolution passed by Lord William

Bentinck, in which he most cordially concurred, that
" the great object of the British Government ought to be
" the promotion of European literature and science among
" the natives of India ; and that the funds appropriated

jg^^
" to education would be best employed on EngHsh educa-
" tion alone." The cause of English education triumphed,

and the language and literature of England have become
almost as familiar to the upper ten thousand in our Indian

empire as the language of Rome was to the same class

within the circle of her empire.

The last and crowning act of Lord William Bentinck's i836

administration was the establishment of the medical

college to supersede native quackery, and to give The medical

a complete education to native students in every college.

branch of medical science, through the medium of English

treatises and English lectures. The most eminent medical

officers in the service were placed in the professor's chairs

;

a library and a museum were created ; and every appliance

necessary to place it on the same footing of efficiency as a

European college was supplied with a liberal hand. Sage men
of reputed wisdom predicted the failure of the experiment,

inasmuch as contact with a dead body had been considered

by the Hindoos a mortal pollution for twenty centuries

;

but their predictions have proved visionary ; the Hindoo
students resorted freely to the dissecting-room, and handled
the scalpel with European indifference ; and the college

has proved an incalculable blessing to the country. The
students have even crossed the " black water," and visited

England to complete their studies, and have successfully

competed with their European rivals.

With two trifling exceptions, Lord William Bentinck's

administration was a reign of peace, and it produced the

usual result on the finances. He found a deficit Financial

of a crore, and he left a surplus of a crore and a results.

half, which his successor wasted in the Afghan war, as his

predecessor had squandered the surplus left by Lord Hast-
ings on the Burmese war. He embarked for England in

March 1835, having held the government for nearly eight
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A.D

1828
years. His administration marks the most memorable

'^^" period in the improvement of India between the days of

1835 Lord Comwallis and Lord Dalhousie. He repudiated the

stagnant pohcy of the Government, and introduced an
enlightened and a progressive spirit into every department
of the state, the impulse of which still continues in vigorous
operation. Ho infused new blood into the sluggish veins

of the public institutions, and imparted life and animation to

them. The originality of his plans of improvement was
not less remarkable than the boldness with which they
were executed. He earned the gratitude of the natives by
opening to them an honourable career in the government
of their own country, and the applause of Christendom by
the moral courage he displayed in putting down suttees.

The native and theEuropean community vied with each other
in commemorating the blessings of his reign, and in raising

a subscription for the erection of his statue in Calcutta.

It was enriched by an inscription from the pen of Mr.
Macaulay :

—" This statue is erected to William Cavendish
" Bentinck, who, during seven years, ruled India with
" eminent prudence, integrity, and benevolence ; who,
" placed at the head of a great empire, never laid aside the
" simplicity and moderation of a private citizen ; who
" infused into Oriental despotism the spirit of British free-

" dom ; who never forgot that the end of government is

" the welfare of the governed ; who abolished cruel rites

;

" who effaced humiliating distinctions; who allowed liberty
" to the expression of public opinion ; whose constant study
" it was to elevate the moral and intellectual character of
" the Government committed to his charge. This monu-
" ment was erected by men who, differing from each other
" in race, in manners, in language, and in religion, cherish
" with equal veneration and gratitude the memory of his
" wise, upright, and paternal administration." On his

return to England, Lord William Bentinck was elected

member for Glasgow, the only retired Governor-General
who ever sat in the House of Commons ; and, with the ex-

ception of Warren Hastings, he was also the only Governor-
General on whom no title of distinction was bestowed by
the Crown.
The period for which the commercial and political privi-

leges of the Company had been granted expired in 1833,

The charter ^^^ ^^ ^^^^ ^ ^^- Charles Grant, the President of
of 1833. the Board of Control, to introduce the question

of the new charter to the notice of the House. The two
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salient points which demanded its attention were those a.d.

which referred to the continuance of the monopoly of the 1833

trade to China and to the government of India. It was
found impossible to resist the demands of the merchants

and manufacturers for a participation in the commerce of

China, and it was thrown open to the country, and the

commercial character of the Company ceased altogether,

after it had continued for 234 years. The government of

India was left in their hands for a further period of twenty
years. Several minor, but not unimportant, arrangements

were also made in reference to the policy of the Govern-
ment in India. A fourth Presidency was created to embrace
the North-West provinces. The power of legislation was
now, for the first time, conferred on the Government, to

embrace the whole empire, including all persons—British,

foreign, or native—all places, and all things, as well as all

courts, whether created by local authority or established

by royal charter, but with certain necessary reservations

touching the royal prerogative and the privileges of Par-
liament. A fourth member was also added to the Supreme
Council who was to be an English jurist of reputation

;

and the oflBce was dignified by the genius of Mr. Macaulay.
It was moreover enacted that no native of India, nor any
native-born subject of his Majesty, should be disabled from
holding any place, office, or employment, by reason of his

religion, place of birth, descent, or colour. Another clause,

which sanctioned the purchase of land by Europeans and
their free settlement in India, was opposed to the deep-seated
sentiments of the India House, and was not carried without
considerable opposition.

In communicating the arrangements of the charter to

the Governments in India, the Court of Directors expressed
their determination to strain every nerve " to Effect of the
*' accomplish the just and benevolent intentions charter.

" of their country in delegating to them the legislative as
" well as the executive administration of the weightiest,
" the most important, and the most interesting of its

" transmarine possessions." They invited the full and
cordial co-operation of their officers abroad in the discharge
of these heavy responsibilities. Released from the manage-
ment of a large mercantile concern, and the disturbing
influences inseparably connected with it, they were enabled
to devote their energies exclusively to their great political

trust. Their minds acquired a higher tone, and it may be
affirmed without the risk of controversy, that, with the
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exception of an occasional ebullition of traditional prejudice

—the old cobwebs of the India House—the principles and
measures which they inculcated on their servants in India

during the remaining twenty-five years of their rule were
marked by a character of wisdom, moderation, and bene-

ficence, of which no other example can be found in the

history of conquered dependencies.

On the arrival of Lord William Bentinck's resignation,

the Court of Directors ofiered the post to Mr. Mount-

Th G V r
Stuart Elphinstone, but the state of his health

A D. noi-Generai- obliged him to decline it. They then proceeded
1 836 ^^^ ^^^ to pass a resolution that, " adverting to the public

" character and services of Sir Charles Metcalfe "

—who succeeded temporarily to the oflBce as the senior

member of Council—" it would be inexpedient at present
" to make any other arrangement for supplying the place
" of Governor-General." But the ministry refused to con-

firm their choice, and took their stand upon the dictum of

Mr. Canning, when President of the Board of Control,

that " the case could hardly be conceived in which it would
" be expedient that the highest oflBce in the Government
" of India should be filled otherwise than from England,
" and that this main link between the system of the Indian
" and the British Government ought, for the advantage
" of both, to be invariably maintained." The Court of

Directors remonstrated with great warmth against the

adoption of a principle which involved the wholesale ex-

clusion of their servants from the highest prize in their

service. Soon after, the "Whigs gave place to a Tory
cabinet, and Lord Ellenborough, the new President of the

Board of Control, offered the post a second time to Mr.
Elphinstone, who he knew must decline it, and then
nominated Lord Heytesbury, a diplomatist of European
reputation, to the office. No sooner, however, had he been
sworn in at the India House, and received the accustomed
allowance for his outfit, and the usual valedictory banquet
at the London Tavern, than the Whigs returned to power
and immediately cancelled the appointment. The Tory
Government which succeeded to power in 1807, had re-

frained from interfering with the appointment of Lord
Minto by their Whig predecessors, though he had not left

the shores of England ; but the Whig Government of

1837 had not the grace to follow the example. The Court
of Directors earnestly protested against a proceeding which
made the vital interests of the British empire in India
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subservient to the claims of political partisanship in Eng-
land ; but Lord Auckland, the Whig First Lord of the

Admiralty, was nevertheless sent out to Calcutta.

The Charter Act created a fourth Presidency at Agra,

and the eminent services of Sir Charles Metcalfe were re-

warded by the grant of the first appointment, and sir Charles

by the still more dignified position of provisional ^'^'^c*""^'

Governor-General. He had not, however, been long at

Agra before he was obliged to return to Calcutta, and
assume the government on the departure of Lord William
Bentinck. He occupied the office for a twelvemonth, and
distinguished his administration by the legal establishment

of the liberty of the press. The truculent law passed by
Mr. Adam in 1823, which still continued on the statute-

book, had been enforced on one or two occasions to the

ruin of the printers, but the odium of these arbitrary pro-

ceedings was found to damage the character of Government
Daring the latter period of Lord Amherst's govern-
ment the press was practically free. Lord William
Bentinck avowed his invincible aversion to any political

restrictions, and, moreover, had a profound contempt for

the animadversions of the press ; but the freedom it thus

enjoyed was only by sufferance. Sir Charles Metcalfe felt

that it was no longer possible to stop there. Parliament ^§3*5

had recently granted Europeans liberty to purchase land and
to make settlements in India, and Government lost the power
of deporting those who rendered themselves obnoxious by
their pens ; Europeans, moreover, expected to enjoy the

privilege they possessed in other British possessions of

giving expression to their opinions. Sir Charles Metcalfe

had always been a warm advocate of the freedom of the

press, and, availing himself of the legislative power recently

conferred on the Government, he lost no time in passing

an Act repealing all the regulations by which it had been
gagged, and making it legally free. The Act was received

with feelings of enthusiasm by the European community in

India, and by the native gentry most distinguished in

society, and a subscription was raised to commemorate the

event by erecting a noble hall which bears his name.
In the meantime an important change was made in tho

position of the Agra Presidency, which had been conferred

on Sir Charles. In deference to the earnest
j, ^ +{

wishes of the Court of Directors, it was reduced of the

to the subordinate position of a lieutenant- ^n^^""
governorship. Sir Charles naturally felt a re-

A.D.
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pugnance to descend to the inferior state of a lieutenant of

the Governor-General after having himself occupied that
supreme post, and he determined to retire from the service

;

but the chairman of the Court of Directors appealed to his

patriotic feelings to retain the office on its reduced scale,

and still to give the Company the benefit of his highly-

valued services. He was decorated with the grand cross

of the Bath, and a third time nominated provisional

Governor-General. He yielded to these solicitations, and
to the importunities of Lord Auckland, and proceeded to

Agra , but was not destined to remain there long. Soon
after his arrival he heard that the press law had exas-

perated the India House, and created a complete revul-

sion of feeling regarding him and his claims. The Court
of Directors regarded the freedom of the press with the

same antipathy they had formerly felt to freedom of trade,

and they took an early opportunity of manifesting their

displeasure. The Government of Madras fell vacant, and
Sir Charles naturally expected that, after the sacrifice he
had made, it would have been conferred on him ; but the

Court of Directors would not condescend so much as to

include his name among the candidates. There was a
unanimous acknowledgment at the India House of his pre-

eminent qualifications for it, but it was candidly avowed
that his late proceeding regarding the press had cancelled

every claim on their consideration. To Mr. Melville, the

secretauy at the India House, he wrote that reports were
in circulation of his having incurred the displeasure of the

Court of Directors and lost the governorship of Madras in

consequence of the press law. If that misfortune had
befallen him, it was his earnest entreaty that they would
intimate their pleasure that he might retire from their

service. After keeping the letter for four months, the

Court sent a curt and discourteous reply, on the receipt of

I837' which he immediately sent in his resignation, and his con-

nection with the East India Company was brought to a

termination by treatment similar to that which had been

inflicted on some of the greatest of his predecessors. But
the services which the Company thought fit to discard

were fully appreciated by the ministry, and he was succes-

sively entrusted with the government of two of the most

important colonies of the Crown.

A.D.
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CHAPTER XII.

SECTION I.

LOED AUCKLAND—COMMENCEMENT OF THE AFGHAN WAR."

Lord Auckland was sworn in as Governor-General on the ^"•

20tli March. At the valedictory entertainment given him °

by the Court of Directors he assured them that
LordAuck-

" he looked with exultation at the opportunity land

" now afforded him of doing good to his ^l^^^'
" fellow-creatures, of promoting education, and
" extending the blessings of good government to the
" millions in India." Seldom have expectations been so

signally disappointed ; his melancholy administration is

comprised in one disastrous transaction, the Afghan war,

the origin of which may be dated in July, 1837, and the

catastrophe in which it closed occurred in January, 1841.

To form a correct idea of this momentous transaction, it is

necessary to trace the convergence of events in Afghanistan

and the Punjab, in Persia and Russia, to the period when this

ill-starred expedition was undertaken.

Shah Soojah, the exiled monarch of Cabul and the

British pensioner at Loodiana, made a second effort to re-

cover his throne in 1833. He crossed the Indus shah

without the least opposition, and in January de- Soojah. ^gg^

feated the Ameers of Sinde at Shikarpore, and constrained

them to make him an immediate payment of five lacs of

rupees. On his advance to Candahar he was met by Dost
Mahomed and completely routed, when he retraced his steps

to his old retreat and pension at Loodiana. While the troops

of the Dost were engaged in repelling him, Runjeet Sing
made an irruption across the Indus and took possession of

the province of Peshawur. At this juncture a wild and
predatory tribe on the right bank of the river made repeat-ed

inroads into the Hazara district which Runjeet
j^„„ggt

Sing had also subjugated ; and as they were traced, sing's

whether with or without reason, to the instiga- |^|^
**"

tion of the Ameers of Sinde, the Punjab army
took possession of two of their forts, and both parties stood

cc

I
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ready for a conflict which would doubtless have ended in

the discomfiture of the Ameers and the extension of Runjeet
Sing's authority throughout the course of the Indus down
to the sea, which it was the determination of the Grovern-

ment of India to prevent. It was with difficulty Colonel

Pottinger restrained the rulers of Sinde from rushing into

war ; and Captain Wade, our representative with Runjeet
Sing, was obliged to allude forcibly to the risk he must incur

if he pursued designs which were opposed by the British

Government. On the other hand his gallant and ambitious

officers importuned him to resist at all hazards the restric-

tions thus imperiously placed on the extension of his terri-

tories ; but he shook his venerable beard, and asked where
were now the 200,000 Mahratta swords which had once
bade defiance to the Company. He bowed to the majesty of

British power, and at once relinquished the expedition to

Sinde.

A.D. The loss of Peshawur rankled in the bosom of Dost
1835 Mahomed, and he assumed the character of a ghazee, or

champion of the faith, and proclaimed a religious

homed at war against the infidel Sikhs. The Mahomedan
Peshawur. •world in Central Asia was immediately in com-
motion, and from the regions of the Hindoo Coosh, from
the wilds of Turkestan, and the farthest recesses of the

mountains thousands poured down to join the standard of

the Prophet. The spirit of Runjeet Sing appeared to quail

before this host ofinfuriated fanatics ; and, while he advanced
with his army to the defence of Peshawur, he sent one
Harland, an American adventurer, ostensibly on a mission to

Dost Mahomed, but in reality to sow dissensions in the

Afghan camp ; and so successful was he in planting a feel-

ing of jealousy of the growing power of the Dost among
his brothers, that one of them abruptly withdrew with

10,000 men. The encampment was thrown into a state of

inextricable confusion and dismay. "At break of day," as

Harland reported, " not a vestige of the Afghan camp was
" to be seen, where, six hours before, 50,000 men and
" 10,000 horse were rife with the tumult of wild emotion."

Dost Mahomed retired with deep chagrin to Cabul.

1836 On hearing of Lord Auckland's arrival in Calcutta, the

Dost sent him a complimentary letter, and, in allusion to

his unhappy relations with Runieet Sing, asked
Movements . . ... ^^''

. , , . •' • ^ , .

of the nim to communicate whatever might suggest
Dost. !i

i^gelf to his mind for the settlement of the
" affairs of the country." Lord Auckland returaed a
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friendly reply, and stated his intention to send a gentleman
to Cabul shortly " to discuss questions of commerce ;" but,

with regard to the Sikh quarrel, said, " My friend, you are
" aware that it is not the practice of the British Government
" to interfere with the affairs of other independent states."

Despairing of any assistance from the British Government
j^ „

the Dost, at the beginning of 1837, applied to the king of i837

Persia, as to the " King of Islam," to relieve him from the
" misery caused by the detestable tribe of Sikhs." Im-
patient to wipe out the disgrace he had sustained, he sent

his son Akbar Khan with a large army into the province of

Peshawur, and the Sikhs were completely defeated. Rein-

forcements were pushed forward from the Punjab with a
degree of promptitude and speed which has seldom been ex-

ceeded, and the Afghans were in their turn obliged to with-

draw to Cabul. It was at this critical juncture that Captain
Bumes, Lord Auckland's envoy, made his appearance to

discourse of trade and manufactures.

The Russians, Hke the Romans, have systematically

devoted their energies to the extension of their power and
dominion, and for more than a century have pro- „ ,

secuted schemes of aggrandisement in Europe and Russia in

Asia without intermission or failure. After hav- ^^ ^^*'

ing succeeded in bringing the Khirgis Cossacks to sub-

ordination, they took up their position on the Jaxartes in

1830, and gradually advanced eastward with a steady pace,

fixing their grasp on Central Asia more firmly at every

step. On that river they erected a chain of forts extending
from its estuary in lake Ural to fort Vernoe, 700 miles

eastward. Meanwhile the ambitious diplomatists of Russia
had been pushing her influence in Persia, and through
Persia up to Afghanistan. On the death of the king
Futteh Ali, who had always been favourable to an English
alliance, he was succeeded by his grandson Mahomed
Shah, who threw himself into the arms of Russia. Since
the first mission of Captain Malcolm, the British Govern-
ment had expended more than a crore of rupees in em-
bassies and subsidies to Persia in order to acquire a pre-

dominant influence at the court, which might serve as a
bulwark to the empire of India, The ministry had now the

mortification of finding this labour and expenditure thrown
away, and the British influence at Teheran completely
superseded by that of Russia.

The monarchs of Persia had long coveted the possession

of Herat, the key of Western Afghanistan, and Mahomed
c c 2
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Shah had resolved on a second expedition to it. The ruler.

Negotiations Shah Kamran, had made repeated inroads into
at Herat.

^j^g Persian territory, and, according to official

A.D. report, had kidnapped 12,000 of the subjects of Persia and
1837 sold them into slavery, Mr. M'Neill, the British minister

at the court of Teheran, asserted that the expedition to

Herat was fully justified by the atrocities of its ruler, but
that, in the present state of the relations of Russia with
Persia, the entry of a Persian army into Afghanistan
would be tantamount to the advance of Russian influence

to the threshold of India, which would not fail to disturb

the tranquillity of the empire. He used every argument
to dissuade the Shah from the expedition, while on the

other hand the Russian minister at the court encouraged
him to persevere, and offered him every kind of assistance.

The ministry in London presented a remonstrance on the

subject at St. Petersburg, and the emperor replied that

Count Simonich, his envoy, had exceeded his instructions

;

but he was not recalled, and his proceedings were so com-
pletely in accordance with the national feeling that the

"Moscow Gazette" threatened that the next treaty with
England should be dictated in Calcutta.

The Shah set out for Herat in the month of July with

50,000 troops and fifty pieces of cannon, exulting in the
^^^'^ The Herat prospect of Overthrowing the Sikhs and following

expedition, jtj^q course ofNadir Shah to Delhi. The expedition

was considered as betokening the triumph of Russian over

British influence in Persia, and created a profound sensa-

tion not only throughout Central Asia, but also in India,

where the native princes began to speculate on the humili-

ation of the Company. The Mahomedans looked for the

advent of a countless host of the faithful, backed by
200,000 " Russ." Exaggerated reports of great move-
ments in Central Asia, the cradle of Indian revolutions for

eight centuries, were spread far and wide, and in the re-

mote Deccan people began to bury their money and
jewels in the ground.

During this commotion Lord Auckland left Calcutta and
proceeded to Simla. The north-west provinces were at

Lord Anck- ^^^ time visitcd with a desolating famine, which
land's move- -vras calculated to have swept away 500,000 of
^^^ '

its inhabitants, and Lord Auckland, whose camp
of 20,000 men served to aggravate the calamity, was en-

treated to retrace his steps to Calcutta. If he had lis-

tened to this advice and returned to the seat of Grovem-
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ment, and had thus been brought under the wholesome
influence of the members of Council, the Company would
have been spared the horrors of the Afghan war, but he
resolved to continue his progress. At Simla his cabinet

council consisted of Mr. Macnaghten, the foreign secretary,

Mr. Colvin, his private secretary, and Mr. Torrens, a young
civilian of great parts and great impetuosity ; but they
were all men of much greater strength of character and
resolution than Lord Auckland, and the war is to be attri-

buted to their influence. The home Government, seeing in

every direction the indication of a restless and aggressive

spirit on the part of Russia and her agents directed against

the security of the British empire in India, had instructed

the Government to adopt vigorous measures for its protec-

tion ; and Mr. M'Neill, the minister in Persia, strongly ad-

vised Lord Auckland to raise up a barrier in Afghanistan
by subsidising and strengthening Dost Mahomed.

It was at this period of fermentation that Captain a.o.

Burnes appeared at Cabul. In the East, the importance of 1^37

a mission is measured by the value of the presents
; captain

and the magnificence of the gifts of Mr. Mount- Bumes at

Stuart Elphinstone in 1808 was not forgotten.

When, therefore. Captain Burnes opened his treasury, con-

sisting of a pistol and telescope for the Dost, and some
pins and needles for the zenana, he and his embassy sunk
at once into contempt. He found the influence of Persia para-

mount in Afghanistan. The Dost's brothers, the rulers of

Candahar, were negotiating an alliance ofiensive and defen-

sive with the Shah, and an envoy had arrived at their

court to complete the treaty, together with an ambassador
with robes and presents for the Dost. The passionate de-

sire of his heart was the recovery of Peshawur, and he
assured Captain Burnes that if he were permitted to hope
for any assistance from the British Government, he would
break off all intercourse with Persia, and send back the

plenipotentiary from Candahar, But Lord Auckland had
a morbid dread of giving offence to Runjeet Sing, and re-

fused to listen to any proposal regarding Peshawur. Yet
the Sikh ruler had offered to restore it to Dost Mahomed if he
would pay tribute for it ; and the Dost was prepared to

hold it as a fief, sending the customary presents to Lahore
;

and there can be no doubt that if the cabinet Council at

Simla had boldly met the question, and entrusted the
settlement of it to Captain Burnes at Cabul, and to Cap-
tain Wade at Lahore, it would have been brought to an
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early and satisfactory issue, and the Dost would have been
secured « as an ally ; but from first to last a spirit of infa-

tuation pervaded the Afghan policy of the Government.
Captain Bumes had threatened the Candahar chiefs with
the severe displeasure of the British Government if they
persisted in cultivating the Persian alliance, and they dis-

missed the envoy without the usual ceremonies, on the assur-

ance of Captain Burnes that he would protect them from
the displeasure of the Persians, and, if necessary, subsidise

their troops. Lord Auckland severely reprimanded him
for having exceeded his instructions, and directed him to

inform the rulers that he had held out expectations which
his Government declined to sanction ; and they lost no
time in completing the treaty with Persia, which was rati-

fied by the Russian minister at Teheran, who engaged
to defend Candahar from every attack. The proposal of

Captain Burnes was, however, highly approved of by the

ministry in London.
After the receipt of Lord Auckland's unfavourable reply

in 1836, Dost Mahomed despatched an envoy to solicit the

The Russian emperor of Russia to protect him from the Sikhs,
envoy. Captain Viktevitch was thereupon sent to Cabul
with rich presents, and an autograph from the emperor,
the authenticity of which has been questioned, but never

A n. disproved. He arrived in Cabul on the 19th December,
1837 and the Dost immediately visited Captain Bumes, and as-

sured him that he desired no connection except with the

English Government, and was ready to dismiss the Russian
envoy summarily if any hopes were held out to him from
Simla. Captain Burnes, on the one hand, dissuaded him
from so imprudent a step, and, on the other, urged on
Lord Auckland the importance of immediate and decided

action in this neck-to-neck struggle between Russia and
England at Cabul ; but Lord Auckland replied that he
must waive all hope of Peshawar, and be content with
whatever arrangement Runjeet Sing might think fit to

make. The Dost then stated that he should consider him-
self safe if the province were placed jointly in his hands
and those of his brother, who governed it on behalf of

Runjeet Sing ; and Captain Burnes again importuned Lord
Auckland to give a favourable hearing to his representations,

assuring him that the Afghan ruler was so anxious to culti-

vate the friendship of England that the Russian envoy had
not been acknowledged up to that time. This hope, how-
ever, was finally quenched by the letter which the cabinet
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of secretaries at Simla persuaded the Governor-General

to address to Dost Mahomed. It was not only supercilious,

but arrogant ; every sentence in it was calculated to kindle

a flame of indignation in the breast of the Afghan nobiUty,

and Captain Burnes's mission became hopeless.

In the last resort, the Dost addressed a conciliatory letter

to the Governor-General, imploring him, in language border-

ing on humility, to remedy the grievances of the Retirement

Afghans, and give them a little encouragement ; of Captain

but he turned a deaf ear to every overture, and
continued to require that he should reject the alluring

offers made by Russia and Persia, while he himself offered

nothing in return but good offices to prevent the farther

encroachment of the Sikhs. It could scarcely have been
unknown at Simla that Runjeet Sing had no more
idea of marching to Cabul than to Pekin, and that the

mere mention of the Khyber pass, as General Avitabile ^.d.

affirmed, gave the Sikh soldiers the colic. When the last 1838

ray of hope vanished, the Russian envoy was conducted
with great parade through the streets, and received at the

durbar with much distinction. Captain Burnes returned

to Simla, and found a strong feeling of animosity against

the Dost in Lord Auckland's advisers, who were irritated to

perceive that, instead of meekly submitting to their dicta-

tion, he was sitting at the gate of India hesitating whether
to accept their terms or the offers of their opponents,

and it was resolved to march across the Indus and depose
him, and to reinstate Shah Soojah on the throne. It was
at first contemplated that an expedition should be organised
to conduct him to Cabul, and that the British Government
should contribute all the necessary funds, as well as a body
of officers to discipline and command his troops, and a
representative to accompany him. But it was soon appa-
rent that, unless the Government of India engaged in the

war as principals, it must end in a deplorable failure. It

was accordingly determined to send a large British army
into the unexplored regions of Central Asia, where all con-

voys of provisions, stores, and ammunitionmust traverse the

states of doubtful allies, and thread long and dangerous
mountain defiles, beset with wild and plundering tribes, to

oblige the Persians to raise the siege of Herat, to drive

Dost Mahomed from Afghanistan, and to place Shah Soojah
in his seat. A tripartite treaty was negotiated and
concluded by Mr. Macnaghten between the Government of

India, Shah Soojah, and Runjeet Sing, who engaged to
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contribute the aid of a body of troops on condition that

the Shah should confirm his right to the possessions he had
acquired beyond the Indus, and divide with him whatever
sums he might be able to extort from the Ameers of Sinde.

The expedition was undertaken chiefly under the advice of

Mr. Colvin, though Sir John Hobhouse, the President of

the Board of Control, subsequently claimed to share the

responsibility of it, inasmuch as his letter, authorising it on
the part of the ministry, crossed the letter from Simla an-

nouncing that it had been commanded. With the exception

of the ministerial circle in Downing Street and the secre-

taries at Simla this preposterous enterprise was universally

condemned. Mr. Elphinstone stated that " if 27,000 men
" could be sent through the Bolan Pass to Candahar, and
" we could feed them, we might take Cabul and set up
" Shah Soojah ; but it was hopeless to maintain him in a
" poor, cold, strong, and remote country, among a turbulent
" people like the Afghans." Lord William Bentinck con-

sidered the project an act of incredible folly. Lord Welles-
ley regarded " this wild expedition, 800 miles from our
" frontier and our resources, into one of the most difficult

" countries of the world, a land of rocks and deserts, of
" sands, and ice, and snow, as an act of infatuation." The
Duke, with prophetic sagacity, affirmed that " the conse-
" quence of once crossing the Indus to settle a Govern-
" ment in Afghanistan would be a perennial march into the
" country." An attempt was made to justify the expedition

j^jy in a manifesto dated at Simla the 1st October, one

1888 of the most remarkable documents in the Company's
archives, unique for its unscrupulous misstatements and
its audacious assertions. A single instance will suffice to

stamp its character : it affirmed that the orders for assem-
bling the army were issued in concurrence with the Supreme
Council, whereas the Council, when required to place the
proclamation on record, remonstrated on the consum-
mation of a policy of such grave importance without their

having had any opportunity of expressing their opinion on
it. The immediate object was said to be to succour the
besieged garrison of Herat, and to that meniorable siege we
now turn.

The province of Herat, the acquisition of which had for

many years been the one object of desire to the sovereigns

The siege of of Persia, is the only route through which a large
Herat. and Well equipped army can advance from the
north-west towards India, and is considered the gate of
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Afghanistan on the west, as Cabul is on the east. All the

materials for the equipment and maintenance of an army
are to be found in great abundance, and the fertility of

the soil has given it the title of the granary of Central Asia.

The king, Kamran, was one of the worst specimens of an
Oriental despot and voluptuary, and his minister, Yar
Mahomed, though not devoid of courage and abilities, was
justly described as " the greatest scoundrel in Afghanis-

"tan." The king of Persia sat down before it on the

23rd November; the fortifications were crumbling away, j^sy
and the town might have been carried by a vigorous

assault on the first day. Its successful defence was owing
to the exertions of one man. A few days before the com- \

mencement of the siege, a young officer of the Bombay ^

Artillery, Lieutenant Eldred Pottinger, who had been sent

to make researches in Central Asia, entered the town in

the garb of a syud, or descendant of Mahomed, and resolved

to remain and take part in the approaching struggle. His
services were readily accepted by the king and the vizier,

and the natural ascendancy of genius speedily gave him I

the chief direction of operations. The garrison was ani- •

mated with a spirit of great resolution, and under his

inspiration baffled all the assaults of the Persians for five

months, though assisted by a regiment of Russians, who
were styled deserters to save appearances. Mr. M'Neill,

the English minister at Teheran, joined the Persian camp on
the 6th April, and, finding both parties inclined to accept 1838

his mediation, proceeded into the city to negotiate with
Shah Kamran, and there was every prospect of an early

accommodation ; but, during his absence, the Russian
minister who followed him from the capital in all haste had
reached the Shah's encampment, and urged the continu-

ance of the siege, and advanced funds for the support of
the army. The aspect of affairs was immediately changed

;

the Shah gave a cold reception to the British minister on
his return from the city, rejected the amicable arrange-
ment he had made, and announced his resolution to renew
the siege ; and Mr. M'Neill retired to the Turkish frontier.

The 24th June was fixed for a general assault. The
works were attacked under the personal direction of Count
Simonich, the Russian minister, and his engineer xhe siege

officers at five points ; the assailants were re- raised,

pulsed from four of them, but at the fifth a practical breach
was made in the defences, and the courage of the Heratees
began to fail. Yar Mahomed withdrew from the carnage

;
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A.D. but Pottinger dragged him back to the breacb, and urged
l8o8 Qj^ ^]jg defence with such irresistible energy that the

Persians, when on the point of gaining the city, recoiled

and fled, leaving 1,700 in killed and wounded. The
siege was then turned into a blockade, and the inhabitants

suffered the extremity of want. Meanwhile, two steamers

were sent by the Government of India to occupy the

island of Karrack, and they were magnified by rumour
into a portentous squadron. Mr. M'Neill took advantage
of the consternation created by this movement to send
Colonel Stoddart to the Persian camp to assure the king
that, ifhe did not relinquish his design, he would bring on
himself the hostility of the British Grovemment who had
already sent an armament into the Persian Gulf. The king
wanted only a decent pretext to raise the siege, which
had cost him dear, and replied that to secure its friendship

he was prepared to abandon it. He broke up his encamp-
ment on the 9th September, and retired with the loss of

half his army and much treasure, and with the disgrace of

having failed in an expedition which had been the talk

of Central Asia for nine months. This memorable de-

fence of Herat against 40,000 Persians aided by European
engineers, stands side by side with the siege of Arcot,

and reflects no little renown on the Anglo-Saxon youth

by whose genius it was achieved, though he had never seen

service, and possessed no knowledge of the art of war
except what he had derived from books.

The grand projects of Persia and Russia which had for

two years agitated the public mind from the Caspian Sea

„ .

,

to Cape Comorin were now quenched. The
in the dangers which menaced the British possessions
expedition,

jjj India were at once dispelled. Russia was
nowhere in Central Asia, and it was expected that the

expedition to Cabul would be relinquished ; but the in-

fatuated Government at Simla determined to persevere.

1 838 On the 9th November it was announced that, while the

raising of the siege of Herat was a just cause for congra-

tulation, the Government would still continue to prose-

cute the expedition with vigour. Of the reasons assigned,

one was that the treaty with Runjeet Sing and with

Shah Soojah bound us in honour to proceed with it
;

but, in the convention with the ruler of the Punjab there

was no allusion to the march of a British army across

the Indus, and the exiled monarch was particularly

anxious to avoid the unpopularity of being carried to
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Cabul on the shoulders of infidels. All he wanted was the

Company's gold to enable him to secure the swords of the

mercenary Afghans.
,

SECTION" II.

LOED ATJCKLAND's ADMINISTEATIOK—THE AFGHAN WAR—SUR"

RENDER OF THE DOST.

The army of the Indus, as it was designated, was assem- *-i>-

bled in November at Ferozepore, where there was a grand
meeting between the Governor-General and the Meeting of

lion of the Punjab, then tottering on the brink Runjeet

of the grave, but still exhibiting in his conn- the Gover-

tenance the calmness of design, while his single no^Generai.

eye was still lighted up with the fire of enterprise. There
were showy pageants, and gay doings, and the manoeuvres
of mimic warfare. As the army was no longer destined

for Hei-at, its strength was reduced ; and the Commander-
in-Chief, who had consented to assume the command when
it was to march into Central Asia, declined to head a

diminished force simply to place Shah Soojah in the seat

of a better man. The Bengal column started from
Ferozepore on the 10th December 9,500 strong, with 30,000 f

camels and 38,000 camp followers. The force raised for
i

Shah Soojah, and called his army, though commanded by
Company's officers and paid from the Company's treasury,

consisted of C,000 men. The Bombay troops under Sir

John Keane numbered 5,600, and the whole force amounted
to 21,000. The political charge of the expedition was
entrusted to Mr. Macnaghten, and he was styled the

envoy. The direct route to Cabul lay through the

Punjab ; but Runjeet Sing, whom Lord Auckland styled our
" ancient and faithful ally," declined to grant a passage
through his dominions to a body of more than 50,000 men,
and it became necessary to take a circuitous route of 1,000
miles down the Indus, and then across it up to Candahar
and Cabul.

This devious course had an eye also to the determination

which had been formed to lay the Ameers of Sinde under
contribution. The province had formerly been

coercion of

a dependency of Cabul, and had paid tribute theAmeew

whenever the Afghan sovereign was able to
o^^'"'*^-
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A.t). enforce it. No revenue, however, had been paid for more
1839 than forty years, and the Ameers were to all intents and

purposes independent ; but they were now required to give

twenty-five lacs of arrears to a sovereign who had been an
exile for thirty years. Colonel Pottinger, the Resident,

presented the demand, but was confounded by the produc-

tion of two releases in full from all further claims of every
description which Shah Soojah had written in two Korans
and signed and sealed five years before, when he exacted

three lacs of rupees of them ; Lord Auckland, however, said

that he did not consider it incumbent on him to enter

into any investigation of this plea, and Mr. Macnaghten
affirmed that, rather than allow the grand enterprise they
were engaged in to be impeded by the opposition of the

Ameers, it would be better to let 20,000 Punjab troops loose

on their capital. It was likewise resolved to impose a sub-

sidiary treaty on them for which they were required to

pay three lacs a year ; and, as they demurred to these

demands, Mr. Macnaghten directed Colonel Pottinger to

inform them that " neither the ready power to crush and
" annihilate them nor the will to call it into action were
"wanting, if it appeared necessary." Sir John Keane
marched up with the Bombay army to the vicinity of

Hyderabad, and the Bengal column was sent down
to co-operate with him. Awed by these demonstrations, the

Ameers submitted to necessity, signed the treaty, and sent

in the first instalment.

The sepoys, notwithstanding their religious prejudices,

crossed the Indus without hesitation, and planted the flag

Advance of of England On its right bank ; but the disas-
thearmy. ters of the army commenced as soon as it was
across. The Bengal column pushed on in advance through
the arid desert, 140 miles in length, of Cutch Gun-
dava, which furnished little water and not a blade of

grass. The camels died by hundreds, and the mortality

among the draft cattle, on which the subsistence of the

army depended, was portentous. After traversing this

sterile waste the troops were six days getting through the

terrific defiles of the Bolan Pass, where a small band
might have brought the expedition to a deadlock. The
flint stones lamed the camels ; fatigue and the want of

pasture disabled the artillery horses ; the mountain paths

were strewed with tents, equipages, and stores ; and the

rivulet which flowed at the bottom of the ravines was
tainted with the carcases of animals. Emerging from this
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pass the army entered the beautiful valley of Shawl ; but

the provisions found there were scanty, and starvation

stared the army in the face. On the 6th April the Bombay a.d.

column and Shah Soojah's army joined the Bengal force at 1^39

Qwetta, and Sir John Keane assumed the chief command.
The troops were half mutinous for want of food, the loaf

of the European soldier was diminished in weight, the

native troops were reduced to a pound of flour and the

camp followers to half that quantity, and the army was
obliged to push on to Candahar. In the intervening space

lay the Khojuk pass, scarcely less formidable than the

Bolan, though of more limited extent. The batteries and
field-pieces were dragged up and lowered down its tre-

mendous precipices by the European soldiers, pressed by
hunger, parched with thirst, and consumed by incessant

fatigue. As Shah Soojah approached Candahar, the

Barukzie chiefs, the brothers of the Dost, betrayed by
their own officers who had been corrupted, fled to the west,

and he entered the city on the 25th April.

The army, still on reduced rations, was obliged to remain
inactive at Candahar for ten weeks to await the ripening

of the crops. At a distance of 230 miles from the capture of

city and 90 from Cabul lay the renowned fortress &'i"='i"-

of Ghuzni, from which Mahmood had marched eight

centuries before to plant the standard of the crescent on
the plains of India. Dost Mahomed's son, Hyder Khan,
had been sent to strengthen the garrison and the fortifi-

cations and to provision the fort for six months. The
parapet which rose sixty or seventy feet perpendicular
above the plain, combined with the wet ditch, presented an
insurmountable obstacle to any attack by mining or escalade.

Sir John Keane had imprudently left his siege guns behind
at Candahar, and the collapse of the expedition appeared
inevitable. Happily, one of the gates had not been built

up, and Captain Thomson, the chief engineer, convinced
the Commander-in-Chief that the only mode of attack which
presented any chance of success was that of blowing up the
gate and forcing his way into the fortress. Under his

direction, therefore, 900 lbs. of powder were packed up in

bags and conveyed on a tempestuous night to the spot. The
powder exploded ; the barricade was shivered, and great

masses of masonry and wood came toppling down. Colonel
Dennie and the 13th Light Infantry rushed in with the

storming party, and, after a fearful struggle over the debris^
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the Englisli ensign was floating at daybreak over the proud
citadel of Ghuzni,

The fall of Grhuzni, which left the road to Cabul open,

bewildered Dost Mahomed, and he called his officers

Arrival at together, and with the Koran in his hand
Cabul. implored them to make one bold stand like

brave men and true believers. "You have eaten my salt,"

he said, " for thirteen years
;

grant me one request.
" Stand by the brother of Futteh Khan while he makes
" one last charge on these infidel dogs ; he will fall; then
" make your own. terms with Shah Soojah." But there

was neither spirit nor fidelity in them ; and the Dost,

seeing the struggle hopeless, parked his guns at Urgundeh
and turned with a few followers to the region of the Hindoo
Coosh. Captain Outram and nine other officers, animated
by the ardent spirit of adventure, started in pursuit of him
with a body of cavalry, and gave him no rest for six days
and nights ; but they were impeded at every step by the

treacherous chief Hajee Khan, who accompanied them with
several hundred Afghan horse, and on reaching Bameean
they found that the Dost had passed beyond the limits of

A.D. Afghanistan. On the 7th August Shah Soojah, resplendent
1839 with jewels, was conducted with martial pomp through

the city of Cabul to the Bala Hissar, the palace in the
citadel ; but there was no enthusiasm. The inhabitants

came to their thresholds to gaze not so much at the Shah
as at the infidel soldiers parading their streets, on whom
they poured a shower of maledictions. Three weeks later

the Shah was joined by his son Timur, who had advanced
on the direct route -through the Punjab and Peshawur, with

4,000 raw recruits, paid by the Company, and under the

direction of Colonel Wade. This expedition was accom-
panied by a contingent of 6,000 of Runjeet Sing's soldiers,

to whom any movement into Afghanistan was odious, and
they were repeatedly engaged in flagrant mutiny. As the

force entered the KJiyber, the Afi-eedies prepared, as usual,

to oppose its progress; but ColonelWade crowned the heights

and turned their flanks, and by this masterly movement
these terrible defiles were opened, probably for the first time,

by steel instead of gold.

The object of the expedition—that of substituting a

friendly for a hostile power in Afghanistan—was now ac-

complished, and the period had arrived when, ac-

of the cording to the Simla manifesto, the British troops
*™*y- were to be withdrawn. Within a fortnight after

V
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the enti-ance ofShah Soojah, however, Lord Auckland placed
on record that " to leave him without the support of a
" British army would be followed by his expulsion, which
" would reflect disgrace on Government and become a
" source of danger." It was determined, therefore, to

leave a force of 10,000 men to maintain him on his throne
;

and, as the Duke had predicted, our difficulties began as

soon as our military success was complete. General Will-

shire, who commanded the Bombay army, was instructed

on his return to inflict a severe chastisement on Mehrab a.d.

Khan, the ruler of Belochistan, for having withheld supplies 1839

as the army advanced through his country; but as our troops

had wantonly desolated the country in their march, and he

had none to give, the proceeding was unjust and vin-

dictive. The Belochees fought valiantly for their country

and their chief; but the capital, Khelat, was stormed, and
the Khan fell vahantly in its defence with eight of his prin-

cipal officers.

The expedition was as fertile in honours as it was barren

in military achievements. It was a ministerial measure,

condemned by the sreneral voice of Eociety in „r^^,." -. , , I-,' ilononrs.

England and m India, and it was deemed politic

to give as much eclat as possible to the first success. Lord
Auckland was created an earl ; Sir John Keane, who had
done less than nothing, a baron with an annuity of 2,000Z.

Mr. Macnaghten, Colonel Pottinger, and General Willshire

received baronetcies, and Colonel Wade a knighthood ; but

Captain Thomson, who had saved the expedition from an
ignominious and fatal failure by blowing up the gate of

Ghuzni, obtained nothing but a brevet majority and the

lowest order of the Bath ; and he abandoned the service.

Runjeet Sing died as the expedition was leaving Canda-

har, on the 27th June, at the age of fifty-seven, the victim 1839

of excesses in w^hich he had long been accus- Death of

tomed to indulge. He possessed the same ere- Runjeet

ative genius as Sevajee and Hyder Ali. The
^^'

edifice of Sikh greatness was exclusively his work, and he

would doubtless have established a great empire in Hindo-

stan if he had not been hemmed in by the Company's
power. He succeeded to the leadership of a single tribe

in the Punjab, when it was distracted with the contests of

a dozen chieftains, and to the command of a body of

matchlock horsemen. He bequeathed to his successor a

great kingdom enriched with the spoils of its neighbours,

together with an army 80,000 strong, with 300 pieces of

I
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cannon, superior in discipline, in equipment, and in valour to

any force ever before assembled under a native cbief. He
had the Oriental passion for hoarding, and left twelve
crores of rupees in his treasury, of which he bestowed half

a crore on the poor ; the Koh-i-noor, which now adorns the

diadem of England, he bequeathed to Jugemath. He was
the only man in his country favourable to the English
alliance, and during the expedition to Cabul placed the re-

sources of his country at the disposal of the Government.
The hostility of his ministers and officers broke out soon
after his death, and so greatly augmented the perils of

our position in Afghanistan, that Sir William Macnaghten
urged Lord Auckland " to curb the Sings," as the Sikh
chiefs were called, " and to macadamise the Punjab, and
" annex Peshawur to the dominions of Shah Soojah."

A.D. Soon after the occupation of Cabul, the Russophobia
1840 which distracted Sir William Macnaghten, Sir Alexander

Russian Bumes, and other British officers in Afghanistan

V asSnst^*^ ""^ose to fcver heat, on the announcement that a
Khiva. great Russian expedition was about to proceed to

Khiva, the celebrated Kharism of early Mohamedan his-

tory. This country lies to the south of the sea of Aral
on the banks of the Oxus, but, with the exception of the

oasis of Merv, is a continuous waste, unrelieved by moun-
tains, rivers, lakes, or forests, and with scarcely more than
a million of inhabitants. For half a century the rulers

had been in the habit of committing depredations on
Russian caravans, attacking Russian posts, and kidnapping
Russian subjects whom they held in slavery. The emperor
determined on a military expedition to fulfil " the im-
" perial obligation of protecting the lives and liberties of his
" subjects ;

" but there was likewise a second motive. In his

Simla manifesto Lord Auckland had stated that the object

of the expedition was also " to give the name and just in-
" fluence of the British Government its proper footing
" among the nations of Central Asia." The ambitious

spirit of Sir William Macnaghten was disposed to carry

out tbis policy to an extent which startled even his own
Government. He sent a military force beyond Bameean to

depose an Oosbek chief and instal another, and alarm was
spread through Turkestan. Major Todd, who had been
sent as the representative of the Governor-General to Herat,

was strengthening its fortifications, and had despatched

one of his assistants to Khiva to ofier the Khan the boon
of British friendship. The envoy exceeded his instruc-
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tions, and proposed an alliance, offensive and defensive,

which Lord Auckland immediately disavowed. A mission
was also sent to Bokhara.

These simultaneous movements, military and diplomatic,

aroused the jealousy of the cabinet of St. Petersburg, who
resented any intrusion of the English Govern- Russian ex-

ment into the politics of Central Asia, and the pedition to

emperor ordered the Khiva expedition to ad-
'

jg^'^

vance without any delay, five months earlier than was
originally intended. The manifesto which announced its

despatch, after enumerating the injuries the Russians had
sustained from the Khivans, adopted the language of Lord
Auckland's proclamation, and stated that the expedition

was also intended " to strengthen in that part of Asia the

'lawful influence to which Russia had a right." The
Russian journals afl&rmed without any disguise that the
object of it was " to establish the strong influence of Russia
" in Khiva, Bokhara, and Kokand, and to prevent the in-

" fluence uf the East India Company from taking root in
" Central Asia." The two European nations destined to

divide the predominant power in Asia between them, were
at this time jealous of each other's progress, and were re-

sorting to the fatal expedient of fitting out expeditions to

counteract it. " If we go on at this rate," said Baron
Brunow to Lord Palmerston, "the Cossack and the Sepoy
" will soon cross bayonets on the Oxus." The Russian ex-

pedition proved a total failure. It moved from Orenburg
in November on a march of 1,000 miles in the depth of
winter, when the snow lay several feet deep on the ground,
and not a blade of grass was to be found, and the general

was obliged to retrace his steps after the loss of half his

army. Subsequently Major Todd despatched Captain
Shakespear to Khiva, who prevailed on the Khan to de-

liver up 400 Russian slaves, whom he conducted to Oren-
burg, but his interference was considered intrusive.

After the determination was formed to retain a British

army in Afghanistan, the most important of all questions
was the encampment of the troops at the capital. The Baia

The Bala Hissar of Cabul stood on a hill, and s^*'-

completely commanded the city. It afforded accommodation
for 5,000 troops, and, if well provisioned and supplied with
military stores, could be held by 1,000 men against what-
ever force or skill the Afghans could bring against it. It

was the key of Cabul, and the security of our position de-

pended on our occupation of it. The Shah insisted on
D D
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excluding the soldiers from it, that the privacy of his

zenana might not be disturbed, and in an evil hour the

envoy, contrary to his own better judgment, yielded to his

importunity and the garrison was turned into cantonments
in the plain, erected in the most exposed position that

could be thought of. The whole of the Afghan policy

from first to last was a tissue of folly, but the crowning act

of insanity was the resignation of the Bala Hissar to the

Shah's hundred and fifty women. The conviction daily

became more confirmed, that he had no hold on the

attachment of his subjects, and that it was the infidel aid

on which he rested for support that was the chief element
of his unpopularity. Its presence was regarded like a

visitation of the plague. Many of the political ofl&cers

were men of high honour and conciliatory manners, but
there were others whose haughty and arrogant bearing

created disgust, and whose unblushing licentiousness, which
invaded the honour of the noblest families, raised a feel-

ing of burning indignation. During the twenty-seven
months of our occupation, the Government was a Govern-
ment of sentry-boxes, sustained only by the sheen of

British bayonets. The country was garrisoned, not go-

verned, and we were reposing on a smouldering volcano.

Within a few weeks of the occupation of Cabul, the high-

landers in the Khyber massacred a large detachment of

troops and carried ofi" their baggage. The whole province

of Belochistan rose in revolt and deposed the chief whom
General Willshire had imposed on the people, and General

Nott was obliged to march down from Candahar to restore

our authority. But the chief cause of anxiety was con-

nected with the movements of Dost Mahomed.
After his flight from Cabul, he accepted the hospitality

ofthe Ameer of Bokhara, " the Commander ofthe Faithful,"

Movements ^^^ *^® most atrocious tyrant in Central Asia, who
of Dost soon after subjected him to a grievous cap-

* °™
tivity. Meanwhile his brother, Jubber Khan,

after wandering from place to place with the females of his

family, placed them under the protection of the British

Government. The confidence thus shown in our honour and
generosity by a people proverbial for perfidy, was no ordi-

nary tribute to our national character. The Dost, ha^-ing

at length made his escape from Bokhara, approached Cabul

and found himself at the head of 6,000 or 7,000 Oosbeks,

with whom he resolved to cross the Hindoo Coosh, raise the

war cry of the Prophet, and, gathering strength from the un-
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popularity of Shah Soojah and his supporters, march in

triumph to Cabul. But Brigadier Dennie encountered

him with a mere handful of troops, and obtained a decisive

victory over the host of Oosbeks. After this defeat Dost
Mahomed moved into the Kohistan, or highlands north of

Cabul, and the chiefs who had recently sworn fidelity to

the Shah on the Koran, at once espoused his cause, but

Sir Robert Sale attacked him with great success. He
flitted about the hills for two or three weeks, and then

came down into the Nijrow district in the vicinity of

the capital, which was immediately thrown into a state of

general ferment. The English officials were filled with aq.
consternation, and guns were mounted in all haste on the 184u

citadel. On the 2nd November, Sir Robert Sale, who had
been incessantly in pursuit of him, came upon him in the

valley of Purwandurra ; the heights were bristling with an
armed population, but the Dost had only 200 horsemen
with him. The 2nd Cavalry galloped down upon him, and
he resolved to meet the charge manfully. Raising himself

in his stirrups and uncovering his head, he called upon his

troops, in the name of God and the Prophet, to aid him in

driving " the accursed infidels " from the land. The cavahy
troopers fled from the field like a flock of sheep, the

European officers fought with the spirit of heroes, till three

were killed and two wounded. Sir Alexander Burnes, who
was on the field, sent a hasty note to the envoy to assure

him that there was nothing left but to fall back on Cabul,

and concentrate our force for its defence. The note was
delivered to him the next afternoon as he was taking a
ride, when to his surprise, Dost Mahomed suddenly pre-

sented himself, and dismoimting, gave up his sword and
claimed his protection. He had felt, he said *' even in the
" moment of victory that it would be impossible to con-
" tinuo the contest, and having met his foes in the open field

" and discomfited them he could claim their consideration
" without indignity." The Dost rode together with the
envoy into the cantonment, where his frank manners and
dignified bearing in the hour of adversity created a strong
feeling of sympathy and admiration, which was in no small
degree heightened by contempt for the puppet in the Bala
Hissar. He was sent on to Calcutta, where he was treated

by Lord Auckland with the greatest respect and considera-

tion, and two lacs of rupees a year were assigned for his

support.

D D 2
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SECTION III.

LORD Auckland's administration—the Afghan wab— de-

STEUCTION OF THE ARMY.

A-o- Major Todd had been sent by Sir William Macnaghten to
1840 jjerat to maintain the influence of the British Grovernment

and to improve the fortifications. Money was sent in great

profusion from Cabul, but Tar Mahomed, the vizier, took
great offence at the efforts made by the Major to suppress

the execrable traffic in slaves, the curse of Central Asia,

in which he himself was deeply implicated, and he offered

to place the whole country under the control of the king of

Persia. Incensed at this act of ingratitude and perfidy.

Sir William Macnaghten urged the immediate annexation

of the province to the dominions of Shah Soojah, but
Lord Auckland was disposed to condone the conduct of the

minister, and the supply of guns, muskets, ammunition, and
money was renewed with such prodigality as to alarm the

financial authorities in Calcutta. But th^ lavish expendi-

ture only led to more audacious intrigues, and Yar Mahomed
endeavoured to concert a plan with the Persian governor
of Meshed for the invasion of Candahar. This renewed act

of treachery exhausted Major Todd's patience, and he with-

held the monthly subsidy till the orders of the Governor-
General could be received. The minister then rose in his

demands, and on the 8th February insisted peremptorily on
the payment of two lacs for the discharge of his personal

debts, and a further advance for the improvement of the

fortifications, and an increase of the monthly stipend, or

the immediate departure of Major Todd. The Major at

1841 once withdrew the embassy to the great mortification of

Lord Auckland, who dismissed him from his political

employ and remanded him to his regiment.

The political charge of the province of Candahar was
entrusted to Major Rawlinson, and the military command

1840 „ ^„
J.

to General Nott, an officer of sound judgment
and Major and great decision of character. He was prompt
Rawlinson.

g^^^j successful in dealing with the revolts which
were continually cropping up around him, but the freedom

of his remarks was displeasing to Lord Auckland and to Sir

William Macnaghten, and he was, unfortunately, re-

fused the promotion which he expected on Sir Willoughby
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Cotton's retirement from the command at Cabul, and
wliich, if it had been granted to him, would, in all proba-
bility, have averted the tremendous catastrophe of the ensuing
November. The Dooranees who occupied the province
lying between Gandahar and Herat, and who were of Shah
Soojah's own tribe, had haQed with delight the restora-

tion of their own prince to the throne, but when their

expectation of sharing the sweets of power was disap-

pointed by the employment of European officers, they
manifested a more rancorous hostility to him than any
other tribe. Their chief, Akbar Khan, assembled 6,000 men
on the banks of the Helmund in July, in six divisions, with
a priest at the head of each and a banner inscribed " We
"have been trusting in God ; may He guard and guide us."

He was vigorously attacked by Colonel Woodbum, and
defeated ; the confederacy was broken up, and all the chiefs

made their submission with the exception of Akram Khan,
whose indomitable spirit resisted every overture. In other
countries he might have been considered a patriot ; in

Afghanistan he was regarded as a traitor. His feelings

were well expressed in the Afghan remark, " We are con-
" tent with blood, but shall never be content with a master."
His retreat was betrayed for a bribe by one of his own
tribe, and he was blown away from a gun by express orders
from Cabul.
The province lying to the north-east of Candahar was a.d.

inhabited by the Ghiljies, a fine muscular race, expert in 1841

the use of military weapons, and able to bring The Eastern

40,000 men into the field, but characterised by GhUjies.

an intense ferocity of disposition. They were as jealous of
their own independence as they were eager to conquer that
of others. In time past they had carried their victorious

arms to the capital of Persia, and exhibited their prowess
on many a battle-field of India ; nor had they ever bowed the
neck to the rulers of Cabul or Candahar. Sir William had
prevailed on them for an annual subsidy to abstain from
infesting the highways and levying black mail, but their

deep-rooted antipathy to the intruding foreigners became
daily more apparent, and it was deemed necessary to
strengthen the fortifications of Khelat-i-Ghiljie, a fortress

lying in the heart of their territory. They determined to

oppose this measure and advanced in great force to defeat
it, when they were encountered by Colonel Wymer, who
inflicted a signal defeat on them, after an obstinate conflict

of five hours continued beyond sunset. Every emeute had

I
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now been put down, and Sir William Macnaghten was
beginning to congratulate himself on the termination of all

his difficulties, but Major Rawlinson assured him that
the whole country was pervaded by a spirit of implacable
hostihty towards us, and that there would be a general
outburst on the first favourable opportunity.

That opportunity was not far distant. The expense of

garrisoning Afghanistan was beginning to tell on the

Besointi n
finances of India. The army of occupation fell

to hold little short of 25,000 men, and the annual
Afghanis- charge was computed at a crore and a half of

rupees. All the treasure accumulated by Lord
William Bentinck had been exhausted, the treasury was
drained and the Court of Directors were filled with alarm.

At the close of 1840 they communicated their views to the

Government at Simla, and stated that as it was evident

the restored monarchy could not be maintained without a
large force, it was necessary to make a large addition to

the army ; but they should advise the entire abandonment
of the country, with a frank avowal of the complete failure

of our object. The circumstances of the period appeared
to be moi'e favourable to retirement than they had ever

been. The Persian court was on the most friendly terms
with us ; the Russian expedition to Khiva had totally

failed ; Dost Mahomed and his family were state prisoners

with us, and the revolt in Belochistan was completely

quelled. Sir William Macnaghten had, moreover, stated

that the noses of the Dooranee chiefs " had been brought
" to the grindstone, and that Afghanistan was as quiet as
" an Indian district, and its tranquillity was marvellous."

Nothing could be more reasonable and politic than this

advice, but the question of withdrawal was unfortunately

left to the judgment of the Government of India—that is,

J 541 to the decision of those who had advised the war, and they

declared that to deprive the Shah of British support would
be an act of " unparalleled political atrocity." There was
no difficulty in persuading Lord Auckland that our troops

ought not to be withdrawn before the authority of the

Shah had been completely consolidated ; whereas it was pal-

pable to everyone but the envoy that his authority could

never be sufficiently established while the " accursed in-

"fidels," as we were universally termed, continued to

garrison the country. It was therefore determined to re-

main in Afghanistan, to make no increase to the army, but

to reduce the expenditure, and to open a new loan.
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The retrenchments were to be made by reducing the a.d.

stipends of the chiefs, and, by that fatality which seemed to 1841

attend every measure connected with this nn- „ . ,

T- n !•! ijii Ketrencn-
tortunate expedition, those which ought to have ment and

come last were takenup first. The eastern Ghiljies ^^^°^^-

were the first to be summoned to Cabul, when they were in-

formed that the exigencies of the State rendered the

reduction of their allowances indispensable. The subsidies

paid by us had been paid from time immemorial by every
ruler of Afghanistan, and were regarded by the highlanders

as a patrimonial inheritance. They were magnanimously
indifferent to the politics of Afghanistan, and cared not
who ruled as long as their franchise was not invaded. The
stipends now reduced had, moreover, been guaranteed to

them when we took possession of the country, and they
had performed their part of the contract with exemplary
fidelity. They had not allowed a finger to be raised against

our posts, or couriers, or weak detachments, and convoys
of every description had passed through their terrific

defiles, the strongest mountain barriers in the world,

without interruption. They received the announcement
of the reduction in the beginning of October without any
remonstrance, made their salaam to the envoy, and, return-

ing to their fastnesses, plundered a caravan and blocked up
the passes. The 35th Native Infantry, commanded by
Colonel Monteith, which was under orders to return to

India, was directed by the envoy to proceed " to the passes

"and chastise these rascals, and open the road to India;"
but he was attacked during the night and lost the greater

portion of his baggage. Sir Robert Sale, commanding the

brigade returning to India, who was directed to support the

35th, was vigorously assailed in the Khoord Cabul pass, and
on reaching Tezeen, ordered a detachment against the fort

of the Ghiljie leader, the capture of which would have in-

flicted a severe blow on the insurrection, but the wily
chiefs contrived to cozen the political agent, and he was
drawn into a treaty which conceded nearly all they desired.

Their stipends were restored, and 10,000 rupees paid down,
but the revolt, instead of being nipped in the bud, was
strengthened by this display of weakness. While professing

submission, they sent emissaries to raise the tribes in ad-
vance, and Sir Robert Sale was obliged to fight every inch
of his way to Gundamuk, and on his arrival there, found
his communication with the capital closed, and the whole
country in a blaze of rebellion.
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Sir William Macnaghten had been rewarded for his

services in Afghanistan with the governorship of Bombay,
Murder of ^'^d had arranged to leave Cabul in the beginning
Bumes. of November, Throughout the previous month,
while the surface of society presented the appearance of an
unruffled calm, a general confederacy, which embraced
every chief of every tribe, had been organised for our ex-

pulsion. The envoy was warned by the most intelligent

and experienced officers—SirAlexander Bumes excepted

—

of the storm which was gathering, but he persuaded him-
self that the country was in a state ofunprecedented repose,

and that the rising of the Ghiljies was a local emeute. On
the evening of the 1st November, Sir Alexander visited

A.D. him to congratulate him on leaving the country in a state

1841 of such tranquillity. At that same hour, some of the con-

federates were assembled in a house in the city to arrange
the plan of the insurrection, and at dawn on the 2nd No-
vember, the insurgents surrounded Sir Alexander's house
in the city with loud yells. He instantly despatched a
messenger to Sir William Macnaghten in the cantonments
for aid, and harangued the mob from his balcony, offering

large sums for his own and his brother's life, but they were
thirsting for his blood. He was more obnoxious to the

Afghan chiefs than any of the other British officers, some
of whom had gained their esteem by their genial disposi-

tion and their high moral character. He was decoyed into

his garden by a treacherous Cashmerian, and hacked to

pieces, together with his brother. The insurgents then

proceeded to assault the neighbouring house to which
Captain Johnston, the paymaster of Shah Soojah's force,

had been unwisely allowed to transfer his treasure, and
plundered it of nearly two lacs of rupees, and burnt

down the houses of the other officers. The mob did not

originally consist of more than a hundred men, but the

rich booty which had been obtained speedily augmented
their number, and the whole city was soon in a state of

wild commotion. The confederate chiefs had so little expecta-

tion of success, that they had their horses saddled for flight

on the first appearance of British troops. They subsequently

acknowledged that the slightest exhibition of energy at the

commencement would have put down the insurrection at

once ; but no efibrt was made.
General Elphinstone who commanded the troops, was a

gallant old Queen's officer, but utterly disqualified for this

important and dangerous post by his bodily infirmities, and
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not less by Ms mental weakness and want of decision. On
the retirement of Sir Willongliby Cotton, the Com- (jenerai

mander-in-Chief, Sir Jasper NicoUs, had recom- ^'phin-

mended Sir W. Nott as his successor, but he had,

as we have said, incurred the displeasure of the Governor- jg^j
Greneral by the freedom of his remarks on the perils of our

position, and General Elphinstone was importuned to accept

the appointment, though his tremulous and gouty hand-

writing gave the clearest evidence that he was wholly

unfit to be placed in the command of an army in a country

ripe for revolt. It is therefore impossible to exonerate

Lord Auckland from a large share of the responsibility of

the overwhelming calamity which ensued, and which is to

be attributed solely to the incompetency of the officer

whom he had selected. The envoy made light of the

emeute, and said it would speedily subside, and the

General was too happy to be spared the necessity of

exertion not to acquiesce in this opinion. It was decided,

however, that Brigadier Shelton's brigade, which was en-

camped on the heights of Sea Sung, should be ordered to

the Bala Hissar, and that assistance should be sent, if

possible, to Sir Alexander Bumes. No eflFort was made
by either the political or military authorities to rescue him,

though it might have been efiected with perfect ease by
a direct route only a mile and a half long, free from every

impediment. At a crisis when moments were of inestimabje

value, hours were wasted in discussion with the Shah re-

garding the admission of Brigadier Shelton's force into the

Bala Hissar, and when it was settled, he did nothing but
cover the retreat of Colonel Campbell and a regiment of the

Shah's Hindostanees, who had been sent to the rescue of

Sir Alexander, but were driven back.

On the evening of this first day of disaster General
Elphinstone, instead of forming a vigorous plan of opera-

tions for the morrow, wrote to the envoy, "We
j^^g^i^ty ^f

" must see what the morning brings, and think the envoy

"what can be done," Nothing, however, was and general.

done except a feeble attempt to penetrate the city with

an inadequate force three hours after midday, but it was
driven back by the thousands of armed men whom the

success of the rising had brought into the city. "Within

thirty hours of the outbreak Sir "William Macnaghten
began to despond—as well he might—and despatched letters

to General Nott and General Sale desiring them to come
up immediately to his relief. The fatal error of having

I
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A.n. given up the Bala Hissar and planted the cantonment
1841 in low ground on the plain, was now fully revealed.

The ramparts were so contemptible that a pony might
scale them, and they were so completely commanded by
the neighbouring hills and forts that the troops could not
move out without being exposed to a heavy fire. The
commissariat stores, moreover, on which the existence of

the army depended, instead of being lodged within the

cantonment were deposited in a small fort, 400 yards

distant, and guarded by eighty men. The supine general,

instead of making a vigorous effort to secure them, allowed

the enemy to undermine the fort ; and the officer in charge
of it, seeing no effort made to support him, was obliged to

evacuate it, and men and officers looked over the walls of

the cantonment with burning indignation, while a rabble

of Afghans was employed unchecked, like a swarm of ants,

in carrying off the provisions on which their hope of sus-

taining life depended.

General Sale received Sir William's order to return to

Cabul at Gundamuk, but it was determined at a council

Generals of ^^^ thsd, the force was in so crippled a state,

Sale and and the intervening passes so completely blocked
up by the insurgents, that any such attempt

would result in its complete destruction, and it was de-

termftied therefore to push on to Jellalabad. General Nott
at Candahar argued that his troops could not reach Cabul
under five or six weeks ; that beyond Ghuzni they would
have to fight every inch of the way, and to wade through
the snow, and would eventually arrive in such a condition

as to be of little, if any, service. Three regiments were,

nevertheless, despatched, but they returned on the first

appearance of snow. Extraordinary efforts were now made
at Cabul to obtain provisions from the neighbouring vil-

lages, and four days after the rising General Elphinstone
informed the envoy that they had got temporarily, and he
hoped permanently, over this difficulty, and, with 5,000

troops under his command, said, " Our case is not yet de-
" sperate ; but it must be borne in mind that it goes very
" fast." Sir William, seeing the honour and safety of the

force in such keeping, felt himself constrained to open ne-

gotiations with the insurgent chiefs, and, through the

moonshee, Mohun Lall, made them an offer of two, three, or

even five lacs of rupees ; but, as might have been expected,

this fresh token of our weakness only served to increase

their arrogance.

The utter incompet.ence of the general was hurrying the

i
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garrison to destruction, but there appeared some faint hope a.d.

of deliverance if Brigadier Shelton, who had re- Brigadier 1841

mained in the Bala Hissar since the 2nd No- sheiton.

vember, were associated with him in the command. He
was an oflBcer of great energy, distinguished for his courage

and iron nerve, and his arrival on the 9th November raised

the drooping spirits of the garrison. But it was soon

apparent that his insupportable temper neutralised all his

military qualifications. He might have secured the salva-

tion of the force if he had cordially co-operated with the

general, but the state of things was only rendered more
desperate by the discord which his perversity created.

There was yet one course which would have rescued the

army from all its perils—an immediate retreat to the

impregnable position of the Bala Hissar. Shah Soqjah
did not cease to urge this movement—which was equally

advocated by the envoy and the general—but Brigadier

Shelton pertinaciously resisted it on grounds positively

absurd, and on his memory rests the ignominy of having
sealed the doom of 15,000 human beings.

There is little interest in dwelling on the long and
melancholy catalogue of errors which followed close on
each other, disgusting the officers, demoralising Lastengage-

the men, and hastening the ruin of the force. On ™ent.

the 23rd November, the Afghans took up a position on the

Behmaroo hills, which enabled them to inflict serious injury

on the cantonment, and, at the earnest entreaty of the

envoy, Brigadier Shelton went out with a considerable

force to dislodge them. The chief who commanded their

cavalry was killed, and the whole body was seized with a
panic, and fled in disorder to the city. The envoy was
standing by the side of the general on the ramparts, and
importuned him to hasten out a sufficient force to improve
the opportunity, but he languidly replied that it was a wild

scheme. The enemy had time to recover their confidence

and rushed back with redoubled fury, when the whole
battalion of English soldiers abandoned the field and took

to flight. The fugitives and pursuers were so mingled
in the race that the Afghans might with perfect ease have
captured the cantonments, but the chiefs drew ofi" their men
in the moment of victory. This defeat concluded all military

operations ; the disasters of these three weeks were justly

attributed to the jealousies and the mismanagement of

the two commanders, and all hope for the future was at

an end ; the army was demoralised, and a feeling of gloom
and dismay pervaded the encampment.

I
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SECTION IV.

LORD Auckland's administration—the Afghan war—anni-

hilation OF THE ARMY.

A.D. The day after the disaster of the 23rd November, Shah
'^*^ Soojah again entreated the envoy to retire to the Bala His-

Negotia- sar, and he pressed it with increasing impor-
tions. tnnity on the military chiefs, but they persisted in

rejecting the proposal, and the general, moreover, informed
him in an official communication that it was no longer
possible to maintain our position in the country. Sir Wil-
liam was therefore constrained to submit to the ignominy of

holding a conference with the Afghan chiefs, but, finding

us reduced to extremity, they haughtily demanded that

the whole army should surrender at discretion with its

arms and ammunition, and the negotiation was necessarily

broken off. A week after, Akbar Khan, the

ablest of Dost Mahomed's sons, a young soldier of

great energy, but of a fiery and impetuous temper, arrived

in Cabul and was at once accepted as the leader of the
national confederacy. He was not slow to perceive that it

was only necessary to cut off its supplies to extinguish the
British force, and he immediately threatened with death all

who should venture to furnish any provisions. The envoy,
seeing the destruction of the force inevitable, renewed his

entreaty to withdraw to the Bala Hissar, but the general

again refused his concurrence. He then proposed that they
should endeavour to obtain provisions from the country by
their swords, but the imbecile commander replied that the

only alternative now left was to obtain a safe conduct out
of the country.

Starvation now stared the garrison in the face. On the

11th December, there was food left only for the day's con-

-^^ . sumption of the fightine men, and the envoy was
aith Decern- obliged to make another effort to negotiate, and
**^' found himself constrained to submit to whatever
terms the Afghans chose to dictate. They were sufficiently

humiliating ; the troops at Jellalabad, Candahar, Cabul,

and Ghuzni were to evacuate the country, receiving every
assistance of carriage andprovisions; Dost Mahomed and his

family were to be Hberated ; Shah Soojah was to be at

liberty to remain on a pension, or to retire with the
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Britisli force ; the army was to quit Cabul within three a.o.

days, and in the meantime to receive ample supplies of 1841

provisions, and four oflBcers were to be given up as hostages.

This is the most disgraceful transaction in the annals of

British India. In extenuation of it, the envoy placed on
record, that " we had been fighting forty days against
" superior numbers, under the most disadvantageous cir-

" cumstances, with deplorable loss of life, and in a day or
" two must have perished of hunger. The terms I secured
" were the best obtainable, and the destruction of 15,000
" human beings would little have benefited our country."

But the position of the unhappy envoy is described still

more accurately by Kaye in his classic history of the war
in Afghanistan :

" Environed and hemmed in by difficulties

" and dangers, overwhelmed with responsibilities there was
" none to share—the lives of 16,000 resting on his decision
" —the honour of his country at stake—with a perfidious
" enemy at his back, he was driven to negotiate by the
" imbecility of his companions." The entire responsibility

of this humiliating convention rests on General Elphinstone

and Brigadier Shelton, than whom it would not have
been easy to discover two men more disqualified for the posts

they occupied, the one by bodily infirmity and consti-

tutional imbecility, the other by almost incredible perversity

of disposition. The brilliant success of Sir Kobert Sale at

Jellalabad shows how easily the position of the army of

Cabul might have been rectified with the superior means
and appliances at command, if it had been under an able

commander.
It never, however, was the intention of the Afghans to

fulfil the treaty, or to permit any European to escape. The
Bala Hissar was evacuated on the 13th by the few violation of

troops in it ; the forts around the cantonment were *^^ treaty.

surrendered, and Akbar Khan received letters to the com-
mandants at Jellalabad and other military stations ordering

them to retire. The chiefs, moreover, were allowed to go
into the magazines and help themselves to whatever stores

they liked, while officers and men looked on in silent in-

dignation. But the suppHes furnished were so scanty as

scarcely to appease hunger, and Akbar Khan and his chiefs

not only continued to withhold supplies of carriage and
provisions for the march, but rose in their demands, and
insisted on the delivery of all the stores and ammuni-
tion of every description, and the surrender of all the
married families as additional hostages. In these cir-
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i.D. cumstances, Sir William directed his moonshee to open
1841 negotiations with other tribes, and inform them that

if any portion of the Afghans declared to the Shah that

they wished him to remain, he would break with the

faithless Barukzies, the tribe of Akbar. It was at this

critical juncture, when bewildered by the appalHng crisis

which was approaching, that Sir William Macnaghten
received an unexpected message from Akbar, with a fresh

proposal that the British force should remain till the spring

;

that Shah Soojah should retain the title of king, and that

Akbar Khan should be appointed vizier, receiving from the

British Government an immediate payment of thirty lacs,

and an annual allowance of four lacs. In an evil hour for

his reputation and safety, the envoy accepted these pro-

posals in writing, and agreed to attend a meeting which
was appointed for the next day.

Greneral Elphinstone described the proposal as a plot, and
endeavoured to dissuade the envoy from proceeding to the

Assassina- Conference, but he replied in a hurried tone, " Let
tion of the «' me alone for that. Dangerous though it be—if

" it succeeds, it is worth all risk, I had rather
" sufier a hundred deaths than live the last six weeks over
" again." At noon on the 23rd December he proceeded
with three officers and about sixteen of his body-guard to

the fatal meeting, 600 yards from the cantonment, where
Akbar Khan had spread some horse cloths on the snow on
the slope of the hill. They were no sooner seated than the

officers were seized and placed each one on the saddle of an
Afghan horseman and hurried off to the city. One of them
fell off and was hacked to pieces ; the envoy was shot dead
by Akbar Khan, and the ghazees, or fanatics, rushed in and
mutilated his body. Thus perished Sir Wilham Macnaghten,
the victim of an unwise and unjust policy, but as noble and
brave an officer as ever fell in the service of his country.

Throughout seven weeks of unparalleled difficulties, he ex-

hibited a spirit ofcourage and constancy of which there is not
another example in the annals of the Company. He was the

only civilian at CabuJ, and one of the truest-hearted soldiers

in the garrison. He had served several years in the Madras
army, and there can be little doubt that if he could have
assumed the command of the force it would have escaped
the doom that befell it.

No effort was made from the cantonment to avenge the

murder of the envoy, or even to recover his mangled re-
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mains, whicli were dragged in triumph through the city, a d.

All eyes were now turned on Major Pottinger, 1841

who had come in wounded from Chareekar at p*^^
the beginning of the insurrection, and had remained
ever since unnoticed in the cantonment. He assumed the

political post of envoy and called a council of war to consider

the new terms on which the Afghan chiefs now agreed to

grant the army a safe-conduct to Peshawur. They difi'ered

from those to which Sir William had given his consent only

in the demand of larger gratuities to themselves. The hero

of Herat recoiled from these humiliating concessions, and
urged the officers to reject them with scorn and defiance.

His energy might yet have saved the army, but the council

would not fight, and the new treaty was accepted with-

out a word of remonstrance. The confederate chiefs, as

might have been expected, increased their demands, and
required that all the coin and the spare muskets and every
gun save six should be surrendered, and that all the married
officers and their families should be left in the country.

But letters were received at the same time from Jellalabad

and Peshawur stating that reinforcements were on their

way, and imploring the garrison to hold out. Dissensions

were also reported among the Afghan chiefs, and the major
seized the occasion of this gleam of sunshine to conjure the
commanders to make one bold and prompt efibrt either to

occupy the Bala Hissar, or to cut their way to Jellalabad
;

but Brigadier Shelton, the evil genius of the cantonment,
declared that both courses were equally impracticable. The
treaty was therefore completed, and small arms, guns, and
waggons were given up amidst the indignant exclamations
of the garrison. The ratification of the treaty by the seals

of eighteen chiefs was received on the 4th January. It was
dictated in a spirit of arrogance, and received in a spirit of

humility, and violated without a blush.

On the 6thJanuary,1842, the army, still 4,500 strong, with 1842

11,000 camp followers, began its ominous retreat. As the
snow lay ankle-deep on the ground, its salvation

depended on the rapidity of its movements. If of the

it had crossed the Cabul river before noon, and *™y-

pushed on with promptitude, it might have escaped the
dangers before it ; but, through the mismanagement of the
general the rear-guard did not leave the gate before the
shades of night came on. The Afghan fanatics then rushed
in and set the cantonments on fire, and lighted up this first

night of horrors with the blaze. In the morning the spirit
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A.D. of discipline began to wane, and the force was no longer a
18i2 retreating army, but a panic-stricken and disorganised

rabble. Safety was to be found only in speed, but by the
unaccountable folly of the military authorities the troops

were halted the second night at Bootkhak. The crowd of

men, women, and children, horses and camels, lying on
the snow in wild confusion, without food or fuel, or shelter,

presented a spectacle of unexampled misery. Akbar Khan
now made his appearance, and demanded fresh hostages

for the protection, as he said, of the force as far as Tezeen,

and they were surrendered. Between Bootkhak and
Tezeen lay the terrific gorge of the Khoord Cabul, five miles

in length, so narrow that the rays of the sun seldom pene-

trated its recesses. At the bottom of it ran an impetuous
torrent, which the road crossed and recrossed twenty-eight

times, and it was through this tremendous defile that the dis-

ordered mass of human beings pressed on with one madden-
ing desire, to escape destruction. But the Ghiljies poured an
incessant fire upon the crowd from every height with their

unerring weapons that carried death to the distance of 800
yards, and 3,000 perished from their fire and the intensity

of the cold. It was in this scene of carnage that delicate

Engh'sh ladies, some with infants in their arms, had to run
the gauntlet of Afghan bullets amidst a heavy fall of snow.
Akbar Khan again appeared in the morning and offered

a supply of provisions, and advised the general to halt.

Extinction The whole force exclaimed against this insane
of the army, proposal, but the general was deaf to all entrea-

ties, and the perishing troops were constrained to sit down
idle for a whole day in the snow. Akbar made an ofier to

take charge of the ladies and children, and convey them to

Peshawur. They had scarcely tasted food since leaving

Cabul ; they were inadequately clad, and could obtain no
shelter from the snow. Major Pottinger, who was Akbar's
prisoner, felt that it would be impossible for them to sur-

vive these hardships, and, in accordance with his advice,

Lady Macnaghten, Lady Sale, and nine other ladies, with
fifteen children, and eight ofiicers, were sent to Akbar's
camp and rescued from destruction. On the morning of

the 10th, the remainder of the army resumed its march,

but, before evening, the greater number of the sepoys had
disappeared. Panic-stricken and benumbed with cold, they

were slaughtered like sheep by the remorseless Ghiljies,

and a narrow defile between two hills was choked up with

the dying and the dead ; 450 European soldiers and a con-
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siderable body of officers yet remained, but the enemy took a.d,

post on every salient point, blocked up every pass, and 1842

dealt death among their ranks. On approaching Jugdulluk

a conference was held with Akbar, who continued to hang
upon their rear, and he offered to supply them with provi-

sions, on condition that General Elphinstone, Brigadier

Shelton, and another officer, should be transferred to him
as hostages for the surrender of Jellalabad. But this con-

cession brought no respite from the ferocity of the Ghiljies,

in whom the thirst for blood had overcome even the love

of money, which was freely offered them, Akbar, having

obtained possession of the persons of the ladies and the

principal officers, abandoned the remnant of the army to

their vengeance. At Jugdulluk, twelve of the bravest of

the officers met their doom ; and here the Cabul army may
be said to have ceased to exist. Twenty officers and forty-

five European soldiers contrived to reach Gundamuk, but

they gradually dropped under the weapons of their foes,

with the exception of one officer. Dr. Brydon, who was
descried from the ramparts of Jellalabad, on the 13th

January, slowly wending his way to the fort, wounded and
exhausted, on his jaded pony, the sole survivor, with the

exception of 120 in captivity, of 15,000 men.
The entire annihilation of this army was the severest

blow which had been inflicted on the British power in

India. Yet so strongly had its authority become
jj^g^^^, j

consolidated that it did not produce any of those the catas-

immediate demonstrations of hostility at the na- *'^°p^'^-

tive courts, or any such fermentation in native society, as

were visible on the destruction of Colonel Monson's force

in 1804, or the failure in the Nepaul campaign of ]814,
or even the sluggish progress of the army in Burmah
in 1825. Lord Auckland, although overwhelmed by the

magnitude of the calamity, was induced to issue a procla-

mation that " the Governor-General regarded the partial

"reverse which had overtaken a body of British troops

"in a country removed by distance and difficulties of
" season from the possibility of succour, as a new occa-
" sion for displaying the vigour and stability of British
" power, and the admirable spirit and vigour of the British
" Indian army." But after this spasm of energy he relapsed

into a spirit of dejection, and, instead of considering how
most efi'ectually to restore our military superiority, the sole

basis of our power in India, was prepared to leave it with-

out vindication, and considered only how he could withdraw
E E
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AD. General Sale from Afghanistan. Unfortunately, the Com-
1842 mander-in-chief was equally devoid of spirit ; but Mr.
—now Sir George—Clerk, the political agent in the

Punjab, on hearing of the siege of the cantonment, hurried

on the brigade which had been appointed to relieve the

regiments returning from Afghanistan, but they were
placed under the command of Colonel Wyld, and sent

without cavalry or cannon. He crept through the Punjab
at a slothful pace, and was thirty-five days in reaching

Peshawur, whereas one of Runjeet Sing's European officers

had accomplished the distance with his army in twelve

days. The sepoys were eager to advance to the rescue

of their fellow soldiers, but he lingered there until they

were thoroughly demoralised by intercourse with the Sikh
auxiliaries whom Runjeet Sing's successor had sent to co-

operate with them, and who, on reaching Jumrood, and
looking into the pass, turned round and marched back to

Peshawur. Colonel Wyld then entered the pass without
them, but the frail guns the Sikhs had lent him broke
down on the first discharge ; the sepoys lost heart, and
allowed themselves to be ignominiously chased back, leaving

their artillery in the hands of the Afreedies.

Lord Auckland was reluctant to send on a second
brigade to relieve the army besieged in Cabul, but Mr.

General Clerk's energy overcame all objections, and a
PoUock. force of 3,000 men, including a corps of Euro-
peans, crossed the Sutlej on the 4th January. It was
happily under the command of General Pollock, an old

artillery officer, who had campaigned with Lord Lake, and
fought at Bhurtpore, in Nepaul, and in Burmah, and whose
sagacity, caution, and decision of character eminently
qualified him for the arduous task before him. The entire

destruction of the Cabul force was announced on the 22nd
January, and Mr. Clerk met the Commander-in-chief, Sir

Jasper Nicolls, to discuss the measures necessary to meet
the crisis. Sir Jasper stated that the only object now to

be pursued was to withdraw Sir Robert Sale's force safely

to India ; but Mr. Clerk, in a spirit more worthy of a Briton,

maintained that the national reputation and the safety of

the empire imperatively required that the garrison at

Jellalabad should be reinforced to march simultaneously

with the Candahar force to the capital, and inflict a signal

retribution on the Afghans on the scene of our late disgrace,

and then withdraw from Afghanistan with dignity and
undiminished renown. The energy of this appeal could
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not be resisted, and a third brigade was ordered to be held

in readiness to join General Pollock ; but Lord Auckland's

last communication informed him that " his sole business
" was to secure the safe return of our people and troops
" detained beyond the Indus."

The arrival of Lord Ellenborough in Calcutta on the a.b.

28th February brought Lord Auckland's disastrous ad- 1^^^

ministration to a close. He wrote a benevolent dogg ^f

minute on education, and he endeavoured to pro- i^rd Auck-

mote the interests of science, for which he had a ministra-

natural turn ; but his rule was comprised in a **°''-

single series of transactions—the conquest, the occupation,

and the loss of Afghanistan. His administration com-
menced with a surplus revenue of a crore and a half, and it

closed with a deficit of two crores, and a large addition to

the debt. The Tories contributed one inefficient Governor-
General in Lord Amherst, and the Whigs another in Lord
Auckland. The one wasted thirteen crores in the Burmese
war ; the other squandered an equal sum in the Afghan
expedition.

CHAPTEE XIIL

I

SECTION I.

LORD ellenborough' S ADMINISTRATION— ADVANCE OF IHB
ARMY ON CABDL.

Lord Ellenborough, who now assumed the charge of the
Government, was a statesman of high repute, and an elo-

quent speaker, and had for several years taken a Lord EUen-
special interest in the affairs of India, more par- borough.

ticularly during the discussion on the last charter. Like
Lord Wellesley and Lord Minto, he had served an appren-
ticeship at the Board of Control, where he had acquired an
ample knowledge of the principles and policy of the Indian
administration. He was known to possess great energy
and decision of character, and the community in India
augured a happy relief from the weak and vacillating policy

of his predecessor.

General Pollock arrived at Peshawur on the 5th February,

E B 2
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A.D. and found the four regiments in a state of complete insub-
1842 ordination. Many of the sepoys had deserted their co-

General Pol
lo^''S» ^^^ meetings were nightly held to encourage

lock's ad- each other in the determination not to enter the
vance. Khyber Pass. Efforts were also made to de-

bauch the regiments which the general had brought with
him, but he put down these machinations with promptitude
and energy. The officers manifested scarcely less reluct-

ance to encounter the danger of the passes. Sir Robert
Sale was importuning the general to hasten to his relief,

but he felt that, with a force so completely demoralised,

he could not advance without the certain risk of fail-

ure. Obliged as he was to wait for reinforcements, he
devoted the months of February and March to the task

of restoring the discipline, recovering the health, and
reviving the confidence of his troops, which was strength-

ened in no small degree by the arrival of a regiment
of dragoons and some horse artillery. Eaja Golab Sing
also came up and took the command of the Sikh con-

tingent, and the masterly arrangements and resolute bear-

ing of General Pollock at length overcame the dread with
which the Sikhs regarded the Khyber, and secured the active

co-operation of the raja. The Khyberees demanded an exor-

bitant sum for a passage through their defiles, and proceeded

to block up the entrance of the pass with stones and branches

of trees, while they covered the mountains on either side

with theii' troops ; but the plan adopted by General Pollock,

of crowning the heights baffled all their efforts. At three

in the morning of the 5th April the troops moved out of the

camp in perfect silence and climbed up the rugged crags

with great enthusiasm, and the dawn revealed their pre-

sence to the thunderstruck Afghans on the summit of their

own hills. After a sharp conflict, they were seen to fly

precipitately in every direction ; the defence of the pass was
abandoned, and it was opened to the long string of bag-

gage which, including the military stores and the provisions

for General Sale's force, extended two miles. No further

obstacle was offered to the progress of the army, which
reached Jellalabad on the 15th April.

Sir Robert Sale, reached Jellalabad on the 13th November,
Avith provisions for only two days. The fortifications were

General Sale ^^ ^ state of Complete dilapidation, and there were
atJeUaiabad. paths over the ramparts into the country. Imme-
diately beyond the walls lay ruined forts and mosques,
which afforded cover for assailants at the distance of only

twenty or thirty yards, and the inhabitants, both in the

1
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town and country, were animated with feelings of bitter a.d,

hostility. The day after the arrival of the force, 5,000 of 1841

the armed population of the neighbourhood advanced with

yells and imprecations to the walls, but were completely dis-

persed by Colonel Monteath, Captain Broadfoot, an officer

of indomitable energy and fertile resources, who had ac-

companied the brigade with his sappers and miners, was
appointed garrison engineer, and commenced the task of

clearing and strengthening the fortifications. The whole
of the 13th Foot was turned into a working party, a spirit

of zeal and emulation was diffused through the garrison,

and an indefensible mass of ruins was, in a short time,

converted into a fortress, proof against anything but siege 1842

artillery. On the 9th January a horseman rode up to the

gate with the order to evacuate Jellalabad which General

Elphinstone had written under compulsion. The officers

replied that as Akbar Khan had sent a proclamation to the

chiefs in the valley to destroy the force, they would await
fui'ther communications from the general at Cabul. At
the close of January a letter was received from Shah
Soojah, as the ostensible head of the Afghan Government,
demanding the evacuation of the town. At a council of

war, the general and the political agent proposed to comply
with the request, and the latter supported his advice to

evacuate the place and return to Peshawur by the assertion

that the Government of India had evidently abandoned the

garrison to its fate, and that it was impossible for them to

hold out much longer ; to which Captain Broadfoot nobly
replied, that even if their own Government had deserted

them, they owed it to their country to uphold its honour at

this crisis, and it was a duty from which nothing could

absolve them. The majority of the council, however,
agreed to adopt the views of the political agent, but with
the understanding that if the next communication from the

Shah and the chiefs at Cabul was equivocal, they should be
at liberty to take their own course. The answer was
clogged with requisitions which were deemed inadmissible

;

Captain Broadfoot reiterated his objection to a capitulation

;

the officers had recovered the tone of their minds, and a
recent foray had supplied the garrison with 900 head of

cattle ; and, contrary to the advice of the general and the

political agent, the majority voted against the renewal of

negotiations.

On the 18th February a succession of earthquakes de-

stroyed in a few hours the labours of three months. Tlio

parapets were prostrated, the bastions seriously injured,



422 ABEIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. XIIL

A.D. and one of the gates was reduced to a heap of ruins.
•842 The damage was, however, repaired with such

quai^. promptitude as to lead the Afghans to declare that

the earthquake could not have been felt there.

Soon after, Akbar Khan, who had been detained at Cabul
by differences with the chiefs, arrived in the valley to take

possession of the town, in accordance with the order of

evacuation he had extorted from the British authorities at

Cabul ; but he found that the defences had been completed,
and a store of provisions laid in ; that he had not to deal

with men like Elphinstoue and Shelton, but with officers

and men buoyant with animation and confidence. On the

11th March he advanced to the attack of the town, but the

whole garrison sallied forth, and he was ignominiously

driven from the field. He resolved, therefore, to turn the

siege into a blockade, in the hope of starving the garrison

into submission, as he had done at Cabul ; and its situation

began to be critical : the cattle were perishing for want of

fodder ; the men were on reduced rations of salt meat ; the

officers were on short commons ; and the ammunition was
running low. Akbar had been gradually drawing his camp
nearer to the town, and it was now pitched within two
miles of it. The general at length yielded to the impor-
tunity of Captain Havelock and his brother officers to

relieve the force from its perilous position by a bold
I attack on the encampment of the enemy. The plan of the

engagement provided that a simultaneous attack should be

made in three columns, and that his army should be driven

into the river, which was then an impetuous torrent. By
some mistake, one column had to bear the brunt of the

assault made by Akbar's splendid cavalry; but in the course

of an hour he was driven from every point, and pursued
to the river with the entire loss of his stores and equip-

ment, and his camp was delivered up to the flames. He
disappeared from the scene, and the neighbouring chiefs

hastened to make their submission and to pour in provisions.

General Pollock, on his arrival a week after, found the

garrison, which had achieved its o^vn deliverance, in

exuberant spirits and robust health. One such day at Cabul
would have saved the army.

Immediately after the outbreak at Cabul the chiefs des-

patched emissaries to raise western Afechanistan, and General

Nott concentrated his force at Candahar, but the

aieuiT
^* spirit of disaffection was irresistible. The Jaun-

baz, the Shah's cavalry, as well as the chiefs of
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his own tribe, threw off the mask and openly joined the a.d.

insurgents, and even his own son placed himself at their 1842

head. After many weeks of preparation they moved down
to attack Candahar, but were completely discomfited in an
engagement which did not last more than twenty minutes.

At length Mirza Ahmed, the ablest man in the country,

and who had enjoyed the entire confidence of Major Raw-
linson, went over to the hostile camp, and gave strength and
organisation to the confederacy. The insurgents continued

to hover round the city, and it was considered necessary to

break up their camp. General Nott accordingly marched
out on the 10th March, and was inveigled to a distance

from the city, when Mirza Ahmed and the Shah's own son

advanced at sunset to the Herat gate, where their emissaries

had been employed for some hours in heaping up brushwood
saturated with oil. As soon as it blazed up, the ghazees,

or fanatics, maddened with drugs, rushed forward with
hideous yells and imprecations. Amidst this scene of wild
confusion, which was rendered more appalling by the dark-

ness. Majors Rawlinson and Lane defended the gate with
the greatest energy for five hours. Towards midnight the

fury of the assailants was exhausted, and they retired, and
Candahar was saved.

This brilliant success was counterbalanced by disasters.

Ghuzni, after having stood a siege of four months, was sur-

rendered to the Afghans, thoueh under a different „. ,

commander it might easily have been held till the

garrison was reHeved. General England, moreover, was
advancing up to Candahar from the south with a convoy of

provisions, ammunition, and money, and had reached

Hykulzye when a body of 500 of his troops was suddenly
assailed by a party of the enemy, who sprang up from
behind a breastwork, four feet high, erected on a slight eleva-

tion, and a considerable number were killed. They recoiled

at first from the shock, but soon recovered themselves, and
were eager to be led on ; but the panic-stricken general

retreated in dismay to Qwetta, and actually began to throw
up entrenchments.

On the 15th March Lord EUenborough issued a procla-

mation, signed by himself and all the members of Council,

stating that the course now to be pursued must
have reference " to the establishment of our borougl!'*"'
" military reputation by the infliction of some prociama-

" signal and decisive blow on the Afghans which
" may make it appear to them and to our subjects and
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A.D. " allies that we have the power of inflicting punishment
1842 '' upon those who commit atrocities, and that we withdraw

" ultimately from Afghanistan, not from any deficiency of
" means to maintain our position, hut because we are satis-

" fied that the king we have set up has not, as we were
" erroneously led to imagine, the support of the nation."

These noble sentiments were welcomed with exultation

throughout India, but after a brief residence in Calcutta, he
left the Council board and proceeded to the north-west; and,

on hearing of the loss of Ghuzni and the repulse of General
England and his precipitate retreat to Qwetta, announced
to the Commander-in-Chief his determination to withdraw
the troops from Candahar and Jellalabad at the earliest

practicable period. He questioned whether " it would be
" justifiable to put our troops forward for no other object
" than that of avenging our losses and re-establishing our
" military character in all its original brilliancy." General
Nott was therefore directed to retire from Candahar after

blowing up the gateways and demolishing the fortifications,

and General Pollock was ordered to return to the provinces,

except under certain contingencies.

To this communication General Pollock replied that the

withdi'awal of the force at the present time would neces-

sarily be construed into a defeat, and compromise

Generals ^ur character as a powerful nation in Asia, and
Pollock and produce the most disastrous efiect. The release

of the prisoners was also, he said, an object not

to be repudiated ; but the want of cattle would efiectually

prevent his immediate retirement, and he might possibly

be detained several months. By this dexterous suggestion

he was enabled to evade the injunction to retire at once,

and to wait the chance of another and more auspicious

change in the versatile mind ofLord Ellenborough. General

Nott and Major Rawlinson had, with no small difficulty,

succeeded in maintaining anything like subordination in the

province amidst the seething elements of revolt and anarchy,

and any suspicion of retirement would have raised the

whole country and rendered it impossible to obtain cattle

or provisions without the employment of force. But
General Nott replied promptly that the evacuation of the

province should be effected in the best manner circum-

stances would admit, and thus gained a season of respite.

The order for the immediate evacuation of Afghanistan

excited a burst of indignation throughout India. It was
universally felt that to retire before our honour had been

1
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vindicated, or the prisoners rescued, would inflict a deeper a.u.

stigma on the national character than the capitu- 1842

lation at Cabul, which might be considered one ^^ngh'T"
of the chances of war. With all the contempt change of

Lord Ellenborough professed for public opinion,

he could scarcely be indifferent to this unanimous ex-

pression of feeling, and he changed his mind again. On
the 4th July, General Nott was assured, in an official com-
munication, that the resolution of the Governor-General to

withdraw the troops remained without alteration. On the

same day. Lord Ellenborough wrote himself to the general,

suggesting that it might possibly be feasible for him to

withdraw from Afghanistan by advancing to Ghuzni and
Cabul over the scenes of our late disasters ; that this would
have a grand eSiect upon the minds of our soldiers, of our
allies, of our enemies in Asia, and of our own countrymen,
and of foreign nations in Europe. It was an object of just

ambition, but the risk was unquestionably great. A copy
of this letter was sent to General Pollock, with the sugges-
tion that he might possibly feel disposed to advance to

Cabul and co-operate with General Nott. Both officers were
too happy to obtain permission to move up to the capital

and retrieve our honour, to think for a moment of the

responsibility thus thrust upon them, and which the

Governor-General, as the head of the state, should have had
the courage to take on himself.

After the retreat of the army from Cabul, Shah Soojah
was acknowledged as king, and allowed to reside in the

Bala Hissar, but the insurgent chiefs engrossed
all the power of the state. He sent repeated mes- * ^*

sages to Jellalabad declaring his unalterable attachment to

the British Government, and asking for nothing but money,
although he had contrived to save twenty lacs of rupees
out of the sums lavished on him since he left Loodiana.
To the Afghan chiefs he protested his constant fidelity to

the national cause, and they desired him to demonstrate his

sincerity by placing himself at the head of the army about
to proceed to Jellalabad to expel General Sale. It was
rumoured that he would be murdered or blinded by the
Barukzies if he quitted the Bala Hissar, and he exacted
an oath for his safety on the Koran, and descended from
the citadel on the 6th April decked in all the insignia of
royalty. He was shot dead on the road, and his body was
rifled of the costly jewels he always carried about his person,

and thrown into a ditch. It was rescued by his son, and
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A.D. interred with royal honours. Dissensions then broke out
1842 among the different chiefs, which ended in the complete

ascendancy of Akbar Khan.
Of the British officers who were taken over as hostages,

the greater number were entrusted to Zeman Shah, the

The hostages OTi\j Afghan chief who never wavered in his at-

and captives, tachment to the English during these scenes of

perfidy. On the murder of Shah Soojah, he was con-

strained to transfer them to the high priest of Cabul, who
sold them to Akbar Khan for 4,000 rupees. The captives,

on being made over to him during the retreat, were con-

ducted through the recent scenes of slaughter, amidst the

mangled corpses which emitted the sickening smell of

death, to a fort at Tezeen, and then over mountain paths,

all but impassable, to Budeeabad, forty miles from Jellala-

bad, and were enabled to correspond with their friends in

that town and to receive books and journals. On the ap-

proach of General Pollock they were conducted back for

safety to Tezeen, where Greneral Elphinstone sunk into the

grave, a noble and brave soldier, endeared to all around him
for his urbanity, but utterly unqualified for the arduous

post which Lord Auckland had thrust upon him. On the

22nd May the captives were conveyed to a fort three miles

from Cabul, where they enjoyed comparative freedom and
comfort, and were permitted to interchange visits with
their friends in the Bala Hissar. Meanwhile, Akbar Khan
deputed one of the officers whom he held in captivity to

General Pollock to propose the release of the prisoners on
condition of his quitting the country without marching on
the capital, threatening, in case of a refusal, to send them on

to Turkestan and distribute them among the Oosbek chiefs.

The proposal was peremptorily refused.

The permission to march on Cabul was received with a

shout of exultation at Jellalabad, but it was not before the

,

,

. middle of August that General Pollock was able

General to learn with certainty that General Nott had
Pollock.

actually turned his face towards the capital. On
the 20th of that month, 8,000 men, animated with a feeling

of the highest enthusiasm, marched out of Jellalabad. At
Jugdulluk the Ghiljies again appeared under the ablest of

their chiefs, and with the flower of their tribes ; but they no
longer had a dispirited and fugitive soldiery to deal with,

and in the battle which ensued the victory over them was
in every way complete. The rout of the Ghiljies and the

bold advance of General Pollock spread dismay at Cabul,

I
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and Akbar Khan, having put his threat in execution and a.t>.

sent the prisoners into Turkestan, moved down with all the 1842

chiefs and their levies to make one last effort to protect

Cabul from the avenging foe. The two armies met in the

valley of Tezeen, w^hich had been the scene of a great mas-
sacre in January, and every height again bristled with
matchlocks. The sepoy vied with his European comrade
in driving the enemy from crag to crag, and dispersing

them like a flock of sheep. Akbar fled from the field, leav-

ing his troops to shift for themselves, and the British

ensign was hoisted on the Bala Hissar on the 15th
September.

General Nott evacuated Candahar on the 7th August.
Owing to the admirable discipline maintained by the military

and political chiefs, there had been no licentious-
^^^^j,

ness on the part of the soldiery or ofticers to from Can-

irritate the inhabitants, and they crowded around •^*^'•

them and embraced them as they quitted the town. The
army encountered no opposition of any moment on the
route. The fortifications of Ghuzni were blown up, and the

woodwork set on fire ; and the flames of this ancient and
renowned citadel, the cradle of Mahomedan power, lighted

up the sky throughout the night. In it were deposited

the gates of sandal wood of which Mahmood had despoiled

the temple of Somnath eight centuries before, and Lord
Ellenborough resolved to attach to his administration what
he considered the merit of having restored them to India.

General Nott was also instructed to bring away from the

tomb of Mahmood " his club, which hung over it, and which,
" together with the gates, would be the just trophies of his
" successful march." The army reached Cabul the day
after the arrival of General Pollock.

The first attention of General Pollock on his arrival was
directed to the recovery of the prisoners whom Akbar
Khan, on the 25th August, had hurried over the -^^^^^ ^j

barren wastes and steep ascents of the Hindoo the pri-

Coosh, many thousand feet above the level of ^"^'s-

the sea to Bameean, where they arrived on the 3rd Sep-

tember. Sir Richmond Shakespear, his military secretary,

was therefore despatched after them with 600 horsemen.
They were under the charge of Saleh Mahomed, who
had been a native commandant in a local Afghan regiment,

but deserted it in the previous year. On the 11th Septem-
ber, he called Captain Johnson, Captain George Lawrence,
and Major Pottingor aside, and produced a letter from
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A.n. Akbar Khan, directing him to convey the prisoners to the
1842 higher regions of the Hindoo Coosh, and deliver them to

the Oosbek chief of Khooloom. At the same time, he
exhibited a letter from Mohun lall, the moonshee in the
service of the late envoy at Cabul, promising him, on the
part of General Pollock, a gratuity of 20,000 rupees and
an annuity of 12,000 rupees if ho would restore the
captives. " I know nothing," he said, " of General Pollock,
" but if you three gentlemen will swear to me by your
" Saviour to make the ofi'er good, I will deliver you over
" to your own people." The proposal was received with
rapture, and the officers and ladies united in making them-
selves responsible by a deed for the funds.

Major Pottinger, by common consent, assumed the
"^ direction of their movements, and the hero of Herat was

„ _,. as^ain in his element. He deposed the hostile

of Major governor of Bameean, hoisted another flag, and
Pottinger.

j^^j^j under contribution a caravan of Lohanee
merchants passing through the country. He secured the

Afghan escort consisting of 250 men by the promise of four

months pay on reaching Cabul. He issued proclamations
to the neighbouring chiefs to come in and make their

obeisance, and granted them remissions of revenue. To
prepare for a siege he repaired the fortifications, dug wells,

and laid in a supply of provisions. On the 15th September
a horseman galloped in with the cheering intelligence that

Akbar Khan had been completely defeated, that the Afghan
force was annihilated, and that General Pollock was in full

march to Cabul. Major Pottinger and his fellow prisoners

determined to return to Cabul without any delay. They
bid adieu to the fort on the 16th, and slept that night on
the bare rock, unconscious of fatigue or suffering. The
next afternoon Sir Richmond Shakespear and his squadron
was in the midst of them, and the anxieties of eight months
were at an end. Two days after, the camp at Cabul was
ringing with acclamations as the captives entered it, many
of them wrapped in sheep skins. Never since the establish-

ment of British power in India had so intense a feeling of

anxiety pervaded the community as the fate of the prisoners

excited, and the thrill of delight which vibrated throughout
the country on the announcement of their safety may be
more easily conceived than described.

The scattered remnant ofthe Afghan armywas assembling
in the Kohistan, the highlands of Cabul, under Ameenoolla,

the most inveterate of our enemies, and it was deemed
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A,D.necessarytobreak up the gathering, A force was despatched
against Istaliff, the chief town, which was con- , 1842

bidered the virgin fortress of Afghanistan, but it

was captured with little loss. Chareekar, where the Goorkha
regiment had been slaughtered, as well as several other

towns which had taken a prominent part in the insurrection,

were also destroyed. The object of the expedition had
now been accomplished ; Afghanistan had been reconquered,

our prisoners recovered, and our military reputation restored

to its former brilliancy ; but it was considered necessary to

leave some lasting mark of retribution on the capital. The
great bazaar, where the mutilated corpse of the envoy had
been exposed to the insults of the mob—the noblest building

ofits kind in CentralAsia—was accordingly undermined and
blown up. Notwithstanding the strenuous efforts of the

officers to guard the gates, the soldiers rushed in from the

camps of both generals, and for several days the city was
subjected to the wild and licentious passions of men
maddened by a remembrance of the indignities heaped on
their murdered fellow-countrymen. The English colours

were hauled down from the Bala Hissar on the 12th
October, and the two armies turned their backs on Afghan-
istan. The family of Shah Soojah returned with the army
to their former retreat at Loodiana. General Pollock halted

at Jellalabad to blow up the fortifications, and the whole
army at length reached the banks of the Sutlej.

Lord Ellenborough received intelligence of the re-occu-

pation of Cabul while residing at Simla in the house in

which Lord Auckland had penned the declara- j. , _,..

tion of war four years before, and he issued a borough's

proclamation announcing the termination of it. t^o*^^™*"
To give a dramatic effect to the proceeding, it

was dated on the same day of the month with Lord Auck-
land's manifesto, though it was not issued till ten days later.

It was universally censured for the unseemly reflections

cast upon the preceding Governor-General. " Disasters,"

Lord Ellenborough said, " unparalleled in their extent,
" except by the errors in which they originated, have in
" one short campaign been avenged on every scene of past
" misfortune." " The combined army of England and
" India," he proceeded to say, " superior in equipment, in
" discipline, and in valour, and in the officers by whom it

" is commanded, to any force that can be opposed to it

" in Asia, will stand in unassailable strength on its own
" soil, and for ever, under the blessing of Providence,
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A.D, " preserve the glorious empire it has won in security and
1842 » honour."

Lord Ellenborough had been in such a state of excitement
ever since he assumed the government, that these inflated

expressions excited little surprise, and the public only
regretted that, with all his fine talents, he had so little

ballast. The proclamation of the Gates appeared next, but
it was ridiculed as a servile imitation of Bonaparte's pro-

clamation of the Pyramids. "My friends and brethren,"

said the Governor-General in his address to the princes of

India, " our victorious army bears the gates of the temple
" of Somnath in triumph from Afghanistan, and the de-
" spoiled tomb of Mahmood looks on the ruins of Ghuzni.
" The insult of 800 years is avenged. To you, princes and
" chiefs of Sirhind, of Rajwara, of Malwa, and of Guzerat,
" I shall commit this glorious trophy of successful warfare.
" You will yourselves, with all honour, transmit the gates
" of sandal wood to the restored temple of Somnath."
This quixotic address was designated by the Duke of

Wellington a song of triumph, but by the community in

India, native as well as European, it was considered the

triumph of folly. The gates, which had been under the

charge of General Nott, were placed on a waggon, covered

with costly trappings, and brought in the train of the Gov-
ernor-General to Agra. As the encampment moved on,

hundreds of Hindoos prostrated themselves before the wag-
gon, and made poojah, and presented ofierings to it as to a

deity. But the gates never moved beyond Agra, where they

were consigned to a lumber room in the fort.

Lord Ellenborough had assembled a large army at

Ferozepore, partly to overawe the Sikhs, and partly to get

up a grand ovation, and there " at the foot of the bridge of

Meeting at
" ^^^ Sutlej," amidst hundreds of elephants, which

Ferozepore. he had Collected to do honour to the returning

heroes, and which had been painted and decorated under his

own immediate eye, he welcomed General Pollock with the

captives, and General Nott with the gates. The officers

were feasted in magnificent tents, decorated with flags

bearing the names of their several victories, and the sepoys

were regaled, as the Governor-General's notification ran,

with their " favourite metoys," or sweetmeats. Including

the regiments returning from Afghanistan, the camp at

Ferozepore numbered 40,000 troops—an imposing and
judicious display of military power after our recent disasters

beyond the Indus. The Afghan prisoners in our hands
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were liberated. On taking leave of Dost Mahomed, Lord A.n.

Ellenborough had the curiosity to enquire his opinion of us 1842

after all he had seen in India. " I have been struck," he

replied, " with the magnitude of your resources and your
" power, your armies, your ships, your arsenals ; but what I

" cannot understand is why the rulers of so vast and flourish-

" ing an empire should have gone across the Indus to
*' deprive me of my poor and barren country." The surprise

expressed by the Dost was equally shared by the community
in England and in India ; and here the curtain drops on
the dark tragedy of Afghanistan.

On the 1st October Lord Ellenborough announced in his

Simla proclamation that " the Government of India, con-
" tent with the limits which nature appears to „ , , ,,.., . iTiin-i Conduct of

have assigned to its empire, would devote all its the Ameers

" efforts to the re-establishment and maintenance °^ ^'"'^®*

"of peace," and he ordered a medal to be struck with the

motto " Pax Asiae restituta." Within six months he issued

another proclamation, annexing the kingdom of Sinde to

the Company's dominions. That country was divided into

three principalities—upper, middle and lower Sinde, go-

verned respectively by the Ameers, who were independent
of each other. They had meekly submitted to the humilia-

tion of the treaties feliforced on them by Sir William
^lacnaghten in 1839, and, during the three years of the

occupation of Afghanistan, their conduct had been marked
by exemplary good faith. They permitted the free passage
of our troops and stores, and supplied the steamers with
fuel. After the Cabul force was annihilated, they still con-

tinued to furnish supplies and cannage, and it was solely

by means of the 3,000 camels provided by them that

General Nott was enabled to move on Cabul. Some of

the chiefs, however, were emboldened by our reverses to

manifest a spirit of hostility, and Major Outram, the Resi-

dent, brought charges against them, and advised a revision

of the treaties. Lord Ellenborough replied that he was
determined to inflict signal chastisement on any chief or

Ameer who had exhibited hostile designs against us during
the late events on a presumption of our weakness, but
there must, he said, be the clearest proof of their faithless-

ness.

Sir Charlps Napier arrived in Sinde on the 9th Septem-
ber, invested with fall diplomatic and military power. He
was a soldier of distinguished reputation, and of sir charies

extraordinary energy, but he came to his post Napier.
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A.D. with a violent prejudice against the Ameers. The investi-
1842 gation of the charges of disloyalty was referred to him by

the Grovernor-General with the distinct injunction that he
should not proceed agaiast them without the most com-
plete proof of their guilt. All the charges, except three,

were at once dismissed, and the question of their delin-

quency turned upon the authenticity of a letter, which the
best scholars in India said was exceedingly doubtful, but
which Sir Charles, who was totally ignorant of the lan-

guage, pronounced to be genuine, without calling on the

Ameers for any explanation. The treaties of 1839, he
affirmed, had been violated.

Major Outram had submitted to Lord Ellenborough,

together with the charges he brought against some of the

The new chiefs, the draft of a new treaty intended to
treaties. Substitute a cession of territory for the annual
tribute, and to punish the disloyal Ameers by transferring

a portion of their lands to the nabob of Bhawulpore. The
treaty was received from the Governor-General by Sir

Charles Napier on the 12th November, when Major Outram
discovered that it prescribed the confiscation of more terri-

tory than had been originally intended, and deprived the

Ameers of the cherished prerogative of coining money. He
attributed this alteration to inadvertence, and requested

Sir Charles to bring the subject to the notice of Lord
Ellenborough. He thought fit, however, to detain the docu-

ment ten weeks, and when it arrived at length with the

Governor-General's instruction that the error should be

rectified, the Ameers had been irretrievably ruined. Lord
Ellenborough had distinctly ordered Sir Charles Napier not

to act on the treaty till the Ameers had accepted and rati-

fied it ; but before they were allowed to discuss it, he

sequestered the whole of the lands stated in the first and
incon-ect treaty, which belonged to the Beloch chiefs, the

feudatories of the Ameers, and they were at once deprived

of the means of subsistence.

These violent and unjustifiable proceedings were prompt-
ed by the consummate villany of Ali Morad. The office of

All Morad's Rais was the highest dignity in Upper Sinde,
perfidy. and the turban was the symbol of it. It had long

been enjoyed by Meer Roostum, then in his eighty-fifth

year, who was venerated alike by the chiefs and the

people and the British officers. The succession to this

honour belonged by the usage of the country to his

brother AU Morad, but he was anxious to bestow it on his



Sbct. 1.] VILLANY OF ALI MORAD 433

own son. To make sure of the turban Ali Morad insinu- a.d.

ated himself, on the one hand, into the confidence of Sir I842

Charles Napier and succeeded in poisoning his mind against

Meer Roostum, and on the other, endeavoured to drive

Meer Roostum into some overt act of hostility towards
the British Government. Under his sinister influence, three

haughty and menacing messages were sent by Sir Charles

to the Meer, and when he sought an interview to afibrd an
explanation, it was refused him and he was ordered to

repair to his brother's fortress at Deejee. Soon after his

arrival there, Ali Morad transmitted to Sir Charles a
letter from his brother, stating that he had of his own
free will resigned the turban, and his army, his forts and
his country to him. Sir Charles was not without suspicion

that the cession had been obtained by force or fraud,

and he informed Ali Morad that it was his intention to see

his brother in person on the subject. To prevent this

interview, which would have been fatal to his scheme, he
awoke his brother at midnight, and urged him to fly, as the

English general was coming the next morning to apprehend
him. The bewildered old chief rode off" in haste to the

camp of his relatives twelve miles distant, and Sir Charles

immediately issued a proclamation to the Ameers and
people of Sindo charging Meer Roostum with having
insulted and defied the British Q-overnment, and announc-
ing that he was resolved to maintain Ali Morad as the

chieftain of the Talpoora family. Meer Roostum immedi-
ately sent his minister to assure Sir Charles that he had
been placed under restraint by Ali Morad, that his seal

was affixed to the deed by force, and that he had been
prompted by him to fly. To this communication Sir

Charles sent an arrogant reply. Soon after, he started on
an expedition to Emamgurh in the desert, because it was
considered the " Gibraltar of Upper Sinde," and he was de-

termined to show the chiefs that " neither their deserts nor
" their negotiations could intercept the progress of the
" British army." The army traversed the desert for four

days amidst great hardships, and finding the fort eva-

cuated, blew it up with the powder contained in it. The
Duke of Wellington pronounced it a great military exploit,

but as Meer Mahomed, to whom the fort belonged, had
never given any cause of ofienee to the British Government
it was an act of wanton aggression.

After having confiscated the lands in Upper Sinde and
deprived Meer Roostum of his power and dignity, Sir

F F
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Charles Napier ordered the Ameers of Upper and Lower
„ , Sinde to meet Maior Outram at Khyrpore, to

•with the discuss and sign the treaty, but as some of them
Ameers. ^j-^ ^^^^ attend, the conference was transferred

to Hyderabad. Two days after, the agents of the Ameers
of Lower Sinde arrived in the camp with their masters'

seals, which they were authorised to affix to the treaty

;

and there would have been a peaceful solution of all differ-

ences if they had been permitted to do so. Sir Charles,

however, refused them permission to execute the deed,

and ordered them back to Hyderabad, and thus brought the

combustible materials of the upper and lower divisions of

the country together in that city.

^ jj At the conference, the Ameers denied that they had in-

1843 fringed the treaty of 1839, and they repudiated the corres-

Conferen
pondence on which they had been condemned,

at itydera- and which they were not permitted to see. On
*'*^' the 12th February, they affixed their seals to the

treaty, but assured the Major that the Beloche troops

assembled at the capital were exasperated at the sight of

the chiefs of Upper Sinde whom Sir Charles had deprived

of their lands, and more especially of the venerable Meer
Roostum, whom he had deposed, and that it was impossible

* to answer for their conduct. The confusion was increased

by the approach of Sir Charles Napier and his army. As
the Major was leaving the fort after the signature of the

treaty, he was surrounded by a crowd of citizens and
soldiers who poured curses on the British name, and he
would have fallen a victim to popular fury, if the Ameers
had not personally guarded him to the Residency. The
next day a deputation from the Ameers waited on him, and
stated that the Beloche troops were wrought up to such a
state of desperation that they had ceased to be amenable to

authority. For two days they continued to entreat him
to retire from the Residency to a position of greater safety,

but, with more chivalry than discretion, he refused to

move. On the morning of the 15th February, three days
after the signature of the treaties, masses of infantry came
down on the Residency house, and Major Outram, after a

gallant defence of three hours, withdrew to the armed
steamer anchored in the river at the distance of 500 yards.

An appeal to arms now became inevitable. The Beloche

troops flocked to the capital in augmented numbers when
The battle i* was found that Sir Charles Napier persisted iq
ofMeeanoe. advancing upon it after the treaty had been
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signed. On the morning of the 17th February he came in a.d.

front of the Beloche army which was posted at Meeanee, six 1843

miles from Hyderabad, about 20,000 in number, while his

own force did not exceed 2,700. The Beloches disputed

every inch of ground, and, after fighting for three hours

with desperate valour, retired gradually from the contest,

leaving their camp and their artillery in the hands of the

victor. Braver men never rushed on death, and never on
any Indian battle-field had the gallantry of British troops

and the generalship of a British commander been more
conspicuous. No qnarter was asked or given, and the loss

of the enemy in killed and wounded was computed at

5,000, while on the side of the English the number
did not exceed 257, of whom, however, nineteen were
officers. A fresh body of 10,000 Beloche soldiers arrived

the next day, and a similar number was hovering about in

the neighbourhood, but the voluntary submission of the

Ameers and the surrender of the fort, relieved Sir Charles

from all anxiety. He entered Hyderabad on the 20th, and
obtained possession of the accumulated treasures of the

Talpoora dynasty, which, as usual, were at once distributed

among the troops as prize-money. Lord EUenborough on
hearing of the victory of Meanee issued a proclamation,

annexing Sinde, " fertile as Egypt," to the Company's
dominions. The gallant Shore Mahomed collected together

the scattered bands of Beloches to make another efibrt for

the independence of his country. Sir Charles Napier, who
had received reinforcements which raised his army to 6,000,

found the Ameer encamped with 20,000 men at Duppa.
The field was gallantly contested on both sides, but the

victory was as complete as that ofMeeanee, and the subjuga-

tion of the country was consummated.
The triumphs of the army in Sinde were contrasted with

the pusillanimity exhibited at Cabul and created a feeling of

just exultation in India, but it was damped by the
j, .

conviction that the war was altogether indefen-

sible. The elaborate vindication which Lord EUenborough
drew up of it only served to expose the weakness of his

cause. His error lay in the overweening confidence he
placed in Sir Charles Napier, who was always more under
the influence of excitement than of reason, and who with-

held much information which he was bound in honour to

give. Sir John Hobhouse, the President of the Board of

Control, justly observed that the conquest of Sinde would
never have taken place if the Governor-General had been

F F 2
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in full possession of the real facts, and cognisant of Ali

Morad's perfidy. But even before Sir Charles knew any-
thing of that caitiff he wrote, " We only want a pretext to
" coerce the Ameers , . . the more powerful Government
" will at no distant period swallow up the weaker;" and he
subsequently remarked, " "We have no right to seize Sinde,
" yet we shall do so, and a very advantageous, usefal, and
" humane piece of rascality it will be." The rascality is

more obvious than the advantage, except to the captors, to

whom it brought a rich harvest of prize-money, of which
seven lacs fell to the share of Sir Charles Napier. On the
finances of India it inflicted a loss of two crores and a half

of rupees, in the course of fifteen years.

SECTION II.

LORD ELLENBOEOUGH'S ADMINISTRATION—WAR WITH SINDIA

—

HIS RECALL.

A.D. The annexation of Sinde brought its own retribution. It
1843 Jed to a relaxation of the bonds of discipline and loyalty of

the native army, and afforded a premonition of

native'regi- tilat climax of mutiny which thirteen years after
ments. swept away the whole army. Sinde having be-

come a British province, the sepoys ceased to be entitled to

the extra allowance granted to them when on foreign

service in an enemy's country, but they could see no reason

why their pay should be curtailed because they had added
a new kingdom to the dominions of their masters. In

A.n. February, the 34th Native Infantry refused to march to
1844 Sinde without the same allowance which had been granted

to troops proceeding beyond the Indus. The 7th Bengal
Cavalry and some Bengal artillery followed the example,

and were marched back. The 69th and 4th, ordered in their

stead to the frontier, refused to embark on the boats at

Ferozepore, and the 64th mutinied at Loodiana, at Mood-
kee, and at Shikarpore. On none of these occasions was
the authority of the state vindicated, or the spirit of disci-

pline maintained. Finding it impossible to garrison Sinde
with a Bengal force, the Government turned to the Madras
army, and a regiment was sent to Bombay ; but when the

men found that the usual extra allowance was not to be

granted, they also went into mutiny. The province was
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then made over to the Bombay Presidency, and satisfactory

arrangements were made with regard to the pay of the

sepoys.

The next event in the course of Lord Ellenborough's a.d,

administration had reference to the affairs of Gwalior. 1843

Dowlut Rao Sindia died in 1827, and his widow Affairs of

Baeza bye adopted Junkojee, who died in 1843 GwaUor.

without issue. In 1838 he had taken for his second wife

Tara bye, who was thirteen years of age at the time of his

death, when she adopted a boy of eight years, bestowing on
him the title of Gyajee. The Gwalior cabinet was anxious

that the government should remain with the existing

ministry, but Lord Ellenborough, considering the extreme
youth ofthe raja and his adoptive mother, deemed it prudent
that the management of public affairs should be entrusted

to a single individual. Of the two candidates who were
presented to him he chose for regent the Mama Sahib, the
uncle of the late raja, while the young queen and an in-

fluential party at court preferred Dada Khasjee, the here-

ditary chamberlain ; and, finding their wishes disappointed,

set every engine to work to thwart the measures of the

regent and to embarrass the administration. To strengthen

his authority, the regent betrothed the young raja to his own
niece. The palace confederacy assured the queen that this

alliance would undermine her influence, and ten days after

the nuptials she informed the Resident that she had deter-

mined to dismiss the regent from her service. The Resident
earnestly remonstrated with her on the folly of this proceed-

ing, but she turned a deaf ear to his expostulations, and
expelled him the country. The degradation of the minister
who had been nominated and supported by the Governor-
General placed the state in a position of antagonism to the

British Government, and the Resident was instructed to

retire from the court.

The great source of disquietude at Gwalior, however, was
the state of the army, about 30,000 infantry, and 10,000
cavalry, not composed of Mahratta soldiers, but state of

recruited chiefly from the martial population of ^^^ »"ny'

Rajpootana, Oude, and other provinces, and commanded by
ofiicers of European descent. It was out of proportion to

the necessities of the state, or to its revenues, of which it

absorbed more than two-thirds. The ministers had made re-

peated efforts to reduce the number, but the troops would not
permit a single corps to be disbanded. They were, moreover,
always in arrears, which increased their arrogance. The
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A.D. state had lost all control of the army. One regiment had
1843 recently committed great excesses in Malwa, and upon a

strong remonstrance from the Resident the commandant
had been summoned to appear at Grwalior alone, but he
brought his whole corps with him, and overawed the court.

Lord Ellenborough had pressed on the regent the indispen-

sable necessity of dealing vigorously with the spirit of re-

bellion, but without any result.

On the expulsion of the regent the ranee assumed the

ostensible management of affairs, and held durbars daily,

Confusion at though only tliirtcen years of age, but all real
GwaUor. power was in the hands of the Dada, who had se-

cured the influence of the zenana by lavish gifts of land

and money. He was obnoxious to the most influential

nobles, who formed an opposition party, and he could not
venture to move about without the protection of a guard

;

to the British Government he manifested particular hos-

tility, and expelled from ofiice all who were favourable to

it. The army, which was concentrated at the capital, was
courted by both parties, and became more overbearing than
ever, and the confusion in the state was rapidly approach-

ing a crisis.

The ranee importuned the Resident to return to the

court, but he informed her that until the Dada, the source

of these complications, was removed from the public

councils, there could be no restoration of friendly relations.

This communication was received by the Dada, but with-

held from her. Lord Ellenborough considered this a
serious offence, and insisted on his being delivered up to

the custody of the Resident, to which the ranee refused her
consent. Three of the most influential of the chiefs, how-
ever, gained over one of the brigades, besieged the palace

for three days and obtained possession of the person of the

Dada, but he contrived to make his escape, and resumed
the management of affairs, and began to make preparation

to resist any adverse movement of the British Government.
On the 1st November, Lord Ellenborough recorded a

masterly minute on the state of affairs at Gwalior. After

Lord Ell
referring to our position in India as the para-

borough's mount and controlling power, and to the re-
mmute.

sponsibilities connected with it, he passed in

review the transactions of the year at Gwalior. The expul-

sion of the regent nominated with our concurrence, and
the elevation of his rival, were an affront of the gravest cha-

racter. An army of 40,000 men, with a numerous artillery,
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lay within a few marches of the capital of the North-West a.d.

Provinces, under the management of one who had obtained 1843

his post, and could only maintain it, in despite of the British

Government. The events which had recently occurred at

Lahore would not permit acquiescence in a policy suited

only to a state of tranquillity. Within three marches of the

Sutlej, there was an army of 70,000 men, confident in its

own strength, proud of its various successes over its

neighbours, desirous of war and plunder, and under no
discipline or control. We were bound to take every pre-

caution against its hostility, and no precaution appeared
more necessary than that of rendering our rear and our
communications secure, by the establishment of a friendly

Government at Gwalior. Lord Ellenborough continued
for two months to press the surrender of the Dada on the

ranee, but still without success. He arrived at Agra on the

11th December, and finding that he had not left Gwalior,

wrote to the ranee that he could neither permit the exist-

ence of an unfriendly Government in the territories of

Sindia, nor permit it to remain without a Government able

and willing to preserve the relations of amity with its

neighbours. He had therefore ordered the British armies to

advance, and would not arrest their progress until he had full

security for the future tranquillity of the common frontier.

Sir Hugh Gough, the Commander-in-Chief, was directed

to commence his march to Gwalior, and the Dada was im-

mediately sent in to the encampment of the Resi-
com^nnjca.

dent at Dholpore with a letter from the ranee, tionswith

requesting that, as the wishes of the Governor- ^^w*''*"'-

General had been complied with, the advance of the army
might be countermanded. In his reply. Lord Ellenborough
repeated his former remarks on the necessity of a strong
Government at Gwalior to control its own subjects, and he
required that the Gwalior army, which was to all intents

and purposes master of the state it professed to serve,

should be reduced, and the strength of the British contin-

gent increased. The Cabinet, finding that the British

army continued to move down to the Chumbul, the
boundary of the two States, sent a deputation of the most
influential chiefs to request that the ranee and the prince
should be allowed to wait on the Governor-General in his

present encampment. Lord Ellenborough replied that he
could not wait their arrival, but theyrepresented with greater
importunity that the house of Sindia would be for ever
disgraced, if, contrary to all precedent, the Governor-
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A.n. General should cross the frontier before the head of the
1843 State had waited on him on British territory. As Lord

EUenborough continued inflexible, it was arranged that tho
meeting should take place twenty-three miles from the
capital. The troops, however, would not permit the royal

family to quit it, but marched out of Gwalior with accla-

mation, and informed the Resident that they were going to

drive the English back across the Chumbul.
After waiting in vain for two days at Hingona for the

royal party, Lord EUenborough directed Sir Hugh Gough

Battle of
^° advance to Gwalior. Sindia's army had taken

Maharaj- up a strong position at Chounda, and Sir Hugh's
^^' arrangements were directed to this point ; but
during the night seven battalions with twenty guns of

heavy calibre moved on unobserved to Maharajpore, and
entrenched themselves, with their formidable batteries in

front. The Commander-in-Chief and his staff considered

the enemy a contemptible rabble, ready to fly on the first

shot. The Adjutant-General said he should not have oc-

casion for anything but a horse-whip. The march was
described as a military promenade, and the Governor-
General and the ladies of the chief ofiicers were in the field

on elephants. There had been no reconnaissance, and the

enemy's change of position was not known. The troops

advanced gaily to Maharajpore, where it was intended to

breakfast, when a volley from the masked batteries gave
the first intimation of their position. Sir Hugh was re-

quired to change his dispositions in haste, and the battle

was justly characterised by the Governor-General as one in

which everybody and everything was out of place. The
British force numbered 12,000, that of the Mahrattas about

14,000. The siege train had been unaccountably left

behind on the surrender of the Dada, and the light field

pieces of the army were quickly silenced by the heavy ord-

nance of the enemy, and the troops were, according to the

usual tactics of Sir Hugh, launched on the batteries, which
were served with desperation as long as a gunner was left.

Dec. The victory was at length achieved by the irresistible

29. gallantry of our soldiers, of whom 1,000 fell killed and
wounded. On the same day, another battle was fought at

Punniar, of minor importance, which likewise ended in a

victory.

These victories placed the kingdom of Sindia at the dis-

posal of the Governor-General, but he left it entire, and
simply curtailed its independence. The young ranee was
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deposed from the office of regent, and consigned to oblivion

on an allowance of three lacs a year, and the
r^- .^. . ^..^j..

"^

administration was committed to a council of
'

regency, who were required to act implicitly on the advice

of the Resident. The turbulent army of the state was

reduced to 0,000, and allowed only thirty-two guns. The
British contingent was raised to 10,0UU, and became, in

fact, a complete and compact little army of all arms, com-

manded by the officers of the Company, composed of high-

caste brahmins and llaj])oots, men of athlelic frames and

high courage, and also of boundless presumption, as tiie

Government found to its cost during the mutiny.
Lord EUenborough returned to Calcutta in March, and

on the loth Juno, India was astounded by the news that jgj^
the Court of Directors had revoked his appoint- -r^^^^^^ ^f

ment. His correspondence with the India House i,.,iiEUen-

had been marked by the absence of that deference 'J"™"-*^-

to the Directors which was due to their high position in the

empire, and it too much resembled his communications to

them when he was dictator at the Board of Control ; his

proceedings had too often exhibited a contumacious disdain

of their authority. He treated the civil service with un-

disguised conttnipt, and concentrated his sympathies on

the ai-my. He had contracted a fondness for military glory,

and his administration presented only a succession of l)uttles.

The vagary of the Gates proclamation had exposed the

Government of India to the ridicule of England and the

contempt of Europe, and destroyed all conhdence in tlie

sobriety and soundness of his judgment. He appeared to

tlie Directors to be without any definite principles of action,

and they were in constant dread of the new embarrassments
in which his eccentricities might involve them. They
ceased to consider the empire safe in his hands ; and in the

teeth of ministerial remonstrances, more especially fi'om

the Duke, determined to exercise the power of recall which
they had refused to renounce at the renewal of the charter.

His removal was resented by the army he had caressed,

with expressions bordering on disloyalty. The com-
munity in general, while duly apjireciating his many
noble qualities, the total absence of nepotism, the jiatriotic

distribution of his patronage, his indefatigable imlustry,

and his singular energy, still regarded the resolution of

the Court of Directors as an act of unquestional)le wisdom.
Ho embarked for England on the 1st August, and the

Sikh war was postponed for twelve months.
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Lord Ellenborough's attention was so completely absorbed
in war and politics as to leave him little leisure or inclina-

tion for the moral, intellectual, or material im-

mentsinhis provement of the country, but there were some

tion.'"^'^'^^
measures which deserve notice. It was during
his administration that the police of the lower

provinces was rendered more efficient by the establishment

of the office of deputy magistrate, to which men of every

class, creed, and caste were eligible ; and also by an im-

provement of the pay of darogas, who held the comfort of

the great body of the people in their hands. It was also

under his government that state lotteries, which had
become a prolific source of demoralisation, were abolished.

To him also belongs the merit of having, under the advice

of Mr. Wilberforce Bird, passed an Act for the total and
immediate extinction of slavery.

SECTION III.

LORD HAEDINGE's ADMINISTBATION—THE PUNJAB—THE SIKH

WAR.

A.D. On the recall of Lord Ellenborough, the Ministry and the

1844 Court of Directors concurred in nominating his relative, Sir

Lora Henry—subsequently Lord—Hardinge, to succeed
Hardinge. him. He had entered the army at an early age,

and served in the Peninsula under the Duke of Wellington,

and acquired a high reputation, more especially at the battle

of Albuera, the success of which was ascribed to his skill

and gallantry, and procured him fi'om a great historical

authority the commendation of being " the young soldier

" with the eye of a general, and the soul of a hero." At
Waterloo he was disabled by a severe wound. On his

return to England he entered Parliament and was twice

Secretary at War, and once Secretary for Ireland, and in these

positions acquired much experience in the management of

public affairs. It was his military qualifications, however,

which recommended him for the government of India at a

time when the right bank of the Sutlej was bristling with

hostile bayonets and the Sikh army had ceased to be

amenable to the control of the state. He was of the same
mature age— sixty—as the Marquis of Hastings, and he

entered upon his duties, as he said at the valedictory banquet,
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with an earnest desire to establish his fame as the friend of

peace, and not by means of conquest or the exhibition of

military skill. Bat as in the case of his two predecessors,

Lord Wellesley and Lord Hastings, these pacific intentions

were destined to a speedy disappointment, and the most
memorable events of his administration consist of the four

battles fought within the period of fifty-four days.

From the period of his arrival the attention of Sir Henry
Hardinge was anxiously fixed upon the storm then gather-

ing in the Punjab, where the death of Runjeet
j[g^.oj„yon3

Singhadbeenfollowedby unexampled anarchy and in the a.t>.

bloodshed. He was succeeded in July, 1839, by ^""J*^- 1839

his imbecile son Khurruk Sing, whose young and gallant

son Nao Nihal Sing, equal to his grandfather in talent and
energy, managed the affairs of the State, but was obliged to

share his authority with Dhyan Sing, theminister, a member
of the Jummoo, or Dogra family, then one of the most
influential in the Punjab. Golab Sing, the head of the

house, was originally a running footman, who had attracted

the notice of Runjeet Sing, and rapidly rose in his favour,

and was endowed with the district of Jummoo. He was a

Rajpoot and not a Sikh, and this circumstance, combined
with the extraordinary power to which the family had risen,

rendered them an object of envy and hatred. Khurruk
Sing died prematurely of excess, and Nao Nihal his son,

after performing his funeral obsequies, was killed by the

falling of a covered gateway as he was returning to the

city.

Shere Sing, the reputed son of Runjeet Sing, having
gained over a portion of the army, marched to Lahore and
seized on the government on the 14th January. Anryof the 1841

He was shrewd and frank, but the slave of Punjab,

sensuality, and the vassal of the Jummoo family, whom he
was unable either to shake off or to control. He rewarded
the troops who had been the instruments of his elevation with
an increase of pay, which served to sharpen their avarice

and to increase their arrogance, and they proceeded to

wreak their vengeance on all who wei-e obnoxious to them.
Shere Sing had made a request for British support, and so

little idea had the Government of India of the strength of the

Khalsa army that a force of 10,000 men was held in readiness

to march to Lahore, to exterminate it. On receiving

notice of this wild proposal, he simply drew his finger

across his throat to signify the fate which would await him.
If this force had crossed the Sutlej, the whole Khalsa army
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would have risen as one man, and hurled back the inva-

sion. That army, with the exception of a few Mahomedans,
consisted of a compact body of martial Sikhs, united by the

strongest national and religious sympathies, proud of their

past achievements, and haughty in the consciousness of their

own superiority. When the iron sceptre of Runjeet Sing
was removed, these Praetorian bands speedily became
masters of the Punjab. The soldiers were individually

obedient to their own officers, though they did occasionally

tie the commandant up to a gun ; but as a body their move-
ments were regulated, not by the will of the sovereign or

of the minister, but by the dictation of the army committees
or funches, the Council of Five, who consulted nothing
but the interests of the troops. Those who bestowed
on them the greatest largesses were most sure of their

support.
^•"' The year 1843 was marked by those convulsions to which

Lord EUenborough alluded in his minute of the 1st Novera-

Murderof ber, when he dwelt on the necessity of securing
shcre Sing. Qur rear by reducing the equally insubordinate

anny of Gwalior. The minister Dhyan Sing, finding his

power on the wane, persuaded Shere Sing to recall Ajeet

Sing, the head of one of the most powerful clans, whom he
had banished. On his restoration to office, he invited Shere
Sing to inspect some new levies which he had raised, and
shot him dead on the parade. Ajeet Sing then assassinated

Dhyan Sing, when his youthful son Heera Sing called on

the soldiers to revenge these foul murders, and they pro-

ceeded to the citadel and put Ajeet Sing to death. Duleep
Sing, then five years of age, the son of Runjeet Sing by
the ranee Jhindun, was brought from the zenana and
installed maharaja by Heera Sing, who took the post of

minister, and attached the troops to his interest by an
addition of two rupees and a half to their monthly pay.

From this time, the army may be considered absolute

master of the state.

The position of Heera Sing was unstable and perilous in

the extreme. One of his uncles marched down to Lahore,

Mnrder of from Jummoo to supplant him, but was defeated
Heera Sing, and slain. The Khalsa army, which supported

his power, was also the great source of danger, which he

endeavoured to lessen by distributing the regiments and
raising levies in the highlands, but the punches would not

permit a single corps to leave the capital without their

concurrence. The success of his administration was due

I
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chiefly to the genius of his tutor, the pundit Jalla, the

priest of the Jummoo family, who was considered a man of

such extraordinary ability that if he could have controlled

the troops he might have established a dynasty of Peshwas
at Lahore, but before his position was consolidated he
endeavoured to reduce the power of Golab Sing, who suc-

ceeded Dhyan Sing as the ruler of Jummoo ; he also se-

questered the estates of some of the chiefs, and, more
particularly, offended the ranee Jhindun and her brother

by his supercilious deportment. She appealed to the army, a.d.

and Heera Sing and the pundit were obliged to fly, but l^"*^

were overtaken and killed, and their heads brought in

triumph to Lahore. On the dissolution of the Government
of Heera Sing the management of affairs fell into the

hands of Jowaher Sing, the brother of the ranee, and of her
favourite paramour, Lall Sing, a brahmin, who had nothing
to recommend him but his comely person. The soldiers

received a fresh augmentation of pay, and became so in-

subordinate that it appeared necessary to find some employ-
ment for them to prevent the total overthrow of the Govern-
ment. They were therefore instigated to march to Jummoo
and fleece raja Golab Sing, whom they brought down to

Lahore and from whom they wrung more than a crore of

rupees. To keep them from mischiefat the capital they were
then recommended to attack Moolraj, who had been allowed
to succeed his father in the government of Mooltan, and
from him they extorted eighteen lacs. Soon after, Peshora
Sing, another of the sons of Runjeet, raised the standard of

revolt, but was defeated and basely murdered by Jowaher
Sing. He had always been popular with the people and the

army, and the contempt which was felt for the wretched de-

bauchee who occupied the post of minister was turned into

indignation by this atrocity, and he was led out into the
plain of Meean Meer and executed. After the loss of her
brother, the ranee sat daily in durbar, and in the beginning
of November appointed Lall Sing minister, and Tej Sing
commander-in-chief. But the army, which had within the

year humbled the two great feudatories of Jummoo and
Mooltan, was now the sole power in the state.

The anarchy which reigned in the Punjab constrained 1845

the Government of India to make energetic preparations

for the defence of the frontier. The cantonment „
at Ferozepore on the Sutlej which was inade- on the fron-

quately garrisoned had been reinforced by Lord *^®'^'

Ellenborough, but Sir Henry Hardinge found that the
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force assembled there, though amounting to 17,000 men,
was not sufficient for its defence, still less for extensive

operations if they should be forced upon us. He therefore

gradually massed 40,000 men on the frontier, and in the

stations below it, so imperceptibly as to attract no atten-

tion in our own provinces ; and he likewise brought up from
Sinde to Ferozepore the fifty-six large boats which Lord
EUenborough had wisely constructed to serve as a pontoon.

It has been surmised that it was the assemblage of this large

force on and near the frontier which roused the suspicions

of the Khalsa army, and led them to anticipate our designs

by the invasion of our territories. But since our dis-

comfiture in Afghanistan had lowered our prestige, that

army had twice marched down to the banks of the Sutlej

and threatened to cross it. Considering, moreover, the

distracted state of the Punjab Government, with the most
efficient army ever collected under the banner of any native

State, flushed with its past successes and panting for new
triumphs, and utterly beyond control, the Governor-
General would have been without excuse if he had not

made the most ample preparations to meet a crisis which
might turn up any day. The invasion was the work of the

ranee—justly termed by Sir Henry Hardinge the Messalina

of the north— and of Lall Sing and Tej Sing. They felt that

the only chance of maintaining their authority in the

Punjab was to involve the army in a conflict with the

British Government ; and it was they who launched the Sikh
battalions on our provinces for their own security, and
endeavoured to avert the plunder of Lahore by sending

them across the Sutlej to plunder Delhi and Benares.

On the 17th November, the order was issued to cross

the Sutlej. Major Broadfoot, the political agent on the

A D Th skh
frontier, urged the most prompt and energetic

184.5 army cross measures of defence, but Sir Henry Hardinge,
the Sutiej. g|.-jj clinging to the hope of peace, directed him
to send another remonstrance to the durbar, the only reply

to which, however, was an order to commence the march
without any further delay. Animated by a feeling ofnational

and religious enthusiasm, 60,000 Khalsa soldiers,with 40,000
well-armed camp followers, and 150 guns of large calibre,

crossed the Sutlej in four days, and by the 16th December,
were encamped within a short distance of the fort of

Ferozepore, which was held by Sir John Littler, one of the

oldest and best officers in the service, with about 10,000
men and 21 guns. On the 11th December, preparations
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had been made for a grand ball in the state tents of the ad.

Commander-in-Chief at Umballa, when information was 1846

received that the whole Sikh army had marched down to

the Sutlej and was on the eve of crossing it. The ball was
abandoned, and the night passed in preparing to march to

the relief of Sir John Littler, who was enveloped by a force

six times the number of his own. Hours were now in-

valuable, and the troops, heavily accoutred, performed a

march never before attempted in India, of 150 miles in six

days, through, heavy sands, the most formidable of all

roads, with little time to cook their food, and scarcely an
hour for repose. On the 13th the Governor-General issued

a declaration of war, and confiscated the districts belonging

to the Sikh crown south of the Sutlej. The day after the

Sikh army had crossed the river, a large portion of it

pushed on to Ferozeshuhur and began to construct en-

trenchments of the most substantial character, leaving Tej

Sing to watch the movements of Sir John Littler.

liall Sing's scouts brought him information that the

Governor-General and the Commander-in-Chief were ad-

vancing with only a slender force, and he pushed Battle of

on with 20,000 men and 22 guns to Moodkec, Moodkee.

where he awaited their arrival under cover of the jungle.

On the 18th December, the army had performed a fatiguing 1345
march of twenty-one miles over an arid plain ; the troops

were suffering severely from thirst ; they had not broken
their fast since the preceding night, and were preparing for

a meal, when a cloud of dust rose up in front, and the roar

of cannon announced the approach of Lall Sing's army.
Sir Hugh Gough was taken by surprise, as at Maharaj-
pore ; and then came the first conflict between the sepoy of

Hindostan and the Khalsa battalions of the Punjab, and the

superiority ofthe Sikh, whom a high political authority had
declared to be " a rabble demoralised by the absence of
" every principle of subordination, and by its wretched
"violence," became at once indisputable. One of our regi-

ments turned round and sought the rear, and it was with
difficulty the Commander-in-Chief and his staff could drag
it to the front. Even a European corps was for a time
staggered by the precision and rapidity of the enemy's fire,

and in the confusion of the hour, one regiment fired into

another; butvictory declared on our side, though not without
the loss of 900 in killed and wounded. For sixty years it

had been the practice of the home authorities to unite the
office of Commander-in-Chief with that of Governor-Gene-



448 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. XIH.

ral, when he happened to be a military man, as in the case
of Lord Comwallis, Lord Hastings, and Lord "William Ben-
tinck. It was unfortunately omitted in the case of Sir
Henry Hardinge, but after the miserable tactics exhibited
at Moodkee, he placed his services at the disposal of Sir
Hugh Gough, and magnanimously took the post of second
in command, and thus restored in some degree the confi-

dence of the troops.

A.D. The army halted two days at Moodkee to take repose and
1845 bury the dead, and was reinforced by the arrival of two

Battle of
European and two native regiments, brought up

Peroze- by forccd marches, through the indefatigable ex-
shuhur.

ertions of Sir Henry Hardinge. It started for

the entrenched camp of the Sikhs at Ferozeshuhur on the
morning of the 21st December, without provisions or tents.

Sir John Littler was directed to join it at the computed
hour of its arrival, and he moved out early in themorning, and
evaded the notice of Tej Sing by leaving his camp pitched,

his bazaar flags flying, and his cavalry pickets standing,

and reached the main body with 5,500 men and 22 guns a
few moments before noon. The Sikh entrenchment was in

the form of a parallelogram, a mile in length and half a
mile in breadth, with the village of Ferozeshuhur in the
centre. The number of troops within it, commanded by
Lall Sing, was estimated at 35,000, with 100 guns and 250
camel swivels. The batteries were mounted, not with
ordinary field artillery, but with heavy siege gans, placed

in position ; the day was the shortest in the year, and with
such an enemy to deal with as the Sikhs had proved them-
selves to be at Moodkee, every moment was of inestimable

value ; but three hours were strangely frittered away after

Sir John Littler's arrival, and it was nearly four in the

afternoon before the first shot was fired. Sir Charles

Napier in his comments on the strategy of the day remarks
that the attack should have been made on the two sides

which were not protected by the tremendous guns immove-
ably fixed, but Sir Hugh Gough resolved to follow his

usual practice of charging at once right up to the muzzle
of the guns and carrying the batteries by " cold steel." He
took the command of the right, Sir Henry Hardinge of the

centre, and Sir John Littler of the left. It fell to Sir John
to assault the strongest section of the enemy's position,

where they had gathered the strength of their heaviest

guns. His own field pieces were found to be of little, if

any use, and his troops advanced gallantly up to the bat-
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teries, but were at once arrested by the overwhelming fire a,d.

of the enemy. The 62nd Foot, mowed down by grape and 1845

round shot, was checked, and retired beaten, but not, in the ^^ ^'^'

eye of candour, dishonoured. The other divisions en-

countered an equally terrific resistance. To borrow the

language of the historian of the Sikhs, " guns were dis-

" mounted, and the ammunition blown into the air

;

'* squadrons were checked in mid career ; battalion after

" battalion was hurled back with shattered ranks ; and it

" was not till after sunset that portions of the enemy's
" position were finally carried. Darkness and the obstinacy
" of the conflict threw the English into confusion ; men of
" all regiments and all ranks were mixed together.
" Grenerals were doubtful of the fact, or the extent of their
" own success, and colonels knew not what had become of
" the regiments they commanded, or of the army of which
" they formed a part." The Governor-General had five

aides-de-camp killed and four wounded. He himself passed

the night in moving from regiment to regiment, endeavour-
ing to sustain the spirits and to revive the ardour of the

men, and, instead of retiring to Ferozepore as he was
advised to do, determined to renew the engagement the

next morning, although there was only one weak division

for the work which had baffled the whole army. At day-

dawn he and the Commander-in-Chief collected the scat-

tered soldiers of General Gilbert's division, attacked the

batteries in reverse, and captured them after a feeble resis-

tance. In the Sikh encampment during the night there

had been stormy counsels and bitter recriminations ; the

military chest had likewise been plundered, and, through
the cowardice or the treachery of the commander, the

legions who had defended this Roman encampment with
Roman courage were in full flight to the Sutlej. The
British line halted as soon as it had cleared the works, and
the two commanders were received with acclamation as

they rode along the ranks. The cheers had scarcely died

out when a cloud of dust announced the approach of a new
enemy. This was Tej Sing, who, finding that Sir John
Littler had eluded his vigilance, marched down to Feroze-

shuhur on the morning of the 22nd, with 20,000 infantry,

6,000 cavalry, and seventy guns. He found that the en-

trenchment was lost, and the Sikh army in full retreat to

the river, and after a brief cannonade, which at once dis-

mounted our feeble artillery, withdrew to the Sutlej.

He did not know that the British army, or what remained
aa

h
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A.D. of it, was drooping from hunger, not having tasted food for

1845 thirty-six hours, and wholly without ammunition, and that,

if vigorously attacked, the most brilliant courage could not
have saved it from utter destruction. The British empire
in India was again saved by a miracle. Our loss was 2,415

killed and wounded, including 103 officers. The battle of

Ferozeshuhur was the most severe and critical the British

army had ever fought in India. Never before had we en-

countered so resolute and so skilful an enemy ; but it was
the defect of our tactics and the deficiency of our ammuni-
tion, quite as much as the courage of the Sikhs, which
for a time gave a character of equality to the struggle.

The tide of invasion had now been stemmed, and of the

60,000 Khalsa soldiers who had poured down on the

Battle of Company's territories twelve days before, not one
uiwai. remained in arms on the left bank of the Sutlej.

But the two engagements had cost the army a fifth of its

numbers and exhausted its ammunition, and it became neces-

sary to bring up a large supply of stores as well as siege

guns from the nearest depot, which was at Delhi, 200 miles

distant. The army was thus condemned to a season of

inactivity, which the Sikhs attributed to timidity or to

weakness, and Runjoor Sing crossed the river in force, and
threatened the station of Loodiana. Sir Harry Smith was
sent to cover it, but owing to his own obstinacy, he received

a serious check at Buddewal which gave no little con-

fidence to the Sikh commander ; and it became necessary to

make a vigorous eflPort to clear the left bank of the Sutlej

of the enemy, and prevent an attack on the long convoy
^^*° coming up from Delhi. General Smith's force was there-

fore raised to 11,000, and the two forces met at Aliwal, on
the banks of the river. The hill men who defended it

were speedily put to flight, but the Khalsa soldiers, men
of true Sikh blood and mettle, stood their ground with un-

flinching courage, and it was not before their ranks had
been thrice pierced by Colonel Cureton's cavalry, that they

retreated to the river, in which many found a watery grave,

leaving sixty -seven guns as trophies in the hands of the

victors. This serious reverse disheartened the cabinet at

Lahore. Lall Sing, the prime minister, was deposed for

his incapacity, and Golab Sing was invited from Jummoo
to open negotiations with Sir Henry Hardinge. He was
informed that the Governor-General was prepared to

acknowledge a Sikh sovereignty at Lahore, but not till

the Khalsa army had been entirely disbanded. Golab Sing



SacT.m.] BATTLE OF SOBEAON 451

informed him that it was impossible to control the move- ad.
ment of the troops, who continued to domineer over the 184C

pubHc authorities, and the negotiation was broken off.

While the Commander-in-Chief was awaiting the arrival

of the train from Delhi, the Sikhs were transporting their

forces across the Sutlej at the Hurrekee ford, Battle of

where they erected one of the strongest works Sobraon.

against which troops had ever been led in India. It con-

sisted of a series of semicircular entrenchments, with the

river for their base, the outer line being two miles and a half

in circumference, surrounded by a deep ditch. The ram-
parts were defended by sixty-seven pieces of heavy ordnance
and 35,000 Khalsa soldiers. A bridge of boats united the

entrenchment with the encampment across the river, where
heavy guns had also been planted to sweep the left bank. The
long train of ordnance and stores coming up from Delhi
marched into the camp on the 8th February, and raised the

drooping spirits of the men. General Smith's troops also

joined the army, and increased its strength to 15,000, of

whom 5,000 were Europeans. The heavy ordnance was
planted on commanding positions opposite the enemy's en-

trenchments, and opened upon them at seven in the morning
of the 10th February. The Sikhs answered flash for flash

from their powerful artillery, and at nine it was found that

the cannonade had made no impression on their position
;

the ammunition, moreover, began to fall short, and, after

having waited seven weeks for these guns, it was discovered

that they were of little avail, and that the issue of the con-

flict must be left to the arbitrament of musketry and the

bayonet. The attack was made in three divisions on three

points, by Generals Dick, Gilbert, and Smith. Sir Robert
Dick's division was the first to move up to the attack, and,

charging home with the bayonet, cleared the ditch and
mounted the rampart. The Sikhs perceiving that this

was to be the principal point of attack, slackened the

defence of the entrenchments elsewhere, and concentrated

their guns on it. Fresh regiments were sent up to reinforce

General Dick, but they were staggered and checked by the

deadly fire of the Sikhs. The other two divisions were
therefore ordered to make a simultaneous attack, which the

enemy no sooner perceived than they immediately re-

turned to the posts they had quitted, and from every foot

of the entrenchment poured a withering fire of grape,

round shot, and musketry. The most remarkable occurrence
of the day was the charge of General Gilbert's division on the

o o 2

L
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A.D. centre ; his troops were repeatedly driven back, but their

1846 indomitable courage mastered the entrenchment, though
not without the loss of 689 killed and wounded. The Sikh
defences were at length pierced in all three directions.

Tej Sing was among the first to fly, and either by accident

or design, broke down the bridge after he had crossed it.

The Khalsa soldiers, pressed on three sides into a confused

mass, still continued to dispute every inch of ground till

they were forced to the bridge, and, preferring death to

surrender, plunged wildly into the stream, which had risen

during the night and flooded the ford, and they perished by
hundreds in their attempt to cross. The confusion, dismay,

and carnage were such as had not been seen in India since

the battle of Paniput. The loss on the side of the Sikhs
was computed at 8,000, and the whole of their encampment,
with all their artillery, standards, and stores fell to the

victors. The loss on our side was 2,383 in killed and
wounded, but the victory was complete. The con-

querors, as they beheld the trenches filled with the bodies

of their iron-hearted defenders, and the fords of the Sutlej

choked up with thousands of corpses, and the river itself

exhibiting in every direction the wreck of a great army,
did not fail to pay a tribute of admiration to the gallantry

and devotedness of the noble Khalsa legions.

Major Abbot had been employed day and night in con-

structing a bridge of the boats which Sir Henry Hardinge

_ had brought up from Sinde to Ferozepore, and
The army .

^ ^
, ,

enters the it was completed the night before the battle. Sir
Punjab. Henry had been actively engaged in the field at

Sobraon, and was severely injured by a fall from his horse,

but as soon as the victory was assured, he rode twenty-
six miles to Ferozepore to hasten the passage of the troops,

and that night six regiments bivouacked in the Punjab.
Three days after the action, the whole force, which, includ-

ing camp followers, fell little short of 100,000 men, and
68,000 animals and forty pieces of artillery, crossed the

river without a single casualty. On the line of march to

the capital, a deputation from the Sikh cabinet, with Golab
Sing at their head, waited on the Governor- General, but
they were received as the representatives of an offending

Governmentand their complimentary presents were declined.

Soon after, the maharajja Dhuleep Sing came into the camp,
and was dismissed with honour. On the 20th the citadel of

Lahore was occupied by a British garrison, and the army
was encamped on the plain of Meeanmeer.
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The issue of the war had placed the Punjab at the dis- a.d.

posal of the Governor- General, and he might have annexed 1846

it to the Company's dominions, but he did not

consider it prudent to encumber the Government Hw^Tg^s
with the charge of a new kingdom. The morale arrange-

of the army, moi-eover, was low, the season of

heat and prostration was approaching, and the four battles

had reduced his European strength to 3,000 men, while the

remnant of the Sikh army still mustered 14,000, with forty

pieces of cannon. He determined, therefore, to punish thr»

Sikh nation for its wanton aggression without suppressing

its political independence, and he simply deprived it of the

possessions held south of the Sutlej and the province of

Jullunder across it. The state was required to make good
the expenses of the campaign, computed at a crore and a
half of rupees, but the profligacy of the ministers and the

rapacity of the soldiery had reduced the twelve crores left

by Runjeet Sing to half a crore. Sir Henry Hardinge
determined, therefore, to take over the province of Cashmere
in lieu of the remaining crore, and Golab Sing, the powerful

raja of Jummoo, stepped forward and offered to pay this

sum on being constituted the independent monarch of

Cashmere and Jummoo. The two provinces were, in fact,

sold to him, but he merely received an indefeasible title to

that which was already in his possession, and which we
were not in a position to deprive him of.

The settlement of the Punjab was embodied in the treaty

of the 9th March, which provided that the Khalsa army
should be disbanded, that the military force of

g^ ^

the state should be limited to 20,000 infantry of the

and 12,000 cavalry, and that all the guns which ^""'"i"^-

had been pointed against British troops should be given up.

Although the war had terminated in the total defeat of the

Khalsa army and the dismemberment of the Punjab, the

fact of our triumph was doubted in the native community,
more especially as it was unwelcome. The natives had
looked with a feeling of complacency on the growth of the

new kingdom in the Punjab, the cradle of Hindooism, as

the germ of a power destined to restore Hindoo supremacy
throughout India. Sir Henry Hardinge considered it im-

portant to remove this feeling of incredulity, and to demon-
strate that the power of Ranjeet Sing was completely

prostrated. A grand procession was accordingly formed of

the 250 guns obtained from the Sikhs, which was conducted

from Lahore to Calcutta with every demonstration of
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A.D. military pomp. It was received at the stations and canton-
1846 ments by the public functionaries with all honour, and its

arrival in Calcutta was celebrated by a magnificent cere-

monial. In England, the thanks of Parliament were moved
to Sir Henry Hardinge, Sir Hugh Gough, and their brave
companions by Sir Robert Peel and the Duke of Welling-
ton, in speeches which enhanced their value in no small

degree. Peerages were bestowed on the Governor-General
and the Commander-in-Chief, and a baronetcy on the victor

of Aliwal. To all the troops engaged in the campaign
Lord Hardinge granted twelve months' full batta, without
waiting for permission from home.
At the earnest entreaty of the durbar, Lord Hardinge

consented to leave a British force for the protection of the

maharaja and the new government, but only to

ran^ements ^^^ ^ud of the year ; and Major Henry Lawrence,
in the of the Bengal Artillery, was selected as the
" " ' representative of the Government at the Lahore

court. Lall Sing, the paramour of the ranee, was ap-

pointed prime minister. He was a man of low extraction,

without any capacity for civil or military affairs, and his ad-

ministration, which was both venal and oppressive, rendered
him odious to the chiefs and the people. His treachery to

the British government soon brought his career to a close.

Cashmere had been made over to the raja Golab Sing, but
the governor. Sheik Imam-ood-deen, at first hesitated, and
then refused to surrender it. Major Lawrence considered

it indispensable to extinguish the first spark of resistance,

and at the risk of being blocked up by the snows of winter,

marched with the utmost promptitude with a large force,

consisting of 10,000 of the Sikh army which we had
recently conquered, and a small detachment of British

troops. The refractory chief was reduced to submission,

and, in his own defence, produced a written order from Lall

Sing to obstruct the transfer. A mixed commission of

European officers and Sikh chieftains assembled to investi-

gate the charge of treachery, which was fully substantiated,

and, in spite of the tears of the ranee, he was banished from
the Punjab and consigned to oblivion on a pension. At the

close of the year, the Sikh cabinet and the most influential

nobles assured Lord Hardinge that the withdrawal of the

British force would inevitably lead to the resuscitation of

the Khalsa army, and he yielded with great reluctance to

their importunity. A new treaty was drawn up to which
fifty-two chiefs affixed their seals, which provided that a
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council of regency, consisting of eight chiefs, should be con- a.d.

stituted to act under the control and guidance of the '846

Resident, that the various forts and cantonments should be

garrisoned by British troops, for whose maintenance a sum
of twenty-two lacs of rupees a year should be appropriated,

and that the arrangement should continue for eight years

during the minority of Dhuleep Sing. The government of

the Punjab was virtually vested in Major Lawrence, an
officer of artillery.

For eight years the government in India had been inces-

santly engaged in war, or in preparations for it, and the

armies of the three Presidencies had been aug- Reduction of

mented to the extent of 120,000 men. The pres- the army.

sure on the finances of the empire had been proportionately

severe, and at the close of the Sikh war the expenditure

was found to exceed the revenue by a crore and a half of

rupees. In the course of the preceding twenty-six months,
the three remaining independent armies—^those of Gwalior,

Sinde, and the Punjab—numbering 120,000 soldiers, had
been extinguished, and their artillery, consisting of 500
pieces of cannon, had been transferred to our own arsenals.

There was no longer any native military organisation in

any province to oppose us, and the time appeared to have
arrived when the strength of our own armies could be
reduced without danger. Happily Lord Hardinge's long
military experience both in the field and, as secretary-at-

war, in the cabinet, enabled him to carry out this measure
without in anydegree impairing our military strength. Leav-
ing the number of officers, European and native, without
diminution, he curtailed the rank and file of the army by
50,000 men, and disbanded the police battalions, but he
carefully avoided any mutilation of indiviflual allowances.

These arrangements resulted in a saving of a crore and a
half a year, and the revenues of the two Sikh provinces

which he had annexed left him a small surplus. Notwith-
standing these material reductions, the security of the

north-west frontier, the only point of danger, was more
efiectually provided for than ever, by allotting to Meerut
and the stations above it 54,000 men and 120 guns.

Equal wisdom and foresight were manifested in his arrange-

ments for the peace of the Punjab. He did not expect that

a country teeming with disbanded soldiers, the bravest and
most haughty in India, who had revelled for seven years in

military license, would be as free from disturbance as a
district in Bengal. To provide for the prompt repression
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A.D of any insurrectionary movement, lie organised three mov-
J845 able brigades, complete in carriage and equipment, con-

1848 ^^^*^°S °^ infantry, cavalry, and artillery, to be held in

readiness at Lahore, Jnllunder, and Ferozepore to take the
field at the shortest notice on the first appearance of an
outbreak.

Lord Hardinge's attention during the forty-two months
of hia administration had been chiefly occupied in reducing

other mea-
^^^ Khalsa armament, the construction of the

snres of i m- Punjab administration, and the reorganisation of
provement.

^^^ army ; but he found leisure to attend to the
social and material improvement of the country. At the
suggestion of Lord Auckland, the Court of Directors had
given their sanction to the construction of the great Ganges
Canal. The work was suspended under the pressure of

war by Lord EUenborough, but was resumed and pushed
on with energy by his successor. It was duiing his in-

cumbency that the memorable resolution was passed which
held out the prospect of employment in the public service

to the successful students in the Government educational

institutions, and which thus gave the state the benefit of

the talent it had assisted to develope. Education was as

much a party question in Lidia as in England, and this

liberal measure, which was not universally approved, was not
fully carried out for some years ; but the merit of it belongs
to Lord Hardinge's administration, and he was recompensed
by a grateful address on the subject from the most influential

native gentlemen in Calcutta. He gave a powerful impulse
at an important crisis to the plan of Indian railways, then
struggling into existence, which Lord EUenborough had
pronounced to be " all moonshine ;" he pi'ohibited Sunday
labour in the public establishments, and gave our Hindoo
and Mahomedan subjects a proof of our respect for the

principles of our creed. Lord "William Bentinck had
abolished suttees throughout the Company's dominions, but
they were still perpetrated in the native states, and on the

death of the raja of Mundee, a principality in the vicinity

of the Governor-General's residence at Simla, no fewer than
twelve of his widows were burnt on the funeral pile. Lord
Hardinge used all the influence of our paramount authority

to induce the independent native chiefs to abolish the
practice, and before his departure he had the satisfaction

of receiving written assurances from twenty-four native

princes and princesses that they were making strenuous

efforts to meet his wishes ; and a suttee is now as much
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oat of vogue on the continent of India as a duel is in

England. The distribution of his patronage was regulated

by an exclusive regard to the public interests, and he was
as free from the suspicion of nepotism as Lord Ellen-

borough. He secured the confidence of the community in

India by his sterling sense, and by the rare combination of

a kind and conciliatory disposition with decision of character

and vigour of discipline. He left Calcutta on the 15th

March, 1848, with the avowed conviction that it would not

be necessary to fire another shot in India for seven years
;

yet so impossible is it to forecast the future in that hot-bed

of revolutions, that before a twelvemonth had passed, the

Punjab had revolted, and had been re-conquered, and con-

verted into a British province.

CHAPTEE XIV.

SECTION I.

LORD DALHOUSIE'S ADMINISTRATION—SECOND SIKH WAR.

Lord Dalhousie landed at Calcutta and took his seat in a.d.

council on the 19th January. He was in his thirty-sixth 1848

year,—the youngest of governors general. He Lord Dai-

had occupied a seat in the House of Commons iiousie.

before he succeeded to the family title, and in Sir Robert
Peel's last cabinet enjoyed the post of president of the

Board of Trade at the most busy period of its existence,

when it was flooded with railway schemes. He entered

upon the government of India without any of that acquain-
tance with its institutions and pohcy which Lord Wellesley,

Lord Minto, and Lord William Bentinck had brought with
them, but his natural genius soon caught the spirit, and
mastered the details of the administration. The period of

his rule, which extended to eight years, was crowded with
transactions which will long continue to affect the happiness
of the vast population of the empire, and may be con-
sidered one of the most memorable in its history. Waiving
the chronological order of events, we shall distribute them
under the three sections ofmilitary operations, annexations,

and social and material improvements.
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A.D. Within four months of his arrival, the note of war was
1848 again sounded in the Punjab. A small cloud appeared on

Mooiraj and the horizon over Mooltan, which in the course of
Mooitan. gfx months overspread the country and brought
on a conflict as arduous as that of 1845. Major— after-

wards Sir Henry— Lawrence was constrained to visit

England for the restoration of his health, and was succeeded
by a civilian, Sir Frederic Currie, who was unhappily
placed in circumstances which required the experience and
the authoritative counsels of a military man, and the

absence of which culminated in a general war. Moolraj took
possession of the province of Mooltan, on the death of his

father the governor in 1844, but his subordination to the

authorities at Lahore was little more than nominal, Lall

Sing, the principal minister, knowing that a large treasure

had been accumulated by his father, demanded a crore of

rupees as a nuzzer, or succession fine. It was compromised
for a fifth of the sum, the payment of which, however, he
contrived to evade until the establishment of a strong

government at Lahore by Lord Hardin ge, when it was
adjusted, and he offered to resign the government, on
the ground that it was intended to introduce new fiscal

regulations, which were unpalatable to him. The durbar
took him at his word, and sent Khan Sing to take

over the government, and Sir Frederick selected Mr.
Agnew, a civilian, and Lieutenant Anderson to accom-
pany him, with an escort of about 350 Sikhs and a few
guns. The party reached Mooltan on the 18th March.
The next morning Moolraj waited on them to discuss the

terms of his resignation, and asked for a general deed of

Murder of acquittance, but Mr. Agnew insisted on the
the officers, production of all the accounts of the pre-

vious six years. After much recrimination, Moolraj

yielded to the demand, but he felt that he had been dis-

honoured in the eyes of his people, and he left the confer-

ence with a scowl on his brow. On the 20th the two
officers proceeded to inspect the various establishments

which were to be transferred to the new governor, but as

they were leaving the fort they were struck down by
assassins, and conveyed by their attendants to a fortified

t«mple in the vicinity of the town in which they had taken

up their residence. They defended it manfully until their

Sikh escort proved treacherous, when the howling savages

rushed in and hacked them to pieces, and presented their

heads to Moolraj who, instead of affording them any
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assistance when they were attacked, had galloped off to a.t).

his country residence. The next day he placed himself at 1848

the head of the insurrection and issued a proclamation

summoning all the inhabitants of the province to rise and
wage a religious war against the feringees, as the Christian

foreigners were contemptuously termed. The emergency
had now arisen for which Lord Hardinge had made pro-

vision by his movable columns, and there can be no doubt
that if Major Lawrence had been the Resident at Lahore
he would have marched down with promptitude and nipped

the revolt in the bud, as he had extinguished the insur-

rection of Imam-ood-deen two years before in Cashmere.
Sir Frederick, on hearing of the attack on the officers, or-

dered a large force to be prepared to proceed forthwith to

Mooltan, but countermanded it when he learnt that they

had been murdered, and referred the matter to the con-

sideration of the Commander-in-Chief, who resolved to

postpone all operations until he could take the field in person
in the cold season.

The Resident and the Commander-in-Chief had scarcely

ceased to bandy arguments when Lieutenant—the late Sir

Herbert—Edwardes, a young officer employed Lieutenant

in the revenue settlement of the district ofBunnoo, Edwardes.

across the Indus, animated with the spirit of Clive, deter-

mined to take the initiative in crushing the revolt. Without
waiting for instructions from Lahore, he crossed the Indus
with 1,200 infantry, 350 horsemen, and two guns ; but
having intercepted a letter, from which he learned that his

men had agreed to sell his head and their services to Mool-
raj for 24,000 rupees, recrossed the river and raised other

recruits freefrom the infection of treachery—"bold villains,"

he said, " ready to risk their own throats and cut those of
" anyone else." He was soon after joined by a regiment of

Musulmans, under Colonel Cortland, and by the troops of

the raja oi' Bhawulpore, and fought an engagement with
Moolraj and 8,000 Sikh troops at Kineyree on the 18th June,

and defeated him. He importuned the Resident to support
him, and preparations were made to despatch an adequate
force, but Lord Gough again interposed his authority,

because the season was not favourable, and the siege train

had not moved from Cawnpore. Ten days after. Lieutenant
Edwardes, who had received a reinforcement of 4,000 men,
under Imam-ood-deen, whose fidelity however was doubtful,

again attacked Moolraj at Suddoosain, but although his army
now consisted of 11,000 Sikh soldiers, supported by
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A.D. eleven guns, he was completely defeated, and sought shelter

1848 with his fugitive troops within the walls of the capital.

Sir Frederick Currie now determined to lose no time in fol-

lowing up the successes of Lieutenant Edwardes, and took

T, ^ , , on himself the responsibility of ordering Gene-
General ral Whish to proceed with 7,000 men and a bat-
^^'^'^* tering train to Mooltan, and to this movement
Lord Gough offered no opposition. Meanwhile, Lieutenant
Edwardes was joined hy a Sikh force, under Shere Sing,

which the Lahore durbar had despatched, ostensibly to co-

operate against Moolraj, but, in reality, to support him,
and it was no secret at Lahore that they were thoroughly
disaffected. The distance between Lahore and Mooltan is

only 220 miles, but though Genei-al Whish had the conveni-

ence of water communication, he was thirty-nine days
reaching his destination. Duting this procrastination

iloolraj augmented his force and improved the defences of

the fort, which was one of the strongest in the country.

The battering train reached Mooltan on the 3rd September,

but within a week after the batteries opened all operations

were brought to a close. Shere Sing, who had joined

General Whish's camp in conjunction with Lieutenant

Edwardes, yielded to the importunity of his oflBcers and
men, and went over to the enemy with 6,000 troops on the

14th September. The general was obliged to relinquish

the siege, and retire to a safe position in the vicinity of the

town, adapted for the receipt of reinforcements, and there he
threw up entrenchments, and was, in fact, besieged in his

turn. Shere Sing immediately issued a proclamation, an-

nouncing a religious war, " under the auspices of the holy
" Gooroo," against "the cruel feringees,^' and called upon
all those who eat the salt of the maharaja to come forward

and destroy them.
During these proceedings events transpired at Lahore

and elsewhere which disclosed the mine upon which we
Spread of the ^^ been sitting. It was discovered that the
revolt. maharanee, a woman of great ambition and inde-

fatigable intrigue, had for some time been engaged at

Cabul and Candahar, in Cashmere and in Rajpootana, in

plotting against the British government, and that all the

members of the Lahore cabinet, with the exception of two,

were confederated with her. Sir Frederick Currie had by
a skilful manoeuvre obtained possession of her person, and
ti-ansferred her to the Resident at Benares, the warder of

the disinherited princes and princesses of India. The spirit
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of revolt now began more openly to develope itself. Chutter a.d.

Sing, the father of Shere Sing, the governor of the province 1848

of Hazara, on the left bank of the Indus, threw off the mask,
and " devoted his head," as he said, " to God, and his arms to
" the Khalsa." He opened a negotiation with Dost
Mahomed and offered him the province of Peshawur on
condition of his joining the crusade against the English.

The proposition was too tempting to be resisted, and he

readily agreed to join the insurgents with his contingent.

Peshawur, which Chutter Sing thus sold to the Afghans,

was under the political charge of Major—now Sir George
—Lawrence, and was garrisoned by 8,000 Sikh troops,

upon whose fidelity little dependence could be placed when
the whole atmosphere of the Punjab was charged with
treason. Owing to the influence the Major had obtained

over them, they steadily resisted the importunities of

Chutter Sing, but at length yielded to the seductions of

Sultan Mahomed, the brother of Dost Mahomed, and the

personification of Afghan perfidy. He was under the

greatest obligations to Sir Henry Lawrence, who had
released him from gaol at Lahore and restored his jageer.

Under his instigation the troops assailed and sacked the

Residency, and Major Lawrence and other English officers

retired under the escort provided by him with the most
solemn assurances of protection, but no sooner were they
in his power than he sold them to Chutter Sing. The
whole of the Punjab was now in a state of revolt ; the

veterans of B^unjeet Sing, scattered throughout the country,

were burning with impatience to meet the British bat-

talions once more in the field, and recover their lost honour
and restore the glory of their beloved Khalsa. The paltry

outbreak at Mooltan, fostered by delay, had grown into a"

portentous war, and Tiord Dalhousie had now to encounter
the bravest soldiers in India, animated by a spirit of

patriotic enthusiasm, but he was fully equal to the occasion.

Through the great exertions of Sir George Clerk, the

governor of Bombay, a body of 7,000 men was after much
delay sent up the Indus to reinforce General Whish, and
an addition was made of 17,000 to the strength of the

Bengal regiments. On the 10th October, Lord Dalhousie
proceeded to the scene of operations after having, at a fare-

well entertainment given him at Barrackpore, said, in the

course of his speech, " Unwarned by precedent, uninflu-
" enced by example, the Sikh nation has called for war, and,
" on my word, sir, they shall have it with a vengeance."
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i.D. Shere Sing was received with great mistrust by Moolraj,
1848 -^lio wished him to desert the encampment of General

„. -. Whish, but not to encumber him with his troops
Shere Sing ni- • -i- m , r^ i n > •

and the and his requisitions. Twenty-five days after his
grand army,

^evolt, he left Mooltan and marched towards
Lahore with 5,000 men, whose number was increased at

every stage by the old soldiers of the Khalsa, and he had
the audacity to burn a bridge of boats on the Ravee, the
flames of which were visible from the cantonments. Lahore
had been unaccountably left in a defenceless state for

weeks after it was known that Shere Sing and his father

were in the field with 15,000 troops, and he might have
obtained possession of it if this fact had been known to

him ; but he moved on to Ramnuggur, on the Chenab. The
grand army was at length assembled at Ferozepore early in

November, and Lord Gough assumed command of it on the

16th. It consisted of four British and eleven native regi-

ments of infantry, three noble regiments of British horse,

with five regiments of native cavalry, and five corps of

irregular horse. It was weak in infantry, but unusually
strong in artillery. Lord Gough opened the campaign on the

22nd by marching down to Ramnuggur, where the main body
of Shere Sing was encamped on the right bank, with his

front protected by batteries mounting twenty-eight guns.

He had boats on the river and the command of a ford, and
had pushed a detachment across the river, which was at

once driven back, when he opened an irresistible fire

from his batteries planted on the high ground on the opposite

bank, and the order was given to retire. One gun and two
waggons, however, could not be extricated from the sand

;

but instead of spiking the one and blowing up the others,

time was lost in endeavouring to rescue them. Several

thousands of the enemy then rushed h,cross the ford, while

the batteries played on the British retiring force. Here
the operations of the day should have terminated, but the

Commander-in-Chief gave permission to Colonel Havelock,

in command of the 14th Dragoons, an officer of Penin-

sular renown, to charge the Sikhs in the dry sandy bed of

a river two miles wide ; and in this contemptible cavalry

skirmish his own life and that of the gallant Colonel

Cureton were sacrificed.

Any attempt to assail the position of Shere Sing in front

would have been an act of infatuation, and Sir Joseph

Battle of Sa- Thackwell was therefore despatched, with 8,000
dooiiapore. horsc, foot, and artillery, on the 1st December, to
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Wuzeerabad, thirty miles higher up the river, which he a.t>.

crossed the next day, and marched down twelve miles to- 1848

wards Sherc Sing's encampment. That general, on hearing
of this movement, at once withdrew his army from Ram-
nuggur, leaving Lord Gough to waste powder and shot on an
empty entrenchment. The two forces met at Sadoollapore,

where, after sustaining for two hours the incessant fire of

the enemy without returning a shot till they were fully

within range. General Thackwell's artillery opened on them
with great effect, and their cannon began to slacken and
then ceased. There remained only an hour of daylight,

and, with the example of Moodkee and Ferozeshuhur before

him, he wisely determined to postpone the attack till the

morning. Under cover of the night Shere Sing retired

with his tents, guns, and ammunition, and when General
Thackwell put his army in motion in the morning to pursue
him, he was already beyond reach. He retired from
Sadoollapore with his artillery still entire, and the spirit of

his troops unbroken, and took up a position of singular

strength on the Jhelum, with his rear resting on that

stream, his main body posted in ravines strengthened by
field works, and his front covered by a broad and dense

iungle. For six weeks our army remained inactive between
the Chenab and the Jhelum, and, in the opinion of the first

military authorities of the day, it would have done well to

continue in this attitude till the capture of Mooltan had
brought up to its aid the large division of troops engaged
in the siege. This course was eventually taken, and
brought the war to a glorious termination ; but inter-

mediately occurred the disastrous engagement of Chillian-

walla.

On the 12th January the army advanced twelve miles to 1849

Dinjee, and on the following day to Chillianwalla, when it

became evident that the Sikhs had quitted their chiiiian-

strong entrenchments on the heights of Russool, waiia.

and were ready to combat without the usual support of
their bulwarks. Lord Gough had determined to defer the

assault till a careful reconnaissance had been made the next
day, and directions were given to mark out the ground for

an encampment, when a few shots from some field-pieces

the Sikhs had pushed forward dropped upon him. The
spirit of defiance and antagonism at once overcame his sober
judgment, and he issued orders for immediate action. The
Sikhs began the engagement by a continuous peal of fire

from a jungle so thick that nothing was ofiered as a mark for
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A.D. the British artillery but the flash and smoke of the enemy's
1849 guns. This cannonade lasted an hour or an hour and a

half, according to different reports, and it was three in the

afternoon with only an hour or two of daylight left,

when the divisions were ordered to advance.

Of the two brigades of the infantry division of General
Campbell— subsequently Lord Clyde — that of General
Pennycuick was subject to a fearful repulse. The 24th
Foot, which formed a portion of it, composed chiefly of

young soldiers, advanced with such ardour that Shere Sing,

to whom they were opposed, was on the point of retiring

when he perceived them rushing breathless and panting, as

he described it, like dogs in a chase, upon his guns. He
poured a shower of grape into them, and, while shattered

by its deadly effect, they were torn to pieces by a musketry
fire from Sikh troops masked by a screen of jungle. The
whole brigade was thrown into a state of confusion,

and the most despei'ate efforts of the ofl&cers were of no
avail to restore order. The colours of the regiment fell

into the hands of the enemy, but not until 23 officers and
459 non-commissioned officers and men had been killed and
wounded. General Campbell, who had been victorious in

his front, came rapidly to the rescue, and snatched the

victory from the Sikhs, General Gilbert's division suc-

ceeded by the most heroic efforts in putting the Sikhs to

flight, but pursuit in a forest, where the oaen could not see

twenty yards before them, was impossible. While they

halted to collect their wounded, a body of Sikhs, who had
turned their flank unperceived, opened fire on them, and
they were rescued from destruction only by the field

battery of Major Dawes. The struggle was terrific, and, to

use the language of an eye-witness, it seemed as if the very

air teemed with balls and bullets.

The adventures of the cavalry were most disastrous and
humiliating. Lord Gough had brought four regiments into

Movements the first line, and they were thus opposed to an
of cavalry, unapproachable artillery fire, and to entangle-

ments in the recesses of the forest. The troops of artillery at-

tached to the brigade were planted in the rear, and could not

open fire from a single gun. The brigade was commanded
by a superannuated general, who could not mount his

horse without assistance, and who was irascible and wedded
to ancient notions of cavalry manoeuvres. As the line ad-

vanced it was broken up by clumps of trees and brushwood
intx) numerous series of small sections doubled behind each
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other. In this state a small body of Sikh horsemen, intoxi- a.d.

cated with drugs, rushed on the centre in a mass, and 1849

caused a sensation of terror among the native cavalry which
nothing could counteract. Just at this crisis some one in

the 14th Dragoons uttered the words " Threes about !
" The

regiment at once turned to the rear and moved off in con-

fusion, and as the Sikh horse pressed on, it galloped head-

long in disgraceful panic through the cannon and waggons
posted in the rear. The Sikh horse entered the line of

artillery with the dragoons and captured four guns. The
shades of evening put an end to the conflict. The troops

were half dead with fatigue and parched with thirst, but

no water could be procured except at Chillianwalla, two
miles distant, to which the Commander-in-Chief was
obliged to withdraw the force. During the night, parties

of Sikh troops and of the armed peasantry traversed the

forest which had been the scene of combat, mutilating the

slain and murdering the wounded, and rifling both. All

the guns which had been secured during the engagement
were carried off, with the exception of twelve, which had
been brought into the camp.

Such was the battle of Chillianwalla, the nearest approxi-

mation to a defeat of any of our great conflicts in India.

The Sikh army was not overthrown, but retired Eesnits of

to another position three miles from the field,
t^^e battle.

Four British guns were captured, the colours of three regi-

ments were lost, the reputation of the British cavalry

deplorably tarnished, while the character of Sikh prowess
was proportionately elevated. The number of killed and
wounded, including eighty-nine officers, was 2,446. The
Governor-General officially pronounced it a victory, and it

was announced by salutes at all the Presidencies ; but he was
anticipated by Shore Sing, who fired a salute the same
evening in honour of his triumph. By the community in

India it was considered a great and lamentable calamity.

The intelligence of the combat was received in England
with a feeling of indignation and alarm. British standards
had been lost ; British cannon had been captured ; British

cavalry had fled before the enemy, and a British regiment
had been annihilated. These disasters were traced, and
justly, to the wretched tactics of Lord Gough, and he was
recalled, with the full approval of the Duke of "Wellington,

and Sir Charles Napier was sent out to supersede him.

L
H H
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SECTION II.

LORD DALHODSIE'S ADMINISTRATION — SECOND SUCH WAR

—

ADMINISTRATION OF THE PUNJAB THE BURMESE WAR—
THE SANTALC.

The conflict at Chillianwalla had so seriously crippled the

infantry as to constrain Lord Gough to await the capture

Siege of of Mooltan and the arrival of General Whish's
Mooitan. forcB before he undertook any further operations.

At Mooltan the advantages gained by the spirited exertions

of Lieutenant Edwardes had been lost by the defection of

Shere Sing. Moolraj regained possession of the province

and of its resources, and was enabled to provision the fort

and to improve its fortifications. General Whish, who had
retired to a fortified position in the neighbourhood, was
doomed to three months of inaction by the dilatoriness of

the Bombay military authorities in forwarding reinforce-

A.D. ments. The Bombay troops on their arrival raised his army
'848 to 17,000, with sixty four heavy guns, and he recommenced

the siege on the 2 7th December. After clearing the suburbs,

which was not efiected vsdthout the loss of 300 men and seven-

teen officers, the batteries opened on the town, and for five

days and nights the discharge from howitzers, cannon, and
mortars never ceased. On the third day the fury of the

combatants was for a few moments arrested by the explosion

of a magazine in the town containing 400,000 lbs. of gun-
powder, which shook the earth for miles and darkened the

sky with smoke. After a brief pause the firing was re-

newed, the Bombay and Bengal artillery vying with each

other and the enemy vying vrith both. On the 2nd
January the city was stormed, and presented a melancholy
picture of desolation ; the buildings had crumbled under
the storm of shot and shell, which had never beensuspended
for 120 hou^, and the streets were strewed with the dead
and dying. Moolraj continued to hold the citadel with

about 3,000 troops for another fortnight, and he and his

brave soldiers sustained the most terrific fire of ordnance,

direct and vertical, which had ever been discharged in

India within the same narrow limits. At length, when
every roof but one had been demolished, and the incessant

1849 volleys became insupportable, the valiant chief surrendered

at discretion, and on the 22nd January rode into the English

camp, his chiefs and soldiers prostrating themselves before

him in passionate devotion as he passed.
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After the battle of Chillianwalla the Sikh and British a.d.

troops lay encamped within a few miles of each other for 1849

twenty-five days ; the one at Russool and the

other at ChiUianwalla. On the 6th February m^^of the

Shere Sing evaded Lord Gough and marched battle of

unperceived round the British entrenchments,

and established his headquarters at Guzerat. The last

brigade of General Whish's army having joined Lord Gough
on the 20th February, the army moved up to that town.

General Cheape, of the Bengal engineers, who had directed

the siege of Mooltan with that professional skill and per-

sonal energy to which its success is to be attributed, joined

the camp a week befoi*e the battle and assumed charge of

the engineering department. With unwearied industry he
applied himself to the duty of obtaining the most accurate

information of the position of the enemy, the absence of

which had produced the lamentable results of Maharajpore,

Moodkee, and Chillianwalla. The army of Shere Sing,

estimated at 50,000 men, with sixty pieces of cannon, was
posted in front of the walled town of Guzerat, with the left

supported on a streamlet, while the right was protected by
the deep dry bed of the Dwara. Between them was a
space of about three miles with two villages, loopholed and
filled with troops. In all Lord Gough's battles he had
trusted more to the bayonet than to his cannon, and the
carnage had been severe. In the present case the principle

was reversed. On the day preceding the engagement it

was determined by the able engineer officers with the force

that the artillery, in which no army in India had been so

strong, should be brought into full play, and that the charge
of the infantry should be reserved till the consistency of

the Sikh army had been broken by the guns.

The infantry divisions and brigades advanced in parallel

lines with eighty-four pieces of cannon in front, and the
cavalry on the flanks. The army, invigorated by The battle of

rest and food, broke ground at half past seven. Guzerat.

The morning was clear and cloudless, and the sun shone
brightly on the extended lines of bayonets and sabres. The
Sikhs, ever ready with their batteries, opened them at a
long range. The British infantry was halted beyond their

reach, and the artillery pushed boldly to the front and com-
menced a cannonade, of which the oldest and most ex-

perienced soldiers had never witnessed a parallel for mag-
nificence and efiect. The Sikhs fired with great rapidity,

but it was manifest that neither human fortitude nor the

B u 2
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A.D. best materials could withstand tlie stxjrra which for two
1849 hours and a half beat on their devoted artillery ; not a

single musket was discharged before the fire of their for-

midable line had been subdued. The infantry then deployed
and commenced a steady advance supported by their field

batteries. The Sikhs fought with desperation, but the two
villages were at length carried by the ardent courage of

the British troops, and the whole Sikh line gave way and
was pursued round the town by all the brigades of infantry.

The cavalry, which had hitherto been kept in reserve, was
then let loose, and onward they rushed, riding over and
trampling down the flying and scattered infantry of the

Sikhs, and converting the discomfited enemy into a shape-

less mass of fugitives. It was not till half-past four, after

they had advanced fifteen miles beyond Guzerat, that the

cavalry drew rein, and by that time the army of Shere
Sing was a wreck, deprived of its camp, its standards, and
fifty-three pieces of cannon. The battle of Gruzerat was one
of the noblest achievements of the British army in India,

and as it was gained by the judicious use of the arm in

which the force had a preponderating power, it has justly

been designated the " battle of the guns." The happy
contrivance by which the Commander-in-Chief was re-

strained from interfering with the order of battle, and
hurling the infantry, as usual, on the enemy's batteries,

is well known.
The day after the battle Sir Walter Gilbert left the camp

with 12,000 infantry, cavalry, and horse artillery, and

Pu it of
pursued the relic of the Sikh army, now reduced

the Sikhs to about 16,000 men, along the great high road
andAfghans.

^^ ^^^ Indus, with such rapidity as to allow them
no breathing time, and they sent Major George Lawrence,
who had been their prisoner since he left Peshawui", to

make terms with the general. On the 12th March Shere
Sing and Chutter Sing delivered up their swords to him at

the celebrated monument of Manikyla, once considered a

trophy of Alexander the Great ; thirty-five subordinate

chiefs laid their swords at his feet, and the Khalsa soldiers

advanced one by one, and, after clasping their weapons,
cast them upon the growing pile with a heavy sigh. It only

remained to dispose of the Afghans whom Dost Mahomed
had sent to co-operate with the Sikhs. The veteran Gilbert

followed them across the Indus, with the buoyancy of

youth, and chased them up to the portals of the Khyber,
and, as the natives sarcastically remarked, "those who had
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" rode down the hills like lions ran back into them like a.d.

" dogs." 1849

The battle of Guzerat decided the fate of the Punjab and
finally quenched the hopes of the Khalsa soldiers. It was
no ordinary distinction for that noble army to

^^nexaf
have met the conquerors of India successively at of the

Moodkee, at Ferozeshuhur, at Aliwal, at Sob- '^^i^^-

raon, at Chillianwalla, and at Guzerat ; but after six such

conflicts they resigned themselves with a feeling of proud
submission to the power which had proved stronger than
themselves, and there has never since been the slightest

attempt at disturbance. The Punjab was now, by the in-

defeasible right of a double conquest, after unprovoked
aggression, at the disposal of the British Government, and
as there was not time for any reference to the Court of

Directors, Lord Dalhousie annexed it to the Company's
dominions, in a proclamation which stated that, " as the only
" sure mode of protecting the Government of India from
" the perpetual recurrence of unprovoked and wasting wars,
" he was compelled to resolve on the entire subjugation of a
" people whom their own government had long been unable
" to control, whom no punishment could deter fromviolence,
" and no acts of friendship could conciliate to peace."

On the 29th of March the youthful maharaja Duleep Sing
took his seat for the last time on the throne of his father,

and in the presence of the high British functionaries and
the nobles of his court, heard Lord Dalhousie's proclama-
tion read, and then affixed his initials to the deed which
transferred the kingdom of the five waters to the Company,
and secured to himself an annuity of five lacs a year. The
British colours were hoisted on the ramparts, and a
royal salute announced the fulfilment of Runjeet Sing's

prediction that " the Punjab also would become red,"—in

aUusion to the colour which distinguishes the British pos-

sessions on the map of India. The jageers of the leaders of

the rebellion were confiscated, and they retired into oblivion

on small stipends. Moolraj, after a fair trial before a special

court, was sentenced to imprisonment for life, but died

within a short time. Lord Dalhousie was elevated to the

dignity of a Marquis, the fourth marquisate bestowed on
the Governors-General who had enlarged the Company's
territories. The reproach of Chillianwalla was forgotten

in the triumph of Guzerat, and Lord Gough received a
step in the peerage.

Lord Dalhousie, having thus annexed the Punjab to the
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A.D. Company's dominions, was determined to spare no pains to
'849 render our government a real blessing^ to the

).„ Aaministra- . ^, iifin t*.
r: tionofthe population. A noble Held was presented for the

Ptmjab.
construction of an administration free from the

errors committed in other provinces in the infancy of our
rule, and it was not neglected. A board was constituted

with ample powers, at the head of which was placed Sir

Henry Lawrence, one of the Company's great statesmen, a
fit successor of Ochterlony, and Munro, and Elphinstone,

and Metcalfe. With him Avas associated his brother Mr.
John Lawrence, who was subsequently rewarded with the

Governor-Generalship, aud Mr. Robert Montgomery. A
more efficient board it would have been difficult to con-

struct even in India. The administration was formed on
a new system, and entrusted to fifty- six officers, half ofwhom
wei'e military men and the other half civilians, the flower

of the service, men of mature experience, or of noble as-

pirations for distinction. The system of government was
well suited by its simplicity and vigour to the requirements
of the country. For the voluminous regulations which lay

like an incubus on the older provinces, a clear and concise

manual adapted to the habits of a people who courted

justice but dreaded law, was compiled by Mr. Montgomery,
and comprised in a few sheets of foolscap.

The north-west boundary of the empire was now re-

moved to the mountain range beyond the Indus, inhabited

Th bord ^^ tribes of highlanders, whose vocation, from
tribes and time immemorial, had been to levy black mail. To

protect the lowlanders from their raids, a chain

of fortifications was established on the line, fully

provisioned, and connected with each other by a series of

roads. Nine regiments were especially raised for duty on
these marches. Within six months of the conquest Lord
Dalhousie disarmed the Punjab, and 120,000 weapons of

every variety of form and character were surrendered. A
military police, consisting of six regiments of foot and
twenty-seven troops of horse, was organised. The ancient

institution of the village watch, paid by the people and
acting under local magnates, was revived in a more efficient

form. As the result of these admirable arrangements, it

was reported within three years that no province in India

was more free from crime than the Punjab.

The vital question of the land assessment, on which the

happiness, and, to a great extent, the loyalty, of the people

in the East depends, was dealt with in a spirit of wisdom

disarma-
raent.
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and liberality, and the egregious blunders committed in the a.d.

older provinces were carefully avoided. The set- 1849

tlement was formed on a minute and accurate
« revenue. U)^

investigation ; the land-tax was reduced in amount, and
leases were granted, which in some cases extended to thirty

years. The security of tenure and the moderation of the

rent gave such encouragement to agriculture that more
than 30,000 of the Khalsa soldiers exchanged the sword
for the plough. Lord Dalhousie was likewise resolved to

avoid the boundless irritation inflicted on the Gangetic

provinces for half a century by dallying with the question

of rent-free tenures ; every case was carefully examined
and satisfactorily and finally disposed of. The duties on
the transit of merchandise from district to district and
town to town—the great impediments of trade—were
swept away, and the loss was compensated by the scientific

selection of new taxes, four of which yielded a larger

return than forty-eight of Runjeet Sing's clumsy imposts.

The Board of Administration likewise put do^vn the sale

of children, which was all but universal, and thus ex-

tinguished domestic slavery, Dacoity was rife

when the Punjab came into our possession, but daLoity' and

the Board took the field against the criminals *^°^^-

with that exceptional energy for which the administration

of this province has always been distinguished, and in the

course of five years the country was more free from the

crime than Bengal after eighty-five years of our rule. The
thugs who had resorted to the Punjab, when driven out of

Hindostan and the Deccan by Colonel Sleeman, were
extirpated. Active measures were likewise adopted to

eradicate the practice of female infanticide.

Lord Dalhousie did not consider the conquest of the

Punjab complete till it was intersected with military roads,

and in the course of five years 2,200 miles were Roads and

either completed or under construction. Of these canals.

the most important was that which united Lahore with
Peshawur, a distance of 275 miles. It passed over more
than 100 great bridges and 450 of smaller dimensions, and
it penetrated six mountain chains ; all these obstacles

were overcome by Colonel Napier, since created Lord
Napier of Magdala, to whose skill and energy the Punjab
was indebted for those material improvements which gave
it the appearance of a Roman province. Lord Dalhousie,

moreover, considered that "of all works of improvement
" which could be applied to an Indian province, works of
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A.D. " irrigation were the happiest in -their effects on the physi-
1849 " cal condition of the people," and he directed all the canals

excavated by former rulers, Mahommedan and Sikh, to be
repaired, and others to be constructed with a liberal hand.
The greatest of Colonel Napier's works of irrigation was
the Baree Daoab canal, which with its branches extended
to the length of 465 miles, equal, if not superior to, the

longest European canal. Lord Dalhousie made the booi.

the more acceptable to the people by refusing to levy any
water-rate, as he considered that the state was fully repaid

by the increase of cultivation.

The government established in the Punjab was emphati-
cally Lord Dalhousie's own creation. The administrative

^ ^j. , and executive talent employed in the improve-
tbese ment of it had never been equalled in any othcT-
measures.

province, but it was his genius which gave ani-

mation to the whole system. He traversed the country in

every direction, and placed liimself in constant and un-

restrained communication with the public functionaries,

who were thus enabled to prosecute their labours without
oflBcial encumbrances. The administration embodied the

maturity of our experience in the science of Eastern govern-

ment, and rendered the Punjab the model province of India.

By these wise and beneficent measures the nation which
had recently been the great object of political anxiety

became one of the chief elements of our strength. The
brave soldiers who had shaken our power to its foundation

at Ferozeshuhur and Chillianwalla enlisted under our

banners, assisted in reconquering Delhi from the rebel

sepoys, marched up the Irrawaddy to fight the Burmese,
and aided in planting the English colours on the battle-

ments of Pekin.

There was peace for three years after the conquest of

the Punjab, and then came the unexpected and unwelcome

The cond
^^^ with the Burmese, who had been at peace

Bunnese with US for twenty-six years. In September the
war. European merchants at Rangoon transmitted a

memorial to the Government of India, complaining of

various acts of oppression, sometimes accompanied with

torture, which had been inflicted on them by the Burmese
authorities, and stating that, unless they could obtain pro-

tection, they must quit the country and sacrifice their

property. The Council in Calcutta—Lord Dalhousie being

up the country—came to the conclusion that British subjects

were entitled to British protection. Commodore Lambert,

1851
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commanding H.M, ship " Fox," who had recently arrived

in Calcutta, was sent to Rangoon to investigate the com-
plaints, and if they were substantiated, to forward a

communication from the Government of India to the king

demanding redress. The Ava cabinet replied that the

offending governor should be removed, and that due enquiry

should be made into the complaints of the merchants. The
governor, however, left Rangoon with ostentatious parade,

and his successor treated the British representative with

studied insolence, and refused to appoint any day for an
official audience. Captain Fishbourne therefore sent to a.d.

inform him that the deputation from the Government of 1852

India would wait on him at midday on the 6th January,

He proceeded at the appointed time with his suite to

Government House, but they were not permitted to

enter it and were detained in the sun by the menials who
declared that the governor was asleep and must not be dis-

turbed, whereas he was all the time looking at them through
the Venetian windows, and enjoying their mortification.

After waiting a quarter of an hour Captain Fishbourne re-

turned and reported the treatment he had received to the

Commodore. The mission had been entrusted to one of

Cromwell's ambassadors, " a sixty-four gun frigate, which
" spoke all languages and never took a refusal." The
Commodore immediately proceeded down the river to

establish a blockade, as he had been instructed to do, taking
away with him a merchant vessel belonging to the king.

On his way down a heavy fire was opened on him from the
stockades below Rangoon on both sides the river, which
the guns of the " Fox " demolished in a few minutes.

Lord Dalhousie was at the time in the north-west pro-

vinces, and apprehending from the aspect of the negotia-

tion that the Government was driftinef into a _ ,.o xrroc6euin£rs
war, hastened down to prevent it, and it was only of Lord

till the third application for redress had been ^^^'>^^-

treated with contempt that he came to the determination
to seek it by force of arms. " The Government of India,"

he said in his minute, "cannot consistently with its own
" safety appear for one day in an attitude of inferiority, or
" hope to maintain peace and submission among the num-
" berless princes and people embraced within the vast
" circuit of the empire, if for one day it give countenance
" to a doubt of the absolute superiority of its arms and of
" its continued resolution to maintnin it." The Commander-
in-Chief was in Sinde, and Lord Dalhousie was obliged to
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A.D. become his own war minister, and he astonished India by
18o2 the singular genius he displayed for military organisation.

The task before him was one of no ordinary difficulty. It

was the 10th February before the declaration of war was
issued and the preparations for the campaign commenced, and
it was of vital importance that Rangoon should be occupied
before the rains came on in the beginning of May. He had
two expeditions to despatch, one from Bengal and the other
from Madras ; the steamers were lying in the harbour of
Bombay, and there was no telegraph ; but his forethought
anticipated, and his energy supplied, every requirement.
He superintended every arrangement himself, and his

aides-de-camp were incessantly employed in Calcutta in

moving about from place to place to ensure promptitude
and efficiency in every branch of preparation. The Tenas-
serim provinces were drained of cattle and provisions

;

bakehouses were erected on the coast, and steamers sta-

tioned to convey bread and meat to the camp. The frame-
work of houses was constructed at Moulmein to afford

shelter to the troops when the monsoon set in, and a con-

valescent depot was established at Amherst, thirty miles

below Rangoon.
The land army amounted to 5,800 men, under the com-

mand of General Godwin, who had served in the first

Theexpedi- Burmese war, and it was strengthened by nine-
tionary teen steamers carrying 159 guns and manned by

2,200 sailors and marines. On the arrival of the

force in the Rangoon river, a flag of truce was sent up by a
steamer to receive the reply of the king to the latest letter

of the Governor-General, but it was fired upon, and the last

hope of a peaceful solution of the difficulty vanished. The
whole force took up a position in front of Rangoon on the

11th April. The great pagoda, the key of the enemy's
position, had been fortified with great skill, and it was de-

fended with more gallantry than the Burmese had exhibited

in the former war ; but nothing could withstand the fiery

valour of our soldiers, and the British colours were planted

on that noble temple after a short struggle. This was the

first, and almost the only military operation of the cam-
paign. The Burmese army was dispersed, and the people

returned to their houses and resumed their occupations.

The town was well supplied with provisions, and carpenters

from Pegu hastened to erect the wooden houses. The health

of the camp was little affected by the season ; the river was
crowded with shipping, and the port became a busy mart
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of commerce. But although General Godwin had a mag- a.i>.

nificent flotilla of steamers, and the complete command of ^^''-

the river, nothing could induce him to advance to Promo,

and Lord Dalhousie was obliged to proceed to Rangoon in

person, and insist on his moving up to occupy that im-

portant position ; it was captured with the loss of only one

man.
The king refused to hold any communication with Lord

Dalhousie, and he had now to consider the course he was

to pursue. The inhabitants of Pegu were Annexation

impatient to be released from the iron yoke of ofPLgu.

the Burmese, who had treated them with more than ordi-

nary cruelty since they were conquered. They entreated

to be taken under British protection, and Lord Dalhousie

determined at once to accede to their wishes and to annex
the province. In his minute on the subject he said, " In
" the earliest stage of the present dis[)ute I avowed my
" opinion that conquest in Burmah would be a calamity
" second only to the calamity of war ; but I have been
" drawn most reluctantly to the conclusion that no measure
" will adequately meet the object which, in my judgment,
" it is absolutely necessary to secure—the establishment of
" our security now and its maintenance hereafter—except
" the .seizure and occupation of a portion of the territories

" of the Burmah king(loni." The Court of Directors and
tlie Ministry concurred in this opinion, and on the 20th

December a proclamation was issued declaring that Pegu
was henceforth to be considered a portion of the British

dominions. No province has ever gained so much in so

short a period by annexation. The export and import trafiic

has increased from a few lacs to nine crores ; the people are

happy and contented, and would consider a change of

masters the greatest of calamities. The first Burmese war
had entailed an expenditure of thirteen crores ; the second

cost a little over one crore.

SECTION in.

I.OKD DAMIOUSIE's ADMINISTKATIOX—ANNKXATUiNS.

The confiscation of the Punjab and Pegu, like the annexa-

tions made during fifty years to the dominions of the

Company from the territories of Mysoiv, Sindia, Annexation

Nagpore, Holkar, and the Peshwa, followed the i'"''>^j-
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A.D. fortune of war, and were the natural consequence of un-
1848 provoked hostilities; but the absorption of Satara, Nag-

pore, and Jhansi was based on the failure of heirs, and the
assumed prerogative of the paramount power in India.

They constitute what has been termed the " annexation
" policy " of Lord Dalhousie, which has been compared to
" the acts of brigands counting out their spoil in a wood,
" rather than the acts of British statesmanship," and he
has been stigmatised as "the worst and basest of rulers."

To trace this policy to its origin, it is to be observed that,

seven years before his arrival, the Governor-General and
Council in 1841 recorded their unanimous opinion that
" our policy should be to persevere in the one clear and
" direct course of abandoning no just or honourable acces-
" sion of territory or revenue while all existing claims of
*' right are scrupulously respected." Lord Dalhousie, soon
after assuming the government, recorded his entire con-

currence in the views of his predecessors, and said that
" we were bound not to put aside or neglect such rightful
" opportunities of acquiring territory or revenue as may
" from time io time present themselves, by the failure of all

^^
" heirs of every description whatever, or from the failure of
" heirs natural ; but wherever a shadow of doubt can be
" shown the claim should be at once abandoned."
The principality of Satara, the first to which this prin-

ciple was applied, was created by Lord Hastings in favour

of the descendant of Sevajee on the absorption

of the Peshwa's dominions in 1819, and endowed
with a revenue of fifteen lacs a year. The raja died on the
5th ^pril, 1848, without issue. He had repeatedly applied

to the Resident for permission to adopt an heir, but had
been informed that it was not in his power to grant it. Two
hours before his death, a boy, previously unknown to him,
was brought in by hap-hazard ; the ceremony of adoption
was performed with the usual rites, and a royal salute was
fired. The adopted lad succeeded, as a matter of course, to

the personal property of the raja, but the question arose

whether he could succeed to the sovereignty without the

sanction of the British Government. Sir George Clerk,

the governor of Bombay, while admitting that the consent

of the paramount power was required by custom, main-
tained that the Government could not object to it without
injustice. His successor. Lord Falkland, concurred with
the other members of government in taking an opposite

view of the case. Mr. Willoughby, the ablest member of
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the Council, aflB.rmed that the confirmation of the para- ad
mount authority in India was essential to the validity of 1848

an adoption, according to custom so ancient and so uni-

vei*sal as to have all the effect of law, and he would not

allow states which, like Satara, had lapsed to us, to be per-

petuated by adoption. These conflicting opinions were
submitted to Lord Dalhousie, and after a diligent examina-

tion of precedents and documents, he recorded his entire

agreement with Mr. Willoughby's views, both on the

general principle and on the policy to be adopted in this

particular instance. The question was then referred to the

decision of the Court of Directors, together with all the

minutes recorded at Bombay and Calcutta. The Court,

with the concurrence of the Board of Control, communi-
cated for the guidance of the Government of India the

principle on which they were to act :
" By the general law

" and custom of India, a dependent principality, like that
" of Satara, cannot pass to an adopted heir without the
" consent of the paramount power . . . and the general
" interests committed to our charge are best consulted by
" withholding it."

About five years later a similar case turned up at Nagpore. 1,853

It has been already stated that, in consequence of the

treacherous attack of Appa Sahib on the Resi-

dency in 1817, the kingdom was forfeited, but
Lord Hastings generously restored it to the royal family.

The raja, who was childless, repeatedly resisted the earnest

advice of the Resident to adopt a son, and died in 1853
without any heir or successor, lineal, collateral, or adopted.

Lord Dalhousie recorded an elaborate minute on the subject,

remarking, "We have not now to decide any question which
" turns on the right of a paramount power to refuse con-
" firmation to an adoption by an inferior. The raja has
" died, and deliberately abstained from adopting an heir.

" The state of Nagpore, conferred on the raja and his heirs
" in 1818 by the British Government, has reverted to it on
" the death of the raja without an heir. The Government
" is wholly unfettered to decide as it may think fit ;

" and
he came to the conclusion that " the gratuitous alienation
" of the state of Nagpore in favour of a Mahratta youth was
" called for by no obligation of justice or equity, and was
" forbidden by every consideration of sound policy." The
Court of Directors signified their entire concurrence in the
annexation, and stated as the ground of their decision that

Nagpore was a principality granted after conquest by the
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favour of the British Government to the late raja on here-

ditary tenure. He had left no heir of his body ; there was
no male heir who by family or hereditary right could claim

to succeed him ; he had adopted no son ; there was not in

existence any person descended in the male line from the

founder of the dynasty, and they had no doubt of their

right to resume the grant.

A.D. The principality of Jhansi in Bundlecund was held by a
1851 cliief as a tributery of the Peshwa, whose rights in the

„ . province were ceded to the Company in 1817, and
Jnansi. ^ i-n- i- ii-ni- r^ -i i'Lord rLastmgs, to reward bun tor his fidelity,

declared the fief to be hereditary in his family. He died

in 1835, after having adopted a son, but Sir Charles Met-
calfe, then governor of Agra, declared that in the case of

chiefs who merely held lands or enjoyed revenues under
grants such as are issued by sovereigns to subjects, the

power which made the grant had a right to resume it on
failure of heirs male. He therefore refused to acknowledge
any right to bequeath the sovereignty by adoption, and
bestowed it on a descendant of the first chief. He died in

1853, having adopted a son on his death-bed, and his widow,
a woman of high spirit and great talent, demanded the

succession for the lad. Colonel Low, one of the members
of Council who had opposed the annexation of Nagpore,
recorded in his minute " the native rulers of Jhansi were
" never sovereigns; they were only subjects of a sovereign,
" first of the Peshwa, and latterly of the Company ; the
" Government of India has now a full right to annex the
" lands ofJhansi to the British dominions." Lord Dalhousie
stated that, as the last raja had left no heir of his body, and
there was no male heir of any chief or raja who hud ruled

the principality for half a century, the right of the British

Government to refuse to acknowledge the present adoption

was unquestionable. The Court of Directors took the same
view of the case, and Jhansi was incorporated in their

territories. During the mutiny the ranee took a fearful

revenge by putting eighty-three Europeans, men, women,
and children, to death in cold blood. To these three cases

of annexation, that of Oude has been added to swell the

condemnation pronounced on Lord Dalhousie's proceedings,

though it was efiected contrary to his advice, by the direct

orders of the Cabinet and the Court of Directors. On these

questions we leave the reader to form his own judgment
from the facts which we have thus placed before him.

It was during the administration of Lord Dalhousie, and
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with his full concurrence, that the dignity and privileges a.d.

of the nabob of the Carnatic were suppressed by Nabobs of
^^'^"

the Government of Madi-as. The Carnatic was theCamatic.

annexed to the Company's territories in 1801 by Lord
Wellesley, who allotted a sum of about seven lacs of rupees

a year for the support of the nabob and his household

;

but he distinctly excluded all allusion to heirs and succes-

sors. It was a personal settlement with a mediatized prince

;

the nabob enjoyed a titular dignity, received royal salutes,

and was placed above law. Two nabobs in succession had
left heirs at their death in 1819 and 1 825, and the Govern-
ment had allowed them to succeed to the title and the

advantages attached to it. The last nabob died childless

in 1853, and his uncle, Azim Jah, claimed the dignity and
immunities and allowances attached to the nabobship.

Lord Hari-is, the governor of Madras, pointed out in an
elaborate minute that the Government was not bound to

recognise a hereditary succession to this dignity, even of

direct heirs, still less of those who were only collateral.

He objected to the perpetuation of the nabobship, because
it was prejudicial to the public interests that there should

exist a separate authority in the town not amenable to law,

which, combined with the vicious habits of the palace, en-

couraged the accumulation of an idle and dissolute popula-

tion in the capital of the Presidency. The nabob's palace

was mortgaged, and his debts amounted to half a crore of

rupees. Lord Harris proposed that the annuities of the

Arcot family should cease, that the Government should

undertake to settle its debts and make a moderate allow-

ance to the uncle. Lord Dalhousie fully concurred in these

views, and the Court of Directors asserted that the rights

of the family were restricted to the prince who signed the

treaty in 1801.

The vexatious question of the Hyderabad contingent was 1853

brought to a satisfactory conclusion by the tact and resolu-

tion of Lord Dalhousie and the firmness and The Nizam
judgment of Colonel Low, the Resident at the andBerar.

Nizam's court. The origin of this force has been explained

in a former chapter. It was over-ofiicered and over-paid,

and formed a severe tax on the revenues of the state, but
the Nizam would not hear of its being reduced. Its allow-

ances had repeatedly fallen into arrears, when it became
necessary for the Resident to make advances from his

treasury, which the Nizam acknowledged as a debt bearing
interest. The territory of Hyderabad was sufficiently pro-
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A.D. ductive to provide for all the demands of the administration,
1853 but it was impossible to prevail on the Nizam to attend to

business; his debts amounted to three' crores, and the ex-

orbitant interest he was obliged to pay, combined with the

cost of a horde of 40,000 foreign mercenaries he persisted

in maintaining, devoured his resources. The Nizam had
from time to time made some payments towards the liquida-

tion of the debt incurred for the contingent, but by 1853 it

had again accumulated to half a crore of rupees. Lord
Dalhousie's patience was exhausted by four years of evasion,

and he determined to bring the question to an issue. He
proposed the draft of a treaty placing the contingent on a

definite and permanent footing, providing for its punctual

payment, and effecting an equitable settlement of arrears

by the transfer of territory yielding about thirty-six lacs a
year, which was less than the annual claim on the Nizam
by about six lacs. By this arrangement he was relieved

from a debt of half a crore ; but, however beneficial it might
be to his interests, he manifested a strong reluctance to

agree to it, and it was only on the importunity of his

ministers, and more particularly through the influence of a

favourite valet whom the ministers had bribed, that he was
induced to give his consent to it. The districts which he
ceded were those in West Berar, which Lord Wellesley had
generously given his ancestor for the very equivocal assist-

ance he had rendered in the war with the Mahrattas in

1803.

SECTION IV.

LORD dalhousie's ADMIXISTEATION—OUDE—SOCIAL AND
MATERIAL IMPROVEMENTS.

No province in India had suffered the afl9iction of misrule

for so long a period as Oude, and it was to be traced to the

_, presence of the British army, which effectually

misrule in protected the ruler from the indignation of his
^°^^-

subjects. The expostulations of Warren Hastings,

of Lord Comwallis, of Sir John Shore, and of Lord Hastings

had been totally unheeded. In 1831 Lord William Bentinck

assured the king, that unless prompt measures were adopted

to reform abuses and to give the people the benefit of good
government, the Company would assume the administration,

and reduce him to the same condition as the nabob of
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Moorshedabad. This remonstrance produced a slight re-

formation, but it was transient. Twelve years after Lord
Hardinge visited Lucknow and earnestly renewed the

i-emonstrance, assuring the king that, unless these reforma-

tions were carried out within two years, the government of

the whole country would be taken out of his han Is.

Colonel Sleeman, who was soon after appointed Resident, a.d.

was desired to make a tour through the country and ascer- ^^^^

tain whether any reform had been made in the
p^jj^^gj

administration. His report presented a dark sieeman's

record of crime and misery. The king main- '^P^^t-

tained a superfluous army of 70,000 men, who received

scanty and uncertain pay, and were driven to prey upon
the people. Their foraging parties indiscriminately plun-

dered the villagers of provisions, and brought away the

roofs and doors of the houses for fuel. It was impossible

to conceive a greater curse to a country than such a body
of disorganised and licentious soldiery. There were 246
forts or strongholds in the country, with 476 guns, held by
the higher class of landholders, chiefly Rajpoots. They
had converted large tracts of the most fertile land into

jungle, which became the haunts of lawless characters, who
levied heavy imposts on all traders and travellers. Within
sixteen miles of the capital one landholder had thus turned
thirty miles of rich land into jungle, and erected four forti-

fications within the circle. The king, immured in his

palace, was invisible except to his women, musicians, and
bufibons. The favourite fiddler had been appointed chief

justice ; the chief singer was de facto king. Every officer

on his appointment was required to pay heavy douceurs

to the king, to the heir-apparent, to the minister, in

fact, to whomever was supposed to have interest at court,

and he reimbursed himself by extortions from the people.

Colonel Sleeman—who was an impassioned foe to annex-

ation—stated in his report that, notwithstanding his

earnest desire to maintain the throne of Oude in its in-

tegrity, fifty years of experience had destroyed every hope
that the king would carry out a system of administration

calculated to secure life and property and to promote the

happiness of the people. "He did not think that, with a
" due regard to its own character as the paramount power
" in India, and the particular obUgations by which it was
" bound by solemn treaties to the sufiering people of this
" distracted country, the Government could any longer
*' forbear to take over the administration," in perpetuity

;

I I

V
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A.D. making suitable provision for the dignity and comfort of
1855 the king. General Outrara, who was equally desirous of

maintaining, if possible, the few remaining states in India,

was appointed Resident by Lord Dalhousie, and directed to

make a thorough inquiry into the condition of the people.

He stated that, not only was there no improvement, but no
prospect of any, and that the duty imposed on the Govern-
ment by treaty could no longer admit of its honestly in-

dulging the reluctance hitherto felt of having recourse to

the decisive measure of assuming the administration. He
asserted that it was at the cost of 5,000,000 people, for

whom we were bound to secure good government, that we
were upholding the sovereign power of this effete and in-

capable dynasty.

Lord Dalhousie drew up a comprehensive minute on the

subject, in which he analysed the evidence which had been
given during a long series of years of the gross

LonTcai- ^^^^ inveterate abuse of power in Oude, and the
honsie and opinions which had been recorded, without excep-

tion, of our obligation to afford relief to the
people. Were it not for the presence of our troops, he
said, the people would long since have worked their own
deliverance ; inaction on our part could no longer be justi-

fied. But, he added, the rulers of Oude, however unfaithful

to the trust conferred on them, have yet ever been faithful

and true in their allegiance to the British power, and they
have aided us as best they could in the hour of our utmost
need. Justice and gratitude require that, in ameliorating the

lot of the people, we should lower the dignity and authority

of the sovereign as little as possible. The prospects of the

people may be improved without resorting to so extreme a

measure as the annexation of the territory and the abolition

of the throne. " I do not therefore advise that Oude be
" declared a British province." He proposed that the king
should retain the sovereignty, that he should vest the whole

of the civil and military administration in the hands of the

Company, and receive an annual stipend for the support of

his honour and dignity. Of the members of Council, Mr.

—now Sir Barnes—Peacock coincided with Lord Dalhousie

;

Mr.—now Sir John—Grant, and governor of Jamaica,

recommended the incorporation of Oude with the British

territories ; and General Low, who had opposed the annexa-

tion of Nagpore, and who had, moreover, been Resident at

Lucknow, asserted that the disorders in the country were

of such long standing, and so inveterate, that there was no
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mode of maintaining a just government but by placing the a.d.

whole ofits territory exclusively and permanently under the 1 855

direct management of the East India Company.
Lord Dalbousie transmitted all these minutes, together

with the reports of Colonel Sleeman and General Outram,
to the Court of Directors, with whom, and with Annexation

the Ministry, rested the decision of this great ofOude.

question. After earnest deliberation for two months, they

came to the determination to overrule the advice of Lord
Dalhousie, and to adopt what he had endeavoured to dis-

suade them from—the annexation of the territory and the

abolition of the throne; and thus ended the sovereignty of 1856

the king of Oude, on whom an annuity of twelve lacs of

rupees a year was settled.

Loi'd Dalhousie's administration was rendered not less

memorable by his administrative reforms and by material

progress than by its political results. There was Administra-

no branch of the public service which his keen eye tive reforms.

did not penetrate, and into which he did not introduce im-

provements, the value of which has been gracefully acknow-
ledged even by his enemies. He had an insuperable aversion

to what he described as the cumbersome and obstructive

agency of boards, and he abolished them as far as possible,

and invigorated each department by unity of control and
responsibihty. Though a civilian, there was no portion of

the public service in which his reforms were more radical

and more beneficial than the army. He abolished the 1850

military board, and placed the multifarious duties which
had been thrust upon it, and which it was never able to

perform with efficiency, under the charge of single officers

of large experience. The board had been weighted with

the superintendence of all public works, and in no division

had its failure been more palpable. Lord Dalhousie

organised a public works department, with a separate

secretary, not only to the Government of India, but to each 1852

Presidency. The responsibility of management was vested

in a chief engineer, assisted by a body of executive officers

and subordinates. To secure the uninterrupted progress of

public works, which had previously been prosecuted by
spasmodic efforts, a schedule of those which were to be

executed during each year was to be submitted to Govern-
ment at the commencement of it.

The revenues of India were increased during Lord
Dalhousie's administration from twenty-six to thirty crores.

I I 'A
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A..D. The wars in which the Government of India had been en-
^^^S

T> eragred with little intermission for ten years, had
absorbed thirty crores, and entailed an annual

deficit, which, however, ceased with the cause of it, and
there was for a time the bright gleam of a surplus, but

it was extinguished two years after by the mutiny.

During the period of eight years now under review, the

commerce of Bombay was developed to an extraordinary

degree, and that of Calcutta was doubled, while the coast-

ing trade was Hberated from every obstruction, and ren-

dered more safe by the erection of lighthouses along the

coast.

1853 The importance of conferring on the comparatively poor
population of India the boon of cheap and uni-

ostage.
form postage which had long been enjoyed in

England, had been frequently discussed in a perfunctory

manner. . Lord Dalhousie took up the question with his

accustomed energy, and transmitted to Leadenhall Street

the proposal of establishing a uniform rate of half an anna,

or three-farthings, for every letter of a defined weight,

irrespective of distance, though in some cases it even ex-

ceeded two thousand miles. Tiie Court gave the same ready

and liberal sanction to this plan as they had, indeed done to

all his other great schemes of improvement. He likewise

procured a reduction of the rate of postage between
England and India, and took a national pride in an
arrangement which he said " would enable the Scotch
" recruit at Peshawur to write to his mother at John
" O'Groat's house for sixpence."

The Granges Canal was commenced long before Lord
Dalhousie's arrival, but it was advancing at so sluggish a

The Ganges p^ce, that the sum expended on it from the begin-
Canai. ning had not exceeded seventeen lacs of rupees.

He pressed it forward with unabated ardour, allowing no
financial pressure and no exigencies of war to interrupt

its progress ; and the sum appropriated to it in six years

exceeded a crore and a half of rupees. The main stream

1854 was opened by Mr. Colvin, the lieutenant-governor of

Agra, in March 1854. This gigantic undertaking which
was designed and completed by the late Sir Proby Cautley,

stands among the noblest efforts of civilisation. It nearly

equals the aggregate length of all the lines of the four

greatest canals of France, and is five times longer than all

the main lines in Lombardy.
The system of railroads which is working a greater and

more beneficial change in the social, political, and com-
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mercial interests of India than has been known at any-

former period, is due to the exertions of Lord
DalhoTisie. The first railway was projected by-

Sir Macdonald Stephenson in 1843, and received great en-

couragement from Mr, Wilberforce Bird, when officiating

as governor-general, and subsequently from Lord Hardinge,

but the commercial disasters of 1846 and 1847, and the

reluctance of English capitalists to embark in an unexplored

field of enterprise in India, baffled the undertaking. The
indefatigable zeal of Sir Macdonald succeeded at length

in forming the East India Railway Company, and Sir a.d.

James Hogg, a member of the Court of Directors, prevailed 1848'

on his colleagues, though not without great difficulty, to

guarantee a rate of interest sufficient to raise the capital.

Two short and experimental lines at Calcutta and at

Bombay were sanctioned, but as numerous applications for

similar concessions poured in upon the India House, the

Conrt had the wisdom to refer them to the consideration

of Lord Dalhousie, with the intimation of their wish " that
" India should, without unnecessary loss of time, possess
" the immense advantage of a regular and well-devised
" system of railway communications."
The question could not have been placed in the hands of

one better qualified to do justice to it. He had presided at

the Board of Trade for several years during the j^^^
most active period of railway enterprise, and Daihousie's

had become complete master of the principles
^^^^

and details of railway economy. To this pre-eminent ad-

vantage he added large and comprehensive views of policy.

In the elaborate minute he transmitted to the Directors on
the 20th April, 1853, which became the basis of the rail- i8o3

way system of India, he expressed his hope that the limited

section of experimental line hitherto sanctioned would no
longer form the standard for railway works in India. A
glance at the map, he said, would suffice to show how im-
measurable would be the political advantages of a system
of internal communication by which intelligence of every
event should be transmitted to the Government at a speed
fivefold its present rate, and enable the Government to

bring the main bulk of its military strength to bear upon
any given point in as many days as it now requires months.
The commercial and social advantages of the rail were
beyond all calculation. " A system of railways judiciously
" selected and formed would surely and rapidly give rise in
" this empire to the same encouragement of enterprise, the
" same multiplication of produce, the same discovery of
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A.D. " latent forces, and the same increase of national wealth that
1853 " have marked the introduction of improved and extended

" communications in the various kingdoms of the Western
" world. With the aid of a railway carried up to the
" Indus, the risk involved in the extension of our
" frontier to a distance of 1,500 miles from the capital
" would be infinitely diminished. Peshawur would, in fact,

" be reached in less time and with greater facility than
" Moorshedabad, though only seventy miles distant from
" Calcutta, in the days of Clive." He then proceeded to

lay down a system of railways for the whole continent

which should connect the Presidencies with each other

and form the great trunk lines. He advocated the construc-

tion of the lines by public companies, sustained by a State

guarantee and controlled, directly but not vexatiously, by
the Government of the country, acting in the interests ot

the public on the principle for which he had contended,

though in vain, when at the Board of Trade.

1862 Another boon conferred on India by Lord Dalhousie
was the electric telegraph, created by the enterprising

The Electric Spirit of Mr.—now Sir William—O'Shaugh-
Teiegraph. nessy. After a series of experiments he succeeded
in laying down a line from Calcutta to the sea at KedgereC;
which, by expediting the communication of intelligence,

was found to be of eminent service during the Burmese
war, when hours were invaluable. Lord Dalhousie lost no
time in sending Mr. O'Shaughnessy to England with a

letter to the Court of Directors, stating that the success of

this experiment had added intensity to his desire to bring

the various sections of the empire into communication with
each other by telegraphic wires, and he made it his earnest

personal solicitation that they would authorise the imme-
diate construction of them, "Everything," he added,
" moves faster nowadays all the world over, except the
" transaction of Indian business." Happily Sir James
Hogg occupied the chair at the India House, and he took

the same interest in the promotion of the telegraph as he
had done of the rail. The proposal was carried through the

various official stages with such promptitude that, within a

week of the arrival of Lord Dalhousie's communication,

the despatch sanctioning the establishment of the telegraph

was on its way to India. The wires have now been spread

over the country, and have fully answered the hopes of the

(tovemor-General, by increasing the security of the

empire, and augmenting the facilities for governing it ten-
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fold. Even his most ambitious expectations have been rea-

lised by the progress of science. " It may yet be hoped,"

he wrote, " that the system of electric telegraphs in India
" may one day be linked with those which envelope Europe
"and which already seek to stretch across the Atlantic."

Not only is the Government of India in daily communica-
tion with the home authorities, but on a recent occasion a

complimentary message from the Governor-General at

Simla to the President of the United States reached Wash-
ington and was acknowledged in three hours. It cannot,

however, but be considered a fortunate, not to say a provi-

dential, circumstance that the submarine telegraph was not
in existence before the conquest of India had been com-
pleted, and Peshawur had become the frontier station of
the empire. Considering the inveterate repugnance of the

Court of Directors and of the Board of Control to any
increase of territory whatever, it is manifest that, if such
facilities of communication had existed at a more early

|)eriod, there would have been no Indian empire to govern.
Lord Dalhousie embarked for England on the 6th a.d.

March, 1856. The population of the metropolis, moved by 1856

a feeling of admiration of the sfreat ruler who had ^
. Ch&T&CtBT of

enlarged, consolidated, and improved the empire. Lord Dai-

crowded the plain to testify their regret at his
^^^fcration

departure. Eight years of incessant toil had ex-

hausted his constitution, and, after a lingering illness of

four years, he sank into the grave, on the 19th December,
1860, at the premature age of forty-eight. His adminis-

tration forms one of the most important eras in the history

of British India. His plans were always broad and com-
prehensive, and bore the stamp of solid improvement, and
not of mere sensational innovation. With a clear intellect

and a sound and independent judgment, he combined great

tirmness of purpose and decision of character. If he
exacted the rigid performance of duty from those under
him, he set them the example by his own intense application

to public business, to which, by a noble devotion, he sacri-

ficed leisure, ease, comfort, and even health. Every
question that came before him was investigated with
patience and diligence, and with a scrupulous desire .to

arrive at a right decision. He marshalled with great im-
partiality all the arguments on both sides of any subject,

and adduced weighty reasons whatever the decision he
formed, the soundness of which was rarely questioned by
his colleagues or the public. Among the governors-general
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he stands on the same pedestal with Warren Hastings and
Lord Wellesley, and his pubhc character, Hke theirs, has had
to pass through the ordeal of obloquy. It was twenty-seven

years after the House of Commons had impeached Warren
Hastings that the members rose in a body to pay sponta-

neons homage to his merits as he entered their chamber in

1813. It was thirty years before the Court of Directors,

who had treated Lord Wellesley as a criminal, assured him
that he " had been animated by an ardent zeal to promote
" the welfare of India, and to uphold the interests and
" honour of the British empire, and that they looked back
" to the eventful and brilliant period of his government
" with feeKngs common to their countrymen." Lord Dal-

housie's acquittal may perhaps be longer delayed, but it is

not the less certain. The only indictment against him is

his annexation policy, as it is called, which was hastily pro-

nounced to have been the cause of the mutiny ; and it was
inevitable that the feelings of indignation which its atro-

cities created should be in some measure transferred to

the individual who was charged with having occasioned it.

The great merits of his administration cannot, therefore, be
fully appreciated till the voice of posterity has removed this

reproach from it.

A.D. The Charter of 1833 expired in 1853, and a strenuous
1853 effort was made to wrest the government of India from the

The Charter East India Company, but the Whig Ministry de-
ofi853. termined to continue it in their hands, not,

however, as formerly, for any definite period, but until

Parliament should otherwise ordain. The India Bill was
introduced by Sir Charles Wood, the President of the
Board of Control, in a lucid speech of five hours ; which,
considering that he came into office only five months before,

a stranger to Indian affairs, exhibited no ordinary talent,

and held out the prospect ofan enlightened and vigorous ad-

ministration, which was subsequently realised to the fullest

extent. The chief modifications were three. The number
of the Court of Directors was reduced from thirty to eigh-

teen, and the elimination was effected by a most ingenious
process of balloting, devised by the secretary. Sir James
Melvill. Of the reduced number a certain proportion was
to be nominated by the Crown. Under the old system,
many of the most eminent of the public servants in India
were excluded from the Direction on their return to Eng-
land, owing to their invincible repugnance to a laborious and
humiliating course of canvassing ; but the Minister was now



SiscT. IV.l THE CHAETEK OF 1853 489

enabled at once to avail himself of their invaluable assist- a.h.

ance. The government of Bengal and Behar, moreover, 1853

was entrusted to a separate Lieutenant-governor. The
administration of these provinces, containing a population

of more than fifty millions, and contributing one-third of

the revenues of the empire, had down to this period been
imposed on the Governor-genertll ; and, whenever he was
absent, which was generally one-half his time, it devolved

on the senior member of Council, who sometimes happened
to be a military officer rewarded for services in the field,

and, in one instance, for reforming the Madras Commis-
sariat. Under this anomalous system there had been no
fewer than ten governors and deputy-governors of Bengal
in the course of eleven years. Throughout this period of

perpetual change and inevitable weakness the post of

secretary was occupied by Mr.—now Sir Frederick

—

Halliday, and it was owing to his great local knowledge and
experience, and to his sound judgment and diligence, that

the administration exhibited any degree of energy or con-

sistency. His eminent services were rewarded by the first

appointment to the. Lieutenant-governorship, By a third

provision of the Charter, the patronage of the Civil Service

was withdrawn from the Court of Directors to make way
for the principle of nnreserved competition.

CHAPTEE XV.

SECTION L

tORD canning's administration—THE MUTINY—MEERDT

—

DELHI—THE PUNJAB.

Lord Dalhousie was succeeded by Lord Canning, the 1856

thirteenth and last of the Governors-general of the East
India Company, and the first viceroy of the LordCan-
Queen. His father, George Canning, was ap- ninggover-

pointed governor-general in 1822, but did not
embark. He himself had sat in the House of Lords for

twenty years, and filled several offices of state, and had thus

acquired a good store of official experience. At the vale-

dictory banquet given to him by the Court of Directors
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he uttered these memorable expressions :
—" I wish for a

" peaceful time of oflBce ; but I cannot forget that in the sky
" of India, serene as it is, a small cloud may arise no larger
" than a man's hand, but which, growing larger and larger,
" may at last threaten to burst, and overwhelm us with
"ruin." The succeeding narrative will show how pro-

phetic this enunciation proved to be. His administration

was marked by a series of events ofunexampled magnitude
—the mutiny and extinction of an army of 150,000 sepoys,

— the wholesale massacre of Europeans, men, women and
children—the loss and recovery of the North-West pro-

vinces—the dissolution of the East India Company, and the

annexation of the empire of India to the Crown.
A.n. Lord Canning landed in Calcutta on the last day of
1856 February 1856, and for a fortnight enjoyed the benefit of

intercourse with Lord Dalhousie, who believed

of disaffec- that India was in a state of profound tranquillity,
tion.—Oude. ^g ^j^g year wore on, however, the elements of

disquietude, though not of immediate danger, began to

make their appearance. The deposed king of Oude was
allowed to take up his residence in the suburbs of Calcutta,

and his emissaries were actively employed in diffusing a feel-

ing of hostility to the British Government in and around the

metropolis. The chief commissionership of Oude had un-

fortunately been given to a civilian, Mr. Coverley Jackson,

who was utterly unfit for such a post. Instead of labour-

ing to reconcile the chiefs and people to a foreign rule, as

Outram and Sleeman would have laboured to do, his time

was passed in unseemly squabbles with his subordinates,

and in sowing the dragon's teeth of rebellion among the

proud aristocracy of the country by a wanton and disas-

trous interference with the tenures of their estates.

In the old Mahomedan capital of India, in which the

royal family had been injudiciously permitted to keep up a

Discontent mimic court, the proceedings of Government
at Delhi. arouscd a strong feeling of animosity. Contraiy

to the advice of some of the venerable members of the

Court of Directors, the Board of Control had determined to

remove the family from Delhi ; and, on the death of the

king Bahadoor Shah, to discontinue the royal title and
immunities. From a feeling of deference to the strong re-

monstrances of the Directors who had opposed this

measure. Lord Dalhousie had postponed taking action upon
it, and it was left to the consideration of Lord Canning,

who at once adopted the conclusion that the palace of
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Delhi, which was a mile in circumference and the citadel of a.d.

a fortified town, and which was urgently required for mili- 1856

tary purposes, should be in the hands of the Government
of the country. A communication to this effect was made
to the king, who was likewise informed that his son

Mahomed Korash would be recognised as his successor, but

without the title of king. His young and favourite wife,

Zeenut Mehal, was anxious to secure the succession for her

own son, and resented his exclusion, and not less the loss

of the regal dignity and privileges of the family. She set

every engine at work to create a hostile excitement against

the British Government in the Mahomedan community, not

only of Hindostan, but also of the Deccan, and extended

her intrigues to Persia, then at war with England.

Rumours were at the same time disseminated that Lord
Canning had arrived with orders from the Queen of

England to enforce the profession of Christianity on the

natives of India. There was likewise a prophecy abroad at

the time that the Company's raj, or rule, was to last only

a hundred years, and 1857 was the centenary of Plassy.

This prediction was industriously propagated, and tended,

as in other cases, to promote its own fulfilment, by creating

an impression that the fate of the British Government was
subject to the inevitable law of destiny. There can be
little doubt that towards the close of 1856 the public mind
had become unsettled, and that a vague apprehension of

some portentous event was generally diffused through the

community.
The native soldiery of India, whether under their native

princes or under our own flag, had never been exempt from
a spirit of insubordination. Sindia, Holkar, and The native

the other Mahratta rulers had been repeatedly »"»?•

subject to coercion by their mutinous soldiers. Runjeet
Sing declared that he dreaded his own victorious troops

more than he feared his enemies. In the Company's army,
from the first mutiny in 1764 at Buxar to the latest in 1850
at Shikarpore, there had been a constant succession of out-

breaks more or less formidable. In 1856 there were two
especial causes of annoyance calculated to disquiet the minds
of men whom we had been accustomed to pamper. More
than forty thousand of the sepoys were recruited from Oude,
and with the view of attaching them to our service, they
had enjoyed the privilege of having their lawsuits decided
before otherp, on the production of a rescript from their com-
manding officers. This exclusive privilege, which gave
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A.T). them importance in tteir native villages, was lost on the
1856 annexation of the country, and it created a feeling of dis-

content. Moreover, only six of the Bengal regiments were
enlisted for foreign service, and in 1856 Government pro-

mulgated an order that in future the services of no recruit

would be accepted who did not engage to embark when
required. The order was as reasonable as it was necessary,

but it produced a deep feeling of dissatisfaction in every

regiment. The Company's military service was considered

both anhonourable and an hereditary profession ; but under
the new rule the sons and nephews of the high-caste sepoys

who were waiting for vacancies must either forego the

service altogether, or defile their caste by crossing the
" black water."

It is questionable, however, whether the disaffection ex-

cited by the two royal families of Oude and Delhi, or even

The greased the discontent of the sepoys, would have culmi-
cartridges. natcd in the revolt of the whole army, and the

barbarities which accompanied it, but for the unexpected
incident of the greased cartridges, which proved a god-send

to the enemies of Government. It had been determined to

supersede the old infantry musket by an improved descrip-

tion of fire-arm with a grooved bore, which could not be

loaded without lubricating the cartridge. Dumdum, in the

neighbourhood of Calcutta, was one of the schools of mus-
ketry for instruction in the use of the Enfield rifle. Early

1857 in January 1857 a low-caste man employed in the magazine
meeting a brahmin sepoy, asked him for a drink of water

from his brass water-flask, and was refused on the ground
of his caste ; upon which he remarked that " high caste and
" low caste would soon be on an equality, as cartridges
" smeared with beef fat and hog's lard were being made up
" at the magazine which all the sepoys would be compelled
" to use." The alarm spread hke wild fire among the

sepoys at Dumdum and through the four regiments at

Barrackpore. The emissaries of the king of Oude in-

dustriously circulated a report that, in prosecution of a long

cherished design, the Government, under special instruc-

tions from England, had caused the cartridges to be greased

with ingredients which would defile both Hindoos and
Mahomedans, as a preliminary to their forcible conversion

to Christianity. A frantic feehng of terror and indignation

spread through the regiments, which was evinced by the

incendiary fires which from night to night destroyed the

officers' bungalows and the public buildings.

As soon as the excitement created bv the rumour of the
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greased cartridges became known to the Government in a.d.

Calcutta active measures were taken to allay it.
^j^^g^^

^837

Telegraphic messages were despatched to all the to aiiay

stations up the country to issue the cartridges excitement.

free from grease. At Bai'rackpore the sepoys were assured

by General Hearsay, who had acquired great influence over

them, that there was no cause for alarm, that the Govern-
ment never had any design on their caste, that no greased

cartridges had been issued, and that they might lubricate

their own cartridges with bees' wax. But they were beyond
the reach of reason, and it was found impossible to dis-

abuse them. When it was demonstrated to them that

there was no grease in the cartridges, they afiirmed that the

paper itself which had a glossy appearance, was polluted.

The public post was laden with their letters, and in a
few days every regiment throughout Hindostan was in-

fected with the same feeling of alarm and passion. The
little cloud was " growing larger and larger," and threa-

tening to " burst and overwhelm the Government with
ruin."

At the time when the peril of the empire was thus in

the extreme, the usual means of confronting it were
wanting, India had been in a great measure p -^

^

stripped of the European force which was now European

urgently required to control an infatuated and in- ^^°°p^-

furiate native army. Regiment after regiment had been
withdrawn from the country in spite of the remonstrances

of Lord Dalhousie, who was constrained at length to in-

form Lord Palmerston that he could not be responsible for

the safety of the empire if any more European troops were
withdrawn

;
yet four more were sent to Persia after he had

retired from the country. Instead of the safe proportion

of one European to three native regiments, which the tra-

dition of half a century had established, there was at this

time, little more than a single regiment to ten native corps

between Calcutta and Agra, Lord Lawrence indeed
affirmed that, " if there had been 5,000 more Europeans, it

" is certain that the mutiny would not have happened

;

" but the natives thought the country was quite denuded
" of troops." When the crisis appeared imminent Lord
Canning sent round to Rangoon for the 84th, and, on its

arrival, ventured to bring down and disband the 19th,

which had mutinied at Berhampore.
The month of April passed with little disturbance, but

in great disquietude. It afterwards transpired that a
general conspiracy had been organised throughout the
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A.i>. sepoy army, for the simultaneous revolt of every regiment
1857 at every station in Hindostan, on the evening

mutiny at of the last Sunday in May, at the hour of
Meernt. church Service, when all the Europeans were to be
massacred without regard to sex or age ; but an unexpected
transaction at Meerut led to a premature outbreak. It was
the largest and most important military station in the

North-West provinces, and also the head-quarters of the

artillery, and any movement in it was sure to exercise a
powerful influence at other stations. There the ordnance
department had been employed in making up the greased
cartridges under the eyes of the sepoys. The general ex-

citement which pervaded the cantonment and the sur-

rounding country was constantly fomented by fresh and
more alarming lumours. It was asserted that the flour

in the bazaars had been mixed up with ground bones, and
that even the salt had been polluted. No lie was too absurd
to be believed. It was manifest that the enemies of

Government had taken advantage of the existing agitation

to inflame the minds of the sepoys, and to convulse the

country. Foremost among these conspirators in the North-
West was Doondhoo Punt, commonly known as Nana
Sahib, the adopted son of the ex-Peshwa Bajee Rao, who,
during his residence at Bithoor, had received through his

annuity an aggregate sum of two crores and a half of

rupees, the greater portion of which he had bequeathed to

the Nana. He had the effrontery to demand a continuance
of the pension of eight lacs of rupees a year, which was
necessarily refused him, and he vowed vengeance on the

Government, and during the early part of the year was
found travelling about in Oude and other districts sowing
the seeds of revolt.

The troopers of the 3rd Cavalry at Meerut, chiefly

Mahomedans, were the first to break out into open mutiny.

The 3rd It was explained to them on parade that they
Cavalry. "were not required to bite the cartridges, but
simply to pinch off" the end ; but of the ninety men to whom
the cartridges were offered on the 24th April, eighty-five

refused to touch them, and were ordered to be brought to

a court-martial. The court was composed of fifteen native

officers of artillery, cavalry, and infantry, and by the vote of

fourteen the troopers were found guilty of disobedience of

orders, and sentenced to hard labour for ten years. On
the morning of the 9th May, in the presence of their fellow-

soldiers drawn up on parade, their uniform was stripped
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off their backs, and shackles affixed to their ankles. Some a.d.

of them were the flower of the regiment, and had served J 857

the state in many campaigns, and they implored the

general to have mercy on them, and not subject them to

so ignominious a doom. To the feeling of alarm for their

caste in the minds of the sepoys was now added a feeling

of burning wrath as they saw their comrades marched off

to gaol like the meanest felons. The whole transaction

exhibited a spirit of incomprehensible infatuation on the

part of the military authorities of the station as well as of

the commander-in-chief.
The next day, Sunday, the 10th May, as the Europeans

were proceeding to church in the evening, the native troops

broke out. The troopers of the 3rd Cavalry hast- The outburst

ened to the gaol, which was guarded only by oftheioth

sepoys, and liberated their companions. The in-
*^*

fantry and the cavalry, the Hindoos and the Mahomedans,
made common cause, and massacred • all the Europeans
without distinction of age or sex whom they could find.

Half a century before Colonel Gillespie, with a regiment of

dragoons and some galloper guns, had at once quelled the
Vellore mutiny and saved the Deccan. The European force

at Meerut consisted of a battalion of riflemen, a regiment of

dragoons, and a large force of European artillery ; and the

exercise of similar promptitude would have saved Meerut
at once, and checked the principle of revolt in its infancy.

But the commander of the division. General Hewitt, was a
superannuated officer, inert and imbecile, of unwieldy bulk,

and the last man who ought to have been entrusted with
the charge of so important a station at such a crisis. The
night was passed in burning down the residences of the

officers and Europeans, and the massacre of the Christians,

without any attempt to check it. The women and children

who sought refuge in the gardens were tracked out and
shot amidst the yells of the mutineers. " The sweepings
" of the gaols and the scum of the bazaars, all the rogues
" and ruffians of Meerut and the robber-tribes of the
" neighbouring villages, were let loose, plundering and
" destroying wherever an English bungalow was to be
" gutted and burnt."

In the morning it was found that the mutineers had
started on the road to Delhi. Had the carabineers and
the horse artillery been instantly despatched after Atrocities at

them, they might have reached the city, only ^'''''*-

forty miles distant, in time to save the lives of the Euro-
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A.D. peans there, and to hold the mutiny in check, even if they
1^57 had not overtaken and cut up the mutinous regiments

on the route ; but the wretched Hewitt simply sent his

cavalry out to reconnoitre. The 3rd Cavalry was speedily

followed by the infantry, and being joined by the 38th, on
duty in the city, began the work of destruction and murder.
The commissioner, the chaplain and his daughter, and the

European officers in the city were massacred. The Delhi

bank was gutted and all its inmates slaughtered. The
magazine, the largest in the North-West, with its vast

supplies of gunpowder, was defended by only nine Euro-
pean officers and a few treacherous natives. The mutineers

applied scaling ladders to the walls, and were streaming

over them, when Lieut. Willoughby applied the torch to

the train he had laid, and blew it up to prevent its falling

into the hands of the enemy, and with it hundreds of the

mutineers. None of these brave officers expected to sur-

vive the explosion, and the sacrifice of their own lives in

the service of their country was an act of distinguished hero-

ism ; but four of them happily survived the catastrophe.

The city was now completely in the hands of the in-

surgents. The Etu-opeans who had taken refuge at the

main guard were shot down by volleys from the

tion of the 38th. The cantonment which was immediately
^^^' beyond the walls contained two sepoy regiments,

who rose npon the officers, set fire to their houses, and
turned ("he guns upon them. Some of them and their wives
succeeded in making their escape, and many a tale is re-

corded of the heroic bearing of dehcate ladies, some of

them with children in their arms, as, under the burning
sun of May, they sought refuge in the jungles or waded
through streams with scanty clothing and little food.

Meanwhile the European and East India women and
children in the city, about fifty in number, were seized, and
after five days of barbarous treatment, taken into a court-

yard of the palace, when a rope was thrown round them to

prevent their escape, and they were one and all murdered.
Not a European was now left in Delhi. The sepoys then

proceeded to offer the sovereignty to the king, which he
formally accepted. An old silver throne was brought
into the hall of audience, on which he took his seat, under a

salute of twenty-one guns, and received public homage, and
began to issue royal mandates.

The wire flashed down to Calcutta the portentous intel-

ligence of the mutiny at Meerut, the loss of Delhi, and the
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establishment of a Mogul dynasty. Lord Canning immedi- a.d.

atelv sent to Madras, to Ceylon, and to Bombay for „ ^ 1867
•' .,-11-1-, •

i_ Ai Movements
every available European regiment, A steamer of Lord Can-

was despatched to intercept Lord Elgin on his ^"^^•

mission to China, and entreat him to forward to Calcutta

the European force which accompanied him, and orders

were issued to despatch the troops returning from the

Persian expedition to Calcutta as fast as they arrived.

The telegraph gave immediate notice of the crisis at

Meerut to the officers in the Punjab. The number of

European troops in the province was about 10,000, .

and of Sikhs 13,000, but they were outnumbered in the

by the Hindostanee sepoys, all ripe for revolt. i''">iab.

The strength of the Punjab consisted, however, not so much
in the large collection of European soldiers, as in the body
of able men in charge of the government. It was con-

sidered Lord Dalhousie's "pet province," and he had
drained the older provinces of their best officers to enrich

its establishments. Never since the introduction of British

power into India had so large a number of statesmen and
generals of the first order been collected together in the

administration of any province. At the head of this galaxy

of talent stood Sir John Lawrence, a tower of strength,

with a genius for military organization, although a civilian,

second only to Lord Wellesley and Lord Dalhousie ; while

among the foremost of his assistants were Robert Mont-
gomery, Donald Macleod, Herbert Edwardes, Neville Cham-
berlain, and above all John Nicholson, But it is not easy

to select any names without doing injustice to other dis-

tinguished men, civil and military, whose zeal, devotion,

and energy achieved the success of which their country is

justly proud. For the detail of their exploits the reader is

referred to Kaye's standard "History of the Sepoy War,"
Cut off from all communication with the Government of

India in the capital, they were constrained to act on their

own judgment and responsibility ; and when the vigour of

their proceedings is contrasted with the official feebleness

too visible in Calcutta, this isolation cannot but be con-
sidered a fortunate circumstance.

In the cantonment of Lahore there were three regiments
of native infantry and one of cavalry waiting only for the
post to bring them information of the hostile

g^ .
,.

movement at Meerut to follow the example. They arS«fat

were counterpoised by only one European regi- ^^'^^re.

ment and two troops of European horse-artillery. Sir Jolin

K K

k
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A.D. Lawrence was absent at RawxJ Pindee, recruiting his
1867 health, and Mr. Robert Montgomery was at the head of

aiFairs at the station when intelligence was received by
wire on the 11th May of the revolt at Meerut, and on the

12th that Delhi was in the hands of the rebels, and it was
resolved to deprive the regiments of theu* arms the very
next morning. A ball had been fixed for the night of the

12th, and it was deemed advisable not to abandon it, lest a

feeling of suspicion should be created in the minds of the

sepoys. The officers moved from the ball-room to the

parade, where the unsuspecting troops were drawn up as

on ordinary occasions. The European regiments and the

guns were suddenly wheeled into a commanding position,

and the disafiected regiments, seeing that any attempt at

resistance must be fatal to them, obeyed the order to pile

arms, and Lahore was saved by the energy of Mr Mont-
gomery and Brigadier Corbett and Colonel Renney.

In the same spirit of promptitude the important fortress

of Govindgurh which commanded Umritsir, the ecclesiastical

^ ,. capital of the Punjab, was secured. The sfreat

at other magazines of Ferozepore and Phillour, were in
stations. ^-^q manner saved from the mutineers, though
not without difficulty. In the valley of Peshawur, across

the Indus, there were about 2,000 European troops, and
four times that number of native sepoys. The possession

of it was considered essential to the security of the Punjab
;

and the officers in charge of it, Edwardes, Sydney Cotton,

Chamberlain, and Nicholson, were equal to any emergency.
At the first council which they held. Colonel Edwardes de-

clared that " whatever gave rise to the mutiny, it had
" settled down into a struggle for empire under !Mahomedan
"guidance, with the Mogul capital for its centre," and it

was resolved to form a movable column of reliable troops,

under a competent commander, to act wherever there was
danger. On the 22nd, the four regiments of native infantry

stationed there were taken by surprise as they were on the

point of mutiny, and disarmed. This master stroke of

poKcy produced a magical efieet on the people and chiefs in

the valley, which was enhanced soon after when a number
of the fugitives of the mutinous 55th, which had been dis-

persed and cut up by Colonel Nicholson, were blown away
from the guns on the Peshawur parade. At other stations,

however, there was not the same prudence and success.

Brigadier Johnson, another imbecile like Henatt, allowed

Loodiana to be plundered, and three regiments from JuUun-
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der and Phillour to escape with their arms to Delhi. The a.d.

14th at Jhelum was found to be ready for revolt, and a 1857

force was sent by Sir John Lawrence to disarm them, but
the commandant disobeyed his instructions, and a fierce

engagement ensued, in which the sepoys had the advantage
and made their escape. The news of this transaction em-
boldened the disaffected regiments at Sealkote to rise on
their officers, and, as usual, they threw open the gaol,

plundered the treasury, gutted the houses of the European
inhabitants, and marched on to Delhi, but retribution was
not far off. Colonel Nicholsonwho had taken the command
of the movable column, after having by his energy and
skiU disarmed three more regiments, marched with the

utmost speed on the insurgents regardless of the insuffer-

able heat, and completely routed them. All their baggage,
and their ammunition, together with the spoils of Sealkote,

fell into his hands and they fled, leaving 400 dead and
wounded on the field. These energetic measures gave
security for the time to the Punjab.

Within a month of the outbreak at Meerut there was
scarcely a regiment between the Sutlej and Allahabad which
had not revolted. The sepoys gravitated to Delhi

as the seat of the new government, and the re- abandon

capture of it became the more urgent as it became Peshawar.

more arduous. Sir John and his associates directed their

whole attention to the despatch of men and materials to the
siege, but, with the means at his disposal and the local

demands on them, the task appeared so difficult that he
proposed to place Peshawur and the province lying beyond
the Indus in the hands of Dost Mahomed, and thus obtain
the valuable services of the European troops stationed

there. The measure was strenuously opposed by Colonel
Edwardes and his gallant companions, and referred to

Lord Canning on the lOth June. His reply, " hold on at
" Peshawur to the last," was dated the 15th July, but so

completely had the communication between the Punjab and
Calcutta been cut off that it was despatched by a steamer
to Lord Harris at Madras to be telegraphed to Lord Elphin-
stone at Bombay, and sent on by him as best he could.

C K 2
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SECTION II.

LORD CANXING'S ADMINISTRATION—THE MUTINY—LUCKNOW

—

CAWNPOEE—ALLAHABAD.

A.D. The post of Resident at Lucknow had been accepted by the
1857 great Sir Henry Lawrence in March 1857. The measures

Events at of ^^ predecessor had fatally alienated the landed
Lucknow. aristocracy, who were found to possess greater

influence over the people than had been supposed, and
whose opposition was therefore the more formidable. The
city was filled with thousands of the starving soldiers and
retainers of the old court seething with disloyalty, while

the whole country was pervaded by the families of the

40,000 sepoys who were in a state of mutiny. There were
nine native regiments of infantry and cavalry in the capital

and its environs, containing about 7,000 men, and only

700 Europeans to hold them in check. The 7th cavalry

was in a state of violent excitement, and had invited the

48th native infantry to join them in murdering their officers.

On the 3rd ^lay, on a bright moonlight night, Sir Henry
Lawrence moved down unexpectedly with his Europeans
to their lines, when they threw down their arms and fled.

He then distributed his small force in such positions as to

overawe the city and the native regiments, and laid in a
store of provisions in a stronghold called the Mutchie
Bhawan. On the night of the 30th May, however, five

of the regiments broke out, and set fire to the cantonments
and murdered their officers, in some cases with exceptional

_^ treachery. This became the signal for a general

revolt of revolt at all the stations throughout the country,
the army. ^^^ j^^ ^^^ middle of June every regiment in the

province, as well as eveiy police battahon, was in a state

of mutiny. Sir Henry still held command of the city and
the neighbourhood, but on the last day of the month he
marched out to Chinhut to meet several thousand mutineers

who were marching on it, when his native gunners cut the

traces of their horses, threw the guns into a ditch, and rode

away, and his little force was constrained to retreat with

the loss of a sixth of its number, and, what was more disas-

trous, of the reputation which had hitherto held the city in

awe. After this reverse he was obliged to contract his

lines of defence within the Residency grounds. On the
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4th of July he expired of a wound he received from a shell a.d.

which burst into his room two days before, and
-^^^-^^ ^^

^®^'

the state was deprived, at its greatest need, of the sir Henry

invaluable services of one of the most illustrious
^'''*'*"<^-

of its servants, beloved by the natives for his genial

benevolence, and by his brother officers for his pre-eminent

talent. On his death the command devolved on Brigadier

Inglis, and he continued to sustain a close siege with un-
flinching energy for twelve weeks till he was relieved by
Outram and Havelock.

The large and important station of Cawnpore was garri-

soned by three regiments of native infantry and one of

cavalry under the command of General Wheeler, „. . , .,

1 •! 1 1 T 1 rk/^/^ t-i it State Of the
but unhappily he had only 200 European soldiers. Cawrpore

With a mutinous feeling around him in every samson.

quarter, the month of May was passed in fear and anxiety,

and he entrenched a spot about 200 yards square, and
stored it with provisions sufficient to last 1,000 men for a
month. Doondhoo Punt, the Nana Sahib, living at

Bithoor, had been assiduous in fomenting the spirit of re-

bellion among the regiments, and on the 5th June they rose

in mutiny, and after courteously dismissing their officers,

plundered the treasury, opened the gaols, and marched off

to Delhi. The Nana, whose object was to raise a Mahratta
throne for himself and not to revive a Mogul dynasty,

hastened after them and prevailed on them to return and
clear the entrenchment of the feringees. The whole of the
European population was crowded into the enclosure ; the
revolted sepoys laid close siege to it, and planted eleven
guns of large calibre against it, which poured in an incessant

shower of shot and shell. The miseries of the besieged
have seldom, if ever, been exceeded in the history of the
world, and the dauntless courage and the spirit of endurance
they displayed have perhaps never been surpassed. The
23rd of June, the anniversary of Plassy, the day fixed by
the prophets for the extinction of the Company's raj, was
here, as elsewhere, marked by extraordinary exertions
which, however, ended in so signal a defeat that the sepoys
begged permission to remove their dead.

Three weeks had now elapsed since the investment of
this slender fortification, and still this heroic band con-
tinued to repel every assault, and to inflict an _

almost incredible amount of slaughter on the state of the

insurgents, but their guns were becoming un- Karnson.

serviceable, their ammunition was running low, and starv-
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AD. vation was staring tliem in the face ; a stray dog was
1857 turned into soup, an old horse was considered a delicacy,

and the well was nearly exhausted. It was impossible for

human nature to hold out much longer, and General
Wheeler at length agreed to the offer of the Nana to supply
them with provisions and conveyances to Allahabad, on
condition of his surrendering the entrenchment together

with the guns and treasure. Little did the General
dream that the incarnate fiend to whom he was entrusting

his charge had on the 4th June massacred 130 men, women,
and children who had escaped from the mutineers at

Futtygurh in boats, and had been induced to land at Cawn-
pore. On the morning of the 27th June, the remnant of

the garrison, together with the women and children, moved
down, some on foot and some in vehicles, to the river which
they found lined with the ferocious sepoys ; and there was
perpetrated one of the most diabolical acts of treachery

and murder that the darkest page of human annals

records.

No sooner had they embarked in the boats than Tantia

Topee, acting for the Nana, took his seat on a platform,

Massacre at ^^^ Ordered the massacre to commence. On the
the ghaut, sound of a bugle a murderous fire of grape shot

and musketry was opened on the boats from both sides of

the river ; the thatch of many of them was ignited by hot

cinders, and the sick, the wounded, and the helpless women
were burnt to death. The stronger women, many with
children in their arras, took to the river, and were shot

down one by one, or sabred by the troopers who dashed into

the stream. A number of both sexes escaped to the shore,

and the Nana issued his orders that not a man should be

allowed to live, but that the women and children should be

taken to the house which he occupied. There they were
added to the captives he had previously made, and huddled
together in one small room, fed on the coarsest food, sub-

jected to every indignity, and taken out in couples to grind

corn for his household. Of the entire garrison and the

male European population of Cawnpore only four suc-

ceeded in making their escape in a boat which drifted down
the river, and, after many hair-breadth escapes, were taken

under the protection of a loyal Oude zemindar. On the

1st July the Nana w^as publicly proclaimed Peshwa with

the ceremonies usual on such occasions. He then took his

seat on the throne under a royal salute, and at night the

town was brilliantly illuminated. But his triumph was
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of short duration ; the avenging sword of Havelock was a.d.

advancing to extinguish his career. l^j"

The perilous condition of the garrisons of Lucknow and
Cawnpore was the chief cause of anxiety to Lord Canning,
and as the British troops entered the Hoogld}'

they were pushed forward daily in such detach- xciii at

ments as the scanty means of conveyance at his
^*^^"'^'''^^^-

command would allow. Benares, the head-quarters of

Hindooism, and always the most turbulent city in Iiindo>-

tan, was likewise a source of disquietude, as the only

European troops in the cantonment consisted of thirty

gunners opposed to "2,000 native sepoys. It was owing to

the cool courage and composure, and the skilful dispositions

of Mr. -Henry Tucker, the commissioner, and his associates,

that an insurrectionary movement was warded off" while

small reinforcements came up from Dinapore. The first

driblet from Calcutta, consisting of sixty Madras Fusileers

under their gallant commander Colonel Xeill arrived at

Benares, then under the command of Brigadier Ponsonby,
on the 4th June, and raised the European force to '2-jU.

Immediately betbre the arrival f)f the Colonel, the native

regiment at Azimgurh, sixty miles distant, had mutinied,

and obtained possession of seven lacs of rupees. The o7th

at Benares was prepared to follow the example, and it was
resolved in haste to disarm it, but the affair was gros.-ly mis-

managed, and presented a melancholy contrast to the

ma.sterly movements at Lahore and Peshawur, where the

regiments were deprived of their arms without the loss of a

single life. The sepoys fired upon the Euro[)eans ; Captain
Olpherts's battery mowed down the s('po3-s and they fled

towards the city. The work, however, was complete,

though with an unnecessary sacritice of life, and all further

apprehension at Benares ceased.

Colonel Neill, after having made a terrific example of all

who were suspected of disaffection, and ])laccd Colonel

Gordon in command, moved up with all si)eed to

Allahabad to save the fort, one of the largest and
most important in the Xorth West Provinces, which had
been, unaccountably, left without a European garrison, ami
was at this time defended only by sixty invalids from
Chunar, and by a portion of Brazier's Sikh corfis. The
tJth Native Infantry had offered to maicli to Delhi and
fight the mutineers, and was drawn up on parade on the

6th June to receive the thanks of Lord Canning for its

loyalty. The men sent up three cheers, and the Europcau



504 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. XV

A.n. and native officers shook hands with each other. That
^^^^ Massacre of Same night, as the officers were seated at their

the officers, mess, the perfidious sepoys rushed in and put
them to death. In the number of the slain were eight un-
posted boy ensigns, fresh from Addiscombe, who had
recently joined the regiment, and found a bloody grave on
the threshold of their career. The prisoners in the gaol

were then let loose, the houses of the Europeans pillaged and
burnt, and the Europeans, men, women, and children, out-

side the fort butchered with every aggravation of cruelty.

The telegraphic wires were cut, the rails torn up, and the

engines, of which the sepoys had a superstitious dread,

battered with cannon. The doors of the treasury, con-

taining thirty lacs of rupees, were thrown open, and each

sepoy is said to have carried off three or four bags of a

thousand rupees each. The town with all its wealth was
given up to plunder, and the king ofDelhi proclaimed. The
fort had been besieged for four days, when it was happily re-

lieved by the arrival on the 11th of Colonel Neill, who had
been directed by a telegram from Lord Canning to take
the command at Allahabad. The handful of Europeans he
brought with him was augmented by other detachments in

succession, and he was soon enabled to re-establish the

authority of Government in the city and surrounding
districts, and to inflict a fearful retribution on the wretches
who had been revelling in plunder and bloodshed, of which

jj^.^j.
the gibbets in every direction bore ample testimony.

Renaud's On the last day of June he sent on a detachment
column.

^Q succour Cawnpore, consisting of 400 Euro-

peans, 300 Sikhs, 100 irregular cavalry; and two guns,

under Major Renaud, who was ordered to inflict summary
vengeance on all who were in any degree suspected of dis-

loyalty, and who marched on for three days, leaving

behind him traces of retribution in desolated villages and
corpses danghng from the branches of trees.

Colonel Havelock, the adjutant-general of the army, who
had been the second in command in the Persian expedition,

„ .
J

returned to Bengal on the conclusion of peace

Haveiock's by way of Madras, and came up to Calcutta in
progress. ^^g same steamer with Sir Patrick Grant, the

Commander-in-Chief at Madras, who succeeded provision-

ally to the chief command in India on the death of General

Anson. On the voyage Havelock had mapped out a plan

of operations, and recommended the formation of a movable

column, to proceed upwards from the lower provinces to
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the scenes of revolt. This coliiinn was placed under his a.d

command as Brigadier-General, with orders, after sup- 1857

pressing disorders at Allahabad, to lose no time in pro-

ceeding to the support of Sir Hugh Wheeler at Cawnpore,
and Sir Henry Lawrence at Lucknow. He reached Alla-

habad on the 30th June, and soon after received unequivocal

evidence that Cawnpore had fallen, and that the Nana was
marching down with a large force and many guns on
Allahabad. He clearly foresaw that if Major Renaud's
little band had come in contact with the rebel sepoys, not
a soul could have survived to tell the tale ; and, contrary to

the remonstrances of Colonel Neill, he ordered the Major
to halt. Havelock could only muster 1,000 Europeans,

130 of Brazier's Sikhs, 18 volunteer cavalry, and 6 guns
which he had improvised, and with this force he hasted to

the support of Renaud, and overtook him at Futtehpore,

and there he commenced his victorious career. The enemy,
4,000 strong, rushed down upon his army, but was soon
seen to fly in dismay, leaving eleven guns with the victors.

This was the first check the mutinous sepoys had received

below Delhi, and it produced a most salutary impression.

Three days after he again defeated them at Onao, and
without a halt hastened on to the Pandoo river, where he
again routed them, and was enabled to save the bridge,

which they were preparing to blow up, and the loss of

which would have fatally crippled his movements. The
Nana's brother, who was in the field, galloped back in"

haste to Cawnpore, and gave him the alarming intelligence

that the British commander had forced the bridge, and
was in full march on the town. The monster determined
to avenge himself on the helpless women and children, two
hundred in number, who had been crowded together for »

many days in three narrow rooms. Among the captives

there were four or five men, and they were brought out
and despatched under the eyes of the Nana. A party of

sepoys was then told ofi", and they poured volley after

volley on the helpless victims through the Venetian

windows, but as the work of death did not proceed fast

enough, Mahomedan butchers and other rufiians were sent

in with swords and knives and other weapons to hack
them to pieces. There the bodies lay through the night,

and the next morning the dead and the dying were brought
out, together with children alive and almost unhurt, and
tossed indiscriminately into an adjoining well.

After this act of unparalleled villany, the Nana marched
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A.D. out of Cawnpore with about 5,000 men to dispute Have-
'^'^"

Battle of lock's advance. The sepoys fought with the
Cawnpore. valour of desperation ; but the admirable strategy
of the commander, and the indomitable courage of the
British soldiers, more especially the 73rd Highlanders, gave
him a brilliant victory. The next morning the troops
marched into Cawnpore, when the sight of the well choked
with human victims told them that they were too late, but
it inspired them with an unquenchable resolution to avenge
this foul massacre. The rebel sepoys blew up the magazine
and dispersed. The Nana fled to Bithoor, and then es-

caped with his females across the Ganges into Oude, when
his palace was despoiled and destroyed.

Meanwhile Colonel Neill had arrived at Cawnpore with
the recruits which Lord Canning had been pushing up, and

Havelock confided the protection of the town

][dTanMsto ^^ iiirn, and moved on to the relief of Lucknow.
thereUefof The task before him was one of no ordinary

difficulty. The whole of Oude was in revolt

;

the lauded aristocracy was universally opposed to us, and
an army of sepoys whom we had taught to fight was ready

to dispute every inch of ground, while Havelock's force did

not exceed 1,400 men. By the 25th July his troops had
crossed the river by a bridge which had been erected under
every disadvantage, and on the 29th he came up with the

enemy at Aong, 12,000 in number, and thoroughly defeated

them, capturing fifteen guns. He then pushed on to

Busseerut-gunge, a walled village, from which the sepoys
were driven with the loss of more guns, but as he had lost

150 men by cholera, wounds, and sunstroke, he was obliged

to fall back to Munglewar. The sick and wounded were
« sent to Cawnpore and reinforcements were received from

thence, which raised his force to 1,300, and on the 4th

August he advanced a second time to Busseerut-gunge, now
held by 20,000 Sepoys, whom he again defeated with heavy
slaughter. But the cholera broke out afresh in his camp
and his position became critical. A body of 4,000 sepoys

had collected at Bithoor and threatened Colonel Neill ; the

famous Gwalior contingent, the finest native force in India,

complete in every arm, had broken out into mutiny, and
was said to have arrived at Culpee on the banks of the

Jumna, forty-five miles from Cawnpore. The three native

regiments at Dinapore had at length mutinied, and were
reported to be advancing into Oude, and he felt that to

move on to Lucknow with his slender force would not only
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risk its destruction, but also the loss of Cawnpore and a.d.

of the whole of the Dcoab. He determined wisely, to 1857

return to Cawnpore and await the arrival of reinforcements;

but on reaching Munglewar he was informed by his scouts

that a large force of the enemy was advancing against him
which would not only have interrupted the passage of the

river, but enabled them to report that they had chased him
out of the country. He therefore turned back and inflicted

a crushing defeat on them, and then crossed the river with-

out molestation. On the 16th August he attacked the en-

campment of the rebels at Bithoor and put them to flight

;

and then the heroes of ten successful fights within five

weeks rested on their oars, till they were reinforced from
Calcutta.

Through the month of August fresh troops poured into

Calcutta by sea, and were rapidly drafted to Allahabad and
Cawnpore. Sir James Outram, on his return from Relief of

the Persian expedition, had arrived in Calcutta T^"cknow.

and was nominated chief commissioner in Oude, and ap-

pointed to the command of the Dinapore and Cawnpore
divisions. Captain Peel had formed a naval brigade of 500
men from the sailors of his own frigate, the ' Shannon,' and
of vessels in Calcutta, and the blue-jackets were for the

first time sent into the interior of India. Sir eTames Outram
reached Cawnpore with 1,400 men on the 16th September,
and with the chivalrous generosity of his character deter-

mined to leave to Havelock the honour of accomplishing the

relief of Lucknow, for which he had so nobly toiled, and to

accompany him as a volunteer. Since the death of Sir Henry
Lawrence, Brigadier Inglis had been incessantly engaged
in repelling the assaults of the enemy, but the force at the

Residency was now reduced to 350 Europeans, and 300
natives, whose loyalty was beginning to waver under the

fatigues and the casualties of the siege. The brigadier in-

formed Havelock that it was not possible for him to hold

out much longer, and it became necessary to push on with-

out delay. The relieving force, consisting of 2,500 men,
nearly all British, met with little impediment till it reached

the Alum-baug in the vicinity of Lucknow, which was
mastered on the 23rd September. On the morning of the

25th the bugles sounded the advance into Lucknow, and
the army, instead of advancing through two miles of streets

of loophold houses filled with sepoys, skirted the city canal,

till it reached the Kaiser-baug, a royal palace strongly forti-

fied and garrisoned, and here the most severe struggle of
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A.n. the day occurred. The troops haxi been fighting -without
• 857 intermission since the morning, and the shades of evening

were coming on, but under the impression that the garrison

was in extremity, Havelock deemed it advisable to penetrate
to the Residency that night, and pushed on through streets

where, as he said, every house formed a fortress. The toils

of the day, however, were forgotten when the garrison sent

up a shout of gratulation as they entered the gate and
brought the anxieties of three months to a close. The loss

in killed, wounded and missing was very severe, amount-
ing to 464, among whom, to the great regret of the army,
was numbered Colonel Neill, who fell in the arms of victory

before he had enjoyed the opportunity of adding to his

richly-deserved renown as a gallant soldier, the higher
reputation of a general.

SECTION III.

LORD canning's ADMINISTRATION THE MUTINY—DELHI
LTJCKNOW—CENTRAL INDLA.

To TURN now to the siege and recovery of Delhi. General
Anson, the Commander-in Chief, was at Simla when intelli-

The siege of gence of the mutiny at Meerut and the occupation
Delhi, of Delhi by the insurgent troops reached him, and
he immediately ordered the three European regiments in

the hills to proceed to Umballa, where he joined them, but
was seized with cholera and expired on the 27th May.
The command of the column then devolved on Sir Harry
Barnard and he proceeded towards Delhi, In obedience

to the reiterated orders of General Anson, General Hewitt
had at length sent a detachment from Meerut to join it, and
the united force met the rebels posted on the Hindun and
twice defeated them, and a week after encountered them
at Budlee-ka-serai, about six miles from Delhi, and obtained

a still more complete victory, capturing all their guns,

stores, and baggage. The army then took up a command-
ing position on the ridge overlooking Delhi, the site of the

old encampment. The fortifications of the city had been

greatly improved and strengthened, and it was now held

by a large force ofwell-trained soldiers, fighting with a halter

round their necks, who had the command of an almost un-

limited supply of guns and miHtary stores from our own
arsenal. The impossibility of wresting from them a city
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seven miles in circumference by the weak force under a.d.

General Barnard was self-evident, and it was suggested to 1857

relinquish the siege for the present and employ the Euro-
pean force assembled before it in protecting other stations,

and restoring the authority of Government ; but Lord
Canning would not listen to the proposal. He felt that

Delhi had become the rallying point of revolt, the capital

of a Mogul dynasty, and that it was impossible to restore

confidence in our power while it continued in the hands of

the enemy. The retirement of the army would, in his

opinion, give an irresistible impulse to the spirit of rebellion,

and render its suppression all but impossible.

On the 5th July Sir Harry Barnard was carried ofi" by
cholera, and the command devolved on General Wilson.

The British force was established on the ridge on _ ... ,
. IP °T Position of

the 10th June, but during the lourteen succeed- tbe forces

ing weeks, though Delhi was considered to be in ** ^^^'

a state of siege, it was in reality the cantonment which was
besieged by the enemy. The force was too weak in men
and guns to do more than defend its own position, and for

every shot fired from our batteries the sepoys responded
four-fold. Few days passed without an assault on the

cantonment, and that on the 23rd June, the anniversary

of Plassy, was marked by extraordinary vigour, as the day
fixed for the dissolution of the Company's raj ; but in this,

as in every other encounter but one—and they numbered
more than thirty—the sepoys were driven back into the

city with ignominy. Their loss was indeed always heavier

than that of the British force, but their numbers were con-

stantly swelled by the accession of fresh regiments of rebels

which gravitated to Delhi as to the common centre of the

revolt, while the reinforcements from the Punjab were, for

a time, few and far between. While, moreover, they had
no lack of guns and stores, the ammunition in the British

camp required to be husbanded with great care.

Meanwhile, Sir John Lawrence was actively engaged in

raising additional regiments of Sikhs, who were loyal to the
core. There was an old Khalsa prophecy that j. . .

they should one day enjoy the plunder of Delhi, ments from

and they now hailed with passionate ardour the *^* Punjab.

prospect of realising it, and enlisted under our banner by
thousands. The disbandment of the regiments and the

extinction of the Sealkote mutineers by Brigadier Nicholson,
enabled Sir John to redouble his efforts to reinforce General
Wilson. Nothing could exceed the skill and energy with
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K.-o. which he organised and despatched the detachments in suc-
1857 cession. It was at length found possible to dispense with

the services of the Brigadier's movable column, 2,500 strong,
in the Punjab, and it was sent down to Delhi and reached
the cantonment on the 14th August, and imparted fresh
courage to the exhausted troops. The Brigadier had pre-
ceded it by a week, and was welcomed in the camp with
a feeHng of homage as if he had been the very god of war.

The great siege train, which occupied a line of thirteen
miles, was wending its way from Ferozepore, and the revolted

Assanitand
^^emuch brigade, always considered the flower

capture of of the sepoy army, which was now in Delhi, was
^^^^^- sent out with eighteen guns to intercept it, as it

was feebly guarded by the last detachment which Sir John
could spare. Brigadier Nicholson marched out to encounter
this force, and obtained a complete victory. The train

entered the camp on the 3rd September, and the erection

of batteries within breaching distance was pushed on with
vigour. For a week fifty guns and mortars poured an in-

cessant stream of shot and shell upon the walls and bastions,

and on the 13th the breaches were reported practicable.

At three on the morning of the 14th the assault was
delivered on four points. Brigadier Nicholson, who led

the attack, drove the enemy before him, but, to the infinite

regret of the whole army was mortally wounded in the arms
of victory. The other columns, with one exception, were
equally successful, but the resistance of the enemy was
desperate, and the operations of this the first day entailed

a loss in killed and wounded of sixty-six officers and 1,104

men. The troops had made a lodgment within the walls,

but the sepoys continued to dispute every inch of ground,

and it was six days before all the important and defensible

posts within the vast circle of the city were captured. For
several days an uninterrupted fire had been kept up on the

well-fortified palace. On the 20th the gates were blown
up and the troops rushed into it, but the king had fled to

the tomb of Humayoon, a few miles to the south of the

city. The next day Captain Hodson proceeded to the tomb
and dragged him, together with his favourite wife, who had
been one of the chief instruments in stirring up the revolt,

and her son, to the palace, where they were lodged as pri-

soners. The following day he went in search of the two
sons and the grandson of the king, and as an attempt was
about to be made to rescue them shot them dead on the spot

with his own hand. Several months after the king was
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tried by a military commission in the imperial palace and a.d.

found guilty of having ordered the murder of forty-nine 1857

Christians at Delhi, of having waged war upon the English

Government, and urged the people by proclamation to sub-

vert it. Lord Canning determined to spare his life, but
sentenced him to be transported to Burmah ; and thus ended
the royal house of Baber three hundr(3d and thirty-two years

after he had ascended the Mogul throne.

The total number of killed and wounded dm-ing the

siege was 3,537, a heavy return of casualities, but the re-

duction of the city broke the neck of the rebellion. ^ ,^ , ^.^
1 -n 1 -1 1 1 -11 • II n Kesultortne

Oude and Kohucund were stili m revolt ; the capture of

Gwalior contingent, 10,000 strong, was still in ^^•i''-

open arms, and Central India was in possession of the

mutineers, but so completely had the revolt been identified

with the possession of the ancient capital that the capture

of it satisfied the country that the star of Britain was again

in the ascendant, and that the final extinction of the mutiny
was only a question of time. All the machinations in the

Punjab, which the protraction of the siege had fostered,

were dispelled. The rebel army was deprived of its orga-

nization by the loss of its citadel, while the British Govern-
ment was daily gaining strength by the arrival of the regi-

ments brought by sea. The liberation of the force engaged
in the siege of Delhi likewise proved the salvation of the

neighbouring city ofAgra. It was attacked by the Neemuch
and other mutineers on the 6th July, but owing to the in- v
competence of Brigadier Polwhele, the European troops

sent against them were foiled, and retreated to the fort,

where for nearly three months between 5,000 and 6,000
people of all rank, ages, and colours were shut up. At the

beginning of October a large body of rebels came down and
threatened it, when the young Brigadier Greathead, who had
been sent from Delhi to clear the Dooab of the mutineers
with his flying column, received an express from the fort,

and after a forced march of forty miles in twenty-eight

hours, drove off the enemy, with the loss of their guns,

stores, camp and 500 in killed and wounded.
The garrison of Lucknow had been relieved by Outram

and Havelock, but their force was too weak to escort the
women and children to Cawnpore, still less to re-

cover a city garrisoned by a large rebel army Campbell's

with an abundance of military stores. The Resi-
Li^^tnow

dency was again in a state of close blockade but

well supplied with provisions and able to await the arrival
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A..D. of reinforcements with little risk or inconvenience. The
1857 attention of the enemy was chiefly devoted to the construc-

tion of mines, which they carried on to an extent which
Sir James Outram affirmed had no parallel in modern war-
fare. Sir Colin Campbell, who had been appointed Com-
mander-in-Chief in succession to General Anson, hastened
to Cawnpore with the reinforcements which had reached
Calcutta, accompanied by Captain Peel of the " Shannon."
He started on the 9th November with a body of 5,000 men
and 30 guns, and on the 14th advanced against the enemy's
entrenchments, but so determined was the opposition he
encountered at the various strong positions they had forti-

fied, that he was three days forcing his way to the Resi-

dency. The Secunder-baug, indeed, a large enclosure, was
breached and stormed by the Highlanders, when every soul

within it perished and 2,000 bodies were carried out and
buried. By the masterly arrangements of Sir Colin the
relieved gari-ison, together with the women and children,

were withdrawn with such skill as not to attract the at-

tention and the assaults of the enemy, but Havelock, worn
out with toil and exposure, was attacked by diarrhoea and
sunk under the disease, a Christian hero and general of

the highest stamp.

General Outram was left at the Alum-bang with a suffi-

cient force to keep open the communication with Cawnpore
^. ^ . and to maintain our footings in Oude, and Sir
DisJister or

G^enerai Colin Campbell hastened back to Cawnpore, the
"Windham. defence of which had been entrusted to General
"Windham, with more than 2,000 men, and was just in time
to save him from a fatal calamity. The Gwalior con-

tingent, which had finally broken into open mutiny in the

middle of October, crossed the Jumna and marched down,
20,000 strong, to Cawnpore to join the Nana. General
Windham moved out to meet them, without suspecting

their numbers, and was at first successful, but his force

was handled without any skill, and, finding himself out-

flanked by the enemy, he retreated in hot haste to the entrench-

ment, with the loss of his equipage. The sepoys obtained

possession of the town, and for two days he had to sustain

an unequal contest with a body of the ablest of the mutineers

ten times his own number, flushed with recent success,

animated by the presence of the Nana, and commanded by
Tantia Topee, the only native general created by the mutiny.

General Windham must have suffered the fate of General

Wheeler, if he had not received timely succour by the
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arrival of Sir Colin, who reached the Ganges in time to a.v.

save the bridge of boats, the destruction of which would 1858

have been irreparable. After having safely despatched the
sick and the wounded, the women and the children to Alla-

habad, he marched out against the rebel force, now swelled

to 25,000 men with 40 guns. Captain Peel's sailors, hand-
ling their 24-pounders like playthings, did fearful execution,

and the skilful dispositions of Sir CoHn, and the valour of

his troops, inflicted a crushing defeat on the rebels, who
were pursued for fourteen miles and loss of all their guns

—

the arm in which they were strongest. The .total loss on
the side of the British army amounted only to 99.

We turn now to the pursuit of the rebels in Central
India. While the task of extinguishing the mutiny at

Delhi fell to Sir John Lawrence, and that of re-

covering Ca^vnpore and Lucknow to Lord Can- central

ning, the work of stamping out the revolt in i°^i*-

Central India was undertaken by the Madras and Bombay
Presidencies. A column of Madras troops was assembled

at Nagpore and moved on to Jubbulpore, and a Bombay
column advanced to Kotah. They constituted the Central

India Field Force, and comprised about 6,000 troops, of

whom 2,500 were Europeans. General Stuart, command-
ing one brigade, proceeded to relieve JVIhow, which had been
besieged since the commencement of the mutiny, and then
captured Dhar, and defeated a body of 5,000 mutineers at

Mundisore. Having thus cleared the southern districts

of the rebels, he advanced to Indore. There Sir Hugh
Rose, on the 15th December, assumed the command of the

whole force, and started for Sehore, where he inflicted

summary vengeance on the insurgents, and moved on to

Saugor, and relieved a body of Europeans who had been
cooped up for several months. On the 21st March he pro-

ceeded to Jhansi, the little principality in Bundlecund
which Lord Dalhousie had annexed five years before, as

stated in a former chapter.

The ranee, a woman of extraordinary energy but of un-

matched vindictiveness, took advantage of the mutiny to re-

cover the independence of her principality and to capture of

satiate her revenge. The sepoys stationed there Jhansi.

rose in mutiny on the 4th June and assailed the Europeans,

who took refuge in the fort, but were induced to surrender

upon a promise of protection made under the most solemn
oaths ; but the whole body, seventy-five in number, were
immediately bound together, the men in one row, and their

J. L
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A.D. wives and children in another, and batchered under the
1858 immediate direction of the ranee. She assembled 10,000

men for the defence of the town, which was surrounded by
a wall of solid masonry from six to twelve feet thick and
from eighteen to thirty feet in height. After Sir Hugh had
invested it for nine days, a body of 20,000 men, including

that portion of the Gwalior contingent which had escaped

from the sword of Sir Colin at Cawnpore, advanced iinder

the command of Tantia Topee to the relief of the ranee.

Without slackening fire on the town. Sir Hugh moved out

to meet them on the 1st April with 1,200 men, of whom
only 500 were British, and drove them in dismay across the

Betwa, which gives its name to the engagement, with the

loss of 1,500 men and all their guns. The assault on the

town was renewed with redoubled vigour ; every street

was fiercely contested ; no quarter was asked or given
;

and the palace was stormed and sacked.

The ranee, after making her last stand in the fort, fled to

Calpee, the head- quarters of the Gwalior contingent, and

Capture of ^be rallying point of the mutineers west of the
Calpee, Jumna, where they had established foundries

for casting cannon, and collected military stores of every

description. Sir Hugh advanced towards it, when the

martial ranee who took her share in the command, riding

in male attire at the head of her own body gnard, came out
with Tantia Topee and 20,000 men to meet him at Koonch,
but they were signally defeated. The general then marched
on to Golowlee within five miles of Calpee where he was
again attacked by the entire force of the enemy, but was
again victorious and became master of Calpee, with the

vast military stores the rebels had accumulated from the

plunder of various cantonments. He considered the revolt

in Central India extinguished by the capture of their cita-

del, and resolved to break up the army, which was pros-

trated by insupportable heat, and issued a valedictory

order to the troops, congratulating them on " having
" marched more than 1,000 miles and taken more than 100
" guns, on having forced their way through mountain
" passes and intricate jungles and over rivers, and cap-
" tured the strongest forts, and beat the enemy, no matter
" what the odds, wherever they had met him, without a
" single check, and restored peace and order to the
" country."

But there was still work for his exhausted troops.

Nothing appeared more remarkable during the course of
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this revolt than the rapidity with which the insurgent a.d.

sepoys rallied after a defeat, and presented a 1868

new and more formidable array. Tantia Topee, owaiiorby

after his defeat at Koonch, proceeded to Gwalior *^^ '*''^-

to organise a conspiracy against Sindia. The troops driven

from Calpee hastened to join him, and within a week a force

of 18,000 mutineers was embodied in the cantonment at the

capital. Sindia's able minister, Dinkur Rao, advised him to

await the arrival of the troops which were marching down
from Agra, but his ardent spirit led him to attack them
with his household troops, about 8,000 in number, who
either joined the rebels or withdrew from the field, and on
the 1st of June he fled to Agra. The rebels then took

possession of the capital, and supplied themselves with
stores and ammunition from the royal arsenal, and, with
the far-famed Gwalior artillery, plundered the treasury of

half a crore of rupees, distributed six months' pay to each

sepoy, and then proclaimed Nana Sahib, Peshwa.
Sir Hugh, on receiving intelligence of this astounding

event, resumed the command he had laid down, and
hastened on to Gwalior without a moment's delay, Recovery of

though the heat was 130° in the shade ; and on Owaiior.

the morning of the 16th June, though the troops were ex-

hausted ^vith marching all night, attacked the sepoys at

once, and chased them with heavy loss from the canton-

ment. The next day. Brigadier's Smith's column came up
from the westward, driving the rebels before him, and it

was in his last charge that the valiant ranee, who had taken

a share in every engagement since she left Jhansi, was
killed by a hussar who was ignorant of her sex. On the

18th, the whole of the enemy's entrenchments and positions

were stormed and fifty guns captured, and they sought

refuge in flight; but a compact body of 6,000 with a

splendid field artillery retired in good order from the

field, when Brigadier Napier hastened after them with 600
cavalry and six field guns, and, dashing into the midst of

their ranks, put them to utter rout. With this brilliant

action the campaign was brought to a close, and Sindia

remounted his throne amidst the acclamations of his

subjects.

X.I.2
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SECTION IV.

LORD CAITNING'S ADMINISTRATION—THE MUTINY EXTINGUISHED.

A.T). DuHTNG these operations, which completely crushed the
1858 mutiny in Central India, Sir Colin Campbell was employed

Th Dooab
'^ extinguishing it on the east of the Jumna,

cleared of His first object was to clear the Dooab, lying be-
rebeis. tween that river and the Ganges. Towards the
end of November, Colonel Seaton left Delhi with a movable
column and marched downwards, while General Walpole
moved upwards. The sepoys were beaten in every en-

counter, and the power of the nabob of Futtyghur, who had
assumed independence early in the mutiny, was annihilated.

By the end of December the authority of the Company
was re-established throughout these distriots, and Sir Colin

Campbell found himself at the head of 10,000 troops at

Futtygurh. The mutiny was now confined to the two
provinces of Rohilcund and Oude, but Sir Colin, whose
movements would have been more successful and satis-

factory if they had been less tardy, wasted two months idly

in this neighbourhood.

Meanwhile, General Franks was organising a force at

Benares, which eventually amounted to 6,000 men, to clear

March into the lower portion of Oude of the rebel bands, and
Oude. in his triumphant progress defeated them at

every stage. Jung Bahadoor, the regent, but in reality

the ruler, of Nepaul, marched down with a body of 9,000

hardy Goorkhas to assist the British Government in the

reconquest of Oude, and on two occasions defeated the

insurgents with great slaughter. Sir James Outi-am, who
had been left in command at the Alum-baug, had been

twice assailed by the rebel army and population of

Lucknow, and had dispersed them though six times his

number. At length, on the last day of February, Sir

Colin Campbell saw his force, consisting of 18,277 horse,

foot, and artillery, Europeans and Sikhs, across the Granges,

and on the 5th March was encamped at the Dilkoosha

outside the fortifications of the city, where he was joined

by the array of General Franks and Jung Bahadoor. The
piece opened on the 6th. The defence was the most

obstinate our arms had ever encountered in India, not ex-

cepting even that of Delhi. The rebels were animated by
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the presence of the begum of Oude, a -woman of indomitable a.d

energy, who had been the soul of the insurrection and had 1858

prevailed on the chiefs and sepoys to recognise her son as

king. During the time lost at Futtygurh, the mutineers
had availed themselves of the opportunity of improving the

defences of the city, and the extraordinary industry dis-

played by them had seldom beea equalled, and never sur-

passed, in India. Every outlet had been covered with a work,
and barricades and loopholed parapets had been constructed

in every direction. The various buildings formed a range
of massive palaces and walled courts of vast extent, and
they had been fortified with great skill. It was not till

after ten days of incessant fighting that the recovery of the

city was complete ; but by some mismanagement on the

part of one of the British commanders, Sir Colin was
deprived of the full fruit of victory by the escape of the

greater part of the mutineers, together with their leaders.

The number of killed and wounded thi-oughout the siege

did not exceed 900. It was impossible to restrain the vic-

torious soldiers from the rich plunder of the city, of which,
however, the largest share fell to the Goorkhas, who
returned to NepauJ with some thousand cartloads of spoil.

On the capture of Lucknow, Lord Canning, on the 31st

of March, directed Sir James Outram, the chief commis-
sioner, to issue a proclamation confiscating the

oonflgp^ti

proprietary right of every estate in Oude, with of the land

the exception of six zemindarees. Sir James ^" °'*'^®"

earnestly remonstrated against the injustice, as well as the
impoHcy, of a measure which confounded the innocent
with the guilty, and could not fail to retard the peaceful

settlement of the kingdom. The proclamation was re-

pudiated in England by a spiteful and sarcastic despatch
from Lord Ellenborougli, then President of the Board of

Control, but Lord Canning was, in the meanwhile, induced
to mitigate the severity of the order, and to entrust large

discretionary powers to Mr.—now Sir Robert—Mont-
gomery, the successor of Sir James Outram, who had been
raised to Council. He concluded a fresh settlement with
the Talookdars, the proudest aristocracy in India, upon a
moderate rental, and gave them the advantage of a new
and Parliamentary title to their estates, and, moreover,
endeavoured to attach them to the interests of the Govern-
ment by appointing them honorary magistrates.

Bareilly the capital of Rohilcund was held by Khan
Bahadoor Khan, a descendant of Hafiz Ruhmut, of the days
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A.». of Hastings, who had proclaimed his independence in the
^^^^

Operations
^arly stages of ths mutiny, and put two judges

in Rohii- to death under the mimic foi-ms of European jus-
*^'^"'^'

tice. In the town were collected the begum of

Oude, the Nana, Prince Feroze, nud the other chiefs and
rebels who had escaped from Lucknow, and three columns
were sent against it. One column, 6,000 strong, with light

and heavy artillery under Brigadier Walpole came upon a

petty fortification, fifty miles from Lucknow, consisting of

nothing but a high loop-holed wall and a ditch, held by
about 400 men. Instead of shelling them out, the com-
mander, contrary to the express injunctions of Sir Colin

Campbell, determined to carry it by assault, but the assail-

ants were driven back with the loss of 100 men, among
whom was Brigadier the Hon. Adrian Hope, " the most
"gallant and best beloved soldier in the army," the idol of

his own Highlanders, who invoked malisons on the Com-
mander. By the beginning of May, the columns under the

personal command of Sir Colin closed upon Bareilly, which
was speedily captured with all its stores and ammunition

;

but the prize was again lost ; the rebel chiefs, with the bulk

of their armed followers, made their escape. They were
followed up by Sir Hope Grant, and a body of 16,000

posted in a jungle at Nabob-gunge was attacked and de-

feated, but the indefatigable begum rallied her forces anew
on the Grogra, where she was again assailed and routed. She
was hunted from post to post down to the Raptee, where,

although hemmed in on every side, she made her escape

across the river, together with the remaining leaders and
their followers, and got away safe into the Nepaul territory.

Jung Bahadoor did not refuse permission to Lord Canning
to pursue the fugitives, and thousands perished under British

weapons and from the malaria of the teraee. The mutiny
was virtually at an end, though in some districts bands of

rebels continued for several months to maintain a show of

resistance. The Nana and his brother died in the jungles

of Nepaul during 1859 ; the begum found a peaceful

asylum at Katmandhoo ; Prince Feroze made his way
through Oude and joined Tantia Topee in Central India,

where he was moving about with the remainder of his

troops and a large amount of treasure, bafiling the various

columns which were in pursuit of him. He was at length

betrayed by his most trusty companion, and was seized on
the 7th April while asleep in the jungle, and tried and
executed at Sepree. With the exception of the ranee of
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Jhansi and the begum of Outle, ho was tlie only groat loader a.d.

whom the reboUion produced, and the extraordinary onorgy isi*

and valour he displayed might have entitled him U> a more
lenient penalty; but, for the monster who had taktn liis

seat on a stage and directed the diabolic massacre at tlio

ghaut cf Cawnpore, there could be no compassion. On the

8tli July 185'J, peace was ])roclaimod by Lord Canning
throughout India; and on the 12lh October ho made a

royal progress tii rough the provinces, receiving the homage
of chiefs and nobles. On the 3rd Xovomber he hold a dur-

bar at Cawnpore, with a display of magnificence well suited

to captivate the native mind, and to demonstrate tlie resto-

ration of British power. All the loyal chiefs wore collected

at that brilliant assembly, and as the representative of the

Queen who had assumed the sovereignty of India, he deco-

rated them with dresses of honour and titles of distinction.

The mutiny has boon attributed by different writers to

a variety of causes—to the annexations during Lord Dal-

liousio's administration; to the rapid introduction cunse of the

of improvenionts, such as the rail and tho tolo- mi't >iy.

graph, which bewildered the native mind ; to the .-pread

of English education and European science, whicli wert'

undermining Ilindooism and discjuioting the orthodox; and
to a national revolt against British autliority. On the

other hand. Sir John Lawrence assorted, "The mutiny had
" its origin in tho army itself; it is not attril)ntab]o to any
" external or antecedent conspiracy wliatevoi', althougli it

" was taken advantage of by disufl'ectod persons to compass
' their own ends; the approximate cause was tho cartridge
" affair, and nothing else." But wo live too near this stu-

pendous event, and tlie oxcitemont it created is as yet too

fervid, to admit of a calm judgment of its origin, which
must be left to tlie unruffled determination of ])ostority

when it has ceased to bo a party question. To assist that

decision, it maybe remarked that theconduct of thi' jiuoplo,

even in the most disturbed districts in the uorth-wost, was
eminently neutral. The agricultural, the moroantilo, and
the industrial ])0{ralation, made no demonstration in favour

of tho revolt. There was no insurrectidU where thoro wore
no sepoys ; the Sikhs, and more particuhirly tho rajas in tho

Cis Sutlej states, rendered the most essential service in

quelling the insurrection ; the princes in Kajpootana wore
perfectly loyal ; Sindia, Holkar, tho bofrum of Bhojial, and
the nabob of Ram poora, sided with the Britisli Government;
the Nepaul cabinet sent down 'J,U(l(j troops to its aid. In
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A.n. the south, the Gaikwar, the inhabitants of the annexed
1868 provinces of Satara and Nagpore, the Nizam and his great

minister Salar Jung, the great Mahratta feudatories and
the nobles of Mysore, were faithful in their allegiance to

the British Government. These princes do not appear to

have ever entertained a doubt of its triumph even when,
before the reduction of Delhi and Lucknow, its fortunes

appeared desperate. They were not ignorant that for

twenty-five centuries from the period of the great war
celebrated in the Muhabharut downwards, India had been
the constant theatre of revolutions, and the insurrection

which now threatened the existence of the British Govern-
ment appeared to come in the usual order of events. The
confusion, moreover, which ensued on the temporary eclipse

of its authority, in the rapid rise of various aspirants for

power in Hindostan—the king of Delhi, the Nana, the

begum of Oude, the nabob of Futtygurh, the nabob of

Bareilly, who would have proceeded to fall upon each other

and revive the anarchy of former days when the British

power was extinct, rendered these princes the more anxious

to maintain it as the guardian of peace and order.

The mutiny was the death-warrant of the East India

Company, England was astounded by the announcement
_, .. .. of a revolt which threatened the dissolution of
Extinction , . -, n ^ , i • i
of the East the empire, and or the atrocious massacres which

^ay.
^°^' accompanied it. The responsibility of the oat-

break was at once cast on the Company, though
for more than seventy years no political or administrative

measure had been executed without the full concurrence of

the Ministry. During this period the President of the

Board of Control had carried more weight in the government
of India than the Chairman of the Court of Directors ; but
the one was before the public, the other behind the scenes.

The argument on which the Court of Directors had endea-

voured, half a century before, to justify the precipitate dis-

missal of Lord WUliam Bentinck after the Vellore mutiny,
was now applied with fatal effect to themselves on the

occasion of a larger mutiny—"As the misfortunes which
" happenedunder youradministration placed yourfate under
" the government of public events and opinions which the
" Court could not control, so it was not in their power to
" alter the effect of them." In December 1857 Lord
Palmerston informed the Court of Directors that a Bill for

placing India under the direct authority of the Crown
would shortly be laid before Parliament. Mr. John Stuart
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Mill was instructed by the Directors to draw up a petition to ad.

Parliament pleading their services, denying that the mutiny 1858

was owing to their mismanagement, and deprecating so

fundamental a change in the government while the mutiny
was still raging. It was one of the ablest state papers in

the language, but nothing could withstand the popular
outcry. Mr. Baling, on presenting the petition to the

House of Commons, moved as an amendment to Lord Pal-

merston's Bill, that " it is not at present expedient to legis-

" late for the government of India," but it was rejected by
318 to 173, whereas the continuance of the government of

India in the hands of the Company was voted without a
division only five years before. While Lord Palmerston's
Bill was passing through Parliament, the Conservatives

came into power, and it fell to the lot of Lord Stanley to

carry through the Bill which extinguished the Company.
On the 1st September 1858, the Court of Directors met for

the last time in their council chamber in Leadenhall Street,

and, as their last act of administration, gracefully voted an
annuity of 2000Z. a year to Sir John Lawrence, who had
been the instrument of saving the empire now transferred

to the Crown.
The East India Company was incorporated by Queen

Elizabeth in the year 1600, but its political existence is to

be dated only from the battle of Plassy in 1757, character

and closed, after the lapse of a hundred years, oftheCom-

with the revolt of the army. During this cen-

tury it created an empire greater than that of Rome, and
at the period of its dissolution transferred the government
of 150,000,000 of subjects to its sovereign. There is no
record in history of so brilliant a career, nor is there any
instance of power so extensive and so rapidly acquired,

with so few causes of regi'et on the score of pohtical mo-
rality. Notwithstanding its errors and its shortcomings,

it may be safely afiBrmed that no foreign dependency has

ever been administered in a spirit of higher energy, or

greater benevolence, or by a longer succession of great

men. But its mission was accomplished, and the anomaly
of continuing the government of so vast a domain with
such an agency was daily becoming more obvious; and even
without the crisis of the mutiny, the termination of its

trust could not have been far distant.

On the 1st November 1858, the Queen's proclamation,

translated into the various languages of India, was pro-

Djulgated throughout the continent with every demonstra-
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A.D. tion of official pomp. It announced that Her Majesty had
^^^8

The Ou ' ^^ length assumed the government of India,

J rociama- which had hitherto been conducted by her trus-
**°"'

tees, the Honourable the East India Company

;

that all treaties, dignities, rights and usages should be
faithfully upheld, that the public service should be
open to all her subjects v?ithout distinction of caste or

creed, and that w^hile the Grovernment was a Christian

Government no one should be molested or benefitted on
account of his religion. The proclamation w^as cordially

welcomed by the princes and people of India. The ikbal,

or good fortune, of the Company to which they had paid
homage for a century expired with the mutiny which ex-

posed its weakness. Its name was associated with one of

the greatest calamities which had befallen India. British

authority had been re-established by the armaments sent

by the Queen, and it was expedient that she should assume
the sceptre of India. The introduction of an entirely

new policy after such a convulsion was eminently calcu-

lated to tranquillize and reassure the public mind. The
natives of India, moreover, have from the earliest ages
paid deference to the principle of royalty, and a feeling of

pride and satisfaction was diffused through the country
in being considered the subjects of a sovereign, and not of

a farmer, in which light the Company was now viewed.

SECTION V.

EPITOME OP EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 1858.

The century occupied in the conquest of India termi-

nated with the suppression of the mutiny and the annexa-

tion of the empire to the Crown of Grreat Britain. The
record of subsequent events belongs to a new epoch in the

history of British India, upon which it is not advisable to

enter in the remainder of the space necessarily prescribed

for this compendium, and we therefore bring it to a close

with a brief reference to the chief transactions of the period

extending to the death of Lord Mayo.
1859 At the renewal of the charter in 1853, the Supreme

Council, which had been invested with the power of im-

perial legislation, was enlarged by the addition of one

member from each Presidency and lieutenant-governorship,

and two of the judges of the Supreme Coui-t. A more
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important alteration was made upon the transfer of the

government to the Crown ; the two judges of the Supreme
Court were excluded, and the Governor-Greneral was in-

structed to summon additional members, not exceeding
twelve, to the Council when engaged in making laws. One
half the number was to consist of non-official members, who
might be either Europeans or natives, and the natives thus

for the first time obtained a voice in the deliberations of the

state. The earliest members of Council were the raja of

Putt-eala, the raja Dinkur Rao, and the raja of Benares,

all of whom had been exemplary in their allegiance to the

Government during the mutiny. Similar Councils were
attached to the Governments of Bengal, Madras, and
Bombay, with the same admixture of the native element.

The suppression of the mutiny was mainly due to the A:"'

assistance derived from the annexation of the Punjab, but
the full value of this reservoir of soldiers of exemplary
courage, and untainted with the high-caste prejudices of

the sepoys, was not fully developed till the war in China
came on. The merit of having ventured to enlist their

services only three years after they had shaken the empire
at Ferozeshuhur belongs to Lord Dalhousie, who called

down a regiment from the Punjab to supply the place of

the sepoy regiment which had refused to embark for Ran-
goon. The example was followed by Lord Canning, and a
large contingent of Punjabee troops was sent on the expedi-

tion to China, who assisted in planting the British standard
on the battlements of Pekin.

The transfer of the establishments of the East India 1 859

Company to the Crown carried with it the transfer of their

European troops, in number about 24,000. But though this

made no change in the position or prospects of the men,
they protested against being handed over from one service

to another without being allowed a voice in the matter,

and a feeling of dissatisfaction was manifested by a large

number, and a spirit of insubordination in one corps. Lord
Canning offered their discharge and a passage to England
to aU who objected to the exchange. The soldiers felt no
objection to the royal service, but they looked for a small

bounty, similar to that which the royal troops were ac-

customed to receive when, upon the expiration of their

time, they enlisted into other regiments. The expectation

was perfectly reasonable, but it was imperiously and in-

judiciously denied them, and 10,000 demanded their dis-

charge. The state was thus not only subjected to a heavier
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payment for their passage than the small boxinty wotild

have amounted to, but lost the invaluable services of a body
of seasoned and veteran European soldiers. Contrary,
moreover, to the advice of some of the most eminent Indian
statesmen, it vpas resolved to abolish the local European
army, the value of which had been insisted on by Lord
Comwallis and by all his successors. The Indian navy, as

it was termed, a small squadron of armed schooners belong-

ing to the Company, and vphich was employed in maintain-
ing the police of the Indian seas, was at the same time
abolished, and the duty entrusted exclusively to the royal

navy.

A.D. During the year 1859 the indigo districts in Bengal were
1 859 disturbed by the refusal of the ryots to cultivate indigo for

the planters. The cultivation had never been remunera-
tive, but they were bound to it by advances forced on
them, and by contracts to which they were often obliged to

affix their mark without knowing their contents. Having
once received advances, they found they could never be
released from the planter's books. The lieutenant-governor

of Bengal, on his return from Dacca, was assailed by
thousands of men and women, who lined the banks for a

whole day's journey, crying to him for justice. To meet
the difficulty, the Government passed an Act, inflicting a

penalty for a breach of the contracts of the year, and
appointing a commission to investigate the complaints of

the ryots. They were fully substantiated, and Sir Charles

Wood refused to sanction the proposal which had been
made to consider the non-performance of a civil contract by
a ryot the ground of a criminal prosecution.

1860 The mutiny had augmented the debt by fifty crores, and
the annual expenditure, owing to the increase of the mili-

tary charges, had risen from thirty-three to fifty crores, while

the annual deficit amounted to ten crores. The financial

department had always been the weakest point of the

Government. India had produced eminent statesmen, and
diplomatists, and generals, and administrators, but not one

Chancellor of the Exchequer. Sir Charles Wood resolved

to supply this deficiency by adding a financial member to

the Executive Council, and selected for this post Mr. James
Wilson, one of the secretaries of the treasury in London,
who had an especial genius for finance. He revised the

customs on scientific principles, and laid on an income-tax

for five years as an exceptional impost to meet the

charges entailed by the mutiny, and he imposed a license
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duty ; at the same time he remodelled the currency, and
withdrew the privilege of issuing bank notes which had
been granted in their charters to the banks of IJengal,

Madras, and Bombay, and established a State paper cur-

rency. By the taxes thus imposed, and the retrenclunents

which were effected, the deficit was extinguished in less

than three years. ]N[r. Wilson's career was unhappily cut

short by death before his financial reforms were completed.

Mr. 5lacaulay had drawn up a penal code in 18o~, which ^ ;,

was bandied about for twenty years from one commission lbi,o

to another, and, having at lemrth received its final modifica-

tion, became law in IwGO. At the same time, the Legisla-

tive Council passed an admirable code of civil and criminal

procedure, which substituted simplicity and expedition for

the complicated and tardy forms of pleading, which had
previously impeded the course of justice. Lord Elphin-

stone, the governor of Bombay, who had rendered great

service to the state during the insurrection, by repressintr

every hostile tendency at that Presidency, and by organis-

ing the foi-ce which quelled the nnitiiiy in CVntnd Lidia,

returned to England in this year with his constituti(tu

seriously impaired by the labours and anxieties of his post,

and stiidc into a premature grave.

The Nizam who had remained firm in his lovalty to ISGC

Government during the mutiny was rewarded wit h In monrs,

and with the more substantial bo(jn of three of tie piM-

vinces which he had assigned to meet the payment of the

contingent and to satisfy other obligations, as \vi 11 as with

the remission of the balance of his del)t to the extent of

half a crore of rupees. The princijialiiy of Shorapore.

which had been confiscated for the treason of the raja, was
likewise transferred t(^ him.

The whole machinery of judicature was lemodelltd ibtil

throughout the country durint,^ the latter period of Lord
Canning's administration. 'J'he Supreme and Sadder
Courts were amalgam:ite<l, aiul a High Court established

at each Presidency, consisting ])artly of KiiLilish barri>tei's,

and partly of the Company's judges. A native lauver of

eminence was likewi.so placed on the bench, with no little

honour to him.self and great gratification to i he count rv
;

and thus was the baneful ostracism of Loi'd Coinwallis

abolLshed by the admission of natives t(j the di>tinction of

making and administering the law, u|)on a footing of pi i--

fect equality with Europeans. At the saim; time SnuiU
Cau.so Courts, with a simjjle procedure, were established in
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the provinces, and the recovery of small debts and demands
rendered more easy.

A.D. The death of Lady Canning hastened the departure of
^8^2 Lord Canning, whose health had been greatly affected

by six years of unexampled care and toil. He embarked
in March 1862, but did not survive his arrival in England
more than three months. His administration forms the most
memorable period in the history of British India. No go-

vernor-general ever had to pass through a season of such

profound anxiety, or to encounter so momentous a crisis.

If he was slow and dilatory in his movements in circum-

stances in which Lord Dalhousie's foresight, promptitude,

and energy would have been invaluable, yet he never lost

heart or confidence, and his equanimity in the most ap-

palling circumstances has never been exceeded and rarely

equalled.

1863 Lord Elgin, who had brought affairs in China to a suc-

cessful issue, was appointed to succeed him, and reached

Calcutta on the 12th March, but died at Dhurmsala, in the

Himalayas, on the 20th November in the ensuing year.

His brief tenure of office afforded no opportunity for the

display of his talents. It was, however, marked by a Ma-
homedan conspiracy against the British Government, fo-

mented by Wahabee fanatics, which burst forth at Sitana,

across the Indus, on the Afghan frontier. A large force,

under the command of Brigadier Chamberlain, consisting of

two European and six native regiments, was pushed forward

into the fastnesses in which the whole army of Akbar had
been exterminated two centuries before ; but it was not

only held in check but vigorously assailed by the irrecon-

cilable highlanders. The Brigadier was disabled by wounds,
and the position of the army became so critical that the

Council in Calcutta, contrary to the remonstrance of the

Commander-in-Chief, was on the point of withdrawing the

troops from what appeared to them a bootless warfare in

the mountains, a step which would have brought all the

wild tribes down upon the Punjab. Happily Sir W. Deni-

son, the governor of Madras, arrived in Calcutta at this

juncture to officiate as governor-general, and ordered the

campaign to be prosecuted with vigour, and it was brought

to a satisfactory close by the end of 1863.
1864 The Ministry in England were filled with alarm at the

prospect of a new Mahomedan outburst, and of the risk

associated with it, and they at once offered the governor-

generalship to the man to whom the salvation ofthe empire

during the mutiny was mainly due, and who was, moreover.
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personally acquainted with the condition of that turbulent
frontier. Sir John Lawrence arrived in Calcutta on the

12th January 1864, and found the "Umbeyla campaign,"
as it was called, terminated. Four years after, there

was another of the chronic outbreaks of these untameable
barbarians, but it was at once suppressed by the timely

march of a brigade.

The civil warin America interrupted the supply of cotton *•"•

with which the looms of England had been fed, and it
^

became necessary to look to India for a substitute. The
price accordingly rose to a rare amount, and the exports

increased two and three hundred per cent., but astheygreatly

exceeded the imports from England, the article was paid for

in coin. During the continuance of the American war the

imports of the precious metals into India amounted to more
than seventy-five crores of rupees and poured riches into the

lap of the cultivators, such as neither they nor their ancestors

had ever dreamt of. The influx of wealth was poetically

described by the metaphor that the ryots made the tyres of

their cart-wheels of silver.

The unexpected increase of prosperity at Bombay arising i865

from the export of cotton, created a perfect mania of specu-

lation. The most preposterous schemes were brought
forward, and met with ready acceptance, and the shares of

the companies rose fifteen and twenty-fold. The Bank of

Bombay lent itself to these wild projects without scruple,

and when the bubble burst was driven into the bank-

ruptcy Court, the first bank associated with Grovemment
which had ever been subject to such disgrace.

Sir John Lawrence found the Government of Bengal 186+

involved in disputes with the wild tribes of Bootan. On
the conquest of Assam, the tract of cultivated land lying at

the foot of the hills, called the Dooars, was annexed, but

a trifling annuity was paid to the chief by way of compen-
sation and to keep the tribes quiet, but it did not restrain

them from making inroads into the plains, plundering the

villages, and kidnapping its inhabitants. The subsidy was
accordingly withheld, and the inroads were multiplied, and
the Hon. Ashley Eden was sent as an envoy to the Bootan
capital by the Government of Bengal. It was an imprudent
act, and met with its reward. Mr. Eden was subject to

every indignity from the barbarians, and signed an igno-

minious treaty under compulsion, resigning the Dooars to

the chief. The consequence was a declaration of war ; the

foe was contemptible, yet one fort was retaken ; the country
was unhealthy, and the force was found to be inadequate.
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A second campaign was undertaken the next year, with a
larger force, and though the troops suffered to a fearful

extent from the climate, the Bootanees were obliged to

succumb. The treaty made with them, however, assigned

them an annuity of 25,000 rupees for the Dooars. The
A.D. whole transaction, from first to last, was unfortunate, and
18G5 proved that the existing Government of Bengal was equally

as incompetent in war as in diplomacy,

1866 The year 1866 was marked by a desolating famine in

Orissa. The total failure of the rains in the preceding year
had given a premonition of its approach, but the Govern-
ment of Bengal took no precautionary measure, and con-

tinued indifferent until the visitation arrived, and it was
too late in the season to send succour by sea. The calamity

was mitigated by the exertions of Lord Harris, the governor
of Lladras, but the number of victims was moderately esti-

mated at three quarters of a million, and the event has left

a deep stain on the reputation of the Bengal authorities.

1865 One of the most important legislative measures of Sir

John Lawrence's administration had reference to the

tenancy question in the Punjab and in Onde. He was
anxious to protect the rights of the hereditary cultivators

against the encroachments of the landholders, whether
zemindars or talookdars. A great outcry was raised

against the Acts which were of his creation, as being calcu-

lated to unsettle the engagements which had been made
with the talookdars, and to revive disaffection. It was
found, on enquiry, that the ryots in Oude for whose benefit

the Government had incurred the greatest risk, had joined

their old talookdars during the mutiny, in spite of the

oppression under which they had groaned, and that there

was in fact no class to whom the term of hereditary culti-

vators could be applied. The question was discussed with

great earnestness, and no little acrimony, and it was
silenced rather than settled by Sir Charles Wood's despatch,

desiring the local authorities " to take especial care, with-
" out sacrificing the just rights of others, to maintain the
" talookdars of Oude in that position of consideration and
" dignity which Lord Canning's Government contemplated
"conferring on them."

1867 The affairs of Mysore were brought to an issue during

the administration of Sir John Lawrence. Lord WilUam
Bentinck, as already stated, was constrained, by the insuf-

ferable misrule of the raja to assume the government of

the country, and grant the raja a suitable pension. The
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administration was placed in the hands of General Cubbon,
one of the Company's great statesmen, under whom Mysore
reached a state of unexampled prosperity. The raja

petitioned Lord Hardinge to restore the government to him.
The question was referred to General Cubbon, who reported

that every improvement which had been made had en-

countered the strenuous opposition of the raja, and that the

transfer of the government to him would be fatal to the

prosperity ofthe people ; the request was therefore declined.

A similar application was made to Lord Dalhousie, to Lord
Canning, to Lord Elgin, and to Sir John Lawrence, and
it was emphatically refused. Sir Charles Wood uphold
the decision of the five Governors-General. Tha raja then
proceeded to adopt a son, and demanded that he should be
acknowledged the heir to the throne. In the creation of

the principality in 1801, Lord Wellesley had expressly ex-

cluded all reference to heirs and successors, and limited the

enjoyment of the crown to the raja, on whom he had
bestowed it as a personal gift. But in 1867, the Conserva-
tive Secretary of State for India reversed the decisions of all

the public authorities in India, and recognised the adopted
son as the fature heir of the throne, to whom the administra-

tion of the country is to be consigned on his coming of age.*

Dost Mahomed, who had faithfully maintained his en- ^^
gagements with the British Government, died in 1863, and i868

a struggle for the crown immediately commenced in his

family. His son. Shore Ali, whom he had nominated his

successor, mounted the throne and was soon driven from it,

but at length succeeded in recovering it. During these

intestine struggles. Sir John Lawrence maintained a strict

neutrality, and avoided any interference in the contests,

which were desolating the country. His policy was by
some applauded as masterly inactivity, and it might
possibly for a time have been a prudent course, but the

rapid development of events in Central Asia, and the pro-

gress of Russian influence have rendered the maintenance of

it impracticable.

Sir John's administration was marked by great attention

to works of irrigation, and immediately before the expira-

tion of his term of office he drew up a minute detailing

those which had been completed and planned for all the

Presidencies. These works would have required an expendi-

ture of many crores of rupees, but as the finances exhibited

an annual deficit, the complete canalization of India was
necessarily postponed to a more auspicious period.

* He does not attain his majority until February 1881,

M M
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A.D. Sir John Lawrence on his return to England was re-

1868 warded for his pre-eminent services to India by his eleva-

tion to the peerage.

Lord Mayo was appointed his successor, and landed in

India in the beginning of 1868 ; and one of his first acts

was to modify Sir John Lawrence's policy of non-interfer-

ence in the affairs of Afghanistan. The Ameer Shere Ali

was invited to an interview, and, on the 29th March, was
received with great distinction and pomp at Umballa,
when not only was his position as the ruler of the nation

recognised, but he was gratified with a subsidy of twelve

lacs a -year, and a supply of arms. Lord Mayo rendered

himself popular with the native chiefs by his graciousness,

and with the European community by his princely hospi-

tality. The most noted feature of his administration was
the projection of a system of railways, embracing 10,000
miles, to be constructed by the State, and not by the agency
of guaranteed companies. He fell by the dagger of an as-

sassin, in January 1872, at Port Blair, on the Andamans,
to which he was paying an official visit.

1872 On the death of Lord Mayo, Lord Napier, the Governor
of Madras, succeeded by law to the supreme adminis-

tration, until the appointment, early in 1872, of Lord
Northbrook. The new Viceroy possessed a large official

experience, having been Under-Secretary in various de-

partments at home, and his qualities as a statesman were
soon tested by the alarming progress of Russia in Central

Asia. To a demand by the Khivans for assistance. Lord
Northbrook replied that, where just claims were made by a

great European power like Russia, a less civilized nation was
bound to comply with them, and that he could not guarantee

any aid from England. As the Russian Government had
specifically stated that their only object was the redress of

grievances, and that there was no intention on their part

to retain any Khivan territory, it was difficult to see why
England should interfere.

1873 The threatened expedition against Khiva took place in the

spring of 1873, and resulted in the complete success of the

Russians. Their army, under General Kauffmann, marched
almost unmolested through the country, and occupied

the capital without serious resistance. The Khan surren-

dered, and agreed to all the demands which were forced

upon him by the Russian General, including a complete sub-

mission to the Czar's authority, which virtually deprived

him of independence. After this fresh advance, an agree-



Sect. III.] EPITOME OF SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 531

nient was concluded between the English and Russian
Governments, that the latter should abstain from interference

with the boundaries of Afghanistan as fixed by England

;

and subsequent events showed the wisdom of this arrange-

ment.

In India itself the dread of famine caused great anxiety.

The failure of the autumn rains in Bengal and Behar had so

materially injured the rice crops, that scarcity was imminent
unless precautionary measures were taken. Determined to

avoid the miseries of Orissa in 1866, Sir George Campbell,
the Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal, an active and vigorous

administrator, had purchased large quantities of grain, and
organized relief works in anticipation of the impending
dearth ; while in all his efforts to surmount the difficulties he
foresaw, he received the approval and support of the Viceroy
and home authorities.

The year 1874 opened with gloomy prospects, and the a.o.

distress soon assumed large proportions. Not only the late 1874

crop of 1873, but the April crop which followed, proved
failures, and the Government found it necessary to supply

far larger quantities of rice than they had calculated upon,

and to face transport difficulties which impeded the distribu-

tion of food. All obstacles were, however, overcome by Sir

Richard Temple, the successor of Sir George Campbell, who
displayed rare administrative ability, and, by his energy and
the skilful use of the means at his disposal, battled with the

famine till the plentiful rains in June put an end to all

anxiety, and enabled those who had been relieved by Gov-
ernment during the scarcity, to return to their occupations.

Some idea may be gathered of the gigantic nature of the

task of conveying food to the famine districts, when it was
found to require 100,000 carts and 200,000 bullocks to carry

the grain from the railway to the depots ; and in addition to

these, 2000 camels and 9000 horses were needed to take sup-

plies into the more inaccessible parts of the interior ; while

over 2300 boats and 10 steamers transported the grain by
water, on the Ganges and other rivers. Lord Northbrook,
moreover, determined to utilize the public distress by em-
ploying the sufferers on two great public works—the exten-

sion of the Soane Irrigation Canal, and the construction of

the Northern Bengal Railway. The number of people

engaged in these and local relief works when the distress

was at its height, was estimated at 1,770,000; and the cost

to the Government of the relief operations alone, was nearly

£7,000,000.
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In Afghanistan affairs had assumed an unsatisfactory

position. The Ameer, Shere Ali, having banished his eldest

son, Yakoob Khan, induced him to return to Cabul, and
then imprisoned him. The ostensible cause of this act of

treachery was the report that Yakoob was intriguing for the
surrender of Herat to Persia; the real reason was the

desire of the Ameer to secure the succession for a younger
and favourite son, Abdullah. This son died before the

question was settled, and by the recent accession of Yakoob
to the throne vacated by his father, it would appear that he
had retained his hereditary position, in spite of the deceit

practised on him.
Af^- The corrupt and vicious administration of Mulhar Rao,
'°'* the Gaikwar of Baroda, had repeatedly called forth the

remonsti;0,nces of those in authority, and the hesitation

of the Government to recognise a son he affirmed to be
legitimate, had increased his irritation against them.

Colonel Phayre was the British Resident at Baroda, and
while these disputes were at their height, an attempt was
undoubtedly made to take his life by poison. It was
alleged that this act was instigated by the Gaikwar, and a

1875 Royal Commission was therefore formed to inquire into the

matter. This Commission was composed of three native

princes—the Maharajahs of Gwalior and Jeypore, and Rajah
Sir Dinkur Rao—and three English officials—Sir Richard

Couch, the President, Sir Richard Meade, and ^Mr Philip

Melville. Although the proceeding was simply an inquirj-

for the information of Government, it was conducted in the

same manner as an English trial, and the Gaikwar was de-

fended by an advocate—Mr Serjeant Ballantine—specially

sent out from London on his behalf. In the result the

Court was divided in opinion, the native princes expressing

doubts as to the guilt of the accused, the English entertain-

ing none. The practical decision, therefore, rested with the

Viceroy, who, with the sanction of the home authorities,

declared the Gaikwar to have forfeited his throne,—though

the measure was afterwards stated to be more an act of

political necessity than a judicial sentence. A young prince

of the Kandeish branch was chosen to succeed him, and edu-

cated for his post by one of the most able of native states-

men under British supervision ; but no alterations have

been made in any of the existing treaty arrangements.

The Governor of Madras, Lord Hobart, died on the 27th

April 1875. He was an able and conscientious administrator,

who did much to promote the welfare and prosperity of the
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community, and initiated during his tenure of office the con-

struction of an artificial harbour for Madras, and a scheme
for draining the town. He was succeeded by the Duke of

Buckingham and Chandos.

An event of national importance—the visit of the Prince a.d,

of Wales to India—took place towards the close of this year, 1875

Leaving England on the 11th October, the Prince, after

stopping a few days at Athens, proceeded to Cairo, where he
invested the Viceroy's eldest son. Prince Tewfik, with the

Order of the Star of India, and landed at Bombay on the

8th November. The reception that greeted him was most
enthusiastic ; and throughout his tour everything tended to

show the gratification of the natives at the royal visit. At
Madras, where he was magnificently entertained by the

Governor, he exchanged visits with the Maharajahs of the

Presidency; and on New-Year's Day 1876, he presided over 1876

an investiture of the Star of India, which was held at Cal-

cutta on a sumptuous scale. He then proceeded up the

country, entered Delhi in state, through five miles of soldiery,

and received an address from the native municipality of

that ancient capital of Hindostan. Opportunities Avere

afforded him of studying the native principalities, by his

visits to Nepaul, to the Maharajahs of Puttiala and of

Gwalior, and to Holkar at Indore; and when he embarked at

Bombay, on the 13th March, he expressed, in a letter to Lord
Northbrook, the sincere pleasure as well as instruction which
he had derived from his first visit to India.

Some difficulties had meanwhile arisen between the Viceroy
and the Secretary of State. The Government of India passed,

on the 5th August 1875, an edict known as the Tariff Act.

It revised the whole system of customs in India, and abol-

ished export duties, but confirmed the import tax on manu-
factured cotton goods, and imposed an additional tax on raw
cotton of the finer sort. Lord Salisbury at once not only

expressed his dissent from, and desired the repeal of, these

two provisions of the Act, but he also strongly censured the

Indian authorities for passing so important a measure with-

out reference to the Home Government. Lord Northbrook
defended his position with skill and dignity, and on his

retirement from office, on the 4th January 1875, his services

were rewarded with an earldom. His successor, Lord Lytton,

although he had distinguished himself in literature and diplo-

macy, had not hitherto held any important administrative

trust. The obnoxious cotton duties were repealed by degrees
;

but, on the other hand, the new Viceroy adopted a concilia-
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toiy tone towards the natives of India, and endeavoured to

diffuse the same through Anglo-Indian society.

A.n. A year had not elapsed since the Prince of Wales's visit to
1S77 Delhi, when it again became the scene of a grand ceremonial.

Parliament having decided that her Majesty the Queen should

assume the imperial title of Empress of India, an assemblage

of native chiefs and princes took place at Delhi on the Ist

January 1877, when the new dignity was proclaimed by the

Viceroy, amidstthe most enthusiastic demonstrations of loyalty.

The presence of so many native and British ofl&cials afforded an
opportunity of holding a conference on the important legisla-

tive and fiscal matters which pressed at this time; whUe many
concessions w^ere made, rewards for past services granted,

and pensions augmented. One most important act was the

release of some 16,000 prisoners, whose cases had been care-

fully inquired into by Sir Edward Bayley ; and to him must
be attributed the beneficial influence this salutary measure
exercised upon the minds of the natives of India.

Still, this splendid ceremony did not produce the entire

political effect that might have been expected. Men's minds
were too full of the prospects of the famine, which threatened

to devastate the presidencies of Bombay and ^Madras, and
even to penetrate into some of the neighbouring states.

These fears were only too soon fulfilled : the rainfall of the

previous year had more or less failed, while the spring and
summer rains of 1877 were poor and irregular, and the dearth

could no longer be averted. But Indian authorities had
grown wise by sad experience, and the means previously

used in Bengal to distribute supplies, and organize relief

works, were everyw'here adopted. In spite of all efforts, how-
ever, it was afterwards stated in the House of Commons that

no less than 1,350,000 lives had been lost ; and it was not until

autumn was well advanced that the officials in the famine

districts ceased to require help. England had liberally as-

sisted their efforts by sending them nearly half a million of

money ; and the generous and noble manner in which she

took up the cause of her impoverished subjects in Asia, did

much to unite the two nations, and to frustrate any evils

arising from supposed Russian designs. In view, however,

of the terrible frequency of famines in India, the Finance

Minister, Sir John Strachey, brought forward a proposal,

advocating an additional tax, the proceeds of which were

to be set aside to form a sinking fund for future emergen-

cies ; and the measure in due course received the sanction of

Government.
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Jung Bahadoor, the virtual sovereign of Nepaul, whose ser-

vices during the Mutiny are elsewhere noticed (see p. 516),

died this year. Although he strictly excluded Europeans
from his territory, he invariably maintained an amicable

policy towards the Indian Government, and the loss of so

steady a friend on the frontier was severely felt.

The tribes on our north-west boundary, always turbulent,

now showed signs of aggression, and it was evident that

strong measures were required to repress them, one of them,

the Jowakis, having, within the short space of a week,

made no less than four incursions into British territory. In
their last expedition, they attacked a body of the 22d Regi-

ment, and killed and wounded some of the soldiers. A small

field-force, however, was sent against them, which soon put
down all resistance, and quiet was again restored along the

border.

In April 1878 the Government received orders from home a.d.

to despatch a force of 7000 native soldiers to Malta. Such 1878

an event as the employment of sepoys in Europe was with-

out precedent in our annals ; but the disturbed state of

affairs in the East, which originally caused the movement,
becoming by diplomatic arrangements more tranquil, the

troops were recalled after a few months' absence.

Our relations with Cabul had meanwhile become most
precarious. The Ameer, Shere Ali, was offended by our

occupation of Quettah ; this, and various other alleged griev-

ances, caused the failure of a conference at Peshawur between

his agent and our representative, Sir Louis Pelly, and were

doubtless among the motives which induced him to receive

a Russian embassy at Cabul. A counter-embassy, under
General Chamberlain, was promptly despatched by Lord
Lytton ; but on the 21st September 1878, it was turned

back at Ali Musjid, the first Afghan fortress in the Khyber
Pass, by the commandant, who, acting under orders from
Shere Ali, refused to allow the Mission to proceed. A native

envoy, Gholam Hassan Khan, who had previously been sent

to sound the Ameer on the subject of the embassy, returned

with an unsatisfactory answer; and the Viceroy thereupon

despatched an ultimatum to Shere Ali, with the assurance

that hostilities would be commenced, if he did not accede to

the English demands before the 20th November. An evasive

reply was received, and war was at once declared.

General Sir Samuel Browne was directed to move upon the

capital with a large body of troops by the Khyber Pass. His
forces advanced on the 21st November, but their march was



536 ABRIDGMENT OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA [Chap. XV.

checked at Ali Musjid, The capture, however, of that im-

portant fortress, and the evacuation of Jellalabad by the

Afghans, followed in quick succession ; and our troops soon

afterwards encamped outside the town for the winter, with-

out encountering any serious opposition.

General Roberts, who commanded the 2d brigade, ad-

vanced into Afghanistan by the Khurum Valley, and met
with a sharp resistance at the Peiwar Pass, the occupation

of which the enemy valiantly but unsuccessfully opposed

;

while General Stewart—in charge of the other battalion

—

after an unprecedented march of nearly 400 miles over most
difficult country, joined the forces of General Bidduljjh at

Takht-i-pul, the junction of the Khojak and Gwaja passes;

and, with the exception of a slight encounter with the native

cavalry outside Candahar, they took possession of that city

unmolested. Desultory fighting followed in the neighbour-

hood, as well as in the Khost Valley, with General Roberts.

The hill-tribes also were unceasingly active ; but a further

advance of the army into the country was not deemed
necessary.

At the first approach of the British troops, Shere Ali had
fled from Cabul to Mazar-i-Sharif in Balkh, where he en-

deavoured to obtain assistance against us ; but his death

A.D. there on 21st February 1879 prevented his schemes from
1879 being carried out, and closed his checkered career. His

son, Yakoob Khan, succeeded in making good his title to

the throne, and was acknowledged by the Indian Govern-

ment ; but he at first refused to negotiate with them, until

threatened with an advance of the army on Cabul. He
then agreed to meet our emissary. Major Cavagnari, at Gan-
damuk, half-way to the capital, where, after some diplomatic

delays, a treaty of peace, offensive and defensive, was con-

cluded on the 25th May 1879, one of the principal articles of

which was the permanent residence of an English Minister at

Cabul.

Major Cavagnari, who had been knighted for his services in

the late campaign, was appointed our Envoy—a post which
he was eminently fitted to fill, from his long experience and
great tact in dealing with the half-civilized nations on our

north-west frontier. But he and his mission had hardly

entered Cabul, when Yakoob Khan warned him that his life

was in danger ; to which he replied, " that if he were killed,

there were many more in India ready to act as his suc-

cessors." A few weeks, however, passed quietly, and con-

fidence seemed to be fairly established, when the massacre of
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the gallant Cavagnari and his brave associates, and the burning
of the Embassy on the 3d of September, rudely destroyed all

hopes of peace. The Afghans had a third time broken faith

with us, and avenged their wrongs, fancied or real, on our
representatives; and a British army once more advanced,
burning with indignation, to exact retribution for the murder
of their countrymen. General, now Sir Frederick, Roberts
lost no time in marching on Cabul, which he occupied on
October 12th, after a struggle at Char-Asiab. Yakoob Khan,
who had previously fled to the British camp, was declared

to have forfeited the throne, and made a prisoner of State

;

and it was announced that the future government of the

country would be decided after the advice of the Sirdars had
been taken, and order had been restored. A fresh rising of

some of the hill-tribes and mutinous soldiers in November
caused great alarm, which was increased by the cessation of

communications with General Roberts, and he was compelled

to evacuate his post and establish his troops at Sherpur, a
high cantonment outside and commanding the capital. But
he succeeded in holding his own. General Gough advanced
to support him, and tbe close of the year saw the British

troops again victorious possessors of Cabul. With subse-

quent events there, and the future prospects of this great

question—the government of Afghanistan— it is not pro-

posed to deal.

On the 31st December 1879, the East Indian Railway
ceased to be an independent body : the English Government,
by virtue of an Act of Parliament, took the same into their

own hands, this being the first instance of the exercise of the

Imperial powers to purchase the Indian railways.
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450

Almeyda burns Dabul ; defeats the Egyp-
tian and Guzeratee fleet, 109

Almora, conquered by Colonel Gardner,
316

Aluptugeen establishes the kingdom of
Ghuzni, 19

Ameer Khan, head of the Patans in
Central India; joins Holkar and plun-
ders the country, 260. Is repulsed from
Nagpore, 297. Confirmed in his acqui-
sitions and breaks up his army, 329

Ameers of Sinde, their severe and unjust
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AMH
treatment by Lord Auckland, 396. By
Sir Charles Napier, 433. Deprived of
their kingdom, kio

Amherst, Lord, Governor-General, 346.
Engages in tlie Burmese war, 348. Leaves
the finances in a deplorable condition,
356

.\ndhra dynasty, 13
Annexation, the principle of. laid down
by the Court of Directors, 477

Anson, General, Commander-in-Chief, dies
of cholera, 508

Appa Sahib, regent of Nagpore, 322. Signs
a subsidiary treaty, 322. Murders the
raja, and mounts the throne, 331.

Breaks out, and attacks the Residency,
and is defeated, 332. Is deposed, 332

Arracan, conquered from the Burmese,
350

Aryans, their origin and progress, 3
Asoka, extent of his dominions; his

edicts, 11. Establishes the religion of
Booddha ; his death, 12

Assam, conquered from the Burmese, 350
Auckland, Lord, Governor-General, 385.

His secretaries. .389. Embarks in
the Afghan expedition, 391. It is uni-
versally reprobated ; his manifesto, 392.

Meeting with Runjeet Sing, 395. His
prostration of mind on its failure, 417

Aurungzebe deposes his father and
mounts the throne, 74. Puts his
brothers to death, 75. Defeated in the
Khyber, 83. Persecutes the Hindoos,
84. His conflicts with the Rajpoots, 85.

Proceeds to the Deccan with a magnifi-
cent army, 87. Defeated in the Concan

;

extinguishes the kingdom of Beejapore,
88. And of Golcoiida, 89. Perpetually
harassed by the Mahrattas; his plans
to baffle them, 92. Obliged to treat with
them ; retires in disgrace from the
Deccan ; his death and character, 93

Aylah bye, her exemplary administration,
260

t)ABER, his ancestry, 44. His early vicis-
*-' situdes, 46. Hisexpeditions across the
Indus, 45. Defeats the Emperor Ibrahim
at Paniput, and establishes the Mogul
dynasty, 45. Defeats the Rajpoots ; his

death and character, 46
Bajee Rao, the first Peshwa ; conflicts

with the Nizam, 100. Levies contribu-
tions on Malwa, 100. His demands on
the Emperor ; marches to the gates of
Delhi, 102. Defeats the Nizam, 103

Bajee Rao, the last Peshwa; his perfidious
character, 262. Is defeated by Holkar,
and flies to Bassein, 262. Executes the
treaty of Bassein, 262. Infatuated with
his favourite Trimbukjee,820. Connives
at the murder of Gungadhur Shastree,

320. Surrenders Trimbukjee, who
escapes from confinement, 321. Bajee
Rao prepares for hostilities, 3'J5. Obliged
to sign a new treaty and cede territory ;

forms a confederacy against the Govern-
ment, 330. Treacherously attacks Mr.

Elphinstone and is defeated; he flies,

and is pursued, 330. Surrenders, and is

pensioned, and placed at Bithoor, where
he dies after having received two and a
half crores from Government, 336

Bahadoor Shah, Emperor, defeats the
Sikhs ; his death, 95

Bahadoor Shah of Guzerat ; his conflict
with Humayoon ; loses and regains his
throne, 40. His mysterious death at
Diu, 40

Bahminee dynasty established in the
Deccan; constantly at war with Beeja-
nuger and Telingaiia, 42. It crumbles
to pieces, and five independent monar-
chies spring up, 43

Ballajee "Wishwanath establishes the
power of the Peshwas, 96 ; obtains a dis-
graceful concession from Hoosen Ali,

97. Establishes the cabinet of brahmins,
at his capital Poona, 97. His death, 99

Bank of Bombay, bankrupt, 527
Barlow, Sir George, Governor-General ad
interim, pursues Lord Cornwatlis's
policy, 281. His treaties with Sindia
and Holkar, 282. Abandons Jeypoor
and Boondee to Holkar, 282. Appointed
Governor-General by the Court of
Directors; the appointment cancelled
by the Ministry, 288. He restores the
finances, 285. Governor of Madras ; his
nnpoimlarity, 297. The mutiny of the
European officers aggravated by his in-
temperance, and quelled by his firmness,
i99. He is recalled, 300

Barnard, General, succeeds General Anson.
508. Dies of cholera, 509

Bassein, treaty of, 262
Beder, an independent state, 44
Beejanuger, an independent Hindoo state
established in the Deccan, 34. Its con-
stant wars ; its great extent and power

;

a confederacy ofthe Mahomedan princes
in the Deccan attacks and extinguishes
it at Tallikotta, 5S

Beejapore, the kingdom established in
1489,43. Rendered tributary to Delhi,
70. It is extinguished. 88. Unrivalled
magnificence of its edifices, 89

Beliar, conquered by BukhtyarGhiljie, 26
Benares, the province, taken from the
nabob of Oude, 178. The successful
exertions of Mr. Tucker to save it during
the mutiny, 503

Benfield, Paul, his extortions, 192
Bengal, governed by the Pal and the Sen

dynasties, 14. Conquered by Bukhtyar
Ghiljie, 26. Conquered by Soliman : his
son defeated by Akbar, and the king-
dom absorbed in the Mogul empire, 55

Bentinck.Lord William, recalled from the
Government of Madras, 287. Governor-
General, 357; reduces allowances, and
becomes unpopular, 357 ; enforces the
half batta order, 358. He annexes
Cachar and Coorg. 361. His non-inter-
vention policy, 362. Takes over the
government of Mysore, 36:5. Transac-
tions with Joudpore and Jeypore, 364.

And with Oude, 365. Meeting at Roopur
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witliBuiijeetSing,370. Reforms the civil

courts, 372. Completes the revenue
settlement of the N. W. provinces, 373.

Disposes of the rent-free difficulty, 373.

Admits natives to the public service,

374. Abolishes suttee, 375. Roots out
thuggee, 376. Efstablishes steam com-
munication on the Ganges: and with
England, 377, Substitutes English for

Oriental education,.S78. Establishes the
Medical College, 379. Character of his

administration, 380. Mr. Macaulay's
epitaph, .380

Berar, becomes independent, 44. Absorbed
by Ahmednugur,57. Conquered by Lord
\Vellesley. and partly made over to the
Nizam, 270. Taken over for the Nizam's
debt, 480

Bhoje raj, 24
Bhurtpore, besieged by Lord Lake, who

fails, 274. Doorjun Sal seizes it, and it

is captured by Lord Combermere, 356.

Disgraceful scenes of plunder by the
Commander-in-Chief and others, 356

Burnes, Lieutenant, afterwards Sir Alex-
ander, conducts the cart-horses to Run-
jeetSing, 369. His mission to Cabul, 389.

Advises that Dost Mahomed be subsi-
dized; Lord Auckland refuses it; the
Russian envoy received, and Burnes re-

tires. 391. He is murdered at Cabul, 408
Bird, Mr. B. M., completes the revenue
settlenient of the N. VV, provinces, 373

Black Hole tragedy, 148
Bonaparte lands in Egypt, 244
Booddhism established by Asoka, 11. Its

prevalence in the seventh century, 13
Booddha, his birth ; his creed ; his death, 8
Bootati war, 527
Buughton, Mr., cures the emperor's dau-
ghter, and obtains privileges for the
Company, 139

Braithwaite, Colonel, his memorable com-
bat with Hyder. 198

Bullabhi dynasty in Surat, 15
Burmese, the rise of the, and the progress
of their coji quests, 347. Demand the
cession of eastern Bengal, 347. Imme-
diate cause of the first war, .'}48. .'Vr-

rangement of the campaign ; disaster at
Ramoo, 349. Rangoon captured ; suffer-

ings of the army, 350. Assam and Arracan
conquered, 350. Second campaign
abortive, o51. Third campaign pushed
with vigour, and ends in peace, with a
large cession of territory, and a crore of
rupees, 352. The second war ; the cause
of it, 472. Easy capture of Rangoon, 474.
Pegu annexed, 475. Comparative cost of
the two, 475

Bussy.makes Salabut Jung Soobadar of the
Deccan, 126. Defeats the Mahrattas, 126.

Obtains the Northern Sircars, 127 ; the
Soobadar dismisses him and attacks him;
he regains his authority, 128. And be-
comes supreme arbiter in the Deccan,129.
Recalled by Lally and his power extin-
guished, 129. Returns to India; his
services to Tippoo rendered useless by
the peace, 202

CHU
OABUL. Mr. Mountstuart Elphinstone's^ embassy, 293. Lieutenant Bumes's
mission. 389. Occupied by a British
army, 39S. The revolt and siege of the
cantonment, 408. Tlie garrison in a
state of starvation, 414. The envoy en

-

veigled and murdered, 414. Evacuated
by the army, which perishes in the
passes, 417. Reoccupied by the army of

retribution, 427. The great bazaar blown
up, 429. The army retires, 429

('achar annexed, 361
Calcutta founded by Job Charnock, 141.

Surrounded by the Mahratta Ditch, 146.

Captured by Suraj-ood-dowlah, 147. Re-
covered by Clive, 149

Calicut, the first Indian port visited by
Europeans, 107

Campbell, Sir Colin, (afterwards Lord
Clyde) relieves Sir James Outram at

Lucknow, 512. He captures the town,
517

Canals in the Punjab constructed by
General Napier, 472. Sir John Law-
rence's minute on canals, 529

Canning, Mr. George, President of the
Board ofControl, refuses and then grants
permission to root out the Pindarees,
323. Moves thanks to Lord Hastings,
337

Canning, Lord, Governor-General, 489.

Memorable character of his administra-
tion, 490; his energetic movements on
the outbreak of the mutiny, 497. His
Oude proclamation. 517. Becomes the
first Viceroy, 522. His retirement and
death, 526

Carnatic, struggles for the nabobship,129

;

Mahomed AJi, S<iobadar ; his misrule.
16.5. Its deplorable condition, 250. Lord
Wellesley mediatizes the nabob, and
pensions the family, 251. The title, and
privileges of the nabob extinguished, 479

Cashmere conquered by Akbar and be-
comes his summer residence, 56. Trans-
ferred for a crore of rupees by Lord Har-
dinge to Golab Sing, 453

Central India desolated for twelve years
by the abandonment of Lord Wellesley's

policy, 318. Lord Hastings reverts to

that policy and restores peace, 327
Chalukya dynasty in the Deccan, 16
Chand Sultana of Ahmednugur, the favou-

rite heroine of the Deccan, 59. Her de-
fence of Ahmednugur ; her tragic death,

60
Cheyt Sing, raja of Benares ; Hastings's
demands on him; fines the raja for evad-

ing them, 207 ;
posts a guard at his palace

which is murdered by the populace. Has-
tings's extreme danger; he escapes to

Chunar, 208. The raja collects an army
and is defeated, 208

Chillianwalla, battle of, 464
Chittore,raja of.rejects all Mogul alliances

;

encourages Akbar's enemies, 53. His
capital captured, 53

Chola dynasty in the Deccan, 16
Cholera, first outbreak in 1817. 329
Chundra-gooptu, king ofMugudu. encoun-
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ters Seleucus and makes a treaty with
him, 10

Clivp, Lieutenant, (afterwards Lord) his

parentage, and early career at Madras,
122. Memorable defence of Arcot, 123.

Captures Geriah near Bombay, 149.

Returns to Madras ; proceeds with Ad-
miral Watson to Bengal, and recap-
tures Calcutta, 149. Defeats the nabob
at Dumdum, 15ii. Concludes a treaty
with him, 150. Captures Chandernagore,
150. Joins the confederacy against the
nabob, 151. Defeats him at Plassy, 151.

Makes Meer Jatfier nabob, 152. His part
in the deceit practised on Omichund,
151. Defeats the Dutch army at Chin-
surah, 154. Returns to England, 154.

Appointed Governor of Bengal, 160.

Finds the whole service corrupt, and
enforces the covenants, 161. Mediatizes
the nabob of Moorshedabad ; restores

Oude to the nabob ; settles Corah and
Allahabad on the emperor, together with
25 lacs of rupees, 161. Acquires the De-
wanee, 161. Puts down the mutiny of

the European officers, 163. Returns to
England; his disgraceful treatment; dies

by his own hand, 164
Cole insurrection, 360
College of Fort William, established on a
grand scale by Lord Wellesley ; redupwi
by the Court of Direitors, -Ihl

Confederacy of the Peshwa, the Nizam, the
raja of Nagpore and Hyder Ali against
the Company, 189

Coorg, misconduct of the raja; the country
conquered and annexed. 362

Coote, Colonel, (afterwards Sir Eyre) de-
feats Lally at Wandewash, 131. Captures
Pondicherry, 132. Appoiated to Council
in Calcutta; goes to Madras and defeats
Hyder thrice, 197. His death, 202

Cornwallis, Lord, Governor-General, as

well as Commander-in-Chief, 216. His
economical reforms; he raises the scale of
allowances and purifies the services, 217.

His revenue reforms, 225. His Perma-
nent Settlement determined on by Mr.
Pitt, an egregious blunder, 227. Re-
models the whole judicial system ; reor-
ganizes the civil and criminal courts,227.
His Code, 228. Excludes natives from
the public service, 229. Determines to
meet Tippoo in the field, 219. Forms al-

liances with the Peshwa and the Nizam,
220. Conducts the second campaign
against Tippoo in person ; obliged to re-

tire in sight of Seriiigapatam for want of
provisions, 221. Grand preparations for

the third campaign, 222. Marches to

Seringapatam, and makes a night attack
on Tippoo's defences, 223. Tippoo sues
for peace, which is granted on severe
terms, 223

Cottou, influx of wealth from the export of,

527
Currency, the issue of notes from the
banks of the three Presidencies discon-
tinued. A State issue of bank notes, 525

(^uuouge; its magnificence; conquered

by Mahmood of Ghuzni, 21. Despoiled
by Mahomed Ghory, 26

Cuttack, ceded to the Mahrattas, 146
Conquered from them by Lord Welles-
ley, 269. Disturbances created by op-
pressive landlords and oppressive laws,
339. Tranquillity restored by justice,
340. Desolating famine of 1866, 528

"RALHOUSIE, Lord, Governor-General,^ 457. Outbreak at Mooltan, 458. Pro-
ceeds to the north-west, 461. After the
victory of Guzerat annexes the Punjab,
409. His excellent arrangements for its

government, 470. Drawn into a war
with Burmah, 473. His admirable orga-
nisation of the expedition, 474. Pro-
ceeds in person to Rangoon to quicken
General Godwin, 475. Annexes Pegu,
475. Annexes Satara, 476. And Nag-
pore, 477. And Jhansi, 478. Sanctions
the extinction of the royal title and pri-
vileges of the nabob of the Carnatic, 479.
Settles all iiifiiculties with the Nizam,
480. Ordered from home to incorporate
Oude, 483, His administrative reforms ;

cheap and uniform postage, 484. The
Ganges Canal, 484. Railroads, and his
great minute, 485. The electric tele-
graph, 487. Character of his adminis-
tration, 487. His premature death, 4S7

Darius, his conquests in India, 9
Deccan, its early history, 15. First inva-
sion by the Mahomedans, 30- The
greater part subdued by them, 32. Lost
to the Crown of Delhi, 36. Rise of the
Bahniinee kingdom, 42. Its greatest
minister Mahomed Gawan, 43. It is

broken up and five kingdoms estab-
blished, 43. Incessant wars between
them, 44. Completely conquered by
Aurungzebe, succeeded by universal
anarchy, 89. Peace and tranquillity res-
tored by Lord Wellesley, 247

Delhi, the Hindoo king of, 20. Becomes
the Mahomedan capital, 27. Captured
and plundered by Timur, 37. The new
city, built by Shah Jehan, 74. Plun-
dered by Nadir Shah, 105. Amount of
booty carried away, 105. Plundered by
the Abdalee, 134. Lord Lake enters it,

268. Besieged by Holkar, defended by
Colonel Ochterlony, 273. Occupied by
the insurgent sepoys, 496. Protracted
siege and capture of it, 510

Dew^anee of the three Soobahs granted to
Clive by the emperor, 161

Doondhoo Punt, the Nana Sahib, leads
the revolt at Cawnpore , 501. Chased
out of India, and dies in Nepal, 518

Dost Mahomed. Lord Auckland dethrones
him, 398. He flies to Bokhara, 398.
Returns to Afghanistan and defeats
English troops, and surrenders, 4<13.

Restored to liberty, 431. Joins the
Sikhs, 461. His army chased out of the
Punjab, 468

Dumas, Governor of Pondicherry, en-
larges French power ; creates a sepoy
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army ; baffles the Maliratta general, and
is created a nabob, 113

Uupleix, his (treat genius; builds up
Chandernaf;ore

;
(governor of Pondi-

cherry ; assumes oriental state, lit.

His vast ambition ; espouses the cause
of Cliunda Sahib, and makes him nabol)
of the Carnatio, US. Receives .Mozutl'er

JuiiK with great pomp, UU. lie is at

the heifrht of his glory, ll'l. Supersrdi-d
b.v his Company, and returns to Paris,

1i5. His disgraceful treatment and
.nd,125.

U.\ST 1NDI.\ COMP.VXY incorporated
'-' by Queen Elizabeth ; their lirst enter-

prises, 138. Their establishments at

Madras, Bombay, and Bengal, loy.

They make war on the emperor, and
are obliged to retire, 110. .\11 their
establishments in Bengal abaniliiiied,

141. They are invited back and build
Calcutta, and fortify it, IH. A rival

Company established in London, its

disastrous results, HI. The two Com-
panies united, 1 W. Send an embassy to
JJeliii, and obtain jirivileges wliicli ar>-

nuUilied by Moorshed Kooly K'lian,

144. Loss of Calcutta, and their estab-
lishments extinguished in Bengal, 147.

Regain their power, and make a naboli
of their own, 15:;. Acquire the Dewa-
nee, 161. Gross abuses of their Govern-
ment and interference of Parliament.
173. The Regulating Act, 174. Placed
under the Board of Control, il'.i. Char-
ter of 1793, :;.)3. Charter of 1>13, and
loss of tlieir iii'.Uan monopoly, 3(I'J.

Charter of lS.i3 and loss of China trade
;

exist only as a political air'-ncy, o'^o.

Cliarter of 1S53
; its luoililicalions, 4.>^.

Their powt-r and possessions trans-
ferred to the Crown, 520; their local

army extinguished, as well as their
navy, 524

Edwardes, Lt., raises a force and defeats
Moolraj, 400. Jlis gn-at energy and
services during the mutiny, 4'JS

Klectric telegraph established, 4-s*>

Kign, Lord, Governor-General ; his death,
526

Ellenborougli, Lord, CIovernor-Gcneral.
419. His lirst proclamation, 42i. His
subsequent vacillations; recalls tlie

troops from Afghanistan an<l then
orders tliem to advance, 425. His jubi-
lant proclamation, 42'J. His eccentric
proclamation of tlie gates, 4>U. .\s-

sembles a large army at I'erozcpore, 431.

Annexes Snide, 4;S5. Is [ircseiit at tie'

battle of -Maharajpore, 410. The muti-
nous army of (iwalior extingnislicd, 410.

He is recalled; character of his admin-
istration, +11

KIpliinstone, (ienera), in command at

Cabul ; his utter incompelence results
in tlie ruin of the army, MfJ

Klphinstone, Mr. .Mount Siuarl, his em-
I .assy to Cabul, 293. Twice ollcrcd the

Governor-fu-nerj.sh.p and diclim-s it,

382
England, General, repulsr,! at Ilvkulzvr,
423

pER IKSHERE, cmpen.r. in bondair. to
tile Syuds ; grants ijruiiiu.- t-. till-

er.mpiriv, IH. Ihsaliows llie ci.ii.issii.n

m-.uif to" the .Malirailas liy oii'- ..r tlie

Syiuls. who niarclies to Iteu.i ;;iul

murders him, 9>
reri.zeshuhur, the battle :•(. 4-ls

Fox's India Bill ; its provisions; i-eji-eled

by the House o; l>ords, 212
Fraiieis, .Mr., his viui^-iit ojiposi'.iou t i

Mr. HastiiiL's, 17S. Tiie duel, isi

Franks, Cieneral, eoniiuers the southern
liortioii of Oude, 5U>

French, the, arrivi' in India; found I'ondi-

clierry, 112. War with the Knu'lisli, U 1.

JSecoine supreme in the C;irn;itic, 121.

And at Hyderabad, 129. Lose Chanaer-
nagore, and all power in J!eng;il, l.Mi.

Pondiclierry captured and their power
in the ])eccan e.MiiiL'uished, 132

Fullerton, C<j1., bis suece'sslul expedition
frustrated by the .M;iiiras Council, 2u3

f'HAZEF-OOD-DEKX blinds the em-^ peror and di'i.oses hull, 134
(iliiljie dvnastv, 30
(iholam kadir plunders Delhi and blinds
the emperor; captured by SiiiUia and
hacked to pieces, 23ii

(ihore dynasty, ;;3

(iliuzni liecomes indeiien,b'tit. 19. Pil-

hmed by Aila-oo(i.,ieeii, 21. Extinction
of the (lyii:isiy. 21. lakin liv the
Einrli^li, 397. The lortiheations bl(;wii

up, 427
Gillespie, Gener.-il, (piells the Vellore

mutiiiv, 28i;. Captures F(jrt Cornells,
.303. Jvilled at Kaluiiira,3U

(ioddaril, (ieiieral, his exii<-ditioii across
the Coiitini'iit, 1S7. His tre;uy witii

the Gaikwar, ls7. Captures Aiinieda-
b:ul, chases Sindi;i and llolkar. Iss.

His unsuiMcsslul expeuitiou to Poona.
1^9

(iolcouda, biH'oines an independent king-
dom, 34. Absorlis the Hindoo slate of

Telingana, 57. 1 he i-elelo:ile,l niinisler

.Meer Joomla,71. The c.-ipiial take-i Ly
treachery, s'.i. 1 lie ds nasty ixtin-
u-uished, b9

(b.ugh. Sir Hii-h, (alteruar.ls Lord
(ioin^h),deri:,is il,e Maliralta-al Maha-
rajpore, 410. lialt .> of .Mo .,(,.. e. 117.

.\nd I'eroz.siiiilnir, lis. lio-eiL-. mei,;

at Kainnu :i:ur. ir,-j l;:iii:e ,.i Cn,.,;.,!,-

walla ; he i^ n iaile,i. n;.). \"u-tor> a:

(iuzerai, I^i7

(ioiir, ilestni.iion <p| the cily. :.<;

(iir/.erat, iieconies an lll.ie|jelele1;t killf-

(iom. ''.:<. »).cuiiie,| hv HunKiSoiii;
annexed to the en.piie liy Akl.ar, lo

(.Junloor Snaar. proeei-diius of tie

Madras Council regarding it, Ui 3 Ti,
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Kizam surrenders it to Lord Corn-
wallis, 218. Plundered by the Pindarees,
322

Gwalior, taken by Captain Popham, 188.
Advance of Sir Hugh Gough to it in
1843, 439. Occupied by Tantia Topee and
recovered by Sir Hugli Eose, 515

XTALP BATTA order euforced by Lord
-^ W. Beutinck, 358
Halliday, Sir Frederick, secretary to the
Government of Bengal; its first Lieu-
tenant-Governor, 489

Hamilton, Mr., the surgeon, cures the em-
peror and obtains privileges for the
Company. 141

Hardinge, Sir Henry, Governor-General

;

liis antecedents, 442. Fights four
battles with the Sikhs, 4,53. Restores
the Punjab, 453. Raised to the peerage,
454. Disposes of Cashmere to Golab
Sing, 453. Reduces the army, 4.55. His
movable brigades, 456. His civil im-
provements, 456

Harris, Gfeneral, his Mysore campaign,
246

Hastings, Warren, his early career; ap-
pointed member of Council at Madras;
Governor of Bengal, 175. His vigorous
reforms, 176. Engages in the Eohilla
war, 176. Sells Corah and Allahabad to
the nabob of Oude, 176. Appointed
Governor-General, and bullied by his
colleagues, 177. The case of Nunkoo-
mar, 179. His energetic conduct on
the destructiun of Baijlie's detachment,
196. Fights a duel with Mr. Francis,
181. His harsh conduct towards Cheyt
Sing; he escapes to Chunar, 208. Con-
sents to the plunder of the Begums, 209.

Returns to England, 210. His recep-
tion, 210. His impeachment; his ac-
quittal ; the ruin of his finances, 211.

His character, 211
Hastings, Lord, Governor-General : his
antecedents, 310. Forced into a war with
the Nepaulese ; obtains two loans from
the nabob of Oude, 313. Subsidiary
treaty with Nagpore, 322. Takes the
field aeainst the Pindarees; their com-
plete destrftction, 334. War with the
Mahrattas, 328. Grand result of the
Mahratta and Pindaree war, 334. His
alliances with the native princes in

Hindostan, 327- Ungracious thanks of
Parliament, 337. Hostility of the
Directors to him, 337. His encourage-
ment of education, 3.38. His liberality

to the press, 339. Affairs of Palmer and
Co. at Hydei-abad, 342. Financial pros-

Eerity, and territorial increase during
is administration, 340. His unfortunate

association with Palmer and Co. at

Hyderabad, 34;?. Condemned by the
India House, 345. Ungrateful return
for his services, 345

Havelock, General, sent to command the
movable column at Allahabad; his

numerical force, 504. Defeats the muti-

HTD
neersatFuttehpore, atOnao, at Pandoo-
nuddee, and at Cawnpore, 505. Crosses
the Granges to relieve Lucknow ; beats
the enemy at Aong; falls back to
Munglewar, 506. Again advances into
Oude ; defeats the sepoys, and returns
to Cawnpore ; advances to Lucknow a
third time with Sir James Outram, and
relieves the besieged garrison, 507. Dies
at Lucknow, £12

Herat, description of the country, 393.

The city besieged by the king of Persia;
defended by Lt. Pottinger; the siege
raised, 394. Major Todd, envoy; obliged
to withdraw the mission, 404

Heytsbury, Lord, sworn in as Governor-
General ; the appointment cancelled,
382

High courts established, 525
Hindoo College established, 338
Hindoostan, its boundaries, 1. Its state
on the invasion of Mahomed Ghory, 24.

And on the invasion of Baber, 45
Holkar, rise of the family, 101. Mulhar
Rao, defeated by the Abdalee, 135.

Sustains a crushing defeat by Sindia's
army, 261. Admirable administration of

Aylah bye, 260
Holkar Jeswunt Rao, his proceedings, 260.

Joined by Ameer Khan and plunders
Malwa, 261. Defeats Sindia's army, 261.

Is defeated by Sindia's general, 261.

Marches to Poona, and beats the Peshwa
and Sindia, and occupies Poona, 262.

His wild proceedings and insolent de-
mands, 271. Lord Wellesley declares war
against him, 272. He compels Colonel
Monson to retreat, 273. Besieges Delhi
and obliged to retire, 273. Plunders the
Dooab, 273. Defeated at Deeg, 274.

Chased by Lord Lake into the Punjab,
and sues for peace ; disreputable treaty
made by Sir George Barlow, 282. He
plunders the Punjab, Jeypore and
Boondee, 283. State of affairs at Indore,
1811-17, 326. The army marches down to
join the Peshwa, and is defeated at
Mehidpore ; treaty of peace, 333

Holland, Governor of Madras; his gross
misconduct ; deserts his post, 219

Hope, Brigadier, the Hon. Adrian, killed,

518
Huraayoon, Emperor ; cedes the Trans-
Indus provinces to his brother ; defeats
Bahadoor Shah of Guzerat, 47. Is

defeated and expelled from India by
Shere Shah, 48. His wanderings and
adventures, 48. Recrosses the Indus

;

recovers his throne, and dies, 50
Hyderabad, the contingent, 341. Mal-
administration of Chundoo Lall, 342.

Palmer and Co. make advances, and
become a power in the State, 342. Their
debt paid off, 344. Districts assigned for

the pay of the contingent, 480
Hyder Ali, his rise and jjrogress; his

Ignorance of letters; his first distinction

;

deposes the raja of Mysore, and takes
possession of the government, 166.

Acquires rich booty at Bednore, 167.
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Joins the Nizam against the English ; is

defeated by Colonel Smith, 170. Recovers
his losses, and dictates peace under the
walls of Madras. 171. Defeated at Mil-
gota by the Mahrattas ; besieged Ave
weeks; makes peace with them, and cedes
much territory, 172. Joins the confede-
racy against the English, 194. Bursts
on the Camatic, 196. Annihilates
Colonel Baillie's force, 196. Thrice
aefeated by Sir Eyre Coote, 197. His
death, 201

TBRAHIM, Adll Shah; his magnificent
-*- buildings at Beejapore, 89
Ibrahim of Jounpore, the extraordinary
number and maguiiiceuce of his edifices,

38
Imad Shahee dynasty established at Berar,
44

Impey, Sir Elijah, appointed chief of the
Sudder Court, 207. Great advantages
of his service, 207

India, its boundaries, divisions, area and
population ; early history and chrono-
logy, 1, 2. Its aborigines, 3. The period
of its greatest literary eminence, 13. Its
state at the period of Mahomed Ghory,
24. Of Baber's invasions, 46. Of Nadir
Shah's irruption.lOS. Of Lord Wellesley's
advent, 239. On the arrival of Lord
Hastings, 311

Indigo disturbances, 524
Istaliff captured, 429

JAVA strengthened by Napoleon, 302.
" Conquered by Lord Minto, 303
Jehander Shah, killed by Eerokshere, 96
Jehangeer succeeds Akbar on the throne ;

his cruelty, 63. His marriage with
Noor Jehau ; her character and influ-
ence, 64. Failure of his expeditions to
the Deccan, 65. Extinguishes Oody-
pore, 65. Embassy of Sir Thomas Roe
to his court, 65. Is seized by his general
Mohabet ; rescued by Noor Jehau and
dies, 68

Jelian Lodi, revolts in the Deccan; his
death, 69

Jellalabad, fortified by General Sale, 420.
Visited with a succession ofearthquakes,
421. Relieved by General Pollock, 422

Jenghis Khan desolates Central Asia, 28
Jeypore, Ameer Khan invades it ; inter-
vention of the Governor-Greneral; the
raja refuses a subsidiary alliance, 323.
And accepts it, 328

Jhansi annexed by Lord Dalhousie, 478.
The ranee recovers it during the
mutiny; she massacres the Europeans,
513. Her martial character and her
death, 515

Jounpore, an independent kingdom;
Ibrahim its greatest monarch ; extinc-
tion of the kingdom, 38

TTAFOOB MALIK, the general of Alia-
•^ ood-deen, conquers Warungul and
the Camatic, 31. Ravages the Deccan

;

his infamous conduct and death, 32
Kala-pahar, a converted Hindoo, conquers

Orissa, and persecutes tlie Hindoos, 56
Kesari dynasty in Orissa, 17
Khiva, a Russian army sent against it,

and obliged to retire, 401
Khyberees, annihilate Akbar's army, 67
Kolapore, a Mahratta principality, the

rival of Satara, sinks into insignificance,
101

Kooroos, their struggles with the Pan-
doos, 5

Kootub-ood-deen Eibuck establishes the
slave dynasty ; makes Delhi his capital,
27

Kootub Shahee dynasty established at
Golconda, 44

Korygaum, battle of, 335

T ABOURDONNAIS, his improvements
-^ at the Mauritius; arrives at Pondi-
cherry with a fleet ; indecisive action
with the English, 115. Captures
Madras ; his dissensions with Dupleix,
116. Returns to Paris ; thrown into the
Bastile and dies, 116

Lake. General (afterwards Lord 1, captures
Allygurh, 267. Beats Sindia before
Delhi and at Laswaree, 269. Captures
Deeg ; besieges Bhurtpore and fails. 274.
Pursues Holkar into the Punjab, 281

Lall Sing, paramour of the ranee, prime
minister at Lahore, 445. Deposed for
treachery and banished, 454

Lally, governor of Pondicherry, 130. Cap-
tures St. David, 130. Assails Taniore
and retires, 130. Lays siege to Maciras

• and fails, 131. Recalls Bussy, 129. De-
feated by Colonel Coote at Wandewash,
131. Besieged in Pondicherry, and
obliged to surrender; returns to Paris;
tried and beheaded, 132

Lawrence, Major Stringer, engaged two
years in the siege of Trichinopoly

;

obliges the French to surrender, 123.

Defends Madras, 131
Lawrence, Sir Henry, resident at Lahore,

455. Puts down opposition at Cash-
mere, 454. Commisioner in Oude, un-
able to stem the revolt, 600. Disaster
at Chinhut. 500. Killed by the bursting
of a shell, 501

Lawrence, Sir John (afterwards Lord
Lawrence), head of the Lahore admini-
stration, 497. His extraordinary eimrgy
during the mutiny, 499. Enlists Sikh
regiments for the siege of Delhi, 509.

His opinion of the mutiny, 519. Ap-
pointed Governor-General, 627. His
policy in the contest in Afghanistan,
620. His minute on canals, 529

Littler. Sir John, liis position at Loodiana
and Ferozeshuhur, 448

Lodi dynasty seated on the Delhi throne,- lb " •Ibrahim, the last of the princes,
alienates his nobles who invite Babcr, 30

N N
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TV/TACARTNET, Lord, governor of Ma-
^^^ dras, 198. Contrary to his instruc-

tions negotiates with Tippoo, 204. Re-
fused the Governor-Gfeneralship, 215

Macaulay, Mr., his inscription on the
statue of Lord William Bentinck, 380.

He gives a fatal blow to orientalism, 378.
His penal code, 525

Macnaughten, Mr. W. (afterwards Sir
William), envoy with Shah Soojah, .395.

His treaty with the Afghans, 412. In-
veigled by Akbar Khan and murdered,
414

Macpherson, Sir John, Govemor-Grcneral
ad interim ; his economical reforms, 215

Madras, its foundation, its growth, 139.

Captured by Labourdonnais, 116. R/C-

stored at the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle,
117. Besieged by Lally without success,
130. The governor Mr. Palk's disgrace-
ful treaty with the Nizam, 169. Drawn
into a war with Hyder which is mis-
managed, when he dictates peace, 171.

Demoralised by dealing in the nabob's
debts, 213. War with Hyder, 194. A
desolating famine, 200. Disresputable
treaty with Tippoo, 204. Mutiny of
European ofHcers, i97

Maharajpore, baitle of, 440
Mahmood of Ghuzni, invades India ; con-
ducts twelve expeditions ; his expedition
to Mooltan, to Nagarcote, to Thanesur,
20. ToCunouge,and Somnath, 21. His
death and character, 22

Mahomed, his birth ; establishes his creed
in Arabia, 18

Mahomedanism, its rapid conquests, 18
Mahomed Ali, nabob of the Carnatic; his
cause espoused by the Madras authori-
ties, 124. Urges the spoliation of Tan-
jore, 165. His debts the source of de-
moralisation at Madras ; the shameless
proceedings connected with them, 213.
Paid off without enquiry by Mr. Dun-
das, 214

Mahomed Ghory, founder of Mahomedan
greatness in India, 24. Demolishes
Hindoo power in Hindostan, 26. His
death and character, 27

Mahomed Shah of Guzerat, his brilliant
reign of forty years, 39. Creates a navy,
his conflicts with the Portuguese, 40

Mahomed Shah, emperor of Delhi, defeated
by Nadir Shah, but restored to the
throne, 105. His death, 133

Mahrattas, description of the country;
their rise and progress, 76. Their military
power, 77. Their greatness created by
Sevajee, 77. Only a vestige of their em-
pire left in 1689, 91. The regent Kam-
raj retires to Tanjore ; new system of
exactions, 91. Comparison of their
armies with those of the Mogul, 92.
They baffle and pursue Aurungzebe, 93.
Discord among them ; the rival houses of
Satara and Kolapore, 94. They invade
Bengal, and obtain the cession ofOrissa,
14«i. They march to the Indus, 134.
Obtain large cessions of territory from
the Nizam ; they are at the zenith of

their power, 135. Totally defeated at
Paniput, 137. Renew their expeditions
to Hindostan, and plunder the Rajpoots
the Jauts, and the Bohillas, 172. Re-
called to Poona, 173. Defeated by the
English under Colonel Keating, 183. Con-
clude the treaty of Poorundur with Col.
Upton, 184. Bombay Council send an
expedition to Poona, which fails ; con-
vention of Wurgaum, 186. Treaty of Sal-
bye, 190. Defeat the Nizam at Kurdla,
235. Join Lord Cornwallis in the war
with Tippoo, 220. Treaty of Bassein,263.
War with the English ; Sindia and the
Nagpore raja totally defeated ; large por-
tions of their dominions annexed, 270.

War with the English in 1»17, 328.

Their power completely annihilated,
335.

Mahratta ditch at Calcutta, 146
Malik Amber the great statesman and
general of Ahmednugur, 65. His death,
69

Malwa, kingdom of, established by Dilawur
Khan, 36. Brilliant reign of Mahomed
Ghiljie; eccentricities of his son, 41.

Annexed to Guzerat, 41. Conquered by
the Mahrattas and divided between
Sindia and Uolkar, 101

Martin, M.,the earliest of French colonists

;

his extraordinary energy, 112
31auritius, the, occupied by the French,

112. Great depredations of its privateers,

301. Captured by Lord Minto, 301
Mayo. Lord, Governor-General, his Afghan

policy, 530. His state railways; hia

popularity, and tragic death, 5.30

Medows, Gen., his abortive campaign in

Mysore, 220
Meer Cossim, created nabob of Bengal,
his vigorous administration, makes
Monghyr his capital ; creates an army,
156. Disputes about the transit duties
with the Council ; their base conduct,
157. They declare war with him ; he is

defeated and flies, after massacring all

his European prisoners, 158
Meer Jaffier, made nabob, 152. Is deposed,

156. Made nabob a second time; his

death, 169
Meer Joomla's expedition to Assam ; its

failure, his death, 76
Meerun, son of Meer Jaffler, puts Suraj-
ood-dowlah to deatli, 152

Metcalfe, Mr. (subsequently Sir Charles),
his successful mission to Lahore, 293.

His minute respecting Bhurtpore, 355.

Nominated Governor-General by the
Court of Directors, rejected by the Min-
istry, 382. First Governor of Agra, 383.

Officiating Governor-GeneraI,establishes
the liberty of the press, which is dis-

pleasing to the Directors, and he resigns
the service, 38 1. Governor of Canada
and Jamaica, 384

Mysore, a principality created for the old

dynasty by Lord Wellesley, 248. The in-

corrigible conduct of the raja creates a
revolt : quelled by British troops, 363.

Lord W. Bentinck takes over the admi-
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nistration, 363. It is restored to his
adopted son, 529

Minto, Lord, Governor-General, his ante-
cedents, 288. He extinguishes anarchy
in Bundleeund, 290. Arrests the pro-
gress of Runjeet Sing, 293. Sends an
embassy to Cabul,293. And to Persia, 294.

interferes for the protection of the raja
of Nagpore, 296. Proceeds to Madras on
the mutiny of the European officers, 299.

Captures Bourbon and the Mauritius, 301.

Puts down piracy in the Arabian seas, 300.

Accompanies the expedition to Java,
whicli is conquered, 303. His earnest
representation to the Court for the
suppression of the Pindarees, 306. He is

superseded ; merits of his administration,
307

Mogul dynasty, established by Baber, 44
Montgomery, .Mr. Robert, member of the
board of administration, 470. Disarms
the mutinous sepoys at Lahore, 498

Moodkee, battle of, 447
Mooltan, Moolraj, succeeds his father as
governor, 458. Murders two English
officers and revolts, 458. Defeated by
Lieutenant Edwardes, 459. Shut up in
Mooltan and besieged by Greneral W'hish,
4C0. Joined by Shere Sing and the
siege raised, 460. General Whish,
reinforced, renews the siege ; brave de-
fence by Moolraj ; capture of the city,

466. Moolraj condemned to imprison-
ment and dies, 469

Monson, Colonel, his disastrous retreat,
273

Moorshed Kooly Khan, appointed sooba-
dar of Bengal. Founds the city of
Moorshedabad ; encourages native trade
and discourages tliat of the Company,
143. His prosperous administration, and
death, 145

Mutiny of the European officers, the
first, in 1765, 163. The second, in 1795,
236. The third, in 1810, 298

Mutiny of the sepoys in 1764, 159. At
Vellore, 2»5. Of the 47th at Barrack-
pore, 353. Of the native regiments in
1843-44, 436. Of the 38th in 1852, 523

Mutiny of 1857, the last and greatest ; the
greased cartridges the immediate cause
of it, fill the sepoys with terror and in-
dignation, 492. They reject all expla-
nation ; every regiment in Hindostan
filled with a hostile feeling, 493. The
paucity of European troops furnishes
the opportunity, 493. The 84th Queen's
brought round from Rangoon, and the
19lh disarmed, 493. Outbreak of the
regiments at Meerut, 10th May ; massacre
ol Europeans, 495. Disgraceful supine-
ness of General Hewitt in conimand,
495. The mutineers proceed, unpursued,
to Dellii ; the regiments there fraternise
with them, and massacre the Euro-
peans, and set up a Mogul throne, 496.
Sepoys disarmed at Lahore, and at other
stations in the Punjab, 498. Revolt of
all the regiments between the Sutlej
and Allahabad, 499. B«volt of the regi-

NAN
ments in Oude, 600 The Residency
besieged for twelve weeks, 501. Re-
volt of the regiments at Cawnpore, 501.
The entrenchment invested for three
weeks ; the General surrenders; massa-
cre of the Europeans at the ghaut, 602.
General Havelock repeatedly beats the
sepoys and retakes C^iwnpore; atio-
cious murder of the women and children
by the Nana, 505. General Havelock
twice endeavours to march to the relief

of Lucknow, but is unable, 506. He
and Sir James Outram advance again
« ith success, 507. The siege of Delh:
lnotracted for three months, and the
city captured after six days' fighting,

510. Sir James Outram and Havelock
are besieged in Lucknow, 511. Relieved
by Sir Colin Campbell, 512. Campaign
against the sepoys in Central India,
513. Relief of Dhar and Saugor, 513.
Capture of Jhansi, 513. Escape of the
ranee, 514. Battle of Koonch, 514.

Capture of Calpee, 514. Total defeat of
the rebels, 514. They reassemble at
Gwalior ; flight of Sindia, 515. The rebels
defeated, and the mutiny quenched in
Central India, 515. Confiscation and
restoration of tlie land in Oude, 517.

Operations in Roliilcund, 518. Peace
proclaimed, 519. Cause of the mutiny,
520

Mugudu, the kingdom established, 10.

its grandeur, 11
Muhabharut, the, its legend, 4
Munoo, his code, 7
Muttra, its magnificent temples plundered
by Mahmood oi Ghuzni, 21

Mysore, the throne usurped by Hyder Ali,

166. Bequeathed to his son, 201. Con-
quered and partitioned by Lord Welles-
ley, 248. A portion given to the old
family as a personal boon, 218. Mis-
conduct of the raja and assumption of
the government by Lord W. Bentinck,
362. The raja adopts a sou, who is

ackuowledged as his heir, 629

"VTADIRi SHAH, his antecedents : invades
-'-' Afghanistan ; overruns the Punjab

;

captures and plunders Delhi, and re-

tires with thirty-two crores of rupees,
105

Nagpore, the raja gains Orissa, 146. Con-
federates with Sindia against the Com-
Eany, 263. Defeated at Argaum, 269.

igns the treaty of Deogaum, and cedes
Orissa and Berar, 270. Appa Sahib,
raja, 322. Attacks the Residency, and is

defeated, 332. The kingdom restored,
332. Annexed on the total failure of

heirs, 477
Nana Furnavese, the Mahratta Machia-

velli, his extraordinary genius, 236.

His death.and its consequences, 259
Nana Sahib (Doondhoo Punt), foments
the spirit of revolt, 601. Ma8sa<'resall the
Europeans, men, women, and childreu.

h
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602. Defeated at Cawnpore, 508. Chased
into Nepaul and dies, 518

Napier, Brigadier, his improvements in
the Punjab, 471. His brilliant charge of
the rebels, 515

Napier, Sir Charles, receives the supreme
control in Sinde, 4;}1. His violent pro-
ceedings, 432. Captures Emamgurh,
43.3. Defeats the Beloches at Meeanee,
and Duppa, 435

Napoleon lands in Egypt. 244. Sends a
large armament to India on the Peace of
Amiens, 25 >

Natives excluded from office by Lord
Cornwallis, 228. Admitted by Lord
William Bentinck, 373

Nazir Jung, soobadar of the Deccan,
marches to the Carnatic, 120. His
cause espoused by the English, 121.

He is defeated by Bussy and killed by
the nabob of Cuddapa, 121

Neill, Colonel, his gallant conduct at
Benares, 503. Saves thefort of Allaltabad,
504. Marches with Outram and Havelock
to Lucknow, and killed, 508

Nepaul, description of it, 311. Rise and
progress of the Goorkhas, 311. Their
extensive conquests, 312. Encroachment
on British territory, 312. Lord Minto
fails to effect a settlement, 312. They
resolve on war, 313. Plan of the cam-
paign ; failure of three divisions, 314.

Gfeneral Ochterlony's masterly tactics ;

obliges the court to sue for peace: a
treaty concluded but not ratified, 317.
Second campaign; Greneral Ochterlony
beats the Nepaulese, and a treaty is con-
cluded, 317. Jung Bahadoor marches
with an army to put down the mutineers,
516

Nicholson, Brigadier, arrives with his
movable column before Delhi; the
homage paid to his genius and valour;
leads the assault and is killed, 510

Nizam-ool-moolk (Cheen Eillich Khan)
viceroy of the Deccan 96. Leaves Delhi
in disgust, and becomes independent at
Hyderabad, 99. Entreated by the
emperor to save the empire from the
Mahrattas, but is defeated by them, 103.
Nizam Ali, his son, assassinates his
brother Salabut Jung, and ascends the
throne of Hyderabad, 165. Makesa treaty
with the Madras Council in 1766, 166.

Joins Hyder in attacking the English,
and is repeatedly defeated, 168. Makes
another treaty, 169. Promotes a
confederacy against the English

;

neutralized by Mr. Hastings, 193. Joins
Lord Cornwallis in the war with Tippoo,
220 ; and obtains territory, 222. Totally
defeated by the Mahrattas at Kurdla,
235. Dismisses his French force, 24'J.

Joins Lord Wellesley in the war with
Tippoo, 245. Cedes the territory he
acquired in the two wars, 249. Disputes
about the pay of the coxitingent settled
by Lord Dalhousie, 480

Noor Jehan, her origin, married to Jehan-

OtTT

geer; her mamificent court, 64. Her
hostility to Mohabet, who seizes the
emperor, whom she rescues, 67. Loses
her power on the death of Jehangeer,
68

Northern Sircars granted to Bussy, 127.
Granted to the Company by the em-
I)eror, 165. Madras Council agree to pay
tribute for them to the Nizam, 166

Nott, General, his conflicts at Candahar,
405. Advances to Cabul ; brings away
the sandal-wood gates and Mahmood's
mace from Ghnzni and blows up the
fortifications, 427

Nunkoomar's charges against Hastings;
accused of forgery by a native, tried,

convicted, and hung, 180

fvCHTEELONY, Colonel (afterwards
^-^ Sir David), his defence of Delhi,

273. His successful campaign in Nepaul,
316. His second campaign terminates
in peace, 317. His orders to assemble
an army to resist Doorjun Sal of Bhurt-
pore countermanded, and he dies of «
broken heart, 354

Oodypore, throne filled by Rana Sanga,
41. Its independence virtually extin-
guished, 65.

Orissa, its early history, 16. Booddhist for

seven centuries ; Hindoo dynasties of
the Kesaris, and Gunga-bungsa, 55.

Conquered by the king of Bengal and
annexed to the empire, 56. Ceded to
the Mahrattas, 146. Annexed to the
Company's dominions, 270. Desolating
famine, 528

Onde, Saadut Ali, soobadar of, 99. He
invades Behar, and is totally defeated,
160. His kingdom restored by Clive,

161. Corah and Allahabad bestowed on
the emperor, 161. Urges the war with
the Rohillas, 176. Obliged to cede
Benares to the Company, 178. Visits

Hastings at Chunar, and obtains per-
mission to plunder the Begums, 209.

Vizier Ali appointed nabob ; deposed
for his illegitimacy and vices, 238. Lord
Wellesley takes half the territory to pay
for the defence of the other half, 255.

Lord Hastings gives the nabob a royal
title, 365. Wretched state of the country
in Lord William Bentinck's time; he
threatens to take over the government,
366. Chronic misrule; remonstrances
of successive Governor-Generals, 480.

Colonel Sleeman's report, 481. General
Outram's report, 482. Lord Dalhousie's
minute, 482. Home authorities order
the annexation of it, 483

Outram (afterwards Sir James) pursues
Dost Mahomed, 398. His proceedings
in Sinde, 434. Arrives at Cawnpore with
reinforcements, 507. Cedes the command
to Havelock : relieves the garrison of

Lucknow, 507. Is blockaded ; relieved

by Sir Colin Campbell, 512
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pACHECO'8 defence of Cochin, first de-
*- noonstrates the superiority of Euro-
pean over native troops, 109

Pandya dviiasty, in the Deocan. 16
Paniput, Babor's victory, 45. Akbar's vic-

tory, 51. The Abdalee's victory, 137
Peel, Captain, of the Shannon ; his naval

brigade, 507
Persia, embassy sent by Lord Welksley,

252. And by the Crown, 291. And by
Lord Miiito, 295

Peshwa. the authority of the, established
by Ballajee Wishwanath, 97. Extin-
guished by Lord Hastinycs, .SiO

Pigot, Lord, Governor of Madras, placed
in confinement by the Council ; decision
of the Court of Directors ; his death, 192

Pindarees, their origin; their loaders, 304.

Their system of plunder, 305. First
inroad into the British districts, 306

;

Lord Minto's representations to the
Court, 306. Lord Hastings's repeated
representations, 318. Thoir expedition
in 1815, 322. In 1816. 324. Lord Hastings
takes the field, and exterminates them,
.334

Pitt's India bill, its provisions, 213
Pondicherry founded, captured by the
Dutch, rcNtored at the peace, 112. Be-
sieged by .Admiral Boscawen vrithout
success, 117. Captured in 1761 by
Coote and demolished, 132. Captured
in 1779, 194. Captured in 1793, 229.

Pollock, General, forces the Khyber pass
and reaches jeilalabad, 420. Evades
Lord Ellenborough's orders to retire
424. Defeats Akbar Khan, at Tezeen

;

occupies Cabul, 427
Portuguese, double the Cape, 106. Vas-

co de Gama discovers India at Calicut,
107. Second expedition under Cabral

;

third expedition under Vasco, 108. Al-
meyda defeats the Egyptian and Guze-
rattee squadrons, 109. Albuquerque
Viceroy, founds Goa, establishes Portu-
guese authority over 12,000 miles of sea
coast; superseded and dies, 110. The
Portuguese occupy Ceylon, and Macao
in China, 110. They are established in

Bengal, 111. Resist the wliole Mahome-
dan power of the Deccan, 111. They
shrink into insignificance. 111

Pottiiiger. Lieut, afterwards Major, his de-
fence of Herat, 393. Envoy at Cabul, on
the assa-ssiiiation of Sir W. Macnaghten,
makes a new treaty. 415. Delivered up
as a hostage, 416. His energy at Ba-
meean, 428

Press, liberty of, destroyed by Mr. Adam,
316. Its condition under Lord Am-
herst and Lord W. Bentinck, 383. Its
freedom legalised by Sir C. Metcalfe,
383

Procession of the captured Sikh guns,
453

Punjab ; Jeypal, kine of, defeated by Su-
buktngpon, 19. Consolidated under
Ruiijeet Sing, 290. Revolutions on his
death, 44:j. The army becomes all

powerful, 444. And murders the prime

minister, and plunders Gk)lab Sing, and
Moolraj, 4*5. Ranee Jhind'.m regent,
launches the army on the British terri-

tories, 446. The four engagements, 451.

Sir Henry Hardinge enters it, and con-
fiscates the Cis Sutlej province and Jul-
lunder, and alienates Cashmere. 45:<.

Treaty of 9th March, 184«, and of De-
cember, 454. Revoltsin'8«, 460. Con-
quered a second time and annexed, 469.

Admirable administration under I^ord

Dalbousie ; suppression of slavery, da-
coity and thuggee, 471. Roads, canals,
and other improvements, 471. Loyalty
during the mutiny ; contributes to the
suppression of it, 509

"DAILWATS, projected by Sir Mac-
*-'' donald Stephenson ; encouraged by
Lord Hardinge, 485. Organised by Lord
Dalhousie ; his memorable minute. 485.

State railways projected by Lord Mayo,
530

Rajpootana, desolated by Holkar and
Ameer Klian, and invokes British pro-
tection, 284. Which is granted by Lord
Hastings, 327

Rajpoots, tlieir early struggles with the
Mahomedans, 41. Defeated by Baber,
46. Join Akbar, and fight for him, 53.

Th<)ir struggles with Aurungzebe, 85
Ramayun, the epic, its legends, 6
Ramu, his birth and exploits, his expe-

dition to Lunka or Ceylon, 7
Rana Sanga, raja of Oodypore ; his exten-

sive power, and his army, 41. Defeated
by Baber, 46

Ravunu, the sovereign of Lanka slain by
Ramu, 7

Red Sea, expedition to, 253
Rent free tenures, their origin and cha-

racter, 359. Resumption completed by
Lord William Bentinck, 359

Roe, Sir Thomas.envoy to the Mogul court
65

Rose, Sir Hugh, his campaicrn during the
mutiny in Central India, 613

Runjeet Sing, consolidates his power in
^the Punjab, 290. Makes inroads into
Sirhind; Mr. Metcalfe obliges him to re-
tire, 292. He signs the treaty of tJmritsir,
293. Annexes Cashmere, Mooltan, and
the Derajat, 367. French officers disci-

Sline his army, 368. He is defeated at
foushera, 368. Sends a present of a

shawl tent to the Queen of England ; re-
ceives a present of dray horses in n^tum,
369. His power and resources in 1830,
369. Meeting with Lord William Ben-
tinck at Roopur, 370. Seizes Peshawur,
385. His designs on Sinde defeated, 886.
Signs the tripartite treaty, 391. His
death and character, 399

QAMBAJEE, son ofSevajee, succeeds him,
*^ his worthless character ; bnrbarouisly
murdered by Aurungzebe, 00

Satara, aportion of the Peshwa's territory.

k
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SEE

granted to the family of Sevajee. 340.

On the failure of heirs, it is annexed to
the Company's territories, 477

Seeta, the wife of Ramu, carried off by
Ravuiiu, recovered by her husband, 7

Seetabuldee, battle of, 332
Seraj-ood-dowlah, soobadar of Bengal,
sacks Calcutta, 147. Defeated by Colonel
Clive at Dumdum, 150. His intolerable
oppressions; conspiracy against him, 150.

Is defeated at Plassy and flies; is brought
back and murdered by Meerun, 152

Serampore Missionaries, tiieir labours in-

terdicted on account of the Veilore
mutiny, 288

Serefraj Khan, soobadar of Bengal, sup-
planted by Aliverdy Khan, 145

Seringapatam captured, 246
Sepoys,their chronic insubordination ; cause

of disaffection in 185fi, 491
Sevajee, founder of Mahratta greatness

;

his birth and early exploits, 78. His
conquests, and strength of his army,
at the age of 35 ; ravages the Mogul
territories, 80. Plunders Surat, 81.

Strikes the coin in his own name ; he
creates a fleet ; signs the convention of
Poorundur, 81. Origin of the chout, 82.

Proceeds to the emperor's court; is be-
leaguered, and escapes, 82. Revises his

institutions, 82. Proclaims his inde-
pendence and is crowned. 85. His expe-
dition to the south and his fanaticism,
86. His death and character, 87

Shah Alam, emperor, as AH Gohur, endea-
vours to recover Bengal, is defeated by
Colonel Calliaud, 154. Cedes the Dewa-
nee to the Company, 161. Blinded by
Gholam Khadir, 2.50. Rescued from
misery by Lord Lake, 268

Shahjee, the father of Sevajee, his origin
and progress; obtains the jageers of
Poona and other districts ; his expedi-
tion to the south, where he acquires
jageers, 77

Shah Jehan, the valiant son of Jehangeer,
65. He revolts and is defeated ; recon-
ciled to his father, 66. And ascends the
throne, 69. His extravagant expendi-
ture, 69. Commences war in the
Deccan, 69. Kxtinguishes the kingdom
of Ahmednugur ; subjects Beejapore to
tribute ; recovers Candahar, 70. Un-
successful expedition toBaIkh ; loses an
army in the Afghan passes ; loses Can-
dahar, 71. His four sons and their
characters, 72. His serious illness, 72.

Struggles for tlie throne, 73. His re-

covery, but too late; Aurungzebe enters
the capital and deposes him, 74. Sur-
vives the deposition six years ; his char-
acter, his magnificence ; the peacock
throne; his admirable administration,
and immense wealth, 74

Shao, chief of the Mahrattas, 96
Shelton, Brigadier, his aliominable temper,
and its deplorable effects, 411

Shere Shah, establishes the Soor dynasty,
47. Defeats the king of Bengal ; defeats
Humayoon at Cunouge, and mounts the

sm
throne of Delhi, 48. His cruelty at
Raiseen; captures Chittore; killed at
Callinger ; his character, and extraordi-
nary genius, 49

Shere Sing, deserts to Moolraj, 460. Pro-
claims war against the English. 460.
Fights General Thackwell at Sadoolla-
pore, 462. Fights Lord Gough at Chil-
lianwallah, 465. Defeated at Guzerat,
467

Shore, Sir John, opposes the Permanent
Settlement, 227. Becomes Governor-
General, 233. His feeble policy in the
affairs of the Nizam, 234. He quails
before the second mutiny of the Euro-
pean officers, and is superseded, 237.

His courage in dealing with the affairs of
Oude, 238. Created a peer on his return
to England, 2.39

Sikhs, their oriein, a religious sect, and
political commonwealth ; their spiritual
guides ; driven back by Bahadoor Shah
to their hills, 95

Sinde, subjugated by the Mahomedans,
18. Submits to the emperor Akbar, 57.
Treaty with Lord William Bentinck,
371. The Ameers coerced by Lord
Auckland, 396. Treated unjustly by
Sir Charles Napier, 432. Defeated at
Meeanee, 435. Sinde annexed by Lord
Ellenborough ; remarks on the transac-
tion, 435

Sindia, rise of the family, 101. Mahda-
jee, totally defeated by Colonel Camac,
188. Makes peace with Hastings, 190.
Negotiates the treaty of Salbye which
increases his consequence, 190. Becomes
minister and commander-in-chief of the
emperor, and obtains possession of the
Dooab, 229. Plunders the Rajpoots;
defeated by them ; defeats them, 230.

De Boigne organises a great Sepoy
army, 231. Sindia proceeds to Poona,
becomes all powerful with the young
Peshwa, 231. De Boigne defeats Hol-
kar ; death of Sindia, 232

Sindia, Dowlut Rao, defeated by Holkar

;

defeats Holkar, 261. Joins the Peshwa,
and defeated by Holkar at Poona, 262.
Joins the raja of Nagpore against the
English, 264. .\hraednugur captured
by Greneral Wellesley ; battle of Assye
266. General Lake captures AUygurh,
267. Beats Sindia's troops at Laswaree,
and at Delhi, 268. Reduced to extre-
mities, he signs the treaty of Sirjee

Anjengaura, 270. His hostile attitude
on the failure of the siege of Bhurtpore,
275. Resolves, in conjunction with
Nagpore, to absorb Bhopal ; Lord Has-
tings prevents it, 319. Atcrees to assist

in rooting out the Pindarees, 325. New
treaty forced on him by Lord Hastings,
329. Dies in 1827, 4.37. State of the
Cabinet in 18 13 ; the army domineer over
the Government, 437. Lord Ellen-
borou(rh insists on its disbandment
4:J9. Battles of Maharajpore and Pun-
niar, 440. New treaty, 441. The 6th
Sindia obliged to fly from Owalior

J
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SLA

during the mutiny ; restored to his
throne, 515

Slave dynasty, its establishment, 27. Its
extinction, 30

Sleeman Major, suppresses the Thugs,
376. Reports on the state of Oude,
481

Sobraon, battle of, 431
Somnath, its raa«:nificent temple de-

spoiled by Mahmood of Ghuzni, 22
Soojah, Shah Jehan's second son, viceroy

of Benjral ; his struggles for the throne,
is defeated ; flies to Arracan and is put
to death, 73

Stuart General, at Madras, his dilatory
conduct on the death of Hyder, 201.

At length marches to Cuddalore ; is

baffled by the genius of Bussy, 202.
Rescued from peril by the peace be-
tween Prance and England ; put under
arrest at Madras, 202

Subuktugeen, ruler of Ghuzni, attacked
by Jeypal and defeats him, 19

Suffrein, tlie great French admiral, fights

four battles with the English ; all in-
decisive, 199

Sumachar Durpun, the first native
printed newspaper, 3:>8

Supreme Court ; its establishment, its

encroachments on the Government,
which is paralysed, 206. Interposition
of Parliament 206. Amalgamated with
the Sudder Court, 525

Syud Ahmed, a Mahomedan fanatic, ob-
tains possession of Peshawur, but is

expelled, 368
Syuds, dynasty of the, 37

rrAJ MEHAL, built by Shah Jehan as a
-*- mausoleum for his queen, 74
Tallikotta, great battle of; destroys Hin-
doo power in the Deccan, 59

Tanjoro, the principality founded by
Shahjee, 77. Besieged by Lally, but the
siege raised, 130. First interference of
the Madras authorities, 118. At the in-

stance of Maliomed Ali they fleece the
raja and depose him ; the Court of
Directors restore him, 191

Tautia Topee superintends the massacre of
the Europeans at Cawnpore,502. Marches
to relieve Jhansi ; defeated by Sir Hugh
Rose, 514. Takes possession of Gwalior,
515. Is chased, captured, and executed,
519

Teetoo Meer's insurrection near Calcutta,
361

Telingana, Hindoo kingdom in the Dec-
can, 16

Thackwell, General, fights Shere Sing at
Sadoollaporc, 463

Timur, or Tamerlane, invades India, 36.

Defeats the emperor; lets his soldiery
loose on Delhi for five days

;
proclaims

himself emperor and recrosses the
Indus, 37

Tippoo, plunders the garden-houses of
the Madras gentry, 169. He invests

' "WEL

Mangalore, and captures it after a siege
of nine months, 20-3. Attacks the lines
of the raja of Ti-avancore, an ally of the
English, 219. Lord Cornwallis declares
war ; first campaign abortive, 220.
Second campaign fails, 221. The third
successful, and Tippoo resigns half his
territory and pays three crores, 223.
His hostility to the English ; the iMau-
ritius proclamation, 240. Lord Welles-
ley takes the field against him ; he
makes a stand at Malavelly, 245. Is be-
sieged at Seringapatara ; the town cap-
tured; Tippoo killed, and his dynasty
extinguished, 246

Toder Mull, raja, Akbar's great finance
minister, 62

Toghluk Ghazee, founds the Toghluk
dynasty. 33

Toghluk Mahomed, his accomplishments

;

his military skill; his insane eccen-
tricities, 33. Extends his power beyond
all previous princes, 'M. Sends an
army to China which perishes; en-
deavours to remove the capital to
Dowlutabad, 34. His caprices create in-
surrections ; Bi'ngal revolts: the whole
of the Deccan revolts, 35. The dyna-sty
decays, and four independent kingdoms
established, 35

Toghluk Peroze, extraordinary number of
his edifices, 35

TTGNI KOOLS, the allegory of the, 12
'-' Umbeyla campaign , 526

TTBDUS, the, 3
'' Vellore mutiny, its cause, 286
Vikrum-adityu,his grandeur; his patronage

of literature, 13

WELLESLEY, Lord, Governor-General,
'" 2.S9. Condition of India, 239. Tip-
poo's hostile proclamation, 240. Resolves
to coerce him ; orders the Madras army
into the field ; its weakness, 241. He
breaks up the policy of isolation ; nego-
tiates with the Nizam,242. Extinguishes
the French force at Hyderabad, 243.
Seringapatam captured, and Hyder's
dynasty extinguished, 2i6. Mediatizes
the nabob of the Carnatic, 251. Sends
an expedition to Egypt, 253. Takes over
half the Oude territory, 255. Concludes
the treaty of Bassein with the Peshwa,
262. Encourages private trade, 257. Es-
tablishes the college of Fort William,
256. Censured by the Directors, resigns,
258. Is asked to remain another year ;

consequences of tliis request, 259. War
with Sindia. and the raja of Nagpore, 26:J.

War with Holkar, 272. Alarm at home,
276. He is superseded, 276. Character
of his administration, 277. Condemned

k
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by the Court of Proprietors, 278. The
ceusure reversed thirty years after,

278
Wellesley, General, pursues Dhondia Waug,

249. Captures Ahmednugur, 266. Beats
Sindia at Assye, 266. And the raja of
Nagpore at Argaum, 269

Windliam, General, his disaster at Cajvn-
pore extricated by Sir Colin Campbell,
512

Wilson, Mr. James, financial member of

Council, 524. His financial measures,
524

Wilson, Brigadier, captuies Dellii, 510

ADDENDA.
Afghanistan, agreement as to boundaries

of, between England and Russia, 531.

Unsettled state of, 532. Russian em-
bassy received at Cabul, 535. English
embassy turned back, 535. Ultimatum
despatched, and war declared against,

535. Capture of All Musjid, Jellalabad,

and Candahar, 536
Baroda, corrupt administration of Gaik-
war of, 532. Attempts to poison British

Resident, 532. He is deposed, 532
Bengal and Behar, threatened famine in

1874, 531
Bombay, famine in 1877, and great loss of

life, 534. Generous efforts in England, 634
Browne, General Sir Samuel, captures Ali

Musjid, 536
Buckingham and Chandos, Duke of, ap-
pointed Governor of Madras, 533

Campbell, Sir George, Lieutenant-Gover-
nor of Bengal, his precautionary mea-
sures against threatened famine in Ben-
gal and Behar, 531. Receives the ap-
proval of Viceroy and Home Govern-
ment, 531

Cavagnari, Major, concludes a treaty with
• Yakoob Khan, 536. Is knighted, 536.

His murder, along with the members of

the embassy, 637
Empress of India, assumption of title of, by

her Majesty the Queen, 634 Proclaimed
at Delhi on 1st January 1877, 534. Re-
lease of 16,000 prisoners, 534

Hobart, Lord, Governor of Madras, his

able administration, 532. His death in

1875, 632
Indian railways taken over by English
Government, 537

Jowakis, expedition against the, 535

Jung Bahadoor of Nepaul, his death, 535

Kiiiva, Russian expedition in 1873 against,

630. Sm-ieiider of the Khan, and sub-
mission to tlie Czar, 530

Lj'tton, Lord, Governor - General, 633.

Cotton duties gradually repealed, 533
Madras, famine in, 1877, with great loss of

life, 534. Liberal assistance from Eng-
land towards relief, 534

MuUiar Rao, Gaikwar of Baroda, corrupt
administration of, 532. Attempts to

poison the British Resident, 532. De-
posed after trial by a commission, 532

Napier, Lord, Governor of Madras, suc-
ceeds by law to Lord Mayo, as Governor-
General, 530

Native soldiei-s sent to Malta, 535
Northbrook, Loixi, appointed Governor-
General in 1872, 530. His qualities as a
statesman, 530. Declines to assist the
Khivans against Russia, 530. Employs
sufferers l)y tlie famine on public works,
531. Difl'erences witli the Secretary of
State as to the Tariff Act, 533. Censured
by Lord Salisbui^, 533. Retirement
from office, 533. Rewarded with an eiirl-

dom, 533
Roberts, General, occupies Peiwar Pass,

636. Captiu-es Cabul, 537. Evacuates
the city and occupies Sherpur, 537

Russia and England, agreement between,
as to boundaries of Afghanistan, 531

Shere Ali Khan, Ameer of Afghanistan,
banishes his eldest son, 532. Receives a
Russian embassy at Cabul, 535. Declines
to receive an English embassy, 535. War
declared against him, 535. His flight

from Cabul, and death at Balkh, 536
Stewart, General, ca]itures Candjiliai', 536
Strachey, Sir Jolxn, Finance Minister, pro-

poses a tax for emergencies of famine,
534

Temple, Sir Ricnard, his successful mea-
sures to ooiuiteract the lamine in 1874,

531. Gigantic nature of the ti'ansport

emijloyed, 531
Wales, Prince of, visits India in 1875,

633. Visits Maliai-ajahs of Madras, 533.

Presides over investiture of Star of India
at Calcutta, 533. Enters Delhi in state,

633. Visits Nepaul, the Maliarajahs of
Puttiala and Gwalior, and Holkar at In-

dore, 533. Embarks at Bombay on 13th
March, 633. His letter to Lord North-
brook, 533

Yakoob Khan, succeeds liis father as
Ameer of Afghanistan, 532. Treaty con-
cluded with, 536. His flight to the Bri-

tish camp, 537. His throne declared
forfeited, and made a prisoner of state,

637
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